
- 1 -

CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL
CYNGOR DINAS CAERDYDD

 

CABINET: THURSDAY, 21 JANUARY 2016 at 3.30 PM

A Cabinet Meeting will be held in Function Room L at City Hall on Thursday 21 January 
2016 at 3.30 pm

A G E N D A

1  Minutes of the Cabinet Meetings held on 3 and 10 December 2015  (Pages 1 - 
12)

Scrutiny Matters  

2  To receive the Community and Adult Services Scrutiny Committee report 
entitled 'Information, Advice and Assistance (IAA) Services for Mental Health 
Service Users in Cardiff'  (Pages 13 - 106)

Corporate Services & Performance  

3  Annual Review of the Council's Voluntary Redundancy Scheme.  (Pages 107 - 
110)

4  Review of the Council's Disciplinary Policy and  Associated Policies & 
Procedures  (Pages 111 - 200)

5  Independent Commission on Local Government Finance Wales: City of Cardiff 
Council Response  (Pages 201 - 216)

6  CCTV Body Worn Camera Policy and Pilot Deployment  (Pages 217 - 274)

Education  

7  The Performance of Cardiff Schools and the Youth Service in 2014/2015  
(Pages 275 - 342)

Leader (Economic Development & Partnerships) and Education  

8  Cardiff Commitment to Youth Engagement and Progression  (Pages 343 - 368)

Health, Housing & Wellbeing & Transport Planning & Sustainability  

9  Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment and Site Assessment Criteria  
(Pages 369 - 426)



- 2 -

Transport, Planning & Sustainability  

10  Adoption of Cardiff Local Development Plan (LDP)  (Pages 427 - 2440)

PAUL ORDERS
Chief Executive



CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL 
CYNGOR DINAS CAERDYDD
       
MINUTES

CABINET MEETING:  3 DECEMBER 2015

Cabinet Members Present: Councillor Phil Bale (Chair) 
Councillor Sue Lent 
Councillor Peter Bradbury
Councillor Dan De’Ath 
Councillor Bob Derbyshire 
Councillor Graham Hinchey 
Councillor Susan Elsmore 
Councillor Sarah Merry
Councillor Ramesh Patel 

Observers: Councillor Dianne Rees
Councillor Judith Woodman

Officers: Paul Orders, Chief Executive
Christine Salter, Section 151 Officer
Marie Rosenthal, Monitoring Officer 
Joanne Watkins, Cabinet Office

69 MINUTES OF THE CABINET MEETING HELD ON 12 NOVEMBER 2015 

RESOLVED: that the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 12 November 
2015 be approved

70 LLANEDEYRN HUB AND THE MAELFA REGENERATION SCHEME 

Appendices 5 & 6 to this report are exempt from publication because they 
contain information of the kind described in paragraphs 14 and 21 of Parts 4 

and 5 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972

Cabinet received a report which outlined the results of recent community 
consultation on the proposed Community Hub in Llanedeyrn and updated 
plans for the Maelfa redevelopment. Community  feedback on the proposals 
was positive.

RESOLVED: that

1. Agreement be given to proceed with the extension to the Powerhouse  
to create the Llanedeyrn Community Hub;

  

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



2. the progress on the Maelfa regeneration scheme be noted and authority 
be delegated to the Director of Economic Development to the dispose 
of land for the purposes of enabling the redevelopment, in accordance 
with the received valuation advice;

3. authority be delegated to the Director of Communities, Housing and 
Customer Services, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Community Development, Co-operatives and Social Enterprise and the 
Leader as appropriate, 

a) to agree the detailed plans and undertake all matters relating to 
implementation of the Llanedeyrn Community Hub and the Maelfa 
Regeneration Scheme

b) to obtain all necessary permissions and consents, in consultation 
with the Section 151 Officer and Cabinet Member for Corporate 
Services and Performance, as required;

71 CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL LIBRARIES STOCK MANAGEMENT 
STRATEGY AND LOCAL STUDIES SERVICE 

The Cabinet considered a report outlining an approach to the Library Service 
Stock Management Strategy which supported the Council’s commitment to 
achieve stock related Welsh Public Library Standards.

RESOLVED: that

1. the approach outlined in the report and the adoption of the Libraries 
Stock Management Strategy, including the creation of the Stock 
Management Advisory Group be agreed

2. a further report be presented to cabinet that will make 
recommendations on the future location of the Council’s stock and 
collections informed by the views of the Stock Management Advisory 
Group. 

3. consultation take place on the transfer of the Local Studies service to 
Cathays.

4. authority be delegated to the Director for Communities, Housing and 
Customer Service in consultation with Cabinet Member for Community, 
Development, Co-operatives & Social Enterprise to decide on the 
permanent location of Local Studies informed by the results of the 
consultation. 

5. Agreement in principle be given to discontinue the use of the current 
stock storage facility at Dominions Way subject to the appropriate 
relocation of all stock and collections.

Page 2



72 COUNCIL TAX - DISCRETIONARY RELIEF POLICY 

The Cabinet considered approving the Discretionary Relief Policy for Council 
Tax which had been created to provide assistance to council tax payers where 
there is clear evidence that an individual or group of individuals have 
exceptional circumstances which are not as a result of negligence on their 
part.

RESOLVED: that

(1) the Discretionary Relief Policy for Council Tax, attached at Appendix 1 
to the report be approved

(2) the policy be implemented with effect from 1st January 2016

(3) the power to determine an application for discretionary relief from 
council tax be delegated to the Revenues Services Manager and that 
the Corporate Director Resources will determine any appeals. 

73 SCHOOL ORGANISATION PROPOSALS: SPECIALIST PROVISION FOR 
PRIMARY AGED PUPILS WITH SPEECH AND LANGUAGE DIFFICULTIES, 
AND WITH BEHAVIOURAL EMOTIONAL AND SOCIAL DIFFICULTIES. 

A report outlining proposals to re-shape specialist education provision was 
considered due to the falling demand for speech and language places, and 
increased demand for provision for children with behavioral social and 
emotional needs. It was proposed that a public consultation be held on 
proposals to remodel SEN provision through the closure of Meadowbank 
Special School, increase the capacity for mainstream support for children with 
speech and language needs, change the use of the Allensbank SRB to 
provide additional places for pupils with severe and complex learning 
difficulties and increase the number of Nurture/Revolving Door classes in 
mainstream schools across the city

RESOLVED: that:

1. Officers be authorised to consult on the proposal to remodel SEN 
provision specifically to respond to the falling demand for speech and 
language places and increased demand for provision of children with 
behavioural social and emotional needs through:

 The closure of Meadowbank Special School by August 2017.

This will be supported by the following proposed changes:-

 An Increase in the capacity for mainstream support for children 
with speech and language needs

 A change in the use of the Allensbank SRB to provide additional 
places for pupils with severe and complex learning difficulties

 An increase in the number of Nurture/Revolving Door classes in 
mainstream schools across the city

Page 3



2. prior to implementation of the proposal a further report will be provided 
to the Cabinet providing details of any objections received, the 
responses to those objections and recommendations for 
implementation or otherwise of the proposal.

74 SCHOOLS ORGANISATION PLANNING: THE PROVISION OF WELSH-
MEDIUM AND ENGLISH-MEDIUM PRIMARY SCHOOL PLACES IN AND 
AROUND LLANDAFF NORTH 

A report containing details of the responses received following consultation 
regarding the provision of Welsh-medium and English-medium primary school 
provision in and around Llandaff North was considered. It was reported that 
the majority of repondees preferred Option 3 which would consolidate Gabalfa 
Primary School at 1FE with 48 part-time nursery places from September 2017, 
permanently establish Ysgol Glan Ceubal on its existing site at Colwill Road, 
Gabalfa, CF14 2PQ at 1FE from September 2016 and extend the age range of 
Ysgol Glan Ceubal from 4-11 to 3-11 from September 2016. This option would 
also retain flexibility around options to address any changes to future demand 
for English-medium and Welsh-medium primary school places in the area.

RESOLVED: that

1. Authorisation be given to the publication of a Notice to:

 Consolidate Gabalfa Primary School at 1FE with 48 part-time nursery 
places from September 2017

 Permanently establish Ysgol Glan Ceubal on its existing site at Colwill 
Road, Gabalfa, CF14 2PQ at 1FE from September 2016

 Extend the age range of Ysgol Glan Ceubal from 4-11 to 3-11 from 
September 2016

2. the statutory notice will set out Option 3 as the recommended delivery 
option should the proposal proceed to implementation and subject to 
securing WG funding at the business case stage.

3. prior to implementation of the proposal a further report will be provided to 
the Cabinet providing details of any objections received, the responses to 
those objections and recommendations for implementation or otherwise of 
the proposal.

75 AMENDMENTS TO THE JOINT SCHEME FOR THE ALLOCATION OF 
SOCIAL HOUSING 

A report providing an update on the operation of the joint Cardiff Housing 
Allocation scheme was received. The scheme was implemented in January 
2015 and it was reported that the changes had resulted in improved advice to 
applicants with 1,674 housing solutions interviews carried out in the first 6 
months of operation and the scheme had been successful in identifying those 
applicants who are most in housing need and prioritising them accordingly. In 

Page 4



light of operational experience a number of amendments were proposed 
around homelessness, overcrowding and local connections. Comments from 
the Community & Adult Scrutiny Committee were circulated to the Cabinet.  

RESOLVED: that the amendments outlined in the report be approved in order 
to further enhance the joint Cardiff Housing Allocation Scheme.

76 CARDIFF CENTRAL TRANSPORT INTERCHANGE 

Appendices 3 – 6 of this report are exempt from publication because they 
contain information of the kind described in paragraphs 14 and 21 of parts 4 

and 5 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972.

The Cabinet received an update on the Central Transport Interchange project 
which confirmed the delivery timetable including the anticipated timing of key 
decisions. The report also provided an update on the Central Square 
regeneration scheme following the signing of an Agreement to Lease by BBC 
Wales for a new headquarters building at Central Square. Comments from 
the Economy and Culture Scrutiny Committee were circulated at the meeting. 

RESOLVED: that

(1) the recent progress made with the Central Square regeneration scheme 
be noted

(2) the indicative timetable for the construction of the new Central 
Transport Interchange building as presented in paragraphs 13-18 of 
the report be noted

(3) the costs outlined for the delivery of public realm improvements and 
other enabling costs related to the Masterplan Agreement to support 
the delivery of the new Central Transport Interchange building as 
detailed in confidential Appendix 3 be approved  

(4) authority be delegated to the Director of Economic Development, in 
consultation with the Leader of the Council, the Cabinet Member for 
Corporate Services and Performance, the Cabinet Member for 
Transport, Planning and Sustainability, the Section 151 Officer and the 
Director of Legal and Governance to consider in detail options for 
funding the new Central Transport Interchange and to return to 
Cabinet with a final recommendation.

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL 
CYNGOR DINAS CAERDYDD
       
MINUTES

CABINET MEETING:  10 DECEMBER 2015

Cabinet Members Present: Councillor Phil Bale (Chair) 
Councillor Sue Lent 
Councillor Peter Bradbury
Councillor Dan De’Ath 
Councillor Bob Derbyshire 
Councillor Graham Hinchey 
Councillor Susan Elsmore 
Councillor Sarah Merry
Councillor Ramesh Patel 

Observers: Councillor Rod McKerlich
Councillor Judith Woodman

Officers: Paul Orders, Chief Executive
Christine Salter, Section 151 Officer
Marie Rosenthal, Monitoring Officer 
Joanne Watkins, Cabinet Office

77 CARDIFF CAPITAL REGION CITY DEAL UPDATE 

The Cabinet received an update on the progress of the Cardiff Capital Region 
local authorities in developing and securing a City Deal with the Welsh and UK 
Governments. It was reported that the City Council, in partnership with the 
other Cardiff Capital Region local authorities, was negotiating with the Welsh 
and UK Governments to secure a significant investment of up to £1.28bn, in 
projects that will have a very positive impact on the economy of the Region. 
The majority of the funding provided by the UK Government through the City 
Deal process would be by a payment by results mechanism based on 
increases in agreed economic outputs for the Region. It was noted that whilst 
the current funding scenarios are indicative, there will inevitably be a financial 
contribution required from local government. The comments from the 
Economy and Culture Scrutiny Committee were circulated.

RESOLVED: that the progress to date and the estimated timescales to get the 
full agreement of all parties to complete the City Deal be noted

78 2016/17 BUDGET PROPOSALS FOR CONSULTATION 

The Cabinet received an update on the Budget Reduction Requirement for 
2016/17 pending receipt of Provisional Local Government Settlement 

 

Page 7



together with details of draft budget proposals for consultation prior to 
submission to Council for approval.  It was proposed that the online 
consultation document would be launched on Friday 11 December 2015 with 
hard copies distributed to hubs, libraries and leisure centres. A series of 
neighbourhood events would also take place during the consultation period 
which would run until midnight on Tuesday 12 January 2016. 

RESOLVED: that

(1) the budget proposals as attached at Appendix 2 be agreed as the 
Cabinet’s Budget Proposals for Consultation.

(2) It be noted that the formal budget consultation will commence on the 11 
December 2015 and that there will be additional supporting 
documentation available as part of this process. The results of the 
consultation process will then be considered by Cabinet during January 
and February 2016 as part of their final 2016/17 budget proposal.

(3) It be noted that the Chief Executive as Head of Paid Service will be 
issuing all necessary statutory and non-statutory employment 
consultations in respect of the staffing implications of the proposals.

79 QUARTER 2 PERFORMANCE REPORT 2015/16 (JULY TO SEPTEMBER) 

The Cabinet received the Council’s performance report for Quarter 2 (July to 
September) of 2015/16 financial year. It was reported that across all 
Directorates 69.92% of Corporate Plan commitments were Green and 55.85% 
of Performance Indicators were Green. 

RESOLVED: that the Cabinet note the current position regarding performance 
and the delivery of key commitments and priorities as at Quarter 2 and the 
action being taken to address areas of concern

80 CALCULATION OF COUNCIL TAX BASE 

The Cabinet received a report outlining details of the calculation of the 
Council tax base for 2016/17.

RESOLVED: that

(1) the calculation of the Council’s tax base for the year 2016/2017 be 
approved;

(2) pursuant to this report and in accordance with the Local Authorities 
(Calculation of Tax Base) (Wales) Regulations 1995, as amended, the 
amount calculated by Cardiff Council as its council tax base for the year 
2016/2017 shall be 141,288;

(3) pursuant to this report and in accordance with the Local Authorities 
(Calculation of Tax Base) (Wales) Regulations 1995, as amended, the 

Page 8



amounts calculated by the Council as the council tax base for the year 
2016/2017 in the community areas subject to a precept shall be as 
follows: -

Lisvane 2347
Pentyrch 3184
Radyr 3655
St. Fagans 1234
Old St. Mellons 1289
Tongwynlais 811

(4) the arrangements for the payment of precepts in 2016/2017 to the 
South Wales Police Authority be by equal instalments on the last 
working day of each month from April 2016 to March 2017 and the 
Community Councils be by one payment on 1 April 2016, be on the 
same basis as that used in 2015/2016 and the precepting authorities be 
advised accordingly.

81 CORPORATE RISK REGISTER - MID YEAR REVIEW 2015/16 

The Corporate Risk Register was considered by the Cabinet. The register 
contained details of the strategic risks facing the Council  together with 
mitigations in place or planned within the Council and a residual risk score 
which demonstrated the effectiveness of the controls in place to manage the 
risk.  It was reported that there were twenty four risks, all of which were 
assigned to members of the Senior Management Team to ensure the most 
senior level of ownership and accountability by officers.  

RESOLVED: that the content of the Corporate Risk Register be noted

82 SCHOOL ORGANISATION PLANNING: PROPOSED ESTABLISHMENT OF 
A NEW HIGH SCHOOL IN THE WEST TO REPLACE GLYN DERW HIGH 
SCHOOL AND MICHAELSTON COMMUNITY COLLEGE 

The Cabinet received a report detailing the responses received following 
consultation on a proposal for a new build high school in the West of the city 
from September 2018. It was reported that a total of 11 responses were 
received and the majority view expressed during the consultation at meetings 
and in written correspondence was one of support. The report detailed some 
concerns expressed together with mitigating factors. 

RESOLVED: that

1. Authority be delegated to the Director of Education and Director of 
Governance and Legal Services to publish a statutory notice to:

 Close Glyn Derw High School and Michaelston Community College  
(the Glyn Derw and Michaelston Federation) from 31 August 2017

 Establish a new replacement 11-18 community high school to serve the 
Caerau and Ely areas from 01 September 2017

Page 9



 To transfer the newly established high school to new build premises on 
the current Glyn Derw High School site from September 2018

2. prior to implementation of the proposal a further report be provided to the 
Cabinet providing details of any objections received, the proposed responses 
to those objections and recommendations for implementation or otherwise of 
the proposal.

83 SCHOOL ORGANISATION PLANNING: THE PROVISION OF ADDITIONAL 
ENGLISH-MEDIUM AND WELSH-MEDIUM PRIMARY SCHOOL PLACES IN 
THE ADAMSDOWN AND SPLOTT WARDS 

The Cabinet received a report outlining received following consultation 
regarding the provision of English-medium and Welsh-medium primary school 
provision in the Adamsdown and Splott Wards. It was reported that four 
options had been subject to consultation. 

 RESOLVED: that

1. Authority be delegated to the Director of Education and Director of 
Governance and Legal Services to publish a statutory notice to:

 Increase the capacity of Ysgol Glan Morfa from 1FE to 2FE with up to 80 
part-time nursery places serving the age range 3-11 from September 2017. 
Transfer the enlarged Ysgol Glan Morfa to a new standardised 2FE 
primary school on a new site at the Maltings from September 2017.

 Increase the capacity of Moorland Primary School from 2FE to 3FE with 96 
part-time nursery places serving the age range 3-11 utilising the vacated 
Ysgol Glan Morfa buildings from September 2017

3. the approval of appropriation of the land at the Maltings Park site in 
principle subject to public consultation in accordance with S122 of the 
Local Government Act 1972 be authorised

4. prior to implementation of the proposal a further report be provided to the 
Cabinet providing details of any objections received, the proposed 
responses to those objections and recommendations for implementation 
or otherwise of the proposal.

84 SCHOOL ORGANISATION PROPOSALS: THE PROVISION OF 
ADDITIONAL ENGLISH-MEDIUM AND WELSH-MEDIUM PRIMARY 
SCHOOL PROVISION IN AND AROUND THE BUTETOWN, CANTON, 
GRANGETOWN AND RIVERSIDE AREAS (THE 'FOUR WARDS') 

Cabinet received details of the responses received following consultation on 
proposals regarding the provision of Welsh-medium and English-medium 
primary school provision in and around the Butetown, Canton, Grangetown 
and Riverside areas. It was reported that a total of 259 responses were 
received.

Page 10



RESOLVED: that

The Cabinet is recommended to:

1. Authority be delegated to the Director of Education and the Director of 
Governance and Legal Services to publish an appropriate statutory notice 
to:

 increase the capacity of Ninian Park Primary School Primary School 
from 2FE to 3FE with additional part-time nursery places serving the 
age range 3-11 on its existing site from September 2017.

 establish a new 2 FE Welsh-medium primary school with nursery on the 
Hamadryad site located adjacent to the Hamadryad playing fields off 
Hamadryad Road, Cardiff.  The School is to open initially at 1FE only 
in temporary accommodation adjacent to the Ninian Park Primary 
School site in the accommodation formerly occupied by Ysgol Tan yr 
Eos on Virgil Street, Cardiff from September 2016 and transfer to its 
permanent site adjacent to Hamadryad Park from September 2017.

2. the approval of appropriation of the land at Sevenoakes Park in principle 
subject to public consultation in accordance with S122 of the Local 
Government Act 1972 be authorised

3. it be noted that subject to approval of the Governing Body the publication 
by the Governing Body of St Mary the Virgin Church in Wales Primary 
School of an appropriate statutory notice to make prescribed alterations to 
that school by increasing its capacity from 1FE to 2FE with nursery places 
from September 2017 to run concurrent with the Council’s notice(s).

4. prior to implementation of the proposal a further report be provided to the 
Cabinet providing details of any objections received, the proposed 
responses to those objections and recommendations for implementation 
or otherwise of the proposal.

85 HACKNEY CARRIAGE FARE INCREASE 

Following a public consultation on proposals received from Dragon Taxis to 
increase the Hackney Carriage Fare, Cabinet considered six representations 
that had been received with four in support and two objections to the proposed 
tariff increase. 

RESOLVED: that 

1. the representations in Appendix B of the report received for and against 
the decision taken by Cabinet on the 2 July 2015 to amend the tariff of 
fare be noted

2.  the application submitted by Dragon Taxis with an implementation 
date of 21 December 2015 be approved

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



A Report of the: 

Community and Adult Services Scrutiny 
Committee

Information, Advice and 
Assistance (IAA) Services for 

Mental Health Service Users in 
Cardiff 

DECEMBER 2015 

City of Cardiff  Council 

Item 2

Page 13

Agenda Item 2



 2 

CONTENTS 

 
CONTENTS ..................................................................................................... 2 

CHAIR’S FOREWORD .................................................................................... 3 
TERMS OF REFERENCE ............................................................................... 5 
KEY FINDINGS ............................................................................................... 6 
RECOMMENDATIONS ................................................................................. 13 
GOOD PRACTICE RE IAA SERVICE PROVISION ...................................... 16 

REQUIREMENTS OF THE ACT 2014 RE IAA .............................................. 22 
EXISTING LANDSCAPE ............................................................................... 26 

ISSUES WITH EXISTING IAA SERVICE PROVISION FOR MENTAL 
HEALTH ........................................................................................................ 32 
PREPARING FOR IMPLEMENTATION OF THE ACT ................................. 48 
INQUIRY METHODOLOGY........................................................................... 59 
BIBLIOGRAPHY ........................................................................................... 61 
GLOSSARY ................................................................................................... 63 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS ......................................................................... 64 
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS ................................................................................ 64 
COMMITTEE TERMS OF REFERENCE ....................................................... 65 

 
 
APPENDIX A – SCRUTINY RESEARCH REPORT ...................................... 66 

APPENDIX B – MENTAL HEALTH LANDSCAPE ....................................... 67 

APPENDIX C– EXTRACT FROM WELSH GOVERNMENT CODE OF 
GUIDANCE - CHAPTER FIVE ...................................................................... 79 
APPENDIX D – GOOD PRACTICE EXAMPLES AND CASE STUDIES ...... 88 

 

  

Page 14



 3 

CHAIR’S FOREWORD 

 

The Social Services and Well Being (Wales) Act 2014 requires a step change 

in local authority provision and partnership working. This Committee is aware 

of the work required to implement the Act and we wish to play a supportive 

role in this being successful. A key aspect of the Act is the requirement for 

local authorities to secure the provision of Information, Advice and Assistance 

services to people accessing care and support.  

Members therefore decided to undertake an Inquiry that focused on the work 

required to meet the specific requirements regarding Information, Advice and 

Assistance. These duties apply to all our population, to all social care service 

user groups and carers; however, in order for our scrutiny to be achievable 

and timely, Members decided to focus on one service user group. 

We chose mental health service users and their carers for several reasons: 

we know that this is a service user group that is growing; we know that a 

significant proportion of the population will suffer from mental health illness at 

some stage of their life and will need access to good quality information, 

advice and assistance services; and we know that other social care service 

user groups face a higher than average risk of suffering from mental health 

illness due to the increased pressures they face as a result of their needs and 

some societal responses to these needs. 

In order to understand service users’ and carers’ experience of existing 

services, this committee commissioned the Scrutiny Research team to 

undertake a survey and organise two focus groups. This research gave 

Members a valuable insight into the current position and ideas for what the 

Council and partner organisations can do to improve Information, Advice and 

Assistance services. 

We also spoke to many of the organisations that currently provide information, 

advice and assistance to mental health service users and their carers in 

Cardiff. Their experiences and ideas for what could usefully be improved in 

Cardiff have informed this Inquiry and our recommendations.  

Page 15



 4 

I wish to express my thanks to all those who contributed to this Inquiry, either 

in person or in writing. I particularly wish to thank Cardiff and Vale Action for 

Mental Health (CAVAMH) for their advice and assistance in developing and 

delivering the Scrutiny Research survey and to thank them and Diverse 

Cymru for their help in organising and facilitating the two focus groups. I also 

thank fellow committee members and scrutiny officers for their hard work 

during this Inquiry. 

I hope this report will be of assistance to all those preparing for the 

implementation of the Act. I firmly believe that, if the recommendations are 

accepted and implemented, they will improve Information, Advice and 

Assistance service provision in Cardiff, thus benefitting those that need help to 

access care and support. 

 

Councillor Mary McGarry 
Chair, Community & Adult Services Scrutiny Committee 
December 2015 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 16



 5 

TERMS OF REFERENCE 

 

 To investigate the work underway by statutory, voluntary and third 

sector organisations regarding: 

- Existing provision of information, advice and assistance services 

(IAA services) to existing and potential mental health service 

users in Cardiff1 

- Preparing for the implementation of the information, advice and 

assistance requirements of the Social Services and Well Being 

(Wales) Act 2014 (The Act). 

 

 To gather stakeholders’ views with regard to existing provision and 

implementing The Act. 

 

 To commission Scrutiny Research to undertake primary qualitative 

research with existing and potential mental health service users in 

Cardiff to gain their perceptions and views on the provision of these 

services. 

 
 To explore relevant best practice in external organisations and other 

local authorities, which is transferable to Cardiff. 

 
 To make evidence based recommendations to improve the way 

information, advice and assistance services for mental health service 

users are provided in Cardiff 

 

Members of the Task & Finish Group were: 

 Councillor Mary McGarry (Chair) 

 Councillor Chris Lomax 

 Councillor Eleanor Sanders. 

                                                           
1
 The IAA duties apply to all social services client groups. In order for an Inquiry on IAA to be 

achievable and timely, Members decided to focus on one client group. Members chose mental health 

service users given the increase in numbers in recent years in this client group as well as because 

people in other social services client groups have a higher likelihood of needing mental health services. 

Page 17



 6 

KEY FINDINGS 

 

HEADLINE FINDINGS   

KF1. There are existing IAA services in Cardiff, provided by Health and Third 

Sector partners, which are designed specifically to meet the needs of 

mental health service users, their carers and families. On their own 

these are not sufficient to meet the requirements of The Act 2014.  

 

KF2. The review of good practice undertaken to inform this Inquiry found that 

the following factors are key in determining the effectiveness of IAA 

provision: accessibility; timeliness; content quality; usefulness; and the 

interface experience. In addition, it is important to improve co-

ordination and signposting between information providers across 

professional boundaries, promote information sharing between all 

providers and involve service users in the design, implementation and 

evaluation of information advice and advocacy services. 

 

KF3. There is an opportunity to use the expressed willingness of Health and 

Third Sector partners to build on existing services to develop an 

approach to the provision of IAA services for mental health service 

users, their carers and families that accords with both the requirements 

of The Act 2014 and good practice. 

 
KF4. The Act 2014 builds on good practice and sets out that local authorities 

are required to secure provision of an IAA service that meets a national 

set of delivery standards, working with Health, the third sector and 

service users in the design, planning and development of the service 

and monitoring usage of the IAA service. This service will provide the 

primary entry point to the care and support system.  

 
 

 

 

 

Page 18



 7 

MAIN FINDINGS 

 

Existing Provision in Cardiff 

KF5. There is a multiplicity of mental health services available in Cardiff, 

provided by health services, adult social services and third sector 

groups. 

 

KF6. There are several existing information, advice and assistance services 

available in Cardiff for adults with mental health needs. However, 

evidence presented to the Inquiry demonstrated that the existing 

services are not joined up, as they have tended to develop individually 

and in response to particular needs, in a reactive way. 

 

Accessibility 

KF7. GPs currently play a central role with regards to co-ordinating access to 

mental health services. However, Members heard that it is not 

appropriate to rely solely on GPs to provide IAA services for the 

following reasons: it risks over-medicalising the provision of IAA 

services for mental health service users and/ or their carers; it can be 

difficult to obtain a GP appointment in a timely manner; some mental 

health service users find it problematic waiting in a GP surgery; and 

some clients do not relate well to their GP and would need a different 

route for IAA service provision. 

 
KF8. There are currently a number of issues that cause existing IAA services 

in Cardiff to be inaccessible for a number of people. Members heard 

that there are barriers preventing access to IAA services, including the 

stigma associated with mental health, concerns people often have 

about what will happen to their loved ones if Social Services becomes 

involved in their lives, language barriers and a lack of childcare. 

 

Page 19



 8 

KF9. In addition, the evidence shows that, even when people want to access 

IAA services, they often do not know how to access the available IAA 

services and do not know where to go to find help in accessing these 

services. 52% of those responding to the Scrutiny Research survey 

stated that they did not know where to go or how to find out where to 

go to get help. 

 

 

Timeliness 

KF10. Good practice regarding timely access to IAA is not currently evident in 

Cardiff, both in terms of being able to access IAA services at the right 

stage of the care pathway as well as being able to have quick access 

to IAA services. This links to the above finding that accessibility of IAA 

is poor. 

 

 
Quality 
 
KF11. Overall, once IAA services are accessed, the Scrutiny Research 

findings showed that approximately three quarters of service users 

have a good experience of these services, in terms of ease of 

understanding, the content quality, the relevance and the usefulness of 

the IAA provided. 

 
 

Interface Experience 

KF12. The evidence to the Inquiry demonstrated that the just over half of all 

respondents to our research felt they were treated positively. However, 

there was a breadth of respondent views on interface experiences, 

ranging from “compassionate” and “caring” through to “indifferent”, 

“rude” and “disrespectful”.  

 

KF13. The range of interface experiences reflects the landscape described to 

this Inquiry, with regard to disparate provision, changing working place 

culture and patchy relationship building across teams, sectors and 

Page 20



 9 

individuals. A practical example of this is the lack of a system in place 

to monitor the distribution of third sector information to mental health 

service users in hospital clinic settings. 

 

KF14. Mental health care professionals recognised the picture described in 

the research report, and by other witnesses, and recognised the need 

to improve workplace culture. Members heard that work is on-going to 

achieve this by embedding the Recovery Model, which requires a 

person-centred approach, and a consequent enhancement in working 

practices and culture. 

 
 
 
Effectiveness 
 
KF15. With regard to the effectiveness of the IAA provision, nearly two fifths of 

research responses indicated existing provision is ineffective. The 

reasons given for this reflect the issues detailed above. In addition, 

responses highlighted that ineffective service could relate to low staff 

numbers, time restrictions facing IAA services and resource pressures. 

 

The City of Cardiff Council’s proposed approach to 

implementation of The Act  

KF16. This Inquiry heard that there are four main strands to the City of Cardiff 

Council’s proposed approach to meet the IAA requirements of the Act, 

which are: a directory of services; a ‘first point of contact’; improving the 

Council’s website to enable self-assessment; and using the Hubs to 

provide information and to signpost to advice, assistance and 

assessment. 

 

KF17. The Council has decided to join the national directory of services, 

Dewis Cymru, and work is underway to upload local data in January 

2016. The Directory will be available online, via Hubs and visiting 

officers will use it when assisting clients via handheld devices. 

 

Page 21



 10 

KF18. The first point of contact will be subsumed into the wider Customer 

Relationship Management process (CRM) as that is rolled out across 

the Council and will then include all customers and client groups 

including mental health. 

 
KF19. The Stepiau website, jointly supported by Health and the Council, 

already provides self-assessment and self-referral for mental health 

service users in Cardiff and so the Council’s website will not seek to 

duplicate this. 

 
KF20. Hubs will be used to provide information, signpost clients and assist 

clients to access assessments. 

 
 
 

Ensuring accessibility 

KF21. This Inquiry heard that the accessibility of IAA services can be boosted 

or hindered depending on the language used to describe access, as 

terms can be confusing to service users, carers, families and 

professionals alike. Examples cited to the Inquiry were ‘first point of 

contact’, ‘single point of entry’ and ‘gateway’, which can be interpreted 

differently depending on one’s previous experience.    

 

KF22. The Inquiry heard that the Council’s website and the Directory of 

Services will be available in English and Welsh, as would publicity 

materials to promote these. Members heard that the existing Stepiau 

website is already available in English and Welsh and will soon be 

available in eight of the most common other community languages in 

Cardiff. 

 

KF23. Members heard that staff in Council Hubs already provide services in a 

range of community languages and this would continue, as would work 

with community groups. 

 

  

Page 22



 11 

Regional approach 

KF24. Members heard evidence that there is work towards a regional 

approach, with discussions taking place as part of the ‘readiness’ work 

for implementation of the SSWB Act. The City of Cardiff Council and 

the Vale of Glamorgan Council are piloting differing approaches re IAA 

services with the aim of sharing learning. 

 

KF25. Witnesses welcome a regional approach but take differing approaches 

to this to reflect the need of their service users and organisations. The 

final approach to regional working needs to enhance these rather than 

diminish this provision. 

 

Service Design and Planning 

KF26. Members heard clear evidence from all the external witnesses that the 

IAA requirements of The Act had not been raised or discussed with 

them by the Council. Indeed, several witnesses stated that the first time 

they were aware of the IAA requirements was when they were 

contacted by scrutiny officers to seek their participation in the Inquiry. 

For example, the Cardiff & Vale University Health Board (UHB) is 

focused on treatment in clinical settings and responding to changes in 

mental health service requirements. At the time of giving evidence to 

the Inquiry, they stated they had limited awareness of the requirements 

of The Act but expressed a readiness to work in partnership with the 

local authority to implement these requirements effectively.  

 

KF27. All those currently involved in the provision of IAA services to mental 

health service users who gave evidence to the Inquiry demonstrated a 

clear willingness to work with the Council to design, plan and develop 

IAA services that meet the requirements of The Act. There is a clear 

plea not to re-invent the wheel but to use the knowledge and 

mechanisms that already exist. 

 
Page 23



 12 

Appropriate Training 

KF28. Members heard time and again that it was critical for frontline staff to 

receive appropriate training, such as mental health first aid training, 

which is a step on from mental health awareness training. Members 

heard that the Cardiff and Vale University Health Board may have 

available funding for this training and that Cardiff Mind provides this 

training for a number of organisations in Cardiff, including the Cardiff 

and Vale University Health Board. 

 

KF29. Diverse Cymru highlighted the need for staff to receive multicultural 

awareness training to ensure that the needs of minority ethnic mental 

health service users, their carers and families are recognised, 

understood and met appropriately. 

 

KF30. Members note the willingness of the UHB’s witness to use the evidence 

provided by the Scrutiny Research Report to redesign their staff 

training to ensure that the issues raised are incorporated and can be 

addressed. 

 

 

Monitoring Requirements 

KF31. The draft code of guidance sets out the monitoring requirements, which 

are: nature of the enquiry; which type of service the enquirer was 

signposted to; and core data. It also details data they recommend 

collecting to help with further service improvement e.g. customer 

feedback and the information exchange route used, such as website/ 

phone call/ visit. 

 

 

 

  

Page 24



 13 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

These recommendations build on the Key Findings of this Inquiry and are 

designed to assist in ensuring the effective implementation of the IAA 

requirements of the Act. Members suggest that, on acceptance of the Cabinet 

Response to this Inquiry, the Act Implementation Plan is revised and updated 

to reflect recommendations that are accepted, to ensure work to implement 

these recommendations is captured and monitored. The Committee will then 

be able to use the Act Implementation Plan monitoring reports to track 

progress with implementing agreed recommendations, rather than requesting 

a separate progress report. 

Implementation Approach 

R1. Hold a meeting, by end of January 2016, with the Cardiff & Vale 

University Health Board and relevant third sector organisations to: 

a. build on the awareness raising and goodwill evident from this 

Inquiry; and 

b. to design, plan and develop IAA services for mental health 

service users and carers that meet the requirements of the Act. 

(KFs 1- 6 inclusive, KFs 16-20 inclusive and KFs 26-27) 

 

R2. Seek assurance from the Welsh Government, by end of February 

2016, that Cardiff Council’s proposed approach to IAA services for 

mental health service users and carers is compliant with the 

requirements of the Act, including the proposed regional approach with 

the Vale of Glamorgan Council. 

(KF4, KF7, KF 16-20 inclusive and KFs 24- 25) 

 

Improving Accessibility 

R3. Ensure that the provision of IAA services for mental health service 

users and carers in Cardiff do not rely solely on accessing IAA services 

via GPs. 

(KF 7) 

Page 25



 14 

R4. As part of the IAA service provision for mental health service users and 

carers, use the existing Stepiau website and CAVAMH Directory of 

Services and signpost to these from the Council’s website and 

Directory of Services. 

(KF17, KF19, KF22 and KF27) 

 

R5. Develop a communication strategy to promote the IAA services that 

addresses the barriers to accessibility identified in this report, by:  

a. Addressing the stigma attached to mental health; 

b. Addressing  the myths and perceptions regarding Social 

Services; 

c. Using the 10 main community languages of Cardiff to promote 

the IAA services; 

d. Being culturally appropriate on every channel/ platform; 

e. Providing ‘easy read’ versions of communications materials; 

f. Using clear definitions. 

(KF4, KF8, KF9, KF10, KF21, KF22 and KF23) 

 

R6. Work with the Cardiff and Vale University Health Board, CAVAMH and 

other relevant third sector organisations to: 

a.  improve information sharing, coordination and signposting 

across sectors; and  

b. put in place monitoring arrangements to capture whether 

information is reaching those that need it, in a timely manner. 

(KF2, KF9, KF10, KF13, KF17, KF18, KF19) 

 

Training  

R7. Within six months, put in place mental health first aid training and 

multicultural awareness training for all Hubs frontline staff and first point 

of contact staff and all Cardiff Council frontline staff involved in 

delivering IAA services. 

(KFs16-20 inclusive, KF28 & KF29) 

 

Page 26



 15 

R8. Within six months, investigate whether funding is available from Cardiff 

and Vale University Health Board and other routes to finance the 

mental health first aid training and multicultural awareness training for 

Cardiff Council frontline staff. 

(KF28) 

 

R9. Within six months, work with UHB to ensure the redesign of staff 

training for all integrated teams addresses the issues raised in the 

Scrutiny Research Report regarding working place culture are 

incorporated and addressed. 

(KFs12- 14 inclusive KF30) 

 

Monitoring 

R10. By the commencement of the Act, put in place monitoring 

arrangements that meet the requirements of the Act. 

(KF31) 

  

Page 27



 16 

GOOD PRACTICE RE IAA SERVICE PROVISION 

 

1. To inform the approach taken during the Inquiry, Members considered a 

number of publications detailing good practice with regard to Information, 

Advice and Assistance Services, hereafter referred to as IAA services. 

Several of these came about as a result of the requirement in England, 

since 2010, for local authorities to ensure access to universal information 

and advice services, contained in Putting People First2.  

 

2. Since then, the Care Act 2014 has required English local authorities to 

give priority to information and advice and take a whole system approach 

by linking with the range of ongoing work to improve the provision of 

information and advice, ensuring people know where and how to access 

information, are given consistent advice and are not passed from pillar to 

post3. 

 

3. The Care Act 2014 advocates that English local authorities develop local 

strategies that emphasise a joined-up approach across agencies. As part 

of this Inquiry, Members looked at several examples of Information and 

Advice Strategies which other English local authorities have developed 

to meet the requirements contained in the Care Act 2014. Many of these 

focus on three main elements: increasing awareness of sources of 

information and advice; managing/ organising the information; and 

delivery mechanisms, as shown in diagrammatic form below: 

 
 

 

 

 

 

                                                           
2
 Putting People First applies in England and is a concordat, published by the Department of Health in 

2007, which details the transformation of adult social care services. 
3
 Taken from : http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/Browse/Informationandadvice/Information-

and-Advice-Strategy-Toolkit/About-the-toolkit/ 

Page 28



 17 

 

 

 

4. When taken together, the following key factors are commonly cited as 

determining the appropriateness and quality of IAA services: 

 
• accessibility of information, advice and assistance. 

• timeliness of information, advice and assistance.  

• content quality of information, advice and assistance. 

• usefulness of information and advice. 

• interface experience - between person seeking advice and 

information and person providing information and advice, from 

perspective of person seeking advice and information. 

 

5. In terms of accessibility, good practice guides highlight the following: 

• Ensure there is awareness raising of information and advice 

services amongst the public. 

• Ensure information is available in a range of formats and 

channels and is accessible to all groups. 

• Ensure that information needs for all groups are met. 

• Tailor services to meet to individual needs and preferences. 

• Recognise the needs of minority communities. 

• Ensure information is instantly available to take away. 

Page 29



 18 

6. In terms of timeliness, good practice guides highlight the following: 

•  Provide information and services related to points in people’s        

lives when support is needed e.g. decline in health; onset of 

illness or disability; bereavement; start of caring role; life 

transitions – adulthood, retirement; transition between services. 

• Ensuring there is sufficient time to consider the information, 

advice and assistance given. 

 
7. With regard to content quality, good practice guides highlight the 

following: 

• Information should meet quality standards. 

• There should be consistency of services. 

• Information should be available on services and products that 

are available both locally and nationally. 

• Information should cover the aims of a service, who it is for, 

what it does, when it is available, how much it costs and how 

to access it. 

• Individuals should be able to find out about the quality of a 

service/ product from star ratings, accreditations, local 

authority reviews and customer reviews. 

• Comprehensive financial information on current services 

should be provided to inform future options. 

• Information and advice should be free to the consumer until 

they need more specialist advice, advocacy or support 

planning. This will then need to be costed out and included in 

contracts to be to be charged to organisations or individuals, 

depending on need. 

 

8. With regard to usefulness, good practice guides highlight that 

information and advice services should: 

• Help clients to understand their problem. 

• Resolve queries and/ or offer a range of solutions. 

• Advise on waiting list times. 

 

Page 30



 19 

9. In terms of interface experiences, good practice guides highlight the 

following: 

• Services should be able to provide explanations in a clear 

language that is easy to follow. 

• Services should play a role in supporting clients both emotionally 

and practically. 

 

10. Good practice guides also cover the principles by which IAA services 

should be developed, highlighting the following: 

• The strategic significance of providing good quality information 

should be understood by all stakeholders. 

• Improve co-ordination and signposting between information 

providers across professional/governmental boundaries. 

• Promote information sharing between all providers. 

• Involve service users in the design, implementation and 

evaluation of information advice and advocacy services. 

• Define clear responsibility for service provision. 

• Support organisations to improve their information, advice and 

advocacy provision. 

• Find out what works and what does not work. 

• Recognise the potential new roles of social workers. 

 

11. In addition, a literature review undertaken by Andrew Dunning, JRF4 

(2005), found four common overarching principles apparent within the 

literature on information, advice and advocacy for older people, as 

follows: 

• Independence: being independent helps to ensure that the 

needs and interests of the older person remain paramount. 

Clear conflicts of interest can arise where service providers also 

offer information, advice and advocacy relating to the services 

they themselves deliver. 

• Empowerment: information and advice can help to ensure that 

older people are aware of their circumstances and options as 

                                                           
4
 Joseph Rowntree Foundation 

Page 31



 20 

well as the services and support they may require to take, and to 

remain in, control. Advocacy should enable older people to find 

and use their own voice wherever possible, as well as being 

about speaking up on their behalf if needed. 

• Inclusion: information, advice and advocacy are ways of 

supporting older people to become involved in decision making 

and to be included in the life of the community. Inclusion also 

means that these services should themselves be accessible and 

that older people should have equal opportunities to be involved 

in managing, developing and delivering as well as using them. 

• Citizenship: older people may need to be informed, advised or 

represented in order to secure and exercise their rights and 

entitlements as citizens. This relates both to basic human rights 

and to consumer rights and entitlements to particular goods and 

services. 

 

12. The IDeA guide ‘Transforming Adult Social Care: Access to Information, 

Advice and Advocacy’ (2009) sets out numerous examples of good 

practice across the country. Some of the examples of good practice are 

highlighted below, with further practice examples, case studies and 

website links provided in Appendix D.  Further details of all the good 

practice publications are contained in the bibliography to this report. 

 

 

 
Stockport’s My Care My Choice website (www.mycaremycoice.org.uk) 
invites visitors to choose options based on service-orientated 
questions. Options are presented as big buttons with short text in 
simple language with appropriate images. It also provides on-line tools, 
such as a benefits calculator, and basic assessment and eligibility 
details to enable people to self-serve information. 
 
MyManchesterServices 
(www.manchester.gov.uk/mymanchesterservices) offers a web-based 
information directory with links from the home page in relation to life 
events as well as services. It provides information about services and 
community groups which can be searched in relation to an address or 
location.  
 

Page 32



 21 

In Tower Hamlets a team of outreach workers is funded under the 
LinkAge Plus initiative. They work with their communities, both 
geographical and communities of interest. They link people to 
resources and do some capacity building. They target people who are 
isolated by disability, language or culture. They work through 
established advice outlets and centres and have access to legal advice. 
 
In Gloucestershire, information and advice is linked to community 
development/ building social capital and reaching isolated people 
through ‘Village Agents developed through LinkAge Plus. There are also 
Community Agents who deliver services in community languages. 
Agents work through community networks, do home safety and 
benefits checks and link to social activities, support and care. 
 
In Tower Hamlets people with disabilities and their supporters provide 
a range of information, advice and advocacy, including writing specific 
leaflets, providing information about and support into employment, 
information and support in relation to benefits and peer information 
and support for people with learning disabilities. 
 
In Leeds ‘neighbourhood networks’ are established throughout the 
city. They are voluntary sector organisations, locally ‘owned’, 
governed and managed and deliver a range of services, support and 
activities including information, advice and advocacy and other 
initiatives that support independence and wellbeing. The focus is 
prevention. Networks also support people with social care self 
assessments and support statutory services with delivery of specific 
initiatives. 
 
Kent Council’s website includes the facility for self assessment (which 
is mainly completed with support), together with access to the Care 
Services Directory, which is formed of entries from providers and 
includes price, required links to CSCI reports and links to maps. The 
directory can be searched by location. It is hoped to add service 
availability to this. This started as a residential care database and 
domiciliary care is being added. 
 

  

Page 33



 22 

 

REQUIREMENTS OF THE ACT 2014 RE IAA 

 

13. Part 2, Section 17 of The Act 2014 ‘places a duty on local authorities to 

secure the provision of a service to provide people with information and 

advice relating to care and support and assistance in accessing care and 

support.’5 The Director of Social Services is responsible for ensuring the 

design, plan and delivery of the model meets the duties of the local 

authority. 

 

14. The Welsh Government Executive Summary states: 

 
 ‘As a minimum this service must include the provision of information on: 

• How the care and support system operates; 

• The types of care and support available; 

• How to access this care and support; and 

• How to raise concerns. 
 

Local authorities currently provide an information service but their 

provision will need to be enhanced to meet the new duties. The aim is 

to secure a service which is accessible to all people and provides the 

critical entry point to the new system. The Service will be central to the 

delivery of care and support and will play a key role in assessing a 

person’s need for care and support and directing people to the most 

appropriate solution to meet their needs. It will enable early intervention 

and preventative support to reduce the need for managed care and 

support… There are no regulation-making powers in relation to this 

section in the Act. Instead, Chapter 5 of the code sets out requirements 

for the service including: 

• An accessible service available to all people; 

• National delivery standards; 

• A skilled workforce; 

                                                           
5
 Welsh Government Executive Summary ‘Implementation of the Social Services and Well-being 

(Wales) Act 2014 

Page 34



 23 

• A service configured on an LHB regional footprint basis as a 

minimum; 

• An integrated approach with health, the third and independent 

sectors; 

• Recording personal data through the simple assessment 

process; and 

• Recording management data for performance and future 

planning.’ 

 

15. To assist with preparation and implementation of The Act, the Welsh 

Government is preparing Codes of Guidance. Chapter 5 of the draft 

Code is attached at Appendix C of this report. The draft Code was out 

for consultation till 2 February 2015 and the final Code is awaited. A 

definition is provided for each of ‘information’, ‘advice’ and ‘assistance’, 

as follows:  

 

Information:  

Information will be quality data / material that supports a person to make an 

informed choice about their well-being. This will include financial 

information, and information on direct payments, information on charges, 

and other matters that would enable someone to plan how to meet their 

care and support needs, or support needs if they were a carer. 

 

Advice:  

Advice will be a way of working co-productively with a person to explore the 

options available and offer guidance to them about making the most suitable 

choice to overcome barriers they may face to achieving their personal well-

being outcomes. The provision of advice will require the service provider to 

conduct a simple assessment and to record basic personal data and the 

advice given.  

 

Assistance:  

Assistance, if needed, will follow the provision of information and advice. 

Assistance will involve another person taking action with the enquirer, to 

support the enquirer to access care and support, or a carer to access 

support. Responsibility for the activity undertaken is shared between the 

giver and receiver of the assistance. The provision of assistance will also 

require the service to conduct a simple assessment and to record any 

additional personal data and details of the assistance offered and taken up 

by the enquirer.  

Page 35



 24 

16.  Other key points that are made within the Chapter 5 of the draft Code 

are: 

• IAA service will be available to all people in the local area, including 

those in the ‘secure estate’; 

• IAA must be accessible and suit the needs of the local authority 

population;  

• IAA service will be provided via a range of media and formats and be 

available 24/7;  

• IAA service will provide the primary entry point to the care and 

support system; 

• IAA service will provide access to relevant, accurate, high quality and 

timely IAA; 

• IAA service will provide information and advice about how to raise 

concerns about the well-being of another person who appears to 

have care and support needs; 

• IAA service will provide information and advice on care and support 

services, as well as preventative well-being services, Direct 

Payments, charges for care and support, local advocacy services and 

complaints procedure; 

• Guidance is provided on the recording and monitoring that IAA 

service would need to implement for national management 

information purposes;  

• Safeguarding duties will be acted on immediately and without delay; 

• Staff working for the IAA service will consist of ‘a team which reflects 

a mix of skills and experience from a range of professionals from the 

social care, health, third and independent sectors’; staff will be skilled 

to undertake a simple assessment, in line with Part 3 of the Act 

relating to Assessing Needs, which will be followed up by a specialist 

assessment where required; 

• A communications strategy must be produced to promote the IAA 

service; 

• There is a list of the National Service Delivery Standards that will 

apply to the IAA service – these are shown at point 275, Appendix C. 

 

 

Page 36



 25 

17.  Chapter 5 of the draft Code makes it clear that the new IAA service ‘is a 

shift from information about services to information about people and 

their care and support needs to enable them to better help themselves 

and others.’ It also states that ‘local authorities should consider their 

duties to promote social enterprises, co-operatives and user-led services 

in order to approach the development of the Service in an innovative 

way.’ 

 

18. Chapter 5 of the draft Code states that ‘local authorities must work 

together to ensure the IAA service is consistent so that people find 

information easy to access in local authorities which are not their 

ordinary residence.’  

 
19. Chapter 5 of the draft Code stresses the need for integrated services, 

with local authorities working across departments, with local health 

boards and NHS trusts, and with other information and advice services 

at a local, regional and national level, with the aim of reducing 

duplication and ensuring the most appropriate and skilled agency 

provides the IAA service. Local authorities have to engage with the Local 

Health Board, NHS partners, the third sector, private providers and 

representatives of the community in the design, planning and 

development of the IAA Service.  

 
20. The Welsh Government has issued a two side briefing entitled the 

‘Implications of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act for the 

NHS in Wales.’ This states that, with regard to Section 17: Provision of 

information, advice and assistance, ‘A Local Health Board or an NHS 

Trust is required to provide the local authority with information about the 

care and support it provides in the respective local authority area.’  

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 37



 26 

EXISTING LANDSCAPE  

 

Local Mental Health and Wellbeing Needs Analysis 

 

21. The Cardiff and Vale Local Mental Health Partnership Board Annual 

Report 2013-14 contains the following information: 

 

• As at March 2013, there were 4,111 people with a diagnosis of a 

serious mental illness in Cardiff and the Vale. It is predicted that, in 

Cardiff and the Vale, we would expect to find 74 new cases of 

psychosis per annum, between the ages of 16-64; 

• In Cardiff the number of persons age 30 and over predicted to have 

dementia in 2013 was 3,577 rising to 5,242 in 2030. There are 

2,485 people with a diagnosis of dementia on GP registers in 

Cardiff and Vale. When adjusted to take account of the age 

structure of the population, the dementia rate is 2.9 per 1,000 

people, compared to 2.7 per 1,000 people for Wales as a whole. 

However, according to the Alzheimer’s Society, this represented 

only 46% of people with dementia in the community; therefore 

under-diagnosis is an issue, despite Cardiff and Vale having the 

best detection rate in Wales; 

• According to the Welsh Health Survey 2011-12, 11% (age-

standardised) of adults in Wales reported currently being treated for 

a mental illness and this is identical to the Cardiff and Vale 

prevalence of 11%. This is likely to be an underestimate of the 

people who have a mental illness as surveys suggest that in 

England 16% of people have a common mental illness; 

• Cardiff has large numbers of students and disproportionately fewer 

older people. As a higher proportion of mental disorders develop 

between the ages of 14 to 20, Cardiff has greater incidence of 

mental illness.6 

 

                                                           
6
 Please see Appendix B for full extract and references to source documents. 

Page 38



 27 

22.  In addition, Members heard that there was increasing demand for 

services to assist people with low level mental health illnesses, such as 

anxiety, and a fourfold increase in referrals to Community Mental Health 

Teams. 

 

Existing Mental Health Service Provision in Cardiff 

 

23. There is a range of existing mental health services provided in Cardiff, by 

the Cardiff and Vale University Health Board, Cardiff Council Adult Social 

Services and third sector organisations. Further details of these are 

provided at Appendix B along with details of relevant legislation and 

strategies.  

 

24. Members heard that, following the implementation of the Mental Health 

Measure in 2004, health, local authorities and the third sector all now 

work via GP surgeries, liaising over caseloads and referrals, including 

well-being issues. This has led to the establishment of new services, 

such as the low level anxiety team which receives approximately 1,000 

referrals a month.  

 
25. Members heard that there is a mixed economy of leadership, with all 

community teams integrated between the local authorities and health, 

with health leading on Adult Services teams and local authorities leading 

on Older People Mental Health teams. 

 

26. There are many different services provided by third sector organisations 

in Cardiff which aim to meet general and specific mental health needs, 

including:  

• Cardiff Mind - an open access service that provides 

accommodation and support, day services, debt and welfare 

advice, personal development courses, training, counselling and 

activities;  

• The Alzheimer’s Society - provides support and advice services, 

dementia café, information packs for memory clinics and groups 

for service users and their families; 

Page 39



 28 

• Diverse Cymru - provides direct payment, self-directed and 

independent living support, a BME mental health and 

befriending service including Health and Social Care Advocacy, 

family support, welfare benefit, income maximisation, tribunal, 

and general advocacy and advice for people; 

• YMCA – Steps project provides advice, support and 

accommodation for mental health service users.   

 

27. The above list is intended to give a representation of some of the mental 

health services Members were made aware of as part of this Inquiry; 

Members are aware that it is not exhaustive and that there are many 

other third sector organisations providing services in Cardiff to mental 

health service users, their carers and families.  

 

Existing IAA Service Provision re Mental Health in Cardiff 

 

28. There are several existing IAA services available in Cardiff for adults with 

mental health needs. These have developed in response to Welsh 

Government requirements and in response to requests from service 

users, as opposed to being planned and designed. As a consequence, 

existing services are not joined up and operate in parallel to one another. 

 

29. The Cardiff and Vale University Health Board has its own IAA services, 

which cover medical information and diagnoses as well as more general 

well-being leaflets. In addition, the PMHSS7 has worked with the Council 

and Third Sector to develop the Stepiau website (www.stepiau.org/) that 

provides information, self-help assessments and links to groups re 

primary mental health support services in Cardiff and the Vale and can 

mean that people can access these without having to see a mental 

health professional.  

 
 

30. Health staff, local authority officers and third sector organisations can all 

signpost people to use Stepiau. The information on the Stepiau website 

                                                           
7
 PMHSS stands for Primary Mental Health Support Services 

Page 40

http://www.stepiau.org/


 29 

is being translated into the main 10 community languages for Cardiff, 

including English and Welsh. At the moment, Stepiau has about 1,000 

people using it a month, for Cardiff and the Vale, and the trajectory is 

upward; whilst this is good news in terms of addressing stigma it may 

lead to increased demand for services, which will need resourcing.  

 
 

Screenshot of Stepiau Website Home Page 

 

 

31. There are several third sector organisations that provide IAA services, in 

addition to those listed at point 5 above, including CAVAMH and 

Riverside Advice Centre. CAVAMH8 is a mental health development 

service, providing an overarching reach across 89 third sector groups 

with an interest in mental health, service users and carers and aiming to 

help link these together to improve planning and service delivery, 

including links regarding housing and homelessness, minority ethnic 

issues and counselling.  

 

 

                                                           
8
 cavamh stands for Cardiff and Vale Action on Mental Health 

Page 41



 30 

 

32. CAVAMH provides the following specific IAA services: 

 
• Nexus – for older people, primarily with dementia related mental 

health illnesses; 

• Sefyll – for people using adult mental health services 18 years 

plus; and 

• Information sharing via networks, websites, leaflets and via the 

Mental Health Services Directory for Cardiff and the Vale of 

Glamorgan on the CAVAMH website, currently being updated. 

  

33. In addition, Members heard that, since 2000, Riverside Advice has been 

funded by the Cardiff and Vale University Health Board to deliver 

specialist welfare benefits and debt advice to people with Mental Health 

Illnesses. In 2008 this service was enhanced when a successful 

application was made for a grant from Cardiff Council Adult Services for 

Carers of people with mental health illnesses. However, this service 

ceased in October 2014, following the review of Advice Services.  

 

34. The City of Cardiff Council has a series of Hubs across Cardiff, based in 

libraries or bespoke community buildings, which provide IAA services on 

a range of topics. Members heard that, whilst it is unusual for someone 

to come to a Hub to specifically ask for help about mental health illness, 

staff are trained to be aware of mental health needs, how to deal with 

these and how to refer onwards appropriately. All staff have received 

mental health awareness training, Hubs host dementia-friendly groups 

and staff ensure clients see the same member of staff and so do not 

have to repeat their history, staff refer to social services if a client is a 

mental health service user or to the tenant support service, which offers 

third sector support re housing issues, and staff refer to the Stepiau 

website as well. Adult Social Services have a good relationship with the 

Hubs, with onward referrals for screening, signposting etc.  

 
 
 

Page 42



 31 

35. In addition to these specific services, people in Cardiff can also access 

lAA help, such as: 

• National Crisis Call Line -   provided by NHS Wales. 

• Community Advice and Listening Line (C.A.L.L.) – to take 

emergency calls out of hours re giving IAA. 

• Solace - a 9am-5pm helpline for Cardiff and the Vale, to deal 

with crises associated with dementia. 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 43



 32 

 

ISSUES WITH EXISTING IAA SERVICE PROVISION 

FOR MENTAL HEALTH 

 

36. This Inquiry sought the views of all witnesses regarding the existing 

provision of IAA services in Cardiff for mental health service users, their 

carers and families. In addition, the Scrutiny Research team conducted a 

survey on the experiences of those who have accessed information, 

advice and/or assistance services in Cardiff relating to mental health for 

themselves or for those they care for. Young people and people from 

minority ethnic communities were under-represented in the responses 

received to the survey. In order to address this, focus groups were held 

with these groups, with the assistance of Barnardo’s and Diverse Cymru. 

All three evidence sources have been used to inform the findings below. 

The full results of the survey are presented in the report attached at 

Appendix A. 

 

Accessibility  

37. The Inquiry heard that there are several barriers preventing easy access 

to existing IAA services, including: 

• The stigma attached to mental illness;  

• The concerns some people have that involving social services 

will be detrimental to their and their family’s well-being;  

• The lack of IAA service provision that meets the needs of 

minority ethnic communities, both culturally and in terms of 

appropriate language provision; 

• The need for childcare provision to enable parents to access 

service provision. 

 

Stigma 

38.  With regard to the stigma still associated with mental health illness, 

Members heard that this was the biggest barrier to accessing mental 

health services and that it was a reality affecting many service users: 

Page 44



 33 

“mental health really needs to be brought to the front as there is not a lot 

of info out there for the needy; mental health is still regarded as a bit of a 

taboo subject’’ 

 

‘I know with people from my background – Pakistan, India or whatever 

places – people don’t like talking about mental health. They think it’s 

really bad. There’s a massive stigma about it.” 

 

39. Members heard that work was being undertaken by the third sector to 

promote positive images of mental health, to try to tackle the stigma, and 

to avoid over-medicalising mental health illness unnecessarily. This fits 

with Part 1 of the Mental Health Measure regarding the provision of 

information and positive images of mental health illness. Members also 

heard that the Cardiff and Vale University Health Board is working with a 

Black and Minority Ethnic network group to help build relationships and 

rapport with communities in order to be able to discuss mental health 

issues. 

 

Perceptions 

40. Members also heard that there is a lot of fear amongst people who have 

a mental health illness regarding statutory agencies, such as social 

services, and this fear can prevent people seeking statutory help. 

Witnesses cited cases where clients had raised concerns that social 

services will ‘take their kids off them’, or ‘not allow them access to their 

children’ or ‘put their loved one in a home’. Witnesses were clear that 

they tackle these myths by explaining to clients what their rights are and 

how they will work with them to provide support.  

 

Language provision 

41. Members also heard repeated evidence that there are additional barriers 

faced by ethnic minority people, due to a lack of IAA services in 

appropriate languages: 

 
“He didn't have any information in his own language at all. None at all” 

 

“Especially with people who can’t speak the language, English. They 
can’t do it, and they don’t… some of the people that we are helping, me 

Page 45



 34 

and my mum, they can’t access anything by themselves, because they 
can’t speak the language. That’s something that they really need to put 
in place.”   

 

 

Cultural barriers 

42. Members heard that the barriers faced by ethnic minority people did not 

solely focus on language and therefore simply providing interpreters was 

not sufficient; more was needed to address cultural differences: 

 
“Not even just to have interpreters. Because with interpreters, there are 

certain things you will say and an interpreter will just not really 

understand and maybe interpret it in a different way. But if you are 

trained in that field, if someone says something, you’ll understand it in a 

different way.”  

 

“…she’s an interpreter. She’s properly qualified…And she helps this 

other person who’s got depression and stuff. Even…(her) 

understanding is a bit difficult. But because she’s got mental health 

awareness, she knows quite a lot…You need someone who 

understands to be interpreting, or you need the actual person to 

understand as well. It’s not just language. Cultural barriers, as well.”  

 

“There should be more support for ethnic minorities to help address 

their cultural needs, ‘There should be more things for the black minority 

ethnic community with mental health. Where you’ve got cultural 

differences.” 

 
 

Childcare provision 

43. With regard to child care provision, Members heard that a lack of it can 

prevent people from accessing services: 

 

“I have to go back to my GP which is very difficult as I am a single 

mother and my youngest child is not yet in nursery. I don’t have anyone 

to look after him and I don’t think it’s appropriate to take him to an 

appointment to discuss my mental health. I also wouldn’t be able to 

concentrate.” 

“childcare provision when people are accessing services”  

“assisting with childcare for appointments if required”  

 

Page 46



 35 

Lack of awareness 

44. In addition to these barriers, Members heard that there are problems with 

accessing existing services due to either a lack of awareness of service 

provision and/or how to access service provision as well as perceptions 

of issues regarding ‘service gatekeepers’ who can prevent people 

getting the IAA they need.  

 

45. Members heard from third sector organisations that often they hear from 

their clients that they did not know IAA services were available, how to 

access them or where to go to find help in accessing IAA services. 

 
“Often service users say that initially they had no idea where to go for 

information, advice, support and assistance when the diagnosis is first 

made.” 

 
“BME people, especially asylum seekers and refugees, have informed 

us that they are not given any information on how to access support in 

relation to their mental health condition. The delays in accessing G.P. 

appointments, which is the only route to accessing support that many 

BME people are aware of can lead to deterioration in mental health 

before support is accessed.” 

 
46.  The results of the Scrutiny Research survey support these statements 

and professionals working in the mental health sector stated that the 

Scrutiny Research report results were an accurate reflection that 

mirrored their experience. 

 
47. The Scrutiny Research survey found that, overall, only 48% of those 

responding to the survey currently know where to go or how to find out 

where to go to get help. 

 

Page 47



 36 

 

 
 

48. When the Scrutiny Research survey responses are split into service user 

and carer respondents, the results show that the majority of carers either 

knew where to go or how to find out where to go (56%) compared to a 

minority of service users either knowing where to go or how to find out 

where to go (46%). 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

I had no idea 
where I should 

go 
 

29% 

I wasn't sure 
where I should 

go 
 

23% 

I knew how to 
find out where I 

should go 
 

21% 

Yes, I knew 
where to go 

 
27% 

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

45%

50%

Positive Negative

27% 

19% 
25% 

30% 

Service Users 
Yes, I knew where to go

I knew how to find out where I should
go
I wasn't sure where I should go

I had no idea where I should go

28% 

28% 
20% 

25% 

Carers 
Yes, I knew where to go

I knew how to find out where I should
go
I wasn't sure where I should go

I had no idea where I should go

Page 48



 37 

Initial Contacts for IAA services 

49. The Scrutiny Research survey also asked respondents to indicate where 

they initially contacted to obtain IAA services, the means they used to do 

this and whether they sought further IAA services . The results show that 

79% initially access IAA via the NHS; mental health professionals 

agreed that this reflected their experience and monitoring statistics re 

referrals.  

 

 

 

50. When responses are split into those from service users and those from 

carers, it shows that 80% of service users initially obtain IAA services 

from the NHS compared to 64% of carers. In addition, nearly a quarter of 

carers cited ‘other’ as their initial source of IAA service, compared to half 

this amount for service users. 

 

 

79% 

13% 

8% 

0% 

0% 

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

NHS

Voluntary organisation/Charity

Cardiff Council services

Probation Service

Police

12% 

8% 

80% 

0% 0% 

Service Users 
Voluntary organisation/Charity
Cardiff Council services
NHS
Probation Service
Police

24% 

12% 
64% 

0% 0% 

Carers 
Voluntary organisation/Charity
Cardiff Council services
NHS
Probation Service
Police

Page 49



 38 

Additional Contacts for IAA services 

51. The Scrutiny Research survey also asked respondents to indicate 

whether they sought further IAA services. Two fifths of respondents 

confirmed that their only source of IAA services was the organisation 

that they had initially contacted. Three fifths of respondents confirmed 

that they had obtained additional IAA services services from other 

sources. 

 

52.  With regard to the 23% ‘Yes, elsewhere’ respondents, the sources 

specified were: NHS, police, school and from the Citizen Advice Bureau. 

 
 
Service Gatekeepers 

53. With regard to perceptions of issues regarding ‘service gatekeepers’, 

Members heard from third sector organisations that some service users’ 

experience has been that it is very difficult to get past the gatekeeper 

and to get IAA until they are in acute crisis. This point was also raised in 

the responses to the Scrutiny Research survey: 

“It can be difficult to access information when you are dealing with 

secretaries who block your attempt to speak directly to a 

professional” 

 

 

 

 

40% 

34% 

23% 

20% 

0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30% 35% 40% 45% 50%

No, only this organisation

Yes, the internet

Yes, elsewhere (Please Specify)

Yes, friends/relatives

Page 50



 39 

Channels of Access 

54. Members heard concerns raised regarding the means or channels for 

providing IAA services. Witnesses were keen to point out that information 

provided solely on a website would not be accessible to all, for example 

those who do not use the internet, those who are too unwell to use 

websites and those who need face to face contact. 

 

55. The chart below shows how all respondents initially accessed IAA 

services. 

 

 
 
 

56. When the Scrutiny Research survey responses are split into service user 

and carer respondents, the results show a significant difference in the 

responses received by service users and carers, with 47% of carers 

using the phone, compared to 17% of service users. 

 

 

35% 

33% 

25% 

8% Face to face

Visiting a
service

By phone

Online

17% 

38% 
7% 

38% 

Service Users 
By phone Face to face

Online Visiting a service

47% 

24% 

8% 

21% 

Carers 
By phone Face to face

Online Visiting a service

Page 51



 40 

57. Further analysis shows that those who knew where to go for help were 

most likely to use face to face services and those who knew how to find 

out where to go for help were most likely to use phone services.  

 

 

 
 

Timeliness  

58. The evidence to the Inquiry demonstrated that there are issues in the 

timeliness of IAA services. In part, this follows from the problems in 

accessing IAA services outlined above. However, other reasons cited to 

the Inquiry by third sector witnesses focused on inefficient systems for 

existing services. The Scrutiny Research survey results supported the 

evidence from third sector witness, finding that 54% felt that IAA services 

were available when they needed them, and 46% disagreeing with this. 

There was no difference between service users’ and carers’ responses.  

 

59. With regard to inefficient systems for existing services, the main reasons 

cited were long waiting times, services not available when needed, and 

issues with referrals, including the timing of referrals: 

 

“There was a delay of a few months” 

 

“I needed the service quicker”  

17% 

18% 

32% 

36% 

50% 

32% 

26% 

29% 

0% 

14% 

9% 

7% 

33% 

36% 

32% 

29% 

Yes I knew where to go

I had no idea where I should go

I wasn't sure where I should go

I knew how to find out where to go

Phone Face to face Online Visit service

Page 52



 41 

 

“Can’t rely on GP service when needed as too difficult to get an 

appointment” 

 

“The availability was very patchy especially around holiday periods when 

help was most needed I couldn’t access any help” 

 

“The amount of delay, and being passed from one person to another”. 

 

“The advice sought appears to be buried beneath so many departments 

that I feel for people who do not have the persistent nature to follow 

through” 

 

“The Alzheimer’s Society would prefer to receive referrals after people 

have had a chance to absorb the diagnosis of dementia – if have referral 

at the same time as receive diagnosis, it can be too overwhelming and 

not acted on.” 

 

 

Content quality  

60. The Inquiry heard that the content quality of IAA services, in terms of the 

knowledge of staff providing IAA services and in terms of the ease of 

understanding of the IAA provided, was mostly good. Some specific 

areas for improvement were highlighted, regarding staff training, 

improving language usage and increasing the type of information and 

advice available. 

 

61. With regard to the knowledge of staff providing IAA services, 78% of 

respondents to the Scrutiny Research survey gave positive ratings 

ranging from “good”, “very good” to “excellent”, with 22% giving a “poor” 

rating. 

 

 

 

 

Page 53



 42 

The knowledge of staff providing information, advice or assistance   

 
 

 

 

62. However, a number of respondents highlighted the need for further 

training of staff: 

 
“training for reception staff”  

 
“more qualified staff to be available at point of contact”.  

“it would be a big improvement if all GPs had more mental health 

training”  

 

63. Specifically, Members heard from several witnesses that there was a 

need for Mental Health Awareness training and Mental Health First Aid 

training to be compulsory for frontline staff in Cardiff, such as Cardiff 

Council Hubs staff and GP receptionists. Diverse Cymru also highlighted 

the need for multicultural awareness training for these groups and for GP 

practice managers.  

 

64. With regard to the ease of understanding the information and advice 

provided, the Inquiry heard a range of views expressed. The Scrutiny 

Research survey found that 79% of respondents gave positive ratings. 

However, 21% indicated that they found the information difficult to 

understand. The following quotes illustrate this: 

 

25% 

22% 

31% 

22% 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

Excellent Very Good Good Poor

Page 54



 43 

“I found a lot of the advice & info patronizing or seriously oversimplified” 
 

 “a simple explanation of what was happening to me would have been 
useful. Bombarding me with conflicting instructions was not very 
useful”. 
 

“..leaflets offered were ineffective. Service was a let down.” 
 
 

65. The Scrutiny Research survey also found that 23% of respondents 

stated that they either were not able to follow the advice given (19%) or 

had followed none of the advice given (4%). More than half of the 

respondents for this question felt that the poor quality of the information, 

advice and/or assistance that was offered had prevented them from 

adhering to it e.g. ‘Because it was useless and did not help at all’. 

 

66. Members heard that there is a need to ensure that information and 

advice is available in an easy read format in order to make it available to 

the 20% of people in the UK who have reduced levels of literacy. 

Members heard that : 

 
 “organisations (Including NHS trusts and the likes of MIND) have some 

excellent information and often in a wide range of languages but never 

in easy read, thereby cutting off one fifth of the population.” 

 

67. Members also heard that more information is needed, to meet specific 

needs and to educate people: 

“More information is needed to promote healthy lifestyles, to promote 

prevention of dementia.”  

 

“More information is also needed on the end of life and how to approach 

and cope with this.”  

 

“Use IAA to educate people, addressing some of the myths re dementia 

and addressing some of the fears that people may have” 

 

 

 

 

Page 55



 44 

Usefulness  

68. Members were keen to learn whether the existing IAA services had 

helped people using them. In order to test this, respondents to the 

Scrutiny Research survey were asked to state how they felt before and 

after receiving IAA services. The vast majority of respondents 

(cumulative total 92%) indicated that they were worried to varying 

extents before they contacted the service. Only a very small percentage 

(8%) stated that they ‘didn’t feel at all worried or concerned’. When 

asked how they felt after contacting the service, 44% of respondents 

stated that they felt better, 35% stated that they felt the same and 21% 

said that they felt ‘worse than before’. Overall, most of the respondents 

(70%) have stated that they would recommend the service to somebody 

in the same position.   

 

 

 

Interface experience  

69. Members heard that it is of key importance to ensure that people feel 

looked after during the process of accessing and receiving IAA services. 

The interface experience is crucial and staff need training to get this 

right. Members heard that it is also important that staff manage 

expectations and be clear with people about waiting list times etc. so that 

people understand the parameters.  

58% 

22% 

11% 

9% 
I was extremely
worried or
concerned

I was worried or
concerned

I was somewhat
worried or
concerned

I didn't feel at all
worried or
concerned

44% 

35% 

21% 
Better than
before

The same
as before

Worse than
before

Page 56



 45 

 

70. Members heard that culture and working practices vary considerably 

from team to team and individual to individual; a lot depends on the 

relationships that have been built between organisations and mental 

health professionals. Cardiff & Vale University Health Board stated that 

work is being undertaken to address known issues in culture and working 

practice and that the culture is changing and that joining up services will 

continue to help with this. There is a clear move to embed the Recovery 

Model which has at its heart the need to respect and listen to service 

users. This should help to improve the culture of working practice, to 

move towards mutual respect and collaborative working, by hearing the 

service user’s views more and the views of other organisations involved 

in providing IAA services. 

 
71. Third sector witnesses stated that it requires a lot of training to overcome 

years of cultural practice; however, they recognise that there has been 

some movement towards person centred approaches, towards involving 

service users and carers appropriately. 

 
72. The Scrutiny Research survey specifically asked respondents for their 

views on how they were treated by staff providing IAA services. Out of 

238 respondents, 117 respondents answered this question. Just over 

half of respondents (52%) stated that they were treated positively, with 

26% making reference to the compassionate and caring treatment that 

they had received. There were some respondents (16%) who suggested 

that the way they were treated by staff could be regarded as satisfactory. 

However, nearly a fifth made negative comments and 12% stated that 

their treatment could have been better. Some of the comments made 

were regarding the ineffectiveness of the service, low staff numbers and 

the time restrictions that they had experienced in dealing with staff.  

Several negative comments were made about rudeness of staff or their 

lack of compassion.  

 

 “I was treated extremely well.. the staff were non-judgemental…. 

supportive…knowledgeable and facilitated me making some necessary 

changes in my life” 

Page 57



 46 

 

“They were the first group of people I had met that were non-

judgmental about mental illness and its effect on you and others!” 

 

“fine but not great” 

 

“didn’t offer any advice” 

 

treated “like an annoyance”  ‘with little respect” 

 

“Just dealt with (me) speedily so they could go onto the next 

appointment” 

 

they “didn’t really get help x [sic] was left to deal with the situation on 

our own” 

 

73. The Cardiff & Vale University Health Board witness stated that he 

recognised the Scrutiny Research findings and that they fitted with the 

UHB research survey findings. He stated that he would discuss the 

issues raised by the Report with the Council’s Mental Health Services 

Operational Manager and would incorporate the issues raised into the 

training staff receive. 

 

 

Overall Effectiveness  

74. The Scrutiny Research survey specifically asked respondents for their 

views on the effectiveness of the IAA services they had received. 112 

respondents answered this question. Nearly two fifths (39%) of 

respondents gave negative responses illustrating the existing provision 

was ineffective; a fifth of respondents (21%) made comments that 

indicated variability in the effectiveness of provision at different 

points/timings of contact with services; whilst just under a third of 

respondents (32%) gave positive comments that indicate they regarded 

the provision as effective.  

 

Page 58



 47 

75. The reasons given for these responses reflect the range of responses 

detailed above i.e. those who were critical of provision cited poor 

accessibility of services; long waiting times; service received not helping; 

poor attitude and treatment by staff; a lack of support or information; or a 

poor service received in general.  

 
76. Several witnesses to the Inquiry highlighted that the ineffectiveness of 

the service could relate to low staff numbers, time restrictions IAA 

services are facing and resource pressures:  

”Most of the staff were excellent but really are stretched” 

“My GP is amazing but there is nothing he can do regarding availability 

of services.”  

“The lack of time allocated to the patient made it difficult to explain how 

the extent of his illness was affecting him” 

“The staff treated people well but were restricted by lack of recourses 

[sic] available in an immediate situation of need”.   

The staff treated them “politely but they didn’t help because of lack of 

service availability”. 

 “staff unable to spend enough time” 

“felt they were understaffed (with) no resources available and their 

attitude was their hands were tied”. 

 

“ there are no mental health nurses available to assist during their first 

medical assessment at CHAPS9, so information on how to access 

information and assistance is not readily available.”  

                                                           
9
 CHAPS stands for Cardiff Health Access Practice, which is based at the Cardiff Royal Infirmary and 

provides services for asylum seekers and refugees as well as other clients. 

Page 59



 48 

PREPARING FOR IMPLEMENTATION OF THE ACT  

 

77. The Inquiry investigated the work underway in Cardiff to implement Part 

2, Section 17 of The Act, comparing proposals to the requirements of 

The Act, as set out at points 13-20 above and in Appendix C. 

 

78. Members recognise that the requirements of The Act reflect and build on 

good practice with regard to IAA service provision. Many of the 

witnesses to the Inquiry agreed that the existing IAA services need to 

improve, based on service user and carer feedback. The Act contains 

specific requirements aimed at ensuring good practice IAA service 

provision, which are examined below. 

 
79. Officers explained that work is underway to prepare for the IAA ‘go live’ 

date of April 2016, albeit that the final guidance from Welsh Government 

on IAA specific requirements is still awaited. A self-assessment 

readiness tool has been completed on a regional basis, with the Vale of 

Glamorgan, as required by the Welsh Government, and an 

implementation plan has been drawn up. 

 

Securing Provision of IAA Services 

80. The Act requires local authorities to secure provision, via a variety of 

different channels and media such as website, phone, face to face and 

digital, and for there to be an up-to-date directory of services.  

 

81. Officers explained that, in Cardiff, there are four main strands to the 

proposed approach to meet the IAA requirements of The Act, which are: 

• a directory of services;  

• a ‘first point of contact’;  

• improving the Council’s website to enable self- assessment; and  

• using the Hubs to provide information and signpost to advice, 

assistance and assessment. 

 

Page 60



 49 

82. With regard to the directory of services, officers explained that they are 

aiming for this to be ‘dynamic, interactive and up to date’ but recognise 

the challenges in doing this. They recognise the need to work with the 

third sector so they can upload and update the Directory to keep it 

accurate. Officers explained that the Welsh Government has funded a 

pilot in North Wales (Dewis Cymru), which is due to go live in December 

2015. Other local authorities outside the pilot area have the option to join 

in January 2016, when they will be able to populate Dewis Cymru with 

their local data on IAA services.  

 

83. Members heard that The City of Cardiff Council has decided to join 

Dewis Cymru and preparatory work is underway to ensure quick 

progress can be made from January 2016. The Directory will be online 

and Hubs officers will help people to access it if they do not have online 

access themselves. It will also be on mobile handheld devices carried by 

visiting officers and outreach staff.  

 
84. Members are aware that CAVAMH already manage an electronic and 

hard copy directory of mental health services in Cardiff, which is 

recognised and valued by those working in the health, housing and 

homelessness sectors. The Cardiff & Vale University Health Board 

witness stated that he would talk to the Cardiff Council Operational 

Manager for Mental Health Services and to CAVAMH about how best to 

use this directory, in light of the Act’s requirements.  

 

85. Officers explained that the ‘first point of contact’ is currently being piloted 

for older people and people with physical and sensory impairments. The 

intention is for the first point of contact to be incorporated into the roll out 

of the Council’s Customer Relationship Management (CRM) process, 

when all service users and customers will be dealt with via one process. 

In the meantime, Members were assured that officers in the first point of 

contact team would deal with all calls that came through them, including 

those who needed IAA regarding mental health. 

 

 

Page 61



 50 

86. With regard to the self-assessment process due to be piloted on the 

Council website, officers explained that this will be focused on older 

people and people with physical and sensory impairments. The intention 

is for people with queries regarding mental health, to signpost them to 

the Stepiau website, which already offers self-assessment and self- 

referral for mental health service users. 

 

87. With regard to the use of Council Hubs to provide information and 

signpost to advice, assistance and assessment, officers were clear that, 

whilst it is unusual for someone to come to a Hub to specifically ask for 

help re mental health illness, staff are trained to be aware of mental 

health needs, how to deal with these and how to refer onwards 

appropriately. All staff have received mental health awareness training, 

staff refer to social services if a client is a mental health service user and 

staff refer to the Stepiau website as well. In the future, Hubs staff will 

continue to do these tasks and will provide support and help to people 

who need it. 

 
88. Further comments on the use of Hubs to provide IAA can be found at 

points 109-114 below in the section on Entry Point and Assessment. 

 
 

Regional Provision 

89. The Act states that the IAA should be configured on a Local Health 

Board regional footprint basis as a minimum and that local authorities 

must work together to ensure the IAA service is consistent so that people 

find information easy to access in local authorities which are not their 

ordinary residence. 

 

90. Members heard that there are regional meetings to discuss the 

readiness for implementation of The Act. Existing regional governance 

arrangements are being utilised to facilitate this. There are also internal 

City of Cardiff Council meetings to discuss readiness for implementing 

various aspects of The Act. 

 

Page 62



 51 

91. Members enquired about work to ensure IAA provision on a regional 

basis, across Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan. Officers explained that 

the two local authorities are taking the opportunity to pilot slightly 

different approaches, with the aim of sharing the learning from these 

pilots and bringing the benefits of both approaches together i.e. City of 

Cardiff Council is piloting the ‘first point of contact’ whereas the Vale of 

Glamorgan Council has a joint contact centre with Health. Membership of 

Dewis Cymru will also assist by providing one approach to a Directory of 

Services. 

 
92.  Members heard from third sector witnesses who welcomed a regional 

approach albeit that they took differing approaches to regional working in 

order to meet the specific requirements of their clients and organisations.  

 

 

Designing, Planning and Developing IAA Services 

93. The draft guidance for the Act states that ‘Each local authority must have 

engaged with its Local Health Board, NHS partners, the third sector, 

private providers and representatives of the community in the design, 

planning and development of the model for the Information, Advice and 

Assistance Service that will operate in its locality.’  

 

94. Members heard clear evidence from all the external witnesses that the 

IAA requirements of the Act had not been raised or discussed with them. 

Indeed, several witnesses stated that the first time they were aware of 

the IAA requirements was when they were contacted by scrutiny officers 

to seek their participation in the Inquiry.  

 
95. The witness from Cardiff & Vale University Health Board stated that his 

focus has been on the Mental Health Strategy and Bills associated with 

that; however he expressed a readiness to work in partnership with the 

local authority to implement the IAA requirements of the Act and hoped 

that this Inquiry would prompt those discussions.  

 
 

Page 63



 52 

96. Officers explained that the reason for the lack of discussion of the IAA 

requirements of The Act with mental health professionals and 

organisations was that the initial work to implement the IAA requirements 

of the Act has focused on older people and people with physical and 

sensory impairments. However, Members heard a clear commitment 

from the Cabinet Member and officers that they wished to work with 

Health, the Third Sector and relevant stakeholders to plan for the needs 

of mental health service users, their carers and families.  

 
97. All the third sector witnesses who gave evidence to the Inquiry 

demonstrated a clear willingness to work with the Council to design, plan 

and develop IAA services that meet the requirements of the SSWB Act. 

Concerns were expressed about whether IAA services would receive the 

attention and work required and whether third sector organisations would 

be properly involved in the design and planning stages: 

 
“If going to take it seriously, it’s a big piece of work, not a tick box 

exercise.” 

 

“Hoping that not going to be told ‘we have a plan’ but rather that could be 

involved in a piece of work that recognises resource limitations, seeks 

service users views, thinks creatively and designs something that works 

and that is affordable – doesn’t want to be part of working group that 

designs Rolls Royce service when can only afford a bicycle..” 

 
98. One third sector organisation, CAVAMH, believes that there needs to be 

a strategic overview of information pathways, to build links between 

organisations and enable networking so that people know what is 

available and they can signpost appropriately. CAVAMH currently 

undertake this role and recognise that for staff in the statutory sector it 

can be overwhelming trying to find out about provision and what is 

available; they urged statutory sector staff to use the third sector to 

support this work. CAVAMH also made the point that, on initial view, it 

can look as if there is service duplication in the IAA services but their 

experience is that this is not the case, as when one looks at the service 

provision in more detail, it varies in that it serves different clienteles and 

provides different services. 

Page 64



 53 

99. The Alzheimer’s Society highlighted that, in their experience, the existing 

landscape does not effectively utilise the potential that exists. Overall, 

whilst there is provision and there are good relationships in place, it feels 

that existing provision is disparate – everyone is doing what they can but 

it is not integrated enough and sometimes there is duplication (for 

example, consultation processes) at the same time as there are gaps in 

provision.  

 

 

Involve Service Users and Carers  

100. The Act requires local authorities to set up Citizen Panels, although 

officers explained that in their view it is not entirely clear from the 

guidance what is required, whether the panel is to help shape service 

design from the beginning or whether it is to seek views on what is 

proposed.  Officers are due to meet the Welsh Government to clarify this 

and to clarify whether they can use the City of Cardiff Council’s existing 

Citizen Panel or whether they need to set up another panel.  

 

101. Third sector witnesses explained that they have found that sharing 

service user and carer experiences with statutory agencies (via planning 

groups for example) has been immensely powerful and a key way for 

those listening to understand issues and follow this through into service 

planning. CAVAMH highlighted that, when service users and carers 

voices are heard and acted on, there can be and has been positive 

change in culture and working practices, which is one reason that 

CAVAMH have involvement as a key pillar of work. An example shared 

with the Inquiry was that, following feedback from young people, there is 

now an app available for eating disorders which would be more 

accessible by younger people who are the target audience for this 

information.  

 
102. CAVAMH stated that they would be willing to bring their forums into the 

process of planning and designing services, which would bring the 

benefits of sharing learning and experiences of practice.  

 

Page 65



 54 

 
103. One witness to the Inquiry highlighted that in her experience some 

people with some mental health illnesses have not had the opportunity to 

voluntarily seek IAA services; often people with mental health illnesses 

such as bipolar, schizophrenia and psychosis will have their first episode 

of illness in a crisis situation – there will be no knowledge of the illness 

until the first crisis – and therefore, they will not have attempted to 

access IAA services before they are hospitalised. Once hospitalised, 

then the first point of contact will be in a hospital setting with a 

psychiatrist or mental health nurse or social worker.  

 
104. Also, it was highlighted to Members that some service users and carers 

have had such bad experiences that they are too angry/ disaffected/ 

demotivated to give feedback. Third sector organisations stated that they 

were aware of people who saw the Scrutiny Research survey and did not 

complete it because of these feelings and experiences and therefore the 

results in the survey do not reflect this sub-population. 

 

105. Members believe that the above evidence demonstrates the clear need 

for IAA services to be designed to listen and hear what service users, 

carers and families are saying as, sometimes, when people realise that 

they are heading towards another episode of acute crisis, they will seek 

IAA and, if they are not heard in time, they will hit the crisis and be 

hospitalised.  

 
 

Content of IAA Provision 

106. The draft guidance to the Act sets out the need to ensure IAA provision 

is accessible to all, with Welsh language provision, provision that reflects 

the needs of the local communities and reasonable adjustments made to 

ensure IAA services are accessible and easy to understand for 

everyone. 

 

107. Officers confirmed that the website and directory of services would be 

available in the Welsh language and that publicity material would be in 

Page 66



 55 

Welsh as well. With regard to other community languages, officers 

explained that Hub staff already provide services in a range of 

community languages and that this would continue as would the work 

with community groups. 

 
108. Members heard that the accessibility of IAA services can be boosted or 

hindered depending on the language used to describe access, as terms 

can be confusing to service users, carers, families and professionals 

alike. Examples cited to the Inquiry were ‘first point of contact’, ‘single 

point of entry’ and ‘gateway’, which can be interpreted differently 

depending on one’s previous experience.  Further information on this is 

provided below.  

 
 

Entry Point and Assessment Role 

109. The Act states that the IAA service will provide the critical entry point to 

care and support services, with a key role in assessing people’s need for 

care and support and directing them to the most appropriate solution to 

meet their needs; a service user’s first assessment would be via the IAA 

service.  

 
110. There was some discussion with third sector and health witnesses 

regarding the idea of a first point of entry. Most witnesses felt that a first 

point of entry, (for example websites/ telephone lines/ app/ face to face) 

would work as there needs to be a diversity of ways for people to access 

IAA services; however, a single point of entry was not supported as it 

was felt that one point alone would not meet all the needs that there are 

in Cardiff.  

 
111. Several witnesses highlighted that, currently, GPs are almost in the role 

as single entry point and there are difficulties with this as some clients do 

not get on well with their GP or can have problems accessing their GP. 

There is therefore a need for a service providing information and advice 

that can be accessed when appointments with a GP are not readily 

available: 

 

Page 67



 56 

“… So really, what people need to put into this is, when that G.P. is not 

available, which is a 99.9% chance the G.P. is not available, what other 

door is then available to knock?” 

 
“I’m hearing around this room and quote me if I’m wrong, your G.P. 

should be your first port of call. But we know, 99.9% you’re not going to 

get that thing. It could take four days. Are you going to be able to wait 

those four days?” 

 
 

112. With regard to Hubs staff dealing with clients who seek IAA, Cardiff Mind 

and the Cardiff & Vale University Health Board witness highlighted that 

all staff should receive mental health first aid training, to equip them with 

the skills and understanding to be able to cope with behaviours exhibited 

and to deal with people appropriately, rather than being scared or 

becoming angry with the individual. Members heard that the Cardiff & 

Vale University Health Board has just received funding to train non-

mental health staff and that this money could be used to train Hub staff 

 
113. Cardiff Mind also stated that it should be possible to arrange for those 

Cardiff Mind staff who are paid by supporting people funding to be on 

call, to be available to provide telephone back-up support to frontline 

staff, for instances that are particularly troubling.     

 
114. With regard to Hubs, CAVAMH stated that they have offered training to 

staff that work in Hubs and have provided leaflets to them so that they 

can hand these out as needed. However, CAVAMH highlighted that staff 

in Hubs currently do not have the skills sets required to be able to carry 

out initial assessments (as envisaged by the Act) but could assist to 

signpost to services.  

 
 

Implementation 

115. Members were keen to explore what needed to happen to successfully 

implement the Act’s requirements in Cardiff. The main points that were 

raised by officers as hindering implementation focused on a lack of final 

guidance, demand pressures and resources, as detailed below: 

Page 68



 57 

• The lack of final guidance leaves a very tight timescale to develop 

changes and training packages, which could mean that the 

workforce would not be ready, which also leads to a reputational 

risk for Cardiff Council.  

• The Act was supposed to be implemented at nil cost but there are 

concerns that the Council will be challenged on decisions made, to 

test out the new guidance, and that costs may increase with 

changes to eligibility criteria etc.  

• Over the last few years there has been a quadrupling of referrals to 

primary mental health teams, perhaps due to increased need, 

greater awareness, less stigma and better accessibility. The 

challenge with improving access, via improving IAA, is that there will 

be more referrals and good IAA is needed to avoid unnecessary 

referrals.  

• Cuts to third sector funding at a time of increasing demand 

pressures.  

 

116. Cardiff Mind highlighted that often, when the Welsh Government 

introduce a new initiative, they provide a pool of funding to support this 

and then statutory partners look to use this money to fund a specific new 

team or initiative as opposed to using the funding to put alongside 

existing teams, where the money could be stretched further.   

 

 

Publicising the Service 

117. The draft guidance states that a Communication Strategy should be 

produced with partners with the local authority taking the lead, in order to 

make IAA services easy to find and ensure all populations are aware of 

how to access IAA services.   

 

118. Members were advised by external witnesses that the following would be 

useful places to advertise IAA service provision: 

• Cardiff And Vale Action for Mental Health  

• Primary Mental Health Support Services  

Page 69



 58 

• Cardiff Council website 

• Cardiff & Vale University Health Board website 

• Stepiau website. 

 
 

Monitoring 

119. The draft guidance sets out the monitoring information that the Welsh 

Government requires i.e. nature of the enquiry, which type of service the 

enquirer was signposted to, core data. It also details data they 

recommend collecting to help with further service improvement e.g. 

customer feedback, information exchange route such as website/ phone 

call/ visit etc. 

 

120. Members heard that the following sources would be used to gather 

monitoring information to assist in collecting and collating the 

information required by Welsh Government, albeit that it would take 

time to get the right systems in place: primary mental health referrals, 

website monitoring and Customer Relationship Management system. 

 
  

Page 70



 59 

INQUIRY METHODOLOGY 

 
 

M1. The Community and Adult Services Scrutiny Committee applies a project 

management approach to its inquiries, including mechanisms to 

consistently prioritise topics suggested for scrutiny, scoping reports and 

project plans. The aim of these is to ensure there is a dialogue with the 

services involved in the scrutiny process with the ultimate aim of 

improving overall service delivery and enabling effective scrutiny. 

 

M2. Members held seven meetings to hear from witnesses and consider the 

evidence presented. Witnesses from Cardiff Council included: 

 

 Councillor Susan Elsmore – Cabinet Member Health, Housing 

and Well Being. 

 Tony Young – Director of Social Services. 

 Sarah McGill – Director of Communities, Housing and 

Customer Services. 

 Andy Cole – Operational Manager Mental Health Services. 

 Sue Schelewa - Operational Manager Assessment and Care 

Management. 

 Kate Hustler – Operational Manager Assessment and Support. 

 Nichola Poole – Regional Lead Sustainable Social Services. 

 

 
M3. Members also heard from the following external witnesses: 

 Melanie Andrews – Alzheimer’s Society. 

 Dawn Walters – Alzheimer’s Society. 

 Roger Bone – Cardiff Mind. 

 Linda Newton – CAVAMH. 

 Jasmin Choudhury – Sefyll, CAVAMH. 

 Helen Joy – Nexus, CAVAMH. 

 Service user – CAVAMH. 

 Ian Wile – Cardiff and Vale University Health Board. 

 

Page 71



 60 

M4. Members received written submissions from the following organisations: 

 Age Cymru 

 Care and Social Services Inspectorate Wales (CHMT report) 

 Diverse Cymru. 

 Gypsies & Travellers Wales 

 Riverside Advice Centre 

 South Wales Police 

 YMCA. 

 

M5. As part of this Inquiry, the Committee requested dedicated research 

support in order to understand the experiences of those who have 

accessed IAA services in Cardiff relating to mental health, for 

themselves or for those they care for. The City of Cardiff Council’s 

Scrutiny Research Team undertook research through online and hard 

copy surveys and focus groups. The full report is attached at Appendix 

A and is available separately from the contacts listed at the end of this 

report. 

 

M6. This evidence from internal and external witnesses was used to identify 

suitable findings from the Inquiry and has been used to inform the 

Recommendations. 
  

Page 72



 61 

 

BIBLIOGRAPHY 

 

Good Practice Sources 
 

Dunning, Andrew ‘Information, advice and advocacy for older people: Defining 

and developing services’ (JRF,2005) 

IDeA, Transforming Adult Social Care – Access to Information, Advice and 
Advocacy Executive Summary (IDeA, 2009) 
 
Research in Practice for Adults, ‘Providing good Information and Advice’ 

(ripfa, 2013) 

Think Local Act Personal, Principles for Information and Advice (Think Local 

Act Personal, 2014) 

Think Local Act Personal, Good Practice 

(http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/BCC/Latest/resourceOverview/?cid=10285, 

downloaded 20th October 2014) 

 

Think Local Act Personal, Case Studies 

(http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/Browse/Informationandadvice/Informationandad

vicecasestudies/, downloaded 20th October 2014) 

 

The Independent Advice Providers Forum, ‘What the people of Wales expect 

of advice and information services and how to ensure accessibility for all’ 

(Shelter Cymru, 2013) 

 

English Local Authority Strategies 

Bournemouth Borough Council, ‘Information, Advice and Advocacy Strategy’ 

(Bournemouth Borough Council, 2010) 

Lincolnshire County Council, Access to Information, Advice and Advocacy 

Strategy (Lincolnshire Borough Council, 2010) 

Nottinghamshire County Council, Information, Advice and Advocacy Strategy 

for Adult Social Care (Nottinghamshire Borough Council, May 2014) 

Surrey County Council, Information and Advice Strategy 2010-13 (Surrey 

County Council March 2011) 

Page 73

http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/BCC/Latest/resourceOverview/?cid=10285
http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/Browse/Informationandadvice/Informationandadvicecasestudies/
http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/Browse/Informationandadvice/Informationandadvicecasestudies/


 62 

Social Services and Well Being (Wales) Act 2014 

Social Services Improvement Agency ‘The provision of Information, Advice 

and Assistance on Social Services and Well Being across Wales’ (Wales, 

2014) 

Social Services Improvement Agency – ‘Creating Change: An E-Resource 

Guide to the changes required by the Act’ (2015) 

Social Services Improvement Agency – various newsletter briefings re Dewis 

Cymru project (2014, 2015) 

Welsh Government ‘Executive Summary: Implementation of the Social 

Services and Well-being (Wales) Act’ (Welsh Government 2014) 

Welsh Government ‘Implications of the Social Services and Well-being 

(Wales) Act for the NHS in Wales’ (Welsh Government 2014) 

Welsh Government ‘SSWB (Wales) Act 2014 – Code of Guidance for 

Consultation -  Part 2 -Code of Practice and guidance on the exercise of 

social services functions and partnership arrangements in relation to part 2 

(General Functions) of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014’ 

(Welsh Government 2014) 

Welsh Government ‘Report of the Information, Advice and Assistance 

Technical Group’ (Welsh Government 28th August 2014) 

 

Cardiff Documents 

Cardiff and Vale Integrating Health and Social Care Partnership: ‘Cardiff and 

Vale Regional Submission Implementation of Social Services and Well Being 

(Wales) Act 2014 Self-Assessment tool’ (30th January 2015) 

Cardiff and Vale Integrating Health and Social Care Partnership: ‘Cardiff and 

Vale Draft Action Plan for Implementation of Social Services and Well Being 

(Wales) Act 2014 Self-Assessment tool’ (2015) 

Cardiff and Vale Local Mental Health Partnership Board ‘Annual Report 2013-

14’ (2014) 

 

General 

Care Quality Commission ‘Right Here Right Now’ (CQC June 2015) 

Kent University ‘Measuring the outcome of information and advice services’ 

(PSSRU March 2010) 

Page 74



 63 

 

GLOSSARY OF ACRONYMS 

 

CAVAMH  Cardiff and Vale Action on Mental Health 

 

CHAPS  Cardiff Health Access Practice 

 

IAA   Information, Advice and Assistance 

 

NHS   National Health Service 

 

PMHSS  Primary Mental Health Support Services 

 

Stepiau Website provided by Cardiff Council and UHB; the 

English translation of Stepiau is Steps. Available at 

www.stepiau.org/ 

 

‘The Act’  Social Services and Well Being (Wales) Act 2014 

 

UHB   Cardiff and Vale University Health Board 

 
  

Page 75

http://www.stepiau.org/


 64 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 

The Scrutiny Committee is empowered to enquire, consider, review and 

recommend but not to make policy decisions. As the recommendations in this 

report are to consider and review matters there are no direct financial 

implications at this stage in relation to any of the work programme. However, 

financial implications may arise if and when the matters under review are 

implemented with or without any modifications.  

 
 
 
 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 

The Scrutiny Committee is empowered to enquire, consider, review and 

recommend but not to make policy decisions.  As the recommendations in this 

report are to consider and review matters there are no direct legal 

implications.  However, legal implications may arise if and when the matters 

under review are implemented with or without modification.  Any report with 

recommendations for decision that goes to Cabinet / Council will set out any 

legal implications arising from those recommendations.  All decisions taken by 

or on behalf of the Council must (a) be within the legal power of the Council; 

(b) comply with any procedural requirement imposed by law; (c) be within the 

powers of the body or person exercising powers on behalf of the Council; (d) 

be undertaken in accordance with the procedural requirements imposed by 

the Council e.g. standing orders and financial regulations; (e) be fully and 

properly informed; (f) be properly motivated; (g) be taken having regard to the 

Council's fiduciary duty to its taxpayers; and (h) be reasonable and proper in 

all the circumstances. 
  

Page 76



 65 

COMMITTEE TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 

 

To scrutinise, measure and actively promote improvement in the Council’s 

performance in the provision of services and compliance with Council policies, 

aims and objectives in the area of community and adult services, including: 

 Public and Private Housing 

 Disabled Facilities Grants 

 Community Safety 

 Neighbourhood Renewal and Communities Next 

 Advice & Benefit 

 Consumer Protection 

 Older Persons Strategy 

 Adult Social Care 

 Community Care Services 

 Mental Health & Physical Disabilities 

 Commissioning Strategy 

 Health Partnership 

 Local Service Board 

 

To assess the impact of partnerships with and resources and services 

provided by external organisations including the Welsh Government, Welsh 

Government -sponsored public bodies and quasi-departmental non-

governmental bodies and health services on the effectiveness of Council 

service delivery. 

 

To report to an appropriate Cabinet or Council meeting on its findings and to 

make recommendations on measures which may enhance the Authority’s 

performance in this area. 

 

To be the Council’s Crime and Disorder Committee as required by the Police 

and Justice Act 2006 and any re-enactment or modification thereof; and as full 

delegate of the Council to exercise all the powers and functions permitted 

under that Act. 

Page 77



 66 

APPENDIX A – SCRUTINY RESEARCH REPORT 

 

 

The research report is 46 pages long and so has not been included. It is available upon 

request from Scrutiny Services- contact details are provided at the end of this report. 

  

Page 78



 67 

APPENDIX B – MENTAL HEALTH LANDSCAPE 

 

a. The landscape for Mental Health Services is complex, with various legal 
duties and statutory requirements covering health and social care services. 
These are broken down below into those that cover the whole of Wales 
and then those that are specific to Cardiff. 

 
 

Wales wide 

 
b. Some pieces of legislation cover both England and Wales, for example the 

Mental Capacity Act 2005, and the Mental Health Act 1983. The 
responsibility for the strategic approach and delivery of mental health 
services is devolved to the Welsh Government. The main elements of their 
requirements are set out below, as are the elements specifically for Cardiff.  

 
The Mental Health (Wales) Measure 2010 

c. The Mental Health (Wales) Measure 2010 places legal duties on Local 
Health Boards and local authorities regarding the assessment and 
treatment of mental health problems. These are set out below. 

 Part 1 - ensures more mental health services are available within 
primary care – for example GPs being able to refer for counselling or 
stress and anxiety management courses. 

 Part 2 - places a legal duty on secondary mental health service 
providers to ensure that each service user has a Care and Treatment 
Plan and the support of a Care Co-ordinator. The Care and Treatment 
Plans have to cover the following ‘8 Areas of Life’: 

 Rights and entitlements; finance and money 

 A safe home or accommodation 

 Health, personal care and physical wellbeing 

 Early years, school, education and training 

 Work, occupation and valued daily activities 

 Family, parenting and / or caring relationships 

 Access to play, sports and friends; social, cultural or spiritual needs 

 Medical and other forms of treatment including psychological 
interventions. 

 
d. Part 3 – enables all adults discharged from secondary services to refer 

themselves back to those services, within three years of being discharged, 
without having to see a GP first. 
 

e. Part 4 – supports every in-patient to have help from an independent 
mental health advocate if wanted. 

 
 

 

 

 

Page 79



 68 

Together for Mental Health: A Strategy for Mental Health and Wellbeing 

in Wales (2012)  

f. Together for Mental Health is the Welsh Government’s 10 year ‘age 
inclusive, cross-Government Strategy for mental health and wellbeing’. It 
includes the legal requirements of The Mental Health (Wales) Measure 
2010 and provides ‘a long-term commitment to improve mental health and 
wellbeing, backed by significant funding’. It is the first Mental Health 
Strategy for Wales that covers people of all ages, aiming to ensure that 
transfers between services are based on need and not on age boundaries. 
It replaces former age-based strategies and National Service Frameworks 
(NSFs). 
 

g. The Strategy reinforces the need to promote better mental wellbeing 
among the whole population. It addresses the needs of people with mental 
health problems or a mental illness. It focuses on how to improve the lives 
of service users and their families using a recovery and enablement 
approach.  
 

h. In order to ensure the Strategy is having an impact, it is supported by a 
Delivery Plan setting out the detailed actions for Welsh Government and 
partner organisations to ensure continued progress. A National Mental 
Health Partnership Board (NPB) is being established to oversee delivery of 
the Strategy. This is iterated at a local level with Local Mental Health 
Partnership Boards.  

 
i. The Strategy is focused around 6 high level outcomes, which are: 

 The mental health and wellbeing of the whole population is 
improved. 

 The impact of mental health problems and/or mental illness on 
individuals of all ages, their families and carers, communities 
and the economy more widely, is better recognised and 
reduced. 

 Inequalities, stigma and discrimination suffered by people 
experiencing mental health problems and mental illness are 
reduced. 

 Individuals have a better experience of the support and 
treatment they receive and have an increased feeling of input 
and control over related decisions. 

 Access to, and the quality of preventative measures, early 
intervention and treatment services are improved and more 
people recover as a result. 

 The values, attitudes and skills of those treating or supporting 
individuals of all ages with mental health problems or mental 
illness are improved. 
 

j. With regard to this Inquiry, the following outcome is relevant: ‘People in 
Wales have the information and support they need to sustain and improve 
their mental health and self manage mental health problems.’ 
 

Page 80



 69 

k. The Strategy references the need for information and advice for the whole 
population as well as specifically  re Dementia and for families and carers, 
as follows: 

o ‘For the whole population: We will do more to ensure that the public 
have access to good quality information on how to take care of their 
mental health throughout their lives. Better, up-to-date information 
will help people recognise when their own and other people's 
mental health is deteriorating. It will enable them to seek help early 
and support families or friends to do so, to use self-help techniques 
to better manage common mental health problems and to 
encourage others to do likewise.’ 

 
o ‘Staff working in primary care and in mental health services need to 

be aware of the full range of services available so that they can 
signpost people to the most appropriate support. This needs to 
include the range of holistic support services provided by Third 
Sector organisations across Wales. The Third Sector also have a 
valued role in distributing information. Health Boards must ensure 
that national databases are kept up-to-date and that local service 
directories are available. Mental Health First Aid (MHFA) should 
continue to expand as organisations should now have trained staff 
in post who can further disseminate training. Book Prescription 
Wales (BPW) will also continue to raise people’s awareness and 
knowledge. We will look to find ways to provide more information 
and support, including online.’ 

 
o ‘Better information and advice about mental illnesses in older age is 

important. As people age, the incidence of many illnesses increase, 
including depression and anxiety. People with dementia and their 
families need information to help them plan for the future. As part of 
the commitment under the National Dementia Vision Wales we 
have funded the Alzheimer Society to produce information packs. 
The Dementia Help line and website will also be promoted and 
enhanced.’ 

 

o ‘Families and carers too can play a crucial and positive role in the 
Care and Treatment Planning for people with mental health 
problems. Service providers need to ensure that families and carers 
get good information, help and support, and have real choices.’ 

 
l. The Strategy also details the following resources that the Welsh 

Government has funded: help lines such as Community Advice and 
Listening Line (C.A.L.L) and the Dementia help line.  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 81



 70 

National Dementia Vision for Wales (2011) 

m. This sets out a commitment to develop dementia supportive communities 
across Wales. Four priority areas have been identified for improvement as 
follows:  

 Improved service provision through better joint working across health, 
social care, the third sector and other agencies; 

 Improved early diagnosis and timely interventions; 

 Improved access to better information and support for people with the 
illness and their carers, including a greater awareness of the need for 
advocacy; 

 Improved training for those delivering care, including research. 
 

n. As part of the Vision, the Welsh Government committed to improving 
information by: 

 developing information packs for those diagnosed with dementia; 

 creating a dedicated dementia information helpline for Wales; 

 extending the Welsh Assembly Government’s Book Prescription 
Scheme to include dementia care. 

 
 

 

Welsh Health Circular (2008) regarding Priority Treatment and 

Healthcare for Military Veterans 

o. This Circular states that ‘All veterans should now receive priority access to 
NHS secondary care for any conditions which are likely to be related to 
their service, subject to the clinical needs of all patients.’ 

 
 
 
 

Cardiff Specific 

 
Cardiff and Vale Mental Health Partnership Board 

p. The Cardiff and Vale Mental Health Partnership Board was set up in 2013 

to lead on developing the local Delivery Plan in line with the outcomes set 

out in the national ‘Together for Mental Health’ strategy. The Cardiff and 

Vale Delivery Plan covers the following areas, which are relevant to this 

Inquiry: 

 

I. Promoting better mental wellbeing and preventing mental health 

problems  

The Board has developed a vision document that sets out local priorities 

for delivering improved services for people living with mental health 

problems. A number of achievements have already been made in this 

regard:  

Page 82



 71 

 Introduction of a GP service in mental health wards to ensure 

people's physical health receives proper attention.  

 Improved training for a wider staff group to raise awareness of 

mental health issues.  

 Introduction of Peer Support workers in mental health services.  

 Joint working with Job Centres.  

 Creation of a Community REACT service for older people with 

mental health problems to support people at home.  

Priorities for next year are further development of a suicide prevention 

strategy and a 'Talk to Me' Action Plan.  

 

II. A new partnership with the public  

The Board involves service users and carers but acknowledges the 

challenges that face service users, carers and the wider public when 

getting involved in strategic development. It is exploring various ways to 

develop a co-production ethos throughout the partnership. Developments 

to date include:  

 An extended contract with Advocacy Support Cymru, to provide 

formal and informal advocacy.  

 An ongoing contract with Cardiff and Vale Action for Mental 

Health to provide support and opportunity to service users and 

carers in becoming involved in the co-production of service 

provision through the Sefyll and Nexus projects.  

 A 'Shared Decision Making' pilot project is being rolled out to 

ensure that individual Care and Treatment plans are produced 

together.  

Priorities for next year include making services available through the 

Welsh language and improved accessibility of services for hard-to-reach 

populations.  

 

III. A well designed, fully integrated network of care  

As well as influencing universal community opportunities and activities that 

are inclusive and promote mental wellbeing (such as leisure, education, 

employment, housing and general medical services), the Partnership 

Board is responsible for developing a fully integrated network of care and 

support. Developments to date include:  

 The provision of integrated Community Mental Health Services.  

 Implementation of the Primary Mental Health Support Service.  

 Ensuring that every person who receives a secondary mental 

health care service has a named Care Co-coordinator and a 

Care and Treatment Plan.  

 Improved access to psychological therapies.  

Page 83



 72 

 Production of the Dementia Action Plan, to improve the provision 

of care and support.  

 Promoting use of the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards across 

health and social care.  

 Appointment of a specialist Child and Adolescent Mental Health 

Service (CAMHS) to liaise with primary care.  

Priorities for the next year include ensuring that young people moving into 

adult mental health services experience a seamless service.  

 

IV. One system to improve Mental Health  

The Partnership Board takes a cross-cutting approach by working with 

statutory, independent and voluntary organisations to facilitate and co-

ordinate implementation of the six high level outcomes. Achievements so 

far include:  

 Improved communication and shared protocols with Housing 

departments to reduce delayed transfers of care and to develop 

creative housing solutions.  

 Introduction of the Peer Support scheme.  

Priorities for the next year are to progress work with housing providers to 

support people with mental health problems when discharging their 

landlord functions, to further reduce delayed transfers of care from 

hospital, and to promote the 'Time to Change Wales' campaign which 

supports people with mental health problems in securing employment.  

 

V. Delivering for Mental Health  

'Together for Mental Health' sets out a programme of change for mental 

health services and the wider public sector by ensuring a culture where 

mental health promotion and anti-discriminatory practices is in place. 

Achievements so far include:  

 Establishing the Cardiff and Vale Mental Health Partnership 

Board.  

 Introducing Mental Health First Aid Training.  

Priorities for the next year include ensuring that clinical and social work 

interventions provide positive outcomes that can be measured.  
 
Cardiff and Vale University Health Board 

q. The Cardiff and Vale University Health Board UHB currently deliver 
primary, community, inpatient and tertiary mental health services out of 
five hospital sites and twelve community bases through over 64 integrated 
teams at a cost of £60 million per annum.  
 

r. The range of services includes core mental health services such as adult 
and older people’s community mental health multi-disciplinary teams and 

Page 84



 73 

aligned in-patient beds but also support, specialist and tertiary services. 
The UHB provides mental health services to a population of around 
500,000 people. 

 
s. All the community teams are integrated with the local authorities, with 

Health leading on Adult Services teams and Local Authorities leading on 
Older People Mental Health - a mixed economy of leadership. 

 
t. The services provided are: 
 

I. Adult Acute Mental Health Services 

Adult Acute services cover the Cardiff and Vale area and are focussed on 
providing a community based model of care. Most referrals to adult acute 
services originate from the primary care services such as your local GP. 
Recent developments have established services that allow patients to be 
treated very early on which avoids admission into hospital or allows early 
discharge.  
 

II. Specialist Rehabilitation Services 

Mental Health Rehabilitation services provide support to patients with 
severe and enduring mental health problems. Referrals generally come 
from adult acute or community mental health services. Two inpatient 
wards remain, but the service is largely community based. Some 24 hour 
supported units support those with intensive rehabilitation needs, while 
supported housing and a developing community team offer less intense 
support. The aim of the service is to maximise the independent living 
skills of mental health service users, enabling them to manage life with 
sometimes chronic mental illnesses.  
 
III. Mental Health Services for Older People 

Older people's mental health services provide care to people who suffer 
late life onset mental health problems (functional illness) or one of the 
dementias (organic illness). A range of community, day hospital and 
inpatient services cover the UHB area with a community focussed model 
of care. Inpatient services offer assessment, respite and continuing 
assessment beds. 
 
IV. Neuropsychiatry Services 

Neuropsychiatry services cover all Wales and offer a specialist service to 
people with acquired brain injury. As the result of trauma resulting in 
damage to the brain, changes in function can result in severe behavioural 
disturbances which mainstream services find particularly difficult to care 
for. This is where a specialist Neuropsychiatry service is able to offer 
advice, support or intervention in challenging circumstances. The service 
has close links with the UHB's Neurosciences department, with some 
staff working between the two services. 
 

V. Traumatic Stress Service 

The aim of this service is to develop and provide effective interventions to 
help prevent individuals developing significant mental health difficulties 
after traumatic events, and to treat individuals with Post Traumatic Stress 

Page 85



 74 

Disorder (PTSD). The service also aims to increase awareness of the 
psychological effects of traumatic events.  
 
VI. Community Mental Health Teams 

Cardiff’s Community Mental Health Teams are made up of staff from 
health and social care professions, including social workers, nurses, 
psychologists, occupational therapists, physiotherapists, support workers 
and medical staff. Health professionals are employed by the health service 
and social care staff are employed by Cardiff Council. There are six 
CMHT’s covering Cardiff, as well as a CMHT for Older People with Mental 
Health needs. Cardiff Council’s leaflet on CMHT’s states ‘Most of the 
people the teams are helping were referred by a health worker such as 
their GP, but people can ask for help themselves, or be referred by family, 
friends, or other professionals working with them. But the teams only work 
with people who have severe, acute or enduring mental health problems.’ 

 
Also, the Cardiff and Vale Mental Health Partnership Board Annual Report 
2013-14 states that: 
‘Cardiff and Vale University Health Board now provide: 
Primary Mental Health Support Services working alongside the 
established GP practice-based primary care counselling service, delivering 
into Primary care services in meeting the needs of low and medium 
intensity mental health support alongside Assertive Outreach Services 
including provision for the City Centre and Homeless; Early Intervention 
efforts to detect and intensively treat first episode psychosis support the 
work of the generic adult services; Tier 3 Eating Disorders Specialist 
Team; Tier 3 Borderline Personality Disorder Support Team; 
Perinatal Specialist Service; Specialist Rehabilitation teams across 
Cardiff and Vale to support recovery and move on Post Traumatic Stress 
Disorder team is closely aligned with the all Wales veteran services 
hosted by Cardiff and Vale; Tier two Eating Disorder team delivering 
specialist interventions across community mental health teams and 
supporting specialist interventions in primary care; A Range of Low 
Secure and Forensic services, including in-patient beds, community team 
and criminal justice liaison services are available with a range of 
substance misuse services including NHS inpatient provision.  
The mental health service continues to provide support collaboratively 
across the UHB with Liaison services present in Emergency Unit, general 
hospital wards, poisons and elderly wards. Elderly mental health specialist 
services include Crisis Resolution (REACT) community older people’s 
team – one of the few across the UK, working alongside the Memory team 
and Young Onset service and Nursing Home Liaison. The delivery of 
Psychological Therapies is becoming increasingly embedded in core 
services with specialist support. 
 

 

Cardiff & Vale Framework for Older People 2014-2019 ‘Meaningful and 

Purposeful Lives’  

u. ‘Meaningful and Purposeful Lives’ sets out the framework for Older 
People’s services for the Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Integrated Health 

Page 86



 75 

and Social Care Partnership for the period 2014-2019. It contains 6 
themes and actions related to the provision of information to older people, 
as set out below: 

 
Themes Actions – relevant to this Inquiry 

2. Along with their carers, know 
where they can receive 
information, support, resources 
and advocacy in the community 
to live independently at home for 
as long as possible.  

Signposting to local community 
services  

 
Deliver the “Communities around 
Wyn” recognition and signposting 
project  

 
 
4. Receive informed and guided 
care about services that may be 
received, so that the different 
steps of treatment and care 
where appropriate are clearly 
understood and shared decisions 
made.  

 
Develop information that 
promotes shared decision 
making  

 
6. Be given information about 
quality assured value for money 
long-term care and support 
options and alternatives should 
these services be needed.  

 

Information about:  
Technology that may provide 
care or monitoring functions  
Housing options including 
supported and / or adapted 
housing  
Value for money and quality 
assured long term care  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 87



 76 

Local Mental Health and Wellbeing Needs Analysis 

The information below is extracted from the Cardiff and Vale Local Mental 

Health Partnership Board Annual Report 2013-14. 

 

Population Size 
Currently, around 479,000 people live in this area and between 2003 and 
2013, the number of people increased by 9.3%, almost double the Wales 
average at 4.7%. The number of people aged over 85 years has increased by 
28% between 2003 and 20131. 
 
Age and Gender 
The city of Cardiff has a skewed population compared to the Vale of 
Glamorgan because of the large numbers of students and disproportionately 
fewer older people. As a higher proportion of mental disorders develop 
between the ages of 14 to 20, Cardiff has greater incidence of mental illness. 
 
Ethnicity 
The proportion of people from the black and ethnic minority (BME) 
community2 in Wales averages at 6%. In Cardiff, however, the proportion 
stands at 16%3. Research shows that the incidence of psychosis is higher in 
the African Caribbean and Black African populations4. 
 
Educational Attainment 
The percentage of Year 11 school leavers who were known to be not in 
education, employment or training (NEET) in 2013 in Wales was 3.7%, with 
4.9% in Cardiff5. In general, people with a psychotic illness have fewer 
qualifications and are more likely to have left school before the age of 16 with 
no qualifications, compared to other groups. 
 
Unemployment 
The percentage of people who are claiming one or more employment related 
benefits in Wales stands at 14.7%, whereas in Cardiff this is slightly less at 
12.2%. Mental health conditions are the primary reason for those claiming 
health-related benefits6. 
 
Housing and Homelessness 
The number of households in Cardiff who were deemed to be eligible, 
unintentionally homeless and in priority need was 690 in 2013/14. Statistically, 
you are more likely to have a mental health condition if you are homeless: 
43% of those accessing homelessness projects in England were suffering 
from a mental illness. 
 
Diagnosis of Mental Illness 
According to the GP registers in Cardiff and the Vale as at March 2013, there 
were 4,111 people with a diagnosis of a serious mental illness. There were 
also 2,485 people with a diagnosis of dementia. However, according to the 
Alzheimer’s Society, this represented only 46% of people with dementia in the 
community8; therefore under-diagnosis is an issue, despite Cardiff and Vale 
having the best detection rate in Wales. 
 

Page 88



 77 

Deprivation 
Deprivation is associated with poorer mental health outcomes and those with 
a poorer level of income are more likely to have a common mental illness. 
Deprivation in Cardiff is mainly in the southern arc of the city and 15.8% of 
Cardiff’s areas fall into the 10% most deprived in Wales9. 
 
Prevalence 
According to the Welsh Health Survey 2011-12, 11% (age-standardised) of 
adults in Wales reported currently being treated for a mental illness and this is 
identical to the Cardiff and Vale prevalence of 11%10.  
 
This is likely to be an underestimate of the people who have a mental illness 
as surveys suggest that in England 16% of people have a common mental 
illness. In terms of a diagnosis of a serious mental illness (schizophrenia, 
bipolar disorder and other psychoses), there are 4,111 people on primary care 
registers with these conditions, which is 0.8% of the total GP list size11. 
 
A prediction tool, PsyMaptic has calculated that, in Cardiff and the Vale, we 
would expect to find 74 new cases of psychosis per annum, between the ages 
of 16-6412. 
 
In Cardiff the number of persons age 30 and over predicted to have dementia 
in 2013 was 3,577 rising to 5,242 in 2030. There are 2,485 people with a 
diagnosis of dementia on GP registers in Cardiff and Vale. When adjusted to 
take account of the age structure of the population, the dementia rate is 2.9 
per 1,000 people, compared to 2.7 per 1,000 people for Wales as a whole14 
 
Service usage 
Benchmarking data shows that the Adult Community Mental Health Team 
caseload per 10,000 weighted populations is 147 within Cardiff and Vale, 
which is similar to NHS Benchmarking data of 140. Within this service, there 
are 252 contacts per whole time equivalent, compared to 240 across the UK. 
The numbers of admissions per 100,000 populations are 245 in Cardiff and 
Vale, compared to 234 across UK benchmarking data. Bed occupancy in 
Cardiff and Vale is 115%, whereas across the UK it is 91% on average. 
 
Suicide 
Suicide rates in Wales are higher than in England but lower than in Scotland 
and Northern Ireland15. During the period 2003- 2012, European age-
standardised rates (EASRs) among men (aged 15+) in Cardiff and Vale 
ranged from 16 per 100,000 in the Vale of Glamorgan to 19.4 per 100,000 in 
Cardiff, similar to the Wales rate of 20 per 100,000 males. In women the 
EASRs in Cardiff and Vale ranged from 4.9 in the Vale of Glamorgan to 5.8 in 
Cardiff which is slightly higher than the Wales rate of 5.3 per 100,000 
females16 

 
 

 

 

Page 89



 78 

1 Office of National Statistics (ONS) mid-year population estimates 
(MYEs), 2003 and 2013 
2 BME defined as all non-white ethnic groups aggregated from 
KS201EW table (ONS, Census 2011) 
3Office of National Statistics (ONS) Census 2011, KS201EW. 
4 Morgan et al, First episode psychosis and ethnicity: initial findings from 
the AESOP study, World 
Psychiatry, 2006, 5:1, 40-46. 
5 Careers Wales Pupil Destinations from Schools in Wales, 2013 
6 ONS and DWP data from Public Health Wales Observatory, Nov 2009 
to August 2010 
7 Info base Cymru, 2013/14. Available from: 
http://www.infobasecymru.net/IAS/themes/housing/tabular?viewId=26&g
eoId=1&subsetId= 
8 Alzheimer’s Society, 
http://www.alzheimers.org.uk/site/scripts/download_info.php?fileID=1666 
9 This is taken from the results of the Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation 
2011. 
10 WHS, 2011-12, WG. http://wales.gov.uk/docs/statistics/2013/131001-
welsh-health-survey-localauthority- 
health-board-results-2011-2012-en.xls (Table 8) 
11 Quality and Outcomes Framework, June 2013, WG 
http://wales.gov.uk/docs/statistics/2013/131021-registeren.xls 
12 Psymaptic, http://www.psymaptic.org/prediction/psychosis-incidence-
map/ 
13 Daffodil Projections, Welsh Government, 2014 
14 Produced by Public Health Wales Observatory, using Audit+ (NWIS). 
15 Using data produced by Public Health Wales Observatory, taken from 
ONS, GROS & NISRA 
16 Figures produced by Public Health Wales Observatory, using ADDE 
& MYE (ONS) 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 90



 79 

APPENDIX C– EXTRACT FROM WELSH 

GOVERNMENT CODE OF GUIDANCE - CHAPTER FIVE 

 

 

Welsh Government – SSWB (Wales) Act 2014 – Code of Guidance for 
Consultation -  ‘Part 2 -Code of Practice and guidance on the exercise of 

social services functions and partnership arrangements in relation to part 2 
(General Functions) of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 
Including Well-being, Population Assessment, Prevention, Promotion of Social 
Enterprises and Provision of Information, Advice and Assistance 
Issued under Sections 145 and 169 of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) 
Act 2014   
(Short title: Code of Practice on General Functions)’ 

Chapter 5: Information, Advice and Assistance  
 
Introduction: aims and scope  
229. This Code of Practice provides guidance on section 17 under Part 2 of 
the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014. Section 17 covers the 
provision of information, advice and assistance. There are no regulations 
made under this section of the Act.  
 
Introduction  
Aim and scope  
230. This code of practice sets out the duties on local authorities in relation to 
the provision of a service for providing people with: Information and Advice 
relating to care and support, and Assistance in accessing care and support  
 
231. This code of practice applies to local authorities although Local Health 
Boards, or an NHS Trust providing services in the area of a local authority, 
must provide that local authority with information about the care and support it 
provides in the local authority’s area.  Other partner organisations including 
third and independent sector organisations, and citizens of Wales, including 
those in prison, youth detention and bail accommodation, will have an interest 
in its content and delivery.  
 
232. The Information, Advice and Assistance service must include, as a 
minimum, the publication of information and advice on:  
 

 how the care and support system operates in the local authority area;  

 the types of care and support available;  

 how to access the care and support that is available; and  

 how to raise concerns about the well-being of a person who appears to 
have needs for care and support.  

 
 
 

Page 91



 80 

Purpose of the Information, Advice and Assistance Service  
233. The Information, Advice and Assistance Service will be available to all 
people (adults, children, families of children, young people and carers) in the 
local area and will provide the primary entry point to the care and support 
system. It will be crucial in empowering and enabling people with the 
information they need to help them make informed decisions and to tap into 
resources, including their own and their community resources. The Service 
will help people, including those in the secure estate, to understand how the 
care and support system operates in their local area and how they, or 
someone they care for, can be supported to achieve their personal well-being 
outcomes. The Information, Advice and Assistance Service will also support 
professionals to be better informed and able to reply to enquiries. 
 
234. The Information Advice and Assistance Service must provide access to 
relevant, accurate, high quality and timely information, advice and assistance 
about ways that people can meet their care and support needs, or the care 
and support needs of others they may care for, both now and in the future. 
The Service must also provide information and advice on how to raise 
concerns about the well-being of another person who appears to have care 
and support needs. 
 
235. The Service will provide information and advice about the preventative 
well-being services available in the community that would be most appropriate 
for people and their individual circumstances. The service will also offer 
assistance to access care and support if needed.  
 
236. The Service will provide information on direct payments, charges for care 
and support and other information and advice on matters that would enable 
people to plan for meeting their care and support needs, or support needs for 
carers that may arise. This is a shift from information about services to 
information about people and  
their care and support needs to enable them to better help themselves and 
others. Further information about direct payments is available in the Code of 
Practice on Part 4 of the Act and information about charging is available in the 
Code of Practice on Part 5 of the Act.  
 
237. Local authorities must through partnership working find ways to deliver 
the Information, Advice and Assistance Service to those in the secure estate 
while they are detained and in preparation for their release.  
 
Definitions  
238. In the context of the Information, Advice and Assistance Service the 
following definitions for each element of the service apply:  
Information:  
Information will be quality data / material that supports a person to make an 
informed choice about their well-being. This will include financial 
information, and information on direct payments, information on charges, 
and other matters that would enable someone to plan how to meet their 
care and support needs, or support needs if they were a carer.  

Page 92



 81 

Advice:  
Advice will be a way of working co-productively with a person to explore the 
options available and offer guidance to them about making the most suitable 
choice to overcome barriers they may face to achieving their personal well-
being outcomes. The provision of advice will require the service provider to 
conduct a simple assessment and to record basic personal data and the 
advice given.  
Assistance:  
Assistance, if needed, will follow the provision of information and advice. 
Assistance will involve another person taking action with the enquirer, to 
support the enquirer to access care and support, or a carer to access 
support. Responsibility for the activity undertaken is shared between the 
giver and receiver of the assistance. The provision of assistance will also 
require the service to conduct a simple assessment and to record any 
additional personal data and details of the assistance offered and taken up 
by the enquirer.  
 

Assessment  
239. When the Information, Advice and Assistance Service only provide 
information a record of personal data is not needed. As such the person 
accessing the service for information would often remain anonymous for 
recording purposes. However, those operating the Service should capture 
information about the nature of the enquiry and which type of service the 
enquirer was signposted to for national management information purposes.  
 
240. When the Information, Advice and Assistance Service offers advice and 
/ or assistance core data must be recorded. Further information about core 
data is available in the Code of Practice on Part 3 of the Act relating to 
Assessing Needs.  
 
241. Staff working for the Service will be skilled to undertake an assessment 
in line with the regulations on assessing needs.  
 
242. The assessment process will be applied proportionately to match the 
person’s care and support needs, or support needs of carers. A simple 
assessment can be conducted and concluded by staff working within the 
Information, Advice and Assistance Service.  
 
243. If a more comprehensive assessment is required a specialist 
assessments may follow the initial simple assessment to form a complex 
assessment. However, the initial information gathered through the simple 
assessment will not need to be repeated.  
 
244. Where it appears that the needs of the individual are such that there is a 
duty on the local authority to exercise a function in order to protect and 
safeguard the person from abuse or neglect or the risk of abuse or neglect 
(and in the case of a child: harm or the risk of harm) there is a need to act on 
this information immediately and without delay. Local authorities must also 
determine whether the needs of the individual call for the exercise of any 
function it has under Part 4 (Care and Supervision) or Part 5 (Protection of 

Page 93



 82 

Children) of the Children Act 1989 and should act on this immediately and 
without delay.  
 
245. Local authorities must work in partnership with its NHS partners to 
ensure that any personally identifiable information should be shared within the 
principles of the Wales Accord on Sharing Personally Identifiable Information 
(WASPI). All Local Health Boards and local authorities in Wales are 
signatories to this protocol and a link is attached below:  
http://www.waspi.org/  
 
 
Recording Management Information 
246. Local authorities must record management data from their Information, 
Advice and Assistance Service for the following purposes:  
 

 Monitoring Performance  
The recording of information is important to support service performance 
and improvement. Recording the information exchange (calls and web 
logs) can be analysed to provide a better understanding of the nature of 
the enquiry and the customer profiles. Management data will also assist in 
the audit and inspection of the Service and, for this purpose, local 
authorities should consider obtaining feedback from service users.  

 

 Planning Services  
It is important for local authorities to record information about the nature of 
enquiries and responses, as well as the type of information and advice 
offered by their service to support the population needs assessment and 
planning of preventative wellbeing services (see the Code on section 14).  

 

 Service Improvements  
Recording personal data when advice and assistance are provided can 
prevent an individual having to repeat the same information if they access 
a service again or proceed through the care and support system. This will 
also make the system more efficient.  

 
Accessibility  
247. Local authorities must seek to ensure that information, advice and 
assistance offered under the Service must be available in a manner which is 
accessible and suits the needs of their population. The Equality Act 2010 
requires that reasonable adjustments are made to ensure that people have 
equal access to information, advice and assistance services. Reasonable 
adjustments could include the provision of information and advice in 
accessible formats and /or with communication support to meet the different 
needs of different people and ensuring that those who face challenges are not 
excluded.  
 
248. Local authorities, with their partners, must recognise the needs of their 
population (See Code of Practice on Strategic Population Needs Assessment 
section 14, Part 2). The Service will need to be appropriately designed and 
accessible for different client groups. It must be easy to find, understand and 
use for everyone. 
 

Page 94



 83 

249. The Information, Advice and Assistance Service must be available 
through the medium of English and Welsh –many Welsh speakers can only 
communicate their care needs effectively through the medium of Welsh, 
additionally, for many Welsh speakers being able to use their own language 
has to be seen as a core component of the Information, Advice and 
Assistance Service not an optional extra. However, the Service must be 
mindful of the need to be accessible to all people. Local authorities should 
ensure that the Information, Advice and Assistance Service is designed to be 
pro-active in providing knowledge and help to people of all ages, social and 
cultural groups whether they are seeking information, advice and assistance 
for themselves or for others that they care for.  
 
250. People must find it easy to access the Service and be treated with dignity 
and respect at all times by staff who are well trained to deliver the Service. 
This is particularly relevant for children and young people who will need to feel 
confident and reassured that this Service will provide relevant, accurate and 
up to date information and advice for them and be available in ways that they 
prefer to use.  
 
251. The local authority must ensure that the Information, Advice and 
Assistance Service will offer support and guidance to people and 
professionals through a range of media e.g. web, telephone, face to face, 
outreach, digital media, publications.  
 
252. The local authority must ensure that information and advice is available 
in a variety of formats including easy read and material specially for children 
and young people and it must be well publicised.  
 
253. The local authority must ensure people have access to a 24/7 service, 
although this does not mean that every component of the Service is provided 
on a 24 hour basis.  
 
254. A key component of the Information, Advice and Assistance Service will 
be a directory of services which must be accurate, up-to-date and relevant.  
 
255. Local authorities must work together to ensure the Service is consistent 
so that people find information easy to access in local authorities which are 
not their ordinary residence. This is particularly relevant for those who may be 
living close to the boundaries of the neighbouring local authority.  
 
256. Local authorities must produce a communications strategy to promote 
their Information, Advice and Assistance Service. Local authorities should 
lead the process, but develop the communication strategy jointly with 
partners. The strategy should consider the different target audiences and how 
to reach them, with priority given to the most vulnerable.  
 
257. Local authorities must ensure that the Information, Advice and 
Assistance Service provides information and advice about advocacy services 
that are available locally and if necessary assists the enquirer to access the 
service.   
 
 

Page 95



 84 

Integrated Services  
258. Local authorities must make links with other information and advice 
services at a local, regional and national level, particularly those that are 
publicly funded. All efforts should be made to reduce duplication and ensure 
the information and advice is offered by the most appropriate and skilled 
agency.  
 
259. Local authorities should consider adopting an integrated approach which 
draws on the knowledge and services available from their own departments, 
Local Health Boards, NHS Trusts, the third and independent sectors.  
 
260. Local Health Boards and NHS Trusts must provide the local authority 
with information about the care and support it provides in the local authority’s 
area. Both local authorities and their NHS partners should work in partnership 
to ensure the Information, Advice and Assistance Service is comprehensive 
and up to date and relevant.  
 
261. Local authorities should consider their duties under S16 to promote 
social enterprises, co-operatives and user led services in order to approach 
the development of the Service in an innovative way.  
 
262. Local authorities must make links to any proposed national information 
and advice service developments within the health or social care sector so 
they are integrated into the development of their Information, Advice and 
Assistance Service.  
 
Workforce Implications  
263. Local authorities must develop a workforce training plan which should 
cover front line staff working within the Information, Advice and Assistance 
Service and the wider workforce.  
 
264. All staff working within the Service should have a clear understanding of 
the care and support system operating in their locality and be appropriately 
trained to conduct an assessment, determine eligibility and prepare care and 
support plans as set out in Parts 3 and 4 of the Act and Code of Practice.  
 
265. Local authorities must establish a team which reflects a mix of skills and 
experience from a range of professionals from the social care, health, third 
and independent sectors.  
 
266. Local authorities must recognise the need for the ongoing training of 
staff.  
 
267. Local authorities should also consider the scope of the training and 
access rights for the wider workforce delivering information, advice and 
assistance.    
 
Governance and Accountability  
268. Local authorities should work in partnership to develop their Information, 
Advice and Assistance Service on a Local Health Board footprint. Local 
authorities should also consider delivering components of their service on a 
national basis.  

Page 96



 85 

 
269. Each local authority must have engaged with its Local Health Board, 
NHS partners, the third sector, private providers and representatives of the 
community in the design, planning and development of the model for the 
Information, Advice and Assistance Service that will operate in its locality.  
 
270. Local Health Boards, or NHS Trusts operating within the local authority 
area, must provide local authorities with information about the care and 
support it provides in the local authority area. This information should be 
relevant and accurate and provided in a format which is agreed by the local 
authority and accessible to the Information, Advice and Assistance Service.  
 
271. The Director of Social Services will be responsible for ensuring the 
design, plan and delivery model meets the duties of the local authority. 
Directors of Social Services, as part of their social services functions 
developed under section 143 and section 144 of the 2014 Act, must report 
annually on the progress of the Information, Advice and Assistance Service, 
either separately or as part of the overall care and support arrangements 
operating in its area. This report must be made publicly available and 
accessible via the local authority’s website.  
 
272. If the local authority delivers the service through a third party the Director 
of Social Services must ensure that the Service is monitored closely and 
meets the delivery standards. In all cases feedback from service users must 
be collected and contribute to service improvement.  
 
273. Audit and inspection of the Information, Advice and Assistance Service 
will also apply.  
 
National Service Delivery Standards  
274. Local authorities must ensure that they meet the national service 
standards for the content and delivery model of the Information, Advice and 
Assistance Service in its area to ensure a consistent Service is delivered 
across Wales.  
 
275. The Service will:  
a. be well publicised in the locality, particularly in places and through media 
that will reach people of all ages;  
b. be available through a variety of media (including online, digital media, 
telephone, face-to-face, outreach, publications);  

c. be available through a variety formats (including easy read, child friendly 
version etc.);  

d. be available through the medium of both Welsh and English reflecting the 
Welsh Government Strategy ‘More than Just Words’;  

e. be staffed by a range of skilled professionals including those with 
experience in the social care, health, third and independent sectors to provide 
an holistic approach;  

f. support individuals to build on their strengths and draw out what the person 
wants to achieve;  

g. meet service content accreditation standards for the range of formats to 
ensure a consistent and reliable response;  

Page 97



 86 

h. provide information that is accurate, up to date and relevant;  

i. provide information which is accessible 24/7;  

j. respond to an enquiry within 24 hours;  

k. record data in line with assessment guidance where advice and/or 
assistance is given;  

l. deliver a positive customer service experience;  

m. provide information about how the care and support system works;  

n. be accessible to all people;  

o. offer a response which is proportionate to the enquiry and empowers the 
individual to access early support independently; 

p. be widely publicised and recognisable by people in the local area;  

q. work with other local, regional and national advice services to provide an 
integrated and seamless response for enquirers;  

r. involve service users in the design and review of the service.  
 
 
 
Complaints  
276. Local authorities must provide reference to the complaints procedure 
operating within the local authority and be able to direct those wishing to make 
a complaint to the necessary information quickly and efficiently.  
 
277. The Welsh Government has recently issued new complaints guidance: A 
guide to handling complaints and representations by local authority social 
service which was effective from 1 August 2014. A link to this can be found at:  
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/health/socialcare/complaints/?lang=en 
 
 
Adults and children in prison, youth detention accommodation and bail 
accommodation 
 
278. Local authorities are responsible for providing the Information, Advice 
and Assistance to those people within its geographical boundary as outlined 
in Section 17. This will include the duty to provide the service to those adults 
and children in prison, youth detention accommodation and bail 
accommodation where these establishments fall within their boundaries.  
 
279. Local authorities must ensure that the Information, Advice and 
Assistance Service is in keeping with national and local strategies.  
 
280. Local authorities must consider how best to provide the Information, 
Advice and Assistance Service to those in the secure estate, ensuring that it is 
accessible both in terms of information content and delivery of service. The 
Information, Advice and Assistance Service and the provision and 
accessibility of preventative and well-being services need to be seen as a 
means of supporting those individuals while they are in the secure estate and 
in preparation for their release and resettlement.  
 
281. Local authorities should ensure that the Information, Advice and 
Assistance Service is linked into the provision of information and advice and 

Page 98

http://wales.gov.uk/topics/health/socialcare/complaints/?lang=en


 87 

the provisions for resettlement of prisoners under the Housing (Wales) Act 
2014 and that a comprehensive and integrated service is developed.  
 
282. Local authorities must have regard to the code on adults and children in 
prison, youth detention accommodation and bail accommodation under Part 
11 of the Act. They must work together with the relevant agencies and 
establishments to identify how this service will operate and may do this on a 
national basis.  
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 99



 88 

APPENDIX D – GOOD PRACTICE EXAMPLES AND 

CASE STUDIES 

 

http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/Browse/Informationandadvice/Informationandadv

icecasestudies/ (downloaded 20th October 2014) 

Information and Advice case studies 

These case studies are examples of information, advice and brokerage initiatives 

collected from local authorities and others from across the country.  

They will be of interest to organisations as they develop their services in response to 

the requirements of the Care Bill.  

Case studies 

Website 

 Connect to Barnsley - Barnsley Metropolitan Borough Council 

Connect to Barnsley is a universal information and advice hub that provides a 

single interface for information about health, social care and wellbeing. 

 Connect to Support in Yorkshire & Humber 

Connect to Support (CtS) is a website developed by Local Government 

Yorkshire and Humber, it is for people who use social care services or who are 

looking for information and advice about what support and care is available in 

their local council area. 

 Dudley Community Information Directory - Dudley Metropolitan Borough 

Council 

The Dudley Community Information Directory (DCID) is a central portal for 

the provision of online information and advice about organisations and support 

services in Dudley. 

 Durham Information Guide (DIG) - Durham County Council 

The Durham Information Guide (DIG) is an online database developed by 

Durham County Council, it allows people to search for information and 

contacts in order to give them choice and control over the care and support 

they receive. 

 

 

Page 100

http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/Browse/Informationandadvice/Informationandadvicecasestudies/
http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/Browse/Informationandadvice/Informationandadvicecasestudies/
http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/Browse/Informationandadvice/Informationandadvicecasestudies/#csSection-9807-1
http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/pageFinder.cfm?cid=9817&basePageID=2719
http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/pageFinder.cfm?cid=9823&basePageID=2719
http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/pageFinder.cfm?cid=9818&basePageID=2719
http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/pageFinder.cfm?cid=9818&basePageID=2719
http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/pageFinder.cfm?cid=9819&basePageID=2719


 89 

 East Sussex 1Space - East Sussex County Council 

East Sussex 1Space is part of a coordinated range of services designed to 

enable people to exercise choice and control over their lives, by ensuring that 

they have the right information to help them plan the care and support they 

need. 

 Gateway to Care Single Point of Access - Kirklees Council 

Gateway to Care Single Point of Access is an information and advice service 

provided by Kirklees Council.  

 Information Now - Newcastle City Council 

Information Now is a website developed by Newcastle City Council: Quality 

of Life Partnership; it was developed with and for older people in 2007. 

 Leeds Directory - Leeds City Council 

The Leeds Directory was developed by Leeds City Council, it provides a 

universal source of quality information accessible in a variety of formats, to 

meet the needs of a wide range of stakeholders. 

 Living Well with Dementia - Coventry & Warwickshire County Council 

Living Well with Dementia is a one-stop portal for information about 

dementia. It was created by the Coventry and Warwickshire Living Well with 

Dementia Partnership. 

 My Care, My Choice website - Stockport Council 

'My Care, My Choice' is a website developed by Stockport Council that 

provides information about care and support services in Stockport and acts as 

an information hub for council staff and partner organisations. 

 My Choice Marketplace - Trafford Council 

My Choice Marketplace is an accessible website that was developed by 

Trafford Council; it informs personal budget holders and self-funders of the 

services available and ensures a minimum level of quality. 

 MyLife online directory - London Borough of Redbridge 

'MyLife' is a web platform developed by the London Borough of Redbridge, it 

allows people to access information about care and support services. 

 

 

 

Page 101

http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/pageFinder.cfm?cid=9820&basePageID=2719
http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/pageFinder.cfm?cid=9821&basePageID=2719
http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/pageFinder.cfm?cid=9825&basePageID=2719
http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/pageFinder.cfm?cid=9822&basePageID=2719
http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/pageFinder.cfm?cid=9830&basePageID=2719
http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/pageFinder.cfm?cid=9828&basePageID=2719
http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/pageFinder.cfm?cid=9829&basePageID=2719
http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/pageFinder.cfm?cid=9824&basePageID=2719


 90 

 Staffordshire Cares - Staffordshire County Council 

Staffordshire Cares is a service developed by Staffordshire County Council. 

The website helps people to maintain their independence and plan their lives 

by putting all information, advice and guidance in one place, in a range of 

formats, to meet individual needs. 

 Swindon Directory of Information, Support & Advice (DISA) 

Swindon Directory of Information, Support and Advice (DISA) is an online 

resource to help people and practitioners quickly find information to help 

people make the most of their lives, in the way they choose. 

 

Prevention 

 Health and Wellbeing Zones - Derbyshire County Council 

Derbyshire County Council's Health and Wellbeing Zones first started in 2011 

and there are now 20 dedicated zones across the region. 

 Later Life Planning - London Borough of Barnet 

Later Life Planning (LLP) aims to provide a flexible and holistic one stop shop 

for older people to help them plan for their future, retirement and to keep well 

and active. 

 Your Support Your Choice - Blackburn with Darwen Council 

Your Support Your Choice (YSYC) is walk-in health and social care 

information centre which provides health and social care information , 

signposting, access to peer support and advocacy. 

 

Brokerage/ Peer Support 

 Derbyshire Adult Care Brokerage Service - Derbyshire County Council 

The Adult Care Brokerage Service exists to help people who use services 

exercise choice and control, by helping them find the services they need.  

 Peer support brokerage - Trafford Council 

Peer support brokerage in Trafford assists people with mental health problems 

to create their own personalised support plans. 

 Support With Confidence - East Sussex County Council 

Page 102

http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/pageFinder.cfm?cid=9827&basePageID=2719
http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/pageFinder.cfm?cid=9826&basePageID=2719
http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/Browse/Informationandadvice/Informationandadvicecasestudies/#csSection-9807-2
http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/pageFinder.cfm?cid=9833&basePageID=2719
http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/pageFinder.cfm?cid=9834&basePageID=2719
http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/pageFinder.cfm?cid=9832&basePageID=2719
http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/Browse/Informationandadvice/Informationandadvicecasestudies/#csSection-9807-3
http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/pageFinder.cfm?cid=9836&basePageID=2719
http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/pageFinder.cfm?cid=9838&basePageID=2719
http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/pageFinder.cfm?cid=9835&basePageID=2719


 91 

The 'Support With Confidence' scheme provides a list of providers of care and 

support services who have been approved and have undergone appropriate 

training and background checks. 

 User-controlled information - London Borough of Barnet 

This is a user-controlled IAA (Information, Advice & Advocacy) service and 

peer support brokerage service commissioned by the London Borough of 

Barnet. 

 

Assisted signposting 

 Healthwatch Liverpool - Liverpool City Council 

Information about local health and social care services is one of the three 

elements of the service provided by the new Healthwatch Liverpool. 

 Information and advice services - Leicestershire County Council 

The council have developed a new 'delivery model' for information and advice 

services in Leicestershire. 

 Stockport FLAG - Stockport Council 

FLAG is an information and advice service managed and delivered through a 

consortium of voluntary sector organisations working in Stockport. 

 Thurrock Over Fifties Forum (TOFF) 

It is a free impartial advice session held in local Learning Centre where 

visitors can get advice in relation to housing, benefits, funding, care and social 

activities. 

 Village Agents - Hampshire County Council 

The Village Agent project is developing a network of local volunteers who 

help older people living in rural areas find the information and support they 

need.  

 

Self funders/ financial advice 

 Practical Guide to Care - Birmingham City Council 

The Practical Guide to Care is an accessible resource that provides practical 

information and advice to help adults understand their options and choose a 

solution that is right for their needs. 

Page 103

http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/pageFinder.cfm?cid=9837&basePageID=2719
http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/Browse/Informationandadvice/Informationandadvicecasestudies/#csSection-9807-4
http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/pageFinder.cfm?cid=9842&basePageID=2719
http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/pageFinder.cfm?cid=9841&basePageID=2719
http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/pageFinder.cfm?cid=9843&basePageID=2719
http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/pageFinder.cfm?cid=9844&basePageID=2719
http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/pageFinder.cfm?cid=9839&basePageID=2719
http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/Browse/Informationandadvice/Informationandadvicecasestudies/#csSection-9807-5
http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/pageFinder.cfm?cid=9845&basePageID=2719


 92 

 Supporting people who pay for their own support - Bracknell Forest 

Bracknell Forest Council is due to offer people who pay for their own support 

a referral to a selected organisation that provides advice and guidance to 

people funding their own care. 

 

Printed guides 

 Wise Guide - Independent Age 

Wise Guides are short A5 books of 70-100 pages providing information in a 

friendly and accessible form. 

 

Remodelling services 

 Remodelling information - Norfolk Integrated Health and Social Care 

Commissioning Team 

A re-modelled information, advice and advocacy (IAA) service for specific 

groups, developed in consultation with those groups and in a rural area. 

 

Carers 

 Carers Wellcheck - Worcestershire County Council 

A 'Carers Wellcheck' is now carried out prior to the statutory Carers 

Assessment.  

 

http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/BCC/Latest/resourceOverview/?cid=10285 

Interesting practice examples from six councils on improving the 

provision of information, advice and brokerage under the Care Act 

Added: 25/09/2014 

During 2013 TLAP carried out a study to find out how local authorities were meeting 

the new duty under the Care Act and associated Guidance to improve the provision of 

information, advice and brokerage to people who use social care services and their 

carers.  

 

From the original sample of 31 local authorities which took part in the study, six 

volunteered for closer observation of their work. Local authorities representing 

Barnet, Cornwall, Derbyshire, Lancashire, Stockport and West Sussex were 

specifically chosen in order to showcase a range of council types in different parts of 

Page 104

http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/pageFinder.cfm?cid=9846&basePageID=2719
http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/Browse/Informationandadvice/Informationandadvicecasestudies/#csSection-9807-6
http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/pageFinder.cfm?cid=9847&basePageID=2719
http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/Browse/Informationandadvice/Informationandadvicecasestudies/#csSection-9807-7
http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/pageFinder.cfm?cid=9848&basePageID=2719
http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/pageFinder.cfm?cid=9848&basePageID=2719
http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/Browse/Informationandadvice/Informationandadvicecasestudies/#csSection-9807-8
http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/pageFinder.cfm?cid=9849&basePageID=2719
http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/BCC/Latest/resourceOverview/?cid=10285
http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/Browse/Informationandadvice/Informationandadvicecasestudies/


 93 

the country which are carrying out innovative work -"interesting practice" in meeting 

this new duty.  

 

The study involved the gathering of evidence including performance information and 

customer feedback, and interviews with commissioners, providers, "customers" and 

other stakeholders at each site. It aimed to capture learning, to highlight interesting 

practice and to explore these councils' plans for 2014/15. 

 

Please note a summary of Barnet's work can be found in Gearing up for change - part 

2 of the suite of three reports which accompany the case studies and are not itemised 

here.  

Documents 

 Derbyshire Adult Care Brokerage Service (pdf - 307Kb) (opens new window) 

 Lancashire's approach to local area co-ordination (pdf - 494Kb) (opens new 

window) 

 Newquay Pathfinder Project (pdf - 514Kb) (opens new window) 

 Stockport FLAG (pdf - 321Kb) (opens new window) 

 West Sussex "Carewise" (pdf - 420Kb) (opens new window) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 105

http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/_library/Resources/caseStudies/CASE_STUDY_FINAL_Derbyshire_1.docxwebready.docxpdf.pdf
http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/_library/Resources/caseStudies/CASE_STUDY_FINAL_Lancs_1.docweb_ready.docpdf.pdf
http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/_library/Resources/caseStudies/CASE_STUDY_FINAL_Lancs_1.docweb_ready.docpdf.pdf
http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/_library/Resources/caseStudies/Cornwallpdf.pdf
http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/_library/Resources/caseStudies/CASE_STUDY_FINAL_Stockport_1.pdf
http://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/_library/Resources/caseStudies/CASE_STUDY_FINAL_West_Sussex_1.docweb_ready.docpdf.pdf


 94 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Scrutiny Services, City of Cardiff Council, 

Room 263, County Hall, Atlantic Wharf, Cardiff CF10 4UW 

Tel: 029 2087 2296    Fax: 029 2087 2579    Email: 

scrutinyviewpoints@cardiff.gov.uk 

© 2015 City of Cardiff Council 

Page 106



Page 1 of 4 
 

CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL  
CYNGOR DINAS CAERDYDD 
 
CABINET MEETING:  21 JANUARY 2016 

 
 
ANNUAL REVIEW OF COUNCIL’S VOLUNTARY REDUNDANCY 
SCHEME  
 
REPORT OF CORPORATE DIRECTOR RESOURCES 

 
AGENDA ITEM:   3 

 
  
PORTFOLIO: CORPORATE SERVICES AND PERFORMANCE 
COUNCILLOR GRAHAM HINCHEY) 
 
Reason for this Report 
 
1. Following the last review of the Voluntary Redundancy Scheme (agreed 

by Cabinet in January 2015 for implementation from April 2015), there 
was also a commitment made to undertake an annual review of the 
arrangements.  This report confirms the outcome of that review. 
 

 Background 
 
2. The January 2015 review resulted in the maximum number of weeks 

payable reducing from 66 (which is in effect 3 x the statutory scheme) to 
45 weeks (1.5 x statutory scheme).  Cabinet agreed that the weekly pay 
used for calculation purposes should remain as that set out in statutory 
redundancy legislation, increased each April by the Department for 
Business, Innovation and Skills. Maintaining this link will ensure that 
costs of redundancies can be budgeted for as the weekly pay cannot 
exceed this figure. Weekly pay for calculation purposes is currently 
capped at £475 per week and this may be subject to a slight annual 
increase from April 2016.  

 
3. Comparisons with other Welsh Local authority schemes were made at 

that time and this change was broadly comparable to a number of other 
Councils The scheme changes , effective from April 2015, resulted in the 
maximum payment available being  reduced from £30,000 to £21,000. 

 
4. Two other changes were made as part of that review.  This included (i) a 

stop on the routine use of Settlement Agreements and (ii) preventing 
those who took Voluntary Redundancy from returning to work for the 
Council in any capacity  for 12 months from date of leaving.  
 

 

Page 107

Agenda Item 3



Page 2 of 4 
 

5. Reference to a further review of the Voluntary Redundancy Scheme was 
included both within  the Budget Strategy Report, considered by Cabinet 
in July 2015 and  the Budget Consultation Report, considered by Cabinet 
on 10 December 2015. Due to the ongoing and difficult budgetary 
position, the need for certainty in costs of scheme application continues 
to be a key consideration and hence the need for an annual review. 

 
Issues  
 
6. The numbers of agreed Voluntary Redundancies over the last few years 

are shown below: 
 

 Council Schools Total 

  
Voluntary 
Redundancy 

Voluntary 
Redundancy Total VR 

2011/12 150 36 186 

2012/13 158 38 196 

2013/14 374 54 428 

2014/15  481 128 609 

2015/16 (Apr-Nov) 77 27 104 
 
 
7. Although the number of Voluntary Redundancies  has   increased over 

the last 2 years, with a peak of 609 for 2014/15, the data for the current 
year is showing a slow down in numbers. In the period April - November 
2015, 104 Voluntary Redundancies have been agreed. This compares to 
309 for the same period in 2014, which is equivalent to a reduction of 
66%. This could be due to a number of factors including the reduction in 
the scheme from April 2015 being seen as unattractive and therefore 
smaller numbers of volunteers coming forward at the time.  
 

8. A detailed review of the schemes operating elsewhere in comparison to 
the Council’s scheme has been carried out over the last few months. 
Whilst there are some variations e.g. a small number of authorities have 
in place a scheme which now differentiates between under 55s and over 
55s who could have access to their pension, the Council’s current 
scheme remains broadly comparable to that which operates across 
Welsh local authorities. 

 
9. It will be important that the scheme continues to attract sufficient 

numbers of volunteers - less employees coming forward on a voluntary 
basis will lead to more compulsory processes and the challenges that 
presents.  

 
10. Consequently, following the conclusion of this specific annual review, it 

has been proposed that the scheme should not be amended for the time 
being.  Therefore the provisions of the current Voluntary Redundancy 
Scheme should remain in place until such time as the scheme is 

Page 108



Page 3 of 4 
 

changed in the future.  A further annual review of the current Council 
scheme will be programmed for early 2017.   

 
Reason for Recommendation 
 
11. It is good practise to periodically review the Voluntary Redundancy 

scheme in order to assess continued fitness for purpose and 
comparability with others’ schemes .The recommendation not to change 
the scheme’s provisions at this time has been made following the most 
recent review, the continued broad comparability with other schemes and 
the need for the scheme to remain sufficiently attractive for volunteers to 
come forward.  

 
Financial Implications 
 
12.  There are no financial implications arising from this report with no 

changes proposed in relation to the Council’s current voluntary 
redundancy scheme. 

 
Legal Implications 
 
13.  The Local Government (Early Termination of Employment) (Discretionary 

Compensation) (England and Wales) Regulations 2006 allow the Council 
to pay discretionary compensation which is additional to a statutory 
redundancy payment. 

 
14. Under the Regulations the Council must formulate, publish, and keep 

under review the policy that it applies in the exercise of its discretionary 
power. If the Council decides to change its policy it must publish a 
statement of the amended policy and may not give effect to any policy 
change until one month after the date of publication. 

 
15. Although enhanced payments are discretionary and not contractual 

adequate consultation on changes in policy should be carried out with 
the trade unions. 

 
16. In formulating and reviewing its policy the Council must also, under the 

Regulations: 
 

• Have regard to the extent to which the exercise of its discretionary 
powers (in accordance with the policy), unless properly limited, could 
lead to a serious loss of confidence in the public service; and 

• Be satisfied that the policy is workable, affordable and reasonable 
having regard to the foreseeable costs 

  
HR Implications 
 
17.  It will be important to have in place a scheme which continues to attract 

volunteers coming forward who wish to leave. Whilst the numbers 
volunteering has fallen in comparison to the same period last year, any 
further reduction in the scheme could have an adverse affect on the 

Page 109



Page 4 of 4 
 

numbers coming forward. This could in turn lead to more compulsory 
processes and the inevitable challenges that brings.  

 
Trade Union Comments 

 
18. The views of the Trade Unions have been sought in relation to any 

proposed changes to the current scheme.  All the Trade Unions stated 
their clear resistance to any proposed changes, pointing out the 
implications this would have if fewer and fewer staff came forward, 
expressing a wish to leave on the grounds of Voluntary Redundancy. 
They all requested that the scheme as it stands should remain in place 
unchanged. 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
Cabinet is recommended to agree: 
 
(1) To retain the current Voluntary Redundancy Scheme and that it will 

continue to apply to both voluntary and compulsory redundancies. 
 
(2) that the Voluntary Redundancy scheme be subject to annual reviews.  
 
 
CHRISTINE SALTER  
Corporate Director  
15 January 2016 
 
 
 
The following Background  Papers have been taken into account : 
 
Review of Council’s Voluntary Redundancy Scheme: Cabinet 29 January 2015. 

Page 110



Page 1 of 9 

CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL  
CYNGOR DINAS CAERDYDD 
 
CABINET MEETING: 21 JANUARY 2016 

 
 
REVIEW OF THE COUNCIL’S DISCIPLINARY POLICY AND  
ASSOCIATED POLICIES & PROCEDURES   
 
REPORT OF CORPORATE DIRECTOR RESOURCES 

AGENDA ITEM: 4   
 
  
PORTFOLIO: CORPORATE SERVICES AND PERFORMANCE 
(COUNCILLOR GRAHAM HINCHEY) 
 
Reason for this Report 
 
1. In response to recommendations in March 2015 from an internal review 

of Council workplace investigations, the current Disciplinary Policy and 
associated procedures have been subject to a detailed review involving 
key stakeholder groups, with a view to streamlining the current 
procedure, improve efficiencies and building in more standardised 
processes. 

 
Background 
 
2. The Council sets standards of performance and conduct for its 

employees that are reinforced by its rules and regulations and 
procedures, which help the Council comply with the law and be fair and 
consistent. The main aim of the Disciplinary Policy should be to improve 
an employee’s performance or correct their behaviour, and not punish 
them. Grievance procedures are used by employees when they wish to 
raise problems or issues concerning their employment with the Council. 
Workplace investigations, as part of Grievance or Disciplinary procedures 
are designed to support effective management by enabling quick, cost-
effective resolution of problems in the workplace. The last full review of 
Discipline & Grievance Policies took place in April 2010.  

 
3. As part of the  independent review of workplace investigations referred to 

above,  between October and December 2014  a range of stakeholders 
from Directorates and Trade Unions examined some of the known issues  
in the  current system:-  

 
• Many potential disciplinary or grievance issues can, and should be, 

resolved at an early stage, as that is normally less time consuming 
and damaging to working relationships.  It was not obvious that early 
resolution was happening and evidence suggested that a large 
number of investigations were taking place. At that time for example, 

 

Page 111

Agenda Item 4



Page 2 of 9 

the Environment Directorate had 60 employees under investigation in 
the 18 month study period. 

 
• Disciplinary Investigations and Hearings are undertaken in addition to 

the “day job” for staff. There is currently no training programme 
available on how to undertake an Investigation or Chair a Hearing, 
nor any coaching or mentorship scheme. 

 
• A number of employees have been suspended from duty on full pay 

for long periods of time.  There was little evidence of adequate review 
of suspensions to ensure continued appropriateness and limited 
monitoring data provided. 

 
• Some investigations are taking too long to conclude. Too many 

investigations have either no disciplinary action or a poor outcome.  
Evidence also suggests that sickness absence levels are higher 
amongst people who are undergoing investigations. 

 
• The Disciplinary policy is too long, is not user- friendly and is a 

mixture of policy and guidance. The current policy is an amalgamation 
of other policies that were previously separate. Whilst it is important to 
keep all aspects of the disciplinary procedures and processes 
together in one policy, the incorporation of separate policies has 
resulted in a document that is too long.  

 
• Roles are inadequately defined in the current policy. There is a lack of 

description and awareness of individuals’ roles in disciplinary 
investigations which contributes to unnecessary delays or 
functions/tasks not happening.  

 
• The investigatory process needs improvement. Investigating Officer 

reports vary in quality. As evidenced by examples of poor reports at 
Hearings, Directors are not robustly applying a degree of standard 
setting at the stage when the decision to proceed to a hearing takes 
place.  

 
• Clearer guidance is needed to enable managers and Investigatory 

Officers to more effectively manage sickness absences (including 
those who are suspended) which could be associated with a 
disciplinary investigation. 

   
4. The outcome of the review resulted in a series of recommendations 

relating to changes to disciplinary policy, changes to other related 
policies and procedures, and changes to guidance, training and 
communication. These recommendations then informed the more recent 
review of the various policies, procedures and processes which 
commenced in the summer. A formal consultation process seeking views 
on the proposals for change from Directorate representatives, Trade 
Unions and Equality Networks commenced in September 2015 and has 
now concluded. The opportunity was also taken to ensure that the 
proposed revisions aligned with the advice provided in the new ACAS 

Page 112



Page 3 of 9 

guidance on Conducting Workplace Investigations, published in 
November 2015.  
 

5. A summary of the key changes proposed and agreed is outlined below: 
 

• The current corporate Disciplinary Policy has been reduced in length 
by extracting the guidance information from it.  

 
• A series of 6 new comprehensive guidance documents for Hearing 

Chairs, Investigating Officers, Presenting Officers, Managers, 
Employees and Witnesses have been produced to supplement the 
policy, ensure more consistent approach /consistent advice, and  
better support those involved  with investigations. 

 
• Timescales have been revised regarding key decisions during an 

investigation. 
 

• Introduction of standardised preliminary assessment, to enable robust 
decision making regarding the appropriate course of action e.g. 
informal or formal procedure. 

 
• Introduction of a new formal Fast Track disciplinary procedure 

available for misconduct issues.  
 

• Introduction of a standardised format for suspension from duty, which 
evidences that all alternatives to suspension have been considered. 
Authority level to authorise suspension changed to Operational 
Manager.  

 
• Requirement to report and review a suspension, and the progress of 

an investigation every 4 weeks. 
 

• Hearings to be undertaken in accordance with a new code of conduct 
and confidentiality.  

 
• Agreed the principle of setting up a Disciplinary Investigation team 

within the Council to deal with those investigations which are more 
complex/involve potential gross misconduct, police/safeguarding 
concerns. Whilst the details of this will need to be further developed, 
this will be a virtual team, comprising of Directorate nominated staff 
who would receive additional  specialist training.  

 
6. In addition to reviewing policies and developing new guidance material, 

the opportunity is being taken to ensure that robust monitoring data is 
captured and reported   to enable compliance to be monitored. Such data 
will be available for Directorate Management Teams and reported at 
Senior Management Team level and will also be reported into key Trade 
Union meetings e.g. SAJCs.   

 
7. Additionally, the 2014 review of workplace investigations highlighted a 

higher number of disciplinary cases compared to grievances which is 
indicative of a culture of formal, rather than early, resolution of 

Page 113



Page 4 of 9 

disciplinary issues. As a result, the existing Grievance and Bullying & 
Harassment policies will be replaced with a more progressive “Resolution 
Policy” to support the cultural change that is required. 

 
8. This new policy has an increased emphasis on early resolution of 

matters, with managers up-skilled, and Trade Unions involved 
collaboratively in order to resolve issues at an earlier stage, through a 
range of resolution methods such as additional training, support, 
coaching, advice, counselling and mediation.  

 
9. The new Internal Mediation service (within HR People Services) has 

been   expanded, and provisions of the service are detailed in the new 
Resolution policy.  Mediation, whilst voluntary, can be used to prevent 
escalation to a formal procedure, as well as “repair” damaged 
relationships within a team after an investigation has concluded.  

 
Issues  
 
10. The vast majority of the proposed revisions have been agreed as part of 

the consultation. However a number of pinch points emerged in relation 
to the Disciplinary Policy and associated guidance, where different views 
were expressed by Directorates and Trade Unions, and relate to the 
following issues:  

 
• Role of HR People Services during the investigatory process and at 

Disciplinary Hearings  
• Use of Expired Warnings  in Investigatory Reports and at hearings  
• Extensions to Current Warning Periods 
• Proposed Maximum Timescales for Investigations  
• Consequences for Non Compliance with Policy Timescales  
• Operation of new fast track procedure when a more serious issue 

emerges  
 
There were no opposing views expressed by Directorate representatives 
or Trade Unions in relation to the new Resolution Policy 

 
11.   All these matters were referred to the Senior Management Team for 

consideration. Recommendations were made by the Senior Management 
Team in relation to use of expired warnings, extensions to current 
warning periods, non-compliance with timescales and proposed 
maximum timescales for completion of investigations and were accepted 
by the Trade Unions and therefore reflected in the revised policies and 
guidance. 

 
12.  Following some final operational changes to the new Fast Track process, 

there remained a final outstanding issue in relation to the role of HR 
People Services officers at the deliberation stage with the Chair of 
disciplinary hearings and appeals, which prompted further debate at both 
the  Senior Management Team and amongst the Trade Unions.  

 
13.  The changes to policy already agreed as part of the consultation 

included: 

Page 114



Page 5 of 9 

• During the Hearing, HR People Services officers only answer 
questions on points of clarification on policy and procedure. They 
can provide procedural advice, but not express opinions on the 
merits of the case, the people involved or the evidence. 

• Hearing Chairs will be required to evidence how they reached  
their decision making by completing the 11 key questions on a grid  

• HR People Services officers’ advice will be available in writing 
within the minuted record of the deliberations. 

• Hearing Chairs will be required to attend mandatory training, which 
will include guidance on deliberations & decision making. 

• New /Inexperienced Chairs can also attend an alternate Hearing in 
the role of “Observer” 

• Briefing & training for HR People Services officers on HR role in 
disciplinary process following case law judgements. 

 
14. Following further discussion and through a partnership approach with the  

Trade Unions, the final position reached is that for a 12 month period, the 
Council will pilot that the HR Advisor will not be present with the Chair at 
the Hearing or Appeal when he/she is deliberating the facts and reaching 
a decision. If further HR advice is required, the Chair will call all parties to 
be present whilst the advice is given. (This is a similar practice to the 
policy in Schools).  

 
15 In order that the  pilot of this specific change is transparent, it has been 

further agreed that there will be mandatory training for key roles within 
this process e.g. Chairs, Investigating Officers, ongoing monitoring 
throughout the period, an interim review at 6 months and a full review in 
the light of operational experience after 12 months of implementation. 
Whilst all areas of the new arrangements applying from 1 April 2016  will 
be reviewed following  6 and 12 months of operational experience, a 
particular focus on  this pilot area will be necessary. 
 

16 To support this specific area of review, a  framework for evaluation has 
been agreed against which the 6 month interim and 12 month full   
reviews will be measured. To include:- 
 
• A minuted record of what the HRPS  advice has been during the 

Hearing 
• Quantitative data on  outcomes of Hearings/numbers of Appeals 

lodged/ reasons for overturn/Employment Tribunals 
• Number of Early Conciliation cases logged with ACAS 
• Comparison of pre implementation period outcomes 
• Qualitative survey to Hearing Chairs, HRPS Officer, Investigating 

Officer, Companions after the Hearings 
• Audit viewpoint in  Fraud/Financial impropriety  
• Viewpoint  in Child protection cases 

 
Conclusion  
 
17.     The revised Disciplinary Policy is attached as Appendix A and the new 

Resolution Policy as Appendix B.  
 

Page 115



Page 6 of 9 

18.    The 6 Guidance documents provide information relating to all the roles 
involved in the process and the requirements therein i.e.  the manager of 
the employee under investigation, the employee themselves, the 
nominated investigating officer,  the presenting officer  who will present 
the case should matters proceed to a Disciplinary hearing, the officer 
who will be the hearing chair  and any witnesses  required through the 
process.  .  

 
 19.    As the changes agreed will represent a major cultural shift in how conduct 

issues will be addressed in the future, it will be important that sufficient 
preparations in relation to the briefing of managers, development of 
training programmes and system reconfigurations are put in place to 
ensure a smooth transition from the current to the revised arrangements 
can take place. It is therefore proposed that the new policies and 
procedures will take effect from 1 April 2016.  

 
Policy Performance and Review Scrutiny Committee  
 
20.    In addition to Directorates, Trade Unions and Equality Networks, input 

into the proposals was also sought from Policy Review Performance 
Scrutiny Committee on 3rd  November 2015.  The principles of simplifying 
policies for the management of employees were welcomed and the 
changes proposed  to the Discipline Policy (particularly the introduction 
of a new Fast Track approach as a  speedier avenue to modify behaviour 
around misconduct issues), the development of new Guidance notes and 
the new Resolution Policy  to assist in  streamlining the process, were all 
well received.  

          
21.  The provision of relevant and key management information to monitor 

compliance was also welcomed in order to ensure that the number and 
length of some of the suspensions, and the time being taken to conclude 
current disciplinary and grievance issues is reduced in future. The letter 
from the Chair of the Scrutiny Committee together with the response from 
the Cabinet Member are attached at Appendix C  

 
Implications for School Based Employees  
 
22.    The Welsh Government’s statutory guidance for schools set out in 

Circular 0002/2013: Disciplinary and Dismissal Procedures for School 
Staff contains a model Disciplinary Policy.  This model policy forms the 
basis of the Disciplinary Policy and Procedure which has been developed 
and consulted on across the Central South Consortium region and 
formally commended to school governing bodies.  Whilst representatives 
from the NUT and NASUWT have been fully involved in the review of the 
Council policies, any further review of the school policies will be 
undertaken on a cross consortium basis.  It is proposed that once 
approved by Cabinet, the revised Council policies, procedures and 
guidance can be used in the forthcoming school policy review. 

   
 
 
 

Page 116



Page 7 of 9 

Reason for Recommendations 
 
23. Based on recommendations arising from an internal review of  workplace 

investigations within the Council,  the current Disciplinary Policy and 
associated procedures have been subject to a detailed review in order to 
facilitate a culture change towards how conduct issues will be addressed 
in the future by  streamlining  the current procedure,  improve efficiencies 
and building in more standardised processes. 

 
Financial Implications 
 
24. The implementation of the revised policy and associated arrangements 

will be met from within existing resources. This includes the setting up of 
a Disciplinary Investigation Team which will be developed as a virtual 
team comprising nominated staff from directorates who are able to 
undertake investigations. In addition, the expansion of the internal 
Mediation Service within HR People Services  will also be managed 
within existing resources  as will any reconfiguration of systems and 
training requirements. 

 
Legal Implications  
 
25.  Employment policy is a matter for Cabinet under the Local Authorities 

(Executive Arrangements) (Functions and Responsibilities) (Wales) 
Regulations 2007.11. From time to time, the Council's Employment 
Policies will be tested in the Employment Tribunal. Generally speaking 
there should not be a problem with a Policy in itself if it is fair, reasonable 
and complies with ACAS Codes and Guidelines.  It is considered that the 
draft revised Discipline and new draft Resolution Policies meet this 
requirement.  
 

26.  The way in which the Council's policies are applied must also be 
reasonable. Employment policies can never cater for all of the infinitely 
variable sets of circumstances that arise in individual cases.  
 

27. Thought must always be given to the detail of the case in question in 
deciding whether to apply the policy. Policy documents and guidance are 
vitally necessary for good and consistent management across the board 
and this is a significant consideration in  Employment Tribunal 
proceedings. The new comprehensive Guidance documents will provide 
reassurance in this matter. Any departure from a policy should be only on 
an exceptional basis.  

 
HR Implications 
 
28.  A fully inclusive consultation process has now concluded, involving key 

stakeholder groups such as Directorate representatives, Trade Unions 
and Equality Networks. The agreed changes will provide more positive 
and transparent management of workplace investigations, help 
streamline the process by introduction of new Fast Track Procedure and  
better support all those involved in the process by increasing availability 
of guidance, training and support. The new Resolution Policy is seeking 

Page 117



Page 8 of 9 

to change the culture from grievance to early resolution with key roles in 
this for managers, employees and Trade Unions.  

 
29.  A number of key areas have emerged from this review, which include the 

need for clearer roles and accountabilities for all those involved in this 
process, including HR People Services officers. The new guidance will 
assist this, alongside a range of Learning and Development initiatives 
which will be developed and put in place. 

 
30.  The proposals have been subject to an Equality Impact Assessment. 
 
Trade Union Comments  
 
31.  The Trade Unions have fully participated in this comprehensive review  

and have reiterated importance of transparency in the process. They are 
keen that the new arrangements which would apply from 1 April 2016  
take into account learning from previous experiences, and support  the 
need for culture change across the Council in relation to how disciplinary 
matters are addressed in the future.    

 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
Cabinet is recommended to: 
 
1. Approve the revised Disciplinary Policy (Appendix A), the new Resolution 

Policy (Appendix B) and the 6 new Guidance documents to support 
those involved in various aspects of the process, . 

 
2. Agree that the revised arrangements to be implemented from 1 April 

2016. 
 
3. Note that there will be ongoing monitoring of the implementation of the 

revised arrangements  
 
4. Agree that the new arrangements (particularly those referenced under 

paragraph 14) will be subject to an initial review after 6 months with a full 
review following 12 months of operational experience. 

 
5. Agree that training be mandatory for those involved in this process e.g. 

Chairs, Investigating Officers  
 
6. Agree that the revised Council policies, procedures and guidance can be 

used in the forthcoming schools policy review as part of the Consortium 
arrangements. 
 

CHRISTINE SALTER  
Corporate Director  
15 January 2016 
 
 
 
 

Page 118



Page 9 of 9 

The following appendices are attached:  
 
Appendix A-  Revised Disciplinary Policy  
Appendix B-  New Resolution Policy ( to replace the existing Grievance and  

Bullying & Harassment policies and procedures)  
Appendix C- Letter from Chair of Policy Review & Performance Scrutiny 

Committee and Response from Cabinet Member 
 
All 6 Guidance Notes are available on request: 

• Guidance for Investigating Officers 
• Guidance for  Presenting Officers  
• Guidance for  Managers 
• Guidance for  Witnesses  
• Guidance for  Hearing Chairs  
• Guidance for Employees 

 
The following Background papers have been taken into account 
 

• Review of Workplace Investigations in Cardiff Council by Chris Synan,  
March 2015 –Full Report and Executive Summary 

• Response from Chair of Policy Review & Performance Scrutiny 
Committee: 03 November 2015 on Review of Disciplinary Policy 

• Equality Impact Assessment  
• ACAS  Guidance on Conducting Workplace Investigations, published  

November 2015 
 

Page 119



1.CM.035 Issue 4 Page 1 of 34 
 

Appendix A 

 
 
 
 

DISCIPLINARY POLICY 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
DATE DOCUMENT PUBLISHED  
APPROVED BY Senior Management Team 
APPROVAL DATE  
DOCUMENT OWNER Employee Relations Team 
DATE FOR REVIEW April 2017 
 
    

Page 120

http://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/en/b/b1/Cardiff_logo.png


1.CM.035 Issue 4 Page 2 of 34 
 
 

 

CONTENTS   
 
SECTION CONTENT PAGE 

NUMBER 
1 Introduction 

• Policy Statement 
• Aims and Objectives 
• Scope of the policy 
• Awareness 
• Key principles 

3 
3 
3 
3 
4 
4 

2  Roles and Responsibilities 
• Employee 
• Manager 
• Investigating Officer 
• HR People Services  
• Chair 
• Chief Officer/Assistant Director/Director 
• Trade Union Representative 
• Suspension Contact Officer 
• Presenting Officer 

7 
7 
7 
8 
8 
9 
10 
10 
10 
11 

PROCEDURES 
3 Preliminary Assessment Procedure 12 
4 Informal Disciplinary Procedure 13 
5 Fast Track Disciplinary Procedure 14 
6 Suspension Procedure 

• Key Principles  
• Terms and conditions 
• Contact and Review 

15 
15 
16 
16 

 Protection of Vulnerable Adults/ Protection of Children  
Fraud/Financial Impropriety 
Police Involvement in allegations against Council employees  
& Police Referral Panel 
 

17 
17 
17 

7 Investigatory Procedure 
• Purpose 
• Key Principles 
• Director /Chief Officer considerations 

19 
19 
19 
20 

8 Disciplinary Hearing 21 
9 Possible Disciplinary Outcomes 

• Verbal Warning  
• Written Warning  
• Final Written Warning 
• Dismissal or Relegation 
• No Action 

23 
23 
24 
24 
24 
25 

10 Disciplinary Appeals Procedure  26 
Appendix 1 
Appendix 2 
Appendix 3 

Disciplinary Rules 
Authority Levels & Appeal Arrangements 
Disciplinary Investigation Service 

27 
32 
33 

Page 121



1.CM.035 Issue 4 Page 3 of 34 
 
 

 

 
 
SECTION 1 - INTRODUCTION 
 
 
Policy Statement 
 
1.1 Disciplinary rules are necessary for the efficient and safe performance 

of work, and for the maintenance of good order and relations between 
the Council and its employees.  This is essential to enable the Council 
to deliver quality services to the citizens of Cardiff. 

 
1.2      An employee who breaches a particular disciplinary rule will be liable to  

Disciplinary action under the Council’s Disciplinary Policy and 
Procedures.  It is therefore essential that employees observe and abide 
by the Council’s  rules, regulations and standards. 

 
1.3   This Disciplinary Policy and its related procedures and guidance notes  

sets out the actions that will be taken when those rules, regulations and 
standards are breached or where, other than related to capability, job 
performance does not reach an acceptable level. 

 
1.4   This policy and procedures reflect, and are consistent with, the ACAS    

Code of Practice on Discipline and Grievance Procedures (2015). 
 
 
 Aims and Objectives  
 

The aims of this policy are to:  
 
 1.5 Ensure the consistent and fair approach to the application of the 

Council’s rules, regulations and standards for all within the Council.  No            
formal disciplinary action will be taken against an employee without        
some investigation or assessment to establish the facts. 

 
 1.6  Primarily help, encourage and support employees to improve their      

behaviour and conduct, rather than just a way of determining or 
imposing sanctions.             

         
 1.7  Ensure that managers, employees and their representatives are aware 

of their rights, responsibilities and obligations within the disciplinary 
process.  

 
 
Scope of the Policy 
 
 1.8 The Policy applies to all current employees ( not ex- employees) of the 

Council with the exception of its schools based employees. The 
principles will apply to temporary employees including those staff 
employed through Cardiff Works.  
   

Page 122



1.CM.035 Issue 4 Page 4 of 34 
 
 

 

 1.9 The policy does not apply to agency workers, volunteers or those 
engaged by the Council on contracts for service.  However, where an 
allegation is made against an individual engaged on a contract for 
service, the principles of the policy and procedures will be adhered to 
and, following investigation, appropriate action will be taken.  If an 
issue arises with an agency worker, the matter will be referred to that 
worker’s agency, as they are the employer. A volunteer does not have 
a contract of employment, therefore their involvement with the Council 
will be discontinued. 

 
1.10  If disciplinary action is being considered against a Trade Union official, 

the appropriate local Branch Secretary should be notified.  If the local 
Branch Secretary is the subject of potential disciplinary action, then the 
Full Time Trade Union Officer must be notified. Advice must be sought 
and obtained from the Chief HR People Services Officer and Legal 
services, before a Trade Union official or Branch Secretary can be 
disciplined. 

 
 
Awareness 
 
1.11  All employees should be aware of standards of conduct and 

performance expected of them by the Council and any recognised 
professional code of conduct relevant to their role. 

 
1.12  This Policy and its related procedures and guidance notes will be       

drawn to the attention of all employees. Those who have a 
responsibility to maintain discipline will be given training, and support 
as required. It is vital that all involved adhere to all aspects of this policy 
to limit the potential risk of a legal challenge through an Employment 
Tribunal. 
 
 

Key Principles 
 
1.13 Advice and guidance on the operation of this policy must be obtained 

from HR People Services before formal disciplinary action is taken 
against any employee. In the event of a dispute relating to the 
interpretation of the policy and/ or procedures, HR People Services will 
make the final decision on interpretation. 

 
1.14  As a general principle, the implementation of the investigation and 

disciplinary process will be confined to the Service Area. A case that   
appears to be particularly complex or sensitive, may be referred to 
Cardiff Council Disciplinary Investigation Service (Appendix 3) or to 
Internal Audit where there are matters of fraud/financial impropriety.   

 
1.15   The employee will be advised of the nature of the allegation(s) and 

given the opportunity to respond to them.  In exceptional cases, this 
may not happen, e.g. Protection of Vulnerable Adults (POVA) and 
Protection of Children, where separate statutory processes exist.  

Page 123



1.CM.035 Issue 4 Page 5 of 34 
 
 

 

 
1.16  At all stages of the Disciplinary Procedures, including the informal 

procedure, the employee will be given the opportunity to be 
represented by a companion. A companion is defined as an employee 
of the Council, a trade union representative or an official employed by a 
trade union in accordance with the ACAS Code of Guidance. 

 
1.17 A professional employee facing disciplinary proceedings will not 

normally be entitled to legal representation at a Disciplinary Hearing, 
unless the internal proceedings create a legal barrier to working in their 
chosen profession. Where the issue of an employee’s future ability to 
work in their profession is determined by an independent third party (for 
example Care Council Wales, Education Workforce  Council)  then the 
request for legal representation will not normally be agreed. This is 
because an internal disciplinary hearing is not normally regarded as 
determining an employee’s civil rights, even if it results in dismissal. 
Any request to have legal representation at the Disciplinary Hearing will 
be considered on an exceptional basis only. 

 
 
1.18 An allegation of a disciplinary offence must be dealt with at the time it 

occurs. It is unfair to stockpile them to deliberately impose a more 
serious disciplinary sanction on the employee concerned. However 
there may be occasions where, in order to establish whether an offence 
has been committed, there could be a period of monitoring employees, 
sanctioned by Internal Audit. If after that period of monitoring it is 
decided that a disciplinary offence has been committed, then it will not 
be regarded as stockpiling. 

 
1.19 The policy sets out a series of outcomes that reflect either the 

progressive levels of disciplinary action having regard to previous 
action taken, or the seriousness of the allegations which are being 
considered. Prior to any disciplinary decision being taken, any 
mitigating factors and/ or circumstances must be taken into account.  

 
1.20   No employee will be dismissed for a first breach of discipline except 

where the breach constitutes gross misconduct.  In circumstances 
where previous disciplinary sanctions have been applied and remain 
“current” then this may also lead to dismissal. Reference to expired  
warnings may not be made.  

 
1.21   Warnings, issued in accordance with this procedure, shall be time 

limited and will be disregarded for disciplinary purposes after a 
specified period of satisfactory conduct has been achieved.  The 
effective date of the warning/dismissal is when the employee is likely to 
receive the written communication (date of the letter +3 days). 
 

1.22  Employees have the right to appeal against any formal disciplinary 
action taken against them. 

  

Page 124



1.CM.035 Issue 4 Page 6 of 34 
 
 

 

1.23   Where an employee raises a concern ( formerly known as a grievance), 
during a disciplinary process, the disciplinary process may be 
temporarily suspended in order to deal with the concern.  Where the 
concern and disciplinary cases are related it may be appropriate to deal 
with both issues concurrently.  Where such matters arise, a decision 
taken by the Service Area Manager will be communicated to those 
involved, following advice from HR People Services. If the disciplinary 
case is a matter of fraud, bribery or financial impropriety then the 
decision will be taken by the Audit manager. 

 
1.24 In accordance with ACAS guidance, and with the agreement of all 

involved, the disciplinary procedure and other concerns that require 
resolution can be suspended if mediation is deemed to be an 
appropriate method of resolving the dispute.  

Page 125



1.CM.035 Issue 4 Page 7 of 34 
 
 

 

 
 SECTION 2 -  ROLES and RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
  2.1  It is important that everyone clearly understands their roles and           

responsibilities within the Disciplinary procedure. 
 
 
Employee Responsibilities 
 
 

2.2   All Council employees are responsible for: 
 

• Ensuring that their behaviour complies with the Council’s Code of 
Conduct and any Service Area/ external Codes of Conduct/ Practice 
that govern the profession in which they are engaged. 

• Ensuring they  understand and comply with this policy and fully co-
operate with the requirements of the procedures when they are in 
operation. 

• Maintaining confidentiality at all times during any disciplinary 
proceedings, with the exception of any conversations which may be 
necessary with their companion. 

• Behaving and acting in a way that is consistent with the Council’s 
values of openness, fairness and working together with others, as 
defined by the Employee Charter. 

• Participating in hearings ( where applicable) in accordance with the 
key principles of   confidentiality and code of conduct, to enable the 
hearing to be conducted in a consistent and robust manner in the 
spirit of natural justice. 
 

 
Manager Responsibilities 
 
 

2.3   In addition to their responsibilities as employees, Managers are also       
 responsible for: 

 
• Ensuring employees are aware of all relevant policies and 

procedures. 
• Applying the Council’s Disciplinary policy and procedures fairly, 

consistently and in a timely way. 
• Seeking advice from HR People Services on all matters relating to 

conduct and discipline. 
• Keeping adequate notes and records of all events and evidence to 

support the use of the policy. 
• Undertaking a preliminary assessment of the likely level of 

seriousness of any allegation of misconduct.  
• Ensuring that if the allegation is in relation to Fraud/Financial 

impropriety, a referral is made to Internal Audit  
• Ensuring that where an issue is identified that relates to the 

Protection of Vulnerable Adults (POVA) or Protection of Children, a 

Page 126



1.CM.035 Issue 4 Page 8 of 34 
 
 

 

referral is made to the POVA team or Childrens Access Point 
respectively. 

• Determine whether an informal or formal disciplinary procedure is 
the most appropriate course of action, including a Fast Track 
procedure. 

 
 
Investigating Officer Responsibilities 
 
 

2.4       In addition to their responsibilities as employees, Investigating 
Officers are also responsible for: 
 

• Conducting an appropriate investigation, reviewing progress 
updating the Head of Service and employee, and preparing the 
investigation report with recommendations.  

• Ensuring that the allegation is correctly recorded in all despatched 
letters. 

• Arranging any meetings and support required as part of the 
procedure, e.g. securing dates, despatching letters, inviting people 
to investigatory interviews and organising administrative support to 
make a record of  the interviews. 

• Ensuring HR People Services are invited to attend all formal 
meetings and that employees are aware of their right to 
representation at these meetings. 

• Providing a 4 weekly review on progress of the investigation to the 
Chief Officer/ Director/ Assistant Director or nominated officer  

• Where appropriate, providing a 4 weekly review on the suspension 
decision (in conjunction with the suspending manager) with 
recommendations to the Chief Officer/ Director/ Assistant Director 
or nominated officer  

• Participating in hearings in accordance with the key principles of 
confidentiality  and code of conduct, to enable the hearing to be 
conducted in a consistent and robust manner in the spirit of natural 
justice. 

     
 

HR People Services Responsibilities 
 

 
2.5   In addition to their responsibilities as employees, HR People 

Service Officers are responsible for:- 
 

• Acting as advisor to all involved at all stages of the policy and 
procedures, and to ensure that the Council’s Disciplinary Policy and 
Procedures are correctly applied. 

• Providing all employees with information and advice as necessary 
throughout the process. 

• Attending all formal meetings associated with the process. 

Page 127



1.CM.035 Issue 4 Page 9 of 34 
 
 

 

•  Answering questions on points of clarification of policy and 
procedure at interviews and hearings. 

• Monitoring that the Chair’s recommendations are actioned within 
Directorates, and support Service Areas to undertake any remedial 
action that may be necessary. 

• Reviewing and monitoring disciplinary cases and outcomes.  
• Reviewing and collating corporate monitoring data in relation to 

discipline for consideration by various groups, e.g. Senior 
Management Team, Works Council, etc.  

• Reviewing the application of the policy and procedures in the light of 
operational experience. 

• Participating in hearings in accordance with the key principles of 
confidentiality and code of conduct, to enable the hearing to be 
conducted in a consistent and robust manner in the spirit of natural 
justice.  

 
 
 
 
Hearing Chair Responsibilities 
 

 
2.6        In addition to their responsibilities as employees, Hearing Chairs are 

responsible for: 
 

•    Ensuring that the Disciplinary hearing is conducted in accordance 
with the key principles of confidentiality and code of conduct.  

•    Ensuring that the employee is fully informed of the circumstances 
and understands the allegations made against them. 

•    Ensuring that the employee is fully informed of their right of 
representation. 

•    Authorising attendance, where requested, of additional people at 
the hearing in the roles of Observer and/ or Assistant, with consent 
of the employee concerned. 

•    Considering all the evidence regarding the allegation(s) and make a 
decision whether, on the balance of probabilities, it is substantiated, 
taking into account any mitigating circumstances  

•    Evidencing and recording their decision making. 
•    Ensuring consistency of decision making    
•    Ensuring that where appropriate, recommendations for specific 

actions are communicated to the relevant Directorate. 
•    Participating in hearings in accordance with the key principles of 

confidentiality and code of conduct, to enable the hearing to be 
conducted in a consistent and robust manner in the spirit of natural 
justice. 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 128



1.CM.035 Issue 4 Page 10 of 34 
 
 

 

Chief Officer/ Director/ Assistant Director Responsibilities 
 

2.7      In addition to their responsibilities as employees, Chief Officers/ 
Directors/ Assistant Directors are responsible for: 

 
• Nominating an appropriately trained and competent Investigating 

Officer within 7 calendar days, if proceeding to a formal 
investigation. 

• Undertaking an initial assessment (or their nominated 
representative) in relation to conduct which appears to amount to a 
criminal offence. 

• Convening and chairing a meeting of a Police Referral Panel.  
• Following receipt of the Investigating Officer’s report, making a 

determination whether to instigate disciplinary proceedings against 
the employee concerned. 

• Chairing a Hearing/Appeal and make appropriate disciplinary 
decisions where the employee is at an Operational Manager level. 

• Monitoring and reporting on Disciplinary Investigations (including 
suspensions and associated sickness absence) within their 
Directorate. 
 

 
Trade Union Representative Responsibilities 
 

2.8      In addition to their responsibilities as employees, Trade Union 
Representatives are responsible for: 

 
• Providing advice, support and representation to their members. 
• Working with managers, HR People services and employees to 

ensure that the Disciplinary policy is adhered to. 
• Working with all involved to facilitate timely and early resolution to 

matters. 
• Attending interviews and hearings, and if unable to attend, suggest 

a suitable alternative date or a replacement Representative. 
• Participating in hearings in accordance with the key principles of 

confidentiality and code of conduct, to enable the hearing to be 
conducted in a consistent and robust manner in the spirit of natural 
justice.  
 

 
Suspension Contact Officer Responsibilities 
 

2.9      In addition to their responsibilities as employees, Suspension 
Contact Officers are responsible for: 

 
• Identifying and collecting any personal possessions left in the 

workplace to return to the employee. They must not include any 
items that could be considered pieces of evidence in the 
forthcoming investigation, such as work records or documents, 
which should be secured by the manager. 

Page 129



1.CM.035 Issue 4 Page 11 of 34 
 
 

 

• Updating the employee on team news, providing minutes of 
meetings and  Core Brief. 

 
 

Presenting Officer Responsibilities 
 

2.10      In addition to their responsibilities as employees, Presenting    
                Officers are responsible for: 
 

• Making all the practical arrangements for the Hearing e.g. date, 
venue, minute taker. 

• Preparing for the Hearing and ensuring the “Disciplinary Pack” is 
circulated to the Hearing Chair, the Employee under Investigation & 
their Companion and the HR People Services representative in 
advance of the Disciplinary Hearing 

• Presenting  the case using documentary evidence where available 
and calling witnesses, or referring to witness statements as 
necessary. One of the witnesses called should be the Investigating 
Officer. 

• Answering  any questions asked by the Chair, the Employee or their 
Companion.  

• Questioning  the employee’s case as appropriate. 
• Summing up the Management’s case highlighting the salient points. 

 

Page 130



1.CM.035 Issue 4 Page 12 of 34 
 
 

 

  
SECTION 3 – PRELIMINARY ASSESSMENT PROCEDURE 
 
 
3.1  Following an incident or where misconduct has allegedly occurred, the 

manager must make a preliminary assessment to determine, based on 
the information available at the time, the likely level of seriousness. 

 
3.2   The initial assessment will consist of gathering preliminary pieces of 

information, and may involve discussion with individuals concerned 
(Refer to Disciplinary Procedure: A Manager’s Guide).  

 
3.3   The manager will then determine one of the following outcomes:- 
 

a.  No case to answer- there is no evidence to support the   
allegation. 

 b. Informal Procedure- due to the minor nature of the misconduct,    
actions are appropriate which may include written instruction/ 
advice/ training/ counselling/ coaching/ mentoring/ mediation etc.  
Actions must be recorded in DigiGov. 

    (Refer to Cardiff Council Resolution Policy) 
c.  Formal procedure- A Fast Track disciplinary process may be  

        considered appropriate.  
    d.  A formal disciplinary investigation will be required.  

 
 
3.4 Where the manager considers that a formal investigation is 

appropriate, they must advise their Chief Officer/ Director/ Assistant 
Director, who should make a decision within 7 calendar days.  

 
3.5     Where the Chief Officer/ Director/ Assistant Director/Operational 

Manager  considers that the employee may have committed an act(s) 
of gross misconduct or there is some other reason why suspension 
would be necessary, the suspension procedure must be considered  
(Section 6). 

Page 131



1.CM.035 Issue 4 Page 13 of 34 
 
 

 

  
SECTION 4 – INFORMAL DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURE 
 
 
4.1   Where appropriate, problems involving misconduct and poor 

performance should be addressed at least initially through an informal 
process. The manager must make every effort to try and resolve the 
difficulties with the employee concerned through the use of advice, 
providing clarification on roles and responsibilities and work instructions 
with the objective of encouraging and supporting employees to 
improve.   (Refer to Disciplinary Procedure: A Manager’s Guide) 

 
4.2     Managers should refer to the Resolution policy, and advice can be 

sought from HR People Services to support them in dealing with such  
issues. Mediation may be an option for early resolution to address a 
range of issues, including relationship breakdowns or personality 
clashes and so preventing issues escalating unnecessarily.   Mediation 
support can be requested via HR People Services. 
 

4.3 It is important that managers deal with issues informally as they occur, 
to avoid stockpiling, or problems being escalated to more serious 
stages. A record of discussion of the outcome of the verbal or written 
instruction to improve must be retained on the employee’s DigiGov file 
and, where possible, the record of discussion should be agreed and 
signed by all involved. 

 
4.4 Employees must understand that the formal disciplinary procedure will 

be instigated should they fail to meet a reasonable standard of conduct 
despite the fact that informal discussions have taken place, or where 
misconduct is sufficiently serious as to merit immediate consideration 
under the procedure. 

      

Page 132



1.CM.035 Issue 4 Page 14 of 34 
 
 

 

 
SECTION 5 – FAST TRACK DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURE 
 
 
5.1  The Fast Track Disciplinary Procedure is applicable for incidents/ 

misconduct which would normally result in verbal or written warning.  It 
allows for matters to be dealt with in a timely manner.  
 

 
5.2   It is applicable where the employee has admitted in full all allegations 

made against them. 
 
 

5.3.  The Fast Track Disciplinary Procedure is not suitable for 
 

a) Circumstances where there is potential gross misconduct. 
 

b) Cases of repeat misconduct where the employee has already                  
received a written warning. 

 
c) Any matters that include a safeguarding issue, a Police matter or  

fraud / financial impropriety. 
 
 

5.4. Where it would appear that a Fast Track Disciplinary Procedure may be 
applicable, the manager, HR People Services officer, the employee 
and their companion must consent to a Fast Track disciplinary 
process in writing by completing the Fast Track consent form. 

 
 

5.5. This process does not require an appointment of an Investigating 
Officer or submission of a full investigation report.  A Fast Track 
Decision meeting should be held as soon as possible after consent to 
proceed has been received from all parties. Any delay to the procedure 
should be for  exceptional circumstances only. The Fast Track Decision 
meeting is the opportunity for the employee and/ or companion to put 
forward comments and statements including mitigating circumstances.  
No witnesses will be called.  The outcome of the Fast Track Decision 
meeting must be recorded in DigiGov.  The employee will have a right 
of appeal to the decision in the form of a review. (Refer to Disciplinary 
Procedure: A Manager’s Guide). 

 
5.6. It is not acceptable for a manager to actively seek new evidence with 

the sole intention of making a Fast Track Procedure ineligible. 
 
5.7.  Line managers may not deal with any cases in which they are 

implicated, and an independent manager must be appointed. 

Page 133



1.CM.035 Issue 4 Page 15 of 34 
 
 

 

 
SECTION 6 - SUSPENSION PROCEDURE 
 
 
Key Principles 
 
6.1 There  may  be  occasions  where  it  may  be  appropriate  that  the 

employee is removed from their job or place of work whilst an 
investigation is conducted.   
(Refer to Disciplinary Procedure: A Manager’s Guide)  

 
6.2     Suspension from duty is a neutral act and any removal of an employee 

from the workplace should be regarded initially as a precautionary 
measure. It is not a disciplinary sanction, does not imply that the 
employee has committed an act of misconduct, nor does it prejudge the 
outcome of any disciplinary investigation or proceedings that may arise.  
 

6.3    To avoid any breach of the mutual duties of trust and confidence that 
exists between the employee and the Council, there must be 
reasonable grounds for suspension.  Other than in exceptional 
circumstances, suspensions should not be authorised without prior 
consultation with HR People Services.  

 
6.4     The decision to suspend should be determined as quickly as possible. 

There must be a preliminary examination to establish the facts before 
suspension is actioned and all other options must be considered before 
a suspension is authorised.  The circumstances surrounding any 
decision to suspend must be fully documented using the Suspension 
from Duty Form.  
 

6.5    Where a suspension is implemented, the employee must be treated 
reasonably and fairly.  The matter should be treated as confidential, as 
far as possible, so as not to cause unjustified harm to the employee's 
reputation. 

 
6.6 It is recognised that an employee suspended or under investigation 

may feel anxious and/or stressed. The employee will have the right of 
representation throughout this process and they should be advised of 
various forms of support that are available e.g. Employee Counselling 
service and Employee Assistance Programme. 

    
6.7     The decision to suspend must always be confirmed to the employee in 

writing including the reasons, and why the other options are not 
appropriate.  (Refer to Disciplinary Procedure: A Manager’s Guide). 

 
6.8  Where a Trade Union Official is to be, or has been suspended, the 

appropriate Branch Secretary must be informed.  If it is deemed 
necessary to suspend a Branch Secretary from duty, the appropriate 
Full Time Trade Union Official must be notified.  Advice from HR 
People Services and Legal Services must be sought and obtained 
before a Trade Union Official or Branch Secretary can be suspended. 

Page 134

http://www.xperthr.co.uk/how-to/how-to-deal-with-suspension-pending-the-result-of-a-disciplinary-investigation/100538/?c=2281#general-principles#general-principles


1.CM.035 Issue 4 Page 16 of 34 
 
 

 

 Terms and Conditions of suspension 
 
6.9   The terms and conditions of the suspension will be confirmed in the 

“Suspension from Work” letter. Whilst suspended, the employee’s 
normal terms and conditions of employment will continue to apply, 
including rules relating to annual leave and sickness reporting.  

 
6.10 All suspensions shall be based on full average earnings but, in wholly 

exceptional circumstances, the Council reserves the right to suspend 
an employee on less than full pay or with no pay at all.  Such 
exceptional circumstances could include the physical inability of the 
individual concerned to report for work should the suspension be lifted 
(for reasons other than certified sickness). Where employees are 
moved to alternative duties, an average of any additional payments 
that they would normally receive will be payable to ensure that 
employees are not financially disadvantaged. 

 
6.11 Suspensions shall not be time limited but there is a clear expectation 

that all investigations, should be carried out as quickly as possible, and 
in sufficient time so that any disciplinary hearing deemed necessary 
can be conducted within  12 weeks of the start of the investigation, and 
with reasonable notice of the hearings given to the employee and their 
companion. An investigation may only be extended in exceptional 
circumstances, e.g. where the outcome of a court case is pending. 

 
 

Contact and Review 
 
6.12   The suspension decision will be reviewed every 4 weeks by the Chief 

Officer/ Director/ Assistant Director or nominated Officer and the 
employee will be updated accordingly.  A suspension that is without 
reasonable and proper cause, or unnecessarily protracted, may 
amount to a breach of the implied terms and conditions, entitling the 
employee to resign and claim constructive unfair dismissal. 

 
6.13  Contact with the suspended employee will be maintained by a specified  

Contact Officer, at least every 4 weeks, or as mutually agreed in 
writing, to reduce feelings of isolation. (Refer to Disciplinary Procedure: 
A Manager’s Guide). 
 

6.14 The restriction to enter the workplace will only apply to the employee 
concerned. It will not apply to their companion.  Where a suspended 
employee requires access to Council systems or documentation in 
order to prepare for their defence, they should contact HR People 
Services who will liaise with the relevant service area in order to obtain 
the information, and where appropriate arrange supervised access to 
the Council’s system. 
 
 
 
 

Page 135



1.CM.035 Issue 4 Page 17 of 34 
 
 

 

Protection of Vulnerable Adults/Protection of Children 
 

6.15  When an issue is identified that relates to the Protection of Vulnerable  
Adults (POVA), a referral should be made to the POVA team.  Where 
the matter relates to a child protection issue, a referral should be made 
to the Children’s Access Point following the All Wales Child Protection 
Procedures 2008. In both situations, matters will be dealt with in 
accordance with interagency protocols.   

 
 6.16  A multi-agency professional strategy meeting will be convened and 

appropriate actions agreed.  Minutes of Strategy meetings can only be 
released with the agreement of all attendees, and all personal 
information relating to the service user must be blanked out to protect 
confidentiality. Where service users are involved, a decision will need 
to be taken as to whether this should take precedence over all other 
considerations. 
 

Alleged Fraud/Financial Impropriety 
 
6.17  Fraud is defined as any illegal act characterised by deceit, 

concealment or violation of trust by parties/organisations to obtain 
money, property or services; to avoid payment or loss of services; or to 
secure personal or business advantage. 

 
6.18   Under the Financial Procedural Rules, Managers are required to notify 

Internal Audit whenever any matters arise which involve, or are thought 
to involve, breaches of security, theft or irregularities concerning cash, 
stores or other property belonging to the Council. 
 

6.19  Management will determine and agree with  Internal Audit who will lead 
the investigation i.e. Directorate or Internal Audit. (Refer to Fraud, 
Bribery & Corruption Policy & Disciplinary Procedure: A Manager’s 
Guide). 

 
 
Police Involvement in allegations against Council employees   
 
6.20   The Chief Officer/ Director/ Assistant Director should make an initial  

assessment in relation to conduct which appears to amount to a 
criminal offence.  The normal presumption should be to refer the matter 
to the Police. 

 
6.21  If there is a suspicion or an allegation that a serious crime may have 

been committed (or is about to be committed), e.g. murder, rape, other 
serious sexual offences, arson, burglary, fraud, violent assault, etc. 
then the Chief Officer/ Director/ Assistant Director (or their nominated 
representative) should refer the matter to the police immediately.    

 
6.22 If, however, after carrying out their initial assessment the Chief Officer/ 

Director/ Assistant Director (or their nominated representative) is 
satisfied that the conduct complained of amounts to a criminal offence, 

Page 136



1.CM.035 Issue 4 Page 18 of 34 
 
 

 

but is of a lesser order than the activities described in the preceding 
paragraph, they are required to convene a meeting of a Police Referral 
Panel as quickly as possible to discuss the suspicion or allegation and 
the results of their preliminary assessment.   

 
Police Referral Panel 

 
6.23. With the exception of Child Protection and Protection of Vulnerable 

Adult issues (which have their own referral processes), the mechanism 
for referral will be via a Police Referral Panel which comprises officers 
from the employee’s Service Area, HR People Services, Legal Services 
and Corporate Services (i.e. the Risk & Audit Manager where 
allegations concern Fraud and/ or Financial impropriety). The Panel will 
be chaired by the Service Area Chief Officer/ Director/ Assistant 
Director (or nominated senior representative). 

 
6.24 The Police Referral Panel will meet and discuss the issues concerned 

to determine if the matters should be referred.  If the decision is to refer 
the matter to the Police, the relevant Chief Officer/ Director/ Assistant 
Director (or their nominated representative) should contact them 
without delay to formally put the matter into their hands.   

 
6.25 The Police Referral Panel will decide whether the employee concerned 

should be informed that the matter is being, or has been, referred to the 
Police.  Advice will be sought from the Police where appropriate.  

 
6.26 Having referred the matter to the Police, the Chief Officer/ Director/ 

Assistant Director (or their nominated representative) should initiate the 
Disciplinary Investigatory Procedure so that the internal investigation is 
conducted at the same time as the Police investigation.   

 
6.27   The Police may ask for an internal disciplinary investigation to be 

delayed and/ or deferred pending the completion of their investigation 
to avoid the internal investigation interfering with their investigation.  If 
and when such a request is received, advice and guidance must be 
sought from HR People Services and Legal Services. 

 
6.28 Due to the length of time that some Police investigations can take, the 

Council reserves the right to conduct its own internal investigations 
and/ or to instigate disciplinary proceedings against employees who are 
the subject of ongoing Police investigations.  

 
6.29  If the decision of the Police Referral Panel is not to refer the matter to 

the Police, the Chief Officer/ Director/ Assistant Director should follow 
the Disciplinary Investigatory Procedure in the normal way. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 137



1.CM.035 Issue 4 Page 19 of 34 
 
 

 

SECTION 7 – INVESTIGATORY PROCEDURE 
 
Purpose  
 
7.1 This procedure is to be used to ensure that when a suspicion or 

allegation of misconduct by an employee comes to the attention of the 
Council, an adequate investigation, conforming to the rules of natural 
justice is carried out as quickly as is reasonably practicable. 

 
7.2 The  purpose  of  the  investigation  is  to  ascertain the facts as far as is  

reasonably possible, enquire into the circumstances surrounding the 
alleged misconduct, give the employee the opportunity to offer an 
explanation, interview all relevant individuals, take a balanced view of 
the information which emerges and prepare an investigation report 
detailing the main findings, and making recommendations which may 
include, amongst others, whether or not disciplinary proceedings should 
be initiated. 

 
7.3   The standard that applies for workplace investigations is for the 

Investigator to have reached a genuine belief based on reasonable    
grounds, on the evidence obtained and on the balance of probability, 
after having carried out as much investigation as was reasonable in the 
circumstances. 

   
Key Principles 
 
7.4 The Chief Officer/ Director/ Assistant Director must nominate an 

appropriately trained and competent Investigating Officer within  
7 calendar days, and assess the scope of the investigation to ensure 
the Investigating Officer is provided with the time / resources required 
to complete the task within the prescribed timescales, wherever 
possible.  The individual appointed to conduct a disciplinary 
investigation must be aware of and familiar with the Council’s 
Disciplinary Policy and Procedures.   

 
7.5 All investigations must be proportionate to the concerns or allegations 

being considered. They should be carried out as quickly as possible, 
and in sufficient time so that any disciplinary hearing deemed 
necessary can be conducted within 12 weeks of the start of the 
investigation, and with reasonable notice of the hearings given to the 
employee and their companion. 

 
7.6 The Service Area is responsible for making arrangements to closely 

monitor the progress of the investigation, review it every 4 weeks and 
either party will notify the other if a delay in the process is anticipated 
giving reasons. Extending the investigation beyond 12 weeks is 
allowed but only in exceptional circumstances, and where there is 
reasonable justification. Such reasons should be communicated to all 
involved.  

 
 

Page 138



1.CM.035 Issue 4 Page 20 of 34 
 
 

 

7.7 The Investigating Officer cannot chair any subsequent disciplinary 
hearing or subsequent appeal, convened as a result of their 
investigation. Any manager interviewed as part of the process cannot 
chair any subsequent hearing or appeal. 

 
7.8 The Council reserves the right under the Employment Code of Practice  

& Data Protection Act where it is deemed appropriate to monitor 
employees as part of a disciplinary investigation. Any such monitoring 
will be done in line with the Council’s Policy/ Procedures on Monitoring 
Employees. Before contemplating any form of monitoring it is essential 
that the Investigating Officer seeks advice from Internal Audit/ 
Monitoring Officer/Legal.  

 
7.9 Individuals who have very serious concerns about any aspect of the 

Council’s work should raise their concerns under the Whistleblowing 
Policy.  

 
7.10  The Investigating Officer must assess all the evidence that has been 

collected and prepare a written report for the Chief Officer/ Director/ 
Assistant Director, making any recommendations as appropriate which 
will include whether or not the matter should proceed to a disciplinary 
hearing.  
(Refer to Disciplinary Procedure:  An Investigating Officer’s Guide) 
 
 
 

 Chief Officer/ Director/ Assistant Director Consideration  
 
7.11 Once the report is submitted to the Chief Officer/ Director/ Assistant 

Director, any further allegations identified will be the subject of a 
separate investigation. 

 
7.12 Following receipt of the Investigating Officer’s report, the Chief Officer/ 

Director/ Assistant Director will make a determination within  
7 calendar days (unless there are exceptional circumstances) whether 
to instigate disciplinary proceedings against the employee concerned, 
advise the employee accordingly in writing within 7 calendar days of 
the decision being made. 

 
7.13 If the decision is made that the matter should not proceed then a letter 

should be sent to the employee notifying them of this within  
7 calendar days of the decision being made.  

 

Page 139



1.CM.035 Issue 4 Page 21 of 34 
 
 

 

 
SECTION 8 - DISCIPLINARY HEARING 
 
8.1  If following a disciplinary investigation, the decision is made to instigate 

disciplinary proceedings against the employee concerned, it will usually 
proceed to a disciplinary hearing.  

 
8.2   Arrangements for a disciplinary hearing (i.e. date/time/venue) should 

be made by the Presenting Officer as soon as possible after the 
decision to proceed following discussion with the employee and their 
companion (where applicable).  Any delays to this should be notified to 
all involved. (Refer to Disciplinary Procedure: A Hearing Chair’s Guide). 

 
8.3 To ensure impartiality, a disciplinary hearing must be chaired by a 

manager who has not had any involvement in the circumstances giving 
rise to the act of alleged misconduct for which the disciplinary hearing 
has been convened.  
(N.B. “Involvement” means direct involvement in the case such as 
carrying out the investigation or witnessing the alleged misconduct. It 
does not mean that any officer who has some prior knowledge of a 
case should be prevented from chairing a hearing). 

 
8.4 Employees should be notified in writing 14 calendar days* in advance 

of the hearing. At the same time they will receive copies of all the 
relevant documentation that will be presented to the Chair of the 
hearing, including the Investigating Officer’s report concerning the 
allegations to be considered. In addition to administrative details 
concerning the arrangements for the hearing, the letter should also 
refer to the seriousness of the disciplinary allegations and possible 
outcomes if proven.  

 
* Where the disciplinary pack contains excessive amounts of 
information this must be provided to the employee (and their 
companion) between 14 to 28 calendar days in advance of the hearing. 
 

8.5 The employee is required to submit documents on which they intend to 
rely upon at the hearing to the Presenting Officer at least 7 calendar 
days in advance of the hearing. This will ensure that the Chair receives 
the bundle of  all relevant documents  48 hours ( 2 working days) prior 
to the hearing. This will give them the opportunity to review all the 
information and start to become familiar with the case details 
beforehand. The Chair should not make enquiries on the case prior to 
the hearing. 

  
8.6     The purpose of the disciplinary hearing is for the Chair to consider all 

the evidence regarding an allegation, and to make a decision whether, 
on the balance of probabilities, the allegation against the employee is 
substantiated. If the allegation is substantiated, the Chair should 
determine an appropriate sanction, dependant on the seriousness of 
the allegation and taking into account any mitigating circumstances 
provided. 

Page 140



1.CM.035 Issue 4 Page 22 of 34 
 
 

 

 
8.7      Requests for attendance at a Hearing in the roles of “Observer” 

(developmental purposes) or “Assistant” (complex cases only) must be 
made to the Chair 7 calendar days prior to the date of the hearing.    
Attendance for either role will be at the discretion of the Chair and must 
be with the consent of the employee under investigation. 
 

8.8     Where there is more than one employee subject to disciplinary action, 
hearings may be held separately or together depending on the 
circumstances of the case. Where it is decided to hold them together, 
the agreement of all involved must be obtained beforehand. If 
disciplinary hearings are held individually, then the outcome should be 
reserved until all hearings have been completed and jointly considered. 
The same hearing Chair should be used to ensure consistency. 
 

8.9 Where possible, the Chair’s decision, including appeal rights, must be 
communicated to the employee verbally either on the day or within  
24 hours of the conclusion of the hearing.  Where it is not possible to 
provide the decision verbally, the employee should be informed of the 
reason(s) for the delay. In complex cases the time may be extended 
but all involved should be notified where this is the case. Once 
communicated, the Chair’s decision is final. 

 
8.10 The decision including appeal rights, will be confirmed in writing within 

7 calendar days of the hearing.  
 
8.11   The Council reserves the right to conduct a disciplinary hearing in the 

absence of the employee in circumstances where reasonable efforts 
have been made to secure that individual’s attendance.  The employee 
will be notified in writing of the outcome and their right of appeal. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 141



1.CM.035 Issue 4 Page 23 of 34 
 
 

 

 
SECTION 9 - POSSIBLE DISCIPLINARY OUTCOMES  
 

(Refer to Disciplinary Procedure: A Hearing Chair’s Guide  
for applicable letters) 

 
9.1 The possible outcomes of a disciplinary hearing are detailed below.  
 
9.2 Disciplinary action is cumulative where previous misconduct has 

occurred and previous disciplinary warnings are current and have not 
expired. Expired warnings cannot be referenced. 

 
9.3 If an employee has more than one allegation proven at a disciplinary 

hearing, the resultant disciplinary action will need to reflect the most 
serious allegation. 

 
 
 
Verbal Warning – Valid for 3 Calendar Months  
 
9.4 This sanction will be appropriate for a first minor breach or where 

actions taken/ agreed under the informal stage have proven to be 
ineffective.  

 
9.5 The person issuing the verbal warning must ensure that the person 

receiving it understands: 
 

• Why the verbal warning has been issued. 
 

• The improvements required. 
 
• That it is a formal warning, valid for 3 calendar months, specifies the 

expiry date and is issued in accordance with the Council’s 
Disciplinary Policy and Procedures and there is a right of appeal. 
 

• That if within the 3 calendar months they commit the same or 
different disciplinary offence, further disciplinary action will be 
contemplated. 
 

• That the record of the warning will be kept on their DigiGov file but 
that it will be disregarded for any future disciplinary purposes after  
3 calendar months, providing there has been the required 
improvement whilst the warning was in place. 

 
9.6 Once this warning has been communicated to the employee verbally, a 

record of it should be made on the relevant proforma, agreed and 
signed by all involved where possible and retained on the employee’s 
DigiGov file for 3 calendar months.  

 
 
 

Page 142



1.CM.035 Issue 4 Page 24 of 34 
 
 

 

 Written Warning – Valid for  6 Calendar Months  
 

9.7 This sanction will be appropriate if during the validity of the verbal 
warning, the required levels of improvement have not been achieved, 
the employee commits the same or further disciplinary offences or if the 
nature of the offence is serious enough to warrant action at this level.   

 
9.8 A written warning will be valid for 6 calendar months with the expiry 

date specified.  The reasons why the warning has been issued, the 
improvements required and the right of appeal must be included in the 
decision letter.  A copy of the letter (including details of allegations 
heard, evidence considered and conclusions reached) will be placed on 
the employee’s DigiGov file and will be disregarded for any future 
disciplinary purposes after 6 calendar months, providing there has 
been the required improvement whilst the warning was in place.  

 
 
 Final Written Warning – Valid for 18 Calendar Months  
 
9.9 This sanction will be appropriate if, during the validity of the written 

warning, the required levels of improvement have not been achieved, 
the employee commits the same or further disciplinary offences or if the 
nature of the offence is serious enough to warrant action at this level.  

 
9.10 A final written warning will be valid for 18 calendar months with the 

expiry date specified.  The reasons why the warning has been issued, 
the improvements required and the right of appeal must be included in 
the letter.  A copy of the letter (including details of allegations heard, 
evidence considered and conclusions reached) will be placed on the 
employee’s DigiGov file and will be disregarded for any future 
disciplinary purposes after 18 calendar months, providing there has 
been the required improvement whilst the warning was in place.  

  
 
Dismissal or Demotion to a lower grade position 
 
 
9.11 This sanction will be appropriate if, during the validity of the final written 

warning, the required levels of improvement have not been achieved, 
the employee commits the same or any further disciplinary offences or 
if the nature of the offence is serious enough to warrant action at this 
level.  

 
9.12 If an employee is dismissed or resigns in the course of an investigation/ 

disciplinary process involving a child protection/ vulnerable adult 
allegation a referral must be made to the appropriate body.  In the case 
of teachers the General Teaching Council for Wales and for care 
professionals the Care Council for Wales/Health and Care Professions 
Council. 

 

Page 143



1.CM.035 Issue 4 Page 25 of 34 
 
 

 

9.13 The decision may be either dismissal (with or without notice) or, in 
exceptional circumstances, demotion. This will however be 
dependant on the existence of suitable vacancies within the 
Directorate.  Where, as an alternative to dismissal, the decision is 
demotion, a final written warning must also be issued.  

 
9.14 Where demotion is proposed, the employee’s agreement in writing 

must be obtained, otherwise the employee may make a claim for an 
unlawful deduction from wages.  However the employee should be 
made aware that if they do not agree to the demotion, then the 
alternative will be dismissal.  

 
9.15 The decision (including details of allegations heard, evidence 

considered and conclusions reached) must be communicated to the 
employee in writing and the right to appeal confirmed. 

 
 
No Action  
 
9.16 Where the Chair finds no case to answer, there is a standard letter 

available that must be issued to the employee within 7 calendar days 
of the decision being made.  This letter will not be retained on the 
employee’s DigiGov file except where necessary to prove that a 
sufficient investigation has taken place (e.g. complaints relating to 
abuse of children / vulnerable adults) and will clearly mark that the 
allegation was unsubstantiated.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 144



1.CM.035 Issue 4 Page 26 of 34 
 
 

 

 
SECTION 10 - DISCIPLINARY APPEALS PROCEDURE 
 
10.1 Employees subject to any formal disciplinary action have the right of 

appeal against the decision and should be notified of this in writing. 
Appeals must be made within 7 calendar days from receipt of the 
written decision from the original hearing. 

 
10.2 Employees with access to DigiGov can lodge an appeal using the 

system.  Employees not on DigiGov can appeal via email or in writing.  
Only the employee has the right of appeal and they should identify the 
grounds on which they are appealing in that there was either :   

 
a) A PROCEDURAL FLAW clearly indicating what the flaw was and 

how the policy was not correctly followed / applied; and/ or 
 

b) The FINDINGS were inconsistent with the evidence presented, 
providing written reasons for this; and/ or 

 
c) The SANCTION was inappropriate, providing written reasons for 

this; and/ or  
 

d) NEW EVIDENCE has come to light either since, or not considered 
at the disciplinary hearing, which could have a bearing on the 
original disciplinary sanction, providing written reasons how this 
could have a bearing on the case.    

 
10.3 Appeals against a verbal warning, written warning and final written 

warnings will take the form of a review hearing.  Appeals against 
dismissal or demotion will take the form of a complete rehearing.  
(Refer to Disciplinary Procedure: A Hearing Chair’s Guide) 

 
10.4 The Service Area concerned must arrange the appeal hearing  

(i.e. date/ time/ venue) within 7 calendar days of receipt of the appeal. 
Any delays to this should be notified to the employee and their 
companion (where applicable).  If the employee or their companion is 
unable to attend on the proposed date, they can propose an alternative 
date/ time providing that it is reasonable and is no more than  
7 calendar days after the date originally proposed for the hearing. 

 
 
 

Page 145



1.CM.035 Issue 4 Page 27 of 34 
 
 

 

 
Appendix 1:   DISCIPLINARY RULES  

 
1.0 The Council’s Disciplinary Rules set out below are divided into 

misconduct and gross misconduct.  The lists are intended to be 
examples only and are neither exclusive nor exhaustive.  It has to be 
recognised that there may well be other acts of misconduct not listed 
below that would give rise to disciplinary proceedings. In determining 
the appropriate outcome, each case should be judged objectively, 
based on the merits of the evidence provided and any mitigation. 

2.0 The proven degree of the alleged misconduct will determine whether 
the act is misconduct or gross misconduct. Incidences of misconduct 
will not normally result in dismissal, but this depends on the 
seriousness of the incident. However where the employee already has 
in place unspent warnings, the commission of a proven act of 
misconduct could result in a final written warning or dismissal.  

3.0 Proven gross misconduct may result in dismissal without notice unless 
there are mitigating circumstances. 

4.0 These Disciplinary Rules should be read alongside the Council’s 
Disciplinary Policy and Procedures. 

 
5.0 Examples of Misconduct 
 

(Note: in certain circumstances the examples below may be 
considered to constitute gross misconduct) 

 
 Failure to comply with the Council’s Code of Conduct and any 

specific professional code of conduct and/ or local agreed working 
arrangements which may exist within Service Areas. 

 
 Minor breaches of any of the Council’s employment Policies or 

Procedures.  
 
 Persistent poor timekeeping. 
 
 Unauthorised absence from work. 
 
 Refusal to comply with a reasonable instruction. 
 
 Failure to comply with requirements within Council procedures, e.g. 

sickness absence reporting procedures, flexible working schemes / 
procedures.  

 
 Showing a lack of professional courtesy to colleagues, citizens, 

service users, suppliers or anyone outside of the Council.  
 

• Misuse or unauthorised use of Council resources, vehicles, 
equipment and facilities 

 

Page 146



1.CM.035 Issue 4 Page 28 of 34 
 
 

 

• Inappropriate use of Council time, e.g. excessive use of time for 
personal correspondence, telephone calls and emails/ internet use. 

 
• Failure to observe Council IT standards, policies and guidance on 

the use of IT facilities.  
 
• Failure to disclose an outside interest, gift, benefit or hospitality 

which would cause loss of confidence in the employee or the 
Council. 

 
• Failure to declare any other paid work or employment undertaken 

which conflicts with the Council’s interests (in accordance with the 
Officer’s Personal Interests & Secondary Employment Policy) or 
which results in contravention of Health & Safety or employment 
legislation.   

 
 
6.0 Examples of Gross Misconduct 
 

 Gross misconduct is an act or omission that is of such a nature or 
so serious that, if proven, could lead to summary dismissal 
(dismissal without notice). The following acts, and offences of a 
similar nature, will be regarded as gross misconduct. 

 
6.1 Breach of Trust 

 
• Omission or conduct liable to lead to serious loss of confidence in 

the public service and/ or bring the Council into disrepute.1 
 
• Criminal offences committed at work. 
 
• Conduct that is a serious abuse of position, e.g. misuse of personal 

position for personal gain.  
 
• Being an accessory to, condoning or failing to report a serious, 

potentially criminal disciplinary offence, e.g. an incident of abuse/ 
suspected abuse of a child or vulnerable adult; failing to report that 
a colleague was obtaining financial or other reward from Council 
clients. 

 
• Behaved in a way that has harmed a child/ vulnerable adult, or may 

have harmed a child/ vulnerable adult. 
 

• Behaved towards a child/ vulnerable adult in a way that indicates 
that they are unsuitable to work with children/ vulnerable adults. 

 
 
 
 
                                                 
1 Refer to Disciplinary Policy Managers Guidance for further information 

Page 147



1.CM.035 Issue 4 Page 29 of 34 
 
 

 

6.2 Misuse of Property 
 

• Theft, or attempted theft, from the Council, its employees, partner 
organisations or service users, or from premises being visited 
during the course of employment. 

 
• Unauthorised possession and/ or use of the Council’s property, or 

the property of its employees, e.g. unauthorised use of a Council 
Identification Card to gain unauthorised access to property, 
receiving money or other considerations for the use of that property. 

 
• Malicious damage to, or any other unlawful act which involves the 

property of the Council or its employees. 
 
6.3 Dishonesty and Fraud 
 

• Failure to disclose material information or knowingly making a false 
statement or omission when applying for a job. 

 
• Falsification of time sheets, bonus sheets, expense claim forms, car 

allowance claims, etc with the intention of defrauding the Council. 
 

• Persistent and/ or serious abuse of the Council’s Flexible Working 
Hours Scheme or any of the other Flexible Working policies and/ or 
procedures.  

 
• Fraudulently claiming benefits to which the employee is not entitled 

to. 
 
• Deliberate disregard of the Council’s Financial Procedures and 

Rules or Contracting Procedures or general instructions concerning 
the collection, transfer, security and paying in of monies, the issue 
and receipt of tickets and the completion and submission of 
associated documents. 

 
• Undertaking other paid employment whilst receiving sick pay from 

the Council during a period of sickness or unauthorised absence, 
without prior management agreement.  
 

• Whilst on sick leave, indulging in activities that are likely to be 
inconsistent with the stated reason for absence and/ or which is 
unlikely to be conducive to recovery. 

 
6.4 Health and Safety 
 

• Any act, omission or negligence of H&S legislation or Council H&S 
related policies & procedures. 
 
 
 
 

Page 148



1.CM.035 Issue 4 Page 30 of 34 
 
 

 

6.5 Unacceptable behaviour at work 
 

• Verbal abuse (e.g. swearing) and physical violence (e.g. fighting), 
whether actual or threatened towards colleagues, service users, 
citizens, suppliers.  

 
• Inciting others to commit violent acts or acts of gross misconduct. 
 
• Sexual misconduct/ activities whilst on duty. 
 
• Harassment or discrimination on the grounds of race, gender, 

disability, religious belief, sexual orientation, age, ethnicity, caring 
responsibilities, membership of a trade union, employment status, 
marital status, spent convictions other that for jobs excluded by law. 

 
• Bullying, intimidation or victimisation, including inciting racial hatred. 
 
• Wilful and/ or repeated refusal to carry out or comply with a 

reasonable order, instruction or contractual requirement. 
 
• Sleeping whilst on duty (unless undertaking paid sleeping-in duties). 
 
• Raising issues under the Council’s Resolution Policy that 

subsequently are proven to be malicious or vexatious. 
 
6.6 Alcohol and Drug Use 
 

• Consumption of alcohol or the taking of illegal/ unprescribed drugs 
or intoxicating substances at work in circumstances where it could 
constitute a health and safety hazard, where it would be in breach 
of a position of responsibility and trust. 

 
• Incapacity whilst at work due to the influence of alcohol or non-

prescription drugs. 
 
6.7 Confidentiality 
 

• Unauthorised disclosure of confidential and personal information 
including that which may be of use within a contract tendering 
situation or quotation procedure. 

• Deliberate breach of personal data.  
 
6.8 Use of Information Technology systems 
 

• Serious breach of the Council’s IT Policy, e.g. accessing internet 
sites containing pornographic, racist or other discriminatory images/ 
text/ material, loss of confidential or sensitive data through 
negligence, loss of important or expensive equipment though 
negligence, accessing/ utilising  Council’s IT for private use and/ or 
personal gain.  

Page 149



1.CM.035 Issue 4 Page 31 of 34 
 
 

 

 
 

6.9 Conduct Outside of Work 
 

• Committing an act of gross misconduct outside work/ working hours 
or being convicted of a criminal offence which would prevent an 
employee from continuing to do their job or which affects their 
suitability to perform their work and/ or which damages the 
relationship of trust that has to exist between the Council and its 
employees.  

 
• Acting in a way outside of work that would bring the Council into 

disrepute, e.g. committing acts of discrimination. 
 

6.10 Failure to declare an interest 
 

• Failure to comply with the requirements of the Local Government 
Act 1972 which requires an employee or office holder to declare an 
interest where it comes to their knowledge that a contract in which 
they have any direct or indirect pecuniary interest has been, or is 
proposed to be, entered into by the Council. 

 
6.11 Defamation 

 
• Making defamatory statements in the course of employment  

(e.g. making statements that are or could be slanderous or libellous) 
whether orally, written, or in electronic communication.  
(A defamatory statement is a statement that will injure the 
reputation of another in the estimation of members of society 
generally). 

 
 
 
 

Page 150



1.CM.035 Issue 4 Page 32 of 34 
 
 

 

 
Appendix 2:   AUTHORITY LEVELS & APPEAL ARRANGEMENTS  
 
 
 

GRADE OF 
EMPLOYEE 
SUBJECT TO 
DISCIPLINARY 
PROCEDURES 

MINIMUM LEVEL 
AUTHORISED TO 
SUSPEND FROM 
DUTY 

 MINIMUM LEVEL 
AUTHORISED TO 
CHAIR A HEARING 
AND MAKE 
APPROPRIATE 
DISCIPLINARY 
DECISIONS  
 

MINIMUM LEVEL AUTHORISED 
TO CONSIDER AN APPEAL 

 Verbal, Written 
and Final Written 
Warnings 
 

Dismissal or 
Relegation 
 
  

1.    All 
employees 
up to and 
including 
Grade 10  

Operational 
Manager 

Any Officer nominated 
by the Chief Officer/ 
Director/ Assistant 
Director to undertake 
the delegated task. The 
officer must be at a 
more senior level than 
the employee subject to 
the disciplinary action. 

Operational 
Manager  

Chief Officer/ 
Director/ 
Assistant 
Director 

2.    Operational 
Manager 

Chief Officer/ 
Director/ Assistant 
Director 
 

Chief Officer/ Director/ 
Assistant Director 
 

Corporate Director Corporate 
Director 

3.    Chief 
Officer/ 
Director/ 
Assistant 
Director 

Corporate Director Corporate Director Chief Executive Panel of 
Elected 
Members* 

4.    Corporate 
Director 

Chief Executive Chief Executive Panel of Elected 
Members* 

Panel of 
Elected 
Members* 

5.    Chief 
Executive 

Member 
Investigating 
Committee and 
Independent 
Officer 
 

Member Investigating 
Committee and 
Independent Officer 

Panel of Elected 
Members* 

Panel of 
Elected 
Members* 

 
* Where Elected Members are involved the Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the Chief 
HR Services Officer, will organise a meeting of a panel of elected members appointed to hear 
the disciplinary case at the earliest opportunity. The Panel will contain not more than 5 and 
not less than 3 Members. 

Page 151



1.CM.035 Issue 4 Page 33 of 34 
 
 

 

Appendix 3:   DISCIPLINARY INVESTIGATION SERVICE  
 
The Disciplinary Investigation Team 

1. The Disciplinary Investigation team, based internally in the Council, will 
be set up to deal with disciplinary investigations that are more complex/ 
potential gross misconduct investigations, those involving the police 
and safeguarding concerns but excluding schools’ child protection 
cases  (refer to Welsh Government Guidance:  “Disciplinary & 
Dismissal procedures for Schools Staff”). 

 

2. The Team will exist as a “virtual team”, comprising of staff nominated 
by each Directorate to deal with these investigations. Nominated staff 
from HR People services would also be part of the virtual team, and  
Internal Audit would be involved where there are matters of 
Fraud/Financial impropriety. 

 

3. Members of the team would receive any additional and higher levels of 
training as required, to develop their knowledge and expertise. 

 

4. Each Directorate would commit to enabling their nominated team 
member to be released from their day job during the period of the 
investigation, to ensure they are undertaken thoroughly, and as quickly, 
as possible. Directorates would manage their own cover arrangements. 
 

5. Where appropriate, investigations could be cross Directorate if 
required, to increase impartiality. 

 

Benefits of a Disciplinary investigations team 

a) Ready, willing and engaged Investigating Officers.  
b) Fewer Investigating Officers doing investigations on top of day job 

with reduced level of stress on staff. 
c) Improved sickness absence levels. 
d) Expertise developed so improved quality with fewer investigations 

flawed.   
e) Improved impartiality. 
f) Reduced cost of delivering training programme to fewer staff. 
g) Improved consistency of HR People Services advice from 

Investigation team officers. 
h) Reduced length of suspensions improved cost to Council. 
i) Reduced length of investigations improved cost to Council. 
j) Consistency of decision making. 

 
Future potential 
 

Dependent upon the capacity of the team, there could be potential 
income generation for the council, if the team offered a costed service 
to other Local Authorities/ schools. 

Page 152



1.CM.035 Issue 4 Page 34 of 34 
 
 

 

 

Page 153



1.CM.035 Issue 4 Page 1 of 42 
 

Appendix B 

 
 
 
 
 

RESOLUTION POLICY 
 
 
 

(Replacing Grievance Policy 1,CM.040 & 
Harassment Policy and Procedure 1.CM.109) 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
DATE DOCUMENT PUBLISHED   
APPROVED BY   
APPROVAL DATE    
DOCUMENT OWNER Employee Relations Team 
DATE FOR REVIEW  April 2017 
 
    

Page 154

http://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/en/b/b1/Cardiff_logo.png


1.CM.  Issue 1 Page 2 of 42 
 
 

 

CONTENTS  
 

SECTION CONTENT 
 

PAGE  

 
1 

 
Introduction 

• Policy Statement 
• Aims and Objectives 
• Scope of the policy 
• Awareness 
• Key Principles 
 

 
4 
4 
5 
5 
6 
6 

 
2 

  
Roles and Responsibilities 

• Employee 
• Manager 
• HR People Services  
• Mediation Service 
• Trade Union representatives 
 

 
8 
8 
8 
9 
9 
10 

 
3 

  
Resolution Process 

• Approaches to Resolution 
• Process Map 

 

 
 

11 
12 

 
4 

 
Informal Resolution Procedure 

• Early Resolution – Employee Led 
• Informal Resolution Meeting 
 

Mediation Service 
• Flowchart for mediation 
• The value of Mediation 
• What is mediation? 
• When is mediation appropriate? 
• When is mediation not appropriate? 
• How to make a referral for mediation 
• Stages of Mediation 
• What happens after mediation? 

 

 
13 
13 
13 
 
 
16 
17 
17 
18 
18 
19 
19 
20 
 

 
5 

 
Formal Resolution Procedure 

• Formal Resolution Meeting  
• Format of Resolution Meeting 
• Outcome 
• Appeal 
• Appeal Resolution Meeting  
 

 
 

21 
21 
22 
23 
24 

 
 

Page 155



1.CM.  Issue 1 Page 3 of 42 
 
 

 

• Format of Meeting 
• Communication of Appeal Decision 
 
 

24 
24 

 
6 

 
Unacceptable Behaviour by service users/contractors in 
service delivery 

 

 
 

25 
 

7 Additional Guidance 
 

26 

 APPENDICES 
 

 

APPENDIX 1 Definitions 
 

27 

APPENDIX 2 Formal Resolution Application (RS1) 
 

30 

APPENDIX 3 Formal Resolution Appeal (RSA) 33 

APPENDIX 4 Standard Letters  35 

APPENDIX 5 Mediation Agreement 
 

41 

 

Page 156



1.CM.  Issue 1 Page 4 of 42 
 
 

 

 
SECTION 1 – INTRODUCTION 
 
 
 
POLICY STATEMENT 
 
 
1.1 This  Resolution  policy  provides  an  opportunity  to  link  dispute  resolution  

to the Council’s values and vision.  It replaces the Council’s Grievance and 
Harassment Policies and Procedures, offering a new name and a new focus.  

 
1.2 The City of Cardiff Council, like many organisations, has a workforce which is 

made up of people from increasingly diverse backgrounds, with differing 
opinions, values and expectations about work. The Council recognises that 
from time to time, employees may have problems, concerns or complaints 
about aspects of their employment, e.g. working conditions or working 
relationships with colleagues, which they wish to raise and have resolved.  

 
1.3 It also recognises that it has a responsibility to deal with any such concern 

raised in a timely manner to maintain discipline, good order, motivation and 
morale amongst employees in the interests of effective service delivery, to 
reduce the risk of time consuming formal proceedings and associated 
sickness absence costs. 

 
1.4 The foundation of all forms of acceptable behaviour at work is the respect in 

which we hold every individual working within the Council, and the value we 
place on their individual contribution to our common purpose. Every individual 
is entitled to fair and equitable treatment and the Council is committed to 
providing a caring and supportive working environment which is free from all 
forms of harassment, discrimination, bullying and intimidation (hereinafter 
referred to as unacceptable behaviour).  The trade unions are also fully 
committed, to taking a major role in preventing all forms of unacceptable 
behaviour at work (Appendix 1).  
 

1.5 This statement of policy underpins a commitment to developing a culture of 
personal and managerial integrity and professionalism, in which dignity, 
courtesy and respect are valued, and unacceptable behaviour is identified and 
dealt with quickly, fairly and sensitively. 
 

1.6 It offers a collaborative approach that balances the rights of individuals with 
their interests and needs.  In doing so, it brings the core principles of 
mediation to the forefront and encourages constructive resolution and positive 
working relationships. By making mediation available at each stage (even 
where cases may be escalated to formal actions) greater flexibility is offered 
to all parties. 

 
1.7    This policy and procedure, is consistent with the principles outlined in the 

ACAS Code of Practice on Discipline and Grievance Procedures (2015). 
 

Page 157



1.CM.  Issue 1 Page 5 of 42 
 
 

 

AIMS AND OBJECTIVES  
 
The aims of this policy are to:  
 
1.8  Enable a transition in the organisation from a grievance culture to one that is 

focussed on innovation - a resolution culture.  
 
1.9 Demonstrate a commitment to positively resolving conflict and taking 

concerns seriously by confronting the conflict, but not in a way that leads 
people to defensive positions. 

 
1.10 Encourage free communication between employees and their respective 

managers to secure constructive and lasting solutions to workplace concerns, 
quickly and informally, to the satisfaction of all parties involved. This will 
increase the levels of staff morale, commitment and productivity. 
       

1.11  Help reduce levels of formal procedures, where appropriate, and absences 
due to stress or stress related illnesses. 
 

1.12 Ensure that managers, employees and their companions are aware of their 
rights, responsibilities and obligations within the resolution process.  

 
1.13 A companion is defined as an employee of the Council, a trade union 

representative or an official employed by a trade union. 
 
 

SCOPE OF THE POLICY 
 
1.14 The Policy applies to all current employees of the Council with the exception 

of school based employees. The policy does not apply to agency workers, 
volunteers or those engaged by the Council on Contracts for Service.  It aims 
to provide a single framework for the resolution of individual as well as 
collective concerns about any aspect of their employment with the Council 
without fear of reprisal and/or recrimination.  
 

1.15 Application of this policy is suitable for concerns or disagreements between all 
work colleagues within or between teams and service areas, between 
managers and members of their team, or actions/inactions of the employer. 

  
1.16 This policy also covers unacceptable behaviour in any situation, as the 

result of which an employee's employment with the Council may be affected.  
It is not confined to unacceptable behaviour occurring in the workplace or 
during working hours, but extends to situations that occur outside the working 
environment which arise out of, or may affect, the working relationship 
between employees and the Council as the employer.    

 
1.17 Employees cannot use this Policy and Procedure if the nature of the concern 

relates directly to their substantive grade (see Regrading Policy 1. CM.240) 
or constitutes an appeal against disciplinary decisions taken against them   
(see Disciplinary Policy 1. CM 035). 

Page 158



1.CM.  Issue 1 Page 6 of 42 
 
 

 

AWARENESS 
 
1.18 This Policy will be drawn to the attention of all employees.  The Council has a 

duty of care to its employees, and service users, and is legally responsible for 
ensuring that the behaviour and conduct of employees in the course of their 
employment is acceptable. 

 
1.19 The Council acknowledges that the decision to raise a concern will normally 

rest with the employee.  The Council has a duty of care and management 
have the right to initiate a preliminary assessment, if they have concerns with 
regards to an employees conduct, even if a concern has not been raised. 

 
1.20 Failure to recognise or investigate incidents of unacceptable behaviour does 

not excuse the Council from liability and could have serious legal 
consequences under health and safety and employment legislation.  
Therefore officers must adhere to all aspects of this policy to limit the 
potential risk of a legal challenge. 

 
1.21 All employees have a duty to comply with this policy and to be aware of their 

personal obligations by eliminating all forms of unacceptable behaviour.  
 
 
 KEY PRINCIPLES 
 
 
1.22 At all stages of the Resolution Procedures, including the informal procedure, 

employees will be given the opportunity to be represented by a maximum of 2 
companions (with the exception of a mediation meeting). Where there are 2 
companions, one must take the role of an Observer (refer to Disciplinary 
Procedures: Hearing Chair’s Guide p7) 

 
1.23 When concerns or complaints arise, they will be resolved through informal 

procedures wherever possible.  
 
1.24 The Council recognises that the offence may not be intentional. An individual 

may be subject to unacceptable behaviour, and the person causing the 
alleged distress may be unaware that their behaviour is offensive or causing a 
problem.  

 
1.25 Differences in culture, attitude and experience or the misinterpretation of 

social signals can result in differences in perception, and what may be 
perceived as unacceptable to one person may be perceived by others as 
normal social behaviour.  

 
1.26 An employee will not prejudice their employment, opportunities for 

progression, promotion or training within the Council by making a complaint of 
unacceptable behaviour, when it is made in good faith, or by any subsequent 
investigation. 

1.27 Where more than one employee has the same concern, then the procedure 
should be applied on a group basis, where agreed by a group of employees 

Page 159



1.CM.  Issue 1 Page 7 of 42 
 
 

 

(collective concern).  A group concern will be subject to one procedure and 
will be treated as a single application albeit from a group of employees. 

 
1.28 Records should be kept of each stage of the procedure and checked for 

accuracy by all parties. Employees should be given copies of any resolution 
meeting records including any formal minutes.  In certain circumstances the 
Council may withhold some information, for example to protect a witness. All 
such records will be regarded as confidential and retained in accordance with 
the provisions of the Data Protection Act 1998.  

 
1.29 The Council undertakes to observe and maintain confidentiality wherever 

possible in dealing with cases of alleged unacceptable behaviour. In this 
context, confidentiality means that information will be disclosed only on a 
“need to know basis” 
 

1.31 All parties will endeavour to deal with concerns as quickly as possible and 
within the timescales stated.  Should it be necessary, the time limits can be 
extended or modified with the agreement of all the parties. 

 
1.32 Where an employee formally raises a concern or complaint under this policy 

during a disciplinary process, the disciplinary process may be temporarily 
suspended in order to deal with the concern. However, where the concern 
and the disciplinary matters are related it may be appropriate to deal with both 
concurrently if directly relevant to the outcome of the disciplinary hearing. 
Where this situation arises, a decision taken by the Service Area Manager will 
be communicated to the relevant parties, following advice from HR People 
Services. If the disciplinary case is a matter of fraud, bribery or financial 
impropriety then the decision will be taken by the Audit manager. 

 
1.33 Where a concern relates to a difference in the interpretation and/or application 

of a particular Council policy, procedure or agreement, consideration of the 
matter may be adjourned with the consent of all the parties to enable 
appropriate advice and guidance to be sought.  When this has been received, 
consideration of the concern will be resumed at the point at which it was 
adjourned. 

 
1.34 The Council reserves the right to deal with any unusual or urgent concern 

outside the normal Resolution Procedure in exceptional circumstances, but 
will only exercise that right, following consultation with all parties. 

 
1.35 Employees have the right to appeal against the formal resolution decision. 
 
1.36 The Council recognises the possibility that concerns may be brought with 

malicious, vexatious or spurious intent.  If there is evidence to support such 
intent, this may result in disciplinary action being taken against the 
complainant.   

 
1.37 This policy and the procedure will be reviewed in the light of operational 

experience every 12 months. 
 

Page 160



1.CM.  Issue 1 Page 8 of 42 
 
 

 

 SECTION 2 - ROLES and RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
  2.1  It is important that everyone clearly understands their roles and 

responsibilities within the resolution procedure. 
 
EMPLOYEE RESPONSIBILITIES 
 

2.2   All Council employees are responsible for: 
 

a) Behaving and acting in a way that is consistent with the Council’s values of 
openness, fairness and working together with others, as defined by the 
Employee Charter. 

b) Ensuring that their behaviour complies with the Council’s Code of Conduct 
and any Service Area/ external Codes of Conduct/ Practice that govern the 
profession in which they are engaged. 

c) Ensuring they read, understand and comply with this policy and fully co-
operate with the requirements of the procedures when they are in 
operation. 

d) Demonstrating an active commitment to this policy and its aims 
e) Raising a concern with their manager in a timely way, clearly stating the 

basis of the concern including the resolution required.   
f) Undertaking to resolve the concern informally before resorting to the 

formal stages of the procedure. 
g) Maintaining a written record of the incidents that have caused distress 

including the time, date, place and a full description of what happened 
including the names of the people concerned and names of any witnesses. 

h) Maintaining confidentiality at all times during any resolution proceedings, 
with the exception of any conversations which may be necessary with their 
companion, and if there is a requirement to share information in relation to 
safeguarding concerns. 

i) Only raising concerns in good faith. If the Council finds that an employee 
has made allegation maliciously or vexatiously, it may consider taking 
disciplinary action against the employee. 

 
 
MANAGER RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
2.3 In addition to their responsibilities as employees, Managers are also 

responsible for: 
 

a) Ensuring employees are aware of all relevant policies and procedures. 
b) Taking positive steps in maintaining an environment which is free from 

unacceptable behaviour, and to treat those for whom they are responsible 
fairly and with dignity, courtesy, and respect at all times. 

c) Taking the initiative in identifying unacceptable behaviour and taking 
reasonable corrective or preventative action in accordance with this policy 
and procedures. It is not acceptable for any manager to ignore 
unacceptable behaviour. Managers have a responsibility to “ask and act”. 

d) Dealing with minor concerns as part of normal day to day operational 
management. 

Page 161



1.CM.  Issue 1 Page 9 of 42 
 
 

 

e) Dealing with concerns promptly, fairly and consistently in accordance with 
the procedure and detailed timescales and with advice from HR People 
Services. 

f) Working with the employee to resolve the matter informally in the first 
instance, if safe to do so. 

g) Demonstrating a commitment to release employees during working hours 
for mediation. Special arrangements should be made for shift workers by 
agreement.  

h) Keeping adequate notes and records of all events and evidence to support 
the use of the policy. 

i) Writing formally to the employee following consideration of their concerns, 
detailing their response, explaining the reasons behind their decision (see 
Appendix 4) 

 
 

HR PEOPLE SERVICES RESPONSIBILITIES 
 

2.4   In addition to their responsibilities as employees, HR People Service 
Officers are responsible for:- 
 
a) Providing support and advice to managers and employees at all stages 

of the policy and procedures, including the informal, and to ensure that 
the Council’s Resolution Policy and Procedures are correctly applied. 

b) Supporting Directorates to undertake any necessary remedial action by 
collating management information on cases/ outcomes   

c) Collate and review corporate monitoring data for consideration by 
various groups, e.g. Senior Management Team, Works Council.  

d) Reviewing the application of the policy and procedures in the light of 
operational experience. 

 
 

MEDIATION SERVICE RESPONSIBILITIES 
 

2.5   In addition to their responsibilities as employees, Mediators are 
responsible for:- 
 
a) Assessing whether or not cases are appropriate for mediation.   
b) Provide support and guidance to employees entering into mediation. 
c) Co-ordinating, assigning and mediating cases that are deemed 

suitable. 
d) Maintaining confidentiality at all times, with the exception of the duty to 

disclose where there are safeguarding concerns. Notes taken by the 
mediator are destroyed at the end of the mediation process. 

e) Facilitating a written agreement between parties. 
f) Evaluating the effectiveness of the mediation service. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 162



1.CM.  Issue 1 Page 10 of 42 
 
 

 

TRADE UNION REPRESENTATIVE RESPONSIBILITIES 
 

2.6      In addition to their responsibilities as employees, Trade Union 
Representatives are responsible for: 

 
a) Providing advice, support and representation to their members. 
b) Working with managers, HR People services and employees to ensure 

that the Resolution policy is adhered to. 
c) Working with all parties to facilitate timely and early resolution to 

matters. 
d) Encouraging the use of informal procedures if appropriate, including 

promoting the use of mediation to re-establish and maintain working 
relationships. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 163



1.CM.  Issue 1 Page 11 of 42 
 
 

 

 
SECTION 3 – RESOLUTION PROCESS 
 
 APPROACHES TO RESOLUTION 
 
3.1 This policy provides employees with the opportunity to take personal 

responsibility to resolve or discuss their concerns in a supportive, constructive 
and empathetic forum to enable relationships to be rebuilt.   

 
3.2 Employees may seek advice and support from HR People Services or the 

Trade Union at any time.  Being accompanied by a companion does not mean 
that the formal process has been triggered. 

3.3 The different approaches to resolution include:- 
 
Informal 

 
a) Self Help – in the first instance, and when considered safe to do so, the 

expectation is that the employee communicates directly with the person 
with whom they have a concern.  This can lead to an effective resolution 
as it is likely the individual will modify their behaviour once they are made 
aware of the concern. 

b) Resolution meeting – An employee can meet informally with their line 
manager, to express their feelings and concerns. The manager and 
employee can together identify concerns and agree solutions, which could 
include a number of options, such as instigation of a separate policy (see 
section 7 Additional Guidance or resolution flow chart) 

c) Mediation - employees volunteer to engage in the structured process with 
the assistance of a neutral third party (mediator), to meet with the two 
parties (separately then together), in an attempt to resolve the concerns 
and to build agreement on how interactions will occur into the future. The 
focus is on rebuilding the relationship and not on finding fault of either 
party. 

Formal 

d) Formal Resolution Meeting – If informal resolution has not resolved the 
concern then employees can move forward to the formal procedure, where 
they can expect to receive a formal recommendation for resolution from a 
manager. 

 
3.4 The type of resolution approach will depend upon:- 
 

• The seriousness of the concern(s) being raised 
• The willingness of parties to engage in meeting or mediation 
• Whether there have been previous attempts to resolve the situation 
 

Page 164



1.CM.  Issue 1 Page 12 of 42 
 
 

 

Page 165



1.CM.  Issue 1 Page 13 of 42 
 
 

 

 
SECTION 4 – INFORMAL RESOLUTION PROCEDURE 
 
 
4.1 The person causing the alleged distress may be unaware that their behaviour 

is perceived as such and a simple explanation may be sufficient to resolve the 
matter.   

 
4.2 Employees can seek the advice and support of HR People Services and/or 

their Trade Union at any stage. 
 
 
 
EARLY RESOLUTION – EMPLOYEE LED 
 
4.3 The best approach for an employee with a concern or disagreement in work is 

to face it in a calm and rational way, using a planned approach. 
 
4.4 Incidents of alleged unacceptable behaviour can usually be resolved 

informally and this will be encouraged wherever possible.  If the concern is in 
relation to another employee’s behaviour, employees are encouraged to 
approach the individual causing them concern themselves, and make it clear, 
in a respectful manner, that they find their behaviour distressful.  

 
4.5 Where the concern is not in relation to unacceptable behaviour, but another 

matter, employees are still encouraged to engage in constructive discussions 
and try to resolve the dispute on their own in the first instance.  

 
4.6 Communicating directly to the employee causing concern can also be done 

with the support of a companion or their line manager, as a facilitated 
conversation. Where employees ask a companion to speak to the alleged 
individual on their behalf, this should be carried out in as low key and non-
confrontational manner as possible. 

 
4.7 Alternatively, employees may feel more comfortable writing a letter/ email to 

the person concerned, explaining that the behaviour/concern is causing 
distress. A companion could help the employee write such a letter/ email if 
they wish. 

  
4.8 If the individual causing distress is the employee’s line manager they should 

raise their concern with a member of the next level of management. In all 
cases, the seniority of the investigating manager will be equal to or greater 
than the alleged individual.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 166



1.CM.  Issue 1 Page 14 of 42 
 
 

 

INFORMAL RESOLUTION MEETING  
 
4.9 Mediation may also be considered at this early stage, or at any other 

time in the process, as an alternative to a manager-led resolution. 
 
4.10 If the matter has not been resolved by speaking to the individual, or it was not 

possible to do so, then the employee should raise the matter with their line 
manager, as soon as possible. Employees are encouraged to act promptly 
and try not to wait until the situation is intolerable, in order to protect their 
personal wellbeing.  
 

4.11 The Council expects employees and managers to work together to try and 
resolve concerns informally in the first instance, as this can lead to the matter 
being resolved quickly and with minimum distress to the parties involved.   

 
4.12 The manager should meet with the employee and allow them to explain the 

concern (s) and provide evidence/ information relating to their concerns, and 
discuss the impact these concerns are having on them/ their role. You can be 
accompanied by a companion at this meeting if you wish, but being 
accompanied by a companion does not mean that the formal process has 
been triggered. It is important that the manager agrees the guidelines for the 
meeting which should be based on openness, honesty and mutual respect, 
ensuring confidentiality.  The focus on the meeting is to build on the positives 
rather than focusing just on the negatives, and this can be achieved by de-
personalising the situation where possible.   

 
4.13 During the meeting it will be important to identify any factors that may have 

led to the situation. The employee may state how they would like to see the 
matter resolved. However, the manager and the employee should identify and 
explore potential solutions to the concern(s), taking into consideration all the 
pros and cons for the various options. This approach can be empowering as 
an individual can have a say in the solution. 

 
4.14 The  outcome  being  sought  by  the  employee  will  be  personal  to  them  

and  will be dependant on the nature of the concern(s) raised, but must also 
be reasonable and achievable. The employee/manager may find solutions to 
the concern(s), which are applicable to any party, and may include the 
following (but is not intended to be an exhaustive list):- 

 
• Provide on the job coaching 
• Provide training  / Development 
• Give additional support internal/external 
• Clarify revised working instructions 
• Provide new/additional information 
• Undertake clarification of roles within a team 
• Make adjustment of working arrangements/work environment  
• Undertake modification of behaviours 
• Reconfirm employees responsibilities e.g. Equal Opportunities (refer to 

other policies and the Employee Charter)  

Page 167



1.CM.  Issue 1 Page 15 of 42 
 
 

 

• Referral for mediation  
• Facilitated discussions between employees 

 
 

4.15  If the manager needs to explore the concern(s) further by speaking to other 
employees, gathering more information or seeking advice from HR People 
Services, this should be done within 7 calendar days of the initial meeting. 

 
4.16 The manager should meet with the employee to explain the findings and 

agree the appropriate course of action.  A written note of the agreed actions 
should be recorded in DigiGov and a copy given to the employee.  
 

4.17 Where the employee is dissatisfied with the outcome of the informal stage 
they can initiate the formal process in DigiGov or by completing the Formal 
Resolution Application (RS1) (Appendix 2). 

 

Page 168



1.CM.  Issue 1 Page 16 of 42 
 
 

 

 

 

Page 169



1.CM.  Issue 1 Page 17 of 42 
 
 

 

MEDIATION   
 
THE VALUE OF MEDIATION 
 
4.18 A protocol to help encourage and support Local Authorities in the use of 

mediation has been developed by the HR Directors network and endorsed by 
the WLGA (Welsh Local Government Association) (see section 7). It 
demonstrates the commitment of Local Government in Wales to supporting 
the concept of workplace mediation, and encourages organisations to resolve 
more workplace disputes quickly and effectively without recourse to costly 
formal processes.    

 
4.19 Cardiff Council recognises the value of mediation to resolve workplace 

disagreements. With the assistance of the WLGA, an internal pool of qualified 
and accredited mediators has been developed to ensure a consistent 
approach to the mediation process across the Council.  

 
 
WHAT IS MEDIATION? 
 
4.20 Mediation is a confidential voluntary process that helps two or more 

individuals in a disagreement, attempt to resolve the concern and to reach an 
agreement themselves. They are taken through the ‘mediation’ process by a 
trained mediator who is responsible for the process of seeking to resolve the 
problem, but not for determining the outcome as this is arrived at, agreed 
upon and owned by the individuals involved.   

 
4.21 The mediation process provides an opportunity for the parties to take 

responsibility with discussing situations in a supportive, constructive and 
empathetic forum and agree the way forward in a safe and confidential 
environment away from the usual workplace.   

 
4.22 The focus for mediation is to agree what will happen in the future, rather than 

what has happened in the past.  The emphasis is on making a forward looking 
agreement, outlining mutually acceptable future behaviour between the 
parties.   

 
4.23 Mediation is different because it is about collaborating rather than blaming.  

Any agreement made during mediation comes from those involved and not 
the mediator.  The mediator is not there to judge, to say one person is right 
and the other is wrong, or to tell those involved in mediation what they should 
do.  Mediation is:  
• Less formal  
• Flexible  
• Voluntary  
• Morally binding but normally has no legal status  
• Confidential  
• Unaccompanied  
• Owned by the parties involved.  

Page 170



1.CM.  Issue 1 Page 18 of 42 
 
 

 

4.24 Due to the voluntary and informal nature of mediation there are some limits to 
what can be resolved through mediation. Mediation is most effective if it is 
used early on to enable relationships to be rebuilt. However, mediation may 
be requested or recommended at any stage of this policy.   

 
4.25 Mediation can also be effectively used following the conclusion of a 

disciplinary investigation, where relationships within a team/service have been 
adversely affected. 

 
WHEN IS MEDIATION APPROPRIATE? 
 
4.26 The following is not intended to be an exhaustive list, but to act as a guide for 

employees who wish to refer a case for mediation.  The more of the following 
points that apply, the more likely that mediation is appropriate:- 

 
• The parties both voluntarily want to use mediation to resolve their concern. 
• The parties are committed to maintaining a working relationship. 
• The parties have the willingness to be open, honest and respectful. 
• The parties can not work through their concerns alone. 
• One or both parties wish to avoid formal procedures. 
• The concerns are affecting other employees and/or service delivery. 
 

WHEN IS MEDIATION NOT APPROPRIATE? 
 
4.27 As a guide, mediation is not deemed appropriate where one or both parties 

are not voluntarily committed to resolving their disagreement.  Other areas 
that may deem mediation not an appropriate option are; 
 
• As a first resort to abdicate managerial responsibilities 
• Criminal activity (e.g. serious discriminatory behaviour or physical assault) 
• Domestic abuse ( including emotional/ financial) 
• An alternative to a formal disciplinary process – allegations of gross 

misconduct 
• Formal negotiations concerning employment rights. 
• There is a risk to health and wellbeing 
• Where one party wants an apology rather than agreement  
• Previous attempts at mediation on the same concern has not been 

reached  
 
SUPPORT DURING MEDIATION (Reasonable adjustments) 
 
4.28 Mediation is most successful when no companion is present, as an open and 

frank discussion controlled by the mediator to ensure fairness and appropriate 
behaviour is key. However, the exception to this is where a companion may 
be needed for reasonable adjustments, for example, 
• A hearing impaired employee    
• A non-English speaker, (or a person who does not have sufficient 

command of the language to express their feelings) who may need an 
interpreter. 

Page 171



1.CM.  Issue 1 Page 19 of 42 
 
 

 

 
 
HOW TO MAKE A REFERRAL FOR MEDIATION 
 
4.29 Any employee of the Council can request mediation support personally or on 

behalf of other employees, providing they have discussed the referral with the 
individual(s) involved.   

 
4.30 The referral can be made by sending an email to mediation@cardiff.gov.uk 

or where the individual has no access to a PC by contacting HR People 
Services mediation service, confirming the names and contact details of the 
individuals to be involved in the mediation process. The mediation service will 
assess the suitability of each case for mediation and this may involve a 
discussion with the manager to establish what steps have already been taken 
to address the concern. The assessment will be made within 7 calendar days 
of receiving the initial enquiry.   

 
 
STAGES OF MEDIATION 
 
4.31  If mediation is to proceed, HR People Services will assign an impartial 

qualified mediator to the case.  The stages of mediation are as follows:- 
 
 

Before mediation: 
 
• Individual contact with mediator 

With parties involved to explain the mediation process and role of mediator 
 

• Agreement from both parties to proceed with mediation 
 
 

           During mediation: 
 

• Individual meeting with mediator 
Parties involved explore their individual concerns and set ground rules for 
joint meeting 
 

• Joint meeting with mediator and parties involved 
Each to have uninterrupted time to explain, hear and explore concerns  
 

• Written agreement between the parties  
Parties generating options for resolution 
 

• Closure of mediation 
Parties sustain confidentiality on return to workplace  
 

• Review of written agreement 
Organised by both parties and does not involve the mediator 
 

Page 172

mailto:mediation@cardiff.gov.uk


1.CM.  Issue 1 Page 20 of 42 
 
 

 

4.32 Mediation will generally last for 1 full day. However, in more complex cases or 
cases involving more than 2 parties, it may last for up to 2 or 3 days.  
Managers must release employees during working hours to attend mediation 
on full pay. Special arrangements should be made for shift workers, by 
agreement.  

 
 
4.33 Any party, including the mediator, can end mediation at any time during the 

process if they feel it is appropriate to do so e.g. information may emerge 
which results in the mediator concluding that mediation is no longer a suitable 
option ( see 4.36). 

 
 
 
WHAT HAPPENS AFTER MEDIATION? 
 
4.34 Any notes taken by the mediator will be destroyed once the mediation process 

is complete.  The only documentation to be retained will be the written 
agreement (Appendix 5) if one is reached, and this will be held by the parties 
engaged in the mediation process.  Only with expressed consent of the 
parties may the agreement be shared with the manager.  

 
4.35 Part of the written agreement will involve a review period, agreed and 

organised by both parties.  Generally the mediator does not become involved 
with the review period as the process is owned by the individuals.    

 
4.36 If mediation does not end in agreement, or it has been stopped, then HR 

People Services will provide information to the individuals involved on 
alternative options available which may help settle the concern.   

 
4.37  Agreement to mediation does not prevent the employee from submitting a 

formal grievance subsequently, bearing in mind the responsibility to raise their 
concern within a reasonable amount of time. 

 
 

Page 173



1.CM.  Issue 1 Page 21 of 42 
 
 

 

 
SECTION 5 – FORMAL RESOLUTION PROCEDURE 

 
 

5.1 A requirement of this policy is that there must be evidence that actions have 
been taken to resolve concern(s) informally, before proceeding to any formal 
part of the procedure. 

 
5.2 Where the informal process has failed to resolve the concern, the employee 

can initiate the formal resolution procedure in DigiGov, or fully complete the 
Formal Resolution Application form (RS1), detailing the action they have 
taken to try and resolve the matter.  

 
5.3 On completion, the RS1 should be be forwarded to the next level of 

management (i.e. the level above the manager who sought to resolve the 
matter at the informal stage). 

 
5.4 The nature of the concern should be detailed and reference made to specific 

occurrence(s) with dates if possible. The names of any individuals who are 
willing to act as witnesses should also be included. 

 
 
FORMAL RESOLUTION MEETING  
 
5.5     Management have a responsibility to act promptly, and the person with whom 

the formal resolution application has been lodged must meet with the 
employee as soon as possible but not later than 14 calendar days, after 
receiving the request. Employees can choose to have companions with them 
during formal resolution meetings. 

 
5.6  The manager will make arrangements (e.g.date/venue) to convene  Formal 

Resolution Meetings with both parties individually (see Appendix 4  for 
standard letters). The meetings will also include HR People Services and a 
confidential note taker.   

 
N.B. Managers should also refer to the applicability of other relevant policies   
          

 
FORMAT OF RESOLUTION MEETING 
 
5.7  The manager who has received the RS1 will meet the relevant parties 

separately and produce a brief report.   
 
   
OUTCOME 
 
5.8 The manager, having gathered and considered all information will make a 

determination whether to :- 
 

Page 174



1.CM.  Issue 1 Page 22 of 42 
 
 

 

(a) Take no further action - where the facts suggest the concern raised is 
unsubstantiated, felt to be unjustified or the evidence is inconclusive OR 

 
(b) Resolve the matter by the use of mediation if not previously undertaken 

or where it is considered that a conciliatory meeting between the two 
parties,accompanied by appropriate members of management and 
companions, will be sufficient OR 

 
(c) Arrange counselling or training or any other applicable remedial action 

for the employee against whom the concern raised,  where it is felt to be 
sufficient to correct the behaviour or resolve the situation OR 

 
(d) Instigate disciplinary procedures - where the facts of the case suggest 

that the complaint is substantiated and that disciplinary action may be 
appropriate based on the information shared at the meeting, In this 
circumstance the Manager should proceed under the Disciplinary Policy 
1.CM.035 by undertaking an assessment to consider appropriateness of 
disciplinary action. (Refer to the Disciplinary Procedure: A Manager’s 
Guide).   

 
 

5.9   Failure to take appropriate action could lead to claims of discrimination being 
taken against the Council at an employment tribunal. A decision to uphold the 
complaint and take non -disciplinary action should only be taken in cases of 
unacceptable behaviour where the behaviour complained of is of a very minor 
nature, and was either unintentional or a one-off occurrence. In cases of this 
kind, a judgement should be made as to whether a positive outcome may be 
more speedily effected through counselling the offender. This option should 
not be used to avoid the responsibility to take disciplinary action where 
this is appropriate. However, due regard must be paid to the feelings of the 
complainant who may need support to understand the decision in such cases. 

 
 
5.10 The Manager will communicate their decision, and provide the rationale in 

writing to the employee (and their companion, if applicable) and the employee 
against whom the concern was against, using the outcome template letter 
4.C.455 (Appendix 4).  This should be done  within 14 calendar days of the 
meeting.  The manager should ensure all minutes are uploaded in DigiGov 
and a copy given to the employee. 

 
5.11 Depending on the nature and severity of the complaint, consideration should 

be given to the need to temporarily transfer or suspend the employee who is 
being complained about. Normally this would be in cases where the incident 
has caused an intolerable working situation. 

 
5.12 Where suspension from duty is being considered, managers must undertake 

a preliminary assessment to consider appropriateness of suspension from 
duty (refer to Disciplinary Procedure: A Manager’s Guide). 
 

Page 175



1.CM.  Issue 1 Page 23 of 42 
 
 

 

5.13 The manager’s assessment will be submitted to the Chief Officer/Assistant 
Director/Director for a decision whether to proceed with a Disciplinary 
Investigation. The appointed Investigating Officer will take into account the  
Formal Resolution report. 

 
5.14  It must be clear to all parties however, that disciplinary procedures will only be 

invoked when a management assessment finds this to be the appropriate 
cause of action i.e. disciplinary action is not an automatic outcome of using 
the formal procedure. 
 

5.15 Where the decision is to uphold the concern and instigate disciplinary 
proceedings, the complainant may experience mixed feelings, and it is 
important to be aware of this and to continue to offer counselling and support.  

 
5.16 Where the Council's Disciplinary Procedure is invoked as a result of a concern 

of unacceptable behaviour, the normal channels of appeal will be open to the 
individual subject to any disciplinary sanction in relation to decisions on 
disciplinary penalties and to any sanctions imposed.  

 
 
APPEAL 
 
5.17 If the employee is dissatisfied with the decision communicated to them, they 

have a right of Appeal. Employees with access to DigiGov can lodge an 
appeal using the system.  Employees not on DigiGov will need to complete 
and return the  Resolution Appeal Form (RSA) (Appendix 3) which will be 
included with the decision letter.  This must be initiated within 14 calendar 
days of the decision being communicated.  Employees will need to identify 
the grounds on which they are appealing and provide details to support those 
grounds.  The completed form must justify the grounds for the appeal in that 
there was either :   

 
a) A PROCEDURAL FLAW clearly indicating what the flaw was and how 

the policy was not correctly followed / applied; and/ or 
b) The FINDINGS were inconsistent with the evidence presented, providing 

written reasons for this; and/ or 
c) NEW EVIDENCE has come to light either since, or not considered at the 

formal resolution meeting, providing written reasons how this could have 
a bearing on the case.   

 
5.18 The requirement for indicating the grounds of appeal on the form is to ensure 

that the appeal can focus on the principle concern(s) of concern thus 
speeding up the process for all parties.  Failure to fully complete and return 
this form could result in a delay to the Appeal being heard. 

 
 ( See Disciplinary Policy 1.CM.035) 
 
 
 
 

Page 176



1.CM.  Issue 1 Page 24 of 42 
 
 

 

APPEAL RESOLUTION MEETING 
 
5.19 To allow concerns to be resolved locally, the appeal will involve a more senior 

manager, if necessary from outside the service area.  They will make initial 
contact with the employee (and their companion, if applicable) as soon as is 
possible but not later than 14 calendar days after receiving the request in 
their DigiGov worklist.  Also present at this meeting will be HR People 
Services and a confidential note taker (arranged by the manager). 

 
 
FORMAT OF MEETING 
 
5.20 The purpose of the meeting is to enable the manager to consider the 

employee’s presentation only on the points raised for the appeal, including 
any relevant documentation. Generally the appeal resolution meeting will 
follow the same format as the formal resolution meeting ( paragraph 5.7).   

 
 
COMMUNICATION OF APPEAL DECISION 
 
5.21 The manager, after due consideration of the concern will communicate their 

decision and provide the rationale in writing to the employee (and their 
companion, if applicable) using the appeal outcome template letter 4.C.458 
(Appendix 4).   This should be done within 14 calendar days of the meeting. 
This decision will be final and there are no other appeal rights within the 
Council. 

Page 177



1.CM.  Issue 1 Page 25 of 42 
 
 

 

 
 
SECTION 6  UNACCEPTABLE BEHAVIOUR IN SERVICE DELIVERY BY 
SERVICES USERS/ CONTRACTORS 
 
Where an employee of the Council experiences unacceptable behaviour not by 
another employee of the Council, but by a service user/contractor, refer to the 
following policies:- 
 

• Violence at Work Policy (1.CM.056) 
• Complaints Policy (1CM.047) 
• Redeployment Policy and Procedure (1.CM.207)  

 
  

 
 
 
  
 
 
 

Page 178



1.CM.  Issue 1 Page 26 of 42 
 
 

 

SECTION 7 – ADDITIONAL GUIDANCE 
 
 
 
Related Policies and documents 
 
Document Reference 

 
Attendance & Wellbeing Policy 1.CM.049 
Code of conduct 5.C.014 
Complaints Policy 1.CM. 047 
Disciplinary Policy 1. CM 035 
Domestic Abuse workplace policy  
Employee Charter  
Equal Opportunities Policy 4.HR.152 
Redeployment Policy  1.CM.207 
Regrading Policy 1. CM.240  
Social Media and online user policy   
Stress Management Policy  1.CM.118 
Violence at Work Policy 1.CM.056 
Whistleblowing Policy 1.C.M.015 
 
 
Additional Guidance & Support 
 
Internal 

• Employee Counselling  Service (5.AS.ACM.L.008) 
• Employees Assistance programme 
• Cardiff Council Disciplinary Procedure: A Manager’s Guide 
• LGBT Employees Group (lgbtemployeegroup@cardiff.gov.uk .) 
• Disabled Employees (disability network@cardiff.gov.uk) 
• Black & Minority Ethnic Employees (bmenetwork@cardiff.gov.uk) 
• Women in Cardiff council (womensnetwork@cardiff.gov.uk) 
• Employees who are carers (carersnetwork@cardiff.gov.uk) 
 

External 
• Mediation: A protocol for the use of Internal workplace mediation in Local 

Government in Wales (October 2013) www.wlga.gov.uk 
• Discipline & Grievances at Work: An ACAS guide 
• Managing conflict at Work (ACAS) 
• Mediation: A guide for Trade Union representatives TUC/ACAS 
• Equality and Human Rights Commission ( www.equalityhumanrights.com ) 
• Hate Crime Reporting Service (Safer Wales) www.saferwales.com or 

Tel. Cardiff 2046 1564  
MIND 

• Live Fear Free helpline 0808 8010 800 
• Education Support Partnership www.educationsupportpartnership.org.uk 

  
 

Page 179

http://web1/corpqms/corporate%20general/Policies/1.C.015%20Whistleblowing%20Policy.pdf
mailto:network@cardiff.gov.uk
mailto:bmenetwork@cardiff.gov.uk
mailto:womensnetwork@cardiff.gov.uk
mailto:carersnetwork@cardiff.gov.uk
http://www.wlga.gov.uk/
http://www.educationsupportpartnership.org.uk/


1.CM.  Issue 1 Page 27 of 42 
 
 

 

APPENDIX 1                                   DEFINITIONS 
 
1.0 Unacceptable behaviour can range from violence and bullying to more 

subtle behaviour such as ignoring an individual at work. It can subject an 
individual or a group to unwelcome attention, intimidation, ridicule, offence or 
loss of privacy.  It is unwanted by the recipient and continues after an 
objection is made, although a single incident may be serious enough to 
constitute harassment and justify a concern being raised. There are certain 
forms of unacceptable behaviour, which, in the interest of clarity, are 
explained below:- 

 
 
2.0 Harassment – The Council will regard harassment as being any of the 

following; 
 

• Unwanted conduct, whether verbal or not, which affects the dignity of the 
individual at work; or 

• Any form of verbal or non-verbal conduct which could be regarded as 
bullying or intimidating behaviour.  

• Unwanted conduct or behaviour witnessed by others- the “third party “ 
effect. 

 
Harassment can take many forms and can exist where any of the 
circumstances outlined above apply. It can be visual (including electronic 
transmission), verbal or physical and may be focussed on an individual's sex, 
race, ethnic group, religion, personal beliefs, nationality, sexual exclusion, 
and/or physical contact. 
 
The Equality Act 2010 s26 uses a single definition of harassment to cover the 
relevant protected characteristic as ‘unwanted conduct related to a relevant 
protected characteristic, which has the purpose or effect of violating an 
individual’s dignity or creating and intimidating, hostile, degrading, humiliating 
or offensive environment for that individual’. 
 
The relevant protected characteristics are age, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.   
 
The most commonly experienced forms of harassment are described in the 
following paragraphs:- 
 
 

3.0 Bullying - is a psychological form of persecution, which is present behind all 
forms of harassment and discrimination.  Where it has a focus such as race or 
gender it becomes racial or sexual discrimination or harassment.  Where it 
has no such focus, it is bullying.  It may be characterised as offensive, 
intimidating, malicious or insulting behaviour, an abuse or misuse of power 
through means that undermine, humiliate, denigrate or injure the recipient.   
 
 
 

Page 180



1.CM.  Issue 1 Page 28 of 42 
 
 

 

Examples of bullying / harassing behaviour include: 
• Spreading malicious rumours, or insulting some by word or behaviour  
• Copying memos that are critical about someone to others who do not need 

to know 
• Ridiculing or demeaning someone – picking on them or setting them up to 

fail. 
• Exclusion or victimisation. 
• Unfair treatment. 
• Overbearing supervision or other misuse of power or position. 
• Unwelcome sexual advances – touching, standing too close, and the 

display of offensive materials, asking for sexual favours, making decisions 
on the basis of sexual advances being accepted or rejected.  

• Making threats or comments about job security without foundation. 
• Deliberating undermining a competent worker by overloading and constant 

criticism. 
• Preventing individuals progressing by intentionally blocking promotion or 

training opportunities.   
 
Bullying and harassment are not necessarily face to face.  They may also 
occur in written communications, email, phone and automatic supervision 
methods such as computer recording of downtime from work or the number of 
calls handled if these are not applied to all workers.  (see Social Media policy) 
 
Bullying and harassment can make someone feel anxious and humiliated.  
Feelings of anger and frustration at being unable to cope may be triggered.  
Some people may try to retaliate in some way.  Others may become 
frightened and de-motivated.  Stress, loss of self-confidence and self-esteem 
caused by harassment or bullying can lead to job insecurity, illness, absence 
from work, and even resignation.  Almost always job performance is affected 
and relations in the workplace suffer.   
 

 
4.0 Other forms of unacceptable behaviour - the following are further examples 

of specific types of harassment or bullying: 
 

• Any derogatory or offensive behaviour or language which relates directly 
to political beliefs or membership of a trade union, and real or suspected 
infection with HIV. 
 

• Any derogatory or offensive behaviour or language which relates directly 
to any medical condition e.g.real or suspected infection with HIV. 

 
• Inappropriate reference to a person's appearance or character traits, 

invasion of privacy or practical jokes which cause physical or 
psychological distress. 

 
• Conduct that is derogatory, patronising, belittling or humiliating to others 

and is therefore, inappropriate in an environment which is committed to 
encouraging opportunity for personal and intellectual development. 

Page 181



1.CM.  Issue 1 Page 29 of 42 
 
 

 

 
• Any pattern of behaviour or verbal and non verbal communication that 

unjustifiably causes distress, patronises, offends, unfairly excludes or 
insults an individual, directly or indirectly. 

 
 
5.0 Victimisation 
 

The Council undertakes to support and protect anyone seeking advice, 
making a concern of unacceptable behaviour, or assisting in an investigation, 
from the threat of victimisation.  Retaliation against an individual involved in 
such proceedings is a disciplinary offence and will not be tolerated.  Where 
appropriate either this policy or the Council’s Whistleblowing Policy 1.C.015 
will operate. 

Page 182

http://web1/corpqms/corporate%20general/Policies/1.C.015%20Whistleblowing%20Policy.pdf


1.CM.  Issue 1 Page 30 of 42 
 
 

 

  
 
 
EMPLOYEE INFORMATION:  
 
 
Full Name: 
 

 
Employee No.: 

 
Job Title: 
 
 
Directorate/School:  
 
 
Line Manager: 
 

 
Line Manager’s Manager: 
 
 

 
WHAT STEPS HAVE YOU TAKEN TO RESOLVE THE MATTER INFORMALLY ? 
(include dates of meeting with manager and/ or other relevant persons) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
HAVE YOU TRIED MEDIATION? Yes       No    If No, why? 
 
 
 
 
LINK TO OTHER PROCESSES: 
 
 
Is this concern related to any other process? 
 

 
         Yes       No    If Yes, which process 

Please provide details: 
 
 
 
 
 

THE CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL 
FORMAL RESOLUTION APPLICATION (RS1) 

APPENDIX 2 

Page 183



1.CM.  Issue 1 Page 31 of 42 
 
 

 

TYPE OF CONCERN: 
 
Individual concern: 
 
         Yes       No   
 

Collective concern: 
 
         Yes       No   
 
Please attach a page listing all the names, 
employee number and job titles of the other 
people who are party to this application. 

 
CONCERN AGAINST: 
 
An employee(s):   Yes       No   
(please provide names and job 
titles) 

 
 

 
NATURE OF PERCEIVED CONCERN: 

• Please list using bullet points: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Please supply full details of your concern on a separate sheet and attach it to this form.  
Copies of any relevant documents that relate to this concern should also be attached to the 
form.  
 
PLEASE NOTE:  
 
(1) The Resolution Meeting will only relate to concerns raised on the RS1 form.  
(2) Where your concern is against another individual or individual(s) then they will be 
provided with a copy of this form to enable them to respond to the allegations. 
 
WITNESSES  
 
Can you supply the names of any individuals who are willing to act as witnesses? 
 

• Please list using bullet points: 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Page 184



1.CM.  Issue 1 Page 32 of 42 
 
 

 

WHAT OUTCOME ARE YOU SEEKING IN RELATION TO EACH SPECIFIC 
CONCERN AS OUTLINED ABOVE? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Please note that an outcome of disciplinary action may not be necessary or 
appropriate. 
 
 
IS IT YOUR INTENTION TO BE ACCOMPANIED?:                  YES     NO   

(If "Yes", please supply below the name, address and status of your Companion (an 
employee of the Council, a trade union representative or an official employed by a trade 
union. Please provide their address below.) 
 
 
*Companion’s name and status: 
 
__________________________________ 
 
__________________________________ 
 

Contact Details: 
 
Telephone No: _______________________ 
Work Location: _______________________ 
 

 
 
 
Signed: ___________________________________Date: ___________________ 

Page 185



1.CM.  Issue 1 Page 33 of 42 
 
 

 

APPENDIX 3  
CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL 

FORMAL RESOLUTION APPEAL (RSA) 
 

 
Employee’s Name 
 

 Employee  
Number 

 

Job Title 
 

 

Service Area 
 

 

Location 
 

 

Date of Formal 
Resolution meeting  
 

 

Manager of 
Resolution Meeting  

 

 
Do you wish to have representation at the 
appeal? 
If yes, please state who will be representing 
you. 
 
Name: 
 

 
Yes   

 
No   

  

I wish to lodge an appeal against  the outcome of the Formal Resolution Meeting 
held under the Council’s Resolution Policy and Procedure.  The details of my appeal 
are shown below. 
 

The reason(s) for my appeal is  (please tick those which apply)  

   Procedural Flaw 
   Findings inconsistent with evidence   

   New Evidence that has come to light/not previously considered  

Please provide information and detailed reasons as to why you are not satisfied with 
the original decision.   
 
 
 
 

Please continue on a separate sheet, if required 
 
Signature: 
 

  
Date: 

 

 

Page 186



1.CM.  Issue 1 Page 34 of 42 
 
 

 

PLEASE FORWARD THE COMPLETED FORM TO PERSON NAMED IN THE 
DECISION LETTER.  
 
 
FOR SERVICE AREA USE ONLY 
 

 

Date received  
 

 

HR People Services Representative 
Allocated To Advise at Appeal: 
 

 

Manager Allocated to Hear the 
Appeal: 
 

 

Appeal Meeting Date: 
 

 

Outcome of Appeal: 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

Page 187



1.CM.  Issue 1 Page 35 of 42 
 
 

 

APPENDIX 4                   STANDARD LETTERS 
 

My Ref: 4.C.452/1   INVITE TO EMPLOYEE RAISING  CONCERN 
  
Date:   
 
PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL  
Name  
Address 
 
 
Dear  
 
RESOLUTION MEETING 
 
In response to your Formal Resolution Application form (RS1) submitted (date), I am 
writing to inform you that I would like to meet with you to discuss your concern.  Also 
in attendance will be (Name) from HR People Services and (Name) to take the 
minutes.  
 
I will meet with you separately from the employee against you have a concern.  
 
The details of the meeting are as follows: 
 
Date:    
Time:    
Location:   
 
Your concern is being considered in accordance with the formal procedure of the 
Resolution Policy, a copy of which is enclosed for your attention.  
 
You have the right to be accompanied by a companion (an employee of the Council, 
a trade union representative or an official employed by a trade union).  Please note 
that if you are being accompanied by an employee of the Council they will need to 
obtain permission from their line manager for time off to attend. 
 
Could you please confirm that you will be able to attend the meeting and do not 
hesitate to contact me if you require any further information.  
 
Yours sincerely  
 
 
 
Manager  

Page 188



1.CM.  Issue 1 Page 36 of 42 
 
 

 

My Ref: 4.C.453  INVITE TO EMPLOYEE CONCERN  RAISED AGAINST  
 
 
Date:   
 
PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL  
Name  
Address 
 
 
Dear  
 
RESOLUTION MEETING  
 
A concern has been submitted against you by (name).  A copy of the RS1 form is 
enclosed. I am writing to inform you that I would like to meet with you to discuss the 
concerns raised.  Also in attendance will be (Name) from HR People Services and 
(Name) to take the minutes.  
 
I will meet with you separately from the employee who has raised the concern 
against you. 
  
The details of the meeting are as follows: 
 
Date:    
Time:    
Location:   
 
The concern is being considered in accordance with the formal procedure of the 
Resolution Policy, a copy of which is enclosed for your attention.  
 
You have the right to be accompanied by a companion (an employee of the Council, 
a trade union representative or an official employed by a trade union).  Please note 
that if you are being accompanied by an employee of the Council they will need to 
obtain permission from their line manager for time off to attend. 
 
Could you please confirm that you will be able to attend the meeting and do not 
hesitate to contact me if you require any further information.  
 
Yours sincerely  
 
 
 
 
Manager 

Page 189



1.CM.  Issue 1 Page 37 of 42 
 
 

 

My Ref: 4.C.454      INVITE TO WITNESS 
 
 
 
Date:   
 
PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL  
Name  
Address 
 
 
Dear  
 
RESOLUTION – REQUEST TO PROVIDE WITNESS STATEMENT 
 
A concern has been raised by (name).  Within their submission you have been 
identified as a relevant witness. I am writing to inform you that I would like to meet 
with you to gather a witness statement.  Also in attendance will be (Name) from HR 
People Services and (Name) to take the minutes.  
 
I will arrange to meet with you separate from other parties.  
 
The details of the meeting are as follows: 
 
Date:    
Time:    
Location:   
 
The concern is being considered in accordance with the Resolution Policy and 
Procedure, a copy of which is enclosed for your attention.  
 
You have the right to be accompanied by a companion (an employee of the Council, 
a trade union representative or an official employed by a trade union).  Please note 
that if you are being accompanied by an employee of the Council they will need to 
obtain permission from their line manager for time off to attend. 
 
Could you please confirm that you will be able to attend the meeting and do not 
hesitate to contact me if you require any further information?  
 
 
Yours sincerely  
 
 
 
Manager 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 190



1.CM.  Issue 1 Page 38 of 42 
 
 

 

My Ref: 4.C.455/1  OUTCOME OF FORMAL RESOLUTION MEETING 
  
 
 
Date:   
 
PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL  
Name  
Address  
 
 
Dear  
 
OUTCOME OF RESOLUTION MEETING  
 
I refer to the resolution meeting that you attended on (date) at which you were 
accompanied by (name).  Also present at the meeting was (Name) of HR People 
Services and (Name) to take minutes.  
 
I have considered all of the written documentation that has been presented along 
with your presentation of the concerns at the meeting. It was also necessary for me 
to gather information from relevant people/witnesses who were able to provide 
information regarding your concern. The people/witnesses whom I have gathered 
information from are (list). 
 
After careful consideration of all of the evidence, documentation and your verbal 
presentation to me, I have to advise you that I uphold/ cannot uphold the concern(s) 
that you have raised. 
 
The rationale for my decision is as follows.  I have addressed the concerns as you 
raised them in your RS1 form which was received by the Council on the (date). 
 
List each concern individually and give conclusions reached for each with the full 
rationale for the decision and for any recommendations made. 
 

Should you be dissatisfied with this outcome, the Council’s Resolution Policy and 
Procedure (a copy of which you will have previously received) allows an appeal. 
Please find enclosed an appeal form (RSA).  You must fully complete this form (in 
DigiGov if you have access) including the grounds for your appeal.  You have 14 
days calendar from the decision being communicated to you to lodge an appeal. 

  

Yours sincerely 

 

Manager 
 

Page 191



1.CM.  Issue 1 Page 39 of 42 
 
 

 

 
My Ref: 4.C.456/1 INVITE TO EMPLOYEE SUBMITTING RESOLUTION APPEAL  
 
Date:   
 
PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL  
Name  
Address 
 
 
Dear  
 
RESOLUTION APPEAL MEETING 
 
In response to your Formal Resolution Appeal form (RSA) dated (date), I am writing 
to inform you that I would like to meet with you to discuss your appeal against the 
formal resolution outcome of your concern(s).  Also in attendance will be (Name) 
from HR People Services and (Name) to take the minutes.  
 
 will meet with yourself and the employee whom you have a concern against 
separately  
 
The details of the meeting are as follows: 
 
Date:    
Time:    
Location:   
 
Your concern is being considered in accordance with Appeal procedure of the 
Resolution Policy, a copy of which you will have been provided with previously.  
 
You have the right to be accompanied by a companion ( an employee of the Council, 
a trade union representative or an official employed by a trade union).  Please note 
that if you are being accompanied by an employee of the Council they will need to 
obtain permission from their line manager for time off to attend. 
 
Could you please confirm that you will be able to attend the meeting and do not 
hesitate to contact me if you require any further information.  
 
 
Yours sincerely  
 
 
Manager 

Page 192



1.CM.  Issue 1 Page 40 of 42 
 
 

 

 
My Ref: 4.C.458/1    OUTCOME OF RESOLUTION APPEAL 
  
Date:   
 
PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL  
Name  
Address  
 
 
Dear  
 
OUTCOME OF RESOLUTION APPEAL 
 
I refer to the appeal meeting that you attended on (date) at which you were 
accompanied by (name).  Also present at the meeting was (Name) of HR People 
Services and (Name) to take minutes.  
 
I have considered all of the written documentation that has been presented along 
with your presentation of the concerns at the meeting. It was also necessary for me 
to gather information from relevant people who were able to provide information 
regarding your concern. The people who I have gathered information from are (list). 
 
After careful consideration of all of the evidence, documentation and your verbal 
presentation to me, I have to advise you that I uphold/ cannot uphold your appeal. 
 
The rationale for my decision is as follows.  I have addressed the concerns as you 
raised them in your RSA form which was received by the Council on the (date). 
 
List each concern individually and give conclusions reached for each with the full 
rationale for the decision and for any recommendations made. 
 
 
 
 

I wish to advise you that this decision is final under the Council’s Resolution Policy 
and there is no further right of appeal.   

 

Yours sincerely 

 

Manager 
 

 
 
 

Page 193



1.CM.  Issue 1 Page 41 of 42 
 
 

 

 
APPENDIX 5 

MEDIATION AGREEMENT 
 

CONFIDENTIAL 
 
 

This is a summary of the agreement that has been made between (name) and 
(name) on (date). 

 
(Name) and (name) have agreed the following action points; 
 

•   
 

•   
 

•   
 

•   
 

•   
 

•   
 

•   
 

 
 
If either of the parties cannot undertake for whatever reason, the above action 
points, they will make alternative arrangements by mutual agreement.   
 
The actions in this agreement will be reviewed on (date / how regular) and may be 
revised if both parties agree. 
 
The contents of this agreement will remain confidential between the parties. 
 
SIGNED:  

 
 SIGNED:  

DATE:  DATE:  
 

 
 
SIGNED:  

 
Mediator 

DATE:  
 

 
  

Page 194



1.CM.  Issue 1 Page 42 of 42 
 
 

 

 

Page 195



City of Cardiff Council, Atlantic Wharf, Cardiff Bay, CF10 4UW  E-mail: nhowells@cardiff.gov.uk 

My Ref: T: Scrutiny/PRAP/Comm Papers/Correspondence 

Date:  13 November 2015

Councillor Graham Hinchey,  
Cabinet Member, Corporate Service & Performance, 
Cardiff Council,  
County Hall 
Cardiff 
CF10 4UW 

Dear Councillor Hinchey, 

Policy Review & Performance Scrutiny Committee:  3 November 2015 
Review of Disciplinary Policy 

Following your  attendance at the Policy Review and Performance Scrutiny 

Committee on 3 November 2015 to present the Council’s policy development work  

on Disciplinary Policy, Members wish to thank you for your time in facilitating the 

scrutiny. They found the presentation from Lynne David and Cath Synan most 

interesting and have asked that, as Chair of the Committee, I relay how pleased they 

are to be a planned part of the consultation. 

The Committee recognises the Council’s work over a number of years toward 

simplification of its policies for the management of staff. In line with this ethos they 

welcome the reduction in the Disciplinary Policy from 72 to 32 pages, supplemented 

by five more informal branded guidance booklets as a positive change in supporting 

senior managers to discipline staff. They are pleased  that following an 18 month 

review, having consulted all Welsh Authorities and 8 large English cities, you are 

proposing improved management information reporting, and the creation of a 

bespoke Investigations Team to undertake complex investigations. Particularly 

pleasing is that Cardiff are considered to be blazing a trail with this revised approach 

to disciplinary policy. 

Members are pleased to hear the Employee Assistance Programme offering staff a 

twenty four hour, seven day a week, counselling support service will be launched 

before Christmas; and that the new Resolution Policy recommends a  ‘preliminary 

assessment’ to determine  ‘major’ and ‘minor’ disciplinary incidents so that minor 

incidents can be assigned to the new Fast Track Disciplinary procedure.  

Appendix C

Page 196



City of Cardiff Council, Atlantic Wharf, Cardiff Bay, CF10 4UW  E-mail: nhowells@cardiff.gov.uk 

 

 

Members are united in their view that the number of suspensions reported over the 

18 month period covered by the Disciplinary Review is surprisingly high. They note 

with some concern the finding that a high proportion of disciplinary to grievance 

cases indicates a heavy reliance on the implementation of formal proceedings to 

resolve matters.  As such they wish to endorse your view that Operational Managers 

need instruction to address the figures, and may require compulsory training in the 

new policy. 

 

The Committee feels that the new policy’s downward shift in permission to suspend, 

to Operational Manager level is appropriate, given that investigations are mostly 

undertaken within Directorates by managers with an understanding of the issues. 

They consider this shift has the added benefit of retaining an appeal mechanism to 

Director/Chief Officer level. 

 

Members feel the new proposals are certainly a step in the right direction; however 

feel there is an opportunity to set clear targets to be reported upon in quarterly 

performance monitoring reports, in the same manner as sickness absence targets. 

Such performance indicators should be developed for: the number of grievances 

logged; the number of actual suspensions as an outcome of disciplinary action; and 

the length of time taken to resolve disciplinary cases. Members aspire to reduce 

resolution time to 4 weeks. 

 

The Committee accepts your suggestion that it monitors how implementation of the 

new policy is impacting on levels of disciplinary cases. They will factor this into future 

work programming, and wish to monitor the change in management culture through a 

disciplinary indicator as a part of quarterly Council performance reports.  

 

For future reference, the Committee notes that certain Directorates have high levels 

of disciplinary cases relative to headcount, which is largely due to the immediate 

escalation to formal proceedings, and will monitor to establish that the new Fast 

Track approach is assisting in reducing the number of formal cases. 

 

Page 197



City of Cardiff Council, Atlantic Wharf, Cardiff Bay, CF10 4UW  E-mail: nhowells@cardiff.gov.uk 

Finally, the Committee feels very strongly indeed that, where schools personnel are 

under disciplinary investigation, governing bodies require more solid advice in 

undertaking Disciplinary action. 

   

To re-cap, the Committee wishes to monitor: 

 

A disciplinary performance indicator developed with clear target, and progress 

reported as a part of quarterly Council performance reports for: 

 the number of grievances logged;  

 the number of actual suspensions as an outcome of disciplinary action; and  

 the length of time taken to resolve disciplinary cases. 

 

Finally, on behalf of the Committee, I wish to thank you and the officers for your 

continued support for the internal challenge of important issues that can improve the 

quality of services the Council is delivering to its customers.  

 

 

Yours sincerely, 
 

 
COUNCILLOR NIGEL HOWELLS 
CHAIR, POLICY REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
 

cc        
 
Members of the Policy Review & Performance Scrutiny Committee; 
Lynne David, Operational Manager, Centre of Expertise; 
Chris Synan, Operational Manager. 
Joanne Watkins, Cabinet Business Manager; 
Gareth Newell, Head of the Cabinet Office; 
Matt Swindell, Principal Administrative Officer 

Page 198



    
 

ATEBWCH I / PLEASE REPLY TO:   Swyddfa Cymorth Y Cabinet / Cabinet Support Office,    
Ystafell / Room 514, Neuadd y Sir / County Hall, 
Glanfa’ r Iwerydd / Atlantic Wharf, Caerdydd / Cardiff, 
CF10 4UW      Ffon / Tel (029) 2087 2479 

 

SWYDDFA CYMORTH Y CABINET 
CABINET SUPPORT OFFICE  
 
Fy Nghyf / My Ref:  CM32751 
  
Eich Cyf / Your Ref:  T: Scrutiny/PRAP/Comm 
      Papers/Correspondence  
 
Dyddiad / Date:  08 December 2015 
 
 
Councillor Nigel Howells  
Chair, Policy Review & Performance Scrutiny Committee 
Scrutiny Services 
Room 263 
County Hall 
Cardiff  
CF10 4UW 
 
 
Annwyl / Dear Councillor Howells 
 
Policy Review & Performance Scrutiny Committee: 03 November 2015 
Review of Disciplinary Policy 
 
Thank you for providing the opportunity to seek the views of the Policy Review 
and Performance Scrutiny Committee on 03 November 2015 in relation to the 
review of the Council’s Disciplinary Policy and associated procedures. As a key 
stakeholder group, I felt it was important that you had the opportunity to 
contribute to this review and gain your views on the changes being proposed. As 
consultation with Directorates, Trade Unions and the Equality Networks is 
continuing, we will ensure that your views are considered.  
 
I am pleased that you support the principle  of simplifying policies for the 
management of staff. I would hope that the revisions finally agreed to the 
Disciplinary policy, the new Resolution policy and the 5 new comprehensive 
guide notes will assist to streamline this process considerably.  
 
I too am concerned by the number and length of some of the suspensions and 
the time being taken to conclude disciplinary and grievance issues currently. I 
firmly believe that the streamlined approach and additional guidance to support 
the process will help to address this. As referred to at the meeting, the need for 
transparency and  compliance with these processes will be key. Consequently 
the provision of timely management information will be important for 
consideration at both Directorate and Senior Management Team meetings.  
   
The new Fast Track process will ensure that there is a speedier avenue to 
modify behaviour around misconduct issues and this will be a key piece of data 
to monitor. 
 
Thank you for your suggestions regarding a disciplinary indicator as part of the 
Quarterly Council Performance reports and this will be explored.  

 

Page 199



  

  

I acknowledge the comments you have made regarding HR support for schools 
cases and I have asked Officers to review how  best  to realign resources in 
order to support a key customer. 
 
Yn gwyir, 
Yours sincerely, 
 

 
 
Councillor / Y Cynghorydd Graham Hinchey 
Cabinet Member for Corporate Services & Performance 
Aelod Cabinet dros Wasanaethau Corfforaethol a Perfformiad 
 
cc Members of the Policy Review & Performance Scrutiny Committee;  
 Lynne David, Operational Manager, Centre of Expertise;  
 Chris Synan, Operational Manager.  
 Joanne Watkins, Cabinet Business Manager;  
 Gareth Newell, Head of the Cabinet Office;  
 
 

Page 200



Page 1 of 4 

CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL  
CYNGOR DINAS CAERDYDD 
 
CABINET MEETING: 21 JANUARY 2016 

 
 
INDEPENDENT COMMISSION ON LOCAL GOVERNMENT 
FINANCE WALES: CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL RESPONSE 
 
REPORT OF CORPORATE DIRECTOR RESOURCES 

 
AGENDA ITEM:5   

 
 
PORTFOLIO: CORPORATE SERVICES AND PERFORMANCE 
(COUNCILLOR GRAHAM HINCHEY) 
 
Reason for this Report 
 
1. To enable the Cabinet to consider and approve the Council’s response to 

the Independent Commission on Local Government Finance Wales. 
 
Background 
 
2. An Independent Commission on Local Government Finance Wales has 

been established by the Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA) 
and the Chartered Institute for Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA), 
the professional body for public finance professionals. The Commission 
is seeking evidence on how an improved local government finance 
system could help to address the key economic and social challenges 
facing the country, at a time when the funding available for local public 
services is being significantly reduced (see Appendix 1). 

 
3. It is tasked with making recommendations for the reform of local 

government finance, and with finding better ways of funding local 
services and promoting economic growth. The Commission’s final 
recommendations will be presented to all of Wales’ political parties in 
order to inform the next Welsh Government, and will help shape the 
debate on the future of local government in Wales. 

 
Issues 
 
4. In responding to the Commission, it is necessary first to understand the 

pressures facing public services in Cardiff and consider the emerging 
models for delivering economic growth and public service reform, and 
reforms to local government finance which could support these emerging 
approaches. 

 

 

Page 201

Agenda Item 5



Page 2 of 4 

5. For Cardiff, there are clear issues associated with rapid population 
growth and an increase in demand for services at a time of public sector 
austerity.  

 
6. Between 2002 and 2013, Cardiff’s population grew by 13%. This is a 

bigger percentage increase in population than experienced by any of the 
English core cities. This growth trend is set to continue with a projected 
growth of 26% between 2013 and 2034 – an additional 91,500 people – 
making Cardiff the fastest growing UK City in percentage terms. Cardiff is 
not only the largest local authority in Wales; it has also experienced the 
largest population growth in Wales over the last 10 years and is projected 
to grow far faster than any other Welsh area over the next 10 years.  This 
growth will put significant pressure on the city’s physical and social 
infrastructure, and on its public services.   

 
7. The City of Cardiff Council is facing a budget shortfall of over £115m over 

the next three years. This follows on from a budget reduction of 
approximately £103m over the last 5 years. Other public services such as 
the Cardiff & Vale University Health Board, South Wales Police and the 
third sector are also facing similar financial pressures. 

 
8. The City of Cardiff Council’s response to the Commission (Appendix 2) 

argues that Welsh Government, local government and public sector 
partners need to work together to develop responses which are sensitive 
to the complexities of place. 

 
9. For supporting economic growth, this will mean pursuing a city-regional 

approach, aligning strategic planning and investments across the 
functional economic area. This approach is currently being developed as 
part of the City Deal process. The response proposes a series of fiscal 
and financial reforms which could, if implemented alongside this new 
model, support economic growth, including: 
 

• Greater local control over business rates. 
• The introduction of a portfolio of Tax Increment Finance (TIF) 

initiatives in the Cardiff Capital Region  
• Powers for local government to levy a Supplementary Business 

Rate to invest in major strategic infrastructure. 
• The introduction of new, small taxes controlled by local 

government. 
 
10. The reform of local public services in the face of increasing demand 

and funding reductions will require public sector partners to consider how 
the totality of public resources can be deployed to best effect in a city or 
a neighbourhood, aligning local budgets and services over several years.  
This will require budgets that are pooled across local delivery partners, 
free of national ring-fence constraints and conflicting outcome measures.  
The Council’s response proposes a series of potential fiscal and financial 
reforms including: 
 

• The transfer of all specific grants into the Revenue Support Grant 
(RSG) by Welsh Government to enable greater flexibility to 

Page 202



Page 3 of 4 

respond to reducing budgets, and support greater integration 
locally. 

• Multi-year financial settlements to give greater stability in terms of 
resource planning, and support a move toward preventative 
services. 

• All new burdens that arise as a result of changes in Welsh 
Government or UK Government policy to be fully funded. 

• Reform to enable join up of funding and services locally to deliver 
better outcomes. 

• Devolution of budget and greater local control of national funding 
programme – for example, the Communities First and Families 
First outcomes framework. 

• Decisions on capital spend to be devolved to local partners, to 
enable a joined-up local asset management plan for public 
services to be developed and delivered. 

 
11. Welsh Government set out in the ‘Power to Local People’ White Paper 

their aspiration to renew local democracy. The Council argues in its 
response to this White Paper that the best way to achieve this would be 
through devolving responsibilities and resources down to local authorities 
and communities, putting decision making in local hands and giving 
people a major say in how their taxes are spent on the issues that affect 
them. The Council’s response to the Commission proposes a series of 
reforms which could support a vibrant local democracy including: 
 

• The principles of local democracy to be respected in the setting of 
local taxation. 

• Responsibility for Council Tax exemptions to be devolved to local 
authorities. 

• Local Government to be able to set fees and charges for all 
discretionary services. 

• The protection of Local Authorities’ ability to undertake prudential 
borrowing.  

 
12. The Council’s Economy and Culture Scrutiny Committee is also currently 

undertaking a Task & Finish Inquiry to examine specifically the issue of 
Cardiff’s National Non Domestic Rates (NNDR) allocation. The 
Committee is considering the current arrangements for business rate 
collection and redistribution in Wales and whether it is benefiting or 
impeding economic growth and the development of the city’s economy. 
The recommendations arising from the Committee’s work will be 
considered by the Cabinet in due course and, any further points in 
addition to the Council’s response, as set out in Appendix 2, will be 
communicated to the Welsh Local Government Association, which 
provides the secretariat function to the Independent Commission on 
Local Government Finance Wales. 

 
Reason for Recommendations 
 
13. To enable Cabinet to consider and agree the Council’s response to the 

Independent Commission on Local Government Finance Wales. 
 

Page 203



Page 4 of 4 

Financial Implications 
 
14. The report sets out the background to the financial challenge facing the 

Council and other Local Authorities across Wales. Whilst there are no 
direct financial implications arising from this report and its associated 
appendices, Appendix 2 outlines a strategic financial direction for the 
medium and longer term. 

 
Legal Implications 
 
15. The Cabinet has authority to agree responses to consultation papers 

from the Welsh Government and all other bodies in respect of strategic 
policy matters, and accordingly has power to agree the Council’s 
response to the Independent Commission on Local Government Finance.  

 
16. There are no direct legal implications arising from the recommendations 

of this report. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
The Cabinet is recommended to: 
 
1. note the ongoing Economy and Culture Scrutiny Committee Task & 

Finish Inquiry into the issue of Cardiff’s National Non Domestic Rates 
(NNDR) allocation; and 

 
2. agree the Council’s response to the Independent Commission on Local 

Government Finance Wales. 
 
 
CHRISTINE SALTER 
Corporate Director  
15 January 2016 
 
The following appendices are attached:  
 
Appendix 1: Background Paper on the Independent Commission on Local 

Government Finance Wales 
Appendix 2: Draft Council Response to the Independent Commission on Local 

Government Finance Wales 
 
 

Page 204



1 
 

APPENDIX 1 
 
Independent Commission on Local Government Finance Wales – Background Paper 
 
About the Commission 
 
The Independent Commission on Local Government Finance Wales is tasked with 
making recommendations for the reform of local government finance, and with 
finding better ways of funding local services and promoting economic growth. 
 
The Commission’s final recommendations will be presented to all of Wales’ political 
parties in order to inform the next Welsh Government, and will help shape the 
debate on the future of local government in Wales. 
 
The Independent Commission was established by the Welsh Local Government 
Association (WLGA), the national voice of local government in Wales, and the 
Chartered Institute for Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA), the professional 
body for public finance professionals. 
 
The Commission will explore how an improved local government finance system 
could help to address the key economic and social challenges facing the country, at a 
time when the funding available for local public services is being significantly 
reduced. 
 
Membership of the Commission 
 

• Professor Tony Travers – Chair 
• Chris Hurst 
• Professor George Boyne 
• Gill Lewis 
• Harry Thomas 
• Lynn Pamment 
• Simon Parker 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 205



2 
 

Questions 
 

1. What are the strengths and weaknesses of the existing system of local government finance 
in Wales? 
 

2. Are the objectives of central funding to local government clear and consistent?   Is the grant 
system in need of reform? 
 

3. Is council tax fit for purpose?  What reforms might be made, if any? 
 

4. Is the non-domestic rate working well? What reforms might be made, if any? 
 

5. How do reductions in council expenditure affect the sustainability and quality of services?  
Might different financing arrangements (not just additional resources) improve the outlook? 
 

6. Are grant distribution mechanisms fit for purpose and what changes would be desirable? 
 

7. Will the potential structural reorganisation affect the operation of the system?  Would it 
provide an opportunity for a parallel financial reform? 
 

8. Would you favour local government in Wales taking control of additional taxes? If so, which 
ones? 
 

9. Should incentives for growth play a greater role in the funding system? 
 

10. Are any reforms required to the system of capital expenditure determination and funding? 
 

11. Are there issues relating to the finance of housing which adversely affect local government?  
If so, do you have suggestions for change? 
 

12. Could fees and charges be used to a greater extent than at present? 
 

13. Can the quality of management and accountability be strengthened by improved financing 
arrangements?   
 
 

Page 206



1 

APPENDIX 2 
 
Independent Commission on Local Government Finance Wales: 
The City of Cardiff Council Response 
 
1. Introduction 
 
In responding to the questions asked by the Independent Commission on Local Government 
Finance in Wales, this paper first considers the pressures facing public services in Wales and the 
emerging models for delivering economic growth and public service reform, before considering 
the reforms to local government finance which could support these approaches.   
 
Reforming public services and securing economic growth in the face of cuts, and catalysing local 
democratic renewal, will require responses which are sensitive to the complexities of place.   
 
For supporting economic growth, this will mean pursuing a city-regional approach, aligning 
strategic planning and investments across the functional economic area.   
 
For public service reform this will mean a fundamental rethink about how public money is spent 
in a more effective way, asking how the totality of public resources can be deployed to best effect 
in a city or a neighbourhood, aligning local budgets and services over several years.    This will 
require budgets that are multi-year and increasingly pooled across local delivery partners, free of 
national ring-fence constraints and conflicting outcome measures.      
 
The City of Cardiff Council supports the further devolution of powers to the Welsh Government.  
But it’s vital that the benefits of new powers do not just recreate a local version of an 
unresponsive centralised state.  The Council believes that the Welsh Government needs to 
inventively use the powers they currently have, working with local partners to develop policies 
which meet the distinct needs of each part of Wales, whilst also recognising the capital city’s role 
in powering the Welsh economy.    Cardiff, Cardigan and Caernarfon are very different places and 
therefore need to be given the freedom to develop different responses, within an outcomes and 
funding framework set by the Welsh Government. 
 
Developing these responses should not be dominated by a sterile debate about structures.  Local 
government reorganisation can only ever be part of the solution.  What is more, the challenges 
facing local services are immediate.  Change to services is happening on the ground now.   There 
are pressing demand and financial challenges facing all public services, and these cannot wait for 
– and in any case will not be solved by – Local Government Reorganisation. 
 
The City of Cardiff Council recognises that local government cannot simply defend the 
institutional status quo at a local level while arguing for wholesale devolution and the 
transformation of powers from the centre.  If local government is arguing for change, it too must 
be open to change and to creating the structures and institutions necessary to deliver.  With the 
emerging city-regional approach to economic growth, and the integrated city-level governance 
and neighbourhood partnerships arrangements for reforming public services, strong foundations 
are already in place. 
 
 
  

Page 207



2 

2. Delivering Economic Growth 
 
2.1 Cities as drivers of growth 
 
‘Cities are the economic motors of the country. In the UK, they cover just 9 per cent of its landmass 
but contain 54 per cent of the population and generate 60 per cent of its GVA with 53 per cent of 
all businesses and 72 per cent of all highly skilled workers. Sustaining cities requires a combination 
of investments to meet their social needs, help grow their economies and make them better places 
to live and work. We consider that civic leaders, working with local stakeholders, are much better 
positioned to get this right than Whitehall officials and ministers working in a number of separate 
and insufficiently coordinated departments. Better governance would be possible through deciding 
locally about priorities and helping to integrate investments. In the UK, cities need greater 
freedoms and tools to do this work; we consider these prerequisites for stronger economic 
growth.’1  
 
Report after report has demonstrated that cities drive economic growth, and that cities with the 
greatest freedom to invest in infrastructure, skills, trade and innovation are the ones that perform 
best.   Though there is a strong correlation between the levels of local financial control in cities 
and how competitive and productive they are, cities in the UK typically control only 5-7% of their 
total tax base – rising to 8%-9% with the devolution of business rates (with our estimates putting 
Cardiff at the lower end of this scale; near 5%). In Canada 10 times this amount is controlled 
locally or regionally, in the US it is 7.5 times greater, Germany 6 times and 5 times that amount 
across the OECD on average.   
 
2.2 Cardiff as driver of Growth in Wales 
 
Between 2002 and 2013, Cardiff’s population grew by 13%. This is a bigger percentage increase in 
population than experienced by London or any of the English core cities. This growth trend is set 
to continue with a projected growth of 26% between 2013 and 2034 - an additional 91,500 people 
– making Cardiff the fastest growing UK City in percentage terms.  
 
Cardiff is not only the largest local authority in Wales, it has also experienced the largest 
population growth in Wales over the last 10 years and is projected to grow far faster than any 
other Welsh area over the next 10 years. 
 
This economic and population growth is good news – a successful city attracts people, particularly 
talented people.2 However, it also brings challenges.  Accommodating this growth will mean 
41,100 new homes will need to be built and 40,000 new jobs created by 2026.  New transport 
infrastructure and services – roads, buses, trains, cycle-routes – will also be needed to keep the 
city moving, particularly at peak times.  Accommodating this population growth in an inclusive, 
sustainable manner, and doing so in a way which does not damage Cardiff’s economic 
performance is a major long term challenge for the city, and given its importance for the Welsh 
economy, for Wales.   
 
The capital city is the economic engine of the city-regional economy. Nearly 2 out of 3 net new 
jobs created in South East Wales over the last 10 years have been in Cardiff.  Each day around 
80,000 people – over a third of the city’s 200,000 workforce – commute in to Cardiff from 
elsewhere in the Cardiff Capital Region.  Similarly, the capital city hosts major events on behalf of 
the whole of Wales, and is the centre for culture and leisure for the city region’s 1.4m population. 
 

                                                 
1 Raising the Capital, (Travers, 2013). 
2 The Metropolitan Century, OECD (2014) Page 208



3 

These additional capital city responsibilities come with additional costs, and for Cardiff to 
continue to play this important role on behalf of Wales this needs to be reflected in the funding 
settlement. 
 
While the city is growing fast, and creating jobs, the wider Cardiff Capital Region is continuing to 
perform relatively poorly against UK and European average, leading to a ‘productivity gap’ which 
is amongst the largest of all UK core cities, and getting bigger. 
 
• GVA per capita in the Cardiff Capital Region is only 76% of the UK average. 
• This leads to an annual ‘GVA gap’ of £9.4bn against the UK average.  The Total Welsh GVA is 

£46bn.   
• Looking internationally, GVA per person in Munich is nearly double that of the Cardiff Capital 

Region.   
 
For Cardiff to continue to succeed, its growth needs to be managed – and financed – in a 
sustainable and coherent manner, in the context of the Cardiff Capital Region. 
 
Wales needs Cardiff to succeed.  In turn, Cardiff needs to be an effective and outward looking 
capital city, powering Wales, providing opportunities, attracting people, tourists, students, 
businesses and investment in to the Capital Region. 
 
2.3 A place-based, integrated approach to supporting economic growth 
 
‘The fragmentation of a city’s administration and the quality of its governance structure is directly 
related to its economic strength.  Cities with fragmented governance structures tend to have lower 
levels of productivity; for a given population size, a metropolitan area with twice the number of 
municipalities is associated with around 6% lower productivity.  This effect is mitigated by almost 
half by the existence of a governance body at the regional level.’3 
 
A tailored response at the sub-national level which reflects economic geographies is needed, not a 
single local authority approach or a one-size-fits-all approach for Wales.  In South East Wales and 
the Swansea Bay area this means a city-regional approach.  A different response will be required 
for North Wales and for mid and West Wales which reflects their own economic geographies, 
challenges and opportunities.  Leaders in the Cardiff Capital Region are taking this agenda 
forward, having committed to aligning strategy, resources and delivery capacity at the city-
regional level as part of a City Deal proposal. 
 
These proposals include: 
 
• Strategic Infrastructure Planning, Investment and Commissioning: Responsibility for long-

term strategic infrastructure investment plan to direct infrastructure investment priorities, 
aligned to the Welsh, UK and European Infrastructure Investment Plans, setting out the costs 
of strategic investment options and matching them to resources available.   

• Transport. Devolved and integrated long-term transport funds, with powers to deliver an 
improved, joined-up local transport offer, shaping local bus services, local rail policy and 
integrated smart ticketing. 

• Skills and jobs:  Locally tailored skills provision to meet the needs of business and get more 
people into the jobs they train for. 

• Business, trade and investment: Fully, locally integrated business support, trade and 
investment budgets and services to simplify and get more return per pound of investment. 

 
 

                                                 
3 The Metropolitan Century, (OECD, 2015) Page 209



4 

2.4 Fiscal and Funding Reform required to support the new model 
 
In addition to pooling resources, the Capital Cardiff Region 
proposes to be inventive with the tools available to 
promote growth.  There is a radical agenda of devolution 
of powers and responsibilities to metro areas emerging in 
England (and to a lesser extent, Scotland).  However, even 
the most advanced ‘devo deal’ struck between 
Westminster and Greater Manchester does not deliver 
the powers already available through Welsh devolution.   
 
For example, reform of Business Rates.  The decision by 
the Welsh Government to place business rates policy within the Minister for Economy’s portfolio 
suggests that WG see it as a lever for achieving economic or business policy aims, not as simply a 
stable source of revenue for Welsh Government. Yet Welsh Government has adopted a ‘business 
as usual’ approach, with a recommendation for stability in the short and medium term and the 
potential for devolution and greater local retention only being considered following local 
government reorganisation. This could be over 5 years away.  We believe localisation of business 
rates should be a priority area of fiscal reform. This reform would both incentivise local 
authorities to promote growth and provide additional revenues to help balance budgets.  We 
believe that the Welsh Government should look again at this issue to ensure that Cardiff and the 
wider city-region are not left behind English cities. 
 
Additional areas of consideration could include: 
 
• The introduction of a portfolio of Tax Increment Finance (TIF) initiatives in the Cardiff Capital 

Region, overseen by Welsh Government. 
 
• Powers to levy a Supplementary Business Rate to invest in major strategic infrastructure – 

for example the Cardiff Metro – in a similar way to the London Crossrail scheme (2p in the 
pound) and West Yorkshire should also be examined. 

 
• Increased Revenue Raising Capacity, through the introduction of new, small taxes.  Though 

the sums raised by these taxes are relatively small, they do unlock a revenue stream to 
service some borrowing costs and could include: 

- Tourist / Hotel tax 
- Recycling / Waste taxes 
- Local sales taxes 

 
If introduced these should be fully devolved to local areas and should be considered a net 
addition to local budgets, and so should not be considered when assessing the revenue support 
grant. 
 
2.5 Governance 
 
City-regional governance for the Capital Cardiff Region will be required to deliver this approach, 
based on a real partnership between Welsh Government, local government and the private 
sector, along with clarity over roles and responsibilities.  Building on the City Deal, a strategic, 
coherent, cross local authority boundary and cross- UK and Welsh government department 
approach to the Cardiff Capital Region is now needed. 
 
 
  

 

“…even the most advanced 
‘devo deal’ struck between 
Westminster and Greater 
Manchester does not deliver the 
powers already available 
through Welsh devolution” 
 

 

Page 210



5 

3. Reforming Public Services 
 
3.1 Austerity 
 
The UK’s fiscal position continues to present the greatest challenge for public services, with a 
likelihood that they will have to operate at 35% of GDP and stay there for the foreseeable future, 
with the greater reduction in spending (60%) are still to come.4   The funding gap in Wales has 
been estimated to be between £2.6bn and £4.6bn by 2025.5   
 
The City of Cardiff Council has made over £120m in savings over the past 5 years, and is facing a 
budget shortfall of over £120m over the next three years.   This situation is unprecedented and 
arguably unsustainable. Indeed, the demands upon the local state are so extreme that in many 
authorities just one service, adult and children’s social care, is projected to swallow up the entire 
expenditure of some English local authorities within the next 10 years.   
 
Paradoxically, whilst public spending has been cut severely for some services like local authorities 
the overall levels of Government funding has not gone down in any of the UK Core Cities during 
the last five years.6  This is happening because budget cuts to preventative services- many of 
which are delivered by local authorities- are leading to equivalent rises in public spending on crisis 
services, particularly for health and welfare.   
 
3.2 Demand Pressures 
 
Cardiff’s rapid growth will put pressure on the 
city’s social infrastructure and public services.  A 
25% increase in school age children will mean that 
we will need more schools and more teachers in 
Cardiff – indeed, the equivalent of 2 new primary 
schools per year are already being built in Cardiff.    
Similarly older people – particularly those over 85 
years old whose numbers are expected to nearly 
double in Cardiff over the next 10 years - are far 
more likely to need health and care services to 
help them live independent lives.  
 
Big cities, like Cardiff have big social challenges as well as big economies.  The recently published 
Liveable City Report demonstrated clearly that the city faces substantial economic and social 
inclusion challenges. Unemployment levels, though low in comparison to Core Cities, are 
persistently higher than the all-Wales average.  Crime rates are also persistently higher.  Over a 
quarter of households in Cardiff – that’s over 41,000 homes - are deemed to be living in poverty, 
whilst only two other local authorities in Wales have a higher percentage of people who are 
amongst the 10% most deprived in Wales.   In effect, over 60,000 people in Cardiff – more than 
the entire population of Merthyr – are amongst the 10% most deprived in Wales. 
 
3.3 The challenges of the current approach 
 
The challenges facing many local communities, families and individuals are often complex and 
deeply entrenched, requiring multiple and simultaneous interventions across a range of issues – 
housing, training, employment, childcare. This demands a more effectively ‘joined up’ 
government which coordinates and integrates delivery at the local level. 

                                                 
4 Office of Budget Responsibility 
5 (Mark Jeffs, WAO).   
6 Unlocking the Power of Place, Core Cities (2015) 

 

”… over 60,000 people in Cardiff 
– more than the entire 
population of Merthyr – are 
amongst the 10% most deprived 
in Wales.” 

 

Page 211



6 

 
Yet too often top down ‘vertical’ funding 
arrangements deny the flexibility needed to work 
across departmental boundaries and effectively 
align services to meet local and individual need.  
Funding is already locked in, contracted and 
committed, and services already specified, with 
pre-determined targets and outputs, long before 
local partners are able to influence delivery. 
 
Furthermore, the current siloed system of 
spending means that often there is a financial 
disincentive to invest in preventative activities. If, 
for example, a local authority has to spend more 
from its budget on preventative activities, but the savings accrue in other organisations such as 
health, the police or other government departments, then local authority budgets remain 
strained, providing poor incentive for change. 
 
In addition, the obligation to budget year on year inhibits the ability to do integrated, local long 
term planning. 
 
3.4 Towards place-based, integrated approach to public services 
 
A place-based, integrated approach does not (necessarily) rely on more money, but on a 
fundamental rethink about how public money is spent in a more effective way, asking how the 
whole of public resources can be deployed to best effect in a region, city or a neighbourhood, 
aligning local budgets and services over several years.     
 
This will require better local co-ordination of funding and services, focusing on people and place, 
wrapping services around individuals and families, and aligning local and national services, for 
example integrating health and social care.  This will require a move towards multi-year budgets 
that are increasingly pooled across local delivery partners, free of national ring-fence constraints 
and conflicting outcome measures. 
 
Local Authorities have a long history of partnership working between local government and other 
public sector agencies.  Cardiff has been a pioneer in this area in Wales, having successfully 
delivered a Local Service Board and Neighbourhood Partnership model which has played a key 
role in targeting multi-agency intervention. This is recognised in the recent Local Government 
White Paper, with Cardiff’s approach cited as a case study.  
 
There has also been significant success in aligning resources at a neighbourhood level through the 
delivery of Welsh Government programmes such as Flying Start, Communities First and Families 
First.  These programmes have demonstrated the benefits of addressing complex dependency 
through the ability to co-commission and pool budgets at the local level.  
 
The City of Cardiff Council has also been consolidating local public services in Community Hubs.  
The goal is to respond to reducing budgets, protecting services through analysing and responding 
to (hyper) local demand, consolidating existing (fragmented) assets and services in one place and 
co-delivering services with local partners.  A single location for local services also provides a much 
simpler means of accessing these services for local residents.  For example, the Ely and Caerau 
Hub which opened in 2014 brought together library, into-work, housing and welfare advice in to 
one building, alongside a café and community spaces. The goal is for there to be at least one hub 
in each neighbourhood partnership area, tailored to the needs of that local area, based on needs 
analysis and consultation. There will not be a ‘one size fits all’ approach.   

 

”… funding is already locked in, 
contracted and committed, 
whilst services are already 
specified through pre-
determined targets and outputs, 
long before local partners are 
able to influence delivery..” 
 

 

Page 212



7 

 
By adopting an integrated, place-based approach, local partners and agencies have been able to 
coordinate and concentrate their efforts, making sure the most disadvantaged and troubled 
neighbourhoods, families and individuals are receiving the right service, from the right people at 
the right time.   
 
But we need to go further, faster – with these approaches the becoming the norm, rather than 
the exception.  We need to expand our emerging approach to consider the whole spectrum of 
public investment going into, and assets which exist in, a ‘Neighbourhood Area’ and better align 
- or where possible wholly integrate - these to deliver more efficient, joined-up public services. 
 
3.5 Purposeful Partnerships 
 
The ‘Power to Local People’ White Paper and the Well-being of Future Generations Act, places 
emphasis on the importance of Public Service Boards in delivering a place-based, integrated 
approach. In order to do so, they must not become bureaucratic structures, but instead be 
purposeful partnerships, with partners identifying joint issues and common problems, agreeing 
outcomes, pooling inputs and resources, sharing systems, assessments and data and jointly 
commissioning services. 
 
In return, Welsh Government should delegate budgets and responsibility for assets down to the 
Public Service Board to enable a joined-up, long-term strategy for public service delivery to be 
implemented.  For example, local partners need freedom to join up funding and services locally to 
deliver better outcomes, including: Early Years; Complex Families; Frail Elderly; Offender 
Management; Worklessness and NEETS; and Health and Social Care integration. 
 
Similarly, to consolidate public services all local partners need the ability to manage their physical 
assets in response to local needs.  In particular, the Local Health Board should have devolved 
responsibility for capital spend. 
 
To enable longer term planning and a shift to preventative services, this needs to take place in the 
context of multi-year budgets.   
 
3.6 Fiscal and Funding Reform required to support the new model 
 
Delivering the new model would require: 
 

• The transfer of all specific grants into the RSG to enable greater flexibility to respond to 
reducing budgets, and support greater integration locally. 

 

• Multi-year financial settlements to give greater stability in terms of resource planning, and 
support a move toward preventative services. 

 

• All new burdens that arise as a result of changes in Welsh Government or UK Government 
Policy to be fully funded. 

 

• Freedom to join up funding and services locally to deliver better outcomes, including: Early 
Years; Complex Families; Frail Elderly; Offender Management; Worklessness and NEETS; 
Asset management; and Health and Social Care integration. 

 

• Devolution of budget and greater local control of national funding programme, for example 
the Communities First and Families First outcomes framework 

 

• Decisions on capital spend to be devolved to Public Service Board members, to enable a 
joined-up local asset management plan for the public services to be developed and 
delivered.  Page 213



8 

4. Responsibility, Accountability, Democratic Renewal 
 
4.1 Local power in local hands 
 
Welsh Government set out in the ‘Power to Local People’ White Paper their aspiration to renew 
local democracy. Devolving responsibilities and resources down to local authorities and 
communities, putting decision making in local hands and giving people a major say in how their 
taxes are spent on the issues that affect them can be expected to support this aspiration.  The 
White Paper proposal to explicitly rule out further devolution of powers or freedoms to local 
authorities until any structural reforms have been undertaken therefore runs contrary to the 
desire to renew and reinvigorate local democracy. 
 
Equally, it is fair to say that voters will only endorse new powers and new possibilities of local 
governance if they come with greater transparency and accountability.  If local government is 
arguing for change, it too must be open to change and to creating the structures and institutions 
necessary for delivery, transparency and accountability. 
 
4.2 Council Tax 
 
Council Tax was revalued in Wales in 2005 and revised bandings were agreed on a national basis 
which did not reflect regional variances in value for similar property types. As a result, even 
though the yield in Wales increased by only 0.5%, the yield in Cardiff went up by 6.5% or 13 times 
the Welsh average. This resulted in 86,000 households increasing in band; therefore, any change 
to the system in future should take into account regional variations as one size clearly does not fit 
all. 
 
Local Authorities should also be given greater flexibility to vary or remove discounts and 
exemptions. The additional income generated should not be included in the Council Tax Base 
calculation as Local Authorities should be able to use any increase in yield to help fund services. 
An example of this is the single person discount, which is currently 25% and costs £15 million a 
year in Cardiff.  A reduction to 20% would generate an additional £3 million in income each year. 
 
Similarly, the exemption for student properties should be reviewed, with the responsibility for 
setting this devolved to the local authority. 
 
4.3 Business Rates 
 
As set out in section 2.4 localisation of business rates should be a priority area of fiscal reform.  In 
England there is already a localisation scheme in place with local authorities retaining 50% of any 
increases in yield and there is now a firm commitment to 100% localisation by 2020.   
 
Cardiff is a major contributor to the pool in excess of £70 million each year.  Reform in this area 
would incentivise the city – and other local authorities – to both promote economic growth and 
provide additional revenues to help balance budgets.  
 
Given the need to plan and promote economic growth at a city-regional level (as set out in section 
2.3), alongside the need to mitigate against local competition and displacement between 
neighbouring local authorities, there is a case could also be made for the devolution of business 
rates to the city-regional level.  The Cardiff Capital Region currently raises 52% of the total Welsh 
business rates and get 48% back in terms of share.  In this scenario Cardiff’s contribution is 
broadly balanced by the recipient authorities.   
 
 

Page 214



9 

In addition to the reforms to Business Rates discussed earlier in this paper, we would argue that 
more local flexibility should be introduced in the level of the multiplier to give Local Government 
more control over the total yield.  Consideration could be given to linking the percentage increase 
in the multiplier to that of Council Tax. 
 
Business rates have become increasingly complex in recent years with the number of reliefs 
available increasing making the system more bureaucratic to administer and more complicated 
for business to understand. A good example of this is the Wales Retail Relief Scheme which was 
application only for 2014/15. Many businesses already in receipt of Small Business Rate Relief 
didn't realise that they could also claim this relief. This system should be simplified.  
 
4.4 Flexibility and Resilience 
 
One of the key weaknesses of the current system is that balance between the finance received by 
local authorities in the form of the Revenue Support Grant and other grants, and the ability for 
local authorities to raise finance locally.   
 
In addition to the proposed changes to Council Tax and Business Rates there are opportunities to 
create a more diversified funding base for local authorities, thus enhancing resilience.   
 
Newly devolved taxes including stamp duty and landfill could be treated like business rates, 
collected by local authorities, pooled centrally and then redistributed among local authorities 
according to a Welsh Government formula. That need not imply any overall increase in their 
funding if the Welsh Government reduced the revenue support grant accordingly but it would 
mean more local authority spending was financed by their own tax collection. 
 
Local Government needs to be given the opportunity to raise additional taxation to help diversify 
its funding base, and ultimately pay for services.  This would include the ability to create new, 
small taxes (see above), and the ability to set fees and charges for local services where 
appropriate.   
 
The only bodies in Wales that currently have experience of tax collection and administration are 
local authorities.  It therefore makes more sense to use that experience in collecting the smaller 
taxes to be devolved – landfill and stamp duty.  
 
The value of income collected by Welsh Local Government is significantly higher than the 
estimated £200 million included in the new devolved taxes which the new Welsh Revenue 
Authority will be responsible for. Currently, Welsh Authorities collect £1,300 million in Council Tax 
and £895 million in business rates. Collection rates overall are also extremely high and there is an 
opportunity to learn from the experience of Local Government. 
 
Fiscal Responsibilities 
 
• The principles of local democracy to be respected in the setting of local taxation. 
 
• Responsibility for Council Tax exemptions to be devolved to local authorities. 
 
• Local Government to be able to set fees and charges for all discretionary services. 

 
• Freedoms to introduce new local taxes subject to local consultation with affected 

stakeholders. 
 
• The protection of Local Authorities’ ability to undertake prudential borrowing and the 

availability of capitalisation directions. Page 215



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 4 
 

CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL  
CYNGOR DINAS CAERDYDD 
 
CABINET MEETING:21 JANUARY 2016  
    

 
 
CCTV BODY WORN CAMERA POLICY AND PILOT 
DEPLOYMENT 
  
REPORT OF CORPORATE DIRECTOR RESOURCES  

       AGENDA ITEM:   6       
 
  
PORTFOLIO: CORPORATE SERVICES AND PERFORMANCE 
(COUNCILLOR GRAHAM HINCHEY) 
 
Reason for this Report  
 
1. To approve the Council’s policy for determining the use of personal body 

worn CCTV camera equipment together with a pilot deployment. 
 
Background  
 
2. The development of body worn camera equipment has accelerated with 

many organisations across the UK and wider now implementing the 
equipment as part of their business practices. 

 
3. Several service areas across the Council have requested to use CCTV 

body worn camera devices.  It is important that as the Council changes 
the way it delivers services, whether this be through service improvement 
initiatives, or alternative delivery models, that a clear policy on the 
deployment and governance of body worn camera equipment, together 
with the decision making process is put in place.  This will ensure the 
appropriate and lawful use of such technology throughout the Council. 

 
4. The legislation, and the interaction of the legislation, which applies to 

body worn cameras is complex, and in order to manage the risks any 
deployment should be monitored closely.  As a result the Council needs 
to put a policy and effective arrangements to assess, monitor and 
evaluate requests and deployments in place.  This will ensure that the 
obligations and requirements of the Data Protection Act 1998, the 
Human Rights Act 1998, the Information Commissioner’s CCTV Code of 
Practice and the Surveillance Commissioner’s Code of Practice are all 
taken into account.  

 
The Policy 

 
5. The draft CCTV Body Worn Camera Council Wide Policy is attached 

(Appendix 1) and this Policy sets out the: 
 

 

Page 217

Agenda Item 6



Page 2 of 4 
 

• strategic policy statement  
• assessment process 
• decision making process 
• purpose for deploying Body Worn Cameras  
• use and control of the devices 
• staff training 
• storage and retention of recordings 
• access, viewing and disclosure of stored data 
• audit arrangements 
• review of the Policy 

 
6. Appendix 1c to the Policy relates to the Privacy Impact Assessment. The 

Privacy Impact Assessment will be key to the decision making process 
as it assesses privacy i.e, the risks around the privacy of individuals in 
the collection, use and disclosure of information. This Assessment will 
also identify risks to individuals’ privacy together with Data Protection 
compliance liabilities for the Council. 

 
Pilot Arrangements 
 
7. The draft Policy and the existing information governance arrangements 

have been used to assess and determine the pilot deployment in the Civil 
Parking Enforcement Team (Appendix 2) 

 
8. The body worn cameras will assist in providing recorded visual and audio 

evidence of threats to safety in connection with any parking enforcement 
managed by the Council.  They will be used for: 
 

• Staff safety and protection 
• Staff training and development 

 
9. The operation of these cameras will be on a ‘use when necessary’ 

principle.  This means that activation will only occur when there is a 
perceived act of aggression towards an officer and in order to ensure that 
these cameras are used appropriately and in accordance with the 
legislative requirements a review process has been built in.  This will 
inform the overall evaluation of the deployment, including lessons 
learned to be fed into any future deployment requests.   

 
10. Once the deployment of the cameras has been reviewed by both the 

service and the Improvement and Information Team further potential 
deployments will be assessed in line with the Policy.  All deployments are 
approved by the Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO), who has 
delegated authority under the Council’s Scheme of Delegation to 
determine to manage and maintain compliance with the Data Protection 
Act 1998, and the Council’s Data Protection policies and Privacy Impact 
Assessment requirements under the CCTV Code of Practice.  It should 
be noted that the associated Privacy Impact Assessment and decision 
will be added to Appendix 1C of the CCTBV Body Worn Camera Policy 
in order to keep an accurate and up to date schedule of deployments.  

 

Page 218



Page 3 of 4 
 

11. The Improvement and Information Management Team will provide 
training for officers on the correct and appropriate use of the cameras 
and protocols prior to them being issued. The Civil Parking Enforcement 
Officers will also receive diversity training surrounding the appropriate 
use of the equipment prior to the devices being issued 

 
12. The City Operations Directorate will be required to ensure that required 

provisions are in place to enable the Information Management Team and 
Internal Audit to undertake an audit of the use of the cameras, including 
spot checks, and to ensure that there are provisions in place to complete 
assessments and training on an annual basis.    

 
13. The use of cameras will be for limited/specific purposes as defined within 

the Council’s Policy and it should be noted that failure to use devices as 
outlined within specific parameters for which they are authorised would 
be classed as a breach of the Data Protection Principles and therefore a 
criminal offence.     

 
Reasons for Recommendations   
 
14. The Policy and decision making process will ensure that the risks 

associated with the use of the body worn cameras are managed, and 
that the pilot deployment will provide a level of evidence to inform a 
review of the implementation of the Policy. 

 
Legal Implications 
 
15. The legislation covering this area is as set out in the CCTV Body Worn 

Camera Council Wide Policy. Particular regard needs to be had to 
training, secure storage and appropriate processing of all recorded data 
to ensure compliance with the legislative requirements.  
 

16.  The Council has to satisfy its duties under the Equalities Act 2010 
(including the specific Welsh public sector duties).  Pursuant to these 
legal duties Councils must in making decisions have due regard to the 
need to: 
(a) eliminate unlawful discrimination,  
(b) advance equality of opportunity and  
(c) foster good relations on the basis of protected characteristics 
 

17. As such the decision on the recommendations in this report and will need 
to be made in the context of the Council’s Equality Act public sector 
duties.  
 

18. This will include undertaking an Equality Impact Assessment to ensure 
that the Council has understood the potential impacts of the decision in 
terms of equality so that it can ensure that it is making proportionate and 
rational decisions having due regard to the public sector equality duty.  

 
 
 

Page 219



Page 4 of 4 
 

Financial Implications 
 
19. There are no financial implications arising directly from this policy.  

However, in implementing the policy the cost of the equipment and any 
other associated items will need to be funded from individual directorate 
budgets linked to the specific project.  In respect of the pilot referred to in 
this report the costs will be funded from the Civil Parking Enforcement 
Account.   

 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
Cabinet is recommended to 
 
1 approve the CCTV Body Worn Camera Council wide Policy (Appendix 1) 
 
2 note the current delegation to the Council’s Senior Information Risk 

Owner in relation to approvals for Body Worn cameras initiatives that 
accord with the Policy. 

 
CHRISTINE SALTER 
Corporate Director 
15 January 2016 
 
 
The following appendices are attached: 
 
Appendix 1: City of Cardiff Council – CCTV Body Worn Camera Council Wide  

Policy  
Appendix 2:   Use of Body Cameras for Civil Enforcement Officers – Officer   

Decision Notice 

Page 220



   
 

 
 

Appendix 1 

 
 

 
City of Cardiff Council 

CCTV Body Worn Camera Council Wide 
Policy 

1
Page 221



Document Control 

Organisation City of Cardiff Council
Title CCTV Body Worn Camera Council Wide Policy 
Author Information Security Board
Filename 
Owner Senior Information Risk Owner
Subject 
Protective Marking NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED
Review date Annually

Revision History 

Revision 
Date 

Revision Previous 
Version

Description of Revision 

1st 
December 
2015 

v 0.1 Initial document 

9th 
December 
2015 

V0.2 V0.1 Amended to reflect the changes in approach to 
deliver a Council Wide Policy 

2
Page 222



   
 

 
 

City of Cardiff Council  
CCTV Body Worn Camera Council Wide Policy 
 
 
Introduction 
 
This policy is a statement of the principles and assurances which govern the 
use of CCTV Body Camera units by the Council. It provides best practice 
advice for those involved in using CCTV Body Camera units and utilising the 
material recorded. 
 
The Policy has been drawn up to govern the management of all operations of 
CCTV Body Worn Cameras within the Council which are subject to the provisions 
of the:  
 

 Data Protection Act 1998 
 ICO CCTV Code of Practice requirements  
 Human Rights Act 1998 
 Surveillance Commissioners’ Code of Practice. 

 
This policy will operate in conjunction with the Council wide CCTV Policy and 
Code of Practice  
 
This policy will assist users of CCTV Body Camera units and users of  
information recorded on CCTV Body Camera unit to comply with their legal 
obligations under the Data Protection Act 1998 and where applicable, the 
Human Rights Act 1998 and the Freedom of Information Act 2000. 
 
The adoption and implementation of this policy will also ensure  
 

 ongoing compliance with any data protection good practice notes as 
may be released from time to time by the Information Commissioner's 
office 

 that captured and retained images, and sounds, are of a suitable 
evidential quality 

 confidence in the Council by those persons whose personal data may 
be captured, retained or shared 

 
A number of appendices have been attached to this policy to assist in the 
deployment and usage of CCTV Body Camera units.  These dependencies 
include links to corporate policies and processes which services will have to 
adhere to, and includes a copy of the Privacy Impact Assessment(s) 
completed where authorisation to use devices has been granted. 
 
 

3
Page 223



   
 

 
 

 
Strategic Policy Statement  
 
The Council will not use CCTV Body Worn Cameras as “spy systems”. There will 
be no interest shown the deliberate monitoring of people going about their 
legitimate business.   
 
CCTV Body Cameras will only be deployed in an overt fashion. The covert use of 
a CCTV Body Camera device will not be permitted.  
 
All devices used by the Council must be encypted and procedures adopted by 
services to ensure the secure processing of personal data.  
 
 
Assessment Process 
 
All devices operated are subject to Privacy Impact Assessments in line with the 
CCTV Code of Practice to ensure they there are legitimate purposes for 
processing in line with the requirements of the Data Protection Act 1998 and 
Article 8 of the Human Rights Act 1998. 
   
 
Decision Making Process 
 
Each service of the Council who wish to use this technology will be required to 
have completed a Privacy Impact Assessment and the suitability of use will be 
considered and authorised by the Council’s Senior Information Risk Owner 
 
Purpose for deploying Body Worn Cameras  
 
The Council will deploy CCTV Body Camera units to assist in providing 
recorded visual and audio evidence for the following purposes: 
 

 staff safety and protection,  
 staff training and development 

 
 
Use and Control of the Devices 
 
Activation will only occur in cases where there is deemed to be a potential 
threat to officer safety.  
 
Where a deployment of CCTV Body Camera unit is undertaken within the 
areas of staff safety and protection, it will be deployed in a 'use when 
necessary' mode. This means that the CCTV Body Camera in normal/default 
mode will be switched to off and the system will be switched on to 'record' 

4
Page 224



   
 

 
 

only when a staff member perceives aggression.  The unit will remain in 
record mode until such time as the staff member considers that the threat is 
no longer perceived.  
 
CCTV Body Camera units deployed for this purpose will enable partial records of 
staff movements and actions are obtained to:  
 

 assist in the investigation of any allegation of assault or abuse where a 
staff member is either the alleged victim or alleged aggressor  

 cater for any random or unexpected act of assault or abuse, staff, 
members of the public and investigating agencies can have a greater 
confidence in the fact that a recording has been made of the incident 

 
The definition of Perceived Aggression in this context is: 
 

 an individual threatening an Officer with a weapon, or other object 
 an individual threatening an Officer with the intention of causing bodily 

harm 
 an individual encroaching within an arms-length of an Officer (within 

their personal space)  
 an individual making physical contact with an Officer 

 
Any inappropriate use will be detected when the footage is later reviewed and 
any action that could give rise to concern will be fully investigated. All instances 
of when the CCTV Body Camera has been used for recording during a relevant 
activity or incidents will be logged by the officer who has used the camera and 
verified by a supervisor. 
 
 
All staff using a CCTV Body Camera unit will visibly display a sign identifying 
their use of CCTV Body Camera equipment and as far as is practicable, inform 
members of the public who may be the subject of a recording that they are being 
recorded. 
 
 
Staff Training and Development 

 
Training will be provided by the Improvement and Information Team who will 
ensure that the appropriate staff are trained in the use of the device, their 
responsibilities, and the restrictions relating to the recording of activities and 
individuals.  This training will take place in a controlled environment. 
 
This training will be supplemented by specific training provided by accredited 
bodies such as City & Guilds based on the needs of the specific deployment.  
 

5
Page 225



   
 

 
 

All training will be recorded on the individual's HR file.  
 
All staff using CCTV Body Cameras will be issued with specific managerial 
instructions relating to the use of CCTV Body Camera.  This includes possible 
disciplinary consequences should they fail to use the device in an approved 
manner or should they tamper, or interfere, with recorded sound or images. 
 
 
Storage and Retention of Recordings 
 
For data protection purposes the Council will act as the Data Controller for any 
obtained or retained recorded material. 
 
The Council will ensure that it complies with all necessary legislation and 
obligations and as such services authorised to use such technology will be 
required to have clear procedures established setting out how storage and 
retention of recordings will be handled. 
 
All recorded material will be securely stored to ensure that at all times no 
unauthorised access to recorded material is allowed. All access to stored data 
will be recorded. 
 
On a daily basis, or as and when an incident occurs, recorded material stored on 
a CCTV Body Camera will be transferred to a secure server on the Council 
system.  Stored data must be retained in a manner that allows for a defined 
CCTV Body Camera unit's data to be separated from any other CCTV Body 
Camera unit's data and uniquely identified at all times. 
 
Following the transfer of recorded material to a secure Council server, CCTV 
Body Cameras must be electronically cleansed to erase all stored data prior to 
any further usage. 
 
Stored data or images will not be retained for longer than necessary. In some 
cases, especially where the data or images are to be used for legal purposes, it 
may be necessary to retain, data or images for longer than the normal retention 
period. Where it becomes apparent that stored data or images are no longer 
required to be retained, they should be deleted.  The Council’s Corporate 
Retention Schedule will set out how long such information may be retained. 
 
 
Access, Viewing and Disclosure of Stored Data 

 
Access, viewing and disclosure of stored data will be controlled by the Council as 
Data Controller in adherence with this policy or any specific legislative 
requirement or obligation. 
 

6
Page 226



   
 

 
 

Access to stored data will be restricted to named and trained individuals/roles 
within the Council. Any unauthorised access must be reported immediately to the 
Parking Manager or the Data Protection Officer of the Council, who will take 
appropriate action. 
 
All persons with access to stored data should be aware of the requirements of 
the Data Protection Principles as outlined in Appendix A of this Policy, which 
need to be followed when accessing stored data. All such persons should be 
aware that all access to stored data will be recorded and they must keep their 
password secure and not share it with anyone else. 
 
Access to and disclosure of stored data to third parties will only be made in 
limited and prescribed circumstances. Details of those circumstances can be 
found in the framework code of practice for the sharing, disclosure or viewing of 
obtained or retained CCTV Body Camera data.  
 
Where permitted, permanent copies of stored data will be provided on request in 
the form of a video. Video footage will be provided in line with the Council’s 
Access to Information procedures.  
 
 
Audit arrangements 
 
An Audit Programme will be implemented by the Improvement and Information 
Team in conjunction with the Internal Audit Team.  Services authorised to use 
CCTV Body Cameras will be expected to support these teams to ensure that 
spot checks are conducted and the use of devices assessed on an annual basis.   
 
 
Review of the Policy 
 
Due to the ongoing changes in legislation this Policy will be reviewed and 
updated annually. 
 
 
Guide to Appendices 
 
A number of appendices have been attached to this Policy to assist in the 
compliance with legislative requirements and to assist in the implementation of 
processes and procedures for the capture, retention, sharing and disclosure of 
obtained or retained data. 
 
 
  

7
Page 227



   
 

 
 

Appendix A 
 
This provides a brief outline of the Data Protection Principles and the Councils 
Data Protection Policy.  
 
Appendix B 
 
This sets out the Councils Access to Information Procedures including the 
Data Protection Act Requests for Information Policy, Freedom of Information 
Requests and Environmental Information Regulations Requests procedures. 
 
 
Appendix C 
 
This provides the Privacy Impact Assessment(s) and the decision to approve 
their use.  These will act as the schedule of deployments. 
 
 
  

8
Page 228



   
 

 
 

Appendix 1A 
 
The Data Protection Principles 
 
1 Personal data shall be processed fairly and lawfully and, in particular, 

shall not be processed unless; 
 

(a) at least one of the conditions in Schedule 2 is met; and 
(b) in the case of sensitive personal data, at least one of the conditions 
     in Schedule 3 is also met 

 
2 Personal data shall be obtained only for one or more specified and lawful 

purposes and shall not be further processed in any manner incompatible 
with that purpose or those purposes 
 

3  Personal data shall be adequate, relevant and not excessive in relation to 
the purpose or purposes for which they are processed 
 

4  Personal data shall be accurate and, where necessary, kept up to date. 
5  Personal data processed for any purpose or purposes shall not be kept 

for longer than is necessary for that purpose or those purposes. 
6  Personal data shall be processed in accordance with the rights of data 

subjects under this Act. 
7 Appropriate technical and organisational measures shall be taken against 

unauthorised or unlawful processing of personal data and against 
accidental loss or destruction of, or damage to, personal data 

8 Personal data shall not be transferred to a country or territory outside the 
European Economic Area unless that country or territory ensures an 
adequate level of protection for the rights and freedoms of data subjects in 
relation to the processing of personal data. 

 
NB This is not a full explanation of the principles  
 
More detailed information can be found on the Information Commissioner's 
website at www.ico.gov.uk. 
 
Click to access the link to the Council’s Data Protection Policy  
 
 
 
  

9
Page 229



   
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

10
Page 230



   
 

 
 

 

11
Page 231



Data Protection Act Requests for 
Information Policy 

Appendix 1B

12
Page 232



Document Control 
 
Organisation  Cardiff Council 
Title  Data Protection Act Requests for Information Policy 
Author  Information Security Forum 
Filename   
Owner  Senior Information Risk Owner 
Subject   
Protective Marking  NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 
Review date  Yearly 

 
 
Revision History 
 

Revision 
Date 

Revision  Previous 
Version  

Description of Revision  

10th Oct 13 V 1.0  Cabinet approval of policy 
    
    
    
    
    
    
    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

13
Page 233



 
 

Data Protection Act Requests for Information Policy 
 
There are a number of different types of requests which can be submitted to the 
authority under the Data Protection Act which are outlined in this policy. 
 
The procedures set out in this policy must be followed at all times when dealing with 
such requests. 
 
 
Subject Access Requests (SAR’s) 
 
All Subject Access requests received by the Council must be forwarded onto the 
Improvement & Information team where they will be logged so that the Council has a 
clear record of the request and subsequent response issued.   
 
Requests regarding more than one area of the authority will be managed by the 
Improvement & Information team with relevant officers contacted and asked to 
provide any information held (redacted where necessary).  Requests relating to 
specific service areas will be passed onto the relevant area which will then be 
expected to manage such requests and respond directly to applicant.  These 
requests are not quality assured by the Improvement & Information team. 
 
The Council has developed letter templates which comply with our statutory 
obligations when dealing with Subject Access Requests under the Data Protection 
Act which must be used at all times. 
 
Under the Data Protection Act 1998 a £10 fee is payable for anyone wishing to 
obtain their personal data.  A request cannot be processed until the fee has been 
paid.  The £10 fee, in line with the Council’s Data Protection Policy & Procedure, will 
be waivered for current Council employees.   
 
The 40 calendar days’ response time commences from date of receipt of the fee.   In 
the case of a request for an educational record, a fee up to a maximum of £50 
depending on the number of documents held, may be required.    
 
Any applicant must also supply the Council with proof of their identity.  They must 
supply either a recent bank statement, or a utility bill, (within the last three months), 
and Photographic ID - i.e. Passport, Drivers Licence - this must be a clear 
photocopy.  
 
It is best practice to send a copy of the Council’s Subject Access Request form and 
guidance to anyone wishing to obtain their personal data to make it easier for 
individuals to advise of the specific data they wish to obtain and from which Council 
service(s).  It is also best practice to pass this on if  clarification or direction is 
required for such a request. 
 
 

14
Page 234



Council Guidance note on SAR Requests: 
http://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ObjView.asp?Object_ID=22434&Language=&YYY=0 
 
Cardiff Council’s Subject Access Request form: 
 
http://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ObjView.asp?Object_ID=22432&Language=&YYY=0 
 
 
 
Subject Access Requests for CCTV Footage 
 
Cardiff Council operates a CCTV system in partnership with South Wales Police. 
The system has 200 cameras throughout Cardiff and provides images which are 
used to manage the highway network throughout Cardiff and also for the prevention 
of crime and community safety.  
 
Cardiff Council also operates cameras for providing evidence in criminal 
proceedings, providing evidence in civil proceedings or tribunals and for the 
prevention of crime. 
 
There may be occasions when individuals request CCTV footage where they have 
been captured on cameras.  This mainly occurs when a crime has taken place or for 
evidence to support an accident which has occurred.   
 
All requests for CCTV footage must be processed as outlined in the Council’s CCTV 
policy & Code of Practice. 
 
The same identification and fee is required as per Subject Access Request 
provisions before processing any such request.  If a request is submitted on behalf of 
someone else (i.e Insurance Company/Solicitor) the Council must ensure that 
consent has been supplied before information is passed onto anyone acting on 
behalf of the data subject. 
 
Consent Form -  
 
http://web1/corpqms/corporate%20general/Guidance%20Notes/FOI%20&%20EIR%
20Letters/CCYV%20Templates/Consent%20Form.doc 
 
 
Access to Health Records Act Requests 
 
There may be occasions when relatives of the deceased request access to records 
which are classified as Health Records.  Where this occurs requests should be dealt 
with under the Access to Health Records Act. 
 
The person who requests such data must be the personal representative of the 
deceased and have a claim arising out of the person’s death. A personal 
representative is the executor or administrator of the deceased person’s estate. 
 

15
Page 235



Evidence must be provided to support that they are the executor of the deceased 
and the individual must also supply identification in the same way as the Subject 
Access Request provisions.  This ensures that the Council can confirm their identity 
before providing any information. 
 
In the main this type of request would be received by the Social Services area of the 
Council.  It is important that a detailed record is kept of the request and how it has 
been dealt with. Copies of all correspondence (including emails) between the 
Council and the requestor must be kept together with any additional documentation. 
 
Data Protection Act Section 29/35 Disclosure Requests 
 
Sections’ 29 and 35 of the Data Protection Act are exemptions within the non-
disclosure provisions of the Data Protection Act.  It allows the organisation to 
disclose information about a member of staff or citizen if requested by an outside 
organisation, which in normal circumstances may be a breach of the Data Protection 
Act.  
 
Requests can come from organisations that can rely upon these exemptions 
because they have a crime prevention or law enforcement function and therefore 
have an appropriate purpose for requesting such information. 
 
Main organisations that will request information under Sections 29 and 35 of the 
Data Protection Act are HMRC, the UK Border Agency, the Police, The Department 
for Work and Pensions or other local Authorities.  
 
Any organisation requesting such information have to provide the Council with a 
completed Section 29/35 Disclosure form, (some organisations such as the Police 
who have their own form), otherwise they must complete the Council’s Section 29 
Disclosure request form. 
 
The Council has a Section 29/35 Disclosure Request Form which can be forwarded 
onto any appropriate organsiation requesting information and a Guidance Note 
which should be followed when dealing with such requests. 
 
Before information is released this must be authorised by the relevant Operational 
Manager or Chief Officer who must decide whether to release or not release 
personal information to the requestor.  Officers should ensure that they refer to the 
Council’s guidance on Section 29/35 Disclosure requests or contact the 
Improvement & Information team if they are unsure whether to disclose information. 
 
Such requests should be managed within their relevant service areas unless they 
relate to a number of service areas in which case they should be immediately 
passed onto the Improvement and Information team who will be responsible for co-
ordinating any such request on behalf of the authority. 
 
A detailed record must be kept of the request and how it has been dealt with. Copies 
of all correspondence (including emails) between the Council and the requestor must 
be kept and also internal documentation. 
 

16
Page 236



Section 29/35 Disclosure Request Form -  
 
http://web1.cardiff.gov.uk/corpqms/corporate%20general%2Fforms/Request%20for
%20Disclosure%20of%20Personal%20Data%20Under%20Section%2029%20of%20
DP.doc 
 
Section 29/35 Disclosure Request Guidance Note - :  
 

http://web1.cardiff.gov.uk/corpqms/corporate%20general%2Fguidance%20notes/Se
c%2029%20%26%2035%20Requests%20for%20disclosure%20of%20personal%20i
nformation%20guidance.pdf?unique=1378459848 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

17
Page 237



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

FOI/EIR Requests Policy & Procedure 

18
Page 238



 
 

Document Control 
 

Organisation  Cardiff Council 
Title  FOI?EIR  Requests Policy & Procedure 
Author  Information Security Forum 
Filename   
Owner  Senior Information Risk Owner 
Subject   
Protective Marking  NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 
Review date  Yearly 

 
 

Revision History 
 

Revision 
Date 

Revision  Previous 
Version  

Description of Revision  

[Date] V 1.0  Initial document 
    
    
    
    
    
    
    

19
Page 239



 
 

Information Requests Policy 
 

 
Introduction 

 
The Freedom of Information Act 2000 is designed to promote greater openness and 
transparency throughout the public sector. Under the Act any person, has rights of access 
to recorded information held by the Council. 
 
Requests for information can arrive in any part of the organisation by a number of means.  

 
In responding to any request for information regard must be had to the potential impact of 
the Freedom of Information Act (FOI), the Environmental Information Regulations (EIR), 
the Data Protection Act (DPA) and the Councils policies on Access to Information. 

 
Anyone responding to or handling a request for Information must take into account the 
policy agreed by the Executive on 4th November 2004 which states: 

 
• The Council will consider that it is in the public interest to disclose information unless 

it can be clearly shown that it is in the public interest not to do so (e.g. because such 
disclosure would cause substantial harm or breach confidentiality). In particular the 
Council will not regard the following factors as reasons to withhold disclosure: 
 

• that disclosure may reveal incompetence on the part of, or corruption within, or 
would cause embarrassment to the Council: and 
 

• that information is too complicated for the applicant to understand, or that disclosure 
might misinform the public because it is incomplete. 

 
 
Submitting a Request For Information 
 
To request information from Cardiff Council, individuals should first check whether it is 
available through the publication scheme (in many cases it will be quicker to simply use the 
search facility on this website). If an applicant cannot find what they are looking for they 
should submit a formal request under the Act, giving as much detail as possible, using the 
contact details below: 
 
Email: foi@cardiff.gov.uk 
 
Post:  
Information Request Officer,  
Room 108,  
County Hall,  
Atlantic Wharf,  
Cardiff Bay, 
CF10 4UW 
 
Submit an online request: 
http://www.cardiff.gov.uk/content.asp?nav=2872,3252,4532,6313&parent_directory_id=286
5&pagetype=&keyword 
 

20
Page 240



 
 

 
Processing of Requests for Information 
 
There are three main options for processing requests: 

 
• immediate release of routine and Publication Scheme Information, 
• Business as Usual Response & Release by Service Area, 
• official FOI/EIR Requests – Managed by the Improvement & Information Team and 

assisted by the relevant service area FOI Officers. 
 

The Council has developed precedent letters which comply with our statutory obligations 
under the Freedom of Information Act and Environmental Information Regulations which 
must be used at all times. 

 
 

Immediate Release 
 

Information that is reasonably accessible to an applicant by other means is exempt from 
FOI.  This includes information identified in the Council’s Publication Scheme.  Where a 
request can be fully satisfied by providing or referring to information identified in the 
Publication Scheme the only action required is: 

 
• To provide, or refer the applicant to, the appropriate information in the manner 

identified in the Publication Scheme. 
 

• There is no requirement either to record the request or the response for FOI 
purposes if the information is provided as above, unless the request specifically 
refers to FOI or EIR in which case it must be logged as an FOI request and Section 
21 letter should be sent to record the transaction. 
 

• Where information is exempted under Section 21 of the Act, a refusal notice under 
Section 17 does not have to be issued when the applicant is advised where and how 
the information may be obtained.  Normal records of the communications should be 
kept so as to be able to satisfy the Information Commissioner that appropriate 
advice and assistance was given. 
 

• Where information is available under the Publication scheme the response providing 
the information, or advising where it may be found, must be sent promptly and within 
five working days as a minimum.  If the information needs to be viewed at the 
Council’s premises, the Council must contact the individual within five working days 
to arrange an appointment convenient to both parties. 
 
 

Business as Usual Response & Release by Service Area 
 

Service Areas should handle the majority of routine requests for information that they 
receive in the normal way without logging them as FOI requests (unless the request 
specifically states FOI / EIR). This is the business as usual principle.  There is no need to 
add any additional process or bureaucracy to the handling of simple requests.  

 
Consideration should only be given to deal with such requests under FOI / EIR if the 
Council is considering not disclosing information, in which case FOI / EIR should be 
invoked to ensure lawful processes are followed if exempting information from disclosure. 

21
Page 241



 
 

 
If a request for information is submitted through complaints procedures specifically 
requesting information under FOI / EIR, dialogue should be opened up to deal with such 
requests through business as usual channels as part of the complaints procedure rather 
than added additional bureaucracy and dealing with the request under FOI / EIR. 

 
However in such cases the applicant should be informed of this and advised that 
information disclosed specifically under FOI would be available to any other member of the 
public and that under the Council’s duty to assist the customer it would be more beneficial 
to deal with the request without invoking FOI / EIR.   
 
However care should be taken to ensure that information disclosed does not breach the 
Data Protection Act and other legislation in the same way as formal FOI / EIR requests. 

 
If the applicant wishes to request information in relation to themselves this is exempt from 
FOIA/EIR.  This type of request is known as a Subject Access Request and should be 
handled in line with the Data Protection Requests for Information Policy.  These requests 
should be passed immediately to the Improvement and Information Team 
 
Multi Service Area Requests – Managed by the Improvement & Information Team 
and assisted by the relevant service directorate officers. 

 
Any such request for information will need to be logged and managed as a formal request 
where any of the following apply: 

 
• Officers in receipt of the request anticipate for any reason that we may not,  or 

cannot, answer the request in full. 
• The request for information specifically mentions FOI or EIR. 
• There is doubt about how to respond and advice from Improvement & Information 

about the implications of FOI, EIR or DPA is required. 
• The effort expended in retrieving the information is estimated to incur costs 

(calculating staff time at £25 per hour) above the prescribed level (£450) i.e. more 
than 18 man hours work will be required to identify, locate and retrieve the 
information. 

• The information cannot easily be provided in the form requested. 
 

Decisions to exempt information from disclosure may be made primarily by Service Area 
FOI Officers and accompanied by required evidence to support the engagement of an 
exemption, but the ultimate decision on disclosure would be made by the Improvement & 
Information Operational Manager with the exception of the engagement of Section 36 
exemption decisions which must be referred to the Council’s qualified person.  

 
 

Release and Refusal Process 
 

The Improvement & Information team will be responsible for the release process and 
ensuring that any documents are correctly redacted as necessary in accordance with the 
decision made and that formal notices comply with legislative requirements concerning 
complaints and reviews – however the redacting process is the responsibility of officers 
within the relevant Service Area where the information had been obtained from. 
 
The Improvement and Information team will quality assure all responses before they are 

22
Page 242



 
 

released.  This is to ensure that exemptions are correctly applied and that redaction has 
been undertaking correctly.  

 
The Improvement & Information team are responsible for ensuring consideration is given to 
the inclusion of a copyright warning either in the release letter or as a separate note if 
appropriate to the information disclosed. 

 
The Improvement & Information team will also be responsible for issuing the appropriate 
notice in those cases where there is a refusal to confirm or deny holding information. 
 
 
Yellow Paper Exempt Information 
 
It is important to note that information exempt from disclosure at Council/Committees under 
the Local Government Regulations does not in itself exempt the material from disclosure 
under the FOI/EIR access regimes. 
 
Such information must be supplied in respect of any requests submitted covering such 
information, and the Improvement & Information Team will seek the views of the Monitoring 
Officer when considering a request which covers such material. 
 
Contracts 
 
The Council is required under its Publication Scheme requirements, amended to reflect the 
requirements of the Protection of Freedoms Act 2012, to routinely publish dataset 
information, including information relating to contracts awarded by the Council. 
 
All contracts should contain FOI/EIR clauses setting out the process of an information 
request being received, and third parties should be contacted and asked for their views on 
potential disclosure of information requested under FOI/EIR. 
 
In line with the Ministry of Justice Guidance, authorities are strongly advised not to accept 
confidentiality clauses in procurement contracts that conflict with their obligations under the 
Freedom of Information Act and Protection of Freedoms Act. 
 
 Under the terms of the Freedom of Information Act the decision whether to withhold, or 
disclose the information, is ultimately a matter for the Council.  This is regardless of 
whether the information was originally supplied by a third party.   Te fact that a disclosure 
would be in breach of contract cannot be used as the primary factor in determining not to 
disclose the information under the Act (as there is no absolute exemption provided for this)" 

 
 

Timescales 
 

The 20 working day limit for processing requests means that all involved will have to work 
to very tight timescales.  The timescales shown are a maximum and where one stage can 
be completed earlier, the next stage should be commenced immediately. 
 
Compliance with requests will be reported in the Council’s Quarterly Performance Reports, 
and failure to comply with requests within 20 working days can result in Enforcement 
Action being taken against the Council. 

 
 

23
Page 243



 
 

Reviews & Complaints 
 

Cardiff Council operates an Internal Review procedure for FOI and EIR requests which 
aims to comply with the Section 45 FOIA Code of Practice and the Information 
Commissioners Office’s Code of Practice on Internal Reviews.  This procedure will be 
followed with any complaints regarding the handling of FOI/EIR requests  
 
 
Responsibilities 
 
The Council has a responsibility to make its recorded information available in accordance 
with the Data Protection Act. Corporate responsibility for ensuring compliance with this 
policy lies with the Senior Information Risk owner. 
 
Day to day responsibility for co-ordinating the Council’s Freedom of Information function 
lies with the Operational Manager, Improvement & Information. 
 
All Members and Officers should familiarise themselves with this policy and the Freedom of 
Information Act and Environmental Information Regulations guidance which is available on 
the intranet. 
 
Requests for personal information must be dealt with in line with the Council’s Data 
Protection Requests for Information Policy. 

Failure to comply with this policy could have serious consequences for the Council. It is 
important to seek advice if in doubt. 

 
Publication Scheme  
 
In addition to answering individual requests for information the Council has adopted, as 
required by the Freedom of Information Act, a legal publication scheme which sets out the 
type of information which it will make routinely make available. The Council has adopted 
the Information Commissioner’s amended 2013 model scheme without modification which 
takes into account the requirements of publishing data sets in line with the Protection of 
Freedoms Act.  

 
Related Policies  
 
This policy should not be read in isolation.  In particular this policy should be read in 
conjunction with the Council’s: 

a)  Records Management Policy 
b)  Data Protection Policy & Procedure 
c)  Information Governance Strategy 
d)  Data Protection Requests for Information Policy 
e) Information Management Strategy 

 
 

 

24
Page 244



Name of System:  Appendix 1C 
Responsible Officer: 
If approved, anticipated go live date: 
 

1 
 

Privacy Impact Assessment Procedure 
 
What is a PIA? A PIA helps assess privacy the risks around the privacy of 
individuals in the collection, use and disclosure of information and foresee 
any problems and assist in bringing forward solutions. A PIA will also 
identify risks to individuals’ privacy together with DP compliance liabilities 
for the Council. This is important as there is a need to ensure that we 
protect the reputation of the Council and build public trust and confidence 
in what the Council proposes to do.  
 
What are the risks of not carrying out a PIA?  
The risks are:  

• Need for re-design all or major parts of the system, which could be 
particularly costly if the risks are realised late in the development 
stage  

• Collapse of the project or the completed system as a result of 
adverse publicity and/or withdrawal of support by key participating 
organisations  

• Loss of credibility as the public perception is that the system does 
not protect their personal data adequately and safeguard their 
privacy  

• Subsequent imposition of regulatory conditions as a response to 
public concerns, with the inevitable cost that entails  

• Breach of privacy law, with the possibility of litigation and 
substantial financial penalties being issued against the Council.  

 
When should a PIA be conducted?  
 
A PIA must be completed at an early stage of a project, when: the project 
is being designed; you know what you want to do; you know how you 
want to do it; and you know who else is involved. However ideally it 
should be started before: decisions are set in stone; you have procured 
systems; you have signed contracts/agreements with any third parties 
 
How should I do it?  

If the PIA is being run as part of a project, every attempt should be made 
to integrate the PIA within that project. Privacy risks should not be 
considered in isolation from other types of risks – when determining 
priorities you need to weigh all risks against one another.  

It is important to remember that a PIA is a process to ensure privacy risks 
are addressed throughout the lifecycle of the project – it is not about 
ticking boxes and producing documentation. Nevertheless, you also need 

25
Page 245



 

to have a record – usually in the form of a PIA Report - of the measures 
that were taken to address the privacy issues in the project. This is so 
that there is:  

• accountability and transparency – the report is likely to be 
published under the Council’s Freedom of Information Publication 
Scheme  

• a basis for the post implementation review  

• a basis for audit  

• a record to be called up for future PIAs . PIA’s can be re-used 
subject to appropriate review for subsequent substantially similar 
projects.  

 
Who should do it?  

Whoever is in a position to manage the risks and influence design 
decisions. For projects that is likely to be the project manager; for data 
sharing it is likely to be the Service Information Owner 

The role of Improvement & Information Management  
 
The Improvement & Information Management Team are corporately 
responsible for ensuring the Council’s complies with privacy laws, 
including: 

• The Data Protection Act, 

• Privacy & Electronic Communication Regulations, 

• Article 8 of the Human Rights Act, 

• Freedom of Information Act & Environmental Information Regulations, 
and 

• Links to Records Management requirements 

The Improvement & Information Management Team will not approve the 
use of any new systems or processing of data without the completion of a 
Privacy Impact Assessment and formal record of the decision in respect of 
a project. 
 
All Privacy Impact Assessments must be completed and returned to 
DataProtection@cardiff.gov.uk  
 
 
 
 
 

26
Page 246

mailto:DataProtection@cardiff.gov.uk


 

What are the outcomes of an effective PIA?  
 
The outcomes of an effective PIA will be:  

● identification of a project’s privacy impacts  

● an appreciation of those impacts from the point of view of each group of 
stakeholders  

● understanding of the acceptability of the project from those affected by 
it  

● identification of ways to avoid negative impacts on privacy  

● identification and assessment of less privacy-invasive alternatives  

● where negative impacts on privacy are unavoidable, clarification of the 
business needs that justify them  

● documented and published outcomes  

 
What do I do next? 
 
Consider Appendix A – Privacy impact assessment screening questions.  
Complete Section 1 of the PIA (Appendix B). 

 

Sections 2 and 4 are to be completed by the Information Management 
Team.  

 

Section 3 is for ICT Security Team to complete.  

 

A process map for Privacy Impact Assessments is overleaf. This 
will evidence the steps taken during the procedure.  

 

 

 

27
Page 247



 

 
 

– 60 day timescale begins 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

          YES  

 

 NO 

 

 

 

 

 

PIA provided to 
Improvement & 
Information 
Team  

Acknowledgement 
provided to officer  

Information Management 
officers meet with ICT to 
discuss new project and 
assess risk of capturing 

personal data.  

Fortnightly meeting 
between Information 

Management officers meet 
to discuss PIA.  

 

IM Officer to 
complete 

appendix B in 
template and 
communicate 

actions to 
service.  

PIA approved or 
rejected   

Are there any queries or 
actions?   

Decision 
communicated to 

service.  

Service 
complete 
actions 

and return 
to IM   

Process Map for Privacy Impact Assessments 

28
Page 248



 

Privacy impact assessment screening questions (appendix a) 
 
These questions are intended to help you decide whether a PIA is 
necessary. Answering ‘yes’ to any of these questions is an indication that 
a PIA would be a useful exercise. You can expand on your answers as the 
project/business changes develops if you need to. 
  
Will the project/business change involve the collection of new 
information about individuals? 
 
Will the project/business change compel individuals to provide 
information about themselves? 
 
Will information about individuals be disclosed to organisations or 
people who have not previously had routine access to the 
information? 
 
Are you using information about individuals for a purpose it is not 
currently used for, or in a way it is not currently used? 
 
Does the project/business change involve you using new 
technology that might be perceived as being privacy intrusive? For 
example, the use of biometrics or facial recognition. 
 
Is the information about individuals of a kind particularly likely to 
raise privacy concerns or expectations? For example, health 
records, criminal records or other information that people would 
consider to be private. 
 
The completion of the PIA will help the Improvement & Information 
Management Team address any relevant risks associated to your 
project/business change.   
 
Section 1 of the PIA must be completed by the project team or service 
change lead, and submitted onto Improvement & Information 
Management Team to advise further. 
 
The Improvement & Information Team need a minimum of 60 working 
days to consider section 1 of the PIA and may need further information in 
order to make a full determination of any privacy/data protection risks.   
 
Please note, A PIA is not required where the service is simply contracting 
out with a data processor to process personal data within systems, but 
only in cases where the data processor will be conducting further services 
on behalf of the Council.  You should consider the PIA in conjunction with 
the Council’s Data Processor and Data Processing Guidance for staff. 
 

29
Page 249



 

Privacy impact assessment template (appendix b)  
 
Section 1 
 
  
Identify the need for a PIA 
  
Explain what the project aims to achieve, what the benefits will be 
to the Council, to individuals and to other parties.  
 
Please include the scope of the project and particular emphasise on 
how such data is intended to be processed.  If a Project paper or 
Mandate already exists please also provide this as background. 
 
If personal data is not involved in the Project/Business 
Change, a PIA is not required. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

30
Page 250



 

Using Technical systems or devices 
 
If this Privacy Impact Assessment involves a technical/IT system, it 
is important to examine the ICT security risks involved in its 
application.  
 
Please identify what system will be used and how it is 
managed and monitored.  
 
 
 
Describe the information flows 
 
Please advise where the data collected is obtained from.  Does the 
project involve the use of existing personal data and will additional 
data be collected?  Fully explain if how the data collated and 
processed at present. 
 
To provide enough information to allow the Improvement & 
Information Team to consider this in full, please answer the 
following: 
 
Please outline the types of personal/sensitive data which 
will be processed: 
 
 
 
 
 
Who will have access to it? 
[This includes both internally and externally.  Describe any sharing 
arrangements and what the level of access is.  It may help to 
produce a diagram to show the data flows.] 
 
 
 
 
 
How will it be transmitted to third parties? 
[If data is already been transmitted to third parties please describe 
how this is currently occurring and explain what if any agreements 
are already in place allowing for data to be transferred to such 
parties] 
 
 
 
 

31
Page 251



 

 
How will it be stored, kept up to date and disposed of when 
no longer required? 
[This refers to all parties who have access to the information.  How 
will the Council keep the information up to date, and ensure it is 
disposed of when no longer required.  How will third parties if 
applicable also comply with this?  Please detail the agreed retention 
details of such information.] 
 
 
 
 
 
 
How are individuals whose data will be processed advised of 
the Council’s potential processing of their data? 
[This refers to data which the Council is the owner of.  Does the 
Council have Fair Processing Notices/Disclaimers or information 
online which is provided to individuals’ whose data may be 
processed in line with this project/business change advising of how 
the Council may process their information.] 
 
 
 
Consultation requirements 
 
Please provide a list of all individuals involved in the project and 
those that may be affected by it. At this stage you want to have as 
broad a list of groups as possible- this can be edited down at a later 
stage for more focused consultation.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

32
Page 252



 

Section 2 – (For Information Management to complete) 
 
 
Identify the privacy and related risks 
 
Identify the key privacy risks and the associated compliance and 
corporate risks. Any risks identified within this section should also 
be referenced on the service area Information Risk Return.  Please 
consult with your service Information Asset Owner for further 
details.  
 
Privacy issue Risk to 

individuals 
Preliminary 
assessment of 
Risk H/M/L 

 
 

  

 
 
 
 
Identify privacy solutions 
 
Describe the actions to be taken to reduce the risks, and any future 
steps which would be necessary (eg the production of new guidance 
or future security testing for systems).  
 
Risk  Solution(s)      

   
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

33
Page 253



 

Section 3 – (For ICT to complete) 

 
ICT Security  
 
If the project involves a new or existing technical system it is important to 
identify any risks to ICT security that may arise as a result of the 
implemented business change. Describe the risks to the organisation and to 
the individual whose data is being processed.  
 
It is also important to indicate at this stage whether the solution requires sign 
off at ART. Please state YES or NO giving a full explanation for either answer.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Security Issue  Solution(s) Preliminary 

Assessment of Risk 
H/M/L 

 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 

  

34
Page 254



 

Section 4 – (For Information Management to complete)  
 
 
Sign off and record the PIA outcomes  
 
Who has approved the privacy risks involved in the project? What 
solutions need to be implemented?  
 
Risk Approved solution Approved by  
 
 
 
 

  

 

 

 
 

  

 

Action Monitoring   
 
Please state the date on which the project was referred to the 
Information Management and ICT panel. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Who is responsible for the PIA actions?  
 
Action to be 
taken 

Date for 
completion of 
actions 

Responsibility for 
action 

 
 
 
 

  

 

 

35
Page 255



 

Appendix C 
 
Linking the PIA to the data protection principles 
 
Answering these questions during the PIA process will help you to identify 
where there is a risk that the project will fail to comply with the DPA or 
other relevant legislation, for example the Human Rights Act. 
  
Principle 1 

Personal data shall be processed fairly and lawfully and, in 
particular, shall not be processed unless: 

a) at least one of the conditions in Schedule 2 is met, 
and 

b) in the case of sensitive personal data, at least one 
of the conditions in Schedule 3 is also met. 
 

Have you identified the purpose of the project? 
 
How will you tell individuals about the use of their personal data? 
 
Do you need to amend your privacy notices? 
 
Have you established which conditions for processing apply? 
 
If you are relying on consent to process personal data, how will this be 
collected and what will you do if it is withheld or withdrawn? 
 
If your organisation is subject to the Human Rights Act, you also need to 
consider: 
 
Will your actions interfere with the right to privacy under Article 8? 
 
Have you identified the social need and aims of the project? 
 
Are your actions a proportionate response to the social need? 
 

Principle 2 

Personal data shall be obtained only for one or more specified and 
lawful purposes, and shall not be further processed in any manner 
incompatible with that purpose or those purposes. 
 
Does your project plan cover all of the purposes for processing personal 
data? 
 
Have you identified potential new purposes as the scope of the project 
expands? 
 

Principle 3 

36
Page 256



 

Personal data shall be adequate, relevant and not excessive in 
relation to the purpose or purposes for which they are processed. 
 
Is the quality of the information good enough for the purposes it is used? 
 
Which personal data could you not use, without compromising the needs 
of the project? 
 
 
Principle 4  

Personal data shall be accurate and, where necessary, kept up to 
date. 
 
If you are procuring new software does it allow you to amend data when 
necessary? 
 
How are you ensuring that personal data obtained from individuals or 
other organisations is accurate? 
 

Principle 5 

Personal data processed for any purpose or purposes shall not be 
kept for longer than necessary for that purpose or those purposes. 
 
What retention periods are suitable for the personal data you will be 
processing? 
 
Are you procuring software that will allow you to delete information in line 
with your retention periods? 
 

Principle 6  

Personal data shall be processed in accordance with the rights of 
data subjects under this Act. 
 
Will the systems you are putting in place allow you to respond to subject 
access requests more easily? 
 
If the project involves marketing, have you got a procedure for individuals 
to opt out of their information being used for that purpose? 
 

Principle 7 

Appropriate technical and organisational measures shall be taken 
against unauthorised or unlawful processing of personal data and 
against accidental loss or destruction of, or damage to, personal 
data. 
 
Do any new systems provide protection against the security risks you 
have identified? 
 

37
Page 257



 

What training and instructions are necessary to ensure that staff know 
how to operate a new system securely? 
 
Principle 8  

Personal data shall not be transferred to a country or territory 
outside the European Economic Area unless that country of 
territory ensures and adequate level of protection for the rights 
and freedoms of data subjects in relation to the processing of 
personal data. 
 
Will the project require you to transfer data outside of the EEA? 
 
If you will be making transfers, how will you ensure that the data is 
adequately protected? 
 

 
 

38
Page 258



1 
 

Appendix 2 
Use of Body Cameras for Civil Enforcement Officers 
 
 
Background 
 
Improvement & Information have been approached by the Network 
Management Team within City Management and provided with an initial Officer 
Decision report on the potential use of Body Cameras for Civil Enforcement 
Officers. 
 
The contents of this report have been put together on the same basis as a 
report produced regarding the potential use of Body Cameras for Waste 
Enforcement Officers in August 2012. 
 
In order to use such devices the Council has to be able to demonstrate that 
data processing would be valid under the Schedule 2 and Schedule 3 
Conditions of the Data Protection Act and ensure that the use of the devices 
comply with the Information Commissioners Office CCTV Code of Practice and 
article 8 of the Human Rights Act. 
 
The likely conditions fall under Schedule 3 are in bold in the following list: 

 
• Explicit consent has been given by the data subject 
• Necessary for the purpose of Employment rights/obligations 
• Necessary to protect the vital interest of the data subject or another 

person  
• Processing is carried our in the course of its legitimate activities 
• Information contained in the personal data has been made public as a 

result of steps taken by the data subject  
• Processing is necessary in connection with Public functions 
• Necessary for compliance with any legal obligation  
• Necessary for medical purposes  
 

 
The officers have been asked to provide justification on how processing would 
meet any of the Schedule 3 conditions and as a result it has become apparent 
that the use of such devices would be for the Prevention and Detection of Crime 
and for the Health and Safety of the Civil Enforcement Officers.  However if the 
Council was to use these as reasons for implementing this type of technology 
this would need to be backed up with sufficient evidence to demonstrate how 
the use would be proportionate. 
 
The evidence provided by the Network Management Team and considered 
under the Data Protection Act – Schedule 3: 
 
(i) Necessary to protect the vital interest of the data subject or another 

person 
 

During the course of their duties, civil enforcement officers are presented 
on an almost daily basis with verbal abuse from motorists and the 

Page 259



2 
 

general public. In most cases they accept this as a consequence of the 
role they carry out on behalf of the Council in enforcing parking 
contraventions.  However, from time to time motorists can become angry 
and potentially violent and in such circumstance body worn CCTV 
cameras could be activated. It has been reported from other parties that 
the activation of these devices together with a verbal warning that 
recording is taking place has been shown to calm the situation down and 
protect the officer from attack. 
 

Actual examples of serious physical assaults/ threats in the past four months 
include:  
 

(a)   On November 5th 2012 two CEOs were reporting a vehicle in May 
Street Cathays and had affixed the penalty charge notice to the 
vehicle. The owner arrived and immediately became aggressive, after 
which he leaned into the car and took out a metal bar/ torque wrench. 
He proceeded to chase one officer around the cars with the intention 
of causing grievous bodily harm. The Police were called and attended 
swiftly and apprehended the aggressor. This incident has been 
logged in the Council’s dangerous occurrences records, and both 
officers took time off work to recover from the shock of the incident. 

 
(b) On 11th November 2012 a CEO was physically assaulted in Charles 

Street and was struck to the ground, suffering a fractured elbow, cuts 
and bruises, and of course suffering shock afterwards. She is currently 
on extended sick leave and it is not known yet whether she will be able 
to return to work due to fear of repetition. The Police again attended 
rapidly and the aggressor was arrested and will face prosecution. 
 
Although most incidents are accepted as “part of the job”, a further 8 
incidents have been deemed of sufficient gravity to be recorded on the 
corporate Health and Safety records over the period April 2011 to 
December 2012. In addition to these incidents there are many more 
lower level incidents that are not recorded and these occur on a daily 
basis. 

 
Further information supplied: 
 

For most of the time the camera would be switched off and it is only in 
cases of perceived aggression that the unit would be activated and 
recording would begin.  The unit would be switched off again after the 
event to reduce unnecessary filming.  The recordings should be linked to 
a potentially violent persons database (PACD) (justifying the recording) 
and stored securely on the Council’s computer network and if not 
required would be deleted or over-written after say one month.  
Therefore, personal data would not be retained for longer than absolutely 
necessary. 

 
Devices will be used to record incidents which can be used in Court 
proceedings. Additionally, it provides protection for the officers as it is a visible 
deterrent to any potential assailant, making a clear statement that their actions 
will be recorded, and records the actions of the officer, thereby reducing the 

Page 260



3 
 

scope for false allegations. These issues are particularly relevant to officers 
required to work alone and uncorroborated in isolated areas.  Whilst some 
areas of the County are covered by existing CCTV cameras, it should be 
stressed that not all of the areas of the County have such cameras, and also 
where there are cameras in some locations, the image recordings are not of a 
quality which would assist with any incidents/investigations. 
 
Officers have also asked that such devices are equipped with the use of audio, 
and have agreed clear parameters in regard to perceived aggression as which 
point devices would either be switched on, or where practical the Enforcement 
Officer will advise the member of the public that they are going to switch on the 
device. 
 
The definition of Perceived Aggression: 
 

• An individual threatening an Officer with a weapon 
• An individual threatening an Officer with the intention of causing bodily 

harm 
• An individual encroaching within an arms length of an Officer (within their 

personal space) 
• An individual making physical contact with an Officer 

 
It should also be noted that Civil Enforcement Officers would use their training 
provided (City & Guilds) to ensure that situations are calmed to their best of 
their ability without the need to switch on the actual device. 

  
  
Analysis 
 
Upon looking into the justification provided a number of factors have been 
considered: 
 
1. The use of CCTV has to be propionate to the purpose and there is enough 
evidence to back up how this could be justified.  Based on the information 
provided this would in my view would be justified by the Information 
Commissioners Office. 
 
2. The Information Commissioners’ Office has recently provided guidance on 
the potential use of such devices which in line with the evidence supplied to us 
back up the potential use of such devices: 
 
http://www.ico.org.uk/conference2013/~/media/documents/dpoc2013_document
s/DPOC2013_Upholding_information_rights_in_the_world_of_surveillance.ashx 
 
3. The devices could be potentially operated subject to a number of provisions 
which will ensure compliance with the Data Protection Principles: 
 

Page 261

http://www.ico.org.uk/conference2013/%7E/media/documents/dpoc2013_documents/DPOC2013_Upholding_information_rights_in_the_world_of_surveillance.ashx
http://www.ico.org.uk/conference2013/%7E/media/documents/dpoc2013_documents/DPOC2013_Upholding_information_rights_in_the_world_of_surveillance.ashx


4 
 

Principle 1 (Fair Processing) 
 
Clear and visible signs or audio announcements would be given to a member of 
the public that to inform them that devices would be switched on or being 
operated. 
 
The devices would be clearly visible as demonstrated in appendix 1.  There 
would also be notice given in the capital times, website and other media that 
officers were now equipped with such devices. 
 
In most cases an Enforcement Officer would give a clear announcement that 
they intend to switch on the device, however it such be noted that in some 
cases it might not be possible for officers in certain situations to give a clear 
announcement before switching on the device. 
 
Principle 5 (Retention of information) 
 
Retention periods should reflect the Council’s own purposes for recording 
images.  Such images would be kept for no longer than 31 days in line with the 
Council’s CCTV Policy and Code of Practice, and measures would be put in 
place to ensure permanent deletion through secure methods 
 
Principle 6 (Individuals Rights) 
 
The Council will need to ensure that it produces a clear Body Worn Cameras 
Policy to ensure that members of the public are aware of the reasons for 
processing and their rights to access. 
 
Members of the public will have rights to request any recordings held under the 
subject access provisions of the Act, which would need to be in line with the 
Council’s corporate Policy on access to information. 
 
There may also be occasions with other parties (such as the Police) may 
request such information, and in any such cases the Council’s Section 29/35 
non disclosure provisions procedures must be followed. 
 
Principle 7 (Security of Information) 
 
The Council must ensure that such images are kept secure.  Liaison will be 
required with ICT to ensure that the most appropriate secure systems are used 
for operation of such devices and that all images are downloaded directly onto 
the Council’s secure network. 
 
All Enforcement Officers will have to be provided with training (in line with the 
Council’s requirements for under the CCTV Policy).  Enforcement Officers will 
be provided with detailed Data Protection Training on the use of such devices, 
and a number of officers will need to be identified with the section to handle 
access requests for information (such officers would be required to obtain a 
Security Industry Licence).  
 
Audit procedures will need to be put in place to ensure that devices are being 
used in line with the requirements set out in the Body Worn Camera Policy.  An 

Page 262



5 
 

annual review will be conducted with compliance with the system, however for 
the first 6 month period of the system being operated full audits will be 
conducted every 4-6 weeks between the Improvement & Information Team and 
Internal Audit to ensure devices are being correctly operated. 
 
 
4. The key consideration for the Council is to ensure that: 

• there is a pressing need to capture images of people in this way, 
• give people appropriate information that such a system is in use, 
• cameras should only be ‘switched on’ during incidents which warrant a 

recording being made.  
 
5 The risk to the Council of using devices for recording audio as well as footage 
creates additional risks.  The ICO has raised concerns about a trend for 
attaching microphones and sound recording equipment to cameras.  The ICO 
has said that there are limited circumstances in which audio could be used, and 
given the particular purposes in this case I believe that this would also be 
justified, however Civil Enforcement Officers must inform members of the public 
of this, apart from where an incident occurs where the Civil Enforcement Officer 
does not feel that they are in a position/situation to be able to provide a clear 
message to the member of the public due to risk of harm being caused to 
themselves.  
 
 
Findings/ Recommendation 
 
The use of body warn cameras for Civil Enforcement Officers is in my view 
justified, subject to the provisions set out in this report being implemented: 
 
1. A clear Policy being implemented to ensure compliance with the Data 
Protection Principles 
2. Specific Data Protection training for the officers using the devices 
3. A full audit programme is in place to ensure the devices are not misused   
 
Evidence supplied backs up the potential use of such devices under the 
Schedule 2 and 3 Conditions of the Data Protection Act. 
 
The ICO have previously advised that there may be safety issues in that by 
wearing these devices, officers may become targets for attack, and this also 
needs to be taken into consideration. 
 
The Council does need to take extra care in consideration of any potential uses 
of such devices as the approval of the use of such devices could create an 
influx of officers who are more at risk of attack wishing to use such devices, the 
governance of which would be very difficult for the Council to control.  Therefore 
it should be stressed that the fact that such officers lone work is not the key 
reason behind any decision to approve the use of such devices. 
 
 

Page 263



6 
 

Recommendation 
 
This recommendation was passed onto the Senior Information Risk Owner 
(Christine Salter) to make the final decision regarding the use of body worn 
cameras within the Network Management Team. 
 
 
Decision 
 
Based on advice contained within this report, I am content that the use of body 
worn cameras be supported within the Network management Team. However I 
would suggest that it reviewed after twelve months operation and I would wish 
to receive an update report at that stage in order to confirm outcomes were as 
expected. 
 
Christine Salter (SIRO) 15 April 2013 
 
 
 
 
Report Complied by: Dave Parsons, Information Officer 
 
Agreed by: Vivienne Pearson, Operational Manager, Improvement & 
Information 
 
Date: 12th April 2013 
 
Agreed by SIRO: Yes 
 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix 2.1 – Image of potential device* 
Appendix 2.2 – Initial Officer Decision Report provided to Improvement & 
Information 
Appendix 2.3 – Impact Assessment conducted into the potential use of such 
devices 
 
* For clarity the images within Appendix 2.1 are different to that of the initial 
Officer Decision Report (Appendix 2.2) as the potential devices to be used 
changed from the date of the initial report. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 264



7 
 

Appendix 2.1   
 
Image of device 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 265



8 
 

Appendix 2.2 
 
OFFICER DECISION : REPORT  
 
ADDRESSED TO: Operational Manager (Network Management) 
 
PREPARED BY OR ON BEHALF OF:   Steve Carrel 
 
The delegation to be exercised is in accordance with 4D1.1 of the Council  
Scheme of Delegations(Part 3 - Responsibility for Functions) and with 
paragraph 1.2  of the Service Area Business Plan  
 
TITLE OF REPORT: Civil Enforcement Officers – Use of body worn CCTV 
cameras 
 
 
PROPOSAL: 
 
The recommended decision is:  
 

1. That the principle of using body worn cameras for personal protection 
purposes only be approved, and  

2. a process be commenced to acquire these devices via competitive tender. 
 
The reason for the recommended decision is: 
 
To offer personal protection to the civil enforcement officers when confronted with 
situations where the motorist is becoming aggressive and potential violence could 
arise. 

 
 
1 STATEMENT 
 
This report complies with the following general delegation in accordance with 
the Executive Scheme of Delegations. 
 
The Corporate Director, Director, Operational Manager, shall be authorised:- 
 
1.1 To make any decisions relating to any matter within their area of 

responsibility, provided always that the decision is: 
 

a) within budget 
b) in accordance with the Council’s policy framework 
c) in accordance with Council’s Financial and Land Procedure Rules    
and Contracts Procedure Rules 
d) in accordance with their Service Area Business Plan 

Page 266



9 
 

e) not a matter specifically reserved for Full Council, a Committee of the 
Council, the Executive or a Statutory Officer. 
 

1.2 To take appropriate action, which is necessary, to ensure the efficient,  
equitable and effective delivery of services. 

 
1.3 To exercise the following Delegations: 4D1.1 – to make any decision within 

the Operational Manager’s area of responsibility. 
 
2  BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 During the course of their duties, civil enforcement officers are presented 

on an almost daily basis with verbal abuse from motorists and the general 
public. In most cases they accept this as a consequence of the role they 
carry out on behalf of the Council in enforcing parking contraventions.  
However, from time to time motorists can become angry and potentially 
violent and in such circumstance body worn CCTV cameras could be 
activated. It has been reported from other parties that the activation of 
these devices together with a verbal warning that recording is taking place 
has been shown to calm the situation down and protect the officer from 
attack. 

 
3  ISSUES 
 
3.1 These cameras would be attached to the outside of the CEO’s uniform and 

could either display the Council ID card of the officer or more likely the 
CCTV wording on the yellow background, as illustrated below. The one 
showing the CCTV wording might be preferable because it displays the 
potential for recording even while dormant and so could act as a deterrent 
without the need for activation. In the event of an aggressive incident the 
device would be activated by sliding the badge or lens cover downwards to 
reveal the lens and the message in yellow. 

 

 
 

 
 

Page 267



10 
 

(these images are from a specific supplier’s web-site and are used to illustrate the general 
product only) 
 
 
3.2   For most of the time the camera would be switched off and it is only in 

cases of perceived aggression that the unit would be activated and 
recording would begin. The unit would be switched off again after the 
event to reduce unnecessary filming.  The recordings would be stored 
securely on the Council’s computer network and if not required would be 
deleted or over-written after say one month. Therefore, personal data 
would not be retained for longer than absolutely necessary.  

 
3.3   Actual examples of serious physical assaults/ threats in the past four       
months include:  
 

(a)   On November 5th 2012 two CEOs were reporting a vehicle in May 
Street Cathays and had affixed the penalty charge notice to the 
vehicle. The owner arrived and immediately became aggressive, after 
which he leaned into the car and took out a metal bar/ torque wrench. 
He proceeded to chase one officer around the cars with the intention 
of causing grievous bodily harm. The Police were called and attended 
swiftly and apprehended the aggressor. This incident has been 
logged in the Council’s dangerous occurrences records, and both 
officers took time off work to recover from the shock of the incident. 

 
(b)   On 11th November 2012 a CEO was physically assaulted in Charles 

Street and was struck to the ground, suffering a fractured elbow, cuts 
and bruises, and of course suffering shock afterwards. She is 
currently on extended sick leave and it is not known yet whether she 
will be able to return to work due to fear of repetition. The Police 
again attended rapidly and the aggressor was arrested and will face 
prosecution. 

 
 

3.4 Although most incidents are accepted as “part of the job”, a further 8 
incidents have been deemed of sufficient gravity to be recorded on the 
corporate Health and Safety records over the period April 2011 to 
December 2012. In addition to these incidents there are many more lower 
level incidents that are not recorded and these occur on a daily basis. 

 
3.5   It is the view of the managers of this area and the Health and Safety 

advisors that the use of these camera badges will assist in reducing 
serious verbal abuse and an escalation to violence and would show clearly 
to the officers that the Council values their safety. In such cases, the 
evidence collected by the device could be used by the Police in potential 
prosecutions and this would again send the appropriate messages to staff 
and the public. 

 
3.6   If approved, setting up the devices would require liaison with ICT, the Data 

Protection Officer and possibly other services within the Council. 
 

Page 268



11 
 

3.7 The CCTV camera units cost around £500 each, including the badge, 
software and charging equipment, but the tendering process would 
highlight whether cost reduction could be achieved by sourcing 50 units. 
Against this cost, it should be considered that the value of lost time in case 
(b) above will be significantly greater (current 3 months absence) than the 
cost of the CCTV unit which the CEO could have been carrying. 

 
 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
 The following are the background papers: None 
 
 
I agree the report and submit it for formal approval of the recommendation/s 
 
Name:  S.L. Carrel 
 

Signature: (inserted electronically) 
 
Designation: Team Leader (CPE)  
 

Page 269



12 
 

Appendix 3 
 
Cardiff Council Recording Devices Impact Assessment 
 
Section 1. 
 
 
1.1 CCTV Ownership & Operation 

 
Who is the designated owner of the CCTV device(s)? 
Steve Carrel, Network Management Team 
 
 
Who are the designated operators of the device(s)? 
Civil Enforcement Officers 
 
 
1.2 CCTV Purpose 

 
What is the proposed purpose for using CCTV? For example, the ICO CCTV 
Code of Practice identifies three main purposes for the use of CCTV which are 
Public Safety, Crime Prevention and National Security. 
Prevention and Detection of Crime 
Health & Safety of Civil Enforcement Officers 
 
 
Do you need images of identifiable individuals, or could the system use other 
images not capable for identifying the individual? E.g. this is dependant on 
purpose; however it should be noted that traffic cameras monitoring the traffic 
flow would not need to produce identifiable images of individuals. 
Yes, images need to be personally identifiable, which could be used in legal 
proceedings 
 
 
 
1.3 Benefits 

 
What are the benefits to be gained from the use of CCTV? 
Devices will be used to record incidents which can be used in legal 
proceedings. Additionally, it provides protection for the officers as it is a visible 
deterrent to any potential assailant, making a clear statement that their actions 
will be recorded, and records the actions of the officer, thereby reducing the 
scope for false allegations. These issues are particularly relevant to officers 
required to work alone and uncorroborated in isolated areas.  Whilst some 
areas of the County are covered by existing CCTV cameras, it should be 
stressed that not all of the areas of the County have such cameras, and also 
where there are cameras in some locations, the image recordings are not of a 
quality which would assist with any incidents/investigations. 
 
 

Page 270



13 
 

Can CCTV realistically deliver these benefits?  
Yes, as outlined in 1.3 
 
 
Can less privacy intrusive solutions, e.g. improved lighting achieve the same 
benefits? 
No, as outlined in 1.3 whilst there are existing cameras within the County in 
some areas, such devices are not fitted in every location of the County, and 
some of those devices operated by the Council are for traffic flow purposes and 
therefore do not provide adequate quality footage 
 
 
1.4 Suitability 

  
Will the particular equipment / system deliver the desired benefits now and 
remain suitable in the future? 
Such devices would be annually reviewed to ensure continued suitability 
 
 
What future demands may arise for the use of images and how will these be 
addressed? 
These will be addressed through Corporate Procedures for handling subject 
access requests or requests under the non disclosure provisions of the Act, and 
will be outlined within a new Body Worn Camera Policy 
 
 
 
 
1.5 Sustainability 
 
Will/or does the particular equipment / system of work being considered deliver 
the desired benefits and remain suitable in the future? e.g., the cameras must 
be sited and the system must have the necessary technical specification to 
ensure the images are of the appropriate quality for each cameras stated 
purpose. 
As outlined in 1.4 
 
 
 
1.6 Mitigation 
 
What are the views of those who are under surveillance?  Has any consultation 
been sought on this? 
 
 
 
Consultation is not required with members of the public on the use of such 
devices. In this case consultation has taken place between the Council 
Officers within Network Management and Improvement & Information, and 
also between the Council and Information Commissioners’ Office 

Page 271



14 
 

 
What could you do to minimise intrusion for those that may be monitored, 
particularly if specific concerns have been expressed? For example, permanent 
and moveable cameras should be cited and image capture restricted to ensure 
they do not view areas that are not of interest and are not identified to be the 
subject of surveillance. 
N/A 
 
 
Do you have clear signage in place to let people know they are in an area 
where CCTV is in operation? 
Such devices are clearly labelled as CCTV devices. 
Members of the public will also be informed of the use of such devices through 
various communications (website, capital times) 
 
 
Does the signage contain details of the organisation operating the system, the 
purpose for using CCTV and who to contact about the scheme? 
The device will not be able to display this information, however officers will be 
aware of the reasons for recording and advise members of the public.  
Communications of the use of such devices will clearly stipulate this. 
 
 
1.7 Legal 
 
Is there a proper legal basis for the use of the system and is it operated in 
accordance with the Law? i.e. The Information Commissioners Office sets out a 
CCTV Code of Practice to ensure organisations comply with legal requirements 
of the Data Protection Act. 
Yes, under Schedule 3 of the Data Protection Act - Necessary to protect the 
vital interest of the data subject or another person 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Do the current devices capture the necessary quality of images that could be 
used for legal proceedings? 
The intention is that such devices will capture images which could be used in 
legal proceedings 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 272



15 
 

 
Section 2 
 
2.1 Compliance with Privacy Laws 
 
Note: The Data Protection Act (DPA) is relevant to any PIA, and a DPA 
compliance check should always be carried out.  
 
2.2 Data Protection Act (DPA) 
 
The template to use for the DPA compliance check is based on the one in 
Appendix 2 of the ICO’s CCTV Code of Practice Revised Edition 2008 and can 
be found in Appendix A of this document.  
 
A Data Protection compliance check has been carried out as part of this PIA, 
the details of which are in Appendix A. From this we have concluded (provide 
details) 
 
 
2.3 Human Rights Act (Article 8) (HRA) 
 
Note: In most cases HRA considerations will be covered by the other work on 
this PIA, including the DPA compliance check. If that is the case, you can 
simply record here that there are no special considerations that are not covered 
by other aspects of the PIA. 
 
Section 3 
 
3.1 Approval 
 
Recommendation: Drawing on your analysis of the privacy risks, explain which 
option presents the best way forward. If significant risk remains, you should 
explain what the problem is and why the stakeholder consultation failed to 
resolve this. 
Recommendations on the potential use of such devices will be outlined in a 
report to the Senior Information Risk Owner 
 
 
Approval: Please record below who has approved the recommendation at 8.1 
and the terms of that approval 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 273



16 
 

Section 4 
 
4.1 Review or audit 
 
Note: Indicate below how and when an audit or review will be carried out. 
 
 
 
 
 
Completed by:D.Parsons/A.Lane Improvement and Information Team 
Date: 28/3/13  

Page 274



 
 

Page 1 of 18 
 

CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL  
CYNGOR DINAS CAERDYDD 
 
CABINET MEETING:  21 JANUARY 2016 

 
 
THE PERFORMANCE OF CARDIFF SCHOOLS IN 2014/15 
 
REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF EDUCATION & LIFELONG 
LEARNING 

AGENDA ITEM:   7 
 
  
PORTFOLIO: EDUCATION (COUNCILLOR SARAH MERRY) 
 
Reason for this Report  

 
1. To update Cabinet on the performance of schools in 2014/15.  
 
Background 
 
2. Following a previous pattern of unacceptably low standards in too many 

Cardiff schools, and an overall picture of attainment in the city which had 
not improved at a sufficient rate over a number of years, results in 2014-
2015 demonstrated acceleration in the rate of improvement on most 
measures, building on the improvements seen in 2013-2014. 

 
3. Estyn inspected Cardiff Local Authority in 2011 and whilst judging 

provision to be ‘adequate’ placed the authority in Estyn monitoring. In the 
February 2014 monitoring visit Estyn judged that Cardiff Local Authority 
required ‘significant improvement’.  Estyn noted the limited rate of 
improvement in attainment at age 16 over the previous three years, the 
marked variation between schools in similar contexts, an unacceptably 
wide gap between the attainment of pupils eligible for free schools meals 
and the rest, and the need for improved provision, including performance 
management, partnership working and the support and challenge 
provided to schools. 

 
4. The Central South Consortium had been established from September 

2012 with the remit to deliver, through the role of professional advisers, 
support and challenge to schools, and to deliver programmes of 
development to improve teaching and leadership in schools. Against the 
picture of 2013 attainment Estyn added a specific recommendation to 
strengthen support and challenge to schools in February 2014. Since 
then there has been significant reshaping of the focus and consistency of 
the work of the consortium with Cardiff schools, alongside the 
development of a peer to peer, ‘schools led’, improvement strategy, the 
Central South Wales Challenge.  

 

Page 275

Agenda Item 7



 
 

Page 2 of 18 
 

 
5. In response, the local authority set out in its Education Development 

Plan, and an Estyn Action Plan, a programme of improvement action, 
focusing on improving standards, provision and leadership in schools, 
and addressing the six recommendations made by Estyn in February 
2014. 

 
6. In the monitoring visits in March 2015, Estyn reported that since February 

2014 the authority has begun to strengthen its capacity in delivering 
school improvement services and made improvements to its performance 
management processes and its scrutiny arrangements for education 
services for children and young people.  However they reported that 
these improvements are still relatively recent and the local authority still 
faces many significant challenges, in improving educational performance, 
particularly in a minority of its secondary schools.    

   
7. In October 2015 they reported that overall, improvements in partnership 

working were contributing to better outcomes in schools.  However, they 
also commented that the authority has been less effective in working with 
partners to reduce exclusions and increase the proportion of young 
people who are engaged in education, employment or training.    

 
8. This report provides an initial analysis of educational outcomes for the 

academic year 2014-2015 and identifies the main strengths and 
shortcomings in performance. Overall results are final, based upon actual 
performance data published by Welsh Government. Results in all phases 
for FSM pupils are also provisional, pending publication of final FSM 
outcomes by Welsh Government in December 2015. 

 
Commentary 
 
9. The results for the 2014-2015 academic year build on the improvements 

seen last year. They indicate that the actions put in place to address 
longstanding shortcomings in provision are now having a positive impact 
on improving outcomes for learners.  Standards of attainment continue to 
improve in all key stages and in many indicators at a faster rate than 
across Wales as a whole. Despite this strengthening picture, outcomes at 
the end of each key stage are not yet high enough.  

 
10. There has been positive improvement in a number of areas: 
 

• In the primary phase, at the end of the Foundation Phase and Key 
Stage 2, improvements have continued at a faster rate than across 
Wales as a whole. The proportion of pupils achieving the 
Foundation Phase Indicator (FPI) and Core Subject Indicator (CSI) 
is in line with national averages; 

• The outcomes for pupils eligible for free school meals (eFSM) are 
improving at a faster rate than their peers in the primary phase and 
at Key Stage 3; 

Page 276



 
 

Page 3 of 18 
 

• At Key Stage 4 there has been further significant improvement (4.9 
ppt) in the Level 2 inclusive threshold to 60%. This has halved the 
number of secondary schools where less than 40% of pupils 
achieve five GCSEs grades A*-C including English or Welsh and 
mathematics from six to three; 

• The 4.5ppt increase in the outcomes of eFSM pupils in the Level 2 
inclusive threshold is greater than the 3.5ppt improvement across 
Wales as a whole. Cardiff’s eFSM pupils’ performance at this key 
stage is now slightly higher than the national average; 

• Minority ethnic pupils as a whole at Key Stage 4 perform at least in 
line with White UK pupils following further increases in their 
attainment overall; and 

• An increase in the number of schools in the highest benchmarking 
quarter (top 25%) and a reduction in the number of schools in the 
lowest benchmarking quarter. 

 
11.    Aspects of continuing concern: 

 
• The variation in standards achieved by schools with comparable 

pupil populations in both the primary and secondary sectors; 
• The markedly low performance in three secondary schools which 

has had a negative impact on the city’s overall attainment, 
attendance and exclusion figures; 

• The continuing impact of poverty on standards of attainment; 
despite the improvements in performance of pupils eligible for free 
school meals, the gap remains too wide; 

• The underachievement of some groups of learners, in particular 
some Minority Ethnic groups, White UK pupils in schools in 
deprived areas of the city and looked after children; 

• The proportion of pupils who are NEET and the related under 
achievement of vulnerable pupils, particularly at Key Stage 4 in the 
Level 1 threshold; and 

• Leadership, including governance, in a number of schools where 
progress has been limited. 

 
Performance continues to improve but there remains too much variation  
between schools, particularly in the secondary sector. 
 
12. In the Foundation Phase and Key Stage 2 the rate of improvement has 

increased in Cardiff in each of the past three years, whilst across Wales 
the rate of improvement has slowed. Cardiff is now at least in line with 
the national average in all the main indicators in the primary phase. 

 
13. At Key Stage 3 performance is still improving albeit the rate of 

improvement has slowed. At this key stage, in the CSI, Cardiff’s 
performance continues to be above the modelled expectations – the 
expected performance at any given FSM level based on the statistical 
relationship between FSM and achievement.  

 

Page 277



 
 

Page 4 of 18 
 

14. At Key Stage 4, outcomes improved in nearly all the main indicators. In 
the level 2+ threshold Cardiff’s performance increased again, making a 9 
percentage point (ppt) improvement over the last two years. Whilst there 
has also been improvement in the wider level 2 measure, the rate of 
improvement on this and on the level 1 measure, which decreased 
slightly overall in 2015, are of continuing concern in a number of 
secondary schools. 

 
15. Action to address weaknesses in poorly performing schools, through the 

work of challenge advisers, the systematic review of progress where 
standards are low, and where appropriate by the use of formal warnings 
from the local authority, are now being delivered at an earlier stage but 
there is a need for continued rigour in identifying causal factors in 
underperformance and acting promptly to ensure that these are 
addressed.  

 
16. There remain concerns around some lower attaining schools in 

challenging contexts where results have fallen, or where outcomes 
continue to place the school in the lowest benchmarking quarter. Four 
primary schools still have fewer than 70% of their pupils attaining the 
core subject indicator at the end of Key Stage 2. In the secondary sector, 
eight schools still have fewer than 50% of their pupils achieving the level 
2 inclusive threshold. 

 

 
 
 

Page 278



 
 

Page 5 of 18 
 

17. The significant difference between the highest and lowest performing 
secondary schools in the level 2 inclusive threshold is shown in the 
scatter graph below. The performance of each individual school in this 
measure is plotted against the school’s proportion of pupils eligible for 
free school meals. The graph clearly illustrates the variation in 
performance between schools with similar FSM figures. 

 

 

 
18. Action is being taken to support secondary schools in developing the new 

curriculum to ensure that potential decreases in outcomes resulting from 
these changes are minimised. The current performance indicators at Key 
Stage 4 are due to change in 2017, and a much more restrictive range of 
qualifications will be eligible for inclusion in the new measures. The 
extent of the challenge for schools depends upon the extent to which 
vocationally-based, inclusive qualifications, such as BTECs, have formed 
part of the curriculum offer in the past.  
 

19. Weaknesses in standards, provision and leadership persist in 
mathematics, particularly in the secondary phase. Plans to strengthen 
leadership and its impact on provision and standards are being 
implemented by the consortium through a core training programme, in 
school support and network meetings. 

 
 
 
 

Page 279



 
 

Page 6 of 18 
 

The performance of primary schools overall is relatively stronger than 
secondary schools overall. 

 
School Performance 
 
20. The profile of examination, test results and teacher assessments, taken 

together with inspection judgements and the benchmark comparison of 
Cardiff schools with similar schools across Wales suggests that the 
quality of provision in Cardiff schools is improving and becoming more 
consistent in the primary sector at a faster rate than in the secondary 
sector. This is reflected in the national categorisation of schools where a 
greater proportion of the city’s primary schools are in standards groups 1 
and 2 than is the case in Cardiff secondary schools. 

 
 2014-2015 2015-2016 

Primary Sector 48.4% 70.5% 
Secondary Sector 44.4% 55.6% 

 
 
21. However, in the secondary sector, benchmark comparisons show that 

there are currently not enough schools with the highest quality of 
provision, judged to be excellent. There is a greater difference in 
performance between groups of pupils vulnerable to underachievement 
and their peers in secondary schools than in primary schools. In the 
secondary sector, at the level 2+ threshold, the average difference in 
performance between eFSM pupils and non-FSM pupils in schools is 
21.8ppt. 

 
22. The performance of three secondary schools at the end of key stage 4 is 

significantly lower than the performance of the other schools in the 
secondary sector. The local authority has taken formal intervention action 
in these schools which has resulted in strengthened leadership and 
governance and clear indications are that standards in 2015-16 are 
improving. 

 
Categorisation 2014-2015 

 
23. In the primary sector, the proportion of schools in the categories requiring 

least support (green and yellow), is in line with both the Consortium and 
Wales figures with around a third of schools in these two support 
categories. Cardiff has a greater proportion in the green category which 
means that a greater proportion of schools have the capacity to support 
other schools and are playing a significant part in developing school to 
school work. 

 
24. In the secondary sector, the proportion of schools in the green and yellow 

categories is below both the Consortium and Wales figures with just 
under one half of Cardiff schools in these two support categories. 

 
 

Page 280



 
 

Page 7 of 18 
 

Support Category Primary 2014-2015 Secondary 2014-2015 

Green 25.3% 
24 out of 95 schools 

11.1% 
2 out of 18 schools 

Yellow 38.9% 
37 out of 95 schools 

33.3% 
6 out of 18 schools 

Amber 25.3% 
24 out of 95 schools 

22.2% 
4 out of 18 schools 

Red 10.5% 
10 out of 95 schools 

33.3% 
6 out of 18 schools 

 
Inspection Outcomes 
 
25. The Estyn inspection outcomes of Cardiff’s primary schools are stronger 

than across the secondary sector. The table below shows the 
comparative outcomes of school inspections requiring follow up activity 
over the last five years in Cardiff with Wales 2014-2015. 

 
 Primary Secondary 

Cardiff 50% 72% 
Wales 65% 69% 

 
26. Of the 76 primary schools inspected in Cardiff, whose reports have been 

published, thirty eight (50%) have required a follow-up activity; fourteen 
(18%) have required Estyn follow-up monitoring; two schools required 
special measures and six significant improvements. Nine schools 
received a judgment of excellent in one or both of the overall indicators, 
sixteen (21%) schools required local authority monitoring.  

 
27. Of the 18 secondary schools inspected 13 (72%) have required follow-up 

monitoring. Three of these required special measure and three significant 
improvement. Four schools required Estyn monitoring and three schools 
required local authority monitoring. Two schools received a judgement of 
excellent on one or both of the overall indicators. 

 
28. Inspection grades show that there are currently not enough schools with 

the highest quality of provision, judged to be excellent. There remain a 
small, but significant, number of schools where standards are too low, 
the quality of provision is inadequate and leadership is unsatisfactory. 
The largest proportion of these schools is in the secondary sector. 

 
Attendance 
 
29. Attendance in primary schools continues to improve. The primary figure 

for 2014/15 was 95.1% which was a 0.2ppt improvement on the previous 
year. Performance is above the average primary attendance for Wales of 
94.9% and Cardiff is now 6th out of the 22 local authorities in Wales. 
However, despite the improving picture, Cardiff’s primary attendance 
figure is the lowest out of the ten core cities and emphasises the need to 
raise levels of attendance further. Overall, 51.5% of primary schools 

Page 281



 
 

Page 8 of 18 
 

achieved an attendance rate over 95% and 27.4% of schools achieved 
attendance of 96% or above.  

 
30. The 2014-2015 overall attendance figure for secondary schools remained 

the same as in the last academic year at 93.8%, which is identical to the 
Welsh average. This places Cardiff 11th out of the 22 local authorities in 
Wales for secondary school attendance and 7th out of the ten core cities. 
Seven schools achieved attendance above 95% compared to five last 
year. Notably poor attendance in two schools impacted significantly on 
the overall city data. 
 

Exclusions 
 

31. Good progress has been made in maintaining low permanent exclusions. 
In 2013/14 the overall figure for Cardiff was 0.1 per 1000 pupils which 
was half the Welsh average of 0.2 per 1000 pupils. In 2014/15 there were 
4 permanent exclusions in the secondary phase and none in the primary 
phase. 

 
32. Good progress has also been made in reducing fixed term exclusions 

and in 2013/14 the rate for longer fixed term exclusions (1.1 per 1000 
pupils) was below the Welsh average (1.6 per 1000 pupils). However, the 
figure for shorter term exclusions (34.3 per 1000 pupils) was well above 
the national average (26.7 per 1000 pupils).  

 
33. In 2014/15 there were fixed term exclusions in around one third of 

primary schools and in all secondary schools. Primary rates reduced and 
are the same as available national averages. However, whilst showing a 
significant reduction, secondary rates continue to be above national 
figures due to relatively high exclusion rates in eight schools. Of these 
eight schools, three schools were very high excluders and five more had 
exclusion rates considerably above Wales and Cardiff’s averages. This 
had a negative effect on progress towards targets.  

 
34. Since September 2015 two of the secondary schools have significantly 

reduced exclusions and are in-line with the other twelve schools, with low 
exclusions. A further four schools have been successful in reducing 
exclusions this term. Only two secondary schools continue to be very 
high excluders. 

 
Improvements in challenge and support are making a difference overall 
but there are still a minority of schools causing concern 
 
35. A more robust working relationship between the local authority and the 

consortium is ensuring that schools receive the appropriate degree of 
challenge and more effective support. Brokered school to school working 
is increasing the range of effective support available to meet schools’ 
needs, in particular enabling improving schools to gain first hand access 
to good practice which they can replicate or adapt in their own context. 

 

Page 282



 
 

Page 9 of 18 
 

36. Over the last two years there has been a concerted effort to focus on 
increasing the transparency of data and strengthening the performance 
culture. Individual school data is shared in order to raise expectations 
across all areas of the city, and enable meaningful comparison of 
schools’ performance. 

 
37. Outcomes in schools where headline figures have been relatively high, 

but significant levels of underachievement existed (higher attaining but 
lower achieving), have been increased, some significantly so, through 
improved challenge and support. 

 
38. These strengthened arrangements to identify and intervene in 

underperforming schools are impacting on leadership capacity, standards 
of attainment and the quality of provision in schools. Outcomes improved 
in ten out of the fifteen schools that received a warning notice, letter of 
concern or where formal intervention actions were taken.  

 
39. In 2013-14, fourteen schools were inspected by Estyn, two of which were 

placed in a formal monitoring category. As a result of improvements in 
challenge and support these schools were judged to have made good 
progress when revisited by Estyn in 2014-2015.  

 
40. In 2014-2015, there were ten primary schools and six secondary schools 

categorised as requiring the most intensive (red) level of support. The 
increased challenge has led to changes in leadership in five of these 
schools. The implementation of bespoke needs led support has reduced 
the number of schools requiring red level of support in 2015-2016 
provisionally to 6 primary schools and 4 secondary schools. 

 
41. However, in 2014-2015, from the twenty one schools that were 

inspected, two secondary and four primary schools were placed in formal 
monitoring categories by Estyn. This highlights the continuing need for 
early and robust intervention in schools causing concern. 

 
Leadership and Governance are key 

 
42. Good leadership is key to ensuring that good or better teaching takes 

place in every lesson in every school. Overall the quality of leadership, 
including governance, in primary schools is stronger than that in the 
secondary schools. Since September 2010, Estyn inspections have 
judged that 75% of leadership and management in primary schools was 
good or excellent compared to 55% in secondary schools. 

 
43. In good or excellent schools, headteachers know their staff and pupils 

well. The quality of teaching and its impact on pupil progress is closely 
monitored and the dissemination of best practice throughout the school is 
strategically planned. Governors oversee the performance of their school 
effectively and demonstrate a sound understanding of their school’s data. 
They engage with senior leaders in a structured and professional 
manner. 

Page 283



 
 

Page 10 of 18 
 

44. Where schools in Cardiff are judged to be unsatisfactory, inspections 
always identify weaknesses in leadership. Frequent features are that: 
self-evaluation and planning for improvement are not robust enough and 
have not had enough impact on raising standards and improving the 
quality of teaching; performance management is weak; staff development 
programmes are ineffective; and governors do not challenge the school’s 
leaders rigorously enough or hold them to account fully for the standards 
that pupils achieve. 
 

45. In secondary schools where outcomes at the end of key stage 4 are 
relatively low, systems for tracking pupils’ progress are not robust 
enough and support for those pupils at risk of underachievement is 
ineffective. Leaders are unable to ensure that the quality of teaching is 
consistent across all subject areas. In some schools, strengths in one 
subject area are undermined by shortcomings in another. Such 
inconsistencies point to weaknesses in quality assurance and 
performance management processes. 

 
46. In 2015 in schools where the capacity to improve is judged to be good or 

better a system of “Peer Review” has been introduced. Eligible schools 
are grouped into threes and the headteachers work together to carry out 
a school review with a previously agreed focus. This allows good practice 
to be shared but also builds the skills of the headteachers involved. 

 
47. The local authority has commissioned a range of leadership development 

programmes that are arranged by the consortium and delivered by 
experienced leaders and practitioners.  

 
These include:  
• Aspiring middle leaders 
• Aspiring senior leaders 
• Aspiring headteachers 
• New to headship 
• Strategic headship (refresher course for heads in post 5 or more 

years and for those that need to make rapid improvement) 
• Consultant Leaders-for experienced high achievers who have the 

commitment and capacity to support other schools 
• Executive headship, for headteachers running more than one 

school. 
 
The feedback from participants in these programmes has been positive 
and the programmes are contributing towards the building of leadership 
capacity within schools. 
 

48. Governance has been strengthened through the provision of both generic 
mandatory training and bespoke training particularly in red and amber 
schools. The council has revised the process for appointing local 
authority governors and it has brokered a wide range of partnerships with 
businesses in the city to identify and place strong governors.  

 

Page 284



 
 

Page 11 of 18 
 

49. However, there remains a minority of schools where weak governance is 
hindering progress as governors have an overly positive view of the 
school’s performance and consequently there is insufficient challenge 
and holding of the school leadership to account. The consortium has 
recruited a number of experienced governors to act as consultant 
governors in schools where there is a need to further develop the role of 
the governing body.  

 
Performance of Minority Ethnic Pupils is improving in secondary schools 
at a faster rate than White UK pupils 
 
50. The attainment gap between Minority Ethnic pupils and White UK pupils 

reduces with each key stage from Foundation Phase through to Key 
Stage 4. There has been improvement over a three year period in the 
performance of Minority Ethnic groups as a whole in all phases.  

 
51. For the first time the performance of all Minority Ethnic groups in the Key 

Stage 4 Level 2+ indicator is in line with White UK pupils. Currently the 
pupils most at risk of underachievement are White UK pupils living in the 
more deprived areas of the city. 

 
52. In contrast, at Key Stage 2, the difference in performance of Minority 

Ethnic pupils and White UK pupils increased slightly in the CSI in 2015.  
This is partly due to the fall in overall outcomes of Black Caribbean, 
Chinese and White European pupils. 

 
53. In the main indicator at each key stage, the highest performing groups as 

such as Chinese, Asian, and Pakistani are now mainly second and third 
generation. The parents have a good understanding of the British 
education system, are aspirational for their children and support them to 
achieve and attain well.  

 
54. The lowest performing Minority Ethnic groups are Traveller/Romany and 

White European. The attendance at school and behaviour issues when in 
school of some learners belonging to both these groups impedes their 
attainment at all key stages but particularly in Key Stage 3 and Key 
Stage 4.  

 
55. EU Roma pupils’ progress is often impeded by complex pastoral issues 

and this group often need bespoke packages in the secondary phase to 
maintain engagement with education and to achieve their potential. 
Parents’ experiences of education in their home countries have not 
always been positive and this often has a negative impact on the value 
and importance that they give to the education of their children. 

 
Whilst performance overall is improving the outcomes of some vulnerable 
groups needs strengthening 
 
56. By the end of their primary education, 87.8% of pupils achieve the 

expected levels in the three core subjects of English/Welsh, mathematics 

Page 285



 
 

Page 12 of 18 
 

and science. The proportion of pupils at key stage 2 attaining a level 5 in 
at least one core subject has risen from 34% in 2013 to 42%. These 
improvements suggest that primary schools are getting better at 
identifying the more able pupils and developing their potential. 

 
57. Against this overall improving picture there is evidence that some pupil 

groups have lower outcomes, with the attainment of looked after children 
(LAC), those on free school meals (FSM), some minority ethnic groups, 
learners with English as an Additional Language (EAL), learners with 
Special Educational Needs (SEN) and some groups of boys being of 
particular concern. More needs to be done to narrow the gap in 
outcomes between disadvantaged pupils and their peers. 

 
58. In 2015, in the primary phase, the difference in performance between 

minority ethnic pupils and White UK pupils increased slightly. In a 
number of primary schools, particular those with high levels of EAL 
learners and significant pupil mobility there is a need to address more 
effectively the underlying factors that impact negatively on pupils’ 
outcomes in English, and to secure even closer collaboration between 
central teams, and the consortium to support schools in addressing this. 

 
59. The extensive programme of Flying Start provision in designated areas of 

Cardiff is enabling more young children to be ready to make a successful 
start to statutory education. 

 
60. The difference in performance of pupils who are eligible for free school 

meals (eFSM) and those not eligible (nFSM) is reducing in the primary 
phase. Leaders of primary schools understand that the first few years of 
education, particularly for those children from deprived backgrounds are 
crucial to future success. They know which pupils need help, track their 
progress carefully and use the pupil deprivation grant to fund additional 
support. Primary teachers focus more sharply on the importance of 
teaching good literacy and numeracy from the early years through to the 
end of key stage 2. 

 
61. In the secondary sector outcomes of eFSM pupils are still lagging far 

behind outcomes of non eFSM pupils. In 2014, the gap in GCSE 
attainment at the level 2+ threshold was 33.3 ppt. In 2015 it had slightly 
widened at 34.4ppt. The Welsh Government have put a greater focus on 
the attainment of eFSM pupils, factoring their performance into the 
national categorisation system. Provisional results for 2015 report that in 
Cardiff 31.9% of eFSM pupils attained the level 2+ threshold compared 
to 31.3% of eFSM pupils across Wales.  

 
62. The performance of Looked After Children at the end of each key stage 

and particularly at Key Stage 4 are still far too low and lower than their 
peers at each key stage. The difference is smallest in the Foundation 
Phase and widest at Key Stage 4. 

 

Page 286



 
 

Page 13 of 18 
 

63. In 2015 the proportion of SEN pupils attaining level 2 and level 2 
inclusive, increased for all groups and there was also an 8 ppt increase in 
the proportion of statemented pupils achieving level 1.  However,  the 
proportion of school action plus and school action pupils achieving  level 
1 fell, by 7 ppts and 1.7 ppts respectively.  This has led to the overall fall 
in level 1 threshold for all Cardiff pupils.   

 
64. The numbers of young people who are not engaged in education, 

employment or training (NEET) in Cardiff have continued to reduce and 
since 2010 fell from 8.8% to 4.26% in 2014. This percentage represents 
151 pupils out of a cohort of 3546 pupils. Of these 151 pupils, 36 young 
people (1.02%) could not or were unable to enter education, employment 
or training due to reasons including pregnancy, health related issues or 
custodial sentences. 

 
65. However despite this improvement, the proportion of young people in 

Cardiff who are NEET remains one of the highest in Wales.  In 2014 only 
Newport had a greater percentage of year 11 school leavers not in 
education, employment or training than Cardiff. Not all schools are 
ensuring that all their pupils leave schools with the knowledge and skills 
that employees seek. Performance at the wider Key Stage 4 level 2 
measure and the level 1 measure, is still of continuing concern in a 
number of secondary schools.  

 
66. Pupils who leave education without the necessary literacy and numeracy 

skills and with poor attitudes and motivation to enter further education or 
employer based training such as apprenticeships are more likely to 
become NEET.  The three secondary schools where pupil outcomes 
continue to cause most concern are the same schools that have yielded 
higher numbers of young people leaving at year 11, without a positive 
pathway to education, employment or training. 
 

Girls’ outcomes are higher than boys in most indicators but the 
performance of girls does not compare as well with national figures. 
 
67. In Cardiff, girls continue to outperform boys at all key stages and in 

nearly all indicators. The lower performance of boys relative to girls in the 
Foundation Phase and at Key Stage 2 is most noticeable in English. That 
said, from Key Stage 2, the performance of girls across Cardiff is lower 
than the performance of girls nationally in most areas. 

 
68. This is also the case at the higher levels in the primary phase, where 

there is a greater underachievement in the performance of girls relative 
to the national averages in the Foundation Phase in Language, Literacy 
and Communication – English and in English and science at Key Stage 
2. 

 
69. In the secondary sector, girls’ performance is stronger than boys in all the 

core subjects at Key Stage 3 and in the main performance indicators, 

Page 287



 
 

Page 14 of 18 
 

with the exception of mathematics, at Key Stage 4. However, compared 
to the national outcomes for girls and boys there is noticeable 
underperformance in the attainment of girls at the expected level in 
English at Key Stage 3 and mathematics and science at Key Stage 4. 

 
70. At level 6+ and level 7+ in Key Stage 3, there is a greater difference in 

the performance of girls and boys than there is at the expected level and 
the outcomes of both boys and girls are above the national averages. 

 
Priority Areas for Further Improvement 
 
Ensure greater consistency in the quality of schools’ provision 

 
71. Whilst there has been a marked reduction in the variation between 

schools, in terms of the quality of provision and learner outcomes, further 
action is needed to ensure that weaker provision is addressed earlier and 
that stronger leadership arrangements, including, where appropriate, 
through the active development of federations between schools, are put 
in place. 

 
Improve outcomes for some vulnerable learners 

 
72. Outcomes overall are improving at an accelerating rate, but some groups 

of learners are not making sufficient progress, or successfully moving 
into education, employment or training after leaving statutory schooling. 
There is a continuing need to strengthen tracking and intervention for 
pupils at risk of underachievement and to develop appropriate curriculum 
pathways to secure successful progression. 

 
Developing a self-improving school system 
 
73. The consortium wide approach to develop “schools led” improvement has 

taken root and is having a positive impact. It now needs to be further 
developed through: the active brokering role of Challenge Advisers; more 
formal mechanisms for commissioning and empowering strong schools 
and practitioners and through the transfer of resources to drive 
improvement into the strongest schools, coupled with more explicit 
accountability for impact and value for money. 

 
Consistently high quality teaching 
 
74. The quality of teaching in every classroom, in every lesson, is central to 

ensuring that learners achieve well, raising standards further and 
accelerating progress for all pupils. It is essential that teachers’ pedagogy 
is continually developed, the highest quality teachers are recruited and 
retained, against a framework of raised expectations, and robust 
performance management. 

 
 
 

Page 288



 
 

Page 15 of 18 
 

The best leaders in well governed schools 
 
75. Strong and effective leadership is key to ensuring that teaching 

throughout the school is consistently good or better. Further joint work 
with local authorities across the consortium is needed to recruit, retain 
and develop the best school leaders to work in Cardiff schools and to 
ensure that their work is effectively supported and challenged by strong 
governing bodies. 

 
76. These improvement priorities are aligned to the priorities set out in the 

Central South Consortium Business Plan which includes the shared 
priorities for educational improvement across the five constituent local 
authorities. 

 
77.  In addition Cardiff Local Authority is developing, with headteachers, 

governors and other partners, a distinct strategy for educational 
improvement in Cardiff. We recognise that excellent education is a key 
priority for the prosperity and social cohesion of the city. The economy of 
Cardiff is changing rapidly and old industries are being replaced by a 
much more dynamic and more fluid economy. Young people currently in 
our schools will face a future which is guaranteed to be different from 
whatever we may predict now. 

 
78. “Cardiff 2020 - Aiming for Excellence” will set out a renewed vision for 

education in Cardiff. It will build on the improvements made to date and 
will outline ambitious goals for excellence in education in Cardiff. The 
strategy is currently being developed and will be launched in Spring 
2016. 

Page 289



 
 

Page 16 of 18 
 

Summary Headline Results Across All Key Stages 
 

 
Cardiff Wales Cardiff Ranking 

Indicator 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2012/13 2014/15 

Foundation Phase 
Indicator % achieving FPOI 80.85% 83.70% 86.73% 82.96% 85.15% 86.80% 18 12 

Foundation Phase LLC in 
English % achieving FPO5+ 83.39% 85.20% 87.94% 85.25% 86.62% 88.00% 17 11 

Foundation Phase LLC in 
Welsh  % achieving FPO5+ 86.86% 90.45% 92.76% 86.73% 89.82% 91.30% 11 8 

Foundation Phase Maths 
% achieving FPO5+ 85.32% 87.44% 89.44% 87.36% 88.70% 89.70% 20 13 

Foundation Phase PSD % 
achieving FPO5+ 91.50% 93.52% 94.04% 93.02% 94.17% 94.80% 18 20 

Foundation Phase LLC in 
English % achieving FPO6+ 27.70% 29.23% 32.07% 29.47% 32.16% 34.20%     

Foundation Phase LLC in 
Welsh  % achieving FPO6+ 25.94% 27.67% 38.16% 29.27% 32.50% 36.90%     

Foundation Phase Maths 
% achieving FPO6+ 27.77% 28.70% 33.22% 28.21% 30.28% 34.30%     

Foundation Phase PSD % 
achieving FPO6+ 42.82% 48.79% 53.03% 45.90% 51.46% 56.00%     

  

Key Stage 2 CSI 82.61% 85.11% 87.76% 84.33% 86.13% 87.70% 17 13 

Key Stage 2 English L4+ 86.00% 87.27% 89.87% 87.13% 88.42% 89.60% 18 12 

Key Stage 2 Welsh L4+ 89.55% 90.11% 93.74% 86.71% 88.10% 90.50% 10 6 

Key Stage 2 Maths L4+ 86.24% 87.67% 89.87% 87.52% 88.93% 90.20% 18 16 

Key Stage 2 Science L4+ 88.59% 89.02% 90.83% 89.70% 90.34% 91.40% 17 17 

Key Stage 2 English L5+ 34.04% 36.85% 40.89% 35.73% 38.02% 40.80%     

Key Stage 2 Welsh L5+ 30.91% 37.05% 45.66% 30.41% 33.89% 38.00%     

Key Stage 2 Maths L5+ 35.85% 37.80% 42.39% 35.67% 37.97% 41.20%     

Key Stage 2 Science L5+ 35.05% 37.60% 41.15% 36.12% 38.43% 41.10%     

  

Key Stage 3 CSI 77.80% 81.51% 83.40% 77.04% 81.02% 83.90% 12 13 

  

Key Stage 4 L2 +  49.86% 54.04% 59.30% 52.73% 55.44% 57.90% 17 10 

Key Stage 4 L2 73.00% 76.03% 81.60% 77.78% 82.34% 84.10% 18 19 

Key Stage 4 L1 91.74% 93.19% 92.10% 93.17% 93.99 94.40% 20 21 

  
%  17 year olds entering 
volume equivalent to 2 A 
levels who achieved L3  
threshold 

95.98% 96.77% 96.90% 96.49% 97.08% 97.00% 14 12 

Average wider points 
score 17 year olds 865.54 884.96 866 806.59 804.08 799.7 6 5 

 

Page 290



 
 

Page 17 of 18 
 

 
Cardiff Wales Cardiff Ranking 

Indicator 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2012/13 2014/15 

Foundation Phase % 
achieving FPOI5+ - FSM 
eligible 

66.92% 72.24% 76.70% 69.24% 72.36% TBC     

Foundation Phase % 
achieving FPOI5+ - FSM 
non eligible 

85.35% 87.52% 90.00% 86.87% 88.61% TBC     

Foundation Phase  
FSM/Non FSM gap % 
achieving FPOI5+ 

-18.63% -15.28% -13.30% -17.63% -16.25% TBC     

Key Stage 2 % achieving 
CSI – FSM eligible 67.66% 71.56% 76.70% 69.78% 71.91% TBC     

Key Stage 2 % achieving 
CSI – FSM non eligible 87.12% 89.06% 91.00% 88.07% 89.65% TBC     

Key Stage 2 % achieving 
CSI –  FSM/ nonFSM gap -19.46% -17.50% -14.30% -18.29% -17.44% TBC     

Key Stage 3 % achieving 
CSI – FSM eligible 55.18% 63.52% 66.50% 53.83% 61.28% TBC     

Key Stage 3 % achieving 
CSI – FSM non eligible 83.94% 85.90% 88.10% 82.29% 85.57% TBC     

Key Stage 3  % achieving 
CSI  FSM/Non FSM gap -28.76% -22.38% -21.60% -28.46% -24.30% TBC     

Key Stage 4 % achieving 
L2+ - FSM eligible 20.87% 27.36% 30.70%* 25.80% 27.76% TBC     

Key Stage 4 % achieving 
L2+ - FSM non eligible 57.05% 60.65% 64.15%* 58.45% 61.55% TBC     

Key Stage 4 % achieving 
L2+ FSM/non FSM gap -36.18% -33.29% -33.45% -32.65% -33.79% TBC     

  

% Attendance Secondary 
Schools 92.94% 93.68% 93.76% 92.63% 93.61% 93.84% 10 11 

% Attendance Primary 
Schools 93.66% 94.90% TBC 93.68% 94.78% 95.14% 11 6 

  

% year 11 leavers NEET 4.90% 4.30% TBC 3.70% 3.10%   22   
% year 13/14 leavers 
NEET 3.20% 4.42% TBC 4.70% 4.90%   3   

 
Reasons for Recommendations   

 
79. The report provides an overview for Cabinet of performance concerning 

the Council’s key responsibilities with regard to promoting high standards 
of achievement. 

 
Legal Implications 

 
80. This is an information report and as such has no direct legal implications. 

All decisions taken by or on behalf the Council must (a) be within the 

Page 291



 
 

Page 18 of 18 
 

legal powers of the Council; (b) comply with any procedural requirement 
imposed by law; (c) be within the powers of the body or person 
exercising powers of behalf of the Council; (d) be undertaken in 
accordance with the procedural requirements imposed by the Council 
e.g. standing orders and financial regulations; (e) be fully and properly 
informed; (f) be properly motivated; (g) be taken having regard to the 
Council's fiduciary duty to its taxpayers; and (h) be reasonable and 
proper in all the circumstances. 

 
Financial Implications 

 
81. There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. 

Schools achieve these results from within the resources that are 
allocated to them on an annual basis and through the services provided 
to schools from centrally retained budgets.  

 
 RECOMMENDATION 
 

Cabinet is recommended to note the performance of Cardiff schools in the 
academic year 2014/2015. 

 
NICK BATCHELAR 
Director 
15 January, 2016 
 
The following Appendices are attached: 
 
 
Appendix 1  Explanation of Frequently Used Terms 
Appendix 2 Summary Overview – Primary 
Appendix 3 Performance in the Foundation Phase 
Appendix 4  Performance at Key Stage 2 
Appendix 5  Summary Overview – Secondary 
Appendix 6 Performance at Key Stage 3 
Appendix 7 Performance at Key Stage 4     
Appendix 8  Performance at Key Stage 5 
Appendix 9 Attendance at school 
Appendix 10 Exclusions 
Appendix 11 Not in Education, Employment or Training (NEET) 
Appendix 12 Outcomes of Inspections 
 
 

Page 292



1 
 

Appendix 1  
Explanation of Frequently Used Terms  
 
Foundation Phase  (FP) This covers pupils aged 3-7 (nursery, 

reception,year 1 and year 2) 
Key Stage 2  (KS2) Years 3 – 6 of primary schools, 

pupils aged 7 – 11 
Key Stage 3  (KS3) Years 7 – 9 of secondary 

schools, pupils aged 11 – 14 
Key Stage 4  (KS4) Years 10 – 11 of secondary 

schools, pupils aged 14 – 16 
Post 16  
 
SEN 
 
MAT 
 
EAL 
 
 
LAC 
 
eFSM 
 
nFSM 

Years 12 and 13 
 
Special Educational Needs 
 
More Able and Talented 
 
English as an Additional 
language 
 
Looked After Children 
 
Eligible for free school meals 
 
Not eligible for free school meals 

 
Foundation Phase Outcome Indicator – the percentage of pupils achieving 
the expected outcomes in each of language, literacy and communication – 
English (LCE) or Welsh (LCW), mathematical development (MDT) and 
personal, social cultural diversity and well-being development (PSD).   
 
Core Subjects - In the National Curriculum, the core subjects are, in English-
medium schools, English, mathematics and science.  In Welsh-medium schools 
there is an additional core subject of Welsh (first language). 
 
Core Subject Indicator - The core subject indicator is the percentage of pupils 
achieving the expected level of attainment in each of the core subjects in 
combination(English or Welsh, mathematics and science).  
 
Expected Outcome – There are expected levels of attainment that the majority 
of children will reach at the end of each key stage - Foundation Phase outcome 
5, Key Stage 2 level 4, Key Stage 3 level 5. 
 
Threshold Indicators - The level 2 threshold indicator including English or 
Welsh and mathematics is 5 grades A*-C including these subjects, the level 2 
threshold is 5 grades A*-C and the level 1 threshold indicator is 5 grades A*-G. 
The threshold indicators include all approved qualifications not just GCSE that 
are the equivalent of: level 1: grades D-G; level 2: grades A*-C. 
 
Level 3 threshold - Equivalent to the volume of 2 A levels at grade A-E. 
 

Page 293



2 
 

Benchmarking Quarter – The Welsh Government places schools into five 
groups based on proportions of FSM pupils. Each group is then divided into four 
quarters based on the performance of schools within each group. 
 
Modelled Expectations – There is a strong relationship between FSM and 
achievement; this is modelled each year to show the “expected “ performance 
at any given FSM level based on the statistical relationship.  
 
FFT estimates – Fischer Family Trust is an organisation that uses a range of 
available data to provide estimates of the most likely outcomes for a pupil given 
their prior attainment. 
 
Average Capped Wider Points Score - The calculation is based on the eight 
best GCSE grade/ approved vocational courses per pupil.  
 
EAL Categories 
 
A = New to English 

• May use first language for learning and other purposes.  
• May remain completely silent in the classroom.  
• May be copying / repeating some words or phrases.  
• May understand some everyday expressions in English but may have 

minimal or no literacy in English.  
 

B = Early Acquisition 
• May follow day to day social communication in English and participate in 

learning activities with support.  
• Beginning to use spoken English for social purposes and may 

understand simple instructions and can follow narrative / accounts with 
visual support.  

• May have developed some skills in reading and writing.  
• May have become familiar with some subject specific vocabulary.  
• Still needs a significant amount of EAL support to access the curriculum.  

 
C = Developing competence 

• May participate in learning activities with increasing independence.  
• Able to express self orally in English, but structural inaccuracies are still 

apparent and literacy will require ongoing support, particularly for 
understanding text and writing.  

• May be able to follow abstract concepts and more complex written 
English.  
 

D = Competent 
• Oral English will be developing well, enabling successful engagement in 

activities across the curriculum.  
• Can read and understand a wide variety of texts but written English may 

lack complexity and contain occasional evidence of errors in structure.  
• Needs some support to access subtle nuances of meaning, to refine 

English usage, and to develop abstract vocabulary.  
 
 

Page 294



3 
 

E = Fluent 
• Can operate across the curriculum to a level of competence equivalent to 

that of a pupil who uses English as his/her first language. 
• Operates without EAL support across the curriculum. 

 

Page 295



1 
 

Appendix 2  
Summary Overview - Primary 
 
1. There has been a positive trend of improvement since 2013 in all the 

performance measures in the primary phase. The rate of improvement is the 
main performance indicators is greater in Cardiff than across Wales as a 
whole. 

 
Increase since 2013 Cardiff Wales 
FPOI 5.88ppt 3.84ppt 
CSI 5.15ppt 3.41ppt 
 
2. Alongside the overall improvements in the headline figures there has been a 

reduction in the variation of school outcomes with a smaller number of 
primary schools in the lowest benchmark quarter. However variation in the 
performance of schools is still a notable feature. The range in outcomes in 
the Foundation Phase is between 59.6% and 100% in the FPOI, whilst in the 
CSI at Key Stage 2 it is from 55.9% to 100%. This presents a strong case for 
federation or joint leadership where schools serving very similar communities 
are achieving such different outcomes. 
 

3. Over the same time period the performance of eFSM pupils has increased 
by a larger amount than the performance of non FSM pupils reducing the 
difference in performance between the two groups. However the 
performance of eFSM pupils remains below that of nFSM pupils and the 
impact of poverty on attainment is still significant. 

 
Increase since 2013 eFSM nFSM 
FPOI 14.78ppt 6.65ppt 
CSI 9.04ppt 3.88ppt 
 
4. Girls’ performance exceeds that of boys across the primary phase. In the 

Foundation phase girls’ performance is in line with the national performance 
of girls, but by the end of Key Stage 2 girls’ performance is relatively weaker. 
In contrast, boys’ performance in Cardiff is lower than the national average 
in the Foundation Phase but exceeds the national average by the end of Key 
Stage 2. 

 

 Cardiff Girls Wales Girls Cardiff Boys Wales Boys 
FPOI 90.85 90.75 82.73 83.03 
CSI 89.53 90.75 86.03 84.90 
 
5. Schools in the city are becoming increasingly ethnically and linguistically 

diverse. In general they are adapting well to the changing communities they 
serve. Some Minority Ethnic groups, such as Chinese in the Foundation 
Phase and Bangladeshi at Key Stage 2 are outperforming the White UK 
pupil group. In contrast, the White European and Traveller/Romany groups 
continue to perform below the White UK pupil group and the performance of 
minority ethnic pupils as a whole is below the Cardiff average in the primary 
phase. 
 

Page 296



2 
 

6. The rising trend in attendance continued in 2014-2015, leading to an overall 
figure of 95.1% (Wales 94.9%), and an improvement in the city’s ranking 
when compared to other local authorities across Wales from 7th to 6th. 

 

Page 297



1 
 

Appendix 3  
Performance in the Foundation Phase 
 
Trend in Outcomes 
 

1. The proportion of pupils achieving the Foundation Phase Outcome Indicator 
(FPOI) is 86.7% (2015 target 85.8%). The improvement in the FPOI is 3 ppt 
which is greater than the national improvement (1.6ppt) and brings the local 
authority in line with the Wales average (86.8%) for this indicator. This degree 
of improvement has been achieved against a background of increasing 
numbers of English as an additional language (EAL) learners. 
 

 
 

2. Just over two thirds of primary schools (68 out of 95) maintained or improved 
the FPOI in 2015 compared to 2014. In the remaining third (27 out of 95) the 
proportion of pupils achieving the FPOI fell by an average of 4.25 ppt. In twelve 
schools, the decrease is less than 3ppt. Four schools are categorised as red or 
amber and action is already being taken to raise standards. In the remaining 
schools the challenge adviser has scrutinised each school’s data analysis and 
agreed with the school appropriate actions in response to the decrease in 
outcomes.  
 

 
 

74.0

76.0

78.0

80.0

82.0

84.0

86.0

88.0

2012 2013 2014 2015

%
 A

ch
ie

vi
ng

 E
xp

ec
te

d 
O

ut
co

m
e 

Cardiff Wales

70.00

75.00

80.00

85.00

90.00

95.00

100.00

PSD LCE LCW MDT FPOI

%
 a

ch
ie

vi
ng

 a
t l

ea
st

 O
ut

co
m

e 
5 Foundation Phase Outcomes 2012-2015 Cardiff 

2012

2013

2014

2015

Page 298



2 
 

Foundation Phase (O5+)  
 PSD LCE LCW MDT FPOI 
2012 89.55 81.40 89.57 84.59 78.66 
2013 91.50 83.39 86.86 85.32 80.85 
2014 93.52 85.20 90.45 87.44 83.70 
2015 94.04 87.94 92.76 89.44 86.73 
 

3. The strongest area of learning continues to be Personal and Social 
Development Wellbeing and Cultural Diversity (PSDWCD) and the weakest 
area Language, Literacy and Communication - English (LLCE). This is the case 
for both outcome 5 (the expected level) and outcome 6. In all areas of learning 
at least one third of pupils attain the higher level. 
 
 
Performance of More Able and Talented (MAT) pupils  

 
4. Cardiff is in line with the national averages at outcome 5+ and the proportion of 

pupils reaching outcome 6 (O6+) or above continue to improve each year in 
each area of learning but remain below the Welsh averages in all areas of 
learning except Language, Literacy and Communication – Welsh.  
 
 O6+ 2012 Wales 

2012 
2013 Wales 

2013 
2014 Wales 

2014 
2015 Wales 

2015 

LCE  24.80% 25.60% 27.70% 29.50% 29.20% 32.20% 32.07% 34.24% 

LCW 23.20% 24.80% 25.90% 29.30% 27.70% 32.50% 38.16% 36.88% 

MDT 24.50% 24.20% 27.80% 28.20% 28.70% 30.30% 32.50% 34.30% 

PSD 37.50% 38.60% 42.80% 45.90% 48.80% 51.50% 53.03% 56.03% 

 
5. This lower performance is most noticeable in the performance of girls in 

Language, Literacy and Communication – English and in the performance of 
boys and girls in Personal and Social Development, Well-Being and Cultural 
Diversity. 
 
Gender Gap 

 
6. In the Foundation Phase, at outcome 5+, the performances of boys and girls 

are similar to the national averages, but the performance of boys is around 8 
ppt lower than the performance of girls. Girls’ performance is stronger than boys 
in all the areas of learning, but the greatest difference of nearly 9 ppt is in 
Language, Literacy and Communication – English. 

 

  2012 2013 2014 

 
 

2015 

Wales 
2015 

Actual 
FPI Boys 73.57 77.95 79.72 82.73 83.03 
FPI Girls 83.83 83.93 87.79 90.85 90.75 
FPI Total 78.66 80.85 83.70 86.73 86.80 
Boys Vs Girls -10.26 -5.98 -8.07 -8.12 -7.72 

Page 299



3 
 

 
7. At the higher outcome 6+ the girls’ outcomes exceed the outcomes for boys by 

more than 10 ppt in all areas of learning with the exception of mathematical 
development where the difference is only 1.4 ppt. The performances of both 
boys and girls are lower than the national averages with the exception of girls in 
Welsh. 
 
Ethnicity Gap 
 

8. Overall performance for Minority Ethnic pupils’ attainment in the FPI in 2015 
(82.3%) remains below White UK (88.9%) by 6.6 ppt and all Cardiff pupils by 
5.8 ppt. The achievement gap reduced for Minority Ethnic pupils from 2013 to 
2014 by 3.3 ppt but the widened again to 6.6 ppt in 2015. 
 

9. The proportion of Minority Ethnic pupils achieving the FPI as a whole has 
improved by 6ppt in the years between 2013 and 2015.  Within this overall 
improvement, the performance of Chinese/Chinese British (92.3%), Mixed 
(88.6%) and Pakistani (88.3%) groups of pupils are attaining above the Welsh 
average of 87% and the average of all Cardiff pupils of 86.7%. The lowest 
performing group is Traveller/Romany. 

Foundation Phase FPOI 2013 FP0I 2014 FPOI 2015 

Any other ethnic background 100.0% 81.08 73.5 

Arab 70.7% 79.20 79.1 

Bangladeshi 79.8% 78.52 82.9 

Black Caribbean 88.9% 70.00 75.0 

Chinese or Chinese British 86.7% 70.00 92.3 

Mixed 80.7% 83.84 88.6 
Not known 68.9% 63.04 66.7 

Other Asian 88.2% 92.86 89.0 

Other Black 73.5% 87.18 81.9 

Pakistani 74.5% 80.99 88.3 

Somali 70.7% 78.82 85.7 

Traveller/Romany 56.0% 68.97 59.3 
White European 66.7% 76.54 71.1 

ALL EM 76.3% 81.62 82.3 

White UK 83.0% 84.97 88.9 

All Pupils 80.9% 83.70 86.7 

 
10. The performance of Traveller/Romani and White European has varied over the 

same 3-year period and remain the least attaining Minority Ethnic groups.  
 

English as an Additional Language (EAL) 
 

11. In 2015 there were improvements in performance of pupils in nearly all 
categories of language acquisition. Over the last two years there have been 
improvements in the proportion of pupils achieving the FPI in all categories, 
some significantly so. 

Page 300



4 
 

 2013 2014 2015 

EAL (Code A-E) 77.72% 81.93% 82.79% 

No EAL 84.15% 84.54% 88.11% 

All Pupils 80.85% 83.70% 86.73% 

 
 2013 2014 2015 

New to English (A) 41.97% 50.23% 48.06% 
Early Acquisition (B) 77.05% 85.98% 93.75% 
Developing competence (C) 95.09% 96.98% 97.36% 
Competent (D) 96.49% 100.00% 100.00% 
Fluent (E) 82.33% 87.86% 89.13% 

 
Performance of Looked After Children (LAC) 

 
12. The proportion of pupils achieving the Foundation Phase Outcome Indicator 

(FPOI) is 75% (15 out of the 20 LAC in Year 2). This is a similar proportion to 
that achieved in 2014 for this group of pupils. This compares to the figure of 
86.7% of all pupils in Cardiff. 
 

13. The Cardiff Looked After Children’s attainment 2015 figure is substantially 
above the latest published Wales Looked After Child figure 2014 of 58%. The 
Looked After Education Team continue to work with all partners including 
specialist teacher teams to promote the early identification of, and support for, 
children in care who are at risk of underachievement. 
 
Comparative Performance of Pupils Eligible for Free School Meals (eFSM) 
 

14. The attainment gap between those pupils in the Foundation Phase who are 
eligible for free school meals and those not eligible has narrowed again in 2015. 
 

 
 
 

15. The difference in performance between eFSM pupils and nFSM pupils has been 
reduced from 15.3 ppt to 13.3 ppt. The performance of eFSM pupils has 
improved by 4.4 ppt compared to an improvement for nFSM pupils of 2.4ppt. 
These outcomes suggest that overall schools are using their pupil deprivation 
grant effectively to improve outcomes for the most disadvantaged pupils. 
 

Page 301



5 
 

 
 Cardiff eFSM 

2015 
Cardiff nFSM 

2015 
Wales eFSM 

2014 
Cardiff All 

Pupils 2015 
Foundation Phase 
Outcome Indicator 76.7% 90% 72.4% 86.7% 

 
Performance of SEN pupils 
 

16. There continues to be a wide gap between the attainment of pupils having 
special educational needs (SEN) and non-SEN pupils in mainstream settings in 
the Foundation Phase.  As would be expected, the gap is widest for 
statemented pupils, and the gap narrows for those at school action plus and 
school action.   
  
Foundation Phase - Percentage achieving outcome 5 or above 

 
      2015 FPI LCE LCW MDT PSD 

Statemented 16.04% 19.42% 0.00% 19.81% 21.70% 
School Action 
Plus 

41.75% 50.54% 36.36% 49.51% 66.50% 

School Action 69.82% 73.71% 82.14% 78.98% 90.84% 
No SEN 95.60% 96.42% 97.29% 96.63% 98.94% 
Not matched 50.00% 63.64% 0.00% 50.00% 75.00% 
Total 86.73% 87.94% 92.76% 89.44% 94.04% 

      
       2014 FPI LCE LCW MDT PSD 
Statemented 11.10% 19.40% 33.30% 19.20% 20.20% 
School Action 
Plus 

29.10% 33.30% 43.80% 41.20% 62.30% 

School Action 63.50% 68.80% 66.30% 73.30% 90.40% 
No SEN 94.50% 95.50% 97.20% 96.10% 98.80% 
Not matched 54.80% 57.10% 66.70% 64.50% 77.40% 
Total 83.70% 85.20% 90.50% 87.40% 93.50% 

 
 

17. In 2015 the gaps narrowed for all groups of SEN pupils in Foundation Phase, 
most notably for those at school action plus.   The FPI improved by 5 ppts for 
statemented pupils, by 12 ppts for pupils at school action plus and by 6 ppts for 
pupils at school action. The closing gap reflects the impact on outcomes of early 
intervention strategies such as STARS, SAIL, Maths Factor and Speech and 
Language Links.    
 
Comparative performance with other local authorities and cities 
 

18. Schools are grouped into FSM bands and ordered nationally to give four 
quarters – the top performing 25% of schools fall in Quarter 1 (upper quarter) 
and the bottom performing 25% of schools fall in Quarter 4 (lower quarter). The 
improvements in performance in the majority of schools have led to an increase 

Page 302



6 
 

in the number of schools in the top benchmarking quarter from 14 in 2014 to 21 
in 2015 and a reduction in the number of schools in the lowest quarter from 17 
to 9.  

 
19. In 2015 in the Foundation Phase Indicator, Cardiff has the smallest proportion 

of schools in the lowest quarter of any of the 22 local authorities across Wales. 
 

20. Comparing Cardiff with other local authorities across Wales it can be seen in 
the table below that the city’s rank position has improved in 2015. 

 
          

      
 Foundation 
Phase - FPI 2014/15 2013/14 2012/13 
  Result Rank Result Rank Result Rank 
Cardiff 86.7% 12 83.7% 18 80.9% 18 

 

       2014 Benchmark quarters for FPOI 
 

2015 Benchmark quarters for FPOI 
  No of schools % of schools 

 
  No of schools % of schools 

Quarter 1 14 14.74 
 

Quarter 1 21 22.11 
Quarter 2 32 33.68 

 
Quarter 2 32 33.68 

Quarter 3 32 33.68 
 

Quarter 3 33 34.74 
Quarter 4 17 17.89 

 
Quarter 4 9 9.47 

Total 95 100.00 
 

Total 95 100.00 

Page 303



1 
 

Appendix 4 
Performance at Key Stage 2 
 
Trend in Outcomes 
 

1. There has been a similar improvement in the percentage of pupils reaching the 
expected level at Key Stage 2 to that seen in the Foundation Phase. In 2015 the 
improvement in the core subject indicator (CSI) is 2.7ppt which is greater than 
the national improvement (1.6ppt). The proportion of pupils achieving the CSI is 
now 87.8% which is in line with the national figure of 87.7%. 
 

 
 
 

2. Two thirds of primary schools (62 out of 93) maintained or improved their Key 
Stage 2 CSI in 2015 compared to the previous year. In the remaining third (31 
out of 93) the proportion of pupils achieving the CSI fell by an average of 6.5 
ppt. In nine schools, the decrease is less than 3ppt. Eight schools are 
categorised as red or amber and action is already being taken to raise 
standards.  
 

3. Schools are becoming increasingly accurate in their teacher assessments and 
regional moderation has taken place. They plan and implement interventions to 
accelerate the progress of pupils who are attaining below their age related 
expectations. These interventions impact positively on the rate of progress for 
the majority of pupils. 
 

4. The highest performance is in Welsh first language with mathematics and 
English having the lowest performance at this key stage. At level 5 performance 
is highest in Welsh and lowest in English. At least four out of every ten pupils 
attain the higher level in all subjects which is at least in line with the proportion 
of pupils across wales as a whole.  
 
 

55

60

65

70

75

80

85

90

95

1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

%
 A

ch
ie

vi
ng

 E
xp

ec
te

d 
ou

tc
om

es
 

Cardiff Wales

Page 304



2 
 

 
 

 
Levels of Progress between the Foundation Phase and Key Stage 2 
 

5. The tables below show the proportion of pupils making 0, 1, 2 and 3+ levels of 
progress from the Foundation Phase (Key Stage 1) to Key Stage 2 in each of 
the core subjects*. 
Cardiff 

         
Subject 0 levels 1 level 2 levels 3+ levels 
English 0.00% 4.89% 62.86% 32.25% 
Welsh 0.00% 7.02% 70.25% 22.73% 
Mathematics 0.29% 4.68% 64.18% 30.84% 
Science 0.26% 7.63% 66.79% 25.29% 
     
Central South Consortium 

        
Subject 0 levels 1 level 2 levels 3+ levels 
English 0.11% 5.09% 63.76% 31.01% 
Welsh 0.08% 8.75% 70.43% 20.74% 
Mathematics 0.25% 5.31% 64.28% 30.14% 
Science 0.27% 7.69% 66.73% 25.29% 
*excluding pupils with no values/previous information 

50.00

55.00

60.00

65.00

70.00

75.00

80.00

85.00

90.00

95.00

100.00

English TA Cymraeg TA Maths TA Science TA

%
 a

tt
ai

ni
ng

 a
t l

ea
st

 le
ve

l 4
 

Key Stage 2 - All Subjects 2010 - 2015 Cardiff 

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

Key Stage 2 – Expected Level (4+) 
 English TA Cymraeg TA Maths TA Science TA 
2010 82.04 83.21 82.38 85.32 
2011 84.12 86.90 83.38 86.20 
2012 84.61 85.68 84.12 86.45 
2013 86.00 89.55 86.24 88.59 
2014 87.27 90.11 87.67 89.02 
2015 89.87 93.74 89.87 90.83 

Page 305



3 
 

6. By the end of Key Stage 2 it is expected that all pupils will make at least two 
levels of progress. In all subject areas there are a significant minority of pupils 
who are not making expected progress and consequently falling below age 
related expectations and/or underachieving. The proportions are slightly below 
the figures for the consortium. Equivalent data is not collected nationally. 
 
 
Performance of More Able and Talented Pupils  
 

7. Cardiff is at least in line with the national averages at the higher level 5+ in all 
core subjects. Performance at this level in Welsh first language is particularly 
strong being 7.5ppt above the national average. At the higher levels there are 
weaknesses in the comparative performance of girls with the national averages 
in English and science. 
 
  2012 Wales 

2012 
2013 Wales 

2013 
2014 Wales 

2014 
2015 Wales 

2015 
English 30.70% 32.30% 34.00% 35.70% 36.80% 38.00% 40.89% 40.76% 
Welsh 30.10% 26.60% 30.90% 30.40% 37.10% 33.90% 45.66% 37.97% 
Maths 31.80% 32.90% 35.90% 35.70% 37.80% 38.00% 42.39% 41.24% 
Science 31.90% 33.10% 35.10% 36.10% 37.60% 38.40% 41.15% 41.14% 

 
Gender Gap 
 

8. At Key Stage 2, at the expected level, the performance of boys is 3.5 ppt lower 
than the performance of girls. Girls’ performance is stronger than boys in all of 
the core subjects but the greatest difference of nearly 5 ppt is in English. 
However, compared to the national outcomes for girls and boys there is 
underperformance in the attainment of girls. 
 
  
 
 2012 2013 2014 

 
 

2015 
Wales 2015 
Actual 

CSI Boys 78.27 80.99 82.01 86.03 84.90 
CSI Girls 83.36 84.43 88.34 89.53 90.75 
CSI Total 80.71 82.61 85.11 87.76 87.74 
Boys vs. Girls -5.10 -3.44 -6.33 -3.49 -5.85 
 

9. At both the expected and higher levels, the gender gap is smaller than the 
national gender gap in all three core subjects. At the higher levels, the 
outcomes for boys exceed the national averages, significantly so in Welsh. The 
outcomes for girls are slightly lower than the national averages in English and 
science. 
 
Ethnicity Gap 
 

10. As a whole, the proportion of minority ethnic pupils achieving the CSI at Key 
Stage 2 has improved by 3.9 ppt in the years between 2013 and 2015.  
However, this is a smaller increase than that for White UK pupils (5.6 ppt) and 
the gap in performance between the two groups has widened slightly. 
 

Page 306



4 
 

11. Performance of minority ethnic pupils in 2015 (84.3%) remains below White UK 
(89.3%) by 5 ppt  and all Cardiff pupils (87.8%) by 3.5ppt.  The performance of 
minority ethnic pupils in Key Stage 2 improved from 2013 to 2014 by 3.2ppt.  
This was greater than the improvement made by White UK pupils (2.3ppt).  
However, the level of improvement in the CSI of minority ethnic pupils from 
2014 to 2015, was only 1.3%.   
 

Key Stage 2 CSI 2013 CSI 2014 CSI 2015 

Any other ethnic background 94.4 87.10 85.7 

Arab 82.2 84.47 87.6 

Bangladeshi 86.2 90.98 93.6 
Black Caribbean 100 75.00 33.3 

Chinese or Chinese British 91.7 80.00 69.2 

Mixed 80.6 85.99 87.9 

Not known 80.0 79.31 76.2 

Other Asian 84.9 92.42 89.5 

Other Black 82.1 78.21 84.6 
Pakistani 85.2 81.62 86.2 

Somali 81.3 81.93 87.3 

Traveller/Romany 54.2 52.17 72.2 

White European 59.2 74.80 71.3 

All EM 79.8 83.00 84.3 

White UK 83.7 86.03 89.3 
All Cardiff pupils 82.6 85.11 87.8 

 

12. Minority Ethnic pupils are not a homogenous group. Some ethnic groups, such 
as Bangladeshi, have a higher than average proportion of pupils achieving the 
core subject indicator. By far the lowest performing group at this key stage is 
Black Caribbean pupils followed by White European pupils. The performance of 
Traveller/Romany pupils increased significantly in 2015 (72.2%) by 20ppt from 
2014 (52.2%) but outcomes are still relatively low. 
 

13. A new project has been created to look at the achievement of Black Caribbean 
pupils to ensure that attainment improves. The EMTAS Black Caribbean Project 
has improved the analysis of data to ensure improvements in the targeting of 
provision for these pupils. 
 
English as an Additional Language 
 

 2013 2014 2015 
EAL (Code A-E) 81.25% 83.70% 83.59% 
No EAL 83.26% 85.65% 89.03% 
All Pupils 82.61% 85.11% 87.76% 

 
 

Page 307



5 
 

 2013 2014 2015 
New to English (A) 16.67% 16.67% 36.36% 

Early Acquisition (B) 54.40% 59.69% 67.43% 

Developing competence (C) 94.21% 95.16% 95.93% 

Competent (D) 97.56% 95.83% 98.29% 
Fluent (E) 83.43% 89.80% 91.40% 

 

14. The proportion of pupils with English as an Additional Language (EAL 
Categories A – E) achieving the Key Stage 2 Core Subject Indicator (CSI) is 
83.6%.  This compares with 87.8% of all pupils in Cardiff.  The EAL 2015 
attainment figure is a small decrease of 0.1% from the 2014 EAL figure of 
83.7%, but an increase of 2.3% from 2013.  
 
Performance of Looked After Children 
 

15. In 2015 there has been a small improvement in the percentage of pupils 
reaching the expected level at Key Stage 2 compared to the percentage in 
2014. The proportion of pupils achieving the CSI was 56%, (9 out of 16 LAC in 
the cohort).  This is well below the Cardiff figure for all pupils which is 87.8% 
and just below the Wales figure 2014 for LAC of 59%. 7 out of 16 (44%) of this 
cohort were on the Special Educational Needs (SEN) register. 
 
Comparative Performance of Pupils Eligible for Free School Meals 
 

16. The difference in performance between eFSM pupils and nFSM pupils has been 
reduced again this year from 17.5 ppt to 14.3 ppt. The gap has continued to 
reduce over the last four years as eFSM pupils’ performance is improving at a 
faster rate than the performance of nFSM pupils. 
 
 

 
 
 
 

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

70.0%

80.0%

90.0%

100.0%

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15

eFSM

nFSM

Page 308



6 
 

17. The performance of eFSM pupils has improved by just over 5 ppt compared to 
nFSM pupils which have improved by 1.9ppt. The national figures for 2015 are 
not yet available but the performance of the city’s eFSM pupils is nearly 5ppt 
ahead of the national figures for 2014. 
 
 Cardiff eFSM 

2015 
Cardiff nFSM 

2015 
Wales FSM 

2014 
Cardiff All 

Pupils 2015 
Key Stage 2 Core 
Subject Indicator 76.7% 91.0% 71.9% 87.8% 

 
Performance of SEN pupils 
 

18. There continues to be a wide gap between the attainment of pupils having 
special educational needs (SEN) and non-SEN pupils in mainstream settings at 
Key Stage 2.  As in the Foundation Phase the gap is widest for statemented 
pupils, and the gap narrows for those at school action plus and school action.   
 
Key Stage 2 - Percentage achieving Level 4 or above 

  
       

2015 
English Welsh Maths Science CSI 

Statemented 26.61% 0.00% 24.19% 25.81% 21.77% 
School Action 
Plus 

53.73% 55.56% 55.97% 60.07% 47.39% 

School Action 82.64% 86.90% 83.51% 85.07% 76.91% 
No SEN 98.71% 99.73% 98.39% 98.83% 98.02% 
Not matched 70.00% - 70.00% 70.00% 70.00% 
Total 89.87% 93.74% 89.87% 90.83% 87.76% 

       
2014 English Welsh Maths Science CSI 

Statemented 20.17% 40.00% 22.69% 21.85% 17.65% 
School Action 
Plus 

45.02% 51.61% 47.97% 53.14% 39.11% 

School Action 75.61% 64.71% 76.31% 80.14% 70.38% 
No SEN 97.87% 98.65% 97.79% 98.32% 96.83% 
Not matched 64.30% - 71.40% 64.30% 64.30% 
Total 87.27% 90.11% 87.67% 89.02% 85.11% 
 

19. In 2015 the gaps narrowed for all groups of SEN pupils, most notably for those 
at school action plus.   The CSI improved by 4 ppts for statemented pupils, by 8 
ppts for pupils at school action plus and by 6 ppts for pupils at school action. 
The closing gap reflects the effectiveness of early intervention strategies such 
as STARS, SAIL, Maths Factor, Speech and Language Links, Rainbow 
Readers.    
 
 
 
 

Page 309



7 
 

Comparative Performance with Other Local Authorities and Cities 
 

20. The improvements in performance in the majority of schools have led to an 
increase in the number of schools in the top national benchmarking group from 
15 in 2014 to 21 in 2015 and a reduction in the number of schools in the lowest 
group from 15 to 14. In 9 of these 14 schools there has been persistent low 
achievement and focused action is being taken. Larger numbers of SEN pupils 
in the year 6 cohorts in the other five schools have led to the reduction in 
performance. 
 

2014 Benchmark quarters for KS2 CSI 
 

2015 Benchmark quarters for KS2 CSI 
  No of schools % of schools 

 
  No of schools % of schools 

Quarter 1 15 16.13 
 

Quarter 1 21 22.58 
Quarter 2 28 30.11 

 
Quarter 2 28 30.11 

Quarter 3 35 37.63 
 

Quarter 3 30 32.26 
Quarter 4 15 16.13 

 
Quarter 4 14 15.05 

Total 93 100.00 
 

Total 93 100.00 
 

21. Cardiff is the newest member of the Core Cities UK, having joined in 2014. The 
Core Cities Group promotes the role of cities in driving economic growth. They 
are Birmingham, Bristol, Cardiff, Glasgow, Leeds, Liverpool, Manchester, 
Nottingham, Newcastle and Sheffield. Membership will help the council to better 
benchmark its performance against other major UK cities. 
 

22. Performance is at the top of the rankings at Key Stage 2 for the second 
consecutive year compared with the English authorities but lower against the 
Welsh authorities. 
 
 English Level 4+ Mathematics Level 4+ Science Level 4+ 

2015 2015 2015 
Key Stage 2 1st 1st 1st 

 

23. Comparisons between school results in England and Wales need to be treated 
with some caution because of the growing differences in curriculum and 
assessment. Bearing this in mind it can be noted that Cardiff’s relative 
performance is at the top of the rankings at Key Stage 2 compared with the 
English Core Cities.  
 

24. The positive relative improvement in the core subject indicator in 2015 is 
reflected in Cardiff’s rank position compared to the other Welsh local authorities. 
 
 Key Stage 2 CSI 2014/15 2013/14 2012/13 
Authority Result Rank Result Rank Result Rank 
Cardiff 87.8 13 84.5 16 82.6 17 

 
 
 

Page 310



1 
 

Appendix 5  
Summary Overview - Secondary 
 

1. The proportion of pupils that make at least two levels of progress from the end 
of Key Stage 2 to the end of Key Stage 3 continues to improve. The figures 
compare positively with the equivalent figures for the consortium (they are not 
collected nationally). However, between 3.65% and 6.45% of pupils made less 
than one level of progress and are potentially underachieving. Overall, around 
10% of pupils are still not achieving the expected level at Key Stage 3 (level 5) 
and in a few schools this figure increases to around 30%, which points to 
ongoing inconsistencies in the quality of provision across the city. 
 

2. There has been a positive trend of improvement since 2013 in all the 
performance measures in the secondary phase. The rate of improvement in the 
main performance indicators is greater in Cardiff than across Wales at Key 
Stage 4, but slower at Key Stage 3. Performance at the level 2 inclusive 
threshold compares favourably with performance nationally, but further 
improvement is still needed in the level 1 and level 2 threshold indicators. 
 
Increase since 2013 Cardiff Wales 
KS3 CSI 5.60ppt 6.86ppt 
KS4 Level 2+ 9.44ppt 5.17ppt 
 

3. More than half the cohort of pupils achieved the higher levels (level 6+) in the 
core subjects at Key Stage 3 which, in nearly all subjects, is a greater than the 
equivalent figures nationally. These outcomes provide a firm foundation from 
which pupils can begin their GCSE courses at Key Stage 4.  

 
4. At Key Stage 4 raised expectations and improved tracking and intervention 

have led to a clear improvement in the level 2 inclusive measure. In particular, 
outcomes improved in three higher attaining secondary schools which had been 
underperforming (based on modelled expectations) for several years.  

 
5. Outcomes for vulnerable learners such as eFSM pupils, looked after children 

and minority ethnic pupils have also improved, but are still significantly below 
the average. 

 
6. The performance of eFSM pupils has improved at a faster rate over the last two 

years than the performance of nFSM pupils. In schools where the performance 
of eFSM pupils has considerably improved there is a clear focus on the 
outcomes for eFSM pupils and effective use of the pupil deprivation grant to 
develop high quality provision. However, the differences in performance 
continue to vary considerably between schools.  
 
Increase since 2013 eFSM nFSM 
CSI 11.32ppt 4.16ppt 
Level 2+ 11.05ppt 9.24ppt 
 

7. Some minority ethnic groups such as Bangladeshi and Pakistani have higher 
outcomes at this key stage than White UK pupils, whilst other groups such as 

Page 311



2 
 

White European, Black Caribbean and Traveller/Romany continue to be low 
achieving.  

 
8. A greater proportion of looked after children achieved level 2 qualifications in 

2015 than in previous years as a result of closer monitoring of their progress 
and attainment by schools. Yet the difference in performance between looked 
after children and their peers remains too large. 

 
9. Cardiff has six secondary schools which are part of the Welsh Government’s 

“Schools Challenge Cymru” programme. In 2015 at Key Stage 4, one school 
improved its performance and one school maintained the increases in 
performance achieved in 2014 but outcomes decreased in the other four 
schools. In three of these schools where there are a high proportion of White 
UK and eFSM pupils, the local authority has taken intervention action and 
leadership capacity has been increased. Although progress is now being made, 
standards remain unacceptably low. In the fourth school, there was a slight dip 
in outcomes but performance remains significantly above modelled 
expectations and further improvements are expected this year. 

 
10. The overall attendance figure for secondary schools remained the same in 

2014-2015 as in the previous academic year at 93.8%, which is identical to the 
Welsh average. The attendance figures in three secondary schools had a 
negative effect on the city’s overall figures. 

 
11. A large percentage of year 11 pupils continue their education by entering level 3 

provision in schools or colleges across Cardiff. These learners generally do well 
progressing onto university courses. An additional number of learners follow 
level 2 or vocational courses. However a minority of year 11 and year 13 pupils 
are not making a successful transition into education, employment or training. 

 
 

Page 312



1 
 

Appendix 6   
Performance at Key Stage 3 
 
Trend in Outcomes 
 

1. The proportion of pupils reaching the expected level at this key stage also 
continues to increase although the rate of improvement has slowed. In 2015 the 
proportion of pupils achieving the CSI was 83.4%, an improvement of 1.9ppt on 
the 2014 figure.  The improvement was smaller than the national improvement 
(2.9ppt). 
 

 
 

2. Two thirds of secondary schools (14 out of 19) maintained or improved their 
Key Stage 3 CSI in 2015 compared to the previous year. In the remaining third 
the proportion of pupils achieving the CSI fell by up to 5 ppt (with the exception 
of one secondary school which fell by nearly 19ppt).  
 

3. The highest performance is in Welsh first language and the weakest 
performance is in English. At the higher levels (level 6+ and level 7+) there have 
been significant improvements in each of the core subjects.  
 
Core Subjects Cardiff Wales 
Level 5+ 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2015 
English 76.2 80.5 84.0 86.0 86.7 87.9 
Welsh First Language 89.0 88.2 88.5 94.0 92.8 90.9 
Mathematics 79.0 82.7 84.3 87.6 89.3 88.7 
Science 80.2 84.6 86.7 90.6 91.5 91.8 
 

4. The range in performance in the non-core subjects is similar to that seen in the 
core subjects. However, performance in each of the non-core subjects is below 
the national average.  

 
 
 
 
 

45

55

65

75

85

95

%
 A

ch
ie

vi
ng

 E
xp

ec
te

d 
Le

ve
ls

 

Cardiff

Wales

Page 313



2 
 

Non-Core Subjects Cardiff Wales 
Level 5+ 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2015 
Art 80.4 85.6 88.6 92.2 90.1 92.0 
Design and Technology 78.3 84.4 87.7 90.1 90.7 92.1 
Geography 75.5 79.6 85.9 86.7 87.3 89.9 
History 77.1 80.1 84.9 87.1 86.8 89.6 
Information Technology 81.3 84.3 89.3 91.3 90.1 92.7 
MFL 65.9 70.7 80.0 81.6 80.9 84.1 
Music 76.2 83.8 85.4 90.9 88.7 91.6 
Physical Education 75.0 78.9 84.1 88.5 90.8 91.4 
Welsh Second Language 62.6 66.0 73.0 76.7 80.0 81.2 

 
Levels of Progress between Key Stage 2 and Key Stage 3 
 

5. The tables below show the proportion of pupils making 0, 1, 2 and 3+ levels of 
progress from Key Stage 2 to Key Stage 3 in each of the core subjects*. 
 

Cardiff 
    

     Subject 0 levels 1 level 2 levels 3+ levels 
English 6.45% 40.40% 45.99% 6.42% 
Welsh 3.65% 45.31% 48.18% 2.86% 
Mathematics 4.29% 31.44% 53.51% 10.26% 
Science 4.09% 33.04% 53.83% 8.37% 

     Central South Consortium 
   

     Subject 0 levels 1 level 2 levels 3+ levels 
English 6.52% 45.38% 42.54% 4.95% 
Welsh 3.44% 42.41% 50.81% 3.35% 
Mathematics 5.51% 36.67% 47.94% 9.47% 
Science 4.29% 36.92% 50.35% 7.90% 

     *excluding pupils with no values/previous information 
 

6. It is expected that all pupils will make between one and two levels of progress. 
With the exception of Welsh, more pupils in Cardiff make at least two levels of 
progress in all core subjects across Key Stage 3 than they do across the 
consortium as a whole. 
 

7. In all subject areas there are a significant minority of pupils who are not making 
expected progress and consequently falling below age related expectations 
and/or underachieving. The proportions of these pupils are slightly below the 
figures for the consortium with the exception of Welsh. Equivalent data is not 
collected nationally. 
 
 
 

Page 314



3 
 

Performance of More Able and Talented Pupils  
 

8. There continues to be a strong upward trend in performance at the higher 
levels. Cardiff is above the national averages at level 6+ and level 7+ for all the 
main indicators except Welsh First Language at level 6+. The lower 
performance in this area is caused by boys’ under attainment at this level. 
 

2015  
Key Stage 3 

   
Level 6 

 
Level 7 

 
Level 8+ 

 
Level 6+ 

English TA 
Cardiff 36.49 18.17 1.66 56.32 

Wales 36.00 15.28 1.34 52.62 

Cymraeg TA 
Cardiff 35.04 19.69 - 54.73 

Wales 38.77 15.79 1.56 56.12 

Maths TA 
Cardiff 33.93 25.84 2.78 62.54 

Wales 33.19 22.92 3.41 59.52 

Science TA 
Cardiff 41.05 22.43 1.15 64.62 

Wales 37.88 19.28 1.37 58.53 
 
Gender Gap 

 
9. At Key Stage 3, at the expected level, the performance of boys is approximately 

6 ppt lower than the performance of girls. Girls’ performance is stronger than 
boys in all of the core subjects but the greatest differences of around 7 ppt are 
in English and Welsh. However, compared to the national outcomes for girls 
and boys there is noticeable underperformance in the attainment of girls in 
English. 
 

 
 

 
2012 

 
2013 

 
2014 

 
2015 

Wales 2015 
Actual 

CSI Boys 70.33 74.24 77.50 80.45 80.33 
CSI Girls 78.34 81.38 85.71 86.70 87.70 
CSI Total 74.24 77.80 81.51 83.40 83.90 
Boys vs. Girls -8.02 -7.14 -8.21 -6.25 -7.37 
 

10. At the higher levels the gender gap is larger than it is at the expected level, 
significantly so in both languages at level 6+ where it is 15.8 ppt in English and 
26.0 ppt in Welsh. The outcomes of girls and boys are higher than the national 
figures. The greatest difference is for girls in science at level 6+ where the 
performance is nearly 7ppt ahead of the national average. 
 
Ethnicity Gap 
 

11. The proportion of minority ethnic pupils achieving the Key Stage 3 Core Subject 
Indicator as a whole in 2015 (81.25%) improved by 3.14 ppt from 2014 
(78.11%).This remains 2.95 ppt below White UK pupils. 
 

12. The rate of improvement for minority ethnic pupils in Key Stage 3 from 2014 to 
2015 (3.1ppt).  This was greater than the improvement made by White UK 
pupils (1.5ppt).   

Page 315



4 
 

Key Stage 3 CSI 2013 CSI 2014 CSI 2015 

Any other ethnic background 85.7% 92.86 88.89 

Arab 70.8% 81.58 73.49 

Bangladeshi 83.5% 81.90 89.62 
Black Caribbean 50.0% 100.00 83.33 

Chinese or Chinese British 100.0% 93.33 100.00 

Mixed 81.3% 74.74 83.89 

Not Known 78.6% 83.33 86.11 

Other Asian  84.6% 88.89 97.37 

Other Black 72.4% 71.43 71.67 
Pakistani 82.8% 84.78 91.00 

Somali 77.6% 87.65 85.37 

Traveller/Romany 20.0% 40.00 38.46 

White European 56.1% 62.31 62.81 

All EM Groups 75.2% 78.11 81.25 

White UK Pupils 78.6% 82.71 84.20 
All Cardiff Pupils 77.8% 81.51 83.40 

 
13. The performance of Traveller/Romany pupils is significantly lower than the other 

minority ethnic groups. There was very little improvement in the outcomes of 
White European pupils and these are the second lowest performing group. 
 
English as an Additional Language 
 
 2013 2014 2015 
EAL (Code A-E) 75.49% 77.91% 83.82% 
No EAL 78.60% 82.38% 83.39% 
All Pupils 77.80% 81.50% 83.40% 

 
 2013 2014 2015 
New to English (A) 8.33% 0.00% 0.00% 
Early Acquisition (B) 11.36% 14.29% 14.75% 
Developing Competence (C) 69.75% 71.50% 77.27% 
Competent (D) 91.54% 91.78% 95.29% 
Fluent (E) 83.97% 93.28% 94.60% 

 
 

14. The proportion of Key Stage 3 pupils with English as an Additional Language 
(EAL Categories A – E) achieving the Core Subject Indicator (CSI) is 83.8%.  
This compares with 83.4% of all pupils in Cardiff.  The EAL 2015 attainment 
figure is a significant increase of 5.9% from the 2014 EAL figure of 77.9% and a 
larger increase than that achieved in the previous year (2.4%) from the 2013 
EAL figure.  These increases are larger than those see in either of the previous 
key stages. 

Page 316



5 
 

Performance of Looked After Children 
 

15. The proportion of Looked After Children reaching the expected level at Key 
Stage 3 (KS3) also continues to increase but remains below that of all pupils at 
this key stage. In 2015 the proportion of pupils achieving the CSI was 38% (9 
out of 24 LAC in the cohort). This is well below the 83.4% of all pupils achieving 
the CSI in Cardiff and a lower performance than that achieved in 2014. It is also 
below the Wales Looked After Children figure for 2014 of 45%. 
 
Performance of SEN pupils 
 

16. There continues to be a wide gap between the attainment of pupils having 
special educational needs (SEN) and non-SEN pupils in mainstream settings at 
Key Stage 3.  As would be expected, the gap is widest for statemented pupils, 
and the gap narrows for those at school action plus and school action.   
 
Key Stage 3 - Percentage achieving level 5 or above 

  
      2015 English Welsh Maths Science CSI 
Statemented 34.11% 0.00% 37.98% 42.64% 28.68% 
School Action Plus 53.87% 64.00% 63.73% 67.96% 46.48% 

School Action 74.62% 77.19% 79.89% 87.97% 66.73% 
No SEN 96.35% 98.38% 97.37% 97.88% 94.74% 
Not matched 63.64% - 72.73% 81.82% 54.55% 
Total 86.69% 92.84% 86.69% 91.52% 83.40% 

      
      2014 English Welsh Maths Science CSI 

Statemented 19.80% 0.00% 32.20% 33.10% 15.70% 
School Action Plus 45.60% 44.40% 49.40% 60.30% 33.80% 

School Action 71.80% 79.30% 73.20% 82.80% 58.30% 
No SEN 96.10% 99.00% 96.90% 98.00% 94.10% 
Not matched 70.00% - 70.00% 70.00% 70.00% 
Total 86.00% 94.00% 87.60% 90.60% 81.50% 

 
 

17. In 2015 the gaps narrowed for all groups of SEN pupils in Key Stage 3.   The 
CSI improved by 13 ppts for statemented pupils, by 13 ppts for pupils at school 
action plus and by 12 ppts for pupils at school action. The closing gap reflects 
the effectiveness of capacity building work to address the needs of vulnerable 
learners, including work to support BESD pupils at steps 3 and 4 of the 
graduated response and the roll out of secondary speech and language links.  
 
Comparative performance with other local authorities and cities 

 
18. The slowdown in improvement at this key stage has lowered Cardiff’s rank 

position compared to the other local authorities across Wales as shown in the 
table below. 

Page 317



6 
 

  Key Stage 3 CSI 2014/15 2013/14 2012/13 
  Authority Result Rank Result Rank Result Rank 
  Cardiff 83.4 13 81.5 12 77.8 12 

 
19. The improvements in performance in the majority of schools have led to an 

increase in the number of schools in the top benchmarking group from 5 in 2014 
to 8 in 2015 and a reduction in the number of schools in the lowest group from 6 
to 3.  
 
 

Benchmark quarters for KS3 CSI 2014 
 

Benchmark quarters for KS3 CSI 2015 
  No of schools % of schools 

 
  No of schools % of schools 

Quarter 1 5 27.78 
 

Quarter 1 8 42.11 
Quarter 2 5 27.78 

 
Quarter 2 4 21.05 

Quarter 3 2 11.11 
 

Quarter 3 4 21.05 
Quarter 4 6 33.33 

 
Quarter 4 3 15.79 

Total 18 100.00 
 

Total 19 100.00 
 
 
Comparative Performance of Pupils Eligible for Free School Meals 
 

20. The difference in performance, at this key stage, between eFSM pupils and 
nFSM pupils has been reduced again this year from 22.4 ppt to 21.6 ppt. 
However the gap is significantly wider than in the primary phase. 
 

 
 
 

21. The performance of eFSM pupils has improved by 3 ppt compared to nFSM 
pupils which have improved by 2.2 ppt. 
 
 Cardiff eFSM 

2015 
Cardiff nFSM 

2015 
Wales FSM 

2014 
Cardiff All 

Pupils 2015 
Key Stage 3 Core 
Subject Indicator 66.5% 88.1% 61.3% 83.4% 

 

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

70.0%

80.0%

90.0%

100.0%

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15

eFSM

nFSM

Page 318



1 
 

Appendix 7  
Performance at Key Stage 4 
 
Trend in Outcomes 
 

1. The improvements seen in Key Stage 3 over the last few years have been 
translated, in the last two years, into noticeable improvements at Key Stage 4. 
At the level 2+ threshold performance is above modelled expectations. There 
has been an improvement of 4.9 ppt to 58.9%, which is the biggest 
improvement in the consortium and 1 ppt greater than the improvement in 2014. 
However, in order to be in the top 25% performing authorities based on FFT 
estimates Cardiff’s performance in this indicator would need to be 62.3%. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2. 8 out of 18 secondary schools met or exceeded their expected performance for 
the level 2+ threshold. In the 10 schools where performance was below 
expectation, 4 schools had outcomes below expectation by more than 5 
percentage points. 

 
3. However, four out of every ten pupils still end their compulsory education 

without having achieved five good GCSEs including English/ Welsh and 
mathematics. In five schools more than half of the pupils failed to reach the 
level 2+ threshold, and in three schools it was more than seven out of every ten 
pupils. 

 
4. In 2015 a similar improvement was made in the level 2 threshold and capped 

points score, but in these wider measures, performance remains below where it 
should be given the very low standards previously and below modelled 
expectations. 

 

40

45

50

55

60

65

70

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 (p)

%
 A

ch
ie

vi
ng

 L
ev

el
 2

 T
hr

es
ho

ld
 in

clu
di

ng
 E

ng
lis

h/
W

el
sh

 &
 

m
at

hs

Cardiff Wales

Page 319



2 
 

5. Based on the provisional data there is a worrying decrease of approximately 1 
ppt in the level 1 threshold, caused predominantly by the 2ppt decrease in the 
performance of boys.  There continues to be little correlation between school 
outcomes in these measures and the proportion of FSM pupils. This strongly 
suggests that any differences reflect the variation in provision within schools, in 
terms of a suitable curriculum offer and rigour in tracking the progress of all 
pupils, not just those near the level 2+ threshold. 
 
Key Stage 4 Results 

  
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 

Cardiff 
2015 

Target* 

Wales 
2015 

Actual 
Achieved the Level 2 
threshold including 
E/W/M 

48.4% 49.3% 49.9% 54.0% 59.3% 63.0% 
57.90% 

Achieved the Level 2 
threshold 63.9% 68.3% 73.0% 76.0% 81.6% 81.1% 

84.10% 
Achieved the Level 1 
threshold 89.3% 91.2% 91.7% 93.2% 92.1% 95.4% 

94.40% 
Percentage achieving 
the Core Subject 
Indicator 

47.3% 47.9% 46.7% 51.2% 56.5% 61.8% 
54.80% 

Average capped 
wider points score 306.0 317.0 322.0 331.0 336.9 - 343.5 

Pupils entered for at 
least one exam 99.0% n/a 100.0% 99.0% 99.0% 

- 
99.0% 

 
 

6. There were also improvements in outcomes in the individual subjects of 
mathematics, English, Welsh and science at level 2. These improvements were 
smaller than that achieved in the level 2+ threshold which suggests that schools 
are becoming more effective at reducing the number of pupils that achieve level 
2 in only one of mathematics or English/Welsh but not both. The improvements 
in schools’ pupil tracking processes, in combination with successful intervention 
have improved schools’ effectiveness in this area. Challenge advisers have also 
been more robust in testing the validity of the data. 
 

 
Subject 2010 2015 

Percentage Point 
Improvement 

English 62.00% 71.63% 9.63% 
Welsh 85.00% 84.14% -0.86% 
Mathematics 52.00% 63.21% 11.21% 
Science 62.00% 80.69% 18.69% 

 
7. In nine secondary schools, the results in the level 2+ threshold were less than 

expected.  In all but one of these schools this stems from lower than expected 
performance in mathematics.  In this subject particularly, the accuracy of 
teacher assessment is still not secure. 
 

Page 320



3 
 

Pupils finishing statutory age education with no recognised qualification 
 

8. From 2014 onwards, there has been an improvement in the method for 
matching of pupils aged 15 who achieved no recognised qualification to PLASC. 
The data from 2011 onwards has been recalibrated which has resulted in an 
improvement in the figures for Cardiff and the local authority’s comparison with 
Wales as a whole. 
 

9. The percentage of pupils not achieving a recognised qualification has been 
identical to the national figure for the last two years.  Prior to 2014 the figures 
are not comparable as the proportion of pupils not achieving a recognised 
qualification was reported differently. 
  

 Achieving No Qualification 2014 2015 
Cardiff 1.1% 1.2% 
Wales 1.1% 1.2% 
Difference 0 0 

 
Gender Gap 
 

10. At the level 2+ threshold boys’ performance compares well with the national 
average but girls continue to underperform relative to the performance of girls 
across Wales. The proportion of boys in Cardiff achieving the level 2+ threshold 
is approximately 3 ppt greater than the equivalent national figure, but the 
proportion of girls is almost 1 ppt lower. This is as a result of the relatively lower 
performance in mathematics. In the level 2 and level 1 threshold measures, 
both boys and girls performance is below the national average by around 2.5 
ppt. 
 

11. In English and Welsh at level 2, the performance of boys and girls is above the 
national averages but in mathematics and science they are below. In 
mathematics, weaknesses in the quality of teaching and the impact of 
leadership have led to the shortcomings in the results. In science, the lower 
performance is caused by the limited use of BTEC science in some schools.  
 
Cardiff 2015 
 

Key Stage 4 

Achieved 
the Level 1 
threshold 

Achieved 
the Level 2 
threshold 

Achieved the Level 
2 threshold incl. 

GCSE grade A*- C 
in English or 

Welsh and Maths 

Core 
Subject 

Indicator 

Capped 
points 
score 

Boys 90.56% 78.24% 57.68% 55.29% 324.93 
Girls 93.76% 84.98% 60.93% 57.78% 349.07 
Difference -3.21% -6.74% -3.25% -2.49% -24.14 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 321



4 
 

Wales 2015 
 

Key Stage 4 

Achieved 
the Level 1 
threshold 

Achieved 
the Level 2 
threshold 

Achieved the Level 
2 threshold incl. 

GCSE grade A*-C 
in English or 

Welsh and Maths 

Core 
Subject 

Indicator 

Capped 
points 
score 

Boys 93.20% 80.90% 54.30% 51.70% 332.30 
Girls 95.70% 87.50% 61.80% 58.00% 355.20 
Difference -2.50% -6.60% -7.50% -6.30% -22.90 

 
Performance of Pupils Eligible for Free School Meals 
 

12. The performance of eFSM pupils has improved in most of the main indicators 
and core subjects. The exceptions are at the level 1 threshold, capped points 
score and in science. In comparison, the performance of non-FSM pupils 
improved in all the main indicators with the exception of the level 1 threshold. 
 

13. Provisional results for 2015 report that in Cardiff 31.9% of eFSM pupils attained 
the level 2+ threshold compared to 31.3% of eFSM pupils across Wales. 
However, the gap in performance between the two groups has not reduced 
significantly in any of the main measures and core subjects. 
 
Ethnicity Gap 
 
Level 2+ threshold 
 

14. In 2015, minority ethnic pupils’ performance improved by 9.5ppt, while White 
UK pupils’ improvement was more moderate at 4.1 ppt. This increase has 
brought the percentage of minority ethnic pupils attainment to a figure of 59.2%, 
while White UK is 59.3%. For the first time minority ethnic pupils are at a level 
equal to that of White UK pupils.  
 

15. At the level 2 inclusive threshold the greatest positive changes were for the 
following ethnic groups – Black Caribbean (16.7%), Pakistani (22.2%) and 
Somali (18.0%). These groups have relatively stable populations in Cardiff and 
on the needs assessment survey pupils are typically categorised as ‘Developing 
competence’ or ‘Competent’ in English. 
 

16. The lowest performing groups in this measure are Traveller/Romany, White 
European and Black Caribbean. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 322



5 
 

LEVEL 2 INCLUSIVE THRESHOLD 2013 2014 2015 

Any other ethnic background 76.90 77.78 82.1 

Arab 38.50 48.00 56.6 
Bangladeshi 48.40 56.76 60.0 

Black Caribbean 14.30 33.33 50.0 

Chinese or Chinese British 68.40 94.12 100.0 

Mixed 46.00 50.82 57.4 

Other Asian 66.70 64.81 76.3 

Other Black 54.30 41.51 51.6 
Pakistani 47.70 50.96 73.1 

Somali 36.70 38.71 56.7 

Traveller/Romany 0.00 14.29 0.0 

White European 41.30 37.10 49.6 

All EM 46.40 49.62 59.2 

White UK 50.80 55.25 59.3 
Not known 55.20 48.94 80.0 

All Cardiff pupils 49.90 53.90 59.4 

 
English as an Additional Language  
 

17. The following data needs to be viewed with a degree of caution. It has been 
ascertained by the local authority’s officers (EMAS) that some minority ethnic 
pupils are being recorded as EAL and given a category of acquisition when they 
should not be included in the EAL cohort. This has led to concerns over the 
reliability of the data. Local authority officers are working closely with schools to 
improve the accuracy of the data collected. 
 
Percentage achieving threshold measures 
 
 2015 (Provisional 
from second SSSP) 

Cohort Level 1 
threshold 

Level 2 
threshold 

Level 2 
threshold 

incl. E/W & M 
New to English (A) 7 57.14% 57.14% 0.00% 
Early Acquisition (B) 26 69.23% 65.38% 7.69% 
Developing 
competence (C) 128 95.31% 82.81% 39.06% 
Competent (D) 184 98.37% 91.30% 61.96% 
Fluent (E) 228 98.68% 91.67% 76.32% 
Not matched 14 14.29% 0.00% 0.00% 
All Pupils 3305 92.68% 82.06% 59.64% 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 323



6 
 

 2014 Cohort Level 1 
threshold 

Level 2 
threshold 

Level 2 
threshold 

incl. E/W & M 
New to English (A) 7 42.86% 28.57% 0.00% 
Early Acquisition (B) 

28 67.86% 42.86% 3.57% 
Developing 
competence (C) 

198 94.44% 72.22% 22.22% 
Competent (D) 168 98.81% 89.29% 64.88% 
Fluent (E) 168 98.21% 86.90% 69.64% 
Not matched 16 12.50% 0.00% 0.00% 
All Pupils 3525 93.19% 76.03% 54.04% 

 
 

18. The tables above show that the performance of EAL learners has improved for 
nearly all categories in all performance indicators. Not surprisingly, the level of 
language acquisition affects the level 2 inclusive indicator due to the lower 
performance in English. 
 
Level 2 threshold 
 

19. Outcomes at the Level 2 threshold increased by 8.7 ppt from the previous year 
(from 78.2% to 86.9%) for all Minority Ethnic groups combined. This meant that 
they outperformed the White UK ethnic group for the second consecutive year 
at this threshold. The All Minority Ethnic group performed 5.4ppt above All 
Cardiff pupils as a whole. Within the whole Minority Ethnic population the lowest 
achievement groups were Traveller/Romany and the White European. 
 

LEVEL 2 THRESHOLD 2013 2014 2015 

Any other ethnic background 84.60 88.89 100.00 

Arab 62.50 85.33 94.7 

Bangladeshi 65.10 90.54 91.3 

Black Caribbean 66.70 83.33 75.0 

Chinese or Chinese British 90.90 100.00 100.0 
Mixed 60.40 78.14 85.1 

Other Asian 65.00 85.19 92.1 

Other Black 68.30 81.13 83.9 

Pakistani 80.90 76.92 92.5 

Somali 63.90 85.48 94.0 

Traveller/Romany 16.70 28.57 45.5 
White European 65.30 56.45 74.8 

All EM 66.30 78.16 86.9 

White UK 63.30 74.76 79.7 

Not known 66.70 68.09 90.0 

All Cardiff pupils 64.00 75.43 81.5 
 
 

Page 324



7 
 

Level 1 threshold 
LEVEL 1 THRESHOLD 2015 2014 2013 

Any other ethnic background 100.0% 100.0% 100.00% 
Arab 98.7% 97.3% 88.46% 
Bangladeshi 100.0% 100.0% 97.89% 
Black Caribbean 87.5% 91.7% 75.00% 
Chinese or Chinese British 100.0% 100.0% 100.00% 
Mixed 93.8% 95.6% 92.00% 
Other Asian 100.0% 96.3% 100.00% 
Other Black 90.3% 98.1% 93.48% 
Pakistani 100.0% 96.2% 93.18% 
Somali 100.0% 95.2% 98.33% 
Traveller/Romany 70.0% 71.4% 33.33% 
White European 87.0% 81.5% 83.96% 
ALL EM 95.1% 94.2% 92.08% 
White UK 92.3% 93.1% 91.52% 
Not known 64.7% 80.4% 96.67% 
All Cardiff pupils 92.1% 93.19% 91.74% 

 
20. Over the past 3 years Minority Ethnic pupils have always had a higher 

proportion of pupils achieving the Level 1 than White UK pupils. The gap has 
increased year on year since 2013.  
 

21. Six Minority Ethnic groups attained 100% Level 1, and the Arabic group attained 
98.7%. Many of these groups include children who come from well-established 
communities in Cardiff (Bangladeshi, Chinese, Asian, Pakistani and Somali). 
These children are likely to have passed through the whole education system 
(from Nursery up), while cohorts from other groups such as Other Black, White 
European and Arabic may include mid-phase arrivals. Travellers/Romany is the 
lowest achieving group with 70% attaining Level 1. 
 
Performance of Looked After Children 
 

22. The cohort in Cardiff schools in 2015 increased in size from the previous year 
from 28 pupils to 35 pupils. 6 of the 35 pupils (17.1%) achieved level 2+ 
threshold compared to the previous year when only 3 pupils (10.3%) achieved 
this threshold. This matches the percentage of Looked After Children achieving 
this indicator in 2014 across Wales.  
 
Key Stage 4 – Level 2+ threshold 
 

Year Total Pupils L2 + Wales LAC 
L2+ 

All Pupils 
Cardiff 

2013 33 2 (6%) 13% 49.9% 

2014 28 3 (10.3%) 17% 53.9% 

2015 
Provisional 

35 6 (17.1%)  59.4% 

Page 325



8 
 

Key Stage 4 – Level 2 threshold 
 

23. In 2015, 48.6% of Looked After Children attained 5A* -C, compared with 27.6% 
in 2014. The gap between Looked After Children and their peers is 10.8 ppts, 
compared to 26.3 ppts in 2014.  
 

Year Total Pupils L2 All Pupils Cardiff 

2013 33 12 (36.4%) 73.0% 

2014 28 8 (27.6%) 76.0% 

2015 
Provisional 

35 17 (48.6%) 81.0% 

 
Key Stage 4 – Level 1 
 

24. In 2015, 77.1% of Looked After Children attained 5 A* - G, compared with 
58.6% in 2014. 
 

Year Total Pupils L1 All Pupils 
Cardiff 

2013 33 21 (63.6%) 91.7% 

2014 28 17 (58.6%) 93.2% 

2015 
Provisional 

35 27 (77.1%) 92.1% 

 
Performance of SEN pupils 
 

25. There continues to be a wide gap between the attainment of pupils having 
special educational needs (SEN) and non-SEN pupils in mainstream settings at 
Key Stage 4.  As would be expected, the gap is widest for statemented pupils, 
and the gap narrows for those at school action plus and school action.   
 
Key Stage 4 - Percentage achieving threshold measures  

     2015 (Provisional 
from second SSSP) 

Level 1 threshold Level 2 threshold Level 2 threshold 
incl. E/W & M 

Statemented 59.56% 36.76% 13.24% 
School Action Plus 67.66% 45.96% 11.91% 

School Action 89.15% 67.46% 22.56% 
No SEN 98.01% 91.22% 74.05% 
Not matched 14.29% 0.00% 0.00% 
Total 92.68% 82.06% 59.64% 

    

 

 
 

  

Page 326



9 
 

 2014 Level 1 threshold Level 2 threshold Level 2 threshold 
incl. E/W & M 

Statemented 51.40% 24.80% 6.70% 
School Action Plus 74.50% 35.00% 9.90% 

School Action 90.90% 59.00% 20.40% 
No SEN 96.80% 84.40% 66.20% 
Not matched - - - 
Total 93.00% 75.40% 53.90% 

 
 

26. In 2015 the proportion of SEN pupils attaining level 2 and level 2 inclusive, 
increased for all groups. There was also an 8 ppt increase in the proportion of 
statemented pupils achieving level 1.   
 

27. However,  the proportion of school action plus and school action pupils 
achieving  level 1 fell, by 7 ppts and 1.7 ppts respectively.  This has led to the 
overall fall in level 1 threshold for all Cardiff pupils.   

 

Comparative Performance with Other Local Authorities and Cities 
 

28. At Key Stage 4 there has been a slight improvement in the relative 
benchmarking positions of schools in 2015 when compared to 2014. 
 
2015 Key Stage 4 – Percentage of Cardiff schools in upper and lower 
quarters 
 

 
Key Stage 4 

Performance Measure Lower Q Upper Q 
Level 1 threshold 50.00% 16.67% 
Level 2 threshold 44.44% 22.22% 

Level 2 inc Eng/Wel & Maths 22.22% 44.44% 
 
2014 Key Stage 4 – Percentage of Cardiff schools in upper and lower 
quarters 
 
  Key Stage 4 

Performance Measure Lower Q Upper Q 
Level 1 threshold 42.1% 15.8% 
Level 2 threshold 52.6% 10.5% 

Level 2 inc Eng/Wel & Maths 26.3% 26.3% 
 

29. At the level 2+ threshold Cardiff’s performance in 2015 compares favourably 
with other Welsh local authorities. Cardiff has moved into the top ten local 
authorities and the performance in this indicator is 4.23ppt above modelled 
expectations based on the proportion of eFSM pupils. 
 

Page 327



10 
 

Key Stage 4 L2+ 2014/15 2013/14 2012/13 
Authority Result Rank Result Rank Result Rank 
Cardiff 59.3 10 54.0 13 49.9 17 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Isle of Anglesey 

Gwynedd 

Denbighshire 

Flintshire 

Wrexham 

Powys 
Ceredigion 

Pembrokeshire 

Carmarthenshire 

Swansea 

Neath Port Talbot 
Bridgend 

The Vale of 
Glamorgan 

Rhondda Cynon Taf 

Merthyr Tydfil 
Caerphilly 

Blaenau Gwent 

Torfaen 

Monmouthshire 

Newport 

Cardiff 

40

45

50

55

60

65

70

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

%
 L

2+
 A

ch
ie

ve
m

en
t 

% FSM 

All LAs L2+ by %FSM 2015 

Co

Page 328



11 
 

 
30. In contrast, at the level 2 threshold Cardiff’s performance in 2015 is 18th out of 

the 22 other Welsh local authorities and 21st at the level 1 threshold.  
 

 

 
31. At Key Stage 4 comparisons with England and the core cities are no longer 

meaningful because the qualifications that contribute to the performance 
measures are now different in Wales and England. This is illustrated in the table 
below where the closest equivalent figures for England are now much lower. 
 
2015 Level 2 threshold/ 

5 A*-C with E/W/M 
Level 2 

threshold/ 
5 A*-C 

Level 1 threshold/ 
5 A*-G 

Cardiff  59.3% 81.6% 92.1% 
Wales 57.9% 84.1% 94.4% 
England 52.8% 64.2% 90.8% 
 

 

Isle of Anglesey 

Gwynedd 

Denbighshire 

Flintshire 

Wrexham 

Powys 
Ceredigion 

Pembrokeshire 

Carmarthenshire 

Swansea 

Neath Port Talbot 

Bridgend 

The Vale of 
Glamorgan 

Rhondda Cynon Taf 

Merthyr Tydfil 

Caerphilly 

Blaenau Gwent 

Torfaen 

Monmouthshire 

Newport 

Cardiff 

70

75

80

85

90

95

100

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

%
 L

2 
Ac

hi
ev

em
en

t 

% FSM 

All LAs L2 by %FSM 2015 

Co

Page 329



12 
 

Comparative Performance of Pupils Eligible for Free School Meals 
 

32. At the level 2+ threshold the performance of both eFSM pupils and nFSM pupils 
has continued to increase 
 

 
 

33. However, the difference in performance between eFSM pupils and nFSM pupils 
increased in Key Stage 4 in the three main performance indicators. There 
continues to be marked variations between schools in the attainment of eFSM 
pupils.  
 

 

Level 2+ 
Cardiff 

Wales 
2015 

Level 2 
Cardiff 

Level 2 
Wales 

Level 1 
Cardiff 

Level 1 
Wales 

2014/15 eFSM   31.9% 
 

31.3% 64.5% 
 

68.2% 81.3% 
 

89.3% 

2014/15 nFSM   66.3% 
 

63.7% 86.0% 
 

88.3% 95.7% 
 

97.5% 
Difference 
2015 34.4% 

 
32.4% 21.5% 

 
20.1% 14.4% 

 
8.3% 

Difference 
2014 33.3% 

 
33.8% 20.2% 

 
22.1% 11.3% 

 
9.5% 

 
 

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

70.0%

2011/12 eFSM 2012/13 eFSM 2013/14 eFSM 2014/15 eFSM

eFSM

nFSM

Page 330



1 
 

Appendix 8  
Performance at Key Stage 5 
 
Trend in Outcomes 
 

1. The proportion of subject entries at A* or A was 31.1% and at A*-C the 
proportion was 78.4%. These figures represent increases of 3.7 and 1.3 ppt 
respectively on the figures for 2014. At A*-E, considered the ‘pass rate’, the 
proportion of subject entries was 98.1%. The proportion of students achieving 
the level 3 threshold was 97.0%. Both figures are similar to those achieved in 
2014.  
 

2. The results achieved at Key Stage 5 compare positively with the national figures 
for both Wales and England. The proportion of subject entries at A* or A was 
23.1% in Wales and 25.9% across England. At A*-C the corresponding national 
figures were 74.3% and 77.2% respectively. The national pass rate in Wales 
was 97.3% whereas in England it was 98.1%. 

 
3. The overall trend in performance at the level 3 threshold and average wider 

points score is shown in the table below. 
 

A Level Results 2015 
 

 
YEAR 13 RESULTS Wales 

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2015 
Entering a volume equivalent to 
2 A level who achieved the 
Level 3 threshold 

96% 97% 96.0% 97.0% 96.9% 97.0% 

Average wider points score for 
pupils aged 17 

808 845 865.5 833 866 799.7 

 
 
Percentage achieving A*/A at A Level 
 

4. The proportion of entries achieving a grade A*/A has been around 30% for the 
last five years but showed further improvement in 2015. This outcome was 
considerably above the Welsh average, the same as in previous years.   
 
A level  
 

 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 
 A*/A A*/A A*/A A*/A A*/A A*/A 

Cardiff 28.8% 29.8% 29.5% 29.0% 29.7% 31.0% 
Wales 24.4% 23.9% 23.6% 22.9% 23.2% 23.0% 
 
Report on Value-added in Cardiff 6th Forms utilising the Alps system 
  

5. Cardiff uses the Alps tools for identifying the added value schools bring to 
student achievements.  This is the second full year of use and strongly 
welcomed by schools. It is anticipated that the impact of its use will increase in 
the years ahead. 

Page 331



2 
 

6. Using this information it has been found that: 
• Over a third of A level teaching in Cardiff is excellent or outstanding 
• 2 schools have sustained excellent overall performance from 2012 to 

2015 
• A further 3 schools have sustained good performance 
• 5 schools can be considered satisfactory in their overall performance  
• 2 schools are in the lowest grades of performance but one of these is 

showing signs of improvement 
 

7. The value-added performance of subjects shows significant variation both within 
and across schools.  Cardiff has a number of high performing subjects across a 
range of centres that are placed in the top 25% of performance and in some 
cases in the top 10%. 
 
Subjects performing strongly are:- 
 
Applied Art, Geology, History, Mathematics, Music and Religious Studies 
 
There are also a number of subjects causing concern including, for example, 
Applied ICT, aspects of D&T.   
 

8. Greater consistency is now needed across schools and a drive towards the 
higher grades of performance.  Using the Alps data as evidence of quality of 
delivery a system of school to school support will be piloted in 2015-16 using 
on-line tools to assist the sharing of best practice in the planning and delivery of 
lessons. 
 

Page 332



1 
 

Appendix 9  
Attendance at School 
 

1. Having improved significantly year on year since 2011, the 2014-2015 overall 
attendance figure for secondary schools remained the same as in the last 
academic year at 93.8%, which is identical to the Welsh average. This places 
Cardiff 11th out of the 22 local authorities in Wales for secondary school 
attendance. Seven schools achieved attendance above 95% compared to five 
last year. Notably poor attendance in three schools impacted significantly on the 
overall city data. 
 
 

 
 
 

2. The attendance of eFSM pupils in secondary schools was slightly lower in 2015 
than in 2014. This is a cause for concern as it is likely to have a negative impact 
on the academic achievement of these pupils at the end of year 11.  

 
3. The proportion of pupils who are persistent absentees (attendance of 80% or 

below) has reduced for two years running in three of the cities secondary 
schools but increased for two years running in six others. 
 

4. Attendance in primary schools continues to improve. The 2015 figures showed 
attendance of 95.1% which is 0.2 percentage points up on the 2014 figure of 
94.9%. Overall, 56% of primary schools look to have achieved an attendance 
rate over 95% and 29% of schools achieved attendance of at least 96%. 

 
 
 
 

88.00%

89.00%

90.00%

91.00%

92.00%

93.00%

94.00%

95.00%

2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-2014 2014-2015

Cardiff Secondary Attendance 2010 -2015 

Cardiff Wales

Page 333



2 
 

 
 
 

5. The proportion of days missed, especially by secondary school age pupils, 
remains too high and in some cases clearly impacts on the standards attained 
by individual pupils and their schools. While there is clear evidence of the 
positive impact of the 5 step strategy which has been in place for a number of 
years now, improving attendance in schools at all phases remains a priority.    
 
Primary and Secondary Attendance 2015 
Comparison of Cardiff to the Core Cities 
      
  Primary Secondary  
 2015 Attendance Rank Attendance Rank  
Wales Average 94.9%   93.8%    
England Average 96.0%   94.8%    
           
Cardiff 95.1% 10 93.9% 7  
Birmingham 95.9% 3 95.1% 1  
Bristol, city of 95.7% 4 94.3% 5  
Leeds 96.2% 1 94.5% 3  
Liverpool 95.5% 8 93.7% 8  
Manchester 96.0% 2 93.7% 8  
Newcastle Upon Tyne 95.7% 4 94.8% 2  
Nottingham 95.7% 4 94.5% 3  
Sheffield 95.5% 7 94.3% 5  
Glasgow 95.1% 9 91.9% 10  
      

 

91.50%

92.00%

92.50%

93.00%

93.50%

94.00%

94.50%

95.00%

95.50%

2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-2014 2014-2015

Cardiff Primary Attendance 2010-2015 

Cardiff Wales

Page 334

http://www.dfes.gov.uk/performancetables/primary_04/glossary.shtml#ks2l4


1 
 

Appendix 10   
Exclusions 
 
1. The exclusion data shows an overall improvement. Cardiff’s exclusion rates 

continue to fall overall against key performance indicators, with significant 
reductions in the fixed term exclusions per 1000 pupils in both secondary 
and primary phases. There were four permanent exclusions in 2014/15. 
 

2. Progress has been made in reducing fixed term exclusions and maintaining 
low permanent exclusions. Since the introduction of the 5 step approach the 
majority of schools have implemented the model appropriately.  This has led 
to schools providing alternatives to exclusion and improving practice which 
has consequently led to a significant reduction in exclusion rates over the 
last five years. 

 
3. Exclusion data is used to target support and share good practice between 

schools. Stronger inclusion models have been implemented with a more 
proactive approach to behaviour management. Working relationships 
between schools and the local authority and between schools and other 
schools are generally effective in securing alternatives to exclusion.   
 

     Primary Phase 
 
4. Progress has been made in reducing short fixed term exclusions in primary 

schools with the exclusions per 1000 pupils now at 9.16 close to the Welsh 
average of 9.1 (2012/13). Longer fixed term exclusions have remained low 
at 0.3 per 1000 pupils and are below the Welsh average of 0.7 per 1000 
pupils. 
 

5. The average days lost to short exclusions has fallen from 1.55 (2013/14) to 
1.43 (2014/15). Whilst the average length of longer exclusions in this phase 
has risen, this relates to 7 incidents of exclusion in 2014/15 which is down 
from 13 in 2012/13.  This reflects the serious nature of a small number of 
incidents which have occurred in primary schools. 

 
 
Exclusion category 12/13 13/14 14/15 Wales average 

(12/13) 
14/15 
 target 

Fixed term exclusions 
per 1000 pupils( 5 days 
or fewer) 

11.03 13.19 9.16 9.1 8.5 

Fixed term exclusions 
per 1000 pupils( 6 days 
or more) 

0.59 0.3 0.3 0.7 0.25 

Average days lost ( FTE 
5 days or fewer) 

1.99 1.55 1.43 n/a n/a 

Average days lost ( FTE 
6 days or more)  

8.65  8.07  9.07  n/a n/a 

 
 
 
 

Page 335



2 
 

 
Secondary Phase 
 

1. Good progress overall has been made in reducing short fixed term 
exclusions in this phase with a five year downward trend. The majority of 
secondary schools have low exclusions figures. The number of incidents 
of exclusion has been reduced considerably from 135 in 2012/13 to 78 in 
2014/15. Improvements have also been made in reducing the average 
days lost to both short and longer exclusions. 
 

2. However, rates of exclusion have still been high in eight secondary 
schools, resulting in the overall secondary data not reducing further. Of 
these, two are now making good progress in reducing exclusions 
following challenge and support and work is ongoing with another two to 
embed consistency in the 5 step approach. 
 

3. The remaining four schools have been subject to local authority 
intervention leading to changes in leadership and governance. Stronger 
inclusion models have now been implemented with a more proactive 
approach to behaviour management. As a result exclusions have fallen 
significantly in two out of the four schools.  
 

4. Longer fixed term exclusions have risen this year due to the high rates at 
two schools which account for one third of all exclusions. The number of 
incidents of exclusion has been reduced considerably from 135 in 
2012/13 to 78 in 2014/15. In all schools with comparatively high numbers 
of exclusions, more needs to be done to ensure that interventions short 
of exclusion are used effectively wherever possible.    

 
 
Secondary Phase Exclusion Data 
 
Exclusion 
category 

12/13 13/14 14/15 Welsh 
average 
(12/13) 

14/15 target 

Fixed term 
exclusions per 
1000 pupils( 5 
days or fewer) 

107.8 95.9 76.7 56.5 55 

Fixed term 
exclusions per 
1000 pupils( 6 
days or more)  

7.9  3.7  4.7  3.9 3.3 

Average days 
lost ( FTE 5 
days or fewer) 

1.89 1.77 1.74 n/a n/a 

Average days 
lost ( FTE 6 
days or more)  

9.98  9.96  9.37  n/a n/a 

 

Page 336



1 
 

Appendix 11 
Not In Education, Employment or Training (NEET) 
 

1. Significant progress has been made over the last 5 years in reducing the 
number of young people who leave school and do not make a positive transition 
to Education Employment, Training in Cardiff. There has been a significant 
reduction in the numbers of year 11 leavers designated as NEET, from 8.8% in 
2010, to 4.26% in 2014.  In 2014, the number of year 11 school leavers that did 
not progress into EET was 151 pupils of a cohort of 3,546 pupils (4.26%).  
 

 
Source: Careers Wales Pupil Destinations from Schools in Wales. This indicator is based on a snapshot 
taken at the end of October each year and data relates to whether a young person was engaged in EET on 
the day of the count. 
 

Year 11 Leavers known to be not in education, employment or training 
  2010 2011 2012 2013       2014 
Cardiff 8.8 7.7 6.7 4.9 4.3 
Wales 5.4 4.4 4.2 3.7  3.1 
 

2. Despite this improvement being at a faster rate than other local authorities, 
further reductions are required. Cardiff’s position relative to that of the 21 other 
local authorities in Wales was 20th compared with 21st in 2013. In relation to 
similar authorities Cardiff’s performance at 4.26% is ahead of Newport 4.7% but 
behind Swansea 3.5%.  

 
3. The local authority has strong partnership arrangements with Careers Wales 

and robust data sharing and processes have been developed to support the 
operation of post 16 neighbourhood panels and the destinations process. Youth 
Service Lead Workers and Youth Mentors have arrangements in place to refer 
into Careers Advisors when they identify year 10 and 11 pupils or post 16 
learners that require career support.  
 

0.00%

1.00%

2.00%

3.00%

4.00%

5.00%

6.00%

7.00%

8.00%

9.00%

10.00%

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Year 11 school leavers known to be NEET 

Cardiff Wales Average

Page 337



2 
 

4. The local authority is also working as part of a regional consortium to progress 
an European Social Fund application - Aspire to Achieve. Careers Wales are 
included as a partner in the application and should this be successful will deliver 
‘Activate’, a targeted career support intervention with pupils identified through 
the Vulnerability Assessment Profile.       

Page 338



 
 

1 
 

Appendix 12   
Outcomes of Inspections 
 
The Outcomes of School Inspections 
 

1. At the time of writing this report, 3 nursery schools, 76 primary schools, 5 
special schools, 18 secondary schools and the Pupil Referral Unit (PRU) have 
been inspected since September 2010 when Estyn introduced a revised 
framework for inspections.  The Annual Report of Her Majesty's Chief Inspector 
of Education and Training in Wales 2013-2014 cited that 65% (approximately 
two thirds) of primary schools and 69% of secondary schools are in some form 
of follow-up monitoring. 
 

2. During the 2014-2015 academic year: 
• Five schools were judged as requiring significant improvement:  

Fairwater Primary, St. Cuthbert’s RC Primary, Adamsdown Primary, 
Christ the King RC Primary and Cantonian High;  

• Two schools were judged as requiring special measures: 
Eastern High and Trelai Primary. 

 
3. In the two secondary schools the local authority has taken intervention action: 

• Cantonian High, the proportion of pupils achieving the level 2+ threshold 
improved in 2015. The school is receiving support for leadership, learning 
and teaching from a high performing school and the school is also 
involved in the Schools Challenge Cymru programme. 

• Eastern High, the school has made progress over the last year in some 
areas such as improving behaviour and leadership. Improving the quality 
of teaching is now the main focus in order to improve outcomes for pupils 
in 2016. 

 
4. In the primary schools, poor performance at the end of each key stage and 

shortcomings in leadership were the main contributory factors. The local 
authority intervened in Fairwater Primary and this school has now made good 
progress and been removed from Estyn’s list of schools requiring significant 
improvement. In the other primary schools leadership issues are being 
addressed. 
 

5. Over the same period: 
• Two schools were removed from requiring significant improvement, 

namely Holy Family RC Primary and Allensbank Primary; and  
• St. Illtyds was removed from special measures. 

 
Main Themes in Inspection Reports 

 
6. Estyn’s Annual Report 2013-2014 highlights that in primary schools where 

standards are excellent, pupils make very good progress in their learning, often 
from low starting points. They apply their literacy, numeracy, thinking and 
problem-solving skills well across the curriculum. Pupils eligible for free school 
meals generally perform as well as their peers and there tends to be little 
difference between the performance of boys and girls.  

Page 339



 
 

2 
 

7. Where inspections judge standards to be only adequate, their report notes that 
there is no trend of improvement, numeracy skills are weaker than literacy skills 
and girls tend to perform better than boys, particularly at the higher-than-
expected levels and in literacy. The quality and consistency of feedback pupils 
receive and how effective this is in helping pupils to improve their work are 
weak. Leaders do not hold senior and middle leaders to account for the 
standards pupils achieve and do not place an appropriate focus on improving 
standards.  
 

8. In relation to secondary schools, Estyn’s annual report 2013-2014 identifies that 
in the very few schools where standards are excellent, examination results are 
very good and consistently compare well with those of similar schools. Nearly 
all pupils display high levels of achievement and progress in their learning. 
 

9. The report also documents that where standards are only adequate, there are 
weaknesses in mathematics, at the level 2+ indicator, and in the provision for 
more able and talented pupils. Leaders at all levels do not have enough impact 
on standards and the quality of teaching. Governors do not hold leaders to 
account well enough for their responsibilities or challenge the school enough on 
areas for improvement. Recommendations highlighting the need to take action 
to improve in these areas have also been made in reports on Cardiff schools. 
 

10. Where schools in Cardiff are judged to be unsatisfactory, there are low 
standards and weaknesses in leadership. Self-evaluation and planning for 
improvement have not had enough impact on raising standards and improving 
the quality of teaching. Governors do not challenge the school’s leaders 
rigorously enough or hold them to account fully for the standards that pupils 
achieve. 
 
Inspection Report Analysis - Outcomes from September 2010 - August 
2015 
 
In the tables below KQ refers to the key questions against which judgements 
are made.  
KQ1 – How good are the outcomes? 
KQ2 – How good is provision? 
KQ3 – How good are leadership and management? 
 
Percentage of reports graded Excellent 
Type KQ Cardiff CSC Wales 
Primary KQ1 8.9 4.0 3.5 
Primary KQ2 10.1 4.0 3.2 
Primary KQ3 10.1 5.5 5.9 
Secondary KQ1 5.6 13.3 12.8 
Secondary KQ2 5.6 8.9 9.5 
Secondary KQ3 11.1 13.3 14.5 
Special/PRU KQ1 16.7 20.0 18.2 
Special/PRU KQ2 16.7 10.0 13.6 
Special/PRU KQ3 16.7 20.0 19.7 

Page 340



 
 

3 
 

 
 
Percentage of reports graded Good 
 
Type KQ Cardiff CSC Wales 
Primary KQ1 68.4 68.0 67.5 
Primary KQ2 64.6 74.5 75.5 
Primary KQ3 64.6 70.2 67.9 
Secondary KQ1 38.9 33.3 35.8 
Secondary KQ2 44.4 55.6 56.4 
Secondary KQ3 44.4 53.3 44.1 
Special/PRU KQ1 83.3 70.0 57.6 
Special/PRU KQ2 66.7 75.0 62.1 
Special/PRU KQ3 50.0 60.0 47.0 

 
 
Percentage of reports graded Adequate 
 
Type KQ Cardiff CSC Wales 
Primary KQ1 20.3 26.5 27.8 
Primary KQ2 25.3 20.4 20.3 
Primary KQ3 20.3 21.1 22.1 
Secondary KQ1 27.8 40.0 40.2 
Secondary KQ2 33.3 28.9 30.7 
Secondary KQ3 22.2 22.2 34.1 
Special/PRU KQ1 0.0 10.0 16.7 
Special/PRU KQ2 16.7 15.0 18.2 
Special/PRU KQ3 33.3 20.0 22.7 

 
 
Percentage of reports graded Unsatisfactory 
 
Type KQ Cardiff CSC Wales 
Primary KQ1 2.5 1.5 1.2 
Primary KQ2 0.0 1.1 1.0 
Primary KQ3 5.1 3.3 4.1 
Secondary KQ1 27.8 13.3 11.2 
Secondary KQ2 16.7 6.7 3.4 
Secondary KQ3 22.2 11.1 7.3 
Special/PRU KQ1 0.0 0.0 7.6 
Special/PRU KQ2 0.0 0.0 6.1 
Special/PRU KQ3 0.0 0.0 10.6 

 
 
 

Page 341



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 10 

CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL  
CYNGOR DINAS CAERDYDD 
 
CABINET MEETING: 21 JANUARY 2015 

 
 
CARDIFF COMMITMENT TO YOUTH ENGAGEMENT AND 
PROGRESSION  
 
REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF EDUCATION & LIFELONG 
LEARNING and DIRECTOR OF ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
 

AGENDA ITEM: 8    
 
  
PORTFOLIO: LEADER (ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT & PARTNERSHIPS)       
(COUNCILLOR PHIL BALE) AND EDUCATION (COUNCILLOR SARAH 
MERRY) 
 
Reason for this Report 
 
1. To seek Cabinet approval to proceed with the development of a 

comprehensive, integrated, Cardiff Commitment to Youth Engagement 
and Progression Strategy for the city. 

 
2. The proposed strategy will set out how Cardiff Council, together with a 

wide range of partners in the public, private and third sectors, will seek to 
ensure a positive destination for every young person in Cardiff after 
statutory schooling, into employment, education or training. 
 

Background and context 
 
3. Vibrant, cohesive communities and a prosperous economy and society 

are founded on a strong education system. Cardiff, the capital city of 
Wales, is one of the fastest growing cities in the UK. It has long been an 
international city, trading with the world, welcoming people, ideas and 
innovation from elsewhere. Its economy has changed radically and is 
developing in new ways. Its population is increasingly diverse, with over 
100 languages spoken. It is a proudly bilingual city, committed to the 
development of the Welsh language. 
 

4. Cardiff’s education system has been responding to these changes. With 
a strong university sector, and major employers in the region, Cardiff has 
a high proportion of citizens educated to graduate level, attracting and 
retaining a highly skilled workforce. But in the past some aspects of the 
statutory schooling system have been underperforming, with stark 
differences in outcomes for learners, and life chances in different parts of 
the city. This has been changing in recent years and improvements are 

 

Page 343

Agenda Item 8



Page 2 of 10 

clear. But more remains to be done to ensure that Cardiff has 
consistently excellent education. 
 

5. The Council’s Single Integrated Plan, ‘What Matters’ sets out ambitions 
to deliver a thriving and prosperous economy and to enable ‘people in 
Cardiff to achieve their full potential’. These ambitions transfer into the 
Council’s Corporate Plan and the four key priorities: 
 
• Education and skills for people of all ages; 
• Supporting people in vulnerable situations; 
• Sustainable economic development as the engine for growth and jobs; 
• Working with people and partners to design, deliver and improve 
services. 
 
Better education and employment outcomes for young people, are 
clearly critical success factors to achieving improved economic growth 
and are integral to the Council’s current ambitions and plans. The 
refreshed strategy for youth employment and progression proposed in 
this report, taken together with the development of “Cardiff 2020”, the 
educational improvement strategy for Cardiff to 2020, will set out how the 
Council, with its partners in  the city, will secure these objectives. 
 

6. Current data shows that Cardiff is growing faster than other cities in the 
UK, with a skilled and competitive workforce, high quality of life rating, 
and significant investment in business infrastructure.  It is expected to 
continue growing faster than any other U.K. city over the next 20 years.  
A flexible, highly skilled workforce is an essential component of this 
future growth, both in terms of economic development and social 
cohesion in the city and wider region. 
 

7. However, against this background of dynamic growth, Cardiff currently 
has a disproportionate number of young people who do not make a 
successful transition into Education, Employment or Training (EET). 
 

8. Welsh Government set out in the Youth Engagement and Progression 
Framework (2013), the expectation that all Councils in Wales take a 
leading role in driving the comprehensive co-ordination, alignment and 
integration of activity across a range of delivery stakeholders to ensure 
that young people make a successful transition into EET.   
 

9. In monitoring educational provision in Cardiff one of Estyn’s six 
recommendations from 2014 requires action to further reduce numbers 
of young people who are not in EET.  In their monitoring visit of October 
2015, they noted progress in reducing numbers, but pointed to the need 
for a single overarching strategy to improve youth engagement and 
progression. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 344



Page 3 of 10 

Current Position 
 
Youth employment in Cardiff  

 
10. Youth employment in Cardiff has improved in recent years, with the 

percentage of young people unemployed in the age groups 16 -18 and 
20 -24, now below the Wales averages. However, statistics indicate that 
2,000 young people aged 16 – 19 and 2,800 young people aged 20 – 24, 
within the City of Cardiff are unemployed. 
 

Unemployment rate – Young People aged 16-19 
   

       Date Cardiff Wales 

  Unemployed Economically 
active  % Unemployed Economically 

active  % 

Jan 2012-Dec 2012 3,200 8,700 36.4 20,600 71,300 28.8 
Jan 2013-Dec 2013 3,300 9,600 34.5 20,800 68,800 30.3 
Jan 2014-Dec 2014 2,100 9,400 21.9 16,800 68,400 24.5 
Jul 2014-Jun 2015 2,000 9,200 22.0 17,900 69,400 25.8 

 
Unemployment rate – Young People aged 20 -24 
  

     Date Cardiff Wales 

  Unemployed Economically 
active  % Unemployed Economically 

active  % 

Jan 2012-Dec 2012 5,900 20,900 28.2 30,500 145,900 20.9 
Jan 2013-Dec 2013 4,700 25,400 18.7 26,500 156,200 17.0 
Jan 2014-Dec 2014 2,700 24,000 11.4 21,900 154,500 14.2 
Jul 2014-Jun 2015 2,800 23,200 12.0 24,200 153,300 15.8 

 
Source:  ONS - Nomis on 10 December 2015 

 
Labour Market Analysis 
 

11. A recent labour market demand and supply report by the South East 
Wales Learning Skills and Innovation Partnership (LSKIP) states that the 
region is entering an extremely challenging five year period. 
Opportunities arising from government infrastructure and private industry 
investment plans have the potential to significantly change the current 
economic landscape. A City Deal for the Cardiff Capital Region, 
accelerated development across the three South East Wales Enterprise 
Zones including Cardiff Airport, and the establishing of close ties 
between the Great Western Cities, as well as £10 billion of planned 
infrastructure investment, represent a huge opportunity but also a 
challenge. Even if only some of the potential developments occur, the 
potential of this time can only be exploited with the support and growth of 
skills in the region’s workforce. 
 

12. The LSKIP report further stated that it believes that traditional learning, 
training models and qualifications need radical change to refocus on 
outcomes. Training the workforce across the age range to deliver the 
skills industry needs will require the development of new, relevant and 

Page 345



Page 4 of 10 

progressive qualifications, approaches and pathways. Delivering key 
essential skills in numeracy, literacy, ICT and employability for people 
across the age range who are NEET or lack qualifications will help to 
build an employee pool/register particularly focussed on areas of high 
unemployment. Attention also needs to be paid to skills shortages in 
areas such as manufacturing, tourism, financial services, education and 
public administration, where employers have expressed difficulties in 
recruiting.  Manufacturing bridges a number of sectors from medical 
and pharmaceuticals, food and drink manufacturing, electronics, 
automotive and aerospace. 
 

13. Significantly, the city’s growth plans are supported by a high number of 
graduates, many of whom are drawn to employment locally via the three 
universities. Cardiff is a popular university destination and many students 
stay on in the city.  
 
Workforce Skills – Core City Comparisons 2013 
 
  With degree or equivalent and 

above – aged 16 – 64 
Bristol 42.8 

Manchester 38.8 
Cardiff 38.6 

Sheffield 35.9 
Great Britain 35.2 

Leeds 35.1 
Newcastle Upon Tyne 34.6 

Nottingham 29.3 
Liverpool 27.2 

Birmingham 25.8 
 

School Leavers 
 
14. Significant progress has been made over the last 5 years in reducing the 

number of young people who leave school and do not make a positive 
transition to Education Employment, Training in Cardiff.  
 

15. There has been a significant reduction in the numbers of year 11 leavers 
designated as NEET, from 8.8% in 2010, to 4.26% in 2014.  In 2014, the 
number of year 11 school leavers that did not progress into EET was 151 
pupils of a cohort of 3,546 pupils (4.26%).  
 
Year 11 Leavers known to be not in education, employment or training 
  2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 
Cardiff 8.8 7.7 6.7 4.9 4.3 
Wales 5.4 4.4 4.2 3.7  3.1 
 Source: Careers Wales Pupil Destinations from Schools 
in Wales          

 
16. There has also been a reduction in the numbers of Year 13 leavers 

designated as NEET from 6.2% in 2010, to 4.4% in 2014. In 2014, the 
number of year 13 school leavers that did not progress into EET was 62 
pupils of a cohort of 1,402 pupils. 

Page 346



Page 5 of 10 

 
Year 13 Leavers known to be not in education, employment or training 
  2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 
Cardiff 6.2 8.4 4.9 4.2 4.4 
Wales 6.6 6.4 5.1 4.7 4.9 
 Source: Careers Wales Pupil Destinations from Schools 
in Wales      

 
17. However despite this improvement, the proportion of young people in 

Cardiff who are not in education, employment or training remains one of 
the highest in Wales.  In 2014 only Newport had a greater percentage of 
Y11 school leaves not in education, employment or training than Cardiff.  
 

18. It is important to note that as at October 2015, 563 16-18 year olds were 
registered by Careers Wales as not in education, training or employment. 
This compares favourably with the 629 reported by Careers at the same 
point last year (October 2014). 
 
School Qualification Outcomes  
 

19. A major contributory factor to the progression and future life chances of 
young people is their academic attainment. The results for the 2014-2015 
academic year build on the improvements seen last year. Standards of 
attainment continue to improve in all key stages and in many indicators 
at a faster rate than across Wales as a whole. However, despite this 
strengthening picture, outcomes at the end of each key stage are not yet 
high enough. 
 

20. At Key Stage 4 there has been further significant improvement in the 
Level 2 inclusive threshold to 59.3%. This has halved the number of 
secondary schools where less than 40% of pupils achieve five GCSEs 
grades A*-C including English or Welsh and mathematics from six to 
three. The three schools that continue to cause concern are also those 
schools that have yielded higher numbers of young people leaving at 
year 11, without a positive pathway to education, employment or training. 
 

21. Performance at the wider Key Stage 4 level 2 measure (5 GCSEs grades 
A*-C), and the level 1 measure (5 GCSEs grades A*– G or equivalent), is 
still of continuing concern in a number of secondary schools. This 
indicates scope to improve the adequacy and breadth of the curriculum 
offer to respond to the needs of all pupils. Leaving school without these 
foundations is a significant barrier to progression and future success. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 347



Page 6 of 10 

Cardiff Key Stage 4 Results 
 

Key Stage 4 
Performance 

Indicator 

Cardiff Wales 

2011 
Actual 

2012 
Actual 

2013 
Actual 

2014 
Actual 

2015 
Actual 

2015 
Actual 

Achieved the Level 2 
threshold including 
E/W/M 

48.4% 49.3% 49.9% 54.0% 59.3% 57.90% 

Achieved the Level 2 
threshold 63.9% 68.3% 73.0% 76.0% 81.6% 84.10% 

Achieved the Level 1 
threshold 89.3% 91.2% 91.7% 93.2% 92.1% 94.40% 

 
 

Current Arrangements 
 
22. The Welsh Government has allocated lead partners with particular 

responsibility for young people who do not progress or are at risk of not 
progressing into Education, Employment or Training. In Cardiff at 
present, these lead agencies report to the Education, Employment and 
Training (EET) Strategy Group and are: 
 
• Cardiff Education Service (young people aged pre 16) 
• Careers Wales Cardiff and Vale (young people aged 16-18) 
• Job Centre Plus (young people aged 18+). 

 
23. To date, the EET Strategy Group has fulfilled a leadership and co-

ordination role, enabling the development of key building blocks to meet 
local and national expectations regarding the progression of young 
people. Reports are regularly provided to the Education Development 
Board. However, this group has not been able to secure the commitment 
of all stakeholders to fully realise the benefit of effective partnerships at 
all levels, which have an important role to play in supporting young 
people into the world of work. Much of the work to date has been driven 
and delivered by the Education Directorate, in particular the Youth 
Service, and Careers Wales. 
 

24. Achievements to date include: 
 
• The implementation of the Vulnerability Assessment Profile in all 

secondary schools in Cardiff, to enable early identification, 
tracking and support to young people in school at risk of not 
making a positive progression to education, employment or 
training. 

• Strong partnership arrangements for the post 16 Neighbourhood 
panels have been developed and lead workers from range of 
partner organisations track and support young people at risk in the 
16 – 18 year old group. 

Page 348



Page 7 of 10 

• Progression of the Council’s commitment to the Welsh 
Government’s expected Youth Guarantee through partnership 
planning between education, schools, FE, Work Based Learning 
providers and Careers Wales.  

 
25. Further examples of the Council’s wider commitment to supporting the 

transition of young people into education, employment and training 
include: 

 
• Children’s Services have created a post to support young people into 

EET who are within LAC services. Working with a number of partners 
including Careers Wales, Cardiff and Vale College, and the GMB 
Union, a traineeship scheme has been developed for Looked After 
Children to gain new skills, qualifications and employment.  

• The recruitment of Student Mentors to support Care Leavers. 
• Incorporation of a communities benefits clause into the Council’s 

Building Maintenance Contract Framework which has resulted in 
apprentices being recruited either by companies themselves or via 
their supply chains. 

• The Council’s Into Work Services supports job seekers through the 
provision of a wide range of free courses and job search support.  

• Delivery of a Schools Governors Programme to help address the need to 
strengthen the Governance of some of our secondary schools and primary 
schools and build sustainable, long-term partnerships between 
business and schools. 

 
Proposed Way Forward 

 
26. Further action is now needed to consolidate the range of current actions, 

and for the Council to use to greater effect its role as a major employer, 
and its influence through partnerships, to ensure that Cardiff is able to 
deliver outstanding choices and opportunities for all young people which 
secures their full engagement in the social and economic life of the city 
and city region. 
 

27. It is proposed that the Cardiff Commitment to Youth Engagement and 
Progression Strategy is scoped and developed, sponsored by the 
Council and the Cardiff Partnership Board. It is recommended that we 
draw upon the experience and best practice exhibited in other City 
regions such as Edinburgh, Leeds and Oxford, who have all created 
innovative and inspirational Youth Engagement and Employability 
Strategies. 
 

28. Business and employers throughout the city and region are key to 
securing the Cardiff Commitment to young people’s futures. It is 
proposed that the Council develops its already strong engagement with 
employers by seeking the specific commitment of every employer to 
developing their youth offer, whether through establishing an 
apprenticeship, work experience opportunities, or bespoke partnering 
with schools and young people. 
 

Page 349



Page 8 of 10 

29. The Council is already working with its contractors to secure community 
benefits from its construction and maintenance contracts.  These aim to 
benefit young people by providing apprenticeships, graduate and NVQ 
training programmes, work experience/internship opportunities and 
employing long term unemployed. The Council is committed to 
maximising the community benefits derived from all appropriate contracts 
by identifying opportunities to deliver community benefits from other 
types of contracts. 
 

30. The Council is also actively looking at the potential to introduce a Social 
Responsibility Charter. The Charter would be a set of guiding principles 
for the Council and which the Council’s contracted suppliers would be 
invited to adopt.  The Charter could cover a range of issues including 
employment, training, buy Cardiff first, ethical procurement and being a 
good employer. 

 
31. It is further proposed that whilst the strategy is being refreshed that the 

Council acts proactively to deliver ‘quick wins’ where possible. An 
immediate opportunity to consider is a pilot of a ‘Junior Apprenticeship 
Scheme’ with Cardiff and Vale College, for 14 – 16 year olds. This 
proposition would involve joint arrangements for education, training and 
experience between the college and the Council, whereby young people 
would access job related training at the Council and English/Maths 
GCSE and basic skills training at the College. 
 

32. This opportunity would provide the option to extend and modify            
the Council’s Corporate Framework for Work Experience, Work 
Placements, Traineeships, Apprenticeships and Graduates (report to 
Cabinet 7 November 2013).  The Apprenticeship scheme within this 
Framework had some success, in placing young people in administration 
and IT roles attracting young apprentices with Level 2 qualifications. 
However, it has had little impact to date on those at risk of becoming 
NEET, with qualifications at level 1 only. 
 

Reason for Recommendations 
 

33. The strategy for Youth Engagement and Progression proposed here will 
enable the Council to progress its commitments to young people of 
Cardiff within the context of the wider ambitions for the future social and 
economic prosperity of Cardiff and the region which are set out in the 
What Matters partnership plan and in the Corporate Plan. 
 

Financial Implications 
 
34. The Strategy for Youth Engagement and Progression proposed here will 

result in the Council identifying appropriate apprenticeships across 
Directorates. The funding for this will need to be found from within 
existing financial resources through a combination of workforce planning 
by using funding for previously held posts or identifying other sources of 
funding such as earmarked reserves for apprenticeships 
 

Page 350



Page 9 of 10 

35. Where the use is made of earmarked reserves then consideration should 
 be given as to the sustainability of the funding looking forward into the 
 future.  

 
Legal Implications 

 
36. At present there is no statutory guidance re the Youth Engagement and 

Progression Framework 2015.  On the 15th July 2015, the Welsh 
Government published a “Formative evaluation of the youth engagement 
and progression framework”.  The evaluation was in respect of all Local 
Authorities in Wales.  In the conclusions of the executive summary it states 
“Since many of the barriers to progress appear to be related to the extent 
that LA’s and their partners had prioritised and taken forward activities that 
would implement the YEPF, additional pressure may be more effective than 
turning the YEPF into a statutory requirement when changes to the 
accountability framework for schools and colleges (the use of destination 
outcomes) may make some difference to motivations.  At a later point when 
there is less government focus on the programme and no grant funding for 
EPC’s for example, statutory guidance might secure the progress made. 

 
HR Implications 
 
37. The age profile of the Council indicates that currently less than 5% of the 

 Council’s workforce are in the 16 to 24 age group (excluding reliefs and 
 casuals).  Alongside the positive impact and benefits to young people, 
 the proposals set out in this report will assist in encouraging young 
 people to consider the Council as a prospective employer and contribute 
 to the need to improve the age profile of the workforce.     The specific 
 HR implications arising from the proposed pilot  ‘Junior Apprenticeship 
 Scheme’ with the Cardiff and Vale College will be assessed as the pilot is 
developed. 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
Cabinet is recommended to: 
 
1. Agree the implementation of ‘The Cardiff Commitment’ -   ensuring 

positive destinations for all young people in Cardiff – The Cardiff Youth 
Engagement and Progression Strategy 2015 – 2018 (Appendix 1),  and 
raise its profile to a new Corporate commitment in the 2016/17 Corporate 
Plan. 

 
2. Agree the approach to employer and business engagement in delivering 

the Cardiff Commitment as set out in paragraph 28 of this report. 
 
3. Support the development of a pilot ‘Junior Apprenticeships Scheme’ with 

Cardiff & Vale College. 
 

4. Agree that the Council continues to develop its Community Benefits 
approach to maximise opportunities for young people and raise 
awareness of this Strategy within its supply chain. 

 

Page 351



Page 10 of 10 

5. Delegate to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Leader and 
Cabinet Member (Education) and relevant senior officers, authority to 
ensure that the necessary resources to achieve the above 
recommendations are identified. 
 

 
NICK BATCHELAR   NEIL HANRATTY 
Director     Director  
15 January 2016   15 January 2016 
 
The following appendix is attached: 
 
Appendix 1 – The Cardiff Commitment - Ensuring positive destinations for 
Young People in Cardiff. 
 
The following background paper has been taken into account: 
 
Cardiff 2020 

Page 352



  1  
 

 
 

Appendix 1 
 
 
 

‘The Cardiff Commitment’  
 

Ensuring positive destinations  
for Young People in Cardiff  

 
 
 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Cardiff Council 
Youth Engagement and Progression 
Strategy 
2015 - 2018  

 
 

‘Choice and Opportunity  
for all’ 

Page 353

http://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&frm=1&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=&url=http://graphicleftovers.com/graphic/check-list-1688/&psig=AFQjCNH7bONs-qfIrMrYpws1w-XkHJHjuA&ust=1452611301896687


  2  
 

Contents 
 

Foreword ...................................................................................................................... 3 
Introduction .................................................................................................................. 4 
Context ......................................................................................................................... 5 
Vision ........................................................................................................................... 6 
Desired Outcomes ......................................................................................................... 6 
Strategic Priorities and Key Objectives .......................................................................... 7 

Priority 1: Shared accountability and commitment to action ...................................... 7 
Priority 2: Early identification of young people most at risk of disengagement ........... 7 
Priority 3: Better brokerage and co-ordination of support .......................................... 8 
Priority 4: Stronger tracking systems pre and post 16 ................................................. 8 
Priority 5: Ensuring provision meets the needs of young people ................................. 9 
Priority 6: Strengthening employability skills and opportunities for employment ....... 9 

Story behind the baseline ............................................................................................ 10 
Baseline ...................................................................................................................... 11 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 354



  3  
 

Foreword 
 
Over the past 20 years, Cardiff has transformed itself into a thriving and vibrant city. 
As one of the UK’s Core Cities, with a population of 351,700, Cardiff is the largest 
city in Wales and the ninth largest city in the United Kingdom. The city is also one of 
the most rapidly growing in the UK, with faster job growth than any of the UK Core 
Cities between 2000 and 2010.  
 
The ongoing success and growth of the city presents opportune conditions to refocus 
and re-energise our commitment to young people.  
 
Through this strategy, we aim to ensure that all young people in Cardiff are provided 
with the support, choices and opportunities to become personally successful, 
economically productive and actively engaged citizens. We recognise that some 
young people are faced with significant challenges and barriers to progression. We 
are determined to create the environment in which our most vulnerable young people 
can break through these difficulties and make a successful transition into adulthood 
and the world of work. 
 
We recognise the contribution that the full participation of young people in education 
and training can make to ensuring Cardiff has a skilled and effective workforce and to 
raising the aspirations of young people in the county. It forms a key strand of our 
corporate plan for a thriving capital and the development of a world class economy. 
 
Whilst we have a great deal of work ahead of us to achieve our ambitions, we are 
already making great strides forward to ensure the very best for our young people 
and we will continue to work in partnership to make Cardiff one of Europe’s top 
capital cities for young people to reach their potential. 
 
 
 
 
Councillor Phil Bale, Leader Cardiff Council 
 
Paul Orders Chief Executive 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 355



  4  
 

Introduction 
 
Cardiff Council is committed to increasing the engagement and progression of young 
people in education, training and employment.  It is a key part of the work of our 
schools, colleges and training providers to improve outcomes for young people and 
break the link between poverty and attainment.  
 
There has been a steady improvement year on year in the proportion of young 
people who are engaged in education, employment or training at age 16 but there 
remains scope to increase the numbers who secure a positive destination after 
leaving school. 
 
We recognise that there will always be young people age 16+ who struggle with the 
transition to adulthood and who will require high quality support to enable them to 
make that transition a positive one. Hence, our strategy to increase the numbers of 
young people progressing to ongoing education, employment or training includes the 
provision of highly personalised packages of support.  It also recognises that the 
journey to successful progression from school to the world of work begins way before 
the young person is 16. Thus intervention at school before disengagement and 
disaffection set in is an essential part of this strategy.  
 
This strategy also aligns to the wider preventative agenda, including early years, 
parenting and family support and the Council’s Early Help Strategy.  
 
Cardiff Council is determined to build on good practice already embedded, learn from 
other areas, create opportunities and improve the participation rates for young people 
in the county and in particular for our most vulnerable groups.  
 
The key to successful implementation of Cardiff’s Youth Engagement and 
Progression Strategy will be strong leadership and a whole system approach in 
which roles and responsibilities are clearly defined and all stakeholders collaborate to 
deliver better outcomes for young people.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 356



  5  
 

Context 
 
In Wales, this strategy sits within the context of a number of key national strategies 
and plans. 
 
• The Youth Engagement and Progression Framework (YEPF) which sets out a 

delivery model centred on the needs of young people, with clear roles and 
responsibilities between the range of organisations working with young people 
and strong local leadership by local authorities and their partners.  
 

• Communities First and Families First, which aim to achieve positive outcomes for 
more deprived communities and needy families in Wales. 

 
• The Tackling Poverty Action Plan 2012–2016 which prioritises a commitment to 

reduce the number of young people who are not in education, employment and 
training (NEET).  

 
• The Improving Schools Plan which aims to improve literacy and numeracy and 

break the link between poverty and attainment. 
 
• The Policy Statement on Skills 2014 which sets out 4 key priorities, which are vital 

for progression and sustainable employment. 
o Skills for jobs and growth 
o Skills that respond to local needs 
o Skills that employer’s value 
o Skills for employment. 

 
• The new Post-16 planning and funding system and the recommendations from 

the Review of 14–19 Qualifications.  
 

• Welsh Government’s wider work to boost youth employment, post 18, via Jobs 
Growth Wales, traineeships and apprenticeships. 

 
 
Locally, this strategy makes a significant contribution to the desired outcomes within 
the Council’s Single Integrated Plan “What Matters”, which aims to make Cardiff 
Europe’s ‘most liveable capital city’. It is also central to the priorities of the Council’s 
Corporate Plan, which are: 
 
• Education and Skills for people of all ages 
• Supporting people in vulnerable situations 
• Sustainable economic development as the engine for growth and jobs 
• Working with people and partners to design, deliver and improve services. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 357



  6  
 

Vision 
 

 
All young people in Cardiff make a successful transition from school to 

ongoing education, training and the world of work  
and are enabled to reach their full potential. 

 
 
 

Desired Outcomes 
 
 An increased number of year 11 school leavers securing a positive, sustainable 

destination in education, employment or training. 
 

 An increased number of year 13/14 school leavers securing a positive, 
sustainable destination in education, employment or training. 
 

 A reduction in the % of young people (16-18 year olds) who are not in 
employment, education or training. 
 

 An increased number of young people and adults entering post-18 learning 
opportunities 
 

 More young people in vulnerable groups, at risk of becoming NEET, making a 
successful transition from school to future education, employment or training. 
 

 A higher overall number of young people aged 16 – 25 economically active. 
 
 Strong partnerships effectively operating throughout Cardiff to improve support, 

choices and opportunities for young people. 
 

 An increased number of young people achieving Level 2 qualifications and a 
reduction in the numbers of young people leaving school with no or level 1 
qualifications. 

 
 All young people at risk of becoming NEET are identified early and appropriate 

intervention and support is allocated to support transition at Key Stage 3, 4 and 
post 16. 
 

 Sufficient breadth of opportunities available at appropriate levels which reflect 
needs of economy. Fewer young people revolving through the system. 
 

 Assessment and Planning Pathways in place (joint assessment framework 
embedded). 
 

 Responsive employer engagement in education leading to increased 
employability of school leavers. 
 

 Young people directly influence service planning and delivery and ensure 
ownership and relevance. 

Page 358



  7  
 

Strategic Priorities and Key Objectives 
 
This strategy will be delivered through a focus on six priority areas to realise better 
outcomes for young people. These key areas align with the Welsh Government 
Youth Engagement and Progression Framework. The strategy is underpinned by a 
concise action plan. 
 

Priority 1: Shared accountability and commitment to action 
 
Objectives: 
 
 Clear leadership and partnership arrangements, which secure a city wide 

commitment to securing the successful progression of all young people. 
 

 Strong engagement and commitment from the business community and wider 
institutions in Cardiff. 

 
 Accountability of school leaders to ensure the progression of their learners 

when they leave school 
 

 A transparent performance management framework which enables the 
comparison of learner outcomes and destinations across the city. 

 

Priority 2: Early identification of young people most at risk of 
disengagement 
 
An effective long-term strategy for reducing the size of the NEET group must stem 
the flows into the group. To ensure that all young people can participate in EET 
requires a specific focus on those who are most vulnerable. Early identification and 
support is crucial to ensuring that these young people can go on to achieve and 
participate.  
 
Objectives: 
 

 Intervening early with families at risk of poor outcomes – ensure that 
children and young people are identified and receive help and intervention 
at the earliest opportunity. 
 

 Develop an early intervention focus, in particular focusing on transitions to 
primary school and on early skills development 
 

 Joint Assessment Framework implemented across schools and services in 
line with the Council’s Early Help Strategy. 

 

Page 359



  8  
 

 

 

Priority 3: Better brokerage and co-ordination of support  
 
Improving and supporting the transition of learners between key stages is crucial to 
ensuring that young people continue to be engaged in education and can progress 
successfully. 
 
Objectives: 
 
 Sufficient, targeted and effective ‘lead worker role’ model implemented across 

Cardiff, enhanced by European Social Fund grant, to support young people 
most at risk of disengagement. 
 

 Appropriate and secure information sharing arrangements in place across all 
relevant agencies. 
 

 Young people fully engaged in reviewing and improving the quality of services 
they receive. 
 

Priority 4: Stronger tracking systems pre and post 16 
 
In order to support transitions and ensure appropriate services are in place good 
tracking information is needed about where learners are, to identify those who need 
more support and quickly re-engage those who do not sustain EET. 
 
Objectives: 
 
 Quality tracking systems in place covering the transition process from pre to 

post 16, to ensure that young people leaving all pre 16 learning provision 
(schools and other) are given appropriate support and choices, including 
introduction of the Common Application System. 
 

 Careers Wales destinations data and tier data for 16 to 18 year old young 
people is timely and reliable. Mechanisms to report and re-engage young 
people who leave 16-18 education and are robust. 
 

 Transition support is in place for targeted vulnerable groups e.g.: Looked After 
Children, disabled children, children with additional learning needs and 
behavioural difficulties, children with english as an additional language. 

 
 Post 16 Neighbourhood panels in each of Cardiff’s 6 Neighbourhood 

Management Areas enhanced through extended memberships, to include 
further third sector and other partners. 

 

Page 360



  9  
 

 

Priority 5: Ensuring provision meets the needs of young people 
 
There must be sufficient breadth of opportunities available at appropriate levels, 
which regardless of where they take place, must be of the highest possible quality, 
and that learning and achievement is accredited or formally recognised.  
 
Objectives: 
 
 A comprehensive, up to date picture of provision is available which identifies 

gaps, unmet needs or duplication in existing provision. 
 

 Cardiff Youth Guarantee implemented, to ensure appropriate progression 
routes for all learners by 2016. 
 

 Post 16 provision and funding model revised. 
 

 Appropriate pathways and alternative curriculum for 14 to 16 year old learners 
at risk of disengagement, in particular at Level 1 developed. 
 

 Issues of retention and early leavers from Further Education and Work Based 
Learning addressed, to counter the ongoing issues with ‘churn’ in the system.  

 
 

Priority 6: Strengthening employability skills and opportunities for 
employment 
 
We recognise the contribution that full participation of young people in education and 
training can make to ensuring Cardiff has a competent and effective workforce and to 
raising the aspirations of young people in the county. 
 
Objectives: 
 
 Schools/business engagement framework developed and implemented, to 

enable more focused and productive working relationships. 
 

 Comprehensive labour market analysis for the Cardiff sub region complete, 
drawing upon existing studies available within the city. 
 

 New models of schools and business partnerships developed, to exploit 
opportunities for co-ordinated learning and economic growth. 
 

 Best practice approaches to Careers advice & guidance and work experience 
for key stage 4 pupils.  
 

 Council’s apprenticeship and training programmes extended, to increase the 
range of opportunities available to young people, particularly those in 
vulnerable groups. 

 

Page 361



  10  
 

Story behind the baseline 
 
Definition of NEET 
 
The term NEET refers to young people who are not engaged in education, 
employment or training. It is often used to describe young people who are 
disengaged from learning or employment and have become marginalised from 
society.  
 
Attempts have been made to estimate the financial costs of extended periods of 
NEET status. A study by the DfES estimated that the additional resource cost 
associated with being NEET amounted to £97,000 over a lifetime. The additional 
resource cost represents the cost to the economy as a whole of failing to help a 16 to 
18 year old out of the NEET group over their lifetime.  The estimate attempts to place 
a value on additional costs of unemployment, under employment, crime, poor health, 
substance abuse, premature death and early motherhood. So, in Wales, the costs of 
failing to help one cohort of NEET young people aged 16-18 out of NEET status over 
their lifetime would amount to well over £1 billion.  
 
Why do young people become NEET? 
 
Young People can become NEET due to a variety of reasons and circumstances. 
Progressing to post 16 is a major transitional point in all young people’s lives. The 
management of this transitional point is crucial to ensure the risk of young people 
becoming NEET is reduced or removed. 
 
For some young people being NEET is a finite, transitional phase, ending in a 
positive outcome. For others, NEET is both a symptom of disadvantage and 
disengagement in earlier years and indicates a lifelong disengagement from actively 
participating in and benefiting from a prosperous society. 
 
Research by Cordis Bright commissioned by Cardiff Council in 2007 concluded that 
NEET young people are not a homogeneous group but that they are more likely to 
experience multiple barriers or problems to engagement. They are more likely than 
the general population to: 
 
 be male 
 have a history of not attending school 
 have “looked after children” status (LAC) 
 have a history of fixed term exclusions 
 have an “educated other” status 
 have a special educational needs statement 
 have experience of more frequent episodes of unemployment and for 
 longer periods if they are not long term NEET 
 have lower qualification attainment levels 
 have been in contact with the Youth Offending Service. 

 
 
 
 

Page 362



  11  
 

Baseline 
 
Cardiff’s Current Position 
 
The total NEET group is made up of young people who are not participating in EET 
but who are available to the labour market and also those young people who are not 
currently available to the labour market (because of illness, caring responsibilities, 
pregnancy or parenting responsibilities, for example). 
 
School Leavers 
 
Since 2010, there has been a significant reduction in the numbers of year 11 leavers 
designated as NEET in Cardiff, from 8.8% to 4.3% in 2014. (4.3% is 151 young 
people). Despite this improvement being at a faster rate than other local authorities, 
further reductions are required. Cardiff’s relative position in 2014 is 21st out of 22 
local authorities in Wales in terms of its NEET figures. In relation to similar authorities 
Cardiff’s performance was ahead of Newport 4.7% but behind Swansea 3.5%.   
 
Welsh Government statistics on young people who are NEET are for the academic 
year 2014 show the NEET position for Wales is 3.1% compared to 5.4% in 2010. 
These figures are produced on a Welsh basis. The statistics are based on annual 
Destinations Survey undertaken in October each year by Careers Wales. 2015 
statistics are yet to be published. 
 
Year 11 Leavers known to be not in 
education, employment or training  

          

  2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 
Cardiff 8.8 7.7 6.7 4.9 4.3 
Wales 5.4 4.4 4.2 3.7  3.1 
 Source: Careers Wales Pupil Destinations from Schools in 
Wales          

 
 
 
Year 13 Leavers known to be not in 
education, employment or training  

          

  2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 
Cardiff 6.2 8.4 4.9 4.2 4.4 
Wales 6.6 6.4 5.1 4.7 4.9 
 Source: Careers Wales Pupil Destinations from Schools in 
Wales      

 
 
 
2014 – Year 11 NEET Profile 

 
In 2014, the number of year 11 school leavers that did not progress into EET was 4.26% or 
151 pupils of a cohort of 3546 pupils. Of these, 115 young people or 3.24% did not progress 
into EET and 36 young people or 1.02% could not or were unable to enter EET due to illness 
or custodial sentence. 
 
 
 

Page 363



  12  
 

 
An analysis of the characteristics of the 151 pupils identified as not in EET (including the 133 
pupils identified by the VAP process) in October 2014 indicates the following: 

 
 Male Female 
SEN 1 3 
FSM 22 24 
EAL who require support with written and/or 
spoken English 

3 4 

Multiple fixed term exclusions 23 17 
LAC 2 6 
Neighbourhood Area   
Cardiff North 10 2 
Cardiff East 9 6 
Cardiff South West 16 11 
Cardiff West 8 6 
Cardiff City and South 3 6 
Cardiff South East 20 14 
Other (in care or out of county) 10 12 

 
 
Vulnerability Assessment Profile  
 
To support the early identification of vulnerable pupils Cardiff Council has led on the 
implementation of a Vulnerability Assessment Profile (VAP). Beginning in year 8, the VAP 
tool identifies those pupils whose attendance falls below 85%. The VAP data is discussed on 
a termly basis at a school led agency panel meeting and this informs the targeting by 
Careers Wales and Cardiff Council of additional support and or advice and guidance to 
identified pupils.  

 
In April 2014, 1677 pupils across years 9 to11 were identified by the Vulnerability 
Assessment Profile process. 682 of this identified cohort were in year 11.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

On leaving school in July 2014, 80.5% of the identified year 11 VAP cohort (549 pupils) 
made a successful transition into EET, whilst 133 pupils were recorded not in EET. 
These 133 pupils form part of the total 151 NEET recorded by Careers Wales in October 
2014 which indicates that our approach to identification is robust. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Year 11 pupils 
 VAP RAG Status as at April 2014 
Status Number of pupils 
RED 304 
AMBER 146 
GREEN 232 
Total 682 

Page 364



  13  
 

 
Figure 2: Percentage of Year 11 School Leavers that are NEET by 
Neighbourhood Partnership Area 2012/13 to 2013-14 
 

 
NB. NPA figures only include maintained schools. 
Cardiff North figures exclude Ysgol Gymraeg Bro Edern due to the current absence of a year 11 leaver cohort. 
No. schools in each NPA are in brackets after the area name. 

 
 
School Qualification Outcomes  
 
A major contributory factor to the progression and future life chances of young people 
is their academic attainment. The results for the 2014-2015 academic year build on 
the improvements seen last year. Standards of attainment continue to improve in all 
key stages and in many indicators at a faster rate than across Wales as a whole. 
However, despite this strengthening picture, outcomes at the end of each key stage 
are not yet high enough. 
 
At Key Stage 4 there has been further significant improvement in the Level 2 
inclusive threshold to 59.3%. This has halved the number of secondary schools 
where less than 40% of pupils achieve five GCSEs grades A*-C including English or 
Welsh and mathematics from six to three. The three schools that continue to cause 
concern are the same schools that have yielded higher numbers of young people 
leaving at year 11, without a positive pathway to education, employment or training. 
 
Performance at the wider Key Stage 4 level 2 measure (5 GCSEs grades A*-C), and 
the level 1 measure (5 GCSEs grades A* – G or equivalent), is still of continuing 
concern in a number of secondary schools. This indicates scope to improve the 
adequacy and breadth of the curriculum offer to respond to the needs of all pupils. 
Leaving school without these foundations is a significant barrier to progression and 
future success. 

Page 365



  14  
 

Cardiff Key Stage 4 Results  
 

  
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 

Wales 
2015 

Actual 
Achieved the Level 2 
threshold including 
E/W/M 

48.4% 49.3% 49.9% 54.0% 59.3% 57.90% 

Achieved the Level 2 
threshold 63.9% 68.3% 73.0% 76.0% 81.6% 84.10% 

Achieved the Level 1 
threshold 89.3% 91.2% 91.7% 93.2% 92.1% 94.40% 

 
 
16 to 18 year olds (post school) 
 
The NEET data for 16-18 year olds is provided by Careers Wales to the LA on a 
monthly basis. The data is broken down by geographic area and reports the numbers 
in each tier as well as the movement of young people through the tiers of Careers 
Wales 5 tier model.  
 
As at October 2015, 563 16-18 year olds (tiers 1, 2 and 3 below), were registered by 
Careers Wales as not in education training or employment. This compares favourably 
with the 629 reported by Careers at the same point last year (Oct 14). 
 
 

Cohort / Age Tier 1 Tier 2 Tier 3 Tier 4 Tier 5 Grand 
Total 

Left Year 11 in 2015 34 24 112 359 2756 3285 
16 31 21 93 306 2281 2732 
17 3 3 19 53 475 553 

Left Year 11 in 2014 125 76 192 186 3289 3868 
17 98 64 155 165 2727 3209 
18 27 12 37 21 562 659 

Grand Total 159 100 304 545 6051 7161 

 
 
This information will be shared more widely so that all partners are clear about the 
picture in each Neighbourhood Partnership area. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 366



  15  
 

Summary of Careers Wales 5 tier model  
 

Tier Status  Lead responsibility  

Tier 5 
Young People Engaged in Further 
Education, Employment or Training  FE and WBLA providers responsible for this tier 

Tier 4 
Young People at Risk of dropping out 

Careers Wales responsible for this tier 

Tier 3 

Young People on Careers Wales 
register accessing and requiring further 
support to enter into EET Careers Wales responsible for this tier 

Tier 2 

Young People who are unemployed 
and not with Careers Wales requiring 
personal engagement to overcome 
barriers 

LA responsible for this tier via Lead Workers and the 
Neighbourhood Panel  

Tier 1 
Unknown status or cannot be contacted LA responsible for this tier via Lead Workers and the 

Neighbourhood Panel  

Tier 0 

No ratified status but have left Wales 
LA responsible for ensuring data is cleansed and any young 
person who has left Cardiff/Wales is moved from tier 1 into tier 0 
to prevent time and resource being wasted in follow up.  

 
Youth employment in Cardiff – 16 - 24 year olds 
 

    Youth employment in Cardiff has improved in recent years, with the percentage of young 
people unemployed in the age groups 16 -18 and 20-24, now below the Wales 
averages. However, statistics indicate that 2,000 young people aged 16 – 19 and 2,800 
young people aged 20 – 24, within the City of Cardiff are unemployed. 

  
Unemployment rate – Young People aged 16-19 

   
       Date Cardiff Wales 

  unemployed Economically 
active % unemployed Economically 

active % 

Jan 2012-Dec 2012 3,200 8,700 36.4 20,600 71,300 28.8 
Jan 2013-Dec 2013 3,300 9,600 34.5 20,800 68,800 30.3 
Jan 2014-Dec 2014 2,100 9,400 21.9 16,800 68,400 24.5 
Jul 2014-Jun 2015 2,000 9,200 22.0 17,900 69,400 25.8 

 
Unemployment rate – Young People aged 20 -24 
  

     Date Cardiff Wales 

  unemployed Economically 
active % unemployed Economically 

active % 

Jan 2012-Dec 2012 5,900 20,900 28.2 30,500 145,900 20.9 
Jan 2013-Dec 2013 4,700 25,400 18.7 26,500 156,200 17.0 
Jan 2014-Dec 2014 2,700 24,000 11.4 21,900 154,500 14.2 
Jul 2014-Jun 2015 2,800 23,200 12.0 24,200 153,300 15.8 

 
Source:  ONS - Nomis on 10 December 2015 

Page 367



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 6 

CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL  
CYNGOR DINAS CAERDYDD 
 
CABINET MEETING: 21 JANUARY 2015 

 
 
GYPSY AND TRAVELLER ACCOMMODATION ASSESSMENT 
AND SITE ASSESSMENT CRITERIA 
 
REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF COMMUNITIES, HOUSING & 
CUSTOMER SERVICES and DIRECTOR OF CITY OPERATIONS 
 

AGENDA ITEM:  9  
 
  
PORTFOLIO: HEALTH HOUSING AND WELLBEING (COUNCILLOR SUSAN 

ELSMORE) 
TRANSPORT, PLANNING AND SUSTAINABILITY 
(COUNCILLOR RAMESH PATEL) 
 

Reason for this Report 
 
1. To seek the Council’s approval to submit the Gypsy and Traveller 

Accommodation Assessment to Welsh Ministers for approval and to 
endorse the proposed Gypsy and Traveller Site Assessment Criteria 
which will be used to assess potential sites for meeting the need 
identified in the Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment. 
 

Background 
 
2. The Council is required, under Part 3 of the Housing (Wales) Act 2014 to 

undertake a Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment  and to 
make provision for sites where the assessment identifies an unmet need 
for Gypsy and Traveller pitches. All Local Authorities in Wales are 
required to submit the Accommodation Assessment  to Welsh Ministers 
for approval by 21st February 2016 and in order to meet this deadline a 
Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment was undertaken in 
autumn 2015 in accordance with Welsh Government guidance.  
 

3. In preparing the Accommodation Assessment the Council commissioned 
Gypsy & Traveller Wales to carry out the required interviews in addition 
to using Travellers Education and Save the Children to try to reach as 
many people as possible. The Council also has worked closely with the 
Gypsy and Traveller community, adjoining Local Authorities and Welsh 
Government. For project management purposes a Steering Group was 
established at the beginning of the process. This Steering Group helped 
ensure the GTAA was informed by all available expertise and included 
representatives from the Council’s Housing and Planning Sections, 
representatives of the Gypsy and Traveller community, Gypsies and 

 

Page 369

Agenda Item 9



Page 2 of 6 

Travellers Wales and Health and Education Gypsy and Traveller Liaison 
Officers. 
 

4. A total of 172 survey forms were completed and respondents included 
Gypsy and Travellers living on Council operated and private sites, those 
currently living in bricks and mortar housing and those residing on 
unauthorised transit sites at the time of the survey. Analysis of these 
responses identified an additional need for 87 permanent pitches up to 
2026, with 64 in the short term. The consultation also identified the need 
for a regional transit site. The full findings are set out in the Report 
included at Appendix 1. 
 

5. These findings are subject to the approval of Welsh Ministers who will 
assess the Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment to ensure 
its robustness in terms of compliance with this guidance, quality of 
engagement with relevant individuals and calculation of needs. Welsh 
Ministers may approve the assessment as submitted, approve the 
assessment with modifications, or reject the assessment and require a 
new assessment be undertaken. If reports are not approved as 
submitted, the Welsh Government will consult with the Council in relation 
to the necessary changes required. 
 

6. This new Assessment will update the findings of the previous study 
undertaken in April 2013 by Opinion Research Services on behalf of the 
Council. This found a need for 108 (43 short term) permanent pitches 
and 10 transit pitches up to 2026 and formed part of the evidence base 
for the Local Development Plan (LDP) which is nearing adoption 
following examination last year. 
 

7. As set out above the Housing (Wales) Act 2014 also introduces a 
statutory requirement on the Council to meet the need for Gypsy and 
Traveller Accommodation as identified in the Accommodation 
Assessment. The Deposit LDP proposed a new Gypsy and Traveller site 
of 65 permanent pitches at Seawall Road, Tremorfa to meet the short 
term need identified in this April 2013 study. However due to concerns 
raised in relation to flood risk the LDP Inspectors appointed to examine 
the Plan instructed the Council to remove the site from the Plan and to 
prepare position statement setting how the Council intended to meet this 
unmet need. 
 

8. The position statement submitted to the Inspectors sets out a 
comprehensive and inclusive process to address the need for additional 
pitches over the next two years. The first phase is the identification of 
suitable sites to meet both identified short and long term need by July 
2016. Importantly this exercise also provides an opportunity for the 
Council to revisit and refine the methodology which was previously 
employed to identify sites in July 2013 during the sites study undertaken 
by Peter Brett Associates and also to take account of the revised figures 
relating to need in the new Accommodation Assessment. 
 

Page 370



Page 3 of 6 

9. The table below sets out the key outputs and the associated timescales 
for delivery. Progress will also be monitored through an indicator in the 
LDP Annual Monitoring Report. 

 
Mechanisms 
 

Timescale 

Agree project management 
arrangements  including reporting 
structure and representatives   
 

July 2015 

Agree methodology for undertaking 
site search and assessment  

December 2015 
 
 

Update Gypsy and Traveller Needs 
Assessment for both permanent and 
transit pitches in accordance with 
Housing (Wales) Act 2014  

February 2016 

Undertake a site search and 
assessment  and secure approval of 
findings – (i.e. Identify required sites 
to meet short and long term need) 

July 2016 

Secure planning permission and 
funding (including any grant funding 
from Welsh Government) for 
identified sites(s) required to meet 
short term 

May 2017 

Secure planning permission and 
funding (including any grant funding 
from Welsh Government) for 
identified(s) required to meet long 
term need 

May 2021 

 
10, Project Management techniques are being used to deliver these outputs 

and a Steering Group comprising senior Officers and Cabinet Members 
and an Officer Working Group comprising Officers from relevant service 
areas across the Council has been established to progress the work. 
Where necessary the working group draws on advice from other 
stakeholders such as the Welsh Government and the Gypsy and 
Traveller community.  

 
11. In addition to the completion of the new Accommodation Assessment, 

work has also been progressed on undertaking a thorough review of the 
previous site selection criteria used to identify sites. This review has had 
regard to good practice from other authorities, national planning guidance 
including Welsh Government Circular 30/2007 and latest guidance 
produced by the Welsh Government relating to the design and 
management of Gypsy and Traveller sites. The views of the Gypsy and 
Traveller community have also been sought in revisiting the Site 
Selection Criteria. 
 

12. A proposed Site Selection Criteria is included as Appendix 2 to this report 
and set outs assessment criteria around three main headings relating to 

Page 371



Page 4 of 6 

availability, site suitability and achievability. Availability considerations 
include whether the site is genuinely available long term and there are no 
legal issues. Site suitability considerations include a comprehensive list 
of policy and physical constraints and deliverability considerations relate 
to the consideration of abnormal costs. In order to provide an overview a 
summary of the suitability of each potential site against each of the 
criteria will be entered into a table together with an overall conclusion for 
each site. This will allow a transparent and considered assessment to 
take place with an overall conclusion stating the preferred option and the 
reasoning behind it.  

 
13. The proposed Site Assessment Criteria was also considered by 

Communities and Adult Services Scrutiny Committee on 6t January 2016 
and a copy of the scrutiny letter and the response from the Cabinet 
Member is attached at  Appendix 3. 

 
 Next Steps 
 
14. The next steps following Cabinet endorsement of the Site Selection 

Criteria will be finalisation of a list of potential Gypsy and Traveller sites 
and application of the Site Selection Criteria. This process will take place 
over the next six months and further report will be brought to Cabinet in 
July 2016 with the findings of the assessment and recommendations on 
preferred sites.   

 
Reason for Recommendations 
 
15. To seek Cabinet’s approval to submit the Gypsy and Traveller 

Accommodation Assessment (GTAA) to Welsh Ministers for approval 
and to endorse the proposed Gypsy and Traveller site Selection Criteria 
which will be used to assess potential sites. 
 

Financial Implications 
 

16. The report considers a needs assessment for Gypsy and traveller 
accommodation. Creating new pitches will have financial implications in 
both operational costs of sites as well as capital expenditure implications, 
which will need to be accurately identified. For any implementation and 
operating costs to be affordable, it is essential that external grant funding 
is available to meet need. Where land is not already in council 
ownership, it may need to be purchased or transferred from other public 
sector bodies. It is essential that the site selection criteria also considers 
the whole life cost of individual sites / options, with this to be reported 
back at a future Cabinet. 
 

Legal Implications  
 

17. All decisions taken by or on behalf of the Council must (a) be within the 
legal powers of the Council; (b) comply with any procedural requirement 
imposed by law; (c) be within the powers of the body or person 
exercising powers on behalf of the Council; (d) be undertaken in 
accordance with the procedural requirements imposed by the Council eg. 

Page 372



Page 5 of 6 

standing orders and financial regulations; (e) be fully and properly 
informed; (f) be properly motivated; (g) be taken having regard to the 
Council’s fiduciary duty to its taxpayers; and (h) be reasonable and 
proper in all the circumstances. 
 

18. The Council have a legal duty under the Housing (Wales) Act 2014 to 
carry out an assessment of the accommodation needs of Gypsies and 
travellers residing in or resorting to its area. The Council has a duty to 
consult such persons as it considers appropriate. 
 

19. Following the assessment the Council must prepare a report which 
contains details of how the assessment was carried out, details of the 
consultation and details of the accommodation needs identified by the 
assessment. The Council must submit the report to the Welsh Ministers 
for approval of their assessment. 
 

20. If the approved assessment identifies needs within the Council’s area 
with respect to the provision of sites on which mobile homes may be 
stationed the Council must exercise its powers under section 56 of the 
Mobile Homes (Wales) Act 2013 so far as may be necessary to meet 
those needs.   
 

21. The Council has to satisfy its public sector duties under the Equalities Act 
2010 (including specific Welsh public sector duties). Pursuant to these 
legal duties Councils must in making decisions have due regard to the 
need to (1) eliminate unlawful discrimination, (2) advance equality of 
opportunity and (3) foster good relations on the basis of protected 
characteristics.  
 

22. Protected characteristics are: 
 

Age 
Gender reassignment 
Sex 
Race – including ethnic or national origin, colour or nationality 
Disability 
Pregnancy and maternity 
Marriage and civil partnership 
Sexual orientation 
Religion or belief – including lack of belief 

 
23. As such a decision to implement the proposal has to be made in the 

context of the Council’s equality act public sector duties. 
 

24. The report identifies that an Equality Impact Assessment has been 
carried out and is appended at Appendix 4. The purpose of the Equality 
Impact Assessment is to ensure that the Council has understood the 
potential impacts of the proposal in terms of equality so that it can ensure 
that it is making proportionate and rational decisions having due regard 
to its public sector equality duty. 
 

Page 373



Page 6 of 6 

25. The decision maker must have due regard to the Equality Impact 
Assessment in making its decision. 
 

26. The decision maker must also have regard to certain other matters when 
making its decision as outlined in the Statutory Screening tool.   
 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
Cabinet is recommended to 
 
1. Approve the Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment for 

submission to Welsh Ministers for approval (Appendix 1) 
 
2. Endorse the proposed Gypsy and Traveller Site Selection Criteria which 

will be used to assess potential sites (Appendix 2) 
 
3. Agree that a further report be brought to Cabinet setting out the findings 

of the site assessment process and recommendations on preferred sites. 
 
SARAH MCGILL      ANDREW GREGORY 
Director      Director 
15 January 2016     15 January 2016 
 
The following appendices are attached:  
 
Appendix 1 - Gypsy and Traveller Needs Assessment Report 
Appendix 2 - Gypsy and Traveller Assessment Site Selection Criteria  
Appendix 3 - Communities and Adult Services Scrutiny Committee 6th January 

2016 letter and response 
Appendix 4 - Equality Impact Assessment 

 
 

The following background papers have been taken into account 
  
1. Undertaking Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessments Guidance, 

Welsh Government, May 2015. 
2. Designing Gypsy and Traveller Sites Guidance, Welsh Government, May 

2015 
3. Circular 30/2007 Planning for Gypsy and Traveller Caravan Sites, Welsh 

Government, December 2007 
4. Cardiff Council Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Needs Study, ORS, 

April 2013 
5. Cardiff Council Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople Sites Study, 

Peter Brett Associates, July 2013 
6. Statutory Screening Tool 
 

Page 374



1 
 

Appendix 1: Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment 
Report 2015 

 
The City of Cardiff 

Council 
 

Gypsy and Traveller 
Accommodation 

Assessment 
2015 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 375



2 
 

Contents 
 
Chapter One: Policy Context 
1.1 Legislation and Guidance……………………………………………………………………………………..…………3 
1.2 Local Development Plan Policies…………………………………………………………………………………….4 
1.3 Definition of key terms……………………………………………………………………………………………………5 
 
Chapter Two: Background and Analysis of Existing Data 
2.1 Previous Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment findings……………………………..7 
2.2 Identified need to be met and progress to date…………………………………………………………….8 
2.3 Caravan Count and Current Accommodation Provision………………………………………………….9 
2.4 Unauthorised Encampments…………………………………………………………………………………………10 
 
Chapter Three: Methodology 
3.1 Project Steering Group………………………………………………………………………………………………….10 
3.2 Study Methodology and Participating Organisations……………………………………………………11 
3.3 Engagement 
Checklist…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….12 

Chapter Four: Survey Findings 
4.1 Section A – Your Home…………………………………………………………………………………………………15 
4.2 Section B – Your Family………………………………………………………………………………………………..21 
4.3 Section C – Your Plans………………………………………………………………………………………………….23 
4.4 Section D – Family Growth…………………………………………………………………………...................27 
4.5 Section E – Transit Sites……………………………………………………………………………………………….30 
 
Chapter 5: Assessing Accommodation Needs 
5.1 Residential Unmet Need……………………………………………………………………………………………….32 
5.2 Transit Unmet Need……………………………………………………………………………………………………..33 
 
Chapter 6: Conclusions and Recommendations 
6.1 Next Steps……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………33 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 376



3 
 

Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment Report 2015 
  

Chapter One: Policy Context 

 

1.1 Legislation and Guidance 
 
Housing (Wales) Act 2014 
 
Part 3 of the Housing Act (Wales) 2014 places a duty on the Local Authority to undertake an 
assessment of the accommodation needs of Gypsies and Travellers residing in or resorting to its area 
within 1 year of the legislation coming into force and then every 5 years. The current assessment 
must be submitted to Welsh Government for ministerial approval in February 2016. A failure to gain 
approval will result in either having to revise and resubmit or undertake a new assessment. The Act 
also places a duty on the Local Authority to meet the assessed needs. 

 
Mobile Homes (Wales) Act 2013 
 
Section 56 of the Mobile Homes (Wales) Act 2013 provides the powers required for the Local 
Authority to deliver Gypsy and Traveller accommodation in accordance with the assessed need.  
 
Planning circular 30/2007 
 
Guidance on Planning for Gypsy & Traveller sites was published in the Welsh Government Circular 
30/2007. The guidance focuses on finding sustainable sites and emphasising the need for local 
authorities to adopt an inclusive approach with Gypsies and Travellers to achieve this. This guidance 
remains valid. 
 
Planning circular 78/91 
 
This circular sets out the need for a realistic assessment of the amount of accommodation required 
for Travelling Showpeople and provides advice and guidance to local authorities about planning 
where a need is identified. 
 
Welsh Government Guidance 
 
The Welsh Government published the following guidance in May 2015: 
 

• Undertaking Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessments 
• Designing Gypsy and Traveller Sites in Wales 
• Managing Gypsy and Traveller Sites in Wales 

 
The purpose of the guidance is to ensure a comprehensive assessment of need and that the 

Page 377



4 
 

accommodation is delivered in culturally appropriate ways and provides a good standard of 
living. Cardiff has sought to ensure that the process it has put in place has and will continue to 
adhere to these documents throughout. 
 
1.2 Local Development Plan Policies 
 
The Cardiff Local Development Plan does not contain a policy which allocates any land for a Gypsy 
and Traveller site. However, a working group made up of Council officers from Planning and Housing 
has been set up with the responsibility for making arrangements for the Gypsy and Traveller 
Accommodation Assessment and for finding potential locations for both permanent and transit 
pitches to meet the required need. The working group is being led by the Director of Communities, 
Housing & Customer Services and is following the timetable set out in the LDP Monitoring 
Framework which is shown below. 
 
Timetable for meeting the needs for permanent Gypsy and Traveller accommodation - LDP 
Monitoring Indicator OB2 S08 
 
i)  Agree project management arrangements  including reporting structure and representatives  - 

July 15 

ii) Agree methodology for undertaking site search and assessment – December 2015 

iii) Undertake Gypsy and Traveller Needs Assessment for both permanent and transit pitches in 
accordance with Housing (Wales) Act 2014 – February 2016 

iv) Undertake a site search and assessment  and secure approval of findings – July 2016 

v) Secure planning permission and funding (including any grant funding from Welsh Government) 
for identified sites(s) required to meet the short term need for 43 pitches by May 2017 

vi) Secure planning permission and funding (including any grant funding from Welsh Government) 
for identified(s) required to meet the long term need for 65 pitches by May 2021 

Timetable for meeting the needs for transit Gypsy and Traveller accommodation - LDP Monitoring 
Indicator OB2 S09 
 
i) Agree project management arrangements  including reporting structure and representatives  - 

July 15 

ii) Agree methodology for undertaking site search and assessment – December 2015 

iii) Undertake Gypsy and Traveller Needs Assessment for both permanent and transit pitches in 
accordance with Housing (Wales) Act 2014 – February 2016 

iv) Undertake a site search and assessment  and secure approval of findings – July 2016 

v) Secure planning permission and funding (including any grant funding from Welsh Government) 
for identified sites(s) required to meet short term – May 2017 

vi) Secure planning permission and funding (including any grant funding from Welsh Government) 
for identified(s) required to meet long term need – May 2021 

In addition to the above timescales, Cardiff Council is keeping a potential site located at Seawall 
Road (Tremorfa) ‘under review’ as part of the Monitoring Framework, indicator OB2 S07. It is 

Page 378



5 
 

currently located within a C2 Flood Risk Area, but should circumstances change this site will be 
reconsidered for use as a permanent Gypsy and Traveller site. A further indicator included in the LDP 
Monitoring Framework (OB2 S010) sets out to ensure that the existing supply of Gypsy and Traveller 
pitches is maintained and where existing pitches are no longer available, alternative pitches will be 
sought. The Cardiff LDP includes a criteria based policy (H8 New Sites for Gypsy and Traveller 
Caravans) which provides a framework for assessing proposals for both new and extensions to 
existing sites, whether for permanent or transit uses. The policy wording is set out below for 
information. 
 
H8: Sites for Gypsy and Traveller Caravans 
 
New sites and extensions to existing sites will be permitted where: 
i. Necessary physical, transport and social infrastructure are accessible or can be readily provided; 
ii. Environmental factors including flood risk, ground stability, land contamination and proximity of 

hazardous installations do not make the site inappropriate for residential development; 
iii. The site is designed with reference to both the Welsh Government Good Practice Guide in 

Designing Gypsy Traveller Sites and the views of local Gypsies and Travellers; 
iv. There would be no unreasonable impact on the character and appearance of the surrounding 

areas including impact on residential amenity of neighbouring occupiers or the operation 
conditions of existing businesses; and 

v. In the case of a transit or touring site, it has good access to the primary highway network. 

1.3 Definition of key terms 
 
The Local Authority is in agreement with the recommendation to use the common definitions 
included in the Welsh Government Guidance: Undertaking Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation 
Assessments (May 2015). These are set out below. 
 
Gypsies and 
Travellers 
 

(a) Persons of a nomadic habit of life, whatever their race or origin, including: 
 

(1) Persons who, on grounds only of their own or their family’s or 
dependant’s educational or health needs or old age, have ceased to 
travel temporarily or permanently, and 
(2) Members of an organized group of travelling show people or 
circus people (whether or not travelling together as such); and 

 
(b) All other persons with a cultural tradition of nomadism or of living in a 
mobile home. 
  
Source: Section 108, Housing (Wales) Act 2014 

Residential site A permanent residential site can be privately owned or owned by the Local 
Authority. This site will be designated for use as a Gypsy and Traveller site 
indefinitely. Residents on these sites can expect to occupy their pitches for as 
long as they abide by the terms of their pitch agreements, under the Mobile 
Homes (Wales) Act 2013. 
 
Working space may also be provided on, or near, sites for activities carried out 
by community members. 

  

Page 379



6 
 

Temporary 
residential 
site 

These sites are residential sites which only have planning permission or a site 
licence for a limited period. Residents on these sites can expect to occupy their 
pitches for the duration of the planning permission or site licence (or as long as 
they abide by the terms of their pitch agreements, under the Mobile Homes 
(Wales) Act 2013 – whichever is sooner). 

Transit site Transit sites are permanent facilities designed for temporary use by occupiers. 
These sites must be designated as such and provide a route for Gypsies and 
Travellers to maintain a nomadic way of life. Individual occupiers are 
permitted to reside on the site for a maximum of 3 months at a time. 
 
Specific terms under the Mobile Homes (Wales) Act 2013 apply on these sites. 
Working space may also be provided on, or near, sites for activities carried out 
by community members. 

Temporary 
Stopping 
Place 

Also known as a ‘stopping place’, ‘Atchin Tan’, or ‘green lane’, amongst other 
names. These are intended to be short‑term in nature to assist Local 
Authorities where a need for pitches is accepted, however, none are currently 
available. Pro-actively identified temporary stopping places can be used to 
relocate inappropriately located encampments, whilst alternative sites are 
progressed. 
 
Temporary stopping places must make provision for waste disposal, water 
supply and sanitation at a minimum. 

Residential pitch Land on a mobile home site where occupiers are entitled to station their 
mobile homes indefinitely (unless stated in their pitch agreement). Typically 
includes an amenity block, space for a static caravan and touring caravan and 
parking. 

Transit pitch Land on a mobile home site where occupiers are entitled to station their 
mobile homes for a maximum of 3 months. 
 
Transit pitches can exist on permanent residential sites, however, this is not 
recommended. 

Unauthorised 
encampment 

Land occupied without the permission of the owner or without the correct 
land use planning permission. Encampments may be tolerated by the Local 
Authority, whilst alternative sites are developed. 

Unauthorised 
development 

Land occupied by the owner without the necessary land use planning 
permission. 

Current residential 
supply 

The number of authorised pitches which are available and occupied within the 
Local Authority or partnership area. This includes pitches on Local Authority or 
private sites. 

Current residential 
demand 

Those with a need for authorised pitches for a range of reasons, including: 
 

• an inability to secure an authorised pitch leading 
to occupation of unauthorised encampments; 
• an inability to secure correct planning permission for 
an unauthorised development; 
• households living in overcrowded conditions and 
want a pitch; 
• households in conventional housing demonstrating 
cultural aversion; 
• new households expected to arrive from elsewhere. 

  

Page 380



7 
 

Future residential 
demand 

The expected level of new household formation which will generate additional 
demand within the 5 year period of the accommodation assessment and 
longer LDP period. 

Overall residential 
pitch need 

The ultimate calculation of unmet accommodation need, which must be 
identified through the Gypsy and Traveller accommodation assessment 
process. This figure can be found by adding the immediate residential need to 
the future residential demand. The overall residential need will capture the 
needs across the 5 year period within which the accommodation assessment is 
considered to be robust. 

Planned residential 
pitch supply 

The number of authorised pitches which are vacant and available to rent on 
Local Authority or private sites. It also includes pitches which will be vacated in 
the near future by households moving to conventional housing or in other 
circumstances. Additional pitches which are due to open or private sites likely 
to achieve planning permission shortly should be included as planned 
residential supply. 

Household In this guidance this refers to individuals from the same family who live 
together on a single pitch / house / encampment. 

Concealed or 
‘doubled-up’ 
household 

This refers to households which are unable to achieve their own authorised 
accommodation and are instead living within authorised accommodation 
(houses or pitches) assigned to another household. 
 
This may include adult children who have been unable to move home or 
different households occupying a single pitch. 

Household growth In this guidance household growth is defined by the number of new 
households arising from households which are already accommodated in the 
area. 

 

Chapter Two: Background and analysis of existing data 
 

2.1 Previous Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment findings 

 

Cardiff Council commissioned two consultants to undertake an independent Gypsy and Traveller 
Accommodation Assessment in 2013. The first stage was to establish the level of need for the LDP 
plan period and was carried out by Opinion Research Services. The study used 60 completed 
interviews and identified a need for an additional 108 pitches in Cardiff up to 2026 and this was 
broken down into 43 short-term and 65 long-term. It also identified an additional need for a transit 
site of around 10 pitches to be located near to the M4 and not necessarily within the boundaries of 
Cardiff County Council. 

The second stage was prepared by Peter Brett Associates and provided advice to the Council on 
potential sites required to respond to the needs identified in the first study. The Peter Brett Study 
followed criteria set out in national guidance and looked at the availability, suitability and 
achievability of 32 potential sites. One of the sites at Seawall Road was allocated for a permanent 
site for 65 pitches in the Deposit LDP.  However, following the LDP Examination the site was 
removed due to it being located within a C2 Flood Risk Area. Therefore, to date, no additional 
provision has been made to meet the previously identified need. 

 

 

Page 381



8 
 

2.2  Identified need to be met and progress to date 

 
The Census includes an estimate of residents classified by ethnic group according to their own 
perceived ethnic group and cultural background. The 2011 survey introduced an ethnicity category 
for ‘White: Gypsy and Irish Traveller’. Data from 2011 suggests a total of 521 Gypsy and Irish 
Travellers1 in Cardiff on Census day (27th March 2011), representing approximately 0.15% of the 
total population of Cardiff at the time – 346,090. As noted by Welsh Government guidance2, this 
number may not include Travelling Showpeople or New Travellers and may also exclude members of 
communities who declined to self-ascribe their ethnicity for fear of discrimination, stronger 
affiliation with other ethnicity categories (e.g. White Welsh; White Irish) and/or other reasons.  
 
The 2011 Census also provides an estimate of residents classified by ethnic group and by 
accommodation type3. In Cardiff, a total of 260 Gypsy or Irish Travellers were recorded as living 
within a house or bungalow (see breakdown below). An additional 246 were recorded as living 
within either a flat, maisonette or apartment, or mobile/temporary accommodation. However, there 
is no breakdown of this category and so it is not possible to disaggregate the precise number living in 
caravans or bricks and mortar accommodation. 

Extract of Table DC2121EW: 

Ethnic Group: Gypsy or Irish 
Traveller 

Accommodation type 
 

Whole house or bungalow: Total 260 

Whole house or bungalow: Detached 42 

Whole house or bungalow: Semi-detached 109 

Whole house or bungalow: Terraced (including end-terrace) 109 

Flat, maisonette or apartment, or mobile/temporary accommodation 246 
Source: ONS Census 2011 

Census Table QS401EW “Accommodation type – People” does however provide some additional 
detail and context in relation to the total population living in a caravan. In Cardiff, 243 people were 
recorded as living within a ‘Caravan or other mobile or temporary structure’ as shown in the extract 
below: 

Extract of Table QS401EW 
Dwelling Type People 
All categories: Accommodation type 334,551 
Whole house or bungalow: Total 274,883 

Detached 52,472 

Semi-detached 107,782 

Terraced (including end-terrace) 114,629 

Flat, maisonette or apartment: Total 58,536 

Purpose-built block of flats or tenement 43,983 

Part of a converted or shared house (including bed-sits) 12,156 

In commercial building 2,397 

Caravan or other mobile or temporary structure 243 
Source: ONS Census 2011 

1 Source: ONS Census 2011, Table QS211EW - Ethnic group (detailed) 
2  Undertaking Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessments, Welsh Government (2015) 
3 Source: ONS Census 2011, Table DC2121EW - Ethnic group by accommodation type 

Page 382



9 
 

In addition to this, Travellers Education Services currently have 273 families recorded on their 
database and Gypsy and Traveller Wales have provided advice and support to 150 households over 
the last 2 years. It will be seen later in the report how these families formed the basis of the study’s 
attempt to engage as widely as possible with Gypsies and Travellers who do not reside on the Local 
Authority sites. Health Services were unable to provide figures but were represented on the Gypsy 
and Traveller Accommodation Assessment Steering Group and provided direct assistance through 
helping to inform and encourage engagement during the period in which the surveys were being 
carried out.   
 

2.3  Caravan Count and Current Accommodation Provision 
 

The Welsh Government produce a biannual statistical report on Gypsy and Traveller caravans on 
both authorised and unauthorised sites in Wales using data collected and submitted by each local 
authority. The figures provided by Cardiff since January 2014 are shown below: 
 

Survey Date Authorised Sites Unauthorised 
Sites 

Number of 
Caravans on 

Authorised Sites 

Number of 
Caravans on 

Unauthorised 
Sites 

January 2014 4 3 158 29 

July 2014 4 5 131 35 

January 2015 4 7 146 31 

July 2015 4 4 137 32 
 

A further breakdown of the July 2015 result showed the following: 

 Authorised 
Local 

Authority 
Sites 

Authorised 
Private 

Sites 

Number of 
Caravans on 
Gypsies and 

Travellers own 
land 

Number of 
Caravans on 
Gypsies and 

Travellers 
own land 

Number of 
Caravans on 

land not 
owned by 

Gypsies and 
Travellers 

Number of 
Caravans on 

land not 
owned by 

Gypsies and 
Travellers 

Tolerated Not 
Tolerated 

Tolerated Not 
Tolerated 

Number 
of 

Caravans 

130 7 0 25 0 7 

 

The total number of caravans has remained reasonably stable over this period. However, it should be 
noted that the current data would now show a change. There are now 3 authorised private sites with 
12 caravans in total and 1 unauthorised private site containing 12 caravans which is now at the final 
stages of gaining planning permission. 

There are currently 80 residential pitches on Local Authority sites made up of 59 at Shirenewton and 
21 at Rover Way. The total count of 130 caravans on these sites provides an indication of a measure 
of over-occupation. 

Page 383



10 
 

2.4 Unauthorised Encampments 
 
The Local Authority has a policy for responding to unauthorised encampments within its boundaries. 
The policy was developed over a number of years and more recently reviewed to ensure that it 
adhered to the principles set out in the Welsh Government Guidance on Managing Unauthorised 
Camping (2013). The 2015/16 figures to date can be seen in the table below.        
 

Unauthorised Encampments in Cardiff 2015/16 

Date Reported Location Number of Vehicles Date Ended 
Total 
Days 

26/03/2015 Nettlefold Road 1 09/04/2015 9 
05/06/2015 Hendre lake 12 09/06/2015 4 
17/06/2015 Capel Gwilym Road 10 20/06/2015 3 
14/07/2015 Willowbrook Drive 17 22/07/2015 8 
06/08/2015 Pen y Bryn 37 08/08/2015 2 
07/08/2015 Nettlefold Road 4 18/08/2015 11 
10/08/2015 Hendre Lake 30 13/08/2015 3 
25/09/2015 Trowbridge Green 4 30/09/2015 5 
05/10/2015 Community Centre St Melons 8 09/10/2015 4 
09/11/2015 Cardiff East Park and Ride 24 13/11/2015 4 
19/11/2015 Cardiff East Park and Ride 24 26/11/2015 7 
23/11/2015 Nettlefold Road 2 02/12/2015 9 

 02/12/2015 Ocean Park 2 13/12/2015 11  

 
There has been an increase in frequency this year and even more significantly on the number of 
vehicles contained within some of these encampments, both of which support the need for transit 
provision. 

Chapter Three: Methodology 
 
3.1 Project Steering Group 

 
A Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Steering Group was established in the lead up to the survey 
period which then met on a monthly basis throughout. At the last meeting in December 2015, it was 
agreed that the group would reform in early 2016 to allow further consultation with stakeholders 
and develop effective community engagement during the critical period of the site search and 
assessment process. 

 

Having agreed that all appropriate agencies had been invited to take part, the main objective for the 
Steering Group was to publicise the study to as many people as possible using all established contact 
with Gypsies and Travellers in Cardiff. In doing this, it was agreed that, to encourage full 
participation, it was very important to stress to people the duty that now fell on the Local Authority 
to meet the assessed need as part of the Housing (Wales) Act 2014. The Group then oversaw the 
process during the survey period, monitoring the level of engagement and continuing to look at ways 
to maximise this (both at the meetings and in ongoing individual dialogue between partners as the 
survey progressed).   

 

Page 384



11 
 

The Steering Group also approved the recommendation to use the Research Unit within Cardiff 
Council to carry out the analysis of the surveys to ensure both consistency and accuracy. 

 

The membership of the Steering Group contained representation from a number of different 
organisations which are shown below. 

 
• Cardiff Council – Housing 
• Cardiff Council – Strategic Planning 
• Cardiff Council – Travellers Education 
• Cardiff Council – Flying Start (including Health Visitors) 
• Cardiff & The Vale – Community Cohesion 
• STAR – Communities First 
• South Wales Police – Community Engagement 
• Gypsy and Traveller Wales 
• Save the Children – Travelling Ahead 
• Romani Arts (unable to attend meetings but minutes provided for comment and suggestion) 

  
3.2 Study Methodology and Participating Organisations 
 

The Council’s Working Group gave consideration to different methods of undertaking the assessment, 
which included using internal staff and the use of a tendering process, before deciding on extending 
the existing Service Level Agreement with Gypsy and Traveller Wales to allow them to carry out the 
surveys with the Council’s Research Unit then completing the analysis. The main reasons for this was 
that it was anticipated that Gypsy and Traveller Wales would be in a strong position to achieve a high 
level of participation and the welcomed clarity of the Welsh Government’s guidance which now gave 
a more prescriptive process that would allow it to be carried out in-house.. The Local Authority was 
confident that this methodology would considerably increase the participation level that had gained 
only 60 respondents in 2013. The survey period was set for 1st September 2015 to 4th December 2015. 

 

The terms agreed with Gypsy and Traveller Wales were that they would ensure a direct approach was 
made with all those residing on the Local Authority sites (with assistance from Cardiff Council staff), 
households living on private sites, all households not occupying residential pitches that had accessed 
their services over the previous 2 years and all unauthorised encampments in Cardiff during the 
survey period. The survey would be undertaken using the standard questionnaire contained within 
the Welsh Government guidance. 

 

In addition to this, whilst unable to share their records with Gypsy and Traveller Wales, Travellers 
Education would send letters to all households on their database inviting people to take part. This 
also extended to speaking to people directly ‘at the school gates’ to encourage participation and to 
ask that they help spread the word to any family members and other associates. Those that wanted 
to participate could either be referred to Gypsy and Traveller Wales or complete the survey with 
Travellers Education staff (allowing confirmation of their participation to be passed on to Gypsy and 
Traveller Wales to avoid duplication as their records would inevitably contain replication). 

 

The other organisations represented on the Steering Group volunteered to make sure that they 

Page 385



12 
 

publicised the study directly with people during all of their day to day contact throughout the survey 
period. Finally, towards the later stages of the survey period, Travelling Ahead agreed to undertake 
sessions on the Local Authority sites where they would speak with residents to ensure they had fully 
understood the purpose of the study so that they might want to urge family members and / or other 
associates to complete a survey where they thought it would be in their interest. 

 

In the lead up and throughout the survey period opportunities were taken to publicise the 
assessment. This included playing the DVD prepared by the Welsh Government at events such as the 
Macmillan Coffee Morning arranged by residents of Shirenewton. 

 

The Local Authority made contact with the South Wales branch of the Showmen’s Guild of Great 
Britain. They had placed an advert in The World’s Fair newspaper which they reported was very 
widely read amongst travelling showpeople. The advert advised people to contact them or the local 
authority directly but no approach was made in relation to Cardiff. The Guild reported that they 
would be interested to hear of progress in relation to transit provision but stated their main concern 
was the availability of Winter Quarters, which was not covered under this assessment. They may 
make contact again to discuss this issue separately.     

 

Cardiff’s General Housing Waiting List, the list of homeless families in temporary accommodation 
during the survey period and the Local Authority Gypsy and Traveller Waiting List were all used to 
identify people who had self-ascribed their ethnicity as ‘Gypsy Traveller’. Due to the same 
confidentiality issues, the letters distributed to the families on the Travellers Education database were 
also sent to households on the General Housing Waiting List and to those on the Local Authority 
Gypsy and Traveller Waiting List who did not reside on the sites. The Council staff were able to 
approach each of the households on the Gypsy and Traveller Waiting List currently residing on the 
sites, all of whom agreed to take part. The council were aware of 2 families who had left the sites to 
live on other sites away from Cardiff but who still wished to remain on the waiting list. After contact 
with these families had been unsuccessful in the survey period, it was decided that both families 
should be included in the identified need. No families were found to be in homeless temporary 
accommodation. 

 

Contact has been maintained with neighbouring local authorities in relation to the Gypsy and 
Traveller Accommodation Assessment to ensure effective information sharing. This included matters 
such as people who were residing within one local authority but reported that they owed land in 
another on which they wished to develop a private site and liaison to identify the exact location of a 
reported encampment close to the boundary. Perhaps most importantly, formal discussion has 
started on a regional response to transit provision and a first meeting of Housing and Planning officers 
from the membership of the South East Wales Strategic Planning Group has been arranged in January 
2016. 

 
3.3 Engagement Checklist 
 
The Local Authority and Steering Group paid particular attention to the engagement checklist 
contained in the Welsh Government guidance to make sure that a robust system was in place. The 
measures taken can be described against each heading. 
 
 

Page 386



13 
 

Visit every Gypsy and Traveller household 
identified through the data analysis process up 
to 3 times, if necessary. 

Gypsy and Traveller Wales made a direct 
approach to all households on the Local 
Authority sites, all private sites and each 
household that had accessed its services within 
the last 2 years. This continued until the survey 
was completed; the household declined to take 
part; it was evident that the family were no 
longer at that address; or that 3 visits had been 
carried out without success. 
 
In addition to this, because the information 
could not be shared directly with Gypsy and 
Traveller Wales for reasons of confidentiality, 
letters were sent out to every family on the 
Travellers Education database (where the 
address could be verified). Together with 
discussion ‘at the school gates’ this ensured that 
opportunity to engage was widened as far as 
possible from the known records that were held. 
This measure led directly to a number of the 
completed interviews that were conducted. 
 
The interview logs are shown in the background 
papers. 

Publish details of the GTAA process, including 
contact details to allow community members to 
request an interview, on the Local Authority 
website, Travellers’ Times website and World’s 
Fair publication 

Direct contact from the community was invited 
through Welsh Government adverts placed in 
the Travellers’ Times and The World’s Fair (which 
the Showmen’s Guild had also used) and Local 
Authority publicity. No approach was received. 

Consult relevant community support 
organisations. 

As shown from the Steering Group and the 
methodology used, the Local Authority sought 
and gained the involvement of all agencies that 
have direct contact with the community in 
Cardiff in addition to an approach to external 
providers who may have knowledge of people in 
Cardiff.  

Develop a Local Authority waiting list for both 
pitches and housing, which is accessible and 
communicated to community members. 

The Local Authority have accessible General and 
Gypsy and Traveller waiting lists in place. All 
those identifying as ‘Gypsy Traveller’ were 
included in the invitations to take part in the 
survey. 

Endeavour to include Gypsies and Travellers on 
the GTAA project steering group 

The approach adopted in Cardiff was to make a 
direct approach to everyone included in the 
records held by each organisation and that 
through this contact invitation would be made 
for them to identify further family members or 
associates who may want to get involved. 
Travelling Ahead also followed up with sessions 
at both Local Authority sites to ensure residents 

Page 387



14 
 

fully understood the purpose of the study so that 
they might want to identify more people they 
thought it would be in their interest to take part. 
A number of interviews were included as a direct 
result of this measure. Consultation was 
undertaken on the methodology and 
representation from Gypsies and Travellers is 
now being arranged for the forthcoming site 
selection process.   

Ensure contact details provided to the Local 
Authority by community members through the 
survey process are followed up and needs 
assessed. 

As stated, all information provided to the 
Council, Travellers Education and Travelling 
Ahead were followed up and the assessment 
form was completed in each case. 

Consider holding on-site (or nearby) GTAA 
information events to explain why community 
members should participate and encourage site 
residents to bring others who may not be known 
to the Local Authority. 

The Welsh Government DVD was played at 
events on site and a direct approach was made 
to all households on the sites, both agreement 
holders and those on the waiting list. As 
described, methods were in place to ask 
community members taking part in the survey to 
publicise it to others that might want to 
participate. 

 

Chapter Four: Survey Findings 
 
All completed questionnaires were submitted to the Research Unit within the Local Authority to 
carry out a full analysis. Due to the high number of people engaging with each organisation and 
Gypsies and Travellers themselves spreading the word, more than 400 households were approached 
to take part in the assessment from which 172 completed the survey. This is very nearly three times 
the number that participated in the 2013 study. The only difficulty encountered by Gypsy and 
Traveller Wales and Travellers Education was that some addresses could not be recognised or that 
the families had moved but not updated the organisation. There was a 100% completion level on the 
Local Authority sites (although 1 family who had stated a preference to complete the survey with a 
Social Worker rather than the Council or Gypsy and Traveller Wales later decided that they did not 
wish to submit the form).  With 45.2% of all respondents living off the Local Authority sites (in either 
bricks and mortar, private sites or unauthorised encampments) it can be seen that the survey 
successfully engaged with a wide cross-section of the community. The results of the survey are as 
follows: 
 
Note – Where figures do not add up to the expected 172 respondents this is explained by different 
sections of the form not being completed in all cases.  
 

 

 

 

Page 388



15 
 

4.1 Section A – Your Home 

A1. Where do you live now? 

Over a half (54.8%) of respondents to the survey claimed to live on a Local Authority (council) 
residential site. Almost one in five (19.0%) of respondents claimed to live in Bricks and Mortar 
socially rented accommodation, whilst over one in ten (11.9%) stated that they lived on an 
unauthorised encampment.   

  No. % 
Local authority ("Council") residential site 92 54.8 
Bricks and Mortar Socially Rented 32 19.0 
Unauthorised encampment 20 11.9 
Private site with planning permission 10 6.0 
Bricks and Mortar - Privately Rented 8 4.8 
Bricks and Mortar - Owner Occupied 4 2.4 
Private site currently without planning permission 2 1.2 
Council transit site 0 0.0 
Total 168 100.0 

 

 

A2. Are you satisfied with your current accommodation? 

Over seven in ten (71.9%) suggested that they were happy with their current living accommodation, 
whilst over a quarter (26.3%) claimed to be unhappy. 

  No. % 
Yes 123 71.9 
No 45 26.3 
Prefer not to say 3 1.8 
Total 171 100.0 

54.8 19.0 11.9 6.0 4.8 2.4 

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Where do you live now? 

Local authority ("Council") residential site Bricks and Mortar Socially Rented

Unauthorised encampment Private site with planning permission

Bricks and Mortar - Privately Rented Bricks and Mortar - Owner Occupied

Private site currently without planning permission Council transit site

Page 389



16 
 

 

Respondents who stated they were not happy with their accommodation and of whom left a valid 
reason why have been categorised below: 

  No. % 
Repairs 13 19.4 
Need own plot /Would prefer to live on a 
site 16 23.9 
Access to transit site & Waste disposal or 
collection facilities 20 29.9 
Pitch Unsafe 13 19.4 
Awaiting Planning permission 2 3.0 
Miscellaneous 8 11.9 

Total Respondents 67 - 
N.B. Total respondents here are higher than total respondents that indicated they weren’t happy with current 

accommodation due to people who were happy highlighting improvements.   

The level of respondents unhappy with their current accommodation would be expected in relation 
to some overcrowding on Local Authority sites, people in bricks and mortar stating they would want 
to live on a site if pitches were available, the known issues at Rover Way and households in 
unauthorised encampments expressing the need for transit provision.  

A3. Can you tell me why you live here? 

Local connection (family or work) was the stand out reason why people chose to live in their current 
accommodation with two thirds (66.1%) of respondents citing this option. This was followed by 
almost three in ten (28.7%) of respondents who stated that no alternative authorised pitch was the 
reason they live where they do. 

 

18.1 

1.7 

2.3 

4.1 

28.7 

66.1 

0.0 10.0 20.0 30.0 40.0 50.0 60.0 70.0 80.0 90.0 100.0

Other

Can't find a house to move into

Health or age reasons

Prefer houses to caravans

No alternative authorised pitch

Local connection (family or work)

Can you tell me why you live here? 

Page 390



17 
 

Almost a fifth of respondents indicated ‘Other’ as their reason for their current accommodation, 
these have been categorised and can be seen below: 

 

  No. 
Nowhere else to go 15 
Family Reasons 8 
Miscellaneous 4 
Fled Domestic Violence 2 

 

A4. How long have you lived here? 

Three fifths (59.6%) of people interviewed stated that they’d been in their current accommodation 
for over 5 years, while almost a quarter (24.1%) had been there for 1 – 5 years. In contrast one in 
eight (12.7%) had only been in their current accommodation for less than a month.  

 

 

 

A5. If you have moved in the last year, was your last home in the Local Authority? 
 
Respondents who cited that they’d moved within the last year were then asked if their last home 
was within the Local Authority. Over eight in ten (82.1%) claimed that their last home was outside 
the Local Authority. 
 

  No % 
Yes 10 17.9 
No 46 82.1 
Total 56 100.0 

 
 
With the ten respondents who had previously lived in the local authority the subject of the following 
questions, responses were low.   

12.7 5.4 18.7 59.6 

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

How long have you lived here?  

Less than 1 month 1-6 months 7-12 months 1-2 years 2-5 years Over 5 years

Page 391



18 
 

Type of Accommodation  
 
Of the 8 respondents who had moved in the last year there was a fairly even split between 
accommodation types with Private Rent, Encampment and Caravan all scoring 25.0%. 
 
 

Type of Accommodation No. % 
Private Rent 2 25 
Encampment 2 25 
Caravan 2 25 
Socially rented Bricks & Mortar 1 12.5 
House 1 12.5 

Total 8 100.0 
 
 
 
Did it have planning permission? 
 
Of the 3 respondents to this section of the question, only a third (33.3%) of respondents who had 
moved in the last year had planning permission. 
 

Did it have planning permission? No. % 

Yes 1 33.3 
No 2 66.7 
Total 3 100.0 

 
 
Which Local Authority was it in? 
 
Only 6 interviewees left a valid response to this question, of those whom did over eight in ten 
(83.3%) stated that if they’d moved in the last year it was in the Cardiff Local Authority. 
 
 

Which Local Authority was it in? No. % 

Cardiff 5 83.3 
Coventry 1 16.7 
Total 6 100.0 

 
 
 

Page 392



19 
 

Why did you leave? 
 
7 Respondents left a reason as to why they left, reasons for leaving were fairly evenly split with 
‘Overcrowding’, ‘Domestic violence’ and ‘Couldn’t stay on encampment’ all scoring 28.6%) 
 
 

Why did you leave? No. % 

Overcrowded 2 28.6 
Domestic Violence 2 28.6 
Couldn’t Stay On Encampment 2 28.6 
Wasn’t permanent 1 14.3 
Total 7 100.0 

 
 
 
 
A6. How long do you think you'll stay here? 
 
When interviewees were asked how long they intended to stay, three fifths (59.6%) stated that had 
no intention of moving, whilst just under a third (32.5%) claimed they didn’t know how long they’d 
be there for.  This was largely due to the fact that most of these were illegally camped and were at 
risk of potentially being moved on. 
 
 

  No % 
1 or 2 days 0 0.0 
3-28 days 8 4.8 
1-3 months 0 0.0 
3 months - 2 years 0 0.0 
2-5 years 0 0.0 
Over 5 years 5 3.0 
Do not intend to move 99 59.6 
Don't know 54 32.5 
Total 166 100.0 

 
 
A7. Would you stay longer if changes were made to your current accommodation? 

Over three quarters (77.2%) of respondents claimed they would stay longer if changes were made to 
their current accommodation. 
 
 

Page 393



20 
 

 
 
 
The two main reasons that would encourage respondents to stay longer in their current 
accommodation were repairs being carried out and an enlargement of the site (both 54.0%). These 
were closely followed by the accommodation being made safer, which was highlighted by over two 
in five (44.0%) respondents. 
 
 
 

Reason No % 
Repairs needed 27 54.0 
Site made bigger 27 54.0 
Accommodation made safer 22 44.0 
Adaptions needed 8 16.0 
Planning permission granted 2 4.0 

Total Respondents 50 - 
Totals do not sum to 100% as respondents could give more than one answer 

 
 
Over two-fifths (44.1%) of respondents claimed that living in a caravan was their main reason for not 
staying longer if changes or improvements were made to their current accommodation, whilst just 
over one in nine (11.8%) cited broken down relationships. 
 
 

Reason No % 
Prefer living in caravan 15 44.1 
Just passing through 10 29.4 
Want to move into housing 6 17.6 
Want authorised pitch in other area 5 14.7 
Relationships broken down 4 11.8 

Total Respondents 34 - 
Totals do not sum to 100% as respondents could give more than one answer 

 

77.2 22.8 

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Would you stay longer if changes were made to your current 
accommodation?  

Yes No

Page 394



21 
 

4.2 Section B – Your Family 
 
Profile of Agreement Holders 
 
Over a half (51.0%) of agreement holders were aged between 25 – 44, whilst only one in eight 
(12.0%) were aged 65 and above.  
 
 

 
 
Over eight tenths (83.1%) of agreement holders were female. 
 

  No. % 
Male 13 16.9 
Female 64 83.1 
Total 77 100.0 

 
A third (32.9%) of agreement holders were Romani Gypsy, this was followed by a quarter (25.0%) 
that were Welsh Travellers, whilst less than one in six (17.1%) were Irish Travellers. 
 
 

 

12% 25% 

26% 

13% 

12% 

8% 

4% 

Age profile of Agreement Holders 

16-24

25-34

35-44

45-54

55-64

65-74

75+

32.9 

25.0 
21.1 

17.1 

2.6 
1.3 

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

30.0

35.0

Romani Gypsy Welsh Traveller Gypsy Irish Traveller English Traveller Gorja

Gypsy Traveller identity 

Page 395



22 
 

 
B1. Do you live in caravans? 
 
An overwhelming proportion (96.6%) of interviewees who responded to question stated that they 
lived in caravans. 
 
 

  No. % 
Yes 112 96.6 
No 4 3.4 
Total 116 100.0 

 
 

B2. If living in Caravans, are there enough sleeping areas for all residents? 
 
Respondents who claimed to live in a caravan were then asked if they believed there were enough 
sleeping areas for all residents. Three quarters (74.0%) of respondents stated that there were 
sufficient areas. 
 
 

 
B3. Is there room on the pitch for additional trailers to prevent overcrowding? 
 
There was a fairly even split between respondents who claimed there was room for additional 
trailers to prevent overcrowding (53.6%) and those that stated there was insufficient space (46.4%). 
 
 

  No. % 
Yes 37 53.6 
No 32 46.4 
Total 69 100.0 

  

74% 

26% 

If living in Caravans, are there enough sleeping areas for all residents 

Yes

No

Page 396



23 
 

If yes, how many additional sleeping areas can be added? 
 
Respondents who claimed there was room on the pitch for additional trailers were then asked to 
state how many sleeping areas they felt could be added. Over two in five (41.7%) suggested there 
was room for another 4 sleeping areas, whilst a quarter (25.0%) claimed there was only room for 
one more sleeping area to be added to their site. 
 
 

 
 
B4. Would anyone in your family like to join the Local Authority waiting list for pitches or housing? 
 
Almost three-tenths (28.8%) of respondents claimed that somebody in their family would like to join 
the Local Authority waiting list for pitches or housing. 
 

  No. % 
Yes 46 28.8 
No 114 71.3 
Total 160 100.0 

 
 
4.3 Section C – Your Plans 
 
C1. Are you planning to move into other accommodation? 
 
Over a quarter (26.2%) of respondents suggested they were planning to move into other 
accommodation, whilst almost three-quarters (73.2%) claimed they had no plans to move. 
 
 
 
 

25.0 

16.7 

8.3 

41.7 

8.3 

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

30.0

35.0

40.0

45.0

1 2 3 4 5

If yes, how many addittional sleeping areas can be added? 

Page 397



24 
 

 
  No. % 
Yes 44 26.2 
No 123 73.2 
Prefer not to say 1 0.6 
Total 168 100.0 

 
C2. Where are you planning to move to? 
 
Interviewees who claimed they were planning to move were then asked to indicate where they 
planned to move, two thirds (66.7%) planned to move within the Local Authority, whilst three in ten 
(30.8%) were planning to move somewhere else in the UK, reflecting the responses received from 
unauthorised transit encampments during the survey . 
 

  No. % 
Within the Local Authority 26 66.7 
Another Local Authority in Wales – Please state 
which 1 2.6 
Somewhere else in the UK 12 30.8 
Total 39 100.0 

 
C3. Why are you planning to move? 
 
The two main reasons respondents gave for planning to move were that they needed more space 
and because of a local connection (family or work) with 21.2% and 18.2% of responses respectively. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

21.2 
18.2 

9.1 
6.1 

3.0 

42.4 

0.0
5.0

10.0
15.0
20.0
25.0
30.0
35.0
40.0
45.0

Need more
space

Local connection
(family or work)

Need different
facilities

Need to be
closer to
services -

schools etc

Employment
opportunities

Other

Why are you planing to move? 

Page 398



25 
 

 
 

Respondents who indicated ‘Other’ as the reason they were 
planning to leave have been categorised and can be seen below.  No. 
Family Reasons / Fleeing domestic violence 6 
Feel Isolated 3 
Can’t stay on Encampment 7 
Want own pitch 7 
Have somewhere else to go 3 

Total Respondents 26 
 
 

C4. What type of accommodation are you planning to move to? 
 
Seven in ten (70.7%) of respondents indicated that they would like to move into a site, whilst three 
in ten (29.3%) give Bricks & Mortar as their chosen accommodation preference. 
 
 

  No. % 
Site 29 70.7 
Bricks & Mortar 12 29.3 
Total 41 100.0 

 
 
Of the respondents who indicated a ‘Site’ as the type of accommodation they were planning to 
move to, it can be seen that four in five (80.0%) chose Council / Social rented accommodation.  
 
 

 
 

 

80% 

16% 

4% 

Plans for future accommodation: Site 

Council / Social rented

Private site owned by self

Private site owned by other

Page 399



26 
 

Of the respondents who indicated Bricks & Mortar as the type of accommodation they were 
planning to move to, over nine in ten (92.0%) chose ‘Rented from Council / Housing Association’, 
whilst just under one in ten (8.0%) highlighted ‘Rented from private landlord’. 

 

 
 
 
C5. Do you own land in the Local Authority which you would like to be considered as a possible 
future site? 
 
Only 2 respondents claimed to own land in the Local Authority which they would like to be 
considered as a possible future site. 
 
 

  No. % 
Yes 2 4.4 
No 43 95.6 
Prefer not to say 0 0.0 
Total 45 100.0 

 
C6. If you are looking for an authorised pitch, would you live on a site managed by the Local 
Authority? 
 
Over three quarters (77.5%) of respondents looking for an authorised pitch would be happy to live 
on a site managed by the Local Authority. 
 

  No. % 
Yes 31 77.5 
No 9 22.5 
Total 40 100 

92% 

8% 

Plans for future accommodation: Bricks & Mortar  

Rented from Council / Houing
Association

Rented from private landlord

Page 400



27 
 

C7. If an authorised pitch was available in another Local Authority, would you consider moving 
there? 
 
There was an even split of respondent who would or wouldn’t consider moving to another Local 
Authority, with 51.5% agreeable to a move and 48.5% against a move. 
 

  No. % 
Yes 17 51.5 
No 16 48.5 
Total 33 100.0 

 
Respondents who would consider moving to another Local Authority were asked to indicate where 
they’d consider moving, these have been categorised and can be seen below. 
 

Location No. 
Any 4 
With Irish Travellers 3 
Newport 1 
Transit Site 3 
Swindon 1 

Total Respondents  10 
 
4.4 Section D – Family Growth 
 
D1. Is anyone in your household likely to want to move to their own home in the next 5 years? 
 
Of the 163 interviewees of whom left a response to this question, 46 respondents (28.2%) claimed 
that someone within their household was likely to want to move into their own home in the next 5 
years, whilst almost seven in ten (112 respondents; 68.7%) stated that there was nobody in their 
house that would want to move in that time period. 
 

 

28.2 

68.7 

3.1 

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

70.0

80.0

Yes No Don’t know 

Is anyone in your household likely to want to move to their own home 
in the next 5 years 

Page 401



28 
 

D2. Will this be in this Local Authority? 
 
Of the respondents that suggested someone in their household is likely to want to move to their 
own home in the next 5 years, eight in ten (79.2%) suggested they would want to remain within this 
Local Authority. 
 

  No. % 
Yes 38 79.2 
No  6 12.5 
Prefer not to say 4 8.3 
Total 48 100.0 

 
 

D3. How many new households will there be and when will they be needed? 
 
The direct responses to this question were as follows: 
 

 
 

 

37.7 11.3 18.9 32.1 

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Is anyone in your household likely to want to move to their own home 
in the next 5 years?  

Now Within a year 1-2 years 2-5 years

43.5 

21.7 
17.4 17.4 

0.0
5.0

10.0
15.0
20.0
25.0
30.0
35.0
40.0
45.0
50.0

LA Site LA Private Site Private Site Site

Interviewees that want a household now 

Page 402



29 
 

 
From careful analysis of each form, taking into account the combination of responses provided to all 
the questions, the following need for residential pitches was identified: 
 

 Identified Accommodation Need 
Now 1 Year 1 – 2 Years 2-5 Years Total 

Overcrowded 
Pitches 

10 1 1 5 17 

Conventional 
Housing 

1 0 5 1 7 

New 
Households 
to arrive 

5 0 8 10 23 

     Overall Total 
47 

  
Overcrowding issues could be determined from the ability to accommodate the overall household 
size and the ability to add to their current provision which meant that it could be measured without 
a respondent stating the need for more pitch provision. Family growth could be easily measured 
from current household size against the stated need for increased current and future need. 
 
The issue of cultural aversion to bricks and mortar needed to be assessed on a combination of a 
number of different factors. These included the length of time in their current accommodation, the 
desire to move to a Local Authority and/or private site, the expression that people were only 
occupying bricks and mortar due to the unavailability of a pitch, satisfaction with their 
accommodation, why people left their previous accommodation, supporting information such as 
reported harassment where they were living now and people stating that they did not know how 
long they would stay at their current address where it was apparent that this was due to being 
unhappy there. 
 
The assessment of people on private sites could only be carried for those who took part in the 
survey. All residents on these sites were approached and invited to take part but many declined. This 
made it impossible to fully assess current circumstances and future needs for those families.   
 
D4. Do you have family members living outside this area who camp in this Local Authority? 
 

Over a quarter (27.8%) claimed to have family members living outside the area who camp within this 
Local Authority, whilst almost seven in ten (69.0%) did not.  
 

  No. % 
Yes 44 27.8 
No 109 69.0 
Don’t know 5 3.2 
Prefer not to say 0 0.0 
Total 158 100.0 

Page 403



30 
 

 
4.5 Section E – Transit Sites 
 
E1. Have you camped by the roadside / on an unauthorised encampment / on a transit site in 
Wales while travelling in the past year? 
 

  No. % 
Yes 49 30.4 
No 112 69.6 
Prefer not to say 0 0.0 
Total 161 100.0 

 

E2. In which Local Authority areas have you camped? 
 
Respondents who claimed to have camped by the roadside / on an unauthorised encampment / on a 
transit site in Wales whilst travelling in the last year were asked to indicate where they’d stayed, 
these locations have been categorised and can be seen below. 
 

 
Totals do not sum to 100% as respondents could give more than one answer 

 
 
 
 
 

2.2 
2.2 
2.2 
2.2 
2.2 
2.2 
2.2 
2.2 
2.2 

4.3 
4.3 
4.3 
4.3 
4.3 
4.3 

6.5 
8.7 
8.7 
8.7 

10.9 
10.9 

15.2 
23.9 

41.3 

0.0 10.0 20.0 30.0 40.0 50.0

Scotland
Swindon

Pontypool
Chester

Monmouthshire
Stoke On Trent

Cumbria
Brixton

Wrexham
Dyfed Powys

Coventry
Birmingham

Dorset
Swansea
Flintshire

Not in Wales
Torfaen
England

Bristol
Throughout Wales

London
Newport

Cardiff
Throughout England & Wales

In which Local Authority areas have you camped? 

Page 404



31 
 

E3. How long would you usually stay in one place whilst travelling? 
 

Over two fifths (43.1%) of respondents claimed they would usually stay in one place between 2 
weeks and 3 months, whilst over three in ten (31.9%) would usually stay between a day and a week. 
 

 
 

E4. Do you think there is a need for more transit sites in Wales? 
 

  No. % 
Yes 152 93.8 
No 7 4.3 
Prefer not to say 3 1.9 
Total 162 100.0 

 

Respondents who indicated there was need for more transit sites were asked to specify an area 
where they deemed there was a greater need for these sites. Two fifths (40.4%) of respondents felt 
there was need for more transit sites in Cardiff. 
 

 
Totals do not sum to 100% as respondents could give more than one answer 

11.4 

20.5 
25.0 

29.5 

13.6 

0.0
5.0

10.0
15.0
20.0
25.0
30.0
35.0

1 - days 3 days - 1 week 1 - 2 weeks 2 weeks - 1 month 1 - 3 month

How long would you usually stay in one place whilst travelling? 

0.7 
0.7 
0.7 
0.7 
1.3 
1.3 
2.0 
2.6 

4.6 
11.9 

17.9 
18.5 

37.7 
40.4 

0.0 10.0 20.0 30.0 40.0 50.0

Pontypool
Holywell
Anglesey

Micallaneous
Bridgend

Bangor
Pembrokeshire

Anywhere in South Wales
Swansea
Newport

Within Local Authority
All over Wales

Everywhere
Cardiff

Respondents who identified areas where there's need for more transit 
sites 

Page 405



32 
 

Chapter Five: Assessing accommodation needs 
 
5.1 Residential Unmet Need 
 
The overall outcome of the assessment is shown in the table below: 
  

Cardiff GTAA - An estimate of need for residential site pitches - 
Current Residential Supply Number of Pitches 
Occupied Local Authority pitches 80 
Occupied authorised private pitches 12 
Total 92 
 
Planned Residential Supply Number of Pitches 
Vacant Local Authority pitches and 
available vacant private pitches 

0 

Pitches expected to become vacant in 
near future 

0 

New local authority and private pitches 
with planning permission 

0 

Total 0 
 
Current Residential Demand Number of Pitches 
Unauthorised encampments 1  

 
1 household identified that they were NFA 
because of a lack of residential pitches in 
Cardiff and had strong local connections. The 
other responses related only to the provision 
of transit sites in Cardiff. 

Unauthorised developments 0 
Overcrowded pitches 17 
Conventional housing 7 
New households to arrive 23 
Total 48 
 
Current Households Future Households 

(at year 5) 
Future 
Households (at 
2026) 

140 156 179 
Additional household pitch need 16 39 
 
Unmet Need Need Arising 
Current residential demand 48 
Future residential demand (5 year) 16 
Future residential demand (to 2026) 39 
Planned residential supply   
Unmet need (5 year) 64 pitches 

87 pitches Unmet need (to 2026) 
 
 
 

Page 406



33 
 

Current Residential Supply 

There are currently 80 residential pitches on Local Authority sites made up of 59 at Shirenewton and 
21 at Rover Way and 12 pitches on three private sites. There are currently no vacant spaces on these 
sites which would contribute to meeting need for pitches in Cardiff. 

Planned Residential Supply 

There are currently no new local authority pitches with planning permission and no outstanding 
planning applications on private sites.  

Unauthorised Encampments 

As indicated in the table 1 household identified that they were NFA because of a lack of residential 
pitches in Cardiff and had strong local connection. The other responses related only to the provision 
of transit sites in Cardiff. There are currently also no unauthorised developments within Cardiff. 
 
Overcrowded Pitches 
 
In terms of overcrowded pitches Welsh Government guidance states that overcrowding exists where 
family numbers have grown to the extent that there is now insufficient space for the family within its 
mobile home accommodation and insufficient space on the pitch or site for a mobile home. 
Questions B2 and B3 of the survey form address this issue and ask respondents whether there 
enough sleeping areas for all residents and is there room on the pitch to safely station additional 
trailers to prevent overcrowding. Where respondents answered no to both of these questions they 
were included in the 17 overcrowded pitches identified in the assessment.  In a separate 
measurement the Local Authority has assessed that there are 15 over-occupied pitches across 
Shirenewton and Rover Way and there are currently 13 households on the waiting list. These figures 
would support the 17 overcrowded pitches identified in the assessment.    
 
Conventional Housing 
 
A need for 7 new pitches was identified from Gypsy and Travellers currently living in conventional 
housing. In accordance with Welsh Government guidance this need was derived from an analysis of 
the survey forms and included those stating a cultural aversion to conventional housing, those 
experiencing overcrowding, and those whom have reached adulthood and want to live on a site.  Of 
the requirement for 7 new pitches identified 2 respondents reported they had been the victims of 
harassment in their current accommodation, 2 respondents reported they were of no fixed abode 
(sofa surfing) and 3 respondents were living in caravans on private property in overcrowded 
conditions. 
 
New Households to arrive 
 
A need for 23 new pitches was identified from new households expected to arrive over the next five 
years (see breakdown on page 29).  In accordance with Welsh Government guidance this was 
identified through information contained in the questionnaire responses, through the waiting list, 
caravan count and partnership working with Local Authorities in the region.  
 
Total Planned Residential Supply 
 
A total need for 48 new pitches was identified over the next five years. This comprised of all 
households on local authority and private sites who demonstrated overcrowding and/or family 
growth, the 7 in conventional housing and 1 who was on an unauthorised encampment who had 

Page 407



34 
 

local connections and expressed that they wanted a residential pitch.  Also included were 2 pitches 
that were added for households on the waiting list but who could not be interviewed during the 
survey period. These households had previously resided on Local Authority sites but had moved 
away from the area due to overcrowding.   
 
Analysis of Preference and Need 
 
The figures for need are shown above. Of the respondents were no need was identified 59 lived on 
private or Local Authority sites who reported no issues of overcrowding, no plans to move into other 
accommodation and no family growth where a household would require a move into their own 
accommodation in the next 5 years. Also on private and Local Authority sites 7 respondents stated 
that if they were to move it would be into bricks and mortar or away from the area. These 
households were currently not overcrowded or with members of the family who will require their 
own accommodation over the next 5 years. 
 
Of the 20 responses from unauthorised encampments during the survey period, 19 states that they 
were not seeking a residential pitch in Cardiff. They all expressed that there was a need for a transit 
site within the region. The respondent that did state they were seeking a residential pitch is included 
within the need (see above).  
 
Of the 40 respondents currently in bricks and mortar, 20 stated that they do not intend to move 
from their current accommodation. Although some had stated they would live on a site they had 
also stated they were happy to continue living bricks and mortar. A further 10 stated a preference 
for bricks and mortar and 3 stated they were moving away from the area. Finally, 7 respondents had 
stated they were unsure of future accommodation preferences. Of these, 4 had been living in bricks 
and mortar for over 5 years, 2 for 2 to 5 years and 1 who did not state how long they had been at 
their current address. None had reported any problems at their present accommodation.  
 
Additional household Need 
 
In addition to this Welsh Government guidance requires a calculation of additional pitch need over 
the next 5 years and until the end of the Local Development Plan period in 2026 to be included in 
the assessment. This additional growth is then added to the identified current residential demand to 
give total pitch need to the end of the Plan period in2026. Welsh Government guidance sets out how 
this is calculated and an additional pitch need of 16 new households over the next five years and 39 
up to the end of the Local Development period in 2026 was identified.  
 
Cardiff’s 2013 Accommodation Needs Study identified a need for 108 pitches up to 2026. This study 
had only 60 respondents in comparison with 172 respondents to the current assessment. In addition 
to this, the 2013 Study had no respondents from bricks and mortar accommodation or unauthorised 
encampments. The Local Authority believes that the very significant difference in the participation 
rate, together with the new guidance from Welsh Government make this study far more robust.   
 
The 2013 Study used a family growth rate of 3% based on studies at that time which assumed this 
net growth in the population. It did not have evidence that the local growth rate would reflect this 
figure.  The Welsh Government guidance now anticipates a growth rate of between 1.5 to 3%. There 
is no comparable figure in the 2001 Census that could assist with identifying growth through 
comparison with the 2011 Census results. This study found a need for 2 new pitches per annum in 
the next 2-5 years which is equivalent to a 2.17% per annum growth in pitches (2/92*100). In the 
absence of other information, the Local Authority considers that this figure supports the use of the 
mid-point anticipated growth rate of 2.25%.     

Page 408



35 
 

As described in paragraph 1.2 above, the Local Development Plan has set out a timetable to meet 
the short term need in 2017/18 and the long term need in 2021/22. 

Rover Way 

The lifetime of the existing Rover Way site is currently being reviewed. The Local Authority is 
undertaking a feasibility study of the coastal defences along the Pengam Green stretch of the 
coastline which includes the Rover Way site. It is anticipated that this report will be 
completed in 2017. If the report concludes that the Rover Way site is no longer viable the 
Local Authority will add the existing 21 pitches to the overall need. The need arising from 
overcrowding and family growth at Rover Way are already included within this assessment. 

5.2 Transit Unmet Need 

The figures contained within the caravan count, the record of unauthorised encampments in 
2015/16 and the GTAA itself clearly show an identified need for transit provision. The Local 
Development Plan has set out a timetable to develop transit provision from 2017. In addition to this, 
Housing and Planning officers from the local authorities that make up the South East Wales Strategic 
Planning Group will be meeting in January 2016 to discuss a regional response. 

Chapter Six: Conclusions and Recommendations 
 
6.1 Next Steps 
 
1. It is evident from the assessment findings that there is a clear need in Cardiff for the provision of 

additional permanent and transit socially rented Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation. As set out 
above in paragraph 1.2 the Council has established a working group made up of Council officers 
from Planning and Housing with the responsibility for finding locations for both permanent and 
transit pitches to meet this need.  

2. The timetable for meeting this is included in the LDP Annual Monitoring Report and a site search 
and assessment of potential sites is due to commence in early 2016 with the findings and 
recommendations due to be considered by the Council’s Cabinet in July 2016.  Sites suggested as 
part of this assessment will also be included in the list of potential sites and as noted in 
paragraph 3.1 above the Project Steering Group will reform early in 2016 to allow further 
consultation with stakeholders and develop effective community engagement during this site 
search and assessment process. 

3. Following this process it envisaged that planning permission and funding will be secured for the 
identified site(s) required to meet short term need for permanent pitches by May 2017 and for 
identified site (s) required to meet long term need for permanent pitches by May 2021. 

4. This assessment gives an indication of the likely demand for new pitches up to 2026. When 
planning any new accommodation provision it is important to distinguish between demand and 
need. “Need” refers to households who are unable to access suitable accommodation without 
some financial assistance and “demand” to the quantity of housing that households are willing 
and able to buy or rent. 

5. In Cardiff we will do this by using the established common housing register as the mechanism for 
allocating pitches on any socially rented site that is provided. Prospective residents are required 
to complete the standard housing application form which then allows the local authority to 
make an assessment of both their need and eligibility for a pitch.  

6. In terms of transit provision the Cardiff Local Development Plan contains a target to identify a 
transit site by July 2016.  The new site should have received planning permission by May 2017. 

Page 409



36 
 

Potential sites will be assessed to meet this need in parallel with the permanent site assessment 
process identified above. However, it may be appropriate for a regional approach to be taken 
with regard to providing a site or sites for transit need.  This approach would require regional 
collaboration between authorities in South East Wales and is something that needs to be 
considered in more detail, particularly given the assessment findings which show that 50% of 
respondents camped by the roadside/on an unauthorised encampment in South East Wales in 
the last year while travelling. 

7. The South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG), of which the local authority is a 
member, has already started to address this issue. SEWSPG consists of 10 local planning 
authorities, plus the Brecon Beacons national park authority.  The Group meets every 2 months 
in order to discuss planning issues that impact on the region.  With the introduction of the 
Planning (Wales) Act in July 2015, changes to regional planning and the creation of a strategic 
planning area are very much on the agenda.  

8. SEWSPG officers have agreed to discuss their respective Gypsy/Traveller Accommodation 
Assessments and consider them in a regional context at future meeting in January 
2016.  Although this is simply an agreement to discuss initial findings, there are clear benefits to 
a regional approach for this type of work as opposed to each authority working in isolation.  

 
Background Papers 
 
1. Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment letters that were sent out to families on the 

Travellers Education database 
2. Interview Log – Record of contact for families on the Travellers Education database 
3. Interview Log – Record of contact with families on the Gypsy and Traveller Wales database residing 

in bricks & mortar and private sites 
4. Interview Log – Record of contact with families on the Gypsy and Traveller Wales database residing 

on the Local Authority sites 

 
  
                                            
 
 
 

Page 410



Appendix 2: Gypsy and Traveller Site Selection Criteria 
 
1. Availability 

• Council owned or landowner (public or private) is willing to sell to Council  
• Site will be available for use as a Gypsy and Traveller site long term (at 

least 21 years) 
• No legal or ownership problems such as: 

i. Multiple ownerships 
ii. Ransom strips 
iii. Tenancies 
iv. Operational requirements  

 
2. Site Suitability 

Policy Constraints 
• Not within an international designation (SPA, SAC, Ramsar) 
• Does not compromise the objectives of nationally or locally 

recognised designations (SSSI, SINC, LNR, RIGS, SLA,, Ancient 
Monuments, Listed Buildings, Conservation Areas, Archaeologically 
Sensitive Areas, Registered Historic Parks and Gardens and locally 
listed buildings).  

Physical Constraints 
• Acceptable and safe access to 

o the road, footpath and public transport network  (in case of 
transit site would need to be the primary highway network) 

o local services and facilities (education, health services, shops, 
employment, leisure, recreation, churches and other religious 
establishments) including consideration of the views of the Gypsy 
and Traveller community. 

o utilities (water, drainage sewerage, waste collection, electricity, 
gas, telecoms, etc.) 

• Air quality and noise levels are acceptable 
• Not in a C2 flood zone or in a C1 flood zone that cannot be mitigated 
• Not located on unstable land 
• Not located on land contamination which cannot be mitigated 
• Not located in close proximity to hazardous installations or water 

bodies such as docks, rivers and  canals unless effective mitigation in 
place 

• Not located on high quality agricultural land (1, 2 3a) 
• Unacceptable impact on landscape, biodiversity or historic 

environment 
• Noise levels are acceptable 
• Can meet other planning requirements 

Page 411



 
3. Achievability 

 
• Physical Constraints identified are capable of being overcome 
• Total cost (including any abnormal costs) does not prejudice the ability of 

the site to be developed. 

Overall assessment 
 
A summary of the suitability of each potential site against each of the criteria will be 
entered into a table together with an overall conclusion for each site. This will allow a 
transparent and considered assessment to take place with an overall conclusion 
stating the preferred option and the reasoning behind it  
 
 

Page 412



My Ref: Scrutiny/Correspondence/Cllr McGarry 

8 January 2016 

Councillors Susan Elsmore & Ramesh Patel 

Cabinet Members 

c/o Room 520 

County Hall 

Cardiff 

CF10 4UW 

Dear Susan and Ramesh 

Community & Adult Services Scrutiny Committee – 6 January 2016 

On behalf of the Members of the Community & Adult Services Scrutiny Committee, I 
would like to thank you and the officers for attending our Committee on 6 January 
2016 for the pre-decision scrutiny of the Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation 
Assessment and Site Assessment Criteria. 

With regard to the Accommodation Assessment, it is pleasing to see the high rate of 
engagement with Gypsies and Travellers in Cardiff resulting in 172 survey forms 
being completed. Members were very interested to read the results of the survey and 
the insights these give and were pleased to hear assurances that the survey met the 
Welsh Government requirements with regards to Gypsy & Traveller Accommodation 
Assessments. However, Members believe the report would benefit from more 
explanation regarding the reasoning used to arrive at some of the figures in the table 
at Point 5.1, specifically those relating to overcrowded pitches and new households 
(page 32 of the Accommodation Assessment report).  

Members therefore recommend that further explanation be provided in the body of 
the report regarding how the number of overcrowded pitches is determined. Page 9 
of the report provides the caravan count figures for authorised local authority sites in 
July 2015. This shows that 130 caravans were on 80 pitches. Members believe it 
would be useful to include further wording to explain why not all of the 50 additional 
caravans on the sites would need to be counted towards an overcrowding figure and 
how the figure of 17 overcrowded pitches was determined. 

Members also recommend that further explanation be provided in the body of the 
report regarding how the number of new households is determined. Members 
recognise that the Welsh Government guidance recommends using 2.25% as the 
anticipated growth rate to project future households; Members can see that this has 
been used to calculate the need for 16 pitches at year 5 and 39 pitches at 2026. 
However, the table at Point 5.1 also includes a figure of 23 new households, which 
has been taken from the table at D3, page 29, over the next five years. Members 
believe it would be helpful to include further wording to explain why both the 23 new 

Appendix 3

Page 413



 

 

households and the 16 new households are being counted towards the total unmet 
need, as the current wording could lead to concerns that there is double counting of 
new households emerging over the next five years. 
 
To assist our understanding of these issues, Members would like to receive 
clarification on the occupation levels allowed on the local authority site pitches and 
the difference between overcrowding and over-occupancy, referred to at the 
meeting.  
 
With regard to transit site provision, Members note that the report (at point 5.2) 
states that there is a clear need for transit provision. Members are grateful for the 
clarification that, following Hearing Session 11, the Planning Inspector required 
assessment of the need for transit sites in Cardiff but that the actual provision to 
meet this need can happen at a regional level. Members note that meetings are 
being held with neighbouring local authorities to discuss a regional response to 
transit site provision. Members are pleased to hear that powers exist to ensure that 
those who use the transit sites move on, in order to ensure that transit sites do not 
become permanent sites by default. However, Members note that the 
Accommodation Assessment does not specify the number of pitches needed for 
transit provision and we are surprised at this, as it should be possible to determine 
the number required from the information available. 
 
With regard to the Site Assessment Criteria, Members note these have been 
updated to take into account good practice from other local authorities, national 
planning guidance and the latest guidance from the Welsh Government relating to 
the design and management of sites. As mentioned at the meeting, Members 
recommend that the wording ‘contaminated land’ be checked, given the previous 
comments of the Planning Inspector at Hearing Session 11 requiring this wording to 
change to ‘land contamination’. Members think this may be due to the sentence 
construction used in the original policy which may not apply in this case but think it 
would be wise to check this, in case the wording would need to change. 
 
Members wish to receive an indication of the weighting that will be applied to the 
various site assessment criteria when determining site suitability. Members also wish 
to receive an explanation of how the views of statutory providers will be included in 
the assessment of sites, for example with regard to acceptable and safe access to 
local services and facilities,. 
 
With regard to the financial aspect of providing new sites, Members note the answer 
provided at the meeting that the costs will be covered 100% by Welsh Government 
grant, with no capital funding required by the Council. 
 
Members note that a further report is scheduled to come to Cabinet in July 2016 with 
details of the site assessment and proposed sites. Members of this Committee would 
like to carry out pre-decision scrutiny of this report and therefore request that officers 
liaise in good time with Scrutiny Services to enable this to happen at our scheduled 
meeting on 6 July 2016. 
 

Page 414



 

 

As raised at the meeting, Members are very interested to know what the process will 
be for consulting with ward councillors and local communities on proposed sites and 
would be grateful to receive details of this in your response to this letter. 
Finally, regarding the Rover Way local authority site, Members understand the 
coastal erosion report has been received and that work is underway to address 
issues raised in the report. Members would be grateful to receive details of the 
issues and actions being taken to address these, in your response to this letter. 
 
 
To summarise, I look forward to hearing back from you on the following: 
 

 Recommendation – to include additional wording to explain the reasoning 

behind concluding there are 17 overcrowded pitches 

 Recommendation – to include additional wording to explain the reasoning 

behind including both 16 new households over the next five years and 23 new 

households over the next five years in the total for unmet need 

 Recommendation – to check use of the wording ‘contaminated land’ in the site 

assessment criteria and whether the Planning Inspector would require this to 

be changed to ‘land contamination’. 

 Request for information – clarification on the occupation levels allowed on the 

local authority site pitches and the difference between overcrowding and over-

occupancy 

 Request for information - indication of the weighting that will be applied to the 
various site assessment criteria when determining site suitability 

 Request for information - an explanation of how the views of statutory 
providers will be included in the assessment of sites. 

 Request for information – details of the consultation process that will be 

followed with ward councillors and local communities regarding proposed 

sites 

 Request for information – details of the issues identified by the Rover Way 

coastal erosion report and the actions being taken to address these. 

 

 

Yours sincerely, 

 

 
COUNTY COUNCILLOR MARY MCGARRY 

Chairperson - Community & Adult Services Scrutiny Committee 

Cc:  Andrew Gregory Sarah McGill Jane Thomas Kate Hustler Ian Ephraim

 Stuart Williams  Heather Warren  Liz Patterson 

Claire Deguara  Matt Swindell 

  

 

Page 415



ATEBWCH I / PLEASE REPLY TO:   Swyddfa Cymorth Y Cabinet / Cabinet Support Office,    
Ystafell / Room 514, Neuadd y Sir / County Hall, 
Glanfa’ r Iwerydd / Atlantic Wharf, Caerdydd / Cardiff, 
CF10 4UW      Ffon / Tel (029) 2087 2479 

 
 
 
 

SWYDDFA CYMORTH Y CABINET 
CABINET SUPPORT OFFICE 
 
Fy Nghyf / My Ref:  CM33202 
Eich Cyf / Your ref:  Scrutiny/Correspondence/ 

Cllr McGarry  
 
Dyddiad / Date:  14 January 2016 
  
 
Councillor Mary McGarry  
Chair, Community & Adult Scrutiny Committee 
Scrutiny Services 
Room 263 
County Hall 
Cardiff  
CF10 4UW 
 
 
Annwyl / Dear Mary 
 
Pre-Decision Scrutiny of the Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation 
Assessment and Site Assessment Criteria 
 
We are writing in response to your letter dated 08 January 2016, concerning the 
above. 
 
Thank you for your comments. We have set out below a response to each of 
your recommendations and requests for information: 
 
Recommendation – to include additional wording to e xplain the reasoning 
behind concluding there are 17 overcrowded pitches 
 
This conclusion takes into account advice contained in paragraphs 194 to 200 of 
Welsh Government guidance on “Undertaking Gypsy and Traveller 
Accommodation Assessments” and is derived from an analysis of the survey 
forms. This guidance states that overcrowding exists where family numbers have 
grown to the extent that there is now insufficient space for the family within its 
mobile home accommodation and insufficient space on the pitch or site for a 
mobile home. Questions B2 and B3 of the survey form address this issue and 
ask respondents whether is there enough sleeping areas for all residents and is 
there room on the pitch to safely station additional trailers to prevent 
overcrowding. Where respondents answered no to both of these questions they 
were included in the 17 overcrowded pitches identified in the assessment. As 
recommended we confirm this explanation will be included in the final 
assessment report. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 416



  

  

Recommendation – to include additional wording to e xplain the reasoning 
behind including both 16 new households over the ne xt five years and 23 
new households over the next five years in the tota l unmet need 
 
These conclusions take into account advice contained in paragraphs 201 to 210 
of Welsh Government guidance on “Undertaking Gypsy and Traveller 
Accommodation Assessments”. The figure of 23 new households over the next 
five years is the current known demand identified through information contained 
in the questionnaire responses, through the waiting list, caravan count and 
partnership working with Local Authorities in the region. The figure of 16 new 
households over the next five years is a calculation as per the Welsh 
Government guideline that assumes a 2.25% rise per year. It is the following 
calculation:  
 

Current Residential Supply  = 92 
Current residential demand  = 48  
Total      = 140 
 
2.25% accumulative rise for 5 years = 11.77% 
 
140 * 11.77% = 156 (an increase of 16) 

 
Given this the figures relate to different sources of growth in this five year period 
and as set out in Welsh Government guidance it is appropriate to include them 
both within that period. As recommended we confirm this explanation will be 
included in the final assessment report. 
 
Recommendation – to check use of wording ‘contamina ted land’ in the site 
assessment criteria and whether the Planning Inspec tor would require this 
to be changed to ‘land contamination’ 
 
In order to accord with the LDP Inspectors recommendation we confirm that the 
wording in the site assessment criteria will be changed from ‘contaminated land’ 
to ‘land contamination’ as recommended. 
 
Request for information – clarification on the occu pation levels allowed on 
the local authority site pitches and the difference  between overcrowding 
and over occupancy 
 
The methodology for calculating overcrowding on pitches is set out in our 
response to the first recommendation above and we confirm this explanation will 
be included in the assessment report. For the purposes of the assessment over 
occupancy relates more to the number of vehicles on the pitch which can be 
safely accommodated as some pitches are big enough for more than one 
caravan and some are not, whereas overcrowding relates to the bed spaces 
within the pitch. 
 
Request of information – indication of the weightin g that will be applied to 
the various site assessment criteria when determini ng site suitability 
 
In terms of weightings we consider that it is better to look at the findings of the 
assessment in the round rather than saying some criteria are more important 
than others. In this respect it is important to note that Welsh Government do not 
suggest weightings in their guidance and such weightings could also lead to the 
methodology being challenged. Page 417



  

  

Request for information – an explanation of how the  views of statutory 
providers will be included in the assessment of sit es 
 
The assessment process over the next 6 months will be guided by a Steering 
Group which will include representatives from education and health and their 
input will be sought when assessing the sites and making appropriate 
recommendations to Cabinet. 
 
Request for information – details of the consultati on process that will be 
followed with ward councillors and local communitie s regarding proposed 
sites 
 
As set out at the meeting in the first instance the findings and recommendations 
of the assessment process will need to be considered by Cabinet in July 2016. 
Prior to Cabinet local ward Councillors will be consulted on the contents of the 
report. Formal consultations as part of the planning application process will 
include local communities with the precise details to be confirmed as part of the 
cabinet process in July. 
 
Request for information – details of the issues ide ntified by the Rover Way 
coastal erosion report and the actions being taken to address these . 
 
The issue of coastal erosion and the Rover Way site is recognised. In order to 
identify appropriate coastal defence solutions for the wider Pengam Green area 
the Council is undertaking a feasibility study of the coastal defences along the 
Pengam Green stretch of the coastline which includes the Rover Way site. It is 
anticipated that this report will take 18 months to complete and when complete 
the Council will need to review how the findings affect the existing Rover Way 
site  
 
I trust this information is of assistance. 
 
Yn gwyir, 
Yours sincerely, 
 

 
 
Councillor / Y Cynghorydd Susan Elsmore 
Cabinet Member for Health, Housing & Wellbeing  
Aelod Cabinet dros Iechyd, Tai a Lles 
 

 
Councillor / Y Cynghorydd Ramesh Patel  
Cabinet Member for Transport, Planning & Sustainability  
Aelod Cabinet dros Drafnidiaeth, Cynllunio a Chynaladwyedd 
 
cc.  Andrew Gregory Sarah McGill  Jane Thomas  Ian Ephraim 
 Stuart Williams  Heather Warren  Liz Patterson  

Claire Deguara  Matt Swindell 
 Page 418



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
Appendix 4: Equality Impact Assessment  

Corporate Assessment Template 
 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 1 
 

Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function Title:  
Gypsy & Traveller Accommodation Assessment 
New/Existing/Updating/Amending: New 
 

Who is responsible for developing and implementing the Project? 
Name: Sarah McGill  Job Title: Director for Communities, Housing 

& Customer Services 
Service Team: Policy & Development Service Area: Communities - HANR 
Assessment Date:  1st September 2015 
 

1. What are the objectives of the Project? 
 

To carry out a Gypsy & Traveller Accommodation Assessment in accordance with the Welsh 
Government guidance document Undertaking Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation 
Assessments (May 2015). 
 
To maximise the participation level of the study to ensure that it provides a comprehensive 
appraisal of the level of need in Cardiff. This will be achieved by commissioning Gypsy & 
Traveller Wales to make contact and carry out the interviews. In addition to known households 
on Council and private sites, this will include the use of their database to identify all those that 
have accessed their service within the last 2 years so indicating possible housing need (which 
will reach many more people than would be likely by using an external consultant). A steering 
group will also be set up with representation from Travellers Education, Communities First, 
Save the Children, Gypsy & Traveller Wales and Community Cohesion providing increased 
opportunity to engage with the community. The interview period will run from 1st September 
2015 to 4th December 2015 and will include the opportunity to participate for all unauthorised 
encampments during that period. The Research Unit will then collate the results and produce a 
final report by 18th December 2015. 
 
To evaluate the outcome against the previous study carried out in 2013, which informed the 
current Local Development Plan. 
 
To encourage all those who aspire to have a pitch on a Council site to submit applications so 
the planned growth of available pitches can be assessed and allocated on housing need. 
 

2. Please provide background information on the Policy / Strategy / Project / 
Procedure / Service / Function and any research done [e.g. service users 
data against demographic statistics, similar EIAs done etc.] 

 
Part 3 of the Housing Act (Wales) 2014 places a duty on the Local Authority to undertake, in each 
5 year review period, an assessment of the accommodation needs of Gypsies and Travellers 
residing in or resorting to its area. The current review must be submitted to Welsh Government 
for ministerial approval in February 2016. 
 
The Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment commissioned in 2013 found a need for 
108 additional permanent pitches (43 short / medium term, 65 medium / long term) and a 10 
pitch transit site in Cardiff. A time table to meet this need forms part of the current Local 
Development Plan. This new assessment will determine if this target is still valid. 
 

 

Page 419



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
Appendix 4: Equality Impact Assessment  

Corporate Assessment Template 
 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 2 
 

3 Assess Impact on the Protected Characteristics 
 

3.1 Age  
Will this Policy / Strategy / Project / Procedure / Service / Function have a 
differential impact [positive / negative] on younger / older people?  
 

                                                                                                        Yes No N/A 
Up to 18 years    
18 - 65 years    
Over 65 years     
 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any.  
Applications for a permanent pitch are considered from any person aged 16 or over. The 
application method for all ages is the same and support is available for any person requiring 
support or assistance with their application. Vacant pitches are offered to the person who is 
highest on the Waiting List for whom it is suitable. 
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 
The survey will incorporate all identified households from the Council’s sites and those on the 
waiting lists, all those that have sought advice from the Gypsy & Traveller Wales database over 
the last 2 years, the Travellers Education database and direct contact with members of the 
community through Communities First and Save the Children. The final report will include the 
immediate and future accommodation needs of the Gypsy & Traveller community.  
 
3.2 Disability 
Will this Policy / Strategy / Project / Procedure / Service / Function have a 
differential impact [negative] on disabled people?  
 

 Yes No N/A 
Hearing Impairment     
Physical Impairment    
Visual Impairment    
Learning Disability    
Long-Standing Illness or Health Condition    
Mental Health     
Substance Misuse    
Other (Literacy)    
 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 
Levels of literacy are a known issue within the Gypsy & Traveller population. The study must 
take this into account because it is imperative that Gypsy & Travellers are aware of the study 
and that their participation will determine the number of extra pitches that Cardiff will aim to 
deliver. All contact and interviews will be carried out by people already working directly with 
the community. 
 

Page 420



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
Appendix 4: Equality Impact Assessment  

Corporate Assessment Template 
 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 3 
 

 
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 
The invitation to take part in the study will use easy-to-read letters, telephone contact, direct 
contact and the use of word of mouth to inform family members / associates who may not be 
known to services. 
 
The interviews will be carried out at the home or at another agreed location for those wishing 
to take part. Arrangements will be put in place if anyone requires specific provision due to 
impairment, disability and / or health issues. Advocates may also be present during meetings. 
 
3.3 Gender Reassignment 
Will this Policy / Strategy / Project / Procedure / Service / Function have a 
differential impact [positive] on transgender people?  
 
 Yes No N/A 
Transgender People 
(People who are proposing to undergo, are undergoing, or have 
undergone a process [or part of a process] to reassign their sex 
by changing physiological or other attributes of sex) 

  

 

 
Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 
Information regarding gender re-assignment is collected via the Equal Opportunities 
Monitoring section of the Housing Application Form though this section is not obligatory. 
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 
Any specific requirement / request by a transgender person will be noted and taken into 
account during the process.   
 
3.4.  Marriage and Civil Partnership 
Will this Policy / Strategy / Project / Procedure / Service / Function have a 
differential impact [positive / negative] on marriage and civil partnership? 
 
 Yes No N/A 
Marriage    
Civil Partnership    
 
Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 
Information regarding marital status / civil partnership is collected via the Equal Opportunities 
Monitoring section of the Housing Application Form though this section is not obligatory. 
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 
Applications to join the Waiting List are not influenced by marital / civil partnership status and 
so all identified households will be able to take part in the study. This includes overcrowding on 
the current sites where each household on the pitch will be able to access a separate 
assessment. 
 

Page 421



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
Appendix 4: Equality Impact Assessment  

Corporate Assessment Template 
 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 4 
 

3.5 Pregnancy and Maternity 
Will this Policy /Strategy / Project / Procedure / Service / Function have a differential 
impact [positive / negative] on pregnancy and maternity?  
 
 Yes No N/A 
Pregnancy    
Maternity    

 
Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 
Where an applicant or their partner is expecting a child, this needs to be included in household 
make-up for the purpose of the determination of future accommodation needs. 
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 
If a participant or their partner is expecting a child, that child will be included as a member of 
the household. 
 
3.6 Race 
Will this Policy / Strategy / Project / Procedure / Service / Function have a 
differential impact [positive / negative] on the following groups?  
 
 Yes No N/A 
White    
Mixed / Multiple Ethnic Groups    
Asian / Asian British    
Black / African / Caribbean / Black British    
Other Ethnic Groups    

 
Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 
Information regarding race is collected via the Equal Opportunities Monitoring section of the 
Housing Application Form. 
 

Pitches on the 2 Council-run Gypsy & Traveller sites in Cardiff are allocated under its own 
Allocation Scheme. Gypsies & Travellers may also apply for mainstream housing under the 
General Housing Allocation Scheme and are treated equally with other applicants. 
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 
All applicants known to identify as Gypsy Traveller (on the databases already stated) will be 
invited to take part in the assessment. In addition, a Welsh Government advert was placed in a 
number of publications to invite people to contact them if they wished to participate in their 
local assessment which would then be passed on to the relevant Local Authority). Policies are 
in place to allow families to be located together within sites which would be applied to any 
new site. Participants will be made aware of this. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 422



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
Appendix 4: Equality Impact Assessment  

Corporate Assessment Template 
 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 5 
 

 
 
 
3.7 Religion, Belief or Non-Belief  
Will this Policy / Strategy / Project / Procedure / Service / Function have a 
differential impact [negative] on people with different religions, beliefs or non-
beliefs?  
 
 Yes No N/A 
Buddhist    
Christian    
Hindu    
Humanist    
Jewish    
Muslim    
Sikh    
Other    
 
Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 
This information is collected via the Equal Opportunities Monitoring section of the Housing 
Application Form though it is not obligatory.  
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 
Applications will not be determined on this information and it will not impact on those wishing 
to take part in the survey. 
 
3.8 Sex 
Will this Policy / Strategy / Project / Procedure / Service / Function have a 
differential impact [positive / negative] on men and/or women?  
 
 Yes No N/A 
Men    
Women    
 
Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 
Housing applications are assessed on the basis of housing need, regardless of gender. Similarly 
gender does not influence the allocation of pitches. Pitches are allocated based on need, which 
includes the number of couples, other adults and children in the household.  
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 
The survey will include an approach to all identified households and participation invited from 
any or all adult/s within the family make-up. 
 
 
 

Page 423



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
Appendix 4: Equality Impact Assessment  

Corporate Assessment Template 
 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 6 
 

3.9 Sexual Orientation 
Will this Policy / Strategy / Project / Procedure / Service / Function have a 
differential impact [positive] on the following groups?  
 
 Yes No N/A 
Bisexual     
Gay Men    
Gay Women/Lesbians    
Heterosexual/Straight    
 
Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 
Information regarding sexual orientation is collected via the Equal Opportunities Monitoring 
section of the Housing Application Form though the section is not obligatory.  
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 
Participation will be invited from all those included on the databases already 
mentioned which will incorporate all those accessing services.  
 
3.10  Welsh Language 
Will this Policy / Strategy / Project / Procedure / Service / Function have a 
differential impact [positive / negative] on Welsh Language?  
 
 Yes No N/A 
Welsh Language    
 
Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 
In accordance with the Welsh Language Measure 2011, some people will prefer to make their 
application in the Welsh language, and to receive subsequent communication in Welsh. 
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 
The Council will ensure that statutory requirements are met. Gypsy & Traveller Wales who are 
conducting the interviews have arrangements in place for communicating in Welsh.  
 
4. Consultation and Engagement 
What arrangements have been made to consult/engage with the various Equalities 
Groups? 
 

A steering group is in place comprising of representation from the Council, Gypsy & Traveller 
Wales, Travellers Education, Communities First, Community Cohesion, Save the Children and 
South Wales Police Community Engagement. 
 
The survey aims to communicate with all known community members in Cardiff through use of 
extensive lists of those in contact with services and a wider advert to any other people wishing 
to take part. 
 
Cardiff will be meeting with all members of the South East Wales regional Planning Group to 
discuss a regional approach to transit provision. 

Page 424



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
Appendix 4: Equality Impact Assessment  

Corporate Assessment Template 
 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 7 
 

 
 
 

5. Summary of Actions [Listed in the Sections above] 
 

Groups  Actions 
Age None – Action has already been taken. 
Disability None – Action has already been taken. 
Gender Reassignment None – Action has already been taken. 
Marriage & Civil Partnership None – Action has already been taken. 
Pregnancy & Maternity None – Action has already been taken. 
Race None – Action has already been taken. 
Religion/Belief None – Action has already been taken. 
Sex None – Action has already been taken. 
Sexual Orientation None – Action has already been taken. 
Welsh Language None – Action has already been taken. 
Generic Over-Arching [applicable to 
all the above groups] 

Participation will be invited from all persons known 
to services and appropriate assistance will be given 
to anyone with specific needs. Meetings can take 
place at the home of the participants or at another 
agreed location. Support Workers and other 
professionals can be involved in the process where 
necessary or desired.  

 

6. Further Action 
Any recommendations for action that you plan to take as a result of this Equality 
Impact Assessment (listed in Summary of Actions) should be included as part of your 
Service Area’s Business Plan to be monitored on a regular basis.  
 
7.       Authorisation 
The Template should be completed by the Lead Officer of the identified 
Policy/Strategy/Project/Function and approved by the appropriate Manager in each 
Service Area. 
 
Completed By : Ian Ephraim Date: 01/09/15 
Designation: Supported Accommodation and Outreach Manager  
Approved By:    Sarah McGill  
Designation:     Director of Communities, Housing and Customer  
                            Services 

 

Service Area:     Communities  
 
7.1 On completion of this Assessment, please ensure that the Form is posted on 

your Directorate’s Page on CIS - Council Wide/Management Systems/Equality 
Impact Assessments - so that there is a record of all assessments undertaken 
in the Council.   

For further information or assistance, please contact the Citizen Focus Team on 029 
2087 3059 or email citizenfocus@cardiff.gov.uk 

Page 425

mailto:citizenfocus@cardiff.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 6 

CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL  
CYNGOR DINAS CAERDYDD 
 
CABINET MEETING: 21 JANUARY 2016 

 
 
ADOPTION OF THE CARDIFF LOCAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
 
REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF CITY OPERATIONS 
 

AGENDA ITEM: 10  
 
  
PORTFOLIO: TRANSPORT, PLANNING AND SUSTAINABILITY  
(COUNCILLOR RAMESH PATEL) 
 
Reason for this Report 
 
1. To seek the Council’s approval to: 

 
• Adopt the Local Development Plan (LDP) and to endorse the 

Inspector’s Report, Adoption Statement, Final Sustainability 
Appraisal Report and Habitats Regulation Assessment; and 

• Endorse the preparation of a programme of Supplementary Planning 
Guidance (SPG) over the next 18 months to amplify policies in the 
LDP.   

 
Background 
 
2. This report represents the culmination of over 9 years work in seeking to 

secure an adopted LDP for Cardiff. As the Council has now recently 
received the Inspectors Report, it has a duty to adopt the LDP within 8 
weeks of receipt. The Inspectors Report is binding so there is no 
opportunity to request changes at this stage. 
  

3. The first attempt at preparing a new LDP resulted in the Plan being 
withdrawn by the previous administration in 2010 following significant 
concerns raised by the Inspectors. Work commenced on the current Plan 
in 2010 and has followed a complex statutory process to reach the 
current position. 
 

4. As existing Development Plans are out of date, it is crucial that a new 
Plan is adopted in order to provide an up to date framework which gives 
the certainty to effectively guide future development. This also fulfils the 
Council’s duties under the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
(2004) to prepare and keep under review a LDP for its area. 
 

5. The LDP, once adopted, will be used by the Council to guide and 
manage development, providing a basis by which planning applications 

 

Page 427

Agenda Item 10



Page 2 of 6 

will be determined and will supersede the existing adopted development 
plan framework for Cardiff comprising the Cardiff Deposit Unitary 
Development Plan (2003),  South Glamorgan (Cardiff Area) Replacement 
Structure Plan, Mid Glamorgan County Structure Plan, South Glamorgan 
(Cardiff Area) Minerals Local Plan and City of Cardiff Local Plan. 
 

6. In the course of preparation, the LDP has progressed through the 
following stages: 
 
• Delivery Agreement Consultation (June/July 2010) 
• Call for candidate sites (October/December 2010) 
• Vision and Objectives Consultation (November/December 2010) 
• Strategic Options and Sites Consultation (May/June 2011) 
• Preferred Strategy Consultation (October/November 2012) 
• Masterplanning Consultation (March 2013) 
• Deposit Plan Consultation (October/November 2013) 
• Alternative Sites Consultation (February/March 2014) 
• Submission to Welsh Government (August 2014) 
• Examination by Independent Inspectors (August 2014 to November 

2015) 
• Inspectors Report (December 2015) 

 
Examination 
 
7. In order to determine whether the Plan satisfied the tests of soundness 

contained in national policy, the Deposit LDP, Sustainability Appraisal 
(SA) and Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA) were submitted to the 
Welsh Government and in turn the Planning Inspectorate for examination 
on 14th August 2014. 
 

8. Two Inspectors were appointed by Welsh Government Ministers to 
examine the soundness of the Plan: Mrs Rebecca Phillips BA (Hons) 
MSc DipM MCIM MRTPI as lead Planning Inspector and Mr Richard 
Jenkins BA (Hons) MSc MRTPI as assistant Planning Inspector.  
 

9. The Pre-hearing meeting was held on 4th December 2014 and the first 
round of 19 hearing sessions commenced on 13th January 2015 covering 
a wide range of topics relating to all aspects of the Plan. 
 

10. Following the final first round of examination sessions, the Council 
published for public consultation a Schedule of Matters Arising Changes 
(MACs).  These changes sought to ensure the Plan met the “tests of 
soundness” and responded to the need to comply with national policy 
and primary legislation. They also addressed action points raised by the 
Inspectors, policy matters emerging post LDP submission and, where 
appropriate, to respond to representations submitted in respect of the 
Plan. 
 

11. The MACs were published for formal consultation between the 11th June 
and 23rd July 2015 with some 74 duly made responses received. All 
responses received were (in accordance with procedural requirements) 
forwarded to the Inspectors for consideration. Following consideration of 

Page 428



Page 3 of 6 

these responses the Inspectors held a second round of 7 hearing 
sessions on 28th and 29th September, 2015 covering focused topics 
including the Green Belt, minerals, transport/infrastructure and 
monitoring arrangements.  

 
12. Following this second round of examination sessions, the Council 

published for public consultation an additional Schedule of Matters 
Arising Changes between 15th October and 26th November 2015 with 
some 49 duly made responses received. Again, all responses received 
were forwarded to the Inspectors for consideration in the formulation of 
the Inspectors Report.  
  

Inspector’s Report  
 
13. The Council received the Inspector’s Report on 5 January 2016. The 

LDP Regulations place the Council under a duty to adopt the Plan within 
8 weeks of receipt of the Inspectors Report.  
 

14. In accordance with Regulations, the Inspector’s Report has been placed 
in the public domain with participants, consultees, and other interested 
parties involved in the LDP process informed accordingly. The 
Inspector’s Report is available for inspection at County Hall, all local 
libraries and is available on the Council’s website. 
 

15. The Report concludes that, subject to the recommended changes, the 
Cardiff LDP 2006 to 2026 satisfies the requirements of section 64(5) of 
the 2004 Act and meets the procedural, consistency, and coherence and 
effectiveness tests of soundness contained in LDP Wales: Policy on 
Preparation of LDPs. The Inspectors consider that the Council has 
sufficient evidence to support the LDP Strategy and has shown that is 
has a realistic prospect of being delivered. 
 

16. The Inspectors Report is contained with Appendix 1 of this report and 
contains a number of recommended binding changes in order to meet 
legal and statutory requirements and ensure the Plan to meets the Tests 
of Soundness. A summary of the Report is contained in Appendix 2. 
 

17. A tracked changes version and composite version of the LDP, 
incorporating the changes recommended and endorsed by the 
Inspectors, is attached as Appendix 4 and 5 to this report. These also 
include the consequential changes required in terms of policy and 
paragraph numbering. 
 

18. As highlighted above, the Council is required by statutory regulations to 
adopt the LDP, as amended by the Inspectors binding report, by a 
resolution of Council. This must be carried out within 8 weeks of receipt 
of the final Inspector’s Report (which was received on 5 January 2016. 
The LDP will become operative on the date it is adopted by the Council. 
Should the Council not agree to adopt the LDP, the Welsh Government 
does have the power to intervene and approve the LDP on the Council’s 
behalf.  
 

Page 429



Page 4 of 6 

19. In accordance with the LDP Regulations, when a Local Planning 
Authority adopts its LDP, it is required to produce and publish an 
Adoption Statement which also incorporates a statement relating to 
Sustainability Appraisal and Strategic Environmental Assessment 
(SA/SEA). This document is attached as Appendix 3 to this report. 
 

20. The final SA/SEA and Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) are also 
required to be published alongside the Adopted LDP. The final SA/SEA 
and HRA Reports have been updated to take account of the Inspector’s 
recommended changes and are attached as Appendix 6 and 7 to this 
report.  

 
Next Steps  
 
21. Subject to a resolution from Council to formally adopt the LDP, and in 

accordance with the LDP Regulations, notification of the Adopted LDP 
and its supporting documentation will be published by means of a 
statutory notice and advertisement in the local press. Notification and/or 
documentation will also be sent to interested parties, stakeholders and 
consultees who have been involved in, or requested to be kept informed 
of the plan preparation process. The Adopted LDP and supporting 
documentation will also be made available at the County Hall, all public 
libraries and on the Council’s website. The Plan is then subject to a six-
week challenge period to the High Court provided by section 113 of the 
2004 Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act. 
 

22. Upon adoption, the LDP will become the statutory development plan for 
Cardiff at which time all existing adopted development plans will be 
cancelled. 
 

23. Member briefings will be arranged following Council to outline the main 
policies and provisions of the LDP. 
 

24. The Council has a number of Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPGs) 
which were prepared to supplement the policies contained in previous 
adopted plans listed in paragraph 5. In order to ensure conformity with 
LDP policies, a review of these will be carried out as soon as is 
practicable following adoption of the LDP to assess which of these can 
continue be used in development management decisions pending  
preparation of new SPG to supplement the LDP. A programme of SPG to 
support and amplify the policies in the LDP will also be produced over the 
next 18 months, All SPG will be subject to Council approval and a full 
schedule of SPG, together with an indicative timetable for their 
production, is set out in Appendix 8 of this report. Additional SPGs will 
also be prepared as and when required following adoption of the LDP. 

 
LDP Monitoring and Implementation  
 
25. Following adoption, the Council has a statutory requirement to prepare 

and submit an Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) on the LDP to the Welsh 
Government. The AMR will examine whether the LDP’s policies are 
being properly implemented, land-use allocation are being delivered and 

Page 430



Page 5 of 6 

whether any policies need to be reviewed. The AMR was developed 
during the examination process and contains over 100 indicators which 
must be formally reported on each autumn, with the first Report due in 
October 2017. The Council will also be required to undertake a full review 
of the LDP 4 years after adoption.  

 
Reason for Recommendations 
 
26. In accordance with Regulations, to seek the Council’s approval to adopt 

the Local Development Plan (LDP) and to endorse the Inspector’s 
Report, Adoption Statement, Final Sustainability Appraisal Report and 
Habitats Regulation Assessment and to endorse the preparation of a 
programme of Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) over the next 18 
months to amplify policies in the LDP. 

 
Financial Implications 
 
27. The costs associated with adopting the Cardiff Local Development Plan 

and undertaking the next steps i.e. carrying out a public consultation and 
preparing a programme of Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG), 
can be met from within existing resources allocated for this purpose.         
 

Legal Implications  
 
28. The Council has a statutory duty under the Planning and Compulsory 

Purchase Act 2004 to prepare and keep under review a Local 
Development Plan for its area, to provide the key policy framework for 
the determination of future planning applications and the provision of 
sustainable development.  
 

29. The Council has now received the Inspectors Report which has 
concluded that, subject to a number of recommended binding changes in 
order to meet legal and statutory requirements, the Cardiff Local 
Development Plan 2006 to 2026 (LDP) is sound and deliverable.  In 
accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Local Development 
Plan) (Wales) Regulations 2005, the Council is now required to adopt the 
LDP as amended by the Inspector’s binding report by resolution of the 
Council within 8 weeks of receipt of the Inspectors report.   If the Council 
failed to adopt the LDP at this stage, then it would be difficult to control 
future development and there would also be a risk of the Welsh 
Government intervening and approving the LDP on the Council’s behalf.  
 

30. In accordance with the above regulations when the Council adopts it LDP 
it is required to prepare and publish an Adoption Statement and to make 
this available together with the Inspectors Report, the Adopted LDP, 
Final Sustainability Appraisal Report and Habitats Regulation 
Assessment. Notification and/or documentation will also be sent to 
interested parties, and made available as detailed in paragraph 21 above 
 

31. An Equality Impact Assessment Screening on the LDP has been 
undertaken and is available as a separate document on the Council’s 
website at the following link:  

Page 431



Page 6 of 6 

 
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/resident/Planning/Local-Development-
Plan/Documents/Equality%20Impact%20Assessment.pdf 

 
32. Whilst the final version of the Plan has sought to pick up all the agreed 

Matters Arising Changes (MACS) and recommended Inspectors Matter 
Arising Changes (IMACs), there may be some outstanding typographical 
or factual errors  such as altered policy cross-references and paragraph 
numbering which are identified during the final publication of the 
document . It is therefore recommended that officers be authorised to 
correct these. 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Cabinet is recommended to recommend that: 
 
1. Council adopt the Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006 to 2026 and 

endorse the Inspectors Report, Adoption Statement, Final Sustainability 
Appraisal Report and Habitats Regulation Assessment 

 
2. Council endorse the preparation of the programme of Supplementary 

Planning Guidance (SPG) as set out in Appendix 8 and authorise the 
Director of City Operations to issue SPG for public consultation prior to it 
being considered by Cabinet and Council for final approval.     
 

3. The Director of City Operations be authorised to correct any 
typographical and factual errors together with any other necessary 
presentational matters and consequential changes prior to the final 
publication of the Cardiff Local Development Plan. 
 

 
ANDREW GREGORY 
Director 
15 January 2016 
 
The following appendices are attached: 
 
Appendix 1- Inspector’s Report  
Appendix 2 -Summary of Inspectors Report 
Appendix 3 - The Adoption Statement 
Appendix 4 - Tracked Changes Version of LDP (showing changes to Deposit 

LDP) (available in hard copy on request) 
Appendix 5 - Clean Version of LDP to be adopted 
Appendix 6 - The Final Sustainability Appraisal Report 

The Final Sustainability Appraisal Non Technical Summary 
The Final Sustainability Appraisal Appendix G 
The Final Sustainability Appraisal New Appendix I 

Appendix 7 -The Habitats Regulation Assessment  
Appendix 8 - Programme of SPG 
 

Page 432

https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/resident/Planning/Local-Development-Plan/Documents/Equality%20Impact%20Assessment.pdf
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/resident/Planning/Local-Development-Plan/Documents/Equality%20Impact%20Assessment.pdf


Plan submitted for examination on 14th August 2014 

Examination Hearings held between 13th January and 27th February 2015 
and on 28th and 29th September 2015 

Cyf ffeil/File ref: LDP/Z6815/14/515993 

www.planninginspectorate.gov.wales 

Adroddiad i Gyngor Dinas 

Caerdydd 

Report to Cardiff City 

Council 

gan; 

Rebecca Phillips BA (Hons) MSc DipM 

MRTPI MCIM    

Richard Jenkins BA (Hons) MSc MRTPI 

by; 

Rebecca Phillips BA (Hons) MSc DipM 

MRTPI MCIM    

Richard Jenkins BA (Hons) MSc MRTPI 

Arolygyddion a benodir gan Weinidogion 

Cymru

Inspectors appointed by the Welsh Ministers 

Dyddiad: 05/01/2016 Date: 05/01/2016 

PLANNING AND COMPULSORY PURCHASE ACT 2004 (AS AMENDED) 

SECTION 64 

REPORT ON THE EXAMINATION INTO THE 
CARDIFF LOCAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN      

2006 - 2026

Appendix 1

Page 433



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

1 

Non-Technical Summary 

This report concludes that, subject to the recommended Matters Arising Changes 

(MACs) set out in Appendices A and B, the Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006 - 
2026 (LDP) provides an appropriate basis for the planning of the City up to 2026.  

The Council has sufficient evidence to support the strategy and has shown that it has 
a realistic prospect of being delivered.  A number of changes are needed to meet legal 
and statutory requirements and to ensure that the Plan is sound. These do not alter 

the thrust of the Council’s overall strategy and do not undermine the Sustainability 
Appraisal carried out by the Council. The main changes are summarised as: 

 Revised housing requirement to reflect consideration of Welsh Government (WG) 
2011-based population and household projections and inclusion of the flexibility 
allowance figure within the overall housing target; 

 Improved clarity on how and when the required housing – together with any 
required flexibility allowance - will come forward; 

 Extend non-strategic housing allocation H1.3 and delete non-strategic health 
employment site;  

 Delete the Gypsy & Traveller allocation and include a timetable to identify and 

deliver a new site or sites within the Plan and the monitoring framework;  
 Provide new policies for each of the strategic sites to include infrastructure 

requirements and master planning principles; 
 Set out the affordable housing requirement in the Plan including the tenure mix; 
 Clarify that affordable housing provision should be provided on site unless there 

are exceptional circumstances; 
 Provide more clarity on the timing and phasing of infrastructure for the strategic 

sites by including categories of infrastructure in the policies and more detail in the 
Infrastructure Plan;        

 State that planning obligations will be sought where they satisfy WG Circular 
13/97 and the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulation 122(2); 

 Improved clarity that development will need to show that it has maximised 

achievement towards the 50:50 modal transport split target; 
 Provide more details of the bus corridor enhancements and rapid transit corridors 

in the Plan and greater clarity about the distinction between them;  
 Provide a new policy for the planned Metro to ensure development won’t prejudice 

this regionally important project by safeguarding land where routes are known; 

 Include a new policy setting out criteria for employment proposals to come 
forward on unallocated land; 

 Inclusion of the hierarchy of retail centres in the Plan;   
 Change the Green Belt designation to Green Wedge; 
 Include a statement in the Plan of how the needs and interests of the Welsh 

language have been taken into account; 
 Changes to settlement boundaries to more closely follow defined physical features; 

 Changes to Minerals policies including a new comprehensive policy relating to 
mineral safeguarding; 

 Deletion of the site proposed to be allocated for Waste; 

 Changes to policy wording to reflect national planning policy more closely and 
ensure their effectiveness; and  

 Changes to the monitoring framework developing the targets and indictors in more 
detail to improve monitoring.  

Almost all of the recommended changes have been put forward by the Council in 

response to matters discussed during the examination.  With the recommended 
changes the Plan satisfies the requirements of section 64(5) of the 2004 Act and 

meets the tests of soundness.  

Page 434



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

2 

 
 

 
 

Contents 

 
 

1 Introduction 3 

2 Procedural Tests 5 

3 The Overall Plan Strategy 6 

4 Housing Provision, including Allocated Housing Sites 13 

5 Affordable Housing Provision 24 

6 Gypsy & Traveller Sites 28 

7 Sustainable Transport and Infrastructure 30 

8 The Economy & Employment, including Retail 38 

9 Settlement Boundaries and Green Belt 49 

10 Natural Environment, Natural Resources & Green Infrastructure 52 

11 Historic Heritage 54 

12 Minerals 55 

13 Waste 58 

14 Other Development Management & Policy Considerations 60 

15 Plan Monitoring, Implementation & Review 62 

16 Overall Conclusions 63 

 
Appendix A: The Council’s proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix B: Inspector Matters Arising Changes  

  

Page 435



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

3 

1   Introduction 
 

1.1. Under the terms of Section 64(5) of the Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004, the purpose of the independent examination of a Local Development Plan 
is to determine: 

 
a) whether it satisfies the requirements of sections 62 and 63 of the Act and of 

regulations under section 77, and 
b) whether it is sound. 

 

1.2. This report contains the assessment of the Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006 
- 2026 (from here referred to as “the LDP” or “the Plan”) in terms of the above 

matters, along with recommendations and the reasons for them, as required by 
section 64(7) of the Act.  The submitted LDP has been prepared pursuant to the 

Act and the Town and Country Planning (Local Development Plan) (Wales) 
Regulations 2005.  The Town and Country Planning (Local Development Plan) 
(Wales) (Amendment) Regulations 2015 came into force in August 2015.  These 

amend the 2005 regulations and, as the changes relate primarily to plan 
revision procedures and the alternative sites stage, they have no bearing on 

this examination.   
 
1.3. Chapter 2 of Planning Policy Wales (PPW) has been updated in the light of the 

new regulations and a new LDP Manual has been published.  The new Manual 
includes revised soundness tests, which have been reduced from ten to three 

although the principles underpinning them remain the same.  The LDP has been 
prepared on the basis of the previous tests, but as the principles remain 
unchanged, there was no need to seek views from the participants on the 

impact of the new tests on the soundness of the Plan.  Subject to the changes 
set out in the Appendices, we are satisfied that the LDP accords with national 

policy.           
  
1.4. Since the purpose of the examination is to determine whether the Plan is sound 

we recommend changes in this report only where there is a clear need to 
amend the Plan in the light of the legal requirements and/or the tests of 

soundness.   These binding changes are numbered in bold and are highlighted 
in Appendices A and B of this report, where they are highlighted.  We are 
satisfied that these changes are in line with the substance of the overall Plan 

and its policies, and do not undermine the Sustainability Appraisal (SA) and 
participatory processes that have been undertaken. 

 
1.5. All duly made representations and the matters raised at the examination 

Hearings have been considered.  Given the focus of the examination on 

soundness, our report does not refer specifically to the individual 
representations made in each case.  Matters raised by individual 

representations are referred to only where it is considered that they raise 
substantive issues concerning the Plan’s soundness.  Plan changes sought by 
any representor are the subject of a recommended change only where we have 

found, on the basis of the evidence, that such a change is required to make the 
Plan sound.  

 
 

 
 

Page 436



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

4 

Post-Deposit Changes  
 

1.6. Prior to submission of the LDP for examination the Council considered the 
representations received and determined that no substantive changes to the 
deposit Plan were required.  It did, however, identify minor changes which it 

wished to make to the deposit Plan.  We have reviewed these minor changes 
and are satisfied that none would alter the Plan in any substantive manner and 

that they are not related to soundness.  It is for the Council to determine 
whether or not to incorporate these changes into the final version of the Plan.  
This report does not consider these minor changes.  

 
Recommended Changes 

 
1.7. The Council has prepared a range of Matters Arising Changes (MACs) following 

the discussions at the Hearing sessions1.  These MACs were subject to public 

consultation for a period of 6 weeks and publicised on the examination website.  
At the same time the Council reassessed the SA of the Plan in the light of the 

changes.  We considered the consultation responses and held additional 
Hearings where we required further information or clarity in respect of some 
aspects of the Plan and the MACs.  Further consequential amendments were 

considered necessary and the Council carried out SA2 and a further 6 week 
consultation on the additional MACs3.  We have taken into account all the 

representations made in coming to our conclusions in this report. 
 
1.8. Almost all of the MACs put forward by the Council are needed as the Plan would 

be unsound without them.  However, in a small minority of cases MACs have 
been put forward which, although providing helpful additional clarity and 

precision, are not strictly required to make the Plan sound.  Accordingly these 
are not the subject of a binding recommendation, although we understand the 
Council’s wish to incorporate them.  The MACs numbered in bold type in this 

report and highlighted in Appendix A are changes put forward that are required 
to make the Plan sound.  These are all addressed in this report, where the 

relevant MAC number is similarly identified in bold type.   
 

1.9. Appendix B sets out the additional changes (Inspector Matters Arising Changes) 
(IMACs) not proposed by the Council, but which we have concluded on the 
evidence are also needed to make the Plan sound.  None of the changes 

undermine the SA, Strategic Environment Assessment (SEA) and Habitats 
Regulations Assessment (HRA) or the overall strategy or policy thrust within the 

Plan.   
 

1.10. The Council has also identified some outstanding typographical or factual errors 

in the submitted Plan that it wishes to correct.  We authorise any final editorial 
changes of this nature, together with any other presentational matters and 

consequential changes flowing from agreed MACs and the recommended IMACs 
such as altered policy cross-references, map title amendments, site area or 
numerical changes and paragraph numberings. 

 

                                       
1 City of Cardiff Council Draft Matters Arising Changes Schedule: May 2015  
2 Final SA Report revised reflecting May and October 2015 Draft MAC Schedule 
3 Additional Matters Arising Schedule Final Version October 2015 

Page 437



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

5 

2   Procedural Tests 
 

2.1. The LDP has been prepared in accordance with the Delivery Agreement (as 
revised by agreement with the WG)4 and the Community Involvement Scheme 
as demonstrated in the Consultation Report.  Concern was expressed that no 

substantive changes were proposed to the Plan by the Council as a result of the 
deposit stage public consultation.  However, the Council are not obliged to 

make such changes.  The Council engaged with a wide range of organisations 
and the general public on the generation of alternative strategies and options 
and identifying key issues.  A number of conferences for consultees and public 

events were also held.  We are satisfied that the requirements of the 
Community Involvement Scheme have been met. 

 
2.2. All proposed changes made to the deposit Plan have been advertised and 

consulted on.  The Plan thus complies with the requirements of the Town and 
Country Planning (Local Development Plan) (Wales) Regulations 2005 (as 
amended) in this respect, including in relation to consultation, advertisement 

and the publication and availability of prescribed documents.   
 

2.3. The Plan has been subject to SA including Strategic Environmental Assessment 
(SEA)5.  The SA provides a summary of the strategic alternatives considered 
and a brief summary of reasons why they were not selected.  Further changes 

put forward by the Council as part of the examination process have likewise 
been tested where necessary for any impacts they have upon the SA and SEA6.    

We are satisfied that the SA/SEA process undertaken is robust and satisfies 
procedural and legal requirements. 

 

2.4. In accordance with the Habitats Directive7 a Habitats Regulations Assessment 
(HRA) of the Plan has been undertaken8, and reviewed as necessary in the light 

of changes put forward during the examination9.  We are satisfied that the 
results of the HRA Screening demonstrate that an Appropriate Assessment is 
not required. It can therefore be concluded that no significant effects upon the 

integrity of the European sites10 within the plan area or in adjacent areas are 
likely to occur (either alone or in combination with other plans or projects) as a 

result of implementing the Plan.   
 

2.5. The Public Sector Equality Duty requires the Council to have due regard to the 

need to eliminate discrimination, promote equality of opportunity and foster 
good relations between different communities.  The Council has undertaken and 

publicised an Equality Impact Assessment of the LDP11 to ensure that equality 
issues have been taken into account throughout the Plan preparation process.  
This has been an iterative process to ensure that the LDP promotes equality and 

diversity and does not adversely affect or discriminate against any people who 
are protected under the Equality Act 2010.    

                                       
4 Revised Delivery Agreement approved by Welsh Government dated 5 December 2011  
5 Cardiff LDP Final Sustainability Appraisal Report (September 2013) 
6 Final SA Report revised reflecting May and October 2015 Draft MAC Schedule   
7 European Union Habitats Directive (92/43/EEC) 
8 Deposit Plan HRA Report (September 2013) 
9 HRA revised reflecting May and October 2015 Draft MAC Schedule   
10 As defined in PPW paragraph 2.3.13 
11 Background Technical Paper 3: Equality Impact Assessment Report (September 2013)  

Page 438



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

6 

 
2.6. Changes to the Plan Introduction as proposed in MAC1 would improve the 

Plan’s clarity by setting out the up-to-date position in respect of the additional 
assessments undertaken.      

 

Conclusion 
 

2.7. Accordingly, the relevant procedural and legal requirements have been 
complied with. 

 

3   The Overall Plan Strategy  
 

The Vision, Objectives and Principles of the Strategy 
 

3.1. The LDP Vision reflects the priorities for Cardiff and the Capital Region in the 
Wales Spatial Plan (WSP), which recognises that the success of the region relies 
on Cardiff developing its capital functions in order for the area to work as a 

networked city region, to provide an appropriate quality of life for all and to be 
able to compete with comparable areas in the UK and EU for investment and 

growth.  The vision recognises the key role that Cardiff plays.  The LDP 
objectives seek to respond in spatial terms to the identified economic and social 
needs in a co-ordinated way that sets out a framework for delivering the 

sustainable neighbourhoods of the future as part of a connected, sustainable 
city.  

       
Greenfield Development and the Loss of Agricultural Land 

 
3.2. In assessing the appropriate level of growth required to satisfy the evidenced 

economic and social needs, the Council considered the extent of development 

that could realistically be delivered over the Plan period as well as the 
environmental impact upon Cardiff and the wider area.  Opportunities to 

maximise the re-use of previously-developed land were sought and an 
assessment of the availability of brownfield land for residential development 
and potential housing land within the urban areas was undertaken12.    

 
3.3. Whilst brownfield sites have made the biggest contribution to dwelling 

completions in recent years, this has narrowed the range and choice of 
provision with a focus on high density developments, mostly apartments in 
Cardiff Bay.  The regeneration of Cardiff Bay has reduced large-scale brownfield 

development opportunities.  In preparing the strategy, the Council recognised 
that whilst brownfield sites would be likely to form a significant source of 

supply, in order to meet housing growth aspirations and deliver a range and 
choice of housing, greenfield housing sites would also be required.  Several 
spatial options were explored but given the levels of growth set out in each of 

the alternatives considered by the Council; together with the finite capacity of 
brownfield sites to deliver the requisite amount of homes and jobs; it was 

recognised that all options would necessitate significant release of greenfield 
land.        

 

                                       
12 Background Technical Paper 2: Urban Capacity Study (Updated May 2014) 

Page 439



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

7 

3.4. In the assessment of sites, the Council considered a number of factors including 
whether development of the site would be likely to have an impact on natural 

resources such as agricultural land.  The Council says that there is no definitive 
map of agricultural land quality in Cardiff but the Welsh Government (WG) 
Agricultural Land Classification maps were used as a starting point.  These 

indicate that the best and most versatile (BMV) agricultural land exists in parts 
of the west, north and east of Cardiff.  Further information provided by the WG 

on the strategic candidate sites indicated the high, moderate or low probability 
of there being BMV agricultural land on these sites.  This, together with 
submitted information in support of candidate sites and local surveys, was used 

to inform the site selection process.   
 

3.5. Development of large-scale greenfield strategic sites would lead to the loss of 
BMV agricultural land.  However, this has to be weighed against the need to 
provide a range and choice of new jobs and homes to meet evidenced need13.  

The Council acknowledges that there is insufficient brownfield or lower grade 
agricultural land within the area to accommodate the scale of development 

necessary for the Plan period.  The evidence has shown the difficulties in 
achieving agriculture potential in those areas which lie adjacent to the urban 
fringe.  The Council also recognises that much of the lower grade agricultural 

land in Cardiff correlates with areas of high landscape value such as the Garth 
Mountain and the Caerphilly Mountain Ridge which provide a strategically 

significant landscape setting and backdrop to Cardiff and are generally poor 
locations for development given their topography.  Overall, we consider that the 
benefits of retaining the land in agricultural use would not outweigh the 

advantages of providing the identified requirement for housing and employment 
development on these sites.             

 
3.6. Opportunities for the LDP to provide a mechanism to manage impacts and 

effectively mitigate potential harm have also been explored.  The provision of 

new infrastructure is an important element of the strategy.  The Council 
acknowledged that new greenfield releases, and the scale of strategic sites 

proposed to be allocated, would enable more comprehensive solutions and 
significant improvements to be delivered.  It would also facilitate contributions 

towards the wider provision of strategic infrastructure, including infrastructure 
linked to the implementation of the sustainable transport strategy, thereby 
bringing wide-ranging benefits to the City as a whole.  Notwithstanding the 

scale of existing housing commitments, there remains a need to identify 
significant amounts of additional housing land to meet overall requirements up 

to 2026 and provide flexibility and choice to provide for a 5-year supply of 
deliverable sites.  We are satisfied that the Council has considered reasonable 
alternatives in terms of the level of growth to be accommodated during the Plan 

period.  There is a limited supply of potential housing land within existing built 
up areas and the allocation of strategic sites and significant extensions to 

existing settlements are inevitable if sufficient housing is to be delivered.            
 

The Distribution of Development Growth 

 
3.7. One of the Plan’s key priorities is to make provision for new homes and jobs.  

Key strategic sites are defined in the LDP as being sites of 500 homes or more 

                                       
13 City of Cardiff Response to Action Point 6, Hearing 1 (Examination Document AP1.6) 

Page 440



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

8 

and/or with significant employment/mixed-uses and which have the potential to 
deliver significant benefits to the City.  Two brownfield and 6 greenfield 

strategic sites are proposed to be allocated:   
 
Strategic Site A: Cardiff Central Enterprise Zone & Regional Transport Hub 

 
3.8. The proposed allocation of this City centre strategic mixed-use site represents 

an employment-led initiative at Cardiff Central Enterprise Zone to deliver major 
employment opportunities focussed on financial and business services and to 
maximise the advantages of its location adjacent to the Central Rail Station and 

Bus Station through development of a Regional Transport Hub.   
 

Strategic Site B: Former Gas Works, Ferry Road  
 
3.9. The allocation of this centrally-located strategic brownfield site would provide 

an opportunity to develop approximately 500 dwellings over the Plan period as 
well as to improve existing pedestrian and cycling links.  

Strategic Site C: North West Cardiff 
 
3.10. The largest of the strategic sites, Strategic Site C is approximately 346 ha 

located to the west of Radyr, Fairwater and Pentrebane and north of St Fagans.  
A development of approximately 5,000 new homes is proposed within the Plan 

period at this strategic site together with a number of other uses including 
education, community, recreation and primary health care facilities, 
employment and retail/commercial use as part of the development of District 

and Local Centres.  It would also provide for bus-based Rapid Transit Corridors 
through the site and a new Transport Hub.         

 
Strategic Site D: North of Junction 33 on M4 
 

3.11. A mixed-use allocation of approximately 2,000 dwellings, employment and 
associated community uses is proposed at this strategic site together with bus-

based Rapid Transit Corridors through the site and a park and ride facility.    
 

Strategic Site E: South of Creigiau  
 
3.12. It is proposed to allocate this site for approximately 650 dwellings.  Strategic 

Sites D and E are adjacent to one another, separated by Llantrisant Road.  It is 
proposed to develop an overall Master Plan for both sites which would reflect 

site-specific requirements for each site whilst ensuring a comprehensive 
approach is taken to development. 

Strategic Site F: North East Cardiff (West of Pontprennau) 

 
3.13. A mixed-use allocation of approximately 4,500 new homes, employment and 

education uses and District and Local Centres to include community and leisure 
facilities is proposed together with bus-based Rapid Transit Corridors through 
the site. 

 
Strategic Site G: East of Pontprennau Link Road  

 

Page 441



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

9 

3.14. It is proposed to allocate the site for approximately 1,300 new dwellings 
together with associated education and community uses including a Local 

Centre and provision of bus-based Rapid Transit Corridors through the site. 
 
Strategic Site H: South of St Mellons Business Park (Employment only) 

 
3.15. The site is adjacent to the St Mellons Business Park and would offer an 

opportunity to provide appropriate accommodation for high value and 
knowledge-based employment sectors, such as advanced manufacturing, 
research and development as well as the growth of indigenous businesses.  It is 

outside the City centre but close to the strategic highway network and would 
afford an opportunity to provide additional bus services, a park and ride facility, 

a transport hub including a new rail station as well as improved walking and 
cycling facilities to maximise access from neighbouring communities.  It would 
be immediately accessible to a large residential population with high 

unemployment.     
 

3.16. The concentration of new housing and development growth on these strategic 
sites partly reflects their clear potential to deliver significant numbers of new 
homes and jobs in a relatively short timescale, alongside the provision of 

necessary new infrastructure, services and facilities to support growth and to 
help achieve the Plan’s aims and objectives.  Together, these allocations would 

be able to provide an appropriate range of size and types of new housing across 
the area and provide reasonable choice and some flexibility for the house 
building industry.  The involvement of national house builders in many of the 

allocated sites in the Plan should also assist early delivery in most cases.              
 

Master Planning Principles  
 

3.17. The Master Planning general principles are set out in Policy KP4: 

‘Masterplanning Approach’ which seeks to ensure that major development 
schemes are planned in a comprehensive and integrated manner setting out the 

phasing of development and provision of supporting infrastructure.  The 
Masterplanning Framework document sets out a broad framework for 

development of the strategic sites described as “schematic frameworks”.  These 
site-specific frameworks give an indication of land uses, transportation 
measures and information on the indicative densities, infrastructure and 

phasing of these sites and are intended to act as a starting point for 
development of further, more detailed design.    

 
3.18. In conjunction with this process, the Council and developers of the strategic 

sites produced ‘Statements of Common Ground’ for the examination which set 

out a trajectory of housing provision over the plan period (where relevant), a 
summary of infrastructure requirements and updated the schematic framework 

diagrams for each site.  It was agreed during the examination that including 
this level of detail in the Plan itself, rather than in the supporting documentation 
would provide a greater level of clarity in respect of the infrastructure and 

master planning requirements of each of the strategic sites and more certainty 
that they would be delivered as planned.  As such, a new key policy for each of 

the strategic sites is proposed to be included in the Plan to follow KP2: 
‘Strategic Sites’ numbered KP2 (A) to KP2 (H) (MAC5).  The policies would 
identify the approximate quantum of various key uses and a summary of the 

main infrastructure requirements together with a cross-reference to the Cardiff 

Page 442



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

10 

Infrastructure Plan which would be regularly updated and linked to the Plan’s 
monitoring framework.  The policies would retain a degree of flexibility as more 

details would be provided in future master plans.  However, sufficient detail 
would be provided at the strategic stage to assist in bringing forward the sites.        

 

3.19. Key requirements would be set out within these new policies with reasoned 
justification providing supporting detail and site-specific schematic frameworks.  

In addition, consequential changes to the reasoned justification to Policy KP2: 
‘Strategic Sites’ and Policy KP4: ‘Masterplanning Approach’ are proposed 
(MAC5, MAC6) which would make reference to the new strategic site-specific 

policies.  These changes are considered necessary to ensure that sufficient 
policy detail is embedded within the Plan to enable all relevant factors which will 

influence the delivery of the strategic sites to be taken into consideration and to 
improve the Plan’s clarity and certainty.  

 

3.20. Strategic Site A comprises land in numerous ownerships and would be 
developed by a number of different developers.  Proposed new Policy KP2 (A) 

would provide an overarching master planning and infrastructure planning 
framework setting out the infrastructure requirements together with indicative 
densities of development and other master planning requirements such as the 

need to create destination spaces with active uses which complement the 
business offer, clearly defined pedestrian routes and addressing potential 

impacts on Conservation Areas and Listed Buildings within and adjoining the 
site.      

 

3.21. The new policy would also set out the necessary transport and highways 
infrastructure including the Regional Transport Hub which would link different 

forms of transport and improvements to existing bus-routes and services and 
enhanced pedestrian and cycling access.  The schematic framework would 
provide an indication of the walking and cycling routes and bus-based rapid 

transit corridor as well as the proposed land uses.   
 

3.22. Strategic Site B is owned by a single landowner and the new Policy KP2 (B) 
would assist in ensuring that the site is developed in a comprehensive manner 

by providing indicative development densities and establishing development 
principles such as the need to respond to landscape and heritage assets as well 
as addressing any impacts on biodiversity assets and nature conservation.     

 
3.23. New policy KP2 (C) would set out the necessary infrastructure and land-uses for 

Strategic Site C including employment, District and Local Centres, new schools, 
transport and highways infrastructure as well as the need to respond to, and 
address potential impacts on, heritage and nature conservation assets including 

the St Fagans Conservation Area and Listed Buildings within and adjacent to the 
site.  It would also provide an indication of the densities and phasing of 

development throughout the site.  Development and transport would need to 
integrate with the adjoining areas of Pentrebane, Fairwater and Radyr.   

 

3.24. Proposed new Policy KP2 (D & E) would set out that the mixed-use development 
at Strategic Sites D and E should be undertaken in a comprehensive manner.  

The layouts of these sites should reflect the inter-relationships between the 
sites with the initial phases including the provision of the park and ride facility 
together with public transport enhancement measures.  It would include the 

necessary infrastructure requirements together with an indication of the 

Page 443



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

11 

location of the Park and Ride facility, a District/Local Centre, employment and 
other land uses and development densities.  Other key master planning 

requirements would include the need for a landscape buffer between 
employment and residential uses and the M4 motorway to reduce impact and to 
effectively respond to landscape, heritage and biodiversity assets.         

 
3.25. The second largest site, Strategic Site F, is proposed to be allocated to the west 

of Pontprennau.  The proposed new Policy KP2 (F) would set out the key master 
planning requirements and land uses to include residential, employment, 
District/Local Centres and community facilities.  It would provide an indication 

of how development would be phased, how it should proceed in light of 
constraints such as the C2 Flood Zone area and proximity of the M4 motorway 

and the range of densities required.  The Policy would also set out the 
necessary transport, highways and other infrastructure required both on-site 
and off-site together with the need to respond effectively to landscape quality 

and heritage and biodiversity assets.       
 

3.26. The necessary infrastructure and land use components of Strategic Site G, 
would be set out in the proposed new policy KP2 (G).  This would include the 
provision of education, primary care and community facilities and on-site and 

off-site transport and highways improvements.  The policy would also indicate 
the required density and indicative phasing of development as well as the need 

to respond to the landscape, heritage and nature conservation assets of the 
site.       

 

3.27. The requirement for Strategic Site H to be developed in a comprehensive 
manner, providing a high quality development similar to the existing business 

park at St Mellons, would be set out in proposed new Policy KP2 (H). It would 
specify the necessary infrastructure to be provided, including transport 
improvements and provision of a transport hub that would include a new rail 

station and park and ride facility.  It would also include other master planning 
key requirements such as flood mitigation, measures to protect nature 

conservation, biodiversity, heritage and archaeological assets and the need to 
respond to landscape considerations.       

 
The Effect on the Welsh Language 

 

3.28. PPW says that local planning authorities should consider whether they have 
communities where the use of the Welsh language is part of the social fabric, 

and that where this is so it should be taken into account in the formulation of 
land use policies14.  Whilst ways of assessing whether the Welsh language is 
part of the social fabric of the community is not prescribed, the WG’s National 

Action Plan for a Bilingual Wales Iaith Pawb says that in communities where 
Welsh is spoken by over 70% of the local population, Welsh is more likely to be 

spoken in social, leisure and business activities and not just in the home or at 
school.  It is within these areas that Welsh is considered to be a living everyday 
language and part of the fabric of the community and where LDP policies and 

proposals could affect the linguistic balance of an area.   
 

                                       
14 Planning Policy Wales paragraph 4.13.2 

Page 444



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

12 

3.29. The 2011 Census shows that 11% of the population of Cardiff speaks Welsh 
with some electoral divisions recording a higher percentage such as Canton 

(19.1%), Pentyrch (18.5%) and Creigiau/St Fagan’s (18.2%).  These levels are 
significantly below the 70% threshold identified in Iaith Pawb and are not 
considered to be sufficiently high for development proposals in the Plan to have 

a detrimental impact upon the Welsh language in terms of linguistic balance.  
Furthermore, an Equalities Impact Assessment undertaken as part of the Plan 

preparation process did not identify any changes required to the Plan in respect 
of the effect on use of the Welsh language.  

 

3.30. However, PPW says that development plans should include a statement on how 
they have taken the needs and interests of the Welsh language into account in 

plan preparation.  In order to comply with this requirement, the Council propose 
to include a statement to that effect (MAC2).  We are satisfied that the 
potential impact of the LDP on the Welsh language has been adequately 

considered.  Subject to this change, and based on the evidence, the Plan would 
accord with national planning policy and is considered to be soundly based.    

 
Relevant Plans, Policies and Strategies in Adjoining Areas  
 

3.31. In preparing the Plan, the Council has worked with its neighbouring authorities 
on an individual basis and through regional frameworks to consider cross-

boundary and wider contextual issues.  The Council set up a working group 
made up of officers from the 10 south-east Wales local planning authorities and 
other participating organisations in the South East Wales Strategic Planning 

Group.  A number of workshops were held to discuss the cross-boundary 
implications of the emerging issues in the preparation of the LDP15.  

 
3.32. The area around Llantrisant and North West Cardiff is identified in the WSP as a 

Strategic Opportunity Area (SOA).  The designation of SOAs is intended to offer 

potential regional benefits from their sustainable development and to act as a 
vehicle to promote good cross-boundary working.  The WSP says that 

substantial growth of housing in the City Coastal Zone should be compatible 
with the health of housing markets in the Heads of the Valleys and Connections 

Corridor.  Neighbouring authorities generally support the growth of the City and 
recognise its role in helping to spread prosperity within the wider area.  It is 
recognised also that the Council needs to allocate sufficient land for housing 

and employment to meet the projected needs of the City. 
 

3.33. Whilst Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council (RCT) has not objected to 
the proposed land allocations, or to their scale, it raised concerns about the 
transportation implications of development of the strategic sites to the North 

West of Cardiff (Strategic Sites C, D and E).  It was confirmed during the 
examination that the Council is engaged in on-going dialogue with officers in 

RCT regarding the transport infrastructure requirements for sites in North West 
Cardiff including measures to secure bus rapid transit connections along the 
A4119 corridor.  This dialogue includes engagement with WG regarding long-

term proposals for a rail based transport route extending north-west to 
Rhondda Cynon Taf and planned collaboration on a joint cross-border strategy 

designed to deliver improvements along this corridor (see details in the 

                                       
15 Summary of Cross-Boundary Working (September 2013) 

Page 445



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

13 

Transport section below).  The joint working is intended to feed into the review 
of RCT’s LDP and to help strengthen the focus on cross-border linkages through 

the LDP process.   
 

3.34. Where cross-boundary issues are relevant, and subject to the changes 

recommended in this report, the LDP is compatible with the development plans 
and relevant strategies prepared by neighbouring authorities.    

 
Conclusion 
 

3.35. The development strategy rightly seeks to steer the majority of development 
during the remaining Plan period to the strategic sites which would provide 

access to jobs, services and public transport.  At the same time it recognises 
the need for development (albeit on a lesser scale) across numerous suitable 
locations and provides for a degree of choice and flexibility in terms of potential 

sites.  The distribution of new housing and development proposed is 
appropriate, given the economies of scale and concentration of new 

infrastructure that is likely to assist delivery, particularly of the strategic sites.  
These conclusions are borne out by the conclusions of the SA/SEA work and the 
same would not apply to a more dispersed pattern of new housing growth, 

incorporating smaller scale schemes across the City.  Accordingly, subject to the 
proposed changes set out above, the general distribution of housing and 

development growth put forward in the Plan is soundly based and is consistent 
with national planning policy and the WSP.       

 

4   Housing Provision, including Allocated Housing Sites 
 

The Level of Housing Growth 
 

4.1. The submitted Plan identified a housing requirement of 41,100 dwellings 
between 2006 and 2026.  This was based on the WG’s 2008-based household 
projections together with recommendations from Edge Analytics whom the 

Council commissioned to evaluate a range of growth options including a number 
of migration-led and dwelling-led scenarios.  In all scenarios, household growth 

was assessed using assumptions from the WG 2008-based household projection 
model.  Sensitivity analysis was also undertaken using evidence from the 
Department of Local Government and Communities (DCLG) 2011-based 

household model for Local Planning Authorities in England to estimate the likely 
impact that the WG 2011-based household projections might have.       

 
4.2. Ten alternative scenarios were considered, culminating in a recommended 

housing growth target range of between 42,500 – 43,000 over the Plan period 

(Scenarios F and G).  It was also recommended that the Council consider a 
reduced rate of household formation on the basis of the sensitivity analysis and 

a reduced vacancy rate in light of Council targets.  The Council considered the 
report’s findings and chose Scenario G as the preferred option, though reduced 
the vacancy rate from 3.74% to 3% to reflect the previous rate in the 2001 

Census and the Council’s intentions to bring the rate down.  The resultant 
housing requirement identified was 41,100 dwellings.  The Council excluded any 

reduction allowance for “un-attributable population change” into assumptions 
for future migration or reductions in household formation rates which would 

Page 446



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

14 

have reduced the housing requirement by 10%16.  In the absence of any data to 
substantiate the need for any reduction, the Council considered that such an 

approach would carry significant risks for the soundness of the Plan.  
 

4.3. The WG 2011-based household projections were published in February 2014 

after the Plan was prepared.  These projections indicated that the housing 
requirement for Cardiff over the Plan period would be 44,400 new dwellings17, 

equating at that time to 2,674 units per annum over the remainder of the Plan 
period (2014 to 2026).  Subsequently, the WG’s evidence submitted to the 
examination indicates that the 2011-based household projections for Cardiff 

over the Plan period amount to 44,742 dwellings18.  Either figure would 
represent a significantly higher annual build rate than previous rates, though 

the Council recognised that the low build rate in part reflected the long absence 
of an up-to-date development plan and referenced the build-up of latent 
demand, given the extensive development of brownfield sites for apartments, 

and a need for new family housing.          
 

4.4. In response to the Inspectors’ request for further evidence and clarification 
during the examination Hearings, the Council reconsidered the implications of 
excluding the “un-attributable population change” (UPC) component from the 

growth calculation.  Following this more recent analysis, the Council concluded 
that it would be appropriate to include the UPC at the local level.  This is due in 

part to likely discrepancies in the Census estimates for 2001 or 2011 or in the 
migration flows.  If the discrepancies are in the migration flows then projecting 
forward based on the estimated past flows will introduce errors into the 

projections.  Whilst the Council originally discounted the un-attributable 
element, consistent with the approach ONS have taken at the national level, the 

more recent analysis shows potential implications in neglecting this at the local 
level.  Edge Analytics also reconfirmed their recommendation to include it in the 
assessment of the future housing requirement for the Plan19.   

 
4.5. The Council also reviewed the 3% vacancy rate and amended it in light of the 

most up-to-date evidence from the 2011 Census which indicates a vacancy rate 
of 3.74%20.  In addition, the Council reassessed the recommendation by Edge 

Analytics to apply a 10% sensitivity reduction in household formation rates in 
light of publication of the WG 2011-based household projections which show a 
lower rate of household growth when compared to the 2008-based household 

projections21.   
 

4.6. The proposed modifications to the analysis of the housing requirement as 
outlined above would result in a slight increase in the number of dwellings 
required over the Plan period from 41,100 to 41,415.  Consequently, the 

Council proposes an amendment to Policy KP1: ‘Level of Growth’ to reflect the 
updated figure as well as changes to the reasoned justification (MAC4).  The 

changes set out that the proposed level of growth is based on up-to-date 

                                       
16 Cardiff Population & Household Forecasts: Updating the Evidence (June 2013) 
17 Background Technical Paper 1: Population & Housing (Updated May 2014)  
18 Welsh Government Hearing Statement to Hearing Session 3 (January 2015)   
19 Council Response to Housing Related Action Points: Action Point 4 of Hearing Session 3 
20 Council Response to Housing Related Action Points: Action Point 3 of Hearing Session 3 
21 Council Response to Housing Related Action Points: Action Point 2 of Hearing Session 3 

Page 447



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

15 

evidence and analysis of a number of relevant factors and represents the most 
appropriate target for the Plan.         

 
4.7. Whilst this is still lower than the WG 2011-based household projections, the 

Council has taken the WG’s 2008-based household projections as the starting 

point for assessing housing requirements, in accordance with national planning 
policy22 and has reviewed the figure in light of subsequent population and 

household projections.  It has analysed a range of housing, economic and 
demographic forecasts and trends to provide the most reliable basis upon which 
to assess the LDP’s future housing requirement.  The LDP provision for housing, 

as proposed to be amended, is supported by a robust evidence base.  It is 
considered that this figure is in line with the projections and that the Plan’s 

level of housing growth is soundly based.      
 
Housing Supply 

 
4.8. The supporting text to Policy KP1 includes a table (as amended by MAC4) 

which provides a detailed breakdown of how it is intended to provide for the 
41,415 new dwellings over the Plan period.  This table includes the number of 
dwelling completions from 2006 to 2014 recorded from Council tax data.  This 

differs from the approach taken by some other local planning authorities who 
have used data from their Joint Housing Land Availability Studies (JHLAS).   

 
4.9. In response to discussions at the relevant Hearing and the Inspectors’ request 

for justification for the use of Council tax data, the Council submitted additional 

evidence23.   This cited inaccuracies in Cardiff’s historic JHLAS data such as the 
number of completions reported annually not reflecting changes to dwelling 

stock as a result of subdivision of property.  Furthermore, JHLAS are concerned 
with recording and forecasting housing completions for the purpose of 
monitoring a 5 year housing land supply and do not record wider changes such 

as those arising from demolitions, residential development resulting in a net 
loss of dwellings or change of use from residential to non-residential use.  There 

is no prescribed way of calculating the number of completions and in these 
circumstances we are satisfied that the ONS/Valuation Agency data on changes 

to Council tax presented in the evidence base provides a more accurate 
measurement of the change in dwelling stock over the period 2006-14.   

 

4.10. An allowance of 20% was factored into the calculation of housing provision for 
possible reduced dwelling yield on brownfield sites with planning permission and 

some sites with planning permission subject to a Section 106 planning 
obligation (S106).  In response to the Inspectors’ request for evidence to justify 
the 20% non-delivery allowance, the Council revisited the analysis of the 

housing land bank to identify changes to the number of dwellings being 
proposed on existing sites over the previous two years24.  Whilst there has been 

a reduction in anticipated dwellings on a few large sites, on the whole there has 
been a general trend for an increase in anticipated dwellings compared to 
previous years which may be in response to improved market conditions.   

                                       
22 PPW paragraph 9.2.2 
23 Council Response to Housing Related Action Points: Action Point 5 of Hearing Session 3 
24 Council Response to Housing Related Action Points: Action Point 6 of Hearing Session 3 

 

Page 448



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

16 

 
4.11. Consequently, the Council propose to reduce this flexibility allowance to 15% 

which it considers to be more appropriate and realistic in light of the 
assessment of the most recent data and the evidence of improved market 
conditions more generally.  Given the analysis and consideration of relevant 

prevailing factors within Cardiff’s housing market, we are satisfied that this is 
an appropriate adjustment.  Furthermore, regular monitoring will ensure that 

this allowance is accurately reflected in future reviews of the Plan.  In revisiting 
the figures the Council identified that the flexibility allowance had been 
mistakenly applied to two strategic sites.  The flexibility allowance has 

subsequently been amended so that these sites are now excluded from the 
calculation of the allowance.   

 
4.12. The Council proposes to show key commitments (those strategic housing 

developments with planning permission for over 500 dwellings) on the 

Proposals Map.  Furthermore, a list of sites with planning permission for 10 or 
more dwellings would be provided as an Appendix to the Plan.  This list would 

show detailed information relating to the number of dwellings not started, those 
under construction and those completed (MAC71 and MAC PM5).  These 
changes would provide a greater level of detail and clarity regarding the supply 

and delivery of housing and are thus supported.         
 

4.13. The soundness tests require LDPs to be reasonably flexible to enable them to 
deal with changing circumstances.  The submitted Plan included an overall 
flexibility allowance of 10% (4,000 dwellings) over the Plan period.  Areas for 

future development were identified by way of arrows on the Proposals Map 
together with part of Strategic Site C, and it was proposed that any necessary 

additional land would be brought forward via a review of the Plan should a need 
be identified through annual monitoring.  Further to discussions at the 
Hearings, the Inspectors requested additional clarity on what level of flexibility 

should be provided in the Plan, how this would be provided and where, in terms 
of its spatial distribution, any necessary additional housing would be delivered.   

 
4.14. It has generally been accepted that a 10% contingency would provide the 

required level of flexibility but more or less may be acceptable depending on 
the circumstances of each case.  The Council considers that 10% would be 
appropriate and would provide the right level of additional land should flexibility 

be needed to allow for non-delivery of sites and unforeseen issues.  It is thus 
proposed to amend Policy KP1 to make reference to the total provision to be 

made for 45,415 new dwellings over the Plan period which would include a 
4,000 dwelling flexibility allowance (MAC4).  It is also proposed to replace the 
arrows with spatial boundaries that would be identified on the Proposals Map 

(MAC PM2).   
 

4.15. The sites forming extensions to Strategic Site D, north of Junction 33 of the M4 
and Strategic Site C, north of Llantrisant Road have been the subject of SA but 
are not included within the strategic site allocations.  The need for these 

extensions would only be triggered through monitoring and through future Plan 
review.  Additional explanatory text is also proposed to be included in the 

reasoned justification to new Policies KP2 (C) and KP2 (D and E) explaining how 
the release of these further sites would be triggered if required and how they 
would fit in with the wider master planning of the strategic sites.  Proposed 

changes to the monitoring framework would result in a more precise set of 

Page 449



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

17 

triggers for additional sites to come forward, thereby providing additional clarity 
in respect of the timing of the release of the additional sites (MAC75).                     

 
Five-Year Supply of Land for Housing 
 

4.16. PPW is clear that Local Planning Authorities must ensure that sufficient land is 
genuinely available or will become available to provide a 5-year supply of land 

for housing25.  In response to the Inspectors’ request for information prior to 
the Hearings, the Council prepared a statement26 to show how a 5-year supply 
of land for housing would be provided once the LDP was adopted.  Agreed data 

in the JHLAS published in November 2014 was used as a starting point and an 
analysis was undertaken of factors contributing to the latter years of the 5-year 

period (2020-21) where no agreed JHLAS data exists.  This included data on 
annual anticipated build rates which were agreed with landowners and 
developers in the Statements of Common Ground (SCG).   

 
4.17. Other contributing factors such as windfalls and minor adjustments reflecting 

past build rates were also included.  Windfall assumptions contained in the 
background evidence27 were used to estimate the number of units likely to be 
completed in 2019-20 and 2020-21 on sites of over 10 units and through 

change of use applications.  The study indicates that, using a base date of        
1 April 2016, Cardiff would have a 5.1 years supply of housing land.  This was 

calculated using the residual method.  Subsequent to this, a revised Technical 
Advice Note (TAN) 1: ‘Joint Housing Land Availability Studies’28 was published in 
January 2015.  The Council considered the effect of the updated guidance on 

the calculation of the housing land supply29.   
 

4.18. Several changes were introduced in the revised TAN 1 including a new 
stipulation that for housing to be included in the 5-year housing land supply it 
must fall within the C3 use class.  Cardiff’s 2014 JHLAS contains a number of 

student developments that fall outside this use class.  Removing these 
developments would result in the loss of 480 units from the housing supply.  

The Council says that there are other considerations, not least the fact that 
household projections within the submitted LDP exclude the population “not-in-

households” (i.e. the communal/institutional population such as those in 
prisons, residential care homes and student halls of residence).  Any students 
that live in accommodation not included in the “communal establishment” 

category, such as private student apartments, are included within the 
household calculations.   

 
4.19. The policy changes occurred during the examination.  There are practical 

difficulties in estimating the number of private householders living in non-C3 

accommodation as census/ONS data does not differentiate between use classes.  
As the change in policy occurred during the examination, and in the absence of 

any revised guidance on how to distinguish between these components to arrive 
at an accurate dwelling requirement, it has not been possible for the Council to 

                                       
25 PPW paragraph 9.2.3  
26 Statement indicating how the Plan will meet the 5-year supply of housing land, December 2014 
27 Background Technical Paper No 1: Population and Housing (Updated May 2014)  
28 PPW Technical Advice Note (TAN) 1: ‘Joint Housing Land Availability Studies’ 
29 Council Response to Housing Related Action Points: Action Point 1 of Hearing Session 5  

Page 450



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

18 

develop an updated robust methodology.  Nonetheless, for illustrative purposes, 
the Council considered the impact of removing 480 units from the housing 

supply.  This would result in a total housing land supply of 4.9 years.  However, 
as the Council has included the non-C3 housing component in the dwelling 
requirement of the submitted Plan, we agree that any reduction made on the 

supply side would be likely to be balanced by a reduction on the demand side.                        
 

4.20. The updated TAN 1 also allows for sites with a resolution to grant planning 
permission subject to the signing of a S106 Agreement to be included within the 
supply, where there is clear evidence that the S106 will be signed shortly, even 

if more than 12 months has elapsed since the date of the resolution to grant 
planning permission.  This will need to be considered in agreement of the JHLAS 

on a case-by-case basis based on the available evidence30.  The Council says 
that more sites would have been included in the housing land supply had this 
provision been in place at the time of the 2014 JHLAS.  The Former Arjo 

Wiggins Paper Mill Site is the subject of a S106 Agreement signed on 28 July 
2014.  Site clearance and ground works have commenced and a significant 

number of pre-commencement conditions have been discharged.  Current 
indications are that this site would be likely to be developed within 5 years.  A 
S106 Agreement was signed in respect of 130 – 132 Bute Street on 17 June 

2014.  The site is under construction and would have been included in the 
JHLAS.  Phasing for these sites has been taken from the agreed 2014 JHLAS.  

Collectively they would add 769 units to the 5 year housing land supply.                
 

4.21. The Council’s updated table31 includes these additional units as well as 

reflecting the impact of removing student accommodation.  This shows a 5.2 
year housing land supply.  In addition, the Council has shown an amended table 

to reflect the revised dwelling requirement (41,415) and adjusted to exclude 
student accommodation and to include 769 units subject to S106 Agreements 
as referred to above.  This indicates that there would be a 5.2 year supply of 

housing land at 1 April 2016.  It is proposed to include these changes in the 
amended Policy KP1 (MAC4).  The ‘JHLAS’ exercise undertaken by the Council 

can only provide an insight and the housing supply estimates have not been 
tested through a JHLAS process.  However, the Council has identified land 

which it considers will meet housing requirement for the next 5 years and this 
provides a useful indication of the sources of supply that will assist subsequent 
monitoring.  We are satisfied that current indications are that there would be at 

least a 5-year supply of housing land upon adoption of the Plan. 
 

Housing Delivery 
 
The Contribution from Strategic and Non-Strategic Allocated Sites 

 
4.22. SCG between the Council, developers and landowners or agents of strategic 

sites B to H were submitted to the examination before the Hearings.  The SCG 
each included a trajectory of housing provision for the remainder of the Plan 
period (2015 to 2026) as well as setting out infrastructure requirements based 

on information derived from the LDP Infrastructure Plan (IP).  The same 
information was also provided for Strategic Site A and annual anticipated build 

                                       
30 PPW Technical Advice Note (TAN) 1: ‘Joint Housing Land Availability Studies’ paragraph 4.3.1 
31 Council Response to Housing Related Action Points: Action Point 1 of Hearing Session 5 

Page 451



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

19 

rates have been agreed between developers, landowners, agents and the 
Council on all non-strategic sites allocated in the Plan.  In addition, updated 

information has been included in the IP to provide a list of infrastructure, 
estimated costs, potential funding sources and lead delivery body.  The 
timescales for delivery have also been amended to provide a more accurate 

guideline.  The trajectories show that these allocations will provide the level of 
housing needed over the Plan period and we consider that they take a 

reasonable approach to the delivery of new homes from these large strategic 
proposals, including likely start dates and annual rates of completion.  
Nevertheless, they can only be a broad estimate of likely new housing delivery, 

and will have to be regularly reviewed through the plan’s monitoring process.    
 

4.23. The Council acknowledges that build rates for the remainder of the Plan will 
need to be higher than in previous years to deliver the required level of 
housing.  A wide range and choice of allocations in terms of brownfield and 

greenfield sites, strategic and non-strategic sites and in terms of geographical 
spread is proposed to ensure that the sites can be developed concurrently.  The 

long-term absence of an adopted Plan being in place with allocations that could 
be developed, particularly greenfield sites, has resulted in a high “pent-up” 
demand for new homes.  This, together with improving market conditions, 

supports a higher future build rate.      
      

4.24. Representors raised concerns that development of the strategic sites could 
create a “monopoly” whereby developers would control the release of housing 
to manage/limit supply and increase house prices.  In response to the 

Inspectors’ request at the Hearings, the Council sought the input of the house 
building industry to demonstrate that complementary delivery could be 

achieved between different developers on strategic sites without delay for 
reasons related to competition such as phasing development to influence 
market demand.     

 
4.25. A briefing note was produced by Nathaniel Lichfield & Partners (NLP) on behalf 

of the landowners of strategic site C and their development partners, Redrow 
Homes32.  The note confirms that the agreed housing trajectory is achievable 

owing to historic constraint on the release of suitable sites for family housing, 
the geographical spread of the strategic sites and the range and choice in 
housing types that will be offered.  It is also supported by research conducted 

by NLP into housing delivery rates on major residential sites based on schemes 
built over the last 15 years.  Strategic site C shares many characteristics with 

sites analysed in the north of Bristol and East Devon and both of these sites 
delivered in excess of 450 units per annum when the housing market was still 
in recovery.  

 
4.26. There is little evidence to suggest that developers will phase delivery on an 

arbitrary basis.  We agree it would seem reasonable to assume that build rates 
of over 500 units per annum can be achieved within 4 years of Plan adoption on 
sites that are configured to contain several sales outlets and where there is 

strong market demand.  All the available evidence, including the Economic 
Viability Study33, indicates that both the timing and total of new housing would 

                                       
32 Council Response to Housing Related Action Points: Action Point 7 of Hearing Session 3 
33 Community Infrastructure Levy Economic Viability Study: Final Report by PBA (August 2014)   

Page 452



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

20 

be largely viable and essentially deliverable over the Plan period.  Although it is 
acknowledged that the delivery rates would be challenging, the Council’s 

proposed updated evidence in the Infrastructure Plan34 (as referred to in MAC8) 
is essentially robust, up-to-date and credible with no insurmountable barriers to 
development apparent in relation to the strategic sites.  Whilst this conclusion is 

based on the current position, continuing strengthening of the national and local 
economy would only reinforce this judgement.     

 
4.27. The viability evidence is sufficient to demonstrate that the strategic sites should 

be deliverable with sufficient “critical mass” to support the provision of 

necessary infrastructure and community facilities/services.  The Master Planning 
approach, as set out in the new policies KP2 (A) to KP2 (H), will set out in detail 

the necessary infrastructure to ensure the delivery of those sites.  Moreover, 
with a variety of strategic sites identified, the Plan’s overall strategy does not 
rely on any one or more specific elements of new infrastructure having to be in 

place before the delivery of the development envisaged by the Plan.  
Consequently, it provides a reasonable degree of flexibility regarding delivery in 

the event that one of more of the strategic sites does not come forward as 
expected for whatever reason.  Furthermore, the updated trajectories within the 
IP linked to infrastructure requirements for each of the strategic sites would 

provide the necessary certainty with regard to delivery to ensure a continuous 
supply of housing throughout the Plan period.       

 
4.28. In most cases, the allocated sites have active developer interest.  There is 

nothing to suggest that there are any insurmountable barriers to the 

development of the strategic sites.  Some have planning permission or Council 
resolutions to permit, subject to legal agreements.  Planning applications have 

also been submitted on a number of sites which shows the commitment from 
developers to deliver homes as soon as possible.  This also indicates that the 
allocations have been subject to detailed viability and deliverability 

assessments.  A significant number of dwellings are currently under 
construction which would be able to provide for part of the identified housing 

need in the early stages of the Plan.  Moreover, there are no phasing 
restrictions in the Plan that might hinder an enhanced rate of delivery should 

that prove viable on any strategic site, or elsewhere.  In the light of all the 
above, there would be no justification for any such measures in any event.   

 

4.29. To supplement the housing delivered through the strategic allocations, the Plan 
allocates nine non-strategic housing sites.  These sites have been tabulated in 

Policy H1: ‘Non-Strategic Housing Sites’, although the contribution each site 
would make to the supply has been subject to change in response to evidence 
arising from the Examination.  MAC18 amends Policy H1 to reflect the most up 

to date information. 
 

4.30. Concerns were raised at the Hearings that four of the non-strategic housing 
sites (H1.1: ‘Land at Areas 9-12 St Mellons; H1.2’: ‘Land Rear of Clive Street’; 
H1.4: ‘Former Lansdowne Hospital’; and H1.7: ‘Ely Bridge Farm’) are located, at 

least in part, within the C1 Flood Zone as defined by the most up-to-date 
Development Advice Maps (DAMs).  In response, the Council provided further 

                                       
34 Cardiff Infrastructure Plan (Working Draft 27th November 2015)   

Page 453



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

21 

justification for the allocation of these sites35, in accordance with the 
requirements of PPW and Technical Advice Note (TAN) 15: ‘Development and 

Flood Risk’. 
  
4.31. Site H1.1 is located to the south of St Mellons at the edge of an existing 

settlement which could be described as being on the urban fringe.  It falls 
within a deprived area described in the context of the Index of Multiple 

Deprivation 2011 as Cardiff’s ‘Southern Arc of Deprivation’36.  It does not 
constitute previously developed land and as such, the allocation fails to meet all 
of the tests set out in TAN 15.  Nevertheless, a flood consequences assessment 

has found that the consequences of a flooding event would be acceptable and, 
given that it would form part of the Council’s Housing Partnership Programme, 

the development would deliver approximately 150 residential units of which 
some 40% would be affordable.  As such, the allocation would contribute 
significantly to the identified need for affordable housing in a deprived area, 

would complement the proposed employment allocations and go some way to 
sustaining the existing settlement.  On this basis, the advantages far outweigh 

the fact that the site is not previously developed and, for this reason, we are 
satisfied that it represents a sound allocation. 

   

4.32. Site H1.2 comprises a former railway embankment and therefore meets the 
definition of previously developed land.  The site would also make an important 

contribution to the local housing stock, providing a different offer to that 
provided through the large greenfield strategic sites, thereby serving to sustain 
the existing settlement.  The consequences of a flooding event have been 

satisfactorily demonstrated to be acceptable and, for these reasons, the 
allocation is fully compliant with the provisions of TAN 15.  Moreover, with no 

insurmountable constraints to development, the allocation would be capable of 
delivering some 80 dwellings within the five year period following the adoption 
of the Plan.   

 
4.33. Site H1.4 meets the definition of previously developed land by virtue of its 

former use as a hospital and the contribution it would make to the local housing 
supply would help sustain the existing settlement.  Concerns have been raised 

in relation to whether flood risk on site can be mitigated in accordance with TAN 
15 requirements.  However, a Position Statement37 has been agreed by the 
Council, the site proponent and Natural Resources Wales (NRW), identifying two 

potential means of alleviating flood risk within the plan period.  Flood mitigation 
measures would be funded within the overall viability of the scheme and, given 

that the intention is now for the site to be developed as apartments, the 
estimate of 75 units remains realistic and deliverable within the plan period.  As 
the site can be delivered in accordance with national policy requirements, it 

represents a sound allocation. 
 

4.34. Site H1.7 comprises previously developed land by virtue of the buildings on site 
and a flood consequences assessment has been submitted to demonstrate that 
the consequences of a flooding event would be acceptable.  The site benefits 

from a relatively recent grant of planning permission for 41 affordable homes 

                                       
35 Council Response to Action Point 2 of Hearing Session 9  
36 Final SA Report revised reflecting May and October 2015 Draft MAC Schedule  
37 Position Statement in Response to Action Point 3 of Hearing Session 20 (October 2015) 

Page 454



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

22 

and would help sustain the existing settlement.  As there are few constraints to 
development, it is anticipated that the site could be delivered within the early 

years of the plan.  Such information has been reflected in the proposed 
revisions to Policy H1 (MAC18) and, on this basis, the allocation is 
demonstrated to be soundly based. 

  
4.35. Site H1.3: ‘Rookwood Hospital’ is currently occupied by health care facilities and 

was allocated within the deposit LDP for some 80 residential units.  Alternative 
site AS (B) 1 proposed a modest extension to the allocation to better reflect the 
extent of the area likely to become surplus to requirements by the NHS.  In 

light of this evidence, the Council proposes, through MAC18 and MAC PM3, to 
extend the allocation from approximately 2.9 ha to 3.4 ha, effectively increasing 

the capacity to some 90 units.  This proposed change would provide greater 
certainty and would ensure consistency between the allocation and any 
subsequent proposal submitted through the development management process.  

The proposed change has been subject to the necessary SA and preparatory 
processes, including necessary public consultations, and we are satisfied that it 

would not undermine the outcomes of the original SA.   
  
4.36. Concerns were raised through representations that the development of site 

H1.3 would have adverse consequences for the site’s natural and built heritage 
assets.  However, nothing has been submitted to suggest that such matters 

could not be adequately addressed through the development management 
process.  Meanwhile, nothing has been submitted to demonstrate that concerns 
relating to localised traffic congestion would be materially different from 

existing or other permissible uses.  Accordingly, the allocation, as amended by 
MAC18 and MAC PM3, complies with the tests of soundness. 

  
4.37. The contribution H1.5: ‘Land at Dan-y-Garth, Pentyrch’ would make to the 

housing provision has been amended through MAC18 to 47 units.  This reflects 

a relatively recent grant of planning permission.  The site abuts the existing 
built form of Pentyrch and does not have any insurmountable constraints to 

development.  The site is therefore capable of contributing to the immediate 
five year land supply and is soundly based.  Likewise, MAC18 also amends 

Policy H1 to reflect the grant of planning permission for 64 residential units at 
site H1.6: ‘Land at Former St John’s College’.  There are no significant barriers 
to the development of the site and, for this reason its allocation is considered 

sound. 
 

4.38. Site H1.8: ‘Electrocoin Automatics Ltd, Caerphilly Road’ would result in the loss 
of a former industrial site.  However, the site is currently vacant and not 
considered an important site within the context of the LDP’s employment 

strategy.  Moreover, given the adjacent residential uses, the site would be 
suitable for housing development and capable of delivering approximately 20 

units within the 5 years following the adoption of the Plan.  Likewise, whilst 
H1.9: ‘Land at Mill Road, Tongwynlais’ is only allocated for approximately 5 
residential units, it would be capable of providing a modest level of growth in 

the village of Tongwynlais immediately after the adoption of the Plan.  Nothing 
has been submitted to indicate that a change is necessary with respect to these 

allocations. 
 
4.39. For these reasons, we are satisfied that the non-strategic housing allocations 

would provide for a range and choice of housing sites that are capable of being 

Page 455



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

23 

delivered within the plan period.  They provide for a different offer to that 
provided through the allocation of the strategic sites and would provide for 

some 572 dwellings over the Plan period.         
 

4.40. The Council produced a composite table showing housing provision for the 

remainder of the Plan period to include anticipated contributions from windfalls, 
changes of use and commitments as well as anticipated rates of delivery for the 

allocated sites.  It is proposed that the table would be included in the 
supporting text to Policy KP1 (MAC4).  This change would offer additional 
clarification and would provide an accurate basis upon which to plan to meet 

the identified housing requirement.  A housing trajectory would be included 
within the revised monitoring framework (MAC75) which would enable regular 

monitoring of housing completions on the allocated sites as well as the rate of 
small sites and windfalls coming forward.  This would indicate when sites were 
not delivering dwellings as anticipated and would trigger a review of the Plan.    

      
The Contribution from Windfalls 

 
4.41. The Plan makes an allowance for 4,807 dwellings to come forward from  

windfall sites which would represent approximately 11% of the total housing 

supply.  To place this in context, the allocations would comprise approximately 
35% of the new dwelling requirement with existing consents comprising 

approximately 26% of the total and the remainder anticipated from new 
household formation and dwellings delivered from the start of the Plan period.  
The reliance on windfalls would thus not be disproportionate.      

 
4.42. The windfall allowance is based on the rate of windfalls that have come  

         forward in the past 10 years, but reduced by a rate of 40% to reflect the  
         constrained housing land supply over this period and in recognition that  

the potential for windfalls to be achieved at the same rate will be diminished 

over time.  However, it is anticipated that the opportunities for windfall 
development would continue over the Plan period and the Council point to the 

potential for windfalls arising from the likely review of education sites and 
institutions as well as the redevelopment of existing buildings.  For example, 

some 460 homes are the subject of windfall applications received since the Plan 
was submitted including the BBC site at Llandaff, Caerau Nurseries and the 
Hamadryad Centre.  Other potential sources of future windfalls have also been 

identified in the Council’s Urban Capacity Study38.  There is thus a strong 
likelihood that windfall sites in Cardiff will continue to come forward.      

 
Alternative Sites 
 

4.43. A number of representors propose alternative sites to those allocated in the 
Plan, most notably for housing development.  Some may consider that the 

allocations in the Plan do not present the best solution but we are limited by 
statute and can only recommend a change to make the Plan sound.  We cannot 
seek to make a sound Plan better.  The Council considers that it has produced a 

strategy, policies and allocations that are sound.  The Plan makes satisfactory 
provision for the delivery of housing in a manner consistent with the 

development strategy.  Subject to the recommended changes set out above, 

                                       
38 Background Technical Paper 2: Urban Capacity Study (Updated May 2014)  

Page 456



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

24 

the Plan is thus sound in respect of its general housing provisions without 
inclusion of further sites.   

 
Conclusion 
 

4.44. There will be sufficient land allocated to ensure the delivery of 41,415 homes 
within the Plan period.  A significant proportion of the housing allocations are 

the subject of planning applications and in some cases, benefit either from 
planning permission or a resolution to grant planning permission, subject to the 
signing of a S106 Agreement.  Whilst the delivery rate would be challenging, 

there is a high level of demand and interest from major house builders.  
Sufficient land is proposed to be allocated and current indications are that a 5- 

year supply of housing land would be provided.  There is adequate evidence to 
support the Council’s assessment of the potential supply of housing land.  A 

robust and thorough assessment has been undertaken using reasonable 
assumptions in terms of whether sites are deliverable and over what timescale.  
The Council, together with landowners and developers, have shown that the 

allocations can be delivered and there is confidence that the Plan can provide 
the number of houses required.  Furthermore, additional flexibility could be 

delivered, as set out in Policy KP1, through a future review of the Plan.   

 
5   Affordable Housing Provision  
 
Affordable Housing Need 

 
5.1. A Local Housing Market Assessment (LHMA) was published in 2008 and updated 

in 201339 to take account of amendments to the requirements of LHMAs as set 
out in PPW40.  The updated calculations of the affordable housing requirement 
as set out in this assessment indicate that there is an annual requirement for 

3,989 affordable dwellings from 2013 to 2018.  The likely tenure profile 
required by households resident in Cardiff in 13 years’ time in comparison to 

the tenure profile recorded currently indicates that 62.4% of new dwellings 
should be market properties, with 4.6% intermediate housing and 33% social 
rented accommodation41.  It is proposed to include a new paragraph in the Plan 

which would set out the level of affordable housing required (MAC13).  This 
would improve the Plan’s clarity.    

 
5.2. Following discussions at the Hearings, the Council was asked to determine 

whether there was a backlog of need for affordable dwellings from the start of 
the Plan period 2006 to 2013 and to calculate any residual requirement once all 
sources of supply, including allocations, commitments and windfalls had been 

taken into account.  The updated evidence identifies a backlog of 1,695 units 
from 2006 to 201442.  However, it is evident from the LHMA that any need 

arising from the start of the Plan period would have been factored into the 
overall assessment of housing need as set out in the LHMA Guide43.  We are 
thus content that the LHMA findings are based on a robust assessment of need.   

                                       
39 Local Housing Market Assessment Update (July 2013) 
40 Planning Policy Wales paragraph 9.1.4 
41 Local Housing Market Assessment Update (July 2013): Table 6.4.  
42 Council Response to Action Point 1 of Hearing Session 4 
43 Local Housing Market Assessment Guide (March 2006) 

Page 457



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

25 

 
Provision of Affordable Housing 

 
5.3. The submitted Plan set a target to deliver 6,953 affordable dwellings over the 

remaining Plan period (2013 – 2026) which would equate to 535 units per 

annum.  This figure was based on an estimate of the likely number of affordable 
homes that would be provided via the LDP housing allocations, windfalls and 

proposals for change of use based on the Plan’s affordable housing contribution 
targets in Policy H3: ‘Affordable Housing’.  The total affordable housing target 
also takes into account the current landbank of affordable units, less a 15% 

flexibility allowance.  Some affordable housing may also come forward from 
other sources, such as on sites or in units acquired by social housing providers.  

 
5.4. Policy H3, as submitted for examination, sought a contribution of 20% 

affordable housing on brownfield sites and a 30% contribution on greenfield 

sites on proposals that contain 10 or more dwellings or sites of 0.3 ha or above 
in gross site area.  The findings of the LDP Economic Viability Report44 informed 

the affordable housing contribution targets.  The findings were based on 
viability appraisals of a range of different development types and sites across 
Cardiff with varying levels of affordable housing.  The assessments included a 

calculation for necessary infrastructure which could be achieved through S106 
Obligations and/or Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) charges which would 

be consistent with Policy KP6: ‘New Infrastructure’.   
 

5.5. The report says that the LDP affordable housing contribution targets of 30% on 

greenfield sites and 20% on brownfield sites would be viable.  However, at the 
Hearings the Inspectors sought clarification that 20% affordable housing would 

be justified on large brownfield sites.  The Council’s response45 says that the 
viability assessment was undertaken at a high level across a representative 
number of hypothetical development typologies rather than a detailed 

assessment of individual sites and allocations.  Whilst this approach is 
consistent with the advice in the Harman Report46, the Council undertook 

further viability assessments which were informed by real situations in 
developments in Cardiff consistent with the scale and location of sites in the 

Plan47.  These detailed appraisals show that development remains viable with a 
30% affordable housing target on greenfield sites and 20% on brownfield sites 
with sufficient headroom to make a contribution towards necessary 

infrastructure.        
 

5.6. The Economic Viability Report also confirms that the LHMA recommended 
tenure split (40% social rented, 40% intermediate rented and 20% low cost 
home ownership) was used to inform the viability calculations.  It is proposed to 

amend the reasoned justification to Policy H3 to provide a broad tenure mix 
(MAC19) which would help support delivery of the type of housing required.            

 

                                       
44 Cardiff LDP Viability Testing: Economic Viability Report (September 2013)  
45 Council Response to Action Point 11 of Hearing Session 4  
46 Viability Testing Local Plans: Advice for Planning Practitioners (June 2012) 
47 Council Response to Action Point 11 of Hearing Session 4 

Page 458



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

26 

5.7. At the Hearings the Inspectors requested additional clarification48 on some of 
the data in the Economic Viability Report, including any differences in 

assumptions between that report and the CIL Economic Viability Study 
published in 201449.  The Council provided additional clarification including a 
table to show the differences between the 2013 and 2014 studies, to explain 

why values have changed for some assumptions and to identify any implications 
for viability.  Both studies generally took a high level approach to viability 

testing in line with CIL Regulations and guidance offered by Harman50.  The 
lower land values in the 2014 report would be expected to improve viability.  
However, the Council response showed that a combination of changes to other 

assumptions, such as build costs, resulted in only a marginal difference.   
 

5.8. In light of the identified level of affordable housing required, it was explored at 
the Hearings whether all policy options had been adequately pursued in order to 
maximise the provision of affordable homes.  The Council was asked to provide 

a rationale for its approach to achieving affordable housing targets rather than 
pursuing a more spatial approach based on market values.  The Council says 

that the viability appraisals have been undertaken across a range of site 
typologies across Cardiff.  Additional testing on sites consistent in scale and 
location to those identified in the LDP has also been undertaken.  This is 

consistent with advice in Harman which suggests a proportionate approach via 
testing a range of site typologies reflecting the mix of sites upon which the Plan 

relies.  The purpose is to provide high level assurance that the policies within 
the Plan are set in a way that is compatible with the likely economic viability of 
development needed to deliver the Plan.       

 
5.9. Whilst different housing market areas were identified for the LHMA the viability 

assessments undertaken do not conclude that a differential rate applied 
according to those areas, could be supported.  The Council’s evidence shows 
that whilst viability will vary between locations, the largest factor for sites 

identified in the Plan are in terms of costs, particularly land values and opening 
up costs, and the largest differences would be between greenfield and 

brownfield sites rather than specific locations.  The distinction between 
greenfield and brownfield sites has been made in recognition of the likely site 

specific infrastructure costs (such as onsite provision of schools on strategic 
sites) being generally higher on greenfield sites51.      

 

5.10. The Council’s Economic Viability Report indicates that the threshold, for which 
development schemes could make a contribution to the provision of affordable 

housing, could be reduced.  In seeking to maximise opportunities for affordable 
housing provision, the Council proposes a number of changes to Policy H3 
including reducing the threshold to 5 units and the site size to 0.1 ha.  

Amendments would be made to criterion iii. seeking to ensure that sites are not 
developed in a piecemeal way and to maximize affordable housing provision 

where adjacent sites are being developed.  It is also proposed to amend the 
policy to state that affordable housing will be sought to be delivered on-site 
unless there are exceptional circumstances (MAC19).  The requirement for 

                                       
48 Council Response to Action Points 3-18 of Hearing Session 4  
49 Cardiff Community Infrastructure Levy: Economic Viability Study Final Report (August 2014) 
50 Viability Testing Local Plans: Advice for Planning Practitioners (June 2012)  
51 Council Response to Action Point 10 of Hearing Session 4  

Page 459



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

27 

evidence of need is also proposed to be removed as the need for affordable 
housing has been established through the LHMA.  These changes would ensure 

that the policy more closely aligns with national planning policy52. 
 

5.11. The supporting text to Policy H3 refers to the requirement for all housing 

developments of 50 or more dwellings to be accompanied by an independent 
viability assessment.  This is not fully justified in the evidence and in cases 

where agreement cannot be reached on affordable housing contributions an 
independent assessment would need to be provided in any case.  It is also clear 
from the preceding text that each proposal’s actual contribution would depend 

on the scheme’s capacity for provision.  Changes proposed by the Council in 
MAC19 would remove the requirement for independent assessment on all 

developments of 50 or more dwellings.  It is considered that these changes 
would improve the Plan’s clarity and consistency of interpretation.                            

 

5.12. To take these proposed amendments into account, the Council has 
subsequently provided an updated breakdown of the anticipated residual 

affordable housing provision when assessed against all sources of supply, 
including allocations, commitments and windfalls53.  This shows the anticipated 
number of affordable dwellings to be provided over the remainder of the Plan 

period (2014 – 2026) to be 6,646.  Consequential changes to Policy KP13: 
‘Responding to Evidenced Social Needs’ and the supporting text are proposed in 

MAC13 to reflect this updated position.  
 

5.13. Whilst the affordable housing target has slightly reduced from that of the 

submitted Plan, it is not a significant reduction and the target is more accurate.  
The Council has considered during the examination ways in which the Plan 

might realistically increase affordable housing delivery, given the shortfall in the 
number of affordable dwellings expected to be delivered compared to the level 
of need identified.  The Council has sought to maximise affordable housing 

provision whilst taking into account the viability of developing potential sites, 
the anticipated future level of financial assistance in building new affordable 

homes and the level of developer contribution that can be realistically sought.   
 

5.14. Proposed changes to the monitoring framework (MAC75) would include an 
indicator to effectively monitor the delivery of affordable housing over the Plan 
period.  The new paragraph as proposed in MAC13 would also make clear that 

the affordable housing target would not meet the total identified need and that 
the Plan is only one of a variety of means to achieving a supply of affordable 

housing.  The Plan seeks an appropriate balance between the contribution from 
development to the provision of infrastructure and achieving a viable level of 
affordable housing.  This is consistent with PPW which requires the level of 

developer contribution that can realistically be sought when setting affordable 
housing targets to be taken into account54.  Monitoring would ensure that 

affordable homes were being delivered in accordance with the strategy and 
overall the strategy is considered sufficiently flexible to deal with future 
changes. 

 

                                       
52 Planning Policy Wales paragraph 9.2.17 
53 Council Response to Action Point 1 of Hearing Session 4 
54 Planning Policy Wales paragraph 9.2.16 

Page 460



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

28 

Conclusion 
 

5.15. We are satisfied that the evidence supports the need to seek affordable housing 
provision at the level envisaged and the proportions sought on brownfield and 
greenfield sites reflect available evidence.  Policy H3, as proposed to be 

amended by MAC19, would set out a clear yet flexible approach which would 
take into account the effect on the viability of development along with other site 

specific factors.  Subject to those changes proposed by the Council as set out 
above, we find the Plan’s approach to affordable housing sound.  

 

6   Gypsy & Traveller Sites  
 

Level of Need for Permanent Sites and Plan Allocation   
 

6.1. There are two Council-managed Gypsy and Traveller residential sites in Cardiff 
at Rover Way and Shirenewton.  There are also a few privately run sites, most 
notably next to the Council’s site at Shirenewton.  The sites generate a need for 

new pitches.  The Council commissioned an independent study55, carried out in 
consultation with the Gypsy and Traveller community, to assess the level of 

need for permanent and transit sites over the Plan period.  The level of need 
identified for the remainder of the Plan period (2013 – 2026) was 108 additional 
permanent pitches.  This comprises a current need for 43 pitches and a future 

need for 65 pitches.          
 

6.2. The submitted Plan allocates land for the provision for Gypsy and Traveller 
accommodation at Seawall Road via Policy H7: ‘Allocation Policy for Gypsy and 
Traveller Site’ which would accommodate 65 new pitches.  However, the site is 

within a Zone C2 floodplain, as identified by the TAN 15 Development Advice 
Maps (DAMs)56.  This position remains unchanged with the update to the DAMs 

in January 2015.  TAN 15 says that sites in Zone C2 should not be allocated for 
highly vulnerable development57, such as residential premises which includes 
caravan parks.  WG Circular 30/2007 says that Gypsy and Traveller sites should 

not be located in areas at high risk of flooding given the particular vulnerability 
of caravans.       

 
6.3. The Council’s study into potential sites rejected it on the basis of it being within 

Flood Zone C258.  The allocation was based on the findings of the Phase 2 

Strategic Flood Consequences Assessment (SFCA) which indicated that flood 
risk would be within current guidelines for development conditions but that 

flooding would become an issue when considering the impact of rising sea levels 
in future years.  However, national planning policy advises that flooding 
consequence assessments should ensure that the development meets an 

acceptable standard of flood defence for the design life of the development59.   
 

6.4. Moreover, national planning policy also requires a sequential approach to the 
location of development in areas at high risk of flooding.  The objective is to 

                                       
55 Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Needs Study (April 2013) 
56 PPW Technical Advice Note (TAN) 15: ‘Development and Flood Risk’ 
57 PPW Technical Advice Note (TAN) 15: ‘Development and Flood Risk’ paragraph 10.8   
58 Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople Sites Study: Final Report (July 2013) 
59 PPW Technical Advice Note (TAN) 15: ‘Development and Flood Risk’ Appendix 1, E) paragraph 8  

Page 461



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

29 

move away from flood defence and the mitigation of the consequences of new 
development in areas of flood hazard towards a more positive avoidance of 

development in those areas60.  Flood defence enhancement schemes are 
currently planned as part of a wider scheme that would reduce flood risk on the 
site.  However, in light of the site’s location in Flood Zone C2 the allocation 

would conflict with TAN 15 and soundness tests.   
 

6.5. Consequently, the Council proposes to delete the allocation and Policy H7 
(MAC22, MAC PM4).  However, in line with recommendations in the sites 
study, the site would be kept under review should satisfactory measures be 

implemented as part of a wider scheme to mitigate flooding in the area.  An 
indicator is proposed to be included in the revised monitoring framework to that 

effect (MAC75). 
 

6.6. The existing site at Rover Way was the subject of a report commissioned by the 

Council to examine its physical condition61.  The report identified the site as 
being potentially vulnerable to flooding due to coastal erosion.  If this site had 

to close, there would be a need to find a further 21 replacement pitches.  The 
report recommends that this situation will need to be resolved by 2033.  
Accordingly, it is proposed to include an indicator in the monitoring framework 

to ensure that the existing supply of pitches is maintained and a trigger to seek 
alternative pitches should existing pitches be lost (MAC75).    

 
Level of Need for Transit Sites  
 

6.7. The Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Needs Study identified a gap in 
provision for a suitably located transit site of around 10 pitches near the M4.  

However, the study says that this does not necessarily fall within Cardiff and 
could potentially be met by a range of local planning authorities in the area.  
The study recommends that the needs of Gypsy and Travellers visiting South 

East Wales should be considered at a strategic level. 
 

Provision of Permanent and Transit Sites 
 

6.8. Further to the examination Hearing, and in response to the Inspectors’ request, 
the Council prepared a position statement setting out clear mechanisms and 
timescales for delivery of a site or sites to meet the identified need for 108 

pitches.  It is proposed to undertake a comprehensive review of the site 
selection process, including revisiting the site selection criteria, to identify 

suitable sites to meet the identified current need over the next two years and to 
meet the longer term need by 2021.  The review would also identify potential 
funding sources.  Consequential changes to the Plan, as proposed by MAC23, 

would make clear that local authorities are required by the Housing (Wales) Act 
2014 to assess the accommodation needs of Gypsy families and to submit the 

assessment to the WG for approval by February 2016.  This assessment would 
also include an evaluation of the need for transit sites in Cardiff. 

 

6.9. The Council proposes to establish a Steering Group to work proactively with its 
Housing Department and the Gypsy and Traveller community to identify a 

                                       
60 PPW paragraph 13.2.3 and Technical Advice Note (TAN) 15: ‘Development and Flood Risk’ 
61 Site Appraisal Report on the Rover Way Gypsy and Traveller Site (May 2013)  

Page 462



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

30 

permanent site.  It is proposed to include the process and timescales for 
identification and provision of accommodation in the Plan (MAC23).  Whilst the 

proposed deletion of the allocation means that a site has not now been 
allocated, we are satisfied that adequate explanation has been provided and 
clear procedures would be put in place to ensure that the necessary provision is 

made.  The Council is also well aware of its duty under the Housing (Wales) Act 
to provide a permanent site where there is evidence of need.  The mechanisms 

and timescales for delivery would also be set out in the revised monitoring 
framework (MAC75) to ensure that a suitable site or sites would be identified 
and provided to meet the current need by 2017 and the longer term need by 

2021; failing this the Plan would be partially reviewed.               
 

6.10. In addition, Policy H8: ‘Sites for Gypsy and Traveller Caravans’ provides criteria 
to allow suitable sites to come forward.  Proposed changes to criterion ii 
(MAC23) would ensure that the correct terminology is used in respect of land 

contamination and would ensure that the policy was coherent.  Subject to this 
change and proposed changes to the reasoned justification, Policy H8 would 

provide a sufficiently sound basis for meeting the need for Gypsy and Traveller 
sites.     

 

7   Sustainable Transport and Infrastructure  
 

Sustainable Transport: Modal Split 
 

7.1. A key priority of the Plan is to establish Cardiff as a sustainable travel City as 
part of the wider objective of ensuring that people in Cardiff have a clean, 
attractive and sustainable environment.  A central aim of the transport strategy 

underpinning the LDP is to achieve a 50:50 split between travel by car and 
sustainable travel.  The modal split would relate to all journeys.  The Plan refers 

to the Council’s modelling assessment which shows that the growth projected in 
the LDP will result in major increase in transport movements and to 
accommodate the additional trips on the highway network, it will be necessary 

for at least 50% of all trips on Cardiff’s transport network to be made by 
sustainable modes by the end of the Plan period.   

 
7.2. The supporting evidence62 indicates that traffic flows need to be constrained to 

2010 levels for the transport network to accommodate the growth envisaged in 

a way which avoids unmanageable levels of congestion.  In order to achieve 
this, there needs to be a shift from car use to sustainable modes across all 

journey purposes from the 64% share identified in 2011 to the 50% share in 
the 50:50 target.  The Plan acknowledges that in order to achieve the 50:50 
modal split, development in the LDP would need to be supported by significant 

new transport infrastructure, improvements to existing transport and measures 
to manage travel demand and encourage use of sustainable transport both 

within existing and new communities in Cardiff.              
 
7.3. The Council’s evidence points to various data sources to show that there has 

been a significant increase in sustainable travel to work over the last 10 years, 
including a corresponding increase in rail use and cycling over the same period.  

The evidence indicates that a shift to more sustainable travel is already taking 

                                       
62 Background Technical Paper 5: Transportation (September 2013) 

Page 463



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

31 

place  whilst comparisons with other cities suggests that growth can stimulate 
investment in transport infrastructure and bring about a shift to sustainable 

modes63.  The Council also plans a range of measures to influence and change 
travel behaviour such as improvements to walking, cycling and public transport 
infrastructure, route improvements, transport hubs, parking controls and 

pricing policies.   
 

7.4. The position statement64 submitted by Vectos on behalf of the parties bringing 
forward strategic sites C,D, E, F and G refers to joint working between the 
Council, developers, landowners, Welsh Government, Sustrans, the Design 

Commission for Wales and public transport operators.  The master planning and 
design for transport is at an advanced stage for these strategic sites and has 

been based on traffic models that take into account traffic and movement 
associated with the strategic sites in the north-east and north-west of Cardiff.  
It sets out 4 key themes of design, choice, behaviour and management.  It is 

proposed to influence the internalisation of movement within the sites through 
design and to provide an appropriate level of infrastructure at the early stages 

of development to influence choice and promote behaviour change.  The 
strategic sites would be designed to make sustainable modes more attractive 
and achieve a better modal share than existing developments65.            

   
7.5. It was confirmed during the examination that it is not the Councils’ intention to 

require all development to achieve a 50:50 modal split.  Mitigating the transport 
impacts of development by securing supporting infrastructure or measures 
which maximise trips by sustainable travel will be crucial to achieving the modal 

split target.  Each development would have to show that it had maximised 
achievement towards the target in light of specific evidence available66.  

Proposed changes to the reasoned justification to Policy KP8: ‘Sustainable 
Transport’ (MAC10) would provide further clarity in that respect.  New 
development would thus play a role in providing infrastructure or measures that 

would collectively contribute to achievement of the target.   
 

7.6. New Policies KP2 (A) to (H) as proposed by MAC5 would include details of the 
specific transport infrastructure to be provided on each of the strategic sites.  

Furthermore the updated Infrastructure Plan (IP)67 provides further clarity in 
respect of the combination of strategic site investment and other initiatives to 
achieve the infrastructure necessary to facilitate the modal split.  The sites 

would be planned to encourage residents to walk, cycle and take public 
transport.   

 
7.7. The IP includes two categories of infrastructure.  Category 1 is 

essential/enabling infrastructure which is defined as being required ‘to facilitate 

development’ and would need to be delivered prior to, or at the commencement 
of the relevant phases of development (e.g. transportation, utilities and flood 

mitigation) and Category 2 necessary infrastructure which is described as 
necessary ‘to make development acceptable’ and would be phased and 

                                       
63 Cardiff Council Examination Statement Hearing Session 14: Transport Matters 
64 Hearing Session 2 Position Statement: Transport Infrastructure    
65 Background Technical Paper 5: Transportation Updated May 2014 provides the potential percentage of 

journeys that could transfer from car to walking, cycling or public transport    
66 Cardiff Council’s Examination Statement to Additional Hearing Session 25: Transport & Infrastructure 
67 Cardiff Infrastructure Plan (Working Draft 27th November 2015) 

Page 464



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

32 

implemented alongside new development (e.g. schools and open space).  
Proposed changes (MAC5) to include the categories of infrastructure in new 

policies KP2 (A) to (H) and Policy KP6: ‘New Infrastructure’ (MAC8) would help 
clarify the difference between the infrastructure types and provide greater 
certainty over the timing of delivery of infrastructure.  Furthermore, proposed 

changes to the reasoned justification to Policy KP8 (MAC10) would introduce 
specific references to the provision of transport infrastructure in the 

development of the strategic sites.   It would also include cross references to 
other relevant policies, thereby providing a comprehensive policy framework 
within which to identify necessary transport infrastructure and ensure it is 

delivered.       
 

7.8. The IP includes estimated costs of infrastructure, funding sources as well as 
anticipated timescales for delivery and would be regularly updated.  Proposed 
changes to the Plan (MAC5 and MAC75) would ensure that the summary of 

key infrastructure requirements within KP2 (A) to (H) would be cross-
referenced to the Infrastructure Plan and directly linked to the Plan’s monitoring 

framework.  Master plans, which would be informed by the new policies and the 
schematic frameworks forming part of those policies, are intended to play an 
important part in creating sustainable communities many of which would 

include retail, employment, community and education facilities on-site.  The 
scale of the sites would make it possible for new housing to be integrated with a 

range of new facilities.  This would help to reduce the need to travel. 
 

7.9. The master plans would also provide opportunities to provide connectivity both 

within the sites and externally to neighbouring areas.  They would be designed 
to maximise the use of public transport, including the provision of new and 

extension of existing services as well as walking and cycling.  Discussions have 
already taken place between developers and transport operators on some sites 
and key routes have been identified and costed.  Furthermore, cycle networks 

and pedestrian links have been planned which would be an integral feature of 
the new communities and would make walking and cycling practical choices for 

daily trips.  Off-site connections would improve the scope for connecting with 
upgraded cycle routes beyond the sites, including to the Taff Trail and City 

Centre.  Where relevant, these details have been included as ‘Essential’ or 
Category 1 infrastructure in the proposed new policies KP2 (A) to (H).         

 

7.10. It is recognised that achieving the modal shift will require a significant shift 
from car to other modes for residents.  However, we agree with assertions 

made at the examination that it would be unrealistic to expect traffic to flow 
unimpeded at peak times or to attempt to build sufficient road capacity to 
accommodate and prioritise the convenience of car users.  PPW aims to extend 

transport choice, encourage a more efficient and effective transport system and 
to minimise the need to travel.  It expects this to be achieved through 

improving accessibility, promoting walking, cycling and supporting public 
transport, traffic management and infrastructure improvements68.     

 

7.11. It is intended to measure progress in achieving the modal split by including 
within the IP a time-phased trajectory or timeline of expected progress towards 

the achievement of the 50:50 modal split target by the end of the Plan period.  

                                       
68 Planning Policy Wales paragraphs 8.1.1 and 8.1.4  

Page 465



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

33 

Progress would also be measured by surveying the mode of travel by individual 
journey purposes via the monitoring framework (MAC75).  This would enable 

the Council to identify appropriate interventions that may be required to be 
targeted at specific types of journeys.  The monitoring framework would include 
indicators to measure the mode split for all journeys as well as improvements in 

journey times and reliability.  If a trigger point is activated this would 
necessitate an assessment to investigate the underlying causes including 

accessibility mapping, corridor investigations into mode shift, journey time and 
reliability by mode and pinch points.  It would also assess relative journey costs 
by mode and an assessment of the provision of transportation infrastructure.  

This information would be used to identify the necessary remedial actions 
including review of the Plan.    

 
Strategic Rapid Transit and Bus Corridors  

 

7.12. The Council’s transport strategy focuses on seeking to reduce car use by 
encouraging people to use more sustainable modes of transport.  To achieve 

these objectives the Council intends to use a range of measures including 
infrastructure improvements to the strategic bus corridors by developing bus 
priority measures, bus lanes, bus gating and junction improvements to reduce 

bus journey time and improve reliability.  It is also working with bus operators 
to re-configure the network to support development of the strategic sites and 

take account of proposals for the new bus station, new orbital routes and 
interchange points.  The Council is working with neighbouring authorities to 
support and encourage sustainable commuting into the City.  This includes work 

with RCTCBC to secure bus rapid transit connections along the A4119 corridor.  
RCTCBC has submitted a funding bid to WG to develop a park and ride site 

adjacent to this corridor with supporting junction improvements and bus priority 
measures69.  Other measures include newly acquired enforcement powers in 
respect of moving traffic offences and on-street parking controls.  It is also 

proposed to develop the active travel network through development of 
comprehensive walking and cycling networks and delivery of new infrastructure 

to support these networks.     
 

7.13. In response to the Inspectors’ request for additional information regarding bus 
capacity and journey times, the Council provided calculations showing the 
improvement in highway capacity in terms of ‘total people movement’ if buses 

replaced private cars on the highway.  Also, how increases in bus capacity 
would result in a reduction in traffic demand and lead to improved journey 

times for all traffic.  Information was also provided on how bus lanes can 
provide priority over general traffic and encourage modal shift70.  The graphs 
show that congestion increases most significantly beyond the 0.8 ratio of flow 

to capacity and the Council intends to use this ratio to identify what pinch 
points in the network contribute to the journey times.  This information would 

be used in the analysis of transport data which in turn would be used for any 
assessment triggered via the monitoring framework and resultant prioritisation 
of transport interventions.  Improvements in infrastructure, services and 

measures such as those outlined above would be targeted at areas that support 
the growth in the Plan in a deliverable and phased manner.     

                                       
69 Council Response to Transport Related Action Points: Action Point 6 of Hearing 7   
70 Council Response to Transport Related Action Points: Action Point 7 of Hearing 14  

Page 466



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

34 

 
7.14. Proposed changes to Policy T2: ‘Strategic Rapid Transit and Bus Corridors’ 

(MAC38, MAC PM13) would provide more details of the bus corridor 
enhancements and would ensure that there was consistency with the details 
shown on the Proposals Map.  Changes are also proposed to the reasoned 

justification to Policy T2.  The updated text would refer to 4 Rapid Transit 
Corridors that have been broadly identified along corridors leading to the City 

Centre.  The mode and precise alignment of rapid transit is not yet known and 
for this reason we agree with the Council that the routes cannot be defined on 
the Proposals Map and should not be included.  However, provision for Rapid 

Transit Corridors would be made in the proposed new policies KP2 (A) and KP2 
(C) to (H).   

 
7.15. Further technical assessment would need to be undertaken, including as part of 

the master planning of the strategic sites, which would help to inform the 

precise mode and route alignments.  Types of rapid transit are being considered 
including heavy rail, tram rail, light rail and bus rapid transit.  Options for the 

types of infrastructure required to provide rapid transit serving the strategic 
sites are set out in the IP together with funding sources.  The proposed changes 
to Policy T2 (MAC38) would provide for the development of 4 principal rapid 

transit corridors that would serve the strategic sites.  The bus corridor 
enhancements would be located largely within these corridors but would be 

specifically highlighted as such.  The proposed changes would thus provide the 
necessary distinction between the rapid transit corridors and the bus corridors 
within the Plan.  We are also satisfied that the policies in the Plan (as proposed 

to be amended) would provide an overarching framework with sufficient detail 
at this stage to guide more detailed master planning for the transport 

infrastructure required, for both the strategic sites and for links to surrounding 
areas.          

 

Cardiff City Region ‘Metro’ Network  
 

7.16. The WG’s National Transport Finance Plan 2015 was consulted upon and 
published during the examination.  It sets out its priorities for strategic 

transport over the next 5 years and beyond, the estimated expenditure 
required to deliver the schemes and the likely sources of funding.  It includes a 
number of short, medium and longer-term schemes which will contribute to the 

delivery of the ‘Metro’ network.  The Council is working with the WG to develop 
and implement walking, cycling and bus priority improvements.  However, as 

outlined above, until the WG has undertaken technical assessments, details of 
the modes routes and alignment of the rapid transit are not yet known.         

 

7.17. Following discussions at the Hearings, the Council has proposed a number of 
changes to the Plan, including a new policy, to provide a policy context to 

ensure commitment to delivery of this key project.  It would ensure that the 
Plan safeguards land required for the ‘Metro’ transport scheme and avoid 
prejudicing the future development of ‘Metro’ routes.  Proposed new Policy T9: 

‘Cardiff City Region ‘Metro’ Network’ (MAC39) would seek to ensure that 
development that is required now does not prejudice delivery of this regionally 

important project.  It would set out in the supporting text that any necessary 
safeguarding of land would be integrated within the design of approved 
development.  The need for the rapid transit corridors is set out in the new 

Page 467



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

35 

policies proposed for the relevant strategic sites, together with reference to 
improvements to the strategic public transport network.            

 
7.18. The ‘Metro’ project is a longer-term initiative.  Delivery of the Plan’s transport 

strategy is not wholly reliant upon it being in place before development in the 

Plan can commence.  The strategy provides for a number of different transport 
improvements and measures rather than reliance upon one project.  Neither 

does it rely upon one particular mode – such as a track, tram or rail-based 
solution.  It provides a sound basis to support and help deliver the growth 
proposed rather than relying solely on initiatives it cannot control.  However, 

the IP would offer an opportunity to provide updated information on potential 
timescales, costs and sources of funding for the ‘Metro’ which would be 

regularly updated.  This would enable effective monitoring of progress in 
respect of the ‘Metro’ and other transport infrastructure by linking to the 
monitoring framework and enabling the Council to take any necessary action if 

the delivery of infrastructure fails to progress as expected.    
 

Regional Transport Hub  
 
7.19. Policy T4: ‘Regional Transport Hub’ seeks to support development of 

infrastructure and facilities around Cardiff Central railway station.  It is 
proposed to develop a central public transport interchange around the railway 

station and Central Square.  The site is part of a major redevelopment initiative 
being progressed by the Council and developers with landowners, Network Rail 
and transport operators.  A study providing options to reconfigure the City bus 

network has been completed together with public consultation on the 
requirements of a new bus station.   

 
7.20. New policy KP2 (A) would provide a policy context within the Plan and set out 

specific infrastructure requirements including the need for a central, public 

transport hub providing access to and interchange between the rail network, 
rapid transit, strategic bus corridors as well as the City-wide bus network and 

cycle networks.  The new policy would also include reference to the potential 
need to safeguard land for future development of the ‘Metro’ project.  Policy T4 

would set out the key components and scope of the transport hub which would 
inform the development of more detailed specifications as part of a 
comprehensive master plan of the strategic site.  We are satisfied that the 

proposed changes would ensure that sufficient details would be included in the 
Plan to ensure provision of an accessible interchange which would be integrated 

with surrounding development and provide connectivity between national, 
regional and local rail and bus services.             

 

Monitoring and Managing Transport Impacts   
 

7.21. The development of the strategic sites would inevitably result in substantial 
increases in traffic flows.  Without adequate mitigation this would place undue 
pressure on the local road networks leading to significant traffic congestion and 

potentially impact on air quality.  However, the policies in the Plan would 
require a range of transport mitigation and improvement measures, including 

capacity improvements and public transport links.  The Plan makes clear that 
implementation of Policy KP8 and other policies in the Plan would help to reduce 
pollution arising from road traffic.   

 

Page 468



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

36 

7.22. Policy EN13: ‘Air, Noise, Light Pollution and Land Contamination’ (as proposed 
to be amended by MAC35) would also seek to ensure that development that 

would generate unacceptable levels of air or other pollution would be 
appropriately located and controlled in line with national planning policy71.  
Furthermore, Air Quality Management Areas (AQMA) would be identified on the 

constraints map and an indicator would be included in the monitoring 
framework (via MAC75) to monitor the number of AQMAs throughout the Plan 

period.  As the Highway Authority, the Council has undertaken a thorough and 
robust assessment of the transport implications of developing the strategic sites 
and is satisfied that adequate mitigation can be put in place.  On the basis of 

evidence available, we share this view.   
 

7.23. There would be scope to review transport mitigation measures as the 
development of the strategic sites progressed.  A number of measures have 
been introduced to effectively monitor progress and take any necessary action 

to ensure delivery of transport infrastructure.  The proposed changes would 
introduce new policies for each of the strategic sites identifying the necessary 

infrastructure, including links to the IP and clearer timescales by which it is 
required.  Policy KP6: ‘New Infrastructure’ would require new development to 
make provision for, or contribute towards, the infrastructure needed as a 

consequence of the proposed development which would be delivered in a timely 
manner to meet the needs of existing and planned communities.  Proposed 

changes via MAC5 and MAC8 would provide greater certainty over the timing 
of delivery of infrastructure and would make clear that any essential/enabling 
categories of infrastructure, such as transport and highways, would be delivered 

prior to commencement of the relevant phases of development.      
 

7.24. Updated information in the IP would identify all the development projected to 
come forward together with information on the infrastructure requirements, 
including for each of the strategic sites.  This would ensure that there is a 

benchmark for monitoring the delivery of infrastructure.  This is a reasonable 
approach and avoids the complexity of having to separately identify in the Plan 

the requirements of a wide range of infrastructure providers.  A trajectory or 
time-based schedule of expected progress towards achievement of the 50:50 

modal split target over the Plan period linked to the monitoring framework 
would provide additional clarity and ensure that necessary infrastructure is 
delivered at the appropriate stage to reduce car dependency.   

 
7.25. This, together with the amended monitoring framework, would provide the 

Council with a delivery and funding implementation timetable which would 
inform the master planning process as well as ensure that funding is in place to 
enable the relevant infrastructure to be provided from the first occupation of 

the strategic sites (where relevant) or over the medium to longer term.  
Furthermore, it would provide the basis for the Council to monitor progress by 

setting out a programme and key progression points for the critical 
infrastructure and to identify what action would be taken if the delivery of 
infrastructure fails to progress as expected.         

 
7.26. We are satisfied on the basis of the available evidence that the effects of the 

strategic sites on traffic and transport can be adequately mitigated.  

                                       
71 Planning Policy Wales paragraph 13.11 

Page 469



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

37 

Furthermore, there would be scope to review transport mitigation measures as 
the development of the strategic sites progress.   

 
The Provision of Infrastructure 
 

7.27. As outlined above, proposed changes to include the categories of 
infrastructure in new policies KP2 (A) to (H) and Policy KP6 (MAC5, MAC8) 

would help clarify the difference between the infrastructure types.  Proposed 
changes to the reasoned justification to Policy KP6 would also clarify that for 
the strategic sites, the new policies would provide clear guidance on the 

infrastructure and master planning requirements.  There would also be a 
cross-reference to the IP.   

 

7.28. Policy KP7: ‘Planning Obligations’ requires development to provide 
contributions to fund necessary improvements to infrastructure and 

community benefits to meet requirements arising from new development.  
Proposed changes to the policy and the supporting text would clarify that 
planning obligations would be sought on a case-by-case basis (MAC9).  Other 

changes would make clear that contributions would be sought where they are 
necessary, directly related to the development and fairly and reasonably 

related in scale and in kind to the development.  These changes would bring 
the Plan in line with the provisions of WG Circular 13/97 ‘Planning Obligations’ 

and the CIL Regulations 2010 (as amended).  The proposed changes would 
also reflect the possibility of a CIL charging schedule being introduced during 
the lifetime of the Plan.   

 
7.29. The Council’s intention is to introduce a CIL after adoption of the LDP.  

However, the Council intends to continue to seek necessary infrastructure for 
the strategic sites via S106 agreements, where appropriate, rather than 
relying solely on the CIL mechanism.  In certain circumstances, S106 

contributions would allow for required infrastructure to be delivered in line 
with the appropriate phases of development via triggered thresholds.  This 

would help to ensure that the necessary infrastructure is in place when 
required.  The IP is intended to support both the LDP and any future CIL 
charging schedule in this regard.  In order to closely monitor the delivery of 

infrastructure the Council intend to prepare and keep under review an IP 
Delivery Report which would be included within the monitoring framework.   

 
7.30. The IP Delivery Report would include details of S106 agreements that have 

been entered into, planning permissions granted that are CIL liable (should a 

CIL be adopted) and details of any grants of other sources of funding that 
have been secured towards infrastructure provision72.  This would provide a 

clear distinction between S106 and CIL and ensure that there would be no 
‘double dipping’ where developers pay twice for the same piece of 
infrastructure.  It would also ensure that funding was effectively co-ordinated 

and could form the basis for priority and inclusion of appropriate infrastructure 
in the CIL Regulation 123 list.     

 

                                       
72 Council Response to Action Point 7 of Hearing Session 2 

Page 470



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

38 

7.31. The Council commissioned a Strategic Flood Consequences Assessment (SFCA) 
which provides a broad level assessment of the flood risk for the sites in the 

Plan and considers fluvial and tidal influences together with other sources of 
flood risk such as ordinary watercourses and public sewer networks.  It sets out 
current and future flood risks for each of the sites and an assessment of the 

ability of the site to comply with acceptance criteria set out in Technical Advice 
Note (TAN) 15: ‘Development and Flood Risk’.  Where mitigation measures 

would be required to meet the requirements of TAN 15, the SFCA sets out 
detailed and modelled mitigation measures including estimated costs.  These 
indicative costs, which have been included in the IP, provide a summary of 

infrastructure requirements related to flood defences and drainage.  The Plan 
makes clear that site specific assessments, including FCA would be required 

where appropriate and that development would only be permitted where the 
risks and consequences of flooding could be demonstrated to be managed to an 
acceptable level in line with national planning policy.   

 
7.32. Dŵr Cymru Welsh Water (DCWW) was consulted on the LDP and has provided 

relevant water, sewerage and waste water comments on the allocations as well 
as providing assistance with assessing the potential demands for water and 
sewerage.  The IP identifies the relevant waste water treatment works likely to 

be affected and the fact that some works would need to be upgraded to 
accommodate the proposed growth.  The SCG for each of the strategic sites 

also acknowledge the necessity for water infrastructure requirements which 
would be linked with the phasing of development.  DCWW has been in detailed 
discussions with the Council and developers and say that water or sewerage 

constraints would not be insurmountable barriers to delivery and that there is 
no reason why a combination of improvements through Asset Management Plan 

investment, developer contributions and the requisition process would not 
ensure that the allocated sites are delivered as proposed73.                        

           

8   The Economy & Employment, including Retail 
 

Provision of Employment Land and Premises  
 

8.1. The Council’s updated Employment Land and Premises Study74 assessed the 
existing employment land supply, the forecast supply of labour for different 
sectors of the economy and the future requirements for employment land and 

property.  In assessing likely future employment scenarios for the Plan period, 
an uplift factor was applied to annual employment growth to take account of 

economic and labour market changes since the 2008 Cardiff Employment Land 
and Premises Study was undertaken.  The employment scenarios were also 
developed to reflect planned interventions for some sectors identified as high 

growth prospects, in particular the financial and business services, construction, 
hotel and restaurant sectors where additional funding had been identified to 

boost growth rates within the Central Enterprise Zone.  The analysis of 
population and labour market projections aligned to the LDP strategy suggests 
that Cardiff will need to expand its employment base by 40,000 jobs over the 

Plan period to sustain a healthy labour market.   

                                       
73 DCWW Hearing Statement for Hearing 2: Constraints to Development, Provision of Infrastructure, 

Timing and Delivery 
74 Cardiff Employment Land Study Update undertaken by DTZ (June 2011) 

Page 471



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

39 

 
8.2. Further analysis of the labour supply by sector indicates that of those jobs, 

23,220 are forecast to be in Non B uses and would not require employment land 
allocations75.  There is thus a requirement to accommodate 17,600 jobs on or in 
employment land and premises.  The Council’s Employment Land and Property 

Study Gap Analysis76 assessed the future office requirements, including an 
allowance for complementary non-B Use Class activities to be accommodated 

on employment sites such as motor trades/car showrooms as well as an 
allowance for market churn and stock modernisation.  The estimated future 
requirement for office floorspace is between 413,900 to 501,200 sqm.  The 

identified supply of office floorspace is estimated to be 537,883 sqm77.  This is 
based on an up-to-date calculation considering a number of sources of data 

including vacant premises, existing consents and sites with planning permission 
granted subject to the signing of S106 Agreements.  On the basis of the 
available evidence we are satisfied that this is an accurate assessment.      

 
8.3. The identified requirement for industrial land over the Plan period is between 83 

and 125 ha.  This estimate makes an allowance for the replacement or 
refurbishment of some industrial stock.  However, the supply of industrial land 
assessed as part of the Gap Analysis was 69.5 ha.  This suggests a potential 

shortfall of industrial and warehousing land (Use Classes B1 (b), (c), B2 and 
B8) to meet requirements.  Furthermore, a substantial element of forward 

supply was ruled out due to further evidence on flooding which would prevent 
some sites coming forward unless effective flood mitigation measures were put 
in place.  The Council provided an up-to-date calculation of supply for the 

examination Hearings based on the monitoring of completions since 2006 and 
an element of employment land that is anticipated as coming forward as part of 

the mixed-use strategic sites.  It is anticipated that there would be a total 
supply of 125.4 ha78 of employment land over the Plan period.    

 

8.4. The WSP recognises that the Capital Region needs to develop a stronger 
presence in higher value services and the knowledge economy and 

acknowledges Cardiff’s pivotal role as a key provider of professional services, 
focussing on innovation and higher value-added knowledge sectors79.  The lack 

of high quality out-of-town office space is accepted as being a significant issue 
in terms of providing an appropriate range and choice to maintain and improve 
the competitiveness of the City and to attract expansion and investment in 

knowledge-based and other identified high-value growth sectors.80  The need 
for start-up premises and ‘grow-on’ space is also acknowledged, as is the need 

to provide jobs in accessible locations and to create and support sustainable 
neighbourhoods.  Policy KP9: ‘Responding to Evidenced Economic Needs’ sets 
out how the Plan intends to provide for a range and choice of employment sites 

in different locations, directing development to the most sustainable locations to 
deliver the level of growth in the Plan and to create balanced communities. 

 

                                       
75 Cardiff Council Examination Statement Hearing Session 10: Employment and Retail 
76 Cardiff Employment Land and Property Study Gap Analysis Final Report (April 2012) 
77 Erratum to Cardiff Council Examination Statement Hearing Session 10: Employment and Retail 
78 Not including the Non-Strategic Employment Site for Health Related Employment as outlined below  
79 WSP paragraphs 19.9 and 19.22  
80 Background Technical Paper No 4: Economic (September 2013) 

Page 472



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

40 

8.5. High density office development would be concentrated in the Central 
Enterprise Zone and Cardiff Bay area whilst the mixed-use strategic sites would 

include employment uses for existing and future residents.  The existing 
employment sites identified in Policy EC1: ‘Existing Employment Land’ are 
located in long-established business and industrial areas.  Many of the sites 

identified for protection are located in areas to the west and south of the City 
which have high levels of unemployment.   

 
8.6. Whilst the Plan would moderately exceed the forecast need for office floorspace, 

this would assist in maintaining a supply of employment land and providing 

some flexibility in the event that actual economic growth is stronger than 
forecast.  This is consistent with TAN 23 which says that land provision targets 

may exceed anticipated demand to allow for the chance that the assessments 
are too low and to promote flexibility, competition and choice81.   

 

8.7. Further to the hearings some boundary amendments were proposed to the 
Proposals Map.  Proposed change MAC PM6 would more accurately reflect 

Associated British Port’s land ownership on the map showing employment land 
EC1.2 and the Central Bay Business Area whilst a proposed change to the 
boundary of Cardiff Business Park via MAC PM7 would reflect the land where 

planning permission for housing has been granted.  These changes are 
recommended to improve the Plan’s accuracy and for clarity.        

 
The Strategic Employment Site 

 

8.8. Strategic Site H is located within flood risk Zone C1 of the TAN 15 DAMs 
(January 2015).  TAN 15 promotes a precautionary approach which sets out 

that development can take place subject to justification including the 
acceptability of the consequences of flooding82.  Further to the Hearings, at the 
request of the Inspectors, the Council provided additional information83 to 

support and justify the allocation in line with the requirement for a sequential 
approach set out in PPW84 and TAN 1585.  Also, to confirm whether the principle 

of a sequential test in terms of town centre-related uses had been taken in line 
with PPW86 and TAN 23: ‘Economic Development’87.    

 
8.9. Focusing first on the matter of a sequential test for town centre-related uses, 

PPW seeks to promote a broad balance between housing and employment 

opportunities in order to minimise the need for travel.  Major generators of 
travel demand such as employment should be located within existing urban 

areas or in other locations which are or can be well served by public transport, 
or can be reached by walking and cycling88.  TAN 23 says that local planning 
authorities should apply judgement depending on the nature of the economic 

use and its applicability to a particular location.  Also, that they should have 

                                       
81 Technical Advice Note (TAN) 23: ‘Economic Development’ paragraph 4.5.2 
82 Technical Advice Note (TAN) 15: ‘Development and Flood Risk’ paragraph 6.2 
83 Council Response to Action Point 4 of Hearing Session 5  
84 Planning Policy Wales paragraphs 9.2.9 and 13.3.1 
85 Technical Advice Note (TAN) 15: ‘Development and Flood Risk’ paragraphs 3.1 and section 10 
86 PPW paragraphs 10.2.9 and 10.2.11 
87 Technical Advice Note (TAN) 23: ‘Economic Development’ paragraph 1.2.7 and 2.1 
88 Planning Policy Wales paragraph 4.7.4 

Page 473



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

41 

regard to considerations set out in the TAN in respect of weighing economic 
benefit i.e. jobs accommodated, alternatives and special merit.   

 
8.10. The proposed allocation of this strategic employment site to the east of           

St Mellons would provide considerable employment opportunities at the edge of 

an existing settlement in a deprived area which benefits from European Assisted 
Area status, as well as the potential for a new railway station and park and ride 

facility given the advantages of its location adjacent to the main line.  It is 
readily accessible by public transport but would provide further opportunities to 
provide public transport access to the site from other parts of the City as well 

as improvements to walking and cycling facilities to improve local access to the 
site and help sustain neighbouring communities including Trowbridge and St 

Mellons.  The site would provide some office space but it would also offer 
campus style or bespoke accommodation promoted for high value service and 
knowledge-based sectors as well as potential accommodation for new start-ups 

or spin-off businesses.  It would offer an opportunity to extend the existing St 
Mellons Business Park which is at capacity.   

 
8.11. Strategic Site A would offer City-centre high density B1 Use Class 

accommodation.  However, the evidence indicates that there are few 

opportunities within the City-centre to offer the type of low-density, bespoke, 
incubator type of accommodation that would provide floorspace on one level 

and be capable of being adapted to suit the needs of the business and/or to 
provide grow on space.  The sequential search undertaken by the Council also 
shows that whilst Cardiff has a number of designated employment sites, these 

tend to be located in the traditional urban areas characterised by industrial and 
warehousing activities with very little new floorspace to accommodate the 

needs of the knowledge-based sectors that require high specification buildings.  
Furthermore, there is not sufficient vacant land at existing out-of-town business 
parks such as at Cardiff Gate to accommodate the scale and type of 

employment site as that proposed at St Mellons.   
 

8.12. This is further supported by the findings of the Council-commissioned report on 
the economic case for St Mellons Business Park extension89.  The report says 

that the strategic site would provide the opportunity to create a low-density 
business park offering more floor space on one level, modern infrastructure and 
flexibility to the occupiers.  It also offers an opportunity to provide facilities 

valued by businesses as well as shared services such as broadband packages 
and security.  Furthermore, there would be the potential to attract new 

investment from high growth knowledge-led sectors and even future 
development of a high tech cluster.  This would accord with PPW and TAN 23 
which says that the planning system should particularly support the low-carbon 

economy, innovative business/technology clusters and social enterprises which 
are defined as businesses that are particularly important in providing 

opportunities for social groups disadvantaged in the labour market.  
Developments that will provide space for these categories of businesses count 
as making special policy contributions90.                                 

 

                                       
89 St Mellons Business Park Extension 2014 Update: The Economic Case for the Extension Draft Report  
90 Technical Advice Note (TAN) 23: ‘Economic Development’ paragraph 2.1.13 

Page 474



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

42 

8.13. Turning to the issue of flood risk, Zone C1 of the TAN 15 DAMs are areas of the 
floodplain which are developed and served by significant infrastructure, 

including flood defences.  TAN 15 sets out a precautionary framework for flood 
risk which includes justification for development and the acceptability of 
potential flooding consequences.  Commercial development is defined as less 

vulnerable development in terms of the justification test and the TAN says that 
development can only be justified if it can be demonstrated that its location is 

necessary to assist, or be part of, a local authority regeneration initiative or 
strategy required to sustain an existing settlement; or its location is necessary 
to contribute to key employment objectives supported by the local planning 

authority and other key partners, to sustain an existing settlement or region.  
Also, that it concurs with the aims of PPW and meets the definition of previously 

developed land.     
 

8.14. The site is not previously developed land.  However, as outlined above, the 

Council consider that the edge of settlement allocation is necessary to 
contribute to both the LDP economic strategy and to that of the wider City 

Region.  The Council’s sequential approach to identifying land for a strategic 
employment site has shown that there is no existing brownfied site within the 
City centre capable of accommodating the proposal.  The allocation would 

provide opportunities for development in those sectors identified in the WG 
Economic Renewal Programme91 such as advanced materials and 

manufacturing, as well as the potential to promote and develop clusters of key 
sectors and research and development expertise.  Key to the success of this 
would be the correct type of available land and premises in sustainable 

locations across the City to promote growth and attract inward investment.  It 
would also act as a catalyst to developing a sustainable transport corridor for 

the wider region.  The strategic employment site would thus be a key element 
of a wider spatial strategy which would align jobs, development and 
infrastructure in line with TAN 2392.                   

 
8.15. Without the proposed allocation, the supply of industrial land would fall to 

approximately 97 ha.  Whilst this would be within the range identified as a 
requirement over the Plan period, there would be a reliance on all sites with 

planning permission and those with permission subject to S106 Agreements, 
coming forward.  Furthermore, the Council says that approximately 15 ha of the 
industrial supply would be on land without planning consent and identified as 

having potential for redevelopment.  If this land was discounted, the supply 
would fall to the minimum amount identified as being necessary to deliver the 

Plan’s strategy93.  The LDP economic strategy seeks to support Cardiff’s role set 
out in the WSP as the key economic driver for the region, at the centre of a 
strong regional economy which is internationally competitive.  In order to do 

this it needs to provide for a range and choice of employment land and 
premises to promote opportunities for growth and economic prosperity.   

 
8.16. TAN 15 also sets out that it should be demonstrated that the potential 

consequences of a flooding event for the particular type of development have 

been considered, and in terms of the criteria contained in sections 5 and 7 and 

                                       
91 ‘Economic Renewal: A New Direction’ (Welsh Assembly Government, July 2010)  
92 Technical Advice Note (TAN) 23: ‘Economic Development’ paragraph 2.1.12  
93 Council Response to Action Point 4 of Hearing Session 5 

Page 475



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

43 

appendix 1, found to be acceptable94.  The Council’s SFCA included an 
assessment of the site against these criteria and demonstrated that the flood 

risk could be effectively mitigated through a combination of raising the sea wall 
at points most likely to be prone to breaching and raising ground levels at the 
site95.  Furthermore, the first sections of necessary work at Tabb’s Gout are in 

progress96.   
 

8.17. The SCG agreed between the developer and the Council proposes development 
north of the railway with the area to the south being used for compensatory 
flood storage and ecological mitigation.  The Council’s consultants also provided 

a technical note with further clarity on the proposed compensatory storage 
facilities.  This sets out the principles of a multi stem system to provide 

compensatory fluvial flood storage to mitigate for raising ground within the 
site97.  The position statement from NRW confirms that it agrees with the 
principles illustrated in the technical note, though this would need to be 

assessed within a more detailed site-specific FCA submitted as part of a 
planning application.  However, for the purposes of the LDP flood risk matters 

are agreed.      
 

8.18. The site is within the Gwent Levels: Rumney and Peterstone Site of Special 

Scientific Interest (SSSI).  PPW says that there is a presumption against 
development likely to damage a SSSI98.  NRW object to the proposed allocation 

on the basis that it will result in a loss of some of the SSSI area.  NRW’s view is 
that such developments cannot be accommodated in such a way as to conserve 
and enhance the SSSI.  This is a general objection based on experience of other 

large scale developments within the Gwent Levels suite of SSSIs99.  The SCG 
agreed between the Council and developer sets out the principles to protect the 

value of the SSSI and the reen system within the site.  These include ensuring 
there would be a minimum buffer from the main reens and from field ditches.  
If the infilling of any main reen or field ditch proves to be unavoidable, it would 

be realigned with at least an equivalent capacity around the perimeter of the 
development or a compensatory length of ditch would be provided elsewhere in 

the site.   
 

8.19. Other compensatory measures include fluvial flood storage to mitigate for 
ground raising within the site, as referred to above.  In response to issues 
raised by NRW, the developer’s flood risk consultants have confirmed that the 

new reens would be connected to the existing reens which would mean that the 
quantity and quality of water within the new reens would be the same as that in 

the existing.  In this way, the role of reens in supporting special features of the 
SSSI can be maintained with the new reens complementing retained existing 
reens.  It has also been confirmed that the proposed additional reens to the 

south of the railway would be a direct replacement for the loss of any existing 
reens to the north of the railway.  This, together with the multi cell system, 

                                       
94 Technical Advice Note (TAN) 15: ‘Development and Flood Risk’ paragraph 6.2 
95 Cardiff SFCA Phase 3 Study – Area A Wentloog Tidal and Area A Wentloog Fluvial  
96 Council response to Action Point 4 of Hearing Session 5 
97 Technical Note ‘Multi Cell Flood Storage Concept LDP Strategic Site H: Atkins (February 2015)   
98 Planning Policy Wales paragraph 5.5.8 
99 Council response to Action Point 5 of Hearing Session 5 

Page 476



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

44 

would either replace or increase flood storage thereby offsetting any loss as a 
result of the development100.   

 
8.20. On the basis of the evidence available, we are satisfied that the site could be 

developed in a manner which would ensure that the reen system and 

biodiversity assets would be adequately protected.  This would need to be 
addressed in detail as part of an environmental assessment supporting a future 

planning application.  Furthermore, proposed new Policy EN7: ‘Priority Habitats 
and Species’ (MAC32) would make clear that developers would be expected to 
minimise any impact on biodiversity assets and to provide sufficient mitigation.   

 
8.21. The site also lies within the Wentloog Levels Landscape of Outstanding Historic 

Interest and Archaeologically Sensitive Area.  The environmental and flood risk 
constraints have been carefully assessed to ensure that any necessary 
mitigation and enhancement measures would be embedded within the new 

Policy KP2 (H).  This would provide an appropriate framework within which to 
address these and other issues.  There is little to suggest that the site could not 

be developed in a manner sympathetic to its environmental and heritage status.  
Considerations such as impacts on landscape, archaeology and protected 
species are detailed matters which could be addressed at the planning 

application stage.     
 

8.22. The SA stresses that from an environmental perspective this is a poor site and 
recommends that it is avoided.  However, it is acknowledged in the SA that its 
allocation would provide land for the kind of jobs that would not easily be 

accommodated in the City centre and that these might be accessible for 
residents of Trowbridge and Rumney.  Moreover, providing employment land in 

St Mellons would help address some of the key problems identified in Cardiff’s 
‘Southern Arc’ where geographically there is a concentration of deprivation101.  
The SA recommends providing employment and housing land within this area to 

help minimise existing deprivation and inequality.   
 

8.23. The purpose of the SA is to appraise economic, environment and social effects 
of the Plan’s strategy and policies to ensure decisions are made that accord with 

sustainable development.  Ultimately, the SA should inform the Plan not 
determine it.  There are still judgements to be made that are essentially 
qualitative and the Council has emphasised that it needs to strike a reasonable 

balance in making these judgements, including consideration of mitigation 
measures.  In our view, the Council has provided robust evidence to support 

the allocation of the site. For this and the above reasons, it is considered that 
allocation of the site would meet the objectives of national planning policy in 
terms of delivering additional economic benefits and contribute to all 

dimensions of sustainability102.  The allocation is thus considered to be sound.   
 

Health Employment Non-Strategic Allocation 
 
8.24. Policy C10: ‘Health Employment Non-Strategic Allocation’ sought to allocate 

land for health related uses at the Government Offices, St Agnes Road, Heath.  

                                       
100 Council response to Action Point 5 of Hearing Session 5  
101 Final SA Report revised reflecting May and October 2015 Draft MAC Schedule  
102 Technical Advice Note (TAN) 23: ‘Economic Development’ paragraph 2.1.1 

Page 477



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

45 

However, it was clear at the relevant Hearing that the allocation was largely 
unsupported by evidence and that the landowner had no intention to bring 

forward the site for its proposed use.  As such, the allocation is proposed to be 
deleted by MAC58 and MAC PM15.  In response to this change, numerous 
representations have been received in support of the allocation, including 

significant evidence outlining the strategic opportunity that the allocation would 
provide.  Nevertheless, the allocation remains unsupported by the landowner 

and, given the importance of deliverability in the examination of LDPs, the 
deletion of the allocation is necessary for soundness.  The site would however 
remain within the settlement boundary meaning that such a health related use 

would not be precluded should an agreement be made with the landowner.                               
 

Employment and Housing Alignment 
 
8.25. The evidence suggests that the supply of employment land is aligned to 

economic and labour market forecasts and takes into account Cardiff’s 
population projections, economic activity and unemployment rates and 

commuting patterns.  As outlined above, the Plan provides for an appropriate 
geographical correlation between the distribution of employment and housing.  
Overall, it would provide for an appropriate level of growth in the context of 

Wales’ Capital City and would be sufficiently flexible to accommodate the level 
and type of growth forecast.  The Plan’s approach is thus considered sound. 

 
Safeguarding Existing Employment Land and Premises 
 

8.26. The evidence points to substantial losses of employment land in some parts of 
Cardiff as well as a move away from traditional employment to other uses such 

as residential, retail and sui generis activities including car showrooms.  The 
Employment Land and Commercial Property Strategy103 recommends that 
further loses of employment land should be resisted if the City is to meet 

economic targets and to achieve a balance between jobs and homes.  The 
Council recognises that there has been growing pressure over recent years for 

the development of employment land and premises for other uses, particularly 
housing104.  The Plan strategy thus seeks to protect existing industrial and 

warehousing land as well as high quality and accessible office accommodation.  
Policy EC1 identifies and seeks to protect existing employment areas in 
recognition of the important role they play as part of the employment land 

portfolio and their distribution across the City.            
 

8.27. Policy EC3: ‘Alternative Use of Employment Land and Premises’ sets out the 
circumstances where development for other uses would be permitted.  Proposed 
changes setting out the circumstances whereby conversion to alternative uses 

would be permitted within the policy itself rather than in the supporting text 
(MAC24) would improve clarity and consistency of interpretation.     

 
Support for Business Expansion and Inward Investment  
 

8.28. The Employment Land Study Update undertaken in 2011 anticipated that 
between 12 and 18 ha of the supply of employment land would come forward 

                                       
103 Employment Land and Commercial Property Strategy: Final Report by GVA Grimley(March 2009) 
104 Background Technical Paper No 4: Economic (September 2013) 

Page 478



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

46 

from windfalls105.  The Council’s more recent assessment106 identifies sites with 
scope for redevelopment or expansion on vacant land in existing employment 

areas amounting to over 14 ha.  However, the absence of a policy framework to 
enable economic development proposals such as the expansion of existing 
businesses and inward investment to come forward on land that is not 

specifically allocated for such use may prevent Cardiff from fulfilling its 
economic aspirations.   

 
8.29. Consequently, the Council propose a new Policy EC7: ‘Employment Proposals on 

Land not Identified for Employment Use’ (MAC25) setting out criteria against 

which proposals for employment use on unallocated land would be permitted.  
This would provide additional flexibility by allowing unanticipated opportunities 

to come forward.  It would also ensure that the Plan could respond positively if 
economic growth is stronger than forecast.  The proposed new Policy EC7: 
would thus be necessary to satisfy the coherence and effectiveness tests of 

soundness.  
 

8.30. In conclusion, the Plan provides adequate opportunity to meet the identified 
need for employment land and sufficient flexibility to support employment 
generating development proposals.  No further allocations put forward by 

representors are required to make the Plan sound, nor are suggested changes 
to the status of some employment sites.  Subject to the recommended changes, 

it meets the tests of soundness.       
 
Retail 

 
8.31. Chapter 5 sets out the Council’s approach to retailing.  The provisions of this 

chapter have been amended significantly through the Examination and, to 
reflect such changes, the Council has proposed the renumbering of the policies 
through MAC48.  However, the proposed renumbering is inconsistent with policy 

number referencing included in other MACs.  As such, and to avoid confusion, 
MAC48 is neither recommended nor endorsed.  Nevertheless, such changes do 

not relate to the soundness of the plan and, in any event, the Council is 
authorised to make such final editorial changes, including presentational 

matters and consequential changes arising from the recommended MACs. 
 
8.32. Consistent with national policy set out in PPW and Technical Advice Note (TAN) 

4: ‘Retailing and Town Centres’, the Plan, as amended by MAC40, sets out a 
hierarchy of retail centres which establishes a sequential approach to the 

consideration of new retail developments.   This is achieved through the 
introduction of a new policy entitled ‘Retail Hierarchy’ which places the Central 
Shopping Area at the head of the hierarchy, supported by a range of district 

and local centres.  Retail proposals outside of these centres would either be 
assessed against the Policy entitled ‘Retail Development (Out of Centre)’ or that 

relating to ‘Retail Provision within Strategic Sites’.  This approach is consistent 
with national policy and provides an appropriate framework for the 
consideration of retail proposals over the plan period.   

 

                                       
105 Cardiff Employment Land Study Update undertaken by DTZ (June 2011)    
106 Cardiff Council Examination Statement Hearing Session 10: Employment and Retail 

  

Page 479



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

47 

8.33. The Plan is supported by a 2008 Retail Capacity Study and a 2011 based 
Update.  The 2008 Retail Capacity Study concluded that, including 

commitments, there was not a county wide need for additional convenience, 
non-bulky comparison or bulky comparison floorspace.  This stance was also 
advocated in the 2011 Update which refers to a material oversupply of 

floorspace to 2016 and recommends more of a focus on developing the existing 
retail offer.  Despite the country being within the midst of a recession in 2011, 

the results of the sensitivity testing allow for a boost to the need for 
convenience and comparison goods floorspace and, on this basis, we are 
satisfied that the strategy is founded on a robust and credible evidence base. 

 
8.34. Policy R1: ‘Retail Provision within Strategic Sites’, as submitted, is proposed to 

be amended by MAC41.  This Policy provides the framework for the 
consideration of retail proposals within the residential-led strategic site 
allocations.  Subject to the proposed changes, the Policy would support retail 

developments where: they are of an appropriate scale which satisfies an 
identified need; would not negatively impact on the vitality and viability of the 

designated centres; would be located along public transport corridors and easily 
accessible by walking and cycling; and where they would form part of a planned 
centre.  The proposed changes would ensure consistency with national policy 

and would also ensure that its provisions are sufficiently robust to ensure that 
retail uses could be successfully integrated into the development of the 

strategic sites without impacting negatively on designated centres.     
 
8.35. Key Policy KP10: ‘Central and Bay Business Areas’ provides the strategic 

framework for consideration of proposals within the Central and Bay Business 
Areas, appropriately outlining the range of uses that would be considered 

acceptable.  Policy R2: ‘Development in the Central Shopping Area’ provides a 
criteria based approach to managing the diversity of uses within the Central 
Shopping Area identified on the Proposals Map, providing protection for shop 

uses whilst also recognising that an appropriate mix of complementary non-
shopping uses can also contribute to the vitality and viability of shopping areas. 

 
8.36. Proposals involving the loss of A1 shop related uses within protected shopping 

frontages would be assessed against the criteria set out in Policy R3: ‘Protected 
Shopping Frontages’.  Concerns have been raised that the Plan adopts an 
outdated approach by providing too much protection for A1 uses.  However, 

whilst the Policy does provide for an enhanced level of protection for the City 
Centre’s most important frontages, it does not preclude complementary uses 

where they would not undermine the primary shopping role of that frontage.  As 
such, we are satisfied that the policy strikes an appropriate and necessary 
balance.  MAC42 and MAC PM14 would ensure that the protected frontages 

are identified on the Proposals Map.  These changes add clarity and certainty to 
the retail strategy and are therefore recommended. 

 
8.37. Policy R5: ‘District Centres’ seeks to promote and protect the shopping role of 

the District Centres identified on the Proposals Map, whilst Policy R6 provides a 

similar role for the identified Local Centres.  Concerns have been raised in 
relation to the status of Cardiff Gate Retail Park, most notably in relation to its 

omission from Policy R5.  Specifically, it has been submitted that the presence 
of a large food store with integral post office and pharmacy on site, means that 
the retail park, at least in part, appears to function as a District Centre for 

people living and working in this part of Cardiff, particularly given its distance 

Page 480



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

48 

from other identified centres.  Indeed, it was clarified at the Hearings that a 
recent grant of planning permission would mean that the retail park would soon 

benefit from a leisure facility, smaller shops and potential café or restaurant 
uses typical of a District Centre.   

 

8.38. However, in response to a request for further information107, the Council 
submitted that the current nature and format of the vast majority of the retail 

park, including the presence of the large bulky goods retail warehouse units 
that are restricted by planning condition, remain more akin to an out of centre 
retail park.  Indeed, we were able to appreciate at a site visit that the retail 

park does not currently possess the physical characteristics of a District Centre.  
Notwithstanding this, should all or part of the retail park be designated as a 

District Centre, then the bulky goods units would effectively become edge of 
centre, which could potentially be a threat to the retail strategy and ‘town 
centre first’ approach advocated through the Plan.  Accordingly, we are satisfied 

that the Plan’s approach of excluding Cardiff Gate Retail Park from the list of 
designated District Centres is soundly based.   

 
8.39. The proposals relating to both the District and Local Centre designations are 

sound in all other respects.  Indeed, they are based on a robust assessment of 

the role and function of such areas108 and have been identified in accordance 
with the advice contained within national planning policy.  MAC44 and MAC45 

lift elements of the reasoned justification into the policy wording of R5 and R6 
respectively and, subject to these changes, the Policies would provide a sound 
basis for the determination of planning applications affecting such designations. 

 
8.40. Subject to MAC46, which deletes the requirement for proposals for A3 uses 

within 400 metres of a school to be considered against Policy C7: ‘Health’, 
Policy R7: ‘Food and Drink Uses’ provides a robust framework for assessing 
proposed food and drink related uses.  It has been suggested that the test of 

whether such uses would cause unacceptable harm to the shopping role and 
character of the designated centres is unnecessarily restrictive.  However, we 

are satisfied that such wording is consistent with national policy and that the 
aims of the Policy are soundly based. 

 
8.41. Policy R8: ‘Protection of Local Shopping Parades’ of the Deposit Plan sought to 

provide protection for local shopping parades.  However, the Policy lacks clarity, 

with the status of such parades not identified within the retail hierarchy.  
Moreover, such designations would not be provided with a spatial dimension on 

the Proposals Map.  As such, the Policy is not adequately justified in light of the 
advice contained within national policy and, for this reason, MAC47, which 
proposes the deletion of the Policy in its entirety, is recommended.  However, 

to reflect national policy, the valuable role of smaller groups of shops and 
individual ‘corner shops’ would be referenced in the reasoned justification to 

Policy R6, as amended by MAC45. 
 
8.42. Policy R4 of the submitted Plan provides the framework for out of centre retail 

developments.  Subject to MAC43, which proposes the deletion of those 
elements of the reasoned justification that go beyond national policy and 

                                       
107 Council’s response to Action Point 8 of Hearing Session 10 
108 Background Technical Paper 7: District and Local Centres (September 2013)  

Page 481



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

49 

established case law, it provides an effective basis for the determination of such 
planning proposals.   

 
8.43. On this basis, and subject to the recommended changes identified, the Plan’s 

retail strategy is soundly based.  

 

9   Settlement Boundaries and Green Belt   
 
9.1. The Plan’s settlement boundaries are clearly defined on the Proposals Map and 

play an important role in establishing the overarching principles for the strategic 

management of the spatial growth of Cardiff.  Policy KP3(B): ‘Settlement 
Boundaries’ stipulates that all areas outside of the defined settlement 

boundaries would be referred to as ‘countryside’, where a corresponding 
presumption against inappropriate development would prevail.  Such provisions 

are critical to the management of growth within the City and, given that they 
would be consistent with the approach advocated through national planning 
policy109, the approach is soundly based. 

 
9.2. The methodology for defining the Plan’s settlement boundaries is clear, logical 

and appropriate.  Wherever possible, the boundaries follow defined physical 
features and have been drawn to respect the characteristics of specific parcels 
of land, together with their planning histories.  This approach provides the 

necessary certainty to inform planning processes and is consistent with the 
strategic aims and objectives of the Plan.  MAC PM1, amends the settlement 

boundary at Strategic Site G to follow the River Rhymney.  This ensures that 
the boundary conforms to the general approach described above and is 
therefore recommended. 

 
9.3. Inconsistencies between settlement and allocation boundaries at Strategic Sites 

C and G were discussed at the respective Hearing sessions.  Specifically, the 
Plan proposes that the settlement boundaries be drawn tighter than the 
allocation boundaries at both sites to reflect the area that the Council considers 

to be developable.  This approach is consistent with the Schematic Frameworks 
identified in Policies KP2 (C) and KP2 (G), which identify the parcels of land 

located outside of the proposed settlement boundary as retained woodland and 
open space in the case of Site C and as an area of open space in respect of   
Site G.  As this approach would be embedded into the adopted Plan via the 

Schematic Frameworks110, no change is necessary to make the Plan sound in 
this respect.  

 
9.4. Policy EN1: ‘Countryside Protection’ expands upon the policy framework set by 

Policy KP3 (B) and, subject to MAC26, accurately reflects national policy set 

out in PPW and Technical Advice Note (TAN) 6: ‘Planning for Sustainable Rural 
Communities’.  MAC26 would also ensure that the requirement for landscape 

assessments is elevated into the Policy wording, consistent with the 
requirements of Policy EN3: ‘Landscape Protection’, whilst superfluous elements 
of the reasoned justification, including the requirement for Design and Access 

Statements, would be deleted from the Plan.  Such changes add clarity and 
certainty to the Plan and are therefore recommended.  

                                       
109 Planning Policy Wales and PPW Technical Advice Note 6: ‘Planning for Sustainable Communities’ 
110 MAC5 

Page 482



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

50 

 
9.5. Policy EN2: ‘Conversion, Extension and Replacement Buildings in the 

Countryside’ provides a criteria-based policy against which such proposals 
would be assessed.  The submitted version of the policy lacked clarity and 
included potential inconsistencies in terms of interpretation of the policy.  

MAC27 seeks to rectify such concerns by resolving potential tensions within the 
Plan and ensuring consistency with national policy.  Subject to this change, 

Policy EN2 provides a sound policy basis for use through the development 
management process. 

 
Green Belt 
 

9.6. The Plan proposes the designation of an extensive area of land north of the M4 
as Green Belt.  This is proposed through Policy KP3(A): ‘Green Belt’ and, 

together with the proposed approach to settlement boundaries, would seek to 
strategically manage the future built form of Cardiff’s urban area and protect 
the setting of the city beyond the period covered by the Plan.  PPW111 sets the 

framework within which Green Belts should be designated, specifically stating 
that the most important attributes are their permanence and their openness112.  

It also goes on to clarify the purpose of a Green Belt which is to: prevent the 
coalescence of large towns and cities with other settlements; manage urban 
form through controlled expansion of urban areas; assist in safeguarding the 

countryside from encroachment; protect the setting of an urban area; and 
assist in urban regeneration by encouraging the recycling of derelict and other 

urban land113. 
 
9.7. In light of the substantial growth envisaged in Cardiff over the Plan period, in 

particular the extensive greenfield allocations together with significant 
development pressures within the south east region of Wales, the Council 

consider that the proposed designation is necessary to effectively manage the 
urban form, safeguard the countryside from encroachment and protect the 
green backdrop which is considered to represent a strategically important 

setting to the city.  However, to the west, north and north-east of the proposed 
Green Belt are defensible borders in the form of steep topography and semi-

ancient woodland whilst the M4 motorway lies to the south and nearby 
settlements are some distance away to the north, north-west and south-west.  
Given the use of the land beyond the proposed Green Belt and the extensive 

greenfield allocations proposed within the Plan, it is clear that the threat of 
urban coalescence is not central to its purpose in this case. 

 
9.8. Openness is an important attribute of any Green Belt.  Through the examination 

process, we have sought to establish whether the concept of openness could be 

applied to the area proposed as Green Belt.  In response114, the Council has 
referred to the Landscape Study for Cardiff115 which lists the positive and 

negative attributes for the various landscape character areas comprising the 
proposed Green Belt, including the Garth Hill Uplands, Pentyrch Ridges and 
Valleys, the Fforest Fawr and Caerphilly Ridge and the Caerphilly Ridge 

                                       
111 Planning Policy Wales, section 4.8 
112 Planning Policy Wales, paragraph 4.8.5 
113 Planning Policy Wales, paragraph 4.8.3 
114 Council Response to Action Point 2 of Hearing Session 12 
115 Landscape Study of Cardiff, Atlantic Consultants, May 1999 

Page 483



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

51 

Foothills.  Specifically, the study highlights that, in terms of landscape and 
topography, the concept of openness can be applied to the area identified.  The 

presence of specific areas of land that do not command extensive views across 
the City, including undulations and minor stream valleys, are acknowledged.  
However, such areas clearly form an integral element of the wider landscape 

and, for this reason, we are satisfied that it is considered as such. 
 

9.9. Consistent with the requirements of national policy, the Council has been 
required through the examination to demonstrate why it is considered that 
normal planning and development management policies would not provide the 

necessary protection.  In doing so, it has referred to the significant 
development pressures within the area and the cumulative harm that has been 

caused in recent years by incremental developments.  The Council has made 
specific reference to a review of planning applications determined since 2000, 
which is considered to reveal a marked increase in the number of development 

proposals approved in this area, particularly for single dwellings and associated 
residential developments116.  However, it became clear through the examination 

that a high proportion of the applications considered as part of this review 
related specifically to developments that represent policy exemptions under 
national policy, including conversions and replacement dwellings.  This evidence 

does not, therefore, unequivocally support the need for Green Belt, particularly 
given that such developments are excluded from the definition of inappropriate 

development in Green Belts, as outlined in PPW117.  In addition, it remains 
unclear as to how factors such as the lack of an up-to-date development plan 
and a limited land supply had impacted upon such historic applications.          

 
9.10. Nevertheless, the pressure for development within Cardiff is undeniable, with 

the undeveloped area proposed as Green Belt no exception.  Indeed, such 
development pressures are reflective of Cardiff’s critical role within the south 
east region and more widely as the capital city of Wales.  Within this context, 

there is little doubt that incremental developments north of the M4 could have 
potential to cause cumulative harm to the distinctive green back drop to the 

City.  As such, the additional protection that would be provided by the 
presumption against inappropriate development in a Green Belt would serve a 

useful planning purpose.  Specifically, it would give priority to maintaining the 
openness of the area and would, as such, provide a level of protection beyond 
that offered by other planning and development management policies.  Indeed, 

such a designation would complement the other policies within the Plan by 
assisting in the wider management of the urban form, safeguarding the 

countryside from encroachment and protecting the strategically important 
setting of the city.   
 

9.11. A fundamental characteristic of any Green Belt, however, is its permanence.  
Specifically, PPW states that, when considering a Green Belt designation, local 

planning authorities should ensure that a sufficient range and choice of 
development land is available which is suitably located in relation to the existing 
urban edge and the proposed Green Belt, bearing in mind the longer term need 

for development land, the effects of development pressures in areas beyond the 

                                       
116 Council’s Response to Action Point 2 of Hearing Session 12 
117 Planning Policy Wales paragraph 4.8.16 

Page 484



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

52 

Green Belt and the need to minimise travel118.  There is little to demonstrate 
that such longer term implications of a Green Belt designation have been fully 

explored, particularly given the strategic approach to planning advocated 
through the Planning (Wales) Act 2015.   

 

9.12. We also note that, at deposit stage, there was no cross-boundary support for 
the designation of areas in Cardiff as either Green Belt or Green Wedge and in 

discussions as part of the joint working it was agreed that it was necessary to 
look beyond the period of the LDP when considering what areas needed 
protective designations to avoid preventing further growth options119.  Indeed, 

there is no doubt that the permanence of a Green Belt designation would have 
potential to prejudice the conclusions reached through a regional approach to 

planning, particularly given that evidence submitted to the examination 
indicates that a Strategic Development Plan for the south east region is likely to 
be adopted in advance of the end date of the LDP.   

 
9.13. Despite this position, the Council has made it clear that it considers that a 

Green Wedge designation would fail to provide the necessary protection for the 
setting of the City.  There has also been considerable public support for the 
allocation of a Green Belt, also evidenced through representations made on the 

consultation following the additional hearings.  Nevertheless, PPW is clear that 
Green Wedges may be justified where land is required to serve the same 

purpose as a Green Belt, save for the level of permanence.  In this respect, 
replacing the proposed Green Belt designation with a Green Wedge would 
enable the openness of the area, and the setting of the City, to be appropriately 

protected during the lifetime of the Plan, with further strategic consideration 
given to the need, form and function of a Green Belt through any subsequent 

strategic development plan process. 
 
9.14. Considerable weight should be attached to the need to avoid prejudicing the 

outcomes of any strategic approach to planning and, as such, a change is 
necessary in the interest of achieving a sound Plan.  Accordingly, it is 

recommended that the proposed Green Belt designation be replaced in its 
entirety by a Green Wedge designation (Inspector MAC1).  This change has 

been subject to consultation and the necessary SA has been undertaken.  The 
SA refers to the change as having the potential to weaken the Council’s ability 
to deliver the spatial strategy through developers holding back on brownfield 

regeneration and the risk of the Green Wedge designation being “rolled back” 
during the Plan period.  However, a Green Wedge would have the same policy 

effect as a Green Belt and there is little evidence that the Green Wedge would 
be “rolled back” as part of the development plan review process.  The change 
would therefore not undermine the Plan’s Strategy.   

 

10   Natural Environment, Natural Resources & Green Infrastructure 
 
Natural Environment and Green Infrastructure 
 

10.1. Changes proposed by MAC15, would add clarity to Policy KP16: ‘Green 
Infrastructure’ by removing the word ‘created’, thereby providing a suitable 

                                       
118 Planning Policy Wales, paragraph 4.8.8 
119 Summary of Cross Boundary Working (September 2013) 

Page 485



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

53 

framework for the protection, enhancement and management of Cardiff’s 
distinctive natural heritage assets.  Moreover, changes proposed by MAC31 

would address internal tensions in Policy EN6: ‘Ecological Networks and 
Features of Importance for Biodiversity’, thereby providing sufficient protection 
for ecological networks and biodiversity features of importance.  In addition 

Policy EN8: ‘Trees, Woodland and Hedgerows’ would adequately protect 
Cardiff’s trees, woodland and hedgerows of natural heritage or amenity value. 

  
10.2. Policy EN5: ‘Local Nature Reserves and Non-statutory Sites of Nature 

Conservation and Geological Importance’ would provide specific protection for 

Cardiff’s designated sites.  MAC30 ensures that this Policy would incorporate 
sites of international and national nature conservation importance.  Such 

amendments are consistent with both the legislative requirements and national 
policy and therefore render the Policy sound.  Due to practicalities of mapping, 
locally designated sites would be identified on the Constraints Map, along with 

other higher level designations.  MAC72 adds clarity to the Plan’s proposals by 
ensuring that all designated sites covered by Policy EN5 are listed in the Plan’s 

appendices. 
 
10.3. Policy EN7: ‘Priority Habitats and Species’ sets out circumstances where 

development proposals that would have a significant adverse effect on the 
continued viability of habitats and species identified as priorities in the UK or 

Local Biodiversity Action Plan would be permitted, including situations where 
mitigation and compensatory measures would be necessary.  MAC32 rectifies 
the omission of legally protected species from the submitted version of the 

policy and, subject to this change, the policy is sound. 
 

10.4. Policy EN3: ‘Landscape Protection’ provides protection for the landscape and the 
setting of the City, with particular priority given to protecting, managing and 
enhancing the character and quality of five Special Landscape Areas (SLAs)120.  

The SLAs have been designated on the basis of the LANDMAP assessment 
process as recognised by PPW.  Subject to the changes proposed through 

MAC28, which adds greater clarity to the policy, its provisions are soundly 
based and supported by a robust and credible evidence base.   

 
10.5. Policy EN4: ‘River Valleys’ would, amongst other things, specifically protect, 

promote and enhance the natural heritage, character and other key features of 

Cardiff’s river corridors.  MAC PM8 proposes to define the boundary and MAC 
PM9, MAC PM10, MAC PM11 and MAC PM12 propose changes to the 

boundaries of the designation on the Proposals Map.  Such changes add clarity 
and certainty to the Plan’s proposals and are therefore recommended.  The 
Council has proposed, through MAC29, to amend Policy EN4 to refer to Natural 

Resources Wales (NRW) as opposed to Countryside Council for Wales (CCW).  
However, as this is not a matter of soundness, it is not recommended in this 

Report.  
 
10.6. On the basis that the Plan should be read as a whole and alongside national 

policy, the approach to the natural environment and green infrastructure 
satisfies the tests of soundness. 

 

                                       
120 As evidenced by Evidence Base documents EBL 01- 04 

Page 486



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

54 

Natural Resources 
 

10.7. Policy KP15: ‘Climate Change’ seeks to mitigate against the effects of climate 
change and adapt to its impacts.  MAC14 amends this Policy to better reflect 
national policy in relation to development and flood risk and to ensure 

consistency with other Policies within the Plan.  Policy EN14: ‘Flood Risk’ would 
also be amended by MAC36, which is necessary to adequately reflect the 

principles set out in national policy121 and ensure that the Constraints Map is 
updated to reflect the most up-to-date development advice maps at the time of 
adoption.  The same change would also ensure that relevant requirements for 

Flood Consequences Assessments (FCA) and Sustainable Urban Drainage 
Systems (SUDS) are set out in policy wording, as opposed to the reasoned 

justification.   
 
10.8. Policy EN12: ‘Renewable Energy and Low Carbon Technologies’ aims to 

encourage developers of major and strategic sites to incorporate renewable and 
low carbon technologies into developments.  MAC34 adds clarity and 

consistency to the Policy, whilst also specifying that further guidance in relation 
to energy assessments will be issued in the form of Supplementary Planning 
Guidance (SPG).  Together with Policy KP5: ‘Good Quality and Sustainable 

Design’ and Policy KP15, the Plan’s approach to combating and adapting to 
Climate Change and maximising renewable energy is one that is soundly based. 

 
10.9. Policy KP18: ‘Natural Resources’ seeks to minimise impacts on the city’s natural 

resources and minimise pollution, whilst Policy EN13: ‘Air, Noise, Light Pollution 

and Contaminated Land’ seeks to prevent unacceptable harm caused by air, 
noise, light pollution or land contamination.  MAC17 and MAC35 respectively 

update these policies to better reflect the legislative definition of land 
contamination.  Policy EN10: ‘Water Sensitive Design’ provides a framework for 
the management of water through planning and urban design and Policy EN11: 

‘Protection of Water Resources’ seeks to prevent unacceptable harm to the 
quality or quantity of waters.  Having regard to the presence of separate 

legislation and the Plan’s monitoring framework, as amended by MAC75, the 
approach is considered sound. 

 
10.10. Therefore, subject to the recommended changes, and on the basis that the Plan 

should be interpreted as a whole, the proposed approach to natural resources is 

sound with respect to the tests of soundness. 
 

11   Historic Heritage 
 
11.1. Policy KP17: ‘Built Heritage’ seeks to protect, manage and enhance Cardiff’s 

distinctive heritage assets.  MAC16 proposes an amendment to the Policy to 
ensure that registered historic landscapes are covered by the provisions of the 

policy.  Subject to this change, the Policy provides a suitable high level 
framework for the delivery of the Plan’s aims and objectives in respect of 
heritage assets.   

 
11.2. Policy EN9: ‘Conservation of the Historic Environment’ provides a more detailed 

development management policy in respect of Cardiff’s built heritage assets.  

                                       
121 Planning Policy Wales and PPW Technical Advice Note (TAN) 15: ‘Development and Flood Risk’ 

Page 487



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

55 

Representations submitted to the Examination suggested that the Policy should 
set a higher level of protection.  However, the policy is consistent with the 

statutory tests122 and those set out in national policy and is therefore, soundly 
based.   Subject to MAC33 and MAC73, which would add clarity to the Plan by 
ensuring that each area of protection covered by Policy EN9 is listed in the 

Plan’s appendices, the Policy would provide a sound and effective framework for 
the determination of planning applications.  The Council has also made a 

commitment to ensure that the boundaries of the identified areas of protection 
are up-to-date on the Constraints Map at the time of adoption of the Plan and, 
whilst this strictly lies outside of the scope of the LDP Examination, such an 

assurance is supported. 
 

11.3. Accordingly, the Plan’s approach to built heritage and the historic environment 
is soundly based. 

 

12   Minerals  
 

12.1. National minerals policy is set out in Minerals Planning Policy Wales (MPPW) 
(2001) and is supplemented by Minerals Technical Advice Note 1: Aggregates 

(2004) (MTAN 1) and Minerals Technical Advice Note 2: Coal (2009) (MTAN 2).  
The South Wales Regional Aggregates Working Party (SW RAWP) prepared a 
Regional Technical Statement (RTS) dated 2008 and this has now been 

superseded by the RTS 1st Review, dated 2014.  This document outlines the 
important matter of supply and demand for the South Wales region, specifically 

setting out the strategy for the provision of aggregates.  The position in respect 
of crushed rock indicates that Cardiff has a surplus of permitted reserves when 
compared to the requirements set out in the RTS 1st Review and, as such, there 

is no requirement for an allocation within the LDP.  Nevertheless, the Plan 
adequately recognises that Cardiff is an important provider of minerals within 

the region. 
  
12.2. Policy KP11 provides the strategic framework for crushed rock aggregates and 

other minerals within Cardiff for the period covered by the Plan.  Subject to 
MAC11, the Policy seeks to maintain a steady and adequate supply of minerals 

and contribute to aggregate supplies by promoting and supporting the efficient 
use of minerals, protecting existing mineral reserves and safeguarding potential 
resources from development that would preclude their extraction and 

maintaining a minimum 10 year land bank of permitted crushed rock aggregate 
reserves.  Moreover, the Policy would safeguard wharves from development 

that would prevent their use for landing marine dredged sand and gravel and 
provide support for appropriate applications for sand and gravel extraction.  The 
changes proposed through MAC11 add clarity to the Policy and ensure 

consistency with both national policy and the framework set at the regional 
level. Subject to these changes, the Policy provides a suitable strategic level 

policy for the Plan period.   
 
12.3. Representations from the industry have suggested that the Plan should provide 

strategic level guidance for industrial limestone and High Specification 
Aggregate (HSA).  However, MPPW123 recognises that high purity limestone is 

                                       
122 Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
123 Minerals Planning Policy Wales, paragraph 81 

Page 488



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

56 

extracted jointly with limestone for aggregate use and that it can be difficult to 
differentiate between the materials produced for the two different markets until 

after it has been processed.  As such, and bearing in mind that the Plan makes 
provision for the protection of limestone reserves and potential resources, such 
an omission does not render the Plan unsound.  Moreover, only a small area of 

Category 1 HSA is identified within Cardiff’s administrative boundaries and, as 
this is already protected by the Coal Safeguarding Area, it is neither practicable 

nor necessary to identify the area separately.   
 
12.4. Policy M1: ‘Mineral Limestone Reserves and Resources’ seeks to safeguard 

mineral reserves from development that could cause sterilisation and thereby 
prevent their extraction.  MAC60 amends this Policy by also identifying the 

resource areas at Creigiau and Ton Mawr Quarries as ‘Preferred Areas’ of known 
resource suitable for the future working of limestone.  These changes remove 
ambiguity, reflect national policy and are therefore recommended.   

 
12.5. With regards the approach to safeguarding, it was agreed at the Hearings that 

the three separate policies included in the submitted version of the Plan could 
be effectively merged into a single criteria based policy, expanding on the 
framework set by Policy KP11.  Accordingly, MAC64, MAC65 and MAC66 

delete Policies M7, M8 and M9 respectively, whilst MAC67 introduces the new 
integrated and criteria based safeguarding Policy M7: ‘Safeguarding of Sand 

and Gravel, Coal and Limestone Resources’.  The new Policy M7 has had input 
from the industry, would provide greater clarity and would enable a more 
balanced and reasonable assessment of development proposals submitted 

within the identified safeguarding areas.  It also explains the reasoning for not 
separately identifying the small amount of Category 1 Sandstone HSA resource, 

as referred above.  These changes are necessary for soundness and are 
therefore recommended. 

 

12.6. The general approach to safeguarding reflects that outlined in the British 
Geological Survey’s (BGS) good practice guidance124 insofar as it is consistent 

with Welsh Policy.  Moreover, the safeguarding areas for sand and gravel, coal 
and limestone are clearly distinguishable on the Proposals Map.  However,   

MAC PM16, which excludes international and national designations of 
environmental and cultural importance from the coal safeguarded area, is 
necessary to ensure consistency with the requirements of national policy.  

Likewise, the changes proposed through MAC PM17 are necessary to correct 
errors on the Proposals Map and are therefore recommended.  On this basis, 

and subject to the MACs recommended in this report, we are satisfied that the 
approach to safeguarding is soundly based. 

 

12.7. Notwithstanding the fact that Cardiff’s existing minerals landbank means it is 
unlikely to be necessary to grant further permissions for mineral resource 

release within the Plan period, Policy M2: ‘Preferred Order of Mineral Resource 
Release’ sets out the sequential approach that would be adopted to assess such 
needs should it become necessary.  This, alongside MAC75, which enables the 

monitoring framework to effectively monitor the landbank situation, would 
ensure that the Plan’s approach is reasonably flexible to enable it to deal with 

changing circumstances.  Moreover, subject to MAC61, which improves the 

                                       
124 BGS Mineral Safeguarding in England: Good Practice Advice 2011 

Page 489



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

57 

coherence and effectiveness of the Policy, whilst also ensuring consistency with 
national policy125, the RTS 1st Review and the other Policies in the Plan, Policy 

M2 and its reasoned justification represents a sound basis for considering such 
proposals.  

 

12.8. Concerns have been raised in relation to the potential for lateral extensions at 
Creigiau Quarry.  However, Policy M2, as amended, is clear that any such 

extension or deepening application would only be considered acceptable where 
it would involve the swap of reserves for those considered to be 
environmentally sensitive.  Given that the historic permission at Creigiau Quarry 

remains extant, this represents a pragmatic proposal that is soundly based. 
 

12.9. Policy M5 aims to ensure that all proposals for mineral working or related 
development are accompanied by plans for restoration and suitable after-use of 
the site, in accordance with MPPW and MTAN1.  Meanwhile, Policy M3: ‘Quarry 

Closures and Extension Limits’ identifies those areas where measures to 
prevent further mineral working will be sought in accordance with the provisions 

of MPPW.  This Policy, as amended by MAC62, states that, to eliminate any 
doubt over possible re-working at the identified sites, measures to prevent 
further extraction and secure restoration and landscaping works will be 

pursued.  Such measures will include the use of Prohibition Orders, consistent 
with the advice contained within MPPW. 

 
12.10. Concerns have been raised regarding the status of the sites included in      

Policy M3, particularly whether they are in fact inactive.  In this respect, the 

Council has clarified that Cefn Garw and Creigiau Quarries are in fact classified 
as ‘inactive sites’ in the RTS 1st Review (2014)126.  However, in recognition that 

only parts of the Creigiau Quarry are no longer considered appropriate for 
mineral working, only the southern and western parts of the quarry have been 
identified under Policy M3, consistent with the approach advocated through 

Policies M1 and M2.  Highland Park and West End Brickworks do not meet the 
definition of aggregate quarries and are not, therefore, listed as ‘inactive sites’ 

at Appendix B of the RTS 1st Review (2014).  However, it is common ground 
that they are in fact dormant and, as they are unlikely to be reactivated in the 

foreseeable future, their inclusion within the Policy is consistent with the 
general thrust of national policy. 

 

12.11. Blaengwynlais Quarry was included within the submitted version of Policy M3, 
reflecting the Council’s concerns relating to its sensitive location and access 

constraints.  However, as it does not comprise a formally inactive site, MAC62 
proposes its omission from the Policy, with any subsequent applications to be 
considered on their merits under the criteria provided by Policy M2.  This 

approach rectifies any conflict with national policy127 and, given the 
improvements to Policy M2 proposed under MAC61, any concerns regarding the 

environmental sensitivities of the site or indeed the access arrangements can 
be adequately addressed at the development management stage.  MAC61 and 
MAC62 are therefore recommended. 

 

                                       
125 Policy Clarification letter CL-05-14 
126 RTS 1st Review (2014), Appendix B, Table 4: Inactive Aggregate Quarries in South Wales (2013) 
127 Minerals Planning Policy Wales, paragraph 19 

Page 490



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

58 

12.12. Within the context set by MPPW128, Policy M4: ‘Minerals Buffer Zones’ seeks to 
protect permitted mineral reserves and those resources identified as potentially 

suitable for future working from incompatible development.  MTAN1129 sets out 
minimum distances for buffer zones which should be adopted unless there are 
clear and justifiable reasons for reducing distances.  In this respect, the Council 

has proposed bespoke buffer zones for each individual quarry, all of which are 
more extensive than the minimum distances set out in national policy.  The 

buffer zones proposed are based on extensive research that measured the 
actual impacts of the blasting at each site130.  Based on this cogent evidence, 
the approach advocated is sound. 

 
12.13. New Policy M8: ‘Areas where coal working will not be acceptable’ is proposed 

through MAC68.  This policy identifies the areas within which coal working 
would not be considered acceptable, unless exceptional circumstances indicate 
otherwise.  The aim of the Policy is to protect the amenity of existing residential 

properties and international and national designations of environmental and 
cultural importance.  This approach is consistent with the advice contained 

within MPPW131 and MTAN 2132 and represents a sufficiently flexible and sound 
proposal. 

 

12.14. The Plan acknowledges that there is a reliance on marine dredged sand and 
gravel which provides for an adequate supply to meet the majority of demand 

in Cardiff.  Longer term solutions are being considered and the resource areas 
identified on the Proposals Map are adequately protected should they comprise 
a strategic solution in future.  Policy M6: ‘Dredged Aggregate Landing and 

Distribution Facilities’ provides a framework for marine dredged operations, 
protecting existing wharves and providing assessment criteria for new or 

improved sand and gravel wharves and related facilities.  The changes proposed 
through MAC63 ensure that proposals for the provision and improvement of 
landing and distribution facilities for marine dredged aggregates within the sand 

wharves identified on the Proposals Map are not prejudiced.  Such changes 
improve the clarity and certainty of the policy whilst also ensuring consistency 

with national policy.  As such MAC63 is recommended.   
 

12.15. Therefore, subject to the changes recommended in this report, the Plan’s 
approach to minerals is soundly based. 

 

13   Waste  
 

13.1. The planning policy framework for waste in Wales changed significantly 
following the publication of the revised Technical Advice Note (TAN) 21: ‘Waste’ 
in 2014 and the more recent updates to PPW.  Specifically, the new TAN 21 

replaced the previous requirement for plans to provide for the land use 
requirements of the Regional Waste Plan (RWP), with monitoring arrangements 

to assess the capacity of the region against the Collections, Infrastructure and 
Markets Sector Plan (CIM Sector Plan) tonnage figures.  The CIM Sector Plan 
approach is based on providing for likely future capacity across the region, 

                                       
128 Minerals Planning Policy Wales, Paragraph 40 
129 Minerals Technical Advice Note (MTAN), 1 Paragraph 71 
130 Background Technical Paper No 9: Minerals (September 2013) 
131 Minerals Planning Policy Wales, Paragraph 15 
132 Minerals Technical Advice Note (MTAN) 2, Paragraph 26-31 and 49-54 

Page 491



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

59 

although regional monitoring and working arrangements have yet to be 
formalised and the first waste monitoring report introduced by TAN 21 yet to be 

issued.   
 
13.2. Policy KP12: ‘Waste’ provides a strategic framework for the management of 

waste over the Plan period and, subject to MAC12, it is consistent with the 
approach advocated through the amendments to TAN 21.  Specifically, the 

changes make reference to the CIM Sector Plan approach and delete references 
to the estimated land take requirement of 20.9 hectares identified through the 
now revoked RWP process.  The proposed changes have full regard to the 

changes to national policy and are therefore necessary for soundness. 
 

13.3. Policy W1: ‘Land for Waste Management’ allocates land at Lamby Way for the 
purposes of waste management.  However, existing landfilling was due to cease 
at the site in September 2015133 and the Council has confirmed that there are 

no plans currently to provide any additional waste landfill facilities on site.  The 
Council has clarified that the site was initially included as an allocation within 

the context of the land take requirements set by the RWP and, in light of the 
number of waste management facilities that have relatively recently been 
granted planning permission134, as well as the suitability of B2 industrial sites 

for such purposes, the allocation is now proposed for deletion under MAC69 
and MAC PM18.  Notwithstanding such matters, the site would be located 

within a C1 flood zone, a SSSI designation and within the confines of the River 
Valley designation proposed under LDP Policy EN4.  Accordingly, the allocation 
conflicts with both national planning policy and the wider objectives of the LDP 

and, for this reason, the deletion of the site is recommended. 
 

13.4. The Council clarified at the Hearing session the important role on-going waste 
projects such as Prosiect Gwyrdd and the Cardiff Organic Treatment Project will 
have in meeting the ambitious waste and recycling targets set at the European 

and national levels135.  Moreover, the robust indicators and triggers included in 
the monitoring framework, as amended by MAC75, would complement the new 

regional monitoring arrangements set out in TAN 21 and would be sufficiently 
robust to ensure that waste capacity requirements for the region, as set out in 

the CIM Sector Plan (2012), are met.   
 
13.5. Policy W2: ‘Sites for Waste Management Facilities’ seeks to provide a 

framework for the assessment of planning applications for waste management 
facilities.  MAC70 would amend this policy to ensure consistency with the CIM 

Sector approach and the requirements of TAN 21136, whilst also affording policy 
status to requirements previously set out in the reasoned justification.  This 
change adds greater clarity and consistency to the Policy and is therefore 

recommended.  The Policy also clarifies that facilities for the handling, 
treatment and transfer of waste will generally be encouraged towards existing 

use class B2 general industrial land which provides for a range and choice of 
sites within the Plan period137.  This conforms to national policy138 and, given 

                                       
133 Council’s Response to Action Point 14 of Hearing Session 15 
134 Council’s Response to Action Point 15 of Hearing Session 15 
135 Council’s Statement, Hearing Session 15, page 10 
136 PPW Technical Advice Note (TAN) 21 ‘Waste’, Paragraph 4.2 
137 Council’s Response to Action point 15 of Hearing Session 15 
138 PPW Technical Advice Note (TAN) 21 ‘Waste’, Paragraph 3.22 

Page 492



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

60 

the industrial land supply figures for the area139, would not adversely affect the 
Plan’s employment strategy. 

 
13.6. Policy W3: ‘Provision for Waste Management Facilities in Development’ would 

require new developments to provide facilities for the storage, recycling and 

management of waste.  This is consistent with national planning policy and 
would assist in meeting the challenging waste and recycling targets.  Concern 

was raised at the Hearings regarding the provision for hazardous waste.  
However, this is not a requirement of national policy and, in any event, I am 
satisfied that the policy framework provided is sufficiently flexible and robust to 

deal with such proposals should they arise, with on-going monitoring providing 
an opportunity to adapt to any unforeseen circumstances. 

 
13.7. The Waste section of the Plan, as amended by those MACs recommended 

below, has been prepared with due regard to the relevant legislation and 

national policy, as well as other relevant plans and policies.  It would provide an 
appropriate framework for the assessment of waste management proposals and 

is, therefore, sound. 
 

14   Other Development Management & Policy Considerations 

 
14.1. Policy KP5: ‘Good Quality and Sustainable Design’ establishes the general 

principles against which the design of new developments would be assessed.  
Subject to MAC7, which amends criterion ix) to make reference to land 

contamination, the policy provides an effective basis for the determination of 
planning applications. 

 

14.2. Policy H2: ‘Conversion to Residential Use’ provides an appropriate policy 
framework for the conversion of suitable space above commercial premises to 

residential use, whilst Policy H4: ‘Change of Use of Residential Land or 
Properties’ identifies the circumstances in which proposals for the conversion or 
redevelopment of residential properties to other uses outside of the Central and 

Bay Business Areas and District and Local Centres would be permitted.  MAC20 
amends Policy H4 to ensure that any such change of use would not have an 

unacceptable impact on residential amenity. 
 
14.3. Policy H5: ‘Sub-division or conversion of residential properties’ is proposed to 

be amended by MAC21.  This change amends criterion i) by deleting the 
reference to proposed extensions to properties. As an extension may be 

considered acceptable in principle, this change is necessary to ensure that the 
policy is not unduly restrictive.  Meanwhile, Policy H6: ‘Change of use or 
redevelopment to residential use’ strikes an appropriate balance in relation to 

proposals for the change of use, conversion or redevelopment of redundant 
premises, reflecting a particular localised issue.  For this reason, it is soundly 

based. 
 

14.4. Policy C1: ‘Community Facilities’ provides the policy context for new and 

improved community, health and religious facilities.  MAC49 adds clarity to this 
Policy and is therefore recommended.  MAC51 proposes a New Policy entitled 

                                       
139 Council Statement to Hearing Session 10: Erratum Tables 

Page 493



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

61 

‘Protection of Existing Community Facilities’, with the purpose of rectifying an 
omission in the submitted version of the Plan.  However, whilst the principles 

behind the policy are supported, the requirement to satisfy both criteria renders 
the policy ineffective.  As such, MAC51 is not recommended.  Nevertheless, 
simply replacing the word ‘and’ following criterion i with the word ‘or’ would 

enable the policy to function as intended.  Indeed, such a change would rectify 
the omission in the submitted version of the Plan and would be consistent with 

the general thrust of the policy proposed by the Council.  This change is 
necessary for soundness, would not undermine the SA process and is therefore 
recommended via Inspector MAC2.   

 
14.5. Chapter 6 of the Plan provides a suite of policies relating to Open Space.    

Policy C3: ‘Protection of Open Space’ relates to the protection of existing Open 
Space, whilst Policy C4: ‘Provision for Open Space, Outdoor Recreation and 
Sport’ relates to the provision of new space.  Policy C4 is amended by MAC52, 

which incorporates children’s play into the provision of the Policy.  This change 
enables Policy C6: ‘Provision for Children’s Play’ to be deleted by MAC54.  

These changes avoid any unnecessary duplication and add clarity to the suite of 
policies and are therefore recommended.  On this basis, and subject to the 
Council’s response to the matters raised at the Hearing140, the Plan’s open 

space policies are consistent with national policy and are soundly based. 
 

14.6. Policy C5: ‘Provision for Allotments and Community Growing’ proposed to seek 
provision of land for allotments on developments over 46 units.  The Policy 
lacked clarity and was not justified by robust evidence.  Therefore, in response 

to concerns raised at the Hearing, the Council proposes to delete the Policy in 
its entirety through MAC53.  This change is necessary to ensure a sound Plan 

and is therefore recommended. 
 

14.7. Policy C7: ‘Health’ is amended by MAC55.  This change is necessary to delete 

reference to the location of fast food takeaways to ensure consistency with 
other Plan policies.  It also makes the policy more focussed and is sound in all 

other respects.   
 

14.8. Policy C8: ‘Planning for Schools’ and Policy C9: ‘New Education Facilities’ would 
be deleted by MAC56 and MAC57 respectively.  However, a new Policy, which 
following the renumbering of the policies within the chapter would become New 

Policy C7: ‘Planning for Schools’, is proposed through MAC59.  This approach 
avoids unnecessary repetition and provides an appropriate framework for the 

consideration of such proposals. Concerns have been made in relation to the 
proposed phasing.  However, this adds necessary certainty to the delivery of 
such facilities which is particularly important given the scale of the sites 

allocated for development through the Plan process.  Moreover, the Policy 
wording is suitably flexible to ensure that contributions would only be sought 

where a need has been identified and contributions will be negotiated and fairly 
and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development proposed. 
 

14.9. Representations have suggested that a Policy is necessary to support the on-
going expansion of Cardiff’s universities.  However, no tangible evidence has 

been submitted to the Examination to demonstrate the growth anticipated and, 

                                       
140 Council Response to Action Point 8 of Hearing Session 16 

Page 494



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

62 

in any event, concerns relating to the amenity of existing communities could be 
adequately dealt with under the provisions of the other policies within the plan 

and that set out in national policy.  It was also submitted at the Hearings that 
the Plan should make provision for ‘Place Plans’.  However, this has not been 
submitted as a proposal within the Plan and its omission does not render the 

Plan unsound.  Notwithstanding this, should this be something the Council wish 
to progress, it could be a matter dealt with as SPG, outside of the scope of this 

examination.  
 

15   Plan Monitoring, Implementation & Review 
 
15.1. The Council accepted during the examination that Appendix 9, as submitted, did 

not set out a sufficiently clear and effective monitoring framework.  
Intervention strategies to address any delay were unclear and there was a lack 

of site specific targets and dates to monitor the delivery of development.  A 
number of measures have been introduced to effectively monitor progress and 
take any necessary action to ensure delivery of the housing target.  Firstly, the 

proposed changes would introduce new policies identifying the necessary 
infrastructure, including links to the IP for each strategic site and clearer 

timescales by which it is required.  The monitoring framework, as proposed to 
be amended by MAC75 would measure achievement of the 50:50 modal split 
target for all journeys over the Plan period; it would set out a programme for 

monitoring delivery of key infrastructure so that progress can be examined and 
it would identify what action would be taken if the delivery of infrastructure fails 

to progress as expected. 
 
15.2. Secondly, a revised comprehensive trajectory would identify all the housing 

projected to come forward and identify the anticipated delivery rates, including 
for each of the strategic sites, against a delivery target sufficient to meet the 

housing requirement.  Finally, the amended monitoring framework would link a 
commitment to take action if critical infrastructure does not come forward as 
expected and identify measures to be undertaken if the housing falls behind the 

projected target.  We are satisfied that this is a proactive and flexible approach 
and the changes are necessary to ensure that there is always a forward looking 

monitoring process to identify problems with the delivery of necessary 
infrastructure long in advance of any difficulties arising and appropriate action 
being taken to ensure targets are met.                    

  
15.3. During the examination process the Council has developed in greater detail the 

targets and indicators for monitoring delivery of policies in the Plan.  Other 
changes proposed by MAC75 would enable more responsive monitoring over 
shorter time periods and reflect other proposed changes set out above.  The 

Plan would also include an appendix listing proposed SPG to support the Plan 
and a timetable for preparation (MAC74).  With these changes the Plan 

provides a robust mechanism for monitoring delivery, implementation and to 
establish when the Plan or individual policies need to be reviewed.  It is also 
sufficiently flexible to deal with changing circumstances.  The changes would 

ensure that the Plan satisfies the coherence and effectiveness soundness tests.   
 

 
  

 

Page 495



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 – Inspectors’ Report 

 

63 

16   Overall Conclusions 
 

16.1. We conclude that, with the binding recommended changes identified in this 
report and set out in Appendices A and B, the Cardiff Local Development Plan 
2006 - 2026 satisfies the requirements of section 64(5) of the 2004 Act and 

meets the procedural, consistency and coherence and effectiveness tests of 
soundness in LDP Wales.   

 
 

R Phillips        R Jenkins 
 
Inspector        Inspector 

 
 
Appendix A: The Council’s proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix B: Inspector Matters Arising Changes  

 

Page 496



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

1 
 

Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 
 
MAC 
Number 

Chapter Deposit 
Policy /Para 

No 

HS/A P or 
other 

source 

Proposed Change 

 

Chapter 1:Introduction 
 

MAC1 1 1.1 – 1.19 1.4 Update and amend paragraphs 1.1 – 1.19 
 
 

1. Introduction  
 

The purpose of and status of the need for a new adopted Local 
Development Plan (LDP) 
 

1.1 Cities change. Cardiff is no exception and has grown year on year for 
generations. This has seen Cardiff become the Capital City of Wales and 

centre of a wider city-region providing an important source of jobs and 
services for the whole of South East Wales. 
 

1.2 New homes, jobs, supporting transportation and other facilities are 
will be required to meet the needs of future generations. These needs 

must be carefully balanced against environmental and quality of life 
factors. 
 

1.3 The adopted Cardiff Local Development Plan (LDP) is the tool to 
address these issues. It represents a ‘plan-led’ approach to meeting 

future needs. All Local Authorities in Wales must prepare a LDP. Many 
have now been adopted, with others reaching advanced stages. 
 

1.4 Without a Plan in place, there would be an unplanned, piecemeal, 
‘free for all’ which would not be desirable. In Cardiff, the need for a new 

P
age 497



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

2 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

Plan is more acute than elsewhere for a number of reasons: 
 
 The existing Development Plan framework is seriously outdated 

with the Structure Plans and Local Plan being over 16 years old; 
 

 In Cardiff, unlike most other Local Authorities in Wales, a Unitary 
Development Plan designed to replace the old Structure and Local Plans 
was never adopted; The first attempted LDP had to be withdrawn due to 

the Inspector’s significant concerns (particularly critical of a ‘brownfield-
only’ Strategy). The delay has caused the Plan period to be extended by 5 

years, significantly raising the level of development required in this Plan 
and lengthening the period of time without an adopted Plan in place; 
 There is currently an insufficient housing land supply which has 

resulted in the Council losing planning appeals for development in the 
open countryside; 

 This is the first time in generations that Cardiff has no significant 
urban extensions taking place. Evidenced need for new homes is 
therefore not currently being met resulting in a build-up of latent 

demand; and 
 Cardiff experiences significantly higher development 

pressures than many other parts of Wales. Many greenfield 
planning applications have recently been submitted underlining the 
need for a new, up to date framework to be put in place. 

 
 

The Local Development Plan (LDP) process 
 
1.45 The adopted LDP will provides the statutory framework for the 

development and use of land within Cardiff over the Plan period (2006-
2026). This fulfils the requirements of The Planning and Compulsory 

P
age 498



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

3 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

Purchase Act 2004 which requires the Council to prepare a LDP. Once 
adopted, it will It replaces existing Structure Plans and Local Plans 
relating to Cardiff which are now outdated as explained above. It and will 

be used by the Council to guide and control development and provide the 
statutory local policy context for determining planning applications. 

 
1.56 The Plan has been must be prepared in accordance with formal 
regulations and the and involves numerous stages of preparation together 

with associated consultation and engagement. A document called the, 
‘LDP Delivery Agreement’ which sets out a timetable for its preparation 

along with details of consultation as the Plan progresseds. This was 
agreed with the Welsh Government on 5th December, 2011. Progress to 
date has fully accorded with the agreed timetable. 

 
The Deposit LDP 

 
1.7 The Deposit LDP is an important stage of the plan preparation 
process. It contains an overall Strategy together with land use allocations 

and detailed policies. The Plan aims to deliver the Council’s overall vision 
as set out in the 10 year, ‘What Matters’ Strategy (2010-2020) and also 

takes account of the national and regional policy framework (summarised 
in Appendix 3). Furthermore, a wide range of evidence has been collected 
to inform the plan along with collaborative working, and findings from 

consultation and engagement processes. 
 

1.8 Importantly, the Deposit LDP is the next stage of the LDP preparation 
process following the Preferred Strategy which was approved by Council in 
October 2012. The Preferred Strategy set out the proposed strategic 

approach to meeting development needs over the Plan period and was 
subject to a six week 

P
age 499



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

4 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

consultation period. The Deposit LDP therefore takes full account of the 
Preferred Strategy, the consultation findings, analysis of up to date 
evidence together with all other relevant material factors. 

 
1.69 The Plan contains the following sections: 

 
Foreword; 
Summary; 

Introduction; 
LDP Vision & Objectives; 

Strategy, Key Policies and Key Diagram; 
Detailed Policies; 
Monitoring and Implementation; 

How to make comments; 
Proposals Map and Constraints Map; 

Appendices. 
 
1.10 Numerous Appendices and Supporting Documents have also been 

prepared which contain relevant background work underpinning the Plan. 
These have been placed in the public domain to assist readers in gaining a 

full understanding of the evidence informing Plan content. This also allows 
the Deposit LDP to be a more succinct and user-friendly document without 
being over-cluttered with technical material. A full list of Supporting 

Documents is provided in the contents section of this document. 
 

Deposit LDP and Alternative Sites consultation 
 
1.11 The Deposit LDP will be subject to 6 weeks consultation. Full details 

of how to make comments are provided in Section 7. The Council will 
acknowledge and 

P
age 500



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

5 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

carefully consider all comments made. Following the Deposit LDP 
consultation process, the Council must also consult on ‘alternative sites’ 
which will involve seeking views on alternative sites for development 

which have been put forward 
by parties commenting on the Deposit LDP. 

 
1.12 The Council will then consider all comments made and prepare any 
proposed, ‘focussed changes’ to the Deposit LDP which depending on 

timing is either before or after it is submitted for a process of formal 
examination. A series of Supporting Documents will also be submitted 

including an updated version of the Initial Consultation Report 
summarising representations made along with the Council’s response. 
 

 
Independent examination 

 
1.13 Ultimately, approval for the Plan rests with an independent Inspector 
who will decide if the Plan is fit for purpose by assessing it against ten, 

‘tests of soundness’. These are listed in Appendix 8 together with an 
explanation of how the Council considers the document contents and 

preparation process accord with these tests. 
 
1.14 The examination process will commence once the Council formally 

submits the plan to the Welsh Government. The process will be co-
ordinated by the independent Inspector and include examination sessions 

to explore issues. Further evidence may be provided by the Council and 
others to assist the independent Inspector fully explore any relevant 
matters. Once the examination 

process is completed, the independent Inspector will issue a binding 
report including any changes required to the Plan. 

P
age 501



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

6 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

 
Adoption, Monitoring and Review 
 

1.715 The Council must formally adopt the LDP within 8 weeks of the 
receipt of the independent Inspector’s Report. Following this, Tthe Council 

will work with others to implement the Plan and take decisions within the 
new adopted policy framework. 
 

1.816 In order to assess how effectively the Plan is being implemented, 
the Council must prepare an Annual Monitoring Report (AMR). The report 

will be based on the indicators as set out in Appendix 9 to this document. 
This is an important aspect of the LDP process since evidence collected 
through annual monitoring can be used to inform LDP review which takes 

place every 4 years. 
 

Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) 
 
1.917 These are non-statutory documents intended to provide useful 

advice and guidance which expand on policies set out in the adopted 
Deposit LDP. They must be subject to public consultation.  but are not 

documents to be assessed by the LDP independent Inspector.  Appendix 5 
of this document lists all proposed new and/or updated SPG which are 
intended to be prepared together with timescales. and at which stage of 

the LDP process. In this respect, it should be noted that a phased 
programme of preparation is proposed. 

 
Other Aassessment processes that have informed the adopted Plan  
 

1.108 In addition to the overall independent examination of the LDP, the 
Plan has must also been subject to two further formal assessment 

P
age 502



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

7 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

processes as described below: The Sustainability Appraisal (SA) and 
Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) processes - these are required 
by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and the SEA 

Regulations to ensure that the LDP policies reflect sustainability principles 
and take into account impacts upon the 

environment. The Final SA Report forms Supporting Document 11; and 
The Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA) - this process is required to 
determine the likely significant effects of the Plan on European Sites of 

nature conservation importance. The HRA forms Supporting Document 12. 
 

1.119 Furthermore, the adopted Deposit LDP has been subject to the 
following additional internal assessments designed to further scrutinise 
the Plan contents: Health Impact Assessment - a process involving 

relevant stakeholders in assessing the health implications of the Plan. A 
summary forms Supporting Document 13; and Equality Impact 

Assessment - a process involving relevant stakeholders in assessing the 
equality implications of the Plan. A summary forms Supporting Document 
14. 

 
 

MAC2 1 New 
paragraph 

1.8, 7.5 Insert new paragraph in the Introduction after existing paragraph 1.19 
Other Assessment Processes. 

 
The importance of Welsh culture and heritage is recognised in the Plan 
however having assessed the densities of Welsh language use across the 

City it is not considered to be an issue which requires addressing in the 
Plan.  As a result the proposals contained in the LDP are not considered to 

have a detrimental impact on the Welsh language and culture or 
materially affect the linguistic balance of Cardiff or communities within 
Cardiff. 

P
age 503



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

8 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

 

 

Chapter 2: The Cardiff Context and Key Issues the Plan must Address 
 

MAC3  2.1 (page 21) Schedule of 
Minor 
Changes 

Key Environmental trends and issues 
 

 The countryside and urban area contains a wealth of natural and 

historic interests.  For example, there are almost 1,000 Listed 
Buildings, 27 Conservation Areas,2 4 sites noted for their 

international biodiversity ( Cardiff Beechwoods SAC and Severn 
Estuary SAC/SPA/RAMSAR) 

 
Chapter 4: Strategy, Key Policies and Key Diagram 
 

MAC4 4 KP1: Level of 
Growth 

1.2, 2.1, 3.1, 
3.2, 3.3, 3.4, 

3.5, 3.6, 3.7, 
5.1 

Replace existing Policy KP 1: Level of Growth with revised KP1 
 

Please see Appendix One of this schedule for amended KP 1 

MAC5 4 Policy KP2 
Strategic Sites 
KP2 New Key 

Policies, 
KP2(A) to 

KP2(H) 
 

2.2, 6.2, 7.1, 
7.3, 8.1, 8.3, 
10.13, 12.1, 

13.16, 16.2 

Amend Policy KP2:Strategic Sites and reasoned justification and insert 
new policies KP2A to H after existing KP2 
 

Please see Appendix Two of this schedule  

MAC6 4 KP4: Master 
planning 
Approach 

Paragraphs 
4.84 – 4.85 

2.2, 6.2, 7.1, 
7.3, 8.1, 8.3, 
10.13, 12.1, 

13.16, 16.2 

Amend reasoned justification of KP4: Masterplanning approach 
 

Retain existing paragraph 4.84 but delete existing paragraph 4.85: 

 
4.85 The outputs of this approach are set out in Supporting Document 

P
age 504



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

9 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

No. 16 which includes: 
 

General Principles: 10 General Principles based on different themes 

considered essential to create new sustainable neighbourhoods. These 
principles have been agreed by the Cabinet Meeting of 16th May, 2013 

and relate to all sites, strategic or non-strategic, greenfield or brownfield;  
Strategic Schematic Framework: To provide a link between the 
General Principles and Site Specific Principles, 3 county-wide plans 

together with supporting text will provide a spatial context relating to 
landscape, movement and neighbourhood factors; 

 
Site-Specific Framework: Working within the context of the first 2 
outputs, this output will not be overly prescriptive but give a spatial 

indication of land uses, transportation measures and key open space 
corridors together with information on proposed densities, infrastructure 

and phasing of the strategic sites allocated in the Deposit LDP. It is 
intended that following consideration of consultation responses, that the 
site-specific framework will be drafted into SPG and follow the normal 

SPG consultation process prior to the LDP examination; and 
 

Area-Based Masterplans: Detailed Masterplans will be worked up by 
the landowners/developers with the context of the framework prepared 
by the Council as set out in the Deposit LDP supporting information. 

These will contain a greater level of detail than the over-arching 
framework and can assist in the examination of the LDP together with 

providing a context for the phased submission of planning applications for 
development sites. 

 

New paragraphs to be inserted after existing paragraph 4.84 to replace 
deleted paragraph 4.85 reflecting changes with regard to embedding 

P
age 505



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

10 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

more masterplanning details for Strategic Sites into the Plan: 
 

With regard to Strategic Sites, policies KP2(A) to KP2(H) set out the 

infrastructure and masterplanning requirements for each of the sites 
which are shown indicatively, where appropriate, on Schematic 

Frameworks. To avoid repetition and unnecessarily long policies, only 
site-specific and not generic requirements have been articulated and 
embedded in the policy relating to each Strategic Site.  

 
The infrastructure requirements contained within policies KP2(A) to 

KP2(H) reflect the level of detailed information known. Future updates to 
the Infrastructure Plan will allow such information to be regularly updated 
to reflect prevailing circumstances and show more detail when it is 

known. It would be premature and unhelpful to include overly prescriptive 
directions in the Plan where detailed matters are more appropriately 

considered through the Development Management process but within the 
context of the framework embedded within the Plan. In this way, the 
maximum possible certainty can be given without setting out unsupported 

aspirations.  
 

This policy, in conjunction with other relevant policies, will provide the 
masterplanning framework for landowners and developers to prepare 
Parameter Plans and Master Plans for major new development proposals, 

which will inform the Development Management process. 
 

MAC7 4 KP5: Good 
Quality and 

Sustainable 
Design 

11.6, 13.9, 
16.1 

Amend criterion (ix) of Policy KP5: Good Quality and Sustainable Design 
 

 (ix) “Promoting the efficient use of land, developing at highest 
practicable densities and where appropriate achieving the 
remediation of contaminated land contamination;” 

P
age 506



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

11 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

 

MAC8 4 Policy KP6: 

New 
Infrastructure 
 

2.4, 2.5 Amend Policy KP 6 and reasoned justification 

 
KP6: NEW INFRASTRUCTURE 
 

New development will make appropriate provision for, or 
contribute towards, the all essential, enabling and necessary 

infrastructure required as a consequence of the proposed 
development in accordance with Planning Policy Guidance.  Such 
infrastructure will be delivered in a timely manner to meet the 

needs of existing and planned communities and includes the 
following aspects which may be required subject having regard to 

the nature, scale and location and details of the proposaled 
development: 
Essential / Enabling Infrastructure: 

 Transportation and highways including access, circulation, 
parking, public transport provision, walking and cycling; 

 Utility services; 
 Flood mitigation / defences; 
 

Necessary Infrastructure: 
 

 Affordable Housing; 
 Schools and education; 
 Health and social care; 

 Community buildings and facilities including District and Local 
Centre improvements; 

 Local employment and training including replacement 
employment opportunities where relevant; 

 Community safety initiatives; 

P
age 507



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

12 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

 Open space, recreational facilities, playgrounds, allotments; 
 Protection, management, enhancement and mitigation 

measures relating to the natural and built environment; 

 Public realm improvements and public art;  
 Waste management facilities including recycling and services; 

 District heating and sustainable energy infrastructure; and 
Other requirements 
 Other facilities and services considered necessary. 

 
Retain existing paragraphs 4.89-4.90. Amend paragraph 4.89 

 
Policy KP6 seeks to ensure that new developments, irrespective of their 
size, location, or land use, make appropriate provision for infrastructure.  

Specific infrastructure requirements will vary in different locations and be 
dependent upon the scale and nature of proposed development.  

Infrastructure may be required to facilitate development (essential / 
enabling such as highways or utilities) or can be required to make a 
development acceptable (necessary such as schools, community facilities, 

open space).  For example, it may include elements from the list 
contained as part of the Policy, which is not exhaustive, but gives an 

indication of the potential scope of infrastructure which may be required. 
 

 Category 1: Essential / Enabling Infrastructure (to facilitate 

development) - Those items which will need to be delivered prior to, or 
from the commencement of the relevant phases of development (e.g. 

transportation / highways infrastructure, utility services and flood 
mitigation / defences). 

 

 Category 2: Necessary Infrastructure (to make development acceptable) 
- Items which need to be phased and implemented alongside new 

P
age 508



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

13 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

development, to ensure that areas are served with appropriate facilities 
over time (e.g. schools and recreational open space)’. 

 

 
New paragraph to be inserted after existing paragraph 4.90:  

 
With regard to Strategic Sites, policies KP2(A)-KP2(H) provide clear 
guidance on the Council’s infrastructure and masterplanning 

requirements. This information will be cross-referenced to the Cardiff 
Infrastructure Plan which is a ‘living document’ sitting alongside the LDP. 

The Infrastructure Plan is directly linked to the LDP Monitoring Framework 
and will be regularly updated, so as more details are established they can 
be incorporated into the document. 

 
4.91 Further work has therefore been undertaken to supplement the 

Policy and is included in Supporting Document 6 (Infrastructure Plan) 
which provides details and evidence of the infrastructure that is required 
to support the planned level of growth. The Infrastructure Plan also 

identifies the potential costs of such infrastructure provision, potential 
funding mechanisms and / sources of funding and provides an indication 

of phasing requirements. The diagram set out below shows some of the 
potential funding sources for infrastructure provision. However, at this 
stage it It is important to note that there are numerous potential funding 

sources and that the potential sources those shown on the diagram raise 
peripheral issues which require further discussion and work to investigate 

the feasibility of securing funding through these means. 
 
Retain diagram at Page 68 and paragraph 4.92 

 
4.93 The provision of flexible, multi-functional buildings and places will 

P
age 509



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

14 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

allow for essential services to be provided, whilst allowing communities to 
define and re-define their infrastructure requirements over time. A strong 
commitment to shared community buildings, services, their management 

and maintenance will ensure that facilities are at the heart of the 
community, whilst reducing overall costs to both developers and service 

providers. The principle of community buildings integrated within multi-
function “hubs” (for example, the new @Loudoun development in 
Butetown) is a trend which is set to continue. The Infrastructure Plan 

(Supporting Document 6) provides further information regarding potential 
opportunities for shared premises as well as an indication of compatible 

uses and services. 
 
Retain paragraph 4.94 

 
4.95 There may also be additional requirements depending on the scale, 

nature, location and phasing of proposed developments to support the 
future needs of infrastructure providers and the communities they serve. 
Further detailed work will be undertaken following consultation on the 

Deposit LDP to fine tune requirements and delivery sources. This will 
include identifying in more detail the different ways in which infrastructure 

can be provided. 
 

MAC9 4 Policy KP7 
Planning 
Obligations 

Paragraphs 
4.98 and 

4.101 

2.3 Amend KP 7 and paragraph reasoned justification 
 
KP7: PLANNING OBLIGATIONS 

 
Planning obligations will be sought to mitigate any impacts 

directly related to the development and will be assessed on a case 
by case basis in line with Planning Policy Guidance. 
 

P
age 510



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

15 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

4.98 The legislative and policy framework governing the use of planning 
obligations is provided in PPW, Community Infrastructure Levy 
Regulations 2010 (as amended) and Welsh Office Circular 13/97 'Planning 

Obligations' (or subsequent versions). 
 

 
4.101 They will be sought where they are: 
 

 Necessary to make a proposal acceptable in land use planning 
terms; 

 Relevant to planning; and 
 Directly related to the proposed development. 
 Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms 

 Directly related to the development; and 
 Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development 

 
 

MAC10 4 Policy KP8 
new 
paragraph and 

amendments 
to 4.117 

14.3 Insert new paragraph after existing paragraph 4.105 and amend 
paragraph 4.117 of Policy KP8. 
 

New paragraph after existing paragraph 4.105: 
 

In order to mitigate transport impacts and achieve the 50:50 modal split 

target, the development of strategic sites will be integrated with provision 

of transport and highways infrastructure referred to in Policy KP6 (New 

Infrastructure). Such infrastructure will include:  

 

 the walking and cycling infrastructure supported by Policy T1;  

 the strategic rapid transit, bus corridor enhancements and wider 

P
age 511



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

16 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

improvements to the city’s bus network supported by Policy T2;  

 Transport Interchanges supported by Policy T3; and  

 the Regional Transport Hub supported by Policy T4.  

 

Policies KP2 (A) to KP2 (H) list the ‘Essential’ and ‘Enabling infrastructure’ 

required to support the development of each strategic site s contribution 

to and the delivery of the county-wide 50:50 modal split target.  

 
Policies KP2 (A) to KP2 (H) list the ‘Essential’ and ‘Enabling infrastructure’ 

required to support the development of each strategic site and the 
delivery of the 50:50 modal split target.  

 

4.117 For planning applications relating to the LDP strategic sites, the 
Council will seek to secure the on-site and off-site transport infrastructure 

identified within the schematic master plans and site-specific principles for 
each site Policy KP2.  Implementation of this Policy will help to reduce 
pollution arising from road traffic. This will counteract increases in 

atmospheric pollution as a result of the Plan, thereby avoiding significant 
effects upon internationally designated sites. 

 

MAC11 4 KP11: 

Minerals And 
Aggregates  
Paragraph 

4.141 
 

15.1, 15.2, 

15.3, 15.4, 
15.9, 15.10, 
15.12 

Amend Policy KP11 and the reasoned justification 

 
KP11: MINERALS AND CRUSHED ROCK AGGREGATES AND OTHER 
MINERALS 

 
Cardiff will maintain a steady and adequate supply of minerals and 

contribute to regional aggregate supplies by: 
i Promoting and supporting the efficient use of minerals and use 

P
age 512



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

17 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

of alternatives to naturally occurring minerals including the re-use 
of secondary aggregates; 
ii. Protecting existing mineral reserves and safeguarding potential 

resources of limestone, coal and sand and gravel from 
development that would preclude their future extraction; and 

iii. Maintaining a minimum 10 year land bank of permitted crushed 
rock aggregate reserves in line with national guidance.;  
iv. Supporting appropriate applications for sand and gravel 

extraction; and 
v. Safeguarding wharves from development that would prevent 

their use for landing marine dredged sand and gravel.  
 
4.141 Crushed rock production in the past has averaged 1 million tonnes 

(mt.) per annum, broadly similar to the County’s consumption. In addition 
approximately 0.3 mt. of sea dredged sand is landed at Cardiff Docks 

every year. The majority of natural mineral production is used in the 
construction industry as crushed rock aggregates. Secondary materials, 
such as construction and demolition waste, are also used as substitutes 

for natural aggregates. Cardiff is also an important source of dolomitic 
and high purity limestone for industrial use in the local steelmaking 

process. Existing permitted reserves of hard rock minerals (41 mt.) 
represent over 69 years’ supply at current output rates, sufficient to meet 
need well beyond the Plan period. Regionally, Cardiff contributes around 

10% of South Wales’ annual crushed rock aggregate production and its 
reserves represent 8% of the regional total, sufficient to maintain this 

contribution during the Plan period. The Regional Technical Statement 1st 
Review (August 2014) produced by the north and South Wales Regional 
Aggregates Working Parties states that Cardiff should make provision for 

0.86 million tonnes of crushed rock aggregates per year up to 2036, 
resulting is a total apportionment of 21.5 million tonnes. This requirement 

P
age 513



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

18 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

is based on average annual production for the period 2001 to 2010 and 
compares with the existing landbank of 41 million tonnes (as at 31st 
December 2010) of crushed rock reserves meaning Cardiff based on 

current information has a surplus of permitted reserves when compared 
to the requirements set out in the Regional Technical Statement 1st 

Review. This Policy recognises that Cardiff is an important regional 
provider of minerals and provides for the continuation of its present 
contribution to regional demand. 

 

MAC12 4 Policy KP12 

Waste 
Paragraphs 

4.144, 4.145  
 

15.13, 15.16 Amend Policy KP 12 and the reasoned justification 

 
KP12 WASTE 

 
Waste arisings from Cardiff will be managed by: 
 

i. Promoting and supporting additional sustainable waste 
management facilities, measures and strategies in accordance 

with the Collections, Infrastructure and Markets Sector Plan 
(2012) and TAN 21 (2014) Regional Waste Plan and in a manner 
that follows the waste hierarchy which seeks to maximise the 

reduction of waste in the first place and thereafter reusing, 
recovering and recycling options before disposal of waste and the 

principles of an integrated and adequate network of waste 
installations; nearest appropriate installation; self-sufficiency and 
protection of human health and the environment; 

 
ii. Encouraging the provision of in-building treatment facilities 

on existing and allocated areas of general industry; 
 
iii. Supporting the provision and maintenance of sustainable 

P
age 514



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

19 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

waste management storage and collection arrangements in all 
appropriate new developments; and 
 

iv. Supporting waste minimisation prevention and reuse and the 
provision of facilities that use recycled or composted products. 

 
4.144 Cardiff produces around a million tonnes of waste each year, 
varying from harmless inert materials to highly toxic chemical by-products 

and residues.  It is important for the Council to manage the land use 
implications of this waste in an environmentally acceptable and 

sustainable way.  The Council is moving towards more sustainable waste 
management practices in line with European and national guidance, by 
increasing the amount of municipal waste recycled or composted and 

reducing the amount of biodegradable waste sent to landfill. Additional 
treatment facilities are likely to be required within the Plan period in order 

to achieve these aims. 
4.415 The South East Wales Regional Waste Plan indicates that a 
maximum of 20.9 hectares of land will be required for waste management 

facilities within the county. New waste management facilities will 
generally be favoured on B2 land for general industry, in line with 

national guidance. In this respect the 1st Review of the Regional Waste 
Plan endorsed by the Council in July 2008 identifies a range of potential 
sites for waste management purposes on vacant general industrial land. 

TAN 21 (2014) sets a framework for the delivery of sustainable waste 
management infrastructure through the planning process.  The 

Collections, Infrastructure and Markets Sector Plan (2012) is intended to 
deliver the sustainable development outcomes set out in ‘Towards Zero 
Waste’ the overarching waste strategy document for Wales.  The Council 

will work with others within the South East Wales region to monitor waste 
arisings and capacity requirements and respond to identified needs by 

P
age 515



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

20 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

providing an integrated and adequate network of waste management 
facilities across the region.  Additional treatment and recovery facilities 
are likely to be required within Cardiff during the Plan period in order to 

achieve the targets set out in the CIM Sector Plan and the policy 
principles established in TAN 21 (2014). 

 
 

MAC13 4 Policy KP13: 
Responding to 
Evidenced 

Social Needs 

4.1, 4.2, 
4.19 

Amend Policy KP13 and reasoned justification 
 
KP13: RESPONDING TO EVIDENCED SOCIAL NEEDS 

  
A key part of the successful progression of the city will be to 

develop sustainable neighbourhoods, tackle deprivation, and 
improve the quality of life for all. This will be achieved through: 
i. Providing a range of dwelling sizes, types and affordability 

including seeking to provide a target of 6,953 6,646 affordable 
dwellings over the remaining 13 12 years of Plan period; 

ii. Supporting the vitality, viability and attractiveness of existing 
District and Local Centres and their regeneration, including retail 
and other commercial development and housing of an appropriate 

scale; 
iii. Encouraging the provision of a full range of social, health, 

leisure and education facilities and community infrastructure for 
both existing and new communities that are accessible to all by 
walking and cycling and public transport; 

iv. Supporting the regeneration of deprived communities within 
the city and maximising the additional benefits that new 

communities can bring to adjoining or surrounding communities; 
v. Encouraging the enhancement of communities through better 
equality of access to services for all, promoting cultural and wider 

P
age 516



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

21 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

diversity for all groups in society, and creating places that 
encourage social interaction and cohesion; 
vi. Developing new cultural and sporting facilities to build upon 

Cardiff’s role as a major tourist, cultural and sporting destination 
for visitors and residents alike; and 

vii. Designing out crime and creating communities which are safer 
and feel safer. 
 

4.149 The affordable housing target (6,953 6,646 or 535 units per 
annum) identifies the number of affordable housing units that it is 

anticipated will be provided over the remainder of the Plan period 2013 
2014 to 2026. The target takes into account the current landbank of 
affordable units (less an allowance for flexibility) and expected 

contributions from strategic and non-strategic sites, windfall sites and 
change of use schemes based on the affordable housing target 

percentages (30% for greenfield sites and 20% for brownfield sites) 
outlined in Policy H3.. It is also likely that some affordable housing will 
also come forward from sources other than by the use of planning 

obligations, for example on sites or in dwellings acquired by social housing 
providers. 

 
Insert new paragraph after existing paragraph 4.149 
 

The Cardiff LHMA assessment sets a requirement over the period 2013-
2018 of 3,989 affordable units per year or a total of 19,945. Clearly, the 

affordable housing target over the Plan period will not meet the need 
figure as set out in the LHMA and it is not expected to as it is only one of 
a variety of means to achieving a supply of affordable housing. 

 
 

P
age 517



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

22 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

MAC14 4 KP15 Climate 
Change 
Paragraph 

4.167 

1.7, 13.3 Amend Policy KP15 and paragraph 4.167 of the reasoned justification 
 
KP15: CLIMATE CHANGE 

 
To mitigate against the effects of climate change and adapt to its 

impacts, 
development proposals should take into account the following 
factors: 

i. Reducing carbon emissions; 
ii. Protecting and increasing carbon sinks; 

iii. Adapting to the implications of climate change at both a 
strategic and 
detailed design level; 

iv. Promoting energy efficiency and increasing the supply of 
renewable 

energy; and  
v.  Avoiding unnecessary flood risk by assessing the implications 
of development proposals within areas susceptible to flooding and 

preventing development that unacceptably increases risk. 
Avoiding areas susceptible to flood risk in the first instance in 

accordance with the sequential approach set out in national 
guidance; and 
 (vi) Preventing development that increases flood risk. 

 
 

4.167 Avoiding unnecessary flood risk will be achieved by strictly 
assessing the flood risk implications of development proposals within 
areas susceptible to tidal or fluvial flooding and preventing development 

that unacceptably increases risk. In accordance with TAN15: Development 
and Flood Risk no highly vulnerable development will be permitted in 

P
age 518



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

23 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

development advice zone C2. Development will only be considered in 
other areas at high risk of flooding where it can be demonstrated that the 
site can comply with the justification and assessment requirements of 

TAN15 (2004 – Section 6, 7 and Appendix 1). Policy EN14 relating to 
Flood Risk sets out a range of criterion which will be considered when 

assessing development proposals in areas of high risk of flooding. 
Information is provided to demonstrate that a proposal satisfies the Flood 
Consequence Assessment tests set out in TAN15: Development and Flood 

Risk. 
 

MAC15 4 Policy KP16 
Green 

Infrastructure 

13.6 Amend Policy KP16 
 

KP16: GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE 
 
Cardiff’s distinctive natural heritage provides a network of green 

infrastructure which will be protected, enhanced, created, and 
managed to ensure the integrity and connectivity of this multi-

functional green resource is maintained. 
 
Protection and conservation of natural heritage network needs to 

be reconciled with the benefits of development.  Proposed 
development should therefore demonstrate how green 

infrastructure has been considered and integrated into the 
proposals.  If development results in overall loss of green 
infrastructure, appropriate compensation will be required. 

 
Natural heritage assets are key to Cardiff’s character, value, 

distinctiveness and sense of place. They include the City’s: 
 
i.Undeveloped countryside and coastline (EN1 and EN2); 

P
age 519



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

24 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

 
ii.Landscape, geological and heritage features which contribute to 
the City’s setting (EN3); 

 
iii.Strategically important river valleys of the Ely, Taff, Nant Fawr 

and Rhymney (EN4); 
 
iv.Biodiversity interests including designated sites and the 

connectivity of priority habitats and species (EN5, EN6 and EN7); 
 

v.Trees (including street trees), woodlands and hedgerows (EN8); 
 
vi. Strategic recreational routes, cycleways and the public rights of 

way network (T5, T6 and T8); 
 

vii.Parks, playing fields, green play areas and open spaces (C3, C4 
and C6); 
 

viii.Growing spaces including allotments, community orchards and 
larger gardens (C5); and 

 
ix. Holistic integrated surface water management systems (EN10). 
 

MAC16 4 Policy KP17 
Built Heritage 

 
 

 
 
 

13.1 Amend Policy KP17 
 

Policy KP17: BUILT HERITAGE 
 

Cardiff’s distinctive heritage assets will be protected, managed 
and enhanced, in particular the character and setting of its 
Scheduled Ancient Monuments; Listed Buildings; Registered 

P
age 520



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

25 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

 
 
 

 
Paragraphs 

4.174, 4.176, 
4.178, 4.179 

Historic Landscapes, Parks and Gardens; Conservation Areas; 
Locally Listed Buildings and other features of local interest that 
positively contribute to the distinctiveness of the city. 

 
Amend paragraphs 4.174, 4.176, 4.178, 4.179 of KP 17 

 
4.174 There are currently 28 s Scheduled a Ancient m Monuments in 
Cardiff.  This Policy affords appropriate protection to these ancient 

monuments and others that may be scheduled over the Plan period, as 
well as other important archaeological remains identified within the 

Historic Environment Record.  The SPG on Archaeologically Sensitive 
Areas provides further guidance on four areas of the city where significant 
finds have been recorded. 

 
4.176 The Council also holds a Local List of Buildings of Merit. This Policy 

identifies the significance of these locally listed buildings (and others that 
may be added to the list by the Council over the Plan period) have in 
forming the character of the area.  Welsh Office Circular 61/96 identifies 

the weight their designation may have in the assessment of development 
proposals. 

 
4.178 Finally, there are currently 19 historic parks and gardens and 1 
historic landscape (the Wentloog Levels) included on the Cadw/ICOMOS 

‘Register of Historic Landscapes Parks, and Gardens and Landscapes’.  
This Policy affords appropriate protection to these and other historic 

parks, gardens and landscapes that may be added to the register by 
Cadw/ICOMOS over the Plan period. 
 

4.179 In seeking to respond to the presence of heritage assets, 
developers are encouraged to follow a sequence of investigation and 

P
age 521



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

26 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

assessment to identify the cultural and historic significance of a place 
before developing proposals for change or alteration. In this way 
appropriate approaches can be developed to preserve and enhance the 

historic environment through proposals that respond to and complement 
their context. The process is commended within Welsh Office Circular 

61/96 and advice within BS Standard 7913, 20131998. 
 

MAC17 4 KP18: Natural 
Resources 
Paragraph 

4.184 

11.6, 13.9, 
16.1 

Amend criterion (iv) and paragraph 4.184 of Policy KP18 
 
(iv) “Remediating contaminated land contamination through the 

redevelopment of contaminated sites.”  
 

Amend the first sentence of Paragraph 4.184  
 
 “The redevelopment of sites with contaminated land contamination allows 

such land to be brought back into beneficial use, prevents dereliction and 
reduces the need to develop greenfield sites land.” 

 
Chapter 5: Detailed Policies 

 

MAC18 5 Policy H1 Non 

Strategic 
Housing Sites 
Table 3 

9.3, 9.6 Amend Table 3 of Policy H1 

 

Table 3: SUMMARY OF NON-STRATEGIC HOUSING SITES 

Site 

Ref. 

Site Name Estimated 

Units 

Site Size 

(Ha) 

H1.1 Land at Areas 9-12, St 

Mellons 

150 3.98 

H1.2 Land rear of Clive Street 80 2.87 

H1.3 Rookwood Hospital 80 90 2.90 3.40 

P
age 522



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

27 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

H1.4 Former Lansdowne 

Hospital 

75 1.51 

H1.5 Land at Dan-y-Garth, 

Pentyrch 

53 47 2.49 

H1.6 Land at former St John’s 

College 

50 64 2.50 

H1.7 Ely Bridge Farm, Dyfrig 

Road. Ely  

35 41 0.72 

H1.8 Electrocoin Automatics 

Ltd, Caerphilly Road 

20 0.61 

H1.9 Land at Mill Road, 

Tongwynlais 

5 0.40 

 

MAC19 5 Policy H3 

Affordable 
Housing 

Paragraphs 
5.11, 5.12, 
5.13 

4.3 to 4.18 Amend Policy H3 and paragraphs 5.11, 5.12 and 5.13 of the reasoned 

justification. 
 

Policy H3: AFFORDABLE HOUSING  
 
Where there is evidence of need The Council will seek 20% 

affordable housing on Brownfield sites and 30% affordable 
housing on Greenfield sites in all residential proposals that: 

 
i. Contain 10 5 or more dwellings; or 
ii. Sites of or exceeding 0.13 hectares in gross site area; or 

iii. Sites of or exceeding the thresholds in (i) or (ii) above for 
adjacent sites.  

Where adjacent and related residential proposals result in 
combined numbers or site size areas exceeding the above 
thresholds, the Council will seek affordable housing based on the 

P
age 523



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

28 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

affordable housing target percentages set out above 
 
Affordable housing will be sought to be delivered on-site in all 

instances unless there are exceptional circumstances. 
 

5.11 The LDp target for affordable housing for the Plan period is detailed 
in Policy KP13.  During the remaining Plan period from 2013 to 2026 the 
target amounts to 535units per annum. 

 
5.12 The targets set out in the Policy are derived from the findings of an 

affordable housing viability study undertaken by Peter Brett Associates. 
This study assessed the viability of a range of housing scenarios (including 
a calculation for necessary infrastructure which could be achieved through 

Sn106 and/or CIL, consistent with Policy KP6: New Infrastructure and the 
LDP Background Paper: Infrastructure Plan) for different development 

types with varying levels of affordable housing. In order to demonstrate 
viability, and take account of the higher costs associated with the 
development of brownfield sites the study recommended a two tiered 

affordable housing target. The Report confirms that affordable housing is 
viable at 30% on greenfield sites and at 20% on brownfield sites (based 

on indicative tenure mixes of 40% social rented, 40% intermediate rented 
and 20% Low Cost Home Ownership). This is consistent with the 
recommendations of the Cardiff Local Housing Market Assessment and the 

Economic Viability Reports of 2013 and 2014 in seeking an appropriate 
mix of tenures to address evidenced housing need over the Plan period. 

The full findings of the Viability Study, including the methodology and 
assumptions made are set out in supporting document 20  
 

5.13 In negotiating affordable housing, each proposal’s actual contribution 
will depend on that scheme’s capacity for provision. This will ensure that 

P
age 524



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

29 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

the affordable housing contribution in itself will not make the scheme 
unviable. The Council will work with developers to agree a contribution in 
an open and transparent manner. In cases where agreement cannot be 

reached, an independent assessment will be commissioned to be paid for 
by the applicant/developer. Notwithstanding this, in order to determine an 

appropriate level of contribution all housing developments of 50 or more 
dwellings will be expected to provide an independent assessment paid for 
by the applicant/developer. The assessment should include details and 

costs of the necessary infrastructure to be delivered either wholly or in 
part to support the delivery of sustainable neighbourhoods. 

 

MAC20 5 Policy H4: 

Change Of 
Use Of 
Residential 

Land Or 
Properties 

Paragraph 
5.18 
 

16.3 Amend Policy H4 and paragraph 5.18 of the reasoned justification. 

 
H4: CHANGE OF USE OF RESIDENTIAL LAND OR PROPERTIES 
 

Outside the Central and Bay Business Areas and District and Local 
Centres, identified on the Proposals Map, conversion or 

redevelopment of residential properties to other uses will only be 
permitted where: 
i. The premises or their location are no longer suitable for 

residential use; or 
ii. The proposal is for a community use necessary within a 

residential area. 
iv. The proposal is for a use that could contribute to the 
creation of sustainable communities. 

iii.There would be no unacceptable impact on residential amenity. 

5.18 There is a range of community uses that are appropriate and 
necessary, in principle, within residential areas. These include doctors' 

and dentists' surgeries, residential homes and child-care facilities. 

P
age 525



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

30 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

Similarly there are other uses such as local shops and other commercial 
uses, of an appropriate scale, that could contribute to the creation of 
sustainable communities. Such uses will be permitted where there would 

be no unacceptable impact on residential amenity or to an area’s 
character. Subsequent conversion from such uses to other non-

residential uses will not normally be permitted. Further guidance on the 
conversion of residential properties to childcare facilities will be set out in 
SPG. 

MAC21 5 Policy H5 Sub-
Division or 

Conversion of 
Residential 

Properties 

16.4 Amend Policy H5 
 

H5: SUB-DIVISION OR CONVERSION OF RESIDENTIAL 
PROPERTIES 

 
Proposals for any conversion to flats or Houses in Multiple 
Occupation will be permitted where: 

i. The existing property is of a size (without being extended for 
the proposed use), whereby the layout, room sizes, range of 

facilities and external amenity space of the resulting property 
would ensure an adequate standard of residential amenity for 
future occupiers. 

ii. There would be no material harm to the amenity of existing, 
nearby residents by virtue of general disturbance, noise or 

overlooking. 
iii. The cumulative impact of such conversions will not adversely 
affect the amenity and/or the character of the area. 

iv. Does not have an adverse effect on local parking provision 
 

MAC22 5 Policy 
H7:Allocation 

Policy for 

11.1 to 11.5, 
11.7 

Delete Policy H7 and reasoned justification 
 

H7: ALLOCATION POLICY FOR GYPSY AND TRAVELLER SITE 

P
age 526



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

31 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

Gypsy and 
Traveller Site 
Paragraphs 

5.34 – 5.50 

 
Land is allocated for the provision of Gypsies and Travellers 
accommodation at Seawall Road as defined on the Proposals Map. 

 
5.34  Currently, there are two Council-managed Gypsy and Traveller 

residential sites in Cardiff: at Rover Way and Shirenewton which were 
developed in the 1970’s and 1980’s. These sites provide 80 pitches 
between them; 59 at Shirenewton and 21 at Rover Way. In addition there 

are a few privately run facilities, most notably a site next to the Council’s 
residential site at Shirenewton. Collectively these sites generate a future 

need for new pitches which the Council has a statutory duty to provide for 
with the LDP providing the tool to formally identify appropriate land to 
meet this need. 

 
5.35 In order to fully inform considerations, the Council has recently 

commissioned 3 independent studies carried out in consultation with the 
Gypsy and Traveller community to assess the relevant aspects of this 
matter.  The first independent study, by Opinion Research Services, was 

to identify the level of need over the LDP plan period. It identifies a need 
to provide for an additional 108 pitches in the city up to 2026 together 

with an additional need for a transit site of around ten pitches, which 
should be located near the M4 to meet the needs of Gypsy and Travellers 
who are visiting the area or travelling through it. The study concludes that 

a transit site need not necessarily fall within the boundaries of the County 
of Cardiff and recommends entering a cross boundary process with 

neighbouring Councils and across South East Wales to identify a suitable 
site within the region.  

 

5.36  The second independent study carried out by Atkins examined the 
physical condition of the Rover Way site. It outlined some significant and 

P
age 527



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

32 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

challenging issues which would require resolution in future years. 
Therefore, in the event that this site could be replaced at some point in 
the future, this could add to the level of need to be provided for in the 

LDP (21 pitches).  
 

5.37 The third independent study was prepared by Peter Brett Associates 
and provides advice to the Council on potential sites required to respond 
to the needs identified in the first study. It contains an assessment of 

potential sites for the Council to consider which is further discussed in the 
following paragraphs.  

 
5.38  The Peter Brett study followed criteria set out in national guidance 
and looked at the availability, suitability and achievability of potential 

sites. The process resulted in a long list of 32 sites with 5 sites being 
identified as potentially suitable to contribute additional pitches. However, 

it is noted that the sites recommended would only deliver 92 pitches 
which falls short of the required number. The Council has placed the study 
in the public domain and received feedback on its contents.  Work has 

been undertaken to examine the study in considerable detail. As a result 
of recent analysis, there are significant concerns with the suitability of all 

5 recommended sites having regard to a wide range of material factors 
including the role of potential sites for other uses. 

 

5.39  Consideration of the study has also included addressing all 32 sites 
on ‘the long list’ of sites assessed by the consultants. In this respect, 

further work has been undertaken with regard to the large area of unused 
land at Pengam Green bounded by Seawall Road to the west, and Rover 
Way to the south, (opposite the existing Gypsy and Traveller site at Rover 

Way). The study concluded that the land was not considered suitable due 
to flood risk but added, “However  should satisfactory flood mitigation 

P
age 528



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

33 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

measures be identified as part of a wider scheme to mitigate flood risk in 
the area it is considered the site could have the potential for Gypsy and 
Traveller use. The Council should keep this under review”. 

 
5.40  Dialogue with Natural Resources Wales (NRW) undertaken since the 

Peter Brett study has revealed that NRW are proposing to carry out 2 
flood defence enhancement schemes in relation to the River Rhymney and 
Roath Brook. These schemes are currently programmed for 

implementation in 2015/16 as part of the Severn Estuary Flood Risk 
Management Strategy and will reduce flood risk in part of the flood plain 

contiguous with land south of the railway line.  
5.41  Whilst the schemes do not remove flood risk from the unused land 
north of Rover Way, they provide an important stage in delivering 

significant measures to address flood risk in the wider area. If 
complemented by further measures closer to the mouth of the River 

Rhymney and existing tidal defences, a comprehensive solution may be 
feasible which significantly reduces flood risk for the whole local area 
including a large number of existing properties and premises in the 

locality. Flood defence enhancements would also be fully consistent with 
the Severn Estuary Shoreline Management Plan 2 which supports, ‘holding 

the line’ of sea defences in this area. 
 
5.42 Detailed analysis of the land east of Seawall Road and north of 

Rover Way reveals different degrees of flood risk within the site. A Phase 
2 Strategic Flood Consequences Assessment (SFCA) undertaken for the 

Council by Atkins in 2011 indicates that flood risk is within guidelines for 
development for conditions today but becomes an issue when considering 
the impact of rising sea levels in future years and guidance states regard 

must be had to, ‘lifetime of development’ rather than assessing purely 
current conditions. The western corner of the site adjacent to Seawall 

P
age 529



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

34 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

Road is unused with no extant planning consents and contains two large 
raised areas of land including access roads which removes flood risk 
according to national guidance criteria until 2110 flood extents whilst 

lower surrounding developed and unused land triggers flood risk in 2085 
flood extents. 

 
5.43  In order to fully assess the precise nature of flood risk and explore 
effective mitigation measures in relation to the lifetime of development, a 

Phase 3 Flood Consequence Assessment will need to be undertaken. Initial 
dialogue has taken place with NRW in this respect and the Council will 

commission independent consultants to work to a brief agreed with NRW 
and in accordance with national guidelines. Given the fact that flood risk 
does not become an issue until 2110 on this part of the unused land plus 

the fact that the Severn Estuary Strategy Management Plan is proposing 
sea defence improvements before this time, an allocation on this land is 

not unreasonable at this juncture. However, the Phase 3 study will be 
progressed as a priority to allow the Council time to consider its findings 
and update details as appropriate prior to formally agreeing the LDP 

submission and focussed changes in May 2014. 
 

5.44 Having regard to other factors, there are strong reasons to support 
this allocation. This has the benefits of building upon the strong existing 
links with the existing community and facilities provided. Indeed, the site 

would benefit from far safer access to Willows High School and local 
services, overcome existing coastal erosion concerns and provide a more 

satisfactory living environment in a well-screened site not directly 
adjacent to the busy Rover Way. 
 

 
5.45  In terms of potential capacity, the area of raised land adjacent to 

P
age 530



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

35 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

Seawall Road is approximately 3.2 hectares in size. It could be developed 
for Gypsy and Travellers in a phased manner utilising existing access 
roads together with room for new internal landscaping to compliment 

strong and mature boundary planting forming the western site boundary 
which extends to the north and east providing a distinctive feature in the 

local landscape. Based on existing pitch densities, the site can deliver 
around 65 pitches.  
 

 
5.46 The site would be of a large scale in a Wales context and above 

recommended site size in national guidance. However this guidance also 
states local authorities may consider it necessary to be flexible by allowing 
more pitches on a site when taking into account local circumstances and 

the current level of need. Furthermore, the council’s experience in 
operating the Shirenewton site of 59 pitches has demonstrated that large 

sites can be very effectively managed providing both benefits for the 
Gypsy and Traveller community and enabling the effective delivery of 
supporting services. The site allows for a logical phased development 

where pitches can be provided in a managed and orderly manner together 
with integrating the provision of supporting facilities. Developing a larger 

site at this location is not considered a viable or sustainable solution. It 
would go well beyond the recommended size of sites in national guidance 
and well beyond the Council’s ability to demonstrate that such a model 

could effectively operate in practice. 
 

5.47  The allocation of a new site for 65 pitches at Seawall Road 
represents a major provision in a national context and demonstrates the 
Council’s continued commitment to responding to the needs of a large 

Gypsy and Traveller community. This represents meeting more than the 
immediate needs in Cardiff (43 pitches) as identified in the ORS needs 

P
age 531



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

36 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

assessment. However, it does not satisfy the overall level of need 
identified in the ORS needs assessment. This is a reflection of the 
unprecedented level of need to be addressed in a Wales context together 

with the limited suitability of other potential sites as shown through 
consideration of the Peter Brett Study. There has been insufficient time 

since the consideration of the Peter Brett study to identify additional sites 
prior to progressing the Deposit LDP in strict accordance with the Delivery 
Agreement approved by the Welsh Government. 

 
5.48  The progression of the LDP through to examination allows this issue 

to be more thoroughly explored including an analysis of consultation 
responses on the Deposit Plan. Discussions have already been initiated 
with the Welsh Government to progress a balanced approach to 

addressing needs for the South East Wales region. Furthermore, it should 
be noted that policy H8 provides a criteria-based policy to assess any 

future sites which may come forward over the plan period so the plan 
clearly has mechanisms to effectively consider future sites.  
 

5.49  The consideration of the provision for Gypsy and Traveller needs 
on a South East Wales scale may contribute to future deliberations. A 

continuation of the current situation would result in future provision 
limited to those Authorities who have catered for needs in the past whilst 
other (and often adjoining) Authorities technically will have no future 

needs to meet at all as there is currently no provision. This is considered 
an unreasonable and unsustainable approach. Future dialogue regarding 

strategic planning options for South East Wales including the upcoming 
consultation from the Wales Government on the Draft Planning Reform Bill 
and Consultation Paper may offer an opportunity to further explore this 

matter. The future consideration of a more reasonable, sustainable and 
strategic approach may well have implications on how provision is 

P
age 532



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

37 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

addressed in Cardiff. 
 

5.50 With regard to the provision of a transit site which could 

accommodate about ten pitches, it is noted that the independent 
consultants recommended that this site should be located near to the M4 

and that its location should not be limited to Cardiff. The Council has 
therefore made initial contact with relevant local authorities along the M4 
in South East Wales with regard to exploring suitable potential 

opportunities to meet this element of need. Given the limited time since 
the studies have been completed, further work and dialogue will continue 

to identify a suitable transit site within the region which will then be 
progressed accordingly by the local authority concerned. Should the site 
ultimately be identified within Cardiff (although the Peter Brett study did 

not identify a suitable site), it would be progressed as part of the material 
submitted for the LDP independent examination. 

 

MAC23 5 Policy H8 

Sites for 
Gypsy and 
Traveller 

Caravans 
Paragraphs 

5.52 and 5.53 

 

 
 
 

 
11.6, 13.9, 

16.1 
 
 

 
11.1 to 11.5, 

11.7 
 
 

Amend criterion (ii) and paragraphs 5.52 and 5.53 of the reasoned 

justification to Policy H8 
 
(ii) “Environmental factors including flood risk, ground stability, 

contaminated land contamination and proximity of hazardous 
installations do not make the site inappropriate for residential 

development;”  
 
 

5.52   Cardiff currently has two Gypsy and Traveller sites, at Rover Way 
and Shirenewton, providing a total of 80 permanent pitches. To date 

these two sites have accommodated natural population growth, with some 
overcrowding.. The latest Gypsy and Traveller Needs Assessment was 
undertaken in April 2013 and showed a need for 108 permanent Gypsy 

P
age 533



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

38 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

and Traveller pitches. Local authorities are required to assess the 
accommodation needs of Gypsy families (Housing (Wales) Act 20014 
S.225 & 226) .  and submit the assessment to the Welsh Government for 

approval by March 2016. PPW says that it is important for LDPs to have 
policies for the provision of sites. Welsh Government Circular 30/2007 

indicates that where there is an assessment of unmet need for Gypsy and 
Traveller accommodation, sufficient sites should be allocated in the LDP to 
meet needs. A criteria based Policy for Gypsy and Traveller sites must 

also be included in order to meet future need.  
 

5.53   This updated assessment will inform a wider site selection process 
which will progress over the next two years to meet the short and long 
term need for Gypsy and Traveller pitches. This process is referenced in 

the Monitoring Framework and includes the following key outputs and 
timescales. Sites that come forward through this process, together with 

any other proposals will be assessed against this policy. 
 

 Agree methodology and project management arrangements by end 

of 2015 
 Undertake Gypsy and Traveller Needs Assessment for both 

permanent and transit pitches in accordance with Housing (Wales) Act 
2014 by February 2016 
 Undertake a site search and assessment  and secure approval of 

findings by October 2016 
 Secure planning permission and funding (including any grant 

funding from Welsh Government) for identified sites(s) required to meet 
the short term need for 43 pitches by May 2017 
 Secure planning permission and funding (including any grant 

funding from Welsh Government) for identified(s) required to meet the 
long term need for 65 pitches by May 2021 

P
age 534



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

39 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 
5.53   Cardiff currently has two Gypsy and Traveller sites, at Rover Way 
and Shirenewton, providing a total of 80 permanent pitches. To date 

these two sites have accommodated natural population growth, with some 
overcrowding. Policy H7 allocates land specifically for the provision of 

Gypsy and Travellers but This policy provides further scope for 
considering any additional proposals which may arise over the plan 
period. 

 

MAC24 5 Policy EC3: 

Alternative 
Use Of 
Employment 

Land And 
Premises 

Paragraphs 
5.68 and 5.69 
 

10.2, 10.3, 

10.4 

Amend Policy EC3 and paragraphs 5.68 and 5.69 of the reasoned 

justification 
 
 

EC3: ALTERNATIVE USE OF EMPLOYMENT LAND AND PREMISES 
 

Development of business, industrial and warehousing land and 
premises for other uses will only be permitted if: 
 

i. The land or premises are no longer well located for business, 
industrial and warehousing use; or 

ii. There is no realistic prospect of employment use on the site 
and/or the property is physically unsuitable for employment use, 
even after adaption/refurbishment or redevelopment; or 

iii. There is no need to retain the land or premises for business, 
industrial or warehousing use, having regard to the demand for 

such land and premises and the requirement to provide for a 
range and choice of sites available for such use; and 
iv. There will be no unacceptable impact on the operating 

P
age 535



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

40 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

conditions of existing businesses. 
 

 

5.68 Provision might be made for conversion to alternative uses but only 
if there were compelling and exceptional circumstances, for example: 

 
 Robust evidence that there is no realistic prospect of employment 
use on the site; and/or 

 The property is physically unsuitable for employment use, even 
after adaption/refurbishment or redevelopment. 

 
5.69 The ‘robust evidence’ for assessing the need to retain land and 
premises for business, industrial and warehousing use include the 

following criteria: 
 Whether and for how long land or premises have been vacant and 

actively marketed and the expressions of interest during this period; 
 Whether the site offers particular benefits not generally available 
within the overall land bank; 

 Whether the site is within an area of high unemployment and offers 
realistic prospects of use for appropriate employment purposes; 

 Whether the relocation of existing occupiers to other suitable 
accommodation will be facilitated; 
 Whether the proposed development would retain an element of 

industrial, office or warehousing floorspace; and 
 Whether the proposed use need to be accommodated on business, 

industrial or warehousing land (e.g. transport depots).  
 Other priorities, such as housing need, override more narrowly 
focussed economic considerations. 

 

MAC25 5 New Policy 10.2, 10.3, Insert new policy and reasoned justification after paragraph 5.85 new 

P
age 536



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

41 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

10.4 policy to be referenced EC7 
 
EC7 EMPLOYMENT PROPOSALS ON LAND NOT IDENTIFIED FOR 

EMPLOYMENT USE 
 

Proposals for employment use (B Use Class) on unallocated sites 
will be permitted provided that:- 
i. The proposal cannot reasonably be accommodated on existing 

employment land and in the case of offices in the Central 
Enterprise Zone (Policy KP2) and the Central and Bay Business 

Areas (Policy EC4); 
ii. The site falls within the settlement boundary and has no 

specific policy designation; 

iii. The use is compatible with uses in the surrounding area and; 
iv. The proposal is well related to the primary highway network 

and accessible to sustainable modes of transport 
 
Policy EC7 provides guidance on how the Council will determine 

applications for employment development on sites not identified for 
employment and ensure a sequential approach to site selection is 

followed, thereby steering employment allocations to the most 
appropriate locations consistent with national policy (PPW para. 10.2.9 
and 10.2.11). This policy is intended to support the economy by allowing 

for future economic growth which sustains and provides job opportunities 
within Cardiff which is considered essential in responding to economic 

uncertainty and fulfils the LDP economic evidenced needs.  
The LPA is not able to fully predict all potential business and operator 
requirements over the Plan period. Therefore it is important for the policy 

framework to allow an element of flexibility to enable businesses to locate 
within the County.   

P
age 537



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

42 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

 
 

MAC26 5 Policy EN: 
Countryside 
Protection 

 

13.4, 13.5 Amend Policy EN1 and the reasoned justification 
 
Policy EN1:  COUNTRYSIDE PROTECTION 

 
There will be a presumption against development in the 

countryside, beyond the settlement boundaries identified on the 
Proposals Map, except where it can be justified for agricultural 
and forestry needs or it is essential for facilitating sustainable 

access to and enjoyment of the countryside including appropriate 
outdoor recreation and tourism uses. 

 
Appropriate development in the countryside should be in harmony 
with, and not cause unacceptable harm to, the character and 

quality of the surrounding countryside and landscape 
demonstrating: 

 
 The need for the development to be located in the countryside; 
ii. That alternative locations have been considered, where 

appropriate; 
iii. That the need cannot be accommodated through the 

conversion, 
extension or demolition and replacement of an existing building; 
iv. That farm diversification schemes are ancillary to, and do not 

prejudice, 
the operation of the existing business; 

v. That the proposed development respects the character of the 
surrounding area and is of appropriate scale, and design including 
both soft and hard landscaping and access; 

P
age 538



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

43 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

vi. That any new buildings are grouped and designed in harmony 
with 
existing buildings wherever possible and; 

vii. Appropriate measures are in place to protect, maintain, 
manage or 

improve the features of the surrounding countryside and 
landscape. 
 

Development in the countryside, beyond the settlement 
boundaries identified on the Proposals Map, will only be permitted 

where the use is appropriate in the countryside, respects the 
landscape character and quality and biodiversity of the site and 
surrounding area and where it is appropriate in scale and design.  

A landscape assessment and landscaping scheme will be required 
for significant development proposals.  Proposals for new housing, 

rural diversification and rural enterprise, will only be permitted 
where they comply with National Planning Policy.  

 

 
5.88 Although farming and forestry comprise a relatively small part of 

Cardiff’s economy, the economic viability of the countryside around Cardiff 
remains crucial, with agriculture and forestry playing an important role in 
both the management and conservation of the countryside.  As such, the 

Council will adopt a positive approach to supporting the rural economy.  
Development proposals relating to agriculture and forestry, including farm 

rural diversification and enterprise will be assessed against the above 
criteria, (PPW 2014)(2012, Para 7.3.3) and TAN 6: Planning for 
Sustainable Rural Communities.  Farm diversification schemes should 

remain linked to the existing farm business and maybe subject to 
planning obligations in accordance with TAN 6: Planning for Sustainable 

P
age 539



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

44 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

Rural Communities (2010 Para 3.7) and Policy KP7. 
 
5.89 Close proximity to a large urban population brings many pressures to 

Cardiff’s countryside, including outdoor recreation.  Whilst its importance 
for local recreational purposes and tourism is accepted, it is essential to 

ensure that both these uses, and any built development associated with 
them, do not cause unacceptable harm to the character and quality of the 
countryside.  Small scale, low impact development associated with 

activities which need to be located in the countryside, or encourage 
access to and enjoyment of the countryside, may be acceptable subject to 

the tests set out above in national guidance.. 
 
5.90 Planning permission is normally required for the use of land for 

keeping horses and for equestrian activities, unless they are kept as 
“livestock” or the land is used for “grazing.  The keeping of horses in 

Cardiff is very widespread, so that land used for grazing, recreation and 
associated development such as stabling, ménages, fencing, lighting, and 
car parking is already having a considerable impact on the character of 

Cardiff’s countryside.  Whilst it is accepted that these horse related uses 
can only be accommodated in the countryside, not all locations within the 

countryside are necessarily appropriate.  The overall impact of such 
proposals will be assessed against the criteria above set out in national 
guidance. 

 
 

5.91 Additionally there has been an increase in the number of applications 
for kennels and catteries.  Applications for the siting of kennels and 
catteries outside the curtilage of a dwelling house i.e. in a separate field 

or paddock will also be subject to the tests set out above in national 
guidance. 

P
age 540



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

45 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

 
5.92 There is continuing pressure on the countryside in terms of 
residential development; however the LDP has identified sufficient land to 

meet the foreseeable residential need over the Plan period.  As such, new 
residential development will not normally be permitted in the countryside 

unless it is justified for agricultural or forestry purposes or other rural 
enterprises.  In these instances, applicants should refer to PPW (2012), 
2014 and TAN 6: Planning for Sustainable Rural Communities (4.3 – 4.4). 

 
5.93 Any new development in the countryside should be designed and 

located to minimise their impact, usually within existing clusters of 
buildings or farm complexes and/or close to existing infrastructure and 
public transport.  The use of outdoor space associated with development 

including hard and soft landscaping, means of access, car parking and the 
treatment of boundaries can all have a significant detrimental effect on 

the character and quality of the countryside and will therefore be strictly 
controlled.  In these instances a Design and Access Statement will be 
required. 

MAC27 5 Policy EN2 
Conversion, 

Extension and 
Replacement 

Buildings in 
the 
Countryside 

Paragraph 
5.96  

 

16.6 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Amend Policy EN2 by deleting criterion v and to include criterion vi within 
an amended criterion ii remaining parts of the policy stays the same.  

Amend paragraph 5.96 
 

 
EN2: CONVERSION, EXTENSION AND REPLACEMENT BUILDINGS 
IN THE COUNTRYSIDE 

 
There will be a presumption against conversion, extension and 

replacement of buildings in Cardiff’s countryside except where: 
 

a. The proposed conversion is demonstrated to: 

P
age 541



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

46 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
Schedule of 

Minor 
Changes 

i. be structurally sound and capable of being made so without 
major alterations, reconstructing or extensions; 
ii. be possible without materially changing the existing 

character of the building or have a harmful effect on the 
countryside; 

iii. Not give rise to a demand for additional buildings; and 
iv. Be suitable for the proposed re-use. 
 

With particular regard to the proposed conversion to residential 
use in addition to the above, control similar to that of new 

house building in the open countryside will be applied where:  
 
v. the building is unsuitable for conversion without extensive 

alteration, rebuilding or extension or if 
vi. the creation of a residential curtilage would have a harmful 

effect on the countryside. 
 
5.96 The Policy contributes towards Plan objectives and PPW (2012, Para 

7.6.8) which supports the re-use and adaption of existing rural buildings 
to help meet the needs of commercial and industrial development, as well 

as for tourism sport and recreation. It further accords with PPW (2012, 
Para 7.6.9 and 7.6.10) which supports the inclusion of polices within the 
development plan which do not allow residential re-use which would have 

a harmful effect on the character of the countryside. Reference should 
also be made to KP3A with regard to the consideration of proposals in the 

Green Belt area.  
 

MAC28 5 Policy EN3 : 
Landscape 
Protection 

13.10, 13.11 Amend Policy EN3 and reasoned justification 
 
EN3: LANDSCAPE PROTECTION 

P
age 542



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

47 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

Paragraph 
5.106 

 
Development will not be permitted that would cause unacceptable 
harm to the character and quality of the landscape and setting of 

the city, with  
 

Particular priority will be given to protecting, managing and 
enhancing the character and quality of the following Special 
Landscape Areas: 

 
i. St Fagans Lowlands and the Ely Valley; 

ii. Garth Hill and Pentyrch Ridges; 
iii. Fforest Fawr and Caerphilly Ridge; 
iv. Wentloog Levels; and 

v. Flat Holm. 
 

A landscape assessment and landscaping scheme will be required 
for significant development proposals. 
 

5.106 Where landscape assessments or landscaping schemes are required 
they should set out the impact of the development on key features, of the 

landscape character and qualities and should explain how the design 
solution proposed addresses both its positive and negative attributes and 
associated landscape and visual impacts effects, including cumulative 

effects where appropriate.  Assessments and schemes should include the 
landscape baseline information from all five LANDMAP* layers and should 

focus on the relevant aspect areas, their descriptions, and evaluations.  
using the LANDMAP approach (as described below).  Design solutions 
should clearly demonstrate how the strategic landscape assessment and 

site appraisal have informed the detailed design and location of the 
development and planting proposals.  Schemes should generally be 

P
age 543



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

48 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

implemented prior to all or part of the site coming into beneficial use.  
The management of landscape features of importance will also be 
encouraged. 

 
*Further information can be found at  

http://www.ccw.gov.uk/landscape--wildlife/protecting-our-
landscape/landmap.aspx 
 

MAC29  Policy EN4 
River Valleys 

Schedule of 
Minor 

Changes 

Amend paragraph 5.118 of Policy EN4 
 

5.118 This Policy provides a planning framework within which the Council 
can protect, promote and enhance the river corridors. It will be used as a 

mechanism to implement the council’s aims with regards to the river 
corridors and will be used in conjunction with the River Valleys Initiative 
that was established in 2004/ 05 in order to develop a more joined up 

approach to the planning and management of Cardiff’s river valleys. The 
River Valleys Initiative brings together a wide range of organisations who 

have roles to undertake within the river valleys. One of the key outcomes 
of this process to date is an agreement to develop Action Plans for each of 
the three main river valleys. Action Plans have been prepared and are 

implemented, monitored and reviewed in partnership with a wide range of 
organisations, overseen by a steering group. There are River Corridor 

Action Plans for the Ely Valley, Taff Corridor and Rhymney Valley and 
Nant Fawr Corridor. Projects that implement the objectives set out in the 
Action Plans, and Cardiff’s Countryside Strategy are undertaken by a 

variety of organisations, individually and in partnership using funding from 
a range of sources, including the partnership programme with the Natural 

Resources Wales Countryside Council for Wales, other Cardiff Council 
funding and planning obligations. 

MAC30 5 Policy EN5: 9.5, 10.1, Rename and amend Policy EN5  and reasoned justification 

P
age 544

http://www.ccw.gov.uk/landscape--wildlife/protecting-our-landscape/landmap.aspx
http://www.ccw.gov.uk/landscape--wildlife/protecting-our-landscape/landmap.aspx


515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

49 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

Local Nature 
Reserves And 
Non-Statutory 

Sites Of 
Nature 

Conservation 
And 
Geological 

Importance 
 

13.12, 
13.13, 13.14 

 
EN5: LOCAL NATURE RESERVES AND NON-STATUTORY SITES 
OF NATURE CONSERVATION AND GEOLOGICAL IMPORTANCE 

 
Designated Sites 

 
Development will not be permitted that would cause 
unacceptable harm to sites of international or national nature 

conservation importance. 
Development proposals that would affect locally designated 

sites of nature conservation and geological importance should 
maintain or enhance the nature conservation and/or geological 
importance of the designation.  Where this is not the case and 

the need for the development outweighs the nature 
conservation importance of the site, it should be demonstrated 

that there is no satisfactory alternative location for the 
development which avoids nature conservation impacts, and 
compensation measures designed to ensure that there is no 

reduction in the overall nature conservation value of the area 
or feature. 

 
The purpose of Policy is to ensure that the Council fulfils its obligations 
in respect of protecting sites of nature conservation importance from 

harmful development. 
 

Where development is proposed which may have an effect on a site of 
international or national importance for nature conservation, sufficient 
information will be required of all applicants to enable a full 

assessment of the proposal to be carried out. The need for such 
assessments will not be limited to development located within the 

P
age 545



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

50 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

designated areas as, depending on the nature of the development and 
of the nature conservation interest, significant effects may occur even 
if the development is some distance away.  

 
Assessment of unacceptable harm will be in accordance the criteria set 

out in the legislation which establishes the sites of international or 
national importance for nature conservation, and which are expanded 
upon in Chapter 5 of Planning Policy Wales (2012) and Sections 

5.3, 5.4 and Annex 3 of Technical Advice Note (Wales) 5: Nature 
Conservation and Planning (2009).  

 
In the case of developments required to be assessed under the 
Conservation of Habitats & Species Regulations 2010 (as amended), 

where an initial determination of likely significance has indicated that 
the proposal may be likely to have a significant effect, or the decision 

as to whether or not the development would have a significant effect 
on the designated site is inconclusive, an appropriate assessment 
under Regulation 61(1) will be required and further information may 

be required from the applicant or other parties.  
 

Where development proposals may be likely to result in disturbance or 
harm to a European or UK protected species or its habitat, additional 
information will be requested of applicants  

 
If planning permission is granted it may be the subject of appropriate 

conditions, or management agreements or planning obligations will be 
sought, to secure appropriate protection, monitoring, mitigation or 
compensation and favourable management. 

 
5.121 The network of SSSIs/SACs/SPAs and Ramsar Sites alone is not 

P
age 546



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

51 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

sufficient to maintain the biodiversity of Cardiff.  It is therefore 
important to identify other locally designated wildlife sites such as 
Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation (SINC’s) and Local Nature 

Reserves (LNR’s).  Cardiff currently has 177 SINC’s and 6 LNR’s. 
 

5.122 Cardiff’s LNR’s are shown on the Proposals Map and SINC’s are 
illustrated in the Biodiversity SPG. 

 

5.123 Geological and geomorphological sites of importance that do 
not merit notification as a SSSI may also be designated as a SINC or 

Regionally Important Geological Site (RIGS).  Such sites define the 
most important places for geology and geomorphology outside those 
that are statutorily protected.  Geological sites within Cardiff will be 

designated during the Plan period.  The aim of this Policy is to protect 
the LNRs, SINCs and RIGS referred to above. 

 
5.124 The Policy will contribute to the protection and enhancement of 
Biodiversity interests in accordance with Policy EN6 and will work 

towards delivering the Plan’s objective of protecting and enhancing 
features of Cardiff’s natural environment and heritage. 

 
5.125 The current SPG on Biodiversity covers the protection of non-
statutory and locally designated sites. This document will be updated 

and made available as SPG to the LDP. 
 

5.126 Chapter 5 of PPW and TAN 5 provide guidance on planning 
policies to protect biodiversity interests. In accordance with this 
guidance, the Council will carefully assess proposals for development 

affecting non-statutory and locally designated sites by evaluating 
whether: 

P
age 547



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

52 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

 the need for the proposed development is considered to outweigh 
the importance of the particular nature conservation interest and 
any harm likely to be caused to it; 

 the proposed development can be more satisfactorily 
accommodated elsewhere; and 

 appropriate mitigation or compensation measures are proposed. 
 

5.127 Where development is proposed which may have an effect on a 

non-statutory or locally designated site, sufficient information will be 
required from all applicants to enable a full assessment of the 

proposals to be carried out.  The need for such assessments will not be 
limited to development located within the designated areas as, 
depending on the nature of the development and the nature 

conservation interest, significant effects may occur even if the 
proposed development is located some distance from the conservation 

interest.  The required assessments, including ecological surveys, will 
need to be undertaken at the appropriate time of the year, in 
accordance with the Council’s Biodiversity SPG. 

 
5.128 Where planning permission is granted, it may be the subject of 

appropriate conditions or management agreements to ensure suitable 
protection, monitoring, mitigation or compensation and favourable 
management. Where compensatory provision is required, it should be 

of the same standard and size to that lost as a result of the 
development.  In such cases, details of the type and level of provision 

will be provided, and agreed by the case officer, prior to determination 
of the planning application.  This may also be required for outline 
planning applications where appropriate.  Where necessary, planning 

obligations may be sought in accordance with Policy KP7. 
 

P
age 548



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

53 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

5.129 Where the conservation interest cannot be protected by 
planning conditions or obligations, it may be necessary to refuse 
development proposals. 

 
5.130 SINCs will be measured in accordance with the annual review of 

SINCs and additionally reported on in the LDP Annual Monitoring 
Report. 
 

New paragraph:  The Designated Sites identified in this Policy are 
defined on the Constraints Map and listed in Appendix (tbc).  (It should 

be noted that although this information is accurate at the time of 
adoption, potential changes to designated areas are possible over the 
plan period.  The Council will keep an up to date record of the 

boundaries of all designated sites which can be accessed via the 
Council website. 

 

MAC31 5 Policy EN6 

Ecological 
Networks and 
Features of 

Importance 
for 

Biodiversity 
Paragraph 
5.137 

13.7 Delete paragraph 5.137 of Policy EN6 Ecological Networks and Features of 

Importance for Biodiversity 
 
5.137 Where the ecological networks or landscape features of importance 

for biodiversity cannot be adequately protected by planning conditions or 
obligations, it may be necessary to refuse development proposals. 

 
 

MAC32 5 Policy EN7: 
Priority 

Habitats And 
Species 

 

13.15 Amend Policy EN7 and reasoned justification 
 

EN7: PRIORITY HABITATS AND SPECIES 
 

Development proposals that would have a significant adverse 

P
age 549



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

54 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

effect on the continued viability of habitats and species which are 
legally protected or which are identified as priorities in the UK or 
Local Biodiversity Action Plan will only be permitted where: 

 
i. The need for development outweighs the nature conservation 

importance of the site; 
ii.The developer demonstrates that there is no satisfactory 
alternative location for the development which avoids nature 

conservation impacts; and 
iii. Effective mitigation measures are provided by the developer. 

 
Where harm is unavoidable it should be minimised by effective 
mitigation to ensure that there is no reduction in the overall 

nature conservation value of the area. Where this is not possible, 
compensation measures designed to conserve, enhance, manage 

and, where appropriate, restore natural habitats and species 
should be provided. 
 

5.138 This Policy is in accordance with the aims and objectives of the Plan 
by protecting and enhancing the features of Cardiff’s natural heritage, 

including its biodiversity and abundance of wildlife habitats and native 
species.  More specifically, it will help protect the current Priority Habitats 
and Species as defined in the Local Biodiversity Action Plan 2008.  The 

Policy also helps to deliver Policy KP16. 
 

The presence of a species protected under European or UK legislation is a 
material consideration in considering development proposals which would 
be likely to result in disturbance or harm to the species or its habitat. 

Appropriate surveys to confirm if a protected species is present and an 
assessment of the likely impact of the development on a protected 

P
age 550



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

55 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

species may therefore be required from applicants.  Thereafter the 
development proposals will be assessed in accordance with criteria set 
out in sections 5.5.11 and 5.5.12 of Planning Policy Wales 2012 and 

Chapter 6 of Technical Advice Note (Wales) 5: Nature Conservation 
and Planning (2009). 

 

MAC33 5 Policy EN9: 

Conservation 
of the Historic 
Environment: 

paragraphs 
5.152, 5.153, 

5.155, 5.159 

13.2 Amend paragraphs 5.152, 5.153, 5.155 and 5.159 of the reasoned 

justification to Policy EN9:  
 
5.152 This Policy aims to set out the criteria against which proposals 

affecting Cardiff’s heritage assets will be assessed.  The Heritage assets 
identified in this Policy are defined on the Constraints Map and in 

Appendix (tbc) with the exception of Statutory Listed Buildings and Locally 
Listed Buildings of Merit which can be viewed on the Council website * 
*http://ishare.cardiff.gov.uk/mycardiff.aspx?layers=ListedBuildings&start

Easting=315000&startNorthing=179000&startZoom=50000 
It should be noted that although this information is accurate at the time of 

adoption, potential changes to designated areas are possible over the plan 
period.  The Council will keep an up to date record of the boundaries of all 
designated sites which can be accessed via the Council website. 

Occasionally built heritage will be a constraint, the need for preservation 
outweighing the benefit of development.  More often, a heritage asset will 

be an opportunity for retaining local identity through the repair and reuse 
of historic assets and strengthening this through respect for local 
characteristics of design, for the interpretation of hidden heritage assets, 

or for the enhancement of the characteristic natural environment.  All new 
developments within historic areas should be designed in such a way as to 

preserve or enhance their special character. 
 
Scheduled Ancient Monuments 

P
age 551

http://ishare.cardiff.gov.uk/mycardiff.aspx?layers=ListedBuildings&startEasting=315000&startNorthing=179000&startZoom=50000
http://ishare.cardiff.gov.uk/mycardiff.aspx?layers=ListedBuildings&startEasting=315000&startNorthing=179000&startZoom=50000


515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

56 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

5.153 PPW, Chapter 3 Conserving the Historic Environment and Welsh 
Office Circular 60/96: Planning and the Historic Environment: Archaeology 
(scheduled to be replaced by a Technical Advice Note within the plan 

period) set out clear statements of national development management 
policy for archaeological remains and should be referred to accordingly. 

 
Listed Buildings 
 

5.155 Listed building control is subject to the provisions of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings & Conservation Areas) Act 1990.  Advice is set out in 

Circular 61/96 (scheduled to be replaced by a Technical Advice Note 
within the plan period).  There is no statutory requirement to have regard 
to the provisions of the development plan when considering an application 

for listed building consent.  It is strongly recommended, however, that 
owners or developers seek early advice from the Council prior to 

undertaking any works or making an application for listed building 
consent. 
 

Conservation Areas 
 

5.159 The adopted series of Conservation Area Appraisal (CAA) 
documents seek to provide a sound basis for managing development 
proposals and for progressing initiatives to preserve and enhance each 

conservation area, in line with advice in PPW and Welsh Office Circular 
61/96. The documents were adopted following extensive local consultation 

and provide a clear and agreed definition of those elements which 
contribute to the special character and historic interest of the area. 
 

MAC34 5 EN12: 
Renewable 

16.2 Amend Policy EN12 and reasoned justification 
 

P
age 552



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

57 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

Energy And 
Low Carbon 
Technologies 

Paragraphs 
5.184, 5.186, 

5.187 

EN12: RENEWABLE ENERGY AND LOW CARBON TECHNOLOGIES 

Development proposals are required to maximise the potential for 

renewable energy. 

The Council will encourage developers of major and strategic sites 

to incorporate schemes which generate energy from renewable 

and low carbon technologies. This includes opportunities to 

minimise carbon emissions associated with the heating, cooling 

and power systems for new development. 

An independent energy assessment investigating the financial 

viability and technical feasibility of incorporating such schemes 

will be required to support applications. 

5.184 In preparing the LDP, Cardiff Council has undertaken a Renewable 

Energy Assessment (REA).  The REA aims to identify the potential energy 

capacity of renewable and low carbon technologies in the local authority 

area and consider the contribution these can make towards Cardiff’s 

future heat and electricity energy requirements.  The REA was prepared in 

accordance with the Welsh Government Practice Guidance “Planning for 

Renewable and Low Carbon Energy – A Toolkit for Planners”.  Findings 

within the REA suggest that by 2020 the percentage of Cardiff’s electricity 

and heat met by renewable energy sources is likely to be 24% and 6% 

respectively. Both of these figures are below the guide targets in the UK 

Renewable Energy Strategy.  The REA (and future updates) can assist in 

identifying which renewable energy technologies may be appropriate in 

P
age 553



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

58 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

particular locations. 

5.186 Developers are expected to submit an independent energy 
assessment investigating the financial viability and technical feasibility of 

incorporating such schemes.  Statements should be submitted at the 
planning application stage to ensure that any viability assessment reflects 

technological developments and economic circumstances.  Developers 
should refer to the Council’s REA and Preliminary Heat Opportunities Plan 
in undertaking their energy assessments to identify possible opportunities 

for renewable and low carbon technologies.  In implementing this Policy it 
is expected that developers follow the energy hierarchy as advocated by 

national policy (TAN 12 & TAN 22).  Further guidance in relation to energy 
assessments will be issued in the form of SPG. This will specify what is 
expected of developers to meet the requirement of Policy EN12. 

 

5.187 PPW contains national policy relating to climate responsive 

development and specifies the current sustainable building standards in 

Wales[i]. Section 12.10.1 contains national development management 

policy in relation to planning applications for renewable and low carbon 

energy development and associated infrastructure. Accordingly, 

developers should refer to this Policy and TAN 22 - Planning for 

Sustainable Buildings’ for further guidance. Implementation of this Policy, 

which promotes incorporation of renewable energy generation, will also 

reduce emission of aerial pollutants, thereby offsetting increases in aerial 

emissions arising from implementation of other policies in the Plan.  This 

would contribute to avoiding significant effects upon European Sites. 

P
age 554



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

59 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

Consequential amendment: 

Amend OB4 SN23 of the Monitoring Framework to include new SPG 
 

MAC35 5 EN13 Air, 
Noise, Light 

Pollution and 
Contaminated 

Land, 
Paragraph 
5.208 

11.6, 13.9, 
16.1 

Amend title of Policy EN13 and paragraph 5.208 of the reasoned 
justification 

 
EN13 Air, Noise, Light Pollution and Contaminated Land 

Contamination 
 
5.208 The onus will remain with the developer to ensure that the 

development of the site will not result in designation as a site with 
contaminated land contamination under Part 2A of the Environmental 

Protection Act 1990, thus ensuring the land is suitable for its proposed 
use. 

MAC36 5 EN14: Flood 
Risk 
Paragraph 

5.211 
 

1.7, 13.3 Amend Policy EN14 and paragraph 5.211 of the reasoned justification 
 
EN14: Flood Risk 
 

Development will not be permitted: 

 
i. Within tidal or fluvial flood plains unless it can be demonstrated 
that the site is justified in line with national guidance and an 

appropriate detailed technical assessment has been undertaken to 
ensure that the development is designed to alleviate the threat 

and consequences of flooding over its lifetime; existing or 
proposed flood prevention and/or protection measures are 
acceptable; or 

ii. Where it would increase the risk of flooding from fluvial and/or 
tidal flooding or from additional run-off from the development in 

P
age 555



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

60 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

any location; or 
iii. Where it would hinder future maintenance or improvement 
schemes of flood defences and watercourses; or 

iv. Where it would cause adverse effects on the integrity of tidal or 
fluvial defences; or 

v. Where ground floor bedrooms are proposed in areas at high risk 
of flooding.; or 
Where appropriate the developer should demonstrate that they 

have considered the need to incorporate environmentally 
sympathetic flood risk mitigation measures such as Sustainable 

Urban Drainage Systems (SUDS).  
 
5.211 TAN15 states that the development advice maps are based on the 

best available information considered sufficient to determine when flood 
risk issues need to be taken into account in planning future development. 

Development advice zones C1 and C2 of the maps show high flood risk 
areas and are based on Natural Resources Wales extreme flood outlines 
for tidal and fluvial flooding.  These areas are shown on the Constraints 

Map based on information from the latest development advice maps 
(2015) Areas of Cardiff identified by Natural Resources Wales to be at risk 

from tidal or river flooding through surveys undertaken under Section 
105(2) of the Water Resources Act 1991 are shown on the Constraints 
Map. 

 

MAC37 5 Policy T1: 

Walking and 
Cycling 

Paragraph 
5.221 

Minor 

amendment 

Amend paragraph 5.221 of Policy T1 

 
5.221 The purpose of this Policy is to exploit this potential by favouring 

developments which include design features and facilities that make it 
easy for people to walk and cycle for everyday journeys instead of 
travelling by car. Encouraging ‘active travel’ will help to minimise car use 

P
age 556



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

61 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

and support the Council in fulfilling its legal duty under the (emerging) 
Active Travel (Wales) Bill Act 2013 to develop, improve and maintain local 
walking and cycling networks. 

 

MAC38 5 Policy T2: 

Strategic 
Rapid Transit 

And Bus 
Corridors 
 

 

14.5 Amend Policy T2 and reasoned justification 

 
T2: STRATEGIC RAPID TRANSIT AND BUS CORRIDORS 

 
BUS CORRIDOR ENHANCEMENTS 
i. City Centre Bus Routes; 

ii. Eastern Bus Corridor (A48, A4232 from the A48 to Junction 30 
of the M4 Motorway, A48M Trunk Road, Southern Way and A4161 

Newport Road); 
iii. Northern Bus Corridor (A470 North Road/ Manor Way and A469 
Caerphilly 

Road/A470 Trunk Road to the County Boundary); and 
iv. Western Bus Corridor (A4161 Lansdowne Road, Cowbridge 

Road, A48, 
A4055 Cardiff Road; A4119 Llantrisant Road from the County 
Boundary to Cowbridge Road and A4232 Trunk Road from 

Culverhouse Cross to Junction 33 of the M4 Motorway) 
v. Southern Bus Corridor (Lloyd George Avenue, Lloyd George 

Avenue to the County Boundary via A4232 and Cogan Spur and via 
the Cardiff Barrage). 
 

Provision will be made to facilitate the functional integration of 
these corridors and associated services with the wider transport 

network including the bus network and local walking and cycling 
routes.  The trunk road sections of the Bus Corridor Enhancements 
are the responsibility of the Welsh Government.  Cardiff Council 

P
age 557



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

62 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

will work with the Welsh Government to identify appropriate 
measures on the trunk road sections of these routes. 
 

Improvements to the city’s wider bus network, including the 
provision of new infrastructure and the introduction of new routes 

and services will be supported where these are necessary to 
provide sustainable travel options and address the movement 
impacts of new development. 

 
5.227 This Policy requires development to be served by effective public 

transport through the development of new rapid transit routes, key 
strategic bus corridors and improvements to the wider city bus 
network. 

 
Rapid Transit Corridors 

 
5.228 Rapid transit corridors will connect neighbourhoods to the city 

centre with high frequency services which will run along on-road and 

off-road infrastructure and offer shorter journey times than 
conventional bus services Four Rapid Transit Corridors have been 

identified based on four broad geographical channels feeding in 
towards the city centre.  The Rapid Transit Corridors can be defined as 
the collection of high frequency public transport services which will run 

along on-road and off-road infrastructure linking neighbourhoods to 
the city centre and wider public transport network offering shorter 

journey times than conventional bus services.  The Bus Corridor 
Enhancements referenced in paragraph 5.230 are largely located 
within the Rapid Transit Corridors but are specifically highlighted as 

the key bus-based corridors with important cross-boundary linkages 
and will therefore be a focus for future enhancements.  Each corridor 

P
age 558



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

63 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

will include improvements that give rapid transit and bus services 
increased priority over general traffic and improved accessibility to a 
wider range of destinations. 

 
5.229 This Policy provides for the development of four principal rapid 

transit corridors that will serve the main LDP strategic sites. The form 
of rapid transit (heavy rail, light rail, tram train, bus rapid transit etc.) 
which can be accommodated on each corridor will be determined 

through further technical assessment work and as part of the detailed 
master planning of the strategic sites. The Rapid Transit Corridors are 

shown on the Constraints Map with further detailed work informing  
the precise mode, alignments and land take requirements.  This Policy 
provides for the development of four principal rapid transit corridors 

that will serve the main LDP strategic sites.  The mode of rapid transit 
could take one of the following forms or another form of technology 

that provides for the same purpose: 
 heavy rail; 
 light rail; 

 tram; 
 tram/train running on segregated rails; 

 tram/train combining running on segregated rails and on-street 
running; 

 conventional buses operating a limited stop express service using 

carriageway space on the public highway used by general traffic; 
 conventional buses using dedicated buses lanes and assisted by 

other bus priority measures in combination with use of other 
carriageway space on the public highway; or 

 conventional buses or guided buses using busways completely 

segregated from the main highway along their entire length or for 
short sections in combination with use of the public highway/bus 

P
age 559



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

64 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

priority measures on the public highway. 
 

Some elements of the rapid transit corridors will be provided within the 

strategic sites.  However, the alignment and mode of rapid transit and 
how they connect to and interchange with the public transport network 

is not yet known and cannot be defined precisely on a map.  The need 
for the rapid transit corridors is included in the key policies on 
Strategic Sites.  The mode of rapid transit that can be accommodated 

on each corridor will be determined through further technical 
assessment work including work undertaken as part of the detailed 

master planning of the strategic sites and in support of planning 
applications. This will help inform the precise mode, route alignments 
and land take requirements.  Therefore, for these reasons the rapid 

transit routes are not shown on the Proposals Map. 
 

Bus Corridor Enhancements 
 

5.230 The city’s key strategic bus corridors form a central element of the 

city’s strategic public transport network. Around 80% of daily inbound 
commuter journeys are by car. These movements create congestion on 

the city’s strategic highway network which makes bus journeys longer 
and services less reliable. This Policy seeks to address these issues by 
providing for improvements to maximise the efficiency and 

attractiveness of bus services on each of the city’s key bus corridors. 
Such measures will include provision of bus lanes (including timed bus 

lanes operating at peak times only), bus priority measures at key 
junctions and improved passenger waiting and information facilities. 
The Bus Corridors referred to in this policy are shown on the 

Constraints Map. 
 

P
age 560



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

65 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

5.230 The Bus Corridor Enhancements listed in Policy T2 are defined as 
the strategic bus routes that connect Cardiff to the Region.  These 
corridors form a central element of the city’s strategic public transport 

network.  Around 80% of daily inbound commuter journeys to Cardiff 
from the Region are by car.  These movements create congestion on 

the city’s strategic highway network which makes bus journeys longer 
and services less reliable.  This Policy seeks to address these issues by 
making provision for improvements to maximise the efficiency and 

attractiveness of bus services through reducing journey times and 
improving journey time reliability.  The corridors are shown on the 

Proposals Map. 
Sufficient carriageway space will be required to facilitate the 
expeditious passage of buses (including express services with limited 

stops), minimising journey times and maximising journey time 
reliability.  Where necessary to meet these requirements, the Council 

will seek to remove pinch points and to remove and/or relocate on 
street parking.  The Council will also use a range of tools and 
measures to change travel behaviour by helping to make sustainable 

travel an attractive choice, managing the network and influencing 
travel demand.  Some of these measures include for example, 

providing high quality walking, cycling and public transport 
infrastructure, improvements associated with development, 
reallocating road space, route improvements serving key destinations 

and developments, interchange/transport hub facilities, bus stops, 
cycle stands, improvements in accessibility, parking controls and 

policies, parking pricing, parking enforcement, moving traffic offences, 
bus priority, bus gates, junction controls, traffic signal control, 
managing road speed limits, high quality signage and road markings, 

designing for active travel, shared cycling and walking routes, 
partnership working with transport providers (e.g. encouraging new, 

P
age 561



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

66 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

express and cross-city bus routes), travel information, promotional 
initiatives, personalised travel planning, road safety initiatives, 
collaborative working cross-boundary with other authorities and with 

key transport stakeholders, road safety and transport infrastructure 
maintenance. 

 
Local Bus Network 

 

5.231 Ensuring the bus is a more attractive and practical travel option is 
crucial to reducing car dependency and improving accessibility. Cardiff has 

an extensive local bus network serving most parts of the city. However, 
the bus is not an attractive travel option for many journeys in Cardiff. For 
example, most routes on the network are radial and converge on the city 

centre. This means that people have to travel into the city centre in order 
to access bus services to another part of the city. Consequently, the car is 

the preferred mode of travel for many relatively short journeys. To 
address this problem this Policy supports the expansion and improvement 
of Cardiff’s local bus network, in conjunction with the development of 

rapid transit routes and the strategic bus corridors. 
 

5.232 The alignments of the strategic rapid transit corridors, strategic bus 
corridors and other bus routes are likely to overlap in some locations 
offering the opportunity for interchange between services. Therefore, the 

Council will seek to ensure that the routes, services and supporting 
facilities which make up the rapid transit and bus networks are fully 

integrated in their design and operation. 
 
Improvements to the Wider City Bus Network 

 
5.231 Ensuring the bus is a more attractive and practical travel option is 

P
age 562



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

67 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

crucial to reducing car dependency, improving accessibility and effecting 
modal shift. Cardiff has an extensive local bus network serving most parts 
of the city. However, the bus is not an attractive travel option for many 

journeys in Cardiff.  For example, most routes on the network are radial 
and converge on the city centre.  This means that people have to travel 

into the city centre in order to access bus services to another part of the 
city.  Consequently, the car is the preferred mode of travel for many 
relatively short journeys.  To address this problem this Policy supports the 

expansion and improvement of Cardiff’s local bus network, in conjunction 
with the development of Rapid Transit Corridors and Bus Corridor 

Enhancements.  Technical work carried out by the Council indicates that 
re-configuring the network and introducing new orbital routes and points 
of interchange between routes and services would enable a much wider 

range of journeys within Cardiff to be undertaken by bus, thus reducing 
reliance upon the car. 

 
5.232 Routes forming part of rapid transit corridors, strategic bus 
corridors and the wider city bus network will be connected in many 

locations across the public transport network.  This offers the opportunity 
for interchange between services.  Facilitating interchange with high 

quality passenger facilities and travel information will form an important 
element of enhancements to the to the city bus network. 
 

MAC39 5 New Policy 
and reasoned 

justification 

14.4 Insert new policy to be referenced T9 after existing paragraph 5.259 
 

 
Policy T9 Cardiff City Region ‘Metro’ network  

The Council will seek to facilitate the development of a future 

regional ‘Metro’ network of integrated public transport routes and 

P
age 563



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

68 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

services within Cardiff and connecting the city with the wider 

south east Wales region, including the development and/or 

enhancement of the following on-highway and off-highway 

infrastructure components: 

i. Existing and new heavy rail routes 

ii. New light rail routes 

iii. Tram 

iv. Tram/train on segregated rails and/or running on street 

v. conventional buses, or guided buses using busways 

completely segregated from the main highway along their 

entire length or for short sections, in combination with use 

of the public highway/bus priority measures on the public 

highway.  

vi. conventional buses using dedicated buses lanes and assisted 

by other bus priority measures, in combination with use of 

other carriageway space on the public highway; and 

vii. conventional buses using carriageway space on the public 

highway used by general traffic. 

Where the alignment of a future route which is likely to form part 

of a ‘Metro’ network falls within any part of a development site, 

the Council will, through the development management process, 

P
age 564



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

69 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

seek either to secure provision of the necessary infrastructure as 

part of the development, or otherwise, safeguard the land and 

space required to accommodate the route and potential mode 

options in the future.  This will include requiring a development to 

be designed in a way which does not prejudice the future 

development of the ‘Metro’ route and would enable it to be 

incorporated within the development at a later date.   

Reasoned justification: The Cardiff City Region Metro is a proposal for a 

metropolitan-style, integrated public transport network extending across 

Cardiff and South East Wales.  The ‘Metro’ is likely to be developed in 

phases over a number of years.  Its purpose is to significantly enhance 

public transport accessibility across the region.  This would be achieved by 

the physical and operational integration of routes for different public 

modes (rail-based and bus-based) and enabling provision of frequent, fast 

and efficient public transport services connecting principal settlements 

and trip destinations in the region.  A ‘Metro’ network would include points 

of interchange and be supported by integrated timetables and ticketing 

with a common branding.  In combination, these elements would enable 

people to make daily journeys and reach key trip destinations without the 

need for a car.  This enhanced connectivity would have significant 

economic benefits for Cardiff and the wider City Region, as well as easing 

pressures on key strategic transport corridors within and beyond Cardiff 

boundaries. 

Potential routes/corridors which would make up the ‘Metro’ network have 

been identified in a series of investigative studies in recent years.  Future 

P
age 565



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

70 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

technical work will be led by the Welsh Government in consultation with 

local authorities, land owners, communities and the transport industry.  

Welsh Government’s National Transport Plan 2015 - Consultation Draft 

(December 2014) National Transport Finance Plan 2015 ( July 2015)  

includes a commitment to progress this work which will determine the 

form of the network and the mix of public transport modes on each 

corridor/route.  

It is important that development that takes place within the plan period 

does not prejudice the delivery of this regionally important future asset.   

Policies KP2 (A) to KP2(H) include references to improvements to the 

strategic public transport network within the supporting lists of ‘Essential’ 

and ’Enabling’ transport infrastructure for the individual LDP strategic 

sites. A number of these measures will potentially form part of the future 

‘Metro’ network.  

 

Policy T9 augments Policy KP2 by providing general support for the future 

delivery of the ‘Metro’ and the means by which the Council can, through 

controls exercised through the development management process:  

 secure infrastructure forming part of the network; or  

 otherwise, safeguard the route alignment, potential mode options and 

physical space requirements for future ‘Metro’ routes/corridors. 

This protection with be integrated within the design and layout of 

P
age 566



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

71 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

approved developments.  The policy also provides the basis for resisting 

developments which would prevent or compromise future delivery of a 

‘Metro’ route. 

 

MAC40 5 New Policy 
and reasoned 

justification 

10.5. 10.6. 
10.7. 10.8. 

10.9, 10.10, 
10.11, 
10.12, 10.14 

Insert new policy at the start of the Retail Section to be referenced R1 
 

 
R1 RETAIL HIERARCHY  
Retail proposals, (including changes of use, redevelopment and 

extensions) will be considered in accordance with the retail 
hierarchy which comprises Central Shopping Area (CSA) at the 

head of the regional hierarchy supported by a range of district 
centres and smaller local centres as identified on the Proposals 
Map. Retail proposals outside centres identified on the Proposals 

Map will be assessed against Policy R6: Retail Development (Out 
of Centre) or Policy R7: Retail Provision within Strategic Sites 

where they form part of an allocated housing led strategic site.   
This policy is a central component of the retail strategy which aims to: 

 Sustain and enhance the role of the Central Shopping area at the 

head of the regional shopping hierarchy; 
 Sustain and enhance the vitality, viability and attractiveness of 

district and local centres identified on the Proposals Map. 
 Promote good accessibility to a range of shopping facilities by all 

sections of the community and reduce dependence on car travel for 
shopping trips; and 

 To control the amount, size and nature of out-of-centre retail. 

 
The policy establishes the existing hierarchy of centres in line with 

national guidance and favours new and improved retail facilities within the 

P
age 567



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

72 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

Central Shopping Area and at an appropriate scale, within district and 
local centres, whilst non shopping uses will be controlled. This ensures 
that a sequential approach is adopted which means first preference for 

retail proposals should be in existing centres and then for sites 
immediately adjoining these centres. If there are no suitable sites in these 

locations, only then will out-of-centre sites in locations that are accessible 
by a choice of means of transport be considered. 
Proposals outside centres identified on the Proposals Map will be assessed 

against Policy R6: Retail Development (Out of Centre).  
 

District and Local Centres within allocated housing led strategic sites that 
develop over the plan period in accordance with Policy R7: Retail Provision 
within Strategic Sites will become designated centres within the retail 

hierarchy and defined on the Proposals Map as part of the LDP review. 
 

MAC41 5 Policy R1 
Retail 

Provision 
Within 
Strategic Sites 

10.5. 10.6. 
10.7. 10.8. 

10.9, 10.10, 
10.11, 
10.12, 10.14 

Amend Policy R1 (to be renumbered R7) 
 

R17: RETAIL PROVISION WITHIN STRATEGIC SITES 
Retail development which forms part of the allocated housing led 
Strategic Sites will be supported where: 

i. It is of appropriate scale which satisfies an identified 
local need; 

ii. It will not negatively impact on the vitality and viability 
of designated centres. 

ii iii   It is located along public transport corridors and easily 

accessible by walking and cycling; and 
iii iv   It forms part of a planned centre which reinforces a 

sense of place 
 

MAC42 5 Policy R3: 10.5. 10.6. Amend paragraph 5.264 of Policy R3 

P
age 568



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

73 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

Protected 
Shopping 
Frontages 

Para 5.264 of  

10.7. 10.8. 
10.9, 10.10, 
10.11, 

10.12, 10.14 

 
5.264 This Policy provides an enhance level of protection for the City 
Centre’s most important shopping streets. The protected frontages are 

identified on the Proposals Map. Supporting Document No. 8 – City Centre 
Protected Frontage Assessment provides the methodology and analysis to 

determine city centre Protected Shopping Frontages and further guidance 
will be set out in SPG.  
 

MAC43 5 Policy 
R4:Retail 

Development 
(Out of 

Centre) 
Paragraphs 
5.271, 5.272, 

5.276 

10.5. 10.6. 
10.7. 10.8. 

10.9, 10.10, 
10.11, 

10.12, 10.14 

Amend paragraph 5.271 and delete paragraphs 5.272 and 5.276 of the 
reasoned justification to Policy R4 

 
5.271 The sequential test as detailed in PPW aims to direct retail 

developments to existing centres wherever possible or to the edges of 
such centres if sites within the centres are not available. Only where need 
for additional retail floorspace has been demonstrated and there are no 

location in or adjacent to designated centres that could accommodate that 
need, should out-of centre locations be considered. In Cardiff the order of 

preference is: 
 
 Within the Central Shopping Area; 

 On the edge of the Central Shopping Area; 
 Within a District or Local Centre; 

 On the edge of a District of Local Centre; 
 An out-of-centre location accessible by a choice of means of transport. 
 

5.272 The sequential test applies to the level of need agreed between the 
applicant and the Council, not to the development format proposed by 

the applicant. Thus, a series of sites in different centres may 
accommodate and agreed retail need, though the proposal may be for 
large scheme in a single location. The test is not satisfied because a 

P
age 569



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

74 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

retailer considers that a town centre site does not meet its operational 
requirements in principle. It must address whether the types of goods 
proposed could be accommodated in or on the edge of a designated 

centre. 
 

5.276: In addition, in line with Policy R8, Protection of Local Shopping 
Parades, consideration will also be given to the impact of out of centre 
retailing on local shops selling convenience goods in smaller shopping 

parades outside of designated centre. 
 

MAC44 5 Policy R5 
District 

Centres 

10.5. 10.6. 
10.7. 10.8. 

10.9, 10.10, 
10.11, 
10.12, 10.14 

 Amend Policy R5  
 

R5: DISTRICT CENTRES  
 
Retail, office, leisure and community facilities will be favoured 

within the following District Centres identified on the Proposal 
Map: 

(1) Albany Road / Wellfield Road 

(2) City Road 

(3) Clifton Street 

(4) Cowbridge Road East 

(5) Crwys Road/ Woodville Road 

(6) Bute Street/James Street 

(7) Merthyr Road, Whitchurch 

(8) Penarth Road/Clare Road 

(9) St Mellons 

P
age 570



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

75 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

(10) Thornhill 

(11) Whitchurch Road 
 

This will be subject to: 

(i) The proposal being of a scale appropriate to the particular 

centre; 

(ii) The location of business offices (Class B1) above the ground 

floor, 

(iii) Proposals not impeding the effective use of upper floors. 

(iv) Proposals for uses other than Class A1 being permitted at 

ground floor level if they would not cause unacceptable harm 

to the predominant shopping role and character of the centre, 
the vitality, attractiveness and viability of a specific frontage 
or group of frontages; 

 
Unacceptable harm should take account of: 

 

 The existing level and nature of non-shopping uses within 

the centre as a whole  

 The size of the retail unit in relation to the overall size of a 

centre or a specific group of frontages; and 

 The distribution and proximity of non-shopping uses within a 

frontage. 

 
Proposals that result in, or add to a continuous stretch of non-
shopping uses (3 or more units in non-shopping use) will be less 

P
age 571



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

76 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

favourably considered 
 
Applications for changes of use that involve new non-shopping 

uses in vacant premises will be considered in light of the 
following: 

 

 The vacancy rate in the surrounding area; and  

 Whether, and for how long, the premises have remained 

vacant whilst being actively marketed for their existing or 
previous use.  

MAC45 5 Policy R6 
Local Centres 

10.5. 10.6. 
10.7. 10.8. 
10.9, 10.10, 

10.11, 
10.12, 10.14 

Amend Policy R6 and insert new paragraph after existing paragraph 5.295 
 
R6: LOCAL CENTRES 

 
Retail, office, leisure and community facilities will be favoured 

within the following Local Centres identified on the Proposal Map: 

(1) Birchgrove 

(2) Bute Street (Loudoun Square) 

(3) Cathedral Road 

(4) Countisbury Avenue 

(5) Caerau Lane 

(6) Fairwater Green 

(7) Gabalfa Avenue 

P
age 572



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

77 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

(8) Grand Avenue 

(9) High Street,  Llandaff 

(10) Maelfa, Llanedeyrn 

(11) Newport Road, Rumney 

(12) Rhiwbina Village 

(13) Salisbury Road 

(14) Splott Road 

(15) Station Road, Llanishen 

(16) Station Road, Llandaff North 

(17) Station Road, Radyr 

(18) Tudor Street 

(19) Willowbrook Drive 

(20) Wilson Road 

 

This will be subject to: 

(i) The proposal being of a scale appropriate to the particular 

centre; 

P
age 573



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

78 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

(ii) The retention of residential accommodation at upper floors; 

(iii) Proposals for uses other than Class A1 (except business 

offices class B1) being permitted at ground floor level if they 

would not cause unacceptable harm to the predominant 
shopping role and character of the centre, the vitality, 
attractiveness and viability of a specific frontage or group of 

frontages; 
 

Unacceptable harm should take account of: 
 

 The existing level and nature of non-shopping uses within 

the centre as a whole  

 The size of the retail unit in relation to the overall size of a 
centre or a specific group of frontages; and 

 The distribution and proximity of non-shopping uses within a 

frontage. 
 
Proposals that result in, or add to a continuous stretch of non-

shopping uses (3 or more units in non-shopping use) will be less 
favourably considered 

 
Applications for changes of use that involve new non-shopping 
uses in vacant premises will be considered in light of the 

following: 
 

 The vacancy rate in the surrounding area; and  

 Whether, and for how long, the premises have remained 

vacant whilst being actively marketed for their existing or 

P
age 574



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

79 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

previous use.  

 
Insert new paragraph after paragraph 5.295 

 
In addition to local centres identified on the proposals Map, there are 

numerous smaller groups of shops and individual ‘corner shops’ across the 
county that provide valuable shopping facilities to surrounding 
communities. Proposals that could lead to the loss of such local shops will 

be assessed having regard to the role of those shops in meeting local 
shopping needs and the viability of the premises for continued shopping 

use.  Planning Policy Wales recognises the important economic and social 
role of such local shopping facilities to communities. 

MAC46 5 Policy R7: 
Food and 
Drink Uses 

Paragraphs 
5.299, 5.303,  

10.5. 10.6. 
10.7. 10.8. 
10.9, 10.10, 

10.11, 
10.12, 10.14 

Amend paragraph 5.299 and delete paragraph 5.303 of Policy R7 

5.299 Food and drink uses are also complementary, in principle, to the 
main shopping role of District and Local Centres, so long as they do not 

adversely affect the living environment of nearby residents, or with other 
non-shopping uses, reach such a level that they undermine the shopping 

character of the area in accordance with Policies R5 4 District Centres and 
R6 5 Local Centres.  
 

5.303 Proposals for A3 uses within 400 metres of a school will be 
considered against Policy C7 Health and the related Health SPG. 

 

MAC47 5 Policy R8 

Protection Of 
Local 
Shopping 

Parades 
 

10.5. 10.6. 

10.7. 10.8. 
10.9, 10.10, 
10.11, 

10.12, 10.14 

Delete Policy R8 and reasoned justification 

 
Policy R8 PROTECTION OF LOCAL SHOPPING PARADES 
 

Proposals that would lead to the loss of local shops outside of 
identified centres will be assessed having regard to the role of 

P
age 575



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

80 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

those shops in meeting local shopping needs and the viability of 
the premises for continued retail use 
 

5.305 In addition to the District and Local Centres identified on the 
Proposals Map there are numerous smaller local shopping parades across 

the County. Although these have a smaller more limited retail offer, they 
provide easily accessible valuable shopping provision to surrounding 
communities. 

 
5.306 For the purpose of this Policy the definition of a local parade is a 

cluster of 3 or more A1 retail units (i.e. newsagents, convenience store, 
off-licence) with 
supporting A2, A3, or D1 uses that function as a group of units capable of 

serving the needs of the local resident catchment population. 
 

5.307 In such areas the Policy will seek to protect and retain local 
convenience shops, because of the importance of these uses for meeting 
the everyday needs of those living locally. Proposals for development 

within such areas must relate to the scale, role and function of the local 
shopping parade and will be determined on individual merit. Individual 

‘corner shops’, have an important role in areas which are relatively 
remote from other shops particularly convenience retail. This is especially 
important for residents who are less mobile or do not have access to 

private transport. 
 

5.308 It should be noted that many shops within a local shopping parade 
are independently run and can therefore become vacant as a result of 
retirement by the proprietor rather than a fall in business sales or 

patronage. 
 

P
age 576



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

81 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

5.309 In terms of assessing the viability of the premises for continued 
retail use, the applicant will need to provide evidence of active marketing 
if a retail unit is vacant, taking into consideration the fact that a recently 

vacated unit may have the potential to attract an A1 use. 
 

5.310 The role and function of local shopping parades should be protected 
from out of centre retail development that could potentially harm their 
vitality and viability. Such schemes will need to be considered against 

Policy R4. 
 

 

MAC48 5 All Retail 

Policies 

10.5. 10.6. 

10.7. 10.8. 
10.9, 10.10, 
10.11, 

10.12, 10.14 

Re-order and renumber retail policies 

R1 RETAIL PROVSION WITHIN STRATEGIC SITES 

R1 RETAIL HIERARCHY 

R2 DEVELOPMENT IN THE CENTRAL SHOPPING AREA 

R3 PROTECTED SHOPPING FRONTAGES 

R4 RETAIL DEVELOPMENT (OUT OF CENTRE) 

R4 DISTRICT CENTRES 

R5 DISTRICT CENTRES 

R5 LOCAL CENTRES 

R6 LOCAL CENTRES 

P
age 577



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

82 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

R6 RETAIL DEVELOPMENT (OUT OF CENTRE) 

R7 FOOD AND DRINK USES 

R7 RETAIL PROVISION WITHIN STRATEGIC SITES 

R8 PROTECTION OF LOCAL SHOPPING PARADES 

R8 FOOD AND DRINK USES 

MAC49 5 Policy C1  
Community 

Uses 
Paragraphs 

5.311 and 
5.316 of  
 

16.7 Amend reasoned justification of Policy C1 and insert new paragraph after 
existing paragraph 5.311 

 
5.311 For the purpose of this Policy, community facilities are defined as 

non-commercial facilities used by local communities for leisure and social 
purposes. This constitutes including community centres and meeting 
places, community halls, community learning, leisure centres, libraries 

and youth centres. Religious facilities also often provide for wider 
community provision. Health facilities would include doctors and dentists 

surgeries which serve the local community. 
 
New Paragraph - Other uses of a commercial nature within the D1/D2 use 

class should be located within the Central and Bay Business Areas, and in 
District and Local centres of an appropriate scale. 

 
5.316 Community facilities, health uses (including doctors and dental 
surgeries) and religious facilities will be favoured within District or Local 

Centres where appropriate, however, where such uses cannot be 
satisfactorily accommodated within centres, proposals on the edge of 

centres or within residential areas (to include the conversion or 
redevelopment of existing residential premises) will be favourably 
considered provided that issues of residential amenity, urban design 

P
age 578



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

83 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

(Policy KP5), and transportation are appropriately addressed. 
Furthermore, if the residential area falls within a Conservation Area, the 
proposed development should not detract from its character, nor should it 

have any negative impact on the built heritage assets (Policy KP17). 
 

MAC50  Policy C2 
Community 

Safety / 
Creating Safe 
Environments 

Paragraphs 
5.318, 5.321 

Schedule of 
Minor 

Changes 

Amend paragraph 5.318 and 5.321 of existing Policy C2 
 

5.318 Designing out crime contributes to Policy KP5.  Further detailed 
information relating to the objectives of this Policy can be found at 
www.securedbydesign.com. in the Cardiff Community Safety 

Partnership’s guidance “As Safe as Houses – Crime and the Built 
Environment” (May 2006).  

 
5.321 Prior to submitting detailed proposals, developers are encouraged 
to seek advice by engaging in pre-application discussions with the South 

Wales Police Architectural Liaison Officer (ALO)  Crime Prevention Design 
Officer on designing out crime, and any recommendations received should 

be taken into consideration in relation to the development proposal. 
Where there are other significant interests (for example, the setting of 
Listed Buildings) a balanced compromise must be agreed.  Developers are 

further encouraged to submit statements in conjunction with planning 
applications that emphasise and clearly demonstrate the proposed 

measures taken to design out crime. 
 

MAC51 5 New Policy 
and reasoned 
justification 

16.5 Insert new Policy to be referenced C2 after existing paragraph 5.316  
 

C2: Protection of Existing Community Facilities: 

 
Proposals involving the loss or change of use of buildings 

currently or last used for community facilities will only be 

P
age 579



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

84 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

permitted if: 
i) An alternative facility of at least equal quality and scale to meet 
community needs is available or will be provided within the 

vicinity and; 
ii) It can be demonstrated that the existing provision is surplus to 

the needs of the community. 
 

Existing community facilities are widely available throughout the City.  

Ensuring an adequate provision is maintained, is very important in order 
to encourage social interaction, improve health and well-being and reduce 

inequalities between different communities.  The retention of existing 
facilities will therefore be sought unless it can be demonstrated that the 
above criteria can be met.  

 
Whilst this policy will apply to both commercial and non-commercial uses 

which provide a social or welfare benefit to the community, community 
land and buildings are of particular importance. This includes land and 
buildings that are managed and used primarily by the voluntary and 

community sector for community-led activities. 
 

In order to satisfy criterion ii) of the policy it will be necessary to 
demonstrate that continued use as community facility is no longer viable 
giving consideration to; appropriate marketing, and local need and 

demand for the existing community facility. 
 

 

MAC52 5 Policy C4: 

Provision For 
Open Space, 
Outdoor 

16.8 Amend Policy C4 and reasoned justification 

 
C4: PROVISION FOR OPEN SPACE, OUTDOOR RECREATION, 
CHILDREN’S PLAY AND SPORT 

P
age 580



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

85 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

Recreation, 
And Sport 
Paragraph 

5.340 
 

 
Provision for open space, outdoor recreation, children’s play and 
sport will be sought in conjunction with all new residential 

developments. This policy is aimed at securing the provision or 
improvement of open space and other appropriate outdoor 

recreation and sport in conjunction with all new residential 
developments over 8 units and on site provision of functional open 
space in conjunction with all new residential developments over 

14 units. The appropriate amount of multi functional green space 
is based on a minimum of 2.43 hectares of functional open space 

per 1,000 projected population. All other open space provision will 
be in addition to the provision of multi functional green space. 
 

5.340 The Open Space SPG sets out detailed guidance on how the 
provision of functional open space, outdoor recreation, children’s play and 

sport from new residential developments will be assessed and managed. 
It explains that the amount of open space provision generated by a 
housing proposal will be assessed in relation to its type and density. 

Consideration will also be given to the availability and adequacy of 
existing functional open space within the surrounding area. The Council 

will therefore seek to secure a range of improvements for accessible, high 
quality open space, sport and outdoor recreation provision, as appropriate 
to the particular site and development proposal. 

 
 

MAC53 5 Policy C5: 
Provision For 

Allotments 
And 
Community 

9.16 Delete Policy C5 and reasoned justification 
 

C5: PROVISION FOR ALLOTMENTS AND COMMUNITY GROWING 
 
Provision for allotments and/or community growing areas will be 

P
age 581



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

86 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

Growing 
 

sought on new residential developments over 46 units and on all 
developments over 1800, provision of a 40 plot allotment site will 
be sought, increasing on a pro-rata basis for larger sites. 

 
5.346 Where the provision of land for allotments is not possible, provision 

will be sought for land for community growing. This would include such 
uses as community spaces, community farms, communal gardens, 
orchards and community harvesting schemes. 

 
5.347 The role of allotments and community growing areas in contributing 

towards sustainable communities, healthy living and improved interaction 
between different social and age groups is recognised in PPW and TAN 16: 
Open Space (2008). 

Further information is set out in the Cardiff Allotment Strategy and Open 
Space SPG. 

 
5.348 Allotments and community growing areas play an important open 
space function particularly in urban areas and can help enhance 

biodiversity, provide opportunities for recreation and improve the quality 
of life. 

 
5.349 Provision for allotments and community growing areas helps work 
towards delivering Plan Objectives and key policies. 

 
5.350 For developments over 46 units, the Council will seek to secure 

financial contributions towards off-site provision of increased allotment or 
community growing space or improving and enhancing existing allotments 
or community growing areas. 

 
5.351 For developments over 1800 units, the Council will seek to secure 

P
age 582



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

87 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

the provision of a new 40 plot allotment site, increasing on a pro-rata 
basis for developments over 1800 units. The developer would be required 
to provide and fence the land and provide a financial contribution to lay 

out the allotments site and all associated infrastructure. The Council 
would then subsequently adopt the allotments and provide for future 

management and maintenance, including the designation of the site as a 
statutory allotment area. 
 

5.352 The required standard for allotment size and the calculation for off-
site contributions towards allotments and community growing areas are 

covered in greater detail in the Open Space SPG. 
 

MAC54 5 Policy C6: 
Provision of 
Children’s Play  

16.8 Delete Policy C6 and reasoned justification 
 
C6: PROVISION FOR CHILDREN’S PLAY 

Provision for children’s play should be an essential element of the 
layout of new developments. Access to at least three different 

types of outdoor play provision as indicated below shall be 
provided within 400m of family homes within new developments. 
 

5.353 This Policy and the associated model for play provision seeks to 
ensure that that the developmental needs of children to access varied 

play opportunities are properly provided for in new developments and do 
not rely exclusively on the provision of a limited number of fixed 
equipment play areas. 

 
5.354 The inclusion of private gardens as a location for play will ensure 

that those developments that do not have access to private gardens will 
require a greater level of alternative provision for play, which could 
include child friendly streets and safe access to good quality open space 

P
age 583



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

88 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

as well as the provision of accessible playgrounds in accordance with 
Policy T1. 
 

 
 

MAC55 5 Policy C7 
Health 

Paragraphs 
5.355, 5.350, 
5.362 

16.10 Amend Policy C7 and reasoned justification 
 

C7: HEALTH 
Priority in new developments will be given to reducing health 
inequalities and encouraging healthy lifestyles through: 

i. Identifying sites for new health facilities, reflecting the spatial 
distribution of need, ensuring they are accessible and have the 

potential to be shared by different service providers; and 
ii. Ensuring that they provide a physical and built environment that 
supports interconnectivity, active travel choices, promotes healthy 

lifestyles and enhances road safety; and 
iii. Managing the location of fast food takeaways to appropriate 

locations; and in all cases; 
iv. Demonstrating that the effect of new developments on health is 
taken into account. 

 
5.355 This Policy aims to improve the health of Cardiff’s population by 

seeking to secure new health facilities in areas most at need, requiring 
that the built environment fosters healthy lifestyles, managing the 
location of fast food takeaways and ensuring that health is a key 

consideration in new developments. 
 

5.360 In order to support the aims of this Policy, it is recommended that 
the Welsh Health Impact Assessment Unit document ‘Health Impact 
Assessment: A Practical Guide' (2012) is used in screening large planning 

P
age 584



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

89 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

applications to assess whether a Health Impact Assessment is required. It 
is recommended that all large developments including housing, health 
care, retail, waste and schools undertake a Health Impact Assessment. 

 
5.362 Further details on this Policy will be set out in an Health SPG to 

accompany the LDP. regarding new or enhanced health facilities and on 
managing the location of fast food takeaways (see Policy R7), in particular 
when they are near a residential area or a school and when a Health 

Impact Assessment may be required. 
 

 

MAC56 5 C8 Planning 

for Schools 

16.12 Delete Policy C8 and reasoned justification 

 
C8: PLANNING FOR SCHOOLS 
New and improved school facilities will be provided to meet 

existing and future educational needs. 
 

5.363  The Council has a statutory duty as local education authority 
to ensure that there is a sufficient number and variety of school places at 
primary and secondary level, available to meet the needs of the 

population of the County. 
 

5.364 Although the supply and demand for school places varies by area, it 
is anticipated that there will be no overall surplus school places at entry 
to the primary sector in 2015, nor in the secondary sector in 2019. This 

takes account of existing school investment proposal and projections 
based upon health service (GP) and school roll data. Additional primary 

and secondary education provision will therefore be required to serve the 
new pupils generated as a result of greenfield or brownfield housing 
developments that come forward during the Plan Period. 

P
age 585



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

90 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

 
5.365  The Council will seek financial contributions (See Policy KP7 
Planning Obligations), towards the cost of providing additional or 

improved primary and/or secondary school facilities from developers 
proposing housing developments that would generate a requirement for 

school places that cannot be reasonably met by existing schools because: 
 
a. the capacity at the school(s) in whose catchment area (s) new 

housing development are proposed would as a result of the development 
be exceeded by demand; and/or 

b. there is a surplus capacity in such schools to accommodate some or 
all of the projected number of pupils generated from the proposed 
development but investment is required to make it suitable. 

 
5.366 The Council will also seek the provision of land and/or premises,    

depending on scale and location of development.  Please refer to Key 
Policy KP6 New Infrastructure’ and Supporting Document No. 6 
Infrastructure Plan for detailed analysis. 

 
5.367 It is recognised that the future additional pupils generated from 

strategic housing allocations (D-H) could not be accommodated in 
existing schools.  The Council requests that developers set aside 
appropriate sites and provide school facilities in the initial phases of 

development aligned with the construction process, and additional forms 
of entry made available where necessary (210 primary school places plus 

nursery provision, 150 secondary school places plus sixth form provision) 
following completion of each 700 dwellings. 
 

5.368 There will also be a need to address school provision in catchment 

P
age 586



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

91 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

areas where there is little or no existing capacity to accommodate the 
additional demand likely to arise from housing development on previously 
developed land (including strategic sites) or other in-fill sites. With limited 

exceptions financial contributions will be sought from developers towards 
the provision of new classroom accommodation, in accordance with the 

needs which arise from the proposed development. 
 
5.369 In the event of the Council being allocated developer contributions  

to expand existing provision, the phasing of contributions over the period 
of construction will need to be in line with those set out in SPG, and will 

require careful consideration to ensure that the supply of school places is 
aligned with the construction process and occupancy of dwellings.  
Monitoring of take-up of school places will be a key consideration in order 

to inform existing and future needs. 
 

5.370 Further guidance on the application of this Policy will be set out in 
SPG. 
 

MAC57 5 Policy C9: 
New 

Educational 
Facilities 

 

16.12 Delete Policy C9 and reasoned justification 
 

 
C9: New Educational Facilities 

Development of nursery, primary, secondary and sixth form 
education should: 
i. Be well designed, well related to neighbourhood services and 

amenities, and easily accessible by sustainable transport modes; 
and 

ii. Include, where appropriate, provision for other appropriate 
community uses in addition to their educational use. 
 

P
age 587



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

92 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

5.371 Opportunities should be taken to share school buildings and 
facilities, or co-locate on shared sites with other Council Service areas 
and selected external services. This would serve to maximise the use of 

the land and provide an integrated citizen focused resource for the whole 
community.  Opportunities for shared facilities could include libraries, 

community centres, leisure centres, indoor recreation facilities, play 
centres, adult education facilities, integrated childcare facilities, adjoining 
natural habitat, health care facilities.   

 
5.372 Dependant on geographical constraints, opportunities should be 

taken to explore shared school facilities/playing fields with other schools 
(e.g. a Primary and Secondary School sharing fields) or continuous ages 
3-19 school provision. 

 
5.373 Further guidance on the application of this Policy will be set out in 

SPG. 
 

MAC58 5 Policy C10: 
Health 
Employment 

Non Strategic 
Allocation 

16.11 Delete Policy C10 and reasoned justification 
 

C10: HEALTH EMPLOYMENT NON STRATEGIC ALLOCATION 

 
Land is allocated for health related uses at Government Offices, St 

Agnes Road, Heath (4.07ha) 
 

5.374 The site provides a good opportunity to allow for the future 

expansion of health related uses associated with University Hospital 
Wales. 

 
5.375 This non-strategic site was put forward as a candidate site in the 
LDP process and is considered acceptable for health related uses. 

P
age 588



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

93 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

Dialogue with the University and NHS Trust has indicated the merits of 
health-related uses for this site, which can assist the strategic provision of 
health-care in future years as the city continues to grow, placing further 

demands on the health service. 
 

5.376 There are potential opportunities to develop the site for health 
related uses in direct conjunction with the existing hospital, offering the 
potential for comprehensive transport and access solutions. 

 
5.377 The allocation of the site for health related uses supports the LDP 

vision and objectives on health and policies KP14 and C7 which promote 
the provision of health facilities in accessible locations. The site is directly 
adjacent to the existing University Hospital and in an accessible location 

which reduces the need to travel, a key component of developing 
sustainable communities. The precise nature of health related uses will be 

subject to further detailed work but could include health related 
employment and/or include an element of ancillary key health worker 
accommodation providing accessible accommodation and minimising 

travel to work distances. 
 

MAC59 5 New Policy 
and reasoned 

justification 

16.12 
 

Insert new Policy after existing paragraph 5.362 to be referenced as 
Policy C7 

 
C7 PLANNING FOR SCHOOLS 

 

Where a need has been identified for new and improved school 
facilities as a result of development ,the Council will seek 

contributions towards the cost of additional education provision.  
Negotiated contributions will be fairly and reasonably related in 
scale and kind to the proposed development. Where appropriate 

P
age 589



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

94 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

on site provision will be required. 
 
Development of nursery, primary, secondary and sixth form 

education should: 
i. Be well designed, well related to neighbourhood services and 

amenities, and easily accessible by sustainable transport modes; 
and 
ii. Include, where appropriate, provision for other appropriate 

community uses in addition to their educational use. 
 

The Council has a statutory duty as local education authority to ensure 
that there is a sufficient number and variety of school places at primary 
and secondary level, available to meet the needs of the population of the 

County. 
Although the supply and demand for school places varies by area, it is 

anticipated that there will be no overall surplus school places at entry to 
the primary sector in 2015, nor in the secondary sector in 2019. This 
takes account of existing school investment proposal and projections 

based upon health service (GP) and school roll data. Additional primary 
and secondary education provision will therefore be required to serve the 

new pupils generated as a result of greenfield or brownfield housing 
developments that come forward during the Plan Period. 
 

The Council will seek financial contributions (See Policy KP7 Planning 
Obligations), towards the cost of providing additional or improved primary 

and/or secondary school facilities from developers proposing housing 
developments that would generate a requirement for school places that 
cannot be reasonably met by existing schools because: 

a. the capacity at the school(s) in whose catchment area (s) new 
housing development are proposed would as a result of the development 

P
age 590



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

95 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

be exceeded by demand; and/or 

b. there is a surplus capacity in such schools to accommodate some or 
all of the projected number of pupils generated from the proposed 

development but investment is required to make it suitable. 
 

The Council will also seek the provision of land and/or premises, 
depending on scale and location of development.  Please refer to Key 
Policy KP6 New Infrastructure’ and Supporting Document No. 6 

Infrastructure Plan for detailed analysis. 
 

It is recognised that the future additional pupils generated from strategic 
housing allocations (D-H) could not be accommodated in existing schools.  
The Council requests that developers set aside appropriate sites and 

provide school facilities in the initial phases of development aligned with 
the construction process, and additional forms of entry made available 

where necessary (210 primary school places plus nursery provision, 150 
secondary school places plus sixth form provision) following completion of 
each 700 dwellings. 

 
There will also be a need to address school provision in catchment areas 

where there is little or no existing capacity to accommodate the additional 
demand likely to arise from housing development on previously developed 
land (including strategic sites) or other in-fill sites. With limited exceptions 

financial contributions will be sought from developers towards the 
provision of new classroom accommodation, in accordance with the needs 

which arise from the proposed development. 
In the event of the Council being allocated developer contributions  to 
expand existing provision, the phasing of contributions over the period of 

construction will need to be in line with those set out in SPG, and will 
require careful consideration to ensure that the supply of school places is 

P
age 591



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

96 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

aligned with the construction process and occupancy of dwellings.  
Monitoring of take-up of school places will be a key consideration in order 
to inform existing and future needs. 

 
Opportunities should be taken to share school buildings and facilities, or 

co-locate on shared sites with other Council Service areas and selected 
external services. This would serve to maximise the use of the land and 
provide an integrated citizen focused resource for the whole community.  

Opportunities for shared facilities could include libraries, community 
centres, leisure centres, indoor recreation facilities, play centres, adult 

education facilities, integrated childcare facilities, adjoining natural 
habitat, health care facilities.   
 

Dependant on geographical constraints, opportunities should be taken to 
explore shared school facilities/playing fields with other schools (e.g. a 

Primary and Secondary School sharing fields) or continuous ages 3-19 
school provision. 
 

Further guidance on the application of this Policy will be set out in SPG. 
 

MAC60 5 Policy M1: 
Mineral 

Limestone 
Reserves And 
Resources 

Paragraph 
5.380 

 

15.1,2, 
3,4,9,10 

Amend Policy M1 and the reasoned justification 
 

M1: MINERAL LIMESTONE RESERVES AND RESOURCES 
 
Mineral reserves with planning permission will be safeguarded 

from development that would prevent their extraction at: 
i.  Creigiau Quarry; 

ii.  Taffs Well Quarry; 
iii.  Ton Mawr Quarry; and 
iv.  Blaengwynlais Quarry. 

P
age 592



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

97 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

 
Preferred Resource Areas of known resources suitable for the 
future working of Limestone have been identified  will be 

safeguarded from development that would prevent their as 
extensions to at: 

v. Creigiau Quarry; and 
vi. Ton Mawr Quarry. 

 

5.380 Mineral reserves are sites with planning permission for mineral 
working Cardiff has several mineral reserves, which are identified on the 

Proposals Map These are limestone quarries which are active at present, 
or those which have planning permission for the working of limestone. 
Preferred Mineral Resource Areas of known resources are sites within the 

County considered suitable for the future working of limestone. Areas of 
mineral resource These areas are identified on the Proposals Map. The 

methodology used to identify these areas is set out in Supporting 
Document No.9 - Minerals.  
 

MAC61 5 Policy M2: 
Preferred 

Order Of 
Mineral 

Resource 
Release 
Paragraphs 

5.382, 5.384, 
5.384 

 

15.1,2, 
3,4,9,10 

Amend Policy M2: PREFERRED ORDER OF MINERAL RESOURCE 
RELEASE and reasoned justification 

 
M2: PREFERRED ORDER OF MINERAL RESOURCE RELEASE 

 
The extension or deepening of existing mineral workings will be 
favoured in preference to the release of new sites and, with the 

exception of the lateral extensions of Creigiau and Ton Mawr 
Quarries referred to in Policy M1, deepening will be preferred to 

lateral extension., Applications to extend or deepen mineral 
workings will be permitted where it can be demonstrated that: 
i. There are environmental improvements at the site which can be 

P
age 593



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

98 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

justified by the addition of new reserves, or traded off by the 
giving up of existing reserves, or; 
ii. The addition of new reserves preserves the productive capacity 

of Cardiff to meet its sub regional apportionment commitments; or 
iii. There are operational benefits in permitting further reserves 

that will lead to more efficient exploitation of the resource;  
i. There are no suitable alternative materials available; 
ii.  Reserves in the existing site will be exhausted, at existing 

output levels, within 10 years; 
iii. Reserves in the extended or deepened site, in combination with 

those remaining in the existing site, do not provide, at existing 
output levels, for more than 20 years’ reserves; and  
iii. It should also be demonstrated that such an approach will not 

cause unacceptable harm to the environment., including 
consideration of impacts relating to access, noise, air quality, 

landscape and visual effects, ecology, soil resources, hydrology 
and hydrogeology, blast vibration and cultural heritage, and in the 
case of Creigiau Quarry, the objectives of Policy M3 are delivered 

as part of an extension or deepening application. 
 

5.382 The extent of Cardiff’s existing minerals landbank means it is 
unlikely that there will be a need to grant any further permissions for 
mineral resource release within the Plan period. The Regional Technical 

Statement 1st Review (August 2014) states that based on current 
information Cardiff has a surplus of permitted reserves and no further 

allocations are necessary. However, it also notes that the these 
conclusions do not take into account all factors that may be material to 
ensuring an adequate and steady supply of aggregates for appropriately 

located sources including the technical capability of one type of aggregate 
to interchange for another, the relative environmental cost of substitution 

P
age 594



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

99 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

of one type of aggregate by another, the relative environmental effects of 
changing patterns of supply and whether adequate production capacity 
can be maintained to meet the required level of supply. The purpose of 

this Policy is to set out the sequential test approach which would be used 
to guide the future release of mineral resources, should this be necessary. 

 
5.383 This Policy expands on Policy KP11 and promotes and supports the 
efficient use of minerals. The Policy accords with guidance contained in 

MPPW which recognises that extensions to existing minerals workings are 
often more generally acceptable than new greenfield sites. Minerals 

Technical Advice Note (Wales) 1: Aggregates (2004) (MTAN1) indicates 
that a minimum 10 year landbank of crushed rock should be maintained 
throughout the entire Plan Period, but that new allocations in 

development plans will not be necessary where landbanks already provide 
for more than 20 years of aggregates extraction.  

 
5.384 Generally, the continuation of quarrying at existing sites is 
preferable to the environmental and financial upheaval of shifting 

production to new sites. In addition, the deepening of sites is preferred to 
lateral extension as it minimises the area of land given over to working 

and ensures the best use of existing reserves. However, in determining 
the best option, consideration will need to be given to possible 
environmental and restoration implications and for this reason an 

exception is made for Creigiau quarry where the objectives of Policy M3 to 
swap reserves for less environmentally sensitive reserves will be delivered 

as part of an extension or deepening application.  
 
 

MAC62 5 Policy M3: 
Quarry 

15.11 Amend Policy M3 and reasoned justification in paragraphs 5.389 and 
5.391  

P
age 595



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

100 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

Closures And 
Extension 
Limits 

Paragraphs 
5.389 and 

5.391  
 

 
M3: QUARRY CLOSURES AND EXTENSION LIMITS 

 

Measures to prevent further mineral working and, where 
appropriate, to secure restoration and landscaping works at the 

earliest opportunity, will be sought at the following sites: 
i. Cefn Garw Quarry, Tongwynlais; 
ii. Highland Park Brickworks, Ely; 

iii. West End Brickworks, Ely; and 
iv. Southern and western parts of Creigiau Quarry. 

No further extension to mineral reserves will be permitted at 
these sites, or at: 
v. Blaengwynlais Quarry, Rhiwbina Hill. 

 
5.389 The Policy identifies three mineral sites ((i) to (iii) above) and parts 

of Creigiau Quarry where mineral working is no longer considered 
appropriate by modern standards. Additionally, Blaengwynlais Quarry is 
considered unsuitable for extension in view of its sensitive location and 

poor access, so further extensions at this site will be resisted. 
 

5.391 To eliminate any doubt over possible re-working at the sites 
outlined in (i) to (iv) above, measures to prevent further extraction and 
secure restoration and landscaping works will be pursued. Measures will 

may include the use of Prohibition Orders to ensure that no further 
working can takes place at Cefn Garw Quarry, Tongwynlais, Highland Park 

Brickworks, Ely and West End Brickworks, Ely and closure of the southern 
and western parts of Creigiau quarry through a legal agreement with the 
site owners to relinquish these areas in favour of a new area set out in 

Policy M1 of the Plan and identified on the Proposals Map. , . No further 
extensions will be permitted, except at Creigiau Quarry, in line with Policy 

P
age 596



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

101 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

M1 on Mineral Limestone Reserves and Resources. Blaengwynlais Quarry 
is not considered appropriate for extension, and any applications will be 
determined accordingly. 

 

MAC63 5 Policy M6: 

Dredged 
Aggregate 

Landing And 
Distribution 
Facilities 

Paragraphs 
5.405, 5.408 

 

15.1,2, 

3,4,9,10 

Amend Policy M6 and the reasoned justification 

 
Policy M6: DREDGED AGGREGATE LANDING AND DISTRIBUTION 

FACILITIES 
 
The sand wharves shown on the Proposals Map will be protected 

against 
development which would prejudice their ability to land marine 

dredged sand and gravel. Proposals for the provision and 
improvement of landing and distribution facilities for marine 
dredged aggregates within the sand wharves shown on the 

Proposals Map Cardiff Docks will be favoured where there will be 
no unacceptable harm to the environment, or nearby residential 

areas or future regeneration prospects of the waterfront area. 
 
5.405 This Policy expands on Policy KP11. The Policy accords with 

guidance contained in Interim Marine Aggregates Dredging Policy (2004) 
which indicates that the use of marine dredged sand and gravel will 

continue for the foreseeable future where this remains consistent with the 
principles of sustainable development. It accords with the South Wales 
Regional Technical Statement 1st Review for Minerals (200814) which 

requires the protection of existing and potential wharves. 
 

5.408 Operations involving the trans-shipment of minerals do not 
normally need specific planning permission within the operational area of 
the port. However, secondary processes including the manufacture or 

P
age 597



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

102 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

treatment of mineral products usually need permission. Where proposals 
are submitted they will need to demonstrate minimal impact on the 
environment. and nearby residential areas, and that they will not 

prejudice any future regeneration proposals in the waterfront area of 
Cardiff Bay. Where proposals are likely to have significant effects upon the 

environment, applications may be subject to Environmental Impact 
Assessment. Additionally, proposals will need to have regard to the 
Severn Estuary SSSI/SAC/SPA and Ramsar site and where proposals are 

likely to have a significant effect on an international site, an appropriate 
assessment of the proposal would be undertaken.  

 
1. In addition there are the following consequential changes needed to 

the Plan arising out of the proposed changes to the Policy: 

 
 

(i) Revision to the legend on the Proposals Map to change the 
reference to ‘Limestone Resource Area M1’ to ‘Minerals 
Preferred Area M1.  

 
 

(ii) Paragraph 1.18 of Appendix 3 “National and regional policy 
framework be amended to read” “1.18 The South Wales 
Regional Technical Statement 1st Review for 

Aggregates (RTS) (200814) has been prepared in 
response to Minerals Technical Advice Note 1: Aggregates 

(MTAN1), issued by Welsh Government in March 2004. This 
has a primary objective of seeking to ensure a sustainably 
managed supply of aggregates that are essential for 

construction, by striking the best balance between 
environmental, economic and social costs. To achieve that 

P
age 598



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

103 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

objective, the RTS has been prepared by consultants on 
behalf of the South Wales and North Wales Regional 
Aggregates Working Party (RAWPs) to provide a strategic 

basis for aggregates supply for LDPs in the south Wales 
region until 202136. As appropriate, local planning 

authorities will then be expected to include allocations for 
aggregates provision in their area as part of the LDP process. 
The RTS was endorsed by the Welsh Government and 

constituent authorities including Cardiff in August 2014July 
2007. 

 
(iii) Amend Appendix 6: Summary of LDP Process including 

technical glossary so reference to Regional Technical 

Statement (RTS) on page 42 reads “The Regional 
Technical Statement (RTS) 1st Review - The RTS is was 

produced by consultants on behalf of the South Wales and 
North Wales Regional  

 

 

MAC64 5 Policy M7: 

Safeguarding 
Of Sand And 

Gravel 
Resource 
 

15.6 Delete Policy M7 and the reasoned justification 

 
M7: SAFEGUARDING OF SAND AND GRAVEL RESOURCE 

 
The sand and gravel safeguarding area shown on the Proposals 
Map will be protected against all forms of permanent development 

in order to prevent sterilisation of the resource and to ensure that 
the sand and gravel within that area will be preserved for the 

future, should a demonstrable need for the use of those resources 
arise. 
 

P
age 599



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

104 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

5.409 The aim of this Policy is to ensure that the area of sand and gravel 
resource identified on the Proposals Map is protected from development 
that would cause its sterilisation and safeguarded for the future, should a 

need for the resource arise. 
 

5.410 This Policy expands on Policy KP11 in that it protects potential 
resources from development. The Policy accords with guidance contained 
in MPPW which 

requires Mineral Planning Authorities to safeguard access to mineral 
deposits which society may need and cautions against continuing to rely 

on marine-dredged materials. MTAN1: Aggregates states that land based 
sand and gravel resources must be safeguarded for potential use by 
future generations in view of their relatively limited regional availability. 

 
5.411 At present, marine dredged sources provide the majority of fine 

aggregate required to meet construction needs within Cardiff. In the short 
term this supply pattern is unlikely to change significantly. In view of the 
existing pattern of dredged aggregate supply, it is very unlikely that sand 

and gravel resources will need to be released for development within the 
Plan period. However, in light of concerns regarding the sustainability of 

the current pattern of marine dredged aggregate supplies, it is necessary 
for land-based sand and gravel resources to be safeguarded for potential 
use in the future. This Policy will be used to resist all forms of permanent 

development in the sand and gravel resource area shown on the Proposals 
Map. Land-based sand and gravel could only be worked where it is found, 

so this Policy represents a long-term strategy to protect existing 
resources, as they could become a strategic resource in the future. This 
Policy will carry more weight than policies favouring development that 

could be located elsewhere. 
 

P
age 600



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

105 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

 
5.412 The designation as a safeguarded area does not indicate an 
acceptance of sand and gravel working in that area. 

 

MAC65 5 Policy M8: 

Safeguarding 
Coal 

Resources 

15.6 Delete Policy M8 and the reasoned justification 

 
M8: SAFEGUARDING OF COAL RESOURCES 

 
The coal safeguarding area shown on the Proposals Map will be 
protected against all forms of permanent development in order to 

prevent sterilisation of the resource and to ensure that the coal 
within that area will be preserved for the future, should a 

demonstrable need for the use of those resources arise. 
 
5.413 The aim of this Policy is to ensure that the areas of coal resource 

identified in the County are protected from development that would cause 
sterilisation and safeguarded for the future, should a need for the 

resources arise. 
5.414 This Policy expands on Policy KP11 in that it protects potential 
resources from development. The Policy accords with MPPW which 

requires Mineral Planning Authorities to safeguard access to mineral 
deposits which society may need and MTAN2: Coal which requires the 

safeguarding of mineral resources. 
 
5.415 Current energy supply does not necessitate the working of coal 

resources within Cardiff, and this situation is highly unlikely to change in 
the short term. 

Consequently, it is unlikely that it will be necessary to release coal 
resources for 
working to provide for energy needs in the Plan period. However, it is 

P
age 601



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

106 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

prudent to ensure that the coal resources identified are protected from 
sterilisation to maintain their potential for use in the future, should this 
become necessary. 

 
5.416 All coal resources up to settlement boundaries are identified on the 

Proposals Map. Where safeguarded coal resources abut defined settlement 
boundaries, a 500m buffer has been shown. Although this buffer area 
includes safeguarded coal resources, it identifies the area of land within 

which future coal extraction will generally not be acceptable. 
 

5.417 Coal could only be worked where it is found, so this Policy 
represents a long-term strategy to protect existing resources as they 
could become a strategic resource in the future. This Policy will carry 

more weight than policies favouring development that could be located 
elsewhere. 

 
5.418 The designation as a safeguarded area does not indicate an 
acceptance of coal working in that area. 

 

MAC66 5 Policy M9: 

Safeguarding 
Of Limestone 

Resources 
 

15.6 Delete Policy M9 and the reasoned justification 

 
M9: SAFEGUARDING OF LIMESTONE RESOURCES 

 
The limestone safeguarding area shown on the Proposals Map will 
be protected against all forms of permanent development in order 

to prevent sterilisation of the resource and to ensure that the 
limestone within that area will be preserved for the future, should 

a demonstrable need for the use of those resources arise. 
 
5.419 The aim of this Policy is to ensure that the areas of limestone 

P
age 602



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

107 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

resource identified in the County are protected from development that 
would cause sterilisation and are safeguarded for the future, should a 
need for the resources arise.  

 
5.420 This Policy expands on Policy KP11 in that it protects potential 

resources from development. The Policy accords with MPPW which 
requires Mineral Planning Authorities to safeguard access to mineral 
deposits which society may need. 

 
5.421 Currently there is a sufficient landbank of limestone reserves in the 

County for the Plan period and, should the landbank not prove sufficient, 
the limestone resource areas identified in Policy M1 would be considered 
before any of the safeguarded areas shown on the Proposals Map. Given 

this, it will not be 
necessary to release any of the safeguarded areas for working to provide 

for aggregates needs over the Plan period. However, it is prudent to 
ensure that the limestone resources identified are protected from 
sterilisation to maintain their potential for use in the future, should this 

become necessary. 
 

5.422 The designation as a safeguarded area does not indicate an 
acceptance of 
limestone working in that area. 

 
 

MAC67 5 New Policy: 
Safeguarding 

Of Sand And 
Gravel, Coal 
And 

15.6 
 

Insert new policy after existing paragraph 5.408 to be referenced M7 
 

New Policy M7: SAFEGUARDING OF SAND AND GRAVEL, COAL AND 
LIMESTONE RESOURCES 

 

P
age 603



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

108 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

Limestone 
Resources 
 

Development will not be permitted  within the Sand and Gravel, 
Coal and Limestone Safeguarding Areas shown on the Proposals 
Map that would permanently sterilise these mineral resources 

unless: 
 

i. The applicant can demonstrate to the satisfaction of the 
Local Planning Authority that the mineral concerned is no longer 
of any resource value or potential resource value; or  

ii. The mineral can be extracted satisfactorily prior to the 
incompatible development taking place; or  

iii. The incompatible development is of a temporary nature and 
can be completed and the site restored to a condition that does 
not either sterilise the resource or inhibit extraction within the 

timescale that the mineral is likely to be needed; or 
iv. There is an overriding need for the incompatible 

development which overrides the need for the resource, including 
a requirement for prior extraction if practicable. 
 

The aim of this Policy is to ensure that the sand and gravel, coal and 
limestone safeguarding areas identified on the Proposals Map are 

protected from development that would cause its sterilisation and 
safeguarded for the future, should a need for these resources arise. In 
order to ensure this the Policy sets out a range of criteria against which 

proposals for development will be assessed.  
 

This Policy expands on Policy KP11 in that it protects potential resources 
from development. The Policy accords with guidance contained in MPPW 
which requires Mineral Planning Authorities to safeguard access to mineral 

deposits which society may need. It also accords with  MTAN1: 
Aggregates which states that land based sand and gravel resources must 

P
age 604



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

109 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

be safeguarded for potential use by future generations in view of their 
relatively limited regional availability and MTAN2: Coal which requires the 
safeguarding of mineral resources. 

 
Sand and Gravel Safeguarding Area  

 
At present, marine dredged sources provide the majority of fine aggregate 
required to meet construction needs within Cardiff. In the short term this 

supply pattern is unlikely to change significantly. In view of the existing 
pattern of dredged aggregate supply, it is very unlikely that sand and 

gravel resources will need to be released for development within the Plan 
period. However, in light of concerns regarding the sustainability of the 
current pattern of marine dredged aggregate supplies, it is necessary for 

land-based sand and gravel resources to be safeguarded for potential use 
in the future. This Policy will be used to resist all forms of permanent 

development in the sand and gravel resource area shown on the Proposals 
Map. Land-based sand and gravel could only be worked where it is found, 
so this Policy represents a long-term strategy to protect existing 

resources, as they could become a strategic resource in the future. This 
Policy will carry more weight than policies favouring development that 

could be located elsewhere. 
 
Coal Safeguarding Area 

 
Current energy supply does not necessitate the working of coal resources 

within Cardiff, and this situation is highly unlikely to change in the short 
term. Consequently, it is unlikely that it will be necessary to release coal 
resources for working to provide for energy needs in the Plan period. 

However, it is prudent to ensure that the coal resources identified are 
protected from sterilisation to maintain their potential for use in the 

P
age 605



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

110 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

future, should this become necessary. 
 
In accordance with guidance set out in MTAN2: Coal all international and 

national designations of environmental and cultural importance have been 
excluded from the Coal Safeguarding Area and a 200 metre margin has 

been included to protect the setting of Ancient Monuments. All coal 
resources outside these designations are identified on the Proposals Map. 
Where safeguarded coal resources abut defined settlement boundaries, a 

500m area where coal working will not be acceptable has been shown 
Although this  area includes safeguarded coal resources, it identifies the 

area of land within which future coal extraction will generally not be 
acceptable, subject to the exceptions in paragraph 49 of MTAN2:Coal. 
Further details are set out in Policy M8: Areas where Coal Working will not 

not Acceptable. 
 

Coal could only be worked where it is found, so this Policy represents a 
long-term strategy to protect existing resources as they could become a 
strategic resource in the future. This Policy will carry more weight than 

policies favouring development that could be located elsewhere. 
 

 
Limestone 
 

Currently there is a sufficient landbank of limestone reserves in the 
County for the Plan period and, should the landbank not prove sufficient, 

the limestone resource areas identified in Policy M1 would be considered 
before any of the safeguarded areas shown on the Proposals Map. Given 
this, it will not be necessary to release any of the safeguarded areas for 

working to provide for aggregates needs over the Plan period. However, it 
is prudent to ensure that the limestone resources identified are protected 

P
age 606



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

111 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

from sterilisation to maintain their potential for use in the future, should 
this become necessary. 
 

 
The designation as a safeguarded area does not indicate an acceptance of 

sand and gravel, coal or limestone working in that area. 
 
In addition to the resources outlined above the Aggregates Safeguarding 

Maps of Wales identifies a small amount of Category 1 Sandstone HSA 
(High Specification Aggregate) resources in the extreme north west of the 

County. As this area lies wholly within the Coal Safeguarding Area 
outlined above it is not identified separately on the Proposals Map as it is 
already protected from sterilisation and safeguarded for the future, should 

a need for these resources arise.  
 

MAC68 5 New Policy: 
Areas Where 

Coal Working 
Will Not Be 
Acceptable 

 

15.7 Insert new policy to be referenced M8 
 

New Policy M8: AREAS WHERE COAL WORKING WILL NOT BE 
ACCEPTABLE 
Future Coal extraction will not be permitted within the Areas 

where Coal Working will not be Acceptable shown on the 
Proposals Map unless exceptional circumstances show a smaller 

Area is appropriate. 
 
 

The aim of this Policy is to protect the amenity of existing residential 
areas and international and national designations of environmental and 

cultural importance by ensuring that an appropriate area where coal 
working will not be acceptable is maintained between future coal working 
and residential areas and environmental and cultural designations are 

P
age 607



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

112 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

protected. The Policy accords with guidance contained in MPPW and 
MTAN2: Coal. 
 

All coal resources outside international and national designations of 
environmental and cultural importance up to settlement boundaries are 

identified on the Proposals Map and the Policy identifies the area of land 
within which future coal extraction will generally not be acceptable by 
defining a 500m area where coal working will not be acceptable from 

existing residential areas. This accords with guidance set out in MTAN2: 
Coal which states that Coal working will generally not be acceptable within 

500 metres of settlements unless there are exceptional circumstances and 
that an area where coal working will not be acceptable should be shown 
on the Proposals Map, 

 
 

MTAN2: Coal sets out factors that could justify exceptional circumstances 
where a smaller area where coal working will not be acceptable may be 
appropriate. These include: 

 
 Where coal working provides the most effective solution to prevent 

risks to health and safety arising from previous mineral working; 
 To remediate land damaged by shallow coal workings or mine waste, 

where coal extraction appears to be the most sustainable option; 

 Where topography, natural features such as woodland, or existing 
development, would significantly and demonstrably mitigate impacts; 

 Where major roads or railways lie between the settlement and the 
proposed operational area and coal working would not result in 
appreciable cumulative and in-combination effects; 

 Where the surface expression of underground working does not include 
the significant handling or storage of the mineral or waste; 

P
age 608



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

113 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

 When the proposal is of overriding significance for regeneration, 
employment and economy in the local area; or 

 Where extraction would be in advance of other, permanent, 

development which cannot reasonably be located elsewhere. 
 

 
In accordance with guidance in MTAN2: Coal where such exceptions 
justify surface working within 500m of a settlement, the area of working 

should be restricted to the area reasonably necessary for remediation and 
the best balance between the scale, working-method and the timing of 

individual phases, the opportunities for early restoration and aftercare, 
and hours of working will be sought. In order to justify working within 200 
metres of a settlement strong evidence of the necessity for remediation, 

including the evaluation of options will be required and the social and 
environmental impacts on the affected settlement must be carefully 

weighed. 
 

MAC69 5 Policy W1: 
Land for 
Waste 

Management 

15.14 Delete Policy W1 and reasoned justification 
 

W1: LAND FOR WASTE MANAGEMENT 

 
Land will be allocated for waste management purposes at Lamby 

Way as defined on the Proposals Map 
 

5.423 The purpose of this Policy is to allocate an area of land at the 

existing waste management facility at Lamby Way to accommodate waste 
related development, so that the Council can continue to manage current 

waste arisings and can accommodate further facilities which will enable it 
to meet European and national targets. 

 

P
age 609



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

114 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

5.424 This Policy expands on Policy KP12. The Policy accords with TAN 
21: Waste (2001); The National Waste Strategy for Wales: Wise About 
Waste (2002); 

Towards Zero Waste (2010) and the South East Wales Regional Waste 
Plan 1st Review (2008)  

 
5.425 Challenging targets set for recycling and composting, and the 
reduction of waste going to landfill, mean there is a need for further 

facilities which divert waste away from landfill and increase materials 
recovery, recycling and composting. The land allocated at Lamby Way, as 

shown on the Proposals Map, may prove an appropriate location for any 
new waste management facilities which may be required over the Plan 
period. 

 
5.426 Completion of landfilling at the Lamby Way waste management site 

is likely to take place early in the Plan period. Upon completion of 
landfilling, the majority of the land will be utilised for public open space. 
However, waste management facilities may be retained on a permanent 

basis and will need to be integrated into the eventual after-use of the site. 
 

5.427 The five local authorities who make up the Prosiect Gwyrdd regional 
partnership have agreed that Viridor should be appointed the preferred 
bidder for a 25 year contract to deal with the residual waste of the region. 

Viridor’s solution is based on an energy from waste facility located at 
Trident Park. This facility is currently under construction and a permit to 

operate was granted by Natural Resources Wales in 2010. 
 

5.428 The Regional Waste Plan 1st Review identified that Cardiff will need 

to provide a maximum of 20.9ha of land for waste management purposes. 
The identified sites will contribute towards this requirement. 

P
age 610



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

115 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

 
 
 

MAC70 5 Policy W2: 
Sites For 

Waste 
Management 

Facilities 
 

15.13, 15.16 Amend Policy W2 and the reasoned justification 
 

W2: SITES FOR WASTE MANAGEMENT FACILITIES 
 

Proposals for the development of waste management facilities will 
be 
permitted where: 

i. There is a demonstrable need assessed against County and 
regional 

requirements; 
ii. They conform with the principle of the waste hierarchy and the 
principles contained in the Waste Framework Directive of An 

Integrated and Adequate Network; Nearest Appropriate 
Installation; Self Sufficiency and Protection of Human Health and 

the Environment , the ‘proximity principle’ and the principle of 
regional self-sufficiency ; 
iii. They would not cause unacceptable harm to the environment, 

built 
heritage or to human health; 

iv. They include acceptable proposals for restoration, aftercare 
and after-use, including the beneficial after-use of by-products; 
v. They would not endanger aviation safety; and 

vi. They include acceptable proposals for the protection of 
adjoining and 

nearby land from landfill gas and leachate migration or 
contamination.; 
vii. They are not located within an area at risk from flooding; 

P
age 611



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

116 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

viii. They would not cause unacceptable air, noise or light 
pollution, dust, vibration or odours, or attract excessive vermin;  
ix  They provide safe means of access to the highway and 

adequate on-site parking and turning facilities; and 
x. They are accompanied by a Waste Planning Assessment 

containing sufficient information to enable an assessment of the 
proposal. 
 

Facilities for the handling, treatment and transfer of waste will 
generally be encouraged towards existing use class B2 general 

industrial land. 
 
 

5.430 This Policy expands on Policy KP12. The Policy accords with TAN 
21: Waste (2001); The National Waste Strategy for Wales: Wise About 

Waste (2002); Towards Zero Waste (2010) and the South East Wales 
Regional Waste Plan 1st Review (2008). the National Waste Strategy for 
Wales: Wise About Waste (2002); Towards Zero Waste (2010); The 

Collections, Infrastructure and Markets Sector Plan (2012) and TAN 21: 
Waste (2014). 

 
5.431 It is anticipated that applications will come forward within the Plan 
period for new waste management facilities. Applications are likely to 

include waste disposal, processing, recycling and transfer of waste. The 
need for waste facilities will be assessed against the South East Wales 

Regional Waste Plan 1st Review (2008). The RWP estimates that, within 
Cardiff, a maximum of 20.9ha of land will be required for waste 
management facilities. Collections, Infrastructure and Markets Sector Plan 

and capacity requirements established through regional monitoring, as set 
out in TAN 21.   

P
age 612



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

117 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

 
5.432 The ‘waste hierarchy’ advocates a sequential approach to waste 
management. At the top of the hierarchy is waste prevention and re-use, 

followed by reduction, re-use, then materials recovery (e.g. recycling and 
composting), then energy recovery (e.g. incineration to provide energy) 

and finally (i.e. least favoured) disposal (e.g. landfill or incineration 
without energy recovery). The ‘proximity principle’ requires waste to be 
disposed of as near to its place of production as possible, to reduce the 

amount of waste transported long distances, and to reflect the ‘polluter 
pays’ principle. ‘Regional self-sufficiency’ refers to the aim of minimising 

the amount of waste exported to other regions or countries. preparation  
for reuse, recycling, recovery and finally (i.e. least favoured) disposal. 
 

5.433 Waste facilities will generally be encouraged towards existing 
general industrial areas (use class B2), unless it can be demonstrated that 

they could be acceptably located elsewhere, or unless assessment of the 
proposal indicates that more onerous locational standards should apply. 
The RWP contains Areas of Search 

maps for use in identifying potential new sites for in-building and open-air 
waste management/resource recovery facilities. Developers are 

encouraged to use the recommendations to assist in the identification of 
suitable sites. The first Review of the Regional Waste Plan endorsed by 
the Council in July 2008 identifies a range of potential sites for waste 

management purposes on vacant general industrial land. The Regional 
Waste Plan 1st Review (2008) contains Areas of Search Maps which TAN 

21 indicates remain relevant for use in identifying potential new sites for 
in-building and open-air waste management/resource recovery facilities.  
Developers are encouraged to use the recommendations to assist in the 

identification of suitable sites. 
 

P
age 613



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

118 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

5.434 In addition to the tests set out in the Policy, all proposals will be 
assessed against other relevant policies. Notably, they should not be 
located within an area at risk from flooding, cause unacceptable air, noise 

or light pollution, dust, vibration or odours, or attract excessive vermin. 
Proposals should also: Provide safe means of access to the highway and 

adequate on-site parking and turning facilities; Be accompanied by details 
of the type, quantity and source of waste; and Set out the proposed 
duration of the development. 

 
5.435 Planning applications for waste management facilities should be 

accompanied 
by sufficient information to allow the environmental impact of the 
proposal to be adequately assessed. Such information should include the 

nature of the waste, the broad technical requirements arising from the 
type of waste, the amount of waste proposed to be treated or disposed of, 

access, the timescale of the operations and, where appropriate, 
restoration and after-use proposals. a Waste Planning Assessment 
containing sufficient information to enable an assessment of the 

application and its contribution to meeting the requirements set out in the 
Collections, Infrastructure and Markets Sector Plan.  Information to be 

provided should include: 
 Waste Policy Statement (contribution to the CIM Sector Plan, need and 

locational requirements, demand, identification of markets, current 

shortfall in treatment capacity, consultation); 
 Time-scale (lifespan of the operation, days and hours of operation); 

 Types and quantities of waste to be managed; 
 Design, layout, buildings and plant; 
 Amenity and nuisance; 

 Air pollution; 
 Energy efficiency. 

P
age 614



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

119 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

 
Further details are contained in Annex B of TAN 21 (2014). Where 
appropriate, proposals should be accompanied by a formal environmental 

assessment and Health Impact Assessment. In assessing such proposals, 
close consultation will be undertaken with Natural Resources Wales and 

conditions will be attached to any permissions and/or legal agreements 
sought to ensure adequate environmental safeguards and controls. 

 

 
Appendices 

 

MAC71  New Appendix 8.3 Insert New Appendix Showing Sites over 10 dwellings with planning 

permission for residential 
 

Please see Appendix Three of this schedule 

MAC72  New Appendix 9.5, 10.1, 

13.12, 
13.13, 13.14 

Insert New Appendix 

 
Appendix   Designated Sites 

 

(It should be noted that although this information is accurate at the time 
of adoption, potential changes to designated areas are possible over the 

plan period.  The Council will keep an up to date record of the boundaries 
of all designated sites which can be accessed via the Council website. 
 

MAC73  New 
Appendix: 

Areas of 
Protection 

13.2 Insert New Appendix  
 

Appendix : Areas of Protection  
It should be noted that although this information is accurate at the time of 

adoption, potential changes to designated areas are possible over the plan 
period.  The Council will keep an up to date record of the boundaries of all 

P
age 615



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

120 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit 

Policy /Para 
No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

designated sites which can be accessed via the Council website. 
 Conservation Areas 
 Scheduled Ancient Monuments 

 Archaeologically Sensitive Areas 
 Historic Parks Gardens and Landscapes 

 Statutory Listed Buildings 
 Local Listed Buildings of Merit 
 

MAC74  Appendix 5 1.5 Delete Appendix 5:Suplementary Planning Guidance and insert new 
appendix 

 
Please see Appendix Four of this schedule 

 

MAC75  Appendix 9 19.1 to 35 Insert new monitoring chapter & monitoring framework  

 
Please see Appendix Five of this schedule. 

MAC76    Amend the plan to ensure appropriate cross referencing is applied 

MAC77    Amend the Plan to reflect consequential changes to the policy and 

paragraph numbers resulting from the amendments in this schedule 
Please see Appendix Six of this schedule to show amendments to the 
Policy numbering 

MAC78    To address any typographical or grammatical errors 

MAC79    Amend the plan to ensure references to national guidance are correct 

MAC80    Amend the Key Diagram to reflect amendments proposed through the 
matters arising. 

MAC81    Amend the Plan to remove references to the Background Technical Papers 
where appropriate 

    Amendments to the Proposals Map  
 

Please see Appendix Seven of this schedule 

P
age 616



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

Appendix One: MAC4 KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH 

Appendix One : MAC4  KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH 

 
KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH 

 
The Plan makes provision for 45,415 new dwellings (including a 4,000 dwelling flexibility allowance) to deliver 

a housing requirement of 41,415 a range and choice of opportunities to deliver 41,100 new dwellings and 
40,000 new jobs in Cardiff between 2006-2026. Furthermore, in order to demonstrate that the Plan meets the 
flexibility test  of soundness and to accommodate potentially higher build rates than anticipated, provision has 

been made to deliver an additional 10% flexibility allowance (for 4,000 dwellings) which can be triggered, if 
demonstrated as necessary through annual monitoring, in the later phases of the Plan period. 

 
4.12 The LDP Preferred Strategy considered the merits of three growth options and set out a reasoned justification for 
proposing option B which was below the official household projections but higher than long term past build rates. It 

considered all relevant factors including a report by independent population forecasting experts (Edge Analytics, June 2011) 
which applied more locally robust data to the official statistics. It was also informed by a process of regional collaborative 

dialogue involving all local authorities in South East Wales together with other key relevant national and regional bodies. 
 
4.13 Views have since been gathered through consultation on the Preferred Strategy which took place in November and 

December, 2012. The formal consultation process collected 1,028 responses and 8 petitions. Additionally, 444 responses 
were collected from the Citizens Panel representing a wide distribution of ages and geographical locations across the city. 

This was in sharp contrast to the wider consultation responses which showed a significant geographical ‘clustering’ of 
responses generally in proximity to the location of proposed development sites. Responses relating to the proposed level of 
growth can be summarised as follows: 

 
Delete table on Citizens Panel LDP Consultation 

Citizens Panel LDP Consultation 
No. % No. % 
Too low 20 4.6 Too low 32 5.2 

About right 209 48.2 About right 34 5.5 
Too high 205 47.2 Too high 553 89.3 

P
age 617



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

Appendix One: MAC4 KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH 

TOTAL 434 100 TOTAL 619 100 

4.14 The consultation findings indicate sharply contrasting views on this matter. This underlines the importance of the level 

of growth in the Deposit LDP being based on robust and up to date evidence. 
 

4.15 Therefore, additional independent expert advice has been sought based on the best possible information currently 
available. Edge Analytics, the independent  population forecasting experts providing advice on the Preferred Strategy, have 
undertaken a further detailed analysis with their report forming Supporting Document No. 18. It is informed by important 

new information which was not previously available, the 2011 census results and revised back population figures issued by 
the Office of National Statistics at the end of April, 2013. The material informing this work is of a more detailed and locally 

robust nature than the official population projections which do not benefit from such a thorough local analysis of relevant 
data. 

 
4.16 Overall, the Edge Analytics report has produced compelling, up to date and  robust evidence to justify a level of growth 
lower than the official projections and also lower than that proposed in the Preferred Strategy. The recommendations 

contained in the report are based on a thorough examination of a number of different growth scenarios. 
 

4.17 The Edge Analytics Report has reviewed the new evidence, presented an analysis of inter-censal change in Cardiff’s 
demographic profile and developed a revised suite of demographic forecasts for consideration. The analysis of inter-censal 
change revealed a 35,400 (11.4%) increase in Cardiff’s population between 2001 and 2011.The analysis of the ‘components 

of change’ underpinning Cardiff’s population growth has revealed the critical importance of migration, both internal and 
international in shaping population growth. 

 
4.18 Using the updated evidence, a number of ‘trend’ scenarios were evaluated and compared to the ‘starting point’ of the 
official 2008-based projections. The report concluded by drawing attention to the future uncertainties associated with 

international migration and recommended to the Council that a lower dwelling growth trajectory of 42,500-43,000 (scenarios 
F & G) over the 2006-26 Plan period might be more appropriate. Furthermore, the report recommended that the Council 

gives consideration to further reducing the figure due to the potential impact of applying a slightly lower home vacancy rate 
for 2026 and also considering a 10% further sensitivity reduction due to a potential decrease in household formation rates. 
 

4.19 The Council recognise that scenarios F and G result in a very similar level of growth which is considered to be consistent 
with the overall strategic objectives of the Plan. With regard to the potential options to further reduce the dwelling 

requirement, the Council supports applying a 3% vacancy rate for 2026 as opposed to a figure of 3.74%. This is because 3% 

P
age 618



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

Appendix One: MAC4 KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH 

was the previous rate in the 2001 census and due to current Council policy and actions to tackle this issue, a rate of 3% in 
2026 is considered to represent a sound, robust and reasonable figure backed by supporting policy framework to deliver. 

 
4.20 However, the Council has significant concerns with applying a further 10% reduction in dwelling need due to a potential 

reduction in household formation rates. The report draws on recent evidence from England and suggests this recent trend 
could also be taking place in Cardiff. However, at this juncture, prior to the Welsh Government household projections being 
released in late 2013, no official data or evidence can be used to substantiate any reduction. Therefore, to reduce figures 

without any firm evidence carries significant risks, since if the figures do not show a decrease, the Plan would be clearly out 
of line with evidence and run the risk of being deemed unsound. However, as the Welsh Government household projections 

will be issued before the Council submit the Plan for examination, there will still be an opportunity to consider their impact 
ahead of the examination but any analysis must also take account of the issues highlighted  in the paragraph below. 
 

4.21 Even if the Welsh Government household projections indicate a reduced rate of household formation, it cannot be 
assumed that the rate would continue over the  entire Plan period. Indeed, if there was to be a reduction, this may be 

explained by a reflection of the current limited supply of greenfield sites together with the challenging economic conditions at 
that time. The Plan Strategy of providing a range and choice of sites to meet evidenced need is considered a strong and 
compelling reason not to apply a 10% reduction which is not founded on hard existing evidence and cannot be justified 

looking ahead, particularly given the Strategy set out in the Plan. 
 

4.22 Moreover, it should be noted that the annual net migration assumption 2011-26 without the 10% sensitivity adjustment 
is given as 1,268 persons p.a. This compares to the actual annual net migration data 2001-11 for Cardiff of 1,344p.a. 

(47p.a. internal and 1,297p.a. international), excluding the 320 per annum asylum seekers net flow to Cardiff. Given 
Cardiff’s role as economic driver of South East Wales, it may be considered unsound for the LDP to incorporate assumptions 
for a significant reduction in net migration whilst at the same time promoting itself as a European Capital City seeking to 

attract new employment - for instance into the proposed Cardiff Central Enterprise Zone. 
 

4.23 Therefore, the Council consider the most robust and sound approach to adopt is to set a level of dwelling growth based 
on the recommended scenarios F and G incorporating a 3% vacancy rate in 2026 which have a very similar dwelling 
requirement. Of the two scenarios, the Council considers the logic and reasoning behind scenario G is more robust and 

represents a sound basis on which to base the future dwelling requirement which has been rounded down to 41,100 
dwellings for clarity purposes. This level of dwellings is almost exactly proportionate to delivering the 40,000 jobs proposed 

in the Preferred Strategy so this figure will be retained in the Deposit LDP. This represents: A rise in population from 323,766 
in 2006 to 395,378 in 2026, (an additional population of 71,612, representing an increase of 22.1%); A rise in dwellings 

P
age 619



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

Appendix One: MAC4 KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH 

from 138,735 in 2006 to 179,835 in 2026, (an additional 41,100 new dwellings, equivalent of an 29.6% increase); An 
average build rate of 2,055 dwellings per annum over the entire Plan period but due to lower than average completions in 

early years of Plan period (2006-13), a residual required annual build rate (2013-26) of 2,295 dwellings per annum 
 

As the LDP has progressed through its numerous stages of preparation, various level of growth options have been 
considered, consultations have been carried out and expert advice has been sought. The level of growth set out within this 
Key Policy is considered to best reflect an analysis of all relevant factors. Importantly, it is based on the most up-to-date 

information reflecting matters raised during the examination process and makes provision (including the flexibility allowance) 
to deliver the level originally set out in the Preferred Strategy.    

 
 
4.24 All other relevant factors, as set out in Planning Policy Wales and summarised below, have also been carefully 

considered. In this respect, it should be noted that national guidance states that the official projections should form the 
starting point for setting levels of growth in LDPs and makes it clear that any departure from these figures should be fully 

justified by demonstrable evidence. These official figures show a 42% rise in Cardiff’s population for the period 2008-2033 
and a 33% rise for the Plan period 2006-26 for which the Plan makes provision. Other relevant factors include:  

 Accordance with Wales Spatial Plan and other key national policy and guidance; 

 Cross-boundary/city-region implications; 
 Accordance with ‘What Matters’, the Community Strategy for Cardiff Council; 

 Extent to which evidenced economic needs are delivered; 
 Extent to which evidenced social/housing needs are delivered; 

 Environmental and climate change implications; 
 Deliverability and capacity factors; and 
 Consultation and collaborative working findings. 

 
4.25 A summary of the consideration of relevant factors is set out below. However, more detailed relevant information is also 

contained in Supporting Documents including: 
 

 Supporting Document No. 18: Edge Analytics Report (June 2013); 

 Supporting Document No. 1: Population & Housing Technical Background 
 Paper; 

 Supporting Document No. 2: Urban Capacity Study; and 
 Supporting Document No. 16: Masterplanning Framework - General 

P
age 620



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

Appendix One: MAC4 KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH 

 Principles, Strategic Framework & Site Specific Frameworks for larger sites. 
 

4.26 No other material factors are considered to possess sufficient weight to warrant departure from this level of growth 
which is considered to: 

 Accord with the Wales Spatial Plan aims by supporting Cardiff’s role as centre of a networked city-region but not to 
excessive levels which could prejudice  regeneration objectives elsewhere; 

 Accord with the Council’s vision and LDP objectives;  

 Effectively respond to the regional collaborative dialogue which recognised the dangers of artificially restricting growth 
in Cardiff - there was a clear recognition of the positive ‘ripple effects’ of providing jobs and homes in Cardiff which 

improved prosperity in the wider city-region;  
 Effectively respond to the clear evidenced need to provide for a significant number of new homes and jobs. Whilst the 

The Plan makes provision to deliver the level proposed may fall short of official projections, it  and is considered to 

strike the right balance having regard to the full range of factors;  
 Deliver necessary homes and jobs, but in a managed and controlled manner protecting key elements of Cardiff’s 

environment; 
 Meet deliverability and capacity factors - The Deposit LDP contains proposals and mechanisms which justify how 

deliverability and capacity matters can be adequately addressed. The wide range and choice of sites contributing to 

the provision together with the masterplanning approach which includes addressing the deliverability of supporting 
infrastructure demonstrates how development can be successfully brought forward in a managed way. (A higher level 

of growth would be considered difficult to justify in terms of deliverability factors and set an artificially high target for 
the 5 year supply requirements set out in TAN 1; and 

 Respond in an evidence-based manner to the divergence of views expressed in the Preferred Strategy consultation 
processes. 
 

4.27 The detailed breakdown of how it is intended to provide for the 41,415 new homes over the Plan period is shown in 
Table 1, below. The masterplanning approach consultation findings and wider work undertaken have informed the number of 

new homes and jobs proposed for the Strategic Sites which are  described in greater detail in Policy KP2 and Supporting 
Document. 
 

 
 

 
 

P
age 621



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

Appendix One: MAC4 KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH 

 

Table 1: Housing Provision over the Plan Period 
 

Row Topic/Factor Note/Source Dwellings 

NEW DWELLING REQUIREMENT 2006 - 2026 

1 2006-2026 Dwelling Requirement  As referenced in Policy KP1 41,415 

2 
2006-2026 Dwelling Requirement per 
year (20 years) 

Row 1 divided by 20 years 2,071 

CHANGE IN DWELLINGS 2006 to 2014 AND RESIDENTIAL LANDBANK AT 1st APRIL 2014 

3 
Change in Council Tax Dwellings 31 
March 2006 to 31 March 2014 (8 years) 

(138,735 to 150,990) 

Official data from ONS/ 
Valuation Agency               
http://www.voa.gov.uk/corpora

te/Publications/statisticsCouncil
Tax.html 

12,255 

4 
Current Landbank (Under Construction, 
Not Started and Sites subject to Legal 

Agreement). 

  10,885 

 
ADJUSTMENTS FOR CHANGE IN CURRENT DWELLING STOCK   

5 

Adjustments (Demolitions, Change of 

Use from Residential to Other Uses and 
Residential Conversions) 

  242 

 
ALLOWANCES   

6 
Windfalls (including Change of Use 

Gains) 

  5,850 

7 

15% Flexibility Allowance for possible 
reduced dwelling yield on Brownfield 
sites in landbank and some S106 sites 

not coming forward 

 -1,043 

 
LDP STRATEGIC SITES* 

8 

Units on LDP Strategic Sites Excludes Strategic Site A - 

existing commitment in the 
landbank 

13,950 

P
age 622



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

Appendix One: MAC4 KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH 

 
LDP NON-STRATEGIC SITES* 

9 Units on LDP Non-Strategic Sites   572 

  *Allowance to avoid double counting on Strategic and Non-Strategic sites 
in the landbank at 31st March 2014: 

-1,256 

10 Total Supply   41,456 

    

11 Additional 10% flexibility 

allowance, as referenced in KP1. 

 4,000 

 
 
4.28 The Plan deliberately provides an extensive range and choice of opportunities for the creation of new homes and jobs. 

This is crucial to the overall delivery of homes and jobs by enabling different sites in different locations to be progressed 
concurrently. It also ensures flexibility as a limited number of sites would carry delivery risks should implementation 

problems be encountered on specific sites. The masterplanning approach, which also addresses the provision of 
infrastructure and phasing, puts in place a framework to ensure the orderly development of sites. Key Policies on 
masterplanning, design and infrastructure, together with supporting documentation, explain this approach in more detail. 

 
4.29 In terms of the provision of new homes, brownfield sites still contribute over half of the provision, but this is 

supplemented by new greenfield opportunities offering a fuller range and choice. This provides a much needed catalyst to the 
local housing market which has seen a recent shortage of greenfield sites and can help meet a growing latent demand. 
Furthermore, greenfield sites can play a key role in bringing forward high levels of affordable and family housing. Evidence 

has shown that site viability factors make it difficult for brownfield sites to consistently provide high levels of affordable 
housing.  

 
4.30 It should also be noted that Cardiff has a finite supply of brownfield sites and that the previous LDP was withdrawn due 
to the Inspector’s concerns that it was a, ‘brownfield only’ Strategy. The last decade has seen significant brownfield 

developments, the most notable being the successful regeneration of Cardiff Bay. However, brownfield opportunities of this 
scale no longer exist. Research work has been undertaken to explore the possibilities of maximising the contribution of 

brownfield land to meet future provision. Supporting Document 2 sets out in detail the findings of this work and 
demonstrates the different potential opportunities which have been explored. 
 

 

P
age 623



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

Appendix One: MAC4 KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH 

4.31 The Plan recognises that there is a limited supply of acceptable brownfield land. It also recognises that not all existing 
brownfield sites with planning permission will be developed due to changed economic/market conditions. These changed 

market conditions also mean that delivering previously anticipated levels of affordable housing may prove challenging due to 
current financial viability factors. This, in part, contributes to the current limited number of sites being brought forward for 

development from the landbank. Additionally, there are serious policy issues with losing further employment land of strategic 
or local importance to housing and it is not considered acceptable for the Plan to propose building on river valleys, parks and 
playing fields.  

 
4.32 However, brownfield sites will continue to play an important role and windfall provisions will form part of the provision 

for new homes as land uses within the city continue to evolve. For example, the Council is currently strategically assessing 
its land holdings which, over the Plan period, is likely to generate a wide range and choice of brownfield housing 
opportunities across the city. 

 
4.33 The Deposit LDP seeks to respond to need in a way which provides range and choice of land for housing. Maximising the 

contribution of brownfield sites still forms over half of the provision over the whole Plan period, but this is supplemented by a 
range of greenfield opportunities offering a range and choice and to provide a catalyst to help kick-start the currently 
depressed housing market situation. Greenfield sites generally have far lower site development costs/constraints and are 

therefore widely recognised as providing far higher levels of affordable housing than brownfield sites. 
 

4.34 The provision of a full range and choice of housing options also fully supports the delivery of the economic Strategy - 
new homes and supporting community facilities can help attract new investment to the city and stimulate more movement in 

the housing market. Associated construction jobs would provide an additional benefit to the local economy.  
 
4.35 New greenfield releases also bring with them the ability to contribute towards the wider provision of strategic 

infrastructure to the benefit of the city and wider city-region as a whole. For example, the delivery of sustainable 
transportation solutions will have positive implications for the wider community. In this respect, there are clear benefits of 

the locations of the strategic sites which offer the opportunity of a joined-up approach to deliver strategically important 
infrastructure in the North West and East/North East corridors. This assists in prioritising infrastructure provision in a planned 
and focussed manner. 

 
4.36 In order to deliver the required level of growth over the Plan period, there will be a need for a range and choice of sites 

to be on stream over the remainder of the Plan period. The masterplanning approach has been adopted to carefully manage 
this process with Key Policies KP2 (A) to KP2 (H) providing a framework for the delivery of each Strategic Site in this respect. 

P
age 624



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

Appendix One: MAC4 KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH 

In this way, each site and each phase of development can bring with it the necessary range of supporting infrastructure. It 
should be noted that the scale of strategic sites open up the opportunity for delivering significant infrastructure benefits. 

However, some major elements may take a long period to deliver. Therefore, early phases will need to both deliver the 
infrastructure which is required for that particular phase along with contributing to the provision of wider strategic 

infrastructure which may be physically provided at a slightly later date. Detailed provisions will be put in place to secure 
delivery in such instances. 
 

4.37 The Plan is considered sufficiently flexible to respond to changing conditions. This will be kept under review in the 
Annual Monitoring Reporting process allowing future reviews to address the need for change. Should demand be lower than 

anticipated, the sequence of provision will remain in place, thereby controlling development in an orderly manner and linking 
it in with infrastructure provision. However, this scenario would result in the trajectory being followed over a longer period 
allowing either Plan review or the next Plan to make appropriate judgement on future provision at that time. 

 
4.38 Consideration also needs to be given to demand being higher than expected. This is considered to be a less likely 

possibility, based on current evidence of low completion rates and the challenging economic conditions. However, the LDP 
tests of soundness demand that Plans are sufficiently flexible to be able to positively respond to changes in circumstances. 
This Policy therefore has a built-in 10% flexibility allowance. 

 
4.39 In this way, if a need is identified in the Annual Monitoring Report before the end of the Plan period, additional land can 

be brought forward for residential purposes at that point in time in a Plan review. The Plan demonstrates a clear commitment 
to a long term direction of travel by identifying geographically defined areas which have been subject to SA/SEA analysis and 

are well positioned to meet such need, if required. 
 
4.40 Work undertaken as part of this process has shown that there is limited scope for further development areas due to the 

environmental and other constraints around the city together. There is considered merit in focussing potential additional 
areas based upon proposed Strategic Sites where there is land available to take advantage of the comprehensive provision of 

new community and transportation infrastructure and minimising impact on areas of higher environmental sensitivity 
including land proposed for Green Belt designation. 
 

4.41 Three areas have been identified to provide good flexibility as just one option may limit the scope for dwellings being 
delivered should problems be encountered on a particular site. It should also be noted in this respect that each area offers a 

large gross area with the combined potential to deliver more than just an additional 10% flexibility. The masterplanning of 
adjoining Strategic Sites will take account of these potential additional areas in the planning of land uses and supporting 

P
age 625



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

Appendix One: MAC4 KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH 

infrastructure. Other strategic sites have far more fixed boundaries and do not lend themselves to logical extension. will 
ensure that suitable access is secured and future Plan monitoring will trigger any future detailed consideration of 

infrastructure and masterplanning requirements should the need for the early release of the identified Search Areas be 
triggered within the Plan period.     

 
4.42 The areas considered most suitable to deliver this potential need are as follows: 
 

i. Land North of the North West Cardiff Strategic Site - Up to 57 hectares of   land located between Llantrisant Road and 
the M4 Motorway bounded by the edge of Radyr to the East and the recent development on the former Rhydlafar Hospital 

to the West. This is a gross figure with the net developable area likely to be a significant reduction due to natural and 
infrastructure constraints within the site. This could provide a minimum of an extra 1,250 dwellings if required in the 
later phases of the Plan period but further masterplanning addressing long-term capacity is likely to demonstrate a 

higher figure is possible and the land is indicated by an arrow for potential future development on the Key Diagram; as 
Search Area A on the Proposals Map; 

 
 
ii. Land West of the Strategic Site North of Junction 33 - Up to 41 hectares of land represents a logical extension of this site 

which falls between the M4 Motorway and Llantrisant Road. This could provide a minimum of an extra 1,250 dwellings if 
required in the later phases of the Plan period but further masterplanning addressing long-term capacity is likely to 

demonstrate a higher figure is possible. The land is indicated by an arrow for potential future development on the Key 
Diagram; as Search Area B on the Proposals Map; and 

 
iii.  North West Cardiff Strategic Site - As highlighted in Table 1, above, the overall capacity of this site is considered to be in 

the order of 6,500-7,000 dwellings depending on the precise configuration of land uses and housing densities. Work 

undertaken to date suggests that a figure of 5,000 dwellings is appropriate for homes being delivered within the Plan 
period (by 2026). However, should build rates be faster than anticipated, this site represents an ideal opportunity to help 

meet any additional need within the Plan period and benefits from the comprehensive masterplanning of the area as a 
whole which is shown as a allocation in its entirety. 

 

4.43 In a similar way to the provision of new homes, a range and choice of new job opportunities is also proposed. It is 
important to ensure that a range and choice of employment land and business premises are provided to maintain and 

improve the competitiveness of the city, promote and protect indigenous business and attract inward investment. 
 

P
age 626



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

Appendix One: MAC4 KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH 

4.44 This approach responds to Cardiff’s role as the main economic driver of the city-region accounting for 32% of total 
employment in South East Wales. At the heart of this approach is recognition that the Cardiff city-region clearly forms a 

natural economic area and it has consistently made a major positive contribution to the economic growth of Wales. In core 
city analysis, Cardiff performs well and there is an opportunity to build further on this through continuing to enhance Cardiff’s 

role and also improve linkages and connectively within the city-region. It is also recognised (as evidenced in the recent 
Cardiff LDP regional collaborative working exercise summarised in Supporting Document 17) that there are significant 
benefits for adjoining areas from Cardiff’s success in achieving economic growth. 

 
4.45 The Plan provides a framework for delivering a wide range and choice of employment sites in different locations and for 

different sectors including the key market sectors of ICT, energy and environmental technologies, advanced materials and 
manufacturing, creative industries, life sciences and financial and professional services. The range of new sites ensures that 
Cardiff can deliver the stated level of growth for new jobs. Importantly, different sites will perform different roles in the 

strategy. For example, Porth Teigr (Roath Basin) has the potential to become an important location for media and creative 
industries. Other  locations may be better suited to small out of centre employment sites, including offices, creative 

industries, small workshops, and starter units. 
 
4.46 The geographical spread of the ‘Cardiff offer’ also addresses the need to provide jobs in accessible locations. In this 

respect, the key strategic proposal relating to the Cardiff Central Enterprise Zone and Regional Transport Hub represents a 
highly sustainable and accessible location, close to areas of high unemployment in the city but also readily accessible to the 

wider region via sustainable modes of transport. 
 

4.47 Further background evidence underpinning the approach to providing the range and choice of new jobs is provided in 
Supporting Document 4. 
 

 

P
age 627



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

Appendix Two: MAC5 New Key Policies, KP2(A) to KP2(H) 
 

Appendix Two: MAC5 New Key Policies, KP2(A) to KP2(H) 

Policy KP2 

Amend Policy KP2:Strategic Sites and reasoned justification and insert new policies KP2A to H after existing KP2 

New paragraphs to be inserted after existing paragraph 4.54: 

 

A summary of the key infrastructure requirements relating to the Strategic Sites are provided within KP2(A) to KP2(H). 

This information will be cross-referenced in the Cardiff Infrastructure Plan which is a, ‘living document’ sitting alongside 

the LDP. The Infrastructure Plan is directly linked to the LDP Monitoring Framework and regularly updated in order to 

effectively respond to changes in baseline information, procedures and legislation. Estimated costs of infrastructure 

provision and details of estimated square footages of facilities are referenced within the Infrastructure Plan based on 

current considerations, requirements, and information available at a point in time so represent indicative figures. Future 

updates to the Infrastructure Plan will allow such information to be regularly updated to reflect prevailing circumstances 

and show more detail when it is known. Policies KP6  and KP7 relating to new infrastructure and planning obligations 

provide further policy guidance with regard to the delivery of new infrastructure and are also linked to the Infrastructure 

Plan and Annual Monitoring Framework.   

 

Infrastructure requirements for these sites will primarily be delivered through planning obligations/ Section 106 

Agreements with policies KP6 and KP7 providing the policy framework. Policy KP6 also outlines other potential funding 

sources which may be required in addition to developer contributions. Further details as they emerge will be incorporated 

into the Infrastructure Plan as it is updated in future years as part of the formal LDP monitoring process.    

 

The masterplanning and good quality & sustainable design principles set out in KP4 and KP5 will be used to provide a 

framework to consider planning applications relating to all Strategic Sites along with other development as defined in the 

P
age 628



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

Appendix Two: MAC5 New Key Policies, KP2(A) to KP2(H) 
 

policies. In addition, the site-specific masterplanning requirements for each Strategic Site are identified within KP2(A) to 

KP2(H) and depicted, where appropriate, on the indicative Schematic Frameworks. Although only for illustrative 

purposes, the Schematic Frameworks should be read in conjunction with relevant policies to provide an over-arching 

context for the future development of the Strategic Sites.  

 

Delete existing paragraphs 4.55 to 4.67 relating to Strategic Site H as these matters will now be covered by proposed new 

KP2(H): 

 

4.55 In response to issues raised in the Sustainability Appraisal with regard to environmental aspects of the strategic 

employment site at south of St Mellons Business Park, the following paragraphs explain the rationale for including the 

site together with how flood risk and other environmental concerns can be addressed as part of the scheme. 

 

4.56 This is an important employment site which contributes to the necessary range and choice of types of employment 

opportunities in the city. Its location is particularly well placed to provide accessible job opportunities to areas of known 

deprivation and its position adjacent to the main rail line offers significant opportunities for a new station together with 

supporting sustainable transportation infrastructure. This proposal is a long-standing proposal in the Regional Transport 

Plan, is identified in the emerging work on the South Wales Metro concept and has Welsh Government support. 

 

4.57 However, it is recognised that the area possesses environmental and flood risk constraints. In terms of 

environmental issues, the majority of the area is a Site of Special Scientific Interest with the reens forming the major 

interest. Additionally, the adjoining Estuary is a European designated site so run-off issues and disturbance will be 

particularly sensitive. The land also meets the qualifying criteria using the LANDMAP landscape methodology for Special 

Landscape Area status. Furthermore, there are significant historic interests and the land is designated as a Historic 

Landscape and Archaeologically Sensitive Area. 

P
age 629



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

Appendix Two: MAC5 New Key Policies, KP2(A) to KP2(H) 
 

4.58 These environmental and flood risk constraints have been carefully examined so that suitable mitigation and 

enhancement measures can be put in place to address these issues. Further details are contained in Supporting 

Document 16 outlining site specific masterplanning framework for the site. 

 

4.59 Considerable work has been undertaken to evidence the degree of flood risk in line with national guidance. The 

Strategic Flood Consequence Assessment work (SFCA) has analysed the risks when looking at the lifetime of 

development. The Phase 3 SFCA report undertaken by Atkins demonstrates that the flood risk can be effectively 

mitigated for the site. This can be achieved through a combination of raising the Sea Wall at points most prone to 

breaching together with raising ground levels on the development site. The costs associated with this work are not 

considered to undermine the financial viability of the proposal.  

 

4.60 The Environment Agency (EA, now called Natural Resources Wales) has validated the methodology undertaken 

during this study. Furthermore, the Severn Estuary Flood Risk Management Strategy 2013 consultation proposes sea wall 

improvements to the area identified by Atkins as a weak section at Tabb’s Gout requiring an upgrade so it is consistent 

with other flood defences along the coast. It is anticipated that the works will be implemented in the near future, 

probably in 2015/16. 

 

4.61 It should be stressed that an extensive area of land behind the Sea Wall is exposed to flood risk both in Cardiff, 

Newport and Monmouthshire, especially in future years when evidence points to sea levels rising. This includes existing 

properties, the main rail line into South Wales, power lines and undeveloped land, much of which forms part of the far 

wider Wentloog Levels Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI). Any significant flood event could therefore have profound 

implications (social, economic and environmental) which is why the aim of the Severn Estuary Shoreline Management 

Plan is to ‘hold the line’ in terms of flood defences in this area. 

 

P
age 630



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

Appendix Two: MAC5 New Key Policies, KP2(A) to KP2(H) 
 

4.62 The social and economic benefits of delivering a strategic employment site in St Mellons would be profound. In a 

Cardiff context, it would represent a key strategic site by providing a well accessed and high quality site close to the 

strategic highway network. With these qualities the site is uniquely placed within the city-region and would be capable of 

attracting inward investment opportunities for high value and knowledge-based sectors. The site would also add an extra 

dimension to the Cardiff offer in terms of office supply by adding to the range and choice of employment locations and 

providing a degree of flexibility in providing campus-style office jobs which address market requirements. Furthermore, 

its location adjacent to the main line offers the potential to develop direct rail links with a new rail station linked to a park 

and ride facility. 

 

4.63 The site is located near to residential areas of high unemployment and could be readily integrated with the existing 

St Mellons Business Park. In particular, this is a high quality site for existing businesses, who are looking to raise their 

added value, a key requirement for manufacturing companies if they are to grow and embed themselves in the local 

economy. Research has indicated that a high quality site (like St Mellons) and buildings can attract both low value added 

users and high value added users. However, a low quality site and buildings can only attract low value added users. 

Having regard to size, location, proximity to other uses and access, the St Mellons site is particularly well placed in 

Cardiff to deliver this important role. 

 

4.64 The land is currently used for agricultural purposes but is also designated as an SSSI for the reens together with 

fields which host invertebrates and bees. Furthermore, the area is noted for its high landscape and historic value. 

Development of this site can be undertaken in a sensitive manner to minimise harm and include enhancements with 

considerable scope for large scale mitigation measures south of the rail line and incorporating a design and layout 

following guidance issued by the Countryside Council for Wales which offers practical guidance on how development can 

take place in the Wentloog Levels SSSI. In this respect it should be noted that the site forms the western extremity of a 

far wider landscape unit and in many ways is not a pristine example of the levels environment with a large number of 

detracting elements together with few reens on large parts of the site. 

 

P
age 631



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

Appendix Two: MAC5 New Key Policies, KP2(A) to KP2(H) 
 

4.65 However, the social and economic benefits are considerable both in a Cardiff context and locally due to the location 

of the site near areas of high unemployment and could be readily integrated with adjoining uses. Additionally, the 

provision of a new rail station adjacent to a new employment area opens up considerable wider benefits beyond Cardiff 

and will help deliver social, economic and sustainable transportation benefits for South East Wales.  

 

4.66 Furthermore, the development of this site will act as a catalyst to bring about the Sea Wall defence works which will 

help protect a much wider area. Indeed, the whole SSSI could be lost if inundated with sea water so an appropriate 

balance must be made. Mitigation measures can be undertaken to reduce impact and in this respect account will be 

taken of the CCW Guidance Booklet on how to bring forward development in the Wentloog Levels SSSI. 

 

4.67 In conclusion, taking all evidence and assessments into account, it is considered that the economic and social 

benefits of this proposal are considered to outweigh environmental concerns and in this respect it is noted that mitigation 

measures can be delivered to reduce harm. 

 

 

 

 

  

P
age 632



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

Appendix Two: MAC5 New Key Policies, KP2(A) to KP2(H) 
 

KP2(A): CARDIFF CENTRAL ENTERPRISE ZONE AND REGIONAL TRANSPORT HUB 

Land is allocated at Cardiff Central Enterprise Zone, as defined on the Proposals Map, for a major employment-

led initiative including a Regional Transport Hub together with other mixed uses in Cardiff City Centre in order 

to fulfil Cardiff’s role as economic driver of the city-region, providing major employment opportunities focused 

on financial and business services and maximise the advantages of its central location. Supporting essential, 

enabling and necessary infrastructure will be delivered in a phased manner with specific requirements secured 

through planning consents including: 

Essential/ Enabling Infrastructure 

 Transport & Highways: 

- Central, public transport hub providing access to and interchange between rail network, the rapid transit 

and strategic bus corridors referred to in Policy T2, the city-wide bus network and the strategic cycle 

network; 

- Improving existing bus routes and services including bus priority measures between the site, Cardiff Bay 

and other parts of the city; 

- Rapid Transit- Southern Corridor 

 Walking and cycling: 

- Enhance pedestrian and cycle access between north and south sides of main railway line including 

enhanced railway underpasses; 

- Enhance east and west connections through the area connecting developments; 

- Enhanced/ extend Canal Park as a cycling and walking route, creating a new green corridor linking the 

Bay Waterfront to Callaghan Square, the City Centre and beyond; 

- Integrate site with the Strategic Cycle Network Enfys including Routes 1,2,3, 4, 5, 6, 9, 90, 34, 35, 50, the 

city centre ‘hub’ routes, the Taff Trail and the Bay Trail;  

- Provide a central cycle parking hub with associated facilities as an integral component of the regional 

public transport hub and of a scale befitting its regional and capital function; 

- Provide secure cycle parking and associated facilities in locations which encourage cycling to the city 

centre and integration with public transport services; 

P
age 633



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

Appendix Two: MAC5 New Key Policies, KP2(A) to KP2(H) 
 

- Improve connections to Millennium Stadium including Gate 5; 

- Create continuous river walk on Taff East bank  

Necessary Infrastructure 

 Education-1 new Primary School and contribution to existing Secondary Schools; 

 Minimum of approximately 7ha Open Space including approximately 3.5ha of formal recreation, 1 

playground, 1 teen facility, 1x 40 plot allotment site; 

 Contribution to off-site community facility provision; 

 

Development shall accord with the following key masterplanning requirements (as depicted, where appropriate, 

on the Schematic Framework): 

 Densities will be maximised to make efficient use of city centre land in a highly accessible location. High 

rise, high density developments at appropriate locations within the site are encouraged and residential 

densities in excess of 100 dwellings per hectare are not considered unreasonable in principle. Employment 

densities for B1 office development are expected to be at least 14.5 square metres per employee (gross 

external area); 

 Employment provision to include Grade A office accommodation and developing Callaghan Square as 

Wales’ premier business location. The site will also provide a range and choice of opportunities to meet 

business needs including start-up businesses, creative workshops and incubator units; 

 Create destination spaces with active uses which complement the business offer including Central Square 

(new public piazza with active ground floor uses), Southern Gateway (new public space south of Central 

Station), Callaghan Square (greening of spaces whilst maintaining a ‘civic’ presence), and Taff East Bank 

(creating active uses and new leisure destination); 

 Make improvements to the Arena Area with links to Queen Street Station; 

 Ensure that development does not prejudice the future delivery of the Metro by keeping free land required 

for the project once land requirements are known;  

 Provision of high quality way-finding and clearly defined pedestrian routes to key destinations; 

 Ensure a consistent approach to the use of high quality street furniture and paving materials;   

P
age 634



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

Appendix Two: MAC5 New Key Policies, KP2(A) to KP2(H) 
 

 Improve routes and connections to support the Butetown Regeneration with links to community facilities 

and services including Loudon Square as a community “hub”;  

 Maximise linkages to the Taff Trail and Canal Park; 

 Integrating new development sensitively with new and existing developments and take opportunities for 

commercial activity along Dumballs Road;  

 Upgrade site gateways, railway bridges/ underpasses and the public realm; 

 Effectively responding to landscape and biodiversity assets by: 

- Maximising the asset of River Taff frontage; 

- Developing opportunities for natural greenspaces to create urban parkland settings; 

 Effectively respond to heritage assets by: 

- Assessing and effectively addressing potential impacts on Conservation Areas and Listed Buildings within 

and adjoining the site; 

- Integrating public art and heritage interpretation as part of proposals;  

 Investigating opportunities for new developments in Dumballs Road to have a separate drainage system , 

including running surface water to the river and integrating landscaped areas; 

 Seek to develop opportunities for SUDS to relate to/ extend the “Greener Grangetown” scheme. 

 

1.  The Cardiff Central Enterprise Zone is one of eight Strategic Sites which collectively play a crucial role in delivering the 

Plan Strategy. It is the largest brownfield site within the Plan (78.8 ha) and occupies a particularly accessible location in the 

centre of Cardiff including the major transportation hub around Cardiff Central station. Overall, it represents a significant 

sustainable regeneration opportunity in the heart of the city and is fully consistent with delivering the Plan’s vision and 

objectives.    

2. The land is owned by numerous landowners and will be delivered by a number of different developers operating out of 

different sites. This policy, together with other relevant policies, will provide the overarching masterplanning and 

infrastructure planning framework for landowners and developers to prepare Parameter Plans and Masterplans which will 

inform the Development Management process. In this respect it should be noted that different potential projects in the area 

are operating to different timescales so an over-prescriptive approach would not be appropriate.  

P
age 635



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

Appendix Two: MAC5 New Key Policies, KP2(A) to KP2(H) 
 

4. Planning conditions and Planning Obligations (Section 106 Agreements) will be used to formally tie in the phased delivery 

of necessary supporting infrastructure with trigger mechanisms and thresholds used to ensure timely provision.     

5. The site is in a central location with a good level of accessibility by non car-based travel. The transport sustainability of the 

site will be further enhanced through the development of the regional transport hub linking different sustainable forms of 

transport and the wider improvements to the strategic public transport network and the walking and cycling networks that 

will be secured in conjunction with the development of other Strategic Sites and through the Council’s own infrastructure 

programmes.  

6. Although details of the mode and potential alignments of the Metro are not yet known it is likely that the project will 

provide access to this Strategic Site. Work undertaken to date by the Welsh Government has not firmed up detailed 

proposals and there is no current certainty on any detailed alignments so it would be inappropriate to allocate a precise 

alignment on the Proposals Map but there is a need to ensure future options are not prejudiced. Therefore, this policy 

references the potential future need to safeguard land required for the Metro project once any land requirements are known. 

Future Plan reviews and the annual monitoring framework linked to the ‘living’ Infrastructure Plan provide mechanisms to 

ensure the LDP process can be further updated in this respect. 

  

P
age 636



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

Appendix Two: MAC5 New Key Policies, KP2(A) to KP2(H) 
 

KP2(B): FORMER GAS WORKS, FERRY ROAD 

Land is allocated at the former Gas Works, Ferry Road, as defined on the Proposals Map, for a housing-based 

scheme of 500 homes and other associated community uses, together with essential, enabling and necessary 

supporting infrastructure which will be delivered in a phased manner with specific details formally tied into 

planning consents including: 

Essential/ Enabling Infrastructure 

 Walking and cycling: 

- Improve pedestrian access to public transport facilities in the vicinity of the site; 

- Provide new and enhance existing pedestrian/cycle links from the site to the Ely Trail, Grangemoor Park, 

Cardiff Bay Retail Park and other community facilities within the area including Channel View Centre 

Necessary Infrastructure 

 Contribution to off-site community facility provision; 

 Education- Contribution to existing Primary and Secondary Schools; 

 Minimum of 1.2ha Open Space including 1 playground, 1 teen facility, plus contributions to formal open 

space, allotment provision and play provision 

 

Development shall be undertaken in a comprehensive manner and accord with the following key masterplanning 

requirements (as depicted, where appropriate, on the Schematic Framework): 

 Densities will be maximised to make efficient use of this brownfield site with high density residential 

accommodation of at least 50 dwellings per hectare considered appropriate and in keeping with the 

characteristics of the area; 

 The density, design, scale and layout at the northern end of the site should respond effectively to the 

adjacent Ikea building; 

 The layout should relate effectively to the railway line forming the western boundary of the site including 

mitigating any acoustic impacts;  

P
age 637



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

Appendix Two: MAC5 New Key Policies, KP2(A) to KP2(H) 
 

 Ensure that the cycle trail linking the Ely Trail to Ferry Road is retained and that the layout provides a safe 

and overlooked solution; 

 Maximise the relationship between the site, the River Ely and Grangemoor Park including extending the 

park along the river frontage to create a riverside park with informal play opportunities; 

 Effectively respond to landscape and biodiversity assets by: 

- Mitigating and compensating for reptiles and bats; 
- Enhancing the buffer of trees along the railway line; 
- Ensuring an adequate buffer from the River Ely Site of Importance for Nature Conservation to protect the 

river bank and associated vegetation; 
 Effectively respond to heritage assets by: 

 Assessing and effectively addressing potential impacts on the character and setting of the Listed Gas 

Holder and demonstrating how the proposals can successfully integrate this historic asset; 

 Explore the potential to collect methane gas from Grangemoor Park to create a heat and power system 

together with exploring other potential opportunities such as biomass to create electricity and to heat the 

site’s buildings.  

 

1.  The former Gas Works, Ferry Road, is one of eight Strategic Sites which collectively play a crucial role in delivering the 

Plan Strategy. It is a brownfield site (9.9 ha) well-located within the urban area adding to the range and choice of housing 

offer in the Plan. 

2. The land is owned by a single landowner and will be delivered in a comprehensive manner. This policy, together with other 

relevant policies, will provide the masterplanning and infrastructure planning framework for landowners and developers to 

prepare Parameter Plans and Masterplans which will inform the Development Management process. 

4. The relative scale of the site allows for a maximum of 2 outlets at any time with full delivery of the 500 units anticipated 

between 2017 and 2024. Planning conditions and Planning Obligations (Section 106 Agreements) will be used to formally tie 

in the phased delivery of necessary supporting infrastructure with trigger mechanisms and thresholds used to ensure timely 

provision in relation to completion of new homes.  

5. Due to the accessible location of the site and proximity to existing social/ community facilities in the area it is considered 

appropriate to secure developer contributions to improve nearby facilities as outlined in the policy. 

P
age 638



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

Appendix Two: MAC5 New Key Policies, KP2(A) to KP2(H) 
 

KP2(C): NORTH WEST CARDIFF 

Land is allocated at North West Cardiff, as defined on the Proposals Map, for a mixed-use comprehensive 

development including a minimum of 5,000 homes and local employment opportunities, together with essential, 

enabling and necessary supporting infrastructure which will be delivered in a phased manner with specific 

details formally tied into planning consents including: 

Essential/ Enabling Infrastructure 

 Transport & Highways:  

- Provision of new bus-based Rapid Transit Corridors through the site providing links between the 

District/Local Centres and a new Transport Hub in the Easternmost District/Local Centre; 

- Off-site infrastructure including bus priority measures to develop bus-based Rapid Transit Corridors 

integrating with the site, the Western Bus Corridor and other routes within the North West Rapid Transit 

Corridor; 

- Off-site infrastructure including bus priority enhancements on the Western Bus Corridor and measures to 

improve linkages into Rhondda Cynon Taf; 

- Extend bus networks and increase the frequency and reliability of services to serve the site with public 

transport options for a wide range of journeys including a combination of limited stop and local bus 

services 

 Walking and cycling: 

- On and off-site measures to provide a network of high quality, safe, attractive and convenient routes 

within the site and linking to key local services, facilities and destinations including existing local centres 

and Schools at Fairwater, Pentrebane, Danescourt and Radyr; 

- Links to the Taff and Ely Trails; 

- Links to off-site public transport destinations including Radyr, Danescourt and Llandaff Rail Stations 

 

 

P
age 639



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

Appendix Two: MAC5 New Key Policies, KP2(A) to KP2(H) 
 

Necessary Infrastructure 

 1 District Centre and 3 Local Centres (including provision of business and local employment uses), 

Primary Care facility, Multifunctional community leisure facility including library facility, and financial 

contribution to upgrading of Fairwater Leisure Centre;           

 Education-1 new Secondary School, 3-4  new Primary Schools located in or adjacent to District/Local 

Centres, and financial contribution to existing Primary Schools in earlier phases; 

 Minimum of 30ha Open Space including 15ha of formal recreation, 6 playgrounds including destination 

play area, 2 teen facilities plus off-site contribution, and 2x 50 plot allotment sites (through on-site/ off-

site provision) 

 

Development shall be undertaken in a comprehensive manner and accord with the following key masterplanning 

requirements (as depicted, where appropriate, on the Schematic Framework): 

 Provide a range of densities with high density (minimum of 45-50+ dwellings per hectare) mixed-use 

development within District/Local Centres and medium to high density (35-50+ dwellings per hectare) 

along the Rapid Transit Corridors; 

 Initial phases towards the east and along Llantrisant Road, middle phases towards the centre of the site 

and later to the west; 

 Ensure that the potential future delivery of the ‘Metro’ is not precluded by keeping a corridor alongside 

and including the disused rail line running through the site (as depicted on the schematic framework) 

safeguarded from development and also ensuring that land uses, densities and layouts respond positively 

to its potential future provision; 

 District/ Local Centres to be accessible by walking, cycling and public transport and accommodate a range 

of services including convenience goods floorspace plus other retail of a scale and nature which accord 

with Plan retail policies with the anchor food store to be located within the District Centre towards the 

east of the site; 

 Employment provision (B1 & B1(b)(c)) to be located in and adjoining the District/Local Centres 

amounting to approximately 15,000sqm; 

 New Schools to be located in and adjoining the District/Local Centres;    

P
age 640



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

Appendix Two: MAC5 New Key Policies, KP2(A) to KP2(H) 
 

 Provide good land use and transportation integration with the adjoining areas of Pentrebane, Fairwater 

and Radyr;  

 Providing an active frontage onto Pentrebane and Llantrisant Roads; 

 Effectively respond to landscape and biodiversity assets by: 

- Linking retained habitats through the provision of a series of open space corridors providing ecological 

connectivity, sustainable access routes and opportunities for sustainable drainage including: 

- Links between retained woodlands at Coed y Trenches, Coed y Gof, Waterhall, Halfwrt and 

Coedbychan; 

- Corridor along the valley through the middle of the site; 

- Links to the countryside to the west and south-west;  

- Linking corridors where possible between the above to provide a good network   

- Ensuring that there is no detriment to the maintenance of the favourable conservation status of Great 

Crested Newts on the site including protection of the existing 2 ponds in the Pentrebane Cottages SINC 

and provision of a minimum of 2 additional ponds in the locality; 

- Providing suitable buffers to retained woodlands referred to above and other habitats including 

hedgerows and streams; 

 Effectively respond to heritage assets by: 

- Assessing and effectively addressing potential impacts on the St Fagans Conservation Area (retain 

woodland/ hedgerow buffers together with provision of new planting) and the Listed Buildings (together 

with their settings) within and adjacent to the site; 

 Effectively respond to other constraints including Radyr Golf Course (ensuring no conflict with errant golf 

balls) and existing easements (overhead pylons and underground infrastructure); and 

 Ensuring that that development does not adversely affect the water quality of the Nant Rhydlafar.  

 

1.  North West Cardiff is one of eight Strategic Sites which collectively play a crucial role in delivering the Plan Strategy. It is 

the largest Strategic Site within the Plan (346 ha) and relates to countryside to the west of Radyr, Fairwater and Pentrebane, 

and to the north of the village of St Fagans. 

P
age 641



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

Appendix Two: MAC5 New Key Policies, KP2(A) to KP2(H) 
 

2. The vast majority of the land at North West Cardiff is within the control of the Trustees of St Fagans no. 1 & 2 and no. 3 

Trust and will be delivered by a number of different developers operating out of different outlets. This policy, together with 

other relevant policies, will provide the masterplanning and infrastructure planning framework for landowners and developers 

to prepare Parameter Plans and Masterplans which will inform the Development Management process. 

4. The scale of the site allows numerous outlets to be operating at any one time in different parts of this large site and will 

provide a wide range and choice of housing offer and opportunities for a variety of different tenures. Planning conditions and 

Planning Obligations (Section 106 Agreements) will be used to formally tie in the phased delivery of necessary supporting 

infrastructure with trigger mechanisms and thresholds used to ensure timely provision in relation to completion of new 

homes.  

5. Rapid Transit Corridors within the site will be bus-based and of sufficient width and otherwise designed, including the 

control of car parking, to allow the safe two-way passing of the largest vehicles. Bus priority measures will be provided at 

appropriate locations within the site to allow bus rapid transit to avoid queuing traffic. Bus-based Rapid Transit Corridors will 

link the site to the Western Bus Corridor with off-site bus priority measures provided to assist the flow of buses. Further off-

site corridor enhancements will be provided on the Western Bus Corridor as shown on the Proposals Map and consistent with 

policy T2 in order to support delivery of the increased frequency and reliability of services. The integration of housing and 

supporting services and community infrastructure provides the opportunity for a high proportion of short, local trips to be 

made by walking and cycling. This will be made possible by integrating networks of high quality walking and cycling routes 

within development layouts and ensuring that the design of roads, streets, junctions and public spaces accommodate the 

natural ‘desire lines’ of people making trips on foot and by bicycle. 

6. Although details of the mode and potential alignments of the Metro have yet to be defined, it is important that the 

development of this site does not preclude the potential delivery of this strategic project. Work undertaken to date by the 

Welsh Government suggests that the disused rail line running through the middle of the site forms the most likely option in 

this locality but there is currently no certainty on the detailed alignment. For example, there is uncertainty of the future 

mode and whether the route would be based on the existing disused rail line or whether it would be better located either 

alongside to the north or to the south.  

P
age 642



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

Appendix Two: MAC5 New Key Policies, KP2(A) to KP2(H) 
 

7. Therefore, it would be inappropriate to allocate a precise alignment on the Proposals Map but there is a need to ensure 

future options are not prejudiced. This policy ensures that land is safeguarded from development along the potential Metro 

corridor and also that land uses, densities and layouts are developed to take account of the potential delivery of this strategic 

transportation project.        

8. District and Local Centres will be the focus for community uses and activities including Schools in close proximity. The 

precise number of Primary Schools (3/4) will depend on the outcomes of future monitoring and delivery options relevant 

when the details of later phases are being assessed through the Development Management process.  

9. It should be noted that it is anticipated that the delivery of this large site will extend beyond the plan period (some 1,500 

homes are anticipated being delivered post 2026). In this respect, whilst the Schematic Framework relates to the total 

geographical extent of the overall site area to ensure a high-level consistent approach to addressing site-specific factors, the 

infrastructure requirements as set out in this policy relate to the number of homes proposed during the plan period (for 

5,000 new homes). Future annual monitoring, Plan reviews and ongoing updates to the Infrastructure Plan will ensure that 

any infrastructure requirements for homes post-2026 are captured at the appropriate juncture and consequently inform any 

future Development Management activity with regard to homes over and above the 5,000 proposed during the plan period.   

10. Search Area A The further future flexibility option (north of Llantrisant Road is not included within the Strategic Site 

allocation. This would only be triggered if necessary through future Plan review following annual monitoring indicating that 

the provision of new homes is proceeding beyond anticipated rates and justifies such a release within the last years of the 

plan period. Therefore, it is considered premature to factor in potential detailed infrastructure and masterplanning matters at 

this juncture relating to this land. The formal monitoring framework provides an evidence-based process to inform any 

decisions on potential release in the last years of the plan period.  

 

P
age 643



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

Appendix Two: MAC5 New Key Policies, KP2(A) to KP2(H) 
 

KP2(D & E): NORTH OF JUNCTION 33 ON M4 AND SOUTH OF CREIGIAU 

Land is allocated: 

(i) North of Junction 33 on the M4, as defined on the Proposals Map, for a mixed-use development of 

approximately 2,000 homes, employment, other associated community uses and a strategic park and ride site; 

and 

(ii) South of Creigiau, as defined on the Proposals Map, for a housing-based scheme of approximately 650 

homes representing a southern extension to the village 

Essential, enabling and necessary supporting infrastructure will be delivered in a phased manner with specific 

details formally tied into planning consents including: 

Essential/ Enabling Infrastructure 

 Transport & Highways: 

- Provision of new bus-based Rapid Transit Corridors through the site North of Junction 33 linking directly 

to the Western Bus Corridor; 

- Off-site infrastructure including bus priority measures to develop bus-based Rapid Transit Corridors 

integrating with the site, the Western Bus Corridor and other routes within the North West Rapid Transit 

Corridor; 

- - Off-site infrastructure including bus priority enhancements on the Western Bus Corridor and measures to 

improve linkages into Rhondda Cynon Taf; 

- Extend bus networks and increase the frequency and reliability of services to serve the site with public 

transport options for a wide range of journeys including a combination of limited stop and local bus 

services; 

- Strategic park and ride facility North of Junction 33 linked to the Rapid Transit Corridor and public 

transport node including Bus Gate to provide priority for public transport and limit unauthorised access by 

car to Junction 33; 

P
age 644



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

Appendix Two: MAC5 New Key Policies, KP2(A) to KP2(H) 
 

- Public transport node in close proximity to the employment uses, Park & Ride facility and Local Centre to 

the south of the site; 

- Improve the Llantrisant Road/ Cardiff Road junction 

 Walking and cycling: 

- On and off-site measures to provide a network of high quality, safe, attractive and convenient routes 

within the site and linking to key local services, facilities and destinations including the new 

neighbourhood centre from the north, improved pedestrian/ cycling links to existing and proposed 

schools; 

- Provide a safe crossing of Llantrisant Road;  

- Creating an east-west connection between Public Rights of Way (Footpaths numbered 10 & 18) 

Necessary Infrastructure 

 1 Local Centre within Site D including Primary Care facility and multifunctional community leisure facility 

including library facility;           

 Education:1-2 new Primary Schools with 1 located in or adjacent to Local Centre, and financial 

contribution to existing Secondary Schools; 

 Minimum of 12ha Open Space including 6ha of formal recreation, 3 playgrounds, 1 teen facility, and 1x 40 

plot allotment site; 

 Improve community facilities in the existing neighbourhood centre in Creigiau to provide new facilities for 

existing and new residents   

 

Development shall be undertaken in a comprehensive manner and accord with the following key masterplanning 

requirements (as depicted, where appropriate, on the Schematic Framework): 

 Provide a range/ gradient of densities across the site with the highest density (minimum of 45-50+ 

dwellings per hectare) around the Local Centre to the south of the site. Medium density housing (35-45+ 

dwellings per hectare) will be provided on land close to Llantrisant Road and adjacent to the Rapid Transit 

Corridors and to the west of the land south of Creigiau. Lower densities will be provided on the elevated 

land west of Cardiff Road and to the west of the site North of Junction 33; 

P
age 645



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

Appendix Two: MAC5 New Key Policies, KP2(A) to KP2(H) 
 

 Layouts on Sites D and E should reflect the interrelationships between the sites with delivery considered 

acceptable in tandem through different outlets with initial phases including the provision of the park and 

ride facility together with public transport enhancement measures; 

 Ensure that the potential future delivery of the ‘Metro’ is not precluded by keeping a corridor through the 

sites (as depicted on the schematic framework) safeguarded from development and also ensuring that 

land uses, densities and layouts respond positively to its potential future provision; 

 Exclude vehicular access onto the M4 except for part of the park and ride facility and part of the business 

area situated adjacent to the junction; 

 Exclude through-traffic between both sites; 

 Provide future vehicular, walking/ cycling access from the site North of Junction 33 to the ‘flexibility 

allowance land’ to the west; 

 Facilitate interchange between local bus and rapid transit services; 

 Local Centre to be located north of the business land and adjacent to the rapid transit interchange and 

Primary School and to include convenience goods floorspace plus other retail use of a scale and nature 

which accords with Plan retail policies; 

 High quality business uses to reflect the strategic location of the site (excluding B8 uses) to be located 

adjacent to Junction 33 and an additional flexible local employment space to be located adjacent to the 

Motorway to the south west of the site;  

 Provide a landscape buffer between employment and residential uses and along the boundary of the M4 to 

reduce impact; 

 Provide safe and convenient pedestrian/ cycle links between the site and Creigiau village including links 

with existing Public Rights of Way; 

 Effectively respond to landscape and biodiversity assets by: 

- Linking retained habitats through the provision of a series of open space corridors providing ecological 

connectivity, sustainable access routes and opportunities for sustainable drainage including: 

- Links between retained ancient woodland at Castell y Mynach, marshy area to the north and young 

woodland buffer strip alongside Llantrisant Road; 

- Links from the Nant Henstaff, through Coed Gwenybwlau, linking to the disused rail line and 

Pencoed Wood; 

P
age 646



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

Appendix Two: MAC5 New Key Policies, KP2(A) to KP2(H) 
 

- Enhancing the disused rail line as a walking/ cycling and ecological corridor; 

- Links to the countryside to the west;  

- Linking corridors where possible between the above to provide a good network   

- Ensuring that there is no detriment to the maintenance of the favourable conservation status of Great 

Crested Newts and Dormouse on the site including protection of the existing watercourses and provision 

of suitable compensatory planting to supplement existing retained habitats; 

- Providing suitable buffers to retained woodlands and streams referred to above and other habitats 

including hedgerows within the sites; 

 Effectively respond to heritage assets by: 

- Assessing and effectively addressing potential impacts on known assets including the Listed Buildings of 

Pencoed House, Church of St Elldeyrn and the Old Forge; 

1.  Land North of Junction 33 on the M4 and South of Creigiau are two of eight Strategic Sites which collectively play a 

crucial role in delivering the Plan Strategy.  As the sites are adjacent and separated only by Llantrisant Road, there is 

considered logic in setting out masterplanning and infrastructure requirements in a comprehensive manner but also including 

addressing site-specific issues for each site. The sites amounting to 141ha will help bring forward new homes, jobs and 

supporting infrastructure including a new strategic park and ride facility. 

2. The masterplanning process to date has reflected joint-working between parties relating to both sites to ensure a 

comprehensive approach is taken. 

3. This policy, together with other relevant policies, will provide the masterplanning and infrastructure planning framework 

for landowners and developers to prepare Parameter Plans and Masterplans which will inform the Development Management 

process. 

4. The scale of the sites allows numerous outlets to be operating at any one time and will provide a wide range and choice of 

housing offer and opportunities for a variety of different tenures. Planning conditions and Planning Obligations (Section 106 

Agreements) will be used to formally tie in the phased delivery of necessary supporting infrastructure with trigger 

mechanisms and thresholds used to ensure timely provision in relation to completion of new homes.  

P
age 647



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

Appendix Two: MAC5 New Key Policies, KP2(A) to KP2(H) 
 

5. Rapid Transit Corridors within the site North of Junction 33 will be bus-based and of sufficient width and otherwise 

designed, including the control of car parking, to allow the safe two-way passing of the largest vehicles. Bus priority 

measures will be provided at appropriate locations within the site to allow bus rapid transit to avoid queuing traffic. Bus-

based Rapid Transit Corridors will link the site to the Western Bus Corridor with off-site bus priority measures provided to 

assist the flow of buses. Further off-site corridor enhancements will be provided on the Western Bus Corridor as shown on 

the Proposals Map and consistent with policy T2 in order to support delivery of the increased frequency and reliability of 

services. The integration of housing and supporting services and community infrastructure provides the opportunity for a 

high proportion of short, local trips to be made by walking and cycling. This will be made possible by integrating networks of 

high quality walking and cycling routes within development layouts and ensuring that the design of roads, streets, junctions 

and public spaces accommodate the natural ‘desire lines’ of people making trips on foot and by bicycle. 

6. Although details of the mode and potential alignments of the Metro have yet to be defined it is important that the 

development of these sites does not preclude the potential delivery of this strategic project. Work undertaken to date by the 

Welsh Government suggests numerous potential options in this area and there is currently no certainty on the detailed 

alignment. For example, there is uncertainty of the future mode and whether the route would be based on the existing 

disused rail line or whether it would be better routed elsewhere.  

7. Therefore, it would be inappropriate to allocate a precise alignment on the Proposals Map but there is a need to ensure 

future options are not prejudiced. This policy ensures that land is safeguarded from development along the potential Metro 

corridor and also that land uses, layouts and densities are developed to take account of the potential delivery of this strategic 

transportation project.        

8. The new Local Centre on Site D and new Primary School to be located within or adjoining it will be a focus for community 

uses and activities. Facilities will also be improved in the existing neighbourhood centre in Creigiau to provide new facilities 

for existing and new residents. The precise number of Primary Schools (1/2) will depend on the outcomes of future 

monitoring and delivery options relevant when the details of later phases are being assessed through the Development 

Management process. Specifically, consideration will be given to the merits of extending the existing Primary School at 

Creigiau as an alternative to the provision of a second new school.  

P
age 648



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

Appendix Two: MAC5 New Key Policies, KP2(A) to KP2(H) 
 

9. The further future flexibility option Search Area B (to the west of the site North of Junction 33) is not included within the 

Strategic Site allocation. This would only be triggered if necessary through future Plan review following annual monitoring 

indicating that the provision of new homes is proceeding beyond anticipated rates and justifies such a release within the last 

years of the plan period. Therefore, it is considered premature to factor in potential detailed infrastructure and 

masterplanning matters at this juncture relating to this land although the schematic framework identifies potential access to 

the site. However, as a minimum, this policy sets out the need to provide potential future vehicular, walking and cycling 

access from Site D to the ‘flexibility allowance land’ to the west. The formal monitoring framework provides an evidence-

based process to inform any decisions on potential release in the last years of the plan period. 

 

P
age 649



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

Appendix Two: MAC5 New Key Policies, KP2(A) to KP2(H) 
 

KP2(F): NORTH EAST CARDIFF (WEST OF PONTPRENNAU) 

Land is allocated at North East Cardiff (West of Pontprennau), as defined on the Proposals Map, for a mixed-use 

comprehensive development of a minimum of 4,500 homes, employment and other associated community uses, 

together with essential, enabling and necessary supporting infrastructure which will be delivered in a phased 

manner with specific details formally tied into planning consents including: 

Essential/ Enabling Infrastructure 

 Transport & Highways: 

- Provision of new bus-based Rapid Transit Corridors through the site providing links between the 

District/Local Centres including Bus Gates at access point to Cardiff Gate Business Park and St Mellons 

Road at the eastern edge of the site; 

- Off-site infrastructure including bus priority measures to develop bus-based Rapid Transit Corridors 

integrating with the site, the Eastern/Northern Bus Corridors and other routes within the North Eastern 

Rapid Transit Corridor including services linked to Strategic Site G, facilitating transfer/ improving 

interchange facilities to Rhymney Line rail services at Llanishen Station and Thornhill Station, and, 

employment facilities at St Mellons Business Park and Strategic Site H; 

- Off-site enhancements including bus priority measures to the Eastern/Northern Bus Corridor; 

- Extend bus networks and increase the frequency and reliability of services to serve the site with public 

transport options for a wide range of journeys including a combination of limited stop and local bus 

services; 

 Walking and cycling: 

- On and off-site measures to provide safe, attractive and convenient routes within the site and linking to 

key local services, facilities and destinations including existing local centres and Schools at Pontprennau, 

Pentwyn, Lisvane and Cardiff Gate Business Park; 

- Links to off-site public transport destinations including Llanishen and Thornhill Rail Stations 

 

 

P
age 650



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

Appendix Two: MAC5 New Key Policies, KP2(A) to KP2(H) 
 

Necessary Infrastructure 

 1 centrally located District Centre and 1 Local Centre including Primary Care facility, Multifunctional 

community leisure facility including library facility, and financial contribution to upgrading of Llanishen 

and Pontprennau Leisure Centres;           

 Education-1 new Secondary School, 3 new Primary Schools and financial contribution to existing Primary 

Schools; 

 Minimum of 26ha Open Space including 13ha of formal recreation, 6 playgrounds including destination 

play area, 1 teen facility plus off-site contribution, and 2x 50 plot allotment sites 

 

Development shall be undertaken in a comprehensive manner and accord with the following key masterplanning 

requirements (as depicted, where appropriate, on the Schematic Framework): 

 Provide a range of densities with high density (minimum of 45-50+ dwellings per hectare) mixed-use 

development within District/Local Centres and along rapid transit corridors. Medium density (35-45+ 

dwellings per hectare) around the edge of Pontprennau and to the north of the site. Lower densities to be 

provided around the edge of Lisvane; 

 Initial phases towards the West of the site with middle phases towards the centre and south (including 

District/ Local Centres) and later phases to the north and east of the site; 

 Centrally located District/ Local Centres accessed by rapid transit corridors including interchange facilities 

between sustainable transport modes and accommodating a range of services including convenience 

goods floorspace plus other retail of a scale and nature which accord with Plan retail policies; 

 Introduce measures to reduce impact of noise from the M4; 

 Effectively integrate existing buildings into the design and layout; 

 Retain and enhance Public Right of Way network within the site and provide safe, convenient and legible 

links to the countryside North of the M4, Nant Fawr corridor, Cardiff Gate Business Park and Pontprennau; 

 Employment provision (B1 & B1(b)(c)) to be located in and adjoining the District Centre and adjacent to 

Cardiff Gate Business Park amounting to approximately 6.5ha; 

 Provide good land use and transportation integration with the adjoining areas of Lisvane and 

Pontprennau;  

P
age 651



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

Appendix Two: MAC5 New Key Policies, KP2(A) to KP2(H) 
 

 Effectively respond to landscape and biodiversity assets by: 

- Linking retained habitats through the provision of a series of open space corridors providing ecological 

connectivity, sustainable access routes and opportunities for sustainable drainage including: 

- Utilising the stream network (particularly the Nant Ty Draw, Nant Glandulais and Nant y Draenog) as 

core elements of new ecological corridors through the site; 

- Links from the Nant Fawr corridor south west of the site ensuring the corridor links to other open 

space corridors within the site; 

- Enhancing the disused rail line as a walking/ cycling and ecological corridor; 

- Links to access points to the countryside to the north west at Lisvane and underpasses below the 

M4;  

- Linking corridors where possible between the above to provide a good network;   

- Ensuring that there is no detriment to the maintenance of the favourable conservation status of Dormouse 

on the site including provision of suitable compensatory planting to supplement existing retained habitats 

including Malthouse Woods, other woodlands and hedgerows; 

- Providing suitable buffers to the Llanishen Reservoir SSSI, retained woodlands and streams referred to 

above and other habitats including hedgerows within the site; 

 Effectively respond to heritage assets by: 

- Assessing and effectively addressing potential impacts on known assets including Listed Buildings within 

and near to the site; 

 No development to take place within the C2 flood zone area forming part of the Nant Glandulais valley. 

 

1.  North East Cardiff (West of Pontprennau) is one of eight Strategic Sites which collectively play a crucial role in delivering 

the Plan Strategy. It is the second largest Strategic Site (237 ha) within the Plan and relates to countryside located between 

Lisvane to the west, Pontprennau to the east and the M4 Motorway to the north.   

2. Most of the land is owned by two landowners and.  The Site will be delivered by a number of different developers 

operating out of different outlets. This policy, together with other relevant policies, will provide the masterplanning and 

infrastructure planning framework for landowners and developers to prepare Parameter Plans and Masterplans which will 

inform the Development Management process. 

P
age 652



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

Appendix Two: MAC5 New Key Policies, KP2(A) to KP2(H) 
 

3. The scale of the site allows numerous outlets to be operating at any one time in different parts of this large site and will 

provide a wide range and choice of housing offer and opportunities for a variety of different tenures. Planning conditions and 

Planning Obligations (Section 106 Agreements) will be used to formally tie in the phased delivery of necessary supporting 

infrastructure with trigger mechanisms and thresholds used to ensure timely provision in relation to completion of new 

homes.  

4. Rapid Transit Corridors within the site will be bus-based and of sufficient width and otherwise designed, including the 

control of car parking, to allow the safe two-way passing of the largest vehicles. Bus priority measures will be provided at 

appropriate locations to allow bus rapid transit to avoid queuing traffic. Bus-based Rapid Transit Corridors will link the site to 

the Northern and Eastern Bus Corridors with off-site bus priority measures provided to assist the flow of buses. Further off-

site corridor enhancements will be provided on the Northern and Eastern Bus Corridors as shown on the Proposals Map and 

consistent with policy T2 in order to support delivery of the increased frequency and reliability of services. The integration of 

housing and supporting services and community infrastructure provides the opportunity for a high proportion of short, local 

trips to be made by walking and cycling. This will be made possible by integrating networks of high quality walking and 

cycling routes within development layouts and ensuring that the design of roads, streets, junctions and public spaces 

accommodate the natural ‘desire lines’ of people making trips on foot and by bicycle. 

5. District and Local Centres will be the focus for community uses and activities including schools in close proximity. They will 

be well located in relation to sustainable transportation options and also link into the network of green corridors largely 

based on the existing stream network.  

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 653



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

Appendix Two: MAC5 New Key Policies, KP2(A) to KP2(H) 
 

KP2(G): EAST OF PONTPRENNAU LINK ROAD 

Land is allocated East of Pontprennau Link Road, as defined on the Proposals Map, for a housing-based scheme of a 

minimum of 1,300 homes with associated community uses, together with essential, enabling and necessary 

supporting infrastructure which will be delivered in a phased manner with specific details formally tied into planning 

consents including: 

Essential/ Enabling Infrastructure 

 Transport & Highways: 

- Provision of new bus-based Rapid Transit Corridors through the site including links to the Local Centre and 

provision of Bus Gates at St Mellons Road at the north western edge of the site and Bridge Road to the south 

east of the site; 

- Off-site infrastructure including bus priority measures to develop bus-based Rapid Transit Corridors integrating 

with the site, the Eastern Bus Corridors and other routes within the North Eastern/Eastern Rapid Transit 

Corridor including services linked to Strategic Site F, facilitating transfer/ improving interchange facilities to 

Rhymney Line rail services at Llanishen Station and Thornhill Station, and, employment facilities at St Mellons 

Business Park and Strategic Site H; 

- Off-site enhancements including bus priority measures to the Eastern Bus Corridor; 

- Extend bus networks and increase the frequency and reliability of services to serve the site with public 

transport options for a wide range of journeys including a combination of limited stop and local bus services 

taking account of links with Strategic Site F; 

- Provide a bus-only route along Bridge Road 

 Walking and cycling:  

- On and off-site measures to provide a network of high quality, safe, attractive and convenient routes within the 

site and linking to key local services, facilities and destinations including employment in Pontprennau, Pentwyn 

and Cardiff Gate Business Park; 

- Improve walking/cycling access at junction of Church Road/ A4232/Heol Pontprennau; 

- Provide a safe, attractive and convenient link from the site to the Rhymney Trail: 

- Enhance subway under A48, south of St Edeyrn’s Church; 

P
age 654



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

Appendix Two: MAC5 New Key Policies, KP2(A) to KP2(H) 
 

- Provide cycle/pedestrian link between the subway under the A48 and Mill Lane, Llanrumney;  

- Upgrade Rhymney Trail to provide shared pedestrian/cycle route between subway under A48, south of St 

Edeyrn’s Church and the subway west of Pentwyn interchange 

Necessary Infrastructure 

 1 centrally located Local Centre linked to rapid transit infrastructure and school facilities including Primary Care 

facility (Branch Surgery linked to Strategic Site F), multifunctional community  facility, and financial 

contribution to upgrading of Pentwyn and Pontprennau Leisure Centres;           

 Education-1 new Primary School located in or adjacent to the local Centre and financial contribution to provision 

of Secondary School at Strategic Site F; 

 Minimum of 7.9ha Open Space including 3.9ha of formal recreation, 2 playgrounds, 1 teen facility, and 1x 26 

plot allotment site 

 

Development shall be undertaken in a comprehensive manner and accord with the following key masterplanning 

requirements (as depicted, where appropriate, on the Schematic Framework): 

 Provide a range of densities with high density (minimum of 45-50+ dwellings per hectare) alongside rapid 

transit corridor towards centre of site, medium density (35-45+ dwellings per hectare) towards the north and 

lower densities alongside the riverside park; 

 Initial phases in the south, middle phases towards the centre and later phases to the north; 

 Local Centre to accommodate a range of services including convenience goods floorspace and other retail of a 

scale and nature which accords with Plan retail policies; 

 Integrate cluster of low density buildings at St Julian’s Manor/ House; 

 Effectively respond to landscape and biodiversity assets by: 

- Linking retained habitats through the provision of a series of open space corridors providing ecological 

connectivity, sustainable access routes and opportunities for sustainable drainage including: 

- Creating a riverside park incorporating the Rhymney Trail and other Public Rights of Way on an extensive 

area of land to the east f the site with links running west into the site; 

- Retaining the green buffer along the A4232 (primarily as an ecological resource and landscape role); 

P
age 655



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

Appendix Two: MAC5 New Key Policies, KP2(A) to KP2(H) 
 

- Links from riverside park to countryside to north and Rhymney Valley to south west;  

- Linking corridors where possible between the above to provide a good network   

- Ensuring that there is no detriment to the maintenance of the favourable conservation status of Dormouse on 

the site including provision of suitable compensatory planting to supplement existing retained habitats 

including compensatory planting on the southern and eastern site boundaries; 

- Providing suitable buffers to retained habitats, particularly the hedgerows within the site; 

 Effectively respond to heritage assets by: 

- Assessing and effectively addressing potential impacts on known assets including Listed Buildings within and 

near to the site; 

- Preserving the village character around Llanedeyrn village and effectively integrate existing buildings into 

layout including protecting view of St Edeyrn’s Church from the A48; 

 Effectively respond to heritage assets by: 

- Assessing and addressing potential impacts on the Listed Buildings of Unicorn Public House, Church of St 

Edeyrn, Bridge House Farm, St Julian’s Manor House and associated curtilage structures; 

 Protect water quality of River Rhymney and Nant Mwlan; 

 Address issues with Japanese Knotweed along the River Rhymney;  

 No development to take place in C2 flood zone forming part of River Rhymney valley.  

 

1. Land East of Pontprennau Link Road forms one of eight Strategic Sites which collectively play a crucial role in delivering the 

Plan Strategy. It amounts to 80.7 ha and is located in countryside located between the Pontprennau Link Road to the West, 

River Rhymney valley to the east, the A48 to the south and the M4 Motorway to the north.   

2. Most of the land is owned by a single landowner and has the benefit of Outline Planning Permission for 1,020 homes together 

with supporting infrastructure and facilities. A Section 106 Agreement has been signed and secures the phased delivery of 

supporting infrastructure and facilities including the provision of a Primary School on site with trigger clauses securing delivery. 

3. Other parts of the site not covered by the Outline Planning Consent will be considered in the context of this policy, together 

with other relevant policies which will provide the masterplanning and infrastructure planning framework for landowners and 

developers to prepare Parameter Plans and Masterplans which will inform the Development Management process 

P
age 656



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

Appendix Three: MAC71 New Appendix - Sites over 10 dwellings with planning permission for residential 

KP2(H): SOUTH OF ST MELLONS BUSINESS PARK 

Land is allocated South of St Mellons Business Park, as defined on the Proposals Map, for a strategic employment site 

together with essential, enabling and necessary supporting infrastructure which will be delivered in a phased manner 

with specific details formally tied into planning consents including: 

Essential/ Enabling Infrastructure 

 Transport & Highways: 

- Provision of transport hub including new rail station served by relief line rail services connecting to the city 

centre and services to Cardiff Airport and London via Cardiff Central; 

- Provision of park and ride facility;  

- Off-site infrastructure including bus priority measures to develop bus-based Rapid Transit Corridors integrating 

with the site, the Eastern Bus Corridors and other routes within the North Eastern/Eastern Rapid Transit 

Corridor including services linked to the City Centre and Strategic Sites G and F; 

 Walking and Cycling: 

- Provide high quality on-site and off-site walking and cycling links and facilities to maximise walking and cycling 

access to the site from neighbouring communities including Trowbridge and St Mellons; 

 Flood mitigation/ defences:  

- Flood mitigation works including raising the development plateaus and providing compensatory flood storage 

areas south of the rail line 

Necessary Infrastructure 

 Retain the area of land to the east of Cypress Drive and Faendre Reen as green space linked with Hendre Lake 

Park;  

 If the infilling of any reen or field ditch proves to be unavoidable at the application stage it should be realigned 

(with at least an equal capacity) around the perimeter of the development or a compensatory length of ditch 

should be provided elsewhere within the site 

P
age 657



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

Appendix Three: MAC71 New Appendix - Sites over 10 dwellings with planning permission for residential 

Development shall be undertaken in a comprehensive manner and accord with the following key masterplanning 

requirements (as depicted, where appropriate, on the Schematic Framework): 

 Provide 44 ha of business land capable of accommodating up to 90,000 square metres campus style high quality 

development similar to existing business park at St Mellons in a location which benefits from Assisted Area 

Status; 

 Integrate the site with local facilities in the surrounding area; 

 Effectively respond to landscape and biodiversity assets by: 

- Protecting the value of the Gwent Levels SSSI with development being a minimum of 12.5 metres from main 

reens and 7 metres from field ditches; 

- Ensuring that all development accords with the Natural Resources Wales (formerly Countryside Council for 

Wales) Wentloog Levels guidelines “Nature Conservation and Physical Developments on the Gwent Levels – the 

current and future implications”; 

- Integrating any landscape natural features, such as existing reens and hedgerows into the design including 

provision of suitable buffers; 

- Protecting the Marshfield SINC; 

- Respecting the intricate reen network and exiting hedgerows; 

- Linking retained habitats through the provision of a series of open space corridors providing ecological 

connectivity, sustainable access routes and opportunities for sustainable drainage including: 

- Links between retained reens and hedgerows; 

- Green links to Hendre Lake Park which respond to the natural landscape value of the area; 

- Ensuring that there is no detriment to the maintenance of the favourable conservation status of the Shrill Carder 

Bee by carrying out a survey, and if found, provide appropriate compensatory measures; 

- Ensuring that there is no detriment to the maintenance of the favourable conservation status of European 

Protected Species including bats, otters and reptiles including provision of suitable compensatory planting to 

supplement existing retained habitats; 

 Effectively respond to heritage assets by: 

- Assessing and effectively addressing potential impacts on known assets including the Wentloog Levels 

Archaeologically Sensitive Area and registered Landscape of Outstanding Historic Interest; 

P
age 658



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

Appendix Three: MAC71 New Appendix - Sites over 10 dwellings with planning permission for residential 

1. This is an important employment site which contributes to the necessary range and choice of types of employment 

opportunities in the city. Its location is particularly well placed to provide accessible job opportunities to areas of known 

deprivation and its position adjacent to the main rail line offers significant opportunities for a new station together with 

supporting sustainable transportation infrastructure. This proposal is a long-standing proposal in the Regional Transport Plan, is 

identified in the emerging work on the South Wales Metro concept and has Welsh Government support. However, the precise 

location of the station is yet to be defined so it would be premature to show a specific allocation for this use on the Proposals 

Map but it is shown within the Schematic Framework and referenced within the policy. 

2. It is recognised that the area possesses environmental and flood risk constraints. In terms of environmental issues, the 

majority of the area is a Site of Special Scientific Interest with the reens forming the major interest. Run-off will enter the River 

Severn Estuary, a European designated site so drainage and potential disturbance to birds will need to be suitably addressed. 

The land also meets the qualifying criteria using the LANDMAP landscape methodology for Special Landscape Area status. 

Furthermore, there are significant historic interests and the land is designated as a Historic Landscape and Archaeologically 

Sensitive Area. 

3. These environmental and flood risk constraints have been carefully examined so that the mitigation and enhancement 

measures embedded within this policy provide an appropriate framework at this level to address these issues. These measures 

will provide a framework for landowners and developers to prepare Parameter Plans and Masterplans which will inform the 

Development Management process. In this way, the significant social and economic benefits brought forward by this allocation 

can be delivered whilst carefully responding to and putting in place the policy framework to effectively address the known 

constraints relating to the site.  

 

 

  

P
age 659



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

Appendix Three: MAC71 New Appendix - Sites over 10 dwellings with planning permission for residential 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix Three: MAC71 New Appendix - Sites over 10 dwellings with 

planning permission for residential 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 660



SITE REF SITE LOCATION
ELECTORAL 

DIVISION
TENURE

APPLICATION 
NUMBER

PERMISSION 
TYPE

DATE 
GRANTED

BROWNFIELD 
GREENFIELD

NOT 
STARTED 
(PLOTS)

NOT 
STARTED 

(AREA ha)

IN 
PROGRES
S (Plots)

IN 
PROGRESS 
(AREA ha)

COMPLETE
D (PLOTS)

COMPLETED 
AREA (ha)

TOTAL 
(PLOTS)

TOTAL 
(AREA ha)

Completed 
Plots 2013-

14

Completed Area 
2013-14

AD160 Former Eastern Hotel, 54 Metal Street Adamsdown Private 13/00013 Outline Legal Agreement Brown 14 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 14 0.10 0 0.00

AD174 Former Tredegar House, 57-58 Clifton Street Adamsdown Private 08/01716 Full Legal Agreement Brown 12 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 12 0.04 0 0.00

AD186 St James' Church, Newport Road Adamsdown Private 08/01608 Full 01/11/2011 Brown 12 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 12 0.18 0 0.00

AD188 86-89 Adam Street Adamsdown Private 07/02883 Outline 17/10/2008 Brown 0 0.00 16 0.00 0 0.00 16 0.05 0 0.00

AD212 Bronte Hostel, 158-164 Newport Road Adamsdown HA 10/02302 Full 31/10/2011 Brown 38 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 38 0.18 0 0.00

AD213 Former Rumpoles, Moira Terrace Adamsdown HA 13/00536 Full 04/10/2013 Brown 49 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 49 0.04 0 0.00

BU107i Land West of Dumballs Road Butetown Private 07/01637 Outline 16/05/2011 Brown 1,656 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 1,656 10.64 0 0.00

BU107ii Land West of Dumballs Road Butetown HA 07/01637 Outline 16/05/2011 Brown 414 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 414 2.66 0 0.00

BU109 15-17 Harrowby Street Butetown Private 08/00082 Outline Legal Agreement Brown 20 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 20 0.07 0 0.00

BU118 Sterling Works, Clarence Road Butetown HA 11/01168 Outline 18/03/2013 Brown 0 0.00 19 0.00 0 0.00 19 0.04 0 0.00

BU123A Brandon Tool Hire, 151 Bute Street Butetown Private 13/00143 Outline Legal Agreement Brown 28 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 28 0.10 0 0.00

BU123B Brandon Tool Hire, 151 Bute Street Butetown HA 13/00143 Outline Legal Agreement Brown 11 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 11 0.10 0 0.00

BU32A Land at Roath Basin (WDA) Butetown Private 08/01736 Outline 15/01/2010 Brown 758 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 758 4.32 0 0.00

BU32B Land at Roath Basin (WDA) Butetown HA 08/01736 Outline 15/01/2010 Brown 252 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 252 1.44 0 0.00

BU86A Former Post Office and adjoining car park, Bute StreetButetown Private 03/01531 Full Legal Agreement Brown 75 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 75 0.12 0 0.00

BU86Ai Corys Building, Bute Street Butetown Private 06/02527 Full Legal Agreement Brown 24 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 24 0.03 0 0.00

BU86B Former Post Office and adjoining car park, Bute StreetButetown HA 03/01531 Full Legal Agreement Brown 11 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 11 0.12 0 0.00

BU95 Cadogan House & adj Land, West Bute St & James StButetown Private 05/00127 Full 09/11/2005 Brown 0 0.00 23 0.00 0 0.00 23 0.03 0 0.00

BU97A 130-132 Bute Street ,"Dixie" Butetown Private 07/02550 Full Legal Agreement Brown 43 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 43 0.04 0 0.00

BU98 Hannah Street Church, Hannah Street Butetown HA 13/01239 Full Legal Agreement Brown 14 0.05 0 0.00 0 0.00 14 0.05 0 0.00

BU99 Coal Exchange, Mount Stuart Square Butetown Private 12/00015 Full Legal Agreement Brown 116 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 116 0.43 0 0.00

CN137A Former Arjo Wiggins Paper Mill Site, Paper Mill RoadCanton Private 12/01663 Outline Legal Agreement Brown 535 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 535 13.72 0 0.00

CN137B Former Arjo Wiggins Paper Mill Site, Paper Mill RoadCanton HA 12/01663 Outline Legal Agreement Brown 191 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 191 5.88 0 0.00

CN145 635 Cowbridge Road East Canton Private 07/02384 Outline Legal Agreement Brown 24 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 24 0.10 0 0.00

CN155 The Maltings, Cowbridge Road East Canton HA 11/02190 Full 30/11/2012 Brown 0 0.00 26 0.00 0 0.00 26 0.15 0 0.00

CN164 Canton Police Station, Cowbridge Road East Canton HA 13/02071 Full Legal Agreement Brown 17 0.06 0 0.00 0 0.00 17 0.06 0 0.00

CS138 Junction of Lucas Street, Fanny Street & Gwyneth StreetCathays Private 10/00710 Full 26/07/2011 Brown 0 0.00 10 0.00 0 0.00 10 0.18 0 0.00

CS139 CCC Offices Wood Street Cathays Private 08/01741 Full Legal Agreement Brown 220 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 220 0.30 0 0.00

CS174i Land at Thomson House, Park Street Cathays Private 10/00431 Outline 30/12/2010 Brown 211 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 211 0.22 0 0.00

CS174ii Land at Thomson House, Park Street (Affordable Housing)Cathays HA 10/00431 Outline 30/12/2010 Brown 20 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 20 0.06 0 0.00

CS176 41 Charles Street Cathays Private 05/00003 Full 08/03/2006 Brown 0 0.00 11 0.00 0 0.00 11 0.04 0 0.00

CS178 Texaco Service Station, 188-198 Cathays Terrace Cathays Private 06/02351 Full 24/06/2008 Brown 0 0.00 14 0.00 0 0.00 14 0.10 0 0.00

CS181 St Martin's Parish Hall Site, Alexander Street Cathays Private 07/00891 Full 11/02/2008 Brown 0 0.00 16 0.00 0 0.00 16 0.06 0 0.00

CS191i Marcol Court, Churchill Way Cathays Private 07/03013 Outline Legal Agreement Brown 103 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 103 0.34 0 0.00

CS191ii Marcol Court, Churchill Way Cathays HA 07/03013 Outline Legal Agreement Brown 44 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 44 0.14 0 0.00

CU52 Land at Heol Trelai Caerau HA 13/00859 Full 18/10/2013 Brown 0 0.00 40 0.00 0 0.00 40 0.60 0 0.00

CU77i r/o Western Leisure Centre Careau Private 11/00672 Outline 10/02/2012 Brown 57 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 57 1.60 0 0.00

CU77ii r/o Western Leisure Centre Careau HA 11/00672 Outline 10/02/2012 Brown 25 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 25 0.50 0 0.00

EL55 70 Mill Road Ely Private 12/01130 Full 24/04/2013 Brown 0 0.00 11 0.00 0 0.00 11 0.06 0 0.00

EL84A Land off Clos y Cwarra Ely Private 13/00444 Outline Legal Agreement Green 30 0.44 0 0.00 0 0.00 30 0.44 0 0.00

EL84B Land off Clos Y Cwarra Ely HA 13/00444 Outline Legal Agreement Green 20 0.20 0 0.00 0 0.00 20 0.20 0 0.00

FA52A Land between 53-81 Gorse Place Fairwater HA 12/02186 Full 07/08/2013 Green 16 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 16 0.19 0 0.00

FA87 52 Beechley Drive Fairwater Private 13/02545 Full 11/03/2014 Brown 10 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 10 0.07 0 0.00

FA89 60-72 Beechley Drive Fairwater HA 12/01386 Full 25/01/2012 Brown 13 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 13 0.36 0 0.00

GA52A Briardene North Road Gabalfa Private 09/00161 Outline 15/09/2011 Brown 33 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 33 0.28 0 0.00

GA52B Briardene North Road Gabalfa HA 09/00161 Outline 15/09/2011 Brown 15 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 15 0.12 0 0.00

GA55 Land at Talybont Gate, Bevan Place Gabalfa Private 11/01414 Full 24/05/2012 Brown 0 0.00 22 0.00 0 0.00 22 0.25 0 0.00

GR108i Cambrian Marina, Ely Harbour, Ferry Road Grangetown Private 13/00310 Outline Legal Agreement Brown 125 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 125 0.32 0 0.00

GR138i Cardiff Bus Depot, Sloper Road Grangetown Private 07/02973 Outline Legal Agreement Brown 183 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 183 2.18 0 0.00

GR138ii Cardiff Bus Depot, Sloper Road Grangetown HA 07/02973 Outline Legal Agreement Brown 79 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 79 0.94 0 0.00

GR156A Land at Wholesale Fruit Centre, Bessemer Road Grangetown Private 10/01432 Full Legal Agreement Brown 215 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 215 6.00 0 0.00

GR156B Land at Wholesale Fruit Centre, Bessemer Road Grangetown HA 10/01432 Full Legal Agreement Brown 35 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 35 1.00 0 0.00

GR158 Bay Pointe (ISV) Grangetown Private 12/00937 Full 05/04/2013 Brown 524 0.00 33 0.00 4 0.00 561 5.60 4 0.04

GR159 Car Park/Pool (ISV) Grangetown Private 12/00934 Full 05/04/2013 Brown 79 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 79 0.99 0 0.00

GR160A Morrisons (ISV) Grangetown Private 12/00935 Full 05/04/2013 Brown 29 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 29 0.15 0 0.00

GR160B Morrisons Affordable ISV) Grangetown HA 12/00935 Full 05/04/2013 Brown 34 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 34 0.30 0 0.00

GR161A Watkiss Way (ISV) Grangetown Private 13/00829 RM 18/07/2013 Brown 35 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 35 0.42 0 0.00

GR161B Watkiss Way Affordable (ISV) Grangetown HA 13/00829 RM 18/07/2013 Brown 66 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 66 0.65 0 0.00

GR166 ISV Ice Rink Site Grangetown Private 12/01861 Outline 17/06/2013 Brown 213 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 213 0.20 0 0.00

GR65A Prospect Place, off Ferry Road (Bellway) Grangetown Private 10/00811 Full 28/06/2010 Brown 0 0.00 240 0.00 493 0.00 733 4.60 0 0.00

GR65B Prospect Place, off Ferry Road (Affordable Housing) Grangetown HA 06/00613 Full 27/10/2006 Brown 0 0.00 6 0.00 83 0.00 89 0.17 0 0.00

CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL HOUSING MONITORING SCHEDULE 31st MARCH 2014 24

P
age 661



SITE REF SITE LOCATION
ELECTORAL 

DIVISION
TENURE

APPLICATION 
NUMBER

PERMISSION 
TYPE

DATE 
GRANTED

BROWNFIELD 
GREENFIELD

NOT 
STARTED 
(PLOTS)

NOT 
STARTED 

(AREA ha)

IN 
PROGRES
S (Plots)

IN 
PROGRESS 
(AREA ha)

COMPLETE
D (PLOTS)

COMPLETED 
AREA (ha)

TOTAL 
(PLOTS)

TOTAL 
(AREA ha)

Completed 
Plots 2013-

14

Completed Area 
2013-14

HE75 Thornbury House, Thornbury Close Heath Private 11/00238 Outline Legal Agreement Brown 10 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 10 0.10 0 0.00

LD125 18 High Street Llandaff Private 09/01810 Full 13/05/2010 Brown 11 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 11 0.08 0 0.00

LD129 The Retreat, Pwllmelin Road Llandaff Private 10/00846 Full 08/06/2011 Brown 20 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 20 0.20 0 0.00

LN52 Old Vaughan's Laundry Site Llandaff North Private 13/00273 RM 02/05/2013 Brown 10 0.00 9 0.00 4 0.00 23 0.54 4 0.09

LN52i Old Vaughan's Laundry Site Llandaff North HA 13/00273 RM 02/05/2013 Brown 5 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 5 0.38 0 0.00

LR30 735 Newport Road Llanrumney Private 08/01905 Outline 01/04/2011 Brown 13 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 13 0.12 0 0.00

LR36A Cardiff Council Housing Depot, Mount Pleasant LaneLlanrumney Private 12/00579 Outline 13/07/2012 Brown 15 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 15 0.32 0 0.00

LS185 Land at Chiltern Close Llanishen Private 13/01923 Outline Legal Agreement Brown 70 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 70 0.50 0 0.00

LV06 Land south of Lisvane Road Lisvane Private 11/01300 Full 27/03/2013 Green 40 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 40 2.04 0 0.00

LV128A Land off Cefn Mably Road Lisvane Private 13/00649 Full 27/02/2014 Green 41 1.80 0 0.00 0 0.00 41 1.80 0 0.00

LV128B Land off Cefn Mably Road Lisvane HA 13/00649 Full 27/02/2014 Green 10 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 10 1.00 0 0.00

LV76 Balmoral Close Lisvane Private 11/01301 Full 27/03/2013 Green 24 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 24 2.02 0 0.00

NP58 Land at Church Road Pontprennau/ Old St. MPrivate 04/03065 Outline 19/10/2011 Brown 45 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 45 1.34 0 0.00

PL109 Former Warehouse, Elm Street Plasnewydd Private 13/00867 Full 11/06/2013 Brown 0 0.00 10 0.00 0 0.00 10 0.11 0 0.00

PL178 122-130 Albany Road Plasnewydd Private 08/02018 Full Legal Agreement Brown 12 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 12 0.02 0 0.00

PL179A 217-223 Newport Road Plasnewydd Private 08/01551 Full 21/09/2011 Brown 47 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 47 0.22 0 0.00

PL179B 217-223 Newport Road Plasnewydd HA 08/01551 Full 21/09/2011 Brown 6 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 6 0.02 0 0.00

PL186 57a Richards Place Plasnewydd Private 09/02063 Outline Legal Agreement Brown 11 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 11 0.03 0 0.00

PL205 Gibbons Yard, Richmond Road Plasnewydd Private 10/01936 Full 26/08/2011 Brown 39 0.00 10 0.00 0 0.00 49 0.31 0 0.00

PL214 21-27 City Road Plasnewydd Private 12/01260 Outline Legal Agreement Brown 26 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 26 0.10 0 0.00

PW22A Maelfa Centre, Llanedeyrn Drive Pentwyn Private 11/01082 Outline 16/09/2011 Brown 83 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 83 0.95 0 0.00

PW22B Maelfa Centre, Llanedeyrn Drive Pentwyn HA 11/01082 Outline 16/09/2011 Brown 21 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 21 0.40 0 0.00

RO109 22 Ty Gwyn Road Penylan Private 08/00581 Full 01/04/2011 Brown 10 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 10 0.12 0 0.00

RO120A Ty Gwyn School Penylan Private 12/00438 RM 12/07/2012 Brown 0 0.00 12 0.00 7 0.00 19 1.00 7 0.37

RO120B Ty Gwyn School Penylan HA 12/00438 RM 12/07/2012 Brown 0 0.00 0 0.00 4 0.00 4 0.44 4 0.44

RO69 Land at White Lodge, Ty Gwyn Ave. Penylan Private 10/00675 Full 23/09/2010 Brown 2 0.00 0 0.00 9 0.00 11 1.40 0 0.00

RO99A Land to West of Equinox (Colchester Ave) Penylan Private 12/01240 Full 16/09/2013 Brown 14 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 14 0.20 0 0.00

RU71 599 Newport Road Rumney Private 04/00374 Outline Legal Agreement Brown 24 0.25 0 0.00 0 0.00 24 0.25 0 0.00

RV171 Wellington House, Wellington Street Riverside Private 08/00809 Full 16/09/2009 Brown 44 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 44 0.22 0 0.00

RV174 St Winefrides Nursing Home, 24 Romily Crescent Riverside Private 10/01326 Full 19/05/2011 Brown 76 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 76 1.03 0 0.00

RV183 3 - 5 Brook Street Riverside Private 10/00179 Full 03/07/2013 Brown 0 0.00 10 0.00 0 0.00 10 0.03 0 0.00

RV184 Pontcanna Pine, 200 King's Road Riverside Private 10/00232 Full 09/05/2011 Brown 0 0.00 14 0.00 0 0.00 14 0.07 0 0.00

RV199 4 Cathedral Road Riverside Private 13/01217 Full Legal Agreement Brown 14 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 14 0.01 0 0.00

RV200 Land to the West of Albert Street Riverside HA 13/01734 Full 20/02/2014 Brown 0 0.05 10 0.00 0 0.00 10 0.05 0 0.00

RV203 Riverside House, 31 Cathedral Road Riverside Private 13/00918 Full Legal Agreement 20 0.09 0 0.00 0 0.00 20 0.09 0 0.00

SF39A Michaelston Road Criegiau/St Fagans Private 12/01810 RM 11/03/2013 Green 67 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 67 2.00 0 0.00

SF39B Michaelston Road Criegiau/St Fagans HA 12/01810 RM 11/03/2013 Green 16 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 16 1.00 0 0.00

SF40A Land North & West of Great House Farm Criegiau/St Fagans Private 13/00435 Outline 27/02/2014 Green 15 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 15 0.60 0 0.00

SF40B Land North & West of Great House Farm Criegiau/St Fagans HA 13/00435 Outline 27/02/2014 Green 4 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 4 0.20 0 0.00

SM65A Land adj to Blooms Garden Centre Pontprennau/ Old St. MPrivate 13/01172 Outline Legal Agreement Green 46 1.60 0 0.00 0 0.00 46 1.60 0 0.00

SM65B Land adj to Blooms Garden Centre Pontprennau/ Old St. MHA 13/01172 Outline Legal Agreement Green 20 1.20 0 0.00 0 0.00 20 1.20 0 0.00

SP120 The Grosvenor Hotel, South Park Road Splott Private 11/02004 Full 12/04/2013 Brown 0 0.00 12 0.00 12 0.00 24 0.06 12 0.03

SP132 Land to South Side, Moorland Road Splott HA 13/01313 Full Legal Agreement Brown 15 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 15 0.13 0 0.00

SP133 Land at Sanquhar Street Splott HA 13/02674 Full Legal Agreement Brown 26 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 26 0.27 0 0.00

SP84 The Bayside, East Tyndall Street Splott Private 07/00333 Full Legal Agreement Brown 32 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 32 0.13 0 0.00

SP99A Splott Market, Lewis Road Splott Private 06/02474 RM 14/12/2006 Brown 0 0.00 15 0.00 77 0.00 92 0.45 0 0.00

TR133A Land between Crickhowell Road and Willowbrook DriveTrowbridge Private 10/01246 Outline 08/09/2010 Green 115 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 115 1.10 0 0.00

TR133B Land between Crickhowell Road and Willowbrook DriveTrowbridge HA 10/01246 Outline 08/09/2010 Green 50 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 50 0.02 0 0.00

TR140A Land off Crumlin Drive Trowbridge HA 08/01173 Full 04/03/2009 Brown 10 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 10 0.33 0 0.00

TR151 The Hendre Pub, 157 Hendre Road Trowbridge Private 13/01186 Full Legal Agreement Brown 15 0.18 0 0.00 0 0.00 15 0.18 0 0.00

TR85A Part area 11, St Mellons  (CCHA) Trowbridge HA 09/00796 Outline 21/01/2011 Green 56 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 56 1.43 0 0.00

TR87Di Part of Area 9, Land south of the Beacon Centre, Harrison DriveTrowbridge HA 08/02456 RM Legal Agreement Brown 15 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 15 0.30 0 0.00

WH71A Whitchurch Hospital Whit/Tongwynlais Private 10/02301 Outline 09/01/2014 Brown 248 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 248 6.70 0 0.00

WH71B Whitchurch Hospital Whit/Tongwynlais HA 10/02301 Outline 09/01/2014 Brown 82 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 82 2.21 0 0.00

CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL HOUSING MONITORING SCHEDULE 31st MARCH 2014 25

P
age 662



SITE REF SITE LOCATION
ELECTORAL 

DIVISION
TENURE

APPLICATION 
NUMBER

PERMISSION 
TYPE

DATE 
GRANTED

BROWNFIELD 
GREENFIELD

NOT 
STARTED 
(PLOTS)

NOT 
STARTED 

(AREA ha)

IN 
PROGRES
S (Plots)

IN 
PROGRESS 
(AREA ha)

COMPLETE
D (PLOTS)

COMPLETED 
AREA (ha)

TOTAL 
(PLOTS)

TOTAL 
(AREA ha)

Completed 
Plots 2013-

14

Completed Area 
2013-14

TOTALS 8,343 5.92 589 0.00 693 0.00 9,625 108 31 0.97

CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL HOUSING MONITORING SCHEDULE 31st MARCH 2014 26

P
age 663



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

Appendix Four MAC74   New Appendix Supplementary Planning Guidance 

Appendix Four MAC74   New Appendix Supplementary Planning Guidance 

New Appendix – Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) 

The Table below provides a list of SPG to support the Plan with a timetable for preparation.  This list will be kept under review in 

light of changing priorities for preparation and the need for additional SPG.  The requirement for preparation/review of SPG is 
linked to the Monitoring Framework.   
 

 
Supplementary Planning 

Guidance 
 

 
Current Status /Proposed Action 

 
Relevant Plan Policy 

 
Indicative Date for 

Production 

Design and Parking 
Guidance (incorporating 

Access, Circulation and 
Parking Requirements 
SPG and sustainable 

design guidance) 

Current adopted SPG to the Local Plan 
 

To be revised to link to adopted LDP updated 
and extended.  
 

New planning obligations SPG to pick up 
S106 issues from Transportation SPG 

T5 Within 6 months of 
adoption 

Affordable Housing Current adopted SPG to the Local Plan 
 

To be revised to link to adopted LDP  
 
New planning obligations SPG to pick up 

S106 issues 

H3 Within 6 months of 
adoption 

Open Space Current adopted SPG to the Local Plan 

 
To be revised to link to adopted LDP  

 
New planning obligations SPG to pick up 
S106 issues 

C4 Within 6 months of 

adoption 

Houses in Multiple 
Occupation 

New SPG H5 Within 6 months of 
adoption 

P
age 664



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

Appendix Four MAC74   New Appendix Supplementary Planning Guidance 

Planning Obligations 

 
 incorporating Developer 
Contributions for 

Transport facilities and 
relevant sections from 

the following SPGs: 
 

 Affordable Housing 

 Access, Circulation 
and Parking 

Requirements 
 Open Space 
 Schools 

 Public Art 
 PROW 

 Community 
Facilities 

 Trees and 

Development 
 Waste Collection 

and Storage 
Facilities 

 Biodiversity 

New SPG KP7 Within 12 months of 

adoption 

Locating Waste 
Management Facilities 

Current adopted SPG to the Local Plan 
 

To be revised to link to adopted LDP 
 

W2 Within 12 months of 
adoption 

Central Shopping Area 
Protected Frontages 

New SPG  R3 Within 12 months of 
adoption 

Flooding New SPG EN14 Within 12 months of 
adoption 

 

P
age 665



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

Appendix Four MAC74   New Appendix Supplementary Planning Guidance 

Natural Heritage 

Network 

New SPG KP16, EN3 - 8 Within 12 months of 

adoption 

Design Guidance and 

Standards for Flat 
Conversions 

New SPG H5 Within 12 months of 

adoption 

Infill Sites Design 
Guidance 

Current adopted SPG to the Local Plan 
 
To be revised to link to adopted LDP 

 
 

KP5 Within 18 months of 
adoption 

Tall Buildings Guidance Current adopted SPG to the Local Plan 
 

To be revised to link to adopted LDP 

KP5 Within 18 months of 
adoption 

Householder Design 

Guidance 

Current adopted SPG to the Local Plan 

 
To be revised to link to adopted LDP 

KP5 Within 18 months of 

adoption 

Shop Fronts and Signs 

Guidance 

Current adopted SPG to the Local Plan 

 
To be revised to link to adopted LDP 

KP5 Within 18 months of 

adoption 

Public Art Guidance Current adopted SPG to the Local Plan 
 

To be revised to link to adopted LDP 
 
New planning obligations SPG to pick up 

S106 issues 

KP5 Within 18 months of 
adoption 

Public Rights of Way and 

Development 

Current adopted SPG to the Local Plan.  

 
To be revised and updated to link to adopted 

LDP 
 
New planning obligations SPG to pick up 

S106 issues 
 

T1 Within 18 months of 

adoption 

P
age 666



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

Appendix Four MAC74   New Appendix Supplementary Planning Guidance 

Protection of 

Employment Land and 
Premises for Business, 
Industry and 

Warehousing 

Current adopted SPG to the Local Plan.  

 
To be revised and updated to link to adopted 
LDP 

 
 

 

EC1,EC3 Within 18 months of 

adoption 

Food Drink and Leisure 

Uses 
 

Current adopted SPGs to the Local Plan. 

 
To be merged together and revised and 
updated to link to adopted LDP 

 

R7 Within 18 months of 

adoption 
 

Premises for Eating, 
Drinking & 
Entertainment in Cardiff 

City Centre 

Trees and Development Current adopted SPG to the Local Plan  

 
To be revised and updated to link to adopted 

LDP  
 
New planning obligations SPG to pick up 

S106 issues 

EN8 Within 18 months of 

adoption 

Community Facilities and 

Residential Development 

Current adopted SPG to the Local Plan  

 
To be revised and updated to link to adopted 

LDP  
 
New planning obligations SPG to pick up 

S106 issues 

C1 Within 18 months of 

adoption 

Childcare Facilities Current adopted SPG to the Local Plan  

 
To be revised and updated to link to adopted 

LDP  
 

EC2 Within 18 months of 

adoption 

P
age 667



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                           Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

Appendix Four MAC74   New Appendix Supplementary Planning Guidance 

 

 

 

 

 

Waste Collection and 

Storage Facilities 

Current adopted SPG to the Local Plan  

 
To be revised and updated to link to adopted 
LDP  

 
New planning obligations SPG to pick up 

S106 issues 

W3 Within 18 months of 

adoption 

Biodiversity Current adopted SPG to the Local  

 
To be revised and updated to link to adopted 
LDP  

 
New planning obligations SPG to pick up 

S106 issues 

EN5,EN6, EN7 Within 18 months of 

adoption 

Archaeologically 

Sensitive Areas  

Current adopted SPG to the Local Plan  

 
To be revised and updated to link to adopted 
LDP  

 

KP17, EN9 Within 18 months of 

adoption 

Health New SPG to be prepared C7 Within 18 months of 

adoption 

Gypsy and Traveller Sites New SPG to be prepared H8 Within 18 months of 

adoption 

P
age 668



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                   Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

6. Monitoring and Implementation 

6.1 Monitoring the effect of planning policies is the principle way through which the 

effectiveness of implementing the LDP can be assessed. The monitoring process helps 

to positively identify key issues and questions such as: 

 Which policies are being implemented successfully – i.e. their effectiveness in 

determining planning applications and in withstanding appeals. 

 Whether policies are having their intended output. 

 If policies are not working well, what actions are needed to address them? 

 What changes to the evidence base has occurred or needs to take place? 

 What gaps can be identified that should be addressed by the LDP? 

 If an amendment of policies or complete review of the LDP is required. 

 

6.2 The Council is required to submit an Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) to Welsh 

Government by 31st October each year following adoption of the LDP as set out in 

Section 37 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Development Plan) Regulations 

2005 (the Regulations). Having a clear mechanism for the monitoring of the LDP is one 

of the ‘Tests of Soundness’ considered in the Examination of the LDP by the Planning 

Inspector. 

6.3 The LDP Manual explains that the Annual Monitoring Report process should not just 

be about data collection, but about taking a forward looking action-orientated approach 

which may raise issues that need to be addressed and will help form the basis for a 

review of the LDP. 

6.4 The LDP is subject to a four year review period with an interim target therefore of 

Autumn 2019. However, a full review revision of the LDP is only likely to be required in 

certain circumstances, for example where new legislation or guidance is released, 

significant changes to forecasts occur or where LDP objectives are not being effectively 

delivered. It is a combination of all of these factors, together with the issues raised in 

the AMR which may warrant consideration of a partial or full review. It would not be 

based solely on whether an individual target was being met or policy having a specific 

outcome. 

6.5 The LDP Manual acknowledges that data cannot be collected for every policy in the 

Plan; it would lead to an unnecessarily large and complicated document. It suggests 

that key policy areas are monitored consistently to allow for trends to be recognised. 

Where possible, use will be made of existing information being collected. 

6.6 It is important to recognise that the monitoring process can be a complex task, 

particularly where there is a lack of consistent data or if there is doubt an outcome can 

be solely attributed to development plan policies. There may also be difficulties in 

monitoring certain impacts on an annual basis when some changes take a longer time 

Page 669



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                   Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

to materialise. Therefore, careful attention has been given to gathering the right 

volume and grain of data. 

6.7 A set of indicators have been comprised which will act as a benchmark in 

measuring performance. Indicators will be noted as either ‘Contextual’, ‘Core’ or 

‘Local’. 

 Contextual Indicators – These are broad indicators which help monitor the 

effectiveness of the LDP at a strategic level and are designed to given an overall 

picture of how Cardiff as a whole is performing. 

 Core Indicators – The Local Development Plan Manual (2006) sets out a number 

of core output indicators which are considered to be essential for assessing 

implementation of national policy. 

 Local Indicators – The Council has identified local indicators which are more 

specific to Cardiff and considered important in monitoring the effectiveness of 

the LDP. 

6.8 All indicators are linked to monitoring target which set out the position that needs 

to be achieved in order to help deliver the LDP Strategy. If monitoring targets are not 

being met, trigger points are included to assess the extent to which circumstances 

have diverged from the target. The trigger points will indicate if certain parts of the 

Plan are not achieving their desired outcomes. If these trigger points are activated then 

the AMR will consider the necessary action which is required. 

6.8 In setting trigger points, the principle adopted has been to set strict activation 

points rather than building in wide margins of delivery significantly below or above the 

target based on Plan policies. Therefore, where trigger points are based on numerical 

delivery rates, a trigger of 10% above or below the target has been adopted. In this 

way trigger activation enables the understanding of the reasons lying behind and 

consideration of whether any improvements can be made to make Plan implementation 

as effective as possible.  

6.9 In this respect, careful consideration will be given to the likely underlying reasons 

for the activation of any trigger points. This will inform whether reasons reflect external 

factors or national trends largely outside the scope of the effectiveness of LDP policy 

implementation or whether reasons may be more directly related to the Plan or local 

factors. In such situations a range of appropriate corrective actions can be considered. 

Such actions are set out in more detail fully below. 

6.10 Options are available to the Council with respect to each indicator, monitoring 

target and trigger point. The AMR will assess the severity of the situation associated 

with each indicator and recommend an appropriate response in accordance with the 

following table: 

 

 

Page 670



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                   Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

Continue Monitoring (Green) 

Where indicators are suggesting the LDP Policies are being 
implemented effectively and there is no cause for review 

Training Required (Blue) 

Where indicators are suggesting that LDP policies are not being 
implemented as intended and further officer or Member training is 
required. 

Supplementary Planning Guidance Required (Purple) 

Indicators may suggest the need for further guidance to be provided 

in addition to those already in the Plan. 

Further Research (Yellow) 

Where indicators are suggesting the LDP policies are not being as 
effective as they should, further research and investigation is 
required. 

Policy Review (Orange) 

Where indicators are suggesting the LDP policies are failing to 

implement the strategy a formal review of the Policy is required. 
Further investigation and research may be required before a 
decision to formally review is confirmed/. 

Plan Review (Red) 

Where indicators are suggesting the LDP strategy is failing and a 
formal review of the Plan is required. This option to fully review the 

Plan will need to be fully investigated and undertaken following 
serious consideration. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 671



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                       Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

CONTEXTUAL INDICATORS TARGET TRIGGER SOURCE 

Annual unemployment rate The annual unemployment rate 

decreases 

The annual unemployment rate 

increases for two or more 
consecutive years. 

Regional Labour Market 

Statistics (ONS) and Stats Wales 

% of population in the 100 most 
deprived wards in Wales 

The percentage of population in 

the 100 most deprived wards in 
Wales decreases 

The percentage of population in 
the 100 most deprived wards in 
Wales increases for 2 or more 

consecutive years 

Welsh Index of Multiple 
Deprivation 

Level of Police recorded crime in 

Cardiff 

Police Recorded Crime rates 

decrease 

Police Recorded Crime rates 

increase for two or more 
consecutive years. 

Local Crime Statistics, Home 

Office (ONS) 

Percentage of adults meeting 

recommended guidelines for 
physical activity 

The percentage of adults 
meeting recommended 

guidelines for physical activity 
increases annually over the Plan 
period 

The percentage of adults 
meeting recommended 

guidelines for physical activity 
decreases for two or more 
consecutive years 

Wales Health Survey 

Waste reduction rate 
Waste reduction rate of 1.2% 
annually to 2050 

The waste reduction rate falls 
below 1.2% for two or more 

consecutive years 

CCC Waste Management Section 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 672



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                       Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

OBJECTIVE 1 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS AND PROVIDE THE NECESSARY INFRASTRUCTURE TO 
DELIVER DEVELOPMENT 

MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANTS 
LDP POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

OB1 EC1 KP2, KP9, EC1-
EC6 

CORE 
Employment 
land permitted 

(ha) on allocated 
sites as a 

percentage of all 
employment 
allocations 

None None When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment will 

be undertaken to 
identify the 

underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 

corrective actions 
as appropriate 

including plan 
review, changes to 
supporting 

guidance or 
whether the 

underlying reasons 
do not require 

changes to the 
Plan. 

 Council Business 
and Industrial 
Monitoring 

Schedule 
 Council Business 

Class Office 
Schedule 

OB1 EC2 KP2, KP9, EC1-

EC6 

CORE 

Annual 
Employment 

land take up 
(based on 

completions) in 
Cardiff (including 
on Strategic 

Sites - Policy 
KP2) 

Offices (B1) = 

27,000-33,400 
sqm annually.           

 
Industrial (B1 

b/c, B2, B8) = 4 
to 7 ha annually 

Offices (B1) = 

Take up is more 
than 10% above 

or below the 
target for 2 or 

more 
consecutive 
years Industrial 

(B1 b/c, B2, B8) 
= Take up is 

more than 10% 

When a trigger 

point is activated 
an assessment will 

be undertaken to 
identify the 

underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 

corrective actions 
as appropriate 

including plan 

 Council Business 

and Industrial 
Monitoring 

Schedule 
 Council Business 

Class Office 
Schedule 

P
age 673



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                       Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

above or below 
the target for 2 
or more 

consecutive 
years 

review, changes to 
supporting 
guidance or 

whether the 
underlying reasons 

do not require 
changes to the 

Plan. 

OB1 EC3 KP2, EC1-EC7 LOCAL 
Amount of 

employment 
land  lost to non 

-employment 
uses in primary 

and local 
employment 
sites (Policy 

EC1) 

No loss of 
employment land 

(Policy EC1) 
unless in 

accordance with 
Policy EC3 

Loss of one or 
more occupied 

premises or 
parcel of land on 

primary or local 
employment 

sites (Policy 
EC1) unless in 
accordance with 

Policy EC3 

When a trigger 
point is activated 

an assessment will 
be undertaken to 

identify the 
underlying causes 

and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 

as appropriate 
including plan 

review, changes to 
supporting 
guidance or 

whether the 
underlying reasons 

do not require 
changes to the 
Plan. 

 Council Business 
and Industrial 

Monitoring 
Schedule 

 Council Business 
Class Office 

Schedule  
 Council Monitoring 

– Planning 

Applications and 
Consents  

OB1 EC4 KP2(A), KP9, 
EC1-EC6 

LOCAL  
Employment 

provision on 
Allocated Sites – 

(KP2 A – Cardiff 
Central 
Enterprise Zone) 

Employment 
densities for B1 

use at least 14.5  
per sqm (gross 

external value)  

No trigger is set 
at present but 

will be revised 
once further 

details are 
known. 

N/A  Council Business 
and Industrial 

Monitoring 
Schedule 

 Council Business 
Class Office 
Schedule 

P
age 674



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                       Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

 

OB1 EC5 KP2(C), KP9, 

EC1-EC6 

LOCAL  

Employment 
provision on 
Allocated Sites – 

(KP2 C – North 
West Cardiff ) 

15,000 sqm (B1 

& B1 (B&C)  

No trigger is set 

at present but 
will be revised 
once further 

details are 
known. 

N/A  Council Business 

and Industrial 
Monitoring 
Schedule 

 Council Business 
Class Office 

Schedule 

OB1 EC6 KP2(D&E), KP9, 

EC1-EC6 

LOCAL 

Employment 
provision on 
Allocated Sites – 

(KP2 D&E – 
North of J33 + 

South of 
Creigiau) 

3 ha by J33 plus 

2.5 ha flexible 
local 
employment 

space 

No trigger is set 

at present but 
will be revised 
once further 

details are 
known. 

N/A  Council Business 

and Industrial 
Monitoring 
Schedule 

 Council Business 
Class Office 

Schedule 

OB1 EC7 KP2(F), KP9, 
EC1-EC6 

LOCAL 
Employment 
provision on 

Allocated Sites 
(KP2 F – North 

East Cardiff) 

6.5 ha (B1 & B1 
(B&C) 

No trigger is set 
at present but 
will be revised 

once further 
details are 

known. 

N/A  Council Business 
and Industrial 
Monitoring 

Schedule 
 Council Business 

Class Office 
Schedule 

OB1 EC8 KP2 (H), KP9, 
EC1-EC6 

LOCAL 
Employment 
provision on 

Allocated Sites – 
(KP2 H – South 

of St Mellons 
Business Park 

80,000 to 
90,000 
sqm  (B1(b)/(c) 

No trigger is set 
at present but 
will be revised 

once further 
details are 

known. 

N/A  Council Business 
and Industrial 
Monitoring 

Schedule 
 Council Business 

Class Office 
Schedule 

OB1 EC9 KP2, KP9, EC1-
EC8 

LOCAL 
Net job creation 
over the 

19,100 by 2026 
or 1,736 
annually. Target 

If annual 
creation of new 
jobs falls more 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment will 

 ONS (Annual 
Business Inquiry 
& Annual 

P
age 675



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                       Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

remaining Plan 
period (Total = 
40,000 over 

whole Plan 
period, 20,900 

jobs created 
between 2006 

and 2015) 

is set out 1,750 
jobs annually 
over the 

remaining Plan 
period   

than 10% below 
the anticipated 
rate of 1,750 

jobs for 2 or 
more 

consecutive 
years 

be undertaken to 
identify the 
underlying causes 

and consider 
necessary 

corrective actions 
as appropriate 

including plan 
review, changes to 
supporting 

guidance or 
whether the 

underlying reasons 
do not require 
changes to the 

Plan. 

Population Survey 

OB1 EC10 R1-R8 LOCAL 

Active A1 (retail) 
units within 

District & Local 
Centres 
remaining the 

predominant use 

A1 units 

comprising 40% 
of all units within 

District & Local 
Centres (Base 
Level in 2013) 

A1 units 

comprising less 
than 40% of all 

units within a 
centre. 

When a trigger 

point is activated 
an assessment will 

be undertaken to 
identify the 
underlying causes 

and consider 
necessary 

corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 

review, changes to 
supporting 

guidance or 
whether the 
underlying reasons 

do not require 
changes to the 

 Council 

Monitoring/Site 
Surveys 

P
age 676



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                       Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

Plan. 

OB1 EC11 R1-R8 LOCAL 

Proportion of 
protected City 
Centre shopping 

frontages with 
over 50% Class 

A1 (Shop) units. 

100% 90% When a trigger 

point is activated 
an assessment will 
be undertaken to 

identify the 
underlying causes 

and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 

as appropriate 
including plan 

review, changes to 
supporting 

guidance or 
whether the 
underlying reasons 

do not require 
changes to the 

Plan. 

 Council 

Monitoring/Site 
Surveys 

OB1 EC12 KP10, R1-R8 LOCAL 

Percentage of 
ground floor 
vacant retail 

units in the 
Central Shopping 

Area, District & 
Local Centres 

Vacancy levels 

are no higher 
than the national 
UK average 

(12%)   
 

Current vacancy 
levels in Cardiff 
are 9% (City 

Centre), 10% 
(District Centres) 

and 9% (Local 
Centres) 

Vacancy levels 

rise above 
national UK 
average for 

more than 2 
consecutive 

years 

When a trigger 

point is activated 
an assessment will 
be undertaken to 

identify the 
underlying causes 

and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 

as appropriate 
including plan 

review, changes to 
supporting 
guidance or 

 Council 

Monitoring/Site 
Surveys 

 Council City 

Centre Land Use 
Floor Space 

Survey 
 GOAD Data 

(Experian) 

 

P
age 677



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                       Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

whether the 
underlying reasons 
do not require 

changes to the 
Plan. 

OB1 EC13 KP10, R1-R8 LOCAL 
Number of retail 

developments 
permitted 
outside of the 

Central Shopping 
Area and District 

Centres not in 
accordance with 

Policy R4 and an 
assessment of 
need and strict 

application of 
the sequential 

test 

No retail 
developments 

permitted 
outside these 
areas (unless in 

accordance with 
Policy R4 and an 

assessment of 
need and strict 

application of the 
sequential test) 

1 or more retail 
developments 

are permitted 
outside of the 
Central Shopping 

Area and District 
Centres not in 

accordance with 
Policy R4 and an 

assessment of 
need and strict 
application of 

the sequential 
test 

When a trigger 
point is activated 

an assessment will 
be undertaken to 
identify the 

underlying causes 
and consider 

necessary 
corrective actions 

as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes to 

supporting 
guidance or 

whether the 
underlying reasons 
do not require 

changes to the 
Plan. 

 Council Out of 
Centre Monitoring 

Schedule 
 Council Monitoring 

–  Planning 

Applications and 
Consents 

OB1 EC14 KP2, KP6, KP8, 
T1-T8 

LOCAL  
Achievement of 

50:50 modal 
split for all 
journeys by 

2026 

Increase the 
sustainable 

travel proportion 
of the modal 
split by 1% per 

annum for each 
journey purpose: 

1) Work = 
45.2% (2014) 
2) Education = 

Failure to 
achieve an 

annual increase 
of 1% for each 
journey purpose 

for two or more 
consecutive 

years 

When a trigger 
point is activated 

an assessment will 
be undertaken to 
identify the 

underlying causes 
and consider 

necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 

 CCC Planning 
Policy/ 

Transportation 
 Infrastructure 

Plan 

 Cardiff Local 
Transport Plan 

(LTP)  
 Ask Cardiff 

Survey 

P
age 678



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                       Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

57.8% (2014) 
3) Shopping 
(City Centre) = 

67.1% (2014) 
4) Shopping 

(Other) = 43.2% 
(2014) 

5) Leisure = 
58% (2014) 

including plan 
review, changes to 
supporting 

guidance or 
whether the 

underlying reasons 
do not require 

changes to the 
Plan. 

 Infrastructure 
Plan 

OB1 EC15 KP2, KP6, KP8, 

T1-T8 

LOCAL 

Percentage of 
people walking 

(all journeys) 

An annual 

increase of 
journeys made 

on foot for each 
journey purpose: 

1) Work = 
15.9% (2014) 
2) Education = 

24.1% (2014) 
3) Shopping 

(City Centre) = 
16.7% (2014) 
4) Shopping 

(Other) = 22.3% 
(2014) 

5) Leisure = 
19% (2014) 
 

Failure to 

achieve an 
annual increase 

for each journey 
purpose for two 

or more 
consecutive 
years 

When a trigger 

point is activated 
an assessment will 

be undertaken to 
identify the 

underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 

corrective actions 
as appropriate 

including plan 
review, changes to 
supporting 

guidance or 
whether the 

underlying reasons 
do not require 
changes to the 

Plan. 

 Transportation 

Surveys 
 Accessibility 

Mapping 
 Congestion 

Monitoring 
 Ask Cardiff 

Survey 

 Infrastructure 
Plan 

OB1 EC16 KP2, KP6, KP8, 

T1-T8 

LOCAL 

Percentage of 
people 

cycling(all 
journeys) 

An annual 

increase of 
journeys made 

by bike for each 
journey purpose: 
1) Work = 

Failure to 

achieve an 
annual increase 

for each journey 
purpose for two 
or more 

When a trigger 

point is activated 
an assessment will 

be undertaken to 
identify the 
underlying causes 

 Transportation 

Surveys 
 Accessibility 

Mapping 
 Congestion 

Monitoring 

P
age 679



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                       Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

10.6%  (2014) 
2) Education = 
9.5% (2014) 

3) Shopping 
(City Centre) = 

5.9% (2014) 
4) Shopping 

(Other) = 5.7% 
(2014) 
5) Leisure = 

10.1% (2014) 
 

consecutive 
years 

and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 

as appropriate 
including plan 

review, changes to 
supporting 

guidance or 
whether the 
underlying reasons 

do not require 
changes to the 

Plan. 

 Ask Cardiff 
Survey 

 Infrastructure 

Plan 

OB1 EC17 KP2, KP6, KP8, 

T1-T8 

LOCAL 

Percentage of 
people travelling 
by bus (all 

journeys) 

An annual 

increase of 
journeys made 
by bus for each 

journey purpose: 
1) Work = 

11.1%  (2014) 
2) Education = 
13% (2014) 

3) Shopping 
(City Centre) = 

29.4% (2014) 
4) Shopping 
(Other) = 8.6% 

(2014) 
 

5) Leisure = 
11.2(2014) 
 

Failure to 

achieve an 
annual increase 
for each journey 

purpose for two 
or more 

consecutive 
years 

When a trigger 

point is activated 
an assessment will 
be undertaken to 

identify the 
underlying causes 

and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 

as appropriate 
including plan 

review, changes to 
supporting 
guidance or 

whether the 
underlying reasons 

do not require 
changes to the 
Plan. 

 Transportation 

Surveys 
 Accessibility 

Mapping 

 Congestion 
Monitoring 

 Ask Cardiff 
Survey 

 Infrastructure 

Plan 

OB1 EC18 KP2, KP6, KP8, 
T1-T8 

LOCAL 
Percentage of 

An annual 
increase of 

Failure to 
achieve an 

When a trigger 
point is activated 

 Transportation 
Surveys 

P
age 680



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                       Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

people travelling 
by train (all 
journeys) 

journeys made 
by bus for each 
journey purpose: 

1) Work = 5.8% 
(2014) 

2) Education = 
5.2% (2014) 

3) Shopping 
(City Centre) = 
10.6% (2014) 

4) Shopping 
(Other) = 3.8% 

(2014) 
5) Leisure = 
8.7% (2014) 

 

annual increase 
for each journey 
purpose for two 

or more 
consecutive 

years 

an assessment will 
be undertaken to 
identify the 

underlying causes 
and consider 

necessary 
corrective actions 

as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes to 

supporting 
guidance or 

whether the 
underlying reasons 
do not require 

changes to the 
Plan. 

 Accessibility 
Mapping 

 Congestion 

Monitoring 
 Ask Cardiff 

Survey 
 Infrastructure 

Plan 

OB1 EC19 KP2, KP6, KP8, 
T1-T8 

LOCAL 
Improvement in 

journey times by 
bus 

An annual 
percentage 

improvement in 
journey times for 
key corridors 

from October 
2015  

An annual 1 
percent 
improvement in 

journey times for 
key corridors 

(North West 
Corridor, North 
East Corridor, 

Eastern Corridor 
and Southern 

Failure to 
achieve an 

annual 
improvement for 
two or more 

consecutive 
years 

Failure to 
achieve an 
annual 

improvement in 
bus journey 

times of 1% for 
two or more 
consecutive 

years 

When a trigger 
point is activated 

an assessment will 
be undertaken to 
identify the 

underlying causes 
and consider 

necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 

including plan 
review, changes to 

supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 

underlying reasons 
do not require 

 Transportation 
Surveys 

 Accessibility 
Mapping 

 Congestion 

Monitoring 
 Ask Cardiff 

Survey 
 Transport 

Assessments 

received through 
the Development 

Control process; 
 S106 Monitoring 

Requirements 

established 
through the 

P
age 681



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                       Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

Corridor) from 
adoption of the 
Local 

Development 
Plan 

 

changes to the 
Plan. The 
assessment will 

also identify 
congested pinch 

points and  
quantify specific 

corridor journey 
time and journey 
time reliability 

improvements that 
are required and 

establish 
appropriate 
revised targets 

Development 
Control process 

 Infrastructure 

Plan 

OB1 EC20 KP2, KP6, KP8, 
T1-T8 

LOCAL 
Improvement in 

bus journey time 
reliability 

An annual 
percentage 

improvement in 
journey time 

reliability for key 
corridors from 
October 2015. 

An annual 1 
percent 

improvement in 
journey time 
reliability for key 

corridors (North 
West Corridor, 

North East 
Corridor, Eastern 
Corridor and 

Southern 
Corridor) from 

Failure to 
achieve an 

annual 
improvement for 

two or more 
consecutive 
years 

Failure to 
achieve an 

annual 
improvement in 
bus journey time 

reliability of 1% 
for two or more 

consecutive 
years 

When a trigger 
point is activated 

an assessment will 
be undertaken to 

identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 

necessary 
corrective actions 

as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes to 

supporting 
guidance or 

whether the 
underlying reasons 
do not require 

changes to the 
Plan. The 

 Transportation 
Surveys 

 Accessibility 
Mapping 

 Congestion 
Monitoring 

 Ask Cardiff 

Survey 
 Transport 

Assessments 
received through 
the Development 

Control process; 
 S106 Monitoring 

Requirements 
established 
through the 

Development 
Control process 

P
age 682



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                       Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

adoption of the 
Local 
Development 

Plan 

assessment will 
also identify 
congested pinch 

points and  
quantify specific 

corridor journey 
time and journey 

time reliability 
improvements that 
are required and 

establish 
appropriate 

revised targets 

 Infrastructure 
Plan 

OB1 EC21 KP2, KP6, KP8, 

T1-T8 

LOCAL 

Delivery of a 
regional 
transport hub 

A regional 

transport hub 
will be delivered 
by 2018 

Failure to deliver 

a regional 
transport hub by 
2018 

When a trigger 

point is activated 
an assessment will 
be undertaken to 

identify the 
underlying causes 

and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 

as appropriate 
including plan 

review, changes to 
supporting 
guidance or 

whether the 
underlying reasons 

do not require 
changes to the 
Plan. 

 Cardiff Council 

Corporate 
Business Plan 

 Infrastructure 

Plan 
 Cardiff Local 

Transport Plan 

OB1 EC22 KP2, KP6, KP8, 
T1-T8 

LOCAL  
Delivery of new 

To prepare & 
implement a 

Failure to deliver 
projects 

When a trigger 
point is activated 

 CCC Planning 
Policy/ 

P
age 683



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                       Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

sustainable 
transportation 
infrastructure 

including: Rapid 
Bus Corridors, 

Cycle Network, 
Transport Hubs 

and LTP schemes 
to mitigate 
development 

impacts and 
support modal 

shift    

range of 
sustainable 
transport 

schemes 
including 

schemes 
identified in the 

Cardiff LTP which 
support modal 
shift and the 

delivery of the 
Masterplanning 

principles set out 
in the LDP 

identified in LTP 
timeframes 
and/or failure to 

deliver 
sustainable key 

principles as 
referenced in 

OB4 SN12 

an assessment will 
be undertaken to 
identify the 

underlying causes 
and consider 

necessary 
corrective actions 

as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes to 

supporting 
guidance or 

whether the 
underlying reasons 
do not require 

changes to the 
Plan. 

Transportation 
 Infrastructure 

Plan 

 Cardiff Local 
Transport Plan 

OB1 EC23 R3 LOCAL 
Central Shopping 

Area Protected 
Frontages SPG 

 Failure to adopt 
SPG within 12 

months of Plan 
adoption 

When a trigger 
point is activated 

an assessment will 
be undertaken to 
identify the 

underlying causes 
and consider 

necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 

including plan 
review, changes to 

supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 

underlying reasons 
do not require 

CCC Planning Policy 

P
age 684



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                       Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

changes to the 
Plan. 

OB1 EC24 KP5 LOCAL 
Shop Fronts and 
Signs Guidance 

SPG 

 Failure to adopt 
SPG within 18 
months of Plan 

adoption 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment will 

be undertaken to 
identify the 

underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 

corrective actions 
as appropriate 

including plan 
review, changes to 

supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 

underlying reasons 
do not require 

changes to the 
Plan. 

CCC Planning Policy 

OB1 EC25 EC1, EC3 
 
 

 

LOCAL 
Protection of 
Employment 

Land and 
Premises for 

Business, 
Industry and 
Warehousing 

SPG 

 Failure to adopt 
SPG within 18 
months of Plan 

adoption 
 

 
 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment will 

be undertaken to 
identify the 

underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 

corrective actions 
as appropriate 

including plan 
review, changes to 
supporting 

CCC Planning Policy 
 

P
age 685



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                       Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

guidance or 
whether the 
underlying reasons 

do not require 
changes to the 

Plan. 

P
age 686



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                       Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

OBJECTIVE 2 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED SOCIAL NEEDS 

MONITORING 

REFERENCE 

RELEVANTS 

LDP POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 

INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN 

REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

OB2 SO1 KP1 CORE 
The housing land 
supply taken 

from the current 
Housing Land 

Availability Study 
(TAN1) 

A minimum 5 year 
supply of land for 
residential 

development is 
maintained 

throughout the 
Plan period 

Less than a 5 year 
supply of 
residential land is 

recorded for any 
year 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 

will be 
undertaken to 

identify the 
underlying 
causes and 

consider 
necessary 

corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 

review, changes 
to supporting 

guidance or 
whether the 

underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 

to the Plan. 

 Council 
Housing 
Monitoring 

Survey 
 Joint Housing 

Land 
Availability 
Study 

OB2 SO2 KP1 CORE 

The number of 
net general 

market dwellings 
built 

Provide 22,555 net 

general market 
dwellings over the 

remaining Plan 
period in 
accordance with 

the cumulative 2 
year targets set 

out below: 

Failure to deliver 

the required 
number of 

dwellings for each 
2 year period. 

When a trigger 

point is activated 
an assessment 

will be 
undertaken to 
identify the 

underlying 
causes and 

consider 

 Council 

Housing 
Monitoring 

Survey 
 Joint Housing 

Land 

Availability 
Study 

 

P
age 687



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                       Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

2016: 2,495 
2018: 4,096 
2020: 4,153 

2022: 4,042 
2024: 4,010 

2026: 3,759 

necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 

including plan 
review, changes 

to supporting 
guidance or 

whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 

require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB2 SO3 KP1, KP2, KP4, 
KP13, H1-H6 

CORE 
The number of 

net additional 
affordable 
dwellings built 

(TAN2) 

Provide 6,646 net 
affordable units 

over the remaining 
Plan period 
(representing an 

average of 22.8% 
of total housing 

provision). 
 
Expected delivery 

rate to meet the 
target set out 

below: 
2016: 735 
2018: 1,207 

2020: 1,224 
2022: 1,191 

2024: 1,181 
2026: 1,108 

Failure to deliver 
the required 

number of 
dwellings for each 
2 year period. 

When a trigger 
point is activated 

an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 

underlying causes 
and consider 

necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 

including plan 
review, changes 

to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 

underlying 
reasons do not 

require changes 
to the Plan. 

 Council 
Housing 

Monitoring 
Survey 

 Joint 

Housing 
Land 

Availability 
Study 

 

 

OB2 SO4 KP1 CORE 
Annual dwelling 
completions (all 

Provide 29,201 
dwellings over the 
remaining Plan 

Failure to deliver 
the required 
number of 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 

 Council 
Housing 
Monitoring 

P
age 688



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                       Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

dwellings) period in 
accordance with 
the cumulative 2 

year targets set 
out below:  

2016: 3,230 
2018: 5,303 

2020: 5,377 
2022: 5,233 
2024: 5,191 

2026: 4,866 
 

 

dwellings for each 
2 year period. 

will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 

and consider 
necessary 

corrective actions 
as appropriate 

including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 

guidance or 
whether the 

underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 

to the Plan. 

Survey 
 Joint 

Housing 

Land 
Availability 

Study  

OB2 SO5 KP1 LOCAL 

Number of 
windfall units 

completed per 
annum on all 
sites 

Annual target of 

overall anticipated 
windfall 

contributions for 
the remainder of 
the Plan period - 

488 dwellings per 
annum 

Delivery varies by 

more than 10% 
above or below 

488 dwellings per 
annum for any 
consecutive 2 year 

period. 

When a trigger 

point is activated 
an assessment 

will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 

and consider 
necessary 

corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 

review, changes 
to supporting 

guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 

reasons do not 
require changes 

Council Housing 

Monitoring 
Survey 

P
age 689



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                       Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

to the Plan. 

OB2 SO6 KP3(B) LOCAL 

Number of 
dwellings 
permitted 

annually outside 
the defined 

settlement 
boundaries that 
does not satisfy 

LDP policies 

Number of 

dwellings 
permitted that are 
not in accordance 

with KP3(B) 

1 or more 

permission that 
does not satisfy 
LDP policies 

When a trigger 

point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 

to identify the 
underlying causes 

and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 

as appropriate 
including plan 

review, changes 
to supporting 

guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 

reasons do not 
require changes 

to the Plan. 

Council Housing 

Monitoring 
Survey 

OB2 SO7 H8 LOCAL 

Keep the Seawall 
Road site under 
review for 

potential 
permanent 

residential Gypsy 
and Traveller 
accommodation 

 Site is no longer 

categorised within 
Flood Risk Zone C2 

When a trigger 

point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 

to identify the 
underlying causes 

and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 

as appropriate 
including plan 

review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 

CCC Planning 

Policy CCC 
Housing Service 

P
age 690



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                       Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 

require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB2 SO8 H8 LOCAL                         
Provision is made 

for meeting 
identified needs 
for permanent 

Gypsy and 
Traveller  

accommodation 

1. Agree project 

management 

arrangements  in

cluding reporting 

structure and 

representatives  - 

July 15 

2. Agree 

methodology for 

undertaking site 

search and 

assessment – 

December 2015 

3. Undertake Gypsy 

and Traveller 

Needs 

Assessment for 

both permanent 

and transit 

pitches in 

accordance with 

Housing (Wales) 

Act 2014 – Feb 

2016 

4. Undertake a site 

search and 

assessment  and 

secure approval 

of findings – Jul 

2016 

5. Secure planning 

permission and 

Failure to achieve 
these targets 

Yes CCC Planning 
Policy  

CCC Housing 
Service 

P
age 691



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                       Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

funding 

(including any 

grant funding 

from Welsh 

Government) for 

identified sites(s) 

required to meet 

the short term 

need for 43 

pitches by May 

2017 

6. Secure planning 

permission and 

funding 

(including any 

grant funding 

from Welsh 

Government) for 

identified(s) 

required to meet 

the long term 

need for 65 

pitches by May 

21  

OB2 SO9 H8 LOCAL 
Provision is made 

for meeting 
identified needs 
for transit Gypsy 

and Traveller 
accommodation 

1. Agree project 

management 

arrangements  in

cluding reporting 

structure and 

representatives  - 

July 15 

2. Agree 

methodology for 

undertaking site 

search and 

assessment – 

December 2015 

Failure to achieve 
these targets 

Yes CCC Planning 
Policy  

CCC Housing 
Service 

P
age 692



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                       Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

3. Undertake Gypsy 

and Traveller 

Needs 

Assessment for 

both permanent 

and transit 

pitches in 

accordance with 

Housing (Wales) 

Act 2014 – Feb 

2016 

4. Undertake a site 

search and 

assessment  and 

secure approval 

of findings – Jul 

2016 

5. Secure planning 

permission and 

funding 

(including any 

grant funding 

from Welsh 

Government) for 

identified sites(s) 

required to meet 

short term – May 

2017 

6. Secure planning 

permission and 

funding 

(including any 

grant funding 

from Welsh 

Government) for 

identified(s) 

required to meet 

P
age 693



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                       Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

long term need – 

May 21 

OB2 SO10 H8 LOCAL 

Total number of 
Gypsy and 

Traveller pitches 
for residential 
accommodation 

Ensure the existing 

supply of pitches is 
maintained. 

(Should existing 
pitches be no 
longer available 

alternative pitches 
will be sought)  

Any net loss of 

existing Gypsy and 
Traveller pitch 

provision 

When a trigger 

point is activated 
an assessment 

will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 

and consider 
necessary 

corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 

review, changes 
to supporting 

guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 

reasons do not 
require changes 

to the Plan. 

CCC Planning 

Policy CCC 
Housing Service 

OB2 SO11 KP2 LOCAL                                

Total annual 
dwelling 
completions of 

Strategic Housing 
Site A – Cardiff 

Central 
Enterprise Zone 

2,150 dwellings 

will be delivered 
over the remainder 
of the Plan period 

on this Strategic 
Site in accordance 

with the 2 year 
cumulative 

delivery rates set 
out below. 
Expected delivery 

rates based on the 
JHLAS 2014 and 

Failure to deliver 

the required 
number of 
dwellings for each 

2 year period. 

When a trigger 

point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 

to identify the 
underlying causes 

and consider 
necessary 

corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 

review, changes 
to supporting 

Council Housing 

Monitoring 
Survey 

P
age 694



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                       Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

developer 
intentions:                                                                 
2016: 231 

2018: 254 
2020: 405 

2022: 400                                                                                                                                                                                                                
2024: 400                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              

2026: 460 

guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 

reasons do not 
require changes 

to the Plan. 

OB2 SO12 KP2 LOCAL                                
Total annual 

dwelling 
completions of 

Strategic Housing 
Site B – Gas 

Works, Ferry 
Road 

500 dwellings will 
be delivered over 

the remainder of 
the Plan period on 

this Strategic Site 
in accordance with 

the 2 year 
cumulative 
delivery rates set 

out below. 
Expected delivery 

rates are based on 
developer 
intentions:                                                                 

2016: 0 
2018: 80 

2020: 140 
2022: 170                                                                                           
2024: 110                                                                                            

2026: 0 

Failure to deliver 
the required 

number of 
dwellings for each 

2 year period. 

When a trigger 
point is activated 

an assessment 
will be undertaken 

to identify the 
underlying causes 

and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 

as appropriate 
including plan 

review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 

whether the 
underlying 

reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

Council Housing 
Monitoring 

Survey 

OB2 SO13 KP2 LOCAL                                 

Total annual 
dwelling 

completions of 
Strategic Housing 
Site C – North 

5,000 dwellings 

will be delivered 
over the remainder 

of the Plan period 
on this Strategic 
Site in accordance 

Failure to deliver 

the required 
number of 

dwellings for each 
2 year period. 

When a trigger 

point is activated 
an assessment 

will be 
undertaken to 
identify the 

Council Housing 

Monitoring 
Survey 

P
age 695



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                       Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

West Cardiff with the 2 year 
cumulative 
delivery rates set 

out below. 
Expected delivery 

rates are based on 
developer 

intentions: 
2016: 135 
2018: 624 

2020: 1,060 
2022: 1,060                                                                                            

2024: 1,060                                                                                                                                                                                          
2026: 1,060 

underlying 
causes and 
consider 

necessary 
corrective actions 

as appropriate 
including plan 

review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 

whether the 
underlying 

reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB2 SO14 KP2 LOCAL 
Total annual 

dwelling 
completions of 

Strategic Housing 
Site D – North of 
Junction 33 

2,000 dwellings 
will be delivered 

over the remainder 
of the Plan period 

on this Strategic 
Site in accordance 
with the 2 year 

cumulative 
delivery rates set 

out below. 
Expected delivery 
rates are based on 

developer 
intentions: 

2016: 110 
2018: 240 
2020: 300 

2022: 400                                                                                            
2024: 450                                                                                                                                                                                          

Failure to deliver 
the required 

number of 
dwellings for each 

2 year period. 

When a trigger 
point is activated 

an assessment 
will be 

undertaken to 
identify the 
underlying 

causes and 
consider 

necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 

including plan 
review, changes 

to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 

underlying 
reasons do not 

Council Housing 
Monitoring 

Survey 

P
age 696



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                       Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

2026: 500 require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB2 SO15 KP2 LOCAL                                  
Total annual 
dwelling 

completions of 
Strategic Housing 

Site E – South of 
Creigiau 

650 dwellings will 
be delivered over 
the remainder of 

the Plan period on 
this Strategic Site 

in accordance with 
the 2 year 
cumulative 

delivery rates set 
out below. 

Expected delivery 
rates are based on 

developer 
intentions: 
2016: 150 

2018: 300 
2020: 200 

Failure to deliver 
the required 
number of 

dwellings for each 
2 year period. 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 

will be 
undertaken to 

identify the 
underlying 
causes and 

consider 
necessary 

corrective actions 
as appropriate 

including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 

guidance or 
whether the 

underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 

to the Plan. 

Council Housing 
Monitoring 
Survey 

OB2 SO16 KP2 LOCAL                                 

Total annual 
dwelling 

completions of 
Strategic Housing 
Site F – North 

East Cardiff 
(West of 

Pontprennau) 

4,500 dwellings 

will be delivered 
over the remainder 

of the Plan period 
on this Strategic 
Site in accordance 

with the 2 year 
cumulative 

delivery rates set 
out below. 
Expected delivery 

Failure to deliver 

the required 
number of 

dwellings for each 
2 year period. 

When a trigger 

point is activated 
an assessment 

will be 
undertaken to 
identify the 

underlying 
causes and 

consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 

Council Housing 

Monitoring 
Survey 

P
age 697



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                       Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

rates are based on 
developer 
intentions: 

2016: 180 
2018: 1,197 

2020: 808 
2022: 808                                                                                            

2024: 808                                                                                                                                                                                         
2026: 699 

as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 

to supporting 
guidance or 

whether the 
underlying 

reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB2 SO17 KP2 LOCAL                                 
Total annual 

dwelling 
completions of 

Strategic Housing 
Site G – East of 
Pontprennau Link 

Road 

1,300 dwellings 
will be delivered 

over the remainder 
of the Plan period 

on this Strategic 
Site in accordance 
with the 2 year 

cumulative 
delivery rates set 

out below. 
Expected delivery 
rates are based on 

developer 
intentions: 

2016: 140 
2018: 375 
2020: 285 

2022: 270                                                                                            
2024: 200                                                                                                                                                                                         

2026: 30 

Failure to deliver 
the required 

number of 
dwellings for each 

2 year period. 

When a trigger 
point is activated 

an assessment 
will be 

undertaken to 
identify the 
underlying 

causes and 
consider 

necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 

including plan 
review, changes 

to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 

underlying 
reasons do not 

require changes 
to the Plan. 

Council Housing 
Monitoring 

Survey 

OB2 SO18 KP2, KP13 LOCAL 
Annual affordable 
dwellings 

414 affordable 
dwellings will be 
delivered over the 

Failure to deliver 
the required 
number of 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 

Council Housing 
Monitoring 
Survey 

P
age 698



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                       Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

completions of 
Strategic Housing 
Site A – Cardiff 

Central 
Enterprise Zone 

remainder of the 
Plan period on this 
Strategic Site in 

accordance with 
the 2 year 

cumulative 
delivery rates set 

out below. 
Expected delivery 
rates are based on 

the JHLAS 2014 
and developer 

intentions: 
2016: 0 
2018: 100 

2020: 105 
2022: 68 

2024: 68 
2026: 69                                                                 

dwellings for each 
2 year period. 

will be 
undertaken to 
identify the 

underlying 
causes and 

consider 
necessary 

corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 

review, changes 
to supporting 

guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 

reasons do not 
require changes 

to the Plan. 

OB2 SO19 KP2, KP13 LOCAL                                
Annual affordable 
dwelling 

completions of 
Strategic Housing 

Site B – Gas 
Works, Ferry 
Road 

100 affordable 
dwellings will be 
delivered over the 

remainder of the 
Plan period on this 

Strategic Site in 
accordance with 
the 2 year 

cumulative 
delivery rates set 

out below. 
Expected delivery 
rates are based on 

developer 
intentions: 

 When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 

will be 
undertaken to 

identify the 
underlying 
causes and 

consider 
necessary 

corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 

review, changes 
to supporting 

 

P
age 699



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                       Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

2016: 0 
2018: 16 
2020: 28 

2022: 34 
2024: 22 

2026: 0 

guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 

reasons do not 
require changes 

to the Plan. 

OB2 SO20 KP2, KP13 LOCAL                                

Annual affordable 
dwelling 
completions of 

Strategic Housing 
Site C – North 

West Cardiff 

1,500 affordable 

dwellings will be 
delivered over the 
remainder of the 

Plan period on this 
Strategic Site in 

accordance with 
the 2 year 

cumulative 
delivery rates set 
out below. 

Expected delivery 
rates are based on 

developer 
intentions: 
2016: 41 

2018: 187 
2020: 318 

2022: 318 
2024: 318 
2026: 318 

 When a trigger 

point is activated 
an assessment 
will be 

undertaken to 
identify the 

underlying 
causes and 

consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 

as appropriate 
including plan 

review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 

whether the 
underlying 

reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

 

OB2 SO21 KP2, KP13 LOCAL                                
Annual affordable 

dwelling 
completions of 

Strategic Housing 
Site D - North of 
Junction 33 

603 affordable 
dwellings will be 

delivered over the 
remainder of the 

Plan period on this 
Strategic Site in 
accordance with 

 When a trigger 
point is activated 

an assessment 
will be 

undertaken to 
identify the 
underlying 

 

P
age 700



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                       Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

the 2 year 
cumulative 
delivery rates set 

out below. 
Expected delivery 

rates are based on 
developer 

intentions: 
2016: 100 
2018: 100 

2020: 100 
2022: 100 

2024: 100 
2026: 103 

causes and 
consider 
necessary 

corrective actions 
as appropriate 

including plan 
review, changes 

to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 

underlying 
reasons do not 

require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB2 SO22 KP2, KP13 LOCAL                                
Annual affordable 
dwelling 

completions of 
Strategic Housing 

Site E – South of 
Creigiau 

195 affordable 
dwellings will be 
delivered over the 

remainder of the 
Plan period on this 

Strategic Site in 
accordance with 
the 2 year 

cumulative 
delivery rates set 

out below. 
Expected delivery 
rates are based on 

developer 
intentions: 

2016: 37 
2018: 74 
2020: 49 

2022: 12 
2024: 11 

 When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 

will be 
undertaken to 

identify the 
underlying 
causes and 

consider 
necessary 

corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 

review, changes 
to supporting 

guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 

reasons do not 
require changes 

 

P
age 701



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                       Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

2026 - 11 to the Plan. 

OB2 SO23 KP2, KP13 LOCAL                                

Annual affordable 
dwelling 
completions of 

Strategic Housing 
Site F - North 

East Cardiff 
(West of 
Pontprennau) 

1,050 affordable 

dwellings will be 
delivered over the 
remainder of the 

Plan period on this 
Strategic Site in 

accordance with 
the 2 year 
cumulative 

delivery rates set 
out below. 

Expected delivery 
rates are based on 

developer 
intentions: 
2016 : 0 

2018: 114 
2020: 242 

2022: 242 
2024: 242 
2026: 210 

 When a trigger 

point is activated 
an assessment 
will be 

undertaken to 
identify the 

underlying 
causes and 
consider 

necessary 
corrective actions 

as appropriate 
including plan 

review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 

whether the 
underlying 

reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

 

OB2 SO24 KP2, KP13 LOCAL                                
Annual affordable 

dwelling 
completions of 

Strategic Housing 
Site G – East of 
Pontprennau Link 

Road 

390 affordable 

dwellings will be 
delivered over the 

remainder of the 
Plan period on this 
Strategic Site in 

accordance with 
the 2 year 

cumulative 
delivery rates set 
out below. 

Expected delivery 

 When a trigger 
point is activated 

an assessment 
will be 

undertaken to 
identify the 
underlying 

causes and 
consider 

necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 

 

P
age 702



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                       Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

rates are based on 
developer 
intentions: 

2016: 42 
2018: 113 

2020: 86 
2022: 81 

2024: 60 
2026: 8 

including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 

guidance or 
whether the 

underlying 
reasons do not 

require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB2 SO25 KP13, H3 LOCAL 

Changes in 
market value of 

property in 
Cardiff on 

Greenfield and 
Brownfield areas                  

Provide 6,646 net 
affordable units over 
the remaining Plan 
period (representing an 
average of 22.8% of 
total housing 
provision). 
 
Expected delivery rate 
to meet the target set 
out below: 
2016: 735 
2018: 1,207 
2020: 1,224 
2022: 1,191 
2024: 1,181 
2026: 1,108 

An increase or 

decrease of 10% 
of market values 

of properties in 
Cardiff on 

Greenfield and 
Brownfield areas 

When a trigger 

point is activated 
an assessment 

will be 
undertaken to 

identify the 
underlying 
causes and 

consider 
necessary 

corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 

review, changes 
to supporting 

guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 

reasons do not 
require changes 

to the Plan. 

HM Land 

Registry House 
Price Index RICS 

Building Cost 
Information 

Service (BICS) 
Tender Prices 
Development 

Appraisal Toolkit 

OB2 SO26 KP1 LOCAL 

Need for release 
of additional 
housing land 

To ensure 

sufficient land is 
brought forward 
for development in 

Build rates exceed 

the anticipated 
number of 
completions as set 

When a trigger 

point is activated 
an assessment 
will be 

Council Housing 

Monitoring 
Survey 

P
age 703



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                       Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

identified in the 
flexibility 
allowance 

accordance with 
the Plan strategy 
and to maintain a 

minimum 5 year 
supply of land as 

set out in the 
JHLAS. 

out in indicator 
OB2 SO4 by the 
1st Plan review i.e. 

more than 13,910 
dwellings 

completed 
between 2014 - 

2020 overall 
anticipated 
completion rates 

at 1st and 2nd LDP 
review stages. 

Exceeding the rate 
will trigger 
allocation of 

additional land 
which can be 

secured through 
Plan revision 
 

undertaken to 
identify the 
underlying 

causes and 
consider 

necessary 
corrective actions 

as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 

to supporting 
guidance or 

whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 

require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB2 SO27 KP13, H3 LOCAL 
Affordable 

Housing SPG 

 Failure to adopt 
SPG within 6 

months of Plan 
adoption 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB2 SO28 C4 LOCAL 
Houses in 

Multiple 
Occupation SPG 

 Failure to adopt 
SPG within 6 

months of Plan 
adoption 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB2 SO29 

 

KP7 
 

LOCAL 
Planning 
Obligations SPG 

incorporating 
Developer 

contributions for 

 Failure to adopt 
SPG within 12 
months of Plan 

adoption 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

P
age 704



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                       Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

transport 
facilities and 
relevant sections 

from 
 Affordable 

housing 
 Access, 

circulation and 
parking 
requirements 

 Open Space 
 Schools 

 Public art 
 PROW 
 Community 

Facilities 
 Trees and 

Development 
 Waste 

Collection and 

Storage 
Facilities 

 Biodiversity 
 

OB2 SO30 

 

C1 
 

LOCAL 
Community 
Facilities and 

Residential 
Development 

SPG 

 Failure to adopt 
SPG within 18 
months of Plan 

adoption 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB2 SO31 C2 LOCAL 

Childcare 
Facilities SPG 

 Failure to adopt 

SPG within 18 
months of Plan 
adoption 

No CCC Planning 

Policy 

P
age 705



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                       Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

OB2 SO32 C7 LOCAL 
Health SPG 

 Failure to adopt 
SPG within 18 
months of Plan 

adoption 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB2 SO33 H8 LOCAL 

Gypsy and 
Traveller Sites 

SPG 

 Failure to adopt 

SPG within 18 
months of Plan 

adoption 

No CCC Planning 

Policy 

 

OBJECTIVE 3 - TO DELIVER ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL NEEDS IN A CO-ORDINATED WAY THAT RESPECTS CARDIFF'S 
ENVIRONMENT AND RESPONDS TO THE CHALLENGES OF CLIMATE CHANGE 

MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANTS LDP 
POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

OB3 EN1 KP3(A), KP3(B), 
KP5, KP15, KP16, 

KP18, EN1-EN14 

CORE                         
Amount of 

development (by 
TAN 15 paragraph 
5.1 development 

category) 
permitted in C1 

floodplain areas 
not meeting all 
TAN 15 tests 

No permissions 
granted for highly 

vulnerable 
development 
within C1 

floodplain area 
that does not 

meet TAN 15 tests 
 
 

1 application 
permitted for 

development in 
any 1 year that 
does not meet 

TAN 15 tests 

When a trigger 
point is activated 

an assessment 
will be 
undertaken to 

identify the 
underlying causes 

and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 

as appropriate 
including plan 

review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 

whether the 
underlying 

reasons do not 
require changes 

to the Plan. 

CCC Planning 
Policy  

P
age 706



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                       Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

OB3 EN2 KP3(A), KP3(B), 
KP5, KP15, KP16, 
KP18, EN1-EN14 

CORE 
Amount of 
development (by 

TAN 15 paragraph 
5.1 development 

category) 
permitted in C2 

floodplain areas. 

No permissions 
granted for highly 
vulnerable 

development in C2 
floodplain area. 

1 application 
permitted for 
development in 

any 1 year 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 

will be 
undertaken to 

identify the 
underlying causes 

and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 

as appropriate 
including plan 

review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 

whether the 
underlying 

reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB3 EN3 KP15, KP16, 
KP18, EN1-EN14 

LOCAL                       
Percentage of 

water bodies of 
good status. 

 
 
 

No planning 
consents granted 

planning 
permission 

contrary to the 
advice of Natural 
Resources Wales 

and/or Dŵr Cymru 
(Welsh Water) 

1 application 
permitted for 

development in 
any 1 year 

When a trigger 
point is activated 

an assessment 
will be 

undertaken to 
identify the 
underlying causes 

and consider 
necessary 

corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 

review, changes 
to supporting 

CCC Planning 
Policy  

P
age 707



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                       Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 

reasons do not 
require changes 

to the Plan. 

OB3 EN4 KP15, KP16, 

KP18, EN1-EN14 

LOCAL 

Number of 
permissions 
granted where 

there is a known 
risk of 

deterioration in 
status. 

No planning 

consents granted 
planning 
permission 

contrary to the 
advice of Natural 

Resources Wales 
and/or Dwr Cymru 

(Welsh Water) 

1 application 

permitted for 
development in 
any 1 year 

When a trigger 

point is activated 
an assessment 
will be 

undertaken to 
identify the 

underlying causes 
and consider 

necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 

including plan 
review, changes 

to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 

underlying 
reasons do not 

require changes 
to the Plan. 

CCC Planning 

Policy 

OB3 EN5 KP15, KP16, 
KP18, EN1-EN14 

LOCAL 
Number of 
permissions 

incorporating 
measures 

designed to 
improve water 
quality where 

No planning 
consents granted 
planning 

permission 
contrary to the 

advice of Natural 
Resources Wales 
and/or Dwr Cymru 

1 application 
permitted for 
development in 

any 1 year 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 

will be 
undertaken to 

identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 

CCC Planning 
Policy 

P
age 708



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                       Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

appropriate. (Welsh Water) necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 

including plan 
review, changes 

to supporting 
guidance or 

whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 

require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB3 EN6 EN11, EN14, LOCAL                       
Number of 

planning 
permissions 
granted contrary 

to the advice of 
the Water supplier 

concerning 
adequate levels of 
water quality and 

quantity and 
waste water 

provision 

No planning 
consents issued 

where there is an 
objection 
concerning 

provision of water 
quality and 

quantity and 
waste water from 
water supplier 

1 application 
permitted for 

development in 
any 1 year 

When a trigger 
point is activated 

an assessment 
will be 
undertaken to 

identify the 
underlying causes 

and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 

as appropriate 
including plan 

review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 

whether the 
underlying 

reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

CCC Planning 
Policy  

OB3 EN7 KP3(A), EN1 LOCAL                               
The number of 

No inappropriate 
developments 

1 application 
permitted for 

When a trigger 
point is activated 

CCC Planning 
Policy 

P
age 709



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                       Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

inappropriate 
developments 
permitted within 

the Green Belt 
that do not satisfy 

LDP policies 

granted planning 
permission 
contrary to policies 

KP3 (A) and EN1 

development in 
any 1 year 

an assessment 
will be 
undertaken to 

identify the 
underlying causes 

and consider 
necessary 

corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 

review, changes 
to supporting 

guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 

reasons do not 
require changes 

to the Plan. 

OB3 EN8 EN3 LOCAL                           

The number of 
planning 
permissions 

granted contrary 
to Policy EN3 

which would cause 
unacceptable 
harm to Special 

Landscape Areas 

No development 

granted planning 
permission 
contrary to Policy 

EN3 which would 
cause 

unacceptable harm 
to Special 
Landscape Areas 

1 application 

permitted for 
development in 
any 1 year 

When a trigger 

point is activated 
an assessment 
will be 

undertaken to 
identify the 

underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 

corrective actions 
as appropriate 

including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 

guidance or 
whether the 

CCC Planning 

Policy  

P
age 710



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                       Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 

to the Plan. 

OB3 EN9 EN8 LOCAL                          

Ancient Semi-
Natural Woodland  

No inappropriate 

development 
granted planning 

permission 
contrary to Policy 
EN8 

1 application 

permitted for 
development in 

any 1 year 

When a trigger 

point is activated 
an assessment 

will be 
undertaken to 
identify the 

underlying causes 
and consider 

necessary 
corrective actions 

as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 

to supporting 
guidance or 

whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 

require changes 
to the Plan. 

CCC Planning 

Policy  

OB3 EN10 EN1-EN8 LOCAL               
The number of 

planning 
permissions 
granted on SSSI 

or SINC 
designated areas. 

No planning 
permissions 

granted 
permission that 
would result in an 

unacceptable 
impact which 

could not be 
mitigated against 
on an SSSI or 

1 application 
permitted for 

development in 
any 1 year 

When a trigger 
point is activated 

an assessment 
will be 
undertaken to 

identify the 
underlying causes 

and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 

CCC Planning 
Policy 

P
age 711



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                       Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

SINC that does not 
satisfy LDP policies 

as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 

to supporting 
guidance or 

whether the 
underlying 

reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB3 EN11 EN1-EN8 LOCAL 
Number of 

planning 
applications 

granted which 
have an adverse 
effect on the 

integrity of a 
Natura 2000 site 

Ensure protection 
of European 

designated sites 
as required by 

paragraph 5.3.9 in 
Planning Policy 
Wales, Annex 3 in 

TAN 5 and policies 

1 application 
permitted 

contrary to the 
advice of NRW or 

the authority’s 
ecologist 

When a trigger 
point is activated 

an assessment 
will be 

undertaken to 
identify the 
underlying causes 

and consider 
necessary 

corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 

review, changes 
to supporting 

guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 

reasons do not 
require changes 

to the Plan. 

CCC Planning 
Policy  

OB3 EN12 EN1-EN8 LOCAL 

Number of 
planning 
applications 

No application 

granted 
permission that 
would result in 

1 application 

permitted 
contrary to the 
advice of NRW or 

When a trigger 

point is activated 
an assessment 
will be 

CCC Planning 

Policy  

P
age 712



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                       Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

granted which 
would result in 
detriment to the 

favourable 
conservation 

status of EU 
protected species 

in their natural 
range or 
significant harm to 

species protected 
by other statute 

detriment to the 
maintenance of 
the favourable 

conservation 
status of EU 

protected species 
in their natural 

range or 
significant harm to 
species protected 

by other statute 

the authority’s 
ecologist 

undertaken to 
identify the 
underlying causes 

and consider 
necessary 

corrective actions 
as appropriate 

including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 

guidance or 
whether the 

underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 

to the Plan. 

OB3 EN13 KP16, KP18, C3-

C6 

LOCAL               

Achievement of 
functional open 

space requirement 
across Cardiff as 
set out in Policy 

C4 

2.43 Ha functional 

open space per 
1,000 population 

Less than 2.43 Ha 

functional open 
space per 1,000 

population 

When a trigger 

point is activated 
an assessment 

will be 
undertaken to 
identify the 

underlying causes 
and consider 

necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 

including plan 
review, changes 

to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 

underlying 
reasons do not 

CCC Planning 

Policy 

P
age 713



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                       Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB3 EN14 EN13 LOCAL 
Number of Air 
Quality 

Management 
Areas 

No more than 4 
current AQMA in 
action 

One or more 
additional AQMA 

No Environmental 
Protection 
Monitoring 

OB3 EN15 C4 LOCAL 
Open Space SPG 

 Failure to adopt 
SPG within 6 

months of Plan 
adoption 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB3 EN16 
 

T1 
 

LOCAL 
Public Rights of 
Way and 

Development SPG 

 Failure to adopt 
SPG within 18 
months of Plan 

adoption 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB3 EN17 

 
 

EN8 

 
 

LOCAL 

Trees and 
Development SPG 

 

 

Failure to adopt 

SPG within 18 
months of Plan 

adoption 

No CCC Planning 

Policy 

OB3 EN18 

 

EN5, EN6, EN7 

 
 

LOCAL 

Biodiversity SPG 

 

 
 

Failure to adopt 

SPG within 18 
months of 
adoption of the 

Plan 

No CCC Planning 

Policy 

OB3 EN19 

 

EN14 

 

LOCAL 

Flooding SPG 

 

 

Failure to adopt 

SPG within 12 
months of 

adoption of the 
Plan 

No CCC Planning 

Policy 

OB3 EN20 
 
 

KP16, EN3-EN8 
 

LOCAL 
Natural Heritage 
Network SPG 

 Failure to adopt 
SPG within 12 
months of 

adoption of the 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

P
age 714



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                       Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

Plan 

OB3 EN21 

 

KP17, EN9 

 

LOCAL 

Archaeologically 
Sensitive Areas 
SPG 

 Failure to adopt 

SPG within 18 
months of 
adoption of the 

Plan. 

No CCC Planning 

Policy 

 

OBJECTIVE 4 – TO CREATE SUSTAINABLE NEIGHBOURHOODS THAT FORM PART OF A SUSTAINABLE CITY 

MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANTS LDP 
POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

OB4 SN1 EN12 LOCAL 
The number and 
capacity of 

renewable energy 
developments 

permitted 

An increase in the 
number of 
renewable energy 

schemes 
permitted 

No increase in the 
number of 
renewable energy 

schemes 
permitted for two 

or more 
consecutive years 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 

will be 
undertaken to 

identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 

necessary 
corrective actions 

as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 

to supporting 
guidance or 

whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 

require changes 
to the Plan. 

CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB4 SN2 KP11, W2 LOCAL 
Maintain a 

sufficient amount 

Maintain a 
sufficient capacity 

to cater for 

No trigger When a trigger 
point is activated 

an assessment 

CCC Waste 
Management 

Section 

P
age 715



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                       Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

of land and 
facilities to cater 
for Cardiff's waste 

capacity 

Cardiff’s waste (to 
be confirmed at a 
regional level in 

accordance with 
TAN21) 

will be 
undertaken to 
identify the 

underlying causes 
and consider 

necessary 
corrective actions 

as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 

to supporting 
guidance or 

whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 

require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB4 SN3 KP12, W1, W2, 
W3 

LOCAL 
Amount of 

household waste 
recycled 

Minimum Overall 
Recycling - 58% 

by 2016, 64% by 
2020 and 70% by 
2025. Maximum 

Landfill = n/a by 
2016, 10% by 

2020 and 5% by 
2025 
Maximum level of 

energy from waste 
= 42% by 2016, 

36% by 2020 and 
30% by 2025. 
Biodegradable 

landfill allowance 
= 41,692t by 

Minimum Overall 
Recycling - Less 

than 58% by 
2016, 64% by 
2020 and 70% by 

2025, Maximum 
Landfill = n/a by 

2016, less than 
10% by 2020 and 
5% by 2025 

Maximum level of 
energy from 

waste = less than 
42% by 2016, 
36% by 2020 and 

30% by 2025. 
Biodegradable 

When a trigger 
point is activated 

an assessment 
will be 
undertaken to 

identify the 
underlying causes 

and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 

as appropriate 
including plan 

review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 

whether the 
underlying 

CCC Waste 
Management 

Section 

P
age 716



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                       Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

2016, 33,557t by 
2020 and n/a by 
2025.    

landfill allowance 
= less than 
41,692t by 2016, 

33,557t by 2020 
and n/a by 2025.   

reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB4 SN4 KP12, W1, W2, 
W3 

LOCAL 
Applications 

received for waste 
management uses 
on B2 sites 

Maintain a 
sufficient range 

and choice of 
waste 
management 

facilities 

1 or more 
applications 

refused in any 1 
year 

When a trigger 
point is activated 

an assessment 
will be 
undertaken to 

identify the 
underlying causes 

and consider 
necessary 

corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 

review, changes 
to supporting 

guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 

reasons do not 
require changes 

to the Plan. 

CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB4 SN5 KP11 LOCAL                  

Maintain a 
minimum 10 year 
landbank of 

crushed rock 
reserves                

10 year supply Less than 10 year 

supply 

When a trigger 

point is activated 
an assessment 
will be 

undertaken to 
identify the 

underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 

SWRAWP 

Annual Reports 

P
age 717



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                       Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 

review, changes 
to supporting 

guidance or 
whether the 

underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 

to the Plan. 

OB4 SN6 M6 LOCAL                  

Amount of 
development 

within Sand Wharf 
Protection Area             

No permanent 

development 
which would 

prejudice the 
ability to land 
marine dredged 

sand and gravel 
will be permitted 

within the 
safeguarded sand 
wharfs which is 

contrary to Policy 
M6. 

1 application 

permitted for 
development in 

any 1 year 

When a trigger 

point is activated 
an assessment 

will be 
undertaken to 
identify the 

underlying causes 
and consider 

necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 

including plan 
review, changes 

to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 

underlying 
reasons do not 

require changes 
to the Plan. 

CCC Planning 

Policy 

OB4 SN7 MX LOCAL                  
Amount of 
development 

No permanent 
sterilising 
development as 

1 application 
permitted for 
development in 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 

CCC Planning 
Policy 

P
age 718



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                       Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

permitted within a 
mineral 
safeguarding 

area.        

defined in 
MPPW/MTAN1 will 
be permitted 

within a Mineral 
safeguarding area 

which is contrary 
to Policy x of the 

Plan. 

any 1 year will be 
undertaken to 
identify the 

underlying causes 
and consider 

necessary 
corrective actions 

as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 

to supporting 
guidance or 

whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 

require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB4 SN8 M2 LOCAL                    
Number of 

planning 
permissions 
permitted for 

extraction of 
aggregate mineral 

not in line with 
Policy M2 

0 planning 
permissions 

permitted           

1 application 
permitted for 

development in 
any 1 year 

When a trigger 
point is activated 

an assessment 
will be 
undertaken to 

identify the 
underlying causes 

and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 

as appropriate 
including plan 

review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 

whether the 
underlying 

CCC Planning 
Policy 

P
age 719



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                       Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB4 SN9 M4 LOCAL                    
Number of 

planning 
permissions for 

inappropriate 
development e.g. 
dwellings/mineral 

working, 
permitted in 

Minerals Buffer 
Zones contrary to 

Policy M4. 

1 planning 
permission 

permitted 

1 application 
permitted for 

development in 
any 1 year 

When a trigger 
point is activated 

an assessment 
will be 

undertaken to 
identify the 
underlying causes 

and consider 
necessary 

corrective actions 
as appropriate 

including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 

guidance or 
whether the 

underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 

to the Plan. 

CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB4 SN10 M3 LOCAL 

Number of 
prohibition orders 

issued on dormant 
sites  
 

Ensure that those 

dormant sites 
deemed not likely 

to be re-worked in 
the future (as part 
of the annual 

review) are served 
with prohibition 

orders  
 

LPA fails to serve 

prohibition orders 
on sites that are 

deemed not likely 
to be re-worked in 
the future.  

 

When a trigger 

point is activated 
an assessment 

will be 
undertaken to 
identify the 

underlying causes 
and consider 

necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 

CCC Planning 

Policy 

P
age 720



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                       Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 

guidance or 
whether the 

underlying 
reasons do not 

require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB4 SN11 KP17  LOCAL                   

Number of 
applications 

permitted 
contrary to Policy 

EN9 that would 
adversely affect 
Scheduled Ancient 

Monuments, 
registered historic 

parks and 
gardens, Listed 
Buildings or 

Conservation 
Areas 

No developments 

permitted over the 
course of the Plan 

where there is an 
outstanding 

objection from 
statutory heritage 
advisors or that 

would adversely 
affect Scheduled 

Ancient 
Monuments, 
registered historic 

parks and 
gardens, Listed 

Buildings or 
Conservation 
Areas 

1 application 

permitted for 
development in 

any 1 year where 
there is an 

outstanding 
objection from 
statutory heritage 

advisors  

When a trigger 

point is activated 
an assessment 

will be 
undertaken to 

identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 

necessary 
corrective actions 

as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 

to supporting 
guidance or 

whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 

require changes 
to the Plan. 

CCC Planning 

Policy 

OB4 SN12 KP1, KP2, KP4, 
KP8, KP13, H1-

H6, C1-C9, T1-T8 

LOCAL                   
Delivery of each 

key principle from 
the Strategic Sites 
Masterplanning 

Failure of any key 
principles being 

effectively 
delivered in 
accordance with 

1 (or more) key 
principles not 

delivered 

When a trigger 
point is activated 

an assessment 
will be 
undertaken to 

CCC Planning 
Policy 

P
age 721



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                       Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

Framework as 
embedded in the 
LDP to ensure 

delivery of key 
infrastructure 

including 
sustainable 

transportation 
interventions, 
social and 

community 
facilities, together 

with any other 
key 
Masterplanning 

requirements  

details which are 
approved through 
the Development 

Management 
process (e.g. 

S106 obligations & 
planning 

conditions)  

identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 

necessary 
corrective actions 

as appropriate 
including plan 

review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 

whether the 
underlying 

reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan.  

OB4 SN13 KP6 LOCAL 

Preparing an 
annual 

Infrastructure 
Plan and 
Infrastructure 

Plan Delivery 
Report update. 

Update the 

Infrastructure Plan 
and Infrastructure 

Plan Delivery 
Report annually to 
reflect the latest 

available 
information with 

regard to key 
infrastructure, 
costs/funding and 

estimated 
timescales. 

Failure to update 

the Infrastructure 
Plan and 

Infrastructure 
Plan Delivery 
Report annually. 

No Place Making 

Team 
(Development 

Management) 

OB4 SN14 T5 LOCAL 
Design and 

Parking Guidance 
SPG 
(incorporating 

 Failure to adopt 
SPG within 6 

months of 
adoption of the 
Plan 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

P
age 722



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                       Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

Access, Circulation 
and Parking 
Requirements SPG 

and sustainable 
design guidance) 

OB4 SN15 
 

W2 
 

LOCAL 
Locating Waste 

Management 
Facilities SPG 

 Failure to adopt 
SPG within 12 

months of 
adoption of the 
Plan 

 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB4 SN16 KP5 LOCAL 

Infill Sites Design 
Guidance SPG 

 Failure to adopt 

SPG within 18 
months of 

adoption of the 
Plan 

No CCC Planning 

Policy 

OB4 SN17 KP5 LOCAL 
Tall Buildings 
Guidance SPG 

 Failure to adopt 
SPG within 18 
months of 

adoption of the 
Plan 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB4 SN18 KP5 LOCAL 
Householder 

Design Guidance 
SPG 

 Failure to adopt 
SPG within 18 

months of 
adoption of the 
Plan 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB4 SN19 KP5 LOCAL 
Public Art SPG 

 Failure to adopt 
SPG within 18 

months of 
adoption of the 

Plan 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB4 SN20 R7 LOCAL 

Food Drink and 

 Failure to adopt 

SPG within 18 

No CCC Planning 

Policy 

P
age 723



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                       Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Five MAC75   Monitoring Framework 

 

Leisure Uses + 
Premises for 
Eating, Drinking 

and Entertainment 
in Cardiff City 

Centre  SPG 

months of 
adoption of the 
Plan 

OB4 SN21 W3 LOCAL 

Waste Collection 
and Storage 
Facilities SPG 

 Failure to adopt 

SPG within 18 
months of 
adoption of the 

Plan 

No CCC Planning 

Policy 

OB4 SN22 H5 LOCAL 

Design Guidance 
and Standards for 

Flat Conversions 
SPG 

 Failure to adopt 

SPG within 12 
months of 

adoption of the 
Plan 
 

No CCC Planning 

Policy 

OB4 SN23  LOCAL 
Renewable Energy 

Assessments SPG 

 Failure to adopt 
SPG within 12 

months of 
adoption of the 

Plan 
 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

 

 

 

 

P
age 724



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                  Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Six: MAC77   List of Key and Detailed Policies 

Appendix Six: MAC77   List of Key and Detailed Policies 

 
KEY POLICIES  

 
KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH  
 

KP2: STRATEGIC SITES 
 

KP2 (A): CARDIFF CENTRAL ENTERPRISE ZONE AND REGIONAL TRANSPORT HUB 
 
KP2 (B): FORMER GAS WORKS, FERRY ROAD 

 
KP2 (C): NORTH WEST CARDIFF 

 
KP2 (D & E): NORTH OF JUNCTION 33 ON M4 AND SOUTH OF CREIGIAU 
 

KP2 (F): NORTH EAST CARDIFF (WEST OF PONTPRENNAU) 
 

KP2 (G): EAST OF PONTPRENNAU LINK ROAD 
 

KP2 (H): SOUTH OF ST MELLONS BUSINESS PARK 
 
KP3 (A): GREEN WEDGE 

 
KP3 (B): SETLLEMENT BOUNDARIES  

 
KP4: MASTERPLANNING APPROACH  
 

KP5: GOOD QUALITY AND SUSTAINABLE DESIGN  
 

KP6: NEW INFRASTRUCTURE  
 

P
age 725



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                  Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Six: MAC77   List of Key and Detailed Policies 

KP7: PLANNING OBLIGATIONS  
 

KP8: SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT 
 

KP9: RESPONDING TO EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS 
 
KP10: CENTRAL AND BAY BUSINESS AREAS 

 
KP11: MINERALS AND CRUSHED ROCK AGGREGATES AND OTHER MINERALS 

 
KP12: WASTE  
 

KP13: RESPONDING TO EVIDENCED SOCIAL NEEDS 
 

KP14: HEALTHY LIVING  
 
KP15: CLIMATE CHANGE  

 
KP16: GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE  

 
KP17: BUILT HERITAGE  

 
KP18: NATURAL RESOURCES  
 

 
DETAILED POLICIES 

 
HOUSING 
 

H1: NON-STRATEGIC HOUSING SITES  
 

H2: CONVERSION TO RESIDENTIAL USE 
 

P
age 726



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                  Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Six: MAC77   List of Key and Detailed Policies 

H3: AFFORDABLE HOUSING 
 

H4: CHANGE OF USE OF RESIDENTIAL LAND OR PROPERTIES  
 

H5: SUB-DIVISION OR CONVERSION OF RESIDENTIAL PROPERTIES 
 
H6: CHANGE OF USE OR REDEVELOPMENT TO RESIDENTIAL USE 

 
H7: ALLOCATION POLICY FOR GYPSY AND TRAVELLER SITE(S) 

 
H87: SITES FOR GYPSY AND TRAVELLER CARAVANS 
 

ECONOMY 
 

EC1: EXISTING EMPLOYMENT LAND 
 
EC2: PROVISION OF COMPLEMENTARY FACILITIES FOR EMPLOYEES IN 

BUSINESS, INDUSTRIAL AND WAREHOUSING DEVELOPMENTS 
 

EC3: ALTERNATIVE USE OF EMPLOYMENT LAND AND PREMISES 
 

EC4: PROTECTING OFFICES IN THE CENTRAL AND BAY BUSINESS  
AREAS 
 

EC5: HOTEL DEVELOPMENT 
 

EC6: NON-STRATEGIC EMPLOYMENT SITE 
 
EC7 EMPLOYMENT PROPOSALS ON LAND NOT IDENTIFIED FOR EMPLOYMENT USE 

 
 

 

P
age 727



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                  Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Six: MAC77   List of Key and Detailed Policies 

ENVIRONMENT 
 

Countryside Protection 
 

EN1: COUNTRYSIDE PROTECTION 
 
EN2: CONVERSION, EXTENSION AND REPLACEMENT BUILDINGS IN THE COUNTRYSIDE 

 
The Natural Environment 

 
EN3: LANDSCAPE PROTECTION 
 

EN4: RIVER VALLEYS 
 

EN5: LOCAL NATURE RESERVES AND NON-STATUTORY SITES OF NATURE CONSERVATION AND GEOLOGICAL IMPORTANCE  
DESIGNATED SITES 
 

EN6: ECOLOGICAL NETWORKS AND FEATURES OF IMPORTANCE FOR 
BIODIVERSITY 

 
EN7: PRIORITY HABITATS AND SPECIES 

 
EN8: TREES, WOODLANDS AND HEDGEROWS  
 

The Historic Environment 
 

EN9: CONSERVATION OF THE HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT 
 
Natural Resources 

 
EN10: WATER SENSITIVE DESIGN 

 
EN11: PROTECTION OF WATER RESOURCES  

P
age 728



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                  Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Six: MAC77   List of Key and Detailed Policies 

 
Renewable Energy 

 
EN12: RENEWABLE ENERGY AND LOW CARBON TECHNOLOGIES  

 
Pollution 
 

EN13: AIR, NOISE, LIGHT POLLUTION AND CONTAMINATED LAND CONTAMIINATION 
 

Flood Risk 
 
EN14: FLOOD RISK 

 
TRANSPORT   

T1: WALKING AND CYCLING 
 

T2: STRATEGIC RAPID TRANSIT & BUS CORRIDORS  
 
T3: TRANSPORT INTERCHANGES 

 
T4: CENTRAL TRANSPORT HUB  

 
T5: MANAGING TRANSPORT IMPACTS  
 

T6: IMPACT ON TRANSPORT NETWORKS AND SERVICES 
 

T7: STRATEGIC TRANSPORTATION INFRASTRUCTURE 
 
T8: STRATEGIC RECREATIONAL ROUTES 

 
T9 CARDIFF CITY REGION ‘METRO’ NETWORK  

P
age 729



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                  Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Six: MAC77   List of Key and Detailed Policies 

RETAIL 
 

R1: RETAIL PROVISION WITHIN STRATEGIC SITES 
 

R1 RETAIL HIERARCHY 

R2: DEVELOPMENT IN THE CENTRAL SHOPPING AREA 
 

R3: PROTECTED SHOPPING FRONTAGES 
 

R54 DISTRICT CENTRES 

R65 LOCAL CENTRES 

R46 RETAIL DEVELOPMENT (OUT OF CENTRE) 

R7 FOOD AND DRINK USES 

R7 RETAIL PROVISION WITHIN STRATEGIC SITES 

R8 PROTECTION OF LOCAL SHOPPING PARADES 

R8 FOOD AND DRINK USES 

 
COMMUNITY 

 
C1: COMMUNITY FACILITIES  
 

C2: NEW Policy Protection of Existing Community facilities 
 

C2 3: COMMUNITY SAFETY/CREATING SAFE ENVIRONMENTS 
 
C34: PROTECTION OF OPEN SPACE 

 

P
age 730



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                  Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Six: MAC77   List of Key and Detailed Policies 

C45: PROVISION FOR OPEN SPACE, OUTDOOR RECREATION CHILDREN’S PLAY AND SPORT 
 

C5: PROVISION FOR ALLOTMENTS AND COMMUNITY GROWING 
 

C6: PROVISION FOR CHILDREN’S PLAY 
 
C7 6: HEALTH 

 
C8: PLANNING FOR SCHOOLS 

 
C9: NEW EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES 
 

C10: HEALTH EMPLOYMENT NON-STRATEGIC ALLOCATION 
 

C7 Planning for Schools 
 
MINERALS 

 
M1: MINERAL LIMESTONE RESERVES AND RESOURCES  

 
M2: PREFERRED ORDER OF MINERAL RESOURCE RELEASE 

 
M3: QUARRY CLOSURES AND EXTENSION LIMITS 
 

M4: MINERALS BUFFER ZONES 
 

M5: RESTORATION AND AFTER - USE OF MINERAL WORKINGS 
 
M6: DREDGED AGGREGATE LANDING AND DISTRIBUTION FACILITIES 

 
M7: SAFEGUARDING OF SAND AND GRAVEL RESOURCE 

 
M8: SAFEGUARDING OF COAL RESOURCES 

P
age 731



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                  Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Six: MAC77   List of Key and Detailed Policies 

 
M9: SAFEGUARDING OF LIMESTONE RESOURCES 

 
M7: SAFEGUARDING OF SAND AND GRAVEL, COAL AND LIMESTONE RESOURCES 

 

M8: AREAS WHERE COAL WORKING WILL NOT BE ACCEPTABLE 
 

WASTE  
 
W1: LAND FOR WASTE MANAGEMENT 

 
W21 SITES FOR WASTE MANAGEMENT FACILITIES 

 
W32: PROVISION FOR WASTE MANAGEMENT FACILITIES IN  
DEVELOPMENT

P
age 732



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                  Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Seven:  Proposals Map Matters Arising Schedule 

Appendix Seven:  Proposals Map Matters Arising Schedule 

Matters Arising 
Change (MAC) Ref 

No. 

Site name Section Policy 
/Para No 

HS/A P or 
other 

source 

Proposed Change 

MAC PM1 Eastern edge of 

Settlement 
Boundary 

at Strategic Site 
G  

Key Polices  6.6, 8.2 Amend the Eastern edge of Settlement Boundary 

at Strategic Site G further to the East so that it 
follows the line of the River Rhymney and then 

follow the Northern edge of the A48 along its 
Southern edge. 

MAC PM2  KP1 KP1 9.1, 3.9, 
3.10, 3.11, 
7.4 

Amend the denotation of the flexibility areas. 
 

MAC PM3 Rookwood 
Hospital 

Housing  9.6 Amend the boundary of H1.3 Rookwood Hospital  
 

MAC PM4 Land at Seawall 
Road 

Housing Policy H7 11.1 to 11.7 Delete site for Gypsy and Traveller from the 
Proposals Map 

MAC PM5  Housing  3.8 
 

Include selected sites over 500 dwellings on the 
Proposals Map 

MAC PM6 Employment 
Land EC1.2 and 

Central Business 
Area 

Economy Policy 
EC1.2 

- Amend boundary to include site within EC1.2 and 
delete from Central and Business Area  

MAC PM7 Cardiff Business 
Park and Land 

North of Maes y 
Coed Road 
Llanishen 

Economy Policy 
EC1.7 

- Amend boundary of Cardiff Business Park and 
Land North of Maes y Coed Road Llanishen 

(EC1.7) 

MAC PM8  Environment Policy EN4 13.8 Redraw the river corridor boundaries, to provide a 
solid boundary line to the hatching  

 

P
age 733



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                  Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Seven:  Proposals Map Matters Arising Schedule 

Matters Arising 

Change (MAC) Ref 
No. 

Site name Section Policy 

/Para No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

MAC PM9 River Rhymney 
Corridor: Land 
adjacent to Ball 

Road, 
Llanrumney 

Environment Policy EN4 13.8 Amend the Rhymney River corridor boundary 

MAC PM10 River Ely 
Corridor: Land 

adjacent to Arjo 
Wiggins Site 

Environment Policy EN4 13.8 Amend the Ely River corridor boundary 

MAC PM11 River Rhymney 
Corridor: Land 
adjacent to the 

Employment 
Allocation EC1.4 

Environment Policy EN4 13.8 Amend the Rhymney River corridor boundary as 
shown on 

MAC PM12 River Rhymney 
Corridor: Area 

between the M4 
and the A48M 

Environment Policy EN4 13.8 Amend the Rhymney River corridor boundary 

MAC PM13  Transport Policy T2: 
Strategic 
Rapid 

Transit And 
Bus 

Corridors 
 

14.5 Identify Bus Corridor Enhancements 

MAC PM14  Retail  10.7 Identify the Protected Shopping Frontages  

MAC PM15 Land at 
Government 

Offices, St Agnes 
Road, Heath 

Community Policy C10: 
Health 

Related 
Uses 

16.11 Delete allocation for Health related uses  

P
age 734



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                  Appendix A: Council proposed changes recommended by the Inspectors 

 
Appendix Seven:  Proposals Map Matters Arising Schedule 

Matters Arising 

Change (MAC) Ref 
No. 

Site name Section Policy 

/Para No 

HS/A P or 

other 
source 

Proposed Change 

MAC PM16  Minerals  15.6 Amend the Coal Safeguarding Area 

MAC PM17 South west of 

Tongwynlais 

Minerals New sand 

and gravel 
safeguardin
g area 

15.8 Identify land south west of Tongwynlais as a new 

sand and gravel safeguarding area.  Remove this 
area from the Limestone Safeguarding Area. 
 

MAC PM18 Land at Lamby 
Way 

Waste W1: Land 
for Waste 

Managemen
t 

15.14 Delete the waste management allocation at 
Lamby Way 

 

P
age 735



P
age 736



P
age 737



P
age 738



P
age 739



P
age 740



P
age 741



P
age 742



P
age 743



P
age 744



P
age 745



P
age 746



P
age 747



P
age 748



P
age 749



P
age 750



P
age 751



P
age 752



P
age 753



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                                       Appendix B:  Inspector Matters Arising Changes 

1 
 

Inspector Matters Arising Changes 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit Policy /Para No Hearing Session Proposed Change June 2015 

Inspector 

MAC1 

4 Policy KP3 (A): Green Belt Hearing Session 20: 

Green Belt  

Action Point 1 – note 

this MAC has been 

requested by the 

Inspectors and the 

Council’s response is 

set out in its formal 

reply to this Action 

Point. 

 

Delete Policy KP3 (A) and reasoned justification 

and replace with new KP3(A) Green Wedge 

 

 

KP3(A): GREEN BELT  

 

In order to strategically manage the urban 

form of Cardiff and to protect the setting of 

the urban area, a Green Belt is proposed on 

land North of the M4 as shown on the 

Proposals Map. Within this area 

development which prejudices the open 

nature of this land will not be permitted. 

Positive biodiversity, landscape, climate 

change mitigation and informal recreational 

management and enhancement measures 

will be encouraged in this area to further 

enhance the long term role of the area as a 

key natural resource benefiting the city. 

 

P
age 754



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                                       Appendix B:  Inspector Matters Arising Changes 

2 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit Policy /Para No Hearing Session Proposed Change June 2015 

4.69 Together with Key Policy KP3(B), this 

Policy seeks to strategically manage the future 

built form of Cardiff’s urban area. Supporting 

Document 3 evidences the assessment of the 

potential for a Green Belt in Cardiff. It concludes 

that designation is considered appropriate for 

Cardiff and would accord with national guidance 

relating to Green Belts as set out in Planning 

Policy Wales (PPW). 

 

4.70 Importantly, given that the Plan proposes 

some significant greenfield releases, this Policy 

provides some longer-term certainty as to the 

future urban form of the city. In this respect, it 

should be noted that land within a Green Belt 

should be protected for a longer period than the 

Plan period. This is also a reason why a Green 

Belt policy is required rather than a Green 

Wedge policy which would not give the long-

term protection considered necessary to 

effectively manage urban form. 

 

4.71 The designated area forms land North of 

the M4 in Cardiff as shown on the Proposals 

P
age 755



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                                       Appendix B:  Inspector Matters Arising Changes 

3 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit Policy /Para No Hearing Session Proposed Change June 2015 

Map. This land unquestionably forms a 

distinctive, prominent and well known green 

backdrop to the city forming a strategically 

important setting to the urban area. The land is 

also generally well contained by the strong 

physical boundary of the M4 Motorway to the 

south which is an important requirement of any 

designated Green Belt area. 

 

4.72 With regard to land immediately to the 

North of the proposed Green Belt within 

Caerphilly and Rhondda Cynon Taff, it is noted 

that policies set out in adopted LDPs very much 

support development restraint.  For example, 

within Caerphilly, the Caerphilly Mountain Area 

is all outside the settlement boundaries and a 

combination of Special Landscape Area and 

Visually Important Local Landscape designations 

apply across the whole area. Within Rhondda 

Cynon Taff, land to the North of the proposed 

Green Belt carries a Special Landscape Area 

designation.  Future LDP Reviews for these areas 

or any strategic planning measures which may 

be introduced in future years could consider an 

identifying extension of the Green Belt area in 

P
age 756



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                                       Appendix B:  Inspector Matters Arising Changes 

4 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit Policy /Para No Hearing Session Proposed Change June 2015 

accordance with national guidance. However, at 

this juncture, it is considered that Green Belt 

designation in Cardiff creates no obvious cross-

boundary anomalies or direct policy conflicts. 

 

4.73 The tightness of Cardiff’s administrative 

boundaries to the urban area to parts of the 

West and East, limits scope for a Green Belt 

designation in these locations. For example, the 

visually prominent Leckwith Escarpment is 

located in the Vale of Glamorgan but is 

protected by a Special Landscape Area 

designation in the Vale of Glamorgan 

Development Plan. In fact, most of the land 

within the Vale of Glamorgan immediately 

adjacent to Cardiff carries with it either Special 

Landscape Area or Green Wedge (around 

Culverhouse Cross) status. This provides an 

element of protection to Cardiff’s setting to the 

West. 

 

4.74 With regard to Newport, it is noteworthy 

that Newport’s adopted Unitary Development 

Plan includes a Green Belt designation on land 

P
age 757



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                                       Appendix B:  Inspector Matters Arising Changes 

5 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit Policy /Para No Hearing Session Proposed Change June 2015 

immediately East of Cardiff’s boundary. This 

puts in place measures to prevent the 

coalescence of Cardiff and Newport. It extends 

from the M4 to the coast running as far East as 

Castleton and Marshfield providing long-term 

protection for this large area. In places, the 

edge of Cardiff’s urban area runs right up to the 

administrative boundary and Green Belt 

designation within Newport but pockets of 

countryside remain in Cardiff around Old St 

Mellons and North of the sea wall. 

 

4.75 Green Belt designation is not considered 

appropriate for either of these areas as it is 

important that there remains a sufficient range 

of potential development land available in the 

longer term. Including such areas runs a 

significant risk of not taking full account of 

national guidance in this respect and 

undermining the Policy. The Green Belt 

designation in Newport is considered sufficient to 

prevent settlement coalescence between Cardiff 

and Newport and there is no demonstrable 

evidence supporting a wider designated area to 

support this objective. However, there are clear 

P
age 758



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                                       Appendix B:  Inspector Matters Arising Changes 

6 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit Policy /Para No Hearing Session Proposed Change June 2015 

and compelling other reasons for a Green Belt in 

other areas within Cardiff and for other reasons 

which are enlarged upon below. 

 

4.76 The proposed designated Green Belt is 

considered essential to protect the strategically 

significant rising land North of the M4 which is 

critical to the overall identity of Cardiff and much 

cherished by its residents.  It should also be 

noted that existing policies are not sufficient to 

protect the open nature of this land.  

 

4.77 Significant development pressures exert on 

this area. This has been evidenced through 

planning applications for dwelling conversions, 

rebuilds and related structures which are having 

a cumulative impact on landscape quality.  

Furthermore, numerous applications have been 

submitted for equine-related activities and other 

uses which are again beginning to have a 

cumulative impact on this highly visible and 

sensitive area. Significant Candidate Sites have 

also been submitted within the area. 

P
age 759



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                                       Appendix B:  Inspector Matters Arising Changes 

7 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit Policy /Para No Hearing Session Proposed Change June 2015 

 

4.78 The designation of a Green Belt with its 

associated strict policy to preserve the open 

nature of this land is the only policy tool 

available to the Council to prevent the long term 

deterioration of this visually prominent land 

providing a strategic setting to the city. It is 

very much recognised by the public as being a 

key distinctive element which helps defines the 

very nature of Cardiff in the same way that 

other readily recognised areas are perceived and 

valued such as Cardiff Bay and the City Centre. 

 

4.79 Although Green Belts are not intended to 

be a tool to protect areas of high intrinsic value, 

the land is of high environmental value and also 

a popular area for informal recreation. The Policy 

therefore also has a positive aspect to build 

upon the long-term certainty of protection by 

putting in place support for management and 

enhancement measures. For example, the long-

term protection can act as a stimulus to consider 

landscape-scale initiatives addressing such 

matters as carbon sinks, habitat creation and 

P
age 760



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                                       Appendix B:  Inspector Matters Arising Changes 

8 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit Policy /Para No Hearing Session Proposed Change June 2015 

management initiatives and wider green 

infrastructure-related projects where long-term 

certainty would support planning and delivery. 

4.80 PPW provides specific guidance on the 

consideration of planning applications within the 

Green Belt. It provides a presumption against 

inappropriate development and outlines the very 

exceptional circumstances where other 

considerations may clearly outweigh the harm to 

protecting the openness of the Green Belt. 

 

Insert new KP3(A) Green Wedge to replace 

existing KP3 (A) 

 

KP3(A): GREEN WEDGE 

 

In order to strategically manage the urban 

form of Cardiff and to protect the setting of 

the urban area, a Green Wedge is proposed 

on land North of the M4 as shown on the 

Proposals Map.  Within this area 

development which prejudices the open 

P
age 761



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                                       Appendix B:  Inspector Matters Arising Changes 

9 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit Policy /Para No Hearing Session Proposed Change June 2015 

nature of this land will not be permitted.  

Positive biodiversity, landscape, climate 

change mitigation and informal recreational 

management and enhancement measures 

will be encouraged in this area to further 

enhance the long term role of the area as a 

key natural resource benefiting the city. 

 

Together with Key Policy KP3(B), this Policy 

seeks to strategically manage the future built 

form of Cardiff’s urban area.  The designated 

area forms land North of the M4 in Cardiff as 

shown on the Proposals Map. This land 

unquestionably forms a distinctive, prominent 

and well known green backdrop to the city 

forming a strategically important setting to the 

urban area. The land is also generally well 

contained by the strong physical boundary of the 

M4 Motorway to the south.  

 

PPW provides specific guidance on the 

consideration of planning applications within the 

Green Wedge designation.  

P
age 762



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                                       Appendix B:  Inspector Matters Arising Changes 

10 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit Policy /Para No Hearing Session Proposed Change June 2015 

 

 

Consequential amendments: 

 

Consequential Changes of the Deletion of 

KP3 (A) Green Belt and Replacement with 

new KP3 (A) Green Wedge Policy 

 

 Amend Paragraph 4.4 and 4.11 of the 

Strategy: 
 

4.4 However, the Strategy sets out clear 

policies and mechanisms which provide a 

framework designed to effectively manage 

future growth and encourage high quality and 

sustainable design.  This includes adopting a 

masterplanning approach based on the 

sustainable neighbourhood objectives to the 

development of new sites supported by more 

detailed design guidance.  Additionally, the 

approach strategically manages growth by 

proposing the designationing of a Green Belt 

P
age 763



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                                       Appendix B:  Inspector Matters Arising Changes 

11 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit Policy /Para No Hearing Session Proposed Change June 2015 

Wedge and tight settlement boundaries policy to 

protect large areas of countryside.  In this way, 

new development can be planned for in a 

phased manner and designed in a more 

sustainable way to minimise negative impacts. 

 

4.11 Cardiff possesses a unique and particularly 

distinctive natural and built heritage.  The 

Strategy delivers sustainable development by 

meeting social and economic needs, but in a 

managed way which retains, manages and 

enhances important features of natural and built 

heritage.  Central to this approach is the 

designation of a Green Belt Wedge to the North 

of the M4 Motorway, a strict settlement 

boundaries policy together with protection to the 

river valleys and open spaces. In this way, 

Cardiff’s distinctive environmental qualities can 

be successfully maintained with further 

opportunities to enhance their management and 

increase public enjoyment. 

 

 Amend Key Diagram: delete reference 
to Green Belt and replace with Green Wedge. 

P
age 764



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                                       Appendix B:  Inspector Matters Arising Changes 

12 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit Policy /Para No Hearing Session Proposed Change June 2015 

 

 Amend KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH 

paragraph 4.40: 
 

4.40 Work undertaken as part of this process 

has shown that there is limited scope for further 

development areas due to the environmental 

and other constraints around the city together. 

There is considered merit in focussing potential 

additional areas based upon proposed Strategic 

Sites where there is land available to take 

advantage of the comprehensive provision of 

new community and transportation 

infrastructure and minimising impact on areas of 

higher environmental sensitivity including land 

proposed for Green Belt Wedge designation. 

 

 Amend Policy KP3(B): SETTLEMENT 
BOUNDARIES paragraph 4.81 

 

4.81 Cardiff’s settlement boundaries are a key 

mechanism for helping to manage growth by 

defining the area within which development 

P
age 765



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                                       Appendix B:  Inspector Matters Arising Changes 

13 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit Policy /Para No Hearing Session Proposed Change June 2015 

would normally be permitted, subject to 

material planning considerations.  This Policy 

compliments the Green Belt Wedge Key Policy 

(KP3(A)) set out above.  Unlike the Green Belt. 

The this policy will not extend beyond the Plan 

period but it will impose a strict control on 

development of all countryside in Cardiff outside 

the identified settlement boundaries as shown 

on the Proposals Map.  Detailed Policy EN1 

provides more guidance on the interpretation of 

this Policy approach. 

 

 Amend Policy EN1: COUNTRYSIDE 
PROTECTION paragraph 5.87: 

 

5.87 It should be read in conjunction with Policy KP3A 

and KP3B and aims to ensure that those uses 

that do not need to be located in the 

countryside will be resisted. Whilst KP3A 

provides strict controls in the Green Belt Wedge 

area for the reasons given, this policy provides 

further guidance on uses appropriate in the 

countryside as a whole. 

P
age 766



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                                       Appendix B:  Inspector Matters Arising Changes 

14 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit Policy /Para No Hearing Session Proposed Change June 2015 

 

 Amend Policy EN2: CONVERSION, 

EXTENSION AND REPLACEMENT 
BUILDINGS IN THE COUNTRYSIDE 

paragraph 5.56 
 

As proposed for amendment by MAC27 

(June 2015 Schedule) 

 

5.96 The Policy contributes towards Plan 

objectives and PPW (2012, Para 7.6.8) which 

supports the re-use and adaption of existing 

rural buildings to help meet the needs of 

commercial and industrial development, as well 

as for tourism sport and recreation. It further 

accords with PPW (2012, Para 7.6.9 and 7.6.10) 

which supports the inclusion of polices within 

the development plan which do not allow 

residential re-use which would have a harmful 

effect on the character of the countryside. 

Reference should also be made to KP3A with 

regard to the consideration of proposals in the 

Green Belt Wedge area. 

P
age 767



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                                       Appendix B:  Inspector Matters Arising Changes 

15 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit Policy /Para No Hearing Session Proposed Change June 2015 

 

 Amend Policy EN3: LANDSCAPE 

PROTECTION paragraph 5.104 
5.104 Wherever possible, development will be 

expected to maintain and strengthen positive 

attributes of the landscape and seek to mitigate 

or remove, rather than compound negative 

influences. Reference should also be made to 

KP3A with regard to the consideration of 

proposals in the Green Belt Wedge area. 

 

 Amend the Proposals Map Key to 
delete reference Green Belt and replace 

with Green Wedge 
 

 Amend Summary: 

 

3. Putting in place a framework to manage 

future growth and encourage high quality, 

sustainable design 

 

Policies and mechanisms have been put in place 

P
age 768



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                                       Appendix B:  Inspector Matters Arising Changes 

16 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit Policy /Para No Hearing Session Proposed Change June 2015 

to provide a framework to effectively manage 

future growth.  Areas to be kept free from 

development are made explicit avoiding the 

current climate of uncertainty created by not 

having an adopted Plan in place.  Protected 

areas include the designation of Green Belt 

Wedge North of the M4 Motorway together 

with tight settlement boundaries policy county-

wide and protection of river valleys and open 

spaces.  Collectively, these policies protect 

vast tracts of Cardiff’s valued countryside, river 

valleys and open spaces.  The master planning 

approach provides an over-arching framework 

for the development of new areas setting out 

key requirements relating to land use, 

densities, facilities, transportation, open spaces 

and phasing.  Further work on the detailed 

master planning of areas will be carried out 

within this over-arching context.  Design 

policies and guidance set out expectations 

encouraging more sustainable forms of 

development. 

 

8. Respecting Cardiff’s environment and 

P
age 769



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                                       Appendix B:  Inspector Matters Arising Changes 

17 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit Policy /Para No Hearing Session Proposed Change June 2015 

responding to climate change 

 

Cardiff possesses a unique and particularly 

distinctive natural and built heritage.  The Plan 

delivers sustainable development by meeting 

social and economic needs, but in a managed 

way which retains, manages and enhances 

important features of natural and built heritage.  

Central to this approach is the designation of a 

Green Belt Wedge to the North of the M4 

Motorway, strict settlement boundaries policy 

together with protection to the river valleys and 

open spaces.  In this way, Cardiff’s distinctive 

environmental qualities can be successfully 

maintained with further opportunities to enhance 

their management and increase public 

enjoyment.  Detailed policies provide clear 

guidance relating to important elements of 

Cardiff’s biodiversity, landscape and built 

heritage. 

 

 

P
age 770



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                                       Appendix B:  Inspector Matters Arising Changes 

18 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit Policy /Para No Hearing Session Proposed Change June 2015 

9. Main changes since Preferred Strategy 

 

In response to consultation responses and on-

going evidence base work, the following main 

changes/updates have been made to the Plan 

from that set out in the Preferred Strategy: 

 Inclusion of a Green Belt for long term 
protection of land north of the M4 motorway; 

 Reduction in the overall level of housing 

growth from 45,400 in the Preferred Strategy 
to 41,100 dwellings to reflect the findings of 

independent population forecasting experts 
Edge Analytics Ltd; 

 Provision for a flexibility allowance of 10 per 

cent to ensure the plan can accommodate 
potentially higher build rates than anticipated, 

if it is demonstrated 
 Reduced overall number of new dwellings 
proposed on some Strategic Sites responding 

to issues raised in consultation together with 
work and dialogue as part of developing the 

masterplanning framework on potential sites; 
 More detail on the masterplanning framework 
for Strategic Sites including more detail on 

transportation solutions, community facilities 
and infrastructure. 

 Further detail will be provided to inform the 

P
age 771



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                                       Appendix B:  Inspector Matters Arising Changes 

19 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit Policy /Para No Hearing Session Proposed Change June 2015 

LDP examination through the preparation of 
site specific Master Plans along with other 

technical material; 
 Inclusion of Eastern Bay Link as a strategic 

transport proposal following Welsh 
Government support for the scheme; 

 Amending the affordable housing target where 

there evidence of need to 30% on greenfield 
sites and 20% on brownfield sites to reflect 

new evidence and consultation responses 
relating to the viability of affordable housing 
schemes; 

 Allocation of a new Gypsy and Travellers site at 
Pengam Green; and 

 Allocation of land for health-related uses 
adjacent to Heath Hospital and for employment 
use (research/ higher education-related) at 

Maindy Park 
 

Monitoring Framework 

 

Amend OB3 EN7 of the Monitoring Framework to 

delete reference to Green Belt and insert Green 

Wedge 

 

P
age 772



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                                       Appendix B:  Inspector Matters Arising Changes 

20 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit Policy /Para No Hearing Session Proposed Change June 2015 

Inspector 

MAC2 

5 New Policy and reasoned 

justification 

16.5 Insert new Policy to be referenced C2 after 
existing paragraph 5.316  

 
C2: Protection of Existing Community 

Facilities: 
 

Proposals involving the loss or change of 

use of buildings currently or last used for 
community facilities will only be permitted 

if: 
i) An alternative facility of at least equal 
quality and scale to meet community needs 

is available or will be provided within the 
vicinity and or; 

ii) It can be demonstrated that the existing 
provision is surplus to the needs of the 
community. 

 
Existing community facilities are widely available 

throughout the City.  Ensuring an adequate 
provision is maintained, is very important in 
order to encourage social interaction, improve 

health and well-being and reduce inequalities 
between different communities.  The retention 

of existing facilities will therefore be sought 
unless it can be demonstrated that the above 
criteria can be met.  

 
Whilst this policy will apply to both commercial 

and non-commercial uses which provide a social 

P
age 773



515993: Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026                                                                                                       Appendix B:  Inspector Matters Arising Changes 

21 
 

MAC 

Number 

Chapter Deposit Policy /Para No Hearing Session Proposed Change June 2015 

or welfare benefit to the community, community 
land and buildings are of particular importance. 

This includes land and buildings that are 
managed and used primarily by the voluntary 

and community sector for community-led 
activities. 
 

In order to satisfy criterion ii) of the policy it will 
be necessary to demonstrate that continued use 

as community facility is no longer viable giving 
consideration to appropriate marketing and local 
need and demand for the existing community 

facility. 
 

 

 

P
age 774



Appendix 2: Non-Technical Summary of LDP Inspectors Report 

The Inspectors Report concludes that, subject to the recommended Matters Arising 
Changes (MACs) set out in Appendices A and B of the Inspectors Report, the Cardiff 
Local Development Plan 2006 - 2026 (LDP) provides an appropriate basis for the 
planning of the City up to 2026. The Inspectors state that the Council has sufficient 
evidence to support the strategy and has shown that it has a realistic prospect of being 
delivered. The Inspectors note a number of changes are needed to meet legal and 
statutory requirements and to ensure that the Plan is sound. They also note that these 
do not alter the thrust of the Council’s overall strategy and do not undermine the 
Sustainability Appraisal carried out by the Council. The main changes are summarised 
as:  
 
• Revised housing requirement to reflect consideration of Welsh Government (WG) 

2011-based population and household projections and inclusion of the flexibility 
allowance figure within the overall housing target;  

• Improved clarity on how and when the required housing – together with any required 
flexibility allowance - will come forward;  

• Extend non-strategic housing allocation H1.3 and delete non-strategic health 
employment site;  

• Delete the Gypsy & Traveller allocation and include a timetable to identify and deliver 
a new site or sites within the Plan and the monitoring framework;  

• Provide new policies for each of the strategic sites to include infrastructure 
requirements and master planning principles;  

• Set out the affordable housing requirement in the Plan including the tenure mix;  
• Clarify that affordable housing provision should be provided on site unless there are 

exceptional circumstances;  
• Provide more clarity on the timing and phasing of infrastructure for the strategic sites 

by including categories of infrastructure in the policies and more detail in the 
Infrastructure Plan;  

• State that planning obligations will be sought where they satisfy WG Circular 13/97 
and the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulation 122(2);  

• Improved clarity that development will need to show that it has maximised 
achievement towards the 50:50 modal transport split target;  

• Provide more details of the bus corridor enhancements and rapid transit corridors in 
the Plan and greater clarity about the distinction between them;  

• Provide a new policy for the planned Metro to ensure development won’t prejudice 
this regionally important project by safeguarding land where routes are known;  

• Include a new policy setting out criteria for employment proposals to come forward 
on unallocated land;  

• Inclusion of the hierarchy of retail centres in the Plan;  
• Change the Green Belt designation to Green Wedge;  
• Include a statement in the Plan of how the needs and interests of the Welsh 

language have been taken into account;  
• Changes to settlement boundaries to more closely follow defined physical features;  
• Changes to Minerals policies including a new comprehensive policy relating to 

mineral safeguarding;  
• Deletion of the site proposed to be allocated for Waste;  
• Changes to policy wording to reflect national planning policy more closely and 

Page 775



ensure their effectiveness; and  
• Changes to the monitoring framework developing the targets and indictors in more 

detail to improve monitoring.  
 
Almost all of the recommended changes have been put forward by the Council in 
response to matters discussed during the examination. The Inspectors conclude that 
with the recommended changes the Plan satisfies the requirements of section 64(5) of 
the 2004 Act and meets the tests of soundness.  

 

Page 776



Appendix 3 

Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006 to 2026 

Adoption Statement 

January 2016 

Background 
 
In accordance with the requirements of Regulations 25 (2) of the Town & Country 
Planning (Local Development Plan) (Wales) Regulations 2005 and Regulation 16 of 
the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes (Wales) Regulations 
2004, the Council is required to prepare an Adoption Statement for the Cardiff Local 
Development Plan. Part 1 of the statement addresses the requirements of the Town 
& Country Planning (Local Development Plan) (Wales) Regulations 2005 and Part 2 
accords with the requirements of the Environmental Assessment of Plans and 
Programmes (Wales) Regulations 2004. 
 
Part 1: LDP Statement of Adoption 
 
1.1 The Cardiff Local Development Plan (LDP) was adopted on the 28th January 

2016. The LDP became operative on its adoption. The Cardiff LDP is the 
planning policy document for the City and County of Cardiff. It sets out key 
policies and land use allocations that will shape the future of the city and 
guide development up to 2026. The Cardiff LDP replaces the existing adopted 
development plans for the city comprising the South Glamorgan (Cardiff Area) 
Replacement Structure Plan 1991 to 2011, South Glamorgan (Cardiff Area) 
Minerals Local Plan, City of Cardiff Local Plan and Mid Glamorgan County 
Structure Plan incorporating Proposed Alterations No. 1 (1981 to 1996). 

 
1.2 Copies of the adopted LDP, the report of the Planning Inspectors appointed to 

hold the independent examination, the Sustainability Appraisal (SA) report 
(incorporating the Strategic Environmental Assessment SEA) and Habitats 
Regulations Assessment together with this Adoption Statement are available 
for inspection at  County Hall, Atlantic Wharf, Cardiff CF10 4UW  between the 
hours of 9.00am and 4.30pm Monday to Fridays, at all Public Libraries during 
normal opening hours and on the Council’s website at: 

 
www.cardiff.gov.uk/localdevelopmentplan 

 
1.3 A person aggrieved by the LDP who desires to question its validity on the 

ground that it is not within the powers conferred by Part 6 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 or that any requirement of that Act or any 
regulation made under it has not been complied with in relation to the 
adoption of the LDP, may, within six weeks from the date specified on the 
adoption notice make an application to the High Court under Section 113 of 
the 2004 Act. 

 

Page 777

http://www.cardiff.gov.uk/localdevelopmentplan


 
 
Part 2 – Environmental Assessment of Plans and 
Programmes (Wales) Regulations 2004 
 
Introduction 
 
2.1 The LDP provides a spatial framework which is underpinned by the principles 

of sustainable development. The LDP provides a policy framework that 
integrates social, environmental and economic issues that are relevant to the 
people who live, work and visit the City and County of Cardiff. This section of 
the Adoption Statement describes how the SA/SEA process has influenced 
the progression of the LDP and how environmental considerations and 
consultation responses have been taken into account during the development 
of the Plan. It also notes why the Deposit LDP was progressed in the light of 
other reasonable alternatives and highlights the measures that have been 
developed to track the effects of the Plan. The SEA Regulations require that a 
‘statement’ be made available to accompany the adopted plan or programme. 
The Regulations require that this post ‘Adoption Statement’ provides the 
following information: 

 
• How environmental considerations have been integrated into the LDP; 
• How the Environmental Report (the SA/SEA Report) has been taken into 

account; 
• How opinions expressed in relation to the consultations on the plan and 

Environmental Report (the SA/SEA) have been taken into account; 
• How the results of any transboundary consultation have been taken into 

account; 
• The reasons for choosing the plan as adopted, in the light of the other 

reasonable alternatives dealt with; and 
• The measures that are to be taken to monitor the significant environmental 

effects of the implementation of the Plan. 
 
2.2 Each of these requirements, set out in paragraph 2.1 above, is dealt with in 

turn below. It should be noted that a substantial amount of information relating 
to these matters is contained within existing documents such as the final 
SA/SEA Report, Consultation Report (submitted document LDP.052) and the 
Inspectors Report. In accordance with paragraph 8.4.2.3 of the Local 
Development Plan Manual (Edition 2, August 2015), rather than duplicate this 
material, appropriate cross references are made to relevant documents within 
this statement. 

 
2.3 The LDP was also subject to a Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) 

which was carried out in parallel to the SA/ SEA process. The HRA assessed 
the impacts of LDP in combination with the effects of other plans and projects 
on European sites designated for their ecological status. This assessment 
also accompanied the Deposit LDP and adopted Plan and was reported 
separately.  

Page 778



 
 
 
How environmental considerations have been integrated into the Local 
Development Plan 
 
2.4 The LDP has been subject to a Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) in 

order to consider the potential impact of the Plan on the environment and to 
improve the LDP’s environmental performance. The SEA and Sustainability 
Appraisal (SA) processes have been undertaken in parallel and integrated 
within the Sustainability Appraisal Report and other SA/SEA related 
documents. A Habitats Regulations Screening Assessment has also been 
undertaken, which concluded that the LDP will not have a significant effect on 
European sites, alone or in-combination with any other plans or projects. The 
SA (incorporating SEA) has been prepared by the Council in conjunction with 
Levett Therivel Sustainability Consultants. The SA process is intended to 
assist in the implementation of the LDP with a view to delivering sustainable 
development in Cardiff. The SA has gone through several stages. A Scoping 
Report to provide the background to the SA process was finalised in January 
2011. This was made available for public consultation in 2010. The Scoping 
Report sets out a baseline along with the SA objectives. A table appraising 
the SA Scoping Report consultation responses received, and the actions 
required for the SA Stage B Environmental Report, was included as an 
appendix in the initial SA report was published for consultation in October 
2012 alongside the pre deposit Preferred Strategy documents.  

 
2.5 This Initial SA reviewed 3 growth options and 8 spatial scenarios to deliver 

this growth. This formed part of an iterative approach to Plan making. The SA 
report went to Council on 26th September 2013 along with the deposit LDP. 
The deposit LDP, SA/SEA report, the Non Technical Summary along with 8 
appendices, was placed on Deposit for consultation alongside the LDP in mid 
October 2013. Guidance for proponents for alternative sites in relation to SA 
requirements was also published by the Council.  

 
2.6 The SA Report was submitted in August 2014 ahead of the LDP Examination. 

In response to agreed actions at the LDP Examination, the Council published 
two rounds of Matters Arising Changes (MACs) for consultation in June 2015 
and October 2015 respectively. An update to the Sustainability Appraisal and 
Habitats Regulations Assessment reports taking into account the implications 
of these changes were also made available to accompany each of the 
consultations. 

 
2.7 The outcome of the Inspector’s assessment of the LDP, along with 

recommendations and reasons for them have also been subject to due 
consideration and been incorporated into the final SA/SEA and HRA reports. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 779



How the environmental report has been taken into account 
 
2.8 The SA/SEA and LDP were developed in parallel, with each stage of the 

SA/SEA informing and influencing the preparation and progression of the 
LDP. 

 
 
SA Scoping 
 
2.9 The first stage of the SA was a scoping exercise to identify the main 

sustainability issues in the plan area, to set out the approach to SA and the 
sustainability framework (i.e. the objectives). This stage was finalised in 
January 2011 and was made available for public consultation in 2010. 

 
2.10 It is a statutory requirement in the SEA Directive for named environmental 

consultation bodies (Natural Resources Wales and CADW) to be consulted at 
this scoping stage. This was the case for the SA for the LDP, however it was 
decided to widen this to a full public consultation. The SA was also utilised in 
the formulation of the LDP issues, vision and Strategic Objectives. 

 
Initial SA Report – Pre deposit stage 
 
2.11 At this stage, an Initial SA Report was produced to consider the relative 

sustainability impacts of implementing alternative strategic growth and spatial 
options. As well as the sustainability impacts of the chosen approach, the LDP 
at this stage contained policies for implementing the Preferred Strategy. Each 
policy was appraised against the sustainability objectives using a 
standardised matrix to ensure a systematic appraisal. This document was 
published alongside the Preferred Strategy for consultation in 2012. An 
assessment of growth and spatial options was undertaken. This formed part 
of an iterative approach to Plan making. 

 
The Assessment and Selection of Sites 
 
2.12 The assessment and identification of sites was undertaken in accordance with 

a detailed site assessment methodology and appraisal criteria. This process 
allowed for the review of a range of issues, including a site’s contribution to 
sustainable development and other matters such as environmental factors, 
flood risk factors, transportation factors, neighbourhood, community and place 
making factors and infrastructure and deliverability factors. 

 
2.13 In determining where housing and employment growth could be directed 

spatially, the planning team considered the existing land bank of housing and 
employment land, scheduled completions, windfall sites and information 
received from landowners and developers on potential candidate sites. This 
resulted in 112 possible development sites. 

 
2.14 Various combinations of sites were also considered: 
 

Page 780



• North west transport corridor‐ Candidate sites south of Creigiau, north of 
Junction 33 of the M4, sites to west of Fairwater and Radyr 

• North east‐ Several candidate sites located between Lisvane and 
Pontprennau plus the site located east of the Pentwyn Link Road 

• St Mellons Village‐ A collection of relatively small candidate sites in a well‐
defined area around the fringes of St Mellons Village which collectively 
cover about 57 hectares 

• Land north of Junction 33 of M4 / south of Creigiau 
• Land south of St Mellons Business Park. 

 
2.15 The following enlarged sites were also appraised: 
 

• North west Cardiff submission extended slightly to the west up to Croft Y 
Genau Road 

• North west Cardiff extended north towards M4 
• North west Cardiff extension to the west  
• Land north of Junction 33 
• Cardiff Central Enterprise Zone – Since the candidate sites were 

submitted, the Welsh Government have designated the Cardiff Central 
Enterprise Zone in April 2012. This covers a much larger geographical 
area than the 3 small candidate sites previously submitted. 

 
2.16 A modified approach was taken to the appraisal of individual candidate 

development sites. It is not possible, at the plan‐making stage, to know 
precisely what kind of development will go on each site, for instance what 
combination of housing, employment and infrastructure a developer will 
propose when they make a planning application; or what site layout and 
development design they will propose. For other aspects of sustainability, like 
waste management, the choice of development sites will not affect the impact. 
As a result these topics were not assessed for individual sites. On the other 
hand, detailed information is available on some other sustainability topics: for 
instance, whether they are near sites of nature conservation importance or in 
areas of flood risk. 

 
2.17 To ensure full integration between the plan‐making and SA processes, one 

joint planning/SA pro forma was agreed by the SA and planning teams, and 
was filled in by the planning team for each candidate development site. The 
pro forma took into account the feasibility and applicability of potential 
mitigation measures. More detail on the assessment and selection of sites 
and the SA/SEA recommendations is provided in the SA/SEA documentation. 

 
SA of the Deposit LDP 
 
2.18 The SA report went to Council on 26th September 2013 along with the deposit 

LDP. The deposit LDP SA report, the non technical summary along with an 
annex containing the SA assessment of sites, was placed on Deposit for 
consultation alongside the LDP in mid October 2013. Guidance for 
proponents for alternative sites in relation to SA requirements was also 
published by the Authority. As part of the formulation of the deposit LDP, the 

Page 781



SA provided an iterative and dynamic sounding board which allowed for the 
development of a robust Plan and policy framework. Such an input allowed for 
the consideration of matters relating to site selection and policy formulation. 

 
Matters Arising Changes 
 
2.19 In response to agreed actions at the Examination, the Council published two 

rounds of Matters Arising Changes (MACs) for consultation in June 2015 and 
October 2015. A Schedule of Implications for Sustainability Appraisal and 
Habitats Regulations Assessment report was made available to 
inform/support these consultations. Within the Inspector’s report, it states that:  
“We are satisfied that these changes are in line with the substance of the 
overall Plan and its policies, and do not undermine the Sustainability 
Appraisal (SA) and participatory processes that have been undertaken”.  

 
Adopted LDP 
 
2.20 The SA of the Adopted Plan is the final stage of the process. It is available for 

viewing alongside the other statutory documents, including the Inspector’s 
Report. The integration of environmental considerations into the LDP has, 
therefore, been undertaken progressively and iteratively as the Plan has 
developed. The Scoping Report ensured that the sustainability issues most 
relevant to the Plan area were identified; and the Strategy and individual 
policies have been appraised against this framework of Sustainability 
Objectives. The Inspector’s Report states that: “The Plan has been subject to 
SA including Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA). The SA provides a 
summary of the strategic alternatives considered and a brief summary of 
reasons why they were not selected. Further changes put forward by the 
Council as part of the examination process have likewise been tested where 
necessary for any impacts they have upon the SA and SEA. We are satisfied 
that the SA/SEA process undertaken is robust and satisfies procedural and 
legal requirements”. Furthermore, the Inspectors states that “In accordance 
with the Habitats Directive a Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) of the 
Plan has been undertaken8, and reviewed as necessary in the light of 
changes put forward during the examination. We are satisfied that the results 
of the HRA Screening demonstrate that an Appropriate Assessment is not 
required. It can therefore be concluded that no significant effects upon the 
integrity of the European sites within the plan area or in adjacent areas are 
likely to occur (either alone or in combination with other plans or projects) as a 
result of implementing the Plan”.  

 
How opinions expressed in relation to the consultations on the Plan and 
environmental report have been taken into account 
 
2.21 The SA/SEA process and has been undertaken in accordance with: Article 6 

of the EU Directive 2001/42/EC; the Environmental Assessment of Plans and 
Programmes Regulations 2004; and the Council’s Community Involvement 
Scheme (CIS). There is a statutory requirement to consult with the relevant 
named bodies. In addition consultation should be undertaken with the public 

Page 782



and a wider range of interested stakeholders. Consultation with the full range 
of stakeholders was undertaken at the following key stages: 
• SA/SEA Scoping (2010); 
• SA/SEA Pre Deposit Proposals (2012); and, 
• SA/SEA of Deposit LDP (2013) 
• SA/SEA of MACs (2015). 

 
How the results of any transboundary consultation have been taken into 
account 
 
2.22 No transboundary issues were raised through the SA process. 
 
2.23 The habitats Regulations Assessment of the LDP considered the effects of 

the LDP beyond the Cardiff administrative boundary in respect of the impacts 
on European sites of nature conservation importance. It was concluded that 
with the mitigation measures incorporated into the Plan, the implementation of 
the LDP would not result in a likely significant effect on any European Site 
either alone or in combination with other plans and projects. 

 
 
The reasons for choosing the Plan as adopted in the light of the other 
reasonable alternatives dealt with  
 
2.24 As part of the development of the LDP, the Council considered a range of 

spatial and policy options. Three growth options and eight spatial growth 
options to deliver this growth were considered through the Pre-Deposit 
Proposals (which incorporated the Preferred Strategy) and were subject to 
SA/SEA (2012). In order to achieve the Vision and Objectives of the LDP, the 
Council chose to implement growth option B –Medium growth which proposed 
41,100 homes and 40,000 jobs and 5 out the 8 spatial growth options were 
chosen to deliver the growth comprising dispersed brownfield sites, greenfield 
sites west of Pentrebane, greenfield sites south of Creigiau/north of junction 
33, greenfield sites west and east of Pontprennau and greenfield sites in the 
east. More detail on the consideration of options and the SA/SEA 
recommendations is provided in the SA/SEA documentation. 

 
 
The measures that are to be taken to monitor the significant environmental 
effects of the implementation of the Plan 
 
2.25 LDP Regulation 37 requires the Council to prepare, and subsequently submit 

to Welsh Government, an Annual Monitoring Report (AMR). This is required 
to monitor specific items, as well as identifying where and why policies of the 
Plan are not being implemented. Regulation 17 of the SEA regulations 
requires that the Council must monitor the most significant effects of the Plan. 
Therefore, monitoring the Plan and its significant environmental effects are 
statutory requirements and will be undertaken through the AMR. The 
Monitoring Framework, as set out within Appendix 9 of the Adopted LDP, 
provides the basis for measuring policy performance. In this respect, the 

Page 783



implementation of the LDP will be monitored with appropriate regard to the 
objectives and outcomes of the SA/SEA. 

 
2.26 Monitoring the Plan and its significant environmental effects are statutory 

requirements that will be undertaken through the AMR. The first AMR will be 
submitted to Welsh Government by 31st October 2017. 

 
Further Information 
 
2.27 If you have any queries or would like further information please contact a 

member of the LDP team on 029 2233 0983 or by 
emailing LDP@cardiff.gov.uk. 

 

Page 784

mailto:LDP@cardiff.gov.uk


Cardiff Local Development 
Plan 

2006 – 2026 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The LDP Inspectors have authorised the Council to make outstanding 
typographical and factual errors, together with any other presentational matters 
and consequential changes flowing from agreed Matters Arising Changes (MACs) 
and recommended Inspectors Matters Arising Changes (IMACs) such as altered 
policy cross-references, map title amendments, site area or numerical changes 
and paragraph numberings. Whilst this final version of the Plan has sought to 
pick up all such changes there may be others identified and corresponding 
changes made during final publication of the document   

  

Page 785



Contents 
 
Foreword           4 
Summary           8 
1 Introduction          14 
2 The Cardiff Context and Key Issues the Plan  
must address          20 
3 LDP Vision and Objectives       24 
4 Strategy, Key Policies and Key Diagram     34 
5 Detailed Policies         92 
6 Monitoring and Implementation      196 
7 How to make comments       200 
8 7 List of Appendices and Background Technical Papers  201 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 786



Foreword 
 
As the one of the fastest growing cities in UK, it is vital that new 
development is guided by an up-to-date Development Plan. The LDP 
provides the necessary framework and certainty to bring forward the new 
homes (especially affordable/family housing) and jobs which are required 
in a managed manner.  

 

A new Plan for Cardiff is all the more vital given the fact that the previous 
Local Plan was approved in 1996- some 19 years ago. The lack of an up-
to-date Plan has had serious negative consequences with insufficient land 
being brought forward to meet urgent housing needs.  

 

Put quite simply, not having a plan in place does not stop development. 
All that happens is that development still takes place, but in a policy 
vacuum where the Council and its residents have limited control. Appeals 
have been lost for development in the open countryside and also left the 
Council on the back foot in terms of securing supporting infrastructure 
and community facilities. A plan-led approach is the only way forward 
where the Council sets out a clear strategy for the future. 

 

This administration has shown strong leadership by progressing the LDP 
through a complex preparation process in strict accordance with the 
approved timetable. This process has involved numerous stages of 
consultation and in addition a lengthy formal examination process over 
the past year and a half. Can I take this opportunity of thanking all who 
have engaged in this exercise which is so important for the future of our 
city.  

 

It has also responded to issues raised during the process and embedded a 
strong masterplanning framework within the Plan. In this way, new 
development will bring with it the phased provision of necessary 
supporting infrastructure including schools, health facilities and other 
community benefits. The importance of transportation infrastructure is 
also recognised with the Plan setting out a new strategic sustainable 

Page 787



transportation approach so our city can keep moving and improve links 
with surrounding areas. 

 

Overall, the Plan provides a balanced response to meeting social and 
economic needs, but in a manner which best protects our valued open 
spaces, river corridors and countryside backdrop.  

 

An exciting new era in Cardiff’s development unquestionably lies ahead. 
In coming years we will see the new BBC headquarters and transport 
interchange in the heart of our city. Other brownfield regeneration 
schemes continue to come forward including council-led affordable 
housing projects alongside new greenfield opportunities set out in the 
Plan. On a city-region scale, there are significant opportunities ahead 
through the Metro and City Deal.   

 

The adoption of the LDP is therefore not only timely but vital in helping to 
provide the necessary certainty to attract and sustain new investments. 
In this way, Cardiff can continue to bring forward the new homes and jobs 
it needs and further enhance is role as one of the most liveable capital 
cities in Europe.       

 
Councillor Ramesh Patel 
Cabinet Member Transport, Planning & Sustainability 

 
  

Page 788



Summary 
Summary 
Cardiff urgently requires a new Plan to guide future development. This 
section provides a brief summary of the Deposit Local Development Plan 
(LDP) and also highlights the main changes since the Preferred Strategy 
was approved in October, 2012. 
 
1. Adopting a new Plan for Cardiff which is urgently required  
 

• Existing Development Plans in Cardiff are out of date.   
• There is currently an insufficient supply of housing land in Cardiff.   
• For the first time in generations, there are currently no significant 

urban extensions underway.   
• Recent appeals have been lost for development in the open 

countryside and the submission of new greenfield planning 
applications continues.   

• There is a real danger of an unplanned ‘free for all’.   
• The need to have a new plan in place is therefore acute. 

 
2 1 . Making provision for new homes and jobs 
 

• Cardiff has a significant need for new homes including family 
homes, affordable homes together with catering for the whole range 
of needs.   

• Cardiff also plays a key role as economic driver of the wider city-
region, providing much needed jobs for the whole region.   

• The Plan aims to respond to these evidenced social and economic 
needs in a balanced way - respecting environmental qualities, 
providing a framework to manage delivery and provide new 
infrastructure together with carefully managing impacts.   

• Independent population forecasting experts have recently assessed 
future growth scenarios and recommended to the Council that a 
lower dwelling growth rate than that proposed in the official 
projections and Preferred Strategy is used for the Deposit LDP.   

• The overall level of growth is considered to represent the most 
robust, balanced and appropriate approach taking into account all 
relevant factors and the advice of independent population 
forecasting experts.   

• It sets out a Strategy to deliver 41,100 new dwellings and 40,000 
new jobs over the Plan period including ways to provide flexibility 
should build rates be higher than anticipated.   

• This level of growth is considered appropriate to deliver Wales 
Spatial Plan objectives, the Council’s overall vision and the LDP 
objectives.   

• New homes, jobs and supporting facilities will be provided from 
numerous sources including: 

Page 789



o Those already built since the start of the Plan period in 2006; 
o Minor adjustments to existing housing stock- taking account 

of anticipated demolitions and changes of use based on past 
rates; 

o Commitments- Sites with the benefit of an existing planning 
consent or resolution to grant subject to the signing of a legal 
agreement; 

o Anticipated windfall provision- Those sites likely to come 
forward over the Plan period through natural change in an 
urban area the size of Cardiff; and  

o New allocations including brownfield sites, greenfield sites of 
different scales and land use combinations. 
 

• Overall, for the whole Plan period, this represents approximately 
65% of all new homes being provided on brownfield sites and 35% 
provided on greenfield sites. 

• The provision of a genuine range and choice of new sites is crucial 
in effectively delivering the required level of growth, delivering LDP 
objectives, providing flexibility and the ability to meet a wide range 
of evidenced need for new homes and jobs. 

• Key strategic sites to deliver this need are proposed at: 
o Cardiff Central Enterprise Zone 
o Former Gas Works, Ferry Road 
o North West Cardiff 
o North of Junction 33 
o South of Creigiau 
o North East Cardiff (West of Pontprennau) 
o East of Pontprennau Link Road 
o South of St Mellons Business Park 

 
 
3 2. Putting in place a framework to manage future growth and 
encourage high 
quality, sustainable design 
 
Policies and mechanisms have been put in place to provide a framework to 
effectively manage future growth.  Areas to be kept free from development are 
made explicit avoiding the current climate of uncertainty created by not having 
an adopted Plan in place.  Protected areas include the designation of 
Green Belt Wedge North of the M4 Motorway together with tight settlement 
boundaries policy county-wide and protection of river valleys and open spaces.  
Collectively, these policies protect vast tracts of Cardiff’s valued countryside, 
river valleys and open spaces.  The master planning approach provides an 
over-arching framework for the development of new areas setting out key 
requirements relating to land use, densities, facilities, transportation, open 
spaces and phasing.  Further work on the detailed master planning of areas will 

Page 790



be carried out within this over-arching context.  Design policies and guidance 
set out expectations encouraging more sustainable forms of development. 

4 3. Bringing forward new infrastructure 
New development will clearly create the need for new infrastructure. The 
Plan sets out an approach which requires the timely provision of new 
infrastructure including community facilities, transportation and other 
services. Whilst it is recognised that some significant elements of 
infrastructure may take many years to complete, the Strategy seeks to 
ensure that each phase of new development is tied to the provision of 
necessary infrastructure with each stage of development being able to 
demonstrate an acceptable level of supporting facilities. An The 
Infrastructure Plan is contained as a Supporting Document setting s out 
future requirements. Further dialogue and consultation findings will help 
further develop a detailed list of required infrastructure along with funding 
opportunities including the roles of Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
contributions for strategic projects to Section 106 Agreement 
contributions for local priorities together with other potential funding 
streams from the public and private sectors. 
 
5 4 . Delivering sustainable transportation solutions 
 
The overall approach seeks to minimise travel demand and provide a 
range of measures and opportunities which reduce reliance on the car. 
New development in Cardiff must be integrated with the provision of new 
transport infrastructure which can help contribute to this objective by 
putting in place sustainable transport solutions which also provide 
improved travel choices for the wider community. This approach is fully 
consistent with on-going work at a city-region scale which seeks to 
develop a more effective public transport network across the region as a 
whole, helping people travel from where they live to work and thereby 
helping to spread prosperity around the entire city-region.  
 
6 5. Responding to evidenced economic needs 
 
The key economic role performed by Cardiff must be maintained and 
enhanced for benefits to Cardiff, the city-region and Wales. Evidence 
demonstrates that Cardiff has consistently delivered a high proportion of 
jobs in the city-region. The Strategy responds to this by ensuring a full 
range and choice of economic opportunities across all relevant sectors. 
The Cardiff Central Enterprise Zone will be a key element of the approach 
but there is also a need to maintain the roles of the City Centre, Cardiff 
Bay, existing employment sites together with providing a range and 
choice of sites to cater for demand across sectors. 
 
7 6 . Responding to evidenced social needs 
 

Page 791



Cardiff experiences some significant social needs, with particularly high 
housing demand projected to continue over the Plan period. The Strategy 
aims to positively respond to these needs by providing a wide range and 
choice of sites to respond to the full diversity of needs, including those 
from the Gypsy and Traveller community as required in national policy 
and guidance. Overall, the Plan promotes more sustainable communities 
where emphasis is placed on supporting District & Local Centres, 
encouraging the full range of accessible social, health and educational 
facilities, together with supporting regeneration initiatives and utilising 
the potential positive benefits which new developments can bring to 
adjoining areas. 
 
 
8 7 . Respecting Cardiff’s environment and responding to climate 
change 
 
Cardiff possesses a unique and particularly distinctive natural and built heritage.  
The Plan delivers sustainable development by meeting social and economic 
needs, but in a managed way which retains, manages and enhances important 
features of natural and built heritage.  Central to this approach is the 
designation of a Green Belt Wedge to the North of the M4 Motorway, strict 
settlement boundaries policy together with protection to the river valleys and 
open spaces.  In this way, Cardiff’s distinctive environmental qualities can be 
successfully maintained with further opportunities to enhance their 
management and increase public enjoyment.  Detailed policies provide clear 
guidance relating to important elements of Cardiff’s biodiversity, landscape 
and built heritage. 

9. Main changes since Preferred Strategy 

 

In response to consultation responses and on-going evidence base work, the 
following main changes/updates have been made to the Plan from that set out 
in the Preferred Strategy: 

• Inclusion of a Green Belt for long term protection of land north of the M4 
motorway; 

• Reduction in the overall level of housing growth from 45,400 in the Preferred 
Strategy to 41,100 dwellings to reflect the findings of independent population 
forecasting experts Edge Analytics Ltd; 

• Provision for a flexibility allowance of 10 per cent to ensure the plan can 
accommodate potentially higher build rates than anticipated, if it is 
demonstrated 

• Reduced overall number of new dwellings proposed on some Strategic Sites 
responding to issues raised in consultation together with work and dialogue as 
part of developing the masterplanning framework on potential sites; 

Page 792



• More detail on the masterplanning framework for Strategic Sites including 
more detail on transportation solutions, community facilities and infrastructure. 

• Further detail will be provided to inform the LDP examination through the 
preparation of site specific Master Plans along with other technical material; 

• Inclusion of Eastern Bay Link as a strategic transport proposal following Welsh 
Government support for the scheme; 

• Amending the affordable housing target where there evidence of need to 30% 
on greenfield sites and 20% on brownfield sites to reflect new evidence and 
consultation responses relating to the viability of affordable housing schemes; 

• Allocation of a new Gypsy and Travellers site at Pengam Green; and 
• Allocation of land for health-related uses adjacent to Heath Hospital and for 
employment use (research/ higher education-related) at Maindy Park 

  

Page 793



Introduction  
 

The purpose of and status of the adopted Local Development Plan (LDP) 

 

The purpose of and status of the need for a new adopted Local 
Development Plan (LDP) 

 

1.1 Cities change. Cardiff is no exception and has grown year on year for 
generations. This has seen Cardiff become the Capital City of Wales and centre 
of a wider city-region providing an important source of jobs and services for the 
whole of South East Wales. 

 

1.2 New homes, jobs, supporting transportation and other facilities are will be 
required to meet the needs of future generations. These needs must be carefully 
balanced against environmental and quality of life factors. 

 

1.3 The adopted Cardiff Local Development Plan (LDP) is the tool to address 
these issues. It represents a ‘plan-led’ approach to meeting future needs. All 
Local Authorities in Wales must prepare a LDP. Many have now been adopted, 
with others reaching advanced stages. 

 

1.4 Without a Plan in place, there would be an unplanned, piecemeal, ‘free for 
all’ which would not be desirable. In Cardiff, the need for a new Plan is more 
acute than elsewhere for a number of reasons: 

• The existing Development Plan framework is seriously outdated with the 
Structure Plans and Local Plan being over 16 years old; 

 

• In Cardiff, unlike most other Local Authorities in Wales, a Unitary 
Development Plan designed to replace the old Structure and Local Plans was 
never adopted; The first attempted LDP had to be withdrawn due to the 
Inspector’s significant concerns (particularly critical of a ‘brownfield-only’ 
Strategy). The delay has caused the Plan period to be extended by 5 years, 
significantly raising the level of development required in this Plan and 
lengthening the period of time without an adopted Plan in place; 

Page 794



• There is currently an insufficient housing land supply which has resulted in 
the Council losing planning appeals for development in the open countryside; 

• This is the first time in generations that Cardiff has no significant urban 
extensions taking place. Evidenced need for new homes is therefore not 
currently being met resulting in a build-up of latent demand; and 

• Cardiff experiences significantly higher development pressures than 
many other parts of Wales. Many greenfield planning applications have 
recently been submitted underlining the need for a new, up to date 
framework to be put in place. 

The Local Development Plan (LDP) process 

1.45 The adopted LDP will provides the statutory framework for the development 
and use of land within Cardiff over the Plan period (2006-2026). This fulfils the 
requirements of The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 which requires 
the Council to prepare a LDP. Once adopted, it will It replaces existing Structure 
Plans and Local Plans relating to Cardiff which are now outdated as explained 
above. It and will be used by the Council to guide and control development and 
provide the statutory local policy context for determining planning applications. 

1.56 The Plan has been must be prepared in accordance with formal 
regulations and the and involves numerous stages of preparation together with 
associated consultation and engagement. A document called the, ‘LDP Delivery 
Agreement’ which sets out a timetable for its preparation along with details of 
consultation as the Plan progresseds. This was agreed with the Welsh 
Government on 5th December, 2011. Progress to date has fully accorded with 
the agreed timetable. 

The Deposit LDP 

1.7 The Deposit LDP is an important stage of the plan preparation process. It 
contains an overall Strategy together with land use allocations and detailed 
policies. The Plan aims to deliver the Council’s overall vision as set out in the 10 
year, ‘What Matters’ Strategy (2010-2020) and also takes account of the 
national and regional policy framework (summarised in Appendix 3). 
Furthermore, a wide range of evidence has been collected to inform the plan 
along with collaborative working, and findings from consultation and 
engagement processes. 

1.8 Importantly, the Deposit LDP is the next stage of the LDP preparation 
process following the Preferred Strategy which was approved by Council in 
October 2012. The Preferred Strategy set out the proposed strategic approach to 
meeting development needs over the Plan period and was subject to a six week 

Page 795



consultation period. The Deposit LDP therefore takes full account of the 
Preferred Strategy, the consultation findings, analysis of up to date evidence 
together with all other relevant material factors. 

1.69 The Plan contains the following sections: 

 

Foreword; 

Summary; 

Introduction; 

LDP Vision & Objectives; 

Strategy, Key Policies and Key Diagram; 

Detailed Policies; 

Monitoring and Implementation; 

How to make comments; 

Proposals Map and Constraints Map; 

Appendices. 

 

1.10 Numerous Appendices and Supporting Documents have also been prepared 

which contain relevant background work underpinning the Plan. These have been 

placed in the public domain to assist readers in gaining a full understanding of 

the evidence informing Plan content. This also allows the Deposit LDP to be a 
more succinct and user-friendly document without being over-cluttered with 
technical material. A full list of Supporting Documents is provided in the contents 

section of this document. 

Deposit LDP and Alternative Sites consultation 

1.11 The Deposit LDP will be subject to 6 weeks consultation. Full details of how 
to make comments are provided in Section 7. The Council will acknowledge and 

carefully consider all comments made. Following the Deposit LDP consultation 
process, the Council must also consult on ‘alternative sites’ which will involve 
seeking views on alternative sites for development which have been put forward 

by parties commenting on the Deposit LDP. 

Page 796



1.12 The Council will then consider all comments made and prepare any 
proposed, ‘focussed changes’ to the Deposit LDP which depending on timing is 
either before or after it is submitted for a process of formal examination. A 
series of Supporting Documents will also be submitted including an updated 
version of the Initial Consultation Report summarising representations made 
along with the Council’s response. 

Independent examination 

1.13 Ultimately, approval for the Plan rests with an independent Inspector who 
will decide if the Plan is fit for purpose by assessing it against ten, ‘tests of 
soundness’. These are listed in Appendix 8 together with an explanation of how 
the Council considers the document contents and preparation process accord 
with these tests. 

1.14 The examination process will commence once the Council formally submits 
the plan to the Welsh Government. The process will be co-ordinated by the 
independent Inspector and include examination sessions to explore issues. 
Further evidence may be provided by the Council and 

others to assist the independent Inspector fully explore any relevant matters. 
Once the examination 

process is completed, the independent Inspector will issue a binding report 
including any changes required to the Plan. 

Adoption, Monitoring and Review 

 

1.715 The Council must formally adopt the LDP within 8 weeks of the receipt of 
the independent Inspector’s Report. Following this, Tthe Council will work with 
others to implement the Plan and take decisions within the new adopted policy 
framework. 

1.816 In order to assess how effectively the Plan is being implemented, the 
Council must prepare an Annual Monitoring Report (AMR). The report will be 
based on the indicators Monitoring Framework as set out in Appendix 9 to this 
document. This is an important aspect of the LDP process since evidence 
collected through annual monitoring can be used to inform LDP review which 
takes place every 4 years. 

Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) 

1.917 These are non-statutory documents intended to provide useful advice and 
guidance which expand on policies set out in the adopted Deposit LDP. They 
must be subject to public consultation.  but are not documents to be assessed 
by the LDP independent Inspector.  Appendix 5 4 of this document lists all 
proposed new and/or updated SPG which are intended to be prepared together 

Page 797



with timescales. and at which stage of the LDP process. In this respect, it should 
be noted that a phased programme of preparation is proposed. 

Other Aassessment processes that have informed the adopted Plan  

 

1.108 In addition to the overall independent examination of the LDP, the 
Plan has must also been subject to two further formal assessment processes 
as described below.: The Sustainability Appraisal (SA) and Strategic 
Environmental Assessment (SEA) processes - these are required by the Planning 
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and the SEA Regulations to ensure that the 
LDP policies reflect sustainability principles and take into account impacts upon 
the 

environment. The Final SA Report forms Supporting Document 11; and The 
Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA) - this process is required to determine 
the likely significant effects of the Plan on European Sites of nature conservation 
importance. The HRA forms Supporting Document 12. 

1.119 Furthermore, the adopted Deposit LDP has been subject to the following 
additional internal assessments designed to further scrutinise the Plan contents: 
Health Impact Assessment - a process involving relevant stakeholders in 
assessing the health implications of the Plan. A summary forms Supporting 
Document 13; and Equality Impact Assessment - a process involving relevant 
stakeholders in assessing the equality implications of the Plan. A summary forms 
Supporting Document 14. 

The importance of Welsh culture and heritage is recognised in the Plan however 
having assessed the densities of Welsh language use across the City it is not 
considered to be an issue which requires addressing in the Plan.  As a result the 
proposals contained in the LDP are not considered to have a detrimental impact 
on the Welsh language and culture or materially affect the linguistic balance of 
Cardiff or communities within Cardiff. 

 

  

Page 798



The Cardiff Context and Key Issues the Plan 
must address 
 
2.1 This section provides a summary of the Cardiff context and some of 
the key issues which have informed the Plan. A fuller version is contained 
in Appendix 4 3 of this document along with a summary of the national 
and regional policy framework together with reference to the existing 
Development Plan framework in Cardiff. 
 
The Cardiff Context 
 

• Largest urban area in Wales with a population of 345,400. 
• Key driver of city-region economy in South East Wales. 
• 1.4 million live within 45 minutes drive time of the city. 
• Capital city of Wales, seat of Welsh Government. 

 
Key social trends and issues 
 

• Cardiff’s population has risen steadily over past 20 years - over 
3,500 each year since 2001. 

• Official projections indicate continued population growth over the 
Plan period. 

• Significant need for affordable housing- 9,710 people currently on 
combined housing waiting list. 

• Local Housing Market Assessment (2013) indicates a need for over 
3,989 affordable dwellings for each of the next 5 years to address 
need. In addressing this need the Council will need to have regard 
to the latest welfare reforms and the need to provide smaller 
dwellings. 

• Family housing is a key need. 
• A need for 108 permanent Gypsy and Traveller pitches and a 

regional need for a 10 pitch transit site have been identified over 
the Plan period to 2026. 

• Students comprise approximately 10.8% of Cardiff’s population. 
• Ethnic minorities comprise 15.5% of Cardiff’s population, higher 

than the Wales average but similar to the England/Wales average. 
• Welsh speakers are less than the Wales average but there are 

considerable variations within communities. 
• The city experiences substantial health inequalities. 
• Whilst Cardiff possesses a generally high quality of life, there are 

areas of deprivation geographically mostly concentrated in, ‘the 
southern arc’. 

• Community safety is a key issue emerging from residents’ surveys. 
• Cardiff performs well compared to Wales and the UK average in 

attaining high-level skills and 39% of its workforce educated to 
degree level or above. 

Page 799



Key economic trends and issues 
 

• Cardiff accounts for 32% of total employment in South East Wales 
and its economy is generally strong and buoyant. 

• Cardiff’s employment workforce totals nearly 189,000 with 88% of 
jobs being in the service sector. 

• Cardiff & the Vale of Glamorgan generate 22% of the Welsh GVA 
(Gross Value Added). 

• Unemployment in Cardiff was 4.5% in March 2013. 
• The recession has caused the loss of approximately 4,700 jobs 

between 2008-2010. 
• Cardiff has one of the highest percentages of high growth firms in 

the UK between 2002-2010. 
• Inward investment trends are improving but continue to trail other 

leading core cities. 
• The City Centre and Cardiff Bay remain the principal office locations 

complemented by out of centre sites but Cardiff lacks a large supply 
of Grade 

• A office space and the Plan supports the on-going regeneration of 
the Bay Business Area, including Mount Stuart Square. 

• The total industrial stock in Cardiff is approximately 19.2 million 
square feet and mainly concentrated in the south/eastern area of 
the city but only 6.1% of the stock is less than 5 years old. 

• Cardiff City Centre is the main shopping centre for South East Wales 
and is ranked the 6th top retail centre in the UK. 

• The leisure and tourism sector generates significant economic and 
cultural benefits for the city. 

 
Key transportation trends and issues 
 

• Traffic on Cardiff’s roads grew by 9% between 2002-2012. 
• 56% of Cardiff’s residents travel to work by car. 
• Nearly 77,900 people commute into Cardiff each day by all modes 

(37% of Cardiff’s workforce). The 2001 Census indicates that 
approximately 80% of commuters travel to Cardiff by car. 

• Travel on rail services has increased considerably - the use of 
Cardiff Central and Queen Street Stations has risen by 82% 
between 2001-2011. 

• Cycle use has increased 10% between 2001-2011 but bus use has 
fallen slightly over the same period. 

• Cardiff International Airport is located within the Vale of Glamorgan 
providing the closest international links to Cardiff. 

• The operational port in Cardiff performs an important role in terms 
of freight movement. 

 
 
 

Page 800



Key environmental trends and issues 
 

• Cardiff is located within a well defined landscape setting with 
prominent ridges to the west and north and Severn Estuary to the 
south. 

• The countryside and urban area contains a wealth of natural and historic 
interests.  For example, there are almost 1,000 Listed Buildings, 27 
Conservation Areas, 2 4 sites noted for their international biodiversity ( 
Cardiff Beechwoods SAC and Severn Estuary SAC/SPA/RAMSAR) 

• The city has a particularly rich Victorian and Edwardian legacy. 
• Cardiff has over 400 hectares of recreational open space and 2000 

hectares of amenity space. The four river valleys of the Ely, Taff, 
Rhymney and Nant Fawr provide extensive and continuous corridors 
running from the countryside and through the urban area. 

• Good quality agricultural land is known to exist in some areas. 
• Flooding is known to pose a risk in relation to fluvial, tidal and 

surface water. 
• Detailed studies have been undertaken to assess the extent of this 

risk and inform the Plan. 
• The main source of CO2 emissions in Cardiff are from industry 

(45%) with domestic sources contributing 30%. 
• The main source of emissions affecting air quality is road traffic 

(nitrogen oxide the main pollutant). 
• Current production of renewable energy in Cardiff is low. 
• Over the past 10 years, recycling rates in Cardiff have risen from 

4% to 55%. 
• Cardiff possesses a significant and good quality of mineral reserves. 
• Water quality in the main rivers is improving but still falls below the 

requirements of the Water Framework Directive.  

Page 801



LDP Vision and Objectives 
 
Background 
 
3.1 The vision and objectives provide an over-arching context for the Plan 
that shows how economic, social and environmental considerations can be 
balanced to deliver the sustainable development of Cardiff up to 2026. 
They take full account of the strategic issues relevant to Cardiff and policy 
context provided by the Council’s, ‘What Matters’ Strategy (2010-2020) 
which brings together the Community Strategy; Children & Young 
People’s Plan; Health, Social Care & Wellbeing Strategy and the 
Community Safety Strategic Assessment into one document. The Council 
has worked together with partners from the public, private and voluntary 
sectors in Cardiff to set out the collective vision for the city contained in 
this document. Furthermore, the vision and objectives also take account 
of the Council’s Strategic Equality Plan which sets out the Council’s 
strategic equality objectives and the Wales Spatial Plan (WSP) that 
recognises the role played by Cardiff in helping to spread prosperity in the 
area and delivering a high quality of life. 
 
Vision 
 
3.2 The LDP vision is as set out in the 10 year, ‘What Matters’ Strategy 
(2010-2020) which is that: 
 
“By 2020...Cardiff will be a world class European capital city with 
an 
exceptional quality of life and at the heart of a thriving city-
region”. 
 
3.3 Partners have agreed seven strategic outcomes that, if achieved 
would represent ultimate success and the realisation of the vision. The 
outcomes are that: 
 

• People in Cardiff are healthy; 
• People in Cardiff have a clean, attractive and sustainable 

environment; 
• People in Cardiff are safe and feel safe; 
• Cardiff has a thriving and prosperous economy; 
• People in Cardiff achieve their full potential; 
• Cardiff is a great place to live work and play; and 
• Cardiff is a fair, just and inclusive society. 

 
3.4 It is important to recognise that the LDP cannot deliver all of these 
outcomes alone as many issues extend beyond land use planning matters 
and the remit of the document. However, the LDP is a crucial strategic 

Page 802



document that must create the right conditions which both directly and 
indirectly assist and support the delivery of these outcomes. 
 
3.5 Key priorities have been identified for each of the outcomes. These 
are: 

• People in Cardiff are healthy 
o Reduce inequalities in health and address the differentials in 

life expectancy across the city; 
o Promote healthy lifestyles and prevent ill health; and 
o Improve effectiveness of our service delivery to vulnerable 

adults and children and young people. 
 

• People in Cardiff have a clean, attractive and sustainable 
environment 

o Establish Cardiff as a sustainable ‘Carbon Lite’ city; 
o Improve the quality of Cardiff’s environment; and 
o Establish Cardiff as a sustainable travel city. 

 
• People in Cardiff are safe and feel safe 

o Ensure people are safe from harm, abuse and exploitation; 
o Develop communities and neighbourhoods in Cardiff which are 

cohesive; 
o Ensure people are free from crime and the effects of crime; 

and 
o Ensure people are safe in their environment. 

 
• Cardiff has a thriving and prosperous economy 

 
o Build strong futures for children and young people by focusing 

on education, training and employment opportunities; 
o Improve opportunities for the creation of quality and 

sustainable employment; and 
o Create an environment that develops, attracts and retains 

skilled workers, businesses and entrepreneurs to Cardiff. 
 

• People in Cardiff achieve their full potential 
o Encourage active citizenship and participation in all aspects of 

life; 
o Support vulnerable families and individuals to achieve and 

maintain their independence and ambition; and 
o Support and provide access to appropriate learning and 

training provision for all. 
 

• Cardiff is a great place to live, work and play 
o Provide the level of urban design infrastructure and 

connectivity required to make Cardiff a great place to work 
and do business; 

Page 803



o Support and maintain strong safe and sustainable 
neighbourhoods; 
o Ensure the provision of high quality sustainable and affordable 

housing; and 
o Develop world-class leisure, cultural and sporting facilities – 

that reflect the wants of citizens and visitors. 
o Cardiff is a fair, just and inclusive society 
o Enable all people in Cardiff to meaningfully engage and 

participate in decision making processes; 
o Mainstream equality issues at strategic and operational levels; 

and 
o Reduce inequalities through a joined-up, targeted approach. 

 
Objectives 
 
3.6 The LDP objectives set out in more detail how the LDP vision can be 
addressed through the planning system. They respond to spatial elements 
contained in the vision together with the economic, social and 
environmental strands set out in the strategic outcomes. 
 
3.7 In spatial terms, the vision recognises the key role that Cardiff plays 
as being the heart of a thriving city-region. Nearly 77,900 people 
commute into the city each day which demonstrates the important 
economic and social role Cardiff plays in relation to the wider region. 
 
3.8 The vision fully recognises economic, social, environmental, as well as 
sustainability issues. It is the aim of the LDP objectives to respond to the 
evidenced economic and social needs but in a way that is co-ordinated, 
respects and enhances Cardiff’s environment and sets out a framework 
for delivering the sustainable neighbourhoods of the future. This is 
delivering sustainable 
development locally and improving the long term economic, social and 
environmental wellbeing of people and communities in Cardiff. In this 
way, the LDP can help create sustainable neighbourhoods that form part 
of a sustainable city that lies at the heart of a sustainable city-region. 
 
3.9 The objectives are set out under 4 main headings: 

1. To respond to evidenced economic needs and provide the 
necessary infrastructure to deliver development; 

2. To respond to evidenced social needs; 
3. To deliver economic and social needs in a co-ordinated way 

that respects  
and enhances Cardiff’s environment; and 

4. To create sustainable neighbourhoods that form part of a 
sustainable city. 

 
 

Page 804



1. To respond to evidenced economic needs and provide the 
necessary 
infrastructure to deliver development. 
 

a. To effectively respond to Cardiff’s role as capital city for Wales, seat 
of the National Government and centre of the city-region in terms of 
providing a range and choice of economic opportunities that will 
drive the prosperity of the region. 

 
b. To maximise the economic potential of the city centre of Cardiff as a 

major financial and service sector opportunity that builds upon its 
position next to a transport hub of national and regional significance 
and is readily accessible from all areas within the city and well 
connected to other UK cities. 

 
c. To maintain and enhance the vitality, attractiveness and viability of 

the city centre as a major retail and cultural destination and as a 
place to work, visit and live. 

 
d. To continue the successful regeneration of the Cardiff Bay area, 

maximising opportunities for quality commercial buildings and 
further development, particularly water and river frontage 
developments that can provide attractive and distinctive 
environments. 

e. To promote clusters of specialist sectors and research & 
development expertise including the following key sectors: 
o ICT; 
o Energy and environment; 
o Advanced materials and manufacturing; 
o Creative industries; 
o Life sciences; and 
o Financial and professional services. 

 
f. To ensure a range and choice of employment land and business 

premises at sustainable locations across the city is provided to 
assist economic competiveness, encourage entrepreneurship, 
promote the growth of indigenous businesses of all types and size 
and attract inward investment. 

 
g. To assist the promotion of Cardiff as a major tourist destination 

including the provision of the development of a variety of high 
quality tourist facilities and visitor accommodation. 

h. To create a physical and economic environment that develops, 
attracts and retains skilled workers, businesses and entrepreneurs 
to Cardiff together with maximising links with Universities and 
supporting indigenous skills and enterprises. 

Page 805



i. To quantify critical strategic infrastructure required to realise 
development aspirations and set out clear mechanisms for delivery 
including sustainable transport solutions for strategic sites. 

j. To establish Cardiff as a sustainable travel city by reducing the need 
to travel, increasing the use of sustainable travel modes and 
networks (particularly walking and cycling), decreasing private car 
use and improving the city’s key transport hub based at the 
adjacent central bus and train stations. 

k. To protect existing mineral resources and ensure an adequate 
supply of limestone aggregates in the north west of the city for the 
construction industry and to promote their efficient and appropriate 
usage, including the use of recycled aggregates where possible. 

l. To support sustainable collection and recycling methods for 
Municipal Waste by maintaining and improving an integrated 
network of facilities in Cardiff. 

m. To lead and participate in securing regional facilities for the 
sustainable treatment and disposal of Municipal Waste in 
accordance with the Regional Waste Plan and in a manner that 
follows the waste hierarchy which seeks to maximise the reduction 
of waste in the first place and thereafter reusing, recovering and 
recycling options before the disposal of waste material is 
considered. 

n. To facilitate an integrated network of commercial and industrial 
sustainable waste management facilities consistent with the needs 
of the South East Wales area and in a manner that follows the 
waste hierarchy which seeks to maximise the reduction of waste in 
the first place and thereafter reusing, recovering and recycling 
options before the disposal of waste material is considered. 

 
 
2. To respond to evidenced social needs. 
 
a. To provide new homes required to support the economic progression of 
the city and to respond to population change, continued in-migration and 
evidenced demand for affordable and family housing so that social needs 
can be addressed.  
b. To provide a range and choice of new homes of different tenure, type 
and location that meets specific needs such as the provision of affordable 
housing, family accommodation, housing for the elderly, the disabled and 
students and pitches for the gypsy and traveller community. 
c. To maximise the use of the existing building stock through 
refurbishment, retro-fitting and empty homes initiatives. 
d. To bring about changes to Cardiff’s environment and neighbourhoods 
that help to tackle health inequalities, promote good health and enable 
healthier lifestyles to be led by the city’s population in line with Cardiff’s 
status as a World Health Organisation, 'Healthy City’. 

Page 806



e. To bring about changes to Cardiff’s environment that create a safer city 
and reduce the likelihood, fear and consequences of crime. 
f. To create an environment that is made more accessible to all groups in 
society so that the employment opportunities, facilities and services of the 
city can be more readily used and enjoyed by all. 
g. To maximise the multi-functional role played by Cardiff’s parks, open 
spaces and allotments together with improving their accessibility for the 
whole community. 
h. To recognise, support and enhance the key role played by existing 
District, Local and Neighbourhood Centres as accessible local hubs 
providing community services, local shops, healthy food choices, 
businesses, employment and access to public transport. 
i. To support the regeneration of local neighbourhoods including reducing 
inequalities, particularly areas experiencing high levels of deprivation, 
areas vulnerable to decline and areas with opportunities for change. 
j. To ensure that the necessary education and training facilities are 
provided and are accessible to all: to build strong futures for children, 
provide a diverse range of learning opportunities for all and assist 
economic progress through the development of required skills. 
k. To develop new cultural, leisure and sporting facilities to meet needs 
and enhance Cardiff’s role as a premier cultural and sporting destination. 
l. To ensure that the necessary community and cultural facilities 
(community centres, shops with healthy food choices, youth facilities, 
child care, faith buildings, health centres, etc.) are provided that are 
accessible to all, especially in areas that are deprived. 
m. To address rising unemployment and provide accessible local job 
opportunities, particularly in areas of greatest need. 
n. To promote social inclusion, equality of opportunity and access for all. 
 
 
3. To deliver economic and social needs in a co-ordinated way 
that respects Cardiff’s environment and responds to the 
challenges of climate change. 
 
a. To mitigate the effects of climate change through reducing energy 
demand and increasing the supply of renewable energy.  
b. To ensure that Cardiff adapts to the full anticipated impacts of climate 
change and that new development and infrastructure is designed to be 
resilient to possible consequences. 
c. To protect, manage and enhance Cardiff’s natural environmental 
assets, including: 

o The parks, open spaces and allotments in the city that are highly 
valued by local communities and an important component of 
Cardiff’s quality of life; 

o The strategically important river valleys of the Ely, Taff, Nant Fawr 
and 

Page 807



o Rhymney that link the city to the countryside and provide a 
valuable recreational, biodiversity and amenity resource; 

o Cardiff’s countryside, particularly its areas of high landscape value 
and the coast that provide an important setting to the urban area, 
provide an agricultural resource and opportunity for recreation; 

o The city’s biodiversity, its internationally, nationally and locally 
designated sites, wildlife habitats and features that contain 
important species and networks that link together areas of value; 

o Natural resources including geodiversity, the best soils, water and 
air quality including, the reduction of pollution; and 

o The role that vegetation plays in combating climate change by 
providing shading, cooling and carbon sinks. 

d. To conserve and enhance Cardiff’s built and historic assets that define 
distinctive character and reflect its past development including: 

o The city’s 27 Conservation Areas; 
o Its Listed Buildings and Ancient Monuments; 
o Registered Historic Landscapes and areas of archaeological 

importance; and 
o Other valued public places and spaces, including parks and amenity 

spaces, that provide local distinctiveness. 
 
e. In identifying new sites to meet economic/social needs, to follow a 
sequence of firstly maximising the contribution of brownfield sites, then 
identifying greenfield sites that are considered to represent the most 
appropriate and sustainable locations to accommodate new development. 
f. To have full regard to flood risk when considering the acceptability of 
development proposals and considering mitigation and adaptation 
measures. 
g. To maximise opportunities to create a cleaner and more attractive 
environment that enhances the quality of life and helps Cardiff to become 
a world-class European capital city. 
 
 
4. To create sustainable neighbourhoods that form part of a 
sustainable city. 
 
a. To ensure that all new development areas (whether greenfield or 
brownfield) create sustainable neighbourhoods that follow the following 
principles: 

1. Minimise energy demand and maximise renewable solutions - to 
deliver more energy-efficient neighbourhoods that utilise existing 
best practice and embrace new renewable technologies and 
concepts; 
2. Minimise car travel, maximise sustainable transport use and 
decrease air pollution by creating accessible, permeable and legible 
places, preventing predominantly car-based developments and 
focusing new development in accessible locations which are linked 

Page 808



to the strategic cycle network and can be served mainly by effective 
networks of sustainable transport - walking and cycling and fast and 
frequent public transport around and beyond the city; 
3. Maximise recycling - to optimise the overall value of waste as a 
resource, to effectively plan for how new developments can sort and 
store waste for collection for onward productive use and minimise 
material needing treatment and final landfill; 
4. Minimise water usage and maximise sustainable drainage - to 
carefully manage the consumption and drainage of water to avoid 
unnecessary wastage and minimise rapid run-off. To seek 
opportunities to maximise the positive amenity and biodiversity 
benefits that sustainable drainage solutions can offer; 
5. Maximise the early provision of a full range of social facilities and 
community infrastructure - to provide the full range of necessary 
facilities that are accessible to all members of society and can be 
reached within a 15 minute walk. To include the range of social, 
health, leisure, education necessary for the scale of development 
proposed and also taking into account other needs within the wider 
locality;  
6. Maximise the additional benefits that new communities can bring 
to adjoining or surrounding existing communities and minimise any 
potential negative impacts - to carefully identify positive 
contributions that can be made and involve local communities in 
this process; 
7. Maximise the diversity of land uses within new development 
areas – to create more balanced communities offering non-car 
based options to fully participate in community life. To ensure a 
range and choice of housing tenures together with local 
employment opportunities and the full range of community 
infrastructure; 
8. Maximise the contribution of networks of multi-functional and 
connected open spaces to strategically design networks of open 
space that are rich in biodiversity and provide safe routes between 
key locations to encourage healthier lifestyles through promoting 
walking and cycling. To further encourage healthy lifestyles by 
providing allotments together 
with the wider promotion of healthy eating; 
9. Maximise the principles of good design - to create places that 
look good, are of an appropriate and efficient density, fully respect 
their local context and are successfully integrated with adjoining 
areas. To design buildings that are resilient and can easily adapt to 
changing future needs. To design clean and attractive areas where 
people feel safe and have a 
sense of ownership; and 
10. Maximise community involvement in the planning, design and 
future management/maintenance of new neighbourhoods. To use 
the master planning process to establish robust design principles 

Page 809



but to also recognise the need to allow some flexibility and 
managed capacity for change, particularly in larger development 
areas. 

b. To take opportunities to apply the above principles to existing 
neighbourhoods in order to create a more sustainable city.  

  

Page 810



Strategy, Key Policies and Key Diagram 
 
Overview 
 
4.1 This section sets out the overall LDP Strategy to deliver the Plan's 
vision and objectives. The Strategy contains the 7 elements described 
below together with a Key Diagram summarising the main spatial 
components of the Strategy. Collectively, these elements deliver the over-
arching Plan vision and objectives set out in the previous section. They 
provide a coherent and evidence-based approach to meeting economic 
and social needs in a manner which respects Cardiff’s environmental 
qualities and encourages the development of sustainable neighbourhoods 
as part of a sustainable city. 
 
4.2 Main elements of Strategy: 
 
1. Making provision for new homes and jobs. 
2. Putting in place a framework to manage future growth and encourage 
high 
quality, sustainable design. 
3. Bringing forward new infrastructure. 
4. Delivering sustainable transportation solutions. 
5. Responding to evidenced economic needs. 
6. Responding to evidenced social needs. 
7. Respecting Cardiff’s environment and responding to climate change. 
 
4.3 Overall, the LDP Strategy responds to the clear evidenced need to 
make provision for new homes and jobs. It sets a level of growth 
considered to represent the most robust, balanced and appropriate 
approach taking into account all relevant factors including the 
recommendations made by independent population forecasting experts. 
This approach directly responds to needs from within Cardiff but the 
delivery of new jobs also helps spread prosperity beyond administrative 
boundaries. In this respect, the Strategy aims to build upon Cardiff’s key 
role as centre of the city-region which evidence shows is of critical 
importance to the wider well-being of South East Wales. 
 
4.4 However, the Strategy sets out clear policies and mechanisms which 
provide a framework designed to effectively manage future growth and 
encourage high quality and sustainable design.  This includes adopting a 
masterplanning approach based on the sustainable neighbourhood 

Page 811



objectives to the development of new sites supported by more detailed 
design guidance.  Additionally, the approach strategically manages 
growth by designating a Green Wedge and tight settlement boundaries 
policy to protect large areas of countryside.  In this way, new 
development can be planned for in a phased manner and designed in a 
more sustainable way to minimise negative impacts. 
 
4.5 The provision of new infrastructure is an important element of the 
Strategy as it is recognised that new development must bring with it the 
timely provision of new supporting community facilities and necessary 
services. Whilst it is recognised that some significant elements of 
infrastructure may take many years to complete, the Strategy seeks to 
ensure that each phase of new development is tied to the provision of 
necessary infrastructure with each stage of development being able to 
demonstrate an acceptable level of supporting facilities. This may include 
the early provision of new facilities along with maximising the potential 
contribution of existing nearby facilities providing there is capacity and 
acceptable accessibility. 
 
4.6 An The Infrastructure Plan is contained as a Supporting 
Document settings out future requirements. Further dialogue and 
consultation findings will help further develop a detailed list of required 
infrastructure along with funding opportunities including the roles of 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) contributions for strategic projects, 
Section 106 Agreement contributions for local priorities together with 
identifying other potential funding streams from the public and private 
sectors. 
 
4.7 Putting in place a Strategy to enable the delivery of more sustainable 
transportation solutions is also integral to the overall approach. This 
recognises that development in Cardiff must be integrated with transport 
infrastructure, that travel demand must be minimised along with 
providing a range of measures and opportunities which reduce reliance on 
the car. This approach is fully consistent with on-going work at a city-
region scale which seeks to develop a more effective public transport 
network across the region as a whole. This approach will bring with it 
significant social benefits by reducing current barriers between homes, 
jobs and other trips and help spread prosperity around the entire city-
region. 
 

Page 812



4.8 The key economic role performed by Cardiff must be maintained and 
enhanced for benefits to Cardiff, the city-region and Wales. Evidence 
demonstrates that Cardiff has consistently delivered a high proportion of 
jobs in the city-region. The Strategy responds to this by ensuring a full 
range and choice of economic opportunities across all relevant sectors. 
The Cardiff Central Enterprise Zone will be a key element of the approach 
but there is also a need to maintain the roles of the City Centre, Cardiff 
Bay, existing employment sites together with providing a range and 
choice of sites to cater for demand across sectors. 
 
4.9 Cardiff experiences some significant social needs, with high housing 
demand projected to continue over the Plan period. The Strategy aims to 
positively respond to these needs by providing a wide range and choice of 
sites. Importantly, the approach looks to cater for specific needs so 
targets have been set for the provision of affordable housing, different 
locations help provide diversity of offer and the needs of the Gypsy and 
Traveller community are also directly addressed in accordance with 
national policy and guidance. 
 
4.10 The Strategy also addresses wider social issues and has benefited 
from the Health and Equality Impact Assessments into the Plan. The 
approach is very much about promoting more sustainable communities 
where emphasis is placed on supporting District & Local Centres, 
encouraging the full range of accessible social, health and educational 
facilities, together with supporting regeneration initiatives, utilising the 
potential positive benefits which new developments can bring to adjoining 
areas. 
 
4.11 Cardiff possesses a unique and particularly distinctive natural and 
built heritage.  The Strategy delivers sustainable development by meeting 
social and economic needs, but in a managed way which retains, 
manages and enhances important features of natural and built heritage.  
Central to this approach is the designation of a Green Wedge to the North 
of the M4 Motorway, a strict settlement boundaries policy together with 
protection to the river valleys and open spaces. In this way, Cardiff’s 
distinctive environmental qualities can be successfully maintained with 
further opportunities to enhance their management and increase public 
enjoyment. 

Page 813



CARDIFF LDP KEY DIAGRAM 

 

P
age 814



 

Key Policies 
 

1. Making provision for new homes and jobs 
 
KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH 
 
The Plan makes provision for 45,415 new dwellings (including a 4,000 
dwelling flexibility allowance) to deliver a housing requirement of 
41,415 a range and choice of opportunities to deliver 41,100 new 
dwellings and 40,000 new jobs in Cardiff between 2006-
2026. Furthermore, in order to demonstrate that the Plan meets the 
flexibility test  of soundness and to accommodate potentially higher 
build rates than anticipated, provision has been made to deliver an 
additional 10% flexibility allowance (for 4,000 dwellings) which can be 
triggered, if demonstrated as necessary through annual monitoring, in 
the later phases of the Plan period. 
 
4.12 The LDP Preferred Strategy considered the merits of three growth options 
and set out a reasoned justification for proposing option B which was below the 
official household projections but higher than long term past build rates. It 
considered all relevant factors including a report by independent population 
forecasting experts (Edge Analytics, June 2011) which applied more locally 
robust data to the official statistics. It was also informed by a process of regional 
collaborative dialogue involving all local authorities in South East Wales together 
with other key relevant national and regional bodies. 
 
4.13 Views have since been gathered through consultation on the Preferred 
Strategy which took place in November and December, 2012. The formal 
consultation process collected 1,028 responses and 8 petitions. Additionally, 444 
responses were collected from the Citizens Panel representing a wide distribution 
of ages and geographical locations across the city. This was in sharp contrast to 
the wider consultation responses which showed a significant geographical 
‘clustering’ of responses generally in proximity to the location of proposed 
development sites. Responses relating to the proposed level of growth can be 
summarised as follows: 
 
Delete table on Citizens Panel LDP Consultation 
Citizens Panel LDP Consultation 
No. % No. % 
Too low 20 4.6 Too low 32 5.2 
About right 209 48.2 About right 34 5.5 
Too high 205 47.2 Too high 553 89.3 
TOTAL 434 100 TOTAL 619 100 

4.14 The consultation findings indicate sharply contrasting views on this matter. 
This underlines the importance of the level of growth in the Deposit LDP being 
based on robust and up to date evidence. 
 

Page 815



4.15 Therefore, additional independent expert advice has been sought based on 
the best possible information currently available. Edge Analytics, the 
independent  population forecasting experts providing advice on the Preferred 
Strategy, have undertaken a further detailed analysis with their report forming 
Supporting Document No. 18. It is informed by important new information which 
was not previously available, the 2011 census results and revised back 
population figures issued by the Office of National Statistics at the end of April, 
2013. The material informing this work is of a more detailed and locally robust 
nature than the official population projections which do not benefit from such a 
thorough local analysis of relevant data. 
 
4.16 Overall, the Edge Analytics report has produced compelling, up to date and  
robust evidence to justify a level of growth lower than the official projections and 
also lower than that proposed in the Preferred Strategy. The recommendations 
contained in the report are based on a thorough examination of a number of 
different growth scenarios. 
 
4.17 The Edge Analytics Report has reviewed the new evidence, presented an 
analysis of inter-censal change in Cardiff’s demographic profile and developed a 
revised suite of demographic forecasts for consideration. The analysis of inter-
censal change revealed a 35,400 (11.4%) increase in Cardiff’s population 
between 2001 and 2011.The analysis of the ‘components of change’ 
underpinning Cardiff’s population growth has revealed the critical importance of 
migration, both internal and international in shaping population growth. 
 
4.18 Using the updated evidence, a number of ‘trend’ scenarios were evaluated 
and compared to the ‘starting point’ of the official 2008-based projections. The 
report concluded by drawing attention to the future uncertainties associated with 
international migration and recommended to the Council that a lower dwelling 
growth trajectory of 42,500-43,000 (scenarios F & G) over the 2006-26 Plan 
period might be more appropriate. Furthermore, the report recommended that 
the Council gives consideration to further reducing the figure due to the potential 
impact of applying a slightly lower home vacancy rate for 2026 and also 
considering a 10% further sensitivity reduction due to a potential decrease in 
household formation rates. 
 
4.19 The Council recognise that scenarios F and G result in a very similar level of 
growth which is considered to be consistent with the overall strategic objectives 
of the Plan. With regard to the potential options to further reduce the dwelling 
requirement, the Council supports applying a 3% vacancy rate for 2026 as 
opposed to a figure of 3.74%. This is because 3% was the previous rate in the 
2001 census and due to current Council policy and actions to tackle this issue, a 
rate of 3% in 2026 is considered to represent a sound, robust and reasonable 
figure backed by supporting policy framework to deliver. 
 
4.20 However, the Council has significant concerns with applying a further 10% 
reduction in dwelling need due to a potential reduction in household formation 
rates. The report draws on recent evidence from England and suggests this 
recent trend could also be taking place in Cardiff. However, at this juncture, 
prior to the Welsh Government household projections being released in late 
2013, no official data or evidence can be used to substantiate any reduction. 

Page 816



Therefore, to reduce figures without any firm evidence carries significant risks, 
since if the figures do not show a decrease, the Plan would be clearly out of line 
with evidence and run the risk of being deemed unsound. However, as the Welsh 
Government household projections will be issued before the Council submit the 
Plan for examination, there will still be an opportunity to consider their impact 
ahead of the examination but any analysis must also take account of the 
issues highlighted  in the paragraph below. 
 
4.21 Even if the Welsh Government household projections indicate a 
reduced rate of household formation, it cannot be assumed that the rate 
would continue over the  entire Plan period. Indeed, if there was to be a 
reduction, this may be explained by a reflection of the current limited 
supply of greenfield sites together with the challenging economic 
conditions at that time. The Plan Strategy of providing a range and choice 
of sites to meet evidenced need is considered a strong and compelling 
reason not to apply a 10% reduction which is not founded on hard 
existing evidence and cannot be justified looking ahead, particularly given 
the Strategy set out in the Plan. 
 
4.22 Moreover, it should be noted that the annual net migration 
assumption 2011-26 without the 10% sensitivity adjustment is given as 
1,268 persons p.a. This compares to the actual annual net migration data 
2001-11 for Cardiff of 1,344p.a. (47p.a. internal and 1,297p.a. 
international), excluding the 320 per annum asylum seekers net flow to 
Cardiff. Given Cardiff’s role as economic driver of South East Wales, it 
may be considered unsound for the LDP to incorporate assumptions for a 
significant reduction in net migration whilst at the same time promoting 
itself as a European Capital City seeking to attract new employment - for 
instance into the proposed Cardiff Central Enterprise Zone. 
 
4.23 Therefore, the Council consider the most robust and sound approach 
to adopt is to set a level of dwelling growth based on the recommended 
scenarios F and G incorporating a 3% vacancy rate in 2026 which have a 
very similar dwelling requirement. Of the two scenarios, the Council 
considers the logic and reasoning behind scenario G is more robust and 
represents a sound basis on which to base the future dwelling 
requirement which has been rounded down to 41,100 dwellings for clarity 
purposes. This level of dwellings is almost exactly proportionate to 
delivering the 40,000 jobs proposed in the Preferred Strategy so this 
figure will be retained in the Deposit LDP. This represents: A rise in 
population from 323,766 in 2006 to 395,378 in 2026, (an additional 
population of 71,612, representing an increase of 22.1%); A rise in 

Page 817



dwellings from 138,735 in 2006 to 179,835 in 2026, (an additional 
41,100 new dwellings, equivalent of an 29.6% increase); An average 
build rate of 2,055 dwellings per annum over the entire Plan period but 
due to lower than average completions in early years of Plan period 
(2006-13), a residual required annual build rate (2013-26) of 2,295 
dwellings per annum 
 
4.12 As the LDP has progressed through its numerous stages of 
preparation, various level of growth options have been considered, 
consultations have been carried out and expert advice has been sought. 
The level of growth set out within this Key Policy is considered to best 
reflect an analysis of all relevant factors. Importantly, it is based on the 
most up-to-date information reflecting matters raised during the 
examination process and makes provision (including the flexibility 
allowance) to deliver the level originally set out in the Preferred Strategy.    
 
 
4.24 13 All other relevant factors, as set out in Planning Policy Wales and 
summarised below, have also been carefully considered. In this respect, it 
should be noted that national guidance states that the official projections 
should form the starting point for setting levels of growth in LDPs and 
makes it clear that any departure from these figures should be fully 
justified by demonstrable evidence. These official figures show a 42% rise 
in Cardiff’s population for the period 2008-2033 and a 33% rise for the 
Plan period 2006-26 for which the Plan makes provision. Other relevant 
factors include:  

• Accordance with Wales Spatial Plan and other key national policy 
and guidance; 

• Cross-boundary/city-region implications; 
• Accordance with ‘What Matters’, the Community Strategy for Cardiff 

Council; 
• Extent to which evidenced economic needs are delivered; 
• Extent to which evidenced social/housing needs are delivered; 
• Environmental and climate change implications; 
• Deliverability and capacity factors; and 
• Consultation and collaborative working findings. 

 
4.25 A summary of the consideration of relevant factors is set out below. 
However, more detailed relevant information is also contained in 
Supporting Documents including: 
 

• Supporting Document No. 18: Edge Analytics Report (June 2013); 

Page 818



• Supporting Document No. 1: Population & Housing Technical 
Background 

• Paper; 
• Supporting Document No. 2: Urban Capacity Study; and 
• Supporting Document No. 16: Masterplanning Framework - General 
• Principles, Strategic Framework & Site Specific Frameworks for 

larger sites. 
 

4.26 14 No other material factors are considered to possess sufficient weight to 
warrant departure from this level of growth which is considered to: 

• Accord with the Wales Spatial Plan aims by supporting Cardiff’s role as 
centre of a networked city-region but not to excessive levels which could 
prejudice  regeneration objectives elsewhere; 

• Accord with the Council’s vision and LDP objectives;  
• Effectively respond to the regional collaborative dialogue which recognised 

the dangers of artificially restricting growth in Cardiff - there was a clear 
recognition of the positive ‘ripple effects’ of providing jobs and homes in 
Cardiff which improved prosperity in the wider city-region;  

• Effectively respond to the clear evidenced need to provide for a significant 
number of new homes and jobs. Whilst the The Plan makes provision to 
deliver the level proposed may fall short of official projections, it  and is 
considered to strike the right balance having regard to the full range of 
factors;  

• Deliver necessary homes and jobs, but in a managed and controlled 
manner protecting key elements of Cardiff’s environment; 

• Meet deliverability and capacity factors - The Deposit LDP contains 
proposals and mechanisms which justify how deliverability and capacity 
matters can be adequately addressed. The wide range and choice of sites 
contributing to the provision together with the masterplanning approach 
which includes addressing the deliverability of supporting infrastructure 
demonstrates how development can be successfully brought forward in a 
managed way. (A higher level of growth would be considered difficult to 
justify in terms of deliverability factors and set an artificially high target 
for the 5 year supply requirements set out in TAN 1; and 

• Respond in an evidence-based manner to the divergence of views 
expressed in the Preferred Strategy consultation processes. 
 

4.27 15 The detailed breakdown of how it is intended to provide for the 41,415 
new homes over the Plan period is shown in Table 1, below. The masterplanning 
approach consultation findings and wider work undertaken have informed the 
number of new homes and jobs proposed for the Strategic Sites which are  
described in greater detail in Policy KP2 and Supporting Document. 
 
 

Table 1: Housing Provision over the Plan Period  
Row Topic/Factor Note/Source Dwellings 

NEW DWELLING REQUIREMENT 2006 - 2026 
1 2006-2026 Dwelling Requirement  As referenced in Policy KP1 41,415 
2 2006-2026 Dwelling Requirement per year (20 Row 1 divided by 20 years 2,071 

Page 819



years) 
CHANGE IN DWELLINGS 2006 to 2014 AND RESIDENTIAL LANDBANK AT 1st APRIL 2014 

3 Change in Council Tax Dwellings 31 March 2006 
to 31 March 2014 (8 years) (138,735 to 150,990) 

Official data from ONS/ Valuation 
Agency               
http://www.voa.gov.uk/corporate/Publ
ications/statisticsCouncilTax.html 

12,255 

4 Current Landbank (Under Construction, Not 
Started and Sites subject to Legal Agreement).   10,885 

ADJUSTMENTS FOR CHANGE IN CURRENT DWELLING STOCK 

5 
Adjustments (Demolitions, Change of Use from 
Residential to Other Uses and Residential 
Conversions) 

  242 

ALLOWANCES 
6 Windfalls (including Change of Use Gains)   5,850 

7 
15% Flexibility Allowance for possible reduced 
dwelling yield on Brownfield sites in landbank 
and some S106 sites not coming forward 

 -1,043 

LDP STRATEGIC SITES* 

8 Units on LDP Strategic Sites Excludes Strategic Site A - existing 
commitment in the landbank 13,950 

LDP NON-STRATEGIC SITES* 
9 Units on LDP Non-Strategic Sites   572 

  *Allowance to avoid double counting on Strategic and Non-Strategic sites in the landbank 
at 31st March 2014: -1,256 

10 Total Supply   41,456 
    

11 Additional 10% flexibility allowance, as 
referenced in KP1.  4,000 

 
 
4.28 16 The Plan deliberately provides an extensive range and choice of 
opportunities for the creation of new homes and jobs. This is crucial to the 
overall delivery of homes and jobs by enabling different sites in different 
locations to be progressed concurrently. It also ensures flexibility as a 
limited number of sites would carry delivery risks should implementation 
problems be encountered on specific sites. The masterplanning approach, 
which also addresses the provision of infrastructure and phasing, puts in 
place a framework to ensure the orderly development of sites. Key 
Policies on masterplanning, design and infrastructure, together with 
supporting documentation, explain this approach in more detail. 
 
4.29 17 In terms of the provision of new homes, brownfield sites still 
contribute over half of the provision, but this is supplemented by new 
greenfield opportunities offering a fuller range and choice. This provides a 
much needed catalyst to the local housing market which has seen a 
recent shortage of greenfield sites and can help meet a growing latent 

Page 820



demand. Furthermore, greenfield sites can play a key role in bringing 
forward high levels of affordable and family housing. Evidence has shown 
that site viability factors make it difficult for brownfield sites to 
consistently provide high levels of affordable housing.  
 
4.30 18 It should also be noted that Cardiff has a finite supply of 
brownfield sites and that the previous LDP was withdrawn due to the 
Inspector’s concerns that it was a, ‘brownfield only’ Strategy. The last 
decade has seen significant brownfield developments, the most notable 
being the successful regeneration of Cardiff Bay. However, brownfield 
opportunities of this scale no longer exist. Research work has been 
undertaken to explore the possibilities of maximising the contribution of 
brownfield land to meet future provision. Supporting Document 2 sets out 
in detail the findings of this work and demonstrates the different potential 
opportunities which have been explored. 
 
 
4.31 19 The Plan recognises that there is a limited supply of acceptable 
brownfield land. It also recognises that not all existing brownfield sites 
with planning permission will be developed due to changed 
economic/market conditions. These changed market conditions also mean 
that delivering previously anticipated levels of affordable housing may 
prove challenging due to current financial viability factors. This, in part, 
contributes to the current limited number of sites being brought forward 
for development from the landbank. Additionally, there are serious policy 
issues with losing further employment land of strategic or local 
importance to housing and it is not considered acceptable for the Plan to 
propose building on river valleys, parks and playing fields.  
 
4.32 20 However, brownfield sites will continue to play an important role 
and windfall provisions will form part of the provision for new homes as 
land uses within the city continue to evolve. For example, the Council is 
currently strategically assessing its land holdings which, over the Plan 
period, is likely to generate a wide range and choice of brownfield housing 
opportunities across the city. 
 
4.33 The Deposit LDP seeks to respond to need in a way which provides 
range and choice of land for housing. Maximising the contribution of 
brownfield sites still forms over half of the provision over the whole Plan 
period, but this is supplemented by a range of greenfield opportunities 
offering a range and choice and to provide a catalyst to help kick-start the 

Page 821



currently depressed housing market situation. Greenfield sites generally 
have far lower site development costs/constraints and are therefore 
widely recognised as providing far higher levels of affordable housing than 
brownfield sites. 
 
4.34 21 The provision of a full range and choice of housing options also 
fully supports the delivery of the economic Strategy - new homes and 
supporting community facilities can help attract new investment to the 
city and stimulate more movement in the housing market. Associated 
construction jobs would provide an additional benefit to the local 
economy.  
 
4.35 22 New greenfield releases also bring with them the ability to 
contribute towards the wider provision of strategic infrastructure to the 
benefit of the city and wider city-region as a whole. For example, the 
delivery of sustainable transportation solutions will have positive 
implications for the wider community. In this respect, there are clear 
benefits of the locations of the strategic sites which offer the opportunity 
of a joined-up approach to deliver strategically important infrastructure in 
the North West and East/North East corridors. This assists in prioritising 
infrastructure provision in a planned and focussed manner. 
 
4.36 23 In order to deliver the required level of growth over the Plan 
period, there will be a need for a range and choice of sites to be on 
stream over the remainder of the Plan period. The masterplanning 
approach has been adopted to carefully manage this process with Key 
Policies KP2 (A) to KP2 (H) providing a framework for the delivery of each 
Strategic Site in this respect. In this way, each site and each phase of 
development can bring with it the necessary range of supporting 
infrastructure. It should be noted that the scale of strategic sites open up 
the opportunity for delivering significant infrastructure benefits. However, 
some major elements may take a long period to deliver. Therefore, early 
phases will need to both deliver the infrastructure which is required for 
that particular phase along with contributing to the provision of wider 
strategic infrastructure which may be physically provided at a slightly 
later date. Detailed provisions will be put in place to secure delivery in 
such instances. 
 
4.37 24 The Plan is considered sufficiently flexible to respond to changing 
conditions. This will be kept under review in the Annual Monitoring 
Reporting process allowing future reviews to address the need for change. 

Page 822



Should demand be lower than anticipated, the sequence of provision will 
remain in place, thereby controlling development in an orderly manner 
and linking it in with infrastructure provision. However, this scenario 
would result in the trajectory being followed over a longer period allowing 
either Plan review or the next Plan to make appropriate judgement on 
future provision at that time. 
 
4.38 25 Consideration also needs to be given to demand being higher 
than expected. This is considered to be a less likely possibility, based on 
current evidence of low completion rates and the challenging economic 
conditions. However, the LDP tests of soundness demand that Plans are 
sufficiently flexible to be able to positively respond to changes in 
circumstances. This Policy therefore has a built-in 10% flexibility 
allowance. 
 
4.39 26 In this way, if a need is identified in the Annual Monitoring Report 
before the end of the Plan period, additional land can be brought forward 
for residential purposes at that point in time in a Plan review. The Plan 
demonstrates a clear commitment to a long term direction of travel by 
identifying geographically defined areas which have been subject to 
SA/SEA analysis and are well positioned to meet such need, if required. 
 
4.40 27 Work undertaken as part of this process has shown that there is 
limited scope for further development areas due to the environmental and 
other constraints around the city together. There is considered merit in 
focussing potential additional areas based upon proposed Strategic Sites 
where there is land available to take advantage of the comprehensive 
provision of new community and transportation infrastructure and 
minimising impact on areas of higher environmental sensitivity including 
land proposed for Green Belt Wedge designation. 
 
4.41 28 Three areas have been identified to provide good flexibility as just 
one option may limit the scope for dwellings being delivered should 
problems be encountered on a particular site. It should also be noted in 
this respect that each area offers a large gross area with the combined 
potential to deliver more than just an additional 10% flexibility. The 
masterplanning of adjoining Strategic Sites will take account of these 
potential additional areas in the planning of land uses and supporting 
infrastructure. Other strategic sites have far more fixed boundaries and 
do not lend themselves to logical extension. will ensure that suitable 
access is secured and future Plan monitoring will trigger any future 

Page 823



detailed consideration of infrastructure and masterplanning requirements 
should the need for the early release of the identified Search Areas be 
triggered within the Plan period.     
 
4.42 29 The areas considered most suitable to deliver this potential need 
are as follows: 
 
i. Land North of the North West Cardiff Strategic Site - Up to 57 hectares 

of   land located between Llantrisant Road and the M4 Motorway 
bounded by the edge of Radyr to the East and the recent development 
on the former Rhydlafar Hospital to the West. This is a gross figure 
with the net developable area likely to be a significant reduction due 
to natural and infrastructure constraints within the site. This could 
provide a minimum of an extra 1,250 dwellings if required in the later 
phases of the Plan period but further masterplanning addressing long-
term capacity is likely to demonstrate a higher figure is possible and 
the land is indicated by an arrow for potential future development on 
the Key Diagram; as Search Area A on the Proposals Map; 
 

 
ii. Land West of the Strategic Site North of Junction 33 - Up to 41 

hectares of land represents a logical extension of this site which falls 
between the M4 Motorway and Llantrisant Road. This could provide a 
minimum of an extra 1,250 dwellings if required in the later phases of 
the Plan period but further masterplanning addressing long-term 
capacity is likely to demonstrate a higher figure is possible. The land is 
indicated by an arrow for potential future development on the Key 
Diagram; as Search Area B on the Proposals Map; and 

 
iii.  North West Cardiff Strategic Site - As highlighted in Table 1, above, 

the overall capacity of this site is considered to be in the order of 
6,500-7,000 dwellings depending on the precise configuration of land 
uses and housing densities. Work undertaken to date suggests that a 
figure of 5,000 dwellings is appropriate for homes being delivered 
within the Plan period (by 2026). However, should build rates be 
faster than anticipated, this site represents an ideal opportunity to 
help meet any additional need within the Plan period and benefits from 
the comprehensive masterplanning of the area as a whole which is 
shown as a allocation in its entirety. 

 

Page 824



4.43 30 In a similar way to the provision of new homes, a range and 
choice of new job opportunities is also proposed. It is important to ensure 
that a range and choice of employment land and business premises are 
provided to maintain and improve the competitiveness of the city, 
promote and protect indigenous business and attract inward investment. 
 
4.44 31 This approach responds to Cardiff’s role as the main economic 
driver of the city-region accounting for 32% of total employment in South 
East Wales. At the heart of this approach is recognition that the Cardiff 
city-region clearly forms a natural economic area and it has consistently 
made a major positive contribution to the economic growth of Wales. In 
core city analysis, Cardiff performs well and there is an opportunity to 
build further on this through continuing to enhance Cardiff’s role and also 
improve linkages and connectivity within the city-region. It is also 
recognised (as evidenced in the recent Cardiff LDP regional collaborative 
working exercise summarised in Supporting Document 17) that there are 
significant benefits for adjoining areas from Cardiff’s success in achieving 
economic growth. 
 
4.45 32 The Plan provides a framework for delivering a wide range and 
choice of employment sites in different locations and for different sectors 
including the key market sectors of ICT, energy and environmental 
technologies, advanced materials and manufacturing, creative industries, 
life sciences and financial and professional services. The range of new 
sites ensures that Cardiff can deliver the stated level of growth for new 
jobs. Importantly, different sites will perform different roles in the 
strategy. For example, Porth Teigr (Roath Basin) has the potential to 
become an important location for media and creative industries. Other  
locations may be better suited to small out of centre employment sites, 
including offices, creative industries, small workshops, and starter units. 
 
4.46 33 The geographical spread of the ‘Cardiff offer’ also addresses the 
need to provide jobs in accessible locations. In this respect, the key 
strategic proposal relating to the Cardiff Central Enterprise Zone and 
Regional Transport Hub represents a highly sustainable and accessible 
location, close to areas of high unemployment in the city but also readily 
accessible to the wider region via sustainable modes of transport. 
 
4.47 Further background evidence underpinning the approach to 
providing the range and choice of new jobs is provided in Supporting 
Document 4. 

Page 825



 
  

Page 826



KP2: STRATEGIC SITES 
 
Strategic Sites are allocated as set out below to help meet the 
need for new dwellings and jobs: 
Brownfield Strategic Sites: 
(A) Cardiff Central Enterprise Zone and Regional Transport Hub; 
(B) Former Gas Works, Ferry Road; 
Greenfield Strategic Sites: 
(C) North West Cardiff; 
(D) North of Junction 33 on M4; 
(E) South of Creigiau; 
(F) North East Cardiff (West of Pontprennau); 
(G) East of Pontprennau Link Road; and 
(H) South of St Mellons Business Park - Employment only. 
 
4.48 34 Strategic sites are defined as being sites of 500 homes or more and/or with 
significant employment/mixed uses and which have the potential to deliver 
significant benefits to the city. 
 
4.49 35 The purpose of this Policy is to help bring forward appropriate land in 
sustainable locations to satisfy the identified need for housing, employment and 
other uses. The Preferred Strategy set out the detailed consideration of candidate 
sites and explained the analysis of spatial options resulting in the identification of 
strategic sites in that document. 
 
4.50  Full consideration has been given to consultation feedback including alternative 
approaches to meeting evidenced needs. However, taking full account of the 
LDP ‘tests of soundness’ and other material relevant factors, other approaches 
are not considered to provide compelling and demonstrable reasons for an 
alternative approach to allocating the proposed strategic sites. 
 
4.51 36 The Deposit LDP has therefore retained the same This range and choice of 
strategic sites as those identified in the Preferred Strategy. This brings significant 
benefits of providing a genuine range and choice, critical to overall Plan delivery. 
Furthermore, the scale of sites enables more comprehensive solutions to be 
delivered which can bring about significant infrastructure improvements for the 
wider city and city-region. 
 
4.52 38 However, many consultation responses on the Preferred Strategy and 
focussed 
engagement on the masterplanning approach highlighted concerns from local 
residents and landowner/developers on the densities proposed in the Preferred 
Strategy for strategic sites. Further detailed work on the masterplanning of sites 

Page 827



has taken account of these concerns and has also looked in far more detail at 
potential land required for community facilities, open spaces and safeguarding 
existing natural features. This work has been undertaken in the context of the 
masterplanning general principles (set out in Supporting Document 16) which 
highlight the importance of achieving higher densities in the most suitable locations 
but recognises a wide overall range and choice of densities. 
 
4.53 37 As a result of this more detailed work, the number of dwellings proposed on 
some 
strategic sites has changed from the proposed number of units referred to in the 
Preferred Strategy. However, it must be stressed that different sites pose different 
issues and have a different local context so each site has been carefully 
considered on its own merits. The anticipated number of dwellings capable of 
being delivered from each strategic site is summarised in Table 1 (paragraph 
4.27 15) together with Table 2, below. Further details relating to the masterplanning 
framework for these sites are set out in Supporting Document 16. 
Table 2: SUMMARY OF STRATEGIC SITES 
Ref Site Proposed Use 
Table 2: SUMMARY OF STRATEGIC SITES 

 
Ref Site 

 

Proposed Use 

A 

 

Cardiff Central 
Enterprise Zone and 
Regional Transport Hub 

Major employment-led initiative 
including a Regional Transport 
Hub together with other mixed 
uses in Cardiff city centre in 
order to fulfil Cardiff’s role as 
economic driver of the city-
region, provide major 
employment opportunities 
focused on financial and 
business services and maximise 
the advantages of its location 
adjacent to the Central Station 
and Cardiff Bus Station. Due to 
existing commitments which new 
proposals will update, current 
evidence suggests no net gain in 
units to avoid double counting. 
However any additional units over 
and above commitments will count 
as windfalls 

B Former Gas Works, Housing-based scheme of 500 

Page 828



Ferry Road homes and other associated 
community uses 

C North-West Cardiff Comprehensive development of 
approximately 5,000 homes within 
the Plan period including 
employment and other associated 
community uses 

D North of Junction 33 on 
M4 

Mixed use of approximately 2,000 
homes, employment, other 
associated community uses and a 
strategic park and ride site 

E South of Creigiau Housing-based scheme of 
approximately 650 homes 
representing a southern extension of 
the existing village 

F North-East Cardiff (West 
of Pontprennau) 

Comprehensive development of 
approximately 4,500 homes, 
employment and other associated 
community uses 

G East of Pontprennau 
Link Road 

Housing-based scheme of 
approximately 1,300 with associated 
community uses 

H South of St Mellons 
Business Park 

Strategic employment site 

 
4.54 38 The combination of development on these sites will result in the 
delivery of 
approximately 13,950 new dwellings together with a range and choice of 
employment opportunities and a significant amount of supporting 
infrastructure 
and community facilities. 
 
4.39 A summary of the key infrastructure requirements relating to the 
Strategic Sites are provided within KP2(A) to KP2(H). This information will 
be cross-referenced in the Cardiff Infrastructure Plan which is a, ‘living 
document’ sitting alongside the LDP. The Infrastructure Plan is directly 
linked to the LDP Monitoring Framework and regularly updated in order to 
effectively respond to changes in baseline information, procedures and 
legislation. Estimated costs of infrastructure provision and details of 
estimated square footages of facilities are referenced within the 
Infrastructure Plan based on current considerations, requirements, and 

Page 829



information available at a point in time so represent indicative figures. 
Future updates to the Infrastructure Plan will allow such information to be 
regularly updated to reflect prevailing circumstances and show more 
detail when it is known. Policies KP6  and KP7 relating to new 
infrastructure and planning obligations provide further policy guidance 
with regard to the delivery of new infrastructure and are also linked to the 
Infrastructure Plan and Annual Monitoring Framework.   

 
4.40 Infrastructure requirements for these sites will primarily be delivered 
through planning obligations/ Section 106 Agreements with policies KP6 
and KP7 providing the policy framework. Policy KP6 also outlines other 
potential funding sources which may be required in addition to developer 
contributions. Further details as they emerge will be incorporated into the 
Infrastructure Plan as it is updated in future years as part of the formal 
LDP monitoring process.    

 
4.41 The masterplanning and good quality & sustainable design principles 
set out in KP4 and KP5 will be used to provide a framework to consider 
planning applications relating to all Strategic Sites along with other 
development as defined in the policies. In addition, the site-specific 
masterplanning requirements for each Strategic Site are identified within 
KP2(A) to KP2(H) and depicted, where appropriate, on the indicative 
Schematic Frameworks. Although only for illustrative purposes, the 
Schematic Frameworks should be read in conjunction with relevant 
policies to provide an over-arching context for the future development of 
the Strategic Sites.  
 
Delete existing paragraphs 4.55 to 4.67 relating to Strategic Site H as 
these matters will now be covered by proposed new KP2(H): 
 

4.55 In response to issues raised in the Sustainability Appraisal with 
regard to environmental aspects of the strategic employment site at 
south of St Mellons Business Park, the following paragraphs explain 
the rationale for including the site together with how flood risk and 
other environmental concerns can be addressed as part of the 
scheme. 
 
4.56 This is an important employment site which contributes to the 
necessary range and choice of types of employment opportunities in 
the city. Its location is particularly well placed to provide accessible 
job opportunities to areas of known deprivation and its position 

Page 830



adjacent to the main rail line offers significant opportunities for a new 
station together with supporting sustainable transportation 
infrastructure. This proposal is a long-standing proposal in the 
Regional Transport Plan, is identified in the emerging work on the 
South Wales Metro concept and has Welsh Government support. 
 
4.57 However, it is recognised that the area possesses environmental 
and flood risk constraints. In terms of environmental issues, the 
majority of the area is a Site of Special Scientific Interest with the 
reens forming the major interest. Additionally, the adjoining Estuary is 
a European designated site so run-off issues and disturbance will be 
particularly sensitive. The land also meets the qualifying criteria using 
the LANDMAP landscape methodology for Special Landscape Area 
status. Furthermore, there are significant historic interests and the 
land is designated as a Historic Landscape and Archaeologically 
Sensitive Area. 
4.58 These environmental and flood risk constraints have been 
carefully examined so that suitable mitigation and enhancement 
measures can be put in place to address these issues. Further details 
are contained in Supporting Document 16 outlining site specific 
masterplanning framework for the site. 
 
4.59 Considerable work has been undertaken to evidence the degree 
of flood risk in line with national guidance. The Strategic Flood 
Consequence Assessment work (SFCA) has analysed the risks when 
looking at the lifetime of development. The Phase 3 SFCA report 
undertaken by Atkins demonstrates that the flood risk can be 
effectively mitigated for the site. This can be achieved through a 
combination of raising the Sea Wall at points most prone to breaching 
together with raising ground levels on the development site. The costs 
associated with this work are not considered to undermine the 
financial viability of the proposal.  
 
4.60 The Environment Agency (EA, now called Natural Resources 
Wales) has validated the methodology undertaken during this study. 
Furthermore, the Severn Estuary Flood Risk Management Strategy 
2013 consultation proposes sea wall improvements to the area 
identified by Atkins as a weak section at Tabb’s Gout requiring an 
upgrade so it is consistent with other flood defences along the coast. 
It is anticipated that the works will be implemented in the near future, 
probably in 2015/16. 

Page 831



 
4.61 It should be stressed that an extensive area of land behind the 
Sea Wall is exposed to flood risk both in Cardiff, Newport and 
Monmouthshire, especially in future years when evidence points to sea 
levels rising. This includes existing properties, the main rail line into 
South Wales, power lines and undeveloped land, much of which forms 
part of the far wider Wentloog Levels Site of Special Scientific Interest 
(SSSI). Any significant flood event could therefore have profound 
implications (social, economic and environmental) which is why the 
aim of the Severn Estuary Shoreline Management Plan is to ‘hold the 
line’ in terms of flood defences in this area. 
 
4.62 The social and economic benefits of delivering a strategic 
employment site in St Mellons would be profound. In a Cardiff context, 
it would represent a key strategic site by providing a well accessed 
and high quality site close to the strategic highway network. With 
these qualities the site is uniquely placed within the city-region and 
would be capable of attracting inward investment opportunities for 
high value and knowledge-based sectors. The site would also add an 
extra dimension to the Cardiff offer in terms of office supply by adding 
to the range and choice of employment locations and providing a 
degree of flexibility in providing campus-style office jobs which 
address market requirements. Furthermore, its location adjacent to 
the main line offers the potential to develop direct rail links with a new 
rail station linked to a park and ride facility. 
 
4.63 The site is located near to residential areas of high 
unemployment and could be readily integrated with the existing St 
Mellons Business Park. In particular, this is a high quality site for 
existing businesses, who are looking to raise their added value, a key 
requirement for manufacturing companies if they are to grow and 
embed themselves in the local economy. Research has indicated that a 
high quality site (like St Mellons) and buildings can attract both low 
value added users and high value added users. However, a low quality 
site and buildings can only attract low value added users. Having 
regard to size, location, proximity to other uses and access, the St 
Mellons site is particularly well placed in Cardiff to deliver this 
important role. 
 
4.64 The land is currently used for agricultural purposes but is also 
designated as an SSSI for the reens together with fields which host 

Page 832



invertebrates and bees. Furthermore, the area is noted for its high 
landscape and historic value. Development of this site can be 
undertaken in a sensitive manner to minimise harm and include 
enhancements with considerable scope for large scale mitigation 
measures south of the rail line and incorporating a design and layout 
following guidance issued by the Countryside Council for Wales which 
offers practical guidance on how development can take place in the 
Wentloog Levels SSSI. In this respect it should be noted that the site 
forms the western extremity of a far wider landscape unit and in many 
ways is not a pristine example of the levels environment with a large 
number of detracting elements together with few reens on large parts 
of the site. 
 
4.65 However, the social and economic benefits are considerable both 
in a Cardiff context and locally due to the location of the site near 
areas of high unemployment and could be readily integrated with 
adjoining uses. Additionally, the provision of a new rail station 
adjacent to a new employment area opens up considerable wider 
benefits beyond Cardiff and will help deliver social, economic and 
sustainable transportation benefits for South East Wales.  
 
4.66 Furthermore, the development of this site will act as a catalyst to 
bring about the Sea Wall defence works which will help protect a much 
wider area. Indeed, the whole SSSI could be lost if inundated with sea 
water so an appropriate balance must be made. Mitigation measures 
can be undertaken to reduce impact and in this respect account will be 
taken of the CCW Guidance Booklet on how to bring forward 
development in the Wentloog Levels SSSI. 
 
4.67 In conclusion, taking all evidence and assessments into account, 
it is considered that the economic and social benefits of this proposal 
are considered to outweigh environmental concerns and in this respect 
it is noted that mitigation measures can be delivered to reduce harm. 

 
 
  

Page 833



KP2(A): CARDIFF CENTRAL ENTERPRISE ZONE AND REGIONAL 
TRANSPORT HUB 
Land is allocated at Cardiff Central Enterprise Zone, as defined on 
the Proposals Map, for a major employment-led initiative 
including a Regional Transport Hub together with other mixed 
uses in Cardiff City Centre in order to fulfil Cardiff’s role as 
economic driver of the city-region, providing major employment 
opportunities focused on financial and business services and 
maximise the advantages of its central location. Supporting 
essential, enabling and necessary infrastructure will be delivered 
in a phased manner with specific requirements secured through 
planning consents including: 
Essential/ Enabling Infrastructure 

• Transport & Highways: 
- Central, public transport hub providing access to and 

interchange between rail network, the rapid transit and 
strategic bus corridors referred to in Policy T2, the city-wide 
bus network and the strategic cycle network; 

- Improving existing bus routes and services including bus 
priority measures between the site, Cardiff Bay and other 
parts of the city; 

- Rapid Transit- Southern Corridor 
• Walking and cycling: 
- Enhance pedestrian and cycle access between north and 

south sides of main railway line including enhanced railway 
underpasses; 

- Enhance east and west connections through the area 
connecting developments; 

- Enhanced/ extend Canal Park as a cycling and walking route, 
creating a new green corridor linking the Bay Waterfront to 
Callaghan Square, the City Centre and beyond; 

- Integrate site with the Strategic Cycle Network Enfys 
including Routes 1,2,3, 4, 5, 6, 9, 90, 34, 35, 50, the city 
centre ‘hub’ routes, the Taff Trail and the Bay Trail;  

- Provide a central cycle parking hub with associated facilities 
as an integral component of the regional public transport 
hub and of a scale befitting its regional and capital function; 

- Provide secure cycle parking and associated facilities in 
locations which encourage cycling to the city centre and 
integration with public transport services; 

Page 834



- Improve connections to Millennium Stadium including Gate 
5; 

- Create continuous river walk on Taff East bank  
Necessary Infrastructure 

• Education-1 new Primary School and contribution to existing 
Secondary Schools; 

• Minimum of approximately 7ha Open Space including 
approximately 3.5ha of formal recreation, 1 playground, 1 
teen facility, 1x 40 plot allotment site; 

• Contribution to off-site community facility provision; 
 
Development shall accord with the following key masterplanning 
requirements (as depicted, where appropriate, on the Schematic 
Framework): 

• Densities will be maximised to make efficient use of city 
centre land in a highly accessible location. High rise, high 
density developments at appropriate locations within the site 
are encouraged and residential densities in excess of 100 
dwellings per hectare are not considered unreasonable in 
principle. Employment densities for B1 office development 
are expected to be at least 14.5 square metres per employee 
(gross external area); 

• Employment provision to include Grade A office 
accommodation and developing Callaghan Square as Wales’ 
premier business location. The site will also provide a range 
and choice of opportunities to meet business needs including 
start-up businesses, creative workshops and incubator units; 

• Create destination spaces with active uses which 
complement the business offer including Central Square 
(new public piazza with active ground floor uses), Southern 
Gateway (new public space south of Central Station), 
Callaghan Square (greening of spaces whilst maintaining a 
‘civic’ presence), and Taff East Bank (creating active uses 
and new leisure destination); 

• Make improvements to the Arena Area with links to Queen 
Street Station; 

• Ensure that development does not prejudice the future 
delivery of the Metro by keeping free land required for the 
project once land requirements are known;  

• Provision of high quality way-finding and clearly defined 
pedestrian routes to key destinations; 

Page 835



• Ensure a consistent approach to the use of high quality 
street furniture and paving materials;   

• Improve routes and connections to support the Butetown 
Regeneration with links to community facilities and services 
including Loudon Square as a community “hub”;  

• Maximise linkages to the Taff Trail and Canal Park; 
• Integrating new development sensitively with new and 

existing developments and take opportunities for commercial 
activity along Dumballs Road;  

• Upgrade site gateways, railway bridges/ underpasses and 
the public realm; 

• Effectively responding to landscape and biodiversity assets 
by: 

- Maximising the asset of River Taff frontage; 
- Developing opportunities for natural greenspaces to create 

urban parkland settings; 
• Effectively respond to heritage assets by: 
- Assessing and effectively addressing potential impacts on 

Conservation Areas and Listed Buildings within and adjoining 
the site; 

- Integrating public art and heritage interpretation as part of 
proposals;  

• Investigating opportunities for new developments in 
Dumballs Road to have a separate drainage system , 
including running surface water to the river and integrating 
landscaped areas; 

• Seek to develop opportunities for SUDS to relate to/ extend 
the “Greener Grangetown” scheme. 

 
1.4.42  The Cardiff Central Enterprise Zone is one of eight Strategic Sites 
which collectively play a crucial role in delivering the Plan Strategy. It is 
the largest brownfield site within the Plan (78.8 ha) and occupies a 
particularly accessible location in the centre of Cardiff including the major 
transportation hub around Cardiff Central station. Overall, it represents a 
significant sustainable regeneration opportunity in the heart of the city 
and is fully consistent with delivering the Plan’s vision and objectives.    
2. 4.43 The land is owned by numerous landowners and will be delivered 
by a number of different developers operating out of different sites. This 
policy, together with other relevant policies, will provide the overarching 
masterplanning and infrastructure planning framework for landowners 
and developers to prepare Parameter Plans and Masterplans which will 

Page 836



inform the Development Management process. In this respect it should be 
noted that different potential projects in the area are operating to 
different timescales so an over-prescriptive approach would not be 
appropriate.  
4.  4.44 Planning conditions and Planning Obligations (Section 106 
Agreements) will be used to formally tie in the phased delivery of 
necessary supporting infrastructure with trigger mechanisms and 
thresholds used to ensure timely provision.     
5. 4.45 The site is in a central location with a good level of accessibility by 
non car-based travel. The transport sustainability of the site will be 
further enhanced through the development of the regional transport hub 
linking different sustainable forms of transport and the wider 
improvements to the strategic public transport network and the walking 
and cycling networks that will be secured in conjunction with the 
development of other Strategic Sites and through the Council’s own 
infrastructure programmes.  
6. 4.46 Although details of the mode and potential alignments of the 
Metro are not yet known it is likely that the project will provide access to 
this Strategic Site. Work undertaken to date by the Welsh Government 
has not firmed up detailed proposals and there is no current certainty on 
any detailed alignments so it would be inappropriate to allocate a precise 
alignment on the Proposals Map but there is a need to ensure future 
options are not prejudiced. Therefore, this policy references the potential 
future need to safeguard land required for the Metro project once any 
land requirements are known. Future Plan reviews and the annual 
monitoring framework linked to the ‘living’ Infrastructure Plan provide 
mechanisms to ensure the LDP process can be further updated in this 
respect. 
 

Page 837



 

P
age 838



55 
 

KP2(B): FORMER GAS WORKS, FERRY ROAD 
Land is allocated at the former Gas Works, Ferry Road, as defined 
on the Proposals Map, for a housing-based scheme of 500 homes 
and other associated community uses, together with essential, 
enabling and necessary supporting infrastructure which will be 
delivered in a phased manner with specific details formally tied 
into planning consents including: 
Essential/ Enabling Infrastructure 

• Walking and cycling: 
- Improve pedestrian access to public transport facilities in 

the vicinity of the site; 
- Provide new and enhance existing pedestrian/cycle links 

from the site to the Ely Trail, Grangemoor Park, Cardiff Bay 
Retail Park and other community facilities within the area 
including Channel View Centre 

Necessary Infrastructure 
• Contribution to off-site community facility provision; 
• Education- Contribution to existing Primary and Secondary 

Schools; 
• Minimum of 1.2ha Open Space including 1 playground, 1 teen 

facility, plus contributions to formal open space, allotment 
provision and play provision 

 
Development shall be undertaken in a comprehensive manner and 
accord with the following key masterplanning requirements (as 
depicted, where appropriate, on the Schematic Framework): 

• Densities will be maximised to make efficient use of this 
brownfield site with high density residential accommodation 
of at least 50 dwellings per hectare considered appropriate 
and in keeping with the characteristics of the area; 

• The density, design, scale and layout at the northern end of 
the site should respond effectively to the adjacent Ikea 
building; 

• The layout should relate effectively to the railway line 
forming the western boundary of the site including 
mitigating any acoustic impacts;  

• Ensure that the cycle trail linking the Ely Trail to Ferry Road 
is retained and that the layout provides a safe and 
overlooked solution; 

• Maximise the relationship between the site, the River Ely and 
Grangemoor Park including extending the park along the 

Page 839



56 
 

river frontage to create a riverside park with informal play 
opportunities; 

• Effectively respond to landscape and biodiversity assets by: 
- Mitigating and compensating for reptiles and bats; 
- Enhancing the buffer of trees along the railway line; 
- Ensuring an adequate buffer from the River Ely Site of 

Importance for Nature Conservation to protect the river bank 
and associated vegetation; 

• Effectively respond to heritage assets by: 
• Assessing and effectively addressing potential impacts on 

the character and setting of the Listed Gas Holder and 
demonstrating how the proposals can successfully integrate 
this historic asset; 

• Explore the potential to collect methane gas from 
Grangemoor Park to create a heat and power system 
together with exploring other potential opportunities such as 
biomass to create electricity and to heat the site’s buildings.  

 
1.  4.47 The former Gas Works, Ferry Road, is one of eight Strategic Sites 
which collectively play a crucial role in delivering the Plan Strategy. It is a 
brownfield site (9.9 ha) well-located within the urban area adding to the 
range and choice of housing offer in the Plan. 
2. 4.48 The land is owned by a single landowner and will be delivered in a 
comprehensive manner. This policy, together with other relevant policies, 
will provide the masterplanning and infrastructure planning framework for 
landowners and developers to prepare Parameter Plans and Masterplans 
which will inform the Development Management process. 
3. 4.49 The relative scale of the site allows for a maximum of 2 outlets at 
any time with full delivery of the 500 units anticipated between 2017 and 
2024. Planning conditions and Planning Obligations (Section 106 
Agreements) will be used to formally tie in the phased delivery of 
necessary supporting infrastructure with trigger mechanisms and 
thresholds used to ensure timely provision in relation to completion of 
new homes.  
4.4.50 Due to the accessible location of the site and proximity to existing 
social/ community facilities in the area it is considered appropriate to 
secure developer contributions to improve nearby facilities as outlined in 
the policy. 

Page 840



57 
 

 

P
age 841



58 
 

 
 
 
P2(C): NORTH WEST CARDIFF 
Land is allocated at North West Cardiff, as defined on the 
Proposals Map, for a mixed-use comprehensive development 
including a minimum of 5,000 homes and local employment 
opportunities, together with essential, enabling and necessary 
supporting infrastructure which will be delivered in a phased 
manner with specific details formally tied into planning consents 
including: 
Essential/ Enabling Infrastructure 

• Transport & Highways:  
- Provision of new bus-based Rapid Transit Corridors through 

the site providing links between the District/Local Centres 
and a new Transport Hub in the Easternmost District/Local 
Centre; 

- Off-site infrastructure including bus priority measures to 
develop bus-based Rapid Transit Corridors integrating with 
the site, the Western Bus Corridor and other routes within 
the North West Rapid Transit Corridor; 

- Off-site infrastructure including bus priority enhancements 
on the Western Bus Corridor and measures to improve 
linkages into Rhondda Cynon Taf; 

- Extend bus networks and increase the frequency and 
reliability of services to serve the site with public transport 
options for a wide range of journeys including a combination 
of limited stop and local bus services 

• Walking and cycling: 
- On and off-site measures to provide a network of high 

quality, safe, attractive and convenient routes within the site 
and linking to key local services, facilities and destinations 
including existing local centres and Schools at Fairwater, 
Pentrebane, Danescourt and Radyr; 

- Links to the Taff and Ely Trails; 
- Links to off-site public transport destinations including 

Radyr, Danescourt and Llandaff Rail Stations 
 
 
Necessary Infrastructure 

Page 842



59 
 

• 1 District Centre and 3 Local Centres (including provision of 
business and local employment uses), Primary Care facility, 
Multifunctional community leisure facility including library 
facility, and financial contribution to upgrading of Fairwater 
Leisure Centre;           

• Education-1 new Secondary School, 3-4  new Primary 
Schools located in or adjacent to District/Local Centres, and 
financial contribution to existing Primary Schools in earlier 
phases; 

• Minimum of 30ha Open Space including 15ha of formal 
recreation, 6 playgrounds including destination play area, 2 
teen facilities plus off-site contribution, and 2x 50 plot 
allotment sites (through on-site/ off-site provision) 

 
Development shall be undertaken in a comprehensive manner and 
accord with the following key masterplanning requirements (as 
depicted, where appropriate, on the Schematic Framework): 

• Provide a range of densities with high density (minimum of 
45-50+ dwellings per hectare) mixed-use development 
within District/Local Centres and medium to high density 
(35-50+ dwellings per hectare) along the Rapid Transit 
Corridors; 

• Initial phases towards the east and along Llantrisant Road, 
middle phases towards the centre of the site and later to the 
west; 

• Ensure that the potential future delivery of the ‘Metro’ is not 
precluded by keeping a corridor alongside and including the 
disused rail line running through the site (as depicted on the 
schematic framework) safeguarded from development and 
also ensuring that land uses, densities and layouts respond 
positively to its potential future provision; 

• District/ Local Centres to be accessible by walking, cycling 
and public transport and accommodate a range of services 
including convenience goods floorspace plus other retail of a 
scale and nature which accord with Plan retail policies with 
the anchor food store to be located within the District Centre 
towards the east of the site; 

• Employment provision (B1 & B1(b)(c)) to be located in and 
adjoining the District/Local Centres amounting to 
approximately 15,000sqm; 

Page 843



60 
 

• New Schools to be located in and adjoining the District/Local 
Centres;    

• Provide good land use and transportation integration with 
the adjoining areas of Pentrebane, Fairwater and Radyr;  

• Providing an active frontage onto Pentrebane and Llantrisant 
Roads; 

• Effectively respond to landscape and biodiversity assets by: 
- Linking retained habitats through the provision of a series of 

open space corridors providing ecological connectivity, 
sustainable access routes and opportunities for sustainable 
drainage including: 

- Links between retained woodlands at Coed y Trenches, 
Coed y Gof, Waterhall, Halfwrt and Coedbychan; 

- Corridor along the valley through the middle of the site; 
- Links to the countryside to the west and south-west;  
- Linking corridors where possible between the above to 

provide a good network   
- Ensuring that there is no detriment to the maintenance of 

the favourable conservation status of Great Crested Newts 
on the site including protection of the existing 2 ponds in the 
Pentrebane Cottages SINC and provision of a minimum of 2 
additional ponds in the locality; 

- Providing suitable buffers to retained woodlands referred to 
above and other habitats including hedgerows and streams; 

• Effectively respond to heritage assets by: 
- Assessing and effectively addressing potential impacts on 

the St Fagans Conservation Area (retain woodland/ 
hedgerow buffers together with provision of new planting) 
and the Listed Buildings (together with their settings) within 
and adjacent to the site; 

• Effectively respond to other constraints including Radyr Golf 
Course (ensuring no conflict with errant golf balls) and 
existing easements (overhead pylons and underground 
infrastructure); and 

• Ensuring that that development does not adversely affect the 
water quality of the Nant Rhydlafar.  

 
1.  4.51 North West Cardiff is one of eight Strategic Sites which 
collectively play a crucial role in delivering the Plan Strategy. It is the 
largest Strategic Site within the Plan (346 ha) and relates to countryside 

Page 844



61 
 

to the west of Radyr, Fairwater and Pentrebane, and to the north of the 
village of St Fagans. 
2. 4.52 The vast majority of the land at North West Cardiff is within the 
control of the Trustees of St Fagans no. 1 & 2 and no. 3 Trust and will be 
delivered by a number of different developers operating out of different 
outlets. This policy, together with other relevant policies, will provide the 
masterplanning and infrastructure planning framework for landowners 
and developers to prepare Parameter Plans and Masterplans which will 
inform the Development Management process. 
4. 4.53 The scale of the site allows numerous outlets to be operating at 
any one time in different parts of this large site and will provide a wide 
range and choice of housing offer and opportunities for a variety of 
different tenures. Planning conditions and Planning Obligations (Section 
106 Agreements) will be used to formally tie in the phased delivery of 
necessary supporting infrastructure with trigger mechanisms and 
thresholds used to ensure timely provision in relation to completion of 
new homes.  
5. 4.54 Rapid Transit Corridors within the site will be bus-based and of 
sufficient width and otherwise designed, including the control of car 
parking, to allow the safe two-way passing of the largest vehicles. Bus 
priority measures will be provided at appropriate locations within the site 
to allow bus rapid transit to avoid queuing traffic. Bus-based Rapid Transit 
Corridors will link the site to the Western Bus Corridor with off-site bus 
priority measures provided to assist the flow of buses. Further off-site 
corridor enhancements will be provided on the Western Bus Corridor as 
shown on the Proposals Map and consistent with policy T2 in order to 
support delivery of the increased frequency and reliability of services. The 
integration of housing and supporting services and community 
infrastructure provides the opportunity for a high proportion of short, local 
trips to be made by walking and cycling. This will be made possible by 
integrating networks of high quality walking and cycling routes within 
development layouts and ensuring that the design of roads, streets, 
junctions and public spaces accommodate the natural ‘desire lines’ of 
people making trips on foot and by bicycle. 
6. 4.55 Although details of the mode and potential alignments of the 
Metro have yet to be defined, it is important that the development of this 
site does not preclude the potential delivery of this strategic project. Work 
undertaken to date by the Welsh Government suggests that the disused 
rail line running through the middle of the site forms the most likely 
option in this locality but there is currently no certainty on the detailed 
alignment. For example, there is uncertainty of the future mode and 

Page 845



62 
 

whether the route would be based on the existing disused rail line or 
whether it would be better located either alongside to the north or to the 
south.  
7. 4.56 Therefore, it would be inappropriate to allocate a precise 
alignment on the Proposals Map but there is a need to ensure future 
options are not prejudiced. This policy ensures that land is safeguarded 
from development along the potential Metro corridor and also that land 
uses, densities and layouts are developed to take account of the potential 
delivery of this strategic transportation project.        
8. 4.57 District and Local Centres will be the focus for community uses 
and activities including Schools in close proximity. The precise number of 
Primary Schools (3/4) will depend on the outcomes of future monitoring 
and delivery options relevant when the details of later phases are being 
assessed through the Development Management process.  
9. 4.58 It should be noted that it is anticipated that the delivery of this 
large site will extend beyond the plan period (some 1,500 homes are 
anticipated being delivered post 2026). In this respect, whilst the 
Schematic Framework relates to the total geographical extent of the 
overall site area to ensure a high-level consistent approach to addressing 
site-specific factors, the infrastructure requirements as set out in this 
policy relate to the number of homes proposed during the plan period (for 
5,000 new homes). Future annual monitoring, Plan reviews and ongoing 
updates to the Infrastructure Plan will ensure that any infrastructure 
requirements for homes post-2026 are captured at the appropriate 
juncture and consequently inform any future Development Management 
activity with regard to homes over and above the 5,000 proposed during 
the plan period.   
10. 4.59 Search Area A The further future flexibility option (north of 
Llantrisant Road is not included within the Strategic Site allocation. This 
would only be triggered if necessary through future Plan review following 
annual monitoring indicating that the provision of new homes is 
proceeding beyond anticipated rates and justifies such a release within 
the last years of the plan period. Therefore, it is considered premature to 
factor in potential detailed infrastructure and masterplanning matters at 
this juncture relating to this land. The formal monitoring framework 
provides an evidence-based process to inform any decisions on potential 
release in the last years of the plan period.  
 

Page 846



63 
 

 

P
age 847



64 
 

 
 
KP2(D & E): NORTH OF JUNCTION 33 ON M4 AND SOUTH OF 
CREIGIAU 
Land is allocated: 
(i) North of Junction 33 on the M4, as defined on the Proposals 
Map, for a mixed-use development of approximately 2,000 homes, 
employment, other associated community uses and a strategic 
park and ride site; and 
(ii) South of Creigiau, as defined on the Proposals Map, for a 
housing-based scheme of approximately 650 homes representing 
a southern extension to the village 
Essential, enabling and necessary supporting infrastructure will 
be delivered in a phased manner with specific details formally tied 
into planning consents including: 
Essential/ Enabling Infrastructure 

• Transport & Highways: 
- Provision of new bus-based Rapid Transit Corridors through 

the site North of Junction 33 linking directly to the Western 
Bus Corridor; 

- Off-site infrastructure including bus priority measures to 
develop bus-based Rapid Transit Corridors integrating with 
the site, the Western Bus Corridor and other routes within 
the North West Rapid Transit Corridor; 

- - Off-site infrastructure including bus priority enhancements 
on the Western Bus Corridor and measures to improve 
linkages into Rhondda Cynon Taf; 

- Extend bus networks and increase the frequency and 
reliability of services to serve the site with public transport 
options for a wide range of journeys including a combination 
of limited stop and local bus services; 

- Strategic park and ride facility North of Junction 33 linked to 
the Rapid Transit Corridor and public transport node 
including Bus Gate to provide priority for public transport 
and limit unauthorised access by car to Junction 33; 

- Public transport node in close proximity to the employment 
uses, Park & Ride facility and Local Centre to the south of the 
site; 

- Improve the Llantrisant Road/ Cardiff Road junction 
• Walking and cycling: 

Page 848



65 
 

- On and off-site measures to provide a network of high 
quality, safe, attractive and convenient routes within the site 
and linking to key local services, facilities and destinations 
including the new neighbourhood centre from the north, 
improved pedestrian/ cycling links to existing and proposed 
schools; 

- Provide a safe crossing of Llantrisant Road;  
- Creating an east-west connection between Public Rights of 

Way (Footpaths numbered 10 & 18) 
 

Necessary Infrastructure 
• 1 Local Centre within Site D including Primary Care facility 

and multifunctional community leisure facility including 
library facility;           

• Education:1-2 new Primary Schools with 1 located in or 
adjacent to Local Centre, and financial contribution to 
existing Secondary Schools; 

• Minimum of 12ha Open Space including 6ha of formal 
recreation, 3 playgrounds, 1 teen facility, and 1x 40 plot 
allotment site; 

• Improve community facilities in the existing neighbourhood 
centre in Creigiau to provide new facilities for existing and 
new residents   

 
Development shall be undertaken in a comprehensive manner and 
accord with the following key masterplanning requirements (as 
depicted, where appropriate, on the Schematic Framework): 

• Provide a range/ gradient of densities across the site with 
the highest density (minimum of 45-50+ dwellings per 
hectare) around the Local Centre to the south of the site. 
Medium density housing (35-45+ dwellings per hectare) will 
be provided on land close to Llantrisant Road and adjacent to 
the Rapid Transit Corridors and to the west of the land south 
of Creigiau. Lower densities will be provided on the elevated 
land west of Cardiff Road and to the west of the site North of 
Junction 33; 

• Layouts on Sites D and E should reflect the interrelationships 
between the sites with delivery considered acceptable in 
tandem through different outlets with initial phases 
including the provision of the park and ride facility together 
with public transport enhancement measures; 

Page 849



66 
 

• Ensure that the potential future delivery of the ‘Metro’ is not 
precluded by keeping a corridor through the sites (as 
depicted on the schematic framework) safeguarded from 
development and also ensuring that land uses, densities and 
layouts respond positively to its potential future provision; 

• Exclude vehicular access onto the M4 except for part of the 
park and ride facility and part of the business area situated 
adjacent to the junction; 

• Exclude through-traffic between both sites; 
• Provide future vehicular, walking/ cycling access from the 

site North of Junction 33 to the ‘flexibility allowance land’ to 
the west; 

• Facilitate interchange between local bus and rapid transit 
services; 

• Local Centre to be located north of the business land and 
adjacent to the rapid transit interchange and Primary School 
and to include convenience goods floorspace plus other retail 
use of a scale and nature which accords with Plan retail 
policies; 

• High quality business uses to reflect the strategic location of 
the site (excluding B8 uses) to be located adjacent to 
Junction 33 and an additional flexible local employment 
space to be located adjacent to the Motorway to the south 
west of the site;  

• Provide a landscape buffer between employment and 
residential uses and along the boundary of the M4 to reduce 
impact; 

• Provide safe and convenient pedestrian/ cycle links between 
the site and Creigiau village including links with existing 
Public Rights of Way; 

• Effectively respond to landscape and biodiversity assets by: 
- Linking retained habitats through the provision of a series of 

open space corridors providing ecological connectivity, 
sustainable access routes and opportunities for sustainable 
drainage including: 

- Links between retained ancient woodland at Castell y 
Mynach, marshy area to the north and young woodland 
buffer strip alongside Llantrisant Road; 

- Links from the Nant Henstaff, through Coed 
Gwenybwlau, linking to the disused rail line and 
Pencoed Wood; 

Page 850



67 
 

- Enhancing the disused rail line as a walking/ cycling 
and ecological corridor; 

- Links to the countryside to the west;  
- Linking corridors where possible between the above to 

provide a good network   
- Ensuring that there is no detriment to the maintenance of 

the favourable conservation status of Great Crested Newts 
and Dormouse on the site including protection of the existing 
watercourses and provision of suitable compensatory 
planting to supplement existing retained habitats; 

- Providing suitable buffers to retained woodlands and 
streams referred to above and other habitats including 
hedgerows within the sites; 

• Effectively respond to heritage assets by: 
- Assessing and effectively addressing potential impacts on 
known assets including the Listed Buildings of Pencoed 
House, Church of St Elldeyrn and the Old Forge; 
 

1. 4.60  Land North of Junction 33 on the M4 and South of Creigiau are 
two of eight Strategic Sites which collectively play a crucial role in 
delivering the Plan Strategy.  As the sites are adjacent and separated only 
by Llantrisant Road, there is considered logic in setting out 
masterplanning and infrastructure requirements in a comprehensive 
manner but also including addressing site-specific issues for each site. 
The sites amounting to 141ha will help bring forward new homes, jobs 
and supporting infrastructure including a new strategic park and ride 
facility. 
2. 4.61 The masterplanning process to date has reflected joint-working 
between parties relating to both sites to ensure a comprehensive 
approach is taken. 
3. 4.62 This policy, together with other relevant policies, will provide the 
masterplanning and infrastructure planning framework for landowners 
and developers to prepare Parameter Plans and Masterplans which will 
inform the Development Management process. 
4. 4.63 The scale of the sites allows numerous outlets to be operating at 
any one time and will provide a wide range and choice of housing offer 
and opportunities for a variety of different tenures. Planning conditions 
and Planning Obligations (Section 106 Agreements) will be used to 
formally tie in the phased delivery of necessary supporting infrastructure 
with trigger mechanisms and thresholds used to ensure timely provision 
in relation to completion of new homes.  

Page 851



68 
 

5. 4.64 Rapid Transit Corridors within the site North of Junction 33 will be 
bus-based and of sufficient width and otherwise designed, including the 
control of car parking, to allow the safe two-way passing of the largest 
vehicles. Bus priority measures will be provided at appropriate locations 
within the site to allow bus rapid transit to avoid queuing traffic. Bus-
based Rapid Transit Corridors will link the site to the Western Bus Corridor 
with off-site bus priority measures provided to assist the flow of buses. 
Further off-site corridor enhancements will be provided on the Western 
Bus Corridor as shown on the Proposals Map and consistent with policy T2 
in order to support delivery of the increased frequency and reliability of 
services. The integration of housing and supporting services and 
community infrastructure provides the opportunity for a high proportion 
of short, local trips to be made by walking and cycling. This will be made 
possible by integrating networks of high quality walking and cycling 
routes within development layouts and ensuring that the design of roads, 
streets, junctions and public spaces accommodate the natural ‘desire 
lines’ of people making trips on foot and by bicycle. 
6. 4.65 Although details of the mode and potential alignments of the 
Metro have yet to be defined it is important that the development of these 
sites does not preclude the potential delivery of this strategic project. 
Work undertaken to date by the Welsh Government suggests numerous 
potential options in this area and there is currently no certainty on the 
detailed alignment. For example, there is uncertainty of the future mode 
and whether the route would be based on the existing disused rail line or 
whether it would be better routed elsewhere.  
7. 4.66 Therefore, it would be inappropriate to allocate a precise 
alignment on the Proposals Map but there is a need to ensure future 
options are not prejudiced. This policy ensures that land is safeguarded 
from development along the potential Metro corridor and also that land 
uses, layouts and densities are developed to take account of the potential 
delivery of this strategic transportation project.        
8. 4.67 The new Local Centre on Site D and new Primary School to be 
located within or adjoining it will be a focus for community uses and 
activities. Facilities will also be improved in the existing neighbourhood 
centre in Creigiau to provide new facilities for existing and new residents. 
The precise number of Primary Schools (1/2) will depend on the outcomes 
of future monitoring and delivery options relevant when the details of 
later phases are being assessed through the Development Management 
process. Specifically, consideration will be given to the merits of 
extending the existing Primary School at Creigiau as an alternative to the 
provision of a second new school.  

Page 852



69 
 

9. 4.68 The further future flexibility option Search Area B (to the west of 
the site North of Junction 33) is not included within the Strategic Site 
allocation. This would only be triggered if necessary through future Plan 
review following annual monitoring indicating that the provision of new 
homes is proceeding beyond anticipated rates and justifies such a release 
within the last years of the plan period. Therefore, it is considered 
premature to factor in potential detailed infrastructure and 
masterplanning matters at this juncture relating to this land although the 
schematic framework identifies potential access to the site. However, as a 
minimum, this policy sets out the need to provide potential future 
vehicular, walking and cycling access from Site D to the ‘flexibility 
allowance land’ to the west. The formal monitoring framework provides an 
evidence-based process to inform any decisions on potential release in 
the last years of the plan period. 
 

Page 853



70 
 

 

P
age 854



71 
 

KP2(F): NORTH EAST CARDIFF (WEST OF PONTPRENNAU) 
Land is allocated at North East Cardiff (West of Pontprennau), as 
defined on the Proposals Map, for a mixed-use comprehensive 
development of a minimum of 4,500 homes, employment and 
other associated community uses, together with essential, 
enabling and necessary supporting infrastructure which will be 
delivered in a phased manner with specific details formally tied 
into planning consents including: 
Essential/ Enabling Infrastructure 

• Transport & Highways: 
- Provision of new bus-based Rapid Transit Corridors through 

the site providing links between the District/Local Centres 
including Bus Gates at access point to Cardiff Gate Business 
Park and St Mellons Road at the eastern edge of the site; 

- Off-site infrastructure including bus priority measures to 
develop bus-based Rapid Transit Corridors integrating with 
the site, the Eastern/Northern Bus Corridors and other 
routes within the North Eastern Rapid Transit Corridor 
including services linked to Strategic Site G, facilitating 
transfer/ improving interchange facilities to Rhymney Line 
rail services at Llanishen Station and Thornhill Station, and, 
employment facilities at St Mellons Business Park and 
Strategic Site H; 

- Off-site enhancements including bus priority measures to the 
Eastern/Northern Bus Corridor; 

- Extend bus networks and increase the frequency and 
reliability of services to serve the site with public transport 
options for a wide range of journeys including a combination 
of limited stop and local bus services; 

• Walking and cycling: 
- On and off-site measures to provide safe, attractive and 

convenient routes within the site and linking to key local 
services, facilities and destinations including existing local 
centres and Schools at Pontprennau, Pentwyn, Lisvane and 
Cardiff Gate Business Park; 

- Links to off-site public transport destinations including 
Llanishen and Thornhill Rail Stations 

 
 
Necessary Infrastructure 

Page 855



72 
 

• 1 centrally located District Centre and 1 Local Centre 
including Primary Care facility, Multifunctional community 
leisure facility including library facility, and financial 
contribution to upgrading of Llanishen and Pontprennau 
Leisure Centres;           

• Education-1 new Secondary School, 3 new Primary Schools 
and financial contribution to existing Primary Schools; 

• Minimum of 26ha Open Space including 13ha of formal 
recreation, 6 playgrounds including destination play area, 1 
teen facility plus off-site contribution, and 2x 50 plot 
allotment sites 

 
Development shall be undertaken in a comprehensive manner and 
accord with the following key masterplanning requirements (as 
depicted, where appropriate, on the Schematic Framework): 

• Provide a range of densities with high density (minimum of 
45-50+ dwellings per hectare) mixed-use development 
within District/Local Centres and along rapid transit 
corridors. Medium density (35-45+ dwellings per hectare) 
around the edge of Pontprennau and to the north of the site. 
Lower densities to be provided around the edge of Lisvane; 

• Initial phases towards the West of the site with middle 
phases towards the centre and south (including District/ 
Local Centres) and later phases to the north and east of the 
site; 

• Centrally located District/ Local Centres accessed by rapid 
transit corridors including interchange facilities between 
sustainable transport modes and accommodating a range of 
services including convenience goods floorspace plus other 
retail of a scale and nature which accord with Plan retail 
policies; 

• Introduce measures to reduce impact of noise from the M4; 
• Effectively integrate existing buildings into the design and 

layout; 
• Retain and enhance Public Right of Way network within the 

site and provide safe, convenient and legible links to the 
countryside North of the M4, Nant Fawr corridor, Cardiff Gate 
Business Park and Pontprennau; 

• Employment provision (B1 & B1(b)(c)) to be located in and 
adjoining the District Centre and adjacent to Cardiff Gate 
Business Park amounting to approximately 6.5ha; 

Page 856



73 
 

• Provide good land use and transportation integration with 
the adjoining areas of Lisvane and Pontprennau;  

• Effectively respond to landscape and biodiversity assets by: 
- Linking retained habitats through the provision of a series of 

open space corridors providing ecological connectivity, 
sustainable access routes and opportunities for sustainable 
drainage including: 

- Utilising the stream network (particularly the Nant Ty 
Draw, Nant Glandulais and Nant y Draenog) as core 
elements of new ecological corridors through the site; 

- Links from the Nant Fawr corridor south west of the site 
ensuring the corridor links to other open space 
corridors within the site; 

- Enhancing the disused rail line as a walking/ cycling 
and ecological corridor; 

- Links to access points to the countryside to the north 
west at Lisvane and underpasses below the M4;  

- Linking corridors where possible between the above to 
provide a good network;   

- Ensuring that there is no detriment to the maintenance of 
the favourable conservation status of Dormouse on the site 
including provision of suitable compensatory planting to 
supplement existing retained habitats including Malthouse 
Woods, other woodlands and hedgerows; 

- Providing suitable buffers to the Llanishen Reservoir SSSI, 
retained woodlands and streams referred to above and other 
habitats including hedgerows within the site; 

• Effectively respond to heritage assets by: 
- Assessing and effectively addressing potential impacts on 

known assets including Listed Buildings within and near to 
the site; 

• No development to take place within the C2 flood zone area 
forming part of the Nant Glandulais valley. 

 
1. 4.69 North East Cardiff (West of Pontprennau) is one of eight Strategic 
Sites which collectively play a crucial role in delivering the Plan Strategy. 
It is the second largest Strategic Site (237 ha) within the Plan and relates 
to countryside located between Lisvane to the west, Pontprennau to the 
east and the M4 Motorway to the north.   
2. 4.70 Most of the land is owned by two landowners and.  The Site will 
be delivered by a number of different developers operating out of 

Page 857



74 
 

different outlets. This policy, together with other relevant policies, will 
provide the masterplanning and infrastructure planning framework for 
landowners and developers to prepare Parameter Plans and Masterplans 
which will inform the Development Management process. 
3. 4.71 The scale of the site allows numerous outlets to be operating at 
any one time in different parts of this large site and will provide a wide 
range and choice of housing offer and opportunities for a variety of 
different tenures. Planning conditions and Planning Obligations (Section 
106 Agreements) will be used to formally tie in the phased delivery of 
necessary supporting infrastructure with trigger mechanisms and 
thresholds used to ensure timely provision in relation to completion of 
new homes.  
4. 4.72 Rapid Transit Corridors within the site will be bus-based and of 
sufficient width and otherwise designed, including the control of car 
parking, to allow the safe two-way passing of the largest vehicles. Bus 
priority measures will be provided at appropriate locations to allow bus 
rapid transit to avoid queuing traffic. Bus-based Rapid Transit Corridors 
will link the site to the Northern and Eastern Bus Corridors with off-site 
bus priority measures provided to assist the flow of buses. Further off-site 
corridor enhancements will be provided on the Northern and Eastern Bus 
Corridors as shown on the Proposals Map and consistent with policy T2 in 
order to support delivery of the increased frequency and reliability of 
services. The integration of housing and supporting services and 
community infrastructure provides the opportunity for a high proportion 
of short, local trips to be made by walking and cycling. This will be made 
possible by integrating networks of high quality walking and cycling 
routes within development layouts and ensuring that the design of roads, 
streets, junctions and public spaces accommodate the natural ‘desire 
lines’ of people making trips on foot and by bicycle. 
5. 4.73 District and Local Centres will be the focus for community uses 
and activities including schools in close proximity. They will be well 
located in relation to sustainable transportation options and also link into 
the network of green corridors largely based on the existing stream 
network. 

Page 858



75 
 

 

P
age 859



76 
 

KP2(G): EAST OF PONTPRENNAU LINK ROAD 
Land is allocated East of Pontprennau Link Road, as defined on the 
Proposals Map, for a housing-based scheme of a minimum of 
1,300 homes with associated community uses, together with 
essential, enabling and necessary supporting infrastructure which 
will be delivered in a phased manner with specific details formally 
tied into planning consents including: 
Essential/ Enabling Infrastructure 

• Transport & Highways: 
- Provision of new bus-based Rapid Transit Corridors through 

the site including links to the Local Centre and provision of 
Bus Gates at St Mellons Road at the north western edge of 
the site and Bridge Road to the south east of the site; 

- Off-site infrastructure including bus priority measures to 
develop bus-based Rapid Transit Corridors integrating with 
the site, the Eastern Bus Corridors and other routes within 
the North Eastern/Eastern Rapid Transit Corridor including 
services linked to Strategic Site F, facilitating transfer/ 
improving interchange facilities to Rhymney Line rail 
services at Llanishen Station and Thornhill Station, and, 
employment facilities at St Mellons Business Park and 
Strategic Site H; 

- Off-site enhancements including bus priority measures to the 
Eastern Bus Corridor; 

- Extend bus networks and increase the frequency and 
reliability of services to serve the site with public transport 
options for a wide range of journeys including a combination 
of limited stop and local bus services taking account of links 
with Strategic Site F; 

- Provide a bus-only route along Bridge Road 
• Walking and cycling:  
- On and off-site measures to provide a network of high 

quality, safe, attractive and convenient routes within the site 
and linking to key local services, facilities and destinations 
including employment in Pontprennau, Pentwyn and Cardiff 
Gate Business Park; 

- Improve walking/cycling access at junction of Church Road/ 
A4232/Heol Pontprennau; 

- Provide a safe, attractive and convenient link from the site to 
the Rhymney Trail: 

- Enhance subway under A48, south of St Edeyrn’s Church; 

Page 860



77 
 

- Provide cycle/pedestrian link between the subway under the 
A48 and Mill Lane, Llanrumney;  

- Upgrade Rhymney Trail to provide shared pedestrian/cycle 
route between subway under A48, south of St Edeyrn’s 
Church and the subway west of Pentwyn interchange 

Necessary Infrastructure 
• 1 centrally located Local Centre linked to rapid transit 

infrastructure and school facilities including Primary Care 
facility (Branch Surgery linked to Strategic Site F), 
multifunctional community  facility, and financial 
contribution to upgrading of Pentwyn and Pontprennau 
Leisure Centres;           

• Education-1 new Primary School located in or adjacent to the 
local Centre and financial contribution to provision of 
Secondary School at Strategic Site F; 

• Minimum of 7.9ha Open Space including 3.9ha of formal 
recreation, 2 playgrounds, 1 teen facility, and 1x 26 plot 
allotment site 

 
Development shall be undertaken in a comprehensive manner and 
accord with the following key masterplanning requirements (as 
depicted, where appropriate, on the Schematic Framework): 

• Provide a range of densities with high density (minimum of 
45-50+ dwellings per hectare) alongside rapid transit 
corridor towards centre of site, medium density (35-45+ 
dwellings per hectare) towards the north and lower densities 
alongside the riverside park; 

• Initial phases in the south, middle phases towards the centre 
and later phases to the north; 

• Local Centre to accommodate a range of services including 
convenience goods floorspace and other retail of a scale and 
nature which accords with Plan retail policies; 

• Integrate cluster of low density buildings at St Julian’s 
Manor/ House; 

• Effectively respond to landscape and biodiversity assets by: 
- Linking retained habitats through the provision of a series of 

open space corridors providing ecological connectivity, 
sustainable access routes and opportunities for sustainable 
drainage including: 

- Creating a riverside park incorporating the Rhymney 
Trail and other Public Rights of Way on an extensive 

Page 861



78 
 

area of land to the east f the site with links running 
west into the site; 

- Retaining the green buffer along the A4232 (primarily 
as an ecological resource and landscape role); 

- Links from riverside park to countryside to north and 
Rhymney Valley to south west;  

- Linking corridors where possible between the above to 
provide a good network   

- Ensuring that there is no detriment to the maintenance of 
the favourable conservation status of Dormouse on the site 
including provision of suitable compensatory planting to 
supplement existing retained habitats including 
compensatory planting on the southern and eastern site 
boundaries; 

- Providing suitable buffers to retained habitats, particularly 
the hedgerows within the site; 

• Effectively respond to heritage assets by: 
- Assessing and effectively addressing potential impacts on 

known assets including Listed Buildings within and near to 
the site; 

- Preserving the village character around Llanedeyrn village 
and effectively integrate existing buildings into layout 
including protecting view of St Edeyrn’s Church from the 
A48; 

• Effectively respond to heritage assets by: 
- Assessing and addressing potential impacts on the Listed 

Buildings of Unicorn Public House, Church of St Edeyrn, 
Bridge House Farm, St Julian’s Manor House and associated 
curtilage structures; 

• Protect water quality of River Rhymney and Nant Mwlan; 
• Address issues with Japanese Knotweed along the River 

Rhymney;  
• No development to take place in C2 flood zone forming part 

of River Rhymney valley.  
 

1.4.74 Land East of Pontprennau Link Road forms one of eight 
Strategic Sites which collectively play a crucial role in delivering the 
Plan Strategy. It amounts to 80.7 ha and is located in countryside 
located between the Pontprennau Link Road to the West, River 
Rhymney valley to the east, the A48 to the south and the M4 
Motorway to the north.   

Page 862



79 
 

2. 4.75 Most of the land is owned by a single landowner and has the 
benefit of Outline Planning Permission for 1,020 homes together with 
supporting infrastructure and facilities. A Section 106 Agreement has 
been signed and secures the phased delivery of supporting 
infrastructure and facilities including the provision of a Primary School 
on site with trigger clauses securing delivery. 
3. 4.76 Other parts of the site not covered by the Outline Planning 
Consent will be considered in the context of this policy, together with 
other relevant policies which will provide the masterplanning and 
infrastructure planning framework for landowners and developers to 
prepare Parameter Plans and Masterplans which will inform the 
Development Management process 

Page 863



80 
 

P
age 864



81 
 
 

KP2(H): SOUTH OF ST MELLONS BUSINESS PARK 
Land is allocated South of St Mellons Business Park, as defined on 
the Proposals Map, for a strategic employment site together with 
essential, enabling and necessary supporting infrastructure which 
will be delivered in a phased manner with specific details formally 
tied into planning consents including: 
Essential/ Enabling Infrastructure 

• Transport & Highways: 
- Provision of transport hub including new rail station served 

by relief line rail services connecting to the city centre and 
services to Cardiff Airport and London via Cardiff Central; 

- Provision of park and ride facility;  
- Off-site infrastructure including bus priority measures to 

develop bus-based Rapid Transit Corridors integrating with 
the site, the Eastern Bus Corridors and other routes within 
the North Eastern/Eastern Rapid Transit Corridor including 
services linked to the City Centre and Strategic Sites G and F; 

• Walking and Cycling: 
- Provide high quality on-site and off-site walking and cycling 

links and facilities to maximise walking and cycling access to 
the site from neighbouring communities including 
Trowbridge and St Mellons; 

• Flood mitigation/ defences:  
- Flood mitigation works including raising the development 

plateaus and providing compensatory flood storage areas 
south of the rail line 

Necessary Infrastructure 
• Retain the area of land to the east of Cypress Drive and 

Faendre Reen as green space linked with Hendre Lake Park;  
• If the infilling of any reen or field ditch proves to be 

unavoidable at the application stage it should be realigned 
(with at least an equal capacity) around the perimeter of the 
development or a compensatory length of ditch should be 
provided elsewhere within the site 

Development shall be undertaken in a comprehensive manner and 
accord with the following key masterplanning requirements (as 
depicted, where appropriate, on the Schematic Framework): 

• Provide 44 ha of business land capable of accommodating up 
to 90,000 square metres campus style high quality 

Page 865



82 
 
 

development similar to existing business park at St Mellons 
in a location which benefits from Assisted Area Status; 

• Integrate the site with local facilities in the surrounding 
area; 

• Effectively respond to landscape and biodiversity assets by: 
- Protecting the value of the Gwent Levels SSSI with 

development being a minimum of 12.5 metres from main 
reens and 7 metres from field ditches; 

- Ensuring that all development accords with the Natural 
Resources Wales (formerly Countryside Council for Wales) 
Wentloog Levels guidelines “Nature Conservation and 
Physical Developments on the Gwent Levels – the current 
and future implications”; 

- Integrating any landscape natural features, such as existing 
reens and hedgerows into the design including provision of 
suitable buffers; 

- Protecting the Marshfield SINC; 
- Respecting the intricate reen network and exiting 

hedgerows; 
- Linking retained habitats through the provision of a series of 

open space corridors providing ecological connectivity, 
sustainable access routes and opportunities for sustainable 
drainage including: 

- Links between retained reens and hedgerows; 
- Green links to Hendre Lake Park which respond to the 

natural landscape value of the area; 
- Ensuring that there is no detriment to the maintenance of 

the favourable conservation status of the Shrill Carder Bee 
by carrying out a survey, and if found, provide appropriate 
compensatory measures; 

- Ensuring that there is no detriment to the maintenance of 
the favourable conservation status of European Protected 
Species including bats, otters and reptiles including 
provision of suitable compensatory planting to supplement 
existing retained habitats; 

• Effectively respond to heritage assets by: 
- Assessing and effectively addressing potential impacts on 

known assets including the Wentloog Levels Archaeologically 
Sensitive Area and registered Landscape of Outstanding 
Historic Interest; 

Page 866



83 
 
 

 
1. 4.77 This is an important employment site which contributes to the 
necessary range and choice of types of employment opportunities in 
the city. Its location is particularly well placed to provide accessible 
job opportunities to areas of known deprivation and its position 
adjacent to the main rail line offers significant opportunities for a new 
station together with supporting sustainable transportation 
infrastructure. This proposal is a long-standing proposal in the 
Regional Transport Plan, is identified in the emerging work on the 
South Wales Metro concept and has Welsh Government support. 
However, the precise location of the station is yet to be defined so it 
would be premature to show a specific allocation for this use on the 
Proposals Map but it is shown within the Schematic Framework and 
referenced within the policy. 
2. 4.78 It is recognised that the area possesses environmental and 
flood risk constraints. In terms of environmental issues, the majority 
of the area is a Site of Special Scientific Interest with the reens 
forming the major interest. Run-off will enter the River Severn 
Estuary, a European designated site so drainage and potential 
disturbance to birds will need to be suitably addressed. The land also 
meets the qualifying criteria using the LANDMAP landscape 
methodology for Special Landscape Area status. Furthermore, there 
are significant historic interests and the land is designated as a 
Historic Landscape and Archaeologically Sensitive Area. 
3. 4.79 These environmental and flood risk constraints have been 
carefully examined so that the mitigation and enhancement measures 
embedded within this policy provide an appropriate framework at this 
level to address these issues. These measures will provide a 
framework for landowners and developers to prepare Parameter Plans 
and Masterplans which will inform the Development Management 
process. In this way, the significant social and economic benefits 
brought forward by this allocation can be delivered whilst carefully 
responding to and putting in place the policy framework to effectively 
address the known constraints relating to the site.  
 

Page 867



84 
 
 

 

P
age 868



85 
 
 

2. Putting in place a framework to manage future growth and 
encourage high quality, sustainable design 
 
KP3(A): GREEN BELT  
 
In order to strategically manage the urban form of Cardiff and to 
protect the setting of the urban area, a Green Belt is proposed on 
land North of the M4 as shown on the Proposals Map. Within this 
area development which prejudices the open nature of this land 
will not be permitted. Positive biodiversity, landscape, climate 
change mitigation and informal recreational management and 
enhancement measures will be encouraged in this area to further 
enhance the long term role of the area as a key natural resource 
benefiting the city. 
 
4.69 Together with Key Policy KP3(B), this Policy seeks to strategically 
manage the future built form of Cardiff’s urban area. Supporting 
Document 3 evidences the assessment of the potential for a Green Belt in 
Cardiff. It concludes that designation is considered appropriate for Cardiff 
and would accord with national guidance relating to Green Belts as set out 
in Planning Policy Wales (PPW). 
 
4.70 Importantly, given that the Plan proposes some significant 
greenfield releases, this Policy provides some longer-term certainty as to 
the future urban form of the city. In this respect, it should be noted that 
land within a Green Belt should be protected for a longer period than the 
Plan period. This is also a reason why a Green Belt policy is required 
rather than a Green Wedge policy which would not give the long-term 
protection considered necessary to effectively manage urban form. 
 
4.71 The designated area forms land North of the M4 in Cardiff as shown 
on the Proposals Map. This land unquestionably forms a distinctive, 
prominent and well known green backdrop to the city forming a 
strategically important setting to the urban area. The land is also 
generally well contained by the strong physical boundary of the M4 
Motorway to the south which is an important requirement of any 
designated Green Belt area. 
 
4.72 With regard to land immediately to the North of the proposed Green 
Belt within Caerphilly and Rhondda Cynon Taff, it is noted that policies set 

Page 869



86 
 
 

out in adopted LDPs very much support development restraint.  For 
example, within Caerphilly, the Caerphilly Mountain Area is all outside the 
settlement boundaries and a combination of Special Landscape Area and 
Visually Important Local Landscape designations apply across the whole 
area. Within Rhondda Cynon Taff, land to the North of the proposed 
Green Belt carries a Special Landscape Area designation.  Future LDP 
Reviews for these areas or any strategic planning measures which may be 
introduced in future years could consider an identifying extension of the 
Green Belt area in accordance with national guidance. However, at this 
juncture, it is considered that Green Belt designation in Cardiff creates no 
obvious cross-boundary anomalies or direct policy conflicts. 
 
4.73 The tightness of Cardiff’s administrative boundaries to the urban 
area to parts of the West and East, limits scope for a Green Belt 
designation in these locations. For example, the visually prominent 
Leckwith Escarpment is located in the Vale of Glamorgan but is protected 
by a Special Landscape Area designation in the Vale of Glamorgan 
Development Plan. In fact, most of the land within the Vale of Glamorgan 
immediately adjacent to Cardiff carries with it either Special Landscape 
Area or Green Wedge (around Culverhouse Cross) status. This provides 
an element of protection to Cardiff’s setting to the West. 
 
4.74 With regard to Newport, it is noteworthy that Newport’s adopted 
Unitary Development Plan includes a Green Belt designation on land 
immediately East of Cardiff’s boundary. This puts in place measures to 
prevent the coalescence of Cardiff and Newport. It extends from the M4 
to the coast running as far East as Castleton and Marshfield providing 
long-term protection for this large area. In places, the edge of Cardiff’s 
urban area runs right up to the administrative boundary and Green Belt 
designation within Newport but pockets of countryside remain in Cardiff 
around Old St Mellons and North of the sea wall. 
 
4.75 Green Belt designation is not considered appropriate for either of 
these areas as it is important that there remains a sufficient range of 
potential development land available in the longer term. Including such 
areas runs a significant risk of not taking full account of national guidance 
in this respect and undermining the Policy. The Green Belt designation in 
Newport is considered sufficient to prevent settlement coalescence 
between Cardiff and Newport and there is no demonstrable evidence 
supporting a wider designated area to support this objective. However, 

Page 870



87 
 
 

there are clear and compelling other reasons for a Green Belt in other 
areas within Cardiff and for other reasons which are enlarged upon below. 
 
4.76 The proposed designated Green Belt is considered essential to 
protect the strategically significant rising land North of the M4 which is 
critical to the overall identity of Cardiff and much cherished by its 
residents.  It should also be noted that existing policies are not sufficient 
to protect the open nature of this land.  
 
4.77 Significant development pressures exert on this area. This has been 
evidenced through planning applications for dwelling conversions, rebuilds 
and related structures which are having a cumulative impact on landscape 
quality.  Furthermore, numerous applications have been submitted for 
equine-related activities and other uses which are again beginning to 
have a cumulative impact on this highly visible and sensitive area. 
Significant Candidate Sites have also been submitted within the area. 
 
4.78 The designation of a Green Belt with its associated strict policy to 
preserve the open nature of this land is the only policy tool available to 
the Council to prevent the long term deterioration of this visually 
prominent land providing a strategic setting to the city. It is very much 
recognised by the public as being a key distinctive element which helps 
defines the very nature of Cardiff in the same way that other readily 
recognised areas are perceived and valued such as Cardiff Bay and the 
City Centre. 
 
4.79 Although Green Belts are not intended to be a tool to protect areas 
of high intrinsic value, the land is of high environmental value and also a 
popular area for informal recreation. The Policy therefore also has a 
positive aspect to build upon the long-term certainty of protection by 
putting in place support for management and enhancement measures. For 
example, the long-term protection can act as a stimulus to consider 
landscape-scale initiatives addressing such matters as carbon sinks, 
habitat creation and management initiatives and wider green 
infrastructure-related projects where long-term certainty would support 
planning and delivery. 
4.80 PPW provides specific guidance on the consideration of planning 
applications within the Green Belt. It provides a presumption against 
inappropriate development and outlines the very exceptional 

Page 871



88 
 
 

circumstances where other considerations may clearly outweigh the harm 
to protecting the openness of the Green Belt. 
 
Insert new KP3(A) Green Wedge to replace existing KP3 (A) 
 
KP3(A): GREEN WEDGE 
In order to strategically manage the urban form of Cardiff and to 
protect the setting of the urban area, a Green Wedge is proposed 
on land North of the M4 as shown on the Proposals Map.  Within 
this area development which prejudices the open nature of this 
land will not be permitted.  Positive biodiversity, landscape, 
climate change mitigation and informal recreational management 
and enhancement measures will be encouraged in this area to 
further enhance the long term role of the area as a key natural 
resource benefiting the city. 
 
4.80 Together with Key Policy KP3(B), this Policy seeks to strategically 
manage the future built form of Cardiff’s urban area.  The designated area 
forms land North of the M4 in Cardiff as shown on the Proposals Map. This 
land unquestionably forms a distinctive, prominent and well known green 
backdrop to the city forming a strategically important setting to the urban 
area. The land is also generally well contained by the strong physical 
boundary of the M4 Motorway to the south.  
 
4.81 PPW provides specific guidance on the consideration of planning 
applications within the Green Wedge designation.  
 
  
 
KP3(B): SETTLEMENT BOUNDARIES 
 
In order to strategically manage the spatial growth of Cardiff, 
settlement boundaries are proposed as shown on the Proposals 
Map. In all areas outside the defined settlement boundaries, 
otherwise referred to as countryside, there will be a 
corresponding presumption against inappropriate development. 
 
4.82  Cardiff’s settlement boundaries are a key mechanism for helping to 
manage growth by defining the area within which development would 
normally be permitted, subject to material planning considerations.  This 

Page 872



89 
 
 

Policy compliments the Green Wedge Key Policy (KP3(A)) set out above.  
The policy will impose a strict control on development of all countryside in 
Cardiff outside the identified settlement boundaries as shown on the 
Proposals Map.  Detailed Policy EN1 provides more guidance on the 
interpretation of this Policy approach. 
4.83  Cardiff’s countryside is a valuable and finite resource which is under 
increasing pressure from all kinds of development due to its proximity to 
the urban area, including farm diversification and equine-related 
proposals, and because of the large number of properties and small 
parcels of land in different ownerships spread throughout the countryside. 
Whilst it is necessary to encourage sensitive proposals that support a 
working countryside, Cardiff’s countryside is particularly vulnerable to the 
cumulative impact of insensitive new developments that may harm its 
character and appearance together with ‘suburbanising’ attractive 
landscapes. Where it can be demonstrated that development outside 
settlement boundaries is acceptable in principle, other 
detailed Deposit LDP policies provide the framework to consider the 
merits or otherwise of proposals along with national planning policy 
including TAN 6: Planning for Sustainable Rural Communities.  
 
4.84  Cardiff’s settlement boundaries have been carefully assessed and 
follow logical, existing boundaries wherever possible. Full account has 
been taken of the particular characteristics, usage and degree of 
openness of specific parcels of land together with their inter-relationships 
with surrounding land. Proposals located on the urban fringe which have 
an extant planning permission may have been incorporated within the 
settlement boundaries. Cardiff’s settlement boundaries are illustrated on 
the Proposals Map. 
 
 
  

Page 873



90 
 
 

KP4: MASTERPLANNING APPROACH 
 
Major development should accord with: 
(i) The following Masterplanning General Principles: 
1. Development schemes that are planned in a comprehensive and 
integrated manner reflecting partnership working and setting out the 
phasing of development along with a timely provision of supporting 
infrastructure. Masterplans will need to encompass the whole of a 
development area regardless of land ownership patterns, and this will 
require partnership working, involving all relevant parties; 
2. High density residential and mixed-use development is focused along 
public transport corridors and in neighbourhood centres with lower 
densities provided elsewhere to deliver an overall range and choice to 
meet different needs; 
3. Dedicated sustainable transport corridors including provision for public 
transport, cycling and walking which will form key elements of the overall 
master plan and effectively link into the wider network; 
4. Walking, cycling and public transport will be attractive, practical and 
convenient travel choices for all; 
5. Provision of a full range of social and community facilities will be 
concentrated within mixed use neighbourhood centres located along 
public transport corridors and easily accessed by walking and cycling; 
6. The masterplanning process effectively responds to the local context 
and the context of climate change, to create new well designed 
neighbourhoods with a distinctive character which residents will be proud 
of; 
7. New development responds to local deficiencies and provides good 
connectivity to adjoining areas and is informed by feedback from existing 
communities; 
8. Multi-functional and connected green open spaces form strategically 
important links to the surrounding area to provide routes for people and 
wildlife and open spaces for sports, recreation and play; 
9. Sympathetically integrate existing landscape, biodiversity and historic 
features of the site into the development taking opportunities to protect, 
enhance and manage important features along with mitigation and 
enhancement measures to provide satisfactory compensatory measures; 
10. Innovative and creative energy, management of surface water and waste 
management solutions are adopted to make new developments more 
environmentally sustainable ; and 
(ii) Guidance set out in Site-Specific Masterplanning Frameworks, where 
prepared. 
 

Page 874



91 
 
 

4.87  5 In order to more effectively manage the form, uses, transportation solutions, 
phasing and appearance of major new developments, the Deposit LDP sets out a 
‘masterplanning approach’. This will provide greater certainty to developers, the 
public and all other interested parties. The overall aim will be for the Council to set 
out a broad framework at the outset which will provide an overarching context for 
more detailed design and implementation work to follow. This Policy relates to all 
strategic sites and any other major new developments which may emerge over the 
Plan period. 
 
4.85 The outputs of this approach are set out in Supporting Document 
No. 16 which includes: 

 
General Principles: 10 General Principles based on different themes 
considered essential to create new sustainable neighbourhoods. These 
principles have been agreed by the Cabinet Meeting of 16th May, 2013 
and relate to all sites, strategic or non-strategic, greenfield or brownfield;  
Strategic Schematic Framework: To provide a link between the 
General Principles and Site Specific Principles, 3 county-wide plans 
together with supporting text will provide a spatial context relating to 
landscape, movement and neighbourhood factors; 

 
Site-Specific Framework: Working within the context of the first 2 
outputs, this output will not be overly prescriptive but give a spatial 
indication of land uses, transportation measures and key open space 
corridors together with information on proposed densities, infrastructure 
and phasing of the strategic sites allocated in the Deposit LDP. It is 
intended that following consideration of consultation responses, that the 
site-specific framework will be drafted into SPG and follow the normal 
SPG consultation process prior to the LDP examination; and 

 
Area-Based Masterplans: Detailed Masterplans will be worked up by 
the landowners/developers with the context of the framework prepared 
by the Council as set out in the Deposit LDP supporting information. 
These will contain a greater level of detail than the over-arching 
framework and can assist in the examination of the LDP together with 
providing a context for the phased submission of planning applications for 
development sites. 
 
4.86 With regard to Strategic Sites, policies KP2(A) to KP2(H) set out the 
infrastructure and masterplanning requirements for each of the sites 
which are shown indicatively, where appropriate, on Schematic 

Page 875



92 
 
 

Frameworks. To avoid repetition and unnecessarily long policies, only 
site-specific and not generic requirements have been articulated and 
embedded in the policy relating to each Strategic Site.  

 
4.87 The infrastructure requirements contained within policies KP2(A) to 
KP2(H) reflect the level of detailed information known. Future updates to 
the Infrastructure Plan will allow such information to be regularly updated 
to reflect prevailing circumstances and show more detail when it is 
known. It would be premature and unhelpful to include overly prescriptive 
directions in the Plan where detailed matters are more appropriately 
considered through the Development Management process but within the 
context of the framework embedded within the Plan. In this way, the 
maximum possible certainty can be given without setting out 
unsupported aspirations.  

 
4.88 This policy, in conjunction with other relevant policies, will provide 
the masterplanning framework for landowners and developers to prepare 
Parameter Plans and Master Plans for major new development proposals, 
which will inform the Development Management process. 
 
KP5: GOOD QUALITY AND SUSTAINABLE DESIGN 
 
To help support the development of Cardiff as a world-class 
European Capital City, all new development will be required to be 
of a high quality, sustainable design and make a positive 
contribution to the creation of distinctive communities, places and 
spaces by: 
 
i. Responding to the local character and context of the built and 
landscape setting so that layout, scale, form, massing, height, 
density, colour, materials, detailing and impact on the built and 
natural heritage are all addressed within development proposals; 
ii. Providing legible development which is easy to get around and 
which ensures a sense of continuity and enclosure; 
iii. Providing a diversity of land uses to create balanced 
communities and add vibrancy throughout the day; 
iv. Creating interconnected streets, squares and spaces as 
distinctive places, which are safe, accessible, vibrant and secure 
and incorporate public art where appropriate; 

Page 876



93 
 
 

v. Providing a healthy and convenient environment for all users 
that supports the principles of community safety, encourages 
walking and cycling, enables employment, essential services and 
community facilities to be accessible by sustainable transport and 
maximises the contribution of networks of multi-functional and 
connected open spaces to encourage healthier lifestyles; 
vi. Maximising renewable energy solutions; 
vii. Achieve a resource efficient and climate responsive design that 
provides sustainable water and waste management solutions and 
minimise emissions from transport, homes and industry; 
viii. Achieving an adaptable design that can respond to future 
social, economic, technological and environmental requirements; 
(ix) “Promoting the efficient use of land, developing at highest 
practicable densities and where appropriate achieving the 
remediation of contaminated land contamination;” 
x. Ensuring no undue effect on the amenity of neighbouring 
occupiers and connecting positively to surrounding communities;  
xi. Fostering inclusive design, ensuring buildings, streets and 
spaces are accessible to all users and is adaptable to future 
changes in lifestyle; and 
xii. Locating Tall buildings in locations which are highly accessible 
through walking and public transport and within an existing or 
proposed cluster of tall buildings. 
 
4.102 89 High quality sustainable design is vital if Cardiff is to meet the 
objectives set out in the Vision and develop as a world-class capital. More 
specifically, good design plays a number of significant roles: tackling 
climate change; protecting and enhancing Cardiff’s natural and built 
environment; protecting local distinctiveness; attracting investment and 
promoting social inclusion, health and quality of life.  
 
4.103 90 Good design therefore goes beyond traditional aesthetic 
considerations and should be an aim for all development proposals within 
Cardiff, regardless of their scale. Together with the masterplanning 
approach set out in Key Policy KP4, above, and relevant Detailed Policies, 
it is considered that the Plan provides a sound policy framework to ensure 
the best possible design solutions are secured as the Plan is implemented. 
Implementation of this Policy, which is aimed in part at improving water 
resource use efficiency, will ensure adequate water supply without 
adverse impacts on the River Usk and River Wye SACs, thereby helping to 

Page 877



94 
 
 

avoid the likelihood that this Plan will have a significant effect upon 
European designated sites. Implementation of this Policy will also reduce 
emission of air, water and ground pollutants, thereby offsetting increases 
in pollution arising from implementation of other policies in the Plan. This 
would contribute to avoiding significant effects upon European Sites. 
 
4.104 91  There is currently a A range of design-related SPG for different 
forms of development. These will be updated and consolidated as 
summarised in Appendix 5 4  to provide full guidance on the detailed 
interpretation of this Policy. 
 
  

Page 878



95 
 
 

3. Bringing forward new infrastructure 
 
KP6: NEW INFRASTRUCTURE 
 
KP6: NEW INFRASTRUCTURE 
 
New development will make appropriate provision for, or 
contribute towards, the all essential, enabling and necessary 
infrastructure required as a consequence of the proposed 
development in accordance with Planning Policy Guidance.  Such 
infrastructure will be delivered in a timely manner to meet the 
needs of existing and planned communities and includes the 
following aspects which may be required subject having regard to 
the nature, scale and location and details of the proposaled 
development: 
Essential / Enabling Infrastructure: 
• Transportation and highways including access, circulation, 

parking, public transport provision, walking and cycling; 
• Utility services; 
• Flood mitigation / defences; 
 
Necessary Infrastructure: 
 
• Affordable Housing; 
• Schools and education; 
• Health and social care; 
• Community buildings and facilities including District and Local 

Centre improvements; 
• Local employment and training including replacement 

employment opportunities where relevant; 
• Community safety initiatives; 
• Open space, recreational facilities, playgrounds, allotments; 
• Protection, management, enhancement and mitigation 

measures relating to the natural and built environment; 
• Public realm improvements and public art;  
• Waste management facilities including recycling and services; 
• District heating and sustainable energy infrastructure; and 
Other requirements 
• Other facilities and services considered necessary. 
 

Page 879



96 
 
 

4.89 4.92 Policy KP6 seeks to ensure that new developments, irrespective 
of their size, location, or land use, make appropriate provision for 
infrastructure.  Specific infrastructure requirements will vary in different 
locations and be dependent upon the scale and nature of proposed 
development.  Infrastructure may be required to facilitate development 
(essential / enabling such as highways or utilities) or can be required to 
make a development acceptable (necessary such as schools, community 
facilities, open space).  For example, it may include elements from the list 
contained as part of the Policy, which is not exhaustive, but gives an 
indication of the potential scope of infrastructure which may be required. 

 
 Category 1: Essential / Enabling Infrastructure (to facilitate 

development) - Those items which will need to be delivered prior to, or 
from the commencement of the relevant phases of development (e.g. 
transportation / highways infrastructure, utility services and flood 
mitigation / defences). 

 
 Category 2: Necessary Infrastructure (to make development acceptable) 

- Items which need to be phased and implemented alongside new 
development, to ensure that areas are served with appropriate facilities 
over time (e.g. schools and recreational open space)’. 

 
4.90 3 The list serves to give a general indication only as each topic may have 
complex requirements. For example transportation infrastructure could include 
elements of the following: 
• Routes and facilities for walking and cycling comprising both on-road and 
off-road improvements; 
• Rapid transit corridors, including heavy rail, light rail, tram train and bus rapid 
transit; 
• Key bus corridors and the wider bus network including bus priority measures 
and passenger facilities; 
• The rail network and rail services including new rail stations, station 
improvements and facilities for rail freight; 
• Transport interchanges to support integration between modes including, bus 
and rail stations, facilities for bus and rail-based park and ride, park and 
share, passenger drop off, taxis, park and cycle, coach parking, overnight 
lorry parking and water transport; 
• Designated freight routes and freight transfer facilities; 
• The road network, particularly measures to make better use of existing 
highway capacity; 

• Transport by river (including Cardiff Bay); and 

Page 880



97 
 
 

• Port and shipping facilities. 
 
4.94  With regard to Strategic Sites, policies KP2(A)-KP2(H) provide clear 
guidance on the Council’s infrastructure and masterplanning 
requirements. This information will be cross-referenced to the Cardiff 
Infrastructure Plan which is a ‘living document’ sitting alongside the LDP. 
The Infrastructure Plan is directly linked to the LDP Monitoring Framework 
and will be regularly updated, so as more details are established they can 
be incorporated into the document. 
 
 
4.91 5  Further work has therefore been undertaken to supplement the 
Policy and is included in Supporting Document 6 (Infrastructure Plan) 
which provides details and evidence of the infrastructure that is required 
to support the planned level of growth. The Infrastructure Plan also 
identifies the potential costs of such infrastructure provision, potential 
funding mechanisms and / sources of funding and provides an indication 
of phasing requirements. The diagram set out below shows some of the 
potential funding sources for infrastructure provision. However, at this 
stage it It is important to note that there are numerous potential funding 
sources and that the potential sources those shown on the diagram raise 
peripheral issues which require further discussion and work to investigate 
the feasibility of securing funding through these means. 
 

Page 881



98 
 
 

 
 
4.92  6 Within larger sites, which are the subject of detailed masterplanning and 
phasing, it is likely that necessary infrastructure can be delivered as part of 
comprehensive mixed-use development. This infrastructure could be delivered 
through planning obligations or by direct intervention from service/infrastructure 
providers. In all cases, the early identification of infrastructure requirements and a 
commitment from developers and service providers to work in partnership will help 
ensure that all necessary infrastructure can be planned, delivered and managed in 
an orderly and timely manner. 
 
4.93 7 The provision of flexible, multi-functional buildings and places will 
allow for essential services to be provided, whilst allowing communities to 
define and re-define their infrastructure requirements over time. A strong 
commitment to shared community buildings, services, their management 
and maintenance will ensure that facilities are at the heart of the 
community, whilst reducing overall costs to both developers and service 
providers. The principle of community buildings integrated within multi-
function “hubs” (for example, the new @Loudoun development in 
Butetown) is a trend which is set to continue. The Infrastructure 
Plan (Supporting Document 6) provides further information regarding 
potential opportunities for shared premises as well as an indication of 
compatible uses and services. 
 

Infrastructure 

UK 
Government 

Funding Welsh 
Government 

Funding 

European 
Funding 

Private 
Finance 

Road User 
Charging 

Voluntary 
Sector 

Developer(s) 

Workplace 
Parking Levy 

Grants 

Council 
Funding 

Page 882



99 
 
 

4.94 8 A Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) for Cardiff is being progressed. will be 
progressed following the adoption of the Plan. The balance between site 
masterplanning, planning obligations and CIL to deliver infrastructure will be 
informed by site viability, dialogue with developers and the availability of other 
funding sources. Detailed Policy KP7 (Planning Obligations) provides further detail 
and describes those infrastructure requirements which may be delivered through 
planning obligations. 
 
4.95 There may also be additional requirements depending on the scale, 
nature, location and phasing of proposed developments to support the 
future needs of infrastructure providers and the communities they serve. 
Further detailed work will be undertaken following consultation on the 
Deposit LDP to fine tune requirements and delivery sources. This will 
include identifying in more detail the different ways in which 
infrastructure can be provided. 
 
 
KP7: PLANNING OBLIGATIONS 
 
Planning obligations will be sought to mitigate any impacts 
directly related to the development and will be assessed on a case 
by case basis in line with Planning Policy Guidance. 
 
4.96 99 Planning obligations are a means of overcoming obstacles to the grant of 
planning permission. They are attached to planning permissions and are 
commitments by developers to undertake necessary works or make financial 
contributions that cannot be secured by condition or other statutory means. 
 
4.97 100 New development often generates additional demands upon existing 
services, facilities, infrastructure and the environment. Planning obligations are a 
means 
of seeking contributions from developers towards these demands, as well as 
negotiating benefits that improve the standard of development proposals by 
providing necessary infrastructure and community benefits. 
 
4.98 101  The legislative and policy framework governing the use of 
planning obligations is provided in PPW, Community Infrastructure Levy 
Regulations 2010 (as amended) and Welsh Office Circular 13/97 'Planning 
Obligations' (or subsequent versions). 
4.99  102  The CIL Regulations require there to be no overlap between infrastructure 
funded from CIL and what can be delivered through planning obligations. To avoid 
duplication, and to provide clarity to developers, the Authority will publish a list 

Page 883



100 
 
 

(Regulation 123 List) of the infrastructure which will be funded through the CIL. 
For infrastructure not included on the Regulation 123 List, it may be appropriate 
to secure necessary infrastructure through planning obligations. 
 
4.100 103  Obligations will be sought from a developer to: 
• Restrict the development or use of land; 
• Require land to be used in a specific way; 
• Require operations or activities to be carried out; or 
• Require payments to be made to the authority. 

 
4.101 4  They will be sought where they are: 
 Necessary to make a proposal acceptable in land use planning 
terms; 
 Relevant to planning; and 
 Directly related to the proposed development. 
 Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms 
 Directly related to the development; and 
 Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development 
4.102 5  Obligations are normally negotiated under Section 106 of the 1990 Town 
and Country Planning Act. Agreements can also be entered into under Section 278 
of the 1980 Highways Act. These prescribe the highway works required as a result of 
proposed developments. SPG will be prepared to provide further guidance on the 
use of planning obligations. 
 
 
4. Delivering sustainable transportation solutions 
 
KP8: SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT 
 
Development in Cardiff will be integrated with transport 
infrastructure and services in order to: 
i. Achieve the target of a 50:50 modal split between journeys by 
car and journeys by walking, cycling and public transport. 
ii. Reduce travel demand and dependence on the car; 
iii. Enable and maximise use of sustainable and active modes of 
transport; 
iv. Integrate travel modes; 
v. Provide for people with particular access and mobility 
requirements; 
vi. Improve safety for all travellers; 

Page 884



101 
 
 

vii. Maintain and improve the efficiency and reliability of the 
transport network; 
viii. Support the movement of freight by rail or water; and 
ix. Manage freight movements by road and minimise their impacts. 
 
4.103 6  For Cardiff to accommodate the planned levels of growth, existing and 
future residents will need to be far less reliant on the private car. Therefore, ensuring 
that more everyday journeys are undertaken by sustainable modes of transport – 
walking, cycling and public transport – will be essential. 
 
4.104 7  The location and form of developments are major determinants of the 
distance people travel, the routes they take and the modes of transport they choose.  
Much of the growth in car travel in recent decades can be attributed to developments 
which have been poorly integrated with the transport network Integration of land use 
and transport provision can help to manage travel demand, avoid developments 
which are car dependent and make it easier to facilitate movements by sustainable 
modes. 
 
4.105 8  The purpose of this Key Policy, therefore, is to ensure that developments 
are properly integrated with the transport infrastructure necessary to make 
developments accessible by sustainable travel modes and achieve a necessary shift 
away from car-based travel. 
 
4.109  In order to mitigate transport impacts and achieve the 50:50 
modal split target, the development of strategic sites will be integrated 
with provision of transport and highways infrastructure referred to in 
Policy KP6 (New Infrastructure). Such infrastructure will include:  
 
• the walking and cycling infrastructure supported by Policy T1;  
• the strategic rapid transit, bus corridor enhancements and wider 

improvements to the city’s bus network supported by Policy T2;  
• Transport Interchanges supported by Policy T3; and  
• the Regional Transport Hub supported by Policy T4.  
 
4.110  Policies KP2 (A) to KP2 (H) list the ‘Essential’ and ‘Enabling 
infrastructure’ required to support the development of each strategic site 
s contribution to and the delivery of the county-wide 50:50 modal split 
target.  
 

Page 885



102 
 
 

Policies KP2 (A) to KP2 (H) list the ‘Essential’ and ‘Enabling infrastructure’ 
required to support the development of each strategic site and the 
delivery of the 50:50 modal split target.  
 
 
4.106  11 Currently (2011) 64% of all weekly journeys (work and non-work related) 
are made by car, whilst 36% are made by other modes. A central aim of the 
transport strategy supporting the LDP is to achieve a 50:50 split between travel by 
car and sustainable travel. This target is not simply a policy aspiration; local 
knowledge of the transportation network and research of travel behaviour, patterns 
and trends in combination with modelling work carried out by the Council has shown 
that achieving this ratio is necessary for the transport network to accommodate 
movements associated with the growth envisaged within this plan in a way which 
avoids unmanageable levels of congestion on the highway network. 
 
4.107  12  Supporting Document No. 5, gives details of the A transport model was 
developed to assess the overall impact of proposed development sites on the 
highway network in Cardiff in 2026.  4.108 The model is based on the morning peak 
periods when pressures on the highway network are greatest. Peak period flows 
have been modelled on a 2010 base and then compared with 2026 based on the 
following increases in housing and employment: 

• A 25% increase in housing (142,382 to 178,594) 
• A 20% increase in jobs (from 198,400 to 238,400) 

 
4.109 13  The 2026 model was based on the 2010 highway network and assumes 
no changes have been made to accommodate the additional vehicle movements 
from the development sites; this approach is known as a ‘business as usual’ 
scenario. This has enabled the impact of the LDP Preferred Strategy to be fully 
quantified. The key outcomes of the modelling exercise illustrate that: 

• The demand for travel by car would increase by 41%; 
• 10% of new demand would be unable to travel on the highway network due to 

lack of capacity so there would be a 32% net increase in traffic; 
• Average journey speeds would decrease; and 
• Journey times would increase by approximately 41% or 7 minutes (average). 

 
4.110 14 The Council’s modelling assessment demonstrates that the growth 
projected in the LDP will result in major increase in transport movements generally 
including significant additional trips on the highway network. Furthermore, that in 
order to accommodate the additional vehicular trips on the highway network, it will be 
necessary that at least 50% of all trips on Cardiff’s transport network are made by 
sustainable modes by the end of the Plan period in 2026. 
 

Page 886



103 
 
 

4.111 15  The results of the modelling and assessment work show that in order to 
achieve a 50:50 split between car-based and non car-based travel, development 
proposed in the LDP will need to be supported by significant new transport 
infrastructure, improvements to existing transport facilities, and measures to manage 
travel demand and encourage use of sustainable transport both within existing and 
new communities in Cardiff. In light of the scale of transport impacts highlighted in 
the transport evidence base, it is essential that in considering planning applications, 
the Council seeks to secure measures which maximise the accessibility of 
development schemes by sustainable modes. 
 
4.112  16 It is accepted that for some development sites it may not be possible to 
achieve a 50:50 modal split, at least in the short term. However, in light of the scale 
of transport impacts highlighted in the transport evidence base, it is essential that in 
considering planning applications, the Council seeks to secure measures which 
maximise the accessibility of development schemes by sustainable modes. 
 
4.113 17  For smaller schemes, this could include accommodating through-
pedestrian or cycle movements within the development layout or positioning access 
to the site where it could minimise the walking distance to the nearest bus stop. 
 
4.114 18  For larger development schemes which have significant transport 
implications, more substantial measures will be required to address travel impacts 
and maximise sustainable access. It is important to clarify that achieving the 50:50 
modal split target will not be a matter of requiring all new developments within the 
plan period to achieve a 50:50 modal split. Rather, the target will be achieved by the 
Council seeking to secure through the development process measures which 
maximise the possible share of trips made by sustainable modes for all sites. It is 
accepted that for some developments a 50:50 modal split may not be achievable, at 
least in the short term. However, for other development sites the Council will seek to 
secure a higher than 50% share of trips by sustainable modes.  
 
4.115 19  Planning applications for development schemes at or above the size 
thresholds specified in TAN18: Transport will need to be supported by a Transport 
Assessment (TA). The TA will provide the basis for assessing all the potential travel 
impacts of developments including their effect on the highway network and the likely 
modal split of the trips that would be generated. This assessment will help establish 
the gaps in existing transport provision and the measures necessary to make a 
development accessible by sustainable modes. 
 
4.116 20  Such measures will be secured as a condition of planning consent and/or 
by way of planning obligation. In all cases, the nature of the measures sought will be 
in proportion with the scale of the development and the impacts requiring mitigation. 
 

Page 887



104 
 
 

4.117 21 For planning applications relating to the LDP strategic sites, the 
Council will seek to secure the on-site and off-site transport infrastructure 
identified within the schematic master plans and site-specific principles for 
each site Policy KP2.  Implementation of this Policy will help to reduce 
pollution arising from road traffic. This will counteract increases in 
atmospheric pollution as a result of the Plan, thereby avoiding significant 
effects upon internationally designated sites. 
4.118 22 The transport aspects of all development proposals will be considered with 
regard to this key Policy and the detailed transport policies featured below. 
 
 
5. Responding to evidenced economic needs 
 
KP9: RESPONDING TO EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS 
 
Provision will be made for a range and choice of new employment 
sites including those identified in KP2 for different types of 
employment and in different geographical locations to effectively 
deliver the level of growth set out in the plan together with 
putting in place a framework to protect the role of existing 
employment land 
 
4.119 123 This Policy responds to Cardiff’s role as the main economic 
driver in South East Wales and operates as a city-region which effectively 
increases the population to around 1.4 million reflecting its position as 
capital of Wales and seat of Welsh Government and accounting for 32% of 
total employment in South East Wales. It delivers the strategic aspirations 
for economic development in Cardiff through the identification and 
protection of employment land and premises and opportunities to deliver 
the key economic growth sectors relating to ICT, energy and 
environmental technologies, advanced materials and manufacturing, 
creative industries, life sciences and financial and professional services. 
 
4.120 124 At the heart of this approach is recognition that the Cardiff 
city-region clearly forms a natural economic area and it has consistently 
made a major positive contribution to the economic growth of Wales. In 
core city analysis, Cardiff performs well and there is an opportunity to 
build further on this through continuing to enhance Cardiff’s role and also 
improve linkages and connectivity within the city-region. It is also 
recognised (as evidenced in the recent Cardiff LDP regional collaborative 

Page 888



105 
 
 

working exercise summarised in Supporting Document 17) that there are 
significant benefits for adjoining areas from Cardiff’s success in achieving 
economic growth. 
 
4.121 125 The economic strategy for the LDP supports inward investment 
and new business requirements through striking a balance between the 
supply and demand for employment land and continuing to provide a 
diverse range of job opportunities. Critical to the economic strategy for 
the city is an appreciation of the changes in population, labour market 
and employment base together with achieving the appropriate balance 
between the provision of new jobs and homes. Supporting Document 4 
provides detailed evidence on how such matters have been addressed. 
 
4.122 126  A number of key issues and messages emerge from the 
supply and demand studies which have implications for Cardiff’s economic 
performance and therefore are critical elements of the economic strategy 
for the LDP. The evidence points to the need for a Strategy that 
addresses these three issues: 

• Providing a range and choice of new employment land; 
• Cardiff Central Enterprise Zone as a core element of the strategy; 

and 
• Recognising the role of existing employment land and premises. 

 
4.123 127 In terms of providing for new employment land, the Deposit 
LDP sets a framework for delivering a wide range and choice of 
employment sites in different locations and for different sectors including 
the key market sectors of ICT, energy and environmental technologies, 
advanced materials and manufacturing, creative industries, life sciences 
and financial and professional services. The range of new sites ensures 
that Cardiff can deliver the stated level of growth for new jobs. 
Importantly, different sites will perform different roles in the strategy. For 
example, land at Junction 33 may be better suited to ICT, life sciences, 
energy and environmental technologies whilst Porth Teigr (Roath Basin) is 
becoming an important location for media and creative industries. Land 
south of St Mellons Business Park is also allocated to provide a strategic 
employment site capable of attracting inward investment opportunities for 
high value service and knowledge based sectors. 
 
4.124 128 The provision of employment land as part of wider housing-led 
comprehensive developments at North West Cardiff, North East Cardiff, 

Page 889



106 
 
 

Arjo Wiggins and Roath Basin provides an important role in terms of the 
overall supply and mix of employment land offering a good range and 
choice of small out of centre employment sites, including offices, creative 
industries, small workshops, and starter units. This will be essential to 
ensure the continued provision of local employment opportunities and 
address the geographical employment disparities across the county. 
 
4.125  129  The geographical spread of the ‘Cardiff offer’ also addresses 
the need to provide jobs in accessible locations. In this respect, the key 
strategic proposal relating to the Cardiff Central Enterprise Zone and 
Regional Transport Hub represents a highly sustainable and accessible 
location, close to areas of high unemployment in the city but also readily 
accessible to the wider region via sustainable modes of transport. 
 
4.126 130  This key site is an integral part of the Council’s economic 
vision to establish Cardiff as a leading European business city over the 
next two decades and will underpin and promote the financial and 
professional services sector and create a platform for investment. It will 
greatly assist promoting Wales’ share of UK inward investment which has 
fallen from previous rates of 20% to just 2%.Furthermore, the scale of 
this proposal relating to Grade A office space is potentially a real ‘game 
changer’ for Cardiff and Wales to compete more effectively with other UK 
cities. 
 
4.127 131  It is a long-term proposal which seeks to revitalise up to 140 
acres of brownfield city-centre land adjacent to Cardiff Central railway 
station. It will focus on enhancing Cardiff’s growing reputation as a 
financial and professional services cluster and is a key sustainable 
regeneration project. 
 
4.128 132  Integrated transport sits at the heart of the Cardiff Central 
Enterprise Zone with Central Square becoming the hub of the Enterprise 
Zone. The proposal represents the next phase of redevelopment of Cardiff 
city centre and aims to create a modern and high quality gateway to the 
city whilst extending the function of the city centre south of the railway 
line, creating a better link between the city centre and Bay and a provide 
a new convention centre to attract business, tourism and promote the city 
for business. The Cardiff Central Enterprise Zone is one of 7 new 
Enterprise Zones in Wales designated by the Welsh Government and the 

Page 890



107 
 
 

only Zone in the focused on financial and professional services. The Zone 
came into effect on 1st April 2012 and has a lifespan of 5 years. 
 
4.129 133   It is important to ensure that a range and choice of 
employment land and business premises are provided to maintain and 
improve the competitiveness of the city, promote and protect indigenous 
business and attract inward investment. There has been growing pressure 
over recent years for the development and redevelopment of employment 
land and premises for alternative uses (predominantly residential), 
whether still occupied or where current operations have ceased, which 
offer a greater level of return for investors. Such development proposals 
can result in significant losses to the county’s stock of employment land 
and premises. 
 
4.130 134  The loss of employment land can be incremental with the loss 
of one site setting the precedent for the loss of a series of others in a 
similar location, leading to a gradual erosion of an employment area. 
Sometimes alternative uses can also fragment a larger business area or 
sever links between employment uses in an area. Over time pressure for 
alternative uses result in a cumulative loss of employment sites to the 
detriment of the local economy. In addition many existing industrial areas 
are located within the ‘southern arc’ of deprivation in areas of greatest 
need for jobs and it is important to retain employment in these locations 
due to their accessibility. 
 
4.131 135   The Strategy seeks to protect existing business and industrial 
and warehousing land (B1b/c, B2 and B8 uses) to ensure their continued 
important contribution to providing accessible sources of employment in 
the city. Similarly, there will be a strong presumption in favour of 
retaining existing high quality and accessible office accommodation. 
However, consideration will be given to the change of use (to housing for 
example) of lower quality office and industrial premises which do not 
perform an important strategic or local role in terms of the overall range 
and choice of premises. Where alternative use of land is considered 
appropriate, priority will be given to mixed-use development comprising 
employment, housing and community facilities or, where that is not 
feasible, housing. (This policy position will also help to support future 
windfall provision over the Plan period) Other proposals will need to 
demonstrate why a mixed-use of housing and employment schemes 
cannot be achieved on a site. 

Page 891



108 
 
 

 
4.132 136  It is also important to recognise the role of the sea port, ABP 
and its tenants in South Wales directly and indirectly supports over £1.7 
billion of gross output in Wales. There are therefore opportunities to 
continue to support the role of the port, particularly its potential to 
generate new industry and services (Competitive Capital – The Cardiff 
Economic Strategy 2007 to 2012, Cardiff Council). 
 
4.133 137  In addition, in order to maximise the contribution to providing 
jobs from existing sites and promote the efficient use of land, the strategy 
seeks to encourage the intensification and refurbishment of existing 
employment land and premises which are under used, vacant or in 
decline. The Strategy supports the regeneration of land and property for 
employment purposes such as Mount Stuart Square as a focus on 
innovative business. 
 
 
KP10: CENTRAL AND BAY BUSINESS AREAS 
 
The following uses are considered appropriate within the Central 
and Bay Business Areas: 
i. New offices, residential and commercial leisure uses within the 
Central and Bay Business Areas; 
ii. Enhanced retail and complementary facilities within the Central 
Shopping Area; and 
iii. Other uses most appropriately located in city centres. 
 
4.134 138 This Policy describes the range of uses appropriate within the 
Central and Bay Business Areas, as identified on the Proposals Map. It 
identifies those uses most appropriately located in centres accessible to 
large numbers of people and encourages a mix of complementary uses to 
maintain and enhance the vitality, attractiveness and viability of such 
centres. Identified within the Central Business Area (CBA) is the Central 
Shopping Area, as defined on the Proposals Map, where new and 
improved retail uses are most appropriate to maintain a vibrant and vital 
shopping centre. 
 
4.135 139  The CBA is the administrative and business heart of the city, 
and the established focus for major office and commercial leisure 
developments. The CBA contains the Central Shopping Area, with the 

Page 892



109 
 
 

recent St. David’s redevelopment confirming Cardiff’s position at the head 
of the regional shopping hierarchy. The civic centre is home to the 
National Museum of Wales and Cardiff University which, along with Cardiff 
Castle and Bute Park to the north, provide the historic setting for the city 
centre. The area has the diversity and attractiveness befitting a European 
capital city. 
 
4.136 140  The Bay Business Area (BBA) is the focus for government, 
tourism and leisure development; with the Senedd, the Wales Millennium 
Centre and other landmark buildings redefining the architectural quality 
and attractiveness of the waterfront and its environs. Future development 
should continue to enhance the waterfront as an attractive and diverse 
mixed-use location, whilst complementing and supporting the CBA as the 
economic driver for the city region. The Cardiff Bay Barrage has created a 
200 hectare freshwater lake and 13km of waterfront providing 
opportunities for further tourism and water based recreation as well as 
attracting significant inward investment in an attractive waterfront 
location. 
 
4.137 141  New and improved leisure, recreation and tourist facilities are 
important for the future development of Cardiff. These uses are major 
employers in the city centre and generate significant benefits to the local 
economy. By improving the quality and range of sporting, recreation and 
leisure facilities, the area is made a more attractive place in which to live, 
work and visit, thereby helping to attract inward investment and 
regeneration. These attractions are also important for city marketing and 
the branding of Cardiff as a major cultural, sporting and leisure 
destination. Furthermore, it is recognised that these facilities are an 
important factor in improving the well-being and quality of life of our local 
communities. 
 
4.138 142  The Central and Bay Business Areas also contain a significant 
number of residential premises including high-rise apartment blocks, 
student accommodation and residential uses above commercial premises. 
Although the city centre and bay areas have experienced a large increase 
in residential development over the past 20 years, there remains the 
potential for further residential development. New residential 
development within the Central and Bay Business areas will support the 
delivery of balanced, mixed use areas where, by virtue of their proximity 
to public transport, leisure, employment and community facilities, can 

Page 893



110 
 
 

create sustainable urban neighbourhoods and contribute to the daytime 
and evening economy. 
 
4.139 143  A series of City Centre Strategies have been prepared since 
1997, providing the framework for the strategic regeneration and 
management of the city centre. A new Strategy is to be prepared 
alongside a series of Area Action Plans to define the regeneration activity 
and infrastructure necessary to deliver, sustain and manage the 
development of the city centre for present and future generations. 
 
 
KP11: MINERALS AND CRUSHED ROCK AGGREGATES AND OTHER 
MINERALS 
 
Cardiff will maintain a steady and adequate supply of minerals 
and contribute to regional aggregate supplies by: 
i Promoting and supporting the efficient use of minerals and use 
of alternatives to naturally occurring minerals including the re-use 
of secondary aggregates; 
ii. Protecting existing mineral reserves and safeguarding potential 
resources of limestone, coal and sand and gravel from 
development that would preclude their future extraction; and 
iii. Maintaining a minimum 10 year land bank of permitted crushed 
rock aggregate reserves in line with national guidance.;  
iv. Supporting appropriate applications for sand and gravel 
extraction; and 
v. Safeguarding wharves from development that would prevent 
their use for landing marine dredged sand and gravel.  
 
4.140  144  Mineral resources are a valuable but finite resource. An 
adequate and steady supply of minerals is essential to the national, 
regional and local economy and their exploitation makes a significant 
contribution to our economic prosperity and quality of life. Cardiff is one 
of the largest producers and consumers of minerals in the region and 
those worked in Cardiff at present provide the essential raw materials for 
our buildings, infrastructure and maintenance. Natural minerals include 
quarried hard rock (carboniferous limestone and dolomite) and dredged 
sand landed in Cardiff Docks. 
 

Page 894



111 
 
 

4.141  145 Crushed rock production in the past has averaged 1 million 
tonnes (mt.) per annum, broadly similar to the County’s consumption. In 
addition approximately 0.3 mt. of sea dredged sand is landed at Cardiff 
Docks every year. The majority of natural mineral production is used in 
the construction industry as crushed rock aggregates. Secondary 
materials, such as construction and demolition waste, are also used as 
substitutes for natural aggregates. Cardiff is also an important source of 
dolomitic and high purity limestone for industrial use in the local 
steelmaking process. Existing permitted reserves of hard rock minerals 
(41 mt.) represent over 69 years’ supply at current output rates, 
sufficient to meet need well beyond the Plan period. Regionally, Cardiff 
contributes around 10% of South Wales’ annual crushed rock aggregate 
production and its reserves represent 8% of the regional total, sufficient 
to maintain this contribution during the Plan period. The Regional 
Technical Statement 1st Review (August 2014) produced by the North and 
South Wales Regional Aggregates Working Parties states that Cardiff 
should make provision for 0.86 million tonnes of crushed rock aggregates 
per year up to 2036, resulting in a total apportionment of 21.5 million 
tonnes. This requirement is based on average annual production for the 
period 2001 to 2010 and compares with the existing landbank of 41 
million tonnes (as at 31st December 2010) of crushed rock reserves 
meaning Cardiff based on current information has a surplus of permitted 
reserves when compared to the requirements set out in the Regional 
Technical Statement 1st Review. This Policy recognises that Cardiff is an 
important regional provider of minerals and provides for the continuation 
of its present contribution to regional demand. 
 
 
 
4.142 146  The Policy promotes the increased use of alternatives to 
naturally occurring minerals. The re-use or recycling of construction and 
demolition material and industrial waste serves not only to reduce the 
amount of waste produced but also conserves scarce non-renewable 
natural mineral resources and minimises environmental damage. 
 
4.143  147  However, allowing for improvements in recycling and re-use, 
there will remain a need for primary minerals. It is recognised that 
natural mineral resources can only be replenished over geological 
timescales and that they need to be protected for future generations. As 
minerals can only be worked where they exist, it is important to protect 

Page 895



112 
 
 

them from inappropriate development, which could effectively sterilise 
them.  The Policy precludes inappropriate development on mineral 
reserves and resources themselves and allows for buffer zones within 
which sensitive development will be prevented. 
 
 
KP12 WASTE 
 
Waste arisings from Cardiff will be managed by: 
 
i. Promoting and supporting additional sustainable waste 
management facilities, measures and strategies in accordance 
with the Collections, Infrastructure and Markets Sector Plan 
(2012) and TAN 21 (2014) Regional Waste Plan and in a manner 
that follows the waste hierarchy which seeks to maximise the 
reduction of waste in the first place and thereafter reusing, 
recovering and recycling options before disposal of waste and the 
principles of an integrated and adequate network of waste 
installations; nearest appropriate installation; self-sufficiency and 
protection of human health and the environment; 
 
ii. Encouraging the provision of in-building treatment facilities 
on existing and allocated areas of general industry; 
 
iii. Supporting the provision and maintenance of sustainable 
waste management storage and collection arrangements in all 
appropriate new developments; and 
 
iv. Supporting waste minimisation prevention and reuse and the 
provision of facilities that use recycled or composted products. 
4.144 148 Cardiff produces around a million tonnes of waste each year, 
varying from harmless inert materials to highly toxic chemical by-
products and residues.  It is important for the Council to manage the land 
use implications of this waste in an environmentally acceptable and 
sustainable way.  The Council is moving towards more sustainable waste 
management practices in line with European and national guidance, by 
increasing the amount of municipal waste recycled or composted and 
reducing the amount of biodegradable waste sent to landfill. Additional 
treatment facilities are likely to be required within the Plan period in order 
to achieve these aims. 

Page 896



113 
 
 

 
4. 145 149 The South East Wales Regional Waste Plan indicates that a 
maximum of 20.9 hectares of land will be required for waste 
management facilities within the county. New waste management 
facilities will generally be favoured on B2 land for general industry, in line 
with national guidance. In this respect the 1st Review of the Regional 
Waste Plan endorsed by the Council in July 2008 identifies a range of 
potential sites for waste management purposes on vacant general 
industrial land.  
 
TAN 21 (2014) sets a framework for the delivery of sustainable waste 
management infrastructure through the planning process.  The 
Collections, Infrastructure and Markets Sector Plan (2012) is intended to 
deliver the sustainable development outcomes set out in ‘Towards Zero 
Waste’ the overarching waste strategy document for Wales.  The Council 
will work with others within the South East Wales region to monitor waste 
arisings and capacity requirements and respond to identified needs by 
providing an integrated and adequate network of waste management 
facilities across the region.  Additional treatment and recovery facilities 
are likely to be required within Cardiff during the Plan period in order to 
achieve the targets set out in the CIM Sector Plan and the policy 
principles established in TAN 21 (2014). 
4.146 150  All appropriate new development should include provision for the storage, 
recycling and management of waste. This will encourage waste reduction, 
recycling, composting and separation at source, in order to contribute towards 
meeting waste management targets. 
 
 
6. Responding to evidenced social needs 
 
KP13: RESPONDING TO EVIDENCED SOCIAL NEEDS 
  
A key part of the successful progression of the city will be to 
develop sustainable neighbourhoods, tackle deprivation, and 
improve the quality of life for all. This will be achieved through: 
i. Providing a range of dwelling sizes, types and affordability 
including seeking to provide a target of 6,953 6,646 affordable 
dwellings over the remaining 13 12 years of Plan period; 
ii. Supporting the vitality, viability and attractiveness of existing 
District and Local Centres and their regeneration, including retail 

Page 897



114 
 
 

and other commercial development and housing of an appropriate 
scale; 
iii. Encouraging the provision of a full range of social, health, 
leisure and education facilities and community infrastructure for 
both existing and new communities that are accessible to all by 
walking and cycling and public transport; 
iv. Supporting the regeneration of deprived communities within 
the city and maximising the additional benefits that new 
communities can bring to adjoining or surrounding communities; 
v. Encouraging the enhancement of communities through better 
equality of access to services for all, promoting cultural and wider 
diversity for all groups in society, and creating places that 
encourage social interaction and cohesion; 
vi. Developing new cultural and sporting facilities to build upon 
Cardiff’s role as a major tourist, cultural and sporting destination 
for visitors and residents alike; and 
vii. Designing out crime and creating communities which are safer 
and feel safer. 
4.147 151  PPW promotes sustainable communities. In delivering sustainable 
communities, the Council will seek to ensure a range of dwelling sizes, types and 
affordability is provided in terms of both market and affordable housing to meet 
identified needs (including supported and sheltered housing and other special needs 
where appropriate), in safe neighbourhoods. In Cardiff, in line with national trends, 
average household size has been declining and in general this has been reflected 
in an increasing proportion of 1 and 2 bedroom flats in schemes with residential 
consent. 
 
4.148 152  Whilst the provision of flats does cater for those seeking smaller units of 
accommodation, and this may free up other larger units of existing housing, there 
will still be a need for a range of dwelling types and sizes to be provided on sites 
that come forward during the Plan period. Whilst flats may be appropriate on 
some sites, the Council will seek to ensure, particularly in larger schemes, that 
a range of dwelling types and affordability is provided. 
 
4.149 153 The affordable housing target (6,953 6,646 or 535 units per 
annum) identifies the number of affordable housing units that it is 
anticipated will be provided over the remainder of the Plan 
period 2013 2014 to 2026. The target takes into account the current 
landbank of affordable units (less an allowance for flexibility) and 
expected contributions from strategic and non-strategic sites, windfall 
sites and change of use schemes based on the affordable housing target 

Page 898



115 
 
 

percentages (30% for greenfield sites and 20% for brownfield sites) 
outlined in Policy H3.. It is also likely that some affordable housing will 
also come forward from sources other than by the use of planning 
obligations, for example on sites or in dwellings acquired by social 
housing providers. 
 
4.154  The Cardiff LHMA assessment sets a requirement over the period 
2013-2018 of 3,989 affordable units per year or a total of 19,945. Clearly, 
the affordable housing target over the Plan period will not meet the need 
figure as set out in the LHMA 
 
 
4.150 155  The Plan also supports the viability and attractiveness of District and 
Local Centres which form an important part of Cardiff’s retail hierarchy and of its 
social, economic and physical fabric. In addition to their primary function of providing 
local shopping facilities they also accommodate a range of accessible services 
facilities and employment. This Policy aims to support the retention and provision of 
local shopping facilities, which remains the primary role of centres and underpins 
their vitality, attractiveness and viability. Such facilities are also accessible to the 
local community by public transport, walking and cycling thereby supporting the 
sustainable transportation objectives set out in the Plan. Furthermore, the Policy 
also seeks to encourage investment and renewal of the physical fabric of centres. 
 
4.151 156 Providing a range of community, health, religious and educational facilities 
which are accessible to as many people as possible is an essential requirement in 
order to secure sustainable communities. Such facilities are significant local 
employers and can contribute towards the regeneration of local areas. Additionally, 
these services are essential to maintain and improve the quality of life of people 
living and working in Cardiff. 
 
4.152 157  The masterplanning approach which has been adopted to provide a 
framework for the development of strategic sites fully recognises the potential 
benefits that new development can bring to adjoining areas. Opportunities can be 
taken to deliver the aims of this Policy by new development enhancing the quality 
and range of existing provision of a range of facilities and services. 
 
4.153 158  In order to further support the regeneration of deprived communities 
within the city the LDP will support implementation of the Council's Neighbourhood 
Improvement Programme (March 2007) and the Communities First Programme, 
which aim to close the gap between the most deprived neighbourhoods and the 
city as a whole. 
 

Page 899



116 
 
 

4.154 159  In order to secure sustainable communities it is important that the LDP 
helps promote a culture in which diversity is valued and equality of opportunity is a 
reality. This can be achieved through a combination of policies within the Plan, 
particularly those creating places that encourage social interaction and cohesion. 
 
 
KP14: HEALTHY LIVING 
 
Cardiff will be made a healthier place to live by seeking to reduce 
health inequalities through encouraging healthy lifestyles, 
addressing the social determinants of health and providing 
accessible health care facilities. This will be achieved by 
supporting developments which provide for active travel, 
accessible and useable green spaces, including allotments. 
 
4.155 160  This Policy accords with the aim in PPW to deliver sustainable 
development through ensuring that health is considered in new 
developments. It also assists achievement of a number of PPW objectives 
regarding travel and access to key community facilities. It reflects the 
direction that ‘health considerations can be material considerations in 
determining planning applications’ (PPW Para. 12.13.8) and accepts that 
the effect of development on people’s health is a key element of 
sustainable development and its consideration will raise any significant 
issues which need to be taken into account. 
 
4.156 161  Implementation of this Policy supports the Cardiff Partnership 
Strategy (2010-2020) and the population outcome ‘people in Cardiff are 
healthy’. It also contributes to the delivery of a number of objectives 
regarding healthy lifestyles including physical activity and recreation, in 
accordance with Our Healthy Future (Welsh Government 2009), Fairer 
Health Outcomes for All (Welsh Government 2011) and Creating an Active 
Wales (Welsh Government 2010). 
 
4.157 162  The Policy reflects evidence provided by ‘The Marmot Review: 
implications for spatial planning’ and Barton and Tsourou (2000) ‘Healthy 
Urban Planning’ and supports the theme of healthy urban environment 
and design taken forward by the World Health Organisation and UK 
Healthy Cities Networks.  
 
4.158 163  Overall, these policies and guidance conclude that the built 
and natural environment together with lifestyle behaviours contribute to 

Page 900



117 
 
 

improving health. Key measures to improve the health of the population 
include supporting:  
• Active travel such a walking and cycling; 
• Access to well-maintained open spaces for physical activity and food 

growing; and 
• Access to health care facilities. 
 
4.159 165 Such measures will assist in: 

• Achieving and maintaining a healthy weight; 
• Protecting mental health; and 
• Reducing stress levels. 

 
4.160  165  Cardiff has a wealth of open spaces and walking and cycling 
rates to work/school and for leisure are on the increase and it is 
important to protect and enhance these assets for health improvement. 
 
 
7. Respecting Cardiff’s environment and responding to climate 
change 
 
KP15: CLIMATE CHANGE 
 
To mitigate against the effects of climate change and adapt to its 
impacts, 
development proposals should take into account the following 
factors: 
i. Reducing carbon emissions; 
ii. Protecting and increasing carbon sinks; 
iii. Adapting to the implications of climate change at both a 
strategic and 
detailed design level; 
iv. Promoting energy efficiency and increasing the supply of 
renewable 
energy; and  
v.  Avoiding unnecessary flood risk by assessing the implications 
of development proposals within areas susceptible to flooding and 
preventing development that unacceptably increases 
risk. Avoiding areas susceptible to flood risk in the first instance 
in accordance with the sequential approach set out in national 
guidance; and 

Page 901



118 
 
 

 (vi) Preventing development that increases flood risk. 
 
4.161 166 A core function of the Plan is to ensure that all development in 
the city is sustainable, taking full account of the implications of reducing 
resource use and addressing climate change. This Policy provides a 
framework for sustainable 
growth by promoting development that mitigates the causes of climate 
change and which is able to adapt to its likely effects. This long-term 
approach is vital if Cardiff is to realise the economic, environmental and 
social objectives set out in 
the Vision.  
4.162 167 In the first instance, a reduction in carbon emissions will be 
achieved by means of controlling the energy demand associated with 
development through maximising energy efficiency. Secondly, sustainable 
sources of energy should be incorporated, without reliance on fossil fuels. 
 
4.163 168 Carbon sinks act as a means of off-setting carbon emissions by 
natural means. Trees and soils act as substantial reservoirs of carbon, 
sequestering atmospheric carbon, and contributing substantially to soils, 
which accrete carbon faster under tree cover than other forms of 
vegetation. This stored carbon will usually be  emitted as a greenhouse 
gas if trees are removed or damaged, or soils removed, covered or 
disturbed (by compaction or contamination) during the construction 
process. 
 
4.164 169 As far as practicable, trees should be retained and protected, 
and land kept as functioning vegetated soil open to the fall of organic 
matter, with new trees and shrubs provided by developers wherever 
possible. Where trees and shrubs cannot be surrounded by open soil, hard 
surfaces should not be used unless there is an overriding need, and areas 
that are not needed for pedestrian or vehicle use should be retained for 
soft landscape. Cardiff’s open spaces, trees and soils play a crucial role in 
mitigating the effects of climate change at the local level. Open vegetated 
soils absorb rainfall and runoff. 
 
4.165 170 Adapting to the implications of climate change will require 
buildings which are able to cope with the likely increased temperature 
ranges, more frequent and  severe flooding and increased extreme 
weather events. Buildings and related infrastructure should be designed 
to be flexible not only to climatic change but also to accommodate a 

Page 902



119 
 
 

variety of uses over their lifetime rather than being suitable for one sole 
application. Landscape will be a critical issue with trees providing 
protection both by shading and active cooling. This cooling will be 
required particularly in the city centre and District Centres, and where the 
young children, older people, and people with mobility impairments 
gather. 
 
4.166 171 The Council will require high standards of energy efficiency in 
new development in accordance with national guidance and as further 
amplified in relevant Deposit LDP policies and supporting guidance. 
Implementation of this Policy, which promotes incorporation of renewable 
energy generation, will also reduce emission of aerial pollutants, thereby 
offsetting increases in aerial emissions arising from implementation of 
other policies in the Plan. This would contribute to avoiding significant 
effects upon European Sites. 
 
4.167 172 Avoiding unnecessary flood risk will be achieved by strictly 
assessing the flood risk implications of development proposals within 
areas susceptible to tidal or fluvial flooding and preventing development 
that unacceptably increases risk. In accordance with TAN15: Development 
and Flood Risk no highly vulnerable development will be permitted in 
development advice zone C2. Development will only be considered 
in other areas at high risk of flooding where it can be demonstrated that 
the site can comply with the justification and assessment requirements of 
TAN15 (2004 – Section 6, 7 and Appendix 1). Policy EN14 relating to 
Flood Risk sets out a range of criterion which will be considered when 
assessing development proposals in areas of high risk of 
flooding. Information is provided to demonstrate that a proposal satisfies 
the Flood Consequence Assessment tests set out in TAN15: Development 
and Flood Risk. 
 
 
KP16: GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE 
 
Cardiff’s distinctive natural heritage provides a network of green 
infrastructure which will be protected, enhanced, created, and 
managed to ensure the integrity and connectivity of this multi-
functional green resource is maintained. 
 

Page 903



120 
 
 

Protection and conservation of natural heritage network needs to 
be reconciled with the benefits of development.  Proposed 
development should therefore demonstrate how green 
infrastructure has been considered and integrated into the 
proposals.  If development results in overall loss of green 
infrastructure, appropriate compensation will be required. 
 
Natural heritage assets are key to Cardiff’s character, value, 
distinctiveness and sense of place. They include the City’s: 
i.Undeveloped countryside and coastline (EN1 and EN2); 
ii.Landscape, geological and heritage features which contribute to 
the City’s setting (EN3); 
iii.Strategically important river valleys of the Ely, Taff, Nant Fawr 
and Rhymney (EN4); 
iv.Biodiversity interests including designated sites and the 
connectivity of priority habitats and species (EN5, EN6 and EN7); 
v.Trees (including street trees), woodlands and hedgerows (EN8); 
vi. Strategic recreational routes, cycleways and the public rights of 
way network (T5, T6 and T8); 
vii.Parks, playing fields, green play areas and open spaces (C3, C4 
, C5 and C6); 
viii.Growing spaces including allotments, community orchards and 
larger gardens (C5); and 
ix. Holistic integrated surface water management systems (EN10). 
 
4.188 173 The policy aims to ensure that Cardiff’s green infrastructure 
assets are strategically planned and delivered through a green 
infrastructure network. Other policies in the Plan provide more detailed 
guidance on aspects of these assets, together with supporting SPG. 
 
4.189 174 The green infrastructure network is important for its own sake 
and for its contribution to the wider quality of life, including the value that 
people attach to it. It provides a range of economic, social and 
environmental benefits including reducing impacts of climate change 
(KP15), enhanced biodiversity habitat and species connectivity (EN5, EN6 
and EN7), providing greater opportunities for sports and recreation (C4), 
contributing to the communities’ health and wellbeing (C76) and providing 
visual benefits for all (KP5). 
 

Page 904



121 
 
 

4.190 175 Where development is permitted, planning conditions and/or 
obligations will be used to protect or enhance the natural heritage 
network. New developments should incorporate new and / or enhanced 
green infrastructure of an appropriate size, type and standard to ensure 
no fragmentation or loss of connectivity. 
 
4.191 176 Where the benefits of development outweigh the conservation 
interest, mitigation and/or compensation measures will be required to 
offset adverse effects and appropriate, planning obligations sought. The 
implementation of Policies designed to provide and protect public open 
space throughout Cardiff would also serve to offset any increase in 
recreational pressure on the Cardiff Beech Woods SAC, thereby helping to 
avoid likely significant effect upon that site. 
 
4.192 177  Management of Cardiff’s green infrastructure network should 
be in place prior to development, and appropriate planning obligations 
sought. SPG on this topic will be prepared to more fully outline the extent 
of Cardiff’s green infrastructure and how this policy can be implemented 
in more detail. 
 
 
Policy KP17: BUILT HERITAGE 
Cardiff’s distinctive heritage assets will be protected, managed 
and enhanced, in particular the character and setting of its 
Scheduled Ancient Monuments; Listed Buildings; Registered 
Historic Landscapes, Parks and Gardens; Conservation Areas; 
Locally Listed Buildings and other features of local interest that 
positively contribute to the distinctiveness of the city. 
 
4.193 178 This Policy affords strategic policy protection for Cardiff’s 
historic environment as required by legislation and PPW. The historic 
environment enriches people’s lives and the visual appearance of the city. 
It reflects the diversity and culture of the communities that have formed 
it over time, provides evidence of Cardiff’s past and helps define its 
present identity and character. An understanding of the historic and 
cultural significance of the city can provide a context for managing change 
and creates a backdrop for innovation in the design of new development 
to shape the future of the city. 
 

Page 905



122 
 
 

4.194 179 There are currently 28 Scheduled Ancient Monuments in 
Cardiff.  This Policy affords appropriate protection to these monuments 
and others that may be scheduled over the Plan period, as well as other 
important archaeological remains identified within the Historic 
Environment Record.  The SPG on Archaeologically Sensitive Areas 
provides further guidance on four areas of the city where significant finds 
have been recorded. 
 
4.195 180 There are currently almost 1,000 buildings in Cardiff on the 
statutory List of Buildings with Special Architectural or Historic Interest, 
designated by Cadw on behalf of the Welsh Government. Along with the 
legislation referred to above, This Policy affords appropriate protection to 
these statutory listed buildings and others that may be added to the list 
by Cadw over the Plan period. 
 
4.196 181 The Council also holds a Local List of Buildings of Merit. This 
Policy identifies the significance of these locally listed buildings (and 
others that may be added to the list by the Council over the Plan period) 
have in forming the character of the area.  Welsh Office Circular 61/96 
identifies the weight their designation may have in the assessment of 
development proposals. 
 
4.197 182 There are currently 27 conservation areas in Cardiff, as 
identified on the Constraints Map. Along with the legislation referred to 
above, This Policy affords appropriate protection to these and other areas 
that may be designated by the Council over the Plan period. The Policy 
should be read in conjunction with the adopted Conservation Area 
Appraisal prepared for each area, including the enhancement proposals 
included within them. 
 
4.198 183 Finally, there are currently 19 historic parks and gardens and 1 
historic landscape (the Wentloog Levels) included on the Cadw/ICOMOS 
‘Register of Historic Landscapes Parks, and Gardens’.  This Policy affords 
appropriate protection to these and other historic parks, gardens and 
landscapes that may be added to the register by Cadw/ICOMOS over the 
Plan period. 
 
4.199 184 In seeking to respond to the presence of heritage assets, 
developers are encouraged to follow a sequence of investigation and 
assessment to identify the cultural and historic significance of a place 

Page 906



123 
 
 

before developing proposals for change or alteration. In this way 
appropriate approaches can be developed to preserve and enhance the 
historic environment through proposals that respond to and complement 
their context. The process is commended within Circular 61/96 and advice 
within BS Standard 7913, 2013. 
 
KP18: NATURAL RESOURCES 
 
In the interests of the long-term sustainable development of 
Cardiff, development proposals must take full account of the need 
to minimise impacts on the city’s natural resources and minimise 
pollution, in particular the following elements: 
i. Protecting the best and most versatile agricultural land; 
ii. Protecting the quality and quantity of water resources, 
including 
underground surface and coastal waters; 
iii. Minimising air pollution from industrial, domestic and road 
transportation 
sources and managing air quality; and 
(iv) “Remediating land contamination through the redevelopment 
of contaminated sites.”  
 
4.180 5 The best and most versatile agricultural land (grades 1, 2 and 3a 
of the Agricultural Land Classification) is a finite resource. Once lost to 
development it is rarely practicable to return such land to best quality 
agricultural production. 
 
4.181 6 There is no up-to-date definitive map of agricultural land quality 
for Cardiff as a whole but the best and most versatile agricultural land is 
known to exist in parts of the West, North and East of Cardiff. In meeting 
the needs to provide new homes and jobs in this Plan, some high quality 
land will be lost but taking account of all relevant factors, this loss is 
considered justified. Moreover, by putting in place a planned and 
managed approach to meeting future economic and social needs, this 
adds strength to the protection of good quality land outside these areas. 
 
4.182 7 Cardiff’s rivers, lakes, ponds and water bodies are important for a 
wide range of uses and users. Development has the potential to affect 
water quality and quantity.  It is important that development is only 
allowed where there would be no unacceptable harm to the quality or 

Page 907



124 
 
 

quantity of water resources and where provision can be made for any 
infrastructure required to safeguard water quality and quantity. New 
developments should have an adequate water supply and sewerage 
system to serve the development. This policy, which is aimed in part at 
improving water resource use efficiency, will ensure adequate water 
supply without adverse impacts on the River Usk and River Wye SACs, 
thereby helping to avoid the likelihood that this LDP will have a significant 
effect upon European designated sites. 
 
4.183 8 Poor air quality can affect people’s health, quality of life and 
amenity and can impact on nature conservation and built heritage 
interests. Development has the potential to cause air pollution, or 
sensitive developments can be affected by existing air quality problems in 
an area. In Cardiff, transport emissions are one of the main contributors 
to poor air quality. Development will not be permitted if it would cause or 
result in unacceptable harm due to air pollution. Implementation of this 
Policy, which is aimed in part at improving water resource use efficiency, 
will counteract increases in water demand arising from implementation of 
other policies in the Plan, thereby avoiding significant effect upon River 
Usk and River Wye SACs. Implementation of this Policy will also help to 
counteract any increase in atmospheric pollution as a result of the Plan, 
thereby helping to avoid the likelihood that this LDP will have a significant 
effect upon internationally designated sites. 
 
4.184 9 “The redevelopment of sites with contaminated 
land contamination allows such land to be brought back into beneficial 
use, prevents dereliction and reduces the need to develop greenfield sites 
land.”Developers will be required to demonstrate that any actual or 
potential contamination can be overcome, thereby ensuring that the land 
is suitable for the development proposed. 
  

Page 908



125 
 
 

1. HOUSING 
 
H1: NON-STRATEGIC HOUSING SITES 
 
The following non-strategic sites are allocated for housing: 
 
Table 3: SUMMARY OF NON-STRATEGIC HOUSING SITES 
Site 
Ref. 

Site Name Estimated 
Units 

Site Size 
(Ha) 

H1.1 Land at Areas 9-12, St 
Mellons 

150 3.98 

H1.2 Land rear of Clive 
Street 

80 2.87 

H1.3 Rookwood Hospital 80 90 2.90 3.40 
H1.4 Former Lansdowne 

Hospital 
75 1.51 

H1.5 Land at Dan-y-Garth, 
Pentyrch 

53 47 2.49 

H1.6 Land at former St 
John’s College 

50 64 2.50 

H1.7 Ely Bridge Farm, 
Dyfrig Road. Ely  

35 41 0.72 

H1.8 Electrocoin 
Automatics Ltd, 
Caerphilly Road 

20 0.61 

H1.9 Land at Mill Road, 
Tongwynlais 

5 0.40 

 
5.1 To help satisfy the new dwelling requirement it is necessary to 
allocate non-strategic housing sites, as well as taking into account 
numbers of dwelling units estimated that will come forward from the 
existing landbank, strategic sites, and allowances for windfalls and 
changes of use over the Plan period to 2026.  
 
5.2 The non-strategic housing sites listed in this Policy were put forward 
as candidate sites in the LDP process and are considered acceptable in 
principle for residential use. The proposed number of units shown for each 
site is indicative and may be subject to change depending on details of 
planning applications yet to be submitted and approved. 
 

Page 909



126 
 
 

5.3 Supporting Document No. 1 provides a fuller explanation of how 
provision has 
been made to meet the dwelling requirement. 
 
 
H2: CONVERSION TO RESIDENTIAL USE 
 
Within the Central Business Area of the city centre, District and 
Local centres, as defined on the Proposals Map, the conversion of 
suitable vacant space above commercial premises to residential 
use will be favoured where: 
i. Adequate servicing and security can be maintained to the 
existing 
commercial use(s); 
ii. Appropriate provision can be made for parking, access, 
pedestrian 
access, amenity space, and refuse disposal together with any 
appropriate 
external alterations and; 

iv. The residential use does not compromise the ground floor 
use. 

 
5.4 3 Within the areas identified the Council will encourage the conversion 
of suitable space above commercial premises to residential use. The 
conversion of empty space above shops to residential use provides a 
valuable contribution to the city’s housing stock and provides much 
needed homes. It also positively contributes to the creation of vibrant, 
mixed use communities where people live and shop. Centres remain busy 
and populated beyond business hours, increasing surveillance and 
providing a market for ancillary uses associated with the night-time 
economy. 
 
 
Policy H3: AFFORDABLE HOUSING  
 
Where there is evidence of need The Council will seek 20% 
affordable housing on Brownfield sites and 30% affordable 
housing on Greenfield sites in all residential proposals that: 
i. Contain 10 5 or more dwellings; or 
ii. Sites of or exceeding 0.13 hectares in gross site area; or 

Page 910



127 
 
 

iii. Sites of or exceeding the thresholds in (i) or (ii) above for 
adjacent sites.  
Where adjacent and related residential proposals result in 
combined numbers or site size areas exceeding the above 
thresholds, the Council will seek affordable housing based on the 
affordable housing target percentages set out above 
Affordable housing will be sought to be delivered on-site in all 
instances unless there are exceptional circumstances. 
 
5.5 4 The aim of this Policy is to assist the Council to meet evidenced 
housing need by seeking an appropriate affordable housing contribution 
from new residential developments in the city. 
 
5.6 5 The Policy will help provide a range and mix of sustainable 
affordable housing, in line with Policy KP13. 
 
5.7 6 PPW recognises that a community’s need for affordable housing is a 
material planning consideration. It also promotes mixed and inclusive 
communities. More detailed guidance in TAN2: Planning and Affordable 
Housing requires local authorities to include affordable housing policies in 
their LDPs where a Local Housing Market Assessment (LHMA) has 
provided the evidence base to support policies to deliver such housing 
through the planning system. The Cardiff LHMA update (2013) indicates 
an annual shortfall of 3,989 affordable dwellings per annum. 
 
5.8 7 The Policy applies to all proposed housing developments covered by 
the policy thresholds, including proposals on previously undeveloped land, 
redevelopment schemes, schemes providing specialised accommodation 
(except those in which residents require a significant element of care), 
conversions, changes of use, and mixed-use developments containing 
housing. It responds to the evidenced need for the planning system to 
help play its part in securing land and units for affordable housing. 
However, housing specifically designated to cater for students would not 
be required to contribute an affordable housing element. 
 
5.9 8 In accordance with Welsh Government guidance, affordable housing 
encompasses both social rented and intermediate housing where there 
are secure mechanisms in place to ensure that it is accessible to those 
who cannot afford market housing, both on first occupation and for 
subsequent occupiers. In addition, the Council has a duty to have regard 

Page 911



128 
 
 

to the needs of disabled people and chronically sick, the majority of whom 
are best housed in the community. Where there is evidence of need for 
affordable special needs housing it may, subject to Council agreement, be 
provided as all, or part of, the affordable housing requirement. 
 
5.10 9 The Council will provide evidence of need based upon the latest 
Cardiff Local Housing Market Assessment Update, supplemented by 
current Council and Registered Social Landlord waiting lists and other 
relevant information. In order to create mixed and balanced communities, 
provision for affordable housing will be sought ‘on site’ unless the Council 
considers that this is impractical or inappropriate. In such exceptional 
circumstances, affordable housing may either be provided on another site, 
(location to be agreed with the Council), or a financial contribution may 
be provided to address affordable housing requirements elsewhere in 
Cardiff, in any case, provision should address the need identified in 
relation to the proposed development. 
 
5.11 The LDp target for affordable housing for the Plan period is detailed 
in Policy KP13.  During the remaining Plan period from 2013 to 2026 the 
target amounts to 535units per annum. 
 
5.12 0 The targets set out in the Policy are derived from the findings of an 
affordable housing viability study undertaken by Peter Brett Associates. 
This study assessed the viability of a range of housing scenarios 
(including a calculation for necessary infrastructure which could be 
achieved through Sn106 and/or CIL, consistent with Policy KP6: New 
Infrastructure and LDP Background Paper: Infrastructure Plan) for 
different development types with varying levels of affordable housing. In 
order to demonstrate viability, and take account of the higher costs 
associated with the development of brownfield sites the study 
recommended a two tiered affordable housing target. The Report confirms 
that affordable housing is viable at 30% on greenfield sites and at 20% 
on brownfield sites (based on indicative tenure mixes of 40% social 
rented, 40% intermediate rented and 20% Low Cost Home Ownership). 
This is consistent with the recommendations of the Cardiff Local Housing 
Market Assessment and the Economic Viability Reports of 2013 and 2014 
in seeking an appropriate mix of tenures to address evidenced housing 
need over the Plan period. The full findings of the Viability Study, 
including the methodology and assumptions made are set out in 
supporting document 20  

Page 912



129 
 
 

5.13 11 In negotiating affordable housing, each proposal’s actual 
contribution will depend on that scheme’s capacity for provision. This will 
ensure that the affordable housing contribution in itself will not make the 
scheme unviable. The Council will work with developers to agree a 
contribution in an open and transparent manner. In cases where 
agreement cannot be reached, an independent assessment will be 
commissioned to be paid for by the applicant/developer. Notwithstanding 
this, in order to determine an appropriate level of contribution all housing 
developments of 50 or more dwellings will be expected to provide an 
independent assessment paid for by the applicant/developer. The 
assessment should include details and costs of the necessary 
infrastructure to be delivered either wholly or in part to support the 
delivery of sustainable neighbourhoods. 
 
5.14 12 Detailed guidance on the scale, tenure and nature of the 
affordable housing to be sought, along with information regarding what 
will be required as part of independent viability assessments, will be set 
out in the Affordable Housing SPG. The Policy will normally be 
implemented by the use of a planning obligation in accordance with Policy 
KP7. 
 
 
H4: CHANGE OF USE OF RESIDENTIAL LAND OR PROPERTIES 
 
Outside the Central and Bay Business Areas and District and Local 
Centres, identified on the Proposals Map, conversion or 
redevelopment of residential properties to other uses will only be 
permitted where: 
i. The premises or their location are no longer suitable for 
residential use; or 
ii. The proposal is for a community use necessary within a 
residential area. 
iv. The proposal is for a use that could contribute to the creation 
of sustainable communities. 
iii.There would be no unacceptable impact on residential amenity. 
 
5.15 13 This Policy identifies the circumstances in which proposals for the 
conversion or redevelopment of residential properties outside the Central 
and Bay Business Areas and District and Local Centres identified on the 
Proposals Map, to other use will be permitted. 

Page 913



130 
 
 

 
5.16 14 As acknowledged in PPW, offices, retail, entertainment and other 
uses that attract a significant number of visitors, whether by vehicle or on 
foot, are generally best located in centres where they are most widely 
accessible, particularly by public transport and have least harmful impact 
on residential amenity. Within Cardiff, these centres are the Central and 
Bay Business Areas, Central Shopping Area and District and Local centres 
identified on the Proposals Map. A range of Plan policies seeks to direct 
appropriate uses to these centres.  
 
5.17 15 Outside these centres, proposals for the conversion or 
redevelopment of residential properties to other use will only be permitted 
in line with Policy H6 and if no unacceptable harm will be caused to the 
amenity or health of remaining residences in line with Policy H6. 
 
5.18 16 There is a range of community uses that are appropriate and 
necessary, in principle, within residential areas. These include doctors' 
and dentists' surgeries, residential homes and child-care 
facilities. Similarly there are other uses such as local shops and other 
commercial uses, of an appropriate scale, that could contribute to the 
creation of sustainable communities. Such uses will be permitted where 
there would be no unacceptable impact on residential amenity or to an 
area’s character. Subsequent conversion from such uses to other non-
residential uses will not normally be permitted. Further guidance on the 
conversion of residential properties to childcare facilities will be set out in 
SPG. 
 
5.19 17 In order to safeguard the amenity of residential areas, there will 
be a general presumption in favour of permitting the range of commercial 
and community uses in the Central and Bay Business Areas and District 
and Local Centres identified on the Proposals Map - including by the 
conversion or redevelopment of existing residential accommodation - 
subject to relevant policies. Within the Central and Bay Business Areas, 
proposals will be assessed having regard to Policy KP10 District and Local 
Centres, proposals will be assessed having regard to Policies R5 4 & R6.5 
 
H5: SUB-DIVISION OR CONVERSION OF RESIDENTIAL 
PROPERTIES 
Proposals for any conversion to flats or Houses in Multiple 
Occupation will be permitted where: 

Page 914



131 
 
 

i. The existing property is of a size (without being extended for 
the proposed use), whereby the layout, room sizes, range of 
facilities and external amenity space of the resulting property 
would ensure an adequate standard of residential amenity for 
future occupiers. 
ii. There would be no material harm to the amenity of existing, 
nearby residents by virtue of general disturbance, noise or 
overlooking. 
iii. The cumulative impact of such conversions will not adversely 
affect the amenity and/or the character of the area. 
iv. Does not have an adverse aeffect on local parking provision 
 
5.20 18 The subdivision of a residential building into smaller residential 
units can be an important source of housing. It can take different forms 
such as: 

• Subdivision of existing houses into flats and HMOs (Houses in 
Multiple Occupancy). 

• Conversion of HMO’s to flats. 
 
5.21 19 The Council requires all flat conversions and HMOs to be of a high 
quality and to be well designed. 
 
5.22 20 The objectives of the Policy are: 

• to support the creation of attractive sustainable development for 
self contained flats and HMOs; 

• to promote good design and layout. 
 
5.23 21 The subdivision of a building into smaller residential units is a 
sustainable form of development as it gives a new lease of life to 
buildings which might be redundant or economically unviable in their 
current use. 
 
5.24 2 With sympathetic alterations to the exterior of a building, 
conversion has a lower visual impact on the street scene by preserving 
the existing frontage and respecting the character of an area. 
 
5.25 3 However, unsatisfactory conversion work can result in 
accommodation which is an over-intensification form of development 
resulting in inadequate and poor quality accommodation. Occupants may 
be exposed to problems, such as overlooking, poor outlook, overcrowding 

Page 915



132 
 
 

and lack of amenity space, noise and disturbance from neighbouring 
premises, and inconvenient and unsafe access. 
 
5.26 4 Further information will be given in SPG Design Guidance and 
Space Standards for Flat Conversions and Houses in Multiple Occupation 
HMOs. 
 
H6: CHANGE OF USE OR REDEVELOPMENT TO RESIDENTIAL USE 
 
Change of use of redundant premises or redevelopment of 
redundant previously developed land for residential use will be 
permitted where: 
i. There is no overriding need to retain the existing use of the land 
or premises and no overriding alternative local land use 
requirement; 
ii. The resulting residential accommodation and amenity will be 
satisfactory; 
iii. There will be no unacceptable impact on the operating 
conditions of existing businesses; 
iv. Necessary community and transportation facilities are 
accessible or can be readily provided or improved; and 
v. It can be demonstrated that the change of use to a more 
sensitive end use has been assessed in terms of land 
contamination risk and that there are no unacceptable risks to the 
end users. 
 
5.27 5 This Policy provides a framework for the assessment of 
applications for the change of use, conversion or redevelopment of 
redundant previously developed land and premises for residential 
purposes within settlement boundaries. It is aimed at ensuring that: 
• Where necessary, land retains its existing use; 
• Land that is no longer required for its existing or former use, if there is 

no overriding need to retain the existing use of the land or premises 
and no overriding alternative local land use requirement, contributes to 
meeting housing requirements, thereby reducing the need to develop 
previously undeveloped land - which is a fundamental component of 
the LDP Strategy; and 

• New residential accommodation and environments are well-designed, 
environmentally sound and make a significant contribution to 
promoting community regeneration and improving the quality of life. 

Page 916



133 
 
 

 
5.28 6 The Policy responds to evidenced social need for new homes in line 
with Policy KP1 and relates to Policies EC3 & H2. PPW indicates that such 
changes of use and redevelopment should be taken into account in 
housing provision. It defines ‘previously developed land’. National 
guidance and plan policies relevant generally to the countryside will apply 
outside settlement boundaries. The Policy will also apply to mixed-use 
development including housing. 
 
5.29 7 Assessment of whether land or premises are redundant or need to 
be retained in their former use (criterion ‘(i)’) will include tests identified 
in relevant policies, notably Policy EC3 Alternative use of sites and 
premises relating to the protection of employment land and premises. 
 
5.30 28 Considerations under criterion '(ii)' will include the compatibility 
of neighbouring uses, preventing insensitive or inappropriate infilling, 
privacy/amenity, size, density, aspect scale, layout and requirements for 
security and amenity space. 
 
5.31 29 Criterion '(iii)' is intended to ensure that the introduction of 
residential use into an area or building does not unduly restrict the 
operating conditions of existing businesses. 
 
5.32 0 Criterion '(iv)' may involve contributions being sought from 
developers towards the provision of necessary community and other 
facilities, in accordance with Policy KP7, delivering necessary 
infrastructure. 
 
5.33 1 Where there is a change of use or redevelopment of 
commercial/industrial units to residential, there needs to be an 
appropriate assessment for the presence of land contamination. The land 
contamination standards set for commercial/industrial use are not suitably 
protective for residential use and therefore unacceptable risks to the end 
users may be present and will require appropriate remediation, where 
residential use is proposed. 
 
 
H7: ALLOCATION POLICY FOR GYPSY AND TRAVELLER SITE 

 

Page 917



134 
 
 

Land is allocated for the provision of Gypsies and Travellers 
accommodation at Seawall Road as defined on the Proposals Map. 

 
5.34  Currently, there are two Council-managed Gypsy and Traveller 
residential sites in Cardiff: at Rover Way and Shirenewton which were 
developed in the 1970’s and 1980’s. These sites provide 80 pitches 
between them; 59 at Shirenewton and 21 at Rover Way. In addition there 
are a few privately run facilities, most notably a site next to the Council’s 
residential site at Shirenewton. Collectively these sites generate a future 
need for new pitches which the Council has a statutory duty to provide for 
with the LDP providing the tool to formally identify appropriate land to 
meet this need. 
5.35 In order to fully inform considerations, the Council has recently 
commissioned 3 independent studies carried out in consultation with the 
Gypsy and Traveller community to assess the relevant aspects of this 
matter. The first independent study, by Opinion Research Services, was to 
identify the level of need over the LDP plan period. It identifies a need to 
provide for an additional 108 pitches in the city up to 2026 together with 
an additional need for a transit site of around ten pitches, which should be 
located near the M4 to meet the needs of Gypsy and Travellers who are 
visiting the area or travelling through it. The study concludes that a 
transit site need not necessarily fall within the boundaries of the County of 
Cardiff and recommends entering a cross boundary process with 
neighbouring Councils and across South East Wales to identify a suitable 
site within the region. 

 
5.36  The second independent study carried out by Atkins examined the 
physical condition of the Rover Way site. It outlined some significant and 
challenging issues which would require resolution in future years. 
Therefore, in the event that this site could be replaced at some point in 
the future, this could add to the level of need to be provided for in the 
LDP (21 pitches).  

 
5.37 The third independent study was prepared by Peter Brett Associates 
and provides advice to the Council on potential sites required to respond 
to the needs identified in the first study. It contains an assessment of 
potential sites for the Council to consider which is further discussed in the 
following paragraphs.  
5.38  The Peter Brett study followed criteria set out in national guidance 
and looked at the availability, suitability and achievability of potential 

Page 918



135 
 
 

sites. The process resulted in a long list of 32 sites with 5 sites 
being identified identified as potentially suitable to contribute additional 
pitches. However, it is noted that the sites recommended would only 
deliver 92 pitches which falls short of the required number. The Council 
has placed the study in the public domain and received feedback on its 
contents.  Work has been undertaken to examine the study in 
considerable detail. As a result of recent analysis, there are significant 
concerns with the suitability of all 5 recommended sites having regard to 
a wide range of material factors including the role of potential sites for 
other uses. 
5.39  Consideration of the study has also included addressing all 32 sites 
on ‘the long list’ of sites assessed by the consultants. In this respect, 
further work has been undertaken with regard to the large area of unused 
land at Pengam Green bounded by Seawall Road to the west, and Rover 
Way to the south, (opposite the existing Gypsy and Traveller site at Rover 
Way). The study concluded that the land was not considered suitable due 
to flood risk but added, “However  should satisfactory flood mitigation 
measures be identified as part of a wider scheme to mitigate flood risk in 
the area it is considered the site could have the potential for Gypsy and 
Traveller use. The Council should keep this under review”. 
5.40  Dialogue with Natural Resources Wales (NRW) undertaken since the 
Peter Brett study has revealed that NRW are proposing to carry out 2 
flood defence enhancement schemes in relation to the River Rhymney and 
Roath Brook. These schemes are currently programmed for 
implementation in 2015/16 as part of the Severn Estuary Flood Risk 
Management Strategy and will reduce flood risk in part of the flood plain 
contiguous with land south of the railway line.  
5.41  Whilst the schemes do not remove flood risk from the unused land 
north of Rover Way, they provide an important stage in delivering 
significant measures to address flood risk in the wider area. If 
complemented by further measures closer to the mouth of the River 
Rhymney and existing tidal defences, a comprehensive solution may be 
feasible which significantly reduces flood risk for the whole local area 
including a large number of existing properties and premises in the 
locality. Flood defence enhancements would also be fully consistent with 
the Severn Estuary Shoreline Management Plan 2 which supports, ‘holding 
the line’ of sea defences in this area. 
 
5.42 Detailed analysis of the land east of Seawall Road and north of 
Rover Way reveals different degrees of flood risk within the site. A Phase 

Page 919



136 
 
 

2 Strategic Flood Consequences Assessment (SFCA) undertaken for the 
Council by Atkins in 2011 indicates that flood risk is within guidelines for 
development for conditions today but becomes an issue when considering 
the impact of rising sea levels in future years and guidance states regard 
must be had to, ‘lifetime of development’ rather than assessing purely 
current conditions. The western corner of the site adjacent to Seawall 
Road is unused with no extant planning consents and contains two large 
raised areas of land including access roads which removes flood risk 
according to national guidance criteria until 2110 flood extents whilst 
lower surrounding developed and unused land triggers flood risk in 2085 
flood extents. 

 
5.43  In order to fully assess the precise nature of flood risk and explore 
effective mitigation measures in relation to the lifetime of development, a 
Phase 3 Flood Consequence Assessment will need to be undertaken. 
Initial dialogue has taken place with NRW in this respect and the Council 
will commission independent consultants to work to a brief agreed with 
NRW and in accordance with national guidelines. Given the fact that flood 
risk does not become an issue until 2110 on this part of the unused land 
plus the fact that the Severn Estuary Strategy Management Plan is sea 
defence improvements before this time, an allocation on this land is not 
unreasonable at this juncture. However, the Phase 3 study will be 
progressed as a priority to allow the Council time to consider its findings 
and update details as appropriate prior to formally agreeing the LDP 
submission and focussed changes in May 2014. 

 
5.44 Having regard to other factors, there are strong reasons to support 
this allocation. This has the benefits of building upon the strong existing 
links with the existing community and facilities provided. Indeed, the site 
would benefit from far safer access to Willows High School and local 
services, overcome existing coastal erosion concerns and provide a more 
satisfactory living environment in a well-screened site not directly 
adjacent to the busy Rover Way. 
5.45  In terms of potential capacity, the area of raised land adjacent to 
Seawall Road is approximately 3.2 hectares in size. It could be developed 
for Gypsy and Travellers in a phased manner utilising existing access 
roads together with room for new internal landscaping to compliment 
strong and mature boundary planting forming the western site boundary 
which extends to the north and east providing a distinctive feature in the 

Page 920



137 
 
 

local landscape. Based on existing pitch densities, the site can deliver 
around 65 pitches.  
5.46 The site would be of a large scale in a Wales context and above 
recommended site size in national guidance. However this guidance also 
states local authorities may consider it necessary to be flexible by 
allowing more pitches on a site when taking into account local 
circumstances and the current level of need. Furthermore, the council’s 
experience operating the Shirenewton site of 59 pitches has demonstrated 
that large sites can be very effectively managed providing both benefits 
for the Gypsy and Traveller community and enabling the effective delivery 
of supporting services. The site allows for a logical phased development 
where pitches can be provided in a managed and orderly manner together 
with integrating the provision of supporting facilities. Developing a larger 
site at this location is not considered a viable or sustainable solution. It 
would go well beyond the recommended size of sites in national guidance 
and well beyond the Council’s ability to demonstrate that such a model 
could effectively operate in practice. 

 
5.47  The allocation of a new site for 65 pitches at Seawall Road 
represents a major provision in a national context and demonstrates the 
Council’s continued commitment to responding to the needs of a large 
Gypsy and Traveller community. This represents meeting more than the 
immediate needs in Cardiff (43 pitches) as identified in the ORS needs 
assessment. However, it does not satisfy the overall level of need 
identified in the ORS needs assessment. This is a reflection of the 
unprecedented level of need to be addressed in a Wales context together 
with the limited suitability of other potential sites as shown through 
consideration of the Peter Brett Study. There has been insufficient time 
since the consideration of the Peter Brett study to identify additional sites 
prior to progressing the Deposit LDP in strict accordance with the Delivery 
Agreement approved by the Welsh Government. 

 
5.48  The progression of the LDP through to examination allows this issue 
to be more thoroughly explored including an analysis of consultation 
responses on the Deposit Plan. Discussions have already been initiated 
with the Welsh Government to progress a balanced approach to 
addressing needs for the South East Wales region. Furthermore, it should 
Delete Policy H7 and reasoned justification 
 
 

Page 921



138 
 
 

H87: SITES FOR GYPSY AND TRAVELLER CARAVANS 
 
New sites and extensions to existing sites will be permitted 
where: 
i. Necessary physical, transport and social infrastructure are 
accessible 
or can be readily provided; 
(ii) “Environmental factors including flood risk, ground 
stability, contaminated land contamination and proximity of 
hazardous installations do not make the site inappropriate for 
residential development;”  
iii. The site is designed with reference to both the Welsh 
Government Good Practice Guide in Designing Gypsy Traveller 
Sites and the views of local Gypsies and Travellers; 
iv. There would be no unreasonable impact on the character and 
appearance of the surrounding areas including impact on 
residential amenity of neighbouring occupiers or the operating 
conditions of existing businesses; and 
v. In the case of a transit or touring site, it has good access to the 
primary highway network. 
 
5.51 32 This Policy provides a framework for assessing proposals for both 
new and extensions to existing sites whether for permanent or transit 
sites. 
 
5.52  33  Cardiff currently has two Gypsy and Traveller sites, at Rover 
Way and Shirenewton, providing a total of 80 permanent pitches. To date 
these two sites have accommodated natural population growth, with some 
overcrowding.. The latest Gypsy and Traveller Needs Assessment was 
undertaken in April 2013 and showed a need for 108 permanent Gypsy 
and Traveller pitches. Local authorities are required to assess the 
accommodation needs of Gypsy families (Housing (Wales) Act 20014 
S.225 & 226) .  and submit the assessment to the Welsh Government for 
approval by March 2016. PPW says that it is important for LDPs to have 
policies for the provision of sites. Welsh Government Circular 30/2007 
indicates that where there is an assessment of unmet need for Gypsy and 
Traveller accommodation, sufficient sites should be allocated in the LDP to 
meet needs. A criteria based Policy for Gypsy and Traveller sites must 
also be included in order to meet future need.  

 

Page 922



139 
 
 

5.53 34 This updated assessment will inform a wider site selection 
process which will progress over the next two years to meet the short and 
long term need for Gypsy and Traveller pitches. This process is referenced 
in the Monitoring Framework and includes the following key outputs and 
timescales. Sites that come forward through this process, together with 
any other proposals will be assessed against this policy. 
• Agree methodology and project management arrangements by end 
of 2015 
• Undertake Gypsy and Traveller Needs Assessment for both 
permanent and transit pitches in accordance with Housing (Wales) Act 
2014 by February 2016 
• Undertake a site search and assessment  and secure approval of 
findings by October 2016 
• Secure planning permission and funding (including any grant 
funding from Welsh Government) for identified sites(s) required to meet 
the short term need for 43 pitches by May 2017 
• Secure planning permission and funding (including any grant 
funding from Welsh Government) for identified(s) required to meet the 
long term need for 65 pitches by May 2021 

 
5.53  Cardiff currently has two Gypsy and Traveller sites, at Rover Way 
and Shirenewton, providing a total of 80 permanent pitches. To date 
these two sites have accommodated natural population growth, with some 
overcrowding. Policy H7 allocates land specifically for the provision of 
Gypsy and Travellers but This policy provides further scope for 
considering any additional proposals which may arise over the plan 
period. 
 
 

2. ECONOMY 
 
EC1: EXISTING EMPLOYMENT LAND 
 
The city’s existing employment areas outside of the Central and 
Bay Business Areas (as designated on the Proposals Map) will be 
protected for B Use Class employment generating uses (together 
with appropriate ancillary and/or complementary uses and 
activities as referred to in Policy EC2) as described in the table 
below. 
 

Page 923



140 
 
 

Site Name Primary 
Use/Activity 

Status 

Ocean Park B1, B2, B8 Primary 
Cardiff Port (& Heliport and 
Surrounds) 

B1, B2, B8 Primary 
(Port 
related 
activities) 

Rover Way (Celsa Steel Works, 
Tremorfa Industrial Estate, 
Seawall Rd) 

B2, B8 Primary 

Wentloog Road (Capital Business 
Park, Lamby Way Industrial 
estate, Wentloog Corporate Park, 
Rail freight terminal) 

B1, B2, B8 Primary 

St Mellons Business Park B1, B2, B8 Primary 
Cardiff Gate Business Park B1 (offices), 

ancillary B2 
Primary 

Cardiff Business Park & Land 
North of Maes y Coed Rd, 
Llanishen 

B1, B2, B8 Primary 

Forest Farm, Longwood Drive B1, B2, B8 Primary 
Green Meadow Springs B1 (offices) Primary 
Penarth Road Area (includes 
Hadfield Rd, Sloper Rd, Bessemer 
Rd) 

B1, B2, B8 Primary 

Ty Nant Road B1, B2, B8 Local 
Crown Way (Companies House) B1 (offices) Local 
Wentloog Road (North of railway 
line) 

B1, B2, B8 Local 

Pentwyn (Panasonic Plant, 
Avenue Industrial estate) 

B1, B2, B8 Local 

Eastern Business Park B1 (offices) Local 
Willowbrook Business Technology 
Park 

B1 (science, 
research and 
development) 

Local 

Excelsior Rd B1, B2, B8 & 
complementary 
trade counter 

Local 

Norbury Road Industrial Estate B1, B2, B8 Local 
Wroughton Place, Ely B1, B2, B8 Local 

Page 924



141 
 
 

Argyle Way, Caerau B1, B2, B8 Local 
Garth Industrial Estate B1, B2, B8 Local 
Land around Volvo Garage B1, B2, B8 Local 
Alexandra Gate Business Park B1 Local 

 
 
 
5.54  35 This Policy responds to the economic vision and objectives of the 
Plan to ensure a range and choice of employment land and premises are 
available across the city to assist economic competitiveness, encourage 
entrepreneurship, promote the growth of indigenous businesses of all 
types and size and attract inward investment. 
 
5.55 36 A key role for the LDP is to ensure the provision of a portfolio of 
an appropriate range, quantity and quality of employment land and 
premises to meet the current and future needs of the city and the city’s 
workforce. One of the main strategies to achieve this aim is the protection 
of existing employment sites across the city. 
 
5.56 37 One of the key recommendations of the GVA Grimley Report 
‘Cardiff Employment Land and Commercial Review’ (2009) and Hardisty 
Jones Associates/Origin 3 Study ‘Cardiff Employment Land and Property 
Study’ (April 2012) was to introduce policies to protect nearly all of the 
remaining employment locations (or allocations that were made in the 
Local Plan) either because of the important economic role they currently 
play in the overall employment land portfolio for the city or because of 
the distribution of this land across the city. 
 
5.57 38 A critical factor in Cardiff maintaining a supply of employment 
land will be the ability to protect land and premises for employment from 
being lost to alternative uses. There has been growing pressure over 
recent years for the development/redevelopment of employment land and 
premises for other uses (predominantly residential), whether still 
occupied or where current operations have ceased. Such development 
proposals can result in significant losses to the county’s stock of 
employment land and premises. 
 
5.58 39 The loss of employment land can be incremental with the loss of 
one site setting the precedent for the loss of a series of others in a similar 
location, leading to a gradual erosion of an employment site. Sometimes 

Page 925



142 
 
 

alternative uses can also fragment a larger business area or sever links 
between employment uses in an area. Over time pressure for alternative 
uses result in a material aggregate loss of employment sites to the 
detriment of the local economy. 
 
5.59 40 The employment sites identified in Policy EC1 display strong 
potential to continue playing an important economic role, whether this is 
to provide local employment on smaller sites within key neighbourhoods 
or whether the sites are more strategic in size, position and function. 
 
5.60 41 Due to the time that has elapsed since the completion of the GVA 
Study, the employment sites identified for protection have been reviewed. 
Some sites have experienced further pressure for alternative uses with 
additional losses of employment land and their B use class employment 
function has been all but eroded. These sites, for example North and 
South of Newport Road and Colchester Avenue are therefore no longer 
identified for protection for employment purposes. Similarly Cathedral 
Road and offices adjacent to the River Taff which are characterised by low 
grade offices with a high level of vacancy are no longer identified for 
protection and a change of use to housing for example will be given 
consideration. 
 
5.61 42 The protection of employment sites also allows for the 
modernisation and refurbishment of land and property and increasing 
density of development on site thereby making the most efficient use of 
land. 
 
 
EC2: PROVISION OF COMPLEMENTARY FACILITIES FOR 
EMPLOYEES IN BUSINESS, INDUSTRIAL AND WAREHOUSING 
DEVELOPMENTS 
 
Provision for open space, public realm, leisure, food and drink, 
and child-care facilities will be appropriate in office, industrial and 
warehousing developments, provided, the facility is of an 
appropriate scale and nature intended primarily to meet the needs 
of workers in the vicinity, therefore not attracting significant 
levels of visitor traffic into the area, or exacerbating existing 
traffic conditions. 
 

Page 926



143 
 
 

5.62 43 This Policy seeks to enable the provision of appropriate 
complementary leisure, food and drink, and childcare facilities in existing 
and new office, industrial and warehousing areas and helps to deliver Plan 
objectives. Employees in such areas may require good access to a range 
of facilities, including food and drink, leisure/recreation and child-care. 
The absence of such facilities in an employment area can increase travel 
demand and make the areas less attractive to employers and employees. 
 
5.63 44In existing employment areas, change of use of existing premises 
will be considered for appropriate complementary facilities, including food 
and drink, leisure and child-care. 
 
5.64 45Where new employment areas are proposed, the need for such 
facilities should be considered as part of the overall development scheme.  
 
5.65 46 In all cases, only facilities of an appropriate nature and scale to 
meet the needs of employees will be permitted. Appropriate leisure 
facilities may include fitness centres/clubs and indoor sports facilities. 
Provision for accessible open space or public realm improvements may 
also be appropriate. 
 
 
EC3: ALTERNATIVE USE OF EMPLOYMENT LAND AND PREMISES 
 
Development of business, industrial and warehousing land and 
premises for other uses will only be permitted if: 
 
i. The land or premises are no longer well located for business, 
industrial and warehousing use; or 
ii. There is no realistic prospect of employment use on the site 
and/or the property is physically unsuitable for employment use, 
even after adaption/refurbishment or redevelopment; or 
iii. There is no need to retain the land or premises for business, 
industrial or warehousing use, having regard to the demand for 
such land and premises and the requirement to provide for a 
range and choice of sites available for such use; and 
iv. There will be no unacceptable impact on the operating 
conditions of existing businesses. 
 

Page 927



144 
 
 

5.66 47 This Policy provides criteria against which proposals for the 
change of use of business and industrial land and premises will be 
assessed. It will apply to existing, permitted and allocated business, 
industrial and warehousing land and premises and address: 

• The need to retain a range and choice of well located sites and 
premises attractive to business, industry and warehousing; 

• Making the best use of redundant land and premises for alternative 
employment purposes; and 

• Where land and premises need to be retained because they are of 
local importance for employment opportunities. 

 
5.67 48 Criteria for assessing whether land and premises remain well 
located for business, industrial and warehousing uses will include: 

• Accessibility to the primary highway network, rail-freight facilities 
and the port; 

• Accessibility by public transport; and 
• Proximity to housing or other sensitive uses. 

 
5.68 Provision might be made for conversion to alternative uses but only 
if there were compelling and exceptional circumstances, for example: 

 
• Robust evidence that there is no realistic prospect of employment 
use on the site; and/or 
• The property is physically unsuitable for employment use, even 
after adaption/refurbishment or redevelopment. 
5.69 49 The ‘robust evidence’ for assessing the need to retain land and 
premises for business, industrial and warehousing use include the 
following criteria: 
• Whether and for how long land or premises have been vacant and 
actively marketed and the expressions of interest during this period; 
• Whether the site offers particular benefits not generally available 
within the overall land bank; 
• Whether the site is within an area of high unemployment and offers 
realistic prospects of use for appropriate employment purposes; 
• Whether the relocation of existing occupiers to other suitable 
accommodation will be facilitated; 
• Whether the proposed development would retain an element of 
industrial, office or warehousing floorspace; and 
• Whether the proposed use need to be accommodated on business, 
industrial or warehousing land (e.g. transport depots).  

Page 928



145 
 
 

• Other priorities, such as housing need, override more narrowly 
focussed economic considerations. 
5.70 50 Where alternative use of land is considered appropriate, priority 
will be given to mixed-use development comprising employment, housing 
and community facilities or, where that is not feasible, housing. Other 
proposals will need to demonstrate why a mixed-use of housing and 
employment schemes cannot be achieved on  
the site. 
 
5.71 51 It is also important to ensure that the introduction of residential 
or other uses into an industrial or warehousing area does not unduly 
restrict the operating conditions of remaining businesses. 
 
5.72 52 Where employment land and premises are under development 
pressure from non-employment uses and it is considered that there still 
exists an opportunity to make a contribution towards longer term 
economic development and job retention and growth within an area, 
developers will be requested to make provision for an appropriate 
contribution towards bringing forwards compensatory employment 
opportunities elsewhere in the County in line with Policy KP7 Planning 
Obligations. 
 
5.73 53 Where there is the potential to develop residential units on areas 
previously identified for commercial/ industrial use, there needs to be an 
appropriate assessment for the presence of land contamination. The land 
contamination standards set for commercial/industrial use are not suitably 
protective for residential use and therefore unacceptable risks to the end 
users may be present which will require appropriate remediation. 
 
5.74 54 Further guidance on the application of this Policy will be set out in 
the Protection of Employment Land and Premises for Business, Industry 
and Warehousing SPG. 
 
 
EC4: PROTECTING OFFICES IN THE CENTRAL AND BAY BUSINESS 
AREAS 
 
The alternative use of offices within the Central and Bay Business 
Areas will only be permitted where it can be demonstrated that 
there is no need to retain the site or premises for office use 

Page 929



146 
 
 

having regard to the demand for offices and the requirement to 
provide a range and choice of sites available for such use. 
 
5.75 55 This Policy aims to ensure that office sites within the Central and 
Bay Business Areas identified on the Proposals Map, whether occupied, 
vacant, or with permission are protected from inappropriate changes of 
use. Any proposal involving the loss of offices will need to demonstrate 
that there is a sufficient range and choice of commercial office floorspace 
to meet the city’s office requirement up to 2026. 
 
5.76 56 When considering proposals for the alternative use of office 
accommodation, the following issues will be considered: 

• Whether, and for how long the premises have been vacant and 
actively marketed for office use; 

• Whether the development of the site for appropriate uses will 
facilitate the relocation of existing office occupier/s to other suitable 
accommodation within the Central or Bay Business Area; 

• Whether the proposed development would retain a significant 
element of office floorspace; 

• Whether the proposed use is complementary to an employment 
use; and 

• Whether the proposed development can demonstrate wider 
economic, social and regeneration benefits. 

 
5.77 57 The Central and Bay Business Areas contain a wide range of 
office premises, including modern Grade A accommodation (e.g. 
Callaghan Square and Assembly Square); high-rise accommodation built 
in the 1960s and 1970s (e.g. Newport Road); office accommodation 
above commercial premises (e.g. St. Mary Street and Greyfriars Road); 
and converted historic villas in the north of the city centre (e.g. Park Place 
and Windsor Place). Over time, and as the needs of businesses change, 
premises can fail to meet modern occupier requirements. This has been 
evidenced recently with changes of use from offices to residential and 
hotel uses, resulting in a significant reduction in office vacancy levels 
within the city centre.  
 
5.78 58 To ensure that Cardiff continues to attract and retain quality 
businesses, the City Centre must contain sufficient land for new office 
accommodation, as well as providing a range and choice of office 
premises for existing and future occupiers, including large Grade A 

Page 930



147 
 
 

offices, small and medium sized enterprises, incubator units and live-work 
premises. The Cardiff Central Enterprise Zone along with other planned 
employment areas provides a range and choice of new business 
locations. Further information regarding the potential contribution of the 
Cardiff Central Enterprise Zone to the supply of new business premises for 
the city, as well as opportunities for other commercial and residential 
development, is contained in Supporting Document No. 4. 
 
5.79 59 It is acknowledged that some office vacancy is necessary to allow 
for the turnover of businesses and the renovation of premises to meet 
modern business needs. However, long-term vacancy can have a 
damaging impact upon the vitality and viability of commercial centres. 
Office premises that, despite active marketing, have remained unoccupied 
for over two years will be considered more favourably 
for changes of use to other, appropriate uses. 
 
5.80 60 Mixed-use redevelopment proposals that retain a significant 
element of commercial office floorspace, or those that do not result in any 
net loss in the level or quality of office accommodation within the City 
Centre, are likely to be more favourably considered. 
 
5.81 61 Where proposals involve the loss of office accommodation, they 
will only be permitted where they do not harm, and are complementary 
to, the primary office role and function of the area and accord with other 
Plan policies. Such uses could include childcare facilities, training, tertiary 
education, residential development, commercial leisure and hotels. 
 
 
EC5: HOTEL DEVELOPMENT 
 
Proposals for hotel development will be permitted: 
i. Within the Central and Bay Business Areas of the city centre; 
ii. In appropriate locations for the conversion of suitable 
residential or 
commercial properties; 
iii. At other locations within the urban area, if there is no need to 
preserve the site for its existing or allocated use, assessed against 
the relevant policies of the plan; 
Subject to considerations of scale, location, design, amenity and 
transportation being acceptable. 

Page 931



148 
 
 

 
5.82 62 This Policy favours hotel development at appropriate locations 
within the Central and Bay Business Areas. 
 
5.83 63 The conversion of existing properties to hotels or guest houses 
contributes to the range of accommodation available for tourists and 
other visitors to the city. In assessing such proposals, ‘appropriate 
locations’ are likely to be on main roads into the city and close to tourist 
or business areas, and ‘suitable properties’ are likely to be larger houses 
and vacant low grade offices, able to accommodate parking requirements. 
In terms of both the proposed property and its location, importance will 
be attached to the need to safeguard amenity of residential areas. 
Proposals for the change of use of converted hotels in residential areas to 
uses other than residential or uses acceptable within a residential area 
will be resisted. 
 
EC6: NON-STRATEGIC EMPLOYMENT SITE 
 
Land is allocated for university related research and development 
uses at Maindy Road, Cathays (3.3ha) 
 
5.84 64 This non-strategic site is considered acceptable for university 
related research and development uses given its close proximity to the 
existing Cardiff University campus. Dialogue with the University has 
indicated the merits of university related research and development uses 
for this site, which can assist in the long term development of Cardiff 
University and other academic institutions within the city together with 
wider economic benefits for the region. 
 
5.85 65 The allocation of the site for university research and development 
uses supports the LDP vision and the economic objectives which seek to 
promote clusters of research & development expertise. It also supports 
policies KP1 and KP9 which promote the provision of range and choice of 
new employment sites for different types of employment. The site is 
directly adjacent to the existing Cardiff University and in an accessible 
location which reduces the need to travel, a key component of developing 
sustainable communities. The precise nature of research and development 
uses will be subject to further detailed work. 
 

Page 932



149 
 
 

EC7 EMPLOYMENT PROPOSALS ON LAND NOT IDENTIFIED FOR 
EMPLOYMENT USE 
 
Proposals for employment use (B Use Class) on unallocated sites 
will be permitted provided that:- 
i. The proposal cannot reasonably be accommodated on existing 

employment land and in the case of offices in the Central 
Enterprise Zone (Policy KP2) and the Central and Bay Business 
Areas (Policy EC4); 

ii. The site falls within the settlement boundary and has no 
specific policy designation; 

iii. The use is compatible with uses in the surrounding area and; 
iv. The proposal is well related to the primary highway network 

and accessible to sustainable modes of transport 
 
5.66 Policy EC7 provides guidance on how the Council will determine 
applications for employment development on sites not identified for 
employment and ensure a sequential approach to site selection is 
followed, thereby steering employment allocations to the most 
appropriate locations consistent with national policy (PPW para. 10.2.9 
and 10.2.11). This policy is intended to support the economy by allowing 
for future economic growth which sustains and provides job opportunities 
within Cardiff which is considered essential in responding to economic 
uncertainty and fulfils the LDP economic evidenced needs.  
5.67 The LPA is not able to fully predict all potential business and 
operator requirements over the Plan period. Therefore it is important for 
the policy framework to allow an element of flexibility to enable 
businesses to locate within the County.   
 
  

Page 933



150 
 
 

3. ENVIRONMENT 
Countryside Protection 
 
Policy EN1:  COUNTRYSIDE PROTECTION 
 
There will be a presumption against development in the 
countryside, beyond the settlement boundaries identified on the 
Proposals Map, except where it can be justified for agricultural 
and forestry needs or it is essential for facilitating sustainable 
access to and enjoyment of the countryside including appropriate 
outdoor recreation and tourism uses. 

 
Appropriate development in the countryside should be in with, 
and not cause unacceptable harm to, the character and quality of 
the surrounding countryside and landscape demonstrating: 
 
 The need for the development to be located in the countryside; 
ii. That alternative locations have been considered, where 
appropriate; 
iii. That the need cannot be accommodated through the 
conversion, 
extension or demolition and replacement of an existing building; 
iv. That farm diversification schemes are ancillary to, and do not 
prejudice, the operation of the existing business; 
v. That the proposed development respects the character of the 
surrounding area and is of appropriate scale, and design including 
both soft and hard landscaping and access; 
vi. That any new buildings are grouped and designed in harmony 
with existing buildings wherever possible and; 
vii. Appropriate measures are in place to protect, maintain, 
manage or 
improve the features of the surrounding countryside and 
landscape. 
 
Development in the countryside, beyond the settlement 
boundaries identified on the Proposals Map, will only be permitted 
where the use is appropriate in the countryside, respects the 
landscape character and quality and biodiversity of the site and 
surrounding area and where it is appropriate in scale and design.  
A landscape assessment and landscaping scheme will be required 

Page 934



151 
 
 

for significant development proposals.  Proposals for new 
housing, rural diversification and rural enterprise, will only be 
permitted where they comply with National Planning Policy. 
 
5.86 68 The countryside in Cardiff is land located outside the settlement 
boundaries as identified on the LDP Proposals Map. Cardiff’s countryside is 
a valuable and finite resource which is under pressure from all kinds of 
development. The aim of this Policy is to ensure that development within 
the countryside is strictly controlled to protect and enhance Cardiff’s 
natural heritage and setting. It further seeks to manage and enhance this 
rich asset in order to maintain Cardiff’s unique distinctiveness whilst 
helping to mitigate against climate change and also aims to ensure that 
those uses that do not need to be located in the countryside will be 
resisted. 
 
5.87  69 It should be read in conjunction with Policy KP3A and KP3B and 
aims to ensure that those uses that do not need to be located in the 
countryside will be resisted. Whilst KP3A provides strict controls in the 
Green Belt Wedge area for the reasons given, this policy provides further 
guidance on uses appropriate in the countryside as a whole. 
 
5.88 70 Although farming and forestry comprise a relatively small part of 
Cardiff’s economy, the economic viability of the countryside around 
Cardiff remains crucial, with agriculture and forestry playing an important 
role in both the management and conservation of the countryside.  As 
such, the Council will adopt a positive approach to supporting the rural 
economy.  Development proposals relating to agriculture and forestry, 
including farm rural diversification and enterprise will be assessed 
against the above criteria, (PPW 2014)(2012, Para 7.3.3) and TAN 6: 
Planning for Sustainable Rural Communities.  Farm diversification 
schemes should remain linked to the existing farm business and maybe 
subject to planning obligations in accordance with TAN 6: Planning for 
Sustainable Rural Communities (2010 Para 3.7) and Policy KP7. 
 
5.89 71 Close proximity to a large urban population brings many 
pressures to Cardiff’s countryside, including outdoor recreation.  Whilst its 
importance for local recreational purposes and tourism is accepted, it is 
essential to ensure that both these uses, and any built development 
associated with them, do not cause unacceptable harm to the character 
and quality of the countryside.  Small scale, low impact development 

Page 935



152 
 
 

associated with activities which need to be located in the countryside, or 
encourage access to and enjoyment of the countryside, may be 
acceptable subject to the tests set out above in national guidance.. 
5.90 72 Planning permission is normally required for the use of land for 
keeping horses and for equestrian activities, unless they are kept as 
“livestock” or the land is used for “grazing.  The keeping of horses in 
Cardiff is very widespread, so that land used for grazing, recreation and 
associated development such as stabling, ménages, fencing, lighting, and 
car parking is already having a considerable impact on the character of 
Cardiff’s countryside.  Whilst it is accepted that these horse related uses 
can only be accommodated in the countryside, not all locations within the 
countryside are necessarily appropriate.  The overall impact of such 
proposals will be assessed against the criteria above set out in national 
guidance. 
 
5.91 73 Additionally there has been an increase in the number of 
applications for kennels and catteries.  Applications for the siting of 
kennels and catteries outside the curtilage of a dwelling house i.e. in a 
separate field or paddock will also be subject to the tests set out above in 
national guidance. 
 
5.92 74 There is continuing pressure on the countryside in terms of 
residential development; however the LDP has identified sufficient land to 
meet the foreseeable residential need over the Plan period.  As such, new 
residential development will not normally be permitted in the countryside 
unless it is justified for agricultural or forestry purposes or other rural 
enterprises.  In these instances, applicants should refer to PPW 
(2012), 2014 and TAN 6: Planning for Sustainable Rural Communities 
(4.3 – 4.4). 
 
5.93 75 Any new development in the countryside should be designed and 
located to minimise their impact, usually within existing clusters of 
buildings or farm complexes and/or close to existing infrastructure and 
public transport.  The use of outdoor space associated with development 
including hard and soft landscaping, means of access, car parking and the 
treatment of boundaries can all have a significant detrimental effect on 
the character and quality of the countryside and will therefore be strictly 
controlled.  In these instances a Design and Access Statement will be 
required. 
 

Page 936



153 
 
 

5.94 76 Supplementary information may need to accompany planning 
applications, explaining how the proposal has considered and responded 
to criteria outlined in the Policy. Where relevant, information should also 
be submitted to show how the proposals respond to National Guidance, 
including TAN 6 Planning for Sustainable Rural Communities. Where 
appropriate, this information should also explain the reasons for locating 
the development in the countryside. Significant development proposals in 
the countryside will be expected to include a landscape assessment and 
landscaping scheme in accordance with Policy EN3. 
 
 
 
EN2: CONVERSION, EXTENSION AND REPLACEMENT BUILDINGS 
IN THE COUNTRYSIDE 

 
There will be a presumption against conversion, extension and 
replacement of buildings in Cardiff’s countryside except where: 

 
a. The proposed conversion is demonstrated to: 

i. be structurally sound and capable of being made so without 
major alterations, reconstructing or extensions; 
ii. be possible without materially changing the existing 
character of the building or have a harmful effect on the 
countryside; 
iii. Not give rise to a demand for additional buildings; and 
iv. Be suitable for the proposed re-use. 
 
With particular regard to the proposed conversion to residential 
use in addition to the above, control similar to that of new 
house building in the open countryside will be applied where:  
 
v. the building is unsuitable for conversion without extensive 
alteration, rebuilding or extension or if 
vi. the creation of a residential curtilage would have a harmful 
effect on the countryside. 

b. The proposed extension is demonstrated to: 
i. be the subordinate part of the existing building; and 
ii. Respect the scale, character and design of the original part of 
the building within its countryside and landscape setting. 
c. The proposed replacement building is demonstrated to: 

Page 937



154 
 
 

i. Not result in any greater impact on the quality and character of 
the surrounding area in terms of its proposed scale and design, 
including any residential curtilage; 
ii. Be on the footprint of the existing building unless relocation can 
be justified in terms of either being part of an existing group or 
improving the countryside or landscape setting; and 
iii. Not replace any building of architectural, historic or visual 
merit. All proposals should be of an appropriate scale and design 
and be at least as sympathetic in its setting as the existing 
building. 
 
5.95 77 The aim of this Policy is to ensure that conversions, extensions 
and replacement of buildings in the countryside conserve the character 
and quality of Cardiff’s countryside and natural heritage value, without 
being unduly restrictive. 
 
5.96 78 The Policy contributes towards Plan objectives and PPW (2012, 
Para 7.6.8) which supports the re-use and adaption of existing rural 
buildings to help meet the needs of commercial and industrial 
development, as well as for tourism sport and recreation. It further 
accords with PPW (2012, Para 7.6.9 and 7.6.10) which supports the 
inclusion of polices within the development plan which do not allow 
residential re-use which would have a harmful effect on the character of 
the countryside. Reference should also be made to KP3A with regard to 
the consideration of proposals in the Green Belt Wedge area. 
 
5.97 79 The scale and design of some individual buildings is already 
having a detrimental effect on the character and quality of Cardiff’s 
countryside. Although small-scale extensions, conversions and 
replacement buildings may be acceptable, all development in the 
countryside will be strictly controlled to prevent unacceptable harm. 
Where permissions are granted, permitted development rights may also 
be removed. 
 
5.98 80 With regard to conversions, it is recognised that many buildings 
have and continue to fall into disrepair meaning that they become unfit 
for the original purpose they were intended for. Whilst the re-use and 
adaptation of such buildings may prevent existing building stock from 
going to waste, a balance is required to protect the character and quality 
of the countryside. However, proposals for the conversion of rural 

Page 938



155 
 
 

buildings will only be permitted where they conform to the criteria set out 
above and the other relevant policies of the Plan. In addition to this, any 
access, hard-standing, boundary treatment, landscaping or other external 
features associated with the proposals should not result in the loss of 
fields or have a detrimental impact on the character of the surrounding 
area. 
 
5.99 81 In the case of proposed residential conversions, the applicant 
should demonstrate that they have made every effort to secure suitable 
business re-use and that the application is supported by a statement of 
the efforts they have made. The creation of new gardens and garden 
extensions will not normally be considered appropriate due to their 
individual and cumulative detrimental impact on the quality and character 
of the countryside and landscape.  
 
5.100 82 Extensions to existing buildings will also be strictly controlled to 
limit their individual and cumulative impact. Proposals for extensions 
should ensure that the existing building remains the dominant form. In 
the case of buildings that have had previous extensions, the proposals 
should have regard to the scale and character of the original part of the 
building. The tendency to seek successive extensions to individual 
buildings will be resisted. 
 
5.101 83 The demolition and replacement of buildings will generally only 
be permitted on the footprint of an existing building or relocated 
elsewhere on the site where their scale and design, including residential 
curtilage, does not result in any greater impact on the quality and 
character of the area. The replacement of non-residential buildings with 
dwellings will be resisted. In general, the re-use or adaptation of existing 
buildings will normally be favoured in preference to new development. 
 
 
EN3: LANDSCAPE PROTECTION 
 
Development will not be permitted that would cause unacceptable 
harm to the character and quality of the landscape and setting of 
the city, with  
Particular priority will be given to protecting, managing and 
enhancing the character and quality of the following Special 
Landscape Areas: 

Page 939



156 
 
 

i. St Fagans Lowlands and the Ely Valley; 
ii. Garth Hill and Pentyrch Ridges; 
iii. Fforest Fawr and Caerphilly Ridge; 
iv. Wentloog Levels; and 
v. Flat Holm. 
A landscape assessment and landscaping scheme will be required 
for significant development proposals. 
5.102 84 The aim of this Policy is to ensure that those features of the 
landscape that contribute to its character, value, distinctiveness, sense of 
place, and quality, with particular priority given to SLAs (as identified on 
the Proposals Map) are protected from inappropriate development. It 
seeks to manage and enhance this rich asset in order to maintain Cardiff’s 
unique distinctiveness whilst helping to mitigate against climate change. 
 
5.103 85 This Policy applies to the whole county, acknowledging that the 
urban area also contains features of landscape importance. When dealing 
with planning applications that affect Cardiff’s landscape, unacceptable 
harm will be assessed in relation to: 

• The impact of the proposed development on key features of the 
landscape in terms of physical character, vegetation and habitats, 
land use and settlement patterns, visual character, historical 
character and cultural associations; 

• The need for the proposed development in relation to its impact; 
• The availability of alternative locations; and 
• The ability to provide appropriate mitigation measures. 
 

5.104 86 Wherever possible, development will be expected to maintain 
and strengthen positive attributes of the landscape and seek to mitigate 
or remove, rather than compound negative influences. Reference should 
also be made to KP3A with regard to the consideration of proposals in the 
Green Belt Wedge area. 
 
5.105 87 The scale, location and design of development proposals should 
respect their landscape context. Where large scale development is 
proposed, or where development may impact significantly on the 
landscape character or key features of an area, a landscape assessment 
should be submitted with the planning application and, where 
appropriate, a landscaping scheme. 
 

Page 940



157 
 
 

5.106 88 Where landscape assessments or landscaping schemes are 
required they should set out the impact of the development on key 
features, of the landscape character and qualities and should explain how 
the design solution proposed addresses both its positive and negative 
attributes and associated landscape and visual impacts effects, including 
cumulative effects where appropriate.  Assessments and schemes should 
include the landscape baseline information from all five LANDMAP* layers 
and should focus on the relevant aspect areas, their descriptions, and 
evaluations.  using the LANDMAP approach (as described below).  Design 
solutions should clearly demonstrate how the strategic landscape 
assessment and site appraisal have informed the detailed design and 
location of the development and planting proposals.  Schemes should 
generally be implemented prior to all or part of the site coming into 
beneficial use.  The management of landscape features of importance will 
also be encouraged. 
 
*Further information can be found at  
http://www.ccw.gov.uk/landscape--wildlife/protecting-our-
landscape/landmap.aspx 
 
5.107 89 TACP Consultants were appointed by the Council in September 
2007 to undertake a review of the existing proposed Special Landscape 
Areas (SLAs) and Landscape Character Areas (LCAs) previously defined as 
Combined Aspect Areas, based on the original Landscape Study of Cardiff 
undertaken by Atlantic Consultants, using the LANDMAP methodology 
developed by the Countryside Council for Wales. In addition, the St 
Fagans Lowlands and Ely Valley proposed boundary took into account the 
detailed work undertaken by Wardell Armstrong in 2006. 
 
5.108 90 The 2008 reviews used the updated LANDMAP information 
methodology system established in 2003 and as recognised in PPW. A key 
output from this exercise has been the preparation of supplementary 
advice on SLAs including evidence satisfying the selection and extent of 
candidate SLA areas with a description of key landscape characteristics 
and consideration of five discrete aspect topic layers: geological 
landscapes, landscape habitats, visual and sensory landscapes, historic 
landscapes and cultural landscapes based upon an all-Wales set of 
criteria. 
 

Page 941

http://www.ccw.gov.uk/landscape--wildlife/protecting-our-landscape/landmap.aspx
http://www.ccw.gov.uk/landscape--wildlife/protecting-our-landscape/landmap.aspx


158 
 
 

5.109 91 SLAs are designated to protect areas that are considered to be 
important to the overall landscape of the County due to their visual and 
sensory, geological, cultural, historical and habitat landscapes. They are 
intrinsic to the overall character of the area and provide a living history of 
the evolution of the area’s landscape as well as a cultural backdrop and 
visual setting. 
 
5.110 92 Development proposals within SLAs will be assessed against the 
same criteria as those set out above. However, greater weight will be 
given to landscape consideration within SLAs and to the special character 
and quality of the particular area. Development proposals will also be 
required to address any relevant key issues identified in the Review of 
Special Landscape Areas and Landscape Character Areas. In addition 
landscape assessments and schemes are more likely to be required to 
accompany applications for development in these areas.  
 
5.111 93 Although, SLA designations will not unduly restrict acceptable 
development in the countryside, there will be a presumption against 
urban expansion or other development within SLAs that would cause 
unacceptable harm to the character and quality. 
 
5.112 94 Quarries, for example, have been included within proposed 
designations because they reflect the underlying geology as well as the 
history of mining within the area and form a distinctive element of the 
areas, but settlements lying within SLAs have been excluded from the 
proposed designations. Development proposals within these settlements, 
or within close proximity to an SLA including allocations will need to have 
regard to their potential impact on the character and quality of the SLA. 
 
 
EN4: RIVER VALLEYS CORRIDORS 
 
The Natural Heritage, character and other key features of Cardiff’s 
river corridors will be protected, promoted and enhanced, 
together with facilitating sustainable access and recreation. 
 
5.113 95 The Policy provides a planning framework within which the 
Council can protect, promote and enhance the river corridors. 
 

Page 942



159 
 
 

5.11496  It will be used as a mechanism to implement the Council’s aims 
with regards to the river corridors. The Policy helps to deliver Plan 
objectives relating to social needs and natural environment together with 
according with PPW (Para 5.1, 5.4 and 5.5) which values the importance 
of the natural heritage of Wales including non-statutorily designated sites 
and seeks to conserve and enhance this heritage in ways which bring 
benefits to the local community. 
 
5.115  97 Cardiff contains the four river corridors of the Taff, Ely, 
Rhymney and Nant Fawr. They make a unique contribution to the 
character and form of the city providing continuous green corridors 
between the Severn Estuary and the countryside beyond the urban edge. 
The watercourses and adjoining open spaces possess high recreational, 
biodiversity, historic, cultural and landscape value. Additionally, they are 
located close to local communities and offer excellent opportunities for 
off-road access routes that can provide part of the wider strategic 
recreational routes and everyday network of routes. 
 
5.116 98 This Policy aims to protect and enhance the features of Cardiff’s 
river corridors, whilst also facilitating sustainable access and recreation 
opportunities. 
 
5.117 99 The extent of Cardiff’s river corridors within the urban area are 
illustrated on the Proposals Map. They include the rivers together with 
adjoining open space and other predominantly open land that together 
form the strategically important corridor of mixed open spaces that run 
through the heart of the urban area. The Policy also applies to the river 
corridors outside the urban area (as defined by the settlement 
boundaries). Such land is protected from inappropriate development 
through other Policies. However, this Policy will also apply and aims to 
ensure the strategic role played by the river corridors is continued from 
the urban area, through the surrounding countryside up to the County 
boundary. In this respect it is considered inappropriate to designate an 
arbitrary boundary to a notional river corridor running through farmland. 
Any proposals will be assessed to ensure the aims of this Policy are met 
and not prejudiced. 
 
5.118 100 This Policy provides a planning framework within which the 
Council can protect, promote and enhance the river corridors. It will be 
used as a mechanism to implement the council’s aims with regards to the 

Page 943



160 
 
 

river corridors and will be used in conjunction with the River Valleys 
Initiative that was established in 2004/ 05 in order to develop a more 
joined up approach to the planning and management of Cardiff’s river 
valleys. The River Valleys Initiative brings together a wide range of 
organisations who have roles to undertake within the river valleys. One of 
the key outcomes of this process to date is an agreement to develop 
Action Plans for each of the three main river valleys. Action Plans have 
been prepared and are implemented, monitored and reviewed in 
partnership with a wide range of organisations, overseen by a steering 
group. There are River Corridor Action Plans for the Ely Valley, Taff 
Corridor and Rhymney Valley and Nant Fawr Corridor. Projects that 
implement the objectives set out in the Action Plans, and Cardiff’s 
Countryside Strategy are undertaken by a variety of organisations, 
individually and in partnership using funding from a range of sources, 
including the partnership programme with the Natural Resources 
Wales Countryside Council for Wales, other Cardiff Council funding and 
planning obligations. 
 
5.119101  Proposals for development within the river corridors will be 
assessed against other relevant policies in the Plan. New development 
within, or adjacent to the river corridors may be required to contribute to 
projects which help to achieve the objectives set out in the River Corridor 
Action Plans. Where appropriate, planning obligations may be required in 
accordance with Policies relating to the provision of new infrastructure. 
 
5.120 102 Progress on achieving this Policy will be monitored through the 
existing River Valley Action Plans process which can in turn inform the 
wider LDP monitoring. 
 
 
EN5: LOCAL NATURE RESERVES AND NON-STATUTORY SITES OF 
NATURE CONSERVATION AND GEOLOGICAL IMPORTANCE 
 

Designated Sites 
 
Development will not be permitted that would cause unacceptable 
harm to sites of international or national nature conservation 
importance. 

 

Page 944



161 
 
 

Development proposals that would affect locally designated sites 
of nature conservation and geological importance should maintain 
or enhance the nature conservation and/or geological importance 
of the designation.  Where this is not the case and the need for 
the development outweighs the conservation importance of the 
site, it should be demonstrated that there is no satisfactory 
alternative location for the development which avoids nature 
conservation impacts, and compensation measures designed to 
ensure that there is no reduction in the overall nature 
conservation value of the area or feature. 
 

5.103 The purpose of Policy is to ensure that the Council fulfils its 
obligations in respect of protecting sites of nature conservation 
importance from harmful development. 
 
5.104 Where development is proposed which may have an effect on a 
site of international or national importance for nature conservation, 
sufficient information will be required of all applicants to enable a full 
assessment of the proposal to be carried out. The need for such 
assessments will not be limited to development located within the 
designated areas as, depending on the nature of the development and 
of the nature conservation interest, significant effects may occur even 
if the development is some distance away.  

 
5.105 Assessment of unacceptable harm will be in accordance the 
criteria set out in the legislation which establishes the sites of 
international or national importance for nature conservation, and which 
are expanded upon in Chapter 5 of Planning Policy Wales (2012) 
and Sections 5.3, 5.4 and Annex 3 of Technical Advice Note 
(Wales) 5: Nature Conservation and Planning (2009).  

 
5.106 In the case of developments required to be assessed under the 
Conservation of Habitats & Species Regulations 2010 (as amended), 
where an initial determination of likely significance has indicated that 
the proposal may be likely to have a significant effect, or the decision 
as to whether or not the development would have a significant effect 
on the designated site is inconclusive, an appropriate assessment 
under Regulation 61(1) will be required and further information may be 
required from the applicant or other parties.  

 

Page 945



162 
 
 

5.107 Where development proposals may be likely to result in 
disturbance or harm to a European or UK protected species or its 
habitat, additional information will be requested of applicants  

 
5.108 If planning permission is granted it may be the subject of 
appropriate conditions, or management agreements or planning 
obligations will be sought, to secure appropriate protection, 
monitoring, mitigation or compensation and favourable management. 

 
 

5.121 109 The network of SSSIs/SACs/SPAs and Ramsar Sites alone is 
not sufficient to maintain the biodiversity of Cardiff.  It is therefore 
important to identify other locally designated wildlife sites such as 
Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation (SINC’s) and Local Nature 
Reserves (LNR’s).  Cardiff currently has 177 SINC’s and 6 LNR’s. 

 
5.122 Cardiff’s LNR’s are shown on the Proposals Map and SINC’s are 
illustrated in the Biodiversity SPG. 
 

5.123 110 Geological and geomorphological sites of importance that do 
not merit notification as a SSSI may also be designated as a SINC or 
Regionally Important Geological Site (RIGS). Such sites define the most 
important places for geology and geomorphology outside those that are 
statutorily protected. Geological sites within Cardiff will be designated 
during the Plan period. The aim of this Policy is to protect the LNRs, 
SINCs and RIGS referred to above. 
 
5.124 111 The Policy will contribute to the protection and enhancement of 
Biodiversity interests in accordance with Policy EN6 and will work towards 
delivering the Plan’s objective of protecting and enhancing features of 
Cardiff’s natural environment and heritage. 
 
5.125 The current SPG on Biodiversity covers the protection of non-
statutory and locally designated sites. This document will be updated and 
made available as SPG to the LDP. 

 
5.126 112 Chapter 5 of PPW and TAN 5 provide guidance on planning 
policies to protect biodiversity interests. In accordance with this guidance, 
the Council will carefully assess proposals for development affecting non-
statutory and locally designated sites by evaluating whether: 

Page 946



163 
 
 

• the need for the proposed development is considered to outweigh 
the importance of the particular nature conservation interest and 
any harm likely to be caused to it; 

• the proposed development can be more satisfactorily 
accommodated elsewhere; and appropriate mitigation or 
compensation measures are proposed. 
 

5.127 113 Where development is proposed which may have an effect on a 
non-statutory or locally designated site, sufficient information will be 
required from all applicants to enable a full assessment of the proposals 
to be carried out. The need for such assessments will not be limited to 
development located within the designated areas as, depending on the 
nature of the development and the nature conservation interest, 
significant effects may occur even if the proposed development is located 
some distance from the conservation interest. The required assessments, 
including ecological surveys, will need to be undertaken at the appropriate 
time of the year, in accordance with the Council’s Biodiversity SPG. 
 
5.128 114 Where planning permission is granted, it may be the subject of 
appropriate conditions or management agreements to ensure suitable 
protection, monitoring, mitigation or compensation and favourable 
management. Where compensatory provision is required, it should be of 
the same standard and size to that lost as a result of the development. In 
such cases, details of the type and level of provision will be provided, and 
agreed by the case officer, prior to determination of the planning 
application. This may also be required for outline planning applications 
where appropriate. Where necessary, planning obligations may be sought 
in accordance with Policy KP7. 
 
5.129 Where the conservation interest cannot be protected by planning 
conditions or obligations, it may be necessary to refuse development 
proposals. 
5.130 115 SINCs will be measured in accordance with the annual review 
of SINCs and additionally reported on in the LDP Annual Monitoring 
Report. 
 
5.116   The Designated Sites identified in this Policy are defined on the 
Constraints Map and listed in Appendix 7.  (It should be noted that 
although this information is accurate at the time of adoption, potential 
changes to designated areas are possible over the plan period.  The 

Page 947



164 
 
 

Council will keep an up to date record of the boundaries of all designated 
sites which can be accessed via the Council website. 
 
 
EN6: ECOLOGICAL NETWORKS AND FEATURES OF IMPORTANCE 
FOR BIODIVERSITY 
 
Development will only be permitted if it does not cause 
unacceptable harm to: 
i. Landscape features of importance for wild flora and fauna, 
including wildlife corridors and ‘stepping stones’ which enable the 
dispersal and functioning of protected and priority species; 
ii. Networks of importance for landscape or nature conservation. 
Particular priority will be given to the protection, enlargement, 
connectivity and management of the overall nature of semi 
natural habitats. Where this is not the case and the need for the 
development outweighs the nature conservation importance of 
the site, it should be demonstrated that there is no satisfactory 
alternative location for the development and compensatory 
provision will be made of comparable ecological value to that 
lost as a result of the development. 
 
5.131 117 This Policy aims to protect Cardiff’s ecological networks and 
landscape features that are important for biodiversity. It accords with 
Policy KP16 by protecting and enhancing Cardiff’s natural heritage, 
including its biodiversity. The Policy also contributes to the aims and 
objectives of the Plan by ensuring that Cardiff’s biodiversity and 
abundance of wildlife habitats and native species are protected and 
enhanced. 
 
5.132 118 Wild species, whether legally protected or not, are often widely 
dispersed in the landscape, with significant populations being isolated 
from each other. In such cases, landscape features may provide wildlife 
corridors for some species, as well as links or ‘stepping-stones’ between 
habitats. Whilst it is crucial to maintain and enhance a network of sites to 
safeguard current levels of biodiversity, this cannot be achieved without 
also safeguarding and managing the intervening habitats and areas. 
 
5.133 119 The protection, management and enhancement of ecological 
networks are identified as being particularly important in Article 10 of the 

Page 948



165 
 
 

EU Habitats Directive. Regulation 39(3) of The Conservation of Habitats 
and Species Regulations 2010 (as amended) requires planning authorities 
to encourage the positive management of landscape features which make 
up this network and are of importance for wild flora and fauna. This is 
also reinforced in PPW and the associated Companion Guide (2006) in 
that it advises LDP's to safeguard and manage landscape features of 
major importance for nature conservation. 
 
5.134 120 For the purposes of this Policy, features of the landscape which 
are of importance for wild flora and fauna are those, by virtue of their 
linear and continuous structure (such as rivers with their banks or the 
traditional systems of marking field boundaries) or their function as 
stepping stones (such as ponds or small woods), that are essential for the 
migration, dispersal and genetic exchange of wild species. 
 
5.135 121 Where development is proposed which may cause 
unacceptable harm to such networks or features, information will be 
required of all applicants to enable a full assessment of the proposal to be 
carried out. Such assessments, including ecological surveys will need to 
be undertaken at the appropriate time of year, in accordance with the 
Council’s Biodiversity SPG. 
 
5.136 122 If there are overriding material planning considerations in 
favour of development, then the Council will seek to secure reasonable 
measures from developers to minimise or offset any impacts or loss of 
habitat features or species present on a site. Such measures will be 
agreed prior to the commencement of development and will be secured 
through appropriate planning conditions and/or planning obligations. 
Planning Obligations will be secured in accordance with Policy KP7. 
 
5.137 Where the ecological networks or landscape features of importance 
for biodiversity cannot be adequately protected by planning conditions or 
obligations, it may be necessary to refuse development proposals. 
 
 
EN7: PRIORITY HABITATS AND SPECIES 
 
Development proposals that would have a significant 
adverse aeffect on the continued viability of habitats and 
species which are legally protected or which are identified as 

Page 949



166 
 
 

priorities in the UK or Local Biodiversity Action Plan will only be 
permitted where: 
 
i. The need for development outweighs the nature conservation 
importance of the site; 
ii. The developer demonstrates that there is no satisfactory 
alternative location for the development which avoids nature 
conservation impacts; and 
iii. Effective mitigation measures are provided by the developer. 
 
Where harm is unavoidable it should be minimised by effective 
mitigation to ensure that there is no reduction in the overall 
nature conservation value of the area. Where this is not possible 
compensation measures designed to conserve, enhance, manage 
and, where appropriate, restore natural habitats and species 
should be provided. 
 
5.138 123This Policy is in accordance with the aims and objectives of the 
Plan by protecting and enhancing the features of Cardiff’s natural 
heritage, including its biodiversity and abundance of wildlife habitats and 
native species. More specifically, it will help protect the current Priority 
Habitats and Species as defined in the Local Biodiversity Action Plan 2008. 
The Policy also helps to deliver Policy KP16. 
 
5.124 The presence of a species protected under European or UK 
legislation is a material consideration in considering development 
proposals which would be likely to result in disturbance or harm to the 
species or its habitat. Appropriate surveys to confirm if a protected 
species is present and an assessment of the likely impact of the 
development on a protected species may therefore be required from 
applicants.  Thereafter the development proposals will be assessed in 
accordance with criteria set out in sections 5.5.11 and 5.5.12 of 
Planning Policy Wales 2012 and Chapter 6 of Technical Advice Note 
(Wales) 5: Nature Conservation and Planning (2009). 
 
5.139 125 Development proposals that have the potential to cause a 
significant adverse effect on priority habitats and species will need to be 
accompanied by an ecological survey and an assessment of the likely 
impact of the development on the protected species. The need for such 

Page 950



167 
 
 

assessments will be undertaken at the appropriate time of year, in 
accordance with the Council’s Biodiversity SPG. 
 
5.140 126 In considering any significant adverse effect on the Priority 
Habitat or Species, the Council will look at: 

• The current distribution and status of the priority habitat or species 
within Cardiff as informed by the Cardiff Biological Database as well 
as other sources of data that may be relevant, accurate and 
practical to use for such purposes in the future;  

• Whether the development proposals are likely to have a significant 
affect on the priority habitats/ species; and  

• Whether effective mitigation measures have been provided. 
 

5.141 127 Where planning permission is granted, the Council may attach 
conditions or enter into agreements that would overcome the potentially 
damaging effects of development on the habitats or species of 
conservation importance. The Council will encourage the applicant to 
identify and include measures that contribute to the restoration or 
expansion of important habitats, and these will be set out in the 
landscaping and planting conditions that accompany the planning 
permission.  Any planning obligations required will be in accordance with 
Policy KP7. 
 
5.142 128 Where there is a significant adverse effect on a significant 
population of the Priority Habitat or Species and where planning 
conditions and/ or planning obligations cannot adequately protect the 
interest, it may be necessary to refuse development proposals. 
 
5.143 129 Priority Habitats and Species are monitored as part of the 3 
yearly review of the UK and Local Biodiversity Action Plans. 
 
EN8: TREES, WOODLANDS AND HEDGEROWS 
 
Development will not be permitted that would cause unacceptable 
harm to 
trees, woodlands and hedgerows of significant public amenity, 
natural or 
cultural heritage value, or that contribute significantly to 
mitigating the effects 
of climate change. 
 
5.144 130 The purpose of the Policy is to protect trees, woodlands and 
hedgerows with natural heritage or amenity value. 
 

Page 951



168 
 
 

5.145 131 It responds to Plan objectives relating to the natural 
environment and climate change and accords with PPW which emphasises 
the protection and preservation of trees and woodlands against 
inappropriate development. 
 
5.146 132 Trees, woodlands and hedgerows offer multiple benefits, 
including visual amenity, defining a sense of place, providing places for 
relaxation and recreation, habitats for wildlife, improved health and 
wellbeing and mitigating the effects of climate change. To maintain these 
benefits, the protection and enhancement of a sustainable urban forest is 
critical. A sustainable urban forest adapted to meet the challenges of 
climate change and exotic pest and disease outbreaks will contain a 
diverse age range and species mix of trees, though large, long-lived trees 
will be favoured for protection and planting due to the increased benefits 
they offer in mitigating the effects of climate change. 
 
5.147 133 In order to determine unacceptable harm to trees, woodland 
and hedgerows within or bounding a site, applicants must assess them in 
accordance with the current British Standard 5837. The assessment must 
inform design, and in considering hedgerows, regard will be given to their 
landscape, historical and ecological value, as well as their function as 
boundaries. Further guidance and advice is also contained in SPG relating 
to Trees and development. 
 
5.148 134 The value of trees, woodlands and hedgerows in sequestering 
carbon and mitigating the effects of climate change will be ascertained 
partly by the British Standard 5837 assessment, and partly by how 
effectively they are integrated into a sustainable urban forest as defined 
in paragraph 5.83. 
 
5.149 135 To prevent damage to trees, woodlands and hedgerows during 
development, schemes of protection will normally be required, in 
accordance with the current British Standard 5837. 
 
5.150 136 Trees are the largest and longest living organisms in Cardiff. 
When considering developments that may affect them, regard will be 
given to potential short and long-term impacts. Where trees are lost, new 
planting will be sought that is provided with sufficient usable soil volume, 
aeration and irrigation to ensure healthy long-term growth. Although 
younger trees are more easily replaced, the Council will seek to ensure 
that sufficient young trees survive to maturity, having regard to the 
number of developments that may occur during their natural lifespan. 
Proposals that create spaces for larger tree species to grow to maturity 
will be favoured over proposals for scattered smaller trees. 
 

Page 952



169 
 
 

5.151 137 Ancient woodlands are irreplaceable habitats of high 
biodiversity value which will be protected from development that would 
result in significant damage. Veteran trees and ancient hedgerows cannot 
be recreated and developments will be expected to retain them. Where 
appropriate, Tree Preservation Orders will be served to protect important 
amenity trees from removal or harm. The amenity value of trees will be 
assessed in accordance with government guidance and nationally 
recognised systems of amenity evaluation. 
 
The Historic Environment 
 
EN9: CONSERVATION OF THE HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT 
 
Development relating to any of the heritage assets listed below 
(or their settings) will only be permitted where it can be 
demonstrated that it preserves or enhances that asset’s 
architectural quality, historic and cultural significance, character, 
integrity and/or setting. 
i. Scheduled Ancient Monuments; 
ii. Listed Buildings and their curtilage structures; 
iii. Conservation Areas; 
iv. Archaeologically Sensitive Areas; 
v. Registered Historic Landscapes, Parks and Gardens; or 
vi. Locally Listed Buildings of Merit and other historic features of 
interest 
that positively contribute to the distinctiveness of the city. 
 
5.152 138 This Policy aims to set out the criteria against which proposals 
affecting Cardiff’s heritage assets will be assessed.  The Heritage assets 
identified in this Policy are defined on the Constraints Map and in Appendix (tbc) 
with the exception of Statutory Listed Buildings and Locally Listed Buildings of 
Merit which can be viewed on the Council website 
**http://ishare.cardiff.gov.uk/mycardiff.aspx?layers=ListedBuildings&startEastin
g=315000&startNorthing=179000&startZoom=50000 

5.139 It should be noted that although this information is accurate at the time of 
adoption, potential changes to designated areas are possible over the plan 
period.  The Council will keep an up to date record of the boundaries of all 
designated sites which can be accessed via the Council website. 

5.140 Occasionally built heritage will be a constraint, the need for preservation 
outweighing the benefit of development.  More often, a heritage asset will be an 
opportunity for retaining local identity through the repair and reuse of historic 
assets and strengthening this through respect for local characteristics of design, 
for the interpretation of hidden heritage assets, or for the enhancement of the 
characteristic natural environment.  All new developments within historic areas 

Page 953

http://ishare.cardiff.gov.uk/mycardiff.aspx?layers=ListedBuildings&startEasting=315000&startNorthing=179000&startZoom=50000
http://ishare.cardiff.gov.uk/mycardiff.aspx?layers=ListedBuildings&startEasting=315000&startNorthing=179000&startZoom=50000


170 
 
 

should be designed in such a way as to preserve or enhance their special 
character. 

 

Scheduled Ancient Monuments 

5.153 141 PPW, Chapter 3 Conserving the Historic Environment and Welsh Office 
Circular 60/96: Planning and the Historic Environment: Archaeology (scheduled 
to be replaced by a Technical Advice Note within the plan period) set out clear 
statements of national development management policy for archaeological 
remains and should be referred to accordingly. 

 
Listed Buildings 
 
5.154 142 Once a building is listed (or is subject to a Building 
Preservation Notice) no work to the interior or exterior of the building, or 
to structures within its curtilage, that would affect the special 
architectural or historic interest of the building can be undertaken without 
Listed Building Consent. This can include work that would not require 
planning permission under the provisions of the Planning Acts. 
 
5.155 143 Listed building control is subject to the provisions of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings & Conservation Areas) Act 1990.  Advice is set out in Circular 
61/96 (scheduled to be replaced by a Technical Advice Note within the plan 
period).  There is no statutory requirement to have regard to the provisions of 
the development plan when considering an application for listed building 
consent.  It is strongly recommended, however, that owners or developers seek 
early advice from the Council prior to undertaking any works or making an 
application for listed building consent. 

5.156 144 Where Policy EN9 is particularly relevant is in the case of 
development that affects the setting of a listed building or in the 
consideration of an associated planning application for a change of use. 
 
5.157 145 Listed building consent is not required if the development is 
beyond the curtilage of the listed building and only affects its setting. 
However, considerable damage can be done to the architectural or 
historic interest of the listed building if the development is insensitive in 
design, scale or positioning. The setting of a listed building is often an 
essential feature of its character. The setting may be limited to the 
immediate surroundings, but it can extend for a considerable distance. A 
proposed development might affect the gardens or parkland of a major 
house, the rural characteristics of a farmstead or the street setting of an 
urban building that forms an important visual element of that street. 
Policy EN9 requires that development proposals take full account of the 

Page 954



171 
 
 

setting of any listed building in the vicinity and that developers 
demonstrate that the setting will not be harmed. 
 
5.158 146 In terms of associated planning applications for changes of use 
of a listed building, the Council will expect applicants to demonstrate how 
their proposals have been arrived at in the context of the PPW aim to 
identify the optimum viable use that is compatible with the character and 
setting of the listed building. 
 
Conservation Areas 
 
5.159 147 The adopted series of Conservation Area Appraisal (CAA) documents 
seek to provide a sound basis for managing development proposals and for 
progressing initiatives to preserve and enhance each conservation area, in line 
with advice in PPW and Welsh Office Circular 61/96. The documents were 
adopted following extensive local consultation and provide a clear and agreed 
definition of those elements which contribute to the special character and 
historic interest of the area. 

5.160 148 The findings of the CAAs need to be fully taken into account 
when considering development proposals. The design and access 
statement accompanying any application for planning permission should, 
where relevant, clearly set out how the development preserves or 
enhances the conservation area. In the assessment of planning 
applications, the Council will wherever feasible seek to enhance the 
special character of each area as defined and promoted by each adopted 
CAA. 
 
5.161 149 It is recommended that owners or developers seek early advice 
from the Council prior to making an application for demolition or 
development within a conservation area. 
 
5.162 150 The Council will continue to review its conservation area 
designations, boundaries and CAAs as required and against recognised 
national criteria in PPW and Circular 61/96, in addition to those 
characteristics identified within the approved Conservation Area Strategy 
(Sept 1997) to determine whether an area is of special interest. 
 
Archaeologically Sensitive Areas 
 
5.163 151Four archaeologically sensitive areas have been identified in 
Cardiff. The purpose of this non-statutory designation is to assist those 
who are planning development in areas where there is a known 
archaeological resource or where it is likely that remains may be sensitive 
to development pressures. The adopted Archaeologically Sensitive Areas 
SPG provides further guidance and information. 

Page 955



172 
 
 

 
Registered Historic Landscapes Parks and Gardens 
 
5.164 152 The landscapes, parks and gardens on the register have no 
statutory protection, but they must be taken into account when 
development proposals are made that either affect them directly or that 
affect their setting. 
 
Locally Listed Buildings of Merit and other historic features of 
interest 
 
5.165 153 Many buildings, structures and archaeological remains that do 
not meet the very special criteria to merit scheduling or inclusion on the 
statutory list are nevertheless of value to the identity of the city for their 
contribution to local built character and/or social and historical 
associations. 
 
5.166 154 Heritage and culture is an important social aspect and 
contributes to creating places where people want to live and work. 
Historic assets can create focal points and are useful in identifying the 
vernacular characteristics of an area that create distinctive places. 
Restoration and re-use is also a basic principle of developing sustainably. 
Standing buildings represent an investment of material and embodied 
energy that should not be ignored. Their removal, disposal and 
subsequent site works require further energy and creates waste. 
 
5.167 155 These assets may be noted within the Council’s list of buildings 
of local merit, embodied in the unscheduled archaeological record 
maintained by the Glamorgan Gwent Archaeological Trust or may yet to 
be registered or listed but still worthy of retention for their contribution to 
local character or identity. 
 
5.168 156 While inclusion on the local list does not currently afford any 
additional statutory protection to the buildings, it is the intention of Policy 
EN9 to ensure that full consideration is given to the conservation and 
continued use of such buildings, as part of the protection and 
enhancement of the special identity of Cardiff. 
 
 
Natural Resources 
 
EN10: WATER SENSITIVE DESIGN 
 
Development should apply water sensitive urban design solutions 
(the process of integrating water cycle management with the built 

Page 956



173 
 
 

environment through planning and urban design). To include the 
management of: 
i. Water demand and supply; 
ii. Waste water and pollution; 
iii. Rainfall and runoff; 
iv. Watercourses and water resource; 
v. Flooding; and 
vi. Water pathways. 
 
5.169 157 Increasing pressures on urban drainage systems and 
challenges of water management highlight the need to redress the 
balance of the water cycle. Recent climate change studies have identified 
that Wales can expect more extreme weather events including an 
increase in the frequency of intense rainfall. Natural Resources Wales and 
Welsh Water support these findings. 
 
5.170 158 There is a need for an approach where the whole urban water 
cycle is incorporated into a holistic system. Water sensitive design focuses 
on managing water locally and reducing demands on the strategic 
network. 
 
5.171 159 Such examples of integrated water cycle management include 
Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDS); water recycling; and the 
holistic integration of surface water systems designed into the 
development layout, as well as into networks of green spaces applicable 
at a range of spatial scales, such as gardens, green roofs, streets, car 
parks and river corridors. 
 
5.172 160 There is a need for all those involved in the water industry and 
built environment to work together to create a sustainable strategy for 
expanding the water ecosystem whilst providing opportunities for wildlife, 
adaptable landscapes, health and exercise. Implementation of this Policy, 
which is aimed in part at improving water resource use efficiency, will 
counteract increases in water demand arising from the implementation of 
other policies in the Plan, thereby avoiding likely significant effect upon 
the River Usk and River Wye SACs. 
 
5.173 161 The benefits of a water sensitive urban design initiative are; 
reduction of flood risk; security of water supply; better watercourse 
health, more affordable water bills; improved health and well-being, 
celebration of environment, local character and community; delivery of 
green infrastructure and efficiencies; creation of attractive places and 
improved ecosystem health. 
 
 
EN11: PROTECTION OF WATER RESOURCES 

Page 957



174 
 
 

 
Development will not be permitted that would cause unacceptable 
harm to the quality or quantity of underground, surface or coastal 
waters. 
 
5.174 162 This Policy expands on Policy KP18 and its purpose is to 
maintain and enhance the quality and quantity of water resources, 
including rivers, lakes, ponds and other water bodies, which are important 
for a wide range of uses and users. Poor and deteriorating water quality 
and compromised water quantity can affect the supply of water resources 
for industrial and domestic consumption, fisheries, amenity, recreation 
and nature conservation. 
 
5.175 163 The EU Water Framework Directive (2000/60/EC) establishes a 
strategic approach to water management and a common means of 
protecting and setting environmental objectives for all ground waters and 
surface waters. It aims to 
protect and restore clean water and ensure its long-term sustainable use. 
PPW emphasises that planning controls should be used to prevent the 
location of 
incompatible land uses and development close to potential sources of 
pollution.  
 
5.176 164 Development will only be allowed where provision is made for 
the necessary infrastructure to protect water quality and quantity. 
Planning permission may be granted subject to conditions to secure the 
necessary measures, or developers may be required to enter into 
planning obligations. Applications that cannot provide adequate protection 
of watercourses, ground and surface water will be refused. New 
development that:  

• Poses an unacceptable risk to ground water or water courses; 
• Poses an unacceptable risk to ground water pollution, depletion or 

obstruction; and  
• Incorporates inappropriate measures to prevent pollution  

 
will be refused planning permission, unless appropriate measures to 
prevent pollution can be incorporated into the development proposal. 
 
5.177165  Future development will be limited to areas where adequate 
water resources exist or they can be reasonably provided without 
adversely affecting existing abstractions, river flows, water quality, 
agriculture, fisheries, amenity or nature conservation and where provision 
coincides with the timing of development. Existing groundwater and river 
levels must be maintained, and water pollution must be avoided. 
 

Page 958



175 
 
 

5.178 166 Natural Resources Wales is responsible for protecting and 
improving the water environment. The Council will consult NRW and 
Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board, where necessary, 
on any proposal that is likely to affect the supply of water, the quality of 
water, or is likely to be affected by, or cause flooding. Levels of impact 
and risk will be assessed through consultation with these bodies. 
 
5.179 167 Planning permission will not be granted for development that, 
in the opinion of the Council, following consultation with NRW and the 
Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board, would adversely 
affect the quality, quantity or supply of surface water or groundwater as a 
result of: 

• The nature of the surface or waste water discharge; or 
• Unsatisfactory agreements for the disposal of foul sewerage, trade 

effluent or surface water; or 
• The spillage or leakage of stored oil or chemicals. 

 
5.180 168 Planning permission will not be granted for developments 
involving local abstraction of surface or ground water which, in the 
opinion of the Council, following consultation with Natural Resources 
Wales and the Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board, 
would: 

• Increase requirements for water, unless an adequate water supply 
already exists or would be provided in time to serve the 
development; or 

• Pose an unacceptable risk to the current supply of water uses. 
 
5.181 169 Developments that improve the quality of the water 
environment or help to prevent water pollution or flooding will be 
favoured. Implementation of this Policy, which is aimed in part at 
improving water resource use efficiency, will counteract increases in water 
demand arising from implementation of other policies in the Plan, thereby 
avoiding likely significant effect upon the River Usk and River Wye SACs. 
 
EN12: RENEWABLE ENERGY AND LOW CARBON TECHNOLOGIES 

 

Development proposals are required to maximise the potential for 
renewable energy. 

The Council will encourage developers of major and strategic sites to 
incorporate schemes which generate energy from renewable and low 
carbon technologies. This includes opportunities to minimise carbon 
emissions associated with the heating, cooling and power systems for 
new development. 

Page 959



176 
 
 

 

An independent energy assessment investigating the financial viability 
and technical feasibility of incorporating such schemes will be required 
to support applications. 

 
5.182 170 The UK government has committed to sourcing 15% of its 
energy from renewable sources by 2020. Modelling undertaken on behalf 
of the Department for Energy and Climate Change (DECC) suggests that 
by 2020, this could mean that more than 30% of our electricity and 12% 
of our heat, may be generated from renewable sources. These targets are 
presented as the lead scenario, which relies on strong, co-ordinated 
efforts from several sectors including local authorities. 
 
5.183 171 PPW enables Local Planning Authorities to assess strategic sites 
to identify opportunities to require higher sustainable building standards 
(including zero carbon) where requirements are demonstrated to be 
evidence-based and viable. Particular reference is made to opportunities 
for minimising carbon emissions associated with the heating, cooling and 
power systems. This includes utilising new or existing low and zero carbon 
energy supply systems (such as district heating systems), encouraging 
the development of new opportunities to supply proposed and existing 
development, and maximising opportunities to co-locate potential heat 
customers and suppliers. 
 
5.184 172 In preparing the LDP, Cardiff Council has undertaken a Renewable 
Energy Assessment (REA).  The REA aims to identify the potential energy 
capacity of renewable and low carbon technologies in the local authority area 
and consider the contribution these can make towards Cardiff’s future heat and 
electricity energy requirements.  The REA was prepared in accordance with the 
Welsh Government Practice Guidance “Planning for Renewable and Low Carbon 
Energy – A Toolkit for Planners”.  Findings within the REA suggest that by 2020 
the percentage of Cardiff’s electricity and heat met by renewable energy sources 
is likely to be 24% and 6% respectively. Both of these figures are below the 
guide targets in the UK Renewable Energy Strategy.  The REA (and future 
updates) can assist in identifying which renewable energy technologies may be 
appropriate in particular locations. 

 
5.185 173 The co-location of high density and mixed-use development 
can present significant opportunities for utilising renewable and low 
carbon technologies, including energy supply systems. Both major 
development sites and the identified strategic sites will form a large 
percentage of future development in Cardiff and are likely to play a 
significant role in Cardiff meeting its renewable energy potential identified 

Page 960



177 
 
 

in the REA. Major development sites are taken to be those of 100 
dwellings and above, or, commercial developments of 1,000 square 
metres or more. 
 
5.186 174 Developers are expected to submit an independent energy 
assessment investigating the financial viability and technical feasibility of 
incorporating such schemes.  Statements should be submitted at the planning 
application stage to ensure that any viability assessment reflects technological 
developments and economic circumstances.  Developers should refer to 
the Council’s REA and Preliminary Heat Opportunities Plan in undertaking their 
energy assessments to identify possible opportunities for renewable and low 
carbon technologies.  In implementing this Policy it is expected that developers 
follow the energy hierarchy as advocated by national policy (TAN 12 & TAN 22).  
Further guidance in relation to energy assessments will be issued in the form of 
SPG. This will specify what is expected of developers to meet the requirement of 
Policy EN12. 

 
5.187 175 PPW contains national policy relating to climate responsive 
development and specifies the current sustainable building standards in 
Wales[i]. Section 12.10.1 contains national development management policy in 
relation to planning applications for renewable and low carbon energy 
development and associated infrastructure. Accordingly, developers should refer 
to this Policy and TAN 22 - Planning for Sustainable Buildings’ for further 
guidance. Implementation of this Policy, which promotes incorporation of 
renewable energy generation, will also reduce emission of aerial pollutants, 
thereby offsetting increases in aerial emissions arising from implementation of 
other policies in the Plan.  This would contribute to avoiding significant effects 
upon European Sites. 

 
Pollution 
 
EN13 Air, Noise, Light Pollution and Contaminated Land Contamination 
 
Development will not be permitted where it would cause or result 
in unacceptable harm to health, local amenity, the character and 
quality of the countryside, or interests of nature conservation, 
landscape or built heritage importance because of air, noise, light 
pollution or the presence of unacceptable levels of land 
contamination. 
 
5.188 176 The purposes of the Policy are to ensure that: 

• Developments that would generate unacceptable levels of air, noise 
or light pollution are appropriately located and controlled;  

Page 961



178 
 
 

• Incompatible land uses and development are not located close to 
potential sources of pollution; and  

• Developments are suitable for the proposed end use and that any 
actual or potential land contamination can be overcome, thereby 
ensuring that there is no unacceptable harm to human health or the 
environment. 
 

5.189 177 PPW emphasises that whilst planning controls should be used 
to control the above matters, they should not be used to control matters 
that are the proper concern of pollution control regimes. 
 
5.190 178 Poor air quality can harm people’s health, quality of life and 
amenity, as well as nature conservation and built heritage interests. Poor 
air quality is a problem in certain areas of Cardiff. Current Air quality 
assessments have identified four areas of the County where statutory air 
quality standards are being exceeded. The Council has identified these as 
Air Quality Management Areas: 

• Cardiff City Centre; 
• Ely Bridge; 
• Stephenson Court, Newport Road; and 
• Cardiff Road, Llandaff. 
•  

5.191 179 These areas suffer from high levels of pollution caused by road 
traffic. As part of its statutory monitoring of air quality within the city the 
Council will annually review air quality and may revoke or declare 
additional Air Quality Management Areas as appropriate. 
 
5.192 180 In determining planning applications, consideration will be 
given to a development’s likely effect in terms of air pollution it may 
cause directly, but also in terms of any increase or decrease in traffic it 
may generate. Where a development is likely to affect air quality 
significantly (i.e. where air quality standards are, or are likely to be 
breached or a new residential development gives rise to the need for a 
new Air Quality Management Area to be declared by introducing residents 
to areas where air quality standards are already being breached) then an 
application may be approved subject to conditions mitigating its impact 
on air quality, or refused where appropriate. 
 
5.193 181 Noise can have a harmful impact on people’s health and quality 
of life. Developments such as housing, schools and hospitals can be 
particularly sensitive to noise, as can areas of landscape, nature or built 
heritage importance. Where possible, new developments that are 
particularly noise-sensitive should be located away from existing or 
proposed sources of significant noise. This assessment can be informed 
by information on noise complaints being collated by the Council as part 
of an on-going initiative to reduce noise nuisance. 

Page 962



179 
 
 

 
5.194 182 Major transport routes (road, rail and air) and some industrial 
and commercial activities can generate particularly high noise levels. 
There is specific guidance within TAN 11 that specifies Noise Exposure 
Categories that assists with proposed residential development near 
transport related noise. 
 
5.195 183 In addition to this, Welsh Government as part of its statutory 
duties under the Environmental Noise Directive has designated areas 
within Cardiff Noise Action Planning Priority Action Areas. The aim of the 
Directive is to define a common approach intended to avoid, prevent or 
reduce on a prioritised basis the harmful effects, including annoyance, 
due to exposure to environmental noise. The Directive defines 
environmental noise as unwanted or harmful outdoor sound created by 
human activities, including noise emitted by means of transport, road 
traffic, rail traffic, air traffic, and from sites of industrial activity.  
 
5.196 184 Under the Regulations, the Welsh Ministers had an obligation 
to make strategic noise maps for: 

• agglomerations (large urban areas with populations of more than 
100,000); 

• major roads (those with more than three million vehicle passages 
per year); and 

• major railways (those with more than 30,000 train passages per 
year). 

 
5.197 185 The noise maps have been published by the Welsh 
Government. 
 
5.198 186 Mitigating noise issues after they have arisen can be a lot more 
expensive than avoiding them in the first place. It is therefore desirable to 
seek interventions that bring multiple benefits, such as reducing people’s 
exposure to air pollutants, making buildings more energy-efficient, 
encouraging safer driving or improving the road surface for drivers and 
cyclists at the same time as decreasing noise levels. 
 
5.199 187 A current list of Noise Action Planning Priority Areas is available 
on the Welsh Government website. 
 
5.200 188 Special consideration is required where noise-generating 
development is proposed in or near special areas such as urban quiet 
areas, which are tranquil urban green spaces designated by the Welsh 
Government under the Environmental Noise Directive. 
 
5.201 189 There are currently 6 quiet areas within Cardiff, namely: 

• Heath Park; 

Page 963



180 
 
 

• Park Cae Delyn; 
• Roath Park; 
• Roath Park Pleasure Garden; 
• Roath Park Recreational Ground; and 
• Thompson Park. 

 
5.202 190 There are a further 6 candidate quiet areas in Cardiff which the 
Welsh Government are currently consulting upon, these are: 

• Bute Park; 
• Fairwater Park; 
• Insole Court; 
• Llanishen Park; 
• Splott Park; and 
• Victoria Park. 

 
5.203 191 Quiet Areas have been designated as part of the 
implementation of the Environmental Noise Directive. 
 
5.204 192 Necessary new development that would give rise to high noise 
levels, including proposed transport schemes, should be located and 
designed so as to minimise their noise impact. Where noise-sensitive 
development needs to be located close to transport infrastructure for 
access reasons, it should be designed to reduce noise impact. Where 
necessary, developers will be required to provide an assessment of noise 
impact, together with proposals for mitigation. 
 
5.205 193 The provision of lighting can help prevent crime and the fear of 
crime, enhance safety and security, and facilitate some sport and 
recreational activities. However, it can also be intrusive, cause glare and 
have a harmful impact on natural and built heritage assets, the amenity 
of neighbouring land uses and traffic safety.  
 
5.206 194 Where new lighting constitutes development (e.g. 
floodlighting) it is principally controlled through the planning system. 
Planning permission can be refused if the design of proposed lighting 
systems is not considered satisfactory in order to prevent light pollution. 
Where necessary, planning permission will be conditioned to ensure that 
the design and operation of lighting systems are satisfactory and/or to 
prevent light pollution. 
 
5.207 195 As detailed in PPW, where significant contamination is likely to 
be present, the local planning authority will require evidence of a detailed 
investigation and risk assessment prior to the determination of the 
application to enable beneficial use of land. Where acceptable remedial 
measures can overcome such contamination, planning permission may be 
granted subject to conditions specifying the necessary measures. If 

Page 964



181 
 
 

contamination cannot be overcome satisfactorily, the authority may 
refuse planning permission. 
 
5.208 196 The onus will remain with the developer to ensure that the 
development of the site will not result in designation as a site with contaminated 
land contamination under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990, thus 
ensuring the land is suitable for its proposed use. 
 
EN14: Flood Risk 

 

Development will not be permitted: 

 

i. Within tidal or fluvial flood plains unless it can be demonstrated 
that the site is justified in line with national guidance and an 
appropriate detailed technical assessment has been undertaken to 
ensure that the development is designed to alleviate the threat 
and consequences of flooding over its lifetime; existing or 
proposed flood prevention and/or protection measures are 
acceptable; or 

ii. Where it would increase the risk of flooding from fluvial and/or 
tidal flooding or from additional run-off from the development in 
any location; or 

iii. Where it would hinder future maintenance or improvement 
schemes of flood defences and watercourses; or 

iv. Where it would cause adverse effects on the integrity of tidal or 
fluvial defences; or 

v. Where ground floor bedrooms are proposed in areas at high risk 
of flooding.; or 

Where appropriate the developer should demonstrate that they 
have considered the need to incorporate environmentally 
sympathetic flood risk mitigation measures such as Sustainable 
Urban Drainage Systems (SUDS).  

 
5.209 197 The purpose of this Policy is to avert development from where 
it would be at risk from river, ordinary watercourse, coastal, surface 

Page 965



182 
 
 

water flooding or where it would increase the risk of flooding or additional 
run off from development elsewhere. 
 
5.210 198 The Policy will help deliver LDP objectives relating to flood risk 
and reflects advice set out in PPW and Technical Advice Note 15: 
Development and Flood Risk (July 2004). 
 
5.211 199 TAN15 states that the development advice maps are based on 
the best available information considered sufficient to determine when 
flood risk issues need to be taken into account in planning future 
development. Development advice zones C1 and C2 of the maps show 
high flood risk areas and are based on Natural Resources Wales extreme 
flood outlines for tidal and fluvial flooding.  These areas are shown on the 
Constraints Map based on information from the latest development advice 
maps (2015) Areas of Cardiff identified by Natural Resources Wales to be 
at risk from tidal or river flooding through surveys undertaken under 
Section 105(2) of the Water Resources Act 1991 are shown on the 
Constraints Map. 
 
5.212 100The Council is required to consult Natural Resources Wales and 
Caldicot and Wentloog Levels Internal Drainage Board on planning 
applications that have any flooding implications. It must have good 
reasons if it does not intend to follow Natural Resource Wales advice as it 
forms a material consideration. 
 
5.213 201 The Flood and Water Management Act (FWMA) that was 
introduced in 2010, places a duty on Cardiff Council to prepare a Local 
Flood Risk Management Strategy (LFRMS) that sets out how the Council 
will proactively seek to minimise flood risk and prepare our communities. 
 
5.214 202 Cardiff Council is now a Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) as 
defined by the new Flood and Water Management Act 2010. The FWMA 
aims to provide better, more comprehensive management of flood risk for 
people, homes and businesses. This role includes ensuring that flood risk 
from all sources is suitably managed and aims to promote an integrated 
approach to planning and managing all forms of flood risk. 
 
5.215 203 Cardiff Council in general are opposed to the culverting of 
watercourses because of the adverse ecological, flood risk and other 
effects that are likely to arise. Culverting can exacerbate the risk of 
flooding and increase the maintenance requirements for a watercourse. It 

Page 966



183 
 
 

also destroys wildlife habitats, damages a natural amenity and interrupts 
the continuity of the linear habitat of a watercourse. It is recognised there 
are various reasons why in some instances landowners, developers and 
local authorities believe that open watercourses should be culverted. 
However, Cardiff Council considers any benefits are usually outweighed by 
the potential problems in managing the system, the loss of habitats and 
difficulty in pollution detection. 
 
5.216 204 New developments will only be permitted where the Council is 
satisfied that they will not result in adverse affects on the quality and/or 
quantity of surface waters or groundwater resources. Where detailed 
information in respect of flood risk is not available, developers will be 
required to carry out a Flood Consequence Assessment (FCA) to evaluate 
the extent of risk and ensure that no unacceptable development occurs 
within the flood risk area identified. 
 
5.217 205 Managing flooding is an important part of contributing towards 
achieving sustainability. Developers, wherever necessary and appropriate, 
are required to incorporate environmentally sympathetic mitigation 
measures into their proposals. This would include such measures as 
Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDS). SUDS are seen as a means 
to control surface water which provide a valuable amenity asset and new 
habitats for wildlife. 
 
5.218 206 In general, development will be resisted in identified flood 
plains or areas at unacceptable risk from flooding or where third parties 
may be adversely affected by an increased flood risk. Proposals involving 
bedrooms on ground or lower floors in areas liable to flood will not be 
acceptable. Development will only be permitted if the risks and 
consequences can be demonstrated to be managed to an acceptable level 
in line with national planning policy, in particular the tests set out in TAN 
15. 
 
5.219 207 Further guidance on the application of this Policy will be set out 
in SPG. 
 
 
4. TRANSPORT 
 
T1: WALKING AND CYCLING 

Page 967



184 
 
 

 
To enable people to access employment, essential services and 
community facilities by walking and cycling the Council will 
support developments which incorporate: 
i. High quality, sustainable design which makes a positive 
contribution to the distinctiveness of communities and places; 
ii. Permeable and legible networks of safe, convenient and 
attractive walking and cycling routes; 
iii. Connections and extensions to the Cardiff Strategic Cycle 
Network and routes forming part of the Cardiff Walkable 
Neighbourhoods Plan; 
iv. Measures to minimise vehicle speed and give priority to 
pedestrians and cyclists; 
v. Safe, convenient and attractive walking and cycling connections 
to existing developments, neighbourhoods, jobs and services; 
vi. Infrastructure designed in accordance with standards of good 
practice including the Council’s Cycling Design Guide; 
vii. Supporting facilities including, signing, secure cycle parking 
and, where necessary, shower and changing facilities; and 
viii. The provision of Car-Free Zones. 
 
5.220 208 Research undertaken by Sustrans and Socialdata in 2011 
revealed that a large proportion of car trips in Cardiff are relatively short: 
just over half are no further than 5 km and nearly a third are no further 
than 3km (under 2 miles). Many of these trips could be undertaken by 
foot or by bicycle. 
 
5.221 209 The purpose of this Policy is to exploit this potential by favouring 
developments which include design features and facilities that make it easy for 
people to walk and cycle for everyday journeys instead of travelling by car. 
Encouraging ‘active travel’ will help to minimise car use and support the Council 
in fulfilling its legal duty under the (emerging) Active Travel (Wales) Bill Act 
2013 to develop, improve and maintain local walking and cycling networks. 

 
5.222 210 The Council has produced a plan for the development of the 
city’s Strategic Cycle Network known as ‘Enfys’. The plan defines a core 
network of numbered cycle routes connecting to different parts of Cardiff. 
The Council is building the Enfys cycle network through a rolling 
programme of infrastructure schemes. Developments brought forward 
through the LDP will provide the opportunity to extend and enhance the 
network through the provision of new links and incorporating sections of 
the network within development schemes. 
 

Page 968



185 
 
 

5.223 211 The Council is also developing a Walkable Neighbourhoods 
Plan. This will set out a programme of area-based measures to improve 
the local walking environment and make it easier and safer for people to 
reach local services and facilities on foot. New developments will provide 
the opportunity to extend these improvements and provide walking 
connections which help to integrate new neighbourhoods with existing 
communities. 
 
5.224 212 Car-Free Zones provide a particular opportunity which can help 
to successfully deliver this Policy. They could form part of wider 
development areas adding to the range and choice of available housing. 
Located in areas with good public transport and other sustainable 
transport options, together with good access to local facilities, such areas 
are likely to be attractive to many potential occupiers of all ages. In 
designing such Zones it will be important to ensure the needs of disabled 
people are taken into account. 
 
5.225 213 The Policy will be implemented through the development 
process. In considering proposals, the Council will seek to ensure that 
developments give priority to walking and cycling within their design and 
layout. High quality design which makes a positive contribution to the 
distinctiveness of communities and places will be essential to make 
walking and cycling attractive and popular travel options.  
 
5.226 214 The Policy will be a key consideration in the master planning of 
strategic sites and should be read in conjunction with the strategic site 
master planning general principles and those included within the 
schematic master planning frameworks for those sites. Provision of 
infrastructure will be secured through planning conditions, planning 
obligations and resourced through Community Infrastructure Levy and 
matching transport funding. Implementation of this Policy will help to 
reduce pollution arising from road traffic. This will counteract increases in 
atmospheric pollution as a result of the Plan, thereby avoiding significant 
effects upon internationally designated sites. 
 
 
T2: STRATEGIC RAPID TRANSIT AND BUS CORRIDORS 
 
BUS CORRIDOR ENHANCEMENTS 
i. City Centre Bus Routes; 

Page 969



186 
 
 

ii. Eastern Bus Corridor (A48, A4232 from the A48 to Junction 30 
of the M4 Motorway, A48M Trunk Road, Southern Way and A4161 
Newport Road); 
iii. Northern Bus Corridor (A470 North Road/ Manor Way and A469 
Caerphilly 
Road/A470 Trunk Road to the County Boundary); and 
iv. Western Bus Corridor (A4161 Lansdowne Road, Cowbridge 
Road, A48, 
A4055 Cardiff Road; A4119 Llantrisant Road from the County 
Boundary to Cowbridge Road and A4232 Trunk Road from 
Culverhouse Cross to Junction 33 of the M4 Motorway) 
v. Southern Bus Corridor (Lloyd George Avenue, Lloyd George 
Avenue to the County Boundary via A4232 and Cogan Spur and via 
the Cardiff Barrage). 
Provision will be made to facilitate the functional integration of 
these corridors and associated services with the wider transport 
network including the bus network and local walking and cycling 
routes.  The trunk road sections of the Bus Corridor Enhancements 
are the responsibility of the Welsh Government.  Cardiff Council 
will work with the Welsh Government to identify appropriate 
measures on the trunk road sections of these routes. 
Improvements to the city’s wider bus network, including the 
provision of new infrastructure and the introduction of new routes 
and services will be supported where these are necessary to 
provide sustainable travel options and address the movement 
impacts of new development. 
 
5.227 This Policy requires development to be served by effective public 

transport through the development of new rapid transit routes, key 
strategic bus corridors and improvements to the wider city bus 
network. 

 
Rapid Transit Corridors 
 
5.228 215 Rapid transit corridors will connect neighbourhoods to the city 
centre with high frequency services which will run along on-road and off-
road infrastructure and offer shorter journey times than conventional bus 
services Four Rapid Transit Corridors have been identified based on four 
broad geographical channels feeding in towards the city centre.  The 
Rapid Transit Corridors can be defined as the collection of high frequency 

Page 970



187 
 
 

public transport services which will run along on-road and off-road 
infrastructure linking neighbourhoods to the city centre and wider public 
transport network offering shorter journey times than conventional bus 
services.  The Bus Corridor Enhancements referenced in paragraph 5.230 
are largely located within the Rapid Transit Corridors but are specifically 
highlighted as the key bus-based corridors with important cross-boundary 
linkages and will therefore be a focus for future enhancements.  Each 
corridor will include improvements that give rapid transit and bus services 
increased priority over general traffic and improved accessibility to a 
wider range of destinations.  
 
5.229 216 This Policy provides for the development of four principal rapid 

transit corridors that will serve the main LDP strategic sites. The form 
of rapid transit (heavy rail, light rail, tram train, bus rapid transit etc.) 
which can be accommodated on each corridor will be determined 
through further technical assessment work and as part of the detailed 
master planning of the strategic sites. The Rapid Transit Corridors are 
shown on the Constraints Map with further detailed work informing  
the precise mode, alignments and land take requirements.  This Policy 
provides for the development of four principal rapid transit corridors 
that will serve the main LDP strategic sites.  The mode of rapid transit 
could take one of the following forms or another form of technology 
that provides for the same purpose: 
• heavy rail; 
• light rail; 
• tram; 
• tram/train running on segregated rails; 
• tram/train combining running on segregated rails and on-street 

running; 
• conventional buses operating a limited stop express service using 

carriageway space on the public highway used by general traffic; 
• conventional buses using dedicated buses lanes and assisted by 

other bus priority measures in combination with use of other 
carriageway space on the public highway; or 

• conventional buses or guided buses using busways completely 
segregated from the main highway along their entire length or for 
short sections in combination with use of the public highway/bus 
priority measures on the public highway. 

 

Page 971



188 
 
 

5.217 Some elements of the rapid transit corridors will be provided 
within the strategic sites.  However, the alignment and mode of rapid 
transit and how they connect to and interchange with the public 
transport network is not yet known and cannot be defined precisely on 
a map.  The need for the rapid transit corridors is included in the key 
policies on Strategic Sites.  The mode of rapid transit that can be 
accommodated on each corridor will be determined through further 
technical assessment work including work undertaken as part of the 
detailed master planning of the strategic sites and in support of 
planning applications. This will help inform the precise mode, route 
alignments and land take requirements.  Therefore, for these reasons 
the rapid transit routes are not shown on the Proposals Map. 

 
Bus Corridor Enhancements 

 
5.230 The city’s key strategic bus corridors form a central element of the 

city’s strategic public transport network. Around 80% of daily inbound 
commuter journeys are by car. These movements create congestion on 
the city’s strategic highway network which makes bus journeys longer 
and services less reliable. This Policy seeks to address these issues by 
providing for improvements to maximise the efficiency and 
attractiveness of bus services on each of the city’s key bus corridors. 
Such measures will include provision of bus lanes (including timed bus 
lanes operating at peak times only), bus priority measures at key 
junctions and improved passenger waiting and information facilities. 
The Bus Corridors referred to in this policy are shown on the 
Constraints Map. 

 
5.230 218 The Bus Corridor Enhancements listed in Policy T2 are defined 

as the strategic bus routes that connect Cardiff to the Region.  These 
corridors form a central element of the city’s strategic public transport 
network.  Around 80% of daily inbound commuter journeys to Cardiff 
from the Region are by car.  These movements create congestion on 
the city’s strategic highway network which makes bus journeys longer 
and services less reliable.  This Policy seeks to address these issues by 
making provision for improvements to maximise the efficiency and 
attractiveness of bus services through reducing journey times and 
improving journey time reliability.  The corridors are shown on the 
Proposals Map. 

 

Page 972



189 
 
 

5.219 Sufficient carriageway space will be required to facilitate the 
expeditious passage of buses (including express services with limited 
stops), minimising journey times and maximising journey time reliability.  
Where necessary to meet these requirements, the Council will seek to 
remove pinch points and to remove and/or relocate on street parking.  
The Council will also use a range of tools and measures to change travel 
behaviour by helping to make sustainable travel an attractive choice, 
managing the network and influencing travel demand.  Some of these 
measures include for example, providing high quality walking, cycling and 
public transport infrastructure, improvements associated with 
development, reallocating road space, route improvements serving key 
destinations and developments, interchange/transport hub facilities, bus 
stops, cycle stands, improvements in accessibility, parking controls and 
policies, parking pricing, parking enforcement, moving traffic offences, 
bus priority, bus gates, junction controls, traffic signal control, managing 
road speed limits, high quality signage and road markings, designing for 
active travel, shared cycling and walking routes, partnership working with 
transport providers (e.g. encouraging new, express and cross-city bus 
routes), travel information, promotional initiatives, personalised travel 
planning, road safety initiatives, collaborative working cross-boundary 
with other authorities and with key transport stakeholders, road safety 
and transport infrastructure maintenance. 
 
 
Local Bus Network 

 
5.231 Ensuring the bus is a more attractive and practical travel option is 
crucial to reducing car dependency and improving accessibility. Cardiff 
has an extensive local bus network serving most parts of the city. 
However, the bus is not an attractive travel option for many journeys in 
Cardiff. For example, most routes on the network are radial and converge 
on the city centre. This means that people have to travel into the city 
centre in order to access bus services to another part of the city. 
Consequently, the car is the preferred mode of travel for many relatively 
short journeys. To address this problem this Policy supports the 
expansion and improvement of Cardiff’s local bus network, in conjunction 
with the development of rapid transit routes and the strategic bus 
corridors. 
 

Page 973



190 
 
 

5.232 The alignments of the strategic rapid transit corridors, strategic bus 
corridors and other bus routes are likely to overlap in some locations 
offering the opportunity for interchange between services. Therefore, the 
Council will seek to ensure that the routes, services and supporting 
facilities which make up the rapid transit and bus networks are fully 
integrated in their design and operation. 
 
Improvements to the Wider City Bus Network 
 
5.231 220 Ensuring the bus is a more attractive and practical travel 
option is crucial to reducing car dependency, improving accessibility and 
effecting modal shift. Cardiff has an extensive local bus network serving 
most parts of the city. However, the bus is not an attractive travel option 
for many journeys in Cardiff.  For example, most routes on the network 
are radial and converge on the city centre.  This means that people have 
to travel into the city centre in order to access bus services to another 
part of the city.  Consequently, the car is the preferred mode of travel for 
many relatively short journeys.  To address this problem this Policy 
supports the expansion and improvement of Cardiff’s local bus network, in 
conjunction with the development of Rapid Transit Corridors and Bus 
Corridor Enhancements.  Technical work carried out by the Council 
indicates that re-configuring the network and introducing new orbital 
routes and points of interchange between routes and services would 
enable a much wider range of journeys within Cardiff to be undertaken by 
bus, thus reducing reliance upon the car. 
 
5.232 21 Routes forming part of rapid transit corridors, strategic bus 
corridors and the wider city bus network will be connected in many 
locations across the public transport network.  This offers the opportunity 
for interchange between services.  Facilitating interchange with high 
quality passenger facilities and travel information will form an important 
element of enhancements to the to the city bus network. 
 
 
5.233 222 Central to the delivery of this Policy will be detailed master 
plans for the LDP strategic sites and the provisions they make for public 
transport infrastructure and its phasing. Site master plans will be 
expected to meet the requirements of this Policy and be consistent with 
general master planning principles for strategic sites - both key 
considerations in planning applications on strategic sites. Provision of 

Page 974



191 
 
 

infrastructure will be secured through planning conditions, planning 
obligations and resourced through Community Infrastructure Levy and 
matching transport funding. 
 
5.234 223 Implementation of this Policy will require the Council to 
exercise its statutory powers to carry out improvements to highway 
infrastructure. Measures will include provision of dedicated bus lanes and 
bus priority at key junctions. In some areas this will require on-street 
parking arrangements to be reviewed and modified. The location and 
nature of improvements will be informed by modelling and technical 
assessment work relating to specific corridors and Cardiff’s wider 
transport network, as well as the detailed assessment of travel impacts of 
individual development sites and planning applications. Infrastructure 
measures will generally be resourced through the Community 
Infrastructure Levy and matching transport funding. In most cases they 
will implemented by the Council as the highway authority. 
 
5.235 224 Implementation of this Policy will help to reduce pollution 
arising from road traffic. This will counteract increases in atmospheric 
pollution as a result of the Plan, thereby avoiding significant effects upon 
internationally designated sites. 
 
 
T3: TRANSPORT INTERCHANGES 
 
In order to facilitate the transfer between transport modes and 
help to minimise travel demand and reduce car dependency, the 
following developments will be supported: 
i. New rail stations which can be easily accessed by walking, 
cycling and local bus services , facilitate rail park and ride, where 
appropriate, and meet the access needs of all users; 
ii. Improvements to existing rail and bus interchanges, including 
measures to facilitate access by active travel modes and disabled 
people with particular access needs; 
iii. Measures to support interchange between local bus services, 
including facilities to accommodate bus layover and driver 
facilities; 
iv. Strategically located park and ride facilities, supported by 
attractive, frequent and reliable bus or rapid transit services; 
v. High quality passenger facilities including but not limited to 
seating, information, toilet facilities and cycle parking; 
vi. Facilities for park and share; 
vii. Facilities for coach parking, taxis and passenger drop off; 
viii. Facilities for overnight lorry parking and freight transfer; and 
ix. Facilities for interchange with water-based transport. 
 

Page 975



192 
 
 

5.236 225 Providing for interchange between transport modes is essential 
to the efficient functioning of the transport network and making 
sustainable travel options more practical and attractive. This is 
particularly important in relation to the public transport network. This 
Policy provides support for all forms of transport interchange that help 
meet these requirements and deliver the modal shift objectives of the 
LDP. It is important that these interchanges are accessible to disabled 
travellers and people with prams/young children. 
 
5.237 226 Implementation of this Policy will help to reduce pollution 
arising from road traffic. This will counteract increases in atmospheric 
pollution as a result of the Plan, thereby avoiding significant effects upon 
internationally designated sites. 
 
T4: REGIONAL TRANSPORT HUB 
 
Support will be given to the development of infrastructure and 
facilities in and around Cardiff Central Railway Station which: 
i. Facilitate the easy interchange of passengers between national, 
regional and local rail and bus services; 
ii. Provide high quality passenger facilities, including but not 
limited to seating, information, toilet facilities and cycle parking; 
iii. Can be easily accessed by walking and cycling and meets the 
access needs of all users; 
iv. Is well integrated with development in the surrounding area 
and facilitates easy access to the centre of the city, Cardiff Bay 
and the Enterprise Zone; 
v. Complement the development and regeneration of land north 
and south 
of Central Railway Station and the wider Enterprise Zone; 
vi. Provide a public transport gateway of a high aesthetic and 
functional quality, which is commensurate to Cardiff’s status as a 
European capital city; and 
vii. Provides an attractive, legible and vibrant environment. 
 
5.238 227 The development of a central public transport interchange 
focussed on land in and around Cardiff Central Railway Station and the 
Central Square area is a longstanding objective of the Council. Cardiff is 
located on the south Wales main railway line and forms the central hub of 
regional Valley Lines rail network – all scheduled for electrification by 
2020. 
 
5.239 228 The provision of a central public transport interchange to 
facilitate transfer between national, regional and local rail and bus 
services is essential for Cardiff to fulfil its role as a growing capital city 
and an employment and service centre for a major city region. It is also 

Page 976



193 
 
 

critical to achieving the transport connectivity required to sustain Cardiff’s 
economic competitiveness with other UK cities and city regions and 
maintain its attractiveness to business investors. 
 
5.240 229 This Policy sets out the Council’s requirements with regard to 
the functionality and aesthetic quality of a central interchange and its 
integration with existing and future development within the Cardiff 
Central Enterprise Zone. The Policy will be implemented through a 
process of master planning undertaken in collaboration between the 
Council, developers, transport providers, the public and key stakeholders. 
 
T5: MANAGING TRANSPORT IMPACTS 
Where necessary, safe and convenient provision will be sought in 
conjunction with development for: 
i. Pedestrians, including people with prams and/or young 
children; 
ii. Disabled people with mobility impairments and particular 
access needs; 
iii. Cyclists; 
iv. Powered two-wheelers; 
v. Public transport; 
vi. Vehicular access and traffic management within the site and its 
vicinity; 
vii. Car parking and servicing; 
viii. Coach parking; and 
ix. Horse-riders. 
 
5.241 230 The purpose of this Policy is to ensure that all new 
developments for which planning permission is required: 
i. Properly address the demand for travel and its impacts; 
ii. Contribute to reducing reliance on the private car, in line with national 
planning policies and the strategic transport objectives and policies of the 
LDP; 
iii. Make satisfactory provision for access, parking and circulation, 
particularly by pedestrians, cyclists, public transport users and disabled 
people with mobility impairments and particular access needs; and 
iv. Avoid unacceptable harm to safe and efficient use and operation of the 
road, 
public transport and other movement networks and routes. 
 
5.242 231 Measures appropriate to a particular development will depend 
on its scale, location and use(s). They may include providing for and/or 
improving, as appropriate: 

• The needs of disabled people with mobility impairments and 
particular access needs; 

• The needs of people with prams and/or young children; 

Page 977



194 
 
 

• Safe and convenient pedestrian access to and movement within the 
development, including pedestrian priority measures, lighting, 
security, and weather protection; 

• Walking links to existing pedestrian routes and networks, District 
and Local centres, open space and other community facilities; (e.g. 
safe routes to school) - for access and recreational purposes - and 
designed for use by everyone; 

• The strategic recreational routes; 
• Cycling links to existing cycle routes and networks, District and 

Local centres and community facilities designed for use by 
everyone; 

• Secure cycle parking and changing facilities in accordance with 
guidelines set down in SPG; 

• Management of conflict between modes of access, including 
vehicles, pedestrians and cyclists; 

• Public transport, including bus stops, bus lanes and interchange 
facilities; 

• Safe vehicular access to the site that does not unreasonably restrict 
the flow of traffic on the adjoining highway network; 

• Traffic and speed management measures; and 
• Car and coach parking and servicing facilities in accordance with 

revised guidelines set down in supplementary planning guidance. 
 
5.243 232 Parking and servicing will be provided, where appropriate in 
accordance with the Council’s adopted standards (currently contained in 
the Access, Circulation & Parking Standards SPG, which is likely to be 
revised prior to the LDP examination). 
 
User Hierarchy 
 
5.244 233  In assessing the transport and access aspects of proposals the 
Council will be more likely to give favourable consideration to 
developments which through their design and layout give priority to 
movements by sustainable travel modes and reflect the user hierarchy in 
Department for Transport Manual for Streets, namely: 
 
 
 
 

Consider First 
 

Pedestrians 

V Cyclists 
V Public Transport Users 

 
V Specialist Service Vehicles (e.g. 

emergency services, waste etc.) 

Page 978



195 
 
 

 
Consider Last Other motor traffic 

 
 
 
Sustainable Travel Choices 
 
5.245 234 Where necessary to mitigate travel impacts, development will 
need to be supported by actions designed to manage travel demand, 
minimise private car use and increase the proportion of journeys made by 
walking, cycling and public transport. Such measures will include although 
not be restricted to: 

• Area based personalised travel planning projects and programmes; 
• Travel Plans including measures to support sustainable travel 

to/from residential areas, workplaces, schools and other significant 
trip generators; Car Clubs and Car Share Schemes;Cycle Training; 
and 

• Promotional/marketing initiatives and campaigns to encourage 
sustainable travel. 
 

5.246 235 These will be secured by way of planning condition and/or a 
Section 106 planning obligation. Where necessary, planning agreements 
will secure resources for survey and monitoring activity required to 
support delivery of specific interventions. 
 
5.247 236 Implementation of this Policy will help to reduce pollution 
arising from road traffic. This will counteract increases in atmospheric 
pollution as a result of the Plan, thereby avoiding significant effects upon 
internationally designated sites. 
 
 
T6: IMPACT ON TRANSPORT NETWORKS AND SERVICES 
Development will not be permitted which would cause 
unacceptable harm to the safe and efficient operation of the 
highway, public transport and other movement networks 
including pedestrian and cycle routes, public rights of 
way and bridle routes. 
 
5.248 237 The purpose of this Policy is to protect the transport network 
and its users from developments which may otherwise cause 
unacceptable harm to the operation and use of key transport networks 
and routes. 
 
T7: STRATEGIC TRANSPORTATION INFRASTRUCTURE 
Support will be given to the development of the following 
elements of strategic transportation infrastructure: 

Page 979



196 
 
 

 
i. Eastern Bay Link; 
ii. St Mellons rail interchange including Park and Ride; and 
iii. New sustainable transport corridor in North West Cardiff 
 
5.249 238 This Policy provides support for three key elements of strategic 
transport infrastructure which are illustrated on the Constraints Map with 
further detailed work informing the precise land take requirements. 
 
5.250 239 The Eastern Bay Link Road is a longstanding aspiration of the 
Council and is featured in the South East Wales Transport Alliance 
(Sewta) Regional Transport Plan (RTP). The road would complete a 
peripheral distributor road running between M4 Junction 33 in North West 
Cardiff and Llanedeyrn Interchange in the East of the city. It would 
provide additional capacity for road-based access to the Cardiff Central 
Enterprise Zone from the East and supporting development in that area. A 
scheme is currently being promoted and developed by the Welsh 
Government. Details of proposed works are not currently available so the 
Constraints Map indicates the extent of the Eastern Bay Link running from 
the Queensgate Roundabout to the A48, Eastern Avenue. 
 
5.251 240 The proposal for a rail station at St Mellons is included in the 
Sewta RTP and Sewta rail Strategy (2013). The station would potentially 
serve the strategic development site south of St Mellons Business Park. It 
could also form part of a future South Wales Metro network including rail 
or rapid transit connections linking central Cardiff to strategic 
developments in and around Newport. Initial work to investigate the 
technical feasibility of a station at St Mellons is currently underway. 
 
5.252 241 The strategic development sites proposed to the West of 
Pentrebane and North of the M4 junction 33 will require effective public 
transport connections. The potential exists to develop a dedicated public 
transport corridor connecting Cardiff city centre to the strategic sites in 
North West Cardiff and strategic development areas beyond Cardiff’s 
boundary in Rhondda Cynon Taff. Such a link can be incorporated within 
the master plans for the strategic sites and form an essential component 
of those developments. Its extension into growth areas within Rhondda 
Cynon Taff also makes the corridor strategically important within a 
regional context. As such it would form a key corridor within a future 
South Wales Metro network. 
 
T8: STRATEGIC RECREATIONAL ROUTES 
A strategic network of recreational routes will be maintained and 
developedto link Cardiff’s coast, river corridors, open spaces, 
countryside, and the regional network of routes, facilitating 

Page 980



197 
 
 

access to them by local communities, and forming an integral part 
of the wider cycling and walking network in Cardiff. 
 
The core strategic network will comprise: 
i. The Taff Trail; 
ii. The Ely Trail; 
iii. The Rhymney Trail; 
iv. The Nant Fawr Trail; 
v. The Bay Trail; 
vi. The Wales Coast Path; and 
vii. The Glamorgan Ridgeway Walk 
 
5.253 242 This Policy sets out the Council’s desire to develop a network of 
recreational routes that will allow everyone in Cardiff to gain easy access 
to local green spaces, and the wider coast and countryside. 
 
5.254 243 The Policy helps to deliver Plan objectives and also accords 
with PPW which seeks to promote provision of safe accessible, convenient 
and well-signed walking and cycling routes and to protect and enhance 
the national cycle network and long-distance routes and footpaths that 
are important tourism and recreation facilities, both in their own right and 
as a means of linking other attractions and local communities. 
 
5.255 244 Wherever possible, the strategic network will make provision 
for access by walkers, cyclists and horse riders, (although access for all is 
limited by practicalities). The core strategic network will be linked to local 
communities and other routes, including permissive paths, public rights of 
way, and open spaces. This will help to provide a range of routes and 
enable everyone to use and enjoy Cardiff’s natural heritage, whilst also 
linking Cardiff to the wider regional network. Local opportunities are 
important for both health and well-being and sustainability reasons. 
 
5.256 245 The development of the coast and river corridor routes are 
particularly important for people living in the southern arc of Cardiff 
where the choice of open spaces, public rights of way network and access 
to the countryside is more limited. The development of a network of safe, 
convenient attractive routes through green spaces will also provide the 
opportunity for more people to use them as part of their everyday 
journeys - to school, work and local community facilities. Development of 
cross border routes into other authority areas together with within 
County routes contribute towards the city’s green tourism offer. 
 
5.257 246 New developments including the proposed Strategic sites, 
adjacent to, the main strategic routes, public rights of way or other 
recreational routes will be expected to respect their existence and 
contribute to their development, or links to them where applicable. 

Page 981



198 
 
 

 
5.258 247 The current extent of the existing core recreational strategic 
network are shown on the Constraints Map, proposals for development of 
these routes including creation of ‘missing’ links are shown on the 
Proposals Map. Where details of proposed new routes are not yet fully 
worked up and agreed with relevant parties, 
such as the Taff Ely Link, routes will not be shown on the Deposit Plan 
Maps but further work will continue to explore their future 
implementation. 
 
5.259 248 The usage of routes will be monitored through cycle counter 
data where deployed together with wider feedback through the Cardiff 
River Valleys initiative. 
 
Policy T9 Cardiff City Region ‘Metro’ network  

The Council will seek to facilitate the development of a future 
regional ‘Metro’ network of integrated public transport routes and 
services within Cardiff and connecting the city with the wider 
south east Wales region, including the development and/or 
enhancement of the following on-highway and off-highway 
infrastructure components: 

i. Existing and new heavy rail routes 

ii. New light rail routes 

iii. Tram 

iv. Tram/train on segregated rails and/or running on street 

v. conventional buses, or guided buses using busways 
completely segregated from the main highway along their 
entire length or for short sections, in combination with use 
of the public highway/bus priority measures on the public 
highway.  

 

vi. conventional buses using dedicated buses lanes and assisted 
by other bus priority measures, in combination with use of 
other carriageway space on the public highway; and 

 

Page 982



199 
 
 

vii. conventional buses using carriageway space on the public 
highway used by general traffic. 

 
 

Where the alignment of a future route which is likely to form part 
of a ‘Metro’ network falls within any part of a development site, 
the Council will, through the development management process, 
seek either to secure provision of the necessary infrastructure as 
part of the development, or otherwise, safeguard the land and 
space required to accommodate the route and potential mode 
options in the future.  This will include requiring a development to 
be designed in a way which does not prejudice the future 
development of the ‘Metro’ route and would enable it to be 
incorporated within the development at a later date.   

5.249 Reasoned justification: The Cardiff City Region Metro is a 
proposal for a metropolitan-style, integrated public transport network 
extending across Cardiff and South East Wales.  The ‘Metro’ is likely to be 
developed in phases over a number of years.  Its purpose is to 
significantly enhance public transport accessibility across the region.  This 
would be achieved by the physical and operational integration of routes 
for different public modes (rail-based and bus-based) and enabling 
provision of frequent, fast and efficient public transport services 
connecting principal settlements and trip destinations in the region.  A 
‘Metro’ network would include points of interchange and be supported by 
integrated timetables and ticketing with a common branding.  In 
combination, these elements would enable people to make daily journeys 
and reach key trip destinations without the need for a car.  This enhanced 
connectivity would have significant economic benefits for Cardiff and the 
wider City Region, as well as easing pressures on key strategic transport 
corridors within and beyond Cardiff boundaries. 

5.250 Potential routes/corridors which would make up the ‘Metro’ network 
have been identified in a series of investigative studies in recent years.  
Future technical work will be led by the Welsh Government in consultation 
with local authorities, land owners, communities and the transport 
industry.  Welsh Government’s National Transport Plan 2015 - 
Consultation Draft (December 2014) National Transport Finance Plan 
2015 ( July 2015)   includes a commitment to progress this work which 

Page 983



200 
 
 

will determine the form of the network and the mix of public transport 
modes on each corridor/route.  

5.251 It is important that development that takes place within the plan 
period does not prejudice the delivery of this regionally important future 
asset.   

5.252 Policies KP2 (A) to KP2(H) include references to improvements to 
the strategic public transport network within the supporting lists of 
‘Essential’ and ’Enabling’ transport infrastructure for the individual LDP 
strategic sites. A number of these measures will potentially form part of 
the future ‘Metro’ network.  

 

5.253 Policy T9 augments Policy KP2 by providing general support for 
the future delivery of the ‘Metro’ and the means by which the Council can, 
through controls exercised through the development management 
process:  

• secure infrastructure forming part of the network; or  

• otherwise, safeguard the route alignment, potential mode options and 
physical space requirements for future ‘Metro’ routes/corridors. 

5.254 This protection with be integrated within the design and layout of 
approved developments.  The policy also provides the basis for resisting 
developments which would prevent or compromise future delivery of a 
‘Metro’ route. 

 
 
5. RETAIL 
 
R1 RETAIL HIERARCHY  

Retail proposals, (including changes of use, redevelopment and 
extensions) will be considered in accordance with the retail 
hierarchy which comprises Central Shopping Area (CSA) at the 
head of the regional hierarchy supported by a range of district 
centres and smaller local centres as identified on the Proposals 
Map. Retail proposals outside centres identified on the Proposals 
Map will be assessed against Policy R4: Retail Development (Out 

Page 984



201 
 
 

of Centre). or Policy R7: Retail Provision within Strategic Sites 
where they form part of an allocated housing led strategic site.   

 

5.255 This policy is a central component of the retail strategy which aims 
to: 

• Sustain and enhance the role of the Central Shopping area at the 
head of the regional shopping hierarchy; 

• Sustain and enhance the vitality, viability and attractiveness of 
district and local centres identified on the Proposals Map. 

• Promote good accessibility to a range of shopping facilities by all 
sections of the community and reduce dependence on car travel for 
shopping trips; and 

• To control the amount, size and nature of out-of-centre retail. 
5.256 The policy establishes the existing hierarchy of centres in line with 
national guidance and favours new and improved retail facilities within the 
Central Shopping Area and at an appropriate scale, within district and 
local centres, whilst non shopping uses will be controlled. This ensures 
that a sequential approach is adopted which means first preference for 
retail proposals should be in existing centres and then for sites 
immediately adjoining these centres. If there are no suitable sites in these 
locations, only then will out-of-centre sites in locations that are accessible 
by a choice of means of transport be considered. 

5.257 Proposals outside centres identified on the Proposals Map will be 
assessed against Policy R4: Retail Development (Out of Centre).  

 

5.258 District and Local Centres within allocated housing led strategic 
sites that develop over the plan period in accordance with Policy R7: 
Retail Provision within Strategic Sites will become designated centres 
within the retail hierarchy and defined on the Proposals Map as part of the 
LDP review. 

 

 
R1 R7RETAIL PROVISION WITHIN STRATEGIC SITES 

Page 985



202 
 
 

Retail development which forms part of the allocated housing led 
Strategic Sites will be assessed against Policy R4 (Retail 
Development (Out of Centre) and will be supported where: 

i. It is of appropriate scale which satisfies an identified local 
need; 

ii. It will not negatively impact on the vitality and viability of 
designated centres. 
ii.iii.It is located along public transport corridors and easily 
accessible by walking and cycling; and 
iii.iv.It forms part of a planned centre which reinforces a sense of 
place 
 
 
5.259 It is recognised that there will be a need for retail provision close to 
where people live to meet the everyday needs of future large scale new 
communities. Such facilities often include a range of small shops, serving 
the local catchment including small supermarkets, newsagents and food 
and drink outlets. The provision of future local shopping within the 
housing development should not negatively impact on the vitality and 
viability of existing designated District or Local Centres. Planning 
applications should also demonstrate that this is the most appropriate 
location for local shopping provision, in relation to public transport and 
design layout. 
 
R2: DEVELOPMENT IN THE CENTRAL SHOPPING AREA 
Development proposals within the Central Shopping Area (CSA) 
will be assessed against the following criteria: 
i. Whether the proposal involves the loss of shop uses (Class A1) 
from within Protected Shopping Frontages; 
ii. Whether the proposal involves retail and other uses which 
enhance the vitality, viability and attractiveness of the city centre; 
iii. Whether the development allows for, or retains the effective 
use of, upper floors; and 
iv. Supports the regeneration, renewal and enhancement of the 
city centre. 
 
5.260 The purpose of this Policy is to allow, monitor and manage the 
diversity of uses within the Central Shopping Area identified on the 
Proposals Map. 
 
5.261 The Central Shopping is the head of the retail hierarchy for Cardiff 
and South East Wales. It offers a range and quality of shopping facilities 
unrivalled in the region, together with a diversity of complementary 
service, leisure, residential and business uses, within a compact and 

Page 986



203 
 
 

accessible area. Despite this, the area is not invulnerable to trends in 
retail location and shifts in consumer demand and expenditure, including 
competition from out-of-centre locations and internet shopping. There is a 
continuing need to improve facilities within the Central Shopping Area in 
order to provide a quantity and quality of shops that will enhance its 
primary shopping role and character, and its vitality, attractiveness and 
viability.  
 
5.263 An appropriate mix of non-shop uses can contribute to vitality, 
attractiveness and viability by introducing a diversity of compatible uses 
within the Central Shopping Area. However, too many can harm the 
primary shopping role and character of shopping streets by reducing their 
attractiveness to shoppers, undermining the viability of remaining shop 
units and reducing the prospect of attracting new retailers and retail 
investment. 
 
R3: PROTECTED SHOPPING FRONTAGES 
Development proposals involving the loss of Class A1 (shop) uses 
within Protected Shopping Frontages will be assessed against the 
following criteria: 
i. The balance and distribution of existing and committed non-
shop uses; 
ii. The amount of A1 floorspace and frontage length being lost; 
iii. Whether, and for how long, the premises have been vacant and 
actively marketed; 
iv. The location, character and prominence of individual premises 
or frontages; 
v. The nature of the proposed use, including whether an 
appropriate shop front and window display is to be provided; and 
vi. The impact of the proposed use upon the amenity of adjacent 
or nearby residents. 
 
5.264 This Policy provides an enhance level of protection for the City 
Centre’s most important shopping streets. The protected frontages are 
identified on the Proposals Map. Supporting Document No. 8 – City Centre 
Protected Frontage Assessment provides the methodology and analysis to 
determine city centre Protected Shopping Frontages and Further guidance 
will be set out in SPG.  

5.265 Proposals will be assessed in terms of their impact cumulatively 
with other existing and committed non-shop uses. Where the application 
frontage is closely related to surrounding frontages (e.g. in narrow or 
pedestrianised streets or arcades) it will be appropriate to consider the 
proposal’s impact on both the application frontage and surrounding 
frontages. 

Page 987



204 
 
 

 
5.266 The Policy allows for other uses (including A2 and A3) at 
appropriate locations within Protected Frontages, provided those uses do 
not, either alone or cumulatively with other non-shopping uses, 
undermine the primary shopping role and character of those frontages or 
groups of frontages. This is intended to maintain the centre’s retail offer 
whilst providing complementary services during normal shopping hours, 
generating pedestrian flows and providing visually interesting and active 
frontages. 
 
5.267 Like offices, it is acknowledged that an element of retail vacancy 
can be created by the natural turnover of businesses or through 
refurbishment. However, long-term vacant shop floorspace is a strong 
indicator of decline, adversely impacting upon perceptions of the high 
street to shoppers and investors. Proposals which seek to bring back into 
beneficial use retail premises which have remained vacant, despite active 
marketing, will be more favourably considered. Temporary or 
“meanwhile” uses can enliven city streets and provide short-term retail, 
business incubation or exhibition space, whilst reducing management and 
maintenance costs to landowners. 
 
 
R4 R6: RETAIL DEVELOPMENT (OUT OF CENTRE) 
 
Retail development will only be permitted outside the Central 
Shopping Area, District and Local Centres identified on the 
Proposals Map if: 
i. There is a need for the proposed floorspace (with precedence 
accorded to establishing quantitative need); 
ii. That need cannot satisfactorily be accommodated within or 
adjacent to the Central Shopping Area, within a District or Local 
Centre; 
iii. The proposal would not cause unacceptable harm to the 
vitality, attractiveness or viability of the Central Shopping Area, a 
District or Local centre or a proposal or strategy including the 
Community Strategy, for the protection or enhancement of these 
centres; 
iv. The site is accessible by a choice of means of transport; and 
v. The proposal is not on land allocated for other uses. This 
especially applies to land designated for employment and housing, 
where retail development can be shown to limit the range and 
quality of sites for such use. 
 
5.268 This Policy identifies the criteria against which proposals for retail 
development outside the Central Shopping Area, District and Local 

Page 988



205 
 
 

Centres identified on the Proposals Map will be assessed in line with PPW 
‘Planning for Retailing and 
Town Centres’. 
 
5.269 This Policy relates to any proposals that introduce additional retail 
floorspace, including redevelopment, extensions (including mezzanine 
floors, where permission for this is required); subdivision; changes of Use 
Class and; variations of planning conditions. The aim is to control the 
nature and size of out- of-centre retail development so as to minimise 
competition with, and impact on the vitality and viability of shopping 
centres identified in the Plan. 
 
5.270 This Policy contributes to protecting and enhancing designated 
shopping centres and resisting out-of-centre retail development that could 
be harmful to District and Local shopping facilities. It supports 
sustainability objectives by encouraging the grouping of retail facilities 
together in easily accessible locations and reducing dependence on 
private transport for shopping trips and helps deliver the strategy by 
developing sustainable communities  
5.271 The sequential test as detailed in PPW aims to direct retail 
developments to existing centres wherever possible or to the edges of 
such centres if sites within the centres are not available. Only where need 
for additional retail floorspace has been demonstrated and there are no 
location in or adjacent to designated centres that could accommodate that 
need, should out-of centre locations be considered. In Cardiff the order of 
preference is: 

 

• Within the Central Shopping Area; 
• On the edge of the Central Shopping Area; 
• Within a District or Local Centre; 
• On the edge of a District of Local Centre; 
• An out-of-centre location accessible by a choice of means of transport. 
 
5.272 The sequential test applies to the level of need agreed between the 

applicant and the Council, not to the development format proposed by 
the applicant. Thus, a series of sites in different centres may 
accommodate and agreed retail need, though the proposal may be for 
large scheme in a single location. The test is not satisfied because a 
retailer considers that a town centre site does not meet its operational 
requirements in principle. It must address whether the types of goods 
proposed could be accommodated in or on the edge of a designated 
centre. 

Page 989



206 
 
 

5.273 PPW acknowledges that some types of retailing, for example selling 
bulky goods and requiring large showrooms, may not be able to find 
appropriate sites in town centres. Such stores should be grouped together 
at locations accessible by a choice of means of transport, encouraging 
linked trips and a reduction in dependence on car travel. Where bulky 
goods development is proposed and it passes the need and sequential 
tests, it will be directed towards existing concentrations of bulky goods 
retailers wherever possible. Similarly, re-use of vacant out-of-centre units 
at locations accessible by a choice of means of transport is preferable to 
new out-of-centre development. Where applications are made to reuse 
vacant units, applicants will be expected to demonstrate how they intend 
to improve the pedestrian environment and linkages. 
 
5.274 Impact will be assessed in terms of both the direct commercial 
impact of a proposal on neighbouring designated centres and of the 
impact on the retail strategy itself. All proposals for out-of-centre 
development that satisfy the tests of retail need and the sequential 
approach must demonstrate that they would not harm designated 
shopping centres or the retail strategy, either in their own right, or in 
conjunction with other recent developments or unimplemented 
permissions.  
 
5.275 Where permission is granted for out-of-centre retail development 
or, in some instances, edge-of-centre development, conditions will be 
attached to control the nature and scale of the retail activity and minimise 
any potential impact on designated centres or the retail strategy. 
 
5.276: In addition, in line with Policy R8, Protection of Local Shopping 
Parades, consideration will also be given to the impact of out of centre 
retailing on local shops selling convenience goods in smaller shopping 
parades outside of designated centre. 

5.277 Contributions will be negotiated from out of centre retail 
developments towards environmental improvement in the nearest District 
or Local Centre to mitigate adverse impacts, in line with the policy on 
Planning Obligations. Further details are provided in District and Local 
Centre Strategy. 
 
5.278 The Council monitors the vitality, attractiveness and viability of 
designated centres. All applications for out-of-centre retailing will be 

Page 990



207 
 
 

expected to examine the health of centres, including shopping parades 
most likely to be affected and their likely impact. 
 
5.279 Proposals for out-of-centre retail development are likely to require 
assessment against a range of other Policy considerations including traffic 
and transportation implications. 
 
 
R5 4: DISTRICT CENTRES  

 

Retail, office, leisure and community facilities will be favoured 
within the following District Centres identified on the Proposal 
Map: 

(1) Albany Road / Wellfield Road 

(2) City Road 

(3) Clifton Street 

(4) Cowbridge Road East 

(5) Crwys Road/ Woodville Road 

(6) Bute Street/James Street 

(7) Merthyr Road, Whitchurch 

(8) Penarth Road/Clare Road 

(9) St Mellons 

(10) Thornhill 

(11) Whitchurch Road 

 

This will be subject to: 

(i) The proposal being of a scale appropriate to the particular 
centre; 

(ii) The location of business offices (Class B1) above the ground 
floor, 

Page 991



208 
 
 

(iii) Proposals not impeding the effective use of upper floors. 

(iv) Proposals for uses other than Class A1 being permitted at 
ground floor level if they would not cause unacceptable harm 
to the predominant shopping role and character of the centre, 
the vitality, attractiveness and viability of a specific frontage 
or group of frontages; 

 

Unacceptable harm should take account of: 

 

• The existing level and nature of non-shopping uses within the 
centre as a whole  

• The size of the retail unit in relation to the overall size of a 
centre or a specific group of frontages; and 

• The distribution and proximity of non-shopping uses within a 
frontage. 

 

Proposals that result in, or add to a continuous stretch of non-
shopping uses (3 or more units in non-shopping use) will be less 
favourably considered 

 

Applications for changes of use that involve new non-shopping 
uses in vacant premises will be considered in light of the 
following: 

 

• The vacancy rate in the surrounding area; and  

Whether, and for how long, the premises have remained vacant 
whilst being actively marketed for their existing or previous use.  
 
5.280 The aim of this Policy is to promote and protect the shopping role 
of District Centres while supporting a mix of appropriate uses. The District 
Centres identified in Policy R4 are defined on the Proposals Map (and in 
Appendix X) New text  
 

Page 992



209 
 
 

5.281 PPW acknowledges that a range of uses as well as shops are 
appropriate within centres. These include financial and professional 
services (A2) and food and drink uses (A3). In general, proposals for such 
uses will be permitted where they would not cause unacceptable harm to 
the primary shopping function of the centre or the vitality, attractiveness 
or viability of its shopping frontages, by virtue of their number or location. 
What is deemed as unacceptable harm will depend upon the nature of 
each centre which will have its own individual characteristics. 
 
5.282 The size and character of District Centres means that they are 
more likely to be able to satisfactorily accommodate a greater range and 
mix of non-retail uses including businesses offices and commercial leisure 
facilities. 
 
5.283 Where a change of use from an A1 retail unit to a non-shopping use 
(use class other than A1) is proposed, the assessment in terms of 
unacceptable harm should take account of: 

• The existing level and nature of non-shopping uses within the 
centre as a whole (This should also take into consideration the 
number of premises, and 

• whether any have unimplemented planning consent for non-
shopping uses); 

• The size of the retail unit (frontage length and floorspace) in 
relation to the overall size of a centre or a specific group of 
frontages; and 

• The distribution and proximity of non-shopping uses within a 
frontage. 

 
5.284 It is important that non-shopping uses are dispersed as much as 
possible in order to limit harm to the shopping role and character of a 
centre. Proposals that result in, or add to a continuous stretch of non-
shopping uses (3 or more units in non-shopping use) will be less 
favourably considered, as they will fragment the shopping frontage. 
 
5.285 A high level of vacancy is often an indicator of poor retail 
performance, reduced levels of demand and/or investor confidence, and 
can be harmful to the vitality, attractiveness and viability of an area in the 
long-term. Applications for changes of use that involve new non-shopping 
uses in vacant premises will, therefore, be considered in light of the 
following: 

• The vacancy rate in the surrounding area; and 
• Whether, and for how long, the premises have remained vacant 

whilst being actively marketed for their existing or previous use. 
 
5.286 This Policy will favour business class offices above ground floor 
level within District Centres. At ground floor level, only professional and 

Page 993



210 
 
 

financial (A2) offices with a shop front will be acceptable. B1 uses do not 
provide an active frontage or service to visiting members of the public. 
 
5.287 The provision of residential accommodation at upper floors within 
centres can support their vitality, attractiveness and viability. However, it 
is recognised that District Centres cannot offer the same degree of 
amenity as purely residential areas. To enable opportunities for offices 
and other appropriate business uses at upper floors within District 
Centres, it may be necessary to allow the change of use of premises in 
residential use. 
 
5.288 A District Centres Strategy has been prepared to raise the profile of 
District Centres within Cardiff and provide a framework and justification 
for the preparation of individual Action Plans for priority District Centres. 
This Strategy also acts as a reference point for co-ordinated working 
between service providers; a mechanism for attracting inward investment 
and securing funding for improvements within these designated centres. 
 
R6 5: LOCAL CENTRES 

 

Retail, office, leisure and community facilities will be favoured 
within the following Local Centres identified on the Proposal Map: 

(1) Birchgrove 

(2) Bute Street (Loudoun Square) 

(3) Cathedral Road 

(4) Countisbury Avenue 

(5) Caerau Lane 

(6) Fairwater Green 

(7) Gabalfa Avenue 

(8) Grand Avenue 

(9) High Street,  Llandaff 

(10) Maelfa, Llanedeyrn 

(11) Newport Road, Rumney 

(12) Rhiwbina Village 

Page 994



211 
 
 

(13) Salisbury Road 

(14) Splott Road 

(15) Station Road, Llanishen 

(16) Station Road, Llandaff North 

(17) Station Road, Radyr 

(18) Tudor Street 

(19) Willowbrook Drive 

(20) Wilson Road 

 

This will be subject to: 

(i) The proposal being of a scale appropriate to the particular 
centre; 

(ii) The retention of residential accommodation at upper floors; 

(iii) Proposals for uses other than Class A1 (except business 
offices class B1) being permitted at ground floor level if they 
would not cause unacceptable harm to the predominant 
shopping role and character of the centre, the vitality, 
attractiveness and viability of a specific frontage or group of 
frontages; 

 

Unacceptable harm should take account of: 

 

• The existing level and nature of non-shopping uses within the 
centre as a whole  

• The size of the retail unit in relation to the overall size of a 
centre or a specific group of frontages; and 

• The distribution and proximity of non-shopping uses within a 
frontage. 

 

Page 995



212 
 
 

Proposals that result in, or add to a continuous stretch of non-
shopping uses (3 or more units in non-shopping use) will be less 
favourably considered 

 

Applications for changes of use that involve new non-shopping 
uses in vacant premises will be considered in light of the 
following: 

 

• The vacancy rate in the surrounding area; and  

• Whether, and for how long, the premises have remained 
vacant whilst being actively marketed for their existing or 
previous use.  

 
5.289 The aim of this Policy is to promote and protect the shopping role 
of Local centres while supporting a mix of appropriate uses.  The Local 
Centres identified in Policy R5 are defined on the Proposals Map (and in 
Appendix 8) New text 
 
5.290 PPW acknowledges that a range of uses as well as shops are 
appropriate within centres. These include financial and professional 
services (A2) and food and drink uses (A3). In general, proposals for such 
uses will be permitted where they would not cause unacceptable harm to 
the primary shopping function of the centre  
or the vitality, attractiveness or viability of it shopping frontages, by 
virtue of their number or location. What is deemed as unacceptable harm 
will depend upon the nature of each centre which will have its own 
individual characteristics.  
 
5.291 Local Centres are generally smaller in size and variety of uses. 
Local Centres are generally more residential in nature than District 
Centres and do not have the scale or variety of retail and non-retail uses. 
As a consequence proposals other than A1 may be more difficult to 
satisfactorily accommodate than in District Centres. Within Local Centres, 
the Policy stance is to discourage significant office or commercial leisure 
developments and give greater emphasis to safeguarding residential 
amenity. At ground floor level, only professional and financial (A2) offices 
with a shop front will be acceptable, provided they do not cause 
unacceptable harm to the vitality, and viability of the centre. In relation to 
A3 uses more emphasis will be placed on closing times, and the type of 
premises. 

Page 996



213 
 
 

 
5.292 Where a change of use from an A1 retail unit to a non-shopping 
use (use class other than A1) is proposed, the assessment in terms of 
unacceptable harm should take account of: 

• The existing level and nature of non-shopping uses within the 
centre as a whole (This should also take into consideration the 
number of premises,  

• whether any have unimplemented planning consent for non-
shopping uses); 

• The size of the retail unit (frontage length and floorspace) in 
relation to the overall size of a centre or a specific group of 
frontages; and 

• The distribution and proximity of non-shopping uses within a 
frontage. 

 
5.293 It is important that non-shopping uses are dispersed as much as 
possible in order to limit harm to the shopping role and character of a 
centre. Proposals that result in, or add to a continuous stretch of non-
shopping uses (3 or more units in non-shopping use) will be less 
favourably considered, as they will fragment the shopping frontage. 
 
5.294 A high level of vacancy is often an indicator of poor retail 
performance, reduced levels of demand and/or investor confidence, and 
can be harmful to the vitality, attractiveness and viability of an area in the 
long-term. Applications for changes of use that involve new non-shopping 
uses in vacant premises will, therefore, be considered in light of the 
following: 

• The vacancy rate in the surrounding area; and 
• Whether, and for how long, the premises have remained vacant 

whilst being actively marketed for their existing or previous use. 
 
5.295 Loss of residential units will generally be resisted at upper floors in 
Local Centres where the characteristics of the premises and their location 
remain suitable for residential use. 
 
Insert new paragraph after paragraph 5.295 
In addition to local centres identified on the proposals Map, there are 
numerous smaller groups of shops and individual ‘corner shops’ across 
the county that provide valuable shopping facilities to surrounding 
communities. Proposals that could lead to the loss of such local shops will 
be assessed having regard to the role of those shops in meeting local 
shopping needs and the viability of the premises for continued shopping 
use.  Planning Policy Wales recognises the important economic and social 
role of such local shopping facilities to communities. 

Page 997



214 
 
 

 
5.296 Further information on centre designations is contained in 
Supporting Document No. 7 – District and Local Centres. 
 
 
R 7 8: FOOD AND DRINK USES 
 
Food and Drink Uses are most appropriately located in: 
i. The City Centre (Central Business Area) 
ii. The inner harbour/waterfront area of Cardiff Bay (Bay Business 
Area) 
iii. District and Local Centres 
Subject to amenity considerations, highway matters, crime and 
fear of crime considerations, and where they do not cause 
unacceptable harm to the shopping role and character of 
designated centres. Food and drink uses are unlikely to be 
acceptable within or adjacent to residential areas, where they 
would cause nuisance and loss of amenity, or result in the loss of 
a residential property. 
 
5.297 Food and drink uses, including restaurants and hot food take-
aways, are better located in designated centres where they can 
complement and enhance the existing shopping role, increase footfall and 
are accessible by public transport. Such uses are better located in 
designated centres than residential areas because of the impact they can 
have in terms of vehicular and pedestrian traffic, noise, fumes, litter, late 
night disturbance. The Central and Bay Business Areas, and District 
Centres are more likely to be able to satisfactorily accommodate A3 uses 
without causing unacceptable harm, due to their size and character. 
However, concentrations of such uses in centres can cause harm, either 
to residential amenity within or adjoining the centre, or to the 
predominant shopping role and character of the centre and its vitality, 
attractiveness and viability. 
 
5.298 Food and drink uses are acceptable in principle, within the City 
Centre. It is recognised that such uses can contribute to the range and 
choice of facilities available to residents, promote the evening economy 
and may also support tourism. However, new A3 proposals at ground and 
upper floor level will need to be assessed against Policy R3. This Policy is 
intended to ensure that food and drink uses as well as other non-shopping 
uses, do not harm the shopping role, character and vitality of the City 
Centre. 
 
5.299 Food and drink uses are also complementary, in principle, to the 
main shopping role of District and Local Centres, so long as they do not 
adversely affect the living environment of nearby residents, or with other 

Page 998



215 
 
 

non-shopping uses, reach such a level that they undermine the shopping 
character of the area in accordance with Policies R5  R4 District Centres 
and R6 R5 Local Centres.  
 
5.300 Local Centres and smaller neighbourhood centres are generally 
more residential in nature, and do not have the scale or variety of retail 
and non-retail uses of larger centres. Therefore, A3 proposals may be 
more difficult to accommodate, and are less likely to be acceptable on 
amenity grounds (e.g. potential noise and 
disturbance, anti-social behaviour and litter associated with this type of 
development proposal). As a consequence more emphasis will be placed 
on protecting residential amenity within these centres through restricting 
closing times and the type of A3 premises. 
 
5.301 Outside District and Local Centres and the Central and Bay 
Business Areas proposals for A3 uses are unlikely to be acceptable in, or 
adjacent to, predominantly residential areas because of their impact on 
residential amenity and potential to cause nuisance from noise and odour. 
 
5.302 Food and drink proposals within existing employment areas will be 
considered against Policy EC2 Provision of complementary facilities for 
employees in business, industrial and warehousing development. 
 
5.303 Proposals for A3 uses within 400 metres of a school will be 
considered against Policy C7 Health and the related Health SPG. 

5.304 Further guidance on the application of this Policy will be set out the 
Food and 
Drink Uses in SPG. 
 
Policy R8 PROTECTION OF LOCAL SHOPPING PARADES 

 

Proposals that would lead to the loss of local shops outside of 
identified centres will be assessed having regard to the role of 
those shops in meeting local shopping needs and the viability of 
the premises for continued retail use 

 

5.305 In addition to the District and Local Centres identified on the 
Proposals Map there are numerous smaller local shopping parades across 
the County. Although these have a smaller more limited retail offer, they 

Page 999



216 
 
 

provide easily accessible valuable shopping provision to surrounding 
communities. 

 

5.306 For the purpose of this Policy the definition of a local parade is a 
cluster of 3 or more A1 retail units (i.e. newsagents, convenience store, 
off-licence) with 

supporting A2, A3, or D1 uses that function as a group of units capable of 
serving the needs of the local resident catchment population. 

 

5.307 In such areas the Policy will seek to protect and retain local 
convenience shops, because of the importance of these uses for meeting 
the everyday needs of those living locally. Proposals for development 
within such areas must relate to the scale, role and function of the local 
shopping parade and will be determined on individual merit. Individual 
‘corner shops’, have an important role in areas which are relatively 
remote from other shops particularly convenience retail. This is especially 
important for residents who are less mobile or do not have access to 
private transport. 

 

5.308 It should be noted that many shops within a local shopping parade 
are independently run and can therefore become vacant as a result of 
retirement by the proprietor rather than a fall in business sales or 
patronage. 

 

5.309 In terms of assessing the viability of the premises for continued 
retail use, the applicant will need to provide evidence of active marketing 
if a retail unit is vacant, taking into consideration the fact that a recently 
vacated unit may have the potential to attract an A1 use. 

 

5.310 The role and function of local shopping parades should be protected 
from out of centre retail development that could potentially harm their 
vitality and viability. Such schemes will need to be considered against 
Policy R4. 

Page 1000



217 
 
 

6. COMMUNITY 
 
 
C1: COMMUNITY FACILITIES 
 
Proposals for new and improved community facilities, health and 
religious facilities will be encouraged, subject to the following 
criteria being satisfied: 
i. The facility would be readily accessible to the local community it 
is intended to serve by public transport, walking and cycling; 
ii. The facility would not unduly prejudice the amenities of 
neighbouring and nearby residential occupiers; 
iii. The facility would not detract from the character and 
appearance of a property or the locality; 
iv. The facility will not lead to unacceptable parking or traffic 
problems; 
v. The facility is designed with the greatest possible flexibility and 
adaptability to accommodate additional community uses without 
compromising its primary intended use. 
 
5.311 For the purpose of this Policy, community facilities are defined as 
non-commercial facilities used by local communities for leisure and social 
purposes. This constitutes including community centres and meeting 
places, community halls, community learning, leisure centres, libraries 
and youth centres. Religious facilities also often provide for wider 
community provision. Health facilities would include doctors and dentists 
surgeries which serve the local community. 

 
5.302 New Paragraph - Other uses of a commercial nature within the 
D1/D2 use class should be located within the Central and Bay Business 
Areas, and in District and Local centres of an appropriate scale. 

 
5.312 303 If development occurs without consideration being given to the 
adequacy of existing community facilities, this can place a strain on 
existing facilities, to the detriment of the local community. As a result, 
there is a need to ensure that adequate local facilities are provided to 
meet the future demands of local communities. 
 
5.313 304 The provision of community facilities should go hand in hand 
and be integrated with new development. Providing a range of community 
facilities that are accessible to as many people as possible is fundamental 
in terms of securing sustainable communities. Such facilities are valuable 
not only in terms of the amenity they provide, but are also important in 

Page 1001



218 
 
 

generating employment and attracting people to live within an area. 
Whilst, it is recognised that there are many competing needs for the 
development and use of land the Council is committed to ensuring that 
there are adequate facilities to serve residents within new strategic 
housing allocations. 
 
5.314 05 New strategic housing developments allocated in Policy KP2 will 
be required to ensure that sufficient new community facilities are 
provided and integrated within the development to serve the needs of 
future and existing residents. This will be achieved through planning 
obligations or the community infrastructure levy as appropriate (see 
Policies KP6 and KP7). 
 
5.315  06 On all other significant residential developments, the Council 
will seek to enter into negotiations with prospective developers to secure 
land, buildings and or financial contributions towards community facilities 
arising from the needs of residential development. This is because the 
increased population will result in increased demand for local community 
facilities. Further guidance on this will be set out in SPG. 
 
5.316 07 Community facilities, health uses (including doctors and dental 
surgeries) and religious facilities will be favoured within District or Local 
Centres where appropriate, however, where such uses cannot be 
satisfactorily accommodated within centres, proposals on the edge of 
centres or within residential areas (to include the conversion or 
redevelopment of existing residential premises) will be favourably 
considered provided that issues of residential amenity, urban design 
(Policy KP5), and transportation are appropriately addressed. 
Furthermore, if the residential area falls within a Conservation Area, the 
proposed development should not detract from its character, nor should it 
have any negative impact on the built heritage assets (Policy KP17). 

 

C2: Protection of Existing Community Facilities: 
 

Proposals involving the loss or change of use of buildings 
currently or last used for community facilities will only be 
permitted if: 
i) An alternative facility of at least equal quality and scale to meet 
community needs is available or will be provided within the 
vicinity and or; 
ii) It can be demonstrated that the existing provision is surplus to 
the needs of the community. 

Page 1002



219 
 
 

 
5.308 Existing community facilities are widely available throughout the 
City.  Ensuring an adequate provision is maintained, is very important in 
order to encourage social interaction, improve health and well-being and 
reduce inequalities between different communities.  The retention of 
existing facilities will therefore be sought unless it can be demonstrated 
that the above criteria can be met.  
 
5.309 Whilst this policy will apply to both commercial and non-
commercial uses which provide a social or welfare benefit to the 
community, community land and buildings are of particular importance. 
This includes land and buildings that are managed and used primarily by 
the voluntary and community sector for community-led activities. 
 
5.310 In order to satisfy criterion ii) of the policy it will be necessary to 
demonstrate that continued use as community facility is no longer viable 
giving consideration to; appropriate marketing, and local need and 
demand for the existing community facility. 
 
C23: COMMUNITY SAFETY/CREATING SAFE ENVIRONMENTS 
 
All new development and redevelopment shall be designed to 
promote a safe and secure environment and minimise the 
opportunity for crime. In particular development shall: 
i. Maximise natural surveillance of areas which may be vulnerable 
to crime such as publicly accessible spaces, open space, car 
parking areas and footpaths; 
ii. Have well defined routes, spaces and entrances that provide 
convenient movement without compromising security; 
iii. Maintain perceptible distinction between public and private 
spaces 
through well defined boundaries and defensible space; 
iv. Provide a good standard of lighting to public spaces and routes 
while 
minimising energy use and light pollution; and 
v. Be designed with management and maintenance in mind, to 
discourage 
crime in the present and future. 
 
5.317 1The aim of this Policy is to achieve a uniform and consistent 
standard of security through considerate design without compromising the 
character or attractiveness of the local area. Incorporating security 
considerations into the design of new developments and redevelopments 

Page 1003



220 
 
 

will enable natural surveillance and create a sense of ownership and 
responsibility. 
 
5.318 12 Designing out crime contributes to Policy KP5.  Further detailed 

information relating to the objectives of this Policy can be found at 
www.securedbydesign.com. in the Cardiff Community Safety 
Partnership’s guidance “As Safe as Houses – Crime and the Built 
Environment” (May 2006).  

 
5.3193 The Council has responsibility under section 17 of the Crime and 
Disorder Act (1998) to take account of the need to deter and prevent 
crime in carrying out all its responsibilities, which include planning. Used 
sensitively, the planning system can be influential in producing active, 
well managed environments that help to discourage crime and disorder by 
encouraging developers to adopt designs for new development that take 
the security of people and property into account. Developments should be 
encouraged to incorporate the principles and practices of the ‘Secured by 
Design’ Award Scheme, and reflect both the safety of people and the 
security of property. 
 
5.320 14 Any design solution or security measures should remain 
sensitive to local circumstances and their degree and application should 
reflect the characters and amenity of the area. There should be a 
balanced approach to design which attempts to reconcile the visual 
quality of a development with the needs of crime prevention. 
Developments can be made secure without resorting to razor wire, grilles, 
bars, unsightly types of fencing and other visually intrusive security 
measures, if safety and security is considered at an early stage of the 
design process. 
 
5.321 15 Prior to submitting detailed proposals, developers are 
encouraged to seek advice by engaging in pre-application discussions with 
the South Wales Police Architectural Liaison Officer (ALO)  Crime 
Prevention Design Officer on designing out crime, and any 
recommendations received should be taken into consideration in relation 
to the development proposal. Where there are other significant interests 
(for example, the setting of Listed Buildings) a balanced compromise 
must be agreed.  Developers are further encouraged to submit 
statements in conjunction with planning applications that emphasise and 
clearly demonstrate the proposed measures taken to design out crime. 
 

Page 1004



221 
 
 

5.322 16 In appropriate cases,where crime prevention or the fear of 
crime is considered material to a proposed development the Council may 
consider imposing community safety conditions or seek developer 
contributions via legal agreements for crime prevention through 
environmental design (CPTED), community safety initiatives, improved 
street lighting,alley gating, provision of CCTV, landscaping improvements 
or other necessary security measures. This is in accordance with Policy 
KP7. 
 
5.323 17 Terrorist attacks within the UK have become a distinct possibility 
in recent years, posing a real and serious threat. Measures to mitigate 
against the occurrence and effects of terrorism attacks should be 
designed in from the outset of a development proposal. For example, 
through protection from flying glass and vehicle access controls to 
underground car parks and areas of potential high risk. These measures 
must be balanced with good design principles to ensure against the 
creation of a "fortress" appearance. It is recommended that where major 
development is proposed within a place defined by the Home Office as a 
"crowded place", the design statement accompanying the application 
should set out the measures undertaken to meet these principles. It is 
recommended that advice is sought from a Counter Terrorism Security 
Advisor during the design stage. (Refer to WECTU (Wales Extremism and 
Counter Terrorism Unit) for further advice). 
 
 
C34: PROTECTION OF OPEN SPACE 
Development will not be permitted on areas of open space unless: 
i. It would not cause or exacerbate a deficiency of open space in 
accordance with the most recent open space study; and 
ii. The open space has no significant functional or amenity value; 
and 
iii. The open space is of no significant quality; or 
iv. The developers make satisfactory compensatory provision; and, 
in all cases; 
v. The open space has no significant nature or historic 
conservation importance. 
 
5.324 18The aim of this Policy is to protect open space that has 
significant functional, conservation, environmental or amenity value. It 
applies to all areas of open space within the County. 
 

Page 1005



222 
 
 

5.325 19The Policy will help protect the current network of open spaces in 
Cardiff and work toward delivering Policy KP13 and LDP objectives related 
to maintaining and enhancing a network of green space and corridors. 
 
5.326 20The Policy is in accordance with the Wales Spatial Plan, PPW and 
Technical Advice Note 16: Sport Recreation and Open Space (2010) which 
requires that all types of open space are protected, particularly where it 
has a strategic countywide importance. 
 
5.327 21 The various types of open space in Cardiff are listed and 
explained in detail in the Cardiff Open Space SPG. Open Space is also 
shown on the Constraints Map which accompanies the LDP. However, for 
the purposes of this Policy, functional green space includes land that can 
accommodate formal and / or informal recreational uses including 
sporting use and children’s play.  
 
5.328 22Proposals for development on areas of open space will be 
assessed against a functional green space requirement of 2.43 hectares 
per 1,000. This is explained in more detail under Policy C4. 
 
5.329 23 In assessing the functional and amenity value of an area of open 
space, regard will also be given to whether it serves a purely local 
function or has more strategic countywide importance. Special protection 
will be afforded to open space that has strategic countywide importance 
whether for functional, amenity or wildlife 
purposes. 
 
5.330 24 The quality of an area of open space will be assessed having 
regard to issues 
such as: 

• Accessibility; 
• Biodiversity; 
• Facilities; 
• Management and maintenance; 
• Contribution to local amenity; 
• Contribution to recreation; and 
• Strategic value. 

 
5.331 25 Where a development proposal involving the loss of open space 
would exacerbate a local or countywide deficiency of functional open 
space, compensatory provision for open space or alternative provision of 
equivalent community benefit may be acceptable. This is explained 
further in the Open Space SPG. 
 

Page 1006



223 
 
 

5.332 26 The appropriateness of compensatory open space or 
replacement facilities will be assessed having regard to the importance of 
the resource to be lost and the needs of the locality. Compensatory 
provision should:  

• Contribute towards meeting the needs of the local community; 
• Be of at least equal value to that being lost; 
• Be reasonably related to the original site to serve the population 

affected by the loss; 
• Be provided in accordance with the Open Space SPG; and 
• Be agreed between the Council and the developer. 

 
5.333 27 Corridors and networks of open space, like the river valleys, 
have strategic importance in terms of recreation, amenity and wildlife. 
The corridors of the rivers Ely, Taff, Rhymney and the Nant Fawr 
(identified on the Proposals Map) are a particularly important resource 
within both the urban and rural context, linking the waterfront and the 
urban area with the countryside. Specific protection of river valleys is set 
out in Policy EN4. 
 
5.334 28 Many areas of open space have value for nature conservation. 
Some are designated for their international, national or local importance, 
while others contribute more generally to biodiversity. Some areas also 
have historic conservation importance. These include Historic Gardens 
and Parks, land within Conservation Areas and land that provides the 
setting for Ancient Monuments or other archaeological remains. 
 
5.335 29 The implementation of policies designed to provide and protect 
public open space throughout Cardiff would also serve to offset any 
increase in recreational pressure on the Cardiff Beech Woods SAC, 
thereby helping to avoid the likelihood that this LDP will have a significant 
effect upon this site. 
 
5.336 30 The protection of open space Policy will be assessed each year 
in the Annual Monitoring Report. The loss of open space is a Core 
Indicator required by Welsh Government and will be monitored on an 
annual basis, forming part of the Open Space Assessment. 
 
C45: PROVISION FOR OPEN SPACE, OUTDOOR RECREATION, 
CHILDREN’S PLAY AND SPORT 
 

Page 1007



224 
 
 

Provision for open space, outdoor recreation, children’s play and 
sport will be sought in conjunction with all new residential 
developments. This policy is aimed at securing the provision or 
improvement of open space and other appropriate outdoor 
recreation and sport in conjunction with all new residential 
developments over 8 units and on site provision of functional open 
space in conjunction with all new residential developments over 
14 units. The appropriate amount of multi functional green space 
is based on a minimum of 2.43 hectares of functional open space 
per 1,000 projected population. All other open space provision will 
be in addition to the provision of multi functional green space. 
 
5.337 This Policy will help enhance the existing network of green spaces 
and provide increased opportunities for healthy recreation and leisure 
activities in line with LDP objectives for sustainable living. Improving the 
provision of open space is particularly important in some areas of South 
Cardiff where communities have poorer access to areas of open space. 
 
5.338 Obtaining functional open space and appropriate provision for sport 
through the development process is provided for in PPW. It explains that 
Local Planning Authorities may be justified in seeking Section 106 
Planning Agreements to contribute to the maintenance of safe and 
attractive facilities and open space, and to meet the needs of new 
communities. 
 
5.339 This Policy applies to all new proposed housing developments, 
redevelopment schemes, conversions and mixed-use developments 
containing housing, sheltered housing and student accommodation over 8 
units. 
 
5.340 The Open Space SPG sets out detailed guidance on how the 
provision of functional open space, outdoor recreation, children’s play and 
sport from new residential developments will be assessed and managed. 
It explains that the amount of open space provision generated by a 
housing proposal will be assessed in relation to its type and density. 
Consideration will also be given to the availability and adequacy of 
existing functional open space within the surrounding area. The Council 
will therefore seek to secure a range of improvements for accessible, high 
quality open space, sport and outdoor recreation provision, as appropriate 
to the particular site and development proposal. 

Page 1008



225 
 
 

 
5.341 These may include one or more of the following: 

• Provision of as much necessary open space provision as possible, on 
site or on readily accessible sites; 

• Contribution towards the improvement of existing open space 
facilities on readily accessible sites; 

• Improvements to the network of recreational routes and open 
spaces; and 

• Improvements to the public realm (in line with Policy KP5, High 
quality and sustainable design and improved public access to 
waterfront areas. 

 
5.342 Due to the shortage of open space and recreation facilities in 
central and inner parts of the city and the limited opportunities for 
improvement, provision for open space and/or improving links with 
nearby open spaces may be sought on large-scale commercial 
developments in accordance with Policy KP7 on Planning Obligations. 
 
5.343 As a general rule, provision of a satisfactory level and standard of 
open space will be sought on all new residential developments. For those 
developments of 14 or more dwellings the amount of on-site open 
space provision is calculated from the projected population of the 
development and the application of the minimum standard of 2.43 
hectares of functional open space per 1,000 population. However this 
standard will be applied flexibly in recognition that: 

• In certain circumstances, provision of all-weather facilities can be 
more effective than traditional pitches; 

• Changing trends in sport, recreation and leisure and the importance 
of providing outdoor and indoor facilities; and 

• Achievement of provision in strict accordance with the standard can 
sometimes be impractical and/or inappropriate on previously 
developed sites. 
 

5.344 Open spaces should be designed in line with Cardiff Open Space 
SPG guidelines to create a landscaped open space which fulfils its function 
with efficiency, can be maintained in a viable condition and contributes to 
the welfare and appearance of the environment. Functional open spaces 
can fulfil a number of roles including minimising vandalism, increasing 
privacy, providing wildlife habitats and minimising the intrusion of noise 
and air pollution. 

Page 1009



226 
 
 

 
5.345 The implementation of policies designed to provide and protect 
public open space throughout Cardiff would also serve to offset any 
increase in recreational pressure on the Cardiff Beech Woods SAC, 
thereby helping to avoid the likelihood that this LDP will have a significant 
effect upon this site. 
 
 
C5: PROVISION FOR ALLOTMENTS AND COMMUNITY GROWING 
 
Provision for allotments and/or community growing areas will be 
sought on new residential developments over 46 units and on all 
developments over 1800, provision of a 40 plot allotment site will 
be sought, increasing on a pro-rata basis for larger sites. 
 
5.346 Where the provision of land for allotments is not possible, provision 
will be sought for land for community growing. This would include such 
uses as community spaces, community farms, communal gardens, 
orchards and community harvesting schemes. 
 
5.347 The role of allotments and community growing areas in contributing 
towards sustainable communities, healthy living and improved interaction 
between different social and age groups is recognised in PPW and TAN 16: 
Open Space (2008). 
Further information is set out in the Cardiff Allotment Strategy and Open 
Space SPG. 
 
5.348 Allotments and community growing areas play an important open 
space function particularly in urban areas and can help enhance 
biodiversity, provide opportunities for recreation and improve the quality 
of life. 
 
5.349 Provision for allotments and community growing areas helps work 
towards delivering Plan Objectives and key policies. 
5.350 For developments over 46 units, the Council will seek to secure 
financial contributions towards off-site provision of increased allotment or 
community growing space or improving and enhancing existing allotments 
or community growing areas. 
 

Page 1010



227 
 
 

5.351 For developments over 1800 units, the Council will seek to secure 
the provision of a new 40 plot allotment site, increasing on a pro-rata 
basis for developments over 1800 units. The developer would be required 
to provide and fence the land and provide a financial contribution to lay 
out the allotments site and all associated infrastructure. The Council 
would then subsequently adopt the allotments and provide for future 
management and maintenance, including the designation of the site as a 
statutory allotment area. 
 
5.352 The required standard for allotment size and the calculation for off-
site contributions towards allotments and community growing areas are 
covered in greater detail in the Open Space SPG. 
 
C6: PROVISION FOR CHILDREN’S PLAY 
Provision for children’s play should be an essential element of the 
layout of new developments. Access to at least three different 
types of outdoor play provision as indicated below shall be 
provided within 400m of family homes within new developments. 
 
5.353 This Policy and the associated model for play provision seeks to 
ensure that that the developmental needs of children to access varied 
play opportunities are properly provided for in new developments and do 
not rely exclusively on the provision of a limited number of equipment 
play areas. 
 
5.354 The inclusion of private gardens as a location for play will ensure 
that those developments that do not have access to private gardens will 
require a greater level of alternative provision for play, which could 
include child friendly streets and safe access to good quality open space 
as well as the provision of accessible playgrounds in accordance with 
Policy T1. 
 
C7: HEALTH 
 
Priority in new developments will be given to reducing health 
inequalities and encouraging healthy lifestyles through: 
i. Identifying sites for new health facilities, reflecting the spatial 
distribution of need, ensuring they are accessible and have the 
potential to be shared by different service providers; and 

Page 1011



228 
 
 

ii. Ensuring that they provide a physical and built environment 
that supports interconnectivity, active travel choices, promotes 
healthy lifestyles and enhances road safety; and 
iii. Managing the location of fast food takeaways to appropriate 
locations; and in all cases; 

v. Demonstrating that the effect of new developments on 
health is taken into account. 

 
5.355 This Policy aims to improve the health of Cardiff’s population by 
seeking to secure new health facilities in areas most at need, requiring 
that the built environment fosters healthy lifestyles, managing the 
location of fast food takeaways and ensuring that health is a key 
consideration in new developments. 
 
5.356 The Policy seeks to address health inequalities in Cardiff where the 
difference in life expectancy between some wards is up to 12 years 
(Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation 2011). It gives greater detail on the 
Key Policy KP14 on Health and helps work towards delivering LDP 
objectives relating to health and one of the main strategic outcomes of 
the Cardiff Partnership Strategy ‘people in Cardiff are healthy’. 
 
5.357 It accords with the aim of PPW in delivering sustainable 
development by ensuring that health is taken account of in new 
developments and assists a number of PPW objectives regarding travel 
and access to key community facilities. It also helps deliver a number of 
objectives regarding healthy lifestyles, sport and recreation in accordance 
with Our Healthy Future (Welsh Government 2009) and Fairer Health 
Outcomes for All (Welsh Government 2011). 
 
5.358 This Policy reflects the fact that ‘health considerations can be 
material considerations in determining planning applications.’ (PPW 
12.13.8) The effect of development on people’s health is a key element of 
sustainable development and its consideration will raise any significant 
issues which need to be taken into account. 
 
5.359 It is recognised that not all new developments will be able to 
identify land for new health facilities. This largely depends on the scale of 
development and will be applied flexibly as a result. It is recommended 
that the local health board is contacted for further advice on this matter. 
Relevant documents are ‘Together for Health’ (Welsh Government 2012) 

Page 1012



229 
 
 

and ‘Setting the Direction Primary and Community Services Strategic 
Delivery Programme’ (Welsh Government 2010).  
 
5.360 In order to support the aims of this Policy, it is recommended that 
the Welsh Health Impact Assessment Unit document ‘Health Impact 
Assessment: A Practical Guide' (2012) is used in screening large planning 
applications to assess whether a Health Impact Assessment is required. It 
is recommended that all large developments including housing, health 
care, retail, waste and schools undertake a Health Impact Assessment. 
 
5.361 5.361 For a description of appropriate locations to provide health 
facilities, see Policy C1 on Community Facilities. In addition, a number of 
other issues relating to the effect of new development on health including 
design, open space/community growing and transport are referred to in 
the respective policies. 
 
5.362 Further details on this Policy will be set out in an Health SPG to 
accompany the LDP. regarding new or enhanced health facilities and on 
managing the location of fast food takeaways (see Policy R7), in particular 
when they are near a residential area or a school and when a Health 
Impact Assessment may be required. 
 
C8: PLANNING FOR SCHOOLS 

New and improved school facilities will be provided to meet 
existing and future educational needs. 

5.363  The Council has a statutory duty as local education authority 
to ensure that there is a sufficient number and variety of school places at 
primary and secondary level, available to meet the needs of the 
population of the County. 

5.364 Although the supply and demand for school places varies by 
area, it is anticipated that there will be no overall surplus school places at 
entry to the primary sector in 2015, nor in the secondary sector in 2019. 
This takes account of existing school investment proposal and projections 
based upon health service (GP) and school roll data. Additional primary 
and secondary education provision will therefore be required to serve the 
new pupils generated as a result of greenfield or brownfield housing 
developments that come forward during the Plan Period. 

Page 1013



230 
 
 

5.365  The Council will seek financial contributions (See Policy KP7 
Planning Obligations), towards the cost of providing additional or 
improved primary and/or secondary school facilities from developers 
proposing housing developments that would generate a requirement for 
school places that cannot be reasonably met by existing schools because: 

a. the capacity at the school(s) in whose catchment area (s) new 
housing development are proposed would as a result of the development 
be exceeded by demand; and/or 

b. there is a surplus capacity in such schools to accommodate some or 
all of the projected number of pupils generated from the proposed 
development but investment is required to make it suitable. 

5.366 The Council will also seek the provision of land and/or premises,    
depending on scale and location of development.  Please refer to Key 
Policy KP6 New Infrastructure’ and Supporting Document No. 6 
Infrastructure Plan for detailed analysis. 
 
5.367 It is recognised that the future additional pupils generated from 
strategic housing allocations (D-H) could not be accommodated in 
existing schools.  The Council requests that developers set aside 
appropriate sites and provide school facilities in the initial phases of 
development aligned with the construction process, and additional forms 
of entry made available where necessary (210 primary school places plus 
nursery provision, 150 secondary school places plus sixth form provision) 
following completion of each 700 dwellings. 
 
5.368 There will also be a need to address school provision in 
catchment areas where there is little or no existing capacity to 
accommodate the additional demand likely to arise from housing 
development on previously developed land (including strategic sites) or 
other in-fill sites. With limited exceptions financial contributions will be 
sought from developers towards the provision of new classroom 
accommodation, in accordance with the needs which arise from the 
proposed development. 

5.369 In the event of the Council being allocated developer 
contributions  to expand existing provision, the phasing of contributions 
over the period of construction will need to be in line with those set out in 
SPG, and will require careful consideration to ensure that the supply of 
school places is aligned with the construction process and occupancy of 

Page 1014



231 
 
 

dwellings.  Monitoring of take-up of school places will be a key 
consideration in order to inform existing and future needs. 

5.370 Further guidance on the application of this Policy will be set 
out in SPG. 

C9: New Educational Facilities 

Development of nursery, primary, secondary and sixth form 
education should: 

i. Be well designed, well related to neighbourhood services and 
amenities, and easily accessible by sustainable transport modes; 
and 

ii. Include, where appropriate, provision for other appropriate 
community uses in addition to their educational use. 

 

5.371 Opportunities should be taken to share school buildings and 
facilities, or co-locate on shared sites with other Council Service areas 
and selected external services. This would serve to maximise the use of 
the land and provide an integrated citizen focused resource for the whole 
community.  Opportunities for shared facilities could include libraries, 
community centres, leisure centres, indoor recreation facilities, play 
centres, adult education facilities, integrated childcare facilities, adjoining 
natural habitat, health care facilities.   

 

5.372 Dependant on geographical constraints, opportunities should be 
taken to explore shared school facilities/playing fields with other schools 
(e.g. a Primary and Secondary School sharing fields) or continuous ages 
3-19 school provision. 

5.373 Further guidance on the application of this Policy will be set out in 
SPG. 

C10: HEALTH EMPLOYMENT NON STRATEGIC ALLOCATION 
 
Land is allocated for health related uses at Government Offices, St 
Agnes Road, Heath (4.07ha) 

 

Page 1015



232 
 
 

5.374 The site provides a good opportunity to allow for the future 
expansion of health related uses associated with University Hospital 
Wales. 

 

5.375 This non-strategic site was put forward as a candidate site in the 
LDP process and is considered acceptable for health related uses. 
Dialogue with the University and NHS Trust has indicated the merits of 
health-related uses for this site, which can assist the strategic provision of 
heath-care in future years as the city continues to grow, placing further 
demands on the health service. 

 

5.376 There are potential opportunities to develop the site for health 
related uses in direct conjunction with the existing hospital, offering the 
potential for comprehensive transport and access solutions. 

 

5.377 The allocation of the site for health related uses supports the LDP 
vision and objectives on health and policies KP14 and C7 which promote 
the provision of health facilities in accessible locations. The site is directly 
adjacent to the existing University Hospital and in an accessible location 
which reduces the need to travel, a key component of developing 
sustainable communities. The precise nature of health related uses will be 
subject to further detailed work but could include health related 
employment and/or include an element of ancillary key health worker 
accommodation providing accessible accommodation and minimising 
travel to work distances. 

 

Insert new Policy after existing paragraph 5.362 to be referenced as 
Policy C7 

C7 PLANNING FOR SCHOOLS 

 

Where a need has been identified for new and improved school 
facilities as a result of development ,the Council will seek 
contributions towards the cost of additional education provision.  
Negotiated contributions will be fairly and reasonably related in 

Page 1016



233 
 
 

scale and kind to the proposed development. Where appropriate 
on site provision will be required. 

 

Development of nursery, primary, secondary and sixth form 
education should: 

i. Be well designed, well related to neighbourhood services and 
amenities, and easily accessible by sustainable transport modes; 
and 

ii. Include, where appropriate, provision for other appropriate 
community uses in addition to their educational use. 

The Council has a statutory duty as local education authority to ensure 
that there is a sufficient number and variety of school places at primary 
and secondary level, available to meet the needs of the population of the 
County. 

Although the supply and demand for school places varies by area, it is 
anticipated that there will be no overall surplus school places at entry to 
the primary sector in 2015, nor in the secondary sector in 2019. This 
takes account of existing school investment proposal and projections 
based upon health service (GP) and school roll data. Additional primary 
and secondary education provision will therefore be required to serve the 
new pupils generated as a result of greenfield or brownfield housing 
developments that come forward during the Plan Period. 

The Council will seek financial contributions (See Policy KP7 Planning 
Obligations), towards the cost of providing additional or improved primary 
and/or secondary school facilities from developers proposing housing 
developments that would generate a requirement for school places that 
cannot be reasonably met by existing schools because: 

a. the capacity at the school(s) in whose catchment area (s) new 
housing development are proposed would as a result of the development 
be exceeded by demand; and/or 

b. there is a surplus capacity in such schools to accommodate some or 
all of the projected number of pupils generated from the proposed 
development but investment is required to make it suitable. 

Page 1017



234 
 
 

The Council will also seek the provision of land and/or premises, 
depending on scale and location of development.  Please refer to Key 
Policy KP6 New Infrastructure. and Supporting Document No. 6 
Infrastructure Plan for detailed analysis. 

It is recognised that the future additional pupils generated from strategic 
housing allocations (D-H) could not be accommodated in existing schools.  
The Council requests that developers set aside appropriate sites and 
provide school facilities in the initial phases of development aligned with 
the construction process, and additional forms of entry made available 
where necessary (210 primary school places plus nursery provision, 150 
secondary school places plus sixth form provision) following completion of 
each 700 dwellings. 

There will also be a need to address school provision in catchment areas 
where there is little or no existing capacity to accommodate the additional 
demand likely to arise from housing development on previously developed 
land (including strategic sites) or other in-fill sites. With limited 
exceptions financial contributions will be sought from developers towards 
the provision of new classroom accommodation, in accordance with the 
needs which arise from the proposed development. 

In the event of the Council being allocated developer contributions  to 
expand existing provision, the phasing of contributions over the period of 
construction will need to be in line with those set out in SPG, and will 
require careful consideration to ensure that the supply of school places is 
aligned with the construction process and occupancy of dwellings.  
Monitoring of take-up of school places will be a key consideration in order 
to inform existing and future needs. 

Opportunities should be taken to share school buildings and facilities, or 
co-locate on shared sites with other Council Service areas and selected 
external services. This would serve to maximise the use of the land and 
provide an integrated citizen focused resource for the whole community.  
Opportunities for shared facilities could include libraries, community 
centres, leisure centres, indoor recreation facilities, play centres, adult 
education facilities, integrated childcare facilities, adjoining natural 
habitat, health care facilities.   

Dependant on geographical constraints, opportunities should be taken to 
explore shared school facilities/playing fields with other schools (e.g. a 

Page 1018



235 
 
 

Primary and Secondary School sharing fields) or continuous ages 3-19 
school provision. 

Further guidance on the application of this Policy will be set out in SPG. 

7. MINERALS 
 
M1: MINERAL LIMESTONE RESERVES AND RESOURCES 

 

Mineral reserves with planning permission will be safeguarded 
from development that would prevent their extraction at: 

i.  Creigiau Quarry; 

ii.  Taffs Well Quarry; 

iii.  Ton Mawr Quarry; and 

iv.  Blaengwynlais Quarry. 

Preferred Resource Areas of known resources suitable for the 
future working of Limestone have been identified  will be 
safeguarded from development that would prevent their as 
extensions to at: 

vi. Creigiau Quarry; and 

vii. Ton Mawr Quarry. 

5.378 The aim of this Policy is to protect identified mineral limestone 
reserves and resources from incompatible forms of development that 
could cause sterilisation and prevent them from being worked, so that 
they remain available for future generations. 
 
5.379 This Policy expands on Policy KP11 and aims to protect existing 
mineral reserves and potential resources from development that would 
preclude their future extraction. It corresponds with guidance contained in 
Minerals Planning Policy Wales (2000) (MPPW), a key principle of which is 
to provide mineral resources to meet society’s needs and to safeguard 
resources from sterilisation.  
 
5.380 Mineral reserves are sites with planning permission for mineral 
working Cardiff has several mineral reserves, which are identified on the 
Proposals Map These are limestone quarries which are active at present, 
or those which have planning permission for the working of limestone. 

Page 1019



236 
 
 

Preferred Mineral Resource Areas of known resources are sites within the 
County considered suitable for the future working of limestone. Areas of 
mineral resource These areas are identified on the Proposals Map. The 
methodology used to identify these areas is set out in Supporting 
Document No.9 - Minerals.  

5.381 Permanent development on, or close to, mineral reserves or 
resources can mean that the minerals become sterilised or future 
extraction hindered. The identified reserves and resources will be 
protected from incompatible forms of development in order to prevent 
this. Incompatible forms of development include premature in-filling with 
waste or other material, and permanent building development. Policy  
M4 on Minerals Buffer Zones further protects such areas by defining 
buffer zones around identified reserves and resources, within which 
neither mineral working nor housing and other similarly sensitive 
development will be permitted. 
 
M2: PREFERRED ORDER OF MINERAL RESOURCE RELEASE 

The extension or deepening of existing mineral workings will be 
favoured in preference to the release of new sites and, with the 
exception of the lateral extensions of Creigiau and Ton Mawr 
Quarries referred to in Policy M1, deepening will be preferred to 
lateral extension., Applications to extend or deepen mineral 
workings will be permitted where it can be demonstrated that: 

i. There are environmental improvements at the site which can be 
justified by the addition of new reserves, or traded off by the 
giving up of existing reserves, or; 

ii. The addition of new reserves preserves the productive capacity 
of Cardiff to meet its sub regional apportionment commitments; or 

iii. There are operational benefits in permitting further reserves 
that will lead to more efficient exploitation of the resource;  

i. There are no suitable alternative materials available; 

ii.  Reserves in the existing site will be exhausted, at existing 
output levels, within 10 years; 

iii. Reserves in the extended or deepened site, in combination with 
those remaining in the existing site, do not provide, at existing 
output levels, for more than 20 years’ reserves; and  

Page 1020



237 
 
 

iii. It should also be demonstrated that such an approach will not 
cause unacceptable harm to the environment., including 
consideration of impacts relating to access, noise, air quality, 
landscape and visual effects, ecology, soil resources, hydrology 
and hydrogeology, blast vibration and cultural heritage, and in the 
case of Creigiau Quarry, the objectives of Policy M3 are delivered 
as part of an extension or deepening application. 

5.382 The extent of Cardiff’s existing minerals landbank means it is 
unlikely that there will be a need to grant any further permissions for 
mineral resource release within the Plan period. The Regional Technical 
Statement 1st Review (August 2014) states that based on current 
information Cardiff has a surplus of permitted reserves and no further 
allocations are necessary. However, it also notes that the these 
conclusions do not take into account all factors that may be material to 
ensuring an adequate and steady supply of aggregates for appropriately 
located sources including the technical capability of one type of aggregate 
to interchange for another, the relative environmental cost of substitution 
of one type of aggregate by another, the relative environmental effects of 
changing patterns of supply and whether adequate production capacity 
can be maintained to meet the required level of supply. The purpose of 
this Policy is to set out the sequential test approach which would be used 
to guide the future release of mineral resources, should this be necessary. 

 
5.383 This Policy expands on Policy KP11 and promotes and supports the 
efficient use of minerals. The Policy accords with guidance contained in 
MPPW which recognises that extensions to existing minerals workings are 
often more generally acceptable than new greenfield sites. Minerals 
Technical Advice Note (Wales) 1: Aggregates (2004) (MTAN1) indicates 
that a minimum 10 year landbank of crushed rock should be maintained 
throughout the entire Plan Period, but that new allocations in 
development plans will not be necessary where landbanks already provide 
for more than 20 years of aggregates extraction. 

5.384 Generally, the continuation of quarrying at existing sites is 
preferable to the environmental and financial upheaval of shifting 
production to new sites. In addition, the deepening of sites is preferred to 
lateral extension as it minimises the area of land given over to working 
and ensures the best use of existing reserves. However, in determining 
the best option, consideration will need to be given to possible 
environmental and restoration implications and for this reason an 

Page 1021



238 
 
 

exception is made for Creigiau quarry where the objectives of Policy M3 to 
swap reserves for less environmentally sensitive reserves will be delivered 
as part of an extension or deepening application.  

5.385 The life of any reserves released will be restricted to enable new 
technology and new environmental expectations to be reflected, without 
compromising the ability of operators to amortise their investment in 
plant. In addition, reserves will not be released prematurely to avoid 
sterilisation of land, and to ensure operators maximise the use of the 
existing site before moving into new areas. This will also help ensure the 
older site can be restored earlier. 
 
5.386 In determining the best option, consideration will need to be given 
to the possible impact on the environment, natural heritage and built 
heritage. 
 
 
M3: QUARRY CLOSURES AND EXTENSION LIMITS 

 

Measures to prevent further mineral working and, where 
appropriate, to secure restoration and landscaping works at the 
earliest opportunity, will be sought at the following sites: 

i. Cefn Garw Quarry, Tongwynlais; 

ii. Highland Park Brickworks, Ely; 

iii. West End Brickworks, Ely; and 

iv. Southern and western parts of Creigiau Quarry. 

No further extension to mineral reserves will be permitted at 
these sites, or at: 

v. Blaengwynlais Quarry, Rhiwbina Hill. 

 

5.387 The aim of this Policy is to introduce measures to prevent further 
extraction of minerals at the sites above, as shown on the Proposals Map, 
as mineral working is no longer considered appropriate at these locations. 
 
5.388 This Policy expands on Policy KP11. It accords with guidance 
contained in MPPW, which states that inactive sites with planning 

Page 1022



239 
 
 

permission for future working which are considered unlikely to be 
activated for the foreseeable future should be identified in the 
development plan and should be the subject of a suitable strategy. 
 
5.389 The Policy identifies three mineral sites ((i) to (iii) above) and parts 
of Creigiau Quarry where mineral working is no longer considered 
appropriate by modern standards. Additionally, Blaengwynlais Quarry is 
considered unsuitable for extension in view of its sensitive location and 
poor access, so further extensions at this site will be resisted. 

 
5.390 Cardiff contains several quarries for limestone or brick-earth that 
have not been worked for many years and in many cases have either re-
vegetated naturally or have been put to alternative uses. For example, 
the part of Ely Brickworks within Cardiff has now been largely covered by 
the Ely Link Road. Despite long periods of disuse or alternative uses of 
some sites, planning permissions for mineral extraction still exist and 
could be reactivated at these sites. The sites identified have been 
effectively abandoned by the minerals industry for many years. By today’s 
environmental standards, they are no longer suitable for mineral working 
and so are not needed for mineral purposes.  
 
5.391 To eliminate any doubt over possible re-working at the sites 
outlined in (i) to (iv) above, measures to prevent further extraction and 
secure restoration and landscaping works will be pursued. Measures 
will may include the use of Prohibition Orders to ensure that no further 
working can takes place at Cefn Garw Quarry, Tongwynlais, Highland Park 
Brickworks, Ely and West End Brickworks, Ely and closure of the southern 
and western parts of Creigiau quarry through a legal agreement with the 
site owners to relinquish these areas in favour of a new area set out in 
Policy M1 of the Plan and identified on the Proposals Map. , . No further 
extensions will be permitted, except at Creigiau Quarry, in line with Policy 
M1 on Mineral Limestone Reserves and Resources. Blaengwynlais Quarry 
is not considered appropriate for extension, and any applications will be 
determined accordingly. 

 
M4: MINERALS BUFFER ZONES 
 
Within the minerals buffer zones no mineral working, housing or 
other sensitive development will be permitted. 

Page 1023



240 
 
 

 
5.393 The aim of this Policy is to provide an explanation of the minerals 
buffer zones identified on the Proposals Map. The purpose of the buffer 
zones is to protect identified mineral reserves and resources from 
incompatible development which could sterilise them, and to reduce the 
environmental impact of quarrying by separating sensitive developments 
and mineral working. 
 
5.394 This Policy expands on Policy KP11 and aims to protect existing 
mineral reserves and potential resources from development that would 
preclude their future extraction. Guidance contained in MPPW indicates 
that buffer zones should be defined in order to provide areas of protection 
around permitted and proposed mineral working. MTAN1: Aggregates 
indicates a minimum set distance for buffer zones of 200m, and that 
within buffer zones no new sensitive development or mineral extraction 
should be approved. 
 
5.395 Buffer zones have been drawn around all minerals reserves (sites 
with planning permission for mineral working) and resources (sites 
identified as suitable for future mineral working) indicated on the 
Proposals Map. The purpose of buffer zones is to protect identified mineral 
reserves and resources from incompatible development which could 
sterilise them, and to ensure a separation distance between potentially 
conflicting land uses. The size of each buffer zone is appropriate to the 
environmental impact of the quarry, particularly the effects of ground 
vibration from blasting operations. The methodology used to identify the 
buffer zones is set out in Supporting Document No. 9 - Minerals. 
 
5.396 Sensitive development includes land uses most susceptible to 
adverse impact from quarrying, such as housing, schools and hospitals. 
These uses will be resisted within buffer zones. Some less sensitive 
development, where a lower standard of amenity could be tolerated, such 
as industrial land uses, offices and developments ancillary to the mineral 
working may be considered acceptable within buffer zones. Buffer zones 
also ensure that the environmental impact of quarrying on residents is 
minimised, particularly where mineral working and new residential 
developments are separated. 
 

Page 1024



241 
 
 

5.397 Since minerals can only be worked where they occur, this Policy will 
be afforded greater weight than policies favouring quarry-sensitive 
development that could be located elsewhere. 
 
 
 
 
M5: RESTORATION AND AFTER - USE OF MINERAL WORKINGS 
 
Proposals for mineral working or for related plant and buildings 
will be permitted only where firm proposals are included for the 
reinstatement of the site to a condition fit for an appropriate 
after-use supported, where relevant, by adequate after-care 
proposals. Appropriate reinstatement and after-care proposals 
will similarly be required when existing controls are reviewed. In 
drawing up restoration proposals, mineral operators will be 
encouraged to: 
i. Undertake progressive restoration; 
ii. Make beneficial use of mineral waste generated by mineral 
operations; 
iii. Consider whether restoration can contribute to nature 
conservation targets set out in the Local Biodiversity Action Plan. 
iv. New uses of former mineral workings other than those 
appropriate to a rural area will not be permitted without special 
justification. Proposals to carry out safety works at derelict or 
dormant sites will be favoured. 
 
5.398 The aim of this Policy is to ensure that all proposals for mineral 
working or related development are accompanied by plans for restoration 
and suitable after-use of the site, or after-care where appropriate. 
 
5.399 This Policy expands on Policy KP11. The Policy accords with 
objectives contained in MPPW and MTAN 1: Aggregates which aim to 
achieve a high standard of restoration and aftercare, and provide for 
beneficial after-uses when mineral 
working has ceased. 
 
5.400 This Policy will be applied in order to avoid dereliction and 
uncertainty by requiring all applications for mineral working, including 
reviews of existing permissions, to be accompanied by effective proposals 
to ensure restoration and after-care of the site once mineral working 
finishes. This applies equally to ancillary plant and buildings and to 
secondary industry, whose presence is normally only justified by the 
existence of the mineral working site. It is essential to avoid dereliction 

Page 1025



242 
 
 

and uncertainty once mineral working ends, and to ensure the site is left 
in a safe and usable condition and restored to a high standard suitable for 
its agreed after-use. Operators will generally be expected to agree the 
broad aims of the restoration scheme at the outset, to keep those aims 
under regular review throughout working and to implement the scheme 
forthwith. The choice of after-use will depend on many issues including 
the location, final landform, availability and quality of soils or other 
restoration materials, and neighbouring land uses. 
 
5.401 Where restoration is to agricultural or amenity use, appropriate 
after-care proposals will be needed. A separate planning permission is 
likely to be required for any after-use except agriculture, forestry, nature 
conservation or certain forms of informal recreation which do not normally 
require planning permission.  
 
5.402 Proposals for new quarries or major extensions will be expected to 
be accompanied by detailed soil and habitat surveys. Comprehensive 
programmes for the stripping and storage of topsoil, subsoil and 
conservation of other soil-making materials should form part of the initial 
restoration proposals, which will be expected to provide for phased and 
progressive restoration of worked out areas. 
 
5.403 Restoration can provide opportunities for creating and enhancing 
sites for nature conservation and contributing to the targets in the UK 
Biodiversity Action Plan and Local Biodiversity Action Plan. 
 
Policy M6: DREDGED AGGREGATE LANDING AND DISTRIBUTION 
FACILITIES SAND WHARF PROTECTION AREAS 

The sand wharves shown on the Proposals Map will be protected 
against 

development which would prejudice their ability to land marine 
dredged sand and gravel. Proposals for the provision and 
improvement of landing and distribution facilities for marine 
dredged aggregates within the sand wharves shown on the 
Proposals Map Cardiff Docks will be favoured where there will be 
no unacceptable harm to the environment, or nearby residential 
areas or future regeneration prospects of the waterfront area. 

 
5.404 Marine sources currently supply the majority of fine aggregate 
construction needs for Cardiff. This Policy provides a framework for the 
protection of existing wharves and the assessment of applications for new 
or improved sand and gravel wharves and related facilities. 
 

Page 1026



243 
 
 

5.405 This Policy expands on Policy KP11. The Policy accords with 
guidance contained in Interim Marine Aggregates Dredging Policy (2004) 
which indicates that the use of marine dredged sand and gravel will 
continue for the foreseeable future where this remains consistent with the 
principles of sustainable development. It accords with the South Wales 
Regional Technical Statement 1st Review for Minerals (200814) which 
requires the protection of existing and potential wharves. 

5.406 Although marine dredging is outside the control of the Council, it is 
necessary to ensure that existing wharves are protected and that 
appropriate landing and distribution facilities are provided to ensure this 
important source of construction materials remains available. Without it, 
the County would have to accept greater demands on land-based sources 
and more costly imports.  
 
5.407 In response to concerns about the long-term effects of dredging on 
coastal erosion, Interim Marine Aggregates Dredging Policy (2004) 
proposes a more cautious approach to dredging and seeks a more 
balanced approach to the sourcing of supplies for fine aggregates in South 
Wales. Although this may lead to long-term changes in supply patterns, in 
the short term the present pattern of supply is likely to continue, and it is 
therefore prudent to ensure that facilities which enable current levels of 
supply to be maintained are protected and new facilities favoured. 
 
5.408 Operations involving the trans-shipment of minerals do not 
normally need specific planning permission within the operational area of 
the port. However, secondary processes including the manufacture or 
treatment of mineral products usually need permission. Where proposals 
are submitted they will need to demonstrate minimal impact on the 
environment. and nearby residential areas, and that they will not 
prejudice any future regeneration proposals in the waterfront area of 
Cardiff Bay. Where proposals are likely to have significant effects upon 
the environment, applications may be subject to Environmental Impact 
Assessment. Additionally, proposals will need to have regard to the 
Severn Estuary SSSI/SAC/SPA and Ramsar site and where proposals are 
likely to have a significant effect on an international site, an appropriate 
assessment of the proposal would be undertaken. 
 
 
M7: SAFEGUARDING OF SAND AND GRAVEL RESOURCE 

The sand and gravel safeguarding area shown on the Proposals 
Map will be protected against all forms of permanent development 
in order to prevent sterilisation of the resource and to ensure that 
the sand and gravel within that area will be preserved for the 

Page 1027



244 
 
 

future, should a demonstrable need for the use of those resources 
arise. 

5.409 The aim of this Policy is to ensure that the area of sand and gravel 
resource identified on the Proposals Map is protected from development 
that would cause its sterilisation and safeguarded for the future, should a 
need for the resource arise. 

5.410 This Policy expands on Policy KP11 in that it protects potential 
resources from development. The Policy accords with guidance contained 
in MPPW which 

requires Mineral Planning Authorities to safeguard access to mineral 
deposits which society may need and cautions against continuing to rely 
on marine-dredged materials. MTAN1: Aggregates states that land based 
sand and gravel resources must be safeguarded for potential use by 
future generations in view of their relatively limited regional availability. 

5.411 At present, marine dredged sources provide the majority of fine 
aggregate required to meet construction needs within Cardiff. In the short 
term this supply pattern is unlikely to change significantly. In view of the 
existing pattern of dredged aggregate supply, it is very unlikely that sand 
and gravel resources will need to be released for development within the 
Plan period. However, in light of concerns regarding the sustainability of 
the current pattern of marine dredged aggregate supplies, it is necessary 
for land-based sand and gravel resources to be safeguarded for potential 
use in the future. This Policy will be used to resist all forms of permanent 
development in the sand and gravel resource area shown on the 
Proposals Map. Land-based sand and gravel could only be worked where 
it is found, so this Policy represents a long-term strategy to protect 
existing resources, as they could become a strategic resource in the 
future. This Policy will carry more weight than policies favouring 
development that could be located elsewhere. 

 

5.412 The designation as a safeguarded area does not indicate an 
acceptance of sand and gravel working in that area. 

 
M8: SAFEGUARDING OF COAL RESOURCES 

The coal safeguarding area shown on the Proposals Map will be 
protected against all forms of permanent development in order to 

Page 1028



245 
 
 

prevent sterilisation of the resource and to ensure that the coal 
within that area will be preserved for the future, should a 
demonstrable need for the use of those resources arise. 

5.413 The aim of this Policy is to ensure that the areas of coal resource 
identified in the County are protected from development that would cause 
sterilisation and safeguarded for the future, should a need for the 
resources arise. 

5.414 This Policy expands on Policy KP11 in that it protects potential 
resources from development. The Policy accords with MPPW which 
requires Mineral Planning Authorities to safeguard access to mineral 
deposits which society may need and MTAN2: Coal which requires the 
safeguarding of mineral resources. 

5.415 Current energy supply does not necessitate the working of coal 
resources within Cardiff, and this situation is highly unlikely to change in 
the short term. 

Consequently, it is unlikely that it will be necessary to release coal 
resources for 

working to provide for energy needs in the Plan period. However, it is 
prudent to ensure that the coal resources identified are protected from 
sterilisation to maintain their potential for use in the future, should this 
become necessary. 

5.416 All coal resources up to settlement boundaries are identified on the 
Proposals Map. Where safeguarded coal resources abut defined 
settlement boundaries, a 500m buffer has been shown. Although this 
buffer area includes safeguarded coal resources, it identifies the area of 
land within which future coal extraction will generally not be acceptable. 

5.417 Coal could only be worked where it is found, so this Policy 
represents a long-term strategy to protect existing resources as they 
could become a strategic resource in the future. This Policy will carry 
more weight than policies favouring development that could be located 
elsewhere. 

5.418 The designation as a safeguarded area does not indicate an 
acceptance of coal working in that area. 

 
 

Page 1029



246 
 
 

 
 
M9: SAFEGUARDING OF LIMESTONE RESOURCES 

 

The limestone safeguarding area shown on the Proposals Map will 
be protected against all forms of permanent development in order 
to prevent sterilisation of the resource and to ensure that the 
limestone within that area will be preserved for the future, should 
a demonstrable need for the use of those resources arise. 

5.419 The aim of this Policy is to ensure that the areas of limestone 
resource identified in the County are protected from development that 
would cause sterilisation and are safeguarded for the future, should a 
need for the resources arise.  

5.420 This Policy expands on Policy KP11 in that it protects potential 
resources from development. The Policy accords with MPPW which 
requires Mineral Planning Authorities to safeguard access to mineral 
deposits which society may need. 

5.421 Currently there is a sufficient landbank of limestone reserves in the 
County for the Plan period and, should the landbank not prove sufficient, 
the limestone resource areas identified in Policy M1 would be considered 
before any of the safeguarded areas shown on the Proposals Map. Given 
this, it will not be 

necessary to release any of the safeguarded areas for working to provide 
for aggregates needs over the Plan period. However, it is prudent to 
ensure that the limestone resources identified are protected from 
sterilisation to maintain their potential for use in the future, should this 
become necessary. 

5.422 The designation as a safeguarded area does not indicate an 
acceptance of 

limestone working in that area. 

New Policy M7: SAFEGUARDING OF SAND AND GRAVEL, COAL AND 
LIMESTONE RESOURCES 

 
Development will not be permitted  within the Sand and Gravel, 
Coal and Limestone Safeguarding Areas shown on the Proposals 

Page 1030



247 
 
 

Map that would permanently sterilise these mineral resources 
unless: 

i. The applicant can demonstrate to the satisfaction of the 
Local Planning Authority that the mineral concerned is no longer 
of any resource value or potential resource value; or  

ii. The mineral can be extracted satisfactorily prior to the 
incompatible development taking place; or  

iii. The incompatible development is of a temporary nature and 
can be completed and the site restored to a condition that does 
not either sterilise the resource or inhibit extraction within the 
timescale that the mineral is likely to be needed; or 

iv. There is an overriding need for the incompatible 
development which overrides the need for the resource, including 
a requirement for prior extraction if practicable. 

The aim of this Policy is to ensure that the sand and gravel, coal and 
limestone safeguarding areas identified on the Proposals Map are 
protected from development that would cause its sterilisation and 
safeguarded for the future, should a need for these resources arise. In 
order to ensure this the Policy sets out a range of criteria against which 
proposals for development will be assessed.  

This Policy expands on Policy KP11 in that it protects potential resources 
from development. The Policy accords with guidance contained in MPPW 
which requires Mineral Planning Authorities to safeguard access to mineral 
deposits which society may need. It also accords with  MTAN1: 
Aggregates which states that land based sand and gravel resources must 
be safeguarded for potential use by future generations in view of their 
relatively limited regional availability and MTAN2: Coal which requires the 
safeguarding of mineral resources. 

 

Sand and Gravel Safeguarding Area  

At present, marine dredged sources provide the majority of fine 
aggregate required to meet construction needs within Cardiff. In the short 
term this supply pattern is unlikely to change significantly. In view of the 
existing pattern of dredged aggregate supply, it is very unlikely that sand 
and gravel resources will need to be released for development within the 

Page 1031



248 
 
 

Plan period. However, in light of concerns regarding the sustainability of 
the current pattern of marine dredged aggregate supplies, it is necessary 
for land-based sand and gravel resources to be safeguarded for potential 
use in the future. This Policy will be used to resist all forms of permanent 
development in the sand and gravel resource area shown on the 
Proposals Map. Land-based sand and gravel could only be worked where 
it is found, so this Policy represents a long-term strategy to protect 
existing resources, as they could become a strategic resource in the 
future. This Policy will carry more weight than policies favouring 
development that could be located elsewhere. 

Coal Safeguarding Area 

Current energy supply does not necessitate the working of coal resources 
within Cardiff, and this situation is highly unlikely to change in the short 
term. Consequently, it is unlikely that it will be necessary to release coal 
resources for working to provide for energy needs in the Plan period. 
However, it is prudent to ensure that the coal resources identified are 
protected from sterilisation to maintain their potential for use in the 
future, should this become necessary. 

In accordance with guidance set out in MTAN2: Coal all international and 
national designations of environmental and cultural importance have been 
excluded from the Coal Safeguarding Area and a 200 metre margin has 
been included to protect the setting of Ancient Monuments. All coal 
resources outside these designations are identified on the Proposals Map. 
Where safeguarded coal resources abut defined settlement boundaries, a 
500m area where coal working will not be acceptable has been shown 
Although this  area includes safeguarded coal resources, it identifies the 
area of land within which future coal extraction will generally not be 
acceptable, subject to the exceptions in paragraph 49 of MTAN2:Coal. 
Further details are set out in Policy M8: Areas where Coal Working is not 
Acceptable. 

Coal could only be worked where it is found, so this Policy represents a 
long-term strategy to protect existing resources as they could become a 
strategic resource in the future. This Policy will carry more weight than 
policies favouring development that could be located elsewhere. 

Limestone 

Currently there is a sufficient landbank of limestone reserves in the 
County for the Plan period and, should the landbank not prove sufficient, 

Page 1032



249 
 
 

the limestone resource areas identified in Policy M1 would be considered 
before any of the safeguarded areas shown on the Proposals Map. Given 
this, it will not be necessary to release any of the safeguarded areas for 
working to provide for aggregates needs over the Plan period. However, it 
is prudent to ensure that the limestone resources identified are protected 
from sterilisation to maintain their potential for use in the future, should 
this become necessary. 

The designation as a safeguarded area does not indicate an acceptance of 
sand and gravel, coal or limestone working in that area. 

In addition to the resources outlined above the Aggregates Safeguarding 
Maps of Wales identifies a small amount of Category 1 Sandstone HSA 
(High Specification Aggregate) resources in the extreme north west of the 
County. As this area lies wholly within the Coal Safeguarding Area 
outlined above it is not identified separately on the Proposals Map as it is 
already protected from sterilisation and safeguarded for the future, should 
a need for these resources arise.  

 

New Policy M8: AREAS WHERE COAL WORKING WILL NOT BE 
ACCEPTABLE 
Future Coal extraction will not be permitted within the Areas 
where Coal Working will not be Acceptable shown on the 
Proposals Map unless exceptional circumstances show a smaller 
Area is appropriate. 

The aim of this Policy is to protect the amenity of existing residential 
areas and international and national designations of environmental and 
cultural importance by ensuring that an appropriate area where coal 
working will not be acceptable is maintained between future coal working 
and residential areas and environmental and cultural designations are 
protected. The Policy accords with guidance contained in MPPW and 
MTAN2: Coal. 

All coal resources outside international and national designations of 
environmental and cultural importance up to settlement boundaries are 
identified on the Proposals Map and the Policy identifies the area of land 
within which future coal extraction will generally not be acceptable by 
defining a 500m area where coal working will not be acceptable from 
existing residential areas. This accords with guidance set out in MTAN2: 
Coal which states that Coal working will generally not be acceptable 

Page 1033



250 
 
 

within 500 metres of settlements unless there are exceptional 
circumstances and that a area where coal working will not be acceptable 
should be shown on the Proposals Map, 

MTAN2: Coal sets out factors that could justify exceptional circumstances 
where a smaller area where coal working will not be acceptable may be 
appropriate. These include: 

 

• Where coal working provides the most effective solution to prevent 
risks to health and safety arising from previous mineral working; 

• To remediate land damaged by shallow coal workings or mine waste, 
where coal extraction appears to be the most sustainable option; 

• Where topography, natural features such as woodland, or existing 
development, would significantly and demonstrably mitigate impacts; 

• Where major roads or railways lie between the settlement and the 
proposed operational area and coal working would not result in 
appreciable cumulative and in-combination effects; 

• Where the surface expression of underground working does not include 
the significant handling or storage of the mineral or waste; 

• When the proposal is of overriding significance for regeneration, 
employment and economy in the local area; or 

• Where extraction would be in advance of other, permanent, 
development which cannot reasonably be located elsewhere. 

In accordance with guidance in MTAN2: Coal where such exceptions 
justify surface working within 500m of a settlement, the area of working 
should be restricted to the area reasonably necessary for remediation and 
the best balance between the scale, working-method and the timing of 
individual phases, the opportunities for early restoration and aftercare, 
and hours of working will be sought. In order to justify working within 200 
metres of a settlement strong evidence of the necessity for remediation, 
including the evaluation of options will be required and the social and 
environmental impacts on the affected settlement must be carefully 
weighed.  

 

Page 1034



251 
 
 

 

  

Page 1035



252 
 
 

8. WASTE 
 
W1: LAND FOR WASTE MANAGEMENT 

 

Land will be allocated for waste management purposes at Lamby 
Way as defined on the Proposals Map 

 
5.423 The purpose of this Policy is to allocate an area of land at the 
existing waste management facility at Lamby Way to accommodate waste 
related development, so that the Council can continue to manage current 
waste arisings and can accommodate further facilities which will enable it 
to meet European and national targets. 

 

5.424 This Policy expands on Policy KP12. The Policy accords with TAN 
21: Waste (2001); The National Waste Strategy for Wales: Wise About 
Waste (2002); 

Towards Zero Waste (2010) and the South East Wales Regional Waste 
Plan 1st Review (2008)  

 

5.425 Challenging targets set for recycling and composting, and the 
reduction of waste going to landfill, mean there is a need for further 
facilities which divert waste away from landfill and increase materials 
recovery, recycling and composting. The land allocated at Lamby Way, as 
shown on the Proposals Map, may prove an appropriate location for any 
new waste management facilities which may be required over the Plan 
period. 

5.426 Completion of landfilling at the Lamby Way waste management site 
is likely to take place early in the Plan period. Upon completion of 
landfilling, the majority of the land will be utilised for public open space. 
However, waste management facilities may be retained on a permanent 
basis and will need to be integrated into the eventual after-use of the site. 

 

5.427 The five local authorities who make up the Prosiect Gwyrdd regional 
partnership have agreed that Viridor should be appointed the preferred 

Page 1036



253 
 
 

bidder for a 25 year contract to deal with the residual waste of the region. 
Viridor’s solution is based on an energy from waste facility located at 
Trident Park. This facility is currently under construction and a permit to 
operate was granted by Natural Resources Wales in 2010. 

5.428 The Regional Waste Plan 1st Review identified that Cardiff will need 
to provide a maximum of 20.9ha of land for waste management 
purposes. The identified sites will contribute towards this requirement. 

 
W21: SITES FOR WASTE MANAGEMENT FACILITIES 

 

Proposals for the development of waste management facilities will 
be 

permitted where: 

i. There is a demonstrable need assessed against County and 
regional 

requirements; 

ii. They conform with the principle of the waste hierarchy and the 
principles contained in the Waste Framework Directive of An 
Integrated and Adequate Network; Nearest Appropriate 
Installation; Self Sufficiency and Protection of Human Health and 
the Environment , the ‘proximity principle’ and the principle of 
regional self-sufficiency ; 

iii. They would not cause unacceptable harm to the environment, 
built 

heritage or to human health; 

iv. They include acceptable proposals for restoration, aftercare 
and after-use, including the beneficial after-use of by-products; 

v. They would not endanger aviation safety; and 

vi. They include acceptable proposals for the protection of 
adjoining and 

nearby land from landfill gas and leachate migration or 
contamination.; 

Page 1037



254 
 
 

vii. They are not located within an area at risk from flooding; 

viii. They would not cause unacceptable air, noise or light 
pollution, dust, vibration or odours, or attract excessive vermin;  

ix  They provide safe means of access to the highway and 
adequate on-site parking and turning facilities; and 

x. They are accompanied by a Waste Planning Assessment 
containing sufficient information to enable an assessment of the 
proposal. 

 

Facilities for the handling, treatment and transfer of waste will 
generally be encouraged towards existing use class B2 general 
industrial land. 

 
5.429 The purpose of this Policy is to provide a framework for the 
assessment of 
planning applications for waste management facilities. 
 
5.430 This Policy expands on Policy KP12. The Policy accords with TAN 
21: Waste (2001); The National Waste Strategy for Wales: Wise About 
Waste (2002); Towards Zero Waste (2010) and the South East Wales 
Regional Waste Plan 1st Review (2008). the National Waste Strategy for 
Wales: Wise About Waste (2002); Towards Zero Waste (2010); The 
Collections, Infrastructure and Markets Sector Plan (2012) and TAN 21: 
Waste (2014). 

5.431 It is anticipated that applications will come forward within the Plan 
period for new waste management facilities. Applications are likely to 
include waste disposal, processing, recycling and transfer of waste. The 
need for waste facilities will be assessed against the South East Wales 
Regional Waste Plan 1st Review (2008). The RWP estimates that, within 
Cardiff, a maximum of 20.9ha of land will be required for waste 
management facilities. Collections, Infrastructure and Markets Sector Plan 
and capacity requirements established through regional monitoring, as set 
out in TAN 21.   

5.432 The ‘waste hierarchy’ advocates a sequential approach to waste 
management. At the top of the hierarchy is waste prevention and re-use, 
followed by reduction, re-use, then materials recovery (e.g. recycling and 

Page 1038



255 
 
 

composting), then energy recovery (e.g. incineration to provide energy) 
and finally (i.e. least favoured) disposal (e.g. landfill or incineration 
without energy recovery). The ‘proximity principle’ requires waste to be 
disposed of as near to its place of production as possible, to reduce the 
amount of waste transported long distances, and to reflect the ‘polluter 
pays’ principle. ‘Regional self-sufficiency’ refers to the aim of minimising 
the amount of waste exported to other regions or countries. preparation  
for reuse, recycling, recovery and finally (i.e. least favoured) disposal. 

5.433 Waste facilities will generally be encouraged towards existing 
general industrial areas (use class B2), unless it can be demonstrated 
that they could be acceptably located elsewhere, or unless assessment of 
the proposal indicates that more onerous locational standards should 
apply. The RWP contains Areas of Search 

maps for use in identifying potential new sites for in-building and open-air 
waste management/resource recovery facilities. Developers are 
encouraged to use the recommendations to assist in the identification of 
suitable sites. The first Review of the Regional Waste Plan endorsed by 
the Council in July 2008 identifies a range of potential sites for waste 
management purposes on vacant general industrial land. The Regional 
Waste Plan 1st Review (2008) contains Areas of Search Maps which TAN 
21 indicates remain relevant for use in identifying potential new sites for 
in-building and open-air waste management/resource recovery facilities.  
Developers are encouraged to use the recommendations to assist in the 
identification of suitable sites. 

5.434 In addition to the tests set out in the Policy, all proposals will be 
assessed against other relevant policies. Notably, they should not be 
located within an area at risk from flooding, cause unacceptable air, noise 
or light pollution, dust, vibration or odours, or attract excessive vermin. 
Proposals should also: Provide safe means of access to the highway and 
adequate on-site parking and turning facilities; Be accompanied by details 
of the type, quantity and source of waste; and Set out the proposed 
duration of the development. 

5.435 Planning applications for waste management facilities should be 
accompanied 

by sufficient information to allow the environmental impact of the 
proposal to be adequately assessed. Such information should include the 
nature of the waste, the broad technical requirements arising from the 

Page 1039



256 
 
 

type of waste, the amount of waste proposed to be treated or disposed of, 
access, the timescale of the operations and, where appropriate, 
restoration and after-use proposals. a Waste Planning Assessment 
containing sufficient information to enable an assessment of the 
application and its contribution to meeting the requirements set out in the 
Collections, Infrastructure and Markets Sector Plan.  Information to be 
provided should include: 

• Waste Policy Statement (contribution to the CIM Sector Plan, need and 
locational requirements, demand, identification of markets, current 
shortfall in treatment capacity, consultation); 

• Time-scale (lifespan of the operation, days and hours of operation); 
• Types and quantities of waste to be managed; 
• Design, layout, buildings and plant; 
• Amenity and nuisance; 
• Air pollution; 
• Energy efficiency. 
 

Further details are contained in Annex B of TAN 21 (2014). Where 
appropriate, proposals should be accompanied by a formal environmental 
assessment and Health Impact Assessment. In assessing such proposals, 
close consultation will be undertaken with Natural Resources Wales and 
conditions will be attached to any permissions and/or legal agreements 
sought to ensure adequate environmental safeguards and controls. 

 
5.436 Further guidance on the application of the Policy will be set out in 
the Locating Waste Management Facilities SPG. 
 
 
W32: PROVISION FOR WASTE MANAGEMENT FACILITIES IN 
DEVELOPMENT 
 
Where appropriate, provision will be sought in all new 
development for facilities for the storage, recycling and other 
management of waste 
 
5.437 406 The purpose of this Policy is to ensure that adequate provision 
is made for waste management facilities within new developments, in 
order to aid the Council in meeting the challenging waste recycling targets 
set by European and national 
targets. 
 

Page 1040



257 
 
 

5.438 407 The Policy accords with TAN21: Waste, The National Waste 
Strategy for Wales: Wise About Waste (2002) and Towards Zero Waste 
(2010). 
 
5.439 408 Targets set out in Wise About Waste (2002) mean that the 
Council is required to be more proactive in managing waste. It is 
important that new development is designed to incorporate facilities for 
waste management to encourage waste reduction, recycling, composting 
and separation at source. This Policy will be used to ensure that adequate 
storage and collection facilities are provided in all appropriate new 
developments. 
 
5.440 409 The general requirement for all developments will be to 
provide: 

• On-site waste, recycling and composting, separation and storage 
facilities; 

• Communal waste, recycling and composting, separation and storage 
facilities for larger developments; 

• Access arrangements for refuse vehicles and personnel for collection 
purposes. 

 
5.441410 Facilities provided should be secure, unobtrusive and easily 
accessible. Further detailed guidance on matters such as the types of 
facilities required and their design will be set out in SPG. 
 
6. Monitoring and Implementation 

 
 
6.1 Monitoring the effect of planning policies is the principle way through 
which the effectiveness of implementing the LDP can be assessed. The 
monitoring process helps to positively identify key issues and questions 
such as: 

• Which policies are being implemented successfully – i.e. their 
effectiveness in determining planning applications and in 
withstanding appeals. 

• Whether policies are having their intended output. 
• If policies are not working well, what actions are needed to address 

them? 
• What changes to the evidence base has occurred or needs to take 

place? 
• What gaps can be identified that should be addressed by the LDP? 
• If an amendment of policies or complete review of the LDP is 

required. 
 

Page 1041



258 
 
 

6.2 The Council is required to submit an Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) 
to Welsh Government by 31st October each year following adoption of the 
LDP as set out in Section 37 of the Town and Country Planning (Local 
Development Plan) Regulations 2005 (the Regulations). Having a clear 
mechanism for the monitoring of the LDP is one of the ‘Tests of 
Soundness’ considered in the Examination of the LDP by the Planning 
Inspector. 
 
6.3 The LDP Manual explains that the Annual Monitoring Report process 
should not just be about data collection, but about taking a forward 
looking action-orientated approach which may raise issues that need to be 
addressed and will help form the basis for a review of the LDP. 
 
6.4 The LDP is subject to a four year review period. However, a full 
review of the LDP is only likely to be required in certain circumstances, for 
example where new legislation or guidance is released, significant 
changes to forecasts occur or where delivery of the LDP objectives is not 
being delivered. It is a combination of all of these factors, together with 
the issues raised in the AMR which may warrant consideration of a partial 
or full review. It would not be based solely on whether an individual 
target was being met or policy having a specific outcome. 
 
6.5 The LDP Manual acknowledges that data cannot be collected for every 
policy in the Plan; it would lead to an unnecessarily large and complicated 
document. It suggests that key policy areas are monitored consistently to 
allow for trends to be recognised. Where possible, use will be made of 
existing information being collected, for example linking with the 
Sustainability Appraisal monitoring indicators. 
 
6.6 It is important to recognise that the monitoring process can be a 
complex task, particularly where there is a lack of consistent data or if 
there is doubt an outcome can be solely attributed to development plan 
policies. There may also be difficulties in monitoring certain impacts on an 
annual basis when some changes take a longer time to materialise. 
Therefore, careful attention has been given to gathering the right volume 
and grain of data. 
 
6.7 The LDP monitoring process involves gathering data on a range of 
different 
indicators including: 

• National core output indicators; 
• National sustainable development indicators; 
• Local output indicators relating to key objectives, strategic and 

detailed policies in the LDP; 
• SA/SEA indicators regarding environmental impacts of the LDP; and 

Page 1042



259 
 
 

• Contextual issues affecting Cardiff such as changes in national 
policy or legislation, external factors and local social, economic and 
demographic trends; all of which will be presented and assessed in 
the AMR each year. 
 

6.8 Targets linked to the indicators are set to assess whether policies are 
being implemented effectively. The AMR will provide a commentary on the 
extent to which targets have been met along with a consideration of 
factors influencing the findings in order to fully inform the overall review 
of performance. Trigger points are used to highlight any issues regarding 
relevant policies which could warrant further consideration. If a trigger 
point was reached it would not automatically mean a policy would need to 
be amended. It would be an issue for the AMR to consider in greater 
detail, in particular whether a policy is failing or if there are wider external 
factors contributing to a trigger point being reached. 
 
6.9 Monitoring of the LDP is an on-going process and indicators and 
targets will be developed as this process continues. Existing indicators 
and targets will be evaluated and, where appropriate, changes made to 
existing indicators and targets including the additional inclusion of new 
indicators, should they be considered necessary. The process also allows 
gaps in data collection to become evident and may warrant measures to 
be taken to address those gaps. It is important that targets are realistic 
and measurable. It is recommended in the LDP Manual that any targets 
developed are ‘SMART’ i.e. that they are specific, measurable, achievable, 
realistic and time-bound. 
 
6.10 Monitoring enables the implementation the LDP Strategy to be 
assessed, for example delivering development on allocated sites. This will 
show at an early stage a better understanding of whether the LDP 
Strategy is being delivered as intended or if not, identifying measures 
that may be required to do so. 
 
6.11 The monitoring framework is set out in Appendix 9 and 
demonstrates how key objectives, strategic and detailed policies will be 
assessed against a set of indicators. 
 
6. Monitoring and Implementation 

6.1 Monitoring the effect of planning policies is the principle way through 
which the effectiveness of implementing the LDP can be assessed. The 
monitoring process helps to positively identify key issues and questions 
such as: 

Page 1043



260 
 
 

• Which policies are being implemented successfully – i.e. their 
effectiveness in determining planning applications and in 
withstanding appeals. 

• Whether policies are having their intended output. 
• If policies are not working well, what actions are needed to address 

them? 
• What changes to the evidence base has occurred or needs to take 

place? 
• What gaps can be identified that should be addressed by the LDP? 
• If an amendment of policies or complete review of the LDP is 

required. 
 

6.2 The Council is required to submit an Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) 
to Welsh Government by 31st October each year following adoption of the 
LDP as set out in Section 37 of the Town and Country Planning (Local 
Development Plan) Regulations 2005 (the Regulations). Having a clear 
mechanism for the monitoring of the LDP is one of the ‘Tests of 
Soundness’ considered in the Examination of the LDP by the Planning 
Inspector. 

6.3 The LDP Manual explains that the Annual Monitoring Report process 
should not just be about data collection, but about taking a forward 
looking action-orientated approach which may raise issues that need to be 
addressed and will help form the basis for a review of the LDP. 

6.4 The LDP is subject to a four year review period with an interim target 
therefore of Autumn 2019. However, a full review revision of the LDP is 
only likely to be required in certain circumstances, for example where new 
legislation or guidance is released, significant changes to forecasts occur 
or where LDP objectives are not being effectively delivered. It is a 
combination of all of these factors, together with the issues raised in the 
AMR which may warrant consideration of a partial or full review. It would 
not be based solely on whether an individual target was being met or 
policy having a specific outcome. 

6.5 The LDP Manual acknowledges that data cannot be collected for every 
policy in the Plan; it would lead to an unnecessarily large and complicated 
document. It suggests that key policy areas are monitored consistently to 
allow for trends to be recognised. Where possible, use will be made of 
existing information being collected. 

Page 1044



261 
 
 

6.6 It is important to recognise that the monitoring process can be a 
complex task, particularly where there is a lack of consistent data or if 
there is doubt an outcome can be solely attributed to development plan 
policies. There may also be difficulties in monitoring certain impacts on an 
annual basis when some changes take a longer time to materialise. 
Therefore, careful attention has been given to gathering the right volume 
and grain of data. 

6.7 A set of indicators have been comprised which will act as a 
benchmark in measuring performance. Indicators will be noted as either 
‘Contextual’, ‘Core’ or ‘Local’. 

• Contextual Indicators – These are broad indicators which help 
monitor the effectiveness of the LDP at a strategic level and are 
designed to given an overall picture of how Cardiff as a whole is 
performing. 

• Core Indicators – The Local Development Plan Manual (2006) sets 
out a number of core output indicators which are considered to be 
essential for assessing implementation of national policy. 

• Local Indicators – The Council has identified local indicators which 
are more specific to Cardiff and considered important in monitoring 
the effectiveness of the LDP. 

6.8 All indicators are linked to monitoring target which set out the 
position that needs to be achieved in order to help deliver the LDP 
Strategy. If monitoring targets are not being met, trigger points are 
included to assess the extent to which circumstances have diverged from 
the target. The trigger points will indicate if certain parts of the Plan are 
not achieving their desired outcomes. If these trigger points are activated 
then the AMR will consider the necessary action which is required. 

6.9 In setting trigger points, the principle adopted has been to set strict 
activation points rather than building in wide margins of delivery 
significantly below or above the target based on Plan policies. Therefore, 
where trigger points are based on numerical delivery rates, a trigger of 
10% above or below the target has been adopted. In this way trigger 
activation enables the understanding of the reasons lying behind and 
consideration of whether any improvements can be made to make Plan 
implementation as effective as possible.  

6.10 In this respect, careful consideration will be given to the likely 
underlying reasons for the activation of any trigger points. This will inform 
whether reasons reflect external factors or national trends largely outside 

Page 1045



262 
 
 

the scope of the effectiveness of LDP policy implementation or whether 
reasons may be more directly related to the Plan or local factors. In such 
situations a range of appropriate corrective actions can be considered. 
Such actions are set out in more detail fully below. 

6.11 Options are available to the Council with respect to each indicator, 
monitoring target and trigger point. The AMR will assess the severity of 
the situation associated with each indicator and recommend an 
appropriate response in accordance with the following table: 

 

Continue Monitoring (Green) 
Where indicators are suggesting the LDP Policies are being 
implemented effectively and there is no cause for review 
Training Required (Blue) 
Where indicators are suggesting that LDP policies are not 
being implemented as intended and further officer or Member 
training is required. 
Supplementary Planning Guidance Required (Purple) 
Indicators may suggest the need for further guidance to be 
provided in addition to those already in the Plan. 
Further Research (Yellow) 
Where indicators are suggesting the LDP policies are not being 
as effective as they should, further research and investigation 
is required. 
Policy Review (Orange) 
Where indicators are suggesting the LDP policies are failing to 
implement the strategy a formal review of the Policy is 
required. Further investigation and research may be required 
before a decision to formally review is confirmed/. 
Plan Review (Red) 
Where indicators are suggesting the LDP strategy is failing and 
a formal review of the Plan is required. This option to fully 
review the Plan will need to be fully investigated and 
undertaken following serious consideration. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 1046



263 
 
 

 

7. List of Appendices 
 
 
Appendix 1:  List of Key and Detailed Policies    

Appendix 2:  National and Regional Policy Framework 

Appendix 3: The Cardiff Context and Key Issues the Plan must Address 

Appendix 4:  Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG)  

Appendix 5: Sites over 10 Dwellings with Planning Permission for 

Residential (March 2014) 

Appendix 6:  Heritage Assets Areas of Protection 

Appendix 7:  Designated Sites 

Appendix 8:  District and Local Centres 

Appendix 9:  Monitoring Indicators    

Appendix 10: Summary of LDP process including Technical terms Glossary 

Appendix 11: Tests of Soundness Self-Assessment 

Appendix 12: List of Supporting Documents 

Appendix 13: List of the Evidence Base  

Appendix 14: Bibliography 

 
 
 
 
The following Appendices 1 to 10 are contained in a separate Appendices document: 
1. List of Supporting Documents 
2. List of Key and Detailed Policies 
3. National and regional policy framework 
4. The Cardiff context and key issues the plan must address 
5. List of Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) to be prepared at different 
stages 
6. Summary of LDP process including technical terms glossary 

Page 1047



264 
 
 

7. List of the Evidence Base used to inform the plan 
8. Tests of soundness self assessment 
9. Monitoring Indicators 
10. Bibliography 
 
Background Technical Papers and Assessments 
1. Cardiff Deposit Local Development Plan 2006-2026 Background Technical 
Paper No. 1 Population and Housing – September 2013 
2. Cardiff Deposit Local Development Plan 2006-2026 Background Technical 
Paper No. 2 Urban Capacity Study – September 2013 
3. Cardiff Deposit Local Development Plan 2006-2026 Background Technical 
Paper No. 3 Green Belt – September 2013 
4. Cardiff Deposit Local Development Plan 2006-2026 Background Technical 
Paper No. 4 Economic – September 2013 
5. Cardiff Deposit Local Development Plan 2006-2026 Background Technical 
Paper No. 5 Transportation – September 2013 
6. Cardiff Deposit Local Development Plan 2006-2026 Background Technical 
Paper No. 6 Infrastructure Plan – September 2013 
7. Cardiff Deposit Local Development Plan 2006-2026 Background Technical 
Paper No. 7 District and Local Centres 
8. Cardiff Deposit Local Development Plan 2006-2026 Background Technical 
Paper No. 8 City Centre Protected Shopping Frontages Assessment – 
September 2013 
9. Cardiff Deposit Local Development Plan 2006-2026 Background Technical 
Paper No. 9 Minerals – September 2013 
10. Cardiff Deposit Local Development Plan 2006-2026 Background Technical 
Paper No. 10 Waste – September 2013 
11. Cardiff Deposit Local Development Plan 2006-2026 Final Sustainability 
Report - September 2013 
12. Cardiff Deposit Local Development Plan 2006-2026 Habitat Regulations 
Assessment Report – September 2013 
13. Cardiff Deposit Local Development Plan 2006-2026 Health Impact 
Assessment Report – September 2013 
14. Cardiff Deposit Local Development Plan 2006-2026 Equality Impact 
Assessment Report – September 2013 
15. Cardiff Deposit Local Development Plan 2006-2026 Initial Consultation 
Report – September 2013 
16. Cardiff Deposit Local Development Plan 2006-2026 Masterplanning 
Framework – General Principles, Strategic Framework & Site Specific 
Frameworks for larger sites – September 2013 
17. Cardiff Deposit Local Development Plan 2006-2026 Summary of 
cross-boundary working – September 2013 

 

 

 

Page 1048



Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 
 
Appendices  
 
 
 
 
Contents 
 
Appendix 1: List of Supporting Documents   List of Key and Detailed Policies    
Appendix 2: List of Key and Detailed Policies   National and regional policy 

framework 
Appendix 3: National and regional policy framework   The Cardiff context 

and key issues the plan must address    
Appendix 4: The Cardiff context and key issues the plan must address  

Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG)  
Appendix 5: List of Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) to prepared at 

different stages   Sites over 10 Dwellings with Planning 
Permission for Residential (March 2014) 

Appendix 6: Summary of LDP process including technical terms glossary 
Heritage Assets Areas of Protection 

 
Appendix 7: List of the Evidence Base used to inform the plan Designated 

Sites 
Appendix 8: Tests of soundness self assessment   District and Local Centres 
Appendix 9: Monitoring Indicators    
Appendix 10: Summary of LDP process including Technical terms glossary 
Appendix 11: Bibliography: Tests of soundness self assessment 
Appendix 12: List of Supporting Documents  
Appendix 13: List of the Evidence Base  
Appendix 14: Bibliography 
 
 
 

Page 1049



2 
 
 

Appendix 21 : List of Key and Detailed Policies 
 
KEY POLICIES  
 
KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH  
 
KP2: STRATEGIC SITES 
 
KP2 (A): CARDIFF CENTRAL ENTERPRISE ZONE AND REGIONAL 
TRANSPORT HUB 
 
KP2 (B): FORMER GAS WORKS, FERRY ROAD 
 
KP2 (C): NORTH WEST CARDIFF 
 
KP2 (D & E): NORTH OF JUNCTION 33 ON M4 AND SOUTH OF CREIGIAU 
 
KP2 (F): NORTH EAST CARDIFF (WEST OF PONTPRENNAU) 
 
KP2 (G): EAST OF PONTPRENNAU LINK ROAD 
 
KP2 (H): SOUTH OF ST MELLONS BUSINESS PARK 
 
KP3 (A): GREEN BELT Wedge 
 
KP3 (B): SETLLEMENT BOUNDARIES  
 
KP4: MASTERPLANNING APPROACH  
 
KP5: GOOD QUALITY AND SUSTAINABLE DESIGN  
 
KP6: NEW INFRASTRUCTURE  
 
KP7: PLANNING OBLIGATIONS  
 
KP8: SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT 
 
KP9: RESPONDING TO EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS 
 
KP10: CENTRAL AND BAY BUSINESS AREAS 
 
KP11: MINERALS AND CRUSHED ROCK AGGREGATES AND OTHER 
MINERALS 
 
KP12: WASTE  
 
KP13: RESPONDING TO EVIDENCED SOCIAL NEEDS 

Page 1050



3 
 
 

 
KP14: HEALTHY LIVING  
 
KP15: CLIMATE CHANGE  
 
KP16: GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE  
 
KP17: BUILT HERITAGE  
 
KP18: NATURAL RESOURCES  
 
 
DETAILED POLICIES 
 
HOUSING 
 
H1: NON-STRATEGIC HOUSING SITES  
 
H2: CONVERSION TO RESIDENTIAL USE 
 
H3: AFFORDABLE HOUSING 
 
H4: CHANGE OF USE OF RESIDENTIAL LAND OR PROPERTIES  
 
H5: SUB-DIVISION OR CONVERSION OF RESIDENTIAL PROPERTIES 
 
H6: CHANGE OF USE OR REDEVELOPMENT TO RESIDENTIAL USE 
 
H7: ALLOCATION POLICY FOR GYPSY AND TRAVELLER SITE(S) 
 
H87: SITES FOR GYPSY AND TRAVELLER CARAVANS 
 
ECONOMY 
 
EC1: EXISTING EMPLOYMENT LAND 
 
EC2: PROVISION OF COMPLEMENTARY FACILITIES FOR EMPLOYEES IN 
BUSINESS, INDUSTRIAL AND WAREHOUSING DEVELOPMENTS 
 
EC3: ALTERNATIVE USE OF EMPLOYMENT LAND AND PREMISES 
 
EC4: PROTECTING OFFICES IN THE CENTRAL AND BAY BUSINESS  
AREAS 
 
EC5: HOTEL DEVELOPMENT 
 
EC6: NON-STRATEGIC EMPLOYMENT SITE 

Page 1051



4 
 
 

 
EC7 EMPLOYMENT PROPOSALS ON LAND NOT IDENTIFIED FOR 
EMPLOYMENT USE 
 
ENVIRONMENT 
 
Countryside Protection 
 
EN1: COUNTRYSIDE PROTECTION 
 
EN2: CONVERSION, EXTENSION AND REPLACEMENT BUILDINGS IN THE 
COUNTRYSIDE 
 
The Natural Environment 
 
EN3: LANDSCAPE PROTECTION 
 
EN4: RIVER VALLEYS CORRIDORS 
 
EN5: LOCAL NATURE RESERVES AND NON-STATUTORY SITES OF  
NATURE CONSERVATION AND GEOLOGICAL IMPORTANCE  DESIGNATED 
SITES 
 
EN6: ECOLOGICAL NETWORKS AND FEATURES OF IMPORTANCE FOR 
BIODIVERSITY 
 
EN7: PRIORITY HABITATS AND SPECIES 
 
EN8: TREES, WOODLANDS AND HEDGEROWS  
 
The Historic Environment 
 
EN9: CONSERVATION OF THE HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT 
 
Natural Resources 
 
EN10: WATER SENSITIVE DESIGN 
 
EN11: PROTECTION OF WATER RESOURCES  
 
Renewable Energy 
 
EN12: RENEWABLE ENERGY AND LOW CARBON TECHNOLOGIES  
 
Pollution 
 

Page 1052



5 
 
 

EN13: AIR, NOISE, LIGHT POLLUTION AND CONTAMINATED LAND 
CONTAMIINATION 
 
Flood Risk 
 
EN14: FLOOD RISK 
 
TRANSPORT   
 
T1: WALKING AND CYCLING 
 
T2: STRATEGIC RAPID TRANSIT & BUS CORRIDORS  
 
T3: TRANSPORT INTERCHANGES 
 
T4: CENTRAL TRANSPORT HUB  
 
T5: MANAGING TRANSPORT IMPACTS  
 
T6: IMPACT ON TRANSPORT NETWORKS AND SERVICES 
 
T7: STRATEGIC TRANSPORTATION INFRASTRUCTURE 
 
T8: STRATEGIC RECREATIONAL ROUTES 
 
T9 CARDIFF CITY REGION ‘METRO’ NETWORK  
 
RETAIL 
 
R1: RETAIL PROVISION WITHIN STRATEGIC SITES 
 
R1 RETAIL HIERARCHY 
 
R2: DEVELOPMENT IN THE CENTRAL SHOPPING AREA 
 
R3: PROTECTED SHOPPING FRONTAGES 
 
R54 DISTRICT CENTRES 
 
R65 LOCAL CENTRES 
 
R4 6 RETAIL DEVELOPMENT (OUT OF CENTRE) 
 
R7 FOOD AND DRINK USES 
 
R7 RETAIL PROVISION WITHIN STRATEGIC SITES 
 

Page 1053



6 
 
 

R8 PROTECTION OF LOCAL SHOPPING PARADES 
 
R8 FOOD AND DRINK USES 
 
COMMUNITY 
 
C1: COMMUNITY FACILITIES  
 
C2: NEW POLICY PROTECTION OF EXISTING COMMUNITY FACILITIES 
 
C2 3: COMMUNITY SAFETY/CREATING SAFE ENVIRONMENTS 
 
C34: PROTECTION OF OPEN SPACE 
 
C45: PROVISION FOR OPEN SPACE, OUTDOOR RECREATION, CHILDREN’S 
PLAY AND SPORT 
 
C5: PROVISION FOR ALLOTMENTS AND COMMUNITY GROWING 
 
C6: PROVISION FOR CHILDREN’S PLAY 
 
C7 6: HEALTH 
 
C8: PLANNING FOR SCHOOLS 
 
C9: NEW EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES 
 
C10: HEALTH EMPLOYMENT NON-STRATEGIC ALLOCATION 
 
C7 PLANNING FOR SCHOOLS 
 
MINERALS 
 
M1: MINERAL LIMESTONE RESERVES AND RESOURCES  
 
M2: PREFERRED ORDER OF MINERAL RESOURCE RELEASE 
 
M3: QUARRY CLOSURES AND EXTENSION LIMITS 
 
M4: MINERALS BUFFER ZONES 
 
M5: RESTORATION AND AFTER - USE OF MINERAL WORKINGS 
 
M6: DREDGED AGGREGATE LANDING AND DISTRIBUTION FACILITIES 
SAND WHARF PROTECTION AREAS 
 
M7: SAFEGUARDING OF SAND AND GRAVEL RESOURCE 

Page 1054



7 
 
 

 
M8: SAFEGUARDING OF COAL RESOURCES 
 
M9: SAFEGUARDING OF LIMESTONE RESOURCES 
 
M7: SAFEGUARDING OF SAND AND GRAVEL, COAL AND LIMESTONE 
RESOURCES 
 
M8: AREAS WHERE COAL WORKING WILL NOT BE ACCEPTABLE 
 
WASTE  
 
W1: LAND FOR WASTE MANAGEMENT 
 
W21 SITES FOR WASTE MANAGEMENT FACILITIES 
 
W32: PROVISION FOR WASTE MANAGEMENT FACILITIES IN  
DEVELOPMENT 
 
 
 
  

Page 1055



8 
 
 

Appendix 3 2: National and Regional Policy 
Framework 
 
Introduction 
 
1.1 Cardiff’s LDP must take into account relevant policies and guidance 

relating to Wales, the city-region and other approved policies relating 
to the local area. 

LDP legislation and guidance 
 
1.2 Every local planning authority in Wales must prepare a LDP for its area. 
This is known as a ‘plan-led’ system and together with other relevant plans, 
strategies and policies, provides the framework for planning in Cardiff. The 
main relevant legislation and guidance relating to LDPs is as follows:  
 
• Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004- Requires the Council to 
prepare a LDP and, in doing so, to have regard to its Community Strategy 
and national policy including the Wales Spatial Plan (WSP); 
• The Town and Country Planning (Local Development Plan) (Wales) 
Regulations 2005- Outlines the details of how the LDP system will be 
operated. This includes the need for LDPs to have regard to the Waste 
Strategy for Wales, Regional Waste Plans, Regional Transport Plan and 
Local Housing Strategies; and 
• Additional guidance on the preparation of LDPs has been prepared by the 
Welsh Government and includes: 
- Local Development Plans Wales (2005) 
- Local Development Plan Manual (2006) 
- Planning Your Community: A Guide to Local Development Plans 
(2006) 
- Guide to the examination of Local Development Plans (2006) 
 
National policy framework 
 
1.3 The Welsh Government's national land use policies are set out in 
Planning Policy Wales (Edition 5, November 2012) and Mineral 
Planning Policy Wales (2001). These are supplemented by Technical 
Advice Notes and Circulars. Planning Policy Wales sets out how the land use 
planning system can help achieve the Welsh Government's goals of: 
• Sustainable Development - meeting the needs of the present without 
compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs; 
• Building a dynamic and advanced economy - supporting economic 
regeneration, creating wealth and good quality jobs; 
• Tackling social disadvantage - developing an inclusive society where 
everyone has the chance to fulfil their potential; and 

Page 1056



9 
 
 

• Equal Opportunities - promoting a culture in which diversity is valued and 
equality of opportunity is a reality. 
 
1.4 Chapter 2 of PPW sets out further information on Development Plan 
coverage. 
 
1.5 People Places Futures: The Wales Spatial Plan (2008 update) 
provides a strategic framework to guide future development and policy 
interventions across Wales, beyond the scope of formal land use planning 
control. The Spatial Plan places Cardiff at the centre of the South East - 
'Capital Network' - area of Wales, for which its vision is of, '' An innovative 
skilled area offering a high quality of life – international yet distinctively 
Welsh. It will compete internationally by increasing its global visibility 
through stronger links between the Valleys and the coast and with the UK 
and Europe, helping to spread prosperity within the area and benefiting 
other parts of Wales''. 
 
1.6 The Spatial Plan acknowledges that it is important for Wales as a whole 
that Cardiff becomes significant internationally and that, to achieve this, 
the city needs to be the focal point of a coherent and successful urban 
network in south east Wales. Integrated transport is identified as being 
crucial to the area effectively functioning in this way; and achieving this in 
ways which reduce reliance on private cars, through improved public 
transport links. 
 
1.7 Of particular relevance, the Spatial Plan also identifies:  

• The City Coastal Area will function as a networked city-region, on a 
scale to realise its international potential, its national role and to 
reduce inequalities; 

• The success of the City Coastal Area relies on Cardiff developing its 
capital functions, together with strong and distinctive roles of other 
towns and cities; 

• The overall priority is to make better use of the area’s existing 
transport infrastructure to deliver more sustainable access to jobs 
and services;  

• The pressure to provide more housing and employment should be 
managed so as to fit in compatibly with conservation of the 
landscape, environment and community strength of this area; and  

• Substantial growth of housing in the coastal zone should also be 
compatible with the health of housing markets in the Heads of the 
Valleys and Connections Corridor. 

 
1.8 The Environment Strategy for Wales (2006) outlines the Welsh 
Government’s long-term strategy for the environment of Wales, setting out 

Page 1057



10 
 
 

the strategic direction for the next 20 years. The purpose of the Strategy 
is to provide a framework within which to achieve an environment that is 
clean, healthy, biologically diverse and valued by the people of Wales. 
Welsh Government wishes to see the environment thriving and contributing 
to the economic and social well-being and health of all of the people of 
Wales. 
 
1.9 One Wales, One Planet (2009) sets out the Welsh Government’s 
vision of a sustainable Wales and the priority it attaches to sustainable 
development. This builds on the Welsh Government’s legal duty to deliver 
sustainable development and requires all organisations in Wales to actively 
commit to sustainable development. 
 
1.10 Economic Renewal: A New Direction (2010) is the Welsh 
Government’s Strategic Framework for economic development. It sets out 
a vision for making Wales ‘one of the best places in the world to live and to 
work’. The strategy outlines the Welsh Government’s following priorities, 
which are; investing in high quality sustainable infrastructure; making 
Wales a more attractive place to do business; broadening and deepening 
the skills base; encouraging innovation and targeting support for business. 
 
1.11 One Wales: Connecting the nation – The Wales Transport 
Strategy (2008) is the Welsh Government’s strategy for transport. It sets 
out how the Welsh Government intends to achieve certain social, economic 
and environmental outcomes. Five key areas are identified for progress:  
• Reducing greenhouse gas emissions and other environmental impacts; 
• Improving public transport and better integration between modes; 
• Improving links and access between key settlements and sites across 
Wales and strategically important all-Wales links; 
• Enhancing international connectivity; and 
• Increasing safety and security. 
 
1.12 The National Transport Plan (2010) sets out in detail how the 
Welsh Government proposes to deliver the Wales Transport Strategy One 
Wales: Connecting the Nation over the next 5 years. The National Transport 
Plan builds on previous plans, adding and integrating public and community 
transport, walking and cycling so that investments help to deliver One 
Wales. The National Transport Plan sits alongside the Regional Transport 
Plans in delivering the Wales Transport Strategy to ensure consistency of 
service provision across the transport network. Together the national and 
regional plans seek to strengthen local service delivery and improve access 
to essential services such as health and education. 
 
Regional Policy Context 
 
1.13 A Regional Transport Plan (RTP) (2010) has been prepared by 
the regional transport consortium, the South East Wales Transport Alliance 

Page 1058



11 
 
 

(Sewta), which is made up of 10 local authorities including Cardiff and other 
transport stakeholders. The Sewta RTP was approved by the Welsh 
Government in January 2010. Under the provisions of the Transport 
(Wales) Act 2006, the RTP replaces the Local Transport Plans formerly 
produced by each local authority in Wales. Welsh Government guidance 
requires the RTP to support the delivery of the strategic objectives of the 
WSP and the Wales Transport Strategy. The RTP is a material consideration 
in the formulation of LDPs and decisions on land use where there is a 
transport dimension.  
 
1.14 The Sewta RTP sets out a vision of, “A modern, accessible, integrated 
and sustainable transport system for south east Wales which increases 
opportunity, promotes prosperity for all and protects the environment; 
where walking, cycling, public transport and sustainable freight provide real 
travel alternatives”. To deliver this vision the RTP identifies a range of 
strategic objectives, policies, and actions, together with a five year rolling 
programme of schemes to develop and improve the transport network. 
 
1.15 Managing demand for private car travel, making better use of the 
existing transport network and encouraging use of sustainable and active 
transport modes are key themes of the RTP which will provide the strategic 
framework for regional and local level transport improvements across the 
region. 
 
1.16 The RTP recognises the critical relationship between land use and 
transport provision and how each affects the other. In tune with Welsh 
Government RTP guidance, it advocates a process of information sharing, 
joined-up thinking and integration to establish a consistency between the 
RTP and LDPs across the south east Wales region. These interactions need 
to embrace both LDP and Development Management elements of land use 
planning. 
 
1.17 The South East Wales Regional Waste Plan, First Review (RWP) 
(2008) provides a land use framework to facilitate the development of an 
integrated network of facilities to treat and dispose of waste in south east 
Wales in a way that has regard for the Waste Strategy for Wales, satisfies 
modern environmental standards and meets targets set by European and 
national legislation. The document was subject to a 1st Review, the 
contents of which have been approved by the constituent authorities of 
south east Wales including Cardiff in July 2008.The Review sets out a 
Regional Waste Strategy indicating the preferred mix of waste 
management/resource recovery technologies and capacities for managing 
the forecast arisings of all controlled waste streams and a spatial element 
that guides the location of new facilities. In identifying suitable locations for 
new waste facilities, the LDP waste policies will assist in the development 
of an integrated network of facilities to treat and dispose of waste in ways 
that will satisfy modern environmental standards. A grouping of the 

Page 1059



12 
 
 

authorities (Caerphilly, Cardiff, Monmouthshire, Newport and the Vale of 
Glamorgan) has been formed through Prosiect Gwyrdd to tackle the issue. 
 
1.18 The South Wales Regional Technical Statement (1st Review for 
Aggregates (RTS) (200814) has been prepared in response to Minerals 
Technical Advice Note 1: Aggregates (MTAN1), issued by Welsh 
Government in March 2004. This has a primary objective of seeking to 
ensure a sustainably managed supply of aggregates that are essential for 
construction, by striking the best balance between environmental, 
economic and social costs. To achieve that objective, the RTS has been 
prepared by consultants on behalf of the South Wales and North Wales 
Regional Aggregates Working Party (RAWP) to provide a strategic basis for 
aggregates supply for LDPs in the south Wales region until 202136 . As 
appropriate, local planning authorities will then be expected to include 
allocations for aggregates provision in their area as part of the LDP process. 
The RTS was endorsed by Welsh Government and the constituent 
authorities including Cardiff in August 2014  July 2007. 1.19 The main 
recommendations arising out of the RTS for Cardiff’s LDP to effectively 
address are:  

 Confirmation that the current aggregate reserves with planning 
permission are sufficient to meet the 10 year landbank requirements 
of MTAN1; 

 The need to safeguard the marine dredging wharves within Cardiff 
Docks; and 

 The need to safeguard for potential use by future generations the one 
potential sand and gravel resource block within Cardiff. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 1060



13 
 
 

Appendix 4 3: The Cardiff context and key 
issues the plan must address  
 
Introduction 
 
2.1 It is important that the Deposit Plan is informed by relevant information 
relating to Cardiff. Extensive work has been undertaken to develop a 
comprehensive and robust evidence base. This section summarises some 
of the key issues which have been identified following analysis of the 
information collected. Further detailed information and technical data is 
contained in the supporting documents which accompany this document. 
 
The Cardiff Context 
 
2.2 The county covers some 143 square kilometres, and is the largest urban 
area in Wales. Approximately 53% of the county is urban with the 
remaining 47% formed by countryside and strategic river valleys which 
embraces a diverse pattern of landscapes and wide range of resources.  
 
2.3 Cardiff is the key driver of the city-region economy in south east Wales 
which has a total population of 1.4 million. It is also the capital city of Wales 
and seat of National Government which further enhance Cardiff’s nationally 
important role. This role is reinforced through its excellent range of retail, 
cultural, further education and sporting facilities. 
 
2.4 LDPs within south east Wales local planning authorities (LPAs) have 
progressed at different timescales with four of the 10 LPAs having adopted 
LDPs, but with the majority still under preparation. The current situation is 
summarised below in Table 1, below. 
 
 
Table 1: South east Wales local authority LDP progress and overall 
levels of growth (as at Deposit). 
 

Local Authority 
 

Stage of 
Preparation 

Plan Period  Overall level of 
growth 
(dwellings 
proposed) 

Blaenau Gwent Adopted 2006-21 3,500 
 

Bridgend Deposit 2006-21 9,000 
Caerphilly Adopted 2006-21 8,625 
Merthyr Tydfil Adopted 2006-21 3,800 
Monmouth Deposit  2011-21 4,000 
Newport Deposit 2011-26 8,750 

Page 1061



14 
 
 

Rhondda Cynon 
Taff 

Adopted 2006-21 14,385 

Torfaen Deposit 2006-21 5,000 
Vale of 
Glamorgan 

Deposit 2011-26 9,950 

 
 
2.5 In order to assist the LDP in meeting the tests of soundness relating to 
cross boundary issues and compatibility with LDPs prepared by 
neighbouring authorities, a Working Group was set up in November 2011, 
made up of the 10 south east Wales LPAs and other participating 
organisations in the South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG). 
The South East Wales Economic Forum (SEWEF) and the South East Wales 
Transport Authority (Sewta) were also invited to participate. The purpose 
of the working group was to discuss the cross-boundary implications of the 
emerging issues involved in the preparation of the LDP. 
 
 
Key Social Trends and Issues 
 
2.6 Cardiff is the most populated local authority in Wales, with 345,400 
people living in the county in 2011 (Office of National Statistics 2012) - 
over 11% of the total population of Wales. Some 1.4 million people live 
within 45 minutes drive time of the city. Cardiff’s population has increased 
steadily over the past 20 years (by about 2,400 people per year) but much 
more rapidly since 2001 (about 3,500 per year). Welsh Government 
projections indicate that the number of households in Cardiff will 
significantly increase by 37% between 2008 and 2026 from 136,741 to 
187,302 households. According to the Welsh Government projections, this 
is driven partly by in-migration (particularly net international migration), 
partly by natural population increase (births less deaths), and partly by a 
decline in average household size with over three quarters of the growth 
being for 1 and 2 person households. 
 
2.7 In recent years a high proportion of new housing has been built on 
brownfield land. This has contributed to the development of many 
apartments and the relative under-provision of family housing. On average 
around 1,476 new dwellings have been built each year for the last 10 years. 
14% of those were affordable (213 p.a.). 68% (1,001) p.a. were flats or 
apartments. Much of this development has been within the city centre and 
bay area and has helped to revitalise these areas and provide high quality 
opportunities for urban living. This is demonstrated by the fact that 94% of 
housing completions in the last 10 years have been on brownfield land 
compared to 6% on Greenfield sites. 
 
2.8 The affordability of housing - particularly family housing – remains an 
issue that will continue to need to be addressed. At present (April 2013) 

Page 1062



15 
 
 

there are 9,710 on the combined housing waiting list; 545 families are in 
temporary accommodation. These facts help indicate the scale of the 
affordable housing requirement. The Cardiff Local Housing Market 
Assessment update (LHMA July 2013) indicates that, based on the Welsh 
Government formula, 3,989 affordable dwellings are required in Cardiff for 
each of the next 5 years to deal with need. The social and economic 
importance of providing a range and choice of homes, particularly 
affordable housing is fully recognised in the Welsh Government White Paper 
Homes for Wales, “A White Paper for Better Lives and Communities” (May 
2012). 
 
2.9 There are two Gypsy and Traveller sites in Cardiff (Rover Way and 
Shirenewton) providing a total of 80 pitches. The population in these sites 
is growing and there is a demand for new sites. The Council has a legal 
duty to meet the need for Gypsy and Traveller sites in the Local 
Development Plan (Welsh Government Circular 30/2007). The latest study 
in 2013 found a need up to 2026 for an additional 108 pitches plus 10 
transit pitches. 
2.10 Compared with Wales and the UK, Cardiff has a higher percentage of 
population in age groups 15-39 years but a lower percentage in age groups 
from 40 upwards. The impact of the student population is particularly 
significant. According to latest data for 2010-11, the growing student 
resident population of 37,400 comprised around 10.8% of the city's total 
population (Higher Education Statistical Authority 2012 and National 
Statistics). 
 
2.11 The health of Cardiff’s population is not significantly different from 
the Welsh average. However, this headline conceals large variations in 
health status between richer and poorer areas. There is a north-south 
divide across Cardiff with a difference in life expectancy of nearly 12 years 
between the poorest and most affluent wards (Cardiff What Matters 
Headline Needs Assessment 20101). Health inequality – the avoidable 
difference between the least and most advantaged populations - is thus 
evident in parts of the population. Opportunities for health are less in 
disadvantaged areas and health outcomes such as cardiovascular mortality 
are poorer. 
 
2.12 In Cardiff, the greatest causes of death in people aged less than 75 
years are cancer, circulatory disease and respiratory disease. Many chronic 
conditions are preventable by ensuring the environment is health 
enhancing and through the adoption of healthy lifestyles. However, over 
half of Cardiff’s adults are clinically overweight or obese, just a quarter 
(25%) of adults meet recommended physical activity guidelines of 
undertaking at least 30 minutes of moderate intensity physical activity on 
five or more days per week (the lowest across Welsh local authorities) and 
35% of adults eat the recommended 5 or more portions of fruit and 
vegetables each day (Welsh Health Survey 20112). 

Page 1063



16 
 
 

 
2.13 The built and natural environment together with lifestyle behaviours 
contribute to improving health. Walking and cycling, access to well-
maintained open spaces for physical activity and food growing plus easy 
access to health care facilities by active travel impact on the health of the 
population. Achieving and maintaining a healthy weight, protecting mental 
health and reducing stress levels are supported by this approach. Cardiff 
has a wealth of open spaces and walking and cycling rates to work/school 
and for leisure are increasing; there is the opportunity to protect and 
enhance these assets for health improvement. 
 
2.14 The 2011 census statistics indicate that 16.2% of the population of 
Cardiff have one or more skills in the Welsh Language (ability to read, write 
or/and understand Welsh) and 11.1% of the County’s population are able 
to speak Welsh. This compares with a national average of 19.0%. However 
there are substantial variations between the proportion of Welsh speakers 
in different communities in Wales, varying from below 8% to above 65%.  
 
2.15 The Welsh Language Board approved Cardiff Council’s revised Welsh 
Language Scheme 2009 to 2012 in July 2009. The Council has adopted the 
principle that in the conduct of public business and administration of justice 
in Wales, it will treat the English and Welsh languages on a basis of equality. 
This scheme sets out how the Council will give effect to that principle when 
providing services to the public in Cardiff. 
 
2.16 Community safety is one of the top issues raised in successive Ask 
Cardiff Surveys. Between 2010 and 2011, Cardiff had the second highest 
recorded crime rate in Wales and 50 per cent higher than the average for 
Wales. These include violence against the person, burglary, vehicle and 
other theft and criminal damage. However, Cardiff’s total recorded crime 
rate has fallen over the past eight years (with some fluctuations) and is 
now less than two-thirds of the figure of eight years ago. There was a 12% 
reduction in total crime between 2009/2010 and 2010/2011 (Home Office 
Statistics). 
 
2.17 While Cardiff is generally a prosperous city offering a high quality of 
life for residents; deprivation (in terms of housing, physical environment, 
employment income, educational achievements, health) still remains an 
important issue that needs to be addressed. Of the 10% most deprived 
LSOAs (Lower Layer Super Output Area) in Wales, 15.8% are in Cardiff 
(Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation 2011). Parts of Ely, Butetown and 
Splott are the most deprived areas of Cardiff.  
 
1 http://cardiffproudcapital.co.uk/content.asp?nav=264&parent_directory_id=2 
2 http://wales.gov.uk/topics/statistics/headlines/health2012/120919/?lang=en 
 

Page 1064



17 
 
 

2.18 9.5% of the total population of Cardiff live in the 10% most health 
deprived LSOAs (Lower Super Output Areas) in Wales (i.e. those ranked 1-
190). However, this proportion varies greatly across the neighbourhood 
areas. Cardiff South West (23.2%) has the highest proportion of its 
residents living in these most deprived areas, followed by City & Cardiff 
South (19.0%) and Cardiff South East (14.6%). In contrast, Cardiff West 
(0.0%) has no areas of this kind, while just 1.5% of Cardiff North’s 
population reside within these LSOAs. For Cardiff East the figure is 8.0%. 
 
2.19 When looking at those living within the 20% most health deprived 
LSOAs in Wales (i.e. those ranked 1-380), it can be seen that 21.7% of 
Cardiff’s total population live within these areas. The disparities across the 
city’s neighbourhood areas also become more apparent. More than two-
fifths (43.9%) of Cardiff South West’s population live in these LSOAs, while 
Cardiff East (38.2%), Cardiff South East (29.9%) and City & Cardiff South 
(24.0%) also have proportions above the Cardiff average. In contrast, just 
5.5% of Cardiff North’s and 7.3% of Cardiff West’s residents live in the 20% 
most health deprived areas. 
 
2.20 Ethnic minorities comprise 15.5% of Cardiff's population broadly 
similar to the average for England and Wales (14.0%) but higher than the 
Wales average (4.4%) with a higher concentration of ethnic groups in 
Grangetown, Butetown, Riverside Adamsdown and Plasnewydd than 
elsewhere (ONS 2011). 
 
2.21 In terms of education, training and skill base the proportion of 
Cardiff’s working age population lacking any qualifications has hovered at 
around 13% for the past five years. However, Cardiff performs particularly 
well with regards to high-level skills with 39.8% of 16 to 64 year olds having 
NVQ level 4 or equivalent, putting Cardiff significantly above the Wales 
(29.3%) and UK (32.7%) averages (Annual Population Survey, 2011). In 
addition, 39% of Cardiff’s workforce is educated to NVQ level 4 or above 
compared with Wales (29%) and UK (33%) (Annual Population Survey 
January 2011) a reflection of the four universities located within the city. 
However, as with other areas in the UK, it is important to recognise the link 
between low educational achievement and deprivation. 
 
Key Economic Trends and Issues 
 
2.22 The economy of Cardiff is generally strong and buoyant, reflecting its 
position as Capital of Wales, seat of Welsh Government and the regional 
centre and economic driver for the wider south east Wales economy, 
accounting for 32% of total employment in south east Wales. Commuting 
patterns into Cardiff demonstrate the city’s importance to the regional 
economy and the Wales Spatial Plan and Economic Renewal Programme 
acknowledge that maintaining Cardiff’s performance is vital for the 
economic well-being of the region and Wales as a whole.  

Page 1065



18 
 
 

2.23 Cardiff’s employment workforce totals 188,977 (Employee Jobs 
Business Register and Employment Survey 2012, ONS) approximately 40% 
are daily in-commuters – 88% are employed in the service sector, 6% in 
construction and 6% in manufacturing. Gross Value Added (GVA) is an 
economic measure of the value of goods and services produced in an area. 
In 2009 Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan generated £9,615 million – 22% 
of Welsh GVA. GVA per head in Cardiff and the Vale stood at £20,864 in 
2009 – higher than both the Welsh and UK averages (ONS 2011). 
Unemployment in Cardiff was 4.5% in March 2013 (10,617) (Claimant 
Count ONS). Between 2001 and 2009 employment in Cardiff expanded by 
16% compared to an overall growth of 4% in the wider south east Wales 
region (Source DTZ Validation of Cardiff Labour Market and Employment 
Scenarios, June 2011). The economic recession over the last few years has 
contributed to the net loss of approximately 4,733 jobs in Cardiff between 
2008 and 2010 (Source ONS Business Register and Employment Survey). 
 
2.24 A key challenge for the LDP is planning for the economy and meeting 
the need for future jobs within the city and the wider south east Wales 
region through striking a balance between the supply and demand for 
employment land and continuing to provide a diverse range of job 
opportunities. Likely future growth sectors in Cardiff over the plan period 
include specialist sectors relating to ICT, energy and environment, 
advanced materials and manufacturing, creative industries, life sciences 
and financial and professional services. It is essential that the location, 
amount and nature of employment land allocated and protected ensures 
Cardiff fulfils its economic potential and also the success of the south east 
Wales region. This includes, for example, the designation in 2012 of a 
Cardiff Central Enterprise Zone providing a much needed boost to the 
supply of Grade A office stock for the city. 
2.25 Employment land take up data for the period July 2001-July 2010 
can be summarised as follows. Average take up for offices (B1a) was 
28,200 square metres per annum. Average land take up was 8.1 hectares 
per annum for industrial and warehousing (B1b/c, B2 and B8) (Cardiff 
Employment Land Study Demand Assessment, DTZ, June 2011). Industrial 
supply currently comprises 69.7 hectares. Office supply currently comprises 
426,971 square metres (Cardiff Employment Land Study Gap Analysis, 
Hardisty Jones Associates, April 2012). 
 
2.26 Total industrial stock in Cardiff is approximately 19.2 million square 
feet of which 43% is warehousing stock, with the remainder providing more 
traditional industrial accommodation. However, the quality of stock has 
become a major issue, with only 6.1% being less than five years old. Many 
of the buildings within the current stock are reaching functional 
obsolescence and there is very little new floorspace to satisfy the emerging 
knowledge and technology services, which are driving demand for high 
specification industrial buildings, rather than the older, larger premises. 
Existing general industry and warehousing land is largely concentrated to 

Page 1066



19 
 
 

the east of the city, within or in close proximity to the southern arc of 
deprivation which geographically contains some of the most deprived wards 
in Wales. Key strategic locations include Ocean Park, Splott, Capital 
Business Park and Wentloog Corporate Park. The Penarth Road/Leckwith 
area also continues to perform an important employment function, with 
good linkages to the south and west of the city. As a distribution location, 
Cardiff’s location towards the western end of the UKs major transport axis 
means it struggles to compete against locations further to the east 
(Newport, Chepstow, Bristol) for major transport and distribution functions. 
 
2.27 In terms of office supply the city centre and Bay Business Area 
remain the principle locations. These are also the most accessible in the 
city, in terms of public transport and for those commuting into the city. Out 
of centre growth has focused at Green Meadow Spring, Coryton, Cardiff 
Gate, Pontprennau, and St Mellons Business Park. Lack of grade A office 
space has been addressed to a degree with the development of Callaghan 
Square, Fusion Point and Caspian Point. However, of the 1.5 million square 
feet of office space available in Cardiff only 7% is grade A (DTZ Supply 
Audit, 2011). 
 
2.28 Cardiff city centre is the main shopping centre for south east Wales 
and over the last 3 years (2009 to 2011) has been ranked the 6th top retail 
centre in the UK (Experian rankings). District and Local Centres provide 
important local facilities to the local community. However, they are 
particularly vulnerable to out of centre competition and changing shopping 
habits. As a consequence the range and quality of retail provision is under 
pressure in many centres. There has been a 4% reduction in terms of net 
retail floorspace between 2005 and 2008. 
 
2.29 The regeneration of Cardiff Bay represents a major success story 
with major redevelopment and infrastructure projects being undertaken 
over the past two decades. Whilst significant progress has been made a 
number of sites remain to be implemented including the completion of 
developments at the International Sports Village and the media/creative 
industries cluster, residential development and associated uses at Roath 
Basin (Porth Teigr). 
 
2.30 Cardiff’s leisure and tourism sector generates significant economic and 
cultural benefits for the city through the staging of major international 
events at world class venues such as the Millennium Stadium and Wales 
Millennium Centre. Cardiff’s diverse leisure and tourism offer also embraces 
a proud heritage, boasting a number of castles, two national museums, two 
cathedrals, Roman remains and acres of parks and gardens. In 2010 the 
city attracted a total of 18.3 million visitors (STEAM, 2010), a 25% growth 
since 2009. Cardiff came in at 11 in Visit Britain’s rankings for overseas 
visits to towns and cities in 2012. The Welsh capital had 301,000 visits, and 
was just ahead of Leeds (299,000) and behind Brighton (345,000). 

Page 1067



20 
 
 

 
Key Transportation Trends and issues 
 
2.31 Traffic on Cardiff’s roads grew on average by 9% between 2002 and 
2012 (Cardiff Annual Traffic Flow Surveys, calculated using 5yr Rolling 
Averages). Around 56% of employed Cardiff residents travel to work by 
car; with 17% walking; 10% travelling by bus; 10% by cycle; 6% by rail; 
and the remaining 1% by other means. This compares with travel by non-
car means for other journey purposes as follows: Shopping 53%; Education 
59%; and Leisure 57% (Ask Cardiff Survey 2012). A large proportion of car 
journeys are relatively short: 25% of trips being no longer than 2km and 
58% no longer than 5km (Census 2001 excluding working from home). 
Overall vehicle occupancy has increased from 1.37 per private car in 
2008 to 1.41 in 2011 (Cardiff Annual Traffic Flow Surveys). 
 
2.32 Cardiff has consistently experienced the highest levels of daily 
inbound commuters of any other local authority in Wales. As of 2011, 
this equates to nearly 77,900 people travelling into Cardiff each day by all 
modes, and representing around 37% of the city’s total workforce. The 
largest numbers commute from the adjoining areas of The Vale of 
Glamorgan (20,500), Rhondda Cynon Taff (18,800) and Caerphilly (9,700). 
A total of 27,900 Cardiff residents commute outside of the authority on a 
daily basis, giving a net inflow of around 50,000 commuters (Annual 
Population Survey, 2011). 
 
2.33 In terms of transport interchanges Cardiff benefits from having a co-
located central rail and bus station within the heart of the city and within 
2 hours rail travel time from London. Central rail station is used by 
approximately 5.75 million people each year (Source: Office of Rail 
Regulation, 2011-12 Station Usage Report) and significant improvements 
are planned for both the bus station and rail station. Its sustainable location 
within the heart of the city enables it to perform an important role for the 
south east Wales region in providing easy access to jobs and services. 
 
2.34 Travel on rail services into Cardiff has increased considerably, with 
passenger numbers at Cardiff stations having increased by 82% between 
2001 and 2011. Cardiff Central and Cardiff Queen Street Station alone have 
experienced an increase in patronage during this period of 100% and 53%, 
respectively. (Cardiff Annual Patronage Surveys, calculated using 5yr 
Rolling Averages). Significant enhancements to rail services are planned 
during the plan period with electrification of the main line from Cardiff to 
London approved for completion in 2017. Proposals for also electrifying the 
Valley line network and main line to Swansea are currently being 
considered by UK and Welsh Governments. In addition, work on enhancing 
the capacity between Central and Queen Street stations, including 
additional platforms for both, has been approved for completion in 2014. 
 

Page 1068



21 
 
 

2.35 With respect to other modes, cycle usage within the city centre has 
seen an increase of 10% between 2001 and 2011, while overall bus 
patronage numbers across the city have decreased from 2001 to 2011 
(Cardiff Annual Patronage Surveys, calculated from 5yr rolling averages). 
Use of the Cardiff East Park and Ride site after opening in October 2009 
has increased from approximately 69,500 in 2009/10 to 84,700 in 2012/13 
(22% growth) and rail based park and ride in Cardiff remains over-
subscribed. 
 
2.36 Cardiff International Airport plays an important role in 
international connectivity for both Cardiff and the wider region and 
consideration needs to be given to improving the role and links to the 
airport.  
 
2.37 The port facilities within Cardiff docks are important in terms of 
international freight movement for both Cardiff and the wider region and it 
is important that these facilities are maintained and improved where 
necessary. Associated British Ports (ABP) and its tenants at South Wales 
directly and indirectly support over £1.7 billion of gross output in Wales. 
There are therefore opportunities to develop the role of the port, 
particularly concerning its potential to generate new industry, services and 
accelerate economic growth. 
 
 
Key Environmental Trends and Issues 
 
2.38 Cardiff is located on the coastal plain of the Severn Estuary. The 
southern rim of the south Wales coalfields in Caerphilly and Rhondda Cynon 
Taff provide a strong imposing backdrop to the north of the city, 
dramatically broken by the River Taff at Tongwynlais. The Rivers Ely and 
Rhymney also converge on the city from the west and east, respectively. 
To the south west the Leckwith Escarpment in the Vale of Glamorgan 
provides another strong backdrop. By contrast, the flat land to the south 
east, adjacent to the Severn Estuary and Newport forms part of the Gwent 
Levels. This undeveloped coastline contrasts with the developed coastline 
further west which includes Cardiff Bay and the barrage and associated 
fresh water lake. This setting has influenced the city’s development to date 
with its distinctive urban form and will continue to do so in the future. 
 
2.39 Landscape studies undertaken in 1997 and 2007 have recognised the 
particular value of five areas of countryside: St Fagans Lowlands and the 
Ely Valley; the Garth Hill Uplands and the Pentyrch Ridges and Valleys; the 
Fforest Fawr and Caerphilly Ridge; the Wentloog Levels; and Flat Holm. In 
addition Cardiff’s three river valleys of the Taff, Ely, and Rhymney 
(including Nant Fawr) play an important strategic role as wildlife and 
recreation corridors linking the urban area with the countryside. 
 

Page 1069



22 
 
 

2.40 Cardiff has a strong and rich built heritage and many designations 
have been made to identify interests of historic conservation importance 
in Cardiff which need to be protected and include: 
• 28 Scheduled Ancient Monuments and 4 archaeologically sensitive areas; 
• Almost 1000 Listed Buildings; 
• 27 Conservation Areas; 
• 19 Historic Parks, Gardens and Landscapes including part of the Gwent 
Levels which are included in the Register of Landscapes of Outstanding 
Historic Interest in Wales; and 
• Local buildings of merit. 
 
2.41 The city has a particularly rich Victorian and Edwardian legacy that is 
reflected in the city centre, its inner suburbs and in the civic centre and 
religious building. Churches and chapels, schools and public houses remain 
prominent and often create focal points on streets and junctions. As Cardiff 
continues to grow, high quality design will be required which takes this 
local distinctiveness into consideration. 
 
2.42 Open spaces are important as they improve people's mental and 
physical health, encourage physical activity, are attractive, support 
biodiversity, act as a carbon sink, and can help to adapt to climate change. 
Cardiff has over 400 hectares of recreational open space, 2000 hectares of 
amenity open space and 200 hectares of education open space. Cardiff has 
a good coverage of Accessible Natural Greenspace, with over two thirds of 
the population living within a 400m distance of access to green space. 
Cardiff has more green space per person than any of the other UK core 
cities; a situation to be protected and promoted. 
 
2.43 Cardiff has a diverse and widespread collection of species and sites of 
Local, UK and European biodiversity importance which need to be 
protected. Including: 
• 4 sites designated for their international importance – the Severn Estuary 
Special Protection Area (SPA), Severn Estuary Special Area of Conservation 
(SAC) and Ramsar sites, and Cardiff Beech Woods Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC); 
• 17 Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs); 
• 6 Local Nature Reserves (LNRs); 
• 177 Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation (SINCs) and 4 more 
pending designation (subject to approval by Cardiff Biodiversity 
Partnership); 
• European protected species occurring in Cardiff include the Great Crested 
Newt, otter, dormouse as well as several species of bat; and  
• A number of the Cardiff priority habitats and species have been identified 
by UKBAP, Section 42 and Local Priority. 
 
2.44 Good quality agricultural land is known to exist within the rural area 
of Cardiff. The best and most versatile agricultural land is a finite resource. 

Page 1070



23 
 
 

Areas within the city known to contain some good (Grade 1, 2 and 3a) 
quality agricultural land include agricultural land in the west, north and 
north east of the city. 
 
2.45 Flooding poses a particular threat to Cardiff because of its coastal 
location, low-lying areas and rivers, and it is inevitable that climate change 
will increase flood risk in the city. The Environment Agency advises planning 
authorities on flooding issues and also gives advice in the form of River 
Catchment Management Plans. It has identified areas of Cardiff – mainly in 
the south of the county (Wentloog Levels, Pengam Area) and the river 
valleys (the Taff, Ely and Rhymney) – which are at high risk of flooding 
(either with or without defences) or which have a history of flooding. In 
order to build on this baseline information the Council has undertaken a 
Strategic Flood Consequence Assessment which assessed fluvial and tidal 
influences on flood risk within the city for both the present day and in the 
next 75 and 100 years taking account of climate change and in particular 
predicted sea level rise. In terms of present day flood risk the findings of 
this work reinforce the Environment Agency data. However for future flood 
risk in 75 and 100 years the findings show significantly increased flood risk 
in the Pengam Green area and Wentloog Levels area south of Rumney and 
Trowbridge due to the impact of climate change and in particular predicted 
sea level rise. The need for the plan to respond to these findings is clearly 
a major issue. 
 
2.46 In order to combat climate change a key issue for the plan to address 
is reducing greenhouse gas emissions which are the key cause of global 
warming. Cardiff’s per capita average CO2 emissions were estimated at 6.8 
tonnes in 2009. The majority of these emissions resulted from industry 
(45%),  domestic sources (30%) and road transport (25%) (Department 
for Energy and Climate Change). The Welsh Government target is to reduce 
CO2 emissions by 80% by 2050. 
 
2.47 The Council is currently undertaking a Renewable Energy Assessment 
and initial findings show that current production of renewable energy in 
Cardiff is low. The European Union target is to source 15% energy from 
renewable sources by 2020. (European Directive 2009/28/EC) 
 
2.48 In 2011/12 municipal waste arisings in Cardiff totalled 169,216 
tonnes. Over the last 10 years the recycling and composting rate of 
household waste in Cardiff has risen from 4% to 55% meaning the Council 
is on target to reach the Welsh Government target of 58% by 2016, 64% 
by 2020 and 70% by 2025. For municipal waste that cannot be recycled or 
composted the Council is currently working with other authorities in the 
region through Prosiect Gwyrdd to secure a long term solution to turn waste 
into energy. In February 2013 Viridor was announced as Preferred Bidder 
to deliver an environmentally sustainable waste management solution for 

Page 1071



24 
 
 

the Partnership. Viridor’s solution, is based on an energy from waste facility 
located at Trident Park  
 
2.49 Cardiff has significant, good quality mineral reserves (mainly 
carboniferous limestone) which are an important source of aggregates for 
the region. A supply of aggregates should be maintained, so mineral 
reserves need to be safeguarded against inappropriate development. 
Currently Cardiff has approximately 41 million tonnes of limestone reserves 
which represent a supply of 69 years, well beyond the plan period. There 
is also a potential sand and gravel resource adjacent to the Rhymney River 
in the north east of the county, and potential coal resources in the north 
west of the county, which are unlikely to be required within the Plan period 
but which need to be safeguarded for potential future use. 
 
2.50 As a result of past activities including industry, mining, quarrying, 
dockland and waste disposal there is a range of undeveloped potentially 
contaminated land within the city. However the majority of these 
undeveloped sites are either protected as areas of open space or for nature 
conservation purposes or are required for operational purposes such as 
quarrying activity or port related activities. 
 
2.51 In common with other towns and cities in the UK, the predominant 
local source of emissions which affects air quality is road traffic and the 
pollutant of concern is nitrogen dioxide. Cardiff currently has three AQMAs 
including St Mary Street, Ely Bridge and Stephenson Court (on Newport 
Road near Cardiff Royal Infirmary). 
 
2.52 Water quality in the rivers Taff, Ely and Rhymney is improving, but 
falls below the requirements of the Water Framework Directive. In total the 
status of watercourses (percent of river lengths achieving good ecological 
status) in Cardiff using data collected under the Water Framework Directive 
is 1.8 km Good, 33.7 km Moderate, 7.6 km Poor and 4.2 km Bad. The 
groundwater around Taff Gorge / Creigiau area is vulnerable. 
 
2.53 In order to meet the needs of new development proposed in the plan 
new water supply infrastructure will be required but dialogue with Welsh 
Water has demonstrated a commitment to address this issue. 
 

Page 1072



25 
 
 

Appendix 5: List of Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) to be 
prepared at different stages 
 
(1) SPG to be submitted prior to/at examination 
 
 

Title Timescale 
Relevant 

Deposit Plan 
Policies 

 Design and Parking  
Guidance 
(incorporating 
Access, Circulation 
and Parking 
Requirements SPG 
and sustainable 
design guidance) 

 Current adopted 
SPG to revised, 
updated and 
extended and be 
submitted prior 
to/at Examination. 
New planning 
obligations SPG to 
pick up S106 
issues from 
transportation 
SPG.  

 KP5, DP10 

 Central Shopping 
Area Protected 
Frontages 

 New SPG to be 
submitted prior 
to/at Examination. 

 DP20 

 Development Area 
Briefs 

o North East Cardiff 
o East of Pontprennau 
o West Cardiff 
o Junction 33/South of 

Creigiau 
o South of St Mellons 

Business Park 
o Cardiff Central 

Enterprise Zone 
(supersedes Dumballs 
Road) 

o Others? 

 

 May be need for 
SPG to be 
submitted prior 
to/at examination 

 

 KP2, KP4 

 Affordable Housing  Current adopted 
SPG to be 
revised by deadline 
of the beginning of 

 DP39 

Page 1073



26 
 
 

May 2014. SPG to 
be submitted prior 
to/at Examination. 
New planning 
obligations SPG to 
pick up S106 
issues 

 Open Space  Current adopted 
SPG to be 
submitted prior 
to/at Examination. 
New planning 
obligations SPG to 
pick up S106 
issues 

 DP47 

 Locating Waste 
Management 
Facilities 

 Current adopted 
SPG to be 
submitted prior 
to/at Examination. 

 DP37 

 Planning Obligations 
incorporating 
Developer 
contributions for 
transport facilities and 
relevant sections from 
o Affordable housing 
o Access, circulation 

and parking 
requirements 

o Open Space 
o Schools 
o Public art 
o PROW 
o Community Facilities 
o Trees and 

Development 
o Waste Collection and 

Storage Facilities 
o Biodiversity 

 

 New SPG to be 
submitted prior 
to/at Examination  

 DP5 

 Flooding  New SPG to be 
submitted prior 
to/at Examination 

 DP64 

Page 1074



27 
 
 

 Natural Heritage 
Network 

 New SPG to be 
submitted prior 
to/at Examination 

 KP16 

 
 
(2) SPG to be revised after adoption of LDP 
 

Title Timescale 
Relevant 

Deposit Plan 
Policies 

 Infill Sites Design 
Guidance 

 Current adopted 
SPG to the Local 
Plan to be revised 
after adoption. 

 KP5 

 Tall Buildings 
Guidance 

 Current adopted 
SPG to the Local 
Plan to be revised 
after adoption. 

 KP5 

 Design of 
Commercial 
Development 

 New SPG to be 
prepared after 
adoption 

 KP5 

 Householder Design 
Guidance 

 Current adopted 
SPG to the Local 
Plan to be revised 
and submitted 
prior to/at 
Examination 

 KP5 

 Design Guidance 
and Standards for 
Flat Conversions 

 In preparation 
linked to existing 
adopted plans. Will 
be revised to link 
to adopted LDP 
after adoption 

 DP41 

 Shop Fronts and 
Signs Guidance 

 Current adopted 
SPG to the Local 
Plan to be revised 
after adoption. 

 DP3 

 Public Art Guidance  Current adopted 
SPG to the Local 
Plan to be revised 
after adoption. 
New planning 
obligations SPG to 

 DP4 

Page 1075



28 
 
 

pick up S106 
issues 

 Public Rights of Way 
and Development 

 Current adopted 
SPG to the Local 
Plan to be revised 
after adoption. 
New planning 
obligations SPG to 
pick up S106 
issues 

 DP11 

 Protection of 
Employment Land 
and Premises for 
Business, Industry 
and Warehousing 

 Current adopted 
SPG to the Local 
Plan to be revised 
after adoption.  

 DP15 

 Food Drink and 
Leisure Uses 

 

 Current adopted 
SPG’s to the Local 
Plan to be merged 
together and 
revised after 
adoption. 

. 

 DP24 

 Premises for Eating, 
Drinking & 
Entertainment in 
Cardiff City Centre 

 Area Planning Briefs to 
supplement City 
Centre Strategy 

o Mount Stuart Square 
o Graving Docks 
o Others? 

 

 

 New SPG to be 
prepared after 
adoption 

 KP9 

 Developer 
Contributions for 
School Facilities 

 To be incorporated 
in new planning 
obligations SPG.  

 DP54, 
DP55 

 Trees and 
Development 

 Current adopted 
SPG to the Local 
Plan to be revised 
after adoption. 
New planning 
obligations SPG to 

 DP62 

Page 1076



29 
 
 

pick up S106 
issues 

 Archaeologically 
Sensitive Areas  

  

 Programmed for 
completion after 
adoption. 

 KP16, DP 

 Community Facilities 
and Residential 
Development 

 Current adopted 
SPG to the Local 
Plan to be revised 
after adoption. 
New planning 
obligations SPG to 
pick up S106 
issues 

 DP45 

 Childcare Facilities  Current adopted 
SPG to the Local 
Plan to be revised 
after adoption.  

 DP40 

 Waste Collection 
and Storage 
Facilities 

 Current adopted 
SPG to the Local 
Plan to be revised 
after adoption. 
New planning 
obligations SPG to 
pick up S106 
issues 

 DP38 

 Health  New SPG to be 
submitted after 
adoption 

 DP51 

 Biodiversity  Current adopted 
SPG to the Local 
Plan to be revised 
after adoption. 
New planning 
obligations SPG to 
pick up S106 
issues 

 DP59 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1077



30 

 

 

Appendix 4: – Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) 

 
The Table below provides a list of SPG to support the Plan with a timetable 
for preparation.  This list will be kept under review in light of changing 
priorities for preparation and the need for additional SPG.  The requirement 
for preparation/review of SPG is linked to the Monitoring Framework.   
 

 
Supplementary 

Planning 
Guidance 

 

 
Current Status /Proposed 

Action 

 
Relevant 

Plan 
Policy 

 
Indicative 

Date for 
Production 

Design and 
Parking 

Guidance 
(incorporating 

Access, 
Circulation and 

Parking 
Requirements 

SPG and 

sustainable 
design guidance) 

Current adopted SPG to the 
Local Plan 
 
To be revised to link to 
adopted LDP updated and 
extended.  
 
New planning obligations SPG 
to pick up S106 issues from 
Transportation SPG 

T5 Within 6 
months of 
adoption 

Affordable 
Housing 

Current adopted SPG to the 
Local Plan 
 
To be revised to link to 
adopted LDP  
 
New planning obligations SPG 
to pick up S106 issues 

H3 Within 6 
months of 
adoption 

Open Space Current adopted SPG to the 
Local Plan 
 
To be revised to link to 
adopted LDP  
 
New planning obligations SPG 
to pick up S106 issues 

C4, C5 Within 6 
months of 
adoption 

Houses in 
Multiple 

Occupation 

New SPG H5 Within 6 
months of 
adoption 

Planning 

Obligations 
 

New SPG KP7 Within 12 
months of 
adoption 

Page 1078



31 

 

 

 incorporating 

Developer 
Contributions for 

Transport 
facilities and 

relevant sections 
from the 

following SPGs: 
 

• Affordable 
Housing 

• Access, 

Circulation 
and 

Parking 
Requireme

nts 
• Open Space 

• Schools 
• Public Art 

• PROW 
• Community 

Facilities 
• Trees and 

Developme
nt 

• Waste 

Collection 
and 

Storage 
Facilities 

• Biodiversity 

Locating Waste 

Management 
Facilities 

Current adopted SPG to the 
Local Plan 
 
To be revised to link to 
adopted LDP 
 

W1 Within 12 
months of 
adoption 

Central Shopping 
Area Protected 

Frontages 

New SPG  R3 Within 12 
months of 
adoption 

Flooding New SPG EN14 Within 12 
months of 
adoption 
 

Page 1079



32 

 

 

Natural Heritage 

Network 

New SPG KP16, 
EN3 - 8 

Within 12 
months of 
adoption 

Design Guidance 
and Standards 

for Flat 

Conversions 

New SPG H5 Within 12 
months of 
adoption 

Infill Sites 

Design Guidance 

Current adopted SPG to the 
Local Plan 
 
To be revised to link to 
adopted LDP 
 
 

KP5 Within 18 
months of 
adoption 

Tall Buildings 

Guidance 

Current adopted SPG to the 
Local Plan 
 
To be revised to link to 
adopted LDP 

KP5 Within 18 
months of 
adoption 

Householder 
Design Guidance 

Current adopted SPG to the 
Local Plan 
 
To be revised to link to 
adopted LDP 

KP5 Within 18 
months of 
adoption 

Shop Fronts and 
Signs Guidance 

Current adopted SPG to the 
Local Plan 
 
To be revised to link to 
adopted LDP 

KP5 Within 18 
months of 
adoption 

Public Art 
Guidance 

Current adopted SPG to the 
Local Plan 
 
To be revised to link to 
adopted LDP 
 
New planning obligations SPG 
to pick up S106 issues 

KP5 Within 18 
months of 
adoption 

Public Rights of 

Way and 
Development 

Current adopted SPG to the 
Local Plan.  
 
To be revised and updated to 
link to adopted LDP 
 
New planning obligations SPG 
to pick up S106 issues 
 

T1 Within 18 
months of 
adoption 

Page 1080



33 

 

 

Protection of 

Employment 
Land and 

Premises for 
Business, 

Industry and 
Warehousing 

Current adopted SPG to the 
Local Plan.  
 
To be revised and updated to 
link to adopted LDP 
 
 
 

EC1,EC3 Within 18 
months of 
adoption 

Food Drink and 
Leisure Uses 

 

Current adopted SPGs to the 
Local Plan. 
 
To be merged together and 
revised and updated to link 
to adopted LDP 
 

R7 Within 18 
months of 
adoption 
 Premises for 

Eating, Drinking 
& Entertainment 

in Cardiff City 
Centre 

Trees and 

Development 

Current adopted SPG to the 
Local Plan  
 
To be revised and updated to 
link to adopted LDP  
 
New planning obligations SPG 
to pick up S106 issues 

EN8 Within 18 
months of 
adoption 

Community 
Facilities and 

Residential 
Development 

Current adopted SPG to the 
Local Plan  
 
To be revised and updated to 
link to adopted LDP  
 
New planning obligations SPG 
to pick up S106 issues 

C1 Within 18 
months of 
adoption 

Childcare 

Facilities 

Current adopted SPG to the 
Local Plan  
 
To be revised and updated to 
link to adopted LDP  
 

EC2 Within 18 
months of 
adoption 

Waste Collection 

and Storage 
Facilities 

Current adopted SPG to the 
Local Plan  
 
To be revised and updated to 
link to adopted LDP  
 
New planning obligations SPG 
to pick up S106 issues 

W2 Within 18 
months of 
adoption 

Page 1081



34 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Biodiversity Current adopted SPG to the 
Local  
 
To be revised and updated to 
link to adopted LDP  
 
New planning obligations SPG 
to pick up S106 issues 

EN5,EN6, 
EN7 

Within 18 
months of 
adoption 

Archaeologically 
Sensitive Areas  

Current adopted SPG to the 
Local Plan  
 
To be revised and updated to 
link to adopted LDP  
 

KP17, 
EN9 

Within 18 
months of 
adoption 

Health New SPG to be prepared C6 Within 18 
months of 
adoption 

Gypsy and 
Traveller Sites 

New SPG to be prepared H7 Within 18 
months of 
adoption 

Page 1082



35 
 
 

 
 
 
Appendix 5: Sites Over 10 Dwellings with Planning Permission for 
Residential 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 1083



SITE REF SITE LOCATION ELECTORAL 
DIVISION TENURE APPLICATION 

NUMBER
PERMISSION 

TYPE
DATE 

GRANTED
BROWNFIELD 
GREENFIELD

NOT 
STARTED 
(PLOTS)

NOT 
STARTED 

(AREA ha)

IN 
PROGRE

SS (Plots)

IN 
PROGRESS 
(AREA ha)

COMPLETE
D (PLOTS)

COMPLETED 
AREA (ha)

TOTAL 
(PLOTS)

TOTAL 
(AREA ha)

Completed 
Plots 2013-

14

Completed Area 
2013-14

AD160 Former Eastern Hotel, 54 Metal Street Adamsdown Private 13/00013 Outline Legal Agreement Brown 14 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 14 0.10 0 0.00
AD174 Former Tredegar House, 57-58 Clifton Street Adamsdown Private 08/01716 Full Legal Agreement Brown 12 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 12 0.04 0 0.00
AD186 St James' Church, Newport Road Adamsdown Private 08/01608 Full 01/11/2011 Brown 12 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 12 0.18 0 0.00
AD188 86-89 Adam Street Adamsdown Private 07/02883 Outline 17/10/2008 Brown 0 0.00 16 0.00 0 0.00 16 0.05 0 0.00
AD212 Bronte Hostel, 158-164 Newport Road Adamsdown HA 10/02302 Full 31/10/2011 Brown 38 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 38 0.18 0 0.00
AD213 Former Rumpoles, Moira Terrace Adamsdown HA 13/00536 Full 04/10/2013 Brown 49 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 49 0.04 0 0.00
BU107i Land West of Dumballs Road Butetown Private 07/01637 Outline 16/05/2011 Brown 1,656 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 1,656 10.64 0 0.00
BU107ii Land West of Dumballs Road Butetown HA 07/01637 Outline 16/05/2011 Brown 414 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 414 2.66 0 0.00
BU109 15-17 Harrowby Street Butetown Private 08/00082 Outline Legal Agreement Brown 20 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 20 0.07 0 0.00
BU118 Sterling Works, Clarence Road Butetown HA 11/01168 Outline 18/03/2013 Brown 0 0.00 19 0.00 0 0.00 19 0.04 0 0.00

BU123A Brandon Tool Hire, 151 Bute Street Butetown Private 13/00143 Outline Legal Agreement Brown 28 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 28 0.10 0 0.00
BU123B Brandon Tool Hire, 151 Bute Street Butetown HA 13/00143 Outline Legal Agreement Brown 11 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 11 0.10 0 0.00
BU32A Land at Roath Basin (WDA) Butetown Private 08/01736 Outline 15/01/2010 Brown 758 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 758 4.32 0 0.00
BU32B Land at Roath Basin (WDA) Butetown HA 08/01736 Outline 15/01/2010 Brown 252 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 252 1.44 0 0.00

BU86A Former Post Office and adjoining car park, Bute 
Street Butetown Private 03/01531 Full Legal Agreement Brown 75 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 75 0.12 0 0.00

BU86Ai Corys Building, Bute Street Butetown Private 06/02527 Full Legal Agreement Brown 24 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 24 0.03 0 0.00

BU86B Former Post Office and adjoining car park, Bute 
Street Butetown HA 03/01531 Full Legal Agreement Brown 11 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 11 0.12 0 0.00

BU95 Cadogan House & adj Land, West Bute St & 
James St Butetown Private 05/00127 Full 09/11/2005 Brown 0 0.00 23 0.00 0 0.00 23 0.03 0 0.00

BU97A 130-132 Bute Street ,"Dixie" Butetown Private 07/02550 Full Legal Agreement Brown 43 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 43 0.04 0 0.00
BU98 Hannah Street Church, Hannah Street Butetown HA 13/01239 Full Legal Agreement Brown 14 0.05 0 0.00 0 0.00 14 0.05 0 0.00
BU99 Coal Exchange, Mount Stuart Square Butetown Private 12/00015 Full Legal Agreement Brown 116 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 116 0.43 0 0.00

CN137A Former Arjo Wiggins Paper Mill Site, Paper Mill 
Road Canton Private 12/01663 Outline Legal Agreement Brown 535 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 535 13.72 0 0.00

CN137B Former Arjo Wiggins Paper Mill Site, Paper Mill 
Road Canton HA 12/01663 Outline Legal Agreement Brown 191 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 191 5.88 0 0.00

CN145 635 Cowbridge Road East Canton Private 07/02384 Outline Legal Agreement Brown 24 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 24 0.10 0 0.00
CN155 The Maltings, Cowbridge Road East Canton HA 11/02190 Full 30/11/2012 Brown 0 0.00 26 0.00 0 0.00 26 0.15 0 0.00
CN164 Canton Police Station, Cowbridge Road East Canton HA 13/02071 Full Legal Agreement Brown 17 0.06 0 0.00 0 0.00 17 0.06 0 0.00

CS138 Junction of Lucas Street, Fanny Street & Gwyneth 
Street Cathays Private 10/00710 Full 26/07/2011 Brown 0 0.00 10 0.00 0 0.00 10 0.18 0 0.00

CS139 CCC Offices Wood Street Cathays Private 08/01741 Full Legal Agreement Brown 220 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 220 0.30 0 0.00
CS174i Land at Thomson House, Park Street Cathays Private 10/00431 Outline 30/12/2010 Brown 211 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 211 0.22 0 0.00

CS174ii Land at Thomson House, Park Street (Affordable 
Housing) Cathays HA 10/00431 Outline 30/12/2010 Brown 20 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 20 0.06 0 0.00

CS176 41 Charles Street Cathays Private 05/00003 Full 08/03/2006 Brown 0 0.00 11 0.00 0 0.00 11 0.04 0 0.00

CS178 Texaco Service Station, 188-198 Cathays Terrace Cathays Private 06/02351 Full 24/06/2008 Brown 0 0.00 14 0.00 0 0.00 14 0.10 0 0.00

CS181 St Martin's Parish Hall Site, Alexander Street Cathays Private 07/00891 Full 11/02/2008 Brown 0 0.00 16 0.00 0 0.00 16 0.06 0 0.00
CS191i Marcol Court, Churchill Way Cathays Private 07/03013 Outline Legal Agreement Brown 103 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 103 0.34 0 0.00
CS191ii Marcol Court, Churchill Way Cathays HA 07/03013 Outline Legal Agreement Brown 44 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 44 0.14 0 0.00
CU52 Land at Heol Trelai Caerau HA 13/00859 Full 18/10/2013 Brown 0 0.00 40 0.00 0 0.00 40 0.60 0 0.00
CU77i r/o Western Leisure Centre Careau Private 11/00672 Outline 10/02/2012 Brown 57 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 57 1.60 0 0.00
CU77ii r/o Western Leisure Centre Careau HA 11/00672 Outline 10/02/2012 Brown 25 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 25 0.50 0 0.00
EL55 70 Mill Road Ely Private 12/01130 Full 24/04/2013 Brown 0 0.00 11 0.00 0 0.00 11 0.06 0 0.00

EL84A Land off Clos y Cwarra Ely Private 13/00444 Outline Legal Agreement Green 30 0.44 0 0.00 0 0.00 30 0.44 0 0.00
EL84B Land off Clos Y Cwarra Ely HA 13/00444 Outline Legal Agreement Green 20 0.20 0 0.00 0 0.00 20 0.20 0 0.00
FA52A Land between 53-81 Gorse Place Fairwater HA 12/02186 Full 07/08/2013 Green 16 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 16 0.19 0 0.00
FA87 52 Beechley Drive Fairwater Private 13/02545 Full 11/03/2014 Brown 10 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 10 0.07 0 0.00
FA89 60-72 Beechley Drive Fairwater HA 12/01386 Full 25/01/2012 Brown 13 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 13 0.36 0 0.00

GA52A Briardene North Road Gabalfa Private 09/00161 Outline 15/09/2011 Brown 33 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 33 0.28 0 0.00
GA52B Briardene North Road Gabalfa HA 09/00161 Outline 15/09/2011 Brown 15 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 15 0.12 0 0.00
GA55 Land at Talybont Gate, Bevan Place Gabalfa Private 11/01414 Full 24/05/2012 Brown 0 0.00 22 0.00 0 0.00 22 0.25 0 0.00

GR108i Cambrian Marina, Ely Harbour, Ferry Road Grangetown Private 13/00310 Outline Legal Agreement Brown 125 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 125 0.32 0 0.00
GR138i Cardiff Bus Depot, Sloper Road Grangetown Private 07/02973 Outline Legal Agreement Brown 183 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 183 2.18 0 0.00
GR138ii Cardiff Bus Depot, Sloper Road Grangetown HA 07/02973 Outline Legal Agreement Brown 79 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 79 0.94 0 0.00

P
age 1084



SITE REF SITE LOCATION ELECTORAL 
DIVISION TENURE APPLICATION 

NUMBER
PERMISSION 

TYPE
DATE 

GRANTED
BROWNFIELD 
GREENFIELD

NOT 
STARTED 
(PLOTS)

NOT 
STARTED 

(AREA ha)

IN 
PROGRE

SS (Plots)

IN 
PROGRESS 
(AREA ha)

COMPLETE
D (PLOTS)

COMPLETED 
AREA (ha)

TOTAL 
(PLOTS)

TOTAL 
(AREA ha)

Completed 
Plots 2013-

14

Completed Area 
2013-14

GR156A Land at Wholesale Fruit Centre, Bessemer Road Grangetown Private 10/01432 Full Legal Agreement Brown 215 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 215 6.00 0 0.00

GR156B Land at Wholesale Fruit Centre, Bessemer Road Grangetown HA 10/01432 Full Legal Agreement Brown 35 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 35 1.00 0 0.00

GR158 Bay Pointe (ISV) Grangetown Private 12/00937 Full 05/04/2013 Brown 524 0.00 33 0.00 4 0.00 561 5.60 4 0.04
GR159 Car Park/Pool (ISV) Grangetown Private 12/00934 Full 05/04/2013 Brown 79 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 79 0.99 0 0.00

GR160A Morrisons (ISV) Grangetown Private 12/00935 Full 05/04/2013 Brown 29 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 29 0.15 0 0.00
GR160B Morrisons Affordable ISV) Grangetown HA 12/00935 Full 05/04/2013 Brown 34 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 34 0.30 0 0.00
GR161A Watkiss Way (ISV) Grangetown Private 13/00829 RM 18/07/2013 Brown 35 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 35 0.42 0 0.00
GR161B Watkiss Way Affordable (ISV) Grangetown HA 13/00829 RM 18/07/2013 Brown 66 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 66 0.65 0 0.00
GR166 ISV Ice Rink Site Grangetown Private 12/01861 Outline 17/06/2013 Brown 213 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 213 0.20 0 0.00
GR65A Prospect Place, off Ferry Road (Bellway) Grangetown Private 10/00811 Full 28/06/2010 Brown 0 0.00 240 0.00 493 0.00 733 4.60 0 0.00

GR65B Prospect Place, off Ferry Road (Affordable 
Housing) Grangetown HA 06/00613 Full 27/10/2006 Brown 0 0.00 6 0.00 83 0.00 89 0.17 0 0.00

HE75 Thornbury House, Thornbury Close Heath Private 11/00238 Outline Legal Agreement Brown 10 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 10 0.10 0 0.00
LD125 18 High Street Llandaff Private 09/01810 Full 13/05/2010 Brown 11 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 11 0.08 0 0.00
LD129 The Retreat, Pwllmelin Road Llandaff Private 10/00846 Full 08/06/2011 Brown 20 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 20 0.20 0 0.00
LN52 Old Vaughan's Laundry Site Llandaff North Private 13/00273 RM 02/05/2013 Brown 10 0.00 9 0.00 4 0.00 23 0.54 4 0.09
LN52i Old Vaughan's Laundry Site Llandaff North HA 13/00273 RM 02/05/2013 Brown 5 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 5 0.38 0 0.00
LR30 735 Newport Road Llanrumney Private 08/01905 Outline 01/04/2011 Brown 13 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 13 0.12 0 0.00

LR36A Cardiff Council Housing Depot, Mount Pleasant 
Lane Llanrumney Private 12/00579 Outline 13/07/2012 Brown 15 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 15 0.32 0 0.00

LS185 Land at Chiltern Close Llanishen Private 13/01923 Outline Legal Agreement Brown 70 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 70 0.50 0 0.00
LV06 Land south of Lisvane Road Lisvane Private 11/01300 Full 27/03/2013 Green 40 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 40 2.04 0 0.00

LV128A Land off Cefn Mably Road Lisvane Private 13/00649 Full 27/02/2014 Green 41 1.80 0 0.00 0 0.00 41 1.80 0 0.00
LV128B Land off Cefn Mably Road Lisvane HA 13/00649 Full 27/02/2014 Green 10 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 10 1.00 0 0.00

LV76 Balmoral Close Lisvane Private 11/01301 Full 27/03/2013 Green 24 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 24 2.02 0 0.00

NP58 Land at Church Road Pontprennau/ 
Old St. M Private 04/03065 Outline 19/10/2011 Brown 45 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 45 1.34 0 0.00

PL109 Former Warehouse, Elm Street Plasnewydd Private 13/00867 Full 11/06/2013 Brown 0 0.00 10 0.00 0 0.00 10 0.11 0 0.00
PL178 122-130 Albany Road Plasnewydd Private 08/02018 Full Legal Agreement Brown 12 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 12 0.02 0 0.00

PL179A 217-223 Newport Road Plasnewydd Private 08/01551 Full 21/09/2011 Brown 47 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 47 0.22 0 0.00
PL179B 217-223 Newport Road Plasnewydd HA 08/01551 Full 21/09/2011 Brown 6 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 6 0.02 0 0.00
PL186 57a Richards Place Plasnewydd Private 09/02063 Outline Legal Agreement Brown 11 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 11 0.03 0 0.00
PL205 Gibbons Yard, Richmond Road Plasnewydd Private 10/01936 Full 26/08/2011 Brown 39 0.00 10 0.00 0 0.00 49 0.31 0 0.00
PL214 21-27 City Road Plasnewydd Private 12/01260 Outline Legal Agreement Brown 26 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 26 0.10 0 0.00
PW22A Maelfa Centre, Llanedeyrn Drive Pentwyn Private 11/01082 Outline 16/09/2011 Brown 83 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 83 0.95 0 0.00
PW22B Maelfa Centre, Llanedeyrn Drive Pentwyn HA 11/01082 Outline 16/09/2011 Brown 21 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 21 0.40 0 0.00
RO109 22 Ty Gwyn Road Penylan Private 08/00581 Full 01/04/2011 Brown 10 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 10 0.12 0 0.00

RO120A Ty Gwyn School Penylan Private 12/00438 RM 12/07/2012 Brown 0 0.00 12 0.00 7 0.00 19 1.00 7 0.37
RO120B Ty Gwyn School Penylan HA 12/00438 RM 12/07/2012 Brown 0 0.00 0 0.00 4 0.00 4 0.44 4 0.44

RO69 Land at White Lodge, Ty Gwyn Ave. Penylan Private 10/00675 Full 23/09/2010 Brown 2 0.00 0 0.00 9 0.00 11 1.40 0 0.00
RO99A Land to West of Equinox (Colchester Ave) Penylan Private 12/01240 Full 16/09/2013 Brown 14 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 14 0.20 0 0.00
RU71 599 Newport Road Rumney Private 04/00374 Outline Legal Agreement Brown 24 0.25 0 0.00 0 0.00 24 0.25 0 0.00
RV171 Wellington House, Wellington Street Riverside Private 08/00809 Full 16/09/2009 Brown 44 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 44 0.22 0 0.00

RV174 St Winefrides Nursing Home, 24 Romily Crescent Riverside Private 10/01326 Full 19/05/2011 Brown 76 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 76 1.03 0 0.00

RV183 3 - 5 Brook Street Riverside Private 10/00179 Full 03/07/2013 Brown 0 0.00 10 0.00 0 0.00 10 0.03 0 0.00
RV184 Pontcanna Pine, 200 King's Road Riverside Private 10/00232 Full 09/05/2011 Brown 0 0.00 14 0.00 0 0.00 14 0.07 0 0.00
RV199 4 Cathedral Road Riverside Private 13/01217 Full Legal Agreement Brown 14 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 14 0.01 0 0.00
RV200 Land to the West of Albert Street Riverside HA 13/01734 Full 20/02/2014 Brown 0 0.05 10 0.00 0 0.00 10 0.05 0 0.00
RV203 Riverside House, 31 Cathedral Road Riverside Private 13/00918 Full Legal Agreement Brown 20 0.09 0 0.00 0 0.00 20 0.09 0 0.00

SF39A Michaelston Road Criegiau/St 
Fagans Private 12/01810 RM 11/03/2013 Green 67 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 67 2.00 0 0.00

SF39B Michaelston Road Criegiau/St 
Fagans HA 12/01810 RM 11/03/2013 Green 16 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 16 1.00 0 0.00

SF40A Land North & West of Great House Farm Criegiau/St 
Fagans Private 13/00435 Outline 27/02/2014 Green 15 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 15 0.60 0 0.00

P
age 1085



SITE REF SITE LOCATION ELECTORAL 
DIVISION TENURE APPLICATION 

NUMBER
PERMISSION 

TYPE
DATE 

GRANTED
BROWNFIELD 
GREENFIELD

NOT 
STARTED 
(PLOTS)

NOT 
STARTED 

(AREA ha)

IN 
PROGRE

SS (Plots)

IN 
PROGRESS 
(AREA ha)

COMPLETE
D (PLOTS)

COMPLETED 
AREA (ha)

TOTAL 
(PLOTS)

TOTAL 
(AREA ha)

Completed 
Plots 2013-

14

Completed Area 
2013-14

SF40B Land North & West of Great House Farm Criegiau/St 
Fagans HA 13/00435 Outline 27/02/2014 Green 4 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 4 0.20 0 0.00

SM65A Land adj to Blooms Garden Centre Pontprennau/ 
Old St. M Private 13/01172 Outline Legal Agreement Green 46 1.60 0 0.00 0 0.00 46 1.60 0 0.00

SM65B Land adj to Blooms Garden Centre Pontprennau/ 
Old St. M HA 13/01172 Outline Legal Agreement Green 20 1.20 0 0.00 0 0.00 20 1.20 0 0.00

SP120 The Grosvenor Hotel, South Park Road Splott Private 11/02004 Full 12/04/2013 Brown 0 0.00 12 0.00 12 0.00 24 0.06 12 0.03
SP132 Land to South Side, Moorland Road Splott HA 13/01313 Full Legal Agreement Brown 15 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 15 0.13 0 0.00
SP133 Land at Sanquhar Street Splott HA 13/02674 Full Legal Agreement Brown 26 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 26 0.27 0 0.00
SP84 The Bayside, East Tyndall Street Splott Private 07/00333 Full Legal Agreement Brown 32 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 32 0.13 0 0.00

SP99A Splott Market, Lewis Road Splott Private 06/02474 RM 14/12/2006 Brown 0 0.00 15 0.00 77 0.00 92 0.45 0 0.00

TR133A Land between Crickhowell Road and Willowbrook 
Drive Trowbridge Private 10/01246 Outline 08/09/2010 Green 115 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 115 1.10 0 0.00

TR133B Land between Crickhowell Road and Willowbrook 
Drive Trowbridge HA 10/01246 Outline 08/09/2010 Green 50 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 50 0.02 0 0.00

TR140A Land off Crumlin Drive Trowbridge HA 08/01173 Full 04/03/2009 Brown 10 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 10 0.33 0 0.00
TR151 The Hendre Pub, 157 Hendre Road Trowbridge Private 13/01186 Full Legal Agreement Brown 15 0.18 0 0.00 0 0.00 15 0.18 0 0.00
TR85A Part area 11, St Mellons  (CCHA) Trowbridge HA 09/00796 Outline 21/01/2011 Green 56 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 56 1.43 0 0.00

TR87Di Part of Area 9, Land south of the Beacon Centre, 
Harrison Drive Trowbridge HA 08/02456 RM Legal Agreement Brown 15 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 15 0.30 0 0.00

WH71A Whitchurch Hospital Whit/Tongwynl
ais Private 10/02301 Outline 09/01/2014 Brown 248 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 248 6.70 0 0.00

WH71B Whitchurch Hospital Whit/Tongwynl
ais HA 10/02301 Outline 09/01/2014 Brown 82 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 82 2.21 0 0.00

TOTALS 8,343 5.92 589 0.00 693 0.00 9,625 108 31 0.97

P
age 1086



36 
 
 

Appendix 6: Heritage Assets Areas of Protection 
 
Policy EN9 (i): Cadw Scheduled Ancient Monuments in Cardiff 

Proposals 
Map 
Reference 

Monument Name 

1 Cae-yr-Arfau Burial Chamber 
2 Caer Castell Camp 
3 Caerau Camp 
4 Cardiff Castle and Roman Fort 
5 Castell Coch 
6 Castell Morgraig 
7 Castle Field Camp E Of Craig-Llywn 

8 Cooking Mound East of Taff Terrace 

9 Cross in Llandaff Cathedral 

10 Dominican Friary 
11 Ely Roman Villa 
12 Ely Tidal Harbour Coal Staithe Number One 

13 Five Round Barrows on Garth Hill 
14 Flat Holm Coastal and Anti-aircraft Defences 
15 Leckwith Bridge 

16 Llandaff Cathedral Bell Tower 
17 Llwynda-Ddu Camp 
18 Melingriffith Water Pump 

19 Morganstown Castle Mound 
20 Old Bishop's Palace, Llandaff 
21 Pen y lan Roman Site 

22 
Queen Alexandra Dock Harbour Defence Gun 
Emplacement 

23 Relict Seawall on Rumney Great Wharf 

24 St Mellons Churchyard Cross 
25 The Wreck of the "Louisa" 
26 Three Palmerstonian Gun Batteries, Flat Holm 
27 Twmpath, Rhiwbina 
28 Wenallt Camp, Rhiwbina 

 

 

  

Page 1087



37 
 
 

Policy EN9 (ii): Listed Buildings  

Refer to the online mapping portal http://ishare.cardiff.gov.uk/  

Direct link: 
http://ishare.cardiff.gov.uk/mycardiff.aspx?layers=ListedBuildin
gs&startEasting=315000&startNorthing=179000&startZoom=500
00  

Page 1088



38 
 
 

Policy EN9 (iii): Conservation Areas in Cardiff 

 Name (designation date(s)) 
1 Cardiff Road Conservation Area (July 1975) 
2 Cathays Park Conservation Area (June 1978) 
3 Cathedral Road Conservation Area (April 1972; amended June 

2007) 
4 Charles Street Conservation Area (October 1988) 
5 Church Road, Whitchurch (August 2006) 
6 Churchill Way Conservation Area (December 1991) 
7 Conway Road Conservation Area (June 2007) 
8 Gwaelod-y-Garth Conservation Area (Sept 1970; amended Oct 

2007) 
9 Insole Court Conservation Area (May 1992) 
1
0 

Llandaff Conservation Area (March 1968) 

1
1 

Melingriffith Conservation Area (Aug 1975; amended Oct 2007) 

1
2 

Mount Stuart Square Conservation Area (July 1980; amended June 
2009) 

1
3 

Oakfield Street Conservation Area (February 1992) 

1
4 

Old St. Mellons Conservation Area (July 2007) 

1
5 

Pentyrch (Craig-y-Parc) Conservation Area (July 1991; amended Oct 
2007) 

1
6 

Pentyrch (St. Catwg's) Conservation Area (Mar 1973; amended Oct 
2007) 

1
7 

Pierhead Conservation Area (June 1984; amended June 2009) 

1
8 

Queen Street Conservation Area (May 1992) 

1
9 

Rhiwbina Garden Village Conservation Area (February 1977) 

2
0 

Roath Mill Gardens Conservation Area (January 1988) 

2
1 

Roath Park Conservation Area (January 1973) 

2
2 

Roath Park Lake and Gardens Conservation Area (November 1976) 

2
3 

St. Fagans Conservation Area (July 2007) 

2
4 

St. Mary Street Conservation Area (July 1975) 

2
5 

Tredegarville Conservation Area (March 1981 amended Dec 2008) 

Page 1089



39 
 
 

2
6 

Windsor Place Conservation Area (August 1975) 

2
7 

Wordsworth Avenue Conservation Area (February 1974) 

 

Policy EN9 (iv): Archaeologically Sensitive Areas in Cardiff 

 Area 
1 Llandaff 
2 St Fagans/Michaelstone-super-Ely 
3 The City Centre 
4 The Wentloog Levels 

 

 

  

Page 1090



40 
 
 

Policy EN9 (v): Cadw / ICOMOS UK Registered Historic Parks and 
Gardens in Cardiff 

 Site Name 

1 Cardiff Castle and Bute Park 

2 Cathays Cemetery 

3 Cathays Park 

4 Cefn Mably 

5 Coryton House 

6 Craig y Parc 

7 Fairwood House, Cardiff 

8 Grange Gardens 

9 Insole Court 

1
0 

Parc Cefn Onn 

1
1 

Pontcanna Fields and Llandaff Fields 

1
2 

Roath Park 

1
3 

Rookwood Hospital 

1
4 

Sophia Gardens 

1
5 

St. Fagan's Castle 

1
6 

Thompson's Park (Sir David's Field) 

1
7 

Victoria Park 

1
8 

Waterloo and Roath Mill Gardens 

1
9 

Whitchurch Hospital 

Page 1091



41 
 
 

 

Policy EN9 (v): Cadw/NRW Registered Landscapes of Historic 
Interest in Cardiff 

 

1 Gwent Levels (part City of Cardiff, part Newport CC) - Landscape of 
Outstanding Historic Interest 

 

http://www.ggat.org.uk/cadw/historic_landscape/Gwent%20Levels/Englis
h/GL_Main.htm 

 

Policy EN9 (vi): Locally Listed Buildings of Merit and other 
features of interest  

Locally Listed Buildings: Please refer to the online mapping portal 
http://ishare.cardiff.gov.uk/  Direct link: 
http://ishare.cardiff.gov.uk/mycardiff.aspx?layers=LocallyListed
Buildings&startEasting=315000&startNorthing=179000&startZoo
m=50000  

Historic Environment Record (HER): The Glamorgan-Gwent 
Archaeological Trust's Historic Environment Record (HER) is the official 
register of archaeological sites in Southeast Wales. 
http://www.ggat.org.uk/her/her.html 
 

Page 1092



42 
 
 

Appendix 7: Designated Sites 

Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) 

1 Caeau Blaen-Bielly 

2 Castell Coch woodlands and road section 

3 Coead Y Bedw 

4 Cwm Cydfin, Leckwith 

5 Ely Vally 

6 Fforestganol a Chwm Nofydd 

7 Flat Holm 

8 Garth Wood 

9 Glamorgan Canal / Long Wood 

10 Gwent Levels - Rumney and Peterstone 

11 Lisvane Reservoir 

12 Llanishen and Lisvane reservoir embankments 

13 Penylan Quarry 

14 Rhymney River Section 

15 Rumney Quarry 

16 Severn Estuary 

17 Ton Mawr and Taffs Well quarries 

18 Ty Du Moor 

 

 

 SPA and Ramsar 

1 Severn Estuary 

 

 Special Area of Conservation (SAC) 

  

1 Cardiff Beech Woods 

Page 1093



43 
 
 

2 Severn Estuary 

 

 

 Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation (SINC) 

1 Afon Clun 

2 Airshaft No 4 spoil tip 

3 Beach Sidings 

4 Blackweir & Dock Feeder 

5 Blaen Buellai Complex 

6 Blaengwynlais Quarry Fields 

7 Briwnant Footpath Field 

8 Briwnant Wood 

9 Briwnant-Isaf Wood 

10 Cadoxton & Trehafod Branch Line 

11 Caerau Lane Fields 

12 Caerau Wood 

13 Canton Common Ditch 

14 Cardiff Bay Wetland Reserve 

15 Cardiff Heliport Fields 

16 Castell Mor Craig Wood 

17 Castell-y-Mynach Wood 

18 Cath Cobb Wood 

19 Cathays Cemetery 

20 Cefn Mably Woods 

21 Cefn Onn Amenity Grassland 

22 Coed Gwernybwlau 

23 Coed Pant Tawel/Coedgae-fach 

24 Coed Rhiw'r Ceiliog 

Page 1094



44 
 
 

25 Coed Transh yr Hebog 

26 Coed Tre Wern 

27 Coedbychan 

28 Coedcochwyn 

29 Coedgae Basset 

30 Coedgae Fawr 

31 Coedifanbychan/Coedtirhwnt 

32 Coed-ty-Llwyd 

33 Coed-y-Briwnant 

34 Coed-y-Caeau 

35 Coed-y-Creigiau 

36 Coed-y-Cwar 

37 Coed-y-Felin 

38 Coed-y-Glyn 

39 Coed-y-Goetre 

40 Coed-y-Gof 

41 Coed-y-Graig 

42 Coed-y-Llan 

43 Coed-y-Trenches 

44 Coetgaepengam 

45 Coetgae-sych 

46 Cogan Spur 

47 Coryton Heronry Wood 

48 Coryton Interchange 

49 Craig Llanishen 

50 Craigbriwnant field 

51 Craig-Llwyn Road Wood 

52 Craig-y-Parc 

Page 1095



45 
 
 

53 Craig-y-Sianel 

54 Creigiau Railway Fields 

55 Cwm Farm Pond & Streamside Copse 

56 Cwm Nofydd Grassland 

57 Cwmffynnonau Field 

58 Cwmrhyddgoed 

59 Discovery Wood 

60 Druidstone Road 

61 Ely Northwest 

62 Fairwater Park 

63 Fforest-fach/Graig-goch 

64 Fforest-fawr 

65 Ffynnon-Dwym Wood 

66 Fishpond Wood 

67 Former Llantrisant No.1 Branch Line 

68 Former Penrhos Branch Line 

69 Former St. Fagans Branch line 

70 Foxfield 

71 Gabalfa Woods 

72 Glan Ely Wood 

73 Goitre-Fawr Ponds 

74 Grangemore Park 

75 Greenmeadow Wood 

76 Groes Faen Fen Meadow 

77 Groes Faen Wood 

78 Gwern-y-Bendy 

79 Gwern-y-Cegyrn 

80 Hailey Park 

Page 1096



46 
 
 

81 Heath Wood & Pond 

82 Hendre Lake 

83 Hendre Lake West 

84 Hendre Road 

85 Henstaff Rhos Pasture 

86 Lamby North 

87 Lamby Salt Marsh 

88 Lamby Way 

89 Leckwith Pond & Marsh 

90 Leckwith Woods Viaduct 

91 Lisvane Reservoir Wood 

92 Lisvane Station Wood 

93 Llanedeyrn Woodlands Complex 

94 Llanishen Brook (north) 

95 Llanishen Brook (south) 

96 Llanishen Reservoir 

97 Llanishen Reservoir Grassland and Scrub 

98 Llwyn-crwnganol Wood 

99 Llwyn-y-Pia Marsh 

100 Llys-y-coed 

101 Lower Rookery Wood 

102 M4 Junction 33 Spoil Tip 

103 Maerdy Woods 

104 Maes Mawr Wood 

105 Malthouse Wood 

106 Marshfield 

107 Melingriffith & Melingriffith Feeder 

108 Michaelston Marsh & Woods 

Page 1097



47 
 
 

109 Mynydd Woods 

110 Nant Coslech 

111 Nant Cwmllwydrew 

112 Nant Dowlais 

113 Nant Fawr (north section) 

114 Nant Fawr Community Woodlands 

115 Nant Fawr Meadows 

116 Nant Glandulais 

117 Nant Henstaff 

118 Nant Mwlan Wood 

119 Nant Nofydd 

120 Nant Rhydlafer 

121 Nant Transh yr Hebog 

122 Nant Ty-draw 

123 Nant Ty-draw Fach 

124 Nant-y-Briwnant 

125 Nant-y-Briwnant Complex 

126 Nant-y-Cesair 

127 Nant-y-Draenog 

128 Nant-y-Felin 

129 Nant-y-Fforest 

130 Nant-y-Glaswg 

131 Nant-y-Plac Complex 

132 Ocean Park South 

133 Pant Mawr Cemetery 

134 Pant y Gored Wet Woodland 

135 Parc Cefn Onn 

136 Pencoed Wood 

Page 1098



48 
 
 

137 Pengam Moors 

138 Pentrebane Cottages Ponds 

139 Pentyrch Drove Track 

140 Plymouth Great Wood 

141 Pontprennau Wood 

142 Radyr Community Woodlands 

143 Radyr Cricket Ground and Fields 

144 Rhyd-y-Pennau Complex 

145 Rhymney Grassland East 

146 Rhymney River Valley Complex 

147 River Ely 

148 River Rhymney 

149 River Taff 

150 Riverside Wood 

151 Roath Brook 

152 Roath Park Lake 

153 Roath Park Wild Gardens 

154 Rumney Great Wharf 

155 Scott Wood 

156 Slanney Woods & Garn 

157 Springmeadow 

158 Springmeadow Wood 

159 St Fagan's 

160 St Julians Forge Fields 

161 Swan Mear Wood 

162 Sweldon Wood 

163 The Garth 

164 Thornhill Primary School Pond 

Page 1099



49 
 
 

165 Tidal Sidings 

166 Tongwynlais Oldfield Rd 

167 Tre Wern Field, Pentyrch 

168 Twmpath Fields 

169 Twynau Gwynion Field 

170 Ty Llwyd Meadows 

171 Tydu Marsh 

172 Tyla Farm Wood 

173 Tyn-y-Coed Complex 

174 Waterhall Plantation & Pond 

175 Wenallt Farm Fields 

176 Wenallt Road Field, Rhiwbina 

177 Wenallt Road North Fields 

178 Wentloog Industrial Park 

179 Wern Fawr South 

180 Whitchurch Golf Course Pond 

181 Whitchurch Green Fields 

 

 

Local Nature Reserve (LNR) 

 

1 Cardiff Bay Wetlands and Hamadryad Park 

2 Cwm Nofydd and Fforest Ganol 

3 Flat Holm 

4 Glamorganshire Canal 

5 Hermit Wood 

6 Howardian 

  

Page 1100



50 
 
 

Appendix 8: District and Local Centres: 

 

Policy R4 refers to District Centres as defined on the Proposals Map: The 
District Centres detailed on the following plans are: 

(1) Albany Road/Wellfield Road 
(2) City Road 
(3) Clifton Street 
(4) Cowbridge Road East 
(5) Crwys Road/Woodville Road 
(6) Bute Street/James St 
(7) Merthyr Road, Whitchurch 
(8) Penarth Road/Clare Road 
(9) St Mellons 
(10) Thornhill 
(11) Whitchurch Road 

 

Policy R5 refers to Local Centres as defined on the Proposals Map: The Local 
Centres detailed on the following plans are: 

(1) Birchgrove 
(2) Bute Street (Loudoun Square) 
(3) Cathedral Road 
(4) Countisbury Avenue 
(5) Caerau Lane 
(6) Fairwater Green 
(7) Gabalfa Avenue 
(8) Grand Avenue 
(9) High Street, Llandaff 
(10) Maelfa, Llanedeyrn 
(11) Newport Road, Rumney 
(12) Rhiwbina Village 
(13) Salisbury Road 
(14) Splott Road 
(15) Station Road, Llanishen 
(16) Station Road, Llandaff North 
(17) Station Road, Radyr 
(18) Tudor Street 
(19) Willowbrook Drive 
(20) Wilson Road 

Page 1101



5

2
6

1
4

45

41

36

Sub Sta

49

El

25

2

14

13

37

38

1
6

2
7

2
8

1
5

5
4

3

2

21

Bank

1
4

Shelter

20
0

2
16

3
1

3
6

5
7

75

21
1

19
9

211a

The Gaiety

20
5

S
he

lter

14.3m

8

22
7

3

6

7

24
2

3
9

4
8

4
3

42

5
4

195

166

16
4a

164b

22
9

166a

199

G
a
ra

g
e

43

14.6m

14.0m

6
8

1
5
4

16
4

5
1

7
0

11

El

1

1
6
7

1
8
1

Sub Sta

Garage

5

1

Rear of 138

Rear of 144

6

2
7

3
9

2

2
9

2

1
7

38

29

18
91

3
2

1
2
0

2

16.5m

19
7

19
3

201

1
6

5

168

Surgery

25
0

41

4
9

28

14.9m

28a

M
o
y

H
o
u
se

G
a
ra

g
e

Royal

9

George

TCB1

Sta

Sub

16

El

8
to 12

14

1
3
9

1
5
1

16
7

15
1

Gar
age 15

5

160

H
ous

e

14.3m

170

17
21
74

C
oac

h

The Gate

w
Par

k
Li
be

ra
l C

lu
b

1

PW

2
0
1

2
3
2

22
4

20
3

10

El S
ub

Sta

11

1
1
6

1
0
0

R
a
ve

n
s
co

u
rt

1
to

1
5

1
0
6

1
3
5

1
2
1

M
P

1
.7

5
2
3

1
5

3

42

69

75
73

77

65
63

72
76

69

66

62

59

63

14.9m

LB

64a

26

69b

2

1
5

1

1
4

61 to 67

59

Primary School

Albany

64

61

62

14.0m
59

49

49

50

37

1

2

51 to 57

13.7m

47

TCB

43

39

2
7

38

38

35

47

50

S
urg

ery

24

13.7m

32

22

34

33

14.6m

41

37

Tennis Courts

27

12

26

19

32

18

21

43

40

30

31

29

16

4a

2

11

4

1

32

20

Sunday

School

4

10

11

6
6a

1

2

2

158

144
to

14

150

25

15

24

13

1

26

12

1

2a

2

1a

1
6
9 PH

4
2

18

17

2

4

23 to 27

12

31

20

St Martin
's Church

7

V
ica

rag
e

14

26

11 to 17

19

21

1

2

1a

2a

21
2

21
4

20
2

14.3m

TCB to
19

6

17
5

2

1
6
7
a

Sub Sta

Surgery

17
6

18
0 17

817
9

El

19
4

9a

29

1
5

1a

14.3m

14.0m

2
6

2

1

53

63

58

65

14.9m

5
7

45

1
4

4

22
5

203 to 207

7

14.6m

(PH)

Hotel

LB

3
0

1
6

14.6m

Park

2
17

23
4

Conservative

Club

20
9

2
1
5

Nursery

P
L
A

S
N

E
W

Y
D

D
R

O
A

D

D
IA

N
A

S
T

R
E

E
T

D
O

N
A

L
D

S
T

R
E

E
T

KEPPOCH STREET

P
L
A

S
N

E
W

Y
D

D
S

Q
U

A
R

E

GLENROY STREET

A
L
F

R
E

D
S

T
R

E
E

T

KINCRAIG
STREET

ARRAN STREET

MOY ROAD

C
IT

Y
R

O
A

D

STRATHNAIRN STREET

A
R

A
B

E
L
L
A

S
T

R
E

E
T

ALBANY ROAD

IN
V

E
R

N
E

S
S

P
L
A

C
E

R
TH

C
O

TE
S
TR

EE
T

VIOLET ROW

M
A

C
K

IN
T

O
S

H
P

L
A

C
E

FITZROY STREET

R
IC

H
M

O
N

D
R

O
A

D

Centre:
Albany Road / Wellfield Road

Designation:

District Centre
Map 1 of 2

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

�

N
Page 1102



1

11

71

6
1 C

hurch

4

11.6m

112

61

D
e
f

8

14

11 51

20

to

3
1

3

24

11.3m

14.6m

41

2

37

14.3m

5
0

14.3m

153

5
1

6
1

4

4
0

1
4
9

C
R

E
D

B
d
y

4
1
a

2
a

15

29

21

1

14

2

72
46

3

26

15

38

5
6

P
e
n
yla

n

14

4

1

C
o
urt

10.7m
6

6
0

3
2

1

Kirkland

6
2

Court

U
nited

R
eform

ed

3
7

Wellfield

1

29Court

44

4
0

12.8m

Bank

1

Posts

LB

11.6m

TCB

76

75

13.7m

74

Claude Hotel

1
11

7
2

10.7m

10

12
1

138a

10.4m

26

14

132

167

157

138

132a130

11

6
3

12.8m

8
4

87

7
5

2

99

12.2m

1
08

118

9
6

1

120

145

128

13
2

11.3m

Garage

1
20

El

12
3

Posts

11
1

11.9m

Sub Sta

112

110

86

98

13.1m

100

75
a

1
3

1
b

12

11

133

1
3

1
b

1
9

131

110

63

51

1
2
9
c

129

Cinema

112

1
35

131a

12.8m
163

146

163

134

147

122

164

12.2m

Warehouse

Globe

158

102

The

TCB

Centre

150

166

153

138

150

121

131

12.5m

141

88

123

76

135

64

1

1
3

2
3

Bank

13.1m

B
a
nk

12.5m

94

92

PH

12.8m

52

114

109

129

126

117

111

124

136

101

El

Sta

80

107

Sub
Warehouse

99

68

101

13.1m

2

102

87

95

1
a

97

1

93

112

100

85

73

105

3
9

13.4m

1
3

2
6

1
4

3
8

2
5

46

81

75

78

90

85
2

52
50

13.4m

54

83

30

16

2
2

1
4

2

Victoria Ct

3
9

49

2
7

5

34

6

83

32

5

11

1

12

41

19

2

9

1

1

2
9

1

2
5

1
3

4
2

31
1

21

22

12

35

7
0

4
1

6
8

5
8

163

8
5

23

9
6

8
2

30

7
3

14.3m

2

14

35

2
3

38
64

1
5

54
2
6

3

42

69

75

48

73

81
79

77

61

65

63

72

88

76

69

66

62

64a

4
1

69b

W
ELLFIELD

PLAC
E

P
E
N
-Y

-LA
N

R
O

A
D

C
L
A

U
D

E
R

O
A

D

C
O

T
T
R

E
L
L

R
O

A
D

ALBANY ROAD

CLAUDE
PLACE

W
E

L
L
F

IE
L
D

R
O

A
D

M
A
R
LB

O
R
O

U
G

H
R
O
A
D

GLENROY STREET

KEPPOCH STREET

STRATHNAIRN STREET

B
A

L
A
C

L
A
V

A
R

O
A

D

B
A

N
G

O
R

S
T

R
E

E
T

A
N

G
U

S
S

T
R

E
E

T

W
E

L
L
F
IE

L
D

R
O

A
D

ESSIC
H

STRE
ET

TULLO
C

H
STR

EET

A
N

G
U

S
S

T
R

E
E

T

B
A
N

G
O

R
S
T
R

E
E
T

BANGOR
LANE

B
AN

G
O

R
C
O

U
R
T

LO
C
H

A
B
E
R

S
T
R
E
E
T

A
L
F

R
E

D
S

T
R

E
E

T

Centre:
Albany Road / Wellfield Road

Designation:

District Centre
Map 2 of 2

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

�

N
Page 1103



1a

5

Shelter

1
a

25

2

14

13

37

38

2

21

Bank

Shelter

20
0

2
16

21
1

19
9

211a

The Gaiety

20
5

S
he

lter

14.3m

8

22
7

3

6

7

24
2

195

166

16
4a

164b

22
9

166a

199

G
a
ra

g
e

14.0m

1
5
4

16
4

1

1
6
7

R
ic

h
m

o
n
d

A
p
a
rt

m
e
n
ts

Rear of 138

Rear of 144

56

70

58

18
91

3
2

1
2
0

16.5m

19
7

19
3

201

1
6

5

168

Surgery

25
0

Royal

9

George

TCB1

1
3
9

1
5
1

10
8

98to10
0

to11
0

16
7

15
1

Gar
age

15
5

160

H
ous

e

14.3m

170

17
21
74

C
oac

h

The Gate

32

44

33

13.7m

N
ew

Par
k

Li
be

ra
l C

lu
b

134
to

142

Russell

Court

1 to 11

64

Hall

21

52

85

1

109

College

Baptist

97

76

14.0m

1

45

PW

Depot

90

13.7m

60

125

2
0
1

2
3
2

22
4

20
3

10

El S
ub

Sta

23

20

11

Church

73

TCB

75

69

13.1m7
9

8
6

8
3

78
8
0

8
5

1
1
6

13.7m

8
8

1
0
0

R
a
ve

n
s
co

u
rt

1
to

1
5

1
0
6

37

Sunday

8

Sch
ool

39

1
3
5

1
2
1

El

Sub

Sta

Richmond

Square

2

37a

Chy

81

78

13

Bowling Greens

14.6m

Mackintosh Sports Club

90
to

94

96

17

14

39

30

65

63

72

88

76

69

66

62

59

63

14.9m

LB

64a

64

61

62

14.0m
59

49

49

50

37

38

35

47

50

S
urg

ery

24
22

FS

33

14.6m

41

37

Tennis Courts

38

91
to

99

10
2

to
1
06

10
1

10
3

G
a
ra

g
e

11
8

116

11
8

13.1m

1

11
4

1
16

2

11
2

27

12

26

19

32

18

128

1b

LB

132

1

13.4m

2

26

5

Gara
ge

11
3

11
1

11
7

11
5

126

12
0

21

43

40

30

31

29

16

4a
2a

2

11

4

1

32

20

Sunday

School

2

Garage

11
9

Hall

Garage

12
7

11
9
a

Warehouse

12
3

12
5

12
1

12
1a

4

10

11

6

6a

1

2

13
9

2

G
ar

age

Po
ta

to

P
ro

ce
ss

in
g

P
la
nt

158

144
to

148

150

73

12.8m

PH

4

5

50

1
4

24

1

9

25

15

24

13

1

26

12

1

2a

2

1a

1
6
9 PH

18

4

12

20

St Martin
's Church

7

V
ica

rag
e

14

26

11 to 17

19

21

1

2

1a

2a

21
2

21
4

20
2

14.3m

TCB to
19

6

17
5

2

1
6
7
a

Sub Sta

Surgery

17
6

18
0 17

817
9

El

19
4

9a

14.3m

14.0m2

1
4

4

22
5

203 to 207
7

(PH)

Hotel

LB

1
6

14.6m

Park

2
17

23
4

Conservative

Club

20
9

2
1
5

PEARSON
STREET

P
L
A

S
N

E
W

Y
D

D
R

O
A

D

KEPPOCH STREET

P
L
A

S
N

E
W

Y
D

D
S

Q
U

A
R

E

GLENROY STREET

KINCRAIG
STREET

TAVIS
TOCK

STREET

C
ITY

R
O
A
D

R
U

SS
ELL

STR
EE

T

ARRAN STREET

BED
FO

RD
STREE

T

C
IT

Y
R

O
A

D

STRATHNAIRN STREET

ALBANY ROA

R
IC

H
M

O
N

D
R

O
A
D

N
O

R
TH

C
O
TE

LA
N
E

N
O

R
TH

C
O

TE
S
TR

EE
T

ER ROAD

R
IC

H
M

O
N

D
R

O
A

D

Centre:
City Road

Designation:

District Centre
Map 1 of 2

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

�

N
Page 1104



1
a

6

2
5

10
8

98to10
0

to11
0

S
h
e
lter

S
helter

1

28

Shelter

35 to
43

ED
Bdy

CR

9

10.7m

11.0m

47

Longcross Court

45

El Sub Sta

40

38

31

35

11.3m

College

31

33

44

11.6m

30

43

6

rin
ity

Court

47

45 11.6m

2

Hafren

FS

47

28

Cardiff Tertiary College

/ Coleg Glan

22

53

12.2m

23

W
e
st

G
ro

ve

1to13

C
ou

rt

31

CourtRich
mond

5

1

18 to
20

4
5

4
1

5
4

5
5

5
2

1

12.2m

5
3

4

12.5m

1a
1

Hall

5
0

1
9

Sub Sta

El

9

7

10

8

6

48a

48c48b

6

63
to

57

1
3

1
91
7

1
6

11.9m

1

14

1
0

1
5

6

C
ourt

C
ow

per

5

3

4

2

1

Kings College

St James' C
hurch

1

3

1
5

5

4

1

W
al
k

1

7

13

S
he

lle
y

Shelley Gardens

7

1
4

8

Centre

Playground

Community

2
to

12

O
ffices

16

G
overnm

ent

Garage

2
6

18

22
20

1
1
.9

m

8

12

9

G
arage

58to

Shakespeare
C
ourt

3
4

1
7

4
0

3
6

3
8

1
5

T
C

B

44

11.6m

4
2

46

4
8

Club

7

27

Place

22

Dylan

20

23

25

32

33

31
34 24

28

29
30

1

26

7

Aska
m

Court

3
4

1

4
2

35

1 to 3

13

12.8m

28

1

22

Posts

30
24

18

20

14

26

32

167

2
2

15

47

14

4
4

36

Garage

12

90
to

94

96

88

52

86

12.5m

84

1

LB

General Buildings

1
1

to
1
3

1
9

Club

29

1
to

2
7

P
a
s
c
a
ll

C
o
u
rt

5
0

5
4

11.6m

5
2

3
1

11.6m

64

PH

6
6

1

TCB

4
7

to
6
1

St Peter's Court

El Sub Sta

PH

78

76

7
2

80

67

74

69

7
0

82

71

Club

73

1

16

4

1

3

75

El S
ub Sta

81

79

77

85

83

8
7

12
4

2

12.2m

1

YMCA

8

5

1

St Peter's
RC

Church

P
resb

y

Hall

Tk

5

12.2m

1to4

26

to

Penford
Court

18

13

8

25

9

112

6 10

11

22

1

5

3
12

714

8

4

13

12

18

Rich
mond Court

21

19

1716

23

20

15
24

37

49

1
6

29

30

34
27

36

25

33

35

26

31

42

37

46

38

28

44
45

40

32

41

48

4

91
to

99
TCB

89

10
2

to
1
06

10
1

10
3

G
a
ra

g
e

11
8

116

11
8

13.1m

1

11
4

1
16

2

11
2

Garage

Gara
ge

11
3

11
1

11
7

11
5

12
0

2

Garage

11
9

Hall

Garage

40

73

12.8m

PH

4

5

50

61

1
4

1

9

T
redega

rv il le

11

29

B
aptist C

h
urch

42

45

El Sub Sta
LB

COW
PER

PLACE

CLIVE

VERE STREET

O
X

F
O

R
D

S
T
R

E
E

T

H
A

R
D

Y
P

L
A

C
E

PLACE

C
A

S
T
L
E

L
A

N
E

B
E

D
F
O

R
D

P
L
A

C
E

B
YR

O
N

STR
E
ET

C
IT

Y
R

O
A

D

M
ILT

O
N

S
TR

E
E
T

ST PETER'S
STREET

SH
AKESPEARE

STR
EET

TALW
O

R
TH

STR
EE

T

PEARSON
STREET

PENLLIN
E

STREET

B
E

D
F
O

R
D

S
T
R

E
E

T

TAVIS
TOCK

STREET

THE
PARADE

W
E

S
T

G
R

O
V

E

THE
W

ALK

OXFORD
LANE

NEWPORT ROAD

E
A

S
T

G
R

O
V

E

C
IT

Y
R

O
A

D

THE
PARADE

E
A
S
T

G
R

O
V

E
LA

N
E

ST
PETER'S

STREET

Centre:
City Road

Designation:

District Centre
Map 2 of 2

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

�

N
Page 1105



64

66

1to6

1
to

6

1to6

1

Clifton

House

Shelter
14

5

25

26

93

63

1

58

56

59

57

36

49

24

4637

25

5010
5

2

14

10
3

1

46

13

11.3m

10
2

13
10

1

96
to

99

2

14

51

87

16
14

Shelte
r

PH

11.3m

17

12

7

10
0

15

1

29

1

21

36

16

101

Community Centre

Gas Governor

St G
erm

ans
M

ews

Phoenix

4
5

4
0

50

4
3

24

11.3m

33
to

35

1

12

1

36

13

6to10

Centre

1
13

Community

11
2

15

10
4

El Sub Sta

41

40

1

7

420

21

24

16

Bank

11
8

3
0

32

31

t0
2
9

11.6m

27

11

8

1

12

St G
erm

ans
Court

5

1

12
6

1
27

12
2

1
28

12
5

11

12
3

23

22
13

53

59

1

19

6

16

20

13
2

1
33

1
39

1
36

11.6m

1
37

1
38

10

1

17

6

S
ikh

T
em

ple
7
7

69

26

8
5

11.6m 27a
27b

16

19

11

PO

10

6
7

5
1

19

57

55

Vicarage

School

Adamsdown

Primary

Cross

5

St Germ
an's

Church

47

3

12.2m

5
2

1

1

27

2

13

26

2

14

Hall

1

1
4

1
2

11

4

42

36

7

1to5

Trinity

6
6

11.9m

62

26

15

60

2
3

56

1to10

11.3m

5
4

22

5
7

Clifto
n Court

7
1

73

5

25

Coach

37

29

3
8

2

The

House

60

Mews

6
5

6
4

Garage

16

11.6m

El Sub Sta

47

5
4 5

0

4
9

5
7

5
2

51

5
5 53

57

5
6

58

41

49

58

32

37

46

44

47

25
27

33

31

Hodge Centre

35

48

37

23

Sir Julian

1

21

11.9m

15

33

29

36

31B
31C

31A

24

31D

27

15

14

Club

22to32

34

Conse
rv

ativ
e

Mille
nnium Court

11.6m

10

11.9m

13b

5

9 to
 11

1 to 8

8

3

2

11

13a

18

116a

116

Surgery

1
0

14
2

1
4

1
1

14
1

2

TCB

11.9m

1

5

1
47

11

2

11.9m

19

PH
2

6
7

94

5

3 4

8

U
pp

er
C

lifton

S
tre

et

15
5

11.6m

104S
ur

g
er

y

15

16

10

12

14
b

14

7

Police
Station

1
43

11.9m

1

1
3

to
2
4A

s
h

w
o

o
d

C
o
u
rt

1
to

1
2

8

6
7

64

St Peter's RC Primary School

Library

12.5m

Shelter

14
7

8

2

11.9m

1

3

12.2m

14
9a

P
H

TCB

5

Stone

3

The Elms

Church

Trinity

1

Centre

Methodist
11.9m

to
30

25

1
to

12

13
to

24

31
to

36

N
or

w
oo

d
C
ou

rt

14
5

46

27

24

6
3

23

27

FOUR ELMS ROAD

C
L
IF

T
O

N
S

T
R

E
E

T

BROADWAY

SAPPHIR
E STREET

C
Y
R
IL

C
R
E
S
C
E
N

T

EMERALD
STREET

Z
IN

C
S
T
R
E
E
T

TIN
STREET

IRON STREET

TOPAZ
STREET

RUBY
STREET

C
L
IF

T
O

N
S
T
R

E
E

T

DIA
M

OND
STREET

SILVER
STREET

P
IE

R
C

E
F
IE

L
D

P
L
A

C
E

COPPER
STREET

GOLD STREET

SUN STREET

LEAD
STREET

STAR
STREET

M
E

T
A

L
S

T
R

E
E

T

S
Y

S
T

E
M

S
T
R

E
E

T

O
R

B
IT

S
T
R

E
E

T

S
Y

S
T

E
M

S
T
R

E
E

T

O
R

B
IT

S
T
R

E
E
T

Centre:
Clifton Street

Designation:

District Centre
Map 1 of 1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

�

N
Page 1106



2

1

1
4

2
6

6
4

5
9

1

2
4

13

12

24

27

4
7

8.2m

4
6

2

5
6

4
8

1

3
8

2

13

15

2
8

1

14

27

3
0

28

14

13

14

28

39

40

40

39

27

28

40

3
3

A

A B

B

8.5m

1
7

3
5

1
9

4
9

5
1

8
4

7
2

4
9
A

4
7

6
9

5
7

Depot

6
2

5
0

G
a
ra

g
e

The Lansdowne

1 to 14

7
1

8
4

6
2

7
4

4
la

4
0

4
1

100

106

2
9

2
8

8.2m

101

8.2m

196

5

4
0

3
1

1
9

Tank

CANTON

Church

Chapter Arts
Centre

Shelter

Club

Police

Station

299

305

8.5m

a

196

196

1
5

2
9

8.5m

1
2

1
0

2

2
0

Bresbyteraidd

2

1
6

Cymru)

2

1

2

1
to

8

75

C
w

rt -y-

the Elderly

Court

Home for

Carmarthen

Alexandra

Court6

8

C
a
rm

a
rth

e
n

317

202
204 to 208

198

307to315

(Eglwys

Car Park

3

Salem

11

2

2
1

Ty Canna

4
0

Chapter Arts Centre

Car Park

5
0

C
o
u
rt

1

4
1

6
8

5
4

4

41
a

9.1m

(PH)

The Insole

1
2

8.5m

327

220
218

210

327ab

22

Car Park

9.8m

Car Park
1
1

1

44

23

13

32

44

3
1

32

21

41

4
0

5

1

Church

School

Uniting

Sunday

8

10

234

234

Canton

8.5m

PO

a

El

5
1

Sub

Sta

1
6

2

331

TCB

236

236238 b

236

a

339

F
arch

n
ad

7
52

14

1b

1

3

1a

36

26

1

22

9

5
4

6
1

4
6

6
2

2 2a

6
3

5
to

6
7
0

22

8
0

School House

School
Gymraeg

Treganna

9.1m

36

46

39

9
1

9

11

5
to

8

a

3

2
0

1
01

MP

240

2

238

48

1
8

54

4
0

41

2
8

43

D
e

p
o
t

7

8

5

6
1 to 4

9
10

Cardigan

Court

4
0

5
0

1
9

6
0

1
7

3
1

5
to

2
0

3
0

5

Cwrt Treganna

4

3
c

3
a

1

4 2

1

17

9 4

1

1
6

2

70

1
4

1

66
68

9

1
1

Shelter363

351

349

2
3

3
8

2
6

3
5

1

12

55c

5
5b

4
3

5
5a

Radnor Court

4

3

2

1

5
0

1
c

1

90

80

1
a

3
1
d

1
b

2
c

2
a

2

1
6

1
5

Sub

Sta

El

H
a
m

ilt
o
n

C
o
u
rt

3
1

10.4m4
3

2
8

4
0

1
2

10.4m

1
1

2
1

1
4

1

100

4
2
b

375

2

379

373

1

PH

377

MARKET

D
E

N
T

O
N

R
O

A
D

A
L
E

X
A

N
D

R
A

R
O

A
D

ETON PLACE

CUMBERLAND STREET

WESTMORELAND STREET

T
H

E
O

B
A

L
D

R
O

A
D

HANOVER STREET

CARMARTHEN STREET

G
L
A

M
O

R
G

A
N

S
T

R
E

E
T

G
L
A

M
O

R
G

A
N

S
T

R
E

E
T

HARVEY STREET

M
A

R
K

E
T

R
O

A
D

T
H

E
O

B
A

L
D

R
O

A
D

M
E

W
S

BRUNSWICK STREET

S
T

C
A

N
N

A
C

L
O

S
E

ANGLESEY STREET

CARDIGAN STREET

P
E

N
-Y

-P
E

E
L

R
O

A
D

R
A

D
N

O
R

R
O

A
D

COWBRIDGE ROAD EAST

B
E

D
A

R
O

A
D

B
E

D
A

R
O

A
D

N
O

R
T

H
U

M
B

E
R

L
A

N
D

S
T

R
E

E
T

Centre:
Cowbridge Road East

Designation:

District Centre
Map 1 of 3

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

�

N
Page 1107



15

LB

5
2

201

Dorothy Le

P
i c

to
n

W
a
l k

1

9

4
7

13

12

5
1

14

211

1
5

1
2

1
1

17

Graham
Walk

14

2

1
6

6

1

Murray Walk

A
lb

e
rt

W
a
lk

1

T
C

B
s

4
8

7.0m

7.0m

229
217219

17

8
48
8

8
69
0

8
0

8
2

2
5

1
3

1

to239

Shelter

241243

TCB

PH

Bank

237

Car Park

El

1
0

28

C
o
lb

o
u
rn

e
W

a
lk

11

Sub7.0m

Community Hall

Playground

Sta

1

6

249

7.0mBank

6.7m

19

1
2
a

1
2

253

E
D

B
d
y

25

18

38

C
R

Post

22

14

2
0

46

12

St John's

PH

Garage

Court

1 to 9

9 2

11

1

2

7.3m

1
to

3

St Johns Mews

1

5

1
3

1

26

14

1

8
2 7.0m

1

2

2

11

1

7.6m

2

2
1

3
1

1
2

7

10

25

2

1

13

8

St John's Church

The Old Coach House

1
1

2
1

3
8

LB

1
4

2
6

1

1
9

2
4

8.2m

1
0

213

Car Park

215

2

116

126

78

51

7.9m 90

S
t M

ary's
R
C

S
cho

ol

61

132

1
a

128

House

S
e
ve

rn
C

o
u
rt

1
to

1
0

7.9m

4

Amberly

1
to

5

7.9m

2
7

2
8

1
6

7.9m

7
6

75

5
2

6
4

2
5

4
0

3
5

4
1

29a-29c

2
9

Sunday

Church

School

Calvary

134136

Baptist

1 to 5

4
1
a

El Sub Sta

4
3

1

Severn Square

Junior

School

138

Severn Road

to

Madras

Taleemul Quaran

53

6
5

5
3

51a

54

59

51

Severn Road

39

42

49

Mosque

1a

152

Infants

Chy

146

158

251

PH

20

11

2

19

2a

Nursery

10

160

Tank

259

Posts

Post

164

162

30

25

21

29
5

2

3

6

3
0

4

1

3
1

269

Car Park

174

Posts

170

176
172

PC

7

9

11

12
10

13

16

8

66

13

16
14

64

15

271
275

7.3m

Bank

4

186

(PH)
The Canton

8

2

T
C

B

279
8
.2

m

2
7

1
7

3
2

8
.2

m

2
0

4
2

9

C
R

E
D

B
d
y

3

Bank

Hotel

Corporation

1

190
(PH)

5

194

Library

El Sub Sta

Chy

8.2m

291

1
a

TCBS

Free

1
8

C
e
n
tre

1
0

(PH)

Butchers Arms

4
1

5
1

A
d
u
lt 3

1

E
d
u
c
a
tio

n

68

2

196

2

5

2
4

293

2
a

4
0

24

8.5m

2

5
4

5
0

56 1

Olive Court

1
9

Tank

CANTON

Church

Chapter Arts
Centre

Shelter

Club

Police

Station

299

1

11314353

6
1

S
E

V
E

R
N

R
O

A
D

W
Y
N

D
H
A

M
C

R
E
S
C

E
N

T

P
IC

T
O

N
P

L
A

C
E

WELLINGTON STREET

A
L
B

E
R

T
S

T
R

E
E

T

D
ELT

A
ST

COWBRIDGE ROAD
EAST

ORCHARD PLACE

G
R

A
Y

S
T
R

E
E

T

PHILIP
STREET

GLYNNE STREET

SPRINGFIELD PLACE

C
H

U
R

C
H

R
O

A
D

EARLE PLACE

MAJOR ROAD

W
E

L
B

Y
R

O
A

D

ANSTEE

C
O

U
R

T

G
R

A
Y

L
A

N
E

GRAY STREET

L
IB

R
A

R
Y

S
T

R
E

E
T

L
L
A

N
D

A
F

F
R

O
A

D

MARKET PLACE

WELBY LANE

CRESCENT

ST
CRESCENT

P
E

N
L

L
Y

N
R

O
A

D

ST

D
E

N
T

O
N

R
O

A
D

JOHN'S

JOHN'S

TON PLACE

Centre:
Cowbridge Road East

Designation:

District Centre
Map 2 of 3

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

�

N
Page 1108



2

9

Adult P

Posts
7.3m

2
3

1
4

3
4

3
6

2
6

3
2

33

30

7.0m

43

1to8

Mews

Wellington

107to111

32

El Sub

28

30

2

25

1

25

24

11

37

7.6m

36

25

49

12

24

37

48

61

7.9m

60

51

8.2m

36

34

Posts

72

87

82

73

7.6m

48

Priory

61

3 1

7.3m

5
46

Hospital

1 to 18

StDavidsMansions

2
1

1
9

29

2
4

2
3

2
0

27

2
2

26

61 59
63

42

47

132

3
6

3
2

3
1 3
5

3
3

54

3
4

7

4

Wellington

Court

48 to 50

1

67

68

70

71

72
69

4
2

4
1

4
0

3
7 3
9

3
8

2
3 5
6

9
8Car Park

1
0

144

1

28

TCB

19
18

9

14

5

25

60

3

2

66

129to133

52

18

48

13

51
49

Health
Centre

54

53

52
50

Riverside

41

37

50

46

32

54

E
dinb

urgh
C

ourt
27

El Sub Sta

45

36

23

43

10

2

45 4
7

4
6

1

4
4

Surgery

Court

68

1

4

St David's

PH

Club

Kings Mews 1
to

5

72
70

2

King's

(PH)

Castle

147149

2
7

2
5

25b

4
2

Gerra
rd

Court

1

2

1to7

Port

House

St Mary

3
8 t o

3
6

3
4

RC Church

of the Angels

2
9

7.6m

2
6

2
4

89

6
to

1
0

7.0m

1
5

1
4

7
a

7

2
2

2
4

1
3

6
4

Hall

8.2m

54

5
0

7.0m

30

C
a
nt on

C
o
u
rt

5
1

33

3
4

1

163

80

157

2

76

6.7m

1
0

1

8

2

29

15

16

30

44

43

5
7

2
6

165167169

4
3

2
3

69 to 77

2
7

2
8

4
5

5
2

C
a
nton

 C
o
urt

1
5

59

2

6

2

1

51

P

1

16

69

181

191

201 PH

HomeDorothy Lewis

2
2

60 to 68

P
i c

to
n

W
a
l k

7

5
9

1

6

1

1
4

5

1

Dugdale Walk

6

9

13

12

5
5

5
1

14

6

Murray Walk

Post

4
1

6

5
3

1
2

2
2

1
4

1
0

7.0m 8

2
0

16

84

LB

b 82

106

82

6.7m

173

96 94
98

92

6
4

42

54

3
9

7.3m

32

House
The Crown

15

Surgery 2
7

2

1
4

7.3m

66

Car Park

116

78

51

61

6
5

MAN

COWBRIDGE

L
E

W
I S

S
T

R
E

E
T

WYNDHAM STREE

HAMILTON STREET

TALBOT STREET

S
O

U
T

H
M

O
R

G
A

N
P

L
A

C
E

PLAC
E

WELLINGTON STREET

W
Y

N
D

H
A

M

WELLS STREET LANE

A
N

N
S

T
R

E
E

T

M
O

R
G

A
N

S
T

N
O

R
T

H

STREET

BLACKSTONE

K
IN

G
'S

R
O

A
D

W
Y
N

D
H
A

M
C

R
E
S
C

E
N

T

ROLLS STREET

WELLINGTON STREET

Centre:
Cowbridge Road East

Designation:

District Centre
Map 3 of 3

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

�

N
Page 1109



153to
157

Shelter

1

3

1

3

26

29

29

30

41

18

Lucas

Court

56

2

3

4

El Sub Sta

1

27

30

Li
on

C
ou

rt

16.8m

24

46

55

44

42

Medallion House

62

55

TCB

16.5m

1 to 8

Crwys Mews

65

C
B

D
an

ie
l H

ou
se

52

57

56

D

56

A

La
ng

la
nd

C
ou

rt

School

75

1
to

4

37

64

Sunday

G
arage

81

67

65

64

17.4m

68

1

to 66

Bank

1b

1a

12

Cathays
Presbyterian

1
4

74

47

49

Church
Of W

ales

80

97

83

92

Works

22

44

29

27

43

55

45

56

46

48

39

49

32

36
34

32

38

66

65

66

57

16

22

45

Hall

20

48

29

31

47

34

24

36

33

35

Sylric

1 to
10

Cadogan

Court

House

96
a

96

1

TCB

94b

20.1m

2

72

109

60

LB

PO

19.2m

1

2

15

115

98

115a

113

111

94

G
a
ra

g
e

14

71

84

18

49

39
11

9

12
1

a

123
11

9a

123

112

117

83
8

27

10
18.6m

29

129

9

18

131to
141

17

114

21.3m

122

85

17

9

E
l
S
u
b

S
ta

10

151

143

132

E
l S

ub
S
ta

1

23.2m

El Sub
Sta

G
a
ra

g
e

86a

2

88

95

105

86

90

1
6
0

1
7
2

1
8
6

2
0
0

2
1
0

2
1
8

1
8

8

24.1m

21.9m

CATHAYS

23

13

12

34

25.6m

36

2

22

12

1

13

25

1
4

142

11

1

2

134

14
4a

146

148

144

1
5
9

2
2
0

2
a

150

16
3

25.9m

25.3m

16.2m

48

71

99

11
5

12
3 

to
 1

27

El Sub
Sta

2

10
1

128

T
C

B

LB

96

91

12
1

11
9

50

12
9

15.8m

11
7

11
1

S
t
T
e
ilo

's
C

hu
rc

h

10
3

16.2m

97

12

Sunday

School

12

13

24

14

24

26

23

391

10
5

In
st

itu
te

10
7

11
3

1

118

2

10

16.8m

25

17

Posts

15

5

40

29

38

52

2

Club

110

Woodville Court

10
6

6

11

10

Works

M
e
th

o
di

st

16.5m

43

C
a
th

ay
s

C
h
u
rc

h

53

Jo
h
n

T
ru

el
ov

e

H
o
u
se

7
4

8

9
5

3

12

1

9
5

Vicarage

8

Annibynwyr )

11

9

13

(Addoldy
yr

Eglwys M
inny

Street

Garage

3

2

12

5

1

G
ar

ag
e

53

51

54

Posts

16.8m

30 S
A

H
al

l

42

21

17.1m

Posts

2

6

26

9

28

2

61

3

23

6
7

The

Courtyard

D
al

to
n

C
ou

rt

1
to

8

1
1
6

a

64

54

50

41

53

10

34

35

45

24

77

1

17.7m

2

74

65

44

45

56

35

57

The

74

1
2
2

62

67

86

Day Centre

W
orks

87

79

84

6
9

9
8

1
1
0

17.4m

1

17.4m

Flora

(PH)

1
3
4

18.0m

8
7

1
0
3

8
5

LB

1
3
8

Club

19.8m

TCB

1
5
2

1
4
8

G
O

W
E
R

S
T
R

E
E

T

DAN
IEL

STREET

L
U

C
A

S
S
T
R

E
E
T

FLORENTIA
STREET

W
H

IT
C

H
U

R
C

H
P
L
A
C

E

ROBERT
STREET

D
A

L
T
O

N
S

T
R

E
E

T

M
AY

STR
EET

CRW
YS

R
OAD

SPENCER
STR

FLO
RA

STREET

D
A
L
T
O

N
S
T
R

E
E
T

G
L
A
D

Y
S

S
T
R

E
E

T

M
INNY

STREET

Y STREET

F
A
N

N
Y

S
T
R

E
E
T

M
AY

STR
EET

C
A

T
H

A
Y

S
T

E
R

R
A

C
E

Centre:
Crwys Road / Woodville Road

Designation:

District Centre
Map 1 of 2

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

�

N
Page 1110



C
R

E
D

B
d
y

16a

14
3

160

14
5

15
9

156

1

Wks

2

13

11

2

1

12

2

1
39

1

2a

Garage

16a

Hall

The

8

9

1

6

17

1

1
68

180

23

108

98

E
l
S
u
b

S
ta

1
15

14

9
5

8
5

3

Works

SL

SL

16

15

Shelter

1

11a

13
3a

13
3b

30

30a

30b

3

1

13

3

26

11

14

29

27

30

41

18

Lucas

Court

56

2

3

4

El Sub Sta

1

27

30

Li
on

C
ou

rt

16.8m

24

55

42

Medallion House

62

55

TCB

16.5m

1 to 8

Crwys Mews

C
B

D
an

ie
l H

ou
se

52

56

D

A

La
ng

la
nd

C
ou

rt

1
to

4

37

64

G
arage

81

67

65

64

17.4m

68

1

to 66

Bank

1b

1a

47
49

80

97

83

92

Works

Sylric

1 to
10

Cadogan

Court

House

96
a

96

1

TCB

94b

2

72

109

60

LB

PO

19.2m

115

98

115a

113

111

94

G
a
ra

g
e

71

18

49

11
9a

117

88

2

18

(Presbytn)

24

10
7

Kings Way

95
Depot

15.2m

9
4

7
3

7
8

1
2
0

80

Day Centre

15.8m

Station

12
3

1a

2

16.5m

Police

76
Scrap Yard

6
6

65

75

77

144

18

T
h
e

C
rw

ys
(P

H
)

150

32

13
5

29

28

27

Crwys House

11
1

11
3

114

27
29

Thesiger
Mews

86

100

97

85

82

44

56

53

46

41

36

16.2m

48

15.8m

61

41

51

72

71

74

73

62

39

99

11
5

12
3

to
12

7

El Sub
Sta

2

10
1

140

13
3

128

T
C

B

86

7
4

LB

96

91

12
1

11
9

50

12
9

15.8m

11
7

11
1

S
t
T
e
ilo

's
C

hu
rc

h

10
3

16.2m

97

7
6

12

Sunday

School

1
5

12

13

24

14

24

26

23

391

16.2m

48

6
0

10
5

In
st

itu
te

10
7

11
3

1

118

2

42

10

16.8m

25

17

Posts

15

5

40

29

38

52

2

Club

110

Woodville Court

10
6

6

11

10

Works

52

2

M
e
th

o
di

st

16.5m

43

C
a
th

ay
s

C
h
u
rc

h

53

Jo
h
n

T
ru

el
ov

e

H
o
u
se

7
4

8

9
5

3

12

1

9
5

3
9

40

28

27

5

9

Vicarage

1
6.

2
m

89

8

Annibynwyr )

11

9

13

(Addoldy
yr

Eglwys M
inny

Street

Garage

3

2

12

5

1

G
ar

ag
e

53

51

54

Posts

16.8m

30 S
A

H
al

l

42

2b

81

73

71

63

53

21

17.1m

Posts

2

6

26

9

28

1

5

6

2

2a

4

3

1

1a

1
a

2

8

12

10

21

2

2

61

23

1

54

41

10

35

16.8m

22

G
O

W

N
O

R
M

A
N

S
T
R

E
E
T

DAN
IEL

STREET
ROBERT

STREET

L
U

C
A

S
S
T
R

E
E
T

L
U

C
A

S
S
T
R

E
E
T

A
L
T
O

N
S

T
R

E
E

T

CRW
YS

R
OAD

F
A
N

N
Y

S
T
R

E
E

T

ALEXANDER
STREET

ROAD

CRW
YS

S
T
R

E
E
T

RHYM
NEY

TERRACE

ROBERT STREET

BRYDGES
PLACE

R
IC

H
A
R

D
S

S
T
R

E
E

T

W
O

O
D

V
IL

L
E

R
O

A
D

BASIL
PLACE

H
A
R

R
IE

T

FLO
RA

STREET

G
L
A
D

Y
S

S
T
R

E
E

T

M
INNY

STREET

F
A
N

N
Y

S
T
R

E
E
T

M
AY

STR
EET

LETTY

STREET

INE
STREET

Centre:
Crwys Road / Woodville Road

Designation:

District Centre
Map 2 of 2

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

�

N
Page 1111



Bollard

Mooring Posts

Floating Pontoons

FB

Lighting Towers

27
28

26

Bollard

Bollard

30 Mooring Posts

PO

Roald Dahl Plass

Saint Line

3
3

1

85

7

Fountain

PH

Tu
nn

el

5

El

Sub Sta

Lighting Towers

Lighting Towers
17

251
4

Mermaid Quay

Ocean Buildings

Marine

Office

(MOT)

Mercantile

D
o
ck

s
L
a
n

e

Custom House

1
0
2

C
o
ry

' s
B

u
i ld

in
g
s

5
7

1
0
7

Bank

7.9m

PH

1
0
0

9
7

9
4

1
1
2

5
6

5
5

1
1
6

7.9m

1
1
3

5

1
1
1

5
4
a

D
o
c
k

C
h
a
m

b
e
r s

7.9m

5
4
b

4

5
4

3
4

3
3

G
e
o
rg

e
S

tre
e

t

1

S
t
C

l a
i r

C
o

u
r t

1
2

1
6

2
1

1
4

The Point

LB

Theatre

PH

1 to 32

Cambrian

Cymric

Buildings

Buildings

27

29

42

30

44

28

7.6m

3635
37

1
4

39
38

40

34

Dowlais Arcade

Chambers

1
8

Bank

6.7m

Bay

PH

House

22

48 43

45
47

51

46

49

41

50

18

Bank

1
2

4
1
2
5

LB

Cliff Court

1 to 28

1to27

St James Mansions

21

23a
23

Mermaid Quay

24

20

S
P
s

9
to

1
0

10

Bank

FB

12

4 to 6

7

1

2

31

B
ollards

Cn

G
ate

s

Bollard

Cn

FB

Dolphins

Graving Docks

S
P
s

Mount Stuart

Bol

Landsea

Cn

B
ollards

Bol

G
raving

D
ock

N
o

1

S
l o

p
in

g
m

a
s
o
n

ry

Gardens

3

FS

9

Pilotage

House

TCB

Harbour Point

Cn

Bol

G
raving

D
ock

No
2

26

56
57

54
52

28

53

55

1
5

1
1

1
6

8

2
0

Ramp

Ramp

El Sub Sta

Multi Car PK

Bollard

G
raving

D
ock

N
o

3

Travelling
C
rane

Landing
Stages

1

6

3

Techniquest

8

1
1

69
74

6872
73

75

71

1

70

El

7.9m

Sub

50
48

Sta

7

to3

Bank

LB

4
5

6

TCB

8

58

Empire
House

53

25
54 to 57

17

59

61

C
o
lu

m
B

u
il d

i n
g

s

58

62

60

63

1
6 1

1
1
3

1
0

66

LB

65

PH

67

1
4

64

23 20

Cardiff Exchange

Posts

Baltic House

7.6m

H
o
u

s e
M

o
u
n
t

S
tu

a
r t

39

33

B
U

T
E

S
T

R
E

E
T

/
S

T
R

Y
D

B
U

T
E

B
U

T
E

S
T

R
E

E
T

/
S

T
R

Y
D

B
U

T
E

PLAS BUTE/BUTE PLACE

JAMES STREET

B
U

T
E

C
R

E
S

C
E

N
T

/
C

IL
G

A
N

T
B

U
T

E

STRYD

NEWYDD

GEORGE

TACOMA SQUARE

B
U

T
E

C
R

E
S

C
E

N
T

/
C

IL
G

A
N

T
B

U
T
E

W
E

S
T

B
U

T
E

S
T

R
E

E
T

S
H

IP
L

A
N

E

B
U

T
E

S
T

R
E

E
T

/
S

T
R

Y
D

B
U

T
E

S
T

R
Y

D
G

E
O

R
G

E
N

E
W

Y
D

D

STUART STREET /

NEW
GEORGE

STREET /
LOUISA PLACE

S
T

U
A

R
T

P
L
A

C
E

N
E

W
G

E
O

R
G

E
S

T
R

E
E

T
/

STRYD STUART

STUART SQUARE
MOUNT

MOUNT STUART SQUARE

JAMES STREET

PLACE

P
LA

C
E

A
D

E
L
A

I D
E

S
T

R
E

E
T

L
O

U
IS

A

STUART STREET / STRYD STUART

S
T

R
Y

D
A

D
E

L
A

ID
E

Centre:
Bute St. / James St. District Centre

Designation:

District Centre
Map 1 of 1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

�

N
Page 1112



93

Warehouses

26

25

4
8

FB

Eglwys Newydd

County Infants

School

El Sub Sta

1
to

4

6

81

1

5

TCB

FB

83

T
he

T
ab

er
na

cl
e

27.4m

House

15

Summerfield

to

20

W
arre

n Eva
ns Court

5 to 11

12 to
19

23

20

77

32

27.4m

75

77a

C
ou

rt

PH

S
um

m
er

fie
ld

1
to

6

79

G
arage

4

88

1

1

to

35
to

28

27

24

53

58
52

9

47

62

74

71

P
os

ts

73

Pol Sta

36

to

46
to

43

42

Eglwys Newydd

Brookside Court

County Junior

W
h
itc

h
u
rc

h

1 to 12

3
0

B
ro

o
k

Girls School
P

a
t h

3
8

2
0

1
2

Glan-y-nant Court

El Sub Sta

2

13to18

9

10

1 to 9

8

6

Trewartha

Court

7to12

1

3
6

to3
9

2
7

1

2

2
4

14

14

4
3

4
0

37

3

2

57

55b

Warren

5553b

Evans

53c

Court

53a

Playing Field

Car Park

53

51
47b

PO

TCB

42
a

28.0m

44

28

30

26

34
to

42

32

Shelter

B
an

k

23

21

16

11

56

17

13

15

55

12

63

18

24

5

Clinic

6

29.3m

4 3

(P
H
)

PH

The
P
lo

ug
h

2

3

11

5
to

9

25

15

22

31

64

30

16

G
ara

ge

G
ara

ge

14

18

2

1

Gate

Lych

24.
9m

7

Bet
he

l

Bap
tis

t

C
hu

rc
h

3

Bank
1

39

12

46

4
5

1

50

4

2

3

50

8

1
0

7

9

4
4

51

20

35

43
45

39

47

41

31

20

14

29.3m

20

24

22

S
helter

5 Hall

Institu
te

3

C
hurch

G
ate

H
ouse

30.8m

7

3
8

4
6

15

8

1

4
1

4
5

B
et

he
l

B
ap

tis
t C

hu
rc

h

S
ch

oo
l H

al
l

Car Park

1
5

13

Ban
k

30.5m

9

W
orks

House

Coach

The

25
23

El Sub

Posts

Sta

Club
Posts

12

TCB

17

19

St M
ar

ys
C

hu
rc

h

7
4

19

57

7
1

23

24

26

21

70

32

28

33

29

27

34

16

1

10

35

9

36

7

9

G
as

G
overner

2

27

DAVIS'S TERRACE

G
L
A

N
-Y

-N
A

N
T

R
O

A
D

BLANDON WAY

B
R

O
O

K
R

O
A
D

B
L
A

N
D

O
N

W
A

Y

B
LA

N
D
O

N
W

A
Y

ST
DAVID

'S
ROAD

GLANDWR PLACE

ROAD

R
IA

LT
O

C
O

U
R

T

VIC
TORIA

O
LD

C
H

U
R
C
H

R
O

AD

Centre:
Merthyr Road, Whitchurch

Designation:

District Centre
Map 1 of 1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

�

N
Page 1113



Church

C
oach

H
ouse

1

80

Memorial

Hall

70

8

6

37

4

8
6

27

2

7
0

7
4

1
1
4

61

El Sub Sta

1
2
6

8
3

7
1

49

1
0
0

Shelter

8
8

3
6

Library

7

El Sub Sta

65

5
5

38

5
6

29

43

Posts

7.0m

9

17

Tank

El Sub Sta

1
2

6

1

7

The Old Library
1 to 13

36

129

24

41

1

11

7.0m

44

45

35

37

7.6m

34

2

73

68

77

25

32

S
ur

ge
ry

52

141

155

27

92

104

12

2

13

15

1

13

42

59

54

45

32

42

43

Builder's

51

22

Yard

167

175

169

W
arehouse

11
6

69

7.3m

1

2

3

2a

1
a

11

12

1

1
3

2
7

2
5

5
2

5
0

4
5

4
7

4
6

5
1

3
7

LB

128

12
8a

181

Bank

183-187

5
5

8
4

5
9

7.0m

1
4

7

1

1
2
5

1
1
8

1
5
7

1
0

6
1
1
2

1
3
5

1
0
9

1
0
2 1

1
1

1
0
4

1
1
7

23

21

1

12

11

Depot

2

1
1
6

1
1
4

23

22

38

33

31

5

50

45

1341

25

13 G
arage

2

1

9

6

27

13

30

29

47
49

53

9

1

14

2

24

19

18

78

55

38

44

30

27

6.7m

28

36

1

13

233

2

8

Crystal Court

231

16
8

16
2

to
16

6

160

Club

158

7.0m

44

1

45

2

Station

43 4

Police

42

3

32

3

P
H

5

17
2

245

24
9

17
8

38

Prim
ar

y
Sch

oo
l

6.3m

37

St Patri
ck

's

13

4

1

25

6

2

5

253

7

1

7.0m

28
33

45

5

26

Garage

25

12

9

2

1

Health Centre

14

17

10
7

20

15

1
1

12
9

8

7.0m

18
8-

19
0

3

9
7

1
a

1

2

19
2

23

17

18

10

19

15

1
1

22
19

23

16

27

1
7
5

79

1
7
7

1
7

3
1
7
1

1
6
5

195
2

1
4

189

2
6

41

30

2
8

189a

1
5
4 TCB

to

1
5
8

1
5
6

1
6
0

PCs

1
8
1

1
8
5

1
6
2

7.3m

to 1
7
4

1
7
8

1
7
0

1
7
2

13
0a

13
0

1
7
6

P
o

s
t s

70

Surgery

1
3
4

2

1
3
2

2

138

(PH)

209

The Grange

201

Depot

Works

W
ar

eh
ou

se

Hotel

215

217

2

16

33

25

23

56

3

55

12

65

146

14

144

14
8

150
7.0m

32

30

15

26

22

34

1
5
2

144

1
5
0

7.0m

Shelter

F
E
R
N
D
A
LE

S
TR

E
E
T

C
O

R
PO

R
ATIO

N
R
O

AD

C
L

A
R

E
R

O
A

D

P
A

G
E

T
S

T
R

E
E

T

P
EN

AR
TH

R
O

A
D

P
A

G
E

T
L
A

N
E

PE
N
TR

E
S
TR

E
ET

M
A

R
D

Y
S

T
R

E
E

T

REDLAVER STREET

S
T

R
E

E
T

STOCKLAND STREET

CHESTER PLACE

HAVELOCK PLACE

DURHAM STREET

TH
O
M

A
S

S
TR

E
E
T

S
TR

E
E
T

REDLAVER STREET

N
O

R
TH

FR
A
NK

LEN
STRE

ET

C
L
IV

E

OP STREET

O
W

S
TR

E
E
T

D
IN

A
S

P
LA

C
E

W
A
R
W

IC
K

STR
EE

T

D
E
VO

N
PLA

C
E

DORSET STREET

W
A

R
W

IC
K

P
L
A

C
E

C
H
ES

TE
R

S
TR

E
ET

Centre:
Penarth Road / Clare Road

Designation:

District Centre
Map 1 of 1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

�

N
Page 1114



SM

1to4

16 to 19

SM

9
to

12

1
3

t o
1

5

68
18

7
0

14

16

13

15

17

TCP

El Sub Sta

19 to 23

Oakmeadow

3
2

to
3

5

8
5

6
3

Court

20.7m

3
0

P
a
th

a
n
d

C
y
cle

W
a
y

10
1

Bowling Green

SM

Library

12

10

11

9

7

8

1
4

1
6

1
2

1
0

1

Primary School

20

4

1

10

Centre

24

SM

Community

3
5

Crickhowell Walk

4

to

3

5

1

Technology Park

4

2

6

Willowbrook

Bryn

PW

Surgery

Derwen

Heritage Inn

9

20

18.1m

(PH)

12

18.4m

2

2

8

Willowbrook House

Path

Post

Police

Station

Path

El

FB

Hypermarket

Sub Sta

Pond

P
at

h

3

5

4

1

19.0m

4

1

12

8

23

ob

1

SM

El

Sub Sta

El Sub Sta

7

20

9

10

8

28

6

8

1

1

Path

FB

1

1

18

14

2

12

8

15

11

26

28

27

34

44

37

52

51

LLANDOGO
ROAD

W
IL

LOW
BROOK

DRIV
E

C
R

E
S
C

E
N

T

ST ARVANS

C
R

IC
K
H

O
W

E
L
L

R
O

A
D

BROCKHAMPTON ROAD

C
H

E
S

T
E

R

OAKMEADOW DRIVE

C
L

O
S

E
A

S
H

D
O

W
N

D
U

M
M

E
R

C
L

O
S

E

C
LO

SE

S
A

N
D

E
R

L
IN

G
D

R
IV

E

C
LO

S
E

K
IN

G
F
IS

H
E
R

S
H

E
E

R
W

A
T

E
R

C
L
O

S
E

S
C
O

U
R
T

A
S
P
E
N

C
LO

S
E

Centre:
St. Mellons

Designation:

District Centre
Map 1 of 1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

N
Page 1115



18

16

2

20

13

72

Oakri

6

2

1

15

39

55

41

37

25

6

2

4

11

10

12

2
4

26

34

22

24

1

4

8

1
8

22

2
7

1
2

2
7

23

19

l7

1
7

8

23

15

14

54

42

36

22

39

5

2

33

24

1

5

28

1
3

10

4
9

3
5

1
0

1

3
4

1
1

30

16

4
0

2
8

6

1
8

1

2

2
8

34

57

4
0

70

68

54
52

THORNHILL

PO

El

Sub Sta

10

1
1

121
4

1
3

5

24

18

4

1

5

2

1

27

15

13

7

2

4

22

14

14

3

1

1

North Cardiff Medical
Meddygfa Gogledd Caerdydd Centre

7

16

35

23

33

25

26

9

L
la

n
is

h
e
n

B
rook

20

10

12

7

2
2

65

3

4

1

2

Subway

10

12

11

5

2
1

2

7

4

1

6

3

2

8

1

38

37

2

7

6

3640

48

12

7

34

10

8

12

1
3

1

45

22

9
4

7

6

Centre

Church

7

1
9

3

5
5

2
1

1
2

50

59

2
8

56

22

4
3

31

1
6

7
3

17 21

67

1

5
2

58

69

B
ro

o
k

L
la

n
is

h
e
n

12

5
1

76

10

64

LYRIC
W

AY

W
IG

M
O

R
E

C
D

R

RAGNAL CLOSE

C
A

V
E

N
D

IS
H

C
L
O

S
E

WAY

DRIVE

BROOKVALE

C
L
O

S
E

C
L
O

S
E

C
LO

S
E

APOLLO

A
S

T
O

R
IA

EXCALIBUR DRIVE

A
L

D
W

Y
C

H

GARRICK DRIVE

C
LO

S
E

S
H

A
F
T

E
S

B
U

R
Y

R
A

G
N

A
L
L

C
L
O

S
E

C
L
O

S
E

R
E
IG

A
TE

D
R

IV
E

MERLIN CLOSE

D
E

R
W

E
N

T
C

L
O

S
E

K
E
N
N
IN

G
T
O

N

C
L
O

S
E

WOODLAWN

C
A

R
L
T
O

N

CLOSE

WOODLAWN WAY

Centre:
Thornhill

Designation:

District Centre
Map 1 of 1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

N
Page 1116



97

114

21

9

10
14

6

El Sub Sta

70

Surgery

1

2

1
9Court1

to
2
3

Sachville

Gospel Hall

Heath

2
6

27

(G
overnm

ent

(T
y'r C

1 to 6

Pond

C
om

p

The Flats

1
4

58 56

1
3

21

2
5

107

116
to

120

H
ea

th

Eva
ng

el
ic
al

C
hu

rc
h

29.0m

4
7

3
7

57

45

4
4

28.0m

3
4

109

13
4

107b

122

29.3m

Sub StaEl

R
C

S
chool

S
t Joseph's

142

136138

140

70b

11
29.9m

13

2
3

12

3
3

2
4

29.3m

33

S
t Joseph's

5

1

Presby

16

R
C

C
hurch

2

22

154

33

Clu
b

29

27
Soc

ia
l

23

25

2

26

14

29.6m

36

15

32

1

2

29.9m

Ban
k

164

174

37

45

30.2m

30.2m

43

51

184

5

1

1
5

8

2

9

7

26

13

2

14

19

54

23

32

35

33

44

TCB

30.8m

2

1

200

55

67

202

61
to

65

Ban
k

59

198
196

1

29.6m

11

38

22

12

24

2

25

49

50

38

89

22
8

214

77

212

30.2m

LB

22

21
16

31

32

56

35

47

42

23

1
2

7

21

34

31

8

31.1m

37

45

32

54

46

30

101

TCB

242

99

240

1

30.2m

1

2

12

11

2

1

64

31
.1

m

49

44

56

41

Vict
oria

M
ews

33

15

16

52

17

9

19

78

68

to

13

252

268

11

2

111

30.8m

15

82

70

14

51

18

23

20

47

74

59

64

266

m

264

113

25

16

29

26

SO
B
ER

TO
N

A
VE

N
U
E

E
D

IN
G

T
O

N
A

V
E

N
U

E

W

N
E
W

ZE
A
LA

N
D

R
O

A
D

B
A
N
A
S
T
R

E
A
V
E
N
U

E

G
A
R
D
E
N
S

R
O

A
D

C
A
N
A
D
A

A
FR

IC
A

H
EA

TH
FIE

LD
P
LA

C
E

N
E
W

ZE
A
LA

N
D

R
O

A
D

A
U
ST

R
A
LI

A
R
O

A
D

A
V

E
N

U
E

WHITCHURCH ROAD

C
U

R
L

L

H
FIE

LD
R
O

A
D

PE
N
-Y

-B
R
Y
N

R
O

A
D

N
E
W

FO
U
N
D
LA

N
D

R
O

A
D

Centre:
Whitchurch Road

Designation:

District Centre
Map 1 of 2

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

N
Page 1117



2
7
.7

m

1
1
7

Shelter

28.0m

LB

1
0

7

9
7

6
9

El Sub Sta

7
7

28.0m

2b

7
9

2

8
7

9
5

2a

G
a
ra

g
e

1

El Sub Sta

3
1

2
7
.7

m

5
1

5
9

2
8
.0

m

1
5

3
9

4
1

2
3

12
2

57

1b1

6
1

64

1a

5
2

14

1

2
1
a

C
R

B
oro

C
on

st ,
A
sly

C
onst

&
E
D

B
dy

25

28.7m

13

14

26

22

13

47

37

50

36

25

11

34

26

42

44

TCB

Hall

30

34

323
2
a

36

7

28

Chy

Allensbank Junior and Infants' School

37

49

12

38

50

24

15

37

27

51

28.4m

64

FS

54

C
R

B
oro

C
on

st, A
sly

C
on

st
&

E
D

B
dy

24

19

H
o
u
s
e

S
c
h
o
o
l

62

82

74

1

2

65

C
R

B
o

ro
C

o
n
s
t,

A
s
l y

C
o
n

s
t
&

E
D

B
d

y

9 to 12

Ban
k

97

104

114

LB

94

5 to 8

1
to

4

Memorial

9

War

Church2

27.1m

1

27.7m

12

(PH)

S
helter

27.7m

4

1
1

Heath

The

1

28.3m

20

14

Sub Sta

El

28.0m

94

79

2

34

28.7m

1

Shelter

73

44

72

32

29.0m

84

85

84

(G
overnm

ent O
ffices)

(T
y'r C

w
m

niau)

1 to 6

Pond

C
om

panies
H
ouse

PO

TCB
The Flats

Shelter

58 56

21

107

116
to

120

H
ea

th

Eva
ng

el
ic
al

C
hu

rc
h

29.0m

107b

122

Barracks

Cot
ta

ge

m

W
H

IT
C

H
U

R
C

H
R

O
A
D

ALLENSBANK

TALYGARN STREET

CRESCENT

A
L

L
E

N
S

B
A

N
K

R
O

A
D

LLANISHEN STREET

MANOR STREET

C
R
O

W
N

W
A
Y

(F
FO

R
D
D

Y
G

O
R
O
N
)

S
T

JO
S
E
P
H
'S

C
O
U

R
T

(F
FO

RD
D

Y
G

O
R
O

N
)

AY

W
H
IT

C
H
U
R
C
H

R
O
A
D

Centre:
Whitchurch Road

Designation:

District Centre
Map 2 of 2

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

N
Page 1118



24

4
5

31

22

32.6m

3
8

4
4

33

3
3 3

6

17

2
6

2

2
0

10

2
8

3
6

3
2

2
5

3
5

6
8

5
0

15

1

32.6m

2

4
1

6
4

32.9m

5
4

6
5

LB

4
2

3
9 3

2
.3

m

Birchgrove

8
6

2

8
3

9
5

33.2m

Cottages

Bank

1

8
7

The 1

El Sub Sta

New Inn

(PH)

G
a
ra

g
e

8

7
4

2

6
9

1
2

2
2

3

3
2

2
9

Birc
hgro

ve
County

3
2

Prim
ary

School

4
8

48

3
4

1
7
a

e

Sunnycroft

3

32

55

53

3
8

33

34

44

LB

42

33.5

38

1

18

Tennis Court

3
2

TCB
1
1

3
1

0
7

1
1
1

1
1
9

1
0
9

1
0
5

1
6

3

1
5
8

34.1m

1
5

1

1
6
5

24

34.4m

34.1m

2

30

1
3

1

8

30

38

51

29

2
6

12

26

20

8

1
3

2
5

37

13

El

2

21

Sub Sta

33.5m

18

26

Surgery

4

1
1
0

108

2

9
8

1

Bank

6

S
h
e
lt
e
r

33.5m

6

1
0
3

1
2

0

1
3
2

1
2

4
1
2

2

1
3
0

33.8m

1
4
7

1
2
9

1
4
6

1
3
6

9

The

18

(PH)

Birchgrove

5
30

12

26

1
3
7

23

31

Methodist Church
St Andrews

Club

10

1

1

LB

W
orks

20

2

33

23

13

24a

mere

40

11

31

1

4
1

2
5

3
1

1
5

42

13

54

2

14

32.9m

TCB

52

19

1
7

2
0

21

4
6

1
9

4

6

35

33

64

18

30

1

1

lflo

26

1

4

33

T
h
e

C
o
a
c
h

H
o
u

s
e

The Grove

24b

3

RHYDHELIG AVENUE

S
T

A
L

B
A

N
A

V
E

N
U

E

S
T

A
G

N
E

S
R

O
A

D

S
T

H
E

L
E

N
'S

R
O

A
D

S
T

A
ID

A
N

C
R

E
S

C
E

N
T

HEATHW
OOD

ROAD

N
O

R
T

O
N

A
V

E
N

U
E

HAMPTON ROAD

C
A

E
R

P
H

IL
L

Y
R

O
A

D

BIR
CHGROVE

ROAD

N
T

B
A

^C
H

R
O

A
D

CORONATIO
N

ROAD

GROVELAND
ROAD

R
IC

H
S

R
O

A
D

TAIR
ERW

ROAD

L
L
W

MURRA

Centre:
Birchgrove

Designation:

Local Centre
Map 1 of 1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

N
Page 1119



R
im

in
i H

o
u
se

2
5

to

7to78

A
prilia

H
ou

se
58

to
9
0

11 to 15

10

St Cuthberts
Prim

ary School

Ysgol Gynradd Sant Cuthbert

1 to 67

6

1
0

South Mews

The Granary

1 to 20

1

5

13

1

1
8

17
0

to
17

8

17
9

to
18

7

1
61

to
16

9

15
2

to
16

0

1
2

2
5

2
6

16

9

8
7

1
1

23
24

17

10

5

1

St Pauls

18
9

to
1
97

S
he

lte r

3
9 Community

Church

47

55

7

30
24

1

TCBs

H
e
a
lth

C
e
n
tre

7.3m

El Sub Sta

34

4
0

10
2

0
4

Shelter

Posts

1
to

3
2

etta
H

o
use

4

18

26

16

32

12

20to28

29

Lo
u
do

un
H

ou
se

77
to

2
7
1

7.0m

11

34

TCBs

5
8

4
0

60

24

31

39

62

54

78

88

Posts

68
52

46

Paddle

(PH)

1
9

Steamer

38

1
9b

1
9a

50

Posts

5

1

7
to

13

42

15
to

2
1

23

Posts

Posts

86

70

82

80

94

Centre

1

Tower

6

18

12

25 19

13

Steffani Court

1
9

71

25

9

19

ESS

65

1

7

11

43

Posts

2

1
to

6

Nelson House

7

53 to 58

59 to 64

13

96

84

45

39

47

41

Posts

Posts

Posts

36

22

42

26

34

28

Posts

31

20

16

8

14

57

E
l S

u b
S

ta

7

51

50

44

53

1 to
30

tic
hou

se

Cycle
Tra

ck

E
l
S
u
b

S
ta

Heol Staughton

BUTETOWN

C
e
n
tre

C
o
m

m
u
n
ity

24

2
0

S
he

lter

144

142

1
51

2
5

2
7

3
0

Depot

13
20

Hannah

Street

Church

21 2728

14

14

2
8

126 16

C
o
m

m
un

i ty
C

e
n
t re

A
ra

b

Islamic

Culture

71

78
70

63

2

18

4
10

11522

R b C t

31
to

4
6

47
to

76

CLOS GLANHOWNY

HODGES ROW

H
O

D
G

E
S

S
Q

U
A

R
E

HANNAH STREET

S
T
R

E
E

T
H

E
N

R
Y

LOUDOUN
SQUARE

(G
LANHOWNY CLOSE)

S
IL

U
R

IA
N

P
L
A

C
E

L
L
O

Y
D

G
E

O
R

G
E

A
V

E
N

U
E

R
H

O
D

F
A

L
L
O

Y
D

G
E

O
R

G
E

MAGRETION PLACE MAES MAGRETIAN

SOUTH LOUDOUN
PLACE

L
L
O

Y
D

G
E

O
R

G
E

A
V

E
N

U
E

R
H

O
D

F
A

L
L
O

Y
D

G
E

O
R

G
E

LOUDOUN SQUARE

C
h
ris

tin
a

S
tre

e
t

C
H

R
IS

T
IN

A
S

T
R

E
E

T

B
U

T
E

S
T

R
E

E
T

S
T

R
Y

D
B

U
T

E

A
N

G
E

L
IN

A
S

T
R

E
E

T

LETTON ROAD HEOL LETTON

C
H

R
IS

T
IN

A
S

T
R

E
E

T

Centre:
Bute Street (Loudoun Square)

Designation:

Local Centre
Map 1 of 1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

N
Page 1120



26

E
l S

u b
S
ta

10.4m

14

35

172

H
ot

el

1

H
ot

el

164

174

183

173

9.8m

N
ur

se
ry

184

193

88

192

3

11

1a

1

2

105

10.4m

93

25

20
9

8
3

TCB

LBPO

202

194

201

9
5

7
1

6
9

2
4

7
1
a

5
514

15

104

8
6

Church

Presbyterian

83

21

2

1
1

1
4

1
0

4

67
9 8

1
1

1
3

1
2

5

2

10.1m

1

3
1a

1
8

67

1

1

14

69

Recycling Point

11.0m

Hall

34

55

25

204

23

1

13

221
225

12

219

14a

63

9.8m

64

1

LB

1

2

65

76

77

10

2

10
a

4

89

1

Club

5

1
7

1
0

Hall

7
2
a

4
1

8

7

2
9

9

2

7

6
8

St Catherines1
to

5 6

6
0

Mews

5

1
6

8
6

16

Forest Court

17

19

20

18

9
2

1
2
3

5

7
4

25
28

31

3

1

8
7

7
1

6

91
0

5

4

10.4m

241

11

218

233

8

21

245

1
0
.1

m

9
1

1
0
4

1
0
3

Stoneleigh

11

13

2
a

2

1
1
5

10.7m

1
2
8

23

2

1
1

.0
m

1
4

1

14

24

2
6

15

1
8

17

14
16

249

244

The Halfway(PH)

1

230

1

10

2

3

11

1

3
5

13

3
3

12

25

2
9

11.3m

2

1

1
5

1
7

45

23

47to99

54

22

TCB

El Sub
Sta

3
1

1
b1
c

1
a

9.8m

2
1

1
9
a

2
2

2
6

6
5

PH

6
0

33

11to13

11.0m

5

10

7

PC

11.0m

9

14

11.3m

Posts

Court

4
3

9.8m

to 30

Western

Works

38
a

10.7m

7
8

17

7
0

14

23

Hafren Court

27
30

5
7

26
29

24

6

10 5
9

6
7

23

9.8m

6
3

7
9

2
0

1
9

St James

Mews

1

8

7

2
0

2
2

Court

17
16

26

31

40

1
1
6

28

6

Aquilla Court

5

7to10

1
3

1to4

Caernarvon Court

1 to 14

1
9

1
4

4
0

3
1

2
4

5
9

2
8

43

27

11.6m

2

1

w
s

Posts

Car Park

11.0m

2

1

2a

Tanglew
oo

d

1
to

1
3

Canolfan y Wallich

2a to 2c

211to217

The Wallich Centre /

Gwern

Hafren

1
4

1
5

1

1
2

The Coach House12a

2a

14a

The Coach House

D
O
G

O
S
T
R
E

C
A
TH

E
D
R

A
L

R
O

AD

S
N
E
Y
D

S

P
LA

S
TU

R
T
O
N

A
V
E
N
U
E

T
E
IL

O
S
T
R
E

E
T

P
O

N
T

C
A

N
N

A
S

T
R

E
E

T

A
V

E
N

U
E

S
E

V
E

R
N

G
R

O
V

E

IESTYN STREET

IE
S

T
Y

N
IA

N

G
IL

E
S

T
O

N
R

O
A

D

FAIRLEIGH ROAD

FAIRLEIGH ROAD

MALDWYN STREET

DENBIGH STREET

F
IE

L
D

S
P

A
R

K
R

O
A

D

MORTIMER ROAD

C
O

N
W

A
Y

R
O

A
D

PONTCANNA PLACE

W
IL

L
IA

M
S

T
R

E
E

T

Centre:
Cathedral Road

Designation:

Local Centre
Map 1 of 1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

N
Page 1121



El Sub S

1

4
0

2

1

35

1
a

3

79

75

3

85

77

87

1

20

6
3

1
4

2

1
2

8

1
6

2
0

4
1

2
9

5
1

7

5
3

3
0

2

1

11

9

61

62
8

36

64

49.1m

1
8

1 5

13
15

1
3

6

1
9

House

1
a

C
o
u
n
ci

l D
ep

o
t

2
1

Countisbury

1

D
a

y
C

e
n
tr

e

7

9

55

44

56

57

El Sub Sta

1

1
1

44

59
57

15

38

13

Companions

47.0m

(PH)

1

The

Good

Office

Sorting

21

19

46.4m

Garage

25

17
23

27

S
h
e
lte

r
6
2

4
0

to
4
6

45.4m

PO

3
4

64
to

6
8

85

8
78
1

9
7

8
3

9
1

7
9

8
9

44.8m

7
6 74

18

El Sub Sta

7
7

O
ff
i c

e
s

7
7
a

7
5

24

16

53

47

5557

4

16

2

8

to

6

20
1
4

5
9

1
3

41

22

38

El Sub Sta

71

31

69

29

67

58

72

7 to 8

11 to 12

43.6m

9 to 10

St Dyfrig's Church

Hall

3 to 4

St Dyfrig's Court

S
h
e
l te

r

1 to 2

5 to 6

35

37

41.8m

41

43242 24
0

33
39

5

1
1

6

8

12

1
0

9

Court

Burnham

11
C

le
v
e
d
o
n

C
o
u
rt

6

8 10

12

238

5

S
h
el

te
r

9

9
7

1

3

2
1

1
3

15

5

11

22
6

42.7m

20
3

1

17
1
9

46.3m

PTP

1
0
044

1
01

46.0m

70

4
8

51

59

4
5

5 7

4
3

4 1
4
7

5 3

6
1

5
1

4
9

5
5

1
4

41

37

6

35

33

49

43

2

4539

1
6

12

48

1
0

1
4

32

34

35

3
7

2

3
9

3
3

2
9

3 12
5

3
5

14

2
5

1
3

2
3

1

Vicarage

2
72
1

8

1

1

5

1
1

31

22

25

3

7

1

4

5
2

30

14

20

2

21

19

42.1m

2

10

1
1

6

13

23

1
5

10
12

13

1

El

Sub Sta

2
4

7

3

4
2

0

MastTCB

(Telecommunication)
LB

7
1

Library

1
1

7

1

1
1b

1
1
a

MINEHEAD ROAD

D
U

N
S

T
E

R
R

O
A

D

B
R

ID
G

W
A

T
E

R
R

O
A

D

BLACKMOOR PLACE

C
O

U
N

T
IS

B
U

R
Y

A
V

E
N

U
E

B
A

N
W

E
L

L
P

L
A

C
E

ILCHESTER ROAD

CLOSE

C
R

E
D

IT
O

N
R

O
A

D

BR
E
N

D
O

N

BAMPTON ROAD

IL
FR

ACO
M

BE

PLEASANT
MOUNT

C
R
ESC

EN
T

M
O

U
N

T
P

L
E

A
S

A
N

T
L
A

N
E

AVENUE

W
OOLA

COMBE
AVENUE

PLEASANTMOUNT

BID
EFORD

RO
AD

L
L
A

N
R

U
M

N
E

Y
A

V
E
N

U
E

Centre:
Countisbury Avenue

Designation:

Local Centre
Map 1 of 1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

N
Page 1122



25.0m

New

Hill Dip

77

House

18

(PH)

4

15

47

49

3

11

5

43

9

45

16

12

3

2

1

17

5

18

14

10

1

7

2

4

6

8

14

223

St
Ly

th
an

C
ou

rt

27
6

1

5

53

55
57

51

65

67

61
63

59

69
231

24

71

14

7

1

89

25.6m
348

CR

23.2m

34

11

6

16

9

El

13

17

30

1

27.7m

251

251b

241

79

24.1m

81

Superstore

99

1

2

358

71

75

E
l S

u
b
S
ta

2

66

1

68

10

70
St

D
on

at
s
C

ou
rt

18

6

4

17

9

7

57

St
Brid

es
C
ou

rt
6

Highfields

Inn

91

Sub Sta

18

15

1

12

20

16
14

45

Post

59

1

63

8

22to
26

25.3m

28to
32

1

4

43

St Nicholas
Court

107

115

36

38

3

4

1

2

4

5

M
ichelston

Court

1

8

10
12

41
39

37

36

40

44

43

25
.3

m

58

40

42

54

44

1

56

13

46

45

42

17

21
27

15

31

33

31

30

19

11

1

25

29

13

23

25

24

38

27

40

23

19

131

7

121
129

125

145

133

117

11

1
2

169

171

70

165

167

72

5

Crown House

11

Shelte
r

364 to 372

29.6m

376

23

36

253

36

42

38

46

48

5
5

37

50

Def

9

390

ED Bdy

3
5

1
5

16

22
to

68

10

1

2

32.0m

5

8

402

36.3m

Surgery

2

8

5
4

6
6

6
7

6
0

6
1

15

34

26

28

135

127

1
123

27.4m

32

7

5
9

3

29

153

137

149

143

147
151

157

119

155

139

141

1
3

1
9

20

68 to
107

1
4

42

48

36

22

46

34

44

6

Posts

45

39

51

49

47

52

41

53

44

60

159

19

161

18

163

27.7m

26

40

43

33

2
5

E
l
S
u
b

S
ta

8

1

20

28
32

27

35

30

31

34

29

Inglenook

11

2

1
1

of Assisi

Church of

412

St Francis

12

13

16

173

181

175

177

179

LB

TCB

48

27

12

16

Caerau

Infants School

82

38

15

2

3

PANT-Y-DERI

LLA
N
D
O

V
ER

Y
C

LO
S
E

H
EN

G
O

ED
C

LO
S
E

R
O

A
D

C
LO

SE

LALE
STO

N
C

LO
S
E

P
O

R
T
H
C
A
W

L

PYLE
R
O

AD

CAERAU
ROAD

C
A
E
R
A
U

LA
N
E

CAERAU
ROADH

E
O

L-
Y
-B

E
R

LL
A

N

HEOL-Y-BERLLAN

PLACE

W
ILSONO

N
R

O
A

D

H
IL

L
-S

N
O

O
K

R
O

A
D

COWBRID
GE ROAD

WEST

NOTTA

HEO
L-Y-G

AER

C
AER

AU
PAR

K
R
O

AD

CAERAU PARK PLACE

C
A

E
R

A
U

C
O

U
R

T
R

O
A
D

Centre:
Caerau Lane Local Centre

Designation:

Local Centre
Map 1 of 1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

�

N
Page 1123



9

12
14

137

2

2

3

2

27

54

26

1

63 6

51

1

76

70

8

143

13

20.4m

10

1
2

1
6

14.9m

Surgery

138
13

39

14.6m

157

28

43

30

43

29

42

2

1

78

155

44

156

84

St David

Evangelical

Lutheran

67

Manse

Church

11

201

203

32

2

3
8

1
2

59

2
4

9

16.2m

11

22

Car Park

17.1m

1
7

2
0

37

2
7

1
3

1

8

10

12

165

6

2

1
0

3
1

4

7

5

8

2

2

14.3m

10

12

Library

4
0

12

42

1

48

Centre

52

5845

42

13.1m

41

36

37

35

3840

4447

3

1 6

24

5

3 1

26

11

Health

17 19

21

18
20

22

1
2

Sunnybank

Surgery

28

173

6

6

1
5

1
6

5
8

6
1

5
9

1

2

1
7

4
4 4

5

3
1

179

1

7

3
0

187

2

1
6

1

185
181

5
5

Ski

Centre

14

7
34

128P
lasbach

17.7m

Cartr
ef

Cot
tage

(PH)

Shelter

GP

The Fairwater

FB

LB

15.8m

FB

2
0
5

2
1
5

1
4

7

1
0.7

m

2
0
0

Estate

Office

62

56

54

60

11.9m

3

20

40

26

31

37

2
to

12

39

34

29
3133

30
32

4

9

11

Fairmead

Court

5

PC

E
l
S
ub

S
ta

Shelter

6
8

1
0

7 9

1

4943
46

46
2

1
0

8

1a

Beech
wood

16.5m

TCB

180 178

181a

20

1
8

2

1

7 8

9

27

1
3

1

7

1

182

9

21

Tennis Courts

7
to

12

13
to

18

4

6 2

19b

LLANG

P
E
R

R
O

T
S

DOY

H
E

O
L

D
E

N
N

A
N

T

C
L
O

S
E

L
L

A
N

D
E

T
T

Y
R

O
A

D

F
A
IR

W
A
T
E

R

F
A

IR
W

A
T

E
R

R
O

A
D

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

R
O

A
D

ST FAGANS
ROAD

G
R

E
E

N

REARDON
SMITH

COURT

T
U

D
O

R
C

L
O

S
E

T
H

E
C

R
E

S
C

E
N

T

C
A

R
T

W
R

IG
H

T
L
A

N
E

EVERSWELL AVENUE

F
E

R
N

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

R
O

A
D

ST FAGANS ROAD

P
L
A

C
E

LAUR
EL

COURT

E
V

E
R

S
W

E
L
L

R
O

A
D

T
H

E
D

R
IV

E

Centre:
Fairwater Green

Designation:

Local Centre
Map 1 of 1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

N
Page 1124



1
8

1
7

1
3

54

56

1
5

50

73

75

67

69

71

65

9

1
1

4
2

59

3
5

3
8

3
7

4
1

Playing Field

57

7

64

61

55

64

56

1
7

51

47

1
7a

2

69

1

15

2
1

34

22

Lydstep Flats

39

26

32

1
5.

2m

LB

TCB

15.2m

2
3

3
6

Playground

Emmanuel

Baptist

Church

PO

1 to 42

49

14
12

45

to
1
2
6

8
5

43
to

84

Path

1
4

5
9

28

Lydstep Park

Cathedral View

Medical Centre

Nursery

School

The Master Gunner

(PH)

1
3

4 0

15.5m

3
6

2
6

2
5

3
8

43

3
7

83

Cathedral View
( Residential Home )

1a

2a

3
5

2
0

2b

2
2

27

Path and Cycle Way

12

91

16.2m

TCB

16

El Sub Sta

Ysgol Gymraeg

Glan Ceubal

2

8

2

86

1
1b

2
8

Our Lady of Lourdes

Catholic Church

Presbytery

93

1

19

15

13
3

17

21

35

33 31

29

School

P
a
th

Meadowbank Residential

Gabalfa Primary School

Hall

101

16.5m

100

11

4

2

CRESCENT

LY
DS

TE
P

A
M

C
R

E
S

C
E

N
T

W
A

T
E

R
S

T
O

N
R

O
A

D

LLANIDLOES ROAD

C
A

T
H

E
D

R
A

L
V

IE
W

C
A

T
H

E
D

R
A

L
V

IE
W

GABALFA AVENUE

B
A

C
T

O
N

R
O

A
D

CRESCENT

S

H
E

O
L

P
E

N
C

A
R

R
E

G

Centre:
Gabalfa Avenue

Designation:

Local Centre
Map 1 of 1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

N
Page 1125



21

186

28

22

20

43

49

Sub Sta

41

38El

45

39

34

37

47

49

50

56

14.6m

9

41
43

88

90

86

82

34

84

76

78

10

13

16.5m

49

51

67

56a

12

13

14

65

16
14a

5
8

4
4

4
2

2
6

6
0

Shelter

2

1

1
4

3
3

37

20

3
1

3
8

1

Posts

Posts

10

12

40

103

2

19

Posts

El Sub Sta

21

1
1

12

2
6

29

Posts

28

14

2

18

1
4

Posts

1

5

2

5

3

6

2

1
2

1

1
41

6

8
1
0

3

13

40

2

66

74

80

35

1
1

2
6

1
8

1

9

45

2

6458
6252

56

60

23

6
1
2 1
6

57

1

2

5

42

52

1

2

11

14

26

33

45

50

1

3
8

2

El Sub Sta

36

54

48

9

7

63 5961

11
12

13

TCB

71

1

LB

PO

4

8

83

8
7

81

Church

11

12

12

1

23

54

24

13

38

7
0

58

7
4

Family Centre

35

Centre

Welfare

50

Bureau

93

8
9

to
91

58

Citizens Advice

48

36

37

26

66

45

95a

68

95

93a

97a

97

1

13

(TRE-LAI)

ELY

30.2m

10

9

5

86

101

Nursery

99

59

20

27

25

24

2

Ever
wood

Court

8

62

73

47

18

77

101b

29.6m

94

100

101a

7

HIG
HMEAD

ROAD

CYM
RIC

CLO
SE

GRAND

ROAD

AVENUE
TEIFI PLACE

ST
DAVIDS

CRESCENT

VACHELL

C
R

E
S

C
E

N
T

ROAD

GRAND

TY-C
EFN

R
OAD

T
Y
-C

E
F
N

S
T

D
A

V
ID

S

AVENUE

C
R

E
S

C
E

N
T

ARCHER
TERRACE

C
H

A
R

T
E

R
IS

R
O

A
D

A
R

C
H

E
R

C
H

A
R

T
E

R
IS

RED
HOUSE

CRESCENT

C
R
E
S
C

EN
T

FONMON CRESCENT

R
E
D

H
O

U
S
E

P
LA

C
E

A
R

C
H

E
R

R
O

A
D

R
E

D
H

O
U

S
E

C
LO

S
E

Centre:
Grand Avenue

Designation:

Local Centre
Map 1 of 1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

N
Page 1126



2
6.

4m

22
20

9

11

13

1

W
hite

H
ouse

2
Gate

Lych

(restored)

Cross

30.2m

W
hite

PC

1

C
ottage

H
ouse

Cathedral

1
to

5

Court

H
o
u
s
e

P
re

b
e
n
d
a

Lady Chapel

Drain

17.1m

8

Car

Park

Old Bishop's Palace

(remains of)

The Cathedral Church of

4

6

Cross

and Euddogwy

P
a
th

( u
m

)

17.1m

4

St Andrew

St Cross

6a

3

2

1

6

29.3m

SS Dyfrig, Teilo

SS Peter and Paul with

2
3
.2

m

The Deanery

14

10

29.6m

Institute

PH

16

Club

5

7

Monument

Stone

31.7m

(remains of)

Tower

3

5

1
to

5

6

1

Y
r H

en
D
y

St Paul's
Court

7

1

Im
p
eria

l B
u
ild

in
gs

2

P
O

Bank

40

D
e
w

i C
o
u
rt

47b

24.4m

30
6

66

MP

76

86

1
1

1

Clarkes Yard

31
2

3
1

2
1

63

61

21.0m

2

Hall

H
all

3

12

1

64

56

1
2

Theological

2

54a

2
4

Tennis Court

College

3
6

6

53

1
8

1
7

55

57

22.6m

51

3

19a

49

TCBs

S
t.M

ic
h
ae

ls
M

ew
s

Theological

(p
riv a

t e
)

College

St Michael and

3

2
6
.2

m

All Angel's

C
h

a
p
e
l

Bank

48

PH

4

46

Probate

Registry

1

Stone

44 24.1m

4

52

1
to

G
arvey

C
ourt

2
3

2
2

Cranmer House

14

Hall

9

2
5
.3

m
26

30

24

2
6

42

9a

10

2
6 1

to
5

CRANMER COURT

to
6

School House

58

2
0.

4m

46

PH

38

27

46

LB

36

21

Bank

The Old

8

5

7
4

5

3

1
to

4

30 P
en

di
na

s

War

Memorial

19

Posts

4

9

21

2

1

4

3

41

1

6

El Sub Sta

31

26

6

1

35

LB

37

47

3

1

2

1

1a

18

13

34.1m

3
7

3
9

37c

El Sub Sta

a
b

16

35Surgery

Pritchard Court

9

11

10

12

Cwrt

Pegasus

P
avin

C
ourt

1
to

6

13

2
3

25

33.5m

34.4m

2

Tank

44

34.1m

21

13

1

32

1

5

6

8

7

3
8

4

Wales
14

City

chool

C
H

A
P

E
L

S
T
R

E
E

T

C
LO

S
E

C
A

T
H

E
D

R
A

L

T
H
E

C
A
TH

E
D
R
A
L

G
R
E
E
N

P
A

L
A

C
E

A
V

E
N

U
E

C
A

E
W

A
L

R
O

A
D

V
E

R
L
A

E
LY

R
O

A
D

THE
C
ATHEDRAL

G
R
EEN

HEOL FAIR

C
A
R
D
IF

F
R
O
A
D

H
IG

H
S
T
R

E
E
T

P
E
N

E
D

R
E

HEOL-Y
-PAVIN

MAYNARD COURT

BRIDGE STREET

Centre:
High Street, Llandaff

Designation:

Local Centre
Map 1 of 1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

N
Page 1127



(Telecommunication)

M
a
s t

(T
e
l e

c
o
m

m
u
n
i c

a
t i
o
n
)

Mast

234
to

24
0

3
0

32

Car Park

2
8

3
1 2

9

1

7

LLANEDEYRN

P
a
t h

(u
m

)

2

H
e
a
lt
h

Subway

C
e
n
tr

e

School House

LB

19

Chy

20

PO

15
Maelfa

Club

24

S
u
b
w

a
y

Round Wood

44

73

P
o
l S

ta

Car Park

FB

50

345

346

to

337

355

to

136

122

130

314

El Sub Sta

327

319
to

to

311

366

375

Posts

248

235

277

242

268 to 276

28

267

262

El Su

1
1
8

249 to 257

258

Chapel Wood

TCP

Family

Play Area

Centre

1
0
8

62 to 220

83

82

85 to 93

1
0
3

8
4

7
2

9
4

9
8

6
8

Elderly People

Home for

6
3

CommunityCentre

PCs

Day and

13

A
rc

a
d
e

8

7
4

14

10

Maelfa

4
2

4
3

5
7

7
8

7
3

5
6

4
9

5
3

7

72

6

TCBs

1

Subway

2
8 to 3
6

3
7

4
8

S
u

b
w

a
y

Estate
Offic

e

P
o

s
ts

143

1
3
8

(PH)

The Retreat

A
e
l- y

- B
ry

n

68

72

45.8m

63

1
2
0

3
18

1
0
9

1
0
1

1
1
6

1
1
7

1
4
6

83

82

1
4
5

86

78

88
9
9

88

92

73

77

1
08

89

9
4

9
3

30

2
42
7

36

2
1

1

Posts

3
03

3
07

3
08

3
0
2

2
9
6

33

3
0
9

8

Jefferson Court

1

4

L
L

A
N

E
D

E
Y

R
N

D
R

I V
E

P
e
n
n

s
y
lv

a
n

ia

Centre:
Maelfa, Llanedeyrn

Designation:

Local Centre
Map 1 of 1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

N
Page 1128



70 to 62

808

2

806

790a

60 to 50

796

to798

73
5
a

754a

4

848

29

15

17

1

834

22

S
urgery

Recreation Ground

14

E
xc

h
a
n
g
e

T
e
le

p
h
o
n
e

4

Wentloog

TCB

804

1 to 38

B
ank

The

42.4m

Cottage

7

Rumney Court

(British Legion Club)

1
8 1
4

1
6

5
3

11

1

717

21
9

13

12

8
10

1
3

1
5

1
7

28

3

11

3

7

7

5

11 1

790

19

33
23

25
15

29

45

24

14
20

22

16

18

40

32

25

4
2

4
8

5
4

4
6

4
4

5
0

5

14

11

2

16

1

41.5m

14

55

4

32.0m

1

3
9

4
0

2
5

2
3 39.0m

2

1

2
6

1
6

33.8m

15

4

LB

816

818

2

814

Court

1
7

39.3m

Ye
C

ro
ss

In
n

(P
H)

6

5
4

Bank

1

781

9

5

TCB

4
4

3
2

10
4

2

12

6

8

19

3
9

2
9

4
1

66

49

761

769

B
ank

763

786

LB

755

8

15

11

5

4

2

1

3

6

8

74
7

784

Stone

780

PH

753a

Roehampton

751

P
O

Court

753

75
2

7
54

2

1

LB

7
50

7
5
6

7
5
8

7
60

74

Cheriton

Court

4

Court

1 to 6

Farlington

Sub Sta

1 to 6

7
33

7
7
0

7
2
3

9

23

15

19

23

22

19

21

20

24
30

26

44

2 to 18

38

LB

36

48
46

42
28

27
45

37

41

31

43

35

39

29

33

47

41
39

43

57

53

37

3
8

4
0

5
6

6
6

5
2

6
2

7
6

8
6

8
0

8
2

7
47
8

Sub Sta

49

El

59

51

55

3036

24

28

20

22

26

40

1
0
5

1
0
7

6
46
8

1
0
3

1
0
1

9
9

19

23

17

13

21

15

2

El

1 to 6

7
3

7
1

7
7

6
5

8
1

6
1

6
3 6
7

7
5

6
9

11
7

9
29
6

11
9

9
4

8
8

8
4

11
3

10
9

8
9

9
1

7
9

9
3

8
3

8
7

8
5

9
5

38

44

1 to 6

6

M
o
rn

in
g
to

n

C
o

u
rt

1
2

4
311

5

6

7
3
5

7
1
5

1
6

5
8

6
0

7
2

7
0

47

25

42

34
32

23a

3

9
7

2

1

9
0

11
1

LIN
DEN

GROVE

TY-F
RY ROAD

WENTLOOG CLOSE

T
Y

-F
R

Y
A

V
E

N
U

E

WHITEHALL AVENUE

RIDGEWAY ROAD

B
R

IT
IS

H
L
E

G
IO

N
D

R
IV

E

E
H

A
L
L

P
A

R
A

D
E

CHUMLEIGH
CLOSE

K
E

N
N

E
R

L
E

IG
H

R
O

A
D

THE WALK

CRANLEIGH RISE

Centre:
Newport Road, Rumney

Designation:

Local Centre
Map 1 of 1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

N
Page 1129



7

1
7

7b

9

45

B
ro

o
k

14

Weir

15

7

1

7

R
h
yd

w
a
e
d
ly

d

5

5
5
a

35

12

14

12

27

1

44.2m

MP 1.75

208

1a

7

30a

30

30b

32

19

10

15

2

H
a
ll

8

2

1

20
7

218

2
28

40.8m

2
28a

9

16

41.8m

15

19a

55

13

17

23
8

42.7m

234

236

2
30

B
ank

1

4

1

Hall

LB
1a

13
8

21
7

44.8m

65

Allotment

48

Gardens

54

21
9

Rhiwbina

3

Village

22
5

1

Garden

22
3

2a

6

B
e
u
la

h

U
R

e
f
C

h

4b
4a

4

W
eir

2

2
b

1

18

2

21
7a

PC

60

5
4

33

31

El Sub Sta

Library

22
7

2
21

a

2
21

6a

8c

15

42

8

10

6c

6b

Lloft Deri

FB

FB 7

2

R
hyd

w
aed

ly
d

B
ro

ok

1
1
a

FB

30

31

8

6

FB

13

6

39.3m

2

1

4

LB

19

18

FB

21

38.9m

26

14

83

28

Rhiwbina

Church

El

Methodist

Sub Sta

30

2

10

2

41

53

2
0

41.5m

27

39

1

2
2

1

18

7

14

Rhiwbina

26

Halt

FB

27

4

42.4m

40

5

16

14

67

1

38.9m

37

3

G
L
A

N
R

H
Y

D

B
R

Y
N

D
E

R
I

GERNANT

C
LO

S

L
L
A

N
G

A
N

H
E

O
L

M
AES-Y

-D
ERI

H
E

O
L

T
Y

'N

LON FACH

Y
G

R
O

E
S

Y
GROES

H
E

O
L
-Y

-D
E
R

I

Centre:
Rhiwbina Village

Designation:

Local Centre
Map 1 of 1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

N
Page 1130



2
8

R
ic

h
m

o
n
d

A
p
a
rt

m
e
n
ts

2
7

PW

3
8

PW

70

5
8

7
2

8
0

6
0

4
4

5
6

1
1

1
9

Lowther Court

6
2

1
2
0

8
1

1
3
98

8

38

26

1
9

12.8m

23

20

M
P

1
.5

5

7

1
2
5

13

ntre

3

9

Church

73

TCB

75

69

13.1m7
9

8
6

8
3

78
8
0

8
5

1
1
6

13.7m

8
8

1
0
0

R
a
ve

n
s
co

u
rt

1
to

1
5

1
0
6

13.1m

5
0

3
5

31

SL

37

Sunday

8

Sch
ool

39

5
6

1
3
5

1
2
1

El

Sub

Sta

Richmond

Square

E
D

B
d
yC

R

2

37a

2

4

1

10

1a

2
5

4
9

3
7

1
3

Chy

M
P

1
.7

5

1

1
3

6
1

6
9

2

1
4

5

TCBs

Seng
he

nny
dd

H
al

l

11.6m

E
lS

ub
S
ta

1
0

1

2
0

3
2

9

1
8

12.8m

5
0

2
3

3
5

3
8

3
3

4
5

7
8

6
4

2
6

18

25

3
3

to
3
7

Garage

13.4m

3
1

7
3

6
5

1
4

7
7

5
5

9
0

4
3

4

13.1m

1

9

2

10

10

7

2

1
1
6

1
0
2

5
1

4
5

14.6m

LB

4
7

to

9

13.7m

S
oc

ia
l C

lu
b

C
ity

TCB
1

3

1
3

9

2
6

4

2
3

1

4
0

PH

6

19

31

16

1

11

El S
ub

Sta

Garage

1

32

20

2

13

14.0m

C
R

1

1
8

19

12

10

19

2

14.6m

Hall

25

29

2

Llanbleddian

8

23

Court

1 to 12

13

4

30

3

5

13.4m

13.7m

16

of

FacultyEducation

1
4

2
4

18

5

16

1

14

28

34

56

33

44

El Sub Sta

Hall

14.9m

M
athem

atics

Instituteof

14.3m

3

Holst

House

7

5

2

9

1

30

39

20
18a

53

15.2m

23

1

16

2

Posts

El Sub Sta

40

30

Hall

11

El Sub Sta

LB

ub Sta

El

t

s

tre

3
4

4
6

Works

Chy

2

1
1

R
IC

H
M

O
N

D
R

LOWTHER ROAD

C
R

A
N

B
R

O
O

K
S

T
R

E
E

T

G
O

R
D

O
N

R
O

A
D

C
O

B
U

R
N

S
T

R
E

E
T

R
H

Y
M

N
E

Y
S

T
R

E
E

T

S
EN

G
H
EN

N
Y
D
D

R
O

AD

G
LY

N
R
H
O
N
D
D
A

S
TR

EET

LL
A
N
T
W

IT

STREET

SENGHENNYDD

PLACE

S
A

L
IS

B
U

R
Y

R
O

A
D

MISKIN
STREET

P
A

R
K

G
R

O
V

E

W
YEVERNE

RO
AD

P
A

R
K

L
A

N
E

MUSEUM PLACE

LL
A
N
B
LE

D
D
IA

N
G

A
R
D

E
N
S

LL
A
N
B
LE

D
D
IA

N
G

A
R
D

E
N
S

Centre:
Salisbury Road

Designation:

Local Centre
Map 1 of 1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

N
Page 1131



SP

COURT

130

2

B
or

o
C
o
ns

t ,
A
s l

y
C

o
ns

t
&

E
D

B
dy

C
R

52

Library

7
3

E
l S

ub

86

74

47

S
t a

56

8

33

49

S
p
lo

tt
R

o
a
d

98

13
9

110

1

GREENHILL

112

l3
5

12
9

132

10.4m

40

42

69

19

13

15
5

S
t
S
a
v
io

u
r's

40

C
h
u
rc

h

72

45

38

15

10
9

13

Bethlehem
Ct

12
5

2

16

37

B
a
nk

70

41

1
to

17

C
al

la
gh

an

10.4m

60

71

12

81

69

Star Recreation and

26

Community Centre

12

El Sub Sta

19

17

Church

Splott Road

72

15
1

14
9

16

71
M

e
th

o
d
is

t
C

h
u
rc

h

58

60

15

106

10.4m

l - 4

18

71
A

61

71

70

18

22

34

35

90

57

PO

LB

44

36

TCB

33

60

59

9.8m

16
7

14

8

108

15
3

Cross

89

8
3

43a

91

43

22

17

44

42

52

45

59

96

2

1

20

1
to 9

1

C
ou

rt

20 10.4m

28

1

63

68

83

17

68

60

58a

62

35

58c

58b

80

61

72

82

71

32
to

36

4
1

46

38

40

Club

64

9.4m

30

37

62

19

63

34

92

11
1

17

10.4m

l to 24

Baptist

Court

S
ur

ge
ry

2

17

78

Baptist

11.0m

16

11
1

97

62

MP 169

110

1

10.7m

9

10

7a

S
ur

ge
ry

2

95

15

65

73

49

56

42

59

37

Warehouse

28

26

7

LB

6

54

42

5

TCB

Club

11.3m

59

3

Club

56

53

27

58

48

30

27a

43

53

49

36

47

38

59

33

31

46

36

28

26

4
5

23
25

43

LB

29 22

39

9.4m

20

24

41

66

43

41

23

27

18

41

41a

27
a

2

17

8

11

29

26

34

13

1

2

76

79 11.0m

14

5

A-D

66

13.7m

65

54

PH

67

63

56

23

1a

14

1

42

13

8

2

17

2a

8.5m

37

11
b11

a

39

54

9a

9

38

7

1

5

COV

JANET
STREET

JANET
STREET

ORDELL STREET

S
T
R

E
E
T

C
A

R
L
IS

L
E

ADELINE
STREET

M
ARION

STREET

ADELINE
STREET

EYRE
STREET

SPLO
TT

ROAD

BURNABY
STREET

S
T
R

E
E
T

C
A
R

L
IS

L
E

S
T
R

E
E
T

R
A

IL
W

A
Y

SPLOTT
ROAD

ADELINE
STREET

P
E

A
R

L
S

T
R

E
E

T

T

R
E
E

T

D
IA

M
O

N
D

S
T
R

E
E
T

Centre:
Splott Road

Designation:

Local Centre
Map 1 of 1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

N
Page 1132



LLANISHEN

49

72

51.5m

30

213

45
El Sub Sta

1
9
0

St Isan's

School

House

Lych Gate

Church

1
t o

12

Bank

Police Station

33

37

62

68

34to39

22to33

13
to

2
1

42

1
8

8

59

54

50

19

48

29

52

61

43.9m

2
8
3

8

63

Cemetery

44

38

11

LB

65

43.3m

42.7m

2
1

1
3

1
8

14

42.7m

2216

2
824 2
6

18

20

8

2

7

47.2m

40to45

42

46

Depot

TCB

2
8

46.6m

Bank

1

Surgery

2
5

1
8

2
0

2
2

2
2

50.0m

The Orchards

2
4

2
3
a

75

71PH

3
6

2
4

3
7

2
4

2
8

3
9

El Sub Sta

3
2

12

2
0

1
8

2
6

2
2

16

Car Park31

Church
Inn

Bank

(PH)

L
la

n
is

h
e
n

B
ro

o
k

Library

3
2

3
1

157 5

Homelong

Shelte
r

House

1
1

1 to 35

40

42 44

3
43
6

38

2
83
0

2
4

2
5

27

2
9

42

House

6

13

17

23

Dumbelling

Old People's Home

8

10

15

21

St Isan

14

19

3
8

to
4
8

1
to

11

Cwrt

160

Glas

151

Hall

45.7m

158

1
to

3
5

Onnen

PO

B
ro

o
kv

ie
w

C
o
u
rt

1

4

Ty

4
6

to
5
7

Llys Pegasus

PC

14
12

15

16

El Sub Sta

Dunroaming

10

5

1 to 4

149

El

8

Sub Sta

1
5

2

Leisure Centre

77

B
re

n
tw

o
o
d

C
o
u

rt

STATIO
N

RO
AD

T
E

G
F
A

N
C

L
O

S
E

C
O

U
R

T

H
E

O
L

H
I^

R

L
L
A

N
IS

H
E

N

K
IM

B
E

R
L
E

Y
T

E
R

R
A

C
E

CHEAM PLACE

IL
E

X
C

L
O

S
E

TY-GLAS AVENUE

Centre:
Station Road, Llanishen

Designation:

Local Centre
Map 1 of 1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

N
Page 1133



99

2

Hawthorn House

53

47

wood

14

26

3

14

8

13

23

2

5
4

1

20.7m

Sub Sta

Surgery

3
7

El

3
5

6
4

5
6

3
9

2
a 4a

1
a

3a

75

65

25

Finnimore
Court

4
1

3
6

Hall

5

2

20
to

7

11
9

Church

Louise Court

39

H
azelhurst C

ourt

21.0m

12
10

8

1
to

18

Post

88

76

Community

House

Benton

Centre

141

2

Hailey Court

Und

FF

1
25

1
2
3
a

1
2
7

1
2
9

125a

Ty Robin

Post

43

36

66

68

31

27

101

9
LB

9

3

22a

24

Hawthorn

Prim
ary

Sch
ool

33

Post

29.0m

MP 0.25

1

11
0

7
1

26.8m

29.0m

22

21

11

3

12

2

Centre

2a

Community

Railway Hotel

128

PC

LB

(PH)

TCB

1
1
0

1
1
8

20.7m

Car Park

Posts

1 to 3

Court

Heol Don

5

1

3

FB

7

SP

2

9 6

3

10

4

9
6

1
0
0

9
4

20.4m

1
2
3

1
2
1

1
1
9

1
1
5

7
4

8
6

1
1
3

7
7

1
1
1
a

7
2

23.5m

8

Hailey
10

Llandaf Station

New House

Court

30.5m

3

4

1

1
1
1

3

9
3

8
5

1
0
9

18

2

18a

19

20

21.0m

12

9

17

Surgery

1
-4

1
1

1
7

1
4

1
6

Car Park

1
5

1
2

ED Bdy

Taff

Cottages

4
2

2
4

1
4

34

23

1

13

38

3
4

County

Junior

17

2
7

School

21.0m

6
1

33

4
9

46

47

37

46a

46

6
7

4
8

6
2

6
3

1
4

27

64

26

15

2

1

11

4
2

16

6

SP

30.8m

Royal Exchange
23.8m

(PH)

FF

21.0m

1

2

H
a
ll

6

H
a
w

th
o
rn

79a 7
9

81

1

26

31

121.0m

21

50

Hall

8

15

1a

31.1m

64

93

11

2

6

3

WINGFIELD ROAD

S
T

A
T

I O
N

R
O

A
D

C
LO

S
E

HAW
THORN

ROAD
EAST

DURLS
TON

HIL
TO

N
PLACE

B
E

L
L
E

V
U

E
C

R
E

S
C

E
N

T

HAWTHORN ROAD WEST

T
Y

-M
A

W
R

R
O

A
D

EVANSFIELD ROAD

H
A

Z
E

LH
U

R
S
T

R
O

A
D

TY MAWR ROAD

THE PARADE

ROAD

Centre:
Station Road, Llandaff North

Designation:

Local Centre
Map 1 of 1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

N
Page 1134



Garage

Tel Ex

3
2

SPs

Radyr Station

FB

1

26

Pond

Spring

Spring

2
0

Wood

1
4

1

Sta

Sub

7

5

El

River Taff (Afon Taf)

24

97

1
6

6
9

82

9

1
1

1
6

7
9

SP

14

Car Park

SP

11

1

2

2
b

2
a

14

5

LBTCP

PO

1

B
a
n
k

Meml

5
9

War

38.1m

T
y

G
w
yn

1

5
0

40.0m

2

26

5
7

4
5

3
6

MP 0.5

Christ

Church

5
4

5
4
a

Surgery

3
2

2

42.4m

2
0

Church

3
1

3
3

5

12

3

Sta

5
2

Sub

El

1

Courts

Tennis

L
T

w

L
T

w
rs

L
T

w
rs

46.3m

2
6

11

15

CR

Cwrt Brynteg

Ty Cornel

El Sub Sta

The Rectory

1to6

The Lodge

W
INDSOR

CRESCENT

H
E

O
L

IS
A

F

K
IN

G
' S

A
V

E
N

U
E

WINDSOR ROAD

E
G

R
E

E
N

T
A

F
F

T
E

R
R

A
C

E

P
L
Y

M
O

U
T
H

D
R

IV
E

STATION ROAD

KING'S ROAD

RECTORY CLOSE

Centre:
Station Road, Radyr

Designation:

Local Centre
Map 1 of 1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

N
Page 1135



Y Popty / The Bakery

Asly Const, Boro Const and ED Bdy

1 to 25

2

ESS

Cwrt Pendyris

P
a

th

2

7.0m

16

1

12

18

1
8

1
0

59to61

25

25a
25b26

CR

13

8

Millennium Stadium/Stadi

3

W
o
r k

s

Century Court

7.6m

1
1

to
3
0

1
to

1
0

1

9

SM

2
0

2

7.3m

1
7

1

7.3m

4

1
3

7

9

12

7.6m

25

15

31

Garage

53

37

45 S
lo

p in
g

m
a
so

n
ry

L Twr

5

Litchfield

S Br

Court

1

21

5
6

to
7
6

39 to 55

1
11

2

2

7.3m

1

2
4

2
1

8

7.3m

4

1
2

5
3
b

Hall

5
3
a

5
5

28

W
are

house

W
o
r k

s

26c 26b
26

Mews

3

2
5

2
4

3
6

5
0

50a

1
3

St Dyf rig
's

House

Hotel

59

5
9

14

53

1
to

2
1

13

2
2

to
3
8

7

Garage

1

8

2

1
to

3

H
o
u
se

R
ich

a
rd

H
o
u
s
e

5
6

5
2

1
to

6

E
d
w

a
rd

3
9

2
0

3
7

8

5
7

7.3m

4
9

6
7

45

43

2

2
1

1
1

1
5

7

3
3

4
3

Laboratory

3
2

3
6

3
4

3
0

3
1

2
9

3
5

5
2

1
3

2
5

2
3

3
8

40

2
8

7
4

33

1

6
2

Despenser

Gardens

13

23

6

4

7.3m

1
9

1
4

2
6 El Sub Sta

Hotel

2
4

2
9

T
C

B

Playground

3
6

Playground

L
B

11

2
7

7.6m

6m

4
1

13

12a

B
u
i ld

e
r'
s

Y
a

rd

1

18

36
27

25

3

9

12

4

5

1
6

6

1
3

Mardy Court

11

44

Club

1
4
7

63

32
34

The

2

1
0

1
4

7.6m

Depot

L TWR

22

2

8

7.3m

10

6

13
5

3

16

9

Whitworth Court

12

18

11

14

15

46

23

17

1
a

1

21

24

20

22

27

23

25

19

24

26

56

79

4

2
1

1
2

5.5m

El Sub Sta

1
0

7.0m

66

H
o
u

s
e

93

7.0m

V
i c

to
r ia

95

91

26a

8

7

2

1

2727a

S Br

MP 170.75

74

105

70a

Sikh

68

70

Centre

Posts

6

F
IT

Z
H

A
M

O
N

E
M

B
A

N
K
M

E
N

T

DESPENSER PLACE

P
L
A

N
T

A
G

E
N

E
T

S
T

R
E

E
T

F
IT

Z
H

A
M

O
N

E
M

B
A

N
K

M
E

N
T

F
IT

Z
H

A
M

O
N

L
A

N
E

PENDYRIS STREET

TUDOR STREET

P
L
A

N
T

A
G

E
N

E
T

S
T

R
E

E
T

TUDOR LANE

M
A

R
D

Y
S

T
R

E
E

T

DESPENSER STREET

DESPENSER GARDENS

B
E

A
U

C
H

A
M

P
S

T
R

E
E

T

C
L
A

R
E

S
T

R
E

E
T

C
L

A
R

E
R

O
A

D

A
LLER

TO
N

S
TR

C
O
U
R
T

R
O

A
D

TUDOR LANE

M
O

U
TH

S
TR

EE
T

Centre:
Tudor Street

Designation:

Local Centre
Map 1 of 1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

N
Page 1136



17

15

1

22

26

7

25

20

34

20

21

57

59

60

29

24

61

2
8

2
6

31

23

25

1

28

Path
and

Cycle
way

20
38

20

21

26

21

12a

12

16

1

21

4

32

33

3

13

6

Play Area

14

1
8

17

8

20

1
1

1
1

1
9

1
2

6

2

1
4

16

1
2
a

12

11

6

3

1

10

1

14

8

1
2
9

7

5

21

24

23

14

17

62

22

16

6

9

8

7

66

2
5

15

1

65

2
6

3

FB

1
4

Surgery

7

12

20

5

1

7

2

1

1

8

6

11.7m

Subway

1

11

1

2

5

1

12

7

8

216

14

6

13

22

10

14

15

11

19

18

Faendre
Reen

10

17
13

1

14

13

9.6m

2

11

1

2

2
6

20

17

1

2
3

19

23

1
1

21

17

19

18

30

1

34

2

19
17

1

16

31

19

19

5

1

10

67

27 5

El Sub Sta

1
4

25

9

28

19

8 68

1
0

5

17

14

10

8

1
3

18

1

27

LB

58

50

48

40

44
46

12.4m

54

52

SANDBROOK ROAD

CHARTLEY CLOSE

A
B

E
R

N
E

T
H

Y
C

L
O

S
E

C
A

R
A

D
O

C
C

L
O

S
E

G
LE

N
R

IS
E

C
LO

S
E

SW
A
N
AG

E
C
LO

S
E

CLO

TYLA

S
T
R

A
T
H

Y
R

O
A

D

WICKEN

BACH

C
LO

SE

CLOS

W
H

IN
C

H
A

T

CLOSE

C
L
O

S
E

ASTER
C

LO
SE

C
R
E

S
S
W

E
L
L

C
LO

S
E

BRYTHON DRIVE

S
U

M
M

E
R

H
IL

L
C

L
O

S
E

H
O

R
N
B
E
A
M

W
IL

L
O

W
B

R
O

O
K

D
R

IV
E

C
L
O

S
E

JASMINE DRIVE

C
L
O

S
E

THRUSH

JO
N

Q
U

IL

B
L
A
E
N

A
V
O

N
C

LO
S
E

C
L
O

S
E

CLOSE

W
IN

D
FL

O
W

E
R

C
L

O
S

E

Centre:
Willowbrook Drive Local Centre

Designation:

Local Centre
Map 1 of 1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

�

N
Page 1137



Def

59

43.3m

179

73

189

62

Windso
r Clive

Infant Nurse
y School

Ysg
ol F

abanod A
Meith

rin
fa

10

1

2

32.0m

5

8

402

36.3m

Surgery

63

22

2

8

79

67

64

LB

27

15

426

3

1

1a

219

213

96

51
a

28

30

TCB

41

3

35

15

8

39

Chy

31

30

16

39

27

8

221

51

223

E
l
S
u
b

S
ta

55

53

224
222

61

220

1

Community Centre

32

1

18

27

20

15

63

Posts

S
t
F
ra

n
cis

75

In
fa

n
ts

S
ch

o
o
l

7
1

61

42

56

43

49

28

31

4

30

3
2

2
9

243
241

242

46.0m

244

68

45

5

3

1

253

255

257

251

14

246

27

2
1

3

6

4

8
5

252

28
3

31

34

29

Inglenook

of Assisi

S
lop

in
g

m
a
so

n
ry

Church of

412

St Francis

32.3m

430

15

444

11

74

209

84

199

94

68

74

24

85

26

97

2a

2

St Francis RC

11

School (Junior)

Presb
y

1

W
indso

r Cliv
e Ju

nior School

44.2m

Ysg
ol Ia

u W
indso

r Cliv
e

8

2

44.5m

44.8m

32

Chy

a

Posts

36
36

32

a

38

52

2

44

11

9

1
0

13

5

4a

2b

3a

4b

3b

4

259

2

56

26

61

PLACE

W
ILSON

W
IL

S
O

N
R

O
A

D

GRAND

HIG
HBURY

PLACE

FOXGLO
VE

CLOSE

AVENUE

DEERE
PLACE

DEERE ROAD

M
O

O
R

E
R

O
A
D

R
O

A
D

W
IL

S
O

N

Centre:
Wilson Road

Designation:

Local Centre
Map 1 of 1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

N
Page 1138



88 
 
 

Appendix 9 : Monitoring Indicators 
 

 
CONTEXTUAL INDICATORS TARGET TRIGGER SOURCE 
Annual unemployment rate The annual unemployment 

rate decreases 
The annual unemployment 
rate increases for two or 
more consecutive years. 

Regional Labour Market 
Statistics (ONS) and Stats 
Wales 

% of population in the 100 
most deprived wards in Wales 

The percentage of population 
in the 100 most deprived 
wards in Wales decreases 

The percentage of population 
in the 100 most deprived 
wards in Wales increases for 
2 or more consecutive years 

Welsh Index of Multiple 
Deprivation 

Level of Police recorded crime 
in Cardiff 

Police Recorded Crime rates 
decrease 

Police Recorded Crime rates 
increase for two or more 
consecutive years. 

Local Crime Statistics, Home 
Office (ONS) 

Percentage of adults meeting 
recommended guidelines for 
physical activity 

The percentage of adults 
meeting recommended 
guidelines for physical 
activity increases annually 
over the Plan period 

The percentage of adults 
meeting recommended 
guidelines for physical 
activity decreases for two or 
more consecutive years 

Wales Health Survey 

Waste reduction rate Waste reduction rate of 1.2% 
annually to 2050 

The waste reduction rate falls 
below 1.2% for two or more 
consecutive years 

CCC Waste Management 
Section 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 1139



89 
 
 

 
 
OBJECTIVE 1 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS AND PROVIDE THE NECESSARY 
INFRASTRUCTURE TO DELIVER DEVELOPMENT 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & 
LOCAL 

INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN 
REVISION 

REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

OB1 EC1 KP2, KP9, 
EC1-EC67 

CORE 
Employment 
land permitted 
(ha) on 
allocated sites 
as a 
percentage of 
all employment 
allocations 

None None When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be 
undertaken to 
identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

 Council Business 
and Industrial 
Monitoring 
Schedule 

 Council Business 
Class Office 
Schedule 

OB1 EC2 KP2, KP9, 
EC1- EC67 

CORE 
Annual 
Employment 
land take up 

Offices (B1) = 
27,000-33,400 
sqm annually.    
 

Offices (B1) = 
Take up is 
more than 
10% above or 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be 

 Council Business 
and Industrial 
Monitoring 
Schedule 

P
age 1140



90 
 
 

OBJECTIVE 1 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS AND PROVIDE THE NECESSARY 
INFRASTRUCTURE TO DELIVER DEVELOPMENT 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & 
LOCAL 

INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN 
REVISION 

REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

(based on 
completions) in 
Cardiff 
(including on 
Strategic Sites 
- Policy KP2) 

Industrial (B1 
b/c, B2, B8) = 
4 to 7 ha 
annually 

below the 
target for 2 or 
more 
consecutive 
years 
Industrial (B1 
b/c, B2, B8) = 
Take up is 
more than 
10% above or 
below the 
target for 2 or 
more 
consecutive 
years 

undertaken to 
identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

 Council Business 
Class Office 
Schedule 

OB1 EC3 KP2, EC1-EC7 LOCAL 
Amount of 
employment 
land  lost to 
non -
employment 
uses in primary 
and local 
employment 

No loss of 
employment 
land (Policy 
EC1) unless in 
accordance 
with Policy EC3 

Loss of one or 
more occupied 
premises or 
parcel of land 
on primary or 
local 
employment 
sites (Policy 
EC1) unless in 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be 
undertaken to 
identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 

 Council Business 
and Industrial 
Monitoring 
Schedule 

 Council Business 
Class Office 
Schedule  

 Council 
Monitoring – 
Planning 

P
age 1141



91 
 
 

OBJECTIVE 1 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS AND PROVIDE THE NECESSARY 
INFRASTRUCTURE TO DELIVER DEVELOPMENT 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & 
LOCAL 

INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN 
REVISION 

REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

sites (Policy 
EC1) 

accordance 
with Policy EC3 

corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

Applications and 
Consents  

OB1 EC4 KP2(A), KP9, 
EC1- EC67 

LOCAL  
Employment 
provision on 
Allocated Sites 
– (KP2 A – 
Cardiff Central 
Enterprise 
Zone) 
 

Employment 
densities for B1 
use at least 
14.5  per sqm 
(gross external 
value)  

No trigger is 
set at present 
but will be 
revised once 
further details 
are known. 

N/A  Council Business 
and Industrial 
Monitoring 
Schedule 

 Council Business 
Class Office 
Schedule 

OB1 EC5 KP2(C), KP9, 
EC1- EC67 

LOCAL  
Employment 
provision on 
Allocated Sites 
– (KP2 C – 
North West 
Cardiff ) 

15,000 sqm 
(B1 & B1 (B&C)  

No trigger is 
set at present 
but will be 
revised once 
further details 
are known. 

N/A  Council Business 
and Industrial 
Monitoring 
Schedule 

 Council Business 
Class Office 
Schedule 

P
age 1142



92 
 
 

OBJECTIVE 1 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS AND PROVIDE THE NECESSARY 
INFRASTRUCTURE TO DELIVER DEVELOPMENT 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & 
LOCAL 

INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN 
REVISION 

REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

OB1 EC6 KP2(D&E), 
KP9, EC1- 
EC67 

LOCAL 
Employment 
provision on 
Allocated Sites 
– (KP2 D&E – 
North of J33 + 
South of 
Creigiau) 

3 ha by J33 
plus 2.5 ha 
flexible local 
employment 
space 

No trigger is 
set at present 
but will be 
revised once 
further details 
are known. 

N/A  Council Business 
and Industrial 
Monitoring 
Schedule 

 Council Business 
Class Office 
Schedule 

OB1 EC7 KP2(F), KP9, 
EC1- EC67 

LOCAL 
Employment 
provision on 
Allocated Sites 
(KP2 F – North 
East Cardiff) 

6.5 ha (B1 & 
B1 (B&C) 

No trigger is 
set at present 
but will be 
revised once 
further details 
are known. 

N/A  Council Business 
and Industrial 
Monitoring 
Schedule 

 Council Business 
Class Office 
Schedule 

OB1 EC8 KP2 (H), KP9, 
EC1- EC67 

LOCAL 
Employment 
provision on 
Allocated Sites 
– (KP2 H – 
South of St 
Mellons 
Business Park 

80,000 to 
90,000 
sqm  (B1(b)/(c) 

No trigger is 
set at present 
but will be 
revised once 
further details 
are known. 

N/A  Council Business 
and Industrial 
Monitoring 
Schedule 

 Council Business 
Class Office 
Schedule 

OB1 EC9 KP2, KP9, 
EC1- EC87 

LOCAL 
Net job 
creation over 
the remaining 

19,100 by 2026 
or 1,736 
annually. 
Target is set 

If annual 
creation of new 
jobs falls more 
than 10% 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be 

 ONS (Annual 
Business Inquiry 
& Annual 

P
age 1143



93 
 
 

OBJECTIVE 1 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS AND PROVIDE THE NECESSARY 
INFRASTRUCTURE TO DELIVER DEVELOPMENT 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & 
LOCAL 

INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN 
REVISION 

REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

Plan period 
(Total = 
40,000 over 
whole Plan 
period, 20,900 
jobs created 
between 2006 
and 2015) 

out 1,750 jobs 
annually over 
the remaining 
Plan period   

below the 
anticipated 
rate of 1,750 
jobs for 2 or 
more 
consecutive 
years 

undertaken to 
identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

Population 
Survey 

OB1 EC10 R1-R8 LOCAL 
Active A1 
(retail) units 
within District 
& Local Centres 
remaining the 
predominant 
use 

A1 units 
comprising 
40% of all units 
within District & 
Local Centres 
(Base Level in 
2013) 

A1 units 
comprising less 
than 40% of all 
units within a 
centre. 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be 
undertaken to 
identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 

 Council 
Monitoring/Site 
Surveys 

P
age 1144



94 
 
 

OBJECTIVE 1 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS AND PROVIDE THE NECESSARY 
INFRASTRUCTURE TO DELIVER DEVELOPMENT 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & 
LOCAL 

INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN 
REVISION 

REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB1 EC11 R1-R8 LOCAL 
Proportion of 
protected City 
Centre 
shopping 
frontages with 
over 50% 
Class A1 
(Shop) units. 

100% 90% When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be 
undertaken to 
identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 

 Council 
Monitoring/Site 
Surveys 

P
age 1145



95 
 
 

OBJECTIVE 1 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS AND PROVIDE THE NECESSARY 
INFRASTRUCTURE TO DELIVER DEVELOPMENT 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & 
LOCAL 

INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN 
REVISION 

REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB1 EC12 KP10, R1-R8 LOCAL 
Percentage of 
ground floor 
vacant retail 
units in the 
Central 
Shopping Area, 
District & Local 
Centres 

Vacancy levels 
are no higher 
than the 
national UK 
average (12%)   
 
Current 
vacancy levels 
in Cardiff are 
9% (City 
Centre), 10% 
(District 
Centres) and 
9% (Local 
Centres) 

Vacancy levels 
rise above 
national UK 
average for 
more than 2 
consecutive 
years 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be 
undertaken to 
identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

 Council 
Monitoring/Site 
Surveys 

 Council City 
Centre Land Use 
Floor Space 
Survey 

 GOAD Data 
(Experian) 

 

P
age 1146



96 
 
 

OBJECTIVE 1 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS AND PROVIDE THE NECESSARY 
INFRASTRUCTURE TO DELIVER DEVELOPMENT 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & 
LOCAL 

INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN 
REVISION 

REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

OB1 EC13 KP10, R1-R8 LOCAL 
Number of 
retail 
developments 
permitted 
outside of the 
Central 
Shopping Area 
and District 
Centres not in 
accordance 
with Policy R4 
and an 
assessment of 
need and strict 
application of 
the sequential 
test 

No retail 
developments 
permitted 
outside these 
areas (unless in 
accordance 
with Policy R4 
and an 
assessment of 
need and strict 
application of 
the sequential 
test) 

1 or more 
retail 
developments 
are permitted 
outside of the 
Central 
Shopping Area 
and District 
Centres not in 
accordance 
with Policy R4 
and an 
assessment of 
need and strict 
application of 
the sequential 
test 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be 
undertaken to 
identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

 Council Out of 
Centre 
Monitoring 
Schedule 

 Council 
Monitoring –  
Planning 
Applications and 
Consents 

OB1 EC14 KP2, KP6, 
KP8, T1-T89 

LOCAL  
Achievement of 
50:50 modal 
split for all 
journeys by 
2026 

Increase the 
sustainable 
travel 
proportion of 
the modal split 
by 1% per 

Failure to 
achieve an 
annual 
increase of 1% 
for each 
journey 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be 
undertaken to 
identify the 

 CCC Planning 
Policy/ 
Transportation 

 Infrastructure 
Plan 

P
age 1147



97 
 
 

OBJECTIVE 1 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS AND PROVIDE THE NECESSARY 
INFRASTRUCTURE TO DELIVER DEVELOPMENT 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & 
LOCAL 

INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN 
REVISION 

REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

annum for each 
journey 
purpose: 
1) Work = 
45.2% (2014) 
2) Education = 
57.8% (2014) 
3) Shopping 
(City Centre) = 
67.1% (2014) 
4) Shopping 
(Other) = 
43.2% (2014) 
5) Leisure = 
58% (2014) 

purpose for 
two or more 
consecutive 
years 

underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

 Cardiff Local 
Transport Plan 
(LTP)  

 Ask Cardiff 
Survey 

 Infrastructure 
Plan 

OB1 EC15 KP2, KP6, 
KP8, T1- T89 

LOCAL 
Percentage of 
people walking 
(all journeys) 

An annual 
increase of 
journeys made 
on foot for each 
journey 
purpose: 
1) Work = 
15.9% (2014) 
2) Education = 
24.1% (2014) 

Failure to 
achieve an 
annual 
increase for 
each journey 
purpose for 
two or more 
consecutive 
years 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be 
undertaken to 
identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 

 Transportation 
Surveys 

 Accessibility 
Mapping 

 Congestion 
Monitoring 

 Ask Cardiff 
Survey 

 Infrastructure 
Plan 

P
age 1148



98 
 
 

OBJECTIVE 1 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS AND PROVIDE THE NECESSARY 
INFRASTRUCTURE TO DELIVER DEVELOPMENT 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & 
LOCAL 

INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN 
REVISION 

REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

3) Shopping 
(City Centre) = 
16.7% (2014) 
4) Shopping 
(Other) = 
22.3% (2014) 
5) Leisure = 
19% (2014) 
 

appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB1 EC16 KP2, KP6, 
KP8, T1- T89 

LOCAL 
Percentage of 
people 
cycling(all 
journeys) 

An annual 
increase of 
journeys made 
by bike for 
each journey 
purpose: 
1) Work = 
10.6%  (2014) 
2) Education = 
9.5% (2014) 
3) Shopping 
(City Centre) = 
5.9% (2014) 
4) Shopping 
(Other) = 5.7% 
(2014) 
5) Leisure = 
10.1% (2014) 

Failure to 
achieve an 
annual 
increase for 
each journey 
purpose for 
two or more 
consecutive 
years 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be 
undertaken to 
identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 

 Transportation 
Surveys 

 Accessibility 
Mapping 

 Congestion 
Monitoring 

 Ask Cardiff 
Survey 

 Infrastructure 
Plan 

P
age 1149



99 
 
 

OBJECTIVE 1 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS AND PROVIDE THE NECESSARY 
INFRASTRUCTURE TO DELIVER DEVELOPMENT 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & 
LOCAL 

INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN 
REVISION 

REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

 underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB1 EC17 KP2, KP6, 
KP8, T1- T89 

LOCAL 
Percentage of 
people 
travelling by 
bus (all 
journeys) 

An annual 
increase of 
journeys made 
by bus for each 
journey 
purpose: 
1) Work = 
11.1%  (2014) 
2) Education = 
13% (2014) 
3) Shopping 
(City Centre) = 
29.4% (2014) 
4) Shopping 
(Other) = 8.6% 
(2014) 
 
5) Leisure = 
11.2(2014) 
 

Failure to 
achieve an 
annual 
increase for 
each journey 
purpose for 
two or more 
consecutive 
years 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be 
undertaken to 
identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

 Transportation 
Surveys 

 Accessibility 
Mapping 

 Congestion 
Monitoring 

 Ask Cardiff 
Survey 

 Infrastructure 
Plan 

OB1 EC18 KP2, KP6, 
KP8, T1- T89 

LOCAL An annual 
increase of 

Failure to 
achieve an 

When a trigger 
point is activated 

 Transportation 
Surveys 

P
age 1150



100 
 
 

OBJECTIVE 1 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS AND PROVIDE THE NECESSARY 
INFRASTRUCTURE TO DELIVER DEVELOPMENT 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & 
LOCAL 

INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN 
REVISION 

REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

Percentage of 
people 
travelling by 
train (all 
journeys) 

journeys made 
by bus for each 
journey 
purpose: 
1) Work = 
5.8% (2014) 
2) Education = 
5.2% (2014) 
3) Shopping 
(City Centre) = 
10.6% (2014) 
4) Shopping 
(Other) = 3.8% 
(2014) 
5) Leisure = 
8.7% (2014) 
 

annual 
increase for 
each journey 
purpose for 
two or more 
consecutive 
years 

an assessment 
will be 
undertaken to 
identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

 Accessibility 
Mapping 

 Congestion 
Monitoring 

 Ask Cardiff 
Survey 

 Infrastructure 
Plan 

OB1 EC19 KP2, KP6, 
KP8, T1- T89 

LOCAL 
Improvement 
in journey 
times by bus 

An annual 
percentage 
improvement in 
journey times 
for key 
corridors from 
October 2015  

Failure to 
achieve an 
annual 
improvement 
for two or 
more 
consecutive 
years 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be 
undertaken to 
identify the 
underlying 
causes and 

 Transportation 
Surveys 

 Accessibility 
Mapping 

 Congestion 
Monitoring 

 Ask Cardiff 
Survey 

P
age 1151



101 
 
 

OBJECTIVE 1 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS AND PROVIDE THE NECESSARY 
INFRASTRUCTURE TO DELIVER DEVELOPMENT 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & 
LOCAL 

INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN 
REVISION 

REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

An annual 1 
percent 
improvement in 
journey times 
for key 
corridors 
(North West 
Corridor, North 
East Corridor, 
Eastern 
Corridor and 
Southern 
Corridor) from 
adoption of the 
Local 
Development 
Plan 
 

Failure to 
achieve an 
annual 
improvement 
in bus journey 
times of 1% 
for two or 
more 
consecutive 
years 

consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. The 
assessment will 
also identify 
congested pinch 
points and  
quantify specific 
corridor journey 
time and journey 
time reliability 
improvements 
that are required 
and establish 
appropriate 
revised targets 

 Transport 
Assessments 
received 
through the 
Development 
Control process; 

 S106 Monitoring 
Requirements 
established 
through the 
Development 
Control process 

 Infrastructure 
Plan 

P
age 1152



102 
 
 

OBJECTIVE 1 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS AND PROVIDE THE NECESSARY 
INFRASTRUCTURE TO DELIVER DEVELOPMENT 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & 
LOCAL 

INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN 
REVISION 

REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

OB1 EC20 KP2, KP6, 
KP8, T1- T89 

LOCAL 
Improvement 
in bus journey 
time reliability 

An annual 
percentage 
improvement in 
journey time 
reliability for 
key corridors 
from October 
2015. 
An annual 1 
percent 
improvement in 
journey time 
reliability for 
key corridors 
(North West 
Corridor, North 
East Corridor, 
Eastern 
Corridor and 
Southern 
Corridor) from 
adoption of the 
Local 
Development 
Plan 

Failure to 
achieve an 
annual 
improvement 
for two or 
more 
consecutive 
years 
Failure to 
achieve an 
annual 
improvement 
in bus journey 
time reliability 
of 1% for two 
or more 
consecutive 
years 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be 
undertaken to 
identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. The 
assessment will 
also identify 
congested pinch 
points and  
quantify specific 
corridor journey 

 Transportation 
Surveys 

 Accessibility 
Mapping 

 Congestion 
Monitoring 

 Ask Cardiff 
Survey 

 Transport 
Assessments 
received 
through the 
Development 
Control process; 

 S106 Monitoring 
Requirements 
established 
through the 
Development 
Control process 

 Infrastructure 
Plan 

P
age 1153



103 
 
 

OBJECTIVE 1 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS AND PROVIDE THE NECESSARY 
INFRASTRUCTURE TO DELIVER DEVELOPMENT 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & 
LOCAL 

INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN 
REVISION 

REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

time and journey 
time reliability 
improvements 
that are required 
and establish 
appropriate 
revised targets 

OB1 EC21 KP2, KP6, 
KP8, T1-T8T4 

LOCAL 
Delivery of a 
regional 
transport hub 

A regional 
transport hub 
will be 
delivered by 
2018 

Failure to 
deliver a 
regional 
transport hub 
by 2018 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be 
undertaken to 
identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 

 Cardiff Council 
Corporate 
Business Plan 

 Infrastructure 
Plan 

 Cardiff Local 
Transport Plan 

P
age 1154



104 
 
 

require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB1 EC22 KP2, KP6, 
KP8, T1- T89 

LOCAL  
Delivery of new 
sustainable 
transportation 
infrastructure 
including: 
Rapid Bus 
Corridors, 
Cycle Network, 
Transport Hubs 
and LTP 
schemes to 
mitigate 
development 
impacts and 
support modal 
shift    

To prepare & 
implement a 
range of 
sustainable 
transport 
schemes 
including 
schemes 
identified in the 
Cardiff LTP 
which support 
modal shift and 
the delivery of 
the 
Masterplanning 
principles set 
out in the LDP 

Failure to 
deliver projects 
identified in 
LTP timeframes 
and/or failure 
to deliver 
sustainable key 
principles as 
referenced in 
OB4 SN12 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be 
undertaken to 
identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

 CCC Planning 
Policy/ 
Transportation 

 Infrastructure 
Plan 

 Cardiff Local 
Transport Plan 

OB1 EC23 R3 LOCAL 
Central 
Shopping Area 
Protected 
Frontages SPG 

 Failure to 
adopt SPG 
within 12 
months of Plan 
adoption 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be 
undertaken to 
identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 

CCC Planning Policy 

P
age 1155



105 
 
 

necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB1 EC24 KP5 LOCAL 
Shop Fronts 
and Signs 
Guidance SPG 

 Failure to 
adopt SPG 
within 18 
months of Plan 
adoption 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be 
undertaken to 
identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 

CCC Planning Policy P
age 1156



106 
 
 

require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB1 EC25 EC1, EC3 
 
 
 

LOCAL 
Protection of 
Employment 
Land and 
Premises for 
Business, 
Industry and 
Warehousing 
SPG 

 Failure to 
adopt SPG 
within 18 
months of Plan 
adoption 
 
 
 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be 
undertaken to 
identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

CCC Planning Policy 
 

OBJECTIVE 2 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED SOCIAL NEEDS 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN 
REVISION 

REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

OB2 SO1 KP1 CORE 
The housing 
land supply 

A minimum 5 
year supply of 
land for 

Less than a 5 
year supply of 
residential land is 

When a trigger 
point is 
activated an 

 Council 
Housing 

P
age 1157



107 
 
 

OBJECTIVE 2 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED SOCIAL NEEDS 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN 
REVISION 

REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

taken from the 
current Housing 
Land Availability 
Study (TAN1) 

residential 
development is 
maintained 
throughout the 
Plan period 

recorded for any 
year 

assessment will 
be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

Monitoring 
Survey 

 Joint 
Housing 
Land 
Availability 
Study 

OB2 SO2 KP1 CORE 
The number of 
net general 
market 
dwellings built 

Provide 22,555 
net general 
market dwellings 
over the 
remaining Plan 
period in 
accordance with 
the cumulative 2 
year targets set 
out below: 

Failure to deliver 
the required 
number of 
dwellings for 
each 2 year 
period. 

When a trigger 
point is 
activated an 
assessment will 
be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 

 Council 
Housing 
Monitoring 
Survey 

 Joint 
Housing 
Land 
Availability 
Study 

 

P
age 1158



108 
 
 

OBJECTIVE 2 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED SOCIAL NEEDS 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN 
REVISION 

REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

2016: 2,495 
2018: 4,096 
2020: 4,153 
2022: 4,042 
2024: 4,010 
2026: 3,759 

corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB2 SO3 KP1, KP2, KP4, 
KP13, H1-H6 
H3 

CORE 
The number of 
net additional 
affordable 
dwellings built 
(TAN2) 

Provide 6,646 net 
affordable units 
over the 
remaining Plan 
period 
(representing an 
average of 
22.8% of total 
housing 
provision). 
 
Expected delivery 
rate to meet the 
target set out 
below: 
2016: 735 
2018: 1,207 

Failure to deliver 
the required 
number of 
dwellings for 
each 2 year 
period. 

When a trigger 
point is 
activated an 
assessment will 
be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 

 Council 
Housing 
Monitoring 
Survey 

 Joint 
Housing 
Land 
Availability 
Study 

 
 

P
age 1159



109 
 
 

OBJECTIVE 2 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED SOCIAL NEEDS 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN 
REVISION 

REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

2020: 1,224 
2022: 1,191 
2024: 1,181 
2026: 1,108 

whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB2 SO4 KP1 CORE 
Annual dwelling 
completions (all 
dwellings) 

Provide 29,201 
dwellings over 
the remaining 
Plan period in 
accordance with 
the cumulative 2 
year targets set 
out below:  
2016: 3,230 
2018: 5,303 
2020: 5,377 
2022: 5,233 
2024: 5,191 
2026: 4,866 
 
 

Failure to deliver 
the required 
number of 
dwellings for 
each 2 year 
period. 

When a trigger 
point is 
activated an 
assessment will 
be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

 Council 
Housing 
Monitoring 
Survey 

 Joint 
Housing 
Land 
Availability 
Study  

P
age 1160



110 
 
 

OB2 SO5 KP1 LOCAL 
Number of 
windfall units 
completed per 
annum on all 
sites 

Annual target of 
overall 
anticipated 
windfall 
contributions for 
the remainder of 
the Plan period - 
488 dwellings per 
annum 

Delivery varies 
by more than 
10% above or 
below 488 
dwellings per 
annum for any 
consecutive 2 
year period. 

When a trigger 
point is 
activated an 
assessment will 
be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

Council 
Housing 
Monitoring 
Survey 

OB2 SO6 KP3(B) LOCAL 
Number of 
dwellings 
permitted 
annually outside 
the defined 
settlement 
boundaries that 
does not satisfy 
LDP policies 

Number of 
dwellings 
permitted that 
are not in 
accordance with 
KP3(B) 

1 or more 
permission that 
does not satisfy 
LDP policies 

When a trigger 
point is 
activated an 
assessment will 
be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 

Council 
Housing 
Monitoring 
Survey 

P
age 1161



111 
 
 

actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB2 SO7 H87 LOCAL 
Keep the 
Seawall Road 
site under 
review for 
potential 
permanent 
residential 
Gypsy and 
Traveller 
accommodation 

 Site is no longer 
categorised 
within Flood Risk 
Zone C2 

When a trigger 
point is 
activated an 
assessment will 
be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

CCC Planning 
Policy CCC 
Housing 
Service 

P
age 1162



112 
 
 

OB2 SO8 H87 LOCAL               
Provision is 
made for 
meeting 
identified needs 
for permanent 
Gypsy and 
Traveller  
accommodation 

1. Agree project 
management 
arrangements  in
cluding reporting 
structure and 
representatives  - 
July 15 

2. Agree 
methodology for 
undertaking site 
search and 
assessment – 
December 2015 

3. Undertake Gypsy 
and Traveller 
Needs 
Assessment for 
both permanent 
and transit 
pitches in 
accordance with 
Housing (Wales) 
Act 2014 – Feb 
2016 

4. Undertake a site 
search and 
assessment  and 
secure approval 
of findings – Jul 
2016 

5. Secure planning 
permission and 
funding 
(including any 
grant funding 
from Welsh 
Government) for 
identified sites(s) 
required to meet 

Failure to 
achieve these 
targets 

Yes CCC Planning 
Policy  
CCC Housing 
Service 

P
age 1163



113 
 
 

the short term 
need for 43 
pitches by May 
2017 

6. Secure planning 
permission and 
funding 
(including any 
grant funding 
from Welsh 
Government) for 
identified(s) 
required to meet 
the long term 
need for 65 
pitches by May 
2021  

OB2 SO9 H87 LOCAL 
Provision is 
made for 
meeting 
identified needs 
for transit 
Gypsy and 
Traveller 
accommodation 

1. Agree project 
management 
arrangements  in
cluding reporting 
structure and 
representatives  - 
July 2015 

2. Agree 
methodology for 
undertaking site 
search and 
assessment – 
December 2015 

3. Undertake Gypsy 
and Traveller 
Needs 
Assessment for 
both permanent 
and transit 
pitches in 
accordance with 
Housing (Wales) 

Failure to 
achieve these 
targets 

Yes CCC Planning 
Policy  
CCC Housing 
Service 

P
age 1164



114 
 
 

Act 2014 – Feb 
2016 

4. Undertake a site 
search and 
assessment  and 
secure approval 
of findings – Jul 
2016 

5. Secure planning 
permission and 
funding 
(including any 
grant funding 
from Welsh 
Government) for 
identified sites(s) 
required to meet 
short term – May 
2017 

6. Secure planning 
permission and 
funding 
(including any 
grant funding 
from Welsh 
Government) for 
identified(s) 
required to meet 
long term need – 
May 2021 

OB2 SO10 H87 LOCAL 
Total number of 
Gypsy and 
Traveller 
pitches for 
residential 
accommodation 

Ensure the 
existing supply of 
pitches is 
maintained. 
(Should existing 
pitches be no 
longer available 
alternative 

Any net loss of 
existing Gypsy 
and Traveller 
pitch provision 

When a trigger 
point is 
activated an 
assessment will 
be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying 
causes and 

CCC Planning 
Policy CCC 
Housing 
Service 

P
age 1165



115 
 
 

pitches will be 
sought)  

consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB2 SO11 KP2 LOCAL               
Total annual 
dwelling 
completions of 
Strategic 
Housing Site A 
– Cardiff 
Central 
Enterprise Zone 

2,150 dwellings 
will be delivered 
over the 
remainder of the 
Plan period on 
this Strategic 
Site in 
accordance with 
the 2 year 
cumulative 
delivery rates set 
out below. 
Expected delivery 
rates based on 
the JHLAS 2014 
and developer 
intentions:            
2016: 231 

Failure to deliver 
the required 
number of 
dwellings for 
each 2 year 
period. 

When a trigger 
point is 
activated an 
assessment will 
be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 

Council 
Housing 
Monitoring 
Survey 

P
age 1166



116 
 
 

2018: 254 
2020: 405 
2022: 400            
2024: 400            
2026: 460 

underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB2 SO12 KP2 LOCAL               
Total annual 
dwelling 
completions of 
Strategic 
Housing Site B 
– Gas Works, 
Ferry Road 

500 dwellings will 
be delivered over 
the remainder of 
the Plan period 
on this Strategic 
Site in 
accordance with 
the 2 year 
cumulative 
delivery rates set 
out below. 
Expected delivery 
rates are based 
on developer 
intentions:            
2016: 0 
2018: 80 
2020: 140 
2022: 170            
2024: 110            
2026: 0 

Failure to deliver 
the required 
number of 
dwellings for 
each 2 year 
period. 

When a trigger 
point is 
activated an 
assessment will 
be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

Council 
Housing 
Monitoring 
Survey 

OB2 SO13 KP2 LOCAL               
Total annual 
dwelling 
completions of 
Strategic 
Housing Site C 

5,000 dwellings 
will be delivered 
over the 
remainder of the 
Plan period on 
this Strategic 

Failure to deliver 
the required 
number of 
dwellings for 
each 2 year 
period. 

When a trigger 
point is 
activated an 
assessment will 
be undertaken 
to identify the 

Council Housing 
Monitoring 
Survey 

P
age 1167



117 
 
 

– North West 
Cardiff 

Site in 
accordance with 
the 2 year 
cumulative 
delivery rates set 
out below. 
Expected delivery 
rates are based 
on developer 
intentions: 
2016: 135 
2018: 624 
2020: 1,060 
2022: 1,060         
2024: 1,060         
2026: 1,060 

underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB2 SO14 KP2 LOCAL 
Total annual 
dwelling 
completions of 
Strategic 
Housing Site D 
– North of 
Junction 33 

2,000 dwellings 
will be delivered 
over the 
remainder of the 
Plan period on 
this Strategic 
Site in 
accordance with 
the 2 year 
cumulative 
delivery rates set 
out below. 
Expected delivery 
rates are based 
on developer 
intentions: 
2016: 110 

Failure to deliver 
the required 
number of 
dwellings for 
each 2 year 
period. 

When a trigger 
point is 
activated an 
assessment will 
be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 

Council Housing 
Monitoring 
Survey 

P
age 1168



118 
 
 

2018: 240 
2020: 300 
2022: 400            
2024: 450            
2026: 500 

whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB2 SO15 KP2 LOCAL               
Total annual 
dwelling 
completions of 
Strategic 
Housing Site E 
– South of 
Creigiau 

650 dwellings will 
be delivered over 
the remainder of 
the Plan period 
on this Strategic 
Site in 
accordance with 
the 2 year 
cumulative 
delivery rates set 
out below. 
Expected delivery 
rates are based 
on developer 
intentions: 
2016: 150 
2018: 300 
2020: 200 

Failure to deliver 
the required 
number of 
dwellings for 
each 2 year 
period. 

When a trigger 
point is 
activated an 
assessment will 
be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

Council Housing 
Monitoring 
Survey 

OB2 SO16 KP2 LOCAL               
Total annual 
dwelling 
completions of 
Strategic 
Housing Site F – 

4,500 dwellings 
will be delivered 
over the 
remainder of the 
Plan period on 
this Strategic 

Failure to deliver 
the required 
number of 
dwellings for 
each 2 year 
period. 

When a trigger 
point is 
activated an 
assessment will 
be undertaken 
to identify the 

Council Housing 
Monitoring 
Survey 

P
age 1169



119 
 
 

North East 
Cardiff (West of 
Pontprennau) 

Site in 
accordance with 
the 2 year 
cumulative 
delivery rates set 
out below. 
Expected delivery 
rates are based 
on developer 
intentions: 
2016: 180 
2018: 1,197 
2020: 808 
2022: 808            
2024: 808            
2026: 699 

underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB2 SO17 KP2 LOCAL               
Total annual 
dwelling 
completions of 
Strategic 
Housing Site G 
– East of 
Pontprennau 
Link Road 

1,300 dwellings 
will be delivered 
over the 
remainder of the 
Plan period on 
this Strategic 
Site in 
accordance with 
the 2 year 
cumulative 
delivery rates set 
out below. 
Expected delivery 
rates are based 
on developer 
intentions: 
2016: 140 

Failure to deliver 
the required 
number of 
dwellings for 
each 2 year 
period. 

When a trigger 
point is 
activated an 
assessment will 
be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 

Council Housing 
Monitoring 
Survey 

P
age 1170



120 
 
 

2018: 375 
2020: 285 
2022: 270            
2024: 200            
2026: 30 

whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB2 SO18 KP2, KP13 LOCAL 
Annual 
affordable 
dwellings 
completions of 
Strategic 
Housing Site A 
– Cardiff 
Central 
Enterprise Zone 

414 affordable 
dwellings will be 
delivered over 
the remainder of 
the Plan period 
on this Strategic 
Site in 
accordance with 
the 2 year 
cumulative 
delivery rates set 
out below. 
Expected delivery 
rates are based 
on the JHLAS 
2014 and 
developer 
intentions: 
2016: 0 
2018: 100 
2020: 105 
2022: 68 
2024: 68 
2026: 69              

Failure to deliver 
the required 
number of 
dwellings for 
each 2 year 
period. 

When a trigger 
point is 
activated an 
assessment will 
be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

Council Housing 
Monitoring 
Survey 

OB2 SO19 KP2, KP13 LOCAL               
Annual 
affordable 
dwelling 

100 affordable 
dwellings will be 
delivered over 
the remainder of 

 When a trigger 
point is 
activated an 
assessment will 

 

P
age 1171



121 
 
 

completions of 
Strategic 
Housing Site B 
– Gas Works, 
Ferry Road 

the Plan period 
on this Strategic 
Site in 
accordance with 
the 2 year 
cumulative 
delivery rates set 
out below. 
Expected delivery 
rates are based 
on developer 
intentions: 
2016: 0 
2018: 16 
2020: 28 
2022: 34 
2024: 22 
2026: 0 

be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB2 SO20 KP2, KP13 LOCAL               
Annual 
affordable 
dwelling 
completions of 
Strategic 
Housing Site C 
– North West 
Cardiff 

1,500 affordable 
dwellings will be 
delivered over 
the remainder of 
the Plan period 
on this Strategic 
Site in 
accordance with 
the 2 year 
cumulative 
delivery rates set 
out below. 
Expected delivery 
rates are based 

 When a trigger 
point is 
activated an 
assessment will 
be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 

 

P
age 1172



122 
 
 

on developer 
intentions: 
2016: 41 
2018: 187 
2020: 318 
2022: 318 
2024: 318 
2026: 318 

to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB2 SO21 KP2, KP13 LOCAL               
Annual 
affordable 
dwelling 
completions of 
Strategic 
Housing Site D - 
North of 
Junction 33 

603 affordable 
dwellings will be 
delivered over 
the remainder of 
the Plan period 
on this Strategic 
Site in 
accordance with 
the 2 year 
cumulative 
delivery rates set 
out below. 
Expected delivery 
rates are based 
on developer 
intentions: 
2016: 100 
2018: 100 
2020: 100 
2022: 100 
2024: 100 
2026: 103 

 When a trigger 
point is 
activated an 
assessment will 
be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

 

OB2 SO22 KP2, KP13 LOCAL               
Annual 
affordable 

195 affordable 
dwellings will be 
delivered over 

 When a trigger 
point is 
activated an 

 

P
age 1173



123 
 
 

dwelling 
completions of 
Strategic 
Housing Site E 
– South of 
Creigiau 

the remainder of 
the Plan period 
on this Strategic 
Site in 
accordance with 
the 2 year 
cumulative 
delivery rates set 
out below. 
Expected delivery 
rates are based 
on developer 
intentions: 
2016: 37 
2018: 74 
2020: 49 
2022: 12 
2024: 11 
2026 - 11 

assessment will 
be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB2 SO23 KP2, KP13 LOCAL               
Annual 
affordable 
dwelling 
completions of 
Strategic 
Housing Site F - 
North East 
Cardiff (West of 
Pontprennau) 

1,050 affordable 
dwellings will be 
delivered over 
the remainder of 
the Plan period 
on this Strategic 
Site in 
accordance with 
the 2 year 
cumulative 
delivery rates set 
out below. 
Expected delivery 
rates are based 

 When a trigger 
point is 
activated an 
assessment will 
be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 

 

P
age 1174



124 
 
 

on developer 
intentions: 
2016 : 0 
2018: 114 
2020: 242 
2022: 242 
2024: 242 
2026: 210 

review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB2 SO24 KP2, KP13 LOCAL               
Annual 
affordable 
dwelling 
completions of 
Strategic 
Housing Site G 
– East of 
Pontprennau 
Link Road 

390 affordable 
dwellings will be 
delivered over 
the remainder of 
the Plan period 
on this Strategic 
Site in 
accordance with 
the 2 year 
cumulative 
delivery rates set 
out below. 
Expected delivery 
rates are based 
on developer 
intentions: 
2016: 42 
2018: 113 
2020: 86 
2022: 81 
2024: 60 
2026: 8 

 When a trigger 
point is 
activated an 
assessment will 
be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

 

OB2 SO25 KP13, H3 LOCAL 
Changes in 
market value of 

Provide 6,646 
affordable units 
over the 

An increase or 
decrease of 10% 
of market values 

When a trigger 
point is 
activated an 

HM Land 
Registry House 
Price Index 

P
age 1175



125 
 
 

property in 
Cardiff on 
Greenfield and 
Brownfield 
areas                 

remaining Plan 
period based on 
achieving 30% 
on Greenfield 
sites and 20% on 
Brownfield sites. 
Expected delivery 
rate to meet the 
target set out 
below: 
2016: 1,408 
2018: 1,408 
2020: 1,408 
2022: 1,408 
2024: 1,410 
2026: 1,410 

of properties in 
Cardiff on 
Greenfield and 
Brownfield areas 

assessment will 
be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

RICS Building 
Cost 
Information 
Service (BICS) 
Tender Prices 
Development 
Appraisal 
Toolkit 

OB2 SO26 KP1 LOCAL 
Need for release 
of additional 
housing land 
identified in the 
flexibility 
allowance 

To ensure 
sufficient land is 
brought forward 
for development 
in accordance 
with the Plan 
strategy and to 
maintain a 
minimum 5 year 
supply of land as 
set out in the 
JHLAS. 

Build rates 
exceed the 
anticipated 
number of 
completions as 
set out in 
indicator OB2 
SO4 by the 1st 
Plan review i.e. 
more than 
13,910 dwellings 
completed 
between 2014 - 
2020 overall 

When a trigger 
point is 
activated an 
assessment will 
be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 

Council Housing 
Monitoring 
Survey 

P
age 1176



126 
 
 

anticipated 
completion rates 
at 1st and 2nd 
LDP review 
stages. 
Exceeding the 
rate will trigger 
allocation of 
additional land 
which can be 
secured through 
Plan revision 
 

review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB2 SO27 KP13, H3 LOCAL 
Affordable 
Housing SPG 

 Failure to adopt 
SPG within 6 
months of Plan 
adoption 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB2 SO28 C4H5 LOCAL 
Houses in 
Multiple 
Occupation SPG 

 Failure to adopt 
SPG within 6 
months of Plan 
adoption 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB2 SO29 

 

KP7 
 

LOCAL 
Planning 
Obligations SPG 
incorporating 
Developer 
contributions 
for transport 
facilities and 
relevant 
sections from 
 Affordable 

housing 

 Failure to adopt 
SPG within 12 
months of Plan 
adoption 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

P
age 1177



127 
 
 

 Access, 
circulation 
and parking 
requirements 

 Open Space 
 Schools 
 Public art 
 PROW 
 Community 

Facilities 
 Trees and 

Development 
 Waste 

Collection 
and Storage 
Facilities 

 Biodiversity 
 

OB2 SO30 

 

C1 
 

LOCAL 
Community 
Facilities and 
Residential 
Development 
SPG 

 Failure to adopt 
SPG within 18 
months of Plan 
adoption 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB2 SO31 C21 LOCAL 
Childcare 
Facilities SPG 

 Failure to adopt 
SPG within 18 
months of Plan 
adoption 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB2 SO32 C76 LOCAL 
Health SPG 

 Failure to adopt 
SPG within 18 
months of Plan 
adoption 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

P
age 1178



128 
 
 

OB2 SO33 H8 LOCAL 
Gypsy and 
Traveller Sites 
SPG 

 Failure to adopt 
SPG within 18 
months of Plan 
adoption 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

P
age 1179



129 
 
 

 
 
OBJECTIVE 3 - TO DELIVER ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL NEEDS IN A CO-ORDINATED WAY THAT RESPECTS CARDIFF'S 
ENVIRONMENT AND RESPONDS TO THE CHALLENGES OF CLIMATE CHANGE 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT LDP 
POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN 
REVISION 

REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

OB3 EN1 KP3(A), KP3(B), 
KP5, KP15, 
KP16, KP18, 
EN1-EN14 

CORE                  
Amount of 
development (by 
TAN 15 
paragraph 5.1 
development 
category) 
permitted in C1 
floodplain areas 
not meeting all 
TAN 15 tests 

No permissions 
granted for 
highly vulnerable 
development 
within C1 
floodplain area 
that does not 
meet TAN 15 
tests 
 
 

1 application 
permitted for 
development in 
any 1 year that 
does not meet 
TAN 15 tests 

When a trigger 
point is 
activated an 
assessment will 
be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

CCC Planning 
Policy  

OB3 EN2 KP3(A), KP3(B), 
KP5, KP15, 
KP16, KP18, 
EN1-EN14 

CORE 
Amount of 
development (by 
TAN 15 

No permissions 
granted for 
highly vulnerable 
development in 

1 application 
permitted for 
development in 
any 1 year 

When a trigger 
point is 
activated an 
assessment will 

CCC Planning 
Policy 

P
age 1180



130 
 
 

OBJECTIVE 3 - TO DELIVER ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL NEEDS IN A CO-ORDINATED WAY THAT RESPECTS CARDIFF'S 
ENVIRONMENT AND RESPONDS TO THE CHALLENGES OF CLIMATE CHANGE 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT LDP 
POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN 
REVISION 

REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

paragraph 5.1 
development 
category) 
permitted in C2 
floodplain areas. 

C2 floodplain 
area. 

be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB3 EN3 KP15, KP16, 
KP18, EN1-EN4, 
EN10, EN11 & 
EN14 

LOCAL                
Percentage of 
water bodies of 
good status. 
 
 
 

No planning 
consents granted 
planning 
permission 
contrary to the 
advice of Natural 
Resources Wales 
and/or Dŵr 
Cymru (Welsh 
Water) 

1 application 
permitted for 
development in 
any 1 year 

When a trigger 
point is 
activated an 
assessment will 
be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 

CCC Planning 
Policy  

P
age 1181



131 
 
 

OBJECTIVE 3 - TO DELIVER ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL NEEDS IN A CO-ORDINATED WAY THAT RESPECTS CARDIFF'S 
ENVIRONMENT AND RESPONDS TO THE CHALLENGES OF CLIMATE CHANGE 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT LDP 
POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN 
REVISION 

REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB3 EN4 KP15, KP16, 
KP18, EN1-EN4, 
EN10, EN11 & 
EN14 

LOCAL 
Number of 
permissions 
granted where 
there is a known 
risk of 
deterioration in 
status. 

No planning 
consents granted 
planning 
permission 
contrary to the 
advice of Natural 
Resources Wales 
and/or Dwr 
Cymru (Welsh 
Water) 

1 application 
permitted for 
development in 
any 1 year 

When a trigger 
point is 
activated an 
assessment will 
be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 

CCC Planning 
Policy 

P
age 1182



132 
 
 

OBJECTIVE 3 - TO DELIVER ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL NEEDS IN A CO-ORDINATED WAY THAT RESPECTS CARDIFF'S 
ENVIRONMENT AND RESPONDS TO THE CHALLENGES OF CLIMATE CHANGE 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT LDP 
POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN 
REVISION 

REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB3 EN5 KP15, KP16, 
KP18, EN1-EN4, 
EN10, EN11 & 
EN14 

LOCAL 
Number of 
permissions 
incorporating 
measures 
designed to 
improve water 
quality where 
appropriate. 

No planning 
consents granted 
planning 
permission 
contrary to the 
advice of Natural 
Resources Wales 
and/or Dwr 
Cymru (Welsh 
Water) 

1 application 
permitted for 
development in 
any 1 year 

When a trigger 
point is 
activated an 
assessment will 
be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 

CCC Planning 
Policy 

P
age 1183



133 
 
 

require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB3 EN6 KP18, EN11, 
EN14, 

LOCAL                
Number of 
planning 
permissions 
granted contrary 
to the advice of 
the Water 
supplier 
concerning 
adequate levels 
of water quality 
and quantity and 
waste water 
provision 

No planning 
consents issued 
where there is 
an objection 
concerning 
provision of 
water quality 
and quantity and 
waste water 
from water 
supplier 

1 application 
permitted for 
development in 
any 1 year 

When a trigger 
point is 
activated an 
assessment will 
be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

CCC Planning 
Policy  

OB3 EN7 KP3(A), EN1 LOCAL                 
The number of 
inappropriate 
developments 
permitted within 
the Green Belt 
Wedge that do 
not satisfy LDP 
policies 

No inappropriate 
developments 
granted planning 
permission 
contrary to 
policies KP3 (A) 
and EN1 

1 application 
permitted for 
development in 
any 1 year 

When a trigger 
point is 
activated an 
assessment will 
be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 

CCC Planning 
Policy 

P
age 1184



134 
 
 

necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB3 EN8 EN3 LOCAL                 
The number of 
planning 
permissions 
granted contrary 
to Policy EN3 
which would 
cause 
unacceptable 
harm to Special 
Landscape Areas 

No development 
granted planning 
permission 
contrary to Policy 
EN3 which would 
cause 
unacceptable 
harm to Special 
Landscape Areas 

1 application 
permitted for 
development in 
any 1 year 

When a trigger 
point is 
activated an 
assessment will 
be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 

CCC Planning 
Policy  

P
age 1185



135 
 
 

require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB3 EN9 EN8 LOCAL                 
Ancient Semi-
Natural 
Woodland  

No inappropriate 
development 
granted planning 
permission 
contrary to Policy 
EN8 

1 application 
permitted for 
development in 
any 1 year 

When a trigger 
point is 
activated an 
assessment will 
be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

CCC Planning 
Policy  

OB3 EN10 EN1-EN8 LOCAL               
The number of 
planning 
permissions 
granted on SSSI 
or SINC 
designated 
areas. 

No planning 
permissions 
granted 
permission that 
would result in 
an unacceptable 
impact which 
could not be 
mitigated against 

1 application 
permitted for 
development in 
any 1 year 

When a trigger 
point is 
activated an 
assessment will 
be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 

CCC Planning 
Policy 

P
age 1186



136 
 
 

on an SSSI or 
SINC that does 
not satisfy LDP 
policies 

necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB3 EN11 EN1-EN8 LOCAL 
Number of 
planning 
applications 
granted which 
have an adverse 
effect on the 
integrity of a 
Natura 2000 site 

Ensure 
protection of 
European 
designated sites 
as required by 
paragraph 5.3.9 
in Planning Policy 
Wales, Annex 3 
in TAN 5 and 
policies 

1 application 
permitted 
contrary to the 
advice of NRW 
or the 
authority’s 
ecologist 

When a trigger 
point is 
activated an 
assessment will 
be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 

CCC Planning 
Policy  

P
age 1187



137 
 
 

require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB3 EN12 EN1-EN8 LOCAL 
Number of 
planning 
applications 
granted which 
would result in 
detriment to the 
favourable 
conservation 
status of EU 
protected 
species in their 
natural range or 
significant harm 
to species 
protected by 
other statute 

No application 
granted 
permission that 
would result in 
detriment to the 
maintenance of 
the favourable 
conservation 
status of EU 
protected species 
in their natural 
range or 
significant harm 
to species 
protected by 
other statute 

1 application 
permitted 
contrary to the 
advice of NRW 
or the 
authority’s 
ecologist 

When a trigger 
point is 
activated an 
assessment will 
be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

CCC Planning 
Policy  

OB3 EN13 KP16, KP18, 
C53-C6 

LOCAL               
Achievement of 
functional open 
space 
requirement 
across Cardiff as 
set out in Policy 
C54 

2.43 Ha 
functional open 
space per 1,000 
population 

Less than 2.43 
Ha functional 
open space per 
1,000 population 

When a trigger 
point is 
activated an 
assessment will 
be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 

CCC Planning 
Policy 

P
age 1188



138 
 
 

necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB3 EN14 EN13 LOCAL 
Number of Air 
Quality 
Management 
Areas 

No more than 4 
current AQMA in 
action 

One or more 
additional AQMA 

No Environmental 
Protection 
Monitoring 

OB3 EN15 C4&C5 LOCAL 
Open Space SPG 

 Failure to adopt 
SPG within 6 
months of Plan 
adoption 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB3 EN16 
 

T1 
 

LOCAL 
Public Rights of 
Way and 
Development 
SPG 

 Failure to adopt 
SPG within 18 
months of Plan 
adoption 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB3 EN17 
 
 

EN8 
 
 

LOCAL 
Trees and 
Development 
SPG 

 
 

Failure to adopt 
SPG within 18 
months of Plan 
adoption 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

P
age 1189



139 
 
 

OB3 EN18 
 

EN5, EN6, EN7 
 
 

LOCAL 
Biodiversity SPG 

 
 
 

Failure to adopt 
SPG within 18 
months of 
adoption of the 
Plan 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB3 EN19 
 

EN14 
 

LOCAL 
Flooding SPG 

 
 

Failure to adopt 
SPG within 12 
months of 
adoption of the 
Plan 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB3 EN20 
 
 

KP16, EN3-EN8 
 

LOCAL 
Natural Heritage 
Network SPG 

 Failure to adopt 
SPG within 12 
months of 
adoption of the 
Plan 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB3 EN21 
 

KP17, EN9 
 

LOCAL 
Archaeologically 
Sensitive Areas 
SPG 

 Failure to adopt 
SPG within 18 
months of 
adoption of the 
Plan. 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

 
 
 
 
 
  

P
age 1190



140 
 
 

 
OBJECTIVE 4 – TO CREATE SUSTAINABLE NEIGHBOURHOODS THAT FORM PART OF A SUSTAINABLE CITY 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT LDP 
POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN 
REVISION 

REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

OB4 SN1 EN12 LOCAL 
The number and 
capacity of 
renewable 
energy 
developments 
permitted 

An increase in 
the number of 
renewable 
energy schemes 
permitted 

No increase in 
the number of 
renewable 
energy schemes 
permitted for 
two or more 
consecutive 
years 

When a trigger 
point is 
activated an 
assessment will 
be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB4 SN2 KP11KP12, W2 LOCAL 
Maintain a 
sufficient 
amount of land 
and facilities to 
cater for 

Maintain a 
sufficient 
capacity to cater 
for Cardiff’s 
waste (to be 
confirmed at a 

No trigger When a trigger 
point is 
activated an 
assessment will 
be undertaken 
to identify the 

CCC Waste 
Management 
Section 

P
age 1191



141 
 
 

OBJECTIVE 4 – TO CREATE SUSTAINABLE NEIGHBOURHOODS THAT FORM PART OF A SUSTAINABLE CITY 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT LDP 
POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN 
REVISION 

REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

Cardiff's waste 
capacity 

regional level in 
accordance with 
TAN21) 

underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB4 SN3 KP12, W1, W2, 
W3 

LOCAL 
Amount of 
household waste 
recycled 

Minimum Overall 
Recycling - 58% 
by 2016, 64% 
by 2020 and 
70% by 2025. 
Maximum 
Landfill = n/a by 
2016, 10% by 
2020 and 5% by 
2025 
Maximum level 
of energy from 

Minimum Overall 
Recycling - Less 
than 58% by 
2016, 64% by 
2020 and 70% 
by 2025, 
Maximum 
Landfill = n/a by 
2016, less than 
10% by 2020 
and 5% by 2025 

When a trigger 
point is 
activated an 
assessment will 
be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 

CCC Waste 
Management 
Section 

P
age 1192



142 
 
 

waste = 42% by 
2016, 36% by 
2020 and 30% 
by 2025. 
Biodegradable 
landfill allowance 
= 41,692t by 
2016, 33,557t 
by 2020 and n/a 
by 2025.    

Maximum level 
of energy from 
waste = less 
than 42% by 
2016, 36% by 
2020 and 30% 
by 2025. 
Biodegradable 
landfill allowance 
= less than 
41,692t by 
2016, 33,557t 
by 2020 and n/a 
by 2025.   

appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB4 SN4 KP12, W1, W2, 
W3 

LOCAL 
Applications 
received for 
waste 
management 
uses on B2 sites 

Maintain a 
sufficient range 
and choice of 
waste 
management 
facilities 

1 or more 
applications 
refused in any 1 
year 

When a trigger 
point is 
activated an 
assessment will 
be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 

CCC Planning 
Policy P

age 1193



143 
 
 

reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB4 SN5 KP11, M7 LOCAL                 
Maintain a 
minimum 10 
year landbank of 
crushed rock 
reserves               

10 year supply Less than 10 
year supply 

When a trigger 
point is 
activated an 
assessment will 
be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

SWRAWP 
Annual 
Reports 

OB4 SN6 KP11, M6 LOCAL                 
Amount of 
development 
within Sand 
Wharf Protection 
Area             

No permanent 
development 
which would 
prejudice the 
ability to land 
marine dredged 
sand and gravel 

1 application 
permitted for 
development in 
any 1 year 

When a trigger 
point is 
activated an 
assessment will 
be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying 

CCC Planning 
Policy 

P
age 1194



144 
 
 

will be permitted 
within the 
safeguarded 
sand wharfs 
which is contrary 
to Policy M6. 

causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB4 SN7 MXK11, M7 LOCAL                 
Amount of 
development 
permitted within 
a mineral 
safeguarding 
area.        

No permanent 
sterilising 
development as 
defined in 
MPPW/MTAN1 
will be permitted 
within a Mineral 
safeguarding 
area which is 
contrary to 
Policy x of the 
Plan. 

1 application 
permitted for 
development in 
any 1 year 

When a trigger 
point is 
activated an 
assessment will 
be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 

CCC Planning 
Policy 

P
age 1195



145 
 
 

underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB4 SN8 M2 LOCAL                 
Number of 
planning 
permissions 
permitted for 
extraction of 
aggregate 
mineral not in 
line with Policy 
M2 

0 planning 
permissions 
permitted           

1 application 
permitted for 
development in 
any 1 year 

When a trigger 
point is 
activated an 
assessment will 
be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB4 SN9 M4 LOCAL                 
Number of 
planning 
permissions for 
inappropriate 
development e.g. 
dwellings/mineral 

1 planning 
permission 
permitted 

1 application 
permitted for 
development in 
any 1 year 

When a trigger 
point is 
activated an 
assessment will 
be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying 

CCC Planning 
Policy 

P
age 1196



146 
 
 

working, 
permitted in 
Minerals Buffer 
Zones contrary 
to Policy M4. 

causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB4 SN10 M3 LOCAL 
Number of 
prohibition 
orders issued on 
dormant sites  
 

Ensure that 
those dormant 
sites deemed not 
likely to be re-
worked in the 
future (as part of 
the annual 
review) are 
served with 
prohibition 
orders  
 

LPA fails to 
serve prohibition 
orders on sites 
that are deemed 
not likely to be 
re-worked in the 
future.  
 

When a trigger 
point is 
activated an 
assessment will 
be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 

CCC Planning 
Policy 

P
age 1197



147 
 
 

underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB4 SN11 KP17, EN9 LOCAL                 
Number of 
applications 
permitted 
contrary to Policy 
EN9 that would 
adversely affect 
Scheduled 
Ancient 
Monuments, 
registered 
historic parks 
and gardens, 
Listed Buildings 
or Conservation 
Areas 

No 
developments 
permitted over 
the course of the 
Plan where there 
is an outstanding 
objection from 
statutory 
heritage advisors 
or that would 
adversely affect 
Scheduled 
Ancient 
Monuments, 
registered 
historic parks 
and gardens, 
Listed Buildings 
or Conservation 
Areas 

1 application 
permitted for 
development in 
any 1 year 
where there is 
an outstanding 
objection from 
statutory 
heritage 
advisors  

When a trigger 
point is 
activated an 
assessment will 
be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying 
causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB4 SN12 KP1, KP2, KP4, 
KP8, KP13, H1-
H6, C1-C79, T1-
T98 

LOCAL                 
Delivery of each 
key principle 
from the 
Strategic Sites 
Masterplanning 
Framework as 

Failure of any 
key principles 
being effectively 
delivered in 
accordance with 
details which are 
approved 

1 (or more) key 
principles not 
delivered 

When a trigger 
point is 
activated an 
assessment will 
be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying 

CCC Planning 
Policy 

P
age 1198



148 
 
 

embedded in the 
LDP to ensure 
delivery of key 
infrastructure 
including 
sustainable 
transportation 
interventions, 
social and 
community 
facilities, 
together with 
any other key 
Masterplanning 
requirements  

through the 
Development 
Management 
process (e.g. 
S106 obligations 
& planning 
conditions)  

causes and 
consider 
necessary 
corrective 
actions as 
appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan.  

OB4 SN13 KP6 LOCAL 
Preparing an 
annual 
Infrastructure 
Plan and 
Infrastructure 
Plan Delivery 
Report update. 

Update the 
Infrastructure 
Plan and 
Infrastructure 
Plan Delivery 
Report annually 
to reflect the 
latest available 
information with 
regard to key 
infrastructure, 
costs/funding 
and estimated 
timescales. 

Failure to update 
the 
Infrastructure 
Plan and 
Infrastructure 
Plan Delivery 
Report annually. 

No Place Making 
Team 
(Development 
Management) 

P
age 1199



149 
 
 

OB4 SN14 T5 LOCAL 
Design and 
Parking 
Guidance SPG 
(incorporating 
Access, 
Circulation and 
Parking 
Requirements 
SPG and 
sustainable 
design guidance) 

 Failure to adopt 
SPG within 6 
months of 
adoption of the 
Plan 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB4 SN15 
 

W1, W2 
 

LOCAL 
Locating Waste 
Management 
Facilities SPG 

 Failure to adopt 
SPG within 12 
months of 
adoption of the 
Plan 
 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB4 SN16 KP5 LOCAL 
Infill Sites 
Design Guidance 
SPG 

 Failure to adopt 
SPG within 18 
months of 
adoption of the 
Plan 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB4 SN17 KP5 LOCAL 
Tall Buildings 
Guidance SPG 

 Failure to adopt 
SPG within 18 
months of 
adoption of the 
Plan 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB4 SN18 KP5 LOCAL  Failure to adopt 
SPG within 18 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

P
age 1200



150 
 
 

Householder 
Design Guidance 
SPG 

months of 
adoption of the 
Plan 

OB4 SN19 KP5 LOCAL 
Public Art SPG 

 Failure to adopt 
SPG within 18 
months of 
adoption of the 
Plan 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB4 SN20 R7R8 LOCAL 
Food Drink and 
Leisure Uses + 
Premises for 
Eating, Drinking 
and 
Entertainment in 
Cardiff City 
Centre  SPG 

 Failure to adopt 
SPG within 18 
months of 
adoption of the 
Plan 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB4 SN21 W3 W1,W2 LOCAL 
Waste Collection 
and Storage 
Facilities SPG 

 Failure to adopt 
SPG within 18 
months of 
adoption of the 
Plan 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB4 SN22 H5 LOCAL 
Design Guidance 
and Standards 
for Flat 
Conversions SPG 

 Failure to adopt 
SPG within 12 
months of 
adoption of the 
Plan 
 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB4 SN23 EN12 LOCAL  Failure to adopt 
SPG within 12 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

P
age 1201



151 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

Renewable 
Energy 
Assessments 
SPG 

months of 
adoption of the 
Plan 
 

P
age 1202



152 
 
 

Appendix 6 10 : Summary of LDP process including glossary of 
technical terms 
 
Summary of LDP Process 
 
Introduction 
 
4.1 As Wales has a plan-led system, it means that the LDP will be very 
important when making planning decisions. It sets out the Council’s 
proposals and policies for future development and use of land in its area. 
Once the plan has been adopted, decisions on planning permissions will be 
mostly based on the LDP. The LDP will therefore provide a measure of 
certainty about what kind of development will and will not be permitted 
during the plan period. 
 
Stage 1: Delivery Agreement 
 
4.2 The Delivery Agreement sets out how and when you can contribute to 
the LDP preparation process. It has two parts:  
• A timetable for producing the LDP; and 
• A Community Involvement Scheme - this explains how developers, the 
public and interested groups can contribute to plan preparation. It also 
explains how responses will be treated and what feedback you will receive. 
4.3 A revised version of the Delivery Agreement was agreed by the Welsh 
Government in December 2011 and can be viewed on the Council’s website 
(http://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ObjView.asp?Object_ID=19592) or is available 
for public inspection at County Hall. 
 
Stage 2: Gathering evidence base 
 
4.5 The LDP needs to be a sound document. This means that it shows good 
judgement and can be trusted. In order to achieve a sound plan, the Council 
has gathered economic, social and environmental information in order to 
provide an evidence base for the plan. The evidence base is set out in 
Appendix 7 13 and has informed the development of the vision and 
objectives for the plan and the Preferred 
Strategy. 
 
Stage 3: Preferred Strategy 
 
4.6 The Preferred Strategy outlines the overall objectives for the plan and 
the strategy for growth or change, including preferred options for major 
development sites. The Preferred Strategy is informed by the evidence base 
for the plan and consultation undertaken in 2010/11 on the vision and 
objectives and strategic options and sites. The Council consulted on the 
Preferred Strategy in November/December 2012. 
 

Page 1203



153 
 
 

Stage 4: Deposit plan 
 
4.7 The Deposit Plan (a full draft of the LDP) will be based on the evidence 
base for the plan and will be informed by comments received in response 
to the Preferred Strategy. This Deposit Plan presents the Preferred Strategy 
as agreed or amended, proposals for key areas of change, regeneration or 
protection and specific sites to be used for particular purposes and other 
specific policies and proposals. It will be accompanied by a Consultation 
Report outlining how comments at the previous stage have influenced the 
plan. Once the LDP is placed on ‘Deposit’ for six weeks consultation the 
Council cannot change it. Any changes to the plan are a matter for an 
Independent Inspector who will examine the plan to determine whether it 
is ‘sound’. This is the stage the plan has now reached and there will be a 
six week consultation period to allow comments to be made on the plan. 
 
Stage 5: Alternative Sites 
 
4.8 During the six week consultation period on the Deposit Plan objectors 
may suggest alternative sites or boundaries for development to be 
considered. After this consultation period the Council will publish any 
alternative sites or boundaries that have been suggested and a further six 
week consultation period will be allowed for people to comment on the 
alternative sites and boundaries. 
 
Stage 6: Examination of the plan 
 
4.9 Once the consultation periods are over, the Council will consider the 
representations and produce a final Consultation Report. Each of the main 
issues raised will be summarised in this report. Then the Planning 
Inspectorate (on behalf of the Welsh Government) will examine the report, 
all of the deposit representations, the Deposit Plan with its background 
evidence and the Sustainability Appraisal Report. The examination ensures 
that the LDP is based on ‘sound’ information and thinking, and that the 
views of those with concerns about the plan have been considered. The 
Inspector will decide what issues will be discussed at the examination and 
how they will be heard. The LDP is due to be submitted for examination in 
August 2014. 
 
Stage 7: Inspector’s Report 
 
4.10 After the examination, the Inspector will review all the relevant 
information and consider what changes the Council should make to the LDP. 
He or she will then publish the Inspector’s Report outlining these changes 
and explaining the reasons for them. The Inspector’s views are binding, the 
local planning authority must make any changes recommended. The 
Inspectors report is due to be published in August 2015. 
 

Page 1204



154 
 
 

Stage 8: Adoption 
 
4.11 Within eight weeks of receiving the Inspector’s Report the Council 
must advertise the fact that the LDP has been adopted and where it can be 
inspected. From the date of adoption, the High Court allows six weeks for 
anyone to challenge it on legal grounds. The LDP is due to be adopted 
October 2015. 
 
Stage 9: Monitoring and review 
 
4.12 Once the Local Development Plan is adopted, the Council must send 
an Annual Monitoring Report to the Welsh Government each year. This will 
consider how successful the LDP has been in meeting the plan’s objectives 
and means that the Council will be able to compare the actual effects of the 
LDP against what was intended. There will be a major review of the LDP at 
least every four years. This may involve rewriting sections of the plan, or 
replacing it. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1205



155 
 
 

Diagram showing LDP Preparation Process 
 
 

 
 
  

Community Involvement 
 

Sustainability Appraisal & 
Strategic Environmental 

Assessment 

Stage 8 
Adoption 

Stage 9 
Annual Monitoring Report/ 

4-year Review 

Stage 1  
Delivery Agreement 

Stage 7  
Inspector’s  

Report 

Stages 2 & 3  
Gathering Evidence base  

& Preferred Strategy 
Consultation

Stage 5 Advertise New or 
Alternative Sites  

respondents 

Stage 6  
Examination 

Stage 4  
Deposit Plan 

Plan 
Stages 

Integral  
Process 

If required,  
Plan Stage 

 

Submission 

 

Page 1206



156 
 
 

Glossary of Technical Terms 
 
Adopted Plan 
The final, statutorily approved legal version of the Local Development Plan. 
 
Adoption 
The final confirmation of a development plan status by a local planning 
authority (LPA). 
 
Affordable Housing 
Housing, whether for rent, shared ownership or outright purchase, provided 
at a cost considered affordable in relation to incomes that are average or 
below average, or in relation to the price of general market housing. 
 
Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) 
A report submitted to the Welsh Government by the local planning 
authorities which assess the effectiveness of the LDP against a set of 
indicators and targets. 
 
Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) 
The Environment Act 1995 requires local authorities to review and assess 
the quality of air in the areas against national air quality standards and 
objectives. Where the UK air quality objectives are not being met and 
members of the public are affected they are required to declare an AQMA. 
 
Baseline 
A description of the present state of the area against which to measure 
change. 
 
Biodiversity 
A term used to describe the variety of life on Earth, including the wide 
variety of ecosystems and living organisms, animals, plants, their habitats 
and their genes 
 
Brownfield Land/Site 
Land which is, or was, previously occupied by a permanent structure 
(excluding agriculture or forestry buildings) and associated fixed surface 
infrastructure. This includes the curtilage of development, defence 
buildings and land used for mineral extraction and waste disposal where 
provision for restoration has not been made. 
 
Candidate Sites 
The LDP Manual (Welsh Government 2006) recommends that local planning 
authorities engage with developers and landowners at the evidence 
gathering stage of the LDP process to obtain information about potential 
development sites that may be included in the plan. Accordingly, in 
November 2010, the Council formally invited developers, landowners, 

Page 1207



157 
 
 

agents, Council departments and others with an interest in land to submit 
sites they wished to be considered for development or reuse through the 
LDP, for a range of uses, including housing, employment, retail, leisure, 
waste, transport (e.g. park and ride sites), open space and other 
community uses. 
 
Citizens Panel 
The Citizens Panel is made up of a representative sample of over 1,000 
local residents from across Cardiff who have agreed to give their views on 
a number of consultation topics throughout the year. Panel members share 
their views by completing surveys and occasionally taking part in other 
activities like focus groups, workshops, or forums. 
 
Climate Change 
Long-term changes in temperature, precipitation, wind and all other 
aspects of the Earth’s climate. Often regarded as a result of human activity 
and fossil fuel consumption. 
 
Commitments (or committed development) 
All land with current planning permission or allocated in adopted 
development plans for development (particularly residential development).  
 
Community 
People living in a defined geographical area, or who share common 
interests. 
 
Community Involvement Scheme (CIS) 
The CIS identifies how the LPA intends to involve consultation bodies and 
the public in the preparation of the LDP. The CIS is submitted to the Welsh 
Government as part of the Delivery Agreement for its agreement. 
 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
CIL is a method of securing generalised contributions from developers. The 
Government legislated for CIL in the 2008 Planning Act. Implementing 
Regulations followed, and CIL came into force in England and Wales on 6 
April 2010. 
 
Community Strategy 
Local authorities are required by the Local Government Act 2000 to prepare 
these, with the aim of improving the social, environmental and economic 
well being of their areas. 
 
Consultation 
Formal process where comments are invited on a particular topic or set of 
topics, or a draft document. 
 
Conservation Area 

Page 1208



158 
 
 

Areas of special architectural or historic interest, the character or 
appearance of which it is desirable to preserve or enhance. 
 
Conservation Area Character Appraisal 
A published document defining the special architectural or historic interest 
that warranted the area being designated. 
 
Conversions 
Generally means the physical work necessary to change of use of a building 
from a particular use, classified in the use classes order, to another use. 
Can also mean the sub-division of residential properties into self-contained 
flats or maisonettes. 
 
Delivery Agreement 
A document comprising the local planning authorities timetable for the 
preparation of the LDP together with its Community Involvement Scheme, 
submitted to the Welsh Government for agreement. 
 
Deposit 
A formal stage of consultation in which comments are invited on the full 
draft LDP. 
 
Deposit LDP 
A full draft of the Local Development Plan which undergoes a formal 
consultation period. 
 
Development 
Development, as it is defined in planning law is the ‘carrying out of building, 
engineering, mining or other operations in, on, over or under land.’ (Section 
55 of the 1990 Planning Act as amended). 
 
Employment Land/Site 
Land used for employment purposes by one or more of the following: 
offices, manufacturing, research and development, storage and 
distribution. 
 
Enterprise Zones 
A specially designated area within which businesses are granted numerous 
advantages and incentives such as income tax credits, equipment tax 
refunds and property tax credits. At its core, the enterprise zone is a means 
to targeting a specific geographical area for economic revitalisation. 
Creating an enterprise zone encourages investment and promotes 
economic growth in that area. 
 
Evidence Base 

Page 1209



159 
 
 

The information and data gathered by the LPA to justify the "soundness" of 
the policy approach set out in the Local Development Plan, including 
physical, economic, and social characteristics of an area. 
 
Examination 
Examination is carried out by the Planning Inspectorate on behalf of the 
Welsh Government and involves the examination of the report, all the 
deposit representations, the Deposit Local Development Plan with its 
background evidence and the Sustainability Appraisal Report. It ensures 
that the LDP is based on sound information and thinking, and that the views 
of those with concerns about the plan have been considered. 
 
Expressions of Interest 
Representations or comments on the development plan, including requests 
for alteration, inclusion or removal of policies or sites for development. 
 
Final Sustainability Report 
A term used to refer to the Sustainability Appraisal Report, produced at the 
deposit stage. It shows how SA/SEA has informed the preparation of the 
LDP and details the methodology, process and results of the LDP against 
the Sustainability Objectives identified in the SA/SEA Scoping Report. 
 
Greenfield Land/Site 
Land that has not been previously developed, usually farmland, grassland 
or heath. 
 
Gross Value Added (GVA) 
This is a measure in economics of the value of goods and services produced 
in an area, industry or sector of an economy. 
 
Habitat Regulation Assessment (HRA) 
A HRA is a requirement of European Directive 92/43/EEC which assesses 
the potential effects a Local Development Plan may have on one or more 
European sites (Natura 2000 sites). The assessment should conclude 
whether or not a proposal or policy in a Development Plan would adversely 
affect the integrity of the site in question. 
 
Housing Land Availability (HLA) 
The total amount of land reserved for residential use awaiting development. 
 
Infrastructure 
Infrastructure includes services such as roads, transport facilities, water 
supplies, sewerage and associated waste water treatment facilities, waste 
management facilities, energy supplies (electricity and gas) and 
distribution networks and telecommunications infrastructure. Soft 
infrastructure includes ICT and telecommunications. 
 

Page 1210



160 
 
 

Initial Sustainability Appraisal Report 
A term used to refer to the Sustainability Appraisal Report, produced at the 
Preferred Strategy stage. This assesses the LDP options against the 
Sustainability Appraisal framework. The report is then expanded at the 
Deposit LDP stage and finalised alongside the Adoption Statement. 
 
Inspector’s Report 
The findings of the Inspector, following an independent examination of the 
LDP, set out in a report that is binding upon the LPA. 
 
Key Diagram 
The diagrammatic interpretation of the LDP’s spatial strategy. 
 
LANDMAP 
LANDMAP is the national information system, devised by the Countryside 
Council for Wales, for taking landscape into account in decision-making 
(http://landmap.ccw.gov.uk/). 
 
Listed Building 
A building of special architectural or historic interest. Listed buildings are 
graded I, II* or II with grade I being the highest. Listing includes the 
interior as well as the exterior of the building, and any buildings or 
permanent structures. 
 
Local Development Plan (LDP) 
The required statutory development plan for each local planning authority 
area in Wales under Part 6 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004. A land use plan that is subject to independent examination, which 
will form the statutory development plan for a local authority area. It should 
include a vision, strategy, area wide policies for development types, land 
allocations, and where necessary policies and proposals for key areas of 
change and protection. 
 
Local Development Plans Wales (LDPW) 
Planning policy guidance document from the Welsh Government on the 
preparation of Local Development Plans. 
 
Local Listing (or Building of Local Importance). 
A locally important building valued for contribution to local scene or for local 
historical situations but not meriting listed building status. 
 
Local Nature Reserve (LNR) 
Non-statutory habitats of local significance designated by local authorities 
where protection and public understanding of nature conservation is 
encouraged. 
 
Local Planning Authority (LPA) 

Page 1211



161 
 
 

A planning authority responsible for the preparation of the LDP. 
 
Master Planning 
In land-use planning, a government entity’s plan for the overall utilisation 
of a particular area, including its allocation for residential or manufacturing 
uses and the corresponding environmental impacts. 
 
Minerals Aggregates Technical Advice Note (MTAN1) 
This was issued by the Welsh Government in March 2004. MTAN1 and sets 
an overarching objective which seeks to ensure a sustainably managed 
supply of aggregates (which are essential for construction), striking the 
best between environmental, economic and social costs. 
 
Mitigation 
Measures to avoid, reduce or offset significant adverse effects. 
 
Mixed Use 
Developments or proposals comprising more than one land use type on a 
single site. 
 
National Vocational Qualifications (NVQs) 
NVQs are work based awards that are achieved through assessment and 
training. 
 
Objectives and Indicators 
Objectives are what the LDP is trying to achieve, and indicators are 
measures that show whether or not objectives are being achieved. They 
can be used to help show whether planning policy is effective, or be used 
in helping to conduct a Sustainability Appraisal. 
 
Office of National Statistics (ONS) 
The ONS is the executive office of the UK Statistics Authority, a 
nonministerial department which reports directly to the Parliament of the 
United Kingdom. 
 
Open Space 
All space of public value including public landscaped areas, playing fields, 
parks and play areas, and also including areas of water such as rivers, 
canals, lakes and reservoirs, which can offer opportunities for sport and 
recreation or can also act as a visual amenity and a haven for wildlife. 
 
Participation Phase 
Period prior to the pre-deposit Local Development Plan when stakeholders 
and the public will have the opportunity to influence the issues, options and 
policies for future growth and development to be included. 
 
Phasing 

Page 1212



162 
 
 

The development of a site in gradual stages over a period of time rather 
than all at once. 
 
Planning Gain 
The benefits or safeguards, often for community benefit, secured by way 
of a planning obligation as part of a planning approval and usually provided 
at the developer's expense. For example, affordable housing, community 
facilities or mitigation measures. 
 
Planning Obligations and Agreements 
Legal agreements between a planning authority and a developer, or 
undertakings offered unilaterally by a developer, that ensure that certain 
extra works related to a development are undertaken. For example, the 
provision of highways. Sometimes called "Section 106" agreements. 
 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW) 
Issued by the Welsh Government setting out its national land use policies 
on different areas of planning. 
 
Population Projection 
The prediction of future populations based on the present age-sex 
structure, and with the present rates of fertility, mortality and migration. 
 
Pre Deposit proposals documents 
These include the vision, strategic options, preferred strategy, key policies, 
and the Sustainability Appraisal report 
 
Pre deposit stage 
The strategic Options and Preferred Strategy stage of LDP preparation. 
 
Proposals Map 
A component of the Local Development Plan showing the location of 
proposals on an Ordnance Survey base map. 
 
Prosiect Gwyrdd 
Prosiect Gwyrdd is a partnership between, Caerphilly Borough County 
Council, The County Council of the City and County of Cardiff, 
Monmouthshire County Council, Newport Council and Vale of Glamorgan 
Council The combined municipal waste of the five authorities makes up 
40% of the total municipal waste of Wales. Prosiect Gwyrdd is committed 
to looking for the best environmental, cost effective and practical solution 
for waste after recycling and composting has been maximised in each area 
(http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/prosiectgwyrdd/english/home.html). 
 
Protected Species 
Plants and animal species afforded protection under certain Acts and 
Regulations. 

Page 1213



163 
 
 

 
Ramsar Sites 
Sites designated under the Ramsar Convention to protect wetlands that are 
of international importance, particularly as waterfowl habitats. 
 
The Regional Technical Statement (RTS) 
The RTS is produced by the South Wales Regional Aggregates Working 
Party and sets out a regional plan for aggregate provision in south Wales 
and is a requirement of the Minerals Aggregates Technical Advice Note 
(MTAN1). 
 
Regional Transport Plan (RTP) 
Regional Transport Plan prepared by Sewta 
 
Representations 
Comments in support of, or in opposition, to the deposit Local Development 
Plan. 
 
United Kingdom Biodiversity Action Plan (UKBAP) 
This is the governmental response to the Convention on Biological Diversity 
signed in 1992. As of 2009 1,150 species and 65 habitats are identified as 
needing conservation and greater protection and are covered by UK BAPs.  
 
Unitary Development Plan (UDP) 
A plan prepared under the previous plan making system which reached 
Deposit stage in Cardiff.  
 
Scheduled Ancient Monument 
Nationally important monuments usually archaeological remains, that enjoy 
greater protection against inappropriate development through the Ancient 
Monuments and Archaeological Areas Act 1979. 
 
Scoping SA 
The process of deciding the scope and level of detail of a Sustainability 
Appraisal, including sustainability effects and options which need to be 
considered, the assessment methods to be used, and the structure and 
contents of the SA Report. 
 
Section 106 Agreement 
A legal agreement under section 106 of the 1990 Town & Country Planning 
Act. Section 106 agreements are legal agreements between a planning 
authority and a developer, or undertakings offered unilaterally by a 
developer, that ensure that certain extra works related to a development 
are undertaken. 
 
South Wales Regional Aggregates Working Party (RAWP) 

Page 1214



164 
 
 

The SWRAWP is a technical working group with membership drawn from 
officers of the 18 Mineral Planning Authorities in South Wales, 
representatives of the Quarry Products Association, British Aggregates 
Association, Environment Agency Wales, Countryside Council for Wales, 
Welsh Assembly Government, Office of the Deputy Prime Minister, Cuddy 
Demolition, Welsh Environment Trust and British Geological Survey 
(http://www.swrawpwales.org.uk/). 
 
South East Wales Economic Forum (SEWEF) 
The Forum is a regional partnership bringing together the ten local 
authorities, the Welsh Government, the private sector, universities and the 
third sector to discuss and address the regional economic matters of south 
east Wales (http://www.sewales-econforum.co.uk/home). 
 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG) 
Membership of the group comprises officer and political representation from 
the ten local authorities in the South East Wales area. The principal aim of 
the Group is to meet to discuss regional issues and provide an interface 
between the Wales Spatial Plan strategy and individual authority 
development plans. 
 
South East Wales Transport Alliance (Sewta) 
Sewta is a consortium established on 1st April 2003 by the ten authorities 
in south east Wales to carry out their functions in relation to public transport 
and some other transport matters. Sewta works in close liaison with 
partners representing public transport operators and users 
(http://sewta.net/). 
 
Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation (SINC) 
Locally important sites of nature conservation adopted by local authorities 
for planning purposes. (See also Local Nature Reserve). 
 
Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) 
A site identified under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended 
by the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000) as an area of special 
interest by reason of any of its flora, fauna, geological or physiographical 
features.  
 
Soundness 
To be considered sound, a Local Development Plan must be justified 
(founded on robust and credible evidence and be the most appropriate 
strategy) and effective (deliverable, flexible and able to be monitored). 
There are ten tests of soundness set out in guidance issued by the Welsh 
Welsh Government and the Planning Inspectorate against which the LDP 
will be assessed. 
 
Special Area Of Conservation (SAC) 

Page 1215



165 
 
 

A site designated under the European Community Habitats Directive, to 
protect internationally important natural habitats and species.  
 
Special Protection Areas (SPA) 
Sites classified under the European Community Directive on Wild Birds to 
protect internationally important bird species. 
 
Stakeholders 
Interests directly affected by the LDP (and/ or SEA) - involvement generally 
through representative bodies. 
 
Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) 
Generic term used to describe environmental assessment as applied to 
polices, plans and programmes. The SEA Regulations require a formal 
"environmental assessment of certain plans and programmes, including 
those in the field of planning and land use. 
 
Strategic Opportunity Area (SOA) 
Strategic Opportunity Areas (SOAs) offers potential regional benefits from 
its sustainable development. SOAs are intended to bring greater coherence 
to their development, and enable public transport links to be strengthened.  
 
Submission 
Formal stage when the LDP is submitted to the Welsh Government for 
independent examination by a government-appointed planning inspector. 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) 
Supplementary Planning Guidance may cover a range of issues, both 
thematic and site specific and provide further detail of policies and 
proposals in a development plan. 
 
Sustainability Appraisal (SA) 
A tool for appraising policies and proposals to ensure they reflect 
sustainability development objects (i.e. social, environmental and economic 
factors). Each LPA is required by S62(6) of the Act to undertake an SA of 
the LDP. This form of SA fully incorporates the requirements of the SEA 
Directive. The term used in the LDP includes Strategic Environmental 
Assessment, unless otherwise made clear. 
 
Sustainable Development 
Development that meets the needs of the present without compromising 
the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. 
 
Sustainable Transport 
Often meaning walking, cycling and public use of transport (and in some 
circumstances ‘car sharing’), which is considered to be less damaging to 

Page 1216



166 
 
 

the environment and contributes less to traffic congestion than one-person 
car journeys. 
 
Technical Advice Notes (TANS) 
Documents produced by the Welsh Assembly Government to supplement 
Planning Policy Wales, which give detailed technical guidance to Local 
Planning Authorities on particular planning issues. They should be taken 
into account by LPAs in the development plan preparation process. 
 
Transport Corridor 
An area of land in which at least one main line for transport, (road, rail, 
canal etc) has been built. Often new transport lines are built alongside 
existing ones to minimise the area affected by pollution 
 
Transport Hub 
A place where passengers and cargo are exchanged between vehicles or 
between transport modes. Public Transport Hubs include train stations, 
rapid transit stations, bus stops, tram stop, airports and ferry slips 
 
Travel Plan 
A travel plan is a package of actions designed by a workplace, school or 
other organisation to encourage safe, healthy and sustainable travel 
options. By reducing car travel, Travel Plans can improve health and 
wellbeing, free up car parking space, and make a positive contribution to 
the community and the environment 
 
Wales Spatial Plan (WSP) 
A plan prepared and approved by the Welsh Government under S60 of the 
Act, which sets out a strategic framework to guide future development and 
policy interventions, whether or not these relate to formal land use planning 
control. Under S62 (5) (b) of the Act a local planning authority must have 
regard to the WSP in preparing an LDP. 
 
Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation (WIMD) 
The official measure of deprivation in small areas in Wales. It is a relative 
measure of concentrations of deprivation at the small area level. It looks at 
issues such as income, housing, employment, access to services, health, 
environment, education and community safety. 
 
Windfall Site 
A site not specifically allocated for development in a development plan, but 
which unexpectedly becomes available for development during the lifetime 
of a plan. Most "windfalls" are referred to in a housing context. 
 
 
  

Page 1217



167 
 
 

Appendix 8 11 : Tests of Soundness Self-Assessment 

11.1 When the Council has finalised its LDP, it must place it on deposit for public 
inspection and the submission of representations, and then submit it to the Welsh 
Government for examination by an independent inspector. The inspector appointed by 
the Welsh Government (WG) must determine whether the plan is fundamentally sound 
having regard to ten test of soundness set out in guidance issued by the Welsh 
Government and the Planning Inspectorate A Guide to the Examination of Local 
Development Plans, Planning Inspectorate Wales, 2007. 

11.2 The following table sets out the ten tests of soundness and the Council's 
assessment of its progress to date in meeting each of them. 

Procedural Tests 
P1 It has been prepared in 

accordance with the 
Delivery Agreement 
including the 
Community 
Involvement Scheme 

The Delivery Agreement (DA) contains a timetable 
for LDP production and the Community Involvement 
Scheme (CIS) that sets out how and when 
stakeholders and the community can contribute to 
preparing the LDP and its Sustainability Appraisal 
(SA). Cardiff’s DA was originally approved by 
Council on 23rd September 2010 and agreed with the 
WG on 15th October 2010. The DA is kept under 
continual review. On 5th December 2011 WG agreed 
amendments to the timetable for preparing and 
adopting the plan. Consulting on the Deposit   Plan
in October 2013 fully accords with the adopted 
timetable. Additionally, it should be noted that the 
procedural requirements of the Town and Country 
Planning (Local Development Plan) (Wales) 
Regulations have been conformed with in preparing 
the plan. 

In accordance with the DA, the Council engaged with 
a wide range of groups, organisations and the wider 
public to assist developing a consensus on the 
generation of alternative strategies and options 
together with identifying key issues. Specific 
measures undertaken included: 

 Invitation to submit Candidate Sites -
December 2010: Invitations were sent out 
inviting developers, landowners and others 
with an interest in land to submit sites they 
wished to be considered for development or 
reuse through the LDP. In addition a notice
was placed in the South Wales Echo and 
placed on the Council website; 

Page 1218



168 
 
 

 

 Consultation on SA/SEA Scoping Report -
November/December 2011; 

• Consultation on vision and objectives –
November/December 2010: In order to inform 
the preparation of LDP vision and objectives 
an extensive consultation and engagement 
exercise was carried out. This included: 

  
o A Stakeholder Consultee Conference 

which was held on 25th November 
2010: 

o 4 Public Consultee Conferences held 
at venues around the city; 

o Questionnaire contained in the 
November Capital Times; 

o Questionnaire available on-line via the 
Council’s website; 

o ‘Ask Cardiff’ random postal 
questionnaire to 5,000 households; 

o Citizens’ Panel questionnaire to 1,000 
households; and 

o E-mail responses to website and other 
publicity. 

 
• Consultation on strategic options and sites –

May/June 2011: In order to inform the 
preparation of the Preferred Strategy a 
consultation exercise on strategic options and 
sites was undertaken between 9th May and 
10th June 2011. During this period members 
of the public and stakeholders were asked to 
give views on a series of strategic growth 
options for housing and employment and on 
candidate sites that had been put forward by 
developers and landowners to deliver this 
growth. The consultation included: 

 
o A Stakeholder Consultee Conference 

which was held on 16th May 2011: 
o 13 Public Consultee Conferences held 

at venues around the city; 
o Publicity in Capital Times; 
o Representation form available on-line 

via the Council’s website; 
o Citizens’ Panel questionnaire to 1,000 

households; and 

Page 1219



169 
 
 

o E-mail responses to website and other 
publicity. 

 
Consultation on the Preferred Strategy –
November/December 2012. In accordance with 
Regulation 15 of the Local Development Plan 
Regulations the Council undertook 6 weeks 
consultation on the Preferred Strategy and the 
Initial Sustainability Appraisal between 1st

November and 14th December 2012. During this 
period members of the public and stakeholders 
were asked to give views on how the Preferred 
Strategy proposed to address the key 
environmental, economic and social issues 
affecting the city and how development needs will 
be met including the proposed broad locations of 
new housing, employment and other strategic 
requirements.  

o A Stakeholder Consultee Conference 
which was held on 2nd November 2012:

o 4 Public Consultee Conferences held 
at venues around the city; 

o 14 drop-in exhibitions at venues 
throughout the city; 

o Publicity in Capital Times; 
o Representation form available on-line 

via the Council’s website; 
o Citizens’ Panel questionnaire to 1,000 

households; and 
o E-mail responses to website and other 

publicity. 
• Consultation on Masterplanning principles –

March 2013. A series of consultation events 
were held during March 2013 to seek 
feedback from stakeholders, developers and 
members of the public on the LDP 
Masterplanning Approach.   

 Engagement with key stakeholders through 
the preparation of various local and regional 
strategies –ongoing; 

 

 Deposit Plan consultation arrangements: 
When the Deposit Plan is issued, extensive 
consultation arrangements have been put in 
place including the facility for on-line 
representations using the Objective 

Page 1220



170 
 
 

Publishing system, public exhibitions, centre-
page insert into, ‘The Capital Times’ that is 
delivered to every house in Cardiff, production 
of a user-friendly leaflet that provides a non-
technical summary of the LDP and how to 
make representations, and relevant 
documents will be made available via the 
website. 

  
P2 The Plan and its 

policies have been 
subjected to 
Sustainability Appraisal 
including Strategic 
Environmental 
Assessment 

  

Following stakeholder engagement and 
consultation, a Scoping Report for Sustainability 
Appraisal (SA) and Strategic Environmental 
Assessment (SEA) of the Cardiff LDP was adopted 
by the Council's Executive and published in January 
2011. An Initial Sustainability Appraisal Report was 
prepared in October 2012 to accompany the 
Preferred Strategy Consultation and assessed the 
Preferred Strategy against the Sustainability 
Objectives identified in the SA/SEA Scoping Report.

A Full Sustainability Appraisal Report has been 
prepared and published for consultation as part of 
the Council's Deposit proposals. It sets out an 
assessment of the Deposit Plan against the 
Sustainability Objectives identified in the SA/SEA 
Scoping Report. 

The SA/SEA work has been undertaken in-house 
using its Sustainable Development Unit and 
employed Levett-Therivel Sustainability Consultants 
to quality assure the work undertaken (process and 
content), and provide advice at key stages including 
how to comply with the strategic Environmental 
Assessment Regulations. 

  

  

Consistency Tests 
C1 It is a land use plan 

which has regard to 
other relevant plans, 
policies and strategies 
relating to the area or 
adjoining areas 

The Deposit Plan has regard to other relevant plans, 
policies and strategies.  Section 2 of the Plan 
specifically identifies the national, regional and local 
policy framework within which it has been prepared.

The Deposit Plan also has regard to the plans of 
adjoining authorities, namely the adopted Newport 

Page 1221



171 
 
 

  
and Vale of Glamorgan Unitary Development Plan 
and adopted Caerphilly and Rhondda Cynon Taff 
Local Development Plan.  

Technical Appendix 1 of the SA/SEA Scoping Report 
includes a review of plans, policies and programmes 
from all levels of government (European, national, 
regional and local) that have been considered in 
undertaking SA/SEA of the Preferred Strategy. The 
Deposit Plan Strategy identifies and takes account of 
those aspects that are of significance. 

The Deposit Plan has regard to national policy set 
out in the Wales Spatial Plan which places Cardiff at 
the centre of the South East - 'Capital Network' - area 
of Wales. In this regard the plan recognises that it is 
important for Wales as a whole that Cardiff becomes 
significant internationally and that, to achieve this, 
the City needs to be the focal point of a coherent and 
successful urban network in South East Wales. In 
order to ensure the region functions in this way the 
Plan recognises that it is important to provide an 
integrated transport solution for the region linked to 
an appropriate balance of development throughout 
the region.  

 
C2 It has regard to national 

policy 

  

The Deposit Plan is consistent with national planning 
policy. Section 2 of the Preferred Strategy identifies 
the main elements of national policy which the 
Council has had regard to in its preparation. 

Technical Appendix 1 of the SA/ SEA Scoping 
Report includes a review of all national plans, 
policies and programmes that have been considered 
in undertaking SA/SEA of the Plan. 

The Deposit Plan takes account of those aspects of 
national policy that are of significance. 

  
C3 It has regard to the 

Wales Spatial Plan 

  

The Deposit Plany is considered to be consistent 
with the Wales Spatial Plan.  Section 2 of the LDP 
directly references People Places Futures: The 
Wales Spatial Plan. 

Page 1222



172 
 
 

The Deposit Plan reflects the Spatial Plan’s vision, 
strategy, propositions and actions for Cardiff and the 
South East Wales Area (The Capital Network). 

The level of growth in jobs and housing proposed in 
the plan together with transportation improvements 
will help deliver the Spatial Plan’s vision to place 
Cardiff at the centre of the South East - 'Capital 
Network' - area of Wales, helping to spread 
prosperity within the area and benefiting other parts 
of Wales. 

  
C4 It has regard to the 

Community Strategy 

  

The Deposit Plan has full regard to the Council’s 
Community Strategy. Section 3 (Vision and 
Objectives) of the Plan directly references the 'What 
Matters’ Strategy 2010-2020’, and Section 3 and the 
Plan builds upon it. In particular, the Preferred 
Strategy vision is based on the economic, social and 
environmental vision for Cardiff as set in the 
Strategy. These high level visions have been 
translated into spatial priorities to deliver the vision 
and provide the context for the strategic objectives 
and sub objectives that lie at the heart of the plan. 
The Deposit Plan sets out the means of delivering 
these objectives. 

  

  

Coherence and Effectiveness Tests 
CE1 The plan sets out a 

coherent strategy from 
which its policies and 
allocations clearly flow 
and, where cross 
boundary issues are 
relevant, it is 
compatible with the 
development plans 
prepared by 
neighbouring 
authorities 

Section 4 of the Deposit Plan sets out a coherent 
Strategy which flows from the key issues identified 
through the review of the national, regional and local 
policy framework, including the Wales Spatial Plan 
and the Community Strategy, and the evidence 
base. 

The strategy takes into account work undertaken at 
the regional level with neighbouring local authorities 
on spatial plan area groups and studies. This 
includes, the recommendations of the Collaborative 
working Group, the Regional Waste Plan and 
Regional Transport Plan. This process ensures that 
cross boundary issues for the Deposit Plan Strategy 

Page 1223



173 
 
 

are consistent with the development plans prepared 
by neighbouring authorities. 

In particular, the overall Strategy and level of growth 
proposed is considered to strike the right balance 
having regard to the evidence base and also taking 
account of Cardiff’s wider regional responsibilities in 
adopting an approach that still allows other 
authorities to fulfil their objectives, and those set out 
in the Wales Spatial Plan.  

 
CE2 The strategy, policies 

and allocations are 
realistic and 
appropriate having 
considered the 
relevant alternatives 
and are founded on a 
robust and credible 
evidence base 

  

The Deposit Plan is considered realistic and 
appropriate having considered all reasonable 
alternatives (in accordance with the SEA 
Regulations). A multitude of options and alternatives 
have been considered as part of the SA/SEA 
process.   

The Deposit Plan is founded on a robust and credible 
evidence base and draws upon the available 
evidence base, including the national regional and 
local policy context.  The key Issues section of the 
Deposit Plan sets out the assumptions and 
background to which the Plan’s policies and 
proposals are based.  The Deposit Plan is supported 
by evidence from the evidence base and background 
technical papers  

Technical Appendix 2 of the SA/SEA Scoping Report 
also includes a review of the evidence base that has 
been considered in undertaking the SA/SEA of the 
Deposit Plan. 

The preparation process has also been participative, 
with the views of key stakeholders being tested 
through a series of consultation events and the 
Council’s Citizens Panel. 

The extensive process of collecting relevant 
evidence has demonstrated that it is not always 
possible to reach absolute consensus on all issues 
and in some cases, different evidence sources may 
point to different conclusions. However, the Deposit 
Plan has taken full account of all relevant information 
available and where judgements have made been 
made, full reasoning is set out within the document 
and supporting information  to demonstrate how 

Page 1224



174 
 
 

conclusions are realistic and appropriate having 
regard to the evidence base. 

  
CE3 There are clear 

mechanisms for 
implementation and 
monitoring 

  

The Annual Monitoring Report is the principle 
mechanism through which the implementation of 
policies in the LDP are measured.  The general 
approach to this is set out in Appendix 8 to the 
Deposit Plan. 

  
CE4 It is reasonably flexible 

to enable it to deal with 
changing 
circumstances 

  

The Deposit Plan has been specifically designed to 
provide a flexible policy framework. It is considered 
sufficiently flexible to deal with unexpected changes 
in circumstances and has been prepared during a 
period that has seen economic changes, thereby 
allowing consideration of the flexibility of the policy 
response. 

Finally, the AMR provides a key mechanism to 
monitor the delivery of the LDP. This will be used to 
assess whether a review is necessary in case of a 
change in circumstances. 

  
 
  

Page 1225



175 
 
 

Appendix 1 12: List of Supporting Documents  
 
Background Technical Papers and Assessments 
 

1. Cardiff Deposit Local Development Plan 2006-2026 Background Technical 
Paper No. 1 Population and Housing – September 2013 

2. Cardiff Deposit Local Development Plan 2006-2026 Background Technical 
Paper No. 2 Urban Capacity Study – September 2013 

3. Cardiff Deposit Local Development Plan 2006-2026 Background Technical 
Paper No. 3 Green Belt – September 2013 

4. Cardiff Deposit Local Development Plan 2006-2026 Background Technical 
Paper No. 4 Economic – September 2013 

5. Cardiff Deposit Local Development Plan 2006-2026 Background Technical 
Paper No. 5 Transportation – September 2013 

6. Cardiff Deposit Local Development Plan 2006-2026 Background Technical 
Paper No. 6 Infrastructure Plan – September 2013 

7. Cardiff Deposit Local Development Plan 2006-2026 Background Technical 
Paper No. 7 District and Local Centres 

8. Cardiff Deposit Local Development Plan 2006-2026 Background Technical 
Paper No. 8 City Centre Protected Shopping Frontage Assessment – 
September 2013 

9. Cardiff Deposit Local Development Plan 2006-2026 Background Technical 
Paper No. 9 Minerals – September 2013 

10. Cardiff Deposit Local Development Plan 2006-2026 Background Technical 
Paper No. 10 Waste – September 2013 

11. Cardiff Deposit Local Development Plan 2006-2026 Final Sustainability 
Report - September 2013 

12. Cardiff Deposit Local Development Plan 2006-2026 Habitat Regulations 
Assessment Report – September 2013 

13. Cardiff Deposit Local Development Plan 2006-2026 Health Impact 
Assessment Report – September 2013 

14. Cardiff Deposit Local Development Plan 2006-2026 Equalities Impact 
Assessment Report – September 2013 

15. Cardiff Deposit Local Development Plan 2006-2026 Initial Consultation 
Report – September 2013 

16. Cardiff Deposit Local Development Plan 2006-2026 Masterplanning 
Framework – General Principles, Strategic Framework & Site Specific 
Frameworks for larger sites – September 2013 

17. Cardiff Deposit Local Development Plan 2006-2026 Summary of cross 
boundary working – September 2013 

 
Evidence Base Studies 
 

18. Edge Analytics Report on Population & Household Forecasts 
19. Local housing Market Assessment 

Page 1226



176 
 
 

20. Affordable Housing Viability Assessment 
21. Gypsy & Traveller Study Needs Assessment 
22. Gypsy and Traveller Study Sites Assessment 
23. Strategic Flood Consequences Assessment 
24. Landscape Study Supporting Documents: Review of Landscape Character 

Areas (February 2008), Review of Special Landscape Areas (August 2008) 
25. Renewable Energy Assessment 

 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 1227



177 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Appendix 7 13: List of the Evidence Base 
 

Topic 
 

Title Author Date 

Housing and 
Population 

 Cardiff Gypsy & 
Traveller 
Accommodation 
Assessment 

ORS Apr-13 

  Cardiff Gypsy, Traveller 
and Travelling 
Showpeople Sites 
Study  

Peter Brett Associates Jul-13 

  Affordable Housing 
Viability Study 

Peter Brett Associates Aug-13 

  Cardiff Local 
Development Plan 
Population and 
Household Projections 
Phase 1 Report 

Edge Analytics Mar-11 

  Cardiff Local 
Development Plan 
Population and 
Household Projections 
Phase 2 Report 

Edge Analytics Jun-11 

  Cardiff  Population and 
Household Forecasts – 
Updating the Evidence 

Edge Analytics Jun-13 
 

  Cardiff Housing 
Monitoring Schedule 

CCC Mar-13 

  Local Housing Market 
Assessment Update 

HDH Planning and 
Development 

July -13 

    
Economy 
and 
Employment 

 Cardiff Employment 
Land Study Stage 1: 
Supply Audit 

DTZ Apr-11 

  Cardiff Employment 
Land Study Update 
Stage 2: Assessing 
Future Requirements 

DTZ Jun-11 

  Strategic Area 
Appraisals 

Savills Jun-11 

Page 1228



178 
 
 

Topic 
 

Title Author Date 

  Cardiff Employment 
Land and Commercial 
Property Strategy 

GVA Grimley Mar-09 

  Business and Industrial 
Land bank Monitoring 

CCC Jul-11 

  Business Class Office 
Development 
Monitoring 

CCC Jul-11 

  Cardiff Employment 
Land and Property 
Study Stage 3: Gap 
Analysis 

Hardisty Jones 
Associates 

Apr-12 

  Economic Bulletin 
Edition 18 Autumn 2010

CCC Autumn 
2010 

  Monthly Unemployment 
Statistics 

Cardiff Research 
Centre 

Ongoing 

    
Retail  District and Local 

Centre Floorspace 
Survey 

Colliers Sep-08 

  Cardiff Out of Centre 
Retail Stores 

CCC Jan11 

  Retail Capacity Study Colliers Mar-09 
  Retail Capacity Study 

Update Volume 1: 
Consultants Report 

Colliers Mar-11 

    
Biodiversity  Cardiff Biological 

Database 
CCC Ongoing 

    
Habitats 
Regulations 
Assessment 

 Screening Report CCC Oct-12 

    
Landscape  The Landscape Study 

of Cardiff 1999 
CCC 1999 

  The 2007 Landscape 
Study of Cardiff 

CCC 2007 

  The Review of 
Landscape Character 
Areas Study 

CCC 2008 

    
Conservation 
and Design 

 Conservation Area 
Appraisals 

CCC Ongoing 

    

Page 1229



179 
 
 

Topic 
 

Title Author Date 

Flooding & 
Flood risk 

 Cardiff Strategic Flood 
Consequences 
Assessment: Report on 
Phase 1 (Scoping 
Study) 

Atkins June-09 

  Cardiff Strategic Flood 
Consequences 
Assessment: Phase 2 
Part 1  

Atkins Nov-11 

  Cardiff Strategic Flood 
Consequences 
Assessment: Phase 2 
Part 2 

Atkins Jul-11 

  Cardiff Strategic Flood 
Consequences 
Assessment: Phase 3 

Atkins Aug-12 

  Cardiff Strategic Flood 
Consequences 
Assessment: - 
Addendum Report 

Atkins Oct-11 

    
Open Space  Cardiff Open Space 

Survey 2009 
CCC Sept-09 

  Cardiff Accessible 
Natural Greenspace 
Survey 2008 

CCC Mar-08 

    

Renewable 
Energy 

 Renewable Energy 
Assessment 

CCC Aug 13 

    
Regional  Strategic Planning for 

the Cardiff City Region 
Roger Tym & Partners Oct-11 

  Report of Findings Cardiff LDP 
Collaborative Working 
Group 

Apr-12 

  

Page 1230



180 
 
 

 
Appendix 10 14 : Bibliography 
 

 

• STEAM Report 2010 Cardiff Council 

• Cardiff Annual Traffic Flow Surveys Cardiff Council 

• Cardiff Annual Patronage Surveys 2010 Cardiff Council 

• Ask Cardiff Surveys: Between 2010 and 2012 Cardiff Council 

• ‘What Matters’ The Ten Year Strategy (2010-2020) Cardiff Council 

• European Directive 2009/28/EC: The Promotion of t

use of energy from renewable sources 

EU 

• Cardiff and Wales Crime 2009 - 2011 Home Office 

• Employee Jobs Business Register and Employment 

Survey  

2012 

ONONS 

 

ONS GVA Statistics 2011 ONS 

• Claimant Count ONS 

• Population and Household growth estimates ONS 

• Guide to the Examination of Local Development Plan

2006 

Planning Inspectorate 

• Hotting Up? : An Analysis of Low Carbon Plans and 

Strategies for UK Cities 2011 

RICS 

• The South East Wales Regional Waste Plan, First 

Review (RWP) (2008) 

South East Wales Regional 

Waste Group (SEWRWG) 

Page 1231



181 
 
 

• A Regional Transport Plan (RTP) (2010) South East Wales 

Transport Alliance 

(SEWTA) 

• The South Wales Regional Technical Statement for 

Aggregates (2008) 

South Wales Regional 

Aggregates Working Party 

(SWRAWP) 

• Annual Population Survey 2011 Welsh Government 

• Local Development Plans Wales 2005 Welsh Government 

• Local Development Plan Manual 2006 Welsh Government 

• Planning Policy Wales (Edition 4) 2011 Welsh Government 

• Mineral Planning Policy Wales 2011 Welsh Government 

• People Places Futures: The Wales Spatial Plan 2008 Welsh Government 

• Environment Strategy for Wales 2006 Welsh Government 

• One Wales, One Planet 2009 Welsh Government 

• Economic Renewal: A New Direction 2010 Welsh Government 

• One Wales: Connecting the Nation – The Wales 

Transport Strategy 2008 

Welsh Government 

• National Transport Plan 2010 Welsh Government 

• Minerals Technical Advice Note 1: Aggregates 

(MTAN1) 2004 

 

Welsh Government 

• Welsh Health Survey 2010 Welsh Government 

• Circular 30/2007 – Planning for Gypsy and Traveller

caravan sites 

Welsh Government 

• Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation 2011 Welsh Government 

 

Page 1232



1 
 

Appendix 5 

Cardiff Local Development 
Plan 

2006 – 2026 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The LDP Inspectors have authorised the Council to make outstanding 
typographical and factual errors, together with any other presentational matters 
and consequential changes flowing from agreed Matters Arising Changes (MACs) 
and recommended Inspectors Matters Arising Changes (IMACs) such as altered 
policy cross-references, map title amendments, site area or numerical changes 
and paragraph numberings. Whilst this final version of the Plan has sought to 
pick up all such changes there may be others identified and corresponding 
changes made during final publication of the document   

  

Page 1233



2 
 

Contents 

 
 

 Foreword 3 

 Summary 5 

1 Introduction 9 

2 The Cardiff Context and Key Issues the Plan must address  12 

3 LDP Vision and Objectives 16 

4 Strategy, Key Policies and Key Diagram 26 

5 Detailed Policies 112 

6 Monitoring and Implementation 126 

7 List of Appendices  229 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1234



3 
 

Foreword 
 
As the one of the fastest growing cities in UK, it is vital that new 
development is guided by an up-to-date Development Plan. The LDP 
provides the necessary framework and certainty to bring forward the new 
homes (especially affordable/family housing) and jobs which are required 
in a managed manner.  

A new Plan for Cardiff is all the more vital given the fact that the previous 
Local Plan was approved in 1996- some 19 years ago. The lack of an up-
to-date Plan has had serious negative consequences with insufficient land 
being brought forward to meet urgent housing needs.  

Put quite simply, not having a plan in place does not stop development. 
All that happens is that development still takes place, but in a policy 
vacuum where the Council and its residents have limited control. Appeals 
have been lost for development in the open countryside and also left the 
Council on the back foot in terms of securing supporting infrastructure 
and community facilities. A plan-led approach is the only way forward 
where the Council sets out a clear strategy for the future. 

This administration has shown strong leadership by progressing the LDP 
through a complex preparation process in strict accordance with the 
approved timetable. This process has involved numerous stages of 
consultation and in addition a lengthy formal examination process over 
the past year and a half. Can I take this opportunity of thanking all who 
have engaged in this exercise which is so important for the future of our 
city.  

It has also responded to issues raised during the process and embedded a 
strong masterplanning framework within the Plan. In this way, new 
development will bring with it the phased provision of necessary 
supporting infrastructure including schools, health facilities and other 
community benefits. The importance of transportation infrastructure is 
also recognised with the Plan setting out a new strategic sustainable 
transportation approach so our city can keep moving and improve links 
with surrounding areas. 

Overall, the Plan provides a balanced response to meeting social and 
economic needs, but in a manner which best protects our valued open 
spaces, river corridors and countryside backdrop.  

 

Page 1235



4 
 

An exciting new era in Cardiff’s development unquestionably lies ahead. 
In coming years we will see the new BBC headquarters and transport 
interchange in the heart of our city. Other brownfield regeneration 
schemes continue to come forward including council-led affordable 
housing projects alongside new greenfield opportunities set out in the 
Plan. On a city-region scale, there are significant opportunities ahead 
through the Metro and City Deal.   

The adoption of the LDP is therefore not only timely but vital in helping to 
provide the necessary certainty to attract and sustain new investments. 
In this way, Cardiff can continue to bring forward the new homes and jobs 
it needs and further enhance is role as one of the most liveable capital 
cities in Europe.       

Councillor Ramesh Patel 
Cabinet Member Transport, Planning & Sustainability 
  

Page 1236



5 
 

Summary 
 
This section provides a brief summary of the Local Development Plan 
(LDP). 
 
1. Making provision for new homes and jobs 
 

• Cardiff has a significant need for new homes including family 
homes, affordable homes together with catering for the whole range 
of needs.   

• Cardiff also plays a key role as economic driver of the wider city-
region, providing much needed jobs for the whole region.   

• The Plan aims to respond to these evidenced social and economic 
needs in a balanced way - respecting environmental qualities, 
providing a framework to manage delivery and provide new 
infrastructure together with carefully managing impacts.   

• The overall level of growth is considered to represent the most 
robust, balanced and appropriate approach taking into account all 
relevant factors and the advice of independent population 
forecasting experts.   

• It sets out a Strategy to deliver 41,100 new dwellings and 40,000 
new jobs over the Plan period including ways to provide flexibility 
should build rates be higher than anticipated.   

• This level of growth is considered appropriate to deliver Wales 
Spatial Plan objectives, the Council’s overall vision and the LDP 
objectives.   

• New homes, jobs and supporting facilities will be provided from 
numerous sources including: 

o Those already built since the start of the Plan period in 2006; 
o Minor adjustments to existing housing stock- taking account 

of anticipated demolitions and changes of use based on past 
rates; 

o Commitments- Sites with the benefit of an existing planning 
consent or resolution to grant subject to the signing of a legal 
agreement; 

o Anticipated windfall provision- Those sites likely to come 
forward over the Plan period through natural change in an 
urban area the size of Cardiff; and  

o New allocations including brownfield sites, greenfield sites of 
different scales and land use combinations. 
 

Page 1237



6 
 

• Overall, for the whole Plan period, this represents approximately 
65% of all new homes being provided on brownfield sites and 35% 
provided on greenfield sites. 

• The provision of a genuine range and choice of new sites is crucial 
in effectively delivering the required level of growth, delivering LDP 
objectives, providing flexibility and the ability to meet a wide range 
of evidenced need for new homes and jobs. 

• Key strategic sites to deliver this need are proposed at: 
o Cardiff Central Enterprise Zone 
o Former Gas Works, Ferry Road 
o North West Cardiff 
o North of Junction 33 
o South of Creigiau 
o North East Cardiff (West of Pontprennau) 
o East of Pontprennau Link Road 
o South of St Mellons Business Park 

 
2. Putting in place a framework to manage future growth and 
encourage high quality, sustainable design 
 
Policies and mechanisms have been put in place to provide a framework 
to effectively manage future growth.  Areas to be kept free from 
development are made explicit avoiding the current climate of uncertainty 
created by not having an adopted Plan in place.  Protected areas include 
the designation of Green Wedge North of the M4 Motorway together with 
the tight settlement boundaries policy county-wide and protection of river 
valleys and open spaces.  Collectively, these policies protect vast tracts of 
Cardiff’s valued countryside, river valleys and open spaces.  The master 
planning approach provides an over-arching framework for the 
development of new areas setting out key requirements relating to land 
use, densities, community facilities, transportation, open spaces and 
phasing.  Further work on the detailed master planning of areas will be 
carried out within this over-arching context.  Design policies and guidance 
set out expectations encouraging more sustainable forms of development. 
 
3. Bringing forward new infrastructure 
 
New development will clearly create the need for new infrastructure. The 
Plan sets out an approach which requires the timely provision of new 
infrastructure including community facilities, transportation and other 
services. Whilst it is recognised that some significant elements of 

Page 1238



7 
 

infrastructure may take many years to complete, the Strategy seeks to 
ensure that each phase of new development is tied to the provision of 
necessary infrastructure with each stage of development being able to 
demonstrate an acceptable level of supporting facilities. The 
Infrastructure Plan sets out future requirements.  Further dialogue and 
consultation findings will help further develop a detailed list of required 
infrastructure along with funding opportunities including the roles of 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) contributions for strategic projects 
to Section 106 Agreement contributions for local priorities together with 
other potential funding streams from the public and private sectors. 
 
4. Delivering sustainable transportation solutions 
 
The overall approach seeks to minimise travel demand and provide a 
range of measures and opportunities which reduce reliance on the car. 
New development in Cardiff must be integrated with the provision of new 
transport infrastructure which can help contribute to this objective by 
putting in place sustainable transport solutions which also provide 
improved travel choices for the wider community. This approach is fully 
consistent with on-going work at a city-region scale which seeks to 
develop a more effective public transport network across the region as a 
whole, helping people travel from where they live to work and thereby 
helping to spread prosperity around the entire city-region.  
 
5. Responding to evidenced economic needs 
 
The key economic role performed by Cardiff must be maintained and 
enhanced for benefits to Cardiff, the city-region and Wales. Evidence 
demonstrates that Cardiff has consistently delivered a high proportion of 
jobs in the city-region. The Strategy responds to this by ensuring a full 
range and choice of economic opportunities across all relevant sectors. 
The Cardiff Central Enterprise Zone will be a key element of the approach 
but there is also a need to maintain the roles of the City Centre, Cardiff 
Bay, existing employment sites together with providing a range and 
choice of sites to cater for demand across sectors. 
 
6. Responding to evidenced social needs 
 
Cardiff experiences some significant social needs, with particularly high 
housing demand projected to continue over the Plan period. The Strategy 
aims to positively respond to these needs by providing a wide range and 

Page 1239



8 
 

choice of sites to respond to the full diversity of needs, including those 
from the Gypsy and Traveller community as required in national policy 
and guidance. Overall, the Plan promotes more sustainable communities 
where emphasis is placed on supporting District & Local Centres, 
encouraging the full range of accessible social, health and educational 
facilities, together with supporting regeneration initiatives and utilising 
the potential positive benefits which new developments can bring to 
adjoining areas. 
 
7. Respecting Cardiff’s environment and responding to climate 
change 
 
Cardiff possesses a unique and particularly distinctive natural and built 
heritage.  The Plan delivers sustainable development by meeting social 
and economic needs, but in a managed way which retains, manages and 
enhances important features of the natural and built heritage.  Central to 
this approach is the designation of a Green Wedge to the North of the M4 
Motorway, a strict settlement boundary policy together with protection of 
the river valleys and open spaces.  In this way, Cardiff’s distinctive 
environmental qualities can be successfully maintained with further 
opportunities to enhance their management and increase public 
enjoyment.  Detailed policies provide clear guidance relating to important 
elements of Cardiff’s biodiversity, landscape and built heritage. 
  

Page 1240



9 
 

Introduction  
 
The purpose of and status of the adopted Local Development Plan 
(LDP) 
 
1.1. Cities change. Cardiff is no exception and has grown year on year 
for generations. This has seen Cardiff become the Capital City of Wales 
and centre of a wider city-region providing an important source of jobs 
and services for the whole of South East Wales. 

 
1.2. New homes, jobs, supporting transportation and other facilities are 
required to meet the needs of future generations. These needs must be 
carefully balanced against environmental and quality of life factors. 
 
1.3. The adopted Cardiff Local Development Plan (LDP) is the tool to 
address these issues. It represents a ‘plan-led’ approach to meeting 
future needs. 
 
1.4. The adopted LDP provides the statutory framework for the 
development and use of land within Cardiff over the Plan period (2006-
2026). This fulfils the requirements of The Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 which requires the Council to prepare a LDP.  It 
replaces existing Structure Plans and Local Plans relating to Cardiff and 
will be used by the Council to guide and control development and provide 
the statutory local policy context for determining planning applications. 
 
1.5. The Plan has been prepared in accordance with formal regulations 
and the ‘LDP Delivery Agreement’ which sets out a timetable for its 
preparation along with details of consultation as the Plan progressed. This 
was agreed with the Welsh Government on 5th December, 2011.  
 
1.6 The Plan contains the following sections: 

Foreword; 
Summary; 
Introduction; 
LDP Vision & Objectives; 
Strategy, Key Policies and Key Diagram; 
Detailed Policies; 
Monitoring and Implementation; 
Proposals Map and Constraints Map; 
Appendices. 

Page 1241



10 
 

Monitoring and Review 

1.7. The Council will work with others to implement the Plan and take 
decisions within the new adopted policy framework. 

1.8. In order to assess how effectively the Plan is being implemented, 
the Council must prepare an Annual Monitoring Report (AMR). The report 
will be based on the Monitoring Framework as set out in Appendix 9 to 
this document. This is an important aspect of the LDP process since 
evidence collected through annual monitoring can be used to inform LDP 
review which takes place every 4 years. 

Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) 

1.9. These are non-statutory documents intended to provide useful 
advice and guidance which expand on policies set out in the adopted LDP. 
They must be subject to public consultation.  Appendix 4 of this document 
lists all proposed new and/or updated SPG which are intended to be 
prepared together with timescales. 

Assessment processes that have informed the Plan  

1.10  In addition to the overall independent examination of the LDP, the 
Plan has also been subject to two further formal assessment processes.  
The Sustainability Appraisal (SA) and Strategic Environmental Assessment 
(SEA) processes - these are required by the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 and the SEA Regulations to ensure that the LDP 
policies reflect sustainability principles and take into account impacts 
upon the environment and The Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA) - 
this process is required to determine the likely significant effects of the 
Plan on European Sites of nature conservation importance. 

1.11. Furthermore, the adopted LDP has been subject to the following 
additional assessments designed to further scrutinise the Plan contents: 
Health Impact Assessment - a process involving relevant stakeholders in 
assessing the health implications of the Plan; and Equality Impact 
Assessment - a process involving relevant stakeholders in assessing the 
equality implications of the Plan. 

1.12. The importance of Welsh culture and heritage is recognised in the 
Plan however having assessed the densities of Welsh language use across 
the City it is not considered to be an issue which requires addressing in 
the Plan.  As a result the proposals contained in the LDP are not 
considered to have a detrimental impact on the Welsh language and 

Page 1242



11 
 

culture or materially affect the linguistic balance of Cardiff or communities 
within Cardiff. 

 
  

Page 1243



12 
 

The Cardiff Context and Key Issues the Plan must address 
 
2.1. This section provides a summary of the Cardiff context and some of 
the key issues which have informed the Plan. A fuller version is contained 
in Appendix 3 of this document along with a summary of the national and 
regional policy framework. 
 
The Cardiff Context 
 

• Largest urban area in Wales with a population of 345,400. 
• Key driver of city-region economy in South East Wales. 
• 1.4 million live within a 45 minute drive time of the city. 
• Capital city of Wales, seat of Welsh Government. 

 
Key social trends and issues 
 

• Cardiff’s population has risen steadily over past 20 years - over 
3,500 each year since 2001. 

• Official projections indicate continued population growth over the 
Plan period. 

• Significant need for affordable housing- 9,710 people currently on 
combined housing waiting list. 

• Local Housing Market Assessment (2013) indicates a need for over 
3,989 affordable dwellings for each of the next 5 years to address 
need. In addressing this need the Council will need to have regard 
to the latest welfare reforms and the need to provide smaller 
dwellings. 

• Family housing is a key need. 
• A need for 108 permanent Gypsy and Traveller pitches and a 

regional need for a 10 pitch transit site have been identified over 
the Plan period to 2026. 

• Students comprise approximately 10.8% of Cardiff’s population. 
• Ethnic minorities comprise 15.5% of Cardiff’s population, higher 

than the Wales average but similar to the England/Wales average. 
• Welsh speakers are less than the Wales average but there are 

considerable variations within communities. 
• The city experiences substantial health inequalities. 
• Whilst Cardiff possesses a generally high quality of life, there are 

areas of deprivation geographically mostly concentrated in, ‘the 
southern arc’. 

• Community safety is a key issue emerging from residents’ surveys. 

Page 1244



13 
 

• Cardiff performs well compared to Wales and the UK average in 
attaining high-level skills and 39% of its workforce educated to 
degree level or above. 
 

Key economic trends and issues 
 

• Cardiff accounts for 32% of total employment in South East Wales 
and its economy is generally strong and buoyant. 

• Cardiff’s employment workforce totals nearly 189,000 with 88% of 
jobs being in the service sector. 

• Cardiff & the Vale of Glamorgan generate 22% of the Welsh GVA 
(Gross Value Added). 

• Unemployment in Cardiff was 4.5% in March 2013. 
• The recession has caused the loss of approximately 4,700 jobs 

between 2008-2010. 
• Cardiff has one of the highest percentages of high growth firms in 

the UK between 2002-2010. 
• Inward investment trends are improving but continue to trail other 

leading core cities. 
• The City Centre and Cardiff Bay remain the principal office locations 

complemented by out of centre sites but Cardiff lacks a large supply 
of Grade A office space and the Plan supports the on-going 
regeneration of the Bay Business Area, including Mount Stuart 
Square. 

• The total industrial stock in Cardiff is approximately 19.2 million 
square feet and mainly concentrated in the south/eastern area of 
the city but only 6.1% of the stock is less than 5 years old. 

• Cardiff City Centre is the main shopping centre for South East Wales 
and is ranked the 6th top retail centre in the UK. 

• The leisure and tourism sector generates significant economic and 
cultural benefits for the city. 

 
Key transportation trends and issues 
 

• Traffic on Cardiff’s roads grew by 9% between 2002-2012. 
• 56% of Cardiff’s residents travel to work by car. 
• Nearly 77,900 people commute into Cardiff each day by all modes 

(37% of Cardiff’s workforce). The 2001 Census indicates that 
approximately 80% of commuters travel to Cardiff by car. 

Page 1245



14 
 

• Travel on rail services has increased considerably - the use of 
Cardiff Central and Queen Street Stations has risen by 82% 
between 2001-2011. 

• Cycle use has increased 10% between 2001-2011 but bus use has 
fallen slightly over the same period. 

• Cardiff International Airport is located within the Vale of Glamorgan 
providing the closest international links to Cardiff. 

• The operational port in Cardiff performs an important role in terms 
of freight movement. 

 
Key environmental trends and issues 
 

• Cardiff is located within a well-defined landscape setting with 
prominent ridges to the west and north and Severn Estuary to the 
south. 

• The countryside and urban area contains a wealth of natural and 
historic interests.  For example, there are almost 1,000 Listed 
Buildings, 27 Conservation Areas, 2 sites noted for their 
international biodiversity (Cardiff Beechwoods SAC and Severn 
Estuary SAC/SPA/RAMSAR) 

• The city has a particularly rich Victorian and Edwardian legacy. 
• Cardiff has over 400 hectares of recreational open space and 2000 

hectares of amenity space. The four river valleys of the Ely, Taff, 
Rhymney and Nant Fawr provide extensive and continuous corridors 
running from the countryside and through the urban area. 

• Good quality agricultural land is known to exist in some areas. 
• Flooding is known to pose a risk in relation to fluvial, tidal and 

surface water. 
• Detailed studies have been undertaken to assess the extent of this 

risk and inform the Plan. 
• The main source of CO2 emissions in Cardiff are from industry 

(45%) with domestic sources contributing 30%. 
• The main source of emissions affecting air quality is road traffic 

(nitrogen oxide the main pollutant). 
• Current production of renewable energy in Cardiff is low. 
• Over the past 10 years, recycling rates in Cardiff have risen from 

4% to 55%. 
• Cardiff possesses a significant and good quality of mineral reserves. 
• Water quality in the main rivers is improving but still falls below the 

requirements of the Water Framework Directive. 
 

Page 1246



15 
 

  

Page 1247



16 
 

LDP Vision and Objectives 
 
Background 
 
3.1. The vision and objectives provide an over-arching context for the 
Plan that shows how economic, social and environmental considerations 
can be balanced to deliver the sustainable development of Cardiff up to 
2026. They take full account of the strategic issues relevant to Cardiff and 
the policy context provided by the Council’s ‘What Matters’ Strategy 
(2010-2020) which brings together the Community Strategy; Children & 
Young People’s Plan; Health, Social Care & Wellbeing Strategy and the 
Community Safety Strategic Assessment into one document. The Council 
has worked with partners from the public, private and voluntary sectors in 
Cardiff to set out the collective vision for the city contained in this 
document. Furthermore, the vision and objectives also take account of 
the Council’s Strategic Equality Plan which sets out the Council’s strategic 
equality objectives and the Wales Spatial Plan (WSP) that recognises the 
role played by Cardiff in helping to spread prosperity in the area and 
delivering a high quality of life. 
 
Vision 
 
3.2 The LDP vision is as set out in the 10 year, ‘What Matters’ Strategy 
(2010-2020) which is that: 
 
“By 2020...Cardiff will be a world class European capital city with 
an exceptional quality of life and at the heart of a thriving city-
region”. 

 
3.3 Partners have agreed seven strategic outcomes that, if achieved 
would represent ultimate success and the realisation of the vision. The 
outcomes are that: 
 
• People in Cardiff are healthy; 
• People in Cardiff have a clean, attractive and sustainable 

environment; 
• People in Cardiff are safe and feel safe; 
• Cardiff has a thriving and prosperous economy; 
• People in Cardiff achieve their full potential; 
• Cardiff is a great place to live work and play; and 
• Cardiff is a fair, just and inclusive society. 

Page 1248



17 
 

 
3.4. It is important to recognise that the LDP cannot deliver all of these 
outcomes alone as many issues extend beyond land use planning matters 
and the remit of the document. However, the LDP is a crucial strategic 
document that must create the right conditions which both directly and 
indirectly assist and support the delivery of these outcomes. 
 
3.5 Key priorities have been identified for each of the outcomes. These 
are: 
 
People in Cardiff are healthy 

 
o Reduce inequalities in health and address the differentials in 

life expectancy across the city; 
o Promote healthy lifestyles and prevent ill health; and 
o Improve effectiveness of our service delivery to vulnerable 

adults and children and young people. 
 

People in Cardiff have a clean, attractive and sustainable 
environment 

 
o Establish Cardiff as a sustainable ‘Carbon Lite’ city; 
o Improve the quality of Cardiff’s environment; and 
o Establish Cardiff as a sustainable travel city. 
 

People in Cardiff are safe and feel safe 
 
o Ensure people are safe from harm, abuse and exploitation; 
o Develop communities and neighbourhoods in Cardiff which are 

cohesive; 
o Ensure people are free from crime and the effects of crime; 

and 
o Ensure people are safe in their environment. 

 
Cardiff has a thriving and prosperous economy 
 

o Build strong futures for children and young people by focusing 
on education, training and employment opportunities; 

o Improve opportunities for the creation of quality and 
sustainable employment; and 

Page 1249



18 
 

o Create an environment that develops, attracts and retains 
skilled workers, businesses and entrepreneurs to Cardiff. 

 
People in Cardiff achieve their full potential 

 
o Encourage active citizenship and participation in all aspects of 

life; 
o Support vulnerable families and individuals to achieve and 

maintain their independence and ambition; and 
o Support and provide access to appropriate learning and 

training provision for all. 
 
Cardiff is a great place to live, work and play 

 
o Provide the level of urban design infrastructure and 

connectivity required to make Cardiff a great place to work 
and do business; 

o Support and maintain strong safe and sustainable 
neighbourhoods; 

o Ensure the provision of high quality sustainable and affordable 
housing; and 

o Develop world-class leisure, cultural and sporting facilities – 
that reflect the wants of citizens and visitors. 

o Cardiff is a fair, just and inclusive society 
o Enable all people in Cardiff to meaningfully engage and 

participate in decision making processes; 
o Mainstream equality issues at strategic and operational levels; 

and 
o Reduce inequalities through a joined-up, targeted approach. 

 
Objectives 
 
3.6. The LDP objectives set out in more detail how the LDP vision can be 
addressed through the planning system. They respond to spatial elements 
contained in the vision together with the economic, social and 
environmental strands set out in the strategic outcomes. 
 
3.7. In spatial terms, the vision recognises the key role that Cardiff plays 
as being the heart of a thriving city-region. Nearly 77,900 people 
commute into the city each day which demonstrates the important 
economic and social role Cardiff plays in relation to the wider region. 

Page 1250



19 
 

 
3.8. The vision fully recognises economic, social, environmental, as well 
as sustainability issues. It is the aim of the LDP objectives to respond to 
the evidenced economic and social needs but in a way that is co-
ordinated, respects and enhances Cardiff’s environment and sets out a 
framework for delivering the sustainable neighbourhoods of the future. 
This is delivering sustainable development locally and improving the long 
term economic, social and environmental wellbeing of people and 
communities in Cardiff. In this way, the LDP can help create sustainable 
neighbourhoods that form part of a sustainable city that lies at the heart 
of a sustainable city-region. 
 
3.9. The objectives are set out under 4 main headings: 
 
1. To respond to evidenced economic needs and provide the 

necessary infrastructure to deliver development; 
2. To respond to evidenced social needs; 
3. To deliver economic and social needs in a co-ordinated way 

that respects and enhances Cardiff’s environment; and 
4. To create sustainable neighbourhoods that form part of a 

sustainable city. 
 
1. To respond to evidenced economic needs and provide the 
necessary infrastructure to deliver development. 
 

a. To effectively respond to Cardiff’s role as capital city for Wales, seat 
of the National Government and centre of the city-region in terms of 
providing a range and choice of economic opportunities that will drive 
the prosperity of the region. 

 
b. To maximise the economic potential of the city centre of Cardiff as a 

major financial and service sector opportunity that builds upon its 
position next to a transport hub of national and regional significance 
and is readily accessible from all areas within the city and well 
connected to other UK cities. 

 
c. To maintain and enhance the vitality, attractiveness and viability of 

the city centre as a major retail and cultural destination and as a 
place to work, visit and live. 

 

Page 1251



20 
 

d. To continue the successful regeneration of the Cardiff Bay area, 
maximising opportunities for quality commercial buildings and further 
development, particularly water and river frontage developments that 
can provide attractive and distinctive environments. 

e. To promote clusters of specialist sectors and research & development 
expertise including the following key sectors: 
o ICT; 
o Energy and environment; 
o Advanced materials and manufacturing; 
o Creative industries; 
o Life sciences; and 
o Financial and professional services. 

 
f. To ensure a range and choice of employment land and business 

premises at sustainable locations across the city is provided to assist 
economic competiveness, encourage entrepreneurship, promote the 
growth of indigenous businesses of all types and size and attract 
inward investment. 

 
g. To assist the promotion of Cardiff as a major tourist destination 

including the provision of the development of a variety of high quality 
tourist facilities and visitor accommodation. 
 

h. To create a physical and economic environment that develops, 
attracts and retains skilled workers, businesses and entrepreneurs to 
Cardiff together with maximising links with Universities and 
supporting indigenous skills and enterprises. 

i To quantify critical strategic infrastructure required to realise 
development aspirations and set out clear mechanisms for delivery 
including sustainable transport solutions for strategic sites. 

 
j. To establish Cardiff as a sustainable travel city by reducing the need 

to travel, increasing the use of sustainable travel modes and 
networks (particularly walking and cycling), decreasing private car 
use and improving the city’s key transport hub based at the adjacent 
central bus and train stations. 

 
k. To protect existing mineral resources and ensure an adequate supply 

of limestone aggregates in the north west of the city for the 
construction industry and to promote their efficient and appropriate 
usage, including the use of recycled aggregates where possible. 

Page 1252



21 
 

 
l. To support sustainable collection and recycling methods for Municipal 

Waste by maintaining and improving an integrated network of 
facilities in Cardiff. 

 
m. To lead and participate in securing regional facilities for the 

sustainable treatment and disposal of Municipal Waste in accordance 
with the Regional Waste Plan and in a manner that follows the waste 
hierarchy which seeks to maximise the reduction of waste in the first 
place and thereafter reusing, recovering and recycling options before 
the disposal of waste material is considered. 

 
n. To facilitate an integrated network of commercial and industrial 

sustainable waste management facilities consistent with the needs of 
the South East Wales area and in a manner that follows the waste 
hierarchy which seeks to maximise the reduction of waste in the first 
place and thereafter reusing, recovering and recycling options before 
the disposal of waste material is considered. 

 
2. To respond to evidenced social needs. 
 
a. To provide new homes required to support the economic progression 

of the city and to respond to population change, continued in-
migration and evidenced demand for affordable and family housing 
so that social needs can be addressed.  

 
b. To provide a range and choice of new homes of different tenure, type 

and location that meets specific needs such as the provision of 
affordable housing, family accommodation, housing for the elderly, 
the disabled and students and pitches for the gypsy and traveller 
community. 

 
c. To maximise the use of the existing building stock through 

refurbishment, retro-fitting and empty homes initiatives. 
 
d. To bring about changes to Cardiff’s environment and neighbourhoods 

that help to tackle health inequalities, promote good health and 
enable healthier lifestyles to be led by the city’s population in line 
with Cardiff’s status as a World Health Organisation, 'Healthy City’. 

 

Page 1253



22 
 

e. To bring about changes to Cardiff’s environment that create a safer 
city and reduce the likelihood, fear and consequences of crime. 

 
f. To create an environment that is made more accessible to all groups 

in society so that the employment opportunities, facilities and 
services of the city can be more readily used and enjoyed by all. 

 
g. To maximise the multi-functional role played by Cardiff’s parks, open 

spaces and allotments together with improving their accessibility for 
the whole community. 

 
h. To recognise, support and enhance the key role played by existing 

District, Local and Neighbourhood Centres as accessible local hubs 
providing community services, local shops, healthy food choices, 
businesses, employment and access to public transport. 

 
i. To support the regeneration of local neighbourhoods including 

reducing inequalities, particularly areas experiencing high levels of 
deprivation, areas vulnerable to decline and areas with opportunities 
for change. 

 
j. To ensure that the necessary education and training facilities are 

provided and are accessible to all: to build strong futures for 
children, provide a diverse range of learning opportunities for all and 
assist economic progress through the development of required skills. 

 
k. To develop new cultural, leisure and sporting facilities to meet needs 

and enhance Cardiff’s role as a premier cultural and sporting 
destination. 

 
l. To ensure that the necessary community and cultural facilities 

(community centres, shops with healthy food choices, youth facilities, 
child care, faith buildings, health centres, etc.) are provided that are 
accessible to all, especially in areas that are deprived. 

 
m. To address rising unemployment and provide accessible local job 

opportunities, particularly in areas of greatest need. 
 
n. To promote social inclusion, equality of opportunity and access for 

all. 
 

Page 1254



23 
 

3. To deliver economic and social needs in a co-ordinated way 
that respects Cardiff’s environment and responds to the 
challenges of climate change. 
 
a. To mitigate the effects of climate change through reducing energy 

demand and increasing the supply of renewable energy.  
 
b. To ensure that Cardiff adapts to the full anticipated impacts of 

climate change and that new development and infrastructure is 
designed to be resilient to possible consequences. 

 
c. To protect, manage and enhance Cardiff’s natural environmental 

assets, including: 
o The parks, open spaces and allotments in the city that are highly 

valued by local communities and an important component of 
Cardiff’s quality of life; 

o The strategically important river valleys of the Ely, Taff, Nant 
Fawr and Rhymney that link the city to the countryside and 
provide a valuable recreational, biodiversity and amenity 
resource; 

o Cardiff’s countryside, particularly its areas of high landscape 
value and the coast that provide an important setting to the 
urban area, provide an agricultural resource and opportunity for 
recreation; 

o The city’s biodiversity, its internationally, nationally and locally 
designated sites, wildlife habitats and features that contain 
important species and networks that link together areas of 
value; 

o Natural resources including geodiversity, the best soils, water 
and air quality including, the reduction of pollution; and 

o The role that vegetation plays in combating climate change by 
providing shading, cooling and carbon sinks. 

 
d. To conserve and enhance Cardiff’s built and historic assets that 

define distinctive character and reflect its past development 
including: 
o The city’s 27 Conservation Areas; 
o Its Listed Buildings and Ancient Monuments; 
o Registered Historic Landscapes and areas of archaeological 

importance; and 

Page 1255



24 
 

o Other valued public places and spaces, including parks and 
amenity spaces, that provide local distinctiveness. 

 
e. In identifying new sites to meet economic/social needs, to follow a 

sequence of firstly maximising the contribution of brownfield sites, 
then identifying greenfield sites that are considered to represent the 
most appropriate and sustainable locations to accommodate new 
development. 
 

f. To have full regard to flood risk when considering the acceptability of 
development proposals and considering mitigation and adaptation 
measures. 

 
g. To maximise opportunities to create a cleaner and more attractive 

environment that enhances the quality of life and helps Cardiff to 
become a world-class European capital city. 

 
4. To create sustainable neighbourhoods that form part of a 
sustainable city. 
 
a. To ensure that all new development areas (whether greenfield or 

brownfield) create sustainable neighbourhoods that follow the 
following principles: 
o Minimise energy demand and maximise renewable solutions - to 

deliver more energy-efficient neighbourhoods that utilise 
existing best practice and embrace new renewable technologies 
and concepts; 

o Minimise car travel, maximise sustainable transport use and 
decrease air pollution by creating accessible, permeable and 
legible places, preventing predominantly car-based 
developments and focusing new development in accessible 
locations which are linked to the strategic cycle network and can 
be served mainly by effective networks of sustainable transport - 
walking and cycling and fast and frequent public transport 
around and beyond the city; 

o Maximise recycling - to optimise the overall value of waste as a 
resource, to effectively plan for how new developments can sort 
and store waste for collection for onward productive use and 
minimise material needing treatment and final landfill; 

o Minimise water usage and maximise sustainable drainage - to 
carefully manage the consumption and drainage of water to 

Page 1256



25 
 

avoid unnecessary wastage and minimise rapid run-off. To seek 
opportunities to maximise the positive amenity and biodiversity 
benefits that sustainable drainage solutions can offer; 

o Maximise the early provision of a full range of social facilities and 
community infrastructure - to provide the full range of necessary 
facilities that are accessible to all members of society and can be 
reached within a 15 minute walk. To include the range of social, 
health, leisure, education necessary for the scale of development 
proposed and also taking into account other needs within the 
wider locality;  

o Maximise the additional benefits that new communities can bring 
to adjoining or surrounding existing communities and minimise 
any potential negative impacts - to carefully identify positive 
contributions that can be made and involve local communities in 
this process; 

o Maximise the diversity of land uses within new development 
areas – to create more balanced communities offering non-car 
based options to fully participate in community life. To ensure a 
range and choice of housing tenures together with local 
employment opportunities and the full range of community 
infrastructure; 

o Maximise the contribution of networks of multi-functional and 
connected open spaces to strategically design networks of open 
space that are rich in biodiversity and provide safe routes 
between key locations to encourage healthier lifestyles through 
promoting walking and cycling. To further encourage healthy 
lifestyles by providing allotments together with the wider 
promotion of healthy eating; 

o Maximise the principles of good design - to create places that 
look good, are of an appropriate and efficient density, fully 
respect their local context and are successfully integrated with 
adjoining areas. To design buildings that are resilient and can 
easily adapt to changing future needs. To design clean and 
attractive areas where people feel safe and have a sense of 
ownership; and 

o Maximise community involvement in the planning, design and 
future management/maintenance of new neighbourhoods. To 
use the master planning process to establish robust design 
principles but to also recognise the need to allow some flexibility 
and managed capacity for change, particularly in larger 
development areas. 

Page 1257



26 
 

 
b. To take opportunities to apply the above principles to existing 

neighbourhoods in order to create a more sustainable city.  
  

Page 1258



27 
 

Strategy, Key Policies and Key Diagram 

Overview 
 
4.1. This section sets out the overall LDP Strategy to deliver the Plan's 
vision and objectives. The Strategy contains the 7 elements described 
below together with a Key Diagram summarising the main spatial 
components of the Strategy. Collectively, these elements deliver the over-
arching Plan vision and objectives set out in the previous section. They 
provide a coherent and evidence-based approach to meeting economic 
and social needs in a manner which respects Cardiff’s environmental 
qualities and encourages the development of sustainable neighbourhoods 
as part of a sustainable city. 
 
4.2. Main elements of Strategy: 
 

1. Making provision for new homes and jobs. 
2. Putting in place a framework to manage future growth and 

encourage high quality, sustainable design. 
3. Bringing forward new infrastructure. 
4. Delivering sustainable transportation solutions. 
5. Responding to evidenced economic needs. 
6. Responding to evidenced social needs. 
7. Respecting Cardiff’s environment and responding to climate 

change. 
 
4.3. Overall, the LDP Strategy responds to the clear evidenced need to 
make provision for new homes and jobs. It sets a level of growth 
considered to represent the most robust, balanced and appropriate 
approach taking into account all relevant factors including the 
recommendations made by independent population forecasting experts. 
This approach directly responds to needs from within Cardiff but the 
delivery of new jobs also helps spread prosperity beyond administrative 
boundaries. In this respect, the Strategy aims to build upon Cardiff’s key 
role as centre of the city-region which evidence shows is of critical 
importance to the wider well-being of South East Wales. 
 
4.4. However, the Strategy sets out clear policies and mechanisms which 
provide a framework designed to effectively manage future growth and 
encourage high quality and sustainable design.  This includes adopting a 
masterplanning approach based on the sustainable neighbourhood 
objectives to the development of new sites supported by more detailed 
design guidance. Additionally, the approach strategically manages growth 
by designating a Green Wedge and tight settlement boundaries policy to 
protect large areas of countryside.  In this way, new development can be 

Page 1259



28 
 

planned for in a phased manner and designed in a more sustainable way 
to minimise negative impacts. 
 
4.5. The provision of new infrastructure is an important element of the 
Strategy as it is recognised that new development must bring with it the 
timely provision of new supporting community facilities and necessary 
services. Whilst it is recognised that some significant elements of 
infrastructure may take many years to complete, the Strategy seeks to 
ensure that each phase of new development is tied to the provision of 
necessary infrastructure with each stage of development being able to 
demonstrate an acceptable level of supporting facilities. This may include 
the early provision of new facilities along with maximising the potential 
contribution of existing nearby facilities providing there is capacity and 
acceptable accessibility. 
 
4.6. The Infrastructure Plan sets out future requirements. Further 
dialogue and consultation findings will help further develop a detailed list 
of required infrastructure along with funding opportunities including the 
roles of Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) contributions for strategic 
projects, Section 106 Agreement contributions for local priorities together 
with identifying other potential funding streams from the public and 
private sectors. 
 
4.7. Putting in place a Strategy to enable the delivery of more sustainable 
transportation solutions is also integral to the overall approach. This 
recognises that development in Cardiff must be integrated with transport 
infrastructure, that travel demand must be minimised along with 
providing a range of measures and opportunities which reduce reliance on 
the car. This approach is fully consistent with on-going work at a city-
region scale which seeks to develop a more effective public transport 
network across the region as a whole. This approach will bring with it 
significant social benefits by reducing current barriers between homes, 
jobs and other trips and help spread prosperity around the entire city-
region. 
 
4.8. The key economic role performed by Cardiff must be maintained and 
enhanced for benefits to Cardiff, the city-region and Wales. Evidence 
demonstrates that Cardiff has consistently delivered a high proportion of 
jobs in the city-region. The Strategy responds to this by ensuring a full 
range and choice of economic opportunities across all relevant sectors. 
The Cardiff Central Enterprise Zone will be a key element of the approach 
but there is also a need to maintain the roles of the City Centre, Cardiff 
Bay, existing employment sites together with providing a range and 
choice of sites to cater for demand across sectors. 
 
4.9. Cardiff experiences some significant social needs, with high housing 
demand projected to continue over the Plan period. The Strategy aims to 

Page 1260



29 
 

positively respond to these needs by providing a wide range and choice of 
sites. Importantly, the approach looks to cater for specific needs so 
targets have been set for the provision of affordable housing, different 
locations help provide diversity of offer and the needs of the Gypsy and 
Traveller community are also directly addressed in accordance with 
national policy and guidance. 
 
4.10. The Strategy also addresses wider social issues and has benefited 
from the Health and Equality Impact Assessments into the Plan. The 
approach is very much about promoting more sustainable communities 
where emphasis is placed on supporting District & Local Centres, 
encouraging the full range of accessible social, health and educational 
facilities, together with supporting regeneration initiatives, utilising the 
potential positive benefits which new developments can bring to adjoining 
areas. 
 
4.11. Cardiff possesses a unique and particularly distinctive natural and 
built heritage.  The Strategy delivers sustainable development by meeting 
social and economic needs, but in a managed way which retains, 
manages and enhances important features of natural and built heritage.  
Central to this approach is the designation of a Green Wedge to the North 
of the M4 Motorway, a strict settlement boundary policy together with 
protection to the river valleys and open spaces. In this way, Cardiff’s 
distinctive environmental qualities can be successfully maintained with 
further opportunities to enhance their management and increase public 
enjoyment. 

Page 1261



30 
 

CARDIFF LDP KEY DIAGRAM 

 

P
age 1262



31 
 

 

Key Policies 
 

1. Making provision for new homes and jobs 
 
KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH 
 
The Plan makes provision for 45,415 new dwellings (including a 
4,000 dwelling flexibility allowance) to deliver a housing 
requirement of 41,415 new dwellings and 40,000 new jobs in 
Cardiff between 2006-2026.  
 
4.12. As the LDP has progressed through its numerous stages of 
preparation, various level of growth options have been considered, 
consultations have been carried out and expert advice has been sought. 
The level of growth set out within this Key Policy is considered to best 
reflect an analysis of all relevant factors. Importantly, it is based on the 
most up-to-date information reflecting matters raised during the 
examination process and makes provision (including the flexibility 
allowance) to deliver the level originally set out in the Preferred Strategy.    
 
4.13. All relevant factors, as set out in Planning Policy Wales and 
summarised below, have also been carefully considered. In this respect, it 
should be noted that national guidance states that the official projections 
should form the starting point for setting levels of growth in LDPs and 
makes it clear that any departure from these figures should be fully 
justified by demonstrable evidence. These official figures show a 42% rise 
in Cardiff’s population for the period 2008-2033 and a 33% rise for the 
Plan period 2006-26 for which the Plan makes provision. 
 
4.14. No other material factors are considered to possess sufficient weight 
to warrant departure from this level of growth which is considered to: 
 
• Accord with the Wales Spatial Plan aims by supporting Cardiff’s role 

as centre of a networked city-region but not to excessive levels 
which could prejudice regeneration objectives elsewhere; 

 
• Accord with the Council’s vision and LDP objectives;  
 
• Effectively respond to the regional collaborative dialogue which 

recognised the dangers of artificially restricting growth in Cardiff - 
there was a clear recognition of the positive ‘ripple effects’ of 
providing jobs and homes in Cardiff which improved prosperity in 
the wider city-region;  

 

Page 1263



32 
 

• Effectively respond to the clear evidenced need to provide for a 
significant number of new homes and jobs. The Plan makes 
provision to deliver the official projections and is considered to 
strike the right balance having regard to the full range of factors;  

 
• Deliver necessary homes and jobs, but in a managed and controlled 

manner protecting key elements of Cardiff’s environment; 
 
• Meet deliverability and capacity factors - The LDP contains proposals 

and mechanisms which justify how deliverability and capacity 
matters can be adequately addressed. The wide range and choice of 
sites contributing to the provision together with the masterplanning 
approach which includes addressing the deliverability of supporting 
infrastructure demonstrates how development can be successfully 
brought forward in a managed way. (A higher level of growth would 
be considered difficult to justify in terms of deliverability factors and 
set an artificially high target for the 5 year supply requirements set 
out in TAN 1; and 

 
• Respond in an evidence-based manner to the divergence of views 

expressed in consultation processes. 
 
4.15. The detailed breakdown of how it is intended to provide for the 
41,415 new homes over the Plan period is shown in Table 1. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1264



33 
 

Table 1: Housing Provision over the Plan Period  
Row Topic/Factor Note/Source Dwellings 

NEW DWELLING REQUIREMENT 2006 – 2026 
1 2006-2026 Dwelling Requirement  As referenced in Policy KP1 41,415 

2 2006-2026 Dwelling Requirement per 
year (20 years) Row 1 divided by 20 years 2,071 

CHANGE IN DWELLINGS 2006 to 2014 AND RESIDENTIAL LANDBANK AT 1st APRIL 
2014 

3 
Change in Council Tax Dwellings 31 
March 2006 to 31 March 2014 (8 
years) (138,735 to 150,990) 

Official data from ONS/ 
Valuation Agency               
http://www.voa.gov.uk/corpora
te/Publications/statisticsCouncil
Tax.html 

12,255 

4 
Current Landbank (Under 
Construction, Not Started and Sites 
subject to Legal Agreement). 

  10,885 

ADJUSTMENTS FOR CHANGE IN CURRENT DWELLING STOCK 

5 
Adjustments (Demolitions, Change of 
Use from Residential to Other Uses 
and Residential Conversions) 

  242 

ALLOWANCES 

6 Windfalls (including Change of Use 
Gains)   5,850 

7 

15% Flexibility Allowance for possible 
reduced dwelling yield on Brownfield 
sites in landbank and some S106 sites 
not coming forward 

 -1,043 

LDP STRATEGIC SITES* 

8 Units on LDP Strategic Sites 
Excludes Strategic Site A - 
existing commitment in the 
landbank 

13,950 

LDP NON-STRATEGIC SITES* 
9 Units on LDP Non-Strategic Sites   572 

  *Allowance to avoid double counting on Strategic and Non-Strategic 
sites in the landbank at 31st March 2014: -1,256 

10 Total Supply   41,456 
    

11 Additional 10% flexibility 
allowance, as referenced in KP1.  4,000 

 
4.16. The Plan provides an extensive range and choice of opportunities for 
the creation of new homes and jobs. This is crucial to the overall delivery 
of homes and jobs by enabling different sites in different locations to be 
progressed concurrently. It also ensures flexibility as a limited number of 
sites would carry delivery risks should implementation problems be 
encountered on specific sites. The masterplanning approach, which also 
addresses the provision of infrastructure and phasing, puts in place a 

Page 1265



34 
 

framework to ensure the orderly development of sites. Key Policies on 
masterplanning, design and infrastructure, together with supporting 
documentation, explain this approach in more detail. 
 
4.17. In terms of the provision of new homes, brownfield sites still 
contribute over half of the provision, but this is supplemented by new 
greenfield opportunities offering a fuller range and choice. This provides a 
much needed catalyst to the local housing market which has seen a 
recent shortage of greenfield sites and can help meet a growing latent 
demand. Furthermore, greenfield sites can play a key role in bringing 
forward high levels of affordable and family housing. Evidence has shown 
that site viability factors make it difficult for brownfield sites to 
consistently provide high levels of affordable housing.  
 
4.18. It should also be noted that Cardiff has a finite supply of brownfield 
sites and that the previous LDP was withdrawn due to the Inspector’s 
concerns that it was a ‘brownfield only’ Strategy. 
 
4.19. The Plan recognises that there is a limited supply of acceptable 
brownfield land. It also recognises that not all existing brownfield sites 
with planning permission will be developed due to changed 
economic/market conditions.  
 
4.20. However, brownfield sites will continue to play an important role 
and windfall provisions will form part of the provision for new homes as 
land uses within the city continue to evolve. For example, the Council is 
currently strategically assessing its land holdings which, over the Plan 
period, is likely to generate a wide range and choice of brownfield housing 
opportunities across the city. 
 
4.21. The provision of a full range and choice of housing options also fully 
supports the delivery of the Economic Strategy - new homes and 
supporting community facilities can help attract new investment to the 
city and stimulate more movement in the housing market. Associated 
construction jobs would provide an additional benefit to the local 
economy.  
 
4.22. New greenfield releases also bring with them the ability to 
contribute towards the wider provision of strategic infrastructure to the 
benefit of the city and wider city-region as a whole. For example, the 
delivery of sustainable transportation solutions will have positive 

Page 1266



35 
 

implications for the wider community. In this respect, there are clear 
benefits of the locations of the strategic sites which offer the opportunity 
of a joined-up approach to deliver strategically important infrastructure in 
the North West and East/North East corridors. This assists in prioritising 
infrastructure provision in a planned and focussed manner. 
 
4.23. In order to deliver the required level of growth over the Plan period, 
there will be a need for a range and choice of sites to be on stream over 
the remainder of the Plan period. The masterplanning approach has been 
adopted to carefully manage this process with Key Policies KP2 (A) to KP2 
(H) providing a framework for the delivery of each Strategic Site in this 
respect. In this way, each site and each phase of development can bring 
with it the necessary range of supporting infrastructure. It should be 
noted that the scale of strategic sites open up the opportunity for 
delivering significant infrastructure benefits. However, some major 
elements may take a long period to deliver. Therefore, early phases will 
need to both deliver the infrastructure which is required for that particular 
phase along with contributing to the provision of wider strategic 
infrastructure which may be physically provided at a slightly later date. 
Detailed provisions will be put in place to secure delivery in such 
instances. 
 
4.24. The Plan is considered sufficiently flexible to respond to changing 
conditions. This will be kept under review in the Annual Monitoring 
Reporting process allowing future reviews to address the need for change. 
Should demand be lower than anticipated, the sequence of provision will 
remain in place, thereby controlling development in an orderly manner 
and linking it in with infrastructure provision. However, this scenario 
would result in the trajectory being followed over a longer period allowing 
either Plan review or the next Plan to make appropriate judgement on 
future provision at that time. 
 
4.25. Consideration also needs to be given to demand being higher than 
expected. This is considered to be a less likely possibility.  However, the 
LDP tests of soundness demand that Plans are sufficiently flexible to be 
able to positively respond to changes in circumstances. This Policy 
therefore has a built-in 10% flexibility allowance. 
 
4.26. In this way, if a need is identified in the Annual Monitoring Report 
before the end of the Plan period, additional land can be brought forward 
for residential purposes at that point in time in a Plan review. The Plan 

Page 1267



36 
 

demonstrates a clear commitment to a long term direction of travel by 
identifying geographically defined areas which have been subject to 
SA/SEA analysis and are well positioned to meet such need, if required. 
 
4.27. Work undertaken as part of this process has shown that there is 
limited scope for further development areas due to the environmental and 
other constraints around the city together. There is considered merit in 
focussing potential additional areas based upon proposed Strategic Sites 
where there is land available to take advantage of the comprehensive 
provision of new community and transportation infrastructure and 
minimising impact on areas of higher environmental sensitivity including 
land proposed for Green Wedge designation. 
 
4.28. Three areas have been identified to provide good flexibility as just 
one option may limit the scope for dwellings being delivered should 
problems be encountered on a particular site. It should also be noted in 
this respect that each area offers a large gross area with the combined 
potential to deliver more than just an additional 10% flexibility. The 
masterplanning of adjoining Strategic Sites will ensure that suitable 
access is secured and future Plan monitoring will trigger any future 
detailed consideration of infrastructure and masterplanning requirements 
should the need for the early release of the identified Search Areas be 
triggered within the Plan period. 
 
4.29. The areas considered most suitable to deliver this potential need are 
as follows: 
 

I. Land North of the North West Cardiff Strategic Site - Up to 57 
hectares of land located between Llantrisant Road and the M4 
Motorway bounded by the edge of Radyr to the East and the 
recent development on the former Rhydlafar Hospital to the West. 
This is a gross figure with the net developable area likely to be a 
significant reduction due to natural and infrastructure constraints 
within the site. This could provide a minimum of an extra 1,250 
dwellings if required in the later phases of the Plan period but 
further masterplanning addressing long-term capacity is likely to 
demonstrate a higher figure is possible and the land is indicated 
as Search Area A on the Proposals Map; 
 

ii. Land West of the Strategic Site North of Junction 33 - Up to 41 
hectares of land represents a logical extension of this site which 

Page 1268



37 
 

falls between the M4 Motorway and Llantrisant Road. This could 
provide a minimum of an extra 1,250 dwellings if required in the 
later phases of the Plan period but further masterplanning 
addressing long-term capacity is likely to demonstrate a higher 
figure is possible. The land is indicated as Search Area B on the 
Proposals Map; and 
 

iii. North West Cardiff Strategic Site - the overall capacity of this 
site is considered to be in the order of 6,500-7,000 dwellings 
depending on the precise configuration of land uses and housing 
densities. Work undertaken to date suggests that a figure of 
5,000 dwellings is appropriate for homes being delivered within 
the Plan period (by 2026). However, should build rates be faster 
than anticipated, this site represents an ideal opportunity to help 
meet any additional need within the Plan period and benefits from 
the comprehensive masterplanning of the area as a whole which 
is shown as an allocation in its entirety. 

 
4.30. In a similar way to the provision of new homes, a range and choice 
of new job opportunities is also proposed. It is important to ensure that a 
range and choice of employment land and business premises are provided 
to maintain and improve the competitiveness of the city, promote and 
protect indigenous business and attract inward investment. 
 
4.31. This approach responds to Cardiff’s role as the main economic 
driver of the city-region accounting for 32% of total employment in South 
East Wales. At the heart of this approach is recognition that the Cardiff 
city-region clearly forms a natural economic area and it has consistently 
made a major positive contribution to the economic growth of Wales. In 
core city analysis, Cardiff performs well and there is an opportunity to 
build further on this through continuing to enhance Cardiff’s role and also 
improve linkages and connectivity within the city-region. It is also 
recognised  that there are significant benefits for adjoining areas from 
Cardiff’s success in achieving economic growth. 
 
4.32. The Plan provides a framework for delivering a wide range and 
choice of employment sites in different locations and for different sectors 
including the key market sectors of ICT, energy and environmental 
technologies, advanced materials and manufacturing, creative industries, 
life sciences and financial and professional services. The range of new 
sites ensures that Cardiff can deliver the stated level of growth for new 

Page 1269



38 
 

jobs. Importantly, different sites will perform different roles in the 
strategy. For example, Porth Teigr (Roath Basin) has the potential to 
become an important location for media and creative industries. Other  
locations may be better suited to small out of centre employment sites, 
including offices, creative industries, small workshops, and starter units. 
 
4.33. The geographical spread of the ‘Cardiff offer’ also addresses the 
need to provide jobs in accessible locations. In this respect, the key 
strategic proposal relating to the Cardiff Central Enterprise Zone and 
Regional Transport Hub represents a highly sustainable and accessible 
location, close to areas of high unemployment in the city but also readily 
accessible to the wider region via sustainable modes of transport. 
 
  

Page 1270



39 
 

KP2: STRATEGIC SITES 
 
Strategic Sites are allocated as set out below to help meet the 
need for new dwellings and jobs: 
 
Brownfield Strategic Sites: 
 
(A) Cardiff Central Enterprise Zone and Regional Transport Hub; 
(B) Former Gas Works, Ferry Road; 
 
Greenfield Strategic Sites: 
 
(C) North West Cardiff; 
(D) North of Junction 33 on M4; 
(E) South of Creigiau; 
(F) North East Cardiff (West of Pontprennau); 
(G) East of Pontprennau Link Road; and 
(H) South of St Mellons Business Park - Employment only. 
 
4.34. Strategic sites are defined as being sites of 500 homes or more 
and/or with significant employment/mixed uses and which have the 
potential to deliver significant benefits to the city. 
 
4.35. The purpose of this Policy is to help bring forward appropriate land 
in sustainable locations to satisfy the identified need for housing, 
employment and other uses.  
 
4.36. This range and choice of strategic sites brings significant benefits of 
providing a genuine range and choice, critical to overall Plan delivery. 
Furthermore, the scale of sites enables more comprehensive solutions to 
be delivered which can bring about significant infrastructure 
improvements for the wider city and city-region. 
 
4.37. The anticipated number of dwellings capable of being delivered from 
each strategic site is summarised in Table 1 (paragraph 4.15) together 
with Table 2.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1271



40 
 

Table 2: SUMMARY OF STRATEGIC SITES 
Ref Site Proposed Use 
A 

 

Cardiff Central 
Enterprise Zone and 
Regional Transport Hub 

Major employment-led initiative 
including a Regional Transport Hub 
together with other mixed uses in 
Cardiff city centre in order to fulfil 
Cardiff’s role as economic driver of 
the city-region, provide major 
employment opportunities focused 
on financial and business services 
and maximise the advantages of its 
location adjacent to the Central 
Station and Cardiff Bus Station. Due 
to existing commitments which new 
proposals will update, current evidence 
suggests no net gain in units to avoid 
double counting. However any additional 
units over and above commitments will 
count as windfalls 

B Former Gas Works, 
Ferry Road 

Housing-based scheme of 500 homes 
and other associated community uses 

C North-West Cardiff Comprehensive development of 
approximately 5,000 homes within the 
Plan period including employment and 
other associated community uses 

D North of Junction 33 on 
M4 

Mixed use of approximately 2,000 
homes, employment, other associated 
community uses and a strategic park 
and ride site 

E South of Creigiau Housing-based scheme of approximately 
650 homes representing a southern 
extension of the existing village 

F North-East Cardiff (West 
of Pontprennau) 

Comprehensive development of 
approximately 4,500 homes, 
employment and other associated 
community uses 

G East of Pontprennau 
Link Road 

Housing-based scheme of approximately 
1,300 with associated community uses 

H South of St Mellons 
Business Park 

Strategic employment site 

 

Page 1272



41 
 

4.38. The combination of development on these sites will result in the 
delivery of approximately 13,950 new dwellings together with a range and 
choice of employment opportunities and a significant amount of 
supporting infrastructure and community facilities. 
 
4.39. A summary of the key infrastructure requirements relating to the 
Strategic Sites are provided within KP2(A) to KP2(H). This information will 
be cross-referenced in the Cardiff Infrastructure Plan which is a, ‘living 
document’ sitting alongside the LDP. The Infrastructure Plan is directly 
linked to the LDP Monitoring Framework and regularly updated in order to 
effectively respond to changes in baseline information, procedures and 
legislation. Estimated costs of infrastructure provision and details of 
estimated square footages of facilities are referenced within the 
Infrastructure Plan based on current considerations, requirements, and 
information available at a point in time so represent indicative figures. 
Future updates to the Infrastructure Plan will allow such information to be 
regularly updated to reflect prevailing circumstances and show more 
detail when it is known. Policies KP6 and KP7 relating to new 
infrastructure and planning obligations provide further policy guidance 
with regard to the delivery of new infrastructure and are also linked to the 
Infrastructure Plan and Annual Monitoring Framework.   
 
4.40. Infrastructure requirements for these sites will primarily be 
delivered through planning obligations/ Section 106 Agreements with 
policies KP6 and KP7 providing the policy framework. Policy KP6 also 
outlines other potential funding sources which may be required in addition 
to developer contributions. Further details as they emerge will be 
incorporated into the Infrastructure Plan as it is updated in future years 
as part of the formal LDP monitoring process.    
 
4.41. The masterplanning and good quality & sustainable design principles 
set out in KP4 and KP5 will be used to provide a framework to consider 
planning applications relating to all Strategic Sites along with other 
development as defined in the policies. In addition, the site-specific 
masterplanning requirements for each Strategic Site are identified within 
KP2(A) to KP2(H) and depicted, where appropriate, on the indicative 
Schematic Frameworks. Although only for illustrative purposes, the 
Schematic Frameworks should be read in conjunction with relevant 
policies to provide an over-arching context for the future development of 
the Strategic Sites.  
  

Page 1273



42 
 

KP2(A): CARDIFF CENTRAL ENTERPRISE ZONE AND REGIONAL 
TRANSPORT HUB 
 
Land is allocated at Cardiff Central Enterprise Zone, as defined on 
the Proposals Map, for a major employment-led initiative 
including a Regional Transport Hub together with other mixed 
uses in Cardiff City Centre in order to fulfil Cardiff’s role as 
economic driver of the city-region, providing major employment 
opportunities focused on financial and business services and 
maximise the advantages of its central location. Supporting 
essential, enabling and necessary infrastructure will be delivered 
in a phased manner with specific requirements secured through 
planning consents including: 
 
Essential/ Enabling Infrastructure 
• Transport & Highways: 
- Central, public transport hub providing access to and 

interchange between rail network, the rapid transit and 
strategic bus corridors referred to in Policy T2, the city-wide 
bus network and the strategic cycle network; 

- Improving existing bus routes and services including bus 
priority measures between the site, Cardiff Bay and other parts 
of the city; 

- Rapid Transit- Southern Corridor 
• Walking and cycling: 
- Enhance pedestrian and cycle access between north and south 

sides of main railway line including enhanced railway 
underpasses; 

- Enhance east and west connections through the area 
connecting developments; 

- Enhanced/ extend Canal Park as a cycling and walking route, 
creating a new green corridor linking the Bay Waterfront to 
Callaghan Square, the City Centre and beyond; 

- Integrate site with the Strategic Cycle Network Enfys including 
Routes 1,2,3, 4, 5, 6, 9, 90, 34, 35, 50, the city centre ‘hub’ 
routes, the Taff Trail and the Bay Trail;  

- Provide a central cycle parking hub with associated facilities as 
an integral component of the regional public transport hub and 
of a scale befitting its regional and capital function; 

Page 1274



43 
 

- Provide secure cycle parking and associated facilities in 
locations which encourage cycling to the city centre and 
integration with public transport services; 

- Improve connections to Millennium Stadium including Gate 5; 
- Create continuous river walk on Taff East bank. 
 
Necessary Infrastructure 
• Education-1 new Primary School and contribution to existing 

Secondary Schools; 
• Minimum of approximately 7ha Open Space including 

approximately 3.5ha of formal recreation, 1 playground, 1 teen 
facility, 1x 40 plot allotment site; 

• Contribution to off-site community facility provision; 
 
Development shall accord with the following key masterplanning 
requirements (as depicted, where appropriate, on the Schematic 
Framework): 
• Densities will be maximised to make efficient use of city centre 

land in a highly accessible location. High rise, high density 
developments at appropriate locations within the site are 
encouraged and residential densities in excess of 100 
dwellings per hectare are not considered unreasonable in 
principle. Employment densities for B1 office development are 
expected to be at least 14.5 square metres per employee 
(gross external area); 

- Employment provision to include Grade A office 
accommodation and developing Callaghan Square as Wales’ 
premier business location. The site will also provide a range 
and choice of opportunities to meet business needs including 
start-up businesses, creative workshops and incubator units; 

- Create destination spaces with active uses which complement 
the business offer including Central Square (new public piazza 
with active ground floor uses), Southern Gateway (new public 
space south of Central Station), Callaghan Square (greening of 
spaces whilst maintaining a ‘civic’ presence), and Taff East 
Bank (creating active uses and new leisure destination); 

- Make improvements to the Arena Area with links to Queen 
Street Station; 

- Ensure that development does not prejudice the future delivery 
of the Metro by keeping free land required for the project once 
land requirements are known;  

Page 1275



44 
 

- Provision of high quality way-finding and clearly defined 
pedestrian routes to key destinations; 

- Ensure a consistent approach to the use of high quality street 
furniture and paving materials;   

- Improve routes and connections to support the Butetown 
Regeneration with links to community facilities and services 
including Loudon Square as a community “hub”;  

- Maximise linkages to the Taff Trail and Canal Park; 
- Integrating new development sensitively with new and 

existing developments and take opportunities for commercial 
activity along Dumballs Road;  

- Upgrade site gateways, railway bridges/ underpasses and the 
public realm; 

- Effectively responding to landscape and biodiversity assets by: 
- Maximising the asset of River Taff frontage; 
- Developing opportunities for natural greenspaces to create 

urban parkland settings; 
- Effectively respond to heritage assets by: 
- Assessing and effectively addressing potential impacts on 

Conservation Areas and Listed Buildings within and adjoining 
the site; 

- Integrating public art and heritage interpretation as part of 
proposals;  

- Investigating opportunities for new developments in Dumballs 
Road to have a separate drainage system , including running 
surface water to the river and integrating landscaped areas; 

- Seek to develop opportunities for SUDS to relate to/ extend 
the “Greener Grangetown” scheme. 

 
4.42. The Cardiff Central Enterprise Zone is one of eight Strategic Sites 
which collectively play a crucial role in delivering the Plan Strategy. It is 
the largest brownfield site within the Plan (78.8 ha) and occupies a 
particularly accessible location in the centre of Cardiff including the major 
transportation hub around Cardiff Central station. Overall, it represents a 
significant sustainable regeneration opportunity in the heart of the city 
and is fully consistent with delivering the Plan’s vision and objectives.    
 
4.43. The land is owned by numerous landowners and will be delivered by 
a number of different developers operating out of different sites. This 
policy, together with other relevant policies, will provide the overarching 
masterplanning and infrastructure planning framework for landowners 

Page 1276



45 
 

and developers to prepare Parameter Plans and Masterplans which will 
inform he Development Management process. In this respect it should be 
noted that different potential projects in the area are operating to 
different timescales so an over-prescriptive approach would not be 
appropriate.  
 
4.44. Planning conditions and Planning Obligations (Section 106 
Agreements) will be used to formally tie in the phased delivery of 
necessary supporting infrastructure with trigger mechanisms and 
thresholds used to ensure timely provision. 
 
4.45. The site is in a central location with a good level of accessibility by 
non-car based travel. The transport sustainability of the site will be 
further enhanced through the development of the regional transport hub 
linking different sustainable forms of transport and the wider 
improvements to the strategic public transport network and the walking 
and cycling networks that will be secured in conjunction with the 
development of other Strategic Sites and through the Council’s own 
infrastructure programmes.  
 
4.46. Although details of the mode and potential alignments of the Metro 
are not yet known it is likely that the project will provide access to this 
Strategic Site. Work undertaken to date by the Welsh Government has 
not firmed up detailed proposals and there is no current certainty on any 
detailed alignments so it would be inappropriate to allocate a precise 
alignment on the Proposals Map but there is a need to ensure future 
options are not prejudiced. Therefore, this policy references the potential 
future need to safeguard land required for the Metro project once any 
land requirements are known. Future Plan reviews and the annual 
monitoring framework linked to the ‘living’ Infrastructure Plan provide 
mechanisms to ensure the LDP process can be further updated in this 
respect. 
 

Page 1277



46 
 

 

P
age 1278



47 
 

KP2(B): FORMER GAS WORKS, FERRY ROAD 
 
Land is allocated at the former Gas Works, Ferry Road, as defined 
on the Proposals Map, for a housing-based scheme of 500 homes 
and other associated community uses, together with essential, 
enabling and necessary supporting infrastructure which will be 
delivered in a phased manner with specific details formally tied 
into planning consents including: 
 
Essential/ Enabling Infrastructure 
• Walking and cycling: 
- Improve pedestrian access to public transport facilities in 

the vicinity of the site; 
- Provide new and enhance existing pedestrian/cycle links 

from the site to the Ely Trail, Grangemoor Park, Cardiff Bay 
Retail Park and other community facilities within the area 
including Channel View Centre. 

 
Necessary Infrastructure 
• Contribution to off-site community facility provision; 
• Education- Contribution to existing Primary and Secondary 

Schools; 
• Minimum of 1.2ha Open Space including 1 playground, 1 teen 

facility, plus contributions to formal open space, allotment 
provision and play provision 

 
Development shall be undertaken in a comprehensive manner and 
accord with the following key masterplanning requirements (as 
depicted, where appropriate, on the Schematic Framework): 
• Densities will be maximised to make efficient use of this 

brownfield site with high density residential accommodation 
of at least 50 dwellings per hectare considered appropriate 
and in keeping with the characteristics of the area; 

• The density, design, scale and layout at the northern end of 
the site should respond effectively to the adjacent Ikea 
building; 

• The layout should relate effectively to the railway line 
forming the western boundary of the site including 
mitigating any acoustic impacts;  

Page 1279



48 
 

• Ensure that the cycle trail linking the Ely Trail to Ferry Road 
is retained and that the layout provides a safe and 
overlooked solution; 

- Maximise the relationship between the site, the River Ely and 
Grangemoor Park including extending the park along the 
river frontage to create a riverside park with informal play 
opportunities; 

• Effectively respond to landscape and biodiversity assets by: 
- Mitigating and compensating for reptiles and bats; 
- Enhancing the buffer of trees along the railway line; 
- Ensuring an adequate buffer from the River Ely Site of 

Importance for Nature Conservation to protect the river bank 
and associated vegetation; 

• Effectively respond to heritage assets by: 
- Assessing and effectively addressing potential impacts on 

the character and setting of the Listed Gas Holder and 
demonstrating how the proposals can successfully integrate 
this historic asset; 

- Explore the potential to collect methane gas from 
Grangemoor Park to create a heat and power system 
together with exploring other potential opportunities such as 
biomass to create electricity and to heat the site’s buildings.  

 
4.47. The former Gas Works, Ferry Road, is one of eight Strategic Sites 
which collectively play a crucial role in delivering the Plan Strategy. It is a 
brownfield site (9.9 ha) well-located within the urban area adding to the 
range and choice of housing offer in the Plan. 
 
4.48. The land is owned by a single landowner and will be delivered in a 
comprehensive manner. This policy, together with other relevant policies, 
will provide the masterplanning and infrastructure planning framework for 
landowners and developers to prepare Parameter Plans and Masterplans 
which will inform the Development Management process. 
 
4.49. The relative scale of the site allows for a maximum of 2 outlets at 
any time with full delivery of the 500 units anticipated between 2017 and 
2024. Planning conditions and Planning Obligations (Section 106 
Agreements) will be used to formally tie in the phased delivery of 
necessary supporting infrastructure with trigger mechanisms and 
thresholds used to ensure timely provision in relation to completion of 
new homes.  

Page 1280



49 
 

 
4.50. Due to the accessible location of the site and proximity to existing 
social/ community facilities in the area it is considered appropriate to 
secure developer contributions to improve nearby facilities as outlined in 
the policy.

Page 1281



50 
 

 

P
age 1282



51 
 

KP2(C): NORTH WEST CARDIFF 
 
Land is allocated at North West Cardiff, as defined on the 
Proposals Map, for a mixed-use comprehensive development 
including a minimum of 5,000 homes and local employment 
opportunities, together with essential, enabling and necessary 
supporting infrastructure which will be delivered in a phased 
manner with specific details formally tied into planning consents 
including: 
 
Essential/ Enabling Infrastructure 
• Transport & Highways:  
- Provision of new bus-based Rapid Transit Corridors through 

the site providing links between the District/Local Centres 
and a new Transport Hub in the Easternmost District/Local 
Centre; 

- Off-site infrastructure including bus priority measures to 
develop bus-based Rapid Transit Corridors integrating with 
the site, the Western Bus Corridor and other routes within 
the North West Rapid Transit Corridor; 

- Off-site infrastructure including bus priority enhancements 
on the Western Bus Corridor and measures to improve 
linkages into Rhondda Cynon Taf; 

- Extend bus networks and increase the frequency and 
reliability of services to serve the site with public transport 
options for a wide range of journeys including a combination 
of limited stop and local bus services. 

• Walking and cycling: 
- On and off-site measures to provide a network of high 

quality, safe, attractive and convenient routes within the site 
and linking to key local services, facilities and destinations 
including existing local centres and Schools at Fairwater, 
Pentrebane, Danescourt and Radyr; 

- Links to the Taff and Ely Trails; 
- Links to off-site public transport destinations including 

Radyr, Danescourt and Llandaff Rail Stations.  

Page 1283



52 
 

Necessary Infrastructure 
• 1 District Centre and 3 Local Centres (including provision of 

business and local employment uses), Primary Care facility, 
Multifunctional community leisure facility including library 
facility, and financial contribution to upgrading of Fairwater 
Leisure Centre;  

• Education-1 new Secondary School, 3-4  new Primary 
Schools located in or adjacent to District/Local Centres, and 
financial contribution to existing Primary Schools in earlier 
phases; 

• Minimum of 30ha Open Space including 15ha of formal 
recreation, 6 playgrounds including destination play area, 2 
teen facilities plus off-site contribution, and 2x 50 plot 
allotment sites (through on-site/ off-site provision) 

 
Development shall be undertaken in a comprehensive manner and 
accord with the following key masterplanning requirements (as 
depicted, where appropriate, on the Schematic Framework): 
• Provide a range of densities with high density (minimum of 

45-50+ dwellings per hectare) mixed-use development 
within District/Local Centres and medium to high density 
(35-50+ dwellings per hectare) along the Rapid Transit 
Corridors; 

- Initial phases towards the east and along Llantrisant Road, 
middle phases towards the centre of the site and later to the 
west; 

- Ensure that the potential future delivery of the ‘Metro’ is not 
precluded by keeping a corridor alongside and including the 
disused rail line running through the site (as depicted on the 
schematic framework) safeguarded from development and 
also ensuring that land uses, densities and layouts respond 
positively to its potential future provision; 

- District/ Local Centres to be accessible by walking, cycling 
and public transport and accommodate a range of services 
including convenience goods floorspace plus other retail of a 
scale and nature which accord with Plan retail policies with 
the anchor food store to be located within the District Centre 
towards the east of the site; 

- Employment provision (B1 & B1(b)(c)) to be located in and 
adjoining the District/Local Centres amounting to 
approximately 15,000sqm; 

Page 1284



53 
 

- New Schools to be located in and adjoining the District/Local 
Centres;  

Page 1285



54 
 

- Provide good land use and transportation integration with 
the adjoining areas of Pentrebane, Fairwater and Radyr;  

- Providing an active frontage onto Pentrebane and Llantrisant 
Roads; 

- Effectively respond to landscape and biodiversity assets by: 
- Linking retained habitats through the provision of a series of 

open space corridors providing ecological connectivity, 
sustainable access routes and opportunities for sustainable 
drainage including: 

- Links between retained woodlands at Coed y Trenches, Coed 
y Gof, Waterhall, Halfwrt and Coedbychan; 

- Corridor along the valley through the middle of the site; 
- Links to the countryside to the west and south-west;  
- Linking corridors where possible between the above to 

provide a good network   
- Ensuring that there is no detriment to the maintenance of 

the favourable conservation status of Great Crested Newts 
on the site including protection of the existing 2 ponds in the 
Pentrebane Cottages SINC and provision of a minimum of 2 
additional ponds in the locality; 

- Providing suitable buffers to retained woodlands referred to 
above and other habitats including hedgerows and streams; 

- Effectively respond to heritage assets by: 
- Assessing and effectively addressing potential impacts on 

the St Fagans Conservation Area (retain woodland/ 
hedgerow buffers together with provision of new planting) 
and the Listed Buildings (together with their settings) within 
and adjacent to the site; 

- Effectively respond to other constraints including Radyr Golf 
Course (ensuring no conflict with errant golf balls) and 
existing easements (overhead pylons and underground 
infrastructure); and 

- Ensuring that that development does not adversely affect the 
water quality of the Nant Rhydlafar.  

 
4.51. North West Cardiff is one of eight Strategic Sites which collectively 
play a crucial role in delivering the Plan Strategy. It is the largest 
Strategic Site within the Plan (346 ha) and relates to countryside to the 
west of Radyr, Fairwater and Pentrebane, and to the north of the village 
of St Fagans. 
 

Page 1286



55 
 

4.52. The vast majority of the land at North West Cardiff is within the 
control of the Trustees of St Fagans No. 1 & 2 and No. 3 Trust and will be 
delivered by a number of different developers operating out of different 
outlets. This policy, together with other relevant policies, will provide the 
masterplanning and infrastructure planning framework for landowners 
and developers to prepare Parameter Plans and Masterplans which will 
inform the Development Management process. 
 
4.53. The scale of the site allows numerous outlets to be operating at any 
one time in different parts of this large site and will provide a wide range 
and choice of housing offer and opportunities for a variety of different 
tenures. Planning conditions and Planning Obligations (Section 106 
Agreements) will be used to formally tie in the phased delivery of 
necessary supporting infrastructure with trigger mechanisms and 
thresholds used to ensure timely provision in relation to completion of 
new homes.  
 
4.54. Rapid Transit Corridors within the site will be bus-based and of 
sufficient width and otherwise designed, including the control of car 
parking, to allow the safe two-way passing of the largest vehicles. Bus 
priority measures will be provided at appropriate locations within the site 
to allow bus rapid transit to avoid queuing traffic. Bus-based Rapid Transit 
Corridors will link the site to the Western Bus Corridor with off-site bus 
priority measures provided to assist the flow of buses. Further off-site 
corridor enhancements will be provided on the Western Bus Corridor as 
shown on the Proposals Map and consistent with Policy T2 in order to 
support delivery of the increased frequency and reliability of services. The 
integration of housing and supporting services and community 
infrastructure provides the opportunity for a high proportion of short, local 
trips to be made by walking and cycling. This will be made possible by 
integrating networks of high quality walking and cycling routes within 
development layouts and ensuring that the design of roads, streets, 
junctions and public spaces accommodate the natural ‘desire lines’ of 
people making trips on foot and by bicycle. 
 
4.55. Although details of the mode and potential alignments of the Metro 
have yet to be defined, it is important that the development of this site 
does not preclude the potential delivery of this strategic project. Work 
undertaken to date by the Welsh Government suggests that the disused 
rail line running through the middle of the site forms the most likely 
option in this locality but there is currently no certainty on the detailed 

Page 1287



56 
 

alignment. For example, there is uncertainty of the future mode and 
whether the route would be based on the existing disused rail line or 
whether it would be better located either alongside to the north or to the 
south.  
 
4.56. Therefore, it would be inappropriate to allocate a precise alignment 
on the Proposals Map but there is a need to ensure future options are not 
prejudiced. This policy ensures that land is safeguarded from 
development along the potential Metro corridor and also that land uses, 
densities and layouts are developed to take account of the potential 
delivery of this strategic transportation project.        
 
4.57. District and Local Centres will be the focus for community uses and 
activities including Schools in close proximity. The precise number of 
Primary Schools (3/4) will depend on the outcomes of future monitoring 
and delivery options relevant when the details of later phases are being 
assessed through the Development Management process. 
  
4.58. It should be noted that it is anticipated that the delivery of this 
large site will extend beyond the plan period (some 1,500 homes are 
anticipated being delivered post 2026). In this respect, whilst the 
Schematic Framework relates to the total geographical extent of the 
overall site area to ensure a high-level consistent approach to addressing 
site-specific factors, the infrastructure requirements as set out in this 
policy relate to the number of homes proposed during the plan period (for 
5,000 new homes). Future annual monitoring, Plan reviews and ongoing 
updates to the Infrastructure Plan will ensure that any infrastructure 
requirements for homes post-2026 are captured at the appropriate 
juncture and consequently inform any future Development Management 
activity with regard to homes over and above the 5,000 proposed during 
the plan period. 
   
4.59. Search Area A (north of Llantrisant Road) is not included within the 
Strategic Site allocation. This would only be triggered if necessary 
through future Plan review following annual monitoring indicating that the 
provision of new homes is proceeding beyond anticipated rates and 
justifies such a release within the last years of the plan period. Therefore, 
it is considered premature to factor in potential detailed infrastructure and 
masterplanning matters at this juncture relating to this land. The formal 
monitoring framework provides an evidence-based process to inform any 
decisions on potential release in the last years of the plan period.  

Page 1288



57 
 

 

Page 1289



58 
 

 

P
age 1290



59 
 

KP2(D & E): NORTH OF JUNCTION 33 ON M4 AND SOUTH OF 
CREIGIAU 
 
Land is allocated: 
(i). North of Junction 33 on the M4, as defined on the Proposals 
Map, for a mixed-use development of approximately 2,000 homes, 
employment, other associated community uses and a strategic 
park and ride site; and 
(ii). South of Creigiau, as defined on the Proposals Map, for a 
housing-based scheme of approximately 650 homes representing 
a southern extension to the village. 
 
Essential, enabling and necessary supporting infrastructure will 
be delivered in a phased manner with specific details formally tied 
into planning consents including: 
 
Essential/ Enabling Infrastructure 
• Transport & Highways: 
- Provision of new bus-based Rapid Transit Corridors through 

the site North of Junction 33 linking directly to the Western 
Bus Corridor; 

- Off-site infrastructure including bus priority measures to 
develop bus-based Rapid Transit Corridors integrating with 
the site, the Western Bus Corridor and other routes within 
the North West Rapid Transit Corridor; 

- Off-site infrastructure including bus priority enhancements 
on the Western Bus Corridor and measures to improve 
linkages into Rhondda Cynon Taf; 

- Extend bus networks and increase the frequency and 
reliability of services to serve the site with public transport 
options for a wide range of journeys including a combination 
of limited stop and local bus services; 

- Strategic park and ride facility North of Junction 33 linked to 
the Rapid Transit Corridor and public transport node 
including Bus Gate to provide priority for public transport 
and limit unauthorised access by car to Junction 33; 

- Public transport node in close proximity to the employment 
uses, Park & Ride facility and Local Centre to the south of the 
site; 

- Improve the Llantrisant Road/ Cardiff Road junction  

Page 1291



60 
 

• Walking and cycling: 
- On and off-site measures to provide a network of high 

quality, safe, attractive and convenient routes within the site 
and linking to key local services, facilities and destinations 
including the new neighbourhood centre from the north, 
improved pedestrian/ cycling links to existing and proposed 
schools; 

- Provide a safe crossing of Llantrisant Road;  
- Creating an east-west connection between Public Rights of 

Way (Footpaths numbered 10 & 18) 
 
Necessary Infrastructure 
• 1 Local Centre within Site D including Primary Care facility 

and multifunctional community leisure facility including 
library facility;           

• Education:1-2 new Primary Schools with 1 located in or 
adjacent to Local Centre, and financial contribution to 
existing Secondary Schools; 

• Minimum of 12ha Open Space including 6ha of formal 
recreation, 3 playgrounds, 1 teen facility, and 1x 40 plot 
allotment site; 

• Improve community facilities in the existing neighbourhood 
centre in Creigiau to provide new facilities for existing and 
new residents   

 
Development shall be undertaken in a comprehensive manner and 
accord with the following key masterplanning requirements (as 
depicted, where appropriate, on the Schematic Framework): 
• Provide a range/ gradient of densities across the site with 

the highest density (minimum of 45-50+ dwellings per 
hectare) around the Local Centre to the south of the site. 
Medium density housing (35-45+ dwellings per hectare) will 
be provided on land close to Llantrisant Road and adjacent to 
the Rapid Transit Corridors and to the west of the land south 
of Creigiau. Lower densities will be provided on the elevated 
land west of Cardiff Road and to the west of the site North of 
Junction 33; 

- Layouts on Sites D and E should reflect the interrelationships 
between the sites with delivery considered acceptable in 
tandem through different outlets with initial phases 

Page 1292



61 
 

including the provision of the park and ride facility together 
with public transport enhancement measures; 

- Ensure that the potential future delivery of the ‘Metro’ is not 
precluded by keeping a corridor through the sites (as 
depicted on the schematic framework) safeguarded from 
development and also ensuring that land uses, densities and 
layouts respond positively to its potential future provision; 

- Exclude vehicular access onto the M4 except for part of the 
park and ride facility and part of the business area situated 
adjacent to the junction; 

- Exclude through-traffic between both sites; 
- Provide future vehicular, walking/ cycling access from the 

site North of Junction 33 to the ‘flexibility allowance land’ to 
the west; 

- Facilitate interchange between local bus and rapid transit 
services; 

- Local Centre to be located north of the business land and 
adjacent to the rapid transit interchange and Primary School 
and to include convenience goods floorspace plus other retail 
use of a scale and nature which accords with Plan retail 
policies; 

- High quality business uses to reflect the strategic location of 
the site (excluding B8 uses) to be located adjacent to 
Junction 33 and an additional flexible local employment 
space to be located adjacent to the Motorway to the south 
west of the site;  

- Provide a landscape buffer between employment and 
residential uses and along the boundary of the M4 to reduce 
impact; 

- Provide safe and convenient pedestrian/ cycle links between 
the site and Creigiau village including links with existing 
Public Rights of Way; 

- Effectively respond to landscape and biodiversity assets by: 
- Linking retained habitats through the provision of a series of 

open space corridors providing ecological connectivity, 
sustainable access routes and opportunities for sustainable 
drainage including: 

- Links between retained ancient woodland at Castell y 
Mynach, marshy area to the north and young woodland 
buffer strip alongside Llantrisant Road; 

Page 1293



62 
 

- Links from the Nant Henstaff, through Coed 
Gwenybwlau, linking to the disused rail line and 
Pencoed Wood; 

- Enhancing the disused rail line as a walking/ cycling 
and ecological corridor; 

- Links to the countryside to the west;  
- Linking corridors where possible between the above to 

provide a good network. 
- Ensuring that there is no detriment to the maintenance of 

the favourable conservation status of Great Crested Newts 
and Dormouse on the site including protection of the existing 
watercourses and provision of suitable compensatory 
planting to supplement existing retained habitats; 

- Providing suitable buffers to retained woodlands and 
streams referred to above and other habitats including 
hedgerows within the sites; 

- Effectively respond to heritage assets by: 
- Assessing and effectively addressing potential impacts 

on known assets including the Listed Buildings of 
Pencoed House, Church of St Elldeyrn and the Old Forge. 

 
4.60. North of Junction 33 on the M4 and South of Creigiau are two of 
eight Strategic Sites which collectively play a crucial role in delivering the 
Plan Strategy.  As the sites are adjacent and separated only by Llantrisant 
Road, there is considered logic in setting out masterplanning and 
infrastructure requirements in a comprehensive manner but also including 
addressing site-specific issues for each site. The sites amounting to 141ha 
will help bring forward new homes, jobs and supporting infrastructure 
including a new strategic park and ride facility. 
 
4.61. The masterplanning process to date has reflected joint-working 
between parties relating to both sites to ensure a comprehensive 
approach is taken. 
 
4.62. This policy, together with other relevant policies, will provide the 
masterplanning and infrastructure planning framework for landowners 
and developers to prepare Parameter Plans and Masterplans which will 
inform the Development Management process. 
 
4.63. The scale of the sites allows numerous outlets to be operating at 
any one time and will provide a wide range and choice of housing offer 

Page 1294



63 
 

and opportunities for a variety of different tenures. Planning conditions 
and Planning Obligations (Section 106 Agreements) will be used to 
formally tie in the phased delivery of necessary supporting infrastructure 
with trigger mechanisms and thresholds used to ensure timely provision 
in relation to completion of new homes.  
 
4.64. Rapid Transit Corridors within the site North of Junction 33 will be 
bus-based and of sufficient width and otherwise designed, including the 
control of car parking, to allow the safe two-way passing of the largest 
vehicles. Bus priority measures will be provided at appropriate locations 
within the site to allow bus rapid transit to avoid queuing traffic. Bus-
based Rapid Transit Corridors will link the site to the Western Bus Corridor 
with off-site bus priority measures provided to assist the flow of buses. 
Further off-site corridor enhancements will be provided on the Western 
Bus Corridor as shown on the Proposals Map and consistent with Policy T2 
in order to support delivery of the increased frequency and reliability of 
services. The integration of housing and supporting services and 
community infrastructure provides the opportunity for a high proportion 
of short, local trips to be made by walking and cycling. This will be made 
possible by integrating networks of high quality walking and cycling 
routes within development layouts and ensuring that the design of roads, 
streets, junctions and public spaces accommodate the natural ‘desire 
lines’ of people making trips on foot and by bicycle. 
 
4.65. Although details of the mode and potential alignments of the Metro 
have yet to be defined it is important that the development of these sites 
does not preclude the potential delivery of this strategic project. Work 
undertaken to date by the Welsh Government suggests numerous 
potential options in this area and there is currently no certainty on the 
detailed alignment. For example, there is uncertainty of the future mode 
and whether the route would be based on the existing disused rail line or 
whether it would be better routed elsewhere.  
 
4.66. Therefore, it would be inappropriate to allocate a precise alignment 
on the Proposals Map but there is a need to ensure future options are not 
prejudiced. This policy ensures that land is safeguarded from 
development along the potential Metro corridor and also that land uses, 
layouts and densities are developed to take account of the potential 
delivery of this strategic transportation project. 
 

Page 1295



64 
 

4.67. The new Local Centre on Site D and new Primary School to be 
located within or adjoining it will be a focus for community uses and 
activities. Facilities will also be improved in the existing neighbourhood 
centre in Creigiau to provide new facilities for existing and new residents. 
The precise number of Primary Schools (1/2) will depend on the outcomes 
of future monitoring and delivery options relevant when the details of 
later phases are being assessed through the Development Management 
process. Specifically, consideration will be given to the merits of 
extending the existing Primary School at Creigiau as an alternative to the 
provision of a second new school.  
 
4.68. Search Area B (to the west of the site North of Junction 33) is not 
included within the Strategic Site allocation. This would only be triggered 
if necessary through future Plan review following annual monitoring 
indicating that the provision of new homes is proceeding beyond 
anticipated rates and justifies such a release within the last years of the 
plan period. Therefore, it is considered premature to factor in potential 
detailed infrastructure and masterplanning matters at this juncture 
relating to this land although the schematic framework identifies potential 
access to the site. However, as a minimum, this policy sets out the need 
to provide potential future vehicular, walking and cycling access from Site 
D to the ‘flexibility allowance land’ to the west. The formal monitoring 
framework provides an evidence-based process to inform any decisions 
on potential release in the last years of the plan period. 
 

Page 1296



65 
 

 

P
age 1297



66 
 

KP2(F): NORTH EAST CARDIFF (WEST OF PONTPRENNAU) 
 
Land is allocated at North East Cardiff (West of Pontprennau), as 
defined on the Proposals Map, for a mixed-use comprehensive 
development of a minimum of 4,500 homes, employment and 
other associated community uses, together with essential, 
enabling and necessary supporting infrastructure which will be 
delivered in a phased manner with specific details formally tied 
into planning consents including: 
Essential/ Enabling Infrastructure 
 
• Transport & Highways: 
- Provision of new bus-based Rapid Transit Corridors through 

the site providing links between the District/Local Centres 
including Bus Gates at access point to Cardiff Gate Business 
Park and St Mellons Road at the eastern edge of the site; 

- Off-site infrastructure including bus priority measures to 
develop bus-based Rapid Transit Corridors integrating with 
the site, the Eastern/Northern Bus Corridors and other 
routes within the North Eastern Rapid Transit Corridor 
including services linked to Strategic Site G, facilitating 
transfer/ improving interchange facilities to Rhymney Line 
rail services at Llanishen Station and Thornhill Station, and, 
employment facilities at St Mellons Business Park and 
Strategic Site H; 

- Off-site enhancements including bus priority measures to the 
Eastern/Northern Bus Corridor; 

- Extend bus networks and increase the frequency and 
reliability of services to serve the site with public transport 
options for a wide range of journeys including a combination 
of limited stop and local bus services; 

• Walking and cycling: 
- On and off-site measures to provide safe, attractive and 

convenient routes within the site and linking to key local 
services, facilities and destinations including existing local 
centres and Schools at Pontprennau, Pentwyn, Lisvane and 
Cardiff Gate Business Park; 

- Links to off-site public transport destinations including 
Llanishen and Thornhill Rail Stations  

Page 1298



67 
 

Necessary Infrastructure 
• 1 centrally located District Centre and 1 Local Centre 

including Primary Care facility, Multifunctional community 
leisure facility including library facility, and financial 
contribution to upgrading of Llanishen and Pontprennau 
Leisure Centres;           

• Education-1 new Secondary School, 3 new Primary Schools 
and financial contribution to existing Primary Schools; 

• Minimum of 26ha Open Space including 13ha of formal 
recreation, 6 playgrounds including destination play area, 1 
teen facility plus off-site contribution, and 2x 50 plot 
allotment sites 

 
Development shall be undertaken in a comprehensive manner and 
accord with the following key masterplanning requirements (as 
depicted, where appropriate, on the Schematic Framework): 
• Provide a range of densities with high density (minimum of 

45-50+ dwellings per hectare) mixed-use development 
within District/Local Centres and along rapid transit 
corridors. Medium density (35-45+ dwellings per hectare) 
around the edge of Pontprennau and to the north of the site. 
Lower densities to be provided around the edge of Lisvane; 

- Initial phases towards the West of the site with middle 
phases towards the centre and south (including District/ 
Local Centres) and later phases to the north and east of the 
site; 

- Centrally located District/ Local Centres accessed by rapid 
transit corridors including interchange facilities between 
sustainable transport modes and accommodating a range of 
services including convenience goods floorspace plus other 
retail of a scale and nature which accord with Plan retail 
policies; 

- Introduce measures to reduce impact of noise from the M4; 
- Effectively integrate existing buildings into the design and 

layout; 
- Retain and enhance Public Right of Way network within the 

site and provide safe, convenient and legible links to the 
countryside North of the M4, Nant Fawr corridor, Cardiff Gate 
Business Park and Pontprennau; 

Page 1299



68 
 

- Employment provision (B1 & B1(b)(c)) to be located in and 
adjoining the District Centre and adjacent to Cardiff Gate 
Business Park amounting to approximately 6.5ha; 

- Provide good land use and transportation integration with 
the adjoining areas of Lisvane and Pontprennau;  

- Effectively respond to landscape and biodiversity assets by: 
- Linking retained habitats through the provision of a series of 

open space corridors providing ecological connectivity, 
sustainable access routes and opportunities for sustainable 
drainage including: 

- Utilising the stream network (particularly the Nant Ty 
Draw, Nant Glandulais and Nant y Draenog) as core 
elements of new ecological corridors through the site; 

- Links from the Nant Fawr corridor south west of the site 
ensuring the corridor links to other open space 
corridors within the site; 

- Links to access points to the countryside to the north 
west at Lisvane and underpasses below the M4;  

- Linking corridors where possible between the above to 
provide a good network;   

- Ensuring that there is no detriment to the maintenance of 
the favourable conservation status of Dormouse on the site 
including provision of suitable compensatory planting to 
supplement existing retained habitats including Malthouse 
Woods, other woodlands and hedgerows; 

- Providing suitable buffers to the Llanishen Reservoir SSSI, 
retained woodlands and streams referred to above and other 
habitats including hedgerows within the site; 

- Effectively respond to heritage assets by: 
- Assessing and effectively addressing potential impacts on 

known assets including Listed Buildings within and near to 
the site; 

- No development to take place within the C2 flood zone area 
forming part of the Nant Glandulais valley. 

 
4.69. North East Cardiff (West of Pontprennau) is one of eight Strategic 
Sites which collectively play a crucial role in delivering the Plan Strategy. 
It is the second largest Strategic Site (237 ha) within the Plan and relates 
to countryside located between Lisvane to the west, Pontprennau to the 
east and the M4 Motorway to the north.   
 

Page 1300



69 
 

4.70. The Site will be delivered by a number of different developers 
operating out of different outlets. This policy, together with other relevant 
policies, will provide the masterplanning and infrastructure planning 
framework for landowners and developers to prepare Parameter Plans and 
Masterplans which will inform the Development Management process. 
 
4.71. The scale of the site allows numerous outlets to be operating at any 
one time in different parts of this large site and will provide a wide range 
and choice of housing offer and opportunities for a variety of different 
tenures. Planning conditions and Planning Obligations (Section 106 
Agreements) will be used to formally tie in the phased delivery of 
necessary supporting infrastructure with trigger mechanisms and 
thresholds used to ensure timely provision in relation to completion of 
new homes.  
 
4.72. Rapid Transit Corridors within the site will be bus-based and of 
sufficient width and otherwise designed, including the control of car 
parking, to allow the safe two-way passing of the largest vehicles. Bus 
priority measures will be provided at appropriate locations to allow bus 
rapid transit to avoid queuing traffic. Bus-based Rapid Transit Corridors 
will link the site to the Northern and Eastern Bus Corridors with off-site 
bus priority measures provided to assist the flow of buses. Further off-site 
corridor enhancements will be provided on the Northern and Eastern Bus 
Corridors as shown on the Proposals Map and consistent with policy T2 in 
order to support delivery of the increased frequency and reliability of 
services. The integration of housing and supporting services and 
community infrastructure provides the opportunity for a high proportion 
of short, local trips to be made by walking and cycling. This will be made 
possible by integrating networks of high quality walking and cycling 
routes within development layouts and ensuring that the design of roads, 
streets, junctions and public spaces accommodate the natural ‘desire 
lines’ of people making trips on foot and by bicycle. 
 
4.73. District and Local Centres will be the focus for community uses and 
activities including schools in close proximity. They will be well located in 
relation to sustainable transportation options and also link into the 
network of green corridors largely based on the existing stream network.  

Page 1301



70 
 

 

P
age 1302



71 
 

KP2(G): EAST OF PONTPRENNAU LINK ROAD 
 
Land is allocated East of Pontprennau Link Road, as defined on the 
Proposals Map, for a housing-based scheme of a minimum of 
1,300 homes with associated community uses, together with 
essential, enabling and necessary supporting infrastructure which 
will be delivered in a phased manner with specific details formally 
tied into planning consents including: 
Essential/ Enabling Infrastructure 
• Transport & Highways: 
- Provision of new bus-based Rapid Transit Corridors through 

the site including links to the Local Centre and provision of 
Bus Gates at St Mellons Road at the north western edge of 
the site and Bridge Road to the south east of the site; 

- Off-site infrastructure including bus priority measures to 
develop bus-based Rapid Transit Corridors integrating with 
the site, the Eastern Bus Corridors and other routes within 
the North Eastern/Eastern Rapid Transit Corridor including 
services linked to Strategic Site F, facilitating transfer/ 
improving interchange facilities to Rhymney Line rail 
services at Llanishen Station and Thornhill Station, and, 
employment facilities at St Mellons Business Park and 
Strategic Site H; 

- Off-site enhancements including bus priority measures to the 
Eastern Bus Corridor; 

- Extend bus networks and increase the frequency and 
reliability of services to serve the site with public transport 
options for a wide range of journeys including a combination 
of limited stop and local bus services taking account of links 
with Strategic Site F; 

- Provide a bus-only route along Bridge Road 
• Walking and cycling:  
- On and off-site measures to provide a network of high 

quality, safe, attractive and convenient routes within the site 
and linking to key local services, facilities and destinations 
including employment in Pontprennau, Pentwyn and Cardiff 
Gate Business Park; 

- Improve walking/cycling access at junction of Church Road/ 
A4232/Heol Pontprennau; 

- Provide a safe, attractive and convenient link from the site to 
the Rhymney Trail: 

Page 1303



72 
 

- Enhance subway under A48, south of St Edeyrn’s Church; 
- Provide cycle/pedestrian link between the subway under the 

A48 and Mill Lane, Llanrumney;  
- Upgrade Rhymney Trail to provide shared pedestrian/cycle 

route between subway under A48, south of St Edeyrn’s 
Church and the subway west of Pentwyn interchange 

Necessary Infrastructure 
• 1 centrally located Local Centre linked to rapid transit 

infrastructure and school facilities including Primary Care 
facility (Branch Surgery linked to Strategic Site F), 
multifunctional community  facility, and financial 
contribution to upgrading of Pentwyn and Pontprennau 
Leisure Centres; 

• Education-1 new Primary School located in or adjacent to the 
local Centre and financial contribution to provision of 
Secondary School at Strategic Site F; 

• Minimum of 7.9ha Open Space including 3.9ha of formal 
recreation, 2 playgrounds, 1 teen facility, and 1x 26 plot 
allotment site 

 
Development shall be undertaken in a comprehensive manner and 
accord with the following key masterplanning requirements (as 
depicted, where appropriate, on the Schematic Framework): 
• Provide a range of densities with high density (minimum of 

45-50+ dwellings per hectare) alongside rapid transit 
corridor towards centre of site, medium density (35-45+ 
dwellings per hectare) towards the north and lower densities 
alongside the riverside park; 

- Initial phases in the south, middle phases towards the centre 
and later phases to the north; 

- Local Centre to accommodate a range of services including 
convenience goods floorspace and other retail of a scale and 
nature which accords with Plan retail policies; 

- Integrate cluster of low density buildings at St Julian’s 
Manor/ House; 

- Effectively respond to landscape and biodiversity assets by: 
- Linking retained habitats through the provision of a series of 

open space corridors providing ecological connectivity, 
sustainable access routes and opportunities for sustainable 
drainage including: 

Page 1304



73 
 

- Creating a riverside park incorporating the Rhymney 
Trail and other Public Rights of Way on an extensive 
area of land to the east f the site with links running 
west into the site; 

- Retaining the green buffer along the A4232 (primarily 
as an ecological resource and landscape role); 

- Links from riverside park to countryside to north and 
Rhymney Valley to south west;  

- Linking corridors where possible between the above to 
provide a good network. 

- Ensuring that there is no detriment to the maintenance of 
the favourable conservation status of Dormouse on the site 
including provision of suitable compensatory planting to 
supplement existing retained habitats including 
compensatory planting on the southern and eastern site 
boundaries; 

- Providing suitable buffers to retained habitats, particularly 
the hedgerows within the site; 

- Effectively respond to heritage assets by: 
- Assessing and effectively addressing potential impacts on 

known assets including Listed Buildings within and near to 
the site; 

- Preserving the village character around Llanedeyrn village 
and effectively integrate existing buildings into layout 
including protecting view of St Edeyrn’s Church from the 
A48; 

- Effectively respond to heritage assets by: 
- Assessing and addressing potential impacts on the Listed 

Buildings of Unicorn Public House, Church of St Edeyrn, 
Bridge House Farm, St Julian’s Manor House and associated 
curtilage structures; 

• Protect water quality of River Rhymney and Nant Mwlan; 
• Address issues with Japanese Knotweed along the River 

Rhymney;  
- No development to take place in C2 flood zone forming part 

of River Rhymney valley.  
 
4.74. Land East of Pontprennau Link Road forms one of eight Strategic 
Sites which collectively play a crucial role in delivering the Plan Strategy. 
It amounts to 80.7 ha and is located in countryside located between the 

Page 1305



74 
 

Pontprennau Link Road to the West, River Rhymney valley to the east, 
the A48 to the south and the M4 Motorway to the north.   

 
4.75. Most of the land is owned by a single landowner and has the benefit 
of Outline Planning Permission for 1,020 homes together with supporting 
infrastructure and facilities. A Section 106 Agreement has been signed 
and secures the phased delivery of supporting infrastructure and facilities 
including the provision of a Primary School on site with trigger clauses 
securing delivery. 
 
4.76. Other parts of the site not covered by the Outline Planning Consent 
will be considered in the context of this policy, together with other 
relevant policies which will provide the masterplanning and infrastructure 
planning framework for landowners and developers to prepare Parameter 
Plans and Masterplans which will inform the Development Management 
process 

Page 1306



75 
 

P
age 1307



76 
 

KP2(H): SOUTH OF ST MELLONS BUSINESS PARK 
 
Land is allocated South of St Mellons Business Park, as defined on 
the Proposals Map, for a strategic employment site together with 
essential, enabling and necessary supporting infrastructure which 
will be delivered in a phased manner with specific details formally 
tied into planning consents including: 

Essential/ Enabling Infrastructure 

• Transport & Highways: 
- Provision of transport hub including new rail station served 

by relief line rail services connecting to the city centre and 
services to Cardiff Airport and London via Cardiff Central; 

- Provision of park and ride facility;  
- Off-site infrastructure including bus priority measures to 

develop bus-based Rapid Transit Corridors integrating with 
the site, the Eastern Bus Corridors and other routes within 
the North Eastern/Eastern Rapid Transit Corridor including 
services linked to the City Centre and Strategic Sites G and F; 

• Walking and Cycling: 
- Provide high quality on-site and off-site walking and cycling 

links and facilities to maximise walking and cycling access to 
the site from neighbouring communities including 
Trowbridge and St Mellons; 

• Flood mitigation/ defences:  
- Flood mitigation works including raising the development 

plateaus and providing compensatory flood storage areas 
south of the rail line 

Necessary Infrastructure 

• Retain the area of land to the east of Cypress Drive and 
Faendre Reen as green space linked with Hendre Lake Park;  

• If the infilling of any reen or field ditch proves to be 
unavoidable at the application stage it should be realigned 
(with at least an equal capacity) around the perimeter of the 
development or a compensatory length of ditch should be 
provided elsewhere within the site 

Development shall be undertaken in a comprehensive manner and 
accord with the following key masterplanning requirements (as 
depicted, where appropriate, on the Schematic Framework): 

Page 1308



77 
 

• Provide 44 ha of business land capable of accommodating up 
to 90,000 square metres campus style high quality 
development similar to existing business park at St Mellons 
in a location which benefits from Assisted Area Status; 

• Integrate the site with local facilities in the surrounding 
area; 

• Effectively respond to landscape and biodiversity assets by: 
- Protecting the value of the Gwent Levels SSSI with 

development being a minimum of 12.5 metres from main 
reens and 7 metres from field ditches; 

- Ensuring that all development accords with the Natural 
Resources Wales (formerly Countryside Council for Wales) 
Wentloog Levels guidelines “Nature Conservation and 
Physical Developments on the Gwent Levels – the current 
and future implications”; 

- Integrating any landscape natural features, such as existing 
reens and hedgerows into the design including provision of 
suitable buffers; 

- Protecting the Marshfield SINC; 
- Respecting the intricate reen network and exiting 

hedgerows; 
- Linking retained habitats through the provision of a series of 

open space corridors providing ecological connectivity, 
sustainable access routes and opportunities for sustainable 
drainage including: 

- Links between retained reens and hedgerows; 
- Green links to Hendre Lake Park which respond to the 

natural landscape value of the area; 
- Ensuring that there is no detriment to the maintenance of 

the favourable conservation status of the Shrill Carder Bee 
by carrying out a survey, and if found, provide appropriate 
compensatory measures; 

- Ensuring that there is no detriment to the maintenance of 
the favourable conservation status of European Protected 
Species including bats, otters and reptiles including 
provision of suitable compensatory planting to supplement 
existing retained habitats; 

• Effectively respond to heritage assets by: 
- Assessing and effectively addressing potential impacts on 

known assets including the Wentloog Levels Archaeologically 

Page 1309



78 
 

Sensitive Area and registered Landscape of Outstanding 
Historic Interest; 

4.77. This is an important employment site which contributes to the 
necessary range and choice of types of employment opportunities in the 
city. Its location is particularly well placed to provide accessible job 
opportunities to areas of known deprivation and its position adjacent to 
the main rail line offers significant opportunities for a new station 
together with supporting sustainable transportation infrastructure. This 
proposal is a long-standing proposal in the Regional Transport Plan, is 
identified in the emerging work on the South Wales Metro concept and 
has Welsh Government support. However, the precise location of the 
station is yet to be defined so it would be premature to show a specific 
allocation for this use on the Proposals Map but it is shown within the 
Schematic Framework and referenced within the policy. 

4.78. It is recognised that the area possesses environmental and flood 
risk constraints. In terms of environmental issues, the majority of the 
area is a Site of Special Scientific Interest with the reens forming the 
major interest. Run-off will enter the River Severn Estuary, a European 
designated site so drainage and potential disturbance to birds will need to 
be suitably addressed. The land also meets the qualifying criteria using 
the LANDMAP landscape methodology for Special Landscape Area status. 
Furthermore, there are significant historic interests and the land is 
designated as a Historic Landscape and Archaeologically Sensitive Area. 

4.79. These environmental and flood risk constraints have been carefully 
examined so that the mitigation and enhancement measures embedded 
within this policy provide an appropriate framework at this level to 
address these issues. These measures will provide a framework for 
landowners and developers to prepare Parameter Plans and Masterplans 
which will inform the Development Management process. In this way, the 
significant social and economic benefits brought forward by this allocation 
can be delivered whilst carefully responding to and putting in place the 
policy framework to effectively address the known constraints relating to 
the site.  

 

 

 

Page 1310



79 
 
 

 

P
age 1311



80 
 
 

 

2. Putting in place a framework to manage future growth and 
encourage high quality, sustainable design 

 
KP3(A): GREEN WEDGE 

In order to strategically manage the urban form of Cardiff and to 
protect the setting of the urban area, a Green Wedge is proposed 
on land North of the M4 as shown on the Proposals Map.  Within 
this area development which prejudices the open nature of this 
land will not be permitted.  Positive biodiversity, landscape, 
climate change mitigation and informal recreational management 
and enhancement measures will be encouraged in this area to 
further enhance the long term role of the area as a key natural 
resource benefiting the city. 
 
4.80. Together with Key Policy KP3(B), this Policy seeks to strategically 
manage the future built form of Cardiff’s urban area.  The designated area 
forms land North of the M4 in Cardiff as shown on the Proposals Map. This 
land unquestionably forms a distinctive, prominent and well known green 
backdrop to the city forming a strategically important setting to the urban 
area. The land is also generally well contained by the strong physical 
boundary of the M4 Motorway to the south.  

4.81 PPW provides specific guidance on the consideration of planning 
applications within the Green Wedge designation.  
 
KP3(B): SETTLEMENT BOUNDARIES 
 
In order to strategically manage the spatial growth of Cardiff, 
settlement boundaries are proposed as shown on the Proposals 
Map. In all areas outside the defined settlement boundaries, 
otherwise referred to as countryside, there will be a 
corresponding presumption against inappropriate development. 
 
4.82. Cardiff’s settlement boundaries are a key mechanism for helping to 
manage growth by defining the area within which development would 
normally be permitted, subject to material planning considerations.  This 
Policy compliments the Green Wedge Key Policy (KP3(A)) set out above.  
The policy will impose a strict control on development of all countryside in 

Page 1312



81 
 
 

Cardiff outside the identified settlement boundaries as shown on the 
Proposals Map.  Detailed Policy EN1 provides more guidance on the 
interpretation of this Policy approach. 

4.83. Cardiff’s countryside is a valuable and finite resource which is under 
increasing pressure from all kinds of development due to its proximity to 
the urban area, including farm diversification and equine-related 
proposals, and because of the large number of properties and small 
parcels of land in different ownerships spread throughout the countryside. 
Whilst it is necessary to encourage sensitive proposals that support a 
working countryside, Cardiff’s countryside is particularly vulnerable to the 
cumulative impact of insensitive new developments that may harm its 
character and appearance together with ‘suburbanising’ attractive 
landscapes. Where it can be demonstrated that development outside 
settlement boundaries is acceptable in principle, other detailed LDP 
policies provide the framework to consider the merits or otherwise of 
proposals along with national planning policy including TAN 6: Planning 
for Sustainable Rural Communities.  
 
4.84. Cardiff’s settlement boundaries have been carefully assessed and 
follow logical, existing boundaries wherever possible. Full account has 
been taken of the particular characteristics, usage and degree of 
openness of specific parcels of land together with their inter-relationships 
with surrounding land. Proposals located on the urban fringe which have 
an extant planning permission may have been incorporated within the 
settlement boundaries. Cardiff’s settlement boundaries are illustrated on 
the Proposals Map. 
 
 
  

Page 1313



82 
 
 

KP4: MASTERPLANNING APPROACH 
 
Major development should accord with: 
 
(i) The following Masterplanning General Principles: 
 
1. Development schemes that are planned in a comprehensive 

and integrated manner reflecting partnership working and 
setting out the phasing of development along with a timely 
provision of supporting infrastructure. Masterplans will need 
to encompass the whole of a development area regardless of 
land ownership patterns, and this will require partnership 
working, involving all relevant parties; 

2. High density residential and mixed-use development is 
focused along public transport corridors and in 
neighbourhood centres with lower densities provided 
elsewhere to deliver an overall range and choice to meet 
different needs; 

3. Dedicated sustainable transport corridors including provision 
for public transport, cycling and walking which will form key 
elements of the overall master plan and effectively link into 
the wider network; 

4. Walking, cycling and public transport will be attractive, 
practical and convenient travel choices for all; 

5. Provision of a full range of social and community facilities 
will be concentrated within mixed use neighbourhood 
centres located along public transport corridors and easily 
accessed by walking and cycling; 

6. The masterplanning process effectively responds to the local 
context and the context of climate change, to create new 
well designed neighbourhoods with a distinctive character 
which residents will be proud of; 

7. New development responds to local deficiencies and 
provides good connectivity to adjoining areas and is 
informed by feedback from existing communities; 

8. Multi-functional and connected green open spaces form 
strategically important links to the surrounding area to 
provide routes for people and wildlife and open spaces for 
sports, recreation and play; 

Page 1314



83 
 
 

9. Sympathetically integrate existing landscape, biodiversity 
and historic features of the site into the development taking 
opportunities to protect, enhance and manage important 
features along with mitigation and enhancement measures 
to provide satisfactory compensatory measures; 

10. Innovative and creative energy, management of surface 
water and waste management solutions are adopted to make 
new developments more environmentally sustainable ; and 

 
(ii) Guidance set out in Site-Specific Masterplanning Frameworks, 
where prepared. 
 
4.85. In order to more effectively manage the form, uses, transportation 
solutions, phasing and appearance of major new developments, the LDP 
sets out a ‘masterplanning approach’. This will provide greater certainty 
to developers, the public and all other interested parties. The overall aim 
will be for the Council to set out a broad framework at the outset which 
will provide an overarching context for more detailed design and 
implementation work to follow. This Policy relates to all strategic sites and 
any other major new developments which may emerge over the Plan 
period. 
 
4.86. With regard to Strategic Sites, policies KP2(A) to KP2(H) set out the 
infrastructure and masterplanning requirements for each of the sites 
which are shown indicatively, where appropriate, on Schematic 
Frameworks. To avoid repetition and unnecessarily long policies, only 
site-specific and not generic requirements have been articulated and 
embedded in the policy relating to each Strategic Site.  
 
4.87. The infrastructure requirements contained within policies KP2(A) to 
KP2(H) reflect the level of detailed information known. Future updates to 
the Infrastructure Plan will allow such information to be regularly updated 
to reflect prevailing circumstances and show more detail when it is 
known. It would be premature and unhelpful to include overly prescriptive 
directions in the Plan where detailed matters are more appropriately 
considered through the Development Management process but within the 
context of the framework embedded within the Plan. In this way, the 
maximum possible certainty can be given without setting out 
unsupported aspirations.  

 

Page 1315



84 
 
 

4.88. This policy, in conjunction with other relevant policies, will provide 
the masterplanning framework for landowners and developers to prepare 
Parameter Plans and Master Plans for major new development proposals, 
which will inform the Development Management process. 

KP5: GOOD QUALITY AND SUSTAINABLE DESIGN 
 
To help support the development of Cardiff as a world-class 
European Capital City, all new development will be required to be 
of a high quality, sustainable design and make a positive 
contribution to the creation of distinctive communities, places and 
spaces by: 
 
i. Responding to the local character and context of the built 

and landscape setting so that layout, scale, form, massing, 
height, density, colour, materials, detailing and impact on 
the built and natural heritage are all addressed within 
development proposals; 

ii. Providing legible development which is easy to get around 
and which ensures a sense of continuity and enclosure; 

iii. Providing a diversity of land uses to create balanced 
communities and add vibrancy throughout the day; 

iv. Creating interconnected streets, squares and spaces as 
distinctive places, which are safe, accessible, vibrant and 
secure and incorporate public art where appropriate; 

v. Providing a healthy and convenient environment for all 
users that supports the principles of community safety, 
encourages walking and cycling, enables employment, 
essential services and community facilities to be 
accessible by sustainable transport and maximises the 
contribution of networks of multi-functional and 
connected open spaces to encourage healthier lifestyles; 

vi. Maximising renewable energy solutions; 
vii. Achieve a resource efficient and climate responsive design 

that provides sustainable water and waste management 
solutions and minimise emissions from transport, homes 
and industry; 

viii. Achieving an adaptable design that can respond to future 
social, economic, technological and environmental 
requirements; 

Page 1316



85 
 
 

ix. Promoting the efficient use of land, developing at highest 
practicable densities and where appropriate achieving the 
remediation of land contamination;” 

x. Ensuring no undue effect on the amenity of neighbouring 
occupiers and connecting positively to surrounding 
communities;  

xi. Fostering inclusive design, ensuring buildings, streets and 
spaces are accessible to all users and is adaptable to 
future changes in lifestyle; and 

xii. Locating Tall buildings in locations which are highly 
accessible through walking and public transport and 
within an existing or proposed cluster of tall buildings. 

 
4.89. High quality sustainable design is vital if Cardiff is to meet the 
objectives set out in the Vision and develop as a world-class capital. More 
specifically, good design plays a number of significant roles: tackling 
climate change; protecting and enhancing Cardiff’s natural and built 
environment; protecting local distinctiveness; attracting investment and 
promoting social inclusion, health and quality of life.  
 
4.90. Good design therefore goes beyond traditional aesthetic 
considerations and should be an aim for all development proposals within 
Cardiff, regardless of their scale. Together with the masterplanning 
approach set out in Key Policy KP4, above, and relevant detailed policies, 
it is considered that the Plan provides a sound policy framework to ensure 
the best possible design solutions are secured as the Plan is implemented. 
Implementation of this Policy, which is aimed in part at improving water 
resource use efficiency, will ensure adequate water supply without 
adverse impacts on the River Usk and River Wye SACs, thereby helping to 
avoid the likelihood that this Plan will have a significant effect upon 
European designated sites. Implementation of this Policy will also reduce 
emission of air, water and ground pollutants, thereby offsetting increases 
in pollution arising from implementation of other policies in the Plan. This 
would contribute to avoiding significant effects upon European Sites. 
 
4.91. A range of design-related SPG for different forms of development. 
will be updated and consolidated as summarised in Appendix 4 to provide 
full guidance on the detailed interpretation of this Policy. 
 
  

Page 1317



86 
 
 

3. Bringing forward new infrastructure 
 
KP6: NEW INFRASTRUCTURE 
 
New development will make appropriate provision for, or 
contribute towards, all essential, enabling and necessary 
infrastructure required as a consequence of the development in 
accordance with Planning Policy Guidance.  Such infrastructure 
will be delivered in a timely manner to meet the needs of existing 
and planned communities and includes the following aspects 
which may be required having regard to the nature, scale and 
location of the proposed development: 

Essential / Enabling Infrastructure: 

• Transportation and highways including access, circulation, 
parking, public transport provision, walking and cycling; 

• Utility services; 
• Flood mitigation / defences; 
 
Necessary Infrastructure: 
 
• Affordable Housing; 
• Schools and education; 
• Health and social care; 
• Community buildings and facilities including District and Local 

Centre improvements; 
• Local employment and training including replacement 

employment opportunities where relevant; 
• Community safety initiatives; 
• Open space, recreational facilities, playgrounds, allotments; 
• Protection, management, enhancement and mitigation 

measures relating to the natural and built environment; 
• Public realm improvements and public art;  
• Waste management facilities including recycling and services; 
• District heating and sustainable energy infrastructure. 
 
4.92. Policy KP6 seeks to ensure that new developments, irrespective of 
their size, location, or land use, make appropriate provision for 
infrastructure.  Specific infrastructure requirements will vary in different 
locations and be dependent upon the scale and nature of proposed 

Page 1318



87 
 
 

development.  Infrastructure may be required to facilitate development 
(essential/enabling) or can be required to make a development 
acceptable (necessary).  For example, it may include elements from the 
list contained as part of the Policy, which is not exhaustive, but gives an 
indication of the potential scope of infrastructure which may be required. 

 
• Category 1: Essential / Enabling Infrastructure (to facilitate 

development) - Those items which will need to be delivered prior to, 
or from the commencement of the relevant phases of development 
(e.g. transportation / highways infrastructure, utility services and 
flood mitigation / defences); 

• Category 2: Necessary Infrastructure (to make development 
acceptable) - Items which need to be phased and implemented 
alongside new development, to ensure that areas are served with 
appropriate facilities over time (e.g. schools and recreational open 
space). 

 
4.93. The list serves to give a general indication only as each topic may 
have complex requirements. For example transportation infrastructure 
could include elements of the following: 
• Routes and facilities for walking and cycling comprising both on-road 

and off-road improvements; 
• Rapid transit corridors, including heavy rail, light rail, tram train and 

bus rapid transit; 
• Key bus corridors and the wider bus network including bus priority 

measures and passenger facilities; 
• The rail network and rail services including new rail stations, station 

improvements and facilities for rail freight; 
• Transport interchanges to support integration between modes 

including, bus and rail stations, facilities for bus and rail-based park 
and ride, park and share, passenger drop off, taxis, park and cycle, 
coach parking, overnight lorry parking and water transport; 

• Designated freight routes and freight transfer facilities; 
• The road network, particularly measures to make better use of 

existing highway capacity; 
• Transport by river (including Cardiff Bay); and 
• Port and shipping facilities. 
 
4.94. With regard to Strategic Sites, policies KP2(A)-KP2(H) provide clear 
guidance on the Council’s infrastructure and masterplanning 

Page 1319



88 
 
 

requirements. This information will be cross-referenced to the Cardiff 
Infrastructure Plan which is a ‘living document’ sitting alongside the LDP. 
The Infrastructure Plan is directly linked to the LDP Monitoring Framework 
and will be regularly updated, so as more details are established they can 
be incorporated into the document. 

4.95. The Infrastructure Plan identifies the potential costs of 
infrastructure provision, potential funding mechanisms / sources of 
funding and provides an indication of phasing requirements. The diagram 
set out below shows some of the potential funding sources for 
infrastructure provision. It is important to note that there are numerous 
potential funding sources and those shown on the diagram raise 
peripheral issues which require further discussion and work to investigate 
the feasibility of securing funding through these means. 

 

 
 
4.96. Within larger sites, which are the subject of detailed masterplanning 
and phasing, it is likely that necessary infrastructure can be delivered as 
part of comprehensive mixed-use development. This infrastructure could 
be delivered through planning obligations or by direct intervention from 
service/infrastructure providers. In all cases, the early identification of 
infrastructure requirements and a commitment from developers and 

Infrastructure 

UK 
Government 

Funding Welsh 
Government 

Funding 

European 
Funding 

Private 
Finance 

Road User 
Charging 

Voluntary 
Sector 

Developer(s) 

Workplace 
Parking Levy 

Grants 

Council 
Funding 

Page 1320



89 
 
 

service providers to work in partnership will help ensure that all necessary 
infrastructure can be planned, delivered and managed in an orderly and 
timely manner. 
 
4.97. The provision of flexible, multi-functional buildings and places will 
allow for essential services to be provided, whilst allowing communities 
define and re-define their infrastructure requirements over time. A strong 
commitment to shared community buildings, services, their management 
and maintenance will ensure that facilities are at the heart of the 
community, whilst reducing overall costs to both developers and service 
providers. The principle of community buildings integrated within multi-
function “hubs” (for example, the @Loudoun development in Butetown) is 
a trend which is set to continue. The Infrastructure Plan provides further 
information regarding potential opportunities for shared premises as well 
as an indication of compatible uses and services. 
 
4.98. A Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) for Cardiff is being 
progressed. The balance between site masterplanning, planning 
obligations and CIL to deliver infrastructure will be informed by site 
viability, dialogue with developers and the availability of other funding 
sources. Detailed Policy KP7 (Planning Obligations) provides further detail 
and describes those infrastructure requirements which may be delivered 
through planning obligations. 
 
KP7: PLANNING OBLIGATIONS 
 
Planning obligations will be sought to mitigate any impacts 
directly related to the development and will be assessed on a case 
by case basis in line with Planning Policy Guidance. 
 
4.99. Planning obligations are a means of overcoming obstacles to the 
grant of planning permission. They are attached to planning permissions 
and are commitments by developers to undertake necessary works or 
make financial contributions that cannot be secured by condition or other 
statutory means. 
 
4.100. New development often generates additional demands upon 
existing services, facilities, infrastructure and the environment. Planning 
obligations are a means of seeking contributions from developers towards 
these demands, as well as negotiating benefits that improve the standard 

Page 1321



90 
 
 

of development proposals by providing necessary infrastructure and 
community benefits. 
 
4.101. The legislative and policy framework governing the use of planning 
obligations is provided in PPW, Community Infrastructure Levy 
Regulations 2010 (as amended) and Welsh Office Circular 13/97 'Planning 
Obligations' (or subsequent versions). 
 
4.102. The CIL Regulations require there to be no overlap between 
infrastructure funded from CIL and what can be delivered through 
planning obligations. To avoid duplication, and to provide clarity to 
developers, the Authority will publish a list (Regulation 123 List) of the 
infrastructure which will be funded through the CIL. For infrastructure not 
included on the Regulation 123 List, it may be appropriate to secure 
necessary infrastructure through planning obligations. 
 
4.103. Obligations will be sought from a developer to: 

• Restrict the development or use of land; 
• Require land to be used in a specific way; 
• Require operations or activities to be carried out; or 
• Require payments to be made to the authority. 

 
4.104. They will be sought where they are: 
 Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms 
 Directly related to the development; and 
 Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development 
 
4.105. Obligations are normally negotiated under Section 106 of the 1990 
Town and Country Planning Act. Agreements can also be entered into 
under Section 278 of the 1980 Highways Act. These prescribe the 
highway works required as a result of proposed developments. SPG will 
be prepared to provide further guidance on the use of planning 
obligations. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1322



91 
 
 

 
4. Delivering sustainable transportation solutions 
 
KP8: SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT 
 
Development in Cardiff will be integrated with transport 
infrastructure and services in order to: 
i. Achieve the target of a 50:50 modal split between 

journeys by car and journeys by walking, cycling and 
public transport. 

ii. Reduce travel demand and dependence on the car; 
iii. Enable and maximise use of sustainable and active modes 

of transport; 
iv. Integrate travel modes; 
v. Provide for people with particular access and mobility 

requirements; 
vi. Improve safety for all travellers; 
vii. Maintain and improve the efficiency and reliability of the 

transport network; 
viii. Support the movement of freight by rail or water; and 
ix. Manage freight movements by road and minimise their 

impacts. 
 
4.106. For Cardiff to accommodate the planned levels of growth, existing 
and future residents will need to be far less reliant on the private car. 
Therefore, ensuring that more everyday journeys are undertaken by 
sustainable modes of transport, walking, cycling and public transport, will 
be essential. 
 
4.107. The location and form of developments are major determinants of 
the distance people travel, the routes they take and the modes of 
transport they choose. Much of the growth in car travel in recent decades 
can be attributed to developments which have been poorly integrated 
with the transport network Integration of land use and transport provision 
can help to manage travel demand, avoid developments which are car 
dependent and make it easier to facilitate movements by sustainable 
modes. 
 
4.108. The purpose of this Key Policy, therefore, is to ensure that 
developments are properly integrated with the transport infrastructure 

Page 1323



92 
 
 

necessary to make developments accessible by sustainable travel modes 
and achieve a necessary shift away from car-based travel. 
 
4.109. In order to mitigate transport impacts and achieve the 50:50 
modal split target, the development of strategic sites will be integrated 
with provision of transport and highways infrastructure referred to in 
Policy KP6 (New Infrastructure). Such infrastructure will include:  
 
• the walking and cycling infrastructure supported by Policy T1;  
• the strategic rapid transit, bus corridor enhancements and wider 

improvements to the city’s bus network supported by Policy T2;  
• Transport Interchanges supported by Policy T3; and  
• the Regional Transport Hub supported by Policy T4.  
 

4.110 Policies KP2 (A) to KP2 (H) list the ‘Essential’ and ‘Enabling 
infrastructure’ required to support the development of each strategic 
site’s contribution to the delivery of the county-wide 50:50 modal split 
target.  
 
4.111. Currently (2011) 64% of all weekly journeys (work and non-work 
related) are made by car, whilst 36% are made by other modes. A central 
aim of the transport strategy supporting the LDP is to achieve a 50:50 
split between travel by car and sustainable travel. This target is not 
simply a policy aspiration; local knowledge of the transportation network 
and research of travel behaviour, patterns and trends in combination with 
modelling work carried out by the Council has shown that achieving this 
ratio is necessary for the transport network to accommodate movements 
associated with the growth envisaged within this plan in a way which 
avoids unmanageable levels of congestion on the highway network. 
 
4.112 A transport model was developed to assess the overall impact of 
proposed development sites on the highway network in Cardiff in 2026.  
The model is based on the morning peak periods when pressures on the 
highway network are greatest. Peak period flows have been modelled on 
a 2010 base and then compared with 2026 based on the following 
increases in housing and employment: 

• A 25% increase in housing (from 142,382 to 178,594) 
• A 20% increase in jobs (from 198,400 to 238,400) 

 

Page 1324



93 
 
 

4.113. The 2026 model was based on the 2010 highway network and 
assumes no changes have been made to accommodate the additional 
vehicle movements from the development sites; this approach is known 
as a ‘business as usual’ scenario. This has enabled the impact of the LDP 
Strategy to be fully quantified. The key outcomes of the modelling 
exercise illustrate that:  

• The demand for travel by car would increase by 41%; 
• 10% of new demand would be unable to travel on the highway 

network due to lack of capacity so there would be a 32% net 
increase in traffic; 

• Average journey speeds would decrease; and 
• Journey times would increase by approximately 41% or 7 minutes 

(average). 
 

4.114. The Council’s modelling assessment demonstrates that the growth 
projected in the LDP will result in major increase in transport movements 
generally including significant additional trips on the highway network. 
Furthermore, that in order to accommodate the additional vehicular trips 
on the highway network, it will be necessary that at least 50% of all trips 
on Cardiff’s transport network are made by sustainable modes by the end 
of the Plan period in 2026. 
 
4.115. The results of the modelling and assessment work show that in 
order to achieve a 50:50 split between car-based and non car-based 
travel, development proposed in the LDP will need to be supported by 
significant new transport infrastructure, improvements to existing 
transport facilities, and measures to manage travel demand and 
encourage use of sustainable transport both within existing and new 
communities in Cardiff. In light of the scale of transport impacts 
highlighted in the transport evidence base, it is essential that in 
considering planning applications, the Council seeks to secure measures 
which maximise the accessibility of development schemes by sustainable 
modes. 
 
4.116. It is accepted that for some development sites it may not be 
possible to achieve a 50:50 modal split, at least in the short term. 
However, in light of the scale of transport impacts highlighted in the 
transport evidence base, it is essential that in considering planning 
applications, the Council seeks to secure measures which maximise the 
accessibility of development schemes by sustainable modes. 

Page 1325



94 
 
 

 
4.117. For smaller schemes, this could include accommodating through-
pedestrian or cycle movements within the development layout or 
positioning access to the site where it could minimise the walking distance 
to the nearest bus stop. 
 
4.118. For larger development schemes which have significant transport 
implications, more substantial measures will be required to address travel 
impacts and maximise sustainable access. It is important to clarify that 
achieving the 50:50 modal split target will not be a matter of requiring all 
new developments within the plan period to achieve a 50:50 modal split. 
Rather, the target will be achieved by the Council seeking to secure 
through the development process measures which maximise the possible 
share of trips made by sustainable modes for all sites. It is accepted that 
for some developments a 50:50 modal split may not be achievable, at 
least in the short term. However, for other development sites the Council 
will seek to secure a higher than 50% share of trips by sustainable 
modes. 
 
4.119. Planning applications for development schemes at or above the 
size thresholds specified in TAN18: Transport will need to be supported by 
a Transport Assessment (TA). The TA will provide the basis for assessing 
all the potential travel impacts of developments including their effect on 
the highway network and the likely modal split of the trips that would be 
generated. This assessment will help establish the gaps in existing 
transport provision and the measures necessary to make a development 
accessible by sustainable modes. 
 
4.120. Such measures will be secured as a condition of planning consent 
and/or by way of planning obligation. In all cases, the nature of the 
measures sought will be in proportion with the scale of the development 
and the impacts requiring mitigation. 
 
4.121. For planning applications relating to the LDP strategic sites, the 
Council will seek to secure the on-site and off-site transport infrastructure 
identified within Policy KP2.  Implementation of this Policy will help to 
reduce pollution arising from road traffic. This will counteract increases in 
atmospheric pollution as a result of the Plan, thereby avoiding significant 
effects upon internationally designated sites. 

Page 1326



95 
 
 

4.122. The transport aspects of all development proposals will be 
considered with regard to this key Policy and the detailed transport 
policies. 
 
 
 
 
 
5. Responding to evidenced economic needs 
 
KP9: RESPONDING TO EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS 
 
Provision will be made for a range and choice of new employment 
sites including those identified in KP2 for different types of 
employment and in different geographical locations to effectively 
deliver the level of growth set out in the plan together with 
putting in place a framework to protect the role of existing 
employment land 
 
4.123. This Policy responds to Cardiff’s role as the main economic driver 
in South East Wales and its operation as a city-region which effectively 
increases the population to around 1.4 million reflecting its position as 
capital of Wales and seat of Welsh Government and accounting for 32% of 
total employment in South East Wales. It delivers the strategic aspirations 
for economic development in Cardiff through the identification and 
protection of employment land and premises and opportunities to deliver 
the key economic growth sectors relating to ICT, energy and 
environmental technologies, advanced materials and manufacturing, 
creative industries, life sciences and financial and professional services. 
 
4.124. At the heart of this approach is recognition that the Cardiff city-
region clearly forms a natural economic area and it has consistently made 
a major positive contribution to the economic growth of Wales. In core 
city analysis, Cardiff performs well and there is an opportunity to build 
further on this through continuing to enhance Cardiff’s role and also 
improve linkages and connectivity within the city-region. It is also 
recognised that there are significant benefits for adjoining areas from 
Cardiff’s success in achieving economic growth. 
 

Page 1327



96 
 
 

4.125. The economic strategy for the LDP supports inward investment 
and new business requirements through striking a balance between the 
supply and demand for employment land and continuing to provide a 
diverse range of job opportunities. Critical to the economic strategy for 
the city is an appreciation of the changes in population, labour market 
and employment base together with achieving the appropriate balance 
between the provision of new jobs and homes.  
 
4.126. A number of key issues and messages emerge from the supply and 
demand studies which have implications for Cardiff’s economic 
performance and therefore are critical elements of the economic strategy 
for the LDP. The evidence points to the need for a Strategy that 
addresses these three issues: 

• Providing a range and choice of new employment land; 
• Cardiff Central Enterprise Zone as a core element of the strategy; 

and 
• Recognising the role of existing employment land and premises. 

 
4.127. In terms of providing for new employment land, the LDP sets a 
framework for delivering a wide range and choice of employment sites in 
different locations and for different sectors including the key market 
sectors of ICT, energy and environmental technologies, advanced 
materials and manufacturing, creative industries, life sciences and 
financial and professional services. The range of new sites ensures that 
Cardiff can deliver the stated level of growth for new jobs. Importantly, 
different sites will perform different roles in the strategy. For example, 
land at Junction 33 may be better suited to ICT, life sciences, energy and 
environmental technologies whilst Porth Teigr (Roath Basin) is becoming 
an important location for media and creative industries. Land south of St 
Mellons Business Park is also allocated to provide a strategic employment 
site capable of attracting inward investment opportunities for high value 
service and knowledge based sectors. 
 
4.128. The provision of employment land as part of wider housing-led 
comprehensive developments at North West Cardiff, North East Cardiff, 
Arjo Wiggins and Roath Basin provides an important role in terms of the 
overall supply and mix of employment land offering a good range and 
choice of small out of centre employment sites, including offices, creative 
industries, small workshops, and starter units. This will be essential to 

Page 1328



97 
 
 

ensure the continued provision of local employment opportunities and 
address the geographical employment disparities across the county. 
 
4.129. The geographical spread of the ‘Cardiff offer’ also addresses the 
need to provide jobs in accessible locations. In this respect, the key 
strategic proposal relating to the Cardiff Central Enterprise Zone and 
Regional Transport Hub represents a highly sustainable and accessible 
location, close to areas of high unemployment in the city but also readily 
accessible to the wider region via sustainable modes of transport. 
 
4.130. This key site is an integral part of the Council’s economic vision to 
establish Cardiff as a leading European business city over the next two 
decades and will underpin and promote the financial and professional 
services sector and create a platform for investment. It will greatly assist 
promoting Wales’ share of UK inward investment which has fallen from 
previous rates of 20% to just 2%.Furthermore, the scale of this proposal 
relating to Grade A office space is potentially a real ‘game changer’ for 
Cardiff and Wales to compete more effectively with other UK cities. 
 
4.131. It is a long-term proposal which seeks to revitalise up to 140 acres 
of brownfield city-centre land adjacent to Cardiff Central railway station. 
It will focus on enhancing Cardiff’s growing reputation as a financial and 
professional services cluster and is a key sustainable regeneration project. 
 
4.132. Integrated transport sits at the heart of the Cardiff Central 
Enterprise Zone with Central Square becoming the hub of the Enterprise 
Zone. The proposal represents the next phase of redevelopment of Cardiff 
city centre and aims to create a modern and high quality gateway to the 
city whilst extending the function of the city centre south of the railway 
line, creating a better link between the city centre and Bay and providing 
a new convention centre to attract business, tourism and promote the city 
for business. The Cardiff Central Enterprise Zone is one of 7 new 
Enterprise Zones in Wales designated by the Welsh Government and the 
only Zone focused on financial and professional services. The Zone came 
into effect on 1st April 2012 and has a lifespan of 5 years. 
 
4.133. It is important to ensure that a range and choice of employment 
land and business premises are provided to maintain and improve the 
competitiveness of the city, promote and protect indigenous business and 
attract inward investment. There has been growing pressure over recent 

Page 1329



98 
 
 

years for the development and redevelopment of employment land and 
premises for alternative uses (predominantly residential), whether still 
occupied or where current operations have ceased, which offer a greater 
level of return for investors. Such development proposals can result in 
significant losses to the county’s stock of employment land and premises. 
 
4.134. The loss of employment land can be incremental with the loss of 
one site setting the precedent for the loss of a series of others in a similar 
location, leading to a gradual erosion of an employment area. Sometimes 
alternative uses can also fragment a larger business area or sever links 
between employment uses in an area. Over time pressure for alternative 
uses result in a cumulative loss of employment sites to the detriment of 
the local economy. In addition many existing industrial areas are located 
within the ‘southern arc’ of deprivation in areas of greatest need for jobs 
and it is important to retain employment in these locations due to their 
accessibility. 
 
4.135. The Strategy seeks to protect existing business and industrial and 
warehousing land (B1b/c, B2 and B8 uses) to ensure their continued 
important contribution to providing accessible sources of employment in 
the city. Similarly, there will be a strong presumption in favour of 
retaining existing high quality and accessible office accommodation. 
However, consideration will be given to the change of use (to housing for 
example) of lower quality office and industrial premises which do not 
perform an important strategic or local role in terms of the overall range 
and choice of premises. Where alternative use of land is considered 
appropriate, priority will be given to mixed-use development comprising 
employment, housing and community facilities or, where that is not 
feasible, housing. (This policy position will also help to support future 
windfall provision over the Plan period) Other proposals will need to 
demonstrate why a mixed-use of housing and employment schemes 
cannot be achieved on a site. 
 
4.136. It is also important to recognise the role of the sea port, ABP and 
its tenants in South Wales directly and indirectly supports over £1.7 
billion of gross output in Wales. There are therefore opportunities to 
continue to support the role of the port, particularly its potential to 
generate new industry and services (Competitive Capital – The Cardiff 
Economic Strategy 2007 to 2012, Cardiff Council). 
 

Page 1330



99 
 
 

4.137. In addition, in order to maximise the contribution to providing jobs 
from existing sites and promote the efficient use of land, the strategy 
seeks to encourage the intensification and refurbishment of existing 
employment land and premises which are under used, vacant or in 
decline. The Strategy supports the regeneration of land and property for 
employment purposes such as Mount Stuart Square as a focus on 
innovative business. 
 
 
 
 
 
KP10: CENTRAL AND BAY BUSINESS AREAS 
 
The following uses are considered appropriate within the Central 
and Bay Business Areas: 
i. New offices, residential and commercial leisure uses 

within the Central and Bay Business Areas; 
ii. Enhanced retail and complementary facilities within the 

Central Shopping Area; and 
iii. Other uses most appropriately located in city centres. 
 
4.138. This Policy describes the range of uses appropriate within the 
Central and Bay Business Areas, as identified on the Proposals Map. It 
identifies those uses most appropriately located in centres accessible to 
large numbers of people and encourages a mix of complementary uses to 
maintain and enhance the vitality, attractiveness and viability of such 
centres. Identified within the Central Business Area (CBA) is the Central 
Shopping Area, as defined on the Proposals Map, where new and 
improved retail uses are most appropriate to maintain a vibrant and vital 
shopping centre. 
 
4.139. The CBA is the administrative and business heart of the city, and 
the established focus for major office and commercial leisure 
developments. The CBA contains the Central Shopping Area, with the 
recent St. David’s redevelopment confirming Cardiff’s position at the head 
of the regional shopping hierarchy. The civic centre is home to the 
National Museum of Wales and Cardiff University which, along with Cardiff 
Castle and Bute Park to the north, provide the historic setting for the city 

Page 1331



100 
 
 

centre. The area has the diversity and attractiveness befitting a European 
capital city. 
 
4.140. The Bay Business Area (BBA) is the focus for government, tourism 
and leisure development; with the Senedd, the Wales Millennium Centre 
and other landmark buildings redefining the architectural quality and 
attractiveness of the waterfront and its environs. Future development 
should continue to enhance the waterfront as an attractive and diverse 
mixed-use location, whilst complementing and supporting the CBA as the 
economic driver for the city region. The Cardiff Bay Barrage has created a 
200 hectare freshwater lake and 13km of waterfront providing 
opportunities for further tourism and water based recreation as well as 
attracting significant inward investment in an attractive waterfront 
location. 
4.141. New and improved leisure, recreation and tourist facilities are 
important for the future development of Cardiff. These uses are major 
employers in the city centre and generate significant benefits to the local 
economy. By improving the quality and range of sporting, recreation and 
leisure facilities, the area is made a more attractive place in which to live, 
work and visit, thereby helping to attract inward investment and 
regeneration. These attractions are also important for city marketing and 
the branding of Cardiff as a major cultural, sporting and leisure 
destination. Furthermore, it is recognised that these facilities are an 
important factor in improving the well-being and quality of life of our local 
communities. 
 
4.142. The Central and Bay Business Areas also contain a significant 
number of residential premises including high-rise apartment blocks, 
student accommodation and residential uses above commercial premises. 
Although the city centre and bay areas have experienced a large increase 
in residential development over the past 20 years, there remains the 
potential for further residential development. New residential 
development within the Central and Bay Business areas will support the 
delivery of balanced, mixed use areas where, by virtue of their proximity 
to public transport, leisure, employment and community facilities, can 
create sustainable urban neighbourhoods and contribute to the daytime 
and evening economy. 
 
4.143. A series of City Centre Strategies have been prepared since 1997, 
providing the framework for the strategic regeneration and management 

Page 1332



101 
 
 

of the city centre. A new Strategy is to be prepared alongside a series of 
Area Action Plans to define the regeneration activity and infrastructure 
necessary to deliver, sustain and manage the development of the city 
centre for present and future generations. 
 
KP11: CRUSHED ROCK AGGREGATES AND OTHER MINERALS 
 
Cardiff will maintain a steady and adequate supply of minerals 
and contribute to regional aggregate supplies by: 
i. Promoting and supporting the efficient use of minerals 

and use of alternatives to naturally occurring minerals 
including the re-use of secondary aggregates; 

ii. Protecting existing mineral reserves and safeguarding 
potential resources of limestone, coal and sand and gravel 
from development that would preclude their future 
extraction; 

iii. Maintaining a minimum 10 year land bank of permitted 
crushed rock aggregate reserves in line with national 
guidance;  

iv. Supporting appropriate applications for sand and gravel 
extraction; and 

v. Safeguarding wharves from development that would 
prevent their use for landing marine dredged sand and 
gravel.  

 
4.144. Mineral resources are a valuable but finite resource. An adequate 
and steady supply of minerals is essential to the national, regional and 
local economy and their exploitation makes a significant contribution to 
our economic prosperity and quality of life. Cardiff is one of the largest 
producers and consumers of minerals in the region and those worked in 
Cardiff at present provide the essential raw materials for our buildings, 
infrastructure and maintenance. Natural minerals include quarried hard 
rock (carboniferous limestone and dolomite) and dredged sand landed in 
Cardiff Docks. 
 
4.145. Crushed rock production in the past has averaged 1 million (mt.) 
per annum, broadly similar to the County’s consumption. In addition 
approximately 0.3 mt. of sea dredged sand is landed at Cardiff Docks 
every year. The majority of natural mineral production is used in the 
construction industry as crushed rock aggregates. Secondary materials, 

Page 1333



102 
 
 

such as construction and demolition waste, are also used as substitutes 
for natural aggregates. Cardiff is also an important source of dolomitic 
and high purity limestone for industrial use in the local steelmaking 
process.  The Regional Technical Statement 1st Review (August 2014) 
produced by the North and South Wales Regional Aggregates Working 
Parties states that Cardiff should make provision for 0.86 million tonnes of 
crushed rock aggregates per year up to 2036, resulting in a total 
apportionment of 21.5 million tonnes. This requirement is based on 
average annual production for the period 2001 to 2010 and compares 
with the existing landbank of 41 million tonnes (as at 31st December 
2010) of crushed rock reserves meaning Cardiff, based on current 
information, has a surplus of permitted reserves when compared to the 
requirements set out in the Regional Technical Statement 1st Review. This 
Policy recognises that Cardiff is an important regional provider of minerals 
and provides for the continuation of its present contribution to regional 
demand. 
 
4.146. The Policy promotes the increased use of alternatives to naturally 
occurring minerals. The re-use or recycling of construction and demolition 
material and industrial waste serves not only to reduce the amount of 
waste produced but also conserves scarce non-renewable natural mineral 
resources and minimises environmental damage. 
 
4.147. However, allowing for improvements in recycling and re-use, there 
will remain a need for primary minerals. It is recognised that natural 
mineral resources can only be replenished over geological timescales and 
that they need to be protected for future generations. As minerals can 
only be worked where they exist, it is important to protect them from 
inappropriate development, which could effectively sterilise them.  The 
Policy precludes inappropriate development on mineral reserves and 
resources themselves and allows for buffer zones within which sensitive 
development will be prevented. 
 
KP12: WASTE 
 
Waste arisings from Cardiff will be managed by: 
i. Promoting and supporting additional sustainable waste 

management facilities, measures and strategies in 
accordance with the Collections, Infrastructure and 
Markets Sector Plan (2012) and TAN 21 (2014) in a 

Page 1334



103 
 
 

manner that follows the waste hierarchy and the principles 
of an integrated and adequate network of waste 
installations; nearest appropriate installation; self-
sufficiency and protection of human health and the 
environment; 

ii. Encouraging the provision of in-building treatment 
facilities on existing and allocated areas of general 
industry; 

iii. Supporting the provision and maintenance of sustainable 
waste management storage and collection arrangements in 
all appropriate new developments; and 

iv. Supporting waste prevention and reuse and the provision 
of facilities that use recycled or composted products. 

 
4.148. Cardiff produces around a million tonnes of waste each year, 
varying from harmless inert materials to highly toxic chemical by-
products and residues.  It is important for the Council to manage the land 
use implications of this waste in an environmentally acceptable and 
sustainable way.  The Council is moving towards more sustainable waste 
management practices in line with European and national guidance, by 
increasing the amount of municipal waste recycled or composted and 
reducing the amount of biodegradable waste sent to landfill.  
 
4.149. TAN 21 (2014) sets a framework for the delivery of sustainable 
waste management infrastructure through the planning process.  The 
Collections, Infrastructure and Markets (CIM) (Sector Plan 2012) is 
intended to deliver the sustainable development outcomes set out in 
‘Towards Zero Waste’ the overarching waste strategy document for 
Wales.  The Council will work with others within the South East Wales 
region to monitor waste arisings and capacity requirements and respond 
to identified needs by providing an integrated and adequate network of 
waste management facilities across the region.  Additional treatment and 
recovery facilities are likely to be required within Cardiff during the Plan 
period in order to achieve the targets set out in the CIM Sector Plan and 
the policy principles established in TAN 21 (2014). 

4.150. All appropriate new development should include provision for the 
storage, recycling and management of waste. This will encourage waste 
reduction, recycling, composting and separation at source, in order to 
contribute towards meeting waste management targets.  
 

Page 1335



104 
 
 

6. Responding to evidenced social needs 
 
KP13: RESPONDING TO EVIDENCED SOCIAL NEEDS 

A key part of the successful progression of the city will be to 
develop sustainable neighbourhoods, tackle deprivation, and 
improve the quality of life for all. This will be achieved through: 

i. Providing a range of dwelling sizes, types and affordability 
including seeking to provide a target of 6,646 affordable 
dwellings over the remaining 12 years of Plan period; 

ii. Supporting the vitality, viability and attractiveness of 
existing District and Local Centres and their regeneration, 
including retail and other commercial development and 
housing of an appropriate scale; 

v. Encouraging the provision of a full range of social, health, 
leisure and education facilities and community 
infrastructure for both existing and new communities that 
are accessible to all by walking and cycling and public 
transport; 

vi. Supporting the regeneration of deprived communities 
within the city and maximising the additional benefits that 
new communities can bring to adjoining or surrounding 
communities; 

vii. Encouraging the enhancement of communities through 
better equality of access to services for all, promoting 
cultural and wider diversity for all groups in society, and 
creating places that encourage social interaction and 
cohesion; 

viii. Developing new cultural and sporting facilities to build 
upon Cardiff’s role as a major tourist, cultural and sporting 
destination for visitors and residents alike; and 

ix. Designing out crime and creating communities which are 
safer and feel safer. 

4.151. PPW promotes sustainable communities. In delivering sustainable 
communities, the Council will seek to ensure a range of dwelling sizes, 
types and affordability is provided in terms of both market and affordable 
housing to meet identified needs (including supported and sheltered 
housing and other special needs where appropriate), in safe 
neighbourhoods. In Cardiff, in line with national trends, average 

Page 1336



105 
 
 

household size has been declining and in general this has been reflected 
in an increasing proportion of 1 and 2 bedroom flats in schemes with 
residential consent. 
 
4.152. Whilst the provision of flats does cater for those seeking smaller 
units of accommodation, and this may free up other larger units of 
existing housing, there will still be a need for a range of dwelling types 
and sizes to be provided on sites that come forward during the Plan 
period. Whilst flats may be appropriate on some sites, the Council will 
seek to ensure, particularly in larger schemes, that a range of dwelling 
types and affordability is provided. 
 
4.153. The affordable housing target (6,646 or 554 units per annum) 
identifies the number of affordable housing units that it is anticipated will 
be provided over the remainder of the Plan period 2014 to 2026. The 
target takes into account the current landbank of affordable units (less an 
allowance for flexibility) and expected contributions from strategic and 
non-strategic sites, windfall sites change of use schemes based on the 
affordable housing target percentages (30% for greenfield sites and 20% 
for brownfield sites) outlined in Policy H3.. It is also likely that some 
affordable housing will also come forward from sources other than by the 
use of planning obligations, for example on sites or in dwellings acquired 
by social housing providers. 
 
4.155. The Cardiff LHMA assessment sets a requirement over the period 
2013-2018 of 3,989 affordable units per year or a total of 19,945. Clearly, 
the affordable housing target over the Plan period will not meet the need 
figure as set out in the LHMA and it is not expected to as it is only one of 
a variety of means to achieving a supply of affordable housing. 

 
4.155. The Plan also supports the viability and attractiveness of District 
and Local Centres which form an important part of Cardiff’s retail 
hierarchy and of its social, economic and physical fabric. In addition to 
their primary function of providing local shopping facilities they also 
accommodate a range of accessible services facilities and employment. 
This Policy aims to support the retention and provision of local shopping 
facilities, which remains the primary role of centres and underpins their 
vitality, attractiveness and viability. Such facilities are also accessible to 
the local community by public transport, walking and cycling thereby 
supporting the sustainable transportation objectives set out in the Plan. 

Page 1337



106 
 
 

Furthermore, the Policy also seeks to encourage investment and renewal 
of the physical fabric of centres. 
 
4.156. Providing a range of community, health, religious and educational 
facilities which are accessible to as many people as possible is an 
essential requirement in order to secure sustainable communities. Such 
facilities are significant local employers and can contribute towards the 
regeneration of local areas. Additionally, these services are essential to 
maintain and improve the quality of life of people living and working in 
Cardiff. 
 
4.157. The masterplanning approach which has been adopted to provide a 
framework for the development of strategic sites fully recognises the 
potential benefits that new development can bring to adjoining areas. 
Opportunities can be taken to deliver the aims of this Policy by new 
development enhancing the quality and range of existing provision of a 
range of facilities and services. 
 
4.158. In order to further support the regeneration of deprived 
communities within the city the LDP will support implementation of the 
Council's Neighbourhood Improvement Programme (March 2007) and the 
Communities First Programme, which aim to close the gap between the 
most deprived neighbourhoods and the city as a whole. 
 
4.159. In order to secure sustainable communities it is important that the 
LDP helps promote a culture in which diversity is valued and equality of 
opportunity is a reality. This can be achieved through a combination of 
policies within the Plan, particularly those creating places that encourage 
social interaction and cohesion. 
 
KP14: HEALTHY LIVING 
 
Cardiff will be made a healthier place to live by seeking to reduce 
health inequalities through encouraging healthy lifestyles, 
addressing the social determinants of health and providing 
accessible health care facilities. This will be achieved by 
supporting developments which provide for active travel, 
accessible and useable green spaces, including allotments. 
 

Page 1338



107 
 
 

4.160. This Policy accords with the aim in PPW to deliver sustainable 
development through ensuring that health is considered in new 
developments. It also assists achievement of a number of PPW objectives 
regarding travel and access to key community facilities. It reflects the 
direction that ‘health considerations can be material considerations in 
determining planning applications’ (PPW Para. 12.13.8) and accepts that 
the effect of development on people’s health is a key element of 
sustainable development and its consideration will raise any significant 
issues which need to be taken into account. 
 
4.161. Implementation of this Policy supports the Cardiff Partnership 
Strategy (2010-2020) and the population outcome ‘people in Cardiff are 
healthy’. It also contributes to the delivery of a number of objectives 
regarding healthy lifestyles including physical activity and recreation, in 
accordance with Our Healthy Future (Welsh Government 2009), Fairer 
Health Outcomes for All (Welsh Government 2011) and Creating an Active 
Wales (Welsh Government 2010). 
 
4.162. The Policy reflects evidence provided by ‘The Marmot Review: 
implications for spatial planning’ and Barton and Tsourou (2000) ‘Healthy 
Urban Planning’ and supports the theme of healthy urban environment 
and design taken forward by the World Health Organisation and UK 
Healthy Cities Networks.  
 
4.163. Overall, these policies and guidance conclude that the built and 
natural environment together with lifestyle behaviours contribute to 
improving health. Key measures to improve the health of the population 
include supporting:  
• Active travel such a walking and cycling; 
• Access to well-maintained open spaces for physical activity and food 

growing; and 
• Access to health care facilities. 
 
4.164. Such measures will assist in: 

• Achieving and maintaining a healthy weight; 
• Protecting mental health; and 
• Reducing stress levels. 

 

Page 1339



108 
 
 

4.165. Cardiff has a wealth of open spaces and walking and cycling rates 
to work/school and for leisure are on the increase and it is important to 
protect and enhance these assets for health improvement. 
 
7. Respecting Cardiff’s environment and responding to climate 
change 
 
KP15: CLIMATE CHANGE 

To mitigate against the effects of climate change and adapt to its 
impacts, development proposals should take into account the 
following factors: 

i. Reducing carbon emissions; 

ii. Protecting and increasing carbon sinks; 

iii. Adapting to the implications of climate change at both a 
strategic and detailed design level; 

iv. Promoting energy efficiency and increasing the supply 
renewable energy; and  

v. Avoiding areas susceptible to flood risk in the first instance in 
accordance with the sequential approach set out in national 
guidance; and 

vi Preventing development that increases flood risk. 

 
4.166. A core function of the Plan is to ensure that all development in the 
city is sustainable, taking full account of the implications of reducing 
resource use and addressing climate change. This Policy provides a 
framework for sustainable growth by promoting development that 
mitigates the causes of climate change and which is able to adapt to its 
likely effects. This long-term approach is vital if Cardiff is to realise the 
economic, environmental and social objectives set out in the Vision. 
 
4.167. In the first instance, a reduction in carbon emissions will be 
achieved by means of controlling the energy demand associated with 
development through maximising energy efficiency. Secondly, sustainable 
sources of energy should be incorporated, without reliance on fossil fuels. 
 

Page 1340



109 
 
 

4.168. Carbon sinks act as a means of off-setting carbon emissions by 
natural means. Trees and soils act as substantial reservoirs of carbon, 
sequestering atmospheric carbon, and contributing substantially to soils, 
which accrete carbon faster under tree cover than other forms of 
vegetation. This stored carbon will usually be emitted as a greenhouse 
gas if trees are removed or damaged, or soils removed, covered or 
disturbed (by compaction or contamination) during the construction 
process. 
 
4.169. As far as practicable, trees should be retained and protected, and 
land kept as functioning vegetated soil open to the fall of organic matter, 
with new trees and shrubs provided by developers wherever possible. 
Where trees and shrubs cannot be surrounded by open soil, hard surfaces 
should not be used unless there is an overriding need, and areas that are 
not needed for pedestrian or vehicle use should be retained for soft 
landscape. Cardiff’s open spaces, trees and soils play a crucial role in 
mitigating the effects of climate change at the local level. Open vegetated 
soils absorb rainfall and runoff. 
 
4.170. Adapting to the implications of climate change will require 
buildings which are able to cope with the likely increased temperature 
ranges, more frequent and severe flooding and increased extreme 
weather events. Buildings and related infrastructure should be designed 
to be flexible not only to climatic change but also to accommodate a 
variety of uses over their lifetime rather than being suitable for one sole 
application. Landscape will be a critical issue with trees providing 
protection both by shading and active cooling. This cooling will be 
required particularly in the city centre and District Centres, and where the 
young children, older people, and people with mobility impairments 
gather. 
 
4.171. The Council will require high standards of energy efficiency in new 
development.  Implementation of this Policy, which promotes 
incorporation of renewable energy generation, will also reduce emission of 
aerial pollutants, thereby offsetting increases in aerial emissions arising 
from implementation of other policies in the Plan. This would contribute to 
avoiding significant effects upon European Sites. 
 
4.172. Avoiding unnecessary flood risk will be achieved by strictly 
assessing the flood risk implications of development proposals within 

Page 1341



110 
 
 

areas susceptible to tidal or fluvial flooding and preventing development 
that unacceptably increases risk. In accordance with TAN15: Development 
and Flood Risk no highly vulnerable development will be permitted in 
development advice zone C2. Development will only be considered in 
other areas at high risk of flooding where it can be demonstrated that the 
site can comply with the justification and assessment requirements of 
TAN15 (2004 – Section 6, 7 and Appendix 1). Policy EN14 relating to 
Flood Risk sets out a range of criteria which will be considered when 
assessing development proposals in areas of high risk of flooding.  
 
KP16: GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE 
 
Cardiff’s distinctive natural heritage provides a network of green 
infrastructure which will be protected, enhanced and managed to 
ensure the integrity and connectivity of this multi-functional 
green resource is maintained. 
 
Protection and conservation of natural heritage network needs to 
be reconciled with the benefits of development.  Proposed 
development should therefore demonstrate how green 
infrastructure has been considered and integrated into the 
proposals.  If development results in overall loss of green 
infrastructure, appropriate compensation will be required. 
 
Natural heritage assets are key to Cardiff’s character, value, 
distinctiveness and sense of place. They include the City’s: 
i. Undeveloped countryside and coastline (EN1 and EN2); 
ii. Landscape, geological and heritage features which 

contribute to the City’s setting (EN3); 
iii. Strategically important river valleys of the Ely, Taff, Nant 

Fawr and Rhymney (EN4); 
iv. Biodiversity interests including designated sites and the 

connectivity of priority habitats and species (EN5, EN6 and 
EN7); 

v. Trees (including street trees), woodlands and hedgerows 
(EN8); 

vi. Strategic recreational routes, cycleways and the public 
rights of way network (T5, T6 and T8); 

vii. Parks, playing fields, green play areas and open spaces (C4 
and C5); and 

Page 1342



111 
 
 

viii. Growing spaces including allotments, community orchards 
and larger gardens; and 

ix. Holistic integrated surface water management systems 
(EN10). 

 
4.173. The policy aims to ensure that Cardiff’s green infrastructure assets 
are strategically planned and delivered through a green infrastructure 
network. Other policies in the Plan provide more detailed guidance on 
aspects of these assets, together with supporting SPG. 
 
4.174. The green infrastructure network is important for its own sake and 
for its contribution to the wider quality of life, including the value that 
people attach to it. It provides a range of economic, social and 
environmental benefits including reducing impacts of climate change 
(KP15), enhanced biodiversity habitat and species connectivity (EN5, EN6 
and EN7), providing greater opportunities for sports and recreation (C4), 
contributing to the communities’ health and wellbeing (C6) and providing 
visual benefits for all (KP5). 
 
4.175. Where development is permitted, planning conditions and/or 
obligations will be used to protect or enhance the natural heritage 
network. New developments should incorporate new and / or enhanced 
green infrastructure of an appropriate size, type and standard to ensure 
no fragmentation or loss of connectivity. 
 
4.176. Where the benefits of development outweigh the conservation 
interest, mitigation and/or compensation measures will be required to 
offset adverse effects and appropriate planning obligations sought. The 
implementation of policies designed to provide and protect public open 
space throughout Cardiff would also serve to offset any increase in 
recreational pressure on the Cardiff Beech Woods SAC, thereby helping to 
avoid likely significant effect upon that site. 
 
4.177. Management of Cardiff’s green infrastructure network should be in 
place prior to development, and appropriate planning obligations sought. 
SPG on this topic will more fully outline the extent of Cardiff’s green 
infrastructure and how this policy can be implemented in more detail. 
 
Policy KP17: BUILT HERITAGE 

Page 1343



112 
 
 

Cardiff’s distinctive heritage assets will be protected, managed 
and enhanced, in particular the character and setting of its 
Scheduled Ancient Monuments; Listed Buildings; Registered 
Historic Landscapes, Parks and Gardens; Conservation Areas; 
Locally Listed Buildings and other features of local interest that 
positively contribute to the distinctiveness of the city. 
 
4.178. This Policy affords strategic policy protection for Cardiff’s historic 
environment as required by legislation and PPW. The historic environment 
enriches people’s lives and the visual appearance of the city. It reflects 
the diversity and culture of the communities that have formed it over 
time, provides evidence of Cardiff’s past and helps define its present 
identity and character. An understanding of the historic and cultural 
significance of the city can provide a context for managing change and 
creates a backdrop for innovation in the design of new development to 
shape the future of the city. 
 
4.179. There are currently 28 Scheduled Ancient Monuments in Cardiff.  
This Policy affords appropriate protection to these monuments and others 
that may be scheduled over the Plan period, as well as other important 
archaeological remains identified within the Historic Environment Record.  
SPG on Archaeologically Sensitive Areas will provide further guidance on 
four areas of the city where significant finds have been recorded. 

 
4.180. There are currently almost 1,000 buildings in Cardiff on the 
statutory List of Buildings with Special Architectural or Historic Interest, 
designated by Cadw on behalf of the Welsh Government. Along with the 
legislation referred to above, This Policy affords appropriate protection to 
these statutory listed buildings and others that may be added to the list 
by Cadw over the Plan period. 
 
4.181. The Council also holds a Local List of Buildings of Merit. This Policy 
identifies the significance of these locally listed buildings (and others that 
may be added to the list by the Council over the Plan period) have in 
forming the character of the area.  Welsh Office Circular 61/96 identifies 
the weight their designation may have in the assessment of development 
proposals. 

4.182. There are currently 27 conservation areas in Cardiff, as identified 
on the Constraints Map. Along with the legislation referred to above. This 

Page 1344



113 
 
 

Policy affords appropriate protection to these and other areas that may be 
designated by the Council over the Plan period. The Policy should be read 
in conjunction with the adopted Conservation Area Appraisal prepared for 
each area, including the enhancement proposals included within them. 
 
4.183. Finally, there are currently 19 historic parks and gardens and 1 
historic landscape (the Wentloog Levels) included on the Cadw/ICOMOS 
‘Register of Historic Landscapes Parks, and Gardens’.  This Policy affords 
appropriate protection to these and other historic parks, gardens and 
landscapes that may be added to the register by Cadw/ICOMOS over the 
Plan period. 

4.184. In seeking to respond to the presence of heritage assets, 
developers are encouraged to follow a sequence of investigation and 
assessment to identify the cultural and historic significance of a place 
before developing proposals for change or alteration. In this way 
appropriate approaches can be developed to preserve and enhance the 
historic environment through proposals that respond to and complement 
their context. The process is commended within Circular 61/96 and advice 
within BS Standard 7913, 2013. 
 
KP18: NATURAL RESOURCES 
 
In the interests of the long-term sustainable development of 
Cardiff, development proposals must take full account of the need 
to minimise impacts on the city’s natural resources and minimise 
pollution, in particular the following elements: 
 
i. Protecting the best and most versatile agricultural land; 
ii. Protecting the quality and quantity of water resources, 

including underground surface and coastal waters; 
iii. Minimising air pollution from industrial, domestic and road 

transportation sources and managing air quality; and 
iv. Remediating land contamination through the 

redevelopment of contaminated sites. 
 
4.185. The best and most versatile agricultural land (grades 1, 2 and 3a 
of the Agricultural Land Classification) is a finite resource. Once lost to 
development it is rarely practicable to return such land to best quality 
agricultural production. 
 

Page 1345



114 
 
 

4.186. There is no up-to-date definitive map of agricultural land quality 
for Cardiff as a whole but the best and most versatile agricultural land is 
known to exist in parts of the west, north and east of Cardiff. In meeting 
the needs to provide new homes and jobs in this Plan, some high quality 
land will be lost but taking account of all relevant factors, this loss is 
considered justified. Moreover, by putting in place a planned and 
managed approach to meeting future economic and social needs, this 
adds strength to the protection of good quality land outside these areas. 
 
4.187. Cardiff’s rivers, lakes, ponds and water bodies are important for a 
wide range of uses and users. Development has the potential to affect 
water quality and quantity.  It is important that development is only 
allowed where there would be no unacceptable harm to the quality or 
quantity of water resources and where provision can be made for any 
infrastructure required to safeguard water quality and quantity. New 
developments should have an adequate water supply and sewerage 
system to serve the development. This policy, which is aimed in part at 
improving water resource use efficiency, will ensure adequate water 
supply without adverse impacts on the River Usk and River Wye SACs, 
thereby helping to avoid the likelihood that this LDP will have a significant 
effect upon European designated sites. 
 
4.188. Poor air quality can affect people’s health, quality of life and 
amenity and can impact on nature conservation and built heritage 
interests. Development has the potential to cause air pollution, or 
sensitive developments can be affected by existing air quality problems in 
an area. In Cardiff, transport emissions are one of the main contributors 
to poor air quality. Development will not be permitted if it would cause or 
result in unacceptable harm due to air pollution. Implementation of this 
Policy will also help to counteract any increase in atmospheric pollution as 
a result of the Plan, thereby helping to avoid the likelihood that this LDP 
will have a significant effect upon internationally designated sites. 
 
4.189. The redevelopment of sites with land contamination allows such 
land to be brought back into beneficial use, prevents dereliction and 
reduces the need to develop greenfield sites. Developers will be required 
to demonstrate that any actual or potential contamination can be 
overcome, thereby ensuring that the land is suitable for the development 
proposed. 
  

Page 1346



115 
 
 

Detailed Policies 
 

1. HOUSING 
 
H1: NON-STRATEGIC HOUSING SITES 
 
The following non-strategic sites are allocated for housing: 
 
Table 3: SUMMARY OF NON-STRATEGIC HOUSING SITES 
Site 
Ref. 

Site Name Estimated 
Units 

Site Size (Ha) 

H1.1 Land at Areas 9-12, St Mellons 150 3.98 
H1.2 Land rear of Clive Street 80 2.87 
H1.3 Rookwood Hospital 90 3.40 
H1.4 Former Lansdowne Hospital 75 1.51 
H1.5 Land at Dan-y-Garth, Pentyrch 47 2.49 
H1.6 Land at former St John’s 

College 
64 2.50 

H1.7 Ely Bridge Farm, Dyfrig Road. 
Ely  

41 0.72 

H1.8 Electrocoin Automatics Ltd, 
Caerphilly Road 

20 0.61 

H1.9 Land at Mill Road, 
Tongwynlais 

5 0.40 

 
5.1 To help satisfy the new dwelling requirement it is necessary to 
allocate non-strategic housing sites, as well as taking into account 
numbers of dwelling units estimated that will come forward from the 
existing landbank, strategic sites, and allowances for windfalls and 
changes of use over the Plan period to 2026.  
 
5.2 The non-strategic housing sites listed in this Policy were put forward 
as candidate sites in the LDP process and are considered acceptable in 
principle for residential use. The proposed number of units shown for each 
site is indicative and may be subject to change depending on details of 
planning applications yet to be submitted and approved. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1347



116 
 
 

 
 
H2: CONVERSION TO RESIDENTIAL USE 
 
Within the Central Business Area of the city centre, District and 
Local centres, as defined on the Proposals Map, the conversion of 
suitable vacant space above commercial premises to residential 
use will be favoured where: 
i. Adequate servicing and security can be maintained to the 

existing commercial use(s); 
ii. Appropriate provision can be made for parking, access, 

pedestrian access, amenity space, and refuse disposal 
together with any appropriate external alterations and; 

iii. The residential use does not compromise the ground floor 
use. 

 
5.3. Within the areas identified the Council will encourage the conversion 
of suitable space above commercial premises to residential use. The 
conversion of empty space above shops to residential use provides a 
valuable contribution to the city’s housing stock and provides much 
needed homes. It also positively contributes to the creation of vibrant, 
mixed use communities where people live and shop. Centres remain busy 
and populated beyond business hours, increasing surveillance and 
providing a market for ancillary uses associated with the night-time 
economy. 
 
H3: AFFORDABLE HOUSING  
 
The Council will seek 20% affordable housing on Brownfield sites 
and 30% affordable housing on Greenfield sites in all residential 
proposals that: 
i. Contain 5 or more dwellings; or 
ii. Sites of or exceeding 0.1 hectares in gross site area; or 
iii. Where adjacent and related residential proposals result in 

combined numbers or site size areas exceeding the above 
thresholds, the Council will seek affordable housing based 
on the affordable housing target percentages set out 
above. 

 

Page 1348



117 
 
 

Affordable housing will be sought to be delivered on-site in all 
instances unless there are exceptional circumstances. 
 
5.4. The aim of this Policy is to assist the Council to meet evidenced 
housing need by seeking an appropriate affordable housing contribution 
from new residential developments in the city. 
 
5.5. The Policy will help provide a range and mix of sustainable affordable 
housing, in line with Policy KP13. 
 
5.6. PPW recognises that a community’s need for affordable housing is a 
material planning consideration. It also promotes mixed and inclusive 
communities. More detailed guidance in TAN2: Planning and Affordable 
Housing requires local authorities to include affordable housing policies in 
their LDPs where a Local Housing Market Assessment (LHMA) has 
provided the evidence base to support policies to deliver such housing 
through the planning system. The Cardiff LHMA update (2013) indicates 
an annual shortfall of 3,989 affordable dwellings per annum. 
 
5.7. The Policy applies to all proposed housing developments covered by 
the policy thresholds, including proposals on previously undeveloped land, 
redevelopment schemes, schemes providing specialised accommodation 
(except those in which residents require a significant element of care), 
conversions, changes of use, and mixed-use developments containing 
housing. It responds to the evidenced need for the planning system to 
help play its part in securing land and units for affordable housing. 
However, housing specifically designated to cater for students would not 
be required to contribute an affordable housing element. 
 
5.8. In accordance with Welsh Government guidance, affordable housing 
encompasses both social rented and intermediate housing where there 
are secure mechanisms in place to ensure that it is accessible to those 
who cannot afford market housing, both on first occupation and for 
subsequent occupiers. In addition, the Council has a duty to have regard 
to the needs of disabled people and chronically sick, the majority of whom 
are best housed in the community. Where there is evidence of need for 
affordable special needs housing it may, subject to Council agreement, be 
provided as all, or part of, the affordable housing requirement. 
 

Page 1349



118 
 
 

5.9. The Council will provide evidence of need based upon the latest 
Cardiff Local Housing Market Assessment Update, supplemented by 
current Council and Registered Social Landlord waiting lists and other 
relevant information. In order to create mixed and balanced communities, 
provision for affordable housing will be sought ‘on site’ unless the Council 
considers that this is impractical or inappropriate. In such exceptional 
circumstances, affordable housing may either be provided on another site, 
(location to be agreed with the Council), or a financial contribution may 
be provided to address affordable housing requirements elsewhere in 
Cardiff, in any case, provision should address the need identified in 
relation to the proposed development. 
 
5.10. The targets set out in the Policy are derived from the findings of an 
affordable housing viability study undertaken by Peter Brett Associates. 
This study assessed the viability of a range of housing scenarios 
(including a calculation for necessary infrastructure which could be 
achieved through S106 and/or CIL, consistent with Policy KP6: New 
Infrastructure for different development types with varying levels of 
affordable housing. In order to demonstrate viability, and take account of 
the higher costs associated with the development of brownfield sites the 
study recommended a two tiered affordable housing target. The Report 
confirms that affordable housing is viable at 30% on greenfield sites and 
at 20% on brownfield sites (based on indicative tenure mixes of 40% 
social rented, 40% intermediate rented and 20% Low Cost Home 
Ownership). This is consistent with the recommendations of the Cardiff 
Local Housing Market Assessment and the Economic Viability Reports of 
2013 and 2014 in seeking an appropriate mix of tenures to address 
evidenced housing need over the Plan period 

5.11. In negotiating affordable housing, each proposal’s actual 
contribution will depend on that scheme’s capacity for provision. This will 
ensure that the affordable housing contribution in itself will not make the 
scheme unviable. The Council will work with developers to agree a 
contribution in an open and transparent manner. In cases where 
agreement cannot be reached, an independent assessment will be 
commissioned to be paid for by the applicant/developer.  The assessment 
should include details and costs of the necessary infrastructure to be 
delivered either wholly or in part to support the delivery of sustainable 
neighbourhoods. 

Page 1350



119 
 
 

5.12. Detailed guidance on the scale, tenure and nature of the affordable 
housing to be sought, along with information regarding what will be 
required as part of independent viability assessments, will be set out in 
the Affordable Housing SPG. The Policy will normally be implemented by 
the use of a planning obligation in accordance with Policy KP7. 
 
 
H4: CHANGE OF USE OF RESIDENTIAL LAND OR PROPERTIES 
 
Outside the Central and Bay Business Areas and District and Local 
Centres, identified on the Proposals Map, conversion or 
redevelopment of residential properties to other uses will only be 
permitted where: 
i. The premises or their location are no longer suitable for 

residential use; or 
ii. The proposal is for a community use necessary within a 

residential area. 
iii. There would be no unacceptable impact on residential 

amenity. 
 
5.13. This Policy identifies the circumstances in which proposals for the 
conversion or redevelopment of residential properties outside the Central 
and Bay Business Areas and District and Local Centres identified on the 
Proposals Map, to other use will be permitted. 
 
5.14. As acknowledged in PPW, offices, retail, entertainment and other 
uses that attract a significant number of visitors, whether by vehicle or on 
foot, are generally best located in centres where they are most widely 
accessible, particularly by public transport and have least harmful impact 
on residential amenity. Within Cardiff, these centres are the Central and 
Bay Business Areas, Central Shopping Area and District and Local centres 
identified on the Proposals Map. A range of Plan policies seeks to direct 
appropriate uses to these centres.  
 
5.15. Outside these centres, proposals for the conversion or 
redevelopment of residential properties to other use will only be permitted 
in line with Policy H6 and if no unacceptable harm will be caused to the 
amenity or health of remaining residences in line with Policy H6. 
 

Page 1351



120 
 
 

5.16. There is a range of community uses that are appropriate and 
necessary, in principle, within residential areas. These include doctors' 
and dentists' surgeries, residential homes and child-care facilities.  
Further guidance on the conversion of residential properties to childcare 
facilities will be set out in SPG. 
 
5.17. In order to safeguard the amenity of residential areas, there will be 
a general presumption in favour of permitting the range of commercial 
and community uses in the Central and Bay Business Areas and District 
and Local Centres identified on the Proposals Map - including by the 
conversion or redevelopment of existing residential accommodation - 
subject to relevant policies. Within the Central and Bay Business Areas, 
proposals will be assessed having regard to Policy KP10 District and Local 
Centres, proposals will be assessed having regard to Policies R4 & R5. 
 
H5: SUB-DIVISION OR CONVERSION OF RESIDENTIAL 
PROPERTIES 
 
Proposals for any conversion to flats or Houses in Multiple 
Occupation will be permitted where: 
i.  The property is of a size whereby the layout, room sizes, 

range of facilities and external amenity space of the 
resulting property would ensure an adequate standard of 
residential amenity for future occupiers. 

ii.  There would be no material harm to the amenity of existing, 
nearby residents by virtue of general disturbance, noise or 
overlooking. 

iii.  The cumulative impact of such conversions will not adversely 
affect the amenity and/or the character of the area. 

iv.  Does not have an adverse effect on local parking provision 
 
5.18. The subdivision of a residential building into smaller residential units 
can be an important source of housing. It can take different forms such 
as: 

• Subdivision of existing houses into flats and HMOs (Houses in 
Multiple Occupancy). 

• Conversion of HMO’s to flats. 
 
5.19. The Council requires all flat conversions and HMOs to be of a high 
quality and to be well designed. 

Page 1352



121 
 
 

 
5.20. The objectives of the Policy are: 

• to support the creation of attractive sustainable development for 
self-contained flats and HMOs; 

• to promote good design and layout. 
 
5.21. The subdivision of a building into smaller residential units is a 
sustainable form of development as it gives a new lease of life to 
buildings which might be redundant or economically unviable in their 
current use. 
5.22. With sympathetic alterations to the exterior of a building, 
conversion has a lower visual impact on the street scene by preserving 
the existing frontage and respecting the character of an area. 
 
5.23. However, unsatisfactory conversion work can result in 
accommodation which is an over-intensification form of development 
resulting in inadequate and poor quality accommodation. Occupants may 
be exposed to problems, such as overlooking, poor outlook, overcrowding 
and lack of amenity space, noise and disturbance from neighbouring 
premises, and inconvenient and unsafe access. 
 
5.24. Further information will be given in SPG.  
 
H6: CHANGE OF USE OR REDEVELOPMENT TO RESIDENTIAL USE 
 
Change of use of redundant premises or redevelopment of 
redundant previously developed land for residential use will be 
permitted where: 
 
i.  There is no overriding need to retain the existing use of the 

land or premises and no overriding alternative local land use 
requirement; 

ii.  The resulting residential accommodation and amenity will be 
satisfactory; 

iii.  There will be no unacceptable impact on the operating 
conditions of existing businesses; 

iv.  Necessary community and transportation facilities are 
accessible or can be readily provided or improved; and 

v.  It can be demonstrated that the change of use to a more 
sensitive end use has been assessed in terms of land 

Page 1353



122 
 
 

contamination risk and that there are no unacceptable risks 
to the end users. 

 
5.25. This Policy provides a framework for the assessment of applications 
for the change of use, conversion or redevelopment of redundant 
previously developed land and premises for residential purposes within 
settlement boundaries. It is aimed at ensuring that: 
• Where necessary, land retains its existing use; 
• Land that is no longer required for its existing or former use, if there is 

no overriding need to retain the existing use of the land or premises 
and no overriding alternative local land use requirement, contributes to 
meeting housing requirements, thereby reducing the need to develop 
previously undeveloped land - which is a fundamental component of 
the LDP Strategy; and 

• New residential accommodation and environments are well-designed, 
environmentally sound and make a significant contribution to 
promoting community regeneration and improving the quality of life. 
 

5.26. The Policy responds to evidenced social need for new homes in line 
with Policy KP1 and relates to Policies EC3 & H2. PPW indicates that such 
changes of use and redevelopment should be taken into account in 
housing provision. It defines ‘previously developed land’. National 
guidance and plan policies relevant generally to the countryside will apply 
outside settlement boundaries. The Policy will also apply to mixed-use 
development including housing. 
 
5.27. Assessment of whether land or premises are redundant or need to 
be retained in their former use (criterion ‘(i)’) will include tests identified 
in relevant policies, notably Policy EC3 Alternative Use of Sites and 
Premises relating to the protection of employment land and premises. 
 
5.28. Considerations under criterion '(ii)' will include the compatibility of 
neighbouring uses, preventing insensitive or inappropriate infilling, 
privacy/amenity, size, density, aspect, scale, layout and requirements for 
security and amenity space. 
 
5.29. Criterion '(iii)' is intended to ensure that the introduction of 
residential use into an area or building does not unduly restrict the 
operating conditions of existing businesses. 
 

Page 1354



123 
 
 

5.30. Criterion '(iv)' may involve contributions being sought from 
developers towards the provision of necessary community and other 
facilities, in accordance with Policy KP7, delivering necessary 
infrastructure. 
 
5.31. Where there is a change of use or redevelopment of 
commercial/industrial units to residential, there needs to be an 
appropriate assessment for the presence of land contamination. The land 
contamination standards set for commercial/industrial use are not suitably 
protective for residential use and therefore unacceptable risks to the end 
users may be present and will require appropriate remediation, where 
residential use is proposed. 
 
H7: SITES FOR GYPSY AND TRAVELLER CARAVANS 
 
New sites and extensions to existing sites will be permitted 
where: 
i.  Necessary physical, transport and social infrastructure are 

accessible or can be readily provided; 
ii.  Environmental factors including flood risk, ground stability, 

land contamination and proximity of hazardous installations 
do not make the site inappropriate for residential 
development; 

iii.  The site is designed with reference to both the Welsh 
Government Good Practice Guide in Designing Gypsy 
Traveller Sites and the views of local Gypsies and Travellers; 

iv.  There would be no unreasonable impact on the character and 
appearance of the surrounding areas including impact on 
residential amenity of neighbouring occupiers or the 
operating conditions of existing businesses; and 

v.  In the case of a transit or touring site, it has good access to 
the primary highway network. 

 
5.32. This Policy provides a framework for assessing proposals for both 
new and extensions to existing sites whether for permanent or transit 
sites. 
 
5.33. Cardiff currently has two Gypsy and Traveller sites, at Rover Way 
and Shirenewton, providing a total of 80 permanent pitches. To date 
these two sites have accommodated natural population growth, with some 

Page 1355



124 
 
 

overcrowding. The latest Gypsy and Traveller Needs Assessment was 
undertaken in April 2013 and showed a need for 108 permanent Gypsy 
and Traveller pitches. Local authorities are required to assess the 
accommodation needs of Gypsy families (Housing (Wales) Act 2014 and 
submit the assessment to the Welsh Government for approval by March 
2016. PPW says that it is important for LDPs to have policies for the 
provision of sites. Welsh Government Circular 30/2007 indicates that 
where there is an assessment of unmet need for Gypsy and Traveller 
accommodation, sufficient sites should be allocated in the LDP to meet 
needs. A criteria based policy for Gypsy and Traveller sites must also be 
included in order to meet future need.  
 
5.34. This updated assessment will inform a wider site selection process 
which will progress over the next two years to meet the short and long 
term need for Gypsy and Traveller pitches. This process is referenced in 
the Monitoring Framework and includes the following key outputs and 
timescales. Sites that come forward through this process, together with 
any other proposals will be assessed against this policy. 
• Agree methodology and project management arrangements by end 

of 2015 
• Undertake Gypsy and Traveller Needs Assessment for both 

permanent and transit pitches in accordance with Housing (Wales) 
Act 2014 by February 2016 

• Undertake a site search and assessment  and secure approval of 
findings by October 2016 

• Secure planning permission and funding (including any grant 
funding from Welsh Government) for identified sites(s) required to 
meet the short term need for 43 pitches by May 2017 

• Secure planning permission and funding (including any grant 
funding from Welsh Government) for identified(s) required to meet 
the long term need for 65 pitches by May 2021 

 
2. ECONOMY 
 
EC1: EXISTING EMPLOYMENT LAND 
 
The city’s existing employment areas outside of the Central and 
Bay Business Areas (as designated on the Proposals Map) will be 
protected for B Use Class employment generating uses (together 
with appropriate ancillary and/or complementary uses and 

Page 1356



125 
 
 

activities as referred to in Policy EC2) as described in the table 
below. 
 

Site Ref Site Name Primary 
Use/Activity 

Status 

EC1.1 Ocean Park B1, B2, B8 Primary 
EC1.2 Cardiff Port (& Heliport and 

surrounds) 
B1, B2, B8 Primary 

(Port 
related 
activities) 

EC1.3 Rover Way (Celsa Steel Works, 
Tremorfa Industrial Estate, 
Seawall Road) 

B2, B8 Primary 

EC1.4 Wentloog Road (Capital 
Business Park, Lamby Way 
Industrial estate, Wentloog 
Corporate Park, Rail Freight 
Terminal) 

B1, B2, B8 Primary 

EC1.5 St Mellons Business Park B1, B2, B8 Primary 
EC1.6 Cardiff Gate Business Park B1 (offices), 

ancillary B2 
Primary 

EC1.7 Cardiff Business Park & Land 
North of Maes y Coed Road, 
Llanishen 

B1, B2, B8 Primary 

EC1.8 Forest Farm, Longwood Drive B1, B2, B8 Primary 
EC1.9 Green Meadow Springs B1 (offices) Primary 
EC1.10 Penarth Road Area (includes 

Hadfield Road, Sloper Road, 
Bessemer Road) 

B1, B2, B8 Primary 

EC1.11 Ty Nant Road B1, B2, B8 Local 
EC1.12 Crown Way (Companies 

House) 
B1 (offices) Local 

EC1.13 Wentloog Road (North of 
railway line) 

B1, B2, B8 Local 

EC1.14 Pentwyn (Panasonic Plant, 
Avenue Industrial estate) 

B1, B2, B8 Local 

EC1.16 Eastern Business Park B1 (offices) Local 
EC1.17 Willowbrook Business 

Technology Park 
B1 (science, 
research and 
development) 

Local 

Page 1357



126 
 
 

EC1.18 Excelsior Rod B1, B2, B8 & 
complementary 
trade counter 

Local 

EC1.19 Norbury Road Industrial Estate B1, B2, B8 Local 
EC1.20 Wroughton Place, Ely B1, B2, B8 Local 
EC1.21 Argyle Way, Caerau B1, B2, B8 Local 
EC1.22 Garth Industrial Estate B1, B2, B8 Local 
EC1.23 Land around Volvo Garage B1, B2, B8 Local 
EC1.24 Alexandra Gate Business Park B1 Local 
 
5.35. This Policy responds to the economic vision and objectives of the 
Plan to ensure a range and choice of employment land and premises are 
available across the city to assist economic competitiveness, encourage 
entrepreneurship, promote the growth of indigenous businesses of all 
types and size and attract inward investment. 
 
5.36. A key role for the LDP is to ensure the provision of a portfolio of an 
appropriate range, quantity and quality of employment land and premises 
to meet the current and future needs of the city and the city’s workforce. 
One of the main strategies to achieve this aim is the protection of existing 
employment sites across the city. 
 
5.37. One of the key recommendations of the GVA Grimley Report ‘Cardiff 
Employment Land and Commercial Review’ (2009) and Hardisty Jones 
Associates/Origin 3 Study ‘Cardiff Employment Land and Property Study’ 
(April 2012) was to introduce policies to protect nearly all of the 
remaining employment locations (or allocations that were made in the 
Local Plan) either because of the important economic role they currently 
play in the overall employment land portfolio for the city or because of 
the distribution of this land across the city. 
 
5.38. A critical factor in Cardiff maintaining a supply of employment land 
will be the ability to protect land and premises for employment from being 
lost to alternative uses. There has been growing pressure over recent 
years for the development/redevelopment of employment land and 
premises for other uses (predominantly residential), whether still 
occupied or where current operations have ceased. Such development 
proposals can result in significant losses to the county’s stock of 
employment land and premises. 
 

Page 1358



127 
 
 

5.39. The loss of employment land can be incremental with the loss of 
one site setting the precedent for the loss of a series of others in a similar 
location, leading to a gradual erosion of an employment site. Sometimes 
alternative uses can also fragment a larger business area or sever links 
between employment uses in an area. Over time pressure for alternative 
uses result in a material aggregate loss of employment sites to the 
detriment of the local economy. 
 
5.40. The employment sites identified in Policy EC1 display strong 
potential to continue playing an important economic role, whether this is 
to provide local employment on smaller sites within key neighbourhoods 
or whether the sites are more strategic in size, position and function. 
 
5.41. Due to the time that has elapsed since the completion of the GVA 
Study, the employment sites identified for protection have been reviewed. 
Some sites have experienced further pressure for alternative uses with 
additional losses of employment land and their B use class employment 
function has been all but eroded. These sites, for example North and 
South of Newport Road and Colchester Avenue are therefore no longer 
identified for protection for employment purposes. Similarly Cathedral 
Road and offices adjacent to the River Taff which are characterised by low 
grade offices with a high level of vacancy are no longer identified for 
protection and a change of use to housing for example will be given 
consideration. 
 
5.42. The protection of employment sites also allows for the 
modernisation and refurbishment of land and property and increasing 
density of development on site thereby making the most efficient use of 
land. 
 
EC2: PROVISION OF COMPLEMENTARY FACILITIES FOR 
EMPLOYEES IN BUSINESS, INDUSTRIAL AND WAREHOUSING 
DEVELOPMENTS 
 
Provision for open space, public realm, leisure, food and drink, 
and child-care facilities will be appropriate in office, industrial and 
warehousing developments, provided, the facility is of an 
appropriate scale and nature intended primarily to meet the needs 
of workers in the vicinity, therefore not attracting significant 

Page 1359



128 
 
 

levels of visitor traffic into the area, or exacerbating existing 
traffic conditions. 
 
5.43. This Policy seeks to enable the provision of appropriate 
complementary leisure, food and drink, and childcare facilities in existing 
and new office, industrial and warehousing areas and helps to deliver Plan 
objectives. Employees in such areas may require good access to a range 
of facilities, including food and drink, leisure/recreation and child-care. 
The absence of such facilities in an employment area can increase travel 
demand and make the areas less attractive to employers and employees. 
 
5.44. In existing employment areas, change of use of existing premises 
will be considered for appropriate complementary facilities, including food 
and drink, leisure and child-care. 
 
5.45. Where new employment areas are proposed, the need for such 
facilities should be considered as part of the overall development scheme.  
 
5.46. In all cases, only facilities of an appropriate nature and scale to 
meet the needs of employees will be permitted. Appropriate leisure 
facilities may include fitness centres/clubs and indoor sports facilities. 
Provision for accessible open space or public realm improvements may 
also be appropriate. 
 
EC3: ALTERNATIVE USE OF EMPLOYMENT LAND AND PREMISES 
 
Development of business, industrial and warehousing land and 
premises for other uses will only be permitted if: 
i. The land or premises are no longer well located for business, 

industrial and warehousing use; or 
ii. There is no realistic prospect of employment use on the site 

and/or the property is physically unsuitable for employment 
use, even after adaption/refurbishment or redevelopment; 
or 

iii. There is no need to retain the land or premises for business, 
industrial or warehousing use, having regard to the demand 
for such land and premises and the requirement to provide 
for a range and choice of sites available for such use; and 

iv. There will be no unacceptable impact on the operating 
conditions of existing businesses. 

Page 1360



129 
 
 

 
5.47. This Policy provides criteria against which proposals for the change 
of use of business and industrial land and premises will be assessed. It 
will apply to existing, permitted and allocated business, industrial and 
warehousing land and premises and address: 

• The need to retain a range and choice of well-located sites and 
premises attractive to business, industry and warehousing; 

• Making the best use of redundant land and premises for alternative 
employment purposes; and 

• Where land and premises need to be retained because they are of 
local importance for employment opportunities. 

 
5.48. Criteria for assessing whether land and premises remain well 
located for business, industrial and warehousing uses will include: 

• Accessibility to the primary highway network, rail-freight facilities 
and the port; 

• Accessibility by public transport; and 
• Proximity to housing or other sensitive uses. 

 
5.49. The ‘robust evidence’ for assessing the need to retain land and 
premises for business, industrial and warehousing use include the 
following criteria: 

• Whether and for how long land or premises have been vacant and 
actively marketed and the expressions of interest during this 
period; 

• Whether the site offers particular benefits not generally available 
within the overall land bank; 

• Whether the site is within an area of high unemployment and offers 
realistic prospects of use for appropriate employment purposes; 

• Whether the relocation of existing occupiers to other suitable 
accommodation will be facilitated; 

• Whether the proposed development would retain an element of 
industrial, office or warehousing floorspace; and 

• Whether the proposed use need to be accommodated on business, 
industrial or warehousing land (e.g. transport depots).  

• Other priorities, such as housing need, override more narrowly 
focussed economic considerations. 
 

5.50. Where alternative use of land is considered appropriate, priority will 
be given to mixed-use development comprising employment, housing and 

Page 1361



130 
 
 

community facilities or, where that is not feasible, housing. Other 
proposals will need to demonstrate why a mixed-use of housing and 
employment schemes cannot be achieved on  
the site. 
 
5.51. It is also important to ensure that the introduction of residential or 
other uses into an industrial or warehousing area does not unduly restrict 
the operating conditions of remaining businesses. 
 
5.52. Where employment land and premises are under development 
pressure from non-employment uses and it is considered that there still 
exists an opportunity to make a contribution towards longer term 
economic development and job retention and growth within an area, 
developers will be requested to make provision for an appropriate 
contribution towards bringing forwards compensatory employment 
opportunities elsewhere in the County in line with Policy KP7 Planning 
Obligations. 
 
5.53. Where there is the potential to develop residential units on areas 
previously identified for commercial/ industrial use, there needs to be an 
appropriate assessment for the presence of land contamination. The land 
contamination standards set for commercial/industrial use are not suitably 
protective for residential use and therefore unacceptable risks to the end 
users may be present which will require appropriate remediation. 
 
5.54. Further guidance on the application of this Policy will be set out in 
the Protection of Employment Land and Premises for Business, Industry 
and Warehousing SPG. 
 
EC4: PROTECTING OFFICES IN THE CENTRAL AND BAY BUSINESS 
AREAS 
 
The alternative use of offices within the Central and Bay Business 
Areas will only be permitted where it can be demonstrated that 
there is no need to retain the site or premises for office use 
having regard to the demand for offices and the requirement to 
provide a range and choice of sites available for such use. 
 
5.55. This Policy aims to ensure that office sites within the Central and 
Bay Business Areas identified on the Proposals Map, whether occupied, 

Page 1362



131 
 
 

vacant, or with permission are protected from inappropriate changes of 
use. Any proposal involving the loss of offices will need to demonstrate 
that there is a sufficient range and choice of commercial office floorspace 
to meet the city’s office requirement up to 2026. 
 
5.56. When considering proposals for the alternative use of office 
accommodation, the following issues will be considered: 

• Whether, and for how long the premises have been vacant and 
actively marketed for office use; 

• Whether the development of the site for appropriate uses will 
facilitate the relocation of existing office occupier/s to other suitable 
accommodation within the Central or Bay Business Area; 

• Whether the proposed development would retain a significant 
element of office floorspace; 

• Whether the proposed use is complementary to an employment 
use; and 

• Whether the proposed development can demonstrate wider 
economic, social and regeneration benefits. 

 
5.57. The Central and Bay Business Areas contain a wide range of office 
premises, including modern Grade A accommodation (e.g. Callaghan 
Square and Assembly Square); high-rise accommodation built in the 
1960s and 1970s (e.g. Newport Road); office accommodation above 
commercial premises (e.g. St. Mary Street and Greyfriars Road); and 
converted historic villas in the north of the city centre (e.g. Park Place and 
Windsor Place). Over time, and as the needs of businesses change, 
premises can fail to meet modern occupier requirements. This has been 
evidenced recently with changes of use from offices to residential and 
hotel uses, resulting in a significant reduction in office vacancy levels 
within the city centre.  
 
5.58. To ensure that Cardiff continues to attract and retain quality 
businesses, the City Centre must contain sufficient land for new office 
accommodation, as well as providing a range and choice of office 
premises for existing and future occupiers, including large Grade A 
offices, small and medium sized enterprises, incubator units and live-work 
premises. The Cardiff Central Enterprise Zone along with other planned 
employment areas provides a range and choice of new business locations. 
 

Page 1363



132 
 
 

5.59. It is acknowledged that some office vacancy is necessary to allow 
for the turnover of businesses and the renovation of premises to meet 
modern business needs. However, long-term vacancy can have a 
damaging impact upon the vitality and viability of commercial centres. 
Office premises that, despite active marketing, have remained unoccupied 
for over two years will be considered more favourably for changes of use 
to other, appropriate uses. 
 
5.60. Mixed-use redevelopment proposals that retain a significant 
element of commercial office floorspace, or those that do not result in any 
net loss in the level or quality of office accommodation within the City 
Centre, are likely to be more favourably considered. 
 
5.61. Where proposals involve the loss of office accommodation, they will 
only be permitted where they do not harm, and are complementary to, 
the primary office role and function of the area and accord with other Plan 
policies. Such uses could include childcare facilities, training, tertiary 
education, residential development, commercial leisure and hotels. 
 
EC5: HOTEL DEVELOPMENT 
 
Proposals for hotel development will be permitted: 
 
i.  Within the Central and Bay Business Areas of the city centre; 
ii.  In appropriate locations for the conversion of suitable 

residential or commercial properties; 
iv. At other locations within the urban area, if there is no 

need to preserve the site for its existing or allocated use, 
assessed against the relevant policies of the plan; 

 
Subject to considerations of scale, location, design, amenity and  
transportation being acceptable. 
 
5.62. This Policy favours hotel development at appropriate locations 
within the Central and Bay Business Areas. 
 
5.63. The conversion of existing properties to hotels or guest houses 
contributes to the range of accommodation available for tourists and 
other visitors to the city. In assessing such proposals, ‘appropriate 
locations’ are likely to be on main roads into the city and close to tourist 

Page 1364



133 
 
 

or business areas, and ‘suitable properties’ are likely to be larger houses 
and vacant low grade offices, able to accommodate parking requirements. 
In terms of both the proposed property and its location, importance will 
be attached to the need to safeguard amenity of residential areas. 
Proposals for the change of use of converted hotels in residential areas to 
uses other than residential or uses acceptable within a residential area 
will be resisted. 
 
EC6: NON-STRATEGIC EMPLOYMENT SITE 
 
Land is allocated for university related research and development 
uses at Maindy Road, Cathays (3.3ha). 
 
5.64. This non-strategic site is considered acceptable for university 
related research and development uses given its close proximity to the 
existing Cardiff University campus. Dialogue with the University has 
indicated the merits of university related research and development uses 
for this site, which can assist in the long term development of Cardiff 
University and other academic institutions within the city together with 
wider economic benefits for the region. 
 
5.65. The allocation of the site for university research and development 
uses supports the LDP vision and the economic objectives which seek to 
promote clusters of research & development expertise. It also supports 
policies KP1 and KP9 which promote the provision of range and choice of 
new employment sites for different types of employment. The site is 
directly adjacent to the existing Cardiff University and in an accessible 
location which reduces the need to travel, a key component of developing 
sustainable communities. The precise nature of research and development 
uses will be subject to further detailed work. 
 
EC7 EMPLOYMENT PROPOSALS ON LAND NOT IDENTIFIED FOR 
EMPLOYMENT USE 
 
Proposals for employment use (B Use Class) on unallocated sites 
will be permitted provided that:- 
i. The proposal cannot reasonably be accommodated on existing 

employment land and in the case of offices in the Central 
Enterprise Zone (Policy KP2) and the Central and Bay Business 
Areas (Policy EC4); 

Page 1365



134 
 
 

ii. The site falls within the settlement boundary and has no 
specific policy designation; 

iii. The use is compatible with uses in the surrounding area and; 
iv. The proposal is well related to the primary highway network 

and accessible to sustainable modes of transport 
 
5.66. Policy EC7 provides guidance on how the Council will determine 
applications for employment development on sites not identified for 
employment and ensure a sequential approach to site selection is 
followed, thereby steering employment allocations to the most 
appropriate locations consistent with national policy (PPW para. 10.2.9 
and 10.2.11). This policy is intended to support the economy by allowing 
for future economic growth which sustains and provides job opportunities 
within Cardiff which is considered essential in responding to economic 
uncertainty and fulfils the LDP economic evidenced needs.  
 
5.67. The LPA is not able to fully predict all potential business and 
operator requirements over the Plan period. Therefore it is important for 
the policy framework to allow an element of flexibility to enable 
businesses to locate within the County.   
 
  

Page 1366



135 
 
 

3. ENVIRONMENT 
 
Countryside Protection 
 
EN1:  COUNTRYSIDE PROTECTION 
 
Development in the countryside, beyond the settlement 
boundaries identified on the Proposals Map, will only be permitted 
where the use is appropriate in the countryside, respects the 
landscape character and quality and biodiversity of the site and 
surrounding area and where it is appropriate in scale and design.  
A landscape assessment and landscaping scheme will be required 
for significant development proposals. Proposals for new housing, 
rural diversification and rural enterprise, will only be permitted 
where they comply with National Planning Policy. 
 
5.68. The countryside in Cardiff is land located outside the settlement 
boundaries as identified on the LDP Proposals Map. Cardiff’s countryside is 
a valuable and finite resource which is under pressure from all kinds of 
development. The aim of this Policy is to ensure that development within 
the countryside is strictly controlled to protect and enhance Cardiff’s 
natural heritage and setting. It further seeks to manage and enhance this 
rich asset in order to maintain Cardiff’s unique distinctiveness whilst 
helping to mitigate against climate change and also aims to ensure that 
those uses that do not need to be located in the countryside will be 
resisted. 
 
5.69. It should be read in conjunction with Policy KP3A and KP3B and 
aims to ensure that those uses that do not need to be located in the 
countryside will be resisted. Whilst KP3A provides strict controls in the 
Green Wedge area for the reasons given, this policy provides further 
guidance on uses appropriate in the countryside as a whole. 
 
5.70. Although farming and forestry comprise a relatively small part of 
Cardiff’s economy, the economic viability of the countryside around 
Cardiff remains crucial, with agriculture and forestry playing an important 
role in both the management and conservation of the countryside.  As 
such, the Council will adopt a positive approach to supporting the rural 
economy.  Development proposals relating to rural diversification and 
enterprise will be assessed against, (PPW 2014) and TAN 6: Planning for 

Page 1367



136 
 
 

Sustainable Rural Communities.  Farm diversification schemes should 
remain linked to the existing farm business and maybe subject to 
planning obligations in accordance with TAN 6: Planning for Sustainable 
Rural Communities (2010 Para 3.7) and Policy KP7. 
 
5.71. Close proximity to a large urban population brings many pressures 
to Cardiff’s countryside, including outdoor recreation.  Whilst its 
importance for local recreational purposes and tourism is accepted, it is 
essential to ensure that both these uses, and any built development 
associated with them, do not cause unacceptable harm to the character 
and quality of the countryside.  Small scale, low impact development 
associated with activities which need to be located in the countryside, or 
encourage access to and enjoyment of the countryside, may be 
acceptable subject to the tests set out in national guidance. 
 
5.72. Planning permission is normally required for the use of land for 
keeping horses and for equestrian activities, unless they are kept as 
“livestock” or the land is used for “grazing.  The keeping of horses in 
Cardiff is very widespread, so that land used for grazing, recreation and 
associated development such as stabling, ménages, fencing, lighting, and 
car parking is already having a considerable impact on the character of 
Cardiff’s countryside.  Whilst it is accepted that these horse related uses 
can only be accommodated in the countryside, not all locations within the 
countryside are necessarily appropriate.  The overall impact of such 
proposals will be assessed against the criteria set out in national 
guidance. 
 
5.73. Additionally there has been an increase in the number of 
applications for kennels and catteries. Applications for the siting of 
kennels and catteries outside the curtilage of a dwelling house i.e. in a 
separate field or paddock will also be subject to the tests set out in 
national guidance. 
 
5.74. There is continuing pressure on the countryside in terms of 
residential development; however the LDP has identified sufficient land to 
meet the foreseeable residential need over the Plan period.  As such, new 
residential development will not normally be permitted in the countryside 
unless it is justified for agricultural or forestry purposes or other rural 
enterprises.  In these instances, applicants should refer to PPW, 2014 and 

Page 1368



137 
 
 

TAN 6: Planning for Sustainable Rural Communities (paragraph 4.3 – 
4.4). 
 
5.75. Any new development in the countryside should be designed and 
located to minimise their impact, usually within existing clusters of 
buildings or farm complexes and/or close to existing infrastructure and 
public transport.  The use of outdoor space associated with development 
including hard and soft landscaping, means of access, car parking and the 
treatment of boundaries can all have a significant detrimental effect on 
the character and quality of the countryside and will therefore be strictly 
controlled. 
 
5.76. Supplementary information may need to accompany planning 
applications, explaining how the proposal has considered and responded 
to criteria outlined in the Policy. Where relevant, information should also 
be submitted to show how the proposals respond to National Guidance, 
including TAN 6 Planning for Sustainable Rural Communities. Where 
appropriate, this information should also explain the reasons for locating 
the development in the countryside. Significant development proposals in 
the countryside will be expected to include a landscape assessment and 
landscaping scheme in accordance with Policy EN3. 
 
EN2: CONVERSION, EXTENSION AND REPLACEMENT BUILDINGS 
IN THE COUNTRYSIDE 
 
There will be a presumption against conversion, extension and 
replacement of buildings in Cardiff’s countryside except where: 
a. The proposed conversion is demonstrated to: 
i.  Be structurally sound and capable of being made so without 

major alterations, reconstructing or extensions; 
ii.   Be possible without materially changing the existing 

character of the building or have a harmful effect on the 
countryside; 

iii.  Not give rise to a demand for additional buildings; and 
iv.  Be suitable for the proposed re-use. 
The proposed extension is demonstrated to: 
 
i.  Be the subordinate part of the existing building; and 
ii.  Respect the scale, character and design of the original part 

of the building within its countryside and landscape setting. 

Page 1369



138 
 
 

 
c. The proposed replacement building is demonstrated to: 
i.  Not result in any greater impact on the quality and character 

of the surrounding area in terms of its proposed scale and 
design, including any residential curtilage; 

ii.  Be on the footprint of the existing building unless relocation 
can be justified in terms of either being part of an existing 
group or improving the countryside or landscape setting; and 

iii.  Not replace any building of architectural, historic or visual 
merit. 

All proposals should be of an appropriate scale and design and be 
at least as sympathetic in its setting as the existing building. 
 
5.77. The aim of this Policy is to ensure that conversions, extensions and 
replacement of buildings in the countryside conserve the character and 
quality of Cardiff’s countryside and natural heritage value, without being 
unduly restrictive. 
 
5.78. The Policy contributes towards Plan objectives which supports the 
re-use and adaption of existing rural buildings to help meet the needs of 
commercial and industrial development, as well as for tourism, sport and 
recreation.  Reference should also be made to KP3A with regard to the 
consideration of proposals in the Green Wedge area. 
 
5.79. The scale and design of some individual buildings is already having 
a detrimental effect on the character and quality of Cardiff’s countryside. 
Although small-scale extensions, conversions and replacement buildings 
may be acceptable, all development in the countryside will be strictly 
controlled to prevent unacceptable harm. Where permissions are granted, 
permitted development rights may also be removed. 
 
5.80. With regard to conversions, it is recognised that many buildings 
have and continue to fall into disrepair meaning that they become unfit 
for the original purpose they were intended for. Whilst the re-use and 
adaptation of such buildings may prevent existing building stock from 
going to waste, a balance is required to protect the character and quality 
of the countryside. However, proposals for the conversion of rural 
buildings will only be permitted where they conform to the criteria set out 
above and the other relevant policies of the Plan. In addition to this, any 
access, hard-standing, boundary treatment, landscaping or other external 

Page 1370



139 
 
 

features associated with the proposals should not result in the loss of 
fields or have a detrimental impact on the character of the surrounding 
area. 
 
5.81. In the case of proposed residential conversions, the applicant 
should demonstrate that they have made every effort to secure suitable 
business re-use and that the application is supported by a statement of 
the efforts they have made. The creation of new gardens and garden 
extensions will not normally be considered appropriate due to their 
individual and cumulative detrimental impact on the quality and character 
of the countryside and landscape.  
 
5.82. Extensions to existing buildings will also be strictly controlled to 
limit their individual and cumulative impact. Proposals for extensions 
should ensure that the existing building remains the dominant form. In 
the case of buildings that have had previous extensions, the proposals 
should have regard to the scale and character of the original part of the 
building. The tendency to seek successive extensions to individual 
buildings will be resisted. 
 
5.83. The demolition and replacement of buildings will generally only be 
permitted on the footprint of an existing building or relocated elsewhere 
on the site where their scale and design, including residential curtilage, 
does not result in any greater impact on the quality and character of the 
area. The replacement of non-residential buildings with dwellings will be 
resisted. In general, the re-use or adaptation of existing buildings will 
normally be favoured in preference to new development. 
 
EN3: LANDSCAPE PROTECTION 
 
Development will not be permitted that would cause unacceptable 
harm to the character and quality of the landscape and setting of 
the city. 
 
Particular priority will be given to protecting, managing and 
enhancing the character and quality of the following Special 
Landscape Areas: 
i. St Fagans Lowlands and the Ely Valley; 
ii. Garth Hill and Pentyrch Ridges; 
iii. Fforest Fawr and Caerphilly Ridge; 

Page 1371



140 
 
 

iv. Wentloog Levels; and 
v. Flat Holm. 
vi.  
A landscape assessment and landscaping scheme will be required 
for significant development proposals. 
 
5.84. The aim of this Policy is to ensure that those features of the 
landscape that contribute to its character, value, distinctiveness, sense of 
place, and quality, with particular priority given to SLAs (as identified on 
the Proposals Map) are protected from inappropriate development. It 
seeks to manage and enhance this rich asset in order to maintain Cardiff’s 
unique distinctiveness whilst helping to mitigate against climate change. 
 
5.85. This Policy applies to the whole county, acknowledging that the 
urban area also contains features of landscape importance. When dealing 
with planning applications that affect Cardiff’s landscape, unacceptable 
harm will be assessed in relation to: 

• The impact of the proposed development on key features of the 
landscape in terms of physical character, vegetation and habitats, 
land use and settlement patterns, visual character, historical 
character and cultural associations; 

• The need for the proposed development in relation to its impact; 
• The availability of alternative locations; and 
• The ability to provide appropriate mitigation measures. 
 

5.86. Wherever possible, development will be expected to maintain and 
strengthen positive attributes of the landscape and seek to mitigate or 
remove, rather than compound negative influences. Reference should 
also be made to KP3A with regard to the consideration of proposals in the 
Green Wedge area. 
 
5.87. The scale, location and design of development proposals should 
respect their landscape context. Where large scale development is 
proposed, or where development may impact significantly on the 
landscape character or key features of an area, a landscape assessment 
should be submitted with the planning application and, where 
appropriate, a landscaping scheme. 
 
5.88. Where landscape assessments or landscaping schemes are required 
they should set out the impact of the development on key features, 

Page 1372



141 
 
 

landscape character and qualities and should explain how the design 
solution proposed addresses both its positive and negative attributes and 
associated landscape and visual impacts effects, including cumulative 
effects where appropriate.  Assessments and schemes should include the 
landscape baseline information from all five LANDMAP1 layers and should 
1 Further information can be found at http://landmap.ccw.gov.uk/map/Map.aspx 

 
focus on the relevant aspect areas, their descriptions, and evaluations.  
Design solutions should clearly demonstrate how the strategic landscape 
assessment and site appraisal have informed the detailed design and 
location of the development and planting proposals.  Schemes should 
generally be implemented prior to all or part of the site coming into 
beneficial use.  The management of landscape features of importance will 
also be encouraged. 
 
5.89. TACP Consultants were appointed by the Council in September 2007 
to undertake a review of the existing proposed Special Landscape Areas 
(SLAs) and Landscape Character Areas (LCAs) previously defined as 
Combined Aspect Areas, based on the original Landscape Study of Cardiff 
undertaken by Atlantic Consultants, using the LANDMAP methodology 
developed by the Countryside Council for Wales. In addition, the St 
Fagans Lowlands and Ely Valley proposed boundary took into account the 
detailed work undertaken by Wardell Armstrong in 2006. 
 
5.90. The 2008 reviews used the updated LANDMAP information 
methodology system established in 2003 and as recognised in PPW. A key 
output from this exercise has been the preparation of supplementary 
advice on SLAs including evidence satisfying the selection and extent of 
candidate SLA areas with a description of key landscape characteristics 
and consideration of five discrete aspect topic layers: geological 
landscapes, landscape habitats, visual and sensory landscapes, historic 
landscapes and cultural landscapes based upon an all-Wales set of 
criteria. 
 
5.91. SLAs are designated to protect areas that are considered to be 
important to the overall landscape of the County due to their visual and 
sensory, geological, cultural, historical and habitat landscapes. They are 
intrinsic to the overall character of the area and provide a living history of 
the evolution of the area’s landscape as well as a cultural backdrop and 
visual setting. 

Page 1373

http://landmap.ccw.gov.uk/map/Map.aspx


142 
 
 

 
5.92. Development proposals within SLAs will be assessed against the 
same criteria as those set out above. However, greater weight will be 
given to landscape consideration within SLAs and to the special character 
and quality of the particular area. Development proposals will also be 
required to address any relevant key issues identified in the Review of 
Special Landscape Areas and Landscape Character Areas. In addition 
landscape assessments and schemes are more likely to be required to 
accompany applications for development in these areas.  
 
5.93. Although, SLA designations will not unduly restrict acceptable 
development in the countryside, there will be a presumption against 
urban expansion or other development within SLAs that would cause 
unacceptable harm to the character and quality. 
 
5.94. Quarries, for example, have been included within proposed 
designations because they reflect the underlying geology as well as the 
history of mining within the area and form a distinctive element of the 
areas, but settlements lying within SLAs have been excluded from the 
proposed designations. Development proposals within these settlements, 
or within close proximity to an SLA including allocations will need to have 
regard to their potential impact on the character and quality of the SLA. 
 
EN4: RIVER CORRIDORS 
 
The Natural Heritage, character and other key features of Cardiff’s 
river corridors will be protected, promoted and enhanced, 
together with facilitating sustainable access and recreation. 
 
5.95. The Policy provides a planning framework within which the Council 
can protect, promote and enhance the river corridors. 
 
5.96. It will be used as a mechanism to implement the Council’s aims with 
regards to the river corridors. The Policy helps to deliver Plan objectives 
relating to social needs and natural environment together with according 
with PPW (Para 5.1, 5.4 and 5.5) which values the importance of the 
natural heritage of Wales including non-statutorily designated sites and 
seeks to conserve and enhance this heritage in ways which bring benefits 
to the local community. 
 

Page 1374



143 
 
 

5.97. Cardiff contains the four river corridors of the Taff, Ely, Rhymney 
and Nant Fawr. They make a unique contribution to the character and 
form of the city providing continuous green corridors between the Severn 
Estuary and the countryside beyond the urban edge. The watercourses 
and adjoining open spaces possess high recreational, biodiversity, 
historic, cultural and landscape value. Additionally, they are located close 
to local communities and offer excellent opportunities for off-road access 
routes that can provide part of the wider strategic recreational routes and 
everyday network of routes. 
 
5.98. This Policy aims to protect and enhance the features of Cardiff’s 
river corridors, whilst also facilitating sustainable access and recreation 
opportunities. 
 
5.99. The extent of Cardiff’s river corridors within the urban area are 
illustrated on the Proposals Map. They include the rivers together with 
adjoining open space and other predominantly open land that together 
form the strategically important corridor of mixed open spaces that run 
through the heart of the urban area. The Policy also applies to the river 
corridors outside the urban area (as defined by the settlement 
boundaries). Such land is protected from inappropriate development 
through other Policies. However, this Policy will also apply and aims to 
ensure the strategic role played by the river corridors is continued from 
the urban area, through the surrounding countryside up to the County 
boundary. In this respect it is considered inappropriate to designate an 
arbitrary boundary to a notional river corridor running through farmland. 
Any proposals will be assessed to ensure the aims of this Policy are met 
and not prejudiced. 
 
5.100 This Policy provides a planning framework within which the Council 
can protect, promote and enhance the river corridors. It will be used as a 
mechanism to implement the council’s aims with regards to the river 
corridors and will be used in conjunction with the River Valleys Initiative 
that was established in 2004/ 05 in order to develop a more joined up 
approach to the planning and management of Cardiff’s river valleys. The 
River Valleys Initiative brings together a wide range of organisations who 
have roles to undertake within the river valleys. One of the key outcomes 
of this process to date is an agreement to develop Action Plans for each of 
the three main river valleys. Action Plans have been prepared and are 
implemented, monitored and reviewed in partnership with a wide range of 

Page 1375



144 
 
 

organisations, overseen by a steering group. There are River Corridor 
Action Plans for the Ely Valley, Taff Corridor and Rhymney Valley and 
Nant Fawr Corridor. Projects that implement the objectives set out in the 
Action Plans, and Cardiff’s Countryside Strategy are undertaken by a 
variety of organisations, individually and in partnership using funding 
from a range of sources, including the partnership programme with the 
Natural Resources Wales, other Cardiff Council funding and planning 
obligations. 
 
5.101. Proposals for development within the river corridors will be 
assessed against other relevant policies in the Plan. New development 
within, or adjacent to the river corridors may be required to contribute to 
projects which help to achieve the objectives set out in the River Corridor 
Action Plans. Where appropriate, planning obligations may be required in 
accordance with Policies relating to the provision of new infrastructure. 
 
5.102. Progress on achieving this Policy will be monitored through the 
existing River Valley Action Plans process which can in turn inform the 
wider LDP monitoring. 
 
EN5: DESIGNATED SITES 
 
Development will not be permitted that would cause unacceptable 
harm to sites of international or national nature conservation 
importance. 
 
Development proposals that would affect locally designated sites 
of nature conservation and geological importance should maintain 
or enhance the nature conservation and/or geological importance 
of the designation.  Where this is not the case and the need for 
the development outweighs the conservation importance of the 
site, it should be demonstrated that there is no satisfactory 
alternative location for the development which avoids nature 
conservation impacts, and compensation measures designed to 
ensure that there is no reduction in the overall nature 
conservation value of the area or feature. 
 
5.103. The purpose of Policy is to ensure that the Council fulfils its 
obligations in respect of protecting sites of nature conservation 
importance from harmful development. 

Page 1376



145 
 
 

 
5.104. Where development is proposed which may have an effect on a 
site of international or national importance for nature conservation, 
sufficient information will be required of all applicants to enable a full 
assessment of the proposal to be carried out. The need for such 
assessments will not be limited to development located within the 
designated areas as, depending on the nature of the development and of 
the nature conservation interest, significant effects may occur even if the 
development is some distance away.  
 
5.105. Assessment of unacceptable harm will be in accordance with the 
criteria set out in the legislation which establishes the sites of 
international or national importance for nature conservation, and which 
are expanded upon in Chapter 5 of Planning Policy Wales (2012) and 
Sections 5.3, 5.4 and Annex 3 of Technical Advice Note (Wales) 5: Nature 
Conservation and Planning (2009).  
 
5.106. In the case of developments required to be assessed under the 
Conservation of Habitats & Species Regulations 2010 (as amended), 
where an initial determination of likely significance has indicated that the 
proposal may be likely to have a significant effect, or the decision as to 
whether or not the development would have a significant effect on the 
designated site is inconclusive, an appropriate assessment under 
Regulation 61(1) will be required and further information may be required 
from the applicant or other parties.  
 
5.107. Where development proposals may be likely to result in 
disturbance or harm to a European or UK protected species or its habitat, 
additional information will be requested of applicants  
 
5.108. If planning permission is granted it may be the subject of 
appropriate conditions, or management agreements or planning 
obligations will be sought to secure appropriate protection, monitoring, 
mitigation or compensation and favourable management. 
 
5.109. The network of SSSIs/SACs/SPAs and Ramsar Sites alone is not 
sufficient to maintain the biodiversity of Cardiff.  It is therefore important 
to identify other locally designated wildlife sites such as Sites of 
Importance for Nature Conservation (SINC’s) and Local Nature Reserves 
(LNR’s).  Cardiff currently has 177 SINC’s and 6 LNR’s. 

Page 1377



146 
 
 

 
5.110. Geological and geomorphological sites of importance that do not 
merit notification as a SSSI may also be designated as a SINC or 
Regionally Important Geological Site (RIGS). Such sites define the most 
important places for geology and geomorphology outside those that are 
statutorily protected. Geological sites within Cardiff will be designated 
during the Plan period. The aim of this Policy is to protect the LNRs, 
SINCs and RIGS referred to above. 
 
5.111. The Policy will contribute to the protection and enhancement of 
Biodiversity interests in accordance with Policy EN6 and will work towards 
delivering the Plan’s objective of protecting and enhancing features of 
Cardiff’s natural environment and heritage. 
 
5.112. Chapter 5 of PPW and TAN 5 provide guidance on planning policies 
to protect biodiversity interests. In accordance with this guidance, the 
Council will carefully assess proposals for development affecting non-
statutory and locally designated sites by evaluating whether: 

• the need for the proposed development is considered to outweigh 
the importance of the particular nature conservation interest and 
any harm likely to be caused to it; 

• the proposed development can be more satisfactorily 
accommodated elsewhere; and appropriate mitigation or 
compensation measures are proposed. 
 

5.113. Where development is proposed which may have an effect on a 
non-statutory or locally designated site, sufficient information will be 
required from all applicants to enable a full assessment of the proposals 
to be carried out. The need for such assessments will not be limited to 
development located within the designated areas as, depending on the 
nature of the development and the nature conservation interest, 
significant effects may occur even if the proposed development is located 
some distance from the conservation interest. The required assessments, 
including ecological surveys, will need to be undertaken at the appropriate 
time of the year.  Further guidance will be available in the Biodiversity 
SPG. 
 
5.114. Where planning permission is granted, it may be the subject of 
appropriate conditions or management agreements to ensure suitable 
protection, monitoring, mitigation or compensation and favourable 

Page 1378



147 
 
 

management. Where compensatory provision is required, it should be of 
the same standard and size to that lost as a result of the development. In 
such cases, details of the type and level of provision will be provided, and 
agreed by the case officer, prior to determination of the planning 
application. This may also be required for outline planning applications 
where appropriate. Where necessary, planning obligations may be sought 
in accordance with Policy KP7. 
 
5.115. SINCs will be measured in accordance with the annual review of 
SINCs and additionally reported on in the LDP Annual Monitoring Report. 
 
5.116. The Designated Sites identified in this Policy are defined on the 
Constraints Map and listed in Appendix 7.  (It should be noted that 
although this information is accurate at the time of adoption, potential 
changes to designated areas are possible over the plan period.  The 
Council will keep an up to date record of the boundaries of all designated 
sites which can be accessed via the Council website. 
 
EN6: ECOLOGICAL NETWORKS AND FEATURES OF IMPORTANCE 
FOR BIODIVERSITY 
 
Development will only be permitted if it does not cause 
unacceptable harm to: 
 
i.  Landscape features of importance for wild flora and fauna, 

including wildlife corridors and ‘stepping stones’ which 
enable the dispersal and functioning of protected and 
priority species; 

ii.  Networks of importance for landscape or nature 
conservation. 
 
Particular priority will be given to the protection, enlargement, 
connectivity and management of the overall nature of semi 
natural habitats. Where this is not the case and the need for the 
development outweighs the nature conservation importance of 
the site, it should be demonstrated that there is no satisfactory 
alternative location for the development and compensatory 
provision will be made of comparable ecological value to that 
lost as a result of the development. 
 

Page 1379



148 
 
 

5.117. This Policy aims to protect Cardiff’s ecological networks and 
landscape features that are important for biodiversity. It accords with 
Policy KP16 by protecting and enhancing Cardiff’s natural heritage, 
including its biodiversity. The Policy also contributes to the aims and 
objectives of the Plan by ensuring that Cardiff’s biodiversity and 
abundance of wildlife habitats and native species are protected and 
enhanced. 
 
5.118. Wild species, whether legally protected or not, are often widely 
dispersed in the landscape, with significant populations being isolated 
from each other. In such cases, landscape features may provide wildlife 
corridors for some species, as well as links or ‘stepping-stones’ between 
habitats. Whilst it is crucial to maintain and enhance a network of sites to 
safeguard current levels of biodiversity, this cannot be achieved without 
also safeguarding and managing the intervening habitats and areas. 
 
5.119. The protection, management and enhancement of ecological 
networks are identified as being particularly important in Article 10 of the 
EU Habitats Directive. Regulation 39(3) of The Conservation of Habitats 
and Species Regulations 2010 (as amended) requires planning authorities 
to encourage the positive management of landscape features which make 
up this network and are of importance for wild flora and fauna. This is 
also reinforced in PPW and the associated Companion Guide (2006) in 
that it advises LDP's to safeguard and manage landscape features of 
major importance for nature conservation. 
 

5.120. For the purposes of this Policy, features of the landscape which are 
of importance for wild flora and fauna are those, by virtue of their linear 
and continuous structure (such as rivers with their banks or the 
traditional systems of marking field boundaries) or their function as 
stepping stones (such as ponds or small woods), that are essential for the 
migration, dispersal and genetic exchange of wild species. 
 
5.121 Where development is proposed which may cause unacceptable 
harm to such networks or features, information will be required of all 
applicants to enable a full assessment of the proposal to be carried out. 
Such assessments, including ecological surveys will need to be 
undertaken at the appropriate time of year. .  Further guidance will be 
available in the Biodiversity SPG. 
 

Page 1380



149 
 
 

5.122. If there are overriding material planning considerations in favour 
of development, then the Council will seek to secure reasonable measures 
from developers to minimise or offset any impacts or loss of habitat 
features or species present on a site. Such measures will be agreed prior 
to the commencement of development and will be secured through 
appropriate planning conditions and/or planning obligations. Planning 
Obligations will be secured in accordance with Policy KP7. 
 
 
 
 
 
EN7: PRIORITY HABITATS AND SPECIES 
 
Development proposals that would have a significant adverse 
effect on the continued viability of habitats and species which are 
legally protected or which are identified as priorities in the UK or 
Local Biodiversity Action Plan will only be permitted where: 
i.  The need for development outweighs the nature 

conservation importance of the site; 
ii.  The developer demonstrates that there is no satisfactory 

alternative location for the development which avoids nature 
conservation impacts; and 

iv. Effective mitigation measures are provided by the developer. 
 

Where harm is unavoidable it should be minimised by effective 
mitigation to ensure that there is no reduction in the overall 
nature conservation value of the area. Where this is not possible 
compensation measures designed to conserve, enhance, manage 
and, where appropriate, restore natural habitats and species 
should be provided. 
 
5.123. This Policy is in accordance with the aims and objectives of the 
Plan by protecting and enhancing the features of Cardiff’s natural 
heritage, including its biodiversity and abundance of wildlife habitats and 
native species. More specifically, it will help protect the current Priority 
Habitats and Species as defined in the Local Biodiversity Action Plan 2008. 
The Policy also helps to deliver Policy KP16. 
 

Page 1381



150 
 
 

5.124. The presence of a species protected under European or UK 
legislation is a material consideration in considering development 
proposals which would be likely to result in disturbance or harm to the 
species or its habitat. Appropriate surveys to confirm if a protected 
species is present and an assessment of the likely impact of the 
development on a protected species may therefore be required from 
applicants.  Thereafter the development proposals will be assessed in 
accordance with criteria set out in sections 5.5.11 and 5.5.12 of Planning 
Policy Wales 2012 and Chapter 6 of Technical Advice Note (Wales) 5: 
Nature Conservation and Planning (2009). 
 
5.125. Development proposals that have the potential to cause a 
significant adverse effect on priority habitats and species will need to be 
accompanied by an ecological survey and an assessment of the likely 
impact of the development on the protected species. The need for such 
assessments will be undertaken at the appropriate time of year.  Further 
guidance will be available in the Biodiversity SPG. 
 
5.126 In considering any significant adverse effect on the Priority Habitat 
or Species, the Council will look at: 

• The current distribution and status of the priority habitat or species 
within Cardiff as informed by the Cardiff Biological Database as well 
as other sources of data that may be relevant, accurate and 
practical to use for such purposes in the future;  

• Whether the development proposals are likely to have a significant 
effect on the priority habitats/ species; and  

• Whether effective mitigation measures have been provided. 
 

5.127 Where planning permission is granted, the Council may attach 
conditions or enter into agreements that would overcome the potentially 
damaging effects of development on the habitats or species of 
conservation importance. The Council will encourage the applicant to 
identify and include measures that contribute to the restoration or 
expansion of important habitats, and these will be set out in the 
landscaping and planting conditions that accompany the planning 
permission.  Any planning obligations required will be in accordance with 
Policy KP7. 
 
5.128  Where there is a significant adverse effect on a significant 
population of the Priority Habitat or Species and where planning 

Page 1382



151 
 
 

conditions and/ or planning obligations cannot adequately protect the 
interest, it may be necessary to refuse development proposals. 
 
5.129 Priority Habitats and Species are monitored as part of the 3 yearly 
review of the UK and Local Biodiversity Action Plans. 
 
EN8: TREES, WOODLANDS AND HEDGEROWS 
 
Development will not be permitted that would cause unacceptable 
harm to trees, woodlands and hedgerows of significant public 
amenity, natural or cultural heritage value, or that contribute 
significantly to mitigating the effects of climate change. 
 
5.130 The purpose of the Policy is to protect trees, woodlands and 
hedgerows with natural heritage or amenity value. 
 
5.131 It responds to Plan objectives relating to the natural environment 
and climate change and accords with PPW which emphasises the 
protection and preservation of trees and woodlands against inappropriate 
development. 
 
5.132 Trees, woodlands and hedgerows offer multiple benefits, including 
visual amenity, defining a sense of place, providing places for relaxation 
and recreation, habitats for wildlife, improved health and wellbeing and 
mitigating the effects of climate change. To maintain these benefits, the 
protection and enhancement of a sustainable urban forest is critical. A 
sustainable urban forest adapted to meet the challenges of climate 
change and exotic pest and disease outbreaks will contain a diverse age 
range and species mix of trees, though large, long-lived trees will be 
favoured for protection and planting due to the increased benefits they 
offer in mitigating the effects of climate change. 
 
5.133 In order to determine unacceptable harm to trees, woodland and 
hedgerows within or bounding a site, applicants must assess them in 
accordance with the current British Standard 5837. The assessment must 
inform design, and in considering hedgerows, regard will be given to their 
landscape, historical and ecological value, as well as their function as 
boundaries. Further guidance and advice will be contained in SPG relating 
to Trees and development. 
 

Page 1383



152 
 
 

5.134 The value of trees, woodlands and hedgerows in sequestering 
carbon and mitigating the effects of climate change will be ascertained 
partly by the British Standard 5837 assessment, and partly by how 
effectively they are integrated into a sustainable urban forest as defined 
in paragraph 5.83. 
 
5.135 To prevent damage to trees, woodlands and hedgerows during 
development, schemes of protection will normally be required, in 
accordance with the current British Standard 5837. 
 
5.136 Trees are the largest and longest living organisms in Cardiff. When 
considering developments that may affect them, regard will be given to 
potential short and long-term impacts. Where trees are lost, new planting 
will be sought that is provided with sufficient usable soil volume, aeration 
and irrigation to ensure healthy long-term growth. Although younger 
trees are more easily replaced, the Council will seek to ensure that 
sufficient young trees survive to maturity, having regard to the number of 
developments that may occur during their natural lifespan. Proposals that 
create spaces for larger tree species to grow to maturity will be favoured 
over proposals for scattered smaller trees. 
 
5.137 Ancient woodlands are irreplaceable habitats of high biodiversity 
value which will be protected from development that would result in 
significant damage. Veteran trees and ancient hedgerows cannot be 
recreated and developments will be expected to retain them. Where 
appropriate, Tree Preservation Orders will be served to protect important 
amenity trees from removal or harm. The amenity value of trees will be 
assessed in accordance with government guidance and nationally 
recognised systems of amenity evaluation. 
 
The Historic Environment 
 
EN9: CONSERVATION OF THE HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT 
 
Development relating to any of the heritage assets listed below 
(or their settings) will only be permitted where it can be 
demonstrated that it preserves or enhances that asset’s 
architectural quality, historic and cultural significance, character, 
integrity and/or setting. 
 

Page 1384



153 
 
 

i.  Scheduled Ancient Monuments; 
ii.  Listed Buildings and their curtilage structures; 
iii.  Conservation Areas; 
iv.  Archaeologically Sensitive Areas; 
v.  Registered Historic Landscapes, Parks and Gardens; or 
vi.  Locally Listed Buildings of Merit and other historic features 

of interest that positively contribute to the distinctiveness of 
the city. 

 
5.138. This Policy aims to set out the criteria against which proposals 
affecting Cardiff’s heritage assets will be assessed.  The Heritage assets 
identified in this Policy are defined on the Constraints Map and in 
Appendix 6 with the exception of Statutory Listed Buildings and Locally 
Listed Buildings of Merit which can be viewed on the Council website. 
5.139. It should be noted that although this information is accurate at the 
time of adoption, potential changes to designated areas are possible over 
the plan period.  The Council will keep an up to date record of the 
boundaries of all designated sites which can be accessed via the Council 
website. 
 
5.140. Occasionally built heritage will be a constraint, the need for 
preservation outweighing the benefit of development.  More often, a 
heritage asset will be an opportunity for retaining local identity through 
the repair and reuse of historic assets and strengthening this through 
respect for local characteristics of design, for the interpretation of hidden 
heritage assets, or for the enhancement of the characteristic natural 
environment.  All new developments within historic areas should be 
designed in such a way as to preserve or enhance their special character. 
 
Scheduled Ancient Monuments 
 
5.141. PPW, Chapter 3 Conserving the Historic Environment and Welsh 
Office Circular 60/96: Planning and the Historic Environment: Archaeology 
(scheduled to be replaced by a Technical Advice Note within the plan 
period) set out clear statements of national development management 
policy for archaeological remains and should be referred to accordingly. 
 
Listed Buildings 
 

Page 1385



154 
 
 

5.142. Once a building is listed (or is subject to a Building Preservation 
Notice) no work to the interior or exterior of the building, or to structures 
within its curtilage, that would affect the special architectural or historic 
interest of the building can be undertaken without Listed Building 
Consent. This can include work that would not require planning 
permission under the provisions of the Planning Acts. 
 
5.143. Listed building control is subject to the provisions of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings & Conservation Areas) Act 1990.  Advice is set out in 
Circular 61/96 (scheduled to be replaced by a Technical Advice Note 
within the plan period).  There is no statutory requirement to have regard 
to the provisions of the development plan when considering an application 
for listed building consent.  It is strongly recommended, however, that 
owners or developers seek early advice from the Council prior to 
undertaking any works or making an application for listed building 
consent. 
 
5.144. Where Policy EN9 is particularly relevant is in the case of 
development that affects the setting of a listed building or in the 
consideration of an associated planning application for a change of use. 
 
5.145. Listed building consent is not required if the development is 
beyond the curtilage of the listed building and only affects its setting. 
However, considerable damage can be done to the architectural or 
historic interest of the listed building if the development is insensitive in 
design, scale or positioning. The setting of a listed building is often an 
essential feature of its character. The setting may be limited to the 
immediate surroundings, but it can extend for a considerable distance. A 
proposed development might affect the gardens or parkland of a major 
house, the rural characteristics of a farmstead or the street setting of an 
urban building that forms an important visual element of that street. 
Policy EN9 requires that development proposals take full account of the 
setting of any listed building in the vicinity and that developers 
demonstrate that the setting will not be harmed. 
 
5.146. In terms of associated planning applications for changes of use of 
a listed building, the Council will expect applicants to demonstrate how 
their proposals have been arrived at in the context of the PPW aim to 
identify the optimum viable use that is compatible with the character and 
setting of the listed building. 

Page 1386



155 
 
 

 
Conservation Areas 
 
5.147. The adopted series of Conservation Area Appraisal (CAA) 
documents seek to provide a sound basis for managing development 
proposals and for progressing initiatives to preserve and enhance each 
conservation area, in line with advice in PPW and Circular 61/96. The 
documents were adopted following extensive local consultation and 
provide a clear and agreed definition of those elements which contribute 
to the special character and historic interest of the area. 
 
5.148. The findings of the CAAs need to be fully taken into account when 
considering development proposals. The design and access statement 
accompanying any application for planning permission should, where 
relevant, clearly set out how the development preserves or enhances the 
conservation area. In the assessment of planning applications, the Council 
will wherever feasible seek to enhance the special character of each area 
as defined and promoted by each adopted CAA. 
 
5.149. It is recommended that owners or developers seek early advice 
from the Council prior to making an application for demolition or 
development within a conservation area. 
 
5.150. The Council will continue to review its conservation area 
designations, boundaries and CAAs as required and against recognised 
national criteria in PPW and Circular 61/96, in addition to those 
characteristics identified within the approved Conservation Area Strategy 
(Sept 1997) to determine whether an area is of special interest. 
 
Archaeologically Sensitive Areas 
 
5.151. Four archaeologically sensitive areas have been identified in 
Cardiff. The purpose of this non-statutory designation is to assist those 
who are planning development in areas where there is a known 
archaeological resource or where it is likely that remains may be sensitive 
to development pressures. SPG on Archaeologically Sensitive Areas will 
provide further guidance and information. 
 
Registered Historic Landscapes Parks and Gardens 
 

Page 1387



156 
 
 

5.152. The landscapes, parks and gardens on the register have no 
statutory protection, but they must be taken into account when 
development proposals are made that either affect them directly or that 
affect their setting. 
 
Locally Listed Buildings of Merit and other historic features of 
interest 
 
5.153. Many buildings, structures and archaeological remains that do not 
meet the very special criteria to merit scheduling or inclusion on the 
statutory list are nevertheless of value to the identity of the city for their 
contribution to local built character and/or social and historical 
associations. 
 
5.154. Heritage and culture is an important social aspect and contributes 
to creating places where people want to live and work. Historic assets can 
create focal points and are useful in identifying the vernacular 
characteristics of an area that create distinctive places. Restoration and 
re-use is also a basic principle of developing sustainably. Standing 
buildings represent an investment of material and embodied energy that 
should not be ignored. Their removal, disposal and subsequent site works 
require further energy and creates waste. 
 
5.155. These assets may be noted within the Council’s list of buildings of 
local merit, embodied in the unscheduled archaeological record 
maintained by the Glamorgan Gwent Archaeological Trust or may yet to 
be registered or listed but still worthy of retention for their contribution to 
local character or identity. 
 
5.156. While inclusion on the local list does not currently afford any 
additional statutory protection to the buildings, it is the intention of Policy 
EN9 to ensure that full consideration is given to the conservation and 
continued use of such buildings, as part of the protection and 
enhancement of the special identity of Cardiff. 
 
Natural Resources 
 
EN10: WATER SENSITIVE DESIGN 
 

Page 1388



157 
 
 

Development should apply water sensitive urban design solutions 
(the process of integrating water cycle management with the built 
environment through planning and urban design). To include the 
management of: 
 
i.  Water demand and supply; 
ii.  Waste water and pollution; 
iii.  Rainfall and runoff; 
iv.  Watercourses and water resource; 
v.  Flooding; and 
vi.  Water pathways. 
 
5.157. Increasing pressures on urban drainage systems and challenges of 
water management highlight the need to redress the balance of the water 
cycle. Recent climate change studies have identified that Wales can 
expect more extreme weather events including an increase in the 
frequency of intense rainfall. Natural Resources Wales and Welsh Water 
support these findings. 
 
5.158. There is a need for an approach where the whole urban water 
cycle is incorporated into a holistic system. Water sensitive design focuses 
on managing water locally and reducing demands on the strategic 
network. 
 
5.159. Such examples of integrated water cycle management include 
Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDS); water recycling; and the 
holistic integration of surface water systems designed into the 
development layout, as well as into networks of green spaces applicable 
at a range of spatial scales, such as gardens, green roofs, streets, car 
parks and river corridors. 
 
5.160. There is a need for all those involved in the water industry and 
built environment to work together to create a sustainable strategy for 
expanding the water ecosystem whilst providing opportunities for wildlife, 
adaptable landscapes, health and exercise. Implementation of this Policy, 
which is aimed in part at improving water resource use efficiency, will 
counteract increases in water demand arising from the implementation of 
other policies in the Plan, thereby avoiding likely significant effect upon 
the River Usk and River Wye SACs. 
 

Page 1389



158 
 
 

5.161. The benefits of a water sensitive urban design initiative are; 
reduction of flood risk; security of water supply; better watercourse 
health, more affordable water bills; improved health and well-being, 
celebration of environment, local character and community; delivery of 
green infrastructure and efficiencies; creation of attractive places and 
improved ecosystem health. 
 
EN11: PROTECTION OF WATER RESOURCES 
 
Development will not be permitted that would cause unacceptable 
harm to the quality or quantity of underground, surface or coastal 
waters. 
 
 
5.162. This Policy expands on Policy KP18 and its purpose is to maintain 
and enhance the quality and quantity of water resources, including rivers, 
lakes, ponds and other water bodies, which are important for a wide 
range of uses and users. Poor and deteriorating water quality and 
compromised water quantity can affect the supply of water resources for 
industrial and domestic consumption, fisheries, amenity, recreation and 
nature conservation. 
 
5.163. The EU Water Framework Directive (2000/60/EC) establishes a 
strategic approach to water management and a common means of 
protecting and setting environmental objectives for all ground waters and 
surface waters. It aims to protect and restore clean water and ensure its 
long-term sustainable use. PPW emphasises that planning controls should 
be used to prevent the location of incompatible land uses and 
development close to potential sources of pollution.  
 
5.164. Development will only be allowed where provision is made for the 
necessary infrastructure to protect water quality and quantity. Planning 
permission may be granted subject to conditions to secure the necessary 
measures, or developers may be required to enter into planning 
obligations. Applications that cannot provide adequate protection of 
watercourses, ground and surface water will be refused. New 
development that:  

• Poses an unacceptable risk to ground water or water courses; 
• Poses an unacceptable risk of ground water pollution, depletion or 

obstruction; and  

Page 1390



159 
 
 

• Incorporates inappropriate measures to prevent pollution  
 
will be refused planning permission, unless appropriate measures to 
prevent pollution can be incorporated into the development proposal. 
 
5.165. Future development will be limited to areas where adequate water 
resources exist or they can be reasonably provided without adversely 
affecting existing abstractions, river flows, water quality, agriculture, 
fisheries, amenity or nature conservation and where provision coincides 
with the timing of development. Existing groundwater and river levels 
must be maintained, and water pollution must be avoided. 
 
5.166. Natural Resources Wales is responsible for protecting and 
improving the water environment. The Council will consult NRW and 
Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board, where necessary, 
on any proposal that is likely to affect the supply of water, the quality of 
water, or is likely to be affected by, or cause flooding. Levels of impact 
and risk will be assessed through consultation with these bodies. 
 
5.167. Planning permission will not be granted for development that, in 
the opinion of the Council, following consultation with NRW and the 
Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board, would adversely 
affect the quality, quantity or supply of surface water or groundwater as a 
result of: 

• The nature of the surface or waste water discharge; or 
• Unsatisfactory agreements for the disposal of foul sewerage, trade 

effluent or surface water; or 
• The spillage or leakage of stored oil or chemicals. 

 
5.168. Planning permission will not be granted for developments involving 
local abstraction of surface or ground water which, in the opinion of the 
Council, following consultation with Natural Resources Wales and the 
Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels Internal Drainage Board, would: 

• Increase requirements for water, unless an adequate water supply 
already exists or would be provided in time to serve the 
development; or 

• Pose an unacceptable risk to the current supply of water uses. 
 

5.169. Developments that improve the quality of the water environment 
or help to prevent water pollution or flooding will be favoured. 

Page 1391



160 
 
 

Implementation of this Policy, which is aimed in part at improving water 
resource use efficiency, will counteract increases in water demand arising 
from implementation of other policies in the Plan, thereby avoiding likely 
significant effect upon the River Usk and River Wye SACs. 
 
EN12: RENEWABLE ENERGY AND LOW CARBON TECHNOLOGIES 
 
Development proposals are required to maximise the potential for 
renewable energy. 
The Council will encourage developers of major and strategic sites 
to incorporate schemes which generate energy from renewable 
and low carbon technologies. This includes opportunities to 
minimise carbon emissions associated with the heating, cooling 
and power systems for new development. 
An independent energy assessment investigating the financial 
viability and technical feasibility of incorporating such schemes 
will be required to support applications. 
 
 
 
 
5.170. The UK government has committed to sourcing 15% of its energy 
from renewable sources by 2020. Modelling undertaken on behalf of the 
Department for Energy and Climate Change (DECC)1 
 suggests that by 2020, this could mean that more than 30% of our 
electricity and 12% of our heat, may be generated from renewable 
sources. These targets are presented as the lead scenario, which relies on 
strong, co-ordinated efforts from several sectors including local 
authorities. 
 
5.171. PPW enables Local Planning Authorities to assess strategic sites to 
identify opportunities to require higher sustainable building standards 
(including zero carbon) where requirements are demonstrated to be 
evidence-based and viable. Particular reference is made to opportunities 
for minimising carbon emissions associated with the heating, cooling and 
power systems. This includes utilising new or existing low and zero carbon 
energy supply systems (such as district heating systems), encouraging 
the development of new opportunities to supply proposed and existing 
development, and maximising opportunities to co-locate potential heat 
customers and suppliers. 

Page 1392



161 
 
 

 
5.172. In preparing the LDP, Cardiff Council has undertaken a Renewable 
Energy Assessment (REA).  The REA aims to identify the potential energy 
capacity of renewable and low carbon technologies in the local authority 
area and consider the contribution these can make towards Cardiff’s 
future heat and electricity energy requirements.  The REA was prepared in 
accordance with the Welsh Government Practice Guidance “Planning for 
Renewable and Low Carbon Energy – A Toolkit for Planners”.  Findings 
within the REA suggest that by 2020 the percentage of Cardiff’s electricity 
and heat met by renewable energy sources is likely to be 24% and 6% 
respectively. Both of these figures are below the guide targets in the UK 
Renewable Energy Strategy.  The REA (and future updates) can assist in 
identifying which renewable energy technologies may be appropriate in 
particular locations. 
 
 
 
 
1 UK Renewable Energy Strategy (DECC, 2009) 
 
 
5.173. The co-location of high density and mixed-use development can 
present significant opportunities for utilising renewable and low carbon 
technologies, including energy supply systems. Both major development 
sites and the identified strategic sites will form a large percentage of 
future development in Cardiff and are likely to play a significant role in 
Cardiff meeting its renewable energy potential identified in the REA. Major 
development sites are taken to be those of 100 dwellings and above, or, 
commercial developments of 1,000 square metres or more. 
 
5.174. Developers are expected to submit an independent energy 
assessment investigating the financial viability and technical feasibility of 
incorporating such schemes.  Statements should be submitted at the 
planning application stage to ensure that any viability assessment reflects 
technological developments and economic circumstances.  Developers 
should refer to the Council’s REA and Preliminary Heat Opportunities Plan 
in undertaking their energy assessments to identify possible opportunities 
for renewable and low carbon technologies.  In implementing this Policy it 
is expected that developers follow the energy hierarchy as advocated by 
national policy (TAN 12).  Further guidance in relation to energy 

Page 1393



162 
 
 

assessments will be issued in the form of SPG. This will specify what is 
expected of developers to meet the requirement of Policy EN12. 
 
5.175. PPW contains national policy relating to climate responsive 
development and specifies the current sustainable building standards in 
Wales. Section 12.10.1 contains national development management 
policy in relation to planning applications for renewable and low carbon 
energy development and associated infrastructure. Accordingly, 
developers should refer to this for further guidance. Implementation of 
this Policy, which promotes incorporation of renewable energy generation, 
will also reduce emission of aerial pollutants, thereby offsetting increases 
in aerial emissions arising from implementation of other policies in the 
Plan.  This would contribute to avoiding significant effects upon European 
Sites. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Pollution 
 
EN13 AIR, NOISE, LIGHT POLLUTION AND LAND CONTAMINATION 
 
Development will not be permitted where it would cause or result 
in unacceptable harm to health, local amenity, the character and 
quality of the countryside, or interests of nature conservation, 
landscape or built heritage importance because of air, noise, light 
pollution or the presence of unacceptable levels of land 
contamination. 
 
5.176. The purposes of the Policy are to ensure that: 

• Developments that would generate unacceptable levels of air, noise 
or light pollution are appropriately located and controlled;  

• Incompatible land uses and development are not located close to 
potential sources of pollution; and  

• Developments are suitable for the proposed end use and that any 
actual or potential land contamination can be overcome, thereby 

Page 1394



163 
 
 

ensuring that there is no unacceptable harm to human health or the 
environment. 
 

5.177. PPW emphasises that whilst planning controls should be used to 
control the above matters, they should not be used to control matters 
that are the proper concern of pollution control regimes. 
 
5.178. Poor air quality can harm people’s health, quality of life and 
amenity, as well as nature conservation and built heritage interests. Poor 
air quality is a problem in certain areas of Cardiff. Current air quality 
assessments have identified four areas of the County where statutory air 
quality standards are being exceeded. The Council has identified these as 
Air Quality Management Areas: 

• Cardiff City Centre; 
• Ely Bridge; 
• Stephenson Court, Newport Road; and 
• Cardiff Road, Llandaff. 

 
5.179. These areas suffer from high levels of pollution caused by road 
traffic. As part of its statutory monitoring of air quality within the city the 
Council will annually review air quality and may revoke or declare 
additional Air Quality Management Areas as appropriate. In determining 
planning applications, consideration will be given to a development’s likely 
effect in terms of air pollution it may cause directly, but also in terms of 
any increase or decrease in traffic it may generate.  
 
180. Where a development is likely to affect air quality significantly (i.e. 
where air quality standards are, or are likely to be breached or a new 
residential development gives rise to the need for a new Air Quality 
Management Area to be declared by introducing residents to areas where 
air quality standards are already being breached) then an application may 
be approved subject to conditions mitigating its impact on air quality, or 
refused where appropriate. 
 
5.181. Noise can have a harmful impact on people’s health and quality of 
life. Developments such as housing, schools and hospitals can be 
particularly sensitive to noise, as can areas of landscape, nature or built 
heritage importance. Where possible, new developments that are 
particularly noise-sensitive should be located away from existing or 
proposed sources of significant noise. This assessment can be informed 

Page 1395



164 
 
 

by information on noise complaints being collated by the Council as part 
of an on-going initiative to reduce noise nuisance. 
 
5.182. Major transport routes (road, rail and air) and some industrial and 
commercial activities can generate particularly high noise levels. There is 
specific guidance within TAN 11 that specifies Noise Exposure Categories 
that assists with proposed residential development near transport related 
noise. 
 
5.183. In addition to this, Welsh Government as part of its statutory 
duties under the Environmental Noise Directive has designated areas 
within Cardiff Noise Action Planning Priority Action Areas. The aim of the 
Directive is to define a common approach intended to avoid, prevent or 
reduce on a prioritised basis the harmful effects, including annoyance, 
due to exposure to environmental noise. The Directive defines 
environmental noise as unwanted or harmful outdoor sound created by 
human activities, including noise emitted by means of transport, road 
traffic, rail traffic, air traffic, and from sites of industrial activity.  
 
5.184. Under the Regulations, the Welsh Ministers had an obligation to 
make strategic noise maps for: 

• agglomerations (large urban areas with populations of more than 
100,000); 

• major roads (those with more than three million vehicle passages 
per year); and 

• major railways (those with more than 30,000 train passages per 
year). 

 
5.185. The noise maps have been published by the Welsh Government. 
 
5.186. Mitigating noise issues after they have arisen can be a lot more 
expensive than avoiding them in the first place. It is therefore desirable to 
seek interventions that bring multiple benefits, such as reducing people’s 
exposure to air pollutants, making buildings more energy-efficient, 
encouraging safer driving or improving the road surface for drivers and 
cyclists at the same time as decreasing noise levels. 
 
5.187. A current list of Noise Action Planning Priority Areas is available on 
the Welsh Government website. 
 

Page 1396



165 
 
 

5.188 Special consideration is required where noise-generating 
development is proposed in or near special areas such as urban quiet 
areas, which are tranquil urban green spaces designated by the Welsh 
Government under the Environmental Noise Directive. 
 
5.189. There are currently 6 quiet areas within Cardiff, namely: 

• Heath Park; 
• Park Cae Delyn; 
• Roath Park; 
• Roath Park Pleasure Garden; 
• Roath Park Recreational Ground; and 
• Thompson Park. 

 
5.190. There are a further 6 candidate quiet areas in Cardiff which the 
Welsh Government are currently consulting upon, these are: 

• Bute Park; 
• Fairwater Park; 
• Insole Court; 
• Llanishen Park; 
• Splott Park; and 
• Victoria Park. 

 
5.191. Quiet Areas have been designated as part of the implementation of 
the Environmental Noise Directive. 
 
5.192. Necessary new development that would give rise to high noise 
levels, including proposed transport schemes, should be located and 
designed so as to minimise their noise impact. Where noise-sensitive 
development needs to be located close to transport infrastructure for 
access reasons, it should be designed to reduce noise impact. Where 
necessary, developers will be required to provide an assessment of noise 
impact, together with proposals for mitigation. 
 
5.193. The provision of lighting can help prevent crime and the fear of 
crime, enhance safety and security, and facilitate some sport and 
recreational activities. However, it can also be intrusive, cause glare and 
have a harmful impact on natural and built heritage assets, the amenity 
of neighbouring land uses and traffic safety.  
 

Page 1397



166 
 
 

5.194. Where new lighting constitutes development (e.g. floodlighting) it 
is principally controlled through the planning system. Planning permission 
can be refused if the design of proposed lighting systems is not 
considered satisfactory in order to prevent light pollution. Where 
necessary, planning permission will be conditioned to ensure that the 
design and operation of lighting systems are satisfactory and/or to 
prevent light pollution. 
 
5.195. As detailed in PPW, where significant contamination is likely to be 
present, the local planning authority will require evidence of a detailed 
investigation and risk assessment prior to the determination of the 
application to enable beneficial use of land. Where acceptable remedial 
measures can overcome such contamination, planning permission may be 
granted subject to conditions specifying the necessary measures. If 
contamination cannot be overcome satisfactorily, the authority may 
refuse planning permission. 
 
5.196. The onus will remain with the developer to ensure that the 
development of the site will not result in designation as a site with land 
contamination under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990, 
thus ensuring the land is suitable for its proposed use. 
 
 
EN14: FLOOD RISK 
 
Development will not be permitted: 
i.  Within tidal or fluvial flood plains unless it can be 

demonstrated that the site is justified in line with national 
guidance and an appropriate detailed technical assessment 
has been undertaken to ensure that the development is 
designed to alleviate the threat and consequences of 
flooding over its lifetime;  

ii.  Where it would increase the risk of flooding from fluvial 
and/or tidal flooding or from additional run-off from the 
development in any location;  

iii.  Where it would hinder future maintenance or improvement 
schemes of flood defences and watercourses;  

iv.  Where it would cause adverse effects on the integrity of tidal 
or fluvial defences; 

Page 1398



167 
 
 

v.  Where ground floor bedrooms are proposed in areas at high 
risk of flooding. 

Where appropriate the developer should demonstrate that they 
have considered the need to incorporate environmentally 
sympathetic flood risk mitigation measures such as Sustainable 
Urban Drainage Systems (SUDS).  
 
5.197. The purpose of this Policy is to avert development from where it 
would be at risk from river, ordinary watercourse, coastal, surface water 
flooding or where it would increase the risk of flooding or additional run 
off from development elsewhere. 
 
5.198. The Policy will help deliver LDP objectives relating to flood risk and 
reflects advice set out in PPW and Technical Advice Note 15: Development 
and Flood Risk (July 2004). 
 
5.199. TAN15 states that the development advice maps are based on the 
best available information considered sufficient to determine when flood 
risk issues need to be taken into account in planning future development. 
Development advice zones C1 and C2 of the maps show high flood risk 
areas and are based on Natural Resources Wales extreme flood outlines 
for tidal and fluvial flooding.  These areas are shown on the Constraints 
Map based on information from the latest development advice maps 
(2015). 
 
5.200. The Council is required to consult Natural Resources Wales and 
Caldicot and Wentloog Levels Internal Drainage Board on planning 
applications that have any flooding implications. It must have good 
reasons if it does not intend to follow Natural Resource Wales advice as it 
forms a material consideration. 
 
5.201. The Flood and Water Management Act (FWMA) that was introduced 
in 2010, places a duty on Cardiff Council to prepare a Local Flood Risk 
Management Strategy (LFRMS) that sets out how the Council will 
proactively seek to minimise flood risk and prepare our communities. 
 
5.202. Cardiff Council is now a Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) as 
defined by the new Flood and Water Management Act 2010. The FWMA 
aims to provide better, more comprehensive management of flood risk for 
people, homes and businesses. This role includes ensuring that flood risk 

Page 1399



168 
 
 

from all sources is suitably managed and aims to promote an integrated 
approach to planning and managing all forms of flood risk. 
 
5.203. Cardiff Council in general are opposed to the culverting of 
watercourses because of the adverse ecological, flood risk and other 
effects that are likely to arise. Culverting can exacerbate the risk of 
flooding and increase the maintenance requirements for a watercourse. It 
also destroys wildlife habitats, damages a natural amenity and interrupts 
the continuity of the linear habitat of a watercourse. It is recognised there 
are various reasons why in some instances landowners, developers and 
local authorities believe that open watercourses should be culverted. 
However, Cardiff Council considers any benefits are usually outweighed by 
the potential problems in managing the system, the loss of habitats and 
difficulty in pollution detection. 
 
5.204. New developments will only be permitted where the Council is 
satisfied that they will not result in adverse effects on the quality and/or 
quantity of surface waters or groundwater resources. Where detailed 
information in respect of flood risk is not available, developers will be 
required to carry out a Flood Consequence Assessment (FCA) to evaluate 
the extent of risk and ensure that no unacceptable development occurs 
within the flood risk area identified. 
 
5.205. Managing flooding is an important part of contributing towards 
achieving sustainability. Developers, wherever necessary and appropriate, 
are required to incorporate environmentally sympathetic mitigation 
measures into their proposals. This would include such measures as 
Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDS). SUDS are seen as a means 
to control surface water which provide a valuable amenity asset and new 
habitats for wildlife. 
 
5.206. In general, development will be resisted in identified flood plains or 
areas at unacceptable risk from flooding or where third parties may be 
adversely affected by an increased flood risk. Proposals involving 
bedrooms on ground or lower floors in areas liable to flood will not be 
acceptable. Development will only be permitted if the risks and 
consequences can be demonstrated to be managed to an acceptable level 
in line with national planning policy, in particular the tests set out in TAN 
15. 
 

Page 1400



169 
 
 

5.207 Further guidance on the application of this Policy will be set out in 
SPG. 
 
4. TRANSPORT 
 
T1: WALKING AND CYCLING 
 
To enable people to access employment, essential services and 
community facilities by walking and cycling the Council will 
support developments which incorporate: 
 
i.  High quality, sustainable design which makes a positive 

contribution to the distinctiveness of communities and 
places; 

ii.  Permeable and legible networks of safe, convenient and 
attractive walking and cycling routes; 

iii.  Connections and extensions to the Cardiff Strategic Cycle 
Network and routes forming part of the Cardiff Walkable 
Neighbourhoods Plan; 

iv.  Measures to minimise vehicle speed and give priority to 
pedestrians and cyclists; 

v.  Safe, convenient and attractive walking and cycling 
connections to existing developments, neighbourhoods, jobs 
and services; 

vi.  Infrastructure designed in accordance with standards of 
good practice including the Council’s Cycling Design Guide; 

vii.  Supporting facilities including, signing, secure cycle parking 
and, where necessary, shower and changing facilities; and 

viii.  The provision of Car-Free Zones. 
 
5.208. Research undertaken by Sustrans and Socialdata in 2011 revealed 
that a large proportion of car trips in Cardiff are relatively short: just over 
half are no further than 5 km and nearly a third are no further than 3km 
(under 2 miles). Many of these trips could be undertaken by foot or by 
bicycle. 
 
5.209. The purpose of this Policy is to exploit this potential by favouring 
developments which include design features and facilities that make it 
easy for people to walk and cycle for everyday journeys instead of 
travelling by car. Encouraging ‘active travel’ will help to minimise car use 

Page 1401



170 
 
 

and support the Council in fulfilling its legal duty under the Active Travel 
(Wales) Act 2013 to develop, improve and maintain local walking and 
cycling networks. 
 
5.210. The Council has produced a plan for the development of the city’s 
Strategic Cycle Network known as ‘Enfys’. The plan defines a core 
network of numbered cycle routes connecting to different parts of Cardiff. 
The Council is building the Enfys cycle network through a rolling 
programme of infrastructure schemes. Developments brought forward 
through the LDP will provide the opportunity to extend and enhance the 
network through the provision of new links and incorporating sections of 
the network within development schemes. 
 
5.211. The Council is also developing a Walkable Neighbourhoods Plan. 
This will set out a programme of area-based measures to improve the 
local walking environment and make it easier and safer for people to 
reach local services and facilities on foot. New developments will provide 
the opportunity to extend these improvements and provide walking 
connections which help to integrate new neighbourhoods with existing 
communities. 
 
5.212. Car-Free Zones provide a particular opportunity which can help to 
successfully deliver this Policy. They could form part of wider 
development areas adding to the range and choice of available housing. 
Located in areas with good public transport and other sustainable 
transport options, together with good access to local facilities, such areas 
are likely to be attractive to many potential occupiers of all ages. In 
designing such Zones it will be important to ensure the needs of disabled 
people are taken into account. 
 
5.213 The Policy will be implemented through the development process. 
In considering proposals, the Council will seek to ensure that 
developments give priority to walking and cycling within their design and 
layout. High quality design which makes a positive contribution to the 
distinctiveness of communities and places will be essential to make 
walking and cycling attractive and popular travel options.  
 
5.214 The Policy will be a key consideration in the master planning of 
strategic sites and should be read in conjunction with the strategic site 
master planning general principles and those included within the 

Page 1402



171 
 
 

schematic master planning frameworks for those sites. Provision of 
infrastructure will be secured through planning conditions, planning 
obligations and resourced through Community Infrastructure Levy and 
matching transport funding. Implementation of this Policy will help to 
reduce pollution arising from road traffic. This will counteract increases in 
atmospheric pollution as a result of the Plan, thereby avoiding significant 
effects upon internationally designated sites. 
 
T2: STRATEGIC RAPID TRANSIT AND BUS CORRIDORS 
BUS CORRIDOR ENHANCEMENTS 
 
i.  City Centre Bus Routes; 
ii.  Eastern Bus Corridor (A48, A4232 from the A48 to Junction 

30 of the M4 Motorway, A48M Trunk Road, Southern Way 
and A4161 Newport Road); 

iii.  Northern Bus Corridor (A470 North Road/ Manor Way and 
A469 Caerphilly Road/A470 Trunk Road to the County 
Boundary);  

iv.  Western Bus Corridor (Cowbridge Road, A48, A4055 Cardiff 
Road; A4119 Llantrisant Road from the County Boundary to 
Cowbridge Road and A4232 Trunk Road from Culverhouse 
Cross to Junction 33 of the M4 Motorway) and 

v. Southern Bus Corridor (Lloyd George Avenue, Lloyd George 
Avenue to the County Boundary via A4232 and Cogan Spur 
and via the Cardiff Barrage). 

 
Provision will be made to facilitate the functional integration of 
these corridors and associated services with the wider transport 
network including the bus network and local walking and cycling 
routes.  The trunk road sections of the Bus Corridor Enhancements 
are the responsibility of the Welsh Government.  Cardiff Council 
will work with the Welsh Government to identify appropriate 
measures on the trunk road sections of these routes. 
 
Improvements to the city’s wider bus network, including the 
provision of new infrastructure and the introduction of new routes 
and services will be supported where these are necessary to 
provide sustainable travel options and address the movement 
impacts of new development. 
 

Page 1403



172 
 
 

Rapid Transit Corridors 
 
5.215. Four Rapid Transit Corridors have been identified based on four 
broad geographical channels feeding in towards the city centre.  The 
Rapid Transit Corridors can be defined as the collection of high frequency 
public transport services which will run along on-road and off-road 
infrastructure linking neighbourhoods to the city centre and wider public 
transport network offering shorter journey times than conventional bus 
services.  The Bus Corridor Enhancements referenced in paragraph 5.218 
are largely located within the Rapid Transit Corridors but are specifically 
highlighted as the key bus-based corridors with important cross-boundary 
linkages and will therefore be a focus for future enhancements.  Each 
corridor will include improvements that give rapid transit and bus services 
increased priority over general traffic and improved accessibility to a 
wider range of destinations.  
 
5.216. This Policy provides for the development of four principal rapid 
transit corridors that will serve the main LDP strategic sites.  The mode of 
rapid transit could take one of the following forms or another form of 
technology that provides for the same purpose: 

• heavy rail; 
• light rail; 
• tram; 
• tram/train running on segregated rails; 
• tram/train combining running on segregated rails and on-street 

running; 
• conventional buses operating a limited stop express service using 

carriageway space on the public highway used by general traffic; 
• conventional buses using dedicated bus lanes and assisted by other 

bus priority measures in combination with use of other carriageway 
space on the public highway; or 

• conventional buses or guided buses using busways completely 
segregated from the main highway along their entire length or for 
short sections in combination with use of the public highway/bus 
priority measures on the public highway. 
 

5.217. Some elements of the rapid transit corridors will be provided 
within the strategic sites.  However, the alignment and mode of rapid 
transit and how they connect to and interchange with the public transport 
network is not yet known and cannot be defined precisely on a map.  The 

Page 1404



173 
 
 

need for the rapid transit corridors is included in the key policies on 
Strategic Sites.  The mode of rapid transit that can be accommodated on 
each corridor will be determined through further technical assessment 
work including work undertaken as part of the detailed master planning of 
the strategic sites and in support of planning applications. This will help 
inform the precise mode, route alignments and land take requirements.  
Therefore, for these reasons the rapid transit routes are not shown on the 
Proposals Map. 
 
Bus Corridor Enhancements 

 
5.218. The Bus Corridor Enhancements listed in Policy T2 are defined as 
the strategic bus routes that connect Cardiff to the region.  These 
corridors form a central element of the city’s strategic public transport 
network.  Around 80% of daily inbound commuter journeys to Cardiff 
from the region are by car.  These movements create congestion on the 
city’s strategic highway network which makes bus journeys longer and 
services less reliable.  This Policy seeks to address these issues by making 
provision for improvements to maximise the efficiency and attractiveness 
of bus services through reducing journey times and improving journey 
time reliability.  The corridors are shown on the Proposals Map. 
 
5.218 Sufficient carriageway space will be required to facilitate the 
expeditious passage of buses (including express services with limited 
stops), minimising journey times and maximising journey time reliability.  
Where necessary to meet these requirements, the Council will seek to 
remove pinch points and to remove and/or relocate on street parking.  
The Council will also use a range of tools and measures to change travel 
behaviour by helping to make sustainable travel an attractive choice, 
managing the network and influencing travel demand.  Some of these 
measures include for example, providing high quality walking, cycling and 
public transport infrastructure, improvements associated with 
development, reallocating road space, route improvements serving key 
destinations and developments, interchange/transport hub facilities, bus 
stops, cycle stands, improvements in accessibility, parking controls and 
policies, parking pricing, parking enforcement, moving traffic offences, 
bus priority, bus gates, junction controls, traffic signal control, managing 
road speed limits, high quality signage and road markings, designing for 
active travel, shared cycling and walking routes, partnership working with 
transport providers (e.g. encouraging new, express and cross-city bus 

Page 1405



174 
 
 

routes), travel information, promotional initiatives, personalised travel 
planning, road safety initiatives, collaborative working cross-boundary 
with other authorities and with key transport stakeholders, road safety 
and transport infrastructure maintenance. 
 
Improvements to the Wider City Bus Network 
 
5.220. Ensuring the bus is a more attractive and practical travel option is 
crucial to reducing car dependency, improving accessibility and effecting 
modal shift. Cardiff has an extensive local bus network serving most parts 
of the city. However, the bus is not an attractive travel option for many 
journeys in Cardiff.  For example, most routes on the network are radial 
and converge on the city centre.  This means that people have to travel 
into the city centre in order to access bus services to another part of the 
city.  Consequently, the car is the preferred mode of travel for many 
relatively short journeys.  To address this problem this Policy supports the 
expansion and improvement of Cardiff’s local bus network, in conjunction 
with the development of Rapid Transit Corridors and Bus Corridor 
Enhancements.  Technical work carried out by the Council indicates that 
re-configuring the network and introducing new orbital routes and points 
of interchange between routes and services would enable a much wider 
range of journeys within Cardiff to be undertaken by bus, thus reducing 
reliance upon the car. 
 
5.221. Routes forming part of rapid transit corridors, strategic bus 
corridors and the wider city bus network will be connected in many 
locations across the public transport network.  This offers the opportunity 
for interchange between services.  Facilitating interchange with high 
quality passenger facilities and travel information will form an important 
element of enhancements to the to the city bus network. 
 
5.222. Central to the delivery of this Policy will be detailed master plans 
for the LDP strategic sites and the provisions they make for public 
transport infrastructure and its phasing. Site master plans will be 
expected to meet the requirements of this Policy and be consistent with 
general master planning principles for strategic sites - both key 
considerations in planning applications on strategic sites. Provision of 
infrastructure will be secured through planning conditions, planning 
obligations and resourced through Community Infrastructure Levy and 
matching transport funding. 

Page 1406



175 
 
 

 
5.223. Implementation of this Policy will require the Council to exercise its 
statutory powers to carry out improvements to highway infrastructure. 
Measures will include provision of dedicated bus lanes and bus priority at 
key junctions. In some areas this will require on-street parking 
arrangements to be reviewed and modified. The location and nature of 
improvements will be informed by modelling and technical assessment 
work relating to specific corridors and Cardiff’s wider transport network, 
as well as the detailed assessment of travel impacts of individual 
development sites and planning applications. Infrastructure measures will 
generally be resourced through the Community Infrastructure Levy and 
matching transport funding. In most cases they will implemented by the 
Council as the highway authority. 
 
5.224. Implementation of this Policy will help to reduce pollution arising 
from road traffic. This will counteract increases in atmospheric pollution 
as a result of the Plan, thereby avoiding significant effects upon 
internationally designated sites. 
 
T3: TRANSPORT INTERCHANGES 
 
In order to facilitate the transfer between transport modes and 
help to minimise travel demand and reduce car dependency, the 
following developments will be supported: 
 
i.  New rail stations which can be easily accessed by walking, 

cycling and local bus services, facilitate rail park and ride, 
where appropriate, and meet the access needs of all users; 

ii.  Improvements to existing rail and bus interchanges, 
including measures to facilitate access by active travel 
modes and disabled people with particular access needs; 

iii.  Measures to support interchange between local bus services, 
including facilities to accommodate bus layover and driver 
facilities; 

iv.  Strategically located park and ride facilities, supported by 
attractive, frequent and reliable bus or rapid transit services; 

v.  High quality passenger facilities including but not limited to 
seating, information, toilet facilities and cycle parking; 

vi.  Facilities for park and share; 
vii.  Facilities for coach parking, taxis and passenger drop off; 

Page 1407



176 
 
 

viii.  Facilities for overnight lorry parking and freight transfer; and 
ix.  Facilities for interchange with water-based transport. 
 
5.225. Providing for interchange between transport modes is essential to 
the efficient functioning of the transport network and making sustainable 
travel options more practical and attractive. This is particularly important 
in relation to the public transport network. This Policy provides support for 
all forms of transport interchange that help meet these requirements and 
deliver the modal shift objectives of the LDP. It is important that these 
interchanges are accessible to disabled travellers and people with 
prams/young children. 
 
5.226. Implementation of this Policy will help to reduce pollution arising 
from road traffic. This will counteract increases in atmospheric pollution 
as a result of the Plan, thereby avoiding significant effects upon 
internationally designated sites. 
 
T4: REGIONAL TRANSPORT HUB 
 
Support will be given to the development of infrastructure and 
facilities in and around Cardiff Central Railway Station which: 
 
i.  Facilitate the easy interchange of passengers between 

national, regional and local rail and bus services; 
ii.  Provide high quality passenger facilities, including but not 

limited to seating, information, toilet facilities and cycle 
parking; 

iii.  Can be easily accessed by walking and cycling and meets the 
access needs of all users; 

iv.  Is well integrated with development in the surrounding area 
and facilitates easy access to the centre of the city, Cardiff 
Bay and the Enterprise Zone; 

v.  Complement the development and regeneration of land north 
and south of Central Railway Station and the wider 
Enterprise Zone; 

vi.  Provide a public transport gateway of a high aesthetic and 
functional quality, which is commensurate to Cardiff’s status 
as a European capital city; and 

vii.  Provides an attractive, legible and vibrant environment. 
 

Page 1408



177 
 
 

5.227. The development of a central public transport interchange 
focussed on land in and around Cardiff Central Railway Station and the 
Central Square area is a longstanding objective of the Council. Cardiff is 
located on the south Wales main railway line and forms the central hub of 
regional Valley Lines rail network – all scheduled for electrification by 
2020. 
 
5.228. The provision of a central public transport interchange to facilitate 
transfer between national, regional and local rail and bus services is 
essential for Cardiff to fulfil its role as a growing capital city and an 
employment and service centre for a major city region. It is also critical to 
achieving the transport connectivity required to sustain Cardiff’s economic 
competitiveness with other UK cities and city regions and maintain its 
attractiveness to business investors. 
 
5.229. This Policy sets out the Council’s requirements with regard to the 
functionality and aesthetic quality of a central interchange and its 
integration with existing and future development within the Cardiff 
Central Enterprise Zone. The Policy will be implemented through a 
process of master planning undertaken in collaboration between the 
Council, developers, transport providers, the public and key stakeholders. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
T5: MANAGING TRANSPORT IMPACTS 
 
Where necessary, safe and convenient provision will be sought in 
conjunction with development for: 
 
i.  Pedestrians, including people with prams and/or young 

children; 
ii.  Disabled people with mobility impairments and particular 

access needs; 
iii.  Cyclists; 
iv.  Powered two-wheelers; 
v.  Public transport; 

Page 1409



178 
 
 

vi.  Vehicular access and traffic management within the site and 
its vicinity; 

vii.  Car parking and servicing; 
viii.  Coach parking; and 
ix.  Horse-riders. 
 
5.230. The purpose of this Policy is to ensure that all new developments 
for which planning permission is required: 

i.  Properly address the demand for travel and its impacts; 
ii.  Contribute to reducing reliance on the private car, in line with 

national planning policies and the strategic transport objectives 
and policies of the LDP; 

iii.  Make satisfactory provision for access, parking and circulation, 
particularly by pedestrians, cyclists, public transport users and 
disabled people with mobility impairments and particular access 
needs; and 

iv.  Avoid unacceptable harm to safe and efficient use and operation of 
the road, public transport and other movement networks and 
routes. 

 
5.231. Measures appropriate to a particular development will depend on 
its scale, location and use(s). They may include providing for and/or 
improving, as appropriate: 

• The needs of disabled people with mobility impairments and 
particular access needs; 

• The needs of people with prams and/or young children; 
• Safe and convenient pedestrian access to and movement within the 

development, including pedestrian priority measures, lighting, 
security, and weather protection; 

• Walking links to existing pedestrian routes and networks, District 
and Local centres, open space and other community facilities; (e.g. 
safe routes to school) - for access and recreational purposes - and 
designed for use by everyone; 

• The strategic recreational routes; 
• Cycling links to existing cycle routes and networks, District and 

Local centres and community facilities designed for use by 
everyone; 

• Secure cycle parking and changing facilities in accordance with 
guidelines set down in SPG; 

Page 1410



179 
 
 

• Management of conflict between modes of access, including 
vehicles, pedestrians and cyclists; 

• Public transport, including bus stops, bus lanes and interchange 
facilities; 

• Safe vehicular access to the site that does not unreasonably restrict 
the flow of traffic on the adjoining highway network; 

• Traffic and speed management measures; and 
• Car and coach parking and servicing facilities in accordance with 

revised guidelines set down in supplementary planning guidance. 
 
5.232. Parking and servicing will be provided, where appropriate in 
accordance with the Council’s adopted standards. 
 
User Hierarchy 
 
5.233. In assessing the transport and access aspects of proposals the 
Council will be more likely to give favourable consideration to 
developments which through their design and layout give priority to 
movements by sustainable travel modes and reflect the user hierarchy in 
Department for Transport Manual for Streets, namely: 
 

Consider First 
 

Pedestrians 

V Cyclists 
V Public Transport Users 

 
V Specialist Service Vehicles (e.g. 

emergency services, waste etc.) 
 

Consider Last Other motor traffic 
 

 
 
Sustainable Travel Choices 
 
5.234. Where necessary to mitigate travel impacts, development will need 
to be supported by actions designed to manage travel demand, minimise 
private car use and increase the proportion of journeys made by walking, 
cycling and public transport. Such measures will include although not be 
restricted to: 

• Area based personalised travel planning projects and programmes; 

Page 1411



180 
 
 

• Travel Plans including measures to support sustainable travel 
to/from residential areas, workplaces, schools and other significant 
trip generators; Car Clubs and Car Share Schemes; Cycle Training; 
and 

• Promotional/marketing initiatives and campaigns to encourage 
sustainable travel. 
 

5.235. These will be secured by way of planning condition and/or a 
Section 106 planning obligation. Where necessary, planning agreements 
will secure resources for survey and monitoring activity required to 
support delivery of specific interventions. 
 
5.236. Implementation of this Policy will help to reduce pollution arising 
from road traffic. This will counteract increases in atmospheric pollution 
as a result of the Plan, thereby avoiding significant effects upon 
internationally designated sites. 
 
T6: IMPACT ON TRANSPORT NETWORKS AND SERVICES 
 
Development will not be permitted which would cause 
unacceptable harm to the safe and efficient operation of the 
highway, public transport and other movement networks 
including pedestrian and cycle routes, public rights of way and 
bridle routes. 
 
5.237. The purpose of this Policy is to protect the transport network and 
its users from developments which may otherwise cause unacceptable 
harm to the operation and use of key transport networks and routes. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
T7: STRATEGIC TRANSPORTATION INFRASTRUCTURE 
 
Support will be given to the development of the following 
elements of strategic transportation infrastructure: 
 
i.  Eastern Bay Link; 

Page 1412



181 
 
 

ii.  St Mellons rail interchange including Park and Ride; and 
iii.  New sustainable transport corridor in North West Cardiff. 
 
5.238. This Policy provides support for three key elements of strategic 
transport infrastructure which are illustrated on the Constraints Map with 
further detailed work informing the precise land take requirements. 
 
5.239. The Eastern Bay Link Road is a longstanding aspiration of the 
Council and is featured in the South East Wales Transport Alliance 
(Sewta) Regional Transport Plan (RTP). The road would complete a 
peripheral distributor road running between M4 Junction 33 in North West 
Cardiff and Llanedeyrn Interchange in the East of the city. It would 
provide additional capacity for road-based access to the Cardiff Central 
Enterprise Zone from the East and supporting development in that area. A 
scheme is currently being promoted and developed by the Welsh 
Government. Details of proposed works are not currently available so the 
Constraints Map indicates the extent of the Eastern Bay Link running from 
the Queensgate Roundabout to the A48, Eastern Avenue. 
 
5.240. The proposal for a rail station at St Mellons is included in the 
Sewta RTP and Sewta Rail Strategy (2013). The station would potentially 
serve the strategic development site south of St Mellons Business Park. It 
could also form part of a future South Wales Metro network including rail 
or rapid transit connections linking central Cardiff to strategic 
developments in and around Newport. Initial work to investigate the 
technical feasibility of a station at St Mellons is currently underway. 
 
5.241. The strategic development sites proposed to the West of 
Pentrebane and North of the M4 Junction 33 will require effective public 
transport connections. The potential exists to develop a dedicated public 
transport corridor connecting Cardiff city centre to the strategic sites in 
North West Cardiff and strategic development areas beyond Cardiff’s 
boundary in Rhondda Cynon Taff. Such a link can be incorporated within 
the master plans for the strategic sites and form an essential component 
of those developments. Its extension into growth areas within Rhondda 
Cynon Taff also makes the corridor strategically important within a 
regional context. As such it would form a key corridor within a future 
South Wales Metro network. 
 
T8: STRATEGIC RECREATIONAL ROUTES 

Page 1413



182 
 
 

 
A strategic network of recreational routes will be maintained and 
developed to link Cardiff’s coast, river corridors, open spaces, 
countryside, and the regional network of routes, facilitating 
access to them by local communities, and forming an integral part 
of the wider cycling and walking network in Cardiff. 
 
The core strategic network will comprise: 
 
i.  The Taff Trail; 
ii.  The Ely Trail; 
iii.  The Rhymney Trail; 
iv.  The Nant Fawr Trail; 
v.  The Bay Trail; 
vi.  The Wales Coast Path; and 
vii.  The Glamorgan Ridgeway Walk 
 
5.242. This Policy sets out the Council’s desire to develop a network of 
recreational routes that will allow everyone in Cardiff to gain easy access 
to local green spaces, and the wider coast and countryside. 
 
5.243. The Policy helps to deliver Plan objectives and also accords with 
PPW which seeks to promote provision of safe accessible, convenient and 
well-signed walking and cycling routes and to protect and enhance the 
national cycle network and long-distance routes and footpaths that are 
important tourism and recreation facilities, both in their own right and as 
a means of linking other attractions and local communities. 
 
5.244. Wherever possible, the strategic network will make provision for 
access by walkers, cyclists and horse riders, (although access for all is 
limited by practicalities). The core strategic network will be linked to local 
communities and other routes, including permissive paths, public rights of 
way, and open spaces. This will help to provide a range of routes and 
enable everyone to use and enjoy Cardiff’s natural heritage, whilst also 
linking Cardiff to the wider regional network. Local opportunities are 
important for both health and well-being and sustainability reasons. 
 
5.245. The development of the coast and river corridor routes are 
particularly important for people living in the southern arc of Cardiff 
where the choice of open spaces, public rights of way network and access 

Page 1414



183 
 
 

to the countryside is more limited. The development of a network of safe, 
convenient attractive routes through green spaces will also provide the 
opportunity for more people to use them as part of their everyday 
journeys - to school, work and local community facilities. Development of 
cross border routes into other authority areas together with within County 
routes contribute towards the city’s green tourism offer. 
 
5.246. New developments including the proposed Strategic sites, adjacent 
to, the main strategic routes, public rights of way or other recreational 
routes will be expected to respect their existence and contribute to their 
development, or links to them where applicable. 
 
5.247. The current extent of the existing core recreational strategic 
network are shown on the Constraints Map, proposals for development of 
these routes including creation of ‘missing’ links are shown on the 
Proposals Map. Where details of proposed new routes are not yet fully 
worked up and agreed with relevant parties, such as the Taff Ely Link, 
routes will not be shown on the Plan Maps but further work will continue 
to explore their future implementation. 
 
5.248. The usage of routes will be monitored through cycle counter data 
where deployed together with wider feedback through the Cardiff River 
Valleys initiative. 
 
T9: CARDIFF CITY REGION ‘METRO’ NETWORK  
 
The Council will seek to facilitate the development of a future 
regional ‘Metro’ network of integrated public transport routes and 
services within Cardiff and connecting the city with the wider 
south east Wales region, including the development and/or 
enhancement of the following on-highway and off-highway 
infrastructure components: 
i. Existing and new heavy rail routes 
ii. New light rail routes 
iii. Tram 
iv. Tram/train on segregated rails and/or running on street 
v. Conventional buses, or guided buses using busways 

completely segregated from the main highway along their 
entire length or for short sections, in combination with 

Page 1415



184 
 
 

use of the public highway/bus priority measures on the 
public highway.  

vi. Conventional buses using dedicated buses lanes and 
assisted by other bus priority measures, in combination 
with use of other carriageway space on the public 
highway; and 

vii. Conventional buses using carriageway space on the public 
highway used by general traffic. 

Where the alignment of a future route which is likely to form part 
of a ‘Metro’ network falls within any part of a development site, 
the Council will, through the development management process, 
seek either to secure provision of the necessary infrastructure as 
part of the development, or otherwise, safeguard the land and 
space required to accommodate the route and potential mode 
options in the future.  This will include requiring a development to 
be designed in a way which does not prejudice the future 
development of the ‘Metro’ route and would enable it to be 
incorporated within the development at a later date.   
 
5.249. The Cardiff City Region Metro is a proposal for a metropolitan-
style, integrated public transport network extending across Cardiff and 
South East Wales.  The ‘Metro’ is likely to be developed in phases over a 
number of years.  Its purpose is to significantly enhance public transport 
accessibility across the region.  This would be achieved by the physical 
and operational integration of routes for different public modes (rail-based 
and bus-based) and enabling provision of frequent, fast and efficient 
public transport services connecting principal settlements and trip 
destinations in the region.  A ‘Metro’ network would include points of 
interchange and be supported by integrated timetables and ticketing with 
a common branding.  In combination, these elements would enable 
people to make daily journeys and reach key trip destinations without the 
need for a car.  This enhanced connectivity would have significant 
economic benefits for Cardiff and the wider City Region, as well as easing 
pressures on key strategic transport corridors within and beyond Cardiff 
boundaries. 
5.250. Potential routes/corridors which would make up the ‘Metro’ 
network have been identified in a series of investigative studies in recent 
years.  Future technical work will be led by the Welsh Government in 
consultation with local authorities, land owners, communities and the 
transport industry.  Welsh Government’s National Transport Finance Plan 

Page 1416



185 
 
 

2015 ( July 2015) includes a commitment to progress this work which will 
determine the form of the network and the mix of public transport modes 
on each corridor/route.  
 
5.251. It is important that development that takes place within the plan 
period does not prejudice the delivery of this regionally important future 
asset.   
 
5.252. Policies KP2 (A) to KP2(H) include references to improvements to 
the strategic public transport network within the supporting lists of 
‘Essential’ and ’Enabling’ transport infrastructure for the individual LDP 
strategic sites. A number of these measures will potentially form part of 
the future ‘Metro’ network.  
 
5.253. Policy T9 augments Policy KP2 by providing general support for the 
future delivery of the ‘Metro’ and the means by which the Council can, 
through controls exercised through the development management 
process:  
• secure infrastructure forming part of the network; or  
• otherwise, safeguard the route alignment, potential mode options and 

physical space requirements for future ‘Metro’ routes/corridors. 
 

5.254. This protection will be integrated within the design and layout of 
approved developments.  The policy also provides the basis for resisting 
developments which would prevent or compromise future delivery of a 
‘Metro’ route. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5. RETAIL 
 
R1 RETAIL HIERARCHY  
 

Page 1417



186 
 
 

Retail proposals, (including changes of use, redevelopment and 
extensions) will be considered in accordance with the retail 
hierarchy which comprises Central Shopping Area (CSA) at the 
head of the regional hierarchy supported by a range of district 
centres and smaller local centres as identified on the Proposals 
Map. Retail proposals outside centres identified on the Proposals 
Map will be assessed against Policy R4: Retail Development (Out 
of Centre). or Policy R7: Retail Provision within Strategic Sites 
where they form part of an allocated housing led strategic site.   
 
5.255. This policy is a central component of the retail strategy which aims 
to: 

• Sustain and enhance the role of the Central Shopping area at the 
head of the regional shopping hierarchy; 

• Sustain and enhance the vitality, viability and attractiveness of 
district and local centres identified on the Proposals Map. 

• Promote good accessibility to a range of shopping facilities by all 
sections of the community and reduce dependence on car travel for 
shopping trips; and 

• Control the amount, size and nature of out-of-centre retail. 
 

5.256. The policy establishes the existing hierarchy of centres in line with 
national guidance and favours new and improved retail facilities within the 
Central Shopping Area and at an appropriate scale, within district and 
local centres, whilst non shopping uses will be controlled. This ensures 
that a sequential approach is adopted which means first preference for 
retail proposals should be in existing centres and then for sites 
immediately adjoining these centres. If there are no suitable sites in these 
locations, only then will out-of-centre sites in locations that are accessible 
by a choice of means of transport be considered. 
 
5.257. Proposals outside centres identified on the Proposals Map will be 
assessed against Policy R4: Retail Development (Out of Centre).  
 
5.258. District and Local Centres within allocated housing led strategic 
sites that develop over the plan period in accordance with Policy R7: 
Retail Provision within Strategic Sites will become designated centres 
within the retail hierarchy and defined on the Proposals Map as part of the 
LDP review. 
 

Page 1418



187 
 
 

R2: DEVELOPMENT IN THE CENTRAL SHOPPING AREA 
 
Development proposals within the Central Shopping Area (CSA) 
will be assessed against the following criteria: 
 
i.  Whether the proposal involves the loss of shop uses (Class 

A1) from within Protected Shopping Frontages; 
ii.  Whether the proposal involves retail and other uses which 

enhance the vitality, viability and attractiveness of the city 
centre; 

iii.  Whether the development allows for, or retains the effective 
use of, upper floors; and 

iv.  Supports the regeneration, renewal and enhancement of the 
city centre. 

 
5.259. The purpose of this Policy is to allow, monitor and manage the 
diversity of uses within the Central Shopping Area identified on the 
Proposals Map. 
 
5.260. The Central Shopping is the head of the retail hierarchy for Cardiff 
and South East Wales. It offers a range and quality of shopping facilities 
unrivalled in the region, together with a diversity of complementary 
service, leisure, residential and business uses, within a compact and 
accessible area. Despite this, the area is not invulnerable to trends in 
retail location and shifts in consumer demand and expenditure, including 
competition from out-of-centre locations and internet shopping. There is a 
continuing need to improve facilities within the Central Shopping Area in 
order to provide a quantity and quality of shops that will enhance its 
primary shopping role and character, and its vitality, attractiveness and 
viability.  
 
5.261. An appropriate mix of non-shop uses can contribute to vitality, 
attractiveness and viability by introducing a diversity of compatible uses 
within the Central Shopping Area. However, too many can harm the 
primary shopping role and character of shopping streets by reducing their 
attractiveness to shoppers, undermining the viability of remaining shop 
units and reducing the prospect of attracting new retailers and retail 
investment. 
R3: PROTECTED SHOPPING FRONTAGES 
 

Page 1419



188 
 
 

Development proposals involving the loss of Class A1 (shop) uses 
within Protected Shopping Frontages will be assessed against the 
following criteria: 
 
i.  The balance and distribution of existing and committed non-

shop uses; 
ii.  The amount of A1 floorspace and frontage length being lost; 
iii.  Whether, and for how long, the premises have been vacant 

and actively marketed; 
iv.  The location, character and prominence of individual 

premises or frontages; 
v.  The nature of the proposed use, including whether an 

appropriate shop front and window display is to be provided; 
and 

vi.  The impact of the proposed use upon the amenity of adjacent 
or nearby residents. 

 
5.262. This Policy provides an enhanced level of protection for the City 
Centre’s most important shopping streets. The protected frontages are 
identified on the Proposals Map.  Further guidance will be set out in SPG.  
 
5.263. Proposals will be assessed in terms of their impact cumulatively 
with other existing and committed non-shop uses. Where the application 
frontage is closely related to surrounding frontages (e.g. in narrow or 
pedestrianised streets or arcades) it will be appropriate to consider the 
proposal’s impact on both the application frontage and surrounding 
frontages. 
 
5.264. The Policy allows for other uses (including A2 and A3) at 
appropriate locations within Protected Frontages, provided those uses do 
not, either alone or cumulatively with other non-shopping uses, 
undermine the primary shopping role and character of those frontages or 
groups of frontages. This is intended to maintain the centre’s retail offer 
whilst providing complementary services during normal shopping hours, 
generating pedestrian flows and providing visually interesting and active 
frontages. 
 
5.265. Like offices, it is acknowledged that an element of retail vacancy 
can be created by the natural turnover of businesses or through 
refurbishment. However, long-term vacant shop floorspace is a strong 

Page 1420



189 
 
 

indicator of decline, adversely impacting upon perceptions of the high 
street to shoppers and investors. Proposals which seek to bring back into 
beneficial use retail premises which have remained vacant, despite active 
marketing, will be more favourably considered. Temporary or 
“meanwhile” uses can enliven city streets and provide short-term retail, 
business incubation or exhibition space, whilst reducing management and 
maintenance costs to landowners. 
 
R4: DISTRICT CENTRES  
 
Retail, office, leisure and community facilities will be favoured 
within the following District Centres identified on the Proposal 
Map: 

(1) Albany Road / Wellfield Road 

(2) City Road 

(3) Clifton Street 

(4) Cowbridge Road East 

(5) Crwys Road/ Woodville Road 

(6) Bute Street/James Street 

(7) Merthyr Road, Whitchurch 

(8) Penarth Road/Clare Road 

(9) St Mellons 

(10) Thornhill 

(11) Whitchurch Road 
This will be subject to: 

(i) The proposal being of a scale appropriate to the particular 
centre; 

(ii) The location of business offices (Class B1) above the ground 
floor, 

(iii) Proposals not impeding the effective use of upper floors. 

(iv) Proposals for uses other than Class A1 being permitted at 
ground floor level if they would not cause unacceptable harm 
to the predominant shopping role and character of the centre, 
the vitality, attractiveness and viability of a specific frontage 
or group of frontages; 

Page 1421



190 
 
 

Unacceptable harm should take account of: 
• The existing level and nature of non-shopping uses within the 

centre as a whole  
• The size of the retail unit in relation to the overall size of a 

centre or a specific group of frontages; and 
• The distribution and proximity of non-shopping uses within a 

frontage. 
Proposals that result in, or add to a continuous stretch of non-
shopping uses (3 or more units in non-shopping use) will be less 
favourably considered. 
Applications for changes of use that involve new non-shopping 
uses in vacant premises will be considered in light of the 
following: 
• The vacancy rate in the surrounding area; and  
• Whether, and for how long, the premises have remained 

vacant whilst being actively marketed for their existing or 
previous use.  

 
5.266. The aim of this Policy is to promote and protect the shopping role 
of District Centres while supporting a mix of appropriate uses. The District 
Centres identified in Policy R4 are defined on the Proposals Map (and in 
Appendix 8) 
 
5.267. PPW acknowledges that a range of uses as well as shops are 
appropriate within centres. These include financial and professional 
services (A2) and food and drink uses (A3). In general, proposals for such 
uses will be permitted where they would not cause unacceptable harm to 
the primary shopping function of the centre or the vitality, attractiveness 
or viability of its shopping frontages, by virtue of their number or location. 
What is deemed as unacceptable harm will depend upon the nature of 
each centre which will have its own individual characteristics. 
 
5.268. The size and character of District Centres means that they are 
more likely to be able to satisfactorily accommodate a greater range and 
mix of non-retail uses including businesses, offices and commercial leisure 
facilities. 
 

Page 1422



191 
 
 

5.269. Where a change of use from an A1 retail unit to a non-shopping 
use (use class other than A1) is proposed, the assessment in terms of 
unacceptable harm should take account of: 

• The existing level and nature of non-shopping uses within the 
centre as a whole (This should also take into consideration the 
number of premises, and 

• whether any have unimplemented planning consent for non-
shopping uses); 

• The size of the retail unit (frontage length and floorspace) in 
relation to the overall size of a centre or a specific group of 
frontages; and 

• The distribution and proximity of non-shopping uses within a 
frontage. 

 
5.270. It is important that non-shopping uses are dispersed as much as 
possible in order to limit harm to the shopping role and character of a 
centre. Proposals that result in, or add to a continuous stretch of non-
shopping uses (3 or more units in non-shopping use) will be less 
favourably considered, as they will fragment the shopping frontage. 
 
5.271. A high level of vacancy is often an indicator of poor retail 
performance, reduced levels of demand and/or investor confidence, and 
can be harmful to the vitality, attractiveness and viability of an area in the 
long-term. Applications for changes of use that involve new non-shopping 
uses in vacant premises will, therefore, be considered in light of the 
following: 

• The vacancy rate in the surrounding area; and 
• Whether, and for how long, the premises have remained vacant 

whilst being actively marketed for their existing or previous use. 
 
5.272. This Policy will favour business class offices above ground floor 
level within District Centres. At ground floor level, only professional and 
financial (A2) offices with a shop front will be acceptable. B1 uses do not 
provide an active frontage or service to visiting members of the public. 
 
5.273. The provision of residential accommodation at upper floors within 
centres can support their vitality, attractiveness and viability. However, it 
is recognised that District Centres cannot offer the same degree of 
amenity as purely residential areas. To enable opportunities for offices 
and other appropriate business uses at upper floors within District 

Page 1423



192 
 
 

Centres, it may be necessary to allow the change of use of premises in 
residential use. 
 
5.274. A District Centres Strategy has been prepared to raise the profile 
of District Centres within Cardiff and provide a framework and justification 
for the preparation of individual Action Plans for priority District Centres. 
This Strategy also acts as a reference point for co-ordinated working 
between service providers; a mechanism for attracting inward investment 
and securing funding for improvements within these designated centres. 
 
R5: LOCAL CENTRES 
 
Retail, office, leisure and community facilities will be favoured 
within the following Local Centres identified on the Proposal Map: 
(1) Birchgrove 
(2) Bute Street (Loudoun Square) 
(3) Cathedral Road 
(4) Countisbury Avenue 
(5) Caerau Lane 
(6) Fairwater Green 
(7) Gabalfa Avenue 
(8) Grand Avenue 
(9) High Street,  Llandaff 
(10) Maelfa, Llanedeyrn 
(11) Newport Road, Rumney 
(12) Rhiwbina Village 
(13) Salisbury Road 
(14) Splott Road 
(15) Station Road, Llanishen 
(16) Station Road, Llandaff North 
(17) Station Road, Radyr 
(18) Tudor Street 
(19) Willowbrook Drive 
(20) Wilson Road 
This will be subject to: 

Page 1424



193 
 
 

(i) The proposal being of a scale appropriate to the particular 
centre; 

(ii) The retention of residential accommodation at upper floors; 

(iii) Proposals for uses other than Class A1 (except business 
offices class B1) being permitted at ground floor level if they 
would not cause unacceptable harm to the predominant 
shopping role and character of the centre, the vitality, 
attractiveness and viability of a specific frontage or group of 
frontages; 

Unacceptable harm should take account of: 
• The existing level and nature of non-shopping uses within 

the centre as a whole  
• The size of the retail unit in relation to the overall size of a 

centre or a specific group of frontages; and 
• The distribution and proximity of non-shopping uses within a 

frontage. 
Proposals that result in, or add to a continuous stretch of non-
shopping uses (3 or more units in non-shopping use) will be less 
favourably considered 
Applications for changes of use that involve new non-shopping 
uses in vacant premises will be considered in light of the 
following: 
• The vacancy rate in the surrounding area; and  
• Whether, and for how long, the premises have remained 

vacant whilst being actively marketed for their existing or 
previous use.  

 
5.275. The aim of this Policy is to promote and protect the shopping role 
of Local centres while supporting a mix of appropriate uses.  The Local 
Centres identified in Policy R5 are defined on the Proposals Map (and in 
Appendix 8) 
 
5.276. PPW acknowledges that a range of uses as well as shops are 
appropriate within centres. These include financial and professional 
services (A2) and food and drink uses (A3). In general, proposals for such 
uses will be permitted where they would not cause unacceptable harm to 
the primary shopping function of the centre or the vitality, attractiveness 
or viability of it shopping frontages, by virtue of their number or location. 

Page 1425



194 
 
 

What is deemed as unacceptable harm will depend upon the nature of 
each centre which will have its own individual characteristics.  
 
5.277. Local Centres are generally smaller in size and variety of uses. 
Local Centres are generally more residential in nature than District 
Centres and do not have the scale or variety of retail and non-retail uses. 
As a consequence proposals other than A1 may be more difficult to 
satisfactorily accommodate than in District Centres. Within Local Centres, 
the policy stance is to discourage significant office or commercial leisure 
developments and give greater emphasis to safeguarding residential 
amenity. At ground floor level, only professional and financial (A2) offices 
with a shop front will be acceptable, provided they do not cause 
unacceptable harm to the vitality, and viability of the centre. In relation to 
A3 uses more emphasis will be placed on closing times, and the type of 
premises. 
 
5.278. Where a change of use from an A1 retail unit to a non-shopping 
use (use class other than A1) is proposed, the assessment in terms of 
unacceptable harm should take account of: 

• The existing level and nature of non-shopping uses within the 
centre as a whole (This should also take into consideration the 
number of premises,  

• whether any have unimplemented planning consent for non-
shopping uses); 

• The size of the retail unit (frontage length and floorspace) in 
relation to the overall size of a centre or a specific group of 
frontages; and 

• The distribution and proximity of non-shopping uses within a 
frontage. 

 
5.279. It is important that non-shopping uses are dispersed as much as 
possible in order to limit harm to the shopping role and character of a 
centre. Proposals that result in, or add to a continuous stretch of non-
shopping uses (3 or more units in non-shopping use) will be less 
favourably considered, as they will fragment the shopping frontage. 
 
5.280. A high level of vacancy is often an indicator of poor retail 
performance, reduced levels of demand and/or investor confidence, and 
can be harmful to the vitality, attractiveness and viability of an area in the 
long-term. Applications for changes of use that involve new non-shopping 

Page 1426



195 
 
 

uses in vacant premises will, therefore, be considered in light of the 
following: 
 

• The vacancy rate in the surrounding area; and 
• Whether, and for how long, the premises have remained vacant 

whilst being actively marketed for their existing or previous use. 
 
5.281. Loss of residential units will generally be resisted at upper floors in 
Local Centres where the characteristics of the premises and their location 
remain suitable for residential use. 
 
5.282. In addition to local centres identified on the proposals Map, there 
are numerous smaller groups of shops and individual ‘corner shops’ 
across the county that provide valuable shopping facilities to surrounding 
communities. Proposals that could lead to the loss of such local shops will 
be assessed having regard to the role of those shops in meeting local 
shopping needs and the viability of the premises for continued shopping 
use.  Planning Policy Wales recognises the important economic and social 
role of such local shopping facilities to communities. 
 
R6: RETAIL DEVELOPMENT (OUT OF CENTRE) 
 
Retail development will only be permitted outside the Central 
Shopping Area, District and Local Centres identified on the 
Proposals Map if: 
 
i.  There is a need for the proposed floorspace (with 

precedence accorded to establishing quantitative need); 
ii.  That need cannot satisfactorily be accommodated within or 

adjacent to the Central Shopping Area, within a District or 
Local Centre; 

iii.  The proposal would not cause unacceptable harm to the 
vitality, attractiveness or viability of the Central Shopping 
Area, a District or Local centre or a proposal or strategy 
including the Community Strategy, for the protection or 
enhancement of these centres; 

iv.  The site is accessible by a choice of means of transport; and 
v.  The proposal is not on land allocated for other uses. This 

especially applies to land designated for employment and 

Page 1427



196 
 
 

housing, where retail development can be shown to limit the 
range and quality of sites for such use. 

 
5.283. This Policy identifies the criteria against which proposals for retail 
development outside the Central Shopping Area, District and Local 
Centres identified on the Proposals Map will be assessed in line with PPW 
‘Planning for Retailing and Town Centres’. 
 
5.284. This Policy relates to any proposals that introduce additional retail 
floorspace, including redevelopment, extensions (including mezzanine 
floors, where permission for this is required); subdivision; changes of Use 
Class and; variations of planning conditions. The aim is to control the 
nature and size of out- of-centre retail development so as to minimise 
competition with, and impact on the vitality and viability of shopping 
centres identified in the Plan. 
 
5.285. This Policy contributes to protecting and enhancing designated 
shopping centres and resisting out-of-centre retail development that could 
be harmful to District and Local shopping facilities. It supports 
sustainability objectives by encouraging the grouping of retail facilities 
together in easily accessible locations and reducing dependence on 
private transport for shopping trips and helps deliver the strategy by 
developing sustainable communities  
 
5.286. The sequential test as detailed in PPW aims to direct retail 
developments to existing centres wherever possible or to the edges of 
such centres if sites within the centres are not available. Only where need 
for additional retail floorspace has been demonstrated and there are no 
locations in or adjacent to designated centres that could accommodate 
that need, should out-of centre locations be considered. In Cardiff the 
order of preference is: 
• Within the Central Shopping Area; 
• On the edge of the Central Shopping Area; 
• Within a District or Local Centre; 
• On the edge of a District of Local Centre; 
• An out-of-centre location accessible by a choice of means of transport. 
 
5.287. PPW acknowledges that some types of retailing, for example 
selling bulky goods and requiring large showrooms, may not be able to 
find appropriate sites in town centres. Such stores should be grouped 

Page 1428



197 
 
 

together at locations accessible by a choice of means of transport, 
encouraging linked trips and a reduction in dependence on car travel. 
Where bulky goods development is proposed and it passes the need and 
sequential tests, it will be directed towards existing concentrations of 
bulky goods retailers wherever possible. Similarly, re-use of vacant out-
of-centre units at locations accessible by a choice of means of transport is 
preferable to new out-of-centre development. Where applications are 
made to reuse vacant units, applicants will be expected to demonstrate 
how they intend to improve the pedestrian environment and linkages. 
 
5.288. Impact will be assessed in terms of both the direct commercial 
impact of a proposal on neighbouring designated centres and of the 
impact on the retail strategy itself. All proposals for out-of-centre 
development that satisfy the tests of retail need and the sequential 
approach must demonstrate that they would not harm designated 
shopping centres or the retail strategy, either in their own right, or in 
conjunction with other recent developments or unimplemented 
permissions.  
 
5.289 Where permission is granted for out-of-centre retail development 
or, in some instances, edge-of-centre development, conditions will be 
attached to control the nature and scale of the retail activity and minimise 
any potential impact on designated centres or the retail strategy. 
 
5.290. Contributions will be negotiated from out of centre retail 
developments towards environmental improvement in the nearest District 
or Local Centre to mitigate adverse impacts, in line with the policy on 
Planning Obligations. Further details are provided in the District and Local 
Centre Strategy. 
 
5.291. The Council monitors the vitality, attractiveness and viability of 
designated centres. All applications for out-of-centre retailing will be 
expected to examine the health of centres, including shopping parades 
most likely to be affected and their likely impact. 
 
5.292. Proposals for out-of-centre retail development are likely to require 
assessment against a range of other Policy considerations including traffic 
and transportation implications. 
 
R7: RETAIL PROVISION WITHIN STRATEGIC SITES 

Page 1429



198 
 
 

 
Retail development which forms part of the allocated housing led 
Strategic Sites will be assessed against Policy R4 (Retail 
Development (Out of Centre) and will be supported where: 
i. It is of appropriate scale which satisfies an identified 

need; 
ii. It will not negatively impact on the vitality and viability of 

designated centres; 
iii. It is located along public transport corridors and easily 

accessible by walking and cycling; and 
iv. It forms part of a planned centre which reinforces a sense 

of place. 
 
5.293. It is recognised that there will be a need for retail provision close 
to where people live to meet the everyday needs of future large scale new 
communities. Such facilities often include a range of small shops, serving 
the local catchment including small supermarkets, newsagents and food 
and drink outlets. The provision of future local shopping within the 
housing development should not negatively impact on the vitality and 
viability of existing designated District or Local Centres. Planning 
applications should also demonstrate that this is the most appropriate 
location for local shopping provision, in relation to public transport and 
design and layout. 
 
R8: FOOD AND DRINK USES 
 
Food and Drink Uses are most appropriately located in: 
 
i.  The City Centre (Central Business Area) 
ii.  The inner harbour/waterfront area of Cardiff Bay (Bay 

Business Area) 
v. District and Local Centres 
 
Subject to amenity considerations, highway matters, crime and 
fear of crime considerations, and where they do not cause 
unacceptable harm to the shopping role and character of 
designated centres. Food and drink uses are unlikely to be 
acceptable within or adjacent to residential areas, where they 
would cause nuisance and loss of amenity, or result in the loss of 
a residential property. 

Page 1430



199 
 
 

 
5.294. Food and drink uses, including restaurants and hot food take-
aways, are better located in designated centres where they can 
complement and enhance the existing shopping role, increase footfall and 
are accessible by public transport. Such uses are better located in 
designated centres than residential areas because of the impact they can 
have in terms of vehicular and pedestrian traffic, noise, fumes, litter and 
late night disturbance. The Central and Bay Business Areas, and District 
Centres are more likely to be able to satisfactorily accommodate A3 uses 
without causing unacceptable harm, due to their size and character. 
However, concentrations of such uses in centres can cause harm, either 
to residential amenity within or adjoining the centre, or to the 
predominant shopping role and character of the centre and its vitality, 
attractiveness and viability. 
 
5.295. Food and drink uses are acceptable in principle, within the City 
Centre. It is recognised that such uses can contribute to the range and 
choice of facilities available to residents, promote the evening economy 
and may also support tourism. However, new A3 proposals at ground and 
upper floor level will need to be assessed against Policy R3 Protected 
Shopping Frontages. This Policy is intended to ensure that food and drink 
uses as well as other non-shopping uses, do not harm the shopping role, 
character and vitality of the City Centre. 
 
5.296 Food and drink uses are also complementary, in principle, to the 
main shopping role of District and Local Centres, so long as they do not 
adversely affect the living environment of nearby residents, or with other 
non-shopping uses, reach such a level that they undermine the shopping 
character of the area in accordance with Policies R4 District Centres and 
R5 Local Centres.  
 
5.297. Local Centres and smaller neighbourhood centres are generally 
more residential in nature, and do not have the scale or variety of retail 
and non-retail uses of larger centres. Therefore, A3 proposals may be 
more difficult to accommodate, and are less likely to be acceptable on 
amenity grounds (e.g. potential noise and disturbance, anti-social 
behaviour and litter associated with this type of development proposal). 
As a consequence more emphasis will be placed on protecting residential 
amenity within these centres through restricting closing times and the 
type of A3 premises. 

Page 1431



200 
 
 

 
5.298. Outside District and Local Centres and the Central and Bay 
Business Areas proposals for A3 uses are unlikely to be acceptable in, or 
adjacent to, predominantly residential areas because of their impact on 
residential amenity and potential to cause nuisance from noise and odour. 
 
5.299. Food and drink proposals within existing employment areas will be 
considered against Policy EC2 Provision of Complementary Facilities for 
Employees in Business, Industrial and Warehousing Development. 
 
5.300. Further guidance on the application of this Policy will be set out in 
the Food and Drink Uses in SPG. 
 
 
 
 
6. COMMUNITY 
 
C1: COMMUNITY FACILITIES 
 
Proposals for new and improved community facilities, health and 
religious facilities will be encouraged, subject to the following 
criteria being satisfied: 
 
i.  The facility would be readily accessible to the local 

community it is intended to serve by public transport, 
walking and cycling; 

ii.  The facility would not unduly prejudice the amenities of 
neighbouring and nearby residential occupiers; 

iii.  The facility would not detract from the character and 
appearance of a property or the locality; 

iv.  The facility will not lead to unacceptable parking or traffic 
problems; 

v.  The facility is designed with the greatest possible flexibility 
and adaptability to accommodate additional community uses 
without compromising its primary intended use. 

 
5.301. For the purpose of this Policy, community facilities are defined as 
non-commercial facilities used by local communities for leisure and social 
purposes. This constitutes community centres and meeting places, 

Page 1432



201 
 
 

community halls, community learning, leisure centres, libraries and youth 
centres. Religious facilities also often provide for wider community 
provision. Health facilities would include doctors and dentists surgeries 
which serve the local community. 
 
5.302. Other uses of a commercial nature within the D1/D2 use class 
should be located within the Central and Bay Business Areas, and in 
District and Local centres of an appropriate scale. 
 
5.303. If development occurs without consideration being given to the 
adequacy of existing community facilities, this can place a strain on 
existing facilities, to the detriment of the local community. As a result, 
there is a need to ensure that adequate local facilities are provided to 
meet the future demands of local communities. 
 
5.304. The provision of community facilities should go hand in hand and 
be integrated with new development. Providing a range of community 
facilities that are accessible to as many people as possible is fundamental 
in terms of securing sustainable communities. Such facilities are valuable 
not only in terms of the amenity they provide, but are also important in 
generating employment and attracting people to live within an area. 
Whilst, it is recognised that there are many competing needs for the 
development and use of land, the Council is committed to ensuring that 
there are adequate facilities to serve residents within new strategic 
housing allocations. 
 
5.305. New strategic housing developments allocated in Policy KP2 will be 
required to ensure that sufficient new community facilities are provided 
and integrated within the development to serve the needs of future and 
existing residents. This will be achieved through planning obligations or 
the community infrastructure levy as appropriate (see Policies KP6 and 
KP7). 
 
5.306. On all other significant residential developments, the Council will 
seek to enter into negotiations with prospective developers to secure 
land, buildings and or financial contributions towards community facilities 
arising from the needs of residential development. This is because the 
increased population will result in increased demand for local community 
facilities. Further guidance on this will be set out in SPG. 
 

Page 1433



202 
 
 

5.307. Community facilities, health uses and religious facilities will be 
favoured within District or Local Centres where appropriate, however, 
where such uses cannot be satisfactorily accommodated within centres, 
proposals on the edge of centres or within residential areas (to include 
the conversion or redevelopment of existing residential premises) will be 
favourably considered provided that issues of residential amenity, urban 
design (Policy KP5), and transportation are appropriately addressed. 
Furthermore, if the residential area falls within a Conservation Area, the 
proposed development should not detract from its character, nor should it 
have any negative impact on the built heritage assets (Policy KP17). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
C2: PROTECTION OF EXISTING COMMUNITY FACILITIES: 
 
Proposals involving the loss or change of use of buildings 
currently or last used for community facilities will only be 
permitted if: 
i. An alternative facility of at least equal quality and scale to 

meet community needs is available or will be provided 
within the vicinity or; 

ii. It can be demonstrated that the existing provision is 
surplus to the needs of the community. 

 
5.308. Existing community facilities are widely available throughout the 
City. Ensuring an adequate provision is maintained, is very important in 
order to encourage social interaction, improve health and well-being and 
reduce inequalities between different communities.  The retention of 
existing facilities will therefore be sought unless it can be demonstrated 
that the above criteria can be met.  
 
5.309. Whilst this policy will apply to both commercial and non-
commercial uses which provide a social or welfare benefit to the 
community, community land and buildings are of particular importance. 
This includes land and buildings that are managed and used primarily by 
the voluntary and community sector for community-led activities. 

Page 1434



203 
 
 

 
5.310. In order to satisfy criterion ii) of the policy it will be necessary to 
demonstrate that continued use as a community facility is no longer 
viable giving consideration to; appropriate marketing, and local need and 
demand for the existing community facility. 
 
C3: COMMUNITY SAFETY/CREATING SAFE ENVIRONMENTS 
 
All new development and redevelopment shall be designed to 
promote a safe and secure environment and minimise the 
opportunity for crime. In particular development shall: 
 
i.  Maximise natural surveillance of areas which may be 

vulnerable to crime such as publicly accessible spaces, open 
space, car parking areas and footpaths; 

ii.  Have well defined routes, spaces and entrances that provide 
convenient movement without compromising security; 

iii.  Maintain perceptible distinction between public and private 
spaces through well-defined boundaries and defensible 
space; 

iv.  Provide a good standard of lighting to public spaces and 
routes while minimising energy use and light pollution; and 

v.  Be designed with management and maintenance in mind, to 
discourage crime in the present and future. 

 
5.311. The aim of this Policy is to achieve a uniform and consistent 
standard of security through considerate design without compromising the 
character or attractiveness of the local area. Incorporating security 
considerations into the design of new developments and redevelopments 
will enable natural surveillance and create a sense of ownership and 
responsibility. 
 
5.312. Designing out crime contributes to Policy KP5.  Further detailed 
information relating to the objectives of this Policy can be found 
at www.securedbydesign.com 
 
5.313. The Council has responsibility under section 17 of the Crime and 
Disorder Act (1998) to take account of the need to deter and prevent 
crime in carrying out all its responsibilities, which include planning. Used 
sensitively, the planning system can be influential in producing active, 

Page 1435



204 
 
 

well managed environments that help to discourage crime and disorder by 
encouraging developers to adopt designs for new development that take 
the security of people and property into account. Developments should be 
encouraged to incorporate the principles and practices of the ‘Secured by 
Design’ Award Scheme, and reflect both the safety of people and the 
security of property. 
 
5.314.  Any design solution or security measures should remain sensitive 
to local circumstances and their degree and application should reflect the 
characters and amenity of the area. There should be a balanced approach 
to design which attempts to reconcile the visual quality of a development 
with the needs of crime prevention. Developments can be made secure 
without resorting to razor wire, grilles, bars, unsightly types of fencing 
and other visually intrusive security measures, if safety and security is 
considered at an early stage of the design process. 
 
5.315. Prior to submitting detailed proposals, developers are encouraged 
to seek advice by engaging in pre-application discussions with the South 
Wales Police Crime Prevention Design Officer on designing out crime, and 
any recommendations received should be taken into consideration in 
relation to the development proposal. Where there are other significant 
interests (for example, the setting of Listed Buildings) a balanced 
compromise must be agreed.  Developers are further encouraged to 
submit statements in conjunction with planning applications that 
emphasise and clearly demonstrate the proposed measures taken to 
design out crime. 
 
5.316. In appropriate cases, where crime prevention or the fear of crime 
is considered material to a proposed development the Council may 
consider imposing community safety conditions or seek developer 
contributions via legal agreements for crime prevention through 
environmental design (CPTED), community safety initiatives, improved 
street lighting, alley gating, provision of CCTV, landscaping improvements 
or other necessary security measures. This is in accordance with Policy 
KP7. 
 
5.317. Terrorist attacks within the UK have become a distinct possibility in 
recent years, posing a real and serious threat. Measures to mitigate 
against the occurrence and effects of terrorism attacks should be 
designed in from the outset of a development proposal. For example, 

Page 1436



205 
 
 

through protection from flying glass and vehicle access controls to 
underground car parks and areas of potential high risk. These measures 
must be balanced with good design principles to ensure against the 
creation of a "fortress" appearance. It is recommended that where major 
development is proposed within a place defined by the Home Office as a 
"crowded place", the design statement accompanying the application 
should set out the measures undertaken to meet these principles. It is 
recommended that advice is sought from a Counter Terrorism Security 
Advisor during the design stage. (Refer to WECTU (Wales Extremism and 
Counter Terrorism Unit) for further advice). 
 
C4: PROTECTION OF OPEN SPACE 
 
Development will not be permitted on areas of open space unless: 
 
i.  It would not cause or exacerbate a deficiency of open space 

in accordance with the most recent open space study; and 
ii.  The open space has no significant functional or amenity 

value; and 
iii.  The open space is of no significant quality; or 
iv.  The developers make satisfactory compensatory provision; 

and, in all cases; 
v.  The open space has no significant nature or historic 

conservation importance. 
 
5.318. The aim of this Policy is to protect open space that has significant 
functional, conservation, environmental or amenity value. It applies to all 
areas of open space within the County. 
 
5.319. The Policy will help protect the current network of open spaces in 
Cardiff and work toward delivering Policy KP13 and LDP objectives related 
to maintaining and enhancing a network of green space and corridors. 
 
5.320. The Policy is in accordance with the Wales Spatial Plan, PPW and 
Technical Advice Note 16: Sport Recreation and Open Space (2010) which 
requires that all types of open space are protected, particularly where it 
has a strategic countywide importance. 
 
5.321. The various types of open space in Cardiff will be listed and 
explained in detail in the Cardiff Open Space SPG. For the purposes of this 

Page 1437



206 
 
 

policy functional green space includes land that can accommodate formal 
and / or informal recreational uses including sporting use and children’s 
play.  
 
5.322. Proposals for development on areas of open space will be assessed 
against a functional green space requirement of 2.43 hectares per 1,000. 
This is explained in more detail under Policy C5. 
 
5.323. In assessing the functional and amenity value of an area of open 
space, regard will also be given to whether it serves a purely local 
function or has more strategic countywide importance. Special protection 
will be afforded to open space that has strategic countywide importance 
whether for functional, amenity or wildlife purposes. 
 
5.324. The quality of an area of open space will be assessed having 
regard to issues such as: 

• Accessibility; 
• Biodiversity; 
• Facilities; 
• Management and maintenance; 
• Contribution to local amenity; 
• Contribution to recreation; and 
• Strategic value. 

 
5.325. Where a development proposal involving the loss of open space 
would exacerbate a local or countywide deficiency of functional open 
space, compensatory provision for open space or alternative provision 
of equivalent community benefit may be acceptable. This will be explained 
further in the Open Space SPG. 
 
5.326. The appropriateness of compensatory open space or replacement 
facilities will be assessed having regard to the importance of the resource 
to be lost and the needs of the locality. Compensatory provision should:  

• Contribute towards meeting the needs of the local community; 
• Be of at least equal value to that being lost; 
• Be reasonably related to the original site to serve the population 

affected by the loss; 
• Be provided in accordance with the Open Space SPG; and 
• Be agreed between the Council and the developer. 

 

Page 1438



207 
 
 

5.327. Corridors and networks of open space, like the river valleys, have 
strategic importance in terms of recreation, amenity and wildlife. The 
corridors of the rivers Ely, Taff, Rhymney and the Nant Fawr (identified on 
the Proposals Map) are a particularly important resource within both the 
urban and rural context, linking the waterfront and the urban area with 
the countryside. Specific protection of river valleys is set out in Policy 
EN4. 
 
5.328. Many areas of open space have value for nature conservation. 
Some are designated for their international, national or local importance, 
while others contribute more generally to biodiversity. Some areas also 
have historic conservation importance. These include Historic Gardens 
and Parks, land within Conservation Areas and land that provides the 
setting for Ancient Monuments or other archaeological remains. 
 
5.329. The implementation of policies designed to provide and protect 
public open space throughout Cardiff would also serve to offset any 
increase in recreational pressure on the Cardiff Beech Woods SAC, 
thereby helping to avoid the likelihood that this LDP will have a significant 
effect upon this site. 
 
5.330. The protection of open space policy will be assessed each year in 
the Annual Monitoring Report. The loss of open space is a Core Indicator 
required by Welsh Government and will be monitored on an annual basis, 
forming part of the Open Space Assessment. 
 
C5: PROVISION FOR OPEN SPACE, OUTDOOR RECREATION, 
CHILDREN’S PLAY AND SPORT 
 
Provision for open space, outdoor recreation, children’s play and 
sport will be sought in conjunction with all new residential 
developments. This policy is aimed at securing the provision or 
improvement of open space and other appropriate outdoor 
recreation and sport in conjunction with all new residential 
developments over 8 units and on site provision of functional open 
space in conjunction with all new residential developments over 
14 units. The appropriate amount of multi-functional green space 
is based on a minimum of 2.43 hectares of functional open space 
per 1,000 projected population. All other open space provision will 
be in addition to the provision of multi-functional green space. 

Page 1439



208 
 
 

 
5.331. This Policy will help enhance the existing network of green spaces 
and provide increased opportunities for healthy recreation and leisure 
activities in line with LDP objectives for sustainable living. Improving the 
provision of open space is particularly important in some areas of South 
Cardiff where communities have poorer access to areas of open space. 
 
5.332. Obtaining functional open space and appropriate provision for 
sport through the development process is provided for in PPW. It explains 
that Local Planning Authorities may be justified in seeking Section 106 
Planning Agreements to contribute to the maintenance of safe and 
attractive facilities and open space, and to meet the needs of new 
communities. 
 
5.333. This Policy applies to all new proposed housing developments, 
redevelopment schemes, conversions and mixed-use developments 
containing housing, sheltered housing and student accommodation over 8 
units. 
 
5.334  The Open Space SPG will set out detailed guidance on how the 
provision of functional open space, outdoor recreation, children’s play and 
sport in new residential developments will be assessed and managed. It 
will explain that the amount of open space provision generated by a 
housing proposal will be assessed in relation to its type and density. 
Consideration will also be given to the availability and adequacy of 
existing functional open space within the surrounding area. The Council 
will therefore seek to secure a range of improvements for accessible, high 
quality open space, sport and outdoor recreation provision, as appropriate 
to the particular site and development proposal. 
 
5.335. These may include one or more of the following: 

• Provision of as much necessary open space provision as possible, on 
site or on readily accessible sites; 

• Contribution towards the improvement of existing open space 
facilities on readily accessible sites; 

• Improvements to the network of recreational routes and open 
spaces; and 

• Improvements to the public realm (in line with Policy KP5: High 
Quality and Sustainable Design) and improved public access to 
waterfront areas. 

Page 1440



209 
 
 

 
5.336. Due to the shortage of open space and recreation facilities in 
central and inner parts of the city and the limited opportunities for 
improvement, provision for open space and/or improving links with 
nearby open spaces may be sought on large-scale commercial 
developments in accordance with Policy KP7 on Planning Obligations. 
 
5.337. As a general rule, provision of a satisfactory level and standard of 
open space will be sought on all new residential developments. For those 
developments of 14 or more dwellings the amount of on-site open 
space provision is calculated from the projected population of the 
development and the application of the minimum standard of 2.43 
hectares of functional open space per 1,000 population. However this 
standard will be applied flexibly in recognition that: 

• In certain circumstances, provision of all-weather facilities can be 
more effective than traditional pitches; 

• Changing trends in sport, recreation and leisure and the importance 
of providing outdoor and indoor facilities; and 

• Achievement of provision in strict accordance with the standard can 
sometimes be impractical and/or inappropriate on previously 
developed sites. 
 

5.338. Open spaces should be designed in line with Cardiff Open Space 
SPG guidelines to create a landscaped open space which fulfils its function 
with efficiency, can be maintained in a viable condition and contributes to 
the welfare and appearance of the environment. Functional open spaces 
can fulfil a number of roles including minimising vandalism, increasing 
privacy, providing wildlife habitats and minimising the intrusion of noise 
and air pollution. 
 
5.339. The implementation of policies designed to provide and protect 
public open space throughout Cardiff would also serve to offset any 
increase in recreational pressure on the Cardiff Beech Woods SAC, 
thereby helping to avoid the likelihood that this LDP will have a significant 
effect upon this site. 
 
C6: HEALTH 
 
Priority in new developments will be given to reducing health 
inequalities and encouraging healthy lifestyles through: 

Page 1441



210 
 
 

i.  Identifying sites for new health facilities, reflecting the 
spatial distribution of need, ensuring they are accessible and 
have the potential to be shared by different service 
providers; and 

ii.  Ensuring that they provide a physical and built environment 
that supports interconnectivity, active travel choices, 
promotes healthy lifestyles and enhances road safety. 

 
5.340. This Policy aims to improve the health of Cardiff’s population by 
seeking to secure new health facilities in areas most at need, requiring 
that the built environment fosters healthy lifestyles, and ensuring that 
health is a key consideration in new developments. 
 
5.341. The Policy seeks to address health inequalities in Cardiff where the 
difference in life expectancy between some wards is up to 12 years 
(Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation 2011). It gives greater detail on the 
Key Policy KP14 on Health and helps work towards delivering LDP 
objectives relating to health and one of the main strategic outcomes of 
the Cardiff Partnership Strategy ‘people in Cardiff are healthy’. 
 
5.342. It accords with the aim of PPW in delivering sustainable 
development by ensuring that health is taken account of in new 
developments and assists a number of PPW objectives regarding travel 
and access to key community facilities. It also helps deliver a number of 
objectives regarding healthy lifestyles, sport and recreation in accordance 
with Our Healthy Future (Welsh Government 2009) and Fairer Health 
Outcomes for All (Welsh Government 2011). 
 
5.343. This Policy reflects the fact that ‘health considerations can be 
material considerations in determining planning applications.’ (PPW 
12.13.8). The effect of development on people’s health is a key element 
of sustainable development and its consideration will raise any significant 
issues which need to be taken into account. 
 
5.344. It is recognised that not all new developments will be able to 
identify land for new health facilities. This largely depends on the scale of 
development and will be applied flexibly as a result. It is recommended 
that the local health board is contacted for further advice on this matter. 
Relevant documents are ‘Together for Health’ (Welsh Government 2012) 

Page 1442



211 
 
 

and ‘Setting the Direction Primary and Community Services Strategic 
Delivery Programme’ (Welsh Government 2010).  
 
5.345. For a description of appropriate locations to provide health 
facilities, see Policy C1 on Community Facilities. In addition, a number of 
other issues relating to the effect of new development on health including 
design, open space/community growing and transport are referred to in 
the respective policies. 
 
5.346. Further details on this Policy will be set out in a Health SPG. 
 
C7: PLANNING FOR SCHOOLS 
 
Where a need has been identified for new and improved school 
facilities as a result of development, the Council will seek 
contributions towards the cost of additional education provision.  
Negotiated contributions will be fairly and reasonably related in 
scale and kind to the proposed development. Where appropriate 
on site provision will be required. 
 
Development of nursery, primary, secondary and sixth form 
education should: 
i.  Be well designed, well related to neighbourhood services and 

amenities, and easily accessible by sustainable transport 
modes; and 

ii.  Include, where appropriate, provision for other appropriate 
community uses in addition to their educational use. 

 
5.347. The Council has a statutory duty as local education authority to 
ensure that there is a sufficient number and variety of school places at 
primary and secondary level, available to meet the needs of the 
population of the County. 
 
5.348. Although the supply and demand for school places varies by area, 
it is anticipated that there will be no overall surplus school places at entry 
to the primary sector in 2015, nor in the secondary sector in 2019. This 
takes account of existing school investment proposal and projections 
based upon health service (GP) and school roll data. Additional primary 
and secondary education provision will therefore be required to serve the 

Page 1443



212 
 
 

new pupils generated as a result of greenfield or brownfield housing 
developments that come forward during the plan period. 
 
5.349. The Council will seek financial contributions (See Policy KP7 
Planning Obligations), towards the cost of providing additional or 
improved primary and/or secondary school facilities from developers 
proposing housing developments that would generate a requirement for 
school places that cannot be reasonably met by existing schools because: 
a. the capacity at the school(s) in whose catchment area (s) new 
housing development are proposed would as a result of the development 
be exceeded by demand; and/or 

b. there is a surplus capacity in such schools to accommodate some or 
all of the projected number of pupils generated from the proposed 
development but investment is required to make it suitable. 

 
5.350. The Council will also seek the provision of land and/or premises, 
depending on scale and location of development.  Please refer to Key 
Policy KP6 New Infrastructure.  
 
5.351. It is recognised that the future additional pupils generated from 
strategic housing allocations (D-H) could not be accommodated in existing 
schools.  The Council requests that developers set aside appropriate sites 
and provide school facilities in the initial phases of development aligned 
with the construction process, and additional forms of entry made 
available where necessary (210 primary school places plus nursery 
provision, 150 secondary school places plus sixth form provision) 
following completion of each 700 dwellings. 
 
5.352. There will also be a need to address school provision in catchment 
areas where there is little or no existing capacity to accommodate the 
additional demand likely to arise from housing development on previously 
developed land (including strategic sites) or other in-fill sites. With limited 
exceptions financial contributions will be sought from developers towards 
the provision of new classroom accommodation, in accordance with the 
needs which arise from the proposed development. 
 
5.353. In the event of the Council being allocated developer contributions  
to expand existing provision, the phasing of contributions over the period 
of construction will need to be in line with those set out in SPG, and will 
require careful consideration to ensure that the supply of school places is 

Page 1444



213 
 
 

aligned with the construction process and occupancy of dwellings.  
Monitoring of take-up of school places will be a key consideration in order 
to inform existing and future needs. 
 
5.354. Opportunities should be taken to share school buildings and 
facilities, or co-locate on shared sites with other Council Service areas 
and selected external services. This would serve to maximise the use of 
the land and provide an integrated citizen focused resource for the whole 
community.  Opportunities for shared facilities could include libraries, 
community centres, leisure centres, indoor recreation facilities, play 
centres, adult education facilities, integrated childcare facilities, adjoining 
natural habitat, health care facilities.   
 
5.355. Dependant on geographical constraints, opportunities should be 
taken to explore shared school facilities/playing fields with other schools 
(e.g. a Primary and Secondary School sharing fields) or continuous ages 
3-19 school provision. 
 
5.356. Further guidance on the application of this Policy will be set out in 
SPG. 
 
 
7. MINERALS 
 
M1: MINERAL LIMESTONE RESERVES AND RESOURCES 
 
Mineral reserves with planning permission will be safeguarded 
from development that would prevent their extraction at: 
i. Creigiau Quarry; 
ii. Taffs Well Quarry; 
iii. Ton Mawr Quarry; and 
iv. Blaengwynlais Quarry. 
 
Preferred Areas of known resources suitable for the future 
working of Limestone have been identified as extensions to: 
 
v. Creigiau Quarry; and 
vi. Ton Mawr Quarry. 
 

Page 1445



214 
 
 

5.357. The aim of this Policy is to protect identified mineral limestone 
reserves and resources from incompatible forms of development that 
could cause sterilisation and prevent them from being worked, so that 
they remain available for future generations. 
 
5.358. This Policy expands on Policy KP11 and aims to protect existing 
mineral reserves and potential resources from development that would 
preclude their future extraction. It corresponds with guidance contained in 
PPW, a key principle of which is to provide mineral resources to meet 
society’s needs and to safeguard resources from sterilisation.  
 
5.359. Mineral reserves are sites with planning permission for mineral 
working.  Cardiff has several mineral reserves, which are identified on the 
Proposals Map.  These are limestone quarries which are active at present, 
or those which have planning permission for the working of limestone. 
Preferred Areas of known resources are sites within the County 
considered suitable for the future working of limestone. These areas are 
identified on the Proposals Map.  
 
5.360. Permanent development on, or close to, mineral reserves or 
resources can mean that the minerals become sterilised or future 
extraction hindered. The identified reserves and resources will be 
protected from incompatible forms of development in order to prevent 
this. Incompatible forms of development include premature in-filling with 
waste or other material, and permanent building development. Policy M4 
on Minerals Buffer Zones further protects such areas by defining buffer 
zones around identified reserves and resources, within which neither 
mineral working nor housing and other similarly sensitive development 
will be permitted. 
 
M2: PREFERRED ORDER OF MINERAL RESOURCE RELEASE 
 
The extension or deepening of existing mineral workings will be 
favoured in preference to the release of new sites and, with the 
exception of the lateral extensions of Creigiau and Ton Mawr 
Quarries referred to in Policy M1, deepening will be preferred to 
lateral extension. Applications to extend or deepen mineral 
workings will be permitted where it can be demonstrated that: 
 

Page 1446



215 
 
 

i. There are environmental improvements at the site 
which can be justified by the addition of new reserves, 
or traded off by the giving up of existing reserves, or; 

ii. The addition of new reserves preserves the productive 
capacity of Cardiff to meet its sub regional 
apportionment commitments; or 

iii. There are operational benefits in permitting further 
reserves that will lead to more efficient exploitation of 
the resource;  

iv It should also be demonstrated that such an approach 
will not cause unacceptable harm to the environment, 
including consideration of impacts relating to access, 
noise, air quality, landscape and visual effects, ecology, 
soil resources, hydrology and hydrogeology, blast 
vibration and cultural heritage, and in the case of 
Creigiau Quarry, the objectives of Policy M3 are 
delivered as part of an extension or deepening 
application. 

 
5.361. The extent of Cardiff’s existing minerals landbank means it is 
unlikely that there will be a need to grant any further permissions for 
mineral resource release within the Plan period. The Regional Technical 
Statement 1st Review (August 2014) states that based on current 
information Cardiff has a surplus of permitted reserves and no further 
allocations are necessary. However, it also notes that these conclusions 
do not take into account all factors that may be material to ensuring an 
adequate and steady supply of aggregates for appropriately located 
sources including the technical capability of one type of aggregate to 
interchange for another, the relative environmental cost of substitution of 
one type of aggregate by another, the relative environmental effects of 
changing patterns of supply and whether adequate production capacity 
can be maintained to meet the required level of supply. The purpose of 
this Policy is to set out the sequential test approach which would be used 
to guide the future release of mineral resources, should this be necessary. 
 
5.362. This Policy expands on Policy KP11 and promotes and supports the 
efficient use of minerals. The Policy accords with guidance contained in 
PPW which recognises that extensions to existing minerals workings are 
often more generally acceptable than new greenfield sites 
 

Page 1447



216 
 
 

5.363. Generally, the continuation of quarrying at existing sites is 
preferable to the environmental and financial upheaval of shifting 
production to new sites. In addition, the deepening of sites is preferred to 
lateral extension as it minimises the area of land given over to working 
and ensures the best use of existing reserves. However, in determining 
the best option, consideration will need to be given to possible 
environmental and restoration implications and for this reason an 
exception is made for Creigiau quarry where the objectives of Policy M3 to 
swap reserves for less environmentally sensitive reserves will be delivered 
as part of an extension or deepening application.  
 
5.364. The life of any reserves released will be restricted to enable new 
technology and new environmental expectations to be reflected, without 
compromising the ability of operators to amortise their investment in 
plant. In addition, reserves will not be released prematurely to avoid 
sterilisation of land, and to ensure operators maximise the use of the 
existing site before moving into new areas. This will also help ensure the 
older site can be restored earlier. 
 
5.365. In determining the best option, consideration will need to be given 
to the possible impact on the environment, natural heritage and built 
heritage. 
 
 
 
 
M3: QUARRY CLOSURES AND EXTENSION LIMITS 
 
Measures to prevent further mineral working and, where 
appropriate, to secure restoration and landscaping works at the 
earliest opportunity, will be sought at the following sites: 
i. Cefn Garw Quarry, Tongwynlais; 
ii. Highland Park Brickworks, Ely; 
iii. West End Brickworks, Ely; and 
iv. Southern and western parts of Creigiau Quarry. 
 
5.366. The aim of this Policy is to introduce measures to prevent further 
extraction of minerals at the sites above, as shown on the Proposals Map, 
as mineral working is no longer considered appropriate at these locations. 
 

Page 1448



217 
 
 

5.367. This Policy expands on Policy KP11. It accords with guidance 
contained in PPW, which states that inactive sites with planning 
permission for future working which are considered unlikely to be 
activated for the foreseeable future should be identified in the 
development plan and should be the subject of a suitable strategy. 
 
5.368. The Policy identifies three mineral sites ((i) to (iii) above) and 
parts of Creigiau Quarry where mineral working is no longer considered 
appropriate by modern standards.  
 
5.369. Cardiff contains several quarries for limestone or brick-earth that 
have not been worked for many years and in many cases have either re-
vegetated naturally or have been put to alternative uses. For example, 
the part of Ely Brickworks within Cardiff has now been largely covered by 
the Ely Link Road. Despite long periods of disuse or alternative uses of 
some sites, planning permissions for mineral extraction still exist and 
could be reactivated at these sites. The sites identified have been 
effectively abandoned by the minerals industry for many years. By today’s 
environmental standards, they are no longer suitable for mineral working 
and so are not needed for mineral purposes.  
 
5.370. To eliminate any doubt over possible re-working at the sites 
outlined in (i) to (iv) above, measures to prevent further extraction and 
secure restoration and landscaping works will be pursued. Measures will 
include the use of Prohibition Orders to ensure that no further working 
can take place at Cefn Garw Quarry, Tongwynlais, Highland Park 
Brickworks, Ely and West End Brickworks, Ely and closure of the southern 
and western parts of Creigiau quarry through a legal agreement with the 
site owners to relinquish these areas in favour of a new area set out in 
Policy M1 of the Plan and identified on the Proposals Map.  
 
M4: MINERALS BUFFER ZONES 
 
Within the minerals buffer zones no mineral working, housing or 
other sensitive development will be permitted. 
 
5.371. The aim of this Policy is to provide an explanation of the minerals 
buffer zones identified on the Proposals Map. The purpose of the buffer 
zones is to protect identified mineral reserves and resources from 
incompatible development which could sterilise them, and to reduce the 

Page 1449



218 
 
 

environmental impact of quarrying by separating sensitive developments 
and mineral working. 
 
5.372. This Policy expands on Policy KP11 and aims to protect existing 
mineral reserves and potential resources from development that would 
preclude their future extraction. Guidance contained in PPW indicates that 
buffer zones should be defined in order to provide areas of protection 
around permitted and proposed mineral working. MTAN1: Aggregates 
indicates a minimum set distance for buffer zones of 200m, and that 
within buffer zones no new sensitive development or mineral extraction 
should be approved. 
 
5.373. Buffer zones have been drawn around all minerals reserves (sites 
with planning permission for mineral working) and resources (sites 
identified as suitable for future mineral working) indicated on the 
Proposals Map. The purpose of buffer zones is to protect identified mineral 
reserves and resources from incompatible development which could 
sterilise them, and to ensure a separation distance between potentially 
conflicting land uses. The size of each buffer zone is appropriate to the 
environmental impact of the quarry, particularly the effects of ground 
vibration from blasting operations.  
 
5.374. Sensitive development includes land uses most susceptible to 
adverse impact from quarrying, such as housing, schools and hospitals. 
These uses will be resisted within buffer zones. Some less sensitive 
development, where a lower standard of amenity could be tolerated, such 
as industrial land uses, offices and developments ancillary to the mineral 
working may be considered acceptable within buffer zones. Buffer zones 
also ensure that the environmental impact of quarrying on residents is 
minimised, particularly where mineral working and new residential 
developments are separated. 
 
5.375. Since minerals can only be worked where they occur, this policy 
will be afforded greater weight than policies favouring quarry-sensitive 
development that could be located elsewhere. 
 
M5: RESTORATION AND AFTER - USE OF MINERAL WORKINGS 
 
Proposals for mineral working or for related plant and buildings 
will be permitted only where firm proposals are included for the 

Page 1450



219 
 
 

reinstatement of the site to a condition fit for an appropriate 
after-use supported, where relevant, by adequate after-care 
proposals. Appropriate reinstatement and after-care proposals 
will similarly be required when existing controls are reviewed. In 
drawing up restoration proposals, mineral operators will be 
encouraged to: 
 
i.  Undertake progressive restoration; 
ii.  Make beneficial use of mineral waste generated by mineral 

operations; 
iii.  Consider whether restoration can contribute to nature 

conservation targets set out in the Local Biodiversity Action 
Plan. 

iv.  New uses of former mineral workings other than those 
appropriate to a rural area will not be permitted without 
special justification. Proposals to carry out safety works at 
derelict or dormant sites will be favoured. 

 
5.376. The aim of this Policy is to ensure that all proposals for mineral 
working or related development are accompanied by plans for restoration 
and suitable after-use of the site, or after-care where appropriate. 
 
5.377. This Policy expands on Policy KP11. The policy accords with 
objectives contained in PPW and MTAN 1: Aggregates which aim to 
achieve a high standard of restoration and aftercare, and provide for 
beneficial after-uses when mineral working has ceased. 
 
5.378. This Policy will be applied in order to avoid dereliction and 
uncertainty by requiring all applications for mineral working, including 
reviews of existing permissions, to be accompanied by effective proposals 
to ensure restoration and after-care of the site once mineral working 
finishes. This applies equally to ancillary plant and buildings and to 
secondary industry, whose presence is normally only justified by the 
existence of the mineral working site. It is essential to avoid dereliction 
and uncertainty once mineral working ends, and to ensure the site is left 
in a safe and usable condition and restored to a high standard suitable for 
its agreed after-use. Operators will generally be expected to agree the 
broad aims of the restoration scheme at the outset, to keep those aims 
under regular review throughout working and to implement the scheme 
forthwith. The choice of after-use will depend on many issues including 

Page 1451



220 
 
 

the location, final landform, availability and quality of soils or other 
restoration materials, and neighbouring land uses. 
 
5.379. Where restoration is to agricultural or amenity use, appropriate 
after-care proposals will be needed. A separate planning permission is 
likely to be required for any after-use except agriculture, forestry, nature 
conservation or certain forms of informal recreation which do not normally 
require planning permission.  
 
5.380. Proposals for new quarries or major extensions will be expected to 
be accompanied by detailed soil and habitat surveys. Comprehensive 
programmes for the stripping and storage of topsoil, subsoil and 
conservation of other soil-making materials should form part of the initial 
restoration proposals, which will be expected to provide for phased and 
progressive restoration of worked out areas. 
 
5.381. Restoration can provide opportunities for creating and enhancing 
sites for nature conservation and contributing to the targets in the UK 
Biodiversity Action Plan and Local Biodiversity Action Plan. 
 
 
 
M6: SAND WHARF PROTECTION AREAS 
 
The sand wharves shown on the Proposals Map will be protected 
against development which would prejudice their ability to land 
marine dredged sand and gravel. Proposals for the provision and 
improvement of landing and distribution facilities for marine 
dredged aggregates within the sand wharves shown on the 
Proposals Map will be favoured where there will be no 
unacceptable harm to the environment. 
 
5.382. Marine sources currently supply the majority of fine aggregate 
construction needs for Cardiff. This Policy provides a framework for the 
protection of existing wharves and the assessment of applications for new 
or improved sand and gravel wharves and related facilities. 
 
5.383. This Policy expands on Policy KP11. The Policy accords with 
guidance contained in Interim Marine Aggregates Dredging Policy (2004) 
which indicates that the use of marine dredged sand and gravel will 

Page 1452



221 
 
 

continue for the foreseeable future where this remains consistent with the 
principles of sustainable development. It accords with the Regional 
Technical Statement 1st Review (2014) which requires the protection of 
existing and potential wharves. 
 
5.384. Although marine dredging is outside the control of the Council, it is 
necessary to ensure that existing wharves are protected and that 
appropriate landing and distribution facilities are provided to ensure this 
important source of construction materials remains available. Without it, 
the County would have to accept greater demands on land-based sources 
and more costly imports.  
 
5.385. In response to concerns about the long-term effects of dredging on 
coastal erosion, Interim Marine Aggregates Dredging Policy (2004) 
proposes a more cautious approach to dredging and seeks a more 
balanced approach to the sourcing of supplies for fine aggregates in South 
Wales. Although this may lead to long-term changes in supply patterns, in 
the short term the present pattern of supply is likely to continue, and it is 
therefore prudent to ensure that facilities which enable current levels of 
supply to be maintained are protected and new facilities favoured. 
 
5.386. Operations involving the trans-shipment of minerals do not 
normally need specific planning permission within the operational area of 
the port. However, secondary processes including the manufacture or 
treatment of mineral products usually need permission. Where proposals 
are submitted they will need to demonstrate minimal impact on the 
environment. Where proposals are likely to have significant effects upon 
the environment, applications may be subject to Environmental Impact 
Assessment. Additionally, proposals will need to have regard to the 
Severn Estuary SSSI/SAC/SPA and Ramsar site and where proposals are 
likely to have a significant effect on an international site, an appropriate 
assessment of the proposal would be undertaken. 
 
M7: SAFEGUARDING OF SAND AND GRAVEL, COAL AND 
LIMESTONE RESOURCES 
 
Development will not be permitted  within the Sand and Gravel, 
Coal and Limestone Safeguarding Areas shown on the Proposals 
Map that would permanently sterilise these mineral resources 
unless: 

Page 1453



222 
 
 

i. The applicant can demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Local 
Planning Authority that the mineral concerned is no longer of 
any resource value or potential resource value; or  

ii. The mineral can be extracted satisfactorily prior to the 
incompatible development taking place; or  

iii. The incompatible development is of a temporary nature and 
can be completed and the site restored to a condition that 
does not either sterilise the resource or inhibit extraction 
within the timescale that the mineral is likely to be needed; or 

iv. There is an overriding need for the incompatible development 
which overrides the need for the resource, including a 
requirement for prior extraction if practicable. 

 
5.387. The aim of this Policy is to ensure that the sand and gravel, coal 
and limestone safeguarding areas identified on the Proposals Map are 
protected from development that would cause its sterilisation and 
safeguarded for the future, should a need for these resources arise. In 
order to ensure this the Policy sets out a range of criteria against which 
proposals for development will be assessed.  
 
5.388. This Policy expands on Policy KP11 in that it protects potential 
resources from development. The Policy accords with guidance contained 
in PPW which requires Mineral Planning Authorities to safeguard access to 
mineral deposits which society may need. It also accords with  MTAN1: 
Aggregates which states that land based sand and gravel resources must 
be safeguarded for potential use by future generations in view of their 
relatively limited regional availability and MTAN2: Coal which requires the 
safeguarding of mineral resources. 
 
Sand and Gravel Safeguarding Area  
 
5.389. At present, marine dredged sources provide the majority of fine 
aggregate required to meet construction needs within Cardiff. In the short 
term this supply pattern is unlikely to change significantly. In view of the 
existing pattern of dredged aggregate supply, it is very unlikely that sand 
and gravel resources will need to be released for development within the 
Plan period. However, in light of concerns regarding the sustainability of 
the current pattern of marine dredged aggregate supplies, it is necessary 
for land-based sand and gravel resources to be safeguarded for potential 
use in the future. This Policy will be used to resist all forms of permanent 

Page 1454



223 
 
 

development in the sand and gravel resource area shown on the 
Proposals Map. Land-based sand and gravel could only be worked where 
it is found, so this Policy represents a long-term strategy to protect 
existing resources, as they could become a strategic resource in the 
future. This Policy will carry more weight than policies favouring 
development that could be located elsewhere. 
 
Coal Safeguarding Area 
 
5.390. Current energy supply does not necessitate the working of coal 
resources within Cardiff, and this situation is highly unlikely to change in 
the short term. Consequently, it is unlikely that it will be necessary to 
release coal resources for working to provide for energy needs in the Plan 
period. However, it is prudent to ensure that the coal resources identified 
are protected from sterilisation to maintain their potential for use in the 
future, should this become necessary. 
 
5.391. In accordance with guidance set out in MTAN2: Coal all 
international and national designations of environmental and cultural 
importance have been excluded from the Coal Safeguarding Area and a 
200 metre margin has been included to protect the setting of Ancient 
Monuments. All coal resources outside these designations are identified 
on the Proposals Map. Where safeguarded coal resources abut defined 
settlement boundaries, a 500m area where coal working will not be 
acceptable has been shown Although this  area includes safeguarded coal 
resources, it identifies the area of land within which future coal extraction 
will generally not be acceptable, subject to the exceptions in paragraph 
49 of MTAN2: Coal. Further details are set out in Policy M8: Areas where 
Coal Working is not Acceptable. 
 
5.392. Coal could only be worked where it is found, so this Policy 
represents a long-term strategy to protect existing resources as they 
could become a strategic resource in the future. This Policy will carry 
more weight than policies favouring development that could be located 
elsewhere. 
 
Limestone 
 
5.393. Currently there is a sufficient landbank of limestone reserves in 
the County for the Plan period and, should the landbank not prove 

Page 1455



224 
 
 

sufficient, the limestone resource areas identified in Policy M1 would be 
considered before any of the safeguarded areas shown on the Proposals 
Map. Given this, it will not be necessary to release any of the safeguarded 
areas for working to provide for aggregates needs over the Plan period. 
However, it is prudent to ensure that the limestone resources identified 
are protected from sterilisation to maintain their potential for use in the 
future, should this become necessary. 
 
5.394. The designation as a safeguarded area does not indicate an 
acceptance of sand and gravel, coal or limestone working in that area. 
 
5.395. In addition to the resources outlined above the Aggregates 
Safeguarding Maps of Wales identifies a small amount of Category 1 
Sandstone HSA (High Specification Aggregate) resources in the extreme 
north west of the County. As this area lies wholly within the Coal 
Safeguarding Area outlined above it is not identified separately on the 
Proposals Map as it is already protected from sterilisation and 
safeguarded for the future, should a need for these resources arise.  
 
 
 
M8: AREAS WHERE COAL WORKING WILL NOT BE ACCEPTABLE 
 
Future coal extraction will not be permitted within the Areas 
where Coal Working will not be Acceptable as shown on the 
Proposals Map unless exceptional circumstances show a smaller 
area is appropriate. 
 
5.396. The aim of this Policy is to protect the amenity of existing 
residential areas and international and national designations of 
environmental and cultural importance by ensuring that an appropriate 
area where coal working will not be acceptable is maintained between 
future coal working and residential areas and environmental and cultural 
designations are protected. The Policy accords with guidance contained in 
PPW and MTAN2: Coal. 
 
5.397. All coal resources outside international and national designations 
of environmental and cultural importance up to settlement boundaries are 
identified on the Proposals Map and the policy identifies the area of land 
within which future coal extraction will generally not be acceptable by 

Page 1456



225 
 
 

defining a 500m area where coal working will not be acceptable from 
existing residential areas. This accords with guidance set out in MTAN2: 
Coal which states that Coal working will generally not be acceptable 
within 500 metres of settlements unless there are exceptional 
circumstances and that an area where coal working will not be acceptable 
should be shown on the Proposals Map. 
 
5.398. MTAN2: Coal sets out factors that could justify exceptional 
circumstances where a smaller area where coal working will not be 
acceptable may be appropriate. These include: 
• Where coal working provides the most effective solution to prevent 

risks to health and safety arising from previous mineral working; 
• To remediate land damaged by shallow coal workings or mine waste, 

where coal extraction appears to be the most sustainable option; 
• Where topography, natural features such as woodland, or existing 

development, would significantly and demonstrably mitigate impacts; 
• Where major roads or railways lie between the settlement and the 

proposed operational area and coal working would not result in 
appreciable cumulative and in-combination effects; 

• Where the surface expression of underground working does not include 
the significant handling or storage of the mineral or waste; 

• When the proposal is of overriding significance for regeneration, 
employment and economy in the local area; or 

• Where extraction would be in advance of other, permanent, 
development which cannot reasonably be located elsewhere. 
 

5.399. In accordance with guidance in MTAN2: Coal where such 
exceptions justify surface working within 500m of a settlement, the area 
of working should be restricted to the area reasonably necessary for 
remediation and the best balance between the scale, working-method and 
the timing of individual phases, the opportunities for early restoration and 
aftercare, and hours of working will be sought. In order to justify working 
within 200 metres of a settlement strong evidence of the necessity for 
remediation, including the evaluation of options will be required and the 
social and environmental impacts on the affected settlement must be 
carefully weighed.  
 
 
  

Page 1457



226 
 
 

8. WASTE 
 
W1: SITES FOR WASTE MANAGEMENT FACILITIES 
 
Proposals for the development of waste management facilities will 
be permitted where: 
 
i.  There is a demonstrable need assessed against regional 

requirements; 
ii.  They conform with the waste hierarchy and the principles 

contained in the Waste Framework Directive of An 
Integrated and Adequate Network; Nearest Appropriate 
Installation; Self Sufficiency and Protection of Human Health 
and the Environment; 

iii.  They would not cause unacceptable harm to the 
environment, built heritage or to human health; 

iv.  They include acceptable proposals for restoration, aftercare 
and after-use, including the beneficial after-use of by-
products; 

v.  They would not endanger aviation safety;  
vi.  They include acceptable proposals for the protection of 

adjoining and nearby land from landfill gas and leachate 
migration or contamination; 

ii. They are not located within an area at risk from flooding; 
iii. They would not cause unacceptable air, noise or light 

pollution, dust, vibration or odours, or attract excessive 
vermin;  

iv. They provide safe means of access to the highway and 
adequate on-site parking and turning facilities; and 

v. They are accompanied by a Waste Planning Assessment 
containing sufficient information to enable an assessment of 
the proposal. 

 
Facilities for the handling, treatment and transfer of waste will 
generally be encouraged towards existing use class B2 general 
industrial land. 
 
5.400. The purpose of this Policy is to provide a framework for the 
assessment of planning applications for waste management facilities. 
 

Page 1458



227 
 
 

5.401. This Policy expands on Policy KP12. The Policy accords with the 
National Waste Strategy for Wales: Wise About Waste (2002); Towards 
Zero Waste (2010); The Collections, Infrastructure and Markets Sector 
Plan (2012) and TAN 21: Waste (2014). 
 
5.402.  It is anticipated that applications will come forward within the Plan 
period for new waste management facilities. Applications are likely to 
include waste disposal, processing, recycling and transfer of waste. The 
need for waste facilities will be assessed against the Collections, 
Infrastructure and Markets Sector Plan and capacity requirements 
established through regional monitoring, as set out in TAN 21.   
 
5.403. The ‘waste hierarchy’ advocates a sequential approach to waste 
management. At the top of the hierarchy is waste prevention and re-use, 
followed by preparation  for reuse, recycling, recovery and finally (i.e. 
least favoured) disposal. 
 
5.404. Waste facilities will generally be encouraged towards existing 
general industrial areas (use class B2), unless it can be demonstrated 
that they could be acceptably located elsewhere, or unless assessment of 
the proposal indicates that more onerous locational standards should 
apply.  
 
5.405. The Regional Waste Plan 1st Review (2008) contains Areas of 
Search Maps which TAN 21 indicates remain relevant for use in identifying 
potential new sites for in-building and open-air waste 
management/resource recovery facilities.  Developers are encouraged to 
use the recommendations to assist in the identification of suitable sites. 
 
5.406. Planning applications for waste management facilities should be 
accompanied by a Waste Planning Assessment containing sufficient 
information to enable an assessment of the application and its 
contribution to meeting the requirements set out in the Collections, 
Infrastructure and Markets Sector Plan.  Information to be provided 
should include: 
• Waste Policy Statement (contribution to the CIM Sector Plan, need and 

locational requirements, demand, identification of markets, current 
shortfall in treatment capacity, consultation); 

• Time-scale (lifespan of the operation, days and hours of operation); 
• Types and quantities of waste to be managed; 

Page 1459



228 
 
 

• Design, layout, buildings and plant; 
• Amenity and nuisance; 
• Air pollution; 
• Energy efficiency. 

 
5.407. Further details are contained in Annex B of TAN 21 (2014). Where 
appropriate, proposals should be accompanied by a formal environmental 
assessment and Health Impact Assessment. In assessing such proposals, 
close consultation will be undertaken with Natural Resources Wales and 
conditions will be attached to any permissions and/or legal agreements 
sought to ensure adequate environmental safeguards and controls. 
 
5.408 Further guidance on the application of the Policy will be set out in 
the Locating Waste Management Facilities SPG. 
 
W2: PROVISION FOR WASTE MANAGEMENT FACILITIES IN 
DEVELOPMENT 
 
Where appropriate, provision will be sought in all new 
development for facilities for the storage, recycling and other 
management of waste. 
 
5.409. The purpose of this Policy is to ensure that adequate provision is 
made for waste management facilities within new developments, in order 
to aid the Council in meeting the challenging waste recycling targets set 
by European and national targets. 
 
5.410. The Policy accords with TAN21: Waste, The National Waste 
Strategy for Wales: Wise About Waste (2002) and Towards Zero Waste 
(2010). 
 
5.411 Targets set out in Wise About Waste (2002) mean that the Council 
is required to be more proactive in managing waste. It is important that 
new development is designed to incorporate facilities for waste 
management to encourage waste reduction, recycling, composting and 
separation at source. This Policy will be used to ensure that adequate 
storage and collection facilities are provided in all appropriate new 
developments. 
 
5.412. The general requirement for all developments will be to provide: 

Page 1460



229 
 
 

• On-site waste, recycling and composting, separation and storage 
facilities; 

• Communal waste, recycling and composting, separation and storage 
facilities for larger developments; 

• Access arrangements for refuse vehicles and personnel for collection 
purposes. 

 
5.413. Facilities provided should be secure, unobtrusive and easily 
accessible. Further detailed guidance on matters such as the types of 
facilities required and their design will be set out in SPG.  

Page 1461



230 
 
 

6. Monitoring and Implementation 
 
6.1. Monitoring the effect of planning policies is the principle way through 
which the effectiveness of implementing the LDP can be assessed. The 
monitoring process helps to positively identify key issues and questions 
such as: 

• Which policies are being implemented successfully – i.e. their 
effectiveness in determining planning applications and in 
withstanding appeals. 

• Whether policies are having their intended output. 
• If policies are not working well, what actions are needed to address 

them? 
• What changes to the evidence base has occurred or needs to take 

place? 
• What gaps can be identified that should be addressed by the LDP? 
• If an amendment of policies or complete review of the LDP is 

required. 
 

6.2. The Council is required to submit an Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) 
to Welsh Government by 31st October each year following adoption of the 
LDP as set out in Section 37 of the Town and Country Planning (Local 
Development Plan) Regulations 2005 (the Regulations). Having a clear 
mechanism for the monitoring of the LDP is one of the ‘Tests of 
Soundness’ considered in the Examination of the LDP by the Planning 
Inspector. 
 
6.3. The LDP Manual explains that the Annual Monitoring Report process 
should not just be about data collection, but about taking a forward 
looking action-orientated approach which may raise issues that need to be 
addressed and will help form the basis for a review of the LDP. 
 
6.4. The LDP is subject to a four year review period with an interim target 
therefore of Autumn 2019. However, a full revision of the LDP is only 
likely to be required in certain circumstances, for example where new 
legislation or guidance is released, significant changes to forecasts occur 
or where LDP objectives are not being effectively delivered. It is a 
combination of all of these factors, together with the issues raised in the 
AMR which may warrant consideration of a partial or full review. It would 
not be based solely on whether an individual target was being met or 
policy having a specific outcome. 

Page 1462



231 
 
 

 
6.5. The LDP Manual acknowledges that data cannot be collected for 
every policy in the Plan; it would lead to an unnecessarily large and 
complicated document. It suggests that key policy areas are monitored 
consistently to allow for trends to be recognised. Where possible, use will 
be made of existing information being collected. 
 
6.6. It is important to recognise that the monitoring process can be a 
complex task, particularly where there is a lack of consistent data or if 
there is doubt an outcome can be solely attributed to development plan 
policies. There may also be difficulties in monitoring certain impacts on an 
annual basis when some changes take a longer time to materialise. 
Therefore, careful attention has been given to gathering the right volume 
and grain of data. 
 
6.7. A set of indicators have been comprised which will act as a 
benchmark in measuring performance. Indicators will be noted as either 
‘Contextual’, ‘Core’ or ‘Local’. 

• Contextual Indicators – These are broad indicators which help 
monitor the effectiveness of the LDP at a strategic level and are 
designed to given an overall picture of how Cardiff as a whole is 
performing. 

• Core Indicators – The Local Development Plan Manual (2006) sets 
out a number of core output indicators which are considered to be 
essential for assessing implementation of national policy. 

• Local Indicators – The Council has identified local indicators which 
are more specific to Cardiff and considered important in monitoring 
the effectiveness of the LDP. 
 

6.8. All indicators are linked to monitoring targets which set out the 
position that needs to be achieved in order to help deliver the LDP 
Strategy. If monitoring targets are not being met, trigger points are 
included to assess the extent to which circumstances have diverged from 
the target. The trigger points will indicate if certain parts of the Plan are 
not achieving their desired outcomes. If these trigger points are activated 
then the AMR will consider the necessary action which is required. 
 
6.9. In setting trigger points, the principle adopted has been to set strict 
activation points rather than building in wide margins of delivery 
significantly below or above the target based on Plan policies. Therefore, 

Page 1463



232 
 
 

where trigger points are based on numerical delivery rates, a trigger of 
10% above or below the target has been adopted. In this way trigger 
activation enables the understanding of the reasons lying behind and 
consideration of whether any improvements can be made to make Plan 
implementation as effective as possible.  
 
6.10. In this respect, careful consideration will be given to the likely 
underlying reasons for the activation of any trigger points. This will inform 
whether reasons reflect external factors or national trends largely outside 
the scope of the effectiveness of LDP policy implementation or whether 
reasons may be more directly related to the Plan or local factors. In such 
situations a range of appropriate corrective actions can be considered. 
Such actions are set out in more detail fully below. 
 
6.11. Options are available to the Council with respect to each indicator, 
monitoring target and trigger point. The AMR will assess the severity of 
the situation associated with each indicator and recommend an 
appropriate response in accordance with the following table: 
 

Continue Monitoring (Green) 
Where indicators are suggesting the LDP Policies are being 
implemented effectively and there is no cause for review. 
Training Required (Blue) 
Where indicators are suggesting that LDP policies are not being 
implemented as intended and further officer or Member training is 
required. 
Supplementary Planning Guidance Required (Purple) 
Indicators may suggest the need for further guidance to be provided 
in addition to those already in the Plan. 
Further Research (Yellow) 
Where indicators are suggesting the LDP policies are not being as 
effective as they should, further research and investigation is 
required. 
Policy Review (Orange) 
Where indicators are suggesting the LDP policies are failing to 
implement the strategy a formal review of the Policy is required. 
Further investigation and research may be required before a 
decision to formally review is confirmed. 
Plan Review (Red) 
Where indicators are suggesting the LDP strategy is failing and a 
formal review of the Plan is required. This option to fully review the 
Plan will need to be fully investigated and undertaken following 
serious consideration. 

 

Page 1464



233 
 
 

 
7. List of Appendices 
 
 
Appendix 1:  List of Key and Detailed Policies    

Appendix 2:  National and Regional Policy Framework 

Appendix 3: The Cardiff Context and Key Issues the Plan must Address 

Appendix 4:  Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG)  

Appendix 5: Sites over 10 Dwellings with Planning Permission for 

Residential (March 2014) 

Appendix 6:  Heritage Assets Areas of Protection 

Appendix 7:  Designated Sites 

Appendix 8:  District and Local Centres 

Appendix 9:  Monitoring Indicators    

Appendix 10: Summary of LDP process including Technical terms Glossary 

Appendix 11: Tests of Soundness Self-Assessment 

Appendix 12: List of Supporting Documents 

Appendix 13: List of the Evidence Base  

Appendix 14: Bibliography 

 

Page 1465



1 

Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026  
 
Appendices  
 
 
 
 
Contents 
 
Appendix 1: List of Key and Detailed Policies    

Appendix 2: National and Regional Policy Framework 

Appendix 3: The Cardiff Context and Key Issues the Plan must 

Address 

Appendix 4: Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG)  

Appendix 5: Sites over 10 Dwellings with Planning Permission for 

Residential (March 2014) 

Appendix 6: Heritage Assets Areas of Protection 

Appendix 7: Designated Sites 

Appendix 8: District and Local Centres 

Appendix 9: Monitoring Indicators    

Appendix 10: Summary of LDP process including Technical terms 

Glossary 

Appendix 11: Tests of Soundness Self-Assessment 

Appendix 12: List of Supporting Documents 

Appendix 13: List of the Evidence Base  

Appendix 14: Bibliography 

 

 
  

Page 1466



2 

Appendix 1:- List of Key and Detailed Policies 
 
KEY POLICIES  
 
KP1:    LEVEL OF GROWTH  
 
KP2:    STRATEGIC SITES 
 
KP2 (A):  CARDIFF CENTRAL ENTERPRISE ZONE AND REGIONAL 

TRANSPORT HUB 
 
KP2 (B):   FORMER GAS WORKS, FERRY ROAD 
 
KP2 (C):   NORTH WEST CARDIFF 
 
KP2 (D & E):  NORTH OF JUNCTION 33 ON M4 AND SOUTH OF 

CREIGIAU 
 
KP2 (F):   NORTH EAST CARDIFF (WEST OF PONTPRENNAU) 
 
KP2 (G):   EAST OF PONTPRENNAU LINK ROAD 
 
KP2 (H):   SOUTH OF ST MELLONS BUSINESS PARK 
 
KP3 (A):   GREEN WEDGE 
 
KP3 (B):   SETTLEMENT BOUNDARIES  
 
KP4:    MASTERPLANNING APPROACH  
 
KP5:    GOOD QUALITY AND SUSTAINABLE DESIGN  
 
KP6:    NEW INFRASTRUCTURE  
 
KP7:    PLANNING OBLIGATIONS  
 
KP8:    SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT 
 
KP9:    RESPONDING TO EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS 
 
KP10:   CENTRAL AND BAY BUSINESS AREAS 
 
KP11:   CRUSHED ROCK AGGREGATES AND OTHER MINERALS 
 
KP12:   WASTE  
 
KP13:   RESPONDING TO EVIDENCED SOCIAL NEEDS 
 
KP14:   HEALTHY LIVING 

Page 1467



3 

KP15:   CLIMATE CHANGE  
 
KP16:   GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE  
 
KP17:   BUILT HERITAGE  
 
KP18:   NATURAL RESOURCES  
 
 
DETAILED POLICIES 
 
HOUSING 
 
H1:    NON-STRATEGIC HOUSING SITES  
 
H2:    CONVERSION TO RESIDENTIAL USE 
 
H3:    AFFORDABLE HOUSING 
 
H4:  CHANGE OF USE OF RESIDENTIAL LAND OR 

PROPERTIES  
 
H5:  SUB-DIVISION OR CONVERSION OF RESIDENTIAL 

PROPERTIES 
 
H6:  CHANGE OF USE OR REDEVELOPMENT TO 

RESIDENTIAL USE 
 
H7:    SITES FOR GYPSY AND TRAVELLER CARAVANS 
 
 
ECONOMY 
 
EC1:    EXISTING EMPLOYMENT LAND 
 
EC2:   PROVISION OF COMPLEMENTARY FACILITIES FOR 

EMPLOYEES IN BUSINESS, INDUSTRIAL AND 
WAREHOUSING DEVELOPMENTS 

 
EC3:   ALTERNATIVE USE OF EMPLOYMENT LAND AND 

PREMISES 
 
EC4:   PROTECTING OFFICES IN THE CENTRAL AND BAY 

BUSINESS AREAS 
 
EC5:    HOTEL DEVELOPMENT 
 
EC6:    NON-STRATEGIC EMPLOYMENT SITE 
 

Page 1468



4 

EC7: EMPLOYMENT PROPOSALS ON LAND NOT IDENTIFIED 
FOR EMPLOYMENT USE 

 
 
 
ENVIRONMENT 
 
Countryside Protection 
 
EN1:    COUNTRYSIDE PROTECTION 
 
EN2:  CONVERSION, EXTENSION AND REPLACEMENT 

BUILDINGS IN THE COUNTRYSIDE 
 
The Natural Environment 
 
EN3:    LANDSCAPE PROTECTION 
 
EN4:    RIVER CORRIDORS 
 
EN5:    DESIGNATED SITES 
 
EN6:  ECOLOGICAL NETWORKS AND FEATURES OF 

IMPORTANCE FOR BIODIVERSITY 
 
EN7:    PRIORITY HABITATS AND SPECIES 
 
EN8:    TREES, WOODLANDS AND HEDGEROWS  
 
The Historic Environment 
 
EN9:    CONSERVATION OF THE HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT 
 
Natural Resources 
 
EN10:   WATER SENSITIVE DESIGN 
 
EN11:   PROTECTION OF WATER RESOURCES  
 
Renewable Energy 
 
EN12:  RENEWABLE ENERGY AND LOW CARBON 

TECHNOLOGIES  
 
Pollution 
 
EN13:  AIR, NOISE, LIGHT POLLUTION AND LAND 

CONTAMIINATION 
 

Page 1469



5 

Flood Risk 
 
EN14:   FLOOD RISK 
 
TRANSPORT   
 
T1:    WALKING AND CYCLING 
 
T2:    STRATEGIC RAPID TRANSIT & BUS CORRIDORS  
 
T3:    TRANSPORT INTERCHANGES 
 
T4:    CENTRAL TRANSPORT HUB  
 
T5:    MANAGING TRANSPORT IMPACTS  
 
T6:    IMPACT ON TRANSPORT NETWORKS AND SERVICES 
 
T7:    STRATEGIC TRANSPORTATION INFRASTRUCTURE 
 
T8:    STRATEGIC RECREATIONAL ROUTES 
 
T9:    CARDIFF CITY REGION ‘METRO’ NETWORK  
 
 
RETAIL 
 
R1:    RETAIL HIERARCHY 
 
R2:    DEVELOPMENT IN THE CENTRAL SHOPPING AREA 
 
R3:    PROTECTED SHOPPING FRONTAGES 
 
R4:    DISTRICT CENTRES 
 
R5:    LOCAL CENTRES 
 
R6:    RETAIL DEVELOPMENT (OUT OF CENTRE) 
 
R7:    RETAIL PROVISION WITHIN STRATEGIC SITES 
 
R8:    FOOD AND DRINK USES 
 
 
COMMUNITY 
 
C1:    COMMUNITY FACILITIES  
 
C2:    PROTECTION OF EXISTING COMMUNITY FACILITIES 

Page 1470



6 

 
C3:  COMMUNITY SAFETY/CREATING SAFE 

ENVIRONMENTS 
 
C4:    PROTECTION OF OPEN SPACE 
 
C5:  PROVISION FOR OPEN SPACE, OUTDOOR 

RECREATION, CHILDREN’S PLAY AND SPORT 
 
C6: HEALTH 
 
C7:    PLANNING FOR SCHOOLS 
 
 
MINERALS 
 
M1:    MINERAL LIMESTONE RESERVES AND RESOURCES  
 
M2:    PREFERRED ORDER OF MINERAL RESOURCE RELEASE 
 
M3:    QUARRY CLOSURES AND EXTENSION LIMITS 
 
M4:    MINERALS BUFFER ZONES 
 
M5:  RESTORATION AND AFTER - USE OF MINERAL 

WORKINGS 
 
M6:    SAND WHARF PROTECTION AREAS 
 
M7:  SAFEGUARDING OF SAND AND GRAVEL, COAL AND 

LIMESTONE RESOURCES 
 
M8:  AREAS WHERE COAL WORKING WILL NOT BE 

ACCEPTABLE 
 
 
WASTE  
 
W1:    SITES FOR WASTE MANAGEMENT FACILITIES 
 
W2:  PROVISION FOR WASTE MANAGEMENT FACILITIES IN 

DEVELOPMENT 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1471



7 

Appendix 2: National and Regional Policy Framework 
 
Introduction 
 
2.1 Cardiff’s LDP must take into account relevant policies and guidance 
relating to Wales, the city-region and other approved policies relating to 
the local area. 

LDP legislation and guidance 
 
2.2 Every local planning authority in Wales must prepare a LDP for its 
area. This is known as a ‘plan-led’ system and together with other 
relevant plans, strategies and policies, provides the framework for 
planning in Cardiff. The main relevant legislation and guidance relating to 
LDPs is as follows:  
 
• Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004- Requires the Council to 
prepare a LDP and, in doing so, to have regard to its Community Strategy 
and national policy including the Wales Spatial Plan (WSP); 
• The Town and Country Planning (Local Development Plan) (Wales) 
Regulations 2005- Outlines the details of how the LDP system will be 
operated. This includes the need for LDPs to have regard to the Waste 
Strategy for Wales, Regional Waste Plans, Regional Transport Plan and 
Local Housing Strategies; and 
• Additional guidance on the preparation of LDPs has been prepared by 
the Welsh Government and includes: 
- Local Development Plans Wales (2005) 
- Local Development Plan Manual (2006) 
- Planning Your Community: A Guide to Local Development Plans 
(2006) 
- Guide to the examination of Local Development Plans (2006) 
 
National policy framework 
 
2.3 The Welsh Government's national land use policies are set out in 
Planning Policy Wales (Edition 5, November 2012) and Mineral 
Planning Policy Wales (2001). These are supplemented by Technical 
Advice Notes and Circulars. Planning Policy Wales sets out how the land 
use planning system can help achieve the Welsh Government's goals of: 
• Sustainable Development - meeting the needs of the present without 
compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs; 
• Building a dynamic and advanced economy - supporting economic 
regeneration, creating wealth and good quality jobs; 
• Tackling social disadvantage - developing an inclusive society where 
everyone has the chance to fulfil their potential; and 
• Equal Opportunities - promoting a culture in which diversity is valued 
and equality of opportunity is a reality. 
 

Page 1472



8 

2.4 Chapter 2 of PPW sets out further information on Development Plan 
coverage. 
 
2.5 People Places Futures: The Wales Spatial Plan (2008 update) 
provides a strategic framework to guide future development and policy 
interventions across Wales, beyond the scope of formal land use planning 
control. The Spatial Plan places Cardiff at the centre of the South East - 
'Capital Network' - area of Wales, for which its vision is of, '' An innovative 
skilled area offering a high quality of life – international yet distinctively 
Welsh. It will compete internationally by increasing its global visibility 
through stronger links between the Valleys and the coast and with the 
UK and Europe, helping to spread prosperity within the area and 
benefiting other parts of Wales''. 
 
2.6 The Spatial Plan acknowledges that it is important for Wales as a 
whole that Cardiff becomes significant internationally and that, to achieve 
this, the city needs to be the focal point of a coherent and successful 
urban network in south east Wales. Integrated transport is identified as 
being crucial to the area effectively functioning in this way; and achieving 
this in ways which reduce reliance on private cars, through improved 
public transport links. 
 
2.7 Of particular relevance, the Spatial Plan also identifies:  

• The City Coastal Area will function as a networked city-region, on 
a scale to realise its international potential, its national role and to 
reduce inequalities; 

• The success of the City Coastal Area relies on Cardiff developing its 
capital functions, together with strong and distinctive roles of other 
towns and cities; 

• The overall priority is to make better use of the area’s existing 
transport infrastructure to deliver more sustainable access to jobs 
and services;  

• The pressure to provide more housing and employment should be 
managed so as to fit in compatibly with conservation of the 
landscape, environment and community strength of this area; and  

• Substantial growth of housing in the coastal zone should also be 
compatible with the health of housing markets in the Heads of the 
Valleys and Connections Corridor. 

 
2.8 The Environment Strategy for Wales (2006) outlines the Welsh 
Government’s long-term strategy for the environment of Wales, setting 
out the strategic direction for the next 20 years. The purpose of the 
Strategy is to provide a framework within which to achieve an 
environment that is clean, healthy, biologically diverse and valued by the 
people of Wales. Welsh Government wishes to see the environment 

Page 1473



9 

thriving and contributing to the economic and social well-being and health 
of all of the people of Wales. 
 
2.9 One Wales, One Planet (2009) sets out the Welsh Government’s 
vision of a sustainable Wales and the priority it attaches to sustainable 
development. This builds on the Welsh Government’s legal duty to deliver 
sustainable development and requires all organisations in Wales to 
actively commit to sustainable development. 
 
2.10 Economic Renewal: A New Direction (2010) is the Welsh 
Government’s Strategic Framework for economic development. It sets 
out a vision for making Wales ‘one of the best places in the world to live 
and to work’. The strategy outlines the Welsh Government’s following 
priorities, which are; investing in high quality sustainable infrastructure; 
making Wales a more attractive place to do business; broadening and 
deepening the skills base; encouraging innovation and targeting support 
for business. 
 
2.11 One Wales: Connecting the nation – The Wales Transport 
Strategy (2008) is the Welsh Government’s strategy for transport. It 
sets out how the Welsh Government intends to achieve certain social, 
economic and environmental outcomes. Five key areas are identified for 
progress:  

• Reducing greenhouse gas emissions and other environmental 
impacts; 
• Improving public transport and better integration between 
modes; 
• Improving links and access between key settlements and sites 
across Wales and strategically important all-Wales links; 
• Enhancing international connectivity; and 
• Increasing safety and security. 
 

2.12 The National Transport Plan (2010) sets out in detail how the 
Welsh Government proposes to deliver the Wales Transport Strategy One 
Wales: Connecting the Nation over the next 5 years. The National 
Transport Plan builds on previous plans, adding and integrating public 
and community transport, walking and cycling so that investments help 
to deliver One Wales. The National Transport Plan sits alongside the 
Regional Transport Plans in delivering the Wales Transport Strategy to 
ensure consistency of service provision across the transport network. 
Together the national and regional plans seek to strengthen local service 
delivery and improve access to essential services such as health and 
education. 
 
Regional Policy Context 
 
2.13 A Regional Transport Plan (RTP) (2010) has been prepared by 
the regional transport consortium, the South East Wales Transport 
Alliance (Sewta), which is made up of 10 local authorities including Cardiff 

Page 1474



10 

and other transport stakeholders. The Sewta RTP was approved by the 
Welsh Government in January 2010. Under the provisions of the 
Transport (Wales) Act 2006, the RTP replaces the Local Transport Plans 
formerly produced by each local authority in Wales. Welsh Government 
guidance requires the RTP to support the delivery of the strategic 
objectives of the WSP and the Wales Transport Strategy. The RTP is a 
material consideration in the formulation of LDPs and decisions on land 
use where there is a transport dimension.  
 
2.14 The Sewta RTP sets out a vision of, “A modern, accessible, 
integrated and sustainable transport system for south east Wales which 
increases opportunity, promotes prosperity for all and protects the 
environment; where walking, cycling, public transport and sustainable 
freight provide real travel alternatives”. To deliver this vision the RTP 
identifies a range of strategic objectives, policies, and actions, together 
with a five year rolling programme of schemes to develop and improve 
the transport network. 
 
2.15 Managing demand for private car travel, making better use of the 
existing transport network and encouraging use of sustainable and active 
transport modes are key themes of the RTP which will provide the 
strategic framework for regional and local level transport improvements 
across the region. 
 
2.16 The RTP recognises the critical relationship between land use and 
transport provision and how each affects the other. In tune with Welsh 
Government RTP guidance, it advocates a process of information sharing, 
joined-up thinking and integration to establish a consistency between the 
RTP and LDPs across the south east Wales region. These interactions 
need to embrace both LDP and Development Management elements of 
land use planning. 
 
2.17 The South East Wales Regional Waste Plan, First Review 
(RWP) (2008) provides a land use framework to facilitate the 
development of an integrated network of facilities to treat and dispose of 
waste in south east Wales in a way that has regard for the Waste Strategy 
for Wales, satisfies modern environmental standards and meets targets 
set by European and national legislation. The document was subject to a 
1st Review, the contents of which have been approved by the constituent 
authorities of south east Wales including Cardiff in July 2008.The Review 
sets out a Regional Waste Strategy indicating the preferred mix of waste 
management/resource recovery technologies and capacities for 
managing the forecast arisings of all controlled waste streams and a 
spatial element that guides the location of new facilities. In identifying 
suitable locations for new waste facilities, the LDP waste policies will 
assist in the development of an integrated network of facilities to treat 
and dispose of waste in ways that will satisfy modern environmental 
standards. A grouping of the authorities (Caerphilly, Cardiff, 

Page 1475



11 

Monmouthshire, Newport and the Vale of Glamorgan) has been formed 
through Prosiect Gwyrdd to tackle the issue. 
 
2.18 The Regional Technical Statement (1st Review) (RTS) (2014) 
has been prepared in response to Minerals Technical Advice Note 1: 
Aggregates (MTAN1), issued by Welsh Government in March 2004. This 
has a primary objective of seeking to ensure a sustainably managed 
supply of aggregates that are essential for construction, by striking the 
best balance between environmental, economic and social costs. To 
achieve that objective, the RTS has been prepared by consultants on 
behalf the South Wales and North Wales Regional Aggregates Working 
Party (RAWP) to provide a strategic basis for aggregates supply for LDPs 
in the south Wales region until 2036. As appropriate, local planning 
authorities will then be expected to include allocations for aggregates 
provision in their area as part of the LDP process. The RTS was endorsed 
by Welsh Government and the constituent authorities including Cardiff in 
August 2014. 1.19 The main recommendations arising out of the RTS for 
Cardiff’s LDP to effectively address are:  
 

 Confirmation that the current aggregate reserves with planning 
permission are sufficient to meet the 10 year landbank 
requirements of MTAN1; 

 The need to safeguard the marine dredging wharves within Cardiff 
Docks; and 

 The need to safeguard for potential use by future generations the 
one potential sand and gravel resource block within Cardiff. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 1476



12 

Appendix 3: The Cardiff context and key issues the plan must 
address  
 
Introduction 
 
3.1 It is important that the Plan is informed by relevant information 
relating to Cardiff. Extensive work has been undertaken to develop a 
comprehensive and robust evidence base. This section summarises some 
of the key issues which have been identified following analysis of the 
information collected. Further detailed information and technical data is 
contained in the supporting documents which accompany this document. 
 
The Cardiff Context 
 
3.2 The county covers some 143 square kilometres, and is the largest 
urban area in Wales. Approximately 53% of the county is urban with the 
remaining 47% formed by countryside and strategic river valleys which 
embraces a diverse pattern of landscapes and wide range of resources.  
 
3.3 Cardiff is the key driver of the city-region economy in south east 
Wales which has a total population of 1.4 million. It is also the capital city 
of Wales and seat of National Government which further enhance Cardiff’s 
nationally important role. This role is reinforced through its excellent 
range of retail, cultural, further education and sporting facilities. 
 
3.4 LDPs within south east Wales local planning authorities (LPAs) have 
progressed at different timescales with four of the 10 LPAs having 
adopted LDPs, but with the majority still under preparation. The current 
situation is summarised in Table 1, below. 
 
Table 1: South east Wales local authority LDP progress and 
overall levels of growth (as at Deposit). 
 

Local 
Authority 
 

Stage of 
Preparation Plan Period  

Overall level of 
growth 
(dwellings 
proposed) 

Blaenau Gwent Adopted 2006-21 3,500 
Bridgend Deposit 2006-21 9,000 
Caerphilly Adopted 2006-21 8,625 
Merthyr Tydfil Adopted 2006-21 3,800 
Monmouth Deposit  2011-21 4,000 
Newport Deposit 2011-26 8,750 
Rhondda Cynon 
Taff Adopted 2006-21 14,385 

Torfaen Deposit 2006-21 5,000 
Vale of 
Glamorgan Deposit 2011-26 9,950 

 
Page 1477



13 

3.5 In order to assist the LDP in meeting the tests of soundness relating 
to cross boundary issues and compatibility with LDPs prepared by 
neighbouring authorities, a Working Group was set up in November 2011, 
made up of the 10 south east Wales LPAs and other participating 
organisations in the South East Wales Strategic Planning Group 
(SEWSPG). The South East Wales Economic Forum (SEWEF) and the 
South East Wales Transport Authority (Sewta) were also invited to 
participate. The purpose of the working group was to discuss the cross-
boundary implications of the emerging issues involved in the preparation 
of the LDP. 
 
 
Key Social Trends and Issues 
 
3.6 Cardiff is the most populated local authority in Wales, with 345,400 
people living in the county in 2011 (Office of National Statistics 2012) - 
over 11% of the total population of Wales. Some 1.4 million people live 
within a 45 minute drive time of the city. Cardiff’s population has 
increased steadily over the past 20 years (by about 2,400 people per 
year) but much more rapidly since 2001 (about 3,500 per year). Welsh 
Government projections indicate that the number of households in Cardiff 
will significantly increase by 37% between 2008 and 2026 from 136,741 
to 187,302 households. According to the Welsh Government projections, 
this is driven partly by in-migration (particularly net international 
migration), partly by natural population increase (births less deaths), and 
partly by a decline in average household size with over three quarters of 
the growth being for 1 and 2 person households. 
 
3.7 In recent years a high proportion of new housing has been built on 
brownfield land. This has contributed to the development of many 
apartments and the relative under-provision of family housing. On 
average around 1,476 new dwellings have been built each year for the 
last 10 years. 14% of those were affordable (213 p.a.). 68% (1,001) p.a. 
were flats or apartments. Much of this development has been within the 
city centre and bay area and has helped to revitalise these areas and 
provide high quality opportunities for urban living. This is demonstrated 
by the fact that 94% of housing completions in the last 10 years have 
been on brownfield land compared to 6% on Greenfield sites. 
 
3.8 The affordability of housing - particularly family housing – remains 
an issue that will continue to need to be addressed. At present (April 
2013) there are 9,710 on the combined housing waiting list; 545 families 
are in temporary accommodation. These facts help indicate the scale of 
the affordable housing requirement. The Cardiff Local Housing Market 
Assessment update (LHMA July 2013) indicates that, based on the Welsh 
Government formula, 3,989 affordable dwellings are required in Cardiff 
for each of the next 5 years to deal with need. The social and economic 
importance of providing a range and choice of homes, particularly 
affordable housing is fully recognised in the Welsh Government White 

Page 1478



14 

Paper Homes for Wales, “A White Paper for Better Lives and 
Communities” (May 2012). 
 
3.9 There are two Gypsy and Traveller sites in Cardiff (Rover Way and 
Shirenewton) providing a total of 80 pitches. The population in these sites 
is growing and there is a demand for new sites. The Council has a legal 
duty to meet the need for Gypsy and Traveller sites in the Local 
Development Plan (Welsh Government Circular 30/2007). The latest 
study in 2013 found a need up to 2026 for an additional 108 pitches plus 
10 transit pitches. 
 
3.10 Compared with Wales and the UK, Cardiff has a higher percentage 
of population in age groups 15-39 years but a lower percentage in age 
groups from 40 upwards. The impact of the student population is 
particularly significant. According to latest data for 2010-11, the growing 
student resident population of 37,400 comprised around 10.8% of the 
city's total population (Higher Education Statistical Authority 2012 and 
National Statistics). 
 
3.11 The health of Cardiff’s population is not significantly different from 
the Welsh average. However, this headline conceals large variations in 
health status between richer and poorer areas. There is a north-south 
divide across Cardiff with a difference in life expectancy of nearly 12 years 
between the poorest and most affluent wards (Cardiff What Matters 
Headline Needs Assessment 20101). Health inequality – the avoidable 
difference between the least and most advantaged populations - is thus 
evident in parts of the population. Opportunities for health are less in 
disadvantaged areas and health outcomes such as cardiovascular 
mortality are poorer. 
 
3.12 In Cardiff, the greatest causes of death in people aged less than 75 
years are cancer, circulatory disease and respiratory disease. Many 
chronic conditions are preventable by ensuring the environment is health 
enhancing and through the adoption of healthy lifestyles. However, over 
half of Cardiff’s adults are clinically overweight or obese, just a quarter 
(25%) of adults meet recommended physical activity guidelines of 
undertaking at least 30 minutes of moderate intensity physical activity 
on five or more days per week (the lowest across Welsh local authorities) 
and 35% of adults eat the recommended 5 or more portions of fruit and 
vegetables each day (Welsh Health Survey 20112). 
 
3.13 The built and natural environment together with lifestyle behaviours 
contribute to improving health. Walking and cycling, access to well-
maintained open spaces for physical activity and food growing plus easy 
access to health care facilities by active travel impact on the health of the 
population. Achieving and maintaining a healthy weight, protecting 

                                                 
1 http://www.cardiffproudcapital.co.uk/content.asp?nav=2,260&parent_directory_id=2&id=612&d1p1=1 
2 http://gov.wales/docs/statistics/2012/120919healthsurvey2011en.pdf 

Page 1479



15 

mental health and reducing stress levels are supported by this approach. 
Cardiff has a wealth of open spaces and walking and cycling rates to  
work/school and for leisure are increasing; there is the opportunity to 
protect and enhance these assets for health improvement. 
 
3.14 The 2011 census statistics indicate that 16.2% of the population of 
Cardiff have one or more skills in the Welsh Language (ability to read, 
write or/and understand Welsh) and 11.1% of the County’s population 
are able to speak Welsh. This compares with a national average of 19.0%. 
However there are substantial variations between the proportion of Welsh 
speakers in different communities in Wales, varying from below 8% to 
above 65%.  
 
3.15 The Welsh Language Board approved Cardiff Council’s revised Welsh 
Language Scheme 2009 to 2012 in July 2009. The Council has adopted 
the principle that in the conduct of public business and administration of 
justice in Wales, it will treat the English and Welsh languages on a basis 
of equality. This scheme sets out how the Council will give effect to that 
principle when providing services to the public in Cardiff. 
 
3.16 Community safety is one of the top issues raised in successive Ask 
Cardiff Surveys. Between 2010 and 2011, Cardiff had the second highest 
recorded crime rate in Wales and 50 per cent higher than the average for 
Wales. These include violence against the person, burglary, vehicle and 
other theft and criminal damage. However, Cardiff’s total recorded crime 
rate has fallen over the past eight years (with some fluctuations) and is 
now less than two-thirds of the figure of eight years ago. There was a 
12% reduction in total crime between 2009/2010 and 2010/2011 (Home 
Office Statistics). 
 
3.17 While Cardiff is generally a prosperous city offering a high quality of 
life for residents; deprivation (in terms of housing, physical 
environment, employment income, educational achievements, health) 
still remains an important issue that needs to be addressed. Of the 10% 
most deprived LSOAs (Lower Layer Super Output Area) in Wales, 15.8% 
are in Cardiff (Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation 2011). Parts of Ely, 
Butetown and Splott are the most deprived areas of Cardiff.  
 
3.18 9.5% of the total population of Cardiff live in the 10% most health 
deprived LSOAs (Lower Super Output Areas) in Wales (i.e. those ranked 
1-190). However, this proportion varies greatly across the neighbourhood 
areas. Cardiff South West (23.2%) has the highest proportion of its 
residents living in these most deprived areas, followed by City & Cardiff 
South (19.0%) and Cardiff South East (14.6%). In contrast, Cardiff West 
(0.0%) has no areas of this kind, while just 1.5% of Cardiff North’s 
population reside within these LSOAs. For Cardiff East the figure is 8.0%. 
 
3.19 When looking at those living within the 20% most health deprived 
LSOAs in Wales (i.e. those ranked 1-380), it can be seen that 21.7% of 

Page 1480



16 

Cardiff’s total population live within these areas. The disparities across 
the city’s neighbourhood areas also become more apparent. More than 
two-fifths (43.9%) of Cardiff South West’s population live in these LSOAs, 
while Cardiff East (38.2%), Cardiff South East (29.9%) and City & Cardiff 
South (24.0%) also have proportions above the Cardiff average. In 
contrast, just 5.5% of Cardiff North’s and 7.3% of Cardiff West’s residents 
live in the 20% most health deprived areas. 
 
3.20 Ethnic minorities comprise 15.5% of Cardiff's population broadly 
similar to the average for England and Wales (14.0%) but higher than 
the Wales average (4.4%) with a higher concentration of ethnic groups 
in Grangetown, Butetown, Riverside Adamsdown and Plasnewydd than 
elsewhere (ONS 2011). 
 
3.21 In terms of education, training and skill base the proportion of 
Cardiff’s working age population lacking any qualifications has hovered at 
around 13% for the past five years. However, Cardiff performs 
particularly well with regards to high-level skills with 39.8% of 16 to 64 
year olds having NVQ level 4 or equivalent, putting Cardiff significantly 
above the Wales (29.3%) and UK (32.7%) averages (Annual Population 
Survey, 2011). In addition, 39% of Cardiff’s workforce is educated to 
NVQ level 4 or above compared with Wales (29%) and UK (33%) (Annual 
Population Survey January 2011) a reflection of the four universities 
located within the city. However, as with other areas in the UK, it is 
important to recognise the link between low educational achievement and 
deprivation. 
 
Key Economic Trends and Issues 
 
3.22 The economy of Cardiff is generally strong and buoyant, reflecting 
its position as Capital of Wales, seat of Welsh Government and the 
regional centre and economic driver for the wider south east Wales 
economy, accounting for 32% of total employment in south east Wales. 
Commuting patterns into Cardiff demonstrate the city’s importance to the 
regional economy and the Wales Spatial Plan and Economic Renewal 
Programme acknowledge that maintaining Cardiff’s performance is vital 
for the economic well-being of the region and Wales as a whole.  
 
3.23 Cardiff’s employment workforce totals 188,977 (Employee Jobs 
Business Register and Employment Survey 2012, ONS) approximately 
40% are daily in-commuters – 88% are employed in the service sector, 
6% in construction and 6% in manufacturing. Gross Value Added (GVA) 
is an economic measure of the value of goods and services produced in 
an area. In 2009 Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan generated £9,615 
million – 22% of Welsh GVA. GVA per head in Cardiff and the Vale stood 
at £20,864 in 2009 – higher than both the Welsh and UK averages (ONS 
2011). Unemployment in Cardiff was 4.5% in March 2013 (10,617) 
(Claimant Count ONS). Between 2001 and 2009 employment in Cardiff 
expanded by 16% compared to an overall growth of 4% in the wider 

Page 1481



17 

south east Wales region (Source DTZ Validation of Cardiff Labour Market 
and Employment Scenarios, June 2011). The economic recession over 
the last few years has contributed to the net loss of approximately 4,733 
jobs in Cardiff between 2008 and 2010 (Source ONS Business Register 
and Employment Survey). 
 
3.24 A key challenge for the LDP is planning for the economy and meeting 
the need for future jobs within the city and the wider south east Wales 
region through striking a balance between the supply and demand for 
employment land and continuing to provide a diverse range of job 
opportunities. Likely future growth sectors in Cardiff over the plan period 
include specialist sectors relating to ICT, energy and environment, 
advanced materials and manufacturing, creative industries, life sciences 
and financial and professional services. It is essential that the location, 
amount and nature of employment land allocated and protected ensures 
Cardiff fulfils its economic potential and also the success of the south east 
Wales region. This includes, for example, the designation in 2012 of a 
Cardiff Central Enterprise Zone providing a much needed boost to the 
supply of Grade A office stock for the city. 
 
3.25 Employment land take up data for the period July 2001-July 2010 
can be summarised as follows. Average take up for offices (B1a) was 
28,200 square metres per annum. Average land take up was 8.1 hectares 
per annum for industrial and warehousing (B1b/c, B2 and B8) (Cardiff 
Employment Land Study Demand Assessment, DTZ, June 2011). 
Industrial supply currently comprises 69.7 hectares. Office supply 
currently comprises 426,971 square metres (Cardiff Employment Land 
Study Gap Analysis, Hardisty Jones Associates, April 2012). 
 
3.26 Total industrial stock in Cardiff is approximately 19.2 million square 
feet of which 43% is warehousing stock, with the remainder providing 
more traditional industrial accommodation. However, the quality of stock 
has become a major issue, with only 6.1% being less than five years old. 
Many of the buildings within the current stock are reaching functional 
obsolescence and there is very little new floorspace to satisfy the 
emerging knowledge and technology services, which are driving demand 
for high specification industrial buildings, rather than the older, larger 
premises. Existing general industry and warehousing land is largely 
concentrated to the east of the city, within or in close proximity to the 
southern arc of deprivation which geographically contains some of the 
most deprived wards in Wales. Key strategic locations include Ocean 
Park, Splott, Capital Business Park and Wentloog Corporate Park. The 
Penarth Road/Leckwith area also continues to perform an important 
employment function, with good linkages to the south and west of the 
city. As a distribution location, Cardiff’s location towards the western end 
of the UKs major transport axis means it struggles to compete against 
locations further to the east (Newport, Chepstow, Bristol) for major 
transport and distribution functions. 
 

Page 1482



18 

3.27 In terms of office supply the city centre and Bay Business Area 
remain the principle locations. These are also the most accessible in the 
city, in terms of public transport and for those commuting into the city. 
Out of centre growth has focused at Green Meadow Spring, Coryton, 
Cardiff Gate, Pontprennau, and St Mellons Business Park. Lack of grade 
A office space has been addressed to a degree with the development of 
Callaghan Square, Fusion Point and Caspian Point. However, of the 1.5 
million square feet of office space available in Cardiff only 7% is grade A 
(DTZ Supply Audit, 2011). 
 
3.28 Cardiff city centre is the main shopping centre for south east Wales 
and over the last 3 years (2009 to 2011) has been ranked the 6th top 
retail centre in the UK (Experian rankings). District and Local Centres 
provide important local facilities to the local community. However, they 
are particularly vulnerable to out of centre competition and changing 
shopping habits. As a consequence the range and quality of retail 
provision is under pressure in many centres. There has been a 4% 
reduction in terms of net retail floorspace between 2005 and 2008. 
 
3.29 The regeneration of Cardiff Bay represents a major success story 
with major redevelopment and infrastructure projects being undertaken 
over the past two decades. Whilst significant progress has been made a 
number of sites remain to be implemented including the completion of 
developments at the International Sports Village and the media/creative 
industries cluster, residential development and associated uses at Roath 
Basin (Porth Teigr). 
 
3.30 Cardiff’s leisure and tourism sector generates significant economic 
and cultural benefits for the city through the staging of major 
international events at world class venues such as the Millennium 
Stadium and Wales Millennium Centre. Cardiff’s diverse leisure and 
tourism offer also embraces a proud heritage, boasting a number of 
castles, two national museums, two cathedrals, Roman remains and 
acres of parks and gardens. In 2010 the city attracted a total of 18.3 
million visitors (STEAM, 2010), a 25% growth since 2009. Cardiff came 
in at 11 in Visit Britain’s rankings for overseas visits to towns and cities 
in 2012. The Welsh capital had 301,000 visits, and was just ahead of 
Leeds (299,000) and behind Brighton (345,000). 
 
Key Transportation Trends and issues 
 
3.31 Traffic on Cardiff’s roads grew on average by 9% between 2002 
and 2012 (Cardiff Annual Traffic Flow Surveys, calculated using 5yr 
Rolling Averages). Around 56% of employed Cardiff residents travel to 
work by car; with 17% walking; 10% travelling by bus; 10% by cycle; 
6% by rail; and the remaining 1% by other means. This compares with 
travel by non-car means for other journey purposes as follows: Shopping 
53%; Education 59%; and Leisure 57% (Ask Cardiff Survey 2012). A 
large proportion of car journeys are relatively short: 25% of trips being 

Page 1483



19 

no longer than 2km and 58% no longer than 5km (Census 2001 excluding 
working from home). Overall vehicle occupancy has increased from 
1.37 per private car in 2008 to 1.41 in 2011 (Cardiff Annual Traffic Flow 
Surveys). 
 
3.32 Cardiff has consistently experienced the highest levels of daily 
inbound commuters of any other local authority in Wales. As of 2011, 
this equates to nearly 77,900 people travelling into Cardiff each day by 
all modes, and representing around 37% of the city’s total workforce. The 
largest numbers commute from the adjoining areas of The Vale of 
Glamorgan (20,500), Rhondda Cynon Taff (18,800) and Caerphilly 
(9,700). A total of 27,900 Cardiff residents commute outside of the 
authority on a daily basis, giving a net inflow of around 50,000 
commuters (Annual Population Survey, 2011). 
 
3.33 In terms of transport interchanges Cardiff benefits from having a 
co-located central rail and bus station within the heart of the city and 
within 2 hours rail travel time from London. Central rail station is used by 
approximately 5.75 million people each year (Source: Office of Rail 
Regulation, 2011-12 Station Usage Report) and significant improvements 
are planned for both the bus station and rail station. Its sustainable 
location within the heart of the city enables it to perform an important 
role for the south east Wales region in providing easy access to jobs and 
services. 
 
3.34 Travel on rail services into Cardiff has increased considerably, with 
passenger numbers at Cardiff stations having increased by 82% between 
2001 and 2011. Cardiff Central and Cardiff Queen Street Station alone 
have experienced an increase in patronage during this period of 100% 
and 53%, respectively. (Cardiff Annual Patronage Surveys, calculated 
using 5yr Rolling Averages). Significant enhancements to rail services are 
planned during the plan period with electrification of the main line from 
Cardiff to London approved for completion in 2017. Proposals for also 
electrifying the Valley line network and main line to Swansea are 
currently being considered by UK and Welsh Governments. In addition, 
work on enhancing the capacity between Central and Queen Street 
stations, including additional platforms for both, has been approved for 
completion in 2014. 
 
3.35 With respect to other modes, cycle usage within the city centre has 
seen an increase of 10% between 2001 and 2011, while overall bus 
patronage numbers across the city have decreased from 2001 to 2011 
(Cardiff Annual Patronage Surveys, calculated from 5yr rolling averages). 
Use of the Cardiff East Park and Ride site after opening in October 2009 
has increased from approximately 69,500 in 2009/10 to 84,700 in 
2012/13 (22% growth) and rail based park and ride in Cardiff remains 
over-subscribed. 
 

Page 1484



20 

3.36 Cardiff International Airport plays an important role in 
international connectivity for both Cardiff and the wider region and 
consideration needs to be given to improving the role and links to the 
airport.  
 
3.37 The port facilities within Cardiff docks are important in terms of 
international freight movement for both Cardiff and the wider region and 
it is important that these facilities are maintained and improved where 
necessary. Associated British Ports (ABP) and its tenants at South Wales 
directly and indirectly support over £1.7 billion of gross output in Wales. 
There are therefore opportunities to develop the role of the port, 
particularly concerning its potential to generate new industry, services 
and accelerate economic growth. 
 
 
Key Environmental Trends and Issues 
 
3.38 Cardiff is located on the coastal plain of the Severn Estuary. The 
southern rim of the south Wales coalfields in Caerphilly and Rhondda 
Cynon Taff provide a strong imposing backdrop to the north of the city, 
dramatically broken by the River Taff at Tongwynlais. The Rivers Ely and 
Rhymney also converge on the city from the west and east, respectively. 
To the south west the Leckwith Escarpment in the Vale of Glamorgan 
provides another strong backdrop. By contrast, the flat land to the south 
east, adjacent to the Severn Estuary and Newport forms part of the 
Gwent Levels. This undeveloped coastline contrasts with the developed 
coastline further west which includes Cardiff Bay and the barrage and 
associated fresh water lake. This setting has influenced the city’s 
development to date with its distinctive urban form and will continue to 
do so in the future. 
 
3.39 Landscape studies undertaken in 1997 and 2007 have recognised 
the particular value of five areas of countryside: St Fagans Lowlands and 
the Ely Valley; the Garth Hill Uplands and the Pentyrch Ridges and 
Valleys; the Fforest Fawr and Caerphilly Ridge; the Wentloog Levels; and 
Flat Holm. In addition Cardiff’s three river valleys of the Taff, Ely, and 
Rhymney (including Nant Fawr) play an important strategic role as 
wildlife and recreation corridors linking the urban area with the 
countryside. 
 
3.40 Cardiff has a strong and rich built heritage and many designations 
have been made to identify interests of historic conservation 
importance in Cardiff which need to be protected and include: 
 

• 28 Scheduled Ancient Monuments and 4 archaeologically sensitive 
areas; 

• Almost 1000 Listed Buildings; 
• 27 Conservation Areas; 

Page 1485



21 

• 19 Historic Parks, Gardens and Landscapes including part of the 
Gwent Levels which are included in the Register of Landscapes of 
Outstanding Historic Interest in Wales; and 

• Local buildings of merit. 

 
3.41 The city has a particularly rich Victorian and Edwardian legacy that 
is reflected in the city centre, its inner suburbs and in the civic centre and 
religious building. Churches and chapels, schools and public houses 
remain prominent and often create focal points on streets and junctions. 
As Cardiff continues to grow, high quality design will be required which 
takes this local distinctiveness into consideration. 
 
3.42 Open spaces are important as they improve people's mental and 
physical health, encourage physical activity, are attractive, support 
biodiversity, act as a carbon sink, and can help to adapt to climate 
change. Cardiff has over 400 hectares of recreational open space, 2000 
hectares of amenity open space and 200 hectares of education open 
space. Cardiff has a good coverage of Accessible Natural Greenspace, 
with over two thirds of the population living within a 400m distance of 
access to green space. Cardiff has more green space per person than any 
of the other UK core cities; a situation to be protected and promoted. 
 
3.43 Cardiff has a diverse and widespread collection of species and sites 
of Local, UK and European biodiversity importance which need to be 
protected. Including: 

• 4 sites designated for their international importance – the Severn 
Estuary Special Protection Area (SPA), Severn Estuary Special Area 
of Conservation (SAC) and Ramsar sites, and Cardiff Beech Woods 
Special Area of Conservation (SAC); 

• 17 Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs); 
• 6 Local Nature Reserves (LNRs); 
• 177 Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation (SINCs) and 4 

more pending designation (subject to approval by Cardiff 
Biodiversity Partnership); 

• European protected species occurring in Cardiff include the Great 
Crested Newt, otter, dormouse as well as several species of bat; 
and  

• A number of the Cardiff priority habitats and species have been 
identified by UKBAP, Section 42 and Local Priority. 

 
3.44 Good quality agricultural land is known to exist within the rural 
area of Cardiff. The best and most versatile agricultural land is a finite 
resource. Areas within the city known to contain some good (Grade 1, 2 
and 3a) quality agricultural land include agricultural land in the west, 
north and north east of the city. 

Page 1486



22 

 
3.45 Flooding poses a particular threat to Cardiff because of its coastal 
location, low-lying areas and rivers, and it is inevitable that climate 
change will increase flood risk in the city. The Environment Agency 
advises planning authorities on flooding issues and also gives advice in 
the form of River Catchment Management Plans. It has identified areas 
of Cardiff – mainly in the south of the county (Wentloog Levels, Pengam 
Area) and the river valleys (the Taff, Ely and Rhymney) – which are at 
high risk of flooding (either with or without defences) or which have a 
history of flooding. In order to build on this baseline information the 
Council has undertaken a Strategic Flood Consequence Assessment which 
assessed fluvial and tidal influences on flood risk within the city for both 
the present day and in the next 75 and 100 years taking account of 
climate change and in particular predicted sea level rise. In terms of 
present day flood risk the findings of this work reinforce the Environment 
Agency data. However for future flood risk in 75 and 100 years the 
findings show significantly increased flood risk in the Pengam Green area 
and Wentloog Levels area south of Rumney and Trowbridge due to the 
impact of climate change and in particular predicted sea level rise. The 
need for the plan to respond to these findings is clearly a major issue. 
 
3.46 In order to combat climate change a key issue for the plan to 
address is reducing greenhouse gas emissions which are the key cause 
of global warming. Cardiff’s per capita average CO2 emissions were 
estimated at 6.8 tonnes in 2009. The majority of these emissions resulted 
from industry (45%), domestic sources (30%) and road transport (25%) 
(Department for Energy and Climate Change). The Welsh Government 
target is to reduce CO2 emissions by 80% by 2050. 
 
3.47 The Council is currently undertaking a Renewable Energy 
Assessment and initial findings show that current production of 
renewable energy in Cardiff is low. The European Union target is to 
source 15% energy from renewable sources by 2020. (European Directive 
2009/28/EC). 
 
3.48 In 2011/12 municipal waste arisings in Cardiff totalled 169,216 
tonnes. Over the last 10 years the recycling and composting rate of 
household waste in Cardiff has risen from 4% to 55% meaning the 
Council is on target to reach the Welsh Government target of 58% by 
2016, 64% by 2020 and 70% by 2025. For municipal waste that cannot 
be recycled or composted the Council is currently working with other 
authorities in the region through Prosiect Gwyrdd to secure a long term 
solution to turn waste into energy. In February 2013 Viridor was 
announced as Preferred Bidder to deliver an environmentally sustainable 
waste management solution for the Partnership. Viridor’s solution, is 
based on an energy from waste facility located at Trident Park.  
 
3.49 Cardiff has significant, good quality mineral reserves (mainly 
carboniferous limestone) which are an important source of aggregates for 

Page 1487



23 

the region. A supply of aggregates should be maintained, so mineral 
reserves need to be safeguarded against inappropriate development. 
Currently Cardiff has approximately 41 million tonnes of limestone 
reserves which represent a supply of 69 years, well beyond the plan 
period. There is also a potential sand and gravel resource adjacent to the 
Rhymney River in the north east of the county, and potential coal 
resources in the north west of the county, which are unlikely to be 
required within the Plan period but which need to be safeguarded for 
potential future use. 
 
3.50 As a result of past activities including industry, mining, quarrying, 
dockland and waste disposal there is a range of undeveloped potentially 
contaminated land within the city. However the majority of these 
undeveloped sites are either protected as areas of open space or for 
nature conservation purposes or are required for operational purposes 
such as quarrying activity or port related activities. 
 
3.51 In common with other towns and cities in the UK, the predominant 
local source of emissions which affects air quality is road traffic and the 
pollutant of concern is nitrogen dioxide. Cardiff currently has three 
AQMAs including St Mary Street, Ely Bridge and Stephenson Court (on 
Newport Road near Cardiff Royal Infirmary). 
 
3.52 Water quality in the rivers Taff, Ely and Rhymney is improving, but 
falls below the requirements of the Water Framework Directive. In total 
the status of watercourses (percent of river lengths achieving good 
ecological status) in Cardiff using data collected under the Water 
Framework Directive is 1.8 km Good, 33.7 km Moderate, 7.6 km Poor 
and 4.2 km Bad. The groundwater around Taff Gorge / Creigiau area is 
vulnerable. 
 
3.53 In order to meet the needs of new development proposed in the 
plan new water supply infrastructure will be required but dialogue with 
Welsh Water has demonstrated a commitment to address this issue. 
 
 
  

Page 1488



24 

Appendix 4: – Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) 
 
The Table below provides a list of SPG to support the Plan with a timetable 
for preparation.  This list will be kept under review in light of changing 
priorities for preparation and the need for additional SPG.  The 
requirement for preparation/review of SPG is linked to the Monitoring 
Framework.   
 

 

Supplementary 
Planning 

Guidance 
 

 

Current Status /Proposed 
Action 

 

Relevant 
Plan 

Policy 

 

Indicative 
Date for 

Production 

Design and 

Parking 
Guidance 

(incorporating 
Access, 

Circulation and 
Parking 

Requirements 
SPG and 

sustainable 
design guidance) 

Current adopted SPG to the 
Local Plan 
 
To be revised to link to 
adopted LDP updated and 
extended.  
 
New planning obligations SPG 
to pick up S106 issues from 
Transportation SPG 

T5 Within 6 
months of 
adoption 

Affordable 

Housing 

Current adopted SPG to the 
Local Plan 
 
To be revised to link to 
adopted LDP  
 
New planning obligations SPG 
to pick up S106 issues 

H3 Within 6 
months of 
adoption 

Open Space Current adopted SPG to the 
Local Plan 
 
To be revised to link to 
adopted LDP  
 
New planning obligations SPG 
to pick up S106 issues 

C4, C5 Within 6 
months of 
adoption 

Houses in 

Multiple 
Occupation 

New SPG H5 Within 6 
months of 
adoption 

Planning 
Obligations 

Incorporating 
Developer 

Contributions for 

New SPG KP7 Within 12 
months of 
adoption 

Page 1489



25 

Transport 

facilities and 
relevant sections 

from the 
following SPGs: 

 
• Affordable 

Housing 

• Access, 

Circulation and 

Parking 

Requirements 

• Open Space 

• Schools 

• Public Art 

• PROW 

• Community 

Facilities 

• Trees and 

Development 

• Waste 

Collection and 

Storage 

Facilities 

• Biodiversity 

Locating Waste 
Management 

Facilities 

Current adopted SPG to the 
Local Plan 
 
To be revised to link to 
adopted LDP 
 

W1 Within 12 
months of 
adoption 

Central Shopping 

Area Protected 
Frontages 

New SPG  R3 Within 12 
months of 
adoption 

Flooding New SPG EN14 Within 12 
months of 
adoption 
 

Natural Heritage 

Network 

New SPG KP16, 
EN3 - 8 

Within 12 
months of 
adoption 

Design Guidance 

and Standards 
for Flat 

Conversions 

New SPG H5 Within 12 
months of 
adoption 

Page 1490



26 

Infill Sites 

Design Guidance 

Current adopted SPG to the 
Local Plan 
 
To be revised to link to 
adopted LDP 
 
 

KP5 Within 18 
months of 
adoption 

Tall Buildings 
Guidance 

Current adopted SPG to the 
Local Plan 
 
To be revised to link to 
adopted LDP 

KP5 Within 18 
months of 
adoption 

Householder 
Design Guidance 

Current adopted SPG to the 
Local Plan 
 
To be revised to link to 
adopted LDP 

KP5 Within 18 
months of 
adoption 

Shop Fronts and 
Signs Guidance 

Current adopted SPG to the 
Local Plan 
 
To be revised to link to 
adopted LDP 

KP5 Within 18 
months of 
adoption 

Public Art 

Guidance 

Current adopted SPG to the 
Local Plan 
 
To be revised to link to 
adopted LDP 
 
New planning obligations SPG 
to pick up S106 issues 

KP5 Within 18 
months of 
adoption 

Public Rights of 
Way and 

Development 

Current adopted SPG to the 
Local Plan.  
 
To be revised and updated to 
link to adopted LDP 
 
New planning obligations SPG 
to pick up S106 issues 
 

T1 Within 18 
months of 
adoption 

Protection of 
Employment 

Land and 
Premises for 

Business, 
Industry and 

Warehousing 

Current adopted SPG to the 
Local Plan.  
 
To be revised and updated to 
link to adopted LDP 
 
 
 

EC1,EC3 Within 18 
months of 
adoption 

Food Drink and 

Leisure Uses 

Current adopted SPGs to the 
Local Plan. 

R7 

Page 1491



27 

  
To be merged together and 
revised and updated to link 
to adopted LDP 
 

Within 18 
months of 
adoption 
 

Premises for 
Eating, Drinking 

& Entertainment 
in Cardiff City 

Centre 

Trees and 
Development 

Current adopted SPG to the 
Local Plan  
 
To be revised and updated to 
link to adopted LDP  
 
New planning obligations SPG 
to pick up S106 issues 

EN8 Within 18 
months of 
adoption 

Community 
Facilities and 

Residential 

Development 

Current adopted SPG to the 
Local Plan  
 
To be revised and updated to 
link to adopted LDP  
 
New planning obligations SPG 
to pick up S106 issues 

C1 Within 18 
months of 
adoption 

Childcare 

Facilities 

Current adopted SPG to the 
Local Plan  
 
To be revised and updated to 
link to adopted LDP  
 

EC2 Within 18 
months of 
adoption 

Waste Collection 
and Storage 

Facilities 

Current adopted SPG to the 
Local Plan  
 
To be revised and updated to 
link to adopted LDP  
 
New planning obligations SPG 
to pick up S106 issues 

W2 Within 18 
months of 
adoption 

Biodiversity Current adopted SPG to the 
Local  
 
To be revised and updated to 
link to adopted LDP  
 
New planning obligations SPG 
to pick up S106 issues 

EN5,EN6, 
EN7 

Within 18 
months of 
adoption 

Archaeologically 
Sensitive Areas  

Current adopted SPG to the 
Local Plan  
 
To be revised and updated to 
link to adopted LDP  

KP17, 
EN9 

Within 18 
months of 
adoption 

Page 1492



28 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Health New SPG to be prepared C6 Within 18 

months of 
adoption 

Gypsy and 

Traveller Sites 

New SPG to be prepared H7 Within 18 
months of 
adoption 

Page 1493



29 

Appendix 5: Sites Over 10 Dwellings with Planning Permission for 
Residential (March 2014) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1494



SITE REF SITE LOCATION ELECTORAL 
DIVISION TENURE APPLICATION 

NUMBER
PERMISSION 

TYPE
DATE 

GRANTED
BROWNFIELD 
GREENFIELD

NOT 
STARTED 
(PLOTS)

NOT 
STARTED 

(AREA ha)

IN 
PROGRE

SS (Plots)

IN 
PROGRESS 
(AREA ha)

COMPLETE
D (PLOTS)

COMPLETED 
AREA (ha)

TOTAL 
(PLOTS)

TOTAL 
(AREA ha)

Completed 
Plots 2013-

14

Completed Area 
2013-14

AD160 Former Eastern Hotel, 54 Metal Street Adamsdown Private 13/00013 Outline Legal Agreement Brown 14 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 14 0.10 0 0.00
AD174 Former Tredegar House, 57-58 Clifton Street Adamsdown Private 08/01716 Full Legal Agreement Brown 12 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 12 0.04 0 0.00
AD186 St James' Church, Newport Road Adamsdown Private 08/01608 Full 01/11/2011 Brown 12 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 12 0.18 0 0.00
AD188 86-89 Adam Street Adamsdown Private 07/02883 Outline 17/10/2008 Brown 0 0.00 16 0.00 0 0.00 16 0.05 0 0.00
AD212 Bronte Hostel, 158-164 Newport Road Adamsdown HA 10/02302 Full 31/10/2011 Brown 38 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 38 0.18 0 0.00
AD213 Former Rumpoles, Moira Terrace Adamsdown HA 13/00536 Full 04/10/2013 Brown 49 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 49 0.04 0 0.00
BU107i Land West of Dumballs Road Butetown Private 07/01637 Outline 16/05/2011 Brown 1,656 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 1,656 10.64 0 0.00
BU107ii Land West of Dumballs Road Butetown HA 07/01637 Outline 16/05/2011 Brown 414 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 414 2.66 0 0.00
BU109 15-17 Harrowby Street Butetown Private 08/00082 Outline Legal Agreement Brown 20 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 20 0.07 0 0.00
BU118 Sterling Works, Clarence Road Butetown HA 11/01168 Outline 18/03/2013 Brown 0 0.00 19 0.00 0 0.00 19 0.04 0 0.00

BU123A Brandon Tool Hire, 151 Bute Street Butetown Private 13/00143 Outline Legal Agreement Brown 28 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 28 0.10 0 0.00
BU123B Brandon Tool Hire, 151 Bute Street Butetown HA 13/00143 Outline Legal Agreement Brown 11 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 11 0.10 0 0.00
BU32A Land at Roath Basin (WDA) Butetown Private 08/01736 Outline 15/01/2010 Brown 758 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 758 4.32 0 0.00
BU32B Land at Roath Basin (WDA) Butetown HA 08/01736 Outline 15/01/2010 Brown 252 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 252 1.44 0 0.00

BU86A Former Post Office and adjoining car park, Bute 
Street Butetown Private 03/01531 Full Legal Agreement Brown 75 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 75 0.12 0 0.00

BU86Ai Corys Building, Bute Street Butetown Private 06/02527 Full Legal Agreement Brown 24 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 24 0.03 0 0.00

BU86B Former Post Office and adjoining car park, Bute 
Street Butetown HA 03/01531 Full Legal Agreement Brown 11 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 11 0.12 0 0.00

BU95 Cadogan House & adj Land, West Bute St & 
James St Butetown Private 05/00127 Full 09/11/2005 Brown 0 0.00 23 0.00 0 0.00 23 0.03 0 0.00

BU97A 130-132 Bute Street ,"Dixie" Butetown Private 07/02550 Full Legal Agreement Brown 43 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 43 0.04 0 0.00
BU98 Hannah Street Church, Hannah Street Butetown HA 13/01239 Full Legal Agreement Brown 14 0.05 0 0.00 0 0.00 14 0.05 0 0.00
BU99 Coal Exchange, Mount Stuart Square Butetown Private 12/00015 Full Legal Agreement Brown 116 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 116 0.43 0 0.00

CN137A Former Arjo Wiggins Paper Mill Site, Paper Mill 
Road Canton Private 12/01663 Outline Legal Agreement Brown 535 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 535 13.72 0 0.00

CN137B Former Arjo Wiggins Paper Mill Site, Paper Mill 
Road Canton HA 12/01663 Outline Legal Agreement Brown 191 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 191 5.88 0 0.00

CN145 635 Cowbridge Road East Canton Private 07/02384 Outline Legal Agreement Brown 24 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 24 0.10 0 0.00
CN155 The Maltings, Cowbridge Road East Canton HA 11/02190 Full 30/11/2012 Brown 0 0.00 26 0.00 0 0.00 26 0.15 0 0.00
CN164 Canton Police Station, Cowbridge Road East Canton HA 13/02071 Full Legal Agreement Brown 17 0.06 0 0.00 0 0.00 17 0.06 0 0.00

CS138 Junction of Lucas Street, Fanny Street & Gwyneth 
Street Cathays Private 10/00710 Full 26/07/2011 Brown 0 0.00 10 0.00 0 0.00 10 0.18 0 0.00

CS139 CCC Offices Wood Street Cathays Private 08/01741 Full Legal Agreement Brown 220 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 220 0.30 0 0.00
CS174i Land at Thomson House, Park Street Cathays Private 10/00431 Outline 30/12/2010 Brown 211 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 211 0.22 0 0.00

CS174ii Land at Thomson House, Park Street (Affordable 
Housing) Cathays HA 10/00431 Outline 30/12/2010 Brown 20 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 20 0.06 0 0.00

CS176 41 Charles Street Cathays Private 05/00003 Full 08/03/2006 Brown 0 0.00 11 0.00 0 0.00 11 0.04 0 0.00

CS178 Texaco Service Station, 188-198 Cathays Terrace Cathays Private 06/02351 Full 24/06/2008 Brown 0 0.00 14 0.00 0 0.00 14 0.10 0 0.00

CS181 St Martin's Parish Hall Site, Alexander Street Cathays Private 07/00891 Full 11/02/2008 Brown 0 0.00 16 0.00 0 0.00 16 0.06 0 0.00
CS191i Marcol Court, Churchill Way Cathays Private 07/03013 Outline Legal Agreement Brown 103 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 103 0.34 0 0.00
CS191ii Marcol Court, Churchill Way Cathays HA 07/03013 Outline Legal Agreement Brown 44 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 44 0.14 0 0.00
CU52 Land at Heol Trelai Caerau HA 13/00859 Full 18/10/2013 Brown 0 0.00 40 0.00 0 0.00 40 0.60 0 0.00
CU77i r/o Western Leisure Centre Careau Private 11/00672 Outline 10/02/2012 Brown 57 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 57 1.60 0 0.00
CU77ii r/o Western Leisure Centre Careau HA 11/00672 Outline 10/02/2012 Brown 25 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 25 0.50 0 0.00
EL55 70 Mill Road Ely Private 12/01130 Full 24/04/2013 Brown 0 0.00 11 0.00 0 0.00 11 0.06 0 0.00

EL84A Land off Clos y Cwarra Ely Private 13/00444 Outline Legal Agreement Green 30 0.44 0 0.00 0 0.00 30 0.44 0 0.00
EL84B Land off Clos Y Cwarra Ely HA 13/00444 Outline Legal Agreement Green 20 0.20 0 0.00 0 0.00 20 0.20 0 0.00
FA52A Land between 53-81 Gorse Place Fairwater HA 12/02186 Full 07/08/2013 Green 16 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 16 0.19 0 0.00
FA87 52 Beechley Drive Fairwater Private 13/02545 Full 11/03/2014 Brown 10 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 10 0.07 0 0.00
FA89 60-72 Beechley Drive Fairwater HA 12/01386 Full 25/01/2012 Brown 13 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 13 0.36 0 0.00

GA52A Briardene North Road Gabalfa Private 09/00161 Outline 15/09/2011 Brown 33 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 33 0.28 0 0.00
GA52B Briardene North Road Gabalfa HA 09/00161 Outline 15/09/2011 Brown 15 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 15 0.12 0 0.00
GA55 Land at Talybont Gate, Bevan Place Gabalfa Private 11/01414 Full 24/05/2012 Brown 0 0.00 22 0.00 0 0.00 22 0.25 0 0.00

GR108i Cambrian Marina, Ely Harbour, Ferry Road Grangetown Private 13/00310 Outline Legal Agreement Brown 125 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 125 0.32 0 0.00
GR138i Cardiff Bus Depot, Sloper Road Grangetown Private 07/02973 Outline Legal Agreement Brown 183 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 183 2.18 0 0.00
GR138ii Cardiff Bus Depot, Sloper Road Grangetown HA 07/02973 Outline Legal Agreement Brown 79 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 79 0.94 0 0.00

P
age 1495



SITE REF SITE LOCATION ELECTORAL 
DIVISION TENURE APPLICATION 

NUMBER
PERMISSION 

TYPE
DATE 

GRANTED
BROWNFIELD 
GREENFIELD

NOT 
STARTED 
(PLOTS)

NOT 
STARTED 

(AREA ha)

IN 
PROGRE

SS (Plots)

IN 
PROGRESS 
(AREA ha)

COMPLETE
D (PLOTS)

COMPLETED 
AREA (ha)

TOTAL 
(PLOTS)

TOTAL 
(AREA ha)

Completed 
Plots 2013-

14

Completed Area 
2013-14

GR156A Land at Wholesale Fruit Centre, Bessemer Road Grangetown Private 10/01432 Full Legal Agreement Brown 215 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 215 6.00 0 0.00

GR156B Land at Wholesale Fruit Centre, Bessemer Road Grangetown HA 10/01432 Full Legal Agreement Brown 35 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 35 1.00 0 0.00

GR158 Bay Pointe (ISV) Grangetown Private 12/00937 Full 05/04/2013 Brown 524 0.00 33 0.00 4 0.00 561 5.60 4 0.04
GR159 Car Park/Pool (ISV) Grangetown Private 12/00934 Full 05/04/2013 Brown 79 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 79 0.99 0 0.00

GR160A Morrisons (ISV) Grangetown Private 12/00935 Full 05/04/2013 Brown 29 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 29 0.15 0 0.00
GR160B Morrisons Affordable ISV) Grangetown HA 12/00935 Full 05/04/2013 Brown 34 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 34 0.30 0 0.00
GR161A Watkiss Way (ISV) Grangetown Private 13/00829 RM 18/07/2013 Brown 35 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 35 0.42 0 0.00
GR161B Watkiss Way Affordable (ISV) Grangetown HA 13/00829 RM 18/07/2013 Brown 66 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 66 0.65 0 0.00
GR166 ISV Ice Rink Site Grangetown Private 12/01861 Outline 17/06/2013 Brown 213 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 213 0.20 0 0.00
GR65A Prospect Place, off Ferry Road (Bellway) Grangetown Private 10/00811 Full 28/06/2010 Brown 0 0.00 240 0.00 493 0.00 733 4.60 0 0.00

GR65B Prospect Place, off Ferry Road (Affordable 
Housing) Grangetown HA 06/00613 Full 27/10/2006 Brown 0 0.00 6 0.00 83 0.00 89 0.17 0 0.00

HE75 Thornbury House, Thornbury Close Heath Private 11/00238 Outline Legal Agreement Brown 10 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 10 0.10 0 0.00
LD125 18 High Street Llandaff Private 09/01810 Full 13/05/2010 Brown 11 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 11 0.08 0 0.00
LD129 The Retreat, Pwllmelin Road Llandaff Private 10/00846 Full 08/06/2011 Brown 20 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 20 0.20 0 0.00
LN52 Old Vaughan's Laundry Site Llandaff North Private 13/00273 RM 02/05/2013 Brown 10 0.00 9 0.00 4 0.00 23 0.54 4 0.09
LN52i Old Vaughan's Laundry Site Llandaff North HA 13/00273 RM 02/05/2013 Brown 5 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 5 0.38 0 0.00
LR30 735 Newport Road Llanrumney Private 08/01905 Outline 01/04/2011 Brown 13 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 13 0.12 0 0.00

LR36A Cardiff Council Housing Depot, Mount Pleasant 
Lane Llanrumney Private 12/00579 Outline 13/07/2012 Brown 15 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 15 0.32 0 0.00

LS185 Land at Chiltern Close Llanishen Private 13/01923 Outline Legal Agreement Brown 70 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 70 0.50 0 0.00
LV06 Land south of Lisvane Road Lisvane Private 11/01300 Full 27/03/2013 Green 40 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 40 2.04 0 0.00

LV128A Land off Cefn Mably Road Lisvane Private 13/00649 Full 27/02/2014 Green 41 1.80 0 0.00 0 0.00 41 1.80 0 0.00
LV128B Land off Cefn Mably Road Lisvane HA 13/00649 Full 27/02/2014 Green 10 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 10 1.00 0 0.00

LV76 Balmoral Close Lisvane Private 11/01301 Full 27/03/2013 Green 24 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 24 2.02 0 0.00

NP58 Land at Church Road Pontprennau/ 
Old St. M Private 04/03065 Outline 19/10/2011 Brown 45 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 45 1.34 0 0.00

PL109 Former Warehouse, Elm Street Plasnewydd Private 13/00867 Full 11/06/2013 Brown 0 0.00 10 0.00 0 0.00 10 0.11 0 0.00
PL178 122-130 Albany Road Plasnewydd Private 08/02018 Full Legal Agreement Brown 12 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 12 0.02 0 0.00

PL179A 217-223 Newport Road Plasnewydd Private 08/01551 Full 21/09/2011 Brown 47 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 47 0.22 0 0.00
PL179B 217-223 Newport Road Plasnewydd HA 08/01551 Full 21/09/2011 Brown 6 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 6 0.02 0 0.00
PL186 57a Richards Place Plasnewydd Private 09/02063 Outline Legal Agreement Brown 11 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 11 0.03 0 0.00
PL205 Gibbons Yard, Richmond Road Plasnewydd Private 10/01936 Full 26/08/2011 Brown 39 0.00 10 0.00 0 0.00 49 0.31 0 0.00
PL214 21-27 City Road Plasnewydd Private 12/01260 Outline Legal Agreement Brown 26 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 26 0.10 0 0.00
PW22A Maelfa Centre, Llanedeyrn Drive Pentwyn Private 11/01082 Outline 16/09/2011 Brown 83 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 83 0.95 0 0.00
PW22B Maelfa Centre, Llanedeyrn Drive Pentwyn HA 11/01082 Outline 16/09/2011 Brown 21 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 21 0.40 0 0.00
RO109 22 Ty Gwyn Road Penylan Private 08/00581 Full 01/04/2011 Brown 10 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 10 0.12 0 0.00

RO120A Ty Gwyn School Penylan Private 12/00438 RM 12/07/2012 Brown 0 0.00 12 0.00 7 0.00 19 1.00 7 0.37
RO120B Ty Gwyn School Penylan HA 12/00438 RM 12/07/2012 Brown 0 0.00 0 0.00 4 0.00 4 0.44 4 0.44

RO69 Land at White Lodge, Ty Gwyn Ave. Penylan Private 10/00675 Full 23/09/2010 Brown 2 0.00 0 0.00 9 0.00 11 1.40 0 0.00
RO99A Land to West of Equinox (Colchester Ave) Penylan Private 12/01240 Full 16/09/2013 Brown 14 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 14 0.20 0 0.00
RU71 599 Newport Road Rumney Private 04/00374 Outline Legal Agreement Brown 24 0.25 0 0.00 0 0.00 24 0.25 0 0.00
RV171 Wellington House, Wellington Street Riverside Private 08/00809 Full 16/09/2009 Brown 44 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 44 0.22 0 0.00

RV174 St Winefrides Nursing Home, 24 Romily Crescent Riverside Private 10/01326 Full 19/05/2011 Brown 76 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 76 1.03 0 0.00

RV183 3 - 5 Brook Street Riverside Private 10/00179 Full 03/07/2013 Brown 0 0.00 10 0.00 0 0.00 10 0.03 0 0.00
RV184 Pontcanna Pine, 200 King's Road Riverside Private 10/00232 Full 09/05/2011 Brown 0 0.00 14 0.00 0 0.00 14 0.07 0 0.00
RV199 4 Cathedral Road Riverside Private 13/01217 Full Legal Agreement Brown 14 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 14 0.01 0 0.00
RV200 Land to the West of Albert Street Riverside HA 13/01734 Full 20/02/2014 Brown 0 0.05 10 0.00 0 0.00 10 0.05 0 0.00
RV203 Riverside House, 31 Cathedral Road Riverside Private 13/00918 Full Legal Agreement Brown 20 0.09 0 0.00 0 0.00 20 0.09 0 0.00

SF39A Michaelston Road Criegiau/St 
Fagans Private 12/01810 RM 11/03/2013 Green 67 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 67 2.00 0 0.00

SF39B Michaelston Road Criegiau/St 
Fagans HA 12/01810 RM 11/03/2013 Green 16 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 16 1.00 0 0.00

SF40A Land North & West of Great House Farm Criegiau/St 
Fagans Private 13/00435 Outline 27/02/2014 Green 15 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 15 0.60 0 0.00

P
age 1496



SITE REF SITE LOCATION ELECTORAL 
DIVISION TENURE APPLICATION 

NUMBER
PERMISSION 

TYPE
DATE 

GRANTED
BROWNFIELD 
GREENFIELD

NOT 
STARTED 
(PLOTS)

NOT 
STARTED 

(AREA ha)

IN 
PROGRE

SS (Plots)

IN 
PROGRESS 
(AREA ha)

COMPLETE
D (PLOTS)

COMPLETED 
AREA (ha)

TOTAL 
(PLOTS)

TOTAL 
(AREA ha)

Completed 
Plots 2013-

14

Completed Area 
2013-14

SF40B Land North & West of Great House Farm Criegiau/St 
Fagans HA 13/00435 Outline 27/02/2014 Green 4 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 4 0.20 0 0.00

SM65A Land adj to Blooms Garden Centre Pontprennau/ 
Old St. M Private 13/01172 Outline Legal Agreement Green 46 1.60 0 0.00 0 0.00 46 1.60 0 0.00

SM65B Land adj to Blooms Garden Centre Pontprennau/ 
Old St. M HA 13/01172 Outline Legal Agreement Green 20 1.20 0 0.00 0 0.00 20 1.20 0 0.00

SP120 The Grosvenor Hotel, South Park Road Splott Private 11/02004 Full 12/04/2013 Brown 0 0.00 12 0.00 12 0.00 24 0.06 12 0.03
SP132 Land to South Side, Moorland Road Splott HA 13/01313 Full Legal Agreement Brown 15 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 15 0.13 0 0.00
SP133 Land at Sanquhar Street Splott HA 13/02674 Full Legal Agreement Brown 26 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 26 0.27 0 0.00
SP84 The Bayside, East Tyndall Street Splott Private 07/00333 Full Legal Agreement Brown 32 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 32 0.13 0 0.00

SP99A Splott Market, Lewis Road Splott Private 06/02474 RM 14/12/2006 Brown 0 0.00 15 0.00 77 0.00 92 0.45 0 0.00

TR133A Land between Crickhowell Road and Willowbrook 
Drive Trowbridge Private 10/01246 Outline 08/09/2010 Green 115 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 115 1.10 0 0.00

TR133B Land between Crickhowell Road and Willowbrook 
Drive Trowbridge HA 10/01246 Outline 08/09/2010 Green 50 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 50 0.02 0 0.00

TR140A Land off Crumlin Drive Trowbridge HA 08/01173 Full 04/03/2009 Brown 10 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 10 0.33 0 0.00
TR151 The Hendre Pub, 157 Hendre Road Trowbridge Private 13/01186 Full Legal Agreement Brown 15 0.18 0 0.00 0 0.00 15 0.18 0 0.00
TR85A Part area 11, St Mellons  (CCHA) Trowbridge HA 09/00796 Outline 21/01/2011 Green 56 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 56 1.43 0 0.00

TR87Di Part of Area 9, Land south of the Beacon Centre, 
Harrison Drive Trowbridge HA 08/02456 RM Legal Agreement Brown 15 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 15 0.30 0 0.00

WH71A Whitchurch Hospital Whit/Tongwynl
ais Private 10/02301 Outline 09/01/2014 Brown 248 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 248 6.70 0 0.00

WH71B Whitchurch Hospital Whit/Tongwynl
ais HA 10/02301 Outline 09/01/2014 Brown 82 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 82 2.21 0 0.00

TOTALS 8,343 5.92 589 0.00 693 0.00 9,625 108 31 0.97

P
age 1497



33 

 
Appendix 6: Heritage Assets Areas of Protection 
 
Policy EN9 (i): Cadw Scheduled Ancient Monuments in Cardiff 

Proposals 
Map 
Reference 

Monument Name 

1 Cae-yr-Arfau Burial Chamber 
2 Caer Castell Camp 
3 Caerau Camp 
4 Cardiff Castle and Roman Fort 
5 Castell Coch 
6 Castell Morgraig 
7 Castle Field Camp E Of Craig-Llywn 

8 Cooking Mound East of Taff Terrace 

9 Cross in Llandaff Cathedral 

10 Dominican Friary 
11 Ely Roman Villa 
12 Ely Tidal Harbour Coal Staithe Number One 

13 Five Round Barrows on Garth Hill 
14 Flat Holm Coastal and Anti-aircraft Defences 
15 Leckwith Bridge 

16 Llandaff Cathedral Bell Tower 
17 Llwynda-Ddu Camp 
18 Melingriffith Water Pump 

19 Morganstown Castle Mound 
20 Old Bishop's Palace, Llandaff 
21 Pen y lan Roman Site 

22 
Queen Alexandra Dock Harbour Defence Gun 
Emplacement 

23 Relict Seawall on Rumney Great Wharf 

24 St Mellons Churchyard Cross 
25 The Wreck of the "Louisa" 
26 Three Palmerstonian Gun Batteries, Flat Holm 
27 Twmpath, Rhiwbina 
28 Wenallt Camp, Rhiwbina 

 

 

  

Page 1498



34 

Policy EN9 (ii): Listed Buildings  

Refer to the online mapping portal http://ishare.cardiff.gov.uk/  

Page 1499



35 

Policy EN9 (iii): Conservation Areas in Cardiff 

Proposals 
Map 
Reference 

Name (designation date(s)) 

1 Cardiff Road Conservation Area (July 1975) 
2 Cathays Park Conservation Area (June 1978) 
3 Cathedral Road Conservation Area (April 1972; 

amended June 2007) 
4 Charles Street Conservation Area (October 1988) 
5 Church Road, Whitchurch (August 2006) 
6 Churchill Way Conservation Area (December 1991) 
7 Conway Road Conservation Area (June 2007) 
8 Gwaelod-y-Garth Conservation Area (Sept 1970; 

amended Oct 2007) 
9 Insole Court Conservation Area (May 1992) 
10 Llandaff Conservation Area (March 1968) 
11 Melingriffith Conservation Area (Aug 1975; amended 

Oct 2007) 
12 Mount Stuart Square Conservation Area (July 1980; 

amended June 2009) 
13 Oakfield Street Conservation Area (February 1992) 
14 Old St. Mellons Conservation Area (July 2007) 
15 Pentyrch (Craig-y-Parc) Conservation Area (July 1991; 

amended Oct 2007) 
16 Pentyrch (St. Catwg's) Conservation Area (Mar 1973; 

amended Oct 2007) 
17 Pierhead Conservation Area (June 1984; amended June 

2009) 
18 Queen Street Conservation Area (May 1992) 
19 Rhiwbina Garden Village Conservation Area (February 

1977) 
20 Roath Mill Gardens Conservation Area (January 1988) 
21 Roath Park Conservation Area (January 1973) 
22 Roath Park Lake and Gardens Conservation Area 

(November 1976) 
23 St. Fagans Conservation Area (July 2007) 
24 St. Mary Street Conservation Area (July 1975) 
25 Tredegarville Conservation Area (March 1981 amended 

Dec 2008) 
26 Windsor Place Conservation Area (August 1975) 
27 Wordsworth Avenue Conservation Area (February 1974) 

 

Policy EN9 (iv): Archaeologically Sensitive Areas in Cardiff 

Proposals 
Map 
Reference 

Area 

1 Llandaff 
2 St Fagans/Michaelstone-super-Ely 

Page 1500



36 

3 The City Centre 
4 The Wentloog Levels 

 

 

  

Page 1501



37 

Policy EN9 (v): Cadw / ICOMOS UK Registered Historic Parks 
and Gardens in Cardiff 

Proposals 
Map 
Reference 

Site Name 

1 Cardiff Castle and Bute Park 

2 Cathays Cemetery 

3 Cathays Park 

4 Cefn Mably 

5 Coryton House 

6 Craig y Parc 

7 Fairwood House, Cardiff 

8 Grange Gardens 

9 Insole Court 

10 Parc Cefn Onn 

11 Pontcanna Fields and Llandaff Fields 

12 Roath Park 

13 Rookwood Hospital 

14 Sophia Gardens 

15 St. Fagan's Castle 

16 Thompson's Park (Sir David's Field) 

17 Victoria Park 

18 Waterloo and Roath Mill Gardens 

19 Whitchurch Hospital 

 

Policy EN9 (v): Cadw/NRW Registered Landscapes of Historic 
Interest in Cardiff 

 

1 Gwent Levels (part City of Cardiff, part Newport CC) - Landscape of 
Outstanding Historic Interest 

 

http://www.ggat.org.uk  

 

Page 1502



38 

Policy EN9 (vi): Locally Listed Buildings of Merit and other 
features of interest  

Locally Listed Buildings: Please refer to the online mapping 
portal http://ishare.cardiff.gov.uk/  

Historic Environment Record (HER): The Glamorgan-Gwent 
Archaeological Trust's Historic Environment Record (HER) is the official 
register of archaeological sites in Southeast Wales. 
http://www.ggat.org.uk 

Page 1503



39 

Appendix 7: Designated Sites 
 

Proposals Map 
Reference 

Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) 

1 Caeau Blaen-Bielly 

2 Castell Coch woodlands and road section 

3 Coead Y Bedw 

4 Cwm Cydfin, Leckwith 

5 Ely Vally 

6 Fforestganol a Chwm Nofydd 

7 Flat Holm 

8 Garth Wood 

9 Glamorgan Canal / Long Wood 

10 Gwent Levels - Rumney and Peterstone 

11 Lisvane Reservoir 

12 Llanishen and Lisvane reservoir embankments 

13 Penylan Quarry 

14 Rhymney River Section 

15 Rumney Quarry 

16 Severn Estuary 

17 Ton Mawr and Taffs Well quarries 

18 Ty Du Moor 

 

Proposals Map 
Reference 

SPA and Ramsar 

1 Severn Estuary 

 

Proposals Map 
Reference 

Special Area of Conservation (SAC) 

1 Cardiff Beech Woods 

2 Severn Estuary 

 

Page 1504



40 

Proposals Map 
Reference 

Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation 
(SINC) 

1 Afon Clun 

2 Airshaft No 4 spoil tip 

3 Beach Sidings 

4 Blackweir & Dock Feeder 

5 Blaen Buellai Complex 

6 Blaengwynlais Quarry Fields 

7 Briwnant Footpath Field 

8 Briwnant Wood 

9 Briwnant-Isaf Wood 

10 Cadoxton & Trehafod Branch Line 

11 Caerau Lane Fields 

12 Caerau Wood 

13 Canton Common Ditch 

14 Cardiff Bay Wetland Reserve 

15 Cardiff Heliport Fields 

16 Castell Mor Craig Wood 

17 Castell-y-Mynach Wood 

18 Cath Cobb Wood 

19 Cathays Cemetery 

20 Cefn Mably Woods 

21 Cefn Onn Amenity Grassland 

22 Coed Gwernybwlau 

23 Coed Pant Tawel/Coedgae-fach 

24 Coed Rhiw'r Ceiliog 

25 Coed Transh yr Hebog 

26 Coed Tre Wern 

27 Coedbychan 

28 Coedcochwyn 

29 Coedgae Basset 

Page 1505



41 

30 Coedgae Fawr 

31 Coedifanbychan/Coedtirhwnt 

32 Coed-ty-Llwyd 

33 Coed-y-Briwnant 

34 Coed-y-Caeau 

35 Coed-y-Creigiau 

36 Coed-y-Cwar 

37 Coed-y-Felin 

38 Coed-y-Glyn 

39 Coed-y-Goetre 

40 Coed-y-Gof 

41 Coed-y-Graig 

42 Coed-y-Llan 

43 Coed-y-Trenches 

44 Coetgaepengam 

45 Coetgae-sych 

46 Cogan Spur 

47 Coryton Heronry Wood 

48 Coryton Interchange 

49 Craig Llanishen 

50 Craigbriwnant field 

51 Craig-Llwyn Road Wood 

52 Craig-y-Parc 

53 Craig-y-Sianel 

54 Creigiau Railway Fields 

55 Cwm Farm Pond & Streamside Copse 

56 Cwm Nofydd Grassland 

57 Cwmffynnonau Field 

58 Cwmrhyddgoed 

59 Discovery Wood 

60 Druidstone Road 

Page 1506



42 

61 Ely Northwest 

62 Fairwater Park 

63 Fforest-fach/Graig-goch 

64 Fforest-fawr 

65 Ffynnon-Dwym Wood 

66 Fishpond Wood 

67 Former Llantrisant No.1 Branch Line 

68 Former Penrhos Branch Line 

69 Former St. Fagans Branch line 

70 Foxfield 

71 Gabalfa Woods 

72 Glan Ely Wood 

73 Goitre-Fawr Ponds 

74 Grangemore Park 

75 Greenmeadow Wood 

76 Groes Faen Fen Meadow 

77 Groes Faen Wood 

78 Gwern-y-Bendy 

79 Gwern-y-Cegyrn 

80 Hailey Park 

81 Heath Wood & Pond 

82 Hendre Lake 

83 Hendre Lake West 

84 Hendre Road 

85 Henstaff Rhos Pasture 

86 Lamby North 

87 Lamby Salt Marsh 

88 Lamby Way 

89 Leckwith Pond & Marsh 

90 Leckwith Woods Viaduct 

91 Lisvane Reservoir Wood 

Page 1507



43 

92 Lisvane Station Wood 

93 Llanedeyrn Woodlands Complex 

94 Llanishen Brook (north) 

95 Llanishen Brook (south) 

96 Llanishen Reservoir 

97 Llanishen Reservoir Grassland and Scrub 

98 Llwyn-crwnganol Wood 

99 Llwyn-y-Pia Marsh 

100 Llys-y-coed 

101 Lower Rookery Wood 

102 M4 Junction 33 Spoil Tip 

103 Maerdy Woods 

104 Maes Mawr Wood 

105 Malthouse Wood 

106 Marshfield 

107 Melingriffith & Melingriffith Feeder 

108 Michaelston Marsh & Woods 

109 Mynydd Woods 

110 Nant Coslech 

111 Nant Cwmllwydrew 

112 Nant Dowlais 

113 Nant Fawr (north section) 

114 Nant Fawr Community Woodlands 

115 Nant Fawr Meadows 

116 Nant Glandulais 

117 Nant Henstaff 

118 Nant Mwlan Wood 

119 Nant Nofydd 

120 Nant Rhydlafer 

121 Nant Transh yr Hebog 

122 Nant Ty-draw 

Page 1508



44 

123 Nant Ty-draw Fach 

124 Nant-y-Briwnant 

125 Nant-y-Briwnant Complex 

126 Nant-y-Cesair 

127 Nant-y-Draenog 

128 Nant-y-Felin 

129 Nant-y-Fforest 

130 Nant-y-Glaswg 

131 Nant-y-Plac Complex 

132 Ocean Park South 

133 Pant Mawr Cemetery 

134 Pant y Gored Wet Woodland 

135 Parc Cefn Onn 

136 Pencoed Wood 

137 Pengam Moors 

138 Pentrebane Cottages Ponds 

139 Pentyrch Drove Track 

140 Plymouth Great Wood 

141 Pontprennau Wood 

142 Radyr Community Woodlands 

143 Radyr Cricket Ground and Fields 

144 Rhyd-y-Pennau Complex 

145 Rhymney Grassland East 

146 Rhymney River Valley Complex 

147 River Ely 

148 River Rhymney 

149 River Taff 

150 Riverside Wood 

151 Roath Brook 

152 Roath Park Lake 

153 Roath Park Wild Gardens 

Page 1509



45 

154 Rumney Great Wharf 

155 Scott Wood 

156 Slanney Woods & Garn 

157 Springmeadow 

158 Springmeadow Wood 

159 St Fagan's 

160 St Julians Forge Fields 

161 Swan Mear Wood 

162 Sweldon Wood 

163 The Garth 

164 Thornhill Primary School Pond 

165 Tidal Sidings 

166 Tongwynlais Oldfield Rd 

167 Tre Wern Field, Pentyrch 

168 Twmpath Fields 

169 Twynau Gwynion Field 

170 Ty Llwyd Meadows 

171 Tydu Marsh 

172 Tyla Farm Wood 

173 Tyn-y-Coed Complex 

174 Waterhall Plantation & Pond 

175 Wenallt Farm Fields 

176 Wenallt Road Field, Rhiwbina 

177 Wenallt Road North Fields 

178 Wentloog Industrial Park 

179 Wern Fawr South 

180 Whitchurch Golf Course Pond 

181 Whitchurch Green Fields 

 

 

 

Page 1510



46 

Proposals Map 
Reference 

Local Nature Reserve (LNR) 

1 Cardiff Bay Wetlands and Hamadryad Park 

2 Cwm Nofydd and Fforest Ganol 

3 Flat Holm 

4 Glamorganshire Canal 

5 Hermit Wood 

6 Howardian 

 

  

Page 1511



47 

Appendix 8: District and Local Centres 
 

Policy R4 refers to District Centres as defined on the Proposals Map: The 
District Centres detailed on the following plans are: 

(1) Albany Road/Wellfield Road 
(2) City Road 
(3) Clifton Street 
(4) Cowbridge Road East 
(5) Crwys Road/Woodville Road 
(6) Bute Street/James St 
(7) Merthyr Road, Whitchurch 
(8) Penarth Road/Clare Road 
(9) St Mellons 
(10) Thornhill 
(11) Whitchurch Road 

 

Policy R5 refers to Local Centres as defined on the Proposals Map: The 
Local Centres detailed on the following plans are: 

(1) Birchgrove 
(2) Bute Street (Loudoun Square) 
(3) Cathedral Road 
(4) Countisbury Avenue 
(5) Caerau Lane 
(6) Fairwater Green 
(7) Gabalfa Avenue 
(8) Grand Avenue 
(9) High Street, Llandaff 
(10) Maelfa, Llanedeyrn 
(11) Newport Road, Rumney 
(12) Rhiwbina Village 
(13) Salisbury Road 
(14) Splott Road 
(15) Station Road, Llanishen 
(16) Station Road, Llandaff North 
(17) Station Road, Radyr 
(18) Tudor Street 
(19) Willowbrook Drive 
(20) Wilson Road 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1512



5

2
6

1
4

45

41

36

Sub Sta

49

El

25

2

14

13

37

38

1
6

2
7

2
8

1
5

5
4

3

2

21

Bank

1
4

Shelter

20
0

2
16

3
1

3
6

5
7

75

21
1

19
9

211a

The Gaiety

20
5

S
he

lter

14.3m

8

22
7

3

6

7

24
2

3
9

4
8

4
3

42

5
4

195

166

16
4a

164b

22
9

166a

199

G
a
ra

g
e

43

14.6m

14.0m

6
8

1
5
4

16
4

5
1

7
0

11

El

1

1
6
7

1
8
1

Sub Sta

Garage

5

1

Rear of 138

Rear of 144

6

2
7

3
9

2

2
9

2

1
7

38

29

18
91

3
2

1
2
0

2

16.5m

19
7

19
3

201

1
6

5

168

Surgery

25
0

41

4
9

28

14.9m

28a

M
o
y

H
o
u
se

G
a
ra

g
e

Royal

9

George

TCB1

Sta

Sub

16

El

8
to 12

14

1
3
9

1
5
1

16
7

15
1

Gar
age 15

5

160

H
ous

e

14.3m

170

17
21
74

C
oac

h

The Gate

w
Par

k
Li
be

ra
l C

lu
b

1

PW

2
0
1

2
3
2

22
4

20
3

10

El S
ub

Sta

11

1
1
6

1
0
0

R
a
ve

n
s
co

u
rt

1
to

1
5

1
0
6

1
3
5

1
2
1

M
P

1
.7

5
2
3

1
5

3

42

69

75
73

77

65
63

72
76

69

66

62

59

63

14.9m

LB

64a

26

69b

2

1
5

1

1
4

61 to 67

59

Primary School

Albany

64

61

62

14.0m
59

49

49

50

37

1

2

51 to 57

13.7m

47

TCB

43

39

2
7

38

38

35

47

50

S
urg

ery

24

13.7m

32

22

34

33

14.6m

41

37

Tennis Courts

27

12

26

19

32

18

21

43

40

30

31

29

16

4a

2

11

4

1

32

20

Sunday

School

4

10

11

6
6a

1

2

2

158

144
to

14

150

25

15

24

13

1

26

12

1

2a

2

1a

1
6
9 PH

4
2

18

17

2

4

23 to 27

12

31

20

St Martin
's Church

7

V
ica

rag
e

14

26

11 to 17

19

21

1

2

1a

2a

21
2

21
4

20
2

14.3m

TCB to
19

6

17
5

2

1
6
7
a

Sub Sta

Surgery

17
6

18
0 17

817
9

El

19
4

9a

29

1
5

1a

14.3m

14.0m

2
6

2

1

53

63

58

65

14.9m

5
7

45

1
4

4

22
5

203 to 207

7

14.6m

(PH)

Hotel

LB

3
0

1
6

14.6m

Park

2
17

23
4

Conservative

Club

20
9

2
1
5

Nursery

P
L
A

S
N

E
W

Y
D

D
R

O
A

D

D
IA

N
A

S
T

R
E

E
T

D
O

N
A

L
D

S
T

R
E

E
T

KEPPOCH STREET

P
L
A

S
N

E
W

Y
D

D
S

Q
U

A
R

E

GLENROY STREET

A
L
F

R
E

D
S

T
R

E
E

T

KINCRAIG
STREET

ARRAN STREET

MOY ROAD

C
IT

Y
R

O
A

D

STRATHNAIRN STREET

A
R

A
B

E
L
L
A

S
T

R
E

E
T

ALBANY ROAD

IN
V

E
R

N
E

S
S

P
L
A

C
E

R
TH

C
O

TE
S
TR

EE
T

VIOLET ROW

M
A

C
K

IN
T

O
S

H
P

L
A

C
E

FITZROY STREET

R
IC

H
M

O
N

D
R

O
A

D

Centre:
Albany Road / Wellfield Road

Designation:

District Centre
Map 1 of 2

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

�

N
Page 1513



1

11

71

6
1 C

hurch

4

11.6m

112

61

D
e
f

8

14

11 51

20

to

3
1

3

24

11.3m

14.6m

41

2

37

14.3m

5
0

14.3m

153

5
1

6
1

4

4
0

1
4
9

C
R

E
D

B
d
y

4
1
a

2
a

15

29

21

1

14

2

72
46

3

26

15

38

5
6

P
e
n
yla

n

14

4

1

C
o
urt

10.7m
6

6
0

3
2

1

Kirkland

6
2

Court

U
nited

R
eform

ed

3
7

Wellfield

1

29Court

44

4
0

12.8m

Bank

1

Posts

LB

11.6m

TCB

76

75

13.7m

74

Claude Hotel

1
11

7
2

10.7m

10

12
1

138a

10.4m

26

14

132

167

157

138

132a130

11

6
3

12.8m

8
4

87

7
5

2

99

12.2m

1
08

118

9
6

1

120

145

128

13
2

11.3m

Garage

1
20

El

12
3

Posts

11
1

11.9m

Sub Sta

112

110

86

98

13.1m

100

75
a

1
3

1
b

12

11

133

1
3

1
b

1
9

131

110

63

51

1
2
9
c

129

Cinema

112

1
35

131a

12.8m
163

146

163

134

147

122

164

12.2m

Warehouse

Globe

158

102

The

TCB

Centre

150

166

153

138

150

121

131

12.5m

141

88

123

76

135

64

1

1
3

2
3

Bank

13.1m

B
a
nk

12.5m

94

92

PH

12.8m

52

114

109

129

126

117

111

124

136

101

El

Sta

80

107

Sub
Warehouse

99

68

101

13.1m

2

102

87

95

1
a

97

1

93

112

100

85

73

105

3
9

13.4m

1
3

2
6

1
4

3
8

2
5

46

81

75

78

90

85
2

52
50

13.4m

54

83

30

16

2
2

1
4

2

Victoria Ct

3
9

49

2
7

5

34

6

83

32

5

11

1

12

41

19

2

9

1

1

2
9

1

2
5

1
3

4
2

31
1

21

22

12

35

7
0

4
1

6
8

5
8

163

8
5

23

9
6

8
2

30

7
3

14.3m

2

14

35

2
3

38
64

1
5

54
2
6

3

42

69

75

48

73

81
79

77

61

65

63

72

88

76

69

66

62

64a

4
1

69b

W
ELLFIELD

PLAC
E

P
E
N
-Y

-LA
N

R
O

A
D

C
L
A

U
D

E
R

O
A

D

C
O

T
T
R

E
L
L

R
O

A
D

ALBANY ROAD

CLAUDE
PLACE

W
E

L
L
F

IE
L
D

R
O

A
D

M
A
R
LB

O
R
O

U
G

H
R
O
A
D

GLENROY STREET

KEPPOCH STREET

STRATHNAIRN STREET

B
A

L
A
C

L
A
V

A
R

O
A

D

B
A

N
G

O
R

S
T

R
E

E
T

A
N

G
U

S
S

T
R

E
E

T

W
E

L
L
F
IE

L
D

R
O

A
D

ESSIC
H

STRE
ET

TULLO
C

H
STR

EET

A
N

G
U

S
S

T
R

E
E

T

B
A
N

G
O

R
S
T
R

E
E
T

BANGOR
LANE

B
AN

G
O

R
C
O

U
R
T

LO
C
H

A
B
E
R

S
T
R
E
E
T

A
L
F

R
E

D
S

T
R

E
E

T

Centre:
Albany Road / Wellfield Road

Designation:

District Centre
Map 2 of 2

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

�

N
Page 1514



1a

5

Shelter

1
a

25

2

14

13

37

38

2

21

Bank

Shelter

20
0

2
16

21
1

19
9

211a

The Gaiety

20
5

S
he

lter

14.3m

8

22
7

3

6

7

24
2

195

166

16
4a

164b

22
9

166a

199

G
a
ra

g
e

14.0m

1
5
4

16
4

1

1
6
7

R
ic

h
m

o
n
d

A
p
a
rt

m
e
n
ts

Rear of 138

Rear of 144

56

70

58

18
91

3
2

1
2
0

16.5m

19
7

19
3

201

1
6

5

168

Surgery

25
0

Royal

9

George

TCB1

1
3
9

1
5
1

10
8

98to10
0

to11
0

16
7

15
1

Gar
age

15
5

160

H
ous

e

14.3m

170

17
21
74

C
oac

h

The Gate

32

44

33

13.7m

N
ew

Par
k

Li
be

ra
l C

lu
b

134
to

142

Russell

Court

1 to 11

64

Hall

21

52

85

1

109

College

Baptist

97

76

14.0m

1

45

PW

Depot

90

13.7m

60

125

2
0
1

2
3
2

22
4

20
3

10

El S
ub

Sta

23

20

11

Church

73

TCB

75

69

13.1m7
9

8
6

8
3

78
8
0

8
5

1
1
6

13.7m

8
8

1
0
0

R
a
ve

n
s
co

u
rt

1
to

1
5

1
0
6

37

Sunday

8

Sch
ool

39

1
3
5

1
2
1

El

Sub

Sta

Richmond

Square

2

37a

Chy

81

78

13

Bowling Greens

14.6m

Mackintosh Sports Club

90
to

94

96

17

14

39

30

65

63

72

88

76

69

66

62

59

63

14.9m

LB

64a

64

61

62

14.0m
59

49

49

50

37

38

35

47

50

S
urg

ery

24
22

FS

33

14.6m

41

37

Tennis Courts

38

91
to

99

10
2

to
1
06

10
1

10
3

G
a
ra

g
e

11
8

116

11
8

13.1m

1

11
4

1
16

2

11
2

27

12

26

19

32

18

128

1b

LB

132

1

13.4m

2

26

5

Gara
ge

11
3

11
1

11
7

11
5

126

12
0

21

43

40

30

31

29

16

4a
2a

2

11

4

1

32

20

Sunday

School

2

Garage

11
9

Hall

Garage

12
7

11
9
a

Warehouse

12
3

12
5

12
1

12
1a

4

10

11

6

6a

1

2

13
9

2

G
ar

age

Po
ta

to

P
ro

ce
ss

in
g

P
la
nt

158

144
to

148

150

73

12.8m

PH

4

5

50

1
4

24

1

9

25

15

24

13

1

26

12

1

2a

2

1a

1
6
9 PH

18

4

12

20

St Martin
's Church

7

V
ica

rag
e

14

26

11 to 17

19

21

1

2

1a

2a

21
2

21
4

20
2

14.3m

TCB to
19

6

17
5

2

1
6
7
a

Sub Sta

Surgery

17
6

18
0 17

817
9

El

19
4

9a

14.3m

14.0m2

1
4

4

22
5

203 to 207
7

(PH)

Hotel

LB

1
6

14.6m

Park

2
17

23
4

Conservative

Club

20
9

2
1
5

PEARSON
STREET

P
L
A

S
N

E
W

Y
D

D
R

O
A

D

KEPPOCH STREET

P
L
A

S
N

E
W

Y
D

D
S

Q
U

A
R

E

GLENROY STREET

KINCRAIG
STREET

TAVIS
TOCK

STREET

C
ITY

R
O
A
D

R
U

SS
ELL

STR
EE

T

ARRAN STREET

BED
FO

RD
STREE

T

C
IT

Y
R

O
A

D

STRATHNAIRN STREET

ALBANY ROA

R
IC

H
M

O
N

D
R

O
A
D

N
O

R
TH

C
O
TE

LA
N
E

N
O

R
TH

C
O

TE
S
TR

EE
T

ER ROAD

R
IC

H
M

O
N

D
R

O
A

D

Centre:
City Road

Designation:

District Centre
Map 1 of 2

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

�

N
Page 1515



1
a

6

2
5

10
8

98to10
0

to11
0

S
h
e
lter

S
helter

1

28

Shelter

35 to
43

ED
Bdy

CR

9

10.7m

11.0m

47

Longcross Court

45

El Sub Sta

40

38

31

35

11.3m

College

31

33

44

11.6m

30

43

6

rin
ity

Court

47

45 11.6m

2

Hafren

FS

47

28

Cardiff Tertiary College

/ Coleg Glan

22

53

12.2m

23

W
e
st

G
ro

ve

1to13

C
ou

rt

31

CourtRich
mond

5

1

18 to
20

4
5

4
1

5
4

5
5

5
2

1

12.2m

5
3

4

12.5m

1a
1

Hall

5
0

1
9

Sub Sta

El

9

7

10

8

6

48a

48c48b

6

63
to

57

1
3

1
91
7

1
6

11.9m

1

14

1
0

1
5

6

C
ourt

C
ow

per

5

3

4

2

1

Kings College

St James' C
hurch

1

3

1
5

5

4

1

W
al
k

1

7

13

S
he

lle
y

Shelley Gardens

7

1
4

8

Centre

Playground

Community

2
to

12

O
ffices

16

G
overnm

ent

Garage

2
6

18

22
20

1
1
.9

m

8

12

9

G
arage

58to

Shakespeare
C
ourt

3
4

1
7

4
0

3
6

3
8

1
5

T
C

B

44

11.6m

4
2

46

4
8

Club

7

27

Place

22

Dylan

20

23

25

32

33

31
34 24

28

29
30

1

26

7

Aska
m

Court

3
4

1

4
2

35

1 to 3

13

12.8m

28

1

22

Posts

30
24

18

20

14

26

32

167

2
2

15

47

14

4
4

36

Garage

12

90
to

94

96

88

52

86

12.5m

84

1

LB

General Buildings

1
1

to
1
3

1
9

Club

29

1
to

2
7

P
a
s
c
a
ll

C
o
u
rt

5
0

5
4

11.6m

5
2

3
1

11.6m

64

PH

6
6

1

TCB

4
7

to
6
1

St Peter's Court

El Sub Sta

PH

78

76

7
2

80

67

74

69

7
0

82

71

Club

73

1

16

4

1

3

75

El S
ub Sta

81

79

77

85

83

8
7

12
4

2

12.2m

1

YMCA

8

5

1

St Peter's
RC

Church

P
resb

y

Hall

Tk

5

12.2m

1to4

26

to

Penford
Court

18

13

8

25

9

112

6 10

11

22

1

5

3
12

714

8

4

13

12

18

Rich
mond Court

21

19

1716

23

20

15
24

37

49

1
6

29

30

34
27

36

25

33

35

26

31

42

37

46

38

28

44
45

40

32

41

48

4

91
to

99
TCB

89

10
2

to
1
06

10
1

10
3

G
a
ra

g
e

11
8

116

11
8

13.1m

1

11
4

1
16

2

11
2

Garage

Gara
ge

11
3

11
1

11
7

11
5

12
0

2

Garage

11
9

Hall

Garage

40

73

12.8m

PH

4

5

50

61

1
4

1

9

T
redega

rv il le

11

29

B
aptist C

h
urch

42

45

El Sub Sta
LB

COW
PER

PLACE

CLIVE

VERE STREET

O
X

F
O

R
D

S
T
R

E
E

T

H
A

R
D

Y
P

L
A

C
E

PLACE

C
A

S
T
L
E

L
A

N
E

B
E

D
F
O

R
D

P
L
A

C
E

B
YR

O
N

STR
E
ET

C
IT

Y
R

O
A

D

M
ILT

O
N

S
TR

E
E
T

ST PETER'S
STREET

SH
AKESPEARE

STR
EET

TALW
O

R
TH

STR
EE

T

PEARSON
STREET

PENLLIN
E

STREET

B
E

D
F
O

R
D

S
T
R

E
E

T

TAVIS
TOCK

STREET

THE
PARADE

W
E

S
T

G
R

O
V

E

THE
W

ALK

OXFORD
LANE

NEWPORT ROAD

E
A

S
T

G
R

O
V

E

C
IT

Y
R

O
A

D

THE
PARADE

E
A
S
T

G
R

O
V

E
LA

N
E

ST
PETER'S

STREET

Centre:
City Road

Designation:

District Centre
Map 2 of 2

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

�

N
Page 1516



64

66

1to6

1
to

6

1to6

1

Clifton

House

Shelter
14

5

25

26

93

63

1

58

56

59

57

36

49

24

4637

25

5010
5

2

14

10
3

1

46

13

11.3m

10
2

13
10

1

96
to

99

2

14

51

87

16
14

Shelte
r

PH

11.3m

17

12

7

10
0

15

1

29

1

21

36

16

101

Community Centre

Gas Governor

St G
erm

ans
M

ews

Phoenix

4
5

4
0

50

4
3

24

11.3m

33
to

35

1

12

1

36

13

6to10

Centre

1
13

Community

11
2

15

10
4

El Sub Sta

41

40

1

7

420

21

24

16

Bank

11
8

3
0

32

31

t0
2
9

11.6m

27

11

8

1

12

St G
erm

ans
Court

5

1

12
6

1
27

12
2

1
28

12
5

11

12
3

23

22
13

53

59

1

19

6

16

20

13
2

1
33

1
39

1
36

11.6m

1
37

1
38

10

1

17

6

S
ikh

T
em

ple
7
7

69

26

8
5

11.6m 27a
27b

16

19

11

PO

10

6
7

5
1

19

57

55

Vicarage

School

Adamsdown

Primary

Cross

5

St Germ
an's

Church

47

3

12.2m

5
2

1

1

27

2

13

26

2

14

Hall

1

1
4

1
2

11

4

42

36

7

1to5

Trinity

6
6

11.9m

62

26

15

60

2
3

56

1to10

11.3m

5
4

22

5
7

Clifto
n Court

7
1

73

5

25

Coach

37

29

3
8

2

The

House

60

Mews

6
5

6
4

Garage

16

11.6m

El Sub Sta

47

5
4 5

0

4
9

5
7

5
2

51

5
5 53

57

5
6

58

41

49

58

32

37

46

44

47

25
27

33

31

Hodge Centre

35

48

37

23

Sir Julian

1

21

11.9m

15

33

29

36

31B
31C

31A

24

31D

27

15

14

Club

22to32

34

Conse
rv

ativ
e

Mille
nnium Court

11.6m

10

11.9m

13b

5

9 to
 11

1 to 8

8

3

2

11

13a

18

116a

116

Surgery

1
0

14
2

1
4

1
1

14
1

2

TCB

11.9m

1

5

1
47

11

2

11.9m

19

PH
2

6
7

94

5

3 4

8

U
pp

er
C

lifton

S
tre

et

15
5

11.6m

104S
ur

g
er

y

15

16

10

12

14
b

14

7

Police
Station

1
43

11.9m

1

1
3

to
2
4A

s
h

w
o

o
d

C
o
u
rt

1
to

1
2

8

6
7

64

St Peter's RC Primary School

Library

12.5m

Shelter

14
7

8

2

11.9m

1

3

12.2m

14
9a

P
H

TCB

5

Stone

3

The Elms

Church

Trinity

1

Centre

Methodist
11.9m

to
30

25

1
to

12

13
to

24

31
to

36

N
or

w
oo

d
C
ou

rt

14
5

46

27

24

6
3

23

27

FOUR ELMS ROAD

C
L
IF

T
O

N
S

T
R

E
E

T

BROADWAY

SAPPHIR
E STREET

C
Y
R
IL

C
R
E
S
C
E
N

T

EMERALD
STREET

Z
IN

C
S
T
R
E
E
T

TIN
STREET

IRON STREET

TOPAZ
STREET

RUBY
STREET

C
L
IF

T
O

N
S
T
R

E
E

T

DIA
M

OND
STREET

SILVER
STREET

P
IE

R
C

E
F
IE

L
D

P
L
A

C
E

COPPER
STREET

GOLD STREET

SUN STREET

LEAD
STREET

STAR
STREET

M
E

T
A

L
S

T
R

E
E

T

S
Y

S
T

E
M

S
T
R

E
E

T

O
R

B
IT

S
T
R

E
E

T

S
Y

S
T

E
M

S
T
R

E
E

T

O
R

B
IT

S
T
R

E
E
T

Centre:
Clifton Street

Designation:

District Centre
Map 1 of 1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

�

N
Page 1517



2

1

1
4

2
6

6
4

5
9

1

2
4

13

12

24

27

4
7

8.2m

4
6

2

5
6

4
8

1

3
8

2

13

15

2
8

1

14

27

3
0

28

14

13

14

28

39

40

40

39

27

28

40

3
3

A

A B

B

8.5m

1
7

3
5

1
9

4
9

5
1

8
4

7
2

4
9
A

4
7

6
9

5
7

Depot

6
2

5
0

G
a
ra

g
e

The Lansdowne

1 to 14

7
1

8
4

6
2

7
4

4
la

4
0

4
1

100

106

2
9

2
8

8.2m

101

8.2m

196

5

4
0

3
1

1
9

Tank

CANTON

Church

Chapter Arts
Centre

Shelter

Club

Police

Station

299

305

8.5m

a

196

196

1
5

2
9

8.5m

1
2

1
0

2

2
0

Bresbyteraidd

2

1
6

Cymru)

2

1

2

1
to

8

75

C
w

rt -y-

the Elderly

Court

Home for

Carmarthen

Alexandra

Court6

8

C
a
rm

a
rth

e
n

317

202
204 to 208

198

307to315

(Eglwys

Car Park

3

Salem

11

2

2
1

Ty Canna

4
0

Chapter Arts Centre

Car Park

5
0

C
o
u
rt

1

4
1

6
8

5
4

4

41
a

9.1m

(PH)

The Insole

1
2

8.5m

327

220
218

210

327ab

22

Car Park

9.8m

Car Park
1
1

1

44

23

13

32

44

3
1

32

21

41

4
0

5

1

Church

School

Uniting

Sunday

8

10

234

234

Canton

8.5m

PO

a

El

5
1

Sub

Sta

1
6

2

331

TCB

236

236238 b

236

a

339

F
arch

n
ad

7
52

14

1b

1

3

1a

36

26

1

22

9

5
4

6
1

4
6

6
2

2 2a

6
3

5
to

6
7
0

22

8
0

School House

School
Gymraeg

Treganna

9.1m

36

46

39

9
1

9

11

5
to

8

a

3

2
0

1
01

MP

240

2

238

48

1
8

54

4
0

41

2
8

43

D
e

p
o
t

7

8

5

6
1 to 4

9
10

Cardigan

Court

4
0

5
0

1
9

6
0

1
7

3
1

5
to

2
0

3
0

5

Cwrt Treganna

4

3
c

3
a

1

4 2

1

17

9 4

1

1
6

2

70

1
4

1

66
68

9

1
1

Shelter363

351

349

2
3

3
8

2
6

3
5

1

12

55c

5
5b

4
3

5
5a

Radnor Court

4

3

2

1

5
0

1
c

1

90

80

1
a

3
1
d

1
b

2
c

2
a

2

1
6

1
5

Sub

Sta

El

H
a
m

ilt
o
n

C
o
u
rt

3
1

10.4m4
3

2
8

4
0

1
2

10.4m

1
1

2
1

1
4

1

100

4
2
b

375

2

379

373

1

PH

377

MARKET

D
E

N
T

O
N

R
O

A
D

A
L
E

X
A

N
D

R
A

R
O

A
D

ETON PLACE

CUMBERLAND STREET

WESTMORELAND STREET

T
H

E
O

B
A

L
D

R
O

A
D

HANOVER STREET

CARMARTHEN STREET

G
L
A

M
O

R
G

A
N

S
T

R
E

E
T

G
L
A

M
O

R
G

A
N

S
T

R
E

E
T

HARVEY STREET

M
A

R
K

E
T

R
O

A
D

T
H

E
O

B
A

L
D

R
O

A
D

M
E

W
S

BRUNSWICK STREET

S
T

C
A

N
N

A
C

L
O

S
E

ANGLESEY STREET

CARDIGAN STREET

P
E

N
-Y

-P
E

E
L

R
O

A
D

R
A

D
N

O
R

R
O

A
D

COWBRIDGE ROAD EAST

B
E

D
A

R
O

A
D

B
E

D
A

R
O

A
D

N
O

R
T

H
U

M
B

E
R

L
A

N
D

S
T

R
E

E
T

Centre:
Cowbridge Road East

Designation:

District Centre
Map 1 of 3

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

�

N
Page 1518



15

LB

5
2

201

Dorothy Le

P
i c

to
n

W
a
l k

1

9

4
7

13

12

5
1

14

211

1
5

1
2

1
1

17

Graham
Walk

14

2

1
6

6

1

Murray Walk

A
lb

e
rt

W
a
lk

1

T
C

B
s

4
8

7.0m

7.0m

229
217219

17

8
48
8

8
69
0

8
0

8
2

2
5

1
3

1

to239

Shelter

241243

TCB

PH

Bank

237

Car Park

El

1
0

28

C
o
lb

o
u
rn

e
W

a
lk

11

Sub7.0m

Community Hall

Playground

Sta

1

6

249

7.0mBank

6.7m

19

1
2
a

1
2

253

E
D

B
d
y

25

18

38

C
R

Post

22

14

2
0

46

12

St John's

PH

Garage

Court

1 to 9

9 2

11

1

2

7.3m

1
to

3

St Johns Mews

1

5

1
3

1

26

14

1

8
2 7.0m

1

2

2

11

1

7.6m

2

2
1

3
1

1
2

7

10

25

2

1

13

8

St John's Church

The Old Coach House

1
1

2
1

3
8

LB

1
4

2
6

1

1
9

2
4

8.2m

1
0

213

Car Park

215

2

116

126

78

51

7.9m 90

S
t M

ary's
R
C

S
cho

ol

61

132

1
a

128

House

S
e
ve

rn
C

o
u
rt

1
to

1
0

7.9m

4

Amberly

1
to

5

7.9m

2
7

2
8

1
6

7.9m

7
6

75

5
2

6
4

2
5

4
0

3
5

4
1

29a-29c

2
9

Sunday

Church

School

Calvary

134136

Baptist

1 to 5

4
1
a

El Sub Sta

4
3

1

Severn Square

Junior

School

138

Severn Road

to

Madras

Taleemul Quaran

53

6
5

5
3

51a

54

59

51

Severn Road

39

42

49

Mosque

1a

152

Infants

Chy

146

158

251

PH

20

11

2

19

2a

Nursery

10

160

Tank

259

Posts

Post

164

162

30

25

21

29
5

2

3

6

3
0

4

1

3
1

269

Car Park

174

Posts

170

176
172

PC

7

9

11

12
10

13

16

8

66

13

16
14

64

15

271
275

7.3m

Bank

4

186

(PH)
The Canton

8

2

T
C

B

279
8
.2

m

2
7

1
7

3
2

8
.2

m

2
0

4
2

9

C
R

E
D

B
d
y

3

Bank

Hotel

Corporation

1

190
(PH)

5

194

Library

El Sub Sta

Chy

8.2m

291

1
a

TCBS

Free

1
8

C
e
n
tre

1
0

(PH)

Butchers Arms

4
1

5
1

A
d
u
lt 3

1

E
d
u
c
a
tio

n

68

2

196

2

5

2
4

293

2
a

4
0

24

8.5m

2

5
4

5
0

56 1

Olive Court

1
9

Tank

CANTON

Church

Chapter Arts
Centre

Shelter

Club

Police

Station

299

1

11314353

6
1

S
E

V
E

R
N

R
O

A
D

W
Y
N

D
H
A

M
C

R
E
S
C

E
N

T

P
IC

T
O

N
P

L
A

C
E

WELLINGTON STREET

A
L
B

E
R

T
S

T
R

E
E

T

D
ELT

A
ST

COWBRIDGE ROAD
EAST

ORCHARD PLACE

G
R

A
Y

S
T
R

E
E

T

PHILIP
STREET

GLYNNE STREET

SPRINGFIELD PLACE

C
H

U
R

C
H

R
O

A
D

EARLE PLACE

MAJOR ROAD

W
E

L
B

Y
R

O
A

D

ANSTEE

C
O

U
R

T

G
R

A
Y

L
A

N
E

GRAY STREET

L
IB

R
A

R
Y

S
T

R
E

E
T

L
L
A

N
D

A
F

F
R

O
A

D

MARKET PLACE

WELBY LANE

CRESCENT

ST
CRESCENT

P
E

N
L

L
Y

N
R

O
A

D

ST

D
E

N
T

O
N

R
O

A
D

JOHN'S

JOHN'S

TON PLACE

Centre:
Cowbridge Road East

Designation:

District Centre
Map 2 of 3

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

�

N
Page 1519



2

9

Adult P

Posts
7.3m

2
3

1
4

3
4

3
6

2
6

3
2

33

30

7.0m

43

1to8

Mews

Wellington

107to111

32

El Sub

28

30

2

25

1

25

24

11

37

7.6m

36

25

49

12

24

37

48

61

7.9m

60

51

8.2m

36

34

Posts

72

87

82

73

7.6m

48

Priory

61

3 1

7.3m

5
46

Hospital

1 to 18

StDavidsMansions

2
1

1
9

29

2
4

2
3

2
0

27

2
2

26

61 59
63

42

47

132

3
6

3
2

3
1 3
5

3
3

54

3
4

7

4

Wellington

Court

48 to 50

1

67

68

70

71

72
69

4
2

4
1

4
0

3
7 3
9

3
8

2
3 5
6

9
8Car Park

1
0

144

1

28

TCB

19
18

9

14

5

25

60

3

2

66

129to133

52

18

48

13

51
49

Health
Centre

54

53

52
50

Riverside

41

37

50

46

32

54

E
dinb

urgh
C

ourt
27

El Sub Sta

45

36

23

43

10

2

45 4
7

4
6

1

4
4

Surgery

Court

68

1

4

St David's

PH

Club

Kings Mews 1
to

5

72
70

2

King's

(PH)

Castle

147149

2
7

2
5

25b

4
2

Gerra
rd

Court

1

2

1to7

Port

House

St Mary

3
8 t o

3
6

3
4

RC Church

of the Angels

2
9

7.6m

2
6

2
4

89

6
to

1
0

7.0m

1
5

1
4

7
a

7

2
2

2
4

1
3

6
4

Hall

8.2m

54

5
0

7.0m

30

C
a
nt on

C
o
u
rt

5
1

33

3
4

1

163

80

157

2

76

6.7m

1
0

1

8

2

29

15

16

30

44

43

5
7

2
6

165167169

4
3

2
3

69 to 77

2
7

2
8

4
5

5
2

C
a
nton

 C
o
urt

1
5

59

2

6

2

1

51

P

1

16

69

181

191

201 PH

HomeDorothy Lewis

2
2

60 to 68

P
i c

to
n

W
a
l k

7

5
9

1

6

1

1
4

5

1

Dugdale Walk

6

9

13

12

5
5

5
1

14

6

Murray Walk

Post

4
1

6

5
3

1
2

2
2

1
4

1
0

7.0m 8

2
0

16

84

LB

b 82

106

82

6.7m

173

96 94
98

92

6
4

42

54

3
9

7.3m

32

House
The Crown

15

Surgery 2
7

2

1
4

7.3m

66

Car Park

116

78

51

61

6
5

MAN

COWBRIDGE

L
E

W
I S

S
T

R
E

E
T

WYNDHAM STREE

HAMILTON STREET

TALBOT STREET

S
O

U
T

H
M

O
R

G
A

N
P

L
A

C
E

PLAC
E

WELLINGTON STREET

W
Y

N
D

H
A

M

WELLS STREET LANE

A
N

N
S

T
R

E
E

T

M
O

R
G

A
N

S
T

N
O

R
T

H

STREET

BLACKSTONE

K
IN

G
'S

R
O

A
D

W
Y
N

D
H
A

M
C

R
E
S
C

E
N

T

ROLLS STREET

WELLINGTON STREET

Centre:
Cowbridge Road East

Designation:

District Centre
Map 3 of 3

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

�

N
Page 1520



153to
157

Shelter

1

3

1

3

26

29

29

30

41

18

Lucas

Court

56

2

3

4

El Sub Sta

1

27

30

Li
on

C
ou

rt

16.8m

24

46

55

44

42

Medallion House

62

55

TCB

16.5m

1 to 8

Crwys Mews

65

C
B

D
an

ie
l H

ou
se

52

57

56

D

56

A

La
ng

la
nd

C
ou

rt

School

75

1
to

4

37

64

Sunday

G
arage

81

67

65

64

17.4m

68

1

to 66

Bank

1b

1a

12

Cathays
Presbyterian

1
4

74

47

49

Church
Of W

ales

80

97

83

92

Works

22

44

29

27

43

55

45

56

46

48

39

49

32

36
34

32

38

66

65

66

57

16

22

45

Hall

20

48

29

31

47

34

24

36

33

35

Sylric

1 to
10

Cadogan

Court

House

96
a

96

1

TCB

94b

20.1m

2

72

109

60

LB

PO

19.2m

1

2

15

115

98

115a

113

111

94

G
a
ra

g
e

14

71

84

18

49

39
11

9

12
1

a

123
11

9a

123

112

117

83
8

27

10
18.6m

29

129

9

18

131to
141

17

114

21.3m

122

85

17

9

E
l
S
u
b

S
ta

10

151

143

132

E
l S

ub
S
ta

1

23.2m

El Sub
Sta

G
a
ra

g
e

86a

2

88

95

105

86

90

1
6
0

1
7
2

1
8
6

2
0
0

2
1
0

2
1
8

1
8

8

24.1m

21.9m

CATHAYS

23

13

12

34

25.6m

36

2

22

12

1

13

25

1
4

142

11

1

2

134

14
4a

146

148

144

1
5
9

2
2
0

2
a

150

16
3

25.9m

25.3m

16.2m

48

71

99

11
5

12
3 

to
 1

27

El Sub
Sta

2

10
1

128

T
C

B

LB

96

91

12
1

11
9

50

12
9

15.8m

11
7

11
1

S
t
T
e
ilo

's
C

hu
rc

h

10
3

16.2m

97

12

Sunday

School

12

13

24

14

24

26

23

391

10
5

In
st

itu
te

10
7

11
3

1

118

2

10

16.8m

25

17

Posts

15

5

40

29

38

52

2

Club

110

Woodville Court

10
6

6

11

10

Works

M
e
th

o
di

st

16.5m

43

C
a
th

ay
s

C
h
u
rc

h

53

Jo
h
n

T
ru

el
ov

e

H
o
u
se

7
4

8

9
5

3

12

1

9
5

Vicarage

8

Annibynwyr )

11

9

13

(Addoldy
yr

Eglwys M
inny

Street

Garage

3

2

12

5

1

G
ar

ag
e

53

51

54

Posts

16.8m

30 S
A

H
al

l

42

21

17.1m

Posts

2

6

26

9

28

2

61

3

23

6
7

The

Courtyard

D
al

to
n

C
ou

rt

1
to

8

1
1
6

a

64

54

50

41

53

10

34

35

45

24

77

1

17.7m

2

74

65

44

45

56

35

57

The

74

1
2
2

62

67

86

Day Centre

W
orks

87

79

84

6
9

9
8

1
1
0

17.4m

1

17.4m

Flora

(PH)

1
3
4

18.0m

8
7

1
0
3

8
5

LB

1
3
8

Club

19.8m

TCB

1
5
2

1
4
8

G
O

W
E
R

S
T
R

E
E

T

DAN
IEL

STREET

L
U

C
A

S
S
T
R

E
E
T

FLORENTIA
STREET

W
H

IT
C

H
U

R
C

H
P
L
A
C

E

ROBERT
STREET

D
A

L
T
O

N
S

T
R

E
E

T

M
AY

STR
EET

CRW
YS

R
OAD

SPENCER
STR

FLO
RA

STREET

D
A
L
T
O

N
S
T
R

E
E
T

G
L
A
D

Y
S

S
T
R

E
E

T

M
INNY

STREET

Y STREET

F
A
N

N
Y

S
T
R

E
E
T

M
AY

STR
EET

C
A

T
H

A
Y

S
T

E
R

R
A

C
E

Centre:
Crwys Road / Woodville Road

Designation:

District Centre
Map 1 of 2

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

�

N
Page 1521



C
R

E
D

B
d
y

16a

14
3

160

14
5

15
9

156

1

Wks

2

13

11

2

1

12

2

1
39

1

2a

Garage

16a

Hall

The

8

9

1

6

17

1

1
68

180

23

108

98

E
l
S
u
b

S
ta

1
15

14

9
5

8
5

3

Works

SL

SL

16

15

Shelter

1

11a

13
3a

13
3b

30

30a

30b

3

1

13

3

26

11

14

29

27

30

41

18

Lucas

Court

56

2

3

4

El Sub Sta

1

27

30

Li
on

C
ou

rt

16.8m

24

55

42

Medallion House

62

55

TCB

16.5m

1 to 8

Crwys Mews

C
B

D
an

ie
l H

ou
se

52

56

D

A

La
ng

la
nd

C
ou

rt

1
to

4

37

64

G
arage

81

67

65

64

17.4m

68

1

to 66

Bank

1b

1a

47
49

80

97

83

92

Works

Sylric

1 to
10

Cadogan

Court

House

96
a

96

1

TCB

94b

2

72

109

60

LB

PO

19.2m

115

98

115a

113

111

94

G
a
ra

g
e

71

18

49

11
9a

117

88

2

18

(Presbytn)

24

10
7

Kings Way

95
Depot

15.2m

9
4

7
3

7
8

1
2
0

80

Day Centre

15.8m

Station

12
3

1a

2

16.5m

Police

76
Scrap Yard

6
6

65

75

77

144

18

T
h
e

C
rw

ys
(P

H
)

150

32

13
5

29

28

27

Crwys House

11
1

11
3

114

27
29

Thesiger
Mews

86

100

97

85

82

44

56

53

46

41

36

16.2m

48

15.8m

61

41

51

72

71

74

73

62

39

99

11
5

12
3

to
12

7

El Sub
Sta

2

10
1

140

13
3

128

T
C

B

86

7
4

LB

96

91

12
1

11
9

50

12
9

15.8m

11
7

11
1

S
t
T
e
ilo

's
C

hu
rc

h

10
3

16.2m

97

7
6

12

Sunday

School

1
5

12

13

24

14

24

26

23

391

16.2m

48

6
0

10
5

In
st

itu
te

10
7

11
3

1

118

2

42

10

16.8m

25

17

Posts

15

5

40

29

38

52

2

Club

110

Woodville Court

10
6

6

11

10

Works

52

2

M
e
th

o
di

st

16.5m

43

C
a
th

ay
s

C
h
u
rc

h

53

Jo
h
n

T
ru

el
ov

e

H
o
u
se

7
4

8

9
5

3

12

1

9
5

3
9

40

28

27

5

9

Vicarage

1
6.

2
m

89

8

Annibynwyr )

11

9

13

(Addoldy
yr

Eglwys M
inny

Street

Garage

3

2

12

5

1

G
ar

ag
e

53

51

54

Posts

16.8m

30 S
A

H
al

l

42

2b

81

73

71

63

53

21

17.1m

Posts

2

6

26

9

28

1

5

6

2

2a

4

3

1

1a

1
a

2

8

12

10

21

2

2

61

23

1

54

41

10

35

16.8m

22

G
O

W

N
O

R
M

A
N

S
T
R

E
E
T

DAN
IEL

STREET
ROBERT

STREET

L
U

C
A

S
S
T
R

E
E
T

L
U

C
A

S
S
T
R

E
E
T

A
L
T
O

N
S

T
R

E
E

T

CRW
YS

R
OAD

F
A
N

N
Y

S
T
R

E
E

T

ALEXANDER
STREET

ROAD

CRW
YS

S
T
R

E
E
T

RHYM
NEY

TERRACE

ROBERT STREET

BRYDGES
PLACE

R
IC

H
A
R

D
S

S
T
R

E
E

T

W
O

O
D

V
IL

L
E

R
O

A
D

BASIL
PLACE

H
A
R

R
IE

T

FLO
RA

STREET

G
L
A
D

Y
S

S
T
R

E
E

T

M
INNY

STREET

F
A
N

N
Y

S
T
R

E
E
T

M
AY

STR
EET

LETTY

STREET

INE
STREET

Centre:
Crwys Road / Woodville Road

Designation:

District Centre
Map 2 of 2

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

�

N
Page 1522



Bollard

Mooring Posts

Floating Pontoons

FB

Lighting Towers

27
28

26

Bollard

Bollard

30 Mooring Posts

PO

Roald Dahl Plass

Saint Line

3
3

1

85

7

Fountain

PH

Tu
nn

el

5

El

Sub Sta

Lighting Towers

Lighting Towers
17

251
4

Mermaid Quay

Ocean Buildings

Marine

Office

(MOT)

Mercantile

D
o
ck

s
L
a
n

e

Custom House

1
0
2

C
o
ry

' s
B

u
i ld

in
g
s

5
7

1
0
7

Bank

7.9m

PH

1
0
0

9
7

9
4

1
1
2

5
6

5
5

1
1
6

7.9m

1
1
3

5

1
1
1

5
4
a

D
o
c
k

C
h
a
m

b
e
r s

7.9m

5
4
b

4

5
4

3
4

3
3

G
e
o
rg

e
S

tre
e

t

1

S
t
C

l a
i r

C
o

u
r t

1
2

1
6

2
1

1
4

The Point

LB

Theatre

PH

1 to 32

Cambrian

Cymric

Buildings

Buildings

27

29

42

30

44

28

7.6m

3635
37

1
4

39
38

40

34

Dowlais Arcade

Chambers

1
8

Bank

6.7m

Bay

PH

House

22

48 43

45
47

51

46

49

41

50

18

Bank

1
2

4
1
2
5

LB

Cliff Court

1 to 28

1to27

St James Mansions

21

23a
23

Mermaid Quay

24

20

S
P
s

9
to

1
0

10

Bank

FB

12

4 to 6

7

1

2

31

B
ollards

Cn

G
ate

s

Bollard

Cn

FB

Dolphins

Graving Docks

S
P
s

Mount Stuart

Bol

Landsea

Cn

B
ollards

Bol

G
raving

D
ock

N
o

1

S
l o

p
in

g
m

a
s
o
n

ry

Gardens

3

FS

9

Pilotage

House

TCB

Harbour Point

Cn

Bol

G
raving

D
ock

No
2

26

56
57

54
52

28

53

55

1
5

1
1

1
6

8

2
0

Ramp

Ramp

El Sub Sta

Multi Car PK

Bollard

G
raving

D
ock

N
o

3

Travelling
C
rane

Landing
Stages

1

6

3

Techniquest

8

1
1

69
74

6872
73

75

71

1

70

El

7.9m

Sub

50
48

Sta

7

to3

Bank

LB

4
5

6

TCB

8

58

Empire
House

53

25
54 to 57

17

59

61

C
o
lu

m
B

u
il d

i n
g

s

58

62

60

63

1
6 1

1
1
3

1
0

66

LB

65

PH

67

1
4

64

23 20

Cardiff Exchange

Posts

Baltic House

7.6m

H
o
u

s e
M

o
u
n
t

S
tu

a
r t

39

33

B
U

T
E

S
T

R
E

E
T

/
S

T
R

Y
D

B
U

T
E

B
U

T
E

S
T

R
E

E
T

/
S

T
R

Y
D

B
U

T
E

PLAS BUTE/BUTE PLACE

JAMES STREET

B
U

T
E

C
R

E
S

C
E

N
T

/
C

IL
G

A
N

T
B

U
T

E

STRYD

NEWYDD

GEORGE

TACOMA SQUARE

B
U

T
E

C
R

E
S

C
E

N
T

/
C

IL
G

A
N

T
B

U
T
E

W
E

S
T

B
U

T
E

S
T

R
E

E
T

S
H

IP
L

A
N

E

B
U

T
E

S
T

R
E

E
T

/
S

T
R

Y
D

B
U

T
E

S
T

R
Y

D
G

E
O

R
G

E
N

E
W

Y
D

D

STUART STREET /

NEW
GEORGE

STREET /
LOUISA PLACE

S
T

U
A

R
T

P
L
A

C
E

N
E

W
G

E
O

R
G

E
S

T
R

E
E

T
/

STRYD STUART

STUART SQUARE
MOUNT

MOUNT STUART SQUARE

JAMES STREET

PLACE

P
LA

C
E

A
D

E
L
A

I D
E

S
T

R
E

E
T

L
O

U
IS

A

STUART STREET / STRYD STUART

S
T

R
Y

D
A

D
E

L
A

ID
E

Centre:
Bute St. / James St. District Centre

Designation:

District Centre
Map 1 of 1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

�

N
Page 1523



93

Warehouses

26

25

4
8

FB

Eglwys Newydd

County Infants

School

El Sub Sta

1
to

4

6

81

1

5

TCB

FB

83

T
he

T
ab

er
na

cl
e

27.4m

House

15

Summerfield

to

20

W
arre

n Eva
ns Court

5 to 11

12 to
19

23

20

77

32

27.4m

75

77a

C
ou

rt

PH

S
um

m
er

fie
ld

1
to

6

79

G
arage

4

88

1

1

to

35
to

28

27

24

53

58
52

9

47

62

74

71

P
os

ts

73

Pol Sta

36

to

46
to

43

42

Eglwys Newydd

Brookside Court

County Junior

W
h
itc

h
u
rc

h

1 to 12

3
0

B
ro

o
k

Girls School
P

a
t h

3
8

2
0

1
2

Glan-y-nant Court

El Sub Sta

2

13to18

9

10

1 to 9

8

6

Trewartha

Court

7to12

1

3
6

to3
9

2
7

1

2

2
4

14

14

4
3

4
0

37

3

2

57

55b

Warren

5553b

Evans

53c

Court

53a

Playing Field

Car Park

53

51
47b

PO

TCB

42
a

28.0m

44

28

30

26

34
to

42

32

Shelter

B
an

k

23

21

16

11

56

17

13

15

55

12

63

18

24

5

Clinic

6

29.3m

4 3

(P
H
)

PH

The
P
lo

ug
h

2

3

11

5
to

9

25

15

22

31

64

30

16

G
ara

ge

G
ara

ge

14

18

2

1

Gate

Lych

24.
9m

7

Bet
he

l

Bap
tis

t

C
hu

rc
h

3

Bank
1

39

12

46

4
5

1

50

4

2

3

50

8

1
0

7

9

4
4

51

20

35

43
45

39

47

41

31

20

14

29.3m

20

24

22

S
helter

5 Hall

Institu
te

3

C
hurch

G
ate

H
ouse

30.8m

7

3
8

4
6

15

8

1

4
1

4
5

B
et

he
l

B
ap

tis
t C

hu
rc

h

S
ch

oo
l H

al
l

Car Park

1
5

13

Ban
k

30.5m

9

W
orks

House

Coach

The

25
23

El Sub

Posts

Sta

Club
Posts

12

TCB

17

19

St M
ar

ys
C

hu
rc

h

7
4

19

57

7
1

23

24

26

21

70

32

28

33

29

27

34

16

1

10

35

9

36

7

9

G
as

G
overner

2

27

DAVIS'S TERRACE

G
L
A

N
-Y

-N
A

N
T

R
O

A
D

BLANDON WAY

B
R

O
O

K
R

O
A
D

B
L
A

N
D

O
N

W
A

Y

B
LA

N
D
O

N
W

A
Y

ST
DAVID

'S
ROAD

GLANDWR PLACE

ROAD

R
IA

LT
O

C
O

U
R

T

VIC
TORIA

O
LD

C
H

U
R
C
H

R
O

AD

Centre:
Merthyr Road, Whitchurch

Designation:

District Centre
Map 1 of 1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

�

N
Page 1524



Church

C
oach

H
ouse

1

80

Memorial

Hall

70

8

6

37

4

8
6

27

2

7
0

7
4

1
1
4

61

El Sub Sta

1
2
6

8
3

7
1

49

1
0
0

Shelter

8
8

3
6

Library

7

El Sub Sta

65

5
5

38

5
6

29

43

Posts

7.0m

9

17

Tank

El Sub Sta

1
2

6

1

7

The Old Library
1 to 13

36

129

24

41

1

11

7.0m

44

45

35

37

7.6m

34

2

73

68

77

25

32

S
ur

ge
ry

52

141

155

27

92

104

12

2

13

15

1

13

42

59

54

45

32

42

43

Builder's

51

22

Yard

167

175

169

W
arehouse

11
6

69

7.3m

1

2

3

2a

1
a

11

12

1

1
3

2
7

2
5

5
2

5
0

4
5

4
7

4
6

5
1

3
7

LB

128

12
8a

181

Bank

183-187

5
5

8
4

5
9

7.0m

1
4

7

1

1
2
5

1
1
8

1
5
7

1
0

6
1
1
2

1
3
5

1
0
9

1
0
2 1

1
1

1
0
4

1
1
7

23

21

1

12

11

Depot

2

1
1
6

1
1
4

23

22

38

33

31

5

50

45

1341

25

13 G
arage

2

1

9

6

27

13

30

29

47
49

53

9

1

14

2

24

19

18

78

55

38

44

30

27

6.7m

28

36

1

13

233

2

8

Crystal Court

231

16
8

16
2

to
16

6

160

Club

158

7.0m

44

1

45

2

Station

43 4

Police

42

3

32

3

P
H

5

17
2

245

24
9

17
8

38

Prim
ar

y
Sch

oo
l

6.3m

37

St Patri
ck

's

13

4

1

25

6

2

5

253

7

1

7.0m

28
33

45

5

26

Garage

25

12

9

2

1

Health Centre

14

17

10
7

20

15

1
1

12
9

8

7.0m

18
8-

19
0

3

9
7

1
a

1

2

19
2

23

17

18

10

19

15

1
1

22
19

23

16

27

1
7
5

79

1
7
7

1
7

3
1
7
1

1
6
5

195
2

1
4

189

2
6

41

30

2
8

189a

1
5
4 TCB

to

1
5
8

1
5
6

1
6
0

PCs

1
8
1

1
8
5

1
6
2

7.3m

to 1
7
4

1
7
8

1
7
0

1
7
2

13
0a

13
0

1
7
6

P
o

s
t s

70

Surgery

1
3
4

2

1
3
2

2

138

(PH)

209

The Grange

201

Depot

Works

W
ar

eh
ou

se

Hotel

215

217

2

16

33

25

23

56

3

55

12

65

146

14

144

14
8

150
7.0m

32

30

15

26

22

34

1
5
2

144

1
5
0

7.0m

Shelter

F
E
R
N
D
A
LE

S
TR

E
E
T

C
O

R
PO

R
ATIO

N
R
O

AD

C
L

A
R

E
R

O
A

D

P
A

G
E

T
S

T
R

E
E

T

P
EN

AR
TH

R
O

A
D

P
A

G
E

T
L
A

N
E

PE
N
TR

E
S
TR

E
ET

M
A

R
D

Y
S

T
R

E
E

T

REDLAVER STREET

S
T

R
E

E
T

STOCKLAND STREET

CHESTER PLACE

HAVELOCK PLACE

DURHAM STREET

TH
O
M

A
S

S
TR

E
E
T

S
TR

E
E
T

REDLAVER STREET

N
O

R
TH

FR
A
NK

LEN
STRE

ET

C
L
IV

E

OP STREET

O
W

S
TR

E
E
T

D
IN

A
S

P
LA

C
E

W
A
R
W

IC
K

STR
EE

T

D
E
VO

N
PLA

C
E

DORSET STREET

W
A

R
W

IC
K

P
L
A

C
E

C
H
ES

TE
R

S
TR

E
ET

Centre:
Penarth Road / Clare Road

Designation:

District Centre
Map 1 of 1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

�

N
Page 1525



SM

1to4

16 to 19

SM

9
to

12

1
3

t o
1

5

68
18

7
0

14

16

13

15

17

TCP

El Sub Sta

19 to 23

Oakmeadow

3
2

to
3

5

8
5

6
3

Court

20.7m

3
0

P
a
th

a
n
d

C
y
cle

W
a
y

10
1

Bowling Green

SM

Library

12

10

11

9

7

8

1
4

1
6

1
2

1
0

1

Primary School

20

4

1

10

Centre

24

SM

Community

3
5

Crickhowell Walk

4

to

3

5

1

Technology Park

4

2

6

Willowbrook

Bryn

PW

Surgery

Derwen

Heritage Inn

9

20

18.1m

(PH)

12

18.4m

2

2

8

Willowbrook House

Path

Post

Police

Station

Path

El

FB

Hypermarket

Sub Sta

Pond

P
at

h

3

5

4

1

19.0m

4

1

12

8

23

ob

1

SM

El

Sub Sta

El Sub Sta

7

20

9

10

8

28

6

8

1

1

Path

FB

1

1

18

14

2

12

8

15

11

26

28

27

34

44

37

52

51

LLANDOGO
ROAD

W
IL

LOW
BROOK

DRIV
E

C
R

E
S
C

E
N

T

ST ARVANS

C
R

IC
K
H

O
W

E
L
L

R
O

A
D

BROCKHAMPTON ROAD

C
H

E
S

T
E

R

OAKMEADOW DRIVE

C
L

O
S

E
A

S
H

D
O

W
N

D
U

M
M

E
R

C
L

O
S

E

C
LO

SE

S
A

N
D

E
R

L
IN

G
D

R
IV

E

C
LO

S
E

K
IN

G
F
IS

H
E
R

S
H

E
E

R
W

A
T

E
R

C
L
O

S
E

S
C
O

U
R
T

A
S
P
E
N

C
LO

S
E

Centre:
St. Mellons

Designation:

District Centre
Map 1 of 1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

N
Page 1526



18

16

2

20

13

72

Oakri

6

2

1

15

39

55

41

37

25

6

2

4

11

10

12

2
4

26

34

22

24

1

4

8

1
8

22

2
7

1
2

2
7

23

19

l7

1
7

8

23

15

14

54

42

36

22

39

5

2

33

24

1

5

28

1
3

10

4
9

3
5

1
0

1

3
4

1
1

30

16

4
0

2
8

6

1
8

1

2

2
8

34

57

4
0

70

68

54
52

THORNHILL

PO

El

Sub Sta

10

1
1

121
4

1
3

5

24

18

4

1

5

2

1

27

15

13

7

2

4

22

14

14

3

1

1

North Cardiff Medical
Meddygfa Gogledd Caerdydd Centre

7

16

35

23

33

25

26

9

L
la

n
is

h
e
n

B
rook

20

10

12

7

2
2

65

3

4

1

2

Subway

10

12

11

5

2
1

2

7

4

1

6

3

2

8

1

38

37

2

7

6

3640

48

12

7

34

10

8

12

1
3

1

45

22

9
4

7

6

Centre

Church

7

1
9

3

5
5

2
1

1
2

50

59

2
8

56

22

4
3

31

1
6

7
3

17 21

67

1

5
2

58

69

B
ro

o
k

L
la

n
is

h
e
n

12

5
1

76

10

64

LYRIC
W

AY

W
IG

M
O

R
E

C
D

R

RAGNAL CLOSE

C
A

V
E

N
D

IS
H

C
L
O

S
E

WAY

DRIVE

BROOKVALE

C
L
O

S
E

C
L
O

S
E

C
LO

S
E

APOLLO

A
S

T
O

R
IA

EXCALIBUR DRIVE

A
L

D
W

Y
C

H

GARRICK DRIVE

C
LO

S
E

S
H

A
F
T

E
S

B
U

R
Y

R
A

G
N

A
L
L

C
L
O

S
E

C
L
O

S
E

R
E
IG

A
TE

D
R

IV
E

MERLIN CLOSE

D
E

R
W

E
N

T
C

L
O

S
E

K
E
N
N
IN

G
T
O

N

C
L
O

S
E

WOODLAWN

C
A

R
L
T
O

N

CLOSE

WOODLAWN WAY

Centre:
Thornhill

Designation:

District Centre
Map 1 of 1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

N
Page 1527



97

114

21

9

10
14

6

El Sub Sta

70

Surgery

1

2

1
9Court1

to
2
3

Sachville

Gospel Hall

Heath

2
6

27

(G
overnm

ent

(T
y'r C

1 to 6

Pond

C
om

p

The Flats

1
4

58 56

1
3

21

2
5

107

116
to

120

H
ea

th

Eva
ng

el
ic
al

C
hu

rc
h

29.0m

4
7

3
7

57

45

4
4

28.0m

3
4

109

13
4

107b

122

29.3m

Sub StaEl

R
C

S
chool

S
t Joseph's

142

136138

140

70b

11
29.9m

13

2
3

12

3
3

2
4

29.3m

33

S
t Joseph's

5

1

Presby

16

R
C

C
hurch

2

22

154

33

Clu
b

29

27
Soc

ia
l

23

25

2

26

14

29.6m

36

15

32

1

2

29.9m

Ban
k

164

174

37

45

30.2m

30.2m

43

51

184

5

1

1
5

8

2

9

7

26

13

2

14

19

54

23

32

35

33

44

TCB

30.8m

2

1

200

55

67

202

61
to

65

Ban
k

59

198
196

1

29.6m

11

38

22

12

24

2

25

49

50

38

89

22
8

214

77

212

30.2m

LB

22

21
16

31

32

56

35

47

42

23

1
2

7

21

34

31

8

31.1m

37

45

32

54

46

30

101

TCB

242

99

240

1

30.2m

1

2

12

11

2

1

64

31
.1

m

49

44

56

41

Vict
oria

M
ews

33

15

16

52

17

9

19

78

68

to

13

252

268

11

2

111

30.8m

15

82

70

14

51

18

23

20

47

74

59

64

266

m

264

113

25

16

29

26

SO
B
ER

TO
N

A
VE

N
U
E

E
D

IN
G

T
O

N
A

V
E

N
U

E

W

N
E
W

ZE
A
LA

N
D

R
O

A
D

B
A
N
A
S
T
R

E
A
V
E
N
U

E

G
A
R
D
E
N
S

R
O

A
D

C
A
N
A
D
A

A
FR

IC
A

H
EA

TH
FIE

LD
P
LA

C
E

N
E
W

ZE
A
LA

N
D

R
O

A
D

A
U
ST

R
A
LI

A
R
O

A
D

A
V

E
N

U
E

WHITCHURCH ROAD

C
U

R
L

L

H
FIE

LD
R
O

A
D

PE
N
-Y

-B
R
Y
N

R
O

A
D

N
E
W

FO
U
N
D
LA

N
D

R
O

A
D

Centre:
Whitchurch Road

Designation:

District Centre
Map 1 of 2

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

N
Page 1528



2
7
.7

m

1
1
7

Shelter

28.0m

LB

1
0

7

9
7

6
9

El Sub Sta

7
7

28.0m

2b

7
9

2

8
7

9
5

2a

G
a
ra

g
e

1

El Sub Sta

3
1

2
7
.7

m

5
1

5
9

2
8
.0

m

1
5

3
9

4
1

2
3

12
2

57

1b1

6
1

64

1a

5
2

14

1

2
1
a

C
R

B
oro

C
on

st ,
A
sly

C
onst

&
E
D

B
dy

25

28.7m

13

14

26

22

13

47

37

50

36

25

11

34

26

42

44

TCB

Hall

30

34

323
2
a

36

7

28

Chy

Allensbank Junior and Infants' School

37

49

12

38

50

24

15

37

27

51

28.4m

64

FS

54

C
R

B
oro

C
on

st, A
sly

C
on

st
&

E
D

B
dy

24

19

H
o
u
s
e

S
c
h
o
o
l

62

82

74

1

2

65

C
R

B
o

ro
C

o
n
s
t,

A
s
l y

C
o
n

s
t
&

E
D

B
d

y

9 to 12

Ban
k

97

104

114

LB

94

5 to 8

1
to

4

Memorial

9

War

Church2

27.1m

1

27.7m

12

(PH)

S
helter

27.7m

4

1
1

Heath

The

1

28.3m

20

14

Sub Sta

El

28.0m

94

79

2

34

28.7m

1

Shelter

73

44

72

32

29.0m

84

85

84

(G
overnm

ent O
ffices)

(T
y'r C

w
m

niau)

1 to 6

Pond

C
om

panies
H
ouse

PO

TCB
The Flats

Shelter

58 56

21

107

116
to

120

H
ea

th

Eva
ng

el
ic
al

C
hu

rc
h

29.0m

107b

122

Barracks

Cot
ta

ge

m

W
H

IT
C

H
U

R
C

H
R

O
A
D

ALLENSBANK

TALYGARN STREET

CRESCENT

A
L

L
E

N
S

B
A

N
K

R
O

A
D

LLANISHEN STREET

MANOR STREET

C
R
O

W
N

W
A
Y

(F
FO

R
D
D

Y
G

O
R
O
N
)

S
T

JO
S
E
P
H
'S

C
O
U

R
T

(F
FO

RD
D

Y
G

O
R
O

N
)

AY

W
H
IT

C
H
U
R
C
H

R
O
A
D

Centre:
Whitchurch Road

Designation:

District Centre
Map 2 of 2

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

N
Page 1529



24

4
5

31

22

32.6m

3
8

4
4

33

3
3 3

6

17

2
6

2

2
0

10

2
8

3
6

3
2

2
5

3
5

6
8

5
0

15

1

32.6m

2

4
1

6
4

32.9m

5
4

6
5

LB

4
2

3
9 3

2
.3

m

Birchgrove

8
6

2

8
3

9
5

33.2m

Cottages

Bank

1

8
7

The 1

El Sub Sta

New Inn

(PH)

G
a
ra

g
e

8

7
4

2

6
9

1
2

2
2

3

3
2

2
9

Birc
hgro

ve
County

3
2

Prim
ary

School

4
8

48

3
4

1
7
a

e

Sunnycroft

3

32

55

53

3
8

33

34

44

LB

42

33.5

38

1

18

Tennis Court

3
2

TCB
1
1

3
1

0
7

1
1
1

1
1
9

1
0
9

1
0
5

1
6

3

1
5
8

34.1m

1
5

1

1
6
5

24

34.4m

34.1m

2

30

1
3

1

8

30

38

51

29

2
6

12

26

20

8

1
3

2
5

37

13

El

2

21

Sub Sta

33.5m

18

26

Surgery

4

1
1
0

108

2

9
8

1

Bank

6

S
h
e
lt
e
r

33.5m

6

1
0
3

1
2

0

1
3
2

1
2

4
1
2

2

1
3
0

33.8m

1
4
7

1
2
9

1
4
6

1
3
6

9

The

18

(PH)

Birchgrove

5
30

12

26

1
3
7

23

31

Methodist Church
St Andrews

Club

10

1

1

LB

W
orks

20

2

33

23

13

24a

mere

40

11

31

1

4
1

2
5

3
1

1
5

42

13

54

2

14

32.9m

TCB

52

19

1
7

2
0

21

4
6

1
9

4

6

35

33

64

18

30

1

1

lflo

26

1

4

33

T
h
e

C
o
a
c
h

H
o
u

s
e

The Grove

24b

3

RHYDHELIG AVENUE

S
T

A
L

B
A

N
A

V
E

N
U

E

S
T

A
G

N
E

S
R

O
A

D

S
T

H
E

L
E

N
'S

R
O

A
D

S
T

A
ID

A
N

C
R

E
S

C
E

N
T

HEATHW
OOD

ROAD

N
O

R
T

O
N

A
V

E
N

U
E

HAMPTON ROAD

C
A

E
R

P
H

IL
L

Y
R

O
A

D

BIR
CHGROVE

ROAD

N
T

B
A

^C
H

R
O

A
D

CORONATIO
N

ROAD

GROVELAND
ROAD

R
IC

H
S

R
O

A
D

TAIR
ERW

ROAD

L
L
W

MURRA

Centre:
Birchgrove

Designation:

Local Centre
Map 1 of 1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

N
Page 1530



R
im

in
i H

o
u
se

2
5

to

7to78

A
prilia

H
ou

se
58

to
9
0

11 to 15

10

St Cuthberts
Prim

ary School

Ysgol Gynradd Sant Cuthbert

1 to 67

6

1
0

South Mews

The Granary

1 to 20

1

5

13

1

1
8

17
0

to
17

8

17
9

to
18

7

1
61

to
16

9

15
2

to
16

0

1
2

2
5

2
6

16

9

8
7

1
1

23
24

17

10

5

1

St Pauls

18
9

to
1
97

S
he

lte r

3
9 Community

Church

47

55

7

30
24

1

TCBs

H
e
a
lth

C
e
n
tre

7.3m

El Sub Sta

34

4
0

10
2

0
4

Shelter

Posts

1
to

3
2

etta
H

o
use

4

18

26

16

32

12

20to28

29

Lo
u
do

un
H

ou
se

77
to

2
7
1

7.0m

11

34

TCBs

5
8

4
0

60

24

31

39

62

54

78

88

Posts

68
52

46

Paddle

(PH)

1
9

Steamer

38

1
9b

1
9a

50

Posts

5

1

7
to

13

42

15
to

2
1

23

Posts

Posts

86

70

82

80

94

Centre

1

Tower

6

18

12

25 19

13

Steffani Court

1
9

71

25

9

19

ESS

65

1

7

11

43

Posts

2

1
to

6

Nelson House

7

53 to 58

59 to 64

13

96

84

45

39

47

41

Posts

Posts

Posts

36

22

42

26

34

28

Posts

31

20

16

8

14

57

E
l S

u b
S

ta

7

51

50

44

53

1 to
30

tic
hou

se

Cycle
Tra

ck

E
l
S
u
b

S
ta

Heol Staughton

BUTETOWN

C
e
n
tre

C
o
m

m
u
n
ity

24

2
0

S
he

lter

144

142

1
51

2
5

2
7

3
0

Depot

13
20

Hannah

Street

Church

21 2728

14

14

2
8

126 16

C
o
m

m
un

i ty
C

e
n
t re

A
ra

b

Islamic

Culture

71

78
70

63

2

18

4
10

11522

R b C t

31
to

4
6

47
to

76

CLOS GLANHOWNY

HODGES ROW

H
O

D
G

E
S

S
Q

U
A

R
E

HANNAH STREET

S
T
R

E
E

T
H

E
N

R
Y

LOUDOUN
SQUARE

(G
LANHOWNY CLOSE)

S
IL

U
R

IA
N

P
L
A

C
E

L
L
O

Y
D

G
E

O
R

G
E

A
V

E
N

U
E

R
H

O
D

F
A

L
L
O

Y
D

G
E

O
R

G
E

MAGRETION PLACE MAES MAGRETIAN

SOUTH LOUDOUN
PLACE

L
L
O

Y
D

G
E

O
R

G
E

A
V

E
N

U
E

R
H

O
D

F
A

L
L
O

Y
D

G
E

O
R

G
E

LOUDOUN SQUARE

C
h
ris

tin
a

S
tre

e
t

C
H

R
IS

T
IN

A
S

T
R

E
E

T

B
U

T
E

S
T

R
E

E
T

S
T

R
Y

D
B

U
T

E

A
N

G
E

L
IN

A
S

T
R

E
E

T

LETTON ROAD HEOL LETTON

C
H

R
IS

T
IN

A
S

T
R

E
E

T

Centre:
Bute Street (Loudoun Square)

Designation:

Local Centre
Map 1 of 1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

N
Page 1531



26

E
l S

u b
S
ta

10.4m

14

35

172

H
ot

el

1

H
ot

el

164

174

183

173

9.8m

N
ur

se
ry

184

193

88

192

3

11

1a

1

2

105

10.4m

93

25

20
9

8
3

TCB

LBPO

202

194

201

9
5

7
1

6
9

2
4

7
1
a

5
514

15

104

8
6

Church

Presbyterian

83

21

2

1
1

1
4

1
0

4

67
9 8

1
1

1
3

1
2

5

2

10.1m

1

3
1a

1
8

67

1

1

14

69

Recycling Point

11.0m

Hall

34

55

25

204

23

1

13

221
225

12

219

14a

63

9.8m

64

1

LB

1

2

65

76

77

10

2

10
a

4

89

1

Club

5

1
7

1
0

Hall

7
2
a

4
1

8

7

2
9

9

2

7

6
8

St Catherines1
to

5 6

6
0

Mews

5

1
6

8
6

16

Forest Court

17

19

20

18

9
2

1
2
3

5

7
4

25
28

31

3

1

8
7

7
1

6

91
0

5

4

10.4m

241

11

218

233

8

21

245

1
0
.1

m

9
1

1
0
4

1
0
3

Stoneleigh

11

13

2
a

2

1
1
5

10.7m

1
2
8

23

2

1
1

.0
m

1
4

1

14

24

2
6

15

1
8

17

14
16

249

244

The Halfway(PH)

1

230

1

10

2

3

11

1

3
5

13

3
3

12

25

2
9

11.3m

2

1

1
5

1
7

45

23

47to99

54

22

TCB

El Sub
Sta

3
1

1
b1
c

1
a

9.8m

2
1

1
9
a

2
2

2
6

6
5

PH

6
0

33

11to13

11.0m

5

10

7

PC

11.0m

9

14

11.3m

Posts

Court

4
3

9.8m

to 30

Western

Works

38
a

10.7m

7
8

17

7
0

14

23

Hafren Court

27
30

5
7

26
29

24

6

10 5
9

6
7

23

9.8m

6
3

7
9

2
0

1
9

St James

Mews

1

8

7

2
0

2
2

Court

17
16

26

31

40

1
1
6

28

6

Aquilla Court

5

7to10

1
3

1to4

Caernarvon Court

1 to 14

1
9

1
4

4
0

3
1

2
4

5
9

2
8

43

27

11.6m

2

1

w
s

Posts

Car Park

11.0m

2

1

2a

Tanglew
oo

d

1
to

1
3

Canolfan y Wallich

2a to 2c

211to217

The Wallich Centre /

Gwern

Hafren

1
4

1
5

1

1
2

The Coach House12a

2a

14a

The Coach House

D
O
G

O
S
T
R
E

C
A
TH

E
D
R

A
L

R
O

AD

S
N
E
Y
D

S

P
LA

S
TU

R
T
O
N

A
V
E
N
U
E

T
E
IL

O
S
T
R
E

E
T

P
O

N
T

C
A

N
N

A
S

T
R

E
E

T

A
V

E
N

U
E

S
E

V
E

R
N

G
R

O
V

E

IESTYN STREET

IE
S

T
Y

N
IA

N

G
IL

E
S

T
O

N
R

O
A

D

FAIRLEIGH ROAD

FAIRLEIGH ROAD

MALDWYN STREET

DENBIGH STREET

F
IE

L
D

S
P

A
R

K
R

O
A

D

MORTIMER ROAD

C
O

N
W

A
Y

R
O

A
D

PONTCANNA PLACE

W
IL

L
IA

M
S

T
R

E
E

T

Centre:
Cathedral Road

Designation:

Local Centre
Map 1 of 1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

N
Page 1532



El Sub S

1

4
0

2

1

35

1
a

3

79

75

3

85

77

87

1

20

6
3

1
4

2

1
2

8

1
6

2
0

4
1

2
9

5
1

7

5
3

3
0

2

1

11

9

61

62
8

36

64

49.1m

1
8

1 5

13
15

1
3

6

1
9

House

1
a

C
o
u
n
ci

l D
ep

o
t

2
1

Countisbury

1

D
a

y
C

e
n
tr

e

7

9

55

44

56

57

El Sub Sta

1

1
1

44

59
57

15

38

13

Companions

47.0m

(PH)

1

The

Good

Office

Sorting

21

19

46.4m

Garage

25

17
23

27

S
h
e
lte

r
6
2

4
0

to
4
6

45.4m

PO

3
4

64
to

6
8

85

8
78
1

9
7

8
3

9
1

7
9

8
9

44.8m

7
6 74

18

El Sub Sta

7
7

O
ff
i c

e
s

7
7
a

7
5

24

16

53

47

5557

4

16

2

8

to

6

20
1
4

5
9

1
3

41

22

38

El Sub Sta

71

31

69

29

67

58

72

7 to 8

11 to 12

43.6m

9 to 10

St Dyfrig's Church

Hall

3 to 4

St Dyfrig's Court

S
h
e
l te

r

1 to 2

5 to 6

35

37

41.8m

41

43242 24
0

33
39

5

1
1

6

8

12

1
0

9

Court

Burnham

11
C

le
v
e
d
o
n

C
o
u
rt

6

8 10

12

238

5

S
h
el

te
r

9

9
7

1

3

2
1

1
3

15

5

11

22
6

42.7m

20
3

1

17
1
9

46.3m

PTP

1
0
044

1
01

46.0m

70

4
8

51

59

4
5

5 7

4
3

4 1
4
7

5 3

6
1

5
1

4
9

5
5

1
4

41

37

6

35

33

49

43

2

4539

1
6

12

48

1
0

1
4

32

34

35

3
7

2

3
9

3
3

2
9

3 12
5

3
5

14

2
5

1
3

2
3

1

Vicarage

2
72
1

8

1

1

5

1
1

31

22

25

3

7

1

4

5
2

30

14

20

2

21

19

42.1m

2

10

1
1

6

13

23

1
5

10
12

13

1

El

Sub Sta

2
4

7

3

4
2

0

MastTCB

(Telecommunication)
LB

7
1

Library

1
1

7

1

1
1b

1
1
a

MINEHEAD ROAD

D
U

N
S

T
E

R
R

O
A

D

B
R

ID
G

W
A

T
E

R
R

O
A

D

BLACKMOOR PLACE

C
O

U
N

T
IS

B
U

R
Y

A
V

E
N

U
E

B
A

N
W

E
L

L
P

L
A

C
E

ILCHESTER ROAD

CLOSE

C
R

E
D

IT
O

N
R

O
A

D

BR
E
N

D
O

N

BAMPTON ROAD

IL
FR

ACO
M

BE

PLEASANT
MOUNT

C
R
ESC

EN
T

M
O

U
N

T
P

L
E

A
S

A
N

T
L
A

N
E

AVENUE

W
OOLA

COMBE
AVENUE

PLEASANTMOUNT

BID
EFORD

RO
AD

L
L
A

N
R

U
M

N
E

Y
A

V
E
N

U
E

Centre:
Countisbury Avenue

Designation:

Local Centre
Map 1 of 1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

N
Page 1533



25.0m

New

Hill Dip

77

House

18

(PH)

4

15

47

49

3

11

5

43

9

45

16

12

3

2

1

17

5

18

14

10

1

7

2

4

6

8

14

223

St
Ly

th
an

C
ou

rt

27
6

1

5

53

55
57

51

65

67

61
63

59

69
231

24

71

14

7

1

89

25.6m
348

CR

23.2m

34

11

6

16

9

El

13

17

30

1

27.7m

251

251b

241

79

24.1m

81

Superstore

99

1

2

358

71

75

E
l S

u
b
S
ta

2

66

1

68

10

70
St

D
on

at
s
C

ou
rt

18

6

4

17

9

7

57

St
Brid

es
C
ou

rt
6

Highfields

Inn

91

Sub Sta

18

15

1

12

20

16
14

45

Post

59

1

63

8

22to
26

25.3m

28to
32

1

4

43

St Nicholas
Court

107

115

36

38

3

4

1

2

4

5

M
ichelston

Court

1

8

10
12

41
39

37

36

40

44

43

25
.3

m

58

40

42

54

44

1

56

13

46

45

42

17

21
27

15

31

33

31

30

19

11

1

25

29

13

23

25

24

38

27

40

23

19

131

7

121
129

125

145

133

117

11

1
2

169

171

70

165

167

72

5

Crown House

11

Shelte
r

364 to 372

29.6m

376

23

36

253

36

42

38

46

48

5
5

37

50

Def

9

390

ED Bdy

3
5

1
5

16

22
to

68

10

1

2

32.0m

5

8

402

36.3m

Surgery

2

8

5
4

6
6

6
7

6
0

6
1

15

34

26

28

135

127

1
123

27.4m

32

7

5
9

3

29

153

137

149

143

147
151

157

119

155

139

141

1
3

1
9

20

68 to
107

1
4

42

48

36

22

46

34

44

6

Posts

45

39

51

49

47

52

41

53

44

60

159

19

161

18

163

27.7m

26

40

43

33

2
5

E
l
S
u
b

S
ta

8

1

20

28
32

27

35

30

31

34

29

Inglenook

11

2

1
1

of Assisi

Church of

412

St Francis

12

13

16

173

181

175

177

179

LB

TCB

48

27

12

16

Caerau

Infants School

82

38

15

2

3

PANT-Y-DERI

LLA
N
D
O

V
ER

Y
C

LO
S
E

H
EN

G
O

ED
C

LO
S
E

R
O

A
D

C
LO

SE

LALE
STO

N
C

LO
S
E

P
O

R
T
H
C
A
W

L

PYLE
R
O

AD

CAERAU
ROAD

C
A
E
R
A
U

LA
N
E

CAERAU
ROADH

E
O

L-
Y
-B

E
R

LL
A

N

HEOL-Y-BERLLAN

PLACE

W
ILSONO

N
R

O
A

D

H
IL

L
-S

N
O

O
K

R
O

A
D

COWBRID
GE ROAD

WEST

NOTTA

HEO
L-Y-G

AER

C
AER

AU
PAR

K
R
O

AD

CAERAU PARK PLACE

C
A

E
R

A
U

C
O

U
R

T
R

O
A
D

Centre:
Caerau Lane Local Centre

Designation:

Local Centre
Map 1 of 1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

�

N
Page 1534



9

12
14

137

2

2

3

2

27

54

26

1

63 6

51

1

76

70

8

143

13

20.4m

10

1
2

1
6

14.9m

Surgery

138
13

39

14.6m

157

28

43

30

43

29

42

2

1

78

155

44

156

84

St David

Evangelical

Lutheran

67

Manse

Church

11

201

203

32

2

3
8

1
2

59

2
4

9

16.2m

11

22

Car Park

17.1m

1
7

2
0

37

2
7

1
3

1

8

10

12

165

6

2

1
0

3
1

4

7

5

8

2

2

14.3m

10

12

Library

4
0

12

42

1

48

Centre

52

5845

42

13.1m

41

36

37

35

3840

4447

3

1 6

24

5

3 1

26

11

Health

17 19

21

18
20

22

1
2

Sunnybank

Surgery

28

173

6

6

1
5

1
6

5
8

6
1

5
9

1

2

1
7

4
4 4

5

3
1

179

1

7

3
0

187

2

1
6

1

185
181

5
5

Ski

Centre

14

7
34

128P
lasbach

17.7m

Cartr
ef

Cot
tage

(PH)

Shelter

GP

The Fairwater

FB

LB

15.8m

FB

2
0
5

2
1
5

1
4

7

1
0.7

m

2
0
0

Estate

Office

62

56

54

60

11.9m

3

20

40

26

31

37

2
to

12

39

34

29
3133

30
32

4

9

11

Fairmead

Court

5

PC

E
l
S
ub

S
ta

Shelter

6
8

1
0

7 9

1

4943
46

46
2

1
0

8

1a

Beech
wood

16.5m

TCB

180 178

181a

20

1
8

2

1

7 8

9

27

1
3

1

7

1

182

9

21

Tennis Courts

7
to

12

13
to

18

4

6 2

19b

LLANG

P
E
R

R
O

T
S

DOY

H
E

O
L

D
E

N
N

A
N

T

C
L
O

S
E

L
L

A
N

D
E

T
T

Y
R

O
A

D

F
A
IR

W
A
T
E

R

F
A

IR
W

A
T

E
R

R
O

A
D

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

R
O

A
D

ST FAGANS
ROAD

G
R

E
E

N

REARDON
SMITH

COURT

T
U

D
O

R
C

L
O

S
E

T
H

E
C

R
E

S
C

E
N

T

C
A

R
T

W
R

IG
H

T
L
A

N
E

EVERSWELL AVENUE

F
E

R
N

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

R
O

A
D

ST FAGANS ROAD

P
L
A

C
E

LAUR
EL

COURT

E
V

E
R

S
W

E
L
L

R
O

A
D

T
H

E
D

R
IV

E

Centre:
Fairwater Green

Designation:

Local Centre
Map 1 of 1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

N
Page 1535



1
8

1
7

1
3

54

56

1
5

50

73

75

67

69

71

65

9

1
1

4
2

59

3
5

3
8

3
7

4
1

Playing Field

57

7

64

61

55

64

56

1
7

51

47

1
7a

2

69

1

15

2
1

34

22

Lydstep Flats

39

26

32

1
5.

2m

LB

TCB

15.2m

2
3

3
6

Playground

Emmanuel

Baptist

Church

PO

1 to 42

49

14
12

45

to
1
2
6

8
5

43
to

84

Path

1
4

5
9

28

Lydstep Park

Cathedral View

Medical Centre

Nursery

School

The Master Gunner

(PH)

1
3

4 0

15.5m

3
6

2
6

2
5

3
8

43

3
7

83

Cathedral View
( Residential Home )

1a

2a

3
5

2
0

2b

2
2

27

Path and Cycle Way

12

91

16.2m

TCB

16

El Sub Sta

Ysgol Gymraeg

Glan Ceubal

2

8

2

86

1
1b

2
8

Our Lady of Lourdes

Catholic Church

Presbytery

93

1

19

15

13
3

17

21

35

33 31

29

School

P
a
th

Meadowbank Residential

Gabalfa Primary School

Hall

101

16.5m

100

11

4

2

CRESCENT

LY
DS

TE
P

A
M

C
R

E
S

C
E

N
T

W
A

T
E

R
S

T
O

N
R

O
A

D

LLANIDLOES ROAD

C
A

T
H

E
D

R
A

L
V

IE
W

C
A

T
H

E
D

R
A

L
V

IE
W

GABALFA AVENUE

B
A

C
T

O
N

R
O

A
D

CRESCENT

S

H
E

O
L

P
E

N
C

A
R

R
E

G

Centre:
Gabalfa Avenue

Designation:

Local Centre
Map 1 of 1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

N
Page 1536



21

186

28

22

20

43

49

Sub Sta

41

38El

45

39

34

37

47

49

50

56

14.6m

9

41
43

88

90

86

82

34

84

76

78

10

13

16.5m

49

51

67

56a

12

13

14

65

16
14a

5
8

4
4

4
2

2
6

6
0

Shelter

2

1

1
4

3
3

37

20

3
1

3
8

1

Posts

Posts

10

12

40

103

2

19

Posts

El Sub Sta

21

1
1

12

2
6

29

Posts

28

14

2

18

1
4

Posts

1

5

2

5

3

6

2

1
2

1

1
41

6

8
1
0

3

13

40

2

66

74

80

35

1
1

2
6

1
8

1

9

45

2

6458
6252

56

60

23

6
1
2 1
6

57

1

2

5

42

52

1

2

11

14

26

33

45

50

1

3
8

2

El Sub Sta

36

54

48

9

7

63 5961

11
12

13

TCB

71

1

LB

PO

4

8

83

8
7

81

Church

11

12

12

1

23

54

24

13

38

7
0

58

7
4

Family Centre

35

Centre

Welfare

50

Bureau

93

8
9

to
91

58

Citizens Advice

48

36

37

26

66

45

95a

68

95

93a

97a

97

1

13

(TRE-LAI)

ELY

30.2m

10

9

5

86

101

Nursery

99

59

20

27

25

24

2

Ever
wood

Court

8

62

73

47

18

77

101b

29.6m

94

100

101a

7

HIG
HMEAD

ROAD

CYM
RIC

CLO
SE

GRAND

ROAD

AVENUE
TEIFI PLACE

ST
DAVIDS

CRESCENT

VACHELL

C
R

E
S

C
E

N
T

ROAD

GRAND

TY-C
EFN

R
OAD

T
Y
-C

E
F
N

S
T

D
A

V
ID

S

AVENUE

C
R

E
S

C
E

N
T

ARCHER
TERRACE

C
H

A
R

T
E

R
IS

R
O

A
D

A
R

C
H

E
R

C
H

A
R

T
E

R
IS

RED
HOUSE

CRESCENT

C
R
E
S
C

EN
T

FONMON CRESCENT

R
E
D

H
O

U
S
E

P
LA

C
E

A
R

C
H

E
R

R
O

A
D

R
E

D
H

O
U

S
E

C
LO

S
E

Centre:
Grand Avenue

Designation:

Local Centre
Map 1 of 1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

N
Page 1537



2
6.

4m

22
20

9

11

13

1

W
hite

H
ouse

2
Gate

Lych

(restored)

Cross

30.2m

W
hite

PC

1

C
ottage

H
ouse

Cathedral

1
to

5

Court

H
o
u
s
e

P
re

b
e
n
d
a

Lady Chapel

Drain

17.1m

8

Car

Park

Old Bishop's Palace

(remains of)

The Cathedral Church of

4

6

Cross

and Euddogwy

P
a
th

( u
m

)

17.1m

4

St Andrew

St Cross

6a

3

2

1

6

29.3m

SS Dyfrig, Teilo

SS Peter and Paul with

2
3
.2

m

The Deanery

14

10

29.6m

Institute

PH

16

Club

5

7

Monument

Stone

31.7m

(remains of)

Tower

3

5

1
to

5

6

1

Y
r H

en
D
y

St Paul's
Court

7

1

Im
p
eria

l B
u
ild

in
gs

2

P
O

Bank

40

D
e
w

i C
o
u
rt

47b

24.4m

30
6

66

MP

76

86

1
1

1

Clarkes Yard

31
2

3
1

2
1

63

61

21.0m

2

Hall

H
all

3

12

1

64

56

1
2

Theological

2

54a

2
4

Tennis Court

College

3
6

6

53

1
8

1
7

55

57

22.6m

51

3

19a

49

TCBs

S
t.M

ic
h
ae

ls
M

ew
s

Theological

(p
riv a

t e
)

College

St Michael and

3

2
6
.2

m

All Angel's

C
h

a
p
e
l

Bank

48

PH

4

46

Probate

Registry

1

Stone

44 24.1m

4

52

1
to

G
arvey

C
ourt

2
3

2
2

Cranmer House

14

Hall

9

2
5
.3

m
26

30

24

2
6

42

9a

10

2
6 1

to
5

CRANMER COURT

to
6

School House

58

2
0.

4m

46

PH

38

27

46

LB

36

21

Bank

The Old

8

5

7
4

5

3

1
to

4

30 P
en

di
na

s

War

Memorial

19

Posts

4

9

21

2

1

4

3

41

1

6

El Sub Sta

31

26

6

1

35

LB

37

47

3

1

2

1

1a

18

13

34.1m

3
7

3
9

37c

El Sub Sta

a
b

16

35Surgery

Pritchard Court

9

11

10

12

Cwrt

Pegasus

P
avin

C
ourt

1
to

6

13

2
3

25

33.5m

34.4m

2

Tank

44

34.1m

21

13

1

32

1

5

6

8

7

3
8

4

Wales
14

City

chool

C
H

A
P

E
L

S
T
R

E
E

T

C
LO

S
E

C
A

T
H

E
D

R
A

L

T
H
E

C
A
TH

E
D
R
A
L

G
R
E
E
N

P
A

L
A

C
E

A
V

E
N

U
E

C
A

E
W

A
L

R
O

A
D

V
E

R
L
A

E
LY

R
O

A
D

THE
C
ATHEDRAL

G
R
EEN

HEOL FAIR

C
A
R
D
IF

F
R
O
A
D

H
IG

H
S
T
R

E
E
T

P
E
N

E
D

R
E

HEOL-Y
-PAVIN

MAYNARD COURT

BRIDGE STREET

Centre:
High Street, Llandaff

Designation:

Local Centre
Map 1 of 1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

N
Page 1538



(Telecommunication)

M
a
s t

(T
e
l e

c
o
m

m
u
n
i c

a
t i
o
n
)

Mast

234
to

24
0

3
0

32

Car Park

2
8

3
1 2

9

1

7

LLANEDEYRN

P
a
t h

(u
m

)

2

H
e
a
lt
h

Subway

C
e
n
tr

e

School House

LB

19

Chy

20

PO

15
Maelfa

Club

24

S
u
b
w

a
y

Round Wood

44

73

P
o
l S

ta

Car Park

FB

50

345

346

to

337

355

to

136

122

130

314

El Sub Sta

327

319
to

to

311

366

375

Posts

248

235

277

242

268 to 276

28

267

262

El Su

1
1
8

249 to 257

258

Chapel Wood

TCP

Family

Play Area

Centre

1
0
8

62 to 220

83

82

85 to 93

1
0
3

8
4

7
2

9
4

9
8

6
8

Elderly People

Home for

6
3

CommunityCentre

PCs

Day and

13

A
rc

a
d
e

8

7
4

14

10

Maelfa

4
2

4
3

5
7

7
8

7
3

5
6

4
9

5
3

7

72

6

TCBs

1

Subway

2
8 to 3
6

3
7

4
8

S
u

b
w

a
y

Estate
Offic

e

P
o

s
ts

143

1
3
8

(PH)

The Retreat

A
e
l- y

- B
ry

n

68

72

45.8m

63

1
2
0

3
18

1
0
9

1
0
1

1
1
6

1
1
7

1
4
6

83

82

1
4
5

86

78

88
9
9

88

92

73

77

1
08

89

9
4

9
3

30

2
42
7

36

2
1

1

Posts

3
03

3
07

3
08

3
0
2

2
9
6

33

3
0
9

8

Jefferson Court

1

4

L
L

A
N

E
D

E
Y

R
N

D
R

I V
E

P
e
n
n

s
y
lv

a
n

ia

Centre:
Maelfa, Llanedeyrn

Designation:

Local Centre
Map 1 of 1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

N
Page 1539



70 to 62

808

2

806

790a

60 to 50

796

to798

73
5
a

754a

4

848

29

15

17

1

834

22

S
urgery

Recreation Ground

14

E
xc

h
a
n
g
e

T
e
le

p
h
o
n
e

4

Wentloog

TCB

804

1 to 38

B
ank

The

42.4m

Cottage

7

Rumney Court

(British Legion Club)

1
8 1
4

1
6

5
3

11

1

717

21
9

13

12

8
10

1
3

1
5

1
7

28

3

11

3

7

7

5

11 1

790

19

33
23

25
15

29

45

24

14
20

22

16

18

40

32

25

4
2

4
8

5
4

4
6

4
4

5
0

5

14

11

2

16

1

41.5m

14

55

4

32.0m

1

3
9

4
0

2
5

2
3 39.0m

2

1

2
6

1
6

33.8m

15

4

LB

816

818

2

814

Court

1
7

39.3m

Ye
C

ro
ss

In
n

(P
H)

6

5
4

Bank

1

781

9

5

TCB

4
4

3
2

10
4

2

12

6

8

19

3
9

2
9

4
1

66

49

761

769

B
ank

763

786

LB

755

8

15

11

5

4

2

1

3

6

8

74
7

784

Stone

780

PH

753a

Roehampton

751

P
O

Court

753

75
2

7
54

2

1

LB

7
50

7
5
6

7
5
8

7
60

74

Cheriton

Court

4

Court

1 to 6

Farlington

Sub Sta

1 to 6

7
33

7
7
0

7
2
3

9

23

15

19

23

22

19

21

20

24
30

26

44

2 to 18

38

LB

36

48
46

42
28

27
45

37

41

31

43

35

39

29

33

47

41
39

43

57

53

37

3
8

4
0

5
6

6
6

5
2

6
2

7
6

8
6

8
0

8
2

7
47
8

Sub Sta

49

El

59

51

55

3036

24

28

20

22

26

40

1
0
5

1
0
7

6
46
8

1
0
3

1
0
1

9
9

19

23

17

13

21

15

2

El

1 to 6

7
3

7
1

7
7

6
5

8
1

6
1

6
3 6
7

7
5

6
9

11
7

9
29
6

11
9

9
4

8
8

8
4

11
3

10
9

8
9

9
1

7
9

9
3

8
3

8
7

8
5

9
5

38

44

1 to 6

6

M
o
rn

in
g
to

n

C
o

u
rt

1
2

4
311

5

6

7
3
5

7
1
5

1
6

5
8

6
0

7
2

7
0

47

25

42

34
32

23a

3

9
7

2

1

9
0

11
1

LIN
DEN

GROVE

TY-F
RY ROAD

WENTLOOG CLOSE

T
Y

-F
R

Y
A

V
E

N
U

E

WHITEHALL AVENUE

RIDGEWAY ROAD

B
R

IT
IS

H
L
E

G
IO

N
D

R
IV

E

E
H

A
L
L

P
A

R
A

D
E

CHUMLEIGH
CLOSE

K
E

N
N

E
R

L
E

IG
H

R
O

A
D

THE WALK

CRANLEIGH RISE

Centre:
Newport Road, Rumney

Designation:

Local Centre
Map 1 of 1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

N
Page 1540



7

1
7

7b

9

45

B
ro

o
k

14

Weir

15

7

1

7

R
h
yd

w
a
e
d
ly

d

5

5
5
a

35

12

14

12

27

1

44.2m

MP 1.75

208

1a

7

30a

30

30b

32

19

10

15

2

H
a
ll

8

2

1

20
7

218

2
28

40.8m

2
28a

9

16

41.8m

15

19a

55

13

17

23
8

42.7m

234

236

2
30

B
ank

1

4

1

Hall

LB
1a

13
8

21
7

44.8m

65

Allotment

48

Gardens

54

21
9

Rhiwbina

3

Village

22
5

1

Garden

22
3

2a

6

B
e
u
la

h

U
R

e
f
C

h

4b
4a

4

W
eir

2

2
b

1

18

2

21
7a

PC

60

5
4

33

31

El Sub Sta

Library

22
7

2
21

a

2
21

6a

8c

15

42

8

10

6c

6b

Lloft Deri

FB

FB 7

2

R
hyd

w
aed

ly
d

B
ro

ok

1
1
a

FB

30

31

8

6

FB

13

6

39.3m

2

1

4

LB

19

18

FB

21

38.9m

26

14

83

28

Rhiwbina

Church

El

Methodist

Sub Sta

30

2

10

2

41

53

2
0

41.5m

27

39

1

2
2

1

18

7

14

Rhiwbina

26

Halt

FB

27

4

42.4m

40

5

16

14

67

1

38.9m

37

3

G
L
A

N
R

H
Y

D

B
R

Y
N

D
E

R
I

GERNANT

C
LO

S

L
L
A

N
G

A
N

H
E

O
L

M
AES-Y

-D
ERI

H
E

O
L

T
Y

'N

LON FACH

Y
G

R
O

E
S

Y
GROES

H
E

O
L
-Y

-D
E
R

I

Centre:
Rhiwbina Village

Designation:

Local Centre
Map 1 of 1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

N
Page 1541



2
8

R
ic

h
m

o
n
d

A
p
a
rt

m
e
n
ts

2
7

PW

3
8

PW

70

5
8

7
2

8
0

6
0

4
4

5
6

1
1

1
9

Lowther Court

6
2

1
2
0

8
1

1
3
98

8

38

26

1
9

12.8m

23

20

M
P

1
.5

5

7

1
2
5

13

ntre

3

9

Church

73

TCB

75

69

13.1m7
9

8
6

8
3

78
8
0

8
5

1
1
6

13.7m

8
8

1
0
0

R
a
ve

n
s
co

u
rt

1
to

1
5

1
0
6

13.1m

5
0

3
5

31

SL

37

Sunday

8

Sch
ool

39

5
6

1
3
5

1
2
1

El

Sub

Sta

Richmond

Square

E
D

B
d
yC

R

2

37a

2

4

1

10

1a

2
5

4
9

3
7

1
3

Chy

M
P

1
.7

5

1

1
3

6
1

6
9

2

1
4

5

TCBs

Seng
he

nny
dd

H
al

l

11.6m

E
lS

ub
S
ta

1
0

1

2
0

3
2

9

1
8

12.8m

5
0

2
3

3
5

3
8

3
3

4
5

7
8

6
4

2
6

18

25

3
3

to
3
7

Garage

13.4m

3
1

7
3

6
5

1
4

7
7

5
5

9
0

4
3

4

13.1m

1

9

2

10

10

7

2

1
1
6

1
0
2

5
1

4
5

14.6m

LB

4
7

to

9

13.7m

S
oc

ia
l C

lu
b

C
ity

TCB
1

3

1
3

9

2
6

4

2
3

1

4
0

PH

6

19

31

16

1

11

El S
ub

Sta

Garage

1

32

20

2

13

14.0m

C
R

1

1
8

19

12

10

19

2

14.6m

Hall

25

29

2

Llanbleddian

8

23

Court

1 to 12

13

4

30

3

5

13.4m

13.7m

16

of

FacultyEducation

1
4

2
4

18

5

16

1

14

28

34

56

33

44

El Sub Sta

Hall

14.9m

M
athem

atics

Instituteof

14.3m

3

Holst

House

7

5

2

9

1

30

39

20
18a

53

15.2m

23

1

16

2

Posts

El Sub Sta

40

30

Hall

11

El Sub Sta

LB

ub Sta

El

t

s

tre

3
4

4
6

Works

Chy

2

1
1

R
IC

H
M

O
N

D
R

LOWTHER ROAD

C
R

A
N

B
R

O
O

K
S

T
R

E
E

T

G
O

R
D

O
N

R
O

A
D

C
O

B
U

R
N

S
T

R
E

E
T

R
H

Y
M

N
E

Y
S

T
R

E
E

T

S
EN

G
H
EN

N
Y
D
D

R
O

AD

G
LY

N
R
H
O
N
D
D
A

S
TR

EET

LL
A
N
T
W

IT

STREET

SENGHENNYDD

PLACE

S
A

L
IS

B
U

R
Y

R
O

A
D

MISKIN
STREET

P
A

R
K

G
R

O
V

E

W
YEVERNE

RO
AD

P
A

R
K

L
A

N
E

MUSEUM PLACE

LL
A
N
B
LE

D
D
IA

N
G

A
R
D

E
N
S

LL
A
N
B
LE

D
D
IA

N
G

A
R
D

E
N
S

Centre:
Salisbury Road

Designation:

Local Centre
Map 1 of 1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

N
Page 1542



SP

COURT

130

2

B
or

o
C
o
ns

t ,
A
s l

y
C

o
ns

t
&

E
D

B
dy

C
R

52

Library

7
3

E
l S

ub

86

74

47

S
t a

56

8

33

49

S
p
lo

tt
R

o
a
d

98

13
9

110

1

GREENHILL

112

l3
5

12
9

132

10.4m

40

42

69

19

13

15
5

S
t
S
a
v
io

u
r's

40

C
h
u
rc

h

72

45

38

15

10
9

13

Bethlehem
Ct

12
5

2

16

37

B
a
nk

70

41

1
to

17

C
al

la
gh

an

10.4m

60

71

12

81

69

Star Recreation and

26

Community Centre

12

El Sub Sta

19

17

Church

Splott Road

72

15
1

14
9

16

71
M

e
th

o
d
is

t
C

h
u
rc

h

58

60

15

106

10.4m

l - 4

18

71
A

61

71

70

18

22

34

35

90

57

PO

LB

44

36

TCB

33

60

59

9.8m

16
7

14

8

108

15
3

Cross

89

8
3

43a

91

43

22

17

44

42

52

45

59

96

2

1

20

1
to 9

1

C
ou

rt

20 10.4m

28

1

63

68

83

17

68

60

58a

62

35

58c

58b

80

61

72

82

71

32
to

36

4
1

46

38

40

Club

64

9.4m

30

37

62

19

63

34

92

11
1

17

10.4m

l to 24

Baptist

Court

S
ur

ge
ry

2

17

78

Baptist

11.0m

16

11
1

97

62

MP 169

110

1

10.7m

9

10

7a

S
ur

ge
ry

2

95

15

65

73

49

56

42

59

37

Warehouse

28

26

7

LB

6

54

42

5

TCB

Club

11.3m

59

3

Club

56

53

27

58

48

30

27a

43

53

49

36

47

38

59

33

31

46

36

28

26

4
5

23
25

43

LB

29 22

39

9.4m

20

24

41

66

43

41

23

27

18

41

41a

27
a

2

17

8

11

29

26

34

13

1

2

76

79 11.0m

14

5

A-D

66

13.7m

65

54

PH

67

63

56

23

1a

14

1

42

13

8

2

17

2a

8.5m

37

11
b11

a

39

54

9a

9

38

7

1

5

COV

JANET
STREET

JANET
STREET

ORDELL STREET

S
T
R

E
E
T

C
A

R
L
IS

L
E

ADELINE
STREET

M
ARION

STREET

ADELINE
STREET

EYRE
STREET

SPLO
TT

ROAD

BURNABY
STREET

S
T
R

E
E
T

C
A
R

L
IS

L
E

S
T
R

E
E
T

R
A

IL
W

A
Y

SPLOTT
ROAD

ADELINE
STREET

P
E

A
R

L
S

T
R

E
E

T

T

R
E
E

T

D
IA

M
O

N
D

S
T
R

E
E
T

Centre:
Splott Road

Designation:

Local Centre
Map 1 of 1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

N
Page 1543



LLANISHEN

49

72

51.5m

30

213

45
El Sub Sta

1
9
0

St Isan's

School

House

Lych Gate

Church

1
t o

12

Bank

Police Station

33

37

62

68

34to39

22to33

13
to

2
1

42

1
8

8

59

54

50

19

48

29

52

61

43.9m

2
8
3

8

63

Cemetery

44

38

11

LB

65

43.3m

42.7m

2
1

1
3

1
8

14

42.7m

2216

2
824 2
6

18

20

8

2

7

47.2m

40to45

42

46

Depot

TCB

2
8

46.6m

Bank

1

Surgery

2
5

1
8

2
0

2
2

2
2

50.0m

The Orchards

2
4

2
3
a

75

71PH

3
6

2
4

3
7

2
4

2
8

3
9

El Sub Sta

3
2

12

2
0

1
8

2
6

2
2

16

Car Park31

Church
Inn

Bank

(PH)

L
la

n
is

h
e
n

B
ro

o
k

Library

3
2

3
1

157 5

Homelong

Shelte
r

House

1
1

1 to 35

40

42 44

3
43
6

38

2
83
0

2
4

2
5

27

2
9

42

House

6

13

17

23

Dumbelling

Old People's Home

8

10

15

21

St Isan

14

19

3
8

to
4
8

1
to

11

Cwrt

160

Glas

151

Hall

45.7m

158

1
to

3
5

Onnen

PO

B
ro

o
kv

ie
w

C
o
u
rt

1

4

Ty

4
6

to
5
7

Llys Pegasus

PC

14
12

15

16

El Sub Sta

Dunroaming

10

5

1 to 4

149

El

8

Sub Sta

1
5

2

Leisure Centre

77

B
re

n
tw

o
o
d

C
o
u

rt

STATIO
N

RO
AD

T
E

G
F
A

N
C

L
O

S
E

C
O

U
R

T

H
E

O
L

H
I^

R

L
L
A

N
IS

H
E

N

K
IM

B
E

R
L
E

Y
T

E
R

R
A

C
E

CHEAM PLACE

IL
E

X
C

L
O

S
E

TY-GLAS AVENUE

Centre:
Station Road, Llanishen

Designation:

Local Centre
Map 1 of 1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

N
Page 1544



99

2

Hawthorn House

53

47

wood

14

26

3

14

8

13

23

2

5
4

1

20.7m

Sub Sta

Surgery

3
7

El

3
5

6
4

5
6

3
9

2
a 4a

1
a

3a

75

65

25

Finnimore
Court

4
1

3
6

Hall

5

2

20
to

7

11
9

Church

Louise Court

39

H
azelhurst C

ourt

21.0m

12
10

8

1
to

18

Post

88

76

Community

House

Benton

Centre

141

2

Hailey Court

Und

FF

1
25

1
2
3
a

1
2
7

1
2
9

125a

Ty Robin

Post

43

36

66

68

31

27

101

9
LB

9

3

22a

24

Hawthorn

Prim
ary

Sch
ool

33

Post

29.0m

MP 0.25

1

11
0

7
1

26.8m

29.0m

22

21

11

3

12

2

Centre

2a

Community

Railway Hotel

128

PC

LB

(PH)

TCB

1
1
0

1
1
8

20.7m

Car Park

Posts

1 to 3

Court

Heol Don

5

1

3

FB

7

SP

2

9 6

3

10

4

9
6

1
0
0

9
4

20.4m

1
2
3

1
2
1

1
1
9

1
1
5

7
4

8
6

1
1
3

7
7

1
1
1
a

7
2

23.5m

8

Hailey
10

Llandaf Station

New House

Court

30.5m

3

4

1

1
1
1

3

9
3

8
5

1
0
9

18

2

18a

19

20

21.0m

12

9

17

Surgery

1
-4

1
1

1
7

1
4

1
6

Car Park

1
5

1
2

ED Bdy

Taff

Cottages

4
2

2
4

1
4

34

23

1

13

38

3
4

County

Junior

17

2
7

School

21.0m

6
1

33

4
9

46

47

37

46a

46

6
7

4
8

6
2

6
3

1
4

27

64

26

15

2

1

11

4
2

16

6

SP

30.8m

Royal Exchange
23.8m

(PH)

FF

21.0m

1

2

H
a
ll

6

H
a
w

th
o
rn

79a 7
9

81

1

26

31

121.0m

21

50

Hall

8

15

1a

31.1m

64

93

11

2

6

3

WINGFIELD ROAD

S
T

A
T

I O
N

R
O

A
D

C
LO

S
E

HAW
THORN

ROAD
EAST

DURLS
TON

HIL
TO

N
PLACE

B
E

L
L
E

V
U

E
C

R
E

S
C

E
N

T

HAWTHORN ROAD WEST

T
Y

-M
A

W
R

R
O

A
D

EVANSFIELD ROAD

H
A

Z
E

LH
U

R
S
T

R
O

A
D

TY MAWR ROAD

THE PARADE

ROAD

Centre:
Station Road, Llandaff North

Designation:

Local Centre
Map 1 of 1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

N
Page 1545



Garage

Tel Ex

3
2

SPs

Radyr Station

FB

1

26

Pond

Spring

Spring

2
0

Wood

1
4

1

Sta

Sub

7

5

El

River Taff (Afon Taf)

24

97

1
6

6
9

82

9

1
1

1
6

7
9

SP

14

Car Park

SP

11

1

2

2
b

2
a

14

5

LBTCP

PO

1

B
a
n
k

Meml

5
9

War

38.1m

T
y

G
w
yn

1

5
0

40.0m

2

26

5
7

4
5

3
6

MP 0.5

Christ

Church

5
4

5
4
a

Surgery

3
2

2

42.4m

2
0

Church

3
1

3
3

5

12

3

Sta

5
2

Sub

El

1

Courts

Tennis

L
T

w

L
T

w
rs

L
T

w
rs

46.3m

2
6

11

15

CR

Cwrt Brynteg

Ty Cornel

El Sub Sta

The Rectory

1to6

The Lodge

W
INDSOR

CRESCENT

H
E

O
L

IS
A

F

K
IN

G
' S

A
V

E
N

U
E

WINDSOR ROAD

E
G

R
E

E
N

T
A

F
F

T
E

R
R

A
C

E

P
L
Y

M
O

U
T
H

D
R

IV
E

STATION ROAD

KING'S ROAD

RECTORY CLOSE

Centre:
Station Road, Radyr

Designation:

Local Centre
Map 1 of 1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

N
Page 1546



Y Popty / The Bakery

Asly Const, Boro Const and ED Bdy

1 to 25

2

ESS

Cwrt Pendyris

P
a

th

2

7.0m

16

1

12

18

1
8

1
0

59to61

25

25a
25b26

CR

13

8

Millennium Stadium/Stadi

3

W
o
r k

s

Century Court

7.6m

1
1

to
3
0

1
to

1
0

1

9

SM

2
0

2

7.3m

1
7

1

7.3m

4

1
3

7

9

12

7.6m

25

15

31

Garage

53

37

45 S
lo

p in
g

m
a
so

n
ry

L Twr

5

Litchfield

S Br

Court

1

21

5
6

to
7
6

39 to 55

1
11

2

2

7.3m

1

2
4

2
1

8

7.3m

4

1
2

5
3
b

Hall

5
3
a

5
5

28

W
are

house

W
o
r k

s

26c 26b
26

Mews

3

2
5

2
4

3
6

5
0

50a

1
3

St Dyf rig
's

House

Hotel

59

5
9

14

53

1
to

2
1

13

2
2

to
3
8

7

Garage

1

8

2

1
to

3

H
o
u
se

R
ich

a
rd

H
o
u
s
e

5
6

5
2

1
to

6

E
d
w

a
rd

3
9

2
0

3
7

8

5
7

7.3m

4
9

6
7

45

43

2

2
1

1
1

1
5

7

3
3

4
3

Laboratory

3
2

3
6

3
4

3
0

3
1

2
9

3
5

5
2

1
3

2
5

2
3

3
8

40

2
8

7
4

33

1

6
2

Despenser

Gardens

13

23

6

4

7.3m

1
9

1
4

2
6 El Sub Sta

Hotel

2
4

2
9

T
C

B

Playground

3
6

Playground

L
B

11

2
7

7.6m

6m

4
1

13

12a

B
u
i ld

e
r'
s

Y
a

rd

1

18

36
27

25

3

9

12

4

5

1
6

6

1
3

Mardy Court

11

44

Club

1
4
7

63

32
34

The

2

1
0

1
4

7.6m

Depot

L TWR

22

2

8

7.3m

10

6

13
5

3

16

9

Whitworth Court

12

18

11

14

15

46

23

17

1
a

1

21

24

20

22

27

23

25

19

24

26

56

79

4

2
1

1
2

5.5m

El Sub Sta

1
0

7.0m

66

H
o
u

s
e

93

7.0m

V
i c

to
r ia

95

91

26a

8

7

2

1

2727a

S Br

MP 170.75

74

105

70a

Sikh

68

70

Centre

Posts

6

F
IT

Z
H

A
M

O
N

E
M

B
A

N
K
M

E
N

T

DESPENSER PLACE

P
L
A

N
T

A
G

E
N

E
T

S
T

R
E

E
T

F
IT

Z
H

A
M

O
N

E
M

B
A

N
K

M
E

N
T

F
IT

Z
H

A
M

O
N

L
A

N
E

PENDYRIS STREET

TUDOR STREET

P
L
A

N
T

A
G

E
N

E
T

S
T

R
E

E
T

TUDOR LANE

M
A

R
D

Y
S

T
R

E
E

T

DESPENSER STREET

DESPENSER GARDENS

B
E

A
U

C
H

A
M

P
S

T
R

E
E

T

C
L
A

R
E

S
T

R
E

E
T

C
L

A
R

E
R

O
A

D

A
LLER

TO
N

S
TR

C
O
U
R
T

R
O

A
D

TUDOR LANE

M
O

U
TH

S
TR

EE
T

Centre:
Tudor Street

Designation:

Local Centre
Map 1 of 1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

N
Page 1547



17

15

1

22

26

7

25

20

34

20

21

57

59

60

29

24

61

2
8

2
6

31

23

25

1

28

Path
and

Cycle
way

20
38

20

21

26

21

12a

12

16

1

21

4

32

33

3

13

6

Play Area

14

1
8

17

8

20

1
1

1
1

1
9

1
2

6

2

1
4

16

1
2
a

12

11

6

3

1

10

1

14

8

1
2
9

7

5

21

24

23

14

17

62

22

16

6

9

8

7

66

2
5

15

1

65

2
6

3

FB

1
4

Surgery

7

12

20

5

1

7

2

1

1

8

6

11.7m

Subway

1

11

1

2

5

1

12

7

8

216

14

6

13

22

10

14

15

11

19

18

Faendre
Reen

10

17
13

1

14

13

9.6m

2

11

1

2

2
6

20

17

1

2
3

19

23

1
1

21

17

19

18

30

1

34

2

19
17

1

16

31

19

19

5

1

10

67

27 5

El Sub Sta

1
4

25

9

28

19

8 68

1
0

5

17

14

10

8

1
3

18

1

27

LB

58

50

48

40

44
46

12.4m

54

52

SANDBROOK ROAD

CHARTLEY CLOSE

A
B

E
R

N
E

T
H

Y
C

L
O

S
E

C
A

R
A

D
O

C
C

L
O

S
E

G
LE

N
R

IS
E

C
LO

S
E

SW
A
N
AG

E
C
LO

S
E

CLO

TYLA

S
T
R

A
T
H

Y
R

O
A

D

WICKEN

BACH

C
LO

SE

CLOS

W
H

IN
C

H
A

T

CLOSE

C
L
O

S
E

ASTER
C

LO
SE

C
R
E

S
S
W

E
L
L

C
LO

S
E

BRYTHON DRIVE

S
U

M
M

E
R

H
IL

L
C

L
O

S
E

H
O

R
N
B
E
A
M

W
IL

L
O

W
B

R
O

O
K

D
R

IV
E

C
L
O

S
E

JASMINE DRIVE

C
L
O

S
E

THRUSH

JO
N

Q
U

IL

B
L
A
E
N

A
V
O

N
C

LO
S
E

C
L
O

S
E

CLOSE

W
IN

D
FL

O
W

E
R

C
L

O
S

E

Centre:
Willowbrook Drive Local Centre

Designation:

Local Centre
Map 1 of 1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

�

N
Page 1548



Def

59

43.3m

179

73

189

62

Windso
r Clive

Infant Nurse
y School

Ysg
ol F

abanod A
Meith

rin
fa

10

1

2

32.0m

5

8

402

36.3m

Surgery

63

22

2

8

79

67

64

LB

27

15

426

3

1

1a

219

213

96

51
a

28

30

TCB

41

3

35

15

8

39

Chy

31

30

16

39

27

8

221

51

223

E
l
S
u
b

S
ta

55

53

224
222

61

220

1

Community Centre

32

1

18

27

20

15

63

Posts

S
t
F
ra

n
cis

75

In
fa

n
ts

S
ch

o
o
l

7
1

61

42

56

43

49

28

31

4

30

3
2

2
9

243
241

242

46.0m

244

68

45

5

3

1

253

255

257

251

14

246

27

2
1

3

6

4

8
5

252

28
3

31

34

29

Inglenook

of Assisi

S
lop

in
g

m
a
so

n
ry

Church of

412

St Francis

32.3m

430

15

444

11

74

209

84

199

94

68

74

24

85

26

97

2a

2

St Francis RC

11

School (Junior)

Presb
y

1

W
indso

r Cliv
e Ju

nior School

44.2m

Ysg
ol Ia

u W
indso

r Cliv
e

8

2

44.5m

44.8m

32

Chy

a

Posts

36
36

32

a

38

52

2

44

11

9

1
0

13

5

4a

2b

3a

4b

3b

4

259

2

56

26

61

PLACE

W
ILSON

W
IL

S
O

N
R

O
A

D

GRAND

HIG
HBURY

PLACE

FOXGLO
VE

CLOSE

AVENUE

DEERE
PLACE

DEERE ROAD

M
O

O
R

E
R

O
A
D

R
O

A
D

W
IL

S
O

N

Centre:
Wilson Road

Designation:

Local Centre
Map 1 of 1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2013 Ordnance Survey 100023376

N
Page 1549



85 

Appendix 9: Monitoring Framework 
 

CONTEXTUAL 
INDICATORS TARGET TRIGGER SOURCE 

Annual 
unemployment 
rate 

The annual 
unemployment 
rate decreases 

The annual 
unemployment 
rate increases 
for two or more 
consecutive 
years. 

Regional 
Labour Market 
Statistics 
(ONS) and 
Stats Wales 

% of population 
in the 100 most 
deprived wards 
in Wales 

The percentage 
of population in 
the 100 most 
deprived wards 
in Wales 
decreases 

The percentage 
of population in 
the 100 most 
deprived wards 
in Wales 
increases for 2 
or more 
consecutive 
years 

Welsh Index of 
Multiple 
Deprivation 

Level of Police 
recorded crime 
in Cardiff 

Police Recorded 
Crime rates 
decrease 

Police Recorded 
Crime rates 
increase for two 
or more 
consecutive 
years. 

Local Crime 
Statistics, 
Home Office 
(ONS) 

Percentage of 
adults meeting 
recommended 
guidelines for 
physical activity 

The percentage 
of adults 
meeting 
recommended 
guidelines for 
physical activity 
increases 
annually over 
the Plan period 

The percentage 
of adults 
meeting 
recommended 
guidelines for 
physical activity 
decreases for 
two or more 
consecutive 
years 

Wales Health 
Survey 

Waste reduction 
rate 

Waste reduction 
rate of 1.2% 
annually to 
2050 

The waste 
reduction rate 
falls below 1.2% 
for two or more 
consecutive 
years 

CCC Waste 
Management 
Section 

 

Page 1550



86 

 
OBJECTIVE 1 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS AND PROVIDE THE NECESSARY 
INFRASTRUCTURE TO DELIVER DEVELOPMENT 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

OB1 EC1 KP2, KP9, 
EC1-EC7 

CORE 
Employment 
land permitted 
(ha) on allocated 
sites as a 
percentage of all 
employment 
allocations 

None None When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

• Council 
Business 
and 
Industrial 
Monitoring 
Schedule 

• Council 
Business 
Class 
Office 
Schedule 

OB1 EC2 KP2, KP9, 
EC1-EC7 

CORE 
Annual 
Employment 
land take up 
(based on 
completions) in 
Cardiff (including 
on Strategic 
Sites - Policy 
KP2) 

Offices (B1) = 
27,000-33,400 
sqm annually. 
 
Industrial (B1 
b/c, B2, B8) = 4 
to 7 ha annually 

Offices (B1) = 
Take up is 
more than 
10% above or 
below the 
target for 2 or 
more 
consecutive 
years 
Industrial (B1 
b/c, B2, B8) = 
Take up is 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 

• Council 
Business 
and 
Industrial 
Monitoring 
Schedule 

• Council 
Business 
Class 

P
age 1551



87 

OBJECTIVE 1 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS AND PROVIDE THE NECESSARY 
INFRASTRUCTURE TO DELIVER DEVELOPMENT 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

more than 
10% above or 
below the 
target for 2 or 
more 
consecutive 
years 

to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

Office 
Schedule 

OB1 EC3 KP2, EC1-
EC7 

LOCAL 
Amount of 
employment 
land  lost to non 
-employment 
uses in primary 
and local 
employment 
sites (Policy 
EC1) 

No loss of 
employment 
land (Policy EC1) 
unless in 
accordance with 
Policy EC3 

Loss of one or 
more occupied 
premises or 
parcel of land 
on primary or 
local 
employment 
sites (Policy 
EC1) unless in 
accordance 
with Policy 
EC3 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

• Council 
Business 
and 
Industrial 
Monitoring 
Schedule 

• Council 
Business 
Class 
Office 
Schedule  

• Council 
Monitoring 
– Planning 
Application
s and 
Consents  

OB1 EC4 KP2(A), 
KP9, EC1-
EC7 

LOCAL  
Employment 
provision on 
Allocated Sites – 
(KP2 A – Cardiff 

Employment 
densities for B1 
use at least 14.5  
per sqm (gross 
external value)  

No trigger is 
set at present 
but will be 
revised once 

N/A • Council 
Business 
and 
Industrial 

P
age 1552



88 

OBJECTIVE 1 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS AND PROVIDE THE NECESSARY 
INFRASTRUCTURE TO DELIVER DEVELOPMENT 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

Central 
Enterprise Zone) 
 

further details 
are known. 

Monitoring 
Schedule 

• Council 
Business 
Class 
Office 
Schedule 

OB1 EC5 KP2(C), 
KP9, EC1-
EC7 

LOCAL  
Employment 
provision on 
Allocated Sites – 
(KP2 C – North 
West Cardiff ) 

15,000 sqm (B1 
& B1 (B&C)  

No trigger is 
set at present 
but will be 
revised once 
further details 
are known. 

N/A • Council 
Business 
and 
Industrial 
Monitoring 
Schedule 

• Council 
Business 
Class 
Office 
Schedule 

OB1 EC6 KP2(D&E), 
KP9, EC1-
EC7 

LOCAL 
Employment 
provision on 
Allocated Sites – 
(KP2 D&E – 
North of J33 + 
South of 
Creigiau) 

3 ha by J33 plus 
2.5 ha flexible 
local 
employment 
space 

No trigger is 
set at present 
but will be 
revised once 
further details 
are known. 

N/A • Council 
Business 
and 
Industrial 
Monitoring 
Schedule 

• Council 
Business 
Class 

P
age 1553



89 

OBJECTIVE 1 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS AND PROVIDE THE NECESSARY 
INFRASTRUCTURE TO DELIVER DEVELOPMENT 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

Office 
Schedule 

OB1 EC7 KP2(F), 
KP9, EC1-
EC7 

LOCAL 
Employment 
provision on 
Allocated Sites 
(KP2 F – North 
East Cardiff) 

6.5 ha (B1 & B1 
(B&C) 

No trigger is 
set at present 
but will be 
revised once 
further details 
are known. 

N/A • Council 
Business 
and 
Industrial 
Monitoring 
Schedule 

• Council 
Business 
Class 
Office 
Schedule 

OB1 EC8 KP2 (H), 
KP9, EC1-
EC7 

LOCAL 
Employment 
provision on 
Allocated Sites – 
(KP2 H – South 
of St Mellons 
Business Park 

80,000 to 
90,000 
sqm  (B1(b)/(c) 

No trigger is 
set at present 
but will be 
revised once 
further details 
are known. 

N/A • Council 
Business 
and 
Industrial 
Monitoring 
Schedule 

• Council 
Business 
Class 
Office 
Schedule 

OB1 EC9 KP2, KP9, 
EC1-EC7 

LOCAL 
Net job creation 
over the 
remaining Plan 
period (Total = 
40,000 over 
whole Plan 

19,100 by 2026 
or 1,736 
annually. Target 
is set out 1,750 
jobs annually 
over the 

If annual 
creation of 
new jobs falls 
more than 
10% below 
the 
anticipated 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 

• ONS 
(Annual 
Business 
Inquiry & 
Annual 
Population 
Survey 

P
age 1554



90 

OBJECTIVE 1 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS AND PROVIDE THE NECESSARY 
INFRASTRUCTURE TO DELIVER DEVELOPMENT 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

period, 20,900 
jobs created 
between 2006 
and 2015) 

remaining Plan 
period   

rate of 1,750 
jobs for 2 or 
more 
consecutive 
years 

necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB1 EC10 R1-R8 LOCAL 
Active A1 (retail) 
units within 
District & Local 
Centres 
remaining the 
predominant use 

A1 units 
comprising 40% 
of all units within 
District & Local 
Centres (Base 
Level in 2013) 

A1 units 
comprising 
less than 40% 
of all units 
within a 
centre. 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

• Council 
Monitoring
/Site 
Surveys 

P
age 1555



91 

OBJECTIVE 1 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS AND PROVIDE THE NECESSARY 
INFRASTRUCTURE TO DELIVER DEVELOPMENT 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

OB1 EC11 R1-R8 LOCAL 
Proportion of 
protected City 
Centre shopping 
frontages with 
over 50% Class 
A1 (Shop) units. 

100% 90% When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

• Council 
Monitoring
/Site 
Surveys 

OB1 EC12 KP10, R1-
R8 

LOCAL 
Percentage of 
ground floor 
vacant retail 
units in the 
Central Shopping 
Area, District & 
Local Centres 

Vacancy levels 
are no higher 
than the national 
UK average 
(12%)   
 
Current vacancy 
levels in Cardiff 
are 9% (City 
Centre), 10% 
(District 
Centres) and 9% 
(Local Centres) 

Vacancy levels 
rise above 
national UK 
average for 
more than 2 
consecutive 
years 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 

• Council 
Monitoring
/Site 
Surveys 

• Council 
City 
Centre 
Land Use 
Floor 
Space 
Survey 

P
age 1556



92 

OBJECTIVE 1 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS AND PROVIDE THE NECESSARY 
INFRASTRUCTURE TO DELIVER DEVELOPMENT 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

• GOAD 
Data 
(Experian) 

 

OB1 EC13 KP10, R1-
R8 

LOCAL 
Number of retail 
developments 
permitted 
outside of the 
Central Shopping 
Area and District 
Centres not in 
accordance with 
Policy R4 and an 
assessment of 
need and strict 
application of 
the sequential 
test 

No retail 
developments 
permitted 
outside these 
areas (unless in 
accordance with 
Policy R4 and an 
assessment of 
need and strict 
application of 
the sequential 
test) 

1 or more 
retail 
developments 
are permitted 
outside of the 
Central 
Shopping Area 
and District 
Centres not in 
accordance 
with Policy R4 
and an 
assessment of 
need and 
strict 
application of 
the sequential 
test 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

• Council 
Out of 
Centre 
Monitoring 
Schedule 

• Council 
Monitoring 
–  
Planning 
Application
s and 
Consents 

OB1 EC14 KP2, KP6, 
KP8, T1-T9 

LOCAL  
Achievement of 
50:50 modal 
split for all 
journeys by 
2026 

Increase the 
sustainable 
travel proportion 
of the modal 
split by 1% per 
annum for each 
journey purpose: 

Failure to 
achieve an 
annual 
increase of 
1% for each 
journey 
purpose for 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 

• CCC 
Planning 
Policy/ 
Transporta
tion 

P
age 1557



93 

OBJECTIVE 1 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS AND PROVIDE THE NECESSARY 
INFRASTRUCTURE TO DELIVER DEVELOPMENT 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

1) Work = 
45.2% (2014) 
2) Education = 
57.8% (2014) 
3) Shopping 
(City Centre) = 
67.1% (2014) 
4) Shopping 
(Other) = 43.2% 
(2014) 
5) Leisure = 
58% (2014) 

two or more 
consecutive 
years 

necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

• Infrastruct
ure Plan 

• Cardiff 
Local 
Transport 
Plan (LTP)  

• Ask Cardiff 
Survey 

• Infrastruct
ure Plan 

OB1 EC15 KP2, KP6, 
KP8, T1-T9 

LOCAL 
Percentage of 
people walking 
(all journeys) 

An annual 
increase of 
journeys made 
on foot for each 
journey purpose: 
1) Work = 
15.9% (2014) 
2) Education = 
24.1% (2014) 
3) Shopping 
(City Centre) = 
16.7% (2014) 
4) Shopping 
(Other) = 22.3% 
(2014) 
5) Leisure = 
19% (2014) 
 

Failure to 
achieve an 
annual 
increase for 
each journey 
purpose for 
two or more 
consecutive 
years 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

• Transporta
tion 
Surveys 

• Accessibilit
y Mapping 

• Congestion 
Monitoring 

• Ask Cardiff 
Survey 

• Infrastruct
ure Plan 

P
age 1558



94 

OBJECTIVE 1 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS AND PROVIDE THE NECESSARY 
INFRASTRUCTURE TO DELIVER DEVELOPMENT 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

OB1 EC16 KP2, KP6, 
KP8, T1-T9 

LOCAL 
Percentage of 
people 
cycling(all 
journeys) 

An annual 
increase of 
journeys made 
by bike for each 
journey purpose: 
1) Work = 
10.6%  (2014) 
2) Education = 
9.5% (2014) 
3) Shopping 
(City Centre) = 
5.9% (2014) 
4) Shopping 
(Other) = 5.7% 
(2014) 
5) Leisure = 
10.1% (2014) 
 

Failure to 
achieve an 
annual 
increase for 
each journey 
purpose for 
two or more 
consecutive 
years 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

• Transporta
tion 
Surveys 

• Accessibilit
y Mapping 

• Congestion 
Monitoring 

• Ask Cardiff 
Survey 

• Infrastruct
ure Plan 

OB1 EC17 KP2, KP6, 
KP8, T1-T9 

LOCAL 
Percentage of 
people travelling 
by bus (all 
journeys) 

An annual 
increase of 
journeys made 
by bus for each 
journey purpose: 
1) Work = 
11.1%  (2014) 
2) Education = 
13% (2014) 
3) Shopping 
(City Centre) = 
29.4% (2014) 

Failure to 
achieve an 
annual 
increase for 
each journey 
purpose for 
two or more 
consecutive 
years 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 

• Transporta
tion 
Surveys 

• Accessibilit
y Mapping 

• Congestion 
Monitoring 

• Ask Cardiff 
Survey 

• Infrastruct
ure Plan 

P
age 1559



95 

OBJECTIVE 1 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS AND PROVIDE THE NECESSARY 
INFRASTRUCTURE TO DELIVER DEVELOPMENT 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

4) Shopping 
(Other) = 8.6% 
(2014) 
5) Leisure = 
11.2(2014) 
 

guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB1 EC18 KP2, KP6, 
KP8, T1-T9 

LOCAL 
Percentage of 
people travelling 
by train (all 
journeys) 

An annual 
increase of 
journeys made 
by bus for each 
journey purpose: 
1) Work = 5.8% 
(2014) 
2) Education = 
5.2% (2014) 
3) Shopping 
(City Centre) = 
10.6% (2014) 
4) Shopping 
(Other) = 3.8% 
(2014) 
5) Leisure = 
8.7% (2014) 
 

Failure to 
achieve an 
annual 
increase for 
each journey 
purpose for 
two or more 
consecutive 
years 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

• Transporta
tion 
Surveys 

• Accessibilit
y Mapping 

• Congestion 
Monitoring 

• Ask Cardiff 
Survey 

• Infrastruct
ure Plan 

OB1 EC19 KP2, KP6, 
KP8, T1-T9 

LOCAL 
Improvement in 
journey times by 
bus 

An annual 1 
percent 
improvement in 
journey times for 
key corridors 
(North West 
Corridor, North 

Failure to 
achieve an 
annual 
improvement 
in bus journey 
times of 1% 
for two or 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 

• Transporta
tion 
Surveys 

• Accessibilit
y Mapping 

P
age 1560



96 

OBJECTIVE 1 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS AND PROVIDE THE NECESSARY 
INFRASTRUCTURE TO DELIVER DEVELOPMENT 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

East Corridor, 
Eastern Corridor 
and Southern 
Corridor) from 
adoption of the 
Local 
Development 
Plan 
 

more 
consecutive 
years 

necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. The 
assessment will 
also identify 
congested pinch 
points and  
quantify specific 
corridor journey 
time and journey 
time reliability 
improvements 
that are required 
and establish 
appropriate 
revised targets 

• Congestion 
Monitoring 

• Ask Cardiff 
Survey 

• Transport 
Assessmen
ts received 
through 
the 
Developm
ent 
Control 
process; 

• S106 
Monitoring 
Requireme
nts 
establishe
d through 
the 
Developm
ent 
Control 
process 

• Infrastruct
ure Plan 

P
age 1561



97 

OBJECTIVE 1 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS AND PROVIDE THE NECESSARY 
INFRASTRUCTURE TO DELIVER DEVELOPMENT 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

OB1 EC20 KP2, KP6, 
KP8, T1-T9 

LOCAL 
Improvement in 
bus journey time 
reliability 

An annual 1 
percent 
improvement in 
journey time 
reliability for key 
corridors (North 
West Corridor, 
North East 
Corridor, Eastern 
Corridor and 
Southern 
Corridor) from 
adoption of the 
Local 
Development 
Plan 

Failure to 
achieve an 
annual 
improvement 
in bus journey 
time reliability 
of 1% for two 
or more 
consecutive 
years 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. The 
assessment will 
also identify 
congested pinch 
points and  
quantify specific 
corridor journey 
time and journey 
time reliability 
improvements 
that are required 
and establish 
appropriate 
revised targets 

• Transporta
tion 
Surveys 

• Accessibilit
y Mapping 

• Congestion 
Monitoring 

• Ask Cardiff 
Survey 

• Transport 
Assessmen
ts received 
through 
the 
Developm
ent 
Control 
process; 

• S106 
Monitoring 
Requireme
nts 
establishe
d through 
the 
Developm
ent 

P
age 1562



98 

OBJECTIVE 1 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS AND PROVIDE THE NECESSARY 
INFRASTRUCTURE TO DELIVER DEVELOPMENT 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

Control 
process 

• Infrastruct
ure Plan 

OB1 EC21 KP2, KP6, 
KP8, T4 

LOCAL 
Delivery of a 
regional 
transport hub 

A regional 
transport hub 
will be delivered 
by 2018 

Failure to 
deliver a 
regional 
transport hub 
by 2018 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

• Cardiff 
Council 
Corporate 
Business 
Plan 

• Infrastruct
ure Plan 

• Cardiff 
Local 
Transport 
Plan 

OB1 EC22 KP2, KP6, 
KP8, T1-T9 

LOCAL  
Delivery of new 
sustainable 
transportation 
infrastructure 
including: Rapid 
Bus Corridors, 
Cycle Network, 

To prepare & 
implement a 
range of 
sustainable 
transport 
schemes 
including 
schemes 

Failure to 
deliver 
projects 
identified in 
LTP 
timeframes 
and/or failure 
to deliver 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 

• CCC 
Planning 
Policy/ 
Transporta
tion 

• Infrastruct
ure Plan 

P
age 1563



99 

OBJECTIVE 1 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS AND PROVIDE THE NECESSARY 
INFRASTRUCTURE TO DELIVER DEVELOPMENT 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

Transport Hubs 
and LTP 
schemes to 
mitigate 
development 
impacts and 
support modal 
shift    

identified in the 
Cardiff LTP which 
support modal 
shift and the 
delivery of the 
Masterplanning 
principles set out 
in the LDP 

sustainable 
key principles 
as referenced 
in OB4 SN12 

corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

• Cardiff 
Local 
Transport 
Plan 

OB1 EC23 R3 LOCAL 
Central Shopping 
Area Protected 
Frontages SPG 

 Failure to 
adopt SPG 
within 12 
months of 
Plan adoption 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

• CCC 
Planning 
Policy 

  

P
age 1564



100 

OB1 EC24 KP5 LOCAL 
Shop Fronts and 
Signs Guidance 
SPG 

 Failure to 
adopt SPG 
within 18 
months of 
Plan adoption 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB1 EC25 EC1, EC3 
 
 
 

LOCAL 
Protection of 
Employment 
Land and 
Premises for 
Business, 
Industry and 
Warehousing 
SPG 

 Failure to 
adopt SPG 
within 18 
months of 
Plan adoption 
 
 
 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

CCC Planning 
Policy 
 

P
age 1565



101 

 
 
 
 
OBJECTIVE 2 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED SOCIAL NEEDS 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

OB2 SO1 KP1 CORE 
The housing land 
supply taken 
from the current 
Housing Land 
Availability 
Study (TAN1) 

A minimum 5 
year supply of 
land for 
residential 
development is 
maintained 
throughout the 
Plan period 

Less than a 5 
year supply of 
residential 
land is 
recorded for 
any year 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

• Council 
Housing 
Monitoring 
Survey 

• Joint 
Housing 
Land 
Availability 
Study 

OB2 SO2 KP1 CORE 
The number of 
net general 
market dwellings 
built 

Provide 22,555 
net general 
market dwellings 
over the 
remaining Plan 
period in 
accordance with 
the cumulative 2 
year targets set 
out below: 

Failure to 
deliver the 
required 
number of 
dwellings for 
each 2 year 
period. 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 

• Council 
Housing 
Monitoring 
Survey 

• Joint 
Housing 
Land 

P
age 1566



102 

OBJECTIVE 2 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED SOCIAL NEEDS 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

2016: 2,495 
2018: 4,096 
2020: 4,153 
2022: 4,042 
2024: 4,010 
2026: 3,759 

including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

Availability 
Study 

 

OB2 SO3 KP1, KP2, 
KP4, KP13, 
H3 

CORE 
The number of 
net additional 
affordable 
dwellings built 
(TAN2) 

Provide 6,646 
net affordable 
units over the 
remaining Plan 
period 
(representing an 
average of 
22.8% of total 
housing 
provision). 
 
Expected 
delivery rate to 
meet the target 
set out below: 
2016: 735 
2018: 1,207 
2020: 1,224 
2022: 1,191 
2024: 1,181 
2026: 1,108 

Failure to 
deliver the 
required 
number of 
dwellings for 
each 2 year 
period. 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

• Council 
Housing 
Monitoring 
Survey 

• Joint 
Housing 
Land 
Availability 
Study 

 
 

OB2 SO4 KP1 CORE Provide 29,201 
dwellings over 
the remaining 

Failure to 
deliver the 
required 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 

• Council 
Housing 

P
age 1567



103 

OBJECTIVE 2 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED SOCIAL NEEDS 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

Annual dwelling 
completions (all 
dwellings) 

Plan period in 
accordance with 
the cumulative 2 
year targets set 
out below:  
2016: 3,230 
2018: 5,303 
2020: 5,377 
2022: 5,233 
2024: 5,191 
2026: 4,866 
 
 

number of 
dwellings for 
each 2 year 
period. 

will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

Monitoring 
Survey 

• Joint 
Housing 
Land 
Availability 
Study  

OB2 SO5 KP1 LOCAL 
Number of 
windfall units 
completed per 
annum on all 
sites 

Annual target of 
overall 
anticipated 
windfall 
contributions for 
the remainder of 
the Plan period - 
488 dwellings 
per annum 

Delivery 
varies by 
more than 
10% above or 
below 488 
dwellings per 
annum for any 
consecutive 2 
year period. 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 

• Council 
Housing 
Monitoring 
Survey 

P
age 1568



104 

OBJECTIVE 2 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED SOCIAL NEEDS 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB2 SO6 KP3(B) LOCAL 
Number of 
dwellings 
permitted 
annually outside 
the defined 
settlement 
boundaries that 
does not satisfy 
LDP policies 

Number of 
dwellings 
permitted that 
are not in 
accordance with 
KP3(B) 

1 or more 
permission 
that does not 
satisfy LDP 
policies 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

Council 
Housing 
Monitoring 
Survey 

OB2 SO7 H7 LOCAL 
Keep the Seawall 
Road site under 
review for 
potential 
permanent 
residential Gypsy 
and Traveller 
accommodation 

 Site is no 
longer 
categorised 
within Flood 
Risk Zone C2 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 

• CCC 
Planning 
Policy  

• CCC 
Housing 
Service 

P
age 1569



105 

OBJECTIVE 2 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED SOCIAL NEEDS 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB2 SO8 H7 LOCAL                 
Provision is 
made for 
meeting 
identified needs 
for permanent 
Gypsy and 
Traveller  
accommodation 

1. Agree 
project 
management 
arrangements  in
cluding reporting 
structure and 
representatives  
- July 15 
2. Agree 
methodology for 
undertaking site 
search and 
assessment – 
December 2015 
3. Undertake 
Gypsy and 
Traveller Needs 
Assessment for 
both permanent 
and transit 
pitches in 
accordance with 
Housing (Wales) 
Act 2014 – Feb 
2016 

Failure to 
achieve these 
targets 

Yes • CCC 
Planning 
Policy  

• CCC 
Housing 
Service 

P
age 1570



106 

OBJECTIVE 2 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED SOCIAL NEEDS 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

4. Undertake 
a site search and 
assessment  and 
secure approval 
of findings – Jul 
2016 
5. Secure 
planning 
permission and 
funding 
(including any 
grant funding 
from Welsh 
Government) for 
identified 
sites(s) required 
to meet the 
short term need 
for 43 pitches by 
May 2017 
6. Secure 
planning 
permission and 
funding 
(including any 
grant funding 
from Welsh 
Government) for 
identified(s) 
required to meet 
the long term 
need for 65 
pitches by May 
2021  

P
age 1571



107 

OBJECTIVE 2 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED SOCIAL NEEDS 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

OB2 SO9 H7 LOCAL 
Provision is 
made for 
meeting 
identified needs 
for transit Gypsy 
and Traveller 
accommodation 

1. Agree 
project 
management 
arrangements  in
cluding reporting 
structure and 
representatives  
- July 2015 
2. Agree 
methodology for 
undertaking site 
search and 
assessment – 
December 2015 
3. Undertake 
Gypsy and 
Traveller Needs 
Assessment for 
both permanent 
and transit 
pitches in 
accordance with 
Housing (Wales) 
Act 2014 – Feb 
2016 
4. Undertake 
a site search and 
assessment  and 
secure approval 
of findings – Jul 
2016 
5. Secure 
planning 
permission and 

Failure to 
achieve these 
targets 

Yes • CCC 
Planning 
Policy  

• CCC 
Housing 
Service 

P
age 1572



108 

OBJECTIVE 2 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED SOCIAL NEEDS 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

funding 
(including any 
grant funding 
from Welsh 
Government) for 
identified 
sites(s) required 
to meet short 
term – May 2017 
6. Secure 
planning 
permission and 
funding 
(including any 
grant funding 
from Welsh 
Government) for 
identified(s) 
required to meet 
long term need – 
May 2021 

OB2 SO10 H7 LOCAL 
Total number of 
Gypsy and 
Traveller pitches 
for residential 
accommodation 

Ensure the 
existing supply 
of pitches is 
maintained. 
(Should existing 
pitches be no 
longer available 
alternative 
pitches will be 
sought)  

Any net loss 
of existing 
Gypsy and 
Traveller pitch 
provision 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 

 CCC 
Planning 
Policy  

 CCC 
Housing 
Service 

P
age 1573



109 

OBJECTIVE 2 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED SOCIAL NEEDS 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB2 SO11 KP2 LOCAL                 
Total annual 
dwelling 
completions of 
Strategic 
Housing Site A – 
Cardiff Central 
Enterprise Zone 

2,150 dwellings 
will be delivered 
over the 
remainder of the 
Plan period on 
this Strategic 
Site in 
accordance with 
the 2 year 
cumulative 
delivery rates 
set out below. 
Expected 
delivery rates 
based on the 
JHLAS 2014 and 
developer 
intentions:           
2016: 231 
2018: 254 
2020: 405 
2022: 400            
2024: 400            
2026: 460 

Failure to 
deliver the 
required 
number of 
dwellings for 
each 2 year 
period. 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

Council 
Housing 
Monitoring 
Survey 

OB2 SO12 KP2 LOCAL                 
Total annual 

500 dwellings 
will be delivered 

Failure to 
deliver the 

When a trigger 
point is activated 

Council 
Housing 

P
age 1574



110 

OBJECTIVE 2 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED SOCIAL NEEDS 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

dwelling 
completions of 
Strategic 
Housing Site B – 
Gas Works, 
Ferry Road 

over the 
remainder of the 
Plan period on 
this Strategic 
Site in 
accordance with 
the 2 year 
cumulative 
delivery rates 
set out below. 
Expected 
delivery rates 
are based on 
developer 
intentions:           
2016: 0 
2018: 80 
2020: 140 
2022: 170            
2024: 110            
2026: 0 

required 
number of 
dwellings for 
each 2 year 
period. 

an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

Monitoring 
Survey 

OB2 SO13 KP2 LOCAL                
Total annual 
dwelling 
completions of 
Strategic 
Housing Site C – 
North West 
Cardiff 

5,000 dwellings 
will be delivered 
over the 
remainder of the 
Plan period on 
this Strategic 
Site in 
accordance with 
the 2 year 
cumulative 
delivery rates 
set out below. 

Failure to 
deliver the 
required 
number of 
dwellings for 
each 2 year 
period. 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 

Council 
Housing 
Monitoring 
Survey 

P
age 1575



111 

OBJECTIVE 2 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED SOCIAL NEEDS 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

Expected 
delivery rates 
are based on 
developer 
intentions: 
2016: 135 
2018: 624 
2020: 1,060 
2022: 1,060         
2024: 1,060         
2026: 1,060 

to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB2 SO14 KP2 LOCAL 
Total annual 
dwelling 
completions of 
Strategic 
Housing Site D – 
North of Junction 
33 

2,000 dwellings 
will be delivered 
over the 
remainder of the 
Plan period on 
this Strategic 
Site in 
accordance with 
the 2 year 
cumulative 
delivery rates 
set out below. 
Expected 
delivery rates 
are based on 
developer 
intentions: 
2016: 110 
2018: 240 
2020: 300 
2022: 400            

Failure to 
deliver the 
required 
number of 
dwellings for 
each 2 year 
period. 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

Council 
Housing 
Monitoring 
Survey 

P
age 1576



112 

OBJECTIVE 2 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED SOCIAL NEEDS 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

2024: 450            
2026: 500 

OB2 SO15 KP2 LOCAL                 
Total annual 
dwelling 
completions of 
Strategic 
Housing Site E – 
South of 
Creigiau 

650 dwellings 
will be delivered 
over the 
remainder of the 
Plan period on 
this Strategic 
Site in 
accordance with 
the 2 year 
cumulative 
delivery rates 
set out below. 
Expected 
delivery rates 
are based on 
developer 
intentions: 
2016: 150 
2018: 300 
2020: 200 

Failure to 
deliver the 
required 
number of 
dwellings for 
each 2 year 
period. 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

Council 
Housing 
Monitoring 
Survey 

OB2 SO16 KP2 LOCAL                 
Total annual 
dwelling 
completions of 
Strategic 
Housing Site F – 
North East 
Cardiff (West of 
Pontprennau) 

4,500 dwellings 
will be delivered 
over the 
remainder of the 
Plan period on 
this Strategic 
Site in 
accordance with 
the 2 year 
cumulative 
delivery rates 

Failure to 
deliver the 
required 
number of 
dwellings for 
each 2 year 
period. 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 

Council 
Housing 
Monitoring 
Survey 

P
age 1577



113 

OBJECTIVE 2 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED SOCIAL NEEDS 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

set out below. 
Expected 
delivery rates 
are based on 
developer 
intentions: 
2016: 180 
2018: 1,197 
2020: 808 
2022: 808            
2024: 808            
2026: 699 

review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB2 SO17 KP2 LOCAL                 
Total annual 
dwelling 
completions of 
Strategic 
Housing Site G – 
East of 
Pontprennau 
Link Road 

1,300 dwellings 
will be delivered 
over the 
remainder of the 
Plan period on 
this Strategic 
Site in 
accordance with 
the 2 year 
cumulative 
delivery rates 
set out below. 
Expected 
delivery rates 
are based on 
developer 
intentions: 
2016: 140 
2018: 375 
2020: 285 
2022: 270            

Failure to 
deliver the 
required 
number of 
dwellings for 
each 2 year 
period. 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

Council 
Housing 
Monitoring 
Survey 

P
age 1578



114 

OBJECTIVE 2 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED SOCIAL NEEDS 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

2024: 200            
2026: 30 

OB2 SO18 KP2, KP13 LOCAL 
Annual 
affordable 
dwellings 
completions of 
Strategic 
Housing Site A – 
Cardiff Central 
Enterprise Zone 

414 affordable 
dwellings will be 
delivered over 
the remainder of 
the Plan period 
on this Strategic 
Site in 
accordance with 
the 2 year 
cumulative 
delivery rates 
set out below. 
Expected 
delivery rates 
are based on the 
JHLAS 2014 and 
developer 
intentions: 
2016: 0 
2018: 100 
2020: 105 
2022: 68 
2024: 68 
2026: 69             

Failure to 
deliver the 
required 
number of 
dwellings for 
each 2 year 
period. 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

Council 
Housing 
Monitoring 
Survey 

OB2 SO19 KP2, KP13 LOCAL                 
Annual 
affordable 
dwelling 
completions of 
Strategic 
Housing Site B – 

100 affordable 
dwellings will be 
delivered over 
the remainder of 
the Plan period 
on this Strategic 
Site in 

 When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 

 

P
age 1579



115 

OBJECTIVE 2 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED SOCIAL NEEDS 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

Gas Works, 
Ferry Road 

accordance with 
the 2 year 
cumulative 
delivery rates 
set out below. 
Expected 
delivery rates 
are based on 
developer 
intentions: 
2016: 0 
2018: 16 
2020: 28 
2022: 34 
2024: 22 
2026: 0 

necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB2 SO20 KP2, KP13 LOCAL                 
Annual 
affordable 
dwelling 
completions of 
Strategic 
Housing Site C – 
North West 
Cardiff 

1,500 affordable 
dwellings will be 
delivered over 
the remainder of 
the Plan period 
on this Strategic 
Site in 
accordance with 
the 2 year 
cumulative 
delivery rates 
set out below. 
Expected 
delivery rates 
are based on 
developer 
intentions: 

 When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 

 

P
age 1580



116 

OBJECTIVE 2 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED SOCIAL NEEDS 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

2016: 41 
2018: 187 
2020: 318 
2022: 318 
2024: 318 
2026: 318 

require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB2 SO21 KP2, KP13 LOCAL                 
Annual 
affordable 
dwelling 
completions of 
Strategic 
Housing Site D - 
North of Junction 
33 

603 affordable 
dwellings will be 
delivered over 
the remainder of 
the Plan period 
on this Strategic 
Site in 
accordance with 
the 2 year 
cumulative 
delivery rates 
set out below. 
Expected 
delivery rates 
are based on 
developer 
intentions: 
2016: 100 
2018: 100 
2020: 100 
2022: 100 
2024: 100 
2026: 103 

 When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

 

OB2 SO22 KP2, KP13 LOCAL                 
Annual 
affordable 
dwelling 

195 affordable 
dwellings will be 
delivered over 
the remainder of 

 When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 

 

P
age 1581



117 

OBJECTIVE 2 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED SOCIAL NEEDS 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

completions of 
Strategic 
Housing Site E – 
South of 
Creigiau 

the Plan period 
on this Strategic 
Site in 
accordance with 
the 2 year 
cumulative 
delivery rates 
set out below. 
Expected 
delivery rates 
are based on 
developer 
intentions: 
2016: 37 
2018: 74 
2020: 49 
2022: 12 
2024: 11 
2026 - 11 

to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB2 SO23 KP2, KP13 LOCAL                 
Annual 
affordable 
dwelling 
completions of 
Strategic 
Housing Site F - 
North East 
Cardiff (West of 
Pontprennau) 

1,050 affordable 
dwellings will be 
delivered over 
the remainder of 
the Plan period 
on this Strategic 
Site in 
accordance with 
the 2 year 
cumulative 
delivery rates 
set out below. 
Expected 
delivery rates 

 When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 

 

P
age 1582



118 

OBJECTIVE 2 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED SOCIAL NEEDS 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

are based on 
developer 
intentions: 
2016 : 0 
2018: 114 
2020: 242 
2022: 242 
2024: 242 
2026: 210 

whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB2 SO24 KP2, KP13 LOCAL                 
Annual 
affordable 
dwelling 
completions of 
Strategic 
Housing Site G – 
East of 
Pontprennau 
Link Road 

390 affordable 
dwellings will be 
delivered over 
the remainder of 
the Plan period 
on this Strategic 
Site in 
accordance with 
the 2 year 
cumulative 
delivery rates 
set out below. 
Expected 
delivery rates 
are based on 
developer 
intentions: 
2016: 42 
2018: 113 
2020: 86 
2022: 81 
2024: 60 
2026: 8 

 When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

 

P
age 1583



119 

OBJECTIVE 2 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED SOCIAL NEEDS 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

OB2 SO25 KP13, H3 LOCAL 
Changes in 
market value of 
property in 
Cardiff on 
Greenfield and 
Brownfield areas   

Provide 6,646 
affordable units 
over the 
remaining Plan 
period based on 
achieving 30% 
on Greenfield 
sites and 20% 
on Brownfield 
sites. Expected 
delivery rate to 
meet the target 
set out below: 
2016: 1,408 
2018: 1,408 
2020: 1,408 
2022: 1,408 
2024: 1,410 
2026: 1,410 

An increase or 
decrease of 
10% of 
market values 
of properties 
in Cardiff on 
Greenfield and 
Brownfield 
areas 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

HM Land 
Registry 
House Price 
Index RICS 
Building Cost 
Information 
Service 
(BICS) Tender 
Prices 
Development 
Appraisal 
Toolkit 

OB2 SO26 KP1 LOCAL 
Need for release 
of additional 
housing land 
identified in the 
flexibility 
allowance 

To ensure 
sufficient land is 
brought forward 
for development 
in accordance 
with the Plan 
strategy and to 
maintain a 
minimum 5 year 
supply of land as 
set out in the 
JHLAS. 

Build rates 
exceed the 
anticipated 
number of 
completions 
as set out in 
indicator OB2 
SO4 by the 
1st Plan 
review i.e. 
more than 
13,910 
dwellings 
completed 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 

Council 
Housing 
Monitoring 
Survey 

P
age 1584



120 

OBJECTIVE 2 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED SOCIAL NEEDS 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

between 2014 
- 2020  
 

whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB2 SO27 KP13, H3 LOCAL 
Affordable 
Housing SPG 

 Failure to 
adopt SPG 
within 6 
months of 
Plan adoption 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB2 SO28 H5 LOCAL 
Houses in 
Multiple 
Occupation SPG 

 Failure to 
adopt SPG 
within 6 
months of 
Plan adoption 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB2 SO29 

 

KP7 
 

LOCAL 
Planning 
Obligations SPG 
incorporating 
Developer 
contributions for 
transport 
facilities and 
relevant sections 
from 
 Affordable 

housing 
 Access, 

circulation 
and parking 
requirements 

 Open Space 

 Failure to 
adopt SPG 
within 12 
months of 
Plan adoption 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

P
age 1585



121 

OBJECTIVE 2 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED SOCIAL NEEDS 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

 Schools 
 Public art 
 PROW 
 Community 

Facilities 
 Trees and 

Development 
 Waste 

Collection 
and Storage 
Facilities 

 Biodiversity 

 
OB2 SO30 

 

C1 
 

LOCAL 
Community 
Facilities and 
Residential 
Development 
SPG 

 Failure to 
adopt SPG 
within 18 
months of 
Plan adoption 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB2 SO31 C1 LOCAL 
Childcare 
Facilities SPG 

 Failure to 
adopt SPG 
within 18 
months of 
Plan adoption 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB2 SO32 C6 LOCAL 
Health SPG 

 Failure to 
adopt SPG 
within 18 
months of 
Plan adoption 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB2 SO33 H8 LOCAL  Failure to 
adopt SPG 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

P
age 1586



122 

OBJECTIVE 2 – TO RESPOND TO EVIDENCED SOCIAL NEEDS 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

Gypsy and 
Traveller Sites 
SPG 

within 18 
months of 
Plan adoption 

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 1587



123 

OBJECTIVE 3 - TO DELIVER ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL NEEDS IN A CO-ORDINATED WAY THAT RESPECTS 
CARDIFF'S ENVIRONMENT AND RESPONDS TO THE CHALLENGES OF CLIMATE CHANGE 

MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

OB3 EN1 KP3(A), 
KP3(B), 
KP5, KP15, 
KP16, 
KP18, EN14 

CORE                  
Amount of 
development (by 
TAN 15 
paragraph 5.1 
development 
category) 
permitted in C1 
floodplain areas 
not meeting all 
TAN 15 tests 

No permissions 
granted for 
highly vulnerable 
development 
within C1 
floodplain area 
that does not 
meet TAN 15 
tests 
 
 

1 application 
permitted for 
development 
in any 1 year 
that does not 
meet TAN 15 
tests 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

CCC Planning 
Policy  

P
age 1588



124 

OBJECTIVE 3 - TO DELIVER ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL NEEDS IN A CO-ORDINATED WAY THAT RESPECTS 
CARDIFF'S ENVIRONMENT AND RESPONDS TO THE CHALLENGES OF CLIMATE CHANGE 

MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

OB3 EN2 KP3(A), 
KP3(B), 
KP5, KP15, 
KP16, 
KP18, EN1-
EN14 

CORE 
Amount of 
development (by 
TAN 15 
paragraph 5.1 
development 
category) 
permitted in C2 
floodplain areas. 

No permissions 
granted for 
highly vulnerable 
development in 
C2 floodplain 
area. 

1 application 
permitted for 
development 
in any 1 year 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

CCC Planning 
Policy 

P
age 1589



125 

OBJECTIVE 3 - TO DELIVER ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL NEEDS IN A CO-ORDINATED WAY THAT RESPECTS 
CARDIFF'S ENVIRONMENT AND RESPONDS TO THE CHALLENGES OF CLIMATE CHANGE 

MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

OB3 EN3 KP15, 
KP16, 
KP18, EN4, 
EN10 EN11 
&EN14 

LOCAL                 
Percentage of 
water bodies of 
good status. 
 
 
 

No planning 
consents granted 
planning 
permission 
contrary to the 
advice of Natural 
Resources Wales 
and/or Dŵr 
Cymru (Welsh 
Water) 

1 application 
permitted for 
development 
in any 1 year 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

CCC Planning 
Policy  

P
age 1590



126 

OBJECTIVE 3 - TO DELIVER ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL NEEDS IN A CO-ORDINATED WAY THAT RESPECTS 
CARDIFF'S ENVIRONMENT AND RESPONDS TO THE CHALLENGES OF CLIMATE CHANGE 

MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

OB3 EN4 KP15, 
KP16, 
KP18, EN4, 
EN10 EN11 
&EN14 

LOCAL 
Number of 
permissions 
granted where 
there is a known 
risk of 
deterioration in 
status. 

No planning 
consents granted 
planning 
permission 
contrary to the 
advice of Natural 
Resources Wales 
and/or Dŵr 
Cymru (Welsh 
Water) 

1 application 
permitted for 
development 
in any 1 year 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

CCC Planning 
Policy 

P
age 1591



127 

OBJECTIVE 3 - TO DELIVER ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL NEEDS IN A CO-ORDINATED WAY THAT RESPECTS 
CARDIFF'S ENVIRONMENT AND RESPONDS TO THE CHALLENGES OF CLIMATE CHANGE 

MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

OB3 EN5 KP15, 
KP16, 
KP18, EN4, 
EN10 EN11 
&EN14 

LOCAL 
Number of 
permissions 
incorporating 
measures 
designed to 
improve water 
quality where 
appropriate. 

No planning 
consents granted 
planning 
permission 
contrary to the 
advice of Natural 
Resources Wales 
and/or Dŵr 
Cymru (Welsh 
Water) 

1 application 
permitted for 
development 
in any 1 year 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

CCC Planning 
Policy 

P
age 1592



128 

OBJECTIVE 3 - TO DELIVER ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL NEEDS IN A CO-ORDINATED WAY THAT RESPECTS 
CARDIFF'S ENVIRONMENT AND RESPONDS TO THE CHALLENGES OF CLIMATE CHANGE 

MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

OB3 EN6 KP18, 
EN11, 
EN14, 

LOCAL                 
Number of 
planning 
permissions 
granted contrary 
to the advice of 
the Water 
supplier 
concerning 
adequate levels 
of water quality 
and quantity and 
waste water 
provision 

No planning 
consents issued 
where there is an 
objection 
concerning 
provision of 
water quality and 
quantity and 
waste water from 
water supplier 

1 application 
permitted for 
development 
in any 1 year 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

CCC Planning 
Policy  

P
age 1593



129 

OBJECTIVE 3 - TO DELIVER ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL NEEDS IN A CO-ORDINATED WAY THAT RESPECTS 
CARDIFF'S ENVIRONMENT AND RESPONDS TO THE CHALLENGES OF CLIMATE CHANGE 

MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

OB3 EN7 KP3(A), 
EN1 

LOCAL                 
The number of 
inappropriate 
developments 
permitted within 
the Green 
Wedge that do 
not satisfy LDP 
policies 

No inappropriate 
developments 
granted planning 
permission 
contrary to 
policies KP3 (A) 
and EN1 

1 application 
permitted for 
development 
in any 1 year 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

CCC Planning 
Policy 

P
age 1594



130 

OBJECTIVE 3 - TO DELIVER ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL NEEDS IN A CO-ORDINATED WAY THAT RESPECTS 
CARDIFF'S ENVIRONMENT AND RESPONDS TO THE CHALLENGES OF CLIMATE CHANGE 

MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

OB3 EN8 EN3 LOCAL                 
The number of 
planning 
permissions 
granted contrary 
to Policy EN3 
which would 
cause 
unacceptable 
harm to Special 
Landscape Areas 

No development 
granted planning 
permission 
contrary to Policy 
EN3 which would 
cause 
unacceptable 
harm to Special 
Landscape Areas 

1 application 
permitted for 
development 
in any 1 year 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

CCC Planning 
Policy  

P
age 1595



131 

OBJECTIVE 3 - TO DELIVER ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL NEEDS IN A CO-ORDINATED WAY THAT RESPECTS 
CARDIFF'S ENVIRONMENT AND RESPONDS TO THE CHALLENGES OF CLIMATE CHANGE 

MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

OB3 EN9 EN8 LOCAL                 
Ancient Semi-
Natural 
Woodland  

No inappropriate 
development 
granted planning 
permission 
contrary to Policy 
EN8 

1 application 
permitted for 
development 
in any 1 year 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

CCC Planning 
Policy  

P
age 1596



132 

OBJECTIVE 3 - TO DELIVER ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL NEEDS IN A CO-ORDINATED WAY THAT RESPECTS 
CARDIFF'S ENVIRONMENT AND RESPONDS TO THE CHALLENGES OF CLIMATE CHANGE 

MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

OB3 EN10 EN1-EN8 LOCAL               
The number of 
planning 
permissions 
granted on SSSI 
or SINC 
designated 
areas. 

No planning 
permissions 
granted 
permission that 
would result in 
an unacceptable 
impact which 
could not be 
mitigated against 
on an SSSI or 
SINC that does 
not satisfy LDP 
policies 

1 application 
permitted for 
development 
in any 1 year 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

CCC Planning 
Policy 

P
age 1597



133 

OBJECTIVE 3 - TO DELIVER ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL NEEDS IN A CO-ORDINATED WAY THAT RESPECTS 
CARDIFF'S ENVIRONMENT AND RESPONDS TO THE CHALLENGES OF CLIMATE CHANGE 

MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

OB3 EN11 EN1-EN8 LOCAL 
Number of 
planning 
applications 
granted which 
have an adverse 
effect on the 
integrity of a 
Natura 2000 site 

Ensure protection 
of European 
designated sites 
as required by 
paragraph 5.3.9 
in Planning Policy 
Wales, Annex 3 
in TAN 5 and 
policies 

1 application 
permitted 
contrary to 
the advice of 
NRW or the 
authority’s 
ecologist 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

CCC Planning 
Policy  

P
age 1598



134 

OBJECTIVE 3 - TO DELIVER ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL NEEDS IN A CO-ORDINATED WAY THAT RESPECTS 
CARDIFF'S ENVIRONMENT AND RESPONDS TO THE CHALLENGES OF CLIMATE CHANGE 

MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

OB3 EN12 EN1-EN8 LOCAL 
Number of 
planning 
applications 
granted which 
would result in 
detriment to the 
favourable 
conservation 
status of EU 
protected 
species in their 
natural range or 
significant harm 
to species 
protected by 
other statute 

No application 
granted 
permission that 
would result in 
detriment to the 
maintenance of 
the favourable 
conservation 
status of EU 
protected species 
in their natural 
range or 
significant harm 
to species 
protected by 
other statute 

1 application 
permitted 
contrary to 
the advice of 
NRW or the 
authority’s 
ecologist 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

CCC Planning 
Policy  

P
age 1599



135 

OBJECTIVE 3 - TO DELIVER ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL NEEDS IN A CO-ORDINATED WAY THAT RESPECTS 
CARDIFF'S ENVIRONMENT AND RESPONDS TO THE CHALLENGES OF CLIMATE CHANGE 

MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

OB3 EN13 KP16, 
KP18, C5 

LOCAL               
Achievement of 
functional open 
space 
requirement 
across Cardiff as 
set out in Policy 
C5 

2.43 Ha 
functional open 
space per 1,000 
population 

Less than 
2.43 Ha 
functional 
open space 
per 1,000 
population 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB3 EN14 EN13 LOCAL 
Number of Air 
Quality 
Management 
Areas 

No more than 4 
current AQMA in 
action 

One or more 
additional 
AQMA 

No Environmental 
Protection 
Monitoring 

OB3 EN15 C4&C5 LOCAL 
Open Space SPG 

 Failure to 
adopt SPG 
within 6 
months of 
Plan adoption 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

P
age 1600



136 

OBJECTIVE 3 - TO DELIVER ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL NEEDS IN A CO-ORDINATED WAY THAT RESPECTS 
CARDIFF'S ENVIRONMENT AND RESPONDS TO THE CHALLENGES OF CLIMATE CHANGE 

MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

OB3 EN16 
 

T1 
 

LOCAL 
Public Rights of 
Way and 
Development 
SPG 

 Failure to 
adopt SPG 
within 18 
months of 
Plan adoption 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB3 EN17 
 
 

EN8 
 
 

LOCAL 
Trees and 
Development 
SPG 

 
 

Failure to 
adopt SPG 
within 18 
months of 
Plan adoption 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB3 EN18 
 

EN5, EN6, 
EN7 
 
 

LOCAL 
Biodiversity SPG 

 
 
 

Failure to 
adopt SPG 
within 18 
months of 
adoption of 
the Plan 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB3 EN19 
 

EN14 
 

LOCAL 
Flooding SPG 

 
 

Failure to 
adopt SPG 
within 12 
months of 
adoption of 
the Plan 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB3 EN20 
 
 

KP16, EN3-
EN8 
 

LOCAL 
Natural Heritage 
Network SPG 

 Failure to 
adopt SPG 
within 12 
months of 
adoption of 
the Plan 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

P
age 1601



137 

OBJECTIVE 3 - TO DELIVER ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL NEEDS IN A CO-ORDINATED WAY THAT RESPECTS 
CARDIFF'S ENVIRONMENT AND RESPONDS TO THE CHALLENGES OF CLIMATE CHANGE 

MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

OB3 EN21 
 

KP17, EN9 
 

LOCAL 
Archaeologically 
Sensitive Areas 
SPG 

 Failure to 
adopt SPG 
within 18 
months of 
adoption of 
the Plan. 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

 
 
 
 
 
OBJECTIVE 4 – TO CREATE SUSTAINABLE NEIGHBOURHOODS THAT FORM PART OF A SUSTAINABLE CITY 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

OB4 SN1 EN12 LOCAL 
The number and 
capacity of 
renewable 
energy 
developments 
permitted 

An increase in the 
number of 
renewable energy 
schemes 
permitted 

No increase 
in the 
number of 
renewable 
energy 
schemes 
permitted for 
two or more 
consecutive 
years 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 

CCC Planning 
Policy 

P
age 1602



138 

OBJECTIVE 4 – TO CREATE SUSTAINABLE NEIGHBOURHOODS THAT FORM PART OF A SUSTAINABLE CITY 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB4 SN2 KP12, W2 LOCAL 
Maintain a 
sufficient 
amount of land 
and facilities to 
cater for 
Cardiff's waste 
capacity 

Maintain a 
sufficient capacity 
to cater for 
Cardiff’s waste (to 
be confirmed at a 
regional level in 
accordance with 
TAN21) 

No trigger When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

CCC Waste 
Management 
Section 

OB4 SN3 KP12, W1, 
W2 

LOCAL 
Amount of 
household waste 
recycled 

Minimum Overall 
Recycling - 58% 
by 2016, 64% by 
2020 and 70% by 

Minimum 
Overall 
Recycling - 
Less than 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 

CCC Waste 
Management 
Section 

P
age 1603



139 

OBJECTIVE 4 – TO CREATE SUSTAINABLE NEIGHBOURHOODS THAT FORM PART OF A SUSTAINABLE CITY 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

2025. Maximum 
Landfill = n/a by 
2016, 10% by 
2020 and 5% by 
2025 
Maximum level of 
energy from 
waste = 42% by 
2016, 36% by 
2020 and 30% by 
2025. 
Biodegradable 
landfill allowance 
= 41,692t by 
2016, 33,557t by 
2020 and n/a by 
2025.    

58% by 
2016, 64% 
by 2020 and 
70% by 
2025, 
Maximum 
Landfill = 
n/a by 2016, 
less than 
10% by 
2020 and 
5% by 2025 
Maximum 
level of 
energy from 
waste = less 
than 42% by 
2016, 36% 
by 2020 and 
30% by 
2025. 
Biodegradabl
e landfill 
allowance = 
less than 
41,692t by 
2016, 
33,557t by 

to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

P
age 1604



140 

OBJECTIVE 4 – TO CREATE SUSTAINABLE NEIGHBOURHOODS THAT FORM PART OF A SUSTAINABLE CITY 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

2020 and 
n/a by 2025.  

OB4 SN4 KP12, W1, 
W2 

LOCAL 
Applications 
received for 
waste 
management 
uses on B2 sites 

Maintain a 
sufficient range 
and choice of 
waste 
management 
facilities 

1 or more 
applications 
refused in 
any 1 year 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB4 SN5 KP11, M7 LOCAL                 
Maintain a 
minimum 10 
year landbank of 
crushed rock 
reserves               

10 year supply Less than 10 
year supply 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 

SWRAWP 
Annual 
Reports 

P
age 1605



141 

OBJECTIVE 4 – TO CREATE SUSTAINABLE NEIGHBOURHOODS THAT FORM PART OF A SUSTAINABLE CITY 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB4 SN6 KP11, M6 LOCAL                 
Amount of 
development 
within Sand 
Wharf Protection 
Area             

No permanent 
development 
which would 
prejudice the 
ability to land 
marine dredged 
sand and gravel 
will be permitted 
within the 
safeguarded sand 
wharfs which is 
contrary to Policy 
M6. 

1 application 
permitted for 
development 
in any 1 year 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 

CCC Planning 
Policy 

P
age 1606



142 

OBJECTIVE 4 – TO CREATE SUSTAINABLE NEIGHBOURHOODS THAT FORM PART OF A SUSTAINABLE CITY 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB4 SN7 KP11, M7 LOCAL                 
Amount of 
development 
permitted within 
a mineral 
safeguarding 
area.        

No permanent 
sterilising 
development as 
defined in 
MPPW/MTAN1 will 
be permitted 
within a Mineral 
safeguarding area 
which is contrary 
to Policy x of the 
Plan. 

1 application 
permitted for 
development 
in any 1 year 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB4 SN8 M2 LOCAL                 
Number of 
planning 
permissions 
permitted for 
extraction of 
aggregate 
mineral not in 

0 planning 
permissions 
permitted           

1 application 
permitted for 
development 
in any 1 year 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 

CCC Planning 
Policy 

P
age 1607



143 

OBJECTIVE 4 – TO CREATE SUSTAINABLE NEIGHBOURHOODS THAT FORM PART OF A SUSTAINABLE CITY 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

line with Policy 
M2 

corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB4 SN9 M4 LOCAL                 
Number of 
planning 
permissions for 
inappropriate 
development 
e.g. 
dwellings/minera
l working, 
permitted in 
Minerals Buffer 
Zones contrary 
to Policy M4. 

1 planning 
permission 
permitted 

1 application 
permitted for 
development 
in any 1 year 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 

CCC Planning 
Policy 

P
age 1608



144 

OBJECTIVE 4 – TO CREATE SUSTAINABLE NEIGHBOURHOODS THAT FORM PART OF A SUSTAINABLE CITY 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB4 SN10 M3 LOCAL 
Number of 
prohibition 
orders issued on 
dormant sites  
 

Ensure that those 
dormant sites 
deemed not likely 
to be re-worked in 
the future (as 
part of the annual 
review) are 
served with 
prohibition orders  
 

LPA fails to 
serve 
prohibition 
orders on 
sites that are 
deemed not 
likely to be 
re-worked in 
the future.  
 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB4 SN11 KP17, EN9 LOCAL                 
Number of 
applications 
permitted 
contrary to 
Policy EN9 that 
would adversely 
affect Scheduled 

No developments 
permitted over 
the course of the 
Plan where there 
is an outstanding 
objection from 
statutory heritage 
advisors or that 

1 application 
permitted for 
development 
in any 1 year 
where there 
is an 
outstanding 
objection 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 

CCC Planning 
Policy 

P
age 1609



145 

OBJECTIVE 4 – TO CREATE SUSTAINABLE NEIGHBOURHOODS THAT FORM PART OF A SUSTAINABLE CITY 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

Ancient 
Monuments, 
registered 
historic parks 
and gardens, 
Listed Buildings 
or Conservation 
Areas 

would adversely 
affect Scheduled 
Ancient 
Monuments, 
registered historic 
parks and 
gardens, Listed 
Buildings or 
Conservation 
Areas 

from 
statutory 
heritage 
advisors  

corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 
require changes 
to the Plan. 

OB4 SN12 KP1, KP2, 
KP4, KP8, 
KP13, H1-
H6, C1-C7, 
T1-T9 

LOCAL                 
Delivery of each 
key principle 
from the 
Strategic Sites 
Masterplanning 
Framework as 
embedded in the 
LDP to ensure 
delivery of key 
infrastructure 
including 
sustainable 
transportation 
interventions, 
social and 
community 
facilities, 

Failure of any key 
principles being 
effectively 
delivered in 
accordance with 
details which are 
approved through 
the Development 
Management 
process (e.g. 
S106 obligations 
& planning 
conditions)  

1 (or more) 
key 
principles 
not delivered 

When a trigger 
point is activated 
an assessment 
will be undertaken 
to identify the 
underlying causes 
and consider 
necessary 
corrective actions 
as appropriate 
including plan 
review, changes 
to supporting 
guidance or 
whether the 
underlying 
reasons do not 

CCC Planning 
Policy 

P
age 1610



146 

OBJECTIVE 4 – TO CREATE SUSTAINABLE NEIGHBOURHOODS THAT FORM PART OF A SUSTAINABLE CITY 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

together with 
any other key 
Masterplanning 
requirements  

require changes 
to the Plan.  

OB4 SN13 KP6 LOCAL 
Preparing an 
annual 
Infrastructure 
Plan and 
Infrastructure 
Plan Delivery 
Report update. 

Update the 
Infrastructure 
Plan and 
Infrastructure 
Plan Delivery 
Report annually to 
reflect the latest 
available 
information with 
regard to key 
infrastructure, 
costs/funding and 
estimated 
timescales. 

Failure to 
update the 
Infrastructur
e Plan and 
Infrastructur
e Plan 
Delivery 
Report 
annually. 

No Place Making 
Team 
(Development 
Management) 

OB4 SN14 T5 LOCAL 
Design and 
Parking 
Guidance SPG 
(incorporating 
Access, 
Circulation and 
Parking 
Requirements 
SPG and 

 Failure to 
adopt SPG 
within 6 
months of 
adoption of 
the Plan 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

P
age 1611



147 

OBJECTIVE 4 – TO CREATE SUSTAINABLE NEIGHBOURHOODS THAT FORM PART OF A SUSTAINABLE CITY 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

sustainable 
design guidance) 

OB4 SN15 
 

W1, W2 
 

LOCAL 
Locating Waste 
Management 
Facilities SPG 

 Failure to 
adopt SPG 
within 12 
months of 
adoption of 
the Plan 
 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB4 SN16 KP5 LOCAL 
Infill Sites 
Design Guidance 
SPG 

 Failure to 
adopt SPG 
within 18 
months of 
adoption of 
the Plan 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB4 SN17 KP5 LOCAL 
Tall Buildings 
Guidance SPG 

 Failure to 
adopt SPG 
within 18 
months of 
adoption of 
the Plan 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB4 SN18 KP5 LOCAL 
Householder 
Design Guidance 
SPG 

 Failure to 
adopt SPG 
within 18 
months of 
adoption of 
the Plan 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB4 SN19 KP5 LOCAL 
Public Art SPG 

 Failure to 
adopt SPG 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

P
age 1612



148 

OBJECTIVE 4 – TO CREATE SUSTAINABLE NEIGHBOURHOODS THAT FORM PART OF A SUSTAINABLE CITY 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

within 18 
months of 
adoption of 
the Plan 

OB4 SN20 R8 LOCAL 
Food Drink and 
Leisure Uses + 
Premises for 
Eating, Drinking 
and 
Entertainment in 
Cardiff City 
Centre  SPG 

 Failure to 
adopt SPG 
within 18 
months of 
adoption of 
the Plan 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB4 SN21 W1, W2 LOCAL 
Waste Collection 
and Storage 
Facilities SPG 

 Failure to 
adopt SPG 
within 18 
months of 
adoption of 
the Plan 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB4 SN22 H5 LOCAL 
Design Guidance 
and Standards 
for Flat 
Conversions SPG 

 Failure to 
adopt SPG 
within 12 
months of 
adoption of 
the Plan 
 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

OB4 SN23 EN12 LOCAL 
Renewable 
Energy 

 Failure to 
adopt SPG 
within 12 

No CCC Planning 
Policy 

P
age 1613



149 

OBJECTIVE 4 – TO CREATE SUSTAINABLE NEIGHBOURHOODS THAT FORM PART OF A SUSTAINABLE CITY 
MONITORING 
REFERENCE 

RELEVANT 
LDP 

POLICIES 

CORE & LOCAL 
INDICATORS 

TARGET TRIGGER PLAN REVISION 
REQUIRED? 

SOURCE 

Assessments 
SPG 

months of 
adoption of 
the Plan 
 

 
 
 
 P

age 1614



150 

Appendix 10: Summary of LDP process including glossary of 
technical terms 
 
Summary of LDP Process 
 
Introduction 
 
4.1 As Wales has a plan-led system, it means that the LDP will be very 
important when making planning decisions. It sets out the Council’s 
proposals and policies for future development and use of land in its area. 
Once the plan has been adopted, decisions on planning permissions will 
be mostly based on the LDP. The LDP will therefore provide a measure of 
certainty about what kind of development will and will not be permitted 
during the plan period. 
 
Stage 1: Delivery Agreement 
 
4.2 The Delivery Agreement sets out how and when you can contribute 
to the LDP preparation process. It has two parts:  
• A timetable for producing the LDP; and 
• A Community Involvement Scheme - this explains how developers, the 

public and interested groups can contribute to plan preparation. It also 
explains how responses will be treated and what feedback you will 
receive. 

 
4.3 A revised version of the Delivery Agreement was agreed by the Welsh 
Government in December 2011 and can be viewed on the Council’s 
website (http://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ObjView.asp?Object_ID=19592) or 
is available for public inspection at County Hall. 
 
Stage 2: Gathering evidence base 
 
4.5 The LDP needs to be a sound document. This means that it shows 
good judgement and can be trusted. In order to achieve a sound plan, 
the Council has gathered economic, social and environmental information 
in order to provide an evidence base for the plan. The evidence base is 
set out in Appendix 13 and has informed the development of the vision 
and objectives for the plan and the Preferred 
Strategy. 
 
Stage 3: Preferred Strategy 
 
4.6 The Preferred Strategy outlines the overall objectives for the plan and 
the strategy for growth or change, including preferred options for major 
development sites. The Preferred Strategy is informed by the evidence 
base for the plan and consultation undertaken in 2010/11 on the vision 

Page 1615



151 

and objectives and strategic options and sites. The Council consulted on 
the Preferred Strategy in November/December 2012. 
 
Stage 4: Deposit plan 
 
4.7 The Deposit Plan (a full draft of the LDP) will be based on the evidence 
base for the plan and will be informed by comments received in response 
to the Preferred Strategy. This Deposit Plan presents the Preferred 
Strategy as agreed or amended, proposals for key areas of change, 
regeneration or protection and specific sites to be used for particular 
purposes and other specific policies and proposals. It will be accompanied 
by a Consultation Report outlining how comments at the previous stage 
have influenced the plan. Once the LDP is placed on ‘Deposit’ for six 
weeks consultation the Council cannot change it. Any changes to the plan 
are a matter for an Independent Inspector who will examine the plan to 
determine whether it is ‘sound’. This is the stage the plan has now 
reached and there will be a six week consultation period to allow 
comments to be made on the plan. 
 
Stage 5: Alternative Sites 
 
4.8 During the six week consultation period on the Deposit Plan objectors 
may suggest alternative sites or boundaries for development to be 
considered. After this consultation period the Council will publish any 
alternative sites or boundaries that have been suggested and a further 
six week consultation period will be allowed for people to comment on 
the alternative sites and boundaries. 
 
Stage 6: Examination of the plan 
 
4.9 Once the consultation periods are over, the Council will consider the 
representations and produce a final Consultation Report. Each of the main 
issues raised will be summarised in this report. Then the Planning 
Inspectorate (on behalf of the Welsh Government) will examine the 
report, all of the deposit representations, the Deposit Plan with its 
background evidence and the Sustainability Appraisal Report. The 
examination ensures that the LDP is based on ‘sound’ information and 
thinking, and that the views of those with concerns about the plan have 
been considered. The Inspector will decide what issues will be discussed 
at the examination and how they will be heard. The LDP is due to be 
submitted for examination in August 2014. 
 
Stage 7: Inspector’s Report 
 
4.10 After the examination, the Inspector will review all the relevant 
information and consider what changes the Council should make to the 
LDP. He or she will then publish the Inspector’s Report outlining these 

Page 1616



152 

changes and explaining the reasons for them. The Inspector’s views are 
binding, the local planning authority must make any changes 
recommended.  
 
Stage 8: Adoption 
 
4.11 Within eight weeks of receiving the Inspector’s Report the Council 
must advertise the fact that the LDP has been adopted and where it can 
be inspected. From the date of adoption, the High Court allows six weeks 
for anyone to challenge it on legal grounds.  
 
Stage 9: Monitoring and review 
 
4.12 Once the Local Development Plan is adopted, the Council must send 
an Annual Monitoring Report to the Welsh Government each year. This 
will consider how successful the LDP has been in meeting the plan’s 
objectives and means that the Council will be able to compare the actual 
effects of the LDP against what was intended. There will be a major 
review of the LDP at least every four years. This may involve rewriting 
sections of the plan, or replacing it. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1617



153 

 
Diagram showing LDP Preparation Process 
 
 

 
 
  

Community Involvement 
 

Sustainability Appraisal & 
Strategic Environmental 

Assessment 

Stage 8 
Adoption 

Stage 9 
Annual Monitoring Report/ 

4-year Review 

Stage 1  
Delivery Agreement 

Stage 7  
Inspector’s  

Report 

Stages 2 & 3  
Gathering Evidence base  

& Preferred Strategy 
Consultation

Stage 5 Advertise New or 
Alternative Sites  

respondents 

Stage 6  
Examination 

Stage 4  
Deposit Plan 

Plan 
Stages 

Integral  
Process 

If required,  
Plan Stage 

 

Submission 

 

Page 1618



154 

Glossary of Technical Terms 
 
Adopted Plan 
The final, statutorily approved legal version of the Local Development 
Plan. 
 
Adoption 
The final confirmation of a development plan status by a local planning 
authority (LPA). 
 
Affordable Housing 
Housing, whether for rent, shared ownership or outright purchase, 
provided at a cost considered affordable in relation to incomes that are 
average or below average, or in relation to the price of general market 
housing. 
 
Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) 
A report submitted to the Welsh Government by the local planning 
authorities which assess the effectiveness of the LDP against a set of 
indicators and targets. 
 
Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) 
The Environment Act 1995 requires local authorities to review and assess 
the quality of air in the areas against national air quality standards and 
objectives. Where the UK air quality objectives are not being met and 
members of the public are affected they are required to declare an AQMA. 
 
Baseline 
A description of the present state of the area against which to measure 
change. 
 
Biodiversity 
A term used to describe the variety of life on Earth, including the wide 
variety of ecosystems and living organisms, animals, plants, their 
habitats and their genes 
 
Brownfield Land/Site 
Land which is, or was, previously occupied by a permanent structure 
(excluding agriculture or forestry buildings) and associated fixed surface 
infrastructure. This includes the curtilage of development, defence 
buildings and land used for mineral extraction and waste disposal where 
provision for restoration has not been made. 
 
Candidate Sites 
The LDP Manual (Welsh Government 2006) recommends that local 
planning authorities engage with developers and landowners at the 
evidence gathering stage of the LDP process to obtain information about 

Page 1619



155 

potential development sites that may be included in the plan. Accordingly, 
in November 2010, the Council formally invited developers, landowners, 
agents, Council departments and others with an interest in land to submit 
sites they wished to be considered for development or reuse through the 
LDP, for a range of uses, including housing, employment, retail, leisure, 
waste, transport (e.g. park and ride sites), open space and other 
community uses. 
 
Citizens Panel 
The Citizens Panel is made up of a representative sample of over 1,000 
local residents from across Cardiff who have agreed to give their views 
on a number of consultation topics throughout the year. Panel members 
share their views by completing surveys and occasionally taking part in 
other activities like focus groups, workshops, or forums. 
 
Climate Change 
Long-term changes in temperature, precipitation, wind and all other 
aspects of the Earth’s climate. Often regarded as a result of human 
activity and fossil fuel consumption. 
 
Commitments (or committed development) 
All land with current planning permission or allocated in adopted 
development plans for development (particularly residential 
development).  
 
Community 
People living in a defined geographical area, or who share common 
interests. 
 
Community Involvement Scheme (CIS) 
The CIS identifies how the LPA intends to involve consultation bodies and 
the public in the preparation of the LDP. The CIS is submitted to the 
Welsh Government as part of the Delivery Agreement for its agreement. 
 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
CIL is a method of securing generalised contributions from developers. 
The Government legislated for CIL in the 2008 Planning Act. 
Implementing Regulations followed, and CIL came into force in England 
and Wales on 6 April 2010. 
 
Community Strategy 
Local authorities are required by the Local Government Act 2000 to 
prepare these, with the aim of improving the social, environmental and 
economic well being of their areas. 
 
 
 

Page 1620



156 

Consultation 
Formal process where comments are invited on a particular topic or set 
of topics, or a draft document. 
 
Conservation Area 
Areas of special architectural or historic interest, the character or 
appearance of which it is desirable to preserve or enhance. 
 
Conservation Area Character Appraisal 
A published document defining the special architectural or historic 
interest that warranted the area being designated. 
 
Conversions 
Generally means the physical work necessary to change of use of a 
building from a particular use, classified in the use classes order, to 
another use. Can also mean the sub-division of residential properties into 
self-contained flats or maisonettes. 
 
Delivery Agreement 
A document comprising the local planning authorities timetable for the 
preparation of the LDP together with its Community Involvement 
Scheme, submitted to the Welsh Government for agreement. 
 
Deposit 
A formal stage of consultation in which comments are invited on the full 
draft LDP. 
 
Deposit LDP 
A full draft of the Local Development Plan which undergoes a formal 
consultation period. 
 
Development 
Development, as it is defined in planning law is the ‘carrying out of 
building, engineering, mining or other operations in, on, over or under 
land.’ (Section 55 of the 1990 Planning Act as amended). 
 
Employment Land/Site 
Land used for employment purposes by one or more of the following: 
offices, manufacturing, research and development, storage and 
distribution. 
 
Enterprise Zones 
A specially designated area within which businesses are granted 
numerous advantages and incentives such as income tax credits, 
equipment tax refunds and property tax credits. At its core, the enterprise 
zone is a means to targeting a specific geographical area for economic 

Page 1621



157 

revitalisation. Creating an enterprise zone encourages investment and 
promotes economic growth in that area. 
 
Evidence Base 
The information and data gathered by the LPA to justify the "soundness" 
of the policy approach set out in the Local Development Plan, including 
physical, economic, and social characteristics of an area. 
 
Examination 
Examination is carried out by the Planning Inspectorate on behalf of the 
Welsh Government and involves the examination of the report, all the 
deposit representations, the Deposit Local Development Plan with its 
background evidence and the Sustainability Appraisal Report. It ensures 
that the LDP is based on sound information and thinking, and that the 
views of those with concerns about the plan have been considered. 
 
Expressions of Interest 
Representations or comments on the development plan, including 
requests for alteration, inclusion or removal of policies or sites for 
development. 
 
Final Sustainability Report 
A term used to refer to the Sustainability Appraisal Report, produced at 
the deposit stage. It shows how SA/SEA has informed the preparation of 
the LDP and details the methodology, process and results of the LDP 
against the Sustainability Objectives identified in the SA/SEA Scoping 
Report. 
 
Greenfield Land/Site 
Land that has not been previously developed, usually farmland, grassland 
or heath. 
 
Gross Value Added (GVA) 
This is a measure in economics of the value of goods and services 
produced in an area, industry or sector of an economy. 
 
Habitat Regulation Assessment (HRA) 
A HRA is a requirement of European Directive 92/43/EEC which assesses 
the potential effects a Local Development Plan may have on one or more 
European sites (Natura 2000 sites). The assessment should conclude 
whether or not a proposal or policy in a Development Plan would 
adversely affect the integrity of the site in question. 
 
Housing Land Availability (HLA) 
The total amount of land reserved for residential use awaiting 
development. 
 

Page 1622



158 

Infrastructure 
Infrastructure includes services such as roads, transport facilities, water 
supplies, sewerage and associated waste water treatment facilities, waste 
management facilities, energy supplies (electricity and gas) and 
distribution networks and telecommunications infrastructure. Soft 
infrastructure includes ICT and telecommunications. 
 
Initial Sustainability Appraisal Report 
A term used to refer to the Sustainability Appraisal Report, produced at 
the Preferred Strategy stage. This assesses the LDP options against the 
Sustainability Appraisal framework. The report is then expanded at the 
Deposit LDP stage and finalised alongside the Adoption Statement. 
 
Inspector’s Report 
The findings of the Inspector, following an independent examination of 
the LDP, set out in a report that is binding upon the LPA. 
 
Key Diagram 
The diagrammatic interpretation of the LDP’s spatial strategy. 
 
LANDMAP 
LANDMAP is the national information system, devised by the Countryside 
Council for Wales, for taking landscape into account in decision-making 
(http://landmap.ccw.gov.uk/). 
 
Listed Building 
A building of special architectural or historic interest. Listed buildings are 
graded I, II* or II with grade I being the highest. Listing includes the 
interior as well as the exterior of the building, and any buildings or 
permanent structures. 
 
Local Development Plan (LDP) 
The required statutory development plan for each local planning authority 
area in Wales under Part 6 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004. A land use plan that is subject to independent examination, which 
will form the statutory development plan for a local authority area. It 
should include a vision, strategy, area wide policies for development 
types, land allocations, and where necessary policies and proposals for 
key areas of change and protection. 
 
Local Development Plans Wales (LDPW) 
Planning policy guidance document from the Welsh Government on the 
preparation of Local Development Plans. 
 
Local Listing (or Building of Local Importance). 
A locally important building valued for contribution to local scene or for 
local historical situations but not meriting listed building status. 

Page 1623



159 

 
Local Nature Reserve (LNR) 
Non-statutory habitats of local significance designated by local authorities 
where protection and public understanding of nature conservation is 
encouraged. 
 
Local Planning Authority (LPA) 
A planning authority responsible for the preparation of the LDP. 
 
Master Planning 
In land-use planning, a government entity’s plan for the overall utilisation 
of a particular area, including its allocation for residential or 
manufacturing uses and the corresponding environmental impacts. 
 
Minerals Aggregates Technical Advice Note (MTAN1) 
This was issued by the Welsh Government in March 2004. MTAN1 and 
sets an overarching objective which seeks to ensure a sustainably 
managed supply of aggregates (which are essential for construction), 
striking the best between environmental, economic and social costs. 
 
Mitigation 
Measures to avoid, reduce or offset significant adverse effects. 
 
Mixed Use 
Developments or proposals comprising more than one land use type on 
a single site. 
 
National Vocational Qualifications (NVQs) 
NVQs are work based awards that are achieved through assessment and 
training. 
 
Objectives and Indicators 
Objectives are what the LDP is trying to achieve, and indicators are 
measures that show whether or not objectives are being achieved. They 
can be used to help show whether planning policy is effective, or be used 
in helping to conduct a Sustainability Appraisal. 
 
Office of National Statistics (ONS) 
The ONS is the executive office of the UK Statistics Authority, a 
nonministerial department which reports directly to the Parliament of the 
United Kingdom. 
 
Open Space 
All space of public value including public landscaped areas, playing fields, 
parks and play areas, and also including areas of water such as rivers, 
canals, lakes and reservoirs, which can offer opportunities for sport and 
recreation or can also act as a visual amenity and a haven for wildlife. 

Page 1624



160 

 
Participation Phase 
Period prior to the pre-deposit Local Development Plan when stakeholders 
and the public will have the opportunity to influence the issues, options 
and policies for future growth and development to be included. 
 
Phasing 
The development of a site in gradual stages over a period of time rather 
than all at once. 
 
Planning Gain 
The benefits or safeguards, often for community benefit, secured by way 
of a planning obligation as part of a planning approval and usually 
provided at the developer's expense. For example, affordable housing, 
community facilities or mitigation measures. 
 
Planning Obligations and Agreements 
Legal agreements between a planning authority and a developer, or 
undertakings offered unilaterally by a developer, that ensure that certain 
extra works related to a development are undertaken. For example, the 
provision of highways. Sometimes called "Section 106" agreements. 
 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW) 
Issued by the Welsh Government setting out its national land use policies 
on different areas of planning. 
 
Population Projection 
The prediction of future populations based on the present age-sex 
structure, and with the present rates of fertility, mortality and migration. 
 
Pre Deposit proposals documents 
These include the vision, strategic options, preferred strategy, key 
policies, and the Sustainability Appraisal report 
 
Pre deposit stage 
The strategic Options and Preferred Strategy stage of LDP preparation. 
 
Proposals Map 
A component of the Local Development Plan showing the location of 
proposals on an Ordnance Survey base map. 
 
Prosiect Gwyrdd 
Prosiect Gwyrdd is a partnership between, Caerphilly Borough County 
Council, The County Council of the City and County of Cardiff, 
Monmouthshire County Council, Newport Council and Vale of Glamorgan 
Council The combined municipal waste of the five authorities makes up 
40% of the total municipal waste of Wales. Prosiect Gwyrdd is committed 

Page 1625



161 

to looking for the best environmental, cost effective and practical solution 
for waste after recycling and composting has been maximised in each 
area (http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/prosiectgwyrdd/english/home.html). 
 
Protected Species 
Plants and animal species afforded protection under certain Acts and 
Regulations. 
 
Ramsar Sites 
Sites designated under the Ramsar Convention to protect wetlands that 
are of international importance, particularly as waterfowl habitats. 
 
The Regional Technical Statement (RTS) 
The RTS is produced by the South Wales Regional Aggregates Working 
Party and sets out a regional plan for aggregate provision in south Wales 
and is a requirement of the Minerals Aggregates Technical Advice Note 
(MTAN1). 
 
Regional Transport Plan (RTP) 
Regional Transport Plan prepared by Sewta 
 
Representations 
Comments in support of, or in opposition, to the deposit Local 
Development Plan. 
 
United Kingdom Biodiversity Action Plan (UKBAP) 
This is the governmental response to the Convention on Biological 
Diversity signed in 1992. As of 2009 1,150 species and 65 habitats are 
identified as needing conservation and greater protection and are covered 
by UK BAPs.  
 
Unitary Development Plan (UDP) 
A plan prepared under the previous plan making system which reached 
Deposit stage in Cardiff.  
 
Scheduled Ancient Monument 
Nationally important monuments usually archaeological remains, that 
enjoy greater protection against inappropriate development through the 
Ancient Monuments and Archaeological Areas Act 1979. 
 
Scoping SA 
The process of deciding the scope and level of detail of a Sustainability 
Appraisal, including sustainability effects and options which need to be 
considered, the assessment methods to be used, and the structure and 
contents of the SA Report. 
 
Section 106 Agreement 

Page 1626



162 

A legal agreement under section 106 of the 1990 Town & Country 
Planning Act. Section 106 agreements are legal agreements between a 
planning authority and a developer, or undertakings offered unilaterally 
by a developer, that ensure that certain extra works related to a 
development are undertaken. 
 
South Wales Regional Aggregates Working Party (RAWP) 
The SWRAWP is a technical working group with membership drawn from 
officers of the 18 Mineral Planning Authorities in South Wales, 
representatives of the Quarry Products Association, British Aggregates 
Association, Environment Agency Wales, Countryside Council for Wales, 
Welsh Assembly Government, Office of the Deputy Prime Minister, Cuddy 
Demolition, Welsh Environment Trust and British Geological Survey 
(http://www.swrawpwales.org.uk/). 
 
South East Wales Economic Forum (SEWEF) 
The Forum is a regional partnership bringing together the ten local 
authorities, the Welsh Government, the private sector, universities and 
the third sector to discuss and address the regional economic matters of 
south east Wales (http://www.sewales-econforum.co.uk/home). 
 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG) 
Membership of the group comprises officer and political representation 
from the ten local authorities in the South East Wales area. The principal 
aim of the Group is to meet to discuss regional issues and provide an 
interface between the Wales Spatial Plan strategy and individual authority 
development plans. 
 
South East Wales Transport Alliance (Sewta) 
Sewta is a consortium established on 1st April 2003 by the ten authorities 
in south east Wales to carry out their functions in relation to public 
transport and some other transport matters. Sewta works in close liaison 
with partners representing public transport operators and users 
(http://sewta.net/). 
 
Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation (SINC) 
Locally important sites of nature conservation adopted by local authorities 
for planning purposes. (See also Local Nature Reserve). 
 
Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) 
A site identified under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended 
by the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000) as an area of special 
interest by reason of any of its flora, fauna, geological or physiographical 
features.  
 
 
Soundness 

Page 1627



163 

To be considered sound, a Local Development Plan must be justified 
(founded on robust and credible evidence and be the most appropriate 
strategy) and effective (deliverable, flexible and able to be monitored). 
There are ten tests of soundness set out in guidance issued by the Welsh 
Government and the Planning Inspectorate against which the LDP will be 
assessed. 
 
Special Area of Conservation (SAC) 
A site designated under the European Community Habitats Directive, to 
protect internationally important natural habitats and species.  
 
Special Protection Areas (SPA) 
Sites classified under the European Community Directive on Wild Birds to 
protect internationally important bird species. 
 
Stakeholders 
Interests directly affected by the LDP (and/ or SEA) - involvement 
generally through representative bodies. 
 
Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) 
Generic term used to describe environmental assessment as applied to 
polices, plans and programmes. The SEA Regulations require a formal 
"environmental assessment of certain plans and programmes, including 
those in the field of planning and land use. 
 
Strategic Opportunity Area (SOA) 
Strategic Opportunity Areas (SOAs) offers potential regional benefits 
from its sustainable development. SOAs are intended to bring greater 
coherence to their development, and enable public transport links to be 
strengthened.  
 
Submission 
Formal stage when the LDP is submitted to the Welsh Government for 
independent examination by a government-appointed planning inspector. 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) 
Supplementary Planning Guidance may cover a range of issues, both 
thematic and site specific and provide further detail of policies and 
proposals in a development plan. 
 
Sustainability Appraisal (SA) 
A tool for appraising policies and proposals to ensure they reflect 
sustainability development objects (i.e. social, environmental and 
economic factors). Each LPA is required by S62(6) of the Act to undertake 
an SA of the LDP. This form of SA fully incorporates the requirements of 
the SEA Directive. The term used in the LDP includes Strategic 
Environmental Assessment, unless otherwise made clear. 

Page 1628



164 

 
Sustainable Development 
Development that meets the needs of the present without compromising 
the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. 
 
Sustainable Transport 
Often meaning walking, cycling and public use of transport (and in some 
circumstances ‘car sharing’), which is considered to be less damaging to 
the environment and contributes less to traffic congestion than one-
person car journeys. 
 
Technical Advice Notes (TANS) 
Documents produced by the Welsh Assembly Government to supplement 
Planning Policy Wales, which give detailed technical guidance to Local 
Planning Authorities on particular planning issues. They should be taken 
into account by LPAs in the development plan preparation process. 
 
Transport Corridor 
An area of land in which at least one main line for transport, (road, rail, 
canal etc.) has been built. Often new transport lines are built alongside 
existing ones to minimise the area affected by pollution 
 
Transport Hub 
A place where passengers and cargo are exchanged between vehicles or 
between transport modes. Public Transport Hubs include train stations, 
rapid transit stations, bus stops, tram stop, airports and ferry slips 
 
Travel Plan 
A travel plan is a package of actions designed by a workplace, school or 
other organisation to encourage safe, healthy and sustainable travel 
options. By reducing car travel, Travel Plans can improve health and 
wellbeing, free up car parking space, and make a positive contribution to 
the community and the environment 
 
Wales Spatial Plan (WSP) 
A plan prepared and approved by the Welsh Government under S60 of 
the Act, which sets out a strategic framework to guide future 
development and policy interventions, whether or not these relate to 
formal land use planning control. Under S62 (5) (b) of the Act a local 
planning authority must have regard to the WSP in preparing an LDP. 
 
Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation (WIMD) 
The official measure of deprivation in small areas in Wales. It is a relative 
measure of concentrations of deprivation at the small area level. It looks 
at issues such as income, housing, employment, access to services, 
health, environment, education and community safety. 
 

Page 1629



165 

Windfall Site 
A site not specifically allocated for development in a development plan, 
but which unexpectedly becomes available for development during the 
lifetime of a plan. Most "windfalls" are referred to in a housing context. 
 
 
  

Page 1630



166 

Appendix 11: Tests of Soundness Self-Assessment 

11.1 When the Council has finalised its LDP, it must place it on deposit 
for public inspection and the submission of representations, and then 
submit it to the Welsh Government for examination by an independent 
inspector. The inspector appointed by the Welsh Government (WG) must 
determine whether the plan is fundamentally sound having regard to ten 
test of soundness set out in guidance issued by the Welsh Government 
and the Planning Inspectorate A Guide to the Examination of Local 
Development Plans, Planning Inspectorate Wales, 2007. 

11.2 The following table sets out the ten tests of soundness and the 
Council's assessment of its progress to date in meeting each of them. 

Procedural Tests 
P1 It has been prepared 

in accordance with 
the Delivery 
Agreement including 
the Community 
Involvement Scheme 

The Delivery Agreement (DA) contains a 
timetable for LDP production and the Community 
Involvement Scheme (CIS) that sets out how and 
when stakeholders and the community can 
contribute to preparing the LDP and its 
Sustainability Appraisal (SA). Cardiff’s DA was 
originally approved by Council on 23rd September 
2010 and agreed with the WG on 15th October 
2010. The DA is kept under continual review. On 
5th December 2011 WG agreed amendments to 
the timetable for preparing and adopting the 
plan. Consulting on the Deposit   Plan in October 
2013 fully accords with the adopted timetable. 
Additionally, it should be noted that the 
procedural requirements of the Town and 
Country Planning (Local Development Plan) 
(Wales) Regulations have been conformed with 
in preparing the plan. 

In accordance with the DA, the Council engaged 
with a wide range of groups, organisations and 
the wider public to assist developing a consensus 
on the generation of alternative strategies and 
options together with identifying key issues. 
Specific measures undertaken included: 

• Invitation to submit Candidate Sites - 
December 2010: Invitations were sent out 
inviting developers, landowners and 
others with an interest in land to submit 
sites they wished to be considered for 
development or reuse through the LDP. In 
addition a notice was placed in the South 
Wales Echo and placed on the Council 
website; 

Page 1631



167 

• Consultation on SA/SEA Scoping Report - 
November/December 2011; 

• Consultation on vision and objectives – 
November/December 2010: In order to 
inform the preparation of LDP vision and 
objectives an extensive consultation and 
engagement exercise was carried out. This 
included: 
 

o A Stakeholder Consultee 
Conference which was held on 25th 
November 2010: 

o 4 Public Consultee Conferences held 
at venues around the city; 

o Questionnaire contained in the 
November Capital Times; 

o Questionnaire available on-line via 
the Council’s website; 

o ‘Ask Cardiff’ random postal 
questionnaire to 5,000 households; 

o Citizens’ Panel questionnaire to 
1,000 households; and 

o E-mail responses to website and 
other publicity. 

 
• Consultation on strategic options and sites 

– May/June 2011: In order to inform the 
preparation of the Preferred Strategy a 
consultation exercise on strategic options 
and sites was undertaken between 9th May 
and 10th June 2011. During this period 
members of the public and stakeholders 
were asked to give views on a series of 
strategic growth options for housing and 
employment and on candidate sites that 
had been put forward by developers and 
landowners to deliver this growth. The 
consultation included: 
 

o A Stakeholder Consultee 
Conference which was held on 16th 
May 2011: 

o 13 Public Consultee Conferences 
held at venues around the city; 

o Publicity in Capital Times; 

Page 1632



168 

o Representation form available on-
line via the Council’s website; 

o Citizens’ Panel questionnaire to 
1,000 households; and 

o E-mail responses to website and 
other publicity. 

Consultation on the Preferred Strategy – 
November/December 2012. In accordance with 
Regulation 15 of the Local Development Plan 
Regulations the Council undertook 6 weeks 
consultation on the Preferred Strategy and the 
Initial Sustainability Appraisal between 1st 
November and 14th December 2012. During this 
period members of the public and stakeholders 
were asked to give views on how the Preferred 
Strategy proposed to address the key 
environmental, economic and social issues 
affecting the city and how development needs 
will be met including the proposed broad 
locations of new housing, employment and other 
strategic requirements.  

• A Stakeholder Consultee Conference 
which was held on 2nd November 2012: 

• 4 Public Consultee Conferences held at 
venues around the city; 

• 14 drop-in exhibitions at venues 
throughout the city; 

• Publicity in Capital Times; 
• Representation form available on-line via 

the Council’s website; 
• Citizens’ Panel questionnaire to 1,000 

households; and 
• E-mail responses to website and other 

publicity. 
• Consultation on Masterplanning principles 

– March 2013. A series of consultation 
events were held during March 2013 to 
seek feedback from stakeholders, 
developers and members of the public on 
the LDP Masterplanning Approach.   

• Engagement with key stakeholders 
through the preparation of various local 
and regional strategies –ongoing; 

• Deposit Plan consultation arrangements: 
When the Deposit Plan is issued, extensive 
consultation arrangements have been put 

Page 1633



169 

in place including the facility for on-line 
representations using the Objective 
Publishing system, public exhibitions, 
centre-page insert into, ‘The Capital 
Times’ that is delivered to every house in 
Cardiff, production of a user-friendly 
leaflet that provides a non-technical 
summary of the LDP and how to make 
representations, and relevant documents 
will be made available via the website. 

  
P2 The Plan and its 

policies have been 
subjected to 
Sustainability 
Appraisal including 
Strategic 
Environmental 
Assessment 

  

Following stakeholder engagement and 
consultation, a Scoping Report for Sustainability 
Appraisal (SA) and Strategic Environmental 
Assessment (SEA) of the Cardiff LDP was 
adopted by the Council's Executive and published 
in January 2011. An Initial Sustainability 
Appraisal Report was prepared in October 2012 
to accompany the Preferred Strategy 
Consultation and assessed the Preferred 
Strategy against the Sustainability Objectives 
identified in the SA/SEA Scoping Report. 

A Full Sustainability Appraisal Report has been 
prepared and published for consultation as part 
of the Council's Deposit proposals. It sets out an 
assessment of the Deposit Plan against the 
Sustainability Objectives identified in the SA/SEA 
Scoping Report. 

The SA/SEA work has been undertaken in-house 
using its Sustainable Development Unit and 
employed Levett-Therivel Sustainability 
Consultants to quality assure the work 
undertaken (process and content), and provide 
advice at key stages including how to comply 
with the strategic Environmental Assessment 
Regulations. 

  

  

Consistency Tests 
C1 It is a land use plan 

which has regard to 
other relevant plans, 

The Deposit Plan has regard to other relevant 
plans, policies and strategies.  Section 2 of the 
Plan specifically identifies the national, regional 

Page 1634



170 

policies and 
strategies relating to 
the area or adjoining 
areas 

  

and local policy framework within which it has 
been prepared. 

The Deposit Plan also has regard to the plans of 
adjoining authorities, namely the adopted 
Newport and Vale of Glamorgan Unitary 
Development Plan and adopted Caerphilly and 
Rhondda Cynon Taff Local Development Plan.  

Technical Appendix 1 of the SA/SEA Scoping 
Report includes a review of plans, policies and 
programmes from all levels of government 
(European, national, regional and local) that 
have been considered in undertaking SA/SEA of 
the Preferred Strategy. The Deposit Plan 
Strategy identifies and takes account of those 
aspects that are of significance. 

The Deposit Plan has regard to national policy set 
out in the Wales Spatial Plan which places Cardiff 
at the centre of the South East - 'Capital 
Network' - area of Wales. In this regard the plan 
recognises that it is important for Wales as a 
whole that Cardiff becomes significant 
internationally and that, to achieve this, the City 
needs to be the focal point of a coherent and 
successful urban network in South East Wales. In 
order to ensure the region functions in this way 
the Plan recognises that it is important to provide 
an integrated transport solution for the region 
linked to an appropriate balance of development 
throughout the region.  

 
C2 It has regard to 

national policy 

  

The Deposit Plan is consistent with national 
planning policy. Section 2 of the Preferred 
Strategy identifies the main elements of national 
policy which the Council has had regard to in its 
preparation. 

Technical Appendix 1 of the SA/ SEA Scoping 
Report includes a review of all national plans, 
policies and programmes that have been 
considered in undertaking SA/SEA of the Plan. 

The Deposit Plan takes account of those aspects 
of national policy that are of significance. 

  

Page 1635



171 

C3 It has regard to the 
Wales Spatial Plan 

  

The Deposit Plan is considered to be consistent 
with the Wales Spatial Plan.  Section 2 of the LDP 
directly references People Places Futures: The 
Wales Spatial Plan. 

The Deposit Plan reflects the Spatial Plan’s 
vision, strategy, propositions and actions for 
Cardiff and the South East Wales Area (The 
Capital Network). 

The level of growth in jobs and housing proposed 
in the plan together with transportation 
improvements will help deliver the Spatial Plan’s 
vision to place Cardiff at the centre of the South 
East - 'Capital Network' - area of Wales, helping 
to spread prosperity within the area and 
benefiting other parts of Wales. 

  
C4 It has regard to the 

Community Strategy 

  

The Deposit Plan has full regard to the Council’s 
Community Strategy. Section 3 (Vision and 
Objectives) of the Plan directly references the 
'What Matters’ Strategy 2010-2020’, and Section 
3 and the Plan builds upon it. In particular, the 
Preferred Strategy vision is based on the 
economic, social and environmental vision for 
Cardiff as set in the Strategy. These high level 
visions have been translated into spatial 
priorities to deliver the vision and provide the 
context for the strategic objectives and sub 
objectives that lie at the heart of the plan. The 
Deposit Plan sets out the means of delivering 
these objectives. 

  

  

Coherence and Effectiveness Tests 
CE1 The plan sets out a 

coherent strategy 
from which its 
policies and 
allocations clearly 
flow and, where 
cross boundary 
issues are relevant, 
it is compatible with 
the development 
plans prepared by 

Section 4 of the Deposit Plan sets out a coherent 
Strategy which flows from the key issues 
identified through the review of the national, 
regional and local policy framework, including 
the Wales Spatial Plan and the Community 
Strategy, and the evidence base. 

The strategy takes into account work undertaken 
at the regional level with neighbouring local 
authorities on spatial plan area groups and 
studies. This includes, the recommendations of 

Page 1636



172 

neighbouring 
authorities 

the Collaborative working Group, the Regional 
Waste Plan and Regional Transport Plan. This 
process ensures that cross boundary issues for 
the Deposit Plan Strategy are consistent with the 
development plans prepared by neighbouring 
authorities. 

In particular, the overall Strategy and level of 
growth proposed is considered to strike the right 
balance having regard to the evidence base and 
also taking account of Cardiff’s wider regional 
responsibilities in adopting an approach that still 
allows other authorities to fulfil their objectives, 
and those set out in the Wales Spatial Plan.  

 
CE2 The strategy, 

policies and 
allocations are 
realistic and 
appropriate having 
considered the 
relevant 
alternatives and are 
founded on a robust 
and credible 
evidence base 

  

The Deposit Plan is considered realistic and 
appropriate having considered all reasonable 
alternatives (in accordance with the SEA 
Regulations). A multitude of options and 
alternatives have been considered as part of the 
SA/SEA process.   

The Deposit Plan is founded on a robust and 
credible evidence base and draws upon the 
available evidence base, including the national 
regional and local policy context.  The key Issues 
section of the Deposit Plan sets out the 
assumptions and background to which the Plan’s 
policies and proposals are based.  The Deposit 
Plan is supported by evidence from the evidence 
base and background technical papers  

Technical Appendix 2 of the SA/SEA Scoping 
Report also includes a review of the evidence 
base that has been considered in undertaking the 
SA/SEA of the Deposit Plan. 

The preparation process has also been 
participative, with the views of key stakeholders 
being tested through a series of consultation 
events and the Council’s Citizens Panel. 

The extensive process of collecting relevant 
evidence has demonstrated that it is not always 
possible to reach absolute consensus on all 
issues and in some cases, different evidence 
sources may point to different conclusions. 
However, the Deposit Plan has taken full account 
of all relevant information available and where 
judgements have made been made, full 

Page 1637



173 

reasoning is set out within the document and 
supporting information  to demonstrate how 
conclusions are realistic and appropriate having 
regard to the evidence base. 

  
CE3 There are clear 

mechanisms for 
implementation and 
monitoring 

  

The Annual Monitoring Report is the principle 
mechanism through which the implementation of 
policies in the LDP are measured.  The general 
approach to this is set out in Appendix 8 to the 
Deposit Plan. 

  
CE4 It is reasonably 

flexible to enable it 
to deal with 
changing 
circumstances 

  

The Deposit Plan has been specifically designed 
to provide a flexible policy framework. It is 
considered sufficiently flexible to deal with 
unexpected changes in circumstances and has 
been prepared during a period that has seen 
economic changes, thereby allowing 
consideration of the flexibility of the policy 
response. 

Finally, the AMR provides a key mechanism to 
monitor the delivery of the LDP. This will be used 
to assess whether a review is necessary in case 
of a change in circumstances. 

  
 

Page 1638



174 

Appendix 12: List of Supporting Documents  
 
Background Technical Papers and Assessments 
 
1. Cardiff Deposit Local Development Plan 2006-2026 Background 

Technical Paper No. 1 Population and Housing – September 2013 
2. Cardiff Deposit Local Development Plan 2006-2026 Background 

Technical Paper No. 2 Urban Capacity Study – September 2013 
3. Cardiff Deposit Local Development Plan 2006-2026 Background 

Technical Paper No. 3 Green Belt – September 2013 
4. Cardiff Deposit Local Development Plan 2006-2026 Background 

Technical Paper No. 4 Economic – September 2013 
5. Cardiff Deposit Local Development Plan 2006-2026 Background 

Technical Paper No. 5 Transportation – September 2013 
6. Cardiff Deposit Local Development Plan 2006-2026 Background 

Technical Paper No. 6 Infrastructure Plan – September 2013 
7. Cardiff Deposit Local Development Plan 2006-2026 Background 

Technical Paper No. 7 District and Local Centres 
8. Cardiff Deposit Local Development Plan 2006-2026 Background 

Technical Paper No. 8 City Centre Protected Shopping Frontage 
Assessment – September 2013 

9. Cardiff Deposit Local Development Plan 2006-2026 Background 
Technical Paper No. 9 Minerals – September 2013 

10. Cardiff Deposit Local Development Plan 2006-2026 Background 
Technical Paper No. 10 Waste – September 2013 

11. Cardiff Deposit Local Development Plan 2006-2026 Final 
Sustainability Report - September 2013 

12. Cardiff Deposit Local Development Plan 2006-2026 Habitat 
Regulations Assessment Report – September 2013 

13. Cardiff Deposit Local Development Plan 2006-2026 Health Impact 
Assessment Report – September 2013 

14. Cardiff Deposit Local Development Plan 2006-2026 Equalities 
Impact Assessment Report – September 2013 

15. Cardiff Deposit Local Development Plan 2006-2026 Initial 
Consultation Report – September 2013 

16. Cardiff Deposit Local Development Plan 2006-2026 Masterplanning 
Framework – General Principles, Strategic Framework & Site Specific 
Frameworks for larger sites – September 2013 

17. Cardiff Deposit Local Development Plan 2006-2026 Summary of 
cross boundary working – September 2013 

 

Page 1639



175 

Evidence Base Studies 
 
18. Edge Analytics Report on Population & Household Forecasts 
19. Local housing Market Assessment 
20. Affordable Housing Viability Assessment 
21. Gypsy & Traveller Study Needs Assessment 
22. Gypsy and Traveller Study Sites Assessment 
23. Strategic Flood Consequences Assessment 
24. Landscape Study Supporting Documents: Review of Landscape 

Character Areas (February 2008), Review of Special Landscape 
Areas (August 2008) 

25. Renewable Energy Assessment 

 
 
 
  

Page 1640



176 

Appendix 13: List of the Evidence Base  
 

Topic Title Author Date 
Housing and 
Population 

 Cardiff Gypsy & 
Traveller 
Accommodation 
Assessment 

ORS Apr-13 

  Cardiff Gypsy, 
Traveller and 
Travelling Showpeople 
Sites Study  

Peter Brett 
Associates 

Jul-13 

  Affordable Housing 
Viability Study 

Peter Brett 
Associates 

Aug-13 

  Cardiff Local 
Development Plan 
Population and 
Household Projections 
Phase 1 Report 

Edge Analytics Mar-11 

  Cardiff Local 
Development Plan 
Population and 
Household Projections 
Phase 2 Report 

Edge Analytics Jun-11 

  Cardiff  Population 
and Household 
Forecasts – Updating 
the Evidence 

Edge Analytics Jun-13 
 

  Cardiff Housing 
Monitoring Schedule 

CCC Mar-13 

  Local Housing 
Market Assessment 
Update 

HDH Planning and 
Development 

July -13 

    
Economy 
and 
Employment 

 Cardiff Employment 
Land Study Stage 1: 
Supply Audit 

DTZ Apr-11 

  Cardiff Employment 
Land Study Update 
Stage 2: Assessing 
Future Requirements 

DTZ Jun-11 

  Strategic Area 
Appraisals 

Savills Jun-11 

  Cardiff Employment 
Land and Commercial 
Property Strategy 

GVA Grimley Mar-09 

Page 1641



177 

Topic Title Author Date 
  Business and 

Industrial Land bank 
Monitoring 

CCC Jul-11 

  Business Class 
Office Development 
Monitoring 

CCC Jul-11 

  Cardiff Employment 
Land and Property 
Study Stage 3: Gap 
Analysis 

Hardisty Jones 
Associates 

Apr-12 

  Economic Bulletin 
Edition 18 Autumn 
2010 

CCC Autumn 
2010 

  Monthly 
Unemployment 
Statistics 

Cardiff Research 
Centre 

Ongoing 

    
Retail  District and Local 

Centre Floorspace 
Survey 

Colliers Sep-08 

  Cardiff Out of 
Centre Retail Stores 

CCC Jan11 

  Retail Capacity 
Study 

Colliers Mar-09 

  Retail Capacity 
Study Update Volume 
1: Consultants Report 

Colliers Mar-11 

    
Biodiversity  Cardiff Biological 

Database 
CCC Ongoing 

    
Habitats 
Regulations 
Assessment 

 Screening Report CCC Oct-12 

    
Landscape  The Landscape 

Study of Cardiff 1999 
CCC 1999 

  The 2007 
Landscape Study of 
Cardiff 

CCC 2007 

  The Review of 
Landscape Character 
Areas Study 

CCC 2008 

    
Conservation 
and Design 

 Conservation Area 
Appraisals 

CCC Ongoing 

Page 1642



178 

Topic Title Author Date 
    
Flooding & 
Flood risk 

 Cardiff Strategic 
Flood Consequences 
Assessment: Report on 
Phase 1 (Scoping 
Study) 

Atkins June-09 

  Cardiff Strategic 
Flood Consequences 
Assessment: Phase 2 
Part 1  

Atkins Nov-11 

  Cardiff Strategic 
Flood Consequences 
Assessment: Phase 2 
Part 2 

Atkins Jul-11 

  Cardiff Strategic 
Flood Consequences 
Assessment: Phase 3 

Atkins Aug-12 

  Cardiff Strategic 
Flood Consequences 
Assessment: - 
Addendum Report 

Atkins Oct-11 

    
Open Space  Cardiff Open Space 

Survey 2009 
CCC Sept-09 

  Cardiff Accessible 
Natural Greenspace 
Survey 2008 

CCC Mar-08 

    

Renewable 
Energy 

 Renewable Energy 
Assessment 

CCC Aug 13 

    
Regional  Strategic Planning 

for the Cardiff City 
Region 

Roger Tym & 
Partners 

Oct-11 

  Report of Findings Cardiff LDP 
Collaborative 
Working Group 

Apr-12 

  

Page 1643



179 

Appendix 14: Bibliography 
 

• STEAM Report 2010 Cardiff Council 

• Cardiff Annual Traffic Flow Surveys Cardiff Council 

• Cardiff Annual Patronage Surveys 

2010 

Cardiff Council 

• Ask Cardiff Surveys: Between 2010 

and 2012 

Cardiff Council 

• ‘What Matters’ The Ten Year Strategy 

(2010-2020) 

Cardiff Council 

• European Directive 2009/28/EC: The 

Promotion of the use of energy from 

renewable sources 

EU 

• Cardiff and Wales Crime 2009 - 2011 Home Office 

• Employee Jobs Business Register and 

Employment Survey 2012 

ONS 

ONS GVA Statistics 2011 ONS 

• Claimant Count ONS 

• Population and Household growth 

estimates 

ONS 

• Guide to the Examination of Local 

Development Plans 2006 

Planning Inspectorate 

• Hotting Up? : An Analysis of Low 

Carbon Plans and Strategies for UK 

Cities 2011 

RICS 

• The South East Wales Regional Waste 

Plan, First Review (RWP) (2008) 

South East Wales Regional 

Waste Group (SEWRWG) 

• A Regional Transport Plan (RTP) 

(2010) 

South East Wales Transport 

Alliance (SEWTA) 

Page 1644



180 

• The South Wales Regional Technical 

Statement for Aggregates (2008) 

South Wales Regional 

Aggregates Working Party 

(SWRAWP) 

• Annual Population Survey 2011 Welsh Government 

• Local Development Plans Wales 2005 Welsh Government 

• Local Development Plan Manual 2006 Welsh Government 

• Planning Policy Wales (Edition 4) 

2011 

Welsh Government 

• Mineral Planning Policy Wales 2011 Welsh Government 

• People Places Futures: The Wales 

Spatial Plan 2008 

Welsh Government 

• Environment Strategy for Wales 2006 Welsh Government 

• One Wales, One Planet 2009 Welsh Government 

• Economic Renewal: A New Direction 

2010 

Welsh Government 

• One Wales: Connecting the Nation – 

The Wales Transport Strategy 2008 

Welsh Government 

• National Transport Plan 2010 Welsh Government 

• Minerals Technical Advice Note 1: 

Aggregates (MTAN1) 2004 

Welsh Government 

• Welsh Health Survey 2010 Welsh Government 

• Circular 30/2007 – Planning for Gypsy 

and Traveller caravan sites 

Welsh Government 

• Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation 

2011 

Welsh Government 

 

Page 1645



P
age 1646



P
age 1647



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Appendix 6  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Cardiff Council & Levett-Therivel Sustainability Consultants 
 
 
Sustainability Appraisal and Strategic Environmental 
Assessment of the Cardiff Local Development Plan  
 
Final Sustainability Appraisal Report of the Cardiff 
Local Development Plan  
 
January 2016 
 

Page 1649



2 
 

Contents  
 

1. Introduction and Key Outcomes 3 

2. Appraisal Methodology 7 

3. The Local Development Plan 11 

4. Sustainability Context, Baseline and Objectives 17 

5. Appraisal of the Vision and Objectives 37 

6. Appraisal of Strategic Options 44 

7. Appraisal of Candidate Sites for Development 52 

8. Appraisal of Key and Detailed Policies 58 

9. Overall Effects and Mitigation 73 

10. Next Steps 83 

 
 

Appendices (in separate files) 
A. Policy review 

B. Baseline 

C. Consultees' responses on Scoping Report 

D. Appraisal of LDP vision and objectives 

E. Appraisal of LDP strategic options 

F. Criteria used in candidate site appraisals 

G. Appraisal of LDP key and detailed policies 

H. Consultees’ responses to Initial Sustainability Appraisal Report 

I. Sustainability Appraisal response to Matters Arising Changes  

Page 1650



3 
 

1. Introduction and Key Outcomes  
 
Introduction  
 
1.1 This Sustainability Appraisal (SA) Report forms part of the Council’s documents 

for the Cardiff Local Development Plan (LDP) revised to reflect the May 2015, 
October 2015 and January 2016  Matters Arising Changes  following the public 
Examination.  The purpose of sustainability appraisal is to identify the LDP's 
likely significant economic, environmental and social effects, and to suggest 
measures to minimise any negative effects and maximise the positive ones.  
Sustainability appraisal helps to foster a more inclusive and transparent process 
of producing a LDP, and helps to ensure that the LDP is integrated with other 
policies. 
 

1.2 Section 121 of the Government of Wales Act 1998 and section 79 of the 
Government of Wales Act 2006 place a duty on the National Assembly to 
promote sustainable development.  Section 39 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act1 requires that the body producing a LDP (in this case Cardiff 
Council) must contribute to achieving sustainable development.  In October 
2006 Cardiff Council adopted its Sustainable Development Policy Statement 
which states that, “sustainable development is a guiding principle for all of the 
Council’s activities ... [including] strategy and policy development”. 
 

1.3 This report: 
• Summarises and updates key aspects of the previously published 

Scoping Report; 
• Assesses the vision, objectives, strategic options, candidate sites and 

key policies for the Cardiff LDP (with reference to the detailed policies 
when necessary), and the cumulative effects of the LDP; 

• Where the LDP would have significant negative impacts, identifies 
possible methods to mitigate adverse impacts; 

• Proposes a process of monitoring the LDP's actual impacts; and 
• Provides appendices providing more detailed information on various 

aspects of this report. 
 
How this sustainability appraisal was undertaken including difficulties faced 
 
1.4 The Council has undertaken its own sustainability appraisal (integrating 

Strategic Environmental Assessment) of its LDP and has retained Levett – 
Therivel Sustainability Consultants to ensure quality, and to provide technical 
assistance at key stages of the process.  Much of the SA was carried out by the 
sustainability appraisal team – the Council’s sustainability officers and the 
consultants – with the results being passed to, and responded to, by the 
Council’s planning team.  Several appraisal workshops were attended by 

                                                 
1 www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/5/contents  

Page 1651

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/5/contents


4 
 

officers from other Council departments.   The last stages, updating between 
the October 2012 Preferred Strategy and the August 2013 Deposit LDP, and 
then to take account of the May 2015, October 2015 and January 2016 Matters 
Arising Changes following the public Examination, were largely carried out as a 
desk study by the consultants, with input from the Council’s officers.   
  

1.5 Some difficulties were faced in carrying out the SA.  First, the LDP has gone 
through several versions, and many policies are based on ones in the 2009 
version which was subsequently withdrawn: care had to be taken to ensure 
that each  round of appraisal was consistent with earlier ones while reflecting 
changes in context including information on employment, the housing market, 
and flood risk as well as changes to the plan itself.   Changes in order and 
numbering, drafting ‘churn’, repetition and wordiness, have added to the 
difficulty keeping track of material and ensuring consistency.  (For clarity, this 
report uses the latest policy names and numbers even when referring to earlier 
versions which used different ones.  Paragraph 8.1 should resolve any 
uncertainties about references.)  
 

1.6 Second, the back-and-forth nature of the appraisal, with SA comments being 
actively considered and acted upon by the planning officers (a very good thing 
which has helped to ensure that the SA findings really have informed the LDP), 
also made it difficult to ensure consistency.   

 
1.7 These two factors together mean that the process of evolution of plan policies, 

and of appraisal of them, has often been complex and convoluted.  As the 
process has gone on, increasing care has been needed to show the ‘audit trail’ 
leading to the current position without confusing and cluttering the assessment 
of it.  The current round of documents give priority to presenting the clearest 
possible assessment of the LDP as it now stands at the end of the process.  To 
this end, detailed accounts of earlier rounds of comments, suggestions and 
changes that are now superseded have been minimised in the main 
report.  They are of course all still available in the public domain, either as 
appendices or in earlier appraisal documents. 
 

1.8 Third, the appraisal criteria for individual candidate sites agreed between the 
SA and the planning teams took into account measures that developers might 
take to reduce any identified negative impacts.  This approach is not consistent 
with the remainder of the SA appraisal process, which does not assume any 
mitigation measures, and accounts for discrepancies between the site pro 
formas (which include mitigation measures) and the SA appraisals (which do 
not). 
 

1.9 Finally, in many cases assumptions had to be made about the type of 
development that would take place in response to the LDP (for instance the 
ratio of housing v. employment development) and the type and efficacy of 
measures to reduce negative impacts.  Inevitably uncertainty will remain until 
detailed planning proposals are put forward by developers. 

Page 1652



5 
 

 
 
Significant effects of the LDP  

 
1.10 Overall the LDP would have significant benefits in providing the housing and 

employment land that Cardiff's current and future residents will need.  It will 
help to improve access to good quality jobs, services and infrastructure for 
Cardiff's residents, although it is unlikely to fully redress the imbalance 
between the 'southern arc' of deprivation and other areas of the city. Better 
housing, access to open space, and walking and cycling facilities should make 
residents’ health and wellbeing better than it would be without the LDP.   The 
new development may draw in people who currently live or work in the 
Valleys, and so have indirect impacts on neighbouring authorities. 
 

1.11 The sheer volume of development which the LDP has to provide for will 
inevitably result in increased total air pollution, greenhouse gas emissions, use 
of natural resources and waste because of increased traffic, houses and 
employment. The LDP includes many enlightened policies to reduce these 
impacts. If these are fully, thoroughly and promptly implemented they could 
substantially reduce per capita impacts.  Changes following the public 
Examination included welcome strengthenings of some of these.  However 
many are still framed in terms of ‘encouraging’, ‘supporting’ or ‘investigating’ 
rather than ‘requiring’ specific actions, so their effectiveness is uncertain. 

 
1.12 The LDP provides for development of several major Greenfield sites amounting 

to about 902 hectares.  The largest of these are located far from Cardiff city 
centre, so will increase transport impacts unless sustainable transport provision 
is made before occupants move in; and several would affect areas that are 
designated for their landscape or biodiversity importance.  Even with the 
mitigation measures contained in the policies biodiversity and landscape 
quality are likely to decrease significantly.  Any significant development of 
strategic Site H (South of St Mellons Business Park) is particularly problematic.  

 
Changes made to the LDP in response to the Sustainability Appraisal  
 
1.13 The planning team have been open and responsive to the SA process, and the 

SA has resulted in many changes to the LDP which have helped to improve its 
sustainability: 

• Rewording of several LDP sub-objectives and one headline objective, 
including division of one sub-objective into three sub-objectives to more 
adequately cover waste issues; and greater emphasis on healthy food 
choices (see Table 5.2); 

• Stronger and more systematic consideration of sustainability issues in the 
process of sifting and choosing between potential candidate development 
sites by the planning team;  

• Removal of a key policy that duplicated another one; 

Page 1653



6 
 

• Greater emphasis to reducing the need to travel by car, making facilities 
accessible by walking and cycling, ensuring good public transport before 
remote greenfield sites are occupied, and resilience to climate change 
(Table 8.2); 

• Reference to industrial and domestic sources of air pollution as well as 
transport pollution, and promotion of remediation of contaminated land 
(Table 8.3). 

 
1.14 Matters Arising Changes have now made some further improvements which 

the SA had recommended, notably tightening of the requirements for 
sustainable transport infrastructure, for delivery of the 50-50 modal split target 
and for consideration of renewable energy in major developments, and 
removal of repetition.  However they have also weakened the long term 
environmental protection by replacing the proposed Green Belt with a Green 
Wedge.  

Page 1654



7 
 

2. Appraisal Methodology 
 
 

Legislative Requirements  
 
2.1 Section 62(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires the 

Council to appraise the sustainability of the LDP and prepare a report of the 
findings as an integral part of the process of plan preparation.  The Welsh 
Government Local Development Plan Manual2 defines sustainability appraisal 
as a: “tool for appraising policies to ensure they reflect sustainable 
development objectives (i.e. social, environmental and economic factors)".  
Sustainability appraisal helps to demonstrate that the LDP is sound by ensuring 
that it reflects sustainable development objectives, and contributes to the 
reasoned justification of policies.  

 
2.2 Welsh Government guidance indicates that sustainability appraisal must 

include the requirements of the Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) 
Regulations3. The SEA Regulations transpose into Welsh law the requirements 
of the European Union Directive 2001/42/EC (the SEA Directive) which requires 
formal environmental assessment during production of certain plans and 
programmes (including LDPs) which are likely to have significant effects on the 
environment. In preparing its LDP, the Council must comply with the SEA 
Regulations. 

 
Stages of Appraisal 
 
2.3 This SA report updates and builds on a Scoping Report4 which the Council 

produced in October 2010.  The Scoping Report reviewed the policy context for 
the LDP and described the economic, social and environmental issues affecting 
Cardiff.  It also proposed a Sustainability Appraisal Framework of Objectives 
which is used in this report to assess the impacts of the LDP policies.   Figure 2.1 
shows the stages of the Scoping Report. 

  
2.4 This report then considers the impacts of the LDP vision and objectives, 

strategic options, candidate sites, and key and detailed policies.  Figure 2.2 
shows the steps followed for this report.  Steps B3 – B5 were carried out 
iteratively responding to, and helping inform, successive versions of the Plan.  
This report is substantially based on the one published in October 2012 with 
the LDP Preferred Strategy.  

 
2.5 Table 2.1 shows how this report and the Scoping Report together meet the 

requirements of the SEA Regulations.  The legal requirements for Sustainability 
Appraisal and Strategic Environmental Assessment of the Cardiff LDP are 
fulfilled by the Scoping Report and this report, which have been prepared in 

                                                 
2 wales.gov.uk/docs/desh/publications/060707ldpmanualen.pdf  
3 Assessment of Plans and Programmes (Wales) Regulations 2004, 
www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2004/1656/contents/made  
4 Available at www.cardiff.gov.uk/content.asp?nav=2%2C2870%2C3139%2C3154%2C5845%2C6201  

Page 1655

http://wales.gov.uk/docs/desh/publications/060707ldpmanualen.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2004/1656/contents/made
http://www.cardiff.gov.uk/content.asp?nav=2%2C2870%2C3139%2C3154%2C5845%2C6201


8 
 

accordance with the LDP Manual and the Practical Guide to Strategic 
Environmental Assessment Directive5 (ODPM et al 2005). 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 2.1  Scoping stages 

                                                 
5 www.communities.gov.uk/documents/planningandbuilding/pdf/practicalguidesea.pdf  

A1: Identifying other 
plans, programmes and 

strategies 
A2: Collecting baseline 

information 

A3: Identifying 
sustainability issues 
and environmental 

problems 

A4: Developing SEA 
and SA objectives 

A5: Consulting on the 
scope of SEA and SA 

Page 1656

http://www.communities.gov.uk/documents/planningandbuilding/pdf/practicalguidesea.pdf


9 
 

 

 
 

Figure 2.2  Appraisal and mitigation stages 

B2: Developing strategic 
alternatives 

B4: Evaluating the effects 
of the draft Development 

Plan, including 
alternatives 

B5: Considering ways of 
mitigating adverse 

effects 

B6: Proposing measures to 
monitor the environmental 

effects of the draft 
Development Plan 

B1: Testing the Development 
Plan objectives against the 

appraisal framework 

B3: Predicting the effects of 
the draft Development 

Plan, including alternatives 

Page 1657



10 
 

Table 2.1 ENVIRONMENTAL REPORT REQUIREMENTS 
 

Stages of Environmental Report Where covered 
1. An outline of the contents and main objectives of the plan or 
programme, and of its relationship with other relevant plans and 
programmes. 

Chapter 3 

2. The relevant aspects of the current state of the environment 
and the likely evolution thereof without implementation of the 
plan or programme. 

Chapter 4, Appendix B 

3. The environmental characteristics of areas likely to be 
significantly affected. 

Chapter 4, Appendix B 

4. Any existing environmental problems which are relevant to the 
plan or programme including, in particular, those relating to any 
areas of a particular environmental importance, such as areas 
designated pursuant to Council Directive 79/409/EEC on the 
conservation of wild birds and the Habitats Directive. 

Chapter 4, Appendix B  

5. The environmental protection objectives, established at 
international, Community or Member State level, which are 
relevant to the plan or programme and the way those objectives 
and any environmental considerations have been taken into 
account during its preparation. 

Chapter 4, Appendix A 

6. The likely significant effects on the environment, including short, 
medium and long-term effects, permanent and temporary effects, 
positive and negative effects, and secondary, cumulative and 
synergistic effects, on issues including (a) biodiversity; (b) 
population; (c) human health; (d) fauna; (e) flora; (f) soil; (g) water; 
(h) air; (i) climatic factors; (j) material assets; (k) cultural heritage, 
including architectural and archaeological heritage; (l) landscape; 
and (m) the inter-relationship between the issues referred to in 
sub-paragraphs (a) to (l). 

Chapter 5 (LDP vision and 
objectives) 
Chapter 6 (LDP options) 
Chapter 7 (candidate sites) 
Chapter 8 (key and detailed 
policies) 
Chapter 9 (overall impacts of the 
LDP) 

7. The measures envisaged to prevent, reduce and as fully as 
possible offset any significant adverse effects on the environment 
of implementing the plan or programme. 
8. An outline of the reasons for selecting the alternatives dealt 
with, and a description of how the assessment was undertaken 
including any difficulties encountered in compiling the required 
information. 

Chapter 6 (LDP options) 
Chapter 7 (candidate sites) 
 

The site pro formas give more 
detailed information on the 
impacts of each candidate site.  
The LDP gives more details on the 
reasons for the choice of 
preferred options. 

9. A description of the measures envisaged concerning monitoring 
in accordance with regulation 17. 

Chapter 10 

10. A non-technical summary of the information provided under 
paragraphs 1 to 9. 

Separate non-technical summary 

 

Page 1658



 

11 
 

Cardiff is a 
fair, just 
inclusive 
society 

 

Cardiff is a 
great place 

to live, work 
and play 

 

People in 
Cardiff 

achieve their 
full potential 
 

Cardiff has a 
thriving and 
prosperous 
economy 

 

People in 
Cardiff are 

safe and feel 
safe 

 

People in Cardiff 
have a clean, 
attractive and 

sustainable 
environment 

 

People in 
Cardiff are 

healthy 

 
A World 

Class, Quality 
of Life Capital 

 

3. The Local Development Plan  
 
 

3.1 The LDP sets out: 

• the key trends and issues that have informed the Plan, which were 
identified through preparation of the SA/SEA Scoping Report and a review 
of social, economic and environmental information; 

• the national, regional and local policy context; 

• the Council’s vision for future development of Cardiff with seven desired 
strategic outcomes, and its objectives for delivering sustainable 
development and addressing the key trends and issues identified; 

• the strategic growth options that the Council has considered in 
determining its Preferred Strategy;  

• the strategic sites and alternatives that the Council has considered; 

• the overall Strategy to deliver the Plan vision and objectives; and 

• key and detailed policies for implementing the Strategy. 

LDP vision and outcomes  
 
3.2 The 10 year Integrated Partnership Strategy, Cardiff: What Matters (2010 – 

2020), combines the Community Strategy (which provided the vision for the 
previous withdrawn LDP), Children & Young People's Plan; Health Social Care & 
Wellbeing Strategy and the Community Safety Strategic Assessment  
programmes into one 
consolidated document.  
This Strategy provides 
an overarching strategic 
framework and the 
Vision for the LDP.   

3.3 That vision is “By 2020… 
Cardiff will be a world 
class European capital 
city with an exceptional 
quality of life and at the 
heart of a thriving 
region”.   The Vision will 
be realised through 
seven outcomes, shown 
at Figure 3.1. Figure 3.1  LDP vision and outcomes 

Page 1659



 

12 
 

LDP objectives 
 
3.4 The LDP's objectives are: 

1. To respond to evidenced economic needs and provide the necessary infrastructure to 
deliver development 

a. To effectively respond to Cardiff’s role as capital city for Wales, seat of the National 
Government and centre of the city-region in terms of providing a range and choice of 
economic opportunities that will drive the prosperity of the region 

b. To maximise the economic potential of the city centre of Cardiff as a major financial 
and service sector opportunity that builds upon its position next to a transport hub of 
national and regional significance and is readily accessible from all areas within the city 
and well connected to other UK cities 

c. To maintain and enhance the vitality, attractiveness and viability of the city centre as a 
major retail and cultural destination and as a place to work, visit and live 

d. To continue the successful regeneration of the Cardiff Bay area, maximising 
opportunities for quality commercial buildings and further development, particularly 
water and river frontage developments that can provide attractive and distinctive 
environments 

e. To promote clusters of specialist sectors and research & development expertise 
including the following key sectors: ICT, energy and environment, advanced materials 
and manufacturing, creative industries, life sciences, financial and professional services 

f. To ensure a range and choice of employment land and business premises at 
sustainable locations across the city is provided to assist economic competiveness, 
encourage entrepreneurship, promote the growth of indigenous businesses of all 
types and size and attract inward investment 

g. To assist the promotion of Cardiff as a major tourist destination including the provision 
of the development of a variety of high quality tourist facilities and visitor 
accommodation 

h. To create a physical and economic environment that develops, attracts and retains 
skilled workers, businesses and entrepreneurs to Cardiff together with maximising 
links with Universities and supporting indigenous skills and enterprises 

i. To quantify critical strategic infrastructure required to realise development aspirations 
and set out clear mechanisms for delivery including sustainable transport solutions for 
strategic sites 

j. To establish Cardiff as a sustainable travel city by reducing the need to travel, 
increasing the use of sustainable travel modes and networks (particularly walking and 
cycling), decreasing private car use and improving the city’s key transport hub based at 
the adjacent central bus and train stations 

k. To protect existing mineral resources and ensure an adequate supply of limestone 
aggregates in the north west of the city for the construction industry and to promote 
their efficient and appropriate usage, including the use of recycled aggregates where 
possible 

l. To support sustainable collection and recycling methods for Municipal Waste by 
maintaining and improving an integrated network of facilities in Cardiff 

m. To lead and participate in securing regional facilities for the sustainable treatment and 
disposal of Municipal Waste in accordance with the Regional Waste Plan and in a 
manner that follows the waste hierarchy which seeks to maximise the reduction of 
waste in the first place and thereafter reusing, recovering and recycling options before 
the disposal of waste material is considered 

n. To facilitate an integrated network of commercial and industrial sustainable waste 
management facilities consistent with the needs of the south east Wales area and in a 

Page 1660



 

13 
 

manner that follows the waste hierarchy which seeks to maximise the reduction of 
waste in the first place and thereafter reusing, recovering and recycling options before 
the disposal of waste material is considered 

 
2. To respond to evidenced social needs 
a. To provide new homes required to support the economic progression of the city and 

to respond to population change, continued in-migration and evidenced demand for 
affordable and family housing so that social needs can be addressed 

b. To provide a range and choice of new homes of different tenure, type and location 
that meets specific needs such as the provision of affordable housing, family 
accommodation, housing for the elderly, the disabled and students and pitches for 
the gypsy and traveller community 

c. To maximise the use of the existing building stock through refurbishment, retro-fitting 
and empty homes initiatives 

d. To bring about changes to Cardiff’s environment and neighbourhoods that help to 
tackle health inequalities, promote good health and enable healthier lifestyles to be 
led by the city’s population in line with Cardiff’s status as a World Health 
Organisation, ‘Healthy City’ 

e. To bring about changes to Cardiff’s environment that create a safer city and reduce 
the likelihood, fear and consequences of crime 

f. To create an environment that is made more accessible to all groups in society so that 
the employment opportunities, facilities and services of the city can be more readily 
used and enjoyed by all 

g. To maximise the multi-functional role played by Cardiff’s parks, open spaces and 
allotments together with improving their accessibility for the whole community 

h. To recognise, support and enhance the key role played by existing District, Local and 
Neighbourhood Centres as accessible local hubs providing community services, local 
shops, healthy food choices, businesses, employment and access to public transport 

i. To support the regeneration of local neighbourhoods including reducing inequalities, 
particularly areas experiencing high levels of deprivation, areas vulnerable to decline 
and areas with opportunities for change 

j. To ensure that the necessary education and training facilities are provided and are 
accessible to all: to build strong futures for children, provide a diverse range of 
learning opportunities for all and assist economic progress through the development 
of required skills 

k. To develop new cultural, leisure and sporting facilities to meet needs and enhance 
Cardiff’s role as a premier cultural and sporting destination 

l. To ensure that the necessary community and cultural facilities (community centres, 
shops with healthy food choices, youth facilities, child care, faith buildings, health 
centres etc) are provided that are accessible to all, especially in areas that are 
deprived 

m. To address rising unemployment and provide accessible local job opportunities, 
particularly in areas of greatest need 

n. To promote social inclusion equality of opportunity and access for all 
 
3. To deliver economic and social needs in a co-ordinated way that respects Cardiff’s 

environment and responds to the challenges of climate change 
a. To mitigate the effects of climate change through reducing energy demand and 

increasing the supply of renewable energy 
b. To ensure that Cardiff adapts to the full anticipated impacts of climate change and 

that new development and infrastructure is designed to be resilient to possible 
consequences 

Page 1661



 

14 
 

c. To protect, manage and enhance Cardiff’s natural environmental assets, including: 
• The parks, open spaces and allotments in the city that are highly valued 

by local communities and an important component of Cardiff’s quality of 
life; 

• The strategically important river valleys of the Ely, Taff, Nant Fawr and 
Rhymney that link the city to the countryside and provide a valuable 
recreational, biodiversity and amenity resource; 

• Cardiff’s countryside, particularly its areas of high landscape value and the 
coast that provide an important setting to the urban area, provide an 
agricultural resource and opportunity for recreation; 

• The city’s biodiversity, its internationally, nationally and locally designated 
sites, wildlife habitats and features that contain important species and 
networks that link together areas of value; 

• Natural resources including geodiversity, the best soils, water and air 
quality including the reduction of pollution; and 

• The role that vegetation plays in combating climate change by providing 
shading, cooling and carbon sinks 

d. To conserve and enhance Cardiff’s built and historic assets that define distinctive 
character and reflect its past development including: 

• The city’s 27 Conservation Areas; 
• Its Listed Buildings and Ancient Monuments; 
• Registered Historic Landscapes and areas of archaeological importance; 

and  
• Other valued public places and spaces, including parks and amenity 

spaces, that provide local distinctiveness 
e. In identifying new sites to meet economic/social needs, to follow a sequence of firstly 

maximising the contribution of brownfield sites, then identifying greenfield sites that 
are considered to represent the most appropriate and sustainable locations to 
accommodate new development 

f. To have full regard to flood risk when considering the acceptability of development 
proposals and considering mitigation and adaptation measures 

g. To maximise opportunities to create a cleaner and more attractive environment that 
enhances the quality of life and helps Cardiff to become a world-class European 
capital city 

 
4. To create sustainable neighbourhoods that form part of a sustainable city 
a. To ensure that all new development areas (whether greenfield or brownfield) create 

sustainable neighbourhoods that follow the following principles: 
1. Minimise energy demand and maximise renewable solutions- to deliver more 

energy-efficient neighbourhoods that utilise existing best practice and 
embrace new renewable technologies and concepts; 

2. Minimise car travel, maximise sustainable transport use and decrease air 
pollution by creating accessible, permeable and legible places, preventing 
predominantly car-based developments and focusing new development in 
accessible locations which are linked to the strategic cycle network and can be 
served mainly by effective networks of sustainable transport- walking and 
cycling and fast and frequent public transport around and beyond the city; 

3. Maximise recycling- to optimise the overall value of waste as a resource, to 
effectively plan for how new developments can sort and store waste for 
collection for onward productive use and minimise material needing 
treatment and final landfill; 

Page 1662



 

15 
 

4. Minimise water usage and maximise sustainable drainage- to carefully manage 
the consumption and drainage of water to avoid unnecessary wastage and 
minimise rapid run-off. To seek opportunities to maximise the positive 
amenity and biodiversity benefits that sustainable drainage solutions can 
offer; 

5. Maximise the early provision of a full range of social facilities and community 
infrastructure- to provide the full range of necessary facilities that are 
accessible to all members of society and can be reached within a 15 minute 
walk. To include the range of social, health, leisure, education necessary for 
the scale of development proposed and also taking into account other needs 
within the wider locality; 

6. Maximise the additional benefits that new communities can bring to adjoining 
or surrounding existing communities and minimise any potential negative 
impacts- to carefully identify positive contributions that can be made and 
involve local communities in this process; 

7. Maximise the diversity of land uses within new development areas- to create 
more balanced communities offering non-car based options to fully participate 
in community life. To ensure a range and choice of housing tenures together 
with local employment opportunities and the full range of community 
infrastructure; 

8. Maximise the contribution of networks of multi-functional and connected 
open spaces to strategically design networks of open space that are rich in 
biodiversity and provide safe routes between key locations to encourage 
healthier lifestyles through promoting walking and cycling. To further 
encourage healthy lifestyles by providing allotments together with the wider 
promotion of healthy eating; 

9. Maximise the principles of good design- to create places that look good, are of 
an appropriate and efficient density, fully respect their local context and are 
successfully integrated with adjoining areas. To design buildings that are 
resilient and can easily adapt to changing future needs. To design clean and 
attractive areas where people feel safe and have a sense of ownership; and 

10. Maximise community involvement in the planning, design and future 
management/maintenance of new neighbourhoods. To use the master 
planning process to establish robust design principles but to also recognise the 
need to allow some flexibility and managed capacity for change, particularly in 
larger development areas. 

b. To take opportunities to apply the above principles to existing neighbourhoods in order 
to create a more sustainable city 

 

LDP key diagram 

3.5 The LDP key diagram is at Figure 3.2.  The LDP is also supported by a range of 
technical papers, of which this Sustainability Appraisal is one. 

 

Page 1663



 

16 
 

Figure 3.2 LDP key diagram 
 

P
age 1664



 

17 
 

4. Sustainability Context, Baseline and Objectives 
 
4.1 This section summaries and updates the main findings of the Scoping Report 

(see Figure 2.1), and says how the LDP has taken these findings into account.  
 
Identifying other plans, programmes and strategies (Task A1) 
 
“an outline of the contents, main objectives of the plan and relationship with other relevant plans and programmes”  

(SEA Directive Annex I(a)) 
“the environmental protection objectives, established at international, Community or Member State level, which are 
relevant to the plan and the way those objectives and any environmental considerations have been taken into account 
during its preparation”  

(SEA Directive Annex I(e)) 

 
4.2 The Scoping Report's analysis of policies, plans, programmes and strategies 

relevant to the LDP included: 
• an explanation of the methodology used; 
• a list of the documents reviewed; and 
• how the LDP accords with the guidance and regulations. 

 
4.3 Since the Scoping Report was published in 2010, the following significant policy 

changes have occurred: 
 

• Planning Policy Wales (Edition 5, November 2012) consolidates previous 
changes and gives strong and detailed emphasis to climate change (both 
reduction and adaptation);  

• Technical Advice Note 22: Sustainable Buildings (Welsh Assembly 
Government 2010) provides guidance and advice on sustainable buildings, 
standards of assessment and design solutions, including for low carbon 
buildings; 

• One Wales: One Planet (2011), Welsh Government Discussion Paper, 
signals the government's intention to legislate to give more impetus and 
leverage to accelerate progress toward sustainable development; 

• Consultation on a Sustainable Development Bill (consultation on a White 
Paper with implementation proposals closed in March 2013) would make 
sustainable development the central organising principle of the Welsh 
Government and most public bodies in Wales; 

• National Strategy for Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management in 
Wales (Welsh Government November 2011) sets out the framework for 
“Risk Management Authorities” to allow them to deliver their flood and 
coastal risk management functions; 

• Energy Wales: A Low Carbon Transition (Welsh Government 2012) states 
the Welsh Government’s commitment to ‘create a sustainable, low carbon 
economy for Wales’ featuring low carbon energy and energy efficiency; 

• City Regions Final Report (Welsh Government, May 2012) recommends 
recognising a South East Wales (ie Cardiff centred) city region, with an over- 
arching city region strategic planning tier; 

Page 1665



 

18 
 

• Cardiff: What Matters 2010:2020 combines four previous strategies into 
one with clear quality of life and environmental outcome goals; 

• Cardiff Municipal Waste Management Strategy 2011 – 16 describes how 
waste will be collected and processed to meet ambitious targets for reuse, 
recycling and composting.  

 
4.4 Appendix A shows the full, updated policy analysis.  Table 4.1 summarises, by 

topic, the key aims of the policy documents reviewed, how the LDP could assist 
in delivering these aims, and to what extent these considerations have been 
taken into account during its preparation. 

 
Collecting baseline information (Task A2)  
 
“The relevant aspects of the current state of the environment and the likely evolution thereof without implementation 
of the plan” 
“the environmental characteristics of areas likely to be significantly affected” 
“The relevant aspects of the current state of the environment and the likely evolution thereof without implementation 
of the plan”  

(SEA Directive Annex I(b and c)) 

 
4.5 Section 3 of the Scoping Report sets out how baseline information about 

Cardiff was collected, and a list of the indicators that will be used to monitor 
change over time.  This has been updated in Appendix B.  The main changes 
between October 2010 and August 2012 were: 
 
• The recession has dampened house prices more than earnings, making 

housing more affordable than a few years ago (measured by the ratio of 
average earnings to average house price); 

• Two of Cardiff’s four Air Quality Management Areas have improved enough 
to be discontinued, but a new third one had to be added in 2010; 

• Traffic in Cardiff is continuing to decline gently; 
• Domestic energy use is slowly decreasing; 
• Greenhouse gas emissions are therefore probably slowly declining too, 

though post-2010 direct data is not available; 
• Almost all new housing has been on brownfield land; 
• The city’s population and number of households continues to grow; 
• Domestic waste reuse, recycling and composting performance has 

continued to improve strongly: Cardiff has now overtaken the Wales 
average. 

 
4.6 Between October 2012 and August 2013 the Council commissioned further 

research which indicated population growth and housing demand was likely to 
be lower than previously estimated.  The research and its implications for the 
LDP are explained at 4.12-4.26 in the Deposit LDP and paras 6.12-6.15 in this 
report.  

Page 1666



 

19 
 

 Table 4.1 Key messages of policy review 
SA/SEA topic Policy aims and how the LDP might support them Considerations included in the LDP  
Access and 
equality 

Policy aims: 

• Ensure that everyone has access to good quality housing sufficient for their needs, 
employment, shopping, education, training, health, community, leisure and sports 
facilities and open and green space. 

• Secure a safer and more accessible environment for everyone. 
• Promote social inclusion and equality of opportunity. 
 
How the LDP might assist in delivering policy aims: 
• Foster improvements to transport facilities and services which maintain or improve 

accessibility to services and facilities, secure employment, economic and environmental 
objectives, and improve safety and amenity. 

• Promote mixed use developments. 
• Ensure new development is located and designed to provide attractive, accessible, safe, 

secure and sustainable environments for everyone including people with special access 
requirements and those who do not have access to a private car. 

• Promote and safeguard opportunities for improved public transport and measures to 
assist pedestrians and cyclists. 

Objectives 
The LDP contains objectives under ‘Respond to evidenced social needs’ including 
objectives on: 

• Social and affordable housing 
• Creating an environment and services that are accessible to all 
• Maximising early provision of full range of social facilities and 

community infrastructure…within a 15 minute walk  
• Maximising access to parks and open spaces 
• Ensuring accessibility of necessary educational facilities for all  
• Creating a safer city 

Policies 
KP1 aims to ensure sufficient housing is built.  KP2 and H1 designate sites. 
The masterplanning principles (KP4) and their application to strategic sites (KP2) 
aim to maximise accessibility to services and facilities, and provide alternatives 
to car travel.   
KP5 promotes sustainable design including attractive, accessible, safe, secure 
and sustainable environments. 
KP6 aims to provide social infrastructure for new development  
KP13 supports sustainable neighbourhoods and aims to secure social provision 
in new development   
The housing policies H2, H4, H5 and H6 govern conversions to and from 
residential use. 
H3 sets targets for affordable housing. 
H7  makes provision for gypsies and travellers. 
R1 to R8 aim to provide accessible retail at appropriate levels including 
neighbourhood and local centres     
C1 seeks provision of community facilities in new development  
C7 seeks provision of schools to meet needs 
 

P
age 1667



 

20 
 

SA/SEA topic Policy aims and how the LDP might support them Considerations included in the LDP  
Air Quality Policy aims: 

• Take account of the effects of development upon air quality and vice versa, and meet 
mandatory standards for air quality. 

 
How the LDP might assist in delivering policy aims: 
• Include policies on the location of potentially polluting developments, make provision for 

types of development that may cause pollution and separate incompatible land uses. 
• Locate development so as to minimise travel demand, particularly by cars and other 

motor vehicles, and where it is accessible by a range of forms of travel/transport, 
including walking, cycling, use of public transport and alternatives to movement of freight 
by road. 

Objectives 
The LDP aims: 
• To protect, manage and enhance Cardiff’s natural environmental assets, 

including: -…Natural resources including geodiversity, the best soils, water 
and air quality including the reduction of pollution; 

• To decrease air pollution….by preventing predominantly car-based 
developments and focusing on accessibility of locations to sustainable 
transport networks. 

Policies  
KP5 promotes sustainable design including minimising emissions. 
The transport policies KP8 and  T1-T9 aim to provide alternatives to car travel 
EN13 opposes development that would cause unacceptable pollution. 
 

Biodiversity, 
flora and 
fauna  

Policy aims: 
Protect and enhance biodiversity, natural habitats and wild fauna and flora, including:  

• International, national and local designated sites; and 

• Protected species and species and habitat types identified as priorities for biological 
conservation. 

 
How the LDP might assist in delivering policy aims: 
• Include detailed policies for the conservation and, where appropriate, enhancement of 

international, national and local designated sites, reflecting their relative significance. 
• Undertake Appropriate Assessment in accordance with the requirements of the Habitats 

Directive (1.7) to assess the implications of the plan for European sites (including any in 
neighbouring authorities) whose integrity may be adversely affected by the plan. 

• Provide for the conservation and, where appropriate, enhancement of biodiversity outside 
statutorily designated sites, in particular identifying opportunities to conserve important 
local habitats and species, and to safeguard and manage landscape features of major 
importance for nature conservation. 

Objectives 
The LDP also includes objectives: 
• To protect city’s natural environmental assets, including local, national and 

internationally important nature sites  
• To provide, manage and enhance networks that link areas of value 
Policies  
KP3a, KP3b and EN1 aim to protect the countryside from non essential 
development. 
EN5 protects locally designated sites of nature conservation importance.  
EN6 protects ecological networks and features of importance for biodiversity 
EN7 protects priority habitats and species 
EN8 protects trees, woodlands and hedgerows  
 
 

P
age 1668



 

21 
 

SA/SEA topic Policy aims and how the LDP might support them Considerations included in the LDP  
Climate 
change 

Policy aims: 
• Reduce greenhouse gas emissions by 3% per year except for heavy industry and power 

generation, with overall reductions of at least 40% by 2020 
• Plan for and respond to climate changes already underway 
• Minimise the risk to people and property from flooding 
 
How the LDP might assist in delivering policy aims: 
• Promote energy efficiency and renewable methods of energy production  
• Promote other measures that mitigate the causes of climate change (e.g. the 

protection/enhancement of carbon sinks) 
• Ensure that the location and design of new development has regard to the potential risk, 

causes and consequences of flooding 
• Ensure that existing communities, infrastructure and other assets (including those 

alongside new developments) are considered with regard to potential risk, causes and 
consequences of flooding.  

• Consider additional flood risk assessments, mapping and related responsibilities that are 
emerging as the result of recent legislation 

• Locate and design development so as to minimise travel demand, particular by motor 
vehicles, and promote accessibility by a range of forms of transport 

• Promote mixed use development 
• Promote opportunities to benefit from climate change, e.g. tourism-related development, 

outdoor recreation 

Objectives 
The LDP has objectives: 
• To mitigate and adapt to the causes and consequences of climate change 

through reduced energy demand and increasing the supply of renewable 
energy 

•  To have full regard to flood risk  
Policies  
KP3a and KP3b aim to keep development within settlement boundaries , 
reducing the need for travel. 
 
The masterplans for strategic sites (KP2) seek to provide sustainable transport 
options for the new greenfield sites. 
KP5 promotes sustainable design including minimising emissions. 
The transport policies KP8 and  T1-T9 aim to provide alternatives to car travel 
KP15 says development should ‘take into account’ reducing carbon emissions, 
promoting energy efficiency and renewables, adaptation and avoidance of 
unnecessary flood risk. 
EN12 promotes renewable energy and low carbon approaches.   
EN14 opposes development with unacceptable flood risk, or that would increase 
flood risk.  
 

P
age 1669



 

22 
 

SA/SEA topic Policy aims and how the LDP might support them Considerations included in the LDP  
Cultural 
Heritage & the 
Historic 
Environment 

Policy aims: 
• Protect the historic environment and cultural heritage and foster local diversity. 

• Strengthen Wales’ cultural identity and have regard to the needs of the Welsh language. 
• Enhance Cardiff’s status as a centre of cultural excellence, particularly for the arts, sport 

and leisure, and realise its potential to become a world-class European Capital City, 
delivering for Wales as the cultural driver of an internationally competitive city region. 

 
How the LDP might assist in delivering policy aims: 
• Include policies for the protection and enhancement of sites of archaeological interest 

and their settings, listed buildings, conservation areas and historic parks and gardens, 
identifying the factors to be taken into account in assessing planning applications. 

• Promote development for cultural purposes. 
• Promote good design that respects Cardiff’s local distinctiveness. 

Objectives 
The LDP aims: 
• To conserve and enhance Cardiff’s built and historic assets that define 

distinctive character and reflect its past development including: 
 The city’s 27 Conservation Areas; 
 Its Listed Buildings and Ancient Monuments; 
 Registered Historic Landscapes and areas of archaeological 

importance; and 
 Other valued public places and spaces, including parks and amenity 

spaces, that provide local distinctiveness   
• To develop new cultural, leisure and sporting facilities…to enhance 

Cardiff’s role as a premier cultural and sporting destination  
Policies  
KP17 aims to protect the city’s built heritage. 
EN9 conserves the historic environment. 

Economy  Policy aims 

• Promote Cardiff's role as a world-class Capital City and the economic and cultural driver 
for Wales by developing a diverse, competitive, high added value economy  

• Enhance employment opportunities for all 

• Ensure that development for enterprise and employment uses is in line with sustainability 
principles and respects the environment 

• Secure accessible, efficient and competitive retail provision and support town centres 
 
How the LDP might assist in delivering policy aims: 
• Ensure that there is a sufficient range and choice of land allocated for economic 

development and employment  purposes in accessible locations 
• Improve access to employment opportunities particularly for deprived communities 
• Support the vitality, attractiveness and viability of centres, and regeneration of deprived 

areas 
• Allocate sites for new retail, leisure and other uses best located in town centres where 

there is assessed need, using the sequential approach 

Objectives 
The LDP includes a suite of objectives under “Respond to evidenced economic 
needs” aimed at meeting the economic needs of the city and helping to 
stimulate greater economic activity. Individual objectives aim: 
• To maximise the economic potential of the city centre  
• To create a physical and economic environment that develops, attracts and 

retains skilled workers 
• To ensure adequate infrastructure is in place to support sustainable 

economic development.  
Policies  
KP1 and KP9 aim to provide for enough new jobs. 
The strategic sites in KP2 aim to provide land for economic needs, including 
supporting continued regeneration of the Bay area  
KP10 supports development in the Central and Bay Business Areas  
EC1-5 aim to keep land for economic uses as  appropriate  
 

P
age 1670



 

23 
 

SA/SEA topic Policy aims and how the LDP might support them Considerations included in the LDP  
Health & Well-
Being 

Policy aims 
• Improve health and well-being, and tackle poverty and health inequalities 
• Increase participation in sport and physical activity 
• Provide adequate, attractive, multi-use open space to support the above aims 
• Ensure that everyone has good quality housing sufficient for their needs, and good access 

to employment, the full range of services and facilities, and open space 
• Improve quality of life and enable social progress for everyone 
 
How the LDP might assist in delivering policy aims: 
• Ensure new development is located and designed to provide attractive, accessible, safe 

and sustainable environments 
• Help to implement the standards set in TAN16 (open space) and Cardiff allotments 

strategy 
• Promote walking, cycling and public transport 
• Promote access to and enjoyment of the countryside, coastline and river valleys 
• Ensure that new development has regard to the potential causes, risks and consequences 

of flooding, contaminated land, odour, air and water pollution, and noise 

Objectives 
 
The Preferred strategy includes objectives: 
• To regenerate local neighbourhoods  
• To reduce deprivation and inequalities and provide open space for 

recreation  
• To ensure the provision of housing and health care 
• To tackle health inequalities and promote good health  
Policies  
The masterplanning principles (KP4) and their application to strategic sites (KP2) 
aim to maximise accessibility to services and facilities, and provide alternatives 
to car travel.   
KP5 promotes sustainable design including attractive, accessible, safe, secure 
and sustainable environments. 
KP6 aims to provide social infrastructure for new development. 
KP13 supports sustainable neighbourhoods and aims to secure social provision 
in new development 
KP14 aims to reduce health inequalities and promote healthy living including 
active travel. 
EN13 opposes development that would cause unacceptable pollution. 
C3 promotes safe environments. 
C4 protects open space and C5 seeks new provision. 
 
C4 defines levels of provision for children’s play in new developments.  
 

P
age 1671



 

24 
 

SA/SEA topic Policy aims and how the LDP might support them Considerations included in the LDP  
Landscape Policy aims 

• Protect and enhance the landscape, including the countryside, the undeveloped coast, 
river valleys and other green spaces. 

 
How the LDP might assist in delivering policy aims: 
• Include policies to protect the countryside, undeveloped coast and river valleys from 

inappropriate development 

• Include policies to protect the quality and character of the landscape and townscape, and 
provide guidance on design, access, density, off-street parking and open space provision 

• Avoid development of greenfield sites where possible and appropriate, by giving 
preference to the re-use of suitable previously developed land 

• Promote good design and public art 

Objectives 
The Preferred strategy has objectives: 
• To conserve and enhance historic landscapes and Cardiff’s 4 Strategically 

Important River Valleys 
• To protect, manage and enhance Cardiff’s countryside, particularly its 

areas of high landscape value and the coast  
Policies  
KP16, EN3 and EN4 aim to protect the city’s landscape assets. 
EN1 aims to protect the countryside from inessential development.  
 

P
age 1672



 

25 
 

SA/SEA topic Policy aims and how the LDP might support them Considerations included in the LDP  
Natural 
resources 

Policy aims 
• Minimise the use of non-renewable resources and, where necessary, use them efficiently, 

and encourage the use of renewal resources 
• Conserve and, where possible, enhance the countryside and its resources, including the 

best and most versatile agricultural land 
• Promote urban regeneration and the re-use of previously developed land 
• Promote increased efficiency and demand management of water resources 
• Minimise adverse impacts on water quality, the ecology of rivers and on groundwater 

• Safeguard mineral resources from sterilisation and encourage their efficient and 
appropriate 

 
How the LDP might assist in delivering policy aims: 

• Avoid development of greenfield sites where possible and appropriate, by giving 
preference to the re-use of suitable previously developed land 

• Give considerable weight to protecting the best and most versatile agricultural land 

• Plan new development in discussions with water and wastewater companies and the 
Environment Agency Wales, to ensure that water resources are adequate and water 
quality is maintained 

• Promote energy efficiency, energy conservation, and the production of renewable energy 

• Safeguard mineral resources from sterilisation, provide minerals in line with Cardiff's 
minerals apportionment, and encourage efficient and appropriate use of minerals and the 
re-use and recycling of suitable materials efficient and appropriate use of minerals and 
the re-use and recycling of suitable materials encourage efficient and appropriate use of 
minerals and the re-use and recycling of suitable materials 

• Promote and facilitate the re-use and re-cycling of waste 

Objectives 
The Preferred Strategy includes objectives: 

• To conserve, manage and enhance Cardiff’s natural resources 
including geodiversity, the best soils, water and air quality  

• To protect existing mineral resources  
Policies  
KP18 aims to protect Cardiff’s natural resources. 
EN10 promotes sustainable water management. 
EN11 protects water resources 
The minerals policies M1-M8 define how mineral reserves should be maintained 
for the future. 

P
age 1673



 

26 
 

SA/SEA topic Policy aims and how the LDP might support them Considerations included in the LDP  
Population Policy aims 

• Provide for an adequate and continuous supply of land, available and suitable for 
development to meet society’s needs – including homes, infrastructure, investment and 
jobs - in a way that is consistent with sustainability objectives. 

• Ensure that everyone has good quality housing sufficient for their needs and access to 
employment, shopping, education, training, health, community, leisure and sports 
facilities and open and green space. 

 
How the LDP might assist in delivering policy aims: 

• Identify requirements for market and affordable housing, taking into account household 
projections 

• Allocate land for housing, favouring the re-use of previously developed land and buildings 
within settlements before settlement extensions and new development around 
settlements with good public transport links 

• Include policies for affordable and special needs housing (including Gypsies and 
Travellers) where there is identified need 

• Indicate where developer contributions and/or community infrastructure levies will be 
expected towards infrastructure, facilities (including open space) and affordable housing 

Objectives 
The Preferred Strategy includes objectives on housing and employment needs to 
provide for anticipated trends in population growth. 
 
Policies  
The policies listed under ‘access and equality’ and ‘economy’ constitute the 
LDP’s response to projected population growth.  

Waste Policy aims 
• Promote the waste hierarchy: reduce, reuse, recycle, recover energy and only then landfill 
• Meet targets set by European and national legislation 
• Manage waste without endangering human health and the environment 
 
How the LDP might assist in delivering policy aims: 
• Ensure that waste management infrastructure is adequate to accommodate proposed 

development while minimising adverse impacts on health, the environment and 
communities 

• Identify sites for waste management facilities or areas where such facilities may be 
suitable 

• Incorporate adequate and effective waste management facilities in new developments 

Objectives 
The LDP includes objectives to:  
• Support the waste hierarchy 
• Support sustainable collection and recycling methods  
• Ensure the provision of waste facilities 
• Promote resource efficiency in new developments and neighbourhood 

regeneration projects 
• Facilitate an integrated network of waste management with the needs of 

south east Wales 
Policies  
KP12 supports sustainable waste treatment facilities following the waste 
hierarchy. Sustainable waste collection will be supported in all new 
developments, as will waste minimisation and the provision of facilities that use 
recycled or composted products. 
W1  specifies provision for waste management facilities. 
W2 calls for provision for waste handling in development.  

P
age 1674



 

27 
 

4.7 Appendix B shows how the indicators perform when compared to local, 
regional or national targets.  Alternatively, where comparators are not 
available, historical trends are used to show how an indicator is performing. An 
explanation is also given of the quality of the data: for example an indicator 
that uses good quality local data will carry more weight than an indicator that 
uses national data as a proxy source. 
 

4.8 Figure 4.1 summarises the key constraints to development in Cardiff. 
 

 
Figure 4.1  Constraints to development 
 

 

Page 1675



 

28 
 

Identifying sustainability issues and environmental problems (Task A3) 
 

Any existing environmental problems which are relevant to the plan including, in particular, those relating to any areas 
of a particular environmental importance, such as areas designated pursuant to Directives 79/409/EEC and 92/43/EEC 

 (SEA Directive Annex I(d))  

 
4.9 Section 4 of the Scoping Report set out the key issues affecting Cardiff and the 

methodology used to identify them. Table 4.2 summarises the main 
sustainability issues affecting Cardiff.  Some of the key problems are in the 
'southern arc' of deprivation: Figure 4.2 shows the Index of Multiple 
Deprivation 2011, and Cardiff's 'southern arc' of deprivation. 

 
Figure 4.2  Index of Multiple Deprivation 2011 and 'southern arc' of deprivation 

 

Page 1676



 

29 
 

Table 4.2 Sustainability issues affecting Cardiff  
 

1. Access and equality 
• Cardiff contains some of the most deprived areas in Wales - geographically there is a 

concentration of deprivation in the ‘southern arc’ although hotspots exist elsewhere. 
• The cost of housing - particularly family housing - is excluding those on low incomes from 

entering the housing market. 
• Cardiff has a significant number of homeless people.  
• At a city-wide scale Cardiff has good levels of access for key services (GPs, schools, libraries, 

leisure centres etc). However access deficiencies exist at the local level. 
• The educational, training and skill base of Cardiff’s population varies significantly. 
2. Air quality 
• There are currently three air quality management areas in Cardiff based on nitrogen oxide 

levels.  There were four in 2006, this went down to two and then a third AQMA was 
designated in December 2010. 

• Levels of other air pollutants are within current standards. 
3. Biodiversity, flora and fauna 
• Cardiff has a wide range of sites designated for their biodiversity value including the Severn 

Estuary and Cardiff Beech Woods European sites. The Great Crested Newt, Otter, Dormouse 
and Bats are European protected species which are known to exist in Cardiff. 

• Targets have been set for maintaining and enhancing the range, size/population, and 
condition of many vulnerable habitats and species. 

• Cardiff’s biodiversity resource is vulnerable to new developments and land management 
practices which could result in habitat loss and fragmentation.  

4. Climate change 
• Carbon dioxide emissions are now reducing after decades of continuing growth, although the 

reduction is probably largely due to the economic recession and to importing rather than 
making more goods.  The Welsh Government (WG) has set challenging new greenhouse gas 
emission targets.   

• Traffic flows into and within the city centre are decreasing, but those outside the city centre 
are increasing.  Cardiff is a major attractor of in-commuters from other parts of South East 
Wales.  Traffic management is a consistently high priority for Cardiff's residents, based on the 
Ask Cardiff surveys. 

• Energy use in buildings is responsible for about one-third of Cardiff’s greenhouse gas 
emissions.  WG policies will require buildings to become more energy efficient. 

• Cardiff is subject to a significant threat of flooding due to its low lying nature. The Wentloog 
levels, Taff at Morganstown, Taff/Ely area, North East Cardiff and the Bay area to Pengam 
Green are at particular risk of flooding.   

• Little renewable energy is currently being produced in Cardiff. 
5. Cultural heritage and the historic environment 
• Cardiff contains a wide range of areas, buildings and monuments with historic value 

designated at both a statutory national and local level.  
• In 2010, slightly over 3% of listed buildings were not in a favourable condition. 
• Cardiff’s cultural and historic attractions, including important historic landscape areas, attract 

large numbers of visitors each year and perform an important national / regional role.  Cardiff 
should promote and facilitate a wider range of cultural and sporting facilities for economic and 

Page 1677



 

30 
 

quality of life reasons. 
6. Economy 
• Attracting and retaining jobs is a consistently high concern for Cardiff's residents. 
• Commuting patterns into Cardiff demonstrate the city’s importance to the regional economy 

and the Wales Spatial Plan acknowledges that maintaining Cardiff’s performance is vital for 
the economic well-being of the region and Wales as a whole. 

• Cardiff experienced strong jobs growth and growth in Gross Value Added in the decade to 
2008, significantly higher than the Welsh and UK average.   Employment has since dropped as 
a result of the economic recession, and Cardiff struggles to match its employment growth with 
a growth in pay. 

• Cardiff's workforce is polarised between the more highly qualified and low or unskilled 
workers; there are significant concentrations of unemployment in parts of the city.  The 
Community Strategy emphasises the need to support small businesses and local enterprise. 

• Significant areas of employment land have changed to other uses (notably housing) in recent 
decades as a result of changing employment patterns and market conditions. 

• Innovative solutions to Cardiff's congestion and parking problems are needed - e.g. rapid 
transit or light rail, park and ride, improved parking enforcement – as well as improved access 
to Cardiff International Airport. 

• Various policies promote high value, low carbon jobs for Cardiff; links between the universities 
and businesses; and support for the creative industry. 

7. Health and well-being 

• Community safety is the top issue raised in successive Ask Cardiff surveys.  Crime levels in 
Cardiff have remained broadly steady over time. 

• The health of Cardiff’s population is generally slightly better than the Welsh average but 
getting slightly worse over time. 

• Over half of Cardiff’s adults are clinically overweight or obese, less than a third meet 
recommended physical activity guidelines (the worst of the Welsh authorities), and this is 
worsening over time. 

• There has been a steady decline in traffic accidents. 
• Life expectancy and crime levels vary sharply across the city, with the worst wards being in the 

'southern arc' of deprivation.  There is a more than 10 year difference between the best and 
the worst wards in terms of life expectancy.   

8. Landscape 

• Cardiff's setting is very distinctive with the ridge to the north (the Garth, Caerphilly Mountain 
and Graig Llanishen), Leckwith escarpment to the west, low-lying Gwent Levels to the east, 
Severn Estuary to the South, and three river valleys running through the City. 

• The Cardiff Landscape Study has proposed five areas as Special Landscape Areas. 
• More than two-thirds of Cardiff's area is within easy walking distance to natural green spaces, 

but only two out of Cardiff's 29 wards meet the nationally recommended open space targets.  
The most central wards fare the worst.  Open spaces are important because they improve 
people's mental and physical health, encourage physical activity, are attractive, support 
biodiversity, act as a carbon sink, and can help to adapt to climate change. 

• Cardiff’s landscape qualities are vulnerable to insensitive new development and land 
management practices. 

  

Page 1678



 

31 
 

9. Natural resources 
• In recent years almost all new housing has been built on brownfield land.  Much has been 

apartments, relatively little family housing. 
• Cardiff's industrial past has left a legacy of many potentially contaminated sites.  These are 

being remediated as they are redeveloped. 
• Good quality agricultural land is known to exist within Cardiff but no survey has been 

undertaken using the latest agricultural land classification. 
• Cardiff's allotments are important for people's health and food security, but they are already 

oversubscribed, and many more will be needed. 
• Cardiff has significant, good quality mineral reserves (mainly limestone) which are an 

important source of aggregates for the region; however dredging from the Estuary has 
potential erosion impacts. 

• Water quality in the rivers Taff, Ely and Rhymney is improving, but is far from achieving the 
requirements of the Water Framework Directive.  The groundwater around Taff Gorge / 
Creigiau area is vulnerable. 

• Abstraction from the Rivers Usk and Wye is a concern, and this will be exacerbated by 
population growth and climate change. 

10. Population 
• Cardiff’s population has increased steadily over the past 20 years (by about 400 people per 

year) but much more rapidly since 2001 (about 2,400 per year).  Welsh Government 
projections indicate that the number of households in Cardiff will increase by more than 32% 
between 2006 and 2026, from 132,108 to 174,471 households.  This is driven partly by in-
migration, and partly by a decline in married couples and an increase in one person 
households, lone parents and cohabiting couples.  

• Research commissioned by the Council in early 2013 suggests that growth may be slower than 
previously projected.  However, providing an appropriate range and choice of housing for this 
population growth in a sustainable way (including services and infrastructure) remains the key 
sustainability issue raised by Cardiff's planners.   

• Cardiff has a higher proportion of young adults and ethnic minorities, and a lower proportion 
of older age groups, compared to the national average. 

11. Waste 

• Street cleaning, litter and recycling are consistently high priorities for Cardiff's residents, based 
on the Ask Cardiff survey. 

• Construction/demolition waste is the largest contributor to the waste stream, followed by 
commercial/industrial and municipal (household) waste.   Municipal waste production has 
dropped sharply in the last five years, and the proportion of that waste that is recycled and 
composted grew from 3% to 49% between 2001 and 2012. 

 
  

Page 1679



 

32 
 

Developing SEA and SA objectives (Task A4) 
 
“the environmental protection objectives, established at international, Community or Member State level, which are 
relevant to the plan or programme and the way those objectives and any environmental considerations have been 
taken into account during its preparation”                                                                                

(SEA Directive Annex I(e)) 

 
4.10 Section 5 of the Scoping Report sets out the sustainability appraisal framework 

and the methodology used to develop it. The framework consists of 11 
objectives and related sub-objectives and indicators. The sub-objectives 
provide further information on how to interpret the headline objectives and 
are designed to guide the assessment.  The indicators will show changes on the 
ground once the LDP is implemented.  Table 4.3 shows the sustainability 
objectives, sub-objectives and indicators. 

 
 
Consulting on the scope of SEA and SA (Task A5) 
 
4.11 Consultation on the Scoping Report took place  from 1 November to 6 

December 2010.  Comments were received from 14 consultees - a variety of 
stakeholders, statutory consultees and individuals.  Appendix C shows the full 
list of comments.  The consultees mostly suggested minor amendments to the 
Scoping Report and associated appendices (mainly additions to the policy 
review or baseline data); or else their comments were directed at the LDP 
rather than at the SA.  Amendments to the SA were made where appropriate.  
Where, instead, the comments related to LDP issues, then these were noted 
and passed onto the LDP Team for consideration as part of the preparation of 
the LDP. 
 

 

Page 1680



 

33 
 

Table 4.3 Sustainability appraisal framework for Cardiff 
Sustainability 
objective 

Sub Objective: Will the LDP strategic option, objective, strategy, 
policy or allocation… 

Indicators 

1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

1.a Address existing imbalances of inequality, deprivation and 
exclusion 

1.b Improve access to education, life-long learning and training 
opportunities 

1.c Improve accessibility to affordable housing and 
employment opportunities, particularly for disadvantaged 
sections of society 

1.d Improve access to community facilities and services 
1.e Secure a more accessible environment 

1.1 Number and percentage of Cardiff’s lower super output areas in 
the most deprived 10% lower super output areas for Wales 

1.2 Average house price compared to average annual salary 
1.3 Number and percent of domestic units that are provided for 

affordable housing per year   
1.4 The number of homelessness presentations received by Cardiff 

Council per 1000 households annually 
1.5 Percentage of population of a working age qualified to NVQ 

level 4+ or equivalent 
2. Maintain and 

improve air 
quality 

2.a Reduce the need to travel through the location and design 
of new development, provision of public transport 
infrastructure and promotion of cycling and walking 

2.b Avoid locating new development where air quality could 
negatively impact upon peoples’ health 

2.1 Number of air quality management areas 

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

3.a Maintain and achieve favourable condition of international 
and national sites of nature conservation importance 
(SACs, SPAs and SSSIs) 

3.b Maintain extent and enhance the quality of locally 
designated sites (LNRs and SNCIs) and LBAP priority 
habitats 

3.c Protect and enhance protected species and LBAP priority 
species 

3.d Maintain and enhance connectivity of corridors of semi-
natural habitats 

3.e Provide opportunities for people to experience wildlife and 
habitats 

3.1 Number and extent (in hectares) of designated sites of 
importance (SACs, SPAs, SSSIs, LNRs and SNCIs) 

3.2 Area (in hectares) of ancient woodland cover 
3.3 Total extent (in hectares) of LBAP priority habitats 
3.4 Percentage of features of internationally and nationally 

designated sites in favourable condition (SACs, SPAs, SSSIs) 

P
age 1681



 

34 
 

Sustainability 
objective 

Sub Objective: Will the LDP strategic option, objective, strategy, 
policy or allocation… 

Indicators 

4 Reduce emissions 
of greenhouse 
gases that cause 
climate change 
and adapt to its 
effects 

4.a Support energy conservation and energy efficient design 
4.b Promote renewable energy generation 
4.c Promote efficient land use patterns that minimise the need 

to travel 
4.d Promote sustainable modes of transport and integrated 

transport systems 
4.e Ensure that a precautionary approach is applied, and 

ensure that the location and design of new development 
manages the potential risks and consequences of flooding 
down to an acceptable level. 

4.f Promote sustainable drainage systems in new 
development 

4.g Reduce vulnerability of the built environment to the 
effects of climate change 

4.1 Annual emissions of greenhouse gases by end use and sector 
4.2 Cardiff’s ecological footprint  
4.3 Traffic growth: traffic volumes entering the County and city 

centre 
4.4 Traffic volumes (billion vehicle Km) 
4.5 Mode of travel to the city centre for all purposes 
4.6 Average household energy consumption (kWh) 
4.7 Percentage of major developments that generate a percentage 

of their energy from renewable sources 
4.8 Number of properties  at risk from river and coastal flooding 
4.9 Percentage of new development with sustainable urban 

drainage systems (SUDS) 
4.10 Number of new housing units approved in C1 and C2 flood risk 

areas 
5. Protect and 

enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

5.a Protect and enhance historic and cultural assets including 
scheduled ancient monuments, listed buildings, historic 
parks and gardens, historic landscapes and conservation 
areas 

5.b Encourage access to the historic and cultural heritage 
5.c Support local character and distinctiveness through good 

design 

5.1 Number of paid attendances for cultural venues in Cardiff 
5.2 Percentage of conservation areas with an appraisal undertaken 

in the last 10 years 
5.3 Percentage of listed buildings ‘at risk’ 

P
age 1682



 

35 
 

Sustainability 
objective 

Sub Objective: Will the LDP strategic option, objective, strategy, 
policy or allocation… 

Indicators 

6. Help deliver the 
growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

6.a Increase the number and range of employment 
opportunities 

6.b Support and enhance the role of Cardiff as the economic 
driver of South East Wales city region 

6.c Provide good quality employment opportunities accessible 
to all sections of the population by a variety of travel 
modes 

6.d Promote and support city and local centres, local 
employment opportunities and mixed use development 

6.e Support the regeneration of deprived areas 
6.f Promote and support the rural economy 

6.1 UK Competitiveness Index 
6.2 Number of jobs in Cardiff 
6.3 Gross Value Added (GVA) per head of local population  
6.4 Full time gross median pay (£/week) 
6.5  Percent of residents working age population in employment 
6.6 The percentage of unemployed people claiming benefits who 

have been out of work for over a year  
6.7 Proportion of residents on Jobseeker's Allowance 
6.8 Amount of land (in hectares) available for employment 

7. Improve health 
and well-being 

7.a Promote healthy living and reduce health inequalities 
7.b Encourage and facilitate walking and cycling 
7.c Improve access to open space, the countryside and other 

opportunities for physical activity 
7.d Improve environmental quality by minimising adverse 

impacts on health and wellbeing from pollution, flooding 
and waste management disposal 

7.e Promote good design that minimises adverse impacts on 
health and wellbeing from crime and road traffic accidents 

7.1 Prevalence of key illnesses 
7.2 Gap between wards with the highest and lowest life expectancy 
7.3 Percent of adults who are overweight or obese 
7.4 Adults who reported meeting physical activity guidelines in the 

past week 
7.5 No. people killed or seriously injured in traffic accidents 
7.6 Notifiable offences  

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

8.a Protect and enhance the landscape including the 
countryside, areas of landscape value, river valleys, 
greenspaces and the undeveloped coastline 

8.b Protect and enhance geologically important sites 
8.c Promote access to areas of landscape value 
8.d Promote high quality design in keeping with its landscape 

context 

8.1 Length of coast with formal public access 
8.2 Area (in hectares) of landscape protected by local landscape 

designations (Green Belt, special landscape area and 
conservation areas) 

8.3 Achievement of recreational open space requirements 
8.4 Area of Cardiff within 400m of accessible natural green space 
 

P
age 1683



 

36 
 

Sustainability 
objective 

Sub Objective: Will the LDP strategic option, objective, strategy, 
policy or allocation… 

Indicators 

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

9.a Re-use derelict and other previously developed land 
9.b Remediate contaminated land 
9.c Safeguard soil quality including the best and most versatile 

agricultural land, and protect and enhance allotments 
9.d Safeguard mineral resources and encourage their efficient 

and appropriate use 
9.e Conserve water resources and increase water efficiency 
9.f Improve the water quality of rivers, lakes, groundwaters 

and coastal areas 

9.1    Percent of housing on previously developed land 
9.2 Number and area (in hectares) of potentially contaminated sites 
9.3 Area (in hectares) of grades 1, 2 and 3a agricultural land 
9.4 Number and area of allotments, number of plots 
9.5 Landbank (in years) of mineral reserves 
9.6 Percent of river lengths achieving good ecological status or 

potential 
9.7 Total non-tidal water abstractions 
9.8 Percentage of Cardiff’s rivers achieving Good General Quality 

Assessments 
10. Respond to 

demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

10.a Meet the need of Cardiff’s population for homes, jobs and 
community facilities 

10.1 Total population size 
10.2 Number of households and average household size 

11. Minimise waste, 
increase re-use 
and recycling 

11.a Promote resource efficiency and the use of secondary and 
recycled materials 

11.b Promote waste reduction, re-use, recycling and recovery 

11.1 Commercial and industrial waste arising per year  
11.2 Construction and demolition waste arising per annum 
11.3 Municipal waste arising per year  
11.4 Number of planning applications with site waste management 

plans 
11.5 The percentage of municipal waste composted or recycled 
11.6 Number of bring sites and large household recycling centres 

 

P
age 1684



 

37 
 

5.  Appraisal of the Vision and Objectives 
 
“the likely significant effects on the environment, including on issues such as biodiversity, population, human 
health, fauna, flora, soil, water, air, climatic factors, material assets, cultural heritage including architectural and 
archaeological heritage, landscape and the interrelationship between the above factors” 

(SEA Directive Annex I(f)) 
 

“the measures envisaged to prevent, reduce and as fully as possible offset any significant adverse effects on the 
environment of implementing the plan or programme” 

(SEA Directive Annex I(g))  

 
5.1 This is the first of four chapters which appraise, respectively, the sustainability 

impacts of the LDP vision and objectives, strategic options considered for the 
LDP, individual candidate sites for development, and key and detailed policies.  
The SA framework of Table 4.3 was used as the basis for each appraisal.  For 
the strategic options and candidate sites, the appraisal helped to inform the 
decision of which options to choose.  For the vision, objectives, and key and 
detailed policies, the appraisal helped to fine-tune each element of the LDP. 
 

5.2 The Local Development Plan Manual states that the purpose of the appraisal at 
this stage is to predict the likely economic, environmental and social effects of 
the options being considered.  The Practical Guide to the Strategic 
Environmental Assessment Directive states that “predictions do not have to be 
expressed in quantitative terms ... quantification is not always practicable, and 
qualitative predictions can be equally valid and appropriate”. 

 
5.3 This chapter discusses the appraisal of the LDP Vision and Objectives - which 

were shown at Chapter 3.    
 
Sustainability Appraisal of the LDP vision 
 
5.4 The appraisal of the LDP vision showed that the vision would primarily have 

positive impacts.  It highlighted a number of issues that were not explicitly 
addressed through the LDP vision.  Features such as landscape could also be 
strengthened to improve the sustainability of the vision.  The detailed 
assessment of the LDP vision can be found in Appendix D.  

 
Appraisal of the LDP Objectives 
 
5.5 Table 5.1 summarises the results of the appraisal of the LDP objectives, and 

Appendix D shows the full appraisal.  The LDP objectives mostly have positive 
sustainability effects.  However in some cases, although per capita impacts are 
likely to reduce, overall impacts are likely to worsen as a result of Cardiff's 
increasing population. 
 

5.6 Rewording was suggested for several sub-objectives and one headline 
objective.  For instance, it was suggested that Sub-Objective 1.12 should be 
divided into three separate objectives to more adequately cover waste issues; 

Page 1685



 

38 
 

and that provision of healthy food choices should be stressed more.   Most of 
these changes were subsequently made, as shown in Table 5.2.  Where 
proposed changes were not implemented, reasons for this have been 
documented in the final column of Table 5.2.  

 
Table 5.1  Summary appraisal findings for the LDP objectives  
SA Objective LDP Objectives 
1.Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

   
The LDP Objectives aim to provide affordable housing and access to 
education, employment, facilities and services, and promote social 
inclusion, equality of opportunity and access for all.  Location of 
development is key for achieving sustainable transport solutions and 
networks. 

2.Maintain and 
improve air quality 

 / ? – per capita, ? /  – city wide 
The LDP Objectives help to improve air quality through the provision of 
sustainable transport solutions, and by aiming to reduce the need to 
travel. However, whilst per person emissions may reduce as a result of 
the LDP, it is a plan for the growth of Cardiff and therefore it is unlikely 
that, overall, the city’s emissions to air will decrease.   

3.Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

 
The LDP Objectives aim to protect and enhance biodiversity not only at 
designated sites but also in areas without designation or of unknown 
biodiversity value. 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause climate 
change and adapt 
to its effects 

 - per capita,   - city wide  
The LDP Objectives assist and support in reducing carbon emissions  by 
reducing the need to travel, encouraging a modal shift in transport, 
aiming to provide sustainable transport solutions and aiming to adapt to 
and mitigate the effects of climate change, including flooding.   However 
although carbon emissions per person may reduce as a result of the LDP, 
this is a plan for the city’s growth and as such it is unlikely that the city’s 
overall carbon emissions will decrease. 

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

 
The LDP Objectives help to protect and enhance historic assets, to 
ensure that new development is respectful to existing character, and to 
provide accessible cultural facilities for all communities. 

6. Help deliver the 
growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

 
The LDP Objectives help to provide a range of employment land,  
promote specialist sectors to support economic diversity, and provide 
good transport links.   Location of development will be key to delivering 
sustainable economic growth.   

7. Improve health 
and well-being 

 
The LDP Objectives assist in the promotion of more healthy lifestyles by 
increasing the provision of cycle and walk ways, aiming to protect public 
open spaces such as parks, and including healthier food choices as part 
of community centres and facilities.  

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

 
The LDP Objectives help to protect Cardiff’s distinctive landscape 
features, both designated and undesignated.  They also aim to safeguard 
geodiversity and important geological sites.  

9. Use natural 
resources 

/? 
The LDP Objectives aim to protect Cardiff’s mineral supply, protect and 

Page 1686



 

39 
 

SA Objective LDP Objectives 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

enhance water and soil quality, increase water efficiency and promote 
good design with resource efficiency.  However, there may be issues with 
sustainably sourcing appropriate building materials for development. 

10. Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

 
The LDP Objectives aim to meet the needs of Cardiff’s growing 
population both socially and economically.  However, whilst per person 
resource use and emissions are expected to decrease over the plan 
period, their absolute levels will probably increase as a result of growth 
of the city and its population. 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase re-
use and recycling 

 - per capita,  - city wide 
The LDP Objectives aim to minimise waste, maximise recycling and reuse 
and promote good design, which may reduce the waste generated by 
developments.  However, whilst the LDP will help to reduce the amount 
of waste from development and per capita, the total waste arisings will 
probably increase over the plan period in Cardiff as a result of growth.   

Page 1687



 

40 
 

 
Table 5.2 Changes resulting from appraisal of LDP objectives 
Original LDP Strategic Objectives and Sub-Objectives Change proposed by SA team Response to proposed change 
1. To respond to evidenced economic needs and provide the 
necessary infrastructure to deliver development 

Reword: ‘to deliver sustainable 
and accessible…’ 
 
 

Change rejected as suggested additional wording 
duplicates other sections and is considered superfluous. 

1.2 To maximise the economic potential of the city centre of 
Cardiff as a major financial and service sector opportunity 
that builds upon its position next to a transport hub of 
national and regional significance and is readily accessible 
from all areas within the city 

Reword: ‘and well connected to 
other UK cities’.  
 
 

1.2 changed to 'and well connected to other UK cities. 

1.10 To establish Cardiff as a sustainable travel city by 
increasing the use of sustainable travel modes (particularly 
walking and cycling), decreasing private car use and 
improving the city’s key transport hub based at the adjacent 
central bus and train stations  

Reword: ‘by reducing the need to 
travel… sustainable travel modes 
and networks…’ 

1.10 To establish Cardiff as a sustainable travel city 
by reducing the need to travel, increasing the use of 
sustainable travel modes and networks (particularly 
walking and cycling)... 

1.12 To support the reduction of waste together with 
reducing the need to transport waste through providing an 
integrated network of waste management facilities 
consistent with the needs of the South East Wales area and 
the waste hierarchy 

Suggest 1.12 is divided into 3 
separate waste objectives. 
 
 

1.12 To support sustainable collection and recycling 
methods for Municipal Waste by maintaining and 
improving an integrated network of facilities in Cardiff  
 

1.13 To lead and participate in securing regional 
facilities for the sustainable treatment and disposal of 
Municipal Waste  in accordance with/ in line with the 
Regional Waste Plans and the waste hierarchy which 
seeks to maximise the reduction of waste in the first 
place and thereafter reusing, recovering and recycling 
options before the disposal of water material is 
considered. 
 

1.14  To facilitate an integrated network of 

P
age 1688



 

41 
 

Original LDP Strategic Objectives and Sub-Objectives Change proposed by SA team Response to proposed change 
commercial and industrial sustainable waste 
management facilities consistent with the needs of the 
south east Wales area and in a manner that follows the 
waste hierarchy which seeks to maximise the reduction 
of waste in the first place and thereafter reusing, 
recovering and recycling options before the disposal of 
waste material is considered. 

2.6 To create an environment that is made more accessible 
to all groups in society so that the facilities and services of 
the city can be more readily used and enjoyed by all 

Reword: ‘so that the employment 
opportunities…’ 

2.6 To create an environment that is made more 
accessible to all groups in society so that 
the employment opportunities,...  

2.8 To recognise, support and enhance the key role played 
by existing District, Local and Neighbourhood Centres as 
accessible local hubs providing community services, local 
shops, businesses, employment and access to public 
transport 

Reword: added ‘healthy food 
choices…’ 

2.8 ... accessible local hubs providing community 
services, local shops, healthy food choices,... 

2.10 To ensure that the necessary education and training 
facilities are provided and are accessible to all: to build 
strong futures for children, provide a diverse range of 
youth/adult learning opportunities and assist economic 
progress through the development of required skills 

Reword: Remove ‘youth/adult’, 
add ‘opportunities for all’.   

2.10 ...provide a diverse range of youth/adult learning 
opportunities for all and assist economic progress 
through the development of required skills 

2.12 To ensure that the necessary community facilities 
(community centres, youth facilities, child care, faith 
buildings, health centres etc) are provided that are 
accessible to all 

Reword: Add ‘and cultural 
facilities’, ‘shops with health food 
choices’ and ‘especially in areas 
that are deprived’. 

2.12 To ensure that the necessary community and 
cultural facilities (community centres, shops with 
healthy food choices, youth facilities, child care, faith 
buildings, health centres etc) are provided that are 
accessible to all, especially in areas that are deprived 

3.1 To mitigate the effects of climate change through 
reducing energy consumption and increasing the supply of 
renewable energy 

Reword: Remove ‘consumption’ 
and replace with ‘demand’ 

3.1 To mitigate the effects of climate change through 
reducing energy consumption demand and increasing 
the supply of renewable energy 

3.3 To protect, manage and enhance Cardiff’s natural 
environmental assets, including:... 

Reword:  4th bullet point  
‘networks that…’ 

• The city’s biodiversity, its internationally, 
nationally and locally designated sites, wildlife habitats 

P
age 1689



 

42 
 

Original LDP Strategic Objectives and Sub-Objectives Change proposed by SA team Response to proposed change 
• The city’s biodiversity, its internationally, nationally 
and locally designated sites, wildlife habitats and features 
that contain important species and link together areas of 
value; and   
• Natural resources including geodiversity, the best 
soils, water and air quality including the reduction of 
pollution 

 

Add 6th bullet point ‘The role that 
vegetation plays in combating 
climate change by providing 
shading, cooling and carbon 
sinks’. 

and features that contain important species 
and networks that link together areas of value; and   
• Natural resources including geodiversity, the 
best soils, water and air quality including the reduction 
of pollution 
• The role that vegetation plays in combating 
climate change by providing shading, cooling and carbon 
sinks. 

3.4 To conserve and enhance Cardiff’s built and historic 
assets that help give a distinctive character to the city and 
reflect its past development including: 
• The city’s 27 Conservation Areas; 
• Its Listed Buildings and Ancient Monuments; 
• Registered Historic Landscapes and areas of 
archaeological importance; and 
• Other valued public places and spaces that provide 
local distinctiveness and are well used by the community 

Reword: main objective ‘define 
Cardiff’s distinctive character…’ 
 

Reword: 4th bullet point ‘including 
parks and amenity’, remove ‘and 
are well used by the community’.  

3.4 To conserve and enhance Cardiff’s built and historic 
assets that help give a define Cardiff’s distinctive 
character to the city and reflect its past development 
including: 
• The city’s 27 Conservation Areas; 
• Its Listed Buildings and Ancient Monuments; 
• Registered Historic Landscapes and areas of 
archaeological importance; and 
• Other valued public places, including parks and 
amenity  spaces that provide local distinctiveness and 
are well used by the community 

4.1.2. Minimise car use and maximise sustainable transport 
solutions to create accessible, permeable and legible places- 
to avoid creating predominantly car-based developments in 
remote or inappropriate locations by focusing new 
development in accessible locations. To encourage greater 
use of sustainable modes of transport- walking, cycling 
(ideally linked to the strategic cycle network) and via fast 
and frequent public transport that provides an effective 
network around and beyond the city; 

Reword: Added ‘and decrease air 
pollution’. 
 

Remove ‘ideally linked to the 
strategic cycle network’ 
 

Suggest that objective is 
strengthened to “prevent” car 
based developments.   

4.1.2. Minimise car use travel, and maximise sustainable 
transport solutions use and decrease air pollution by to 
creating accessible, permeable, and legible places, 
preventing to avoid creating predominantly car-based 
developments in remote or inappropriate locations 
by and  focusing new development in accessible 
locations which are To encourage greater use of 
sustainable modes of transport- walking, cycling (linked 
to the strategic cycle network and can be served mainly 
by effective networks of sustainable transport – walking 
cycling and via fast and frequent public transport that 

P
age 1690



 

43 
 

Original LDP Strategic Objectives and Sub-Objectives Change proposed by SA team Response to proposed change 
provides an effective network around and beyond the 
city; 

4.1.3. Minimise waste and maximise recycling- to minimise 
waste at the outset but to recognise the value of waste as a 
resource and effectively plan for how it can be collected and 
productively used; 

Suggested alternative:  ‘4.1.3. To  
effectively plan for how  business 
and neighbourhoods can sort and 
store for collection  for onward  
productive  use; to Minimise 
waste  to landfill and maximise 
recycling whilst seeking to 
optimise the overall value of 
waste as a resource and ensure 
proper provision for new 
developments is made through 
developer proposals’ 

4.1.3. To maximise recycling- to minimise waste at the 
outset  optimise but to recognise the overall value of 
waste as a resource and to effectively plan for how it 
can be collected and productively used 
new developments can sort and store waste for 
collection for onward productive use and minimise 
material needing treatment and final landfill. 
 

 

P
age 1691



 

44 
 

6. Appraisal of Strategic Options  
 
“the likely significant effects on the environment, including on issues such as biodiversity, population, human 
health, fauna, flora, soil, water, air, climatic factors, material assets, cultural heritage including architectural and 
archaeological heritage, landscape and the interrelationship between the above factors” 

(SEA Directive Annex I(f)) 
 
“an outline of the reasons for selecting the alternatives dealt with, and a description of how the assessment was 
undertaken including any difficulties (such as technical deficiencies or lack of know-how) encountered in compiling 
the required information” 

(SEA Directive Annex I(h)) 

 
6.1 This section discusses the sustainability impacts of the strategic options 

considered for the 2012 LDP Preferred Strategy: levels of housing and jobs 
growth, and broad spatial options for housing delivery.   The impacts of 
individual candidate sites for development are discussed at Chapter 7.   
 

6.2 The SEA Directive requires an environmental report to describe and evaluate 
the environmental impacts of the plan 'and reasonable alternatives taking into 
account the objectives and the geographical scope of the plan' (Article 5.1), and 
to include 'an outline of the reasons for selecting the alternatives dealt with' 
(Annex Ih).   The Welsh Assembly Government's LDP Manual explains that: 
 

"The purpose of this task is to predict the social, environmental and economic 
effects of the options being considered in the LDP preparation process. The 
main technique is to predict both positive and negative effects of each option on 
the environmental baseline and objectives set out in the SA framework. The 
performance of each option can then be compared, taking account where 
necessary of the “business as usual” scenario, i.e. how sustainability would 
change under the current development plan" (Sec. 6.4.1). 

 
Options considered 
 
6.3 A range of options had already been considered and appraised during the 

development of the (now withdrawn) 2009 version of the LDP: whether or not 
to include an International Business Park in the LDP; different scales of housing 
and jobs growth; whether new growth should be accommodated in one large 
Greenfield site, several smaller Greenfield sites, or only on previously 
developed land; and whether or not to include a Green Technology Park in the 
LDP.   
 

6.4 The economic and political situation in 2013 is different from that in 2009, so 
many of these options are no longer relevant.  In particular, development on 
only brownfield sites is no longer felt to be a reasonable option.  However 
these early options and their appraisals informed the options considered for 
this LDP. 

 
 

Page 1692



 

45 
 

Options for growth 
 
6.5 Cardiff's population is growing, due to both natural population increase and in-

migration.  Demographic changes such as divorce and people living longer 
means that household size is decreasing, so more homes will be needed to 
accommodate these additional households.  A 'zero growth' option is thus not 
reasonable.   The LDP team considered a range of options of future homes and 
jobs growth in Cardiff, shown at Table 6.1. 

 
Table 6.1  Options for growth 
Option Housing/ 

employment 
growth 

New dwelling 
requirement per annum 

Evidence 

A 
High 

About 54,400 
new homes and 
55,000 new jobs 

2,720 (2006-2026) 
2,976 (April 2010 – 2026) 

Based on the Welsh Government’s 
2008 population and household 
projection figures. 

B 
Medium 

About 45,400 
new homes and 
40,000 new jobs 

2,270 (2006 – 2026) 
2,214 (April 2010 – 2026)  

Based on the Welsh Government’s 
2008 population and household 
projection figures recalculated using 
local robust data.  

C 
Low 

About 36,500 
new homes and 
26,000 new jobs 

1,825 (2006 – 2026) 
1,858 (April 2010 – 2026) 

Based on long term net migration 
rates and housing completion rates 
over the last 8 years. 

 
Spatial options for delivery 
 
6.6 Different spatial options were considered to deliver the level of growth set out 

in the plan.  Developers' responses to a call for candidate sites helped to 
indicate the broad range of potential development areas, namely: 

• Dispersed brownfield sites;  

• Greenfield sites west of Pentrebane;  

• Greenfield sites south of Creigiau/ north of Junction 33;  

• Greenfield site north of M4 at Thornhill;  

• Greenfield sites west and east of Pontprennau;  

• Greenfield sites around Old St Mellons village;  

• Greenfield sites in the east- largely employment uses; and  

• Dispersed smaller greenfield sites.  
 
6.7 Given the scale of development being considered in growth Options A, B and C, 

it is inevitable that more than one of these areas is likely to contain sites 
allocated for development.  Therefore, the potential 'in combination' effects of 
several candidate sites together, and of enlarged or reduced candidate site 
areas, were also considered. 

 
 

Page 1693



 

46 
 

Appraisal methodology 
 
6.8 Initial appraisal workshops were held in June 2011 to evaluate the LDP strategic 

options, and the appraisals were later refined by the SA team.  The appraisals 
were undertaken using the SA framework of Table 4.3.  For each option, the 
appraisers considered what the issues and opportunities were, and possibilities 
for improving the sustainability of the option.  The appraisals of options for 
delivering growth later helped in developing the LDP Preferred Strategy by 
identifying key sustainability issues for different areas of the City before 
detailed site assessments began. 

 
Appraisal results 
 
Options for growth 
 
6.9 Appendix E shows the appraisal of the different options for growth, and Table 

6.2 summarises these findings. 
 
Table 6.2  Summary appraisal findings for the options for growth 

SA objective 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 1.

  E
qu

al
ity

 

2.
  A

ir 
qu

al
ity

 

3.
 B

io
di

ve
rs

ity
 

4.
 C

lim
at

e 
ch

an
ge

 

5.
 H

er
ita

ge
 

6.
 E

co
no

m
y 

7.
 H

ea
lth

 a
nd

 
w

el
lb

ei
ng

 

8.
 L

an
ds

ca
pe

 

9.
 N

at
ur

al
 re

so
ur

ce
s 

10
. D

em
og

ra
ph

ic
 

ch
an

ge
 

11
. W

as
te

 

A. High growth:     total         ?   
                                per capita    ?       ? 
B. Med. growth:   total         ?   
                                per capita    ?       ? 
C. Low growth:     total ? ? ?  ? ? ? ? ? ?  
                                per capita    ?       ? 
 

6.10 Option A would provide the greatest social and economic benefits to the city 
whilst having the most detrimental impacts on the natural and historic 
environment.  Conversely Option C would provide fewer social and economic 
benefits whilst preserving more of Cardiff’s natural environment resources.  
The impacts of Option B are between those of Options A and C. 

 
6.11 More specifically issues and opportunities include: 

 

• Options A and B could help to address existing socio-economic issues within 
the city, including the need for affordable homes and accessible community 
and health care facilities, by providing new large coherent developments 
and a high number of employment opportunities.  The level of growth 
provided under Option C is less likely to deliver these kinds of social and 
economic benefits.  It may not be able to deliver new developments that 
support the necessary population thresholds to provide new community 
and health facilities.  

 

Page 1694



 

47 
 

• Options A and B, and to a lesser extent Option C have the potential for 
significant negative environmental effects.  Option A would require the 
majority of the development land available in the city, leaving little residual 
land for mitigation measures: this would lead to significant and widespread 
loss of habitats and severe disruption of habitat connectivity across the city.  
The lower scale of development under Options B and C could provide 
opportunities to integrate the landscape into new developments whilst 
Option A is likely to have unavoidable significant negative impacts on 
Cardiff's landscape setting.    

 

• All three options have the potential to have negative impacts to the city’s 
air quality due to increased transport and economic activity.  This effect 
could be mitigated by providing mixed use, self-contained developments 
that reduce the need to travel and incorporate sustainable transport 
solutions.  The impact of Option C on air quality is harder to predict: whilst 
the effect on air quality would be lower than for Options A or B, the 
reduced provision of housing could lead to an increase in commuting e.g. 
from the Valleys by car. 

 

• Over the plan period, for any of the options, citywide greenhouse gas 
emissions and waste arisings are likely to increase: all the options support a 
significant growth of the population, and thus consumption, waste and 
other activities such as transport.  There is potential under all of the options 
to decrease the per capita emissions through the design of new 
developments e.g. integrating sustainable transport and waste (reuse: 
recycling: reduction) solutions.  Options A and B would involve 
development on large Greenfield sites, which currently provide important 
carbon sinks for the City.  Their loss would exacerbate the carbon emissions 
arising from growth.  Additionally green spaces help to reduce the impacts 
of climate change by providing land drainage and reducing the urban heat 
island effect.  

 

• All of the options have the potential to impact negatively on historic and 
cultural assets and local character. This is particularly true for Option A 
where the level of growth is high and almost all of the available land in 
Cardiff would be developed.  These impacts could be mitigated by ensuring 
that design of new developments is sympathetic to local character and 
distinctiveness, and that the cultural and historic assets are protected.  

 

• Cardiff needs to be able to respond, sustainably, to future demographic 
changes.  Option C provides a level of growth that is consistent with the last 
8 years of demographic change in the city based on local data.   Beyond the 
LDP's plan period (20 years) there would be sufficient development land 
remaining in the city for further growth if this trend in population increase 
continues.  Under Option A almost all of the available development land 
would be filled within the plan period and it is uncertain how future 
demographic changes could be accommodated beyond the plan period.  
Option B provides housing and employment but leaves some residual 
development land beyond the plan period. 

Page 1695



 

48 
 

   
6.12 Option B formed the basis of the October 2012 Preferred Strategy.  However 

Policy KP1 of the Deposit LDP reduces the dwellings figure to 41,100, roughly 
midway between Options B and C. (The jobs figure remains 40,000 as in Option 
B).  The reasons for this are explained in detail in paras 4.12 to 4.26 of the 
Deposit LDP.  The decisive point is that more recent modelling of the kind that 
informed the earlier choice of Option B, using more up to date information, 
indicates that both migration and household formation rates now appear likely 
to be lower than previously projected.  

 
6.13 However, given the uncertainties, KP1 also includes provision to deliver an 

additional 4,000 homes (ie back to almost Option B) later in the plan period if 
monitoring indicates this is necessary. 

 
6.14 This new option has not been formally appraised.  Given that it lies between 

two options, B and C, which were appraised, that their scores were similar, and 
that the revised population modelling means that the new option should 
perform as well as B did previously on the two criteria (1 equality and 10 
population) where it might have been expected to do worse,  this is not a 
problem. 

 
6.15 The roughly 10% reduction in housing was not accompanied by any pro rata 

reduction in the areas of land allocated for development.  (An apparent small 
reduction in area was due to two brownfield sites included in earlier drafts of 
the LDP being removed because they have planning permission and  
development is already proceeding.)  This means that, if and when the extra 
4000 dwellings are needed, they will need additional sites: ie that the same 
quantum of development would now be around 10% less dense and take 
around 10% more greenfield land than was envisaged in the Preferred Strategy. 
When the appraisal queried this, the LDP team responded that their more 
detailed masterplanning had revealed that community facilities, open space 
and environmental protection were going to require more land than had 
previously been estimated, so the reduction in density was going to be needed 
to comply with other LDP objectives and policies anyway. 

 
6.16 Following the public Examination, the housing provision was reviewed.  Several 

different adjustments and updates together resulted in a small increase in the 
total, to 41,415.  It was also made more explicit how the additional 4000 
dwellings could potentially be accommodated by faster building out of one 
strategic site and extensions to two others which have been appraised. These 
changes do not warrant any change in the overall appraisal.  

 
 

Spatial options for delivery 
 

6.17 Appendix E shows the appraisal of the different spatial options for delivery, 
and Table 6.3 summarises these findings. 

Page 1696



 

49 
 

 
Table 6.3  Summary appraisal findings for the spatial options for delivery  

SA objective 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 1.

  E
qu

al
ity

 

2.
  A

ir 
qu

al
ity

 

3.
 B

io
di

ve
rs

ity
 

4.
 C

lim
at

e 
ch

an
ge

 

5.
 H

er
ita

ge
 

6.
 E

co
no

m
y 

7.
 H

ea
lth

 a
nd

 
w

el
lb

ei
ng

 

8.
 L

an
ds

ca
pe

 

9.
 N

at
ur

al
 re

so
ur

ce
s 

10
. D

em
og

ra
ph

ic
 

ch
an

ge
 

11
. W

as
te

 

Dispersed brownfield 
sites 

Too varied and diffuse to effectively appraise at the strategic level 

Greenfield sites west of 
Pentrebane 

 
 

?   ?  ? / 
? 

   

South of Creigiau / north 
of Junction 33  

 / 
 

  ?  ?     

Greenfield sites west and 
east of Pontprennau  

 ?   ?  ? / 
? 

   

Greenfield site north of 
M4 at Thornhill 

 / 
 

   0      

Greenfield sites around 
Old St Mellons Village 

 / 
 

? ? 0 0  0  ?  

Greenfield sties in the 
east 

 ?     ?     

Dispersed Greenfield 
sites 

Too varied and diffuse to effectively appraise at the strategic level 

 
6.18 All the large Greenfield sites would have negative impacts on biodiversity and 

landscape because they would take up large areas of greenfield land.  Air 
quality would worsen under all of the options because they would increase the 
use of cars: North of Junction 33, North of the M4 at Thornhill, and sites at Old 
St Mellons would have particularly negative impacts due to their location in less 
central locations poorly served by public transport.  All new development sites 
will use natural resources and generate waste, but these are negative impacts 
of the overall level of development which will not in general differ significantly 
between locations. 
 

6.19 All the large Greenfield sites would respond to demographic change by 
providing needed housing and employment land.  Several would also provide 
health benefits in the form of improved access to open space, encouragement 
for walking and cycling, and/or improved health facilities. 

 
6.20 The sites’ impacts on heritage, equality and climatic factors depends on 

whether the sites include any aspects of cultural/heritage importance, whether 
they are located near the ‘southern arc’ of deprivation, whether they would 
provide facilities for existing communities, and whether they have the potential 
to provide renewable energy.  Several include areas that are prone to flooding. 

 
    

Page 1697



 

50 
 

6.21 Having considered these points, the planning team’s main reasons for including 
or not including the main strategic sites in the LDP are: 

 
 

Dispersed 
brownfield 
sites  

Generally have few constraints and are considered acceptable in 
principle .  Most of the sites have been taken forward, providing for 
27,615 homes – about 65% of the overall housing provision. 

Greenfield 
sites west of 
Pentrebane  

Included: Some environmental constraints with protected species on 
site and close to a Site of Special Scientific Interest, no flood risk 
implications, a large site with the potential to bring forward a 
comprehensive range of supporting social and community facilities.  
Suitable mitigation measures will need to be identified. 

Greenfield 
sites south of 
Creigiau / 
north of 
Junction 33  

Included: Contains several Sites of Importance for Nature 
Conservation, no flood risk implications, a strategically important and 
visible location in a well used transport corridor adjacent to a 
proposed Special Landscape Area, can help to deliver wider transport 
strategy (provision of Park & Ride/Share facility, new rapid transport 
bus corridor etc.) 

Greenfield 
sites west and 
east of 
Pontprennau  

Included: Contains several Sites of Importance for Nature 
Conservation, some flood risk implications, no strategic landscape 
importance, possibility of integrating existing natural features 
(stream, woodlands, hedgerows) into any new development, a large 
site with the potential to bring forward a comprehensive range of 
supporting social and community facilities, including a primary school 
for Pontprennau and public open space. 

Greenfield site 
north of M4 at 
Thornhill  

Not included: Crosses a well defined urban edge (the M4), forms part 
of the strategically important green countryside backdrop to Cardiff, 
has some biodiversity and landscape importance, relatively isolated 
from existing community facilities and without the critical mass 
necessary to effectively deliver on-site provision. 

Greenfield 
sties around 
Old St Mellons 
Village  

Not included: A relatively isolated area with no notable existing 
social/community facilities and served by narrow lanes.  Additional 
development would be highly car-based.  The disjointed nature of 
submissions mitigates against a comprehensive approach to dealing 
with these limitations. 

Greenfield 
sites in the 
east 

Included: Significant environmental constraints: most of the area is a 
Site of Special Scientific Interest, the adjoining estuary is an 
internationally important site for birds, it is a Historic Landscape and 
Archaeologically Sensitive Area, the site meets the criteria for Special 
Landscape Area status, and flood risk is a major concern. Suitable 
mitigation measures will need to be identified.  

  

Page 1698



 

51 
 

Dispersed 
Greenfield 
sites 

Generally cause concern because of their isolated and piecemeal 
nature.  More information on these sites can be found at the 2012 
LDP Preferred Strategy Background Technical Paper No. 8. 

Page 1699



 

52 
 

7. Appraisal of Candidate Sites for Development 
 

 
“the likely significant effects on the environment, including on issues such as biodiversity, population, human 
health, fauna, flora, soil, water, air, climatic factors, material assets, cultural heritage including architectural and 
archaeological heritage, landscape and the interrelationship between the above factors” 

(SEA Directive Annex I(f)) 
 
“an outline of the reasons for selecting the alternatives dealt with, and a description of how the assessment was 
undertaken including any difficulties (such as technical deficiencies or lack of know-how) encountered in compiling 
the required information” 

(SEA Directive Annex I(h)) 
 

7.1 This section discusses how the specific candidate sites that were proposed for 
development in Cardiff were identified and appraised.   
 

7.2 In determining where housing and employment growth could be directed 
spatially, the planning team considered the existing land bank of housing and 
employment land, scheduled completions, windfall sites and information 
received from landowners and developers on potential candidate sites.  This 
resulted in 112 possible development sites. 
 

7.3 Various combinations of sites were also considered: 
 

• North west transport corridor- Candidate sites south of Creigiau, north 
of Junction 33 of the M4, sites to west of Fairwater and Radyr 

• North east- Several candidate sites located between Lisvane and 
Pontprennau plus the site located east of the Pentwyn Link Road  

• St Mellons Village- A collection of relatively small candidate sites in a 
well-defined area around the fringes of St Mellons Village which 
collectively cover about 57 hectares 

• Land north of Junction 33 of M4 / south of Creigiau 
• Land south of St Mellons Business Park. 

 
7.4 The following enlarged sites were also appraised: 

• North west Cardiff submission extended slightly to the west up to Croft 
Y Genau Road 

• North west Cardiff extended north towards M4 
• North west Cardiff extension to the west 
• Land north of Junction 33 
• Cardiff Central Enterprise Zone – Since the candidate sites were 

submitted, the Welsh Government have designated the Cardiff Central 
Enterprise Zone in April 2012. This covers a much larger geographical 
area than the 3 small candidate sites previously submitted.     

 
Appraisal methodology 

 
7.5 A modified approach was taken to the appraisal of individual candidate 

development sites.  It is not possible, at the plan-making stage, to know 

Page 1700



 

53 
 

precisely what kind of development will go on each site, for instance what 
combination of housing, employment and infrastructure a developer will 
propose when they make a planning application; or what site layout and 
development design they will propose.  For other aspects of sustainability, like 
waste management, the choice of development sites will not affect the impact.  
As a result these topics were not assessed for individual sites.  On the other 
hand, detailed information is available on some other sustainability topics: for 
instance, whether they are near sites of nature conservation importance or in 
areas of flood risk.   
 

7.6 To ensure full integration between the plan-making and SA processes, one joint 
planning/SA pro forma was agreed by the SA and planning teams, and was 
filled in by the planning team for each candidate development site.  The pro 
forma takes into account the feasibility and applicability of potential mitigation 
measures.  Appendix F shows the SA criteria used in the pro formas, and these 
are summarised at Table 7.1 . 
 

Table 7.1  Appraisal criteria used for candidate sites: links to the site pro forma 
SA Objective Corresponding factor in the candidate site pro forma 

1. Help deliver equality of 
opportunity and access for 
all 

C1: Transport context: is the site near a train station or bus 
stop, is it easily accessible by foot or cycling etc.  

D2: Community facilities: is a good range of community facilities 
near the site, reducing the need to travel 

2. Maintain and improve air 
quality 

F1: Air quality: is the site in an Air Quality Management Area, 
does it pose concerns about air quality etc.  

3. Protect and enhance 
biodiversity, flora and fauna 

A1: Biodiversity/geology: is the site on or near any nature 
conservation designations, have protected species been found 
on the site etc. 

4. Reduce emissions of 
greenhouse gases that cause 
climate change and adapt to 
its effects 

B1: Existing flood risk: does the site lie in the floodplain 
 
E3: Scope for renewable energy solutions 

5. Protect and enhance 
historic and cultural heritage 

A3: Historic, cultural and built environment: is the site on or 
near any historic designations, could it affect the cultural 
heritage etc. 

6. Help deliver the growth of 
a sustainable and diversified 
economy 

Not applicable for assessment at location level 

7. Improve health and well-
being 

F2: Health and wellbeing : could development at the site affect 
the health of existing or future residents etc. 

8. Protect and enhance the 
landscape 

A2: Landscape: is the site on or near any landscape designations 
or would it otherwise affect the townscape or landscape 

9. Use natural resources 
efficiently and safeguard 
their quality 

A4: Natural resources: is the site on high quality agricultural 
land, are mineral resources on the site etc. 

A5: Contaminated land: does the site offer the potential to clear 
up contaminated land 

10. Respond to demographic 
changes in a sustainable way Not applicable for assessment at location level  

Page 1701



 

54 
 

SA Objective Corresponding factor in the candidate site pro forma 
11. Minimise waste, increase 
re-use and recycling 

 
7.7 After the planning team filled in the pro formas, the SA team checked the pro 

formas for consistency and logic, and discussed any concerns with the planning 
team.  The main problem identified was that the planners’ assumptions about 
potential mitigation measures meant that almost none of the candidate sites 
were found to have biodiversity or landscape impacts, even when they were on 
Greenfield land or designated nature conservation sites.   This led to the 
planners revising many of the pro formas in response to the SA, including: 
 

• Changing many of the planners’ neutral impacts on biodiversity or 
landscape to negative impacts.  In the absence of certainty that mitigation 
measures would be implemented and be successful, a more precautionary 
approach was felt to be more appropriate; 

• Changing some of the planners’ positive impacts on health to neutral 
impacts because of concerns about the air pollution generated by traffic 
from the site;    

• Changing some of the planners’ neutral impacts on equality of opportunity 
to positive impacts because of the site’s proximity to existing services and 
public transport. 

 
7.8 In other cases, this review by the SA team led the planning team to more 

clearly explain in the pro forma the reasons for deciding that the site would 
have specific impacts. 
 

7.9 Table 7.2 shows the results of the candidate site appraisal process for both 
individual sites and combinations/extensions of sites, and also shows whether 
the site is included in the plan or not.  More information on the choice of 
preferred candidate sites is available in the Preferred Strategy , and in the pro 
formas at the 2012 LDP Preferred Strategy Background Technical Paper 8 / 
Appendix 3.   

 
 

Page 1702



 

55 
 

Table 7.2  Summary appraisal findings for the LDP candidate sites 
SA objective 

1.
 H

el
p 

de
liv

er
 

eq
ua

lit
y 

of
 o

pp
or

tu
-

ni
ty

 a
nd

 a
cc

es
s f

or
 a

ll 
2.

 M
ai

nt
ai

n 
an

d 
im

pr
ov

e 
ai

r q
ua

lit
y 

3.
 P

ro
te

ct
 a

nd
 

en
ha

nc
e 

bi
od

iv
er

sit
y,

 
flo

ra
 a

nd
 fa

un
a 

4.
 re

du
ce

 a
nd

 a
da

pt
 

to
 e

m
iss

io
ns

 o
f 

gr
ee

nh
ou

se
 g

as
es

 
5.

 P
ro

te
ct

 a
nd

 
en

ha
nc

e 
hi

st
or

ic
 a

nd
 

cu
ltu

ra
l h

er
ita

ge
 

7.
 Im

pr
ov

e 
he

al
th

 
an

d 
w

el
l-b

ei
ng

 

8.
 P

ro
te

ct
 a

nd
 

en
ha

nc
e 

th
e 

la
nd

sc
ap

e 
9.

 U
se

 n
at

ur
al

 
re

so
ur

ce
s e

ffi
ci

en
tly

 

Pl
an

ni
ng

 c
on

cl
us

io
ns

 

Equivalent to pro forma 
criterion... 

C1 D2 F1  A1 B1 
E3* 

A3 F2 A2 A4 A5  

1. Land at Wentloog Levels         J 
2. St. Mellons Business Park           X 
3. Land at Pill Du Farm          X 
4. Energlyn, Ty Draw Road           G 
5. Land rear of Fairmeadow          
6. Land at Cefn Mably Road           G 
7. Land at Tregyrnog House         X 
8. Land W of Clos y Cwarra            X 
9. Land of Sunnybank Farm           G 
10. The Dutch Garden Centre          X 
11. Land east of Graig Road           G 
12. Parc Ty Glas/Malvern Dr           X 
13. Land to rear of Brynteg          X 
14. Land to NW of Druidstone         X 
15. Druidstone Rd, OSM         X 
16. Land at Ely Bridge           B 
17. Ely Bridge Farm          
18. Queen Alexandra Head            
19. Pengam Green           X 
20. Queens Gate Car Park            
21. Land at Areas 9-12          X 
22. Trowbridge Mawr           X 
23. Land Crickhowell          PP 
24. Land east of Cypress Drive          J 
25. Land at Cefn Garw Quarry          X 
26. Land Ty Isaf Farm House          X 
27. Land at Pwll Coch Uchaf         X 
28. Land North of Ty Isaf          X 
29. Land NW of Druidstone          X 
30. Pwll Coch Druidstone         X 
31. Land at Brindley Road            
32. Land at Michaelston Road          PP 
33. Llanishen Reservoir          X 
34. Llanishen Reservoir          X 
35. Rookwood Hospital            
36. Former Lansdowne H-l            
37. Greenhill School          X 
38. Land off Tyr Winch Road         X 
39. Whitchurch Hospital Site 1          PP 
40. Whitchurch Hospital Site 2          PP 
41. Whitchurch Hospital Site 3         PP 
42. Whitchurch Hospital Site 4          
43. Land to E of Brook House          X 
44. Land at Bridge Road         X 
45. Government Offices            
46. Land N of Junction 33           E 
47. Goitre Fach Farm          D 
48. Church Farm          H 
49. Blooms Garden Centre          X 
50. Land at Briwnant           X 
51. Land at Mill Road           
52. Land at Paper Mill Road          X 
53. Cardiff Gate N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 
54. Taffs Well Quarry N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 
55. Land at Trowbridge Road          PP 
56. Former St Johns College          

Page 1703



 

56 
 

SA objective 

1.
 H

el
p 

de
liv

er
 

eq
ua

lit
y 

of
 o

pp
or

tu
-

ni
ty

 a
nd

 a
cc

es
s f

or
 a

ll 
2.

 M
ai

nt
ai

n 
an

d 
im

pr
ov

e 
ai

r q
ua

lit
y 

3.
 P

ro
te

ct
 a

nd
 

en
ha

nc
e 

bi
od

iv
er

sit
y,

 
flo

ra
 a

nd
 fa

un
a 

4.
 re

du
ce

 a
nd

 a
da

pt
 

to
 e

m
iss

io
ns

 o
f 

gr
ee

nh
ou

se
 g

as
es

 
5.

 P
ro

te
ct

 a
nd

 
en

ha
nc

e 
hi

st
or

ic
 a

nd
 

cu
ltu

ra
l h

er
ita

ge
 

7.
 Im

pr
ov

e 
he

al
th

 
an

d 
w

el
l-b

ei
ng

 

8.
 P

ro
te

ct
 a

nd
 

en
ha

nc
e 

th
e 

la
nd

sc
ap

e 
9.

 U
se

 n
at

ur
al

 
re

so
ur

ce
s e

ffi
ci

en
tly

 

Pl
an

ni
ng

 c
on

cl
us

io
ns

 

57. Land at Hannah Street          PP 
58. Rear of Moorland Road            
59. Goitre Farm, St Mellons         X 
60. Roath Basin South          I 
61. Land S of Central Station          A 
62. Land rear of Clive Street           
63. Former Cwm Farm          
64. Former Cwm Farm           X 
65. Land at former Cwm Farm           X 
66. Land at Church House Frm           G 
67. Land at Maerdy Farm           G 
68. Land at Llwyn y Pia Farm           G 
69. Land at Tynewydd          X 
70. Central Square          A 
71. Wales Millennium Centre            
72. Land E&W of Church Rd           H 
73. Graving Docks           X 
74. Wentloog Industrial Park E          X 
75. Land east of GH Farm          X 
76. Land S of Wentloog Ave           X 
77. Gas Works, Ferry Road           C 
78. Fruit Market, B&Q         PP 
79. Land at Ty Draw Road           G 
80. Land at Bridge Road         X 
81. Land at Began/Bridge rd.         X 
82. Land West of Cardiff           D 
83. JR Freeman Factory           PP 
84. Malthouse Frm NE Cardiff           G 
85. Land off Llwyn y Pia Road           G 
86. North East Cardiff           G 
87. North East Cardiff           G 
88. North East Cardiff (part)           G 
89. North East Cardiff (part)           G 
90. North East Cardiff (part)           G 
91. Land at Pwll Coch         X 
92. Greenhill School          X 
93. Greenhill School          X 
94. UWIC, Colchester Avenue N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A PP 
95. Howard Gardens          X 
96. Land Llandaff Campus         X 
97. Plas Gwyn RC/BBC          X 
98. Land at Church Rd           H 
99. Dan y Garth (a)           
100. Dan y Garth (b)           
101. Dumballs Road          A 
102. Land south of Creigiau           F 
103. Mill Farm, St Mellons Rd         G 
104. Land off Druidstone Rd         X 
105. Land off Druidstone Rd (2)          X 
106. Cardiff Parkway          J 
107. Land at Gelynis Farm          X 
108. Electrocoin Automatics             
109. Land at Bridge Road          X 
110. Land NE of Cefn Eurwg         X 
111. Land NW of Great House F          X 
112. NE Cardiff           G 
Site combinations:  
North West Transport Corridor            
North East Cardiff             
St Mellons Village           

Page 1704



 

57 
 

SA objective 

1.
 H

el
p 

de
liv

er
 

eq
ua

lit
y 

of
 o

pp
or

tu
-

ni
ty

 a
nd

 a
cc

es
s f

or
 a

ll 
2.

 M
ai

nt
ai

n 
an

d 
im

pr
ov

e 
ai

r q
ua

lit
y 

3.
 P

ro
te

ct
 a

nd
 

en
ha

nc
e 

bi
od

iv
er

sit
y,

 
flo

ra
 a

nd
 fa

un
a 

4.
 re

du
ce

 a
nd

 a
da

pt
 

to
 e

m
iss

io
ns

 o
f 

gr
ee

nh
ou

se
 g

as
es

 
5.

 P
ro

te
ct

 a
nd

 
en

ha
nc

e 
hi

st
or

ic
 a

nd
 

cu
ltu

ra
l h

er
ita

ge
 

7.
 Im

pr
ov

e 
he

al
th

 
an

d 
w

el
l-b

ei
ng

 

8.
 P

ro
te

ct
 a

nd
 

en
ha

nc
e 

th
e 

la
nd

sc
ap

e 
9.

 U
se

 n
at

ur
al

 
re

so
ur

ce
s e

ffi
ci

en
tly

 

Pl
an

ni
ng

 c
on

cl
us

io
ns

 

North of J33 / South of Creigiau            
South of St Mellons Business P           
Enlarged sites:  
NW Cardiff to Croft Y G            
NW Cardiff N toward M4            
NW Cardiff to the west            
Land N of J33 extended            
Cardiff Central Enterprise Zone            
* All E3 are unknown so they are not recorded here 
 

Appraisal findings  Planning conclusions 
very  
positive 

positive neutral un-
known 

data not 
yet 
available 

negative very 
negative 

 site 
accords 
with LDP 
V&O* 

site 
included 
as a 
strategic 
site** 

site not 
included 

planning 
permission 
granted for 
site 

* Site considered suitable for inclusion in Deposit LDP 
**Letter corresponds to Policy 2 numbering 

  

Page 1705



 

58 
 

8. Appraisal of Key and Detailed Policies 
 
“the likely significant effects on the environment, including on issues such as biodiversity, population, human 
health, fauna, flora, soil, water, air, climatic factors, material assets, cultural heritage including architectural and 
archaeological heritage, landscape and the interrelationship between the above factors” 

(SEA Directive Annex I(f)) 
 

“the measures envisaged to prevent, reduce and as fully as possible offset any significant adverse effects on the 
environment of implementing the plan or programme” 

 (SEA Directive Annex I(g)) 

 
8.1 This section discusses the main sustainability impacts of the LDP’s policies.  The 

following list shows the key and detailed policies of the LDP with the Matters 
Arising Changes (with additions since the Deposit plan underlined and deletions 
crossed through).  

 
KEY POLICIES  
 
KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH  
KP2: STRATEGIC SITES 
KP2 (A): CARDIFF CENTRAL ENTERPRISE ZONE AND REGIONAL TRANSPORT HUB 
KP2 (B): FORMER GAS WORKS, FERRY ROAD 
KP2 (C): NORTH WEST CARDIFF 
KP2 (D & E): NORTH OF JUNCTION 33 ON M4 AND SOUTH OF CREIGIAU 
KP2 (F): NORTH EAST CARDIFF (WEST OF PONTPRENNAU) 
KP2 (G): EAST OF PONTPRENNAU LINK ROAD 
KP2 (H): SOUTH OF ST MELLONS BUSINESS PARK 
KP3 (A): GREEN BELT WEDGE  
KP3 (B): SETTLEMENT BOUNDARIES  
KP4: MASTERPLANNING APPROACH  
KP5: GOOD QUALITY AND SUSTAINABLE DESIGN  
KP6: NEW INFRASTRUCTURE  
KP7: PLANNING OBLIGATIONS  
KP8: SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT 
KP9: RESPONDING TO EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS 
KP10: CENTRAL AND BAY BUSINESS AREAS 
KP11: MINERALS AND CRUSHED ROCK AGGREGATES AND OTHER MINERALS 
KP12: WASTE  
KP13: RESPONDING TO EVIDENCED SOCIAL NEEDS 
KP14: HEALTHY LIVING  
KP15: CLIMATE CHANGE  
KP16: GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE  
KP17: BUILT HERITAGE  
KP18: NATURAL RESOURCES  
 
 
DETAILED POLICIES 
 
HOUSING 
 
H1: NON-STRATEGIC HOUSING SITES  

Page 1706



 

59 
 

H2: CONVERSION TO RESIDENTIAL USE 
H3: AFFORDABLE HOUSING 
H4: CHANGE OF USE OF RESIDENTIAL LAND OR PROPERTIES  
H5: SUB-DIVISION OR CONVERSION OF RESIDENTIAL PROPERTIES 
H6: CHANGE OF USE OR REDEVELOPMENT TO RESIDENTIAL USE 
H7: ALLOCATION POLICY FOR GYPSY AND TRAVELLER SITE(S) 
H87: SITES FOR GYPSY AND TRAVELLER CARAVANS 
 
ECONOMY 
 
EC1: EXISTING EMPLOYMENT LAND 
EC2: PROVISION OF COMPLEMENTARY FACILITIES FOR EMPLOYEES IN 
BUSINESS, INDUSTRIAL AND WAREHOUSING DEVELOPMENTS 
EC3: ALTERNATIVE USE OF EMPLOYMENT LAND AND PREMISES 
EC4: PROTECTING OFFICES IN THE CENTRAL AND BAY BUSINESS  
AREAS 
EC5: HOTEL DEVELOPMENT 
EC6: NON-STRATEGIC EMPLOYMENT SITE 
EC7: EMPLOYMENT PROPOSALS ON LAND NOT IDENTIFIED FOR EMPLOYMENT USE 
 
ENVIRONMENT 
 
Countryside Protection 
EN1: COUNTRYSIDE PROTECTION 
EN2: CONVERSION, EXTENSION AND REPLACEMENT BUILDINGS IN THE 
COUNTRYSIDE 
 
The Natural Environment 
EN3: LANDSCAPE PROTECTION 
EN4: RIVER VALLEYS CORRIDORS 
EN5: LOCAL NATURE RESERVES AND NON-STATUTORY SITES OF  
NATURE CONSERVATION AND GEOLOGICAL IMPORTANCE  DESIGNATED SITES 
EN6: ECOLOGICAL NETWORKS AND FEATURES OF IMPORTANCE FOR 
BIODIVERSITY 
EN7: PRIORITY HABITATS AND SPECIES 
EN8: TREES, WOODLANDS AND HEDGEROWS  
 
The Historic Environment 
EN9: CONSERVATION OF THE HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT 
 
Natural Resources 
EN10: WATER SENSITIVE DESIGN 
EN11: PROTECTION OF WATER RESOURCES  
 
Renewable Energy 
EN12: RENEWABLE ENERGY AND LOW CARBON TECHNOLOGIES  
 
Pollution 
EN13: AIR, NOISE, LIGHT POLLUTION AND CONTAMINATED LAND CONTAMINATION 

Page 1707



 

60 
 

 
Flood Risk 
EN14: FLOOD RISK 
 
TRANSPORT   
T1: WALKING AND CYCLING 
T2: STRATEGIC RAPID TRANSIT & BUS CORRIDORS  
T3: TRANSPORT INTERCHANGES 
T4: CENTRAL TRANSPORT HUB  
T5: MANAGING TRANSPORT IMPACTS  
T6: IMPACT ON TRANSPORT NETWORKS AND SERVICES 
T7: STRATEGIC TRANSPORTATION INFRASTRUCTURE 
T8: STRATEGIC RECREATIONAL ROUTES 
T9 CARDIFF CITY REGION ‘METRO’ NETWORK  
 
RETAIL 
 
R1: RETAIL PROVISION WITHIN STRATEGIC SITES 
R1 RETAIL HIERARCHY 
R2: DEVELOPMENT IN THE CENTRAL SHOPPING AREA 
R3: PROTECTED SHOPPING FRONTAGES 
R54 DISTRICT CENTRES 
R65 LOCAL CENTRES 
R46 RETAIL DEVELOPMENT (OUT OF CENTRE) 
R7 FOOD AND DRINK USES 
R7 RETAIL PROVISION WITHIN STRATEGIC SITES 
R8 PROTECTION OF LOCAL SHOPPING PARADES 
R8 FOOD AND DRINK USES 
 
COMMUNITY 
 
C1: COMMUNITY FACILITIES  
C2: PROTECTION OF EXISTING COMMUNITY FACILITIES 
C2 3: COMMUNITY SAFETY/CREATING SAFE ENVIRONMENTS 
C34: PROTECTION OF OPEN SPACE 
C45: PROVISION FOR OPEN SPACE, OUTDOOR RECREATION, CHILDREN’S PLAY AND SPORT 
C5: PROVISION FOR ALLOTMENTS AND COMMUNITY GROWING 
C6: PROVISION FOR CHILDREN’S PLAY 
C7 6: HEALTH 
C8: PLANNING FOR SCHOOLS 
C9: NEW EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES 
C10: HEALTH EMPLOYMENT NON-STRATEGIC ALLOCATION 
C7 PLANNING FOR SCHOOLS 
 
MINERALS 
 
M1: MINERAL LIMESTONE RESERVES AND RESOURCES  
M2: PREFERRED ORDER OF MINERAL RESOURCE RELEASE 
M3: QUARRY CLOSURES AND EXTENSION LIMITS 

Page 1708



 

61 
 

M4: MINERALS BUFFER ZONES 
M5: RESTORATION AND AFTER - USE OF MINERAL WORKINGS 
M6: DREDGED AGGREGATE LANDING AND DISTRIBUTION FACILITIES SAND WHARF 
PROTECTION AREAS 
M7: SAFEGUARDING OF SAND AND GRAVEL RESOURCE 
M8: SAFEGUARDING OF COAL RESOURCES 
M9: SAFEGUARDING OF LIMESTONE RESOURCES 
M7: SAFEGUARDING OF SAND AND GRAVEL, COAL AND LIMESTONE RESOURCES 
M8: AREAS WHERE COAL WORKING WILL NOT BE ACCEPTABLE 
 
WASTE  
 
W1: LAND FOR WASTE MANAGEMENT 
W21 SITES FOR WASTE MANAGEMENT FACILITIES 
W32: PROVISION FOR WASTE MANAGEMENT FACILITIES IN DEVELOPMENT 
 
8.2 All the key and detailed policies were appraised in August 2013 using the SA 

framework of Table 4.3.  For the many policies repeated from the Preferred 
Strategy with only minor changes, the appraisals already done in June and July 
2012 were reviewed and tweaked as necessary. Appraisals of new policies in 
the Matters Arising Changes were added in May 2015, and the earlier 
appraisals revised or deleted as necessary. Further minor changes were made 
to take account of the further Matters Arising Changes in October 2015 and 
January 2016. The results for the key policies are summarised in  Table 8.1.  The 
full appraisals for all policies are in Appendix G.  Table 8.1a summarises the 
impacts of the strategic sites in Key Policy 2. 

 
Table 8.1  Summary appraisal findings for the LDP key policies 
 

SA objective 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 1.

  E
qu

al
ity

 

2.
  A

ir 
qu

al
ity

 

3.
 B

io
di

ve
rs

ity
 

4.
 C

lim
at

e 
ch

an
ge

 

5.
 H

er
ita

ge
 

6.
 E

co
no

m
y 

7.
 H

ea
lth

 a
nd

 
w

el
lb

ei
ng

 

8.
 L

an
ds

ca
pe

 

9.
 N

at
ur

al
 re

so
ur

ce
s 

10
. D

em
og

ra
ph

ic
 

ch
an

ge
 

11
. W

as
te

 

KP1: Level Of Growth            
KP2: Strategic Sites            
KP3(a), KP3(b) Green Wedge, settlement 
boundary 

0    0 ?    ? 0 

KP4: Masterplanning Approach          0  
KP5: High Quality and Sustainable Design  ?          
KP6 New infrastructure, KP7 planning obls ?  ?  ?  ?  ?  ?  ?  ?  ?  ?  ?  
KP8: Sustainable Transport   0  0   0 0  0 
KP10: Central and Bay Business Areas     0      0 
KP11: Crushed Rock Aggregates and Other 
Minerals  

0  ? ? 0       

KP12: Waste 0 ? 0  0  ? 0    
KP13: Responding to evidenced social needs   0     0 0  0 
KP14: Healthy Living  0 ? ? 0 ?  ? 0  0 
KP15: Climate Change 0 ? ?  0 0 0 0 ? 0 0 
KP16: Green Infrastructure 0     ?    0 0 
KP17: Built Heritage 0 0  0  ?    0 0 0 
KP18: Natural Resources 0    0     0 0 

Page 1709



 

62 
 

 
 
Table 8.1a.  Summary appraisal of KP2 sites policies (see Figure 3.2) 
 

SA objective 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 1.

  E
qu

al
ity

 

2.
  A

ir 
qu

al
ity

 

3.
 B

io
di

ve
rs

ity
 

4.
 C

lim
at

e 
ch

an
ge

 

5.
 H

er
ita

ge
 

6.
 E

co
no

m
y 

7.
 H

ea
lth

 a
nd

 
w

el
lb

ei
ng

 

8.
 L

an
ds

ca
pe

 

9.
 N

at
ur

al
 re

so
ur

ce
s 

10
. D

em
og

ra
ph

ic
 

ch
an

ge
 

11
. W

as
te

 

Strategic Sites Size (ha)            

A. Cardiff Central Enterprise 
Zone and Regional Trans Hub  

13   ?  0       

B. Former gas works, Ferry Road 12   
 

? ? 0? 0      

C. North West Cardiff 346 
 

?   ?  ? / 

? 

   

D. & E. North of J33 on M4 and 
South of Craigiau 

139  / 
 

  ?  ?     

F. North East Cardiff (West of 
Pontprennau) 

240  ?   ?  ? / 

? 

   

G. East of Pontprennau Link road 81  ?   ? 0  / 

? 

   

H. South of St. Mellons business 
park 

99  ?     ?     

 
8.3 Overall, the appraisal found that the LDP policies would have mostly positive or 

neutral impacts.  The impacts were particularly positive with regard to social 
and economic issues such as equality, economic growth and response to 
demographic change.  The main negative effects would be caused by the 
policies that promote housing and economic growth and specific development 
locations, notably Policies KP1 and KP2.  Together these would have significant 
impacts on air quality, biodiversity, the historic and cultural heritage, the 
landscape and waste production.  The LDP's overall impacts are discussed in 
more detail at Chapter 9.   
 

8.4 A range of changes to key policies were suggested as a result of the appraisal.  
The planning team put in place most of these changes in the 2012 Preferred 
Strategy, although some changes were not made for planning reasons.  Table 
8.2  summarises the suggested changes and shows how they were taken into 
account.  (For ease of reference, policy numbers have been changed to refer to 
where the relevant material now appears.) As a result of these changes, the 
LDP policies have become less repetitive, give greater emphasis to reducing the 
need to travel by car and making facilities accessible by walking and cycling, 
have increased emphasis on resilience to climate change, and focus more on 
remediating contaminated land. 

 
8.5 The planning team made two major changes between the Preferred Strategy 

and Deposit Plans.  The first was the 10% reduction in housing provision.  This 

Page 1710



 

63 
 

was a direct response to a downward revision in projected population growth, 
so the revised policy scores the same against the social and economic 
objectives as the previous one did.  Since the same land will be allocated for 
development (for the reasons explained at 6.15), the scores against 
environmental objectives are also unchanged.  Further detailed review of 
housing projections in spring 2015 resulted in a 1% upward adjustment of the 
provision as a Matters Arising Change. 

 
8.6 The second change was the addition of Key Policies KP3a and KP3b designating 

a green belt and restricting development outside existing settlements.  These 
policies improve the LDP’s performance against environmental objectives, with 
a very small social and economic penalty from restricting development. 

 
8.7 A number of smaller changes were also made.  Many made no difference to the 

appraisal.  Some, in response to appraisal recommendations, improved the 
LDP’s sustainability performance.  A few weakened it. 

 
8.8 Further changes were made after the public Examination.  These are 

summarised in Appendix I.   Many of these were concerned with clarifying 
drafting, improving alignment with guidance, updating references or 
rearranging material, and will make no significant difference to the Plan’s 
sustainability impacts.  Some will improve the Plan’s impacts, notably by 
providing more explicitness and certainty over requirements for sustainable 
transport infrastructure, development densities, meeting the 50:50 modal split 
target, considering renewable energy opportunities in major developments, 
and preventing loss of needed community facilities.  However very few of these 
were significant enough to require changes in policy appraisal scores. 

 
8.9 Two changes had significant negative effects.  The most important was the 

replacement of the Green Belt policy KP3a with one for Green Wedge.  The 
boundaries and level of protection are unchanged.  The change matters 
because of the loss of permanence.  Planning Policy Wales says: ‘the 
boundaries of Green Belts should be altered only in exceptional circumstances 
and land within a Green Belt should be protected for a longer period than the 
current development plan period’  (para 4.8.5).  In contrast, ‘Green Wedge 
policies should be reviewed as part of the development plan review process.’ 
(para 4.8.12.)  This means that the Green Wedge would have to be re-argued at 
each LDP review.  It could even be rolled back during the Plan period if, for 
example, annual monitoring revealed a serious shortfall in housing construction 
and developers blamed lack of attractive sites. 

   
8.10 This creates the possibility of a perverse incentive on developers to hold back 

from progressing the kinds of development the Plan seeks to encourage (such 
as brownfield regeneration) in the hope of using underperformance as an 
argument for rolling back the Green Wedge policy to allow further greenfield 
development.  The change from Green Belt to Green Wedge therefore 

Page 1711



 

64 
 

potentially weakens the Council’s ability to deliver the spatial strategy which 
underpins the Plan, and which performs well against the SA/SEA objectives. 

 
8.11 The second significant negative change is the deletion of a former policy on 

provision of allotments and community gardens which scored very positively on 
a number of environmental and social criteria. 

 

Page 1712



 

65 
 

Table 8.2  Changes resulting from the appraisal of LDP key policies 
LDP Key Policy Change proposed by SA team Response to proposed change 
KP2. In addition to a wide range of brownfield 
site commitments, the following Strategic Sites 
(500 homes or more) and/or significant 
employment/mixed use sites are proposed:... 
 

Provide more detail about individual sites in 
Policy KP2 - e.g. number of affordable homes 
sought, precise infrastructure to be provided 
etc. – to ensure that policy is implemented as 
expected. 

Suggested changes rejected.  Policy wording unchanged. 
 

The role of the LDP Preferred Strategy is to set a strategic 
framework to inform more detailed work at the master 
and infrastructure planning stages.  At this stage it would 
be difficult to set out the number of jobs, affordable 
housing, etc without being too prescriptive.  General 
principles covering these issues are set out in other  
policies notably KP13 which includes a target for 
affordable housing on new housing developments (30% 
on Greenfield sites and 20% on brownfield sites, with a 
total of 6973 affordable homes built by 2026) and Policy 
KP14 which sets out principles of sustainable 
neighbourhoods including the provision of a full range of 
accessible social, health, leisure and education facilities 
and community infrastructure for the new communities 
proposed in the LDP.  

P
age 1713



 

66 
 

LDP Key Policy Change proposed by SA team Response to proposed change 
Ensure that the Habitats Regulations 
Assessment has appraised the impacts of the 
individual strategic development sites in Policy 
2, and has confirmed that these can be 
developed without significant 'in combination' 
impact on the integrity of any SPA, SAC or 
Ramsar site.   
 

In particular, development of the land south 
of St. Mellons Business Park is currently 
expected to involve land raising, which could 
have significant impacts on water quality and 
hydrology of the Severn Estuary SPA/ SAC/ 
Ramsar site. 

The HRA has appraised all of the Key Policies, Strategic 
Options, Spatial Options and Vision Outcomes within the 
LDP, and performed a test of likely significance (TOLS) 
both alone and in-combination. 
 

This site has been assessed in the HRA, and because of its 
distance from the foreshore, we do not believe that 
development thereon is likely to have a significant effect 
upon the Severn Estuary designations.  The soil recycling 
facility south of Wentloog Avenue involves spreading 
large amounts of soil over fields of a similar area to this 
Candidate Site, but despite concerns over water quality in 
the SSSI, CCW have not raised any issues over the effects 
on water quality in the estuary itself. 

KP2C. North West Cardiff – comprehensive 
development including approximately 7,500 
homes, employment and other associated uses; 
 

Include in the LDP description that the disused 
railway line will be safeguarded, including 
wide green buffers to allow for a wildlife 
corridor, walking/cycling trail, and possible 
future reinstatement of the railway line.   

Not appropriate at this stage to include specific details 
about the site in the key policy.  These issues can be 
considered in the more detailed master planning and 
infrastructure planning stages. 

P
age 1714



 

67 
 

LDP Key Policy Change proposed by SA team Response to proposed change 
Include in the LDP description that a 
segregated rapid bus lane towards the city 
centre is expected to be in place before the 
first house on any part of the site is moved 
into.  If this does not happen, then people 
who move into the homes in the early stages 
of development will become used to travelling 
in their cars.  Also there might otherwise be 
the temptation to develop parts of the site – 
with different planning applications for 
different parts of the site - without these 
essential pieces of infrastructure being 
delivered.  

Policy KP8 on Sustainable Transport amended to include 
statement that ‘Development in Cardiff will be integrated 
with transport infrastructure and services in order to: …(i) 
Achieve the target of a 50:50 modal split between 
journeys by car and  journeys by walking, cycling and 
public transport’ and proposed sustainable transport 
infrastructure and service provision in individual 
masterplans.  Commitment added to the site specific 
principles to ‘ensure frequent public transport provision 
is in place prior to residential occupation of the site’.  
 
 

 
KP2D. North of Junction 33 on M4 – mixed use of 
approximately 2,000 homes, employment and 
other associated community uses and a strategic 
Park and Ride site; 
 
KP2E. South of Creigiau – housing-based scheme 
of approximately 750 homes with associated 
community uses; 

Include in the LDP description that a 
segregated bus route or tram/railway line to 
the city centre via North West Cardiff is 
expected to be in place before the first house 
on any part of the site is moved into.  This may 
mean that this site cannot be developed until 
North West Cardiff is developed.  If this does 
not happen, then people who move into the 
homes in the early stages of development will 
become used to travelling in their cars.  Also 
there might otherwise be the temptation to 
develop parts of the site – with different 
planning applications for different parts of the 
site - without this essential piece of 
infrastructure being delivered. 

Policy KP8 on Sustainable Transport amended to include 
statement that ‘Development in Cardiff will be integrated 
with transport infrastructure and services in order to: …(i) 
Achieve the target of a 50:50 modal split between 
journeys by car and  journeys by walking, cycling and 
public transport’ and proposed sustainable transport 
infrastructure and service provision in individual 
masterplans.  Commitment added to the site specific 
principles to ‘ensure frequent public transport provision 
is in place prior to residential occupation of the site’.  
 

P
age 1715



 

68 
 

LDP Key Policy Change proposed by SA team Response to proposed change 
 Include in the LDP description that the Park 
and Ride site is expected to be in place early in 
the project development, for the same 
reasons as the segregated bus/tram route 

Policy KP8 on Sustainable Transport amended to include 
statement that ‘Development in Cardiff will be integrated 
with transport infrastructure and services in order to: …(i) 
Achieve the target of a 50:50 modal split between 
journeys by car and  journeys by walking, cycling and 
public transport’ and proposed sustainable transport 
infrastructure and service provision in individual 
masterplans.  Commitment added to the site specific 
principles to ‘ensure frequent public transport provision 
is in place prior to residential occupation of the site’.  

KP2H. South of St Mellons business park From an environmental perspective, this is a 
very poor site and it is recommended that it is 
avoided.  Its only real benefit is that it will 
provide land for the kinds of jobs that would 
not easily be accommodated in the city 
centre, and that these may be accessible for 
residents of Trowbridge and Rumney.  From a 
transport perspective, it would be more 
sustainable to provide several smaller 
employment sites scattered across the city.  

Although significant mitigation measures are required on 
this site in order to bring it into use i.e. site raising, flood 
prevention measures, transport, it is considered feasible 
due to the strategic nature of the site. It will provide a 
significant number and range of jobs which is one of the 
key objectives of the LDP. 

3.* Cardiff Central Enterprise Zone   

A Central Enterprise Zone and Regional Transport 
Hub is proposed in Cardiff city centre in order to 
fulfil Cardiff’s role as economic driver of the city-
region, provide major employment opportunities 
focused on financial and business services and 
maximise the advantages of its location adjacent 
to the Central Station and Cardiff Bus Station. 

Remove this policy as it duplicates Policy 
KP2A. 

Policy removed, and all subsequent policies renumbered 

KP9. There will be a strong presumption in favour ...retaining and encouraging the Suggested changes rejected. Policy wording unchanged 

P
age 1716



 

69 
 

LDP Key Policy Change proposed by SA team Response to proposed change 
of retaining and encouraging the intensification 
and refurbishment of existing industrial and 
warehousing land…. 

intensification and refurbishment… 
recommended to be replaced by ...retention, 
enhancement, and efficient use.   

KP13.Encouraging the provision of a full range of 
accessible social, health, leisure and education 
facilities and community infrastructure for both 
existing and new communities; 

Meaning of 'accessible' expanded to that are 
'accessible to all and by walking and cycling' 
and moved to end of point.  

Agree policy amended. 

KP14.  Cardiff will be a made a healthier place to 
live by seeking to reduce health inequalities, 
encouraging healthier lifestyles and providing 
accessible and usable green spaces including 
allotments. In particular Cardiff…. 

Add:  ...usable green spaces including 
allotments , and providing accessible health 
facilities 

Agree policy amended. 

KP8. Through their location and design reduce 
car use and dependency by enabling residents to 
access employment, shopping, medical, 
educational and other essential services and 
community facilities by sustainable travel modes; 

Add: reduce the need to travel, and…. after 
Through their location and design…. 
  

KP8 says ‘Development in Cardiff will be integrated with 
transport infrastructure and services in order to: … (ii) 
Reduce travel demand and dependence on the car’. The 
key sustainability aim of reducing the need to travel 
remains as objective 1(j), but there is now no policy or 
supporting text explicitly directed to achieving it. 

17.* Travel Plans will include practical and 
deliverable measures designed to stimulate the 
use of sustainable travel choices by residents or 
users of a development. Including, although not 
restricted to: 

Add: and neighbouring communities after 
…..users of a development. 

Suggested changes rejected. Policy wording unchanged. 
Now no reference to travel plans in any policy text, only 
in supporting text (para 5.245 of Deposit LDP). 

19 (vii)* Car parking and servicing. Car parking 
will be minimised in line with improvements to 
access by sustainable transport, in particular, 
reducing long stay parking for commuters;   

Add: (whilst still providing for disabled users);   No reference to minimising car parking anywhere now.  
Supporting text states that parking and servicing will be 
provided in accordance with the Councils adopted 
standards. 
 

KP5(ix) Promoting the efficient use of land;   Add: 'and where appropriate the remediation 
of contaminated land;'   

Agree policy amended. 

P
age 1717



 

70 
 

LDP Key Policy Change proposed by SA team Response to proposed change 
KP5(x) Ensuring no undue effect on the amenity 
of neighbouring properties;... 

Add:  'and connecting positively to 
surrounding communities;' Agree policy amended. 

 
*Numbers retained from 2012 Preferred Strategy because there is no corresponding material in the Deposit LDP  

P
age 1718



 

71 
 

8.12 In addition to reviewing policies, the sustainability appraisal identified some gaps 
where the Deposit Draft policies did not fully cover the SA objectives.  These are shown 
at Table 8.3, along with the planning team's response to the SA comments.  Some of 
these have now been overtaken by the Matters Arising Changes summarised in 
Appendix I.  

 
 
Table 8.3.  Changes resulting from the appraisal of gaps in the LDP policies 

Comments on gaps in the LDP policies LDP response 
Air quality / climate change: The LDP 
notes that 45% of air pollution is from 
industry, 30% is from domestic sources 
and 25% is from road. However by far 
the greatest focus has been on pollution 
from cars. Does the LDP need to say 
something about emissions from homes 
and industry, e.g. sustainable home 
standards? 
 
 
 

Policy KP18 on Natural Resources changed to: 
"(iii) Minimising air pollution from industrial, domestic and 
road transportation sources and managing air quality." 
  

Policy KP5(vii) on Good Quality and Sustainable Design 
changed to: "Achieving a resource efficient and climate-
responsive design that provides sustainable water and 
waste management solutions, minimises water usage and 
maximises sustainable drainage and minimises emissions 
from transport, homes and industry;" 

Renewable energy: Overall the LDP says 
little on the subject of renewables. This 
may be because the Council is 
conducting a Renewable Energy 
Assessment. Should/can the LDP be 
more proactive here?  Can the LDP 
identify development sites where 
renewables would be expected to be 
provided?  Can the LDP identify sites 
especially for renewables? 
 

Criterion (iv) of policy KP15 states that the LDP will seek to 
increase the supply of renewable energy and criterion (vi) 
of Policy KP5 states that the LDP will seek to maximise 
renewable solutions.  This is supported by policy EN12 on 
renewable energy and low carbon technologies   

Biodiversity and landscape: The LDP 
explicitly states that brownfield sites 
will not be sufficient so greenfield will 
have to be used. Given this and a 
general shortage of discussion on 
biodiversity in the LDP, biodiversity and 
the landscape are generally not well 
treated in the plan 
 

Should there be greater consideration 
of biodiversity protection, specification 
of what biodiversity enhancement 
would be provided at each strategic 
housing site, offsetting of biodiversity 
impacts where these are unavoidable, 
creation and designation of new 
biodiversity sites etc?  
 

Policy KP5 on good quality and sustainable design changed 
to:  "(x) Ensuring no undue effect on the amenity of 
neighbouring properties and connecting positively to 
surrounding communities". 
 

In terms of biodiversity the Natural Environment section of 
the LDP emphasises the strategic importance of protecting 
Cardiff’s natural environmental assets – including its 
countryside, landscape and biodiversity. This is supported 
by Policies EN3-8. These principles have been applied in 
the detailed master planning to protect biodiversity 
interests of the strategic sites.  
 

Given this, it is considered the plan addresses biodiversity 
issues adequately and the necessary hooks are in place to 
enable this issue to be picked up in more detail as the LDP 
progresses.  

Page 1719



 

72 
 

Contaminated land 
The LDP does not promote the 
remediation of contaminated land 

Policy KP5 on good quality and sustainable design changed 
to:  "(ix) Promoting the efficient use of land and where 
appropriate achieving the remediation of contaminated 
land;" 

Housing density 
The LDP says little about housing 
density.  It refers to 'appropriate and 
efficient density' (Objective 4.9), notes 
that efficient use of land is desirable, 
and states that developers should 
'respond to the local character and 
context...' (including density) in their 
development proposals.  However it 
gives no indication of what typical 
density would be expected, or what the 
high and low ranges would be.  This 
could encourage low density 
development, particularly on the 
outlying Greenfield sites. 

Policy KP5 includes: (ix) Promoting the efficient use of land, 
developing at highest practicable densities. 
 
General Masterplanning Principle 2 sets out a high level 
aspiration to focus high density development along public 
transport corridors and in neighbourhood centres with 
lower densities provided elsewhere to deliver an overall 
range and choice to meet different needs. 
 
The Masterplanning General Principles have informed the 
Site Specific principles and Schematic Frameworks for the 
strategic sites and will be used by the Council through the 
planning and design process to work with developers to 
design detailed masterplans. This work will include 
identifying appropriate densities across the strategic sites. 

 

  

Page 1720



 

73 
 

9. Overall Effects and Mitigation 
 
“the likely significant effects on the environment, including on issues such as biodiversity, population, human health, 
fauna, flora, soil, water, air, climatic factors, material assets, cultural heritage including architectural and archaeological 
heritage, landscape and the interrelationship between the above factors” 

(SEA Directive Annex I(f)) 
 

“the measures envisaged to prevent, reduce and as fully as possible offset any significant adverse effects on the 
environment of implementing the plan or programme” 

(SEA Directive Annex I(g)) 

 
9.1 The Local Development Plan Manual states that a sustainability appraisal should 

include an evaluation of the significance of the predicted effects including “the 
probability, duration, frequency and reversibility … [and] secondary, cumulative and 
synergistic effects”.  The Practical Guide to the Strategic Environmental Assessment 
(Office of the Deputy Prime Minister et al 2005) states that the nature of the effects 
should be assessed. 
 

Impact prediction and evaluation 
 
9.2 The LDP was evaluated to establish what its probable effects would be on the 

indicators identified in the Scoping Report, including 
• short-term impacts (0-5 years), expected to be mostly related to construction of 

new developments 
• medium term impacts (6-10 years) 
• long term impacts (11-20 years), expected to be mostly related to operation of 

new developments. 
 

9.3 Table 9.1 brings together the previous appraisals of Chapters 5-8 to show what the 
overall/cumulative impacts of the LDP would be.  Table 9.2 goes into further detail 
on the overall impacts of the LDP (the final row of Table 9.1), with a particular 
emphasis on the impacts of the proposed strategic development sites. 
 

9.4 Overall the LDP would have significant benefits in providing the housing and 
employment land that Cardiff's current and future residents will need.  It will help to 
improve access to good quality jobs, services and infrastructure for Cardiff's 
residents, although it is unlikely to fully redress the imbalance between the 
'southern arc' of deprivation and other areas of the city.  Residents' health should 
improve in response to better housing, access to open space, and walking and 
cycling facilities.   The new development may draw in people who currently live or 
work in the Valleys, and so have indirect impacts on neighbouring authorities.   

Page 1721



 

74 
 

Table 9.1  Overall sustainability impacts of the LDP 
 

SA objective 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 1.

  E
qu

al
ity

 

2.
  A

ir 
qu

al
ity

 

3.
 B

io
di

ve
rs

ity
 

4.
 C

lim
at

e 
ch

an
ge

 

5.
 H

er
ita

ge
 

6.
 E

co
no

m
y 

7.
 H

ea
lth

 a
nd

 
w

el
lb

ei
ng

 

8.
 L

an
ds

ca
pe

 

9.
 N

at
ur

al
 re

so
ur

ce
s 

10
. D

em
og

ra
ph

ic
 

ch
an

ge
 

11
. W

as
te

 

Vision            
Objectives            
Key Policies            
KP1: Level Of Growth            
KP2: Strategic Sites *            
KP3(a), KP3(b) Green Wedge, settlement 
boundary 

0    0 ?    ? 0 

KP4: Masterplanning Approach          0  
KP5: High Quality and Sustainable Design  ?          
KP6 New infrastructure, KP7 planning obls ?  ?  ?  ?  ?  ?  ?  ?  ?  ?  ?  
KP8: Sustainable Transport   0  0   0 0  0 
KP10: Central and Bay Business Areas     0      0 
KP11: Crushed Rock Aggregates and Other 
Minerals 

0  ? ? 0       

KP12: Waste 0 ? 0  0  ? 0    
KP13: Responding to evidenced social needs   0     0 0  0 
KP14: Healthy Living  0 ? ? 0 ?  ? 0  0 
KP15: Climate Change 0 ? ?  0 0 0 0 ? 0 0 
KP16: Green Infrastructure  0     ?    0 0 
KP17: Built Heritage 0 0  0  ?    0 0 0 
KP18: Natural Resources 0    0     0 0 
Strategic Sites Size (ha)            

A. Cardiff Central Enterprise 
Zone and Regional Trans Hub  

13   ?  0       

B. Former gas works, Ferry Road 12   
 

? ? 0? 0      

C. North West Cardiff 346 
 

?   ?  ? / 

? 

   

D. & E. North of J33 on M4 and 
South of Craigiau 

139  / 
 

  ?  ?     

F. North East Cardiff (West of 
Pontprennau) 

240  ?   ?  ? / 

? 

   

G. East of Pontprennau Link 
Road 

81  ?   ? 0  / 

? 

   

H. South of St. Mellons business 
park 

99  ?     ?     

            
Cumulative impacts   
 

    0?       

 
 
 
 

 

Page 1722



 

75 
 

Table 9.2  Overall sustainability impacts of the LDP: short, medium and long term 
impacts 
 

SA 
Objective 

Overall impacts 

 S M L  
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity 
and access for 
all 


? 


? 


 

Policy KP1 aims to deliver about 40,000 new jobs and 41,415 new 
dwellings, and Policy KP2 supports this by identifying strategic sites to 
deliver this growth.  Policy KP13 supports the delivery of affordable 
housing, and promotes sustainable neighbourhoods.  The proposed 
sites together would provide substantial additional housing and 
employment land.   
 

However several of the strategic sites are out of the existing urban 
area and only a few would support regeneration of the 'southern arc' 
of deprivation.  The large strategic sites would have poor public 
transport accessibility unless and until substantial new investments 
were made.  The addition to the site specific principles of the 
requirement to ‘ensure frequent public transport provision is in place 
prior to residential occupation of the site’ will help. 
 

Inequalities are likely to increase over time as the residents of 
outlying Greenfield sites drive through existing more deprived areas 
to access the city centre.  
 

2. Maintain 
and improve 
air quality 


? 


? 


? 

Policy KP18 on Natural Resources aims to minimise air pollution and 
manage air quality.  Policy KP8 amplified by policies T1-T8 aspires to 
reduce travel demand and car dependence, support the delivery of 
high quality public transport,  deliver improved bus corridors and Park 
and Ride/ Share schemes, and support walking and cycling.  T9 seeks 
to work towards developing a new ‘metro’ network.  
 

However the scale of growth envisaged for Cardiff will inevitably lead 
to more air pollution from traffic, homes and businesses.  The largest 
strategic sites are on the edge of Cardiff, far from the city centre, and 
likely to be heavily car dependent.  Where these sites provide for both 
housing and employment, the need to travel may be reduced if 
residents both live and work in the same area.  Stronger commitments 
in the MACS to ensure sustainable transport infrastructure is in place 
early in development and to deliver a 50:50 modal split are welcome. 
 

Page 1723



 

76 
 

SA 
Objective 

Overall impacts 

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, 
flora and 
fauna 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

Policy KP16 on Green Infrastructure  aims to protect and enhance 
Cardiff's areas of biodiversity, including designated sites.  However 
the scale of development being proposed, and the amount of 
development that is expected to be on Greenfield sites, means that 
Cardiff's biodiversity will be significantly negatively affected by the 
LDP. 
 

Strategic site H would be 99 hectares entirely in a Site of Special 
Scientific Interest (SSSI).  Several strategic sites would affect Sites of 
Importance for Nature Conservation (SINCs), though satisfactory 
mitigation is expected to be possible for most of these: 
• Site C would affect one SINC 
• Sites D and E would affect 8 SINCs and are adjacent to a river 

SSSI 
• Site F would affect 9 small SINCS, is adjacent to two SSSIs, and a 

river valley runs through the middle of the site. 
Several sites also include protected species such as bats and dormice.   
 

Site H would have by far the most significant impacts. 
 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse 
gases that 
cause climate 
change and 
adapt to its 
effects 


? 


? 


? 

Policy KP15 aims to reduce greenhouse gas emissions and adapt to 
climate change, including flooding.  Policies T1-T9 on transport aim to 
support a modal change from car use to walking, cycling and public 
transport.   
 

However the scale of growth envisaged for Cardiff will inevitably lead 
to more greenhouse gas emissions from traffic, homes and 
businesses.  The largest strategic sites are on the edge of Cardiff, far 
from the city centre, and likely to be heavily car dependent.  Where 
these sites provide for both housing and employment, the need to 
travel may be reduced if residents both live and work in the area.  
However the aspiration for a 50:50 modal split is unlikely to be 
achieved unless the LDP requires specified sustainable transport 
infrastructure and services to be in place before the sites are 
occupied.  The addition to the site specific principles of the 
requirement to ‘ensure frequent public transport provision is in place 
prior to residential occupation of the site’ will help. 
 

Of the strategic sites, 
• Most of Site A is in flood risk zone C1 (served by significant 

infrastructure) 
• Part of Site B is in zone C1 
• Some of Site F is in zone C2 (not served by significant 

infrastructure) 
• All of site H is in zone C1: the initial suggestion is that 

development would require land raising and improvements to the 
sea wall to respond to this. 

Page 1724



 

77 
 

SA 
Objective 

Overall impacts 

5. Protect and 
enhance 
historic and 
cultural 
heritage 

0? 0? 
? 

Policy KP17 on Built Heritage aims to protect and enhance Cardiff's 
heritage assets.  Most of the proposed development sites will have no 
effect on the historic and cultural heritage, provided that harm to the 
setting of nearby historic buildings is avoided through good design.  Of 
the strategic sites: 
• Site B would affect one Grade II listed building 
• Site C would affect two Grade II listed buildings and St. Fagans 

conservation area 
• Sites D&E contain one Grade II listed building 
• Site F contains one Grade I and one Grade II listed building 
• Site G contains three Grade II and II* listed buildings plus other 

historic records 
• Site H is located within an archaeologically sensitive site and most 

of it is in a registered Landscape of Outstanding Historic Interest 
 

It would probably not be possible to mitigate the historic/ cultural 
impacts of Site H. 
 

6. Help deliver 
the growth of 
a sustainable 
and diversified 
economy 

 
? 

 Policy KP1 aims to deliver about 40,000 new jobs.  Policy KP9 
promotes new employment sites and protects existing ones.  Policy 
KP10 supports economic development in the city centre and Bay 
Business Area. 
Cumulatively, the proposed development sites will diversify and 
support the city’s economy.  Some strategic sites outside the existing 
urban area may undermine the vitality and viability of the city centre, 
although where both housing and employment land are provided on 
the same site this could help to provide for a diversified economy. 
 

7. Improve 
health and 
well-being 

? 
? 
 



? 

Policy KP13 supports the provision of affordable housing, which would 
help to improve health, and encourages the provision of adequate 
community facilities and infrastructure, including health facilities.  
Policy KP14 supports healthy living by seeking to reduce health 
inequalities and provide accessible green spaces.  Policy T1 supports 
walking and cycling.  Policy T8 safeguards strategic recreational 
routes.  Some of the proposed development sites will support 
regeneration, and new community facilities are proposed as parts of 
the 'package' for some larger sites which currently lack them.   One of 
the non-strategic sites, site 18, could also provide additional 
community facilities for its area. 
 

Development sites outside the urban area are likely to increase car 
dependency, with health disbenefits.  Several of the strategic sites 
have longer term flood risks (see 4.), and increasing air pollution 
would have a negative impact on people's health (see 2.). 
 

Page 1725



 

78 
 

SA 
Objective 

Overall impacts 

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 


 

 
 

Policy KP16 on Green Infrastructure aims to protect and enhance the 
natural heritage, and Policy KP18 on Natural Resources aims to 
protect the city's natural resources: both will also have landscape 
benefits.  Policy EN3 aims to protect five Special Landscape Areas.  
Policy KP5 on High Quality and Sustainable Design will help to ensure 
that new development protects and enhances the landscape. 
 

Many of the proposed development sites have been previously 
developed, and their development would have a neutral or positive 
effect on the landscape.   
 

Regeneration of the Cardiff  Central Enterprise Zone (strategic site A) 
would be particularly beneficial.  However most of the area of 
proposed development is Greenfield, which would have significant 
negative landscape impacts.  Overall, the preferred strategy would 
lead to the development of more than 900 hectares of Greenfield 
land. 
     

Strategic sites D, E and H are adjacent to a potential Special Landscape 
Area, and site H has been identified as a high quality landscape by a 
study undertaken in 2008.  Site H is adjacent to the Newport Green 
Belt, and most of the site is in a registered Landscape of Outstanding 
Historic Interest.   

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard 
their quality 


 


 


 

Policy KP11 aims to promote the efficient use of minerals, and Policy 
25 aims to protect natural resources in the city by protecting 
agricultural land, water resources, and air and water quality, and 
remediating contaminated land.  
 

Of the strategic sites: 
• Sites A and B have been previously developed, and their re-use 

would make efficient use of land.   
• Site C may include contaminated land and Site G includes two 

areas of landfill: redevelopment of these sites would help to clean 
up this contamination. 

• Sites C, D, E, F and H are Greenfield sites with no record of 
contamination, and in several cases significant amounts of high 
quality agricultural land would be lost.   

• Water quality at the Severn Estuary SPA/SAC/Ramsar site and in 
the historic reens of the Wentloog Levels could be significantly 
affected by development at Site H.  Mitigation of these impacts 
would be difficult if the site was built on raised land.  Sites B, D,E 
and F have rivers running through/adjacent to them: careful 
mitigation will be needed to maintain river quality. 
 

Page 1726



 

79 
 

SA 
Objective 

Overall impacts 

10. Respond 
to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable 
way 

 
 
 
 

 
 
? 

 
Policy KP1 is for the delivery of about 40,000 new jobs and 41,415 
new dwellings, and Policy KP2 supports this by identifying strategic 
sites to deliver this growth.  The sites would help respond to clear 
existing demand for housing and employment sites, including 
identified demand for Greenfield sites.   
 
Supporting text to KP1 explains how the additional 10% flexibility 
allowance could, if required, be accommodated on one of the 
strategic sites and extensions to two others. 
 

The significant growth proposed for Cardiff could affect development 
of the Valleys, since it could draw people away from the Valleys to 
take up work or housing in Cardiff. 
 

11. Minimise 
waste, 
increase re-
use and 
recycling 


? 


? 

 Policy KP12  on waste aims to reduce the generation of waste and 
provide adequate waste management facilities.  This is amplified by 
the waste polices W1 and W2.  However the LDP generally says 
relatively little about reducing waste, or promoting reuse and 
recycling.  The scale of growth proposed in the LDP would lead to the 
generation of considerably more waste than at present, during both 
construction and operation. 

 
 
9.5 Environmentally, the LDP would have some significant negative impacts.  The sheer 

volume of development which the LDP has to provide for will inevitably result in 
increased total air pollution, greenhouse gas emissions, use of natural resources and 
waste because of increased traffic, houses and employment. The LDP includes many 
enlightened policies to reduce these impacts. If these are fully, thoroughly and 
promptly implemented they could substantially reduce per capita impacts.  Some of 
the Matters Arising Changes provide welcome strengthenings in commitments to 
implementation but their effectiveness is still uncertain. 

 
9.6 The LDP provides for development of several major Greenfield sites amounting to 

about 902 hectares.  The largest of these are located far from Cardiff city centre, so 
will increase transport impacts even if sustainable transport provision is made 
before occupants move in; and several would affect areas that are designated for 
their landscape or biodiversity importance, and even with the mitigation measures 
contained in the policies biodiversity and landscape quality are likely to decrease 
significantly. 
 

9.7 Strategic Site H is particularly problematic.  It comprises 99 hectares fully in a Site of 
Special Scientific Interest, archaeologically sensitive site, and Landscape of 
Outstanding Historic Interest (national level designations).  It is susceptible to 
flooding, and so the initial proposal is to raise the land and make improvements to 
the sea wall to protect the development from flooding.  However this would affect 
the hydrology and water quality of the historic reens (ditches) in the area.  The reens 

Page 1727



 

80 
 

drain to the Severn Estuary SPA/SAC/Ramsar sites, and so water quality problems in 
the reens could affect the integrity of those sites. 

 
Mitigation measures 
 
9.8 Measures previously suggested to avoid or reduce the impact of individual LDP 

policies or proposed development sites are listed at Tables 5.2, 8.2 and 8.3.  Table 
9.3 proposes measures to avoid or reduce additional plan-wide impacts of the LDP.  
It also makes suggestions for how to improve the benefits of the LDP. 
 

Table 9.3.  Changes proposed to the LDP in response to cumulative/overall impacts 

Significant overall / 
cumulative impacts 
of the LDP 

Suggestions for avoiding or 
minimising negative impacts 
or enhancing positive ones 

LDP response 

Existing deprivation 
and inequalities 
unlikely to be 
significantly reduced 
by the LDP 

Give greater emphasis to 
providing housing and 
employment sites in the 
'southern arc' of deprivation, 
and improving community 
facilities and green areas 
there. 

Policy KP13 of the Plan relating to 
sustainable neighbourhoods seeks to 
support the regeneration of deprived 
communities within the city and enhance 
communities through better equality of 
access to services. 65% of the need for new 
dwellings over the Plan period will be met 
from brownfield sites. Many of these sites 
are in the existing landbank and are located 
in the “southern arc of deprivation” where 
development will aid the regeneration. The 
LDP also protects existing employment land 
located within this area with resultant 
community benefits. 

The LDP could 
attract people from 
the Valleys to live 
and work in Cardiff 

Consult with local authorities 
in the Valleys to help 
minimise any negative 
impacts on Valley 
communities 

Surrounding Local Authorities have been 
consulted on the preparation of the plan 
from the first stages of development. During 
a regional collaborative exercise at Preferred 
Strategy stage there was support from these 
authorities for the level of growth proposed 
in the LDP. The findings of this collaborative 
work are set out in the Supporting 
Document No. 17. 

Air pollution and 
greenhouse gas 
emissions likely to 
increase due to 
remoteness of large 
Greenfield sites and 
their expected car 
dependence 

Provide employment sites in 
many smaller rather than a 
few larger clusters, to 
prevent them becoming 'trip 
attractors' 

The LDP provides for a range of both large 
and small employment sites and seeks to 
protect existing employment sites within the 
city to ensure a good spread across the city 
of employment opportunities. 

Include requirement for 
relevant sustainable 
transport infrastructure and 
services to be implemented 
before any development is 
occupied in strategic site 
masterplans  

LDP Policies KP4 and KP6 require sustainable 
transport infrastructure and services to be 
delivered in a timely manner to meet the 
needs of existing and planned communities, 
and the strategic site policies under KP2 now 
specify infrastructure to be provided before 
or at the start of development. 

Page 1728



 

81 
 

Significant overall / 
cumulative impacts 
of the LDP 

Suggestions for avoiding or 
minimising negative impacts 
or enhancing positive ones 

LDP response 

Significant impacts 
on biodiversity from 
development on 
Greenfield sites, 
particularly Strategic 
site H 

Remove Strategic site H from 
the plan 

See response below. 

Include a policy in the LDP 
requiring strategic sites to 
have no net biodiversity loss 
– this will require them to 
provide biodiversity benefits 
(perhaps off site) to offset 
any biodiversity losses 

The need to protect and enhance 
biodiversity and landscape features is 
identified in Masterplanning General 
Principle 9 and Policies KP4 (9) KP16, EN1, 
EN5, EN6 and EN7 of the LDP.  
 
The Masterplanning General Principles have 
informed the Site Specific Principles and 
Schematic Frameworks for the strategic sites 
which also recognise the need to protect and 
enhance biodiversity. These will be used by 
the Council through the planning and design 
process to work with developers to design 
detailed masterplans.  
 
In addition Masterplanning General Principle 
8 promotes strategic green connected open 
spaces which will aim to protect areas of 
biodiversity value and provide connectivity 
to enable movement of wild species.  Again 
this principle has informed the site specific 
Principles and Schematic frameworks which 
identify such features. 
 

 
Significant landscape 
and historical 
impacts from 
development on 
some of the 
Greenfield sites, 
particularly Strategic 
site H 

Remove Strategic site H from 
the plan 

The Site Specific Principles on page 57 of the 
Masterplanning Framework which forms a 
Supporting Document to the LDP state that 
the Wentloog Levels Landscape of 
Outstanding Historic Interest and 
Archaeologically Sensitive area will be 
protected. In order to ensure this it is 
important that the development of the site 
is undertaken in a sensitive manner to 
minimise harm.  These principles will be 
used by the Council through the planning 
and design process to work with developers 
to design detailed masterplans. 

Cumulative impact 
on water resources is 
unclear 

Confirm with Dŵr Cymru 
that water provision and 
wastewater treatment 
infrastructure will be 
adequate for the amount of 
development being 
proposed 

Dwr Cymru have been consulted on the 
preparation of the LDP from the early stages 
of development and have not raised any 
significant issues relating to  capacity. 

Other possibilities Consider developing mini- Given the non-strategic sites which are 

Page 1729



 

82 
 

for improving 
benefits or reducing 
impacts 

masterplans for the non 
strategic sites where these 
sites are near to each other 
and could jointly provide 
benefits or reduce costs in a 
way that they could not do 
individually. 

allocated in the Deposit Plan are not directly 
adjacent each other this approach is not 
considered appropriate. 

 

Page 1730



 

83 
 

10.  Next Steps 
 
10.1 This chapter discusses what happens next:  post-adoption explanation of how the SA 

influenced the LDP, and monitoring of the LDP's significant effects. 
 

Post adoption 'SEA statement' 
 
10.2 Once the LDP is adopted, Cardiff Council will publish an 'SEA statement' which 

explains how the sustainability appraisal influenced the LDP.  Publication of such an 
SEA statement is required by the SEA Directive (Article 9.1b).  Most of that 
information is already available in this SA report, but the SEA statement will also 
include information on how further rounds of SA, and consultation comments on 
this report and any further SA rounds, were taken into account by the planning 
team. 

 
Monitoring 
 
“a description of the measures envisaged concerning monitoring" 

 (SEA Directive Annex I(i)) 

 
10.3 Once a plan is adopted, the SEA Regulations require local authorities to “monitor the 

significant environmental effects of the implementation of each plan or programme 
with the purpose of identifying unforeseen adverse effects at an early stage and 
being able to undertake appropriate remedial action” (Reg. 17), and the 
environmental report should describe how this might be carried out.   
 

10.4 Much monitoring is already carried out in Cardiff for other purposes, for instance 
traffic counts for transport planning, and reviews of landscape and nature 
conservation designations as an input to national level monitoring.  Appendix B 
shows the current situation in Cardiff, based on existing monitoring data. 

 
10.5 The SA process has identified a range of significant environmental effects, as well as 

underlying assumptions of the LDP which, if they do not work out in practice, could 
lead to adverse effects.  Table 10.1 proposes a framework to monitor these impacts.  
It shows: 
• monitoring indicators that aim to measure likely effects of the LDP identified in 

the SA;  
• who would monitor the indicators and how frequently;  
• targets (positive) that the LDP will try to achieve; 
• information about why the indicator has been proposed.  
 

10.6 Most of the data is already being collected through existing monitoring systems.  
The previous proposals have been tweaked to use indicators that will be reported as 
part of the LDP’s own monitoring for the sake of efficiency and consistency: these 
are identified by their ‘monitoring reference’ in chapter 6 of the LDP below.  
However the overlap is only partial.  LDP monitoring concentrates on the 
implementation of policies (for example, whether planning permissions are granted 

Page 1731



 

84 
 

that would damage designated sites) while SA monitoring is primarily concerned 
with outcomes (for example the condition of designated sites.) Some new 
monitoring is proposed here that would measure specific aspects of the LDP that are 
important for the sustainability of future development in Cardiff. 
     

 
 

Page 1732



 

85 
 

Table 10.1.  SA monitoring framework 

SA objective 1. Indicator 2. Who monitors 3. Target  4. Reason for monitoring  
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

The percentage of population in 
the 100 most deprived wards in 
Wales 

Contextual Reduction Cardiff has more deprived areas than the Welsh 
average.  The LDP aims to help redress this. 

The number of net additional 
affordable dwellings built  

OB2 SO3 6,646 net affordable 
units over the 
remaining Plan 
period (representing 
an average of 22.8% 
of total housing 
provision 

Provision of affordable housing is an ongoing 
problem in Cardiff, with more than 10,000 
applicants on the council housing register and 
more than 300 households in temporary 
accommodation in mid-2010 

Total number of Gypsy and 
Traveller pitches for residential 
accommodation 

OB2 SO10 Net increase Identified as being a problem by the Equalities 
Impact Assessment 

2. Maintain and 
improve air quality 

NO2 levels Cardiff Council 
Pollution Control 

40µg/m3 Many areas of the city already exceed legal 
standards 

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

Number and extent of designated 
sites of importance (SACs, SPAs, 
SSSIs, Ramsars, LNRs and SINCs, 
ancient woodland)  

Cardiff Council / 
CCW 

No loss of area Many of the development sites proposed in the 
LDP are adjacent to or include designated 
biodiversity sites, or include LBAP priority habitats.  
These should be protected as part of development 
of the sites Condition of SSSIs CCW No reduction in 

condition 
Extent of Local Biodiversity Action 
Plan priority habitats 

Cardiff Local 
Biodiv. Action 
Plan 

No reduction in 
extent 

4. Reduce emissions 
of greenhouse gases 

Traffic volumes (vehicle-km) Welsh 
Government 

 The LDP aims to reduce travel demand, particularly 
by car, in part by improving the balance between 

P
age 1733



 

86 
 

SA objective 1. Indicator 2. Who monitors 3. Target  4. Reason for monitoring  
that cause climate 
change and adapt to 
its effects 

 
% of people walking, cycling, 
travelling by bus and train for 
each journey purpose 

OB1 EC15-18  homes and jobs in Cardiff, and in part by providing 
jobs and services where people can reach them by 
non-car modes 

No. residents working in Cardiff, 
no. people commuting out of 
Cardiff, no. people commuting 
into Cardiff 

Welsh 
Government 

 

Modal split OB1 EC14 ‘at least 50% of all 
trips on Cardiff’s 
transport network … 
made by sustainable 
modes by the end of 
the Plan period in 
2026’ 

Several of the large Greenfield sites proposed in 
the LDP – notably west of Pentrebane, north of 
J33, and west and east of Pontprennau – are in 
relatively inaccessible locations and can only be 
sustainable if a high proportion of journeys can be 
made by modes other than car.  This is unlikely to 
be achieved unless relevant transport 
infrastructure is delivered in advance of people 
moving into the development. 

Delivery of transport 
infrastructure as part of key 
strategic sites 

Cardiff Council 
Transport Policy 
Team 

As per the LDP and 
site masterplans 

Permissions granted for highly 
vulnerable development in C1 
and C2 flood risk areas 

OB3 EN1 and EN2 0 Several of the development sites proposed in the 
LDP are in flood risk areas. 

5. Protect and 
enhance historic and 
cultural heritage 

Number of listed buildings, 
conservation areas, etc. 

Cardiff Council 
Conservation 
Team 

No reduction Several of the development sites proposed in the 
LDP could affect the historic and cultural heritage 

6. Help deliver the 
growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified economy 
 

 Net job creation over the 
remaining Plan period 

OB1 EC9 40,000 net additional 
jobs over plan 
period, 20,900 
between 2006 and 
2015  

A key expected outcome of the LDP is delivery of 
40,000 new jobs 

P
age 1734



 

87 
 

SA objective 1. Indicator 2. Who monitors 3. Target  4. Reason for monitoring  
7. Improve health 
and well-being 

Delivery of community 
infrastructure as part of key 
development sites 

Part of OB4 SN12   Provision of new community facilities – many of 
which can also improve the well-being of existing 
communities – is expected to be a key benefit of 
new development. 

% of journeys made by 
walking/cycling 

Parts of OB1 
EC15-18 

Increase Physical activity is a key component of good health.  
Several LDP policies aim to increase the proportion 
of Cardiff residents who walk and cycle. 

Percentage of population in the 
100 most deprived wards in 
Wales in the 10% most deprived 
wards in Wales for physical 
environment 

Local 
Government Data 
Unit 

Reduction People's physical environment, and their ease of 
access to recreational open space, are key 
contributors to health and well-being 

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

Achievement of functional open 
space requirements 

OB3 EN13 2.43ha per 1000 
population 

Special Landscape Areas Cardiff Council 
Planning Policy 
Team 

Five SLAs designated 
by plan adoption 

Policy EN3 is for the designation of five SLAs 

9. Use natural 
resources efficiently 
and safeguard their 
quality 

Percent of housing on previously 
developed land 

Cardiff Council 
Housing 
Monitoring 

60% Development on previously developed land is 
generally more sustainable than development on 
Greenfield land. 

Average density of new 
development 

Cardiff Council 
Planning Policy 
Team 

 Although very high density development may not 
be appropriate for many locations, low density 
development is not a good use of land and tends to 
increase car use. 

Area of contaminated land 
cleared up 

Cardiff Council 
Pollution Control 

>0 A significant benefit of several of the proposed 
development sites is that they would lead to the 
remediation of contaminated land. 

P
age 1735



 

88 
 

SA objective 1. Indicator 2. Who monitors 3. Target  4. Reason for monitoring  
10. Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

Total population Cardiff Council 
Planning Policy 
Team 

n/a The LDP aims to respond to changes in the 
population.  If actual population levels are 
significantly different from those assumed for the 
LDP, then parts of the LDP may need to be 
reconsidered. 

No. homes in Cardiff Cardiff Council 
Planning Policy 
Team 

45,400 net additional 
homes by 2026 

A key expected outcome of the LDP is delivery of 
41,100 new homes 

11. Minimise waste, 
increase re-use and 
recycling 

 Waste reduction rate Contextual Reduction per 
household  

The scale of growth envisioned by the LDP would 
have significant impacts on overall waste 
generated.  Reducing the amount of waste 
generated per household will help to reduce the 
impacts associated with managing this waste.  

 

P
age 1736



1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Cardiff Council & Levett-Therivel Sustainability Consultants 
 
 
Sustainability Appraisal and Strategic Environmental Assessment of 
the Cardiff Local Development Plan  
 
Non Technical Summary 
 
Final Sustainability Appraisal Report of the Cardiff Local 
Development Plan 
 
January 2016  
  

Page 1737



2 
 

Introduction  
 

This Sustainability Appraisal (SA) 
Report tests how sustainable the 
Cardiff Local Development Plan 
(LDP) is.  SA of LDPs is required by 
the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 and the 
European Strategic Environmental 
Assessment (SEA) Directive.   SA 
identifies the LDP's likely significant 
economic, environmental and social 
effects, and aims to minimise any 
negative effects and maximise 
positive ones.   
 
Cardiff Council carried out the SA 
with the help of consultants.  The SA 
findings were taken into account by 
the planning team, who changed 
parts of the LDP in response to the 
SA.  The planning team also 
attended several SA workshops. 
 
Figure 1 shows the SA process.  A 
Scoping Report of October 2010 
reviewed background policies and 
baseline information, and described 
the economic, social and 
environmental issues affecting 
Cardiff.  It set up an appraisal 
framework which was then used to  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Figure 1.  The sustainability appraisal process 

assess different alternatives to the LDP and parts of the LDP.  Where the LDP would have 
negative impacts, suggestions were made for reducing them.  The process was repeated  
several times as the LDP was developed. 

 

B2: Developing 
alternatives 

B4: Evaluating the 
effects of the draft 

LDP and alternatives 

B5: Considering ways 
of mitigating adverse 

effects 

B6: Proposing monitoring 
measures 

B1: Testing the LDP 
objectives against the 
appraisal framework 

B3: Predicting the 
effects of the LDP and 

alternatives 

A1: Policy context A2: Baseline information 

A3: sustainability issues 
and problems 

A4: Developing an SA 
framework 

A5: Consulting on the 
scope of SA 

Page 1738



3 
 

The Local Development Plan  
 

 The LDP sets out: 
• the key trends, issues and policies that have informed it; 
• the Council’s vision and objectives for future development of Cardiff; 
• the growth options and sites that the Council has considered for development; 
• the kinds, amounts and locations of development that will be provided for over 

the plan period, including a Key Diagram (Figure 2); 

• Policies setting out detailed standards and requirements for how development 
will be done, supporting infrastructure provided, and the environment 
protected. 

Figure 2.  LDP key diagram 

 

 
 
 

Page 1739



4 
 

A1. Policy context 
 

Many policies and plans, from the international to the local level, influence Cardiff's LDP.  
These include the recent Planning Policy Wales 2012 edition; consultation on a Sustainable 
Development Bill for Wales; and National Strategy for Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk 
Management in Wales.  Key messages from this policy context are that the LDP should: 
 

1. Access and 
equality 

• Ensure that everyone has access to good quality housing, jobs, 
services and facilities. 

• Secure a safer and more accessible environment for everyone. 
• Promote social inclusion and equality of opportunity. 

2. Air quality • Take account of the effects of development on air quality and vice 
versa, and meet air quality standards. 

3. Biodiversity, 
flora & fauna 

• Protect and enhance biodiversity, natural habitats and wild fauna 
and flora. 

4. Climate 
change 

• Reduce greenhouse gas emissions by 3%, with overall reductions 
of at least 40% by 2020. 

• Plan for and respond to climate changes, including flooding. 
5. Cultural and 
historic 

• Protect the historic environment and cultural heritage. 
• Strengthen Wales’ cultural identity including the Welsh language. 
• Enhance Cardiff’s status as a centre of cultural excellence. 

6. Economy • Promote Cardiff's role as a world-class Capital City by developing a 
diverse, competitive, high added value economy. 

• Enhance employment opportunities for all. 
• Ensure that employment development respects the environment. 
• Secure good retail provision and support town centres. 

7. Health and 
well-being 

• Improve health and well-being, and tackle poverty and inequality. 
• Increase participation in sport and physical activity. 
• Improve quality of life and enable social progress for everyone. 

8. Landscape • Protect and enhance the landscape, including the countryside, the 
undeveloped coast, river valleys and other green spaces. 

9. Natural 
resources 

• Minimise the use of non-renewable resources, use resources 
efficiently, and encourage the use of renewable resources. 

• Protect the countryside and good quality agricultural land. 
• Re-use previously developed land. 
• Reduce the need for water resources and use water efficiently. 
• Minimise impacts on water quality, river ecology and groundwater. 
• Safeguard mineral resources and encourage their efficient use. 

10. Population • Provide an adequate supply of land to meet society’s needs. 
• Ensure that everyone has good quality housing and access to jobs, 

facilities and services. 
11. Waste • Promote the waste hierarchy: reduce, reuse, recycle, recover 

energy and only then landfill. 
• Manage waste without harming human health or the environment. 

Page 1740



5 
 

A2. Baseline information  
 
Much information about Cardiff's economic, social and environmental condition was 
collected as part of the SA.  Figure 3 shows the main constraints to development in Cardiff: 
environmental, landscape and historic designations and areas of flooding.  Figure 4 shows, 
in darker shades, Cardiff's 'southern arc' of more deprived wards. 
 
Figure 3.  Constraints to development 

 
 

 
 
 
Figure 4.  Index of Multiple Deprivation 2011 

 

Page 1741



6 
 

A3. Sustainability issues and problems 
 
The main economic, environmental and social issues affecting Cardiff are: 
 

1. Access and 
equality 

Cardiff contains some of the most deprived areas in Wales and a 
significant number of homeless people.  The cost of housing - 
particularly family housing - is excluding those on low incomes from 
entering the housing market. 

2. Air quality Cardiff has three air quality management areas.  Levels of other air 
pollutants are within current standards. 

3. Biodiversity, 
flora and 
fauna 

Cardiff has many sites designated for their biodiversity.  Cardiff’s 
biodiversity is vulnerable to habitat loss and fragmentation through 
new development. 

4. Climate 
change 

Carbon dioxide emissions are going down after decades of growth, 
although this is probably largely due to the economic recession and to 
importing rather than making more goods.  Traffic flows into and within 
the city centre are going down, but those outside the city centre are 
increasing.  Many people commute into Cardiff from other parts of 
South East Wales.  Energy use in buildings causes about one-third of 
Cardiff’s carbon dioxide emissions.  Much of Cardiff is low-lying and at 
risk of flooding.  Little renewable energy is being produced in Cardiff. 

5. Cultural and 
historic 

Cardiff contains many buildings and monuments with historic value.  
About 3% of listed buildings are not in a favourable condition. 

6. Economy Cardiff is important to the regional economy.  Jobs in Cardiff grew 
rapidly in the decade to 2008.  Employment has since dropped as a 
result of the recession, and Cardiff struggles to match its employment 
growth with a growth in pay.  Much employment land has recently 
changed to housing. 

7. Health and 
well-being 

Cardiff’s population is healthier than the Welsh average but over half of 
Cardiff’s adults are overweight, and less than a third are active enough.  
Life expectancy and crime levels vary sharply across the city: residents 
of the best wards live on average 10 years longer than those of the 
worst wards.   

8. Landscape Five areas have been proposed as Special Landscape Areas.  More than 
two-thirds of Cardiff's area is within easy walking distance to natural 
green spaces, but only two of Cardiff's 29 wards meet national open 
space targets. 

9. Natural 
resources 

Recently almost all new housing has been built on previously developed 
(brownfield) land.  Much has been apartments with relatively little 
family housing.  Cardiff's industrial past has left many potentially 
contaminated sites.  Cardiff provides minerals (aggregates) for the 
region.  Water quality in Cardiff's rivers is improving, but is far from 
achieving the requirements of the Water Framework Directive.  Over-

Page 1742



7 
 

abstraction of water from Cardiff's rivers is a concern. 
10. Population Cardiff’s population has increased steadily over the past 20 years, and 

the number of households in Cardiff is expected to rise from 132,108 in 
2006 to 174,471 in 2026.  Providing a good choice of housing (and 
associated services and infrastructure) for this population growth will 
be a challenge.   

11. Waste The largest source of waste in Cardiff is construction/demolition, 
followed by commercial/industrial and then household waste.   
Household waste has dropped sharply in the last five years, and the 
proportion of waste that is recycled and composted grew from 3% to 
49% between 2001 and 2012. 

 
A4.  SA framework 
 

An 'SA framework' was developed to help identify the impacts of various parts of the LDP.  
The framework is basically a series of questions about the LDP's sustainability.  The main 
questions are: 
 

Does the LDP (or a particular part of the LDP): 
1. Help deliver equality of opportunity and access for all? 
2. Maintain and improve air quality? 
3. Protect and enhance biodiversity, flora and fauna? 
4 Reduce emissions of greenhouse gases that cause climate change and adapt to its 

effects? 
5. Protect and enhance historic and cultural heritage? 
6.    Help deliver the growth of a sustainable and diversified economy? 
7. Improve health and well-being? 
8. Protect and enhance the landscape? 
9. Use natural resources efficiently and safeguard their quality? 
10. Respond to demographic changes in a sustainable way? 
11. Minimise waste, increase re-use and recycling? 

 
A5. Consultation on the Scoping Report 
 

A Scoping Report with this information was sent out for consultation in November 2010.  
Fourteen comments were received on the report.  The report was then changed to take 
these comments into account, and was updated again in August 2012. 

 
B1. Testing the LDP objectives against the SA framework 
 

The LDP vision and objectives were tested against the SA framework and broadly found to 
have positive impacts.  Some suggestions were made to further improve the objectives.  
The planning team made most of the suggested changes. 
 

Page 1743



8 
 

 
B2. Developing alternatives 
 

Several strategic alternatives were considered for the LDP, and their impacts were identified 
using the SA framework. 
 
Different levels of future growth 

• High growth: about 54,400 new homes and 55,000 new jobs 
• Medium growth: about 45,400 new homes and 40,000 new jobs 
• Low: about 36,500 new homes and 26,000 new jobs 

No growth was not considered reasonable because Cardiff's population is expected to rise, 
and the number of households is expected to rise even faster due to people living longer, 
divorcing etc.  The medium growth option was preferred because it would provide the best 
balance of social and economic benefits versus environmental costs.  In the light of further 
population modelling which predicted lower growth than before, this was revised down to 
41,415 new homes though with flexibility to go back up to 45,415 towards the end of the 
plan period if needed. 
 
Different broad locations for housing and employment development 

• Dispersed brownfield sites;  
• Greenfield sites west of Pentrebane;  
• Greenfield sites south of Creigiau/ north of Junction 33;  
• Greenfield site north of M4 at Thornhill;  
• Greenfield sites west and east of Pontprennau;  
• Greenfield sites around Old St Mellons village;  
• Greenfield sites in the east- largely employment uses; and  
• Dispersed smaller greenfield sites.  

 

Of these, north of M4 at Thornhill and Old St Mellons were not included in the Preferred 
Strategy because they are in relatively isolated locations, would not provide adequate 
services, and be mostly car-based.  North of M4 would also have significant landscape 
impacts. 
 
Different specific sites for development  
Based on information received from landowners and developers, and planners' expert 
knowledge, a total of 112 sites were considered, plus different combinations of these sites.  
A pro forma was prepared for each site to show its size, constraints and opportunities, and 
whether (and why) it is included in the Preferred Strategy or not.  

 
B3./B4.  Predicting and evaluating the impacts of the alternatives 
and draft LDP  
 

The impacts of all the alternatives and of each policy were appraised using the SA 
framework.  Table 1 shows what the overall impacts of the LDP would be, and Table 2 
provides further details on these.   

Page 1744



9 
 

Overall the LDP would have significant benefits in providing the housing and employment 
land that Cardiff's current and future residents will need.  It will help to improve access to 
good quality jobs, services and infrastructure for Cardiff's residents, although it is unlikely to 
fully redress the imbalance between the 'southern arc' of deprivation and other areas of the 
city.  Residents' health should improve in response to better housing, access to open space, 
and walking and cycling facilities.   The new development may draw in people who currently 
live or work in the Valleys, and so have indirect impacts on neighbouring authorities.  
 
Table 1.  Overall sustainability impacts of the LDP 

SA objective 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 1.

  E
qu

al
ity

 

2.
  A

ir 
qu

al
ity

 

3.
 B

io
di

ve
rs

ity
 

4.
 C

lim
at

e 
ch

an
ge

 

5.
 H

er
ita

ge
 

6.
 E

co
no

m
y 

7.
 H

ea
lth

 a
nd

 
w

el
lb

ei
ng

 

8.
 L

an
ds

ca
pe

 

9.
 N

at
ur

al
 re

so
ur

ce
s 

10
. D

em
og

ra
ph

ic
 

ch
an

ge
 

11
. W

as
te

 

Vision            
Objectives            
Key Policies            
KP1: Level Of Growth            
KP2: Strategic Sites *            
KP3(a), KP3(b) Green Wedge, settlement 
boundary 

0    0 ?    ? 0 

KP4: Masterplanning Approach          0  
KP5: High Quality and Sustainable Design  ?          
KP6 New infrastructure, KP7 planning obls ?  ?  ?  ?  ?  ?  ?  ?  ?  ?  ?  
KP8: Sustainable Transport   0  0   0 0  0 
KP10: Central and Bay Business Areas     0      0 
KP11: Crushed Rock Aggregates and Other 
Minerals  

0  ? ? 0       

KP12: Waste 0 ? 0  0  ? 0    
KP13: Responding to evidenced social needs   0     0 0  0 
KP14: Healthy Living  0 ? ? 0 ?  ? 0  0 
KP15: Climate Change 0 ? ?  0 0 0 0 ? 0 0 
KP16: Green Infrastructure  0     ?    0 0 
KP17: Built Heritage 0 0  0  ?    0 0 0 
KP18: Natural Resources 0    0     0 0 
Strategic Sites Size (ha)            

A. Cardiff Central Enterprise 
Zone and Regional Trans Hub  

13   ?  0       

B. Former gas works, Ferry Road 12   
 

? ? 0? 0      

C. North West Cardiff 346 
 

?   ?  ? / 

? 

   

D. & E. North of J33 on M4 and 
South of Craigiau 

139  / 
 

  ?  ?     

F. North East Cardiff (West of 
Pontprennau) 

240  ?   ?  ? / 

? 

   

G. East of Pontprennau Link 
Road 

81  ?   ? 0  / 

? 

   

H. South of St. Mellons business 
park 

99  ?     ?     

            
Cumulative impacts   
 

    0?       

Page 1745



10 
 

Environmentally, the LDP would have some significant negative impacts.  The sheer volume 
of development which the LDP has to provide for will inevitably result in increased total air 
pollution, greenhouse gas emissions, use of natural resources and waste because of 
increased traffic, houses and employment. The LDP includes many enlightened policies to 
reduce these impacts. If these are fully, thoroughly and promptly implemented they could 
substantially reduce per capita impacts.  Some of the Matters Arising Changes provide 
welcome strengthenings in commitments to implementation, but their effectiveness is still 
uncertain, and the downgrading of the former Green Belt policy to Green Wedge may in the 
longer term weaken the Council’s ability to push development to more sustainable 
brownfield sites within the city. 
 
The LDP provides for development of several major Greenfield sites amounting to about 
902 hectares.  The largest of these are located far from Cardiff city centre, so will increase 
transport impacts even if sustainable transport provision is made before occupants move in; 
and several would affect areas that are designated for their landscape or biodiversity 
importance, and even with the mitigation measures contained in the policies biodiversity 
and landscape quality are likely to decrease significantly. 

 
Strategic Site H is particularly problematic.  It comprises 99 hectares fully in a Site of Special 
Scientific Interest, archaeologically sensitive site, and Landscape of Outstanding Historic 
Interest (national level designations).  It is susceptible to flooding, and so the initial proposal 
is to raise the land and make improvements to the sea wall to protect the development 
from flooding.  However this would affect the hydrology and water quality of the historic 
reens (ditches) in the area.  The reens drain to the Severn Estuary SPA/SAC/Ramsar sites, 
and so water quality problems in the reens could affect the integrity of those sites. 
 

Table 2.  Overall sustainability impacts of the LDP 
SA objective Overall impact of LDP 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

 The LDP aims to deliver about 40,000 new jobs and 41,415 new 
dwellings, supports the delivery of affordable housing, and promotes 
sustainable neighbourhoods.  The proposed sites together would 
provide much new housing and employment land.  However several 
of the strategic sites are out of the existing urban area and only a few 
would support regeneration of the 'southern arc' of deprivation.  
Inequalities are likely to increase over time as the residents of 
outlying Greenfield sites drive through, and use the services of, 
existing more deprived areas.  

2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality 

 The LDP aims to minimise air pollution; promote walking, cycling and 
public transport; and aspires for less than half of journeys from new 
developments to be by car.  However the scale of growth envisaged 
for Cardiff will inevitably lead to more air pollution from traffic, 
homes and businesses.  The large strategic development sites are on 
the edge of Cardiff, far from the city centre, and likely to be heavily 
car dependent.   

Page 1746



11 
 

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, 
flora and fauna 

 
 

The LDP aims to protect and enhance Cardiff's areas of biodiversity.  
However the scale of development being proposed, including more 
than 900 hectares of Greenfield sites, means that Cardiff's 
biodiversity will be significantly negatively affected by the LDP.  
Strategic site H would be 99 hectares entirely in a Site of Special 
Scientific Interest, and is by far the most problematic site.  Several 
other strategic sites would affect Sites of Importance for Nature 
Conservation. 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse 
gases that cause 
climate change 
and adapt to its 
effects 

 The LDP aims to reduce greenhouse gas emissions and adapt to 
climate change, including flooding.  Its transport policies support a 
change from car use to walking, cycling and public transport.   
However the scale of growth envisaged for Cardiff will inevitably lead 
to more greenhouse gas emissions from traffic, homes and 
businesses.  The largest strategic sites are on the edge of Cardiff, far 
from the city centre, and likely to be heavily car dependent even if 
the sustainable transport infrastructure and services planned are 
delivered.   Parts of strategic sites B and F  are in flood risk zones, as 
is all of site H. 

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

0? The LDP aims to protect and enhance Cardiff's heritage assets.  Most 
of the proposed development sites will have little or significant effect 
on the historic and cultural heritage: about a dozen listed buildings 
would be affected, and Site H is in the Wentloog Levels 
Archaeologically Sensitive Area and Landscape of Outstanding 
Historic Interest. 

6. Help deliver 
the growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

 The LDP aims to deliver about 40,000 new jobs, promote new 
employment sites, and protect existing ones.  The proposed 
development sites will diversify and support the city’s economy.  
Some strategic sites outside the existing urban area may undermine 
the vitality and viability of the city centre, although where both 
housing and employment land are provided on the same site this 
could help to make the economy more sustainable. 

7. Improve 
health and well-
being 

 The LDP supports the provision of affordable housing, good 
community facilities, green spaces, and routes for walking and 
cycling.  All of these would help to improve health.  Some of the 
proposed development sites will help to regenerate existing 
communities, and new community facilities are proposed as parts of 
the 'package' for some larger sites which currently lack them.   
Several of the strategic sites have longer term flood risks, and 
increasing car use and air pollution would harm people's health. 

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

 The LDP aims to protect and enhance the natural heritage, designate 
new Special Landscape Areas, and promote high quality and 
sustainable design.  Some of the proposed development sites have 
been previously developed, and would have a neutral or positive 
effect on the landscape.   Regeneration of the Cardiff Central 
Enterprise Zone (strategic site A) would be particularly beneficial.  
However most of the area of proposed development – more than 
900 hectares - is Greenfield, which would have significant negative 
landscape impacts.  Site H is in a Landscape of Outstanding Historic 
Interest (Wentloog Levels).   

Page 1747



12 
 

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

 The LDP aims to promote the efficient use of minerals, remediate 
contaminated land, and protect agricultural land, water resources, 
and air and water quality.  Where proposed development sites are 
on previously developed land or include contaminated land, their 
redevelopment would have a positive effect.  Sites C, D, E, F, and H 
are Greenfield sites with no record of contamination, and several 
include high quality agricultural land.  Water quality could be 
significantly affected by development at Sites B, D, F and H.   

10. Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

 
 

The LDP aims to deliver about 40,000 new jobs and 41,415 new 
dwellings.  This would help respond to clear existing demand for 
housing and employment sites, including identified demand for 
Greenfield sites.  The significant growth proposed for Cardiff could 
draw people away from the Valleys to take up work or housing in 
Cardiff. 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

 The LDP aims to reduce the production of waste and provide 
adequate waste management facilities.  However it says relatively 
little about reducing waste, or promoting reuse and recycling.  The 
scale of growth proposed in the LDP would lead to considerably 
more waste being produced than at present, during both 
construction and operation. 

 
 

 

 
 
B5. Considering ways of mitigating adverse effects  
 

The appraisal process resulted in many suggestions for reducing the negative impacts of the 
LDP and enhancing its benefits.  Most of these suggestions led to changes in the LDP, 
including: 

• Rewording of LDP objectives, to better cover waste issues and give more 
emphasis to healthy food choices; 

• Stronger and more systematic consideration of sustainability issues in the 
process of sifting and choosing between potential candidate development sites 
by the planning team;  

• Removal of a key policy that duplicated another one; 

• Greater emphasis to reducing the need to travel by car, making facilities 
accessible by walking and cycling, ensuring good public transport before remote 
greenfield sites are occupied, and resilience to climate change; 

• Reference to industrial and domestic sources of air pollution as well as transport 
pollution, and promotion of remediation of contaminated land. 

 
 
 

Page 1748



13 
 

B6. Proposing monitoring measures 
 

Once the LDP is adopted, its actual impacts will be monitored to make sure that unexpected 
effects are identified and dealt with.  Much monitoring is already carried out in Cardiff for 
other purposes, for instance traffic counts for transport planning.  This can also be used to 
monitor the effects of the LDP.  However some new monitoring is proposed here that would 
measure important sustainability aspects of the LDP. 

 
Next steps 

 

Once the LDP is adopted, Cardiff Council will publish an 'SEA statement' which explains how 
the sustainability appraisal influenced the LDP.   

Page 1749



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cardiff Council & Levett-Therivel Sustainability Consultants 
 
 
Sustainability Appraisal and Strategic Environmental Assessment of 
the Cardiff Local Development Plan  
 
Appendix A: Policy Review 
 
Final Sustainability Appraisal Report of the Cardiff Local 
Development Plan 
 
January 2016 
 

Page 1750



   1  

Appendix A. Policy Review 
 

This appendix contains the reviews of all plans, policies, programmes and strategies listed in Table 2.1 of 
the Scoping Report.  It should be read together with the updated Scoping Report (and Appendix 2) and 
the Initial Sustainability Appraisal Report. 

 An earlier version of this Appendix, covering nearly 100 policies, plans and programmes, was 
produced in 2006.  This was comprehensively updated in autumn 2010 and again in August 2012 
with focused updates in August 2013.  It was also rationalised by removing redundant and less 
relevant policies, plans and programmes, so as to focus on those policies that are most significant 
and recent.   It is thus not an exhaustive review of all potentially relevant policy documents, but 
rather a sufficient, 'fit for purpose' review which sets out the main ‘policy landscape’ within which 
the LDP is being prepared.  The Council will keep the policy landscape under review and up date as 
and when necessary. 
 

General / overarching PPPs Implications for the LDP 
UK  
Planning Act 2008  
Introduces a new process for deciding planning 
permission for nationally significant 
infrastructure projects, and power for planning 
authorities to charge a Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) on most types of new 
development.   

LDP team should contribute to Infrastructure 
Planning Commission consultations to seek to secure 
decisions consistent with LDP aims  
 
Consider whether charging a CIL could help achieve 
LDP objectives 

Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 
2011 Provide for the imposition of a CIL.  

LDP team should consider whether and how CIL can 
be used to help fund and deliver infrastructure in 
Cardiff.   
 
Additionally, an infrastructure delivery plan will need 
to be developed in tandem with the LDP to ensure 
that infrastructure is delivered appropriately and 
sustainably throughout the plan period and to ensure 
that CIL and S106 funding can be directed and fully 
utilised.  

Wales  
One Wales: One Planet, a new Sustainable 
Development Scheme for Wales (Welsh 
Assembly Government 2009) 
Sets out WAG’s vision of a sustainable Wales: 
• Sustainable development will be the 

central organising principle of the WAG 
• Within a generation, Wales should only use 

its fair share of the earth's resources 
• Wales should have healthy, functioning 

ecosystems that are biologically diverse 
and productive and managed sustainably 

• Wales should have a resilient and 
sustainable economy that is able to 
develop whilst stabilising, then reducing, its 
use of natural resources and reducing its 
contribution to climate change 

• Wales should have safe, sustainable, 
attractive communities in which people live 

The LDP can assist sustainable development 
objectives through a wide range of measures 
identified alongside policy documents dealing with 
specific topics/issues 

Page 1751



   2  

General / overarching PPPs Implications for the LDP 
and work, have access to services, and 
enjoy good health and can play their full 
roles as citizens 

• Wales should be just and bilingual.  All 
citizens should be empowered to 
determine their own lives, shape their 
communities and achieve their full 
potential 

A Sustainable Wales: Better Choices for a 
Better Future: Consultation on proposals for a 
Sustainable Development Bill (Welsh 
Government December 2012) builds on earlier 
consultations to propose  ‘a stronger duty that 
requires specified public service organisations 
[including local authorities] to embed 
sustainable development as their central 
organising principle’, with supporting measures   

Indicates continuing commitment to sustainable 
development and proposes further strengthening of 
local authorities’ powers and duties to promote it. 

Natural Resource Management Programme 
(Welsh Government 2013) 
 
The programme will include: 
• Natural resource management policy, 

including the setting of national priorities 
• the Environment Bill 
• embedding the ecosystem approach, 

including associated demonstration 
projects which will showcase the benefits 
this approach can bring, and from which 
we can learn about how and when the 
approach can be used  

• working with Natural Resources Wales and 
coordinating performance management 
arrangements 

• communications, engagement and 
knowledge sharing. 

 

The ecosystem approach systematically identifies the 
benefits from the environment that matter for 
human wellbeing, and what needs to be done to 
maintain or compenate for them.   
 
It offers a basis for setting constraints and conditions 
for development, including offsetting and 
compensation, to ensure no net loss of public 
benefits.   
 
It is potentially a powerful tool for making 
operational the LDP’s environmental aims.  
Masterplanning of one or more of Cardiff’s strategic 
sites could make an interesting demonstration 
project, and the results of this programme should 
inform the later stages of development of all of them. 

Wales Spatial Plan 2008 Update (Welsh 
Assembly Government 2008) 
The National Vision is: "We will sustain our 
communities by tackling the challenge 
presented by population and economic change.  
We will grow in ways which will increase Wales' 
competitiveness while assisting less well-off 
areas to catch up on general prosperity levels 
and reducing negative environmental impacts.  
We will enhance the natural and built 
environment and we will sustain our distinctive 
identity". 
 

Subsections of the plan involve: 
• building sustainable communities 
• promoting a sustainable economy 

LDPs must have regard to the Wales Spatial Plan.  For 
Cardiff, the plan priorities are: 
• The area will function as a networked city 

region, on a scale to realise its international 
potential, its national role and to reduce 
inequalities 

• A fully integrated high quality transport system 
is necessary for this to happen. Over the 20 year 
horizon of the Wales Spatial Plan, all the Area’s 
key settlements should be linked to Cardiff or 
Newport by suitable high capacity public 
transport 

• The success of the Area relies on Cardiff 
developing its capital functions, together with 
strong and distinctive roles of other towns and 
cities 

Page 1752



   3  

General / overarching PPPs Implications for the LDP 
• valuing our environment 
• achieving sustainable accessibility 
• respecting distinctiveness 

 
The Plan also includes a distinct vision for each 
area of Wales. The vision for the Capital Region 
which includes Cardiff is for "An innovative 
skilled area offering a high quality of life – 
international yet distinctly Welsh. It will 
compete internationally by increasing its global 
visibility through stronger links between the 
Valleys and the coast and with the UK and 
Europe, helping to spread prosperity within the 
area and benefiting other parts of Wales." 

 

It sets as measures of success for the Capital region: 
• A working city region that can adapt creatively 

to economic change and innovate to improve 
• A learning city region that grows talent, 

provides lifelong opportunities and attracts 
talent from elsewhere 

• A connected city region that aids accessibility 
for goods and people and encourages 
sustainable transport choices 

• A living city region that provides a high quality 
natural and built environment complemented 
by high quality green space, promoting healthy, 
strong communities and a strong civic culture. 
Achieving  a networked environment region will 
be a key part of this 

• A lively city region that provides a “buzz” in 
culture, tourism, shopping and leisure 

• A low-carbon city region that reduces its 
resource use, energy and travel footprint and 
greenhouse gas emissions 

• A well-governed city region with community 
involvement and strategic national engagement 

Planning Policy Wales (Welsh Assembly 
Government 2011) 
Replaces Planning Policy Wales 2002 and 
previous Ministerial Interim Planning Policy 
Statements.  Sets out WAG’s land use planning 
policies and how these can help achieve its 
goals for: 
• Planning for sustainability 
• Conserving and improving natural heritage 

and the coast 
• Conserving the historic environment 
• Supporting the economy 
• Transport 
• Housing 
• Planning for retailing and town centres 
• Tourism, sport and recreation 
• Infrastructure and services 
• Minimising and managing environmental 

risks and pollution 
Gives strong and detailed emphasis to climate 
change (reduction and adaptation)  

States that every local planning authority in Wales 
must prepare an LDP, which will set the structure for 
a plan-led planning system   
 
The LDP can assist sustainable development 
objectives through a wide range of measures 
identified alongside policy documents dealing with 
specific topics/issues 

Environment Strategy for Wales (Welsh 
Assembly Government 2006) 
Sets out the Welsh Government’s long-term 
strategy for the environment of Wales and sets 
the strategic direction until 2026.  The Vision is 
“By 2026, we want to see our distinctive Welsh 
environment thriving and contributing to the 
economic and social wellbeing and health of all 

Through this strategy the Welsh Government are 
committed to tackling climate change, conserving 
and enhancing biodiversity, land, resources and 
heritage, and the built environment through policy.  
Additionally there are priorities that direct 
implications for the community strategy, which the 
LDP must have regard for. 
 

Page 1753



   4  

General / overarching PPPs Implications for the LDP 
of the people of Wales”  The statutory consultees, the Wales Local 

Government Association and many other 
organisations are committed to progressing this 
strategy through its action plans.  

Cardiff  
Cardiff Integrated Partnership Strategy: What 
Matters 2010:2020 The 10 Year Strategy: 
Cardiff’s What Matters Strategy (2010 – 2020) 
combines the Community Strategy, Children & 
Young People’s Plan; Health Social Care & 
Wellbeing Strategy and the Community Safety 
Strategic Assessment programmes into one 
consolidated document.  The vision of What 
Matters is “By 2020… Cardiff will be world class 
European capital city with an exceptional 
quality of life and at the heart of a thriving 
region” 
 
Under the vision there are 7 outcomes, these 
are: 
• People in Cardiff are healthy; 
• People in Cardiff have a clean, attractive 

and sustainable environment; 
• People in Cardiff are safe and feel safe; 
• Cardiff has a thriving and prosperous 

economy; 
• People in Cardiff achieve their full 

potential; 
• Cardiff is a great place to live, work and 

play; and 
• Cardiff is a fair, just and inclusive society 

The LDP takes its vision and the basis for its strategic 
objectives from this document.  The vision and 
direction of What Matters is central to the vision for 
Cardiff and is key material consideration for the LDP.  

Cardiff A Proud Capital: Cardiff Community 
Strategy 2007-2017 (Cardiff Council 2007) 
The vision is "To ensure that Cardiff is a world 
class European capital city with an exceptional 
'quality of life' and at the heart of a competitive 
city region".  Includes an economic, social and 
environmental vision, and 'Cardiff connections' 
about public services. 

S62 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004 prescribes that LDPs must have regard to the 
Community Strategy for the area of the plan. 
Planning-related themes of the strategy include: 
• Improvement and expansion of Cardiff's cultural 

and sporting offer 
• Enhanced collaboration between Cardiff and 

other local authorities to promote the 
regeneration of south-east Wales 

• Establishment of Cardiff as a hub for high growth, 
knowledge-intensive sectors 

• Development of Cardiff as a leading tourism, 
leisure and conference destination 

• Improved, sustainable transport 
Cardiff Council Sustainable Development 
Policy Statement and Action Programme 2009-
2012(Cardiff Council 2009) 
States the Council’s commitment to sustainable 
development. 

Promotes a range of sustainable development 
priorities for Cardiff, including sustainable design, 
increased recycling and composting, carbon 
reduction and energy efficiency  

  

Page 1754



   5  

 
Access and equality PPPs Implications for the LDP 
Wales and South East Wales  
Wales Transport Strategy (ESG, 2008) 
Sets out the role that transport can play in 
delivering WAG’s agenda of integrating 
transport with spatial planning, economic 
development, education, health, social services, 
environment and tourism.  Main expected 
outcomes are: 
• Improved access to a range of services and 

facilities 
• Encouragement of healthy lifestyles 
• Improvements in the safety of travel 
• Improved connectivity within Wales and 

internationally 
• Improved movement of freight and people 
• Reduced impacts on climate change, air 

quality, the local environment, heritage and 
biodiversity 

 

It emphasises the importance of Cardiff 
International Airport, and public transport links 
to the airport. 
 

In preparing the LDPs the Council should: 
• Integrate with transport policy and traffic 

management; and have regard to road traffic 
reduction targets, air quality requirements and 
Local Transport Plan  proposals 

• Foster improvements to transport facilities and 
services which maintain or improve accessibility 
to services and facilities, secure employment, 
economic and environmental objectives, and 
improve safety and amenity 

• Promote measures to facilitate public transport, 
walking and cycling, and movement of freight by 
rail and ship 

• Locate development, particularly major 
generators of travel demand, so as to minimise 
that demand, particular by cars and other motor 
vehicles, and where it is accessible by a range of 
forms of travel/transport  

• Promote mixed use developments 
• Promote good design that provides an 

environment that is accessible for everyone 
As above 

Technical Advice Note 18: Transport (Welsh 
Assembly Government 2007) 
Provides guidance on how land use planning 
can promote more sustainable travel demand 
and forms of transport. 
Wales: National Transport Plan (March 2010) 
 
The National Transport Plan sits alongside the 
regional transport plans in assisting the delivery 
of the Wales Transport Plans.  The National 
Transport Plan concentrates on delivering 
transport integration across Wales and 
ensuring that provision is consistent including 
measures such as ticket integration, local 
guidance on speed limits, and the appropriate 
direction of new transport infrastructure. 
 
The National Transport Plan includes actions for 
Wales as a whole and specific actions for 
strategic transport connections.  

Page 1755



   6  

Access and equality PPPs Implications for the LDP 
South East Wales Regional Transport Plan 
(South East Wales Transport Alliance 2010) 
Replaces the Cardiff Local Transport Plan.  Its 
priorities are to (in priority order): 
1. improve access for all to services, facilities 
and employment, particularly by walking, 
cycling and public transport 
2. increase the proportions of trips undertaken 
by walking, cycling and public transport 
3. minimise demand on the transport system 
4. develop an efficient, safe and reliable 
transport system, with improved links between 
the 14 key settlements in South East Wales, 
and between South East Wales and elsewhere 
5. encourage healthy and active lifestyles 
6. reduce significantly the emission of 
greenhouse gases and the impact of the 
transport system on local communities 
7. ensure developments are accessible by 
sustainable transport and make sustainable 
transport an integral component of 
regeneration schemes 
8. make better use of the existing transport 
system 
Cardiff  
Cardiff Sustainable Travel City 
 
In March 2009 the Welsh Government 
designated Cardiff as Wales' first Sustainable 
Travel City (STC) and a pathfinder for a wider 
initiative. 
 
Initiatives to help make sustainable modes of 
travel easier to use include: 
• improving bus access in the city centre 
• making St Mary Street more pedestrian 

friendly 
• improving links between the city centre 

and Cardiff Bay 
• expanding the Cycling Network 
• the Pont-y-Werin Bridge, linking Penarth to 

the International Sports Village 
• Bus Corridors and other infrastructure to 

support public transport 
• new Park and Ride/ Park and Share scheme 
• Civil Parking Enforcement (CPE) 
• a Smart City Hub which will help to keep 

the transport infrastructure in the city 
flowing. 

 

The LDP should both support and exploit these 
measures.  

  

Page 1756



   7  

 
Air quality PPPs Implications for the LDP 
International  
EC Directive 1966/62/EC on Ambient Air Quality 
and Management (as amended by Directives 
1999/30/EC, 2000/69/EC and 2002/3/EC) 
Establishes mandatory standards for air quality 
and set limits and guide values for air pollutants. 

Locational policies in LDPs should take account of the 
effects of development on air quality and vice versa.   
The LDP should include: 
• Strategic policies on the location of potentially 

polluting developments and criteria by which 
applications for such developments should be 
determined 

• Realistic provision for the types of industry or 
facility that may be a potential source of 
pollution  

• Policies and proposals to ensure that 
incompatible uses of land are separated, in 
order to avoid potential conflict 

 

The LDP can also contribute to maintaining and 
improving air quality by locating development so as 
to minimise travel demand, particularly by motor 
vehicles, and where it is accessible by a range of 
forms of travel/transport, including walking, cycling, 
public transport and alternatives to movement of 
freight by road. 

Wales  
Air Quality Standard (Wales) Regulations 2010 
Implements the European standards in Wales 

As above 

 
 
Biodiversity, flora and fauna PPPs Implications for the LDP 
International  
EC Directive 1992/43/EEC on Conservation of 
Natural Habitats and of Wild Fauna and Flora 
(Habitats Directive)  
Protects important habitats and species through 
the establishment of a European network of 
Natura 2000 sites. Establishes process of 
Appropriate Assessment for considering the 
impact of plans and projects on European sites. 

Appropriate Assessment / Habitats Regulations 
Assessment must be undertaken during LDP 
preparation, to assess the implications of the plan 
for SPAs, SACs and Ramsar sites (including any in 
neighbouring authorities) whose integrity may be 
adversely affected by the plan.  Appropriate 
assessments are also required for all projects that 
have the potential to affect site integrity. 
 
In addition, the LDP should: 
• Include detailed policies for the conservation 

and, where appropriate, enhancement of 
international, national and local designated sites, 
reflecting their relative significance 

• Provide criteria against which developments 
affecting the different types of designated site 
will be assessed 

• Identify the areas to which such policies apply 

EC Directive 1979/409/EEC on the Conservation 
of Wild Birds (Birds Directive) 
Protects Europe’s wild birds including through 
the establishment of a European network of 
Special Protection Areas (SPAs). 
Convention on Wetlands of International 
Importance especially as a Waterfowl Habitat 
(Ramsar Convention 1971 as amended) 
Requires signatories to designate and protect 
wetlands of international importance, to 
promote wetlands generally and to foster the 
wise use of wetland areas, in recognition of their 
importance as a habitat for waterfowl. 
UK  

Page 1757



   8  

Biodiversity, flora and fauna PPPs Implications for the LDP 
Conservation (Natural Habitats, &c) Regulations 
1994 (amended 2007) 
Implements the Habitats Directive.  

As above 

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended 
by Schedule 9 of the Countryside and Rights of 
Way Act 2000) 
Places a duty on all public bodies, including local 
planning authorities to further the conservation 
and enhancement of the features by reason of 
which a Site of Special Scientific Interest is of 
special interest. 

Policies and proposals in LDPs must be informed by 
international obligations and the Assembly’s 
objectives for the conservation and improvement of 
the natural environment and biodiversity, including 
the proper protection of statutorily designated sites 
and species. The LDP should: 
• Include detailed policies for the conservation 

and, where appropriate, enhancement of 
international, national and local designated sites, 
reflecting their relative significance 

• Provide criteria against which developments 
affecting the different types of designated site 
will be assessed 

Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 
Places a duty on the National Assembly to take 
(or encourage others to take) reasonably 
practicable steps to further the conservation, 
restoration or enhancement of those species and 
habitat types identified by the Assembly as 
priorities for biological conservation. 
NERC Act (Natural Environment and Rural 
Communities Bill) 2006 
Section 40(1) of the NERC Act places a duty upon 
public bodies, in carrying out their function, to 
regard the conservation of biodiversity.  The key 
target for this act is Local Authorities.  

DEFRA guidance on the biodiversity duty for local 
authorities sets out the importance of planning 
system for the conservation of biodiversity. 
 
The LDP should consider impacts on biodiversity and 
this will be achieved through the statutory 
requirement for SEA.   

Wales  
Technical Advice Note 5: Nature Conservation 
and Planning (Welsh Assembly Government 
2009) 
Provides advice about how the land use planning 
system should contribute to protecting and 
enhancing biodiversity and geological 
conservation.   The planning system should: 

• work to achieve nature conservation 
objectives through a partnership between 
local planning authorities, CCW, the 
Environment Agency Wales, voluntary 
organisations, developers, landowners and 
other key stakeholders  

• integrate nature conservation into all 
planning decisions, looking for 
development to deliver social, economic 
and environmental objectives together 

• ensure that the UK’s international and 
national obligations for site, species and 
habitat protection are fully met in all 
planning decisions 

• look for development to provide a net 
benefit for biodiversity conservation with 
no significant loss of habitats or populations 

The LDP should: 
• Develop an ambitious vision that includes 

healthy, functioning ecosystems, a wealth of 
native wildlife and natural features, and the 
habitats and natural processes on which they 
will depend 

• Incorporate international and Welsh Assembly 
Government nature conservation objectives 
into its plan objectives  

• Have regard to other plans and strategies such 
as Shoreline, Estuary, Integrated Coastal Zone 
and River Basin Management Plans 

The LDP should include policies that: 
• Set out criteria against which development 

proposals will be tested for their compatibility 
with nature conservation objectives and/or 
sustainable development principles 

• Give local expression to the protection and, 
where possible, enhancement of species, 
habitats, and designated sites 

• Provide for the conservation, enhancement, 
management and, where appropriate, 
restoration of woodlands, veteran trees and 
other trees of nature conservation value; 

Page 1758



   9  

Biodiversity, flora and fauna PPPs Implications for the LDP 
of species, locally or nationally 

• help to ensure that development does not 
damage, or restrict access to, or the study 
of, geological sites and features or impede 
the evolution of natural processes and 
systems especially on rivers and the coast 

• forge and strengthen links between the 
planning system and biodiversity action 
planning, particularly through LDP policies 
and the preparation of supplementary 
planning guidance  

• accommodate and reduce the effects of 
climate change by encouraging 
development that will reduce damaging 
emissions and energy consumption and 
that help habitats and species to respond to 
climate change 

locally distinctive natural habitats; and 
networks of habitats including wildlife corridors  

• Encourage the conservation and management 
of features of the landscape of major 
importance for wild flora and fauna 

• Draw attention to the requirement for 
appropriate assessment of projects likely to 
have a significant effect on an internationally 
designated site  

• Create strong links to national and local 
Biodiversity Action Plans and help to meet their 
targets by habitat creation and management 

• Address the implications of climate change, 
including potential effects of habitat change, 
the risks of coastal flooding and erosion and 
river basin flood management issues 

• Propose necessary new development in ways 
and at locations that are consistent with nature 
conservation objectives  

South East Wales  
Severn Estuary European Marine Site 
Management Scheme (Natural England, CCW, 
WAG 2009) 
A management scheme for the Severn Estuary 
SAC/SPA/Ramsar site aimed at ensuring that 
relevant authorities undertake their statutory 
duty to deliver the requirements of the Habitats 
Directive to conserve the species and habitats of 
the designated area. 

Appropriate Assessment / Habitats Regulations 
Assessment for the LDP and projects that could 
affect the integrity of the Severn Estuary SAC/SPA/ 
Ramsar site must take account of this management 
scheme 

Cardiff  
Cardiff Local Biodiversity Action Plan (CCW, 
Cardiff Council, CBP, WAG 2008) 
Sets targets for many of the most important 
species and habitats in Cardiff: calcareous 
grassland, gardens and allotments, maritime 
cliffs and slopes, neutral grassland, ponds, 
reedbeds, purple moor grass and rush pasture, 
woodland, bats, childing pink, dormouse, great 
crested newt, hawfinch, otter, pied flycatcher, 
reptiles, silver-washed fritillary, stag beetle, 
water vole, waxcap species.  It promotes the 
maintenance of extent and distribution of 
habitats, and an improvement in their condition; 
and the maintenance of the range and 
population of species, and an improvement over 
time. 

The LDP should: 
• Support the achievement of LBAP targets 
• Provide for the conservation and, where 

appropriate, enhancement of biodiversity 
outside statutorily designated sites, in particular 
identifying opportunities to conserve important 
local habitats and species, and to safeguard and 
manage landscape features of major importance 
for nature conservation 

• Provide the opportunity for people to access 
biodiversity in Cardiff 

 
 
 
 

Page 1759



   10  

Climate change PPPs Implications for the LDP 
UK  
Climate Change Act 2008  
Gives the UK government a statutory duty to 
reduce greenhouse gas emissions by 80% 
between 1990 and 2050, and by at least 34% by 
2020.  It also establishes a carbon budgeting 
system which caps emissions over five-year 
periods. 

The LDP should play its part in delivering these 
targets by: 
• Promoting renewable methods of energy 

production and their use in new development 
• Promoting energy efficiency and energy 

conservation in new development 
• Promoting other measures that mitigate the 

causes of climate change (e.g. the 
protection/enhancement of carbon sinks) 

• Ensuring that the location and design of new 
development has regard to the potential risk, 
causes and consequences of flooding 

• Locating and designing development so as to 
minimise travel demand, particular by cars and 
other motor vehicles, and where it is accessible 
by a range of forms of travel/transport  

• Promoting mixed use development 
Flood Risk Regulations (2009) 
The European draft Directive 2007/60/EC on the 
assessment of flood risks (the flood directive) is 
transposed in to UK, and Welsh, law through 
the Flood Risk Regulations (2009). 
 
These Regulations require that the competent 
authorities produces the following documents: 

• Preliminary flood risk assessments (by 
December 2011) 

• Flood hazard maps (by December 2013) 
• Flood risk management plans (by 

December 2015).  

The LDP team will need to refer to and consider the 
flood risks highlighted in these documents as they 
emerge.  

Flood and Water Management Act (DEFRA 
2010) 
The Flood and Water Management Act sets out 
specific provisions on: 

• roles and responsibilities for flood and 
coastal erosion risk management 

• reservoir safety 
• flood resilience within properties 
• sustainable drainage systems 
• drought measures 
• development of a project based delivery 

approach for large infrastructure 
projects in the water sector 

 

The LDP Should: 
• consider flood and coastal erosion risk 
• consider flood risk to new developments 

and existing properties 
 
The Flood and Water Management Acts places the 
responsibility upon responsible authorities (The 
Environment Agency and Local Authorities) to 
develop flood strategies. 

Page 1760



   11  

 
Wales  
Climate Change Strategy for Wales (Welsh 
Assembly Government, 2010) 
Sets a greenhouse gas reduction target of 3% per 
year on all emissions except heavy industry and 
power generation, with overall reductions of at 
least 40% by 2020.  Areas of focus will be: 
• behaviour change 
• leading by example by WAG and the public 

sector  
• increased energy efficiency, making low 

carbon transport a reality, and building the 
skills needed to ensure that Wales can 
make the most of opportunities from a low 
carbon economy 

• ensuring that approaches to R&D, 
technology, innovation and skills help 
Wales gain maximum benefit from climate 
change related business and research 

• supporting adaptation  
• ensuring that land use planning promotes 

sustainable development and enables a 
move towards a low carbon economy  

The LDP should: 
• Ensure that buildings are energy efficient, 

resilient to climate change, and in sustainable 
locations 

• Support the development of renewable energy 
• Support local food production 
• Encourage low carbon and resource efficient 

businesses 
• Support public transport, walking and cycling 
 
 

National Strategy for Flood and 
Coastal Erosion Risk Management 
in Wales (Welsh Government November 2011) 
Sets out the framework for “Risk Management 
Authorities” to allow them to deliver their flood 
and coastal risk management functions (as 
prescribed by the Welsh Government).  The 
strategy provides a set of overall strategic 
objectives/outcomes along with a more specific 
objectives and actions for the management of 
flood and coastal erosion risk management. 
 
Overarching objectives: 
• reducing the consequences for individuals, 

communities, businesses and the 
environment from flooding and coastal 
erosion; 

• raising awareness of and engaging people in 
the response to flood and coastal erosion 
risk; 

• providing an effective and sustained 
response to flood and coastal erosion events; 
and 

• prioritising investment in the most at risk 
communities 

The LDP should: 
• “include adequate provisions in respect of flood 

and coastal erosion” 
• Include policies on effective land use 

management 
 
- In line with the National Flood and Coastal Erosion 
Risk Management Objectives and Actions for the 
Development of LDPs and spatial planning.  

Page 1761



   12  

A Low Carbon Revolution - The Welsh Assembly 
Government Energy Policy Statement (Welsh 
Assembly Government 2010) 
Acknowledges ‘both a moral and a practical 
imperative to move rapidly to … a low carbon 
economy’ and proposes actions on (1) energy 
saving and energy efficiency, (2) resilient low 
carbon energy production, both centralised and 
localised, (3) exploiting economic opportunities.  

The LDP should: 
• help to support a step-change in the energy 

efficiency performance of all housing stock 
• progressively increase the standards for new-

build housing towards zero-carbon aspirations 
• support small-scale renewable developments 

and other forms of local energy generation 
• support anaerobic digestion, biomass, and 

other larger renewable energy generation 
projects  Technical Advice Note 8: Planning for 

Renewable Energy (Welsh Assembly 
Government 2005) 
Provides guidance on land use planning 
considerations relating to renewable energy 
provision and how LDPs can help achieve 
national targets for renewable energy 
generation. 
Energy Wales: A Low Carbon Transition (Welsh 
Government 2012) 
States the Welsh Government’s commitment to 
‘create a sustainable, low carbon economy for 
Wales’ featuring low carbon energy and energy 
efficiency,  by, among other things, ensuring that 
planning and regulations are supportive, ensuring 
communities benefit, and supporting appropriate 
infrastructure. 

Further confirms the need for the LDP to support 
energy efficiency and low carbon energy.  

Technical Advice Note 15: Development and 
Flood Risk (Welsh Assembly Government 2004) 
Provides guidance on flood risk (including land at 
risk of flooding) and how such risk should be 
addressed and managed.  Aims to reduce the risk 
to people and development from flooding in line 
with a precautionary framework. 

The LDP should: 
• Take a precautionary and strategic approach to 

flood risk, having regard to WAG guidance, the 
potential consequences of flooding and the 
extent and location of unobstructed floodplains 

• Ensure that the location and design of new 
development has regard to the potential risk, 
causes and consequences of flooding 

 
 
Cultural / historic PPPs Implications for the LDP 
Wales  
Welsh Office Circular 60/96 Planning and the 
Historic Environment: Archaeology (1996) 
Sets out advice on legislation and procedures 
relating to archaeological remains. 

The LDP must take account of the need to conserve 
the historic environment. It should: 
• Include policies for the protection and 

enhancement of sites of archaeological interest 
and their settings 

• Identify scheduled archaeological remains and, 
where appropriate, unscheduled remains of 
local importance 

Welsh Office Circular 61/96 Planning and the 
Historic Environment: Historic Buildings and 
Conservation Areas (1996) 
Sets out advice on legislation and procedures 
relating to historic buildings and conservation 
areas.  (Likely to be updated and consolidated 
with Circular 60/96 in forthcoming Wales 

The LDP must take account of the need to conserve 
the historic environment, including: 
• Policies for the preservation and enhancement 

of listed buildings and their settings, 
conservation areas and historic parks, gardens 
and landscapes, and the factors to be taken into 
account in assessing planning applications that 

Page 1762



   13  

Cultural / historic PPPs Implications for the LDP 
Heritage Bill.) could affect these 

• Proposals for re-use or new development 
affecting historic areas and buildings 

• Policies for demolition, alteration, extension or 
re-use of listed buildings and their curtilages 

• Criteria to be applied to development proposals 
impinging upon listed buildings. 

Technical Advice Note 12: Design (Welsh 
Assembly Government 2009) 
Provides guidance about how ‘Promoting 
sustainability through good design’ may be 
facilitated through the planning system. 
 

The LDP should promote and support the 5 aspects 
of good design: 
• Ensuring access for all 
• Sustaining and enhancing local character 
• Ensuring attractive, safe public space 
• Environmental sustainability 
• Providing sustainable means of travel 
 

To do this it should 
• Include design policies, area wide and/or for 

specific places as appropriate 
• Consider producing topic based, area based or 

site specific SPGs 
 
 
Economy PPPs Implications for the LDP 
Wales  
Economic Renewal: A New Direction (Welsh 
Assembly Government 2010) 
Sets out the Assembly’s proposed strategy for 
moving Wales out of the recession and to future 
economic growth.   The vision is of "a Welsh 
economy built upon the strengths and skills of its 
people and natural environment; recognised at 
home and abroad as confident, creative and 
ambitious; a great place to live and work".  
Its five priorities are to: 
• Invest in high quality and sustainable 

infrastructure 
• Make Wales a more attractive place to do 

business 
• Broaden and deepen the skills base 
• Encourage innovation 
• Target business support  

The LDP can support economic development 
objectives by supporting: 
• the roll-out of Next Generation Broadband 
• the planning and delivery of infrastructure 
• low-waste low-carbon employment 
• links between universities and businesses 

Technical Advice Note 4: Retailing and Town 
Centres (Welsh Assembly Government 1996) 
Provides detailed advice on the collection of 
retail information and assessment of retail and 
town centre development proposals. 

The LDP should: 
• Identify and support the retail hierarchy of 

centres 
• Support the vitality, attractiveness and viability 

of centres 
• Allocate sites for new retail and leisure facilities 

and other uses best located in town centres 
where there is assessed need and using the 
sequential approach 

• Include criteria for the assessment of proposals 

Page 1763



   14  

Economy PPPs Implications for the LDP 
on unallocated sites 

Technical Advice Note 13: Tourism (Welsh 
Assembly Government 1997) 
Provides guidance on how the planning system 
can encourage sustainable forms of tourism and 
maximise economic and employment benefits 
while improving and safeguarding the 
environmental interests of local communities. 

The LDP should provide a strategic framework for 
tourism developments having regard to the tourism 
potential of the area and the need to limit the 
impact on the environment, conservation interests 
and local communities 

SE Wales  
South East Wales Development Strategy (South 
East Wales Economic Forum 2005) 
An economic development framework for South 
East Wales mapping out a comprehensive 
approach to achieving the forum’s vision for the 
region to become one of the most prosperous in 
Europe. 

The LDP can support economic development 
objectives by: 
• Ensuring that there is a sufficient range and 

choice of land allocated for economic 
development and employment  purposes in 
accessible locations 

• Improving access to employment opportunities 
particularly for communities with high levels of 
economic inactivity, unemployment and 
deprivation 

• Supporting the vitality, attractiveness and 
viability of centres 

City Regions Final Report (Welsh Government, 
May 2012) 
Product of a task and finish group set up by WG; 
strongly recommends recognising a South East 
Wales (ie Cardiff centred) city region, with an 
over-arching city region strategic planning tier, 
and strengthened governance, transport, 
infrastructure and financing, to remedy 
underperformance of Wales’ cities  

If the recommendations are adopted, the Cardiff 
City LDP would need to form a subordinate tier 
contributing to wider city region objectives, and 
with stronger emphasis on cross boundary co-
ordination.  

Cardiff  
Competitive Cardiff, The Cardiff Economic 
Strategy 2007-2012 (Cardiff Council 2007) 
It vision is "To ensure that Cardiff, as an 
International Capital, is an inclusive, vibrant and 
thriving city in which to live and work, with a 
skilled creative workforce and a buoyant 
business environment". 

The LDP can support these objectives by: 
• Maintaining and improving the city's cultural, 

leisure and sporting facilities 
• Developing Cardiff's retail, conference and 

office offer 
• Providing a range of premises and facilities for 

different business sizes and types, including 
incubation and growth facilities 

• Protecting employment land 
• Focusing on high value added, knowledge based 

sectors, and the creative industries 
• Facilitating the roll-out of high speed broadband 
• Regenerating neighbourhoods 
• Improving Cardiff's accessibility through an 

integrated transport infrastructure and 
improved airport connectivity 

• Supporting links between the universities and 
businesses, and between businesses 

• Ensuring a match between skills supply and 
business provision 

Page 1764



   15  

Economy PPPs Implications for the LDP 
Central Cardiff Enterprise Zone was designated 
in 2012 to ‘attract and grow the financial and 
professional services sector’   

The LDP can support the Enterprise Zone objectives 
by seeking to provide land, infrastructure and 
supporting services attractive to financial and 
professional services in the city centre.  

  
 
Health and wellbeing PPPs Implications for the LDP 
Wales  
'Climbing Higher': The Welsh Assembly 
Government Strategy for Sport and Physical 
Activity (Welsh Assembly Government 2005) 
Sets targets that, by 2025, 
• The percentage of people in Wales using 

the Welsh natural environment for outdoor 
activities will increase from 36% to 60% 

• 95% of people in Wales will have a footpath 
or cycle path within a 10 minute walk 

• No-one should live more than a 6 minute 
walk (300metres) from their nearest natural 
green space 

• All public sector employees and 75% of all 
other employees will have access to sport 
and physical activity facilities at, or within 
10 minutes walk of the workplace 

 
‘Climbing Higher: Next Steps’ (Welsh Assembly 
Government 2006) outlines investment priorities 
to deliver Climbing Higher.  

The LDP should provide a framework for sport and 
recreation and set out a strategic approach to such 
development. It should: 
• Promote active travel through land uses and 

coordinated infrastructure to make walking and 
cycling practicable, convenient and attractive 
wherever possible 

• Protect areas of open space that have 
recreation, amenity and/or conservation value  

• Identify standards of open space and 
recreational provision 

• Promote measures to assist walking and cycling 
 
The LDP should support the achievement of the 
'Climbing Higher’ targets.  This will have implication 
on open space and footpath/bridlepath provision. 

Technical Advice Note 16: Sport Recreation and 
Open Space (Welsh Assembly Government 
2009) 
Provides guidance on planning for sport, 
recreation and informal open spaces, as well as 
protecting existing facilities and open spaces.  
Includes guidance on developing Open Space 
Assessments and standards of provision and the 
links between health and well being, sport and 
recreational activity and sustainable 
development. 

The LDP should provide a framework for sport and 
recreation and set out a strategic approach to such 
development. It should aim to: 
• Provide the 'benchmark standard' of, per 1000 

population: 1.2 ha of land for playing pitches; 
1.6 ha of land for all outdoor sport; 0.25ha 
children's designated equipment playing space; 
0.55ha for children's informal playing space; 
and 0.80 ha for children's playing space 

• Provide 'local areas' for play or informal 
recreation within 100 metres of homes; 'locally 
equipped or landscaped areas' within 400 
metres; and 'neighbourhood equipped areas' 
within 1000 metres  

• Protect areas of open space that have 
recreation, amenity and/or conservation value 

Technical Advice Note 11: Noise (Welsh 
Assembly Government 1997) 
Provides advice on how the planning system can 
minimise the adverse impact of noise without 
placing unreasonable restrictions on 
development or unduly adding to the costs and 
administrative burdens of business. 

Policies and proposals in LDPs should: 
• Locate noise sensitive developments away from 

existing or planned sources of significant noise 
• Locate potentially noisy developments where 

noise will not be such an important 
consideration 

• Promote design that minimises or mitigates 

Page 1765



   16  

Health and wellbeing PPPs Implications for the LDP 
noise generation 

Cardiff  
Cardiff Physical Activity and Health Strategy 
2008 – 2011 (Cardiff Health Alliance 2008) 
Aims to improve the health of Cardiff's residents 
through physical activity.  (Time expired but 
evidently not replaced or withdrawn) 

Policies and proposals in LDPs should provide 
opportunities for physical activity, e.g. through 
green infrastructure and other opportunities for 
walking and cycling 

Allotment strategy for Cardiff (Cardiff Council 
2005) 
Sets a strategy for the improvement of Cardiff's 
allotments, and to ensure that there are enough 
allotments to meet local demand. 

Policies and proposals in the LDPs should: 
• Safeguard existing allotments wherever possible 
• Aim to provide at minimum 15 allotment plots 

per 1000 households 

  
Landscape PPPs Implications for the LDP 
International  
The European Landscape Convention (2004) 
Promotes the protection, management and 
planning of European landscape and organises 
European cooperation on landscape issues.  The 
convention provides a set of guidelines to be 
transposed into national, regional and local 
regulations. 

The LDP should: 
• consider landscape strategies 
• recognise the value of landscapes both 

ordinary and unique/ historical 
• assist in achieving landscape quality 

objectives.  

Cardiff  
Countryside Strategy Review (Cardiff Council 
2005) 
Sets out the Council’s vision for Cardiff's 
countryside under five key themes: awareness of 
the countryside, access, biodiversity, landscape 
and supporting a working countryside. 

The LDP can support the Strategy by: 
• Giving considerable weight to protecting the 

best and most versatile agricultural land 
• Avoiding development of greenfield sites by 

giving preference to the re-use of suitable 
previously developed land 

• Promoting conservation and enhancement of 
the countryside and strictly control 
development in the open countryside 

• Promoting farm diversification and sustainable 
rural development 

• Protecting biodiversity, and the quality and 
character of the landscape 

• Promoting access to and enjoyment of the 
countryside 

River Taff Corridor Action Plan (Cardiff Council, 
CCW, WAG 2007) 

The LDP can support the action plans by: 
• Supporting the enhancement, extension and 

maintenance of the Taff Trail, Rhymney Trail River Ely Corridor Action Plan (Cardiff Council, 
CCW, WAG 2006) 

Page 1766



   17  

Landscape PPPs Implications for the LDP 
River Rhymney and Nant Fawr Corridor Action 
Plan (Cardiff Council, CCW, WAG 2009) 

and the Nant Fawr Corridor and networks 
• Providing access to all to the river corridors, 

maximising the use of open spaces, and 
maximising the range of activities 

• Managing and enhancing the landscape and 
biodiversity in the river corridors and gorges 

• Ensuring that new and existing developments 
enhance and do not harm the qualities of the 
valley 

• Maximising the tourism potential of the Taff 
Corridor 

• Maximising the afteruse value of the Lamby 
Way landfill site 

 
 
Natural resources PPPs Implications for the LDP 
International  
EC Water Framework Directive (2000/86/EEC) 
Establishes a strategic framework for managing 
surface water and groundwater. The core aims 
are to: 
• Prevent deterioration of aquatic 

ecosystems 
• Protect, enhance and restore polluted 

waters 
• Comply with water related standards and 

objectives for environmentally protected 
areas 

• Progressively reduce pollution from priority 
substances 

• Prevent or limit input of pollutants to 
groundwater 

See Severn River Basin Management Plan below 

EC Directive 1991/271/EEC on Urban Waste 
Water Treatment (as amended by EC Directive 
1998/15/EEC) 
Protects the environment from the adverse 
effects of discharges of urban waste water and 
of waste water from industrial sectors of agro-
food industry.  Sets standards for wastewater 
collection and treatment.  

• Locational policies to take account of the effects 
of development on water quality and seek 
improvements  

• Planners should discuss wastewater treatment 
arrangements with sewerage authorities and the 
Environment Agency Wales  

• Location and design policies should also promote 
Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems 

Wales  
Technical Advice Note 14: Coastal Planning 
(Welsh Assembly Government 1998) 
Provides guidance on: 
• Planning the coastal zone 
• Recreation 
• Heritage coasts and non statutory coastal 

groupings 
• Shoreline management plans 

The LDP must have regard to: 
• Other plans and policies with implications for the 

coastal area 
• Existing policies for coast protection and defence 

and Shoreline Management Plans 
• Coastal and marine designations 
 

The LDP should: 
• Include specific policies for coastal areas 
• Show locations suitable/unsuitable for 

Page 1767



   18  

Natural resources PPPs Implications for the LDP 
development and relevant designations on the 
Proposals Map 

• Promote conservation and enhancement of the 
undeveloped coast 

Technical Advice Note 22: Sustainable 
Buildings (Welsh Assembly Government 2010) 
TAN22 provides guidance and advice on: 

• Sustainable buildings and standards of 
assessment 

• The design solutions that may be used 
to meet these standards 

• Further design guidance on delivering 
low carbon buildings 

 
 

This technical advice note has guidance for LDPs, 
highlighting the potential opportunities for local 
authorities to impose specific local requirements for 
strategic sites identified.  
 
The LDP should: 

• Encourage high sustainable building 
standards 

• Promote the delivery of low carbon buildings 
• Identify areas that are most suitable for 

development with high sustainability 
standards.  

Minerals Planning Policy Wales (Welsh 
Assembly Government 2001) 
Provides land use guidance on mineral 
extraction and related development – includes 
all minerals and substances in, on or under land 
extracted either by underground or surface 
working. 

The LDP should: 
• Provide for aggregate needs in accordance with 

the agreed regional apportionment 
• Encourage efficient and appropriate use of 

minerals and the re-use and recycling of suitable 
materials 

• Safeguard mineral resources from sterilisation 
• Limit the impact of mineral extraction on the 

environment and interest of conservation 
importance 

• Promote high standard restoration and beneficial 
after-use 

Minerals Technical Advice Note 01: Aggregates 
(Welsh Assembly Government 2004)  
Provides detailed guidance to ensure that: 
• Aggregates supply is managed in a 

sustainable way so that the best balance 
between environmental, economic and 
social considerations is struck 

• The environmental and amenity impacts of 
any necessary extraction are kept to a level 
that avoids causing demonstrable harm to 
interests of acknowledged importance. 

Water is Precious, Water for people and the 
environment: Water Resources Strategy for 
Wales (Environment Agency 2009) 
This document sets out the Environment 
Agency’s approach to the overall management 
of water resources in Wales.   
 
The strategy sets out a series of strategic 
actions for adapting to climate change, 
protecting the water environment (including 
conservation and water quality) and the 
management of water resources with regard to 
development and future demand.  

The LDP should: 
• Take the strategy’s strategic actions into 

account 
• Support water efficiency measure in new 

developments  
• Consider how the water environment can 

cope with the additional demand placed 
upon it by proposed developments.  

SE Wales  
Severn River Basin Management Plan 
(Environment Agency 2009)   
Prepared under the Water Framework 
Directive, it describes the river basin district 

The LDP should: 
• Include strong water efficiency policies 
• Take the Management Plan’s objectives into 

Page 1768



   19  

Natural resources PPPs Implications for the LDP 
(which includes Cardiff’s rivers), pressures on it, 
and what actions will be taken to address the 
pressures. It sets out what improvements are 
possible by 2015 and how the actions will make 
a difference to the local water environment.  

account 
• Reduce the physical impacts of urban 

development in artificial or heavily modified 
waters 

• Implement surface water management plans, 
increasing resilience to surface water flooding 
and ensuring water quality is considered on a 
catchment basis 

• Promote sustainable drainage  
• Include Water Cycle Studies in growth or high risk 

areas 
Severn Estuary Shoreline Management Plan 
(Severn Estuary Coastal Group with DEFRA 
and NAW 2000) 
Provides the basis for sustainable coastal 
defence policies in the Severn Estuary and sets 
objectives for the future management of the 
shoreline.  A revised version of this plan is 
currently out for consultation 

In preparing the LDP the Council must have regard to: 
• Other plans and policies with implications for the 

coastal area 
• Existing policies for coast protection and defence 

and Shoreline Management Plans 
• Coastal and marine designations 

 

The LDP should: 
• Include specific policies for coastal areas; 
• Show locations suitable/unsuitable for 

development and relevant designations on the 
Proposals Map 

Cardiff  
Rhymney Catchment Abstraction 
Management Strategy (Environment Agency  
Wales 2006)  
 

Ebbw and Lwyd Catchment Abstraction 
Management Strategy  (Environment Agency 
Wales 2006) 
 

Taff and Ely Catchment Abstraction 
Management Strategy (Environment Agency 
Wales 2006) 
Describes how much water is available within 
the catchments, areas where water resources 
are constrained, and the Environment Agency’s 
proposed options for managing this water now 
and in the future.  

The LDP should: 
• Promote the efficient use of water 
• Include policies on the location of potentially 

polluting developments and criteria by which 
applications for such developments should be 
determined 

• Ensure that incompatible uses of land are 
separated, in order to avoid potential conflict 

 

Locational policies in the LDP should take account of 
the effects of development upon water quality and 
vice versa.  Location and design policies should also 
promote sustainable water provision and use in new 
developments including Sustainable Urban Drainage 
Systems. 

 
 
Population PPPs Implications for the LDP 
Wales  
Better Homes for People in Wales: A National 
Housing Strategy for Wales (The National 
Assembly for Wales 2001) 
Provides a vision for the future of Welsh 
housing and a policy framework to facilitate 
action at the local level. Aims to provide: 
• Homes that are in a good condition in safe 

neighbourhoods 
• Better housing services and a greater 

The LDP should: 
• Identify the requirement for market and 

affordable housing 
• Allocate land for housing, favouring the re-use of 

previously developed land and buildings within 
settlements before settlement extensions and 
new development around settlements with good 
public transport links 

Page 1769



   20  

Population PPPs Implications for the LDP 
choice for people over the types of housing 
and locations they live in 

• Provide guidance on design, access, density, off-
street parking and open space provision 

• Include policies for affordable and special needs 
housing where there is identified need 

• Indicate where developer contributions will be 
expected towards infrastructure, community 
facilities and affordable housing 

Improving Lives and Communities – Homes in 
Wales (Welsh Assembly Government 2010) 
Aims to respond to existing housing problems, 
including demand outstripping supply, 
increasing demand for affordable housing, 
ageing population, and age and quality of the 
current social housing stock.  Aims to: 
• Provide more housing of the right type and 

offer more choice 
• Improve homes and communities, including 

the energy efficiency of new and existing 
homes 

• Improve housing-related services and 
support 

The LDP should: 
• Provide sufficient housing of the right type to 

meet people's needs 
• Provide sufficient affordable homes 
• Support energy efficiency of new and existing 

homes, and ensure that local authority and 
housing association homes meet the Welsh 
Housing Quality Standard 

 
 

Housing White Paper, “Homes for Wales” , 
Welsh Government, May 2011, outlines the 
key role of planning in increasing the supply of 
housing. 
Technical Advice Note 1: Joint Housing Land 
Availability Studies (Welsh Assembly 
Government 2006) 
Provides guidance on the preparation of Joint 
Housing Land Availability Studies, the purpose 
of which is to monitor the provision of market 
and affordable housing. 

The LDP should: 
• Identify the requirement for market and 

affordable housing 
• Ensure that there is land genuinely available to 

provide a 5 year supply of land for housing 
• Allocate land for housing, favouring the re-use of 

previously developed land and buildings within 
settlements before settlement extensions and 
new development around settlements with good 
public transport links 

Technical Advice Note 2: Planning and 
Affordable Housing (Welsh Assembly 
Government 2006) 
Aims to ensure the provision of enough 
affordable housing. 

The LDP should: 
• Be informed by a Local Housing Market 

Assessment 
• Include an affordable housing target, based on 

the need identified in the local housing market 
assessment 

• Indicate how the target will be achieved  
• Monitor the provision of affordable housing 

against the target and where necessary take 
action to ensure that the target is met 

Household Projections for Wales (2008-Based) 
(Welsh Assembly Government 2010) 
Suggests that the number of households in 
Cardiff will rise from 137,000 in 2008 to 
179,000 in 2023. 

The LDP should take these projections into 
consideration when planning for future housing 
numbers 

South East Wales  

Page 1770



   21  

Population PPPs Implications for the LDP 
South East Wales Regional Housing 
Apportionment Memorandum of 
Understanding (SPWSPG 2007) 
Allocates 26,070 new houses to Cardiff to 2021 
to implement the Wales Spatial Plan 2024.  

As above 

Cardiff  
Local Housing Strategy 2012-17 (Cardiff 
Council 2012) 
Sets out the key issues facing housing in Cardiff 
and outlines priorities for the strategy period. 
Highlights the importance of increasing the 
number of homes available to people who 
cannot afford a home of their own through the 
housing market. 

The LDP Regulations (WAG 2005) prescribe that LDPs 
must have regard to the Local Housing Strategy.  The 
LDP should help to: 
• Increase the supply of quality affordable and 

sustainable homes, including through S106 
obligations 

• Aim to meet the Welsh Housing Quality Standard 
by 2012 

• Implement neighbourhood regeneration and 
environmental schemes 

• Improve energy efficiency of homes 
• Provide adequate homes for vulnerable groups, 

including Gypsies and Travellers, migrant workers 
and homeless people 

 
Waste PPPs Implications for the LDP 
International  
Waste Framework Directive (2008/98/EC) 
Requires member states to: 
• Apply the waste hierarchy (reduce, reuse, 

recycle, recover) 
• Apply the proximity principle 
• Promote high quality recycling 
• Set up separate collections 
• Reuse and recycle 50% of household 

paper, metal, plastic and glass by 2020 
• Recover 70% of construction and 

demolition waste by 2020 
• Establish plans, programmes, targets and 

facilities for waste prevention and disposal 

The LDP should help to meet the WFD targets by: 
• Ensuring that infrastructure for waste 

management is adequate to accommodate 
proposed development while minimising adverse 
impacts on health, the environment and 
communities  

• Identifying sites for waste management facilities, 
including recycling and recovery, or areas where 
such facilities may be suitable 

• Incorporating adequate and effective waste 
management facilities in proposed new 
developments 

• Using S106 and planning conditions where 
appropriate to improve waste reduction, reuse 
and recycling during construction and operation 
of developments 

EC Landfill Directive 1999/31/EC 
Sets targets to reduce the amount and negative 
impacts of waste going to landfill and 
promoting recycling and recovery: 
• By 2010 to reduce BMW to 75% of that 

produced in 1995 
• By 2013 to reduce BMW to 50% of that 

produced in 1995 
• By 2020 to reduce BMW to 35% of that 

produced in 1995 

The LDP should help to meet these challenging 
targets 

Wales  
Towards Zero Waste: The Overarching Waste The LDP should ensure that waste management 

Page 1771



   22  

Waste PPPs Implications for the LDP 
Strategy Document for Wales (Welsh 
Assembly Government 2010) 
Long-term framework that aims to set Wales 
on a path towards zero waste by 2050.  Aims to 
reduce waste arisings across all sectors by 
around 1.5% per year. 

infrastructure supports the strategy's proposals for 
more reuse and recycling of waste, anaerobic 
digestion and other forms of waste treatment 

Technical Advice Note 21 Waste (Welsh 
Assembly Government 2001) 
Provides detailed guidance on how land use 
planning can assist sustainable waste 
management. 

The LDP should: 
• Take account of the waste hierarchy, proximity 

principle, regional self-sufficiency,  best practical 
environmental option, and sustainable transport 

• Ensure that infrastructure for waste 
management is adequate to accommodate 
proposed development while minimising 
adverse impacts on health, the environment and 
communities 

• Identify sites for waste management facilities, 
including recycling and recovery, or areas where 
such facilities may be suitable 

• Incorporate adequate and effective waste 
management facilities in proposed major new 
developments 

• Promote reuse and recycling commitments from 
developers during construction 

SE Wales  
South East Wales Regional Waste Plan 1st 
Review (Consultation version) (Welsh 
Assembly Government with local authorities 
2008) 
Identifies the facilities needed to treat and 
dispose of waste in South East Wales to 2013 
and beyond, in order to: 
• Achieve the Landfill Directive 2020  targets 

by 2013 principally through maximising 
recycling and composting 

• Achieve 50% 'front end' recycling and 
composting for municipal waste in 2013 

• Ensure that targets for the management of 
other controlled waste streams are met 

The plan identifies the need for additional waste 
management facilities on a sub-regional basis.  
Further discussions and consultation will be needed 
to identify local authority specific facilities.  The LDP 
should help to provide these facilities once the plan is 
agreed. 

Cardiff  
Cardiff Municipal Waste Management 
Strategy 2011 – 16 
Outlines the changes planned for Cardiff’s 
waste service over next 5 years.  It details: 

• How much waste is produced in 
Cardiff 

• What waste will be collected and 
when 

• How waste will be treated or recycled 
• How Cardiff’s waste will be managed 

sustainably 
• How litter and other environmental 

The Municipal Waste Management Strategy relies on 
the LDP to provide the policy framework to support 
the transition to more sustainable waste 
management methods.  It also relies on the LDP to 
identify locations that are suitable for waste 
management facilities. 
 
The LDP should: 

• Look to develop policy that facilitates and/or 
promotes the use of the waste hierarchy 

• Enable the infrastructure required for 
sustainable waste management 

Page 1772



   23  

Waste PPPs Implications for the LDP 
issues such as fly tipping will be 
addressed 

 
 

Page 1773



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Cardiff Council & Levett-Therivel Sustainability Consultants 
 
 
Sustainability Appraisal and Strategic Environmental Assessment of the Cardiff Local 
Development Plan  
 
Appendix B: Baseline  
 
Final Sustainability Appraisal Report of the Cardiff Local Development Plan 
 
January 2016 

P
age 1774



 

 
 

i 

Contents  

 Page  
Preface  1  
  
1. Access and equality  3 
• Introduction  3  
• Cardiff contains some of the most deprived areas in Wales - geographically there is a concentration of deprivation in the ‘southern arc’ although 
‘hotspots’ exist elsewhere  

3  

• Lack of affordable housing units - particularly family housing – is excluding those on low income from entering the housing market  6  
• Cardiff has a significant number of homeless people  7  
• Cardiff has good access to services although deficiencies still exist at a local level  8  
• The educational, training and skill base of Cardiff’s population is good overall but varies significantly across the County   10  
  
2. Air quality  12 
• Introduction  12  
• Levels of benzene, 1, 3 butadiene, carbon monoxide, lead and sulphur dioxide are within current standards  12  
• Nitrogen dioxide is the main cause of air pollution 'hot spots' in Cardiff 12 
  
3. Biodiversity, flora and fauna  15 
• Introduction  15  
• Cardiff has a wide range of sites designated for biodiversity, including two European Designated Sites (the Severn Estuary and Cardiff Beech 
Woods)  

15  

• The city hosts protected and rare species including the Great Crested Newt, Otter, Dormouse and Bat  17  
• Cardiff has many existing corridors and networks of mixed habitats providing good connectivity for species  19  
• The condition of designated sites is a concern  20  
• Cardiff’s biodiversity resource is vulnerable to new developments and land management practices which may result in habitat loss and 
fragmentation  

20  

 
  

P
age 1775



 

 
 

ii 

4. Climate change  21 
• Introduction  21  
• Cardiff’s CO2 emissions per person are decreasing, particularly due to reductions in industrial and commercial emissions 21  
• Traffic flows in the city are decreasing, but outside the city it is increasing, contributing to increased greenhouse gas emissions and congestion 23  
• Domestic energy use is responsible for almost one third of Cardiff’s CO2 emissions  26  
• Flooding poses a particular threat to Cardiff due to its coastal location, low lying areas and rivers  27  
  
5. Cultural heritage and the historic environment  31 
• Introduction  31  
• The City’s cultural and historic attractions perform an important national and regional role attracting large numbers of visitors each year  31  
• Cardiff contains a wide range of areas, buildings and monuments designated for historic value befitting of its Capital City status  32  
• Some designated buildings/features are not in a favourable condition  33  
   
6. Economy  35 
• Introduction  35  
• Cardiff is the key economic driver for south-east Wales  35  
• Cardiff has strong economic growth (reduced by the recession) and relatively high employment  36  
• Manufacturing industries are in decline, and service sector industries and private sector employment are growing 40 
• The workforce is polarised between qualified graduates and low skilled workforce  40  
• Significant areas of employment land have changed to alternative uses (notably housing) although land for employment is still available 42  
  
7. Health and wellbeing  43 
• Introduction  43  
• The health of Cardiff’s population is generally better than the Welsh average although considerable discrepancies exist at ward level  43  
• Health varies considerably across the City  44  
• Over half of Cardiff’s adults are clinically overweight or obese  47  
• Under a third of Cardiff’s adults get the exercise they need  47  
• Road safety has generally improved  48  
• Crime rates have also broadly improved or remained steady  49  
• Environmental quality – a determinant of health – varies greatly within Cardiff 50  
 

P
age 1776



 

 
 

iii 

8. Landscape  53 
• Introduction  53  
• Cardiff has a very strong and distinctive landscape backdrop  53  
• Three major river valleys run through the city  55  
• The coastline presents complex issues and opportunities  55  
• Five areas have been proposed as SLAs  57  
• Cardiff is generally well served by open spaces within the urban area, but some areas are under-provided  57  
• Cardiff’s landscape qualities are vulnerable to insensitive new development and land management practices  58 
  
9. Natural resources  60 
• Introduction  60 
• Recent years have seen a high percent of housing completions on previously used (brownfield) land  60 
• As a result of Cardiff’s industrial past, many sites could potentially be contaminated  61 
• Good quality agricultural land is known to exist in Cardiff but no comprehensive survey has been undertaken recently 62 
• Cardiff's allotments are important for people's health and food security, but they are oversubscribed 62 
• Cardiff has sufficient mineral reserves to last about 30 years  63 
• Chemical and biological water quality of the rivers Taff, Ely and Rhymney is ‘fair to good’ and water quantity is satisfactory  64 
   
10. Population   68 
• Introduction  68 
• Cardiff’s population has increased steadily over the past 20 years but much more rapidly since 2001 reaching 341,100 in 2010  68 
• Population and household numbers will increase in South East Wales, and Cardiff’s proportion of this is increasing  69 
• Average household size is decreasing, with a decline in married couples but an increase in one person, lone parents and cohabiting couples 71 
• Cardiff has a relatively high proportion of young adults and a low proportion of older age groups compared to Wales as a whole 72 
• Ethnic groups as a proportion of Cardiff’s population are higher than for Wales as a whole  73  
  
 

P
age 1777



 

 
 

iv 

 
11. Waste  74 
• Introduction  74 
• Construction and demolition waste is currently the biggest component of waste in South East Wales  75 
• Recycling rates are improving rapidly following the completion of a new recycling facility and rolling out a recycling scheme  77 
• It is unclear how Cardiff's waste will change in the future 78 

List of Maps, Figures and Tables  

 Page  
Maps   
 Map 1.1: Welsh index of multiple deprivation 2011 4  
Map 1.2: Welsh index of multiple deprivation 2011 – access to services  9  
Map 1.3: Welsh index of multiple deprivation 2011 – education 11 
Map 2.1: Location of air quality management areas in Cardiff  14  
Map 3.1: Location of internationally, nationally and locally designated sites for biodiversity value  16  
Map 4.1: Areas at risk of flooding  28  
Map 5.1: Location and designation of sites, features, buildings and areas of conservation importance  34  
Map 6.1: Welsh index of multiple deprivation 2011 – employment  38  
Map 6.2: Welsh index of multiple deprivation 2011 – income  39  
Map 6.3: Claimant proportion by ward 41 
Map 7.1: Welsh index of multiple deprivation 2011 – health  46  
Map 7.2: Violence against the Person, Theft of a Motor Vehicle, Criminal Damage, Burglary from a Dwelling   51 
Map 7.3: Welsh index of multiple deprivation 2011 – physical environment 52 
Map 8.1: Major landscape features of Cardiff  54  
Map 8.2: Open spaces in Cardiff 59 

P
age 1778



 

                  Page 1 of 78 
 

Preface  

This Appendix was initially produced in 2007; it was updated in autumn 2010 and summer 2012, and should be read together with the updated Scoping 
Report and Initial Sustainability Appraisal Report.  This appendix sets out the main environmental, social and economic issues that are or are likely to affect 
Cardiff over the life of the Plan. Section 4 of the Scoping Report summarises the issues that are covered in this appendix, which were identified through:  

• Discussions with the planning team 

• Workshop and meetings with key consultees, stakeholders and other interest groups  

• Consultation on the 2007 Scoping Report  

• Desk based research  

 

Indicators  

This appendix includes a set of indicators that are used to show change over time in the issues identified. Some of the indicators are of more direct relevance 
to the LDP while others are contextual and will be used to provide a more general picture of the conditions which the plan should take into account.   The 
indicators are shown in table format under the relevant issue and topic headings. The key to the indicator table is as follows:  

Local, Welsh or   This is used to compare Cardiff's situation to that of Wales and the UK.  It also highlights gaps (at any level).   

UK data:  

Target:   Targets to achieve, based on the policy analysis of Appendix 1. These can be local targets or regional and national ones that Cardiff 
Council are obliged to work towards. 

P
age 1779



 

                  Page 2 of 78 
 

 

Trend:   

↑  Indicator is moving towards a more sustainable position 
↔ Indicator is staying roughly steady 
↓ Indicator is moving towards a less sustainable position.  
? Indicator trend is unclear or cannot be assessed due to lack of data 

Note that an indicator can be increasing (e.g. car use) but be going in a less sustainable direction.   

Indicator status:  

+ Indicator is equal to or better than target or equivalent regional/national/international performance. Alternatively (where 
comparators are not available) historical trends show that the situation is improving. 

- Indicator is below target or equivalent regional/national/international performance. Alternatively (where comparators are 
not  available) historical trends show that the situation is getting worse 

! Indicator is significantly below target or equivalent regional/national/international performance and is a priority for action  
? Indicator status is unclear and cannot be assessed due to lack of data 

Commentary:  A commentary on the data set.  Includes reasons for gaps, any anomalies, what the trends suggest and why. 

Data quality:  

0 National data only; no data identified from public sources 
1 Good quality local data, recent measurement and historical trend 
2 Local data for recent period only (i.e. no trend), uses proxy data to derive local data or good quality regional data, recent 

measurement and historical trend 
3 Regional data for recent period only (i.e. no trend) 

 
Data source:   Web links, hard copy sources, Council officers etc  
 

P
age 1780



 

                  Page 3 of 78 
 

1. Access and equality  

Introduction  

1.1 Over the last decade, Cardiff has experienced strong economic growth and increasing levels of prosperity, and major redevelopment has permeated the 
city. Yet this prosperity has not been evenly distributed.  There are considerable variations within and between localities, with people in some parts of 
Cardiff experiencing deprivation that is amongst the worst in Wales.  

Cardiff contains some of the most deprived areas in Wales - geographically there is a concentration of deprivation in the ‘southern arc’ although 
‘hotspots’ exist elsewhere  

1.2 The Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation (WIMD) is a measure of the relative levels of deprivation in local areas of about 1500 people (called Lower Level 
Super Output Areas).  8 individual measures of deprivation are combined to make up the index covering income, employment, health, education, housing, 
access to services, environment and crime. In the most recent WIMD 2011, 21.2% (or 40 out of 190) of the 10% most deprived areas in Wales, are in Cardiff.  
This is higher than any other Welsh local authority except Blaenau Gwent (21.3%).  However, fewer than 50% of Cardiff’s LSOAs (46.3%) are in the 50% most 
deprived, indicating that Cardiff has more prosperous as well as well as more deprived areas than average for Wales. Deprivation is concentrated mainly in 
the ‘southern arc’ of Cardiff (see Map 1.1) which includes Ely, Butetown, Splott, Riverside, Adamsdown, Caerau, Grangetown, Trowbridge, Rumney, 
Llanrumney, Pentwyn and Fairwater. 

 
 

No.  Indicator  Cardiff data  Wales 
data  

UK data  Target  Trend  Indicator 
status  

Commentary  Data 
quality  

Data sources  

1.1  Number and percent of 
Cardiff’s lower super output 
areas in the 10% most 
deprived lower super output 
areas for Wales  

40 out of 190 
21%  

190 out 
of 1896 
10%  

Not 
applicable  

Decrease 
percent of 
LSOAs in most 
deprived 10%  

↓ 
33 in 
2005 - 

 

1 

Local Govt. 
Data Unit, 
Welsh Index of 
Multiple 
Deprivation 
2011  

P
age 1781



 

                  Page 4 of 78 
 

 

P
age 1782



 

                  Page 5 of 78 
 

1.3. When the WIMD was calculated, 
Cardiff accounted for 10.7% of the 
population of Wales, but accounted for 
more than 10.7% of the population living 
in the most deprived communities for all 
WIMD indicators except employment 
and access to services: see Figure 1.1.  
Cardiff had more than twice the 
expected share of population living in the 
most deprived communities in terms of 
education, housing and community 
safety. 

1.4. Deprivation is not restricted to the 
southern arc of Cardiff. The 
disaggregated Index domains show that 
deprivation is spread across the city (see 
Maps 1.1, 1.2, 1.3, 6.1, 6.2, 7.1, 7.3).  

 

 
 

Figure 1.1.  Cardiff residents living in the 10% most deprived communities in Wales as a percent of the Wales 
total in 10% most deprived (Cardiff Council, 2010, Joint Needs Assessment) 

 

 

 

0 

5 

10 

15 

20 

25 

30 

35 

Overall 
Deprivation 

Housing Community 
Safety 

Education Income Health Physical 
Environment 

Employment Access to 
Services 

Domain 

% of Wales Total 

Expected Value 10.7% P
age 1783



 

                  Page 6 of 78 
 

Lack of affordable housing units - particularly family housing – is excluding those on low income from entering the housing market  

1.5. In May 2012, the average price of a house for Cardiff was slightly less than £145,000, down from £150,000 in 2006. The average annual salary in 2011 
was £24,362. In 2012, the ratio of house price to annual salary was just under 6, down from 6.75:1 in 2006 and a little under the UK average. 

1.6. Provision of enough affordable housing is an ongoing problem in Cardiff.  In mid-2010, there were 10,491 applicants on the council housing register, of 
which 47% required family housing.  For the financial year, 2009/10, 463 new domestic units (53% of the total) were available as affordable housing, far 
below the levels needed.  However even this is an anomaly: for the previous decade, affordable housing comprised about 10% of all new housing.  

No.  Indicator  Cardiff data  Wales 
data  

UK data  Target  Trend  Indicator 
status  

Commentary  Data 
quality  

Data sources  

1.2  Average house 
price compared to 
average salary  

May 2012 house price 
£144,844  
Annual salary 2011 
£24,362   
 
Ratio 5.95: 1  

England and 
Wales House price 
£161,677  
Annual salary 
£26,623  
Ratio 6.07: 1  

No target  ↑  
6.75 in 
2005,though 
will worsen 
if house 
prices rise 
again  

- 

The recession has 
dampened house prices 
more than earnings, 
making housing more 
affordable than a few 
years ago.   

1 

Land Registry 
(Res Prop Price 
Reports) 1 
 
Annual Survey of 
Hours and 
Earnings (ONS)2 

1.3 Number and 
percent of 
domestic units that 
are provided for 
affordable housing 
per year  

127 or 22.7% 
(2011/12) 
147 or 15.3% 
(2010/11) 
303 or 35% (2009/10) 
212 or 14% (2008/09)  

Not available  352  ↔ 
202 in 

2005/06  
 

346 in 
2006/07 

 
194 in 

2007/08 

-  

Several large Registered 
Social Landlord schemes 
were completed in 
2009/10, as well as some 
‘credit crunch’ windfalls 
and housing built with 
additional strategic 
capital funding from 
WAG.   

1  

Cardiff Council, 
housing 
monitoring 2009 
 
Housing Strategy 
Officer, July 
2012 

                                                 
1 www.landregistry.gov.uk/_data/assets/pdf_file/0005/13946/HPIReport120622.pdf ,accessed 12/7/12 
2 www.ons.gov.uk/ons/rel/ashe/annual-survey-of-hours-and-earnings/2011-provisional-results--soc-2010-/2011-provisional-table-7.zip, accessed 12/7/12 

P
age 1784

http://www.landregistry.gov.uk/_data/assets/pdf_file/0005/13946/HPIReport120622.pdf
http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/rel/ashe/annual-survey-of-hours-and-earnings/2011-provisional-results--soc-2010-/2011-provisional-table-7.zip


 

                  Page 7 of 78 
 

No.  Indicator  Cardiff data  Wales 
data  

UK data  Target  Trend  Indicator 
status  

Commentary  Data 
quality  

Data sources  

 
212 in 

2008/09 

1.7. The quality of housing in Cardiff is very variable, with housing in the 'Southern arc of deprivation' being more likely to be overcrowded and without 
central heating than elsewhere in Cardiff (WIMD 2008). 

Cardiff has a significant number of homeless people  

1.8. Homeless people are especially vulnerable and there are a significant number of them living in Cardiff. A number of hostels and lodging houses are 
concentrated around the city centre. Cardiff also attracts a high number of young people who have left home, absconded from care, or are vulnerable in 
other ways. During 2008-09, Cardiff Council received 2,916 enquiries from homeless people or those at risk of homelessness, and accepted 618 households 
as being eligible for assistance.  In April 2010, there were 361 households in temporary accommodation in Cardiff, waiting for a permanent home. 

No.  Indicator  Cardiff data  Wales 
data  

UK data  Target  Trend  Indicator 
status  

Commentary  Data 
quality  

Data sources  

1.4  The number of 
homelessness 
presentations 
received by the 
local authority 
during the year per 
1000 households.  

2916 enquiries out 
of  137,000 
households  = 21.3 
per 1000 people 

Not available  8.5 
(Cardiff 
Council)  

↓  
10.3 in 
2005/06 
 

2418 inquiries 
in 2007/08 
2916 in 
2008/09 

! 

The increase in the 
number of 
enquiries reflects 
the impact of the 
wider economic 
climate on 
households and on 
their individual 
housing situations. 
 

1  

Cardiff Council 
Affordable 
Housing 
Delivery 
Statement 
2007/08 – 
2010/11 

 

P
age 1785



 

                  Page 8 of 78 
 

Cardiff has good access to services although deficiencies still exist at a local level  

1.9. As would be expected for a compact city, the Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation indicates that Cardiff has good access to services3 .  Nowhere in 
Cardiff is in the worst 10% for Wales in terms of access.  However, the less central parts of Cardiff have comparatively poor access, notably Creigiau and St. 
Fagans, Lisvane, Rhiwbina, Pontprennau and Trowbridge (see Map 1.2).  

1.10. The Needs Assessment also identified a number of vulnerable groups such as ethnic minority populations, the homeless and asylum seekers where 
access to services is restricted as a result of social and cultural issues (Cardiff Council and Local Health Board 2004).  

                                                 
3 The access to services index is comprised by calculating the average time it would take to access 8 key services (food shop, GP surgery, primary school, post office, public library, leisure 
centre, NHS dentist, secondary school, and a transport node) 

P
age 1786



 

                  Page 9 of 78 
 

 

P
age 1787



 

                  Page 10 of 78 
 

The educational, training and skill base of Cardiff’s population is good overall but varies significantly across the County  

1.11. Cardiff’s population consistently outperforms the Wales and UK averages in terms of education and skills. This is partly determined by demographics, 
with Cardiff’s relatively young population and the existence of several universities.  However, Cardiff also has more than 20% of the 10% most deprived 
lower super output areas in Wales for education (Local Government Data Unit 2008).  These are mostly concentrated in the south and east part of the city, 
as shown by Map 1.3.  Low educational achievement and deprivation are linked4, creating a vicious cycle of poor attainment and low skilled employment 
opportunities.  

No.  Indicator  Cardiff data  Wales data  UK data  Target  Trend  Indicator 
status  

Commentary  Data 
quality  

Data sources  

1.5  Percent of 
population of 
working age 
qualified to NVQ 
level 4+ or 
equivalent  

39.8% (2010) 
 

28.4%(2010) 
 (Wales)  

31.3% 
(2010) 
(GB)  

No target 
identified  

↔ 
34.0% in 
2005  + 

 

1  

Local Area 
Labour Force 
Statistics 
(National 
Statistics -
Nomis)  

 

                                                 
4 The Townsend index shows that as deprivation increases so educational attainment decreases. This correlation was demonstrated in the Cardiff Community Profile 2002. The data used to 
prove the correlation was old though there is no evidence to suggest that the relationship has changed. 

P
age 1788



 

                  Page 11 of 78 
 

 

P
age 1789



 

                  Page 12 of 78 
 

2. Air quality  

Introduction  

2.1. There is a direct link between air pollution and human health, Cardiff Council periodically reviews and assesses air quality for compliance with objectives 
set down in the Air Quality (Wales) Regulations 2000. The following pollutants have been reviewed and assessed:  

• Benzene  
• Lead  
• Particulates  

• 1,3 Butadiene  
• Nitrogen dioxide (NOx) 
• Sulphur dioxide  

• Carbon monoxide

Levels of benzene, 1, 3 butadiene, carbon monoxide, lead and sulphur dioxide are within current standards  

2.2. The 2009 Air Quality Updating and Screening Assessment (Cardiff Council, 2009) concludes that there are no ‘hotspots’ for five of the seven pollutants.   
Particulate matter (PM10), currently meets UK standards but there is doubt that provisional EU objectives would be achieved across the city. 

Nitrogen oxides is the main cause of air pollution 'hot spots' in Cardiff  

2.3 Table 2.1 shows monitored NO2 levels at various 
locations in the city centre.  Many of these exceed the 
legal threshold (40 μg/m3).  Modelling showing predicted 
breaches led to four Air Quality Management Areas being 
declared: Newport Road, Philog and Cardiff West in 2000, 
and St Mary Street in 2002.  The first two were revoked in 
2007, and the area of the Cardiff West AQMA (renamed 
Ely Bridge) was reduced.  An Air Quality Action Plan for St. 
Mary Street was adopted in early 2010.  In December 2010 
the Stephenson Court AQMA was declared due to 

Year 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 

Threshold (μg/m3) 43 42 41 40 40 40 40 40 

Frederick Street 31 36 30 34 30 32 29 31 

Terminus building 48 60 48 55 - - - - 

St Mary Street 59 61 58 62 60 58 51 - 

Westgate Street 41 43 45 49 48 48 39 48 

High Street 71 74 73 66 68 70 69 50 

Station Terrace 36 34 34 42 41 42 38 43 

Havelock Street - - - - - 41 31 33 

P
age 1790



 

                  Page 13 of 78 
 

concentrations of nitrogen dioxide from road traffic 
exceeding the threshold.  The existing and proposed 
AQMAs are shown on Map 2.1. 

Westgate Street Flats - - - - - 42 35 38 

Sandringham Hotel - - - - - 65 46 43 
 

Table 2.1  City centre NO2 concentrations(2010 LAQM Progress Report) 

   

No.  Indicator  Cardiff data  Wales data  UK data  Target  Trend  Indicator 
status  

Commentary  Data 
quality  

Data sources  

2.1  Number of air 
quality 
management areas 
(AQMAs)  

3 Not applicable  To be 
determined  

 ↔ 
The number of 
AQMAs 
decreased from 
4 to 2 in 2007, 
but a new 
AQMA was 
declared in 
December 2010 

- 

Surveys take place 
across the city at 
random locations 
and where air quality 
is predicted to be 
poor. Therefore 
AQMAs provide a 
good indication of 
city-wide air quality.  

2  

Cardiff Council 
(2009) 2009 Air 
Quality Updating 
and Screening 
Assessment   
 

Cardiff Council 
(2009) Detailed 
assessment, 
Stephenson Court, 
Newport Road 

  

P
age 1791



 

                  Page 14 of 78 
 

 

P
age 1792



 

                  Page 15 of 78 
 

3. Biodiversity, flora and fauna  

Introduction  

3.1. Cardiff has a wide range of biodiversity interests which extend from Flat Holm Island in the Severn Estuary to the hills forming the northern edge of the 
city, a thousand feet above sea level. Habitats and species have developed in response to local conditions and represent Cardiff’s biodiversity resource. 
Cardiff Council’s Local Biodiversity Action Plan (LBAP) was prepared in 2005 and revised in 2008.  It includes Action Plans for 19 habitats and species, 
developed in partnership with other organisations.  

Cardiff has a wide range of sites designated for biodiversity, including two European Designated Sites (the Severn Estuary and Cardiff Beech Woods)  

3.2. Map 3.1 shows the extent of designated sites in Cardiff.  It reveals a good distribution across the city, including sites within the urban area and several 
strategically important corridors.    

3.3 The Severn Estuary Special Area of Conservation (SAC), Special Protection Area (SPA) and Ramsar Site consists of intertidal mudflats, sandflats, saltmarsh, 
shingle and rocky shoreline. These habitats support internationally important populations of waterfowl. The estuary is also important for the run of 
migratory fish and has an immense tidal range. The Cardiff Beech Woods SAC is one of the largest concentrations of beech forests in Wales, and represents 
the habitat close to western limit of its past native range in both the UK and Europe.    

3.4 There are 15 Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs) in Cardiff ranging from woodland, aquatic, marsh and grassland habitats to sites of geological 
interest.   Five Local Nature Reserves provide good opportunities to access local wildlife and there are many additional Sites of Importance for Nature 
Conservation (SINCs).  Since 2007, several new sites of nature conservation importance have been designated in Cardiff, an encouraging trend. 

P
age 1793



 

                  Page 16 of 78 
 

 

P
age 1794



 

                  Page 17 of 78 
 

No.  Indicator  Cardiff data  Wales 
data  

UK 
data  

Target  Trend  Indicato
r status  

Commentary  Data 
quality  

Data sources  

3.1  Number and extent 
of designated sites 
of importance 
(SACs, SPAs, SSSIs, 
Ramsars, LNRs and 
SINCs)  

SAC – 803.31 ha (2 
sites) 
SPA – 701.5 ha (1)  
Ramsar – 696ha 
SSSI – 1470.4 ha (15) 
LNR – 150.31 ha  
SINC – 1581.5 ha 
  

Not applicable  No net 
loss 
(Cardiff 
Council)  

↑ 
Severn Estuary SAC 

and Blaen Bielly SSSI 
added since 2006; 

increase of SAC from 
115ha, SSSI from 

1461.7ha, SINC from 
1391.3ha 

+ 

Additionally, Nant 
Fawr is in the 
process of being 
designated as a 
new LNR (20.8ha) 1 

Cardiff Council 
officers 

 

The city hosts protected and rare species including the Great Crested Newt, Otter, Dormouse and Bat  

3.5. European protected species occurring in Cardiff are the Great Crested Newt, Otter, Dormouse and Bats.  Otters are now present on all three main rivers 
and have also extended to tributaries and other water bodies. Dormice require a woodland habitat and are known to primarily exist across the northern 
ridge and east of the city. All species of bats are protected and their distribution varies: some are widespread such as the Pipistrelle whilst others are 
localised.  

3.6. UK protected species and habitats, as set out in the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), are also present in Cardiff.  Table 3.1 summarises 
the status of these species and habitats.  Action plans have been established for Cardiff's lowland calcareous grassland, gardens and allotments, maritime 
cliff and slope, neutral grassland, ponds, reedbeds, purple moor grass and rush pasture, woodlands, bats, Childing Pink, dormouse, Great Crested Newt, 
Hawfinch, otter, Pied Flycatcher, reptiles, Silver-Washed Fritillary, Stag Beetle, water vole, and waxcap mushrooms.   All of the plans involve, at minimum, 
maintaining the current range and/or population of the species or habitat. 

P
age 1795



 

                  Page 18 of 78 
 

Table 3.1 UK Biodiversity Action Plan species in Cardiff (Cardiff Biodiversity Action Plan 2008) 

Insects   
 
 
 

 

Birds cont.  
Date-Coloured Waxcap Known from 1 site in Bute Park but not recorded since 2004 Herring Gull Abundant.  Breeds on roofs in the city centre 

& several hundred pairs breed on Flat Holm Garden Tiger  
Small Heath  Bar-tailed Godwit Spring and Autumn migrant on passage 
Small Blue  Black-tailed Godwit Spring and Autumn migrant on passage 
Ghost Moth  Grasshopper Warbler Last recorded in Cardiff in 2000 
Grayling Found on brownfield sites in the south but scarce Amphibians and reptiles  
Wall  Slow-worm Widespread but under-recorded 
Stag Beetle Formerly known from a garden in Roath but grubs recently found at 

Forest Farm 
Common Toad Widespread but under-recorded 
Common Lizard Widespread but under-recorded 

White Letter Hairstreak  Grass Snake Widespread but under-recorded 
Chalk Carpet After an absence of 80 years has recently been found in the Taff Gorge Great Crested Newt  
Cinnabar  Adder  
Birds  Habitats  
Skylark Resident, breeds in grassland throughout Cardiff Wood pasture & parkland; upland 

oak woodland; lowland beech & yew 
woodland; wet woodland 

Total 600 hectares (ha) 
Tree Pipit Passes through Cardiff on migration 
Lesser Redpoll  Winter visitor, no longer breeding in the area 
Common Linnet Common resident, particularly in the bay area Hedgerows unknown amount 
Twite Not recorded in Cardiff since 1989 Arable field margins unknown amount 
Ringed Plover Common winter/passage visitor along the coast Coastal and floodplain grazing marsh 520 ha 
Hawfinch Secretive and scarce species apparently confined to forestry above the 

M4.  Cardiff is the stronghold of the species in the Glamorgan area 
Neutral grassland 291 ha semi-improved 
Lowland meadows 4 ha 

Common Cuckoo Recorded in Spring but increasingly scarce.  No longer breeds in Cardiff Calcareous grassland 1 ha 
Lesser Spotted 
Woodpecker 

A secretive species, but breeding has been confirmed in recent years.  
Most reliability recorded in Bute Park but also present north of the M4 

Acid grassland 6 ha 
Purple moorgrass and rush pastures 12 ha 

Yellowhammer A scarce species, mainly found in the north and east particularly near the 
Caerphilly ridge.  Breeding status unknown 

Rivers unknown extent 
Ponds 186 ponds 

Reed Bunting Common resident breeder Maritime cliff and slope 2.64 ha coastal grassland; 1.1 ha hard cliff 
Kestrel Common resident breeder Sebellaria alveolata reefs unknown amount 
Pied Flycatcher Breeding restricted to Coed-y-Bedw  Coastal saltmarsh 34 ha 
Black-headed Gull Common winter visitor Intertidal mudlfats unknown amount 

 

P
age 1796



 

                  Page 19 of 78 
 

Cardiff has many existing corridors and networks of mixed habitats providing good connectivity for species  

3.7. The three main river valleys of the rivers Taff, Ely and Rhymney form strategically important corridors of open space containing a wide variety of 
habitats that run through the city from the countryside to the Severn Estuary. These provide valuable wildlife corridors and connectivity between habitats 
that are important for many species. Feeder tributaries and streams generally run from higher ground to the north and feed into the main rivers, providing a 
similar function. Features such as woodlands, hedgerows, marshlands, alder carrs and disused rail lines are common in the countryside surrounding the 
urban area. This patchwork of varied habitats provides a good resource for biodiversity.  However Cardiff's woodland cover is fragmented, with few areas 
larger than 5 hectares.  Management plans have been prepared for the three river valleys. 

No.  Indicator  Cardiff data  Wales 
data  

UK 
data  

Target  Trend  Indicator 
status  

Commentary  Data 
quality  

Data sources  

3.2  Area (in hectares) 
of ancient 
woodland cover  

Total: 674.7 ha  
Semi-natural: 442.3 
Planted: 232.4  

Not applicable  No net loss 
(Cardiff 
Council)  

↔ 

+ 

Includes semi-natural 
ancient woodland 
and planted ancient 
woodland. Most 
planted ancient 
woodland is being 
restored to semi-
natural.   Only 
detailed data from 
2006 available. 

2 

Forestry 
Commission data 
on Council GIS  

3.3  Total extent (in 
hectares) of Local 
Biodiversity Action 
Plan priority 
habitats  

See Table 3.1 Not applicable Broadly no 
net loss, 
and growth 
over time 
(varies by 
habitat)  

? 

+ 

At present there is no 
trend data.  Trend 
data will become 
available in the future 
as surveys are carried 
out.  

2 

Cardiff Local 
Biodiversity 
Action Plan 2008 

 

P
age 1797



 

                  Page 20 of 78 
 

The condition of designated sites is a concern  

3.8. Up to date information relating to the condition of all designated sites is not known. However, measures are in place to address this and ensure that any 
future changes in condition can be accurately monitored.  

No.  Indicator  Cardiff data  Wales 
data  

UK data  Target  Trend  Indicator 
status  

Commentary  Data 
quality  

Data sources  

3.4  Percent of features 
of internationally 
and nationally 
designated sites in 
favourable condition 
(SACs, SPAs, SSSIs)  

20% of all SAC, SPA & 
SSSI in favourable 
condition. However 
only about half of 
sites assessed, so 
figure is 41% of sites 
assessed.  

Not applicable  UK / WAG 
target: 
95% to be 
in 
favourable 
condition 
by 2015   

? 

? 

35 features, of which 
the condition is 
known for only 17 
(49%). Of these 9 are 
evidence based, 7 
judgement based and 
1 provisional 
assessment.   Only 
data from 2006 
available. 

2 

CCW, based on 
limited 
assessment only  

Cardiff’s biodiversity resource is vulnerable to new developments and land management practices which may result in habitat loss and fragmentation  

3.9. As an expanding capital city, new developments within and outside the settlement boundary have the potential to harm Cardiff’s biodiversity resource. 
Brownfield sites can contain significant biodiversity interest and it is important that these are recognised and protected where possible. Similarly, the river 
valleys and countryside are vulnerable to insensitive development and changing agricultural and land use practices.  

P
age 1798



 

                  Page 21 of 78 
 

4. Climate change  

Introduction  

4.1. Climate change is probably the greatest long-term challenge facing the human race, and is a serious and urgent issue. The climate is already beginning to 
change as a result of past greenhouse gas emissions and this trend shows no sign of abating. Publications by Nicholas Stern (2006) and Intergovernmental 
Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) (2007) highlight the urgent need to take action now.  This section begins with causes of climate change – emissions of 
greenhouse gases - and continues with how Cardiff is dealing with climate change. 

Cardiff’s CO2 emissions per person are decreasing, particularly due to reductions in industrial and commercial emissions  

4.2. Globally, greenhouse gas emissions have increased steadily since the industrial revolution. The Stern Report states that greenhouse gas concentrations 
in the atmosphere now stand at around 430ppm CO2 equivalent, compared with only 280ppm before the Industrial Revolution. The stock is rising, driven by 
increasing emissions from human activities, such as energy generation, increased amounts of movement and land-use change. Emissions have been strongly 
correlated with GDP across time and countries, although this is now changing.  UK emissions of the 'basket' of six greenhouse gases covered by the Kyoto 
Protocol decreased by 12% between 2006 and 2009, including an 8.6% drop between 2008 and 2009, some of which is probably due to the effects of the 
economic recession (DECC UK emission statistics, 2010).  

4.3. Carbon dioxide (CO2) accounts for most greenhouse gas emissions, and is the only gas measured on a local authority basis.  In Cardiff, CO2 emissions 
decreased by 22% between 2005 and 2009.  About 44% of Cardiff's CO2 emissions are generated by industry, 30% by domestic uses, and 25% by traffic.  

No.  Indicator  Cardiff data  Wales 
data  

UK data  Target  Trend  Indicator 
status  

Commentary  Data 
quality  

Data sources  

4.1  Annual emissions of 
CO2 per person 

6.8 tCO2 per capita 
in 2009 (2.9 
industry and 
commercial, 1.9 
domestic, 1.9 road 

9.5 tCO2 
per 
capita in 
2009  

7.4 tCO2 
per 
capita in 
2009  

WAG target: 
40% cut by 
2020 (2000 
baseline)  
 

↓ 
down 

from 8.1 
tCO2 in 

2005 

+ 22% 
reduction 
2005 -  
2009 

 Industrial and 
commercial emissions 
decreased particularly 
quickly, from 3.9 tCO2 
in 2005 to 2.9 in 2009.  

1 

Per capita 
reduction in CO2 
emissions in the 
local authority 
areas (DECC) 

P
age 1799



 

                  Page 22 of 78 
 

transport) Cardiff target:  
26% cut by 
2020 citywide 
per capita 
emissions (2005 
baseline) 

Much of 
this is 
probably 
due to the 
recession, 
and there 
is a long 
way to go 

National statistics do 
not say how much of 
this was due just to 
shrinkage or relocation 
of industry. This data 
does not include other 
greenhouse gases, or 
CO2 emissions over 
which local authorities 
have no control (e.g. 
aviation and shipping) 

4.4. Ecological footprinting is a tool to measure how much land area is required for an average citizen (of a geographically specific area) for everything they 
consume (products and resources) and produce (waste and emissions) per year. In 2001 Cardiff’s ecological footprint was 5.59 gha5 per person. This means 
that, in 2001, Cardiff required more than 125 times its land area or 82% of the land area of Wales for the resources it consumed. If every person on the 
planet had the same lifestyle as someone from Cardiff almost three planet earths would be required to support their lifestyles. The breakdown of Cardiff’s 
footprint shows that the biggest contributors are food and drink (24%), energy use (18%), passenger travel (18%) and the city’s infrastructure and housing 
(16%) (Cardiff Council et al 2005).  No similar analysis has been carried out since then. 

No.  Indicator  Cardiff data  Wales / UK 
data  

Target  Trend  Indicator 
status  

Commentary  Data 
quality  

Data sources  

4.2  Cardiff’s 
ecological 
footprint  

5.59 gha per person in 2001, of 
which:  
Food and drink – 24%  
Energy use – 18%  
Passenger travel – 16% 
Infrastructure and housing - 16%  

5.25 gha 
per person 
in 2001  
 

Reduce 
growth in 
footprint  

? 

! 

There are no plans at 
present to carry out 
another ecological 
foot print study of 
Cardiff.  However, 
this does provide a 

2 

SDU, Cardiff 
Council; BRASS 
Research Centre 
(Cardiff 
University); and 
Stockholm 

                                                 
5 A footprint is expressed in global hectares (gha) of ‘earthshare’. By dividing the bio-productive land and sea on the planet by the number of people who use it a total of a fair earthshare is 
calculated (1.89gha per person) 

P
age 1800



 

                  Page 23 of 78 
 

Consumables and durables – 11%  
Other – 14%  

contextual indicator. Environment 
Institute  

Traffic flows in the city are decreasing, but outside the city it is increasing, contributing to increased greenhouse gas emissions and congestion  

4.5. In Cardiff, traffic accounts for about 32% of CO2 emissions. Traffic on Cardiff’s roads grew by 12% between 1997 and 2007, an average annual increase 
of 1.8%.  While traffic volumes entering the City Centre have decreased by 18% since 1994, traffic crossing the County boundary and across the River Taff 
screenline have both increased over this period, by 37% and 13% respectively.   
 

No.  Indicator  Cardiff data  Wales and 
UK data  

Target  Trend  Indicator 
status  

Commentary  Data 
quality  

Data sources  

4.3  Traffic growth: 
Traffic volumes 
entering the 
County and city 
centre  

Observed two-way 12 
hour Counts, 2009 
(circa, in vehicles): 
 

City Centre Cordon 
2009 - 129,100 
 

County Cordon 
2009 - 308,000 
 

River Taff Screenline 
2009 - 174,900 
 

Cardiff Bay Cordon 
(new) 
2007 - 51,500 
2009 - 49,200 

Not 
applicable  

To be 
determined  

City Centre Cordon 
↑  
down from 
157,800 in 1994*  

- 

Each cordon count is 
surveyed annually on a 
single weekday 
between 7.00am and 
7.00pm. The counts 
may be affected by 
seasonal factors or 
local incidents and are 
thus only a snapshot of 
traffic conditions.  For 
this reason, where 
possible flows are 
averaged across 5 
years to give a more 
reliable rolling average 

1 Road Traffic 
Reduction Act 
 
Cordon and 
Screenline 
annual traffic 
survey data 
 
Infrastructure, 
Cardiff Council 
LTP APR 
Monitoring 

County Cordon ↓ 
225,200 in 1994*  
 

River Taff ↓ 
154,500 in 1994* 

! 

No 1994 figures  
for Cardiff Bay 
Cordon 
 

* 5 year rolling 
average 

 

4.4 Traffic volumes 
(billion vehicle km) 

2.81 in 2010 Not applicable, though 
Welsh trend is towards 
an increase over time 

↔  
up from 2.74 in 
2000, but gently 
declining since 

- Traffic in Cardiff is 
declining gently 
though a little faster 
than the rest of Wales, 

 Transport 
Statistics Wales 
2011 

P
age 1801



 

                  Page 24 of 78 
 

2007 but there is still a long 
way to go. 

4.6. Journeys into the city centre continue to change in favour of more sustainable modes of travel.  The proportion of people choosing to travel into the city 
centre by car decreased by around 7% between 1994 and 2006, while the proportion of those travelling on foot, by bicycle, bus and rail all increased over 
the same period.  Local Transport Services grants in Cardiff increased by over 37% in cash terms between 2004-05 and2011-12, from £566,000 to £778,010  
(Transport Statistics Wales). 

No.  Indicator  Cardiff data  Wales 
/UK data  

Target  Trend  Indicator 
status  

Commentary  Data 
quality  

Data sources  

4.5  Mode of travel to 
the city centre for 
all purposes  

All trips into the City 
Centre (all purposes in %)  

Not 
applicable  

To be 
determined  

Statistically 
significant 
changes:  
↑ car/van, 
bus, train, 
walk, 
bicycle  
 

Statistically 
insignificant 
changes to: 
Park & ride 
coach, taxi,  
motorcycle  

+ The trend arrows show 
the change since 1994 
only for those values 
where there is 95% 
confidence that a 
significant change has 
occurred for a given mode 
(based on analysis of 
confidence intervals).  
There were more than 
1000 responses to the 
1994 survey, and around 
570 for the 2006 survey. 

1 City Centre 
Users Survey 
 
Infrastructure, 
Cardiff Council 
LTP APR 
Monitoring 

               
Car/Van  
Bus  
Train  
Walk  
Bicycle  
Park & Ride 
Coach 
Motorcycle 
Taxi  

1994 
50.1 
23.8 
11.3 
11.4 
1.1 
1.0 
0.6 
0.5 
0.1 

2006 
43.4 
25.0 
12.3 
15.3 
1.1 
0.7 
1.8 
0.2 
0.2 

 

P
age 1802



 

                  Page 25 of 78 
 

 
4.7. Over 70,000 of people who work in Cardiff live outside the 
city’s boundaries: see Table 4.1. Most of the in-commuting is 
from the local areas of Rhondda Cynon Taff, the Vale of 
Glamorgan and Caerphilly.  65% (almost two-thirds) of Cardiff 
residents travel to work by car, but 20% walk or work from 
home, 9% take the bus and 3% cycle– see Figure 4.1.   
 

 
Figure 4.1  Travel to work in Cardiff (Statistics on Commuting in 
Wales, 2010) 

 
 

Year 
No. working 

residents 

No. people 
working in 

Cardiff 

No. residents 
working in 

Cardiff 

No. people 
commuting 

out of Cardiff 

No. people 
commuting 
into Cardiff 

2001 131,500 176,200 107,300 24,200 68,900 
2002 136,300 184,800 113,300 22,900 71,500 
2003 141,000 185,200 114,600 26,500 70,600 
2004 146,300 193,300 119,800 26,500 73,500 
2005 143,300 188,600 115,900 27,400 72,700 
2006 144,600 197,500 119,800 24,800 77,700 
2007 147,700 196,200 122,300 25,400 74,000 
2008 153,200 197,000 126,100 27,100 70,900 

 2010 152,900 198,400 124,200 28,800 74,200 

Table 4.1 People working and commuting in Cardiff (Cardiff Today - Key Economic 
Statistics, 2010 edition; Statistics on Commuting in Wales 2010) 

 

P
age 1803



 

                  Page 26 of 78 
 

Domestic energy use is responsible for almost one third of Cardiff’s 
CO2 emissions  

4.8. Cardiff's domestic energy use is slightly lower than the Welsh 
average, and comparable with that of other large UK cities: see Figure 
4.2  

4.2.  Cardiff’s footprint analysis indicates that existing housing stock is 
responsible for 98.7% of the ecological impact of the total for 
housing.  

 

 Figure 4.2  Domestic energy use in major UK cities  
(GVA Grimley, 2009, Cities, Commerce and Carbon)  

 

No.  Indicator  Cardiff data  Wales data  UK data  Target  Trend  Indicator 
status  

Commentary  Data 
quality  

Data sources  

4.6 Average household 
energy 
consumption 
(kWh) 

 
Electricity: 3840 
Gas: 14,210.7 
(2010) 

 
4066 
14,674.0 
(2010) 

GB: 
4370 
15,156.4 
(2010) 

Reduce ↑ 
3796 
18,094 
(2005) 

 
+ 

 
 

Cardiff's energy use is 
slightly better than the 
Welsh average and 
reducing over time 

1 DECC Sub-
national energy 
consumption 
statistics 

4.7  Percent of major 
developments that 
generate some of 
their energy from 
renewable sources  

Current data gap. Feasibility of this 
indicator to be investigated  

Increase Current data gap  Building regulations 
require developers to 
submit target energy 
use and CO2 emissions 
for their building(s). 
This can be used to 
calculate a percent of 
the demand to be met 
by renewables.  

Current 
data gap  

Part L2A revision 
of the building 
regulations  

P
age 1804



 

                  Page 27 of 78 
 

Flooding poses a particular threat to Cardiff due to its coastal location, low lying areas and rivers  

4.9. The following risks are associated with climate change (Welsh Local Government Association (2008) Changing Climate: Changing Places):  

• Increased risk of flooding and erosion 
• Increased pressure on drainage systems 
• Drier soils and subsidence 
• Significant habitat and species changes and loss 
• Water quality issues in rivers and lakes 
• Greater incidence of drought and problems with water supply 
• Lower air quality 
• Acidification of the sea 

• Health issues in the summer 

• Reduced energy demand in winter but increased demand in summer 

• Increased prevalence of insect and water borne diseases 

• Vulnerability of transport, waste and energy infrastructure 

• Increase in demand for, and cost of, water 

• Increased insurance costs and decreased property values 

• Increased risk of forest and heathland fires 

• Changes in the landscape 

• Increased tourism due to warmer weather  
4.10. Secondary effects of flooding include subsidence, spreading of contaminants, increased insurance premiums and damage to the image of Cardiff.   The 
Cardiff area is likely to be subject to greater increases in temperature as a result of climate change than most of the rest of the UK (UKCIP 2009). 
 
4.11. Flood risk is potentially the most serious of the problems associated with climate change, due to Cardiff’s unique geography and distinctive location.  
Map 4.1 shows areas of Cardiff at risk of flooding.  A more detailed flood risk consequences report of late 2009 focused on nine areas of Cardiff (Table 4.2).   
 

Wentloog tidal Briwnant & Tongwnlais Area of Junction 33, M4 
Motorway 

Rhymney North Pontprennau Taff at Morganstown Taff/Ely 2d modelled area 
NE Cardiff – Roath Brook & 

Nant Glandulais 
Cardiff West Bay Area to Pengam Green 

Key: 

High risk 
Medium risk 

Low risk 
Risk varies from low to 

high 
 

   

Table 4.2 Flood risk in selected areas (Atkins (2009) Cardiff Strategic Flood Consequences Assessment)   

 

P
age 1805



 

                  Page 28 of 78 
 

 

P
age 1806



 

                  Page 29 of 78 
 

4.12  The following factors also affect flood risk in Cardiff: 

• The completion of the Barrage enclosing Cardiff Bay has provided protection against tidal inundation for Cardiff Bay. During storm surges the sluices 
for regulating the water level within the Bay must be kept closed creating a “tidal lock”. During times of tidal lock the water level in the Bay will 
steadily increase as both the Rivers Taff and Ely disgorge into it. With sea levels predicted to increase as climate change occurs, the time the bay 
experiences tidal lock will grow, increasing the likelihood that the Taff and Ely will start to back up. This could have major implications for the Bay 
and development along the lower stretches of the Taff and Ely, particularly during times when the rivers are transporting large volumes of water as a 
result of heavy rainfall  

• Wentloog is at risk from inundation due to its low lying nature, predicted sea level rise, and some areas where coastal defences are at risk of 
overtopping. This will place the mud flats and sea wall under increasing pressure particularly during storm surges due to the tidal nature of the 
Severn Estuary.  Several sites in the Wentloog area have extant planning permission. 

• The lower reaches of the River Rymney are at particular risk of flooding during the storm surges when the level of the estuary can rise dramatically, 
combined with predicted sea level rises and the increased flow volumes of the Rumney.  

 

No.  Indicator  Cardiff data   Wales 
data  

UK data  Target  Trend  Indicator 
status  

Commentary  Data 
quality  

Data sources  

4.8  Number of 
properties at risk 
from river and 
coastal flooding  

About 1000 
households 
at 
‘significant’ 
risk (> 1 in 
75 chance 
each year) 
of flooding, 
4000 more 
at  
‘moderate’   
risk (> 1 in 

No trend data is currently available but this data 
will be collected over the plan period.  

?   Figures 
estimated 
from bar 
chart – 
actual 

numbers 
not 

available 
on the web 

Flooding in 
Wales: a 
national 

assessment of 
flood risk, 

Environment 
Agency Wales,  

2009  

P
age 1807



 

                  Page 30 of 78 
 

200) and 
about 
28000 
‘slight’ risk 

4.9  Percent of new 
development with 
Sustainable Urban 
Drainage Systems 
(SUDS)  

 Current data gap. Feasibility of this indicator to be 
investigated  

? Cardiff Council has no 
data on this indicator.  

Current data gap  

4.10  Number of new 
housing units 
approved in C1 and 
C2 flood risk areas  

No data 
currently 
available  

    ? Data will be included 
and collected in 
future monitoring 
reports.   

1 Planning 
Policy Team – 

Cardiff 
Council 

 

P
age 1808



 

                  Page 31 of 78 
 

5. Cultural heritage and the historic environment  

Introduction  

5.1. The city as seen and experienced today reflects a wealth of influences as it developed from a small community on the banks of the River Taff. Evidence 
still exists from Roman times and other key stages in the city’s development. Most notably, the era of mining in the South Wales Valleys saw an 
unprecedented boom for Cardiff in terms of its economic and physical growth. Cardiff performed a vital role both as a port and commercial centre. The 
Victorian and Edwardian legacy in terms of street patterns and buildings is still clearly evident and provides a very distinctive character to large areas of the 
city. A range of formal designations have been used to help identify and protect the most important features of Cardiff’s historic and architectural heritage. 
Whilst Cardiff continues to develop, it is important that its rich cultural, historic and architectural legacy is fully understood, protected and managed.  

The City’s cultural and historic attractions perform an important national and regional role, attracting large numbers of visitors each year  

5.2. In 2010/11, St. David's Hall, New Theatre and Cardiff Castle each had more than 200,000 paid visitors. This reflects the importance nationally and 
regional of Cardiff’s cultural and historic attractions.  

No.  Indicator  Cardiff data  Wales 
data  

UK data  Target  Trend  Indicator 
status  

Commentary  Data 
quality  

Data sources  

5.1  Number of paid 
attendances for 
cultural venues 
in Cardiff  

Attendance in 2010/11: 

St. David's Hall (not 
including conferences): 
235,950 

New Theatre: 230,971  

Cardiff Castle:  212, 804 

Not applicable  400,000 
(Cardiff 
Council)  

↔ 
Attendance 
in 2009/10: 

St. David's 
Hall: 
224,038 

New 
Theatre: 
239,350 

Cardiff 

+ 

Trend information 
will become available 
over the life of the 
plan as more data 
collected.  

2 

Managers of St. 
David's Hall, 
New Theatre 
and Cardiff 
Castle 

P
age 1809



 

                  Page 32 of 78 
 

Castle: 
234,224 

Cardiff contains a wide range of areas, buildings and monuments designated for historic value befitting of its Capital City status  

5.3. There are 28 Scheduled Ancient Monuments in Cardiff. Archaeological remains provide important, often irreplaceable, information about the past. Their 
investigation and, where appropriate, preservation is important in its own right and can provide an invaluable educational and tourism resource. Four 
archaeologically sensitive areas have been identified in Cardiff. They represent the most likely areas where the effect of development on the archaeological 
resource may be an issue during the determination of a planning application. They are:  

• The City Centre  

• St Fagans/Michaelstone-super-Ely  

• The Wentloog Levels  

• Llandaff  

5.4. Cadw has listed 855 buildings or structures in Cardiff as being of Special Architectural or Historic Interest. Cardiff also has 27 conservation areas 
(covering 811.7ha in total) designated for their special historic or architectural interest. They vary greatly in size and character and range from the villages of 
St Fagans and old St Mellons, to the more recent Victorian and Edwardian suburbs which developed during Cardiff’s ‘boom years.’  

No.  Indicator  Cardiff data  Wales 
data  

UK data  Target  Trend  Indicator 
status  

Commentary  Data 
quality  

Data sources  

5.2 Percent of 
conservation areas 
with an area 
appraisal 
undertaken in the 
last 10 years  

27 appraisals 
have been 
completed since 
2005 
(August2012)  

Not applicable  100% 
(Cardiff 
Council)  

↑ (9 
undertaken 
by March 
2007) + 

A management plan is being 
prepared for the last 
conservation area 1  

Conservation 
Team, Cardiff 
Council;  

5.5. Cardiff has 15 Historic Parks and Gardens that cover 468 hectares.  They are widely spread and of contrasting character.  Some of the larger historic 
parks reach from the city centre to the outer suburbs. Cardiff’s heritage extends well beyond those identified in statutory protections. All of the city’s historic 
built fabric helps define the character of the city and the diverse cultural backgrounds of its residents and visitors. Map 5.1 shows the extent of designated 
sites, features, buildings and areas.  

P
age 1810



 

                  Page 33 of 78 
 

Some designated buildings/features are not in a favourable condition  

5.6. In 2009, 29 of Cardiff's listed buildings were at risk (Cardiff Council 2010). This represents 3.4% of the current listed building stock in Cardiff.  Three 
buildings have been taken off the 'at risk' list since 2006. 

No.  Indicator  Cardiff data  Wales 
data  

UK data  Target  Trend  Indicator 
status  

Commentary  Data 
quality  

Data sources  

5.3 Percent of listed 
buildings at risk  

29 buildings, 
3.4% of the total 
(November 2009) 

Not available  0% 
(Cardiff 
Council)  

↑  
(32 buildings, 
3.75% of the 
total, at risk 
in March 
2006) 

- 

 

1  

Buildings at risk 
register, 
Conservation 
Team, Cardiff 
Council 

P
age 1811



 

                  Page 34 of 78 
 

  

P
age 1812



 

                  Page 35 of 78 
 

6. Economy  

Introduction  

6.1. Cardiff has undergone major changes over the last century with the decline of the coal industry, the increasing dominance of the service sector, and 
devolution combining to shape the city into what it is today.  

Cardiff is the key economic driver for south-east Wales  

6.2. Today, Cardiff is the main driver of the South Wales economy.  Cardiff's population is more than346,0006, more than 45% of whom are in employment.  
Cardiff employs more than 200,000 people, of whom about 70,900 (40%) commute into Cardiff for work.  Overall, about one-third of the South East Wales 
workforce work in Cardiff (see Table 4.1).  It is one of the UK's more competitive cities, and well ahead of the Welsh average.  However the city struggles to 
convert this into outcomes for citizens, such as increased earnings; the recession has affected Cardiff like elsewhere; and the economic benefits of the last 
decade have not been felt universally across the city.   

No.  Indicator  Cardiff data  Wales 
data  

UK data  Target  Trend  Indicator 
status  

Commentary  Data 
quality  

Data sources  

6.1 UK competitiveness 
Index  

100.2 in 
2010  
 

(130th out 
of 379 local 
areas) 

83.9 in 
2010 
(lowest of 
the UK 
regions) 

100  No target 
identified  

 ↔ 
100.9 in 
2006; 
99.9 in 
2009 

+ 

The UK Competitive Index brings 
together a range of economic 
indicators.  Cardiff performs much 
better than the Welsh average.   

1 

UK 
Competitiveness 
Index 2010 

 

                                                 
6 2011 census, www.statswales.wales.gov.uk/TableViewer/tableView.aspx?ReportId=40221  

P
age 1813

http://www.statswales.wales.gov.uk/TableViewer/tableView.aspx?ReportId=40221


 

                  Page 36 of 78 
 

Cardiff has strong economic growth (reduced by the recession) and relatively high employment  

6.3. Cardiff experienced strong growth in employment and Gross Value Added in the decade to 2007.  Although the number of jobs has since fallen, Cardiff is 
still significantly outperforming the Welsh and UK average.  In 2009, Cardiff generated 17% of the Welsh Gross Value Added, at over £22,000 per person.  
Average salaries are slightly above the UK average although significantly above the Welsh average.  Employment levels have fallen since the recession, and 
currently (autumn 2010) stand between the UK and Welsh averages. 

 

No.  Indicator  Cardiff data  Wales data  UK data  Target  Trend  Indicator 
status  

Commentary  Data 
quality  

Data sources  

6.2  Number of jobs 
in Cardiff  

Full time jobs 
2008: 132,300 
(17% increase 
since 2000) 
 
Part time jobs 
2008: 58,600 (6% 
increase since 
2000) 
  

8% increase 
in FT, 
13% 
increase in 
PT jobs 
since 2000  

5% increase 
in FT, 8% 
increase in 
PT jobs 
since 2000  

No target 
identified  

↑  
FT : 113,100 in 
2000; 129,300 
in 2005; 
136,400 in 
2007  
 
PT : 55,200 in 
2000; 65,700 
in 2005; 
56,500 in 2008 
6% since 2000 

+ 

Cardiff performs well 
when compared to 
Wales and the UK.  

1  

Nomis Labour 
Market Profile: 
Cardiff, August 
2012 

6.3  Gross Value 
Added (GVA) 
per head of 
local population  
 

£22,234 (2008) 
£21,195 (Cardiff 
and the Vale, 
2007) 
 
 

£15,222 
(2008) 
£14,853 
(2007) 
12,629 
(2003)  
 

£21, 103 
(2008) 
£20,430 
(2007) 
17,043 
(2003)  

No target 
identified  

↑  
£16,501 

(Cardiff and 
the Vale, 2003) + 

Cardiff's GVA grew by 
28% between 2003 
and 2007, compared 
with 17% for Wales 
and 20% for the UK.  
Data is for Cardiff and 
Vale of Glamorgan. 

1  

Office of National 
Statistics, 
Regional GVA, 
Dec. 2009 

P
age 1814



 

                  Page 37 of 78 
 

No.  Indicator  Cardiff data  Wales data  UK data  Target  Trend  Indicator 
status  

Commentary  Data 
quality  

Data sources  

6.4 Full time gross 
median pay 
(£/week) 

£506.40 
 
 
 

£460.00 
 
 

£503.10 
 
 

 ↑ 
£347.60 in 
2000 (46% 
increase to 

2010) 

+ 

Compares with 29.1% 
increase for Wales, 
27.8% for UK 1 

Nomis Labour 
Market Profile 
2010 

6.5  Percent of 
residents 
working age 
population in 
employment  

65.4% (2011-12) 
 
 

66.7% 
(2011-
2012) 
 
66.8%  
(2009-10)  

70.2% (GB, 
2011-12)  

No target 
identified  

↓ 
70.5% in 2004 

- 

Recent figures are 
indicative of the 
current economic 
recession. 1  

Nomis Labour 
Market Profile 
2010 

6.4. Maps 6.1 and 6.2 show areas of high and low employment and income in Cardiff.  Again, these are generally concentrated in the 'southern arc of 
deprivation', particularly Ely, Butetown, Caerau, Grangetown, Splott, Llanrumney, Pentwyn, Rumney and Trowbridge. 

P
age 1815



 

                  Page 38 of 78 
 

  

P
age 1816



 

                  Page 39 of 78 
 

 

P
age 1817



 

                  Page 40 of 78 
 

Manufacturing industries are in decline, and service 
sector industries and private sector employment are 
growing  

 
6.5 Table 6.1 shows that key sectors in the city include 
financial and business services, and public administration, 
health and education.  The service industry accounts for 
almost 90% of the jobs in the city, and almost one in three 
Cardiff residents work in the public sector.  Finance, IT 
and other business activities increased by more than 60% 
between 1998 and 2008, and account for one quarter of 
the employment in Cardiff. Manufacturing jobs in Cardiff 
have declined rapidly from over 20% thirty years ago, and 
are low compared to the Welsh and Great Britain average 
(Nomis, 2010; Cardiff Council Economic Needs 
Assessment, 2010). 

The workforce is polarised between qualified graduates and low skilled workforce  

6.6. Cardiff has the most skilled workforce in the region, with almost 40% educated to a degree level or above.  Cardiff has three higher education 
institutions, Cardiff University, the University of Wales Institute Cardiff and the Welsh College of Music and Drama, providing about 4,000 new graduates 
each year.   

6.7. However areas of the city are still experience significant deprivation and low educational achievement, as is shown at Maps 1.3 and 1.4.  17.2% of 
unemployed people claiming benefits have been unemployed for more than a year.  The 'southern arc of deprivation' has a particularly high proportion of 
Job Seekers Allowance claimants (Map 6.3): in May the claimant rate in Butetown stood at 8.4%, seven and a half times the claimant rate of 1.1% in Lisvane.  
More significantly, the number of young people aged 18-24 claiming benefits for over 6 months has increased rapidly since the start of the recession (Figure 
6.1) (Cardiff Economic Needs Assessment, 2010; Nomis, 2010). 

 

Table 6.1 Jobs in Cardiff, 2008 (Nomis, 2010) 

P
age 1818



 

                  Page 41 of 78 
 

 

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

4,000

Jun-07

Aug-0
7
Oct-

07

Dec-0
7

Fe
b-08

Apr-0
8
Jun-08

Aug-0
8
Oct-

08

Dec-0
8

Fe
b-09

Apr-0
9
Jun-09

Aug-0
9
Oct-

09

Dec-0
9

Fe
b-10

Apr-1
0
Jun-10

Aged 18-24

Aged 18-24, claiming for over 6 months

 
 
Figure 6.1 Unemployment claimants ages 18-24  
(Cardiff Economic Needs Assessment, 2010) 
 

 
Map 6.3  Claimant proportion by ward Darker = higher proportion 
(January 2010) (Cardiff Trends 2010) 

No.  Indicator  Cardiff data  Wales data  UK data  Target  Trend  Indicator 
status  

Commentary  Data 
quality  

Data sources  

6.6  Percent of 
unemployed people 
claiming benefit who 
have been out of 
work for over a year 

17.7% (Dec. 
2011)  

13.9% (Dec. 
2011)  

15.7% 
(Dec. 
2011)  

No target 
identified  

↓ 
11.6% in 
2005 - 

Cardiff is performing 
unfavourably 
compared  with Wales 
and UK, and still has 
some  way to go. 

1 

Nomis Labour 
Market Profile: 
Cardiff 

P
age 1819



 

                  Page 42 of 78 
 

6.7  Proportion of 
residents on 
Jobseeker's 
Allowance 

May 2011 
4.0%  
 
 

May 2011 
3.7%  

May 2011 
3.6% 

No target 
identified  

↓  
2.5% (Jan. 

2006) 
-  

JSA counts represent 
the economically 
active and working age 
population who are 
unemployed.  This is 
the highest level since 
mid 1998. 

1  

Nomis Labour 
Market Profile: 
Cardiff 

 

Significant areas of employment land have changed to alternative uses (notably housing) although land for employment is still available  

6.8. Changing market conditions (as described above) have resulted in a shift in demand away from manufacturing towards alternative uses such as housing. 
Examples of this include the Arjo Wiggins site at Ely Bridge, AWE site on Caerphilly Road, and Maes y Coed Road.  This trend has slowed due to the economic 
recession.  Currently the employment land bank stands at 97.79 hectares.  

No.  Indicator  Cardiff data  Wales 
data  

UK data  Target  Trend  Indicator 
status  

Commentary  Data 
quality  

Data sources  

6.8  Amount of land (in 
hectares) available 
for employment  

97.79 (2011)  Not applicable  No target 
identified  

↔ 
100.4 in 
2007  

- 
 

1 
DTZ Employment 
Land Study 2011 

P
age 1820



 

                  Page 43 of 78 
 

7. Health and wellbeing  

Introduction  

7.1. Although Cardiff generally has above average health and social conditions compared to the rest of Wales, there are considerable variations between and 
within localities, with people in some electoral divisions experiencing health deprivation that is amongst the worst in Wales.  In 2009 Cardiff was awarded 
Healthy City Status by the World Health Organisation, which demonstrates a commitment to improve the health and well being of local people.  

The health of Cardiff’s population is generally better than the Welsh average although considerable discrepancies exist at ward level  

7.2. Life expectancy is determined by a range of factors and gives an indication of the comparative wellbeing of the population up to now7. A range of factors 
can influence life expectancy, including lifestyle, income, employment, access to services and the wider environment. Life expectancy at birth for Cardiff's 
residents is currently 76.6 years for men and 81.7 for women.  Of the 404 local authorities in England and Wales, Cardiff ranks 301 for men and 240 for 
women: its women's life expectancy is roughly that of the Welsh average of 81.4, but men's life expectancy is less than the Welsh average of 77.0 (Office for 
National Statistics, 2009).  

7.3. 23% of men and 22% of women in Cardiff have a limiting long-term illness.  This compares well with the Welsh average of 26% (men) and 29% (women) 
(Welsh Heath Survey 2008/09). 

 

                                                 

7 It does not provide an indication of the life expectancy for people born today.  For this measure to accurately predict the life expectancy of existing residents two variables would need to 
remain constant: i) all people to live in the same area for their whole lives, and ii) the health of the population in the area to remain exactly the same for the next 80 years. These two 
conditions are obviously unlikely to be met.  

 

P
age 1821



 

                  Page 44 of 78 
 

7.4 The single largest cause of death in Cardiff is cardiovascular disease. Two major determinants of cardio vascular disease are smoking and diabetes. 
Cardiovascular diseases have been decreasing over time (as have other smoking related diseases) as smoking rates have declined.  The smoking ban in public 
places means that the number of people smoking is likely to continue to decrease.  

 
Health varies considerably across the City  

7.5. Considerable differences exist between individual areas within Cardiff.  Map 7.1, which shows the health component of the Welsh Index of Multiple 
Deprivation 2011, suggests that residents of Plasnewydd, Grangetown and Adamsdown have worse than average health.  The WIMD health component 
brings together data on cancer incidence, death and long term limiting illness.  In 2005-9 the difference in life expectancy between the best fifth of Cardiff 
wards and the worst fifth was about 13 years for men and 10 for women.  This was about the same  as in 1999-2003 and a much bigger difference than the 
Welsh average.  

No.  Indicator  Cardiff data  Wales 
data  

UK data  Target  Trend  Indicator 
status  

Commentary  Data 
quality  

Data sources  

7.1  Prevalence of key 
illnesses in 2009/10 
(in %): 
High blood press. 
Heart condition 
Respiratory illness 
Mental Illness 
Arthritis 
Diabetes 

  
 
 
17 
7 
13 
10 
11 
6 

 
 
 
20 
9 
14 
10 
13 
6 

No readily 
comparab
le data 
available 

No target  ↔ 
data for 
2004/06 
15 
6 
14 
8 
9 
4 

+ Cardiff 
out 
performs 
Wales 

 

1 

Welsh Health 
Survey 2010 
 
Welsh Health 
Survey 
2004/06 - but most 

illnesses 
are rising 

7.2  Gap between the 
wards with the 
highest and lowest 
life expectancy  

 
2005-9 
Lowest: 
highest: 
 
1999-

M  
 
70.5 
83.3 
 
 

F  
 
76.7 
86.7 
 
 

Average: 
M - 77.2 
F – 81.6 
(2007-09) 
 
Average: 

Average:
M – 77.9 
F – 82.0 
(2007 – 
2009)  
Average:

Reduce 
difference 
(Cardiff 
Council)  

? 
 
 
 ? 

 

2 

Measuring 
inequalities 
2011: Trends 
in mortality 
and life 
expectancy in 

P
age 1822



 

                  Page 45 of 78 
 

2003 
Lowest: 
Highest:  

 
69.4 
83.0  

 
75.4 
84.8  

M - 75.1  
F - 79.9 
(1999-
2003)  

M - 75.9  
F - 80.5 
(1999 – 
2003)  

Wales, NHS 
Public Hea;lth 
Wales  
Observatory 
 
Experimental 
Statistics, ONS  
 
Life 
Expectancy 
statistical 
bulletin (WAG 
– November 
2010).  P

age 1823



 

                  Page 46 of 78 
 

 

P
age 1824



 

                  Page 47 of 78 
 

Over half of Cardiff’s adults are clinically overweight or obese  

7.6. Obesity among UK children and adults is increasing, and evidence suggests that this trend will continue in the future. In Cardiff 57% of men and 46% of 
women were overweight or obese in 2008/09, up 2% from three years earlier.  

Under a third of Cardiff’s adults get the exercise that they need  

7.7. Government guidelines recommend that adults should undertake 30 minutes or more of at least moderate intensity physical activity on five or more 
days a week (Department of Health 2004).  Only one in three men and one in five women in Cardiff reported meeting these levels.  Cardiff ranks second 
lowest of the Welsh authorities for men, and joint lowest for women on this basis.  Access to recreational open space is an important determinant of good 
health: open space provision is discussed in Chapter 8 (landscape). 

 
No.  Indicator  Cardiff data  Wales 

data  
UK data  Target  Trend  Indicator 

status  
Commentary  Data 

quality  
Data sources  

7.3  Percent of adults 
who are overweight 
or obese  

M: 56%, W: 46% 
M+W: 51% 
Best of the Welsh 
local authorities 
for women 

M: 62% 
W: 52% 

England 2009: 
M: 66% 
W: 57% 
 

No target  ↓  
50% M+W 
in 2004/06 - 

Better than 
Welsh and UK 
averages, but 
still a long way 
to go. 

1  

Welsh Health 
Survey, 2009 and 
2010 
 

Welsh Health 
Survey 2004/06 

7.4  Percent of adults 
who reported 
meeting physical 
activity guidelines in 
the past week  

M:30%, W: 21% 
 

2nd lowest of the 
Welsh local 
authorities for 
men, joint lowest 
for women 

M: 36% 
W: 23% 

England 2008: 
M: 39% 
W: 29% 

No target  ↓ 
31% overall 
in 2004/06 

! 

 

1 

Welsh Health 
Survey 2009 and 
2010 
 
Welsh Health 
Survey 2004/06 

 

P
age 1825



 

                  Page 48 of 78 
 

Road safety has generally improved   

7.8. Figure 7.1 shows that there continues to 
be a downward trend in the number of road 
casualties over time.  Taking a five year rolling 
average, the total number of casualties for 
2009 decreased by 23% from the 1998 
baseline year.  Similarly, there has been a 
decrease in the number of killed or seriously 
injured (KSI) casualties between 1998 and 
2009 of 39%.  There have been no child 
fatalities since 2007, however 6 serious child 
casualties occurred during 2009 and 10 in 
2010. 

7.9. Of all accident casualties (killed, seriously 
injured and slightly injured) in 2008, 18% 
were pedestrians, 8% cyclists, 5% motor-
cyclists, 63% car users, and 7% other. 

Figure 7.1  Accident trends for Cardiff 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

220

1994 1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

Year

A
cc

id
en

t C
as

ua
lti

es
 in

 C
ar

di
ff

Fatal + Serious Casualties 5yr avg. Fatal + Serious Casualties
Slight Casualties per 100 million veh-km 5yr avg. Slight Casualties per 100 million veh-km
Child Fatal + Serious Casualties 5yr avg. Child Fatal + Serious
5yr avg. Fatal + Serious Casualties Trendline 5yr avg. Slight Casualties per 100 million veh-km Trendline
5yr avg. Child Fatal + Serious Casualties Trendline

P
age 1826



 

                  Page 49 of 78 
 

 
 No.  Indicator  Cardiff data  Wales data  Target  Trend  Indicator 

status  
Commentary  Data 

quality  
Data sources  

7.5  No. people killed or 
seriously injured in 
traffic accidents 
 
 

2005-2009 5 
year average 
 
All: 92 
Children: 15 
 
 
 

1247 people were 
killed or seriously 
injured in 2011.  This 
is up from 1087 in 
2010, the first 
increase after steady 
reductions from 
1871 in 1999.  The 
1994-1998 average 
was 2008.  

40% fewer 
killed or 
seriously 
injured by 
2010s (LTP t PI 
3.1)  
 
50% fewer 
children under 
the age of 16 
killed or 
seriously 
injured by 2010 
(LTP PI 3.2)  

↑  
on target: 
39% 
decrease 
from 127 
average 
1994-
1998 + 

The number of fatal, 
serious and slight 
casualties continues 
to fall. 
 

The rate of slight 
casualties to total 
volume of road traffic 
saw a 26% decrease 
between the 5 year 
rolling average of 
1994-98 and 2005-
09.   

1 

Police Accident 
Statistics / 
Department for 
Transport 
 
Road Safety 
Cardiff 
 
Infrastructure, 
Cardiff Council 
LTP APR 
Monitoring LTP PI 
3.1 and 3.2 

 

Crime levels have also broadly improved or remained steady  

7.10. There were more than 30,000 notifiable offences in Cardiff in 2009/10, with criminal damage, violence against the person and theft from motor 
vehicles being the most prevalent.  Overall crime levels have stayed broadly level over the last decade, with a reduction in burglaries and theft, but more 
variability amongst other forms of crime.  The south and east of the city is subject to higher levels of crime than elsewhere, and Cathays ward  (includes city 
centre) sees a particularly high number of criminal damage, violence against the person, and drug offences – see Map 7.3 (Cardiff Needs Assessment, 2010). 

P
age 1827



 

                  Page 50 of 78 
 

 Environmental quality – a determinant of health – varies greatly within Cardiff 

The Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation brings together information about air quality, air emissions, flood risk, and proximity to waste disposal and 
industrial sites into a physical environment index.  Map 7.3 shows that, under this index, Butetown, Splott and Adamsdown fare particularly badly, as does 
Whitchurch and Tongwynlais. 

No.  Indicator  Cardiff data  Wales 
data  

UK 
data  

Target  Trend  Indicator 
status  

Commentary  Data 
quality  

Data sources  

7.6  Notifiable offences 2010-11: 
violence against person 
wounding/endangering life 
other wounding 
harassment 
common assault 
robbery 
theft from person 
criminal damage 
burglary in building 
burglary elsewhere 
theft of motor vehicle 
theft from motor vehicle 

 
6141 
317 
2434 
1806 
1217 
284 
1387 
5894 
1801 
1792 
685 
3126 
 

2003/04 
6089 
364 
2782 
1506 
702 
367 
1632 
9136 
2726 
3081 
2811 
6839 

Not applicable  No target 
identified 
 

↔ 
Burglaries 
and theft 
down, 
others 
more 
variable 

+ some 
offences 
are down 

 1 Office of National 
Statistics, 
Neighbourhood 
Statistics 
 

- but still 
some way 

to go  

 

P
age 1828



 

                  Page 51 of 78 
 

 

  

  
Map 7.2 Violence against the Person, Theft of a Motor Vehicle, Criminal Damage, Burglary from a Dwelling   (Joint Needs Assessment, 2010) 

P
age 1829



 

                  Page 52 of 78 
 

 

P
age 1830



 

                  Page 53 of 78 
 

8. Landscape  

Introduction  

8.1. Cardiff has a unique landscape setting comprising of an island, coastline, three major river valleys and a countryside backdrop of distinctive topography. 
A landscape study (Cardiff Council et al 1999) using the Countryside Council for Wales LANDMAP methodology was completed in 1996 for Cardiff’s 
countryside. The study identified fourteen areas of distinctive landscape character (‘Combined Aspect Areas’) and also proposed five of these areas as 
Special Landscape Areas (SLAs) to be considered for formal designation, in 2007 the 1999 landscape study was updated and extended to include more of the 
river corridors. Landscape interests also extend into the urban area, principally through the important strategic role played by the river valleys of the Taff, 
Ely, and Rhymney together with other valued areas of open space within the urban fabric. Map 8.1 shows some of the features that contribute to Cardiff’s 
unique landscape. The main issues relating to Cardiff’s landscape resource concern the effective protection, management and enhancement of this unique 
resource.  

Cardiff has a very strong and distinctive landscape backdrop  

8.2. Garth Mountain, Caerphilly Mountain and Graig Llanishen provide a strong and imposing backdrop along the northern edge to the city. The ridge rises to 
a thousand feet above sea level on the summit of Garth Mountain and has a pronounced escarpment together with lower slopes leading down to the M4 
and northern edge of the urban area. The ridge, forming the southern rim of the South Wales coalfields, is dramatically broken where the River Taff breaks 
through, forming the Taff Gorge at Tongwnlias.  

8.3. Much of the west of the urban area is enclosed by the Leckwith Escarpment. This forms a strong physical and visual backdrop for land immediately 
outside the administrative area and within the Vale of Glamorgan.  

8.4. In contrast to the strong topography to the north and west, the eastern edge of the city, adjacent to the Severn Estuary, is flat. It forms part of a much 
larger historic landscape unit, the Gwent Levels, which extends alongside the River Severn beyond Newport.  

P
age 1831



 

                  Page 54 of 78 
 

 

P
age 1832



 

                  Page 55 of 78 
 

Three major river valleys run through the city  

8.5. Three major river valleys run through Cardiff. The valleys contain large areas of open space and are a significant determinant of the urban form of the 
city. They also provide a valued resource for biodiversity, recreational, historic and cultural interests.  

 8.6. The River Taff valley has strong historic links as it provided an important corridor for the movement of goods between Cardiff Docks and the South 
Wales Valleys. It is well accessed by local communities along its whole length and a National Cycleway, the Taff Trail, follows its length in Cardiff and beyond 
to the Brecon Beacons. It forms a significant and well-known feature, passing through Llandaff, the City Centre and Cardiff Bay.  

8.7. The River Ely merges with the Taff in Cardiff Bay and forms the administrative boundary with the Vale of Glamorgan for its lower length. Although not 
containing the same scale of open spaces and adjoining communities as the River Taff, the Ely Valley performs an important strategic and local role. Its 
western section in the vicinity of St Fagans is of particularly high landscape, biodiversity and historic value.  

8.8. To the east of the city, the River Rhymney forms a well defined valley and contains the only tidal estuary in the city (as the Taff and Ely run into Cardiff 
Bay that is held within a barrage to the Severn Estuary). Visually, the valley is very prominent as the A48, a main route into the city, follows the western edge 
of the valley into the city.  

8.9. Tributaries to the rivers also add to Cardiff’s range of landscape features. Most are small streams with catchments from within the city. However, some 
have become important corridors in their own right such as the Nant Fawr which contains a range of well-used open spaces including Roath Park, a major 
attraction of Green Flag status.  Action plans have been prepared for all three river valleys detailed above.  

The coastline presents complex issues and opportunities  

8.10. Cardiff has a coastline on the River Severn Estuary with its huge tidal range, but its characteristics and accessibility are very mixed. The Cardiff Bay 
Barrage provides public access to the coast in the west but the shoreline to the east along the operational dock area and to the south of the steel works/ 
sewerage station is not currently accessible. To the east of the Rhymney estuary lies the Lamby Way landfill site, and part of a much longer stretch of 
undeveloped coastline running to Newport.  

P
age 1833



 

                  Page 56 of 78 
 

8.11. The undeveloped coast contains mudflats and rapidly eroding saltings below the high water mark. A sea wall then runs along the whole length of coast 
to Newport. The flat land behind forms part of the Gwent Levels, an area of land reclaimed from the sea in Roman times that is drained by a complex of 
ditches known as reens. This land is below high water level, hence the need for a sea wall.  

8.13 Flat Holm Island is a Special Landscape Area (SLA) situated approximately 5 miles from Cardiff and Barry.  Flat Holm is a locally, nationally and 
internationally designated site due to the unique assemblages of flora and fauna is supports plus historic interests.   

8.12. The Wales Assembly Government announced in late 2006 its aim of improving public access to the coast. The Wales Coast Path (WCP) was from the 
border near Chester to Chepstow officially opened on 5th May 2012. The Cardiff section links to the Vale of Glamorgan at the Barrage in the west and 
Newport boundary along the seawall in the east, total route is 15.60km 

No.  Indicator  Cardiff data  Wales 
data  

UK data  Target  Trend  Indicator 
status  

Commentary  Data 
quality  

Data sources  

8.1  Length of coast 
with formal public 
access  

WCP route 15.60 km, 
inc 
5.64 km (2012) PRoW 
0.35 km (2012) Park 
 
 
1.73 km (2010) 
1.04 km (2006) 

Not applicable  
 
Wales Coast Path 
total route 1,400 
km 

To 
increase 
  
- Achieved 

↑ 
1.73km in 
(2010 
 
1.04km in 
2006 
 + 

New Creation orders for 
Public Rights of Way 
total 5.64km (inc 0.94km 
Dedication by DCWW & 
1.41km as PRoW 
Bridleway) and 0.35km 
on Parks land (Parc 
Tredelerch). 
Appropriate Assessment 
has confirmed feasibility 
of the route adjacent to 
the Severn Estuary 
subject to mitigation 
measures. 

1  

Natural 
Environment 
Group, Cardiff 
Council  
 
 
 
Coastal Access 
Officer, Rights of 
Way Team, 
Cardiff Council 

 

P
age 1834



 

                  Page 57 of 78 
 

Five areas have been proposed as SLAs  

8.13. The Cardiff Landscape Study (Cardiff Council et al 1999, updated 2007) considered that 5 of the 14 landscape character areas were of sufficient quality 
to be proposed for Special Landscape Area status (SLA).  They indicate parts of Cardiff’s landscape that are considered to be of quality meriting local 
designation. The areas are:  

• Garth Hill & Pentyrch Hills  

• Caerphilly Mountain  

• St Fagans  

• Gwent Levels  

• Flat Holm 

 
No.  Indicator  Cardiff data  Wales 

data  
UK data  Target  Trend  Indicator 

status  
Commentary  Data 

quality  
Data sources  

8.2  Area (in hectares) of 
landscape protected 
by local landscape 
designations  

Proposed SLAs - 2409 
ha  
Proposed Greenbelt - 
1468 ha  

Not applicable  No target  ? 

? 

Areas of SLA and Green 
Belt are those 
proposed in the 
deposit copy of the 
UDP  

1  

Deposit copy 
UDP, Cardiff 
Council  

Cardiff is generally well served by open spaces within the urban area, but some areas are under-provided  

8.14. Green/open spaces are important because they improve people's mental and physical health, encourage physical activity, are attractive, support 
biodiversity, act as a carbon sink, and can help to adapt to climate change.  There are several ways of testing the adequacy of open space provision: 

• Accessibility:  Distance to green areas influences how often people visit them.  A survey of 2007 showed that 69% of Cardiff's area (not its population) is 
within 400 metres – about a six minute walk – of a green area, and only 1% is more than 2 kilometres from a green area.  Whilst Pentwyn, Llanrumney, 
Llanishen, Pentyrch and Fairwater all have more than 85% of their area within 400m of an accessible natural green space, the areas of Roath, Birchgrove, 
Ely, Canton and particularly Adamsdown and Plasnewydd have limited areas within 400m of green spaces (CCW and Cardiff Council (2008) Analysis of 
Accessible Natural Greenspace Provision in Cardiff). 

• Amount:  The Welsh Assembly Government recommends that 2.43 hectares (6 acres) of open space should be provided per 1000 population, divided 
into formal, informal and children's play areas.  Only two of Cardiff's 29 wards – Caerau and Riverside - meet these standards.  The wards of 

P
age 1835



 

                  Page 58 of 78 
 

Adamsdown, Cyncoed, Ely, Fairwater, Gabalfa, Lisvane, Llandaff, Pentwyn, Penylan, Plasnewydd all have less than one-third of their open space 
requirements – see Map 8.2 (Cardiff Open Space Survey 2009). 

• Quality: A survey of 2007 which analysed the quality and value of Cardiff's open spaces found that the Ely, Gabalfa, Llandaff North and Adamsdown, 
which contained no sites designated for nature and built environment conservation purposes, were the worst wards in terms of their average value 
ratings.  Wards with open space of both high quality and value are concentrated at the heart of the city, with quality scores ranging from 43% to 64%.  
Open spaces in the eastern and western sides of the city were more likely to have lower scores, with the exception of Creigiau and St. Fagans.  In terms 
of overall quality and value, Plasnewydd came out on top with an average of 64%, whilst Grangetown had the lowest average score of 55% (Cardiff Open 
Space Survey 2007). 

Cardiff’s landscape qualities are vulnerable to insensitive new development and land management practices  

8.15. The Landscape Study (Cardiff Council et al 1999) identified a number of negative attributes and detractors that have and could adversely affect 
landscape quality in the city.  

No.  Indicator  Cardiff data  Wales 
data  

UK data  Target  Trend  Indicator 
status  

Commentary  Data 
quality  

Data sources  

8.3  Achievement of 
recreational open 
space 
requirements  

Only 2 out of Cardiff's 
29 wards (Caerau and 
Riverside) meet 
requirements (2009) 

Not available  (2.43ha per 
1000 
population) 

? 

! 

Overall provision of 
430.29ha; 
requirement of 
780.03ha; deficit of 
349.74ha. 

2 

Cardiff Open 
Space Survey 
2009 

8.4 Area of Cardiff 
within 400m of 
accessible natural 
green space 

68.7% (2007)  100% ? 

- 

Over 30% of Cardiff’s 
population are over 
400m away. 2 

 

P
age 1836



 

                  Page 59 of 78 
 

P
age 1837



 

                  Page 60 of 78 
 

9. Natural resources  

Introduction  

9.1. Cardiff has developed over the centuries utilising the natural resources available within the area and from beyond. As the city continues to develop, it is 
important that its natural resources are used prudently. Land is a key resource in the city as it is an essential requirement for development, but also the basis 
for agriculture, open spaces and biodiversity interests. Approximately two thirds of the administrative area is built up, and a third is countryside or open 
space. Whilst there is physical capacity for greenfield expansion, account needs to be taken of the wider role and value of the land.  Agricultural land and 
allotments help to provide local food, as well as improving residents' physical and mental health.  Brownfield land offers opportunities for development, 
although remediation may be required on contaminated sites resulting from previous industrial activities. Water resources are becoming an increasingly 
important issue in the light of climate change.  Water quality is improving in the rivers, but it is important that vulnerable aquifers are suitably safeguarded 
and that the water resource as a whole is properly managed.  

Recent years have seen a high proportion of housing completions on previously used (brownfield) land  

9.2. New housing built in 2011/12 was almost solely on brownfield sites.  During the last decade, the use of predominantly brownfield sites has contributed 
to the development of a large proportion of apartments, particularly in the Cardiff Bay and central areas of the city (Local Housing Strategy 2010).  Whilst 
this has reduced the demand on greenfield sites, they have also affected the range and choice of housing on supply, with implications for the provision of 
affordable housing, family housing and affordability in general. Additionally, the development of many brownfield sites may have implications for local 
employment if existing business premises are being lost to housing.  
 
No.  Indicator  Cardiff data  Wales 

data  
UK data  Target  Trend  Indicator 

status  
Commentary  Data 

quality  
Data sources  

9.1  Percent of housing 
on previously 
developed land  

98.6% (2011/12)  Not available  60% 
(DCLG)  

↑ 
94.7% in 
2005/06,  
36.4% in 
1997/98 

+ 

 

1 

Housing 
Monitoring, 
Cardiff Council  

 

P
age 1838



 

                  Page 61 of 78 
 

As a result of Cardiff’s industrial past, many sites could potentially be contaminated  

9.3. Past industrial activities have led to land to become contaminated in various ways over many years.  Cardiff Council is aware of about 1410 hectares of 
potentially contaminated land, including industrial, mining and quarrying, dockland and former waste disposal sites.  Some contaminated land sites only 
come to the Council's attention when developers undertake site investigations on land being considered for future development, so this number could 
increase in the future. 
 
9.4 In recent years Cardiff has undergone a significant amount of redevelopment works which has seen many remediation projects occurring.  Development 
of contaminated land has the advantage of cleaning up land and securing regeneration although this incurs additional costs. When brownfield sites are 
redeveloped, they are usually done so on a 'suitable for use' basis, and as such the remediation undertaken on the sites depends on the proposed end use8.  
Most of the remediation that is undertaken involves engineering practices, for instance capping over the existing contaminated land with imported clean 
soils, thus encapsulating the contamination.  Whilst this is an effective remediation methodology in that it breaks the pathways and exposure to the 
contamination, it does not reduce/ breakdown or remove the contamination from the site. 

9.5. The Council has prepared a Contaminated Land Inspection Strategy (Cardiff Council 2010) that sets out how the Council will deliver its statutory duties 
and provides a framework to identify, inspect and remediate contaminated land.  

No.  Indicator  Cardiff data  Wales 
data  

UK data  Target  Trend  Indicator 
status  

Commentary  Data 
quality  

Data sources  

9.2  Number and area 
(in hectares) of 
potentially 
contaminated sites  

Approx. 1410 ha 
(10% of Cardiff 
area), 2010 

Not applicable  Reduce area 
of potentially 
contaminated 
land (Cardiff 
Council)  

? 
unclear 
due to 
how sites 
are 
identified 

? 

The sites have been 
identified 
(predominantly) by 
looking at past industrial 
activities and identifying 
those activities that 
could have resulted in 
contamination.  

2  

Cardiff 
Pollution 
Control 
Division 
 

                                                 
8 For instance, the remediation undertaken on a site for commercial/industrial development would not be suitable to accommodate residential purposes, so if such a site was considered for 
residential development in the future, some form of additional remedial works would probably be required. 

P
age 1839



 

                  Page 62 of 78 
 

Good quality agricultural land is known to exist in Cardiff but no comprehensive survey has been undertaken recently  

9.6. The latest Agricultural Land Classification (ALC) criteria adopted in 1976 classifies land into 5 grades. The ‘best and most versatile land’ is defined as 
Grades 1, 2 and 3a. This is the land which is most flexible, productive and efficient in response to inputs and which can deliver future crops for food and non 
food uses such as biomass, fibres and pharmaceuticals. Old ALC records (before the subdivision of Grade 3) show areas of grade 2 and 3 at locations outside 
the urban area. The best quality land is located within the Rhymney valley to the north east of the city and is known to have supported arable use in recent 
years. Other farmland outside the urban edge to the north and west was classified within Grade 3 but no known comprehensive survey has been undertaken 
to classify under the 1976 criteria. The ridge to the north of the city and levels to the east are considered less likely to fall within the best and most versatile 
land under the criteria.  

9.7. Agricultural land values have risen sharply in recent years, particularly in Wales.  A survey by Savills suggests that land values in Wales rose by more than 
80% between 2003 and 2008 - more than twice as fast as the Great Britain average - driven in part by a sharp reduction in the land available for sale, and the 
higher values that non-farmers are willing to pay (Savills Agricultural Land Market Survey 2009). 

No.  Indicator  Cardiff data  Wales 
data  

UK data  Target  Trend  Indicator 
status  

Commentary  Data 
quality  

Data 
sources  

9.3 Area (in hectares) of 
grades 1, 2 and 3a 
agricultural land  

Current data gap   ? ? No recent survey of 
agricultural land (last 
survey occurred prior to 
the 1976 revision of ALC).  

Current data gap  

Cardiff's allotments are important for people's health and food security, but they are oversubscribed 

9.8. Allotments play an important part in improving people's health.  Not only do they offer the opportunity to grow food but they also provide an excellent 
form of outdoor activity, exercise, relaxation, and a place where people can meet each other.  Cardiff's allotments strategy suggests that a minimum of 15 
plots should be provided per 1000 households9.  This would mean 2055 plots for Cardiff's current population, and almost 2700 for its future population10.  

                                                 
9 This is equivalent to the 1993 average for England (Cardiff allotments strategy 2005).  
10 The Welsh Assembly Government's Household Projections for Wales 2010 predict that Cardiff will have 179,000 households in 2023 

P
age 1840



 

                  Page 63 of 78 
 

Although Cardiff currently has about 2000 plots, allotments in Cardiff are already often difficult to obtain due to long waiting lists: in 2009, only three of the 
council's sites had plots available (Cardiff Council allotment categories and prices, 2010). 

No.  Indicator  Cardiff data  Wales / UK 
data  

Target  Trend  Indicator 
status  

Commentary  Data 
quality  

Data sources  

9.4  Number and area 
of allotments, 
number of plots 

Between 25 and 28 
allotments (more 
than 2000 plots) 
covering between 
65 and 79 hectares, 
depending on the 
data source used. 
24 sites fully let 
with a total of 2015 
tenants; waiting list 
over 1000 

Not 
applicable 

15 plots per 1000 households 
(Cardiff Allotment Strategy 2005) 

No loss of area of allotments 
(Cardiff Biodiversity Action Plan) 

"ensure that statutory allotments 
... are sufficient to 
meet the demands of local 
residents wishing to cultivate 
them" (TAN 16) 

? - Different data 
sources 
provide 
different 
information 
about 
allotments.  
Long waiting 
lists at many 
sites. 

2 Cardiff 
Allotment 
Strategy 2005 

Draft Allotment 
Strategy 2010 

Cardiff 
Biodiversity 
Action Plan 

Cardiff Open 
Space Survey 
2007 

 

Cardiff has sufficient mineral reserves to last about 30 years  

9.9. Mineral resources are a valuable but finite resource.  They provide the essential raw materials for our buildings, infrastructure and their maintenance. 
An adequate and steady supply of minerals is essential to the national, regional and local economy and their exploitation makes a significant contribution to 
economic prosperity and quality of life.  

9.10. Cardiff is one of the largest producers and consumers of minerals in the region.  Natural minerals in Cardiff include quarried hard rock (carboniferous 
limestone and dolomite) and dredged sand landed in Cardiff Docks.  In 2004, crushed rock production in Cardiff was just over half  a million tonnes (mt) per 
year, and about 0.2 mt of sea dredged sand is landed at Cardiff Docks each year11.  Most of this natural mineral production is used in the construction 

                                                 
11 South Wales Regional Aggregates Working Party, Annual Reports 2004, 2008 and 2010 

P
age 1841



 

                  Page 64 of 78 
 

industry as aggregates. Secondary materials also substitute for natural aggregates. Approximately 0.1 mt of steelworks slag is used per year for construction 
purposes, and a significant quantity of construction and demolition waste is recycled as aggregate.   

9.11. Cardiff's permitted reserves of hard rock minerals represented about 69 years of supply at the then current output rates in 2010, up from 33 years in 
2008 and  53 years in 200412.  This variation reflects changes in rates of use in development.  The land bank will continue to decrease as the reserves are 
quarried, highlighting the need to protect them from inappropriate development. However, they still represent a significant land bank.   

No.  Indicator  Cardiff data  Wales data  UK data  Target  Trend  Indicator 
status  

Commentary  Data 
quality  

Data sources  

9.5  Landbank (in years) 
of mineral reserves  

About 69 
years  

18 – 122 
(South Wales 
authorities) 

n/a 10 years  ↔ 
variable, 
depending on 
demand  

+ 

 

2 

South Wales 
Regional 
Aggregates 
Working Party, 
2010 

Chemical and biological water quality of the rivers Taff, Ely and Rhymney is ‘fair to good’ and water quantity is satisfactory  

9.12. Cardiff contains the three major river valleys of the Taff, Ely and Rhymney together with other watercourses such as the Nant Fawr.  Historically, the 
rivers' water quality has been degraded due to mining activities, urban run-off and extensive physical modifications.  However water quality has dramatically 
improved in recent years as improvements have been made to drainage systems and mining related activities have ceased upstream. This has allowed the 
return of salmon and sea trout, with some tributaries providing spawning and nursery areas.   

9.13. However Cardiff's rivers are still vulnerable to overflows from abandoned mine workings, and diffuse and intermittent pollution from urban and 
industrial development.  The South East Valleys catchment, of which they are part, is one of the worst catchments of the ten that comprise the Severn River 
Basin.  In the catchment overall, only 6% of river length is achieving good ecological status or potential, as required by the Water Framework Directive.  The 
Environment Agency does not expect this to change by 2015.  Proposed action to tackle problems in the river catchment include improvements to sewer 
overflows and sewage treatment works discharges to reduce pollution by ammonia and other substances, pollution monitoring and habitat improvements 
(Environment Agency, 2009, River Basin Management Plan Severn).  

                                                 
12 ibid. 

P
age 1842



 

                  Page 65 of 78 
 

9.14. Abstraction in the lower Taff catchment is dominated by the exempt abstraction at Blackweir that supplies Cardiff docks, while the licensed 
abstractions sum to a comparatively small total. Water resources in the Ely catchment are currently not fully utilised. The main abstractions in this unit are 
industry related (Environment Agency Wales 2006).  

No.  Indicator  Cardiff data  Wales 
data  

UK data  Target  Trend  Indicator 
status  

Commentary  Data 
quality  

Data sources  

9.6  Percent of river 
lengths achieving 
good ecological 
status or potential  

South East Valleys 
Catchment: 
Good 4.0% 
Moderate 77% 
Poor 18% 
Bad 1% 

   100% 
good by 
2027 

?  
In 2006, good 
chemical 
quality  94.4%; 
good 
biological 
quality  79.4% 
 

- 

The Water Framework 
Directive requires water 
quality to be monitored 
differently from 2006, so 
there is no trend data.  
Data is for the entire 
catchment, including 
Cardiff's rivers 

2 

Environment 
Agency Wales  

9.7  Total non-tidal 
water abstractions  

Number of 
abstraction 
licenses: 47 
 
4,409,970 M3 per 
year, total. (2010) 
 

No Comparator   ?  
This was the 
amount 
abstracted in 
2010, data will 
be acquired 
for 
subsequent 
years as part 
of LPD 
monitoring  

?   2 Environment 
Agency Wales 

9.8 Percentage of 
Cardiff’s rivers 
achieving Good 
General Quality 
Assessments 

Cardiff Data 
(including 
Whitchurch canal). 
biology 
A – 5.74 

Wales Data 
 
Biology 
A – 33.18 
B – 50.39 

  General 
quality 
assessments 
for biology 
and chemistry 

+ GQA are made yearly by 
the Environment Agency 
Wales.  Cardiff has 
shown its strongest 
improvements in 

Environment Agency 
Wales (2010) 

P
age 1843



 

                  Page 66 of 78 
 

B- 51.36 
C- 22.96 
D- 14.69  
E- 0 
F- 0 
No data – 5.24 
Chemistry 
A- 55.91 
B- 18.32 
C- 25.77 
D – 0 
E – 0 
F –  0 

C – 10.83 
D – 0.71 
E – 0.74 
F – 0 
No data – 4.15 
 
Chemistry 
A- 74.43 
B – 19.42 
C – 3.01 
D – 0.83 
E – 1.23 
F – 0.06 
No data – 1.01  

show year on 
year 
improvements 
(figure 9.1) 

chemical water quality 
compared with biology.  
However, GQA is still 
below the Welsh 
average.  

 

P
age 1844



 

                  Page 67 of 78 
 

 
Figure 9.1 – Trends in Biological and chemical General Water Quality in Cardiff (1990 – 2009 Environment Agency Wales 2010) 
 

P
age 1845



 

                  Page 68 of 78 
 

10. Population  

Introduction  

10.1 Cardiff has unique population characteristics that are different to those experienced within the South East Wales region and Wales as a whole. Its 
population has grown rapidly over the last 20 years, and this rapid growth is expected to continue.   

Cardiff’s population has increased steadily over the past 20 years 
but much more rapidly since 2001 reaching 345,400 in 2011  

10.2. Figure 10.1 shows the change in Cardiff’s population over the 
last 29 years. The average growth rate over this period was 0.57%. 
Analysis of the components of population change (births, deaths 
and net migration) are shown at Figure 10.2. This reveals relatively 
stable birth and death rates resulting in an average natural change 
of 1,000 persons per year over the past 29 years. Migration trends 
fluctuate more considerably but the overall trend between 1981 
and 2009 shows a net migration of 700 persons per year.  

10.3. The average annual population increase over the period 
2001-2009 was 3,300 per year, approximately 83% above the 
average for 1981-2009 and approximately 181% above the 
average for 1981-2009. This reflects the trend for population to 
increase mostly from net migration rather than from relatively 
stable natural increase. The last 4 years have seen a net in 
migration of approximately 2,800 per year. 

280.0

290.0

300.0

310.0

320.0

330.0

340.0

19
81

19
82

19
83

19
84

19
85

19
86

19
87

19
88

19
89

19
90

19
91

19
92

19
93

19
94

19
95

19
96

19
97

19
98

19
99

20
00

20
01

20
02

20
03

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

 

Figure 10.1  Cardiff's population (000s), 1981-2009 (National Statistics) 

 

P
age 1846



 

                  Page 69 of 78 
 

10.4. The population of the South East Wales region has 
increased from 1.37 million in 1981 (48.8% of the Wales 
total) to 1.45 million in 2009 (48.2% of the Wales total). 
However within the region, the coastal areas have seen an 
increase in populations whilst the valley authorities have 
experienced a loss of share (and amount) to varying 
degrees. For example, Cardiff has experienced a 17.2% 
growth in population over the period 1981-2009, whilst 
Merthyr Tydfil has experienced a loss of 8.1% over the 
same period. 

Figure 10.2  Births, deaths and net  migration, 000s 
(National Statistics) 

Figure 10.3 Population (%) by local authority in South 
East Wales 2009 (total 1.45 million) (National Statistics)  

-3.0

-2.0

-1.0

0.0

1.0

2.0

3.0

4.0

5.0

19
81

-2

19
82

-3

19
83

-4

19
84

-5

19
85

-6

19
86

-7

19
87

-8

19
88

-9

19
89

-0

19
90

-1

19
91

-2

19
92

-3

19
93

-4

19
94

-5

19
95

-6

19
96

-7

19
97

-8

19
98

-9

19
99

-0

20
00

-1

20
01

-2

20
02

-3

20
03

-4

20
04

-5

20
05

-6

20
06

-7

20
07

-8

20
08

-9

Births Deaths Net Migration

 

 

 

Population and household numbers will increase in South East Wales, and Cardiff’s 
proportion of this is increasing  

10.5. The Welsh Assembly Government's population projections suggest that Cardiff's 
population will increase by 22% to 2023, from 336,200 to 410,500.  Predictions of household 
numbers are for a 31% increase between 2008 and 2023, from 137,000 households to 179,000 
(WAG Household and Population Projections for Wales (2008-Based), 2010).   

 

 

Vale of Glam 
8.6% 

Bridgend 
9.3% 

RCT 
16.2% 

Merthyr Tydfil 
3.9% Caerphilly 

11.9% 
Blaenau Gwent 

4.7% 
Torfaen 
6.3% 
Monmouthshire 

6.1% 

Newport 
9.7% 

Cardiff 
23.3% 

P
age 1847



 

                  Page 70 of 78 
 

No.  Indicator  Cardiff data  Wales data  UK data  Target  Trend  Indicator 
status  

Commentary  Data 
quality  

Data sources  

10.1  Total population  341,100 
population 
(2010) 
 

3,006,400 60,462,600 No target  Increase 
 
contextual 
indicator 

Cardiff’s population 
and number of 
households has 
increased steadily 
over the past 29 
years but much more 
rapidly since 2001.  
The number of 
households is 
increasing year on 
year in Cardiff, Wales 
and the UK.   
Average household 
size is decreasing.  

1 

Office for 
National 
Statistics  

10.2  Number of 
households and 
average 
household size  

Households  
142,100 (2010) 
Average size 
2.34 (2010) 

1,318,500 
(2010) 
Average size  
2.26 
(2010) 
2.75 (1981) 

England and 
Wales 
Households -
218,680,00 
(2008) Average 
size -2.30 
(2008) 
2.65 (1981) 

Accommo
date LDP 
household 
projection
s  

number up, 
size down: 
2.45 (2001) 
2.54 (1991)  
2.75 (1981) 

 
contextual 
indicator 

1 

DCLG and 
WAG 
projections  

 
 

P
age 1848



 

                  Page 71 of 78 
 

Average household size is decreasing, with a decline in married couples but an increase in one person, lone parents and cohabiting couples  

10.6. Cardiff’s average household size has been 
consistently higher than that for Wales and England & 
Wales, but it has been decreasing in line with national 
rates.  Household size is diminishing due in part to a 
marked decline in the proportion of married couple 
households and an increase in single households and 
cohabiting couple households.  The latest WAG 2006 
based household projections indicates that Cardiff's 
predominant sizes of household is of 1 or 2 people 
(64% of households).  Based on past trends, it is 
projected that this will increase to 68% of all 
households by 2026: see Table 10.1.  

 
 Table 10.1  Projected households by type for Cardiff, 000s (WAG 2006 based projections) 

 

Household Type 2006 2026 No  % 
% of total  

change 
1 person 40.5 59.0 18.5 45.7 51.2 
2 person (no children) 37.1 44.5 7.4 19.9 20.5 
2 person (no children) 5.6 10.1 4.5 80.4 12.5 
3 person (no children) 9 8.7 -0.3 -3.3 -0.8 
3 person (2 adults, 1 child) 8.1 10.2 2.1 25.9 5.8 
3 person (1 adult, 2 children) 3.9 7.0 3.1 79.5 8.6 
4 persons (no children) 3.5 3.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 
4 persons (no children) 11.1 10.5 -0.6 -5.4 -1.7 
4 persons (1 adult, 3 children) 1.3 2.3 1.0 76.9 2.8 
5+ persons  (no children) 2.6 3.4 0.8 30.8 2.2 
5+ persons (2 adults 1+ children) 7.3 6.3 -1.0 -13.7 -2.8 
5+ persons (1 adult, 4+ children) 0.7 1.3 0.6 85.7 1.7 
All Household Types 130.7 166.8 36.1 27.6 100 

Cardiff: Projected Households by Type - Thousands (WAG 2006 based projections) 
Year Change 

P
age 1849



 

                  Page 72 of 78 
 

Cardiff has a relatively high proportion of young adults and a low proportion of older age groups compared to Wales as a whole 

10.7. Figures 10.4 and 10.5 provide a summary of the population age structure for Cardiff and South East Wales. Cardiff's population distribution contrasts 
markedly from that of South East Wales (and UK, which are similar to each other). Cardiff has a higher percent of population in age groups 15-39 years but 
relatively lower percent in older age groups from 40 years upwards.    

10.8. Of particular significance is the effect of Cardiff’s student population who represent around 10% of the city residents. Most full-time students are aged 
between 18 and 29 years old. Almost 19% of Cardiff’s population falls within the 20-29 age range compared with less than 12% for South East Wales as a 
whole.  

 

  
Figure 10.4  Cardiff age structure in 2010 (National Statistics) Figure 10.5 South East Wales age structure in 2010 (National Statistics) 

 

P
age 1850



 

                  Page 73 of 78 
 

Ethnic groups as a proportion of Cardiff’s population are higher than for Wales as a whole  

10.9. Figure 10.6 shows that Cardiff’s population profile in terms 
of ethnic group is quite different to the Wales average but much 
closer to England and Wales combined. At the time of the 2001 
population census, Cardiff’s white population accounted for 91.6% 
of the total, compared to Wales (97.9%) and England & Wales 
(91.3%).  The ethnic minority populations tend to live in the 
poorest inner city areas that rank amongst the most deprived 
areas in Wales (see Map 1.1). 

 

 

Figure 10.6  Ethnic groups of the population 

(Cardiff Council, Joint Needs Assessment 2010, based on ONS 2007 
Experimental Statistics) 

 
Minority Ethnic Persons as a Percentage of Population in 2007 by 

Broad Age-Group: Cardiff, Wales & England & Wales 
(Source: ONS 2007 Experimental Estimate)

12.31

10.87

3.72

0.00

2.00

4.00

6.00

8.00

10.00

12.00

14.00

16.00

0 - 15 16-64/59 65/60 Plus

England & Wales Wales Cardiff  

P
age 1851



 

                  Page 74 of 78 
 

11. Waste  

Introduction  

11.1. The Welsh Assembly Government has set challenging targets for 
recycling and composting.  Combined with European Union legislation, these 
are driving change towards more sustainable waste management practice.  
Cardiff's waste is managed on a sub-regional basis, along with other local 
authorities in South East Wales.  Information on waste produced in Cardiff is 
limited: much of the information provided in this chapter is about South East 
Wales as a whole. 

11.2  The South East of Wales had an estimated 8.6 years of remaining 
landfill capacity in 2008, see figure 11.1. 

 

 
Figure 11.1 Remaining landfill capacity, in years (Environment Agency 
Wales 2008) 

P
age 1852



 

                  Page 75 of 78 
 

   

Construction and demolition waste is currently the biggest component of waste in 
South East Wales  

11.2.    Construction and demolition waste is the biggest component of waste in South 
East Wales, accounting for about 55% of all waste produced.  This is followed by 
municipal (17%), industrial (15%) and commercial (10%) waste (South East Wales 
Regional Waste Group 2008) - see Figure 11.2.   

11.3. Municipal waste produced in Cardiff, as in the UK as a whole, increased rapidly to a 
peak in 2004/05 but is now decreasing significantly.  In 2008/09, Cardiff Council was 
responsible for over 118,000 tonnes of municipal waste, down sharply from a peak of 
171,000 four years earlier (Statswales, 2010). The first quarter of 2012 was 11% lower 
than the same period in 2011.   

11.4.  In 2005/06, Cardiff had 4 civic amenity sites, 11 scrapyard/metal reprocessing 
sites, 24 mobile plants, 3 physical treatment plants, 1 physico-chemical treatment plant, 
14 transfer stations, and 1 windrow composting site.  In total, these had a capacity for 
4.44 million tonnes of waste, more than half of that for South East Wales as a whole 
(South East Wales Regional Waste Group Regional Waste Plan 1st Review, 2008). 

 

Figure 11.2  Amount (in 000 tonnes) of waste arisings in South 
East Wales, 2005/06 (South East Wales Regional Waste Group, 
2008) 

No.  Indicator  Cardiff data  Wales data UK data  Target  Trend  Indicator 
status  

Commentary  Data 
quality  

Data sources  

11.1  Commercial and 
industrial waste 
arising per year  

247,608 tonnes 
(2002/03 – 
most recent 
data available)  

SE Wales 
1,244,948 
(2005/06) 

Not known  No target  ↑ 
1,290,902 in 
2002/03 (SE 
Wales) 

- 
tonnage 

down 
but still 

high 

Cardiff Council has 
no suitable local 
data   

 3 

South East 
Wales Regional 
Waste Group 
Regional Waste 
Plan 1st Review, 

P
age 1853



 

                  Page 76 of 78 
 

11.2  Construction 
and demolition 
waste arising 
per year  

Not available  SE Wales 
2,858,774 
tonnes   
(2005/06) 

Not known  Recycle or 
reuse 70% by 
2025 (WG)  

↓  
2,747,765 in 
2002/03 (SE 
Wales) 

-  

2008 

11.3  Municipal waste 
arising per year  

161,800 tonnes 
(2011/12), 
down from 
181,800 in 
2007/8  
 

Wales 1.479 
million  
(2011/12), down 
from 1.713 
(2007/8)  

11% 
decrease in 4 
years 

  ↑ 
Decreasing 

+ 

 

1 

Statswales, 
Municipal 
Waste Arisings 
2012 
(http://www.st
atswales.wales.
gov.uk/TableVie
wer/tableView.
aspx?ReportId=
10564) 

11.4  Number of 
planning 
applications 
with site waste 
management 
plans  

 Current data gap. Feasibility of this indicator to be 
investigated  

? Such plans may 
become a legal 
requirement for 
large projects in the 
future  

Current data gap  

 

P
age 1854



 

                  Page 77 of 78 
 

Recycling rates are improving rapidly following the completion of a new recycling facility and rolling out a recycling scheme  

11.5. Cardiff's recycling and composting rates have historically been significantly below the Welsh average.  Only 10.4% of the municipal waste stream was 
recycled in 2004/05 compared to a Welsh recycling rate of 21.7%.  However this has improved rapidly with the opening of the Materials Recycling Facility, 
the PAS 100 Composting Facility, the In-vessel composting facility and the roll-out of an integrated kerbside recycling scheme, and Cardiff at 49% is now 
slightly ahead of the Wales average of 48%.  

No.  Indicator  Cardiff data  Wales data  UK data  Target  Trend  Indicator 
status  

Commentary  Data 
quality  

Data sources  

11.5  The percent of 
municipal waste 
prepared for reuse, 
composted or 
recycled  

49% (2011-12) 
 

48% (2011-
12) 

 WG targets of 
52% (2012-13), 
58% (2015-16) 
64% (2019-20) 
and 70% (2024-
25)  

↑  
3.4% in 2000/01 
10.4% in 2004/05 
39% (2009/10) 

+ 

 

1 

Statswales,  
Local Authority 
Municipal 
Waste 
Management,  
January – 
March 2012 
http://wales.g
ov.uk/docs/sta
tistics/2012/1
20628sdr1042
012en.pdf 

11.6 Number of bring 
sites and large 
household 
recycling centres 

14 bring sites 
 
4 Household 
recycling 
centres 

N/A N/A N/A  

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 1855

http://wales.gov.uk/docs/statistics/2012/120628sdr1042012en.pdf
http://wales.gov.uk/docs/statistics/2012/120628sdr1042012en.pdf
http://wales.gov.uk/docs/statistics/2012/120628sdr1042012en.pdf
http://wales.gov.uk/docs/statistics/2012/120628sdr1042012en.pdf
http://wales.gov.uk/docs/statistics/2012/120628sdr1042012en.pdf


 

                  Page 78 of 78 
 

It is unclear how Cardiff's waste will change in the future 

11.6. There is considerable uncertainty regarding the likely future 
of Cardiff's waste. Factors affecting waste growth include:  

• Population changes  

• Changes to the number and size of households 

• Consumer behaviour  

• Effectiveness of waste minimisation strategies  

• Changes in the economic prosperity of the region  

11.7.  In 2008, based on past trends, future population change, 
economic activity and legislation, the South East Wales Regional 
Waste Group predicted an 83% growth in municipal waste 
between 2003/04 and 2024/25; a 17-20% increase in commercial 
and construction waste; and a significant reduction in industrial, 
agricultural and hazardous waste – see Figure 11.3.   

 
Figure 11.3  Predicted waste arisings, 2003/04 – 2024/25 (South East Wales Regional 
Waste Group Regional Waste Plan 1st Review, 2008) 

11.8. The group predicted in 2004 that Cardiff would need significantly more waste treatment facilities of most types, albeit not landfill (South East Wales 
Regional Waste Group, 2004, South East Wales Regional Waste Plan).  However these predictions may change now as a result of the economic recession, 
increased population projections for Cardiff, and further measures taken by the Council to reduce waste production.  Prosiect Gwyrdd is looking for the best 
environmental, cost effective and practical solution for waste in South East Wales once recycling and composting has been maximised in each Local 
Authority area (partnership between Caerphilly, Cardiff, Monmouthshire, Newport and Vale of Glamorgan Councils). 

 

P
age 1856



 1

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cardiff Council & Levett‐Therivel Sustainability Consultants 
 
 
Sustainability Appraisal and Strategic Environmental Assessment 
of the Cardiff Local Development Plan  
 

Appendix C: Consultees’ Responses on Scoping 
Report 
 
Final Sustainability Appraisal Report of the Cardiff Local 
Development Plan 
 
January 2016 
 

Page 1857



 2

 

Caldicot and Wentlooge Levels IDB 

Consultee comment  Recommended response 

Policy Review  

Biodiversity, Flora and Fauna:  Suggest including the ‘Environment 
Strategy for Wales’.  The Key Policy Document contains a number 
of outcomes and actions relevant to the LDP.  

Agree, added.  

Climate Change:  
 Suggest that references to the Flood Risk Regulations 

(2009) and the Flood and Water Management Act (2010).  
 The reference to threats from potential flooding is 

welcomed but the inclusion of a reference to existing 
communities, development, infra‐structure and other 
assets alongside ‘new developments’ is suggested for the 
‘how the LDP might help’ column. 

 Suggest that a reference to the additional flood risk 
assessments, mapping and related responsibilities and 
actions for local authorities in the recent legislation.   

 
Agree, added. 
 
Agree, add to bullet point. 
 
 
 
 
Agree, added.  

Landscape: 
Suggest including the ‘Register of Landscapes of Historic Interest in 
Wales’ to the Key Policy Documents part of the table.  
 

Disagree; this is a non 
statutory advisory 
document.   

Scoping Report  

The reference to the risk of flooding and new developments but 
would urge that existing developments are also included, 

Agree, amended. 

The specific reference to the need to consider the significant threat 
from flooding for the Wentlooge Levels is welcomed.  

Noted.  

Sustainability Issues  
Cultural Heritage and the Historic Environment:  There is a case for 
making a reference here to the importance of Historic Landscape 
interests. 

Agree, added.  

Landscape:  The reference to the Gwent Levels and the Severn 
Estuary are welcomed as these are very important assets for the 
City. 

Noted.  

SA/SEA Objectives 

Sub objective 4e: This point needs to refer to the need to protect 
existing developments, communities, infrastructure etc.  

Disagree, objective 4g in 
the SA/SEA Framework 
encompasses all 
developments new and 
old. 

Sub objective 4f: We welcome the reference here to the relevance 
and importance of Sustainable Drainage Systems.  This is an area of 
work of direct relevance to the Board.  

Noted.  

Suggests studying Defra’s Adaption to Climate Change Programme; 
particularly the Climate Change Risk Assessment Project for a 
comprehensive account of the potential effects of climate change, 
a section on Wales is available.  

Noted.  

The Board has concerns that there are development sites on 
Wentlooge Levels with extant planning permission. 
 
 

This concerns the content 
of the LDP and is not 
directly relevant to the 
SA/SEA, and has been 

Page 1858



 3

forwarded to the LDP Team 
for consideration as part of 
the preparation of the LDP. 

Appendix 2  

The Board is also concerned about the current data gap in relation 
to indicators 4.9 and 4.11, relying on the Number of Properties at 
risk from flooding, percentage of new developments with SUDS 
and Number of new approved housing units in C1 and CV2 Flood 
risk areas. 

At the current time 
changes are not considered 
necessary to the Scoping 
Report, however this issue 
will be kept under review.  
Current data gaps – the 
feasibility of these 
indicators is to be 
investigated, and 
alternative indicators 
developed if necessary. 

Welcomes the inclusion of Wentlooge Levels in Paragraph 5.3 but 
would urge that specific reference is made here to the Historic 
Landscape Interest of this area. 

Disagree, already included 
in cultural heritage and 
historic environment 
section. 

Welcomes the inclusion of Gwent Levels as one of the five sites to 
be proposed as Special Landscape Areas.  

Noted. 

 
Cardiff Civic Society  

Consultee comment  Recommended response 

Scoping Report 

The Draft Sustainability and Environmental Impact Assessment is 
comprehensive and written in plain English but presented but 
presented in an overly complex sequence making access difficult. 

A Non‐Technical Summary 
is provided, which 
summarises the 
information contained 
within the Scoping Report 
over 5 pages. 

Major concern is the lack of importance given to climate change.    This is a matter for the LDP 
rather than the SA/SEA and 
has been forwarded to the 
LDP Team to consider as 
part of the preparation of 
the LDP.  However, climate 
change is a principle 
concern and will be 
integral to the 
development of strategic 
options and policies.  There 
is a specific objective, and 
range of sub objectives, in 
the SA/SEA  Framework to 
‘reduce emissions of 
greenhouse gases that 
cause climate change and 
adapt to its effects’. 

Welcome the statement in section 4 “climate change is probably 
the greatest long‐term challenge facing the human race, and is a 
serious and urgent issue” as it suggests that sustainability and 
environmental policies will be central to the LDP. 

Suggest that a drive for a sustainable city must be central to any 
assessment of the LDP. 

Agreed.  The SA/SEA 
Framework of objectives 

Page 1859



 4

has been designed to take 
into account socio‐
economic and 
environmental factors and 
provide a range of 
objectives that are based 
on achieving a more 
sustainable city.  They form 
the basis of the criteria for 
assessment. 

Appendix 1 

Transport: The implications of the goals on transport must be 
based upon extensive modelling of the options available, and 
requires data on actual projected traffic flows into and around the 
city.  The proposals are too weak and radical alternatives must be 
professionally examined to ensure solutions are suitable for 2026 
and the climate change goals.  

This is a matter for the LDP 
rather than the SA/SEA but 
has been noted and 
forwarded to the LDP Team 
to consider as part of the 
preparation of the LDP. 

Air Quality: Improvements must be specific and delivered, it is not 
sufficient to minimise travel and consider the location of polluting 
industry.  

The SA/SEA can only set 
out how it assesses the 
LDP, but has been noted 
and forwarded to the LDP 
Team to consider as part of 
the preparation of the LDP. 
 

Biodiversity: In this Year of Bio‐diversity the importance of 
addressing this aspect of human damage to the planet has been 
accepted by many countries, not least by the WAG. 

The SA/SEA can only set 
out how it assesses the 
LDP, but has been noted 
and forwarded to the LDP 
Team to consider as part of 
the preparation of the LDP.  
Biodiversity is an objective 
set out in the SA /SEA 
Framework. 
 

Climate Change: Vague statements about promoting, helping, 
supporting and encouraging must be replaced by positive and 
action orientated words like providing, ensuring and delivering.  
There is not enough evidence on which to base protective 
measures like flood protection schemes in the event of water 
levels increasing and the anticipated risk is understated. 

The SA/SEA can only set 
out how it assesses the 
LDP, but has been noted 
and forwarded to the LDP 
Team to consider as part of 
the preparation of the LDP. 
 

Cultural heritage and histroric environment:  Cardiff Civic Society 
concurs with the implications identified in the draft.  

Acknowledged. 

Economy: The list of things the LDP must do lacks supporting and 
justifying data from external sources. 

This is a policy review 
document and supporting 
data and sources can be 
found in the original 
documents reviewed. 

Health and well‐being: There is no specific reference to the 
facilities to encourage young people to participate in sports.  

This is a policy review 
document and as such can 
only reference items 

Page 1860



 5

included in these policies. 
 

Landscape: Cardiff Civic Society concurs with the implications 
identified in the draft 

Acknowledged. 

Population: Section on housing needs reinforcing by policy on 
standards, design, mix and regeneration/ green deals.  It is not 
enough to indicate or support good development. 

This is a policy review and 
cannot set additional 
policies, but comments 
have been noted and 
forwarded to the LDP Team 
to consider as part of the 
preparation of the LDP. 
 

Waste: Recycling goals must be achieved not just given help.  There 
is no reference to energy from waste schemes.  

This is a policy review 
document and cannot set 
additional policies or 
include recommendations 
not included in the policies 
reviewed. 

Appendix 2 

Indicator 4.2 Cardiff ecological footprint data is dated 2001; an 
update is needed to quantify the target “reduce growth in 
footprint”. 

At the current time 
changes are not considered 
necessary to the Scoping 
Report, however this issue 
will be kept under review.  
WAG have now taken 
responsibility for 
measuring this at a local 
authority level.  Currently 
awaiting updated data that 
is comparable with the 
2001 data.   

Indicator 4.7 As stated, there is no data on affordable housing, 
despite this being an area of failure last time. 

At the current time 
changes are not considered 
necessary to the Scoping 
Report, however this issue 
will be kept under review.  
Current data gap and 
seeking data to fill.   

Indicator 4.8 As stated there is no data on renewable energy 
sources.  This is a  remarkable omission especially since Cardiff’s 
potential was showcased in the Government Office for Science 
report “Powering our Lives” Published in 2008. 

At the current time 
changes are not considered 
necessary to the Scoping 
Report, however this issue 
will be kept under review.  
Current data gap and the 
feasibility of this indicator 
is to be investigated, and 
alternative indicator 
developed if required.  The 
LDP Team will be 
undertaking a Renewable 
Energy Assessment using 

Page 1861



 6

the WAG toolkit, which will 
identify potential 
renewable energy sites and 
constraints. 

Indicator 4.9 – 4.11 Flood Risk – This was specifically mentioned by 
the Inspector, and data is essential to ensure a prudent response 
to the LDP. 

The SA/SEA contains 
objectives, sub‐objectives 
and indicators relating to 
flood risk.  Since the 
Inspectors report further 
flood risk data is being 
collected so work on the 
new LDP is informed by an 
up to date strategic flood 
risk consequences 
assessment.   

Indicator 6.2 The assessment of Cardiff’s competitiveness is 
misleading.  Our position is, at best, average and it is not with 
other Welsh cities that we are in competition. 

The data in 6.2 refers to 
the UK competitiveness 
index and is assessed on 
that basis.  Whilst Cardiff 
does out perform other 
Welsh cities it’s economy 
has still experienced strong 
growth and improved it’s 
position in the UK Index.  

Indicator 7.3 and 7.4:  The poor state of public health is recognised 
and is an LDP issue but without targets action cannot be effective.  

At the current time 
changes are not considered 
necessary to the Scoping 
Report, however this issue 
will be kept under review.  
Targets to be researched. 

Indicator 9.2 A total of 1410 ha of contaminated land is identified, 
but is not accompanied by an analysis of its capability for 
development.  This is sufficient, if appropriate for construction, 
once decontaminated for all Cardiff’s housing needs in the plan 
period (1410 x 30 per ha).  The model of the Olympic Park should 
be examined.  

Noted, this is an issue for 
the consideration in the 
LDP, and will be forwarded 
to the LDP Team to 
consider as part of the 
preparation of the new 
LDP. 

Indicator 9.3 As stated, the latest farmland data used is dated 
1976, so at least 34 years old.  This lack of up to date data will 
prevent effective planning for careful use of Greenfield sites if this 
proves necessary to support chosen growth plans. 

At the current time 
changes are not considered 
necessary to the Scoping 
Report, however this issue 
will be kept under review.  
Further data is currently 
being collected by the LDP 
Team in liaison with WAG 
and ADAS. 

Indicator 11.1 and 11.2 The data indicates that the recycling of 
commercial and construction waste is not adequately managed.  
As the main sources of waste this should be an LDP focus. 

Disagree.  Whilst it is an 
issue that will be 
considered by the LDP the 
problem might not be 
solvable by the Plan, rather 

Page 1862



 7

it may be better addressed 
by the Waste Management 
Strategy. 

The omission of data from the European Commission report 
Perception survey on Quality of Life in European Cities, published 
in November 2009 should be rectified.  

At the current time 
changes are not considered 
necessary to the Scoping 
Report, however this issue 
will be kept under review.  
This will be used to inform 
indicators research. 

Conclusion 

This report is an update on the 2006 document, and many of the 
data elements missing last time are still present. 

This has been dealt with in 
the detailed comments and 
responses above. 

The extended period of the plan adds force to the need for an 
ambitious approach that has not yet been fully grasped. 

The SA/SEA can only set 
out how it assesses the 
LDP, but has been noted 
and forwarded onto the 
LDP Team for 
consideration as part of 
the preparation of the LDP. 

There is a notable lack of benchmarking information and models of 
best practice that can be learned from.  Cardiff Civic Society 
commend to the council the work undertaken in Seattle on 
sustainable cities: in the view of the Cardiff Civic Society this should 
form a core to the revised sustainability plan for the LDP. 

This is a matter for the LDP 
rather than the SA/SEA, 
but has been noted and 
forwarded onto the LDP 
Team for consideration as 
part of the preparation of 
the LDP. 

 
Cardiff and Vale University Health Board  

Consultee comment  Recommended response  

Recommend that an HIA be carried out alongside SA/SEA and LDP 
development.  

Noted, LDP Team is 
coordinating HIA. 

Include that Cardiff is a member of the World Health Organisation 
Network of Healthy Cities for Phase V (2009 – 2013) and is 
committed to adopting the principles of healthy urban planning is 
recommended. 

Agree, include in Health 
and Wellbeing chapter of 
Appendix 2. 

Include the concept of healthy urban planning and health map and 
the impact of the environment on inequalities.  

Disagree – the figure does 
not provide information 
that contributes to building 
an overview of the current 
state of Cardiff. 

Healthy and Well‐Being indicators (Source: Integrated Partnership 
Strategy, Interim Report of the Director of Public Health Cardiff 
Vale University Health Board, November 2010 – Appendix 2).  

- Life expectancy (7.2) (Page 8 of interim report on DPH). 
- Obesity (7.6).  Replace map with data from WHS. 

Appendix 2 contains data 
from the WHS, and the 
map demonstrates the 
distribution of the issues of 
obesity across the city.  
This may assist in the 
delivery of services for 
promoting healthy 
lifestyles. 

Page 1863



 8

Policy Review  

Include The Cardiff Health, Social Care and Well‐being Strategy and 
Cardiff Children and Young People’s Plan. 

Agree, added. 

Include The Healthy Weight Healthy City Strategic Framework 
(Cardiff Health Alliance 2010). 

Disagree – this is an action 
plan to deliver policy in the 
Health, Social Care and 
Wellbeing Strategy, Cardiff 
and Young Persons Plan, 
Safer Capital and LDP in 
order to fulfil WHO Healthy 
City status. 

Include Creating an Active Wales (Welsh Assembly Government 
2009). 

Disagree – the policy 
review only includes key 
policies. 

Include Every Child Has the Right to Play – The Play Strategy for 
Children and Young People in Cardiff (Cardiff Council 2010). 

Disagree – the policy 
review only includes key 
policies. 

Include Interim Report of the Director of Public Health (Cardiff and 
Vale University Health Board, November 2010). 

Disagree – the policy 
review only includes key 
policies. 

Include NICE (2008) Physical Activity and the Environment,  
National Institute for Clinical Excellence, England. 

Disagree – the policy 
review only includes key 
policies. 

Include Marmot M (2010) Strategic Review of Health Inequalities in 
England post 2010.  Fair Society Lives The Built Environment: Task 
Group 5.  

Disagree – the policy 
review only includes key 
policies. 

 
Civil Aviation Authority 

Consultee comment   Recommended response 

The area in question does not contain any designated aerodrome.  
Therefore the Civil Aviation has no comments on the Final Draft 
Scoping Report.  

Noted.  

 
Countryside Council for Wales  

Consultee comment  Recommended response  

CCW Warmly welcomes the scooping report, which is very clear, 
well structured and purposeful.   

Noted. 

Welcomes the recognition that the LDP is subject to Habitats 
Regulations Assessment Process.  

Noted.  

Policy review 

Welcome and acknowledge the Council’s intention to keep the 
policy framework under review throughout the plan preparation 
period. 

Noted.  

Suggest the following additional information: 
Biodiversity:  

 Reference geodiversity as well as biodiversity 
 Cardiff Council’s Countryside Strategy  
 The Welsh Assembly Government’s emerging Natural 

Environmental Framework (A Living Wales)  
 Encourage the promotion of green infrastructure, a 

multifunctional network of green space providing for both 

 
This issue is referenced in 
objectives 8 and 9. 
Disagree, already in 
Landscape section of policy 
review. 
Disagree – the policy 
review only includes 

Page 1864



 9

people and biodiversity.  Spatial Plan Area work for SE 
Wales has a vision of a “Networked Environment Region’’ , 
which Cardiff could help to deliver.  

adopted policies. 
Disagree – this is guidance 
and not policy. 
 

Climate Change:   
Cardiff specific policies should also come from Swansea and 
Carmarthen Bay Shoreline Management Plan 2.  

Disagree – the policy 
review only includes 
adopted policies. 

Health and Well‐Being:   
 Rights of Way Implementation Plans  
 Encourage the Council to include the promotion of green 

infrastructure, a multifunctional network of green space 
providing for both people and biodiversity.   

Only key policies are 
included in the policy 
review.  The issues of 
green infrastructure will be 
covered by SA/SEA 
objectives 8 and 3.  

Landscape:  
The need to protect the historic landscape of the Gwent Levels 
should be included as a Cardiff specific policy. 

The policy review only 
includes adopted policies 
and is not a policy 
document in itself. 

Natural resources:   
 The Welsh Government’s emerging Natural Environment 

Framework (A living Wales)  
 Would like to see specific mention of the importance of 

conserving and enhancing the countryside for all of its 
intrinsic value – the Gwent Levels and Cardiff Beech Woods 
are particularly important in providing a setting for Cardiff.  

 
The policy review only 
includes adopted policies. 
There is a SA/SEA objective 
and sub objectives on 
designated sites (objective 
3).  
  

Indicators  

Air Quality 
Suggest additional indicators for air quality might include: 

1. Population living within AQMAs 
2. Number of developments in AQMAs 
3. annual statistics for PM10 and/or NO2. 

At the current time 
changes are not considered 
necessary to the Scoping 
Report.  Additional info on 
AQMAs to be considered 
to enhance current 
indicator if data collection 
feasible.  PM10 and NOXs 
are already monitored in 
order to decide whether a 
AQMA is required. 

Biodiversity, flora and fauna 
Would like to see more indicators for biodiversity, including some 
that focus on geodiversity.   

Geodiversity already 
covered in sections 3, 8 
and 9 of Appendix 2. 

Climate Change 
Many of the indicators are unclear or cannot be assessed due to 
lack of data. Would like clarity on how data for the indicators is to 
be collected in future, ensuring relevance. 

At the current time 
changes are not considered 
necessary to the Scoping 
Report, however this issue 
will be kept under review.  
Current data gaps in some 
indictors – the feasibility of 
these indicators is to be 
investigated and 
alternative indicators 
formulated if required. 

Page 1865



 10

Health and well‐being 
An indicator expressing the relationship between open/ green 
space and health and well‐being would be beneficial.  This should 
relate to the findings of the council’s access to natural green space 
assessment.  

Agree, although this is not 
currently a measureable 
indicator, and as such no 
changes will be made to 
the Scoping Report at 
present but the issue will 
be kept under review. 

Landscape  
It is noticeable that the majority of indicators for landscape are 
either not in use, unclear or lacking data.  Suggest additional, 
measurable indicators are added.   

Disagree, current data 
available for indicators, but 
lacking historic data for 
trend comparison due to 
not previously measuring 
data. 

Natural resources 
Many of the indicators for natural resources are either unclear or 
lacking data.  Suggest additional, measurable indicators are added.  

At the current time 
changes are not considered 
necessary to the Scoping 
Report, however the issue 
will be kept under review.  
Lacking historic data for 
trend comparison due to 
not previously measuring 
data.  Agricultural land 
data is currently being 
collected by LDP Team in 
liaison with  WAG and 
ADAS. 

Sustainability issues  
Suggest that the following issues be considered: 
Utility Provision 
Both the risks to existing infrastructure posed by flooding as well as 
the need to consider the requirement and location of new 
installations such as masts and cables carefully.  

This is a matter for the LDP 
rather than the SA/SEA, 
but it has been noted and 
forwarded to the LDP Team 
for consideration as part of 
the preparation of the LDP. 

Health and well‐being  
Recognition of the importance of open space to health and well‐
being (and current provision for this in Cardiff) would be 
welcomed. 

Agree, added. 

Minerals 
Supply versus demand and the potential link to aggregate dredging 
in the Severn Estuary. 

Agree, added. 

Transport 
The reliance on the car, the opportunity for the LDP to shift choice 
to favour public transport, the location of new roads/bus and rail 
stations and connectivity to neighbouring towns and cities. 

Whilst not explicitly 
mentioned, this is implicit 
in table 4.1. 

Population 
While the recognition of housing provision for an expanding 
population is welcomed, the scope should be extended to include 
all other services and infrastructure than an increased population 
will require.  

Agree, added. 

SA/SEA Objectives  

Page 1866



 11

3. Protect and enhance biodiversity, flora and fauna 
This should also include geodiversity and opportunities to link grey 
and green infrastructure. 

This is referenced in 
objectives 8 and 9 of the 
SA/SEA Framework.  

6. Help deliver growth of a sustainable and diversified economy 
Development of skills should be mentioned as an objective and 
these should be consideration of green jobs. 

This is covered by the 
overarching objective ‘help 
deliver the growth of a 
sustainable and diversified 
economy’ in the SA/SEA 
Framework. 

9. Use natural resources efficiently and safeguard their quality 
Need to consider adding an objective that reflects the Welsh 
Assembly Government’s emerging Natural Environment 
Framework (A Living Wales) with emphasis on valuing the 
environment for intrinsic goods and services that it provides. 

This is unadopted policy. 

Monitoring 

CCW expect to see a reference to a monitoring strategy within the 
Scoping document along with an Action Plan for monitoring.  

The monitoring framework 
will be set out in detail in 
later publications. 

Appendix 1 

Welsh Assembly Government’s Natural Environment Framework (A 
Living Wales) – Currently under consultation.   

The policy review only 
includes adopted policies. 

WAG’s Regeneration Framework (October 2010).  Framework for 
Regeneration Areas (2010) 
is not a key policy 
document.   

WAG’s Creating an Active Wales (2009).  The policy review only 
includes key policies.  

WAG’s Planning for Renewable and Low Carbon Energy – A Toolkit 
for Planners (July 2010). 

This is a matter for the LDP 
rather than the SA/SEA, 
but has been noted and 
forwarded onto the LDP 
Team for consideration as 
part of the preparation of 
the LDP. 

Emerging national strategy for Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk 
management in Wales (on consultation). 

The policy review only 
includes adopted policies. 

Appendix 2  

2. Air Quality 
Would like to see an explicit statement about the link between air 
quality and health of both humans and ecosystems. 

Agree, added. 

3. Biodiversity, flora and fauna 
Would like to see reference to geodiversity in this section – both 
an explanation of what geodiversity is and a review of important 
resources in Cardiff.  These would include Castell Coch, Flat Holm 
and Rhymney Quarry.   

Geodiversity issues are 
covered in sections 8 and 
9, landscape and natural 
resources, of Appendix 2.  
Additional info on Flatholm 
added to landscape 
section.   

3.9 Vulnerability of biodiversity resource 
Development and changing land use practice are significant 
concerns.  Would also like to see recognition of long‐term threats – 
for example predicted sea level rise and the future sustainability of 

 
Sea level rise issues 
covered in section 4, 
climate change, of 

Page 1867



 12

the Gwent Levels. 
 
Take a broader view of the protection of biodiversity by 
considering other important reservoirs of biodiversity outside of 
designated sites such as brownfield land, parks and commons.  This 
could be achieved by promoting green infrastructure. 
 
Would like to see recognition of the fact that the natural 
environment and the goods and services it provides underpin our 
well‐being in a whole range of vastly different ways. 
 

Appendix 2. 
 
Already included in section 
3.9 of Appendix 2. 
 
 
 
At the current time 
changes are not considered 
necessary to the Scoping 
Report, however this issue 
will be kept under review.  
This is a small sector of the 
economy and no suitable 
data currently exists for 
Cardiff. 

4.4 Risks associated with climate change 
Would add the loss of prime agricultural land (often coastal) due to 
saltwater incursion to the list.  

Areas of potential coastal 
flooding in Cardiff are not 
prime agricultural land. 

4.7 Travel in Cardiff 
Would encourage the Council to work with neighbouring 
authorities to ensure that sustainable transport solutions are 
joined up across administrative boundaries.  

This is a matter for the LDP 
rather than the SA/SEA, 
but has been noted and 
forwarded onto the LDP 
Team for consideration as 
part of the preparation of 
the LDP. 

Renewable energy 
Suggest a specific mention of  renewable energy provision should 
be included on climate change. 
 
Suggest using the Welsh Assembly Government’s Planning for 
Renewable and Low Carbon Energy – A Toolkit for Planners.  

Objective 4b covers this 
issue as part of the SA/SEA 
Framework.   
 
The LDP Team will be 
undertaking a Renewable 
Energy Assessment using 
the WAG Toolkit. 

7.7 Open space and health  
Would like to see recognition of the fact that the natural 
environment underpins well‐being (as per comments above). 

Already included in 8.14 of 
Appendix 2. 

 
Environment Agency Wales 

Consultee comment   Recommended response 

Non Technical Summary 

The table which provides a summary of indicators do not 
accurately reflect Appendix 2, i.e. indicators under item 4 Climate 
should include flood risk matters. 

Items for which there are 
current data gaps are not 
measurable and thus have 
not been included / 
assessed in the indicator 
table within the NTS.  
Flooding is an important 
issue and we will identify 
ways in which to address 
these omissions as we 

Page 1868



 13

develop the SA/SEA and 
LDP. 

Additional information and data has been provided by the 
Environment Agency on WFD (Water Framework Directive), water 
quality and waste. 

Acknowledged, 
information will be 
considered for the SA/SEA 
and shared with the LDP 
team.  

Scoping Report 

In reference to the key messages under the policy review, the 
implications from the review should be addressed in the Plan, for 
example, inclusion of water efficiency measures and sustainable 
drainage in proposals; delivery of suitable waste management 
facilities for different waste streams. 

This concerns the content 
of the LDP and is not 
directly relevant to the 
SA/SEA, and has been 
forwarded to the LDP Team 
for consideration as part of 
the preparation of the LDP. 

Requirements of SEA regulations.  Additionally recommend that a 
comparative analysis is used in reporting i.e. a Wales wide view 
and cross boundary.  
 
Recommend that a monitoring strategy is agreed so that objectives 
targets and indicators can be agreed for those environmental 
measures to be monitored. 

Noted, the SA/SEA will take 
account of cross boundary 
issues. 
 
The monitoring framework 
will be set out in detail in 
later publications. 

Climate Change, provides only a selection of areas at risk of 
flooding.  There may be other areas and/or sites to include in your 
Plan for future development and these may be also at risk from 
flooding.  These areas/sites will also need to be appropriately 
assessed. 

This concerns the content 
of the LDP and is not 
directly relevant to the 
SA/SEA, and has been 
forwarded to the LDP Team 
for consideration as part of 
the preparation of the LDP.  
The LDP Team are 
currently updating the 
strategic flood risk 
consequences assessment 
for the city.  

Natural Resources, agree that whilst water quality is improving in 
rivers Taff, Ely and Rhymney, WFD requirements still need to be 
addressed. 

Noted. 

Noted that in your Table 4.1 in your Scoping Document you state 
that “Abstraction from the Rivers Usk and Wye is a concern, and 
this will be exacerbated by population growth and climate 
change”.  Noted that your corresponding objective in Table 5.1 is 
to “Conserve water resources and increase water efficiency”.  
Welcome this, although we would stress that you ensure that your 
evidence base provides evidence that sufficient water is available 
to supply new developments, prior to making allocations in the 
Plan.  Policies should be based identification of key issues. 

Noted. 

Policy Review 

In reference to the key messages under the policy review, the 
implications from the review should be addressed in your Plan, for 
example, inclusion of water efficiency measures and sustainable 
drainage in proposals; delivery of suitable waste management 

This concerns the content 
of the LDP and is not 
directly relevant to the 
SA/SEA, and has been 

Page 1869



 14

facilities for different waste streams.  forwarded to the LDP Team 
for consideration as part of 
the preparation of the LDP. 

Under the heading of SA/SEA topic ‘Climate Change’ Technical 
Advice Note 14: Coastal Planning (Welsh Assembly Government 
1998) should be included. 

Disagree, already in natural 
resources section of policy 
review. 

Under the heading of Landscape reference to TAN5 should be 
included.  The EA also agree with LDP approach to delivering policy 
aim to “avoid development of greenfield sites where possible and 
appropriate by giving preference to the re‐use of suitably 
developed land”. 

Disagree, already in 
biodiversity section of 
policy review. 

Support the delivery of policy aims, “plan for new development in 
discussions with water and wastewater companies and the 
Environment Agency Wales, to ensure that water resources are 
adequate and water quality is maintained”. 

Noted. 

SA/SEA Objectives 

Welcome Objective 3 (Protect and enhance biodiversity, flora and 
fauna) and its sub objectives 3d and 3e.  As part of these sub 
objectives, the EA would expect the Plan to promote “green 
infrastructure”, wherever possible, such as wildlife corridors and 
river corridors, in order to enhance the connectivity of biodiversity 
networks wherever possible. 

This concerns the content 
of the LDP and is not 
directly relevant to the 
SA/SEA, and has been 
forwarded to the LDP Team 
for consideration as part of 
the preparation of the LDP. 

Welcome Objective 4 (Reduce the emissions of greenhouse gases 
that cause climate change and adapt to its effects).  However, we 
request that sub‐objective 4e be re‐worded to focus more on the 
management of consequences, i.e. Ensure that a precautionary 
approach is applied and ensure that the location and design of new 
development manages the potential risks and consequences of 
flooding down to an acceptable level.  

Agree, amended.   

Taking into account the baseline evidence for ‘Environmental 
Quality – a determinant of health  ‐ varies greatly within Cardiff’ 
you may wish to reword Sub Objective 7d to reflect this evidence.  
Suggest amending Sub Objective 7d to read, “Improve 
environmental quality by minimising adverse impacts on health 
and wellbeing from pollution, flooding and waste management 
disposal”. 

Agree, amended. 

Welcome Objective 8a, in reference to the protection of river 
valleys.  We would question whether there is any “undeveloped” 
coastline remaining in Cardiff, as most coastline within the 
borough is either urbanised or covered by flood defences.  You 
may therefore wish to change remove the word “undeveloped”. 

Agree, amended. 

Welcome Objective 9 (Use natural resources efficiently and 
safeguard their quality), especially sub‐objectives 9a, 9b, 9e and 9f. 

Noted. 

Welcome Objective 11 (Minimise waste, increase re‐use and 
recycling).  However, advise that the objective should be expanded 
to encompass the aim to improve the waste management 
infrastructure available to the people of Cardiff. (Regional 
influence may also need to be considered). 

Disagree, this is a matter 
for the Waste 
Management Strategy. 

Acknowledge that in preparing new plan changes there is a policy 
direction away from building on brownfield land to also building on 

This concerns the content 
of the LDP and is not 

Page 1870



 15

greenfield land.   Note, however, that Table 2.1 of the Scoping 
document states that the LDP should give preference to the re‐use 
of suitable previously developed land.  Nevertheless decisions will 
need to be in accord with sustainable development principles.  It 
will also need to be established whether the land is suitable for 
development.   

directly relevant to the 
SA/SEA, and has been 
forwarded to the LDP Team 
for consideration as part of 
the preparation of the LDP  

Appendix 1  

Welcome that “Locational policies in the LDPs should take account 
of the effects of development on air quality and vice versa”.  Refer 
to previous advice (in our letter dated 9 June 2009, Reference 
SE/2006/100087/LD‐01/DE1‐L01) in relation to air quality impacts 
(potential, significant and/or in combination effects) and Cardiff 
Beech Woods SAC.  Recommend that further consultation with the 
Countryside Council for Wales (CCW) takes place in respect of 
Habitats Regulations Assessment. 

This concerns the content 
of the LDP and is not 
directly relevant to the 
SA/SEA, and has been 
forwarded to the LDP Team 
for consideration as part of 
the preparation of the LDP. 

Recommend the addition of the NERC Act (Natural Environment 
and Rural Communities Act) 2006.   

Agree, added.  

Suggest including:  Environment Strategy for Wales (2006).    Agree, added.  
Recommend the addition of: Sustaining Ecosystem Service for 
Human Wellbeing, which can be found on CCW’s website.  This 
may be useful to review because  this links biodiversity as a 
resource in improving people’s health and wellbeing. 

The policy review only 
includes policy documents, 
however this guidance may 
be a useful resource for the 
LDP Team and has been 
forwarded for 
consideration as part of 
the preparation of the LDP. 

Climate Change Act 2008 and TAN15 
 Ensure that a precautionary approach is applied and 

ensure that the location and design of new development 
manages the potential risk, causes and consequences of 
flooding down to an acceptable level. 

This is a matter for the LDP 
rather than the SA/SEA, 
but has been noted and 
forwarded to the LDP Team 
for consideration as part of 
the preparation of the LDP. 
 

TAN15 
 Take a precautionary and strategic approach to flood risk, 

having regard to WAG guidance, the potential 
consequences of flooding and the extent and location of 
unobstructed floodplains . 

 Ensure that the location and design of new development 
manages the potential risk, causes and consequences of 
flooding down to an acceptable level. 

This concerns the content 
of the LDP and is not 
directly relevant to the 
SA/SEA, and has been 
forwarded to the LDP Team 
for consideration as part of 
the preparation of the LDP. 
 

Page 1871



 16

It is noted that Technical Appendix 1 does not include reference to 
documents or implications for LDP relating to the remediation of 
brownfield land.  You may also wish to consider reviewing the 
following; 

 We would recommend that our new Groundwater 
Protection Policy is reviewed: "Underground, under threat, 
Groundwater Protection: Policy and Practice Parts 1‐4”.  
This is available from our website: 
http://www.environment‐
agency.gov.uk/research/library/publications/40741.aspx 

 We also advise that you review our latest land 
contamination guidance, ‘Guiding Principles for Land 
Contamination (GPLC)':  a series of 3 documents available 
at: http://www.environment‐
agency.gov.uk/research/planning/121619.aspx 

 Planning Policy Wales (2010) paragraph 13.6, which gives 
advice on Development Plans and Contaminated Land. 

The policy review only 
includes policy documents, 
however this guidance may 
be a useful resource for the 
LDP Team and has been 
forwarded for 
consideration as part of 
the preparation of the LDP. 
 
The policy review only 
includes policy documents, 
however this guidance may 
be a useful resource for the 
LDP Team and has been 
forwarded for 
consideration as part of 
the preparation of the LDP. 
 
Already included in the 
policy review under the 
overarching policy section. 

Welcome the implications for the LDP as set out in Technical 
Appendix 1 (under the heading of Natural Resources) and note that 
the LDP should include Water Cycle Studies in growth or high risk 
areas (Severn River Basin Management plan).   
 
With regard to EC Directive 1991/271/EEC on Urban Waste Water 
Treatment (as Amended by EC Directive 1998/15/EEC), we  also 
suggest changes to the following implication; 
 Locational policies to take account of the effects of 

development on water quality and seek improvements.   
 
The PPPs should also include policies in regard to land affected by 
contamination, as this appears to have been omitted, for example, 
Planning Policy Wales (2010). 

Noted. 
 
 
 
 
 
Agree, amended. 
 
 
 
 
PPW is already included in 
the policy review in the 
overarching policy section.  

With regard to EC Directive 1991/271/EEC on Urban Waste Water 
Treatment (as Amended by EC Directive 1998/15/EEC) ‐ We note 
that as part of the policy review in Technical Appendix 1, it is 
stated that an implication for the Plan is the intention to discuss 
wastewater treatment arrangements with sewage authorities and 
with ourselves.  The EA welcomes this.   

Noted.  

The EA request that the SEA and HRA for Cardiff Council should 
take into account the plans of other local authorities, which are 
also supplied as part of the SEWCUS zone to understand the 
regional pressures on water resources, e.g Vale of Glamorgan, 
Blaenau Gwent, Caerphilly, Merthyr Tydfil, Bridgend, Rhondda 
Cynon Taff, Forest of Dean, Torfaen and Newport City Council. 

Agree, the SA/SEA will take 
account of cross boundary 
issues. 

The EA suggest the addition and review of: Strategic Environmental 
Assessment of their Water Resources Management Plan. 

Disagree, this is not a 
policy document and has 
no direct bearing on the 

Page 1872



 17

SA/SEA or LDP. 
The EA suggest the addition and review of: Water Resources 
Strategy for Wales. 

Agree, Added. 

Water Cycle Studies:  The EA welcome the intention to undertake 
water cycle studies, following the review of the Severn River Basin 
Management Plan, as stated in your Technical Appendix 1. 

Noted. 

Welcome the review CAMS (Catchment Abstraction Management 
Strategy) as part of the Policy Review in Technical Appendix 1.  The 
CAMS areas within the Cardiff Unitary Authority boundary are Taff 
& Ely, Ebbw & Lwyd and Rhymney, as correctly stated.  The 
implications of the relevant CAMS, which should considered in the 
development of the LDP and which should come out of the Policy 
review are as follows: 
 
The Ely CAMS area has been classified as 'water available' and the 
Taff as 'over licensed'. The Rhymney CAMS area is also classified as 
'water available'. The Ebbw and Lwyd CAMS area has been 
classified as ‘over abstracted’. However, the area contained within 
Cardiff’s Unitary Authority boundary was not assessed as part of 
the first cycle of CAMS. 

At the current time 
changes are not considered 
necessary to the Scoping 
Report, however the issue 
will be kept under review. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Climate Change and Waste headings 
The EA welcome the following implication for the LDP, as set out in 
Technical Appendix 1 (under the Climate Change and Waste 
headings): 
 Support for anaerobic digestion, biomass, and other large 

renewable energy generation projects. 
 Ensuring that infrastructure for waste management is 

adequate to accommodated proposed development. 
 Identifying sites for waste management facilities. 
 Promotion of recycling, anaerobic digestion and other forms of 

waste treatment.   

Noted.  

Appendix 2  

With reference to section 2 of Technical Appendix 2 Baseline 
Information, it is recommended that reference also be made to 
industrial emissions from PPC (Pollution Prevention and Control) 
Permit regulated installations and their impact on air quality.  
Examples could include current and proposed power stations. 

At the current time 
changes are not considered 
necessary to the Scoping 
Report.  Information will be 
considered as background 
to air quality indicators. 

Condition of Designated sites:  In paragraph 3.8 of the baseline 
data report, it is stated that the Council is not aware of any up to 
date information relating to the condition of all designated sites.  
The EA suggest referring to CCW’s Special Sites Actions Database, 
where CCW have identified issues and actions for identified 
competent authorities which will remove the impact on the 
relevant designated sites.  There will be actions for Cardiff Council 
in relation to its designated sites, which it may be possible to 
deliver through the LDP.  The Database may also help to provide 
the conditions of the designated sites. 

Noted, however measures 
are in place to address this 
and any future changes in 
condition will be 
monitored accurately. 
 

Paras 4.9 to 4.11 in Section 4 of Technical Appendix 2, the EA 
welcome the reference to flood risk.  The EA agree that 
management of flood risk in consideration of climate change is an 

Noted.  

Page 1873



 18

environmental issue for Cardiff that should be addressed in the 
LDP and SA.   
Map 4.1 Areas at risk of flooding: With reference to the evidence in 
Technical Appendix 2, it is noted that Map 4.1 shows ‘Areas at risk 
of flooding’.  Please confirm whether these areas reflect the zones 
contained in TAN15 development advice maps or do these areas 
reflect your flood risk assessment? 
 
Subject to our requested amendments above, we welcome that 
you have proposed indicators related to flood risk as part of your 
measurement of the sustainability of the Plan.   We would be 
pleased to discuss the rewording of objectives and indicators, data 
provision and collection with you further. 

These are TAN15 
development advice map 
zones. 
 
 
 
Acknowledged. 

The EA welcome inclusion of indicators 4.9 and 4.10.      Noted.  
Indicator 4.11:   Whilst it is noted the proposed indicator on the 
number of housing units proposed in Zones C1 and C2, it may be 
useful to measure the extent to which planning permissions have 
been granted where the consequences of flooding can and/or 
cannot be acceptably managed.  It may also be helpful to measure 
the approval of developments other than housing.   
 

Acknowledged, this will be 
considered especially since 
there is a current data gap 
and this would provide a 
means to monitor 
allocations over the plan 
period.  However at the 
current time changes are 
not considered necessary 
to the Scoping Report. 

Suggest indicator 4.11 be reworded to “Number and percent of all 
new development approved in C1 and C2 areas where the risks and 
consequences of flooding are acceptably managed”.  Given the 
justification test, it may be useful to consider different types of 
development within this indicator, i.e. emergency services, highly 
vulnerable development, less vulnerable development and other 
development. 

At the current time 
changes are not considered 
necessary to the Scoping 
Report, however this issue 
will be kept under review.  
These suggestions will be 
considered, however clear 
definitions will be required 
to monitor effectively.  

It is noted that there is currently a data gap, and the LPA should 
consider how this data can be collected, including information 
from decision notices and High Level Target (HLT) reporting.  The 
EA also may be able to contribute to data collection. 

At the current time 
changes are not considered 
necessary to the Scoping 
Report, however this issue 
will be kept under review.  
Current data gap and 
seeking data to fill. 

Comments made ‘that brownfield land offers for opportunities for 
development, although remediation may be required on 
contaminated sites resulting from previous industrial activities”.   
Recommendations on the redevelopment of brownfield land is as 
follows; 
 
Brownfield land and biodiversity:  Advise that it should be 
recognised that brownfield sites often contain a significant 
biodiversity resource, as stated in paragraph 3.9 of Technical 
Appendix 2.  Many of the river banks and coast of Cardiff are 
brownfield sites, encourage riverbank restoration over 

This concerns the content 
of the LDP and is not 
directly relevant to the 
SA/SEA, and has been 
forwarded to the LDP Team 
for consideration as part of 
the preparation of the LDP.  
Issues of biodiversity will 
be covered by SA/SEA  
Framework objective 3.  

Page 1874



 19

redevelopment at these sites, in order to promote restored green 
corridors through Cardiff.  If redevelopment of riverine and coastal 
brownfield sites does occur, it is recommended that buffer zones 
should be incorporated in the new developments to create a 
network of green infrastructure. 
The environmental impacts of mineral extraction and aggregates 
must be considered.   Any continued operations or any mineral 
extension proposed may result in the loss of important and 
protected habitats.  Potential impacts to particularly sensitive 
areas such as Cardiff Beech Woods SAC and Garth Woods SSSI 
should be appropriately assessed.  Any quarry activity proposals 
should be accompanied with restoration proposals and 
recommendations, site aftercare and monitoring should also be 
agreed.  CCW and the County Ecologist should be consulted for 
their advice on whether the expansion of the quarries would 
require an Appropriate Assessment under the Habitats 
Regulations. 
 
The LPA may wish to include additional indicators and we 
therefore suggest the following additional indicators; 
 Percentage of developments using secondary aggregates; 

and/or 
 Percentage of aggregates being sent to landfill  

This concerns the content 
of the LDP and is not 
directly relevant to the 
SA/SEA, and has been 
forwarded to the LDP Team 
for consideration as part of 
the preparation of the LDP. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
These additional indicators 
will be considered later in 
the development of the 
plan.  However at the 
present time changes are 
not considered necessary 
to the Scoping Report. 
 

Welcome that data on the chemical and biological water quality of 
the Rivers Taff, Ely and Rhymney is being considered as part of the 
SEA/ SA.  It appears that data/information is used from the South 
East Valleys catchment and it may be appropriate to use 
information, which is more specific to the Authority area. 
 
Refer to the Local Evidence pack for data on GQA (attached).  A 
copy of a ‘Summary of WFD Status and Pressures within the Cardiff 
LDP Boundary’ is also enclosed.  This summarises the main 
pressures on the water environment for those waterbodies within 
Cardiff.  It is advised that you should use this as part of your 
baseline data and consider the data’s implications for policies and 
allocation and for your SEA/SA.  From the data it can be seen that 
water quality is an issue for Cardiff, so should be considered in 
your LDP, as your Technical Appendix 1 States.   
 
You should consider whether the policies and allocations in the 
LDP are able to address these pressures through suitable policies 
or allocations. The LDP should also seek improvements. 

Noted. 
 
 
 
 
 
Noted, this information will 
support indicator 
development for natural 
resources section in 
Appendix 2, and has been 
shared with the LDP Team 
for consideration as part of 
the preparation of the LDP. 
 
 
This concerns the content 
of the LDP and is not 
directly relevant to the 
SA/SEA, and has been 
forwarded to the LDP Team 
for consideration as part of 
the preparation of the LDP. 

It is noted that indicator 9.6 (Percent of river lengths achieving 
good ecological status) uses data collected under the Water 

Noted, this information will 
support indicator 

Page 1875



 20

Framework Directive (WFD). Our Data Package (attached) also 
gives you information on General Quality Assessment (GQA).  Both 
datasets are useful;  The historic GQA data (in the attached Data 
Package) provides you with historic trends in water quality, while 
WFD data forms a basis for measuring future water quality trends. 

development for natural 
resources section in 
Appendix 2, and has been 
shared with the LDP Team 
for consideration as part of 
the preparation of the LDP. 
 

Baseline information in regard to the adequacy and suitability of 
wastewater facilities in relation to future development appears to 
have been omitted. The LDP should ensure that there is suitable 
planned infrastructure to enable delivery.  To this end, the EA 
suggest the LPA;  
 
 Refer to information on DCWW’s Asset Management Plan 

(AMP)_Improvement, which is included in our data pack for 
Cardiff.  This summarises the investment programme for the 
treatment and supply of wastewater. 

 Review DCWW’s Asset Management Plan (AMP) itself, prior to 
any discussions with sewerage authorities on sewage capacity.  
This is available from www.dwrcymru.com 

This concerns the content 
of the LDP and is not 
directly relevant to the 
SA/SEA, and has been 
forwarded to the LDP Team 
for consideration as part of 
the preparation of the LDP. 
 
 
 

It is advised that information from the Review of Consents process 
for the Usk and Wye SACs is added as part of the baseline data 
collection process, in order to establish whether sufficient water 
exists in order to supply future development.  It may be possible to 
do this as part of your water cycle studies.  The EA have identified 
the need to make changes to public water supply abstraction 
licences to ensure ‘no adverse effect’ on the integrity of these 
SACs. 

At the current time 
changes are not considered 
necessary to the Scoping 
Report, however this issue 
will be kept under review.  
This will be considered as 
the plan progresses.  

We note indicator 9.7 (Total non‐tidal water abstractions).  It is 
stated that there is a data gap.  The EA hold information on the 
number of non‐tidal water abstractions for Cardiff. 

At the current time 
changes are not considered 
necessary to the Scoping 
Report, however this issue 
will be kept under review.  
Using the details from 
Environment Agency Wales 
on how to acquire this 
information to support 
Appendix 2. 

It may be more useful to measure the water availability in the 
Cardiff area, as a measure of sustainability.  The EA would 
therefore suggest that per capita consumption (water use per 
person per day) should be included as an indicator for reducing 
water consumption because it appears to be the most suitable 
indicator for reducing water consumption. 

At the current time 
changes are not considered 
necessary to the Scoping 
Report, however this issue 
will be kept under review.  
This will be considered as 
the plan progresses to 
enhance indicator 9.7 on 
total abstraction. 

It is advised that indicators used within the Wales Waste Strategy 
and draft sector plans be used to ensure the LDP delivers the 
requirements of both the Welsh Assembly Government Policy and 
the European targets.  The LPA may wish to include additional 

This concerns the content 
of the LDP and is not 
directly relevant to the 
SA/SEA, and has been 

Page 1876



 21

indicators in the use of secondary materials, such as construction 
and demolition waste.   We request to be re‐consulted on future 
indicators, targets and monitoring requirements. 

forwarded to the LDP Team 
for consideration as part of 
the preparation of the LDP. 
EAW as a statutory 
consultee will be consulted 
at all applicable stages of 
the SA/SEA.  

Surface water flood maps: Recommend that these should form 
part of the baseline data for the LDP, and be included in your 
SA/SEA and appropriately used to assess your Plans proposals.   

At the current time 
changes are not considered 
necessary to the Scoping 
Report, however this issue 
will be kept under review.  
Data to be investigated and 
added to baseline. 

 
A. P. Eyton ‐ Jones 

Conslutee comment  Recommended response  

Scoping Report 

The Council has a duty to under take a Sustainability Appraisal and 
Strategic Environmental Assessment.  Who made this a duty? 

A brief outline of the 
origins of Sustainability 
Appraisal and Strategic 
Environmental Assessment 
can be found on Page 5 of 
the Scoping Report.  Both 
of these procedures are 
thoroughly integrated into 
UK planning law and are a 
statutory requirement.  

There is no such word as “Scoping”.  Disagree.  The directive 
and government produced 
guidance specifies the use 
of the term “Scoping”. 

The report consists of a lot of items which appear to have nothing 
to do with the use of land e.g. Proportion of adults who are 
overweight…  

The purpose of this SA/SEA 
Scoping Report is to draw 
out the social, economic 
and environmental issues 
for Cardiff and ensure that 
those issues are considered 
during the preparation of 
the LDP.    

Some of the items under the Sustainability heading are rather 
sinister e.g. resource use by Cardiff residents, which significantly 
exceeds their EARTH SHARE.  

In order for the LDP to 
progress the economic 
growth of Cardiff the issue 
of resource use must be 
considered.  The high 
“earth share” of Cardiff 
citizens expressed is not 
intended to scare; more 
highlight the fact that 
people are using resources 
at an unsustainable rate 

Page 1877



 22

that is not conducive with 
a sustainable city. 

Under the heading “Objectives and Indicators” are eleven 
headings, only two of which have any relationship to the use of 
land.  

The purpose of this SA/SEA 
Scoping Report is to draw 
out the social, economic 
and environmental issues 
for Cardiff and ensure that 
those issues are considered 
during the preparation of 
the LDP.  

To summarise the whole thing has become far to complicated, why 
were consultants used and how much did they cost?  Is the 
planning department not up to its job? 

SA/SEA is a specialist field 
that requires an 
environmental scientist 
with a broad knowledge of 
environmental factors and 
the principles of 
sustainable development.  
Consultants were used for 
this report both for quality 
assurance purposes and to 
temporarily cover a vacant 
post. 

Why use words not normally used i.e. “demographic” when 
changes in lifestyle would be simpler? 

"Demographic” is a 
standardised term that is 
commonly used when 
referring to the study of 
human population, 
particularly the size and 
distribution there of.  
However, in influencing the 
development of the LDP 
(through the SA/SEA 
process) we hope to 
encourage changes in life 
style over the plan period. 

Your forefathers left us with a Cardiff of tree lined streets, good 
parks and open green spaces without all this nonsense.  How on 
earth can anyone expect to produce a land plan to cover events 
until 2026? 

Conservation of Cardiff’s 
cultural heritage and 
historic environment will 
be key to the LDP.  
However, in order for 
Cardiff to grow as a city it is 
necessary to plan.  The LDP 
will provide the policy 
framework to guide that 
growth and it is important 
that those policies take 
into account all of the 
factors that make this city 
unique (socially, 
historically, economically 
and environmentally), and 

Page 1878



 23

that is the purpose of this 
SA/SEA.  

 
 
Friends of Insole Court 

Consultee comment  Recommended response  

Scoping Report  

Welcome the thoroughness of the review process.  Noted. 
Policy Review   
Suggest in terms of infrastructure the priority should be 
interpreted as including heritage assets and green infrastructure. 

This is a policy review and 
as such can only refer to 
information contained in 
these policies. 

Suggest that the General/ Overarching topic should include: 
 Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 
 Planning your community: A guide to Local Development 

Plans July 2006  
 Minerals Planning Policy Wales 2001 

Disagree – only key policy 
included in the policy 
review. 
 
Disagree ‐ this is guidance 
and not policy. 
 
Disagree – already included 
in natural resources 
section of policy review. 

Suggest “Facilitate community involvement and life‐long learning 
via appropriate use of heritage assets” is added as a policy aim to 
Cultural Heritage and Historic Environment. 

This is a policy review and 
as such can only refer to 
information contained in 
these policies. 

Suggest adding a reference to either Landscape or Natural 
Resources to the importance of green infrastructure and 
ecosystem services.  

This is a policy review and 
as such can only refer to 
information contained in 
these policies. 

Suggest amending 2.12 to read “The Decentralisation and Localism 
Bill could (not necessarily will) affect how housing and planning 
decisions are made”.  WAG has devolved responsibility for housing 
and planning in Wales and so makes its own legislation on these 
matters. 

Agree, amended. 

Indicators   
Concerned that the number of listed buildings at risk is the same as 
it was in 2006 i.e. “some way below target.. or .. getting worse”. 

Noted. 

SA/SEA Objectives 

The Friends of Insole Court agree with SA/SEA Objectives relating 
to heritage.  

Noted. 

Suggest adding to either Landscape or Natural Resources (or both): 
 Protect and enhance the City’s legacy of historic parks and 

gardens and create new ones 

Disagree – protection and 
enhancement of 
greenspaces (which 
includes historic parks and 
gardens) included in 
SA/SEA sub objective 8a. 

 
Jane Hayes 

Consultee comment  Recommended response 

Page 1879



 24

Scoping Report 

A landscape assessment should be carried out to inform the LDP 
evidence base.  Cardiff is the only local authority in Wales which 
failed to carry out a landscape character assessment of its urban 
area.  

This concerns the content 
of the LDP and is not 
directly relevant to the 
SA/SEA, and has been 
forwarded to the LDP Team 
for consideration as part of 
the preparation of the LDP. 

House by house, development by development change will come, 
the only way to assess the impacts of these changes on the urban 
landscape of Cardiff and the population concern is by undertaking 
a landscape character assessment of the whole territory. 

This concerns the content 
of the LDP and is not 
directly relevant to the 
SA/SEA, and has been 
forwarded to the LDP Team 
for consideration as part of 
the preparation of the LDP. 

The plan will affect the whole of Cardiff, how will the 
environmental characteristics of all of Cardiff be assessed in 
relation to the whole territory of Cardiff? 

The purpose of the SA/SEA 
Scoping Report is to 
capture the sustainability 
and environmental issues 
for Cardiff and ensure that 
they are sufficiently 
incorporated into the 
SA/SEA Framework, this is 
the criteria by which the 
policies and options 
emerging from the LDP 
development process will 
be assessed.  

Stage 7 – at what time will the impacts be assessed?  The impacts will be 
assessed in a detailed 
Environmental Report.  

Table 4.1, population – population growth – how will this impact 
be assessed? 

The SA/SEA Framework 
contains an objective on 
‘responding to 
demographic changes in a 
sustainable way’ and 
population growth is an 
issue that is relevant to 
most of the SA/SEA 
objectives to some degree, 
particularly those 
encompassing access, 
housing and the economy.  

Policy Review 

Include European Landscape Convention (2004)  Agree, added.  
Include CCW Landmap Public Perceptions of Landscape Cardiff 
(1999) 

Disagree, this is not a 
policy document and has 
no direct implications for 
the LDP. 

Cultural heritage ‐ without landscape character assessment of the 
urban area of Cardiff, where 98% of residents live, how can we 

This concerns the content 
of the LDP and is not 

Page 1880



 25

assess local distinctiveness?  directly relevant to the 
SA/SEA, and has been 
forwarded to the LDP Team 
for consideration as part of 
the preparation of the LDP. 

Landscape – policy HER3 Landscape Protection of the withdrawn 
LDP states the following ‘the information in the study (Review of 
Landscape Character Areas 2008) is intended to assist both 
countryside management and development control matters’ 
however this policy is intended to apply to the whole county 
acknowledging that the urban area also contains features of 
landscape importance.  

This concerns the content 
of the LDP and is not 
directly relevant to the 
SA/SEA, and has been 
forwarded to the LDP Team 
for consideration as part of 
the preparation of the LDP. 

 
Nathaniel Lichfield and Partners on behalf of the Trustees of Plymouth Estates 

Consultee comment  Recommended response  

Policy Context 

Cardiff has an important role as the key economic driver for the 
Capital Region and a pivotal role as a key provider of higher level 
services.  This role is not fully recognised in the policy review. 

The policy review can only 
reference items included in 
the reviewed policies.  This 
will be addressed in the 
LDP evidence base. 

New bullet point suggested: “Cardiff occupies a pivotal role in the 
capital region – being a key economic driver and key provider of 
higher level services but has an interdependent relationship with 
the wider Capital Region”. 

This is a matter for the LDP 
rather than the SA/SEA, 
but has been noted and 
forwarded to the LDP Team 
for consideration as part of 
the preparation of the LDP. 

New bullet point suggested: “The Capital Region is projected to 
have substantial housing growth particularly in the City Coastal 
Zone and Cardiff will account for a large proportion of this growth”. 

This is a matter for the LDP 
rather than the SA/SEA but 
has been noted and 
forwarded to the LDP Team 
for consideration as part of 
the preparation of the LDP. 

Policy Review 

The policy review includes a review of the “South East Wales 
Regional Housing Apportionment Memorandum” (SPWSPG 2007).  
This is regarded as out of date and no longer of relevant to 
considered.  Remove.  

Disagree, still valid. 

Baseline 

Suggest two new indicators: measuring net migration of families 
and the level of housing delivery against housing growth in Cardiff.  

At the current time 
changes are not considered 
necessary to the Scoping 
Report, however this issue 
will be kept under review.  
Investigate feasibility of 
measuring these 
indicators.  

Sustainability issues  

Support the statement which recognises that Cardiff has seen 
significant redevelopment of brownfield land in recent years with 
little Greenfield development. 

Noted. 
 
 

Page 1881



 26

 
Also support the assertion that it will be important in the future 
that the market is delivering sufficient family and affordable 
housing.  

 
Noted. 

Extend support to “Table 4.19 Natural Resources”, which 
recognises the under provision of family housing, and to “10. 
Population”, which highlights the need to provide an appropriate 
range of tenure for population growth in a sustainable way.  

Noted. 

SEA/SA Objectives 

Despite significant changes in stages A1 and A2 note that very little 
amendment has been made to the SA/SEA Objectives and sub‐
objectives.  This is considered not appropriate, considering 
changes.  

The SA/SEA objectives 
were reviewed in light of 
changes to A1 and A2 and 
a 5 week consultation held 
on the amended document 
during Nov/Dec 2010; this 
was sent to all LDP 
database stakeholders and 
individuals.  All suggested 
changes to objectives have 
been considered and 
amended where 
appropriate. 

Objective 8a: a distinction needs to be made between areas of 
countryside which are designated of landscape value and those 
which are not; this will help direct development to the least 
sensitive areas. 
 
Suggested amendment: “protect and enhance areas of designated 
landscape quality, character and importance” 

Disagree, SA/SEA objective 
8a currently encompasses. 

Objective 9 – A new sub‐objective is necessary, which seeks to 
make efficient use of Greenfield sites.  

Disagree, overarching 
objective 9 in the SA/SEA 
Framework already 
encompasses this. 

Objective 10 – New sub‐objective under suggested which 
references the need to create sustainable mixed communities.  

Disagree, overarching 
objective 10 in the SA/SEA 
Framework already 
encompasses this. 

 
 
Mrs Denise Pole  

Consultee comment  Recommended response  

Request that St Marys Church, Caerau and surrounding hill fort 
area be included within the LDP, and that they be made protected 
heritage sites. 

This is not directly related 
to the SA/SEA but will be 
forwarded to the LDP and 
Conservation Teams for 
consideration.  

 
Reservoir Action Group (RAG) 

Consultee comment  Recommended response  

Scoping report 

Support the Final Draft Scoping Report, particularly the three  Noted. 

Page 1882



 27

chapters on: ‘Biodiversity, Flora and Fauna’, ‘Cultural Heritage and 
the Historic Environment’ and ‘Landscape’ found in the main 
document.  
Wording to be tightened up on:  

 Para 4.9, page 24: Cardiff’s “significant network of 
strategically important open space corridors and green 
spaces. 

 Page 26, “8 Landscape”: reference is made to the “three 
river valleys running through the City”; it is assumed that 
this refers to the Ely, the Taff and the Rhymney.  The Nant 
Fawr also has main river status, has a long distinctive open 
corridor with features including nature sites.  Wording 
should be amended to “Four” accordingly  

 
References within the Scoping Report to the above should then 
correctly refer to four river valley corridors.  

Agree amend to 
‘strategically important 
open spaces and green 
corridors’. 
 
Disagree, the Nant Fawr is 
a tributary of the Rhymney.
 
 
 
 
Disagree, the Nant Fawr is 
a tributary of the Rhymney.

Appendix 1  

The Welsh Office Circular 61/60 also stresses the need to protect 
the “setting” of historic buildings.  This point is omitted, suggest it 
is included.  

Agree, amended.  

Suggest adding Planning Policy Wales, Chapter 6 – Conserving the 
Historic Environment. 

Disagree ‐ Planning Policy 
Wales is included in the 
policy review under 
overarching policies, 
including a bullet point on 
‘conserving the historic 
environment’. 

Landscape PPPs ‐ suggest removing the word “possibly” in view of 
the strategic importance of the Nant Fawr corridor to the open 
space network of Cardiff. 

Agree, amended. 

Appendix 2  

The figure of five Local Nature Reserves is mentioned; this should 
be amended to six to include the Council’s decision in October 
2010 to designate the Nant Fawr Corridor as the City’s sixth Local 
Nature Reserve.   

Disagree.  The Nant Fawr 
LNR has not been formally 
adopted as the Council are 
awaiting the outcome of 
the Llanishen Reservoir 
Judicial Review. 

 
RPS on behalf of the North East Cardiff Development Consortium 

Consultee comment  Recommended response 

The North East Cardiff Development Consortium supports the following statements within the 
Scoping Report:  
Cardiff’s role as the driver of the city region is vital for the 
wellbeing of the city. 

Noted. 

It is important that the needs of the future population are met in a 
sustainable way in terms of their housing, employment and 
infrastructure requirements. 

Noted. 

It is important that the market delivers sufficient family and 
affordable housing. 

Noted. 

It is essential that the city’s unique landscape assets such as its 
open space corridors are maintained and protected, and even 

Noted. 

Page 1883



 28

expanded as the city expands to accommodate an increasing 
population.  
The number of households in Cardiff could increase by 30% over 
the plan period.  Indeed the increase may actually be required to 
be greater than that number.  

Noted. 

Cardiff has an international potential and national role that needs 
to be exploited.  

Noted. 

A fully integrated high quality transport system is essential if its 
potential is to be realised with significant emphasis being placed 
upon the ability of future residents to, where possible, walk, cycle, 
and use public transport.  

Noted. 

There is a need for significant investment in infrastructure.  Noted. 
Energy efficiency and renewable energy are critical to the 
reduction of green‐house gas emissions by 40% by 2020.  

Noted. 

Sustainable drainage is key to future development.  Noted. 
Totally endorses the comments that recent development has led to 
“relative under‐provision of family housing” and that “providing an 
appropriate range and choice of housing for this population growth 
(137,000 to 179,000 from 2008 to 2032) in a sustainable way is the 
key sustainability issue raised by Cardiff’s planners”. 

Noted.  

 
 
RSPB 

Consultee comment  Recommended response 

Environmental Report Requirements 

Concerned that the Environmental Report will not examine the 
“environmental characteristics of areas likely to be significantly 
affected” until “possible development sites are identified”. 

As sites are identified they 
will be examined, assessed 
(using the SA/SEA 
Framework) and added to 
the Environmental Report.  

Concerned that the policy direction toward the inclusion of 
Greenfield land and not just brownfield will increase pressure on 
Wentloog Levels. 

This concerns the content 
of the LDP and is not 
directly relevant to the 
SA/SEA, and has been 
forwarded to the LDP Team 
for consideration as part of 
the preparation of the LDP.  
However, potential sites 
will be assessed using the 
SA/SEA Framework as they 
emerge. 

Scoping Report should include an examination of the 
environmental characteristics of Wentloog Levels. 

Disagree.  The SA/SEA 
Scoping Report is intended 
to set out the framework 
by which the LDP will be 
assessed, and the 
environmental baseline is 
provided as an overview of 
Cardiff’s assets.  Specific 
examination of a SSSI is 
more appropriate for 

Page 1884



 29

project level 
environmental 
assessments.  

Policy Review 

Support the broad policy aim of “protect and enhance… national 
designated sites” but objects to the lack of detail in “how the LDP 
might assist in delivering policy aims” section. 

The SA/SEA is an 
assessment tool to assess 
the sustainability 
performance of the LDP, 
and is not a policy 
document.  The policy 
review can only reference 
issues included in these 
policies.  

Given the clear policy line set out in Technical Advice Note 5 and 
especially in “Nature Conservation and Physical Developments on 
the Gwent Levels” this section should include a bullet point which 
establishes a very strong presumption against proposing to allocate 
sites for development on the Wentloog Levels.  Suggest that bullet 
point 2 is amended to “Provide criteria against which 
developments affecting the different types of designated sites will 
be assessed.  This will take the form of not allocating sites or 
affecting nature conservation interest of the Wentloog Levels SSSI 
except in exceptional circumstances of proven UK‐national need, 
and even then only when no alternatives are possible”. 

This is a matter for the LDP 
rather than the SA/SEA, 
but has been noted and 
forwarded to the LDP Team 
for consideration as part of 
the preparation of the LDP. 

The ODPM Guide “Sustainability Appraisal of Regional Spatial 
Strategies and Local Development Documents states: “Planning 
authorities may also choose to include more detailed decision‐
making criteria… in their SA Framework” 
Considering the exceptional circumstances detailed above 
recommend that such a decision making criterion is included in the 
document. 

It is noted by the consultee 
that this relates to a 
different stage in SEA 
formulation and as such 
will be considered later in 
the SEA process. 

A bullet point on how CIL could be used to promote and deliver 
Green Infrastructure in Cardiff should be included here. 

This is a matter for the LDP 
rather than the SA/SEA but 
has been noted and 
forwarded to the LDP Team 
for consideration as part of 
the preparation of the LDP. 

Climate Change: This section should include  strong presumption 
against proposing to allocate land for development on or 
materially affected by the flood plain. 

This is a matter for the LDP 
rather than the SA/SEA but 
has been noted and 
forwarded to the LDP Team 
for consideration as part of 
the preparation of the LDP. 

Economy: supports the statement in “How the LDP might assist in 
delivering policy aims”, which states:‐ “Ensure that development 
for enterprise and employment uses is in line with sustainability 
principles and respects the environment” 

Acknowledged. 

Natural Resources: supports the statement in “How the LDP might 
assist in delivering policy aims”, which states:‐ “avoid the 
development of Greenfield sites where possible and appropriate, by 
giving preference to the re‐use of suitable previously developed 

Acknowledged.  

Page 1885



 30

land” 

Population: Reference to the use of CIL in relations to 
infrastructure should be expanded to include Green Infrastructure. 

This is a matter for the LDP 
rather than the SA/SEA but 
has been noted and 
forwarded to the LDP Team 
for consideration as part of 
the preparation of the LDP. 

Policy Review 

Include Nature Conservation and Physical Developments on the 
Gwent Levels CCW (1993) 

Disagree, the policy review 
only includes key policies 
central to the development 
of the LDP. 

Include Welsh Assembly Government Environment Strategy and 
Action Plans 2008. 

Agreed, added. 

Baseline  

Indicates that the percentage of SSSI features in favourable 
condition is: ‐ “some way below target or equivalent 
regional/national performance, and/or the situation is getting 
worse”.  The RSPB concurs with this conclusion.  

Acknowledged. 

Table 3.1, Section 3.4: of the view that the 2010 box relating to the 
percentage of features of designated sites should be red, rather 
than orange. 

Noted, however the 
process of assessment, 
whilst underway, is not yet 
complete.  
 

Objects to the lack of an evidence base in terms of the area of the 
UK BAP Priority Habitats.  It is illogical to include the LBAP 
equivalent of this, which is a local issue, without reference to the 
UK national equivalent.  

Cardiff’s LBAP priorities 
reflect local priorities that 
contribute to the wider 
UKBAP targets; these LBAP 
priorities have been agreed 
with the Local Biodiversity 
Partnership.   

Sustainability Issues  

Strongly supports the statement at paragraph that: ‐ “it is 
imperative that (Cardiff’s) biodiversity resources are protected and 
maintained”.  

Acknowledged. 

Supports the identification as a “Sustainability Problem” that: ‐ 
“Cardiff’s biodiversity resource is vulnerable to new development… 
which could result in habitat loss and fragmentation”.  However, 
they object to the lack of detail in this section with relation to the 
description of the problem.  Threats to Wentloog Levels SSSI and 
UKBAP priority habitat from development should be explicitly 
identified. 

This is a matter for the LDP 
rather than the SA/SEA, 
but has been noted and 
forwarded to the LDP Team 
for consideration as part of 
the preparation of the LDP.  

Supports the statement that:‐ “Wentloog Levels… are at particular 
risk from flooding” 

Acknowledged. 

SA/SEA Objectives  

Supports the sub‐objective which states that it is an SEA objective 
to:1 “maintain and achieve… favourable condition of… national 
sites of nature conservation interest” 

Acknowledged. 

Objects to the lack of inclusion of reference to the protection and 
enhancement of UKBAP Priority Habitats.  Additionally, the 
wording in this section is not in the form of a target.  The LDP 

Cardiff’s LBAP priorities 
reflect local priorities that 
contribute to the wider 

Page 1886



 31

Manual states: ‐ “The SA Framework objectives… should be, where 
possible, expressed in the form of targets”.  Recommend that 
UKBAP target should be as follows: ‐ “no net loss of UKBAP Priority 
Habitats”.  

UKBAP targets; these LBAP 
priorities have been agreed 
with the Local Biodiversity 
Partnership.  SA/SEA 
objective 3b relates 
directly to the protection 
of LBAP priority habitats. 

 
 

Page 1887



 1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cardiff Council & Levett-Therivel Sustainability Consultants 
 
 
Sustainability Appraisal and Strategic Environmental Assessment of the Cardiff Local Development Plan  
 
Appendix D: Appraisal of LDP Vision and Objectives 
 
Final Sustainability Appraisal Report of the Cardiff Local Development Plan 
 
January 2016 

P
age 1888



 2 

This appendix details the outcomes of the sustainability appraisal of the LDP Vision and Objectives.   
 
The matrices were completed using the following symbols to show how compatible the LDP Vision and Objectives are with the sustainability 
appraisal objectives: 
 

 = incompatible 
 = compatible 
- = no links 

? = uncertain 

 
The LDP Vision is: 
“By 2020...Cardiff will be a world class European capital city with an exceptional quality of life and at the heart of a thriving city region” 
 
The LDP Vision is taken from the emerging ‘Cardiff: What Matters’ Strategy, which will be delivered through 7 outcomes: 
• People in Cardiff are healthy; 
• People in Cardiff have a clean, attractive and sustainable environment; 
• People in Cardiff are safe and feel safe; 
• Cardiff has a thriving and prosperous economy; 
• People in Cardiff achieve their full potential; 
• Cardiff is a great place to live, work and play; and 
• Cardiff is a fair, just and inclusive society  

 
SA Objective LDP Vision 
1. Help deliver equality of 
opportunity and access for 
all 

 
The LDP Vision aims to achieve outcomes to address inequality and deprivation, ensure education, and improve 
access to facilities and provision of affordable housing.  Focus on education could be improved by explicitly 
mentioning the need for adult education opportunities as well securing futures for young people; however 
education for all is explicit in the LDP Objectives.  

P
age 1889



 3 

SA Objective LDP Vision 
2. Maintain and improve 
air quality 

 
The LDP Vision incorporates “clean, attractive and sustainable environment”, this includes delivering sustainable 
transport and an explicit outcome to improve the quality of Cardiff’s environment.  Specific LDP Objectives will 
assist in the delivery of air quality improvements.  

3. Protect and enhance 
biodiversity, flora and 
fauna 

 
The LDP Vision looks to improve biodiversity through the outcome for a “clean, attractive and sustainable 
environment” which includes improving the quality of Cardiff’s environment.  This could be improved by aiming to 
protect biodiversity also; however the need to maintain, protect and enhance biodiversity is explicit within the 
LDP Objectives.  

4. Reduce emissions of 
greenhouse gases that 
cause climate change and 
adapt to its effects 

 
The LDP Vision aims to establish Cardiff as a ‘Carbon Lite’ City and as a sustainable travel city. The Vision could be 
improved by including the need to adapt to the effects of climate change and not just mitigate climate change 
through the reduction of carbon emissions.  The need to adapt to the effects of climate change, however, is 
explicit in the LDP Objectives.  

5. Protect and enhance 
historic and cultural 
heritage 

 
The LDP Vision looks to improve the quality of Cardiff’s environment which will assist in maintaining and 
enhancing heritage.  Additionally provision of world class cultural facilities is included.  The LDP Vision is not 
explicit in the need to protect and enhance historic assets, or ensure that local character and distinctiveness is 
protected; however measures to ensure that these features are protected are set out in the LDP Objectives.  

6. Help deliver the growth 
of a sustainable and 
diversified economy 

 
The Vision contributes positively through the outcome “Cardiff has a thriving and prosperous economy”, which 
includes the creation of a sustainable economy, supports skill retention, and, encouraging business and 
entrepreneurs in Cardiff.   

7. Improve health and 
well-being 

 
Improving health and well being is well addressed through the LDP Vision across multiple outcomes covering life 
expectancy, encouraging healthy lifestyles, sustainable travel, reducing crime and ensuring that people are safe 
and feel safe in Cardiff. 

P
age 1890



 4 

SA Objective LDP Vision 
8. Protect and enhance 
the landscape 

 
The LDP Vision outcome of “clean, attractive and sustainable environment” includes improving the quality of 
Cardiff’s environment.  The Vision would contribute more positively to the protection of landscape if it was 
specifically mentioned in the outcomes; however landscape issues are thoroughly covered by the LDP Objectives.  

9. Use natural resources 
efficiently and safeguard 
their quality 

 
The LDP Vision seeks to improve the quality of Cardiff’s environment, which would include natural resources. 
Issues such as the use of brownfield land, soils and mineral resources are not addressed but are adequately 
covered in the LDP Objectives.  

10. Respond to 
demographic changes in a 
sustainable way 

 
The LDP Vision supports the provision of a sustainable economy, affordable housing and facilities/services.   

11. Minimise waste, 
increase re-use and 
recycling 

 
The LDP Vision promotes a “clean, attractive and sustainable environment”.  Whilst waste management and 
resource efficiency are not explicitly mentioned in the Vision they are adequately addressed within the LDP 
Objectives.  

 
Summary: 
 
The LDP Vision is a series of high level statements that support more detailed objectives, and sub objectives, beneath them.  No changes to the 
LDP Vision are recommended as a result of this assessment. 

P
age 1891



 5 

 The LDP high level objectives are: 
 

1. To respond to evidenced economic needs and provide the necessary infrastructure to deliver development 
2. To respond to evidenced social needs 
3. To deliver economic and social needs in a co-ordinated way that respects Cardiff’s environment and responds to the challenges of 

climate change 
4. To create sustainable neighbourhoods that form part of a sustainable city  

 
The detailed LDP objectives are shown at Section 3 of the Final Sustainability Appraisal Report.  The numbering was altered from 1.1 to 1.a etc 
between the 2012 Preferred Strategy and 2013 Deposit LDP.  The original numbering is retained here for ease of cross reference to earlier 
documents.    
 
SA Objective LDP Objectives 
1.Help deliver equality 
of opportunity and 
access for all 

   
The LDP Objectives aim to: provide affordable housing (2.2) and access to education, employment, facilities and 
services (2.12), and promote social inclusion, equality of opportunity and access for all (2.14).  Location of 
development is key for achieving sustainable transport solutions and networks.  

• Suggest that Headline Objective (1) is amended to include “sustainable and accessible” 
• Suggest that Sub-objective 2.6 is amended to include “employment opportunities”. 
• Suggest that Sub-objective 2.12 is amended to include “especially in deprived” areas. 

2.Maintain and 
improve air quality 

 / ? – per capita 
? /  – city wide 
The LDP Objectives contribute positively towards assisting in the improvement of air quality through the provision of 
sustainable transport solutions, and by aiming to reduce the need to travel (1.10 and 4.1.2).  Additionally Objective 
3.3 makes strong commitments to maintaining and enhancing Cardiff’s natural environment (including air quality).  
However, whilst per person emissions may reduce as a result of the LDP, it is a plan for the growth of Cardiff and 
therefore it is recognised that it is unlikely that, overall, the city’s emissions to air will be decreased.  Whilst growth 
per se may bring about increased absolute emissions for the city, the LDP Objectives put in place a framework to 

P
age 1892



 6 

SA Objective LDP Objectives 
mitigate these impacts and are considered appropriate. 

• Suggest that Sub-objective 1.10 is amended to include “reducing the need to travel” 
• Suggest that Sub-objective 2.10 is amended “provide a range of youth/adult learning opportunities for all…” 
• Suggest that Sub-objective 4.1.2 is amended to include “and decrease air pollution” 
• Mitigation: Ensure green infrastructure is provided to improve air quality. 

3.Protect and enhance 
biodiversity, flora and 
fauna 

 
LDP Objective 3.3 makes strong commitments to protecting and enhancing biodiversity including international, 
national and local sites, the biodiversity value of recreational open spaces (e.g. parks).  Additionally there is provision 
to protect areas without designation or of unknown biodiversity value, and the LDP Objective recognises the 
importance of flora in combating climate change.  There is need to ensure the biodiversity value of brownfield land is 
considered and protected. 

• Suggest that Sub-objective 3.3 is amended to include “Networks that link together…” 
4. Reduce emissions of 
greenhouse gases that 
cause climate change 
and adapt to its effects 

 - per capita 
  - city wide  
The LDP Objectives assist and support in reducing carbon emissions  by reducing the need to travel, encouraging a 
modal shift in transport, aiming to provide sustainable transport solutions (1.10) and aiming to adapt to and mitigate 
the effects of climate change, including flooding (3.1 and 3.2).   However although carbon emissions per person may 
reduce as a result of the LDP, this is a plan for the city’s growth and as such it is unlikely that the city’s overall carbon 
emissions will reduce.   Whilst growth per se may bring about increased absolute emissions for the city, the LDP 
Objectives put in place a framework to mitigate these impacts and are considered appropriate. 

• Suggest that Sub-objective 1.10 is amended to include “reducing the need to travel” and “and networks”. 
• Suggest that Sub-objective 3.1 is amended: Removed “consumption” in favour of “demand” 
• Suggest that Sub-objective 3.3 is amended: Add “The role that vegetation plays in combating climate change 

by providing shading, cooling and carbon sinks’ 
• Suggest that Sub-objective 4.1.2 is reworded to strengthen against ‘car-based developments’ and for linkage 

to the ‘strategic cycle network’ 

P
age 1893



 7 

SA Objective LDP Objectives 
5.Protect and enhance 
historic and cultural 
heritage 

 
The LDP Objectives contribute positively to ensuring the protection of historic and cultural assets.  Objective 3 
provides measures to protect and enhance historic assets, and measures to ensure that new development is 
respectful to existing character are included in objective 4.  Objective 2 aims to provide accessible cultural facilities 
for all communities. 

• Suggest that Sub-objective 2.12 is amended to include “cultural facilities”.  
• Suggest that Sub-objective 3.4 amended to include “…including parks and amenity spaces” and to ‘define 

Cardiff’s distinctive character’ 
6. Help deliver the 
growth of a sustainable 
and diversified 
economy 

 
The LDP Objectives provide all of the key drivers to deliver the growth of a diverse sustainable economy including:  
provision of a range of employment land and promotion of specialist sectors to promote economic diversity (1.1, 1.2 
and 1.5), and providing good transport links.   Location of development will be key to delivering sustainable 
economic growth.   

• Suggest that Headline Objective (1) is amended to include “sustainable and accessible” 
• Suggest that Sub-objective 1.2 is amended to include “…and well connected to other UK cities” 
• Suggest that Sub-objective 2.6 is amended to include “employment opportunities” 

7. Improve health 
and well-being 

 
The LDP Objectives assist in the promotion of more healthy lifestyles by increasing the provision of cycle and walk 
ways (as alternative transport) (1.10), and aiming to protect public open spaces such as parks (3.3).  Additionally 
Objective 2 promotes the inclusion of healthier food choices as part of community centres and facilities (2.8/ 2.12).  

• Suggest that Sub-objective 2.8 is amended, added “healthy food choices” 
• Suggest that Sub-objective 2.12 is amended, added “shops with healthy food choices” 

8. Protect and 
enhance the landscape 

 
The LDP Objectives, specifically Objective 3, contribute positively toward the protection of Cardiff’s distinctive 
landscape features both designated and undesignated.  Sub-objective 3.3 also aims to safeguard geodiversity and 
important geological sites.  

9. Use natural  

P
age 1894



 8 

SA Objective LDP Objectives 
resources efficiently 
and safeguard their 
quality 

Several of the measures within the LDP Objectives contribute positively to the Sustainability Objective including: the 
protection of Cardiff’s mineral supply (1.11), protection and enhancement of water and soil quality (3.3), increasing 
water efficiency (4.1.4) and the promotion of good design with resource efficiency (4.1.9).  However, there may be 
issues with sustainably sourcing appropriate building materials for development. 

10. Respond to 
demographic changes 
in a sustainable way 

 
The LDP Objectives effectively address what is required to meet the needs of Cardiff’s growing population both 
socially and economically.  However, it is also important to consider how population growth will impact on factors 
such as carbon emissions and waste (see Sustainability Objectives 4 and 11).  It is recognised that, whilst the amount 
of carbon emissions and waste per capita may decrease over the plan period, the absolute levels of these will 
probably increase as a direct result of growth of the city and its population; however the LDP Objectives put in place 
a framework to mitigate these impacts and are considered appropriate. 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase re-use 
and recycling 

 - per capita 
 - city wide 
LDP Objective 4 aims to minimise waste, maximise recycling (4.1.3) and reuse and promote good design (4.1.9), 
which may reduce the waste generated by developments both during construction and after completion.  However, 
whilst the LDP will contribute positively and assist in reducing the amount of waste from development and per 
capita, it is recognised that the total waste arisings will probably increase over the plan period in Cardiff as a result of 
growth.  Whilst growth per se may bring about increased absolute waste arisings for the city, the LDP Objectives put 
in place a framework to mitigate these impacts and are considered appropriate. 

• Suggest Sub-objective 1.12 is divided into 3 separate sub-objectives  
• Suggest an additional sub-objective division to 4.1 to reflect the need to plan for waste in neighbourhoods. 
• Suggest that Sub-objective 4.1.3 is amended, add “stored” and “reused” 

 
Summary:  Overall the LDP Objectives support the Sustainability Objectives.  The appraisal has resulted in some suggested changes to the LDP 
Objectives as detailed above and in table 5.2 of the Final Sustainability Appraisal Report of the LDP.   
 

P
age 1895



1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cardiff Council & Levett-Therivel Sustainability Consultants 
 
 
Sustainability Appraisal and Strategic Environmental Assessment of the Cardiff Local Development Plan  
 
Appendix E: Appraisal of LDP Strategic Options 
 
Final Sustainability Appraisal Report of the Cardiff Local Development Plan 
 
January 2016 

P
age 1896



2 
 

  
 
 
This appendix first shows the detailed appraisal of the growth options considered at Preferred Strategy stage and then the appraisal of the spatial options for 
delivery of Option B.  For those options included in the LDP, mitigation measures are proposed in Appendix G of the Final Sustainability Appraisal Report (Appraisal 
of the LDP key and detailed policies).  
 
Growth options 
Assumptions: 
 

 LDP will aim to maximise the contribution of Brownfield but allow for phased release of both green and Brownfield land to provide a range and choice 
of development land in accordance with Welsh Planning Policy 

 
LDP Option Option A:   

 
About 54,400 new homes in total 
(30,548 residual requirement) 
 
About 55,000 new jobs in total 

Option B: 
 
 About 45,400 new homes in total 
(21,571 residual requirement) 
 
About 40,000 new jobs in total 

Option C:   
 
About 36,500 new homes in total 
(12,634 residual requirement) 
                    
About 26,000 new jobs in total 

SA Objective 
1. Help deliver equality 
of opportunity and access 
for all 

 
 
Overall Option A could perform very 
well against the SA Objective as it has 
the potential to provide a significant 
number of affordable homes and help 
to address an existing shortage in the 
City.  Additionally, the scale of growth 
provided has the potential to create 
new communities that are large 
enough to support a range of 
community facilities and services.  Due 
to the scale of growth proposed Option 
A also has the potential to improve 
connectivity with and between existing 

 
 
As Option A but to a lesser extent due 
to the lower scale of growth.    

?/ 
 
The scale of growth under Option C 
could present fewer opportunities to 
address and improve equality of access 
than Option A or B.  Whilst the Option 
could deliver a reasonable number of 
homes, fewer affordable homes could 
be provided overall.  Additionally the 
developments could be smaller and 
may not reach the population 
thresholds required to support new 
community services and facilities, 
which in could increase pressure on 
existing facilities and services.   

P
age 1897



3 
 

LDP Option Option A:   
 
About 54,400 new homes in total 
(30,548 residual requirement) 
 
About 55,000 new jobs in total 

Option B: 
 
 About 45,400 new homes in total 
(21,571 residual requirement) 
 
About 40,000 new jobs in total 

Option C:   
 
About 36,500 new homes in total 
(12,634 residual requirement) 
                    
About 26,000 new jobs in total 

SA Objective 
communities and increase accessibility 
of community facilities.  
 
 
If new developments are provided that 
include integrated sustainable 
transport infrastructure or reduce the 
need to travel by including mixed uses 
the effect could be more positive as 
this could help to improve  access to 
services, facilities and employment 
particularly for those without access to  
a private car.  

2. Maintain and 
improve air quality 

 
 
Option A is incompatible with the SA 
Objective.  Independent of any 
potential improvements to the City’s 
transport infrastructure, the option 
could lead to a significant increase in 
transport (domestic and economic) and 
potentially an increase in industrial 
activity.  This could lead to a reduction 
in air quality particularly through 
increased congestion, which is an 
existing issue for the City.   Additionally 
Option A could lead to the 
development of a large proportion of 

 
 
Option B is mainly incompatible with 
the SA Objective but to a lesser extent 
than Option A. 

?/ 
 
The negative effects that could occur 
under Options A and B could also occur 
under Option C but to a much less 
degree and with more dependence on 
location of development.  Cardiff 
already experiences high levels of in-
commuting, for example over 33,000 
people commute in by car every day 
from the valleys alone.  With the 
decline of the valleys, and without 
sufficient provision of housing in Cardiff 
the level of congestion could continue 

P
age 1898



4 
 

LDP Option Option A:   
 
About 54,400 new homes in total 
(30,548 residual requirement) 
 
About 55,000 new jobs in total 

Option B: 
 
 About 45,400 new homes in total 
(21,571 residual requirement) 
 
About 40,000 new jobs in total 

Option C:   
 
About 36,500 new homes in total 
(12,634 residual requirement) 
                    
About 26,000 new jobs in total 

SA Objective 
the available Greenfield land in the 
City, green spaces help to improve air 
quality. 
 
However, there is an opportunity to 
provide new developments that 
integrate sustainable transport 
infrastructure, and mixed uses to 
reduce the need to travel.  This could 
help to reduce congestion, new 
developments would also benefit from 
green infrastructure. 

to increase, reducing air quality at key 
access points to the City.  

3. Protect and enhance 
biodiversity, flora and fauna 

 
 
Option A is incompatible with the SA 
Objective. 
 
The land required to accommodate the 
level of growth proposed by Option A 
represents a significant proportion of 
the available development land in the 
City, the majority of which is 
Greenfield.  Whilst designated nature 
sites would be protected, the 
development of large proportions of 
the City’s Greenfield areas could result 
in wide scale habitat loss and severe 

 
 
Option B is mainly incompatible with 
the SA Objective but to a lesser extent 
than Option A.  
 
 

?/ 
 
The effect of Option C is less certain.  
The pressure of development is 
considerably lower than Option A or B 
and there could be more room for 
mitigation as more land could be 
available to provide replacement 
habitat. 

P
age 1899



5 
 

LDP Option Option A:   
 
About 54,400 new homes in total 
(30,548 residual requirement) 
 
About 55,000 new jobs in total 

Option B: 
 
 About 45,400 new homes in total 
(21,571 residual requirement) 
 
About 40,000 new jobs in total 

Option C:   
 
About 36,500 new homes in total 
(12,634 residual requirement) 
                    
About 26,000 new jobs in total 

SA Objective 
disruption to habitat connectivity.   
 
Opportunities for mitigation could be 
limited due to extensive urbanisation.  

4 Reduce emissions of 
greenhouse gases that cause 
climate change and adapt to 
its effects 

 - Citywide carbon emissions 
/? – Per capita emissions 
/? – Adaptation to climate change  
 
Under Option A, citywide emissions of 
green house gases could increase 
significantly due to a large increase in 
population, waste, travel and economic 
activities.  Option A could also require 
the majority of the available Greenfield 
land for development, significantly 
reducing the carbon sink this provides 
and reducing the city’s ability to adapt 
to climate change as green space also 
aids in land drainage and helps to 
reduce the urban heat island effect.  
 
Whilst citywide emissions are likely to 
increase significantly over the plan 
period there is an opportunity to 
reduce per capita emissions in the city 
through the design of developments 
e.g. mixed use development to reduce 

 - Citywide carbon emissions 
/? – Per capita emissions 
/? – Adaptation to climate change  
 
As Option A but to a lesser extent due 
to a lower scale of growth.  

 - Citywide carbon emissions 
/? – Per capita emissions 
?/ – Adaptation to climate change 
 
 
Under Option C citywide emissions of 
green house gases could increase due 
to an increase in population and 
economic activities.   However, this 
effect would be significantly less than 
under Option A or B. 
 
Additionally the lower scale of growth 
may allow for more opportunities to 
mitigate or adapt to climate change; for 
example more land may be available 
for the provision of sustainable urban 
drainage systems and more Greenfield 
land could be retained as a carbon sink.  
 
 

P
age 1900



6 
 

LDP Option Option A:   
 
About 54,400 new homes in total 
(30,548 residual requirement) 
 
About 55,000 new jobs in total 

Option B: 
 
 About 45,400 new homes in total 
(21,571 residual requirement) 
 
About 40,000 new jobs in total 

Option C:   
 
About 36,500 new homes in total 
(12,634 residual requirement) 
                    
About 26,000 new jobs in total 

SA Objective 
trips and promote a modal shift to 
more sustainable transport; and/or the 
incorporation of energy efficiency 
measures and renewable energy 
generation.  
 

5. Protect and enhance 
historic and cultural heritage 

 
 
Option A is generally incompatible with 
the SA Objective due to the demand for 
development land.  There is potential 
for negative impacts to listed buildings, 
and to historic assets (both known and 
unknown) and their settings. 
 
Negative impacts to the historic 
environment could be mitigated by 
ensuring that developments are 
sympathetic to local character and 
distinctiveness, and by ensuring that 
thorough archaeological investigations 
are carried out on potential 
development sites. 

 
 
As Option A.  

?/ 
 
The effect of Option C on the SA 
Objective is less certain.  The likelihood 
of impacts to the historic environment 
from development is reduced as less 
land would be required.  Negative 
impacts could still occur if sites for 
development are not chosen carefully 
and if the appropriate mitigation is not 
applied.  

6. Help deliver the 
growth of a sustainable and 
diversified economy 

 
 
Option A is very compatible with the SA 
Objective as it aims to provide a high 
number of jobs and homes in Cardiff, 

 
 
Option B is compatible with the SA 
Objective as it aims to provide a large 
number of jobs in the City, which is 

/? 
 
The effect of Option C on the SA 
Objective could be positive as is aims to 
provide a reasonable number of new 

P
age 1901



7 
 

LDP Option Option A:   
 
About 54,400 new homes in total 
(30,548 residual requirement) 
 
About 55,000 new jobs in total 

Option B: 
 
 About 45,400 new homes in total 
(21,571 residual requirement) 
 
About 40,000 new jobs in total 

Option C:   
 
About 36,500 new homes in total 
(12,634 residual requirement) 
                    
About 26,000 new jobs in total 

SA Objective 
which is generally inline with the view 
of Cardiff as the economic driver for 
South East Wales.   
 
Additionally, the volume of jobs 
created under Option A is significant 
and could provide a good range and 
choice of employment that benefit all 
areas of the City.  

inline with the view of Cardiff as the 
economic driver for South East Wales.   
 
Additionally, the volume of jobs 
created under Option B is significant 
and could provide a good range and 
choice of employment. 
 

jobs.  However, the manner in which 
these jobs are generated could be 
more dependent on the economic land 
made available, potentially providing a 
smaller range and choice and limiting 
the potential benefits to the more 
deprived areas of the City.  
Additionally, the Option is less 
compatible with the vision of Cardiff as 
the economic driver for South East 
Wales. 

7. Improve health and 
well-being 

 - Increased access  to health care 
 - Reduced Greenfield amenity 
 
Under Option A it may be possible to 
create new communities with 
population densities high enough to 
support new accessible leisure and 
health care facilities.   
 
However, there is a strong link 
between health and being able to 
access green open space.  The Option 
could require the release of the 
majority of the City’s Greenfield sites 
for development. 

 - Increased access to health care 
 - Reduced Greenfield amenity 
 
As Option A but to a lesser extent due 
to the lower scale of growth.  

/? – Increased access to health care 
?/ – Reduced Greenfield amenity 
 
Unlike Options A and B, Option C may 
not be able to provide new health and 
leisure facilities as the opportunities to 
create new communities of appropriate 
density to support them could be 
fewer.  However, Option C could 
require considerably less land and may 
leave more open green space available 
for recreation over the plan period.   

8. Protect and enhance 
the landscape 

 
 

 
 

?/ 
 

P
age 1902



8 
 

LDP Option Option A:   
 
About 54,400 new homes in total 
(30,548 residual requirement) 
 
About 55,000 new jobs in total 

Option B: 
 
 About 45,400 new homes in total 
(21,571 residual requirement) 
 
About 40,000 new jobs in total 

Option C:   
 
About 36,500 new homes in total 
(12,634 residual requirement) 
                    
About 26,000 new jobs in total 

SA Objective 
Option A could have a significant 
negative effect on the SA Objective as it 
could require the release of the 
majority of Greenfield land that is 
available for development, resulting in 
a drastic transformation of the 
landscape from rural to urban. 

As Option A but to a lesser extent due 
to the lower scale of growth. 

Like Options A and B, Option C could 
have a negative impact on the 
landscape through extensions to the 
urban environment.  However, this 
impact could be significantly lower as 
the scale of growth is much lower and 
requires considerably less Greenfield 
release. 

9. Use natural 
resources efficiently and 
safeguard their quality 

 - Reuse and remediation of land 
?/ - Conservation of soil resource 
 
Overall the effect of Option A on the SA 
Objective could be positive as there 
could be opportunities to utilise 
previously developed land and 
remediate contaminated land due to 
the scale of growth proposed, but this 
would depend on LDP Policy. 
 
However, the scale of development, 
which could require the majority of the 
available Greenfield land, could result 
in the loss of a large amount of 
agricultural land, some of which is of 
high soil quality. 

 - Reuse and remediation of land 
?/ - Conservation of soil resource 
 
As Option A but to a lesser extent due 
to a lower scale of growth.  

? - Reuse and remediation of land 
?/ - Conservation of soil resource 
 
The effect of Option C on the SA 
Objective is less certain.   
 
The scale of development is 
considerably lower than that proposed 
under Options A or B, and this may 
limit the opportunities to remediate or 
re-develop previously developed land 
due to a need to provide a range and 
choice of housing and employment. 
 
Additionally the lower level of 
Greenfield requirement under Option C 
may allow for better security of the 
best and most versatile agricultural 
land but this would be dependant on 
LDP policy.  

P
age 1903



9 
 

LDP Option Option A:   
 
About 54,400 new homes in total 
(30,548 residual requirement) 
 
About 55,000 new jobs in total 

Option B: 
 
 About 45,400 new homes in total 
(21,571 residual requirement) 
 
About 40,000 new jobs in total 

Option C:   
 
About 36,500 new homes in total 
(12,634 residual requirement) 
                    
About 26,000 new jobs in total 

SA Objective 
10. Respond to 
demographic changes in a 
sustainable way 

/ 
 
For the plan period, Option A could 
provide a significant number of new 
jobs and the proposed level of housing 
could make significant progress in 
addressing the housing shortage in the 
City.  The release of large areas of 
development land may also provide 
new communities on a scale that would 
support a good provision of new 
community facilities.  However, Option 
A would also require the release of 
most of Cardiff’s available development 
land, which raises concerns over how 
the City will respond to demographic 
change beyond the plan period. 

 
 
Option B, like Option A is generally 
compatible with the SA Objective as it 
could provide a good level of jobs and 
housing over the plan period.  Option B 
requires less land than Option A and 
would leave more residual 
development land for after the plan 
period.  

? 
 
Option C is based upon the long term 
population figures for the last 8 years 
and may reflect a more sustainable 
approach to providing growth.  
However, the trend in the wider city 
region and in the valleys is for decline 
as the region looks to Cardiff for jobs 
and homes.  Option C does not take 
this eventuality into account may not 
be able to respond to these 
demographic changes.  

P
age 1904



10 
 

LDP Option Option A:   
 
About 54,400 new homes in total 
(30,548 residual requirement) 
 
About 55,000 new jobs in total 

Option B: 
 
 About 45,400 new homes in total 
(21,571 residual requirement) 
 
About 40,000 new jobs in total 

Option C:   
 
About 36,500 new homes in total 
(12,634 residual requirement) 
                    
About 26,000 new jobs in total 

SA Objective 
11. Minimise waste, 
increase re-use and recycling 

 - Citywide waste 
/? – Per capita waste 
 
Option A would significantly increase 
the number of households and 
business premises and therefore the 
absolute quantity of waste generated 
in Cardiff will also increase significantly 
placing increasing pressure on existing 
waste recycling, disposal and collection 
facilities.   
 
However, there is potential to decrease 
per capita arisings through the 
integration of recycling and composting 
facilities (including bring sites and 
household recycling facilities) into new 
developments. 

 - Citywide waste 
/? – Per capita waste 
 
Under Option B the absolute quantity 
of waste generated in Cardiff is likely to 
increase considerably, though not as 
significantly as under Option A.  
 
However, there is also potential to 
decrease per capita arisings through 
the integration of recycling and 
composting facilities (including bring 
sites and household recycling facilities) 
into new developments. 

 - Citywide waste 
/? – Per capita waste 
 
Under Option C the absolute quantity 
of waste will increase steadily over the 
plan period but there is potential to 
decrease per capita arisings through 
the integration of recycling and 
composting facilities (including bring 
sites and household recycling facilities) 
into new developments. 

 

P
age 1905



11 
 

Spatial options for delivery 
 

Greenfield sites west of Pentrebane  

SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

 
 

This large site would provide 7,500 new homes including 
significant amounts of affordable housing, and community 
facilities.  There is the potential to provide community 
facilities for nearby areas. 
The site is not in the southern arc of deprivation, and is far 
from city centre. 
Transport impacts depend on implementation: active 
attempts will be made to provide public transport and the 
plan aims for a 50:50 modal split (50% by car, 50% by 
other mode).  However the site's location does not 
encourage this. 

2. Maintain and 
improve air quality 

? 

The plan aims to minimise car traffic from the site, but an 
overall increase in traffic (and thus air pollution is 
expected.  Housing and employment development would 
also increase air pollution.  About 3,000 jobs are expected 
to be provided at the site: this would help to reduce the 
need to commute if residents also work at the site.   

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

 
 

The site is primarily composed of fields, but includes SINCs 
and a local nature reserve.  There are also local streams 
and hedgerows which would be affected by development 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause climate 
change and adapt 
to its effects 

 

The site is not in the flood zone, and has potential for 
2MW+ turbines 

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

? 
 

The site has some historic interest which could be 
affected by development  – two grade II listed buildings 
and part of site is in St Fagans conservation area 

6. Help deliver the 
growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

 
 
 

Would help to provide about 3000 jobs 

7. Improve health 
and well-being  

 
? 

The site would provide new areas of accessible green 
space.  It would not cause the loss of existing health 
facilities.  The additional traffic from development could 
lead to road-related health impacts.  The details depend 
on the masterplan 

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

/? 
The site is currently undeveloped; development would 
change this to a more urban, built-up area.   

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 

 
 

The land is Greenfield, with some 3a agricultural land.  It 
includes no contaminated land, so there is no possibility 
for remediation.   It contains no mineral resources, and so 
would not sterilise them 

Page 1906



12 
 

quality 
10.Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

 
 

The site would provide about 7500 homes including  
affordable homes, also community facilities 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase re-
use and recycling 

 
Some of this will depend on how the site is developed.  
However any development will lead to a net increase in 
waste 

 
 

Greenfield sties south of  Creigiau / north of Junction 33 on M4  

SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

 
 

This site would provide about 2750 new homes including 
significant amounts of affordable housing, and community 
facilities.   
The site is not in the southern arc of deprivation, and is far 
from city centre. 
Transport impacts depend on implementation: a Park & 
Ride facility is planned, and the site will not go forward 
until the North West Cardiff site and its bus route have 
been developed.  However the distant location does not 
encourage non-car transport.   

2. Maintain and 
improve air quality 

/ 

Even with sustainable transport solutions, the site will be 
heavily car based.  The P&R facility would improve air 
quality in the city centre but could exacerbate air 
pollution near the P&R site 

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

 
 

The site contains 8 SINCs, is adjacent to a riverine SSSI, 
and there are protected species on the site.  Development 
would have a significant negative impact on these 
sensitive features. 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause climate 
change and adapt 
to its effects 

 

The site is not in a flood zone.  It has no real potential for 
large turbines, although it could possibly accommodate 
smaller ones 

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

? 
 

The site contains one grade II listed building which may be 
affected by development 

6. Help deliver the 
growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

 
 
 

4331 jobs are proposed for the site 

7. Improve health 
and well-being 

 
? 

The site would provide new areas of accessible green 
space.  It would not cause the loss of existing health 
facilities.  The additional traffic from development could 
lead to road-related health impacts.  The details depend 
on the masterplan 
 
Development could enhance the opportunity for Creigiau 

Page 1907



13 
 

residents to access open space and other facilities, though 
this would involve crossing the busy A4119. 

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

 
The site is adjacent to a proposed SLA.  Development 
would be on Greenfield sites, and is visible from the M4 
motorway 

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

 
 

The land is Greenfield.  It includes no contaminated land, 
so there is no possibility for remediation.   It contains no 
mineral resources, and so would not sterilise them 

10.Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

 
 

The site would provide about 2750 homes including  
affordable homes, also community facilities 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase re-
use and recycling 

 
Some of this will depend on how the site is developed.  
However any development will lead to a net increase in 
waste 

 
 

Greenfield sties west of Pontprennau  

SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

 
 

This large site would provide 6,000 new homes including 
significant amounts of affordable housing, and community 
facilities.  There is the potential to provide community 
facilities for nearby areas. 
The site is not in the southern arc of deprivation, and is far 
from city centre. 
Transport impacts depend on implementation: active 
attempts will be made to provide public transport and the 
plan aims for a 50:50 modal split (50% by car, 50% by 
other mode).  However the site's location does not 
encourage this.  

2. Maintain and 
improve air quality 

? 

There would be three main entrance/exit points to the 
site, the eastern one of which would connect to a P&R 
site.   Provision of 5922 jobs at the site would help to 
reduce the need to travel.  Active attempts would be 
made to reduce car traffic, but this is likely to still be quite 
a car-based development with consequent air pollution 
impacts.  The additional housing and employment 
development would also increase air pollution.   
 
If the development included a junction onto the 
motorway, then this might attract residents who work 
further away, e.g. Swansea.  This would further increase 
air pollution.   

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

 
 

The site contains 9 small SINCS, adjacent two SSSIs, a river 
valley in middle, and several protected species 

Page 1908



14 
 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause climate 
change and adapt 
to its effects 

 

Part of the area is a historic flood zone and some is zone 
C2 (flood plain without flood defence).  See 2. above 
 

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

? 
 

One Grade I and two Grade II listed buildings 

6. Help deliver the 
growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

 
 

 

The site would help to provide 5922 jobs 
 

7. Improve health 
and well-being 

 
? 

The site would provide new areas of accessible green 
space.  Development would not cause the loss of existing 
health facilities.  The additional traffic from development 
could lead to road-related health impacts.  The details 
depend on the masterplan.   
Development at the site could enhance facilities for 
Pontprennau residents  

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

/? 
The site is currently undeveloped; development would 
change this to a more urban, built-up area.   

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

 
 

The land is Greenfield.  It includes no contaminated land, 
so there is no possibility for remediation.   It contains no 
mineral resources, and so would not sterilise them.  
Development could affect the water quality of the 
streams on site and downstream. 

10.Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

 
 

Development of the site would provide about 6000 homes 
and almost 6000 jobs, plus community facilities 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase re-
use and recycling 

 
Some of this will depend on how the site is developed.  
However any development will lead to a net increase in 
waste 

 
 

Greenfield sites east of Pontprennau  

SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all  

 

This site would provide 2,000 new homes including 
significant amounts of affordable housing, and community 
facilities.  There is the potential to provide community 
facilities for nearby areas. 
The site is not in the southern arc of deprivation, and is far 
from city centre. 
Transport impacts depend on implementation: see 2.  

2. Maintain and 
improve air quality 

? 

 active attempts will be made to provide public transport 
and the plan aims for a 50:50 modal split (50% by car, 50% 
by other mode).  However the site's location does not 
encourage this. 

Page 1909



15 
 

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

 

Dormice on site, SINC habitat NW of site 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause climate 
change and adapt 
to its effects 

 

No known flood risk along developable area.  Area is 
severed from facilities to the west by the Link Road – 
would need significant walking, cycling and public 
transport infrastructure to prevent the development from 
being heavily car-based 

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

 
? 

Three Grade II and 1 Grade II* listed buildings plus 9 
historic records 
Archaeological features may restrict development 

6. Help deliver the 
growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

 
0 

Housing-based development, although could offer small-
scale employment 

7. Improve health 
and well-being 

 
 

The site would provide new areas of accessible green 
space, as well as a primary school, local stores and a 
community centre.   The additional traffic from 
development could lead to road-related health impacts.  
The details depend on the masterplan.   

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

/? 
The site is currently undeveloped; development would 
change this to a more urban, built-up area.   

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

 
 

The land is Greenfield, with a high proportion of grade 3a 
agricultural land.  It includes two areas of landfilling.   It 
contains no mineral resources, and so would not sterilise 
them.  Development could affect the water quality of the 
streams on site and downstream. 

10.Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

 
 

Development of the site would provide about 2000 homes 
plus community facilities 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase re-
use and recycling 

 
Some of this will depend on how the site is developed.  
However any development will lead to a net increase in 
waste 

 
 

Greenfield site north of M4 at Thornhill 

SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

 

Not in southern arc of deprivation 
Has good links to areas outside Cardiff; links into Cardiff 
are poor 
Helps to provide affordable housing  

2. Maintain and 
improve air quality / 

Development would be heavily car dependent.  The site's 
long edge alongside the M4 means that residents may be 
affected by pollution from M4 

3. Protect and 
enhance  Roughly 20% of the site is SINC; riverine ecosystems and 

protected species are on site; the western side of the site 

Page 1910



16 
 

biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

borders onto a SSSI 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause climate 
change and adapt 
to its effects 

 

Not in a flood risk zone.  Likely to be heavily car 
dependent.  Potential for renewable energy generation 

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

 

The site includes 3 Grade II listed buildings and a Grade II* 
listed building.  Development has the potential to affect 
the setting of a Scheduled Ancient Monument at nearby 
Castell Morgraig 

6. Help deliver the 
growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

0 

Housing only 

7. Improve health 
and well-being / 

Would help to improve access to open space, but access 
to city centre would be minimal.  Possible negative 
impacts from air pollution (see 2.) 

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

 
About half of the site is in a proposed Special Landscape 
Area.  Development would be isolated and in the open 
countryside  

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

 

Mixture of farmland types affected, including grade 3a 
(good) agricultural land.  Would not lead to remediation 
of contaminated land.  Water quality of streams through 
the site could decrease. 
 

10.Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

 

Would helps to meet the need for homes, but would not 
improve the provision of community facilities 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase re-
use and recycling 

 
Some of this will depend on how the site is developed.  
However any development will lead to a net increase in 
waste 

 
 

Greenfield sites around Old St. Mellons Village 

SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

 

Not in the southern arc of deprivation.  Local connectivity 
is poor.  Development is unlikely to help provide 
community facilities. 
 

2. Maintain and 
improve air quality 

/ 

Development is likely to be heavily car dependent.  
Located between the M4 and Newport Road, so would 
have the potential for residents to be affected by air 
pollution from these roads 

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

? 

The sites include a small amount of SINC land, some 
riverine ecology, some dormice 

Page 1911



17 
 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause climate 
change and adapt 
to its effects 

? 

No known flood risk on areas earmarked for 
development.  Development is likely to be heavily car 
dependent 
 

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

0 

No significant constraints 

6. Help deliver the 
growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

0 

Housing only proposed 

7. Improve health 
and well-being 

/ 

Development would increase access to open space.  No 
significant new community facilities are proposed.  
Development would be heavily car dependent, so few 
benefits from regular walking and cycling. 

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

0 
Not in any landscape designations.  Cumulatively, 
development on infill sites is likely  to have detrimental 
impact on countryside 

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

 

Would not allow for high density development, so not a 
good use of land.  Would not allow for clean-up of 
contaminated land.  High probability of best and most 
versatile agricultural land on some sites 

10.Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

? 

Would provide some homes, but likely to be low density 
and relatively low number 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase re-
use and recycling 

 
Some of this will depend on how the site is developed.  
However any development will lead to a net increase in 
waste 

 
 

Greenfeld sites in the east – largely employment uses 

SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

 

Close to the southern arc of deprivation, and could 
provide jobs to residents of this area.  Would not provide 
community facilities or housing 

2. Maintain and 
improve air quality ? Development is likely to be car-dependent and so worsen 

air quality 
3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

 

Located near the Severn Estuary Ramsar/SPA/SSSI site. 
The entire site is in the SSSI.  Development would have a 
significant cumulative impact on reen ecosystems 

Page 1912



18 
 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause climate 
change and adapt 
to its effects 

 

All of the site is in a flood risk area.  Public transport to 
the area is currently poor, and existing development is car 
dependent; new development is also likely to be car 
dependent 

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

 

Roughly 20% of the site is Cardiff Archaeologically 
Sensitive Site.  Most of the site contains historic reens. 
Adjacent to the Rumney sea wall Scheduled Ancient 
Monument. 

6. Help deliver the 
growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

 

Would help to provide employment and to support the 
regeneration of nearby deprived areas 

7. Improve health 
and well-being ? 

Would not improve access to open space or provide new 
community facilities.  Would encourage the use of cars. 
Flooding would affect people's health 

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape  

Roughly half of the site is a proposed Special Landscape 
Area and forms part of CCW/CADW/ICOMOS Caldicot and 
Wentloog  Levels Landscape of Outstanding Historic 
Interest 

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

 

Would not reuse land or remediate contaminated land.  
Would have significant negative impact on water quality 

10.Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

 

Would help to provide jobs but not new housing 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase re-
use and recycling 

 
Some of this will depend on how the site is developed.  
However any development will lead to a net increase in 
waste 

 
 
NB: Dispersed Brownfield sites and dispersed Greenfield sites options were too varied and diffuse to 
effectively appraise at the strategic level. 

Page 1913



1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cardiff Council & Levett-Therivel Sustainability Consultants 
 
 
Sustainability Appraisal and Strategic Environmental Assessment of the Cardiff Local Development Plan  
 
Appendix F: Criteria used in candidate site appraisals 
 
Final Sustainability Appraisal Report of the Cardiff Local Development Plan 
 
January 2016

P
age 1914



2 
 

 
 SA objective   0 or    ? 
1a. Help 
deliver 
equality of 
opportunity 
and access for 
all: 
Transportation 
context 

Very well located in 
relation to 
transportation network. 
Relatively low car 
generation, location 
highly accessible by 
existing sustainable 
transportation modes, 
effective measures 
identified to achieve a 
50:50 modal split.  

Well located in relation 
to existing sustainable 
transport 
infrastructure. Would 
generate some 
additional car trips but 
site has the potential to 
deliver sustainable 
transportation modes 
to achieve a 50/50 
modal split . 

Reasonably-well 
located in relation to 
existing sustainable 
transport 
infrastructure.  Would 
have significant impacts 
in terms of traffic 
generation and 
congestion; impacts 
could be managed and 
could potentially 
achieve 50:50 modal 
split; 

Poorly located in 
relation to existing 
sustainable transport 
infrastructure.  Without 
significant mitigation 
site would find it 
difficult to achieve a 
50/50 split and wider 
benefits, and lead to 
increased congestion 
and negative impacts 
on the network. 

Very poorly located in 
relation to existing 
sustainable transport 
infrastructure. Significant 
car trip generation 
and/or represents car-
based site, very limited 
potential to achieve a 
50:50 modal split and 
deliver wider strategic 
transport benefits. 
Would significantly 
increase congestion. 
Mitigation not feasible.      

Effect 
unknown  

1b. Help 
deliver 
equality of 
opportunity 
and access for 
all: 
Community 
facilities 

The site has the 
potential to effectively 
deliver a broad range of 
community facilities, 
including local centres, 
schools, green 
infrastructure and other 
public facilities and also 
benefit existing 
communities with 
deficiencies. 

The site has the 
potential to deliver 
adequate community 
facilities. 
 

The scale/nature of the 
site does not place 
increased pressure on 
existing community 
facilities and adequate 
community facilities 
already exist. 

The site will place 
increased pressure on 
existing community 
facilities and is 
dependent on existing 
limited community 
facilities available in the 
surrounding area and 
too few additional 
facilities are likely to be 
delivered as part of 
development. 

The scale of the site will 
result in the loss of 
community facilities or 
place significant 
increased pressure on 
existing community 
facilities and is unlikely to 
be able to deliver new 
community facilities as 
part of development. 

Effect 
unknown  

P
age 1915



3 
 

 SA objective   0 or    ? 
2. Maintain 
and improve 
air quality 

Not assessable at locational level  Either no air quality 
issues identified or 
where impacts can be 
demonstrably 
evidenced to fully 
mitigate harm and 
which are considered 
feasible, 
proportionately 
affordable, likely to 
deliver necessary 
improvements and/or 
raise no further 
inappropriate 
consequences. 

Commuting off site may 
impact on an area or 
areas of air quality 
concern due to existing 
congestion issues, and 
where potential 
mitigation solutions are 
considered either not 
feasible, 
disproportionately 
costly, not likely to 
deliver necessary 
improvements and/or 
raise further 
inappropriate 
consequences. 

Site is likely to increase 
road traffic within an 
existing AQMA and 
where potential 
mitigation solutions are 
considered either not 
feasible, 
disproportionately costly, 
not likely to deliver 
necessary improvements 
and/or raise further 
inappropriate 
consequences.  

Effect 
unknown  

P
age 1916



4 
 

 SA objective   0 or    ? 
3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, 
flora and 
fauna 

No negative impact on 
biodiversity/ geological 
interests together with 
additional measures to 
enhance current 
biodiversity/geological 
interests to deliver 
wider than local 
benefits. The 
enhancement measures 
would need to 
demonstrate that they 
are considered feasible, 
proportionately 
affordable, likely to 
deliver necessary 
improvements and/or 
raise no further 
inappropriate 
consequences.* 
 
  
 

No negative impact on 
biodiversity/ geological 
interests together with 
additional measures to 
enhance current 
biodiversity/geological 
interests to deliver local 
benefits to the extent 
of delivering an 
enhanced local status 
of 
biodiversity/geological 
interests. The 
enhancement measures 
would need to 
demonstrate that they 
are considered feasible, 
proportionately 
affordable, likely to 
deliver necessary 
improvements and/or 
raise no further 
inappropriate 
consequences.* 

Either no impact on 
biodiversity/geological 
interests or where 
impacts can be 
demonstrably 
evidenced to fully 
mitigate harm and 
which are considered 
feasible, 
proportionately 
affordable, likely to 
deliver necessary 
improvements and/or 
raise no further 
inappropriate 
consequences 

Overall, negative 
impact on 
biodiversity/geological 
interests of local 
importance (e.g. SINC 
or LNR).  Potential 
mitigation solutions are 
considered feasible to 
reduce impact on local 
biodiversity interests.  
Also includes proposals 
where impacts relate to 
features of more than 
local importance but 
where impacts can be 
effectively reduced.  
 
 

Overall, significant 
negative impact on 
biodiversity/geological 
interests of more than 
local importance (e.g. 
SSSI, SAC, SPA or 
Ramsar).  Potential 
mitigation solutions are 
considered either not 
feasible, 
disproportionately costly, 
not likely to deliver 
necessary improvements 
and / or raise further 
inappropriate 
consequences. 
 
 

Effect 
unknown  

P
age 1917



5 
 

 SA objective   0 or    ? 
4a. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse 
gases that 
cause climate 
change and 
adapt to its 
effects: flood 
risk 

Not applicable  No known flood risk  Significant flood risk 
(tidal or fluvial: C1 or 
C2) relating to part of 
the site where it is 
considered to be 
technically possible to 
mitigate the risk, in line 
with TAN 15 guidelines, 
through major scale 
mitigation measures 
but regardless of cost, 
impact on the  and 
wider consequences. 

Significant flood risk 
(tidal or fluvial C1 or C2) 
or significant surface 
water) relating to a large 
portion of the site where 
the extent and nature of 
the risk are such that 
measures are not 
considered able to 
effectively mitigate the 
risk in line with TAN 15 
guidelines.  
 

Effect 
unknown  

4b. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse 
gases that 
cause climate 
change and 
adapt to its 
effects: scope 
for renewable 
energy 
solutions 

The scale of 
development, and/or 
the site’s physical 
attributes and/or other 
opportunities present 
significant potential for 
renewable energy 
solutions. Key strategic 
sites might offer the 
opportunity for 
exemplar solutions, 
above those standards 
set out in national 
guidance. Further 
detailed work at the 
master planning stage is 
needed to fully assess 
the potential and 
viability of any renew-
able energy schemes. 

The scale of 
development, and/or 
the site’s physical 
attributes and/or other 
opportunities offer 
moderate potential for 
renewable energy 
solutions. Further 
detailed work at the 
master planning stage is 
needed to fully assess 
the potential and 
viability of any 
renewable energy 
schemes. 

No technical, physical 
or financial constraints 
which may limit the 
opportunity for or 
feasibility of renewable 
energy solutions have 
been identified at this 
stage. Further detailed 
work at the master 
planning stage is 
needed to fully assess 
renewable energy 
opportunities and 
feasibility. 

Limited.  Technical, 
physical or financial 
constraints may limit 
the potential or 
feasibility of renewable 
energy solutions. 
Further detailed work 
at the master planning 
stage is needed to fully 
assess the potential 
and viability of any 
renewable energy 
schemes. 

Very limited. Significant 
technical, physical or 
financial constraints limit 
the opportunities for, or 
feasibility of delivering 
renewable energy 
solutions. Further 
detailed work at the 
master planning stage is 
needed to fully assess 
the potential and 
viability of any 
renewable energy 
schemes. 

Effect 
unknown 

P
age 1918



6 
 

 SA objective   0 or    ? 
5. Protect and 
enhance 
historic and 
cultural 
heritage 

No negative impact on 
historic, cultural and 
built environment 
interests together with 
additional measures to 
enhance current 
historic/ cultural 
interests to deliver 
wider than local 
benefits. The 
enhancement measures 
would need to 
demonstrate that they 
are considered feasible, 
proportionately 
affordable, likely to 
deliver necessary 
improvements and/or 
raise no further 
inappropriate 
consequences.* 

No negative impact on 
historic, cultural and 
built environment 
interests together with 
additional measures to 
enhance current 
historic/cultural 
interests to deliver local 
benefits to the extent 
of delivering an 
enhanced local status 
of historic/cultural 
interests. The 
enhancement measures 
would need to 
demonstrate that they 
are considered feasible, 
proportionately 
affordable, likely to 
deliver necessary 
improvements and/or 
raise no further 
inappropriate 
consequences.*  

Either no impact on 
historic, cultural and 
built environment 
interests or where 
impacts can be 
demonstrably 
evidenced to fully 
mitigate harm and 
which are considered 
feasible, 
proportionately 
affordable, likely to 
deliver necessary 
improvements and/or 
raise no further 
inappropriate 
consequences 

Overall, negative 
impact on historic, 
cultural and built 
environment interests 
of local importance 
(e.g. Conservation Area, 
Historic Parks and 
Gardens, 
Archaeologically 
Sensitive Areas or 
Locally Listed Building).  
Potential mitigation 
solutions are 
considered feasible to 
reduce impact on local 
historic, cultural or built 
environment interests. 
Also includes proposals 
where impacts relate to 
features of more than 
local importance but 
where impacts can be 
effectively reduced. 

Overall, significant 
negative impact on 
historic, cultural and built 
environment interests of 
more than local 
importance (e.g. 
Scheduled  Ancient 
Monument or Nationally 
Listed Building).  
Potential mitigation 
solutions are considered 
either not feasible, 
disproportionately costly, 
not likely to deliver 
necessary improvements 
and/or raise further 
inappropriate 
consequences. 
 

Effect 
unknown  

7. Improve 
health and 
well-being 

Site has the potential to 
deliver significant 
health and wellbeing 
benefits for existing as 
well as future residents, 
(e.g. significant 
improvements in health 
facilities or publicly 
accessible open space) 
beyond catering for the 
site's residents, and 

Site has the potential to 
deliver health and well 
being benefits for 
existing as well as 
future residents (e.g. 
significant 
improvements in health 
facilities, publicly 
accessible open space), 
and where these 
measures are 

Either no impact on 
health and wellbeing or 
where impacts can be 
demonstrably 
evidenced to fully 
mitigate harm and 
which are considered 
feasible, 
proportionately 
affordable, likely to 
deliver necessary 

Overall negative impact 
on health and well 
being (e.g. site occupies 
a portion of 
recreational open 
space, places significant 
negative pressure on an 
existing health facility), 
and where potential 
mitigation solutions are 
considered either not 

Overall negative impact 
on health and well being 
(e.g. site fully occupies 
recreational open space, 
removes existing health 
facilities), and where 
potential mitigation 
solutions are considered 
either not feasible, 
disproportionately costly, 
not likely to deliver 

Effect 
unknown  

P
age 1919



7 
 

 SA objective   0 or    ? 
where these measures 
are considered feasible, 
proportionately 
affordable, likely to 
deliver necessary 
improvements and/or 
raise no further 
inappropriate 
consequences. 

considered feasible, 
proportionately 
affordable, likely to 
deliver necessary 
improvements and/or 
raise no further 
inappropriate 
consequences.  

improvements and/or 
raise no further 
inappropriate 
consequences. 

feasible, 
disproportionately 
costly, not likely to 
deliver necessary 
improvements and/or 
raise further 
inappropriate 
consequences.  

necessary improvements 
and/or raise further 
inappropriate 
consequences.  

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

No negative impact on 
landscape interests 
together with 
additional measures to 
enhance current 
landscape interests to 
deliver wider than local 
benefits. The 
enhancement measures 
would need to 
demonstrate that they 
are considered feasible, 
proportionately 
affordable, likely to 
deliver necessary 
improvements and/or 
raise no further 
inappropriate 
consequences.* 
 

No negative impact on 
landscape interests 
together with 
additional measures to 
enhance current 
landscape interests to 
deliver local benefits to 
the extent of delivering  
enhanced local status 
landscape interests. The 
enhancement measures 
would need to 
demonstrate that they 
are considered feasible, 
proportionately 
affordable, likely to 
deliver necessary 
improvements and/or 
raise no further 
inappropriate 
consequences.* 

Either no impact on 
landscape interests or 
where impacts can be 
demonstrably 
evidenced to fully 
mitigate harm and 
which are considered 
feasible, 
proportionately 
affordable, likely to 
deliver necessary 
improvements and/or 
raise no further 
inappropriate 
consequences.  
 

Overall, negative 
impact on landscape 
interests of local 
importance (e.g. river 
valleys, TPOs, LCAs or 
Greenfield site). 
Potential mitigation 
solutions are 
considered feasible to 
reduce impact on the 
local landscape interest. 
Also includes proposals 
where impacts relate to 
features of more than 
local importance but 
where impacts can be 
effectively reduced. 

Overall, significant 
negative impact on 
landscape interests of 
more than local 
importance (e.g land 
considered to possess 
qualities meeting Special 
Landscape Area status 
following the regionally 
agreed methodology). 
Potential mitigation 
solutions are considered 
either not feasible, 
disproportionately costly, 
not likely to deliver 
necessary improvements 
and/or raise further 
inappropriate 
consequences. 

Effect 
unknown  

9a. Use 
natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard 

Not assessable at location level Overall, neutral impact 
on natural resources 
including Best and most 
versatile agricultural 
land, mineral deposits 

Overall, negative 
impact on natural 
resources of local 
importance (aquifers) 
and where potential 

Overall, significant 
negative impact on 
natural resources of 
more than local 
importance (Sand and 

Effect 
unknown  

P
age 1920



8 
 

 SA objective   0 or    ? 
their quality: 
Natural 
resources 

and aquifers. Either no 
impact on natural 
resources or where 
impacts can be 
demonstrably 
evidenced to fully 
mitigate harm and 
which are considered 
feasible, 
proportionately 
affordable, likely to 
deliver necessary 
improvements and/or 
raise no further 
inappropriate 
consequences.  

mitigation solutions are 
considered either not 
feasible, 
disproportionately 
costly, not certain to 
deliver necessary 
improvements and/or 
raise further 
inappropriate 
consequences.  
 

Gravel Resource, 
Minerals Buffer Zone, 
Best and Most Versatile 
Agricultural Land) and 
where potential 
mitigation solutions are 
considered either not 
feasible, 
disproportionately costly, 
not likely to deliver 
necessary improvements 
and/or raise further 
inappropriate 
consequences.  
 

9b. Use 
natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard 
their quality: 
Contaminated 
land 

Measures can be 
demonstrably 
evidenced to effectively 
bring contaminated 
land back into safe, 
beneficial use and 
which are considered 
feasible, 
proportionately 
affordable, likely to 
deliver necessary 
improvements and/or 
raise no further 
inappropriate 
consequences. 

Site impacts in part 
upon contaminated 
land but measures can 
be demonstrably 
evidenced to effectively 
bring contaminated 
land back into safe, 
beneficial use and 
which are considered 
feasible, 
proportionately 
affordable, likely to 
deliver necessary 
improvements and/or 
raise no further 
inappropriate 
consequences. 

Site does not impact 
upon contaminated 
land in any significant 
way. 

Site impacts in part 
upon contaminated 
land and where 
potential mitigation 
solutions are 
considered either not 
feasible, 
disproportionately 
costly, not certain to 
deliver necessary 
improvements and/or 
raise further 
inappropriate 
consequences 

Site significantly impacts 
upon contaminated land 
and where potential 
mitigation solutions are 
considered either not 
feasible, 
disproportionately costly, 
not likely to deliver 
necessary improvements 
and/or raise further 
inappropriate 
consequences.  
 
 

Effect 
unknown  

 
 

P
age 1921



9 
 

* Greenfield and some brownfield sites will not achieve this rank without detailed development proposals.  Some brownfield sites dependant upon 
their condition may achieve this rank.   
 
NB: SA objectives 6 (sustainable and diversified economy), 10 (demographic changes) and 11 (waste) are not included as they are not applicable 

for assessment at the location level. 
 
 

P
age 1922



1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cardiff Council & Levett-Therivel Sustainability Consultants 
 
 
Sustainability Appraisal and Strategic Environmental Assessment of 
the Cardiff Local Development Plan  
 
Appendix G: Appraisal of LDP Key and Detailed Policies 
 
Final Sustainability Appraisal Report of the Cardiff Local 
Development Plan 
 
January 2016  

Page 1923



2 
 

The previous (September 2013) version of this Appendix included SA comments and suggestions 
after many policies.  Most of these have been resolved satisfactorily through either changes to 
policies or further explanations.  In the few that remain, the ‘response’ column reports the 
planning team’s response.  In the ‘status’ column only, ‘’ means ‘issue unresolved’, and ‘~’ 
means ‘partially addressed though not conclusively’. 
 

Policy KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH  

The Plan makes provision for 45,415 new dwellings (including a 4,000 dwelling flexibility 
allowance) to deliver a housing requirement of 41,415 new dwellings and 40,000 new 
jobs in Cardiff between 2006-2026 
 
SA 
Objective 

Rank Comments 

1. Help 
deliver 
equality of 
opportunity 
and access 
for all 

 
 

Has the potential to provide a significant number of 
affordable homes and help to address an existing shortage 
in the City. The scale of growth provided has the potential to 
create new communities that are large enough to support a 
range of community facilities and services.  Also has the 
potential to improve connectivity with and between existing 
communities and increase accessibility of community 
facilities.  If new developments are provided that include 
integrated sustainable transport infrastructure or reduce 
the need to travel by including mixed uses the effect could 
be more positive as this could help to improve  access to 
services, facilities and employment particularly for those 
without access to  a private car 

2. Maintain 
and 
improve air 
quality 

 
 

Mainly incompatible with the SA Objective.  Independent of 
any potential improvements to the City’s transport 
infrastructure, the option could lead to a significant increase 
in transport (domestic and economic) and potentially an 
increase in industrial activity.  This could lead to a reduction 
in air quality particularly through increased congestion, 
which is an existing issue for the City.    
 
The policy would also lead to the development of a large 
proportion of the available Greenfield land in the City, green 
spaces help to improve air quality. 
 
However, there is an opportunity to provide new 
developments that integrate sustainable transport 
infrastructure, and mixed uses to reduce the need to travel.  
This could help to reduce congestion, new developments 
would also benefit from green infrastructure. 

3. Protect 
and 
enhance 
biodiversity, 
flora and 

 
 
 

The land required to accommodate the proposed level of 
growth represents a considerable proportion of the 
available development land in the City, the majority of 
which is Greenfield.  Whilst designated nature sites would 
be protected, the development of large areas of the City’s 

Page 1924



3 
 

fauna Greenfields could result in significant habitat loss and 
disruption to habitat connectivity.  Opportunities for 
mitigation could be limited due to extensive urbanisation. 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse 
gases that 
cause 
climate 
change and 
adapt to its 
effects 

 - 
Citywide 
carbon 
emissions 
/? – Per 
capita 
emissions 
/? – 
Adaptatio
n to 
climate 
change  

 

Citywide emissions of greenhouse gases are likely to 
increase significantly due to a large increase in population, 
waste, travel and economic activities.  Development on 
Greenfield land also reduces the carbon sink this provides 
and reduces the city’s ability to adapt to climate change as 
green space also aids in land drainage and helps to reduce 
the urban heat island effect.  
 
There is an opportunity to reduce per capita emissions in 
the city through the design of developments e.g. mixed use 
development to reduce trips and promote a modal shift to 
more sustainable transport; and/or the incorporation of 
energy efficiency measures and renewable energy 
generation.  

5. Protect 
and 
enhance 
historic and 
cultural 
heritage 

 
 
 

Generally incompatible with the SA Objective due to the 
demand for development land.  There is potential for 
negative impacts to listed buildings, and to historic assets 
(both known and unknown) and their settings.  These 
impacts could be mitigated by ensuring that developments 
are sympathetic to local character and distinctiveness, and 
by ensuring that thorough archaeological investigations are 
carried out on potential development sites. 

6. Help 
deliver the 
growth of a 
sustainable 
and 
diversified 
economy 

 
 
 

Compatible with the SA Objective as it aims to provide a 
large number of jobs in the City, which is in line with the 
view of Cardiff as the economic driver for South East Wales.  
Additionally, the volume of jobs created is significant and 
could provide a good range and choice of employment. 

7. Improve 
health and 
well-being 

 - 
Increased 
access to 
health 
care 
 - 
Reduced 
Greenfield 
amenity 

It may be possible to create new communities with 
population densities high enough to support new accessible 
leisure and health care facilities.  However, there is a strong 
link between health and being able to access green open 
space: the use of Greenfield land reduces open space. 

8. Protect 
and 
enhance the 
landscape 

 
 
 
 

Likely significant negative effect on landscape as the growth 
envisaged would lead to significant areas of Greenfield land 
being developed.   This would result in a transformation of 
the landscape from rural to urban. 

9. Use 
natural 
resources 

 - Reuse 
and 
remediatio

Provides opportunities to utilise previously developed land 
and remediate contaminated land due to the scale of 
growth proposed.  However, the scale of development 

Page 1925



4 
 

efficiently 
and 
safeguard 
their quality 

n of land 
?/ - 
Conservati
on of soil 
resource 

would result in the loss of a large amount of agricultural 
land, some of which is of high soil quality. 

10.Respond 
to 
demographi
c changes in 
a 
sustainable 
way 

 
 

Would provide a good level of new jobs and housing over 
the plan period.  The release of large areas of development 
land may also provide new communities on a scale that 
would support a good provision of new community facilities.  
It would require the release of much of Cardiff’s available 
development land, leaving some residual development land 
for after the plan period 

11. 
Minimise 
waste, 
increase re-
use and 
recycling 

 - 
Citywide 
waste 
/? – Per 
capita 
waste 

 

The absolute quantity of waste generated in Cardiff is likely 
to increase considerably.  However, there is potential to 
decrease per capita arisings through the integration of 
recycling and composting facilities (including bring sites and 
household recycling facilities) into new developments. 

 
 

Page 1926



5 
 

KP4 MASTERPLANNING APPROACH  (Policy appraised out of sequence because it sets context for KP2 (A) – (H) strategic sites policies.) 
 

SA objective 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1.  Equality 

2.  Air quality 

3. Biodiversity 

4. Clim
ate change 

5. Heritage 

6. Econom
y 

7. Health and 
w

ellbeing 

8. Landscape 

9. N
atural resources 

10. Dem
ographic 

change 

11. W
aste 

1. Masterplanning Approach            
2. Development Density ?  ?     0 0     

3. Sustainable Transport Corridors   ?   0 0    0 0 

4. Sustainable Travel Choices   0  0   0  0  

5. Neighbourhood Centres   0  0   0  0 0 

6. High Quality Sust. Design, Distinctive Character 0 0 0 0 0 0    0 0 

7. Integration with Neighbouring Areas  0 0  0   ? 0   

8. Strategic Green Open Space Corridors 0 0   ?  0    0 0 

9. Landscape, biodiversity and historic features 0 0  0  0   0 0 0 

10. Resource Efficiency   0  0     0  

Overall          0  
  
Notes: 

P
age 1927



6 
 

-Principle 1 not appraised individually since it specifies procedure, not contents. 
Potential negative scores for principle 2 (density) equality and air quality reflect risk that density gradient will result in disadvantaged people 
concentrated on transport corridors.  Needs to be watched in detailed planning of each site.  
 
 
SA Objective LDP Masterplanning Principles: 

1. Masterplanning approach 
2. Development density 
3. Sustainable transport corridors 
4. Sustainable travel choices 
5. Neighbourhood centres 

6. High quality sustainable design and distinctive 
character 

7. Integration with neighbouring areas 
8. Strategic green open space corridors 
9. Landscape, biodiversity and historic features 
10. Resource efficiency 

1. Help deliver equality of 
opportunity and access for 
all 

 
The Masterplanning Principles seek to provide and promote transport options including cycling and walking corridors, 
access to public transport, and access for all to transport modes (including those without cars) (3, 4); provision of new 
community facilities via neighbourhood centres (5); provision of a range of housing type and tenure (6); to improve 
facilities for existing communities as well as new ones and to increase connectivity between communities (7); and 
provision of accessible green space corridors (8). 
 
There is no specific mention of deprived areas or disadvantaged sections of society in the Principles, but it is 
appreciated that the LDP can only influence communities adjacent to proposed areas of growth (ie strategic sites). 
 

2. Maintain and improve air 
quality 

  
The Masterplanning Principles contribute positively to the SA objective with provision of walking, cycling and public 
transport travel options (3, 4), and gaining access to green open space corridors via sustainable and active travel 
modes (8).   
 

3. Protect and enhance 
biodiversity, flora and 
fauna 

 
Masterplanning Principle 9 aims to protect and enhance the nature conservation of sites and Principle 8 to provide 
access to biodiversity, provide habitat connectivity within and between sites.  
 

4. Reduce emissions of 
greenhouse gases that 

  
The Masterplanning Principles assist in reducing carbon emissions by minimising energy demand, increasing energy 

P
age 1928



7 
 

SA Objective LDP Masterplanning Principles: 
1. Masterplanning approach 
2. Development density 
3. Sustainable transport corridors 
4. Sustainable travel choices 
5. Neighbourhood centres 

6. High quality sustainable design and distinctive 
character 

7. Integration with neighbouring areas 
8. Strategic green open space corridors 
9. Landscape, biodiversity and historic features 
10. Resource efficiency 

cause climate change and 
adapt to its effects 

efficiency and utilising renewable energy sources, and adapt to climate change through the design of buildings to cope 
with future weather events and by avoiding development in areas of unacceptable risk (10).  
 

5. Protect and enhance 
historic and cultural 
heritage 

  
Masterplanning Principle 9 seeks to retain and improve historic buildings and Principle 6 to ensure that existing site 
features and characteristics influence and form key features in site design.  
 

6. Help deliver the growth 
of a sustainable and 
diversified economy 

? 
Employment and the local economy are not explicit in the Principles, as they focus on the role of housing in the 
Masterplanning process.  Mixed use developments are mentioned in Principle 2 in terms of density, but sites wholly 
for employment use are not covered, and Principle 5 looks at provision of new facilities that may have some 
employment use within them.   
 

7. Improve health and well-
being 

  
The Masterplanning Principles contribute positively to the SA Objective through the provision of sustainable transport 
choices that include walking and cycling (3, 4), access to open space and sports facilities (8) and the attractiveness of 
the areas design (6).  
 

8. Protect and enhance the 
landscape 
 

 
Masterplanning Principle 9 aims to ensure that existing site features influence and form key features in the design 
process through identification of these features and effective integration into the development.  Additionally Principle 
8 seeks to positively respond to existing landscape features and Principle 7 to make links to the wider countryside and 
public rights of way. 
  

9. Use natural resources 
efficiently and safeguard 

/x  
Masterplanning Principle 10 is wholly concerned with resource efficiency of energy, water and waste, and Principle 2 

P
age 1929



8 
 

SA Objective LDP Masterplanning Principles: 
1. Masterplanning approach 
2. Development density 
3. Sustainable transport corridors 
4. Sustainable travel choices 
5. Neighbourhood centres 

6. High quality sustainable design and distinctive 
character 

7. Integration with neighbouring areas 
8. Strategic green open space corridors 
9. Landscape, biodiversity and historic features 
10. Resource efficiency 

their quality sets a quantified minimum density for development ‘close to’ neighbourhood centres and ‘adjacent to’ main 
sustainable transport corridors but does not say how much development must meet this density, or how much lower it 
can be elsewhere. The Principles do not set out the reuse of previously developed land prior to Greenfield release, 
which is likely to result in Greenfield land being built upon whilst Brownfield sites remain derelict.  It is understood 
that this staged land release cannot be specified in the Principles due to current limited land bank figures, but there is 
potential to include a general statement of principle of reusing derelict land first wherever practical.  
 

10. Respond to 
demographic changes in a 
sustainable way 

0 
Masterplanning Principles 2, 3, 4 and 5 effectively address what is required to meet the needs of Cardiff’s growing 
population from a social perspective, and to a certain extent from an economic perspective.  The issue of jobs and 
employment is not clearly covered in the Principles (see Sustainability Objective 6).  
  

11. Minimise waste, 
increase re-use and 
recycling 

 
The Masterplanning Principles seek to ensure that design and layout contribute to sustainable waste management (6) 
and to provide innovative management of waste (10).   
 

 

P
age 1930



9 
 

 

Policy KP2: STRATEGIC SITES  

 
Policy KP2 designates 8 separate sites.  Each is appraised separately, except for D and E which are 
adjacent and are appraised together.   Each of these contains one or more of the previously 
identified ‘candidate sites’.  Where this appraisal differs from the candidate site pro formas, this 
reflects the different criteria used for two appraisals, and more detailed data available for the 
smaller component sites. 
 
The jobs numbers quoted for each site are estimates the Council provided to the Examination in 
Public  (Action Point 1 of Hearing Session 6.)  They do not form part of the formal policies but are 
relevant context.    
 

Policy KP2(A): CARDIFF CENTRAL ENTERPRISE ZONE AND REGIONAL TRANSPORT HUB  

Major employment-led initiative including a Regional Transport Hub together with other 
mixed uses. 

 
SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

 
 

 

Adjacent to central train station, with good links to 
Cardiff and the wider region.  Supports development in 
the southern arc of deprivation; good public transport 
links to local areas.   Provides for 10,000 - 15,000 jobs. 

2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality  

Will cause transport impacts, but these would be better 
than they would be if public transport in the area was 
not so good.  Trains to Cardiff are becoming electrified 
(will help air quality in the city centre though make it 
worse elsewhere) 

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

 
? 

Could affect some brownfield / derelict sites that 
currently are biodiverse. 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause climate 
change and adapt 
to its effects 

 
 
 
 

As 2.  The area is protected from flooding by the Cardiff 
Bay Barrage 

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

 
0 

The area has no significant historic or cultural heritage.  
Potential for enhancement 

6. Help deliver the 
growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

 
 

 

Aims to deliver 10,000 - 15,000 jobs 

7. Improve health  The area is easily accessible by walking, cycling and 

Page 1931



10 
 

and well-being  
 

public transport, which help to improve health.  
Development is expected to help reduce crime. 

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

 
 

Development of the area will help to revitalise and 
improve the  streetscape 

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

 
 
 

Uses brownfield land, and has the potential to use 
secondary aggregates 

10.Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

 
 

Provides needed jobs in a sustainable and central 
location 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

 

Some of this will depend on how the site is developed.  
However any development will lead to a net increase in 
waste 

 
 

Policy KP2(B): FORMER GAS WORKS, FERRY ROAD 

Housing based scheme of approximately 500 homes with associated community uses.   

 
SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

 
 
 

Development of the site would support the 
regeneration of an existing neighbourhood 
experiencing high levels of deprivation and vulnerable 
to decline 

2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality 

 
The site is easily accessible by bus, rail, walking and 
cycling: although it would generate additional car 
journeys, its location will help to minimise these 

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

 
? 

Protected bats recorded on site and grass snakes 
recorded nearby, though policy requires mitigation and 
compensation.  SINC on adjacent land. 
 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause climate 
change and adapt 
to its effects 

? 

The site is partly covered by flood zone C1.  See 2. 

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

0? 
 

One grade II listed building on site 

6. Help deliver the 
growth of a 

0 
 

No significant impacts 

Page 1932



11 
 

sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 
7. Improve health 
and well-being  

 
 

The site has the potential to deliver health and 
wellbeing benefits by removing an industrial use, 
remediating contaminated land and improve walking 
access to public open space 

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape  

Would redevelop a brownfield site, and redevelopment 
of the site unlikely to significantly affect the landscape 
character of the River Corridor provided mitigation 
measures are adhered to and development on the river 
bank is avoided 

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

 
 
 

No mineral resources, aquifers, high quality agricultural 
land on site.  Would bring contaminated land back into 
use 

10.Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

 
 

Site would provide about 500 homes plus community 
facilities 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

 

Some of this will depend on how the site is developed.  
However any development will lead to a net increase in 
waste 

 
 

Policy KP2(C): NORTH WEST CARDIFF 

Comprehensive development including about 6,500 to 7,000 homes (5,000 by 2026) 
employment and other associated community uses  

 
SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

 
 

This large site would provide  6,500-7,000 new homes 
(including 1,500 after 2026) including significant 
amounts of affordable housing, and community 
facilities.  There is the potential to provide community 
facilities for nearby areas. 
The site is not in the southern arc of deprivation, and is 
far from city centre. 
The policy includes extensive public transport provision 
but the site's location does not encourage this. 

2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality 

? 

The plan aims to minimise car traffic from the site, but 
an overall increase in traffic (and thus air pollution is 
expected.  Housing and employment development 
would also increase air pollution.  About 400 – 600  jobs 
are expected to be provided: this would help to reduce 
commuting if residents also work at the site.   

Page 1933



12 
 

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

 
 

The site is primarily composed of fields, but includes 
SINCs and a local nature reserve.  There are also local 
streams and hedgerows which would be affected by 
development 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause climate 
change and adapt 
to its effects 

 

The site is not in the flood zone, and has potential for 
2MW+ turbines 

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

? 

The site has some historic interest which could be 
affected by development  – two grade II listed buildings 
and part of site is in St Fagans conservation area 

6. Help deliver the 
growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

 
 
 

Would help to provide about 400 – 600 jobs 

7. Improve health 
and well-being  

 
? 

The site would provide new areas of accessible green 
space.  It would not cause the loss of existing health 
facilities.  The additional traffic from development 
could lead to road-related health impacts.  The details 
depend on the masterplan 

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

/? 
The site is currently undeveloped; development would 
change this to a more urban, built-up area.   

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

 
 

The land is Greenfield, with some 3a agricultural land.  
It includes no contaminated land, so there is no 
possibility for remediation.   It contains no mineral 
resources, and so would not sterilise them 

10.Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

 
 

The site would provide about 6,500 homes including  
affordable homes, also community facilities 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

 

Some of this will depend on how the site is developed.  
However any development will lead to a net increase in 
waste 

 
 

Policy KP2(D) and (E):  
NORTH OF JUNCTION 33 ON M4 AND SOUTH OF CREIGIAU 

D – mixed use of approximately 2,000 homes, employment, other associated community 
uses and a strategic Park and Ride site.  E - housing-based scheme of approximately 650 
homes with associated community uses.  

Page 1934



13 
 

 
SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

 
 

This site would provide about 2650 new homes 
including significant amounts of affordable housing, 
and community facilities.   
The site is not in the southern arc of deprivation, and is 
far from city centre. 
Transport impacts depend on implementation: a Park & 
Ride facility is planned, and the site will not go forward 
until the North West Cardiff site and its bus route have 
been developed.  However the distant location does 
not encourage non-car transport.   

2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality / 

Even with sustainable transport solutions, the site will 
be heavily car based.  The P&R facility would improve 
air quality in the city centre but could exacerbate air 
pollution near the P&R site 

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

 
 

The site contains 8 SINCs, is adjacent to a riverine SSSI, 
and there are protected species on the site.  
Development would have a significant negative impact 
on these sensitive features. 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause climate 
change and adapt 
to its effects 

 

The site is not in a flood zone.  It has no real potential 
for large turbines, although it could possibly 
accommodate smaller ones 

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

? 
 

The site contains one grade II listed building which may 
be affected by development 

6. Help deliver the 
growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

 
 
 

400 – 600 jobs are estimated for the site 

7. Improve health 
and well-being 

 
? 

The site would provide new areas of accessible green 
space.  It would not cause the loss of existing health 
facilities.  The additional traffic from development 
could lead to road-related health impacts.  The details 
depend on the masterplan 
 
Development could enhance the opportunity for 
Creigiau residents to access open space and other 
facilities, though this would involve crossing the busy 
A4119. 

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

 
The site is adjacent to a proposed SLA.  Development 
would be on Greenfield sites, and is visible from the M4 
motorway 

9. Use natural  The land is Greenfield.  It includes no contaminated 

Page 1935



14 
 

resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

 land, so there is no need for remediation.   It contains 
no mineral resources, and so would not sterilise them 

10.Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

 
 

The site would provide about 2650 homes including  
affordable homes, also community facilities 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

 

Some of this will depend on how the site is developed.  
However any development will lead to a net increase in 
waste 

 
 
 

Policy KP2 (F): NORTH EAST CARDIFF (WEST OF PONTPRENNAU) 

Comprehensive development of approximately 4,500 homes, employment and other 
associated community uses;  

 
SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

 
 

This large site would provide 4,500 new homes 
including significant amounts of affordable housing, 
and community facilities.  There is the potential to 
provide community facilities for nearby areas. 
The site is not in the southern arc of deprivation, and is 
far from city centre. 
Transport impacts depend on implementation: active 
attempts will be made to provide public transport and 
the plan aims for a 50:50 modal split (50% by car, 50% 
by other mode).  However the site's location does not 
encourage this.  

2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality 

? 

There would be three main entrance/exit points to the 
site, the eastern one of which would connect to a P&R 
site.   Provision of 800-1000 jobs at the site would help 
to reduce the need to travel.  Active attempts would be 
made to reduce car traffic, but this is likely to still be 
quite a car-based development with consequent air 
pollution impacts.  The additional housing and 
employment development would also increase air 
pollution.   
 
If the development included a junction onto the 
motorway, then this might attract residents who work 
further away, e.g. Swansea.  This would further 
increase air pollution.   

3. Protect and 
enhance 

 
 

The site contains 9 small SINCS, adjacent two SSSIs, a 
river valley in middle, and several protected species 

Page 1936



15 
 

biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 
4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause climate 
change and adapt 
to its effects 

 

Part of the area is a historic flood zone and some is 
zone C2 (flood plain without flood defence).  See 2. 
Above 
 

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

? 
 

One Grade I and two Grade II listed buildings 

6. Help deliver the 
growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

 
 

 

The site would help to provide 800-1000 jobs 
 

7. Improve health 
and well-being 

 
? 

The site would provide new areas of accessible green 
space.  Development would not cause the loss of 
existing health facilities.  The additional traffic from 
development could lead to road-related health impacts.  
The details depend on the masterplan.   
Development at the site could enhance facilities for 
Pontprennau residents  

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

/? 
The site is currently undeveloped; development would 
change this to an urban, built-up area.   

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

 
 

The land is Greenfield.  It includes no contaminated 
land, so there is no need for remediation.   It contains 
no mineral resources, and so would not sterilise them.  
Development could affect the water quality of the 
streams on site and downstream. 

10.Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

 
 

Development of the site would provide about 4,500 
homes and almost 800-1000 jobs, plus community 
facilities 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

 

Some of this will depend on how the site is developed.  
However any development will lead to a net increase in 
waste 

 
 

Policy KP2(G):EAST OF PONTPRENNAU LINK ROAD 

–Housing-based scheme of approximately 1,300 homes with associated community uses 

 
SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver  This site would provide 1,300 new homes including 

Page 1937



16 
 

equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

 significant amounts of affordable housing, and 
community facilities.  There is the potential to provide 
community facilities for nearby areas. 
The site is not in the southern arc of deprivation, and is 
far from city centre. 
Transport impacts depend on implementation: see 2.  

2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality ? 

 active attempts will be made to provide public 
transport and the plan aims for a 50:50 modal split 
(50% by car, 50% by other mode).  However the site's 
location does not encourage this. 

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

 

Dormice on site, SINC habitat NW of site 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause climate 
change and adapt 
to its effects 

 

No known flood risk along developable area.  Area is 
severed from facilities to the west by the Link Road – 
would need significant walking, cycling and public 
transport infrastructure to prevent the development 
from being heavily car-based 

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

 
? 

Three Grade II and 1 Grade II* listed buildings plus 9 
historic records 
Archaeological features may restrict development 

6. Help deliver the 
growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

 
0 

Housing-based development, although could offer 
small-scale employment 

7. Improve health 
and well-being 

 
 

The site would provide new areas of accessible green 
space, as well as a primary school, local stores and a 
community centre.   The additional traffic from 
development could lead to road-related health impacts.  
The details depend on the masterplan.   

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

/? 
The site is currently undeveloped; development would 
change this to an urban, built-up area.   

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

 
 

The land is Greenfield, with a high proportion of grade 
3a agricultural land.  It includes two areas of landfilling.   
It contains no mineral resources, and so would not 
sterilise them.  Development could affect the water 
quality of the streams on site and downstream. 

10.Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

 
 

Development of the site would provide at least 1300 
homes plus community facilities 

Page 1938



17 
 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

 

Some of this will depend on how the site is developed.  
However any development will lead to a net increase in 
waste 

 
 
 
 

Policy KP2(H): SOUTH OF ST. MELLONS BUSINESS PARK 

 Employment land 

 
SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

 

Close to the southern arc of deprivation, and could 
provide jobs to residents of this area.  Would not 
provide community facilities or housing 

2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality 

? 
Development is likely to be car-dependent and so 
worsen air quality 

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

 

Located near the Severn Estuary Ramsar/SPA/SSSI site. 
All of the site is in the SSSI.  Development would have a 
significant cumulative impact on reen ecosystems 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause climate 
change and adapt 
to its effects 

 

All of the site is in a C1 flood risk area.  Public transport 
to the area is currently poor, and existing development 
is car dependent; new development is also likely to be 
car dependent 

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

 

All of the site is Cardiff Archaeologically Sensitive Site.  
Most of the site is in the CCW/CADW/ ICOMOS Caldicot 
and Wentloog Levels Landscape of Outstanding Historic 
Interest.  Most of the site contains historic reens. 

6. Help deliver the 
growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy  

1,800-2000 jobs estimated. Claimed to provide 
employment and to support the regeneration of nearby 
deprived areas.  However: (1) Not clear it is realistic to 
attract the proposed knowledge based jobs to Cardiff; 
(2) If they do come, site A would seem a better place; 
(3) If they do come, they are unlikely to be filled by 
local residents, and (4) even with better transport links 
they will not be very easy to access.     

7. Improve health 
and well-being ? 

Would not improve access to open space or provide 
new community facilities.  Would encourage the use of 
cars.  Flooding would affect people's health 

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

 
The site is currently undeveloped; development would 
change this to an urban, built-up area.  Most of the site 
is in the CCW/CADW/ ICOMOS Caldicot and Wentloog 

Page 1939



18 
 

Levels Landscape of Outstanding Historic Interest.  The 
site is adjacent to a proposed Special Landscape Area 
and the Newport Green Belt, and the area has been 
identified as a high quality landscape by a study 
undertaken in 2008. 

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

 

Would not reuse land or remediate contaminated land.  
Would have significant negative impact on water 
quality 

10.Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

 

Would help to provide jobs but not new housing 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

 

Some of this will depend on how the site is developed.  
However any development will lead to a net increase in 
waste 

 
SA comments and suggestions Response Status 
From an environmental perspective, this is a 
very poor site and recommend that it is not 
included in the plan. Its only real benefit is 
that it will provide land for the kinds of jobs 
that would not easily be accommodated in the 
city centre, and that these may be accessible 
for residents of Trowbridge and Rumney.  
From a transport perspective, it would be 
more sustainable to provide several smaller 
employment sites scattered across the city. 

St Mellons Business Park is 
already an established 
business park, within a 
Strategic Location. 
 
A large strategic allocation 
coupled with the provision of 
modern, flexible premises is 
important, if Cardiff is to 
continue to attract inward 
investment, and promote high 
value, knowledge based 
activities, thus fulfilling its 
role within the City Region. 
The plan needs to provide a 
range and choice of sites 
including out of centre 
alternatives.  
 
Travel implication concerns 
should be reduced through 
the provision of smaller local 
employment sites within 
mixed use strategic 
allocations.  Furthermore, the 
protection of existing 
strategic and locally 
important areas through 
policy planning should further 

 

Page 1940



19 
 

alleviate this concern in 
relation to travel, in addition 
to the provision of a rail link 
to the city centre as a result 
of this scheme. 

Landscape impacts cannot be mitigated The Site Specific Principles on 
page 57 of the 
Masterplanning Framework 
which forms a Supporting 
Document to the LDP state 
that the Wentloog Levels 
Landscape of Outstanding 
Historic Interest will be 
protected. In order to ensure 
this it is important that the 
development of the site is  
undertaken in a sensitive 
manner to minimise harm.  
These principles will be used 
by the Council through the 
planning and design process 
to work with developers to 
design detailed masterplans. 

  

 
 
Policy KP3(A) and KP3(B) appraised together because they jointly define settlement 
boundaries and constraints on development outside them  
KP3(A) GREEN WEDGE: In order to strategically manage the urban form of Cardiff and to 
protect the setting of the urban area, a Green Wedge is proposed on land North of the 
M4 as shown on the Proposals Map. Within this area development which prejudices the 
open nature of this land will not be permitted. Positive biodiversity, landscape, climate 
change mitigation and informal recreational management and enhancement measures 
will be encouraged in this area to further enhance the long term role of the area as a key 
natural resource benefitting the city. 

KP3(B): SETTLEMENT BOUNDARIES In order to strategically manage the spatial growth 
of Cardiff, settlement boundaries are proposed as shown on the Proposals Map. In all 
areas outside the defined settlement boundaries, otherwise referred to as countryside, 
there will be a corresponding presumption against inappropriate development. 

  
 
SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

0 
 

 

2. Maintain and 
improve air  Policies will help reduce air pollution by helping keep 

settlements compact, reducing need for motorised 

Page 1941



20 
 

quality transport  
3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

 

Policies will help maintain open countryside 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause 
climate change 
and adapt to its 
effects 

 

Policies will help reduce air pollution by helping keep 
settlements compact, reducing need for motorised 
transport  

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

0 

 

6. Help deliver 
the growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

? 

Policies may restrict economic development outside 
settlements, though provision ‘Where it can be 
demonstrated that development outside settlement 
boundaries is acceptable in principle, other detailed 
Deposit LDP policies provide the framework to consider 
the merits or otherwise of proposals’ (4.82 of Deposit 
LDP) should permit genuinely justified development.   

7. Improve health 
and well-being  Policies will help maintain open countryside 

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

 
Policies will help maintain open countryside 

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

 

Policies will help promote more compact and therefore 
resource efficient settlements. 

10. Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way ? 

Policies will restrict development outside settlements, 
though provision ‘Where it can be demonstrated that 
development outside settlement boundaries is 
acceptable in principle, other detailed Deposit LDP 
policies provide the framework to consider the merits 
or otherwise of proposals’ (4.82 of Deposit LDP) should 
permit genuinely justified development.   

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

0 

 

 
 
 
Policy KP5: GOOD QUALITY AND SUSTAINABLE DESIGN  
To help support the development of Cardiff as a world-class European Capital City, all 

Page 1942



21 
 

new development will be required to be of a high quality, sustainable design and make a 
positive contribution to the creation of distinctive communities, places and spaces by: 

(i)  Responding to the local character and context of the built and landscape setting so 
that layout, scale, form, massing, height, density, colour, materials, detailing and 
impact on the built and natural heritage are all addressed within development 
proposals; 

(ii)  Providing legible development which is easy to get around and which ensures a 
sense of continuity and enclosure; 

(iii)  Providing a diversity of land uses to create balanced communities and add 
vibrancy throughout the day; 

(iv) Creating interconnected streets, squares and spaces as distinctive places, which 
are safe, accessible, vibrant and secure and incorporate public art where 
appropriate; 

(v)  Providing a healthy and convenient environment for all users that supports the 
principles of community safety, encourages walking and cycling, enables 
employment, essential services and community facilities to be accessible by 
sustainable transport and maximises the contribution of networks of multi-
functional and connected open spaces to encourage healthier lifestyles; 

(vi)  Maximising renewable energy solutions; 

(vii)  Achieve a resource efficient and climate responsive design that provides 
sustainable water and waste management solutions and minimise emissions from 
transport, homes and industry; 

(viii)  Achieving an adaptable design that can respond to future social, economic, 
technological and environmental requirements;  

(ix) Promoting the efficient use of land, developing at highest practicable  densities and 
where appropriate achieving the remediation of land contamination;   

(x)  Ensuring no undue effect on the amenity of neighbouring occupiers and 
connecting positively to surrounding communities;  

(xi)  Fostering inclusive design, ensuring buildings, streets and spaces are accessible to 
all users and is adaptable to future changes in lifestyle; and 

(xii)  Locating Tall buildings in locations which are highly accessible through walking and 
public transport and within an existing or proposed cluster of tall buildings. 

 
SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

 
 

Policy aims to provide developments with an accessible 
and inclusive environment 

2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality 

? 
Policy aims to create an environment that encourages 
walking and cycling and reduces car usage, which may 
improve air quality 

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 

 
 
 

Good design can protect and enhance biodiversity 
interest 

Page 1943



22 
 

and fauna 
4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause 
climate change 
and adapt to its 
effects 

 

Policy aims to provide adaptable developments that 
mitigate and adapt to the effects of climate change 
both now and in the future 

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

 
 

Good design can protect historic and cultural heritage 

6. Help deliver 
the growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

 
 

Policy should support development of sustainable 
design and construction expertise and capability  

7. Improve health 
and well-being  

 

Policy aims to provide developments that facilitate and 
encourage walking and cycling and provide networks of 
multi-functional open space for recreation 

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

 
 
 

Policy aims to provide developments that take into 
account landscape setting  

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

 
 

Policy aims to provide resource efficient developments 

10. Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

 

Policy aims to provide developments that responds to 
future requirements 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

 

Policy aims to provide development with integrated 
sustainable waste management solutions 

 
 
 
Policies KP6 and KP7 appraised together because both are concerned with securing 
necessary public provisions in new development  
  
KP6: NEW INFRASTRUCTURE 
 
New development will make appropriate provision for, or contribute towards, all 
essential, enabling and necessary infrastructure required as a consequence of the 
proposed development in accordance with Planning Policy Guidance.  Such 
infrastructure will be delivered in a timely manner to meet the needs of existing and 
planned communities and includes the following aspects which may be required having 

Page 1944



23 
 

regard to the nature, scale and location of the proposed development: 
Essential / Enabling Infrastructure: 
• Transportation and highways including access, circulation, parking, public transport 

provision, walking and cycling; 
• Utility services; 
• Flood mitigation / defences; 
 
Necessary Infrastructure: 
 
• Affordable Housing; 
• Schools and education; 
• Health and social care; 
• Community buildings and facilities including District and Local Centre improvements; 
• Local employment and training including replacement employment opportunities 

where relevant; 
• Community safety initiatives; 
• Open space, recreational facilities, playgrounds, allotments; 
• Protection, management, enhancement and mitigation measures relating to the 

natural and built environment; 
• Public realm improvements and public art;  
• Waste management facilities including recycling and services; 
• District heating and sustainable energy infrastructure; 

 

KP7:  PLANNING OBLIGATIONS  

Planning obligations will be sought to mitigate any adverse impacts of development and 
will be assessed on a case by case basis in line with Planning Policy Guidance. 
 
SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity 
and access for 
all 

? 

The requirements  have potential to avoid negative 
impacts and impact positively on all SA objectives, 
depending on how they are applied. 
 

2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality 

? 

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, 
flora and fauna 

? 

Page 1945



24 
 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse 
gases that 
cause climate 
change and 
adapt to its 
effects 

? 

5. Protect and 
enhance 
historic and 
cultural 
heritage 

? 

6. Help deliver 
the growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

? 

7. Improve 
health and well-
being 

? 

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

? 

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

? 

10.  Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

? 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

? 

 
 
Policy KP8: SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT  
Development in Cardiff will be integrated with transport infrastructure and services in 
order to:  
(i) Achieve the target of a 50:50 modal split between journeys by car and  journeys by 

walking, cycling and public transport. 
(ii) Reduce travel demand and dependence on the car; 
(iii) Enable and maximise use of sustainable and active modes of transport; 
(iv) Integrate travel modes; 
(v) Provide for people with particular access and mobility requirements; 
(vi) Improve safety for all travellers; 

Page 1946



25 
 

(vii) Maintain and improve the efficiency and reliability of the transport network; 
(viii) Support the movement of freight by rail or water; and 
(ix) Manage freight movements by road and minimise their impacts. 
 
 
SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

 
 

Policy aims to improve access to jobs, community 
facilities and services by sustainable modes of transport  

2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality 

 
Policy aims to reduce reliance on private car and 
encourage the use of sustainable transport  

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

0 
 

 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause 
climate change 
and adapt to its 
effects 

 

Policy aims to provide an integrated sustainable 
transport system and reduce the use of the private car  

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

 
0 

 

6. Help deliver 
the growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

 
 
 
 
 

Policy aims to enable sustainable travel, for all, to 
employment sites 

7. Improve health 
and well-being  Policy aims to encourage and facilitate walking and 

cycling by providing safe and attractive routes 
8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

0 
 

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

0 
 

 

10. Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

 

Policy aims to meet the needs of the population in 
terms of access via sustainable transport to services, 
facilities and employment  

Page 1947



26 
 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

0 

 

 
 
Policy KP9: RESPONDING TO EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS  
Provision will be made for a range and choice of new employment sites including those 
identified in KP2 for different types of employment and in different geographical 
locations to effectively deliver the level of growth set out in the plan together with 
putting in place a framework to protect the role of existing employment land  
 
SA comments and suggestions Response Status 
Policy as now drafted cannot be meaningfully 
appraised since it merely says ‘provision will be 
made … ’ without saying what, where, when 
how much etc. The SA appraises specific 
provisions in the other policies where they 
occur. 

  

 
 
Policy KP10: CENTRAL AND BAY BUSINESS AREAS  
The following uses are considered appropriate within the Central and Bay Business 
Areas:  
(i) New offices, residential and commercial leisure uses within the Central and Bay 
Business Areas;  
(ii) Enhanced retail and complementary facilities within the Central Shopping Area; and  
(iii) Other uses most appropriately located in city centres.  

  
 
SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

 

Opportunities for employment options and leisure 
facilities with good existing transport links from across 
city 

2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality  

Locations support existing infrastructure and could 
encourage the use of sustainable transport to access 
them.  However, further focussed development in 
these areas may increase air pollution from traffic 
without mitigation  

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

 

Increased visitors to the bay area may increase 
disturbance (including on water activities) to wildfowl, 
and fish nurseries 

Page 1948



27 
 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause 
climate change 
and adapt to its 
effects 

 

Policy likely to encourage and promote a shift to 
sustainable transport  

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

0 
 

 [policy doesn’t say anything one way of the other]  

6. Help deliver 
the growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

 
 
 

 
These areas have good transport links and 
development may support and enhance the city centre 

7. Improve health 
and well-being 

 
 

Policy aims to provide new leisure facilities, which 
contribute to health and well being 

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

 
Policy favours development that supports the 
attractiveness of the city centre 

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

  

Policy supports continued regeneration and 
remediation of the Bay business area 
 

10.  Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

 

Policy meets the needs for jobs, retail and leisure 
facilities 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

0 

 

 
 
 
Policy KP11: CRUSHED ROCK AGGREGATES AND OTHER MINERALS 
Cardiff will maintain a steady and adequate supply of minerals and contribute to 
regional aggregate supplies by: 

(i) Promoting and supporting the efficient use of minerals and use of alternatives to 
naturally occurring minerals including the re-use of secondary aggregates; 

(ii) Protecting existing mineral reserves and safeguarding potential resources of 
limestone, coal and sand and gravel from development that would preclude their future 
extraction;  

(iii) Maintaining a minimum 10 year land bank of permitted crushed rock aggregate 

Page 1949



28 
 

reserves in line with national guidance: 

iv) Supporting appropriate applications for sand and gravel extraction; and  

v) Safeguarding wharves from development that would prevent their use for landing 
marine dredged sand and gravel. 
 
SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

 
 

0 

 

2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality 

 
Dust and road transport associated with minerals 
extract may reduce air quality 

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

? 
 

Potential for habitat loss  
There may be opportunities for habitat restoration/ 
creation once quarries are no longer in use 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause 
climate change 
and adapt to its 
effects 

? 
 

Sustained levels of transport and energy intensive 
activities associated with mining/ quarrying minerals 

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

0 

 

6. Help deliver 
the growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

 
 

Efficiently used and well managed minerals resources 
could help to support the economy in the long term, 
particularly the construction sector 

7. Improve health 
and well-being 

 
 

There may be impacts to health from noise and air 
pollution associated with the extraction of minerals  

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

 
Minerals extraction invariably results in landscape 
impacts due to excavation  

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

 
 

Policy aims to safeguard mineral resources and 
encourage the efficient use  
Potential negative impact upon local water quality 
without mitigation 

10.Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

 

Policy aims to ensure that there are mineral reserves 
for future use 

Page 1950



29 
 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

 

Policy encourages the efficient use of minerals and the 
recycling of secondary aggregates, may help to reduce 
waste from the construction industry 

 
 
 
Policy KP12: WASTE  
Waste arisings from Cardiff will be managed by: 

(i) Promoting and supporting additional sustainable waste treatment facilities, measures 
and strategies in accordance with the Collections, Infrastructure and Markets Sector 
Plan (2012) and TAN 21 (2014) in a manner that follows the waste hierarchy and the 
principles of an integrated and adequate network of waste installations; nearest 
appropriate installation; self-sufficiency and protection of human health and the 
environment; 

(ii) Encouraging the provision of in-building treatment facilities on existing and allocated 
areas of general industry; 

(iii) Supporting the provision and maintenance of sustainable waste management 
storage and collection arrangements in all appropriate new developments; and 

(iv) Supporting waste prevention and reuse and the provision of facilities that use 
recycled or composted products. 
 
SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

0 
 

 

2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality ? 

Policy may help to reduce road traffic associated with 
waste management by integrating management 
facilities with waste producer, however potential issues 
with dust and odour 

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

0 
 

 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause 
climate change 
and adapt to its 
effects 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Policy may reduce the need to transport waste, 
reducing any transport related emissions 
Policy encourages resource efficiency, reuse and 
recycling 

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 

0 
 

 

Page 1951



30 
 

heritage 
6. Help deliver 
the growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

 
 
 

Policy will encourage growth and jobs in the waste 
management sector  

7. Improve health 
and well-being 

 
 / ? 

 

Locating waste management facilities within 
developments may impact on health of residents/ 
employees 

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

0 
 

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

 
 

Policy seeks to promote resource efficiency and 
recycling and may reduce the need for land for land 
filling purposes  

10. Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

 
 

Policy may help to ensure that waste management 
facilities can cope with future waste arisings 
Provision of community facility 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

 

Policy promotes resource efficiency, reuse and 
recycling  

 
SA comments and suggestions Response Status 
Suggest putting indent iv first to signal 
primacy of reducing waste 

Disagree. Criteria are not 
ranked in order of 
importance, with equal 
weight afforded to each, so 
there is no need to reorder. 

 

 
 
Policy KP13: RESPONDING TO EVIDENCED SOCIAL NEEDS  
A key part of the successful progression of the city will be to develop sustainable 
neighbourhoods, tackle deprivation, and improve the quality of life for all. This will be 
achieved through: 
 
(i) Providing a range of dwelling sizes, types and affordability including seeking to 

provide a target of 6,646 affordable dwellings over the remaining 12 years of Plan 
period ; 

 
(ii) Supporting the vitality, viability and attractiveness of existing District and Local 

Centres and their regeneration, including retail and other commercial 
development and housing of an appropriate scale; 
 

(iii) Encouraging the provision of a full range of social, health, leisure and education 
facilities and community infrastructure for both existing and new communities 

Page 1952



31 
 

that are accessible to all by walking and cycling and public transport; 
 

(iv) Supporting the regeneration of deprived communities within the city and 
maximising the additional benefits that new communities can bring to adjoining 
or surrounding communities; 
 

(v) Encouraging the enhancement of communities through better equality of access 
to services for all, promoting cultural and wider diversity for all groups in society, 
and creating places that encourage social interaction and cohesion;  
 

(vi) Developing new cultural and sporting facilities to build upon Cardiff’s role as a 
major tourist, cultural and sporting destination for visitors and residents alike; 
and 
 

(vii) Designing out crime and creating communities which are safer and feel safer. 

  
 
SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

 
 

Policy strongly compatible with the SA Objective; aims 
to provide housing and address existing deprivation 
issues, provide cultural, sporting and community 
facilities and ensure that existing neighbourhoods 
benefit from the infrastructure brought forward from 
new neighbourhood created over the plan period 

2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality 

 
Policy aims to support local and district centres, and 
their regeneration.  This may help to reduce the need 
to travel 

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

 
0 

 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause 
climate change 
and adapt to its 
effects 

 
 
 

Provision of local and accessible facilities 
 

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

 
 
 
 
 

Policy seeks to promote cultural diversity 

6. Help deliver 
the growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

 
 

Policy aims to support district and local centres 
Policy aims to support the regeneration of deprived 
areas  

Page 1953



32 
 

7. Improve health 
and well-being  

 

Policy aims to provide new sporting facilities 
Policy aims to design out crime and create communities 
where people are safe and feel safe  

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

0 
 

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

0 
 

 

10. Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

 

Policy aims to provide community facilities to meet 
needs  

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

0 

 

 
 
 
Policy KP14: HEALTHY LIVING  
Cardiff will be made a healthier place to live by seeking to reduce health inequalities 
through encouraging healthy lifestyles, addressing the social determinants of health and 
providing accessible health care facilities. This will be achieved by supporting 
developments which provide for active travel, accessible and useable green spaces, 
including allotments. 

 
SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

 

Policy aims to reduce health inequalities 

2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality 

0 
 

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

? 
 

Providing green spaces may provide opportunities for 
biodiversity enhancements 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause 
climate change 
and adapt to its 
effects 

? 

Policy encourages active travel. 

Page 1954



33 
 

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

0 
 

 

6. Help deliver 
the growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

 
? 

Providing allotments may help to encourage 
community/ social enterprise, with potential benefits 
to deprived areas of the city  

7. Improve health 
and well-being  

 

Policy aims to promote healthy living and reduce health 
inequalities  
Policy aims to improve access to open spaces for 
recreation  

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

? 
Provision of green space may provide opportunities for 
landscape/ townscape enhancement 

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

0 
 

 

10.  Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

 

Policy aims to provide accessible community green 
space 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

0 

 

 
 
Policy KP15: CLIMATE CHANGE  
To mitigate against the effects of climate change and adapt to its impacts, development 
proposals should take into account the following factors: 

(i) Reducing carbon emissions; 

(ii) Protecting and increasing carbon sinks;  

(iii) Adapting to the implications of climate change at both a strategic and detailed 
design level;  

(iv) Promoting energy efficiency and increasing the supply of renewable energy;   

(v) Avoiding areas susceptible to flood risk in the first instance in accordance with the 
sequential approach set out in national guidance; and 

(vi) Preventing development that increases flood risk. 
 

Page 1955



34 
 

SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

0 

 

2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality 

? 
Measures to reduce carbon emissions may have 
potential benefits to air quality  

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

 
? 

Policy aims to protect and increase carbon sinks, which 
may provide benefits to biodiversity.   

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause 
climate change 
and adapt to its 
effects 

? 

Policy aims ensure that new developments take 
account of the causes and consequences of climate 
change  
 

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

0 
 

 

6. Help deliver 
the growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

0 
 

 

7. Improve health 
and well-being 0 Policy may help to reduce health related impacts 

related with flood risk 
8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

0 
 

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

? 
 

Policy aims to promote energy efficiency and 
renewable energy 

10.  Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

0 

 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

0 

 

 
SA comments and suggestions Response Status 
‘take into account the following factors’ is Disagree as this is already ~ 

Page 1956



35 
 

insufficient to provide grounds for turning 
down unsupportive development.  Suggest 
replace with ‘should, to the maximum 
extent practical … ‘ 

implied in the policy 
wording and, in reality, the 
additional wording does not 
have a significant policy 
impact 

 

 

Policy KP16: GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE 
Cardiff’s distinctive natural heritage provides a network of green infrastructure which 
will be protected, enhanced,  and managed to ensure the integrity and connectivity of 
this multi-functional green resource is maintained. 
 
Protection and conservation of natural heritage network needs to be reconciled with the 
benefits of development.  Proposed development should therefore demonstrate how 
green infrastructure has been considered and integrated into the proposals. If 
development results in overall loss of green infrastructure, appropriate compensation 
will be required. 
 
Natural heritage assets are key to Cardiff’s character, value, distinctiveness and sense of 
place.  They include the city’s: 
 
i). Undeveloped countryside and coastline (EN1 and EN2); 
ii). Landscape, geological and heritage features which contribute to the City’s setting 

(EN3); 
iii). Strategically important river valleys of the Ely, Taff, Nant Fawr and Rhymney 

(EN4); 
iv). Biodiversity interests including designated sites and the connectivity of priority 

habitats and species (EN5, EN6 and EN7); 
v). Trees (including street trees), woodlands and hedgerows (EN8); 
vi). Strategic recreational routes, cycleways and the public rights of way network (T5, 

T6 and T8); 
vii). Parks, playing fields, green play areas and open spaces (C3, C4 and C6); 
viii). Growing spaces including allotments, community orchards and larger gardens 

(C5); and 
ix). Holistic integrated surface water management systems (EN10). 
 
 
SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

0 

 

2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality 

 
Policy aims to protect and enhance Cardiff’s 
biodiversity resources; vegetation provides carbon 
sinks and can help improve air quality  

3. Protect and 
enhance 

 
 

Policy aims to protect and enhance Cardiff’s 
biodiversity assets (including designated sites) 

Page 1957



36 
 

biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause 
climate change 
and adapt to its 
effects 

 

Policy aims to maintain and develop recreational routes 
which reduce the need for motorised travel, and 
vegetation which can help adapt to climate change 

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

 
 

Policy aims to protect and enhance the city’s historic 
parks and gardens 

6. Help deliver 
the growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

? 
 

Policy could restrict availability of sites for development 
, but natural assets provide attractive environment for 
investment  

7. Improve health 
and well-being 

 
 

Policy aims to maintain and enhance the city’s parks 
and open spaces for recreation  

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

 
Policy aims to protect and enhance the city’s river 
valleys, open spaces, countryside and coastal settings  

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

 
 

Safeguarding water resources and natural assets 

10.  Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

0 

 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

0 

 

 
 
 
Policy KP17: BUILT HERITAGE  
Cardiff’s distinctive heritage assets will be protected, managed and enhanced, in 
particular  the character and setting of its Scheduled Ancient Monuments; Listed 
Buildings; Registered Historic Landscapes, Parks and Gardens; Conservation Areas; 
Locally Listed Buildings and other features of local interest that positively contribute to 
the distinctiveness of the city. 
 
SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 

0 
 

 

Page 1958



37 
 

opportunity and 
access for all 
2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality 

0 
 

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

 
 
 

Policy aims to protect and enhance the city’s historic 
parks and gardens 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause 
climate change 
and adapt to its 
effects 

0 

 

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

 
 

Policy aims to protect and enhance nationally and 
locally important historic and cultural assets  

6. Help deliver 
the growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

 
 

 / ? 
 
 

Policy could restrict suitability of site, but heritage 
assets provide attractive environment for investment 

7. Improve health 
and well-being 

 
 
 

Protection of built heritage will contribute to quality of 
life 

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

 
 
 

Policy aims to protect and enhance the city’s historic 
parks and gardens  

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

0 
 

 

10.Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

0 

 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

0 

 

 
 
Policy KP18: NATURAL RESOURCES 
In the interests of the long-term sustainable development of Cardiff, the city’s natural 
resources development proposals must take full account of the need to minimise 

Page 1959



38 
 

impacts on the city’s natural resources and minimise pollution, in particular the 
following elements:  

 (i) Protecting the best and most versatile agricultural land; 

(ii) Protecting the quality and quantity of water resources, including underground, 
surface and coastal waters; 

(iii) Minimising air pollution from industrial, domestic and road transportation 
sources and managing air quality; and 

(iv) Remediating land contamination through the redevelopment of contaminated sites.  
 
SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

0 
 

 

2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality 

 
Policy aims to manage air quality and minimise air 
pollution 

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

 
 
 
 
 

Policy aims to protect agricultural land and water 
resources 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause 
climate change 
and adapt to its 
effects 

 
 

Policy aims to minimise air pollution which may reduce 
greenhouse gases 

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

 
0 
 

 

6. Help deliver 
the growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

 
 

Policy aims to protect best and most versatile 
agricultural land, with potential benefits to the rural 
economy  

7. Improve health 
and well-being  Policy aims to minimise air pollution with associated 

health benefits 
8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

 
 
 

Remediation of contaminated land will enhance the 
landscape 

9. Use natural 
resources 

 
 

Policy aims to safeguard soil quality, water resources 
and remediate and redevelop contaminated land 

Page 1960



39 
 

efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

 
 

10. Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

0 

 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

0 

 

 
SA comments and suggestions Response Status 
Suggest removing the phrase 
‘take full account of the need to 
minimise impacts on the city’s 
natural resources and minimise 
pollution, in particular the 
following elements:’ which 
weakens the policy. 

Disagree – as worded, the policy correctly 
identifies key issues to be taken account 
of and considered along with other 
policies which may promote the need for 
development or relate to other 
constraints. Deleting as suggested would 
make the policy too rigid, inflexible and 
out of context with the Plan as a whole. 

~ 

 
DETAILED POLICIES 
 
H1: NON-STRATEGIC HOUSING SITES 
 
Policy H1: NON-STRATEGIC HOUSING SITES 
 

Table 3: SUMMARY OF NON-STRATEGIC HOUSING SITES 
Site Ref. Site Name Estimated Units Site Size (Ha) 
H1.1 Land at Areas 9-12, St Mellons 150 3.98 
H1.2 Land rear of Clive Street 80 2.87 
H1.3 Rookwood Hospital 90 3.40 
H1.4 Former Lansdowne Hospital 75 1.51 
H1.5 Land at Dan-y-Garth, Pentrych 47 2.49 
H1.6 Land at former St John’s College 64 2.50 
H1.7 Ely Bridge Farm, Dyfrig Road. Ely  41 0.72 
H1.8 Electrocoin Automatics Ltd, 

Caerphilly Road 
20 0.61 

H1.9 Land at Mill Road, Tongwynlais 5 0.40 
 

 
SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

 
 

Sites will help meet housing need 

Page 1961



40 
 

2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality 

0 
 

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

 
/ 

Some sites have biodiversity issues 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause 
climate change 
and adapt to its 
effects 

 
/ 

Most, but not all, sites have good public transport. 
 
Some have (manageable) flood risks   

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

0 

 

6. Help deliver 
the growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

0 

 

7. Improve health 
and well-being 0  

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

0 
 

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

 

Sites are generally brownfield in need of improvement  

10. Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

 

Sites address housing need. 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

0 

 

 
 
 
 
Policies H2, H4, H5, H6  (Appraised together because they form a coherent package 
governing protection and provision of land for housing uses) 
H2: CONVERSION TO RESIDENTIAL USE  
Within the Central Business Area of the city centre, District and Local centres, as defined 

Page 1962



41 
 

on the Proposals Map, the conversion of suitable vacant space above commercial 
premises to residential use will be favoured where:  
(i) Adequate servicing and security can be maintained to the existing commercial use(s);  
(ii) Appropriate provision can be made for parking, access, pedestrian access, amenity 
space, and refuse disposal together with any appropriate external alterations and;  
(iii) The residential use does not compromise the ground floor use.  
 
H4: CHANGE OF USE OF RESIDENTIAL LAND OR PROPERTIES  
Outside the Central and Bay Business Areas and District and Local Centres, identified on 
the Proposals Map, conversion or redevelopment of residential properties to other use 
will only be permitted where:  
(i) The premises or their location are no longer suitable for residential use; or  

(ii) The proposal is for a community use necessary within a residential area; or  

(iii) There would be no unacceptable impact on residential amenity. 
 
H5: SUB-DIVISION OR CONVERSION OF RESIDENTIAL PROPERTIES  
Proposals for any conversion to flats or Houses in Multiple Occupation will be permitted 
where:  
(i) The property is of a size whereby the layout, room sizes, range of facilities and 
external amenity space of the resulting property would ensure an adequate standard of 
residential amenity for future occupiers.  
 
(ii) There would be no material harm to the amenity of existing, nearby residents by 
virtue of general disturbance, noise or overlooking.  
 
(iii) The cumulative impact of such conversions will not adversely affect the amenity 
and/or the character of the area.  
 
(iv) Does not have an adverse effect on local parking provision  
 
H6: CHANGE OF USE OR REDEVELOPMENT TO RESIDENTIAL USE  
Change of use of redundant premises or redevelopment of redundant previously 
developed land for residential use will be permitted where:  
(i) There is no overriding need to retain the existing use of the land or premises and no 
overriding alternative local land use requirement;  

(ii) The resulting residential accommodation and amenity will be satisfactory;  

(iii) There will be no unacceptable impact on the operating conditions of existing 
businesses;  

(iv) Necessary community and transportation facilities are accessible or can be readily 
provided or improved; and 
 
(v) It can be demonstrated that the change of use to a more sensitive end use has been 
assessed in terms of land contamination risk and that there are no an unacceptable risk 
to the end users.  

 

Page 1963



42 
 

 
SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

? 

Policies will prevent some conversions and reuse of 
premises.  

2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality 

0 
 

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

 
0 

 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause 
climate change 
and adapt to its 
effects 

0 

 

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

0 
 

 

6. Help deliver 
the growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

 
 

H2 and H6 prevent loss of land and premises needed 
for employment.  

7. Improve health 
and well-being  

 

These policies collectively aim to ensure that changes 
to and from residential use do not adversely affect 
well-being   

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

0 
 

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

 

These policies collective aim to allow reuse and 
redevelopment of buildings to meet future needs  

10.  Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

 

These policies collective aim to allow reuse and 
redevelopment of buildings to meet future needs 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

0 

 

 

Page 1964



43 
 

 
 
Policy H3: AFFORDABLE HOUSING  
  
The Council will seek 20% affordable housing on brownfield sites and 30% affordable 
housing on Greenfield sites in all residential proposals that:  
 
(i) Contain 5 or more new dwellings; or  

(ii) Sites of or exceeding  0.1 hectares in gross site area; or Where adjacent and related 
residential proposals result in combined numbers or site size areas exceeding the above 
thresholds, the Council will seek affordable housing based on the affordable housing 
target percentages set out above 

Affordable housing will be sought to be delivered on-site in all instances unless there are 
exceptional circumstances 

 
SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

 

Policy will help ensure access to housing for all.  

2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality 

0 
 

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

 
0 

 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause 
climate change 
and adapt to its 
effects 

0 

 

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

0 
 

 

6. Help deliver 
the growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

 
 

Policy will help ensure access to housing for all.  
Viability criterion should ensure the policy does not 
prevent development.  

7. Improve health 
and well-being 

 
 

Policy will help ensure access to housing for all. 

8. Protect and 
enhance the 0  

Page 1965



44 
 

landscape 
9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

0 

 

10.  Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

 

Policy will help ensure access to housing for all. 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

0 

 

 
 
Policy H7: SITES FOR GYPSY AND TRAVELLER CARAVANS 
  
New sites and extensions to existing sites will be permitted where:  
(i) Necessary physical, transport and social infrastructure are accessible or can be readily 
provided;  

(ii) Environmental factors including flood risk, ground stability, land contamination and 
proximity of hazardous installations do not make the site inappropriate for residential 
development;  

(iii) The site is designed in line with the Welsh Government Good Practice Guide in 
Designing Gypsy Traveller Sites.  

(iv) There would be no unreasonable impact on the character and appearance of the 
surrounding areas including impact on residential amenity of neighbouring occupiers or 
the operating conditions of existing businesses  

(v) In the case of a transit or touring site, it has good access to the primary highway 
network.  

 
 
SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

 

Policy allows extensions and new sites where relevant 
conditions met 

2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality 

0 
 

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

 
0 

 

Page 1966



45 
 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause 
climate change 
and adapt to its 
effects 

0 

 

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

0 
 

 

6. Help deliver 
the growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

 
 

Policy aims to provide for travellers’ needs where this 
does not impact on the operating conditions of existing 
businesses. 

7. Improve health 
and well-being 

 
 

Policy aims to safeguard the amenity of both travellers 
and existing residents. 

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

0 
 

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

0 

 

10.  Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

 

Policy aims to provide for travellers’ needs.  

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

0 

 

 
 
Policy EC1, EC2, EC3, EC4, EC5, EC6, EC7 

(Appraised together because they form a coherent package governing protection and 
provision of land for economic uses)  
EC1: EXISTING EMPLOYMENT LAND  

The city’s existing employment areas outside of the Central and Bay Business Areas (as 
designated on the Proposals Map) will be protected for B class employment generating 
uses (together with appropriate ancillary and/or complementary uses and activities as 
referred to in Policy EC2) as described in the table below. 

EC2: PROVISION OF COMPLEMENTARY FACILITIES FOR EMPLOYEES IN BUSINESS, 
INDUSTRIAL AND WAREHOUSING DEVELOPMENTS  

Page 1967



46 
 

Provision for open space, public realm, leisure, food and drink, and child-care facilities 
will be appropriate in office, industrial and warehousing developments, provided, the 
facility is of an appropriate scale and nature intended primarily to meet the needs of 
workers in the vicinity, therefore not attracting significant levels of visitor traffic into the 
area, or exacerbating existing traffic conditions. 

EC3: ALTERNATIVE USE OF EMPLOYMENT LAND AND PREMISES  
Development of business, industrial and warehousing land and premises for other uses 
will only be permitted if:  
(i) The land or premises are no longer well-located for business, industrial or 
warehousing use; or  

(ii) There is no realistic prospect of employment use on the site and / or the property is 
physically unsuitable for employment use, even after adaption / refurbishment or 
redevelopment; or 

(iii) There is no need to retain the land or premises for business, industrial or 
warehousing use, having regard to the demand for such land and premises and the 
requirement to provide for a range and choice of sites available for such use; and  

(iv) There will be no unacceptable impact on the operating conditions of existing 
businesses.  
 
EC4: PROTECTING OFFICES IN THE CENTRAL AND BAY BUSINESS AREAS  
The alternative use of offices within the Central and Bay Business Areas will only be 
permitted where it can be demonstrated that there is no need to retain the site or 
premises for office use having regard to the demand for offices and the requirement to 
provide a range and choice of sites available for such use. 
 
EC5: HOTEL DEVELOPMENT  
Proposals for hotel development will be favoured:  
(i) Within the Central and Bay Business Areas of the city centre;  

(ii) In appropriate locations for the conversion of suitable residential or commercial 
properties;  

(iii) At other locations within the urban area, if there is no need to preserve the site for 
its existing or allocated use, assessed against the relevant policies of the plan;  

Subject to considerations of scale, location, design, amenity and transportation being 
acceptable. 

EC6: NON-STRATEGIC EMPLOYMENT SITE 
 
Land is allocated for university related research and development uses at Maindy Road, 
Cathays (3.53ha) 
 
EC7: EMPLOYMENT PROPOSALS ON LAND NOT IDENTIFIED FOR EMPLOYMENT 
USE 
Proposals for employment use (B Use Class) on unallocated sites will be permitted 

Page 1968



47 
 

provided that:- 
i. The proposal cannot reasonably be accommodated on existing employment land 

and in the case of offices in the Central Enterprise Zone (Policy KP2) and the Central 
and Bay Business Areas (Policy EC4); 

ii. The site falls within the settlement boundary and has no specific policy designation; 
iii. The use is compatible with uses in the surrounding area and; 
iv. The proposal is well related to the primary highway network and accessible to 

sustainable modes of transport 
 
 
SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

 

These policies together aim to protect existing 
economic uses and allow new ones in appropriate 
locations consistent with the LDP’s overall spatial 
strategy.  

2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality 

 
These policies aim to avoid unnecessary traffic 
generation from economic activities.  

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

 
0 

 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause 
climate change 
and adapt to its 
effects 

 

These policies aim to avoid unnecessary traffic 
generation from economic activities.  

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

0 
 

 

6. Help deliver 
the growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

 

These policies together aim to protect existing 
economic uses and allow new ones in appropriate 
locations consistent with the LDP’s overall spatial 
strategy.  

7. Improve health 
and well-being 

 
0 

 

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

0 
 

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

0 

 

Page 1969



48 
 

10.  Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

 

These policies together aim to protect existing 
economic uses and allow new ones in appropriate 
locations consistent with the LDP’s overall spatial 
strategy.  

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

0 

 

 
 
Policy EN1 and EN2   

Appraised together because together they govern new and altered building in the 
countryside  
EN1: COUNTRYSIDE PROTECTION  
  
Development in the countryside, beyond the settlement boundaries identified on the 
Proposals Map, will only be permitted where the use is appropriate in the countryside, 
respects the landscape character and quality and biodiversity of the site and 
surrounding area and where it is appropriate in scale and design. A landscape 
assessment and landscaping scheme will be required for significant development 
proposals. Proposals for new housing, rural diversification and rural enterprise, will only 
be permitted where they comply with National Planning Policy.  
 
EN2: CONVERSION, EXTENSION AND REPLACEMENT BUILDINGS IN THE COUNTRYSIDE  
There will be a presumption against conversion, extension and replacement of buildings 
in Cardiff’s countryside except where:  
a. The proposed conversion is demonstrated to:  
(i) be structurally sound and capable of being made so without major alterations, 
reconstructing or extensions;  
(ii) be possible without materially changing the existing character of the building or have 
a harmful effect on the countryside;  
(iii) Not give rise to a demand for additional buildings; and  
(iv) Be suitable for the proposed re-use.  
b. The proposed extension is demonstrated to:  
(i) be the subordinate part of the existing building; and  
(ii) Respect the scale, character and design of the original part of the building within its 
countryside and landscape setting.  
c. The proposed replacement building is demonstrated to:  
(i) Not result in any greater impact on the quality and character of the surrounding area 
in terms of its proposed scale and design, including any residential curtilage;  
(ii) Be on the footprint of the existing building unless relocation can be justified in terms 
of either being part of an existing group or improving the countryside or landscape 
setting; and  
(iii) Not replace any building of architectural, historic or visual merit.  

All proposals should be of an appropriate scale and design and be at least as 
sympathetic in its setting as the existing building. 

Page 1970



49 
 

 
 
SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

 

Policies will prevent some development in the 
countryside 

2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality 

 
Policies are likely to reduce traffic generation 

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

 
 

Policies will prevent loss of land to buildings in the 
countryside 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause 
climate change 
and adapt to its 
effects 

 

Policies are likely to reduce traffic generation 

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

 
 

Policies aim to prevent loss of buildings of architectural, 
historic or visual merit and ensure new construction is 
sympathetic to its surroundings 

6. Help deliver 
the growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

 
 

Policies will prevent some rural diversification 

7. Improve health 
and well-being 

 
0 

 

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

 
 

Policies aim to prevent loss of buildings of architectural, 
historic or visual merit and ensure new construction is 
sympathetic to its surroundings 

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

 

Policies aim to conserve existing buildings unless there 
are good reasons to the contrary   

10.  Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

 
 

Policies will prevent some rural diversification 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

 

Policies aim to conserve existing buildings unless there 
are good reasons to the contrary   

 

Page 1971



50 
 

 
Policy EN3: LANDSCAPE PROTECTION  
Development will not be permitted that would cause unacceptable harm to the 
character and quality of the landscape and setting of the city. 
 
Particular priority will be given to protecting, managing and enhancing the character and 
quality of the following Special Landscape Areas:  
 

i). St Fagans Lowlands and the Ely Valley 
ii). Garth Hill Uplands and the Pentyrch Ridges and Valleys; 
iii). Fforest Fawr and Caerphilly Ridge; 
iv). Wentloog Levels; and 
v). Flat Holm 

 
A landscape assessment and landscaping scheme will be required for significant 
development proposals. 
 
SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

0 
 

 

2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality 

0 
 

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

 
 

Policy designates Special Landscape Areas where there 
is potential for benefits to biodiversity  

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause 
climate change 
and adapt to its 
effects 

0 

 

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

 
 
 
 
 

Special Landscape Areas are designated to protect 
areas that are considered to be important due to their 
historic landscapes 

6. Help deliver 
the growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

0 
 

 

7. Improve health 
and well-being 

 
0 

 

8. Protect and  Policy designates Special Landscape Areas and aims to 

Page 1972



51 
 

enhance the 
landscape 

protect and enhance these areas  

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

 
 

0 
 
 

 

10. Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

0 

 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

0 

 

 
 
 
Policies EN4, EN5, EN6, EN7, EN8, EN9  

Appraised together because they form a coherent package concerned with protecting 
valuable elements and features of Cardiff’s environment  
EN4: RIVER CORRIDORS  

The Natural Heritage, character and other key features of Cardiff’s river corridors will be 
protected, promoted and enhanced, together with facilitating sustainable access and 
recreation. 

EN5: DESIGNATED SITES  
Development will not be permitted that would cause unacceptable harm to sites of 
international or national nature conservation importance. Development proposals that 
would affect locally designated sites of nature conservation and geological importance 
should maintain or enhance the nature conservation and/or geological importance of 
the designation.  

Where this is not the case and the need for the development outweighs the nature 
conservation importance of the site, it should be demonstrated that there is no 
satisfactory alternative location for the development which avoids nature conservation 
impacts, and compensation measures designed to ensure that there is no reduction in 
the overall nature conservation value of the area or feature. 

EN6: ECOLOGICAL NETWORKS AND FEATURES OF IMPORTANCE FOR BIODIVERSITY  
Development will only be permitted if it does not cause unacceptable harm to:  
(i) Landscape features of importance for wild flora and fauna, including wildlife corridors 
and ‘stepping stones’ which enable the dispersal and functioning of protected and 
priority species;  
(ii) Networks of importance for landscape or nature conservation.  
 
Particular priority will be given to the protection, enlargement, connectivity and 

Page 1973



52 
 

management of the overall nature of semi natural habitats.  

Where this is not the case and the need for the development outweighs the nature 
conservation importance of the site, it should be demonstrated that there is no 
satisfactory alternative location for the development and compensatory provision will 
be made of comparable ecological value to that lost as a result of the development. 

EN7: PRIORITY HABITATS AND SPECIES  
Development proposals that would have a significant adverse effect on the continued 
viability of habitats and species which are legally protected or which are identified as 
priorities in the UK or Local Biodiversity Action Plan will only be permitted where:  
(i) The need for development outweighs the nature conservation importance of the site; 
(ii) The developer demonstrates that there is no satisfactory alternative location for the 
development which avoids nature conservation impacts; and  
(iii) Effective mitigation measures are provided by the developer.  

Where harm is unavoidable it should be minimised by effective mitigation to ensure that 
there is no reduction in the overall nature conservation value of the area. Where this is 
not possible, compensation measures designed to conserve, enhance, manage and, 
where appropriate, restore natural habitats and species should be provided. 

EN8: TREES, WOODLANDS AND HEDGEROWS  

Development will not be permitted that would cause unacceptable harm to trees, 
woodlands and hedgerows of significant public amenity, natural or cultural heritage 
value, or that contribute significantly to mitigating the effects of climate change. 

EN9: CONSERVATION OF THE HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT  
Development relating to any of the heritage assets listed below (or their settings) will 
only be permitted where it can be demonstrated that it preserves or enhances that 
asset’s architectural quality, historic and cultural significance, character, integrity and/or 
setting.  
(i) Scheduled Ancient Monuments;  

(ii) Listed Buildings and their curtilage structures;  

(iii) Conservation Areas;  

(iv) Archeologically Sensitive Areas;  

(v) Registered Historic Landscapes, Parks and Gardens; or  

(vi) Locally Listed Buildings of Merit and other historic features of interest that positively 
contribute to the distinctiveness of the city.  

 
 
SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 

 
Policies aim to maintain and enhance access to valued 
environments  

Page 1974



53 
 

access for all 
2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality 

0 
 

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

 
 

Policies aim to maintain and enhance biodiversity  

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause 
climate change 
and adapt to its 
effects 

0 

 

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

 
 

Policy EN9 protects and enhances the historic 
environment  

6. Help deliver 
the growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

 
0 

 

7. Improve health 
and well-being 

 
 

Maintaining and enhancing valued environments, and 
access to them, will contribute to wellbeing 

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

 
Policies aim to protect and enhance several key 
elements of Cardiff'’ landscape. 

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

0 

 

10.  Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

0 

 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

0 

 

 
 
Policy EN10 and EN11   
Appraised together because they specify the methods and aims of sustainable water 
resource management  
 
EN10: WATER SENSITIVE DESIGN  

Page 1975



54 
 

Development should demonstrate the incorporation of water sensitive urban design 
solutions (the process of integrating water cycle management with the built 
environment through planning and urban design). To include the management of:  
(i) Water demand and supply;  
(ii) Waste water and pollution;  
(iii) Rainfall and runoff;  
(iv) Watercourses and water resource;  
(v) Flooding; and  
(vi) Water pathways.  
 
EN11: PROTECTION OF WATER RESOURCES 

Development will not be permitted that would cause unacceptable harm to the quality 
or quantity of underground, surface or coastal waters. 

 
 
SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

0 

 

2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality 

0 
 

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

 
 

Policies will minimise pressure on biodiversity from 
changes to water resources 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause 
climate change 
and adapt to its 
effects 

0 

 

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

0 
 

 

6. Help deliver 
the growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

 
0 

 

7. Improve health 
and well-being 

 
0 

 

8. Protect and ? /   

Page 1976



55 
 

enhance the 
landscape 
9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

 

Policies will safeguard water resources and promote 
their efficient use. 

10.  Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

 

Minimising pressure on water resources will help keep 
‘headroom’ for further development as needed.  

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

 

Policies promote efficient use of water resources. 

 
SA comments and suggestions Response Status 
EN 10: Suggest replace title with 
‘water sensitive design’ because 
no reason to privilege 
‘innovative’ methods over old 
ones that work. 

Done  

Suggest replace ‘should 
demonstrate the incorporation 
of’ with ‘apply’ 

Done  

Could these policies usefully be 
combined? 

Not supported: there are distinct 
differences between the policies and 
their intended effect 

 

SUDS not specified in the policy 
though mentioned in the 
supporting text – would be it be 
helpful to include this standard 
term? 

No: it is intended to expand the approach 
beyond SUDS and to refer to it specifically 
within the policy may lead to a focus on 
SUDS rather than consideration of wider 
water management solutions 
incorporating SUDS. 

 

 
 
Policy EN12: RENEWABLE ENERGY AND LOW CARBON TECHNOLOGIES  
  
Development proposals are required to maximise the potential for renewable energy. 
The Council will encourage developers of major and strategic sites to incorporate 
schemes which generate energy from renewable and low carbon technologies. This 
includes opportunities to minimise carbon emissions associated with the heating, 
cooling and power systems for new development. 
 
An independent energy assessment investigating the financial viability and technical 
feasibility of incorporating such schemes will be required to support applications.  
 
SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 0  

Page 1977



56 
 

equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 
2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality 

0 
 

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

 
0 

 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause 
climate change 
and adapt to its 
effects 

 

Policy requires measures to minimise carbon emissions.  

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

0 
 

 

6. Help deliver 
the growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

 
 

Will help support development of sustainable energy 
expertise in the construction sector.   

7. Improve health 
and well-being 

 
0 

 

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

0 
 

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

 

 

10.  Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

0 

 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

0 

 

 
 
 
Policy EN13: AIR, NOISE, LIGHT POLLUTION AND LAND CONTAMINATION 
Development will not be permitted where it would cause or result in unacceptable harm 

Page 1978



57 
 

to health, local amenity, the character and quality of the countryside, or interests of 
nature conservation, landscape or built heritage importance because of air, noise, light 
pollution or the presence of unacceptable levels of land contamination. 
 
SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

0 

 

2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality 

 
Policy will prevent development which will cause 
unacceptable air pollution   

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

 

Policy will prevent development which will cause 
unacceptable harm to nature conservation  

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause 
climate change 
and adapt to its 
effects 

0 

 

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

 

Policy will prevent development which will cause 
unacceptable air pollution harm to built heritage   

6. Help deliver 
the growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

 
0 

 

7. Improve health 
and well-being  Policy will prevent development which will cause 

unacceptable harm to wellbeing in various ways  
8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

 
Policy will prevent development which will cause 
unacceptable harm to landscape   

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

0 

 

10.  Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

0 

 

Page 1979



58 
 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

0 

 

 
SA comments and suggestions Response Status 
This policy provides stronger and 
clearer protection than KP18 and 
partly overlaps KP16 and EN4-9.  
Suggest deleting  KP18 and reducing 
repetition between other policies 

EN4-9 relate specifically to river 
valleys, LNRs, ecological networks 
etc whereas EN13 is a generic policy 
which will cover all developments 
regardless of whether they fall 
within a statutorily designated area 
for example. 

~ 

 
 
Policy EN14: FLOOD RISK  
  
Development will not be permitted: 
 
i. Within tidal or fluvial flood plains unless it can be demonstrated that the site is 
justified in line with national guidance and an appropriate detailed technical assessment 
has been undertaken to ensure that the development is designed to alleviate the threat 
and consequences of flooding over its lifetime; 
 
ii. Where it would increase the risk of flooding from fluvial and/or tidal flooding or from 
additional run-off from the development in any location;  
 
iii. Where it would hinder future maintenance or improvement schemes of flood 
defences and watercourses; 
 
iv. Where it would cause adverse effects on the integrity of tidal or fluvial defences; 
 
v. Where ground floor bedrooms are proposed in areas at high risk of flooding. 
 
Where appropriate the developer should demonstrate that they have considered the 
need to incorporate environmentally sympathetic flood risk mitigation measures such as 
Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDS).  
 
SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

 

Will avoid vulnerable people being pushed into housing 
with high flood risk 

2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality 

0 
 

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 

 
0 

 

Page 1980



59 
 

and fauna 
4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause 
climate change 
and adapt to its 
effects 

 

LFRMS and guidance for carrying out FCAs include 
taking account of effects of climate change, so the 
policy will help adaptation. 

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

0 
 

 

6. Help deliver 
the growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

 
0 

 

7. Improve health 
and well-being  Will avoid people being pushed into housing with high 

flood risk 
8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

? /  
 

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

0 

 

10.  Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

0 

 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

0 

 

 
 
Policy T1: WALKING AND CYCLING 
To enable people to access employment, essential services and community facilities by 
walking and cycling the Council will support developments which incorporate:  
(i) High quality, sustainable design which makes a positive contribution to the 
distinctiveness of communities and places;  

(ii) Permeable and legible networks of safe, convenient and attractive walking and 
cycling routes;  

(iii) Connections and extensions to the Cardiff Strategic Cycle Network and routes 
forming part of the Cardiff Walkable Neighbourhoods Plan;  

(iv) Measures to minimise vehicle speed and give priority to vulnerable road users;  

Page 1981



60 
 

(v) Safe, convenient and attractive walking and cycling connections to existing 
developments, neighbourhoods, jobs and services;  

(vi) Infrastructure designed in accordance with standards of good practice including the 
Council’s Cycling Design Guide;  

(vii) Supporting facilities including, signing, secure cycle parking and, where necessary, 
shower and changing facilities; and  

(viii) The provision of Car-Free Zones .  
 
 
SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

 
 

Policy aims to provide developments with good access 
to employment and essential services via walking or 
cycling 
 

2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality 

 
Policy encourages walking and cycling and may reduce 
the need to travel by car/ bus  

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

0 
 

 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause 
climate change 
and adapt to its 
effects 

 

Policy promotes sustainable modes of transport  

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

0 
 

 

6. Help deliver 
the growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

 
 

Policy aims to facilitate access to employment 
opportunities by providing good walking and cycling 
connectivity  

7. Improve health 
and well-being 

 
 

Policy  aims to encourage and facilitate walking and 
cycling 
Policy aims to improve road safety for walkers and 
cyclists 
 

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

0 
 

9. Use natural 
resources 

0 
 

 

Page 1982



61 
 

efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 
10. Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

0 

 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

0 

 

 
SA comments and 
suggestions 

Response Status 

‘Will support’ is not 
very strong.  Why not 
‘Council will only 
support 
developments which, 
to the greatest 
practicable extent, 
incorporate …’?  

The supporting text for KP8 emphasises the 
importance of maximising access by sustainable 
modes. This implies that in considering applications the 
Council will seek to secure these provisions as far as 
practically possible.   Policy T1 should be considered in 
this context. 
The policy states that to enable people to access 
employment, essential services and community 
facilities by walking and cycling the Council will support 
developments which incorporate the measures 
specifically listed in the policy. This arguably provides 
the basis to refuse applications for proposals which fail 
to enable people to access employment, essential 
services and facilities by walking and cycling or meet 
the requirements of KP8. 

~ 

(i) duplicates 
sustainable design 
policy and does not 
mention or have any 
specific relevance to 
active travel.  Suggest 
delete.  

The ‘duplication’ of the sustainable design policy is 
deliberate to make an explicit connection between 
development design and provision for active modes. 

~ 

 
 
Policy T2: STRATEGIC RAPID TRANSIT AND BUS CORRIDORS  
To avoid car-based developments and maximise use of sustainable transport, 
infrastructure and associated services will be introduced to develop strategic rapid 
transport and bus corridors including:  
 
RAPID TRANSIT CORRIDORS  
(i) North West Corridor;  
(ii) North Eastern Corridor;  
(iii) Eastern Corridor; and  
(iv) Southern Corridor. 
 

Page 1983



62 
 

BUS CORRIDOR ENHANCEMENTS  
(i) City Centre Bus Routes;  
(ii) Eastern Bus Corridor (A48, A4232 from the A48 to Junction 30 of the M4 Motorway, 
A48M Trunk Road, Southern Way and A4161 Newport Road);  
(iii) Northern Bus Corridor (A470 North Road/ Manor Way and A469 Caerphilly Road / 
A470 Trunk Road to the County Boundary); and  
(iv) Western Bus Corridor (Cowbridge Road, A48, A4055 Cardiff Road; A4119 Llantristant 
Road from the County Boundary to Cowbridge Road and A4232 Trunk Road from 
Culverhouse Cross to Junction 33 of the M4 Motorway).  
(v) Southern Bus Corridor (Lloyd George Avenue, Lloyd George Avenue to the County 
Boundary via A4232 and Cogan Spur and via the Cardiff Barrage). 
 
Provision will be made to facilitate the functional integration of these corridors and 
associated services with the wider transport network including the bus network and 
local walking and cycling routes. The trunk road sections of the Bus Corridor 
Enhancements are the responsibility of the Welsh Government. Cardiff Council will work 
with the Welsh Government to identify appropriate measures on the trunk road sections 
of these routes. 
 
Improvements to the city’s wider bus network, including the provision of new 
infrastructure and the introduction of new routes and services will be supported where 
these are necessary to provide sustainable travel options and address the movement 
impacts of new development.  
 
SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

 
? 

Policy should help achieve better access, via public 
transport, to key employment areas, services and 
facilities  

2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality 

? 
Policy should reduce car use 

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

0 

 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause 
climate change 
and adapt to its 
effects 

? 

Policy aims to improve public transport infrastructure 
and provision, and may encourage a modal shift from 
the private car  

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

0 
 

 

6. Help deliver 
the growth of a 

 
? 

Improvements to infrastructure and services will 
contribute to the regeneration of deprived areas, 

Page 1984



63 
 

sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

 promote the city centre and access to employment 
areas 

7. Improve health 
and well-being 

 
0 
 

 

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

0 
 

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

 
0 
 

 

10. Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

 
? 

 

Improved access to services and jobs responding to 
city’s population growth 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

0 

 

 
SA comments and suggestions Response Status 
All positive scores now 
qualified with ‘?’ because of 
lack of explicit commitment to 
implement measures before 
new developments are 
occupied (see appraisal 
comments on most of the 
strategic sites under KP2.)  

In certain cases it will not be possible to 
implement all transport measures in advance 
of the occupation development. In practice 
measures will need to be introduced through 
a phased approach secured through the 
master planning and application processes. 

 

 

Restore the clear commitment 
in PS policy 12: ‘all 
developments will be 
supported by safe, attractive, 
fast and efficient public 
transport services that meet 
the everyday travel needs of all 
residents.’ 

The stated purpose of the policy is to avoid 
car-based developments and maximise use of 
sustainable transport.   
 
The policy relates to strategic rapid transit 
corridors and bus corridors. The provision of 
public transport infrastructure and its 
contribution to modal share is easier to 
assess and measure than whether a 
development meets ‘the everyday transport 
needs’ of all residents – some of which may 
be met by car or walking and cycling. The 
existing wording is therefore considered to 
be appropriate. 

~ 

 
 
Policy T3: TRANSPORT INTERCHANGES  

Page 1985



64 
 

In order to facilitate the transfer between transport modes and help to minimise travel 
demand and reduce car dependency, the following developments will be supported:  
 
(i) New rail stations which can be easily accessed by walking, cycling and local bus 
services , facilitate rail park and ride, where appropriate, and meet the access needs of 
all users;  
(ii) Improvements to existing rail and bus interchanges, including measures to facilitate 
access by active travel modes and people with special access needs;  
(iii) Measures to support interchange between local bus services, including facilities to 
accommodate bus layover and driver facilities;  
(iv) Strategically located park and ride facilities, supported by attractive, frequent and 
reliable bus or rapid transit services;  
(v) High quality passenger facilities including but not limited to seating, information, 
toilet facilities and cycle parking;  
(vi) Facilities for park and share;  
(vii) Facilities for coach parking, taxis and passenger drop off;  
(viii) Facilities for overnight lorry parking and freight transfer; and  
(ix) Facilities for interchange with water-based transport.  
 
 
SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

  

Policy likely to help provide better access to 
employment areas, services and facilities 

2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality 

 
Policy aims to promote sustainable transport into the 
City and may reduce congestion related air pollution  

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

? 
 

There may be impacts to biodiversity depending on the 
location of new Park and Ride/Share Facilities  

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause 
climate change 
and adapt to its 
effects 

 /  

Policy aims to promote public transport infrastructure 
and improve regional access 
The policy promotes park and ride / share schemes, 
which may not mitigate the current commuter 
congestion effectively and may encourage people from 
the city region to drive to Cardiff in the first instance 
rather than use rail / bus.  

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

0 
 

 

6. Help deliver 
the growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

 
 

The policy aims to improve transport accessibility from 
the wider region and may assist in promoting the city 
centre economy, particularly retail  

7. Improve health   

Page 1986



65 
 

and well-being 0 
 

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

? 
There may be impacts to landscape depending on the 
location of new Park and Ride/Share Facilities 

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

0 
 

 

10. Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

0 

 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

0 

 

 
SA comments and 
suggestions 

Response Status 

The caveat under 4 is very 
important.  Suggest adding 
a statement that 
interchanges with a 
significant scale of car use 
will not be implemented if 
modelling suggests they 
will result in an overall 
increase in car mileage.  

Park and Ride facilities can help to reduce 
localised congestion by intercepting vehicles 
before they enter the central area of the city. 
Park & Ride on its own is not the answer to 
congestion but works in conjunction with other 
physical and non-physical transport measures to 
provide sustainable alternatives to car travel and 
reduce demand for it. . Well designed and 
appropriately located Park and Ride is unlikely to 
induce additional demand for travel and thus 
increase overall mileage. Rather it is a means of 
reducing the impact of car trips which would 
most likely have taken place anyway whether or 
not the P&R is available 

 

 
 
Policy T4: REGIONAL TRANSPORT HUB 
  
Support will be given to the development of infrastructure and facilities in and around 
Cardiff Central Railway Station which:  
 
(i) Facilitate the easy interchange of passengers between national, regional and local rail 
and bus services;  
(ii) Provide high quality passenger facilities, including but not limited to seating, 
information, toilet facilities and cycle parking;  
(iii) Can be easily accessed by walking and cycling and meets the access needs of all 
users;  
(iv) Is well integrated with development in the surrounding area and facilitates easy 

Page 1987



66 
 

access to the centre of the city, Cardiff Bay and the Enterprise Zone;  
(v) Complement the development and regeneration of land north and south of Central 
Railway Station and the wider Enterprise Zone;  
(vi) Provide a public transport gateway of a high aesthetic and functional quality, which 
is commensurate to Cardiff’s status as a European capital city; and  
(vii) Provides an attractive, legible and vibrant environment.  

 
 
SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

 

Policy will help all residents access amenities in the city 
centre,  other parts of Cardiff and beyond   

2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality 

 
Policy will facilitate non car options  

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

 
0 

 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause 
climate change 
and adapt to its 
effects 

 

Policy will facilitate non car options  

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

0 
 

 

6. Help deliver 
the growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

 
 

Policy will improve access to businesses for residents 
and visitors 

7. Improve health 
and well-being 

 
 

Policy will support cycling and walking  

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

0 
 

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

? /  

 

10.  Respond to 
demographic 0  

Page 1988



67 
 

changes in a 
sustainable way 
11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

0 

 

 
 
Policy T5: MANAGING TRANSPORT IMPACTS  
Where necessary, safe and convenient provision will be sought in conjunction with 
development for:  
i) Pedestrians;  
(ii) disabled people with mobility impairments and particular access needs;  
(iii) Cyclists;  
(iv) Powered two-wheelers;  
(v) Public transport;  
(vi) Vehicular access and traffic management within the site and its vicinity;  
(vii) Car parking and servicing;  
(viii) Coach parking; and  
(ix) Horse-riders.  
 
SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

 
 

Policy aims to ensure equality of access to transport, 
including those with special access and mobility 
requirements 

2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality 

 
Policy may encourage walking and cycling and promote 
a modal shift from the private car  

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

0 

 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause 
climate change 
and adapt to its 
effects 

 

Policy aims to reduce parking and make other forms of 
transport safer and more convenient, which may 
promote a modal shift to sustainable transport 

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

 
0 

 

6. Help deliver 
the growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 

 
 

0  
 

 

Page 1989



68 
 

economy  
7. Improve health 
and well-being  

 

Policy may promote a modal shift to walking and 
cycling 
Policy  aims to improve safety for all users 

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

0 
 

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

0 
 

 

10. Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

0  
 

 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

0 

 

 
SA comments and suggestions Response Status 
Policy title is misleading: suggest 
‘providing for transport needs in 
development’. 

Disagree with comments about the title of 
the policy – the supporting text provides a 
clear explanation of the purpose of the 
policy and it application. The title is 
relevant in this context. 

 

Restore previous wording on 
parking restraint 

No reference to minimising car parking 
anywhere now.  Supporting text states that 
parking and servicing will be provided in 
accordance with the Councils adopted 
standards. 
 

 

Hierarchy in the policy is 
inconsistent with the DfT one 
referred to at 5.244 of Deposit 
LDP.  Public transport (v) and 
coach parking (viii) should be 
above powered  two wheelers 
(iv) vehicular access (vi) and car 
parking (vii).  Should horse riders 
be above the motorised modes? 

The user hierarchy referred to in para 5.244 
of Deposit LDP is related to the design 
considerations in Manual for Streets which 
makes clear that “In assessing the transport 
and access aspects of proposals the Council 
will be more likely to give favourable 
consideration to developments which 
through their design and layout give 
priority to movements by sustainable travel 
modes and reflect the user hierarchy in 
Department for Transport Manual for 
Streets”,  
 
The list in the policy is not a hierarchy. 
Therefore probably best to retain the 
original list so this is more obvious.  

 

Page 1990



69 
 

 
Horse riding should be retained as this links 
with bridle routes in Policy T6. 

 
 
T6: IMPACT ON TRANSPORT NETWORKS AND SERVICES 
Development will not be permitted which would cause unacceptable harm to the safe 
and efficient operation of the highway, public transport and other movement networks 
including pedestrian and cycle routes, public rights of way and bridle routes. 
 
SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

 
 
 
 
 

Existing access to be protected 

2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality 

0 
 

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

0 
 

 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause 
climate change 
and adapt to its 
effects 

0 

 

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

0 

 

6. Help deliver 
the growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

0 

 

7. Improve health 
and well-being 0  

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

0 
 

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

 
0 

 

Page 1991



70 
 

10.Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

0 

 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

0 

 

 

SA comments and suggestions Response Status 
Suggest ‘unacceptable NET 
harm’ to make clear that 
development can go ahead if 
the harm is remedied / offset 
eg by new transport provision. 

The reference to unacceptable harm in the 
policy implies that developments that cause 
harm can go ahead if that harm is mitigated 
to an acceptable degree. The reference to 
Net harm is not considered appropriate in 
this context 

~ 

 
 
Policy T7: STRATEGIC TRANSPORTATION INFRASTRUCTURE  
  
Support will be given to the development of the following elements of strategic 
transportation infrastructure:  
(i) Eastern Bay Link;  
(ii) St Mellons rail interchange; and  
(iii) New sustainable transport corridor in North West Cardiff  

 
 
SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

 

Will improve access for motorists, and their advantage 
over other road users 

2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality 

 
Will facilitate extra motor traffic  

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

 
? 

Impacts and any necessary mitigation to be assessed in 
project level EIA. 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause 
climate change 
and adapt to its 
effects 

 

Will facilitate extra motor traffic  

5. Protect and 0  

Page 1992



71 
 

enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

 

6. Help deliver 
the growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

 

Will further entrench car dependence  

7. Improve health 
and well-being 

 
0 

 

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

 
Will damage the landscape  

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

 

Will increase resource take in construction and use  

10.  Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

/ 

Will respond to demand though in an unsustainable 
way 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

0 

 

 
SA comments and 
suggestions 

Response Status 

(ii) and (iii) are instances of 
policies T3 and T2 
respectively and share their 
assessments. This matrix 
assesses (i) only.  This road 
scheme would appear 
inconsistent with the aim of 
all the other transport 
policies. 

All three listed schemes are key strategic 
projects. Construction of the EBL is now a 
strategic commitment of Welsh Government 
and the plan must therefore make provision of 
it. 
 
The project would be subject to a full 
Environmental Impact Assessment which 
would highlight the specific environmental 
impacts and any necessary mitigation. 

~ 

 
 
Policy T8: STRATEGIC RECREATIONAL ROUTES  
A strategic network of recreational routes will be maintained and developed to link 
Cardiff’s coast, river corridors, open spaces, countryside, and the regional network of 
routes, facilitating access to them by local communities, and forming an integral part of 
the wider cycling and walking network in Cardiff.  
The core strategic network will comprise:  

i). (i) The Taff Trail; (ii) The Ely Trail; (iii) The Rhymney Trail; (iv) The Nant Fawr Trail; 
(v) The Bay Trail; (vi) The Wales Coast Path; and (vii) The Glamorgan Ridgeway 

Page 1993



72 
 

Walk. 
 
SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

 
 
 

Policy aims to increase access across the city 

2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality 

 
Policy may encourage a modal shift from the private car 
to walking and cycling 
 

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

 
 

0 

 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause 
climate change 
and adapt to its 
effects 

 

Policy may encourage a modal shift from the private car 
to walking and cycling  

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

0 
 

 

6. Help deliver 
the growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

0 
 

 

7. Improve health 
and well-being  

 
 

Improvements to strategic recreational routes may 
promote  walking and cycling with benefits to health  
Improves access to open space and other opportunities 
for physical activity  

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

0 
 

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

0 
 

 

10. Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

0 

 

Page 1994



73 
 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

0 

 

 
 
Policy T9: CARDIFF CITY REGION ‘METRO’ NETWORK  
The Council will seek to facilitate the development of a future regional ‘Metro’ network 
of integrated public transport routes and services within Cardiff and connecting the city 
with the wider south east Wales region, including the development and/or 
enhancement of the following on-highway and off-highway infrastructure components: 
i. Existing and new heavy rail routes 
ii. New light rail routes 
iii. Tram 
iv. Tram/train on segregated rails and/or running on street 
v. conventional buses, or guided buses using busways completely segregated from the 
main highway along their entire length or for short sections, in combination with use of 
the public highway/bus priority measures on the public highway. 
vi. conventional buses using dedicated buses lanes and assisted by other bus priority 
measures, in combination with use of other carriageway space on the public highway; 
and 
vii. conventional buses using carriageway space on the public highway used by general 
traffic. 
 
Where the alignment of a future route which is likely to form part of a ‘Metro’ network 
falls within any part of a development site, the Council will, through the development 
management process, seek either to secure provision of the necessary infrastructure as 
part of the development, or otherwise, safeguard the land and space required to 
accommodate the route and potential mode options in the future. This will include 
requiring a development to be designed in a way which does not prejudice the future 
development of the ‘Metro’ route and would enable it to be incorporated within the 
development at a later date. 
 
SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

 
 
 

Metro would improve access and opportunity 

2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality 

 
Metro should enable modal shift away from private car  
 

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

 
 

?  

Other policies should protect wildlife.  Safeguarded 
routes offer opportunity for wildlife corridors.   

Page 1995



74 
 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause 
climate change 
and adapt to its 
effects 

 

Metro should enable modal shift away from private car  

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

0 
 

 

6. Help deliver 
the growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

 
 

Metro should support economic development across 
the city region. 

7. Improve health 
and well-being 

 
0 
 

 

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

0 
 

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

0 
 

 

10. Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

 

Metro would enable population to grow without 
unacceptable increases in traffic  

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

0 

 

 
 
Policies R1 – R7  

Appraised together since they form a package specifying the locations and criteria under 
which new retail development and changes of use to and from retail will and will not be 
allowed.  
SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

 

Policies together seek to ensure all residents have the 
best access to shops of various kinds that is 
commercially viable for the retailers.    

2. Maintain and 
improve air  Policies overall aim to minimise the need to drive to 

shops.  

Page 1996



75 
 

quality 
3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

 
0 

 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause 
climate change 
and adapt to its 
effects 

 

Policies overall aim to minimise the need to drive to 
shops.  R4 particularly important in constraining out-of-
centre development. 

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

0 
 

 

6. Help deliver 
the growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

 
 

Policies seek to maintain the best commercially viable 
range of kinds and locations of shops. 

7. Improve health 
and well-being 

 
0 

 

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

? /  
 

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

0 

 

10.  Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

 

Policies aim to help the retail sector respond to 
changing demands while maintaining the best 
commercially viable range of shopping. 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

0 

 

 
 
Policy R8: FOOD AND DRINK USES  
Food and Drink Uses are most appropriately located in:  
(i) The City Centre (Central Business Area) 
(ii) The inner harbour/waterfront area of Cardiff Bay (Bay Business Area)  
(iii) District and Local Centres  
 
Subject to amenity considerations, highway matters, crime and fear of crime 
considerations, and where they do not cause unacceptable harm to the shopping role 

Page 1997



76 
 

and character of designated centres.  

Food and drink uses are unlikely to be acceptable within or adjacent to residential areas, 
where they would cause nuisance and loss of amenity, or result in the loss of a 
residential property. 
 
SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

 

Policy will prevent food and drink uses in residential 
areas, making them harder to access without driving.  

2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality 

 
Likely to increase driving to food and drink outlets. 

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

 
0 

 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause 
climate change 
and adapt to its 
effects 

 

Likely to increase driving to food and drink outlets. 

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

0 
 

 

6. Help deliver 
the growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

 
? 

May restrict growth of the food and drink sector  

7. Improve health 
and well-being  

 

Main aim of the policy is to protect residential amenity 
by keeping food and drink uses out of residential areas.  
Restrictions on outlets near schools also helpful. 

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

0 
 

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

0 

 

10.  Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

 

Policy will restrict how food and drink sector responds 
to consumer demand. 

Page 1998



77 
 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

0 

 

 
 
Policy C1: COMMUNITY FACILITIES  
  
Proposals for new and improved community facilities, health and religious facilities will 
be encouraged, subject to the following criteria being satisfied:  
(i) The facility would be readily accessible to the local community it is intended to serve 
by public transport, walking and cycling;  
(ii) The facility would not unduly prejudice the amenities of neighbouring and nearby 
residential occupiers;  
(iii) The facility would not detract from the character and appearance of a property or 
the locality;  
(iv) The facility will not lead to unacceptable parking or traffic problems.  

(v) The facility is designed with the greatest possible flexibility and adaptability to 
accommodate additional community uses without compromising its primary intended 
use 
 
SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

 

Policy supports provision of facilities accessible to their 
users.  

2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality 

0 
 

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

0 

 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause 
climate change 
and adapt to its 
effects 

 

Policy should reduce need to travel by car 

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

0 
 

 

6. Help deliver 
the growth of a 
sustainable and 

 
0 

 

Page 1999



78 
 

diversified 
economy 
7. Improve health 
and well-being  Policy supports provision of facilities accessible to their 

users.  
8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

0 
 

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

0 

 

10.  Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

 

Policy supports provision of facilities needed to meet 
present and future demands 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

0 

 

 
 
Policy C2: PROTECTION OF EXISTING COMMUNITY FACILITIES  
Proposals involving the loss or change of use of buildings currently or last used for 
community facilities will only be permitted if: 
i) An alternative facility of at least equal quality and scale to meet community needs is 
available or will be provided within the vicinity or; 
ii) It can be demonstrated that the existing provision is surplus to the needs of the 
community. 
 
 
SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

 

Policy ensures no net loss of community facilities that 
meet needs of local community 

2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality 

0 
 

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

0 

 

Page 2000



79 
 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause 
climate change 
and adapt to its 
effects 

 

Policy should prevent need for increased travel to 
community facilities 

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

0 
 

 

6. Help deliver 
the growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

 
0 

 

7. Improve health 
and well-being  Policy supports retention of facilities accessible to their 

users 
8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

0 
 

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

0 

 

10.  Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

 

Policy supports retention of facilities to meet needs of 
local community 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

0 

 

 
 
Policy C3: COMMUNITY SAFETY/CREATING SAFE ENVIRONMENTS 
  
All new development and redevelopment shall be designed to promote a safe and 
secure environment and minimise the opportunity for crime. In particular development 
shall:  
(i) Maximise natural surveillance of areas which may be vulnerable to crime such as 
publicly accessible spaces, open space, car parking areas and footpaths;  
(ii) Have well defined routes, spaces and entrances that provide convenient movement 
without compromising security;  
(iii) Maintain perceptible distinction between public and private spaces through well 
defined boundaries and defensible space;  
(iv) Provide a good standard of lighting to public spaces and routes while minimising 

Page 2001



80 
 

energy use and light pollution; and  

(v) Be designed with management and maintenance in mind, to discourage crime in the 
present and future.  
 
SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

0 

 

2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality 

0 
 

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

 
0 

 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause 
climate change 
and adapt to its 
effects 

? 

Need to avoid unnecessary lighting. 

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

0 
 

 

6. Help deliver 
the growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

 
0 

 

7. Improve health 
and well-being 

 
 

Policy aims to provide safe environments 

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

0 
 

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

? /  

 

10.  Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

0 

 

Page 2002



81 
 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

0 

 

 
 
 
Policies C4 and C5 
Appraised together since they deal with protection and provision of open space  
Policy C4: PROTECTION OF OPEN SPACE 
 
Development will not be permitted on areas of open space unless:  
(i) It would not cause or exacerbate a deficiency of open space in accordance with the 
most recent open space study; and  
(ii) The open space has no significant functional or amenity value; and  
(iii) The open space is of no significant quality; or  
(iv) The developers make satisfactory compensatory provision; and, in all cases;  

(v) The open space has no significant nature or historic conservation importance.  

 

C5: PROVISION FOR OPEN SPACE, OUTDOOR RECREATION, CHILDREN’S PLAY AND 
SPORT  
Provision for open space, outdoor recreation, children’s play and sport will be sought in 
conjunction with all new residential developments. This Policy is aimed at securing the 
provision or improvement of open space and other appropriate outdoor recreation and 
sport in conjunction with all new residential developments over 8 units and on site 
provision of functional open space in conjunction with all new residential developments 
over 14 units.  
The appropriate amount of multi functional green space is based on a minimum of 2.43 
hectares of functional open space per 1000 projected population.  

All other open space provision will be in addition to the provision of multi functional 
green space. 
 
SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

 

Policies will help maintain access to existing open space 
and provide new ones with new housing.  

2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality 

0 
 

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

 
 

Policy C4 will prevent loss of open space with nature 
conservation importance. 

Page 2003



82 
 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause 
climate change 
and adapt to its 
effects 

0 

 

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

 
 

Policy C4 will prevent loss of open space with historic 
importance. 

6. Help deliver 
the growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

 
0 

 

7. Improve health 
and well-being  Policies maintain and increase open spaces, which 

contributes to wellbeing 
8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

 
Policy C4 protects open space 

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

0 

 

10.  Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

 

Policy C5 seeks to provide sufficient open space to 
meet the needs of residents of new housing.  

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

0 

 

 
 
Policy C6: HEALTH 
  
Priority in new developments will be given to reducing health inequalities and 
encouraging healthy lifestyles through:  
(i) Identifying sites for new health facilities, reflecting the spatial distribution of need, 
ensuring they are accessible and have the potential to be shared by different service 
providers; and  

(ii) Ensuring that they provide a physical and built environment that supports 
interconnectivity, active travel choices, promotes healthy lifestyles and enhances road 
safety.  

 
SA Objective Rank Comments 

Page 2004



83 
 

1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

 

Policy aims to ensure access to health facilities 

2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality 

 
Policy aims to reduce need to travel to health facilities, 
and promote active travel 

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

 
0 

 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause 
climate change 
and adapt to its 
effects 

 

Policy aims to reduce need to travel to health facilities, 
and promote active travel 

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

0 

 

6. Help deliver 
the growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

 
0 

 

7. Improve health 
and well-being 

 
 

Policy aims to promote active travel, road safety and 
access to health facilities 

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

0 
 

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

0 

 

10.  Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

 

Policy aims to ensure health provision meets needs.  

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

0 

 

 
 
Policy C7: PLANNING FOR SCHOOLS 
Where a need has been identified for new and improved school facilities as a result of 

Page 2005



84 
 

development, the Council will seek contributions towards the cost of additional 
education provision. Negotiated contributions will be fairly and reasonably related in 
scale and kind to the proposed development. Where appropriate on site provision will 
be required.  
 
Development of nursery, primary, secondary and sixth form education should: 
(i) Be well designed, well related to neighbourhood services and amenities, and easily 
accessible by sustainable transport modes; and  

(ii) Include, where appropriate, provision for other appropriate community uses in 
addition to their educational use.  
 
SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

 

Policy aims to provide for educational needs 

2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality 

0 
 

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

0 

 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause 
climate change 
and adapt to its 
effects 

0 

 

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

0 
 

 

6. Help deliver 
the growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

0 

 

7. Improve health 
and well-being  Availability of schools and colleges will contribute to 

well-being 
8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

0 
 

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 

0 

 

Page 2006



85 
 

quality 
10.  Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

 

Policy aims to ensure education provision matches 
needs. 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

0 

 

 
 
 
Policies M1 – M5 
Appraised together because they form a coherent package governing mineral workings 
  
M1: MINERAL LIMESTONE RESERVES AND RESOURCES  
Mineral reserves with planning permission will be safeguarded from development that 
would prevent their extraction at:  
(i) Creigiau Quarry;  
(ii) Taffs Well Quarry;  
(iii) Ton Mawr Quarry; and  
(iv) Blaengwynlais Quarry.  
 
Preferred areas of known resources suitable for the future working of Limestone have 
been identified as extensions to:  
(i) Creigiau Quarry; and  
(ii) Ton Mawr Quarry.  
 
M2: PREFERRED ORDER OF MINERAL RESOURCE RELEASE  
The extension or deepening of existing mineral workings will be favoured in preference 
to the release of new sites and, with the exception of the lateral extensions of Creigiau 
and Ton Mawr Quarries referred to in Policy M1, deepening will be preferred to lateral 
extension.  Applications to extend or deepen mineral workings will be permitted where 
it can be demonstrated that:  
i) There are environmental improvements at the site which can be justified by the 
addition of new reserves, or traded off by the giving up of existing reserves, or; 
ii) The addition of new reserves preserves the productive capacity of Cardiff to meet its 
sub regional apportionment commitments; or 
iii) There are operational benefits in permitting further reserves that will lead to more 
efficient exploitation of the resource. 
It should also be demonstrated that such an approach will not cause unacceptable harm 
to the environment, including consideration of impacts relating to access, noise, air 
quality, landscape and visual effects, ecology, soil resources, hydrology and 
hydrogeology, blast vibration and cultural heritage, and in the case of Creigiau Quarry, 
the objectives of Policy M3 are delivered as part of an extension or deepening 
application. 
 
M3: QUARRY CLOSURES AND EXTENSION LIMITS  
Measures to prevent further mineral working and, where appropriate, to secure 

Page 2007



86 
 

restoration and landscaping works at the earliest opportunity, will be sought at the 
following sites:  
(i) Cefn Garw Quarry, Tongwynlais;  
(ii) Highland Park Brickworks, Ely;  
(iii) West End Brickworks, Ely; and  
(iv) Southern and western parts of Creigiau Quarry.  
 
M4: MINERALS BUFFER ZONES  
Within the minerals buffer zones no mineral working, housing or other sensitive 
development will be permitted. 
 
M5: RESTORATION AND AFTER - USE OF MINERAL WORKINGS  
Proposals for mineral working or for related plant and buildings will be permitted only 
where firm proposals are included for the reinstatement of the site to a condition fit for 
an appropriate after-use supported, where relevant, by adequate after-care proposals. 
Appropriate reinstatement and after-care proposals will similarly be required when 
existing controls are reviewed. In drawing up restoration proposals, mineral operators 
will be encouraged to:  
 
(i) Undertake progressive restoration;  

(ii) Make beneficial use of mineral waste generated by mineral operations;  

(iii) Consider whether restoration can contribute to nature conservation targets set out 
in the Local Biodiversity Action Plan.  

(iv) New uses of former mineral workings other than those appropriate to a rural area 
will not be permitted without special justification. Proposals to carry out safety works at 
derelict or dormant sites will be favoured.  

 
 
SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

0 

 

2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality 

 
Policies aim to minimise exposure to air pollution from 
mineral extraction 

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

 
 

M5 aims to encourage nature conservation benefits 
from restoration and after-use. 

Page 2008



87 
 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause 
climate change 
and adapt to its 
effects 

0 

 

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

? 
 

 

6. Help deliver 
the growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

 
 

Policies aim to ensure adequate supply of minerals to 
meet demand 

7. Improve health 
and well-being 

 
 

Policies aim to minimise impacts on health and 
wellbeing from mineral working 

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

?  
 

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

 

Policies aim to safeguard appropriate mineral resources 

10.  Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

0 

 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

 

M5 (ii) encourages restoration and afteruse to ‘make 
beneficial use of mineral waste generated by mineral 
operations’  

 
SA comments and 
suggestions 

Response Status 

Are the choices of sites 
designed to safeguard 
biodiversity, historic / built 
environment and/or 
landscape?  If so, positive 
scores and mention 
justified for objectives 
3,5,9.   

Minerals can only be worked where they exist, so 
sites are primarily selected on this basis of where 
limestone is known to exist.  It is not anticipated 
that there will be a need to release any new 
mineral resources within the plan period, but if 
there should be a requirement then permission 
would only be granted for sites where there 
would be no unacceptable harm to the 
environment. 

 

 
 
 

Page 2009



88 
 

Policy M6: SAND WHARF PROTECTION AREAS    
The sand wharves shown on the Proposals Map will be protected against development 
which would prejudice their ability to land marine dredged sand and gravel. Proposals 
for the provision and improvement of landing and distribution facilities for marine 
dredged aggregates within the sand wharves shown on the Proposals Map will be 
favoured where there will be no unacceptable harm to the environment. 
 
SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

0 

 

2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality 

0 
 

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

 
0 

 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause 
climate change 
and adapt to its 
effects 

0 

 

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

0 
 

 

6. Help deliver 
the growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

 
 

Maintains capacity to land sand and gravel. 

7. Improve health 
and well-being 

 
0 

 

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

0 
 

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

 

Maintains capacity to land sand and gravel. 

10.  Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

0 

 

Page 2010



89 
 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

0 

 

 
SA comments and suggestions Response Status 
None Noted  
 
 
Policy M7: SAFEGUARDING OF SAND AND GRAVEL, COAL AND LIMESTONE RESOURCES 
Development will not be permitted within the Sand and Gravel, Coal and Limestone 
Safeguarding Areas shown on the Proposals Map that would permanently sterilise these 
mineral resources unless: 
 

i. The applicant can demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority 
that the mineral concerned is no longer of any resource value or potential 
resource value; or 

ii. The mineral can be extracted satisfactorily prior to the incompatible 
development taking place; or 

iii. The incompatible development is of a temporary nature and can be completed 
and the site restored to a condition that does not either sterilise the resource or 
inhibit extraction within the timescale that the mineral is likely to be needed; or 

iv. There is an overriding need for the incompatible development which overrides 
the need for the resource, including a requirement for prior extraction if 
practicable. 

 
SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

? 

Policy may prevent development in locations where it 
would be beneficial.  

2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality 

0 
 

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

 
? 

Policy may protect open space which might otherwise 
be developed  

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause 
climate change 
and adapt to its 
effects 

? 

Safeguarding coal resources will lead to higher 
emissions if they are ever exploited – unless this 
replaces coal imports or there is effective carbon 
capture and storage. 

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

0 
 

 

Page 2011



90 
 

6. Help deliver 
the growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

 
 

Safeguarding these resources will help keep future 
economic options open. 

7. Improve health 
and well-being 

 
0 

 

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

? /  
 

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

 

Purpose of the policy is to keep resources available for 
possible future need. 

10.  Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

? 

Safeguarding these resources may prevent desirable 
development. 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

0 

 

 
 
Policy M8: AREAS WHERE COAL WORKING WILL NOT BE ACCEPTABLE  
Future Coal extraction will not be permitted within the Areas where Coal Working will 
not be Acceptable shown on the Proposals Map unless exceptional circumstances show 
a smaller Area is appropriate. 
 
SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

0 

 

2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality 

0 
 

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

 
0 

 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause 
climate change 
and adapt to its 
effects 

0 

 

Page 2012



91 
 

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

 
 

 

6. Help deliver 
the growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

 
 

Policy provides slight extra flexibility in coal working 

7. Improve health 
and well-being  

 

Policy should ensure that coal working is not near 
enough to residential areas to cause any health or 
wellbeing problems. 

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

0 
Possible risk of additional landscape damage is 
balanced by opportunity to use further coal working to 
support remediation. 

9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

 

Policy will ensure that coal resources are not sterilised 
more than necessary to safeguard amenity. 

10.  Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

0 

 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

0 

 

 
Policy W1: SITES FOR WASTE MANAGEMENT FACILITIES 
  
Proposals for the development of waste management facilities will be permitted where:  
(i) There is a demonstrable need assessed against County and regional requirements;  

(ii) They conform with the waste hierarchy and the principles contained in the Waste 
Framework Directive of An Integrated and Adequate Network; Nearest Appropriate 
Installation; Self Sufficiency and Protection of Human Health and the Environment; the 
‘proximity principle’ and the principle of regional self-sufficiency;  

(iii) They would not cause unacceptable harm to the environment, built heritage or to 
human health;  

(iv) They include acceptable proposals for restoration, aftercare and after-use, including 
the beneficial after-use of by-products;  

(v) They would not endanger aviation safety; and  

(vi) They include acceptable proposals for the protection of adjoining and nearby land 
from landfill gas and leachate migration or contamination.  
 
(vii)They are not located within an area at risk from flooding; 

Page 2013



92 
 

 
(viii)They would not cause unacceptable air, noise or light pollution, dust, vibration or 
odours, or attract excessive vermin; 
 
(ix)They provide safe means of access to the highway and adequate on-site parking 
facilities; and 
 
(x)They are accompanied by a Waste Planning Assessment containing sufficient 
information to enable an assessment of the proposal. 
 

Facilities for the handling, treatment and transfer of waste will generally be encouraged 
towards existing use class B2 general industrial land. 
 
SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

0 

 

2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality 

 
Policy promotes the waste hierarchy, which favours less 
polluting options.  

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

 
0 

 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause 
climate change 
and adapt to its 
effects 

 

Policy promotes the waste hierarchy, which favours 
options better for climate change.  

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

0 
 

 

6. Help deliver 
the growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

 
 

Policy promotes the waste hierarchy, which favours 
waste treatment options that create green business 
opportunities. 

7. Improve health 
and well-being  

 

Policy promotes the waste hierarchy, which favours less 
polluting options, and requires facilities not to cause 
unacceptable harm to health. 

8. Protect and 
enhance the 
landscape 

0 
 

9. Use natural  Options higher in the waste hierarchy reduce the need 

Page 2014



93 
 

resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

for new resources. 

10.  Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

0 

 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

 

Policy promotes the waste hierarchy. 

 
 
Policy W2: PROVISION FOR WASTE MANAGEMENT FACILITIES IN DEVELOPMENT   
Where appropriate, provision will be sought in all new development for facilities for the 
storage, recycling and other management of waste 
 
SA Objective Rank Comments 
1. Help deliver 
equality of 
opportunity and 
access for all 

0 

 

2. Maintain and 
improve air 
quality 

0 
 

3. Protect and 
enhance 
biodiversity, flora 
and fauna 

 
0 

 

4. Reduce 
emissions of 
greenhouse gases 
that cause 
climate change 
and adapt to its 
effects 

 

Policy will help enable waste management higher up 
the waste hierarchy, which will reduce emissions. 

5. Protect and 
enhance historic 
and cultural 
heritage 

0 
 

 

6. Help deliver 
the growth of a 
sustainable and 
diversified 
economy 

 
 

Policy will help enable waste management higher up 
the waste hierarchy, which will support green 
businesses eg reuse and recycling. 

7. Improve health 
and well-being 

 
 

Policy should ensure that wastes can be collected and 
managed sustainably without health risks 

8. Protect and 0  

Page 2015



94 
 

enhance the 
landscape 
9. Use natural 
resources 
efficiently and 
safeguard their 
quality 

 

Policy will help reclaim secondary resources. 

10.  Respond to 
demographic 
changes in a 
sustainable way 

0 

 

11. Minimise 
waste, increase 
re-use and 
recycling 

 

Policy will support and enable options higher in the 
waste hierarchy.  

 
 
 
 

Page 2016



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cardiff Council & Levett-Therivel Sustainability Consultants 
 
 
Sustainability Appraisal and Strategic Environmental Assessment of 
the Cardiff Local Development Plan  
 
Appendix H: Consultees’ Responses to Initial 
Sustainability Appraisal Report 
 
Final Sustainability Appraisal Report of the Cardiff Local 
Development Plan 
 
January 2016 
 

Page 2017



   1  

This appendix summarises statutory consultees’ responses to the consultation on the October 2012 
Initial SA on the LDP Preferred Strategy, and how these have been taken into account in the Final SA.  A 
summary of public consultation responses appears in the ‘Cardiff Deposit Local Development Plan 2006-
2026 Initial Consultation Report – September 2013’ and is not repeated here. 
 
The tables omit numerous statements of welcome and endorsement, and consider only suggestions for 
change. 
 
CCW: letter from Chris Uttley, 20 December 2012 
 
Reference Comment / suggestion SA response 
2.3 Stages of 
Appraisal 

Replace ‘impacts’ with ‘effects’: impacts 
has negative connotations, assessment 
should pick up positive and negative 
effects    

No: ‘impacts’ covers both positive 
and negative and is the standard 
term in appraisal.  

4.3 Identifying other 
plans (etc) 

Add Sustainable Development Bill 
White Paper 

Agree, done. 

Table 4.1 Key 
messages of policy 
review  

Change second ‘biodiversity, flora and 
fauna’ LDP objective: networks that link 
areas of value is vague  

No: no disadvantage to a general 
non technical term here. 

Refer to Welsh Government’s Living 
Wales framework to help embed 
holistic management and ecosystem 
services 

Agree.  Living Wales Framework 
added to Appendix A, Policy 
Review. 

Table 4.3 SA 
Framework 

Provide indicators to cover all sub-
objectives 

Chapter 10 sets out a suite of 
indicators intended to give a good 
picture of the effects of the plan 
without disproportionate cost.  
Indicators will not always relate 
directly to SA sub-objectives.  

Add sub-objective of 
protection/enhancement of carbon 
sinks. 

Too late to change sub-objectives: 
they were consulted on at scoping 
stage.  

5.4 SA of LDP Vision Vision should be stronger on landscape, 
and environment generally 

Vision was set in the ‘What 
Matters’ strategy, not open for  
review now.  LDP Objectives cover 
the environment in detail. 

Table 5.2 / app E Emphasise ‘need to ensure that the 
biodiversity value of brownfield land is 
condidered and protected  

Biodiversity is one of the 11 SA 
objectives that all the strategic 
sites, both brownfield and 
greenfield, are assessed against. 

6.9 appraisal results State which growth option SA prefers  Final SA endorses the eventual 
growth option (B minus 10% 
housing) and explains the reasons. 

6.16 Greenfield sites 
west of Pentrebane  

Cannot agree that site has ‘no 
significant environmental constraints’  

Wording in final SA altered to 
reflect CCW concerns. 

Greenfield sites S of 
Creigiau / N of J33 

Sustainable transport provision must be 
made right from the start .  

Agree.  SA has pressed for this for 
all the remote greenfield sites. 

Greenfield sites W & 
E of Pontprennau 

Should take into account recreation 
impacts  

The masterplanning principles for 
all strategic sites consider linkage 
to surrounding areas and existing 
communities. 

Table 7.2 candidate Should have summary of the No, provided with LDP, no need to 
Page 2018



   2  

sites summary assessment of each site here  duplicate. 
Strategic site G [now 
F] 

Should record potential presence of 
dormice and bats and give negative 
biodiversity score 

No, only potential presence, does 
not justify this. 

Candidate sites  Suggestions for alternation of 
biodiversity scores on several candidate 
sites plus clarification over inclusion of 
sites 

The candidate site assessment 
process was a joint process led by 
the planning team with input from 
the SA team.  The SA influenced 
many of the scores, in particular 
those relating to biodiversity, 
leading to a more precautionary 
approach being taken.  The issue 
around site inclusion clarification 
has been passed to the planning 
team for consideration in their 
amendments. 

Table 8.3 Would welcome explanation for no 
green belt 

Green Belt now in LDP. 

Table 9.3 Disappointed site J [now H] not 
removed 

SA continues to recommend 
removal. 

Table 10.1 Add indicators for extent of habitat for 
European protected species and 
protection of historic landscape  

Chapter 10 sets out a suite of 
indicators intended to give a good 
picture of the effects of the plan 
without disproportionate cost.  We 
do not think these proposed 
additions would add enough policy 
relevant information to be 
justified. 

 
CADW: E-mail from Suzanne Whiting, 20 December 2012 
 
Reference Comment / suggestion SA response 
p.21 LDP Aims More specific reference to registered 

parks and gardens could be made in the 
LDP aims 

Not necessary.  Considerable 
coverage in the policies. 

p.33 Include indicators for the number of 
scheduled ancient monuments and 
parks and gardens affected by 
proposals. 

No: not informative enough.  

 
EAW: no response received despite reminders. 
 

Page 2019



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cardiff Council & Levett-Therivel Sustainability Consultants 
 
 
Sustainability Appraisal and Strategic Environmental Assessment of the Cardiff Local Development Plan  
 
Appendix I: Sustainability Appraisal response to Matters Arising Changes  
 
Final Sustainability Appraisal Report of the Cardiff Local Development Plan 
 
January 2016 
 
  

P
age 2020



The following table shows how the Matters Arising Changes set out in the May 2015, October 2015 and January 2016 schedule have been taken account of in 
the SA.   The responses are primarily updates to Appendix G, the appraisal of policies, with some consequential changes to the main Final Sustainability 
Appraisal Report and Non Technical Summary.  To help provide an audit trail, changes (other than trivial drafting corrections) due to the October and January 
MACS are shown as tracked changes.   
 
Many of the changes do not require any changes to the SA because: 
 
• They are drafting changes, rearrangements or updates which do not materially alter the effect of a policy; or 
• They make more precise, explicit, correct or up-to-date reference to national policies which would have been effective anyway; or 
• They alter how a policy would affect one or more appraisal criteria, but not enough to alter the assessment. 
 
MAC Summary description SA/SEA implications Response 
1 Updates / redrafts of LDP 

introductory text   
None None 

2 New statement that plan does 
not detrimentally affect Welsh 
language 

None None 

3 Correct number of international 
biodiversity sites 

None: correction only  None 

4 Slightly increased housing 
provision resulting from various 
adjustments to the calculation, 
addition of a housing trajectory 
and more detailed monitoring 
requirements. 

The new KP1 reflects a range of adjustments to housing 
figures prompted by newer data and analysis, changing 
housing market trends and predictions, new research 
and advice on interpreting variables and uncertainties, 
and some corrections and clarifications.  These are 
explained in detail in the Response to Housing related 
Action Points.   The overall result is a slight increase in 
the housing provision from 41,100 to 41,415 (both with 
an additional 4000 flexibility allowance) over the plan 
period. 
It is outside the SA brief to provide a second opinion on 
the validity of these figures and reasoning.  Assuming it 

None, because the adjustment is very small (under 1%) 
and designed to maintain the plan’s response to need.  

P
age 2021



is well founded, the result is likely to slightly better 
meet housing objectives.   

5 
 

Add policies for strategic sites to 
KP2 (KP2 A-H) 

Several strengthenings of generic policies address 
weaknesses in the strategic site masterplans identified 
in earlier SA, notably MAC10 bringing stronger  
requirements for transport infrastructure to help 
deliver the 50:50 modal split target; and MAC34 
changing policy EN12 to require development to 
maximise renewable energy, and major proposals to 
have an independent energy assessment. 
 
Inclusion of infrastructure requirements and specific 
density requirements strengthens policies.  Otherwise, 
the policies appear very similar to the previous site 
master plans, though the material has been rearranged 
making exact comparison difficult.   

Modify the site appraisals already included and  
reviewed the previous site appraisals in Appendix G in  
light of the current text and the revised generic policies.  
Result has been a few improved scores.  ‘No detriment 
to the maintenance of favourable conservation status’ 
wording added – welcome addition, though would be 
better and simpler if it just said ‘no net loss’. 

New text saying Infrastructure 
Plan will implement the 
infrastructure stipulated in the 
strategic sites policies. 

Provides a delivery mechanism for the infrastructure 
previously stated in the key site proformas. 

No change needed since the SAs of these sites assumed 
the infrastructure would be delivered. 

Delete justification for site H Text now included in new policy KP2(H) instead.  No change 
6 Changed explanation of 

masterplanning approach 
None None 

7 Drafting change None None 
8 Creates and explains a distinction 

between ‘essential, enabling’ and 
‘necessary’ infrastructure. 

Following an SA recommendation, text clarifying the 
distinction between different categories of 
infrastructure has been added.In response to a request 
for clarification, the planners stated: ‘For the purpose 
of the plan, infrastructure items have been divided into 
two categories: 
 

The clarification that ‘essential/enabling’ infrastructure 
will delivered before, or at the start of, development is 
very welcome and has enabled removal of a number of 
SA suggestions for strategic sites assessed under KP2.   
 
We strongly recommend addition of the quoted text to 
the plan: without it, it is not clear why ‘essential’ 

P
age 2022



Category 1: Essential / Enabling Infrastructure - Those 
items which will need to be delivered prior to, or at the 
commencement of development (e.g. transportation / 
highways infrastructure, 
utility services and flood mitigation / defences). 
 
Category 2: Necessary Infrastructure (to support 
growth) - Items which need to be phased and 
implemented alongside new development, to ensure 
that the associated growth in 
population is served with appropriate facilities over 
time (e.g. schools and health care)’ 

infrastructure is distinguished from ‘necessary’ – the 
words mean the same thing. 

9 Drafting clarifying the rules on 
planning obligations 

No difference: just makes more explicit the rules that 
national guidance already applies 

None 

10 Stronger requirement for 
infrastructure to be provided to 
meet 50/50 modal split 

Improve strategic site performance on transport, 
access, equity and carbon criteria 

Remove SA suggestions for infrastructure timing from 
the strategic site policies (now KP2(A)-(H) ) 

11 Minerals provision updated to 
reflect latest technical report on 
demand.  Safeguarding 
strengthened in October.   

No significant change None 

12 Remove specific references to 
waste minimisation and the 
waste hierarchy 

Loss of explicitness is regrettable but the other policies 
referred to will still maintain in practise, so no 
significant difference 

None 

13 Lower affordable housing  target 
reflecting one year later   

None None 

14 More explicit and slightly 
stronger restriction on 
development with flood risk or 
that increases flood risk  

Slightly stronger performance on climate change 
adaptation  

None - not enough to make any difference to appraisal  

15 Remove ‘created’ from green Slightly weaker performance – reduces emphasis on None - not significant enough to make a difference to 

P
age 2023



infrastructure proactive improvement.  Don’t agree with WG that it is 
‘superfluous’, it’s not the same as ‘enhanced’, in the 
same way that ‘destroyed’ is not the same as 
‘degraded’   

appraisal scores. 

16 Drafting changes – more precise 
wording on historic environment  

None None 

17 Drafting None None 
18 Small differences in estimated 

yield for some non strategic 
housing sites 

Mostly small increases – good for access and response 
to demographic change.  

None.  (Rookwood Hospital site boundary change 
discussed under PM change) 

19 Tighter requirements for 
affordable provision  

Slightly better for equality  None - not enough change to make a difference to 
appraisal score 

20 Removal of commercial uses that 
‘could contribute to sustainable 
communities’ from the list of 
permissible changes of 
residential use outside central 
area’ 

Unlikely to make a difference since relevant 
conversions could qualify under other criteria 

None 

21 Drafting tidying None None 
22 Delete gypsy/traveller site policy  Changes will together replace a specific site with a 

commitment to review and meet need.  The result 
should be to better meet gypsy and traveller needs  

Delete appraisal of the removed policy (H7) 
23 Announces timetable for Gypsy 

and Traveller Needs Assessment 
and implementation  Figures for 
short and long term need added 
in October.  

None. 

24 Move ‘no realistic prospect’ of 
future employment use from 
reasoned justification into policy 
on alternative uses itself   

None None 

 New criterion housing need 
overrides economic 

Good for access and demographic objectives None - not enough change to make a difference to 
appraisal score 

P
age 2024



considerations 
25 New policy allowing employment 

uses on land not designated for 
them subject to some criteria   

Good for employment, not bad for other objectives 
because of the criteria in the policy and other plan 
policies 

New policy EC7 added to the group appraisal of EC1-6.  
Too little change overall to alter the scores. 

26 Simpler and less inflexible policy 
on permitted development in the 
countryside 

No significant change None 

27 Redrafting None None 
28 Tighter and more explicit 

requirements for development 
affecting Special Landscape Areas 

Small improvement in landscape protection  None- not enough change to make a difference to 
appraisal score 

29 Drafting None None 
30 Tighter and more explicit 

protection of designated 
conservation sites  

Slightly better for biodiversity None- not enough change to make a difference to 
appraisal score 

31 Removal of para of reasoned 
justification which is inconsistent 
with policy 

Slightly weaker for biodiversity None- not enough change to make a difference to 
appraisal score 

32 More explicit reference to legal 
protection of habits and species  

None None 

33 Updated identification of 
heritage assets and relevant 
guidance  

None None 

34 Stronger renewable energy 
requirement  Commitment to 
produce SPG on energy 
assessments added in October. 

Greater certainty of climate change benefits  Make policy appraisal more positive 

35 Drafting None None 
36 Stronger and more explicit 

restraint of development prone 
to flood risk or increasing it 

Better for climate change and health and wellbeing. None- not enough change to make a difference to 
appraisal score 

P
age 2025



37 Drafting None None 
38 Clarify the bus corridors  None None 
39 New policy for developing 

‘metro’ transport network  
Good for transport related objectives   Added appraisal of the new policy. 

40-48 Range of changes to clarify and 
tidy the suite of retail policies, 
giving a stronger and more 
explicit retail hierarchy while 
removing some unnecessarily 
detailed stipulations.  

Overall neutral effect   Update policy numbers and texts.  

49 Clarify wording None  None 
50 Update reference None None 
51 New policy for no net loss of 

community facilities 
New policy good for access, wellbeing and climate 
change objectives  

Add appraisal of new policy.  We have told the planners  
we think ‘and’ at the end of clause I should be ‘or’ 
because the current wording requires developers to 
both provide substitute facilities and prove they are not 
needed, instead of one or the other.   

52 Add reference to children’s play.  Good to clarify that informal play should be provided 
for, not only sport  

None 

53 Delete allotments policy The deleted policy was highly positive for a range of 
environmental and social objectives, so its removal is a 
backward step  

Remove appraisal. 
Query reasons the policy was deleted rather than the 
allotments policy questions answered / contested. 

54 Delete separate children’s play 
policy 

Incorporated into policy C4 so no net loss Remove appraisal. 

55 Remove restriction on takeaways Already covered in policy C7 so no difference None 
Remove requirement for health 
impact assessment  

Criterion ii already requires development to promote 
all aspects of health that are relevant to planning and 
likely to be significantly affected, so removing formal 
assessment is likely to make very little difference. 

None 

56,57,  
59 

Two schools policies C8 and C9 
combined 

Previous SA had appraised the two former policies 
together and questioned the need for them to be 

None 

P
age 2026



distinct, so this change is welcome and makes no 
difference to the appraisal.  

58 Remove the Heath site’s 
designation for health uses 

Increases flexibility of deciding future uses of the site 
together with other non strategic ones. 

Remove the appraisal of policy C10. 

60-63 Adjusts minerals policies to 
reflect latest technical 
information and guidance and 
Council discussions with 
operators  

No significant overall changes to the effects of the suite 
of minerals policies 

None 

64-67 Combines safeguarding of sand 
and gravel, coal and limestone 
into one policy 

Previous SA had appraised the three former policies 
together, so this change is welcome and makes no 
difference to the appraisal. 

None 

68 New policy to allow coal working 
closer than the normal 500m 
from residential areas in certain 
defined special circumstances.  

The exceptional circumstances are tightly enough 
defined that there is unlikely to be significant loss of 
amenity from the closer working. 

Redraft appraisal of the former three policies to refer to 
the one new one 

69 Delete Lamby Way waste site 
allocation  

Landfilling is about to end, and any future need for the 
site can be considered under the generic policy W2.   

None.  Policy had been appraised together with the 
generic policy W2 so no changes needed. 

70 Revisions to waste policy to align 
with national guidance  

None None 

71-74   Insert appendices None None 
75 Monitoring framework Extensive range of indicators and specification of 

trigger points should help ensure the plan is 
implemented and corrective action identified and taken 
when necessary   

SA monitoring framework revised to use indicators 
already being monitored for the Plan where possible 
without loss of significant information. 

76-81 Drafting and reference 
corrections / updates 

None except for updating key diagram None, except for substitute new key diagram in final SA 
report 

PM1 Move settlement boundary 
outward to River Rhymney at 
strategic site G 

Change will not make any difference to development 
on the ground because this will be constrained by 
floodplain which is protected by policies KP15 and 
EN14.  

None 

P
age 2027



PM2 Explicit demarcation of ‘flexibility 
allowance’ sites   

Sites already appraised None 

PM3 Small extension to Rookwood 
Hospital site 

Site already appraised None 

PM4 Delete gypsy and traveller site Implements MAC22 None 
PM5 Show sites with planning 

permission for housing on 
proposals map 

Presentational change only – does not change the 
planning status of the sites.   

None 

PM6 Correction to boundary of 
Central Bay Business Area to 
reflect land ownership 

None None 

PM7 Small reduction in business park 
area to reflect recent planning 
permissions for housing 

None None 

PM8-
12 

Clarifications and minor changes 
to river corridor designations    

The only large change is the result of an administrative 
decision not to designate river corridors outside the 
settlement boundary. 

None 

PM13 Show bus corridor enhancements Implements MAC38 None 
PM14 Show protected shopping 

frontages 
Implements MAC40 None 

PM15 Delete Heath site allocation for 
health 

Implements MAC58 None 

PM16 Reductions in coal safeguarding 
area to comply with guidance 

Implements part of MAC 67.  Reflects policies to 
protect other environmental assets.  

None 

PM17 Limestone safeguarding area 
redefined as sand and gravel 
safeguarding area   

Implements part of MAC 67.  No change. None 

PM18 Delete waste site Implements MAC 69 None 
Insp 1 Replace Green Belt policy KP3A 

with Green Wedge 
Removes assumption that protection will outlast the 
Plan period, and even opens up the possibility of rolling 
it back during the plan period if monitoring reveals a 

Appraisal unchanged since the new policy has the same  
scores against appraisal objectives.  Para added to report 
saying that the change weakens incentives for 

P
age 2028



shortfall in housing .      developers to support the Plan’s spatial strategy and 
could even create perverse incentive to hold off from 
development that supports the Plan’s objectives (such as 
brownfield and urban regeneration) in the hope of 
getting permission to develop north of the M4. 

Insp 2 Replace ‘or’ with ‘and’ at end of 
clause I of Protection of Existing 
Community Facilities policy C2  

Will result in safeguarding of community facilities only 
if there is need in the community 

Appraisal unchanged since the amended policy has the 
same scores against appraisal objectives.  NB: this 
amendment was suggested previously in response to 
MAC 51. 

  

P
age 2029



T
his page is intentionally left blank



  

  

Appendix 7 
 
 
 
  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
South East Wales  
Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG) 

                     

 
 

 
 

HABITATS REGULATIONS APPRAISAL 
of  

Matters Arising Changes 
of 

Deposit Local Development Plan 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

The City of Cardiff Council 
January 2016 

Page 2031



  

  

 
 

HABITATS REGULATIONS APPRAISAL REPORT 
of 

Matters Arising Changes 
of 

Deposit Local Development Plan 
 
 

The City of Cardiff Council 
 

 

 

 

 
 
date: 
 

11th January 2016 

issue no.: 
 

1 
 

prepared by: 
 

Matthew Harris 

quality 
assurance: 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
The format of this report is based upon a toolkit which was developed to provide 

information and analysis to support the South East Wales Strategic Planning Group 
(SEWSPG) authorities with the process of Habitats Regulations Appraisal as required 

by the Habitats Directive.  The approach outlined reflects official Welsh Assembly 
Government (WG) guidance and Countryside Council for Wales (NRW) advice, but does 
not have official status.  Enfusion Ltd does not accept liability for use of the toolkit or 

decisions that are made based upon it. 
(December 2010, Update) 

 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 2032



 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                        1/19           Enfusion 

  

 
City of Cardiff Council 

Matters Arising Changes Schedule 
 

Habitats Regulations Appraisal Report 
 
CONTENTS 
 

 SUMMARY 
 
1 INTRODUCTION 

Requirement for Habitats Regulations Appraisal 
Guidance for Habitats Regulations Appraisal/Appropriate Assessment 
Consultation  
Purpose & Structure of Report 

 
2 METHOD 
  
3 SCREENING 
 
4 CONCLUSIONS  

 
REFERENCES/BIBLIOGRAPHY  
 
TABLES 
 
1. European Sites within Cardiff boundary 
2. European Sites within search area buffer zone 

 
 APPENDICES 
 
 APPENDIX 1: Consideration of MACs against HRA screening criteria 
 
 

Page 2033



 

  

SUMMARY 
 
 
0.1 A Habitats Regulations Appraisal (HRA) of spatial development plans is a 

requirement of the Habitats Directive (92/43/EEC) as set out in the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (as amended).   

 
0.2 This report details the HRA process for the new Matters Arising Changes 

Schedule (MAC) and the Inspector Changes arising from Hearing Sessions 
20-26, the methods and findings, and the conclusions of the assessment.    

 
0.3 An assessment was made of the likelihood of significant impact of the MAC 

and Inspector’s Changes on eight international sites in and around Cardiff, 
namely Cardiff Beech Woods SAC, Severn Estuary SAC, SPA, Ramsar 
Site, River Usk SAC,  River Wye SAC, Blackmill Woodlands SAC and 
Aberbargoed Grasslands SAC. 

 
0.4 None of the new MACs or Inspector’s Changes were judged to have the 

potential to affect any of these sites, above or beyond those potential impacts 
already considered in the HRA of the Deposit LDP. 

 
0.5 Therefore, none of these new MACs or Inspector’s Changes are likely to have 

a significant effect on any of the international sites either alone or in 
combination with other plans, projects or programmes. 

 
0.6 The Habitats Regulations Appraisals of the LDPs of neighbouring Local 

Authorities have indicated that in the absence of direct effects, in-combination 
effects with other plans are not likely to be significant at the sites considered 
in the light of the evidence available. 

 
0.7  The LDP can proceed without further reference to this section of the Habitats 

Regulations. 
 
  

Page 2034



 

  

1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 Cardiff Council is currently progressing a Local Development Plan (LDP), and 

has undertaken Habitats Regulations Appraisal (HRA) of that plan in line with 
the requirements set by the Conservation of Habitats and 
Species Regulations 20101 (as amended) [referred to subsequently as The 
Habitats Regulations]. 

 
1.2 The HRA of the Deposit LDP concluded that the Deposit LDP was not likely to 

have a significant effect upon any of the European Sites considered, either 
alone, or in combination with other plans, projects or programmes in the 
region. 

 
1.3 The present HRA report considers the effect of the Matters Arising Changes 

Schedule upon the policies and proposals of the Deposit LDP, and whether 
those changes would give rise to potential effects upon European Sites above 
or beyond those already assessed.  
 
Requirement for Habitats Regulations Appraisal 

 
1.4 The European Directive (92/43/EEC) on the Conservation of Natural Habitats 

and Wild Flora and Fauna (‘The Habitats Directive’) protects habitats and 
species of European nature conservation importance.  The Habitats Directive 
establishes a network of internationally important sites designated for their 
ecological status.  These are referred to as Natura 2000 (N2K) sites or 
European Sites, and comprise Special Areas of Conservation (SACs) and 
Special Protection Areas (SPAs) [which are classified under the Council 
Directive 79/409/EEC on the conservation of wild birds, the ‘Birds Directive’].  

 
1.5 Articles 6 (3) and 6 (4) of the Habitats Directive require HRA to be undertaken 

on proposed plans or projects which are not necessary for the management 
of the site but which are likely to have a significant effect on one or more 
European sites either individually, or in combination with other plans and 
projects.2  This requirement is set out in Regulation 102 of the Conservation 
of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (as amended) which require the 
application of HRA to all land use plans.  Welsh Government (WG) guidance 
also requires that Ramsar sites (which support internationally important 
wetland habitats) and are listed under the Convention on Wetlands of 
International Importance (Ramsar Convention 1971) are included within 
HRA/AA and that candidate SACs and proposed SPAs are treated as 
‘designated’ sites in the context of HRA.  In this report the term ‘European 
sites’ will be used when referring to SACs, cSACs, SPAs, pSPAs and Ramsar 
sites. 

 
1.6 The purpose of HRA is to assess the impacts of a land-use plan, in 

combination with the effects of other plans and projects, against the 
conservation objectives of a European Site and to ascertain whether it would 

                                                 
1 The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (as amended) consolidate all the various 
amendments made to the 1994 Regulations in respect of England and Wales. 
2  Determining whether an effect is ‘significant’ is undertaken in relation to the designated interest 
features and conservation objectives of the Natura 2000 sites. If an impact on any conservation 
objective is assessed as being adverse then it should be treated as significant.  Where information is 
limited the precautionary principle applies and significant effects should be assumed until evidence 
exists to the contrary.  

Page 2035



 

  

adversely affect the integrity3 of that site.  Where significant negative effects 
are identified, alternative options or mitigation measures should be examined 
to avoid any potential damaging effects.  The scope of the HRA is dependent 
on the location, size and significance of the proposed plan or project and the 
sensitivities and nature of the interest features of the European Sites under 
consideration.  

 
Guidance for Habitats Regulations Appraisal/Appropriate Assessment  

 
1.7 Guidance for HRA is contained in WG’s Technical Advice Note 5: Nature 

Conservation and Planning, Annex 6 ‘The Appraisal of Development Plans in 
Wales under the Provisions of the Habitats Regulations’ (Sept 2009).  NRW 
(as CCW) has also produced draft guidance4 to assist plan-making authorities 
to comply with the requirements of the Habitats Directive. 
 

 
Consultation  

 
1.8 The Habitats Regulations require the plan making/competent authority to 

consult the appropriate nature conservation statutory body [Natural 
Resources Wales (NRW)] if undertaking an Appropriate Assessment.  
Consultation on the approach to this HRA screening, including advice on 
which European sites should be considered within the area of search, was 
undertaken with NRW following the HRA of the Preferred Strategy and  
Deposit LDP, and their consultation responses were taken into account, 
where appropriate.  The Habitats Regulations leave consultation with other 
bodies and the public to the discretion of the plan-making authority.   

 
 
2.0 METHOD 
 
2.1 Fuller details of the HRA methodology are set out in the HRA to the Deposit 

LDP 
 
2.2 This report considers only the new Matters Arising Changes (MACs) as set 

out in the ‘City of Cardiff Council Draft Matters Arising Changes Schedule’ 
October 2015, and in subsequent Inspector’s Changes. The changes listed in 
that schedule and in the Inspector’s Changes are categorised according to 
the criteria set out below.  Where further consideration is indicated, that 
change would be subject to the Policy Screening Template as set out in 
Appendix 2 of the original HRA of the deposit LDP. 

 
2.3 The HRA of the Deposit LDP concluded that the deposit plan was not likely to 

have a significant effect upon any European Sites, subject to implementation 
of polices within the plan which were designed in part to offset any potential 
impact.   

 
2.4 New MACs  and Inspector’s Changes are categorised according to one or 

more of the following criteria:- 
 
                                                 
3 Integrity is described as the sites’ coherence, ecological structure and function across the whole area 
that enables it to sustain the habitat, complex of habitats and/or levels of populations of species for 
which it was classified, (ODPM, 2005).  
4 Tyldesley, D., 2009, Draft Guidance for Plan Making Authorities in Wales: The Appraisal of Plans 
under the Habitats Directive for Countryside Council for Wales CCW Bangor (Revised April 2010). 

Page 2036



 

  

• The change will benefit biodiversity and may have a positive effect upon 
European Sites 

 
• The change does not relate to a specific policy, and therefore cannot affect 

any European Sites when the LDP is implemented. 
 
• This change proposes the inclusion of factual details, which do not promote 

any new development. 
 

• The change is minor, and relates to spelling, grammar, or accuracy or 
clarification of wording, which do not alter the meaning of the policy. 

• The change relates to restructuring or reorganising the policy, which does not 
significantly alter the meaning of the policy. 

• The change relates to the insertion of new text into the policy which does not 
alter its potential to impact upon a European Site, beyond that assessed in 
the original HRA of the deposit LDP. 

• The change relates to the insertion of new text into the policy which increases 
potential of that policy to impact upon a European Site, beyond that in the 
original HRA of the deposit LDP.  Therefore this change requires further 
consideration. 

• The change relates to the deletion of existing text from the policy which does 
not alter its potential to impact upon a European Site. 

• The change relates to the deletion of existing text from the policy which 
increases its potential to impact upon a European Site, beyond that assessed 
in the original HRA of the deposit LDP.  This arises because that wording, 
when implemented, would have counteracted or offset any impacts upon 
European Sites arising from other policies elsewhere in the plan.  Therefore 
this change requires further consideration. 

• The change relates to the creation of a new policy which does not have the 
potential to impact upon a European Site. 

• The change relates to the creation of a new policy which has the potential to 
impact upon a European Site, and which therefore requires further more 
detailed consideration. 

• The change relates to deletion of an existing policy which does not alter the 
potential of the LDP to impact upon a European Site, beyond that assessed in 
the original HRA of the deposit LDP. 

• The change relates to deletion of an existing policy which increases the 
potential of the LDP to impact upon a European Site,  beyond that in the 
original HRA of the deposit LDP.  This arises because that policy contained 
wording which, when implemented, would have counteracted or offset any 
impacts upon European Sites arising from other policies elsewhere in the plan.  
Therefore this change requires further consideration. 

Page 2037



 

  

 
  
3.0 SCREENING 
 

Identification of European Sites & characterisation 
 
3.1 Four designated European Sites lie within the Cardiff boundary, and these are 

set out in Table 1 below.  Detailed site characterisation information for the 
sites, is provided in Appendix 1 of the HRA of the Deposit LDP. 

 
Table 1  
 
European Sites within Plan/ Proposal Boundary 

 
 
Designation 

 Cardiff Beech Woods 
 Severn Estuary 
 Severn Estuary 
 Severn Estuary 

SAC 
SAC 
SPA 
Ramsar 

  
3.2 Plans, programmes and projects can have spatial implications that extend 

beyond the intended plan boundaries.  In particular, it is recognised that 
distance in itself is not a definitive guide to the likelihood or severity of an 
impact (inaccessibility/ remoteness is typically more relevant) as factors such 
as the prevailing wind direction, river flow direction, and ground water flow 
direction will all have a bearing on the relative distance at which an impact 
can occur.  This means that a plan directing development some distance 
away from a European Site could still have effects on the site and therefore, 
needs to be considered as part of the screening process.  

 
3.3 Taking into account the potential for transboundary impacts, screening of the 

HRA of the Deposit LDP has identified four European Sites that lie within the 
influence of the Cardiff Council LDP.  These sites are outlined in Table 2 
below and detailed information for the European Sites is provided in Appendix 
1 of the HRA of the Deposit LDP.   

 
Table 2 
 
European Sites Within 
Search Area of Plan Area 

 
Designation  

 
Distance from Plan/ 
Proposal Boundary 
(approx Km) 

Aberbargoed Grasslands SAC 14 
Blackmill Woodlands SAC 14 
River Usk SAC 6 
River Wye SAC 30 

 
  

Page 2038



 

  

 
Consideration of Other Plans, Projects and Programmes 

 
3.4 It is a requirement of Article 6(3) of the Habitats Directive that HRA examines 

the potential for plans and projects to have a significant effect either 
individually or ‘in combination’ with other plans, programmes & projects 
(PPPs).  Undertaking an assessment of other PPPs for the Cardiff Council 
LDP required a pragmatic approach given the extensive range of PPPs 
underway in the surrounding region.  The approach taken was cognisant of 
the emphasis in the forthcoming WG guidance, that considering the potential 
for in-combination effects is core to delivering robust/ precautionary HRA.5   

 
3.5 When considering other PPPs attention was focused on those aimed at 

delivering planned spatial growth with the most significant being those that 
seek to provide, housing, employment and infrastructure.  The review 
considered the most relevant plans including: 

 
 The Wales Spatial Plan (update) 2008 
 Local Development Plans in South East Wales neighbouring authorities 
 Waste and Mineral Strategies for South East Wales and neighbouring 

authorities 
 Regional Transport Plans - where relevant and/or major development 

schemes  
 Catchment Abstraction Management Plans - where relevant to the 

designated sites under consideration 
 Water Resource Management Plans 

 
3.6 The potential effects of these plans are reviewed in detail at Appendix 9 of the 

HRA of the Deposit LDP and the potential for these effects to act ‘in-
combination’ with effects identified from Cardiff Council Deposit LDP are 
considered in the screening assessment (Appendix 10 of the HRA of the 
Deposit LDP).   

 
Assessment of Potential impacts 

 
3.7 Each policy or section of the Deposit LDP which is the subject of a MAC, is 

considered against each of the criteria in Section 2.4 above.  The results of 
this analysis are set out in Appendix 1, below. 

 
 
4.0 CONCLUSIONS 
 
4.1 This report outlines the methods used and the findings arising from the 

screening stage of the Habitats Regulations Appraisal undertaken for the 
Matters Arising Changes Schedule and Inspector’s Changes 

 
4.2 The HRA considered eight European Sites within the influence of the Deposit 

LDP 
 
4.3 Based on the information considered, the findings of the assessment 

indicate that the new Matters Arising Changes and Inspector’s Changes 
                                                 
5 The review also draws on work being undertaken on behalf of the South East Wales Strategic Planning 
Group (SEWSPG) to build a resource kit of information and analysis to support HRA in the region. 

Page 2039



 

  

to the City of Cardiff Council Deposit LDP in implementation will not 
have a likely significant effect on the European sites considered as part 
of the HRA screening and will not require full Appropriate Assessment 
under the Habitats Regulations.   

 
4.4 This conclusion is dependent in part upon the implementation of policies in 

the Deposit LDP which would serve to counteract adverse effects arising from 
policies screened-in to this HRA. 

Page 2040



 

  

Appendix 1:  Consideration of MACs against HRA Screening Criteria 
 
 
 
MAC 
Number 
 

 
Additional Hearing 
Session/Action Point 

 
Proposed Change October 2015 

HRA Screening Criteria 

Inspector 
MAC1 

Policy KP3 (A): Green 
Belt 

Delete Policy KP3 (A) and reasoned justification and replace with new 
KP3(A) Green Wedge 
 
Numerous amendments throughout the LDP to delete reference to 
Green Belt and insert Green Wedge instead. 

The change relates to the insertion of new 
text into the policy which does not alter its 
potential to impact upon a European Site, 
beyond that assessed in the original HRA of 
the deposit LDP.  Over the lifetime of the 
plan, these changes will not alter the impact 
that this plan has upon any European 
designated sites. 
 

Inspector 
MAC2 

Policy C2: 
Protection of 
Existing 
Community 
Facilities: 

Delete ‘and’ and replace with ‘or’ between bullet points i) and ii) in the 
main text of this policy 

The change is minor, and relates to spelling, 
grammar, or accuracy or clarification of 
wording, which do not alter the meaning of 
the policy 

MAC4 Hearing Session 24: 
Miscellaneous 
Matters 
Action Point 4 
 

Minor amendment to point iii, to delete reference to a table elsewhere 
in the policy. 
 

The change is minor, and relates to spelling, 
grammar, or accuracy or clarification of 
wording, which do not alter the meaning of 
the policy 

MAC5 Hearing Session 24: 
Miscellaneous 
Matters 
Action Point 5, 
Action Point 6, 

Minor amendment to paragraph 10 of proposed new PolicyKP2 (C) 
 
Minor amendment to 9 of proposed new Policy KP 2 (D&E) 
 
Minor amendment to paragraph 2 of the reasoned justification of new 

 
The changes are  minor, and relate to 
spelling, grammar, or accuracy or 
clarification of wording, which do not alter 
the meaning of the policy 

P
age 2041



 

  

 
MAC 
Number 
 

 
Additional Hearing 
Session/Action Point 

 
Proposed Change October 2015 

HRA Screening Criteria 

Action Point 7, 
Action Point 8 

Policy KP 2 (F), in relation to ownership of the site 
 
Delete reference to the disused railway line in KP2 (F), which was 
included in error in the origibal text 

MAC8 Hearing Session 25: 
Transport and 
Infrastructure 
Action Point 1,  

Amend paragraph 4.89 of Policy KP 6  New Infrastructure, adjusting the 
wording of the policy and clarifying the scope of potential 
infrastructure requirements  
 
 
 
 

The change relates to the insertion of new 
text into the policy which does not alter its 
potential to impact upon a European Site, 
beyond that assessed in the original HRA of 
the deposit LDP. 
The change is minor, and relates to spelling, 
grammar, or accuracy or clarification of 
wording, which do not alter the meaning of 
the policy 

MAC10 Hearing Session 25: 
Transport and 
Infrastructure 
Action Point 3 

Amend proposed new paragraph after existing paragraph 4.105 of 
Policy KP8, with minor changes to wording 
 
  

The change is minor, and relates to spelling, 
grammar, or accuracy or clarification of 
wording, which do not alter the meaning of 
the policy 

MAC11 Hearing Session 23: 
Minerals 
Action Point 6 

Amend Policy KP11: Minerals And Aggregates to include clarifications 
to wording 
 
 

The change is minor, and relates to spelling, 
grammar, or accuracy or clarification of 
wording, which do not alter the meaning of 
the policy 

MAC23 Hearing Session 24: 
Miscellaneous 
Matters 
Action Point 2 
 

Amend paragraphs 5.52 and 5.53 of the reasoned justification to Policy 
H8 to reinsert references to WG guidance and requirement in PPW to 
allocate sites to meet identified need for Gypsy and Traveller 
accommodation.  Amendments do not propose specific sites. 
 

This change proposes the inclusion of factual 
details, which do not promote any new 
development. 
 

P
age 2042



 

  

 
MAC 
Number 
 

 
Additional Hearing 
Session/Action Point 

 
Proposed Change October 2015 

HRA Screening Criteria 

 
MAC34 Hearing Session 26 

Monitoring 
Framework 
Action Point 2 

Insert new sentence regarding SPG at the end of paragraph 5.186 of 
the reasoned justification to Policy EN12 Renewable Energy and Low 
Carbon Technologies.  This sentence explains that SPG guidance will be 
produce, and does not promote Renewable Energy and Low Carbon 
Technologies beyond that which has already been assessed in the HRA 
of the original policies. 
 
 
 

The change relates to the insertion of new 
text into the policy which does not alter its 
potential to impact upon a European Site, 
beyond that assessed in the original HRA of 
the deposit LDP. 
 

MAC39 Hearing Session 24: 
Miscellaneous 
Matters 
Action Point 9 

Amend reasoned justification to proposed new Policy T9 Cardiff City 
Region ‘Metro’ network to update reference to national guidance. 
This amendment does not specify new infrastructure. 
 

The change is minor, and relates to spelling, 
grammar, or accuracy or clarification of 
wording, which do not alter the meaning of 
the policy. 
 

MAC40 Hearing Session 22: 
Retail Provision 
Within Strategic Sites 
 

Amend Policy R1: Retail Hierarchy to reflect retail provision within 
Strategic Sites.  This amendment does not specify locations for retail 
development. 
 
 

This change proposes the inclusion of factual 
details, which do not promote any new 
development  

MAC41 Hearing Session 22: 
Retail Provision 
Within Strategic Sites 
 

Amend Policy R7: Retail Provision within Strategic Sites to remove cross 
reference with out –of-centre retail tests. 
 

 

The change relates to the deletion of 
existing text from the policy which does not 
alter its potential to impact upon a 
European Site. 
 

MAC61 Hearing Session 23: Amend Policy M2: Preferred Order Of Mineral Resource Release and The change relates to the deletion of 

P
age 2043



 

  

 
MAC 
Number 
 

 
Additional Hearing 
Session/Action Point 

 
Proposed Change October 2015 

HRA Screening Criteria 

Minerals 
Action Point 4 

reasoned justification.  These changes amend the preferred order of 
release and do not set out new locations for specific mineral workings 
 
 

existing text from the policy which does not 
alter its potential to impact upon a 
European Site. 
 
The change relates to the insertion of new 
text into the policy which does not alter its 
potential to impact upon a European Site, 
beyond that assessed in the original HRA of 
the deposit LDP. 
 

MAC67 Hearing Session 23: 
Minerals 
Action Point 5 

Insert new paragraph at the end of the reasoned justification to new 
Policy M7 Safeguarding of Sand and Gravel, Coal and Limestone 
Resources 
 
 
 

The change relates to the insertion of new 
text into the policy which does not alter its 
potential to impact upon a European Site, 
beyond that assessed in the original HRA of 
the deposit LDP. 
 

 
 

P
age 2044



 

  

REFERENCES / BIBLIOGRAPHY 
 
 
Legislation 
 
European Communities (1979) Council Directive 79/409/EEC on the conservation of wild birds the ‘Birds Directive’. 
 
European Communities (1992) Council Directive 92/43/EEC on the conservation of natural habitats and wild fauna and flora the ‘Habitats 
Directive’.  
 
Ramsar Convention on Wetlands (1971) – Intergovernmental Treaty. 
 
The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations, 2010. 
 
The Offshore Marine Conservation (Natural Habitats, &c) Regulations 2007. 
 
Welsh Assembly Government (WG) Guidance 
 
Technical Advice Note (TAN) 5 (WG, 2009) Nature Conservation and Planning: Annex 6 to TAN5 (WG, 2009) The appraisal of development 
plans in Wales under the provisions of the Habitats Regulations. 
 
WG Habitats Directive 
Weblink. http://wales.gov.uk/topics/environmentcountryside/consmanagement/conservationbiodiversity/habitatdirective/?lang=en  
 
 
European Union Guidance 
 
European Commission (EC) (2000) Managing Natura 2000 Sites: The Provisions of Article 6 of the ‘Habitats’ Directive 92/43/EEC. 
 
EC (2001) Assessment of Plans and Projects Significantly Affecting Natura 2000 sites: methodological Guidance on the Provisions of Article 
6(3) and (4) of the Habitats Directive 92/43/EEC. 
 

P
age 2045

http://wales.gov.uk/topics/environmentcountryside/consmanagement/conservationbiodiversity/habitatdirective/?lang=en


 

  

EC (2007) Guidance Document on Article 6(4) of the ‘Habitats Directive’ 92/43/EEC. Clarification of Concepts of: Alternative Solutions, 
Imperative Reasons of Overriding Public Interest, Compensatory Measures, Overall Coherence, Opinion of the Commission.  
 
 
Other Relevant Reference & Guidance Sources 
 
Hosking R & Tyldesley D (2006) How the scale of effects on internationally designated nature conservation sites in Britain has been considered 
in decision making: A review of authoritative decisions. 
 
Tyldesley, D., (2009) Draft Guidance for Plan Making Authorities in Wales: The Appraisal of Plans under the Habitats Directive, for Countryside 
Council for Wales CCW Bangor. 
 
WG (2004) Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) of Unitary Development Plans – Interim Good Practice Guide 
 
WG (2006) Local Development Plans Wales. 
 
TraCC Regional Transport Plan 2009,  
 
SEWTA Rail Strategy Study Jan 2006  
 
South East Wales Transport Alliance: Regional Transport Plan 2009  
 
Welsh Coastal Tourism Strategy 2008  
 
Merchant Shipping (Oil Pollution Preparedness Response and Co-operation Convention) Regulations 1998, SI 1998 No 1056.  
 
Core Management Plan (Including Conservation Objectives) for Cardiff Beech Woods Special Area of Conservation (SAC).  
December 2008.  Countryside Council for Wales.  
 
Revised Draft Water Resources Management Plan.  October 2011. Dŵr Cymru Welsh Water 

 
The Usk Catchment Abstraction Management Strategy.  March 2007.  Environment Agency Wales. 

P
age 2046



 

  

 
People, Places, Futures: The Wales Spatial Plan (Update 2008).  Welsh Assembly Government. 
 
 
European Site Specific Information 
 
Joint Nature Conservation Committee (JNCC) - Protected Sites: 
http://www.jncc.gov.uk/page-4  
 
Browse SACs on map: 
http://www.jncc.gov.uk/page-1515  
 
Browse SPAs on map:  
http://www.jncc.gov.uk/page-2598  
 
Air Pollution Information System (APIS): 
http://www.apis.ac.uk/  
 
UK Water Company Boundaries: 
http://www.water.org.uk/home/our-members/find-water-company  
 
European Site Specific Information Wales 
 
Countryside Council for Wales (NRW) - Site Management Plans: 
http://www.ccw.gov.uk/landscape--wildlife/protecting-our-landscape/special-sites-project.aspx  
 
NRW - Protected Sites Map:  
http://www.ccw.gov.uk/interactive-maps/protected-sites-map.aspx  
 
NRW - Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI): 
http://www.ccw.gov.uk/landscape--wildlife/protecting-our-landscape/special-landscapes--sites/protected-landscapes/sssis/sssi--report.aspx  
 

P
age 2047

http://www.jncc.gov.uk/page-4
http://www.jncc.gov.uk/page-1515
http://www.jncc.gov.uk/page-2598
http://www.apis.ac.uk/
http://www.water.org.uk/home/our-members/find-water-company
http://www.ccw.gov.uk/landscape--wildlife/protecting-our-landscape/special-sites-project.aspx
http://www.ccw.gov.uk/interactive-maps/protected-sites-map.aspx
http://www.ccw.gov.uk/landscape--wildlife/protecting-our-landscape/special-landscapes--sites/protected-landscapes/sssis/sssi--report.aspx


 

  

Catchment Abstraction Management Strategies (CAMS) Wales: 
http://www.environment-agency.gov.uk/business/topics/water/119927.aspx  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 2048

http://www.environment-agency.gov.uk/business/topics/water/119927.aspx


 

  

 

 
 

© Enfusion Ltd 
Treenwood House 

Rowden Lane 
Bradford on Avon 

BA15 2AU 
T: 01225 867112 
F: 01225 867115 

michelle@enfusion.co.uk  
www.enfusion.co.uk 

P
age 2049



  

  

 
 
 
 
  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
South East Wales  
Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG) 

                     

 
 

 
 

HABITATS REGULATIONS APPRAISAL 
of  

Matters Arising Changes Schedule 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

The City of Cardiff Council 
October 2015 

Page 2050



  

  

 
 

HABITATS REGULATIONS APPRAISAL REPORT 
of 

Matters Arising Changes Schedule 
 
 

The City of Cardiff Council 
 

 

 

 

 
 
date: 
 

6th October 2015 

issue no.: 
 

1 
 

prepared by: 
 

Matthew Harris 

quality 
assurance: 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
The format of this report is based upon a toolkit which was developed to provide 

information and analysis to support the South East Wales Strategic Planning Group 
(SEWSPG) authorities with the process of Habitats Regulations Appraisal as required 

by the Habitats Directive.  The approach outlined reflects official Welsh Assembly 
Government (WG) guidance and Countryside Council for Wales (NRW) advice, but does 
not have official status.  Enfusion Ltd does not accept liability for use of the toolkit or 

decisions that are made based upon it. 
(December 2010, Update) 

 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 2051



 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                        1/19           Enfusion 

  

 
City of Cardiff Council 

Matters Arising Changes Schedule 
 

Habitats Regulations Appraisal Report 
 
CONTENTS 
 

 SUMMARY 
 
1 INTRODUCTION 

Requirement for Habitats Regulations Appraisal 
Guidance for Habitats Regulations Appraisal/Appropriate Assessment 
Consultation  
Purpose & Structure of Report 

 
2 METHOD 
  
3 SCREENING 
 
4 CONCLUSIONS  

 
REFERENCES/BIBLIOGRAPHY  
 
TABLES 
 
1. European Sites within Cardiff boundary 
2. European Sites within search area buffer zone 

 
 APPENDICES 
 
 APPENDIX 1: Consideration of MACs against HRA screening criteria 
 
 

Page 2052



 

  

SUMMARY 
 
 
0.1 A Habitats Regulations Appraisal (HRA) of spatial development plans is a 

requirement of the Habitats Directive (92/43/EEC) as set out in the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (as amended).   

 
0.2 This report details the HRA process for the new Matters Arising Changes 

Schedule (MAC) arising from hearings XXXX, the methods and findings, and 
the conclusions of the assessment.    

 
0.3 An assessment was made of the likelihood of significant impact of the MAC 

on eight international sites in and around Cardiff, namely Cardiff Beech 
Woods SAC, Severn Estuary SAC, SPA, Ramsar Site, River Usk SAC,  
River Wye SAC, Blackmill Woodlands SAC and Aberbargoed Grasslands 
SAC. 

 
0.4 None of the new MACs were judged to have the potential to affect any of 

these sites, above or beyond those potential impacts already considered in 
the HRA of the Deposit LDP. 

 
0.5 Therefore, none of these new MACs are likely to have a significant effect on 

any of the international sites either alone or in combination with other plans, 
projects or programmes. 

 
0.6 The Habitats Regulations Appraisals of the LDPs of neighbouring Local 

Authorities have indicated that in the absence of direct effects, in-combination 
effects with other plans are not likely to be significant at the sites considered 
in the light of the evidence available. 

 
0.7  The LDP can proceed without further reference to this section of the Habitats 

Regulations. 
 

Page 2053



 

  

 
1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 Cardiff Council is currently progressing a Local Development Plan (LDP), and 

has undertaken Habitats Regulations Appraisal (HRA) of that plan in line with 
the requirements set by the Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 20101 (as amended) [referred to subsequently as The Habitats 
Regulations]. 

 
1.2 The HRA of the Deposit LDP concluded that the Deposit LDP was not likely to 

have a significant effect upon any of the European Sites considered, either 
alone, or in combination with other plans, projects or programmes in the 
region. 

 
1.3 The present HRA report considers the effect of the Matters Arising Changes 

Schedule upon the policies and proposals of the Deposit LDP, and whether 
those changes would give rise to potential effects upon European Sites above 
or beyond those already assessed.  
 
Requirement for Habitats Regulations Appraisal 

 
1.4 The European Directive (92/43/EEC) on the Conservation of Natural Habitats 

and Wild Flora and Fauna (‘The Habitats Directive’) protects habitats and 
species of European nature conservation importance.  The Habitats Directive 
establishes a network of internationally important sites designated for their 
ecological status.  These are referred to as Natura 2000 (N2K) sites or 
European Sites, and comprise Special Areas of Conservation (SACs) and 
Special Protection Areas (SPAs) [which are classified under the Council 
Directive 79/409/EEC on the conservation of wild birds, the ‘Birds Directive’].  

 
1.5 Articles 6 (3) and 6 (4) of the Habitats Directive require HRA to be undertaken 

on proposed plans or projects which are not necessary for the management 
of the site but which are likely to have a significant effect on one or more 
European sites either individually, or in combination with other plans and 
projects.2  This requirement is set out in Regulation 102 of the Conservation 
of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (as amended) which require the 
application of HRA to all land use plans.  Welsh Government (WG) guidance 
also requires that Ramsar sites (which support internationally important 
wetland habitats) and are listed under the Convention on Wetlands of 
International Importance (Ramsar Convention 1971) are included within 
HRA/AA and that candidate SACs and proposed SPAs are treated as 
‘designated’ sites in the context of HRA.  In this report the term ‘European 
sites’ will be used when referring to SACs, cSACs, SPAs, pSPAs and Ramsar 
sites. 

 
1.6 The purpose of HRA is to assess the impacts of a land-use plan, in 

combination with the effects of other plans and projects, against the 
conservation objectives of a European Site and to ascertain whether it would 

                                                 
1 The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (as amended) consolidate all the various 
amendments made to the 1994 Regulations in respect of England and Wales. 
2  Determining whether an effect is ‘significant’ is undertaken in relation to the designated interest 
features and conservation objectives of the Natura 2000 sites. If an impact on any conservation 
objective is assessed as being adverse then it should be treated as significant.  Where information is 
limited the precautionary principle applies and significant effects should be assumed until evidence 
exists to the contrary.  

Page 2054



 

  

adversely affect the integrity3 of that site.  Where significant negative effects 
are identified, alternative options or mitigation measures should be examined 
to avoid any potential damaging effects.  The scope of the HRA is dependent 
on the location, size and significance of the proposed plan or project and the 
sensitivities and nature of the interest features of the European Sites under 
consideration.  

 
Guidance for Habitats Regulations Appraisal/Appropriate Assessment  

 
1.7 Guidance for HRA is contained in WG’s Technical Advice Note 5: Nature 

Conservation and Planning, Annex 6 ‘The Appraisal of Development Plans in 
Wales under the Provisions of the Habitats Regulations’ (Sept 2009).  NRW 
(as CCW) has also produced draft guidance4 to assist plan-making authorities 
to comply with the requirements of the Habitats Directive. 
 

 
Consultation  

 
1.8 The Habitats Regulations require the plan making/competent authority to 

consult the appropriate nature conservation statutory body [Natural 
Resources Wales (NRW)] if undertaking an Appropriate Assessment.  
Consultation on the approach to this HRA screening, including advice on 
which European sites should be considered within the area of search, was 
undertaken with NRW following the HRA of the Preferred Strategy and  
Deposit LDP, and their consultation responses were taken into account, 
where appropriate.  The Habitats Regulations leave consultation with other 
bodies and the public to the discretion of the plan-making authority.   

 
 
2.0 METHOD 
 
2.1 Fuller details of the HRA methodology are set out in the HRA to the Deposit 

LDP 
 
2.2 This report considers only the new Matters Arising Changes (MACs) as set 

out in the ‘City of Cardiff Council Draft Matters Arising Changes Schedule’ 
October 2015. The changes listed in that schedule are categorised according 
to the criteria set out below.  Where further consideration is indicated, that 
change would be subject to the Policy Screening Template as set out in 
Appendix 2 of the original HRA of the deposit LDP. 

 
2.3 The HRA of the Deposit LDP concluded that the deposit plan was not likely to 

have a significant effect upon any European Sites, subject to implementation 
of polices within the plan which were designed in part to offset any potential 
impact.   

 
2.4 New MACs are categorised according to one or more of the following criteria:- 
 

                                                 
3 Integrity is described as the sites’ coherence, ecological structure and function across the whole area 
that enables it to sustain the habitat, complex of habitats and/or levels of populations of species for 
which it was classified, (ODPM, 2005).  
4 Tyldesley, D., 2009, Draft Guidance for Plan Making Authorities in Wales: The Appraisal of Plans 
under the Habitats Directive for Countryside Council for Wales CCW Bangor (Revised April 2010). 

Page 2055



 

  

• The change will benefit biodiversity and may have a positive effect upon 
European Sites 

 
• The change does not relate to a specific policy, and therefore cannot affect 

any European Sites when the LDP is implemented. 
 
• This change proposes the inclusion of factual details, which do not promote 

any new development. 
 

• The change is minor, and relates to spelling, grammar, or accuracy or 
clarification of wording, which do not alter the meaning of the policy. 

• The change relates to restructuring or reorganising the policy, which does not 
significantly alter the meaning of the policy. 

• The change relates to the insertion of new text into the policy which does not 
alter its potential to impact upon a European Site, beyond that assessed in 
the original HRA of the deposit LDP. 

• The change relates to the insertion of new text into the policy which increases 
potential of that policy to impact upon a European Site, beyond that in the 
original HRA of the deposit LDP.  Therefore this change requires further 
consideration. 

• The change relates to the deletion of existing text from the policy which does 
not alter its potential to impact upon a European Site. 

• The change relates to the deletion of existing text from the policy which 
increases its potential to impact upon a European Site, beyond that assessed 
in the original HRA of the deposit LDP.  This arises because that wording, 
when implemented, would have counteracted or offset any impacts upon 
European Sites arising from other policies elsewhere in the plan.  Therefore 
this change requires further consideration. 

• The change relates to the creation of a new policy which does not have the 
potential to impact upon a European Site. 

• The change relates to the creation of a new policy which has the potential to 
impact upon a European Site, and which therefore requires further more 
detailed consideration. 

• The change relates to deletion of an existing policy which does not alter the 
potential of the LDP to impact upon a European Site, beyond that assessed in 
the original HRA of the deposit LDP. 

• The change relates to deletion of an existing policy which increases the 
potential of the LDP to impact upon a European Site,  beyond that in the 
original HRA of the deposit LDP.  This arises because that policy contained 
wording which, when implemented, would have counteracted or offset any 
impacts upon European Sites arising from other policies elsewhere in the plan.  
Therefore this change requires further consideration. 

Page 2056



 

  

 
  
3.0 SCREENING 
 

Identification of European Sites & characterisation 
 
3.1 Four designated European Sites lie within the Cardiff boundary, and these are 

set out in Table 1 below.  Detailed site characterisation information for the 
sites, is provided in Appendix 1 of the HRA of the Deposit LDP. 

 
Table 1  
 
European Sites within Plan/ Proposal Boundary 

 
 
Designation 

 Cardiff Beech Woods 
 Severn Estuary 
 Severn Estuary 
 Severn Estuary 

SAC 
SAC 
SPA 
Ramsar 

  
3.2 Plans, programmes and projects can have spatial implications that extend 

beyond the intended plan boundaries.  In particular, it is recognised that 
distance in itself is not a definitive guide to the likelihood or severity of an 
impact (inaccessibility/ remoteness is typically more relevant) as factors such 
as the prevailing wind direction, river flow direction, and ground water flow 
direction will all have a bearing on the relative distance at which an impact 
can occur.  This means that a plan directing development some distance 
away from a European Site could still have effects on the site and therefore, 
needs to be considered as part of the screening process.  

 
3.3 Taking into account the potential for transboundary impacts, screening of the 

HRA of the Deposit LDP has identified four European Sites that lie within the 
influence of the Cardiff Council LDP.  These sites are outlined in Table 2 
below and detailed information for the European Sites is provided in Appendix 
1 of the HRA of the Deposit LDP.   

 
Table 2 
 
European Sites Within 
Search Area of Plan Area 

 
Designation  

 
Distance from Plan/ 
Proposal Boundary 
(approx Km) 

Aberbargoed Grasslands SAC 14 
Blackmill Woodlands SAC 14 
River Usk SAC 6 
River Wye SAC 30 

 

Page 2057



 

  

 
 

Consideration of Other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
3.4 It is a requirement of Article 6(3) of the Habitats Directive that HRA examines 

the potential for plans and projects to have a significant effect either 
individually or ‘in combination’ with other plans, programmes & projects 
(PPPs).  Undertaking an assessment of other PPPs for the Cardiff Council 
LDP required a pragmatic approach given the extensive range of PPPs 
underway in the surrounding region.  The approach taken was cognisant of 
the emphasis in the forthcoming WG guidance, that considering the potential 
for in-combination effects is core to delivering robust/ precautionary HRA.5   

 
3.5 When considering other PPPs attention was focused on those aimed at 

delivering planned spatial growth with the most significant being those that 
seek to provide, housing, employment and infrastructure.  The review 
considered the most relevant plans including: 

 
 The Wales Spatial Plan (update) 2008 
 Local Development Plans in South East Wales neighbouring authorities 
 Waste and Mineral Strategies for South East Wales and neighbouring 

authorities 
 Regional Transport Plans - where relevant and/or major development 

schemes  
 Catchment Abstraction Management Plans - where relevant to the 

designated sites under consideration 
 Water Resource Management Plans 

 
3.6 The potential effects of these plans are reviewed in detail at Appendix 9 of the 

HRA of the Deposit LDP and the potential for these effects to act ‘in-
combination’ with effects identified from Cardiff Council Deposit LDP are 
considered in the screening assessment (Appendix 10 of the HRA of the 
Deposit LDP).   

 
Assessment of Potential impacts 

 
3.7 Each  policy or section of the Deposit LDP which is the subject of a MAC, is 

considered against each of the criteria  in Section 2.4 above.  The results of 
this analysis are set out in Appendix 1, below. 

 
 
4.0 CONCLUSIONS 
 
4.1 This report outlines the methods used and the findings arising from the 

screening stage of the Habitats Regulations Appraisal undertaken for the 
Matters Arising Changes Schedule 

 
4.2 The HRA considered eight European Sites within the influence of the Deposit 

LDP 
 

                                                 
5 The review also draws on work being undertaken on behalf of the South East Wales Strategic Planning 
Group (SEWSPG) to build a resource kit of information and analysis to support HRA in the region. 

Page 2058



 

  

4.3 Based on the information considered, the findings of the assessment 
indicate that the new Matters Arising Changes to the City of Cardiff 
Council Deposit LDP in implementation will not have a likely significant 
effect on the European sites considered as part of the HRA screening 
and will not require full Appropriate Assessment under the Habitats 
Regulations.   

 
4.4 This conclusion is dependent in part upon the implementation of policies in 

the Deposit LDP which would serve to counteract adverse effects arising from 
policies screened-in to this HRA. 

Page 2059



 

  

Appendix 1:  Consideration of MACs against HRA Screening Criteria 
 
 
 
MAC 
Number 
 

 
Additional Hearing 
Session/Action Point 

 
Proposed Change October 2015 

HRA Screening Criteria 

Inspector 
MAC1 

Policy KP3 (A): Green 
Belt 

Delete Policy KP3 (A) and reasoned justification and replace with new 
KP3(A) Green Wedge 
 
Numerous amendements throughout the LDP to delete reference to 
Green Belt and insert Green Wedge instead. 

The change relates to the insertion of new 
text into the policy which does not alter its 
potential to impact upon a European Site, 
beyond that assessed in the original HRA of 
the deposit LDP.  Over the lifetime of the 
plan, these changes will not alter the impact 
that this plan has upon any European 
designated sites. 
 

MAC4 Hearing Session 24: 
Miscellaneous 
Matters 
Action Point 4 
 

Minor amendment to point iii, to delete reference to a table elsewhere 
in the policy. 
 

The change is minor, and relates to spelling, 
grammar, or accuracy or clarification of 
wording, which do not alter the meaning of 
the policy 

MAC5 Hearing Session 24: 
Miscellaneous 
Matters 
Action Point 5, 
Action Point 6, 
Action Point 7, 
Action Point 8 

Minor amendment to paragraph 10 of proposed new PolicyKP2 (C) 
 
Minor amendment to 9 of proposed new Policy KP 2 (D&E) 
 
Minor amendment to paragraph 2 of the reasoned justification of new 
Policy KP 2 (F), in relation to ownership of the site 
 
Delete reference to the disused railway line in KP2 (F), which was 
included in error in the origibal text 

 
The changes are  minor, and relate to 
spelling, grammar, or accuracy or 
clarification of wording, which do not alter 
the meaning of the policy 

P
age 2060



 

  

 
MAC 
Number 
 

 
Additional Hearing 
Session/Action Point 

 
Proposed Change October 2015 

HRA Screening Criteria 

MAC8 Hearing Session 25: 
Transport and 
Infrastructure 
Action Point 1,  

Amend paragraph 4.89 of Policy KP 6  New Infrastructure, adjusting the 
wording of the policy and clarifying the scope of potential 
infrastructure requirements  
 
 
 
 

The change relates to the insertion of new 
text into the policy which does not alter its 
potential to impact upon a European Site, 
beyond that assessed in the original HRA of 
the deposit LDP. 
The change is minor, and relates to spelling, 
grammar, or accuracy or clarification of 
wording, which do not alter the meaning of 
the policy 

MAC10 Hearing Session 25: 
Transport and 
Infrastructure 
Action Point 3 

Amend proposed new paragraph after existing paragraph 4.105 of 
Policy KP8, with minor changes to wording 
 
  

The change is minor, and relates to spelling, 
grammar, or accuracy or clarification of 
wording, which do not alter the meaning of 
the policy 

MAC11 Hearing Session 23: 
Minerals 
Action Point 6 

Amend Policy KP11: Minerals And Aggregates to include clarifications 
to wording 
 
 

The change is minor, and relates to spelling, 
grammar, or accuracy or clarification of 
wording, which do not alter the meaning of 
the policy 

MAC23 Hearing Session 24: 
Miscellaneous 
Matters 
Action Point 2 
 
 

Amend paragraphs 5.52 and 5.53 of the reasoned justification to Policy 
H8 to reinsert references to WG guidance and requirement in PPW to 
allocate sites to meet identified need for Gypsy and Traveller 
accommodation.  Amendments do not propose specific sites. 
 

This change proposes the inclusion of factual 
details, which do not promote any new 
development. 
 

MAC34 Hearing Session 26 
Monitoring 
Framework 

Insert new sentence regarding SPG at the end of paragraph 5.186 of 
the reasoned justification to Policy EN12 Renewable Energy and Low 
Carbon Technologies.  This sentence explains that SPG guidance will be 

The change relates to the insertion of new 
text into the policy which does not alter its 
potential to impact upon a European Site, 

P
age 2061



 

  

 
MAC 
Number 
 

 
Additional Hearing 
Session/Action Point 

 
Proposed Change October 2015 

HRA Screening Criteria 

Action Point 2 produce, and does not promote Renewable Energy and Low Carbon 
Technologies beyond that which has already been assessed in the HRA 
of the original policies. 
 
 
 

beyond that assessed in the original HRA of 
the deposit LDP. 
 

MAC39 Hearing Session 24: 
Miscellaneous 
Matters 
Action Point 9 

Amend reasoned justification to proposed new Policy T9 Cardiff City 
Region ‘Metro’ network to update reference to national guidance. 
This amendment does not specify new infrastructure. 
 

The change is minor, and relates to spelling, 
grammar, or accuracy or clarification of 
wording, which do not alter the meaning of 
the policy. 
 

MAC40 Hearing Session 22: 
Retail Provision 
Within Strategic Sites 
 

Amend Policy R1: Retail Hierarchy to reflect retail provision within 
Strategic Sites.  This amendment does not specify locations for retail 
development. 
 
 

This change proposes the inclusion of factual 
details, which do not promote any new 
development  

MAC41 Hearing Session 22: 
Retail Provision 
Within Strategic Sites 
 

Amend Policy R7: Retail Provision within Strategic Sites to remove cross 
reference with out –of-centre retail tests. 
 

 

The change relates to the deletion of 
existing text from the policy which does not 
alter its potential to impact upon a 
European Site. 
 

MAC61 Hearing Session 23: 
Minerals 
Action Point 4 

Amend Policy M2: Preferred Order Of Mineral Resource Release and 
reasoned justification.  These changes amend the preferred order of 
release and do not set out new locations for specific mineral workings 
 
 

The change relates to the deletion of 
existing text from the policy which does not 
alter its potential to impact upon a 
European Site. 
 

P
age 2062



 

  

 
MAC 
Number 
 

 
Additional Hearing 
Session/Action Point 

 
Proposed Change October 2015 

HRA Screening Criteria 

The change relates to the insertion of new 
text into the policy which does not alter its 
potential to impact upon a European Site, 
beyond that assessed in the original HRA of 
the deposit LDP. 
 

MAC67 Hearing Session 23: 
Minerals 
Action Point 5 

Insert new paragraph at the end of the reasoned justification to new 
Policy M7 Safeguarding of Sand and Gravel, Coal and Limestone 
Resources 
 
 
 

The change relates to the insertion of new 
text into the policy which does not alter its 
potential to impact upon a European Site, 
beyond that assessed in the original HRA of 
the deposit LDP. 
 

 
 

P
age 2063



 

  

REFERENCES / BIBLIOGRAPHY 
 
 
Legislation 
 
European Communities (1979) Council Directive 79/409/EEC on the conservation of wild birds the ‘Birds Directive’. 
 
European Communities (1992) Council Directive 92/43/EEC on the conservation of natural habitats and wild fauna and flora the ‘Habitats 
Directive’.  
 
Ramsar Convention on Wetlands (1971) – Intergovernmental Treaty. 
 
The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations, 2010. 
 
The Offshore Marine Conservation (Natural Habitats, &c) Regulations 2007. 
 
Welsh Assembly Government (WG) Guidance 
 
Technical Advice Note (TAN) 5 (WG, 2009) Nature Conservation and Planning: Annex 6 to TAN5 (WG, 2009) The appraisal of development 
plans in Wales under the provisions of the Habitats Regulations. 
 
WG Habitats Directive Weblink. 
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/environmentcountryside/consmanagement/conservationbiodiversity/habitatdirective/?lang=en  
 
 
European Union Guidance 
 
European Commission (EC) (2000) Managing Natura 2000 Sites: The Provisions of Article 6 of the ‘Habitats’ Directive 92/43/EEC. 
 
EC (2001) Assessment of Plans and Projects Significantly Affecting Natura 2000 sites: methodological Guidance on the Provisions of Article 
6(3) and (4) of the Habitats Directive 92/43/EEC. 
 

P
age 2064



 

  

EC (2007) Guidance Document on Article 6(4) of the ‘Habitats Directive’ 92/43/EEC. Clarification of Concepts of: Alternative Solutions, 
Imperative Reasons of Overriding Public Interest, Compensatory Measures, Overall Coherence, Opinion of the Commission.  
 
 
Other Relevant Reference & Guidance Sources 
 
Hosking R & Tyldesley D (2006) How the scale of effects on internationally designated nature conservation sites in Britain has been considered 
in decision making: A review of authoritative decisions. 
 
Tyldesley, D., (2009) Draft Guidance for Plan Making Authorities in Wales: The Appraisal of Plans under the Habitats Directive, for Countryside 
Council for Wales CCW Bangor. 
 
WG (2004) Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) of Unitary Development Plans – Interim Good Practice Guide 
 
WG (2006) Local Development Plans Wales. 
 
TraCC Regional Transport Plan 2009,  
 
SEWTA Rail Strategy Study Jan 2006  
 
South East Wales Transport Alliance: Regional Transport Plan 2009  
 
Welsh Coastal Tourism Strategy 2008  
 
Merchant Shipping (Oil Pollution Preparedness Response and Co-operation Convention) Regulations 1998, SI 1998 No 1056.  
 
Core Management Plan (Including Conservation Objectives) for Cardiff Beech Woods Special Area of Conservation (SAC).  
December 2008.  Countryside Council for Wales.  
 
Revised Draft Water Resources Management Plan.  October 2011. Dŵr Cymru Welsh Water 

 
The Usk Catchment Abstraction Management Strategy.  March 2007.  Environment Agency Wales. 

P
age 2065



 

  

 
People, Places, Futures: The Wales Spatial Plan (Update 2008).  Welsh Assembly Government. 
 
 
European Site Specific Information 
 
Joint Nature Conservation Committee (JNCC) - Protected Sites: 
http://www.jncc.gov.uk/page-4  
 
Browse SACs on map: 
http://www.jncc.gov.uk/page-1515  
 
Browse SPAs on map:  
http://www.jncc.gov.uk/page-2598  
 
Air Pollution Information System (APIS): 
http://www.apis.ac.uk/  
 
UK Water Company Boundaries: 
http://www.water.org.uk/home/our-members/find-water-company  
 
European Site Specific Information Wales 
 
Countryside Council for Wales (NRW) - Site Management Plans: 
http://www.ccw.gov.uk/landscape--wildlife/protecting-our-landscape/special-sites-project.aspx  
 
NRW - Protected Sites Map:  
http://www.ccw.gov.uk/interactive-maps/protected-sites-map.aspx  
 
NRW - Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI): 
http://www.ccw.gov.uk/landscape--wildlife/protecting-our-landscape/special-landscapes--sites/protected-landscapes/sssis/sssi--report.aspx  
 

P
age 2066



 

  

Catchment Abstraction Management Strategies (CAMS) Wales: 
http://www.environment-agency.gov.uk/business/topics/water/119927.aspx  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 2067



 

  

 

 
 

© Enfusion Ltd 
Treenwood House 

Rowden Lane 
Bradford on Avon 

BA15 2AU 
T: 01225 867112 
F: 01225 867115 

michelle@enfusion.co.uk  
www.enfusion.co.uk 

P
age 2068



  

  

 
 
 
 
  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
South East Wales  
Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG) 

                     

 
 

 
 

HABITATS REGULATIONS APPRAISAL 
of  

Matters Arising Changes Schedule 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

The City of Cardiff Council 
June 2015 

Page 2069



  

  

 
 

HABITATS REGULATIONS APPRAISAL REPORT 
of 

Matters Arising Changes Schedule 
 
 

The City of Cardiff Council 
 

 

 

 

 
 
date: 
 

2nd June 2015 

issue no.: 
 

1 
 

prepared by: 
 

Matthew Harris 

quality 
assurance: 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
The format of this report is based upon a toolkit which was developed to provide 

information and analysis to support the South East Wales Strategic Planning Group 
(SEWSPG) authorities with the process of Habitats Regulations Appraisal as required 

by the Habitats Directive.  The approach outlined reflects official Welsh Assembly 
Government (WG) guidance and Countryside Council for Wales (NRW) advice, but does 
not have official status.  Enfusion Ltd does not accept liability for use of the toolkit or 

decisions that are made based upon it. 
(December 2010, Update) 

 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 2070



 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                        1/31           Enfusion 

  

 
City of Cardiff Council 

Matters Arising Changes Schedule 
 

Habitats Regulations Appraisal Report 
 
CONTENTS 
 

 SUMMARY 
 
1 INTRODUCTION 

Requirement for Habitats Regulations Appraisal 
Guidance for Habitats Regulations Appraisal/Appropriate Assessment 
Consultation  
Purpose & Structure of Report 

 
2 METHOD 
  
3 SCREENING 
 
4 CONCLUSIONS  

 
REFERENCES/BIBLIOGRAPHY  
 
TABLES 
 
1. European Sites within Cardiff boundary 
2. European Sites within search area buffer zone 

 
 APPENDICES 
 
 APPENDIX 1: Consideration of MACs against HRA screening criteria 
 
 

Page 2071



 

  

SUMMARY 
 
 
0.1 A Habitats Regulations Appraisal (HRA) of spatial development plans is a 

requirement of the Habitats Directive (92/43/EEC) as set out in the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (as amended).   

 
0.2 This report details the HRA process for the Matters Arising Changes 

Schedule (MAC), the methods and findings, and the conclusions of the 
assessment.    

 
0.3 An assessment was made of the likelihood of significant impact of the MAC 

on eight international sites in and around Cardiff, namely Cardiff Beech 
Woods SAC, Severn Estuary SAC, SPA, Ramsar Site, River Usk SAC,  
River Wye SAC, Blackmill Woodlands SAC and Aberbargoed Grasslands 
SAC. 

 
0.4 None of the MACs were judged to have the potential to affect any of these 

sites, above or beyond those potential impacts already considered in the HRA 
of the Deposit LDP. 

 
0.5 Therefore, none of these MACs are likely to have a significant effect on any of 

the international sites either alone or in combination with other plans, projects 
or programmes. 

 
0.6 The Habitats Regulations Appraisals of the LDPs of neighbouring Local 

Authorities have indicated that in the absence of direct effects, in-combination 
effects with other plans are not likely to be significant at the sites considered 
in the light of the evidence available. 

 
0.7  The LDP can proceed without further reference to this section of the Habitats 

Regulations. 
 

Page 2072



 

  

 
1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 Cardiff Council is currently progressing a Local Development Plan (LDP), and 

has undertaken Habitats Regulations Appraisal (HRA) of that plan in line with 
the requirements set by the Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 20101 (as amended) [referred to subsequently as The Habitats 
Regulations]. 

 
1.2 The HRA of the Deposit LDP concluded that the Deposit LDP was not likely to 

have a significant effect upon any of the European Sites considered, either 
alone, or in combination with other plans, projects or programmes in the 
region. 

 
1.3 The present HRA report considers the effect of the Matters Arising Changes 

Schedule upon the policies and proposals of the Deposit LDP, and whether 
those changes would give rise to potential effects upon European Sites above 
or beyond those already assessed.  
 
Requirement for Habitats Regulations Appraisal 

 
1.4 The European Directive (92/43/EEC) on the Conservation of Natural Habitats 

and Wild Flora and Fauna (‘The Habitats Directive’) protects habitats and 
species of European nature conservation importance.  The Habitats Directive 
establishes a network of internationally important sites designated for their 
ecological status.  These are referred to as Natura 2000 (N2K) sites or 
European Sites, and comprise Special Areas of Conservation (SACs) and 
Special Protection Areas (SPAs) [which are classified under the Council 
Directive 79/409/EEC on the conservation of wild birds, the ‘Birds Directive’].  

 
1.5 Articles 6 (3) and 6 (4) of the Habitats Directive require HRA to be undertaken 

on proposed plans or projects which are not necessary for the management 
of the site but which are likely to have a significant effect on one or more 
European sites either individually, or in combination with other plans and 
projects.2  This requirement is set out in Regulation 102 of the Conservation 
of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (as amended) which require the 
application of HRA to all land use plans.  Welsh Government (WG) guidance 
also requires that Ramsar sites (which support internationally important 
wetland habitats) and are listed under the Convention on Wetlands of 
International Importance (Ramsar Convention 1971) are included within 
HRA/AA and that candidate SACs and proposed SPAs are treated as 
‘designated’ sites in the context of HRA.  In this report the term ‘European 
sites’ will be used when referring to SACs, cSACs, SPAs, pSPAs and Ramsar 
sites. 

 
1.6 The purpose of HRA is to assess the impacts of a land-use plan, in 

combination with the effects of other plans and projects, against the 
conservation objectives of a European Site and to ascertain whether it would 

                                                 
1 The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (as amended) consolidate all the various 
amendments made to the 1994 Regulations in respect of England and Wales. 
2  Determining whether an effect is ‘significant’ is undertaken in relation to the designated interest 
features and conservation objectives of the Natura 2000 sites. If an impact on any conservation 
objective is assessed as being adverse then it should be treated as significant.  Where information is 
limited the precautionary principle applies and significant effects should be assumed until evidence 
exists to the contrary.  

Page 2073



 

  

adversely affect the integrity3 of that site.  Where significant negative effects 
are identified, alternative options or mitigation measures should be examined 
to avoid any potential damaging effects.  The scope of the HRA is dependent 
on the location, size and significance of the proposed plan or project and the 
sensitivities and nature of the interest features of the European Sites under 
consideration.  

 
Guidance for Habitats Regulations Appraisal/Appropriate Assessment  

 
1.7 Guidance for HRA is contained in WG’s Technical Advice Note 5: Nature 

Conservation and Planning, Annex 6 ‘The Appraisal of Development Plans in 
Wales under the Provisions of the Habitats Regulations’ (Sept 2009).  NRW 
(as CCW) has also produced draft guidance4 to assist plan-making authorities 
to comply with the requirements of the Habitats Directive. 
 

 
Consultation  

 
1.8 The Habitats Regulations require the plan making/competent authority to 

consult the appropriate nature conservation statutory body [Natural 
Resources Wales (NRW)] if undertaking an Appropriate Assessment.  
Consultation on the approach to this HRA screening, including advice on 
which European sites should be considered within the area of search, was 
undertaken with NRW following the HRA of the Preferred Strategy and  
Deposit LDP, and their consultation responses were taken into account, 
where appropriate.  The Habitats Regulations leave consultation with other 
bodies and the public to the discretion of the plan-making authority.   

 
 
2.0 METHOD 
 
2.1 Fuller details of the HRA methodology are set out in the HRA to the Deposit 

LDP 
 
2.2 This report considers only Matters Arising Changes (MACs) as set out in the 

‘City of Cardiff Council Draft Matters Arising Changes Schedule’ May 2015. 
The changes listed in that schedule are categorised according to the criteria 
set out below.  Where further consideration is indicated, that change would be 
subject to the Policy Screening Template as set out in Appendix 2 of the 
original HRA of the deposit LDP. 

 
2.3 The HRA of the Deposit LDP concluded that the deposit plan was not likely to 

have a significant effect upon any European Sites, subject to implementation 
of polices within the plan which were designed in part to offset any potential 
impact.   

 
2.4 MACs are categorised according to one or more of the following criteria:- 
 

                                                 
3 Integrity is described as the sites’ coherence, ecological structure and function across the whole area 
that enables it to sustain the habitat, complex of habitats and/or levels of populations of species for 
which it was classified, (ODPM, 2005).  
4 Tyldesley, D., 2009, Draft Guidance for Plan Making Authorities in Wales: The Appraisal of Plans 
under the Habitats Directive for Countryside Council for Wales CCW Bangor (Revised April 2010). 

Page 2074



 

  

• The change will benefit biodiversity and may have a positive effect upon 
European Sites 

 
• The change does not relate to a specific policy, and therefore cannot affect 

any European Sites when the LDP is implemented. 
 
• This change proposes the inclusion of factual details, which do not promote 

any new development. 
 

• The change is minor, and relates to spelling, grammar, or accuracy or 
clarification of wording, which do not alter the meaning of the policy. 

• The change relates to restructuring or reorganising the policy, which does not 
significantly alter the meaning of the policy. 

• The change relates to the insertion of new text into the policy which does not 
alter its potential to impact upon a European Site, beyond that assessed in 
the original HRA of the deposit LDP. 

• The change relates to the insertion of new text into the policy which increases 
potential of that policy to impact upon a European Site, beyond that in the 
original HRA of the deposit LDP.  Therefore this change requires further 
consideration. 

• The change relates to the deletion of existing text from the policy which does 
not alter its potential to impact upon a European Site. 

• The change relates to the deletion of existing text from the policy which 
increases its potential to impact upon a European Site, beyond that assessed 
in the original HRA of the deposit LDP.  This arises because that wording, 
when implemented, would have counteracted or offset any impacts upon 
European Sites arising from other policies elsewhere in the plan.  Therefore 
this change requires further consideration. 

• The change relates to the creation of a new policy which does not have the 
potential to impact upon a European Site. 

• The change relates to the creation of a new policy which has the potential to 
impact upon a European Site, and which therefore requires further more 
detailed consideration. 

• The change relates to deletion of an existing policy which does not alter the 
potential of the LDP to impact upon a European Site, beyond that assessed in 
the original HRA of the deposit LDP. 

• The change relates to deletion of an existing policy which increases the 
potential of the LDP to impact upon a European Site,  beyond that in the 
original HRA of the deposit LDP.  This arises because that policy contained 
wording which, when implemented, would have counteracted or offset any 
impacts upon European Sites arising from other policies elsewhere in the plan.  
Therefore this change requires further consideration. 

Page 2075



 

  

 
  
3.0 SCREENING 
 

Identification of European Sites & characterisation 
 
3.1 Four designated European Sites lie within the Cardiff boundary, and these are 

set out in Table 1 below.  Detailed site characterisation information for the 
sites, is provided in Appendix 1 of the HRA of the Deposit LDP. 

 
Table 1  
 
European Sites within Plan/ Proposal Boundary 

 
 
Designation 

 Cardiff Beech Woods 
 Severn Estuary 
 Severn Estuary 
 Severn Estuary 

SAC 
SAC 
SPA 
Ramsar 

  
3.2 Plans, programmes and projects can have spatial implications that extend 

beyond the intended plan boundaries.  In particular, it is recognised that 
distance in itself is not a definitive guide to the likelihood or severity of an 
impact (inaccessibility/ remoteness is typically more relevant) as factors such 
as the prevailing wind direction, river flow direction, and ground water flow 
direction will all have a bearing on the relative distance at which an impact 
can occur.  This means that a plan directing development some distance 
away from a European Site could still have effects on the site and therefore, 
needs to be considered as part of the screening process.  

 
3.3 Taking into account the potential for transboundary impacts, screening of the 

HRA of the Deposit LDP has identified four European Sites that lie within the 
influence of the Cardiff Council LDP.  These sites are outlined in Table 2 
below and detailed information for the European Sites is provided in Appendix 
1 of the HRA of the Deposit LDP.   

 
Table 2 
 
European Sites Within 
Search Area of Plan Area 

 
Designation  

 
Distance from Plan/ 
Proposal Boundary 
(approx Km) 

Aberbargoed Grasslands SAC 14 
Blackmill Woodlands SAC 14 
River Usk SAC 6 
River Wye SAC 30 

 

Page 2076



 

  

 
 

Consideration of Other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
3.4 It is a requirement of Article 6(3) of the Habitats Directive that HRA examines 

the potential for plans and projects to have a significant effect either 
individually or ‘in combination’ with other plans, programmes & projects 
(PPPs).  Undertaking an assessment of other PPPs for the Cardiff Council 
LDP required a pragmatic approach given the extensive range of PPPs 
underway in the surrounding region.  The approach taken was cognisant of 
the emphasis in the forthcoming WG guidance, that considering the potential 
for in-combination effects is core to delivering robust/ precautionary HRA.5   

 
3.5 When considering other PPPs attention was focused on those aimed at 

delivering planned spatial growth with the most significant being those that 
seek to provide, housing, employment and infrastructure.  The review 
considered the most relevant plans including: 

 
 The Wales Spatial Plan (update) 2008 
 Local Development Plans in South East Wales neighbouring authorities 
 Waste and Mineral Strategies for South East Wales and neighbouring 

authorities 
 Regional Transport Plans - where relevant and/or major development 

schemes  
 Catchment Abstraction Management Plans - where relevant to the 

designated sites under consideration 
 Water Resource Management Plans 

 
3.6 The potential effects of these plans are reviewed in detail at Appendix 9 of the 

HRA of the Deposit LDP and the potential for these effects to act ‘in-
combination’ with effects identified from Cardiff Council Deposit LDP are 
considered in the screening assessment (Appendix 10 of the HRA of the 
Deposit LDP).   

 
Assessment of Potential impacts 

 
3.7 Each  policy or section of the Deposit LDP which is the subject of a MAC, is 

considered against each of the criteria  in Section 2.4 above.  The results of 
this analysis are set out in Appendix 1, below. 

 
 
4.0 CONCLUSIONS 
 
4.1 This report outlines the methods used and the findings arising from the 

screening stage of the Habitats Regulations Appraisal undertaken for the 
Matters Arising Changes Schedule 

 
4.2 The HRA considered eight European Sites within the influence of the Deposit 

LDP 
 

                                                 
5 The review also draws on work being undertaken on behalf of the South East Wales Strategic Planning 
Group (SEWSPG) to build a resource kit of information and analysis to support HRA in the region. 

Page 2077



 

  

4.3 Based on the information considered, the findings of the assessment 
indicate that the Matters Arising Changes to the City of Cardiff Council 
Deposit LDP in implementation will not have a likely significant effect on 
the European sites considered as part of the HRA screening and will not 
require full Appropriate Assessment under the Habitats Regulations.   

 
4.4 This conclusion is dependent in part upon the implementation of policies in 

the Deposit LDP which would serve to counteract adverse effects arising from 
policies screened-in to this HRA. 

Page 2078



 

  

Appendix 1:  Consideration of MACs against HRA Screening Criteria 
 
MAC 
Number 

Deposit Policy /Para No Proposed Change HRA Screening Criteria 

Chapter 1:Introduction 
MAC1 1.1 – 1.19 Update and amend paragraphs 1.1 – 

1.19 
 

 
 
 

The change does not relate to a specific policy, and therefore cannot 
affect any European Sites when the LDP is implemented. 
 

MAC2 New paragraph Insert new paragraph in the 
Introduction after existing paragraph 
1.19 Other Assessment Processes. 
 
 

The change does not relate to a specific policy, and therefore cannot 
affect any European Sites when the LDP is implemented. 
 

Chapter 2: The Cardiff Context and Key Issues the Plan must Address 
MAC3 2.1 (page 21) Key Environmental trends and issues 

 
 

The change is minor, and relates to spelling, grammar, or accuracy or 
clarification of wording, which do not alter the meaning of the policy. 

 
Chapter 4: Strategy, Key Policies and Key Diagram 
MAC4 KP1: Level of Growth Replace existing Policy KP 1: Level of 

Growth with revised KP1 
 
Please see Appendix One of this 
schedule for amended KP 1 

The change relates to the insertion of new text into the policy which 
does not alter its potential to impact upon a European Site, beyond 
that assessed in the original HRA of the deposit LDP. 
The change relates to the deletion of existing text from the policy 
which does not alter its potential to impact upon a European Site. 
Taken together, these changes do not increase the level of growth, 
nor do they propose new locations for growth, beyond that proposed 
in the Deposit LDP, which was subject to HRA. 

MAC5 Policy KP2 Strategic Sites KP2 Amend Policy KP2:Strategic Sites and The change relates to restructuring or reorganising the policy, which 

P
age 2079



 

  

MAC 
Number 

Deposit Policy /Para No Proposed Change HRA Screening Criteria 

New Key Policies, KP2(A) to 
KP2(H) 
 

reasoned justification and insert new 
policies KP2A to H after existing KP2 
 
Please see Appendix Two of the MAC 
schedule for new Policies KP2(A) – 
KP2(H) 
 
Policy KP2 
 
New paragraphs to be inserted after 
existing paragraph 4.54 
Delete existing paragraphs 4.55 to 4.67 
relating to Strategic Site H as these 
matters will now be covered by 
proposed new KP2(H) 

 

does not significantly alter the meaning of the policy. 
 
 
The change relates to the insertion of new text into the policy which 
does not alter its potential to impact upon a European Site, beyond 
that assessed in the original HRA of the deposit LDP. 
The change relates to the deletion of existing text from the policy 
which does not alter its potential to impact upon a European Site. – 
The deleted section includes the sentence ‘Additionally, the adjoining 
Estuary is a European designated site so run-off issues and disturbance 
will be particularly sensitive.’  However, this is replaced in New Policy 
KP2(H) by the sentence ‘Run-off will enter the River Severn Estuary, a 
European designated site so drainage and potential disturbance to 
birds will need to be suitably addressed.’   
 

MAC6 KP4: Master planning 
Approach 
Paragraphs 4.84 – 4.85 

Amend reasoned justification of KP4: 
Masterplanning approach 

 
 

The change relates to the deletion of existing text from the policy 
which does not alter its potential to impact upon a European Site. 
The change relates to the insertion of new text into the policy which 
does not alter its potential to impact upon a European Site, beyond 
that assessed in the original HRA of the deposit LDP. 
Taken together, these changes reflect the embedding of the 
Masterplanning Framework document into the LDP, which does not 
alter the conclusion of the HRA of the LDP. 

MAC7 KP5: Good Quality and 
Sustainable Design 

Amend criterion (ix) of Policy KP5: 
Good Quality and Sustainable Design 
 
  

The change is minor, and relates to spelling, grammar, or accuracy or 
clarification of wording, which do not alter the meaning of the policy. 

P
age 2080



 

  

MAC 
Number 

Deposit Policy /Para No Proposed Change HRA Screening Criteria 

 
MAC8 Policy KP6: New 

Infrastructure 
 

Amend Policy KP 6 and reasoned 
justification 
 
 
 

The change relates to the deletion of existing text from the policy 
which does not alter its potential to impact upon a European Site. 
The change relates to the insertion of new text into the policy which 
does not alter its potential to impact upon a European Site, beyond 
that assessed in the original HRA of the deposit LDP. 
The changes include the insertion of a bullet point ‘Flood mitigation / 
defences’, which may conceivably refer to sea defences along the 
Severn Estuary Foreshore, which may conceivably lead to an effect 
upon the Severn Estuary designations.  However, no detail is provided 
as to the actual location of these defences, so the effects of this 
insertion cannot be assessed further, and in any event, the potential 
need for sea defences were addressed in paragraphs 4.57 to 4.61 of 
the deposit LDP, which was subject to HRA, which itself was 
considered acceptable by NRW. 

MAC9 Policy KP7 Planning 
Obligations 
Paragraphs 4.98 and 4.101 

Amend KP 7 and paragraph reasoned 
justification 
 
 

The change is minor, and relates to spelling, grammar, or accuracy or 
clarification of wording, which do not alter the meaning of the policy. 
 

MAC10 Policy KP8 new paragraph 
and amendments to 4.117 

Insert new paragraph after existing 
paragraph 4.105 and amend paragraph 
4.117 of Policy KP8. 
 
New paragraph after existing 
paragraph 4.105 
 

The change will benefit biodiversity and may have a positive effect 
upon European Sites, by reducing the effects of pollution arising from 
motorised vehicle traffic. 
 

MAC11 KP11: Minerals And 
Aggregates  

Amend Policy KP11 and the reasoned 
justification 

The change relates to the insertion of new text into the policy which 
does not alter its potential to impact upon a European Site, beyond 

P
age 2081



 

  

MAC 
Number 

Deposit Policy /Para No Proposed Change HRA Screening Criteria 

Paragraph 4.141 
 

 
 

that assessed in the original HRA of the deposit LDP. 
The change relates to the deletion of existing text from the policy 
which does not alter its potential to impact upon a European Site. 
Taken together, these changes do not alter the potential for impact of 
this policy upon any European Sites, as assessed in the original HRA of 
the Deposit LDP. 
 

MAC12 Policy KP12 Waste 
Paragraphs 4.144, 4.145  
 

Amend Policy KP 12 and the reasoned 
justification 
 
 
 

The change relates to the insertion of new text into the policy which 
does not alter its potential to impact upon a European Site, beyond 
that assessed in the original HRA of the deposit LDP. 
The change relates to the deletion of existing text from the policy 
which does not alter its potential to impact upon a European Site. 
 

MAC13 Policy KP13: Responding to 
Evidenced Social Needs 

Amend Policy KP13 and reasoned 
justification 
 
Insert new paragraph after existing 
paragraph 4.149 
 

The change is minor, and relates to spelling, grammar, or accuracy or 
clarification of wording, which do not alter the meaning of the policy. 
The change relates to the insertion of new text into the policy which 
does not alter its potential to impact upon a European Site, beyond 
that assessed in the original HRA of the deposit LDP. 
 

MAC14 KP15 Climate Change 
Paragraph 4.167 

Amend Policy KP15 and paragraph 
4.167 of the reasoned justification 
 

The change is minor, and relates to spelling, grammar, or accuracy or 
clarification of wording, which do not alter the meaning of the policy 

MAC15 Policy KP16 Green 
Infrastructure 

Amend Policy KP16 
 
 

The change is minor, and relates to spelling, grammar, or accuracy or 
clarification of wording, which do not alter the meaning of the policy 

MAC16 Policy KP17 Built Heritage 
Paragraphs 4.174, 4.176, 
4.178, 4.179 

Amend Policy KP17 
 

 

The change is minor, and relates to spelling, grammar, or accuracy or 
clarification of wording, which do not alter the meaning of the policy 

P
age 2082



 

  

MAC 
Number 

Deposit Policy /Para No Proposed Change HRA Screening Criteria 

MAC17 KP18: Natural Resources 
Paragraph 4.184 

Amend criterion (iv) and paragraph 
4.184 of Policy KP18 
 

The change is minor, and relates to spelling, grammar, or accuracy or 
clarification of wording, which do not alter the meaning of the policy 

MAC18 Policy H1 Non Strategic 
Housing Sites 
Table 3 

Amend Table 3 of Policy H1 
 
 

The change is minor, and relates to spelling, grammar, or accuracy or 
clarification of wording, which do not alter the meaning of the policy.  
The changes to these non-strategic housing allocations are relatively 
small and are not likely to result in a different effect to that previously 
assessed in the HRA of the Deposit LDP 

MAC19 Policy H3 Affordable Housing 
Paragraphs 5.11, 5.12, 5.13 

Amend Policy H3 and paragraphs 5.11, 
5.12 and 5.13 of the reasoned 
justification. 
 
 

The change relates to the insertion of new text into the policy which 
does not alter its potential to impact upon a European Site, beyond 
that assessed in the original HRA of the deposit LDP. 
The change relates to the deletion of existing text from the policy 
which does not alter its potential to impact upon a European Site. 
 

MAC20 Policy H4: Change Of Use Of 
Residential Land Or 
Properties 
Paragraph 5.18 
 

Amend Policy H4 and paragraph 5.18 of 
the reasoned justification. 
 

 

The change relates to the insertion of new text into the policy which 
does not alter its potential to impact upon a European Site, beyond 
that assessed in the original HRA of the deposit LDP. 
The change relates to the deletion of existing text from the policy 
which does not alter its potential to impact upon a European Site. 
 

MAC21 Policy H5 Sub-Division or 
Conversion of Residential 
Properties 

Amend Policy H5 
 
 

The change is minor, and relates to spelling, grammar, or accuracy or 
clarification of wording, which do not alter the meaning of the policy. 
 

MAC22 Policy H7:Allocation Policy 
for Gypsy and Traveller Site 
Paragraphs 5.34 – 5.50 

Delete Policy H7 and reasoned 
justification 
 
 

The change relates to the deletion of existing text from the policy 
which does not alter its potential to impact upon a European Site.  
The policy relates to the location of Gypsy and Traveller allocations, so 
its deletion would not affect any European Sites. 
 

P
age 2083



 

  

MAC 
Number 

Deposit Policy /Para No Proposed Change HRA Screening Criteria 

MAC23 Policy H8 Sites for Gypsy and 
Traveller Caravans 
Paragraphs 5.52 and 5.53 

Amend criterion (ii) and paragraphs 
5.52 and 5.53 of the reasoned 
justification to Policy H8 
 

The change relates to the insertion of new text into the policy which 
does not alter its potential to impact upon a European Site, beyond 
that assessed in the original HRA of the deposit LDP. 
The change relates to the deletion of existing text from the policy 
which does not alter its potential to impact upon a European Site. 
The amendments refer to a Gypsy and Traveller site selection process 
to take place over the next 2 years, and as these sites have not yet 
been selected, their impacts upon any European Sites cannot yet be 
assessed.  Where individual sites come forward in the future for 
construction of Gypsy and Traveller sites, these will be subject to 
individual HRA at the project level. 

MAC24 Policy EC3: Alternative Use 
Of Employment Land And 
Premises 
Paragraphs 5.68 and 5.69 
 

Amend Policy EC3 and paragraphs 5.68 
and 5.69 of the reasoned justification 
 
 

The change relates to the insertion of new text into the policy which 
does not alter its potential to impact upon a European Site, beyond 
that assessed in the original HRA of the deposit LDP. 
The change relates to the deletion of existing text from the policy 
which does not alter its potential to impact upon a European Site. 
 

MAC25 New Policy Insert new policy and reasoned 
justification after paragraph 5.85 new 
policy to be referenced EC7 
 
 
 

The change relates to the creation of a new policy which does not 
have the potential to impact upon a European Site. 
The new policy does not specify any new locations, so its effects upon 
any European Sites cannot yet be assessed.  Where individual sites 
come forward in the future for employment use, these will be subject 
to individual HRA at the project level.  The new policy refers to sites 
allocated in policies KP2 and EC4; these have previously been 
assessed in the HRA of the Deposit LDP 

 
MAC26 Policy EN: 

Countryside Protection 
Amend Policy EN1 and the reasoned 
justification 

The change relates to restructuring or reorganising the policy, which 
does not significantly alter the meaning of the policy. 

P
age 2084



 

  

MAC 
Number 

Deposit Policy /Para No Proposed Change HRA Screening Criteria 

  
 

 

MAC27 Policy EN2 Conversion, 
Extension and Replacement 
Buildings in the Countryside 
Paragraph 5.96  
 

Amend Policy EN2 by deleting criterion 
v and to include criterion vi within an 
amended criterion ii remaining parts of 
the policy stays the same.  Amend 
paragraph 5.96 
 
 

The change relates to restructuring or reorganising the policy, which 
does not significantly alter the meaning of the policy. 
 

MAC28 Policy EN3 : Landscape 
Protection 
Paragraph 5.106 

Amend Policy EN3 and reasoned 
justification 
 
 

The change is minor, and relates to spelling, grammar, or accuracy or 
clarification of wording, which do not alter the meaning of the policy. 
 

MAC29 Policy EN4 River Valleys Amend paragraph 5.118 of Policy EN4 
 
 

The change is minor, and relates to spelling, grammar, or accuracy or 
clarification of wording, which do not alter the meaning of the policy. 
 

MAC30 Policy EN5: Local Nature 
Reserves And Non-Statutory 
Sites Of Nature Conservation 
And Geological Importance 
 

Rename and amend Policy EN5  and 
reasoned justification 
 

 

The change will benefit biodiversity and may have a positive effect 
upon European Sites 
 

MAC31 Policy EN6 Ecological 
Networks and Features of 
Importance for Biodiversity 
Paragraph 5.137 

Delete paragraph 5.137 of EN6 
 
 

 

The change relates to the deletion of existing text from the policy 
which does not alter its potential to impact upon a European Site. 
 

MAC32 Policy EN7: Priority Habitats 
And Species 
 

Amend Policy EN7 and reasoned 
justification 
 

The change will benefit biodiversity and may have a positive effect 
upon European Sites 
 

P
age 2085



 

  

MAC 
Number 

Deposit Policy /Para No Proposed Change HRA Screening Criteria 

 
MAC33 Policy EN9: Conservation of 

the Historic Environment: 
paragraphs 5.152, 5.153, 
5.155, 5.159 

Amend paragraphs 5.152, 5.153, 5.155 
and 5.159 of the reasoned justification 
to Policy EN9 
 

The change relates to the insertion of new text into the policy which 
does not alter its potential to impact upon a European Site, beyond 
that assessed in the original HRA of the deposit LDP. 

 
MAC34 EN12: Renewable Energy 

And Low Carbon 
Technologies 
Paragraphs 5.184, 5.186, 
5.187 

Amend Policy EN12 and reasoned 
justification 
 
 

The change is minor, and relates to spelling, grammar, or accuracy or 
clarification of wording, which do not alter the meaning of the policy. 
 

MAC35 EN13 Air, Noise, Light 
Pollution and Contaminated 
Land, Paragraph 5.208 

Amend title of Policy EN13 and 
paragraph 5.208 of the reasoned 
justification 
 
 

 
The change is minor, and relates to spelling, grammar, or accuracy or 
clarification of wording, which do not alter the meaning of the policy. 
 

MAC36 EN14: Flood Risk 
Paragraph 5.211 

 

Amend Policy EN14 and paragraph 
5.211 of the reasoned justification 
 

The change relates to the insertion of new text into the policy which 
does not alter its potential to impact upon a European Site, beyond 
that assessed in the original HRA of the deposit LDP. 
This new text clarifies and updates the policy in relation to current 
NRW flood risk management advice, and does not alter the impact of 
this policy upon European Sites as previously assessed by the HRA of 
the Deposit LDP. 

MAC37 Policy T1: Walking and Amend paragraph 5.221 of Policy T1 The change is minor, and relates to spelling, grammar, or accuracy or 

P
age 2086



 

  

MAC 
Number 

Deposit Policy /Para No Proposed Change HRA Screening Criteria 

Cycling 
Paragraph 5.221 

 
 

clarification of wording, which do not alter the meaning of the policy. 
 

MAC38 Policy T2: Strategic Rapid 
Transit And Bus Corridors 
 
 

Amend Policy T2 and reasoned 
justification 
 
T2: STRATEGIC RAPID TRANSIT AND 
BUS CORRIDORS 
 
 

The change will benefit biodiversity and may have a positive effect 
upon European Sites, by reducing the effects of pollution arising from 
motorised vehicle traffic. 
 
Bus route enhancements to not entail construction of new roads, and 
so are not likely to impact upon European Sites in this respect. 
 
The alignment and mode of rapid transit corridors and how they 
connect to and interchange with the public transport network is not 
yet known and cannot be defined precisely on a map.   Therefore the 
impacts of these rapid transit corridors cannot be fully assessed at this 
stage.  However, individual developments will be subject to HRA at 
the detailed project stage. 
 
The changes introduce a ‘Southern Bus Corridor’  which passes via the 
Cardiff Bay Barrage, which is close to the boundary of the Severn 
Estuary SAC/SPA/Ramsar.  However, this route is already accessible to 
traffic, and the road across the barrage is more than 200m away from 
the SPA boundary, which is the distance beyond which visual 
disturbance of birds is thought not to occur.  Therefore the potential 
for impact upon the Severn Estuary is not likely to be significant. 

MAC39 New Policy and reasoned 
justification 

Insert new policy to be referenced T9 
after existing paragraph 5.259 
 
 
 

The change will benefit biodiversity and may have a positive effect 
upon European Sites, by reducing the effects of pollution arising from 
motorised vehicle traffic. 
 
The alignment and mode of a ‘Metro’ network is not yet known and 

P
age 2087



 

  

MAC 
Number 

Deposit Policy /Para No Proposed Change HRA Screening Criteria 

cannot be defined precisely on a map.   Therefore the impacts of 
these rapid transit corridors cannot be fully assessed at this stage.  
However, individual developments will be subject to HRA at the 
detailed project stage. 

MAC40 New Policy and reasoned 
justification 

Insert new policy at the start of the 
Retail Section to be referenced R1 
 

The change relates to the creation of a new policy which does not 
have the potential to impact upon a European Site. 
 

MAC41 Policy R1 Retail Provision 
Within Strategic Sites 

Amend Policy R1  
 
i.  

The change is minor, and relates to spelling, grammar, or accuracy or 
clarification of wording, which do not alter the meaning of the policy. 

 
MAC42 Policy R3: Protected 

Shopping Frontages Para 
5.264 of  

Amend paragraph 5.264 of Policy R3 
 
 

The change is minor, and relates to spelling, grammar, or accuracy or 
clarification of wording, which do not alter the meaning of the policy. 
 

MAC43 Policy R4:Retail 
Development (Out of Centre) 
Paragraphs 5.271, 5.272, 
5.276 

Amend paragraph 5.271 and delete 
paragraphs 5.272 and 5.276 of the 
reasoned justification to Policy R4 
 
 

The change is minor, and relates to spelling, grammar, or accuracy or 
clarification of wording, which do not alter the meaning of the policy. 
The change relates to the deletion of existing text from the policy 
which does not alter its potential to impact upon a European Site 

MAC44 Policy R5 District Centres  Amend Policy R5  
 

  

The change relates to the insertion of new text into the policy which 
does not alter its potential to impact upon a European Site, beyond 
that assessed in the original HRA of the deposit LDP. 
 

MAC45 Policy R6 Local Centres Amend Policy R6 and insert new 
paragraph after existing paragraph 
5.295 

The change relates to the insertion of new text into the policy which 
does not alter its potential to impact upon a European Site, beyond 
that assessed in the original HRA of the deposit LDP. 
 

MAC46 Policy R7: Food and Drink 
Uses Paragraphs 5.299, 

Amend paragraph 5.299 and delete 
paragraph 5.303 of Policy R7 

The change relates to the deletion of existing text from the policy 
which does not alter its potential to impact upon a European Site. 

P
age 2088



 

  

MAC 
Number 

Deposit Policy /Para No Proposed Change HRA Screening Criteria 

5.303,    
 

MAC47 Policy R8 Protection Of Local 
Shopping Parades 
 

Delete Policy R8 and reasoned 
justification 
 
 

The change relates to deletion of an existing policy which does not 
alter the potential of the LDP to impact upon a European Site, beyond 
that assessed in the original HRA of the deposit LDP. 
 

MAC48 All Retail Policies Re-order and renumber retail policies 
 

The change relates to restructuring or reorganising the policy, which 
does not significantly alter the meaning of the policy. 
 

MAC49 Policy C1  Community Uses 
Paragraphs 5.311 and 5.316 
of  
 

Amend reasoned justification of Policy 
C1 and insert new paragraph after 
existing paragraph 5.311 
 
 

The change relates to the insertion of new text into the policy which 
does not alter its potential to impact upon a European Site, beyond 
that assessed in the original HRA of the deposit LDP. 
 

MAC50 Policy C2 Community Safety 
/ Creating Safe Environments 
Paragraphs 5.318, 5.321 

Amend paragraph 5.318 and 5.321 of 
existing Policy C2 

 
 

The change is minor, and relates to spelling, grammar, or accuracy or 
clarification of wording, which do not alter the meaning of the policy  

MAC51 New Policy and reasoned 
justification 

Insert new Policy to be referenced C2 
after existing paragraph 5.316  
 
 

The change relates to the creation of a new policy which does not 
have the potential to impact upon a European Site. 
 

MAC52 Policy C4: Provision For Open 
Space, Outdoor Recreation, 
And Sport 
Paragraph 5.340 
 

Amend Policy C4 and reasoned 
justification 
 
 
 

The change is minor, and relates to spelling, grammar, or accuracy or 
clarification of wording, which do not alter the meaning of the policy. 
 

MAC53 Policy C5: Provision For Delete Policy C5 and reasoned The change relates to deletion of an existing policy which does not 

P
age 2089



 

  

MAC 
Number 

Deposit Policy /Para No Proposed Change HRA Screening Criteria 

Allotments And Community 
Growing 
 

justification 
 
 

alter the potential of the LDP to impact upon a European Site, beyond 
that assessed in the original HRA of the deposit LDP. 
 

MAC54 Policy C6: Provision of 
Children’s Play  

Delete Policy C6 and reasoned 
justification 
 

The change relates to deletion of an existing policy which does not 
alter the potential of the LDP to impact upon a European Site, beyond 
that assessed in the original HRA of the deposit LDP. 
 

MAC55 Policy C7 Health 
Paragraphs 5.355, 5.350, 
5.362 

Amend Policy C7 and reasoned 
justification 
 

The change relates to the deletion of existing text from the policy 
which does not alter its potential to impact upon a European Site. 
 

MAC56 C8 Planning for Schools Delete Policy C8 and reasoned 
justification 
 
 

The change relates to deletion of an existing policy which does not 
alter the potential of the LDP to impact upon a European Site, beyond 
that assessed in the original HRA of the deposit LDP. 
 

MAC57 Policy C9: New Educational 
Facilities 
 

Delete Policy C9 and reasoned 
justification 
 
 

The change relates to deletion of an existing policy which does not 
alter the potential of the LDP to impact upon a European Site, beyond 
that assessed in the original HRA of the deposit LDP. 
 

MAC58 Policy C10: Health 
Employment Non Strategic 
Allocation 

Delete Policy C10 and reasoned 
justification 

 
 

The change relates to deletion of an existing policy which does not 
alter the potential of the LDP to impact upon a European Site, beyond 
that assessed in the original HRA of the deposit LDP. 
 

MAC59 New Policy and reasoned 
justification 

Insert new Policy after existing 
paragraph 5.362 to be referenced as 
Policy C7 
 
 

The change relates to the creation of a new policy which does not 
have the potential to impact upon a European Site.  No specific 
locations for schools are proposed so their impact cannot be assessed 
at this stage, however, individual developments will be subject to HRA 
at the detailed project stage. 

MAC60 Policy M1: Mineral Amend Policy M1 and the reasoned The change is minor, and relates to spelling, grammar, or accuracy or 

P
age 2090



 

  

MAC 
Number 

Deposit Policy /Para No Proposed Change HRA Screening Criteria 

Limestone Reserves And 
Resources 
Paragraph 5.380 
 

justification 
 
 

clarification of wording, which do not alter the meaning of the policy. 
 

MAC61 Policy M2: Preferred Order 
Of Mineral Resource Release 
Paragraphs 5.382, 5.384, 
5.384 
 

M2: PREFERRED ORDER OF MINERAL 
RESOURCE RELEASE 
 
 

The change relates to the insertion of new text into the policy which 
does not alter its potential to impact upon a European Site, beyond 
that assessed in the original HRA of the deposit LDP. 
The change relates to the deletion of existing text from the policy 
which does not alter its potential to impact upon a European Site. 
Taken together, these changes do not alter the potential for impact of 
this policy upon any European Sites, as assessed in the original HRA of 
the Deposit LDP. 
 

MAC62 Policy M3: Quarry Closures 
And Extension Limits 
Paragraphs 5.389 and 5.391  
 

Amend Policy M3 and reasoned 
justification in paragraphs 5.389 and 
5.391  
 
 

The change relates to the insertion of new text into the policy which 
does not alter its potential to impact upon a European Site, beyond 
that assessed in the original HRA of the deposit LDP. 
The change relates to the deletion of existing text from the policy 
which does not alter its potential to impact upon a European Site. 
These changes propose no new areas for mineral extraction, 
compared with the Deposit LDP, which was subject to HRA. 

MAC63 Policy M6: Dredged 
Aggregate Landing And 
Distribution Facilities 
Paragraphs 5.405, 5.408 
 

Amend Policy M6 and the reasoned 
justification 
 

 
 

The change is minor, and relates to spelling, grammar, or accuracy or 
clarification of wording, which do not alter the meaning of the policy.  
The inclusion of a reference to the need to consider the Severn 
Estuary SAC/SPA/Ramsar site should serve to further reduce the 
potential for this policy to affect those sites, as assessed in the HRA of 
the Deposit LDP. 
 

MAC64 Policy M7: Safeguarding Of Delete Policy M7 and the reasoned The change relates to deletion of an existing policy which does not 

P
age 2091



 

  

MAC 
Number 

Deposit Policy /Para No Proposed Change HRA Screening Criteria 

Sand And Gravel Resource 
 

justification 
 
 

alter the potential of the LDP to impact upon a European Site, beyond 
that assessed in the original HRA of the deposit LDP. 

MAC65 Policy M8: Safeguarding Coal 
Resources 

Delete Policy M8 and the reasoned 
justification 
 
 

The change relates to deletion of an existing policy which does not 
alter the potential of the LDP to impact upon a European Site, beyond 
that assessed in the original HRA of the deposit LDP. 
 

MAC66 Policy M9: Safeguarding Of 
Limestone Resources 
 

Delete Policy M9 and the reasoned 
justification 
 

The change relates to deletion of an existing policy which does not 
alter the potential of the LDP to impact upon a European Site, beyond 
that assessed in the original HRA of the deposit LDP. 

MAC67 New Policy: Safeguarding Of 
Sand And Gravel, Coal And 
Limestone Resources 
 

Insert new policy after existing 
paragraph 5.408 to be referenced M7 
 
 
 

The change relates to the creation of a new policy which does not 
have the potential to impact upon a European Site. 
This new policy encompasses the deleted M7, M8 and M9 policies, 
without increasing the potential for those activities to affect European 
Sites (Specifically, the Cardiff Beech Woods SAC), beyond that 
assessed in the HRA of the Deposit LDP. 

MAC68 New Policy: 
Areas Where Coal Working 
Will Not Be Acceptable 
 

Insert new policy to be referenced M8 
 
 

The change relates to the creation of a new policy which does not 
have the potential to impact upon a European Site.  It relates to 
exclusion of coal mining, so will not lead to new development which 
would affect European Sites. 

MAC69 Policy W1: Land for Waste 
Management 

Delete Policy W1 and reasoned 
justification 

 
 
 
 

The change relates to deletion of an existing policy which does not 
alter the potential of the LDP to impact upon a European Site, beyond 
that assessed in the original HRA of the deposit LDP. 
Although the allocation in the Deposit LDP of the waste management 
site at Lamby Way was assessed in the HRA of the Deposit LDP  as not 
likely to have a significant effect upon the Severn Estuary 
designations, it is nonetheless welcomed that this allocation is to be 
removed, thereby removing any remaining potential for impact. 

P
age 2092



 

  

MAC 
Number 

Deposit Policy /Para No Proposed Change HRA Screening Criteria 

 
MAC70 Policy W2: Sites For Waste 

Management Facilities 
 

Amend Policy W2 and the reasoned 
justification 
 
 

The change relates to the insertion of new text into the policy which 
does not alter its potential to impact upon a European Site, beyond 
that assessed in the original HRA of the deposit LDP. 
Caveats which prevent unacceptable harm to the environment are 
retained in the amended policy. 
 
No specific locations are proposed, so these cannot be assessed in 
detail, but individual developments will be screened for the need for 
HRA at the detailed project stage. 

MAC71 New Appendix Insert New Appendix Showing Sites 
over 10 dwellings with planning 
permission for residential 
 
Please see Appendix Three of this 
schedule 

These sites all have planning consent, either with or without Section 
106 legal agreement, and so it can be presumed that they have 
already been screened for the need for HRA. 

MAC72 New Appendix Insert New Appendix – Designated 
Sites 
 
 

This change proposes the inclusion of factual details, which do not 
promote any new development. 

MAC73 New Appendix: Areas of 
Protection 

Insert New Appendix  
 
 

This change proposes the inclusion of factual details, which do not 
promote any new development. 

MAC74 Appendix 5 Delete Appendix 5:Suplementary 
Planning Guidance and insert new 
appendix 
 
Please see Appendix Four of this 

The change does not relate to a specific policy, and therefore cannot 
affect any European Sites when the LDP is implemented. 
 

P
age 2093



 

  

MAC 
Number 

Deposit Policy /Para No Proposed Change HRA Screening Criteria 

schedule 
 

MAC75 Appendix 9 Insert new monitoring chapter & 
monitoring framework  
 
Please see Appendix Five of this 
schedule. 

The change does not relate to a specific policy, and therefore cannot 
affect any European Sites when the LDP is implemented. 
 

MAC76  Amend the plan to ensure appropriate 
cross referencing is applied 

The change is minor, and relates to spelling, grammar, or accuracy or 
clarification of wording, which do not alter the meaning of the policy. 
 

MAC77  Amend the Plan to reflect 
consequential changes to the policy 
and paragraph numbers resulting from 
the amendments in this schedule 
Please see Appendix Six of this 
schedule to show amendments to the 
Policy numbering 

The change is minor, and relates to spelling, grammar, or accuracy or 
clarification of wording, which do not alter the meaning of the policy. 
 

MAC78  To address any typographical or 
grammatical errors 

The change is minor, and relates to spelling, grammar, or accuracy or 
clarification of wording, which do not alter the meaning of the policy. 
 

MAC79  Amend the plan to ensure references 
to national guidance are correct 

The change is minor, and relates to spelling, grammar, or accuracy or 
clarification of wording, which do not alter the meaning of the policy. 
 

MAC80  Amend the Key Diagram to reflect 
amendments proposed through the 
matters arising. 

The change is minor, and relates to spelling, grammar, or accuracy or 
clarification of wording, which do not alter the meaning of the policy. 
 

MAC81  Amend the Plan to remove references 
to the Background Technical Papers 

The change is minor, and relates to spelling, grammar, or accuracy or 
clarification of wording, which do not alter the meaning of the policy. 

P
age 2094



 

  

MAC 
Number 

Deposit Policy /Para No Proposed Change HRA Screening Criteria 

where appropriate 
  Amendments to the Proposals Map  

 
 

Most changes relate to factual amendments of allocated site 
boundaries, river corridors and mineral safeguarding areas.  The 
changes to the policies which are reflected in these Proposals Map 
changes, are assessed in full above. 
 
The denotation of the Flexibility Areas has been amended, but this 
does not entail a change in the location, scale or impacts of those 
flexibility areas, nor therefore any additional potential for impact 
upon European Sites. 
 
The housing allocation at Roath Basin, denoted by Number 2 on the 
MAC PM5, has already received consent (03/00099/C) and it can be 
assumed that it was screened for the need for an HRA at the planning 
application stage. 

 

P
age 2095



 

  

REFERENCES / BIBLIOGRAPHY 
 
 
Legislation 
 
European Communities (1979) Council Directive 79/409/EEC on the conservation of 
wild birds the ‘Birds Directive’. 
 
European Communities (1992) Council Directive 92/43/EEC on the conservation of 
natural habitats and wild fauna and flora the ‘Habitats Directive’.  
 
Ramsar Convention on Wetlands (1971) – Intergovernmental Treaty. 
 
The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations, 2010. 
 
The Offshore Marine Conservation (Natural Habitats, &c) Regulations 2007. 
 
Welsh Assembly Government (WG) Guidance 
 
Technical Advice Note (TAN) 5 (WG, 2009) Nature Conservation and Planning: 
Annex 6 to TAN5 (WG, 2009) The appraisal of development plans in Wales under 
the provisions of the Habitats Regulations. 
 
WG Habitats Directive Weblink. 
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/environmentcountryside/consmanagement/conservationbio
diversity/habitatdirective/?lang=en  
 
 
European Union Guidance 
 
European Commission (EC) (2000) Managing Natura 2000 Sites: The Provisions of 
Article 6 of the ‘Habitats’ Directive 92/43/EEC. 
 
EC (2001) Assessment of Plans and Projects Significantly Affecting Natura 2000 
sites: methodological Guidance on the Provisions of Article 6(3) and (4) of the 
Habitats Directive 92/43/EEC. 
 
EC (2007) Guidance Document on Article 6(4) of the ‘Habitats Directive’ 92/43/EEC. 
Clarification of Concepts of: Alternative Solutions, Imperative Reasons of Overriding 
Public Interest, Compensatory Measures, Overall Coherence, Opinion of the 
Commission.  
 
 
Other Relevant Reference & Guidance Sources 
 
Hosking R & Tyldesley D (2006) How the scale of effects on internationally 
designated nature conservation sites in Britain has been considered in decision 
making: A review of authoritative decisions. 
 
Tyldesley, D., (2009) Draft Guidance for Plan Making Authorities in Wales: The 
Appraisal of Plans under the Habitats Directive, for Countryside Council for Wales 
CCW Bangor. 
 
WG (2004) Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) of Unitary Development 
Plans – Interim Good Practice Guide 

Page 2096



 

  

 
WG (2006) Local Development Plans Wales. 
 
TraCC Regional Transport Plan 2009,  
 
SEWTA Rail Strategy Study Jan 2006  
 
South East Wales Transport Alliance: Regional Transport Plan 2009  
 
Welsh Coastal Tourism Strategy 2008  
 
Merchant Shipping (Oil Pollution Preparedness Response and Co-operation 
Convention) Regulations 1998, SI 1998 No 1056.  
 
Core Management Plan (Including Conservation Objectives) for Cardiff Beech 
Woods Special Area of Conservation (SAC).  December 2008.  Countryside 
Council for Wales.  
 
Revised Draft Water Resources Management Plan.  October 2011. Dŵr Cymru 
Welsh Water 

 
The Usk Catchment Abstraction Management Strategy.  March 2007.  Environment 
Agency Wales. 

 
People, Places, Futures: The Wales Spatial Plan (Update 2008).  Welsh Assembly 
Government. 
 
 
European Site Specific Information 
 
Joint Nature Conservation Committee (JNCC) - Protected Sites: 
http://www.jncc.gov.uk/page-4  
 
Browse SACs on map: 
http://www.jncc.gov.uk/page-1515  
 
Browse SPAs on map:  
http://www.jncc.gov.uk/page-2598  
 
Air Pollution Information System (APIS): 
http://www.apis.ac.uk/  
 
UK Water Company Boundaries: 
http://www.water.org.uk/home/our-members/find-water-company  
 
European Site Specific Information Wales 
 
Countryside Council for Wales (NRW) - Site Management Plans: 
http://www.ccw.gov.uk/landscape--wildlife/protecting-our-landscape/special-sites-
project.aspx  
 
NRW - Protected Sites Map:  
http://www.ccw.gov.uk/interactive-maps/protected-sites-map.aspx  
 

Page 2097



 

  

NRW - Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI): 
http://www.ccw.gov.uk/landscape--wildlife/protecting-our-landscape/special-
landscapes--sites/protected-landscapes/sssis/sssi--report.aspx  
 
Catchment Abstraction Management Strategies (CAMS) Wales: 
http://www.environment-agency.gov.uk/business/topics/water/119927.aspx  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

© Enfusion Ltd 
Treenwood House 

Rowden Lane 
Bradford on Avon 

BA15 2AU 
T: 01225 867112 
F: 01225 867115 

michelle@enfusion.co.uk  
www.enfusion.co.uk 

Page 2098



 

  

 

P
age 2099



Cardiff Local Development Plan
2006 - 2026

Background Technical Paper No.4
Habitat Regulations Report

October 2012

4 Habitat.ai   1   26/09/2012   14:22:53

Page 2100



  

  

 
 

HABITATS REGULATIONS APPRAISAL SCREENING REPORT 
 
 

The County Council of the City and County of Cardiff 
Local Development Plan Preferred Strategy 

 

 

 

 

 
 
date: 
 

28th September 2012 

issue no.: 
 

1 
 

prepared by: 
 

Matthew Harris 

quality 
assurance: 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
This toolkit was developed to provide information and analysis to support the South 

East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG) authorities with the process of 
Habitats Regulations Appraisal as required by the Habitats Directive.  The approach 

outlined reflects official Welsh Assembly Government (WAG) guidance and 
Countryside Council for Wales (CCW) advice, but does not have official status.  

Enfusion Ltd does not accept liability for use of the toolkit or decisions that are made 
based upon it. 

(December 2010, Update) 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 2101



 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                        1/21           Enfusion 

  

 
County Council of the City and County of Cardiff 

Local Development Plan Preferred Strategy 
 

Habitats Regulations Appraisal Screening Report 
 
CONTENTS 
 

 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1 INTRODUCTION 

Requirement for Habitats Regulations Appraisal 
Guidance for Habitats Regulations Appraisal/Appropriate Assessment 
Consultation  
Purpose & Structure of Report 

 
2 METHOD 
 Screening 
 
3 SCREENING 
 
 Task 1: Identification of European Sites 

Task 2: Plan Review, Policy Screening and Identification of likely 
impacts 

 Task 3: Consideration of other plans, programmes and projects 
 Task 4: Screening Assessment 

 
4 CONCLUSIONS, FUTURE WORK 
 

 
REFERENCES/BIBLIOGRAPHY  
 
TABLES 

 
1. Habitats Regulations Appraisal: Key Stages 
2.  HRA Screening Stage: Key Tasks 
3. European Sites within Cardiff boundary 
4. European Sites within search area buffer zone 
5. HRA Screening Table Summary 
 
 
 APPENDICES 
 
1. European site descriptions/ characterisation 
2. Policy Screening 
3. Potential Impacts 
4. Plans and Programmes Review 
5. Likely Significant Effect Screening Assessment  
 

Page 2102



  Habitats Regulations Appraisal Screening Report 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                        1/21           Enfusion 

  

  
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
 
0.1 Habitats Regulations Appraisal (HRA) of spatial, development plans is a 

requirement of the Habitats Directive (92/43/EEC) as set out in the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010.  This report details 
the HRA Screening for the Preferred Strategy of the Cardiff Council Local 
Development Plan (LDP) the methods and findings and the conclusions of the 
Screening Assessment.    

 
0.2 An assessment was made of the likelihood of significant impact of the 

Preferred Strategy on eight international sites in and around Cardiff, namely 
Cardiff Beech Woods SAC, Severn Estuary SAC, SPA, Ramsar Site, the 
River Usk SAC, the River Wye SAC, Blackmill Woodlands SAC and 
Aberbargoed Grasslands SAC. 

 
0.3 Those elements of the Preferred Strategy which were judged to have the 

potential to affect some or all of these sites, were Policy 1: Level of growth- 
Delivering sustainable development, Policy 2: Strategic sites to deliver 
growth, Policy 5: City Centre and Bay Business Areas, Policy 6: 
Minerals and Aggregates, Policy 7: Waste, Policy 24: Strategic 
Recreational Routes, Strategic Growth Options A, B and C, Spatial 
Option - Greenfield site north of M4 at Thornhill, Spatial Option - 
Dispersed smaller greenfield sites, Spatial Option - Dispersed 
brownfield sites and Spatial Option - Greenfield sites south of Creigiau/ 
north Junction 33. 

. 
0.4 Following this screening assessment, none of these policies were considered 

likely to have a significant effect on any of the international sites either alone 
or in combination with other plans, projects or programmes. 

 
0.5 The Habitats Regulations Appraisals of the LDPs of neighbouring Local 

Authorities have indicated that in the absence of direct effects, in-combination 
effects with other plans are not likely to be significant at the sites considered 
in the light of the evidence available. 

 
0.6  Subject to any significant changes to the proposals considered by the HRA, 

this plan will now proceed without further reference to the Habitats 
Regulations. 

 

Page 2103



  Habitats Regulations Appraisal Screening Report 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                        2/21           Enfusion 

  

 
1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 Cardiff Council is currently developing a Preferred Strategy for its Local 

Development Plan (LDP) and is undertaking Habitats Regulations Appraisal 
(HRA) in line with the requirements set by the Conservation of Habitats and 
Species Regulations 20101 [The Habitats Regulations]. 

 
1.2 This HRA Screening report addresses the likely significant effects on 

designated European Sites of implementing the policies and proposals of the 
Preferred Strategy  
 

1.3 Habitats Regulations Appraisal is also commonly referred to as Appropriate 
Assessment (AA) although the requirement for AA is first determined by an 
initial ‘screening’ stage undertaken as part of the full HRA.  This report 
addresses the Screening Phase of the HRA; it outlines the screening tasks 
and the key findings emerging from the assessment.  

 
Requirement for Habitats Regulations Appraisal 

 
1.4 The European Directive (92/43/EEC) on the Conservation of Natural Habitats 

and Wild Flora and Fauna (the Habitats Directive) protects habitats and 
species of European nature conservation importance.  The Habitats Directive 
establishes a network of internationally important sites designated for their 
ecological status.  These are referred to as Natura 2000 (N2K) sites or 
European Sites, and comprise Special Areas of Conservation (SACs) and 
Special Protection Areas (SPAs) [which are classified under the Council 
Directive 79/409/EEC on the conservation of wild birds, the ‘Birds Directive’].  

 
1.5 Articles 6 (3) and 6 (4) of the Habitats Directive require AA to be undertaken 

on proposed plans or projects which are not necessary for the management 
of the site but which are likely to have a significant effect on one or more 
European sites either individually, or in combination with other plans and 
projects.2  This requirement is set out in the Conservation of Habitats and 
Species Regulations 2010 which require the application of HRA to all land 
use plans.  Welsh Assembly Government (WAG) guidance also requires that 
Ramsar sites (which support internationally important wetland habitats) and 
are listed under the Convention on Wetlands of International Importance 
(Ramsar Convention 1971) are included within HRA/AA and that candidate 
SACs and proposed SPAs are treated as ‘designated’ sites in the context of 
HRA.  In this report the term ‘European sites’ will be used when referring to 
SACs, cSACs, SPAs, pSPAs and Ramsar sites. 

 
1.6 The purpose of HRA/AA is to assess the impacts of a land-use plan, in 

combination with the effects of other plans and projects, against the 
conservation objectives of a European Site and to ascertain whether it would 

                                                 
1 The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 consolidate all the various amendments 
made to the 1994 Regulations in respect of England and Wales. 
2  Determining whether an effect is ‘significant’ is undertaken in relation to the designated interest 
features and conservation objectives of the Natura 2000 sites. If an impact on any conservation 
objective is assessed as being adverse then it should be treated as significant.  Where information is 
limited the precautionary principle applies and significant effects should be assumed until evidence 
exists to the contrary.  

Page 2104



  Habitats Regulations Appraisal Screening Report 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                        3/21           Enfusion 

  

adversely affect the integrity3 of that site.  Where significant negative effects 
are identified, alternative options or mitigation measures should be examined 
to avoid any potential damaging effects.  The scope of the HRA/AA is 
dependent on the location, size and significance of the proposed plan or 
project and the sensitivities and nature of the interest features of the 
European sites under consideration.  

 
Guidance for Habitats Regulations Appraisal/Appropriate Assessment  
 

1.7 Guidance for HRA is contained in WAG’s Technical Advice Note 5: Nature 
Conservation and Planning, Annex 6 ‘The Appraisal of Development Plans in 
Wales under the Provisions of the Habitats Regulations’ (Sept 2009).  CCW 
has also produced Draft guidance4 to assist plan making authorities to comply 
with the requirements of the Habitats Directive. 
 

1.8 The methods and approach used for this screening are based on the formal 
Welsh guidance currently available and emergent practice, which 
recommends that HRA is approached in three main stages - outlined in Table 
1 below.  This report outlines the method and findings for stage 1 of the HRA 
process.    

 

                                                 
3 Integrity is described as the sites’ coherence, ecological structure and function across the whole area 
that enables it to sustain the habitat, complex of habitats and/or levels of populations of species for 
which it was classified, (ODPM, 2005).  
4 Tyldesley, D., 2009, Draft Guidance for Plan Making Authorities in Wales: The Appraisal of Plans 
under the Habitats Directive for Countryside Council for Wales CCW Bangor (Revised April 2010). 

Page 2105



  Habitats Regulations Appraisal Screening Report 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                        4/21           Enfusion 

  

 
Table 1 
 

Habitats Regulations Appraisal: Key Stages 
 

Stage 1 
 Identify international sites in and around the plan/ strategy area in 

a search area agreed with the Statutory Body the Countryside 
Council for Wales 

 Examine conservation objectives of the interest feature(s)(where 
available) 

 Review plan policies and proposals and consider potential effects 
on European sites (magnitude, duration, location, extent) 

 Examine other plans and programmes that could contribute to ‘in 
combination’ effects 

Screening for 
likely significant 
effect 
 
 
 
 

 If no effects likely - report no significant effect (taking advice from 
CCW as necessary). 

 If effects are judged likely or uncertainty exists - the precautionary 
principle applies proceed to stage 2 

Stage 2 
 Complete additional scoping work including the collation of further 

information on sites as necessary to evaluate impact in light of 
conservation objectives 

 Agree scope and method of AA with CCW 

 Consider how plan ‘in combination’ with other plans and 
programmes will interact when implemented (the Appropriate 
Assessment) 

 Consider how effect on integrity of site could be avoided by 
changes to plan and the consideration of alternatives 

 Develop mitigation measures (including timescale and 
mechanisms) 

 Report outcomes of AA including mitigation measures, consult 
with CCW and wider [public] stakeholders as necessary 

 If plan will not significantly effect European site proceed without 
further reference to Habitats Regs 

Appropriate 
Assessment 

 If effects or uncertainty  remain following the consideration of 
alternatives and development of mitigations proceed to stage 3 

Stage 3 
Procedures 
where 
significant 
effect on 
integrity of 
international 
site remains 

 Consider alternative solutions, delete from plan or modify 

 Consider if priority species/ habitats affected 

 Identify ‘imperative reasons of overriding public interest’ (IROPI) 
economic, social, environmental, human health, public safety 

 Notify Assembly Government 

 Develop and secure compensatory measures  
 

 
 
 

Consultation  
 
1.9 The Habitats Regulations require the plan making/competent authority to 

consult the appropriate nature conservation statutory body [Countryside 

Page 2106



  Habitats Regulations Appraisal Screening Report 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                        5/21           Enfusion 

  

Council for Wales (CCW)] if undertaking an Appropriate Assessment.  
Consultation on the approach to this HRA screening, including advice on 
which European sites should be considered within the area of search, was 
undertaken with CCW following the HRA of the previous Preferred Strategy 
and previous draft LDP, which did not progress.  Their consultation responses 
have been taken into account, where appropriate, in this HRA of the current 
Preferred Strategy.  The Habitats Regulations leave consultation with other 
bodies and the public to the discretion of the plan making authority.  The 
WAG guidance notes that it is good practice to make information on HRA 
available to the public at each formal development plan consultation stage.  
Therefore, in addition to the statutory consultation undertaken with CCW this 
report is being made available for wider public consultation.  

 
 Purpose & Structure of Report 
 
1.13 This report documents the process and the findings from the Screening 

stages of the HRA for Cardiff Council Preferred Strategy  Following this 
introductory section, the document is organised into a further three sections: 

 
 Section 2 - outlines the method used for the Screening process and 

includes reference to the key information sources used. 
 
 Section 3 - outlines the process and summary findings of the Screening 

Process and the assessment. 
 

 Section 4 - outlines the conclusions, and how the plan should proceed 
with reference to the Habitats Regulations.  

 

Page 2107



  Habitats Regulations Appraisal Screening Report 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                        6/21           Enfusion 

  

2.0 METHOD 
 
 Screening 
 
2.1 In accordance with the official Welsh guidance and current practice, 

conducting the screening stage of the HRA for the Cardiff Council Preferred 
Strategy  employed the method outlined below. This approach combines both 
a plan focus and a site focus.   

 
 The plan focus first screens out those elements of the plan unlikely to 

affect European site integrity and then considers the impacts of the 
remaining elements on European sites, including the potential for ‘in-
combination’ impacts.  

 The site focus considers the environmental conditions of the site and 
the factors required to maintain site integrity, and looks at the potential 
impacts the plan may have.   

 
2.2 HRA experience to date has indicated that maintaining a site based approach 

as core to the HRA/AA method more closely reflects the intent of the Habitats 
Directive.  This means that subsequent mitigation measures [developed if/as 
required during the AA stage 2] seek to focus on the conditions necessary to 
maintain site integrity (e.g. avoiding specific types of development/ activity at 
or near sensitive areas).  This is considered to be a more robust and 
defensible approach than adding policy caveats at a strategic level and 
devolving decisions about impacts on site integrity to lower level planning 
documents.  Although, this approach does recognise that some decisions on 
avoidance and mitigation can only be made when site level detail becomes 
available.  

 
2.3 The key tasks employed for the HRA Screening are set out in Table 2 below. 
 

Page 2108



  Habitats Regulations Appraisal Screening Report 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                        7/21           Enfusion 

  

 
Table 2 
 

HRA Screening Stage 1: Key Tasks 
 

Task 1 
 

Identification of 
Natura 2000 sites & 

characterisation 
 

 

 Identification of European sites both within the plan/proposal 
boundaries and in an area of search extending to 15km [as 
recommended by extant guidance] around the plan/proposal 
area. This includes considering hydrological connectivities and 
the catchment of watercourses relating to identified 
designations  

 Information was obtained for each European site, based on 
publicly available information and consultation with Countryside 
Council for Wales where appropriate.5  

 This included information relating to the sites’ qualifying 
features; conservation objectives; vulnerabilities/ sensitivities, 
current conditions, trends & geographical boundaries.   

 
Task 2 

 
Plan review and 
identification of 
likely impacts 

 

 

 Screening of the plan/proposal and the identification of likely 
impacts (including a review of the plan/proposal’s aims, 
objectives, strategic policies, including spatial implications 
where identified to determine likely impacts). 

Task 3 
 

Consideration of 
other plans and 

programmes 
 

 

 Consideration, where appropriate of other plans and 
programmes that may have in-combination effects with the 
plan/proposal.  

Task 4 
 

Screening 
Assessment   

 

 

 Assessment of the potential of identified impacts to affect the 
designated interest features of European sites 

 Summary of screening outcomes and recommendations. 

 
 

                                                 
5 Key Information Sources: Joint Nature Conservation Committee (JNCC) web resource 
www.jncc.gov.uk including site details/ character contained on Natura 2000 Standard Data Form. 
Conservation Objectives, management plan information, Countryside Council for Wales web resource 
http://www.ccw.gov.uk/  

Page 2109



  Habitats Regulations Appraisal Screening Report 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                        8/21           Enfusion 

  

 
3.0 SCREENING 
 

Task 1:  Identification of European Sites & characterisation 
 
3.1 Two designated sites lie within the Cardiff boundary.  Detailed site 

characterisation information for the sites, is provided in Appendix 1. 
 

Table 3  
 
European Sites within Plan/ Proposal Boundary 

 
 
Designation

 Cardiff Beech Woods 
 Severn Estuary 
 Severn Estuary 
 Severn Estuary 

SAC 
SPA 
SAC 
Ramsar 

  
3.2 Plans, programmes and projects can have spatial implications that extend 

beyond the intended plan boundaries.  In particular, it is recognised that 
distance in itself is not a definitive guide to the likelihood or severity of an 
impact [inaccessibility/ remoteness is typically more relevant] as factors such 
as the prevailing wind direction, river flow direction, and ground water flow 
direction will all have a bearing on the relative distance at which an impact 
can occur.  This means that a plan directing development some distance 
away from a European Site could still have effects on the site and therefore, 
needs to be considered as part of the screening process.  

 
3.3 Taking into account the potential for transboundary impacts the screening has 

identified four European Sites that lie within the influence of the Cardiff 
Council Preferred Strategy.  These sites are outlined in Table 3 below and 
detailed information for the European sites is provided in Appendix 1.   

 
Table 3 
 
European Sites within a 
search area of 15km 
around Plan/Proposal Area 

 
Designation  

 
Distance from Plan/ 
Proposal Boundary 
(approx Km) 

Aberbargoed Grasslands SAC 14 
Blackmill Woodlands SAC 14 
River Usk SAC 7 
River Wye SAC 30 

 

Page 2110



  Habitats Regulations Appraisal Screening Report 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                        9/21           Enfusion 

  

Task 2: Plan/Strategy review, policy screening and identification of likely 
impacts 

 
Cardiff Council Preferred Strategy: Summary Review 

 
3.5 This Cardiff Council Preferred Strategy sets out a strategy for the future 

development of Cardiff, capital city of Wales and economic driver of the wider 
city-region to 2026. It provides an opportunity for people and organisations to 
comment on the strategy before a more detailed framework called the Deposit 
Local Development Plan (LDP) is consulted on and then formally submitted 
for independent examination prior to adoption. LDP’s are a key driver for 
investment, help the city-region compete in a competitive market, create 
homes and protect sensitive environments. They deliver vital outcomes for 
not only the local community but also for businesses and other interests. In 
this way LDP’s set out how development can be delivered in a sustainable 
way for the next 15 years.   

 
Cardiff Council Preferred Strategy: Screening Plan/Proposal 

 
3.6 The Cardiff Council Preferred Strategy was - for the purposes of the HRA - 

subject to an initial screening process.  The aim of this screening is to identify 
at a broad level those policies that will not have an effect on European Sites 
and those that have the potential to have a likely significant effect both alone 
and in combination at the sites identified at Task 1.   
 

3.7 The approach is in accordance with CCW draft guidance for the appraisal of 
plans under the Habitats Directive (Tyldesley, D. 2009).  In order to complete 
the policy screening each policy was categorised as to its likely effects on 
each European site identified in Appendix 1.  There are four categories of 
potential effects, which are as follows: 

 
 Category A: elements of the plan/options that would have no negative 

effect on a European site at all; 
 Category B: elements of the plan/options that could have an effect, but 

the likelihood is there would be no significant negative effect on a 
European site either alone or in combination with other elements of the 
same plan, or other plans or projects; 

 Category C: elements of the plan/options that could or would be likely 
to have a significant effect alone and will require the plan to be subject 
to an appropriate assessment before the plan may be adopted; 

 Category D: elements of the plan/options that would be likely to have a 
significant effect in combination with other elements of the same plan, 
or other plans or projects and will require the plan to be subject to an 
appropriate assessment before the plan may be adopted. 

 
3.8 Categories A, C and D are subdivided so that the specific reason why a policy 

has been allocated to a particular category is clear.  The detail of the 
screening assessment which considers each of the policies against the 
categories is provided in Appendix 2 and policies which were considered to 
potentially lead to likely significant effects are listed in Table 4.  

 
 
 

Page 2111



  Habitats Regulations Appraisal Screening Report 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                        10/21           

Enfusion 
  

Table 4 
 
Plan/ Proposal Policies Screened in to the assessment 
process  

Assessment 
Category 

Policy 1: Level of growth- Delivering sustainable 
development. 

C2 

Policy 2: Strategic sites to deliver growth C2 

Policy 5: City Centre and Bay Business Areas. C2 

Policy 6: Minerals and Aggregates. C1 

Policy 7: Waste.   C1 

Policy 24: Strategic Recreational Routes C2 

Strategic Options A, B and C C2 

Spatial Option - Greenfield site north of M4 at 
Thornhill 

C2 

Spatial Option - Dispersed smaller greenfield sites; C2 

Spatial Option - Dispersed brownfield sites; C2 

Greenfield sites south of Creigiau/ north Junction 33 C2 

 
 
3.9 The potential impacts arising as a result of these policies are set out in detail 

in Appendix 3, wherein the factors to which each site is broadly sensitive, are 
compared with each of the screened-in policies, for each of the 8 sites 
identified in 3.1 and 3.3 above.  Where there is the potential for interaction 
between an activity likely to arise form the Preferred Strategy, and a 
sensitivity which has been identified for one or more of the features of a 
European site, then a screening for Likely Significant Effect is undertaken, as 
described in ‘Task 4’, below. In general terms, the potential effects of the 
Preferred Strategy upon these sites is as follows:- 

 
3.10 The Aberbargoed Grasslands and Blackmill Woodlands SAC lie outside 

Cardiff’s boundary and are not in contact with Cardiff hydrologically, so the 
only potential effect for the Preferred Strategy on these sites would be via 
aerial pollutants arising from traffic, industry and housing.   
 

3.11 The Rivers Usk and Wye SACs are also outside Cardiff’s boundary, but are 
hydrologically linked to Cardiff via the Severn Estuary, so there is the 
potential for water-borne pollution arising from activities within Cardiff to 
migrate to these rivers, both of which flow into the estuary, as well as the 
potential for aerial pollution.   

 
3.12 However, the most important potential effect upon these two sites arises 

because they are both used to supply water to Cardiff, so housing and 
industry allocations provided for by the Preferred Strategy would place an 
increased water demand on these rivers, which in turn could affect the special 
features for which they have been designated. 

 
3.13 Cardiff Beechwoods SAC is almost wholly within the Cardiff boundary, so as 

well as aerial pollution mentioned above, developments close to the woods 
could lead to increased recreational pressure at the site.  Furthermore, most 
of Cardiff’s sites for extraction of minerals and aggregates lie close to this site, 
so this has to be examined for potential effects. 

 

Page 2112



  Habitats Regulations Appraisal Screening Report 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                        11/21           

Enfusion 
  

3.14 The Severn Estuary has three separate designations with a range of different 
features which could be impacted by a number of activities arising from the 
Preferred Strategy.  As well as aerial and aquatic pollution mentioned above, 
recreational activity and operation of industry has the potential to cause visual 
and noise disturbance to wetland birds, where these activities take place 
close to the foreshore. 

 
  

Task 3: Consideration of other plans and programmes 
 
3.12 It is a requirement of Article 6(3) of the Habitats Directive that HRA examines 

the potential for plans and projects to have a significant effect either 
individually or ‘in combination’ with other plans, programmes & projects 
(PPPs).  Undertaking an assessment of other PPPs for the Cardiff Council 
Preferred Strategy required a pragmatic approach given the extensive range 
of PPPs underway in the surrounding region.  The approach taken was 
cognisant of the emphasis in the forthcoming WAG guidance, that considering 
the potential for in-combination effects is core to delivering robust/ 
precautionary HRA.6   

 
3.13 When considering other PPPs attention was focused on those aimed at 

delivering planned spatial growth with the most significant being those that 
seek to provide, housing, employment and infrastructure.  The review 
considered the most relevant plans including: 

 
 The Wales Spatial Plan (update) 2008 
 Local Development Plans in South East Wales neighbouring authorities 
 Waste and Mineral Strategies for South East Wales and neighbouring 

authorities 
 Regional Transport Plans - where relevant and/or major development 

schemes  
 Catchment Abstraction Management Plans - where relevant to the 

designated sites under consideration 
 Water Resource Management Plans 

 
3.14 The potential effects of these plans are reviewed in detail at Appendix 4 and 

the potential for these effects to act ‘in-combination’ with effects identified 
from Cardiff Council Preferred Strategy are considered in the screening 
assessment [Appendix 5].   

 
Task 4: Screening Assessment  

 
3.15 In line with the screening requirement of the Habitats Regulations, an 

assessment was undertaken to determine the potential significant effects of 
the Cardiff Council Preferred Strategy on  the eight European sites that lie 
within the influence of the Preferred Strategy The screening decision was 
informed by: 

 
 The information gathered on the European sites - Appendix 1; 

                                                 
6 The review also draws on work being undertaken on behalf of the South East Wales Strategic Planning 
Group (SEWSPG) to build a resource kit of information and analysis to support HRA in the region. 

Page 2113



  Habitats Regulations Appraisal Screening Report 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                        12/21           

Enfusion 
  

 The review of the Cardiff Council Preferred Strategy policies and their 
likely impacts (Appendix 2) ; which included an analysis of the 
potential environmental impacts generated by the development 
activities directed by the LDP and; 

 The review of other relevant plans and programmes - Appendix 4 
 WAG and CCW guidance which indicates that HRA for plans is typically 

broader and more strategic than project level HRA and that it is 
proportionate to the available detail of the plan. 

 
Screening Assessment Summary 

 
3.16 The detail of the main screening exercise is set out at Appendix 5  
and the result of the assessment is summarised in the paragraphs below and 
at Table 5.  
 
 
Table 5 HRA Screening Table Summary 
European Site[s]  Designation 

 
AA required 
alone? 
 No 
 Yes 
? Uncertain 

AA required in 
combination? 
 No 
 Yes 
? Uncertain 

Aberbargoed 
Grasslands 

SAC   

Blackmill Woodlands SAC   

Cardiff Beechwoods SAC   
 

  
 

River Usk SAC   

River Wye SAC   

Severn Estuary Ramsar    

Severn Estuary SAC   

Severn Estuary SPA   

 

Page 2114



  Habitats Regulations Appraisal Screening Report 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                        13/21           

Enfusion 
  

 
4. 0 CONCLUSIONS, FUTURE WORK  
 
4.1 This report outlines the methods used and the findings arising from the 

screening stage of the Habitats Regulations Appraisal undertaken for the 
Cardiff Council Preferred Strategy 

 
4.2 The HRA considered eight European Sites within the influence of the 

Preferred Strategy 
 
4.3 Based on the information considered as part of the screening process, the 

findings of the assessment indicate that the Cardiff Council Preferred Strategy 
in implementation will not have a likely significant effect on the European sites 
considered as part of the HRA screening and will not require full AA under the 
Habitats Regulations.  The assessment may be revised should further 
relevant comments be received or if there are significant changes to the plan/ 
proposal as screened.  

Page 2115



  Habitats Regulations Appraisal Screening Report 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                        14/21           

Enfusion 
  

 
REFERENCES/ BIBLIOGRAPHY 

 
 
Legislation 
 
European Communities (1979) Council Directive 79/409/EEC on the conservation of 
wild birds the ‘Birds Directive’. 
 
European Communities (1992) Council Directive 92/43/EEC on the conservation of 
natural habitats and wild fauna and flora the ‘Habitats Directive’.  
 
Ramsar Convention on Wetlands (1971) – Intergovernmental Treaty. 
 
The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations, 2010. 
 
The Offshore Marine Conservation (Natural Habitats, &c) Regulations 2007. 
 
Welsh Assembly Government (WAG) Guidance 
 
Technical Advice Note (TAN) 5 (WAG, 2009) Nature Conservation and Planning: 
Annex 6 to TAN5 (WAG, 2009) The appraisal of development plans in Wales under 
the provisions of the Habitats Regulations. 
 
WAG Habitats Directive Weblink. 
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/environmentcountryside/consmanagement/conservationbio
diversity/habitatdirective/?lang=en  
 
 
European Union Guidance 
 
European Commission (EC) (2000) Managing Natura 2000 Sites: The Provisions of 
Article 6 of the ‘Habitats’ Directive 92/43/EEC. 
 
EC (2001) Assessment of Plans and Projects Significantly Affecting Natura 2000 
sites: methodological Guidance on the Provisions of Article 6(3) and (4) of the 
Habitats Directive 92/43/EEC. 
 
EC (2007) Guidance Document on Article 6(4) of the ‘Habitats Directive’ 92/43/EEC. 
Clarification of Concepts of: Alternative Solutions, Imperative Reasons of Overriding 
Public Interest, Compensatory Measures, Overall Coherence, Opinion of the 
Commission.  
 
 
Other Relevant Reference & Guidance Sources 
 
Hosking R & Tyldesley D (2006) How the scale of effects on internationally 
designated nature conservation sites in Britain has been considered in decision 
making: A review of authoritative decisions. 
 
Tyldesley, D., (2009) Draft Guidance for Plan Making Authorities in Wales: The 
Appraisal of Plans under the Habitats Directive, for Countryside Council for Wales 
CCW Bangor. 
 

Page 2116



  Habitats Regulations Appraisal Screening Report 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                        15/21           

Enfusion 
  

WAG (2004) Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) of Unitary Development 
Plans – Interim Good Practice Guide 
 
WAG (2006) Local Development Plans Wales. 
 
TraCC Regional Transport Plan 2009,  
 
SEWTA Rail Strategy Study Jan 2006  
 
South East Wales Transport Alliance: Regional Transport Plan 2009  
 
Welsh Coastal Tourism Strategy 2008  
 
Merchant Shipping (Oil Pollution Preparedness Response and Co-operation 
Convention) Regulations 1998, SI 1998 No 1056.  
 
Core Management Plan (Including Conservation Objectives) for Cardiff Beech 
Woods Special Area of Conservation (SAC).  December 2008.  Countryside 
Council for Wales.  
 
Revised Draft Water Resources Management Plan.  October 2011. Dŵr Cymru 
Welsh Water 

 
The Usk Catchment Abstraction Management Strategy.  March 2007.  Environment 
Agency Wales. 

 
People, Places, Futures: The Wales Spatial Plan (Update 2008).  Welsh Assembly 
Government. 
 
 
European Site Specific Information 
 
Joint Nature Conservation Committee (JNCC) - Protected Sites: 
http://www.jncc.gov.uk/page-4  
 
Browse SACs on map: 
http://www.jncc.gov.uk/page-1515  
 
Browse SPAs on map:  
http://www.jncc.gov.uk/page-2598  
 
Air Pollution Information System (APIS): 
http://www.apis.ac.uk/  
 
UK Water Company Boundaries: 
http://www.water.org.uk/home/our-members/find-water-company  
 
European Site Specific Information Wales 
 
Countryside Council for Wales (CCW) - Site Management Plans: 
http://www.ccw.gov.uk/landscape--wildlife/protecting-our-landscape/special-sites-
project.aspx  
 

Page 2117



  Habitats Regulations Appraisal Screening Report 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                        16/21           

Enfusion 
  

CCW - Protected Sites Map:  
http://www.ccw.gov.uk/interactive-maps/protected-sites-map.aspx  
 
CCW - Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI): 
http://www.ccw.gov.uk/landscape--wildlife/protecting-our-landscape/special-
landscapes--sites/protected-landscapes/sssis/sssi--report.aspx  
 
Catchment Abstraction Management Strategies (CAMS) Wales: 
http://www.environment-agency.gov.uk/business/topics/water/119927.aspx  

 

Page 2118



  Habitats Regulations Appraisal Screening Report 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                        17/21           

Enfusion 
  Page 2119



 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

© Enfusion Ltd 
Treenwood House 

Rowden Lane 
Bradford on Avon 

BA15 2AU 
T: 01225 867112 
F: 01225 867115 

michelle@enfusion.co.uk  
www.enfusion.co.uk 

Page 2120



            Strategic Planning
Cardiff Council

County Hall 
Atlantic Wharf

Cardiff
CF10 4UWPage 2121



Cardiff Local Development Plan
2006 - 2026

Habitat Regulations Assessment Report:
Appendix 1 -  European Site Descriptions and Characterisation
September 2013

P
age 2122



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               1/79       Enfusion 

Appendix 1 - EUROPEAN SITE CHARACTERISATIONS 
 
Special Areas of Conservation  
1. Aberbargoed Grasslands 
2. Blackmill Woodlands 
3. Cardiff Beech Woods 
4. River Usk 
5. River Wye 
6. Severn Estuary 
 
Special Protection Areas 
1. Severn Estuary 
 
Ramsar Sites 
1. Severn Estuary 
 
All core site specific information unless otherwise stated has been referenced from the Countryside Council for Wales / Natural Resources 
Wales website (Natura 2000 Management Plans) and the Joint Nature Conservation Committee website (Protected Sites). 

P
age 2123



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               2/79       Enfusion 

 
Special Areas of Conservation 
 

Site Name: Aberbargoed 
Grasslands 
Location Grid Ref: ST163992 
JNCC Site Code: UK0030071 
Size: 39.78 
Designation: SAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

Site Description Aberbargoed Grasslands covers an area of 42.5ha and lies on a southwest facing hillside in the Rhymney Valley, 1km 
east of Bargoed and adjacent to the A4049. A large and relatively isolated population of marsh fritillary butterfly 
(Euphydryas aurinia) is present on a series of damp pastures and heaths in Gwent, representing the species on the 
eastern edge of its range in Wales. 
 
The fields in the south and west of Aberbargoed Grasslands have impeded drainage and contain a mixture of marshy 
grassland communities. Areas of particular interest are characterised by abundant purple moor grass Molinia caerulea 
and meadow thistle Cirsium dissectum with devil’s bit scabious Succisa pratensis and carnation sedge Carex panicea. 
Other species such as saw-wort Serratula tinctoria and lousewort Pedicularis sylvatica occur frequently in heavily flushed 
areas. Associated stands of Molinia caerulea – Potentilla erecta mire contain abundant purple moor grass with tormentil 
Potentilla erecta, mat grass Nardus stricta, common sedge Carex nigra and spotted orchid Dactylorhiza maculata. Small 
stands of rush pasture are scattered across the site, with soft rush Juncus effuses, greater bird’s foot trefoil Lotus 
uliginosus and marsh bedstraw Galium palustre. 
 

Qualifying Features 
 

Annex I Habitats qualifying feature: 
 Molinia meadows on calcareous, peaty or clayey-silt-laden soils (Molinion caeruleae) 
 
Annex II Species primary reason for selection: 
 Marsh fritillary butterfly  Euphydryas (Eurodryas, Hypodryas) aurinia 
 

Conservation Objectives 
 

Conservation Objective for Feature 1:  
Marsh fritillary Butterfly Euphydryas (Eurodryas, Hypodryas) aurinia  
 
The vision for this feature is for it to be in a favourable conservation status, where all of the following conditions are 
satisfied: 

P
age 2124



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               3/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: Aberbargoed 
Grasslands 
Location Grid Ref: ST163992 
JNCC Site Code: UK0030071 
Size: 39.78 
Designation: SAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

 
 The site will support a sustainable metapopulation of the marsh fritillary in the Aberbargoed area. This will require at 

least 50ha of suitable habitat, although not all of this will be within the SAC  
 The population will be viable in the long term, acknowledging the extreme population fluctuations of the species. 
 Habitats on the site will be in optimal condition to support the metapopulation.  
 At least 25ha of the total site area will be marshy grassland suitable for supporting marsh fritillary, with Succisa 

pratensis present and only a low cover of scrub.   
 At least 6.25ha will be good marsh fritillary breeding habitat, dominated by purple moor-grass Molinia caerulea, with 

S. pratensis present throughout and a vegetation height of 10-20cm over the winter period.   
 All factors affecting the achievement of the foregoing conditions are under control. 
 
Conservation Objective for Feature 2: 
Molinia meadows on calcareous, peaty or clayey-silt-laden soils (Molinion caeruleae)  
 
Vision for feature 2 
 
The vision for this feature is for it to be in a favourable conservation status, where all of the following conditions are 
satisfied: 
 
 eu-Molinion marshy grassland  will occupy at least 70% of the total site area.  
 The remainder of the site will be other semi-natural habitat or areas of permanent pasture. 
 The following plants will be common in the eu-Molinion marshy grassland: purple moor-grass Molinia caerulea; 

meadow thistle Cirsium dissectum; devil’s bit scabious Succisa pratensis; carnation sedge Carex panicea; saw wort 
Serratula tinctoria; and lousewort Pedicularis sylvestris.   

 Cross-leaved heath Erica tetralix and common heather Calluna vulgaris will also be common in some areas.   
 Rushes and species indicative of agricultural modification, such as perennial rye grass Lolium perenne and white 

P
age 2125



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               4/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: Aberbargoed 
Grasslands 
Location Grid Ref: ST163992 
JNCC Site Code: UK0030071 
Size: 39.78 
Designation: SAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

clover Trifolium repens will be largely absent from the eu-Molinion marshy grassland.   
 Scrub species such as willow Salix and birch Betula will also be largely absent from the eu-Molinion marshy 

grassland.  
 All factors affecting the achievement of these conditions are under control. 
 
Performance indicators for Feature 1 
 
The performance indicators are part of the conservation objective, not a substitute for it.  Assessment of plans and 
projects must be based on the entire conservation objective, not just the performance indicators. The performance 
indicators can be found within the Aberbargoed Grasslands SAC Management Plan. 
 

Component SSSIs  Aberbargoed Grasslands SSSI 
 
The site has been divided into 2 management units of which unit 1 forms the Aberbargoed Grasslands SAC. A map of 
the management units can be viewed on the CCW website. 
 

Key Environmental Conditions 
(factors that maintain site 
integrity 

The Marsh fritillary butterfly is dependent on the Molinia meadows and wet heath. 
 
 Livestock grazing - The eu-Molinion marshy grassland needs to be maintained through traditional farming practices.  

Without an appropriate grazing regime, the grassland will continue to become rank and eventually turn to scrub and 
woodland.  Light grazing by cattle and ponies between April and November each year is essential in maintaining the 
marshy grassland communities. 

 
SAC Condition Assessment Conservation Status of Feature 1: 

Marsh fritillary butterfly Euphydryas (Eurodryas, Hypodryas) aurinia 
 
The Marsh Fritillary feature at Aberbargoed Grasslands SAC is considered to be in unfavourable condition and 
conservation status (October 2003).  

P
age 2126



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               5/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: Aberbargoed 
Grasslands 
Location Grid Ref: ST163992 
JNCC Site Code: UK0030071 
Size: 39.78 
Designation: SAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

 
Web counts have in recent years been very low, but the species naturally undergoes significant fluctuations in population 
numbers due to a variety of factors, including cold and wet weather conditions and parasitic attack.  
 
Conservation Status of Feature 2:  
Molinia meadows on calcareous, peaty or clayey-silt-laden soils (Molinion caeruleae)  
 
The SAC report dated October 2003 states that the site is considered to be Unfavourable condition and conservation 
status. This is because the habitat is not in suitable condition for the marsh fritillary. In areas of the site the vegetation is 
too tall, is dominated by Molinia and does not have sufficient Succisa. There is only 2.3ha of good condition habitat and 
9.7ha of suitable habitat within the site.  
 

Vulnerabilities (includes 
existing pressures and trends) 
 

The marsh fritillary butterfly population is under threat from:  
 
 Parasites - Parasitic wasps. 
 
The Molinia meadows are under threat from: 
 
 Anti-social behaviours - In previous years anti-social behaviour such as off-roading and burning have occurred at 

Aberbargoed grasslands. This issues need to be addressed to prevent the eu-Molinion habitat from being damaged. 
 
CCW states that work has progressed well on the site in the past few years; the site is now stock-proof and a mixture of 
Welsh Black and Belted Galloways graze the land with a Limousin bull.  Scrub clearance and bracken control has begun 
and flight lines have been cut to improve the connectivity for the butterflies. A programme has been set up to educate the 
local community to understand why this area is important. A newsletter has been created detailing activities on the 
grassland and difficulties the site is facing. This and the presence of staff and stock onsite seem to have halted the illegal 
burning and off-roading.  
 

Landowner/ Management  Caerphilly County Borough Council. 

P
age 2127



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               6/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: Aberbargoed 
Grasslands 
Location Grid Ref: ST163992 
JNCC Site Code: UK0030071 
Size: 39.78 
Designation: SAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

Responsibility 
 

P
age 2128



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               7/79       Enfusion 

 
Site Name: Blackmill 
Woodlands 
Location Grid Ref: SS929859 
JNCC Site Code: UK0030090 
Size: 71.01 
Designation: SAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

Site Description  Blackmill Woodlands is an example of old sessile oak woods at the southern extreme of the habitat’s range in Wales, 
and contributes to representation of the habitat in Wales and in south-west England. The site is situated within Bridgend 
County Borough and is approximately 3km away from the City of Bridgend. The A4061 runs directly between the two 
areas that comprise to make up the SAC. The ground flora is restricted by the relative dryness of the site, but the main 
habitat features of sessile oak Quercus petraea canopy, acidic ground flora of Vaccinium myrtillus and wavy hair-grass 
Deschampsia flexuosa, and moderate fern and bryophyte cover are present. The woodlands have a long cultural history 
of management, reflected in the distinctive gnarled appearance of many of the trees. 
 

Qualifying Features 
 

Annex I Habitats primary reason for selection: 
 Old sessile oak woods with Ilex and Blechnum in the British Isles 
 

Conservation Objectives 
 

Conservation Objective for Feature 1:  
Old sessile oak woods with Ilex and Blechnum in the British Isles 
 
Vision for feature 1 
There is only one feature for the site, and so the vision for this feature is the same as that for the site: 
At least 90% of the site will be covered by semi-natural broadleaved woodland. The trees will be locally native 
broadleaved species, with a dominance of oak in the canopy.  In the long term, the canopy will include trees of a wide 
range of age classes, with particular attention given to retaining old or veteran trees and encouraging natural 
regeneration of tree species, in particular oak.  Dead wood, standing and fallen, will be maintained where possible to 
provide habitat for invertebrates, fungi and other woodland species. The tree canopy will not be completely closed; 
approximately 10% of the woodland will include a naturally occurring dynamic, shifting pattern of gaps.   
 
It is required that the feature be in a favourable conservation status, where all of the conditions set out in the 
Performance Indicators table are satisfied, and all factors affecting the achievement of these conditions are under 
control. 
 
Performance indicators for Feature 1 

P
age 2129



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               8/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: Blackmill 
Woodlands 
Location Grid Ref: SS929859 
JNCC Site Code: UK0030090 
Size: 71.01 
Designation: SAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

 
The performance indicators are part of the conservation objective, not a substitute for it.  Assessment of plans and 
projects must be based on the entire conservation objective, not just the performance indicators. The performance 
indicators can be found within the Blackmill Woodlands SAC Management Plan. 
 

Component SSSIs  Blackmill Woodlands SSSI 
 
The site has been divided into 2 management units Allt Y Rhiw (Unit 1) and Craig Tal Y Fan (Unit 2), the SAC covers the 
same area. A map of the management units can be viewed on the CCW website. 
 

Key Environmental Conditions 
(factors that maintain site 
integrity 

 Management of woodland - focus on restoring an uneven age structure and providing increased opportunity for 
natural regeneration through removal of grazing and gap creation/maintenance.  

 
SAC Condition Assessment Conservation Status of Feature 1: 

Old sessile oak woods with Ilex and Blechnum in the British Isles 
 
Broad Attribute Allt Y Rhiw (Unit 1) Craig Tal Y Fan (Unit 2) 
Extent PASS PASS 
Structure and Natural Processes FAIL FAIL 
Regeneration FAIL FAIL 
Composition PASS PASS 
Quality Indicators PASS PASS 
 
The results shown above indicate that both Allt y Rhiw and Craig Tal-y-Fan failed to meet the limits set for two of the 
broad attributes, namely Structure, Natural Process and Regeneration. A closer look at the data reveals that both 
woodland blocks had insufficient gaps in the canopy, although the average number of gaps per sample was slightly 
higher for Craig Tal Y Fan than for Allt Y Rhiw. With regard to regeneration, seedlings > 5cm high were seen throughout 
Allt Y Rhiw and as a result this woodland block passed the limits set for this attribute. However fewer seedlings were 
seen throughout Craig Tal Y Fan and this woodland block failed this attribute. It is worth noting however that this attribute 

P
age 2130



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               9/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: Blackmill 
Woodlands 
Location Grid Ref: SS929859 
JNCC Site Code: UK0030090 
Size: 71.01 
Designation: SAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

needs to be assessed over a ten-year period. Both woodland blocks failed to have sufficient seedlings and saplings 
within canopy gaps. To summarise, the feature within this site is considered to be in unfavourable condition. However 
Unit 1 should be classified as unfavourable recovering and Unit 2 as unfavourable declining. 
 

Vulnerabilities (includes 
existing pressures and trends) 
 

 Grazing - Sheep grazing has, and continues to have, a major impact on the condition of the site with significant 
problems as a result of the heavy grazing in the Craig Tal-y-Fan (unit 2) woodland block. Excessive sheep grazing 
leads to a severely impoverished ground flora and severely inhibits the growth or recruitment of young seedlings and 
saplings for regeneration. Cessation of all grazing over a long period could be detrimental to the field layer, especially 
bryophytes, as they can become shaded out. The ideal is either to mimic the very low level within a natural woodland 
ecosystem, or to periodically vary grazing pressure.  

 
 Air pollution* - Possible in-combination effect of EA permitted licences, currently under investigation. 

o Acidification. 
o Eutrophication. 
o Photochemical oxidants. 
o Particulate matter. 

 
Landowner/ Management 
Responsibility 

These woodlands are situated entirely on Common Land, and are subject to rights of common. These include the lopping 
of branches for firewood which has resulted in the distinctive gnarled shape of many of the trees. 
 

                                                 
* Air Pollution Information System (APIS). Oak Woodland. Available from: 
http://www.apis.ac.uk/cgi_bin/habitat_result.pl?habResult=Oak+woodland&choice=allHabs&haborspec=habitat&submit.x=23&submit.y=8 

P
age 2131



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               10/79       Enfusion 

 
 
 
Site Name: Cardiff Beech 
Woods 
Location Grid Ref: ST118824 
JNCC Site Code: UK0030109 
Size: 115.62 
Designation: SAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

Site Description Cardiff Beech Woods lies to the north east of Cardiff and is intersected by the A4054 and the A470. The site contains one 
of the largest concentrations of Asperulo-Fagetum beech forests in Wales, and represents the habitat close to the 
western limit of its past native range in both the UK and Europe. The woods show mosaics and transitions to other types, 
including more acidic beech woodland and oak Quercus and ash Fraxinus excelsior woodland. Characteristic and 
notable species in the ground flora include ramsons Allium ursinum, sanicle Sanicula europaea, bird’s-nest orchid Neottia 
nidus-avis and yellow bird’s-nest Monotropa hypopitys. 
 

Qualifying Features 
 

Annex I Habitats primary reason for selection: 
 Asperulo-Fagetum beech forests 
 
Annex I Habitats qualifying feature: 
 Tilio-Acerion forests of slopes, screes and ravines* Priority feature 
 

Conservation Objectives 
 

Conservation Objective for Feature 1:  
Aperulo-Fagetum beech forest  
 
Vision for feature 1 
 
The vision for this feature is for it to be in a favourable conservation status, where all of the following conditions are 
satisfied: 
 
 The existing Asperulo-fagetum beech forest will be maintained.  
 At least 95% of canopy forming trees will be locally native species such as beech, ash and oak, with some areas 

dominated by beech.  

P
age 2132



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               11/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: Cardiff Beech 
Woods 
Location Grid Ref: ST118824 
JNCC Site Code: UK0030109 
Size: 115.62 
Designation: SAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

 The tree canopy will not be completely closed; approximately 10% of the canopy will include a dynamic shifting 
pattern of gaps encouraging natural regeneration of tree species of all ages.  

 Dead wood, standing and fallen, will be maintained where possible to provide habitat for invertebrates, fungi and other 
woodland species.  

 There are pockets of ground flora across the site, comprising species typical of lime-rich beech wood, including 
indicators of ancient woodland such as wood anemone, ramsons and sanicle.  

 There is little evidence of browsing or squirrel damage to trees.  
 Recreational use of the site will continue to be managed so it does not damage the wildlife interest of the site.  
 All factors affecting the achievement of these conditions are under control.  
  
Performance indicators for feature 1 
 
The performance indicators are part of the conservation objective, not a substitute for it.  Assessment of plans and 
projects must be based on the entire conservation objective, not just the performance indicators. The performance 
indicators can be found within the Cardiff Beech Woods SAC Management Plan. 
 
Conservation Objective for Feature 2:  
Tilio-Acerion forest of slopes, screes and ravines  
 
Vision for feature 2 
 
The vision for this feature is for it to be in a favourable conservation status, where all of the following conditions are 
satisfied: 
 
 The existing Tilio-acerion forest will be maintained.  
 At least 95% of canopy forming trees will be locally native species (sycamore included).  
 The tree canopy will not be completely closed; approximately 10% of the canopy will include a dynamic shifting 

P
age 2133



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               12/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: Cardiff Beech 
Woods 
Location Grid Ref: ST118824 
JNCC Site Code: UK0030109 
Size: 115.62 
Designation: SAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

pattern of gaps encouraging natural regeneration of tree species of all ages.  
 Dead wood, standing and fallen, will be maintained where possible to provide habitat for invertebrates, fungi and other 

woodland species.  
 There are pockets of ground flora across the site, comprising species typical of lime-rich beech wood, including 

indicators of ancient woodland such as wood anemone, ramsons and sanicle.  
 There is little evidence of browsing or squirrel damage to trees.  
 Recreational use of the site will continue to be managed so it does not damage the wildlife interest of the site.  
 All factors affecting the achievement of these conditions are under control.  
  
Performance indicators for feature 2 (see performance indicators for feature 1) 
 

Component SSSIs  Fforestganol, Tongwynlais a Cwm Nofydd (units 1-5) 
 Castell Coch Woodlands and Road Section (units 6-9) 
 Garth Wood (units 10-12) 
 
There are 12 management units of which numbers 1, 2, 3, 4, 8, 9 and 10 comprise to form the Cardiff Beech Woods 
SAC. A map showing the management units can be viewed on the CCW website.  
 

Key Environmental Conditions 
(factors that maintain site 
integrity 
 

 Maintain/manage the surrounding woodland - Commercial forestry in the vicinity of Castell Coch may have 
implications for surface water supply and quality.  There are also a number of active and disused limestone quarries in 
the area.  Garth Wood surrounds Taff’s Well Quarry but there are other, smaller quarries in and around all component 
SSSIs.  Quarrying can lead to direct loss of the feature together with indirect impacts from issues such as access.  
There are also a number of impacts arising from restoration at the end of a quarry’s working life.  

 
 Manage public access - Management of the recreational use of the woodlands should focus on maintaining the 

network of public footpaths and access routes. Regular maintenance of the footpaths and bridleways is essential to 
stop them spreading onto the adjacent woodland habitat. By restricting recreational use of the woodlands to certain 

P
age 2134



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               13/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: Cardiff Beech 
Woods 
Location Grid Ref: ST118824 
JNCC Site Code: UK0030109 
Size: 115.62 
Designation: SAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

areas and paths, natural woodland processes can be left to occur away from these areas of recreational use and 
without the need for intervention from a public health and safety perspective.  

 
SAC Condition Assessment Conservation Status of Feature 1 

Aperulo-Fagetum beech forest 
 
The sites were monitored in March 2004 to gather the extent or condition of the habitat.  The current feature status for the 
Asperulo-fagetum beech forest is Unfavourable - Unclassified (March 2004). 
 
The justification for the above feature status (March 2004) is as follows: 
 
CCW view is that the site is still recovering from undesirable effects of past management. Although most if not all aspects 
of the component sites are heading in the right direction the status is still short of favourable.  Implementation of 
appropriate management will be addressed but in our view there is no urgent or immediate need for action. 
 
The Garth Wood component is thought to be ‘unfavourable recovering’ although a management plan has not been 
prepared to date so its status has not been fully assessed.  The management is mostly limited intervention and for most 
of the site there is good age structure and gap regeneration.  Natural processes could be enhanced by localised 
intervention and this will be addressed through management recommendations. 
 
Fforestganol a Chwm Nofydd is thought to be ‘unfavourable recovering’, although a management plan has not been 
prepared to date so its status has not been fully assessed.  Although there are small areas of even age structure there is 
generally a diverse age structure.  This, together with concerns at the percentage of beech at some locations, will be 
addressed through management recommendations. 
  
Castell Coch Woodlands and Road Section is thought to be ‘unfavourable recovering’.  A full management plan has not 
been prepared to date so its status has not been fully assessed.  There is generally an even age structure with low 
canopy cover.  However, there is evidence of natural woodland processes, with good regeneration within the pattern of 
gaps.  Recovery is expected over time and this could be hastened with increased localised intervention.  This, together 

P
age 2135



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               14/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: Cardiff Beech 
Woods 
Location Grid Ref: ST118824 
JNCC Site Code: UK0030109 
Size: 115.62 
Designation: SAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

with concerns over the species composition (particularly ash and sycamore) at some locations will be addressed through 
management recommendations.  
 
Conservation Status of Feature 2 
Tilio-Acerion forest of slopes, screes and ravines  
 
The sites were monitored in February 2004 to gather the extent or condition of the habitats and the species.  The current 
feature status for the Tilio-Acerion forest of slopes, screes and ravines is Unfavourable - Recovering (February 2004). 
 
The justification for the above feature status (February 2004) is as follows: 
 
CCW view is that the site is still recovering from undesirable effects of past management. Although most if not all aspects 
of the component sites are heading in the right direction the status is still short of favourable.  Implementation of 
appropriate management will be addressed but in our view there is no urgent or immediate need for action. 
 
The Garth Wood component is thought to be ‘unfavourable recovering’ although a management plan has not been 
prepared to date so its status has not been fully assessed.  The management is mostly limited intervention and for most 
of the site there is good age structure and gap regeneration.  Natural processes could be enhanced by localised 
intervention and this will be addressed through management recommendations. 
 
Fforestganol a Chwm Nofydd is thought to be ‘unfavourable recovering’, although a management plan has not been 
prepared to date so its status has not been fully assessed.  Although there are small areas of even age structure there is 
generally a diverse age structure.  This, together with concerns at the percentage of beech at some locations, will be 
addressed through management recommendations. 
   

Vulnerabilities (includes 
existing pressures and trends) 
 

 Atmospheric Pollution - its location in industrialised South Wales, together with the presence of nearby quarrying 
and associated activities, means that there is the potential for localised atmospheric pollution.  Quarry dust deposition 
is an issue that occasionally comes up. 
o Nitrogen deposition.  

P
age 2136



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               15/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: Cardiff Beech 
Woods 
Location Grid Ref: ST118824 
JNCC Site Code: UK0030109 
Size: 115.62 
Designation: SAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

o Photochemical oxidants (ozone).  
o Acidification. 
 

 Recreational pressure - All component SSSIs are used to a greater or lesser extent for recreation purposes. Castell 
Coch Woodlands and Fforestganol a Chwm Nofydd experience the most recreation pressure, and are popular for 
walking, climbing and mountain biking. The Taff train runs through part of the Castell Coch Woodlands site and the 
historic building of Castell Coch attracts many visitors, which increases the access pressure on the woodlands. The 
road section is becoming increasingly popular for climbing, and this is unlikely to be a problem for the geological 
interest of the site.  However, climbing could be potentially damaging to trees at the top of the crag and needs to be 
kept under review. Management of access is nominally through the individual site owners but there are potential 
conflicts between different users which to date have been addressed through the Local Authority Access Forum.  
Recreation within the areas supporting this habitat feature is restricted due to the steep and rocky nature of the 
terrain. Therefore the recreational pressure on areas of Tilio-acerion is less than on areas of Asperulo-fagetum 
habitat. Nonetheless, given the high recreation pressure experienced by Fforestganol a Chwm Nofydd, which 
supports areas of Tilio-acerion habitat, aspects of recreational management still apply to this feature. 

 
 Mineral extraction and related activities - There are a number of active and disused limestone quarries in the area.  

Garth Wood surrounds Taff’s Well Quarry but there are other, smaller quarries in and around all component SSSIs.  
Quarrying can lead to direct loss of the feature together with indirect impacts from issues such as access.  There are 
also a number of impacts arising from restoration at the end of a quarry’s working life.   

 
 Development - Its location in the populated South Wales area means that there is considerable development 

pressure in the vicinity including associated infrastructure on land adjacent to the site. There is the potential for a 
range of impacts arising from increasing urbanisation. 

 
 Commercial Forestry - Commercial forestry in the vicinity of Castell Coch may have implications for surface water 

supply and quality. 
 

P
age 2137



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               16/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: Cardiff Beech 
Woods 
Location Grid Ref: ST118824 
JNCC Site Code: UK0030109 
Size: 115.62 
Designation: SAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

 Non-native species - The presence of a number of species considered to be non-native e.g. sycamore and 
Japanese knotweed, is currently under review to determine any detrimental effects on the woodland communities of 
special interest.  

  
Landowner/ Management 
Responsibility 

The majority of the woodlands are owned, or in the guardianship of government agencies, with most of the remainder of 
the woodland covered by a Section 106 agreement. Cardiff County Council, Cadw and Forestry Commission carry out 
woodland management for conservation purposes and occasionally health and safety purposes.  
 

 

P
age 2138



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               17/79       Enfusion 

 
 
 
 
Site Name: River Usk 
Location Grid Ref: SO301113 
JNCC Site Code: UK0013007 
Size: 1007.71 
Designation: SAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

Site Description The River Usk SAC rises in the Black Mountain range in the west of the Brecon Beacons National Park and flows east 
and then south, to enter the Severn Estuary at Newport. The overall form of the catchment is long and narrow, with short, 
generally steep tributaries flowing north from the Black Mountain, Fforest Fawr and Brecon Beacons, and south from 
Mynydd Epynt and the Black Mountains. The underlying geology consists predominantly of Devonian Old Red 
Sandstone with a moderate base status, resulting in waters that are generally well buffered against acidity. This geology 
also produces a generally low to moderate nutrient status, and a moderate base-flow index, intermediate between base-
flow dominated rivers and more flashy rivers on less permeable geology. The run-off characteristics and nutrient status 
are significantly modified by land use in the catchment, which is predominantly pastoral with some woodland and 
commercial forestry in the headwaters and arable in the lower catchment. The Usk catchment is entirely within Wales. 
 
The ecological structure and functions of the site are dependent on hydrological and geomorphological processes (often 
referred to as hydromorphological processes), as well as the quality of riparian habitats and connectivity of habitats.  
Animals that move around and sometimes leave the site, such as migratory fish and otters, may also be affected by 
factors operating outside the site. 
 
The River Usk is also important for its population of sea lamprey Petromyzon marinus. The site also supports a healthy 
population of brook lamprey Lampetra planeri and river lamprey Lampetra fluviatilis and is considered to provide 
exceptionally good quality habitat likely to ensure the continued survival of the species in this part of the UK. The site 
supports a range of Annex II fish species, which includes twaite shad Alosa falla, salmon Salmo sala and bullhead 
Cottus gobi. The River Usk is an important site for otters Lutra lutra in Wales.  
 

Qualifying Features 
 

Annex I Habitats qualifying feature: 
 Water courses of plain to montane levels with the Ranunculion fluitantis and Callitricho-Batrachion vegetation 
 
Annex II Species primary reason for selection: 

P
age 2139



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               18/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: River Usk 
Location Grid Ref: SO301113 
JNCC Site Code: UK0013007 
Size: 1007.71 
Designation: SAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

 Sea lamprey Petromyzon marinus 
 Brook lamprey Lampetra planeri 
 River lamprey Lampetra fluviatilis 
 Twaite shad Alosa fallax 
 Atlantic salmon Salmo salar 
 Bullhead Cottus gobio 
 Otter Lutra lutra 
 
Annex II Species qualifying feature: 
 Allis shad Alosa alosa 
 

Conservation Objectives 
 

The ecological status of the water course is a major determinant of Favourable Condition Status (FCS) for all 
features. The required conservation objective for the water course is defined below. 
 
Conservation Objective for the water course 
 
 The capacity of the habitats in the SAC to support each feature at near-natural population levels, as determined by 

predominantly unmodified ecological and hydromorphological processes and characteristics, should be maintained as 
far as possible, or restored where necessary. 

 The ecological status of the water environment should be sufficient to maintain a stable or increasing population of 
each feature. This will include elements of water quantity and quality, physical habitat and community composition 
and structure. It is anticipated that these limits will concur with the relevant standards used by the Review of Consents 
process given in Annexes 1-3. 

 Flow regime, water quality and physical habitat should be maintained in, or restored as far as possible to, a near-
natural state, in order to support the coherence of ecosystem structure and function across the whole area of the 
SAC. 

 All known breeding, spawning and nursery sites of species features should be maintained as suitable habitat as far as 

P
age 2140



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               19/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: River Usk 
Location Grid Ref: SO301113 
JNCC Site Code: UK0013007 
Size: 1007.71 
Designation: SAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

possible, except where natural processes cause them to change.  
 Flows, water quality, substrate quality and quantity at fish spawning sites and nursery areas will not be depleted by 

abstraction, discharges, engineering or gravel extraction activities or other impacts to the extent that these sites are 
damaged or destroyed. 

 The river planform and profile should be predominantly unmodified. Physical modifications having an adverse effect 
on the integrity of the SAC, including, but not limited to, revetments on active alluvial river banks using stone, 
concrete or waste materials, unsustainable extraction of gravel, addition or release of excessive quantities of fine 
sediment, will be avoided.  

 River habitat SSSI features should be in favourable condition. In the case of the Usk Tributaries SSSI, the SAC 
habitat is not underpinned by a river habitat SSSI feature. In this case, the target is to maintain the characteristic 
physical features of the river channel, banks and riparian zone. 

 Artificial factors impacting on the capability of each species feature to occupy the full extent of its natural range should 
be modified where necessary to allow passage, eg. weirs, bridge sills, acoustic barriers. 

 Natural factors such as waterfalls, which may limit the natural range of a species feature or dispersal between 
naturally isolated populations, should not be modified. 

 Flows during the normal migration periods of each migratory fish species feature will not be depleted by abstraction to 
the extent that passage upstream to spawning sites is hindered. 

 Flow objectives for assessment points in the Usk Catchment Abstraction Management Strategy will be agreed 
between EA and CCW as necessary. It is anticipated that these limits will concur with the standards used by the 
Review of Consents process given in Annex 1 of this document. 

 Levels of nutrients, in particular phosphate, will be agreed between EA and CCW for each Water Framework Directive 
water body in the Usk SAC, and measures taken to maintain nutrients below these levels. It is anticipated that these 
limits will concur with the standards used by the Review of Consents process given in Annex 2 of this document. 

 Levels of water quality parameters that are known to affect the distribution and abundance of SAC features will be 
agreed between EA and CCW for each Water Framework Directive water body in the Usk SAC, and measures taken 
to maintain pollution below these levels. It is anticipated that these limits will concur with the standards used by the 
Review of Consents process given in Annex 3 of this document.  

 Potential sources of pollution not addressed in the Review of Consents, such as contaminated land, will be 

P
age 2141



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               20/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: River Usk 
Location Grid Ref: SO301113 
JNCC Site Code: UK0013007 
Size: 1007.71 
Designation: SAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

considered in assessing plans and projects. 
 Levels of suspended solids will be agreed between EA and CCW for each Water Framework Directive water body in 

the Usk SAC. Measures including, but not limited to, the control of suspended sediment generated by agriculture, 
forestry and engineering works, will be taken to maintain suspended solids below these levels. 

 
Conservation Objective for Features 1-5:  
 
- Sea lamprey Petromyzon marinus; 
- Brook lamprey Lampetra planeri; 
- River lamprey Lampetra fluviatilis; 
- Twaite shad Alosa fallax; 
- Allis shad Alosa alosa; 
- Atlantic salmon Salmo salar; 
- Bullhead Cottus gobio. 
 
Vision for features 1-5  
The vision for this feature is for it to be in a favourable conservation status, where all of the following conditions are 
satisfied: 
 
 The conservation objective for the water course as defined in 4.1 above must be met. 
 The population of the feature in the SAC is stable or increasing over the long term.  
 The natural range of the feature in the SAC is neither being reduced nor is likely to be reduced for the foreseeable 

future. The natural range is taken to mean those reaches where predominantly suitable habitat for each life stage 
exists over the long term. Suitable habitat is defined in terms of near-natural hydrological and geomorphological 
processes and forms eg. suitable flows to allow upstream migration, depth of water and substrate type at spawning 
sites, and ecosystem structure and functions eg. food supply. Suitable habitat need not be present throughout the 
SAC but where present must be secured for the foreseeable future. Natural factors such as waterfalls may limit the 
natural range of individual species. Existing artificial influences on natural range that cause an adverse effect on site 
integrity, such as physical barriers to migration, will be assessed in view of the following bullet point. 

P
age 2142



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               21/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: River Usk 
Location Grid Ref: SO301113 
JNCC Site Code: UK0013007 
Size: 1007.71 
Designation: SAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

 There is, and will probably continue to be, a sufficiently large habitat to maintain the feature’s population in the SAC 
on a long-term basis.  

 
Performance indicators for features 1-5 
 
The performance indicators are part of the conservation objective, not a substitute for it.  Assessment of plans and 
projects must be based on the entire conservation objective, not just the performance indicators. The performance 
indicators can be found within the River Usk SAC Management Plan .  
 
Conservation Objective for Feature 6:  
- European otter Lutra lutra   
 
Vision for feature 6 
The vision for this feature is for it to be in a favourable conservation status, where all of the following conditions are 
satisfied: 
 
 The population of otters in the SAC is stable or increasing over the long term and reflects the natural carrying capacity 

of the habitat within the SAC, as determined by natural levels of prey abundance and associated territorial behaviour. 
 The natural range of otters in the SAC is neither being reduced nor is likely to be reduced for the foreseeable future. 

The natural range is taken to mean those reaches that are potentially suitable to form part of a breeding territory 
and/or provide routes between breeding territories. The whole area of the Usk SAC is considered to form potentially 
suitable breeding habitat for otters. The size of breeding territories may vary depending on prey abundance. The 
population size should not be limited by the availability of suitable undisturbed breeding sites. Where these are 
insufficient they should be created through habitat enhancement and where necessary the provision of artificial holts. 
No otter breeding site should be subject to a level of disturbance that could have an adverse effect on breeding 
success. Where necessary, potentially harmful levels of disturbance must be managed. 

 The safe movement and dispersal of individuals around the SAC is facilitated by the provision, where necessary, of 
suitable riparian habitat, and underpasses, ledges, fencing etc at road bridges and other artificial barriers.  

 

P
age 2143



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               22/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: River Usk 
Location Grid Ref: SO301113 
JNCC Site Code: UK0013007 
Size: 1007.71 
Designation: SAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

Performance indicators for feature 6 (see performance indicators for features 1 - 5) 
 
Conservation Objective for Feature 7:  
- Water courses of plain to montane levels with the Ranunculion fluitantis and Callitricho-Batrachion vegetation 
 
Vision for feature 7 
 
The performance indicators are part of the conservation objective, not a substitute for it.  Assessment of plans and 
projects must be based on the entire conservation objective, not just the performance indicators. 
 
 The conservation objectives for the water course as defined above must be met. 
 The natural range of the plant communities represented within this feature should be stable or increasing in the SAC. 

The natural range is taken to mean those reaches where predominantly suitable habitat exists over the long term. 
Suitable habitat and associated plant communities may vary from reach to reach. Suitable habitat is defined in terms 
of near-natural hydrological and geomorphological processes and forms eg. depth and stability of flow, stability of bed 
substrate, and ecosystem structure and functions eg. nutrient levels, shade. Suitable habitat for the feature need not 
be present throughout the SAC but where present must be secured for the foreseeable future, except where natural 
processes cause it to decline in extent. 

 The area covered by the feature within its natural range in the SAC should be stable or increasing. 
 The conservation status of the feature’s typical species should be favourable. The typical species are defined with 

reference to the species composition of the appropriate JNCC river vegetation type for the particular river reach, 
unless differing from this type due to natural variability when other typical species may be defined as appropriate. 

 
Performance indicators for feature 7 (see performance indicators for features 1 - 5) 
 

Component SSSIs  River Usk (Upper Usk) SSSI 
 River Usk (Lower Usk) SSSI 
 River Usk (Tributaries) SSSI 

P
age 2144



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               23/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: River Usk 
Location Grid Ref: SO301113 
JNCC Site Code: UK0013007 
Size: 1007.71 
Designation: SAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

 Penllwyn-yr-hendy SSSI 
 Coed Dyrysiog SSSI 
 Coed Nant Menascin SSSI 
 Coed Ynysfaen SSSI 
 
The SAC has been divided into 10 management units: 
 Units 1 to 3 - River Usk (Lower Usk) SSSI. 
 Units 4 to 6 - River Usk (Upper Usk) SSSI. 
 Units 7 to 10 - River Usk (Tributaries) SSSI. 
 
A map showing the various management units can be seen within the River Usk SAC Management Plan. 
 

Key Environmental Conditions 
(factors that maintain site 
integrity 

 Hydrological processes: 
o River flow (level and variability) and water chemistry, determine a range of habitat factors of critical importance 

to the SAC features, including current velocity, water depth, wetted area, substrate quality, dissolved oxygen 
levels and water temperature.  Maintenance of both high ‘spate’ flows and base-flows is essential.  Reduction in 
flows may reduce the ability of the adults of migratory fish to reach spawning sites. Water-crowfoot vegetation 
thrives in relatively stable, moderate flows and clean water. The flow regime should be characteristic of the river in 
order to support the functioning of the river ecosystem. 

 
 Geomorphological processes - of erosion by water and subsequent deposition of eroded sediments downstream, 

create the physical structure of the river habitats. Whilst some sections of the river are naturally stable, especially 
where they flow over bedrock, others undergo constant and at times rapid change through the erosion and deposition 
of bed and bank sediments as is typical of meandering sections within floodplains (called ‘alluvial’ rivers). These 
processes help to sustain the river ecosystem by allowing a continued supply of clean gravels and other important 
substrates to be transported downstream. In addition, the freshly deposited and eroded surfaces, such as shingle 
banks and earth cliffs, enable processes of ecological succession to begin again, providing an essential habitat for 
specialist, early-successional species. Lampreys need clean gravel for spawning, and marginal silt or sand for the 

P
age 2145



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               24/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: River Usk 
Location Grid Ref: SO301113 
JNCC Site Code: UK0013007 
Size: 1007.71 
Designation: SAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

burrowing juvenile ammocoetes. Processes at the wider catchment scale generally govern processes of erosion and 
deposition occurring at the reach scale, although locally, factors such as the effect of grazing levels on riparian 
vegetation structure may contribute to enhanced erosion rates. In general, management that interferes with natural 
geomorphological processes, for example preventing bank erosion through the use of hard revetments or removing 
large amounts of gravel, are likely to be damaging to the coherence of the ecosystem structure and functions. 
 

 Riparian habitats - including bank sides and habitats on adjacent land, are an integral part of the river ecosystem.  
Diverse and high quality riparian habitats have a vital role in maintaining the SAC features in a favourable condition. 
The type and condition of riparian vegetation influences shade and water temperature, nutrient run-off from adjacent 
land, the availability of woody debris to the channel and inputs of leaf litter and invertebrates to support in-steam 
consumers. Light, temperature and nutrient levels influence in-stream plant production and habitat suitability for the 
SAC features. Woody debris is very important as it provides refuge areas from predators, traps sediment to create 
spawning and juvenile habitat and forms the base of an important aquatic food chain. Otters require sufficient 
undisturbed riparian habitats as breeding and resting sites. It is important that appropriate amounts of tree cover, in 
general at least 50% high canopy cover, tall vegetation and other semi-natural habitats are maintained on the 
riverbanks and in adjacent areas, and that they are properly managed to support the SAC features. This may be 
achieved, for example, through managing grazing levels, selective coppicing of riparian trees and restoring adjacent 
wetlands. In the urban sections the focus may be on maintaining the river as a communication corridor but this will still 
require that sufficient riparian habitat is present and managed to enable the river corridor to function effectively. 

 
 Habitat connectivity - is an important property of a river ecosystem structure and function. Many of the fish that 

spawn in the river are migratory, depending on the maintenance of suitable conditions on their migration routes to 
allow the adults to reach available spawning habitat and juvenile fish to migrate downstream. For resident species, 
dispersal to new areas, or the prevention of dispersal causing isolated populations to become genetically distinct, may 
be important factors. Naturally isolated feature populations that are identified as having important genetic 
distinctiveness should be maintained. Artificial obstructions including weirs and bridge sills can reduce connectivity for 
some species. In addition, reaches subject to depleted flow levels, pollution, or disturbance due to noise, vibration or 
light, can all inhibit the movement of sensitive species. The dispersal of semi-terrestrial species such as the otter can 
be adversely affected by structures such as bridges under certain flow conditions; therefore, these must be designed 
to allow safe passage. The continuity of riparian habitats enables a wide range of terrestrial species, for example 

P
age 2146



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               25/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: River Usk 
Location Grid Ref: SO301113 
JNCC Site Code: UK0013007 
Size: 1007.71 
Designation: SAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

lesser horseshoe bats, to migrate and disperse through the landscape. Connectivity should be maintained or restored 
where necessary as a means to ensure access for the features to sufficient habitat within the SAC. 

 
SAC Condition Assessment Conservation status of Feature 1: Sea lamprey Petromyzon marinus 

 
Status: Unfavourable: Unclassified. Sea lamprey monitoring showed that overall catchment mean ammocoete density 
considerably exceeded the JNCC target threshold and also complied with targets for spawning site and ammocoete 
distribution. A caveat on the latter is uncertainty over whether the natural range of sea lamprey extends above Brecon 
weir: this is assumed not to be the case.  
 
Factors leading to an unfavourable assessment are the presence of probable partial barriers further downstream (notably 
Crickhowell Bridge), and flow depletion resulting from abstractions including Brecon canal and Prioress Mill public water 
supply abstraction. The latter in particular has been shown to have effects both on a seasonal timescale by reducing 
spate flows during the migration period and on a diurnal timescale by substantially depleting flows during the night time 
to the extent that sea lamprey nests and nursery areas are likely to be exposed above the water level. The effect of the 
Brecon canal abstraction has been shown to comprise a substantial depletion of flows, at least locally, during low flow 
periods with a resulting reduction in river depth downstream of the off-take weir. 
 
Conservation status of Feature 2: Brook lamprey Lampetra planeri and River lamprey Lampetra fluviatilis 
 
Status: Favourable. Brook/river lamprey monitoring showed that overall catchment mean ammocoete density 
considerably exceeded the JNCC target threshold and also complied with targets for ammocoete distribution1.  
 
It has not been possible to distinguish between these two species during monitoring, due to the reliance on juvenile 
stages (ammocoetes). Anecdotal evidence suggests that both species are likely to be present in many reaches, though 
brook lamprey are expected to predominate in the headwaters and river lamprey may be the more abundant species in 
the main channel and the lower reaches of larger tributaries. More information on the relative abundance of these two 
species in different parts of the Usk SAC is desirable. Records of spawning adult river lamprey would be particularly 
useful. 
 

P
age 2147



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               26/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: River Usk 
Location Grid Ref: SO301113 
JNCC Site Code: UK0013007 
Size: 1007.71 
Designation: SAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

Conservation status of Feature 3: Twaite shad Alosa fallax and Allis shad Alosa alosa 
 
Status: Unfavourable: Unclassified. Monitoring of these species in the Usk relies on two methods,  
Kick sampling for eggs provides qualitative information on spawning distribution, 
Netting for juveniles in the lower river and tidal reaches during late summer/autumn when juveniles drift downstream 
towards the estuary. 
 
These methods do not distinguish between the two species. Allis shad is thought to be rare, with no recent records in the 
Usk, while twaite shad is relatively common. Kick sampling for eggs is only able to give a broad scale indication of 
presence or absence at sampled locations. Netting for juveniles gives a quantitative estimate of abundance, though may 
be subject to a high degree of uncertainty due to sampling error. This uncertainty is likely to be compounded by variation 
between years in the size of the adult run, spawning success and resulting numbers of juveniles. Poor adult runs are 
likely to result from unsuitable flows during the March to June migration period, in particular prolonged low flows, while 
poor survival of eggs and juveniles is related to spate flows in the mid to late summer which can flush them into the 
estuary prematurely.  
 
CSM guidance states that adult run size should comply with an agreed target for each river, with no drop in the annual 
run greater than would be expected from variations in natural mortality alone. This attribute is not currently assessed in 
the Usk due to the absence of a fish counter. 
 
The current unfavourable status results from a precautionary assessment of feature distribution and abundance, and 
from the presence of adverse factors, in particular flow depletion and physical barriers to migration. 
 
Conservation status of Feature 4: Atlantic salmon Salmo salar 
 
Status: Unfavourable: Unclassified. Monitoring of Atlantic salmon in the Usk relies on two methods, 

1. Estimation of adult run size from angling catch returns, 
2. Electro-fishing for juveniles in nursery areas. 

 
The estimate of adult numbers is converted into an estimate of numbers of eggs deposited which is compared against an 
Egg Deposition Target (EDT), calculated by considering the area of suitable spawning habitat within the catchment. The 

P
age 2148



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               27/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: River Usk 
Location Grid Ref: SO301113 
JNCC Site Code: UK0013007 
Size: 1007.71 
Designation: SAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

equivalent adult run to achieve the EDT is described in terms of a Conservation Limit, which must be exceeded 4 years 
in 5 for the Management Target to be considered attained. Electro-fishing for juveniles is either quantitative or semi-
quantitative, and estimated juvenile densities are classified in one of six categories A to F. The monitoring guidance 
produced by the LIFE in UK Rivers project recommends that ideally juvenile densities should be compared to predicted 
densities for the sample reach using the HABSCORE model6. These targets are calculated and monitored by the 
Environment Agency as part of the Salmon Action Plan for the Usk. 
 
The current unfavourable status results from a precautionary assessment of feature distribution and abundance, in 
particular the results of juvenile surveys, and from the presence of adverse factors, in particular flow depletion and 
localised water quality failures. 
 
Conservation status of Feature 5: Bullhead Cottus gobio 
 
Status: Unfavourable: Unclassified. The current unfavourable status results from the presence of adverse factors, in 
particular flow depletion and localised water quality failures. Records obtained from juvenile salmon monitoring show that 
bullhead are widespread in the main river and tributaries. There is a need for quantitative information on bullhead 
abundance, which will be addressed by targeted monitoring in 2007.  
 
Conservation status of Feature 6: European otter Lutra lutra 
 
Status: Favourable. The conservation status of otters in the Usk SAC is determined by monitoring their distribution, 
breeding success, and the condition of potential breeding and feeding habitat outlined in the Performance Indicators. 
Their current condition can be considered favourable, but with scope for further improvement, if habitat and other natural 
factors can be maintained and enhanced.   
 
Conservation status of Feature 7: Water courses of plain to montane levels with the Ranunculion fluitantis and 
Callitricho-Batrachion vegetation 
 
Status: Unfavourable: Unclassified.  The present unfavourable status of the feature results from the over-abundance of 
invasive non-native species of bankside plant communities, which are included within the feature definition. These are 
predominantly giant hogweed and Himalayan balsam in the lower reaches of the main river. 

P
age 2149



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               28/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: River Usk 
Location Grid Ref: SO301113 
JNCC Site Code: UK0013007 
Size: 1007.71 
Designation: SAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

 

Vulnerabilities (includes 
existing pressures and trends) 
 

 Abstraction levels - Entrainment in water abstractions directly impacts on lamprey population dynamics through 
reduced recruitment and survival rates. The impact of flow depletion resulting from a small number of major 
abstractions was highlighted in the Review of Consents process. 

 
 Eutrophication - factors that are important to the favourable conservation status of this feature include flow, 

substrate quality and water quality, which in turn influence species composition and abundance. These factors often 
interact, producing unfavourable conditions by promoting the growth of a range of algae and other species indicative 
of eutrophication. Under conditions of prolonged low flows and high nutrient status, epiphytic algae may suppress the 
growth of aquatic flowering plants.  

 
 Diffuse Pollution - The Atlantic salmon is the focus for much of the management activity carried out on the Usk. The 

relatively demanding water quality and spawning substrate quality requirements of this feature mean that reduction in 
diffuse pollution and siltation impacts is a high priority. In the Usk catchment, the most significant sources of diffuse 
pollution and siltation are from agriculture, including fertiliser run-off, livestock manure, silage effluent and soil erosion 
from ploughed land. The most intensively used areas such as heavily trampled gateways and tracks can be especially 
significant sources of polluting run-off. Farm operations should avoid ploughing land which is vulnerable to soil 
erosion or leaving such areas without crop cover during the winter. Contamination by synthetic pyrethroid sheep dips, 
which are extremely toxic to aquatic invertebrates, has a devastating impact on crayfish populations and can deprive 
fish populations of food over large stretches of river. These impacts can arise if recently dipped sheep are allowed 
access to a stream or hard standing area, which drains into a watercourse. Pollution from organophosphate sheep 
dips and silage effluent can be very damaging locally. Pollution from slurry and other agricultural and industrial 
chemicals, including fuels, can kill all forms of aquatic life. All sheep dips and silage, fuel and chemical storage areas 
should be sited away from watercourses or bunded to contain leakage. Recently dipped sheep should be kept off 
stream banks. Discharges from sewage treatment works, urban drainage, engineering works such as road 
improvement schemes, contaminated land, and other domestic and industrial sources can also be significant causes 
of pollution, and must be managed appropriately. Pollution of rivers with toxic chemicals, such as PCBs, was one of 
the major factors identified in the widespread decline of otters during the last century.  

 

P
age 2150



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               29/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: River Usk 
Location Grid Ref: SO301113 
JNCC Site Code: UK0013007 
Size: 1007.71 
Designation: SAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

 Barriers to migration - There are few barriers to migration for the anadromous species and where barriers exist, 
investigation is proposed to analyse for potential impacts and remedy them through multi-species fish passes. 
Crickhowell Bridge is considered to be the most significant barrier to fish migration in the Usk. Management to reduce 
or remove the effect of this barrier is a high priority for the River Usk SAC. Artificial physical barriers are probably the 
single most important factor in the decline of shad in Europe. Impassable obstacles between suitable spawning areas 
and the sea can eliminate breeding populations of shad. Both species (but particularly allis shad) can make 
migrations of hundreds of kilometres from the estuary to spawning grounds in the absence of artificial barriers. 
Existing fish passes designed for salmon are often not effective for shad.  

 
 Development pressure - in the lower catchment can cause temporary physical, acoustic, chemical and sediment 

barrier effects that need to be addressed in the assessment of specific plans and projects. Noise/vibration e.g. due to 
impact piling, drilling, salmon fish counters present within or in close proximity to the river can create a barrier to shad 
migration. Land on both sides of the river in Newport is potentially highly contaminated. Contamination of the river can 
arise when this is disturbed e.g. as a result of development. Contamination can also arise from pollution events 
(which could be shipping or industry related). Barriers resulting from vibration, chemicals, low dissolved oxygen and 
artificially high sediment levels must be prevented at key times (generally March to June). 

 
 Invasive non-native plants - are a detrimental impact on the water courses of plain to montane levels with the 

Ranunculion fluitantis and Callitricho-Batrachion vegetation. Giant hogweed, Himalayan balsam and Japanese 
knotweed should be actively managed to control their spread and hopefully reduce their extent in the SAC.  

 
 Artificially enhanced densities of other fish - may introduce unacceptable competition or predation pressure and 

the aim should be to minimise these risks in considering any proposals for stocking. 
 
 External factors - operating outside the SAC, may also be influential, particularly for the migratory fish and otters. 

For example, salmon may be affected by barriers to migration in the Severn Estuary, inshore fishing and 
environmental conditions prevailing in their north Atlantic feeding grounds. Otters may be affected by developments 
that affect resting and breeding sites outside the SAC boundary. 

 

P
age 2151



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               30/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: River Usk 
Location Grid Ref: SO301113 
JNCC Site Code: UK0013007 
Size: 1007.71 
Designation: SAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

Landowner/ Management 
Responsibility 

 N/A 

 

P
age 2152



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               31/79       Enfusion 

 
Site Name: River Wye 
Location Grid Ref: SO109369 
JNCC Site Code: UK0012642 
Size: 2234.89 
Designation: SAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

Site Description The River Wye rises on Plynlimon in the Cambrian Mountains and flows in a generally south-easterly direction to enter 
the Severn Estuary at Chepstow.  The upper catchment comprises several large sub-catchments, including the Irfon on 
the generally infertile upland landscape in the north-west, the Ithon in the north-east often on more low-lying, fertile 
terrain and the Lugg in the east in a predominantly low-lying fertile landscape much of which lies within England.  The 
underlying geology consists predominantly of impermeable, acidic rocks of Silurian and Ordovician age in the north-west 
and more permeable Devonian Old Red Sandstone with a moderate base status in the middle and lower catchment.  
This geology produces a generally low to moderate nutrient status and a low to moderate base-flow index, making the 
river characteristically flashy.  The run-off characteristics and nutrient status are significantly modified by land use in the 
catchment, which is predominantly pastoral with some woodland and commercial forestry in the headwaters and arable 
in the lower catchment and the Lugg.  The Wye catchment is divided between Wales and England; the river forms the 
border from south of Monmouth to Chepstow and to the east of Hay-on-Wye. 
 
Historically, the Wye is the most famous and productive river in Wales for Atlantic salmon Salmo salar, with high-quality 
spawning grounds and juvenile habitat in both the main channel and tributaries.  The Wye salmon population is 
particularly notable for the very high proportion (around 75%) of multi sea winter (MSW) fish, a stock component which 
has declined sharply in recent years throughout the UK.  This pattern has also occurred in the Wye, with a consequent 
marked decline in the population since the 1980s.  However, the Wye salmon population is still of considerable 
importance in UK terms.  The Atlantic salmon is the focus for much of the management activity carried out on the Wye.  
The relatively demanding water quality and spawning substrate quality requirements of this feature mean that reduction 
in diffuse pollution and siltation impacts is a high priority.  The Wye also holds the densest and most well-established 
otter Lutra lutra population in Wales, representative of otters occurring in lowland freshwater habitats in the borders of 
Wales.  The river has bank-side vegetation cover, abundant food supply, clean water and undisturbed areas of dense 
scrub suitable for breeding, making it particularly favourable as otter habitat.  The population remained even during the 
lowest point of the UK decline, confirming that the site is particularly favourable for this species and the population likely 
to be highly stable.  The site is considered one of the best in the UK for white-clawed crayfish Austropotamobius pallipes.  
The tributaries are the main haven for the species, particularly at the confluences of the main river and the Edw, Dulas 
Brook, Sgithwen and Clettwr Brook.  Other importance species supported by the River Wye are twaite shad, bullhead 
and river, sea and brook lamprey.  
 

P
age 2153



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               32/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: River Wye 
Location Grid Ref: SO109369 
JNCC Site Code: UK0012642 
Size: 2234.89 
Designation: SAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

Qualifying Features 
 

Annex I habitats primary reason for selection: 
 Water courses of plain to montane levels with the Ranunculion fluitantis and Callitricho-Batrachion vegetation 
 
Annex I habitats qualifying feature: 
 Transition mires and quaking bogs 
 
Annex II species primary reason for selection: 
 White-clawed (or Atlantic stream) crayfish  Austropotamobius pallipes 
 Sea lamprey  Petromyzon marinus 
 Brook lamprey  Lampetra planeri 
 River lamprey  Lampetra fluviatilis 
 Twaite shad  Alosa fallax 
 Atlantic salmon  Salmo salar 
 Bullhead  Cottus gobio 
 Otter  Lutra lutra 
 
Annex II Species qualifying feature: 
 Allis shad  Alosa alosa 
 

Conservation Objectives 
 

The ecological status of the watercourse is a major determinant of Favourable Condition Status for all features. The 
required conservation objective for the watercourse is defined below. 
 
Conservation Objective for the watercourse 
 
 The capacity of the habitats in the SAC to support each feature at near-natural population levels, as determined by 

predominantly unmodified ecological and hydromorphological processes and characteristics, should be maintained as 
far as possible, or restored where necessary. 

P
age 2154



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               33/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: River Wye 
Location Grid Ref: SO109369 
JNCC Site Code: UK0012642 
Size: 2234.89 
Designation: SAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

 The ecological status of the water environment should be sufficient to maintain a stable or increasing population of 
each feature. This will include elements of water quantity and quality, physical habitat and community composition 
and structure. It is anticipated that these limits will concur with the relevant standards used by the Review of Consents 
process given in Annexes 1-3. 

 Flow regime, water quality and physical habitat should be maintained in, or restored as far as possible to, a near-
natural state, in order to support the coherence of ecosystem structure and function across the whole area of the 
SAC. 

 All known breeding, spawning and nursery sites of species features should be maintained as suitable habitat as far as 
possible, except where natural processes cause them to change.  

 Flows, water quality, substrate quality and quantity at fish spawning sites and nursery areas will not be depleted by 
abstraction, discharges, engineering or gravel extraction activities or other impacts to the extent that these sites are 
damaged or destroyed. 

 The river planform and profile should be predominantly unmodified. Physical modifications having an adverse effect 
on the integrity of the SAC, including, but not limited to, revetments on active alluvial river banks using stone, 
concrete or waste materials, unsustainable extraction of gravel, addition or release of excessive quantities of fine 
sediment, will be avoided.  

 River habitat SSSI features should be in favourable condition. Where the SAC habitat is not underpinned by a river 
habitat SSSI feature, the target is to maintain the characteristic physical features of the river channel, banks and 
riparian zone. 

 Artificial factors impacting on the capability of each species feature to occupy the full extent of its natural range should 
be modified where necessary to allow passage, eg. weirs, bridge sills, acoustic barriers. 

 Natural factors such as waterfalls, which may limit, wholly or partially, the natural range of a species feature or 
dispersal between naturally isolated populations, should not be modified. 

 Flows during the normal migration periods of each migratory fish species feature will not be depleted by abstraction to 
the extent that passage upstream to spawning sites is hindered. 

 Flow objectives for assessment points in the Wye Catchment Abstraction Management Strategy will be agreed 
between EA and CCW as necessary. It is anticipated that these limits will concur with the standards used by the 
Review of Consents process given in Annex 1 of this document. 

P
age 2155



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               34/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: River Wye 
Location Grid Ref: SO109369 
JNCC Site Code: UK0012642 
Size: 2234.89 
Designation: SAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

 Levels of nutrients, in particular phosphate, will be agreed between EA and CCW for each Water Framework Directive 
water body in the Wye SAC, and measures taken to maintain nutrients below these levels. It is anticipated that these 
limits will concur with the standards used by the Review of Consents process given in Annex 2 of this document. 

 Levels of water quality parameters that are known to affect the distribution and abundance of SAC features will be 
agreed between EA and CCW for each Water Framework Directive water body in the Wye SAC, and measures taken 
to maintain pollution below these levels. It is anticipated that these limits will concur with the standards used by the 
Review of Consents process given in Annex 3 of this document. 

 Potential sources of pollution not addressed in the Review of Consents, such as contaminated land, will be 
considered in assessing plans and projects. 

 Levels of suspended solids will be agreed between EA and CCW for each Water Framework Directive water body in 
the Wye SAC. Measures including, but not limited to, the control of suspended sediment generated by agriculture, 
forestry and engineering works, will be taken to maintain suspended solids below these levels. 

 
Conservation Objective for Features 1-5:  
 
- Sea lamprey Petromyzon marinus; 
- Brook lamprey Lampetra planeri; 
- River lamprey Lampetra fluviatilis; 
- Twaite shad Alosa fallax; 
- Allis shad Alosa alosa; 
- Atlantic salmon Salmo salar; 
- Bullhead Cottus gobio. 
 
Vision for features 1-5  
The vision for this feature is for it to be in a favourable conservation status, where all of the following conditions are 
satisfied: 
 
 The conservation objective for the water course as defined in 4.1 above must be met. 
 The population of the feature in the SAC is stable or increasing over the long term.  

P
age 2156



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               35/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: River Wye 
Location Grid Ref: SO109369 
JNCC Site Code: UK0012642 
Size: 2234.89 
Designation: SAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

 The natural range of the feature in the SAC is neither being reduced nor is likely to be reduced for the foreseeable 
future.  The natural range is taken to mean those reaches where predominantly suitable habitat for each life stage 
exists over the long term.  Suitable habitat is defined in terms of near-natural hydrological and geomorphological 
processes and forms eg. suitable flows to allow upstream migration, depth of water and substrate type at spawning 
sites, and ecosystem structure and functions eg. food supply. Suitable habitat need not be present throughout the 
SAC but where present must be secured for the foreseeable future.  Natural factors such as waterfalls may limit the 
natural range of individual species.  Existing artificial influences on natural range that cause an adverse effect on site 
integrity, such as physical barriers to migration, will be assessed in view of the following bullet point. 

 There is, and will probably continue to be, a sufficiently large habitat to maintain the feature’s population in the SAC 
on a long-term basis.  

 
Performance indicators for features 1-5 
 
The performance indicators are part of the conservation objective, not a substitute for it.  Assessment of plans and 
projects must be based on the entire conservation objective, not just the performance indicators. The performance 
indicators can be found within the River Wye SAC Management Plan.  
 
Conservation Objective for Feature 6:  
- European otter Lutra lutra   
 
Vision for feature 6 
The vision for this feature is for it to be in a favourable conservation status, where all of the following conditions are 
satisfied: 
 
 The population of otters in the SAC is stable or increasing over the long term and reflects the natural carrying capacity 

of the habitat within the SAC, as determined by natural levels of prey abundance and associated territorial behaviour. 
 The natural range of otters in the SAC is neither being reduced nor is likely to be reduced for the foreseeable future. 

The natural range is taken to mean those reaches that are potentially suitable to form part of a breeding territory 
and/or provide routes between breeding territories.  The whole area of the Wye SAC is considered to form potentially 

P
age 2157



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               36/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: River Wye 
Location Grid Ref: SO109369 
JNCC Site Code: UK0012642 
Size: 2234.89 
Designation: SAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

suitable breeding habitat for otters. The size of breeding territories may vary depending on prey abundance.  The 
population size should not be limited by the availability of suitable undisturbed breeding sites. Where these are 
insufficient they should be created through habitat enhancement and where necessary the provision of artificial holts.  
No otter breeding site should be subject to a level of disturbance that could have an adverse effect on breeding 
success.  Where necessary, potentially harmful levels of disturbance must be managed. 

 The safe movement and dispersal of individuals around the SAC is facilitated by the provision, where necessary, of 
suitable riparian habitat, and underpasses, ledges, fencing etc at road bridges and other artificial barriers.  

 
Performance indicators for feature 6 (see performance indicators for features 1 - 5) 
 
Conservation Objective for Feature 7:  
- Water courses of plain to montane levels with the Ranunculion fluitantis and Callitricho-Batrachion vegetation 
 
Vision for feature 7 
The vision for this feature is for it to be in a favourable conservation status, where all of the following conditions are 
satisfied: 
 
 The conservation objectives for the water course as defined above must be met. 
 The natural range of the plant communities represented within this feature should be stable or increasing in the SAC.  

The natural range is taken to mean those reaches where predominantly suitable habitat exists over the long term.  
Suitable habitat and associated plant communities may vary from reach to reach.  Suitable habitat is defined in terms 
of near-natural hydrological and geomorphological processes and forms eg. depth and stability of flow, stability of bed 
substrate, and ecosystem structure and functions eg. nutrient levels, shade.  Suitable habitat for the feature need not 
be present throughout the SAC but where present must be secured for the foreseeable future, except where natural 
processes cause it to decline in extent. 

 The area covered by the feature within its natural range in the SAC should be stable or increasing. 
 The conservation status of the feature’s typical species should be favourable.  The typical species are defined with 

reference to the species composition of the appropriate JNCC river vegetation type for the particular river reach, 
unless differing from this type due to natural variability when other typical species may be defined as appropriate. 

P
age 2158



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               37/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: River Wye 
Location Grid Ref: SO109369 
JNCC Site Code: UK0012642 
Size: 2234.89 
Designation: SAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

 
Performance indicators for feature 7 (see performance indicators for features 1 - 5) 
 
Conservation Objective for Feature 8:  
- White-clawed crayfish Austropotamobius pallipes  
 
Vision for feature 8  
 
The vision for this feature is for it to be in a favourable conservation status, where all of the following conditions are 
satisfied: 
 
 The conservation objective for the water course as defined in 4.1 above must be met. 
 The population of the feature in the SAC is stable or increasing over the long term.  
 The natural range of the feature in the SAC is neither being reduced nor is likely to be reduced for the foreseeable 

future.  The natural range is taken to mean those reaches where predominantly suitable habitat for each life stage 
exists over the long term. Suitable habitat is defined in terms of near-natural hydrological and geomorphological 
processes and forms e.g. substrate type, water hardness and temperature, and ecosystem structure and functions 
e.g. food supply, absence of invasive non-native competitors.  Suitable habitat need not be present throughout the 
SAC but where present must be secured for the foreseeable future.  Natural factors such as waterfalls may limit the 
natural range of individual species.  Existing artificial influences on natural range that cause an adverse effect on site 
integrity will be assessed in view of the objective below. 

 There is, and will probably continue to be, a sufficiently large habitat to maintain the feature’s population in the SAC 
on a long-term basis.  

 
Performance indicators for feature 8 (see performance indicators for features 1 - 5) 
 
Conservation Objective for Feature 9:  
- Quaking bogs and transition mires  
 

P
age 2159



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               38/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: River Wye 
Location Grid Ref: SO109369 
JNCC Site Code: UK0012642 
Size: 2234.89 
Designation: SAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

Vision for feature 9 
 
The vision for this feature is for it to be in a favourable conservation status, where all of the following conditions are 
satisfied: 
 
 The conservation objective for the water course as defined in 4.1 above must be met. 
 The natural range of the plant communities represented within this feature should be stable or increasing in the SAC.  

The natural range is taken to mean those reaches where near-natural hydrological and geomorphological processes 
and landforms favour the development of this habitat.  The feature need not be present in all suitable locations in the 
SAC but where present must be secured for the foreseeable future. 

 The area covered by the feature within its natural range in the SAC should be stable or increasing. 
 The conservation status of the feature’s typical species should be favourable.  The typical species are defined with 

reference to the species composition of the appropriate NVC type(s), unless differing from this type due to natural 
variability/local distinctiveness when other typical/indicator species may be defined as appropriate. 

 
Performance indicators for feature 9 (see performance indicators for features 1 - 5) 
 

Component SSSIs The site has been divided into management units to enable practical communication about features, objectives, and 
management.  This will also allow CCW to differentiate between the different designations where necessary.  In the 
management plan units have been based on the following: 
 
 SSSI boundaries 
 Natural hydromorphology, where there are significant differences in management issues/key features between 

reaches 
 Units partly within England coincide with Natural England’s equivalent units, as far as is practicable 
 The units include one or more of EA’s River Basin Management Plan water bodies; as far as is practicable, unit 

boundaries coincide with these water body boundaries. 
 

P
age 2160



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               39/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: River Wye 
Location Grid Ref: SO109369 
JNCC Site Code: UK0012642 
Size: 2234.89 
Designation: SAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

The component SSSIs and management units that comprise to form the River Wye SAC are: 
 River Wye (Lower Wye) SSSI - Management units 1A to 1D; 
 River Wye (Upper Wye) SSSI - Management units 2A & 2B; 
 River Wye (Tributaries) SSSI - Management unit 3; 
 Afon Llynfi SSSI - Management unit 4; 
 Duhonw SSSI - Management unit 5; 
 Afon Irfon SSSI - Management unit 6; 
 River Ithon SSSI - Management unit 7; 
 Upper Wye Tributaries SSSI - Management unit 8; and 
 Colwyn Brook Marshes (North & South) SSSI - Management units 9A to 9G & 10A & 10E. 
 
Note: a number of smaller SSSI have part of their area included within the River Wye SAC.  These are not all included 
separately here, but management actions for adjacent SAC units also apply to these sites. 
 
Maps containing the component SSSIs and management units can be viewed on the CCW website.   
 

Key Environmental Conditions 
(factors that maintain site 
integrity 

The ecological structure and functions of the site are dependent on hydrological and geomorphological 
processes (often referred to as hydromorphological processes), as well as the quality of riparian habitats and 
connectivity of habitats.  Animals that move around and sometimes leave the site, such as migratory fish and otters, may 
also be affected by factors operating outside the site.   
 
 Hydrological processes in particular river flow (level and variability) and water chemistry, determine a range of 

habitat factors of importance to the SAC features, including current velocity, water depth, wetted area, substrate 
quality, dissolved oxygen levels and water temperature.  Maintenance of both high ‘spate’ flows and base-flows is 
essential.  Reductions in flow may reduce the ability of the adult migratory fish to reach spawning sites.  Water-
crowfoot vegetation thrives in relatively stable, moderate flows and clean water.  The flow regime should be 
characteristic of the river in order to support the functioning of the river ecosystem. 

 

P
age 2161



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               40/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: River Wye 
Location Grid Ref: SO109369 
JNCC Site Code: UK0012642 
Size: 2234.89 
Designation: SAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

 Geomorphological processes of erosion by water and subsequent deposition of eroded sediments downstream 
create the physical structure of the river habitats.  While some sections of the river are naturally stable, especially 
where they flow over bedrock, others undergo continual and at times rapid change through the erosion and deposition 
of bed and bank sediments as is typical of meandering sections within floodplains (called ‘alluvial’ rivers).  These 
processes help to sustain the river ecosystem by allowing a continued supply of clean gravels and other important 
substrates to be transported downstream.  In addition, the freshly deposited and eroded surfaces, such as shingle 
banks and earth cliffs, enable processes of ecological succession to begin again, providing an essential habitat for 
specialist, early-successional species.  Processes at the wider catchment scale generally govern processes of 
erosion and deposition occurring at the reach scale, although locally factors such as the effect of grazing levels on 
riparian vegetation structure may contribute to enhanced erosion rates.  In general, management that interferes with 
natural geomorphological processes, for example preventing bank erosion through the use of hard revetments or 
removing large amounts of gravel, are likely to be damaging to the coherence of the ecosystem structure and 
functions. 

 
 Riparian habitats including bank sides and habitats on adjacent land, are an integral part of the river ecosystem.  

Diverse and high quality riparian habitats have a vital role in maintaining the SAC features in a favourable condition.  
The type and condition of riparian vegetation influences shade and water temperature, nutrient run-off from adjacent 
land, the availability of woody debris to the channel and inputs of leaf litter and invertebrates to support in-steam 
consumers.  Light, temperature and nutrient levels influence in-stream plant production and habitat suitability for the 
SAC features.  Woody debris is very important as it provides refuge areas from predators, traps sediment to create 
spawning and juvenile habitat and forms the base of an important aquatic food chain.  Otters require sufficient 
undisturbed riparian habitat for breeding and resting sites.  It is important that appropriate amounts of tree cover, in 
general at least 50% high canopy cover, tall vegetation and other semi-natural habitats are maintained on the 
riverbanks and in adjacent areas, and that they are properly managed to support the SAC features.  This may be 
achieved for example, through managing grazing levels, selective coppicing of riparian trees and restoring adjacent 
wetlands.  In the urban sections the focus may be on maintaining the river as a communication corridor but this will 
still require that sufficient riparian habitat is present and managed to enable the river corridor to function effectively.  
Overhanging trees provide valuable shade and food sources for Atlantic salmon whilst tree root systems provide 
important cover and flow refuges for juveniles.  Bullheads are particularly associated with woody debris in lowland 
reaches, where it is likely that it provides an alternative source of cover from predators and floods.  It may also be 

P
age 2162



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               41/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: River Wye 
Location Grid Ref: SO109369 
JNCC Site Code: UK0012642 
Size: 2234.89 
Designation: SAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

used as an alternative spawning substrate.  Debris dams and woody debris should be retained where characteristic of 
the river/reach. Woody debris removal should be minimised, and restricted to essential activities such as flood 
defence. 

 
 Habitat connectivity is an important property of river ecosystem structure and function.  Many of the fish that spawn 

in the river are migratory, depending on the maintenance of suitable conditions on their migration routes to allow the 
adults to reach available spawning habitat and juvenile fish to migrate downstream.  For resident species, dispersal to 
new areas, or the prevention of dispersal causing isolated populations to become genetically distinct, may be 
important factors.  Naturally isolated feature populations that are identified as having important genetic distinctiveness 
should be maintained.     

 
In all river types, artificial barriers should be made passable.  Physical modification of barriers is required where 
depth/velocity/duration of flows is unsuitable to allow passage.  Complete or partial natural barriers to potentially 
suitable spawning areas should not be modified or circumvented.  Certain areas of the SAC are critical to the 
movement of otters both within the system and to adjacent sites.  The Wye SAC provides a key movement corridor 
for otters passing between the relatively high densities in mid Wales and the south-east Wales coastal strip (Seven 
Estuary and Gwent Levels).  The function of this aspect of the site should be protected through the maintenance of 
suitable resting sites (in terms of size, quality and levels of disturbance) through urban centres such as Monmouth.  
Connectivity should be maintained, or restored where necessary, as a means to ensure access for the features to 
sufficient habitat within the SAC. 

 
 External factors operating outside the SAC, may also be influential, particularly for the migratory fish and otters.  For 

example, salmon may be affected by barriers to migration in the Severn Estuary, inshore fishing and environmental 
conditions prevailing in their north Atlantic feeding grounds.  Otters may be affected by developments that affect 
resting and breeding sites outside the SAC boundary. 

 
SAC Condition Assessment Conservation status of Feature 1: Sea lamprey Petromyzon marinus 

 
Conservation status (2006) 
 

P
age 2163



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               42/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: River Wye 
Location Grid Ref: SO109369 
JNCC Site Code: UK0012642 
Size: 2234.89 
Designation: SAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

Status within the site: Favourable: Unclassified. Sea lamprey monitoring showed that overall catchment mean 
ammocoete density considerably exceeded the JNCC target threshold and also complied with targets for spawning site 
and ammocoete distribution.  Sea lamprey ammocoetes were recorded in good numbers immediately upstream of the 
falls at Rhayader, their most upstream recorded site on the main Wye.  They were also recorded in the Irfon and Ithon 
tributaries. 
 
Conservation status of Feature 2: Brook lamprey Lampetra planeri and River lamprey Lampetra fluviatilis 
 
Conservation status (2006) 
 
Status within the site: Favourable: Unclassified. Brook/river lamprey monitoring showed that overall catchment mean 
ammocoete density considerably exceeded the JNCC target threshold.  However, Lampetra ammocoetes were recorded 
at only 30 of the 54 sample sites (56%) thus failed to meet the criterion of presence at least two thirds of sites within their 
natural range.  Consequently, the feature may be in unfavourable condition.  Further clarification is needed concerning a 
number of sample sites in the upper reaches (Upper Wye and Elan), which may reflect unsuitable habitat and be outside 
the natural ranges of the species. 
 
It has not been possible to distinguish between these two species during monitoring, due to the reliance on juvenile 
stages (ammocoetes).  Anecdotal evidence suggests that both species are likely to be present in many reaches, though 
brook lamprey are expected to predominate in the headwaters and river lamprey may be the more abundant species in 
the main channel and the lower reaches of larger tributaries.  More information on the relative abundance of these two 
species in different parts of the Wye SAC is desirable.  Records of spawning adult river lamprey would be particularly 
useful. 
 
Conservation status of Feature 3: Twaite shad Alosa fallax and Allis shad Alosa alosa 
 
Conservation status (2006) 
 
Status within the site: Unfavourable: Unclassified.  
 
Physical barriers to migration are a major cause of unfavourable status of these species in Europe as a whole; however, 

P
age 2164



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               43/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: River Wye 
Location Grid Ref: SO109369 
JNCC Site Code: UK0012642 
Size: 2234.89 
Designation: SAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

there are not thought to be any significant barriers to shad migration in the Wye. 
 
The current unfavourable status results from a precautionary assessment of feature abundance, and from the presence 
of adverse factors, in particular the potential for damaging flow depletion and entrainment/impingement in water intakes. 
 
Conservation status of Feature 4: Atlantic salmon Salmo salar 
 
Conservation status (2006) 
 
Status within the site: Unfavourable: Unclassified.  
 
The current unfavourable status results from failure of the Management Target for adult run size as well as a 
precautionary assessment of juvenile distribution and abundance and the presence of adverse factors, in particular the 
potential for flow depletion and localised water quality failures.  Acidification due to forestry is a factor in the upper 
reaches of the Wye and Irfon. 
 
Conservation status of Feature 5: Bullhead Cottus gobio 
 
Conservation status (2006) 
 
Status within the site: Unfavourable: Unclassified. The current unfavourable status results from the presence of 
adverse factors, in particular localised water quality failures.  Records obtained from juvenile salmon monitoring show 
that bullhead are widespread in the main river and tributaries.  Quantitative information on bullhead abundance is being 
provided through targeted monitoring.  
 
Conservation status of Feature 6: European otter Lutra lutra 
 
Conservation status (2006) 
 
Status within the site: Unfavourable.  The conservation status of otters in the Wye SAC is determined by monitoring 
their distribution, breeding success, and the condition of potential breeding and feeding habitat as outlined in the 

P
age 2165



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               44/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: River Wye 
Location Grid Ref: SO109369 
JNCC Site Code: UK0012642 
Size: 2234.89 
Designation: SAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

Performance Indicators. Their current condition is considered unfavourable due a lack of suitable breeding sites around 
the middle reaches of the river. 
 
Conservation status of Feature 7: Water courses of plain to montane levels with the Ranunculion fluitantis and 
Callitricho-Batrachion vegetation 
 
Conservation status (2006) 
 
Status within the site: Unfavourable: Declining.  The present unfavourable status of the feature results from declining 
water quality in some tributaries of the Wye e.g. parts of the Ithon and Llynfi sub-catchments, due mainly to diffuse 
pollution from agriculture. 
 
A further adverse factor is the over-abundance of invasive non-native species of bankside plant communities, which are 
included within the feature definition.  Japanese knotweed and Himalayan balsam are widespread in the catchment, 
including the Irfon sub-catchment. 
 
Conservation status of Feature 8: White-clawed crayfish Austropotamobius pallipes 
 
Conservation status (2006) 
 
Status within the site: Unfavourable: Declining.  There is considerable anecdotal evidence of a major decline in the 
distribution and abundance of the native white-clawed crayfish in the Wye catchment over the last few decades.  Native 
crayfish may have been lost from the main river channel, from tributaries such as the Duhonw and Ithon and have almost 
disappeared from the Afon Irfon.  Significant populations within the Wye SAC are now confined to the Sgithwen, Cletwr, 
Edw, Llynfi Dulas and Builth Road Dulas.  The most recent assessment of the condition of crayfish in the Wye SAC, 
using modified Common Standards Monitoring techniques, found that populations are unfavourable. 
 

Vulnerabilities (includes 
existing pressures and trends) 
 

 Abstraction levels - entrainment in water abstractions directly impacts on species population dynamics through 
reduced recruitment and survival rates.  The impact of flow depletion resulting from a small number of major 
abstractions was highlighted in the Review of Consents process.  As a result of this process, flow targets have been 

P
age 2166



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               45/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: River Wye 
Location Grid Ref: SO109369 
JNCC Site Code: UK0012642 
Size: 2234.89 
Designation: SAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

set which are considered likely to significantly reduce or remove the potential impacts on SAC features. 
 
 Eutrophication - factors that are important to the favourable conservation status of this feature include flow, 

substrate quality and water quality, which in turn influence species composition and abundance.  These factors often 
interact, producing unfavourable conditions by promoting the growth of a range of algae and other species indicative 
of eutrophication.  Under conditions of prolonged low flows and high nutrient status, epiphytic algae may suppress the 
growth of aquatic flowering plants.  

 
 Diffuse Pollution - in the Wye catchment the most significant sources of diffuse pollution and siltation are from 

agriculture, including fertiliser run-off, livestock manure, silage effluent and soil erosion from ploughed land.  The most 
intensively used areas such as heavily trampled gateways and tracks can be especially significant sources of 
polluting run-off.  Preventative measures can include surfacing of tracks and gateways, moving feeding areas, and 
separating clean and dirty water in farmyards.  Farm operations should avoid ploughing land which is vulnerable to 
soil erosion or leaving such areas without crop cover during the winter.   

 
Among toxic pollutants, sheep dip and silage effluent present a particular threat to aquatic animals in this 
predominantly rural area.  Contamination by synthetic pyrethroid sheep dips, which are extremely toxic to aquatic 
invertebrates, has a devastating impact on crayfish populations and can deprive fish populations of food over large 
stretches of river.  These impacts can arise if recently dipped sheep are allowed access to a stream or hard standing 
area, which drains into a watercourse.  Pollution from organophosphate sheep dips and silage effluent can be very 
damaging locally.  Pollution from slurry and other agricultural and industrial chemicals, including fuels, can kill all 
forms of aquatic life.  All sheep dips and silage, fuel and chemical storage areas should be sited away from 
watercourses or bunded to contain leakage.  Recently dipped sheep should be kept off stream banks.  
 
Discharges from sewage treatment works, urban drainage, engineering works such as road improvement schemes, 
contaminated land, and other domestic and industrial sources can also be significant causes of pollution, and must be 
managed appropriately.  Used dip should be disposed of strictly in accordance with Environment Agency Regulations 
and guidelines.  Statutory and voluntary agencies should work closely with landowners and occupiers to minimise the 
risk of any pollution incidents and enforce existing regulations.  Measures to control diffuse pollution in the water 
environment, including ‘Catchment Sensitive Farming’, may be implemented as a result of the Water Framework 

P
age 2167



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               46/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: River Wye 
Location Grid Ref: SO109369 
JNCC Site Code: UK0012642 
Size: 2234.89 
Designation: SAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

Directive and, along with existing agri-environment schemes, will help to achieve the conservation objectives for the 
SAC.  Pollution of rivers with toxic chemicals, such as PCBs, was one of the major factors identified in the widespread 
decline of otters during the last century.  There should be no increase in pollutants potentially toxic to otters. 
 

 Barriers to migration - Artificial obstructions including weirs and bridge sills can reduce connectivity for some 
species.  In addition, reaches subject to depleted flow levels, pollution, or disturbance due to noise, vibration or light, 
can all inhibit the movement of sensitive species.  The dispersal of semi-terrestrial species, such as the otter, can be 
adversely affected by structures such as bridges under certain flow conditions, therefore these must be designed to 
allow safe passage. 

 
 Development pressure - can cause temporary physical, acoustic, chemical and sediment barrier effects that need to 

be addressed in the assessment of specific plans and projects.  Noise/vibration eg. due to impact piling, drilling, 
salmon fish counters present within or in close proximity to the river can create a barrier to shad migration.  Barriers 
resulting from vibration, chemicals, low dissolved oxygen and artificially high sediment levels must be prevented at 
key times.  Engineering works such as bridge repairs in reaches where white-clawed crayfish are known to occur 
should include appropriate pollution prevention measures and a crayfish rescue by a suitably licensed person where 
there is a risk of physical damage to crayfish. 

 
 Invasive and non-native species - are a detrimental impact on the water courses of plain to montane levels with the 

Ranunculion fluitantis and Callitricho-Batrachion vegetation.  Giant hogweed, Himalayan balsam and Japanese 
knotweed should be actively managed to control their spread and hopefully reduce their extent in the SAC.  The 
American signal crayfish is present in the Wye catchment and poses a very serious threat to the continued existence 
of the native white-clawed crayfish in the site and in Wales.  Native crayfish are unable to co-exist where signal 
crayfish are present, due to the latter’s superior competitive ability and a disease, crayfish plague, which it carries but 
to which native crayfish have no immunity.  American signal crayfish and crayfish plague are widespread and 
abundant in nearby catchments such as the Lugg, Arrow and Severn.  Crayfish plague can be transferred to streams 
on wet fishing gear, boots, canoes, machinery, stocked fish etc., so measures such as raising awareness, disinfection 
facilities and where appropriate restrictions on access, should be implemented where a significant risk is identified. 
Signal crayfish are also extremely harmful to fish communities and the overall ecology of the river.  It is illegal to 
release non-native crayfish into the wild, to keep live crayfish in most of Wales or to trap crayfish without a licence 

P
age 2168



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               47/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: River Wye 
Location Grid Ref: SO109369 
JNCC Site Code: UK0012642 
Size: 2234.89 
Designation: SAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

from the Environment Agency.  Bullhead densities have been found to be negatively correlated with densities of non-
native crayfish, suggesting competitive and/or predator-prey interactions.  Non-native crayfish should be absent from 
the SAC.   

 
 Artificially enhanced densities of other fish - may introduce unacceptable competition or predation pressure and 

the aim should be to minimise these risks in considering any proposals for stocking.  A small-scale salmon rearing 
and stocking programme is currently in operation in the Wye, run by the Wye and Usk Foundation.  The management 
objectives for SAC salmon populations are to attain naturally self-sustaining populations.  Salmon stocking should not 
be routinely used as a management measure.  Salmon stocking represents a loss of naturalness and, if successful, 
obscures the underlying causes of poor performance (potentially allowing these risks to perpetuate).  It carries various 
ecological risks, including the loss of natural spawning from broodstock, competition between stocked and naturally 
produced individuals, disease introduction and genetic alterations to the population.  Therefore, there is a 
presumption that salmon stocking in the Wye SAC will be phased out over time.  The presence of artificially high 
densities of salmonids and other fish will create unacceptably high levels of predatory and competitive pressure on 
juvenile and adult bullhead.  Stocking of fish should be avoided in the SAC. 

 
 External factors - operating outside the SAC, may also be influential, particularly for the migratory fish and otters.  

For example, salmon may be affected by barriers to migration in the Severn Estuary, inshore fishing and 
environmental conditions prevailing in their north Atlantic feeding grounds.  Otters may be affected by developments 
that affect resting and breeding sites outside the SAC boundary. 

 
Landowner/ Management 
Responsibility 

 N/A 

P
age 2169



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               48/79       Enfusion 

 
Site Name: Severn Estuary 
Location Grid Ref: ST321748 
JNCC Site Code: UK0013030 
Size: 73715.4 
Designation: cSAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

Site Description The Severn Estuary is the largest coastal plain estuary in the UK with extensive mudflats and sandflats, rocky shore 
platforms, shingle and islands. Saltmarsh fringes the coast, backed by grazing marsh with freshwater and occasional 
brackish ditches. The estuary’s classic funnel shape, unique in the UK, is a factor causing the Severn to have the second 
highest tidal range in the world (after the Bay of Fundy in Canada) at more than 12 meters. This tidal regime results in 
plant and animal communities typical of the extreme physical conditions of strong flows, mobile sediments, changing 
salinity, high turbidity and heavy scouring. The resultant low diversity invertebrate communities, that frequently include 
populations of ragworms, lugworms and other invertebrates in high densities, form an important food source for passage 
and wintering birds. The site is important in the spring and autumn migration periods for waders moving along the west 
coast of Europe, as well as in winter for large numbers of waterbirds including swans, geese, ducks and waders. These 
bird populations are regarded as internationally important. 
 
Glassworts and annual sea-blite colonise the open mud, with beds of all three species of eelgrass Zostera occurring on 
more sheltered mud and sandbanks. Large expanses of common cord-grass also occur on the outer marshes. Heavily 
grazed saltmarsh fringes the estuary with a range of saltmarsh types present. The middle marsh sward is dominated by 
common saltmarsh-grass with typical associated species. In the upper marsh, red fescue and saltmarsh rush become 
more prominent. 
 
Areas of saltmarsh fringe the estuary, mostly grazed with a range of vegetation communities. There are gradual and 
stepped transitions between bare mudflat to upper marsh and grassland. Main vegetation types are: upper saltmarsh 
with Festuca rubra and Juncus gerardii; middle marsh dominated by Puccinellia maritima with Glaux maritima and 
Triglochin maritima; dense monocultures of Spartina anglica at the edge of the mudflats-brackish pools and depressions 
with Phragmites australis and Bolboschoenus maritimus. 
 

Qualifying Features 
 

Annex I Habitats primary reason for selection: 
 Estuaries 
 Mudflats and sandflats not covered by seawater at low tide 
 Atlantic salt meadows (Glauco-Puccinellietalia maritimae) 
 

P
age 2170



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               49/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: Severn Estuary 
Location Grid Ref: ST321748 
JNCC Site Code: UK0013030 
Size: 73715.4 
Designation: cSAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

Annex I Habitats qualifying feature: 
 Sandbanks which are slightly covered by sea water all the time 
 Reefs 
 
Annex II Species primary reason for selection: 
 Sea lamprey Petromyzon marinus 
 River lamprey Lampetra fluviatilis 
 Twaite shad Alosa fallax 
 

Conservation Objectives 
 

SAC interest feature 1: Estuaries  
 
The conservation objective for the “estuaries” feature of the Severn Estuary SAC is to maintain the feature in favourable 
condition, as defined below:  
 
The feature will be considered to be in favourable condition when, subject to natural processes, each of the following 
conditions are met:  
 
i. the total extent of the estuary is maintained;  
ii.  the characteristic physical form (tidal prism/cross sectional area) and flow (tidal regime) of the estuary is 

maintained;  
iii.  the characteristic range and relative proportions of sediment sizes and sediment budget within the site is 

maintained;  
iv.  the extent, variety and spatial distribution of estuarine habitat communities5 within the site is maintained;  
v.  the extent, variety, spatial distribution and community composition of hard substrate habitats and their notable 

communities is maintained;  
vi.  the abundance of the notable estuarine species assemblages7 is maintained or increased;  
vii.  the physico-chemical characteristics of the water column9 support the ecological objectives described above;  
viii.  Toxic contaminants in water column and sediment are below levels which would pose a risk to the ecological 

objectives described above.  

P
age 2171



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               50/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: Severn Estuary 
Location Grid Ref: ST321748 
JNCC Site Code: UK0013030 
Size: 73715.4 
Designation: cSAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

ix.  Airborne nutrient and contaminant loads are below levels which would pose a risk to the ecological objectives 
described above 

 
SAC interest feature 2: Subtidal sandbanks which are covered by sea water all the time (subtidal sandbanks)  
 
The conservation objective for the “subtidal sandbanks” feature of the Severn Estuary SAC is to maintain the feature in 
favourable condition, as defined below:  
 
The feature will be considered to be in favourable condition when, subject to natural processes, each of the following 
conditions are met:  
 
i.  the total extent of the subtidal sandbanks within the site is maintained;  
ii.  the extent and distribution of the individual subtidal sandbank communities within the site is maintained;  
iii.  the community composition of the subtidal sandbank feature within the site is maintained;  
iv.  the variety and distribution of sediment types across the subtidal sandbank feature is maintained;  
v.  the gross morphology (depth, distribution and profile) of the subtidal sandbank feature within the site is 

maintained. 
 
SAC interest feature 3: Mudflats and sandflats not covered by seawater at low tide (mudflats and sandflats)  
 
The conservation objective for “mudflats and sandflats” feature of the Severn Estuary SAC is to maintain the feature in 
favourable condition, as defined below:  
 
The feature will be considered to be in favourable condition when, subject to natural processes, each of the following 
conditions are met:  
 
i.  The total extent of the mudflats and sandflats feature is maintained;  
ii.  the variety and extent of individual mudflats and sandflats communities within the site is maintained;  
iii.  the distribution of individual mudflats and sandflats communities within the site is maintained;  
iv.  the community composition of the mudflats and sandflats feature within the site is maintained;  
v.  the topography of the intertidal flats and the morphology (dynamic processes of sediment movement and 

P
age 2172



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               51/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: Severn Estuary 
Location Grid Ref: ST321748 
JNCC Site Code: UK0013030 
Size: 73715.4 
Designation: cSAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

channel migration across the flats) are maintained. 
 
SAC interest feature 4: Atlantic salt meadow  
 
The conservation objective for the “Atlantic salt meadow” feature of the Severn Estuary SAC is to maintain the feature in 
favourable condition, as defined below:  
 
The feature will be considered to be in favourable condition when, subject to natural processes, each of the following 
conditions are met:  
 
i.  the total extent of Atlantic salt meadow and associated transitional vegetation communities within the site is 

maintained;  
ii.  the extent and distribution of the individual Atlantic salt meadow and associated transitional vegetation 

communities within the site is maintained;  
iii.  the zonation of Atlantic salt meadow vegetation communities and their associated transitions to other estuary 

habitats is maintained;  
iv.  the relative abundance of the typical species of the Atlantic salt meadow and associated transitional vegetation 

communities is maintained;  
v.  the abundance of the notable species of the Atlantic salt meadow and associated transitional vegetation 

communities is maintained.  
vi.  the structural variation of the salt marsh sward (resulting from grazing) is maintained within limits sufficient to 

satisfy the requirements of conditions iv and v above and the requirements of the Ramsar and SPA features  
vii.  the characteristic stepped morphology of the salt marshes and associated creeks, pills, drainage ditches and 

pans, and the estuarine processes that enable their development, is maintained.  
viii. Any areas of Spartina anglica salt marsh (SM6) are capable of developing naturally into other saltmarsh 

communities. 
 
SAC interest feature 5: Reefs  
 
The conservation objective for the “reefs” feature of the Severn Estuary SAC is to maintain the feature in a favourable 
condition, as defined below:  

P
age 2173



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               52/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: Severn Estuary 
Location Grid Ref: ST321748 
JNCC Site Code: UK0013030 
Size: 73715.4 
Designation: cSAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

 
The feature will be considered to be in favourable condition when, subject to natural processes, each of the following 
conditions are met:  
 
i.  the total extent and distribution of Sabellaria reef  is maintained;  
ii.  the community composition of the Sabellaria reef is maintained;  
iii.  the full range of different age structures of Sabellaria reef are present;  
iv.  the physical5and ecological processes necessary to support Sabellaria reef are maintained. 
 
SAC interest feature 6: River lamprey Lampetra fluviatilis  
 
The conservation objective for the river lamprey Lampetra fluviatilis feature of the Severn Estuary SAC is to maintain the 
feature in a favourable condition, as defined below:  
 
The feature will be considered to be in favourable condition when, subject to natural processes, each of the following 
conditions are met:  
 
i.  the migratory passage of both adult and juvenile river lamprey through the Severn Estuary between the Bristol 

Channel and any of their spawning rivers is not obstructed or impeded by physical barriers, changes in flows, or 
poor water quality;  

ii. the size of the river lamprey population in the Severn Estuary and the rivers which drain into it, is at least 
maintained and is at a level that is sustainable in the long term;  

iii.  the abundance of prey species forming the river lamprey’s food resource within the estuary, is maintained.  
iv.  Toxic contaminants in the water column and sediment are below levels which would pose a risk to the ecological 

objectives described above. 
 
SAC interest feature 7: The conservation objective for sea lamprey Petromyzon marinus  
 
The conservation objective for the sea lamprey Petromyzon marinus feature of the Severn Estuary SAC is to maintain 
the feature in a favourable condition, as defined below:  
 

P
age 2174



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               53/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: Severn Estuary 
Location Grid Ref: ST321748 
JNCC Site Code: UK0013030 
Size: 73715.4 
Designation: cSAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

The feature will be considered to be in favourable condition when, subject to natural processes, each of the following 
conditions are met:  
 
i.  the migratory passage of both adult and juvenile sea lamprey through the Severn Estuary between the Bristol 

Channel and any of their spawning rivers is not obstructed or impeded by physical barriers, changes in flows, or 
poor water quality;  

ii.  the size of the sea lamprey population in the Severn Estuary and the rivers which drain into it, is at least 
maintained as is at a level that is sustainable in the long term;  

iii.  the abundance of prey species forming the sea lamprey’s food resource within the estuary, is maintained.  
vi.  Toxic contaminants in the water column and sediment are below levels which would pose a risk to the ecological 

objectives described above. 
 
SAC interest feature 8: The conservation objective for twaite shad Alosa fallax  
 
The conservation objective for the twaite Shad Alosa fallax feature of the Severn Estuary SAC is to maintain the feature 
in a favourable condition, as defined below:  
 
The feature will be considered to be in favourable condition when, subject to natural processes, each of the following 
conditions are met:  
 
i.  the migratory passage of both adult and juvenile twaite shad through the Severn Estuary between the Bristol 

Channel and their spawning rivers is not obstructed or impeded by physical barriers, changes in flows or poor 
water quality;  

ii.  the size of the twaite shad population within the Severn Estuary and the rivers draining into it is at least 
maintained and is at a level that is sustainable in the long term.  

iii.  the abundance of prey species forming the twaite shad’s food resource within the estuary, in particular at the salt 
wedge, is maintained.  

iv.  Toxic contaminants in the water column and sediment are below levels which would pose a risk to the ecological 
objectives described above. 

 

P
age 2175



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               54/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: Severn Estuary 
Location Grid Ref: ST321748 
JNCC Site Code: UK0013030 
Size: 73715.4 
Designation: cSAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

Component SSSIs  N/A 
 

Key Environmental Conditions 
(factors that maintain site 
integrity 

 Hydrodynamic and sedimentary regime - The conservation of the site features is dependent on the tidal regime. 
The tidal range in the Severn Estuary is the second-highest in the world and the scouring of the seabed and strong 
tidal streams result in natural erosion of the habitats and the presence of high sediment loads. 

 
 Maintain suitable distance between the site and development - to allow for managed retreat of intertidal habitats 

and avoid coastal squeeze. 
 
 Manage public access and activities.  
 

SAC Condition Assessment  N/A 
 

Vulnerabilities (includes 
existing pressures and trends) 
 

 Physical loss of supporting habitats through removal - The physical loss of areas of intertidal habitats may be 
caused directly through change of land use or indirectly as a consequence of changes to sedimentation processes 
(e.g. coastal defences) as well as via the effects of smothering by artificial structures (e.g. jetties) or the disposal of 
spoils. The intertidal mudflats and sandflats and the saltmarsh are highly sensitive to removal by land reclamation and 
barrage construction. Information provided by NE and CCW states that large areas of the European marine site are 
not currently under threat, however when combined with a high level of sensitivity this leads to a moderate 
vulnerability. 

 
 Contamination by synthetic and/or non-synthetic toxic compounds - At the moment there is no evidence to 

show that this is the case on the Severn Estuary, but the estuary is vulnerable to oil spills and there is a continuous 
discharge of toxins into the estuary, some of which bind to the sediments. NE and CCW identify this is an area which 
requires further assessment. The intertidal mudflats and sandflats and the saltmarsh are currently highly vulnerable to 
the introduction of synthetic and non-synthetic compounds. 

 
 Damage by abrasion or selective extraction - Saltmarsh may be physically damaged from overgrazing or eroded 

P
age 2176



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               55/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: Severn Estuary 
Location Grid Ref: ST321748 
JNCC Site Code: UK0013030 
Size: 73715.4 
Designation: cSAC 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

when boats are moored on it and when paths are worn through it to reach moored boats on foot or via vehicles. 
Currently all supporting habitats are considered to be moderately vulnerable to abrasion. Intertidal habitats are highly 
sensitive to damage by direct and indirect effects of aggregate dredging. The intertidal mudflats and sandflats and the 
shingle and rocky shore are therefore considered by NE and CCW to be highly vulnerable to selective extraction. 

 
 Changes in nutrient and/or organic loading - Changes in organic or nutrient loading can change the species 

composition of the plants on the saltmarsh and thus the structure of the sward. Increases in nutrients can also cause 
excessive algal growth on the mudflats, denying the birds access to their invertebrate prey and changing the 
invertebrate species composition in the sediment. Though the water quality has been improved in recent years there 
are still local areas of concern and any increase in nutrient loading should be avoided. At present the intertidal 
mudflats and sandflats are moderately vulnerable to this category of operation. 

 
 Inappropriate grazing - Much of the saltmarsh is managed by grazing and changes in management can alter the 

availability of prey and suitability of roosting sites. The saltmarsh is currently highly vulnerable to the selective 
extraction of species. 

  
Landowner/ Management 
Responsibility 

 N/A 

P
age 2177



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               56/79       Enfusion 

 
 
Special Protection Areas 
 
Site Name: Severn Estuary 
Location (Lat & Long): 
51 13 29 N  
03 02 57 W 
JNCC Site Code: UK9015022 
Size: 24662.98 
Designation: SPA 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

Site Description The Severn Estuary is the largest coastal plain estuary in the UK with extensive mudflats and sandflats, rocky shore 
platforms, shingle and islands. Saltmarsh fringes the coast, backed by grazing marsh with freshwater and occasional 
brackish ditches. The estuary’s classic funnel shape, unique in the UK, is a factor causing the Severn to have the second 
highest tidal range in the world (after the Bay of Fundy in Canada) at more than 12 meters. This tidal regime results in 
plant and animal communities typical of the extreme physical conditions of strong flows, mobile sediments, changing 
salinity, high turbidity and heavy scouring. The resultant low diversity invertebrate communities, that frequently include 
populations of ragworms, lugworms and other invertebrates in high densities, form an important food source for passage 
and wintering birds. The site is important in the spring and autumn migration periods for waders moving along the west 
coast of Europe, as well as in winter for large numbers of waterbirds including swans, geese, ducks and waders. These 
bird populations are regarded as internationally important. 
 
Glassworts and annual sea-blite colonise the open mud, with beds of all three species of eelgrass Zostera occurring on 
more sheltered mud and sandbanks. Large expanses of common cord-grass also occur on the outer marshes. Heavily 
grazed saltmarsh fringes the estuary with a range of saltmarsh types present. The middle marsh sward is dominated by 
common saltmarsh-grass with typical associated species. In the upper marsh, red fescue and saltmarsh rush become 
more prominent. 
 
Areas of saltmarsh fringe the estuary, mostly grazed with a range of vegetation communities. There are gradual and 
stepped transitions between bare mudflat to upper marsh and grassland. Main vegetation types are: upper saltmarsh 
with Festuca rubra and Juncus gerardii; middle marsh dominated by Puccinellia maritima with Glaux maritima and 
Triglochin maritima; dense monocultures of Spartina anglica at the edge of the mudflats-brackish pools and depressions 
with Phragmites australis and Bolboschoenus maritimus. 
 

P
age 2178



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               57/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: Severn Estuary 
Location (Lat & Long): 
51 13 29 N  
03 02 57 W 
JNCC Site Code: UK9015022 
Size: 24662.98 
Designation: SPA 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

Qualifying Features 
 

Article 4.1 Qualification 
 
Over winter the area regularly supports: 
 Bewick’s Swan Cygnus columbianus bewickii 3.9% of the GB population 
 
Article 4.2 Qualification  
 
Over winter the area regularly supports: 
 Gadwall Anas strepera 0.9% of the population 
 White-fronted Goose Anser albifrons albifrons 0.4% of the population 
 Dunlin Calidris alpina alpine 3.3% of the population 
 Shelduck   Tadorna tadorna 1.1% of the population 
 Redshank Tringa totanus 1.3% of the population 
 
Article 4.2 Qualification: Internationally Important Assemblage of Birds 
 
Over winter the area regularly supports: 
 84317 waterfowl  
 

Conservation Objectives 
 

Interest feature 1: Internationally important population of regularly occurring Annex 1 species: Bewick’s swan 
 
The conservation objective is to maintain the Bewick’s swan population and its supporting habitats in favourable 
condition, as defined below. 
 
The interest feature Bewick’s swan will be considered to be in favourable condition when, subject to natural processes, 
each of the following conditions are met: 
 

P
age 2179



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               58/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: Severn Estuary 
Location (Lat & Long): 
51 13 29 N  
03 02 57 W 
JNCC Site Code: UK9015022 
Size: 24662.98 
Designation: SPA 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

i. the 5 year peak mean population size for the Bewick’s swan population is no less than 289 individuals (ie the 5 
year peak mean between 1988/9 - 1992/3); 

ii. the extent of saltmarsh at the Dumbles is maintained; 
iii. the extent of intertidal mudflats and sandflats at Frampton Sands, Waveridge Sands and the Noose is 

maintained; 
iv. the extent of vegetation with an effective field size of >6 ha and with unrestricted bird sightlines > 500m at 

feeding, roosting and refuge sites are maintained; 
v. greater than 25% cover of suitable soft leaved herbs and grasses  in winter season throughout the transitional 

saltmarsh at the Dumbles is maintained; 
vi. aggregations of Bewick’s swan at feeding, roosting and refuge sites are not subject to significant disturbance. 

 
Interest feature 2: Internationally important population of regularly occurring migratory species: wintering 
dunlin 
 
The conservation objective is to maintain the dunlin population and its supporting habitats in favourable condition, as 
defined below. 
 
The interest feature dunlin will be considered to be in favourable condition when, subject to natural processes, each of 
the following conditions are met: 
 

i. the 5 year peak mean population size for the wintering dunlin population is no less than 41,683 individuals (ie the 
5 year peak mean between 1988/9 - 1992/3); 

ii. the extent of saltmarsh is maintained; 
iii. the extent of intertidal mudflats and sandflats is maintained; 
iv. the extent of shingle and rocky shore is maintained; 
v. the extent of vegetation with a sward height of <10cm is maintained throughout the saltmarsh; 
vi. the distribution and abundance of suitable invertebrates in intertidal mudflats and sandflats is maintained; 
vii. the distribution and abundance of suitable invertebrates in shingle and rocky shore is maintained; 
viii. the extent of strandlines is maintained; 

P
age 2180



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               59/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: Severn Estuary 
Location (Lat & Long): 
51 13 29 N  
03 02 57 W 
JNCC Site Code: UK9015022 
Size: 24662.98 
Designation: SPA 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

ix. unrestricted bird sightlines of >200m at feeding and roosting sites are maintained; 
x. aggregations of dunlin at feeding or roosting sites are not subject to significant disturbance. 

 
Interest feature 3: Internationally important population of regularly occurring migratory species: wintering 
European white-fronted goose 
 
The conservation objective is to maintain the European white-fronted goose population and its supporting habitats in 
favourable condition, as defined below. 
 
The interest feature European white-fronted goose will be considered to be in favourable condition when, subject to 
natural processes (Box 1), each of the following conditions are met: 
 

i. the 5 year peak mean population size for the wintering European white fronted goose population is no less than 
3,002 individuals (ie the 5 year peak mean between 1988/9- 

ii. 1992/3); 
iii. the extent of saltmarsh at the Dumbles is maintained; 
iv. the extent of intertidal mudflats and sandflats at Frampton Sands, Waveridge Sands and the Noose is 

maintained; 
v. greater than 25% cover of suitable soft-leaved herbs and grasses is maintained during the winter on saltmarsh 

areas; 
vi. unrestricted bird sightlines of >200m at feeding and roosting sites are maintained; 
vii. aggregations of European white-fronted goose at feeding or roosting sites are not subject to significant 

disturbance. 
 
Interest feature 4: Internationally important population of regularly occurring migratory species: wintering 
redshank 
 
The conservation objective is to maintain the redshank population and its supporting habitats in favourable condition, 
as defined below. 

P
age 2181



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               60/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: Severn Estuary 
Location (Lat & Long): 
51 13 29 N  
03 02 57 W 
JNCC Site Code: UK9015022 
Size: 24662.98 
Designation: SPA 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

 
The interest feature redshank will be considered to be in favourable condition when, subject to natural processes, each 
of the following conditions are met: 
 

i. the 5 year peak mean population size for the wintering redshank population is no less than 2,013 individuals (ie 
the 5 year peak mean between 1988/9 - 1992/3); 

ii. the extent of saltmarsh is maintained; 
iii. the extent of intertidal mudflats and sandflats is maintained; 
iv. the extent of shingle and rocky shore is maintained; 
v. the extent of vegetation with a sward height of <10cm throughout the saltmarsh is maintained; 
vi. the distribution and abundance of suitable invertebrates in intertidal mudflats and sandflats is maintained; 
vii. the distribution and abundance of suitable invertebrates in shingle and rocky shore is maintained; 
viii. strandlines are not subject to significant disturbance; 
ix. unrestricted bird sightlines of >200m at feeding and roosting sites are maintained; 
x. aggregations of redshank at feeding or roosting sites are not subject to significant disturbance. 

 
Interest feature 5: Internationally important population of regularly occurring migratory species: wintering 
shelduck 
 
The conservation objective is to maintain the shelduck population and its supporting habitats in favourable condition, 
as defined below. 
 
The interest feature shelduck will be considered to be in favourable condition when, subject to natural processes, each of 
the following conditions are met: 
 

i. the 5 year peak mean population size for the wintering shelduck population is no less than 2,892 individuals (ie 
the 5 year peak mean between 1988/9 - 1992/3); 

ii. the extent of saltmarsh is maintained; 
iii. the extent of intertidal mudflats and sandflats is maintained; 

P
age 2182



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               61/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: Severn Estuary 
Location (Lat & Long): 
51 13 29 N  
03 02 57 W 
JNCC Site Code: UK9015022 
Size: 24662.98 
Designation: SPA 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

iv. the extent of shingle and rocky shore is maintained; 
v. the distribution and abundance of suitable invertebrates in intertidal mudflats and sandflats is maintained;  
vi. unrestricted bird sightlines of >200m at feeding and roosting sites are maintained; aggregations of shelduck at 

feeding or roosting sites are not subject to significant disturbance. 
 
Interest Feature 6: SPA interest feature 6: Internationally important population of regularly occurring migratory 
species: wintering gadwall  
 
The conservation objective is to maintain the gadwall population and its supporting habitats in favourable condition, as 
defined below:  
 
The interest feature gadwall will be considered to be in favourable condition when, subject to natural processes2, each of 
the following conditions are met:  

i. the 5 year peak mean population size for the wintering gadwall population is no less than 330 (ie the 5 year peak 
mean between 1988/9 - 1992/3);  

ii. the extent of intertidal mudflats and sandflats (Appendix 8) is maintained;  
iii. unrestricted bird sightlines of >200m at feeding and roosting sites are maintained;  
iv. aggregations of gadwall at feeding or roosting sites are not subject to significant disturbance. 
v. Interest feature 7: Internationally important assemblage of waterfowl 

 
The conservation objective is to maintain the waterfowl assemblage and its supporting habitats in favourable condition, 
as defined below. 
 
The interest feature waterfowl assemblage will be considered to be in favourable condition when, subject to natural 
processes (Box1), each of the following conditions are met: 
 

i. the 5 year peak mean population size for the waterfowl assemblage is no less than 68,026 individuals (ie the 5 
year peak mean between 1988/9 - 1992/3); 

ii. the extent of saltmarsh is maintained; 

P
age 2183



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               62/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: Severn Estuary 
Location (Lat & Long): 
51 13 29 N  
03 02 57 W 
JNCC Site Code: UK9015022 
Size: 24662.98 
Designation: SPA 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

iii. the extent of intertidal mudflats and sandflats is maintained; 
iv. the extent of shingle and rocky shore is maintained; 
v. extent of vegetation of <10cm throughout the saltmarsh is maintained; 
vi. the distribution and abundance of suitable invertebrates in intertidal mudflats  and sandflats is maintained; 
vii. the distribution and abundance of suitable invertebrates in shingle and rocky shore is maintained; 
viii. greater than 25% cover of suitable soft leaved herbs and grasses during the winter on saltmarsh areas is 

maintained; 
ix. strandlines are not subject to significant disturbance; 
x. unrestricted bird sightlines of >500m at feeding and roosting sites are maintained; 
xi. waterfowl aggregations at feeding or roosting sites are not subject to significant disturbance. 

 
Component SSSIs  Severn Estuary SSSI 

 Flat Holm SSSI 
 Bridgwater Bay SSSI 
 Penarth Coast SSSI 
 Steep Holm SSSI 
 Sully Island SSSI 
 Upper Severn Estuary SSSI 
 
Maps of the site can be viewed on the CCW website. 
 

Key Environmental Conditions 
(factors that maintain site 
integrity 

Key supporting habitats for the Annex I species: 
 
 Intertidal mudflats and sandflats: 

o Habitat extent - The focal area for the Bewick’s swans is the upper Severn Estuary in the vicinity of the New 
Grounds, Slimbridge area. The mudflats and sandflats exposed as the tide falls where the estuary widens in the 

P
age 2184



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               63/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: Severn Estuary 
Location (Lat & Long): 
51 13 29 N  
03 02 57 W 
JNCC Site Code: UK9015022 
Size: 24662.98 
Designation: SPA 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

upper reaches of the site at Waveridge Sands, Frampton Sands and The Noose are used as safe refuge areas 
when the birds are disturbed. 

o Unimpeded sightlines at feeding and roosting sites - Bewick’s swan require unrestricted views >500m to allow 
early detection of predators when feeding and roosting. 

 
 Saltmarsh communities: 

o Habitat extent - The birds feed on the saltmarsh and the transition from saltmarsh to coastal grazing marsh in front 
of the sea defences in the upper estuary at The Dumbles, where areas of the high marsh are mainly affected only 
by brackish water during tidal inundation. 

o Vegetation characteristics - Bewick’s swan graze on a range of ‘soft’ meadow grasses such as Agrostis stolonifera 
and Alopecurus geniculatus found in wet meadows which are outwith the European marine site boundary. 

o Unimpeded sightlines at feeding and roosting sites - Bewick’s swan require unrestricted views >500m to allow 
early detection of predators when feeding and roosting. 

 
Key supporting habitats for populations of regularly occurring migratory species and assemblage of waterfowl: 
 
 Intertidal mudflats and sandflats: 

o Habitat extent - Intertidal mudflats and sandflats and their communities are important habitats as they provide both 
roosting and feeding areas. The European white-fronted geese roost at night on estuarine sandbanks and usually 
fly less than 10km to the daytime feeding grounds. Therefore conservation of traditional roosting sites is necessary 
to enable the population to exploit potential feeding habitats. 

o Food availability - Most of the waders and waterfowl within the assemblage including the internationally important 
regularly occurring migratory birds feed on invertebrates within and on the sediments.  

o Unimpeded sightlines at feeding and roosting sites - Waterfowl require unrestricted views >500m to allow early 
detection of predators when feeding and roosting. 

 
 Saltmarsh:  

o Habitat extent - Saltmarsh and their communities are important habitats as they provide both roosting and feeding 

P
age 2185



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               64/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: Severn Estuary 
Location (Lat & Long): 
51 13 29 N  
03 02 57 W 
JNCC Site Code: UK9015022 
Size: 24662.98 
Designation: SPA 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

areas. Upper and lower saltmarsh provide important feeding and roosting areas for the internationally important 
migratory birds throughout the estuary. 

o Food availability - The saltmarshes provide a rich feeding habitat for redshank and shelduck, which feed on 
invertebrate species in the sediments, such as the mudsnail Hydrobia. The European white-fronted geese graze 
on a range of saltmarsh grasses and herbs such as common saltmarsh grass Puccinellia maritime and sea barley 
Hordeum marinum. The birds feed on the saltmarsh and the transition to coastal grazing marsh in front of the sea 
defences in the upper estuary and particularly at the The Dumbles. 

o Vegetation characteristics - Vegetation of <10 cm is required throughout areas used by roosting waders. This is 
managed by grazing. 

o Unimpeded sightlines at feeding and roosting sites - Waterfowl require unrestricted views >500m to allow early 
detection of predators when feeding and roosting. The saltmarshes also have an important function providing a 
safe haven from the tides that flood the mudflats twice a day. The low-growing dense vegetation provides a 
suitable roosting habitat for redshank and dunlin, which prefer to roost on areas of short vegetation ensuring good 
visibility.  

 
 Shingle and rocky shore: 

o Habitat extent - the shingle and rocks in the estuary provide feeding areas for dunlin and redshank and some 
limited foraging at high tide. It is also provides important roost sites at high tide particularly for the dunlin and 
redshank. Many of the rocks are off shore and are therefore generally free from human disturbance. These include 
Guscar Rocks in the upper reaches, Blackstone Rocks at Clevedon and Stert Island in Bridgwater Bay.  

o Food availability - see above. 
o Unimpeded sightlines at feeding and roosting sites - Waterfowl require unrestricted views >500m to allow early 

detection of predators when feeding and roosting. 
 

 Wet coastal grazing marsh, improved grassland and open standing waters - these supporting habitats lie 
outside the European marine site boundary but within the SPA. They provide key areas for feeding and roosting for all 
the migratory species particularly at high tide. 

 

P
age 2186



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               65/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: Severn Estuary 
Location (Lat & Long): 
51 13 29 N  
03 02 57 W 
JNCC Site Code: UK9015022 
Size: 24662.98 
Designation: SPA 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

Key environmental conditions for the supporting habitats: 
 
 Hydrodynamic and sedimentary regime - the tidal range in the Severn Estuary is the second-highest in the world 

and the scouring of the seabed and strong tidal streams result in natural erosion of the habitats and the presence of 
high sediment loads. 

 
 Maintain suitable distance between the site and development - to allow for managed retreat of intertidal habitats 

and avoid coastal squeeze. 
 
Other key conditions: 
 
 Manage/restrict public access - at certain times of the year. Significant disturbance attributable to human activities 

can result in reduced food intake and/or increased energy expenditure.  
 
 Maintain levels of prey.    
 
Maps showing supporting habitats of the Severn Estuary SPA can be found on the CCW Website. 
 

SPA Condition Assessment Severn Estuary SSSI condition summary1 (compiled 01 October 2010). 
 
% Area meeting 
PSA* target  

% Area favourable % Area 
unfavourable 
recovering  

% Area 
unfavourable no 
change  

% Area 
unfavourable 
declining  

% Area destroyed 
/ part destroyed  

95.19% 94.83% 0.36% 2.65% 2.16% 0.00% 
 

                                                 
1 Natural England SSSI condition summary. Available [online]: http://www.english-
nature.org.uk/special/sssi/reportAction.cfm?report=sdrt18&category=S&reference=1002284  

P
age 2187



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               66/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: Severn Estuary 
Location (Lat & Long): 
51 13 29 N  
03 02 57 W 
JNCC Site Code: UK9015022 
Size: 24662.98 
Designation: SPA 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

*PSA target - The Government's Public Service Agreement (PSA) target to have 95% of the SSSI area in favourable or 
recovering condition by 2010.  
 

Vulnerabilities (includes 
existing pressures and trends) 
 

Internationally important populations of regularly occurring Annex 1 species:  
  
 Physical loss of supporting habitats through removal - The physical loss of areas of intertidal habitats may be 

caused directly through change of land use or indirectly as a consequence of changes to sedimentation processes 
(e.g. coastal defences) as well as via the effects of smothering by artificial structures (e.g. jetties) or the disposal of 
spoils. Activities or developments resulting in physical loss of the intertidal supporting habitats are likely to reduce the 
availability of feeding and roosting habitat and thus be detrimental to the favourable condition of the SPA interest 
features including the Annex 1 species, Bewick’s swan. The intertidal mudflats and sandflats and the saltmarsh are 
highly sensitive to removal by land reclamation and barrage construction. Information provided by NE and CCW 
states that large areas of the European marine site are not currently under threat, however when combined with a 
high level of sensitivity this leads to a moderate vulnerability. 

 
 Noise or visual disturbance - Overwintering birds are disturbed by sudden movements and sudden noises. This can 

displace the birds from their feeding grounds. Disturbance can prevent the birds from feeding and in response they 
either a) decrease their energy intake at their present (disturbed) feeding site through displacement activity, or b) 
move to an alternative less favoured feeding site. Such a response affects energy budgets and thus survival. There is 
intermittent disturbance from both the landward and seaward side of the site. Bewick’s swans are mainly affected by 
disturbance from the landward side and any increase in disturbance should be avoided. At present NE and CCW 
assess that the Annex 1 species are moderately vulnerable to noise and visual disturbance on the intertidal mudflats 
and sandflats and highly vulnerable to this category of operation on the saltmarsh. 

 
 Contamination by synthetic and/or non-synthetic toxic compounds - Waterfowl are subject to the accumulation 

of toxins through the food chain or through direct contact with toxic substances when roosting or feeding. Their ability 
to feed can also be affected by the abundance or change in palatability of their prey caused by toxic contamination. At 
the moment there is no evidence to show that this is the case, but the estuary is vulnerable to oil spills and there is a 

P
age 2188



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               67/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: Severn Estuary 
Location (Lat & Long): 
51 13 29 N  
03 02 57 W 
JNCC Site Code: UK9015022 
Size: 24662.98 
Designation: SPA 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

continuous discharge of toxins into the estuary, some of which bind to the sediments. NE and CCW identify this is an 
area which requires further assessment. They also identify Bewick’s swans as currently moderately vulnerable to 
toxic contamination. 

 
Internationally important waterfowl assemblage including populations of regularly occurring migratory species: 
 
 Physical loss through removal -  The physical loss of areas of intertidal habitats may be caused directly through 

change of land use or indirectly as a consequence of changes to sedimentation processes (e.g. coastal defences) as 
well as via the effects of smothering by artificial structures (e.g. jetties) or the disposal of spoils. Eelgrass beds are 
being affected by siltation due to changes in sediment movement after construction of the Second Severn Crossing 
which has resulted in smothering. Activities or developments resulting in physical loss of the intertidal supporting 
habitats are likely to reduce the availability of food and roosting habitat and thus be detrimental to the favourable 
condition of the SPA interest features including all the migratory species and waterfowl assemblage. All three 
supporting habitats are highly sensitive to removal by land reclamation and barrage construction. Information 
provided by NE and CCW states that large areas of the European marine site are not currently under threat, however 
when combined with a high level of sensitivity this leads to a moderate vulnerability. 

 
 Damage by abrasion or selective extraction - Saltmarsh may be physically damaged from overgrazing or eroded 

when boats are moored on it and when paths are worn through it to reach moored boats on foot or via vehicles. 
Currently all supporting habitats are considered to be moderately vulnerable to abrasion. Intertidal habitats are highly 
sensitive to damage by direct and indirect effects of aggregate dredging. The intertidal mudflats and sandflats and the 
shingle and rocky shore are therefore considered by NE and CCW to be highly vulnerable to selective extraction. 

 
 Noise or visual disturbance - Overwintering birds are disturbed by sudden movements and sudden noises. This can 

have the effect of displacing the birds from their feeding grounds. Disturbance can prevent the birds from feeding and 
in response they either a) decrease their energy intake at their present (disturbed) feeding site through displacement 
activity, or b) move to an alternative less favoured feeding site. Such a response affects energy budgets and thus 
survival. There is intermittent disturbance to the internationally important migratory species and the waterfowl 

P
age 2189



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               68/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: Severn Estuary 
Location (Lat & Long): 
51 13 29 N  
03 02 57 W 
JNCC Site Code: UK9015022 
Size: 24662.98 
Designation: SPA 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

assemblage from both the landward and seaward side of the site which has increased in recent years, due to the 
estuary becoming more populated and the development of all weather recreational pursuits. All supporting habitats 
are currently highly vulnerable to noise and visual disturbance. 

 
 Contamination by synthetic and/or non-synthetic toxic compounds - Waterfowl are subject to the accumulation 

of toxins through the food chain or through direct contact with toxic substances when roosting or feeding. Their ability 
to feed can also be affected by the abundance or change in palatability of their prey caused by toxic contamination. At 
the moment there is no evidence to show that this is the case on the Severn Estuary, but the estuary is vulnerable to 
oil spills and there is a continuous discharge of toxins into the estuary, some of which bind to the sediments. NE and 
CCW identify this is an area which requires further assessment. The intertidal mudflats and sandflats and the 
saltmarsh are currently highly vulnerable to the introduction of synthetic and non-synthetic compounds. 

 
 Changes in nutrient and/or organic loading - Changes in organic or nutrient loading can change the species 

composition of the plants on the saltmarsh and thus the structure of the sward. Increases in nutrients can also cause 
excessive algal growth on the mudflats, denying the birds access to their invertebrate prey and changing the 
invertebrate species composition in the sediment. Though the water quality has been improved in recent years there 
are still local areas of concern and any increase in nutrient loading should be avoided. At present the intertidal 
mudflats and sandflats are moderately vulnerable to this category of operation. 

 
 Biological disturbance through the selective extraction of species - Wildfowling is carried out all around the 

estuary. NE and CCW have not established that it has a detrimental effect on the overall bird populations but state 
that wildfowling needs to be exercised in a managed and sustainable manner preferably by a British Association of 
Shooting and Conservation (BASC) affiliated association, applying the BASC wildfowlers code of conduct. Bait 
digging is also carried out around the estuary. If too large an area is regularly dug over, it can change the availability 
of prey in the sediment as the area needs a period of recovery and recolonisation. The removal of strandline 
vegetation by beach cleaning removes an important habitat for invertebrates, as well as many of the invertebrates 
themselves, reducing the quantity and variety of prey available to the birds. Much of the saltmarsh is managed by 
grazing and changes in management can alter the availability of prey and suitability of roosting sites. The saltmarsh is 

P
age 2190



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               69/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: Severn Estuary 
Location (Lat & Long): 
51 13 29 N  
03 02 57 W 
JNCC Site Code: UK9015022 
Size: 24662.98 
Designation: SPA 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

currently highly vulnerable to the selective extraction of species. 
 

Landowner/ Management 
Responsibility 

 N/A 

 
Ramsar Sites 
 
 
Site Name: Severn Estuary 
Location (Lat & Long): 
51 13 29 N 
03 02 57 W  
JNCC Site Code: UK11081 
Size: 24662.98 
Designation: Ramsar 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

Site Description The Severn Estuary is the largest coastal plain estuary in the UK with extensive mudflats and sandflats, rocky shore 
platforms, shingle and islands. Saltmarsh fringes the coast, backed by grazing marsh with freshwater and occasional 
brackish ditches. The estuary’s classic funnel shape, unique in the UK, is a factor causing the Severn to have the second 
highest tidal range in the world (after the Bay of Fundy in Canada) at more than 12 meters. This tidal regime results in 
plant and animal communities typical of the extreme physical conditions of strong flows, mobile sediments, changing 
salinity, high turbidity and heavy scouring. The resultant low diversity invertebrate communities, that frequently include 
populations of ragworms, lugworms and other invertebrates in high densities, form an important food source for passage 
and wintering birds. The site is important in the spring and autumn migration periods for waders moving along the west 
coast of Europe, as well as in winter for large numbers of waterbirds including swans, geese, ducks and waders. These 
bird populations are regarded as internationally important. 
 

P
age 2191



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               70/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: Severn Estuary 
Location (Lat & Long): 
51 13 29 N 
03 02 57 W  
JNCC Site Code: UK11081 
Size: 24662.98 
Designation: Ramsar 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

Glassworts and annual sea-blite colonise the open mud, with beds of all three species of eelgrass Zostera occurring on 
more sheltered mud and sandbanks. Large expanses of common cord-grass also occur on the outer marshes. Heavily 
grazed saltmarsh fringes the estuary with a range of saltmarsh types present. The middle marsh sward is dominated by 
common saltmarsh-grass with typical associated species. In the upper marsh, red fescue and saltmarsh rush become 
more prominent. 
 
Areas of saltmarsh fringe the estuary, mostly grazed with a range of vegetation communities. There are gradual and 
stepped transitions between bare mudflat to upper marsh and grassland. Main vegetation types are: upper saltmarsh 
with Festuca rubra and Juncus gerardii; middle marsh dominated by Puccinellia maritima with Glaux maritima and 
Triglochin maritima; dense monocultures of Spartina anglica at the edge of the mudflats-brackish pools and depressions 
with Phragmites australis and Bolboschoenus maritimus. 
 

Qualifying Features 
 

Ramsar criterion 1 
 Immense tidal range (second-largest in world) creating diversity of physical environment and biological communities. 
 
Ramsar criterion 3 
 Due to unusual estuarine communities, reduced diversity and high productivity. 
 
Ramsar criterion 4 
 This site is important for the run of migratory fish between sea and river via estuary.  Species include Salmon Salmo 

salar, sea trout S. trutta, sea lamprey Petromyzon marinus, river lamprey Lampetra fluviatilis, allis shad Alosa alosa, 
twaite shad A. fallax, and eel Anguilla anguilla.  It is also of particular importance for migratory birds during spring and 
autumn. 

 
Ramsar criterion 5 
Species with peak counts in winter:  
 70919 waterfowl 

P
age 2192



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               71/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: Severn Estuary 
Location (Lat & Long): 
51 13 29 N 
03 02 57 W  
JNCC Site Code: UK11081 
Size: 24662.98 
Designation: Ramsar 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

 
Ramsar criterion 6 
Species with peak counts in winter: 
 Bewick’s swan 
 Greater white-fronted goose 
 Common shelduck 
 Gadwall 
 Dunlin 
 Common redshank 
 
Ramsar criterion 8 
 The fish of the whole estuarine and river system is one of the most diverse in Britain, with over 110 species recorded.  

Salmon Salmo salar, sea trout S. trutta, sea lamprey Petromyzon marinus, river lamprey Lampetra fluviatilis, allis 
shad Alosa alosa, twaite shad A. fallax, and eel Anguilla Anguilla use the Severn Estuary as a key migration route to 
their spawning grounds in the many tributaries that flow into the estuary.  The site is important as a feeding and 
nursery ground for many fish species particularly allis shad Alosa alosa and twaite shad A. fallax which feed on mysid 
shrimps in the salt wedge. 

 
Conservation Objectives 
 

 
Ramsar interest feature 1: Estuaries  
 The conservation objective for the “estuaries” feature of the Severn Estuary Ramsar Site is to maintain the feature in 

favourable condition, as defined by the conservation objective for the SAC “estuaries” feature” (please refer to Severn 
Estuary SAC in this document). 

Ramsar interest feature 2: Assemblage of migratory fish species  
 
The conservation objective for the “assemblage of migratory fish species” feature of the Severn Estuary Ramsar Site is 

P
age 2193



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               72/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: Severn Estuary 
Location (Lat & Long): 
51 13 29 N 
03 02 57 W  
JNCC Site Code: UK11081 
Size: 24662.98 
Designation: Ramsar 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

to maintain the feature in favourable condition, as defined below:  
The feature will be considered to be in favourable condition when, subject to natural processes, each of the following 
conditions are met:  

i. the migratory passage of both adults and juveniles of the assemblage of migratory fish species through the 
Severn Estuary between the Bristol Channel and any of their spawning rivers is not obstructed or impeded by 
physical barriers, changes in flows, or poor water quality;  

ii. the size of the populations of the assemblage species in the Severn Estuary and the rivers which drain into it, is 
at least maintained and is at a level that is sustainable in the long term;  

iii. the abundance of prey species forming the principle food resources for the assemblage species within the 
estuary, is maintained.  

iv. Toxic contaminants in the water column and sediment are below levels which would pose a risk to the ecological 
objectives described above. 

 
Ramsar interest feature 3: Internationally important populations of waterfowl : Bewick’s swan 
 The conservation objective for the “Bewick’s swan” feature of the Severn Estuary Ramsar Site is to maintain the 

feature in favourable condition, as defined by the conservation objective for the SPA “Bewick’s swan ” feature 
 
Ramsar interest feature 4 : Internationally important populations of waterfowl : European white-fronted goose 
 The conservation objective for the “European white-fronted goose” feature of the Severn Estuary Ramsar Site is to 

maintain the feature in favourable condition, as defined by the conservation objective for the SPA “wintering 
European white-fronted goose” feature 

 
Ramsar interest feature 5: Internationally important populations of waterfowl : dunlin 
 The conservation objective for the “dunlin” feature of the Severn Estuary Ramsar Site is to maintain the feature in 

favourable condition, as defined by the conservation objective for the SPA “wintering dunlin ” feature 
 
Ramsar interest feature 6: Internationally important populations of waterfowl : redshank 

P
age 2194



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               73/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: Severn Estuary 
Location (Lat & Long): 
51 13 29 N 
03 02 57 W  
JNCC Site Code: UK11081 
Size: 24662.98 
Designation: Ramsar 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

 The conservation objective for the “redshank” feature of the Severn Estuary Ramsar Site is to maintain the feature in 
favourable condition, as defined by the conservation objective for the SPA “wintering redshank” feature 

 
Ramsar interest feature 7: Internationally important populations of waterfowl: shelduck 
 The conservation objective for the “shelduck” feature of the Severn Estuary Ramsar Site is to maintain the feature in 

favourable condition, as defined by the conservation objective for the SPA “wintering shelduck” feature 
 
Ramsar interest feature 8: Internationally important populations of waterfowl : gadwall 
 The conservation objective for the “gadwall” feature of the Severn Estuary Ramsar Site is to maintain the feature in 

favourable condition, as defined by the conservation objective for the SPA “wintering gadwall” feature 
 
Ramsar interest feature 9: Internationally important assemblage of waterfowl 
 The conservation objective for the “internationally important assemblage of waterfowl” feature of the Severn Estuary 

Ramsar Site is to maintain the feature in favourable condition, as defined by the conservation objective for the SPA 
“internationally important assemblage of waterfowl” feature 

Component SSSIs  Sully Island SSSI 
 Steep Holm SSSI 
 Bridgwater Bay SSSI 
 Flat Holm SSSI 
 Severn Estuary SSSI 
 Severn Estuary SSSI 
 Flat Holm SSSI 
 Upper Severn Estuary SSSI 
 Bridgwater Bay SSSI 
 Penarth Coast SSSI 

P
age 2195



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               74/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: Severn Estuary 
Location (Lat & Long): 
51 13 29 N 
03 02 57 W  
JNCC Site Code: UK11081 
Size: 24662.98 
Designation: Ramsar 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

 Steep Holm SSSI 
 Sully Island SSSI 
 Upper Severn Estuary SSSI 
 

Key Environmental Conditions 
(factors that maintain site 
integrity 

Key supporting habitats for the Berwick’s swan: 
 
 Intertidal mudflats and sandflats: 

o Habitat extent - The focal area for the Bewick’s swans is the upper Severn Estuary in the vicinity of the New 
Grounds, Slimbridge area. The mudflats and sandflats exposed as the tide falls where the estuary widens in the 
upper reaches of the site at Waveridge Sands, Frampton Sands and The Noose are used as safe refuge areas 
when the birds are disturbed. 

o Unimpeded sightlines at feeding and roosting sites - Bewick’s swan require unrestricted views >500m to allow 
early detection of predators when feeding and roosting. 

 
 Saltmarsh communities: 

o Habitat extent - The birds feed on the saltmarsh and the transition from saltmarsh to coastal grazing marsh in front 
of the sea defences in the upper estuary at The Dumbles, where areas of the high marsh are mainly affected only 
by brackish water during tidal inundation. 

o Vegetation characteristics - Bewick’s swan graze on a range of ‘soft’ meadow grasses such as Agrostis stolonifera 
and Alopecurus geniculatus found in wet meadows which are outwith the European marine site boundary. 

o Unimpeded sightlines at feeding and roosting sites - Bewick’s swan require unrestricted views >500m to allow 
early detection of predators when feeding and roosting. 

 
Key supporting habitats for populations of regularly occurring migratory species and assemblage of waterfowl 
 
 Intertidal mudflats and sandflats: 

o Habitat extent - Intertidal mudflats and sandflats and their communities are important habitats as they provide both 

P
age 2196



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               75/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: Severn Estuary 
Location (Lat & Long): 
51 13 29 N 
03 02 57 W  
JNCC Site Code: UK11081 
Size: 24662.98 
Designation: Ramsar 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

roosting and feeding areas. The European white-fronted geese roost at night on estuarine sandbanks and usually 
fly less than 10km to the daytime feeding grounds. Therefore conservation of traditional roosting sites is necessary 
to enable the population to exploit potential feeding habitats. 

o Food availability - Most of the waders and waterfowl within the assemblage including the internationally important 
regularly occurring migratory birds feed on invertebrates within and on the sediments.  

o Unimpeded sightlines at feeding and roosting sites - Waterfowl require unrestricted views >500m to allow early 
detection of predators when feeding and roosting. 

 
 Saltmarsh:  

o Habitat extent - Saltmarsh and their communities are important habitats as they provide both roosting and feeding 
areas. Upper and lower saltmarsh provide important feeding and roosting areas for the internationally important 
migratory birds throughout the estuary. 

o Food availability - The saltmarshes provide a rich feeding habitat for redshank and shelduck, which feed on 
invertebrate species in the sediments, such as the mudsnail Hydrobia. The European white-fronted geese graze 
on a range of saltmarsh grasses and herbs such as common saltmarsh grass Puccinellia maritime and sea barley 
Hordeum marinum. The birds feed on the saltmarsh and the transition to coastal grazing marsh in front of the sea 
defences in the upper estuary and particularly at the The Dumbles. 

o Vegetation characteristics - Vegetation of <10 cm is required throughout areas used by roosting waders. This is 
managed by grazing. 

o Unimpeded sightlines at feeding and roosting sites - Waterfowl require unrestricted views >500m to allow early 
detection of predators when feeding and roosting. The saltmarshes also have an important function providing a 
safe haven from the tides that flood the mudflats twice a day. The low-growing dense vegetation provides a 
suitable roosting habitat for redshank and dunlin, which prefer to roost on areas of short vegetation ensuring good 
visibility.  

 
 Shingle and rocky shore: 

o Habitat extent - the shingle and rocks in the estuary provide feeding areas for dunlin and redshank and some 
limited foraging at high tide. It is also provides important roost sites at high tide particularly for the dunlin and 

P
age 2197



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               76/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: Severn Estuary 
Location (Lat & Long): 
51 13 29 N 
03 02 57 W  
JNCC Site Code: UK11081 
Size: 24662.98 
Designation: Ramsar 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

redshank. Many of the rocks are off shore and are therefore generally free from human disturbance. These include 
Guscar Rocks in the upper reaches, Blackstone Rocks at Clevedon and Stert Island in Bridgwater Bay.  

o Food availability - see above. 
o Unimpeded sightlines at feeding and roosting sites - Waterfowl require unrestricted views >500m to allow early 

detection of predators when feeding and roosting. 
 

 Wet coastal grazing marsh, improved grassland and open standing waters - these supporting habitats lie 
outside the European marine site boundary but within the SPA. They provide key areas for feeding and roosting for all 
the migratory species particularly at high tide. 

 
Key environmental conditions for the supporting habitats: 
 
 Hydrodynamic and sedimentary regime - the tidal range in the Severn Estuary is the second-highest in the world 

and the scouring of the seabed and strong tidal streams result in natural erosion of the habitats and the presence of 
high sediment loads. 

 
 Maintain suitable distance between the site and development - to allow for managed retreat of intertidal habitats 

and avoid coastal squeeze. 
 
Other key conditions: 
 
 Manage/restrict public access - at certain times of the year. Significant disturbance attributable to human activities 

can result in reduced food intake and/or increased energy expenditure.  
 
 Maintain levels of prey. 
  

P
age 2198



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               77/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: Severn Estuary 
Location (Lat & Long): 
51 13 29 N 
03 02 57 W  
JNCC Site Code: UK11081 
Size: 24662.98 
Designation: Ramsar 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

Ramsar Condition Assessment  N/A 

Vulnerabilities (includes 
existing pressures and trends) 
 

 Physical loss of supporting habitats through removal - The physical loss of areas of intertidal habitats may be 
caused directly through change of land use or indirectly as a consequence of changes to sedimentation processes 
(e.g. coastal defences) as well as via the effects of smothering by artificial structures (e.g. jetties) or the disposal of 
spoils. Activities or developments resulting in physical loss of the intertidal supporting habitats are likely to reduce the 
availability of feeding and roosting habitats. The intertidal mudflats and sandflats and the saltmarsh are highly 
sensitive to removal by land reclamation and barrage construction. Information provided by NE and CCW states that 
large areas of the European marine site are not currently under threat, however when combined with a high level of 
sensitivity this leads to a moderate vulnerability. 

 
 Noise or visual disturbance - Overwintering birds are disturbed by sudden movements and sudden noises. This can 

displace the birds from their feeding grounds. Disturbance can prevent the birds from feeding and in response they 
either a) decrease their energy intake at their present (disturbed) feeding site through displacement activity, or b) 
move to an alternative less favoured feeding site. Such a response affects energy budgets and thus survival. There is 
intermittent disturbance to the internationally important migratory species and the waterfowl assemblage from both 
the landward and seaward side of the site which has increased in recent years, due to the estuary becoming more 
populated and the development of all weather recreational pursuits.  Bewick’s swans are mainly affected by 
disturbance from the landward side and any increase in disturbance should be avoided. All supporting habitats are 
currently highly vulnerable to noise and visual disturbance. 

 
 Contamination by synthetic and/or non-synthetic toxic compounds - Waterfowl are subject to the accumulation 

of toxins through the food chain or through direct contact with toxic substances when roosting or feeding. Their ability 
to feed can also be affected by the abundance or change in palatability of their prey caused by toxic contamination. At 
the moment there is no evidence to show that this is the case, but the estuary is vulnerable to oil spills and there is a 
continuous discharge of toxins into the estuary, some of which bind to the sediments. NE and CCW identify this is an 
area which requires further assessment. The intertidal mudflats and sandflats and the saltmarsh are currently highly 
vulnerable to the introduction of synthetic and non-synthetic compounds. 

P
age 2199



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               78/79       Enfusion 

Site Name: Severn Estuary 
Location (Lat & Long): 
51 13 29 N 
03 02 57 W  
JNCC Site Code: UK11081 
Size: 24662.98 
Designation: Ramsar 

Habitats Regulations Assessment: Data Proforma 
 

 
 Damage by abrasion or selective extraction - Saltmarsh may be physically damaged from overgrazing or eroded 

when boats are moored on it and when paths are worn through it to reach moored boats on foot or via vehicles. 
Currently all supporting habitats are considered to be moderately vulnerable to abrasion. Intertidal habitats are highly 
sensitive to damage by direct and indirect effects of aggregate dredging. The intertidal mudflats and sandflats and the 
shingle and rocky shore are therefore considered by NE and CCW to be highly vulnerable to selective extraction. 

 
 Changes in nutrient and/or organic loading - Changes in organic or nutrient loading can change the species 

composition of the plants on the saltmarsh and thus the structure of the sward. Increases in nutrients can also cause 
excessive algal growth on the mudflats, denying the birds access to their invertebrate prey and changing the 
invertebrate species composition in the sediment. Though the water quality has been improved in recent years there 
are still local areas of concern and any increase in nutrient loading should be avoided. At present the intertidal 
mudflats and sandflats are moderately vulnerable to this category of operation. 

 
 Biological disturbance through the selective extraction of species - Wildfowling is carried out all around the 

estuary. NE and CCW have not established that it has a detrimental effect on the overall bird populations but state 
that wildfowling needs to be exercised in a managed and sustainable manner preferably by a British Association of 
Shooting and Conservation (BASC) affiliated association, applying the BASC wildfowlers code of conduct. Bait 
digging is also carried out around the estuary. If too large an area is regularly dug over, it can change the availability 
of prey in the sediment as the area needs a period of recovery and recolonisation. The removal of strandline 
vegetation by beach cleaning removes an important habitat for invertebrates, as well as many of the invertebrates 
themselves, reducing the quantity and variety of prey available to the birds. Much of the saltmarsh is managed by 
grazing and changes in management can alter the availability of prey and suitability of roosting sites. The saltmarsh is 
currently highly vulnerable to the selective extraction of species. 

 
Landowner/ Management 
Responsibility 

 N/A 

P
age 2200



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               79/79       Enfusion 

 

P
age 2201



 
Strategic Planning 

Cardiff Council
County Hall 

Atlantic Wharf
Cardiff

CF10 4UW

P
age 2202



Cardiff Local Development Plan
2006 - 2026

Habitat Regulations Assessment Report:
Appendix 2 - Policy Screening Template
September 2013

P
age 2203



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)       Enfusion 

Appendix 2 - POLICY SCREENING TEMPLATE 
 
Policy Screening: Categorising the Potential Effects of the Plan (Tyldesley, 2009) 
Criteria 
Category 

Rationale 

Category A: No negative effect 
A1 Options/ policies that will not themselves lead to development e.g. because they relate to design or other qualitative criteria for development, 

or they are not a land use planning policy. 
A2 Options/ policies intended to protect the natural environment, including biodiversity.  
A3 Options/ policies intended to conserve or enhance the natural, built or historic environment, where enhancement measures will not be likely 

to have any negative effect on a European site.  
A4 Options/ policies that positively steer development away from European sites and associated sensitive areas.   
A5 Options/ policies that would have no effect because no development could occur through the policy itself, the development being 

implemented through later policies in the same plan, which are more specific and therefore more appropriate to access for their effects on 
European Sites and associated sensitive areas.  

Category B: No significant effect 
B Options/ policies that could have an effect but would not be likely to have a significant (negative) effect on a European site (alone or in-

combination with other plans or projects) because the effects are trivial or ‘de minimis’ even if combined with other effects.   
Category C: Potential significant effect alone 
C1 The option, policy could directly affect a European site because it provides for, or steers, a quantity or type of development onto a 

European site, or adjacent to it.  
C2 The option, policy could indirectly affect a European site e.g. because it provides for, or steers, a quantity or type of development that may 

be very close to it, or ecologically, hydrologically or physically connected to it or it may increase disturbance as a result of increased 
recreational pressure.  

C3 Proposals for a magnitude of development that, no matter where it is located, the development would be likely to have a significant effect 
on a European site. 

C4 An option, or policy that makes provision for a quantity/ type of development (and may indicate one or more broad locations e.g. a particular 
part of the plan area), but the effects are uncertain because the detailed location of the development is to be selected following 
consideration of options in a later, more specific plan. The consideration of options in the later plan will assess potential effects on 
European Sites, but because the development could possibly affect a European site a significant effect cannot be ruled out on the basis of 
objective information 

C5 Options, policies or proposals for developments or infrastructure projects that could block options or alternatives for the provision of other 
development or projects in the future, which will be required in the public interest, that may lead to adverse effects on European sites, which 
would otherwise be avoided.  

P
age 2204



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)       Enfusion 

Policy Screening: Categorising the Potential Effects of the Plan (Tyldesley, 2009) 
Criteria 
Category 

Rationale 

C6 Options, policies or proposals which depend on how the policies etc are implemented in due course, for example, through the 
development management process. There is a theoretical possibility that if implemented in one or more particular ways, the proposal could 
possibly have a significant effect on a European site 

C7 Any other options, policies or proposals that would be vulnerable to failure under the Habitats Regulations at project assessment stage; to 
include them in the plan would be regarded by the EC as ‘faulty planning’. 

C8 Any other proposal that may have an adverse effect on a European site, which might try to pass the tests of the Habitats Regulations at 
project assessment stage by arguing that the plan provides the imperative reasons of overriding public interest to justify its consent 
despite a negative assessment. 

Category D: Potential significant effects in combination 
D1 The option, policy or proposal alone would not be likely to have significant effects but if its effects are combined with the effects of other 

policies or proposals provided for or coordinated by the Local Development Document (internally) the cumulative effects would be likely 
to be significant.  

D2 Options, policies or proposals that alone would not be likely to have significant effects but if their effects are combined with the effects of 
other plans and projects and possibly the effects of other developments provided for in the Local Development Document as well, the 
combined effects are likely to be significant.  

D3 Options or proposals that are, or could be, part of a programme or sequence of development delivered over a period, where the 
implementation of the early stages would not have a significant effect on European sites, but which would dictate the nature, scale, duration, 
location, timing of the whole project, the later stages of which could have adverse effects on such sites.  

 
 
 

 
Policy References  

(for full text of policy and supporting text, 
please refer to the Deposit LDP document) 

 
Potential effects  

(Category A - D, see key above) 
 

Rationale/ Comments 

 
KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH  
Provision will be made for a range and choice of 
opportunities to deliver 41,100 new dwellings and 
40,000 new jobs in Cardiff between 2006-2026. 
Furthermore, in order to demonstrate that the Plan 

 
C2  The option, policy could indirectly affect a 
European site e.g. because it provides for, or 
steers, a quantity or type of development that 
may be very close to it, or ecologically, 
hydrologically or physically connected to it or it 

 
Proposed growth will not incur land take at 
European sites, but may potentially affect sites 
within and outside Cardiff.  The magnitude of 
housing and employment development proposed 
requires examination to determine any effects 

P
age 2205



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)       Enfusion 

 
Policy References  

(for full text of policy and supporting text, 
please refer to the Deposit LDP document) 

 
Potential effects  

(Category A - D, see key above) 
 

Rationale/ Comments 

meets the flexibility test of soundness and to 
accommodate potentially higher build rates than 
anticipated, provision has been made to deliver an 
additional 10% flexibility allowance (for 4,000 
dwellings) which can be triggered, if demonstrated as 
necessary through annual monitoring, in the later 
phases of the Plan period. 
 

may increase disturbance as a result of 
increased recreational pressure. 
 
C3  Proposals for a magnitude of development 
that, no matter where it is located, the 
development could potentially have a significant 
effect on a European site. 
 

upon European Sites. 

 
KP2: STRATEGIC SITES  
Strategic Sites will be allocated as set out below to 
help meet the need for new dwellings and jobs:  
Brownfield Strategic Sites:  
(A) Cardiff Central Enterprise Zone and Regional 
Transport Hub;  
(B) Former Gas Works, Ferry Road;  
Greenfield Strategic Sites:  
(C) North West Cardiff;  
(D) North of Junction 33 on M4;  
(E) South of Creigiau;  
(F) North East Cardiff (West of Pontprennau);  
(G) East of Pontprennau Link Road; and  
(H) South of St Mellons Business Park - Employment 
only. 
 

 
C2  The option, policy could indirectly affect a 
European site e.g. because it provides for, or 
steers, a quantity or type of development that 
may be very close to it, or ecologically, 
hydrologically or physically connected to it or it 
may increase disturbance as a result of 
increased recreational pressure. 
 
C3  Proposals for a magnitude of development 
that, no matter where it is located, the 
development could potentially have a significant 
effect on a European site. 

 
Proposed growth will not incur land take at 
European sites, but may potentially affect sites 
within and outside Cardiff.  The magnitude of 
housing and employment development proposed 
requires examination to determine any effects 
upon European Sites. 

 
KP3(A): GREEN BELT  
In order to strategically manage the urban form of 
Cardiff and to protect the setting of the urban area, a 
Green Belt is proposed on land North of the M4 as 
shown on the Proposals Map. Within this area 

 
A2  Options/ policies intended to protect the 
natural environment, including biodiversity. 
 
A3  Options/ policies intended to conserve or 
enhance the natural, built or historic environment, 

 
This policy is aimed in part at preserving the 
natural environment. 

P
age 2206



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)       Enfusion 

 
Policy References  

(for full text of policy and supporting text, 
please refer to the Deposit LDP document) 

 
Potential effects  

(Category A - D, see key above) 
 

Rationale/ Comments 

development which prejudices the open nature of this 
land will not be permitted. Positive biodiversity, 
landscape, climate change mitigation and informal 
recreational management and enhancement 
measures will be encouraged in this area to further 
enhance the long term role of the area as a key 
natural resource benefitting the city. 
 

where enhancement measures will not be likely 
to have any negative effect on a European site. 

 
KP3(B): SETTLEMENT BOUNDARIES 
In order to strategically manage the spatial growth of 
Cardiff, settlement boundaries are proposed as 
shown on the Proposals Map. In all areas outside the 
defined settlement boundaries, otherwise referred to 
as countryside, there will be a corresponding 
presumption against inappropriate development.  
 

 
A5  Options/ policies that would have no effect 
because no development could occur through the 
policy itself, the development being implemented 
through later policies in the same plan, which are 
more specific and therefore more appropriate to 
access for their effects on European Sites and 
associated sensitive areas. 

 
Definition of a settlement boundary will not affect 
European sites per se. 

 
KP4: MASTERPLANNING APPROACH 
New development should accord with: 
 
(i) The  Masterplanning General Principles (as set out 
in the Deposit LDP) 
(ii) Guidance set out in Site-Specific Masterplanning 
Frameworks, where prepared.   
 

 
A5  Options/ policies that would have no effect 
because no development could occur through the 
policy itself, the development being implemented 
through later policies in the same plan, which are 
more specific and therefore more appropriate to 
access for their effects on European Sites and 
associated sensitive areas. 

 
This policy does not stipulate development in 
itself, but instead provides the Masterplanning 
principles that policies such as KP1 and KP2 
should follow. 

 
KP5: HIGH QUALITY AND SUSTAINABLE DESIGN 
To help support the development of Cardiff as a 
world-class European Capital City, all new 
development will be required to be of a high quality, 

 
A1  Options/ policies that will not themselves 
lead to development e.g. because they relate to 
design or other qualitative criteria for 
development, or they are not a land use planning 

 
Design-related policy which does not in itself lead 
to development. 

P
age 2207



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)       Enfusion 

 
Policy References  

(for full text of policy and supporting text, 
please refer to the Deposit LDP document) 

 
Potential effects  

(Category A - D, see key above) 
 

Rationale/ Comments 

sustainable design and make a positive contribution 
to the creation of distinctive communities, places and 
spaces 

policy. 

 
KP6: NEW INFRASTRUCTURE 
New development will make appropriate provision for, 
or contribute towards, the necessary infrastructure 
required as a consequence of the proposed 
development.  Such infrastructure will be delivered in 
a timely manner to meet the needs of existing and 
planned communities and includes the aspects which 
may be required subject to the nature and details of 
the proposal as set out in text of this policy. 
 

 
C2  The option, policy could indirectly affect a 
European site e.g. because it provides for, or 
steers, a quantity or type of development that 
may be very close to it, or ecologically, 
hydrologically or physically connected to it or it 
may increase disturbance as a result of 
increased recreational pressure. 

 
Proposed infrastructure will not incur land take at 
European sites, but may potentially affect sites 
within and outside Cardiff.   

 
KP7: PLANNING OBLIGATIONS 
Planning obligations will be sought to mitigate any 
adverse impacts of development. 
 

 
A1  Options/ policies that will not themselves 
lead to development e.g. because they relate to 
design or other qualitative criteria for 
development, or they are not a land use planning 
policy. 

 
Policy will not lead to development in itself. 

 
KP8: SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT 
 
Development in Cardiff will be integrated with 
transport infrastructure and services in order to: 
 
(i) Minimise travel demand and dependence on 

the car; 
(ii) Enable and maximise use of sustainable and 

active modes of transport; 
(iii) Integrate travel modes; 

 
A2  Options/ policies intended to protect the 
natural environment, including biodiversity. 

 
Policy will serve to offset potential negative 
impacts arising from other parts of the plan. 

P
age 2208



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)       Enfusion 

 
Policy References  

(for full text of policy and supporting text, 
please refer to the Deposit LDP document) 

 
Potential effects  

(Category A - D, see key above) 
 

Rationale/ Comments 

(iv) Provide for people with special access and 
mobility requirements; 

(v) Improve safety for all travellers; 
(vi) Maintain and improve the efficiency and 

reliability of the transport network; 
(vii) Support the movement of freight by rail or 

water; and 
(viii) Manage freight movements by road and 

minimise their impacts. 
 
 
KP9: RESPONDING TO EVIDENCED ECONOMIC 
NEEDS 
Provision will be made for a range and choice of new 
employment sites including those identified in KP2 
for different types of employment and in different 
geographical locations to effectively deliver the level 
of growth set out in the plan together with putting in 
place a framework to protect the role of existing 
employment land 
 

 
C2  The option, policy could indirectly affect a 
European site e.g. because it provides for, or 
steers, a quantity or type of development that 
may be very close to it, or ecologically, 
hydrologically or physically connected to it or it 
may increase disturbance as a result of 
increased recreational pressure. 
 
C3  Proposals for a magnitude of development 
that, no matter where it is located, the 
development could potentially have a significant 
effect on a European site. 
 

 
Proposed employment sites will not incur land 
take at European sites, but may potentially affect 
sites within and outside Cardiff.  The magnitude 
of housing and employment development 
proposed requires examination to determine any 
effects upon European Sites. 

 
KP10: CENTRAL AND BAY BUSINESS 
AREAS 
The following uses are considered appropriate within 
the Central and Bay Business Areas: 
(i) New offices, residential and commercial leisure 

uses within the Central and Bay Business 

 
C2  The option, policy could indirectly affect a 
European site e.g. because it provides for, or 
steers, a quantity or type of development that 
may be very close to it, or ecologically, 
hydrologically or physically connected to it or it 
may increase disturbance as a result of 

 
Proposed development sites will not incur land 
take at European sites, but are connected to the 
Severn Estuary via Cardiff Bay, and so may 
potentially affect this site. 

P
age 2209



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)       Enfusion 

 
Policy References  

(for full text of policy and supporting text, 
please refer to the Deposit LDP document) 

 
Potential effects  

(Category A - D, see key above) 
 

Rationale/ Comments 

Areas;  
(ii) Enhanced retail and complementary facilities 

within the Central Shopping Area; and 
(iii) Other uses most appropriately located in city 

centres. 
 

increased recreational pressure. 

 
KP11: MINERALS AND AGGREGATES 
Cardiff will contribute to regional aggregate supplies 
by: 
 
(i) Promoting and supporting the efficient use of 

minerals and use of alternatives to naturally 
occurring minerals including the re-use of 
secondary aggregates; 

(ii) Protecting existing mineral reserves and 
potential resources from development that 
would preclude their future extraction; and 

(iii) Maintaining a 10 year land bank of permitted 
aggregate reserves in line with national 
guidance. 

 

 
C2  The option, policy could indirectly affect a 
European site e.g. because it provides for, or 
steers, a quantity or type of development that 
may be very close to it, or ecologically, 
hydrologically or physically connected to it or it 
may increase disturbance as a result of 
increased recreational pressure. 

 
Mineral sites are close to Cardiff Beech Woods 
SAC, so potential for effect should be examined 
in further detail. 

 
KP12: WASTE 
Waste arisings from Cardiff will be managed by: 
 
(i) Promoting and supporting additional 

sustainable waste treatment facilities, 
measures and strategies in accordance with 
the Regional Waste Plan; 

 
C2  The option, policy could indirectly affect a 
European site e.g. because it provides for, or 
steers, a quantity or type of development that 
may be very close to it, or ecologically, 
hydrologically or physically connected to it or it 
may increase disturbance as a result of 
increased recreational pressure. 

 
Where waste sites are close to the Severn 
Estuary, the potential for an effect should be 
examined in further detail. 

P
age 2210



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)       Enfusion 

 
Policy References  

(for full text of policy and supporting text, 
please refer to the Deposit LDP document) 

 
Potential effects  

(Category A - D, see key above) 
 

Rationale/ Comments 

(ii) Encouraging the provision of in-building 
treatment facilities on existing and allocated 
areas of general industry; 

(iii) Supporting the provision and maintenance of 
sustainable waste management storage and 
collection arrangements in all appropriate new 
developments; and 

(iv) Supporting waste minimisation and the 
provision of facilities that use recycled or 
composted products. 

 
 
KP13: RESPONDING TO EVIDENCED SOCIAL 
NEEDS 
A key part of the successful progression of the city 
will be to develop sustainable neighbourhoods, tackle 
deprivation, and improve the quality of life for all. 
 

 
A1  Options/ policies that will not themselves 
lead to development e.g. because they relate to 
design or other qualitative criteria for 
development, or they are not a land use planning 
policy. 

 
Policy will not lead to development in itself. 

 
KP14: HEALTHY LIVING 
Cardiff will be made a healthier place to live by 
seeking to reduce health inequalities through 
encouraging healthy lifestyles, addressing the social 
determinants of health and providing accessible 
health care facilities. This will be achieved by 
supporting developments which provide for active 
travel, access to quality open spaces and accessible 
health facilities. 
 

 
C2  The option, policy could indirectly affect a 
European site e.g. because it provides for, or 
steers, a quantity or type of development that 
may be very close to it, or ecologically, 
hydrologically or physically connected to it or it 
may increase disturbance as a result of 
increased recreational pressure. 

 
Where access to open spaces is promoted as 
part of developments, and this access is in a 
sensitive area such as Cardiff beech Woods or 
the foreshore of the Severn Estuary, the potential 
for an effect should be examined in further detail. 

P
age 2211



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)       Enfusion 

 
Policy References  

(for full text of policy and supporting text, 
please refer to the Deposit LDP document) 

 
Potential effects  

(Category A - D, see key above) 
 

Rationale/ Comments 

 
KP15: CLIMATE CHANGE 
To mitigate against the effects of climate change and 
adapt to its impacts, development proposals should 
take into account the following factors: 
(i) Reducing carbon emissions; 
(ii) Protecting and increasing carbon sinks; 
(iii) Adapting to the implications of climate change 

at both a strategic and detailed design level; 
(iv) Promoting energy efficiency and increasing the 

supply of renewable energy; and 
(v) Avoiding unnecessary flood risk by assessing 

the implications of development proposals 
within areas susceptible to flooding and 
preventing development that unacceptably 
increases risk. 

 

 
C2  The option, policy could indirectly affect a 
European site e.g. because it provides for, or 
steers, a quantity or type of development that 
may be very close to it, or ecologically, 
hydrologically or physically connected to it or it 
may increase disturbance as a result of 
increased recreational pressure. 

 
Where policies promote generation of renewable 
energy, this could include wind turbines situated 
on the foreshore of the Severn Estuary, so the 
potential for an effect should be examined in 
further detail. 

 
KP16: NATURAL HERITAGE 
Cardiff’s distinctive natural heritage that provides a 
network of green infrastructure. The network will be 
protected, enhanced, created and managed to 
ensure integrity and connectivity of this multi-
functional green resource is maintained. 
 
Protection and conservation of natural heritage 
network needs to be balanced against the benefits of 
development.  Proposed development should 
therefore demonstrate how green infrastructure has 
been considered and integrated into the proposals. If 

 
A2  Options/ policies intended to protect the 
natural environment, including biodiversity. 

 
Policy will serve to offset potential negative 
impacts arising from other parts of the plan. 

P
age 2212



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)       Enfusion 

 
Policy References  

(for full text of policy and supporting text, 
please refer to the Deposit LDP document) 

 
Potential effects  

(Category A - D, see key above) 
 

Rationale/ Comments 

development results in overall loss of green 
infrastructure, appropriate compensation will be 
required. 
 
 
KP17: BUILT HERITAGE 
Cardiff’s distinctive heritage assets will be protected, 
managed and enhanced. 
 

 
A3  Options/ policies intended to conserve or 
enhance the natural, built or historic environment, 
where enhancement measures will not be likely 
to have any negative effect on a European site. 
 

 
Policy itself will not lead to development. 

 
KP18: NATURAL RESOURCES 
In the interests of the long-term sustainable 
development of Cardiff, development proposals must 
take full account of the need to minimise impacts on 
the city’s natural resources and minimise pollution 
 

 
A2  Options/ policies intended to protect the 
natural environment, including biodiversity. 

 
Policy will serve to offset potential negative 
impacts arising from other parts of the plan. 

 
H1: NON-STRATEGIC HOUSING SITES 
The non-strategic sites which are allocated for 
housing are listed in Table 3 of the draft deposit LDP 
document. 

 
D1  The option, policy or proposal alone would 
not be likely to have significant effects but if its 
effects are combined with the effects of other 
policies or proposals provided for or 
coordinated by the Local Development 
Document (internally) the cumulative effects 
could potentially to be significant. 
 

 
Non-strategic housing sites, when combined with 
educational, community, retail, waste 
management, and employment development, 
may have a combined effect upon European 
sites within and outside Cardiff, so the potential 
for a combined effect should be examined in 
further detail. 

 
H2: CONVERSION TO RESIDENTIAL USE 
Within the Central Business Area of the city centre, 
District and Local centres, as defined on the 
Proposals Map, the conversion of suitable vacant 

 
A4 Options/ policies that positively steer 
development away from European sites and 
associated sensitive areas.   

 
Areas referred to in this policy are not close to 
European Sites, and the effects of building 
conversions are likely to be localised. 

P
age 2213



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)       Enfusion 

 
Policy References  

(for full text of policy and supporting text, 
please refer to the Deposit LDP document) 

 
Potential effects  

(Category A - D, see key above) 
 

Rationale/ Comments 

space above commercial premises to residential use 
will be favoured where: 
(i) Adequate servicing and security can be 

maintained to the existing commercial use(s);  
(ii) Appropriate provision can be made for parking, 

access, pedestrian access, amenity space, and 
refuse disposal together with any appropriate 
external alterations and; 

(iii)The residential use does not compromise the 
ground floor use 

 
 
H3: AFFORDABLE HOUSING 
Where there is evidence of need, the Council will 
seek a target of X% 
affordable housing in all residential proposals that: 
(i) Contain X or more new dwellings; or 
(ii) Exceed X hectares in gross site area; or 
(iii) Exceed the thresholds in (i) or (ii) above for 

adjacent sites. 
 
The exact affordable housing contribution to be 
provided will depend on the circumstances of each 
proposal, particularly scheme viability 
 

 
A1  Options/ policies that will not themselves 
lead to development e.g. because they relate to 
design or other qualitative criteria for 
development, or they are not a land use planning 
policy. 

 
Policy itself will not lead to development. 

 
H4: CHANGE OF USE OF RESIDENTIAL LAND 
OR PROPERTIES 
Outside the Central and Bay Business Areas and 
District and Local Centres, identified on the 

 
A1  Options/ policies that will not themselves 
lead to development e.g. because they relate to 
design or other qualitative criteria for 
development, or they are not a land use planning 

 
Policy itself will not lead to new development, 
and in any case the effects of redevelopment of 
residential properties are likely to be localised. 

P
age 2214



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)       Enfusion 

 
Policy References  

(for full text of policy and supporting text, 
please refer to the Deposit LDP document) 

 
Potential effects  

(Category A - D, see key above) 
 

Rationale/ Comments 

Proposals Map, conversion or redevelopment of 
residential properties to other use will only be 
permitted where: 
(i) The premises or their location are no longer 

suitable for residential use; or 
(ii) The proposal is for a community use 

necessary within a residential area; or 
(iii) The proposal is for a use that could contribute 

to the creation of sustainable communities.  
 

policy. 

 
H5: SUB-DIVISION OR CONVERSION OF 
RESIDENTIAL PROPERTIES 
Proposals for any conversion to flats or Houses in 
Multiple Occupation will be permitted where: 
(i) The existing property is of a size (without 

being extended for the proposed use), 
whereby the layout, room sizes, range of 
facilities and external amenity space of the 
resulting property would ensure an adequate 
standard of residential amenity for future 
occupiers. 

(ii) There would be no material harm to the 
amenity of existing, nearby residents by virtue 
of general disturbance, noise or overlooking. 

(iii) The cumulative impact of such conversions 
will not adversely affect the amenity and/or the 
character of the area. 

(iv) Does not have an adverse affect on local 
parking provision 

 
A1  Options/ policies that will not themselves 
lead to development e.g. because they relate to 
design or other qualitative criteria for 
development, or they are not a land use planning 
policy. 

 
Policy itself will not lead to new development, 
and in any case the effects of conversion of 
residential properties are likely to be localised. 

P
age 2215



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)       Enfusion 

 
Policy References  

(for full text of policy and supporting text, 
please refer to the Deposit LDP document) 

 
Potential effects  

(Category A - D, see key above) 
 

Rationale/ Comments 

 

 
H6: CHANGE OF USE OR REDEVELOPMENT TO 
RESIDENTIAL USE 
Change of use of redundant premises or 
redevelopment of redundant previously developed 
land for residential use will be permitted where: 
(i) There is no overriding need to retain the 

existing use of the land or premises and no 
overriding alternative local land use 
requirement; 

(ii) The resulting residential accommodation and 
amenity will be satisfactory; 

(iii) There will be no unacceptable impact on the 
operating conditions of existing businesses;  

(iv) Necessary community and transportation 
facilities are accessible or can be readily 
provided or improved; and 

(v) It can be demonstrated that the change of use 
to a more sensitive end use has been 
assessed in terms of land contamination risk 
and that there are no an unacceptable risk to 
the end users.  

 

 
A1  Options/ policies that will not themselves 
lead to development e.g. because they relate to 
design or other qualitative criteria for 
development, or they are not a land use planning 
policy. 

 
Policy itself will not lead to new development, 
and in any case the effects of change of use 
likely to be localised. 

P
age 2216



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)       Enfusion 

 
Policy References  

(for full text of policy and supporting text, 
please refer to the Deposit LDP document) 

 
Potential effects  

(Category A - D, see key above) 
 

Rationale/ Comments 

 
H7: ALLOCATION POLICY FOR GYPSY AND 
TRAVELLER SITE(S) 
 
Land is allocated for the provision of 
Gypsies and Travellers accommodation at 
Pengam Green as defined on the Proposals 
Map. 
 

 
D1  The option, policy or proposal alone would 
not be likely to have significant effects but if its 
effects are combined with the effects of other 
policies or proposals provided for or 
coordinated by the Local Development 
Document (internally) the cumulative effects 
could potentially to be significant. 
 

 
This allocation, when combined with other 
housing, educational, community, waste 
management, and employment development, 
may have a combined effect upon European 
sites within and outside Cardiff, so the potential 
for a combined effect should be examined in 
further detail. 

 
H8: SITES FOR GYPSY AND TRAVELLER 
CARAVANS  
New sites and extensions to existing sites will be 
permitted where: 
(i) Necessary physical, transport and social 

infrastructure are accessible or can be readily 
provided; 

(ii) Environmental factors including flood risk, 
ground stability, contaminated land and 
proximity of hazardous installations do not 
make the site inappropriate for residential 
development; 

(iii) The site is designed in line with the Welsh 
Government Good Practice Guide in 
Designing Gypsy Traveller Sites. 

(iv) There would be no unreasonable impact on 
the character and appearance of the 
surrounding areas including impact on 
residential amenity of neighbouring occupiers 
or the operating conditions of existing 

 
C4  An option, or policy that makes provision for 
a quantity/ type of development (and may 
indicate one or more broad locations e.g. a 
particular part of the plan area), but the effects 
are uncertain because the detailed location of the 
development is to be selected following 
consideration of options in a later, more 
specific plan. The consideration of options in the 
later plan will assess potential effects on 
European Sites, but because the development 
could possibly affect a European site a significant 
effect cannot be ruled out on the basis of 
objective information 

 
Where there exists the potential for new sites 
and extensions to existing sites close to the 
foreshore of the Severn Estuary, then the 
potential for an effect should be examined in 
further detail. 

P
age 2217



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)       Enfusion 

 
Policy References  

(for full text of policy and supporting text, 
please refer to the Deposit LDP document) 

 
Potential effects  

(Category A - D, see key above) 
 

Rationale/ Comments 

businesses 
(v) In the case of a transit or touring site, it has 

good access to the primary highway network. 
 
 
EC1: EXISTING EMPLOYMENT LAND 
The city’s existing employment areas outside of the 
Central and Bay Business Areas   (as designated on 
the Proposals Map) will be protected for B class 
employment generating uses (together with 
appropriate ancillary and/or complementary uses 
and activities as referred to in Policy EC2) as 
described in the table included in the text of this 
policy in the draft deposit LDP. 
 

 
C2  The option, policy could indirectly affect a 
European site e.g. because it provides for, or 
steers, a quantity or type of development that 
may be very close to it, or ecologically, 
hydrologically or physically connected to it or it 
may increase disturbance as a result of 
increased recreational pressure. 

 
Some of the sites referred to in this policy are 
close to the Severn Estuary foreshore, so the 
potential for an effect should be examined in 
further detail. 

 
EC2: PROVISION OF COMPLEMENTARY 
FACILITIES FOR EMPLOYEES IN BUSINESS, 
INDUSTRIAL AND WAREHOUSING 
DEVELOPMENTS 
Provision for open space, public realm, leisure, food 
and drink, and child-care facilities will be appropriate 
in office, industrial and warehousing developments, 
provided, the facility is of an appropriate scale and 
nature intended primarily to meet the needs of 
workers in the vicinity, therefore not attracting 
significant levels of visitor traffic into the area, or 
exacerbating existing traffic conditions. 
 

 
A1  Options/ policies that will not themselves 
lead to development e.g. because they relate to 
design or other qualitative criteria for 
development, or they are not a land use planning 
policy. 

 
Policy itself will not lead to new development, 
and in any case the effects of these facilities are 
likely to be localised. 

 
EC3: ALTERNATIVE USE OF EMPLOYMENT 

 
A1  Options/ policies that will not themselves 

 
Policy itself will not lead to new development, but 

P
age 2218



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)       Enfusion 

 
Policy References  

(for full text of policy and supporting text, 
please refer to the Deposit LDP document) 

 
Potential effects  

(Category A - D, see key above) 
 

Rationale/ Comments 

LAND AND PREMISES 
Development of business, industrial and warehousing 
land and premises for other uses will only be 
permitted if: 
(i) The land or premises are no longer well-

located for business, industrial or warehousing 
use; or 

(ii) There is no need to retain the land or premises 
for business, industrial or warehousing use, 
having regard to the demand for such land and 
premises and the requirement to provide for a 
range and choice of sites available for such 
use; and 

(iii) There will be no unacceptable impact on the 
operating conditions of existing businesses. 

 

lead to development e.g. because they relate to 
design or other qualitative criteria for 
development, or they are not a land use planning 
policy. 

instead controls the type of development at these 
sites.   

 
EC4: PROTECTING OFFICES IN THE CENTRAL 
AND BAY BUSINESS AREAS 
The alternative use of offices within the Central and 
Bay Business Areas will only be permitted where it 
can be demonstrated that there is no need to retain 
the site or premises for office use having regard to 
the demand for offices and the requirement to provide 
a range and choice of sites available for such use. 
 

 
A1  Options/ policies that will not themselves 
lead to development e.g. because they relate to 
design or other qualitative criteria for 
development, or they are not a land use planning 
policy. 

 
Policy itself will not lead to new development, but 
instead controls the type of development at these 
sites.   

 
EC5: HOTEL DEVELOPMENT 
 
Proposals for hotel development will be favoured: 
 

 
C2  The option, policy could indirectly affect a 
European site e.g. because it provides for, or 
steers, a quantity or type of development that 
may be very close to it, or ecologically, 

 
Development in the Bay area may potentially 
have effects upon the Severn Estuary, so this 
potential should be examined in more detail. 

P
age 2219



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)       Enfusion 

 
Policy References  

(for full text of policy and supporting text, 
please refer to the Deposit LDP document) 

 
Potential effects  

(Category A - D, see key above) 
 

Rationale/ Comments 

(i) Within the Central and Bay Business Areas of 
the city centre;  

(ii) In appropriate locations for the conversion of 
suitable residential or commercial properties; 

(iii) At other locations within the urban area, if there 
is no need to preserve the site for its existing or 
allocated use, assessed against the relevant 
policies of the plan; 

 
Subject to considerations of scale, location, design, 
amenity and transportation being acceptable. 
 

hydrologically or physically connected to it or it 
may increase disturbance as a result of 
increased recreational pressure. 

 
EC6: NON-STRATEGIC EMPLOYMENT SITE 
 
Land is allocated for university related research 
and development uses at Maindy Road, 
Cathays. 
 

 
B  Options/ policies that could have an effect but 
would not be likely to have a significant 
(negative) effect on a European site (alone or in-
combination with other plans or projects) 
because the effects are trivial or ‘de minimis’ 
even if combined with other effects.   

 
The size of development is too small and too far 
removed from any European Site to have any 
potential effect, either alone or in combination 
with other developments. 

 
EN1: COUNTRYSIDE PROTECTION 
There will be a presumption against development in 
the countryside, beyond the settlement boundaries 
identified on the Proposals Map, except where it can 
be justified for agricultural and forestry needs or it is 
essential for facilitating sustainable access to and 
enjoyment of the countryside including appropriate 
outdoor recreation and tourism uses. 
Appropriate development in the countryside should 
be in harmony with, and not cause unacceptable 

 
A2  Options/ policies intended to protect the 
natural environment, including biodiversity. 

 
This policy is aimed in part at preserving the 
natural environment. 

P
age 2220



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)       Enfusion 

 
Policy References  

(for full text of policy and supporting text, 
please refer to the Deposit LDP document) 

 
Potential effects  

(Category A - D, see key above) 
 

Rationale/ Comments 

harm to, the character and quality of the surrounding 
countryside and landscape 
 
 
EN2: CONVERSION, EXTENSION AND 
REPLACEMENT BUILDINGS IN THE 
COUNTRYSIDE 
There will be a presumption against conversion, 
extension and replacement of buildings in Cardiff’s 
countryside except in accordance with the detailed 
criteria set out in this policy in the draft deposit LDP. 
 

 
A1  Options/ policies that will not themselves 
lead to development e.g. because they relate to 
design or other qualitative criteria for 
development, or they are not a land use planning 
policy. 

 
Policy itself does not lead to development. 

 
EN3: LANDSCAPE PROTECTION 
Development will not be permitted that would cause 
unacceptable harm to the character and quality of the 
landscape and setting of the city, with particular 
priority given to protecting, managing and enhancing 
the character and quality of the following Special 
Landscape Areas: 
(i) St Fagans Lowlands and the Ely Valley; 
(ii) Garth Hill and Pentyrch Ridges; 
(iii) Fforest Fawr and Caerphilly Ridge; 
(iv) Wentloog Levels; and 
(v) Flat Holm. 
 

 
A1  Options/ policies that will not themselves 
lead to development e.g. because they relate to 
design or other qualitative criteria for 
development, or they are not a land use planning 
policy. 

 
Policy itself does not lead to development. 

 
EN4: RIVER VALLEYS 
The Natural Heritage, character and other key 
features of Cardiff’s river corridors will be protected, 

 
C2  The option, policy could indirectly affect a 
European site e.g. because it provides for, or 
steers, a quantity or type of development that 

 
Where the Taff Trail is promoted, the potential for 
an effect upon the Cardiff Beech Woods should 
be examined in further detail. 

P
age 2221



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)       Enfusion 

 
Policy References  

(for full text of policy and supporting text, 
please refer to the Deposit LDP document) 

 
Potential effects  

(Category A - D, see key above) 
 

Rationale/ Comments 

promoted and enhanced, together with facilitating 
sustainable access and recreation. 

may be very close to it, or ecologically, 
hydrologically or physically connected to it or it 
may increase disturbance as a result of 
increased recreational pressure. 

 
EN5: LOCAL NATURE RESERVES AND NON-
STATUTORY SITES OF NATURE CONSERVATION 
AND GEOLOGICAL IMPORTANCE 
Development proposals that would affect locally 
designated sites of nature conservation and 
geological importance should maintain or enhance 
the nature conservation and/or geological importance 
of the designation 
 

 
A2  Options/ policies intended to protect the 
natural environment, including biodiversity. 

 
This policy is aimed at preserving the natural 
environment. 

 
EN6: ECOLOGICAL NETWORKS AND FEATURES 
OF IMPORTANCE FOR BIODIVERSITY 
Development will only be permitted if it does not 
cause unacceptable harm to: 
 
(i) Landscape features of importance for wild flora 

and fauna, including wildlife corridors and 
‘stepping stones’ which enable the dispersal 
and functioning of protected and priority 
species; 

(ii) Networks of importance for landscape or 
nature conservation. 

 
Particular priority will be given to the protection, 
enlargement, connectivity and management of the 
overall nature of semi natural habitats. 

 
A2  Options/ policies intended to protect the 
natural environment, including biodiversity. 

 
This policy is aimed at preserving the natural 
environment. 

P
age 2222



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)       Enfusion 

 
Policy References  

(for full text of policy and supporting text, 
please refer to the Deposit LDP document) 

 
Potential effects  

(Category A - D, see key above) 
 

Rationale/ Comments 

 

 
EN7: PRIORITY HABITATS AND SPECIES 
Development proposals that would have a significant 
adverse affect on the continued viability of habitats 
and species identified as priorities in the UK or Local 
Biodiversity Action Plan will only be permitted where: 
 
(i) The need for development outweighs the 

nature conservation importance of the site; 
(ii) The developer demonstrates that there is no 

satisfactory alternative location for the 
development which avoids nature conservation 
impacts; and 

(iii) Effective mitigation measures are provided by 
the developer. 

 

 
A2  Options/ policies intended to protect the 
natural environment, including biodiversity. 

 
This policy is aimed at preserving the natural 
environment. 

 
EN8: TREES, WOODLANDS AND HEDGEROWS 
Development will not be permitted that would cause 
unacceptable harm to trees, woodlands and 
hedgerows of significant public amenity, natural or 
cultural heritage value, or that contribute significantly 
to mitigating the effects of climate change. 
 

 
A2  Options/ policies intended to protect the 
natural environment, including biodiversity. 

 
This policy is aimed at preserving the natural 
environment. 

 
EN9: CONSERVATION OF THE HISTORIC 
ENVIRONMENT 
Development relating to any of the heritage assets 

 
A3  Options/ policies intended to conserve or 
enhance the natural, built or historic environment, 
where enhancement measures will not be likely 

 
Policy itself will not lead to development 

P
age 2223



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)       Enfusion 

 
Policy References  

(for full text of policy and supporting text, 
please refer to the Deposit LDP document) 

 
Potential effects  

(Category A - D, see key above) 
 

Rationale/ Comments 

listed (or their settings) will only be permitted where it 
can be demonstrated that it preserves or enhances 
that asset’s architectural quality, historic and cultural 
significance, character, integrity and/or setting. 
 

to have any negative effect on a European site. 

 
EN10: INNOVATIVE WATER SOLUTIONS  
Development should demonstrate the incorporation of 
water sensitive urban design solutions (the process of 
integrating water cycle management with the built 
environment through planning and urban design). To 
include the management of:  
(i) Water demand and supply; 
(ii) Waste water and pollution; 
(iii) Rainfall and runoff; 
(iv) Watercourses and water resource; 
(v) Flooding; and 
(vi) Water pathways.  
 

 
A2  Options/ policies intended to protect the 
natural environment, including biodiversity. 

 
Policy itself will not lead to development, and will 
serve to offset any potential negative effects 
arising from other part of the plan. 

 
EN11: PROTECTION OF WATER RESOURCES 
Development will not be permitted that would cause 
unacceptable harm to the quality or quantity of 
underground, surface or coastal waters. 
 

 
A2  Options/ policies intended to protect the 
natural environment, including biodiversity. 

 
Policy itself will not lead to development, and will 
serve to offset any potential negative effects 
arising from other part of the plan. 

 
EN12: RENEWABLE ENERGY AND LOW CARBON 
TECHNOLOGIES 
The Council will encourage developers of major and 
strategic sites to incorporate schemes which 

 
C2  The option, policy could indirectly affect a 
European site e.g. because it provides for, or 
steers, a quantity or type of development that 
may be very close to it, or ecologically, 

 
Where policies promote generation of renewable 
energy, this could include wind turbines situated 
on the foreshore of the Severn Estuary, so the 
potential for an effect should be examined in 

P
age 2224



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)       Enfusion 

 
Policy References  

(for full text of policy and supporting text, 
please refer to the Deposit LDP document) 

 
Potential effects  

(Category A - D, see key above) 
 

Rationale/ Comments 

generate energy from renewable and low carbon 
technologies. This includes opportunities to minimise 
carbon emissions associated with the heating, 
cooling and power systems for new development. 
 

hydrologically or physically connected to it or it 
may increase disturbance as a result of 
increased recreational pressure. 

further detail. 

 
EN13: AIR, NOISE, LIGHT POLLUTION AND 
CONTAMINATED LAND  
Development will not be permitted where it would 
cause or result in unacceptable harm to health, local 
amenity, the character and quality of the countryside, 
or interests of nature conservation, landscape or built 
heritage importance because of air, noise, light 
pollution or the presence of unacceptable levels of 
land contamination. 
 

 
A2  Options/ policies intended to protect the 
natural environment, including biodiversity. 

 
Policy itself will not lead to development, and will 
serve to offset any potential negative effects 
arising from other part of the plan. 

 
EN14: FLOOD RISK 
Development will not be permitted: 
(i) Within tidal or fluvial flood plains unless 

existing or proposed flood prevention and/or 
protection measures are acceptable; or 

(ii) Where it would increase the risk of flooding; or 
(iii) Where it would hinder future maintenance or 

improvement schemes of flood defences and 
watercourses; or 

(iv) Where it would cause adverse effects on the 
integrity of tidal or fluvial defences; or 

(v) Where ground floor bedrooms are proposed in 
areas at high risk of flooding. 

 
A1  Options/ policies that will not themselves 
lead to development e.g. because they relate to 
design or other qualitative criteria for 
development, or they are not a land use planning 
policy. 

 
Policy itself will not lead to development. 

P
age 2225



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)       Enfusion 

 
Policy References  

(for full text of policy and supporting text, 
please refer to the Deposit LDP document) 

 
Potential effects  

(Category A - D, see key above) 
 

Rationale/ Comments 

 

 
T1: SUPPORTING ACTIVE TRAVEL 
To enable people to access employment, essential 
services and community facilities by walking and 
cycling the Council will support developments which 
incorporate the attributes detailed in the text of this 
policy in the draft deposit LDP 
 

 
A2  Options/ policies intended to protect the 
natural environment, including biodiversity. 

 
Policy itself will not lead to development, and will 
serve to offset any potential negative effects 
arising from other part of the plan. 

 
T2: STRATEGIC RAPID TRANSIT AND BUS 
CORRIDORS 
To avoid car-based developments and maximise use 
of sustainable transport, infrastructure and associated 
services will be introduced to develop strategic rapid 
transport and bus corridors including those detailed in 
the text of this policy in the draft deposit LDP 
 

 
A2  Options/ policies intended to protect the 
natural environment, including biodiversity. 

 
Policy itself will not lead to development, and will 
serve to offset any potential negative effects 
arising from other part of the plan. 

 
T3: TRANSPORT INTERCHANGES 
In order to facilitate the transfer between transport 
modes and help to minimise travel demand and 
reduce car dependency, developments detailed in the 
text of this policy in the draft deposit LDP will be 
supported. 
 

 
A2  Options/ policies intended to protect the 
natural environment, including biodiversity. 

 
Policy itself will not lead to development, and will 
serve to offset any potential negative effects 
arising from other part of the plan. 

 
T4: REGIONAL TRANSPORT HUB 
Support will be given to the development of 
infrastructure and facilities in and around Cardiff 

 
A4  Options/ policies that positively steer 
development away from European sites and 
associated sensitive areas.   

 
Locations mentioned are not near European 
sites, and any effects are likely to be 
localized. 

P
age 2226



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)       Enfusion 

 
Policy References  

(for full text of policy and supporting text, 
please refer to the Deposit LDP document) 

 
Potential effects  

(Category A - D, see key above) 
 

Rationale/ Comments 

Central Railway Station which meet the criteria 
detailed in the text of this policy in the draft deposit 
LDP. 
 
 
T5: MANAGING TRANSPORT 
IMPACTS  
Where necessary, safe and convenient provision will 
be sought in conjunction with development for:  
(i) Pedestrians;  
(ii) People with special access and mobility 

requirements;  
(iii) Cyclists;  
(iv) Powered two-wheelers;  
(v) Public transport;  
(vi) Vehicular access and traffic management 

within the site and its vicinity; 
(vii) Car parking and servicing;  
(viii) Coach parking; and 
(ix) Horse-riders.  
 

 
A2  Options/ policies intended to protect the 
natural environment, including biodiversity. 

 
Policy itself will not lead to development, and will 
serve to offset any potential negative effects 
arising from other part of the plan. 

 
T6: IMPACT ON TRANSPORT NETWORKS AND 
SERVICES 
Development will not be permitted which would cause 
unacceptable harm to the safe and efficient operation 
of the highway, public transport and other movement 
networks including pedestrian and cycle routes, 
public rights of way and bridle routes. 
 

 
A1  Options/ policies that will not themselves 
lead to development e.g. because they relate to 
design or other qualitative criteria for 
development, or they are not a land use planning 
policy. 

 
Policy itself will not lead to development. 

P
age 2227



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)       Enfusion 

 
Policy References  

(for full text of policy and supporting text, 
please refer to the Deposit LDP document) 

 
Potential effects  

(Category A - D, see key above) 
 

Rationale/ Comments 

 
T7: STRATEGIC TRANSPORTATION 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
Support will be given to the development of the 
following elements of strategic transportation 
infrastructure: 

(i) Eastern Bay Link; 
(ii) St Mellons rail interchange; and 
(iii) New sustainable transport corridor in North 

West Cardiff 
 

 
C2  The option, policy could indirectly affect a 
European site e.g. because it provides for, or 
steers, a quantity or type of development that 
may be very close to it, or ecologically, 
hydrologically or physically connected to it or it 
may increase disturbance as a result of 
increased recreational pressure. 

 
The Eastern Bay Link Road passes close to the 
Severn Estuary and so its potential effects 
should be examined in more detail. 

 
T8: STRATEGIC RECREATIONAL ROUTES 
A strategic network of recreational routes will be 
maintained and developed to link Cardiff’s coast, river 
corridors, open spaces, countryside, and the regional 
network of routes, facilitating access to them by local 
communities, and forming an integral part of the 
wider cycling and walking network in Cardiff. 
 

 
C2  The option, policy could indirectly affect a 
European site e.g. because it provides for, or 
steers, a quantity or type of development that 
may be very close to it, or ecologically, 
hydrologically or physically connected to it or it 
may increase disturbance as a result of 
increased recreational pressure. 

 
Where recreational routes are promoted or 
enhanced, and these routes are in a sensitive 
area such as Cardiff Beech Woods or the 
foreshore of the Severn Estuary, the potential for 
an effect should be examined in further detail. 
 

 
R1: RETAIL PROVISION WITHIN STRATEGIC 
SITES 
Retail development which forms part of the allocated 
housing led Strategic Sites will be supported, where: 
 
(i) It is of an appropriate scale which satisfies an 

identified local need; 
(ii) It is located along public transport corridors 

and easily accessible by walking and cycling; 
and 

 
D1  The option, policy or proposal alone would 
not be likely to have significant effects but if its 
effects are combined with the effects of other 
policies or proposals provided for or 
coordinated by the Local Development 
Document (internally) the cumulative effects 
could potentially to be significant. 

 
Retail provision in Strategic Sites, when 
combined with housing, educational, community, 
waste management, and employment 
development, may have a combined effect upon 
European sites within and outside Cardiff, so the 
potential for a combined effect should be 
examined in further detail. 

P
age 2228



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)       Enfusion 

 
Policy References  

(for full text of policy and supporting text, 
please refer to the Deposit LDP document) 

 
Potential effects  

(Category A - D, see key above) 
 

Rationale/ Comments 

(iii) It forms part of a planned centre which 
reinforces a sense of place. 

 
 
R2: DEVELOPMENT IN THE CENTRAL SHOPPING 
AREA 
Development proposals within the Central Shopping 
Area (CSA) will be assessed against the following 
criteria: 
(i) Whether the proposal involves the loss of shop 

uses (Class A1) from within Protected 
Shopping Frontages; 

(ii) Whether the proposal involves retail and other 
uses which enhance the vitality, viability and 
attractiveness of the city centre; 

(iii) Whether the development allows for, or retains 
the effective use of, upper floors; and 

(iv) Supports the regeneration, renewal and 
enhancement of the city centre. 

 

 
A4  Options/ policies that positively steer 
development away from European sites and 
associated sensitive areas.   

 
Locations mentioned are not near European 
sites, and any potential effects are likely to be 
localised. 

 
R3: PROTECTED SHOPPING FRONTAGES 
Development proposals involving the loss of Class A1 
(shop) uses within Protected Shopping Frontages will 
be assessed against the following criteria: 
(i) The balance and distribution of existing and 

committed non-shop uses; 
(ii) The amount of A1 floorspace and frontage 

length being lost; 
(iii) Whether, and for how long, the premises have 

 
A1  Options/ policies that will not themselves 
lead to development e.g. because they relate to 
design or other qualitative criteria for 
development, or they are not a land use planning 
policy. 

 
Policy itself will not lead to development. 

P
age 2229



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)       Enfusion 

 
Policy References  

(for full text of policy and supporting text, 
please refer to the Deposit LDP document) 

 
Potential effects  

(Category A - D, see key above) 
 

Rationale/ Comments 

been vacant and actively marketed; 
(iv) The location, character and prominence of 

individual premises or frontages; 
(v) The nature of the proposed use, including 

whether an appropriate shop front and window 
display is to be provided; and 

(vi) The impact of the proposed use upon the 
amenity of adjacent or nearby residents. 

 
 
R4: RETAIL DEVELOPMENT (OUT OF CENTRE) 
Retail development will only be permitted outside the 
Central Shopping Area, District and Local Centres 
identified on the Proposals Map if it meets the criteria 
in the text of this policy in the draft deposit LDP.  
 

 
B  Options/ policies that could have an effect but 
would not be likely to have a significant 
(negative) effect on a European site (alone or in-
combination with other plans or projects) 
because the effects are trivial or ‘de minimis’ 
even if combined with other effects.   

 
This policy does not provide for development, 
but identifies the criteria against which 
development out of Central Shopping Area, 
District and Local Centres, will be judged. 

 
R5: DISTRICT CENTRES  
Retail, office, leisure and community facilities will be 
favoured within the District Centres identified on the 
Proposal Map. 
 

 
A4  Options/ policies that positively steer 
development away from European sites and 
associated sensitive areas.   

 
Areas referred to in this policy are not close to 
European Sites, and the effects of building these 
facilities are likely to be localised. 

 
R6: LOCAL CENTRES 
Retail, office, leisure and community facilities will be 
favoured within the Local Centres identified on the 
Proposal Map. 
 

 
A4  Options/ policies that positively steer 
development away from European sites and 
associated sensitive areas.   

 
Areas referred to in this policy are not close to 
European Sites, and the effects of building these 
facilities are likely to be localised. 

 
R7: FOOD AND DRINK USES 

 
A1  Options/ policies that will not themselves 

 
Policy itself will not lead to development. 

P
age 2230



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)       Enfusion 

 
Policy References  

(for full text of policy and supporting text, 
please refer to the Deposit LDP document) 

 
Potential effects  

(Category A - D, see key above) 
 

Rationale/ Comments 

Food and Drink Uses are most appropriately located 
in: 
(i) The City Centre (Central Business Area) 
(ii) The inner harbour/waterfront area of Cardiff 

Bay (Bay Business Area)  
(iii) District and Local Centres 
 

lead to development e.g. because they relate to 
design or other qualitative criteria for 
development, or they are not a land use planning 
policy. 

 
R8: PROTECTION OF LOCAL SHOPPING 
PARADES 
Proposals that would lead to the loss of local shops 
outside of identified centres will be assessed having 
regard to the role of those shops in meeting local 
shopping needs and the viability of the premises for 
continued retail use.  
 

 
A1  Options/ policies that will not themselves 
lead to development e.g. because they relate to 
design or other qualitative criteria for 
development, or they are not a land use planning 
policy 

 
Policy itself will not lead to development. 

 
C1: COMMUNITY FACILITIES 
Proposals for new and improved community facilities, 
health and religious facilities will be encouraged, 
subject to the criteria detailed in this policy in the draft 
deposit LDP being satisfied. 
 

 
D1  The option, policy or proposal alone would 
not be likely to have significant effects but if its 
effects are combined with the effects of other 
policies or proposals provided for or 
coordinated by the Local Development 
Document (internally) the cumulative effects 
could potentially to be significant. 
 

 
Community facilities, when combined with 
housing, educational, Waste management, and 
employment development, may have a combined 
effect upon European sites within and outside 
Cardiff, so the potential for a combined effect 
should be examined in further detail. 

 
C2: COMMUNITY SAFETY/CREATING SAFE 
ENVIRONMENTS 
All new development and redevelopment shall be 
designed to promote a safe and secure environment 

 
A1  Options/ policies that will not themselves 
lead to development e.g. because they relate to 
design or other qualitative criteria for 
development, or they are not a land use planning 

 
Policy itself will not lead to development. 

P
age 2231



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)       Enfusion 

 
Policy References  

(for full text of policy and supporting text, 
please refer to the Deposit LDP document) 

 
Potential effects  

(Category A - D, see key above) 
 

Rationale/ Comments 

and minimise the opportunity for crime 
 

policy. 

 
C3: PROTECTION OF OPEN SPACE 
Development will not be permitted on areas of open 
space unless: 
(i) It would not cause or exacerbate a deficiency 

of open space in accordance with the most 
recent open space study; and 

(ii) The open space has no significant functional or 
amenity value; and 

(iii) The open space is of no significant quality; or 
(iv) The developers make satisfactory 

compensatory provision; and, in all cases; 
(v) The open space has no significant nature or 

historic conservation importance. 
 

 
A2  Options/ policies intended to protect the 
natural environment, including biodiversity. 

 
Policy itself will not lead to development, and will 
serve to offset any potential negative effects 
arising from other part of the plan. 

P
age 2232



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)       Enfusion 

 
Policy References  

(for full text of policy and supporting text, 
please refer to the Deposit LDP document) 

 
Potential effects  

(Category A - D, see key above) 
 

Rationale/ Comments 

 
C4: PROVISION FOR OPEN SPACE, OUTDOOR 
RECREATION AND SPORT  
Provision for open space, outdoor recreation and 
sport will be sought in conjunction with all new 
residential developments. This Policy is aimed at 
securing the provision or improvement of open space 
and other appropriate outdoor recreation and sport in 
conjunction with all new residential developments 
over 8 units and on site provision of functional open 
space in conjunction with all new residential 
developments over 14 units.  
 

 
B  Options/ policies that could have an effect but 
would not be likely to have a significant 
(negative) effect on a European site (alone or in-
combination with other plans or projects) 
because the effects are trivial or ‘de minimis’ 
even if combined with other effects.   

 
The nature of the development provided for by 
this policy is such that any potential effect upon 
European sites is minimal. 

 
C5: PROVISION FOR ALLOTMENTS AND 
COMMUNITY GROWING 
Provision for allotments and/or community growing 
areas will be sought on new residential developments 
over 46 units and on all developments over 1800, 
provision of a 40 plot allotment site will be sought, 
increasing on a pro-rata basis for larger sites.  
 

 
B  Options/ policies that could have an effect but 
would not be likely to have a significant 
(negative) effect on a European site (alone or in-
combination with other plans or projects) 
because the effects are trivial or ‘de minimis’ 
even if combined with other effects.   

 
The nature of the development provided for by 
this policy is such that any potential effect upon 
European sites is minimal. 

 
C6: PROVISION FOR CHILDREN’S PLAY 
Provision for children’s play should be an essential 
element of the layout of new developments. Access 
to at least three different types of outdoor play 
provision as indicated in the text of this policy in the 
draft deposit LDPA shall be provided within 400m of 
family homes within new developments. 
 

 
B  Options/ policies that could have an effect but 
would not be likely to have a significant 
(negative) effect on a European site (alone or in-
combination with other plans or projects) 
because the effects are trivial or ‘de minimis’ 
even if combined with other effects.   

 
The nature of the development provided for by 
this policy is such that any potential effect upon 
European sites is minimal. 

P
age 2233



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)       Enfusion 

 
Policy References  

(for full text of policy and supporting text, 
please refer to the Deposit LDP document) 

 
Potential effects  

(Category A - D, see key above) 
 

Rationale/ Comments 

 
C7: HEALTH 
Priority in new developments will be given to reducing 
health inequalities and encouraging healthy lifestyles  
 

 
A1  Options/ policies that will not themselves 
lead to development e.g. because they relate to 
design or other qualitative criteria for 
development, or they are not a land use planning 
policy. 

 
Policy itself will not lead to development. 

 
C8: PLANNING FOR SCHOOLS 
New and improved school facilities will be provided to 
meet existing and future educational needs. 
 

 
D1  The option, policy or proposal alone would 
not be likely to have significant effects but if its 
effects are combined with the effects of other 
policies or proposals provided for or 
coordinated by the Local Development 
Document (internally) the cumulative effects 
could potentially to be significant. 
 

 
Educational facilities, when combined with 
housing, retail, waste management, educational, 
community, and employment developments, may 
have a combined effect upon European sites 
within and outside Cardiff, so the potential for a 
combined effect should be examined in further 
detail. 

 
C9: NEW EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES 
Development of nursery, primary, secondary and 
sixth form education should: 
(i) Be well designed, well related to neighbourhood 

services and amenities, and easily accessible by 
sustainable transport modes; and 

(ii) Include, where appropriate, provision for other 
appropriate community uses in addition to their 
educational use. 

 

 
D1  The option, policy or proposal alone would 
not be likely to have significant effects but if its 
effects are combined with the effects of other 
policies or proposals provided for or 
coordinated by the Local Development 
Document (internally) the cumulative effects 
could potentially to be significant. 

 
Educational facilities, when combined with 
housing, retail, waste management, community, 
and employment developments, may have a 
combined effect upon European sites within and 
outside Cardiff, so the potential for a combined 
effect should be examined in further detail. 

 
C10: HEALTH EMPLOYMENT NON 
STRATEGIC ALLOCATION 
 

 
D1  The option, policy or proposal alone would 
not be likely to have significant effects but if its 
effects are combined with the effects of other 
policies or proposals provided for or 

 
Health employment facilities, when combined 
with housing, retail, waste management, 
educational and community developments, may 
have a combined effect upon European sites 

P
age 2234



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)       Enfusion 

 
Policy References  

(for full text of policy and supporting text, 
please refer to the Deposit LDP document) 

 
Potential effects  

(Category A - D, see key above) 
 

Rationale/ Comments 

Land is allocated for health related uses at 
Government Offices, St Agnes Road, Heath 
(4.07ha) 
 

coordinated by the Local Development 
Document (internally) the cumulative effects 
could potentially to be significant. 

within and outside Cardiff, so the potential for a 
combined effect should be examined in further 
detail. 

 
M1: MINERAL LIMESTONE RESERVES AND 
RESOURCES 
Mineral reserves with planning permission will be 
safeguarded from development that would prevent 
their extraction at: 
(i) Creigiau Quarry; 
(ii) Taffs Well Quarry; 
(iii) Ton Mawr Quarry; and 
(iv) Blaengwynlais Quarry. 
 
Resource areas will be safeguarded from 
development that would prevent their extraction at: 
(i) Creigiau Quarry; and 
(ii) Ton Mawr Quarry. 
 

 
C1  The option, policy could directly affect a 
European site because it provides for, or steers, 
a quantity or type of development onto a 
European site, or adjacent to it. 

 
Quarries referred to lie close to Cardiff Beech 
Woods SAC 

 
M2: PREFERRED ORDER OF MINERAL 
RESOURCE RELEASE 
The extension or deepening of existing mineral 
workings will be favoured in preference to the release 
of new sites and deepening will be preferred to lateral 
extension. 
 

 
A1  Options/ policies that will not themselves 
lead to development e.g. because they relate to 
design or other qualitative criteria for 
development, or they are not a land use planning 
policy. 

 
Policy does not provide for quarrying per se, 
just the preferred order of release. 

P
age 2235



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)       Enfusion 

 
Policy References  

(for full text of policy and supporting text, 
please refer to the Deposit LDP document) 

 
Potential effects  

(Category A - D, see key above) 
 

Rationale/ Comments 

 
M3: QUARRY CLOSURES AND EXTENSION 
LIMITS 
Measures to prevent further mineral working and, 
where appropriate, to secure restoration and 
landscaping works at the earliest opportunity, will be 
sought at the following sites: 
(i) Cefn Garw Quarry, Tongwynlais; 
(ii) Highland Park Brickworks, Ely; 
(iii) West End Brickworks, Ely; and 
(iv) Southern and western parts of Creigiau 

Quarry. 
(v) No further extension to mineral reserves will be 

permitted at these sites, or at: 
(vi) Blaengwynlais Quarry, Rhiwbina Hill. 
 

 
C1  The option, policy could directly affect a 
European site because it provides for, or steers, 
a quantity or type of development onto a 
European site, or adjacent to it. 

 
Restoration activities may potentially have an 
effect upon Cardiff Beech Woods SAC. 

 
M4: MINERALS BUFFER ZONES 
Within the minerals buffer zones no mineral working, 
housing or other sensitive development will be 
permitted. 
 

 
A1  Options/ policies that will not themselves 
lead to development e.g. because they relate to 
design or other qualitative criteria for 
development, or they are not a land use planning 
policy. 

 
Policy does not provide for quarrying per se, 
just the buffer zone around the quarries. 

 
M5: RESTORATION AND AFTER - USE OF 
MINERAL WORKINGS 
Proposals for mineral working or for related plant and 
buildings will be permitted only where firm proposals 
are included for the reinstatement of the site to a 
condition fit for an appropriate after-use supported, 
where relevant, by adequate after-care 

 
C1  The option, policy could directly affect a 
European site because it provides for, or steers, 
a quantity or type of development onto a 
European site, or adjacent to it. 

 
Restoration activities may potentially have an 
effect upon Cardiff Beech Woods SAC. 

P
age 2236



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)       Enfusion 

 
Policy References  

(for full text of policy and supporting text, 
please refer to the Deposit LDP document) 

 
Potential effects  

(Category A - D, see key above) 
 

Rationale/ Comments 

proposals.  Appropriate reinstatement and after-care 
proposals will similarly be required when existing 
controls are reviewed.  
 
 
M6: DREDGED AGGREGATE LANDING AND 
DISTRIBUTION FACILITIES 
The sand wharves shown on the Proposals Map will 
be protected against development which would 
prejudice their ability to land marine dredged sand 
and gravel.  Proposals for the provision and 
improvement of landing and distribution facilities for 
marine dredged aggregates within Cardiff Docks will 
be favoured where there will be no unacceptable 
harm to the environment, nearby residential areas or 
future regeneration prospects of the waterfront area. 
 

 
C1  The option, policy could directly affect a 
European site because it provides for, or steers, 
a quantity or type of development onto a 
European site, or adjacent to it. 

 
The wharves are close to the Severn Estuary, 
and access to them is via the estuary, so the 
potential for an effect upon the European site 
need to be examined further. 

 
M7: SAFEGUARDING OF SAND AND GRAVEL 
RESOURCE 
The area of sand and gravel resource shown on the 
Proposals Map will be protected against all forms of 
permanent development in order to prevent 
sterilisation of the resource and to ensure that the 
sand and gravel within that area will be preserved for 
the future, should a demonstrable need for the use of 
those resources arise. 
 

 
A1  Options/ policies that will not themselves 
lead to development e.g. because they relate to 
design or other qualitative criteria for 
development, or they are not a land use planning 
policy. 

 
The policy protects sites from development, 
rather than promoting development. 

 
M8: SAFEGUARDING OF COAL RESOURCES 
Areas of coal resource as shown on the Proposals 

 
A1  Options/ policies that will not themselves 
lead to development e.g. because they relate to 

 
The policy protects sites from development, 
rather than promoting development. 

P
age 2237



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)       Enfusion 

 
Policy References  

(for full text of policy and supporting text, 
please refer to the Deposit LDP document) 

 
Potential effects  

(Category A - D, see key above) 
 

Rationale/ Comments 

Map will be protected against all forms of permanent 
development in order to prevent sterilisation of the 
resource and to ensure that the coal within that area 
will be preserved for the future, should a 
demonstrable need for the use of those resources 
arise. 
 

design or other qualitative criteria for 
development, or they are not a land use planning 
policy. 

 
M9: SAFEGUARDING OF LIMESTONE 
RESOURCES 
Areas of limestone resource as shown on the 
Proposals Map will be protected against all forms of 
permanent development in order to prevent 
sterilisation of the resource and to ensure that the 
limestone within that area will be preserved for the 
future, should a demonstrable need for the use of 
those resources arise.  
 

 
A1  Options/ policies that will not themselves 
lead to development e.g. because they relate to 
design or other qualitative criteria for 
development, or they are not a land use planning 
policy. 

 
The policy protects sites from development, 
rather than promoting development. 

 
W1: LAND FOR WASTE MANAGEMENT 
Land will be allocated for waste management 
purposes at Lamby Way as defined on the Proposals 
Map 
 

 
C2  The option, policy could indirectly affect a 
European site e.g. because it provides for, or 
steers, a quantity or type of development that 
may be very close to it, or ecologically, 
hydrologically or physically connected to it or it 
may increase disturbance as a result of 
increased recreational pressure. 
 

 
The Lamby Way site is close to the foreshore 
of the Severn Estuary, so any development in 
this area must be examined for its potential to 
affect the features of the European Site. 

 
W2: SITES FOR WASTE MANAGEMENT 
FACILITIES 
Proposals for the development of waste management 

 
D1  The option, policy or proposal alone would 
not be likely to have significant effects but if its 
effects are combined with the effects of other 

 
Waste management facilities, when combined 
with housing, retail, educational, community, and 
employment developments, may have a 

P
age 2238



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)       Enfusion 

 
Policy References  

(for full text of policy and supporting text, 
please refer to the Deposit LDP document) 

 
Potential effects  

(Category A - D, see key above) 
 

Rationale/ Comments 

facilities will be permitted where they meet the criteria 
detailed in the text of this policy in the draft deposit 
LDP 
 

policies or proposals provided for or 
coordinated by the Local Development 
Document (internally) the cumulative effects 
could potentially to be significant. 
 

combined effect upon European sites within and 
outside Cardiff, so the potential for a combined 
effect should be examined in further detail. 

 
W3: PROVISION FOR WASTE MANAGEMENT 
FACILITIES IN DEVELOPMENT 
Where appropriate, provision will be sought in all new 
development for facilities for the storage, recycling 
and other management of waste 
 

 
D1  The option, policy or proposal alone would 
not be likely to have significant effects but if its 
effects are combined with the effects of other 
policies or proposals provided for or 
coordinated by the Local Development 
Document (internally) the cumulative effects 
could potentially to be significant. 
 

 
Waste management facilities, when combined 
with housing, retail, educational, community, and 
employment developments, may have a 
combined effect upon European sites within and 
outside Cardiff, so the potential for a combined 
effect should be examined in further detail. 

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 2239



 
Strategic Planning 

Cardiff Council
County Hall 

Atlantic Wharf
Cardiff

CF10 4UW

P
age 2240



Cardiff Local Development Plan
2006 - 2026

Habitat Regulations Assessment Report:
Appendix 3 - Development Types and Summary of Effects
September 2013

P
age 2241



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              1/3       Enfusion  

Appendix 3 - DEVELOPMENT TYPES AND SUMMARY OF EFFECTS ON EUROPEAN SITES 
 
 

 
Type of 

Development 
 

 
Potential Impacts of Development 

 
Example 

 
Summary of Effects on N2K Sites 

Housing Land take This could be the direct loss of designated 
land or the indirect loss of important 
surrounding habitat. 

 Habitat Fragmentation  & Loss 
 Disturbance 
 Changes to Hydrological Regime 
 Changes in Water Quality 

Increased abstraction levels Increased abstraction levels can lead to a 
decrease in water levels, which can affect 
water quality and designated flora.  

 Changes to Hydrological Regime 
 Changes in Water Quality 

Increased traffic movements Diffuse air pollution can also effect water 
quality (eutrophication).  

 Changes in Air Quality 
 Disturbance 

Growth in requirements for waste 
management facilities and increased 
demand for minerals 

See Waste & Minerals below  See Waste & Minerals below 

Increased need for further infrastructure 
provision. 

See Infrastructure below  See Infrastructure below 

Increase in population and therefore 
recreation levels 

Some designated species and habitats are 
sensitive to disturbance - an increase in 
population can lead to higher levels of 
disturbance. 

 Disturbance 

Increased noise and light pollution Some designated species are sensitive to 
disturbance, such as the Lesser Horseshoe 
Bat.  

 Disturbance 

Impacts on surface water run-off An increase in non-permeable surfaces can 
lead to increased flood risk. 

 Changes to Hydrological Regime 
 Changes in Water Quality 

Employment Land take This could be the direct loss of designated 
land or the indirect loss of important 
surrounding habitat. 

 Habitat Fragmentation  & Loss 
 Disturbance 
 Changes to Hydrological Regime 
 Changes in Water Quality 

P
age 2242



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              2/3       Enfusion  

Increased demand for water resources Increased abstraction levels can lead to a 
decrease in water levels, which can affect 
water quality and designated flora.  

 Changes to Hydrological Regime 
 Changes in Water Quality 

Increased traffic movements Diffuse air pollution can also effect water 
quality (eutrophication).  

 Changes in Air Quality 
 Disturbance 

Growth in requirements for waste 
management facilities and increased 
demand for minerals 

See Waste & Minerals below  See Waste & Minerals below 

Increased need for further infrastructure 
provision. 

See Infrastructure below  See Infrastructure below 

Increase in population and therefore 
recreation levels 

Some designated species and habitats are 
sensitive to disturbance - an increase in 
population can lead to higher levels of 
disturbance. 

 Disturbance 

Increased noise and light pollution Some designated species are sensitive to 
disturbance, such as the Lesser Horseshoe 
Bat.  

 Disturbance 

Impacts on surface water run-off An increase in non-permeable surfaces can 
lead to increased flood risk. 

 Changes to Hydrological Regime 
 Changes in Water Quality 

Waste & 
Minerals 

Land take This could be the direct loss of designated 
land or the indirect loss of important 
surrounding habitat. 

 Habitat Fragmentation  
 Disturbance 

Increased transport movements 
 

Diffuse air pollution can also effect water 
quality (eutrophication). 

 Changes in Air Quality 
 Disturbance 

Dust, noise and odour associated with 
industrial processes 
 

Some designated species are sensitive to 
disturbance, such as the Lesser Horseshoe 
Bat. 

 Changes in Air Quality 
 Disturbance 

Contamination, accumulation of toxic 
substances 
 

This can lead to a decrease in water and soil 
quality.  

 Changes in Water Quality 

Wastewater  There is the potential for high concentrations 
of metals, dissolved nitrogen and organic 
material associated with certain waste and 
minerals development. 

 Changes in Water Quality 

Topography alteration Impacts on surface water run-off could  Changes to Hydrological Regime 

P
age 2243



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              3/3       Enfusion  

increase the risk of flooding.  Changes in Water Quality 
Aggregates removal Aggregates removal will have effects on 

groundwater flow and water quality.  
 Changes to Hydrological Regime 
 Changes in Water Quality 

Infrastructure 
 
e.g. 
Roads 
Water Supply 
Wastewater 
Power Grid 
Flood 
Management 
Renewables 
Development 

Land Take Development of a new road could, for 
example, involve the construction of a bridge 
over a river, which could act as a barrier to 
migration for certain fish species.    

 Habitat Fragmentation 
 Barriers to Migration 
 Disturbance 

Impacts on surface water run-off An increase in non-permeable surfaces can 
lead to increased flood risk. 

 Changes to Hydrological Regime 
 Changes in Water Quality 

Increased transport movements 
 

Diffuse air pollution can also effect water 
quality (eutrophication). 

 Changes in Air Quality 
 Disturbance 

Laying pipes and cables The laying of pipes and cables underground 
could disturb groundwater flow and there is 
also the potential for leakage of wastewater.  

 Changes to Hydrological Regime 
 Changes in Water Quality 
 Disturbance 

Wind Turbines Erection and use of wind turbines may cause 
visual disturbance to birds, and directly harm 
them if within flight path. 

 Disturbance 
 Direct Harm 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 2244



 
Strategic Planning 

Cardiff Council
County Hall 

Atlantic Wharf
Cardiff

CF10 4UW

P
age 2245



Cardiff Local Development Plan
2006 - 2026

Habitat Regulations Assessment Report:
Appendix 4 - Generic Potential Effects of Development
September 2013

P
age 2246



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               1/8       Enfusion 

Appendix 4 – GENERIC POTENTIAL EFFECTS OF DEVELOPMENT 
 
Where a policy may directly give rise to one of the generic potential effects listed, this is indicated with a tick () 
 

 
Policy References: Plan/ 

Proposal 

Generic Potential Impacts of Development 

A
gg

re
ga

te
s 

re
m

ov
al

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n,

 
ac

cu
m

ul
at

io
n 

of
 to

xi
c 

su
bs

ta
nc

es
  

D
us

t, 
no

is
e,

 v
ib

ra
tio

n,
 

m
ov

em
en

t a
nd

 o
do

ur
 

as
so

ci
at

ed
 w

ith
 in

du
st

ria
l 

an
d 

co
ns

tr
uc

tio
n 

pr
oc

es
se

s 
 

Im
pa

ct
s 

on
 s

ur
fa

ce
 w

at
er

 
ru

n-
of

f 

In
cr

ea
se

 in
 p

op
ul

at
io

n 
an

d 
th

er
ef

or
e 

re
cr

ea
tio

n 
le

ve
ls

 

In
cr

ea
se

d 
de

m
an

d 
fo

r 
w

at
er

 re
so

ur
ce

s 

In
cr

ea
se

d 
no

is
e,

 a
nd

 li
gh

t 
po

llu
tio

n 

In
cr

ea
se

d 
tr

af
fic

 
m

ov
em

en
ts

 

La
nd

 ta
ke

 

La
yi

ng
 p

ip
es

 a
nd

 c
ab

le
s 

To
po

gr
ap

hy
 a

lte
ra

tio
n 

W
as

te
w

at
er

 a
nd

 S
ew

ag
e 

W
in

d 
Tu

rb
in

es
 

 
KP1: LEVEL OF 
GROWTH  
 

             

 
KP2: STRATEGIC SITES  
 

             

 
KP6: NEW 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
 

             

 
KP9: RESPONDING TO 
EVIDENCED 
ECONOMIC NEEDS 
(Employment) 

             

P
age 2247



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               2/8       Enfusion 

 
Policy References: Plan/ 

Proposal 

Generic Potential Impacts of Development 

A
gg

re
ga

te
s 

re
m

ov
al

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n,

 
ac

cu
m

ul
at

io
n 

of
 to

xi
c 

su
bs

ta
nc

es
  

D
us

t, 
no

is
e,

 v
ib

ra
tio

n,
 

m
ov

em
en

t a
nd

 o
do

ur
 

as
so

ci
at

ed
 w

ith
 in

du
st

ria
l 

an
d 

co
ns

tr
uc

tio
n 

pr
oc

es
se

s 
 

Im
pa

ct
s 

on
 s

ur
fa

ce
 w

at
er

 
ru

n-
of

f 

In
cr

ea
se

 in
 p

op
ul

at
io

n 
an

d 
th

er
ef

or
e 

re
cr

ea
tio

n 
le

ve
ls

 

In
cr

ea
se

d 
de

m
an

d 
fo

r 
w

at
er

 re
so

ur
ce

s 

In
cr

ea
se

d 
no

is
e,

 a
nd

 li
gh

t 
po

llu
tio

n 

In
cr

ea
se

d 
tr

af
fic

 
m

ov
em

en
ts

 

La
nd

 ta
ke

 

La
yi

ng
 p

ip
es

 a
nd

 c
ab

le
s 

To
po

gr
ap

hy
 a

lte
ra

tio
n 

W
as

te
w

at
er

 a
nd

 S
ew

ag
e 

W
in

d 
Tu

rb
in

es
 

 

 
KP10: CENTRAL AND 
BAY BUSINESS 
AREAS 
 

             

 
KP11: MINERALS AND 
AGGREGATES 
 

             

 
KP12: WASTE 
              

 
KP14: HEALTHY LIVING 
 

             

 
KP15: CLIMATE              

P
age 2248



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               3/8       Enfusion 

 
Policy References: Plan/ 

Proposal 

Generic Potential Impacts of Development 

A
gg

re
ga

te
s 

re
m

ov
al

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n,

 
ac

cu
m

ul
at

io
n 

of
 to

xi
c 

su
bs

ta
nc

es
  

D
us

t, 
no

is
e,

 v
ib

ra
tio

n,
 

m
ov

em
en

t a
nd

 o
do

ur
 

as
so

ci
at

ed
 w

ith
 in

du
st

ria
l 

an
d 

co
ns

tr
uc

tio
n 

pr
oc

es
se

s 
 

Im
pa

ct
s 

on
 s

ur
fa

ce
 w

at
er

 
ru

n-
of

f 

In
cr

ea
se

 in
 p

op
ul

at
io

n 
an

d 
th

er
ef

or
e 

re
cr

ea
tio

n 
le

ve
ls

 

In
cr

ea
se

d 
de

m
an

d 
fo

r 
w

at
er

 re
so

ur
ce

s 

In
cr

ea
se

d 
no

is
e,

 a
nd

 li
gh

t 
po

llu
tio

n 

In
cr

ea
se

d 
tr

af
fic

 
m

ov
em

en
ts

 

La
nd

 ta
ke

 

La
yi

ng
 p

ip
es

 a
nd

 c
ab

le
s 

To
po

gr
ap

hy
 a

lte
ra

tio
n 

W
as

te
w

at
er

 a
nd

 S
ew

ag
e 

W
in

d 
Tu

rb
in

es
 

CHANGE 
 

 
H1: NON-STRATEGIC 
HOUSING SITES 
 

             

 
H7: ALLOCATION 
POLICY FOR GYPSY 
AND TRAVELLER 
SITE(S) 
 

             

 
H8: SITES FOR GYPSY 
AND TRAVELLER 
CARAVANS  
 

             

 
EC1: EXISTING 
EMPLOYMENT LAND 

             

P
age 2249



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               4/8       Enfusion 

 
Policy References: Plan/ 

Proposal 

Generic Potential Impacts of Development 

A
gg

re
ga

te
s 

re
m

ov
al

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n,

 
ac

cu
m

ul
at

io
n 

of
 to

xi
c 

su
bs

ta
nc

es
  

D
us

t, 
no

is
e,

 v
ib

ra
tio

n,
 

m
ov

em
en

t a
nd

 o
do

ur
 

as
so

ci
at

ed
 w

ith
 in

du
st

ria
l 

an
d 

co
ns

tr
uc

tio
n 

pr
oc

es
se

s 
 

Im
pa

ct
s 

on
 s

ur
fa

ce
 w

at
er

 
ru

n-
of

f 

In
cr

ea
se

 in
 p

op
ul

at
io

n 
an

d 
th

er
ef

or
e 

re
cr

ea
tio

n 
le

ve
ls

 

In
cr

ea
se

d 
de

m
an

d 
fo

r 
w

at
er

 re
so

ur
ce

s 

In
cr

ea
se

d 
no

is
e,

 a
nd

 li
gh

t 
po

llu
tio

n 

In
cr

ea
se

d 
tr

af
fic

 
m

ov
em

en
ts

 

La
nd

 ta
ke

 

La
yi

ng
 p

ip
es

 a
nd

 c
ab

le
s 

To
po

gr
ap

hy
 a

lte
ra

tio
n 

W
as

te
w

at
er

 a
nd

 S
ew

ag
e 

W
in

d 
Tu

rb
in

es
 

 

 
EC5: HOTEL 
DEVELOPMENT 
 
 

             

 
EN4: RIVER VALLEYS 
 

             

 
EN12: RENEWABLE 
ENERGY AND LOW 
CARBON 
TECHNOLOGIES 
 

             

P
age 2250



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               5/8       Enfusion 

 
Policy References: Plan/ 

Proposal 

Generic Potential Impacts of Development 

A
gg

re
ga

te
s 

re
m

ov
al

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n,

 
ac

cu
m

ul
at

io
n 

of
 to

xi
c 

su
bs

ta
nc

es
  

D
us

t, 
no

is
e,

 v
ib

ra
tio

n,
 

m
ov

em
en

t a
nd

 o
do

ur
 

as
so

ci
at

ed
 w

ith
 in

du
st

ria
l 

an
d 

co
ns

tr
uc

tio
n 

pr
oc

es
se

s 
 

Im
pa

ct
s 

on
 s

ur
fa

ce
 w

at
er

 
ru

n-
of

f 

In
cr

ea
se

 in
 p

op
ul

at
io

n 
an

d 
th

er
ef

or
e 

re
cr

ea
tio

n 
le

ve
ls

 

In
cr

ea
se

d 
de

m
an

d 
fo

r 
w

at
er

 re
so

ur
ce

s 

In
cr

ea
se

d 
no

is
e,

 a
nd

 li
gh

t 
po

llu
tio

n 

In
cr

ea
se

d 
tr

af
fic

 
m

ov
em

en
ts

 

La
nd

 ta
ke

 

La
yi

ng
 p

ip
es

 a
nd

 c
ab

le
s 

To
po

gr
ap

hy
 a

lte
ra

tio
n 

W
as

te
w

at
er

 a
nd

 S
ew

ag
e 

W
in

d 
Tu

rb
in

es
 

 
T7: STRATEGIC 
TRANSPORTATION 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
 

             

 
T8: STRATEGIC 
RECREATIONAL 
ROUTES 
 

             

 
R1: RETAIL PROVISION 
WITHIN STRATEGIC 
SITES 
 

             

 
C1: COMMUNITY 
FACILITIES 
 

             

 
C8: PLANNING FOR 
SCHOOLS. 

             

P
age 2251



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               6/8       Enfusion 

 
Policy References: Plan/ 

Proposal 

Generic Potential Impacts of Development 

A
gg

re
ga

te
s 

re
m

ov
al

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n,

 
ac

cu
m

ul
at

io
n 

of
 to

xi
c 

su
bs

ta
nc

es
  

D
us

t, 
no

is
e,

 v
ib

ra
tio

n,
 

m
ov

em
en

t a
nd

 o
do

ur
 

as
so

ci
at

ed
 w

ith
 in

du
st

ria
l 

an
d 

co
ns

tr
uc

tio
n 

pr
oc

es
se

s 
 

Im
pa

ct
s 

on
 s

ur
fa

ce
 w

at
er

 
ru

n-
of

f 

In
cr

ea
se

 in
 p

op
ul

at
io

n 
an

d 
th

er
ef

or
e 

re
cr

ea
tio

n 
le

ve
ls

 

In
cr

ea
se

d 
de

m
an

d 
fo

r 
w

at
er

 re
so

ur
ce

s 

In
cr

ea
se

d 
no

is
e,

 a
nd

 li
gh

t 
po

llu
tio

n 

In
cr

ea
se

d 
tr

af
fic

 
m

ov
em

en
ts

 

La
nd

 ta
ke

 

La
yi

ng
 p

ip
es

 a
nd

 c
ab

le
s 

To
po

gr
ap

hy
 a

lte
ra

tio
n 

W
as

te
w

at
er

 a
nd

 S
ew

ag
e 

W
in

d 
Tu

rb
in

es
 

 

 
C9: NEW 
EDUCATIONAL 
FACILITIES 
 

             

C10: HEALTH 
EMPLOYMENT NON 
STRATEGIC 
ALLOCATION 
 

             

 
M1: MINERAL 
LIMESTONE RESERVES 
AND RESOURCES 
 

             

 
M3: QUARRY 
CLOSURES AND 

             

P
age 2252



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               7/8       Enfusion 

 
Policy References: Plan/ 

Proposal 

Generic Potential Impacts of Development 

A
gg

re
ga

te
s 

re
m

ov
al

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n,

 
ac

cu
m

ul
at

io
n 

of
 to

xi
c 

su
bs

ta
nc

es
  

D
us

t, 
no

is
e,

 v
ib

ra
tio

n,
 

m
ov

em
en

t a
nd

 o
do

ur
 

as
so

ci
at

ed
 w

ith
 in

du
st

ria
l 

an
d 

co
ns

tr
uc

tio
n 

pr
oc

es
se

s 
 

Im
pa

ct
s 

on
 s

ur
fa

ce
 w

at
er

 
ru

n-
of

f 

In
cr

ea
se

 in
 p

op
ul

at
io

n 
an

d 
th

er
ef

or
e 

re
cr

ea
tio

n 
le

ve
ls

 

In
cr

ea
se

d 
de

m
an

d 
fo

r 
w

at
er

 re
so

ur
ce

s 

In
cr

ea
se

d 
no

is
e,

 a
nd

 li
gh

t 
po

llu
tio

n 

In
cr

ea
se

d 
tr

af
fic

 
m

ov
em

en
ts

 

La
nd

 ta
ke

 

La
yi

ng
 p

ip
es

 a
nd

 c
ab

le
s 

To
po

gr
ap

hy
 a

lte
ra

tio
n 

W
as

te
w

at
er

 a
nd

 S
ew

ag
e 

W
in

d 
Tu

rb
in

es
 

EXTENSION LIMITS 
 
 
M5: RESTORATION 
AND AFTER - USE OF 
MINERAL WORKINGS 
 

             

 
M6: DREDGED 
AGGREGATE LANDING 
AND DISTRIBUTION 
FACILITIES 
 

             

 
W1: LAND FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT 
 

             

 
W2: SITES FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT 
FACILITIES 

             

P
age 2253



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               8/8       Enfusion 

 
Policy References: Plan/ 

Proposal 

Generic Potential Impacts of Development 

A
gg

re
ga

te
s 

re
m

ov
al

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n,

 
ac

cu
m

ul
at

io
n 

of
 to

xi
c 

su
bs

ta
nc

es
  

D
us

t, 
no

is
e,

 v
ib

ra
tio

n,
 

m
ov

em
en

t a
nd

 o
do

ur
 

as
so

ci
at

ed
 w

ith
 in

du
st

ria
l 

an
d 

co
ns

tr
uc

tio
n 

pr
oc

es
se

s 
 

Im
pa

ct
s 

on
 s

ur
fa

ce
 w

at
er

 
ru

n-
of

f 

In
cr

ea
se

 in
 p

op
ul

at
io

n 
an

d 
th

er
ef

or
e 

re
cr

ea
tio

n 
le

ve
ls

 

In
cr

ea
se

d 
de

m
an

d 
fo

r 
w

at
er

 re
so

ur
ce

s 

In
cr

ea
se

d 
no

is
e,

 a
nd

 li
gh

t 
po

llu
tio

n 

In
cr

ea
se

d 
tr

af
fic

 
m

ov
em

en
ts

 

La
nd

 ta
ke

 

La
yi

ng
 p

ip
es

 a
nd

 c
ab

le
s 

To
po

gr
ap

hy
 a

lte
ra

tio
n 

W
as

te
w

at
er

 a
nd

 S
ew

ag
e 

W
in

d 
Tu

rb
in

es
 

 

 
W3: PROVISION FOR 
WASTE MANAGEMENT 
FACILITIES IN 
DEVELOPMENT 
 

             

 
 

P
age 2254



 
Strategic Planning 

Cardiff Council
County Hall 

Atlantic Wharf
Cardiff

CF10 4UW

P
age 2255



Cardiff Local Development Plan
2006 - 2026

Habitat Regulations Assessment Report:
Appendix 5 - Potential Effects of Policies upon European Sites
September 2013

P
age 2256



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               1/18       Enfusion 

Appendix 5 – SUMMARY OF POTENTIAL EFFECTS OF POLICIES UPON EUROPEAN SITES 
 

 
Policy  Potential Impacts of Policy Summary of Potential Effects upon European sites        

 
KP1: LEVEL OF 
GROWTH  
 

Dust, noise, vibration, movement and odour associated with 
industrial and construction processes 
 

Changes in Air Quality 
Disturbance 

Impacts on surface water run-off Changes in Water Quality 

Increase in population and therefore recreation levels Disturbance 

Increased demand for water resources Changes to Hydrological Regime 
Changes in Water Quality 

Increased noise and light pollution Disturbance 

Increased traffic movements Disturbance 
Changes in Air Quality 

Land take Habitat Fragmentation  & Loss 
Disturbance 
Changes to Hydrological Regime 
Changes in Water Quality 
Barriers to Dispersal 

Wastewater and Sewage Changes in Water Quality 

KP2: STRATEGIC 
SITES  
 

Dust, noise, vibration, movement and odour associated with 
industrial and construction processes 
 

Changes in Air Quality 
Disturbance 

P
age 2257



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               2/18       Enfusion 

 
Policy  Potential Impacts of Policy Summary of Potential Effects upon European sites        

Impacts on surface water run-off Changes in Water Quality 

Increase in population and therefore recreation levels Disturbance 

Increased demand for water resources Changes to Hydrological Regime 
Changes in Water Quality 

Increased noise and light pollution Disturbance 

Increased traffic movements Disturbance 
Changes in Air Quality 

Land take Habitat Fragmentation  & Loss 
Disturbance 
Changes to Hydrological Regime 
Changes in Water Quality 
Barriers to Dispersal 

Wastewater and Sewage Changes in Water Quality 

 
KP6: NEW 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
 

Dust, noise, vibration, movement and odour associated with 
industrial and construction processes 
 

Changes in Air Quality 
Disturbance 

Impacts on surface water run-off Changes in Water Quality 

Increased traffic movements Disturbance 
Changes in Air Quality 

Land take Habitat Fragmentation  & Loss 
Disturbance 
Changes to Hydrological Regime 

P
age 2258



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               3/18       Enfusion 

 
Policy  Potential Impacts of Policy Summary of Potential Effects upon European sites        

Changes in Water Quality 
Barriers to Dispersal 

Laying pipes and cables Disturbance 
Changes to Hydrological Regime 
Changes in Water Quality 

Wind Turbines Disturbance 
Direct Harm 

 
KP9: RESPONDING 
TO EVIDENCED 
ECONOMIC NEEDS 
(Employment) 
 

Dust, noise, vibration, movement and odour associated with 
industrial and construction processes 
 

Changes in Air Quality 
Disturbance 

Impacts on surface water run-off Changes in Water Quality 

Increase in population and therefore recreation levels Disturbance 

Increased demand for water resources Changes to Hydrological Regime 
Changes in Water Quality 

Increased noise and light pollution Disturbance 

Increased traffic movements Disturbance 
Changes in Air Quality 

Land take Habitat Fragmentation  & Loss 
Disturbance 
Changes to Hydrological Regime 
Changes in Water Quality 
Barriers to Dispersal 

Wastewater and sewage Changes in Water Quality 
 

P
age 2259



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               4/18       Enfusion 

 
Policy  Potential Impacts of Policy Summary of Potential Effects upon European sites        

 
KP10: 
CENTRAL 
AND BAY 
BUSINESS 
AREAS 
 

Dust, noise, vibration, movement and odour associated with 
industrial and construction processes 
Dust, noise, vibration, movement and odour associated with 
industrial and construction processes  
 

Changes in Air Quality 
Disturbance 

Impacts on surface water run-off Changes in Water Quality 

Increase in population and therefore recreation levels Disturbance 

Increased demand for water resources Changes to Hydrological Regime 
Changes in Water Quality 

Increased noise and light pollution Disturbance 

Increased traffic movements Disturbance 
Changes in Air Quality 

Land take Habitat Fragmentation  & Loss 
Disturbance 
Changes to Hydrological Regime 
Changes in Water Quality 
Barriers to Dispersal 

 
KP11: MINERALS 
AND AGGREGATES 
 

Contamination, accumulation of toxic substances 
 

Changes in Water Quality 

Aggregates removal Changes in Water Quality 
Changes to Hydrological Regime 

Dust, noise, vibration, movement and odour associated with 
industrial and construction processes 
 

Changes in Air Quality 
Disturbance 

P
age 2260



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               5/18       Enfusion 

 
Policy  Potential Impacts of Policy Summary of Potential Effects upon European sites        

Increased traffic movements Disturbance 
Changes in Air Quality 

Land take Habitat Fragmentation  & Loss 
Disturbance 
Changes to Hydrological Regime 
Changes in Water Quality 
Barriers to Dispersal 

Wastewater and Sewage Changes in Water Quality 

Topography alteration Changes to Hydrological Regime  
Changes in Water Quality 

KP12: WASTE 
 

Contamination, accumulation of toxic substances 
 

Changes in Water Quality 

Dust, noise, vibration, movement and odour associated with 
industrial and construction processes 
 

Changes in Air Quality 
Disturbance 

Increased traffic movements Disturbance 
Changes in Air Quality 

Land take Habitat Fragmentation  & Loss 
Disturbance 
Changes to Hydrological Regime 
Changes in Water Quality 
Barriers to Dispersal 

Wastewater and Sewage Changes in Water Quality 

 
KP14: HEALTHY 
LIVING 
 

Increase in population and therefore recreation levels Disturbance 

P
age 2261



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               6/18       Enfusion 

 
Policy  Potential Impacts of Policy Summary of Potential Effects upon European sites        

 
KP15: CLIMATE 
CHANGE 
 

Wind Turbines  

 
H1: NON STRATEGIC 
HOUSING SITES 
 

Dust, noise, vibration, movement and odour associated with 
industrial and construction processes 
 

Changes in Air Quality 
Disturbance 

Impacts on surface water run-off Changes in Water Quality 

Increase in population and therefore recreation levels Disturbance 

Increased demand for water resources Changes to Hydrological Regime 
Changes in Water Quality 

Increased noise and light pollution Disturbance 

Increased traffic movements Disturbance 
Changes in Air Quality 

Land take Habitat Fragmentation  & Loss 
Disturbance 
Changes to Hydrological Regime 
Changes in Water Quality 
Barriers to Dispersal 

Wastewater and Sewage Changes in Water Quality 

P
age 2262



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               7/18       Enfusion 

 
Policy  Potential Impacts of Policy Summary of Potential Effects upon European sites        

H7: ALLOCATION 
POLICY FOR GYPSY 
AND TRAVELLER 
SITE(S) 
 

Dust, noise, vibration, movement and odour associated with 
industrial and construction processes 
 

Changes in Air Quality 
Disturbance 

Impacts on surface water run-off Changes in Water Quality 

Increase in population and therefore recreation levels Disturbance 

Increased demand for water resources Changes to Hydrological Regime 
Changes in Water Quality 

Increased noise and light pollution Disturbance 

Increased traffic movements Disturbance 
Changes in Air Quality 

Land take Habitat Fragmentation  & Loss 
Disturbance 
Changes to Hydrological Regime 
Changes in Water Quality 
Barriers to Dispersal 

Wastewater and Sewage Changes in Water Quality 

H8: SITES FOR 
GYPSY AND 
TRAVELLER 
CARAVANS  
 

Impacts on surface water run-off Changes in Water Quality 

Increase in population and therefore recreation levels Disturbance 

Increased demand for water resources Changes to Hydrological Regime 
Changes in Water Quality 

P
age 2263



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               8/18       Enfusion 

 
Policy  Potential Impacts of Policy Summary of Potential Effects upon European sites        

Increased noise and light pollution Disturbance 

Increased traffic movements Disturbance 
Changes in Air Quality 

Land take Habitat Fragmentation  & Loss 
Disturbance 
Changes to Hydrological Regime 
Changes in Water Quality 
Barriers to Dispersal 

Wastewater and Sewage Changes in Water Quality 

 
EC1: EXISTING 
EMPLOYMENT LAND 
 

Dust, noise, vibration, movement and odour associated with 
industrial and construction processes 
 

Changes in Air Quality 
Disturbance 

Impacts on surface water run-off Changes in Water Quality 

Increase in population and therefore recreation levels Disturbance 

Increased demand for water resources Changes to Hydrological Regime 
Changes in Water Quality 

Increased noise and light pollution Disturbance 

Increased traffic movements Disturbance 
Changes in Air Quality 

Land take Habitat Fragmentation  & Loss 
Disturbance 
Changes to Hydrological Regime 
Changes in Water Quality 

P
age 2264



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               9/18       Enfusion 

 
Policy  Potential Impacts of Policy Summary of Potential Effects upon European sites        

Barriers to Dispersal 

Wastewater and Sewage Changes in Water Quality 

 
EC5: HOTEL 
DEVELOPMENT 
 
 

Dust, noise, vibration, movement and odour associated with 
industrial and construction processes 
 

Changes in Air Quality 
Disturbance 

Impacts on surface water run-off Changes in Water Quality 

  

Increased demand for water resources Changes to Hydrological Regime 
Changes in Water Quality 

Increased noise and light pollution Disturbance 

Increased traffic movements Disturbance 
Changes in Air Quality 

Land take Habitat Fragmentation  & Loss 
Disturbance 
Changes to Hydrological Regime 
Changes in Water Quality 
Barriers to Dispersal 

Wastewater and Sewage Changes in Water Quality 

P
age 2265



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               10/18       Enfusion 

 
Policy  Potential Impacts of Policy Summary of Potential Effects upon European sites        

 
EN4: RIVER VALLEYS 
 

Increase in population and therefore recreation levels Disturbance 

 
EN12: RENEWABLE 
ENERGY AND LOW 
CARBON 
TECHNOLOGIES 
 

Wind Turbines  

 
T7: STRATEGIC 
TRANSPORTATION 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
 

Dust, noise, vibration, movement and odour associated with 
industrial and construction processes 
 

Changes in Air Quality 
Disturbance 

Impacts on surface water run-off Changes in Water Quality 

Increased traffic movements Disturbance 
Changes in Air Quality 

Land take Habitat Fragmentation  & Loss 
Disturbance 
Changes to Hydrological Regime 
Changes in Water Quality 
Barriers to Dispersal 

Laying pipes and cables Disturbance 
Changes to Hydrological Regime 
Changes in Water Quality 

 
T8: STRATEGIC 
RECREATIONAL 
ROUTES 
 

Increase in population and therefore recreation levels Disturbance 

P
age 2266



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               11/18       Enfusion 

 
Policy  Potential Impacts of Policy Summary of Potential Effects upon European sites        

 
R1: RETAIL 
PROVISION WITHIN 
STRATEGIC SITES 
 

Dust, noise, vibration, movement and odour associated with 
industrial and construction processes 
 

Changes in Air Quality 
Disturbance 

Impacts on surface water run-off Changes in Water Quality 

Increased demand for water resources Changes to Hydrological Regime 
Changes in Water Quality 

Increased noise and light pollution Disturbance 

Increased traffic movements Disturbance 
Changes in Air Quality 

Land take Habitat Fragmentation  & Loss 
Disturbance 
Changes to Hydrological Regime 
Changes in Water Quality 
Barriers to Dispersal 

Wastewater and Sewage Changes in Water Quality 

 
C1: COMMUNITY 
FACILITIES 
 

Dust, noise, vibration, movement and odour associated with 
industrial and construction processes 
 

Changes in Air Quality 
Disturbance 

Impacts on surface water run-off Changes in Water Quality 

Increased demand for water resources Changes to Hydrological Regime 
Changes in Water Quality 

Increased noise and light pollution Disturbance 

P
age 2267



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               12/18       Enfusion 

 
Policy  Potential Impacts of Policy Summary of Potential Effects upon European sites        

Increased traffic movements Disturbance 
Changes in Air Quality 

Land take Habitat Fragmentation  & Loss 
Disturbance 
Changes to Hydrological Regime 
Changes in Water Quality 
Barriers to Dispersal 

Wastewater and Sewage Changes in Water Quality 

 
C8: PLANNING FOR 
SCHOOLS. 
 

Dust, noise, vibration, movement and odour associated with 
industrial and construction processes 
 

Changes in Air Quality 
Disturbance 

Impacts on surface water run-off Changes in Water Quality 

Increased demand for water resources Changes to Hydrological Regime 
Changes in Water Quality 

Increased noise and light pollution Disturbance 

Increased traffic movements Disturbance 
Changes in Air Quality 

Land take Habitat Fragmentation  & Loss 
Disturbance 
Changes to Hydrological Regime 
Changes in Water Quality 
Barriers to Dispersal 

Wastewater and Sewage Changes in Water Quality 

P
age 2268



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               13/18       Enfusion 

 
Policy  Potential Impacts of Policy Summary of Potential Effects upon European sites        

 
C9: NEW 
EDUCATIONAL 
FACILITIES 
 

Dust, noise, vibration, movement and odour associated with 
industrial and construction processes 
 

Changes in Air Quality 
Disturbance 

Impacts on surface water run-off Changes in Water Quality 

Increased demand for water resources Changes to Hydrological Regime 
Changes in Water Quality 

Increased noise and light pollution Disturbance 

Increased traffic movements Disturbance 
Changes in Air Quality 

Land take Habitat Fragmentation  & Loss 
Disturbance 
Changes to Hydrological Regime 
Changes in Water Quality 
Barriers to Dispersal 

Wastewater and Sewage Changes in Water Quality 

C10: HEALTH 
EMPLOYMENT NON 
STRATEGIC 
ALLOCATION 
 

Dust, noise, vibration, movement and odour associated with 
industrial and construction processes 
 

Changes in Air Quality 
Disturbance 

Impacts on surface water run-off Changes in Water Quality 

Increased demand for water resources Changes to Hydrological Regime 
Changes in Water Quality 

Increased noise and light pollution Disturbance 

P
age 2269



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               14/18       Enfusion 

 
Policy  Potential Impacts of Policy Summary of Potential Effects upon European sites        

Increased traffic movements Disturbance 
Changes in Air Quality 

Land take Habitat Fragmentation  & Loss 
Disturbance 
Changes to Hydrological Regime 
Changes in Water Quality 
Barriers to Dispersal 

Wastewater and Sewage Changes in Water Quality 

 
M1: MINERAL 
LIMESTONE 
RESERVES AND 
RESOURCES 
 

Contamination, accumulation of toxic substances 
 

Changes in Water Quality 

Aggregates removal Changes in Water Quality 
Changes to Hydrological Regime 

Dust, noise, vibration, movement and odour associated with 
industrial and construction processes 
 

Changes in Air Quality 
Disturbance 

Increased traffic movements Disturbance 
Changes in Air Quality 

Land take Habitat Fragmentation  & Loss 
Disturbance 
Changes to Hydrological Regime 
Changes in Water Quality 
Barriers to Dispersal 

Wastewater and Sewage Changes in Water Quality 

Topography alteration Changes to Hydrological Regime  
Changes in Water Quality 

P
age 2270



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               15/18       Enfusion 

 
Policy  Potential Impacts of Policy Summary of Potential Effects upon European sites        

 
M3: QUARRY 
CLOSURES AND 
EXTENSION LIMITS 
 

Contamination, accumulation of toxic substances 
 

Changes in Water Quality 

Aggregates removal Changes in Water Quality 
Changes to Hydrological Regime 

Dust, noise, vibration, movement and odour associated with 
industrial and construction processes 
 

Changes in Air Quality 
Disturbance 

Increased traffic movements Disturbance 
Changes in Air Quality 

Land take Habitat Fragmentation  & Loss 
Disturbance 
Changes to Hydrological Regime 
Changes in Water Quality 
Barriers to Dispersal 

Wastewater and Sewage Changes in Water Quality 

Topography alteration Changes to Hydrological Regime  
Changes in Water Quality 

 
M5: RESTORATION 
AND AFTER USE OF 
MINERAL WORKINGS 
 

Contamination, accumulation of toxic substances 
 

Changes in Water Quality 

Aggregates removal Changes in Water Quality 
Changes to Hydrological Regime 

Dust, noise, vibration, movement and odour associated with 
industrial and construction processes 
 

Changes in Air Quality 
Disturbance 

Increased traffic movements Disturbance 
Changes in Air Quality 

P
age 2271



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               16/18       Enfusion 

 
Policy  Potential Impacts of Policy Summary of Potential Effects upon European sites        

Land take Habitat Fragmentation  & Loss 
Disturbance 
Changes to Hydrological Regime 
Changes in Water Quality 
Barriers to Dispersal 

Wastewater and Sewage Changes in Water Quality 

Topography alteration Changes to Hydrological Regime  
Changes in Water Quality 

 
M6: DREDGED 
AGGREGATE 
LANDING AND 
DISTRIBUTION 
FACILITIES 
 

Contamination, accumulation of toxic substances 
 

Changes in Water Quality 

Aggregates removal Changes in Water Quality 
Changes to Hydrological Regime 

Dust, noise, vibration, movement and odour associated with 
industrial and construction processes 
 

Changes in Air Quality 
Disturbance 

Increased traffic movements Disturbance 
Changes in Air Quality 

Land take Habitat Fragmentation  & Loss 
Disturbance 
Changes to Hydrological Regime 
Changes in Water Quality 
Barriers to Dispersal 

Wastewater and Sewage Changes in Water Quality 

 
W1: LAND FOR 

Contamination, accumulation of toxic substances 
 

Changes in Water Quality 

P
age 2272



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               17/18       Enfusion 

 
Policy  Potential Impacts of Policy Summary of Potential Effects upon European sites        

WASTE 
MANAGEMENT 
 

Dust, noise, vibration, movement and odour associated with 
industrial and construction processes 
 

Changes in Air Quality 
Disturbance 

Increased traffic movements Disturbance 
Changes in Air Quality 

Land take Habitat Fragmentation  & Loss 
Disturbance 
Changes to Hydrological Regime 
Changes in Water Quality 
Barriers to Dispersal 

Wastewater and Sewage Changes in Water Quality 

 
W2: SITES FOR 
WASTE 
MANAGEMENT 
FACILITIES 
 

Contamination, accumulation of toxic substances 
 

Changes in Water Quality 

Dust, noise, vibration, movement and odour associated with 
industrial and construction processes 
 

Changes in Air Quality 
Disturbance 

Increased traffic movements Disturbance 
Changes in Air Quality 

Land take Habitat Fragmentation  & Loss 
Disturbance 
Changes to Hydrological Regime 
Changes in Water Quality 
Barriers to Dispersal 

Wastewater and Sewage Changes in Water Quality 

 
W3: PROVISION FOR 

Contamination, accumulation of toxic substances 
 

Changes in Water Quality 

P
age 2273



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               18/18       Enfusion 

 
Policy  Potential Impacts of Policy Summary of Potential Effects upon European sites        

WASTE 
MANAGEMENT 
FACILITIES IN 
DEVELOPMENT 
 

Dust, noise, vibration, movement and odour associated with 
industrial and construction processes 
 

Changes in Air Quality 
Disturbance 

Increased traffic movements Disturbance 
Changes in Air Quality 

Land take Habitat Fragmentation  & Loss 
Disturbance 
Changes to Hydrological Regime 
Changes in Water Quality 
Barriers to Dispersal 

Wastewater and Sewage Changes in Water Quality 

 

P
age 2274



 
Strategic Planning 

Cardiff Council
County Hall 

Atlantic Wharf
Cardiff

CF10 4UW

P
age 2275



Cardiff Local Development Plan
2006 - 2026

Habitat Regulations Assessment Report:
Appendix 6 - Screening of Vulnerabilities for each Site
September 2013

P
age 2276



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               1/6       Enfusion 

Appendix 6 – SCREENING OF VULNERABILITIES / SENSITIVITIES OF EACH SITE FOR RELEVANCE TO 
DEPOSIT LDP 

 
Where a site features is vulnerable or sensitive to any effect arising from the Deposit LDP, this is indicated with a 
tick () 
 
Site Name:  Vulnerabilities/Sensitivities 

 
Relevance of Vulnerability/Sensitivity to 

Deposit LDP 
 

Further  
Consideration 

 in HRA 
Aberbargoed 
Grasslands SAC 

 Parasites (parasitic wasps affecting Marsh Fritillary 
Butterfiles) 

A development plan for Cardiff cannot influence 
levels of parasitism on Marsh Fritillary Butterflies 
living on this site, which is about 14Km away 
from Cardiff. 

 

 Direct habitat Loss Site is in Caerphilly CBC,and about 14Km from 
Cardiff, so development in Cardiff cannot result 
in land-take at this site. 

 

 Aerial Pollution There is the potential for diffuse pollution arising 
from Cardiff to reach this site. 

 

 Inappropriate grazing levels A development plan for Cardiff cannot influence 
levels of grazing on this site, which is about 
14Km away from Cardiff. 

 

 Off-road vehicle use A development plan for Cardiff cannot influence 
levels of off-road vehicle use on this site, which 
is about 14Km away from Cardiff. 

 

Blackmill Woodlands 
SAC 

 Inappropriate grazing levels A development plan for Cardiff cannot influence 
levels of grazing on this site, which is about 
14Km away from Cardiff. 

 

 Air pollution There is the potential for diffuse pollution arising 
from Cardiff to reach this site. 

 

 Direct Habitat Loss Site is in Bridgend CBC, and about 14Km from 
Cardiff, so development in Cardiff cannot result 
in land-take at this site. 

 

Cardiff Beech Woods  Recreational pressure There is the potential for an increase in  

P
age 2277



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               2/6       Enfusion 

Site Name:  Vulnerabilities/Sensitivities 
 

Relevance of Vulnerability/Sensitivity to 
Deposit LDP 

 

Further  
Consideration 

 in HRA 
SAC recreational pressure to arise from a local 

development plan, and subsequently impact 
upon this site. 

 Atmospheric Pollution There is the potential for diffuse pollution arising 
from new development and infrastructure within 
Cardiff to impact upon this site. 

 

 Mineral extraction and related activities  Mineral extraction sites are close to this SAC, so 
this activity, together with subsequent quarry 
restoration activities, as the potential to impact 
upon this site. 

 

 Development  General effects of development not considered 
under other vulnerabilities/sensitivites have the 
potential to affect this site 

 

 Non-native species  The development plan itself could not lead to 
invasive non-native species affecting this site.  
An increase in recreational use may lead to an 
increase in dispersal of non-native species’ 
seeds, but this would be accounted for under 
‘recreational pressure’, above, 

 

 Changes to Local Hydrology Any development close to this site would have 
the potential to affect local hydrology within it. 

 
River Usk SAC  Abstraction levels A proportion of Cardiff’s water supply may be 

abstracted from this river, so increased housing, 
industry, and amenity building within Cardiff 
could lead to increased abstraction levels at this 
site. 

 

 Eutrophication  Sewage from Cardiff is ultimately discharged into 
the Severn Estuary, following treatment, so there 
is potential for this treated material to enter the 
River usk and affect its features. 

 

 Diffuse Pollution  There is the potential for diffuse pollution from 
Cardiff to be deposited in the River Usk and its 

 

P
age 2278



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               3/6       Enfusion 

Site Name:  Vulnerabilities/Sensitivities 
 

Relevance of Vulnerability/Sensitivity to 
Deposit LDP 

 

Further  
Consideration 

 in HRA 
catchment, and affect the River Usk SAC 
features. 

 Barriers to migration  The River Usk is about 6 Km from Cardiff so 
there is no possibility that development in Cardiff 
will impede fish or Otter migration within the 
River itself. 

 

 Development pressure  A development plan in Cardiff will not result in 
development near the River Usk, which is in 
Newport at its neares point to Cardiff. 

 

 Invasive non-native plants  A development plan in Cardiff will not result in 
the spread of invasive non-native plant species 
in or next to the River Usk, which is in Newport. 

 

 Artificially enhanced densities of other fish  A development plan in Cardiff will not artificially 
alter the densities of fish species in River Usk, 
which is in Newport.  Any effects of the 
development plan upon Severn Estuary fish 
populations, which may then subsequently affect 
those in the River Usk, will be dealt with under 
consideration of the Severn Estuary, below. 

 

 External factors Any effects of the development plan upon 
Severn Estuary habitats and species, which may 
then subsequently affect those in the River Usk, 
will be dealt with under consideration of the 
Severn Estuary, below. 

 

River Wye SAC  Abstraction levels  A proportion of Cardiff’s water supply may be 
abstracted from this river, so increased housing, 
industry, and amenity building within Cardiff 
could lead to increased abstraction levels at this 
site. 

 

 Eutrophication Sewage from Cardiff is ultimately discharged into 
the Severn Estuary, following treatment, so there 
is potential for this treated material to enter the 

 

P
age 2279



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               4/6       Enfusion 

Site Name:  Vulnerabilities/Sensitivities 
 

Relevance of Vulnerability/Sensitivity to 
Deposit LDP 

 

Further  
Consideration 

 in HRA 
River Wye and affect its features. 

 Diffuse Pollution  There is the potential for diffuse pollution from 
Cardiff to be deposited in the River Wye and its 
catchment, and affect the River Wye SAC 
features. 

 

 Barriers to migration  The River Wye is about 14 Km from Cardiff so 
there is no possibility that development in Cardiff 
will impede fish or Otter migration within the 
River itself. 

 

 Development pressure  A development plan in Cardiff will not result in 
development near the River Wye, which is in 
Monmouthsire at its nearest point to Cardiff. 

 

 Invasive non-native species  A development plan in Cardiff will not result in 
the spread of invasive non-native plant species 
in or next to the River Wye, which is in 
Monmouthsire at its nearest point to Cardiff. 

 

 Artificially enhanced densities of other fish  A development plan in Cardiff will not artificially 
alter the densities of fish species in River Wye, 
which is in Monmouthsire.  Any effects of the 
development plan upon Severn Estuary fish 
populations, which may then subsequently affect 
those in the River Wye, will be dealt with under 
consideration of the Severn Estuary, below. 

 

 External factors Any effects of the development plan upon 
Severn Estuary habitats and species, which may 
then subsequently affect those in the River Wye, 
will be dealt with under consideration of the 
Severn Estuary, below. 

 

Severn Estuary SAC  Physical loss of supporting habitats through 
removal  

There is the potential for development arising 
from a land use plan to cause physical loss of 
habitat. 



 Contamination by synthetic and/or non-synthetic There is the potential for development arising 

P
age 2280



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               5/6       Enfusion 

Site Name:  Vulnerabilities/Sensitivities 
 

Relevance of Vulnerability/Sensitivity to 
Deposit LDP 

 

Further  
Consideration 

 in HRA 
toxic compounds  from a land use plan to lead to release of toxic 

compounds, which could affect the features of 
this site. 

 Damage by abrasion or selective extraction  There is the potential for development arising 
from a land use plan to lead to abrasion or 
selective extraction, resulting in loss of habitat. 



 Changes in nutrient and/or organic loading  There is the potential for changes in nutrient and 
organic loading to arise from a land use plan. 



 Inappropriate grazing of Saltmarsh A development plan would not cause or control 
grazing on these habitats. 



Severn Estuary SPA  Physical loss of habitats through removal  There is the potential for development arising 
from a land use plan to cause physical loss of 
habitat. 



 Noise, visual disturbance or direct harm to birds Construction and operation of development 
could cause disturbance to species which are a 
feature of this site. 



 Contamination by synthetic and/or non-synthetic 
toxic compounds  

There is the potential for development arising 
from a land use plan to lead to release of toxic 
compounds, which could affect the features of 
this site. 



 Damage by abrasion or selective extraction  There is the potential for development arising 
from a land use plan to lead to abarasion or 
selective extraction, resulting in loss of habitat. 



 Changes in nutrient and/or organic loading  There is the potential for changes in nutrient and 
organic loading to arise from a land use plan. 



 Biological disturbance through the selective 
extraction of species  

A development plan would not cause or control 
fishing or wildfowling which are the principal 
means of selective extraction of species. 



Severn Estuary Ramsar  Physical loss of supporting habitats through 
removal  

There is the potential for development arising 
from a land use plan to cause physical loss of 
habitat. 



 Noise, visual disturbance or direct harm to birds  Construction and operation of development 

P
age 2281



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               6/6       Enfusion 

Site Name:  Vulnerabilities/Sensitivities 
 

Relevance of Vulnerability/Sensitivity to 
Deposit LDP 

 

Further  
Consideration 

 in HRA 
could cause disturbance to species which are a 
feature of this site. 

 Contamination by synthetic and/or non-synthetic 
toxic compounds  

 

There is the potential for development arising 
from a land use plan to lead to release of toxic 
compounds, which could affect the features of 
this site. 



 Damage by abrasion or selective extraction  
 

There is the potential for development arising 
from a land use plan to lead to abarasion or 
selective extraction, resulting in loss of habitat. 



 Changes in nutrient and/or organic loading  
 

There is the potential for changes in nutrient and 
organic loading to arise from a land use plan. 



 Biological disturbance through the selective 
extraction of species 

A development plan would not cause or control 
fishing or wildfowling which are the principal 
means of selective extraction of species. 



 

P
age 2282



 
Strategic Planning 

Cardiff Council
County Hall 

Atlantic Wharf
Cardiff

CF10 4UW

P
age 2283



Cardiff Local Development Plan
2006 - 2026

Habitat Regulations Assessment Report:
Appendix 7 - Screened-in Vulnerabilities
September 2013

P
age 2284



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               1/4       Enfusion 

Appendix 7 – SUMMARY OF SCREENED-IN VULNERABILITIES / SENSITIVITIES FOR EACH SITE 
 

Where a site features is vulnerable or sensitive to any effect arising from the Deposit LDP, this is indicated with a 
tick () 
 
Site Name:  Vulnerabilities/Sensitivities 

 
Relevance of Vulnerability/Sensitivity to Draft 

Deposit LDP 
 

Further  
Consideration 

 in HRA 
Aberbargoed 
Grasslands SAC 
 

 Aerial Pollution There is the potential for diffuse pollution arising 
from Cardiff to reach this site. 

 

Blackmill Woodlands 
SAC 
 

 Aerial Pollution There is the potential for diffuse pollution arising 
from Cardiff to reach this site. 

 

Cardiff Beech Woods 
SAC 

 Recreational pressure There is the potential for an increase in 
recreational pressure to arise from a local 
development plan, and subsequently impact 
upon this site. 

 

 Aerial Pollution There is the potential for diffuse pollution arising 
from new development and infrastructure within 
Cardiff to impact upon this site. 

 

 Mineral extraction and related activities  Mineral extraction sites are close to this SAC, so 
this activity, together with subsequent quarry 
restoration activities, as the potential to impact 
upon this site. 

 

 Development  General effects of development not considered 
under other vulnerabilities/sensitivites have the 
potential to affect this site 

 

 Changes to Local Hydrology Any development close to this site would have 
the potential to affect local hydrology within it. 

 

River Usk SAC  Abstraction levels A proportion of Cardiff’s water supply may be 
abstracted from this river, so increased housing, 
industry, and amenity building within Cardiff 

 

P
age 2285



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               2/4       Enfusion 

Site Name:  Vulnerabilities/Sensitivities 
 

Relevance of Vulnerability/Sensitivity to Draft 
Deposit LDP 

 

Further  
Consideration 

 in HRA 
could lead to increased abstraction levels at this 
site. 

 Eutrophication  Sewage from Cardiff is ultimately discharged into 
the Severn Estuary, following treatment, so there 
is potential for this treated material to enter the 
River usk and affect its features. 

 

 Aerial Pollution There is the potential for diffuse pollution from 
Cardiff to be deposited in the River Usk and its 
catchment, and affect the River Usk SAC 
features. 

 

River Wye SAC  Abstraction levels  A proportion of Cardiff’s water supply may be 
abstracted from this river, so increased housing, 
industry, and amenity building within Cardiff 
could lead to increased abstraction levels at this 
site. 

 

 Eutrophication Sewage from Cardiff is ultimately discharged into 
the Severn Estuary, following treatment, so there 
is potential for this treated material to enter the 
River Wye and affect its features. 

 

 Aerial Pollution There is the potential for diffuse pollution from 
Cardiff to be deposited in the River Wye and its 
catchment, and affect the River Wye SAC 
features. 

 

Severn Estuary  SAC  Physical loss of supporting habitats through 
removal  

There is the potential for development arising 
from a land use plan to cause physical loss of 
habitat. 

 

 Contamination by synthetic and/or non-synthetic 
toxic compounds  

There is the potential for development arising 
from a land use plan to lead to release of toxic 
compounds, which could affect the features of 
this site. 

 

 Damage by abrasion or selective extraction  There is the potential for development arising 
from a land use plan to lead to abrasion or 

 

P
age 2286



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               3/4       Enfusion 

Site Name:  Vulnerabilities/Sensitivities 
 

Relevance of Vulnerability/Sensitivity to Draft 
Deposit LDP 

 

Further  
Consideration 

 in HRA 
selective extraction, resulting in loss of habitat. 

 Changes in nutrient and/or organic loading  There is the potential for changes in nutrient and 
organic loading to arise from a land use plan. 

 

Severn Estuary SPA  Physical loss of habitats through removal  There is the potential for development arising 
from a land use plan to cause physical loss of 
habitat. 

 

 Noise, visual disturbance or direct harm to birds Construction and operation of development 
could cause disturbance to species which are a 
feature of this site. 

 

 Contamination by synthetic and/or non-synthetic 
toxic compounds  

There is the potential for development arising 
from a land use plan to lead to release of toxic 
compounds, which could affect the features of 
this site. 

 

 Damage by abrasion or selective extraction  There is the potential for development arising 
from a land use plan to lead to abarasion or 
selective extraction, resulting in loss of habitat. 

 

 Changes in nutrient and/or organic loading  There is the potential for changes in nutrient and 
organic loading to arise from a land use plan. 

 

Severn Estuary Ramsar  Physical loss of supporting habitats through 
removal  

There is the potential for development arising 
from a land use plan to cause physical loss of 
habitat. 

 

 Noise, visual disturbance or direct harm to birds  Construction and operation of development 
could cause disturbance to species which are a 
feature of this site. 

 

 Contamination by synthetic and/or non-synthetic 
toxic compounds  

 

There is the potential for development arising 
from a land use plan to lead to release of toxic 
compounds, which could affect the features of 
this site. 

 

 Damage by abrasion or selective extraction  
 

There is the potential for development arising 
from a land use plan to lead to abarasion or 
selective extraction, resulting in loss of habitat. 

 

 Changes in nutrient and/or organic loading  There is the potential for changes in nutrient and  

P
age 2287



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               4/4       Enfusion 

Site Name:  Vulnerabilities/Sensitivities 
 

Relevance of Vulnerability/Sensitivity to Draft 
Deposit LDP 

 

Further  
Consideration 

 in HRA 
 organic loading to arise from a land use plan. 

 

P
age 2288



 
Strategic Planning 

Cardiff Council
County Hall 

Atlantic Wharf
Cardiff

CF10 4UW

P
age 2289



Cardiff Local Development Plan
2006 - 2026

Habitat Regulations Assessment Report:
Appendix 8 - Comparison of Potential Effects with Screened-in Vulnerabilities
September 2013

P
age 2290



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               1/24       Enfusion 

Appendix 8 – COMPARISON OF GENERIC POTENTIAL IMPACTS OF EACH POLICY WITH SCREENED-IN VULNERABILITIES / SENSITIVITIES OF EACH 
EUROPEAN SITE 
 
Where a a site’s vulnerability or sensitivity coincides with a potential effect arising from a policy, this is indicated with a tick () 
 

 
Policy  

Potential Impacts of Policy  
(From Appendix 5) 

 
Designated Sites and the Factors to Which Their Features are Vulnerable/Sensitive (From Appendix 7) 

 

A
be

rb
ar

go
ed

 
gr

as
sl

an
ds

 S
A

C
 

  B
la

ck
m

ill
 

W
oo

dl
an

ds
 S

A
C

 

Cardiff Beech Woods 
SAC River Usk SAC River Wye SAC Severn Estuary SAC Severn Estuary SPA Severn Estuary Ramsar 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

Re
cr

ea
tio

na
l p

re
ss

ur
e 

 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

 

M
in

er
al

 e
xt

ra
ct

io
n 

an
d

 re
la

te
d

 a
ct

iv
iti

es
  

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t  

C
ha

ng
es

 to
 L

oc
al

 H
yd

ro
lo

gy
  

A
bs

tra
ct

io
n 

le
ve

ls 
 

Eu
tro

ph
ic

at
io

n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

A
bs

tra
ct

io
n 

le
ve

ls 
 

Eu
tro

ph
ic

at
io

n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f s

up
po

rti
ng

 h
ab

ita
ts

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f h

ab
ita

ts
 

N
oi

se
 /

  v
isu

a
l d

ist
ur

ba
nc

e 
/ 

di
re

ct
 h

ar
m

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f s

up
po

rti
ng

 h
ab

ita
ts

 

N
oi

se
 /

  v
isu

a
l d

ist
ur

ba
nc

e 
/ 

di
re

ct
 h

ar
m

  

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

 
KP1: LEVEL OF 
GROWTH  
 

Dust, noise, vibration 
movement and odour associated 
with industrial and construction 
processes 
 

                           

Impacts on surface water run-off 
                            
Increase in population and therefore 
recreation levels 
 

                           

Increased demand for water 
resources 
 

                           

Increased noise and light pollution 
                            

Increased traffic movements 
                            

P
age 2291



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               2/24       Enfusion 

 
Policy  

Potential Impacts of Policy  
(From Appendix 5) 

 
Designated Sites and the Factors to Which Their Features are Vulnerable/Sensitive (From Appendix 7) 

 

A
be

rb
ar

go
ed

 
gr

as
sl

an
ds

 S
A

C
 

  B
la

ck
m

ill
 

W
oo

dl
an

ds
 S

A
C

 

Cardiff Beech Woods 
SAC River Usk SAC River Wye SAC Severn Estuary SAC Severn Estuary SPA Severn Estuary Ramsar 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

Re
cr

ea
tio

na
l p

re
ss

ur
e 

 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

 

M
in

er
al

 e
xt

ra
ct

io
n 

an
d

 re
la

te
d

 a
ct

iv
iti

es
  

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t  

C
ha

ng
es

 to
 L

oc
al

 H
yd

ro
lo

gy
  

A
bs

tra
ct

io
n 

le
ve

ls 
 

Eu
tro

ph
ic

at
io

n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

A
bs

tra
ct

io
n 

le
ve

ls 
 

Eu
tro

ph
ic

at
io

n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f s

up
po

rti
ng

 h
ab

ita
ts

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f h

ab
ita

ts
 

N
oi

se
 /

  v
isu

a
l d

ist
ur

ba
nc

e 
/ 

di
re

ct
 h

ar
m

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f s

up
po

rti
ng

 h
ab

ita
ts

 

N
oi

se
 /

  v
isu

a
l d

ist
ur

ba
nc

e 
/ 

di
re

ct
 h

ar
m

  

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Land take 
                            
Wastewater and Sewage                           

KP2: STRATEGIC 
SITES  
 

Dust, noise, vibration, movement 
and odour associated with industrial 
and construction processes 
 

                           

Impacts on surface water run-off 
                            
Increase in population and therefore 
recreation levels 
 

                           

Increased demand for water 
resources 
 

                           

Increased noise and light pollution 
                            

Increased traffic movements 
                            

Land take 
                            

P
age 2292



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               3/24       Enfusion 

 
Policy  

Potential Impacts of Policy  
(From Appendix 5) 

 
Designated Sites and the Factors to Which Their Features are Vulnerable/Sensitive (From Appendix 7) 

 

A
be

rb
ar

go
ed

 
gr

as
sl

an
ds

 S
A

C
 

  B
la

ck
m

ill
 

W
oo

dl
an

ds
 S

A
C

 

Cardiff Beech Woods 
SAC River Usk SAC River Wye SAC Severn Estuary SAC Severn Estuary SPA Severn Estuary Ramsar 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

Re
cr

ea
tio

na
l p

re
ss

ur
e 

 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

 

M
in

er
al

 e
xt

ra
ct

io
n 

an
d

 re
la

te
d

 a
ct

iv
iti

es
  

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t  

C
ha

ng
es

 to
 L

oc
al

 H
yd

ro
lo

gy
  

A
bs

tra
ct

io
n 

le
ve

ls 
 

Eu
tro

ph
ic

at
io

n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

A
bs

tra
ct

io
n 

le
ve

ls 
 

Eu
tro

ph
ic

at
io

n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f s

up
po

rti
ng

 h
ab

ita
ts

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f h

ab
ita

ts
 

N
oi

se
 /

  v
isu

a
l d

ist
ur

ba
nc

e 
/ 

di
re

ct
 h

ar
m

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f s

up
po

rti
ng

 h
ab

ita
ts

 

N
oi

se
 /

  v
isu

a
l d

ist
ur

ba
nc

e 
/ 

di
re

ct
 h

ar
m

  

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Wastewater and Sewage                           
KP6: NEW  
INFRASTRUCTURE 
 
 

Dust, noise, vibration, movement 
and odour associated with industrial 
and construction processes 
 

                           

Impacts on surface water run-off 
                            

Increased traffic movements 
                            

Land take 
                            

Laying pipes and cables                             

                            

 
KP9: 
RESPONDING TO 

Dust, noise, vibration, movement 
and odour associated with industrial 
and construction processes 

                           

P
age 2293



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               4/24       Enfusion 

 
Policy  

Potential Impacts of Policy  
(From Appendix 5) 

 
Designated Sites and the Factors to Which Their Features are Vulnerable/Sensitive (From Appendix 7) 

 

A
be

rb
ar

go
ed

 
gr

as
sl

an
ds

 S
A

C
 

  B
la

ck
m

ill
 

W
oo

dl
an

ds
 S

A
C

 

Cardiff Beech Woods 
SAC River Usk SAC River Wye SAC Severn Estuary SAC Severn Estuary SPA Severn Estuary Ramsar 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

Re
cr

ea
tio

na
l p

re
ss

ur
e 

 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

 

M
in

er
al

 e
xt

ra
ct

io
n 

an
d

 re
la

te
d

 a
ct

iv
iti

es
  

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t  

C
ha

ng
es

 to
 L

oc
al

 H
yd

ro
lo

gy
  

A
bs

tra
ct

io
n 

le
ve

ls 
 

Eu
tro

ph
ic

at
io

n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

A
bs

tra
ct

io
n 

le
ve

ls 
 

Eu
tro

ph
ic

at
io

n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f s

up
po

rti
ng

 h
ab

ita
ts

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f h

ab
ita

ts
 

N
oi

se
 /

  v
isu

a
l d

ist
ur

ba
nc

e 
/ 

di
re

ct
 h

ar
m

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f s

up
po

rti
ng

 h
ab

ita
ts

 

N
oi

se
 /

  v
isu

a
l d

ist
ur

ba
nc

e 
/ 

di
re

ct
 h

ar
m

  

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

EVIDENCED 
ECONOMIC 
NEEDS 
(Employment) 
 

 

Impacts on surface water run-off 
                            

Increase in population and therefore 
recreation levels 
 

                           

Increased demand for water 
resources 
 

                           

Increased noise and light pollution 
                            

Increased traffic movements 
                            

Land take                            

P
age 2294



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               5/24       Enfusion 

 
Policy  

Potential Impacts of Policy  
(From Appendix 5) 

 
Designated Sites and the Factors to Which Their Features are Vulnerable/Sensitive (From Appendix 7) 

 

A
be

rb
ar

go
ed

 
gr

as
sl

an
ds

 S
A

C
 

  B
la

ck
m

ill
 

W
oo

dl
an

ds
 S

A
C

 

Cardiff Beech Woods 
SAC River Usk SAC River Wye SAC Severn Estuary SAC Severn Estuary SPA Severn Estuary Ramsar 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

Re
cr

ea
tio

na
l p

re
ss

ur
e 

 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

 

M
in

er
al

 e
xt

ra
ct

io
n 

an
d

 re
la

te
d

 a
ct

iv
iti

es
  

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t  

C
ha

ng
es

 to
 L

oc
al

 H
yd

ro
lo

gy
  

A
bs

tra
ct

io
n 

le
ve

ls 
 

Eu
tro

ph
ic

at
io

n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

A
bs

tra
ct

io
n 

le
ve

ls 
 

Eu
tro

ph
ic

at
io

n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f s

up
po

rti
ng

 h
ab

ita
ts

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f h

ab
ita

ts
 

N
oi

se
 /

  v
isu

a
l d

ist
ur

ba
nc

e 
/ 

di
re

ct
 h

ar
m

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f s

up
po

rti
ng

 h
ab

ita
ts

 

N
oi

se
 /

  v
isu

a
l d

ist
ur

ba
nc

e 
/ 

di
re

ct
 h

ar
m

  

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

 
KP10: CENTRAL 
AND BAY 
BUSINESS AREAS 
 

Dust, noise, vibration, movement 
and odour associated with industrial 
and construction processes 
 

                           

Impacts on surface water run-off 
                            

Increase in population and therefore 
recreation levels 
 

                           

Increased demand for water 
resources 
 

                           

Increased noise and light pollution 
                            

Increased traffic movements 
                            

Land take                            

P
age 2295



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               6/24       Enfusion 

 
Policy  

Potential Impacts of Policy  
(From Appendix 5) 

 
Designated Sites and the Factors to Which Their Features are Vulnerable/Sensitive (From Appendix 7) 

 

A
be

rb
ar

go
ed

 
gr

as
sl

an
ds

 S
A

C
 

  B
la

ck
m

ill
 

W
oo

dl
an

ds
 S

A
C

 

Cardiff Beech Woods 
SAC River Usk SAC River Wye SAC Severn Estuary SAC Severn Estuary SPA Severn Estuary Ramsar 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

Re
cr

ea
tio

na
l p

re
ss

ur
e 

 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

 

M
in

er
al

 e
xt

ra
ct

io
n 

an
d

 re
la

te
d

 a
ct

iv
iti

es
  

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t  

C
ha

ng
es

 to
 L

oc
al

 H
yd

ro
lo

gy
  

A
bs

tra
ct

io
n 

le
ve

ls 
 

Eu
tro

ph
ic

at
io

n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

A
bs

tra
ct

io
n 

le
ve

ls 
 

Eu
tro

ph
ic

at
io

n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f s

up
po

rti
ng

 h
ab

ita
ts

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f h

ab
ita

ts
 

N
oi

se
 /

  v
isu

a
l d

ist
ur

ba
nc

e 
/ 

di
re

ct
 h

ar
m

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f s

up
po

rti
ng

 h
ab

ita
ts

 

N
oi

se
 /

  v
isu

a
l d

ist
ur

ba
nc

e 
/ 

di
re

ct
 h

ar
m

  

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

 
KP11: MINERALS 
AND 
AGGREGATES 
 

Contamination, accumulation of 
toxic substances 
 

                           

Aggregates removal 
                            

Dust, noise, vibration, movement 
and odour associated with industrial 
and construction processes 
 

                           

Increased traffic movements 
                            

Land take 
                            

Wastewater and Sewage                           

KP12: WASTE 
 

Contamination, accumulation of 
toxic substances 
 

                           

P
age 2296



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               7/24       Enfusion 

 
Policy  

Potential Impacts of Policy  
(From Appendix 5) 

 
Designated Sites and the Factors to Which Their Features are Vulnerable/Sensitive (From Appendix 7) 

 

A
be

rb
ar

go
ed

 
gr

as
sl

an
ds

 S
A

C
 

  B
la

ck
m

ill
 

W
oo

dl
an

ds
 S

A
C

 

Cardiff Beech Woods 
SAC River Usk SAC River Wye SAC Severn Estuary SAC Severn Estuary SPA Severn Estuary Ramsar 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

Re
cr

ea
tio

na
l p

re
ss

ur
e 

 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

 

M
in

er
al

 e
xt

ra
ct

io
n 

an
d

 re
la

te
d

 a
ct

iv
iti

es
  

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t  

C
ha

ng
es

 to
 L

oc
al

 H
yd

ro
lo

gy
  

A
bs

tra
ct

io
n 

le
ve

ls 
 

Eu
tro

ph
ic

at
io

n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

A
bs

tra
ct

io
n 

le
ve

ls 
 

Eu
tro

ph
ic

at
io

n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f s

up
po

rti
ng

 h
ab

ita
ts

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f h

ab
ita

ts
 

N
oi

se
 /

  v
isu

a
l d

ist
ur

ba
nc

e 
/ 

di
re

ct
 h

ar
m

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f s

up
po

rti
ng

 h
ab

ita
ts

 

N
oi

se
 /

  v
isu

a
l d

ist
ur

ba
nc

e 
/ 

di
re

ct
 h

ar
m

  

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Dust, noise, vibration, movement 
and odour associated with industrial 
and construction processes 
 

                           

Increased traffic movements 
                            

Land take 
                            

Wastewater and Sewage                           

 
KP14: HEALTHY 
LIVING 
 

Increase in population and therefore 
recreation levels                            

 
KP15: CLIMATE 
CHANGE 
 

Installation of wind turbines                            

P
age 2297



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               8/24       Enfusion 

 
Policy  

Potential Impacts of Policy  
(From Appendix 5) 

 
Designated Sites and the Factors to Which Their Features are Vulnerable/Sensitive (From Appendix 7) 

 

A
be

rb
ar

go
ed

 
gr

as
sl

an
ds

 S
A

C
 

  B
la

ck
m

ill
 

W
oo

dl
an

ds
 S

A
C

 

Cardiff Beech Woods 
SAC River Usk SAC River Wye SAC Severn Estuary SAC Severn Estuary SPA Severn Estuary Ramsar 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

Re
cr

ea
tio

na
l p

re
ss

ur
e 

 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

 

M
in

er
al

 e
xt

ra
ct

io
n 

an
d

 re
la

te
d

 a
ct

iv
iti

es
  

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t  

C
ha

ng
es

 to
 L

oc
al

 H
yd

ro
lo

gy
  

A
bs

tra
ct

io
n 

le
ve

ls 
 

Eu
tro

ph
ic

at
io

n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

A
bs

tra
ct

io
n 

le
ve

ls 
 

Eu
tro

ph
ic

at
io

n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f s

up
po

rti
ng

 h
ab

ita
ts

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f h

ab
ita

ts
 

N
oi

se
 /

  v
isu

a
l d

ist
ur

ba
nc

e 
/ 

di
re

ct
 h

ar
m

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f s

up
po

rti
ng

 h
ab

ita
ts

 

N
oi

se
 /

  v
isu

a
l d

ist
ur

ba
nc

e 
/ 

di
re

ct
 h

ar
m

  

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

 
H1: NON 
STRATEGIC 
HOUSING SITES 
 

Dust, noise, vibration, movement 
and odour associated with industrial 
and construction processes 
 

                           

Impacts on surface water run-off 
                            

Increase in population and therefore 
recreation levels 
 

                           

Increased demand for water 
resources 
 

                           

Increased noise and light pollution 
                            

Increased traffic movements 
                            

Land take 
                            

P
age 2298



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               9/24       Enfusion 

 
Policy  

Potential Impacts of Policy  
(From Appendix 5) 

 
Designated Sites and the Factors to Which Their Features are Vulnerable/Sensitive (From Appendix 7) 

 

A
be

rb
ar

go
ed

 
gr

as
sl

an
ds

 S
A

C
 

  B
la

ck
m

ill
 

W
oo

dl
an

ds
 S

A
C

 

Cardiff Beech Woods 
SAC River Usk SAC River Wye SAC Severn Estuary SAC Severn Estuary SPA Severn Estuary Ramsar 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

Re
cr

ea
tio

na
l p

re
ss

ur
e 

 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

 

M
in

er
al

 e
xt

ra
ct

io
n 

an
d

 re
la

te
d

 a
ct

iv
iti

es
  

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t  

C
ha

ng
es

 to
 L

oc
al

 H
yd

ro
lo

gy
  

A
bs

tra
ct

io
n 

le
ve

ls 
 

Eu
tro

ph
ic

at
io

n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

A
bs

tra
ct

io
n 

le
ve

ls 
 

Eu
tro

ph
ic

at
io

n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f s

up
po

rti
ng

 h
ab

ita
ts

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f h

ab
ita

ts
 

N
oi

se
 /

  v
isu

a
l d

ist
ur

ba
nc

e 
/ 

di
re

ct
 h

ar
m

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f s

up
po

rti
ng

 h
ab

ita
ts

 

N
oi

se
 /

  v
isu

a
l d

ist
ur

ba
nc

e 
/ 

di
re

ct
 h

ar
m

  

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Wastewater and Sewage                           

H7: ALLOCATION 
POLICY FOR 
GYPSY AND 
TRAVELLER 
SITE(S) 
 

Dust, noise, vibration, movement 
and odour associated with industrial 
and construction processes 
 

                           

Impacts on surface water run-off 
                            

Increase in population and therefore 
recreation levels 
 

                           

Increased demand for water 
resources 
 

                           

Increased noise and light pollution 
                            

Increased traffic movements 
                            

P
age 2299



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               10/24       Enfusion 

 
Policy  

Potential Impacts of Policy  
(From Appendix 5) 

 
Designated Sites and the Factors to Which Their Features are Vulnerable/Sensitive (From Appendix 7) 

 

A
be

rb
ar

go
ed

 
gr

as
sl

an
ds

 S
A

C
 

  B
la

ck
m

ill
 

W
oo

dl
an

ds
 S

A
C

 

Cardiff Beech Woods 
SAC River Usk SAC River Wye SAC Severn Estuary SAC Severn Estuary SPA Severn Estuary Ramsar 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

Re
cr

ea
tio

na
l p

re
ss

ur
e 

 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

 

M
in

er
al

 e
xt

ra
ct

io
n 

an
d

 re
la

te
d

 a
ct

iv
iti

es
  

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t  

C
ha

ng
es

 to
 L

oc
al

 H
yd

ro
lo

gy
  

A
bs

tra
ct

io
n 

le
ve

ls 
 

Eu
tro

ph
ic

at
io

n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

A
bs

tra
ct

io
n 

le
ve

ls 
 

Eu
tro

ph
ic

at
io

n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f s

up
po

rti
ng

 h
ab

ita
ts

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f h

ab
ita

ts
 

N
oi

se
 /

  v
isu

a
l d

ist
ur

ba
nc

e 
/ 

di
re

ct
 h

ar
m

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f s

up
po

rti
ng

 h
ab

ita
ts

 

N
oi

se
 /

  v
isu

a
l d

ist
ur

ba
nc

e 
/ 

di
re

ct
 h

ar
m

  

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Land take 
                            

Wastewater and Sewage                           

H8: SITES FOR 
GYPSY AND 
TRAVELLER 
CARAVANS  
 

Impacts on surface water run-off 
                            

Increase in population and therefore 
recreation levels 
 

                           

Increased demand for water 
resources 
 

                           

Increased noise and light pollution 
                            

Increased traffic movements 
                            

Land take 
                            

P
age 2300



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               11/24       Enfusion 

 
Policy  

Potential Impacts of Policy  
(From Appendix 5) 

 
Designated Sites and the Factors to Which Their Features are Vulnerable/Sensitive (From Appendix 7) 

 

A
be

rb
ar

go
ed

 
gr

as
sl

an
ds

 S
A

C
 

  B
la

ck
m

ill
 

W
oo

dl
an

ds
 S

A
C

 

Cardiff Beech Woods 
SAC River Usk SAC River Wye SAC Severn Estuary SAC Severn Estuary SPA Severn Estuary Ramsar 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

Re
cr

ea
tio

na
l p

re
ss

ur
e 

 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

 

M
in

er
al

 e
xt

ra
ct

io
n 

an
d

 re
la

te
d

 a
ct

iv
iti

es
  

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t  

C
ha

ng
es

 to
 L

oc
al

 H
yd

ro
lo

gy
  

A
bs

tra
ct

io
n 

le
ve

ls 
 

Eu
tro

ph
ic

at
io

n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

A
bs

tra
ct

io
n 

le
ve

ls 
 

Eu
tro

ph
ic

at
io

n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f s

up
po

rti
ng

 h
ab

ita
ts

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f h

ab
ita

ts
 

N
oi

se
 /

  v
isu

a
l d

ist
ur

ba
nc

e 
/ 

di
re

ct
 h

ar
m

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f s

up
po

rti
ng

 h
ab

ita
ts

 

N
oi

se
 /

  v
isu

a
l d

ist
ur

ba
nc

e 
/ 

di
re

ct
 h

ar
m

  

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Wastewater and Sewage                           

 
EC1: EXISTING 
EMPLOYMENT 
LAND 
 

Dust, noise, vibration, movement 
and odour associated with industrial 
and construction processes 
 

                           

Impacts on surface water run-off 
                            

Increase in population and therefore 
recreation levels 
 

                           

Increased demand for water 
resources 
 

                           

Increased noise and light pollution 
                            

Increased traffic movements 
                            

P
age 2301



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               12/24       Enfusion 

 
Policy  

Potential Impacts of Policy  
(From Appendix 5) 

 
Designated Sites and the Factors to Which Their Features are Vulnerable/Sensitive (From Appendix 7) 

 

A
be

rb
ar

go
ed

 
gr

as
sl

an
ds

 S
A

C
 

  B
la

ck
m

ill
 

W
oo

dl
an

ds
 S

A
C

 

Cardiff Beech Woods 
SAC River Usk SAC River Wye SAC Severn Estuary SAC Severn Estuary SPA Severn Estuary Ramsar 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

Re
cr

ea
tio

na
l p

re
ss

ur
e 

 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

 

M
in

er
al

 e
xt

ra
ct

io
n 

an
d

 re
la

te
d

 a
ct

iv
iti

es
  

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t  

C
ha

ng
es

 to
 L

oc
al

 H
yd

ro
lo

gy
  

A
bs

tra
ct

io
n 

le
ve

ls 
 

Eu
tro

ph
ic

at
io

n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

A
bs

tra
ct

io
n 

le
ve

ls 
 

Eu
tro

ph
ic

at
io

n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f s

up
po

rti
ng

 h
ab

ita
ts

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f h

ab
ita

ts
 

N
oi

se
 /

  v
isu

a
l d

ist
ur

ba
nc

e 
/ 

di
re

ct
 h

ar
m

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f s

up
po

rti
ng

 h
ab

ita
ts

 

N
oi

se
 /

  v
isu

a
l d

ist
ur

ba
nc

e 
/ 

di
re

ct
 h

ar
m

  

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Land take 
                            

Wastewater and Sewage                           

 
EC5: HOTEL 
DEVELOPMENT 
 
 

Dust, noise, vibration, movement 
and odour associated with industrial 
and construction processes 
 

                           

Impacts on surface water run-off 
                            

Increased demand for water 
resources 
 

                           

Increased noise and light pollution 
                            

P
age 2302



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               13/24       Enfusion 

 
Policy  

Potential Impacts of Policy  
(From Appendix 5) 

 
Designated Sites and the Factors to Which Their Features are Vulnerable/Sensitive (From Appendix 7) 

 

A
be

rb
ar

go
ed

 
gr

as
sl

an
ds

 S
A

C
 

  B
la

ck
m

ill
 

W
oo

dl
an

ds
 S

A
C

 

Cardiff Beech Woods 
SAC River Usk SAC River Wye SAC Severn Estuary SAC Severn Estuary SPA Severn Estuary Ramsar 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

Re
cr

ea
tio

na
l p

re
ss

ur
e 

 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

 

M
in

er
al

 e
xt

ra
ct

io
n 

an
d

 re
la

te
d

 a
ct

iv
iti

es
  

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t  

C
ha

ng
es

 to
 L

oc
al

 H
yd

ro
lo

gy
  

A
bs

tra
ct

io
n 

le
ve

ls 
 

Eu
tro

ph
ic

at
io

n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

A
bs

tra
ct

io
n 

le
ve

ls 
 

Eu
tro

ph
ic

at
io

n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f s

up
po

rti
ng

 h
ab

ita
ts

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f h

ab
ita

ts
 

N
oi

se
 /

  v
isu

a
l d

ist
ur

ba
nc

e 
/ 

di
re

ct
 h

ar
m

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f s

up
po

rti
ng

 h
ab

ita
ts

 

N
oi

se
 /

  v
isu

a
l d

ist
ur

ba
nc

e 
/ 

di
re

ct
 h

ar
m

  

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Increased traffic movements                            

Land take 
                            

Wastewater and Sewage                           

 
EN4: RIVER 
VALLEYS 
 

Increase in population and therefore 
recreation levels                            

 
EN12: 
RENEWABLE 
ENERGY AND LOW 
CARBON 
TECHNOLOGIES 
 

Installation of Wind Turbines                            

P
age 2303



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               14/24       Enfusion 

 
Policy  

Potential Impacts of Policy  
(From Appendix 5) 

 
Designated Sites and the Factors to Which Their Features are Vulnerable/Sensitive (From Appendix 7) 

 

A
be

rb
ar

go
ed

 
gr

as
sl

an
ds

 S
A

C
 

  B
la

ck
m

ill
 

W
oo

dl
an

ds
 S

A
C

 

Cardiff Beech Woods 
SAC River Usk SAC River Wye SAC Severn Estuary SAC Severn Estuary SPA Severn Estuary Ramsar 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

Re
cr

ea
tio

na
l p

re
ss

ur
e 

 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

 

M
in

er
al

 e
xt

ra
ct

io
n 

an
d

 re
la

te
d

 a
ct

iv
iti

es
  

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t  

C
ha

ng
es

 to
 L

oc
al

 H
yd

ro
lo

gy
  

A
bs

tra
ct

io
n 

le
ve

ls 
 

Eu
tro

ph
ic

at
io

n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

A
bs

tra
ct

io
n 

le
ve

ls 
 

Eu
tro

ph
ic

at
io

n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f s

up
po

rti
ng

 h
ab

ita
ts

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f h

ab
ita

ts
 

N
oi

se
 /

  v
isu

a
l d

ist
ur

ba
nc

e 
/ 

di
re

ct
 h

ar
m

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f s

up
po

rti
ng

 h
ab

ita
ts

 

N
oi

se
 /

  v
isu

a
l d

ist
ur

ba
nc

e 
/ 

di
re

ct
 h

ar
m

  

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

 
T7: STRATEGIC 
TRANSPORTATION 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
 

Dust, noise, vibration, movement 
and odour associated with industrial 
and construction processes 
 

                           

Impacts on surface water run-off 
                            

Increased traffic movements 
                            

Land take 
                            

Laying pipes and cables                            

 
T8: STRATEGIC 
RECREATIONAL 
ROUTES 
 

Increase in population and therefore 
recreation levels                            

 
R1: RETAIL 
PROVISION 
WITHIN 

Dust, noise, vibration, movement 
and odour associated with industrial 
and construction processes 
 

                           

P
age 2304



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               15/24       Enfusion 

 
Policy  

Potential Impacts of Policy  
(From Appendix 5) 

 
Designated Sites and the Factors to Which Their Features are Vulnerable/Sensitive (From Appendix 7) 

 

A
be

rb
ar

go
ed

 
gr

as
sl

an
ds

 S
A

C
 

  B
la

ck
m

ill
 

W
oo

dl
an

ds
 S

A
C

 

Cardiff Beech Woods 
SAC River Usk SAC River Wye SAC Severn Estuary SAC Severn Estuary SPA Severn Estuary Ramsar 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

Re
cr

ea
tio

na
l p

re
ss

ur
e 

 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

 

M
in

er
al

 e
xt

ra
ct

io
n 

an
d

 re
la

te
d

 a
ct

iv
iti

es
  

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t  

C
ha

ng
es

 to
 L

oc
al

 H
yd

ro
lo

gy
  

A
bs

tra
ct

io
n 

le
ve

ls 
 

Eu
tro

ph
ic

at
io

n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

A
bs

tra
ct

io
n 

le
ve

ls 
 

Eu
tro

ph
ic

at
io

n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f s

up
po

rti
ng

 h
ab

ita
ts

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f h

ab
ita

ts
 

N
oi

se
 /

  v
isu

a
l d

ist
ur

ba
nc

e 
/ 

di
re

ct
 h

ar
m

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f s

up
po

rti
ng

 h
ab

ita
ts

 

N
oi

se
 /

  v
isu

a
l d

ist
ur

ba
nc

e 
/ 

di
re

ct
 h

ar
m

  

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

STRATEGIC SITES 
 

Impacts on surface water run-off 
                            

Increased demand for water 
resources 
 

                           

Increased noise and light pollution 
                            

Increased traffic movements 
                            

Land take 
                            

Wastewater and Sewage                           

 
C1: COMMUNITY 
FACILITIES 
 

Dust, noise, vibration, movement 
and odour associated with industrial 
and construction processes 
 

                           

P
age 2305



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               16/24       Enfusion 

 
Policy  

Potential Impacts of Policy  
(From Appendix 5) 

 
Designated Sites and the Factors to Which Their Features are Vulnerable/Sensitive (From Appendix 7) 

 

A
be

rb
ar

go
ed

 
gr

as
sl

an
ds

 S
A

C
 

  B
la

ck
m

ill
 

W
oo

dl
an

ds
 S

A
C

 

Cardiff Beech Woods 
SAC River Usk SAC River Wye SAC Severn Estuary SAC Severn Estuary SPA Severn Estuary Ramsar 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

Re
cr

ea
tio

na
l p

re
ss

ur
e 

 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

 

M
in

er
al

 e
xt

ra
ct

io
n 

an
d

 re
la

te
d

 a
ct

iv
iti

es
  

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t  

C
ha

ng
es

 to
 L

oc
al

 H
yd

ro
lo

gy
  

A
bs

tra
ct

io
n 

le
ve

ls 
 

Eu
tro

ph
ic

at
io

n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

A
bs

tra
ct

io
n 

le
ve

ls 
 

Eu
tro

ph
ic

at
io

n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f s

up
po

rti
ng

 h
ab

ita
ts

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f h

ab
ita

ts
 

N
oi

se
 /

  v
isu

a
l d

ist
ur

ba
nc

e 
/ 

di
re

ct
 h

ar
m

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f s

up
po

rti
ng

 h
ab

ita
ts

 

N
oi

se
 /

  v
isu

a
l d

ist
ur

ba
nc

e 
/ 

di
re

ct
 h

ar
m

  

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Impacts on surface water run-off 
                            

Increased demand for water 
resources 
 

                           

Increased noise and light pollution 
                            

Increased traffic movements 
                            

Land take 
                            

Wastewater and Sewage                           

 
C8: PLANNING 
FOR SCHOOLS. 
 

Dust, noise, vibration, movement 
and odour associated with industrial 
and construction processes 
 

                           

P
age 2306



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               17/24       Enfusion 

 
Policy  

Potential Impacts of Policy  
(From Appendix 5) 

 
Designated Sites and the Factors to Which Their Features are Vulnerable/Sensitive (From Appendix 7) 

 

A
be

rb
ar

go
ed

 
gr

as
sl

an
ds

 S
A

C
 

  B
la

ck
m

ill
 

W
oo

dl
an

ds
 S

A
C

 

Cardiff Beech Woods 
SAC River Usk SAC River Wye SAC Severn Estuary SAC Severn Estuary SPA Severn Estuary Ramsar 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

Re
cr

ea
tio

na
l p

re
ss

ur
e 

 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

 

M
in

er
al

 e
xt

ra
ct

io
n 

an
d

 re
la

te
d

 a
ct

iv
iti

es
  

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t  

C
ha

ng
es

 to
 L

oc
al

 H
yd

ro
lo

gy
  

A
bs

tra
ct

io
n 

le
ve

ls 
 

Eu
tro

ph
ic

at
io

n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

A
bs

tra
ct

io
n 

le
ve

ls 
 

Eu
tro

ph
ic

at
io

n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f s

up
po

rti
ng

 h
ab

ita
ts

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f h

ab
ita

ts
 

N
oi

se
 /

  v
isu

a
l d

ist
ur

ba
nc

e 
/ 

di
re

ct
 h

ar
m

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f s

up
po

rti
ng

 h
ab

ita
ts

 

N
oi

se
 /

  v
isu

a
l d

ist
ur

ba
nc

e 
/ 

di
re

ct
 h

ar
m

  

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Impacts on surface water run-off 
                            

Increased demand for water 
resources 
 

                           

Increased noise and light pollution 
                            

Increased traffic movements 
                            

Land take 
                            

 
C9: NEW 
EDUCATIONAL 
FACILITIES 
 

Dust, noise, vibration, movement 
and odour associated with industrial 
and construction processes 
 

                           

Impacts on surface water run-off 
                            

P
age 2307



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               18/24       Enfusion 

 
Policy  

Potential Impacts of Policy  
(From Appendix 5) 

 
Designated Sites and the Factors to Which Their Features are Vulnerable/Sensitive (From Appendix 7) 

 

A
be

rb
ar

go
ed

 
gr

as
sl

an
ds

 S
A

C
 

  B
la

ck
m

ill
 

W
oo

dl
an

ds
 S

A
C

 

Cardiff Beech Woods 
SAC River Usk SAC River Wye SAC Severn Estuary SAC Severn Estuary SPA Severn Estuary Ramsar 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

Re
cr

ea
tio

na
l p

re
ss

ur
e 

 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

 

M
in

er
al

 e
xt

ra
ct

io
n 

an
d

 re
la

te
d

 a
ct

iv
iti

es
  

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t  

C
ha

ng
es

 to
 L

oc
al

 H
yd

ro
lo

gy
  

A
bs

tra
ct

io
n 

le
ve

ls 
 

Eu
tro

ph
ic

at
io

n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

A
bs

tra
ct

io
n 

le
ve

ls 
 

Eu
tro

ph
ic

at
io

n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f s

up
po

rti
ng

 h
ab

ita
ts

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f h

ab
ita

ts
 

N
oi

se
 /

  v
isu

a
l d

ist
ur

ba
nc

e 
/ 

di
re

ct
 h

ar
m

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f s

up
po

rti
ng

 h
ab

ita
ts

 

N
oi

se
 /

  v
isu

a
l d

ist
ur

ba
nc

e 
/ 

di
re

ct
 h

ar
m

  

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Increased demand for water 
resources 
 

                           

Increased noise and light pollution 
                            

Increased traffic movements 
                            

Land take 
                            

Wastewater and Sewage                           

C10: HEALTH 
EMPLOYMENT 
NON STRATEGIC 
ALLOCATION 
 

Dust, noise, vibration, movement 
and odour associated with industrial 
and construction processes 
 

                           

Impacts on surface water run-off 
                            

P
age 2308



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               19/24       Enfusion 

 
Policy  

Potential Impacts of Policy  
(From Appendix 5) 

 
Designated Sites and the Factors to Which Their Features are Vulnerable/Sensitive (From Appendix 7) 

 

A
be

rb
ar

go
ed

 
gr

as
sl

an
ds

 S
A

C
 

  B
la

ck
m

ill
 

W
oo

dl
an

ds
 S

A
C

 

Cardiff Beech Woods 
SAC River Usk SAC River Wye SAC Severn Estuary SAC Severn Estuary SPA Severn Estuary Ramsar 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

Re
cr

ea
tio

na
l p

re
ss

ur
e 

 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

 

M
in

er
al

 e
xt

ra
ct

io
n 

an
d

 re
la

te
d

 a
ct

iv
iti

es
  

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t  

C
ha

ng
es

 to
 L

oc
al

 H
yd

ro
lo

gy
  

A
bs

tra
ct

io
n 

le
ve

ls 
 

Eu
tro

ph
ic

at
io

n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

A
bs

tra
ct

io
n 

le
ve

ls 
 

Eu
tro

ph
ic

at
io

n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f s

up
po

rti
ng

 h
ab

ita
ts

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f h

ab
ita

ts
 

N
oi

se
 /

  v
isu

a
l d

ist
ur

ba
nc

e 
/ 

di
re

ct
 h

ar
m

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f s

up
po

rti
ng

 h
ab

ita
ts

 

N
oi

se
 /

  v
isu

a
l d

ist
ur

ba
nc

e 
/ 

di
re

ct
 h

ar
m

  

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Increased demand for water 
resources 
 

                           

Increased noise and light pollution 
                            

Increased traffic movements 
                            

Land take 
                            

Wastewater and Sewage                           

 
M1: MINERAL 
LIMESTONE 
RESERVES AND 
RESOURCES 
 

Contamination, accumulation of 
toxic substances 
 

                           

Aggregates removal 
                            

Dust, noise, vibration, movement 
and odour associated with industrial 
and construction processes 
 

                           

P
age 2309



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               20/24       Enfusion 

 
Policy  

Potential Impacts of Policy  
(From Appendix 5) 

 
Designated Sites and the Factors to Which Their Features are Vulnerable/Sensitive (From Appendix 7) 

 

A
be

rb
ar

go
ed

 
gr

as
sl

an
ds

 S
A

C
 

  B
la

ck
m

ill
 

W
oo

dl
an

ds
 S

A
C

 

Cardiff Beech Woods 
SAC River Usk SAC River Wye SAC Severn Estuary SAC Severn Estuary SPA Severn Estuary Ramsar 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

Re
cr

ea
tio

na
l p

re
ss

ur
e 

 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

 

M
in

er
al

 e
xt

ra
ct

io
n 

an
d

 re
la

te
d

 a
ct

iv
iti

es
  

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t  

C
ha

ng
es

 to
 L

oc
al

 H
yd

ro
lo

gy
  

A
bs

tra
ct

io
n 

le
ve

ls 
 

Eu
tro

ph
ic

at
io

n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

A
bs

tra
ct

io
n 

le
ve

ls 
 

Eu
tro

ph
ic

at
io

n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f s

up
po

rti
ng

 h
ab

ita
ts

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f h

ab
ita

ts
 

N
oi

se
 /

  v
isu

a
l d

ist
ur

ba
nc

e 
/ 

di
re

ct
 h

ar
m

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f s

up
po

rti
ng

 h
ab

ita
ts

 

N
oi

se
 /

  v
isu

a
l d

ist
ur

ba
nc

e 
/ 

di
re

ct
 h

ar
m

  

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Land take 
                            

Wastewater and Sewage                           
 
M3: QUARRY 
CLOSURES AND 
EXTENSION LIMITS 
 

Contamination, accumulation of 
toxic substances 
 

                           

Aggregates removal 
                            

Dust, noise, vibration, movement 
and odour associated with industrial 
and construction processes 
 

                           

Increased traffic movements 
                            

Land take 
                            

 
M5: RESTORATION 
AND AFTER USE 
OF MINERAL 
WORKINGS 

Contamination, accumulation of 
toxic substances 
 

                           

Aggregates removal                            

P
age 2310



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               21/24       Enfusion 

 
Policy  

Potential Impacts of Policy  
(From Appendix 5) 

 
Designated Sites and the Factors to Which Their Features are Vulnerable/Sensitive (From Appendix 7) 

 

A
be

rb
ar

go
ed

 
gr

as
sl

an
ds

 S
A

C
 

  B
la

ck
m

ill
 

W
oo

dl
an

ds
 S

A
C

 

Cardiff Beech Woods 
SAC River Usk SAC River Wye SAC Severn Estuary SAC Severn Estuary SPA Severn Estuary Ramsar 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

Re
cr

ea
tio

na
l p

re
ss

ur
e 

 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

 

M
in

er
al

 e
xt

ra
ct

io
n 

an
d

 re
la

te
d

 a
ct

iv
iti

es
  

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t  

C
ha

ng
es

 to
 L

oc
al

 H
yd

ro
lo

gy
  

A
bs

tra
ct

io
n 

le
ve

ls 
 

Eu
tro

ph
ic

at
io

n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

A
bs

tra
ct

io
n 

le
ve

ls 
 

Eu
tro

ph
ic

at
io

n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f s

up
po

rti
ng

 h
ab

ita
ts

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f h

ab
ita

ts
 

N
oi

se
 /

  v
isu

a
l d

ist
ur

ba
nc

e 
/ 

di
re

ct
 h

ar
m

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f s

up
po

rti
ng

 h
ab

ita
ts

 

N
oi

se
 /

  v
isu

a
l d

ist
ur

ba
nc

e 
/ 

di
re

ct
 h

ar
m

  

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

 Dust, noise, vibration, movement 
and odour associated with industrial 
and construction processes 
 

                           

Increased traffic movements 
                            

Land take 
                            

Wastewater and Sewage                           
 
M6: DREDGED 
AGGREGATE 
LANDING AND 
DISTRIBUTION 
FACILITIES 
 

Contamination, accumulation of 
toxic substances 
 

                           

Aggregates removal 
                            

Dust, noise, vibration, movement 
and odour associated with industrial 
and construction processes 
 

                           

Increased traffic movements 
                            

P
age 2311



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               22/24       Enfusion 

 
Policy  

Potential Impacts of Policy  
(From Appendix 5) 

 
Designated Sites and the Factors to Which Their Features are Vulnerable/Sensitive (From Appendix 7) 

 

A
be

rb
ar

go
ed

 
gr

as
sl

an
ds

 S
A

C
 

  B
la

ck
m

ill
 

W
oo

dl
an

ds
 S

A
C

 

Cardiff Beech Woods 
SAC River Usk SAC River Wye SAC Severn Estuary SAC Severn Estuary SPA Severn Estuary Ramsar 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

Re
cr

ea
tio

na
l p

re
ss

ur
e 

 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

 

M
in

er
al

 e
xt

ra
ct

io
n 

an
d

 re
la

te
d

 a
ct

iv
iti

es
  

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t  

C
ha

ng
es

 to
 L

oc
al

 H
yd

ro
lo

gy
  

A
bs

tra
ct

io
n 

le
ve

ls 
 

Eu
tro

ph
ic

at
io

n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

A
bs

tra
ct

io
n 

le
ve

ls 
 

Eu
tro

ph
ic

at
io

n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f s

up
po

rti
ng

 h
ab

ita
ts

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f h

ab
ita

ts
 

N
oi

se
 /

  v
isu

a
l d

ist
ur

ba
nc

e 
/ 

di
re

ct
 h

ar
m

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f s

up
po

rti
ng

 h
ab

ita
ts

 

N
oi

se
 /

  v
isu

a
l d

ist
ur

ba
nc

e 
/ 

di
re

ct
 h

ar
m

  

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Land take                            

Wastewater and Sewage                           

 
W1: LAND FOR 
WASTE 
MANAGEMENT 
 

Contamination, accumulation of 
toxic substances 
 

                           

Dust, noise, vibration, movement 
and odour associated with industrial 
and construction processes 
 

                           

Increased traffic movements 
                            

Land take 
                            

Wastewater and Sewage                           
 
W2: SITES FOR 
WASTE 

Contamination, accumulation of 
toxic substances 
 

                           

P
age 2312



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               23/24       Enfusion 

 
Policy  

Potential Impacts of Policy  
(From Appendix 5) 

 
Designated Sites and the Factors to Which Their Features are Vulnerable/Sensitive (From Appendix 7) 

 

A
be

rb
ar

go
ed

 
gr

as
sl

an
ds

 S
A

C
 

  B
la

ck
m

ill
 

W
oo

dl
an

ds
 S

A
C

 

Cardiff Beech Woods 
SAC River Usk SAC River Wye SAC Severn Estuary SAC Severn Estuary SPA Severn Estuary Ramsar 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

Re
cr

ea
tio

na
l p

re
ss

ur
e 

 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

 

M
in

er
al

 e
xt

ra
ct

io
n 

an
d

 re
la

te
d

 a
ct

iv
iti

es
  

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t  

C
ha

ng
es

 to
 L

oc
al

 H
yd

ro
lo

gy
  

A
bs

tra
ct

io
n 

le
ve

ls 
 

Eu
tro

ph
ic

at
io

n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

A
bs

tra
ct

io
n 

le
ve

ls 
 

Eu
tro

ph
ic

at
io

n 

A
er

ia
l P

ol
lu

tio
n 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f s

up
po

rti
ng

 h
ab

ita
ts

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f h

ab
ita

ts
 

N
oi

se
 /

  v
isu

a
l d

ist
ur

ba
nc

e 
/ 

di
re

ct
 h

ar
m

 

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 lo
ss

 o
f s

up
po

rti
ng

 h
ab

ita
ts

 

N
oi

se
 /

  v
isu

a
l d

ist
ur

ba
nc

e 
/ 

di
re

ct
 h

ar
m

  

C
on

ta
m

in
at

io
n 

D
am

ag
e 

by
 a

br
as

io
n 

or
 se

le
ct

iv
e 

ex
tra

ct
io

n 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 n

ut
rie

nt
 a

nd
/o

r o
rg

an
ic

 lo
ad

in
g 

MANAGEMENT 
FACILITIES 
 

Dust, noise, vibration, movement 
and odour associated with industrial 
and construction processes 
 

                           

Increased traffic movements 
                            

Land take 
                            

Wastewater and Sewage                           
 
W3: PROVISION 
FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT 
FACILITIES IN 
DEVELOPMENT 
 

Contamination, accumulation of 
toxic substances 
 

                           

Dust, noise, vibration, movement 
and odour associated with industrial 
and construction processes 
 

                           

Increased traffic movements 
                            

Land take 
                            

Wastewater and Sewage                           

P
age 2313



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 

 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               24/24       Enfusion 

 

P
age 2314



 
Strategic Planning 

Cardiff Council
County Hall 

Atlantic Wharf
Cardiff

CF10 4UW

P
age 2315



Cardiff Local Development Plan
2006 - 2026

Habitat Regulations Assessment Report:
Appendix 9 - Plans Projects and Programmes for in Combination Assessment
September 2013

P
age 2316



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              1/62       Enfusion  

 
Appendix 3: INFORMATION DATABASE 
 
Plans, Programmes & Projects Effects (in-combination) 
 

P
age 2317



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              2/62       Enfusion  

Plans, Programmes and Projects Review 
 
National 
 
National 
People, Places, Futures: The Wales Spatial Plan (update) 2008 
Plan Type Regional Spatial Strategy 
Plan Owner/ Competent Authority Welsh Assembly 
Currency Adopted 2004 
Region/Geographic Coverage Wales 
Sector Planning 
Related work SA/SEA HRA/AA SEA of the Wales Spatial Plan Update 2008 

HRA and AA of the Wales Spatial Plan Update (June 2008) 
Document Details Potential impacts that could cause ‘in-combination’ effects 
The Wales Spatial Plan sets out an agenda for the sustainable 
development of Wales over the next 20 years.  The purpose of the 
update is to reflect new drivers of change and to give status to the 
Area work which has developed over the past two years.  The plan 
aims to make South East Wales a networked city-region able to 
provide quality of life for the population and to be able to compete 
with comparable areas in the UK and the EU for investment and 
growth.  
 
The pattern of housing development across South East Wales is 
seen as developing a greater mix and balance of housing in the 
Heads of the Valleys and Connections Corridor whilst ensuring that 
development in the Coastal Belt of South East Wales does not 
undermine this housing market.  There should also be a targeted 
action to secure a supply of affordable housing.  
 
Three Strategic Opportunity Areas (SOA) were identified as offering 
potential regional benefits from their sustainable development.  

 Direct loss of habitat through development - One of the three Strategic 
Opportunity Areas identified is ‘the area around Llantrisant and North West 
Cardiff’; Cardiff Beech Woods SAC is in close proximity to this. 

 Housing and employment growth may lead to increased transport movements - 
the potential for in-combination effect is greater where housing sites are in 
close proximity to Natura 2000 sites. 

 New communities require increased infrastructure – potential for land take, 
pollution increase, disturbance/ severance of habitats and species.  

 Growth in the requirement for waste management/ transport disposal from new 
communities and businesses has the potential to increase pollution, and 
introduce land take issues.  

 Recreation pressures may result from housing developments near/ adjacent to 
Natura 2000 sites. 

 Atmospheric pollution generated as a result of housing, employment and 
transport growth.  

 
 

P
age 2318



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              3/62       Enfusion  

National 
People, Places, Futures: The Wales Spatial Plan (update) 2008 
These areas are: developments linked to the dualling of the Heads of 
the Valleys road (A465); the area around Llantrisant and North West 
Cardiff which has seen major growth over the past 30 years; and 
development in the Vale of Glamorgan linked to the proposed St 
Athan military training academy. 
 
The Plan states that improvements to transport are essential to 
making the city-region work, and to the regeneration of Valleys 
communities, highlighting the importance of external transport links, 
such as the M4, east/west rail links and Cardiff International Airport.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
National 
Property Strategy for Employment in Wales 2004- 2008 
Plan Type Employment Strategy 
Plan Owner/ Competent Authority Welsh Development Agency 
Currency 2004 - 2008 
Region/Geographic Coverage Wales 
Sector Planning 
Related work SA/SEA HRA/AA N/A 
Document Details Potential impacts that could cause ‘in-combination’ effects 
The Property Strategy for Employment in Wales 2004-2008 sets out 
the Welsh Assembly Government’s approach for employment sites 
and buildings across Wales. The document aims to provide a 
framework to ensure that Wales can provide high quality employment 
sites and premises in the right locations for inward investors and 
indigenous businesses. 

 Direct loss of habitat through development - There are 4 SACs in close 
proximity to the M4, these are: 
o River Usk SAC; 
o Cardiff Beech Woods SAC; 
o Cefn Cribwr Grasslands SAC; and 
o Kenfig SAC. 

P
age 2319



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              4/62       Enfusion  

National 
Property Strategy for Employment in Wales 2004- 2008 
 
Premier Business Park 
(1) - focused on M4/capital of Wales 
One park is needed for Wales as a whole, with a land requirement of 
some 100-300 acres (40-121 hectares). The current lack of such a 
premier business park is a major weakness in Wales’ current 
property armoury and investor offer. Only the “Greater Cardiff” area 
can in principle meet the criteria set out in the strategy. 
 
Business Parks 
(6) - 2/3 on M4 Corridor. 
 
Strategic Sites 
(15/20) -concentrated on large centres of population with proximity to 
the primary road network. 
 
Strategic Mixed Use Sites 
(5-10) - to complement the business parks and strategic sites 
network. 
 
Special Category Sites 
(1) - but with other sites having ‘key’ sector roles 
 
City/Town Centre Office Sites 
Extensive network based on the main centres of population and 
existing critical mass, supplemented by smaller scale opportunities 
The following areas are recommended for early consideration: 
- major settlements 
 Cardiff/Cardiff Bay 
 Swansea 
 Newport 
 Wrexham  
 

 Employment growth may lead to increased transport movements. 
 New development requires increased infrastructure - potential for land take, 

pollution increase, disturbance/ severance of habitats and species.  
 Growth in the requirement for waste management/ transport disposal from new 

businesses has the potential to increase pollution, and introduce land take 
issues.  

 Recreation pressures may result from developments near/ adjacent to Natura 
2000 sites. 

 Atmospheric pollution generated as a result of employment and transport 
growth.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 2320



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              5/62       Enfusion  

National 
Property Strategy for Employment in Wales 2004- 2008 
- other settlements 
 Caerphilly 
 Cwmbran 
 Merthyr Tydfil 
 Carmarthen 
 Newtown 
 Bangor 
 Colwyn Bay 
 
Industrial Estates/Local Sites 
50-70 – to serve essentially sub-regional and local markets. 
 

P
age 2321



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              6/62       Enfusion  

 
National 
One Wales: Connecting the Nation. The Wales Transport  Strategy 2008 
Plan Type Transport 
Plan Owner/ Competent Authority Welsh Assembly Government - Transport Wales 
Currency 2008 
Region/Geographic Coverage Wales 
Sector Transport 
Related work SA/SEA HRA/AA N/A 
Document Details Potential impacts that could cause ‘in-combination’ effects 
The goal of One Wales: Connecting the nation is to promote 
sustainable transport= networks that safeguard the environment 
while strengthening our country’s economic and social life. Our 
transport strategy identifies a series of high-level outcomes and sets 
out the steps to their delivery. 
 
One Wales: Connecting the nation long-term outcomes: 
 
Social  
 Improve access to healthcare 
 Improve access to education, training and lifelong learning 
 Improve access to shopping and leisure facilities 
 Encourage healthy lifestyles 
 Improve the actual and perceived safety of travel 
 
Economic 
 Improve access to employment opportunities 
 Improve connectivity within Wales and internationally 
 Improve the efficient, reliable and sustainable movement of 

people 
 Improve the efficient, reliable and sustainable movement of 

freight 

 Improving the efficient, reliable and sustainable movement of people and freight 
as well as reducing the contribution of transport to greenhouse gas emissions 
will help to mitigate or offset any increase in diffuse air pollution as a result of 
this Strategy.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 2322



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              7/62       Enfusion  

National 
One Wales: Connecting the Nation. The Wales Transport  Strategy 2008 
 Improve access to visitor attractions 
 
Environmental 
 Increase the use of more sustainable materials 
 Reduce the contribution of transport to greenhouse gas 

emissions 
 Adapt to the impacts of climate change 
 Reduce the contribution of transport to air pollution and other 

harmful emissions 
 Improve the impact of transport on the local environment 
 Improve the impact of transport on our heritage 
 Improve the impact of transport on biodiversity 
 
The strategic priorities to focus work cover: 
 Reducing greenhouse gas emissions and other environmental 

impacts; 
 Integrating local transport; 
 Improving access between key settlements and sites; 
 Enhancing international connectivity; and 
 Increasing safety and security. 
 

 
 
National 
The Trunk Road Forward Programme 2002 (including 2004 supplement)   
Plan Type Transport 
Plan Owner/ Competent Authority Welsh Assembly Government - Transport Wales 
Currency 2002 
Region/Geographic Coverage Wales 
Sector Transport 

P
age 2323



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              8/62       Enfusion  

National 
The Trunk Road Forward Programme 2002 (including 2004 supplement)   
Related work SA/SEA HRA/AA N/A 
Document Details Potential impacts that could cause ‘in-combination’ effects 
Phase 1 (Start March 2007) 
A465 Abergavenny to Gilwern 
 The scheme comprises the on-line widening of some 6km of the 

A465 between the existing Hardwick Roundabout and 
Glanbaiden junction, and then continues for just under 1km to 
Gilwern. Includes the areas: Hardwicke roundabout, Llanfoist, 
West of Llanfoist, Govilon and Gilwern East.  
 

M4 Castleton to Coryton Widening 
 A 13.5km (8.0 mile) long scheme to widen from dual two lane to 

dual three lane motorway standard at an estimated cost of £71m. 
The main programme of construction work started in May 2007. 
Reconstruction and realignment of the motorway within the 
central reserve is currently underway between Junctions 30 and 
32.  This will continue until June 2008. The main widening will 
then follow in core phases: 

o June 2008 - November 2008: J30 to J32 - Westbound 
widening. 

o November 2008 - April 2009: J29 to J30 - Eastbound widening. 
o April 2009 - August 2009: J29 to J30 - Central Reserve works. 
o August 2009 - December 2009: J29 to J32 - Westbound 

widening. 
 
Phase 2 (Could be ready to start by April 2010) 
A465 Brynmawr to Tredegor  
 The A465 Trunk Road is part of the Trans European Road 

Network and is an important strategic route in South Wales, 
linking the Midlands and Northern England to West Wales and 
Ireland. Includes the areas: The Dingle, Blaen-y-Cwm Reservoir, 
Garn Lydan, Rassau Industrial Estate East, Rassau Industrial 

 A465 Abergavenny to Gilwern - Runs in close proximity and across the River 
Usk SAC. Potential for disturbance at point which the A465 crosses the River 
Usk and for pollution as a result of construction activities.  

 M4 Castleton to Coryton Widening - Junction 32 of the M4 lies approximately 
1.2km away from Cardiff Beech Woods SAC. 

 A465 Gilwern to Brynmawr - This section of the A465 runs directly through 
Cwm Clydach Woodlands SAC and Usk Bat Sites SAC. Potential for direct land 
take, increased disturbance for bat population and possible pollution as a result 
of construction activities. 

 New M4 Magor to Castleton - This development would involve the building of a 
bridge across the River Usk SAC. Potential for disturbance at point which the 
bridge crosses the River Usk and for pollution as a result of construction 
activities. There is potential for the bridge to have significant effects on 
migratory fish populations.  

 All the development proposed has the potential to increase levels of traffic and 
therefore contribute to an increase in diffuse air pollution.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 2324



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              9/62       Enfusion  

National 
The Trunk Road Forward Programme 2002 (including 2004 supplement)   

Estate West and Nantybwch Junction (phase two).  
 
A465 Gilwern to Brynmawr 
 The A465 Trunk Road is part of the Trans European Road 

Network and is an important strategic route in South Wales, 
linking the Midlands and Northern England to West Wales and 
Ireland. Includes the areas: Gilwern East (phase two), Gilwern 
West, Maesygwartha, Upper Clydach, Blackrock and Brynmawr.  

 
New M4 Magor to Castleton 
 The Welsh Assembly Government has proposed a new dual 3-

lane motorway link between Magor and Castleton as part of the 
optimum long-term wider integrated transport strategy for South-
East Wales. The new dual 3-lane motorway will be 15 miles (24 
km) long, linking Junction 23A at Magor and Junction 29 at 
Castleton. The route crosses the Gwent Levels, including several 
Sites of Special Scientific Interest (or SSSIs), so great care will 
be taken to minimise the effects on the SSSIs by using previous 
industrial land where feasible.  

 
Phase 3 (Unlikely to start before April 2010) 
A4042 Llanellen 
 A narrow bridge crossing with limited pedestrian facilities and 

narrow winding approach from the south. 
 
Cardiff International Airport Access 
 The scheme is proposed to address access problems to Cardiff 

International Airport and Culverhouse Cross. Detailed 
investigations are underway to ascertain how well various 
options address the identified issues whilst taking into account 
environmental, social and economic considerations. As part of 
the ongoing study traffic surveys and roadside interviews with 
travellers on roads in the Vale of Glamorgan area will be carried 

P
age 2325



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              10/62       Enfusion  

National 
The Trunk Road Forward Programme 2002 (including 2004 supplement)   

out in early March 2008. It is anticipated that solutions which are 
considered to best address the issues will be the subject of a 
public consultation planned to start in July 2008. The study is 
expected to be complete by the end of 2008.  

 
A465:A470 to Hirwaun 
 
A465 Dowlais Top to A470 
 Includes the areas: Dowlais Top Junction (phase two), 

Penywern, Galon Uchaf, Gurnos, Cefn Coed, A470 Junction and 
West of A470.  

 
On Hold 
A4042 Penperlleni 
A40 Abergavenny 
 

 
 
National 
Minerals Planning Policy Wales 2001  
Plan Type Minerals & Waste 
Plan Owner/ Competent Authority Welsh Assembly Government  
Currency 2001 
Region/Geographic Coverage Wales  
Sector Minerals 
Related work SA/SEA HRA/AA N/A 
Document Details Potential impacts that could cause ‘in-combination’ effects 

P
age 2326



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              11/62       Enfusion  

National 
Minerals Planning Policy Wales 2001  
Special Protection Areas (SPAs), Special Areas of Conservation 
(SACs) and Ramsar Sites 
 
23. Minerals proposals within or likely to significantly affect potential 
and classified SPAs, designated, candidate or proposed SACs or 
Ramsar sites must be carefully examined in relation to the site’s 
conservation objectives in order to ascertain whether or not they are 
likely to be significant in terms of the ecological objectives of the site. 
For the purpose of considering development proposals affecting 
them, potential SPAs and candidate SACs should be given the same 
protection and treated as classified SPAs and designated SACs. As 
a matter of policy, the Assembly has chosen to apply the same 
considerations to Ramsar sites. If a proposal individually or in 
combination with other proposals and sites with extant planning 
permission is likely have a significant effect on such a site, an 
appropriate assessment of the implications for the site must be made 
by the planning authority. If the proposal would adversely affect the 
integrity of the site (taking into account advice from the Countryside 
Council for Wales) and conditions would not remove this effect, 
planning permission will not be granted unless there are: 
 
 no alternative solutions (i.e. alternative supplies cannot be made 

available at reasonable cost; and there is no scope for meeting 
the need in some other way); and, 

 imperative reasons of overriding public interest – including those 
of a social and economic nature. In determining this, authorities 
should have regard to considerations such as the need for the 
development in terms of UK mineral supply; and, the impact of 
permitting the development or refusing it on the local economy. 
The Assembly would consider the question of whether there are 
imperative reasons of overriding public interest for the 
development, taking account of advice from the Countryside 
Council for Wales, and bearing in mind the views of any other 

No locations are specified. The document contains strong policies in regard to the 
protection of Natura 2000 and Ramsar sites.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 2327



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              12/62       Enfusion  

National 
Minerals Planning Policy Wales 2001  

competent authority. 
 
Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs) and National Nature 
Reserves (NNRs) 
 
25. Minerals proposals within SSSIs or likely to affect them should be 
very carefully considered, and where the impact is likely to be 
significant they should be subject to the most rigorous examination, 
and the need for the mineral must be balanced against 
environmental and other relevant considerations. Particular care 
should be taken in assessing proposals that are likely to affect an 
SSSI which has been designated an NNR24. Consideration must 
always include an assessment of: 
 
 the need for the development in terms of UK considerations of 

mineral supply; 
 the impact of permitting the development or refusing it on the 

local economy; 
 whether alternative supplies can be made available at 

reasonable cost; and the scope for meeting the need in some 
other way; 

 any detrimental effect of the proposals on the nature 
conservation interest of the site in terms of habitat, protected 
species, bio-diversity, environment and landscape, and the 
extent to which that should be moderated; and, 

 in the case of extensions to existing quarries and other mineral 
extraction sites, the extent to which the proposal would achieve 
an enhancement to the nature conservation and biodiversity 
interest of the site. 

 
Proposals for opencast or deep-mine development or colliery 
spoil disposal will be expected to meet the following 

P
age 2328



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              13/62       Enfusion  

National 
Minerals Planning Policy Wales 2001  
requirements otherwise they should not be approved: 
 
 within or likely to affect Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs), 

National Nature Reserves (NNRs), Special Protection Areas 
(SPAs), Special Areas of Conservation (SACs) and Ramsar Sites 
must meet the additional tests set out in paragraphs 23 and 25 
above; 

 
 
 
National 
Welsh Coastal Tourism Strategy Draft Final Strategy Document 2007 
Plan Type Coastal Strategy 
Plan Owner/ Competent Authority Welsh Assembly Government 
Currency 2007  
Region/Geographic Coverage Wales 
Sector Planning 
Related work SA/SEA HRA/AA N/A 
Document Details Potential impacts that could cause ‘in-combination’ effects 
South East – The Capital Network 
 
South East Wales is the most populous area of Wales with the coast 
zone being a main economic driver. Cardiff and Newport are both 
coastal located cities and the former has an important tourism role as 
a capital city, regional shopping and cultural centre, a major sporting 
venue and increasingly as a conference centre and the Ryder Cup at 
Newport in 2010. 
 
The regeneration of Cardiff Waterfront has created an important arc 
of leisure and recreation facilities around an impounded area of 

 Direct loss of habitat through development - Severn Estuary SPA, Ramsar and 
SAC is present all along the Cardiff coastline.  

 Increased levels of tourism and employment may lead to increased transport 
movements. 

 Atmospheric pollution generated as a result of employment and transport 
growth.  

 Increased recreational pressure through water sports.  
 An increased level of waterborne transport and development along the coast 

has the potential to increase diffuse levels of water pollution.  
 

P
age 2329



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              14/62       Enfusion  

National 
Welsh Coastal Tourism Strategy Draft Final Strategy Document 2007 
water. The area also has the more traditional seaside resorts of Barry 
and Penarth and in the Vale of Glamorgan an extensive length of 
Heritage Coast. In the east of the area the Gwent Levels are 
important for its wildlife particularly migrating birds. 
 
Elements to consider in the South East Spatial Plan Area 
 Establish and implement standards with regard to tourism 

facilities, information, accommodation and visitor expectations at 
popular coastal locations. 

 To consider the potential of identifying a pilot area as a ‘Coastal 
Recreation Area’. 

 To continue to support the waterfront regeneration initiatives in 
Barry, Cardiff and Newport. 

 To consider the opportunities for enhancing the role of beach 
wardens and voluntary/coastcare groups in the management and 
maintenance of beaches. 

 To consider the potential of additional or new berths at Cardiff 
and Newport and the provision of visiting berths at existing 
marinas. 

 To consider the improvement of facilities for cruise liners and for 
passengers in Cardiff. 

 To consider opportunities for exploiting the potential of food, 
heritage and culture. 

 
 
 
Regional 
 
Regional  
The South East Wales Consultation Draft Regional Waste Plan 1st Revision Oct 2007  
Plan Type Waste & Minerals 

P
age 2330



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              15/62       Enfusion  

Regional  
The South East Wales Consultation Draft Regional Waste Plan 1st Revision Oct 2007  
Plan Owner/ Competent Authority South East Wales Regional Waste Group 
Currency Consultation document (ended Dec 2007) Final document due 2008  
Region/Geographic Coverage Wales  
Sector Waste 
Related work SA/SEA HRA/AA Sustainability Appraisal & Life Cycle Analysis of the Strategic Waste 

Management Options (Environment Agency Wales, 2007). 
Document Details Potential impacts that could cause ‘in-combination’ effects 
The estimated total land area required in South East Wales for 
new in-building facilities by 2013 for the seven sub-Options ranges 
from between 48 hectares to 108 hectares. An analysis of the 
potentially available land area on existing B2 or major industry sites 
and B2 sites that have already been allocated in development plans 
has shown that in each UA area for which data is available there is, 
at the current time, a clear surplus of developable land with a B2 
planning permission or proposed use to accommodate the highest 
estimate of the total land area required for new in-building waste 
management facilities. In South East Wales there is a total of 734 
developable hectares of land with a B2 planning permission or 
proposed use. 
 
Biodiversity - The footprint of statutory designated sites, including 
Special Areas of Conservation, Ramsar sites, Sites of Special 
Scientific Interest, National Nature Reserves and Special Protection 
Areas have all been designated as absolute areas of constraint, 
constituting areas that are unsuitable for waste management 
facilities. These have subsequently been omitted from the search. In 
addition, impacts on designated sites as a result of placing waste 
management facilities nearby have been considered. This has been 
undertaken by applying buffer areas around the footprint of 
designated sites, which present areas of some constraint. As the 
distance from the designated sites increases, the level of constraint 

Natura 2000 sites have designated as absolute areas of constraint, constituting 
areas that are unsuitable for waste management facilities. In addition, impacts on 
designated sites as a result of placing waste management facilities nearby have 
been considered. 

P
age 2331



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              16/62       Enfusion  

Regional  
The South East Wales Consultation Draft Regional Waste Plan 1st Revision Oct 2007  
decreases as reflected by the lowering weighting. The buffer zones 
vary depending on the importance of the designated site; buffers 
have been derived from information held within current planning 
policy regarding siting development near such sites, the weightings 
are appropriate to this and reflect the distance from the designated 
site, as well as the type of waste facility. For biodiversity issues, the 
Areas of Search subsequently reflect areas that are considered to be 
constrained by virtue of planning policy, reflected at the broad, 
national level. By excluding sites of nature conservation importance 
and applying buffers around them representing constraints, the 
permanent negative effects on biodiversity, including flora and fauna, 
are minimised. 
 

 
 
 
Regional  
South East Wales Transport Alliance: Regional Transport Plan December 2009 
Plan Type Regional Transport Plan 
Plan Owner/ Competent Authority South East Wales Transport Alliance 
Currency December 2009 
Region/Geographic Coverage South East Wales Transport Alliance (SEWTA) region 
Sector Transport 
Related work SA/SEA HRA/AA SEA Environmental Report June 2008 
Document Details Potential impacts that could cause ‘in-combination’ effects 
The aim of this RTP is to improve regional transport in South East 
Wales and help deliver the social, economic and environmental 
objectives of the Wales Spatial Plan and the Wales Transport 
Strategy. 
 

 The key focus of the regional transport plan is to rebalance capital investment 
away from road building towards public transport, walking and cycling, this 
includes investment in travel planning measures.  

 
 The overarching aim of this plan is to seek long term sustainable transport 

P
age 2332



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              17/62       Enfusion  

Regional  
South East Wales Transport Alliance: Regional Transport Plan December 2009 
The RTP vision is: 
To provide a modern, integrated and sustainable transport system for 
South East Wales that increases opportunity, promotes prosperity 
and protects the environment; where public transport, walking, 
cycling and sustainable freight provide real travel alternatives. 
 
Sewta’s priorities build on the RTP’s vision. They tackle Sewta’s 
main problems and they set the general direction of the RTP, as 
follows: 
1. To improve access to services, facilities and employment, 

particularly by public transport, walking and cycling;  
2. To provide a transport system that increases the use of 

sustainable modes of travel; 
3. To reduce the demand for travel;  
4. To develop an efficient and reliable transport system with 

reduced levels of congestion and improved transport links  within 
the Sewta region and to the rest  of Wales, the UK and Europe; 

5. To provide a transport system that encourages healthy and 
active lifestyles, is safer and supports local communities; 

6. To reduce significantly the emission of greenhouse gases and air 
pollution from transport; 

7. To ensure that land use development in South East Wales is 
supported by sustainable transport measures; 

8. To make better use of the existing transport system; 
9. To play a full role in regenerating South East Wales. 
 
The document identifies a number of specific core activities and 
interventions that according to SEWTA are absolutely critical to 
achieving its vision.  
1. Continuing investment into the regional rail system. 
2. Improving quality of the bus services. 
3. Developing of public transport integration. 
4. Making better use of the existing road system. 

solutions.  Key objectives include seeking a modal shift for private and freight 
transports onto more sustainable modes, reducing the impact of the transport 
system on the natural environment, reducing greenhouse gas emissions from 
transport, and reducing traffic growth and congestion. 

 
 The in-combination effects of the Regional Transport Plan with Local 

Development Plans are likely to be positive in the long-term.   
 
 The shared approach of these plans to deliver more sustainable transport and 

travel solutions for commercial and private traffic provides strong support for 
overarching aims to reduce air pollution which can contribute to the reduction of 
damaging effects to habitats and species.   

 
 
 

P
age 2333



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              18/62       Enfusion  

Regional  
South East Wales Transport Alliance: Regional Transport Plan December 2009 
5. Development of a Smarter Choice programme (including walking 

and cycling). 
 
“Three ‘Strategic Opportunity Areas” (SOAs) have been identified. 
These areas are: Development linked to the dualling of the Heads of 
the Valleys Road (A465); 
The area around Llantrisant and North West Cardiff; and  
The development in the Vale of Glamorgan linked to the proposed St 
Athan military training academy. 
 
The RTP objectives are: 
 
 To ensure that communities have access to a good range of 

employment opportunities, particularly by public transport, 
walking and cycling 

 To improve access to services and facilities, particularly by public 
transport, walking and cycling 

 To achieve seamless interchange within and between modes of 
transport 

 To achieve a modal shift towards more sustainable forms of 
transport for moving both people and freight 

 To improve actual and perceived levels of personal security when 
travelling 

 To improve the efficiency and reliability of the transport system 
 To improve connections between the SEWTA region and the rest 

of Wales, the UK and Europe by improving transport links that do 
not have an adverse impact on climate change 

 To reduce traffic growth and traffic congestion 
 To make better use of the existing road system 
 To ensure that land use developments in South East Wales are 

supported by sustainable transport measures 
 To regenerate town centres, brown-field sites and local 

P
age 2334



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              19/62       Enfusion  

Regional  
South East Wales Transport Alliance: Regional Transport Plan December 2009 

communities through appropriate transport provision 
 To reduce the number and severity of road traffic casualties 
 To promote travel modes that provide for healthier lifestyles 
 To reduce the dominance of motor traffic on the local street 

scene to the benefit of residents, pedestrians and cyclists 
 To reduce the impact of the transport system on the natural and 

built environment 
 To make the transport system more robust with respect to the 

consequences of climate change 
 To reduce significantly the emission of greenhouse gases from 

transport 
 To make the public more aware of the consequences of their 

travel choices on climate, the environment and health 
 

 
 
Regional  
SEWTA Rail Strategy Study Jan 2006 
Plan Type Rail Strategy 
Plan Owner/ Competent Authority South East Wales Transport Alliance 
Currency 2009 - 2018 
Region/Geographic Coverage Wales – with regional sections Including South East Wales  Transport 

Alliance (SEWTA) region 
Sector Transport 
Related work SA/SEA HRA/AA N/A 
Document Details Potential impacts that could cause ‘in-combination’ effects 

P
age 2335



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              20/62       Enfusion  

Regional  
SEWTA Rail Strategy Study Jan 2006 
In summary the strategy includes: 
 
 Additional rolling stock to strengthen peak trains to provide for 

passenger growth and to avoid overcrowding and rolling stock 
renewal; 

 Station improvements including improved station facilities, 
information, security and access - including additional parking; 

 Reliability and capacity improvements; changes to the network to 
reduce delays and improve the ability to cope with performance 
problems; specifically at Cardiff Central, Cardiff Queen Street, 
Barry, Cogan Junction and Llandaff; 

 Frequency enhancements on existing lines; improving the levels 
of service on selected routes to meet passengers’ expectations 
and increase the transfer of car trips to rail; specifically new 
services on the Abergavenny, Chepstow, Ebbw Vale, Rhymney 
Valley, Taff Vale and Vale of Glamorgan Lines. Additional 
services to the north of Cardiff are required to cope with the 
growth in passenger demand and will require a significant 
investment in the capacity of the network at and between Cardiff 
Queen Street and Cardiff Central stations; 

 New stations on existing lines; improving access to the rail 
network and integrated with the development of improved 
services; specifically at Caerleon, Magor with Undy, Llanwern, 
Coedkernew and St Mellons. With those on the main line 
between Cardiff and Severn Tunnel sited on the Relief Lines; 

 Network extensions and new stations; to investigate further 
improving access to the rail network through extending to Ebbw 
Vale Town and from Pontyclun to Beddau (with stations at Talbot 
Green, Llantrisant, Gwaun Meisgyn & Beddau); and 

 Rail - Link Bus Services; to extend the reach of the rail services 
to communities remote from the network, specifically providing 
access to the Valleys to the north of Cardiff and Newport. 

 

 Improvements to the rail network could lead to a reduction in car use and 
improvements to air quality in the region.  

P
age 2336



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              21/62       Enfusion  

 
 
 
 
 
Regional outside SE Wales 
 
 
 
Catchment Abstraction Management Strategies 
The Thaw & Cadoxton Catchment Abstraction Management Strategy 2006  
Plan Type Catchment Abstraction Management Strategy 

Plan Owner/ Competent Authority Environment Agency Wales 
Currency 2006-2011 
Region/Geographic Coverage Thaw and Cadoxton Catchment 
Sector Water 
Related work SA/SEA HRA/AA N/A 
Document Details Potential impacts that could cause ‘in-combination’ effects 
The document sets out how the Environment Agency Wales will 
manage water abstraction from the Thaw and Cadoxton 
catchment until 2011.  The strategy provides the framework for 
any decision on an abstraction license application.   
 
The Thaw & Cadoxton CAMS area encompasses approximately 
159km2 of the distinctive lowland landscape of the Vale of 
Glamorgan. The principal town in the catchment is Barry, with the 
market town of Cowbridge to the west and Penarth to the east. 
Although some parts of the catchment are heavily industrialised 
the catchment as a whole is predominantly rural with much of the 
land area used for agriculture. 
 

Under the Habitats Regulations the Environment Agency Wales has a duty to assess 
the effects of existing abstraction licences and any new applications to make sure 
they are not impacting on internationally important nature conservation sites. Water 
efficiency is also tested by the EA before a new license is granted.  If the assessment 
of a new application shows that it could have an impact on a SAC/SPA the EA will 
have to follow strict rules in setting a time limit for that license. 
 
The catchment has been split into 5 Water Resource Management Units (WRMU) 
and 5 Groundwater Management Units (GWMU).  The document states that WRMU 1 
and all 5 of the GWMUs have ‘water available’. WRMUs 2 to 4 are considered to 
have ‘no water available’, while WRMU 10 is assessed to be ‘over abstracted’.  
 
Both the River Thaw and the River Cadoxton ultimately flow into the Severn Estuary. 

P
age 2337



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              22/62       Enfusion  

Therefore any impact to the Severn Estuary caused by changes to the water resource 
management of the catchment needs is considered as part of the CAMS process.  
 

 
 
Catchment Abstraction Management Strategies 
The Taff and Ely Catchment Abstraction Management Strategy 2006 
Plan Type Catchment Abstraction Management Strategy 

Plan Owner/ Competent Authority Environment Agency Wales 
Currency 2006-2010 
Region/Geographic Coverage Taff and Ely Catchment 
Sector Water 
Related work SA/SEA HRA/AA N/A 
Document Details Potential impacts that could cause ‘in-combination’ effects 
The document sets out how the Environment Agency Wales will 
manage water abstraction from the Taff and Ely catchment until 
2010.  The strategy provides the framework for any decision on an 
abstraction license application.   
 
The Taff and Ely have a total catchment area of approximately 576 
km2, which encompasses the River Taff, the River Ely and their 
respective tributaries.  A large groundwater abstraction occurs at 
Ely Wells (in the lower Ely catchment) providing water for 
operations at Aberthaw Power Station.  In the upper areas of the 
catchment there are carboniferous limestone and sandstone units 
(capable of supporting significant yields), which are currently not 
being used to their full potential. 
 
 

Under the Habitats Regulations the Environment Agency Wales has a duty to assess 
the effects of existing abstraction licences and any new applications to make sure 
they are not impacting on internationally important nature conservation sites. Water 
efficiency is also tested by the EA before a new license is granted.  If the assessment 
of a new application shows that it could have an impact on a SAC/SPA the EA will 
have to follow strict rules in setting a time limit for that license. 
 
The catchment has been split into 3 Water Resource Management Units (WRMU) 
and 1 Groundwater Management Unit (GWMU).  The document states that two of the 
WRMUs and the GWMU are over licensed.  The WRMU that contains the River Ely 
has water available for abstraction.  
 
Blaen Cynon SAC falls within WRMU 6 which according to the CAMS is over 
licensed.  The Resource availability status of WRMU 6 is that there will be no water 
available by 2016.  A reduction in the water table could affect the devil’s-bit scabious, 
which prefers moist soils.  The Marsh Fritillary Butterfly requires this plant species as 
it is their larval food. 
 

P
age 2338



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              23/62       Enfusion  

 
 
 
Catchment Abstraction Management Strategies 
The Ebbw and Lwyd Catchment Abstraction Management Strategy 2006  
Plan Type Catchment Abstraction Management Strategy 

Plan Owner/ Competent Authority Environment Agency Wales 
Currency 2006-2010 
Region/Geographic Coverage Ebbw and Lwyd Catchment 
Sector Water 
Related work SA/SEA HRA/AA N/A 
Document Details Potential impacts that could cause ‘in-combination’ effects 
The document sets out how the Environment Agency Wales will 
manage water abstraction from the Ebbw and Lwyd catchment 
until 2010.  The strategy provides the framework for any decision 
on an abstraction license application.   
 
The Ebbw and Lwyd CAMS cover an area of approximately 330 
km2 and encompasses the River Ebbw, River Sirhowy and the 
River Lwyd as well as their respective tributaries. The area 
extends from the mountainous landscape and steep river channels 
in the north to the urbanised valley floors in the south. The main 
urban areas associated with the River Lwyd are Cwmbran and 
Blaenavon. The main urban areas, which are situated on the Ebbw 
River are Ebbw Vale and Risca. The River Sirhowy passes 
through the towns of Tredegar and Blackwood. In this CAMS area 
water is abstracted from both surface water and groundwater for 
agriculture, industry, domestic use and public water supply. 
 

Under the Habitats Regulations the Environment Agency Wales has a duty to assess 
the effects of existing abstraction licences and any new applications to make sure 
they are not impacting on internationally important nature conservation sites. Water 
efficiency is also tested by the EA before a new license is granted.  If the assessment 
of a new application shows that it could have an impact on a SAC/SPA the EA will 
have to follow strict rules in setting a time limit for that license. 
 
The catchment has been split into 3 Water Resource Management Units (WRMU). 
The document states that WRMU 1 (Ebbw and Sirhowy) is over abstracted, WRMU 2 
(Lwyd) has no water available and WRMU 3 (Lwyd) is over licensed.  
 
The River Usk SAC lies outside the boundary of the Ebbw and Lwyd CAMS. The 
River Lwyd (WRMU 10 & 14) however is a tributary of the River Usk and could 
therefore have an influence on water flow within the lower reaches of the River Usk 
SAC.  The site is sensitive to changes in water flow and eutrophication, which can 
both be influenced by levels of abstraction.  
 
The Severn Estuary SAC, SPA and Ramsar sites are all sensitive to changes in the 
hydrological regime. All CAMS in SE Wales drain into the Severn Estuary and 
therefore have the potential to affect the habitats and species reliant on the estuary.  

P
age 2339



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              24/62       Enfusion  

 
 
 
Catchment Abstraction Management Strategies 
The Rhymney Catchment Abstraction Management Strategy 2006  
Plan Type Catchment Abstraction Management Strategy 

Plan Owner/ Competent Authority Environment Agency Wales 
Currency 2006-2010 
Region/Geographic Coverage Rhymney Catchment 
Sector Water 
Related work SA/SEA HRA/AA N/A 
Document Details Potential impacts that could cause ‘in-combination’ effects 
The document sets out how the Environment Agency Wales will 
manage water abstraction from the Rhymney catchment until 
2010.  The strategy provides the framework for any decision on an 
abstraction license application.   
 
The Rhymney CAMS area, some 221km2, comprises the 
hydrological surface water catchment to the River Rhymney and 
Roath Brook catchment (Cardiff). This includes the River Rhymney 
and all its tributaries, but not the Rhymney Estuary. 
 
The catchment can be divided into two main parts: a steep-sided, 
wet, mountainous upper valley with limited floodplain and short 
steep tributaries, and a flatter wider valley below Machen, where 
the river assumes a lowland meandering character. Being a 
narrow valley with limited floodplain, towns lie in close proximity to 
and on the banks of the main river and its tributaries.  
 
Thus, urban development and historical industrial developments 
have resulted in extensive riverbank protection works and a loss of 
riverine habitats. Despite this the main river and tributaries follow a 

Under the Habitats Regulations the Environment Agency Wales has a duty to assess 
the effects of existing abstraction licences and any new applications to make sure 
they are not impacting on internationally important nature conservation sites. Water 
efficiency is also tested by the EA before a new license is granted.  If the assessment 
of a new application shows that it could have an impact on a SAC/SPA the EA will 
have to follow strict rules in setting a time limit for that license. 
 
The catchment has been split into 4 Water Resource Management Units (WRMU). 
The document states that WRMU 1, 2 and 3 all have water available. WRMU 6 has 
no water available. All the WRMUs are combined surface water/groundwater units. 
 
Aberbargoed Grasslands SAC is situated within WRMU 3, which according to the 
CAMS has water available for abstraction. The CAMS states that the Aberbargoed 
Grasslands SAC “will be taken into consideration during the licence determination 
process for applications within its vicinity”. 
 
 

P
age 2340



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              25/62       Enfusion  

largely natural course with many of the watercourses remaining 
tree-lined.  
 
Within Cardiff, the Brook and its tributaries have been modified by 
man including diversions, culverting, revetments and reprofiling.  
 

 
 
Catchment Abstraction Management Strategies 
The Usk Catchment Abstraction Management Strategy 2006 
Plan Type Catchment Abstraction Management Strategy 

Plan Owner/ Competent Authority Environment Agency Wales 
Currency 2007-2013 
Region/Geographic Coverage Usk Catchment 
Sector Water 
Related work SA/SEA HRA/AA N/A 
Document Details Potential impacts that could cause ‘in-combination’ effects 
The document sets out how the Environment Agency Wales will 
manage water abstraction from the Rhymney catchment until 
2013.  The strategy provides the framework for any decision on an 
abstraction license application.   
 
The Usk CAMS covers an area of approximately 1169 km2 and 
encompasses the River Usk and its tributaries, but not the Usk 
Estuary. The main settlements within the catchment are 
Abergavenny, Brecon, Brynmawr, Crickhowell, Gilwern, Llanelly 
Hill, Llanfoist, Newport, Raglan, Sennybridge and Usk.  
 
In this CAMS area water is taken from both surface water and 
groundwater resources. Water is abstracted for public water 
supply, navigation, agriculture, commerce/industry, domestic use, 
spray irrigation, horticultural watering, lake/pond maintenance, fish 

Under the Habitats Regulations the Environment Agency Wales has a duty to assess 
the effects of existing abstraction licences and any new applications to make sure 
they are not impacting on internationally important nature conservation sites. Water 
efficiency is also tested by the EA before a new license is granted.  If the assessment 
of a new application shows that it could have an impact on a SAC/SPA the EA will 
have to follow strict rules in setting a time limit for that license. 
 
The catchment has been split into 3 Water Resource Management Units (WRMU). 
The document states that WRMU 1 (Sor Brook) has water available, WRMU 2 (River 
Usk) is over licensed and WRMU 18 (Bettws/Malpas Brook) is over licensed.  
 
The River Usk SAC, Usk Bat Sites SAC and Coed y Cerrig SAC are situated within 
WRMU 2, which according to the CAMS is over licensed.  
 
The River Usk SAC is sensitive to any changes in the hydrological regime, more 

P
age 2341



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              26/62       Enfusion  

farming and hydropower generation. 
 
The River Usk is a sandstone river of considerable ecological 
diversity, which provides an important wildlife corridor, an essential 
migration route and a key breeding area for many nationally and 
internationally important species.  
 
The ecology of the River Usk SAC is currently affected by, or at 
risk of being affected by, a number of factors including abstraction. 
As a competent and relevant authority, the Environment Agency 
has a statutory duty, under the Habitats Regulations, to ensure 
that the integrity of the riverine ecosystem is maintained or 
restored through sustainable water resources management.  
 

specifically any changes to water flow and quality.  
 
Usk Bat Sites SAC are primarily designated for the population of Lesser Horseshoe 
Bats. Abstraction levels are unlikely to have a direct effect on the bat population but 
could have issues for the habitats the bats use for feeding. The Blanket Bog 
protected as a qualifying feature is sensitive to hydrological change.  
 
Coed y Cerrig SACs naturally high, largely spring-fed water table is essential to the 
Alluvial forests with Alnus glutinosa and Fraxinus excelsior.  
 
 

 
 
Catchment Abstraction Management Strategies 
The Wye Catchment Abstraction Management Strategy March 2008  
Plan Type Catchment Abstraction Management Strategy 

Plan Owner/ Competent Authority Environment Agency Wales 
Currency 2008 - 2014 
Region/Geographic Coverage Wye Catchment 
Sector Water 
Related work SA/SEA HRA/AA N/A 
Document Details Potential impacts that could cause ‘in-combination’ effects 
The document sets out how the Environment Agency Wales will 
manage water abstraction from Wye catchment until 2014.  The 
strategy provides the framework for any decision on an abstraction 
license application.   
 
TheWye CAMS covers an area of 4171 km2, encompasses the 
RiversWye, Lugg and their tributaries, and spans the border of 

Under the Habitats Regulations the Environment Agency Wales has a duty to assess 
the effects of existing abstraction licences and any new applications to make sure 
they are not impacting on internationally important nature conservation sites. Water 
efficiency is also tested by the EA before a new license is granted.  If the assessment 
of a new application shows that it could have an impact on a SAC/SPA the EA will 
have to follow strict rules in setting a time limit for that license. 
 

P
age 2342



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              27/62       Enfusion  

England andWales. The main urban areas within the catchment 
are Hereford, Monmouth, Leominster, Ross-on-Wye and Hay-on-
Wye. 
 

The Environment Agency has a statutory duty, to ensure that the integrity of the 
riverine SAC ecosystem is maintained or restored through sustainable water 
resources management. As part of this duty, they have to ensure that permissions 
(abstraction licences, discharge consents, radioactive substance authorisations, 
waste management licences and integrated pollution control (IPC) authorisations) do 
not have an adverse effect on the integrity of the designated SAC species. 
 
The catchment has been split into 4 Water Resource Management Units (WRMU). 
The document states that all 4 WRMUs are assessed to have ‘no water available’.  
 
The River Wye ultimately flows into the Severn Estuary. Therefore any impact to the 
Severn Estuary caused by changes to the water resource management of the 
catchment needs is considered as part of the CAMS process.  
 

 
 P

age 2343



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              28/62       Enfusion  

Local Development Plans 
 
 
Local Development Plans 
 Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Local Development Plan  
Plan Type Local Development Plan 
Plan Owner/ Competent Authority Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council 
Currency Issues Consultation Apr - Dec 07, Preferred Strategy Sept-Nov 08 
Region/Geographic Coverage Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council administrative boundaries 
Sector Planning 
Related work SA/SEA HRA/AA  SA/SEA Scoping Report  
Document Details Potential impacts that could cause ‘in-combination’ effects 
LDP at vision and strategy options stage. 
 
Timetable: 
Early participation Apr – Dec07 
Preferred Strategy Sep- Nov 08 
Deposit Plan Sep-Nov 09 
Examination Dec-Fev ‘11 
Adoption Aug’11 
 
Issues paper presented in July 2007 designed to focus debate on 
issues of strategic significance for the County Borough.  
Workshops held between July 2007 and Nov 2007 focused on 
developing option. 
 
Options presented: 

1. UDP Regeneration (Decline – Urban Containment) 
2. Growth and Regeneration (Growth - Head of Valleys 

focus) 
3. Balanced and Interconnected Communities (Trend – 

equalise growth) 

Overarching Development Pressures 
 
LDP impacts will be dependant on the Preferred Strategy options.  
 
Generic effects related to development/ growth scenarios include: 
 
 Potential for land take/ habitat fragmentation  
 Increased demand for water resources/ abstraction/ hydrological impacts 
 Increased traffic movements, contributions to atmospheric pollution loading 
 Growth in requirements for waste management facilities, increased demand for 

minerals 
 Increased recreational pressure from existing/ new populations  
 
SAC Specific Issues 
 
 Cym Clydach Woodlands SAC within the County Borough Boundary is vulnerable 

to urbanisation impacts (e.g. illegal waste dumping activities made possible by 
roads passing through the site) and increased recreational pressures (e.g. from 
greater access due to the construction of a cycle route through the site).  

P
age 2344



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              29/62       Enfusion  

Local Development Plans 
 Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council Local Development Plan  

4. Alternative option – (main focus not indicated) 

 
 
Local Development Plans 
Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Interim Unitary Development Plan 2007  
Plan Type Unitary Development Plan  
Plan Owner/ Competent Authority Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 
Currency 2001 - 2016 
Region/Geographic Coverage Brecon Beacons National Park Authority administrative boundaries 
Sector Planning 
Related work SA/SEA HRA/AA N/A 
Document Details Potential impacts that could cause ‘in-combination’ effects 
Part 1 Policy 11:  
Ensuring Access to Employment Opportunities 
Proposals for appropriate commercial development will be 
permitted where they:  
i. enable the creation and expansion of businesses which 

support and diversify the rural economy; 
 retain existing employment uses; 
 utilise redundant buildings or brownfield sites; 
 use local skills, products or resources including 

natural resources in a sustainable way; 
 use existing transport routes and facilitate the use 

of alternative modes of transport; 
 are reasonably accessible to adequate services 

and utilities;  

Overarching Development Pressures 
 
 Enhanced growth implies potential land take and habitat fragmentation issues 

(the SA/SEA identified enhanced growth as resulting in higher environmental 
impacts on biodiversity and landscape). Land without statutory designation can 
act as corridors and linkages for protected habitats and species.  

 Housing and employment growth - increased transport movements and 
associated air pollutants - e.g. as a result of development in the Heads of the 
Valleys Regeneration Area which may lead to commuting across administrative 
boundaries.   

 Water abstraction for new development - potential to impact surface and 
groundwater. 

 Recreational pressures from housing/ development that is close to European 
sites. 

P
age 2345



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              30/62       Enfusion  

Local Development Plans 
Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Interim Unitary Development Plan 2007  

 facilitate mixed-use development; or  
 support Welsh culture.  

ii. Development proposals that cause unacceptable adverse 
impacts to the commercial vitality and viability of the area will 
not be permitted. 

iii. A number of sites are allocated for commercial use under 
Policies SS4 and SS5.  The supply and demand for land for 
commercial uses will be regularly reviewed. 

 
Part 1 Policy 12: 
Supply of Housing Land 
The UDP will make provision for 1980 new dwellings.   
 
Policy SS1: Housing Land in the First Tier Settlements 
Within the First Tier Settlements of Brecon, Hay-on-Wye, 
Crickhowell, Sennybridge, Talgarth, Gilwern, and Govilon, are 
allocated for residential development of 6 or more units.  
 
The majority of development will be focused in the North and 
South East of the National Park.  

 
Policy Q1: Sites of European Importance 
Proposals for development which may have an unacceptable impact on a European 
Site or potential European Site will not be permitted unless: 
i. the proposed development is directly connected with or necessary for the 

protection, enhancement and positive management of the site for conservation 
purposes; 

ii. the proposed development will not have an unacceptable impact on the 
conservation objectives associated with the site or the integrity of the site; 

iii. where the site supports priority habitats and/or species, there are reasons of 
public health or safety why the development should proceed; 

iv. where the site supports interests not identified as a priority, there are imperative 
reasons of overriding public interest why the development should proceed; and 

v. there is no alternative solution. 
 
 

 
 
 
Local Development Plans 
 Bridgend County Borough Council Local Development Plan Strategic Options and Preferred Strategy:  
Plan Type Local Development Plan  
Plan Owner/ Competent Authority Bridgend County Borough Council 
Currency Draft Preferred Options May/June 2007 

Deposit LDP April 2008- May 2009 
Region/Geographic Coverage Bridgend County Borough Council administrative boundaries 

P
age 2346



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              31/62       Enfusion  

Local Development Plans 
 Bridgend County Borough Council Local Development Plan Strategic Options and Preferred Strategy:  
Sector Planning 
Related work SA/SEA HRA/AA  SA/SEA Report  
Document Details Potential impacts that could cause ‘in-combination’ effects 
Spatial Assessment of Draft Strategic Growth Options – Nov 2007. 
 
Two Draft Strategic Growth Options recommended by the Council 
(June 2007). 
 
Trends-Based Growth Strategy 
 Produces a dwelling requirement up to 2021 of 8,100 

dwellings.  Includes an implicit commitment to 6,930 dwellings.  
 A 217ha supply of employment land is currently available 

(applies to both strategy options). 
UDP Growth Strategy 
 Produces a dwelling requirement of 7,470 dwellings between 

2006 and 2021.  
 
Options for pursuing the Trend Based Growth Strategy: 
 1. Economic led – focusing development on Bridgend and 

other main settlements with available employment 
opportunities to optimise their locational economic advantages 
whilst reducing the need to travel. Dwellings accommodated 
within existing settlement boundaries.  

 2. Regeneration Led – focusing development with the Valleys 
and Valley Gateway north of the M4 to promote the 
regeneration priorities of the County Borough.  Development 
can be accommodated within existing settlement boundaries in 
Llynfi Valley and the Valleys gateway but may need relaxing in 
the Ogmore and Garw Valleys.  

 3. Population Led – a dispersed pattern of development with 
in the main urban areas optimizing the use of committed sites 
and allocating new development relative to the existing size of 

Overarching Development Pressures 
 
LDP impacts will be dependant on the final Preferred Strategy option.  
 
Generic effects related to development/ growth scenarios include: 
 
 Potential for land take/ habitat fragmentation  
 Increased demand for water resources/ abstraction/ hydrological impacts 
 Increased traffic movements, contributions to atmospheric pollution loading 
 Growth in requirements for waste management facilities, increased demand for 

minerals 
 Increased recreational pressure from existing/ new populations  
 
SAC Specific Issues 
 
 Blackmill Woodlands SAC and Cefn Cribwr Grasslands SAC are both vulnerable 

to air pollution and development patterns that result in traffic growth near these 
sites have the potential to lead to significant effects.  

P
age 2347



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              32/62       Enfusion  

Local Development Plans 
 Bridgend County Borough Council Local Development Plan Strategic Options and Preferred Strategy:  

the settlement.  Dwellings can be accommodated within 
existing settlement boundaries.  

 
 
Local Development Plans 
 Caerphilly County Borough Council Deposit LDP Consultation October 2008 
Plan Type Local Development Plan 
Plan Owner/ Competent Authority Caerphilly County Borough Council 
Currency Deposit Plan Consultation (finished on 16th November 2008) 
Region/Geographic Coverage Caerphilly County Borough Council administrative boundaries 
Sector Planning 
Related work SA/SEA HRA/AA SA/ SEA of the Deposit Plan 

HRA/ AA of the Deposit Plan  
Document Details Potential impacts that could cause ‘in-combination’ effects 
The Deposit LDP is comprised of three parts, the first of which is 
the Development Strategy which sets the strategic framework and 
policies necessary to deliver land use planning in the County 
Borough.  The Development Strategy splits the County Borough 
into three parts; The Heads of the Valleys Regeneration Area, the 
Northern Connections Corridor and the Southern Connections 
Corridors. Part two of the Deposit LDP comprises the criteria 
based policies (Countywide Policies) against which development 
proposals will be determine and part three contains the allocations 
where development is expected to be located and where areas of 
land use protection are to be found (Area Specific Policies).  
 
Development Strategy for the LDP is based on three broad areas: 

Overarching Development Pressures 
  
Generic effects related to development/ growth scenarios include: 
 
 Potential for land take/ habitat fragmentation  
 Increased demand for water resources/ abstraction/ hydrological impacts 
 Increased traffic movements, contributions to atmospheric pollution loading 
 Growth in requirements for waste management facilities, increased demand for 

minerals 
 Increased recreational pressure from existing/ new populations  
 
SAC Specific Issues: 
 

P
age 2348



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              33/62       Enfusion  

Local Development Plans 
 Caerphilly County Borough Council Deposit LDP Consultation October 2008 
 The Heads of the Valleys Regeneration Area (HOVRA) 
 The Northern Connections Corridor (NCC) 
 The Southern Connections Corridor (SCC)  
 
The Deposit LDP is underpinned by eight components which set a 
framework for the approach to - and the nature of - land use 
development.  They are: 
1. Target development to reflect the roles and functions of 

individual settlements 
2. Allow for development opportunities in the Heads of the 

Valleys Regeneration Area 
3. Promote a balanced approach to managing future growth 
4. Exploit brownfield opportunities where appropriate 
5. Promote resource efficient settlement patterns 
6. Ensure development contributes towards necessary 

infrastructure improvements 
7. Ensure development provides necessary community facilities 
8. Reduce the impact of development upon the countryside 
 
Settlement Strategy 
SP4 The Council will support existing settlements, which will be 
enhanced based on their role and function in the settlement 
strategy: 
 
Principal Towns: 
 Bargoed (HOVRA) 
 Blackwood (NCC) 
 Ystrad Mynach (NCC) 
 Caerphilly (SCC) 
 Risca / Pontymister (SCC) 
Key Settlements: 
 Rhymney (HOVRA) 

 Cardiff Beech Woods is within 500m and is vulnerable to air pollution and 
recreational pressure.  

 Aberbargoed Grasslands SAC covers an area of 42.5ha and lies on a southwest 
facing hillside in the Rhymney Valley, 1km east of Bargoed and adjacent to the 
A4049.  The site is vulnerable to recreational pressure, air pollution and changes 
in water quantity and quality.  The HRA Report of the Deposit LDP (July 2008) 
concluded that “impacts predicted to arise from the implementation of the plan 
when considered in-combination with the potential impacts from other surrounding 
plans and projects, would not significantly affect the integrity of the SAC”.   

 
 
 

P
age 2349



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              34/62       Enfusion  

Local Development Plans 
 Caerphilly County Borough Council Deposit LDP Consultation October 2008 
 Nelson (NCC) 
 Newbridge (NCC) 
 Bedwas (SCC) 
Residential Areas: 
 All other villages within settlement limits  
 
Total Housing Requirements 
SP16 The Council has made provision for the development of 
8,625 new dwellings in the County Borough between 2006 and 
2021. 
 
Managing Employment Growth 
SP18 The Council has made provision for the development of 
104.3 hectares of employment land in the County Borough 
between 2006 and 2021. This requirement will be met principally 
through the development of a range of employment sites including 
the following: 
A Business Parks 
B Primary Industrial Estates 
C Secondary Industrial Estates 
 

 
 
 
 
Local Development Plans 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council Local Development Plan 2006 – 2021 Deposit Plan 2008 
Plan Type Local Development Plan 
Plan Owner/ Competent Authority Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 
Currency 2006-2021 

P
age 2350



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              35/62       Enfusion  

Local Development Plans 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council Local Development Plan 2006 – 2021 Deposit Plan 2008 
Region/Geographic Coverage Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council administrative boundary 
Sector Planning 
Related work SA/SEA HRA/AA SA of the Deposit Plan September 2008 

HRA Screening of the Deposit Plan August 2008 
Document Details Potential impacts that could cause ‘in-combination’ effects 
This document outlines the main development issues to be 
addressed in Merthyr Tydfil and sets out a vision and objectives 
for tackling these issues.  It considers the spatial strategy options 
available and considers the development implications of following 
this particular route, including the major sites on which the strategy 
will depend. 
 
The LDP is pursuing an Enhanced Growth Strategy that aims to 
“facilitate a reduction in current levels of out migration from the 
County Borough so that population levels stabilise by 2011 and a 
10- year period of enhanced growth is achieved thereafter”. 
 
Overall, the deposit plan aims to provide the basis for meeting the 
economic, social and environmental needs of the County Borough 
in order that they: 
 Reflect local aspirations for Merthyr Tydfil based on the vision 

agreed by the local community and other stakeholders 
 Provide a basis for rational and consistent development 

decisions 
 Guide growth and change, while protecting local diversity, 

character and sensitive environments. 
 
The three spatial zones have been directly translated in the 
Enhanced Growth Strategy into the following growth areas: 
 Primary Growth Area comprising the northern sector 

communities of Pant, Dowlais, Penydarren, Galon Uchaf, 
Gurnos, Swansea Road, Heolgerrig, Cefn coed, Twynyrodyn, 

Overarching Development Pressures 
  
Generic effects related to development/ growth scenarios include: 
 
 Potential for land take/ habitat fragmentation  
 Increased demand for water resources/ abstraction/ hydrological impacts 
 Increased traffic movements, contributions to atmospheric pollution loading 
 Growth in requirements for waste management facilities, increased demand for 

minerals 
 Increased recreational pressure from existing/ new populations  
 
SAC Specific Issues 
 
 There are no European sites within the County Borough Boundaries. 
 Blaen Cynon SAC (approx 5km) and Cardiff Beech Woods SAC (12.1km) are 

situated adjacent to major transport routes (A 470, A465) which intersect within 
the County Borough.  LDP policies seek to reduce road based transportation, and 
air quality assessments in the County Borough (2004 most recent figures) show 
that no air quality objectives are being exceeded. 

 Improved emissions standards/ greater use of public transport likely to contribute 
to improvements in air quality - lessens likelihood of cumulative impacts at 
sensitive sites.  

 The HRA screening concluded that the LDP Preferred Strategy policies in 
implementation will not have a significant effect on the N2K sites considered in the 
assessment. 

 
 

P
age 2351



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              36/62       Enfusion  

Local Development Plans 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council Local Development Plan 2006 – 2021 Deposit Plan 2008 

Town Centre, Georgetown, Abercanaid and Pentrebach. 
 Secondary Growth Area comprising the southern sector 

communities of Edwardsville, Treharris, Trelewis and Quakers 
Yard. 

 Other Growth Areas comprising the mid valley communities 
of Troedyrhiw, Aberfan, Merthyr Vale and Bedlinog. 

 
Merthyr Tydfil is identified as a Primary Growth Area and will form 
the focus for the majority of development, with the town centre 
acting as the lynchpin for regeneration. 
 
Policy BW13: Managing Housing Growth 
During the plan period 2006-2021, land is allocated for the 
provision of approximately 3990 new dwellings in order to 
accommodate the anticipated needs of the population. 
 
Policy BW14: Managing Employment Growth 
During the plan period 2006-2021, 40 hectares of land is allocated 
to provide a suitable range of sites to accommodate the 
anticipated business and employment needs of the County 
Borough. 
 

 
 
 

 
 
Local Development Plans 
Monmouthshire County Council Local Development Plan Options Report December 2008 
Plan Type Local Development Plan 
Plan Owner/ Competent Authority Monmouthshire County Council 
Currency 2011 - 2026 
Region/Geographic Coverage Monmouthshire County Council administrative boundary 

P
age 2352



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              37/62       Enfusion  

Local Development Plans 
Monmouthshire County Council Local Development Plan Options Report December 2008 
Sector Planning 
Related work SA/SEA HRA/AA SA Scoping Report March 2008 
Document Details Potential impacts that could cause ‘in-combination’ effects 
The Monmouthshire Draft LDP Vision: 
 
By 2021, Monmouthshire will be a place where: 
 
1. The distinctive character of its built heritage, countryside and 

environmental assets has been protected and enhanced. 
2. People live in more inclusive, cohesive, prosperous and 

vibrant communities, both urban and rural, where there is 
better access to local services, facilities and employment 
opportunities. 

3. People enjoy more sustainable lifestyles that give them 
opportunities for healthy activity, reduced reliance on the 
private motorcar and minimised impact on the global 
environment. 

 
For the purposes of the public consultation three possible levels of 
growth are put forward for consideration: 
 
Option 1 - ‘Environmental Capacity’ Option  
250 dwellings per year. 
Option 2 - ‘Regional Collaboration’ Option  
350 dwellings per year. 
Option 3 - ‘Market Led Growth’ Option  
475 dwellings per year. 
 
From a strategic point of view, however, it is considered that the 
main settlements in the County can be clearly identified: 
Main towns.  
 

Overarching Development Pressures 
  
Generic effects related to development/ growth scenarios include: 
 
 Potential for land take/ habitat fragmentation  
 Increased demand for water resources/ abstraction/ hydrological impacts 
 Increased traffic movements, contributions to atmospheric pollution loading 
 Growth in requirements for waste management facilities, increased demand for 

minerals 
 Increased recreational pressure from existing/ new populations  
 
SAC Specific Issues 
 
Monmouthshire County Council has 11 European sites within its administrative 
boundary. 
 
1. Coed y Cerrig - SAC 
2. Cwm Clydach Woodlands - SAC 
3. River Usk - SAC 
4. River Wye/ Afon Gwy - SAC 
5. Severn Estuary - SAC 
6. Severn Estuary - Ramsar 
7. Severn Estuary - SPA 
8. Sugar Loaf Woodlands - SAC 
9. Usk Bat Sites - SAC  
10. Wye Valley Woodlands - SAC 
Wye Valley and Forest of Dean Bat Sites - SAC 

P
age 2353



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              38/62       Enfusion  

Local Development Plans 
Monmouthshire County Council Local Development Plan Options Report December 2008 
Abergavenny/Llanfoist  Chepstow 
Monmouth    Caldicot/Portskewett 
 
Secondary settlements. 
Rural:     Other ‘Severnside’ settlements: 
Usk     Magor/Undy 
Raglan    Rogiet 
Penperlleni    Sudbrook 
 
It is these main settlements that will provide the focus of the 
suggested strategic spatial options. For the purposes of the public 
consultation four possible options for the spatial distribution of new 
housing development are put forward for consideration: 
 
A. Focus development within or adjoining the three main towns of 
Abergavenny, Chepstow and Monmouth where there is the best 
access to jobs, services and public transport. 
 
B. Focus development on the ‘Severnside’ area around the M4 
corridor in an attempt to harness its strategic location to promote 
growth and achieve a ‘critical mass’ to boost public transport, 
employment, services and community facilities. 
 
C. Distribute development proportionately across rural and urban 
areas to meet housing needs evenly throughout the County, 
although focusing in rural areas on those small towns and main 
villages where there is a basic level of services and facilities. 
 
D. Focus development on sites and settlements where 
opportunities exist for large scale mixed development to enable 
new residential development to be accompanied by an associated 
increase in employment opportunities. 
 

P
age 2354



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              39/62       Enfusion  

 
 
Local Development Plans 
Newport City Council Unitary Development Plan (Adopted May 2006) 
Plan Type Local Development Plan 
Plan Owner/ Competent Authority Newport City Council 
Currency 1996 – 2011 (Adopted May 2006) 
Region/Geographic Coverage Newport City Council administrative boundary 
Sector Planning 
Related work SA/SEA HRA/AA N/A 
Document Details Potential impacts that could cause ‘in-combination’ effects 
The main emphasis of the plan is a “Brownfield” strategy. Newport 
has a considerable quantity of regeneration sites, and their 
redevelopment is a key aim of the plan. As well as conserving 
land, this also helps to achieve the objective of reducing the need 
to travel, and thereby contributes to sustainability. 
 
Housing 
SP10 sufficient land will be made available to provide for 
additional dwellings as follows: 
1996-2001: 1800 
2001-2006: 2000 
2006-2011: 3700 
Each period is to be regarded as self-contained, with excesses or 
deficits of house building not being carried over into the next 
period. The land will be provided primarily on previously developed 
land in the following ways: 
i. existing commitments, sites under construction and 

completions since 1 january 1996; 
ii. new allocations as set out in policy h1; 
iii. infill and windfall site development within the settlement 

boundaries, not specifically allocated, to provide a further 400 

Overarching Development Pressures 
 
 Housing and employment growth - increased transport movements and 

associated air pollutants - e.g. as a result of development in the Heads of the 
Valleys Regeneration Area which may lead to commuting across administrative 
boundaries.   

 Water abstraction for new development – potential to impact surface and 
groundwater. 

 Recreational pressures from housing/ development that is close to European 
sites. 

 
SAC Specific Issues 
 
 Development of Brownfield sites in close proximity to the River Usk SAC could 

have the potential to significantly affect water quality as a result of construction 
activities. This also has implications for the River Severn SPA/ Ramsar/ SAC as 
the River Usk flows into the Severn Estuary. Any development that would involve 
the building of a bridge across the River Usk SAC has the potential to have 
significant effects on migratory fish populations. 

 
Below are policies within the Plan that have specific reference to European sites. 

P
age 2355



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              40/62       Enfusion  

Local Development Plans 
Newport City Council Unitary Development Plan (Adopted May 2006) 

dwellings. Further major housing development outside existing 
settlement boundaries will not be permitted. 

 
Major Road Schemes 
SP14 land will be safeguarded for the following strategic highway 
schemes: 
i. M4 relief road; 
ii. eastern extension of the southern distributor road along 

queensway through the llanwern steelworks site. 
 
Employment Land Requirement 
SP15 provision will be made for about 200 hectares of 
employment land for the period 1996-2011. 
 
Employment Sites 
SP16 new industrial and business development will be located 
mainly in the following areas: 
i. Duffryn/Cleppa park; 
ii. South-East Newport; 
iii. riverside, dock and urban areas. 
 
Eastern Expansion Area 
SP26 an expansion area is allocated to the east of the city, to 
include the redundant part of the llanwern steelworks and land to 
the north between the steelworks and the m4 motorway, to provide 
for 1,700 dwellings and a mix of business, commercial, leisure and 
community uses in accordance with a masterplan. Peripheral 
expansion elsewhere will not be permitted. The development of 
greenfield sites must not be allowed to do harm to the 
regeneration of inner urban sites. 
 

 
CE5 in the case of development proposals which would affect a European site or a 
Ramsar site: 
i. where there would be an adverse effect, the development will only be permitted if 

it is directly necessary for the beneficial management of the site, or if there are 
imperative reasons of over-riding public interest for the development and there is 
no alternative solution; 

ii. where the site also hosts a priority natural habitat or a priority species, 
development will only be permitted if it is directly necessary for human health, 
public safety or is directly connected with the beneficial management of the site. 

 
CE9 planning permission will not be granted for development which could disturb or 
adversely affect a species protected by European legislation unless: 
i. there is no alternative location for the proposed development and appropriate 

mitigation measures can be implemented; 
ii. it can be established on the advice of the relevant conservation bodies that the 

development proposed would not be detrimental to the protected species. 
 

 

P
age 2356



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              41/62       Enfusion  

 
Local Development Plans 
The Vale of Glamorgan Council Local Development Draft Preferred Strategy Dec 2007 
Plan Type Local Development Plan  
Plan Owner/ Competent Authority The Vale of Glamorgan Council 
Currency Preferred Strategy January 2008 
Region/Geographic Coverage The Vale of Glamorgan Council administrative boundaries 
Sector Planning  
Related work SA/SEA HRA/AA The Vale of Glamorgan Council Local Development Plan 2006 – 2021 Initial 

Sustainability Appraisal Report 2007 
AA Screening of the Vale of Glamorgan Local Development Plan Preferred 
Strategy Dec 2007 

Document Details Potential impacts that could cause ‘in-combination’ effects 
The document sets out the Vale of Glamorgan Council’s strategic 
priorities for development between 2011 and 2026. It outlines a 
range of key issues affecting the Vale that the Draft Preferred 
Strategy will need to address and defines a vision of how the Vale 
of Glamorgan should develop. It identifies the general location of 
development, sets objectives and establishes a series of strategic 
policies that will guide future growth and development.  
 
The Draft Preferred Spatial Strategy 
“To concentrate development opportunities in Barry and the South 
East Zone. The St Athan area to be a key development 
opportunity. Other sustainable settlements to accommodate 
further housing and associated development” 
 
CSP4: Housing Need 
Provision for the development of 7500 new dwellings during the 
period 2011-2026. This provision will be met through: 
 existing committed sites with planning permission 
 the development of a range of strategic sites that accord with 

the council’s strategic settlement hierarchy, and 

The Habitats Regulations Assessment Screening for the Vale of Glamorgan LDP 
Draft Preferred Strategy has identified the potential for the Strategy to have a 
negative impact on 2 of the 6 European Sites identified within or in close proximity to 
the Vale of Glamorgan namely, the Severn Estuary SPA/SAC/RAMSAR and the 
Kenfig SAC. In addition, it is concluded that a precautionary approach be undertaken 
in respect of the other 4 sites and that further investigations be undertaken. It is 
therefore recommended that an Appropriate Assessment is undertaken to fully 
ascertain the effect of the LDP on the integrity of the sites identified. 
 
Severn Estuary SPA, Ramsar & SAC 
 Given the extent of the Severn Estuary and the diverse range of activities and 

operations that could result in adverse impact to the European Site, it is 
considered inevitable that the Draft Preferred Strategy will in some way, impact 
upon the designated site. While much of the development arising from the draft 
preferred strategy is likely to be located well away from the Severn Estuary, the 
south-eastern zone has been identified as a growth area and abuts the boundary 
of the designated site. Therefore, it is recommended that a more detailed 
assessment of the LDP be undertaken following consultation on the Draft 
Preferred Strategy to ascertain and mitigate against any likely significant effects to 
the SPA, SAC, RAMSAR. 

P
age 2357



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              42/62       Enfusion  

Local Development Plans 
The Vale of Glamorgan Council Local Development Draft Preferred Strategy Dec 2007 
 
 the subdivision of suitable dwellings, the appropriate reuse of 

vacant dwellings and buildings, and appropriate infill 
development. 

 
To ensure a sustainable supply of housing land is maintained 
during the plan period, housing development will be phased as 
follows: 
 2011-2016 2500 dwellings 
 2016-2021 2500 dwellings 
 2021-2026 2500 dwellings 
 
The phasing of sites will be considered in accordance with the 
council’s strategic settlement hierarchy. 
 
CSP8: Employment 
The employment needs of the Vale of Glamorgan will be met 
through: 
 the enhancement and improvement of existing employment 

sites; 
 suitable extensions to existing employment sites; 
 the safeguarding of existing employment sites from non- 

employment uses, and 
 favouring farm diversification, and tourism initiatives. 
 
CSP11: Strategic Transport Improvements 
Strategic transport improvements that serve the economic, social 
and environmental needs of the Vale of Glamorgan and the 
objectives of the South East Wales Regional Transport Plan will 
be favoured. In support of these objectives land will be 
safeguarded for: 
 the Barry Waterfront to Cardiff Link Road. 

 
Kenfig SAC 
 The primary focus of the Draft Preferred Strategy will be in Barry and the south-

eastern zone with St Athan being seen as a major development opportunity. 
Development resulting from the LDP in the proximity of the SAC is therefore 
unlikely to be of scale that would result in a detrimental impact upon the site. 
Notwithstanding this, there are three operational quarries (Ewenny, Pant, Lithalun) 
within 3 kilometres of the SAC. Mineral extraction and/or after use of the site could 
therefore impact upon the SAC as described above however this is considered to 
be unlikely due to the distance and ground contours. However, the site should be 
subject to a more detailed assessment at a later stage of the LDP development. 

 

P
age 2358



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              43/62       Enfusion  

Local Development Plans 
The Vale of Glamorgan Council Local Development Draft Preferred Strategy Dec 2007 
 Llysworney Bypass 
Priority will be given to schemes that improve safety and 
accessibility, public transport, walking and cycling. 
 
CSP12: Sustainable Waste Management 
Proposals for the sustainable management of waste will be 
favoured where they support the objectives of the South East 
Wales Regional Waste Plan and the Council’s 
Local Waste Management Strategy. In support of these objectives 
the following locations have been identified as being suitable for 
waste management facilities: 
 Atlantic trading estate. 
 the operational Port of Barry Docks. 
 

 
 
 
Local Development Plans 
Torfaen County Borough Council Local Development Plan Preferred Strategy 2006-2021 Consultation of Strategic Options and Preferred 
Strategy 
Plan Type Local Development Plan  
Plan Owner/ Competent Authority Torfaen County Borough Council 
Currency Preferred Strategy January 2008 
Region/Geographic Coverage Torfaen County Borough Council administrative boundaries 
Sector Planning  
Related work SA/SEA HRA/AA Torfaen County Borough Council Local Development Plan 2006 – 2021 Initial 

Sustainability Appraisal Report 2008 
Document Details Potential impacts that could cause ‘in-combination’ effects 

P
age 2359



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              44/62       Enfusion  

Local Development Plans 
Torfaen County Borough Council Local Development Plan Preferred Strategy 2006-2021 Consultation of Strategic Options and Preferred 
Strategy 
This document sets out the Council’s objectives and priorities for 
the development and use of land within Torfaen and its policies for 
implementing them. 
 
The Network of Integrated Communities Strategy would aim to 
ensure a network of integrated communities, focusing particularly 
on the two key settlements of Cwmbran and Pontypool to ensure 
that they are successful and function as service hubs for the 
surrounding settlements. Development will be emphasised along 
key transport routes and expanded settlements could potentially 
include Greenfield land.  
 
The LDP Preferred Strategy will make provision for 7,000 new 
dwellings in Torfaen over the period 2006 - 2021 primarily within 
the existing settlements and with a preference for brownfield sites, 
 of which: 

o 900 dwellings in North Torfaen Housing Market Area 
(Blaenavon and Abersychan Wards); 

o 2,800 dwellings in Pontypool Housing Market Area; and 
o 3,300 dwellings in Cwmbran Housing Market Area. 

 and made up from: 
o 2,800 dwellings on sites already allocated, permitted or 

under construction (Jan 2006 JHLAS); 
o 3,400 dwellings on New Site Allocations (10 or more 

dwellings); 
o 400 dwellings in a ‘Windfall Allowance’; and 
o 400 dwellings on Small Sites (9 or less dwellings). 

 with all Demolitions to be net against this target. 
 
The LDP proposes the following Strategic Housing Sites, detailed 
in Figure 1. (of 100 or more dwellings): - 
1.  Boral Edenhall & Candlewick Sites, Blaenavon; 

Generic effects related to development/ growth scenarios include: 
 
 Increased demand for water resources/ abstraction/ hydrological impacts. 
 Increased traffic movements, contributions to atmospheric pollution loading. 
 Growth in requirements for waste management facilities, increased demand for 

minerals. 
 Increased recreational pressure from existing/ new populations. 
 
Measures within the LDP may help to offset or mitigate some of these generic effects 
through:  
 
 Protecting and enhance important international, national, regional and local 

species and habitats, including:  
o European Protected Species; 
o Special Areas of Conservation (SAC); 
o Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI); 
o Local Nature Reserves (LNR); and 
o Sites of Interest for Nature Conservation (SINC). 

 Placing an emphasis on Public Transport, Cycling & Walking schemes rather than 
road improvements and trying to ensure that developments take measures to 
reduce the need to travel, reducing reliance on the motor car. 

 Protecting formal leisure facilities and the various typologies of open space and 
ensure new provision from development sites, including the use of S106 
contributions. 

 Requiring a minimum 10% reduction in CO2 emissions (to the BREEAM Good 
level) from all major new developments; 

 Requiring a financial contribution from all non BREEAM Excellent (40% reduction 
in CO2 emissions) developments to improve the carbon footprint of existing 
buildings; 

 Requiring development to be resource efficient; 
 Requiring development to consider small to medium renewable energy 

generation; 

P
age 2360



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              45/62       Enfusion  

Local Development Plans 
Torfaen County Borough Council Local Development Plan Preferred Strategy 2006-2021 Consultation of Strategic Options and Preferred 
Strategy 
2.  The British, Talywain; 
3.  Mamhilad New Village, Nr Pontypool; 
4.  Trevethin Comprehensive School; 
5.  Rear of Twmpath Road / Dog Pound, Tranch, Pontypool; 
6.  Pontypool College; 
7 & 8.  Possibly County Hospital or Panteg Steelworks; 
9.  South Sebastopol, Cwmbran; 
10.  County Hall, Cwmbran; 
11.  Cwmbran Town Centre 
12.  Former Police College & adjacent land, Cwmbran; 
13.  Llanfrechfa Grange Hospital; 
14.  Malthouse Lane, Llantarnam, Cwmbran; and 
 
The LDP Preferred Strategy is that over the period 2006-2021 the 
plan will identify 60ha of land for general employment purposes 
within the urban area.  
 
The LDP proposes the following Strategic Employment Sites:  
1.  Kays & Kears, Blaenavon; 
2.  The British, Pontypool; 
3.  Mamhilad, Pontypool; 
4.  Panteg Steelworks, (South), Pontypool; 
5.  Craig y Felin, Cwmbran; 
6.  Llantarnam, Cwmbran. 
 

 Ensuring that developments are designed to be resilient to the likely future effects 
of climate change; and 

 Maintaining habitat connectivity to allow wildlife to adapt to a changing climate. 
 
SAC Specific Issues 
 
 There are no European sites within the Count Borough Boundaries. 
 
 

 
 
Local Development Plans 
 Rhondda Cynon Taff County Borough Council Local Development Plan Preparation & Deposit 
Plan Type Local Development Plan  

P
age 2361



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              46/62       Enfusion  

Local Development Plans 
 Rhondda Cynon Taff County Borough Council Local Development Plan Preparation & Deposit 
Plan Owner/ Competent Authority Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 
Currency Preferred Strategy January 2007 
Region/Geographic Coverage Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council administrative boundaries 
Sector Planning  
Related work SA/SEA HRA/AA Preferred Strategy SA/SEA  

Habitats Regulations Assessment Screening  
Document Details Potential impacts that could cause ‘in-combination’ effects 
LDP Preferred Strategy adopts a hybrid approach which combines 
a growth scenario where settlement geography allows (i.e. where 
lateral growth not limited by valley locations) with development 
that meets the needs of local communities. 
 
The Strategy divides the County Borough into Northern and 
Southern Areas.  For the Northern Area the emphasis is on 
building sustainable communities and halting the processes of 
depopulation and decline.  In the Southern Area the focus is on 
sustainable growth within settlement boundaries, taking advantage 
of the cross regional road and rail connections to promote 
economic development and commerce of a national and 
international caliber.  
 
The Strategy identifies the need for14,850 dwellings during the 
plan period. 
 
The overall supply of employment land has been established at 
195 hectares but analysis shows that it is not all appropriate for 
identified need (smaller, flexible space meeting the needs of 
micro-businesses).  
 
The Preferred Strategy includes 8 proposed strategic sites of more 
than 20 hectares (5 in the Northern Area and 3 in the Southern 

Overarching Development Pressures 
 
 Potential for increased traffic movements and air pollution as a result of growth in 

road traffic in the Northern Area where enhanced is development sought. 
 The promotion of commercial development in the southern transport corridors may 

also lead to induced traffic flows across the region with associated rises in 
background and localised air pollution. 

 
SAC Specific Issues 
 
 Blaen Cynon SAC and Cardiff Beech Woods SAC, both within the County 

Borough Boundary, lie adjacent to major transport routes (A465 and A470 
respectively).   

 Both sites are easily accessible and Cardiff Beech Woods in particular has known 
vulnerabilities to air pollution and recreational pressures.  

P
age 2362



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              47/62       Enfusion  

Local Development Plans 
 Rhondda Cynon Taff County Borough Council Local Development Plan Preparation & Deposit 
area) for a range of mixed use developments. 

 
  
 
Local Development Plans 
Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council Unitary Development Plan  (adopted March 2008) 
Plan Type Unitary Development Plan 
Plan Owner/ Competent Authority Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council 
Currency Adopted March 2008 (Work on the LDP is programmed to start in September 

2008)  
Region/Geographic Coverage Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council administrative boundaries 
Sector Planning 
Related work SA/SEA HRA/AA AA of the Neath Port Talbot UDP June 2007  

SEA of the Neath Port Talbot UDP 
Document Details Potential impacts that could cause ‘in-combination’ effects 
The majority of significant development will be concentrated in the 
Port Talbot- 
Neath urban area and to a lesser extent Pontardawe. 
 
The main new housing allocation will result in the creation of the 
Urban Village at Llandarcy on the site of the former BP refinery.  It 
will form an extension to the Greater Neath urban area at Skewen.  
Llandarcy will be a sustainable, fine grained, mixed-use community.  
Through its internal and external transport links it will encourage the 
use of public transport, cycling and walking rather than the car and 
make an important contribution to helping reduce overall traffic 
generation within the area.  The Baglan Bay development will 

Overarching Development Pressures 
 Housing and employment growth – direct land take and increased transport 

movements and associated air pollutants. 
 Water abstraction for expanding communities - potential to impact surface and 

groundwater. 
 Recreational pressures from housing/ development that is close to European 

sites. 
 
SAC Specific Issues 
 
 Crymlyn Bog SAC/ Ramsar, Coedydd Nedd a Mellte SAC and Kenfig SAC are 

P
age 2363



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              48/62       Enfusion  

Local Development Plans 
Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council Unitary Development Plan  (adopted March 2008) 
accommodate a substantial portion of the Port Talbot area’s housing 
needs in an extension to the main urban area that is well located and 
maximises the use of brownfield land. 
 
The Urban Village and Baglan Bay allocations will make important 
contributions in terms of housing and employment and will have 
important implications throughout the Plan.  In order that the 
proposals can be fully explained and considered they are addressed 
in separate chapters in addition to the specific allocations contained 
in the relevant topic chapters. 
 
Housing 
Policy 7 
In order to meet the County Borough’s new housing needs, land will 
be made available for the development of approximately 6155 
houses during the period mid 2001- mid 2016, distributed as follows: 
 
Port Talbot - 1954 
Greater Neath - 3335 
Neath & Dulais - Valley 308 
Upper Afan Valley - 35 
Swansea Valley - 523 
An overall capacity for the Llandarcy Urban Village of 4,000 dwellings 
is allocated, this will extend beyond the plan period. 
 
Economy and Employment 
Policy 8 
The main sources of employment will be concentrated along the 
coastal belt within the urban area of Jersey Marine - Neath - Port 
Talbot. 
 
Transport 
Policy 12 

partly within the County Borough’s boundary.  
 
 The AA Screening concludes that the sites that lie entirely outside the County 

Borough are unlikely to be significantly affected by any proposals in the Unitary 
Development Plan alone or  in-combination.  It also states that significant 
effects on Coedydd Nedd a Mellte as a result of the UDP either alone or in-
combination are also unlikely.  

 
 An Appropriate Assessment in accordance with Article 6(3) of the Habitats 

Directive was considered necessary in relation to the likely effects of the 
Unitary Development Plan on the Crymlyn Bog SAC and Ramsar site and 
Kenfig SAC.  

 
 The AA concluded that the application of regulatory policies within the 

respective UDPs, together with the Appropriate Assessment procedure provide 
a secure mechanism to ensure that allocations neither individually or in-
combination would create an adverse effect on the integrity of Crymlyn Bog 
SAC/ Ramsart and Kenfig SAC.  

 
 
 

P
age 2364



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              49/62       Enfusion  

Local Development Plans 
Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council Unitary Development Plan  (adopted March 2008) 
Improvements to the transport system will concentrate on: 
a) improving accessibility and highway safety and reducing 

congestion, pollution and disturbance generated by traffic; 
b) encouraging travel by public transport, cycling and walking as 

alternatives to the car; and 
c) encouraging the movement of freight by rail and sea as 

alternatives to road. 
 
Retail 
Policy 15 
Neath, Port Talbot and Pontardawe, as the primary town centres, 
providing retail, leisure, commercial and cultural facilities serving the 
County Borough’s communities will be protected and enhanced. 
 
Minerals 
Policy 20 
A) Proposals for coal extraction will be favoured where they 

contribute to the County Borough's share of local, regional or 
national production subject to: - 

a) ensuring that the impacts on the environment and local 
communities are acceptable; and 

b) securing appropriate, high quality and prompt restoration 
and aftercare to provide a beneficial after-use. 

B)  Aggregates and dimension stone production will be catered for 
by the expansion of the Gilfach and Cwm Nant Lleuci quarries. 

 
Waste 
Policy 25 
The creation of a network of waste management facilities will be 
promoted through the plan in order to: 
a) meet the existing and future needs of the County Borough; and 
b) contribute to meeting the needs and potential new demands of 

the region. 

P
age 2365



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              50/62       Enfusion  

Local Development Plans 
Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council Unitary Development Plan  (adopted March 2008) 
 
Llandarcy Urban Village  
Policy 27 
A new urban village will be created at Llandarcy providing a mixed 
use development on brownfield land as an extension to the Neath 
urban area at Skewen. 
 
Port Talbot Docks and Industrial Estate 
Policy 28 
The potential of the Port Talbot Docks and adjacent areas as a key 
regeneration area for the County Borough will be promoted. 
 
Baglan Bay Development 
Policy 29 
The potential of the Baglan Bay area as a key regeneration area for 
the County Borough will be promoted. 
 

 
 
Local Development Plans 
Powys Unitary Development Plan Deposit Draft 2004 
Powys Unitary Development Plan Proposed Modifications Nov 2007 to the Deposit Draft 2004 
Plan Type Unitary Development Plan 
Plan Owner/ Competent Authority Powys 
Currency 2008 - 2016 
Region/Geographic Coverage Powys administrative boundaries 
Sector Planning 
Related work SA/SEA HRA/AA HRA Screening of the Powys UDP Nov 2007 

SA/SEA of the Powys UDP Oct 2007 
Document Details Potential impacts that could cause ‘in-combination’ effects 

P
age 2366



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              51/62       Enfusion  

Local Development Plans 
Powys Unitary Development Plan Deposit Draft 2004 
Powys Unitary Development Plan Proposed Modifications Nov 2007 to the Deposit Draft 2004 
Policy SP4 - Economic and Employment Developments 
Up to 55 hectares of land is allocated for employment related 
aevelopments during the plan period, 2001-2016 and developments 
For these purposes on such allocated sites will be acceptable. 
 
Policy SP5 - Housing Developments 
Sufficient land is allocated, including appropriate existing allocations 
and commitments, to accommodate up to approximately 6140 
additional dwellings (410 per annum) during the plan period mid 2001 
- mid 2016, in accordance with the Council’s strategic settlement 
hierarchy. 
 
Policy HP1 - Shire Housing Allocations 
Sufficient land is allocated to the three shires to accommodate 6750 
new dwellings in the Powys UDP area between 2001-2016 as: 
 Brecknockshire (ex BBNP)1240 
 Montgomeryshire 4100 
 Radnorshire 1410 
 
Policy T1 - Highway Improvement Schemes 
The council will protect programmed routes from development that 
would obstruct the undertaking of the planned highway improvement 
scheme, 
 
Highway Improvement Schemes 
 
The following major improvements to the County Highway Network 
are proposed by the Council: Canal Road / Llanllwchaiarn Road, 
Newtown; Waterloo Road Link, Llandrindod. In addition to these, the 
Welsh Assembly Government in their Trunk Road Forward 
Programme 2002 has identified the following Trunk Road 
improvement schemes: 

The HRA Screening of the Powys UDP (Oct 2007) concludes that the policies and 
proposals contained in the Powys UDP are not likely to give rise to any significant 
effects either alone or in-combination on any European site in Powys.  It is 
therefore considered that a detailed appropriate assessment of the Powys UDP, or 
of any part of it, is not necessary.   
 
 
 

P
age 2367



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              52/62       Enfusion  

Local Development Plans 
Powys Unitary Development Plan Deposit Draft 2004 
Powys Unitary Development Plan Proposed Modifications Nov 2007 to the Deposit Draft 2004 
 Repair & Upgrade Schemes (£1M+): A483 Esgairdraenllwyn 

Bends; A470 Christmas Pitch; A470 Ysgiog; A487 Pont ar Ddyfi; 
A458 Nant y Dugoed; A458 Garreg Bank – Middletown. 

 Technically ready for delivery before March 2005: Talgarth Relief 
Road. 

 Could be ready to proceed by March 2008: A470 Cwmbach – 
Newbridge, A470 Alltmawr, and A483 Four Crosses Relief Road. 

 Unlikely to proceed before April 2008: A470 Builth Wells; A470 
Rhayader; A470 Llandinam; A483/A489 Newtown; A458 
Buttington Cross – Middletown; A458 Sylfaen – Cyfronydd. 

 No ranking applied: A470 Commins Coch; A470 Llangurig – Wern 
Villa; A483 Brynsadwrn improvement 

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 2368



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              53/62       Enfusion  

Minerals and Waste Strategies 
 
Minerals & Waste 
Caerphilly County Borough Council Municipal Waste Management Strategy & Litter Plan 2004 
Plan Type  Municipal Waste Strategy 
Plan Owner/ Competent Authority Caerphilly County Borough Council 
Currency 2004 
Region/Geographic Coverage Caerphilly County Borough Council administrative boundaries 
Sector Waste 
Related work SA/SEA HRA/AA N/A 
Document Details Potential impacts that could cause ‘in-combination’ effects 
The Strategy describes the current waste situation within the 
authority, what targets and objectives the authority needs to 
achieve and how it proposes to achieve them. 
 
Strategic aims for the period 2004/05 to 2006/07 
 

1. Continually improve the services we provide in terms of 
efficiency, reliability and customer focus. 

2. Adhere to the waste hierarchy in our management of 
waste issues. 

3. Divert 25% BMW from landfill by 2010 and start to make 
preparations for the later Landfill Directive targets of 50% 
diversion by 2013 and 65% diversion by 2020. 

4. Recycle and compost a minimum of 15% MSW by 
2003/04, 25% by 2006/07 and 40% by 2009/10. 

5. Improve awareness raising programmes to reach a 
greater proportion of the population of Caerphilly County 
Borough. 

6. Increase participation rates in the kerbside recycling 
scheme and boost capture rates. 

7. Reduce the amount of waste that CCBC generates and 

Overarching Development Pressures 
 
Recycling 
Air Pollution/ Disturbance 

 Transport and energy emissions generated by collection, sorting and 
processing 

 Dust, noise and odour associated with industrial process 
Composting 
Air/ Water Pollution, Introduced/Invasive Species 

 Odour, litter, possible vermin generation 
 Release of spores [non-native], requirement for buffer zones (at least 250 

metres between composting operations and sensitive receptors)  
 Production of liquid pollutant 
 Potential for combustion 

Mechanical Biological Treatment (MBT) 
Air Pollution, Land Take, Hydrology 

 Emissions, traffic impacts, land take and wider environmental impacts 
analogous with industrial process 

 Processes produce residue 
Refuse Derived Fuel (energy from waste) 
Air Pollution 

P
age 2369



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              54/62       Enfusion  

Minerals & Waste 
Caerphilly County Borough Council Municipal Waste Management Strategy & Litter Plan 2004 

set up schemes for the recycling and composting of 
council waste. 

8. Make provision for the collection of special wastes at civic 
amenity sites. 

9. Work closely with partners in all sectors to attain 
sustainable waste management. 

10. Continue to consult and communicate with residents and 
other stakeholders on matters of service delivery. 

 

 Emission concerns, particulates and potentially dioxins 
Anaerobic Digestion (energy from Waste) 
Air/Water Pollution 

 Emissions to air – odour (during collection, transport and pre-treatment) 
 Wastewater – potential for high concentrations of metals, dissolved nitrogen 

and organic material 
Incineration with Energy Recovery 
Air/ Water Pollution 

 Noise, dust, traffic, visual amenity, potential to impact fauna and flora 
 Deposition of substances on surface water 
 Solid, liquid emissions  
 Gaseous emissions include odour, acid gas, heavy metals, particulates, 

organic compounds 
 Ash residues comprising fine particles, [need to landfill ash/ scrap] dioxins, 

heavy metals salts, unreacted lime and carbon 
 Contamination, accumulation of toxic substance (food chain)] 

Landfill & Landraise 
Air/ Water Pollution, Invasive Species, Land Take 

 Methane and carbon monoxide emissions 
 Leachate, salts, heavy metals, biodegradable and persistent organics 
 Accumulation of hazardous substances in soil 
 Topography alteration, visual intrusion 
 Soil occupancy, prevention of other land uses 
 Attraction of vermin 
 Contamination, accumulation of toxic substances 
 Potential exposure to hazardous substances 
 Impact on surface water runoff, flood risk 

 
SAC Specific Issues 
Specific potential in-combination impacts cannot be explored in absence of specific 
waste locations. 

 

P
age 2370



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              55/62       Enfusion  

Other Plans and Programmes 
 
Development Plan 
Brecon Beacons National Park Management Plan 2009-2014  
Plan Type National Park Management Plan 
Plan Owner/ Competent Authority Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 
Currency 2009 - 2014 
Region/Geographic Coverage Brecon Beacons National Park Authority administrative 

boundary 
Sector Planning 
Related work SA/SEA HRA/AA N/A 
Document Details Potential impacts that could cause ‘in-combination’ 

effects 
The Plan sets a vision for the future of the Park and specifies actions and outcomes to 
pursue in the next five years to bring the Park closer to this shared vision.  The Plan 
promotes coordinated implementation, monitoring, and evaluation of these activities 
collectively across a wide range of partners and stakeholders.  In essence, it creates a 
framework for Park management, guiding decision-making and developing priorities. 
 
Twenty-year Aims for Biodiversity 
 
4. Ensure that sustainable management of designated sites maintains habitats and 

species populations in favourable condition.  As examples of the best habitats and 
species within the National Park, it is critical to ensure designated sites (e.g., SSSIs, 
SACs, NNRs, etc.) are brought into, or remain, in favourable condition.  The 
designations provide the means to ensure that these sites are managed with special 
regard to biodiversity conservation.  However, these sites still need to be managed in a 
wider context, to be considered as the focal sites of developing functional ecosystems 
at a landscape scale.  Their sustainable management can be a catalyst to achieving 
better habitat condition in the surrounding land.  

 
Twenty-year Aims for Planning and Development  

Overarching Development Pressures 
 Housing and employment growth - direct land take and 

increased transport movements and associated air 
pollutants. 

 Water abstraction for expanding communities - potential 
to impact surface and groundwater. 

 Recreational pressures from housing/ development that is 
close to European sites. 

 
SAC Specific Issues 
 Specific potential in-combination impacts cannot be 

explored in absence of specific development locations.  
 

P
age 2371



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              56/62       Enfusion  

Development Plan 
Brecon Beacons National Park Management Plan 2009-2014  
 
1. Prepare an LDP which is responsive to drivers of change and enables 

development to meet identified needs.  The NPA will prepare an LDP which is 
resilient and responsive to drivers of change and which is proactive in mitigating the 
effects of climate change where possible.  

 
2. Provide a first class planning service.  In order to make its services first class, the 

NPA will strive to improve consistency of decision making, increase public engagement 
in, understanding of, and satisfaction with the NPA‘s planning service, and improve 
relationships with partner organisations.  

 
3. Ensure that there is sufficient land for market and affordable housing to meet the 

identified need.  The NPA is not a housing authority; this is the role of the unitary 
authorities.  Nonetheless the NPA works closely with the relevant Housing Authorities 
in the preparation of the Local Housing Market Assessments and Local Housing 
Strategies.  

 
4. Allocate sufficient land for the provision of a variety and mix of employment 

opportunities to encourage a better link between the provision of employment 
and housing.  The NPA and its partners will ensure the availability of land and 
investment in the Park is consistent with the special qualities of the area and avoids 
damage to important nature conservation sites and species.  

 
5. Maintain and encourage the vitality and viability of the Park’s communities and 

town centres.  From the standpoint of local communities, this means that the NPA and 
its partners should encourage development which contributes to the creation of 
sustainable places, promotes integrated communities, with opportunities for living, 
working and socialising for all, and enables development that encourages a healthy 
and safe lifestyle and promotes well being.  

 
6. Improve the physical quality, energy efficiency, accessibility and sustainable 

design and construction of all development throughout the park.  In keeping with 
the National Park‘s commitments to sustainability and the climate change agenda, the 

P
age 2372



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              57/62       Enfusion  

Development Plan 
Brecon Beacons National Park Management Plan 2009-2014  

NPA is producing up-to-date guidance on sustainable building design and materials in 
the National Park. This Sustainable Design Guide will become an exemplar in 
sustainable design.  

 
7. Minimise light and noise pollution.  Despite its proximity to urban centres such as 

Cardiff, Bristol, and Swansea, the Park boasts a dark night sky year round where, on 
clear nights, a plethora of stars can be seen.  Similarly, its low population density and 
lack of major motorways limit light and noise pollution.  These factors contribute 
significantly to the sense of tranquillity and remoteness so often cited as a key special 
quality of the Brecon Beacons National Park.  The NPA and its partners will seek to 
maintain and enhance these attributes.  

 
Twenty-year Aims for Transport  
 
1. Reduce the need for travel by controlling the location and design of 

development. The NPA works closely with highway authorities in the  production of 
integrated transport and land-use strategies and will be considering these factors as 
part of the development of the Park‘s forthcoming Local Plan.  

 
2. Provide an integrated transport system that encourages healthy and active 

lifestyles, and supports local communities.  The need to travel should be reduced, 
and the attractiveness of public transport increased, without adversely affecting the 
overall quality of people's lives.  Better links between public transport, recreational 
travel, and access to the countryside would benefit tourists and residents alike.  

 
3. Maintain and develop Beacons Bus as key delivery mechanism for visitor 

transport.  The project should continue to grow in time and space with the aim of 
covering as much of the summer season as possible and increasing routes to meet 
demand.  

 
4. Encourage and support use of the weekday service network.  Achievable only by 

partnership working, this process needs to ensure that best use is made of existing 
services by ensuring that journeys are made easier for visitors with high quality 

P
age 2373



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              58/62       Enfusion  

Development Plan 
Brecon Beacons National Park Management Plan 2009-2014  

marketing, information, and service provision including excellent customer care from 
transport operators.  

 
5. Encourage the development of new services aimed at the visitor market.  

Partnership working to develop and market services with the needs of visitors in mind 
to provide transport to those attractions and outdoor activity locations that would 
especially benefit.  

 
6. Facilitate sustainable long distance transport to the National Park.  The key to this 

process is integration with a need for rail/coach/bus interchanges to work efficiently for 
visitors.  

 
7. Work with Transport Generators on Green Travel Plans.  Public and private sector 

attractions, festivals, tourism businesses, and other organisations can minimise their 
impacts through the adoption of Green Travel Plans.  

 
8. Support working practices and behaviour change initiatives that reduce the 

Park’s greenhouse gas emissions and reduce people’s dependency on fossil 
fuels for transport.   

 
9. Develop Sustainable Travel Marketing.  Whatever mechanisms are adopted, it is 

essential that they are attractively and consistently marketed to the visiting public.  
 
Twenty-year Aims for Waste Management  
 
1. Promote the waste hierarchy of reduce, reuse, and recycle across all sectors of the 

National Park.  The NPA and its partners should seek to minimize the production of 
waste and seek to contribute to sustainable waste solutions.  

 
 
 
 

P
age 2374



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              59/62       Enfusion  

Cardiff International Airport Master Plan 2006  
Plan Type Masterplan 
Plan Owner/ Competent Authority Cardiff International Airport 
Currency 2006 
Region/Geographic Coverage administrative boundary 
Sector Planning 
Related work SA/SEA HRA/AA N/A 
Document Details Potential impacts that could cause ‘in-combination’ effects 
Runway 
It is not envisaged that any runway extension is required to meet the 
traffic forecasts; a taxiway extension would satisfy this increased 
traffic.  The taxiway extension would provide a parallel route running 
right to the end of the runway pavement. 
 
Terminal, Aprons, Car Parks and Access Roads 
It is likely that, in addition to a reorganisation of the existing stand 
layout, additional stands and parking areas will be required within this 
time frame. 
 
There is no requirement for a new terminal at any time in the planned 
period.  It is anticipated that all the growth forecast can be 
accommodated by modest extensions and re-organisations of the 
existing terminal building.  The floor space of the Terminal totals at 
approximately 47,800 sq m. in 2030.  Based on 6000 sq m per million 
passengers, which is an accepted standard, this would provide for 
projected passenger numbers of 7.9million for 2030. 
 
Car parking will be accommodated by structural car parking on the 
existing car parking sites.  This will minimise land take but may lead 
to a slight increase in visual intrusion. 
 
Highways Access 
 

Overarching Development Pressures 
 Increased air traffic - increased levels of disturbance (noise), emissions and 

recreational pressure.  
 Improvements to highways access - increase in recreational pressure as a 

result of improved access.   
 
SAC Specific Issues 
 
 A greater number of planes and improved highways access has the potential to 

increase the levels of recreational pressure at Cardiff Beech Woods SAC and 
the Severn Estuary SPA/ Ramsar/ SAC.   

 Severn Estuary SPA/ Ramsar/ SAC - overwintering birds can be disturbed by 
sudden movements and noises that can result in reduced food intake and/or 
increased energy expenditure. 

 Cardiff Beech Woods SAC - All component SSSIs are used to a greater or 
lesser extent for recreation purposes. Castell Coch Woodlands and 
Fforestganol a Chwm Nofydd experience the most recreation pressure, and are 
popular for walking, climbing and mountain biking. The Taff train runs through 
part of the Castell Coch Woodlands site and the historic building of Castell 
Coch attracts many visitors, which increases the access pressure on the 
woodlands. The road section is becoming increasingly popular for climbing, and 
this is unlikely to be a problem for the geological interest of the site.  However, 
climbing could be potentially damaging to trees at the top of the crag. 

 
 

P
age 2375



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              60/62       Enfusion  

 
Cardiff International Airport Master Plan 2006  
Short-term 
It was proposed in the Culverhouse Cross Study to implement a 
range of public transport and highway improvements, including the 
'trunking' of the existing A48 between Culverhouse Cross and 
Bonvilston and the A4226 (Five Mile Lane) to the airport.  Following 
the trunking of the route, highway improvements to the existing route 
were proposed, largely to improve safety. 
 
Medium Term 
In the Culverhouse Cross Study it is proposed to improve the A48/ 
Five Mile Lane route from the Culverhouse Cross junction to the 
airport, providing an alternative route to the current signed route via 
Wenvoe and north Barry.  This would involve the following proposals: 
 Junction capacity enhancement, (junction at south end A4226 

Five Mile Lane / Waycock Road with A4050 in north Barry at 
Green Farm); 

 Safety enhancements on Five Mile Lane / Waycock Road; 
 Junction capacity and safety enhancements at the Five Mile Lane 

junction with A48 (Sycamore Cross). 
 
Longer Term 
In the longer-term, further improvements of this route to allow airport 
traffic to avoid Culverhouse Cross were to be considered.  The 
preferred option involved a new link to the airport from the M4 at 
Junction 34 to the A48 at Sycamore Cross. In conjunction with the 
new highway link, it would be possible to provide a strategic park and 
ride/modal interchange at Junction 34 of the M4. 
 
These longer-term proposals are referred to in Phase 3 of the Trunk 
Road Forward Programme of the Welsh Assembly Government, 
which indicates a commencement of work after March 2010. 
 
Future Opportunities for Rail 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

P
age 2376



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              61/62       Enfusion  

 
Cardiff International Airport Master Plan 2006  
A number of options for introducing enhanced services to Rhoose 
Cardiff International Airport station have been considered. The 
options generally revolve around the basic principle of two all-station 
Valley Lines services per hour on the Vale of Glamorgan line and at 
least one interurban service from Bristol. 
 

P
age 2377



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                              62/62       Enfusion  

 

P
age 2378



 
Strategic Planning 

Cardiff Council
County Hall 

Atlantic Wharf
Cardiff

CF10 4UW

P
age 2379



Cardiff Local Development Plan
2006 - 2026

Habitat Regulations Assessment Report:
Appendix 10 -  Test of Likely Significant Effect
September 2013

P
age 2380



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               1/53       Enfusion 

 

Appendix 10 - TEST OF LIKELY SIGNIFICANT EFFECT SCREENING TABLE 
 
Where it has been identified in Appendix 8 that a screened-in policy has the potential to interact with a feature of a European site, via one or more of the factors to which that feature is sensitive, 
then that Policy is further assessed here to determine whether it is likely to have a significant effect upon that site. 
 
 

Aberbargoed Grasslands SAC 

Policies with Potential Effects (From Appendix 8) Potential 
effects Test of Likely Significant Effect (LSE) 

Likely 
Significant 

Effect? 
 
KP11: MINERALS AND AGGREGATES 
M1: MINERAL LIMESTONE RESERVES AND 
RESOURCES 
M3: QUARRY CLOSURES AND EXTENSION LIMITS 
M5: RESTORATION AND AFTER USE OF MINERAL 
WORKINGS 
 

 
Aggregates 
removal leading 
to aerial pollution 
 

 
Quarrying and associated activities are likely to generate dust, and whilst these activities in Cardiff will take place about 
14 Km from the Aberbargoed Grasslands SAC, there is the potential for these dusts to be transported by wind to that 
site.  However,   the dispersal of dust particles is affected by the size of the particles emitted, and wind speed as well as 
their shape and density. Large dust particles (greater than 30µm), which make up the greatest proportion of dust 
emitted from mineral workings, will largely deposit within 100m of sources. Intermediate-sized particles (10–30µm) are 
likely to travel up to 200–500m.  Smaller particles (less than 10 µm) which make up a small proportion of the dust 
emitted from most mineral workings are only deposited slowly but may travel 1000m or more”.  (Office of the Deputy 
Prime Minister: Minerals Policy Statement 2: Controlling and Mitigating the Environmental Effects of Minerals Extraction 
in England. Annex 1: Dust (March 2005): 
http://www.communities.gov.uk/documents/planningandbuilding/pdf/mps2annex1.pdf).  
 
Therefore it is highly likely that these particulates will have dropped out of the atmosphere before reaching the 
Aberbargoed Grasslands SAC. 
 
Furthermore, according to the National Atmospheric Emissions Inventory, overall emissions of particulates have fallen 
by 58% since 1990.  If this downward trend continues, the total deposition of particulates at this site will gradually 
decrease, thereby reducing any impact upon the site’s features. 
http://naei.defra.gov.uk/overview/pollutants?pollutant_id=24 
 
Implementation of policies aimed at minimising air pollution and managing air quality (KP18: Natural Resources; EN13: 
Air, Noise, Light Pollution and Contaminated Land) would counteract any increase in atmospheric pollution resulting 
from this policy.  Policies relating to mineral extraction accord with Minerals Planning Policy Wales, which contains 
strong policies in regard to the protection of European Sites. 
 
All of the mineral extraction sites in Cardiff benefit from existing consents, and these consents were subject to a Review 
of Consents process in 2010/11.  The conclusions of this review were that none of the extant consents were likely to 
have a significant effect upon any European Sites provided that planning conditions aimed at mitigating any effects of 
aerial pollution, are implemented.  If these planning conditions continue to be implemented, and similarly-worded 
conditions are attached to any new minerals consents issued, then this absence of any significant effect will continue. 
 
In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
Minerals Planning Policy Wales 2001 does not specify any locations, therefore the risk of ‘in combination’ effects with 
this policy cannot be assessed.  Furthermore, the document contains strong policies in relation to the protection of 
European sites. 
 
 

 
No 

P
age 2381



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               2/53       Enfusion 

 

 
KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH  
KP2: STRATEGIC SITES  
KP6: NEW INFRASTRUCTURE 
KP9: RESPONDING TO EVIDENCED ECONOMIC 
NEEDS (Employment) 
KP10: CENTRAL AND BAY BUSINESS AREAS 
KP11: MINERALS AND AGGREGATES 
KP12: WASTE 
H1: NON STRATEGIC HOUSING SITES 
H7: ALLOCATION POLICY FOR GYPSY AND 
TRAVELLER SITE(S) 
H8: SITES FOR GYPSY AND TRAVELLER CARAVANS 
EC1: EXISTING EMPLOYMENT LAND 
EC5: HOTEL DEVELOPMENT 
T7: STRATEGIC TRANSPORTATION 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
R1: RETAIL PROVISION WITHIN STRATEGIC SITES 
C1: COMMUNITY FACILITIES 
C8: PLANNING FOR SCHOOLS. 
C9: NEW EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES 
C10: HEALTH EMPLOYMENT NON STRATEGIC 
ALLOCATION 
M1: MINERAL LIMESTONE RESERVES AND 
RESOURCES 
M3: QUARRY CLOSURES AND EXTENSION LIMITS 
M5: RESTORATION AND AFTER USE OF MINERAL 
WORKINGS 
W1: LAND FOR WASTE MANAGEMENT 
W2: SITES FOR WASTE MANAGEMENT FACILITIES 
W3: PROVISION FOR WASTE MANAGEMENT 
FACILITIES IN DEVELOPMENT 
 

 
Increased traffic 
movements 
leading to aerial 
pollution 
 

 
The habitat features of this site are sensitive to acidification and deposition of nitrogen, and the source of these 
pollutants is predominantly road traffic. However, the effects of road traffic pollution are likely to be restricted to within 
approximately 200m of the road concerned, and the Aberbargoed Grasslands SAC is about 14Km from Cardiff.  
 
Furthermore, the Deposit LDP contains policies intended to reduce dependency on car travel, facilitate and increase 
use of sustainable and active modes of transport (Policies KP8, T1, T2, T3, T5), mitigate the effects of climate change 
(Policies KP15 and EN12), and promote the sustainable use of natural resources (Policies KP18, EN10 and EN11).  In 
the long-term these measures will mitigate or off-set any increase in atmospheric pollution as a result of the LDP and 
should lead to gradual improvements in air quality. 
 
Finally, levels of NO2 across Wales are recorded as decreasing, and recorded areas of NO2 pollution concern in Cardiff 
are in the City Centre rather than near this SAC. 
 
In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
Although there are local environmental factors which may affect this site, the distance of this site from Cardiff and the 
overall improving air quality in the area make it unlikely that this policy will have a significant effect in-combination with 
these factors upon this site. 
 
The Wales Spatial Plan (Update) 2008 and promotes developments in the region, however none of the three Strategic 
Opportunity Areas within that document entails land-take at this site, and any increase in aerial pollution due to traffic 
movement is likely to be counteracted by other regional strategies such as the Wales Transport Strategy 2008, the 
SEWTA Regional Transport Plan Consultative Draft 2008 and the SEWTA Rail Strategy Study 2006, which promote 
sustainability of transport, reduction of aerial emissions and modal shift towards more sustainable forms of transport 
such as public transport and cycling  
 
The HRA Report of the Caerphilly Deposit LDP (July 2008)  states that “impacts predicted to arise from the 
implementation of the plan when considered in-combination with the potential impacts from other surrounding plans and 
projects, would not significantly affect the integrity of the SAC”.  Equally, the policies as left would not be likely to have a 
significant effect upon this site in-combination with policies within the Caerphilly Deposit LDP. 
 

 
No 

 
KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH  
KP2: STRATEGIC SITES  
KP6: NEW INFRASTRUCTURE 
KP9: RESPONDING TO EVIDENCED ECONOMIC 
NEEDS (Employment) 
KP10: CENTRAL AND BAY BUSINESS AREAS 
KP11: MINERALS AND AGGREGATES 
KP12: WASTE 
H1: NON STRATEGIC HOUSING SITES 
H7: ALLOCATION POLICY FOR GYPSY AND 
TRAVELLER SITE(S) 
EC1: EXISTING EMPLOYMENT LAND 
EC5: HOTEL DEVELOPMENT 
T7: STRATEGIC TRANSPORTATION 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
R1: RETAIL PROVISION WITHIN STRATEGIC SITES 
C1: COMMUNITY FACILITIES 
C8: PLANNING FOR SCHOOLS. 

 
Dust, noise, 
vibration, 
movement and 
odour associated 
with industrial and 
construction 
processes 
leading to aerial 
pollution 
 

 
These policies have the potential to contribute to aerial pollution, via transport and minerals extraction, but as above, 
these effects are likely to be local to the source of the emissions, and would not significantly affect this site.  Similarly, 
effects such as noise, vibration, movement and odour are likely to be localised and will not affect this site which is 14 
Km from Cardiff. 
 
Policies aimed at reducing aerial pollution, such as KP5 wherein; ’(viii) Uses innovative approaches to achieve a 
resource efficient and climate responsive design that provides sustainable water and waste management solutions and 
minimise emissions from transport, homes and industry’., and EN13 wherein ‘Development will not be permitted where 
it would cause or result in unacceptable harm to health, local amenity, the character and quality of the countryside, or 
interests of nature conservation, landscape or built heritage importance because of air, noise, light pollution or the 
presence of unacceptable levels of land contamination.’, will serve to offset any increase in aerial emissions arising 
from light industry, domestic heating systems, construction and other sources.  Furthermore, there is a gradual 
reduction in UK-wide levels of pollutants such as Ammonia, NOx, SOx and particulates, which would serve to offset any 
residual local increase in these pollutants arising from these policies. 
 
In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
Although there are local environmental factors which may affect this site, the distance of this site from Cardiff and the 

 
No 

P
age 2382



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               3/53       Enfusion 

 

C9: NEW EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES 
C10: HEALTH EMPLOYMENT NON STRATEGIC 
ALLOCATION 
M1: MINERAL LIMESTONE RESERVES AND 
RESOURCES 
M3: QUARRY CLOSURES AND EXTENSION LIMITS 
M5: RESTORATION AND AFTER USE OF MINERAL 
WORKINGS 
W1: LAND FOR WASTE MANAGEMENT 
W2: SITES FOR WASTE MANAGEMENT FACILITIES 
W3: PROVISION FOR WASTE MANAGEMENT 
FACILITIES IN DEVELOPMENT 
 

overall improving air quality in the area make it unlikely that this policy will have a significant effect in-combination with 
these factors upon this site. 
 
 

 P
age 2383



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               4/53       Enfusion 

 

 

Blackmill Woodlands SAC 

Strategic Policies, Outcomes, Objectives and 
Options 

Potential 
effects Test of Likely Significant Effect (LSE) 

Likely 
Significant 

Effect? 
 
KP11: MINERALS AND AGGREGATES 
M1: MINERAL LIMESTONE RESERVES AND 
RESOURCES 
M3: QUARRY CLOSURES AND EXTENSION LIMITS 
M5: RESTORATION AND AFTER USE OF MINERAL 
WORKINGS 
 

 
Aggregates 
removal leading 
to aerial pollution 
 

 
Quarrying and associated activities are likely to generate dust, and whilst these activities in Cardiff will take place about 
14 Km from the Blackmill Woodlands SAC, there is the potential for these dusts to be transported by wind to that site.  
However,   the dispersal of dust particles is affected by the size of the particles emitted, and wind speed as well as their 
shape and density. Large dust particles (greater than 30µm), which make up the greatest proportion of dust emitted 
from mineral workings, will largely deposit within 100m of sources. Intermediate-sized particles (10–30µm) are likely to 
travel up to 200–500m.  Smaller particles (less than 10 µm) which make up a small proportion of the dust emitted from 
most mineral workings are only deposited slowly but may travel 1000m or more”.  (Office of the Deputy Prime Minister: 
Minerals Policy Statement 2: Controlling and Mitigating the Environmental Effects of Minerals Extraction in England. 
Annex 1: Dust (March 2005): 
http://www.communities.gov.uk/documents/planningandbuilding/pdf/mps2annex1.pdf).  
 
Therefore it is highly likely that these particulates will have dropped out of the atmosphere before reaching the Blackmill 
Woodlands SAC. 
 
Furthermore, according to the National Atmospheric Emissions Inventory, overall emissions of particulates have fallen 
by 58% since 1990.  If this downward trend continues, the total deposition of particulates at this site will gradually 
decrease, thereby reducing any impact upon the site’s features. 
http://naei.defra.gov.uk/overview/pollutants?pollutant_id=24 
 
Implementation of policies aimed at minimising air pollution and managing air quality (KP18: Natural Resources; EN13: 
Air, Noise, Light Pollution and Contaminated Land) would counteract any increase in atmospheric pollution resulting 
from this policy.  Policies relating to mineral extraction accord with Minerals Planning Policy Wales, which contains 
strong policies in regard to the protection of European Sites. 
 
All of the mineral extraction sites in Cardiff benefit from existing consents, and these consents were subject to a Review 
of Consents process in 2010/11.  The conclusions of this review were that none of the extant consents were likely to 
have a significant effect upon any European Sites provided that planning conditions aimed at mitigating any effects of 
aerial pollution, are implemented.  If these planning conditions continue to be implemented, and similarly-worded 
conditions are attached to any new minerals consents issued, then this absence of any significant effect will continue. 
 
In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
Minerals Planning Policy Wales 2001 does not specify any locations, therefore the risk of ‘in combination’ effects with 
this policy cannot be assessed.  Furthermore, the document contains strong policies in relation to the protection of 
European sites. 

 
No 

P
age 2384



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               5/53       Enfusion 

 

 
KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH  
KP2: STRATEGIC SITES  
KP6: NEW INFRASTRUCTURE 
KP9: RESPONDING TO EVIDENCED ECONOMIC 
NEEDS (Employment) 
KP10: CENTRAL AND BAY BUSINESS AREAS 
KP11: MINERALS AND AGGREGATES 
KP12: WASTE 
H1: NON STRATEGIC HOUSING SITES 
H7: ALLOCATION POLICY FOR GYPSY AND 
TRAVELLER SITE(S) 
EC1: EXISTING EMPLOYMENT LAND 
EC5: HOTEL DEVELOPMENT 
T7: STRATEGIC TRANSPORTATION 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
R1: RETAIL PROVISION WITHIN STRATEGIC SITES 
C1: COMMUNITY FACILITIES 
C8: PLANNING FOR SCHOOLS. 
C9: NEW EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES 
C10: HEALTH EMPLOYMENT NON STRATEGIC 
ALLOCATION 
M1: MINERAL LIMESTONE RESERVES AND 
RESOURCES 
M3: QUARRY CLOSURES AND EXTENSION LIMITS 
M5: RESTORATION AND AFTER USE OF MINERAL 
WORKINGS 
W1: LAND FOR WASTE MANAGEMENT 
W2: SITES FOR WASTE MANAGEMENT FACILITIES 
W3: PROVISION FOR WASTE MANAGEMENT 
FACILITIES IN DEVELOPMENT 
 

 
Dust, noise, 
vibration, 
movement and 
odour associated 
with industrial and 
construction 
processes 
leading to aerial 
pollution 
 

 
The habitat features of this site are sensitive to acidification and deposition of nitrogen, and the source of these 
pollutants is predominantly road traffic. However, the effects of road traffic pollution are likely to be restricted to within 
approximately 200m of the road concerned, and the Blackmill Woodlands SAC is about 14Km from Cardiff.  
 
Furthermore, the Deposit LDP contains policies intended to reduce dependency on car travel, facilitate and increase 
use of sustainable and active modes of transport (Policies KP8, T1, T2, T3, T5), mitigate the effects of climate change 
(Policies KP15 and EN12), and promote the sustainable use of natural resources (Policies KP18, EN10 and EN11).  In 
the long-term these measures will mitigate or off-set any increase in atmospheric pollution as a result of the LDP and 
should lead to gradual improvements in air quality. 
 
Finally, levels of NO2 across Wales are recorded as decreasing, and recorded areas of NO2 pollution concern in Cardiff 
are in the City Centre rather than near this SAC. 
 
In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
Although there are local environmental factors which may affect this site, the distance of this site from Cardiff and the 
overall improving air quality in the area make it unlikely that this policy will have a significant effect in-combination with 
these factors upon this site. 
 

 
No 

 
KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH  
KP2: STRATEGIC SITES  
KP6: NEW INFRASTRUCTURE 
KP9: RESPONDING TO EVIDENCED ECONOMIC 
NEEDS (Employment) 
KP10: CENTRAL AND BAY BUSINESS AREAS 
KP11: MINERALS AND AGGREGATES 
KP12: WASTE 
H1: NON STRATEGIC HOUSING SITES 
H7: ALLOCATION POLICY FOR GYPSY AND 
TRAVELLER SITE(S) 
H8: SITES FOR GYPSY AND TRAVELLER CARAVANS 
EC1: EXISTING EMPLOYMENT LAND 
EC5: HOTEL DEVELOPMENT 
T7: STRATEGIC TRANSPORTATION 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
R1: RETAIL PROVISION WITHIN STRATEGIC SITES 
C1: COMMUNITY FACILITIES 
C8: PLANNING FOR SCHOOLS. 

 
Increased traffic 
movements 
leading to aerial 
pollution 
 

 
These policies have the potential to contribute to aerial pollution, via transport and minerals extraction, but as above, 
these effects are likely to be local to the source of the emissions, and would not significantly affect this site.  Similarly, 
effects such as noise, vibration, movement and odour are likely to be localised and will not affect this site which is 14 
Km from Cardiff. 
 
Policies aimed at reducing aerial pollution, such as KP5 wherein; ’(viii) Uses innovative approaches to achieve a 
resource efficient and climate responsive design that provides sustainable water and waste management solutions and 
minimise emissions from transport, homes and industry’., and EN13 wherein ‘Development will not be permitted where 
it would cause or result in unacceptable harm to health, local amenity, the character and quality of the countryside, or 
interests of nature conservation, landscape or built heritage importance because of air, noise, light pollution or the 
presence of unacceptable levels of land contamination.’, will serve to offset any increase in aerial emissions arising 
from light industry, domestic heating systems, construction and other sources.  Furthermore, there is a gradual 
reduction in UK-wide levels of pollutants such as Ammonia, NOx, SOx and particulates, which would serve to offset any 
residual local increase in these pollutants arising from these policies. 
 
In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
Although there are local environmental factors which may affect this site, the distance of this site from Cardiff and the 
overall improving air quality in the area make it unlikely that this policy will have a significant effect in-combination with 

 
No 

P
age 2385



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               6/53       Enfusion 

 

C9: NEW EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES 
C10: HEALTH EMPLOYMENT NON STRATEGIC 
ALLOCATION 
M1: MINERAL LIMESTONE RESERVES AND 
RESOURCES 
M3: QUARRY CLOSURES AND EXTENSION LIMITS 
M5: RESTORATION AND AFTER USE OF MINERAL 
WORKINGS 
W1: LAND FOR WASTE MANAGEMENT 
W2: SITES FOR WASTE MANAGEMENT FACILITIES 
W3: PROVISION FOR WASTE MANAGEMENT 
FACILITIES IN DEVELOPMENT 
 

these factors upon this site. 
 
The Wales Spatial Plan (Update) 2008 and promotes developments in the region, however none of the three Strategic 
Opportunity Areas within that document entails land-take at this site, and any increase in aerial pollution due to traffic 
movement is likely to be counteracted by other regional strategies such as the Wales Transport Strategy 2008, the 
SEWTA Regional Transport Plan Consultative Draft 2008 and the SEWTA Rail Strategy Study 2006, which promote 
sustainability of transport, reduction of aerial emissions and modal shift towards more sustainable forms of transport 
such as public transport and cycling  
 
The HRA of the Bridgend Deposit LDP identifies reducing air quality as a factor that could adversely affect the features 
of this site.  However, the HRA points out that there are policies elsewhere in the Bridgend Deposit LDP, which, 
together with regional policies identified above, will counteract any decrease in air quality arising from policies which 
prescribe development.  Furthermore, decreases in air quality are attributed to increases in traffic movements, but 
these effects are likely to be restricted to within approximately 200m of the road concerned, because the principal 
pollutants arising from traffic tend to drop out of the atmosphere within this range.  Therefore, due to the distance 
between Cardiff and this SAC, any cumulative effect between increased traffic in Cardiff and increased traffic along the 
road through this SAC is unlikely to be significant. 

 

P
age 2386



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               7/53       Enfusion 

 

 

Cardiff Beech Woods SAC 

Policies Potential 
effects Test of Likely Significant Effect (LSE) 

Likely 
Significant 

Effect? 

P
age 2387



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               8/53       Enfusion 

 

Cardiff Beech Woods SAC 

Policies Potential 
effects Test of Likely Significant Effect (LSE) 

Likely 
Significant 

Effect? 
 
KP11: MINERALS AND 
AGGREGATES  
M1: MINERAL LIMESTONE 
RESERVES AND RESOURCES 
M3: QUARRY CLOSURES 
M5: RESTORATION 
M6: DREDGED AGGREGATE 
LANDING 
 

 
Aggregates 
removal leading 
to aerial pollution 
and changes to 
local hydrology 
 

 
All of the mineral extraction sites in Cardiff are immediately adjacent to, or very close to, the Cardiff Beech Woods SAC.  There is 
therefore the potential for mineral extraction activities to cause deposition of dust and other pollutants on this site, or to affect the 
hydrology of the site, both of which could have impacts on the ground flora and the trees themselves.  
 

 Quarrying and associated activities are likely to generate particulate aerial pollution in the form of dust, so there is the potential for 
these dusts to be transported by wind to the Cardiff Beech Woods SAC.  However,   the dispersal of dust particles is affected by 
the size of the particles emitted, and wind speed as well as their shape and density. Large dust particles (greater than 30µm), 
which make up the greatest proportion of dust emitted from mineral workings, will largely deposit within 100m of sources. 
Intermediate-sized particles (10–30µm) are likely to travel up to 200–500m.  Smaller particles (less than 10 µm) which make up a 
small proportion of the dust emitted from most mineral workings are only deposited slowly but may travel 1000m or more”.  (Office 
of the Deputy Prime Minister: Minerals Policy Statement 2: Controlling and Mitigating the Environmental Effects of Minerals 
Extraction in England. Annex 1: Dust (March 2005): 
http://www.communities.gov.uk/documents/planningandbuilding/pdf/mps2annex1.pdf). Therefore it is highly likely that the majority 
of these particulates will have dropped out of the atmosphere close to their source, thereby limiting the extent of the Cardiff Beech 
Woods SAC that could potentially be affected by these emissions. 

 
 All of the mineral extraction sites in Cardiff benefit from existing consents, and these consents were subject to a Review of 

Consents process in 2010/11.  The conclusions of this review were that none of the extant consents were likely to have a 
significant effect upon any European Sites provided that planning conditions aimed at mitigating any effects of aerial pollution, are 
implemented.  If these planning conditions continue to be implemented, and similarly-worded conditions are attached to any new 
minerals consents issued, then this absence of any significant effect will continue. 

 
 Furthermore, according to the National Atmospheric Emissions Inventory, overall emissions of particulates have fallen by 58% 

since 1990.  If this downward trend continues, the total deposition of particulates at this site will gradually decrease, thereby 
offsetting any increase in deposition of particulates arising from these policies. 
http://naei.defra.gov.uk/overview/pollutants?pollutant_id=24 

 
 Implementation of policies aimed at minimising air pollution and managing air quality (KP18: Natural Resources; EN13: Air, Noise, 

Light Pollution and Contaminated Land) would also serve to counteract any increase in atmospheric pollution resulting from this 
policy.   

 
 Policies relating to mineral extraction accord with Minerals Planning Policy Wales, which contains strong policies in regard to the 

protection of European Sites. 
 

 There is no evidence to date that atmospheric pollution arising from mineral extraction has had an adverse impact on the features 
of the Cardiff Beech Woods SAC, but this may need to be addressed in more detail in the future.   

 
 The location of the woodland on the top or side of raised ground means that, with the exception of Castell Coch Woodlands and 

Road Section, there are unlikely to be any issues arising from changes in hydrology.  However, according to the Sites Issues 
Briefing for this site, this will be kept under review especially with respect to quarrying. 

 
 All new minerals consents within the lifetime of this LDP will be subject to Habitats Regulations Assessment.  These consents will 

only be considered to conform to the LDP if it can be demonstrated that they will not have an adverse effect on the integrity of the 

 
No 

P
age 2388



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               9/53       Enfusion 

 

Cardiff Beech Woods SAC 

Policies Potential 
effects Test of Likely Significant Effect (LSE) 

Likely 
Significant 

Effect? 
Cardiff Beech Woods SAC. 

 
In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
Minerals Planning Policy Wales 2001 does not specify any locations, therefore the risk of ‘in combination’ effects with this policy cannot be 
assessed.  Furthermore, the document contains strong policies in relation to the protection of European sites. 
. 
The site is adjacent to the county boundaries with Caerphilly (CCBC) and Rhondda Cynon Taff (RCTCBC), but the HRA’s of their 
respective LDPs have not indicated that mineral and aggregate extraction within their boundaries is likely to act in-combination with 
equivalent policies in Cardiff’s previous draft LDP which did not progress, nor the Cardiff LDP Preferred Strategy from October 2012 
 
Apart from the Blaengwynlais quarry, which is mostly within Cardiff but which does extend into Caerphilly, there are no other mineral or 
aggregate extraction sites within RCT or Caerphilly which are close to the Cardiff Beech Woods and therefore capable of acting in 
combination with Cardiff’s Deposit LDP.  The impacts of the Caerphilly section of Blaengwynlais Quarry can be said to be the same as the 
Cardiff section of that quarry, which has been dealt with alongside all other minerals and aggregate sites, above. 
 
 

 
KP11: MINERALS AND 
AGGREGATES 
KP12: WASTE 
M1: MINERAL LIMESTONE 
RESERVES AND RESOURCES 
M3: QUARRY CLOSURES AND 
EXTENSION LIMITS 
M5: RESTORATION AND AFTER 
USE OF MINERAL WORKINGS 
W1: LAND FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT 
W2: SITES FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT FACILITIES 
W3: PROVISION FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT FACILITIES IN 
DEVELOPMENT 
 

 
Contamination, 
accumulation of 
toxic substances 
 

 
The location of the woodland on the top or side of raised ground means that, with the exception of Castell Coch Woodlands and Road 
Section, there are unlikely to be any issues arising from contamination.  According to the Sites Issues Briefing for this site, this will be kept 
under review especially with respect to quarrying. 
 
Sites proposed for waste management are not close to or in direct hydrological continuity with, this SAC, and so are unlikely to have a 
significant effect upon it. 
 
In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
The potential effect as left could arise from policies relating to mineral and aggregate extraction, and from the treatment of waste, but as 
above, deposit LDP’s of neighbouring authorities do not prescribe these activities close to Cardiff Beech Woods SAC, or within 
hydrological continuity with it 
 
Minerals Planning Policy Wales 2001 does not specify any locations, therefore the risk of ‘in combination’ effects with this policy cannot be 
assessed.  Furthermore, the document contains strong policies in relation to the protection of European sites. 
. 
The site is adjacent to the county boundaries with Caerphilly (CCBC) and Rhondda Cynon Taff (RCTCBC), but the HRA’s of their 
respective LDPs have not indicated that mineral and aggregate extraction within their boundaries is likely to act in-combination with 
equivalent policies in Cardiff’s previous draft LDP which did not progress, nor the Cardiff LDP Preferred Strategy from October 2012 
 
Apart from the Blaengwynlais quarry, which is mostly within Cardiff but which does extend into Caerphilly, there are no other mineral or 
aggregate extraction sites within RCT or Caerphilly which are close to the Cardiff Beech Woods and therefore capable of acting in 
combination with Cardiff’s Deposit LDP.  The impacts of the Caerphilly section of Blaengwynlais Quarry can be said to be the same as the 
Cardiff section of that quarry, which has been dealt with alongside all other minerals and aggregate sites, above. 
 

 
No 

    

P
age 2389



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               10/53       Enfusion 

 

Cardiff Beech Woods SAC 

Policies Potential 
effects Test of Likely Significant Effect (LSE) 

Likely 
Significant 

Effect? 
 
KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH  
KP2: STRATEGIC SITES  
KP6: NEW INFRASTRUCTURE 
KP9: RESPONDING TO 
EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS 
(Employment) 
KP10: CENTRAL AND BAY 
BUSINESS AREAS 
KP11: MINERALS AND 
AGGREGATES 
KP12: WASTE 
H1: NON STRATEGIC HOUSING 
SITES 
H7: ALLOCATION POLICY FOR 
GYPSY AND TRAVELLER SITE(S) 
EC1: EXISTING EMPLOYMENT 
LAND 
EC5: HOTEL DEVELOPMENT 
T7: STRATEGIC 
TRANSPORTATION 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
R1: RETAIL PROVISION WITHIN 
STRATEGIC SITES 
C1: COMMUNITY FACILITIES 
C8: PLANNING FOR SCHOOLS 
C9: NEW EDUCATIONAL 
FACILITIES 
C10: HEALTH EMPLOYMENT NON 
STRATEGIC ALLOCATION 
M1: MINERAL LIMESTONE 
RESERVES AND RESOURCES 
M3: QUARRY CLOSURES AND 
EXTENSION LIMITS 
M5: RESTORATION AND AFTER 
USE OF MINERAL WORKINGS 
M6: DREDGED AGGREGATE 
LANDING  
W1: LAND FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT 
W2: SITES FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT FACILITIES 
W3: PROVISION FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT FACILITIES IN 

 
Dust, noise, 
vibration, 
movement and 
odour associated 
with industrial and 
construction 
processes 
leading to aerial 
pollution 
 

 
These policies have the potential to contribute to aerial pollution, via transport and minerals extraction, but as above, these effects are 
likely to be localised, and offset by UK-wide reduction in aerial pollutants, and would not significantly affect this site.  Effects such as noise, 
vibration, movement and odour are not likely to affect the woodland features of this site. 
 
Policies aimed at reducing aerial pollution, such as KP5 wherein; ’(viii) Uses innovative approaches to achieve a resource efficient and 
climate responsive design that provides sustainable water and waste management solutions and minimise emissions from transport, 
homes and industry’., and EN13 wherein ‘Development will not be permitted where it would cause or result in unacceptable harm to 
health, local amenity, the character and quality of the countryside, or interests of nature conservation, landscape or built heritage 
importance because of air, noise, light pollution or the presence of unacceptable levels of land contamination.’, will serve to offset any 
increase in aerial emissions arising from light industry, domestic heating systems, construction and other sources.   
 
In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
These potential effects are likely to be localised in nature, and there are no other plans, projects and programmes which would direct 
activities to this area, other than deposit LDPs of neighbouring authorities.  Neither of these authorities have identified the potential effects 
as left as being relevant to the Cardiff Beech Woods SAC.  

 
No 

P
age 2390



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               11/53       Enfusion 

 

Cardiff Beech Woods SAC 

Policies Potential 
effects Test of Likely Significant Effect (LSE) 

Likely 
Significant 

Effect? 
DEVELOPMENT 
 
 
KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH  
KP2: STRATEGIC SITES  
KP9: RESPONDING TO 
EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS 
(Employment) 
KP10: CENTRAL AND BAY 
BUSINESS AREAS 
KP14: HEALTHY LIVING 
H1: NON STRATEGIC HOUSING 
SITES 
H7: ALLOCATION POLICY FOR 
GYPSY AND TRAVELLER SITE(S) 
H8: SITES FOR GYPSY AND 
TRAVELLER CARAVANS  
EC1: EXISTING EMPLOYMENT 
LAND 
EN4: RIVER VALLEYS 
T8: STRATEGIC RECREATIONAL 
ROUTES 
 

 
Increase in 
population and 
therefore 
recreation levels 
leading to 
increase in 
recreational 
pressure 
 

 
Increased housing provision may increase recreational pressures such as walking and climbing within the Cardiff Beech Woods SAC.  
Increased recreational pressure on the Cardiff Beech Woods has potential adverse implications for the ground flora and, depending on the 
scale of the proposals, the trees themselves.   
 
Management of the recreational use of the woodlands should focus on maintaining the network of public footpaths and access routes. 
Regular maintenance of the footpaths and bridleways is essential to stop them spreading onto the adjacent woodland habitat.  By 
restricting recreational use of the woodlands to certain areas and paths, natural woodland processes can be left to occur away from these 
areas of recreational use and without the need for intervention from a public health and safety perspective. The vision for these features 
are for them to have favourable conservation status, whereby the condition that recreational use of the site will continue to be managed so 
it does not damage the wildlife interest of the site, is satisfied.  No limits are set for the performance indicators for factors affecting the 
features, pending a fuller understanding of current situation and impact on habitat. Considering that there is an already high level of 
recreation on site and that CCW views that most if not all aspects of the component sites are heading in the right direction in terms of 
condition, it is unlikely that these policies will have significant adverse effect on the site as a result of increased recreation.  
 
Car parking facilities at the site are limited and the site is not easily accessed by public transport, which further limits the impact of 
recreation on the site.  Alternative recreational facilities within and around Cardiff are more readily accessible to the existing and proposed 
resident population. Furthermore, implementation of policies designed to provide and protect public open space throughout Cardiff 
(Policies KP3, EN4, C3) would also serve to offset any increase in recreational pressure on the beech woods. 
 
In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
Other plans and programmes may result in increased recreational activity in the general area, but there are no plans or programmes 
which are likely to result in a direct increase in recreational activity specifically at this site. 
 
Caerphilly Council’s Deposit LDP concluded that the Cardiff Beech Woods SAC is unlikely to be significantly affected by the proposals 
outlined in their Deposit LDP. The analysis noted that in the absence of direct effects, in-combination effects with other plans are not likely 
to be significant at the sites considered in the light of the evidence available. 
 
Only a small portion of Cardiff Beech Woods falls within the Rhondda Cynon Taff area and the closest development proposal (RCT LDP 
policy No 262) is located to the north of the westernmost woodland block near Taffs Well. The proposal is for a residential development of 
less than 1 ha in size and given that no direct habitat loss would occur, the risk from indirect impacts, for example increased recreational 
use (pedestrian) is likely to be negligible.  This being the case, the potential for in-combination effects of recreational pressure on the 
Cardiff Beech Woods is negligible also. 
 
The Habitats Regulations Assessment of the Rhondda Cynon Taf LDP has indicated that in the absence of direct effects, in-combination 
effects with other plans are not likely to be significant at the sites considered in the light of the evidence available. 
 
Both Caerphilly and RCT deposit LDP’s contains policies relating to the provision of access and recreation to areas other than Cardiff 
Beech Woods, which are closer to proposed strategic development sites, and which are therefore more likely to be used by the eventual 
occupiers of those sites. 
 

 
No 

P
age 2391



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               12/53       Enfusion 

 

Cardiff Beech Woods SAC 

Policies Potential 
effects Test of Likely Significant Effect (LSE) 

Likely 
Significant 

Effect? 
 

 
KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH  
KP2: STRATEGIC SITES  
KP6: NEW INFRASTRUCTURE 
KP9: RESPONDING TO 
EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS 
(Employment) 
KP10: CENTRAL AND BAY 
BUSINESS AREAS 
KP11: MINERALS AND 
AGGREGATES 
KP12: WASTE 
H1: NON STRATEGIC HOUSING 
SITES 
H7: ALLOCATION POLICY FOR 
GYPSY AND TRAVELLER SITE(S) 
H8: SITES FOR GYPSY AND 
TRAVELLER CARAVANS  
EC1: EXISTING EMPLOYMENT 
LAND 
EC5: HOTEL DEVELOPMENT 
T7: STRATEGIC 
TRANSPORTATION 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
R1: RETAIL PROVISION WITHIN 
STRATEGIC SITES 
C1: COMMUNITY FACILITIES 
C8: PLANNING FOR SCHOOLS. 
C9: NEW EDUCATIONAL 
FACILITIES 
C10: HEALTH EMPLOYMENT NON 
STRATEGIC ALLOCATION 
M1: MINERAL LIMESTONE 
RESERVES AND RESOURCES 
M3: QUARRY CLOSURES AND 
EXTENSION LIMITS 
M5: RESTORATION AND AFTER 
USE OF MINERAL WORKINGS 
M6: DREDGED AGGREGATE 
LANDING  

 
Increased traffic 
movements 
leading to aerial 
pollution 
 

 
If these policies were to lead to an increase in road traffic movements, then this may result in an increased number of car journeys along 
the A470 to and from the valleys to the north.  The A470 runs between, and close to, the Cardiff Beech Woods SAC in the Taff’s Well 
area, and the habitat features of this site are sensitive to acidification and deposition of nitrogen, the source of these pollutants being 
predominantly road traffic.  Therefore the impact of any extra car journeys on the beech woods is a potential problem.  However:- 
 

 The Candidate Sites near the Cardiff Beech Woods (e.g at Junction 33 and South of Creigiau) are predominantly Candidate Sites 
for housing rather than industry.  Therefore it can be assumed that the bulk of any increased traffic movement will be directed 
southwards to and from the employment centres of Cardiff rather than north to the valleys region along the A470.    

 
 The effects of road traffic pollution are likely to be restricted to within approximately 200m of the road concerned, because the 

principal pollutants arising from traffic tend to drop out of the atmosphere within this range.  Approximately 6 Hectares of the 
Cardiff Beech Woods SAC (Approx. 5.2% of the SAC as a whole) are within 200m of the A470 at Tongwynlais, so the effects of an 
increase in road traffic pollution would be limited to a small proportion of the SAC.   

 
 The area of Cardiff Beech Woods SAC within 200m of the A470 at Tongwynlais supports one of the two European features of 

interest present in the SAC, namely, Asperulo-fagetum beech forest.  The vision for this feature is for it to have favourable 
conservation status, whereby the condition that there are pockets of ground flora across the site, comprising species typical of 
lime-rich beech wood, including indicators of ancient woodland such as wood anemone, ramsons and sanicle, is satisfied.  An 
assessment of conservation status contained within the Core Management Plan for this site describes the condition of the 
component SSSI at this section as ‘favourable’.  Also, the Core Management Plan for this site states that there is no evidence to 
date that atmospheric pollution has had an adverse impact on this feature.  If it is that case that, with the A470 at capacity, the 
component SSSI is in favourable condition and there is no evidence that road traffic pollution is having an adverse impact upon the 
Asperulo-fagetum beech forest feature, then  

 
 Cardiff Council Pollution Control Officers have indicated that the effect on atmospheric pollution of an increase in traffic resulting 

from these policies would not be measurable because the A470 is already at capacity.  
 

 The LDP contains policies intended to reduce dependency on car travel, facilitate and increase use of sustainable and active 
modes of transport (Policies KP8, T1, T2, T3, T5), mitigate the effects of climate change (Policies KP15 and EN12), and promote 
the sustainable use of natural resources (Policies KP18, EN10 and EN11).  In the long-term these measures will mitigate or off-set 
any increase in atmospheric pollution as a result of the LDP and should lead to gradual improvements in air quality. 

 
 Levels of NO2 across Wales are recorded as decreasing, and recorded areas of NO2 pollution concern in Cardiff are in the City 

Centre rather than near this SAC. 
 
 
In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 

 
No 

P
age 2392



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               13/53       Enfusion 

 

Cardiff Beech Woods SAC 

Policies Potential 
effects Test of Likely Significant Effect (LSE) 

Likely 
Significant 

Effect? 
W1: LAND FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT 
W2: SITES FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT FACILITIES 
W3: PROVISION FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT FACILITIES IN 
DEVELOPMENT 
 

The Wales Spatial Plan (Update 2008) identifies three ‘Strategic Opportunity Areas’, one of which is the area around Llantrisant and North 
West Cardiff.  Development within this area is likely to lead to an increase in traffic volume within the region.  A proportion of this 
increased volume may use the M4 and A470 when travelling to and from the eastern South Wales Valleys.  However, the construction of 
the Church Village by-pass between Upper Boat and Llantrisant will provide an alternative route, and subject to the availability of traffic 
movement prediction data, may alleviate increased traffic movements along the A470 at Tongwynlais caused by the Llantrisant and North 
West Cardiff Strategic Opportunity Area. 
 
The Wales Spatial Plan (Update) 2008 and promotes developments in the region, however none of the three Strategic Opportunity Areas 
within that document entails land-take at this site, and any increase in aerial pollution due to traffic movement is likely to be counteracted 
by other regional strategies such as the Wales Transport Strategy 2008, the SEWTA Regional Transport Plan Consultative Draft 2008 and 
the SEWTA Rail Strategy Study 2006, which promote sustainability of transport, reduction of aerial emissions and modal shift towards 
more sustainable forms of transport such as public transport and cycling. 
 
 
Development arising from policies in the Local Development Plan for neighbouring Rhondda Cynon Taf is likely to lead to an increase in 
traffic volume within the region.  A proportion of this increased volume may use the M4 and A470 when travelling to and from the eastern 
South Wales Valleys.  However, the construction of the Church Village by-pass between Upper Boat and Llantrisant will provide an 
alternative route, and subject to the availability of traffic movement prediction data, may alleviate increased traffic movements along the 
A470 at Tongwynlais caused by the RCT LDP policies. 
 
Furthermore, both the RCT and Caerphilly Deposit LDP’s contain policies to provide for housing and employments within their respective 
boundaries, thereby reducing need for travel journeys to and from the centre of Cardiff, via routes which pass through this SAC at 
Tongwynlais.. 
 
The Habitats Regulations Assessments of the Rhondda Cynon Taf LDP and of Caerphilly LDP have indicated that in the absence of direct 
effects, in-combination effects with other plans are not likely to be significant at the sites considered in the light of the evidence available. 
 

 
KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH  
KP2: STRATEGIC SITES  
KP6: NEW INFRASTRUCTURE 
KP9: RESPONDING TO 
EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS 
(Employment) 
KP10: CENTRAL AND BAY 
BUSINESS AREAS 
KP11: MINERALS AND 
AGGREGATES 
KP12: WASTE 
H1: NON STRATEGIC HOUSING 
SITES 
H7: ALLOCATION POLICY FOR 
GYPSY AND TRAVELLER SITE(S) 
H8: SITES FOR GYPSY AND 

 
Land take 
 

 
Whilst land-take would result from these policies, and land take within the SAC would be likely to significantly affect it, none of these 
policies direct land-take to within the boundaries of this site.  Policies relating to the extraction of minerals, which in some cases are very 
close to the boundary of this SAC, have been considered above. 
 
In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
There are no other plans, projects or programmes which would direct land-take to within the boundaries of this site 
 
 

 
No 

P
age 2393



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               14/53       Enfusion 

 

Cardiff Beech Woods SAC 

Policies Potential 
effects Test of Likely Significant Effect (LSE) 

Likely 
Significant 

Effect? 
TRAVELLER CARAVANS  
EC1: EXISTING EMPLOYMENT 
LAND 
EC5: HOTEL DEVELOPMENT 
T7: STRATEGIC 
TRANSPORTATION 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
R1: RETAIL PROVISION WITHIN 
STRATEGIC SITES 
C1: COMMUNITY FACILITIES 
C8: PLANNING FOR SCHOOLS. 
C9: NEW EDUCATIONAL 
FACILITIES 
C10: HEALTH EMPLOYMENT NON 
STRATEGIC ALLOCATION 
M1: MINERAL LIMESTONE 
RESERVES AND RESOURCES 
M3: QUARRY CLOSURES AND 
EXTENSION LIMITS 
M5: RESTORATION AND AFTER 
USE OF MINERAL WORKINGS 
M6: DREDGED AGGREGATE 
LANDING  
W1: LAND FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT 
W2: SITES FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT FACILITIES 
W3: PROVISION FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT FACILITIES IN 
DEVELOPMENT 
 
 
KP6: NEW INFRASTRUCTURE 
T7: STRATEGIC 
TRANSPORTATION 
INFRASTRUCTURE 

 
Laying pipes and 
cables leading to 
changes in local 
hydrology 

 
Whilst changes in local hydrology would result from these policies, and changes in local hydrology within the SAC would be likely to 
significantly affect it, none of these policies direct new infrastructure or strategic transport infrastructure to within the boundaries of this 
site, or even close to it.   
 
In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
There are no other plans, projects or programmes which would direct similar activities to within or close to the boundaries of this site 
 

 
No 

 

P
age 2394



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               15/53       Enfusion 

 

 

River Usk SAC 

Policies Potential 
effects Test of Likely Significant Effect (LSE) 

Likely 
Significant 

Effect? 
 
KP11: MINERALS AND 
AGGREGATES 
M1: MINERAL LIMESTONE 
RESERVES AND RESOURCES 
M3: QUARRY CLOSURES AND 
EXTENSION LIMITS 
M5: RESTORATION AND AFTER 
USE OF MINERAL WORKINGS 
M6: DREDGED AGGREGATE 
LANDING AND DISTRIBUTION 
FACILITIES 
 

 
Aggregates 
removal, 
leading to aerial 
pollution 
 

 
Quarrying and associated activities are likely to generate dust, and whilst these activities in Cardiff will take place about 14 Km from the River 
Usk SAC, there is the potential for these dusts to be transported by wind to that site.  However:-    
 

 The dispersal of dust particles is affected by the size of the particles emitted, and wind speed as well as their shape and density. Large 
dust particles (greater than 30µm), which make up the greatest proportion of dust emitted from mineral workings, will largely deposit 
within 100m of sources. Intermediate-sized particles (10–30µm) are likely to travel up to 200–500m.  Smaller particles (less than 10 
µm) which make up a small proportion of the dust emitted from most mineral workings are only deposited slowly but may travel 1000m 
or more”.  (Office of the Deputy Prime Minister: Minerals Policy Statement 2: Controlling and Mitigating the Environmental Effects of 
Minerals Extraction in England. Annex 1: Dust (March 2005): 
http://www.communities.gov.uk/documents/planningandbuilding/pdf/mps2annex1.pdf). Therefore it is highly likely that these 
particulates will have dropped out of the atmosphere before reaching the River Usk SAC. 

 
 According to the National Atmospheric Emissions Inventory, overall emissions of particulates have fallen by 58% since 1990.  If this 

downward trend continues, the total deposition of particulates at this site will gradually decrease, thereby reducing any impact upon 
the site’s features. http://naei.defra.gov.uk/overview/pollutants?pollutant_id=24 

 
 Implementation of policies aimed at minimising air pollution and managing air quality (KP18: Natural Resources; EN13: Air, Noise, 

Light Pollution and Contaminated Land) would counteract any increase in atmospheric pollution resulting from this policy.  Policies 
relating to mineral extraction accord with Minerals Planning Policy Wales, which contains strong policies in regard to the protection of 
European Sites. 

 
 All of the mineral extraction sites in Cardiff benefit from existing consents, and these consents were subject to a Review of Consents 

process in 2010/11.  The conclusions of this review were that none of the extant consents were likely to have a significant effect upon 
any European Sites provided that planning conditions aimed at mitigating any effects of aerial pollution, are implemented.  If these 
planning conditions continue to be implemented, and similarly-worded conditions are attached to any new minerals consents issued, 
then this absence of any significant effect will continue. 

 
In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
Minerals Planning Policy Wales 2001 does not specify any locations, therefore the risk of ‘in combination’ effects with this policy cannot be 
assessed.  Furthermore, the document contains strong policies in relation to the protection of European sites. 
 

 
No 

 
KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH  
KP2: STRATEGIC SITES  
KP6: NEW INFRASTRUCTURE 
KP9: RESPONDING TO 
EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS 
(Employment) 
KP10: CENTRAL AND BAY 
BUSINESS AREAS 
KP11: MINERALS AND 

 
Dust, noise, 
vibration 
movement and 
odour 
associated with 
industrial and 
construction 
processes, 
leading to 

 
These policies have the potential to contribute to aerial pollution, via transport and minerals extraction, but as above, these effects are likely to 
be local to the source of the emissions, and would not significantly affect this site.  Similarly, effects such as noise, vibration, movement and 
odour are likely to be localised and will not affect this site which is 6 Km from Cardiff. 
 
Policies aimed at reducing aerial pollution, such as KP5 wherein; ’(viii) Uses innovative approaches to achieve a resource efficient and climate 
responsive design that provides sustainable water and waste management solutions and minimise emissions from transport, homes and 
industry’., and EN13 wherein ‘Development will not be permitted where it would cause or result in unacceptable harm to health, local amenity, 
the character and quality of the countryside, or interests of nature conservation, landscape or built heritage importance because of air, noise, 
light pollution or the presence of unacceptable levels of land contamination.’, will serve to offset any increase in aerial emissions arising from 

 
No 

P
age 2395



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               16/53       Enfusion 

 

River Usk SAC 

Policies Potential 
effects Test of Likely Significant Effect (LSE) 

Likely 
Significant 

Effect? 
AGGREGATES 
KP12: WASTE 
H1: NON STRATEGIC HOUSING 
SITES 
H7: ALLOCATION POLICY FOR 
GYPSY AND TRAVELLER 
SITE(S) 
EC1: EXISTING EMPLOYMENT 
LAND 
EC5: HOTEL DEVELOPMENT 
T7: STRATEGIC 
TRANSPORTATION 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
R1: RETAIL PROVISION WITHIN 
STRATEGIC SITES 
C1: COMMUNITY FACILITIES 
C8: PLANNING FOR SCHOOLS. 
C9: NEW EDUCATIONAL 
FACILITIES 
C10: HEALTH EMPLOYMENT 
NON STRATEGIC ALLOCATION 
M1: MINERAL LIMESTONE 
RESERVES AND RESOURCES 
M3: QUARRY CLOSURES AND 
EXTENSION LIMITS 
M5: RESTORATION AND AFTER 
USE OF MINERAL WORKINGS 
M6: DREDGED AGGREGATE 
LANDING AND DISTRIBUTION 
FACILITIES 
W1: LAND FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT 
W2: SITES FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT FACILITIES 
W3: PROVISION FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT FACILITIES IN 
DEVELOPMENT 
 

eutrophication 
and aerial 
pollution 
 

light industry, domestic heating systems, construction and other sources.  Furthermore, there is a gradual reduction in UK-wide levels of 
pollutants such as Ammonia, NOx, SOx and particulates, which would serve to offset any residual local increase in these pollutants arising 
from these policies. 
 
In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
These potential effects are likely to be localised in nature, and as this site is about 6 Km from Cardiff, effects arising from implementation of 
these policies in Cardiff’s Deposit LDP are not likely to reach the River Usk SAC and therefore act in combination with other activities. 

 
KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH  
KP2: STRATEGIC SITES  
KP6: NEW INFRASTRUCTURE 
KP9: RESPONDING TO 
EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS 

 
Impacts on 
surface water 
run-off, leading 
to 
eutrophication 

 
These policies direct development which may have impacts upon the quality and quantity of surface water discharge.  Whilst there is the 
potential for contaminated surface-water to enter Cardiff’s rivers, flow along them into the Severn Estuary, and thence migrate to tidal areas of 
the River Usk, in all likelihood any such pollution would be so diluted by the time it reached the River Usk that it would not be likely to 
significantly impact upon that site.  Any individual project arising from these policies will be subject to regulation by NRW, thereby controlling 
any surface water run-off or discharges to controlled waters.  

 
No 

P
age 2396



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               17/53       Enfusion 

 

River Usk SAC 

Policies Potential 
effects Test of Likely Significant Effect (LSE) 

Likely 
Significant 

Effect? 
(Employment) 
KP10: CENTRAL AND BAY 
BUSINESS AREAS 
H1: NON STRATEGIC HOUSING 
SITES 
H7: ALLOCATION POLICY FOR 
GYPSY AND TRAVELLER 
SITE(S) 
H8: SITES FOR GYPSY AND 
TRAVELLER CARAVANS  
EC1: EXISTING EMPLOYMENT 
LAND 
EC5: HOTEL DEVELOPMENT 
T7: STRATEGIC 
TRANSPORTATION 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
R1: RETAIL PROVISION WITHIN 
STRATEGIC SITES 
C1: COMMUNITY FACILITIES 
C8: PLANNING FOR SCHOOLS. 
C9: NEW EDUCATIONAL 
FACILITIES 
C10: HEALTH EMPLOYMENT 
NON STRATEGIC ALLOCATION 
 

  
Policies KP 18 Natural Resources, EN11 Protection of Water Resources and EN13 Air, Noise, Light Pollution, and Contaminated Land, when 
implemented, would serve to offset any increase in water-borne pollution arising from the policies listed to the left. 
 
In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
Other plans and programmes in Local Authority areas upstream of Cardiff could contribute to poor water quality in the Rivers Taff, Ely and 
Rhymney, but as above, any such water-borne pollution would be regulated by NRW, and any accidental discharges outside the regulatory 
framework would be so diluted by the time it reached the River Usk (via the Severn Estuary), that a significant effect would be unlikely. 
 
The River Usk at its nearest point to Cardiff flows through Newport, and Newport’s LDP contains policies aimed at reducing pollution and 
protecting natural habitats.  These policies will further reduce any adverse effects upon this SAC, and correspondingly reduce the scope for 
any in-combination impacts to a level which is not significant. 

 
KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH  
KP2: STRATEGIC SITES  
KP9: RESPONDING TO 
EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS 
(Employment) 
KP10: CENTRAL AND BAY 
BUSINESS AREAS 
H1: NON STRATEGIC HOUSING 
SITES 
H7: ALLOCATION POLICY FOR 
GYPSY AND TRAVELLER 
SITE(S) 
H8: SITES FOR GYPSY AND 
TRAVELLER CARAVANS  
EC1: EXISTING EMPLOYMENT 
LAND 
EC5: HOTEL DEVELOPMENT 
R1: RETAIL PROVISION WITHIN 

 
Increased 
demand for 
water 
resources, 
leading to 
increased 
abstraction 
levels 
 

 
Much of the freshwater supplied to Cardiff is ultimately sourced from the River Usk SAC, and the qualifying features of this site is vulnerable to 
flow depletion caused by abstraction.  Therefore there is a potential for policies which promote housing and employment growth (both of which 
require supplies of freshwater) to affect the conservation objectives of these features. 
 
Dwr Cymru Welsh Water, who supply Cardiff’s freshwater, have produced a Revised Draft Water Resources Management Plan (October 
2011), which itself has been subject to Habitats Regulations Appraisal.  In this document, and in meetings of the Cardiff LDP Collaborative 
Officer Working Group, DCWW have confirmed that proposals for additional growth in housing and employment will not be impacted, in terms 
of availability of water supply, by reductions in the volume of water licensed for abstraction from these two rivers.  These licence reductions 
are measures that the Environment Agency have identified as being necessary to avoid adverse impact upon European sites as part of their 
Review of Consents process.  DCWW have identified a series of measures to address the deficit in water supply caused by licence 
reductions.    
 
These measures, together with Policies KP 18 Natural Resources and EN11 Protection of Water Resources, which are aimed in part at 
improving water resource use efficiency, will ensure adequate water supply without adverse impacts on the River Usk SAC. 
 
In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
The Usk Catchment Abstraction Management Strategy March 2007 sets out how water abstraction from the River Usk will be managed until 

 
No 

P
age 2397



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               18/53       Enfusion 

 

River Usk SAC 

Policies Potential 
effects Test of Likely Significant Effect (LSE) 

Likely 
Significant 

Effect? 
STRATEGIC SITES 
C1: COMMUNITY FACILITIES 
C8: PLANNING FOR SCHOOLS. 
C9: NEW EDUCATIONAL 
FACILITIES 
C10: HEALTH EMPLOYMENT 
NON STRATEGIC ALLOCATION 
 

2013. It outlines where water is available, and also, if relevant, where current rates of abstraction need to be reduced.  As a result of the 
Review of Consents process, flow targets have been set which are considered likely to significantly reduce or remove the impacts of 
abstraction on River Usk SAC features. 
 
Under the Habitats Regulations, Natural Resources Wales (NRW) has a duty to assess the effects of existing abstraction licences and any 
new applications to make sure they are not impacting on internationally important nature conservation sites. Water efficiency is also tested by 
NRW before a new licence is granted.  If the assessment of a new application shows that it could have an impact on a SAC, NRW will have to 
follow strict rules in setting a time limit for that licence. 
 

 
KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH  
KP2: STRATEGIC SITES  
KP6: NEW INFRASTRUCTURE 
KP9: RESPONDING TO 
EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS 
(Employment) 
KP10: CENTRAL AND BAY 
BUSINESS AREAS 
KP11: MINERALS AND 
AGGREGATES 
KP12: WASTE 
H1: NON STRATEGIC HOUSING 
SITES 
H7: ALLOCATION POLICY FOR 
GYPSY AND TRAVELLER 
SITE(S) 
H8: SITES FOR GYPSY AND 
TRAVELLER CARAVANS  
EC1: EXISTING EMPLOYMENT 
LAND 
EC5: HOTEL DEVELOPMENT 
T7: STRATEGIC 
TRANSPORTATION 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
R1: RETAIL PROVISION WITHIN 
STRATEGIC SITES 
C1: COMMUNITY FACILITIES 
C8: PLANNING FOR SCHOOLS. 
C9: NEW EDUCATIONAL 
FACILITIES 
C10: HEALTH EMPLOYMENT 
NON STRATEGIC ALLOCATION 
M3: QUARRY CLOSURES AND 
EXTENSION LIMITS 

 
Increased traffic 
movements 
leading to aerial 
pollution 
 

 
The habitat features of this site are sensitive to acidification and deposition of nitrogen, and the source of these pollutants is predominantly 
road traffic. However, the effects of road traffic pollution are likely to be restricted to within approximately 200m of the road concerned, and the 
River Usk SAC is about 7Km from Cardiff.  
 
Furthermore, the Deposit LDP contains policies intended to reduce dependency on car travel, facilitate and increase use of sustainable and 
active modes of transport (Policies KP8, T1, T2, T3, T5), mitigate the effects of climate change (Policies KP15 and EN12), and promote the 
sustainable use of natural resources (Policies KP18, EN10 and EN11).  In the long-term these measures will mitigate or off-set any increase 
in atmospheric pollution as a result of the LDP and should lead to gradual improvements in air quality. 
 
Finally, levels of NO2 across Wales are recorded as decreasing, and recorded areas of NO2 pollution concern in Cardiff are in the City Centre 
rather than near this SAC. 
 
In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
Although there are local environmental factors which may affect this site, the distance of this site from Cardiff and the overall improving air 
quality in the area make it unlikely that this policy will have a significant effect in-combination with these factors upon this site.  Both Cardiff 
and Newport’s deposit LDP’s contain policies aimed at reducing traffic pollution and encouraging more sustainable modes of transport such 
as public transport and cycling, which when implemented will counteract any in-combination  effect of aerial pollution upon this SAC. 
 
The Wales Spatial Plan (Update) 2008 and promotes developments in the region, however none of the three Strategic Opportunity Areas 
within that document entails land-take at this site, and any increase in aerial pollution due to traffic movement is likely to be counteracted by 
other regional strategies such as the Wales Transport Strategy 2008, the SEWTA Regional Transport Plan 2009 and the SEWTA Rail 
Strategy Study 2006.  These strategies all seek a modal shift for private and freight transports onto more sustainable modes, reducing the 
impact of the transport system on the natural environment, reducing greenhouse gas emissions from transport, and reducing traffic growth 
and congestion.   

 
No 

P
age 2398



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               19/53       Enfusion 

 

River Usk SAC 

Policies Potential 
effects Test of Likely Significant Effect (LSE) 

Likely 
Significant 

Effect? 
M5: RESTORATION AND AFTER 
USE OF MINERAL WORKINGS 
M6: DREDGED AGGREGATE 
LANDING AND DISTRIBUTION 
FACILITIES 
W1: LAND FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT 
W2: SITES FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT FACILITIES 
W3: PROVISION FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT FACILITIES IN 
DEVELOPMENT 
 
 
KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH  
KP2: STRATEGIC SITES  
KP11: MINERALS AND 
AGGREGATES 
KP12: WASTE 
H1: NON STRATEGIC HOUSING 
SITES 
H7: ALLOCATION POLICY FOR 
GYPSY AND TRAVELLER 
SITE(S) 
H8: SITES FOR GYPSY AND 
TRAVELLER CARAVANS  
EC1: EXISTING EMPLOYMENT 
LAND 
EC5: HOTEL DEVELOPMENT 
R1: RETAIL PROVISION WITHIN 
STRATEGIC SITES 
C1: COMMUNITY FACILITIES 
C9: NEW EDUCATIONAL 
FACILITIES 
C10: HEALTH EMPLOYMENT 
NON STRATEGIC ALLOCATION 
M1: MINERAL LIMESTONE 
RESERVES AND RESOURCES 
M5: RESTORATION AND AFTER 
USE OF MINERAL WORKINGS 
M6: DREDGED AGGREGATE 
LANDING AND DISTRIBUTION 
FACILITIES 
W1: LAND FOR WASTE 

 
Wastewater 
and Sewage, 
leading to 
eutrophication 

 
None of the candidate sites for housing is within a European Site. However, increased sewage arising from these housing provisions may 
increase discharge into the Severn Estuary. This could potentially lead to changes in nutrient and /or organic loading in the tidal reaches of 
the River Usk, which discharges into the Severn Estuary.  
 
Sewage from Cardiff west of the River Taff is treated at the Cog Moors Sewage Treatment Works (STW), serving the Barry and Cardiff West 
catchments.  This STW discharges to the Bristol Channel, via a long sea outfall, off Lavernock Point. Effluent is disinfected through ultra violet 
treatment, which reduces the environmental impact and protects water quality. Sewage from Cardiff east of the River Taff is treated at the 
WWTW at Tremorfa, and cleaned water is discharged via the outfall 4.2 Km into the estuary at ST25257393.   DCWW have confirmed that the 
WWTW at Tremorfa has sufficient capacity across the lifespan of the plan (2006 - 2026) to accommodate the domestic foul flows from all of 
the allocations in the Deposit LDP. 
 
In terms of water quality issues the Severn Estuary is under greatest threat from point source pollution within the area of designation.  The EA 
set very strict quality standards for the final effluent that can be returned to rivers, and Welsh Water achieved 99.85% compliance of 
wastewater treatment works in 2009. Given the regulatory compliance measures and the current favourable condition assessment for the 
Severn Estuary SSSIs that are components of the SAC, it is unlikely that development resulting from the Cardiff Deposit LDP will have a 
significant effect on the water quality of the Severn Estuary SAC/SPA/ Ramsar site.  
 
In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
Other plans and programmes which result in increased sewage discharge at the South Wales Coast, may act in combination with this policy to 
exacerbate nutrient and /or organic loading in the Severn Estuary, which could impact on the River Usk. Development plans for all unitary 
authorities whose sewage discharges at the South Wales Coast such as Caerphilly, RCT, Blaenau Gwent and Merthyr Tydfil make provision 
for a combined allocation of over 30000 new dwellings in total.  However, Dwr Cymru Welsh Water have had the opportunity to comment on 
these LDPs and the inclusion  of these levels of housing allocation indicates that there is the capacity to treat the predicted increase in 
sewage, 
 
Furthermore, all effluent is treated to meet the consent limits laid down by the environmental agency and subject to strict conditions which 
include HRA processes where the potential for impacts on the estuary are identified.  Provided this continues to occur, there is not likely to be 
a significant effect on the River Usk by sewage outfall 

 
No 

P
age 2399



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               20/53       Enfusion 

 

River Usk SAC 

Policies Potential 
effects Test of Likely Significant Effect (LSE) 

Likely 
Significant 

Effect? 
MANAGEMENT 
W2: SITES FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT FACILITIES 
W3: PROVISION FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT FACILITIES IN 
DEVELOPMENT 
 
 
 

River Wye SAC 

Policies Potential effects Test of Likely Significant Effect (LSE) 
Likely 

Significant 
Effect? 

 
KP11: MINERALS AND AGGREGATES 
M1: MINERAL LIMESTONE 
RESERVES AND RESOURCES 
M3: QUARRY CLOSURES AND 
EXTENSION LIMITS 
M5: RESTORATION AND AFTER USE 
OF MINERAL WORKINGS 
M6: DREDGED AGGREGATE 
LANDING AND DISTRIBUTION 
FACILITIES 
 

 
Aggregates 
removal, leading to 
aerial pollution 
 

 
Quarrying and associated activities are likely to generate dust, and whilst these activities in Cardiff will take place about 
30 Km from the River Wye SAC, there is the potential for these dusts to be transported by wind to that site.  However:-   
 

 The dispersal of dust particles is affected by the size of the particles emitted, and wind speed as well as their 
shape and density. Large dust particles (greater than 30µm), which make up the greatest proportion of dust 
emitted from mineral workings, will largely deposit within 100m of sources. Intermediate-sized particles (10–
30µm) are likely to travel up to 200–500m.  Smaller particles (less than 10 µm) which make up a small proportion 
of the dust emitted from most mineral workings are only deposited slowly but may travel 1000m or more”.  (Office 
of the Deputy Prime Minister: Minerals Policy Statement 2: Controlling and Mitigating the Environmental Effects 
of Minerals Extraction in England. Annex 1: Dust (March 2005): 
http://www.communities.gov.uk/documents/planningandbuilding/pdf/mps2annex1.pdf). Therefore it is highly likely 
that these particulates will have dropped out of the atmosphere before reaching the River Wye SAC. 

 
 According to the National Atmospheric Emissions Inventory, overall emissions of particulates have fallen by 58% 

since 1990.  If this downward trend continues, the total deposition of particulates at this site will gradually 
decrease, thereby reducing any impact upon the site’s features. 
http://naei.defra.gov.uk/overview/pollutants?pollutant_id=24 

 
 Implementation of policies aimed at minimising air pollution and managing air quality (KP18: Natural Resources; 

EN13: Air, Noise, Light Pollution and Contaminated Land) would counteract any increase in atmospheric pollution 
resulting from this policy.  Policies relating to mineral extraction accord with Minerals Planning Policy Wales, 
which contains strong policies in regard to the protection of European Sites. 

 
 All of the mineral extraction sites in Cardiff benefit from existing consents, and these consents were subject to a 

 
No 

P
age 2400



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               21/53       Enfusion 

 

River Wye SAC 

Policies Potential effects Test of Likely Significant Effect (LSE) 
Likely 

Significant 
Effect? 

Review of Consents process in 2010/11.  The conclusions of this review were that none of the extant consents 
were likely to have a significant effect upon any European Sites provided that planning conditions aimed at 
mitigating any effects of aerial pollution, are implemented.  If these planning conditions continue to be 
implemented, and similarly-worded conditions are attached to any new minerals consents issued, then this 
absence of any significant effect will continue. 

 
In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
Minerals Planning Policy Wales 2001 does not specify any locations, therefore the risk of ‘in combination’ effects with 
this policy cannot be assessed.  Furthermore, the document contains strong policies in relation to the protection of 
European sites. 
 

 
KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH  
KP2: STRATEGIC SITES  
KP6: NEW INFRASTRUCTURE 
KP9: RESPONDING TO EVIDENCED 
ECONOMIC NEEDS (Employment) 
KP10: CENTRAL AND BAY BUSINESS 
AREAS 
KP11: MINERALS AND AGGREGATES 
KP12: WASTE 
H1: NON STRATEGIC HOUSING SITES 
H7: ALLOCATION POLICY FOR 
GYPSY AND TRAVELLER SITE(S) 
EC1: EXISTING EMPLOYMENT LAND 
EC5: HOTEL DEVELOPMENT 
T7: STRATEGIC TRANSPORTATION 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
R1: RETAIL PROVISION WITHIN 
STRATEGIC SITES 
C1: COMMUNITY FACILITIES 
C8: PLANNING FOR SCHOOLS. 
C9: NEW EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES 
C10: HEALTH EMPLOYMENT NON 
STRATEGIC ALLOCATION 
M1: MINERAL LIMESTONE 
RESERVES AND RESOURCES 
M3: QUARRY CLOSURES AND 
EXTENSION LIMITS 
M5: RESTORATION AND AFTER USE 
OF MINERAL WORKINGS 
M6: DREDGED AGGREGATE 

 
Dust, noise, 
vibration movement 
and odour 
associated with 
industrial and 
construction 
processes, leading 
to eutrophication 
and aerial pollution 
 

 
These policies have the potential to contribute to aerial pollution, via transport and minerals extraction, but as above, 
these effects are likely to be local to the source of the emissions, and would not significantly affect this site.  Similarly, 
effects such as noise, vibration, movement and odour are likely to be localised and will not affect this site which is 30 
Km from Cardiff. 
 
Policies aimed at reducing aerial pollution, such as KP5 wherein; ’(viii) Uses innovative approaches to achieve a 
resource efficient and climate responsive design that provides sustainable water and waste management solutions and 
minimise emissions from transport, homes and industry’., and EN13 wherein ‘Development will not be permitted where it 
would cause or result in unacceptable harm to health, local amenity, the character and quality of the countryside, or 
interests of nature conservation, landscape or built heritage importance because of air, noise, light pollution or the 
presence of unacceptable levels of land contamination.’, will serve to offset any increase in aerial emissions arising from 
light industry, domestic heating systems, construction and other sources.  Furthermore, there is a gradual reduction in 
UK-wide levels of pollutants such as Ammonia, NOx, SOx and particulates, which would serve to offset any residual 
local increase in these pollutants arising from these policies. 
 
In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
These potential effects are likely to be localised in nature, and as this site is about 30 Km from Cardiff, effects arising 
from implementation of these policies in Cardiff’s Deposit LDP are not likely to reach the River Wye SAC and therefore 
act in combination with other activities. 
 
 

 
No 

P
age 2401



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               22/53       Enfusion 

 

River Wye SAC 

Policies Potential effects Test of Likely Significant Effect (LSE) 
Likely 

Significant 
Effect? 

LANDING AND DISTRIBUTION 
FACILITIES 
W1: LAND FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT 
W2: SITES FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT FACILITIES 
W3: PROVISION FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT FACILITIES IN 
DEVELOPMENT 

 
KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH  
KP2: STRATEGIC SITES  
KP6: NEW INFRASTRUCTURE 
KP9: RESPONDING TO EVIDENCED 
ECONOMIC NEEDS (Employment) 
KP10: CENTRAL AND BAY BUSINESS 
AREAS 
H1: NON STRATEGIC HOUSING SITES 
H7: ALLOCATION POLICY FOR 
GYPSY AND TRAVELLER SITE(S) 
H8: SITES FOR GYPSY AND 
TRAVELLER CARAVANS  
EC1: EXISTING EMPLOYMENT LAND 
EC5: HOTEL DEVELOPMENT 
T7: STRATEGIC TRANSPORTATION 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
R1: RETAIL PROVISION WITHIN 
STRATEGIC SITES 
C1: COMMUNITY FACILITIES 
C8: PLANNING FOR SCHOOLS. 
C9: NEW EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES 
C10: HEALTH EMPLOYMENT NON 
STRATEGIC ALLOCATION 
 

 
Impacts on surface 
water run-off, 
leading to 
eutrophication 
 

 
These policies direct development which may have impacts upon the quality and quantity of surface water discharge.  
Whilst there is the potential for contaminated surface-water to enter Cardiff’s rivers, flow along them into the Severn 
Estuary, and thence migrate to tidal areas of the River Usk, in all likelihood any such pollution would be so diluted by the 
time it reached the River Usk that it would not be likely to significantly impact upon that site.  Any individual project 
arising from these policies will be subject to regulation by NRW, thereby controlling any surface water run-off or 
discharges to controlled waters.  
 
Policies KP 18 Natural Resources, EN11 Protection of Water Resources and EN13 Air, Noise, Light Pollution, and 
Contaminated Land, when implemented, would serve to offset any increase in water-borne pollution arising from the 
policies listed to the left. 
 
In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
Other plans and programmes in Local Authority areas upstream of Cardiff could contribute to poor water quality in the 
Rivers Taff, Ely and Rhymney, but as above, any such water-borne pollution would be regulated by NRW, and any 
accidental discharges outside the regulatory framework would be so diluted by the time it reached the River Wye (via 
the Severn Estuary), that a significant effect would be unlikely. 

 
No 

 
KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH  
KP2: STRATEGIC SITES  
KP9: RESPONDING TO EVIDENCED 
ECONOMIC NEEDS (Employment) 
KP10: CENTRAL AND BAY BUSINESS 
AREAS 
H1: NON STRATEGIC HOUSING SITES 
H7: ALLOCATION POLICY FOR 
GYPSY AND TRAVELLER SITE(S) 

 
Increased demand 
for water resources, 
leading to 
increased 
abstraction levels 
 

 
Much of the freshwater supplied to Cardiff is ultimately sourced from the River Wye SAC, and the qualifying features of 
this site is vulnerable to flow depletion caused by abstraction.  Therefore there is a potential for policies which promote 
housing and employment growth (both of which require supplies of freshwater) to affect the conservation objectives of 
these features. 
 
Dwr Cymru Welsh Water, who supply Cardiff’s freshwater, have produced a Revised Draft Water Resources 
Management Plan (October 2011), which itself has been subject to Habitats Regulations Appraisal.  In this document, 
and in meetings of the Cardiff LDP Collaborative Officer Working Group, DCWW have confirmed that proposals for 

 
No 

P
age 2402



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               23/53       Enfusion 

 

River Wye SAC 

Policies Potential effects Test of Likely Significant Effect (LSE) 
Likely 

Significant 
Effect? 

H8: SITES FOR GYPSY AND 
TRAVELLER CARAVANS  
EC1: EXISTING EMPLOYMENT LAND 
EC5: HOTEL DEVELOPMENT 
R1: RETAIL PROVISION WITHIN 
STRATEGIC SITES 
C1: COMMUNITY FACILITIES 
C8: PLANNING FOR SCHOOLS. 
C9: NEW EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES 
C10: HEALTH EMPLOYMENT NON 
STRATEGIC ALLOCATION 
 

additional growth in housing and employment will not be impacted, in terms of availability of water supply, by reductions 
in the volume of water licensed for abstraction from these two rivers.  These licence reductions are measures that the 
Environment Agency have identified as being necessary to avoid adverse impact upon European sites as part of their 
Review of Consents process.  DCWW have identified a series of measures to address the deficit in water supply caused 
by licence reductions.    
 
These measures, together with Policies KP 18 Natural Resources and EN11 Protection of Water Resources, which are 
aimed in part at improving water resource use efficiency, will ensure adequate water supply without adverse impacts on 
the River Wye SAC. 
 
In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
The Wye Catchment Abstraction Management Strategy March 2008 sets out how water abstraction from the River Usk 
will be managed until 2013. It outlines where water is available, and also, if relevant, where current rates of abstraction 
need to be reduced.  As a result of the Review of Consents process, flow targets have been set which are considered 
likely to significantly reduce or remove the impacts of abstraction on River Wye SAC features. 
 
Under the Habitats Regulations, Natural Resources Wales (NRW) has a duty to assess the effects of existing 
abstraction licences and any new applications to make sure they are not impacting on internationally important nature 
conservation sites. Water efficiency is also tested by NRW before a new licence is granted.  If the assessment of a new 
application shows that it could have an impact on a SAC, NRW will have to follow strict rules in setting a time limit for 
that licence. 
 

 
KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH  
KP2: STRATEGIC SITES  
KP6: NEW INFRASTRUCTURE 
KP9: RESPONDING TO EVIDENCED 
ECONOMIC NEEDS (Employment) 
KP10: CENTRAL AND BAY BUSINESS 
AREAS 
KP11: MINERALS AND AGGREGATES 
KP12: WASTE 
H1: NON STRATEGIC HOUSING SITES 
H7: ALLOCATION POLICY FOR 
GYPSY AND TRAVELLER SITE(S) 
H8: SITES FOR GYPSY AND 
TRAVELLER CARAVANS  
EC1: EXISTING EMPLOYMENT LAND 
EC5: HOTEL DEVELOPMENT 
T7: STRATEGIC TRANSPORTATION 
INFRASTRUCTURE 

 
Increased traffic 
movements leading 
to aerial pollution 
 

 
The habitat features of this site are sensitive to acidification and deposition of nitrogen, and the source of these 
pollutants is predominantly road traffic. However, the effects of road traffic pollution are likely to be restricted to within 
approximately 200m of the road concerned, and the River Wye SAC is about 30 Km from Cardiff.  
 
Furthermore, the Deposit LDP contains policies intended to reduce dependency on car travel, facilitate and increase 
use of sustainable and active modes of transport (Policies KP8, T1, T2, T3, T5), mitigate the effects of climate change 
(Policies KP15 and EN12), and promote the sustainable use of natural resources (Policies KP18, EN10 and EN11).  In 
the long-term these measures will mitigate or off-set any increase in atmospheric pollution as a result of the LDP and 
should lead to gradual improvements in air quality. 
 
Finally, levels of NO2 across Wales are recorded as decreasing, and recorded areas of NO2 pollution concern in Cardiff 
are in the City Centre rather than near this SAC. 
 
In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
Although there are local environmental factors which may affect this site, the distance of this site from Cardiff and the 
overall improving air quality in the area make it unlikely that this policy will have a significant effect in-combination with 

 
No 

P
age 2403



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               24/53       Enfusion 

 

River Wye SAC 

Policies Potential effects Test of Likely Significant Effect (LSE) 
Likely 

Significant 
Effect? 

R1: RETAIL PROVISION WITHIN 
STRATEGIC SITES 
C1: COMMUNITY FACILITIES 
C8: PLANNING FOR SCHOOLS. 
C9: NEW EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES 
C10: HEALTH EMPLOYMENT NON 
STRATEGIC ALLOCATION 
M3: QUARRY CLOSURES AND 
EXTENSION LIMITS 
M5: RESTORATION AND AFTER USE 
OF MINERAL WORKINGS 
M6: DREDGED AGGREGATE 
LANDING AND DISTRIBUTION 
FACILITIES 
W1: LAND FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT 
W2: SITES FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT FACILITIES 
W3: PROVISION FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT FACILITIES IN 
DEVELOPMENT 
 

these factors upon this site.  The Deposit LDP’s of Cardiff and other Local Authorities through which the Wye flows 
contain policies aimed at reducing traffic pollution and encouraging more sustainable modes of transport such as public 
transport and cycling, which when implemented will counteract any in-combination  effect of aerial pollution upon this 
SAC. 
 
The Wales Spatial Plan (Update) 2008 and promotes developments in the region, however none of the three Strategic 
Opportunity Areas within that document entails land-take at this site, and any increase in aerial pollution due to traffic 
movement is likely to be counteracted by other regional strategies such as the Wales Transport Strategy 2008, the 
SEWTA Regional Transport Plan 2009 and the SEWTA Rail Strategy Study 2006, which promote sustainability of 
transport, reduction of aerial emissions and modal shift towards more sustainable forms of transport such as public 
transport and cycling. 
 

 
KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH  
KP2: STRATEGIC SITES  
KP11: MINERALS AND AGGREGATES 
KP12: WASTE 
H1: NON STRATEGIC HOUSING SITES 
H7: ALLOCATION POLICY FOR 
GYPSY AND TRAVELLER SITE(S) 
H8: SITES FOR GYPSY AND 
TRAVELLER CARAVANS  
EC1: EXISTING EMPLOYMENT LAND 
EC5: HOTEL DEVELOPMENT 
R1: RETAIL PROVISION WITHIN 
STRATEGIC SITES 
C1: COMMUNITY FACILITIES 
C9: NEW EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES 
C10: HEALTH EMPLOYMENT NON 
STRATEGIC ALLOCATION 
M1: MINERAL LIMESTONE 
RESERVES AND RESOURCES 
M5: RESTORATION AND AFTER USE 
OF MINERAL WORKINGS 

 
Wastewater and 
Sewage, leading to 
eutrophication 

 
None of the candidate sites for housing is within a European Site. However, increased sewage arising from these 
housing provisions may increase discharge into the Severn Estuary. This could potentially lead to changes in nutrient 
and /or organic loading in the tidal reaches of the River Wye, which discharges into the Severn Estuary.  
 
Sewage from Cardiff west of the River Taff is treated at the Cog Moors Sewage Treatment Works (STW), serving the 
Barry and Cardiff West catchments.  This STW discharges to the Bristol Channel, via a long sea outfall, off Lavernock 
Point. Effluent is disinfected through ultra violet treatment, which reduces the environmental impact and protects water 
quality. Sewage from Cardiff east of the River Taff is treated at the WWTW at Tremorfa, and cleaned water is 
discharged via the outfall 4.2 Km into the estuary at ST25257393.   DCWW have confirmed that the WWTW at Tremorfa 
has sufficient capacity across the lifespan of the plan (2006 - 2026) to accommodate the domestic foul flows from all of 
the allocations in the Cardiff Deposit LDP. 
 
In terms of water quality issues the Severn Estuary is under greatest threat from point source pollution within the area of 
designation.  The EA set very strict quality standards for the final effluent that can be returned to rivers, and Welsh 
Water achieved 99.85% compliance of wastewater treatment works in 2009. Given the regulatory compliance measures 
and the current favourable condition assessment for the Severn Estuary SSSIs that are components of the SAC, it is 
unlikely that development resulting from the Cardiff Deposit LDP will have a significant effect on the water quality of the 
Severn Estuary SAC/SPA/ Ramsar site.  
 

 
No P

age 2404



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               25/53       Enfusion 

 

River Wye SAC 

Policies Potential effects Test of Likely Significant Effect (LSE) 
Likely 

Significant 
Effect? 

M6: DREDGED AGGREGATE 
LANDING AND DISTRIBUTION 
FACILITIES 
W1: LAND FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT 
W2: SITES FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT FACILITIES 
W3: PROVISION FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT FACILITIES IN 
DEVELOPMENT 
 

In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
Other plans and programmes which result in increased sewage discharge at the South Wales Coast, may act in 
combination with this policy to exacerbate nutrient and /or organic loading in the Severn Estuary, which could impact on 
the River Wye. Development plans for all unitary authorities whose sewage discharges at the South Wales Coast such 
as Caerphilly, RCT, Blaenau Gwent and Merthyr Tydfil make provision for a combined allocation of over 30000 new 
dwellings in total.  However, Dwr Cymru Welsh Water have had the opportunity to comment on these LDPs and the 
inclusion  of these levels of housing allocation indicates that there is the capacity to treat the predicted increase in 
sewage, 
 
Furthermore, all effluent is treated to meet the consent limits laid down by the environmental agency and subject to strict 
conditions which include HRA processes where the potential for impacts on the estuary are identified.  Provided this 
continues to occur, there is not likely to be a significant effect on the River Wye by sewage outfall 

 

P
age 2405



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               26/53       Enfusion 

 

 

Severn Estuary SAC 

Policies Potential 
effects Test of Likely Significant Effect (LSE) 

Likely 
Significant 

Effect? 
 
KP11: MINERALS AND 
AGGREGATES 
KP12: WASTE 
M1: MINERAL LIMESTONE 
RESERVES AND RESOURCES 
M3: QUARRY CLOSURES AND 
EXTENSION LIMITS 
M5: RESTORATION AND AFTER 
USE OF MINERAL WORKINGS 
M6: DREDGED AGGREGATE 
LANDING AND DISTRIBUTION 
FACILITIES 
W1: LAND FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT 
W2: SITES FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT FACILITIES 
W3: PROVISION FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT FACILITIES IN 
DEVELOPMENT 
 

 
Contamination, 
accumulation of 
toxic 
substances 
 

 
Quarrying and associated activities are likely to generate dust, and whilst these activities in Cardiff will take place about 10 Km from the 
Severn Estuary, there is the potential for these dusts to be transported by wind to that site.  However,   the dispersal of dust particles is 
affected by the size of the particles emitted, and wind speed as well as their shape and density. Large dust particles (greater than 30µm), 
which make up the greatest proportion of dust emitted from mineral workings, will largely deposit within 100m of sources. Intermediate-sized 
particles (10–30µm) are likely to travel up to 200–500m.  Smaller particles (less than 10 µm) which make up a small proportion of the dust 
emitted from most mineral workings are only deposited slowly but may travel 1000m or more”.  (Office of the Deputy Prime Minister: Minerals 
Policy Statement 2: Controlling and Mitigating the Environmental Effects of Minerals Extraction in England. Annex 1: Dust (March 2005): 
http://www.communities.gov.uk/documents/planningandbuilding/pdf/mps2annex1.pdf).  
 
Therefore it is highly likely that these particulates will have dropped out of the atmosphere before reaching the Severn Estuary. 
 
Furthermore, according to the National Atmospheric Emissions Inventory, overall emissions of particulates have fallen by 58% since 1990.  If 
this downward trend continues, the total deposition of particulates at this site will gradually decrease, thereby reducing any impact upon the 
site’s features. http://naei.defra.gov.uk/overview/pollutants?pollutant_id=24 
 
Implementation of policies aimed at minimising air pollution and managing air quality (KP18: Natural Resources; EN13: Air, Noise, Light 
Pollution and Contaminated Land) would counteract any increase in atmospheric pollution resulting from this policy.  Policies relating to 
mineral extraction accord with Minerals Planning Policy Wales, which contains strong policies in regard to the protection of European Sites. 
 
All of the mineral extraction sites in Cardiff benefit from existing consents, and these consents were subject to a Review of Consents process 
in 2010/11.  The conclusions of this review were that none of the extant consents were likely to have a significant effect upon any European 
Sites provided that planning conditions aimed at mitigating any effects of aerial pollution, are implemented.  If these planning conditions 
continue to be implemented, and similarly-worded conditions are attached to any new minerals consents issued, then this absence of any 
significant effect will continue. 
 
The features of the Severn Estuary SAC are sensitive to marine aggregates dredging, and whilst this activity is outside the control of Cardiff 
Council, the draft LDP contains a policy (M6) which protects sand wharves as shown on the Proposals Map against development which would 
prejudice their ability to land marine dredged sand and gravel.  The operation of these wharves is ongoing and Policy M6 would not lead to 
new wharves or increased capacity, so the policy (and thereby the draft LDP in this respect) would not have a significant effect upon the 
Severn Estuary SAC, above and beyond that which is already occurring. 
 
Construction and operation of waste management facilities on industrial land adjacent to the Severn Estuary have the potential to have an 
effect upon the Severn Estuary European site. Polluted surface water runoff and aerial pollution during construction and operation may harm 
certain habitat features such as mudflats and saltmarsh, and key supporting habitats for the waterfowl such as intertidal mudflats and 
sandflats, saltmarsh, shingle and rocky shore, wet coastal grazing marsh, and improved grassland and open standing waters.   
 
However, the site allocated in this policy already supports existing planning consents which have been the subject of previous Habitats 
Regulations Appraisals.  In all cases, these assessments found there to be no likely significant effect on the Severn Estuary.  Therefore, any 
effect on the Severn Estuary arising from this allocation will have already been taken account of in previous planning consents.  Any new 
consents arising from these policies will be subject to individual Habitats Regulations Assessments These consents will only be considered to 
conform to the LDP if it can be demonstrated that they will not have an adverse effect on the integrity of this SAC. 
 

 
No 

P
age 2406



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               27/53       Enfusion 

 

Severn Estuary SAC 

Policies Potential 
effects Test of Likely Significant Effect (LSE) 

Likely 
Significant 

Effect? 
In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
Regional strategies such as the TraCC Regional Transport Plan 2009, the SEWTA Rail Strategy Study Jan 2006 and the South East Wales 
Transport Alliance: Regional Transport Plan 2009 all seek a modal shift for private and freight transports onto more sustainable modes, 
reducing the impact of the transport system on the natural environment, reducing greenhouse gas emissions from transport, and reducing 
traffic growth and congestion.  These strategies will serve to reduce and offset the effects of any atmospheric pollution acting in combination 
with that arising from the Deposit LDP. 
 

 
KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH  
KP2: STRATEGIC SITES  
KP6: NEW INFRASTRUCTURE 
KP9: RESPONDING TO 
EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS 
(Employment) 
KP10: CENTRAL AND BAY 
BUSINESS AREAS 
KP11: MINERALS AND 
AGGREGATES 
KP12: WASTE 
H1: NON STRATEGIC HOUSING 
SITES 
H7: ALLOCATION POLICY FOR 
GYPSY AND TRAVELLER 
SITE(S) 
EC1: EXISTING EMPLOYMENT 
LAND 
EC5: HOTEL DEVELOPMENT 
T7: STRATEGIC 
TRANSPORTATION 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
R1: RETAIL PROVISION WITHIN 
STRATEGIC SITES 
C1: COMMUNITY FACILITIES 
C8: PLANNING FOR SCHOOLS. 
C9: NEW EDUCATIONAL 
FACILITIES 
C10: HEALTH EMPLOYMENT 
NON STRATEGIC ALLOCATION 
M1: MINERAL LIMESTONE 
RESERVES AND RESOURCES 
M3: QUARRY CLOSURES AND 
EXTENSION LIMITS 

 
Dust, noise, 
vibration, 
movement and 
odour 
associated with 
industrial and 
construction 
processes 
leading to 
changes in 
nutrient and/or 
organic loading 
 

 
The potential effects of dust, noise, vibration, movement and odour are localised in nature, and only those activities close to the foreshore 
which give rise to these effects have the potential to affect the SAC.  This excludes mineral extraction activities to the north of Cardiff, and 
allocations for housing and industry which are not situated near the foreshore.   
 
Construction and operation of waste management facilities on industrial land adjacent to the Severn Estuary has the potential to have an 
effect upon the Severn Estuary European site. However, the site allocated in this policy already supports existing planning consents which 
have been the subject of previous Habitats Regulations Appraisals.  In all cases, these assessments found there to be no likely significant 
effect on the Severn Estuary.  Therefore, any effect on the Severn Estuary arising from this allocation will have already been taken account of 
in previous planning consents.  Any new consents arising from these policies will be subject to individual Habitats Regulations Assessments 
These consents will only be considered to conform to the LDP if it can be demonstrated that they will not have an adverse effect on the 
integrity of this SAC. 
 
As no clearly defined route for the Eastern Bay Link Road is provided with Policy T7, or on the Proposals Map, there is insufficient information 
to assess the impacts of such a policy upon the Severn Estuary SAC.  The effects of the construction and operation of this road will therefore 
have to be considered in a Habitats Regulations Assessment at the project stage, when more details become available.  Consent for such a 
project will only be considered to conform to the LDP if it can be demonstrated that it will not have an adverse effect on the integrity of this 
SAC.    
 
In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
These potential effects are localised in nature, so only plans, projects and programmes which are close to those within Cardiff could act in 
combination with these policies.  Along the foreshore, neither of Cardiff’s neighbouring authorities (Vale of Glamorgan and Newport) have 
policies which direct development to the foreshore adjacent to the respective county boundaries with Cardiff which could cause dust, noise, 
vibration, movement and odour associated with industrial and construction processes. 
 

 
No 

P
age 2407



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               28/53       Enfusion 

 

Severn Estuary SAC 

Policies Potential 
effects Test of Likely Significant Effect (LSE) 

Likely 
Significant 

Effect? 
M5: RESTORATION AND AFTER 
USE OF MINERAL WORKINGS 
M6: DREDGED AGGREGATE 
LANDING  
W1: LAND FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT 
W2: SITES FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT FACILITIES 
W3: PROVISION FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT FACILITIES IN 
DEVELOPMENT 
 
 
KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH  
KP2: STRATEGIC SITES  
KP6: NEW INFRASTRUCTURE 
KP9: RESPONDING TO 
EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS 
(Employment) 
KP10: CENTRAL AND BAY 
BUSINESS AREAS 
H1: NON STRATEGIC HOUSING 
SITES 
H7: ALLOCATION POLICY FOR 
GYPSY AND TRAVELLER 
SITE(S) 
H8: SITES FOR GYPSY AND 
TRAVELLER CARAVANS  
EC1: EXISTING EMPLOYMENT 
LAND 
EC5: HOTEL DEVELOPMENT 
T7: STRATEGIC 
TRANSPORTATION 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
R1: RETAIL PROVISION WITHIN 
STRATEGIC SITES 
C1: COMMUNITY FACILITIES 
C8: PLANNING FOR SCHOOLS. 
C9: NEW EDUCATIONAL 
FACILITIES 
C10: HEALTH EMPLOYMENT 
NON STRATEGIC ALLOCATION 
 

 
Impacts on 
surface water 
run-off leading 
to 
contamination 
and changes in 
nutrient and/or 
organic loading 
 

 
The potential effects of surface water run-off are localised in nature, and only those activities close to the foreshore or to Cardiff Bay which 
give rise to these effects have the potential to affect the Severn Estuary SAC.  This excludes mineral extraction activities to the north of 
Cardiff, and allocations for housing and industry which are not situated near the foreshore.   
 
Construction and operation of waste management facilities on industrial land adjacent to the Severn Estuary has the potential to have an 
effect upon the Severn Estuary European site. However, the site allocated in this policy already supports existing planning consents which 
have been the subject of previous Habitats Regulations Appraisals.  In all cases, these assessments found there to be no likely significant 
effect on the Severn Estuary.  Therefore, any effect on the Severn Estuary arising from this allocation will have already been taken account of 
in previous planning consents.  Any new consents arising from these policies will be subject to individual Habitats Regulations Assessments 
These consents will only be considered to conform to the LDP if it can be demonstrated that they will not have an adverse effect on the 
integrity of this SAC. 
 
Where policies direct development towards Cardiff Bay and the rivers that feed into it, they could potentially lead to pollution from a number of 
sources, including oil and chemical spills from industrial and commercial premises and vessels. If this pollution were to enter the Severn 
Estuary, there is a potential for harm to the designated features of Severn Estuary SAC.   
 
In view of Cardiff Bay's proximity to the Severn Estuary European site,  Cardiff Harbour Authority (CHA) has prepared an Oil Spill Contingency 
Plan in accordance with Clause 3(1)(d) of the Merchant Shipping (Oil Pollution Preparedness Response and Co-operation Convention) 
Regulations 1998, SI 1998 No 1056. The equipment for managing oil spills (and blue green algal scums) is the largest collection of its type in 
South East Wales. This plan has been reviewed and accepted by the Maritime and Coastguard Agency (MCA), and is reviewed by the 
Environment Team of the CHA on an annual basis. To help manage any pollution incidents which may occur along the Rivers Taff and Ely, 
the Environment Team have undertaken "time of travel" studies. The data collected has provided estimates of how long pollutants will take to 
reach the Bay from various locations and how they will disperse once in the Bay. This information will be used to ensure the effective 
deployment of pollution equipment to minimise the impact of any spills. A contingency plan that is effective for oil pollution will have much in 
common with plans required to combat other pollutants. The hazards, and techniques for cleaning-up, will vary, but command and control 
procedures will be very similar. 
 
With these measures in place it is unlikely that development arising from these policies will have a significant on the Severn Estuary SAC. 
 
As no clearly defined route for the Eastern Bay Link Road is provided with Policy T7, or on the Proposals Map, there is insufficient information 
to assess the impacts of such a policy upon the Severn Estuary SAC site.  The effects of the construction and operation of this road will 

 
No 

P
age 2408



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               29/53       Enfusion 

 

Severn Estuary SAC 

Policies Potential 
effects Test of Likely Significant Effect (LSE) 

Likely 
Significant 

Effect? 
therefore have to be considered in a Habitats Regulations Assessment at the project stage, when more details become available.  Consent for 
such a project will only be considered to conform to the LDP if it can be demonstrated that it will not have an adverse effect on the integrity of 
this SAC.    
 
In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
Other plans and programmes which result in increased sewage discharge at the South Wales Coast, may act in combination with this policy to 
exacerbate nutrient and /or organic loading in the Severn Estuary, which could impact upon it. Development plans for all unitary authorities 
whose sewage discharges at the South Wales Coast such as Caerphilly, RCT, Blaenau Gwent and Merthyr Tydfil make provision for a 
combined allocation of over 30000 new dwellings in total.  However, Dwr Cymru Welsh Water have had the opportunity to comment on these 
LDPs and the inclusion  of these levels of housing allocation indicates that there is the capacity to treat the predicted increase in sewage, 
 
Furthermore, all effluent is treated to meet the consent limits laid down by the Environmental Agency and subject to strict conditions which 
include HRA processes where the potential for impacts on the estuary are identified.  Provided this continues to occur, there is not likely to be 
an in-combination significant effect on the Severn Estuary SAC by sewage outfall. 
 

 
KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH  
KP2: STRATEGIC SITES  
KP6: NEW INFRASTRUCTURE 
KP9: RESPONDING TO 
EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS 
(Employment) 
KP10: CENTRAL AND BAY 
BUSINESS AREAS 
KP11: MINERALS AND 
AGGREGATES 
KP12: WASTE 
H1: NON STRATEGIC HOUSING 
SITES 
H7: ALLOCATION POLICY FOR 
GYPSY AND TRAVELLER 
SITE(S) 
H8: SITES FOR GYPSY AND 
TRAVELLER CARAVANS  
EC1: EXISTING EMPLOYMENT 
LAND 
EC5: HOTEL DEVELOPMENT 
T7: STRATEGIC 
TRANSPORTATION 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
R1: RETAIL PROVISION WITHIN 
STRATEGIC SITES 
C1: COMMUNITY FACILITIES 

 
Increased traffic 
movements 
leading to 
contamination 
 

 
The LDP contains policies intended to reduce dependency on car travel, facilitate and increase use of sustainable and active modes of 
transport (Policies KP8, T1, T2, T3, T5), mitigate the effects of climate change (Policies KP15 and EN12), and promote the sustainable use of 
natural resources (Policies KP18, EN10 and EN11).  In the long-term these measures will mitigate or off-set any increase in atmospheric 
pollution as a result of the LDP and should lead to gradual improvements in air quality. 
 
Furthermore, levels of NO2 across Wales are recorded as decreasing, and recorded areas of NO2 pollution concern in Cardiff are in the City 
Centre rather than near the foreshore. Similarly, according to the National Atmospheric Emissions Inventory, overall emissions of particulates 
have fallen by 58% since 1990.  If this downward trend continues, the total deposition of particulates at this site will gradually decrease, 
thereby reducing any impact upon the site’s features. http://naei.defra.gov.uk/overview/pollutants?pollutant_id=24 
 
As no clearly defined route for the Eastern Bay Link Road is provided with Policy T7, or on the Proposals Map, there is insufficient information 
to assess the impacts of such a policy upon the Severn Estuary Ramsar site.  The effects of the construction and operation of this road will 
therefore have to be considered in a Habitats Regulations Assessment at the project stage, when more details become available.  Consent for 
such a project will only be considered to conform to the LDP if it can be demonstrated that it will not have an adverse effect on the integrity of 
this SAC.    
 
In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
The Wales Spatial Plan (Update) 2008 and promotes developments in the region, however none of the three Strategic Opportunity Areas 
within that document entails land-take at this site, and any increase in aerial pollution due to traffic movement is likely to be counteracted by 
other regional strategies such as the Wales Transport Strategy 2008, the SEWTA Regional Transport Plan 2009 and the SEWTA Rail 
Strategy Study 2006.  These strategies all seek a modal shift for private and freight transports onto more sustainable modes, reducing the 
impact of the transport system on the natural environment, reducing greenhouse gas emissions from transport, and reducing traffic growth 
and congestion.  These strategies will serve to reduce and offset the effects of any atmospheric pollution acting in combination with that 
arising from the Preferred Construction and operation of waste management facilities on industrial land adjacent to the Severn Estuary have 
the potential to have an effect upon the Severn Estuary International site. Visual and noise disturbance during construction may cause 
disturbance to waterfowl such as Shelduck, Oystercatcher, Dunlin, Curlew, Pintail and Redshank which are designatory features of the SPA 

 
No 

P
age 2409



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               30/53       Enfusion 

 

Severn Estuary SAC 

Policies Potential 
effects Test of Likely Significant Effect (LSE) 

Likely 
Significant 

Effect? 
C8: PLANNING FOR SCHOOLS. 
C9: NEW EDUCATIONAL 
FACILITIES 
C10: HEALTH EMPLOYMENT 
NON STRATEGIC ALLOCATION 
M3: QUARRY CLOSURES AND 
EXTENSION LIMITS 
M5: RESTORATION AND AFTER 
USE OF MINERAL WORKINGS 
M6: DREDGED AGGREGATE 
LANDING  
W1: LAND FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT 
W2: SITES FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT FACILITIES 
W3: PROVISION FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT FACILITIES IN 
DEVELOPMENT 
 

and which form part of one of the notable estuarine species assemblages of the estuary feature of the SAC.     
 
However, the site allocated in this policy already supports existing planning consents which have been the subject of previous Habitats 
Regulations Appraisals.  In all cases, these assessments found there to be no likely significant effect on the Severn Estuary.  Therefore, any 
effect on the Severn Estuary arising from this allocation will have already been taken account of in previous planning consents. 
 

 
KP15: CLIMATE CHANGE 
EN12: RENEWABLE ENERGY 
AND LOW CARBON 
TECHNOLOGIES 
 
 

 
Installation of 
wind turbines 
leading to 
physical loss of 
supporting 
habitats 

 
As no specific locations for wind turbines are provided with these policies, on the Proposals map, their effects cannot be assessed at this 
stage.  However, where wind turbines are proposed for locations along the Cardiff foreshore, effects of disturbance caused by construction 
and operation of wind turbines will be considered in a Habitats Regulations Assessment at the individual project stage.  Consent for such 
projects will only be considered to conform to the LDP if it can be demonstrated that they will not have an adverse effect on the integrity of this 
SAC.    
 
In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
No other plans projects and programmes which could lead to the construction and operation of wind turbines around the Cardiff foreshore 
have been identified.  Other Local Authorities in the region have developed LDP policies which promote the use of renewable energy sources, 
which would include wind turbines, but no locations for these turbines are specified, so their in-combination effects cannot be assessed.  
Where individual projects elsewhere in the Severn Estuary involve the operation of wind turbines within this site, those projects would be each 
subject to an individual HRA. 
 

 
No 

 
KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH  
KP2: STRATEGIC SITES  
KP6: NEW INFRASTRUCTURE 
KP9: RESPONDING TO 
EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS 
(Employment) 
KP10: CENTRAL AND BAY 
BUSINESS AREAS 
KP11: MINERALS AND 

 
Land take, 
leading to loss 
of habitat 
 

 
Whilst land-take would result from these policies, and land take within the Severn Estuary SAC would be likely to significantly affect it, none of 
these policies direct land-take to within the boundaries of this site.  No clearly defined route for the Eastern Bay Link Road is provided with 
Policy T7, or on the Proposals Map.  Therefore there remains the potential that such a project would incur land-take within the Severn Estuary 
SAC if an Estuary Route option were selected.  If this were the case, the effects of land-take caused by construction and operation of this road 
will be considered in a Habitats Regulations Assessment at the project stage, when more details become available.  Consent for such a 
project will only be considered to conform to the LDP if it can be demonstrated that it will not have an adverse effect on the integrity of this 
SAC. 
 
 

 
No 

P
age 2410



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               31/53       Enfusion 

 

Severn Estuary SAC 

Policies Potential 
effects Test of Likely Significant Effect (LSE) 

Likely 
Significant 

Effect? 
AGGREGATES 
KP12: WASTE 
H1: NON STRATEGIC HOUSING 
SITES 
H7: ALLOCATION POLICY FOR 
GYPSY AND TRAVELLER 
SITE(S) 
H8: SITES FOR GYPSY AND 
TRAVELLER CARAVANS  
EC1: EXISTING EMPLOYMENT 
LAND 
EC5: HOTEL DEVELOPMENT 
T7: STRATEGIC 
TRANSPORTATION 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
R1: RETAIL PROVISION WITHIN 
STRATEGIC SITES 
C1: COMMUNITY FACILITIES 
C8: PLANNING FOR SCHOOLS. 
C9: NEW EDUCATIONAL 
FACILITIES 
C10: HEALTH EMPLOYMENT 
NON STRATEGIC ALLOCATION 
M3: QUARRY CLOSURES AND 
EXTENSION LIMITS 
M5: RESTORATION AND AFTER 
USE OF MINERAL WORKINGS 
M6: DREDGED AGGREGATE 
LANDING  
W1: LAND FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT 
W2: SITES FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT FACILITIES 
W3: PROVISION FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT FACILITIES IN 
DEVELOPMENT 
 

In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
No other plans projects and programmes which could lead to land-take around the Cardiff foreshore have been identified.  Where individual 
projects elsewhere in the Severn Estuary involve land take within this site, those projects would be each subject to an individual HRA. 
 

 
KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH  
KP2: STRATEGIC SITES  
KP11: MINERALS AND 
AGGREGATES 
KP12: WASTE 
H1: NON STRATEGIC HOUSING 
SITES 

 
Wastewater 
and sewage 
leading to 
contamination 
and changes in 
nutrient and/or 

 
None of the candidate sites for housing is within a European Site. However, increased sewage arising from these housing provisions may 
increase discharge into the Severn Estuary. This could potentially lead to changes in nutrient and /or organic loading, which could change the 
species composition of Saltmarsh plants and cause excessive algal growth on mudflats.  This could subsequently deny wetland birds access 
to their invertebrate prey.  At the current time there is no evidence to show that this is the case at this site, but the estuary is vulnerable to oil 
spills and JNCC states that there is a continuous discharge of toxins into the estuary, some of which bind to the sediments, although no 
specific sources or locations are identified. NE and CCW identify this is an area which requires further assessment. They also identify 

 
No 

P
age 2411



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               32/53       Enfusion 

 

Severn Estuary SAC 

Policies Potential 
effects Test of Likely Significant Effect (LSE) 

Likely 
Significant 

Effect? 
H7: ALLOCATION POLICY FOR 
GYPSY AND TRAVELLER 
SITE(S) 
H8: SITES FOR GYPSY AND 
TRAVELLER CARAVANS  
EC1: EXISTING EMPLOYMENT 
LAND 
EC5: HOTEL DEVELOPMENT 
R1: RETAIL PROVISION WITHIN 
STRATEGIC SITES 
C1: COMMUNITY FACILITIES 
C9: NEW EDUCATIONAL 
FACILITIES 
C10: HEALTH EMPLOYMENT 
NON STRATEGIC ALLOCATION 
M1: MINERAL LIMESTONE 
RESERVES AND RESOURCES 
M5: RESTORATION AND AFTER 
USE OF MINERAL WORKINGS 
M6: DREDGED AGGREGATE 
LANDING  
W1: LAND FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT 
W2: SITES FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT FACILITIES 
W3: PROVISION FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT FACILITIES IN 
DEVELOPMENT 
 

organic loading Bewick’s swans as currently moderately vulnerable to toxic contamination.  
 
Sewage from Cardiff west of the River Taff is treated at the Cog Moors Sewage Treatment Works (STW), serving the Barry and Cardiff West 
catchments.  This STW discharges to the Bristol Channel, via a long sea outfall, off Lavernock Point. Effluent is disinfected through ultra violet 
treatment, which reduces the environmental impact and protects water quality. Sewage from Cardiff east of the River Taff is treated at the 
WWTW at Tremorfa, and cleaned water is discharged via the outfall 4.2 Km into the estuary at ST25257393.   DCWW have confirmed that the 
WWTW at Tremorfa has sufficient capacity across the lifespan of the plan (2006 - 2026) to accommodate the domestic foul flows from all of 
the allocations in the Deposit LDP. 
 
In terms of water quality issues the Severn Estuary is under greatest threat from point source pollution within the area of designation.  The EA 
set very strict quality standards for the final effluent that can be returned to rivers, and Welsh Water achieved 99.85% compliance of 
wastewater treatment works in 2009. Given the regulatory compliance measures and the current favourable condition assessment for the 
Severn Estuary SSSIs that are components of the SAC, it is unlikely that development resulting from the Cardiff Deposit LDP will have a 
significant effect on the water quality of the Severn Estuary SAC/SPA/ Ramsar site.  
 
In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
Other plans and programmes which result in increased sewage discharge at the South Wales Coast, may act in combination with this policy to 
exacerbate nutrient and /or organic loading in the Severn Estuary, which could impact on the River Usk. Development plans for all unitary 
authorities whose sewage discharges at the South Wales Coast such as Caerphilly, RCT, Blaenau Gwent and Merthyr Tydfil make provision 
for a combined allocation of over 30000 new dwellings in total.  However, Dwr Cymru Welsh Water have had the opportunity to comment on 
these LDPs and the inclusion  of these levels of housing allocation indicates that there is the capacity to treat the predicted increase in 
sewage, 
 
Furthermore, all effluent is treated to meet the consent limits laid down by NRW and subject to strict conditions which include HRA processes 
where the potential for impacts on the estuary are identified.  Provided this continues to occur, there is not likely to be a significant effect on 
the Severn Estuary SAC by sewage outfall. 
 

M6: DREDGED AGGREGATE 
LANDING  
 

Aggregates 
removal, 
leading to 
damage by 
abrasion or 
selective 
abstraction 

Construction and operation of waste management facilities on industrial land adjacent to the Severn Estuary have the potential to have an 
effect upon the Severn Estuary European site. Polluted surface water runoff and aerial pollution during construction and operation may harm 
certain habitat features of the Severn Estuary SAC such as mudflats and saltmarsh, and key supporting habitats for the waterfowl such as 
intertidal mudflats and sandflats, saltmarsh, shingle and rocky shore, wet coastal grazing marsh, and improved grassland and open standing 
waters.   
 
However, one of the sites allocated in this policy which is close to the Severn Estuary European site already supports existing planning 
consents which have been the subject of previous Habitats Regulations Appraisals.  In all cases, these assessments found there to be no 
likely significant effect on the Severn Estuary.  Therefore, any effect on the Severn Estuary arising from this allocation will have already been 
taken account of in previous planning consents. 
 
In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
Regional strategies such as the TraCC Regional Transport Plan 2009, the SEWTA Rail Strategy Study Jan 2006 and the South East Wales 
Transport Alliance: Regional Transport Plan 2009 all seek a modal shift for private and freight transports onto more sustainable modes, 

No 

P
age 2412



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               33/53       Enfusion 

 

Severn Estuary SAC 

Policies Potential 
effects Test of Likely Significant Effect (LSE) 

Likely 
Significant 

Effect? 
reducing the impact of the transport system on the natural environment, reducing greenhouse gas emissions from transport, and reducing 
traffic growth and congestion.  These strategies will serve to reduce and offset the effects of any atmospheric pollution acting in combination 
with that arising from the Deposit LDP. 
Construction and operation of waste management facilities on industrial land adjacent to the Severn Estuary have the potential to have an 
effect upon the Severn Estuary International site. Visual and noise disturbance during construction may cause disturbance to waterfowl such 
as Shelduck, Oystercatcher, Dunlin, Curlew, Pintail and Redshank which are designatory features of the SPA and which form part of one of 
the notable estuarine species assemblages of the estuary feature of the SAC.     
 
However, one of the sites allocated in this policy which is close to the Severn Estuary European site already supports existing planning 
consents which have been the subject of previous Habitats Regulations Appraisals.  In all cases, these assessments found there to be no 
likely significant effect on the Severn Estuary.  Therefore, any effect on the Severn Estuary arising from this allocation will have already been 
taken account of in previous planning consents. 

 

P
age 2413



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               34/53       Enfusion 

 

 

Severn Estuary SPA 

Policies Potential effects Test of Likely Significant Effect (LSE) 
Likely 

Significant 
Effect? 

P
age 2414



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               35/53       Enfusion 

 

Severn Estuary SPA 

Policies Potential effects Test of Likely Significant Effect (LSE) 
Likely 

Significant 
Effect? 

 
KP11: MINERALS AND 
AGGREGATES 
KP12: WASTE 
M1: MINERAL LIMESTONE 
RESERVES AND 
RESOURCES 
M3: QUARRY CLOSURES 
AND EXTENSION LIMITS 
M5: RESTORATION AND 
AFTER USE OF MINERAL 
WORKINGS 
M6: DREDGED 
AGGREGATE LANDING 
AND DISTRIBUTION 
FACILITIES 
W1: LAND FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT 
W2: SITES FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT FACILITIES 
W3: PROVISION FOR 
WASTE MANAGEMENT 
FACILITIES IN 
DEVELOPMENT 
 

 
Contamination, 
accumulation of 
toxic substances 
 

 
Quarrying and associated activities are likely to generate dust, and whilst these activities in Cardiff will take place about 10 Km from the Severn 
Estuary, there is the potential for these dusts to be transported by wind to that site.  However,   the dispersal of dust particles is affected by the 
size of the particles emitted, and wind speed as well as their shape and density. Large dust particles (greater than 30µm), which make up the 
greatest proportion of dust emitted from mineral workings, will largely deposit within 100m of sources. Intermediate-sized particles (10–30µm) 
are likely to travel up to 200–500m.  Smaller particles (less than 10 µm) which make up a small proportion of the dust emitted from most mineral 
workings are only deposited slowly but may travel 1000m or more”.  (Office of the Deputy Prime Minister: Minerals Policy Statement 2: 
Controlling and Mitigating the Environmental Effects of Minerals Extraction in England. Annex 1: Dust (March 2005): 
http://www.communities.gov.uk/documents/planningandbuilding/pdf/mps2annex1.pdf).  
 
Therefore it is highly likely that these particulates will have dropped out of the atmosphere before reaching the Severn Estuary. 
 
Furthermore, according to the National Atmospheric Emissions Inventory, overall emissions of particulates have fallen by 58% since 1990.  If 
this downward trend continues, the total deposition of particulates at this site will gradually decrease, thereby reducing any impact upon the 
site’s features. http://naei.defra.gov.uk/overview/pollutants?pollutant_id=24 
 
Implementation of policies aimed at minimising air pollution and managing air quality (KP18: Natural Resources; EN13: Air, Noise, Light 
Pollution and Contaminated Land) would counteract any increase in atmospheric pollution resulting from this policy.  Policies relating to mineral 
extraction accord with Minerals Planning Policy Wales, which contains strong policies in regard to the protection of European Sites. 
 
All of the mineral extraction sites in Cardiff benefit from existing consents, and these consents were subject to a Review of Consents process in 
2010/11.  The conclusions of this review were that none of the extant consents were likely to have a significant effect upon any European Sites 
provided that planning conditions aimed at mitigating any effects of aerial pollution, are implemented.  If these planning conditions continue to 
be implemented, and similarly-worded conditions are attached to any new minerals consents issued, then this absence of any significant effect 
will continue. 
 
The features of the Severn Estuary SPA are sensitive to marine aggregates dredging, and whilst this activity is outside the control of Cardiff 
Council, the draft LDP contains a policy (M6) which protects sand wharves as shown on the Proposals Map against development which would 
prejudice their ability to land marine dredged sand and gravel.  The operation of these wharves is ongoing and Policy M6 would not lead to new 
wharves or increased capacity, so the policy (and thereby the draft LDP in this respect) would not have a significant effect upon the Severn 
Estuary SPA, above and beyond that which is already occurring. 
 
Construction and operation of waste management facilities on industrial land adjacent to the Severn Estuary have the potential to have an effect 
upon the Severn Estuary European site. Polluted surface water runoff and aerial pollution during construction and operation may harm certain 
habitat features such as mudflats and saltmarsh, and key supporting habitats for the waterfowl such as intertidal mudflats and sandflats, 
saltmarsh, shingle and rocky shore, wet coastal grazing marsh, and improved grassland and open standing waters.   
 
However, the site allocated in this policy already supports existing planning consents which have been the subject of previous Habitats 
Regulations Appraisals.  In all cases, these assessments found there to be no likely significant effect on the Severn Estuary.  Therefore, any 
effect on the Severn Estuary arising from this allocation will have already been taken account of in previous planning consents.  Any new 
consents arising from these policies will be subject to individual Habitats Regulations Assessments These consents will only be considered to 
conform to the LDP if it can be demonstrated that they will not have an adverse effect on the integrity of this SPA. 
 
In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 

 
No 

P
age 2415



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               36/53       Enfusion 

 

Severn Estuary SPA 

Policies Potential effects Test of Likely Significant Effect (LSE) 
Likely 

Significant 
Effect? 

 
Regional strategies such as the TraCC Regional Transport Plan 2009, the SEWTA Rail Strategy Study Jan 2006 and the South East Wales 
Transport Alliance: Regional Transport Plan 2009 all seek a modal shift for private and freight transports onto more sustainable modes, 
reducing the impact of the transport system on the natural environment, reducing greenhouse gas emissions from transport, and reducing traffic 
growth and congestion.  These strategies will serve to reduce and offset the effects of any atmospheric pollution acting in combination with that 
arising from the Deposit LDP. 
 

 
KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH  
KP2: STRATEGIC SITES  
KP6: NEW 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
KP9: RESPONDING TO 
EVIDENCED ECONOMIC 
NEEDS (Employment) 
KP10: CENTRAL AND BAY 
BUSINESS AREAS 
KP11: MINERALS AND 
AGGREGATES 
KP12: WASTE 
H1: NON STRATEGIC 
HOUSING SITES 
H7: ALLOCATION POLICY 
FOR GYPSY AND 
TRAVELLER SITE(S) 
EC1: EXISTING 
EMPLOYMENT LAND 
EC5: HOTEL 
DEVELOPMENT 
T7: STRATEGIC 
TRANSPORTATION 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
R1: RETAIL PROVISION 
WITHIN STRATEGIC SITES 
C1: COMMUNITY 
FACILITIES 
C8: PLANNING FOR 
SCHOOLS. 
C9: NEW EDUCATIONAL 
FACILITIES 
C10: HEALTH 
EMPLOYMENT NON 
STRATEGIC ALLOCATION 
M1: MINERAL LIMESTONE 

 
Dust, noise, 
vibration movement 
and odour 
associated with 
industrial and 
construction 
processes, leading 
to disturbance of 
species and 
changes in nutrient 
and/or organic 
loading 
 

 
The potential effects of dust, noise, vibration, movement and odour are localised in nature, and only those activities close to the foreshore which 
give rise to these effects have the potential to affect the SPA.  This excludes mineral extraction activities to the north of Cardiff, and allocations 
for housing and industry which are not situated near the foreshore.   
 
Construction and operation of waste management facilities on industrial land adjacent to the Severn Estuary has the potential to have an effect 
upon the Severn Estuary European site. However, the site allocated in this policy already supports existing planning consents which have been 
the subject of previous Habitats Regulations Appraisals.  In all cases, these assessments found there to be no likely significant effect on the 
Severn Estuary.  Therefore, any effect on the Severn Estuary arising from this allocation will have already been taken account of in previous 
planning consents.  Any new consents arising from these policies will be subject to individual Habitats Regulations Assessments These 
consents will only be considered to conform to the LDP if it can be demonstrated that they will not have an adverse effect on the integrity of this 
SPA. 
 
As no clearly defined route for the Eastern Bay Link Road is provided with Policy T7, or on the Proposals Map, there is insufficient information to 
assess the impacts of such a policy upon the Severn Estuary SPA.  The effects of the construction and operation of this road will therefore have 
to be considered in a Habitats Regulations Assessment at the project stage, when more details become available.  Consent for such a project 
will only be considered to conform to the LDP if it can be demonstrated that it will not have an adverse effect on the integrity of this SPA.    
 
In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
These potential effects are localised in nature, so only plans, projects and programmes which are close to those within Cardiff could act in 
combination with these policies.  Along the foreshore, neither of Cardiff’s neighbouring authorities (Vale of Glamorgan and Newport) have 
policies which direct development to the foreshore adjacent to the respective county boundaries with Cardiff which could cause dust, noise, 
vibration, movement and odour associated with industrial and construction processes. 
 

 
No 

P
age 2416



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               37/53       Enfusion 

 

Severn Estuary SPA 

Policies Potential effects Test of Likely Significant Effect (LSE) 
Likely 

Significant 
Effect? 

RESERVES AND 
RESOURCES 
M3: QUARRY CLOSURES 
AND EXTENSION LIMITS 
M5: RESTORATION AND 
AFTER USE OF MINERAL 
WORKINGS 
M6: DREDGED 
AGGREGATE LANDING 
AND DISTRIBUTION 
FACILITIES 
W1: LAND FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT 
W2: SITES FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT FACILITIES 
W3: PROVISION FOR 
WASTE MANAGEMENT 
FACILITIES IN 
DEVELOPMENT 
 
 
KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH  
KP2: STRATEGIC SITES  
KP6: NEW 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
KP9: RESPONDING TO 
EVIDENCED ECONOMIC 
NEEDS (Employment) 
KP10: CENTRAL AND BAY 
BUSINESS AREAS 
H1: NON STRATEGIC 
HOUSING SITES 
H7: ALLOCATION POLICY 
FOR GYPSY AND 
TRAVELLER SITE(S) 
H8: SITES FOR GYPSY 
AND TRAVELLER 
CARAVANS  
EC1: EXISTING 
EMPLOYMENT LAND 
EC5: HOTEL 
DEVELOPMENT 
T7: STRATEGIC 
TRANSPORTATION 

 
Impacts on surface 
water run-off, 
leading to 
contamination and 
changes in nutrient 
and/or organic 
loading 
 

 
The potential effects of surface water run-off are localised in nature, and only those activities close to the foreshore or to Cardiff Bay which give 
rise to these effects have the potential to affect the Ramsar site.  This excludes mineral extraction activities to the north of Cardiff, and 
allocations for housing and industry which are not situated near the foreshore.   
 
Construction and operation of waste management facilities on industrial land adjacent to the Severn Estuary has the potential to have an effect 
upon the Severn Estuary European site. However, the site allocated in this policy already supports existing planning consents which have been 
the subject of previous Habitats Regulations Appraisals.  In all cases, these assessments found there to be no likely significant effect on the 
Severn Estuary.  Therefore, any effect on the Severn Estuary arising from this allocation will have already been taken account of in previous 
planning consents.  Any new consents arising from these policies will be subject to individual Habitats Regulations Assessments These 
consents will only be considered to conform to the LDP if it can be demonstrated that they will not have an adverse effect on the integrity of this 
Ramsar site. 
 
Where policies direct development towards Cardiff Bay and the rivers that feed into it, they could potentially lead to pollution from a number of 
sources, including oil and chemical spills from industrial and commercial premises and vessels. If this pollution were to enter the Severn 
Estuary, there is a potential for harm to the designated features of Severn Estuary SPA.   
 
In view of Cardiff Bay's proximity to the Severn Estuary European site,  Cardiff Harbour Authority (CHA) has prepared an Oil Spill Contingency 
Plan in accordance with Clause 3(1)(d) of the Merchant Shipping (Oil Pollution Preparedness Response and Co-operation Convention) 
Regulations 1998, SI 1998 No 1056. The equipment for managing oil spills (and blue green algal scums) is the largest collection of its type in 
South East Wales. This plan has been reviewed and accepted by the Maritime and Coastguard Agency (MCA), and is reviewed by the 
Environment Team of the CHA on an annual basis. To help manage any pollution incidents which may occur along the Rivers Taff and Ely, the 
Environment Team have undertaken "time of travel" studies. The data collected has provided estimates of how long pollutants will take to reach 
the Bay from various locations and how they will disperse once in the Bay. This information will be used to ensure the effective deployment of 

 
No 

P
age 2417



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               38/53       Enfusion 

 

Severn Estuary SPA 

Policies Potential effects Test of Likely Significant Effect (LSE) 
Likely 

Significant 
Effect? 

INFRASTRUCTURE 
R1: RETAIL PROVISION 
WITHIN STRATEGIC SITES 
C1: COMMUNITY 
FACILITIES 
C8: PLANNING FOR 
SCHOOLS. 
C9: NEW EDUCATIONAL 
FACILITIES 
C10: HEALTH 
EMPLOYMENT NON 
STRATEGIC ALLOCATION 
 

pollution equipment to minimise the impact of any spills. A contingency plan that is effective for oil pollution will have much in common with 
plans required to combat other pollutants. The hazards, and techniques for cleaning-up, will vary, but command and control procedures will be 
very similar. 
 
With these measures in place it is unlikely that development arising from these policies will have a significant on the Severn Estuary SPA. 
 
As no clearly defined route for the Eastern Bay Link Road is provided with Policy T7, or on the Proposals Map, there is insufficient information to 
assess the impacts of such a policy upon the Severn Estuary SPA.  The effects of the construction and operation of this road will therefore have 
to be considered in a Habitats Regulations Assessment at the project stage, when more details become available.  Consent for such a project 
will only be considered to conform to the LDP if it can be demonstrated that it will not have an adverse effect on the integrity of this SPA.    
 
In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
Other plans and programmes which result in increased sewage discharge at the South Wales Coast, may act in combination with this policy to 
exacerbate nutrient and /or organic loading in the Severn Estuary, which could impact upon it. Development plans for all unitary authorities 
whose sewage discharges at the South Wales Coast such as Caerphilly, RCT, Blaenau Gwent and Merthyr Tydfil make provision for a 
combined allocation of over 30000 new dwellings in total.  However, Dwr Cymru Welsh Water have had the opportunity to comment on these 
LDPs and the inclusion  of these levels of housing allocation indicates that there is the capacity to treat the predicted increase in sewage, 
 
Furthermore, all effluent is treated to meet the consent limits laid down by the Environmental Agency and subject to strict conditions which 
include HRA processes where the potential for impacts on the estuary are identified.  Provided this continues to occur, there is not likely to be 
an in-combination significant effect on the SPA by sewage outfall. 
 

 
KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH  
KP2: STRATEGIC SITES  
KP9: RESPONDING TO 
EVIDENCED ECONOMIC 
NEEDS (Employment) 
KP10: CENTRAL AND BAY 
BUSINESS AREAS 
KP14: HEALTHY LIVING 
H1: NON STRATEGIC 
HOUSING SITES 
H7: ALLOCATION POLICY 
FOR GYPSY AND 
TRAVELLER SITE(S) 
H8: SITES FOR GYPSY AND 
TRAVELLER CARAVANS  
EC1: EXISTING 
EMPLOYMENT LAND 
EN4: RIVER VALLEYS 
T8: STRATEGIC 
RECREATIONAL ROUTES 

 
Increase in 
population and 
therefore recreation 
levels, leading to 
disturbance of 
species 
 

 
The National Coastal Path has already been subject to an Appropriate Assessment, which concluded no adverse effect on the integrity of the 
Severn Estuary European sites, subject to the implementation of mitigation measures.  This mitigation, which includes restricting access to 
sensitive habitats and natural screening to avoid disturbance to wetland birds, will ensure that this policy is not likely to have a significant effect 
upon these sites.   
 
Whilst there are policies which seek to encourage active lifestyles and outdoor recreation, including along the Wales Coastal Path, it is equally 
the case that citizens are more likely to make use of outdoor access and recreation facilities closer to where they live.   None of the proposed 
housing allocations on the Proposals Maps are close to the Wales Coastal Path, and for each such allocation there are alternative access and 
recreational facilities closer by, which will serve to mitigate any increase in recreational activity along the foreshore. 
 
In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
Welsh Coastal Tourism Strategy 2008. The purpose of the Welsh Coastal Tourism Strategy 2008 is to identify a clear way forward for the 
development of Coastal Tourism, which realises and builds on the economic potential of the coastline of Wales whilst respecting its 
environmental quality and recognising the importance of achieving community benefits. The strategy provides spatial guidance for the future 
allocation of funds to support coastal tourism in the regions of Wales through the Spatial Plan. 
 
However, as no specific locations are specified, no assessment of in-combination effects can be made at this stage. 
 

No P
age 2418



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               39/53       Enfusion 

 

Severn Estuary SPA 

Policies Potential effects Test of Likely Significant Effect (LSE) 
Likely 

Significant 
Effect? 

 

 
KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH  
KP2: STRATEGIC SITES  
KP9: RESPONDING TO 
EVIDENCED ECONOMIC 
NEEDS (Employment) 
KP10: CENTRAL AND BAY 
BUSINESS AREAS 
H1: NON STRATEGIC 
HOUSING SITES 
H7: ALLOCATION POLICY 
FOR GYPSY AND 
TRAVELLER SITE(S) 
H8: SITES FOR GYPSY AND 
TRAVELLER CARAVANS  
EC1: EXISTING 
EMPLOYMENT LAND 
EC5: HOTEL 
DEVELOPMENT 
R1: RETAIL PROVISION 
WITHIN STRATEGIC SITES 
C1: COMMUNITY 
FACILITIES 
C8: PLANNING FOR 
SCHOOLS. 
C9: NEW EDUCATIONAL 
FACILITIES 
C10: HEALTH 
EMPLOYMENT NON 
STRATEGIC ALLOCATION 
 

 
Increased noise 
and light pollution, 
leading to 
disturbance of 
species 
 

 
The potential effects of noise and light pollution are localised in nature, and only those activities directly adjacent to the foreshore which give 
rise to these effects have the potential to affect the Ramsar site.  This excludes mineral extraction activities to the north of Cardiff, and 
allocations for industry which are not situated near the foreshore, and all allocations for housing.   
 
Construction and operation of waste management facilities on industrial land adjacent to the Severn Estuary has the potential to have an effect 
upon the Severn Estuary European site. However, the site allocated in this policy already supports existing planning consents which have been 
the subject of previous Habitats Regulations Appraisals.  In all cases, these assessments found there to be no likely significant effect on the 
Severn Estuary.  Therefore, any effect on the Severn Estuary arising from this allocation will have already been taken account of in previous 
planning consents.  Any new consents arising from these policies will be subject to individual Habitats Regulations Assessments These 
consents will only be considered to conform to the LDP if it can be demonstrated that they will not have an adverse effect on the integrity of this 
SPA. 
 
In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
These potential effects are localised in nature, so only plans, projects and programmes which are close to those within Cardiff could act in 
combination with these policies.  Along the foreshore, neither of Cardiff’s neighbouring authorities (Vale of Glamorgan and Newport) have 
policies which direct development to the foreshore adjacent to the respective county boundaries with Cardiff,  which could cause noise and light 
pollution.   
 

 
No 

 
KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH  
KP2: STRATEGIC SITES  
KP6: NEW 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
KP9: RESPONDING TO 
EVIDENCED ECONOMIC 
NEEDS (Employment) 
KP10: CENTRAL AND BAY 
BUSINESS AREAS 
KP11: MINERALS AND 

 
Increased traffic 
movements, 
leading to 
disturbance of 
species and 
contamination of 
habitats 
 

 
The LDP contains policies intended to reduce dependency on car travel, facilitate and increase use of sustainable and active modes of transport 
(Policies KP8, T1, T2, T3, T5), mitigate the effects of climate change (Policies KP15 and EN12), and promote the sustainable use of natural 
resources (Policies KP18, EN10 and EN11).  In the long-term these measures will mitigate or off-set any increase in atmospheric pollution as a 
result of the LDP and should lead to gradual improvements in air quality. 
 
Furthermore, levels of NO2 across Wales are recorded as decreasing, and recorded areas of NO2 pollution concern in Cardiff are in the City 
Centre rather than near the foreshore. Similarly, according to the National Atmospheric Emissions Inventory, overall emissions of particulates 
have fallen by 58% since 1990.  If this downward trend continues, the total deposition of particulates at this site will gradually decrease, thereby 
reducing any impact upon the site’s features. http://naei.defra.gov.uk/overview/pollutants?pollutant_id=24 
 

 
No 

P
age 2419



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               40/53       Enfusion 

 

Severn Estuary SPA 

Policies Potential effects Test of Likely Significant Effect (LSE) 
Likely 

Significant 
Effect? 

AGGREGATES 
KP12: WASTE 
H1: NON STRATEGIC 
HOUSING SITES 
H7: ALLOCATION POLICY 
FOR GYPSY AND 
TRAVELLER SITE(S) 
H8: SITES FOR GYPSY AND 
TRAVELLER CARAVANS  
EC1: EXISTING 
EMPLOYMENT LAND 
EC5: HOTEL 
DEVELOPMENT 
T7: STRATEGIC 
TRANSPORTATION 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
R1: RETAIL PROVISION 
WITHIN STRATEGIC SITES 
C1: COMMUNITY 
FACILITIES 
C8: PLANNING FOR 
SCHOOLS. 
C9: NEW EDUCATIONAL 
FACILITIES 
C10: HEALTH 
EMPLOYMENT NON 
STRATEGIC ALLOCATION 
M3: QUARRY CLOSURES 
AND EXTENSION LIMITS 
M5: RESTORATION AND 
AFTER USE OF MINERAL 
WORKINGS 
M6: DREDGED 
AGGREGATE LANDING 
AND  
DISTRIBUTION FACILITIES 
W1: LAND FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT 
W2: SITES FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT FACILITIES 
W3: PROVISION FOR 
WASTE MANAGEMENT 
FACILITIES IN 
DEVELOPMENT 

As no clearly defined route for the Eastern Bay Link Road is provided with Policy T7, or on the Proposals Map, there is insufficient information to 
assess the impacts of such a policy upon the Severn Estuary Ramsar site.  The effects of the construction and operation of this road will 
therefore have to be considered in a Habitats Regulations Assessment at the project stage, when more details become available.  Consent for 
such a project will only be considered to conform to the LDP if it can be demonstrated that it will not have an adverse effect on the integrity of 
this SPA.    
 
In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
The Wales Spatial Plan (Update) 2008 and promotes developments in the region, however none of the three Strategic Opportunity Areas within 
that document entails land-take at this site, and any increase in aerial pollution due to traffic movement is likely to be counteracted by other 
regional strategies such as the Wales Transport Strategy 2008, the SEWTA Regional Transport Plan 2009 and the SEWTA Rail Strategy Study 
2006.  These strategies all seek a modal shift for private and freight transports onto more sustainable modes, reducing the impact of the 
transport system on the natural environment, reducing greenhouse gas emissions from transport, and reducing traffic growth and congestion.  
These strategies will serve to reduce and offset the effects of any atmospheric pollution acting in combination with that arising from the 
Preferred Construction and operation of waste management facilities on industrial land adjacent to the Severn Estuary have the potential to 
have an effect upon the Severn Estuary International site. Visual and noise disturbance during construction may cause disturbance to waterfowl 
such as Shelduck, Oystercatcher, Dunlin, Curlew, Pintail and Redshank which are designatory features of the SPA and which form part of one 
of the notable estuarine species assemblages of the estuary feature of the SAC.     
 
However, the site allocated in this policy already supports existing planning consents which have been the subject of previous Habitats 
Regulations Appraisals.  In all cases, these assessments found there to be no likely significant effect on the Severn Estuary.  Therefore, any 
effect on the Severn Estuary arising from this allocation will have already been taken account of in previous planning consents. 
 

P
age 2420



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               41/53       Enfusion 

 

Severn Estuary SPA 

Policies Potential effects Test of Likely Significant Effect (LSE) 
Likely 

Significant 
Effect? 

 
 
KP15: CLIMATE CHANGE 
EN12: RENEWABLE 
ENERGY AND LOW 
CARBON TECHNOLOGIES 
 

 
Installation of wind 
turbines leading to 
physical loss of 
habitats and direct 
harm to bird 
species 

 
As no specific locations for wind turbines are provided with these policies, on the Proposals map, their effects cannot be assessed at this stage.  
However, where wind turbines are proposed for locations along the Cardiff foreshore, effects of disturbance caused by construction and 
operation of wind turbines will be considered in a Habitats Regulations Assessment at the individual project stage.  Consent for such projects 
will only be considered to conform to the LDP if it can be demonstrated that they will not have an adverse effect on the integrity of this SPA.    
 
In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
No other plans projects and programmes which could lead to the construction and operation of wind turbines around the Cardiff foreshore have 
been identified.  Other Local Authorities in the region have developed LDP policies which promote the use of renewable energy sources, which 
would include wind turbines, but no locations for these turbines are specified, so their in-combination effects cannot be assessed.  Where 
individual projects elsewhere in the Severn Estuary involve the operation of wind turbines within this site, those projects would be each subject 
to an individual HRA. 
 

 
No 

 
KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH  
KP2: STRATEGIC SITES  
KP6: NEW 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
KP9: RESPONDING TO 
EVIDENCED ECONOMIC 
NEEDS (Employment) 
KP10: CENTRAL AND BAY 
BUSINESS AREAS 
KP11: MINERALS AND 
AGGREGATES 
KP12: WASTE 
H1: NON STRATEGIC 
HOUSING SITES 
H7: ALLOCATION POLICY 
FOR GYPSY AND 
TRAVELLER SITE(S) 
H8: SITES FOR GYPSY AND 
TRAVELLER CARAVANS  
EC1: EXISTING 
EMPLOYMENT LAND 
EC5: HOTEL 
DEVELOPMENT 
T7: STRATEGIC 
TRANSPORTATION 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
R1: RETAIL PROVISION 
WITHIN STRATEGIC SITES 

 
Land take, leading 
to loss of habitat 
 

 
Whilst land-take would result from these policies, and land take within the Severn Estuary SPA would be likely to significantly affect it, none of 
these policies direct land-take to within the boundaries of this site.  No clearly defined route for the Eastern Bay Link Road is provided with 
Policy T7, or on the Proposals Map.  Therefore there remains the potential that such a project would incur land-take within the Severn Estuary 
SPA if an Estuary Route option were selected.  If this were the case, the effects of land-take caused by construction and operation of this road 
will be considered in a Habitats Regulations Assessment at the project stage, when more details become available..  Consent for such a project 
will only be considered to conform to the LDP if it can be demonstrated that it will not have an adverse effect on the integrity of this SPA 
 
 
In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
No other plans projects and programmes which could lead to land-take around the Cardiff foreshore have been identified.  Where individual 
projects elsewhere in the Severn Estuary involve land take within this site, those projects would be each subject to an individual HRA. 
 

 
No 

P
age 2421



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               42/53       Enfusion 

 

Severn Estuary SPA 

Policies Potential effects Test of Likely Significant Effect (LSE) 
Likely 

Significant 
Effect? 

C1: COMMUNITY 
FACILITIES 
C8: PLANNING FOR 
SCHOOLS. 
C9: NEW EDUCATIONAL 
FACILITIES 
C10: HEALTH 
EMPLOYMENT NON 
STRATEGIC ALLOCATION 
M3: QUARRY CLOSURES 
AND EXTENSION LIMITS 
M5: RESTORATION AND 
AFTER USE OF MINERAL 
WORKINGS 
M6: DREDGED 
AGGREGATE LANDING 
AND DISTRIBUTION 
FACILITIES 
W1: LAND FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT 
W2: SITES FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT FACILITIES 
W3: PROVISION FOR 
WASTE MANAGEMENT 
FACILITIES IN 
DEVELOPMENT 
 
 
KP6: NEW 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
T7: STRATEGIC 
TRANSPORTATION 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
 

 
Laying pipes and 
cables, leading to 
disturbance of 
species 

 
Laying pipes and cables within the Severn Estuary SPA would be likely to significantly affect it, none of these policies direct land-take to within 
the boundaries of this site.  No clearly defined route for the Eastern Bay Link Road is provided with Policy T7, or on the Proposals Map.  
Therefore there remains the potential that such a project would result in these activities within the Severn Estuary SPA if an Estuary Route 
option were selected.  If this were the case, the effects of Laying pipes and cables ancillary to construction and operation of this road will be 
considered in a Habitats Regulations Assessment at the project stage, when more details become available.  Consent for such a project will 
only be considered to conform to the LDP if it can be demonstrated that it will not have an adverse effect on the integrity of this SPA. 
 
In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
No other plans projects and programmes which could lead to the laying of pipes and cables around the Cardiff foreshore have been identified. 
 

 
No 

 
KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH  
KP2: STRATEGIC SITES  
KP11: MINERALS AND 
AGGREGATES 

 
Wastewater and 
sewage, leading to 
contamination and 
changes in nutrient 

 
None of the candidate sites for housing is within a European Site. However, increased sewage arising from these housing provisions may 
increase discharge into the Severn Estuary. This could potentially lead to changes in nutrient and /or organic loading, which could change the 
species composition of Saltmarsh plants and cause excessive algal growth on mudflats.  This could subsequently deny wetland birds access to 
their invertebrate prey.  At the current time there is no evidence to show that this is the case at this site, but the estuary is vulnerable to oil spills 

 
No 

P
age 2422



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               43/53       Enfusion 

 

Severn Estuary SPA 

Policies Potential effects Test of Likely Significant Effect (LSE) 
Likely 

Significant 
Effect? 

KP12: WASTE 
H1: NON STRATEGIC 
HOUSING SITES 
H7: ALLOCATION POLICY 
FOR GYPSY AND 
TRAVELLER SITE(S) 
H8: SITES FOR GYPSY AND 
TRAVELLER CARAVANS  
EC1: EXISTING 
EMPLOYMENT LAND 
EC5: HOTEL 
DEVELOPMENT 
R1: RETAIL PROVISION 
WITHIN STRATEGIC SITES 
C1: COMMUNITY 
FACILITIES 
C9: NEW EDUCATIONAL 
FACILITIES 
C10: HEALTH 
EMPLOYMENT NON 
STRATEGIC ALLOCATION 
M1: MINERAL LIMESTONE 
RESERVES AND 
RESOURCES 
M5: RESTORATION AND 
AFTER USE OF MINERAL 
WORKINGS 
M6: DREDGED 
AGGREGATE LANDING 
AND DISTRIBUTION 
FACILITIES 
W1: LAND FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT 
W2: SITES FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT FACILITIES 
W3: PROVISION FOR 
WASTE MANAGEMENT 
FACILITIES IN 
DEVELOPMENT 
 

and/or organic 
loading 

and JNCC states that there is a continuous discharge of toxins into the estuary, some of which bind to the sediments, although no specific 
sources or locations are identified. NE and CCW identify this is an area which requires further assessment. They also identify Bewick’s swans 
as currently moderately vulnerable to toxic contamination.  
 
Sewage from Cardiff west of the River Taff is treated at the Cog Moors Sewage Treatment Works (STW), serving the Barry and Cardiff West 
catchments.  This STW discharges to the Bristol Channel, via a long sea outfall, off Lavernock Point. Effluent is disinfected through ultra violet 
treatment, which reduces the environmental impact and protects water quality. Sewage from Cardiff east of the River Taff is treated at the 
WWTW at Tremorfa, and cleaned water is discharged via the outfall 4.2 Km into the estuary at ST25257393.   DCWW have confirmed that the 
WWTW at Tremorfa has sufficient capacity across the lifespan of the plan (2006 - 2026) to accommodate the domestic foul flows from all of the 
allocations in the Deposit LDP. 
 
In terms of water quality issues the Severn Estuary is under greatest threat from point source pollution within the area of designation.  The EA 
set very strict quality standards for the final effluent that can be returned to rivers, and Welsh Water achieved 99.85% compliance of wastewater 
treatment works in 2009. Given the regulatory compliance measures and the current favourable condition assessment for the Severn Estuary 
SSSIs that are components of the SAC, it is unlikely that development resulting from the Cardiff Deposit LDP will have a significant effect on the 
water quality of the Severn Estuary SAC/SPA/ Ramsar site.  
 
In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
Other plans and programmes which result in increased sewage discharge at the South Wales Coast, may act in combination with this policy to 
exacerbate nutrient and /or organic loading in the Severn Estuary, which could impact on the River Usk. Development plans for all unitary 
authorities whose sewage discharges at the South Wales Coast such as Caerphilly, RCT, Blaenau Gwent and Merthyr Tydfil make provision for 
a combined allocation of over 30000 new dwellings in total.  However, Dwr Cymru Welsh Water have had the opportunity to comment on these 
LDPs and the inclusion  of these levels of housing allocation indicates that there is the capacity to treat the predicted increase in sewage, 
 
Furthermore, all effluent is treated to meet the consent limits laid down by NRW and subject to strict conditions which include HRA processes 
where the potential for impacts on the estuary are identified.  Provided this continues to occur, there is not likely to be a significant effect on the 
Severn Estuary SPA by sewage outfall. 
 

P
age 2423



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               44/53       Enfusion 

 

Severn Estuary SPA 

Policies Potential effects Test of Likely Significant Effect (LSE) 
Likely 

Significant 
Effect? 

 
M6: DREDGED 
AGGREGATE LANDING  
 

 
Aggregates 
removal, leading to 
damage by 
abrasion or 
selective 
abstraction 

 
The features of the Severn Estuary SPA may indirectly be sensitive to marine aggregates dredging, and whilst this activity is outside the control 
of Cardiff Council, the draft LDP contains a policy (M6) which protects sand wharves as shown on the Proposals Map against development 
which would prejudice their ability to land marine dredged sand and gravel.  The operation of these wharves is ongoing and Policy M6 would not 
lead to new wharves or increased capacity, so the policy (and thereby the draft LDP in this respect) would not have a significant effect upon the 
Severn Estuary SPA, above and beyond that which is already occurring. 
 
In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
Whilst there are other plans, projects and programmes in the Severn Estuary area which may increase the dredging of aggregates, none of 
these would affect the landing facilities at Cardiff Docks. 
 

 
No 

 
 

Severn Estuary Ramsar 

Policies Potential effects Test of Likely Significant Effect (LSE) 
Likely 

Significant 
Effect? 

P
age 2424



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               45/53       Enfusion 

 

Severn Estuary Ramsar 

Policies Potential effects Test of Likely Significant Effect (LSE) 
Likely 

Significant 
Effect? 

 
KP11: MINERALS AND 
AGGREGATES 
KP12: WASTE 
M1: MINERAL LIMESTONE 
RESERVES AND RESOURCES 
M3: QUARRY CLOSURES AND 
EXTENSION LIMITS 
M5: RESTORATION AND AFTER 
USE OF MINERAL WORKINGS 
M6: DREDGED AGGREGATE 
LANDING AND DISTRIBUTION 
FACILITIES 
W1: LAND FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT 
W2: SITES FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT FACILITIES 
W3: PROVISION FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT FACILITIES IN 
DEVELOPMENT 
 

 
Contamination, 
accumulation of toxic 
substances 
 

 
Quarrying and associated activities are likely to generate dust, and whilst these activities in Cardiff will take place about 10 Km from 
the Severn Estuary, there is the potential for these dusts to be transported by wind to that site.  However,   the dispersal of dust 
particles is affected by the size of the particles emitted, and wind speed as well as their shape and density. Large dust particles 
(greater than 30µm), which make up the greatest proportion of dust emitted from mineral workings, will largely deposit within 100m 
of sources. Intermediate-sized particles (10–30µm) are likely to travel up to 200–500m.  Smaller particles (less than 10 µm) which 
make up a small proportion of the dust emitted from most mineral workings are only deposited slowly but may travel 1000m or 
more”.  (Office of the Deputy Prime Minister: Minerals Policy Statement 2: Controlling and Mitigating the Environmental Effects of 
Minerals Extraction in England. Annex 1: Dust (March 2005): 
http://www.communities.gov.uk/documents/planningandbuilding/pdf/mps2annex1.pdf).  
 
Therefore it is highly likely that these particulates will have dropped out of the atmosphere before reaching the Severn Estuary. 
 
Furthermore, according to the National Atmospheric Emissions Inventory, overall emissions of particulates have fallen by 58% since 
1990.  If this downward trend continues, the total deposition of particulates at this site will gradually decrease, thereby reducing any 
impact upon the site’s features. http://naei.defra.gov.uk/overview/pollutants?pollutant_id=24 
 
Implementation of policies aimed at minimising air pollution and managing air quality (KP18: Natural Resources; EN13: Air, Noise, 
Light Pollution and Contaminated Land) would counteract any increase in atmospheric pollution resulting from this policy.  Policies 
relating to mineral extraction accord with Minerals Planning Policy Wales, which contains strong policies in regard to the protection 
of European Sites. 
 
All of the mineral extraction sites in Cardiff benefit from existing consents, and these consents were subject to a Review of Consents 
process in 2010/11.  The conclusions of this review were that none of the extant consents were likely to have a significant effect 
upon any European Sites provided that planning conditions aimed at mitigating any effects of aerial pollution, are implemented.  If 
these planning conditions continue to be implemented, and similarly-worded conditions are attached to any new minerals consents 
issued, then this absence of any significant effect will continue. 
 
The features of the Severn Estuary Ramsar site are sensitive to marine aggregates dredging, and whilst this activity is outside the 
control of Cardiff Council, the draft LDP contains a policy (M6) which protects sand wharves as shown on the Proposals Map against 
development which would prejudice their ability to land marine dredged sand and gravel.  The operation of these wharves is ongoing 
and Policy M6 would not lead to new wharves or increased capacity, so the policy (and thereby the draft LDP in this respect) would 
not have a significant effect upon the Severn Estuary Ramsar, above and beyond that which is already occurring. 
 
Construction and operation of waste management facilities on industrial land adjacent to the Severn Estuary have the potential to 
have an effect upon the Severn Estuary European site. Polluted surface water runoff and aerial pollution during construction and 
operation may harm certain habitat features such as mudflats and saltmarsh, and key supporting habitats for the waterfowl such as 
intertidal mudflats and sandflats, saltmarsh, shingle and rocky shore, wet coastal grazing marsh, and improved grassland and open 
standing waters.   
 
However, the site allocated in this policy already supports existing planning consents which have been the subject of previous 
Habitats Regulations Appraisals.  In all cases, these assessments found there to be no likely significant effect on the Severn 
Estuary.  Therefore, any effect on the Severn Estuary arising from this allocation will have already been taken account of in previous 
planning consents.  Any new consents arising from these policies will be subject to individual Habitats Regulations Assessments 

 
No 

P
age 2425



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               46/53       Enfusion 

 

Severn Estuary Ramsar 

Policies Potential effects Test of Likely Significant Effect (LSE) 
Likely 

Significant 
Effect? 

These consents will only be considered to conform to the LDP if it can be demonstrated that they will not have an adverse effect on 
the integrity of this Ramsar site. 
 
In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
Regional strategies such as the TraCC Regional Transport Plan 2009, the SEWTA Rail Strategy Study Jan 2006 and the South East 
Wales Transport Alliance: Regional Transport Plan 2009 all seek a modal shift for private and freight transports onto more 
sustainable modes, reducing the impact of the transport system on the natural environment, reducing greenhouse gas emissions 
from transport, and reducing traffic growth and congestion.  These strategies will serve to reduce and offset the effects of any 
atmospheric pollution acting in combination with that arising from the Deposit LDP. 
 

 
KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH  
KP2: STRATEGIC SITES  
KP6: NEW INFRASTRUCTURE 
KP9: RESPONDING TO 
EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS 
(Employment) 
KP10: CENTRAL AND BAY 
BUSINESS AREAS 
KP11: MINERALS AND 
AGGREGATES 
KP12: WASTE 
H1: NON STRATEGIC HOUSING 
SITES 
H7: ALLOCATION POLICY FOR 
GYPSY AND TRAVELLER SITE(S) 
EC1: EXISTING EMPLOYMENT 
LAND 
EC5: HOTEL DEVELOPMENT 
T7: STRATEGIC 
TRANSPORTATION 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
R1: RETAIL PROVISION WITHIN 
STRATEGIC SITES 
C1: COMMUNITY FACILITIES 
C8: PLANNING FOR SCHOOLS. 
C9: NEW EDUCATIONAL 
FACILITIES 
C10: HEALTH EMPLOYMENT NON 
STRATEGIC ALLOCATION 
M1: MINERAL LIMESTONE 

 
Dust, noise, vibration, 
movement and odour 
associated with industrial 
and construction 
processes, leading to 
disturbance to species 
and changes in nutrient 
and/or organic loading to 
habitats 
 

 
The potential effects of dust, noise, vibration, movement and odour are localised in nature, and only those activities close to the 
foreshore which give rise to these effects have the potential to affect the Ramsar site.  This excludes mineral extraction activities to 
the north of Cardiff, and allocations for housing and industry which are not situated near the foreshore.   
 
Construction and operation of waste management facilities on industrial land adjacent to the Severn Estuary has the potential to 
have an effect upon the Severn Estuary European site. However, the site allocated in this policy already supports existing planning 
consents which have been the subject of previous Habitats Regulations Appraisals.  In all cases, these assessments found there to 
be no likely significant effect on the Severn Estuary.  Therefore, any effect on the Severn Estuary arising from this allocation will 
have already been taken account of in previous planning consents.  Any new consents arising from these policies will be subject to 
individual Habitats Regulations Assessments These consents will only be considered to conform to the LDP if it can be 
demonstrated that they will not have an adverse effect on the integrity of this Ramsar site. 
 
As no clearly defined route for the Eastern Bay Link Road is provided with Policy T7, or on the Proposals Map, there is insufficient 
information to assess the impacts of such a policy upon the Severn Estuary Ramsar site.  The effects of the construction and 
operation of this road will therefore have to be considered in a Habitats Regulations Assessment at the project stage, when more 
details become available.  Consent for such a project will only be considered to conform to the LDP if it can be demonstrated that it 
will not have an adverse effect on the integrity of this Ramsar site.    
 
In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
These potential effects are localised in nature, so only plans, projects and programmes which are close to those within Cardiff could 
act in combination with these policies.  Along the foreshore, neither of Cardiff’s neighbouring authorities (Vale of Glamorgan and 
Newport) have policies which direct development to the foreshore adjacent to the respective county boundaries with Cardiff which 
could cause dust, noise, vibration, movement and odour associated with industrial and construction processes. 
 

No 

P
age 2426



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               47/53       Enfusion 

 

Severn Estuary Ramsar 

Policies Potential effects Test of Likely Significant Effect (LSE) 
Likely 

Significant 
Effect? 

RESERVES AND RESOURCES 
M3: QUARRY CLOSURES AND 
EXTENSION LIMITS 
M5: RESTORATION AND AFTER 
USE OF MINERAL WORKINGS 
M6: DREDGED AGGREGATE 
LANDING AND DISTRIBUTION 
FACILITIES 
W1: LAND FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT 
W2: SITES FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT FACILITIES 
W3: PROVISION FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT FACILITIES IN 
DEVELOPMENT 
 
 
KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH  
KP2: STRATEGIC SITES  
KP6: NEW INFRASTRUCTURE 
KP9: RESPONDING TO 
EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS 
(Employment) 
KP10: CENTRAL AND BAY 
BUSINESS AREAS 
H1: NON STRATEGIC HOUSING 
SITES 
H7: ALLOCATION POLICY FOR 
GYPSY AND TRAVELLER SITE(S) 
H8: SITES FOR GYPSY AND 
TRAVELLER CARAVANS  
EC1: EXISTING EMPLOYMENT 
LAND 
EC5: HOTEL DEVELOPMENT 
T7: STRATEGIC 
TRANSPORTATION 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
R1: RETAIL PROVISION WITHIN 
STRATEGIC SITES 
C1: COMMUNITY FACILITIES 
C8: PLANNING FOR SCHOOLS. 
C9: NEW EDUCATIONAL 
FACILITIES 
C10: HEALTH EMPLOYMENT NON 

 
Impacts on surface water 
run-off, leading to 
contamination and 
changes in nutrient 
and/or organic loading 
 

 
The potential effects of surface water run-off are localised in nature, and only those activities close to the foreshore or to Cardiff Bay 
which give rise to these effects have the potential to affect the Ramsar site.  This excludes mineral extraction activities to the north of 
Cardiff, and allocations for housing and industry which are not situated near the foreshore.   
 
Construction and operation of waste management facilities on industrial land adjacent to the Severn Estuary has the potential to 
have an effect upon the Severn Estuary European site. However, the site allocated in this policy already supports existing planning 
consents which have been the subject of previous Habitats Regulations Appraisals.  In all cases, these assessments found there to 
be no likely significant effect on the Severn Estuary.  Therefore, any effect on the Severn Estuary arising from this allocation will 
have already been taken account of in previous planning consents.  Any new consents arising from these policies will be subject to 
individual Habitats Regulations Assessments These consents will only be considered to conform to the LDP if it can be 
demonstrated that they will not have an adverse effect on the integrity of this Ramsar site. 
 
Where policies direct development towards Cardiff Bay and the rivers that feed into it, they could potentially lead to pollution from a 
number of sources, including oil and chemical spills from industrial and commercial premises and vessels. If this pollution were to 
enter the Severn Estuary, there is a potential for harm to the designated features of Severn Estuary Ramsar site.   
 
In view of Cardiff Bay's proximity to the Severn Estuary European site,  Cardiff Harbour Authority (CHA) has prepared an Oil Spill 
Contingency Plan in accordance with Clause 3(1)(d) of the Merchant Shipping (Oil Pollution Preparedness Response and Co-
operation Convention) Regulations 1998, SI 1998 No 1056. The equipment for managing oil spills (and blue green algal scums) is 
the largest collection of its type in South East Wales. This plan has been reviewed and accepted by the Maritime and Coastguard 
Agency (MCA), and is reviewed by the Environment Team of the CHA on an annual basis. To help manage any pollution incidents 
which may occur along the Rivers Taff and Ely, the Environment Team have undertaken "time of travel" studies. The data collected 
has provided estimates of how long pollutants will take to reach the Bay from various locations and how they will disperse once in 
the Bay. This information will be used to ensure the effective deployment of pollution equipment to minimise the impact of any spills. 
A contingency plan that is effective for oil pollution will have much in common with plans required to combat other pollutants. The 
hazards, and techniques for cleaning-up, will vary, but command and control procedures will be very similar. 
 

 
No 

P
age 2427



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               48/53       Enfusion 

 

Severn Estuary Ramsar 

Policies Potential effects Test of Likely Significant Effect (LSE) 
Likely 

Significant 
Effect? 

STRATEGIC ALLOCATION 
 

With these measures in place it is unlikely that development arising from these policies will have a significant on the Severn Estuary 
Ramsar site 
 
As no clearly defined route for the Eastern Bay Link Road is provided with Policy T7, or on the Proposals Map, there is insufficient 
information to assess the impacts of such a policy upon the Severn Estuary Ramsar site.  The effects of the construction and 
operation of this road will therefore have to be considered in a Habitats Regulations Assessment at the project stage, when more 
details become available.  Consent for such a project will only be considered to conform to the LDP if it can be demonstrated that it 
will not have an adverse effect on the integrity of this Ramsar site.    
 
In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
Other plans and programmes which result in increased sewage discharge at the South Wales Coast, may act in combination with 
this policy to exacerbate nutrient and /or organic loading in the Severn Estuary, which could impact upon it. Development plans for 
all unitary authorities whose sewage discharges at the South Wales Coast such as Caerphilly, RCT, Blaenau Gwent and Merthyr 
Tydfil make provision for a combined allocation of over 30000 new dwellings in total.  However, Dwr Cymru Welsh Water have had 
the opportunity to comment on these LDPs and the inclusion  of these levels of housing allocation indicates that there is the capacity 
to treat the predicted increase in sewage, 
 
Furthermore, all effluent is treated to meet the consent limits laid down by the Environmental Agency and subject to strict conditions 
which include HRA processes where the potential for impacts on the estuary are identified.  Provided this continues to occur, there is 
not likely to be an in-combination significant effect on the Ramsar Site by sewage outfall. 
 
 
 

 
KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH  
KP2: STRATEGIC SITES  
KP9: RESPONDING TO 
EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS 
(Employment) 
KP10: CENTRAL AND BAY 
BUSINESS AREAS 
KP14: HEALTHY LIVING 
H1: NON STRATEGIC HOUSING 
SITES 
H7: ALLOCATION POLICY FOR 
GYPSY AND TRAVELLER SITE(S) 
H8: SITES FOR GYPSY AND 
TRAVELLER CARAVANS  
EC1: EXISTING EMPLOYMENT 
LAND 
EN4: RIVER VALLEYS 
T8: STRATEGIC RECREATIONAL 
ROUTES 

 
Increase in population 
and therefore recreation 
levels, leading to 
disturbance of species 
 

 
The National Coastal Path has already been subject to an Appropriate Assessment, which concluded no adverse effect on the 
integrity of the Severn Estuary European sites, subject to the implementation of mitigation measures.  This mitigation, which includes 
restricting access to sensitive habitats and natural screening to avoid disturbance to wetland birds, will ensure that this policy is not 
likely to have a significant effect upon these sites.   
 
Whilst there are policies which seek to encourage active lifestyles and outdoor recreation, including along the Wales Coastal Path, it 
is equally the case that citizens are more likely to make use of outdoor access and recreation facilities closer to where they live.  
None of the proposed housing allocations on the Proposals Maps are close to the Wales Coastal Path, and for each such allocation 
there are alternative access and recreational facilities closer by, which will serve to mitigate any increase in recreational activity 
along the foreshore. 
 
In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
Welsh Coastal Tourism Strategy 2008. The purpose of the Welsh Coastal Tourism Strategy 2008 is to identify a clear way forward 
for the development of Coastal Tourism, which realises and builds on the economic potential of the coastline of Wales whilst 
respecting its environmental quality and recognising the importance of achieving community benefits. The strategy provides spatial 
guidance for the future allocation of funds to support coastal tourism in the regions of Wales through the Spatial Plan. 
 
However, as no specific locations are specified, no assessment of in-combination effects can be made at this stage. 

 
No 

P
age 2428



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               49/53       Enfusion 

 

Severn Estuary Ramsar 

Policies Potential effects Test of Likely Significant Effect (LSE) 
Likely 

Significant 
Effect? 

  
 
 
 

 
KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH  
KP2: STRATEGIC SITES  
KP9: RESPONDING TO 
EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS 
(Employment) 
KP10: CENTRAL AND BAY 
BUSINESS AREAS 
H1: NON STRATEGIC HOUSING 
SITES 
H7: ALLOCATION POLICY FOR 
GYPSY AND TRAVELLER SITE(S) 
H8: SITES FOR GYPSY AND 
TRAVELLER CARAVANS  
EC1: EXISTING EMPLOYMENT 
LAND 
EC5: HOTEL DEVELOPMENT 
R1: RETAIL PROVISION WITHIN 
STRATEGIC SITES 
C1: COMMUNITY FACILITIES 
C8: PLANNING FOR SCHOOLS. 
C9: NEW EDUCATIONAL 
FACILITIES 
C10: HEALTH EMPLOYMENT NON 
STRATEGIC ALLOCATION 
 

 
Increased noise and light 
pollution, leading to 
disturbance of species 
 

 
The potential effects of noise and light pollution are localised in nature, and only those activities directly adjacent to the foreshore 
which give rise to these effects have the potential to affect the Ramsar site.  This excludes mineral extraction activities to the north of 
Cardiff, and allocations for industry which are not situated near the foreshore, and all allocations for housing.   
 
Construction and operation of waste management facilities on industrial land adjacent to the Severn Estuary has the potential to 
have an effect upon the Severn Estuary European site. However, the site allocated in this policy already supports existing planning 
consents which have been the subject of previous Habitats Regulations Appraisals.  In all cases, these assessments found there to 
be no likely significant effect on the Severn Estuary.  Therefore, any effect on the Severn Estuary arising from this allocation will 
have already been taken account of in previous planning consents.  Any new consents arising from these policies will be subject to 
individual Habitats Regulations Assessments These consents will only be considered to conform to the LDP if it can be 
demonstrated that they will not have an adverse effect on the integrity of this Ramsar site. 
 
 
In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
These potential effects are localised in nature, so only plans, projects and programmes which are close to those within Cardiff could 
act in combination with these policies.  Along the foreshore, neither of Cardiff’s neighbouring authorities (Vale of Glamorgan and 
Newport) have policies which direct development to the foreshore adjacent to the respective county boundaries with Cardiff which 
could cause noise and light pollution.   
 

No 

 
KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH  
KP2: STRATEGIC SITES  
KP6: NEW INFRASTRUCTURE 
KP9: RESPONDING TO 
EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS 
(Employment) 
KP10: CENTRAL AND BAY 
BUSINESS AREAS 
KP11: MINERALS AND 
AGGREGATES 
KP12: WASTE 
H1: NON STRATEGIC HOUSING 
SITES 

 
Increased traffic 
movements, leading to 
disturbance of species 
and contamination of 
habitats 
 

 
The LDP contains policies intended to reduce dependency on car travel, facilitate and increase use of sustainable and active modes 
of transport (Policies KP8, T1, T2, T3, T5), mitigate the effects of climate change (Policies KP15 and EN12), and promote the 
sustainable use of natural resources (Policies KP18, EN10 and EN11).  In the long-term these measures will mitigate or off-set any 
increase in atmospheric pollution as a result of the LDP and should lead to gradual improvements in air quality. 
 
Furthermore, levels of NO2 across Wales are recorded as decreasing, and recorded areas of NO2 pollution concern in Cardiff are in 
the City Centre rather than near the foreshore. Similarly, according to the National Atmospheric Emissions Inventory, overall 
emissions of particulates have fallen by 58% since 1990.  If this downward trend continues, the total deposition of particulates at this 
site will gradually decrease, thereby reducing any impact upon the site’s features. 
http://naei.defra.gov.uk/overview/pollutants?pollutant_id=24 
 
As no clearly defined route for the Eastern Bay Link Road is provided with Policy T7, or on the Proposals Map, there is insufficient 
information to assess the impacts of such a policy upon the Severn Estuary Ramsar site.  The effects of the construction and 

 
No 

P
age 2429



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               50/53       Enfusion 

 

Severn Estuary Ramsar 

Policies Potential effects Test of Likely Significant Effect (LSE) 
Likely 

Significant 
Effect? 

H7: ALLOCATION POLICY FOR 
GYPSY AND TRAVELLER SITE(S) 
H8: SITES FOR GYPSY AND 
TRAVELLER CARAVANS  
EC1: EXISTING EMPLOYMENT 
LAND 
EC5: HOTEL DEVELOPMENT 
T7: STRATEGIC 
TRANSPORTATION 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
R1: RETAIL PROVISION WITHIN 
STRATEGIC SITES 
C1: COMMUNITY FACILITIES 
C8: PLANNING FOR SCHOOLS. 
C9: NEW EDUCATIONAL 
FACILITIES 
C10: HEALTH EMPLOYMENT NON 
STRATEGIC ALLOCATION 
M1: MINERAL LIMESTONE 
RESERVES AND RESOURCES 
M3: QUARRY CLOSURES AND 
EXTENSION LIMITS 
M5: RESTORATION AND AFTER 
USE OF MINERAL WORKINGS 
M6: DREDGED AGGREGATE 
LANDING AND DISTRIBUTION 
FACILITIES 
W1: LAND FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT 
W2: SITES FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT FACILITIES 
W3: PROVISION FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT FACILITIES IN 
DEVELOPMENT 
 

operation of this road will therefore have to be considered in a Habitats Regulations Assessment at the project stage, when more 
details become available.  Consent for such a project will only be considered to conform to the LDP if it can be demonstrated that it 
will not have an adverse effect on the integrity of this Ramsar site.    
 
 
In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
The Wales Spatial Plan (Update) 2008 and promotes developments in the region, however none of the three Strategic Opportunity 
Areas within that document entails land-take at this site, and any increase in aerial pollution due to traffic movement is likely to be 
counteracted by other regional strategies such as the Wales Transport Strategy 2008, the SEWTA Regional Transport Plan 2009 
and the SEWTA Rail Strategy Study 2006.  These strategies all seek a modal shift for private and freight transports onto more 
sustainable modes, reducing the impact of the transport system on the natural environment, reducing greenhouse gas emissions 
from transport, and reducing traffic growth and congestion.  These strategies will serve to reduce and offset the effects of any 
atmospheric pollution acting in combination with that arising from the Preferred Construction and operation of waste management 
facilities on industrial land adjacent to the Severn Estuary have the potential to have an effect upon the Severn Estuary International 
site. Visual and noise disturbance during construction may cause disturbance to waterfowl such as Shelduck, Oystercatcher, Dunlin, 
Curlew, Pintail and Redshank which are designatory features of the SPA and which form part of one of the notable estuarine species 
assemblages of the estuary feature of the SAC.     
 
However, the site allocated in this policy already supports existing planning consents which have been the subject of previous 
Habitats Regulations Appraisals.  In all cases, these assessments found there to be no likely significant effect on the Severn 
Estuary.  Therefore, any effect on the Severn Estuary arising from this allocation will have already been taken account of in previous 
planning consents. 
 

 
KP15: CLIMATE CHANGE 
EN12: RENEWABLE ENERGY AND 
LOW CARBON TECHNOLOGIES 
 

 
Installation of wind 
turbines leading to 
disturbance and direct 
harm to species 

 
As no specific locations for wind turbines are provided with these policies, on the Proposals map, their effects cannot be assessed at 
this stage.  However, where wind turbines are proposed for locations along the Cardiff foreshore, effects of disturbance caused by 
construction and operation of wind turbines will be considered in a Habitats Regulations Assessment at the individual project stage.  
Consent for such projects will only be considered to conform to the LDP if it can be demonstrated that they will not have an adverse 
effect on the integrity of this Ramsar site.    
 
In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 

 
No 

P
age 2430



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               51/53       Enfusion 

 

Severn Estuary Ramsar 

Policies Potential effects Test of Likely Significant Effect (LSE) 
Likely 

Significant 
Effect? 

No other plans projects and programmes which could lead to the construction and operation of wind turbines around the Cardiff 
foreshore have been identified.  Other Local Authorities in the region have developed LDP policies which promote the use of 
renewable energy sources, which would include wind turbines, but no locations for these turbines are specified, so their in-
combination effects cannot be assessed.  Where individual projects elsewhere in the Severn Estuary involve the operation of wind 
turbines within this site, those projects would be each subject to an individual HRA. 
 
 

 
KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH  
KP2: STRATEGIC SITES  
KP6: NEW INFRASTRUCTURE 
KP9: RESPONDING TO 
EVIDENCED ECONOMIC NEEDS 
(Employment) 
KP10: CENTRAL AND BAY 
BUSINESS AREAS 
KP11: MINERALS AND 
AGGREGATES 
KP12: WASTE 
H1: NON STRATEGIC HOUSING 
SITES 
H7: ALLOCATION POLICY FOR 
GYPSY AND TRAVELLER SITE(S) 
H8: SITES FOR GYPSY AND 
TRAVELLER CARAVANS  
EC1: EXISTING EMPLOYMENT 
LAND 
EC5: HOTEL DEVELOPMENT 
T7: STRATEGIC 
TRANSPORTATION 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
R1: RETAIL PROVISION WITHIN 
STRATEGIC SITES 
C1: COMMUNITY FACILITIES 
C8: PLANNING FOR SCHOOLS. 
C9: NEW EDUCATIONAL 
FACILITIES 
C10: HEALTH EMPLOYMENT NON 
STRATEGIC ALLOCATION 
M1: MINERAL LIMESTONE 
RESERVES AND RESOURCES 
M3: QUARRY CLOSURES AND 
EXTENSION LIMITS 
M5: RESTORATION AND AFTER 

 
Land take, leading to 
physical loss of 
supporting habitats 
 

 
Whilst land-take would result from these policies, and land take within the Ramsar site would be likely to significantly affect it, none 
of these policies direct land-take to within the boundaries of this site.  No clearly defined route for the Eastern Bay Link Road is 
provided with Policy T7, or on the Proposals Map.  Therefore there remains the potential that such a project would incur land-take 
within the Ramsar Site if an Estuary Route option were selected.  If this were the case, the effects of land-take caused by 
construction and operation of this road will be considered in a Habitats Regulations Assessment at the project stage, when more 
details become available.  Consent for such a project will only be considered to conform to the LDP if it can be demonstrated that it 
will not have an adverse effect on the integrity of this Ramsar site 
 
In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
No other plans projects and programmes which could lead to land-take around the Cardiff foreshore have been identified.  Where 
individual projects elsewhere in the Severn Estuary involve land take within this site, those projects would be each subject to an 
individual HRA. 
 

 
No 

P
age 2431



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               52/53       Enfusion 

 

Severn Estuary Ramsar 

Policies Potential effects Test of Likely Significant Effect (LSE) 
Likely 

Significant 
Effect? 

USE OF MINERAL WORKINGS 
M6: DREDGED AGGREGATE 
LANDING AND DISTRIBUTION 
FACILITIES 
W1: LAND FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT 
W2: SITES FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT FACILITIES 
W3: PROVISION FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT FACILITIES IN 
DEVELOPMENT 
 
 
KP6: NEW  
INFRASTRUCTURE 
T7: STRATEGIC 
TRANSPORTATION 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
 

 
Laying pipes and cables, 
leading to disturbance to 
species 

 
Laying pipes and cables within the Ramsar site would be likely to significantly affect it, none of these policies direct land-take to 
within the boundaries of this site.  However, no clearly defined route for the Eastern Bay Link Road is provided with Policy T7, or on 
the Proposals Map.  Therefore there remains the potential that such a project would result in these activities within the Ramsar Site 
if an Estuary Route option were selected.  If this were the case, the effects of Laying pipes and cables ancillary to construction and 
operation of this road will be considered in a Habitats Regulations Assessment at the project stage, when more details become 
available.  Consent for such a project will only be considered to conform to the LDP if it can be demonstrated that it will not have an 
adverse effect on the integrity of this Ramsar site 
 
In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
No other plans projects and programmes which could lead to the laying of pipes and cables around the Cardiff foreshore have been 
identified. 
 

 
No 

 
KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH  
KP2: STRATEGIC SITES  
KP11: MINERALS AND 
AGGREGATES 
KP12: WASTE 
H1: NON STRATEGIC HOUSING 
SITES 
H7: ALLOCATION POLICY FOR 
GYPSY AND TRAVELLER SITE(S) 
H8: SITES FOR GYPSY AND 
TRAVELLER CARAVANS  
EC1: EXISTING EMPLOYMENT 
LAND 
EC5: HOTEL DEVELOPMENT 
R1: RETAIL PROVISION WITHIN 
STRATEGIC SITES 
C1: COMMUNITY FACILITIES 

 
Wastewater and sewage, 
leading to contamination 
and changes in nutrient 
and/or organic loading 

 
None of the candidate sites for housing is within a European Site. However, increased sewage arising from these housing provisions 
may increase discharge into the Severn Estuary. This could potentially lead to changes in nutrient and /or organic loading, which 
could change the species composition of Saltmarsh plants and cause excessive algal growth on mudflats.  This could subsequently 
deny wetland birds access to their invertebrate prey.  At the current time there is no evidence to show that this is the case at this 
site, but the estuary is vulnerable to oil spills and JNCC states that there is a continuous discharge of toxins into the estuary, some 
of which bind to the sediments, although no specific sources or locations are identified. NE and CCW identify this is an area which 
requires further assessment. They also identify Bewick’s swans as currently moderately vulnerable to toxic contamination.  
 
Sewage from Cardiff west of the River Taff is treated at the Cog Moors Sewage Treatment Works (STW), serving the Barry and 
Cardiff West catchments.  This STW discharges to the Bristol Channel, via a long sea outfall, off Lavernock Point. Effluent is 
disinfected through ultra violet treatment, which reduces the environmental impact and protects water quality. Sewage from Cardiff 
east of the River Taff is treated at the WWTW at Tremorfa, and cleaned water is discharged via the outfall 4.2 Km into the estuary at 
ST25257393.   DCWW have confirmed that the WWTW at Tremorfa has sufficient capacity across the lifespan of the plan (2006 - 
2026) to accommodate the domestic foul flows from all of the allocations in the Deposit LDP. 
 
In terms of water quality issues the Severn Estuary is under greatest threat from point source pollution within the area of 
designation.  The EA set very strict quality standards for the final effluent that can be returned to rivers, and Welsh Water achieved 

 
No 

P
age 2432



Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA): A Toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate Assessment Of Plans 
 
 

 
South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG)                               53/53       Enfusion 

 

Severn Estuary Ramsar 

Policies Potential effects Test of Likely Significant Effect (LSE) 
Likely 

Significant 
Effect? 

C9: NEW EDUCATIONAL 
FACILITIES 
C10: HEALTH EMPLOYMENT NON 
STRATEGIC ALLOCATION 
M1: MINERAL LIMESTONE 
RESERVES AND RESOURCES 
M3: QUARRY CLOSURES AND 
EXTENSION LIMITS 
M5: RESTORATION AND AFTER 
USE OF MINERAL WORKINGS 
M6: DREDGED AGGREGATE 
LANDING AND DISTRIBUTION 
FACILITIES 
W1: LAND FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT 
W2: SITES FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT FACILITIES 
W3: PROVISION FOR WASTE 
MANAGEMENT FACILITIES IN 
DEVELOPMENT 
 

99.85% compliance of wastewater treatment works in 2009. Given the regulatory compliance measures and the current favourable 
condition assessment for the Severn Estuary SSSIs that are components of the SAC, it is unlikely that development resulting from 
the Cardiff Deposit LDP will have a significant effect on the water quality of the Severn Estuary SAC/SPA/ Ramsar site.  
 
In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
Other plans and programmes which result in increased sewage discharge at the South Wales Coast, may act in combination with 
this policy to exacerbate nutrient and /or organic loading in the Severn Estuary, which could impact on the River Usk. Development 
plans for all unitary authorities whose sewage discharges at the South Wales Coast such as Caerphilly, RCT, Blaenau Gwent and 
Merthyr Tydfil make provision for a combined allocation of over 30000 new dwellings in total.  However, Dwr Cymru Welsh Water 
have had the opportunity to comment on these LDPs and the inclusion  of these levels of housing allocation indicates that there is 
the capacity to treat the predicted increase in sewage, 
 
Furthermore, all effluent is treated to meet the consent limits laid down by NRW and subject to strict conditions which include HRA 
processes where the potential for impacts on the estuary are identified.  Provided this continues to occur, there is not likely to be a 
significant effect on the Severn Estuary Ramsar by sewage outfall. 
 

 
M6: DREDGED AGGREGATE 
LANDING  
 

 
Aggregates removal, 
leading to damage by 
abrasion or selective 
abstraction 

 
The features of the Severn Estuary Ramsar site are sensitive to marine aggregates dredging, and whilst this activity is outside the 
control of Cardiff Council, the draft LDP contains a policy (M6) which protects sand wharves as shown on the Proposals Map against 
development which would prejudice their ability to land marine dredged sand and gravel.  The operation of these wharves is ongoing 
and Policy M6 would not lead to new wharves or increased capacity, so the policy (and thereby the draft LDP in this respect) would 
not have a significant effect upon the Severn Estuary Ramsar, above and beyond that which is already occurring. 
 
In-combination with other Plans, Projects and Programmes 
 
Whilst there are other plans, projects and programmes in the Severn Estuary area which may increase the dredging of aggregates, 
none of these would affect the landing facilities at Cardiff Docks. 
 

 
No 

 

P
age 2433



 
Strategic Planning 

Cardiff Council
County Hall 

Atlantic Wharf
Cardiff

CF10 4UW

P
age 2434



Appendix 8: Programme of Supplementary Planning Guidance  

(As at January 2016)  

 

Supplementary Planning 
Guidance 

Current 
Status/Proposed 
Action 

Relevant 
Plan Policy 

Indicative 
Date for 
Production 

Design and Parking 
Guidance (incorporating 
Access, Circulation and 
Parking Requirements SPG 
and sustainable design 
guidance) 

Current adopted 
SPG to the Local 
Plan 
 
To be revised to 
link to adopted 
LDP updated and 
extended.  
 
New planning 
obligations SPG 
to pick up S106 
issues from 
Transportation 
SPG 

T5 Within 6 
months of 
adoption 

Open Space Current adopted 
SPG to the Local 
Plan 
 
To be revised to 
link to adopted 
LDP  
 
New planning 
obligations SPG 
to pick up S106 
issues 

C4, C5 Within 6 
months of 
adoption 

Houses in Multiple 
Occupation 

New SPG H5 Within 6 
months of 
adoption 

Noise New SPG EN13 Within 6 
months of 
adoption 

Residential Design Guide 
 

Current adopted 
SPG to the Local 
Plan 
 
To be revised to 
link to adopted 
LDP 
 

KP5 Within 6 
months of 
adoption 

Tall Buildings Current adopted KP5 Within 6 

Page 2435



Supplementary Planning 
Guidance 

Current 
Status/Proposed 
Action 

Relevant 
Plan Policy 

Indicative 
Date for 
Production 

 SPG to the Local 
Plan 
 
To be revised to 
link to adopted 
LDP 
 

months of 
adoption 

Planning Obligations 
 
 incorporating Developer 
Contributions for 
Transport facilities and 
relevant sections from the 
following SPGs: 
 

• Affordable Housing 
• Access, Circulation 

and Parking 
Requirements 

• Open Space 
• Schools 
• Public Art 
• PROW 
• Community 

Facilities 
• Trees and 

Development 
• Waste Collection 

and Storage 
Facilities 

• Biodiversity 

New SPG KP7 Within 12 
months of 
adoption 

Locating Waste 
Management Facilities 

Current adopted 
SPG to the Local 
Plan 
 
To be revised to 
link to adopted 
LDP 
 

W1 Within 12 
months of 
adoption 

Central Shopping Area 
Protected Frontages 

New SPG R3 Within 12 
months of 
adoption 

Flooding New SPG EN14 Within 12 
months of 
adoption 
 

Page 2436



Supplementary Planning 
Guidance 

Current 
Status/Proposed 
Action 

Relevant 
Plan Policy 

Indicative 
Date for 
Production 

Natural Heritage Network New SPG KP16, EN3 - 
8 

Within 12 
months of 
adoption 

Design Guidance and 
Standards for Flat 
Conversions 

New SPG H5 Within 12 
months of 
adoption 

Renewable Energy 
Assessments 

New SPG 
 

EN12 Within 12 
months of 
adoption 

Infill Sites Design 
Guidance 

Current adopted 
SPG to the Local 
Plan 
 
To be revised to 
link to adopted 
LDP 
 

KP5 Within 18 
months of 
adoption 

Tall Buildings Guidance Current adopted 
SPG to the Local 
Plan 
 
To be revised to 
link to adopted 
LDP 

KP5 Within 18 
months of 
adoption 

Householder Design 
Guidance 

Current adopted 
SPG to the Local 
Plan 
 
To be revised to 
link to adopted 
LDP 

KP5 Within 18 
months of 
adoption 

Shop Fronts and Signs 
Guidance 

Current adopted 
SPG to the Local 
Plan 
 
To be revised to 
link to adopted 
LDP 

KP5 Within 18 
months of 
adoption 

Public Art Guidance Current adopted 
SPG to the Local 
Plan 
 
To be revised to 
link to adopted 
LDP 
 
New planning 

KP5 Within 18 
months of 
adoption 

Page 2437



Supplementary Planning 
Guidance 

Current 
Status/Proposed 
Action 

Relevant 
Plan Policy 

Indicative 
Date for 
Production 

obligations SPG 
to pick up S106 
issues 

Public Rights of Way and 
Development 

Current adopted 
SPG to the Local 
Plan.  
 
To be revised and 
updated to link to 
adopted LDP 
 
New planning 
obligations SPG 
to pick up S106 
issues 
 

T1 Within 18 
months of 
adoption 

Protection of Employment 
Land and Premises for 
Business, Industry and 
Warehousing 

Current adopted 
SPG to the Local 
Plan.  
 
To be revised and 
updated to link to 
adopted LDP 
 

EC1,EC3 Within 18 
months of 
adoption 

Food Drink and Leisure 
Uses  
 
Premises for Eating, 
Drinking & Entertainment 
in Cardiff City Centre 
 

Current adopted 
SPGs to the Local 
Plan. 
 
To be merged 
together and 
revised and 
updated to link to 
adopted LDP 
 

R7 Within 18 
months of 
adoption 
 

Trees and Development Current adopted 
SPG to the Local 
Plan  
 
To be revised and 
updated to link to 
adopted LDP  
 
New planning 
obligations SPG 
to pick up S106 
issues 

EN8 Within 18 
months of 
adoption 

Community Facilities and Current adopted C1 Within 18 

Page 2438



Supplementary Planning 
Guidance 

Current 
Status/Proposed 
Action 

Relevant 
Plan Policy 

Indicative 
Date for 
Production 

Residential Development SPG to the Local 
Plan  
 
To be revised and 
updated to link to 
adopted LDP  
 
New planning 
obligations SPG 
to pick up S106 
issues 

months of 
adoption 

Childcare Facilities Current adopted 
SPG to the Local 
Plan  
 
To be revised and 
updated to link to 
adopted LDP  
 

EC2 Within 18 
months of 
adoption 

Waste Collection and 
Storage Facilities 

Current adopted 
SPG to the Local 
Plan  
 
To be revised and 
updated to link to 
adopted LDP  
 
New planning 
obligations SPG 
to pick up S106 
issues 

W2 Within 18 
months of 
adoption 

Biodiversity Current adopted 
SPG to the Local  
 
To be revised and 
updated to link to 
adopted LDP  
 
New planning 
obligations SPG 
to pick up S106 
issues 

EN5,EN6, 
EN7 

Within 18 
months of 
adoption 

Archaeologically Sensitive 
Areas 

Current adopted 
SPG to the Local 
Plan  
 
To be revised and 

KP17, EN9 Within 18 
months of 
adoption 

Page 2439



Supplementary Planning 
Guidance 

Current 
Status/Proposed 
Action 

Relevant 
Plan Policy 

Indicative 
Date for 
Production 

updated to link to 
adopted LDP  
 

Health New SPG to be 
prepared 

C6 Within 18 
months of 
adoption 

Gypsy and Traveller Sites New SPG to be 
prepared 

H7 Within 18 
months of 
adoption 

 

 

 

Page 2440


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the Cabinet Meetings held on 3 and 10 December 2015
	Minutes , 10/12/2015 Cabinet

	2 To receive the Community and Adult Services Scrutiny Committee report entitled 'Information, Advice and Assistance (IAA) Services for Mental Health Service Users in Cardiff'
	3 Annual Review of the Council's Voluntary Redundancy Scheme.
	CYNGOR DINAS CAERDYDD

	4 Review of the Council's Disciplinary Policy and  Associated Policies & Procedures
	Cabinet 21 Jan 2016 Disciplinary Policy
	CYNGOR DINAS CAERDYDD

	Cabinet 21 Jan 2016 Disciplinary Policy App A
	Appendix 1:   DISCIPLINARY RULES
	Appendix 2:   AUTHORITY LEVELS & APPEAL ARRANGEMENTS
	Appendix 3:   DISCIPLINARY INVESTIGATION SERVICE

	Cabinet 21 Jan 2016 Disciplinary Policy App B
	AIMS AND OBJECTIVES
	SCOPE OF THE POLICY
	AWARENESS
	1.18 This Policy will be drawn to the attention of all employees.  The Council has a duty of care to its employees, and service users, and is legally responsible for ensuring that the behaviour and conduct of employees in the course of their employmen...
	KEY PRINCIPLES
	SECTION 2 - ROLES and RESPONSIBILITIES
	EMPLOYEE RESPONSIBILITIES
	MANAGER RESPONSIBILITIES
	HR PEOPLE SERVICES RESPONSIBILITIES
	MEDIATION SERVICE RESPONSIBILITIES
	SECTION 3 – RESOLUTION PROCESS
	SECTION 4 – INFORMAL RESOLUTION PROCEDURE
	EARLY RESOLUTION – EMPLOYEE LED
	4.3 The best approach for an employee with a concern or disagreement in work is to face it in a calm and rational way, using a planned approach.
	THE VALUE OF MEDIATION
	WHAT IS MEDIATION?
	WHEN IS MEDIATION APPROPRIATE?
	WHEN IS MEDIATION NOT APPROPRIATE?
	HOW TO MAKE A REFERRAL FOR MEDIATION
	STAGES OF MEDIATION
	UBefore mediationU:
	WHAT HAPPENS AFTER MEDIATION?
	SECTION 5 – FORMAL RESOLUTION PROCEDURE
	FORMAL RESOLUTION MEETING
	FORMAT OF RESOLUTION MEETING
	APPEAL
	APPEAL RESOLUTION MEETING
	COMMUNICATION OF APPEAL DECISION
	SECTION 6  UNACCEPTABLE BEHAVIOUR IN SERVICE DELIVERY BY SERVICES USERS/ CONTRACTORS
	Where an employee of the Council experiences unacceptable behaviour not by another employee of the Council, but by a service user/contractor, refer to the following policies:-
	SECTION 7 – ADDITIONAL GUIDANCE
	Employee Information:
	LINK TO OTHER PROCESSES:
	TYPE OF CONCERN:
	CONCERN AGAINST:
	NATURE OF PERCEIVED CONCERN:
	WHAT OUTCOME ARE YOU SEEKING IN RELATION TO EACH SPECIFIC CONCERN AS OUTLINED ABOVE?
	Please note that an outcome of disciplinary action may not be necessary or appropriate.
	Signed: ___________________________________Date: ___________________
	APPENDIX 3
	APPENDIX 4                   STANDARD LETTERS

	Cabinet 21 Jan 2016 Disciplinary Policy App C
	441561966
	CM32751 - Response to Cllr Howells 08.12.15


	5 Independent Commission on Local Government Finance Wales: City of Cardiff Council Response
	Cabinet 21 Jan 2015 Local Govt Finance
	CYNGOR DINAS CAERDYDD

	Cabinet 21 Jan 2015 Local Govt Finance App 1
	Cabinet 21 Jan 2015 Local Govt Finance App 2

	6 CCTV Body Worn Camera Policy and Pilot Deployment
	Cabinet 21 Jan CCTV body Camera
	CYNGOR DINAS CAERDYDD
	Reason for this Report
	Reasons for Recommendations
	Legal Implications
	Financial Implications
	RECOMMENDATIONS

	Cabinet 21 Jan CCTV body Camera App 1
	Cabinet 21 Jan CCTV body Camera App 1
	App 1b
	FOI EIR Policy & Procedure
	Appendix 1C PIA
	Whoever is in a position to manage the risks and influence design decisions. For projects that is likely to be the project manager; for data sharing it is likely to be the Service Information Owner
	The role of Improvement & Information Management   The Improvement & Information Management Team are corporately responsible for ensuring the Council’s complies with privacy laws, including:
	• The Data Protection Act,
	• Privacy & Electronic Communication Regulations,
	• Article 8 of the Human Rights Act,
	• Freedom of Information Act & Environmental Information Regulations, and
	• Links to Records Management requirements
	The Improvement & Information Management Team will not approve the use of any new systems or processing of data without the completion of a Privacy Impact Assessment and formal record of the decision in respect of a project.
	Sections 2 and 4 are to be completed by the Information Management Team.
	Section 3 is for ICT Security Team to complete.
	A process map for Privacy Impact Assessments is overleaf. This will evidence the steps taken during the procedure.
	Privacy impact assessment screening questions (appendix a)
	Privacy impact assessment template (appendix b)
	Appendix C  Linking the PIA to the data protection principles


	Cabinet 21 Jan CCTV body Camera App 2
	Findings/ Recommendation  The use of body warn cameras for Civil Enforcement Officers is in my view justified, subject to the provisions set out in this report being implemented:
	1. A clear Policy being implemented to ensure compliance with the Data Protection Principles
	2. Specific Data Protection training for the officers using the devices
	3. A full audit programme is in place to ensure the devices are not misused
	Evidence supplied backs up the potential use of such devices under the Schedule 2 and 3 Conditions of the Data Protection Act.
	The ICO have previously advised that there may be safety issues in that by wearing these devices, officers may become targets for attack, and this also needs to be taken into consideration.  The Council does need to take extra care in consideration of...


	7 The Performance of Cardiff Schools and the Youth Service in 2014/2015
	Cabinet 21 Jan 2016 Performance of Cardiff Schools Final
	CYNGOR DINAS CAERDYDD
	Reason for this Report
	The following Appendices are attached:


	Cabinet 21 Jan 2016 Performance of Cardiff Schools App 1
	Cabinet 21 Jan 2016 Performance of Cardiff Schools App 2
	Cabinet 21 Jan 2016 Performance of Cardiff Schools App 3
	Cabinet 21 Jan 2016 Performance of Cardiff Schools App 4
	Cabinet 21 Jan 2016 Performance of Cardiff Schools App 5
	Cabinet 21 Jan 2016 Performance of Cardiff Schools App 6
	Cabinet 21 Jan 2016 Performance of Cardiff Schools App 7
	Cabinet 21 Jan 2016 Performance of Cardiff Schools App 8
	A Level Results 2015
	Wales
	RESULTS
	2015
	2014
	2013
	2012
	2011
	2010
	A*/A
	A*/A
	A*/A
	A*/A
	A*/A
	A*/A
	31.0%
	29.7%
	29.0%
	29.5%
	29.8%
	28.8%
	Cardiff
	23.0%
	23.2%
	22.9%
	23.6%
	23.9%
	24.4%
	Wales

	Cabinet 21 Jan 2016 Performance of Cardiff Schools App 9
	Cabinet 21 Jan 2016 Performance of Cardiff Schools App 10
	Secondary Phase
	Secondary Phase Exclusion Data

	Cabinet 21 Jan 2016 Performance of Cardiff Schools App 11
	Cabinet 21 Jan 2016 Performance of Cardiff Schools App 12

	8 Cardiff Commitment to Youth Engagement and Progression
	Cabinet 21 Jan 2016 Youth engagement Strategy
	CYNGOR DINAS CAERDYDD

	Cabinet 21 Jan 2016 Youth engagement Strategy App 1
	Foreword
	Introduction
	Context
	Vision
	Desired Outcomes
	Strategic Priorities and Key Objectives
	Priority 1: Shared accountability and commitment to action
	Priority 2: Early identification of young people most at risk of disengagement
	Priority 3: Better brokerage and co-ordination of support
	Priority 4: Stronger tracking systems pre and post 16
	Priority 5: Ensuring provision meets the needs of young people
	Priority 6: Strengthening employability skills and opportunities for employment

	Story behind the baseline
	Baseline


	9 Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment and Site Assessment Criteria
	Cabinet 21 Jan 2016 Gypsy Traveller Site Selection
	CYNGOR DINAS CAERDYDD

	Cabinet 21 Jan 2016 Gypsy Traveller Site Selection App 1
	Chapter One: Policy Context
	Chapter Two: Background and analysis of existing data
	Chapter Three: Methodology
	Chapter Four: Survey Findings
	Chapter Five: Assessing accommodation needs
	Chapter Six: Conclusions and Recommendations

	Cabinet 21 Jan 2016 Gypsy Traveller Site Selection App 2
	Cabinet 21 Jan 2016 Gypsy Traveller Site Selection App 3
	Cabinet 21 Jan 2016 Gypsy Traveller Site Selection App 3
	Appendix 3 CM33202 - Response to Cllr McGarry 14.01.16

	Cabinet 21 Jan 2016 Gypsy Traveller Site Selection App 4

	10 Adoption of Cardiff Local Development Plan (LDP)
	CYNGOR DINAS CAERDYDD
	Cabinet 21 Jan 2016 LDP  Appendix 1 Inspectors Report
	Appendix 1 Part 1 - Cardiff LDP - Inspectors' Report
	Appendix 1 Part 2 - Appendix A - MACs Schedule
	Appendix A (Part 3) - Proposals Map MACs.pdf
	MAC PM1 - Map Settlement Boundary
	MAC PM2 - Map Expansion Areas
	MAC PM3 - Map Rookwood Hospital
	MAC PM4 - Map Seawall Road
	MAC PM5 - Map Housing Commitments
	MAC PM6 - Map EC1 2 and Central Bay Business Area
	MAC PM7 - Map Llanishen Protected Employment Area
	MAC PM9 - Map River Corridor Plan C
	MAC PM10 - Map River Corridor Plan A
	MAC PM11 - Map River Corridor Plan B
	MAC PM12 - Map River Corridor Plan D
	MAC PM13 - Map Bus Corridor Enhancements
	MAC PM14 - Map Protected Shopping Frontages
	MAC PM15 - Map Health Related Uses Site
	MAC PM16 - Map Coal Safeguarding Area
	MAC PM17 - Map Limestone Safeguarding Area
	MAC PM17 i - Map New Sand and Gravel
	MAC PM18 - Map Waste Management


	Appendix 1 Part 3 - Appendix B - Inspector MACs

	Cabinet 21 Jan 2016 LDP  Appendix 2 Summary of Inspectors Report
	Cabinet 21 Jan 2016 LDP  Appendix 3 Adoption Statement
	Cabinet 21 Jan 2016 LDP  Appendix 4 Tracked Changes Version of LDP
	Appendix 4 Part 1 -  Cardiff Local Development Plan word version master WITH track changes 12 JAn
	Appendix 4 Part 2 - LDP Appendicies track Changes version 3

	Cabinet 21 Jan 2016 LDP  Appendix 5 LDP to be adopted
	Appendix 5 Part 1 - Cardiff Local Development Plan word version master NO track changes 12 Jan
	Appendix 5 Part 2 - LDP Appendicies NO  track Changes version 3
	Appendix 5 Part 3 -Proposal Plan Rev B
	Appendix 5 Part 4 -Constraint Plan B

	Cabinet 21 Jan 2016 LDP  Appendix 6 Final Sustainabilty Appraisal
	Appendix 6 Part 1 Final SA Report - January 2016
	Appendices (in separate files)
	A. Policy review
	B. Baseline
	1. Introduction and Key Outcomes
	3. The Local Development Plan
	4. Sustainability Context, Baseline and Objectives
	5.  Appraisal of the Vision and Objectives
	6. Appraisal of Strategic Options
	A. High growth:     total
	                                per capita
	Dispersed brownfield sites
	Greenfield sites west of Pentrebane
	7.  Appraisal of Candidate Sites for Development
	* All E3 are unknown so they are not recorded here
	8. Appraisal of Key and Detailed Policies
	KP1: Level Of Growth
	KP11: Crushed Rock Aggregates and Other Minerals 
	KP13: Responding to evidenced social needs
	KP14: Healthy Living
	Table 8.3.  Changes resulting from the appraisal of gaps in the LDP policies
	9. Overall Effects and Mitigation
	Vision
	Objectives
	Key Policies
	KP1: Level Of Growth
	KP11: Crushed Rock Aggregates and Other Minerals
	KP13: Responding to evidenced social needs
	KP14: Healthy Living
	Table 9.2  Overall sustainability impacts of the LDP: short, medium and long term impacts
	Table 9.3.  Changes proposed to the LDP in response to cumulative/overall impacts
	10.  Next Steps

	Appendix 6 Part 2 NTS - January 2016
	Vision
	Objectives
	Key Policies
	KP1: Level Of Growth
	KP11: Crushed Rock Aggregates and Other Minerals 
	KP13: Responding to evidenced social needs
	KP14: Healthy Living
	Table 2.  Overall sustainability impacts of the LDP

	Appendix 6 Part 3 - Appendix A - January 2016
	Appendix A: Policy Review

	Appendix 6 Part 4-  Appendix B - January 2016
	Contents
	List of Maps, Figures and Tables
	Preface
	1. Access and equality
	2. Air quality
	3. Biodiversity, flora and fauna
	4. Climate change
	4.1. Climate change is probably the greatest long-term challenge facing the human race, and is a serious and urgent issue. The climate is already beginning to change as a result of past greenhouse gas emissions and this trend shows no sign of abating....

	Traffic flows in the city are decreasing, but outside the city it is increasing, contributing to increased greenhouse gas emissions and congestion
	4.9. The following risks are associated with climate change (Welsh Local Government Association (2008) Changing Climate: Changing Places):

	5. Cultural heritage and the historic environment
	6. Economy
	7. Health and wellbeing
	8. Landscape
	Introduction
	10.1 Cardiff has unique population characteristics that are different to those experienced within the South East Wales region and Wales as a whole. Its population has grown rapidly over the last 20 years, and this rapid growth is expected to continue.

	Appendix 6 Part 5 - Appendix C - January 2016
	Appendix 6 Part 6 - Appendix D - January 2016
	Appendix D: Appraisal of LDP Vision and Objectives

	Appendix 6 Part 7 - Appendix E - January 2016
	Appendix 6 Part 8 - Appendix F - January 2016
	Appendix 6 Part 9 - Appendix G - January 2016
	Policy KP1: LEVEL OF GROWTH 
	SA comments and suggestions
	SA comments and suggestions

	KP4 MASTERPLANNING APPROACH  (Policy appraised out of sequence because it sets context for KP2 (A) – (H) strategic sites policies.)
	Policy KP16: GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE
	SA comments and suggestions
	SA comments and suggestions
	SA comments and suggestions
	SA comments and suggestions
	SA comments and suggestions
	SA comments and suggestions
	SA comments and suggestions
	SA comments and suggestions
	SA comments and suggestions
	SA comments and suggestions
	SA comments and suggestions


	Appendix 6 Part 10 - Appendix H - January 2016
	Appendix H: Consultees’ Responses to Initial Sustainability Appraisal Report
	Reference
	Reference

	Appendix 6 Part 11 -Appendix I - January 2016
	Appendix I: Sustainability Appraisal response to Matters Arising Changes


	Cabinet 21 Jan 2016 LDP  Appendix 7 Habitats Regulation Assessment
	Appendix 7 Part 1  - MAC and Inspectors Changes  HRA Report January 2016 (003)
	The City of Cardiff Council
	HABITATS REGULATIONS APPRAISAL REPORT
	The City of Cardiff Council
	Identification of European Sites & characterisation
	Consideration of Other Plans, Projects and Programmes
	Assessment of Potential impacts

	© Enfusion Ltd
	Treenwood House

	Appendix 7 Part 2  - MAC HRA Report October 2015 draft 0.1
	The City of Cardiff Council
	HABITATS REGULATIONS APPRAISAL REPORT
	The City of Cardiff Council
	Identification of European Sites & characterisation
	Consideration of Other Plans, Projects and Programmes
	Assessment of Potential impacts

	© Enfusion Ltd
	Treenwood House

	Appendix 7 Part 3  -MAC HRA Report 2015 draft 0.1
	The City of Cardiff Council
	HABITATS REGULATIONS APPRAISAL REPORT
	The City of Cardiff Council
	Identification of European Sites & characterisation
	Consideration of Other Plans, Projects and Programmes
	Assessment of Potential impacts

	© Enfusion Ltd
	Treenwood House

	Appendix 7 Part 4  -Habitat Regulations Report
	Appendix 7 Part 5 - Appendix 1 - European Sites Descriptions and Characterisation
	Appendix 7 Part 6 -Appendix 2 - Policy Screening Template
	Appendix 7 Part 7  -Appendix 3 - Development Types and Summary of Effects
	Appendix 7 Part 8  -Appendix 4 - Generic Potential Effects of Development
	Appendix 7 Part 9  -Appendix 5 - Potential Effects of Policies on European Sites
	Appendix 7 Part 10  -Appendix 6 - Screening of Vulnerabilities for Each Site
	Appendix 7 Part 11  -Appendix 7 - Screened-in Vulnerabilities
	Appendix 7 Part 12  -Appendix 8 - Comparison of Potential Effects with Screened-in Vulnerabilities
	Appendix 7 Part 13  -Appendix 9 - Plans, Projects and Programmes for in Combination Assessment
	Appendix 7 Part 14  -Appendix 10 - Test of Likely Significant Effect

	Cabinet 21 Jan 2016 LDP  Appendix 8 Programme of SPG



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice




